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THE

SCOTTISH NATION.

MACINTYRE.

Macintyrb, the name of a minor sept, called, in Gaelic,

tlie clan Mhk: An T'Saoir. They are a branch of the clan

Donald, and tlieir badge is the same as theirs, the common
lieath. The Gaelic word Saor means a carpenter. Accord-

ing to tradition one of tlie Macdonalds being in a boat at sea,

it sprung a leak, and, finding it sinking, he forced his thumb

into the hole, and cut it off, so that he might be able to reach

the hind in safety. He was ever afterwards called An T''Saoir,

and ifac An T'Saoir, in the Gaelic, is very nearly pronounc-

ed lilce Macintyre. Another story says that one of the clan

Donald, named Paul, in Sutherland, in the end of the 13th

century, built Dun Creich, a vitrified fort in that county,

when he acquired the name of Saoir, and as professions were

hereditary among the Celts, it descended to his postei'ity.

The Macintyres of Rannoch were famous musicians, and

after 1680, they became the pipers to Menzies of Weems,

chief of the clan Menzies, for whom they composed the ap-

propriate salute. One of them was the author of a fine piece

of bagpipe music commemorative of the battle of Sheriffmuir

in 1715. During the rebellion of 1745-6, the Macintyres

were in the clan regiment of Stewart of Appin, on the side of

the Pretender.

MACINTYRE, Duncan, one of the best of the

modern Gaelic poets, was born of poor parents, in

Druimliaghart, Glenorchy, Argyleshire, March 20,

1724. Being in liis youth very liandsome, he was

commonly called by his countrymen, Doniiacha

Ban nan oran, that is ' fair Duncan of the Songs.'

On the breaking out of the rebellion of 1745, he

engaged on the government side, as the substitute

of a Mr. Fletcher of Glenorchy, for the sum of

300 mcrks Scots, to be paid on his return. He

fought at the battle of Falkirk, January 17, 1746,

under the command of Colonel Campbell of Car-

whin, and in the retreat he either lost or threw

away his sword. As it belonged to Mr. Fletcher,
|

III.

MACINTYRE.

that gentleman refused to pay him the 300 merks,

and he. in consequence, composed a song on " the

battle of Falkirk," in which he has given a minute

and admirable account of that engagement, and

especially of everything relating to the sword,

much to the annoyance of Mr. Fletcher. Macin-

tyre likewise complained of his conduct to the earl

of Breadalbane, who obliged him to pay the poet,

who had risked his life for him, the stipulated re-

ward. Being an excellent marksman, he was ap-

jiointed forester to the earl of Breadalbane, and

afterwards to the duke of Argyle.

On the passing of the act which proscribed the

Highland dress, he composed an indignant poem,

called 'The Anathema of the Breeks,' wherein he

boldly attacked the government for having passed

a law which was equally obnoxious to the clans

friendly to the house of Hanover as to those who
had engaged in the rebellion, and said it was

enough to make the whole country turn Jacobite

should Prince Charles Edward return to Scotland.

He was, in consequence, committed to prison, but

by the influence of his friends he was soon re-

leased. When the act was repealed in 1782, he

commemorated the event in a congratulatory

poem, which was as popular with the Gael as the

former one had been.

In 1793 he became a private in the Breadal-

bane fencibles, and continued to serve in it till

1799, when the regiment was disbanded. His

volume of poems and songs was first published at

A



MACIVOR. 2 M'KAIL.

Edinburgh in 1768. He went through the High-

lands for subscribers to defray the expense.

Though he never received any education of any

kind, he excelled in every kind of verse that he

tried. A clergyman wrote down his poems from

oral recitation. They were reprinted in 1790,

and again in 1804, with some additional pieces.

A fourth edition was pi-inted at Glasgow in 1833.

The writer of his life in Reid's ' Bibliotheca-Scoto-

Celtica,' says that " all good judges of Celtic

poetry agree that nothing like the purity of his

Gaelic and tiie style of his poetry, has appeared

in the Highlands since the days of Ossian." His

biographer in Mackenzie's ' Beauties of Gaelic

Poetry' (Glasgow, 1841), says that when deliver-

ing the third edition of his poems to his subscrib-

ers, the Rev. Mr. M'Callum of Arisaig, "saw

him travelling slowly with his wife. He was

dressed in the Highland garb, with a checked bon-

net, over which a large bushy tail of a wild ani-

mal hung, a badger's skin fastened b}' a belt in

front, a hanger by his side, and a soldier's wallet

was strapped to his shoulders. He had not been

seen by any present before then, but was imme-

diately recognised. A forward young man asked

him if it was he that made Ben-donrain? 'No,'

replied the venerable old man, ' Ben-dourain was

made before you or I was born, but I made a po-

em in praise of Ben-dourain.' He then inquired

if any would buy a copy of his book. I told him

to call upon me, paid him three shillings, and had

some conversation with him. He spoke slowly

;

he seemed to have no high opinion of his own

works ; and said little of Gaelic poetry ; but said,

that officers in the armj-- used to tell him about

the Greek poets ; and Pindar was chiefly admired

by him." Having been appointed bard to the

Highland Society, he furnished it with many stir-

ring addresses in Gaelic at Its annual meetings.

On the recommendation of the earl of Breadal -

bane, who befriended him through life, he was

appointed in his old age one of the city guard of

Edinburgh. He subsequently lived retired, and

died in that city in October 1812.

Macivor, the name of a minor sept, a branch of the great

Siol Diarmid, or race of Campbell, having tlie same badge,

the mvrtle. The founder of this branch was Ivor, son of

Duncan, lord of Lochow, in the time of Malcolm IV. (1153

—1165), and his descendants, to distinguish themselves from
the other branches uf the family of Argyle, assumed the name
of their ancestor for their surname, and are called Maclvors,

and sometimes Clan-Ivor. They are also called Clan Glas-

sary, and Clan Ivor Gla.ssary. from a district in Argylesliire

of that name, which w.as principally posses.sed by them. But
the chieltaiTi or head of the tribe is in Celtic called Macivor,

without regard to the Christian name. Their original lands

were Lergachonzie, Asknish, and otljers in Cowal, but there

were also many families of the name in Caithness, Inverness-

shire, and the I.ewis. Those who settled in Lochaher took

the name of MacGIasricli, from the district of Glassary, and

became followers of JIacdonald of Keppoch.

In 1564. Archibald, fifth earl of Argyle, by and with the

concurrence of the tribe of Macivor and " Clan Glassarv,"

made a formal resignation, in presence of a notary puljlic and

several gentlemen, of the chieftainsliip there, in favour of his

cousin Ivor M.-icIvor, of Lergachonzie and Asknish, and his

heirs whomsoever, who, by the title-deeds of their estate,

became bound to use the surname and arms of Macivor,—the

mottoes of the house of Ai-gyle and that of Macivor of Ask-

nish being typical of their relative positions ; the former,

" ne obliviscaris
;

" and the latter, " nunquam obliviscar."

When Archibald, ninth earl of Argyle, was emploj-ed in

quelling .same civil commotions, in 1679, iMacIvor, true to

his motto, attended him with one hundred men of his own
tribe : and when the e;u-l returned from Holland in 1685, he

again joined him, and was forfeited with him.

After the Revolution, when the earl's forfeiture was re-

scinded, Archibald, tenth earl and afterwards first duke of

Argyle, gave back Maclvor's estate to his son Duncan, and

his heirs, on condition that they should bear the surname

and arms of Campbell and of the family of Macivor, (anna

et cognomen de Campbell et Familise de Maclver, gerenti-

bus, &c.).

From the earls of Argyle, the Maclvors held several posts

of trust and honour, such as the keeping of the castle of In-

veraiT, &c. They were also hereditary coroners within a cer-

tain district.

In the rebellion of 1745-6, the Maclvors went out with

the Macdonalds of Keppoch, and at the battle of Culloden,

they were drawn up as a separate body, with officers of their

own, as they were anxious to be placed in a position where

there was no chance of their being opposed to the Argyle mi-

litia, having the same badge and ivearing their tartan.

In 1853, the lord lyon king of arms, by interlocutor of his

lordship's depute, on the application of Duncan Macivor

Campbell, Esq. of Asknish,—(formerly Duncan Campbell

Paterson, eldest sim of the deceased James Paterson, of

Clobber Hall, county Clare, Ireland, grandson of Agnes,

ehlest daughter of Angus Campbell of Asknish, and ne-

phew of Lieutenant - colonel Paterson, assistant - quarter-

master-general of her nuijesty's forces,)—recognised him as

heir of line of the family of Macivor of Asknish, and under a

deed of entail, as heir of tailzie, now in possession of said

estate, and, as such, " to use, bear, and constantly retain the

arms and surname of Campbell and of the family of Macivor

and designation of Asknish."

M'KAIL, Hugh, a martyr of tiie covenant, was

born about 1640. He studied, with a view to the

church, at the university of Edinbin-gh, under the

care of his uncle, one of the ministers of that city,

and was afterwards, for some time, chaplain to
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kSir James Stewart of Coltness, then lord provost

of Edinburgh. In 1661, lie was licensed to preach,

being then in his twenty-first year. On the 1st

September 1662, when 400 presbyterian ministers

were abont to be driven from their charges for

non-compliance with episcopacy, he delivered a

discourse in the High Ciiurch of Edinburgh, from

the Song of Solomon, i. 7, in which, speaking of

the many persecutions to which the cause of reli-

gion had been subjected in all ages, he said that

" the church and people of God had been perse-

cuted both by an Ahab on the throne, a Haman

ill tlie state, and a Judas in the church." In

those troublous days, such an illustration was sure

to find an application, whether the preacher meant

it or not, parallel to the times. Accordingly the

Ahab on the throne was considered to be Charles

ir., and Middleton and Archbishop Sharp took

the Hanian and Judas to themselves. A few

days thereafter a pnrty of horse was sent to ap-

prehend him, but he escaped, and went to his

father's house in the parish of Liberton. Soon

after, he took refuge in Holland, where he remain-

ed four years, during which time he studied at

one of the Dutch univei'sities.

In 1666 he returned to Scotland, and imme-

diately joined the I'esolute and daring band of

covenanters who rose in arms in the west, pre-

vious to the defeat at Riillion Green, and conti-

nued with them from the 18th to the 27th of

November, wlien not being able to endure the

fatigue of constant marching, he left them near

Cramond Water. He was on his way to Liberton,

when he was taken by an ofiicer of dragoons, and

some countrymen, as lie passed through a place

called Braid's Craigs. He had then a sword or

rapier, Avhich of itself was a circumstance of sus-

picion against him. He was conveyed to Edin-

burgh and searched for letters, but none being

found, he was committed to the tolbooth. Next

(lay, he was brought before the privy council for

examination, and on the 4th December he was

subjected to the toi'ture of the boot, with the ob-

ject of extracting information from him relative to

a conspiracy, which the government affected to

believe extensively existed ; but he declared that

he knew of none, and had nothing to confess.

The strokes were repeated ten or eleven times,

when he swooned away, and was carried back to

prison.

Tiie torture and the close confinement brought

on a fever, and as he was ordered to prcijare for

trial, for having joined in the insurrection, al-

though lie had left the party the day previous to

the battle of Pentland, he petitioned the council

for a delay of a few days, when it was remitted

to two physicians and two surgeons to inquire

into his case. His cousin, Mr. Matthew M'Kail,

an apothecary in Edinburgh, afterwards a doctor

of medicine, applied to Archbishop Sharp, to in-

terpose in his behalf, but that treacherous and

unprincipled prelate only desired him to assure

the prisoner that he would befriend him, if he

would reveal the mysterj' of the plot against the

government, and as he was not able to do so, lie

was put to the torture. Still the cousin was de-

termined to persevere in his eflbrts to save his

unfortunate relative, and even followed the arch-

bishop to St. Andrews. A note to M'Crie's edi-

tion ofVeitch's Life (pp.35—37) gives the fol-

lowing minute particulars of his fruitless journey

to and from the primate's residence in Fife

:

" Upon the Thursday thereafter, the bishop went

to St. Andrews, and Mr. Mattliew followed him

on Friday, but reached onl}' Wemj'ss that night.

After dinner, he arrived at the bishop's house on

Saturday, and the servant told that the barber

was trimming him, and when he was done, Mr.

Matthew v/ould get access. When Mr. Matthew

got access, lie delivered to the bishop ane letter

from the marchioness Douglas, in favour of Mr.

Hew (the prisoner) whose brother Mr. Matthew

was governor to her son, Lord James Douglas

;

and another from the bishop's brother. Sir \\\\-

liam Sharp his lad}' : and when he had read them,

he said, 'The business is now in the justiciaries'

hands, and I can do nothing
;
but, however, I

shall have answers ready against the next morn-

ing;' at which time, when Mr. Matthew came,

the bishop called his family together, prayed, and

desired Mv. Matthew to come and dine ^^ ith him,

and then lie would give the answer ; then he went

to the church, did preach, and inveigh much

against the covenant. Immcdiatclj' after dinner,

he gave the answers to the letters, and Mv. Mat-

thew said, that he hoped that his travelling that
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day about so serious a business would give no of-

fence ; to whicli the bisliop answered that it would

give no offence. Then Mr. Matthew went to en-

quire for liis horse, but the stabler's famil}' were

all gone to church, so that he could not travel till

Monday morning earl}^ and when he came to

Buckhaven, the wind being easterly, the fish-boats

were coming into the harbour, and he hired one

of them Immediately, and arrived at Leith in the

evening, liaving sent his horse to Bruntisland.

He went immediately to Archbishop Burnet of

Glasgow, and delivered a letter to him, who did

read it, and then said that the business was in the

justiciaries' hands."

Next day, being the 18tli December, the pris-

oner was brought before the court of justiciary,

with other three. When placed at the bar,

M'Kail addressed the court, and " spoke of the

ties and engagements that were upon the land to

God ; and having commended the institution, dig-

nity', and blessing of presbyterian government, he

said that the last words of the national covenant

had always great weight on his spirit. Whei-e-

upon the king's advocate interrupted him, and de-

sired, he would forbear that discourse, since he

was not called in question for his persuasion, but

for the crime of rebellion." As a matter of

course he was found guilty of high treason, and

condemned to be hanged at the market cross of

Edinburgh on December 22, four days after.

The three others who were tried along with him

were likewise sentenced to death. On his way

back to the tolbooth he received the greatest sym-

pathy from the people, and to some women who

were lamenting his fate, he said :
" Weep not

:

though I am but young, and in the budding of my

hopes and labours in the ministry, I am not to be

mourned ; for one drop of my blood, through the

grace of God, may make more hearts contrite,

than many years' sermons might have done." At

his request, his father was allowed to visit him in

prison, and the interview between them was pecu-

liarly aflfecting. He spent the short time allotted

to him in acts of devotion, and in encouraging and

supporting those who were to suffer with him.

He even at times showed considerable cheerful-

ness. On a friend, who went to see him, express-

ing his sorrow for his mangled limb, he answered

that the fear of his neck made him forget his leg.

On the evening before his execution, while at

supper with his fellow-prisoners, he said to them

gaily, " Eat to the full, and cherish your bodies,

that we may be a fat Christmas pie to the pre-

lates." After supper he read to them the 16tli

Psalm, and then said, "If there were anything in

the world sadly and unwillingly to be left, it were

the reading of the Scriptures," but, he added, it

was a source of comfort that he would soon be in

that place where even Scripture is no longer

necessary. He then wrote his will, bequeathing

his few books to his friends. He slept sound-

ly, and on awakening, at five o'clock in the

morning, one who was to suffer witli him, he

said pleasant!}', " Up, John, for 3'ou«are too

long in bed
;
yoa and I look not like men go-

ing to be hanged this day, seeing we lie so long."

Before proceeding to the scaffold he bade farewell

to his father, and assured him that his sufferings

would do more hurt to the prelates, and be more

edifying to God's people than if he were to conti-

nue in the ministry for twenty years. On his

appearance on the scaffold the grief of the specta-

tors burst forth in loud expressions of wailing, so

that it is recorded " there was scarce ever seen so

much sorrow in onlookers ; scarce was there a dry

cheek in the whole street or windows at the cross

of Edinburgh." On ascending the ladder he said

to his friends, " I care no more to go up this lad-

der than if I were going home to my father's

house. Friends and fellow sufferers, be not

afraid
;
every step of this ladder is a degree nearer

heaven."

Previous to being turned off, he addressed the

spectators at some length, imputing the perse-

cution of the church to the prelates, and declar-

ing his readiness to die for the cause of God,

the covenants, and the work of reformation,

which had been the glory of Scotland. He con-

cliidod Avith the following sublime exclamation:

" And now, I leave off to speak any more to

creatures, atid begin my intercourse with God,

which shall never be broken off. Farewell, fa-

ther and mother, friends and relations, farewell

the world and all delights, farewell meat and

drink, farewell sun, moon, and stars ! Welcome

God and Father; welcome sweet Jesus Christ,
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tlie Mediator of tlic new coveiumt; welcome blessed

Spirit of Grace, and God of all consolation
; welconio

glor}-, welcome eternal life, and welcome deatli!"

Such was the fate of Hugh iM'Kail, wlio was only

twenty-six j'ears old at the time of his death,

" one of the brightest, purest, and most sanctified

spirits," says Hetlierington, " that ever animated

a mere luiman foi'm ; a victim to pielatic tyrann}',

and a rejoicing martyr for Christ's sole kingly

dominion over his church. Till the records of

time shall have melted into those of eternity, the

name of that young Christian martyr will be held

in most affectionate remembrance b}' every true

Scottish ])resliyterian."

Mackay, tlie name of a numerous ami poweiful clan in

tlie north-west of the county of Sutlierland, styled in Gaelic

tlie Siol Mhorffan, or race of IMorgan
;
badge, the hulrush.

The accounts of its origin are various. In the Celtic MS. of

1450, there is no reference to it, altliongh mention is made of

the Mackays of Kintyre, who were called of Ugadale. These,

liowever, were vassals of the Isles, and had no connexion with

the Mackays of Strathnaver. Pennant assigns to them a

Celto-Irish descent, in the twelfth century, after King Wil-

liam the Lion had defeated Harald, earl of Orkney and Caith-

ness, and taken possession of these distiicts. Mr. Skene^JJiffh

lands of Scotland, p. 288) supposes that they were descend-

ed from the aboriginal Gaelic inhabitants of Caithness. The

Norse Sagas state that about the beginning of the 12th cen-

tury, "there lived in the Dolum of Katanesi (or Strathnarer)

a man named Moddan, a noble and rich man," and tliat his

sons were Magnus Orfi and Ottar, the larl in Thurso. The

title of iarl was the s.ame as tlie Gaelic maormor, and Mr.

Skene is of opinion that Moddan and liis son Ottar were the

Gaelic maorniors of Caithness.

Sir Robert Gordon, in his voluminous History of Sutlier-

land (p. 302), from a similarity of badge and armorial bear-

ings, accounts the clan Mackay a branch of the Forbeses, but

this is by no means probable. Alexander, the fii\st of the

family, aided in driving the Danes from the north. His son

Walter, chamberlain to Adam, bishop of Caithness, married

that prelate's daughter, and had a son, JIarfin, wlio received

from his maternal gi-andfather certain churcli lands in Strath-

naver, being the first of the family wlio obtained possessions

there. Martin had a son, Magnus or Manus, who fought

at Bannockburn under Bruce, and had two sons, Morgan

and Farquliar. From Morgan the clan derived their Giielic

name of Clan-wic-Worgan, or Morgan, and from Farqnhar

were descended the Clan-wic-Farquhar in Strathnaver.

Donald, i\Iorgan's son, married a daughter of M:icneill of

Gigba, who was named lye, and had a son of the same name,

in Gaelic Aodh, pronounced like Y. The common transla-

tion of Aodh is Hugh, but amid all the fanciful conjectures

that have been thrown out as to the derivation of the name,

it seems to have been forgotten that the lye was borne priina-

rilv by an insular chief, and seems not unlikely to have ori-

ginated in the Gaelic word I, an island. Aodh had a son,

another Donald, called Donald Macaodh, or Mackaoi, and it is

from this son that the clan has acquired the patronymic of

Mackay. He and his son were killed in the castle of Ding-

wall, by Willi:mi, earl o'" Sntbeilaiid, in KiOo. It appears
i

from Sir Robert Gordon's History (p. 60). that the earl had a
j

feuil with him and his son, Donald Mackay, in which many !

lives were lost, and great depredations committed on both

.sides. 'I'o put an end to it, the earl proposed a meeting with

them at Dingwall, in presence of the lord of the Isles, his

father-in-law, and some of the neighbouring barons, the

friends of both p.arties. This was acceded to, and in the cas-
j

tie of Dingw;dl a discussion took place betw'een the earl and

i\Iackay, regarding the points in dispute, when mutual re-

proaches passing between them, the earl became so incensed

as to kill Mackay and his son with his own hands. With

some difficulty he effected his escape, and, hastening home,

prepared for his defence. The Mackays, however, were too

weak to take revenge, and a reconciliation took place between

Robert, the nc.\t earl, and Angus Mackay, the eldest of Do-

nald's surviving sons, of wliom there were other two, viz.

Honcheon Dnbli, and Neill.

Angus, the eldest son, married a sister of Jlalcolm Mac-
leod of the Lewis, and had by lier two sons, Angus Dubh, that

is, dark comple.xioned, and Roderick Gald, that is, Lowland.

On their father's death their uncle, Honcheon Dubh, became

their tutor, and entered upon the management of their lands.

Understanding that his sister, the w'idow of Angu.s, was ill-

treated by the uncle, iMalcolm Macleod, with a large follow-

ing, went to visit her, and on liis return homewards, he laid

wa.ste Strathnaver and a great part of the Breachat in Suth-

erland, caiTying off a large booty along with him. As soon

as Houcheon Dubh and his brother Neill were informed of

this, they acquainted Robert, earl of Sutherland, who imme-
diately despatched a large party to as,sist the Mackays.

Overtaking Macleod upon the marches between Ross and

Sutherland, at a place called Tuttim-Tarwach, a desperate

conflict en.sued. It " was long, furious, cruel, and doubtful,"

says Sir Robert Gordon, and " rather desperate than resolute."

Malcolm Macleod was sl;iin with all his party, save one, and

the goods and cattle were recovered.

In 1411, wlien Donald, lord of the Isles, in prosecution of

his claim to the earldom of Ross, burst into Sutherland, he

was attacked at Dingwall,' by Angus Dubh, or Black Angus
Mackay. The latter, however, was defeated and takcTi pris-

oner, and his brother, Roriegald, and many of his men were

slain. After a short confinement, Angus was released by the

lord of the Isles, who, desirous of cultivating the alliance of

so powerful a chief, gave him his daughter, Elizabeth, in

marriage, and with her bestowed upon him many lands by

charter in 1415. He was called Enneas-en-Imprissi, or

" Angus the Absolute," from his great power. At this time,

we are told, Angus Dubh could bring into the field 4,00tJ

fighting men.

In 142G, .4ngus invaded Caithness, with all the forces he

could collect, and spoiled and laid waste that district. The
inhabitants met him at Harpisdell, where a battle was fought,

in which both sides suffered severely, but the result was not

deci-sive, and Mackay continued his depredations. To put a

stop to the distiu'bances in the Highlands, James I., earlv in

the following year, summoned the principal chiefs to meet

him and his parliament at Inverness, and among the number

arrested by the king on this occasion, about forty in all, was

Angus Dubh, with his four sons. After a .short confinement,

Angus was pardoned and released with three of them, the

eldest, Neill Mackay, being kept as a hostage for his good

behaviour. Being confined in the Bass at the mouth of the

Frith of Forth, he was ever after called Neill Wasse (or

B.ass) Mackay. During his imprisonment his son, Thomas
Macneill, proprietor of the lands of Creigh, Spanziedaill, and

I'ulrossie in Siitherbiud, had a quarrel with Mowat of F,-esh-



MACKAY. 6

wick. To avoid liis vengeance, Mowat took refuge, with liis

followers, in tlie chapel of St. Duft'us near Tain, but they

were follovyed thither by Thomas, who slew liiin and his peo-

ple, and burnt the chapel to the ground. In consequence of

this outrage the king i.ssued a proclamation against Thomas

Macneill, promising his lands as a reward to any one who

would Idll or apprehend him. Angus Murray, son of Alex-

ander Murray of Cubin, with a view to his apprehension,

offered his brotliers, Morgan and Neill Macneill, for their as-

sistance, his two daughters in marriage, besides promising to

aid them in getting possession of the lands of Angus Dubh

in Strathnaver. Tliey accordingly apprehended their bro-

ther, Thomas, who was delivered up to the king, and

executed at Inverness. Murray gave his daughters in

marriage to Neill and Morgan Macneill, as he had promised,

and thereafter made an incursion into Strathnaver, to seize

the lands of Angus Dubh Mackay. The latter, being too old

to lead his clan in person, gave the command of it to John

Abcrigh, his natural son, but to save the effusion of blood, he

sent a message to his cousins, Neill and Morgan, offering to

surrender to them all his lands in Stratlinaver, if they would

allow him to retain Kintail. This offer was rejected, and

a desperate battle took place at Drumnacoub, near Tongue.

Among the slain were the beginners of the strife, Angus

MuiTay and his two sons-in-law, Neill and Morgan Macneill.

lohn Aberigh, the victor, lost an arm in the conflict. After

the battle, Angus Dubh, the chief, caused himself to be car-

ried to the field, to search for the bodies of his slain cousins,

when he M-as killed by an arrow from a Sutherland man, who

lay concealed near the spot.

In 1437 Neill VVasse Mackay was released from confine-

ment in the Bass, and on assuming the chiefship, he bestow-

ed on John Aberigh, for his attention to his fatlier, the lands

of Lochnaver in fee simple, wliich were long possessed by his

posterity, that particular branch of the Mackays, called the

Slioclid-ean-Aberigh, or an-Ahrach. Neill Wasse, soon after

his accession, ravaged Caithness, but died the same year,

leaving two sons, Angus, and John Roy Mackay, the latter

founder of another branch, called the Sliochd-ean-Roy.

Angus Mackay, the elder son, assisted the Keiths in in-

vading Caithness in 1464, when they defeated the inhabitants

of that district in an engagement at Blaretannie. He was

burnt to death in the church of Tarbet in 1475, by the men

of Ross, whom he had often molested. With a daughter,

married to Sutherland of Dilred, he had three sons, viz., John

Reawigh, meaning yellowish red, the colour of his hair;

Y-Roy Mackay ; and Neill Naverigh Mackay.

To revenge his father's death, .Tohn Reawigh Mackay, the

eldest son, raised a large force, and assisted by Robert

Sutherland, uncle to the earl of Sutherland, invaded Strath-

oikell, and laid waste the lands of the Rosses in that district.

A battle took place, 11th July 1487, at Aldy-Charrish, when

the Rosses were defeated, and their chief, Alexander Ross of

Balnagowan, and 17 other principal men of that clan were

slain. The victims returned home with a large booty.

It was by forays such as these that the great Highland

chiefs, and even some of the lowland nobles, contrived, in

former times, to increase their stores and add to their posses-

sions, and the Mackays soon obtained a large accession to

their lands by the following circumstance, which strongly

marks the manners of the age. The nephew of the Mackay

chief, Alexander Sutlierland of Dilred, having failed to repay

a sum of money he had borrowed from Sir James Dunbar of

Cumnock, the latter took legal measures to secure his debt

by appraising part of his lands. The affront was the more

galling as the Dunbars had but recently settled in Snther-
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land, and the laird of Dilred "grudged, as it were," (says

Sir Robert Gordon) " that a stranger should brawe (brave)

him at his owne doors." Whilst in this humour he happened

to meet Sir James Dunbar's brother, Alexander, the Iiusband

of the countess dowager of Sutherland, and after some alter-

cation, a combat ensued, when Alexander Dunbar was killed.

Sir James immediately went to Edinburgh, and laid the mat-

ter before the king, who caused Alexander Sutherland to be

proclaimed a rebel, and promised his lands to any one who
should apprehend him. After some search, he was talcen,

with ten of his followers, by his uncle, Y-Roy Mackay, who
had succeeded his brother, John Reawigh Mackay. as chief of

the Mackays. Sutherland was executed, and his lands be-

stowed on Y-Roy Mackay. These were Armidall, Strathy,

Golspietour, Kinnald, Kilcolmkill, and Dilred, the charter of

which was dated at Inverness, 4th November 1449. "Ava-
rice," says Sir R. Gordon, "is a strange vyce, which respects

neither blood nor freindship. This is the first infeftment that

any of the familie of Macky had from the king, so far as I

can perceave by the records of this kingdom ; and they wer

untill this tym possessors onlie of their lands in Strathnaver,

not careing much for any charters or infeftments, as most

pairts of the Highlanders have alwise done." (^Hist. p. 80.)

In February 1512, Sir James Dunbar obtained a decree be-

fore the court of session, setting aside the right of Y-Roy
Mackay to that part of the lands of Alexander Sutherland,

over which his security extended, and ordaining the earl of

Sutherland, as superior of the lands, to receive Sir James as

his vassal. In 1516. Y-Roy Mackay gave his bond of service

to Adam Gordon of Aboyne, brother of the earl of Huntly,

who had become earl of Sutherland, by marriage with Eliza-

beth, sister and heiress of the ninth earl, but died soon after.

Donald, his youngest son, slain at Morinsli, was ancestor of a

branch of the Mackays called the Sliochd-Don.ald-Mackay.

John, the eldest son, had no sooner taken po.ssession of his

father's lands, than his uncle, Neill Naverigh Mackay and his

two sons, assisted by a force furnished them by the eai'l of

Caithness, entered Strathnavei', and dispossessed liim of his

inheritance. John hastened to the clan Chattan and the clan

Kenzie, to crave tlieir aid, and, in his absence, his brother,

Donald, with a small force, surprised at night Neill Naverigli's

party at Dalnaivigh in Strathnaver, and slew both liis cousins

and the greater part of their men. Their father, Neill Nave-

righ, threw himself upon the generosity of his nephews, but

they ruthlessly ordered him to be beheaded by the hands of

his own foster-brother.

In 1517, in the absence of the earl of Sutherland, who had

wrested from John JIackay a portion of his lands, he and his

brother Donald invaded Sutherland with a large force. They

were met at a place called Torran-Duhh, near Rogart in

Strathfleet, by the Sutherland men, under Alexander Suther-

land, natural brother of the countess, and, after a furious

battle, defeated, with great slaughter. Sir Robert Gordon

says that this " was the greatest conflict that hitherto lies

been fonglitin between the inhabitants of these countreyes. or

within the diocy of Catteynes, to our knowledge." (Page 92).

After several revei-ses, John Mackay submitted to the earl in

1518, and granted liiin his bond of service. But such was his

restless and turbulent disposition that he afterwards prevailed

upon Alexander Sutherland, the bastard, who had married

his sister and pretended a claim to the earldom, to raise the

standard of insurrection against the earl. Alexander Suther-

land was taken prisoner and beheaded on the spot, but John

Mackay continued his hostile inroads into the earl's country.

On his way home from one of these excursions, with a large

quantity of cattle, he was attacked and defeated by the mas-
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ter of Sntlierland, and made his escape with great difficulty.

After tliis he again submitted to the earl, and a second time

gave him his bond of service and ' manrent' in 1522. He died

in 1529, and was succeeded by his brother, Donald.

In 1539, Donald Mackay obtained restitution of the greater

part of the family estates, which had been seized by the

Sutherland Gordons, and in 1542 he was present in the en-

gagement at Solway Moss. Soon after, he committed various

ravages in Sutherland. He began by burning the village

of Knockartol and platidering Strathbrora, but although

obliged to retreat by a body of the Sutherland men, under Sir

Hugh Kennedy, he soon returned with a larger force. He

was again, however, compelled to retreat, after a skirmish at

I.ochbuy, where he lost several of his men. Shortly there-

after he was apprehended, and committed a close prisonei' to

the castle of Foulis. After a considerable time he became

reconciled to tlie earl of Sutherland, to whom he gave his

bond of service and ' manrent' on 8tli April 1549.

In the absence of tlie bishop of Caithness in England, the

earl of Caithness and Donald Mackay took possession of his

lands, and levied the rents, as they pretended, for his behoof

When he returned, however, they refused to deliver up any

part of his property, or to account f<n' tlie rents which they

had received in his name. The earls of Huntly and Suther-

land summoned them, in consequence, to appear before them

at Helmsdale, to answer for their intromissions with the

bishop's rents. The earl at once complied with the summons,

and made a satisfactory aiTangement. Mackay, on his part,

was forced to appear W'ith great reluctance, when he was

once more committed a prisoner to the castle of Foulis,

whence, however, he escaped. He died in 1550.

In 1551, in the earl of Sutherland's absence, the Mackays

again proceeded to plunder and lay waste the country Y-

Mackay, the son of Donald, with the Strathiiaver men, en-

tered Sutherland, but was forced back by the earl's brothei-,

Alexander Gordon, who, pushing into the district of the

Mackays, wasted it, and carried oft' a large booty in goods

and cattle. Y-Mackay, in his turn, retaliated, and this sys-

tem of nmtual aggi-ession and spoliation continued for several

years. In 1555, Y-Mackay was summoned to appear before

the queen regent at Inverness, to answer for his depredations,

but, disobeying the citation, a commis.sion was granted to the

earl of Sutherland, to bi-ing him to justice. The earl accord-

iiigly entered Strathnaver with a great force, but Mackay

contrived to elude him, and the earl laid siege to the castle

of Borwe, the principal strength in Strathnaver, which he

took and completely demolished. Mackay, on his part, en-

tered Sutherland secretly, and burnt the church of Loth. He
was, however, twice defeated by Mackenzie and his country-

men in Strathbrora, and seeing no chance of escape, he at

last, in 1556, surrendered himself to the queen-regent, and

was counnitted prisoner to the castle of Edinburgh.

During his imprisonment, his kinsman, .Tolm Mor Mackay,

who took charge of his estates, entered Sutherland, in the

earl's absence, with a large body of his clan, and spoiled and

wasted that province, burning the chapel of St. Ninian. At

the foot of the hill of Benmore in Berriedale, they were sur-

pi-ised by a Sutherland force, and, after an obstinate resist-

ance, defeated with great slaughter. On his release from his

confinement in Edinburgh castle, Y-Mackay fought for awhile,

with great bravery, against the English on the borders, and

on his return to Strathnaver, he submitted himself to the

earl of Sutherland.

In 1562, he joined queen Mary at Inverness, and received

a remission of the crime of having, in 1548, conducted an

English army to Haddington. On 21st December, 1566, the

queen gifted his lands to Huntly at Stirling. On the

deaths, by poison, in 1567, of the earl and countess of

Sutheriand, Y-.Mackay, instigated by the earl of Caith-

ness, taking advant.age of the minority of the young earl,

their son, then only 15 years of age, invaded the county of

Sutherland, wasted the barony of Skibo, entered the town of

Dornoch, and under pretence of a quarrel with the Murr.ays,

by whom it was chiefly inhabited, set fire to it. So great

was his power, and so extensive his spoliations at this time,

that in the first parliament of ,James VI., loth December

1567, the lords of the articles were required to report,

" By what means might Mackay be dantoned ?" In 1570,

he was pi'evailed upon by Hugh Murray of Aberscors to ac-

company him to Sti athbogie, where the young earl of Suth-

erland resided with his kinsfolk the Gordons, when he entered

into an engagement with the earls of Huntly and Sutherland,

to assist the latter against the earl of Caithness, in consider-

ation of which, and on payment of £3,000 Scots, he obtained

from the earl of Huntly, the heritable right and title of the

lands of Strathnaver. Influenced, however, by Barbara Sin-

clair, the sister of the earl of Caithness and wife of the young

earl of Sutherland, with whom he publicly cohabited, he

broke his engagement, and continued to oppress the tenants

and dependents of the latter. He died in 1571, full of re-

morse, it is said, for the wickedness of his life.

His son, Houcheon, or Hugh, succeeded him when only

eleven years old. In 1587, he joined the earl of Caithness,

when attacked by the earl of Sutherland, although the latter

was his superior. He was excluded from the temporary

trace agreed to by the two earls in March of that year, and

in the following year they came to a resolution to attack him

together. Havmg received secret notice of their intention

from the earl of Caithness, he made his submission to the earl

of Sutherl.and, and ever after remained faithful to him. Mr.

Kobert Mackay of Thurso, in his ' History of the Mackays,' (p.

157) s.ays on this :
" If Hugh Mackay was faulty in deserting

and otherwise acting against Lord Caithness, who had never

done him any injury, he made no profit by it, or by connect-

ing himself with Sutherland. The Sinclau's, no doubt, had

their faults, but the Gordons had theirs in no less degree.

The policy and displeasure of the former were more easih-

discovered, and consequently more readily avoided; while

those of the Gordons were more deep and abiding. Each

had then' wide gi'asp ; but that of the Gordons was excessive

and gigantic : to which it must be added, that the pi incipal

cause of the downfall of the Caithness family was their being

forsaken by Mackay; and that he was the chief instrument

in serving and exalting the sinking family of Sutherhuul, to

the gi'eat detriment of his own, after his time."

In 1589, Sinclaii- of Murkle, brother of the earl of Caith-

ness, marched into StrathuUy, with ,an army of 3,000 men,

and having eluded the Sutherland sentinels, he passed for-

ward to a place called Crissalligh, on the height of Strath-

brora. Mackay, who was then at Dunrobin, was sent against

him by the earl of Sutherland, with five or six hundred men.

Finding, on coming up to them, that they were in great dis-

order, and that a party of them were skirmishing with some

of the Sutherland retainers, he resolved, even with his infe-

rior force, to attack them at once. Crossing, therefore, the

water which was between them, he rushed, with his men,

upon Sinclair's army, and after a long and hotly contested

battle, defeated them. In October 1590, the earl of Caith-

ness invaded Sutherland with all the forces he could muster.

In the van of his army were aoout 1,500 archers, under the

command of Donald Mackay of Scourie, who had, some time

before, fled from Sutherland for naving despoiled Assvnt,
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and had placed Iiimself under the protection of the earl of

Caithness. A furious confiiot ensued, which lasted for a con-

siderable time, but on the approach of night the Caithness

men were forced to retire from the field. Donald Mackay
of Scoune being afterwards apprehended and imprisoned in

Dunrobin castle, was, at the request of his brother, Hugh
Mackay, released by the earl of Satherland, to whom he ever

afterwards remained faithful. While the Caithness men
were engaged in their late excursion into Sutherland, Hugh
Mackay entered into Caithness, and laid waste everything in

his course, even to the gates of Thurso. He carried off a

large quantity of booty without opposition, which he divided

among his countrymen, according to custom.

Of the army raised by the earl of Sutherland in 1601, to

oppose the threatened invasion of his territories by the earl

of Caithness, tlie advanced guard was commanded by Patrick

Gordon of Gartayand Donald Mackay of Scourie, and the right

wing by Hugh Mackay. On its approach, however, the

Caithness men took to fiight. In August 1602, Hugh Mac-

kay accompanied the earl of Sutherland, and his brother. Sir

Robert Gordon, on a visit to Patrick Stuart, earl of Orkney.

In 1610 he and his son, Donald Mackay, afterwards Lord

Reay, were summoned before the privy council at Edinburgh,

by the earl of Caithness, for giving succour and protection to

John Sutherland, an outlaw, the son of Hugh Mackay's sis-

ter. He had lived in Berriedale, under the earl of Caithness,

whose oppressions had driven him to acts of vengeance and

spoliation, and having disregarded a citation to appear at

Edinburgh, to answer certain charges against him, he had

been proclaimed a rebel. In obedience to the summons Mac-

kay hastened to the capital, where he met Sir Robert Gor-

don, who had arrived from England for the purpose of assist-

ing him on the occasion. Lord Caithness, however, was

easily induced to settle the matter, and, on his invitation

subsequently, the Mackay chief and his brother William spent

the following Christmas with him at Girnigo castle. His de-

.sign in asking them was to separate the Mackays from the

Sutherland interests, but in this he was unsuccessful. Hugh

Mackay died at Tongue, 11th September 1614, in his 55th

year. He was connected with both the rival houses by mar-

riage; his first wife being Lady Elizabeth Sinclair, second

daughter of George, fourth earl of Caithness, and relict of

Alexander Sutherland of Duffus; and his second, Lady Jean

Gordon, eldest daughter of Alexander, eleventh earl of Suth-

erland. The foi-mer lady was drowned, and left a daughter.

By the latt'fr he had two sons. Sir Donald Mackay of Far,

first Lord Reay, and .John, who married in 1619, a daughter

of James Sinclair of Murkle, by whom he had Hugh Mackay

and other children.

Sir Donald JLiekay of Far, the elder son, was, by Charles

I., created a peer ot Scotland, by the title of Lord Reay, by

patent, dated 20th June, 1628, to him and his heirs male

whatever. See Ricay, Lord. From him the land of the

Mackays in Sutherland acquired the name of " Lord Reay's

Country," which it has ever since retained. It now belongs

to the duke of Sutherland.

The Mackays became very numerous in the northern coun-

ties, and the descent of their chiefs, in the male line, has

continued unbroken ft-orn their first appearance in the north

down to the present time. In the county of Sutherland, they

multiplied greatly also, under other names, such as M'Phail.

Poison, Bain, Nielsen, &c. The names of Mackie and M'Ghie

are also said to be derived from Mackay. Tlie old family of

M'Ghie of Balmaghie, which for about 600 years posses.sed

estates in Galloway, used the same arms as the chief of the

Mackays. They continued in possession of their lands till

1786. Balm.agliie means Mackay town. The name M'Crie

is supposed to be a coiTuption of M'Ghie.

At the time of the rebellion of 174.5, the Mackavs were

one of the clans that continued faithful to the government, at

which time its effective force was estimated at 800 men by

President Forbes. It is said that in the last Sutherland fen-

cibles, raised in 1793 and disbanded in 1797, there were 33

John Mackays in one company alone. In 1794 the Reav
fencibles, 800 strong, were raised in a few weeks, in " Lord

Reay's countiy," the residence of the clan Mackay. The
names of no fewer than 700 of them had the prefix of Mac.

From 1795 to 1802, when it was disbanded, the regiment

was employed in Ireland, where it soon acquired the confi-

dence of Generals Lake and Nugent. The former was par-

ticularly attached to the Reay fencibles, and after the defeat

of Castlebar, he frequently exclaimed, ' If I had had my
brave and honest Reays there, this would not have happen-

ed." At Tara Hall, 26th May, 1798, three companies of the

Reays distinguished themselves in an attack upon a large

body of rebels, whom they drove from a strong position, with

the loss of about 400 killed and wounded, they themselves

having only 26 men killed and wounded.

With regard to the term Siol Mhoi'gan applied to the clan

Mackay, Mr. Robert Mackay of Thurso, the family historian,

denies that as a clan they were ever known by that designa-

tion, which rests, he says, only on the affirmation of Sir Ro-

bert Gordon, without any authority. He adds :
" There are,

indeed, to this day, persons of the surname Morgan and

Morganaoh, who are understood to be of the Mackays, but

that the whole clan, at any period, went under that designa-

tion, is incorrect ; and those of them who did so, were al-

ways few and of but small account. The name seems to be

of Welsh origin; but how it obtained among the Mackays it

is impossible now to say."

Of the branches of the clan Mackay, the family of Scourie

is the most celebrated. They were descended from Donald

Mackay of Scourie and Eriboll, elder son of lye Mackay III.,

chief of the clan from 1550 to 1571, by his first wife, a

daughter of Hugh Jlacleod of Assynt. With regard to the

manner in which they became possessed of Scourie, and in-

deed of the whole parish of Edderachillis, an account is given

by the Rev. Mr. Falconer in the Old Statistical Account of

Scotland, which can only be reconciled with the family his-

tory by considering lye Mackay and the " Sir Hugh Mackay"

of his narrative as identical, and by rejecting the story about

his son Donald's mother. Donald and his full brother, John

Beg Mackay, were considered illegitimate, because their pa-

rents were cousins. The chief of the clan, styled "Sir Hugh

Mackay," having occasion, in 1550, to remit some money to

Edinburgh, was surprised to find his messenger return the

following day without it, as he had been robbed on the way

by a party of armed men, with blackened faces. The gene-

ral suspicion of the country fell upon James Macleod of

Edderacliillis, who was of a turbulent and factious disposition,

as the person who had employed them to commit the rob-

berv. With the Morisons of Durness he had fi-equent quar-

rels, and Morison of Ashir, the principal man amongst them,

having, at that time, in his house, Donald Mackay, a natural

son of the Mackay chief, he proposed, both to the Mackays

and his own friends, that he should be laird of Edderacliillis,

if Macleod could be made aw.'iy with. A cousin of James

Macleod, named Donald Macleod, undertook to put him to

death, on being promised the half of Edderachillis and Donald

Mackav's mother for his wife. A party of the Morisons, with

Donald Mackay at their liead, marched, in a dark morning,
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towanls the residence of James Macleod, and slew several of

Ills kinsmen, lie liimselt being killed by a bullet from the

musket of his cousin, Donald Macleod. The latter, not re-

ceiving the reward promised him, raised his friends in Assynt,

and with thein returned to Edderachillis, where he found the

Morisons prepared to meet and fight him, at a place called

Maldy. An engagement, however, was prevented by " Sir

Hugh JIackay " presenting himself on the top of a neighboui'-

ing hill, with 300 men, and proposing to Donald Macleod, to

resign his pretensions to Edderachillis in favour of his son

Donald, and he himself, on his doing so, would grant him

other lands on his own estate, called the davoch of Hope.

This pi-oposal he acceded to. It was, however, from his

brother Hugh, who gave him a charter of the lands, that

Donald Mackay obtained Edderachillis, which afterwards

formed part of the estate of the Reay family, and that branch

of the Mackays which sprung from liim adopted the designa-

tion of Scourie.

Donald Mackay above mentioned, the son of lye 111., by

his wife, Euphemia, daughter of Hugh Munro of Assynt in

Ross, brother of the laird of Foulis, had three sons and four

daughters. The sons were Hugh, Donald, and William.

Hugh, the eldest, succeeded his fatlier, and by the Scots

Estates was appointed colonel of the Reay countijnien. He

married a daughter of James Corbet of Rheims, by whom he

had five son.s, William, Hector, Hugh, the celebrated General

Mackay, commander of the government forces at the battle of

Killiecrankie, a memoir of whom is given at page 10, in

larger tvpe, James and Rodericlv. He had .also three daugh-

ters, Barbara, married to John, Lord Reay
;
Elizabeth, to

Hugh Munro of EriboU, and Ann, to the Hon. Capt. William

Mackav of Kinloch. William and Hector, the two eldest

sons, both unmarried, met with untimely deaths. In Febra-

ary 1G8S, the earl of Caitlmess, whose wife was younger than

himself, having conceived some jealousy against William,

caused him to be seized at Dunnet, while on his w,-iy to Ork-

ney, with a party of 30 persons. He was conveyed to Thurso,

where he was immured in a dungeon, and after long contine-

ment was sent home in an open boat, and died the day after.

Ill August of the same year, his brother Hector, accompanied

bv a servant, having gone to Aberdeenshire, on his way to

Edinburgh, was waylaid and murdered by William Sinclair of

Dunbeath and John Sinclair of Murkle, and their two ser-

vants. A complaint was immediately raised before the jus-

ticiarv, at the instance of John earl of Sutherland and the

relatives of the deceased against the earl of Caithness and the

two Sinclairs for these crimes. A counter complaint was

brought by Caithness against the parties pursuers, for several

alleged crimes from 1649 downwards, but it was fallen IVom,

and a compromise took place between the parties.

General Mackay's only son, Hugh, major of his father's

regiment, died at Cambray, in 1708, aged about 28 He left

two sons, Hugh and Gabriel, and a daughter. Hugh died at

Breda, a lieutenant-general in the Dutch service, and colonel

of the Mackay Dutch regiment, wdiich took its name from his

father. He had an only daughter, the wife of Lieutenant-

general Prevost, of the BritLsh service, who, on the death of

his father-in-law, without male issue, obtained the king's

license to bear the name and arms of Mack.ay of Scourie in

addition to his own, which his descendants in Holland still

bear. Gabriel, the younger son, lieutenant-colonel of the

JIackav regiment, died without issue. James, the next bro-

ther of General Mackay, a lieutenant-colonel in his regiment,

was killed at Killiecrankie, and Roderick, the youngest, died

in the East Indies, both unmarried.

After General Hugh Mackay's death, the Mackay regiment

in the Dutch service was commanded by his nephew. Briga-

dier-general vEneas Mackay, who was wounded at Killiecran-

kie, and after him by his son. Colonel Donald Mackay, who
was killed at the battle of Fontenoy, May 11, 1745.

The representative of the family of Scourie, John Mackay,

Esq. of Rockville, at one period one of the clerks to the com-

missioners for the affairs of India, which institution he re-

signed from loss of sight, had two brothers, Hugh and Wil-

liam. Their father was the Rev. Thomas Mackay, minister

of the parish of Lairg in Sutherlandshire, son of the Rev.

John Mackay, minister there from 1714 to 175.3, having pre-

viously been minister of his native parish of Durness on the

west coast of the same county. Hugh, the second son, en-

tered the service of the East India Company in 1784, and

served in the 4th Madras native cavalry. He held the lu-

crative staff appointment of agent for draught and carriage

cattle to the army, under General Wellesley, afterwards duke

of Wellington, but though exempt from regimental duty as a

staff officer, he solicited penni.ssion to lead his company in

the battle of Ass.aye, 23d September, 1803, and was refused.

Rather, however, than remain idly with the baggage in the

rear, when his brother officers were engaged with the enemy,

he resolved to disobey, thereby risking his commission, and

was killed at the muzzle of the enemy's grins, in that despe-

rate charge of the cavalry which decided the fate of the day.

On the spot where he fell his brother officers erected a monu-

ment to his memory.

William, the youngest son, after being educated at the

parish school of Lairg, went to sea at the age of 16. He
made several voyages to the East and West Indies, and was

esteemed one of the most skilful navigators in the Indian

seas. In 1795, the ship Juno of Calcutta, of which he was
second officer, was sent on a voyage to the coast of Pegu for

a cargo of teakwood, and on its return was wrecked on the

coast of Arracan. The ship sprang a leak, and filled so fast

with water that but for the nature of her cargo, she must in-

evitably have gone to the bottom. When her hull was under

water, she settled down, with her masts standing erect. To
lighten her, the main mast was cut away, and the unfortu-

nate crew, 72 in number, took I'ef'uge in the rigging of the

two remaining masts. In this situation, without food or wa-

ter to drink, save what the rain supplied, fourteen individu-

als, including the captain's wife and her servant maid, lived 23

d:iys, and, when at length the wreck took the gi-ound, were

saved. The rest perished. The principal .survivor was Wil-

liam Mackay, who published a narrative of his sufferings and

the escape of himself and his comp.anions. From this narra-

tive. Lord Byron borrowed some of the most graphic incidents

and most touching passages in the description of a shipwreck

in his poem of Don Juan. In reference to these passages,

Mr. Moore, his biographer, says :
" It will be felt, I think, by

every reader, that this is one of the instances in which poetry

must be content to yield the palm to prose. There is a pa-^'

thos in the hat sentence of the seaman's recital (see Narr;i-

tive of the Shipwreck of the Juno, page 26) which the artifi-

ces of metre and rhyme were sure to disturb, and which, in-

deed, no verses, however beautiful, could half so naturallv

and powerfully express."

In 1801, William Mackay, who had resumed his mariner's

life immediately after his wonderful preservation, was sent

up the Red Sea in command of a brig, with stores and pro-

visions for General Haird's army, destined to co-operate with

that of Sir Ralph Abercromby in Egypt. On the voyage he

had another marvellous escape from shipwreck, and by supe-

rior seamanship not only saved his own but many other ships

of the fleet, particularly, the Real Fidellissiino, with Colonel
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Ford and a detachment of the 86th regiment, an account of

which is given in an appendix to a subsequent edition of his

Narrative of the Loss of the Juno. He died at Calcutta in

1804, from an affection of the liver, contracted during the

tvpenty-three dreadful days he passed on the wreck of the

Juno. In the churchyard of Calcutta there is a monument

to his memory, and in that of their native parish of Lairg in

Sutherland a square monument, with a separate tablet for

each, commemorates the characters of the Rev. John Mac-

kay, and his son, and two grandsons.

General Mackay's cousin-german. Captain William Mac-

kay of Borley, eldest son of Donald Mackay of Borley, second

son of Donald, first of Scourie, led a company of the Mac-

kays at the battle of Worcester in 10.51, on the side of Charles

IL He liad three sons : Captain Hugh Mackay of Scourie

;

Donald; and the Rev. John Mackay, minister first of Dur-

ness, and afterwards of Lairg, above mentioned. Donald,

the second son, was a member of the council of the Darien

company in 1698, and was sent to Britain from the colony

with an address to the king, and a pressing request to the

directors to send out, with all expedition, supplies of provi-

sions, ammunition, and men. On his return to the colony,

lie found it abandoned. His fate was a melancholy one.

Being at sea in 1702, he harpooned a shark, and ha\'ing got

entangled with the rope, was dragged overboai'd and drowned.

The eldest branch of the Maekays was that of the Clan-

Abrach, descended from John Aberigh Jlaokay, second son

of Angus Dubh, who received tlie lands of Achness, Brea-

chat, and others, from his brother, Neill Wasse (see page 5).

Of this family was Robert Mackay, writer, Thurso, the his-

torian of the clan Mackay. According to this gentleman,

Jolm Abeiigh, the first of this branch, gave his name to the

district of Strathnaver. In the Gaelic language, he says,

the inhabitants of Strathnaver are called Naverigh, and that

tribe the Sliochd-nan-Aberigh. John, their founder, some

say, took his appellation of Aberigh from Lochaber, where

he resided in Iiis youth with some relatives, and froiri Strath-

na-Aberich tlie transition is natural to Stratb-n'-Averich.

Neill Naverich, above mentioned, was so called from his hav-

ing belonged to the Keay Country, that is, Strathnaver.

Tlie Clan-Abrach were the most numerous and powerful

branch of the Maekays. They acted as wardens of their

country, and never betrayed their trast.

The Bighouse branch were descendants of William Mac-

kay of Far, younger half brother of Donald Mackay of Scourie,

by his second wife. Christian Sinclair, daughter of the laird

of Dun.

The Strathy branch sprung from John Mackay of Dilred

and Strathy, brother of the first Lord Reay, and son of Hugh

Mackay of Far, by his wife. Lady Jane Gordon, eldest daugh-

ter of Alexander, earl of Sutherland.

\ The Melness branch came from the Hon. Colonel .ffineas

Mackay, second son of the first Lord Reay, by his first wife,

the Hon. Barbara Mackenzie, daughter of Lord Kintail.

The Kinloch branch descended from the Hon. Captain

William Mackay, and the Sandwood branch from the Hon.

Charles Mackay, sons of the first Lord Reay by his last wile,

Marjory Sinclair, daughter of Francis Sinclair of Stircoke.

The founder of the Holland branch of the Maekays, Gene-

ral Hugh Mackay, prior to 1080, when a colonel in the Dutch

service, and having no prospect of leaving Holland, wrote for

some of liis near relatives to go over and settle in that coun-

try. Amongst those were his brother, James, and his

nephews, jEneas and Robert, sons of the fir.st Lord Reay.

T'he former he took into his own regiment, in which, in a few

years, he became lieutenant-colonel. The latter he sent to

school at Utrecht for a short time, and afterwards obtained

commissions forthein in his own regiment. In the beginning

of 1687, several British officers in the Dutch service were re-

called to England by King James, and amongst others was

iEneas Mackay, then a captain. On liis arrival in London,

the King made him some favourable propositions to enter his

service, which he declined, and, in consequence, when he

reached Scotland, he was ordered to be apprehended as a spy.

He had been imprisoned nearly seven months in Edinburgh

castle, when the prince of Orange landed at Torbay, and he

was liberated upon granting his personal bond to appear be-

fore the privy council when called upon, under a penalty of

£500 sterling. The Dutch Macka3 s married among the no-

bility of Holland, and one of the families of that branch held

the title of baron.

MACKAY, Hugh, a distinguished military

commander, tlie third son of Colonel Hugh Mac-

kay of Scourie, w;is bom about 1640. His two

elder brotliers liaving been murdered in the man-

ner above shown, he early succeeded to the family

estate. Soon after the Restoration in 16G0, he

obtained an ensign's commission in the Royal

Scots, then, from its commanding officer, termed

Douglas' or Dumbarton's regiment, and accompa-

nied it to France, on tliat corps being lent by

Cliarles II. to the French king. It is now the

first foot of the British line. Among his bro-

ther subalterns was young Churchill, afterwards

the great duke of Marlborough, with whom he

kept up a friendly correspondence till his death.

In 1G69, with several other officers, he volun-

teered into the service of Venice, and so greatly

distinguished himself in several engagements with

the Turks in the island of Candia, that he receiv-

ed from tlie Republicr a medal of great value, in

acknowledgment of his services.

In 1672 he had the rank confei-red on him of

captain in Dumbarton's regiment, and was em-

ployed with it in the unprincipled expedition of

Louis against tlie United Provinces. His regi-

ment formed part of tlie division of tlie army

which, under Marshal Turenne, overran the pro-

vince of Gueldres, and captured most of the

Dutch fortresses on the Meuse and Waal. At

the small town of Bommel, in Guelderland, he

was quartered in the liouse of a Dutch ladj', the

widow of tlie Chevalier Arnold de Bie, whose eld-

est daughter, Clara, he married in 1G73.

Previous to this event, not approving of tlie

cause in which he was engaged, lie liad resigned

his commission in the Royal Scots, and entered
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the service of the States General, being appointed

cnptiiin in tlie Scottish Dutch brigade. In 1G74

lie was present at the battle of Senelf, when the

army under the prince of Orange was defeated by

tlie prince of Conde. He was afterwards pro-

moted to the rank of major-commandant in the

same service ; and on the lieutenant-colonelcy of

one of the regiments forming the Scots brigade

becoming vacant, the prince bestowed it on Mac-

kay, in preference to Graham of Claverhouse,

who, in consequence, quitted the Dutch service in

disgust.

About 1G80 Mackay was promoted to the com-

mand of tlie whole brigade, which, in 1685, was

called over to England to assist in suppressing

Monmouth's rebellion ; on which occasion. King

James, on 4th June of that year, conferred on

him the i-aiik of major-general, and appointed him

a member of his privy council in Scotland. He

proceeded, in consequence, to Edinburgh, where

he took the oaths, but his public duties did not

admit of his visiting his estate and relations in

Sutherland. In the following year, disapproving

of the arbitrai-y proceedings of James' govern-

ment, and preferring the service of his son-in-law,

the prince of Orange, he resigned his commission,

and returned to Holland; and in 1688, having,

along with most of the oflficei's of the Scots bri-

gade, refused to obey the order of James 11. to

return to England, he and five other persons were

declared rebels, and specially exempted fi'om ]>ar-

don.

With the command of the English and Scots

division of the invading army, General Mackay

accompanied the prince of Orange to England at

the Revolution. Soon after his landing he was

seized with a severe illness, from which he had

scarce!}' recovered when b}' a warrant, signed by

William and Mary, dated from Kensington, 4th

January, 1689, he was appointed majoi'-general

of all forces whatever, "within our ancient king-

dom of Scotland," and on the 25th March he ar-

rived at Leith, with part of the Scots brigade,

which had served in Holland. The assimiption

of the sovereign authority in the above wan-ant,

as regarded Scotland, without waiting for tlie de -

tcrnrmatioii of the convention, was guarded against

bv the following cnti-y in the records of that body :

"Edinburgh, 28th March, 1689. The estates of

this kingdom considering that the king of Eng-

land, in pursuance of his acceptation of the ad-

ministration of the public affairs of this kingdom,

till the meeting of the estates, had sent down

Major-general Mackay, with some Scots regiments

under his command, for the security of the estates,

and general peace of the kingdom
;
they do ac-

knowledge the great kindness and care of the king

of England ; and do hereby warrant and authoi'-

ise the said Major-general Mackay to command

any forces, either standing or to be raised, with

the militia within this kingdom," &c.

On Viscount Dundee proceeding to the noiHi,

to raise the clans for King James, Mackay was

despatched fi'om E^dinburgli with a considerable

body of troops in pursuit. He had previously

attempted to open a correspondence with Camero)i

of Locliiel, with the view of inducii:g him to sub-

mit to King William's government, but could ob-

tain no answer, and M.icdonell of Glengary, to

Vhom he also made a communication, advised

him, in return, to imitate the conduct of General

Monk, by restoring James. Appointing the

town of Dundee as the rendezvous for his troops,

with about 500 men, consisting of nearly an equal

number of horse and foot, Macka}' hastened north

in quest of the viscount, and after in vain attempt-

ing to meet him, he marched first to Elgin, and

afterwards to Inverness, where he was joined b}'

500 of the Mackays, Grants, and Ilosses. Dun-

dee liaving entered Badeuoch with a large force,

Mackay, not being joined by a detachment of

Dutch troops under Colonel Ramsay, which he

expected, retreated from Inverness through Strath-

spey. Here he at one time intended to give Dun-

dee battle, but the latter showed no disposition to

engage.

In all probability there would have been a bat-

tle if liieutenant-colonel Livingstone and several

of his officers had not stationed two dragoons near

the mansion-house of Edinglassie to give Dundee

warning. The dragoons were found concealed in

the woods, and their information led to discover-

ies Avliich complete!}' implicated Livingstone and

others. General Mackay arrested them and sent

tliem to Edinburgli. The}' confessed their guilt,

but it is not ascertained in what manner thev
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were disposed of. Having thus reason to distrust

tlie fidelity of a portion of liis force, Macliay con-

tinned his retreat till he was joined by some rein-

forcements upon whom he could rel}\ when he

turned upon Dundee, and pursued him into Rade-

noch. He subsequently marched to Inverness,

whence lie wrote to the duke of Hamilton, presi-

dent of the convention, urging the necessity of

establishing "a formidable garrison" at Inver-

lochy, and small ones in other places in the north,

without which lie considered that it would be ut-

terl}^ impossible to subdue the Highlanders. He

himself soon after repaired to Edinburgh, to has-

ten the preparations for carrying such a project

into effect; but the plan he proposed, as he him-

self confesses, "considering the inability, ignor-

ance, and little forwardness of the government to

furnish the necessary ingredients for the advance

of their service, was built upon a sandy founda-

tion, and much like the building of castles in the

air." (JMackaifs Memoirs, p. 46.)

After completing his arrangements at Edin-

burgh, Mackay went to Stirling, to inspect the

castle. From that place he proceeded to Perth,

and on the 26th July 1689, he began his march

into Athol, at the head of an army, as generally

stated, of 4,500 men, but he tells us himself, in

his 'Memoirs,' that he had with him only " six

battalions of foot, making at the most 3,000 men,

with four troops of horse and as many dragoons."

Among the foot were two Scottish regiments,

which, as stated in Mr. Mackay of Rockfield's

Life of General Mackay, " as well as the horse,

were not only new levies, but were also command-

ed by noblemen and gentlemen wholly destitute

of military experience, and selected for their re-

spective commands solely on account of their

power of raising men ; little more, therefore, than

one half of the whole number could be said to be

disciplined." At night the general encamped op-

posite to Dnnkeld. Here, at midnight, he re-

ceived an express from the marquis of Tullibar-

dine, (often styled Lord Murray,) announcing

that Viscount Dundee had entered Athol, and in

consequence he had retreated from before the cas-

tle of Blair, which he had for some time block-

aded, and informing him that at the upper end of

the pass of Killiecrankie, which lay between him

and Lord Dundee, he had posted a guard to se-

cure a free passage through it to liis troops.

On receipt of this alarming intelligence, Mac-

kay despatched orders to Perth, to hasten the

arrival of six troops of cavalry which he had left

there, and at daybreak next day, proceeded in di-

rection of the pass. At ten o'clock in the

morning he reached its lower extremity, when he

halted his ti'oops, and allowed them two hours to

rest and refresh themselves. Receiving notice

that the pass was clear, he again put his men in

motion, and they effected their passage through

this terrific defile, with the loss only of a single

horseman. In that siiigularlj' wild and stupen-

dous locality', a handful of men, with no other

ammunition than stones, stationed at intervals on

the summit of the precipices, could easily impede

the progress of any troops. If even at the pres-

ent time, with the advantages of the excellent

road, formed nearly sixty years afterwards, its

passage is difficult to the traveller, it must have

been much more so in General Mackay's time,

when it was in a state of the most savage desola-

tion. " When the pass of Killiecrankie," says

one authority, " is traversed, the country beyond

is found to open suddeiilj' up into a plain, which

is expressively called the Blair or field of Athol.

Immediately beyond the pass this plain is not

very spacious, but is confined to that description

of territory Avhich in Scotland is called a liaugh,

or a stripe of level alluvial soil by tlie brink of a

river. The road debouches upon tliis narrow-

plain ; the river runs along under the hills on the

left ; on the right rise other hills, but not of so

bold a character. ]\Iackay no sooner arrived at a

space sufiiciently wide for di'awing up his armj'

than he halted and began to intrench himself.

He left his baggage at a blacksmith's house near

the termination of the pass, so as to have the pro-

tection of the army in front."

As it was Viscount Dundee's object to prevent

Mackay from establisliing himself in Athol, he did

not hesitate to meet him with an inferior force,

amounting to little more than the half of that

under Mackay. In making his dispositions, the

latter divided every battalion into two parts, and,

as he meant to fight three deep, he left a small

distance between each of these sub-battalions.
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In tlie centre of liis line, however, he left a greater

interval of space, behind which he placed the two

troops of horse. Hastings' regiment, which arriv-

ed after he had taken nphis ground, was stationed

on the right, and, for greater security, a detach-

ment of fire-locks from each b;Ut;ilion was added.

On the extreme left, on a hillock covered with

trees, Lieut.-Colonel Lauder was posted, with 200

picked men. After his line had been fully formed,

Mackay rode along the front, from the left wing,

which he committed to the charge of Brigadier

Balfour, to the right, and having ascertained that

everything was in readiness to receive the enemj^,

he addressed the battalions nearest him in a short

speech.

Whilst he was occupied on the lower platform,

his gallant rival was equally busy on the emi-

nence above, ranging his men in battle array, in

one line, and neither he nor Mackay placed any

body of reserve behind their lines. As the evening

advanced without any appearance on the part of

Dundee of a desire to commence the action, the

uneasiness of Mackay increased, as he supposed

that the design of the Highlanders was to wait

till nightfall, when, by descending suddenly, and

setting up their customary loud shout, they ex-

pected to frighten his men, und throw them into

disorder. He resolved however to remain in his

position, whatever were the consequences, " al-

though with impatience," as he says in his ile-

moirs, till Dundee should either attack him or

retire, which he had a better opportunity of doing.

To provoke the Highlanders to engage, he ordered

three small leather field-pieces to be discharged,

but they proved of little use. Towards the close

of the evening, some of Dundee's sharpshooters

took possession of some houses upon the ascent

which lay between the two armies, to obtain a

more certain aim. This induced the general to

order his brother. Colonel Mackay, to detach a

captain with some musqueteers to dislodge them.

The general's nephew, the Hon. Robert Mackay,

performed the duty with great gallantry, killing

and wounding some, and chasing the rest back to

their main body.

It was nearly sunset when the Highlanders all

at once began to move slowly down the hill, bare-

footed and stripped to their shirts and doublets.

They advanced, according to their usual practice,

with their bodies bent forward, so as to present as

small a surface as possible to the fire of the enemy,

the upper part of theLi- bodies being covered by

their targets. They soon rushed forward with

tremendous fury, uttering a terrific yell. They

commenced the attack by a discharge of their fire-

arms and pistols, which made little impression on

Mackay's men, who reserved their fire until within

a few paces of the Highlanders, when they poured

it into them. Discharging in platoons, they were

enabled to take a steady aim, and their fire told

with dreadful efl'ect on the Highlanders. At that

time the present plan of fixing the ba\'onct was

not known, and before the troops had time to screw

their side-arms on to the end of their muskets,

the Highlanders rushed in upon them sword-in-

hand. It is said that General Macka}' invented

the present plan of firing with the ba\ onet fixed,

from the complete defeat which he was now des-

tined so briefly to experience, for the whole affair

lasted only a few minutes. The shock of the

Highlanders was too impetuous to be long resisted

by soldiers, who, according to their own general,

" behaved, with the exception of Hastings' and

Leven's regiments, like the vilest cowards in

nature."

While the work of death was thus going on to-

wards the right, Dundee, at the head of the horse,

made a furious charge on Mackay's own battalion,

and broke through it, on which the English horse,

which were stationed behind, fled, without firing

a single shot. When Mackay perceived that

Dundee's chief point of attack was near the centre

of his line, he resolved to charge the Highlanders

in flank with two troops of horse which he had

placed in his rear ; and he ordered Lord Belhaven

to proceed round the left wing with his own troop,

and attack them on their right flank, ordering the

other troop to proceed in the contrary direction,

and assail their left. The general led Belhaven's

troop in person ; but scarcely had he got in front

of the line when it was thrown into disorder.

This disorder was soon communicated to the right

wing of Lord Kcnmure's battalion, which at once

gave way.

At this moment the general was surrounded by

a crowd of Highlanders, and he called to his cav-
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airy to follow him, that he might get them again

foi-med, but only one person made the attempt, a

servant, wliose horse was shot under Iiim. Put-

ting spurs to his horse, he galloped through the

Highlanders, and when he had got sufficiently

out of immediate danger, he turned round to ob-

serve the appearance of the field. To his aston-

ishment he saw none of his troops, but the dead,

the wounded, and the dying. His army had dis-

appeared. "In the twinkling of an eye, in ;i

manner," he says, " our men were out of sight,

being got pell niell down to the river-side, where

our baggage stood." The flight of his men must

have been truly rapid, for although his left wing,

which had never been attacked, had taken to flight

before he rode off, his right wing and centre had

still kept their ground. But now the whole of

his line had fled fi'om the field, pursued by the

Highlanders, till the latter were stopped by the

baggage, and it was to their desire for plunder that

those who escaped owed their safety, for had the

Highlanders continued their pursuit, it is very

probable that not an individual of Mackay's army

would have been left to relate the sad disaster of

their discomfiture and death.

When the general had recovered from his sur-

prise, and the smoke had cleared away, he dis-

covered on the right a small number of his troops.

He subsequently came upon another portion of

them. With these, he retired across the Garry,

without molestation, and contrarj' to the opinion

of several of his officers, who advised him to

mnrch through the pass of Killiecrankie to Perth,

he proceeded several miles up Athol, with the in-

tention of crossing over the hills to Stirling.

About two miles from the field of battle, he came

up with a party of about 150 fugitives, almost

without arms, under the command of Colonel

Ramsay, who was quite at a loss what direction

to take. Continuing his march along the edge of

a rivulet which falls into the Garrj', he came to a

little village, where he procured from the inhabit-

ants such information as enabled him, with the

assistance of his map, to decide upon his route.

Eai'ly in the morning he reached Weem castle,

the seat of his friend, the chief of the clan Men-

zies, whose son had been in the action at the

head of a company of Highlanders, and here he

obtained some sleep and refreshment after his fa-

tigues and harassing march. On Sunday, the

28th July, the general continued his march Avith

very little halting, and on Monday he arrived at

Stirling with about 400 men. The viscount of

Dundee fell in the battle, and thus rendered his

victor}^ a fruitless one to King James. On the

side of Mackay no fewer than 2,000 men fell, and

500 were made prisoners. The loss on the side

of Dundee could never be accurately ascertained.

It is stated to have been considerable, and General

Mackay says that " the enemy lost on the field

six for our one."

Among the persons of rank and distinction

slain were his brother Colonel Mackay and Brig-

adier Balfour. His nephew, the Hon. Captain

Mackay, had been left for dead on the field of

battle, and was found by Glengary and his men,

who, perceiving him still alive, carried him on a

barn door to the nearest hut, where he remained

some days till he could be removed in safety to

Dunkeld. He never completely recovered the

eff"ect of his wounds at Killiecrankie, and after

serving, and being repeatedly wounded, in several

of King William's battles in Fiauders, he died at

Tongue, the seat of his fiimily, in December 1696,

in the 30th year of his age.

After concentrating the troops at Stirling, Gen-

eral Mackay, within a few days after his arrival

at that place, found himself again at the head of

a considerable force. He then resolved to march

direct to Perth, and place a garrison there. On

coming within half-a-mile of the town, he observ-

ed a party of the enemy, consisting of about 300

Athol men, approaching from it. The latter, see-

ing from the dispositions made by General Mac-

kay, that their retreat would be intercepted,

threw themselves into the Tay, whither they were

followed by Mackay's cavnlry, who cut them

down in the water without mercy. He subse-

quently followed Colonel Cannan, who, on the

death of Dundee, had assumed the command of

James' armj', to the north, and stayed a night at

Aberdeen. His arrival there gave great joy, he

says, (^Memoirs, p. 66,) to most of the inhabit-

ants, as they were in dread of a visit from the

Highlanders that very night.

From Aberdeen Mackay proceeded up Deeside,
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liaving received intelligence that Cannan had ta-

ken up a position on the Braes of Mar ; but leavn-

inof, on liis march, that the Highlanders had gone

north to the duke of Gordon's territoiy, he drew

off his men towards Strathbogie. He reached

Strathbogie castle before Cannan arrived at tiie

castle of Aucliindoun, where he intended to fix

his hcad-qnarters. Here the distance between

the two armies was only about six miles, and

both commanders made preparations for a battle,

but the divisions and strifes among the officers

and Highland chiefs in Cannan's army prevented

one fi'om taking place ; and that leader resolved

to return to Atliol. Mackay followed him in the

direction of Croniar, and having ascertained

that he had crossed the hills and entered the

Mearns, he made a rapid movement down the

Dee to Aberdeen. After the battle of Dunkeld

he returned to Perth, and spent ten days at the

castle of Blair, during which time many of the

Atliol people took advantage of an indemnity

which he offered them, and delivered up their

arms.

From the jealousies and dissensions, and per-

sonal and selfish motives, which actuated all par-

tics, and the indifference and neglect with which

his plans for the subjugation of the Highlands had

been treated by the government. General Mackay

had, by this time, become heartily tired of his

command. He was himself of a moderate and

conciliatory disposition, and the different spirit

that seemed to influence the conduct of mostly all

others in power, made him, as he says himself,

" look upon Scotsmen of those times in general,

as void of zeal for their religion and natural affec-

tion, seeing all men hunt after tlieir particular

advantnges, and none minding sincerely and self-

deniedly the common good, which gave him a

real distaste of the country aiul service
;
resolving

from that time forward to disengage himself out

of it as soon as possible he could get it done, and

that the service would allow of." (Memoirs, p.

77.) He fiiiled, however, in obtaining even a

temporary leave of .absence, by the intrigues of

Lord Melville and Viscount Tarbet. who, as he

says, suspecting an interview with King William,

who was then in Holland, to be the object of his

proposed visit thither, wei'e afraid that he would

induce his majesty to adopt a system different

from that whicli had been followed in the man-

agement of Scottish affairs.

He now applied himself, with great persever-

ance, to accomplish his long cherished project of

erecting a fort at Inverlochy, capable of containing

ten or twelve hundred men, to keep the western

Highlanders in check. As no notice was taken of

a communication which he made to King William

in reference thereto, notwithstanding its import-

ance was urged in repeated letters from him, he

grew quite impatient, and threatened to thi-ow up

his commission. At length the privy council hav-

ing, at his request, wi-itten a letter to the kiiig on

the subject, his majesty ordered three frigates,

which Macka}^ had written for, to be sent down,

with some arms and ammunition and implements

for commencing the work, but no money was

forthcoming, without which nothing could be un-

dertaken. In this emergency he applied to the

city of Glasgow, the magistrates of which agreed

to hire vessels for transporting a detachment of

600 men, which Mnckay offered to take with him,

and to furnish him with the necessar\^ provisions,

and such articles as he might reqnii-e for complet-

ing the fort, in addition to those sent down from

England.

After the skii-mish of Cromdale, Mnckay pro-

ceeded into Lochaher, and thence to Inverlocliy,

and lost no time in commencing the fort at that

place. The original fort built by General Monk,

during the time of Cromwell, was chiefly of earth,

and of a temporary character. Mackay erected

the present one with stone and lime, on a smaller

scale, and gave it the name of Fort William in

honour of the king. It withstood a siege of tlii'ee

weeks in 17-15. Leaving a thousand men in gar-

rison there, he returned to the south, but shortly

afterwards marched north, in all haste, in order to

disperse the forces under Major-general Buchnu,

before any rising should take ])lace in the northern

counties. The earl of Seaforth having surrendei-ed

himself to him, was committed prisoner to the

castle of Inverness, and afterwards sent to Edin-

burgh. Having at length succeeded, by the most

energetic operations, in pacifying the northern

counties, and fidly establishing the authoi-ity of

AYilliam and Mary in Scotland, in November
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1690, he resigned the chief command of the army

and retired to his family in Holland, his adopted

country. Of his services in Scotland, he left an

interesting account in his "Memoirs," printed for

the first time for the Bannatyne Club in 1833.

In 1691, he was appointed second in command

of King William's forces, serving against the ad-

herents of King James in Ireland. He arrived in

that country in the beginning of May of that year,

and signalised himself by his skill and gallantry at

the capture of Athlone, having led his men on foot

through a deep and rapid ford on the river Shan-

non, amid a continued shower of balls, bullets,

and grenades. Smollett says, " Never was a more

desperate service, nor was ever exploit performed

with more valour and intrepidit}'." At the battle

of Aughrim, which followed, he commanded the

right wing of King William's army, and the vic-

tory, it was acknowledged, was gained chieflj' by

his foresight, good conduct, and courage.

After the capitulation of Limerick, on the 3d of

the ensuing October, he returned to Holland, and

in the succeeding year, when King William took

the field against Louis XIV. of France, Mackay,

with the rank of lieutenant-general, was nominat-

ed to the command of the British division of the

confederate army in Flanders. He was killed at

the disastrous battle of Steinkirk, July 24th, 1692.

He had been ordei'ed to a post which, he saw,

could not be maintained, and sent back his opinion

about it, but the former orders were confirmed, so

he advanced to his death, saying only, " The will

of the Lord be done." It is stated that in the

course of that evening. King William frequently

mentioned with regret the death of one of his

generals, but said nothing of General Mackay.

One of the officers present took the liberty of ex-

pressing his surprise that his majesty had made

no allusion to his old and faithful servant, Mackay.

" No," replied the king, " Mackay served a higher

Master, but the other served me with his soul."

The king attended Mackay's funeral, and when

the body was laid in the grave, he said, " There

he lies, and an honester man the world cannot

produce." He is still termed in his native coun-

try, " Shenlar mor," the great general. He was

to have been rewarded by King William, for his

services, with the title of earl of Scourie, but the

intrigues of his rival, Mackenzie of Coigach or

Cromarty, prevented it.

The eldest of his three daughters, Margaret,

became the wife of George, third Lord Reay.

The two others married Dutchmen, the one a

minister of Nimeguen, the other, the burgomaster

of that town.

Bishop Burnet describes General Mackay as

one of the most pious soldiers whom he had ever

known, and highl}'- commends him for the care

which he took to enforce the observance of strict

discipline, and attention to religious exercises,

among both the officers and men under his com-

mand. It was commonly said of him by the

Dutch soldiers, that he knew no fear but the fear

of God. One of his ruling principles was never

to aid what he considered a bad cause. His Life,

by John Mackaj', Esq. of Rockfield, the represen-

tative in the male line of the family of Scourie,

was published in 1836, in one vol. 4to.

MACKAY, RoBEKT, an eminent Gaelic bard,

commonly called Rob Donn, that is, Brown Ro-

bert, the son of a herdsman, was born in 1714, at

Durness, in Sutherlandshire. He says himself:

" I was born in the winter,

'Mongst the wild frowning mountains

;

My first sight of the world

Was the snow-drift around me."

His mother, a woman of vigorous understanding,

was well versed in Highland poetry and music,

with which she stored his mind in his childhood.

He never learnt to read. Till he was seven years

old he tended calves, but at that age he was ta-

ken into the service of Mr. John Mackay, of the

family of Skerray, a gentleman who carried on an

extensive business as a cattle-dealer. As he

grew to years he was employed as a drover, and

sometimes went with herds as fiir as to the Eng-

lish markets. He was afterwards engaged by

Donald Lord Reay, the chief of his clan, as his

cattle-steward or cow-keeper, called in some parts

of the country a homan. He now married, and

in course of time became the father of thirteen

children.

Unfortunately his fondness for deer-hunting,

for which he was, on one occasion, summoned be-

fore the sherlff-substitut'e of the county, when he
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iiiiiTOwly escaped ti-ansportatioii, according to the

statute, and a satirical ballad wliicli lie composed

on some transaction in his lioble master's liouse-

liokl, caused his dismissal from Lord Reay's ser-

vice. One account, but it seems most unlikely,

says that the reason of his leaving was bis refusal

to use the flail himself in tin-ashing out corn for

fodder to the cattle, employing servants to |)er-

form this laborious duty, lie was then taken

into the employment of Colonel Mackay, son of

the gentleman who had patronised him in his boy-

hood, when he removed, with his famiij', to the

place of Achmore, iu that part of the parish of

Durness which borders upon Cape Wrath.

CAl'E WRATH.

When the first regiment of Sutherland fencibles

was raised in 1759, he was prevailed uiion by the

country gentlemen holding commissions in it to

accompany them. He enlisted ns a private sol-

dier, but was never called on to take any pai t in

troublesome duty. On the reduction of the corps

ill May 1763, he returned to his home, when he

was recalled to his former situation in the em-

ployment of Lord Reay. Although dreaded as a

satirist, such was the excellence of his private

character that he was elected a ruler elder of his

native parish. His witty sayings and convivial

qualities made him a welcome guest every where.

In the sketch of his life inserted in ' Mackenzie's

Beauties of Gaelic Poetry,' (page 186,) we are

told that his society was courted not only by his

equals, but still more bj' his superiors ; no social

party almost was esteemed a party without him
;

no public meeting of the better and the best of

the land was felt to be a full one without Rob

Donn being there. The reason of his being thus

III.

in such universal requisition was, perhaps, that,

as subsequently st;Ued in the same sketch, if he

was not invited to a feast oi' wedding, next da\'

he composed a satire full of mirth and humour,

on the offending party. He \\;\s proud, says his

biographer, of his own powers of satire, and seem-

ed to enjoy the di'ead of those who feared the ex-

ercise of his wit.

He died 5th August, 1778, aged 64. A vast

concourse of his clansmen attended his funeral,

and a granite monument was erected in 1829, by

public subscription, over his grave, in the parish

burying ground of Uurness, with inscriptions in

Gaelic, in English, in Greek, and Liitin. His

poems consist of humorous, satirical, and descrip-

tive pieces, with elegies and love songs. Many

of them are of a local nature. A collection of

them ^\as published at Inverness in 18.30, by the

Rev. Dr. Macka}% then of Dunoon, author of

' The Gaelic Dictionary,' with a memoir. In the

Quarterly Review for July 1831, translations are
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given of some of them. The memoir wliich ac-

companies them was written by Sir Walter Scott.

MACKAY, John, an eminent botanist, was

born at Kirlcaldy, December 25, 1772. He early

discovered a strong predilection for botanical

pursuits, and^even at the age of 14, he had formed

a verj^ considerable collection of the rarer kinds of

garden and hothouse plants. In the beginning of

1791 he was placed in Dickson and Company's

nurseries at Edinburgh ; of which, in 1793, he re-

ceived the principal charge. Every summer he

made a botanical excursion to the Highlands ; he

likewise traversed the Western Isles, and in most

of these journeys he was successful in adding some

new species to the British Flora. To the elegant

work entitled ' English Botany,' then in course of

publication, under the care of Dr. Smith and Mr.

Sowerby of London, he contributed various valu-

able articles and figures of indigenous plants, and

in February 1796, he was elected an associate of

the Linnasan Society of London. In 1800, on the

death of Mr. Menzies, he succeeded him as super-

intendent of the Royal Botanic Garden of Edin-

burgh, where he died April 14, 1802.

Mackenzie, the .surname of n clan, (badfje, deer grass,)

which has long cherished a traditionary belief in its descent

from the Norman family of Fitzgerald settled in Ireland. Its

pretensions to such an origin are founded upon a fragment of

the records of Icolmkill, and a charter of the lands of Kintail

in Wester Ross, said to have been granted by Alexander III.,

to Colin Fitzgerald, tlieir supposed progenitor. According to

the Icolmkill fragment, a personage described as " Peregri-

nus et Hibernus nohilis ex familia Geraldinornm," that is, "a

noble stranger and Hibernian, of the family of tlie Geral-

dines," being driven from Ireland, with a considerable num-

ber of followers, about 1261, was received graciously by the

king, and remained tlienceforward at the court. Having

given powerful aid to the Scots at the battle of Largs two

years afterwards, he was rewarded by a grant of Kintail,

erected into a free barony by charter dated 9th January,

1266. No such document, however, as this pretended frag-

ment of Icolmkill is known to be in existence, at least, as

Mr. Skene .says, nobody has ever seen it, and as for King Al-

exander's charter, he declares (Hirjlilimders, vi;l. ii. p. 23,5)

that "it bears the most palpable marks of having been a for-

gery of later date, and one by no means happy in the execu-

tion." Besides, the words " Colino Hiherno," contained in

it, do not prove the said Colin to have been an Irishman, as

Hiherni was at that period a common appellation of the Gael

of Scotland.

The ancestor of the clan Kenzie was Gilleon-og, or Colin

the younger, a son of Gilleon na hair'de, that is, Colin of the

Aird, progenitor of the earls of Ross, and from the MS. of

14.50 their Gaelic descent may be considered established.

Colin of Kintail is said to have married a daugliter of Walter,

lord high steward of Scotland. He died in 1278, and his

son, Kenneth, being, in 1304, succeeded by his son, also call-

ed Kenneth, with the addition of Mackenneth, the latter,

softened into Mackenny or Mackenzie, became the name of

the whole clan. Murdoch, or Murcha, the son of Kenneth,

received from David II. a charter of the lands of Kintail as

early as 1362. At the beginning of the 1.5th century, the

clan Kenzie appears to have been both numerous and power-

ful, for its chief, Kenneth More, when arrested, in 1427, with

his son-in-law, Angus of Moray, and Maciuathan, by James
I. in his parliament at Inverness, was said to be able to mus-
ter 2,000 men.

In 1463, Alexander Mackenzie of Kintail received Strath-

garve and many other lands from John, earl of Ross, the

same who was forfeited in 1476. The Mackenzie chiefs

were originally vassals of the earis of Ross, hut after their for-

feiture, they became independent of any superior but the

crown. They strenuously opposed tlie Macdonalds in every

attempt which they made to regain possession of the earl-

dom. Alexander was succeeded by his son, Kenneth, who
had taken for his first wife Lady Mai'garet Macdonald, daugh-

ter of the forfeited earl, John lord of tlie Isles, and having,

about 1480, divorced his wife, he brought upon himself the

resentment of her family. Her brother, Angus, invaded

Ross, with a body of his island vassals, and encountering the

Mackenzies at a place called Lagebread, defeated them with

considerable loss. In 1491, Alexander of Lochalsh, called

Alaster Macgillespoc, nephew of the lord of the Isles, made
his appearance, at the head of a large body of the Islanders,

in Wester Ross, and proceeded to Strathconnan, for the pur-

pose of ravaging the lands of the IMackenzies. The latter,

however, under the above-named Kennetli, assembled in

gi'cat force, and after a fierce and obstinate battle, the Mac-

donalds were defeated with much slaughter, and expelled

from Ross. Tliis engagement was called the battle of Blair-

na-Park. The Mackenzies then proceeded to ravage the

lands of Ardmanach and Foulis, and committed so many ex-

cesses that the earl of Huntly, lieutenant of the north, was

compelled to act against them as rebels and oppressors of the

lieges. Kenneth died soon after.

Kenneth Oig, his son by the divorced wife, was chief in

1493. Two years afterw:u-ds, he and Farquhar Macintosh

were imprisoned by James V. in the castle of Edinburgh.

In 1497, the Macdonalds again invade<i Ross, but were en-

countered by the Mackenzies and Munroes, at a place called

Drumchatt, and after a sliarp skirmish, were routed and

driven out of Ross. The same year he and Macintosh made
their escape from the castle of Edinburgh, but on their way
to the Highlands, they were treaclierously seized at the

Torwood, by the laird of Buchanan. Kenneth Oig resisted

and was slain, and his head presented to the king by Buchan-

an. His death was .avenged by his foster-brother at Flodden.

This was a man of the district of Kenlochar, named Donald

Dubh Mac Gillechrist Vic Gillereoch. In the retreat of the

Scots army he heard some one near him say, "Alas! laird,

thou hast fallen." On inquiry he was told that it was the

laird of Buchanan, who had sunk from wounds or exhaust-

ion. Rushing forward, he shouted out, " If he hath not

fallen, he shall fall," and slew Buchanan on the spot.

Kenneth Oig, having no issue, was succeeded by his

brother, John, whose mother, Agnes Eraser, was a daughter

of Lord Lovat. She had other sons, from wliom sprung

numerous branches of this wide-spread familv. As he was
very young, his kinsman. Hector Roy Mackenzie, progenitor

of the house of Gerloch, assumed the command of the clan,

as guardian of the young chief. " Under his rule," says Mr.

Gregory, {HighUnds and Inks of Scotland, p. 111.) " the clan
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Kenzie becuine involved in feuds with tbe iMunrocs and other

clans; and Hector Roy liiinself became obnoxious to govern-

ment, as a disturber of the public peace. His intentioiis to-

wards the young lord of Kintail were considered very dubious;

and the apprehensions of the latter and liis friends having

been roused, Hector was compelled by law to yield up the

estate and the connnand of the tribe to the proper heir."

John, at the call of James IV., marched with his clan to the

fatal field of Flodden, where he was taken prisoner by the

English.

Among the measures adopted by government lor the sup-

pression of the rebellion of Sir Donald Macdonald of Loch-

alsh, who had got himself proclaimed lord of the Isles, was

the appointment, by an act of council, of certain individuals of

local influence as temporary lieutenants of particular divisions

of the northern shires. Among others, the chief of the Mac-

kenzies and Munro of Foulis were constituted guardians of

Wester Ross. The following year (1.015) Mackenzie, without

legal warrant, seized the royal castle of Dingwall, but pro-

I

fessed liis readiness to deliver it up to any one appointed by

I

the regent, John, Duke of Albany. It was in attempting, in

I

the Mackenzie chief's absence, to take liis castle of Elandonan,

1
in 1539, that Donald Gorme, the claimant of the lordship of

I
the Isles, last his life, having been wounded in the foot by a

barbed arrow. (See vol. ii. p. 5i8).

On King James the Fifth's expedition to the I.'^Ies in 1540,

he was joined at Kintail by John, chief of the Mackenzies, who

accompanied him throughout his voyage. He fought at the

battle of Pinkie at the head of bis clan in 15-17. On his

death in 155G, he vv;is succeeded by his son, Kenneth, who,

bv a daughter of the earl of Atliol, had Colin and Roderick,

the latter ancestor of the Mackeiizies of Redcastle, Kincraig,

' Rosend, and other branches.

Kenneth Mackenzie of Kintail, had, by accident, obtained

' the custody of Mary Macleod, the heiress of Harris and

Dunvegan, and refusing to give her up to her lawful guar-

dian, James Macdonald of Dunyveg and the Glens, was

compelled to resign her into the hands of Queen Mary,

with whom sue remained for some years as a maid of honour.

In the Collectanea, de rebus Albanicis, (p. 14.3) is the act of

privy council which bears that he had delivered up the said

heiress to the queen. It is dated "at Edinburgh, the 21st

May 1562." He died in 1568.

Colin, eleventh chief, son of Kenneth, fought on the side

of Queen Mary at the battle of Laiigside, for which he ob-

tained a remission. In August 1569 he and Donald Gorine-

son Macdonald of Skye were forced, in presence of the Regent

Moray and privy council at Perth, to settle the feuds in

whicli they had been for some time involved. On this occa-

sion Moray acted as mediator between them. Colin Mac-

kenzie, chief of the clan Kenzie, was a privy councillor to

James VI., and died 14th June 1594. He was twice mar-
' ried. By his first wife, Barbara, a daughter of Grant of

Grant, he had, with three daughters, four sons, namely,

Kenneth, his successor; Sir Roderick Mackenzie of Tarbat,

ancestor of the earls of Cromarty
;

Colin, ancestor of the

Mackenzies of Kennock and Pitlundie; and .\lexander, of

the Mackenzies of Kilcoy, and other families of the name.

By a seccmd wife, Mary, eldest daughter of Roderick Mac-

kenzie of Davochmaluak, he had a son, .Alexander, from

1
1 whom the Mackenzies of Applecross, Coul, Delvin, .-Xssint,

1 ! and other families are sprung.

Kenneth, the eldest son, twelfth chief of the Mackenzies,

1 was also a memlier of the privy council of .James VI. Soon

I
af ter succeeding his father, be was engaged in supporting the

claims of Toiquil Macleud, suriiamed Connaiiach, the disin-

lieriled son ot .Macleod of Lewis, whose mother was the sister
|

of John Mackenzie of Kintail, and whose daughter had mar- I

ried Roderick Mackenzie, Kenneth's brother. The barony of
]

Lewis he conveyed by writings to the Mackenzie chief, who
caused the usurper thereof and some of his followers to be

beheaded in July 1597 (see Macleod). In the following

year he joined Macleod of Harris and Macdonald of Sleat in

opposing the project of James VI. for the colotiizatioii of the

Lewis, by some Lowland gentlemen, chiefly belonging to

Fife. As he claimed a property in that island, though, so far

as he was concerned, it was but nominal, it is not surprising

that he did all he could to frustrate the expedition. He in-

cited against the colonists NeiU and Murdoch, two bastard

sons of Ruari .Macleod, the last undisputed lord of Lewis.

After some successes the two brothers quarrelled. For a re-

ward from government Neill delivered up Murdoch, in 16l)0,

to the colonists, and he was hanged at St. Andrews. In

consequence of some confessions by him and of complaints by

the coloni-sts, Mackenzie was apprehended and committed

prisoner to Edinburgh castle. Through the assistance, how-

ever, of his friend, the lord-chancellor, he escaped without a
j

trial.
j

In 1601, Neill Macleod deserted the cause of the colonists,
|

and Mackenzie, who had detained in captivity for sevenil I

years Tormod, the only surviving legitimate son of Ruari

Macleod of the Lewis, set him at liberty, and sent him into

that island to assist Neill in opposing the settlers. In 1602,

the feud between the Mackenzies and the Glengarry Macdo-

nalds, regiu'ding their lands in Wester Ross, was renewed

with great violence (see Macdonell of Glengany, vol. ii.

page 728). Ultimately, after much bloodshed on both sides,

an agreement was entered into, by which Glengarry renounced

in favour of Mackenzie the castle of Strone, with the lands of

Loclialsh, LochcaiTon, and others, so long the subject of dis-

pute between them. A crown charter of these lands was

granted to Kenneth Mackenzie in 1607. The territories of

the clan Kenzie at this time were very extensive. " All the

Highlands and Isles, from .Ardnaniuichan to Strathnaver,

were either the Mackenzies' property, or under their vassal-

age, some few excepted," and all about them were bound to

them " by very strict bonds of friendship.'' The same year,

Kenneth Mackenzie obtained, through the influence of the

lord-chancellor, a gift, under the great seal, of the Lewis to

himself, in virtue of the resignation formerly made in his fa-

vour by Torquil Jladeod, but on the complaint to the king

of those of the colonists who survived, be was forced to re-

sign it. He was created a peer, by the title of Lord Macken-

zie of Kintail, by patent, dated 19th November 1609. On
the abandonment of the scheme for colonizing the Lewis, the

remaining adventurers. Sir George Hay and Sir James Spens,

were easily prevailed upon to sell their title to Lord Kintail,

who likewise succeeded in obtaining from the king a grant of

the share in the island forfeited by Lord Balmerino, another

of the grantees. Having thus at length acquired a legal

right to the Lev,-is, he procured from the government a com-

mission of fire and sword ag.-diist the Islanders, and landing

there with a large force, he speedily reduced them to obedi-

ence, with the exception of Neil Macleod and a few others,

his kinsmen and followers. The struggle for the Lewis be-

tween the M.ickenzies and the Macleods, continued some

time longer, but for an account of it the reader is referred to

the article Macleod. The Mackenzies ultimately succeeded

in obtaining possession of the island.

Lord Kintail died in March 1611. He had married, first,

Anne, daughter of George Ross of Balnagowan, and had,

with two daughters, two sons, Colin, second Lord Kintail, and
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first earl of Seafortli, and the Hon. John Mackenzie of Loch-

slin. His second wife was Isabel, daughter of Sir Alexander

Ogilvie of Powrie, by whom, with a daughter, Sybilla, Mrs.

Macleod of Macleod, he had four sons, viz., Alexander,

George, second earl uf Seaforth; Thomas, of Pluscardine, and

Simon of Lochslin, whose eldest son was the celebrated Sir

George Mackenzie of Rosehaugh, lord advocate in the reigns

of Charles II. and James VII., of whom a memoir is subse-

quently given in larger type.

Colin, second Lord Kintail, was created earl of Seaforth, by

patent dated at Theobald's, 3d December 1623, to him and

his heirs male. (See Skaforth, earl of).

The great-grandson of the third earl of Seaforth, and male

heir of the family, was Colonel Thomas Frederick Humber-

ston Mackenzie, who fell at Gheriah in India in 1783, and of

whom a memoir is given under the head of Seaforth, earl of.

His brother, Francis Huinberston Mackenzie, obtained the

Seaforth estates, and was created Baron Seaforth in the

peerage of the United Kingdom in 1796. Rying without

surviving male issue his title !)ecame extinct, and his eldest

daughter, the Hon. Mary Frederica Elizabeth, having taken

for her second husband J. A. Stewart of Glasserton, a cadet

of the house of Galloway, that gentleman assumed the name

of Stewart Mackenzie of Seafortli.

The clan Kenzie from small beginnings had increased in

territory and influence till they became, next to the Camp-

bells, the greatest clan in the West Highlands. They re-

mained loyal to the Stuarts, but the forfeitm'e of the earl of

Seaforth in 171.5, and of the earl of Ci'omarty in 1745,

weakened their power greatly. They are still, however, one

of the most numerous tribes in the Highlands. In 1745

tlieir effective strength was calculated at 2,500. No fewer

tlian seven families of the name possess baronetcies.

The armorial bearings of the Mackenzies are a stag's head

and horns. It is said that they were assumed in consequence

of Kenneth, the ancestor of the family, having rescued the

king of Scotland from an infuriated stag, which he had

wounded. " In gratitude for his assistance," says Stewart

of Garth, " the king gave him a grant of the castle and lands

of Castle Donnan, and thus laid the foundation of the family

and clan Mackenneth or Mackenzie." From the stag's head

in their arms the term Caberfae was applied to the chiefs.

The progenitor of the Gerlocli or Gairloch branch of the

Mackenzies was, as above shown. Hector, the elder of the two

sons of Alexander, 7tli chief, by his 2d wife, Margaret Mao-

dowall, daughter of John, lord of Lom. He lived in the

reigns of Kings .lames 111. and IV., and was by the High-

landers called " Eachin Roy," or Red Hector, from the colour

of his hair. To the assistance of tlie former of these mon-

archs, when the confederated nobles collected in arms against

him, he raised a considerable body of the clan Kenzie, and

fought at their head at the battle of Sauchieburn. After the

defeat of his party, he retreated to the north, and, taking

possession of Kedcastle, put a garrison in it. Thereafter he

joined the earl of Huntly, and from James IV. lie obtained in

1494 a grant of the lands and barony of Gerlocli, or Gairloch,

in Koss-shire. These lands originally belonged to the Siol-

Vic-Gilliechallum, or Macleods of Rasay, a branch of the

family of Lewis, but Hector, by means of a mortgage or wad-

set, bad acquired a small portion of them, and in 1508 he

got Brachan, the lands of Moy, the royal forest of Glassiter,

and other lands, united to them. In process of time, his suc-

cessors came to possess the whole district, but not till after a

long and bloody feud with the Siol- Vic-Gilliechallum, which

lasted till 1611, when it was brought to a sudden close by a

skirmish, in which Gillechallum Oig, laird of Kasay, and

Murdoch Mackenzie, a younger son of the laird of Gerloch,

were slain. From that time the Mackenzies possessed Ger-

loch without interruption from the JIacleods.

Hector, the first of the house of Gerloch, was with the clan

at Flodden, where most of them were killed ; and he and his

nephew, John, the chief, to whom he was tutor, narrowly

escaped. By a daughter of the laird of Grant, to whom he

was betrothed, but who died before the marriage was cele-

brated, he had a son. Hector, who got the name of Came, or

one-eyed. He afterwards married a daughter of Ranald

Macdonald of Moydart, and, with two daughters, he had

four sons.

John, the eldest of these, called by the Highlanders, John

Glesich, married Agnes, only daughter of James Eraser of

Foinich, brother of Hugh, Lord Lovat, and died in 1550.

He had three sons: Hector, his heir; John, who succeeded

Hector, and carried on the line of the family; and Alexan-

der, from whom descended Mm'docli Mackenzie, bishop of

Moray and afterwards of Caithness, in the reigns of Charles

I. and II. Of this branch, also, was Dr James Mackenzie,

an eminent physician, author of the ' History of Health.'

Kenneth Mackenzie, eighth baron of Gerloch, was created

a baronet of Nova Scotia in 1700. He ma.rried Margaret,

daughter of Sir Roderick Mackenzie of Findon, and was suc-

ceeded, in 1704, by his son. Sir Alexander, second baronet,

who married Janet, daughter of Sir Roy Mackenzie of Scat-

well, and with three daughters had six sons, most of whom
died young. He himself died in 1766. His eldest son. Sir

Alexander, 3d baronet, married, 1st, Margaret, eldest daugh-

ter of Roderick Mackenzie of Redcastle, issue one son, Hector;

2dly, Jean, only daughter of John Gorrie, Esq., commissary

of Ross, issue 2 sons, John, a general officer, and Kenneth, an

officer in India, and 3 daughters. He died 13th April 1770.

Sir Hector Mackenzie, his eldest son, 4th baronet of the Ger-

loch branch, died in April 1826. His son, Sir Francis

.-Alexander, 5th baronet, born in 1798, died June 2, 1843.

The eldest .son of Sir Francis, Sir Kenneth Smith Mackenzie,

6th baronet, born 1832, married in 1860 the 2d daughter of

Walter Frederick Campbell of Islay.

The i\Iackenzies of Portmore, county Peebles, are a branch

of the Gerloch family. Colin Mackenzie of Portmore, great-

grandson of Sir Alexander Mackenzie, baronet of Gerloch,

married in 1803, lilizabeth, daughter of Sir William Forbes

of Pitsligo, and died in September 1830. He had three

brothers, William Mackenzie of Muirtown, Ross-shire; Suther-

land Mackenzie of Edinburgh, and John, banker in Inverness.

His son, William Forbes Mackenzie, M.P. for Peebles-shire,

born in April 1807, and appointed in 1831 deputy lieutenant

for that county, was the introducer of the act of parliament

passed in 1 854, for the regulation of public houses in Scotland,

commonly called " Forbes Mackenzie's Act.
'

The first of the Mackenzies of Tarbet and Eoyston, in the

county of Cromarty, was Sir Roderick Mackenzie, second son

of Colin Mackenzie of Kintail, brother of the first Lord Mac-

kenzie of Kintail. Having married Margaret, daughter and

heiress of Torquil Macleod of the Lewes, he added the armo-

riol bearings of the Macleods to his own. His son, John

Mackenzie of Tarbet, was created a baronet of Nova Scotia,

21st May 1628. He had four sons. The third son, Roderick

Mackenzie, was o.i 1st December 1702, appointed justice

clerk, and an ordinary loni of session I2th Januarj- 1703,

when he took his seat as Lord Prestonhall. He was super-

seded as justice clerk in October 1704, and resigned his seat
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as one of tlie judges, in favour of liis nepliew, Sir Jiimes

Mackenzie of Royston, in June 1710. In September of the

same year lie was appointed slierif}' of Ross-sliire. He died

Feb. 4, 1712. His son, Sir Alexander, married Amelia, daugh-

ter iind heiress of Hugh, lOth Lord Lovat, and changing his

name to Fraser, was designated of Fraserdale. Eiigaging in

the rebellion of 171o he was attainted as Lord Prestoiihall.

The eldest son. Sir George Mackenzie, second baronet, was

tlie tirst earl of Cromarty. (See vol. i., page 7.51).

The Hon. Kenneth Mackenzie, t!;e second son of the first

Lord Cromarty, obtained from his father the extensive estate

(if Cromarty, and was created a baronet of Nova Scoti.-i, '29tli

.April 1704, with the precedency of his father's patent of

baronetcy, 21st May, 1(528. He was commissioner to the

Scottish estates for tlie county of Cromarty, in the reigns of

King William and Qneen Anne, and sat in the first British

parliament. He died in 1729. His eldest son. Sir George,

third baronet, was ALP. for the county of Cromarty. Be-

coming a bankrupt, his estate of Cromarty was sold in 1741

to William Urquhart of Meldrnm. He was succeeded by his

brother. Sir Kenneth, fourth baronet, at whose death, without

issue, in 17G3, the baronetcy lay dormant until revived in fa-

vour of Sir Alexander Mackenzie of Tarbet, elder son of

Robert Mackenzie, lieutenant-colonel in the East India Com-

pany's service, great-great-grandson of the first baronet.

Colonel Mackenzie's father was Alexander Mackenzie o(

Anllock, and his mother the daughter of Robert Sutherland,

Esq. of Langwell, Caithness, 12th in descent from William

de Sutherland, ."jth earl of Sutherland, and the princess Mar-

garet Bruce, sister and heiress of David 11. Sir Alexander,

5th b.aronet, was in the military service of the East India

Company. On his death, April 28, 1841, he was succeeded

by bis brother. Sir Jjimes Sutherland Mackenzie, Gth baronet,

of Tarbet and Eoyston. The latter died Nov. 24, 18.58.

The first of the family of Coul, Ross-shire, was Alexander

Mackenzie, brother of Kenneth, tirst Lord .Mackenzie of Kin-

tail, who, before his death, made him a present of his own

sword, as a testimony of his particular esteem and affection.

His son, Kenneth Mackenzie of Coul, was created a baronet

of Nova Scotia, Oct. 16, 1673. His eldest son. Sir Alex., 2d

baronet, died in 1702. His son. Sir .lohn Mackenzie, 3d

b.aronet, for being concerned in the rebellion of 1715, was for-

feited. He died without male issue, and the attainder not

extending to collateral branches of the family, the title and

estates devolved upon his brother. Sir Colin, 4th baronet,

clerk to the pipe in the exchequer. He died in 1740. His

eldest son. Sir Alexander, 5th baronet, died in 1792. His

son. Sir Alexander Mackenzie. 6th baronet, a major-general

in the Bengal army, and provincial commander-in-chief in

Bengal, 1790-1792, died in 1796. His son, Sir George

Steuart Mackenzie, 7th baronet, F'.R.S., vice-president of the

Royal .Society of Edinburgh, born 22d June 1780, was the

author of \n Agricultural and Political Survey of Ross and

Cromarty shii'es, of a Treatise on the Di-seases of Sheep, and

of .several scientific papers on useful branches of domestic

economy. He was general in the Royal Scotti.sh archers, the

queen's body-guard in Scotland, and a deputy-lieutenant of

Ross-shire. He was twice married: first, to Mary, fifth

daughter of Donald .Macleod, Esq. of Geaiiies, sheriff of Ro.ss-

shire, by whom he had 7 sons and 3 daughters. The Rev.

John Mackenzie, his 5tli son, married Eliza, daughter of the

celebrated Dr. Chalmers. Sir George died Oct. 26, 1648.

His eldest son, Sir Alexander, 8th baronet, served for 26 years

in the Bengal army. He was present at the siege and capture

of Bhurtpore, 182.5-6, for which he received a nied.al. He

was deputy judge advocate general with the army of Gwalior,

and liad a horse killed under him at the battle of Maharajpnre,

Dec. 29, 1843. He was engaged afso in the first campaign

on the Sutlej, 1845. He died Jan. 3, 1856, and was succeeded

by his brother, Sir William Mackenzie, 9th baronet, born in

1806, married in 1858, Agnes, 2d daughter of R. T. Smyth,

Esq. of Ardmore, Ireland.

The Mackenzies of Scatwell, Ross-shire, who also pcssess a

baronetcy, are descended from Sir Roderick Mackenzie,

knight, of Tarbet and Cogeach, .second son of Colin, 11th feudal

baron of Kintail, father of Sir John Mackenzie, ancestor of

the earls of Cromarty, and Kenneth Mackenzie of Scatwell,

whose son, Kenneth, was created a baronet of Nova Scotia,

Feb. 22, 1703. By his marriage with Lilias, daughter and

heiress of Sir Roderick Mackenzie of Findon, that branch of

the Mackenzie family merged in tli.at of Scatwell. He mar-

ried a 2d time, Christian, eldest daughter of Roderick Mac-

kenzie, Esq. of Avoch, and 3dly, Abigail, daughter of John

Urquhart, Esq. of Newhall. Of the fii'st maiTiage there were

3 sons and 3 daughters, and of the last, one son. Kennel In

captain East Iruiia Company's service. Sir .James Wemyss
Mackenzie, oth banmet, lord-lieutenant, and some time M.P.

for Ross-shire, married Henrietta, only surviving daughter of

William Mackenzie of Suddy, and sister and sole heiress of Ma-
jor-general John Randoll Mackenzie of Snddy, who fell at the

battle of Talavera, in August 1809. His only son. Sir Jami-s

John Randoll, 6th baronet, born in 1814, succeeded his father

in 1843. He married a daughter of 5th Earl Fitzwiliiain.

The Mackenzies of Kilcoy, Ross-shire, are descended from

Alexander, 4th son of Colin, llth baron of Kintail, who in 1618

acquired the lands of Kilcoy. A baronetcy of the United

Kingdom was conferred in 1836 on Sir Colin Mackenzie of

Kilcoy, who died in 1845. He was succeeded by liis 2d son,

Sir Evan Mackenzie, born in 1816; married, with issue.

The family of Mackenzie of Delvine in Perthshire, whose

name originally was Muir, also possess a baronetcy, conferred

in 1805 on Alexander Muir, of Delvine, who assumed the

name of Mackenzie, on succeeding to the estates of his great

uncle, John Mackenzie, Esq. of Delvine. On his death in

1835, he w.ts succeeded by his son. Sir John William Pitt

Muir Mackenzie, advocate (admitted 1830), born in 1806,

married in 1832, 6th daughter of the late James Raymond
Johnstone, Esq. of Alva, Clackmannanshire, issue 6 sons and

3 daughters. He died Feb. 1, 1855. His eldest son. Sir Alex-

ander Muir Mackenzie, born in 1840, became 3d baronet.

A baronetcy was also held by -Mackenzie of Fiiirburn, also

in Ross-shire, conferred in 1819, on Sir Ewen Baillie, some

time provisicjnal commander-in-chief of the forces in Beng.al,

with remainder to the issue of his half sister, who married

Roderick Mackenzie, Esq. Their eldest son, General Sir

Alexander Mackenzie, G.C.H., succeeded as 2d baronet, on the

death of his maternal uncle, in 1820. Enteringyoung into the

army, he served at the relief of Ostend in 1793, and was 2d in

command at the capture of the Cape of Good Hope in 1795.

He also commanded the army in Calabria. Sir Alexander

died without issue, Oct.. 17, 1853, when the title became

extinct.

The other principal families of the name are Mackenzie of

Allangrange, heir male of the earls of Seaforth, of Applecross,

also a branch of the house ot Seaforth, of Or<l, of Gruinard

and of Hilton, all in Ros.s-shiie.
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MACKENZIE, George, first ear! of Cromarty,

ail eminent statesman. (See vol. i. p. 731).

MACKIiNZIE, Sir George, of Roseliaugli, a

celebrated law^'er, was born at Dundee in 1636.

He was the eldest of five sons of Simon Macken-

zie of Lochslin, brother of the earl of Seafortli, by

his wife, Elizabeth, daughter of Peter Bruce,

D.I)., principal of St. Leonard's College, St. An-

drews. He studied Greek and philosophy in the

university of St. Andrews and Aberdeen, and civil

law in that of Bourges in France, where he re-

mained three years. On his return to Scotland

lie was admitted, in January 1659, an advocate

before the supreme courts. In 1660 he published

his ' Aretina, or Serious Romance,' in wliich, ac-

cording to Ruddiman, he gives " a very bright

specimen of his gay and exuberant genius." Hav-

ing soon gained a high reputation as a pleader,

lie was in 1661 selected as one of the counsel of

the marquis of Argyle at his trial for treason

before a commission of the Estates. Soon af-

ter he was appointed a justice-depute, or judge

of the criminal court, in 1669 he represented

in the estates the county of Ross, and during

the same year he opposed the proposition con-

tained in a letter from the king for an incor-

porating union of England and Scotland. At

this period he signalized himself by the support

which he gave to popular measures. In 1674

he was knighted, for services rendered to the

court, and August 28, 1677, on the dismissal of

Sir John Nisbet, he was appointed king's advocate,

when, to force submission to the government, he

put the laws in execution with the utmost stilct-

ness and severity. On the trial of the earl of

Argyle in December 1681, he exei'ted all his ener-

gies to obtain a conviction ; and in June 1685,

when that nobleman was apprehended after his

unfortunate e.xpedition to the Highlands, Macken-

zie objected to a new trial, and he was put to

death on his former iniquitous sentence. The

state prosecutions, conducted by Sir George Mac-

kenzie, in some of which he notoriously stretched

the laws to answer the purposes of tiie govern-

ment, were so numerous, that lie obtained the un-

enviable title of "The blood-thirsty advocate,"

and "Bloody Mackenzie." After the Revolution,

ill justification of his acts, he published ' A Vindi-

cation of the Government of Charles II.' (1691.)

which, to those who know anything of the scenes

of persecution and oppression which were enacted

in Scotland at that period, appears the ver}' re-

verse of satisfactory. His portrait, taken by Sir

Godfrey Kueller, was engraved by Beugo, and is

subjoined:

Notwithstanding liis severity, however, Sir

George was the means of introducing various

practical improvements into the criminal jurispru-

dence of his country ; and in 1686, upon the abi-o-

gation of the penal laws against the Papists by

James VII., he deemed it incumbent on him to

retire from his post of lord advocate. In 1688,

however, he was restored to that office, which he

held till the Revolution, when he relinquished all

his employments. In 1689 he founded the Advo-

cates' Library at Edinburgh, and the Latin in-

augural oration pronounced on the occasion is

recorded in his works. In September of that j'ear

he retired to England, resolving to spend the re-

mainder of his days in study at 0.xford. In June

1690 he was admitted a student of that university,

and subsequently published an Essay on Reason

in 1690, and 'The Moral History of Frugality,

and its Opposite Vices,' in 1691. He died at



MACKENZIE, 23 HENRY.

Loudon, May 2, 1692, iiud was buried in tlie

Greyfriars' Clmrcliyaid, Edinburgii, where liis

monument remains to this day.

His worlis are

:

Aretina; or, the serious Romance. London, 1C61, 8vo.

Relipjo Stoioa; the Virtuoso, or Stoick. Edinburgh,

1663, "Svo.

A Moral Essay, preferring sohtude to public Employment.

Edin., 1665, 8vo. London, 1685, 8vo. 169,3, 12nio. An-

swered by Evelyn, in a Panegyric on Active Life.

Moral Gallantry ; a Discourse, proving that tlie Point of

Honour obliges man to be virtuous. Edin., 1667, 8vo.

A Moral Paradox, maintaining that it is much easier to be

viituous than vicious, .and a Consolation ag.ainst Calumnies.

Edinburgh, 1667, 1669, 8vo. London, 1685, 8vo. Edin-

burgh, 1669, fol.

Pleadings on some Rem;u'kable Cases before the Supreme

Courts of Scotland, since the year 1661. To which the De-

cisions are subjoined. Edin., 1672, 4to.

A Discourse upon the Laws and Customs of Scotland in

Matters Criminal. Edin.. 1674, 1678, 4to. 1699, fol.

Observations upon the xxviii. Act 23d Pari. King James

VL against Banknipts, &c. Edin., 1675, 8vo.

Observations upon the Laws and Customs of Nations as to

Precedency. With the Science of Heraldry, treated as a part

of the Civil Law of Nations. Edin., 1680, fol.

Idea Eloquentia Forensis Hodierna, una cum Actione

Forensi ex unaquaqne Juris parte. Edin., 1681, 12mo. In

English. 1701, 1704, 12mo. The same; translated iiito

English by R. Hepburn. Edin., 1711, 8vo.

Institutions of tlie Laws of Scotland. Edin , 1684, 12nio.

London, 1694, 8vo. Edin., 1706, 12mo. With Notes, ex-

plaining different pl.ices, and showing in what points the

Law has been altered; by John Spottiswood. Edin., 1723,

8vo. The same, revised and corrected by Alexander Bayne.

1730, 8vo. 1758, 12mo.

Jus Reginum; or, the first and solid foundation of Mon-

archy in general, and more particularly of tlie iMonarchy of

Scotland; against Buchanan, Naphtali, Doleman, Milton,

&c. London, 1684, 8vo. 1685, 12nio.

Discovery of the Fanatic Plot. Edin., 1684, fol.

A Defence of the Antiquity of the Royal Line of Scotland,

in Answer to William Lloyd, Bishop of St. Asaph ; with a

true Account when the Scots were governed by the Kings in

the Isle of Britain. London, 1686, 4to.

Observations on the Acts of Parliament made by King

James 1. and his .successors, to the end of the reign of

Charles II. Edin., 1686, fol.

The Antiquity of the Royal Line of Scotland further

Cleared and Defended, against the Exceptions lately oft'ered

by Dr. Stillingfleet, in his Vindication of the Bishop of St.

Asaph. London, 1686, 8vo. In Lat. entitled, Defensio An-

tiquitatis Regium Scotoruin prosapias, contra Episoopuni

Asapbeuseum et Stillingfietum, Lat. versa, k P. Sinclaro.

Tnijecti, ad Rhennm. 1689, 12mo.

Oratio Inauguralis h.abita Edinburgi de Striictura Biblio-

thecse, Juridicje, &o. London, 1689, 8vo.

De Humance Rationis Imbecillitate, ea unde prnveniat et

illi quomodo possimus mederi, liber singularis editus a, Jo.

Geo. Graivio, Tr.aj. ad Rli. 1690, 8vo.

Reason, .an Essay. London, 1690, 8vo. 169.'), 12iiio.

Cajlia's Country-house and Closet ; a Poem. Imitated bv

Pope, in his " Essav on Critici.sm."

The Moral History of Frugality, ami its oppcjsite Vices.

London, 1691, 8vo.

A Vindication of the Government in Scotland, during the

reign of King Charles II. ; with several other Treatises re-

lating to the Affairs of Scotland. London, 1691, 4to.

Method of Proceeding against Criminals and Fanatical

Covenanters. 1691, 4to.

Vindication of the Presbyterians of Scotland, from the

malicious .Aspersions cast upon them. 1692, 4t.o.

On a Storm, and some Lakes in Scotland. Pliil. Tran^.

Abr. ii. 210. 1679.

Some Observations made in Scotland. lb. 226.

Essays upon several .Moral subjects. London, 1713, 8vo.

Works, with his Life. Edin., 1716-22, 2 vols. fol.

MACKENZIE, George, author of 'The Lives

and Characters of tiie most Eminent Writers of

the Scots nation,' son of tlie Hon. Colin Macl<en-

zie, second son of the second earl of Seaforth,

was born 10th December 1669, and practised as a

phj'sician iri Edinburgh at the beg-inninij of the
|

18tli century. His well-known work, which is
j

one of great research, is in 3 vols, folio. The first

volume, dedicated to the earl of Seaforth, appear-

ed in 1708; the second, inscribed to the earl (if

Mar, in 1711 ; and the third, dedicated to the cel-

ebrated financier, John Law of Lnui'iston. in 1722.

MACKENZIE, Henry, author of 'The Man

of Feeling,' son of Dr. Joshua Mackenzie, an

eminent physician in Edinburgh, by his wife Mar-

garet, eldest daughter of Mr. Rose of Kilravock,

in Nairusliire, was born in that city, in August

1745. He was educated at the High School and

university of Edinburgh, and \\ as afterwards ar-

ticled to Mr. luglis of Redhall, in order to acquire

a knowledge of the business of the E.xchequer.

In 1765 he went to London, to study the modes

of English Exchequer practice, which, as well as

the constitution of the courts, are similar in both

countries. While I'esiding there, he was advised

by a friend to qualify himself for the English bar;

but he preferred retui-ning to Ediid)urgh, where
|

he became, first the partner, and afterwards the
j

successor, of Mr. Inglis, in the office of attorney
1

for the crown.
|

He very early displayed a strong attachment to

literary pursuits, and during his stay in London,
j

he sketched \mrt of his first work, 'The i\lan of
i

Feeling,' wluch was published in 1771, without
;

his name, and at otice became a favourite witli the
j

pidjlic. A few years afterwards the great popu- I

laritv of the work induced a ^Ir. Eccles of Bath i
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to claim the authorship. He vi as at pains to

transcribe tlje wliole in hh own iiand, witii a

plentiful introduction of blottings, interlineations,

and cori'ectioiis, and lie maintained his pi^eten-

sions with so mucii plausibility and pertinacit}',

that Messrs. Cadell and Strahan, the publishers,

at last found it necessary to undeceive the public

by a formal contradiction. In 1773 Mr. Macken-

zie published his ' Man of the World,' which dis-

played the same tone of exquisite moral delicacy

and elegance of style as his former work. In 1777

he produced 'Julia de Roubigne,' a beautiful and

tragic tale, in a series of letters, exhibiting the re-

fined sensibility and the delicate perception of

human character and manners which distinguished

all his writings.

Mr. Mackenzie was one of the principal mem-

bers of the " Mirror Club," and edited the well-

known periodical of that name. Most of the

other gentlemen connected with it were after-

wards judges in the Court of Session— namely,

Lord Cullen, Loi'd Abercroniby, Lord Craig, and

Lord Bannatyne. 'The Mirror' was commenced

January 23, 1779, and ended May 27, 1780, hav-

ing latterly been issued twice a- week. Of the

110 papers to which it extended, foity-two were

contributed by Mr. Mackenzie, including La

Roche. The sale never at any time exceeded four

hundred copies, but when aftei'wards republished

in duodecimo volumes, with the names of the

authors, a considerable sum was obtained for the

copyright, out of which the proprietors presented

£100 to the Orphan Hospital, and purchased a

hogshead of claret for the use of the club. ' The

Lounger,' a publication of a similar character, also

conducted by Mr. Mackenzie, was commenced by

the same parties, February 6, 1785, and was con-

tinued weekly till January 6, 1787. Of the 101

papers which it includes, fifty-seven were written

by Mr. Mackenzie, who, in one of the latter num-

bers, reviewed for the first time the Poems of

Burns, which were just then published.

On the institution of the Royal Society of Edin-

burgh, Mr. Mackenzie became one of its mem-

bers; an.l among the papers with which he en-

riched its Transactions are an elegant tribute to

the memory of his friend Lord Abercroniby, and

a Memoir on German Tragedy, in the latter

of which he bestows high praise on the ' Emi-

lia Galotti' of Lessing, and 'The Robbers' of

Schiller. He took lessons in German from a Dr.

Okely, at that time studying medicine in Edin-

burgh
; and in 1791 he published a small volume,

containing translations of 'The Set of Horses,'

by Lessing, and of two or three other German

dramatic pieces. He was also an original mem-

ber of the Highland Society, and by him were

published the volumes of their Transactions, to

which he prefixed an account of the institution,

and the principal proceedings of the Society. In

these Ti-ansactions is also to be found his view of

the controversy respecting Ossian's Poems, con-

taining an interesting account of Gaelic poetry.

At the time of the French revolution he pub-

lished various political pamphlets, with the view

of counteracting the progress of democratic princi-

ples in this country. One of these, entitled 'An

Account of the Proceedings of the Parliament of

1784,' introduced him to the notice of Mr. Pitt

;

and in 1804, on the recommendation of Lord Mel-

ville and Ml-. George Rose, he was appointed to

the lucrative office of comptroller of taxes for

Scotland, which he held till his death.

In 1793 he wrote the Life of Dr. Blacklock,

prefixed to a quarto edition of the blind poet's

works, published for the benefit of his widow. In

1808 he brought out a complete edition of his own

works, in eight volumes 8vo. In 1812 he read to

the Roynl Society his ' Life of John Home ;' and

as a sort of supplement to it, he then added some

Critical Essays, chiefly on dramatic poetiy, which

have not been published, but the Life itself ap-

peared in 1822. Mr. Mackenzie himself attempt-

ed dramatic writing, but without success. A

tragedy, composed in his early youth, entitled

'The Spanish Father,' was rejected by Garrick,

and never represented. In 1773 another tragedy

of his, styled 'The Prince of Tunis,' was per-

formed with applause for six nights at the Edin-

burgh theatre. A third tragedj', founded on

Lilly's 'Fatal Curiosity,' called ''i'he Shipwreck,'

and two comedies, 'The Force of Fashion,' and

'The White Hypocrite,' were produced at Coveiit

Garden successively, but they proved complete

failures. His portrait, from a painting by Sir

Henry Raeburn, will be found on next page.
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Mr. Mnckeiizic " :is the last of those eminent

men wlio slied such a histre npon the literature of

tlieir countrj' in the latter part of the eir^hteentli

century. In his youth he enjiiyed the intiuiaey of

Robertson and Ilunie, and Fergusson and Adam

Smith, all of whom lie lonp; survived. He died

January 14, 1831, after having been confined to

his room for a considerable period by the general

decay attending old age. In 1776 he married

Pennel, daughter of Sir Ludovick Grant of Grant,

baronet, and Lady Margaret Ogilvy, by whom he

had eleven children.

His eldest son, Joshua Henry Mackenzie, an

eminent judge under the title of Lord Mackenzie,

was born in 1777; admitted advocate in 1799;

appointed sheriff of Linlithgowshire in 1811, and

a lord of session in 1822. In 1824 he was con-

stituted a judge in the high court of justiciary,

and in 1825 a commissioner of the jury court. He
married in 1821, the fifth daughter of the first

Lord Seaforth, a title now extinct, and died 17th

November 1851, aged 74 years. He was intei-red

in the Greyfriars bnrying-gronnd, Edinburgh,

^\ here a monument is erected to his memory.

The youngest son of ' The Man of Feeling,' the

Right lion. Holt Mackenzie, fellow of the Asiatic

Society, was for twenty -four years in tiie civil ser-

vice of the East Iiulia Company. He left India in

1831, and retired on the annuity fund in October

1833. In 1832 he became one of the commissioners

of the boai'd of conti-ol, on his a]ipointmeiit to

which office he was sworn a privy councillor.

MACKENZIE, Siii Alexander, an enter-

prising traveller, was a native of Inverness, and

when a young man, emigrated to Canada. About

1781 he obtained a situation in the counting-liouse

of the Noi'th-West Fur Companj-, at Fort Chip-

pewyan, at the head of the Athabasca Lake, in

the country to the west of Hudson's Baj'. On

June 3, 1789, he was sent by his employers on an

exploring expedition through the regions lying to

the north-west of that station, conjectured to be

bounded by the Arctic Ocean. Embarking on the

Slave River, on the 9tli he reached the Slave

Lake, with which it communicates by a course of

170 miles, where the party rested for six days.

On the 15tli they again launciied their canoes,

and, skirting the margin of the lake, reached the

entrance of the river, which flows from its western

extremity, and is now called the Mackenzie River,

on the 29th. Pursuing the north-westward

course, they arrived, July 15, at the great North-

ern Ocean; and retuining by the same route, re-

gained Fort Chippewyan, Sept. 12. On Oct. 12,

1792, Mackenzie undertook another adventurous

journey, the object of which was to penetrate to

the North Pacific. In this attempt, the first made

in North America, he was also successful. On

his return to England, he published in 1801 his

'Voyages from Montreal on the river St. Law-

rence, tiirough the Continent of North America

to the Frozen and Pacific Oceans, in 1789 and

1793, ' preceded by a General History of the Fur

Trade, and embellished with a ))oi t)ait of the au-

thor. In 1802, he received the honour of knight-

hood. The year of his death has not been ascer-

tained. He was alive in 1816.

MACKENZIE, Donaxd, an enterprising mer-

chant. See Supplement.

M'Kkri-IE, tlie surname of :\u MiicUnt fMiiiily, oiigiii:illy of

r:ink ill Ireland, and settled for many centuries in Wii;-

townsliire, wliere they held e.xteasive estates. Tlieir early

history was in the possession of the monks of Crossraguel,

Carriek, and lost when that monastery was destroyed. A
Father Stewart, one of the monks in tlie ItJtli century, who,
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left some writings, states, "the next great family are the

Kerlies of Crugf;leton, w lio being brave warriors stuod boldly

up for the independence of tlieir comitry under Wallace, and

it was one of their forefathers who, at a place called Dunmoir

in Carrick, was particularly instrumental in giving the Danes

a notable overthrow. He took Eric tlie son of Swain pri-

soner, for wliich service the king gave him lands in CarricK.''

They took part in the Crusades, to which tlieir armorial

bearings, borne for centuries, specially refer, and several tra-

ditions of adventurous exploits have been handed down.

The loss of their early history can never be replaced. As

corroborated by Felix O'Carroll, in iiis Translation of the

Chronicles of Tara, and Histoiy of the Sennachies, it is that

the first Carroll (afterwards changed to Kerlie) who came

from Ireland was a petty king or chief in that country. Flee-

ing to Scotland, he was hospitably received by tlie king, and

badlands assigned toliiui in Galloway, where he lived in great

splendour. Henry the minstrel, the biograplier of Wallace

about 1470, also states with reference to William Carroll or

Kerlie, the compatriot of Wallace (with whom tlie change iu

the name is believed to have first occurred), that his ancestor

accompanied David I. from Ireland, and having at Dunmoir

in Canick, with 700 Scuts, defeated 9,000 Danes, had lands

in Carrick, then a part of Galloway, now of Ayrshire, given

to him for that service. Henry, however, is wrong as to the

period, which is believed to have been either in the 9th of

10th century, when the Cruithne passed over to Galloway

from Ireland.

Carroll was the original name, in Ireland O'Carroll, of

which once powerful family more than one branch were petty

kings or chiefs over different districts in the north of that

country, even extending so far south as Meatb, where were

the ball and Court of Tara, as also Eile or Ely, now called

King's County, the chief of all being the arch king of Argiall.

Since then (a peculiarity common with Galloway surnames)

the name has been variously spelled at different periods, as

Kerle, Kerlie, M 'Carole, M'Carlie, and M'Kerlie.

The castle and lands of Carleton in Carrick, (now owned

by the Cathcarts under a charter dated 1324) was the first

property possessed by the family in Galloway, originally

called Carolton, the residence of Carroll. It is mentioned

as a tradition in Ayrshire that Carleton Castle, in remote

times, previous to the arrival of the Cathcarts in Carrick, be-

longed to a family of the name of De Kiersly, evidently a cor-

ruption of Kerlie. They afterwards obtained the castle and

lands of Cruggleton, &c. This castle (the Black Rock of

Cree) was built by the Danes about 1098, on the liighest sum-

mit of a range of precipices about 200 feet high, overhanging

the sea, at tlie mouth of Wigtown Bay. It was considered

impregnable, being on a small promontory which juts into

the sea; and landward defended with strong battlemenled

wahs, with a fosse between them, 42 feet wide and 16 feet

deep, over which was a drawbridge with gates, portcullis, &c.

The area within the walls contained an acre and a quarter.

The castle was ruinous before the year 1684. It is an in-

teresting, though very greatly dilapidated ruin. Part of an

unornamented arch, and the lower parts of some walls, alone

remain to attest its ancient spaciousness and strength.

Chalmers, in his Caledonia, has some extraordinary errors

in regard to Cruggleton. At the time he wrote, any peasant

in the neighbourhood could have told him who the ancient

owners were, hut apparently without troubling himself with

much inquiry, he seems at once to have concluded that this

castle must have belonged to the lords of Galloway, and that

John Gomyn the elder inherited it throngh bis mother, from

finding, in Dugdale's Baronage, mention of his name in con-

nection with it; in the extract of which short passage lie
I

omits Galway castle (the royal castle of Wigtown) to adapt it

to his ideas. As an antiquarian Chalmers ought to have

known that the castles of the lords of Galloway were in Cen-

tral Galloway, the Stewartry of Kirkcudbright, and not in

Western Galloway.

From 1282 the vicissitudes attending the possession of this

castle were many, furnishing a striking example of the inse-

curity of property in this distracted district of Scotland,

where charters were unknown until the 14th century, the an-

cient Celtic proprietors having held their lands under their

own Celtic laws. In 1282, Wm. Kerlie had as bis guest Lord

Soulis, (a secret adherent of Edward I.,) who took the castle

by treachery. Kerlie escaped, and in several ineffectual at-

tempts to retake it, lost bis remaining Ibllowers. In 1292,

.John Comyn, earl of Buchan, had temporary possession, as

also of the royal castle of Wigtown. In 1296, Edward I. ap-

pointed Henry Percy, governor of it and other castles, and in

1297, Percy was succeeded by John of Hoddleston. In 1296,

Wm. Kerlie, the real owner, was one of the first to join Sir

Wm. Wallace at the castle of the earl of Lennox, and from

that date was his constant friend and companion in arms, in

the noble and desperate struggle for liberty.

In 1297, Wallace went to Galloway, and under Kerlie's

guidance, Cruggleton castle, by a daring scheme, was retaken

by surprise, and the garrison of 60 men slain, a priest and two

women only having been spared. Kerlie was then restored

to bis patrimonial property. He however did not leave Wal-

lace, and at the fatal battle of Falkirk in 129S, he is tradi-

tionally said to have ajipeared at the head of 500 men, most

of whom were slain in an ineffectual attempt to rescue Sir

John the Grsme. This patriot's career was closed at Robras-

touu near Glasgow in July 1305, when he accompanied Wal-

lace there, to await a meeting with Robert the Bruce, and

were basely betrayed into the hands of their enemies. While

both were asleep their amis were secretly removed, Kerlie

slain, and the noble Wallace reserved for a worse fate.

Wm. Kerlie was one of the few who never swore fealty to

Edward the Usurper. He left an infant son, also called Wil-

liam, born in 1298, and tlierefore 7 years of age at his father's

death. This boy was treacherously dealt with by the prior

and monks of the monastery of " Candida Casa," Whithorn,

near Cruggleton, who in 1309 concealed from Robert the

Bruce that he existed, and was owner of the castle and lands,

but represented that they had belonged to Lord Soulis, all of

whose property had been directed to be sequestrated, and by

this means obtained a charter of them for the monastery.

Again in the disturbed reign of David II., when properties were

so freely disposed of to his own supporters, Gilbert Kennedy

(an ancestor of the Ailsa family), who had been one of bis

liostages in England, obtained in 1366, a charter of the castle

and lands, but it was never put in force, and in 1423 the

prior and monks of "Candida Casa "got it cancelled. By

the charter of 1309, the superiority was wrested by "Candida

Casa" from young Kerlie and his descendants, but this was

unknown to them for generations, as the family were never

disturbed in their proprietory rights by the monastery. They

retained possession until about the end of the 16th century,

when the Reformation broke up tlie ancient tenures, and as

the family held under the Celtic laws without a Crown

charter, with the ruin of the church, tliey lost the castle and

lands.

The last of the family, from father to son, who possessed

the castle and lands, was John, who in the " Inqaisitiones de

Tnteta," under date 20th June 1583, is called therein M'Ca-

role.
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His ijescend.-int, iii Jirt-et line, wasjuhn .M'C:ii lif orM'Ker-

lie, liovn in 1704, and (iied in 1796, aged f)2. His irmtlier

was dau^'liter of William BaiUie of Dunragget, ttie first of

wliioli family, now extinct, was Cutlibert, Connnendator of

Gli'niuce Alibey, of tlie family of Baillie of Lamington. said

to be the descendants of the patriot Wallace's only child,

heiress of Lamiiigton. He was sometime lord high treasurer

of Scotland, and died in 1514.

.lohn M'TCerlie possessed considerable property in the vici-

nity of Wigtown, part of which remained to his family until

1834. He was twice married, first to Micholas M'Keand, of

an old Galloway family, and had issue, all of whom are ex-

tinct. In 1094, Alexander Stewart of Tonderghie, .i cadet

of the Galloway family, married Janet, daughter of Hugh

M'Guflfock or M'Guftbg of Rusco Castle, a very ancient and

once powerful Galloway family, for a short account of which

see the Surri.KMENT to thisworlc. .laines .M'Guffock. of the

same fatnily, married Elizabeth, ehiest daughter of Tonder-

ghie, and their eldest daughter Agnes became the second wife

of .Tcilin M'TCerlie. She died in 1822, aged 82. By her he

had a .son and daughter wlio died in infancy ; also two other

sons, Hubert and John Graham.

Robert, born November 11, 1778, entered the anny in

1794, and served with his regiment throughout the rebel-

lion in Ireland. In 1798 he became captain, and retired

in 1804, having been appointed principal ordnance store-

keeper in Scotland, an office which he retained for many

vears. He died Dec. 13, 18.5.5. Jnbn Graham, born in

1781, as a young officer served in the aimy in the Pen-

insula, and was under Sir ,Iuhn Moure at Corunna. He

died in 1816. Robert M'Kerlie, the last representative, by

his marriage with Marion, daughter of Peter Handyside,

Ksq., Greenball, (uncle of the eminent judge, Lord Handy-

side) left, with three daugliter.s, three sons. 1. Charles Wil-

liam Montagu Scott, of the East India company's maritime

ser\'ice, author of a Narrative of the loss of the East India

Company's ship, Duke of York, in which he was one of the

officers. Edinb. 1834. 2. John Graham, colonel royal en-

gineers, and a commissioner of public works. Ireland, author

of the Report, dated 11th May, 1846, on musket tiring, &c. tVoni

experiments carried on by liim at Chatham, and on which the

new rifle was introduced, and tlie School of Musketry at Hyihe

instituted, with Sir John Burgoyne's Notes on it attached

;

printed by Government. 3. Peter Handysiiie, admiralty,

London, author of a pamphlet, entitled " Statistics of the

Composition of the Scottish regiments to 1861," compiled

from the regimental records. T!ie arms of the family are,

az : a chief arg: and a fret gu. Since quartered with the

M'Gufl'ug and Stewart arms.—The cre.st, which refers to a

kniiiht of the family engaged in the Crusades, is, the sun, or,

shining on a cross crosslet fitchee, sa. placed on the dexter

side of a mount, vert, witli the motto, In hoc Signo Vinces.''

Although at one time the name was numerous in Galloway,

in 182.5 there were only three fainilies who bore it. viz., the

then representative Cant. R. M'Kerlie, Rear-admiral .John

M -Kerlie, and Alexander M'Kerlie, whose family is now merged

into and represented by Sir .lohn M'Taggart, bart. of Ard-

well.— Rear-admiral John M'Kerlie served with Sir Edward

Pellew (afterwards Lord Exniouth) in all his brilliant frigate

actions, in one of which he lost an arm, and was at Trafalgar,

&e. He left an only daughter by his mamage with Harriet,

daughter of the late James Stewart of Cairnsmuir—also a

nephew John M'Kerlie.

Originating in the Perth edition of Henry's "Wallace."

published in 1790, and followed by subsequent writers, the

na.nes Ker and Kier have been contused with that of Kerlie,

which are quite distinct, and so shown in all tiie ancient edi-

tions of the patriot's life, commencing with l^ekprevik's in

1570, and abso the MS. of 1488.
—

'I he names Ker and Kier were

unknown in Galloway, are of a differejit origin entirely, and

only found in other parts of Scotland, several Kers having

sworn fealty to Edward I.

M'Kerrell, the surname of an old Ayrsliire family which

possesses the estate of Hillhouse near Irvine, and claims to

be of Norman origin, as the name Kiriel occurs on the roll of

Battle Abliey. It is believed, however, that the family is

from Galloway, and an offshoot from the stock of the M'Ker-

lies (see previous article). The first of the name on Scottish

record. Sir John M'Kirel, distinguished himself at the battle of

Otterburn, 19th August, 1388, by wounding and taking pri-

soner Rouel de Percie, who held the second command in the

English liost. From the circumstance that the Hillhouse

family carry the same armorial bearings that Sir .lohn Mac-

kirel acquired by bis prowess in that battle, it is conjectured,

on good grounds, that he was their ancestor.

According to tradition the M'Kerrells cuine from Ireland,

and have possessed the estate of HiUhunse since the days of

Robert the Bruce. It appears, however, tliat, at one period,

that estate belonged to the High Steward of Scotland, and

afterwards to the Cathcart family, as it 'was amongst the huids

(Colynane, Hillhouse and Holniyss in Ayrshire) granted by

the crown to ,Tohn, 2d Lord Cathcart, by renewed charter in

1505, having been forfeited by Alan, Lord Cathcart, his

grandfather, for the alienation of the greater part of the same,

without consent of the king. It is likely, therefore, that the

M'Kerrells held it from the Cathcarts as superiors.

The first of the family who is known to have been proprie-

tor of the estate, William M'Kerrell of Hillhuuse, sherifF-

clerk of Ayr, died in October 1629. His great-great-grand-

son, .Fohn M'Kerrell of Hillhouse, married Elizabeth, daugh-

ter of William Fairlie of Fairlie, by his wife, Jane, only

daughter of the last Sir William Mure of Rowallan. The

fourth in descent from him, William M'Kerrell of Hillliouse,

wlio died in 1821, raised at Paisley the first volunteer corps

embodied in Scotland, during the French revolutionary war.

His eldest son, John M'Kerrell, was placed when very young

in the civil .service of the East India Company, and for nine

years vms master of the mint at Madras. On liis death, un-

married, in 1835, he was succeeded by his brother, Henry

M'Kerrell of Hillhouse, formerly a merchant in Liverpool.

Mackik, a surname, said to be derived from the clan

name Mack.w, which see.

MACKINNON, the surname of a minor clan, (badge, the

pine,) a branch of the siol Aljiin, sprung from Fingon, bro-

ther of Annas or .\ndrew, ancestor of the Macgregurs.

This Fingon, or Fingiiin, is mentioned in the MS. of 1450

as the founder of the clan Finguin, that is, the Mac-

kiimons. Their seat was in the islands of Skye and Mull,

and they formed one of the vas.sal tribes of the lords of the

Lsles. The first authentic notice of them is to be found in

an indenture (printed in the Appendix to tlie second edition

of Hailes' Annals of Scotland) between the lords of the Isles

and the lord of Lorn. The latter stipulates, in surrendering

to the lord of the isles the island of Mull and other lands,

that the keeping of the castle of Kerneburg, in the Treslii-

nish Isles, is not to be given to any of the race of clan

Finnon. "This," says Mr. Gregory, "proves that the Mac-
kinnons were then connected with Mull. They originallv

possessed the district of Griban in that island, but exchanged
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it for the district of Mislinisli, being that part of Mull imme-

(iiately to the north and west of Tobermory. They, likewise,

po.ssessed the lands of Strathordell in Skye, from which the

chiefs usually took their style. Lauchlan Macfingon, or

Mackinnon, chief of his clan, witnessed a charter by Donald,

lord of tlie Isles, in 1409. The name of the chief in 149.3 is

uncertain ; but Neil Mackinnon of Mishnish was at the head

of the tribe in 1515." {Hi//hlands and Isles ofScotland, p.

80.) Two years afterwards this Neil and several others, de-

scribed as "kin, men, servants, and part-takers" of Lauch-

lan Maclean of Dowart, were included in a remission which

that cliief obtained for their share in the rebellion of Sir Do-

nald Macdonald of Lochalsh. In 1545 tlie chief's name was

Ewin. He was one of the barons and council of the Isles

who, in that year, swore allegiance to the king of England at

Knockfergus in Ireland.

" In consequence," says Mr. Skene, "of their connexion

witli the Macdonalds, the Mackinnons have no history inde-

pendent of that clan ; and the internal state of these tribes

during the government of the lords of the Isles is so obscure

that little can be learned regarding them, until the forfeiture

of the last of these lords. During their dependence upon the

Macdon.alds there is but one event of any importance in

which we find the Mackinnons taking a share, for it would

appear that on the deatli of .John of the Isles, in tlie four-

teenth century, Mackinnon, with what object it is impossible

now to ascertain, stirred up his second son, John Mor, to re-

bel ag.ainst his eldest brother, apparently with a view to the

cliiefship, and his faction was joined by the Macle.ans and the

Macleods. But Donald, the elder brother, was supported by

so great a proportion of the tribe, that lie drove .lohn Mor

and his party out of the Isles, and pursued him to Galloway,

and from thence to Ireland. The rebellion being thus put

down, John Mor threw himself upon his brother's mercy, and

received his pardon, but Mackinnon was taken and hanged,

as having been the instigator of the disturbance." {Skene's

Highlanders, vol. ii. p. 259.) This appears to have taken

place after 1380, as John, Lord of the Isles, died that year.

In the disturbances in the Isles, during the 16th century, Sir

Lauchlan Mackinnon bore an active part.

As a proof of the common descent of the Mackinnons, the

Macgregors, and the Macnabs, althongli their territories were

far distant from each other, two bonds of friendship e.xist,

which are curious specimens of the manners of the times.

The one dated 12th July, 160G, was entered into between

Lauchhin Mackinnon of Strathordell and Finlay Macnab of

Bowaine, who, as its tenor runs, happened " to forgetlier to-

gedder, with certain of the said Fhday's friends, in their

rooms, in the laird of Glenurchy's country, and the said

Lauchlan and Finlay, being come of ane house, and being of

one surname and lineage, notwithstanding the said Lauchlan

and Finlay this long time bygane oversaw their awn dueties

till udderis, in respect of the long distance betwixt their

dwelling places," agreed, with the consent of their kin and

friends, to give all assistance and service to each other. And
are " content to subscribe to the same, with their hands led

to tlie pen." Mackinnon's signature is characteristic. It is

" Lauchland, mise (i. e. myself) Mac Fingon." The other

bond of manrent, dated at Kihnoi'ie in 1671, was between

Lauchlan Mackinnon of Stratliordell and James Macgi'egor

of Macgregor, and it is therein stated that " for the special

love and amitie between these persons, and condescending

that they are descended lawfully fra tma hreethren of auld

descent, wherefore and for certain onerous causes moving, we

witt ye we to be bound and obleisit, likeas by the tenor here-

of we faithfully bind and obleise us and our successors, our

kin, friends and foUowei-s, faithfully to serve ane anitlier in

all canses with our men and sei-vants, against all who live

or die."

During the civil wars the Mackinnons joined the standard

of the marquis of Montrose, and fonned part of his force at the

battle of luveriochy. Feb. 2, 1645. In 1650, Lauchlan Mac-

kinnon, the chief, raised a regiment of his clan for tlie service

of Charles II., and at the battle of Worcester, in 1646, he was

made a knight banneret. His son, Daniel Mohr, had 2 sons,

John, whose great-gr.andson died in India, unmarried, in 1808,

and Daniel, who emigrated to Antigua, and died in 1720. His

eldest son and heir, William Mackinnon of Antigua, an eminent

member of the legislature of that island died at Batli in 1767.

The son of the latter, Willi.im .Mackinnon of Antigua and

Binfield. Berkshire, died in 1809. The youngest of his four

sons, Henry, Major-general Mackiimon, a distinguished officer,

w:is killed by the explosion of a magazine, while leading on

the main storming party, at Cindad Rodrigo, Feb. 29, 1812.

A tablet was erected to his memory in St. Paul's cathedral.

The eldest son, William Mackinnon, died young, le.iving,

with 2 daughters, 2 sons, William Alexander Mackinnon, who

succeeded his gi-andfather, and Daniel, colonel of the Cold-

stream guards, of whom a memoir follows in larger type.

William Alexander Mackinnon of Mackinnon, M.P., the

chief magistrate and deputy lieutenant for the counties of

Middlesex, Hampshire, and Essex, and author of 'The His-

toi-v of Civilization,' and other publications (' Public Opinion,'

'Tlioughts on the Currency Question,' &c..) born in 1789.

succeeded in 1809. He married Emma, daughter of Joseph

Palmer, Esq. of Ru.sh House, County Dublin, with issue, 3

sons and 3 daughters. Tlie eldest son, William Alexander,

also M P., born in 1813, married daughter of F. Willes, Esq.

Lauchlan Mackinnon of Letterfearn also claims to be the

heir-male of the family. Although tliere are many gentlemen

of the name still resident in Skye, there is no Mackinnon pro-

prietor of lands now either in that island or in Mull.

The Mackinnons engaged in both rebellions in favour of

the Stuart.s. In 1715, 150 of them fought with the Macdo-

nalds of Sleat at the battle of Sheriffmuir, for which the chieV

was forfeited, but received a pardon, 4th January, 1727. In

1745, Mackinnon, though then old and infirm, joined Prince

Charles with a battalion of his clan. President Forbes esti-

mates their effective force at that period at 200 men. After

the battle of Culloden, the prince, in his wanderings, took

refuge in the country of the Mackinnons, when travelling

in disguise through Skye, and was concealed by the chief in

a cave, where Lady Mackinnon brought him a refreshment of

cold meat and wine. Afterwards the chief and one of his

clansmen, John Mackinnon, residing at Ellagol, conducted

the royal fugitive in his own boat to the mainland, to the

country of Macdonald of Jlorar. Not meeting with that as-

sistance from the latter which he expected, the prince, in

great distress, turned round to Mackinnon, and said, "I

hope, Mr. Mackinnon, you will not desert me too, and leave

me in the lurch ; but that you will do all for my preserva-

tion you can." The old chief, thinking that these words

were meant for him, said, with tears in his eyes, " I never

will leave your royal highness in the day of danger; but will,

under God, do all I can for you, and go vi-ith you wherever

you order me." " Oh, no," rejoined Charles, " that is too

much for one of your advanced years. Sir ; I heartily thank

you for your readiness to take care of me, as I am well sat-

isfied of your zeal for me and my cause ; but one of your age

caimot well hold out with the fatigites and dangers I must

undergo. It was to your friend John here, a stout young

man, I was addi-es.sing myself." " Well, then," said John
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" with the lielp of God, I will go through the wide world

with your royal highness, if you desire mo." The chief re-

turned home, and was soon followed by John iMackinnon,

after he had conducted the prince safely to Burrodale, and

placed him under the charge of jEneas Macdonald, the laird

thereof. The chief and his faithful kinsman were soon after

captured by a party of militia, and carried to London, where

they were kept in conKnement till July 1747.

MACKINNON, Daniel, a galLant officer, was

born in 1791. He was the younger son of William

Mackinnon, eldest son of the chief of the clan of

that name in the western Highlands, and the ne-

phew of General Mackinnon, M'ho was killed at

the storming of Ciiidad Rodrigo. At the age of

fonrteen lie entered the army as ensign in the

Coldstream guards, and shoi-tly after accompanied

his regiment to Bremen. In 1807 the battalion

to which he belonged sailed for Copenhagen, and

after the capture of that place it returned to Eng-

land. In 1809 the Coldstream guards embarked

for the Peninsula, and was present in all the great

battles, beginning with Talavera and ending with

Toulouse. Young Mackinnon, who had attained

the rank of lieutenant, was appointed aide-de-

camp to General Stopford, and distinguished him-

self throughout the campaign bj' his cool daring,

and extraordinary activity. It is related of him,

that on one occasion, when the twmy was passing

a defile, and part of our troops, on debouching

from it, were exposed to a destructive fire, they

found Captain Mackinnon cooll\' shaving himself

in a spot where the danger was the greatest.

Encouraged at the sight, the men rushed forward

and drove the French before them.

On the conclusion of peace in 1814 he was pro-

moted to the rank of lieutenant-colonel. Early in

June 1815, anxious to join his regiment, then

quartered near Brussels, Colonel IMackinnon em-

barked at Ramsgate with a brother officer in an

open boat, and riext morning reached Ostend.

He was present at the engagements of the 16th

and 17th, and at Waterloo on the 18th of June.

In the latter memorable battle he had three horses

shot under him. In advancing to charge the

French, leading on a portion of his regiment, he

received a shot in his knee which killed his horse,

and in falling he lost his sword. He fell close be-

side a French officer who was still more severely

wounded, and in taking the latter's sword, he

gently told him he hoped they might sup togethei-

that night. On recovering his legs he again

mounted, and cheering on his men, advanced at

their head.

In the latter part of the day Colonel Mackinnon

was ordered to occupy the farm of Hougoumcnt,

where he was placed with about 250 of the Cold-

stream and the first regiment of the Grenadier

guards. Aware of the great importance of this

position, which flanked our arm}', the duke of

Wellington sent orders to defend it to the last

extremity. On this point Napoleon directed his

great eltlirts, ordering battalion after battalion to

the assault, and the carnage was terrific. Not-

withstanding the pain of his wound, and his being

disabled in one leg. Colonel Mackinnon continued

to defeml that perilous post till the advance of the

whole British line, and the subsequent rout of the

French army, put an end to the struggle of the

day. When the action was over he became deli-

lious from loss of blood and fatigue, and was sent

on a litter to Brussels, where he received every

attention, and soon recovered his health.

After the peace he married the eldest daughter

of John Dent, Esq., M.P, for Pool. In 1826 he

purchased the majority in the Coldstream guards,

which gave him the rank of full colonel in the

arm}', and the command of the regiment to which

he had been attached all his military life. In

consequence of his nmjest\- "\^^illianl IV. having

expi'essed a desire that every officer in command of

a regiment should furnish the Horse Guards with

some account of it. Colonel Mackinnon wrote his

well known work, ' The Origin and Services of

the Coldstream Guards,' which was published in

1833. He died June 22, 1836, aged 46.

MACKINTOSH, Sin James, an eminent law-

yer, statesman, and historian, was born at Aldow-

rie, on the banks of Loch Ness, within seven miles

of Inverness, October 24, 1765. He was the son

of Captain John Mackintosh of Kellachie, who

during the seven years' war in Germany, served in

Campbell's Highlanders, and was severely wounded

at the battle of Felinghausen in July 1761. His

mother was Marjory, daughter of Mr. Alexander

Macgillivray of Carolina, l>y Anne Fi'aser, sister

of Brigadier-general Eraser, who was killed in

General Burgoyne's ai'my in 1777 ; and of Dr.

Fraser, physician in London, and of Mrs. Eraser
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Tytler, wife of Lord Woodliouselee, one of tlie

lords of session. Miijor Mercer, the friend of

Beattie and the author of a small volume of

' Lyric Poems,' who lield a lieutenant's commis-

sion in the same regiment, (and a memoir of

whom is given subsequently in its place) in a let-

ter to Lord Glenbervie, thus speaks of Sir James'

father and uncle: "John Macintosh was one of

the most lively, good humoured, gallant lads I

ever knew ; and he had an elder brother of the

name of Angus, who served in the regiment (Col.

afterwards Sir R. M. Keith's) that constantly en-

camped next to ours, who was a most intelligent

man, and a most accomplished gentleman. Mr.

M.'s grandfather saw his two sons return home, at

the end of the seven years' war, one with a shat-

tered leg, and the other with the loss of an eye."

His father was afterwards captain in the 68th re-

giment, in which he served at Gibraltar, during

the famous siege of that place.

He received the first part of his education at

the school of Fortrose, in Ross-shire, to which he

was sent in the summer of 1775, and he remained

there till he went to King's College, Old Aber-

deen, in October 1780. His passion for reading,

in his boyhood, was so great that his father often

complained that he would become " a mere ped-

ant." He read at all times and in all places, and

would frequentl}' sit up the greater part of the

night over his books. Whilst at school so great

was his proficiency that he was employed by the

usher, whose name was Stalker, to teach the

younger boys, and " tliat boy, that Jamie Mack-

intosh," was known all over the country as a pro-

digy of learning. He also made some attempts at

writing verses, which, for the four winters he con-

tinued at Aberdeen, gained him the name of ' the

poet.' His companion at King's College was the

afterwards celebrated Robert Hall of Leicester.

They lived in the same house, and read and

studied together. They were both fond of argu-

ment, and had almost daily discussions on most

topics of enquirj^ particularly in morals and me-

taphysics. In their joint studies, we are told in

Gregory's Memoir of Robert Hall, (page 22) they

read much of Xenophon and Herodotus, and more

of Plato ; and so well was all this known, exciting

admiration in some, in others envy, that it was

not unusual, as they went along, for their class-

fellows to point at them, and s^y, ' there go

Plato and Herodotus!' Under the auspices of

these two highly gifted young men, a debating

society was formed in King's College, which was

jocularly termed ' the Hall and Mackintosh Club.'

In March 1784, Mr. Mackintosh took his degree

of master of arts, and the next thing to be consid-

ered was the choice of a profession. He himself

wished to become an advocate at the Scottish bar,

but his friends preferred that he should be a doc-

tor of medicine, and in October of the same year

he went to Ediiibui'gh, where for three }'ears he

attended the medical classes. While at the uni-

versity of that city, he became a member of the

Speculative Societj', which met for the discussion

of subjects in general literature and science, and

at its meetings he soon distinguished himself as a

keen and eloquent debater. At this time its lead-

ers were Charles Hope, afterwards lord president

of the court of session ; Baron Constant de Re-

becque, the subsequently celebrated Beijjamin

Constant ; Malcolm Laing, the historian ; and

Thomas Addis Emmett. He attended the lec-

tures of Dr. Brown, the founder of the Brunonian

system, and for a time was one of his most enthu-

siastic disciples. He was also a member of the

royal medical and royal physical societies. In

1787 he took his degree of M.D., his thesis on the

occasion being " De motu muscular!."

In the beginning of the following spring he

went to London, accompanied by one of his col-

lege friends, Lewis Grant, the eldest son of Sir

James Grant of Grant, then M.P. for Mora3'shire,

and afterwards earl of Seafield and Findlater.

His mind had an early bias towards politics, and

as his principles were of the most liberal kind, he

soon became a member of the Society for Consti-

tutional information, one of the numerous political

societies of that exciting period. He seems at

this time to have contemplated settling in St.

Petersburg as a physician, but the plan Avas not

carried into eiFect. On the death of his father,

the same year, he succeeded to the family estate

of Kellachie, in Inverness-shire, worth about £900

a-year, but burdened by an annuity to the widow

of a former proprietor, who still survived. In the

course of a year or two he was compelled to dis-
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pose of it, from pecuniary difficulties, for £9,000.

The malady wlucii attaclied George III., in tlie

autumn of 1788, caused Mr. Mackintosh to ad-

vertise a work on insanity, tjut tliough a consid-

erable portion of it was written, it was never

publislied. Early in tlie following year lie issued

a pamphlet on the Regency Question, in support

of the claims of the prince of AVales, wldcii at-

tracted little notice. Subsequently he attempted

to settle himself in practice as a physician in Bath,

at Salisbury, and afterwards at Weymouth, but

without success. He had previously married, at

the age of 24, Catliei-ine Stewart, sister of the

Messrs. Stewart, proprietors of the Morning Post,

and soon after he went on a tour, with his wife,

through the Low Countries, to Brussels, where lie

resided for some time. On his return to London, he

became a contributor to the ' Oracle' newspaper, at

a fixed salary, of articles on the affairs of Belgi-

um and France. He now relinquished the medi-

cal profession, and resolved to devote himself to

tlie study of the law.

The publication of Mr. Burke's 'Reflections on

the French Revolution,' in 1700, called forth nu-

merous replies, and among other opponents Mr.

Mackintosh stepped forth, in the spring of 1791,

with his 'Vindicije Gallica!, or a Defence of the

French Revolution against the Accusations of

Edmund Burke,' ^^hilh at once acquired for him a

high reputation. He had sold the work, when

only partly written, for £.30, but its sale was so

great, three editions of it having gone ofl' within

six months, that the publisher, Mr. George Robin-

son, liberally paid him several times the original

price. The great talent displayed in it obtained

for the author the acquaintance of Fox, Grey,

Sheridan, Wliitbread, and other leading wliigs.

On the formation, under their auspices, of the cele-

brated association of the " Friends of the Peo-

ple," in the following year, he was appointed its

honorary secretary, and as such had a principal

hand in the authorship of their 'Declaration,'

which exercised so powerful an influence over the

pulilic feeling of the time. In answer to a pro-

clamation of government against such societies, he

published 'A Letter to the Right Honourable

William Pitt, London,' 1792, defending the prin-

ciples of the association, on which occasion he
|

received the public thanks of the association for

the ability and vigour displayed in its service.

The same year he entered himself of Lincoln's

Inn, to study law, and in Michaelmas term, 1795,

he was called to the bar by that society. At this

time he contributed vai-ious articles to the British

Critic and Monthly Review, then the only literary

periodicals of any note. To tlie latter he sent re-

views of ' Gibbon's Miscellaneous Works,' Mr.

Roscoe's ' Life of Lorenzo de IMedicis,' and ilr.

Burke's ' Letter to the Duke of Bedford,' and also

his 'Thoughts on a Regicide Peace.' His article

on the latter led to a correspondence with Burke,

who invited him to his residence at Beaconstield,

and he spent a few days with that celebrated

statesman a short time previous to liis death.

His practice as a barrister was at first extreme-

ly limited, and with the view of adding to his in-

come, he delivered, in 1799, a course of lectures

in Liiiclou's Inn llall, on 'the Law of Nature and

Nations.' The use of the hall he had obtained
j

with some difBculty, owing to a suspicion enter-
|

tallied by some, tliat politics would be introduced
j

into his lectures. To indicate precisely his plan :

and the manner in which it was his intention to
j

treat it, he published an ' Introductory Discourse,'
i

which gained the approbation of the then loi'd
'

chancellor. Lord Loughborough, as well as of both

Mr. Pitt and I\Ir. Fox, and the whole course was

attended by large audiences, including some of

the most distinguished men of the day. The rep-

utation which he acquired from these lectures, 39

ill all, was incidentally of much use to his general

professional advancement. He was often retained

as counsel in cases in committees of the House of

Commons, regarding constitutional law and con-

tested elections, and in those before the privy
j

council. On the Norfolk circuit, which, after try-
j

ing the home circuit, he had joined, he soon found

himself in possession of a considerable share of

the little business it supplies. In 1801, he was !

asked to assist in a pi'oject, then under the consi-
j

deration of the emperor Alexander, of digesting
j

the ukases which governed Russia into something !

of a code of law. The Russian minister in Lon-

don, we are informed by his son, was instructed

to apply, with that view, to "jurisconsults Ang-

lais qui, comine ^Mackintosh, jouissent d'une rcpu-
!
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tation distinguee." Family ties forbade, wliat

otherwise he confessed that he should not have

been averse from—the means " of giving more

etfectual aid, by a personal residence for some time

in Russia." It was an odd coincidence that an

opportunity sliould now offer of going, as a jurist,

to the same country for which he was once de-

signed as a physician. He was also, about the

same time, invited by a body of London publish-

ei"s, to superintend a new edition of Johnson's

Poets, but the project never came to anything.

Among the crowds of British subjects who has-

tened to Paris, on the peace of Amiens in autumn

1802, were Mr. and Mrs. Mackintosh, who re-

mained in that capital a month, when he was

presented to the First Consul. The terrible

events of the reign of terror in France had long

ere this modified very considerablj' many of the

opinions he had expressed in the ' Vindicise Gal-

lica;." On the trial, February 21, 1803, of M.

Peltier, a French refugee, editor of a French jour-

nal published in London, entitled ' L'Anibigu,' for

a libel on Napoleon Bonaparte, first consul of

France, Mr. Mackintosh appeared as sole counsel

for the defendant, while the case for the prosecu-

tion was conducted by Mr. Perceval, afterwards

prime minister, then attorney general, and Mr.

Abbott, afterwards Lord Teuterden. His address

to the jury on the occasion was declared by Lord

Ellenborough, the presiding judge, to be "the

most eloquent oration he ever had heard in AVest-

minster Hall." A translation of this speech

was made by Madame de Stael, and circulated

throughout Europe. No less a personage than

Louis Philippe, due d'Orleans, afterwards king of

the French, had partly translated his ' Vindicia;

Galiicaj,' and a speech subsequently delivered by

him in the cause of Poland received the same

honour from the patriotic princess Jablonowska.

A short time thereafter he was appointed re-

corder, or criminal judge of Bombay, when he

was knighted, December 21, 1803. He arrived

at Bombay 26th May, 1804, and on the institu-

tion, in that year, of a court of vice-admiralty

there, for the trial and adjudication of all prize

and maritime cases, he was appointed judge of

that court. He remained in India for seven

years, distinguishing himself by his fearlessness in

the discharge of his official duties, and his exer-

tions in the amelioration of the criminal law. He

founded the Literaiy Society of Bombay, and con-

tributed various valuable communications to the

Asiatic Register. He left Bombay in November

1811, retiring from the recordersliip with a pen-

sion of £1,200 from the East India Company.

Previous to his departure the grand jury present-

ed a complimentary address, requesting that he

would sit for his portrait, to be hung in the hall

of the court. The Literary Society of Bombay

elected him, on his departure, their honorary

president, and requested him to sit for a bust to

be placed in their library ; and with both requests

he complied.

On his arrival in England, he received a com-

munication from Mr. Perceval, then first lord of

the Treasury, otfering liim a seat in parliament,

but he declined it, as he could not agree with

government on the subject of the Roman Catholic

disabilities, being in fiivour of their i-emoval. His

answei", dated Maj^ 11, 1812, was leady to be sent

the very day that Perceval was shot by Belling-

ham in the lobby of the House of Commons.

Lord Liverpool, who succeeded Perceval, ofltered

him the office of a commissioner for India, but

that also he declined. He was elected M.P. for

the county of Nairn in July 1813. The following

year, on the restoration of the Bourbons, he again

visited Paris, and on his return, while the impres-

sions which the aspect of affairs in the French

capital had created were still fresh in his memor}',

he communicated to the Edinburgh Review (vol.

xxiv. p. 505) some Reflections on the subject.

In 1818, he became, by appointment of the

court of Directors, professor of law and general

politics in the East India Company's college at

Haileybury. The same year, on the death of

Dr. Thomas Brown, he was offered the professor-

ship of moral philosophy in the university of Ed-

inburgh, but declined it, a determination which

he afterwards gieatly regretted, as he had always

been desirous of an academic career.

Through the influence of the duke of Devon-

shire, he was elected for Knaresborough, in the

parliament which met in January 1819, and was

rechosen for that place at four subsequent elec-

tions. He took a prominent part on all questions
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of foreign policy and international law, and was a

principal speaker on most of tlie more important

measures that came before parliament He chief-

ly distinguished himself, however, by his efforts

to improve the criminal code, a task which had

been commenced by Sir Samuel Romilly. In

1819 he was chairman of a committee of tlie

House of Commons on the subject, some bills rel-

ative to which he introduced into parliament. He

was one of the earliest and most zealous advo-

cates for the emancipation of the West Indian

slaves. He I'cjoieed at the passing of tiie lioman

Catholic emancipation bill in ; and he was

a warm supporter of the Reform bill, though he

did not live to see it passed into a law. Suiijoin-

ed is his portrait, from a painting by Sir Tho-

mas Lawrence

:

In 1822, Sir James was elected lord rector of

the university of Glasgow, and again in 1823.

In 1828, he was sworn a member of the privy

council, and in December 18o0, on the formation

of earl Gre3''s administration, he was appointed

one of the commissioners for the affairs of India,

the office he had refused eighteen years before.

He died at London, May 30th, 1832, in the Gfith

year of his age, and was buried at Hampstcad. I

III.

He had for some time been declining in strength,

and a shoi t time previous to his death, whilst at

dinner, he swallowed a small fragment of a chick-

en bone, which, though removed, occasioned a

slight lacei'ation in the trachea, tliat subsequently

extended to the vertebrae of the neck, and ulti-

mately proved fatal.

He was twice married. His first wife, already

mentioned, died in 1797. By her he had a son,

who died in infancy, arid tliiee daughters. He

took for his second wife, in 1798, a daughter of J.

B. Allen, Esq. of Cressella, Pembrokeshire, and

by her he had one son, Robert James Mackin-

tosh, Esq. B.A., fellow of Now College, Oxford,

who published Memoirs df his falhei-, in 2 vols.,

8vo, London, 1835, ami a daughter, Frances,

married to H. Wedgwood, StafT'ordsliire. His

three eldest daughters were, Mary, the wife of

Claudius James Rich, Esq., British resident at

Bagdad; Maitland, Mrs. Erskiiie ; and Catherine,

married to Sir William Wiseman, baronet, but

divorced in 1825, by act of parliament. Her

second son. Sir AVilliam Saltonstall Wiseman, be-

came the eighth bamnet of that name.

Sir James Mackintosh's works are :

llie Regency Question, a pamphlet. London, 1789.

Vindicias (iallicse, or a Defence of the French Revolution,

iind its English admirere, against the accusations of tlie Riglit

lion. Edrnuni Burke; including some strictures on the lute

}iroduction of Monsieur de Calonne. London, 1791, 8vo, fith

edition, same year.

A Letter to the Riglit Hon. William Pitt. London, 1792.

Introductory Discourse on the I^aw of Nature and Nations.

London, 1799.

Dissertation on the Progress of ICthical pliilosopli\', chiefly

during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, with a pre-

face by the Rev. William Wliewell, M.A. Edin., 1830, 8vo.

Life of Thomas More, in Lardner's Cabinet Cyclopedia.

Abridged History of England, contributed to the Cabinet

Cyclopedia. 2 vols. 18.30-1831.

History of the Revfilution of 1688, with a notice of liis

Life prefi.-sed, 1834.

Dissertation on Ethics, being a continuation of Dugald

Stewart's preliminary dissertation, and the second prefi.xed to

the seventh etlition of the Encyclopedia Britannica; consi-

dered his most finished production. Republislied in a volume,

entitled 'Dissertations on the History of Metaphysical atid

Ethical, and of Mathematical and Physical Science.' Edin.

1835, 4to.
;

containing, besides his dissertation, those of

Dugald Stewart, John Playfair, and Sir John Leslie.

His other writings consist cliietly of his published Speeches,

and of various historical and other articles in the Monthly

and Edinburgh Reviews. To the latter he was a constant

contributor.

Miscellaneous W.u-ks. London, 184.5, 3 vols. 8vo, and

1851, Svo.

C
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MACKNIGHT, Jamks, D.D., a learned bibli-

cal critic, the son of the Rev. William Macknight,

minister of Irvine in Ayrshire, was born Septem-

ber 17, 1721. He received his academical educa-

tion at the university of Glasgow, and afterwards

studied theology at Leyden. On his i-eturn to

Scotland he was licensed to preach by the pres-

bytery of Irvine, and after officiating for some

time at the Gorbals, in Glasgow, he acted as

assistant at Kilwinning. In May 1753 he was

ordained minister of Maybole in his native coun-

ty. In 1756 he published a 'Harmony of tiie

Gospels,' which met with such a favourable recep-

tion, that he was induced in 1763 to bring out a

second edition, with considerable improvements

and additions. The same year he produced his

'Truth of the Gospel History,' which still farther

advanced his reputation as a theologian. From

the university of Edinbui'gh he received the de-

gree of D.D., and he was in 1769 cliosen modera-

tor of the General Assembly of the Church of

Scotland. During the same year he was trans-

lated to the parochial charge of Jedburgh, and in

1772 he became minister, first of Lady Tester's,

Edinburgh, and in 1778 of the Old Church in that

city, where he had for his colleague Dr. Henry

the historian. For u])wards of thirty years he

was engaged in the prejiaratiou of his last and

most important work, 'The New Literal Transla-

tion from the Greek of all the Apostolical Epis-

tles, with Commentaries and Notes,' which was

published in 1795, in 4 vols, quarto. He died

January 13. 1800.—His works are:

Harmony of the Four Gospels, in whiuli tlie natural order

of eacli is preserved ; with a Paraplirase and Notes. Lond.

17.56, 2 vols, in one, 4to. 2d edit.; with six Discourses on

.Tewish Antiquities. Lond. 1763, 4to. 3d. edit. Edin.

1804, 2 vols. 8vo. This has long been regarded as a standard

book among Divines. It was translated into Latin, hy Pro-

fessor Ruckersfelder, and published at Bremen and Deventer.

1772, 3 vols. 8vo.

The Truth of the Gospel History shewn, in three books.

London, 1763, 4to.

The Translation of the First and Second Epistles to the

Thessalonians: with a Commentary and Notes. London,

1787, 4to

A new Literal Translation, from the original Greek, of all

the Apostolic p^pistles; with a Coirimentary and Notes. I'hi-

lologlcal. Critical, Explanatory, and Pr.aotical. To which is

added, A History of the Life of the Apostle Paul. Edin.,

1795, 4 vols. 4to. 2d edit. ; with the Greek Text, and an

account of the Life of the Author. 1807, 6 vols. 8vo. Also

witliout the Greek Text. 3 vols. 4to. and 4 vols. 8vo. This

is a work of theological diligence, learning and piety not

often paralleled.

Maci.achlan, the surname of a clari of great antiquity in

Argyle.sliire; badge, tlie mountain ash. They po.ssessed the

barony of Stratliiachlan in Cowal. and otlier extensive pos-

sessions in the parishes of Gla.s3rie and Kilmartin, and on

Loch Awe side, which were separated from the main seat of

the fiimily by the arm of the sea called Loch Fyne.

The clan Lachlan (in Gaelic I.achuinn) was one of those

great Argyleshire clans, which, during the existence of tlie

Celtic kingdom of Ai'gyle and the Isles, formed bv Somi-rled

in the 12th century, composed a body of powerful tribes under

his sway, and after the forfeiture of the last Lord of the Isles,

occupied an independent position. Tliey were one of those

Gaelic tribes who adopted the oared galley for their special

device, as indicative of their connexion, either by residence or

descent, with the Isles. An ancestor of the family, Lachlan

Mor, who lived in the loth centuiT, is described in the Gaelic

MS. of 1467, (the date 1450 usually ascribed to it having been

found to be wrong,) as " son of Patrick, son of Gilchrist, son of

Aida Alain, called the clumsy, son of Henry or Anradan, from

whom are descended also the clan Niell." From the genealogy

of the clan Lachlan being given with much greater minute-

ness than that of any otlier of the clans, the author of the MS.
is supposed to have been a Maclachlan, and it seems probable

that it once formed a part of the well known collection of

ancient MSS., so long preserved by the family of Slaclachlan

,of Kilbride (see Collectanea de Rebus Albanicis, page 60),

and eventually purchased by the Highland Society of Scotland.

liy tradition the Maclaclilans are said to hfive come from

Ireland, their original stock being the OT.ouglilins of Meath.

According to the Irish genealogies, the clan Lachlan, the

Lamonds. and the M'Ewens of Otter, were kindred tribes,

being descended from brothers who were sons of Aida Alain

above referred to, and tradition relates that they took posses-

sion of tlie greater part of the district of Cowal, from Toward

Point to Strachur at the same time; the Lamonds being se-

parated from the JI'Ewens by the river of Kilfin.an, and the

M'Ewens from the Maclaclilans by the stream which separates

the parishes of Killinan and Strath Lachlan. Aida Alain, the

common ancestor of these families, is stated in ancient Irish

genealogies to have been the grand.son of Hugh Atlaman, the

head of the great family of O'Neils, kings of Ireland.

About 1230, Gilchrist Maclachlan, who is mentioned in the

manuscript of 1467 as chief of the family of Maclachlan at the

time, is a witness to a charter of Kilfinan granted by Laumanus,

ancestor of the Lamonds, (see Chartulary nf Paisley.')

In 1292, Gilleskel Maclachlan got a charter of his lands in

Ergadia from Baliol, (See Thomson's Scott. Acts, vol. i. p. 91.)

In a document preserved in the treasury of her Majesty's

Exchequer, entitled " Les petitions de terre d'emandees en

Escoce," there is the following enti-y, "Item Gillescop Mac-

loghlan ad demande la Baronie de Molbryde juvene, apelle

Strath, que fu pris centre le foi de Roi." From this it appears

that Gillespie Maclachlan was in possession of the lands still

retained hy the family, during the occupation of Scotland by

Edward I. in 1296. (See Sir Francis Palgrave's Scottish

IJocuments, vol. i. p. 319.)

In 1308, Gillespie Maclachlan sat in the first p.arliament of

Robert the Bruce at St. Andrews, and his signature and seal

tag are attached to the roll of that parliament. (See Thom-

son's Scott,. Acts, vol. i. p. 99.)

In 1314, Archibald Maclachlan in Ergadia, granted to th"

Preaching Friars of Glasgow forty sliillings to be paid yearl)
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ont of his Iii!ids of Kilbride, "juxta ciistram meum quud dici-

tur Castellaclilan." He died Ijefore 1322, and was succeeded

liy Ills brotlier Patrick. Tlie latter married a dau,t;i]ter of

James, Steward of Scotland, and liad a son, I.aelilan, who suc-

ceeded liirn. I>aclilan's son, Donald, contirnied in 1456, tlie

grant liy his predecessor Archibald, to the Preaching; Friars

of Glasgow of forty shillings yearly out of the lands of Kil-

bride, with an additional annuity of six shillings and eight-

pence " from his lands of Kilbryde near Castellachlan." Mu-
nimenta Fratrum Predicatorum de Glftsgu. {ifaitland Club.)

Laiichlan, the loth chief, dating from the time tliat written

evidence can be adduced, was served heir to his father, 23d

September 1719. He married a daughter of Stewart of Ap-

piii, and was killed at Cnlloden, fighting on the side of Pi ince

Charles. The 18th chief, (18G2,) his great-grandson, liobert

Maclachlan of Maclaclilan, convener and one of the deputy-

lieutenants of Argyleshire, married in 1823, Helen, daugh-

ter of William A. Carrutliers of Dormont, Dumfries-shire,

without issue. Next heir, his brother, George iMacIachlan,

Esq., married, issue 3 sons and a daughter. The family seat.

Castle Lachlan, built about 1790, near the old and ruinous

tower, formerly the residence of the chiefs, is situated in the

centre of the family estate, which is eleven miles in length,

and, on an average, a mile and a half in breadth, and stretch-

es in one continued line along the eastern side of Loch 'Pyne.

The effective force of the clan previous to the rebellion ot

174.T, was estimated at 300 men.

In Argyleshire also are tlie families of Maclachlan of Craig-

interve, Inchcomiell, &c., and in Stirling.shire, of Auchin-

troig. The Maclachlans of Drumblane in l\lonteith were of

the I.ochaber branch.

MACLACHLAN, Ewen, a Gaelic poet and

scliolar, wasborii in 1775atToiTacaIltuimi, in Locli-

aber. His fofefatliers came oi'iginally from Mofven.

He was tlie 2d youngest son of a weaver, and in liis

youtli was engaged as a tutor in several families in

the Highlands. Several pieces of Gaelic poetrycom-

posed l)y him were ])iiblislnHl about 1798, in a vol-

nme printed at Edinburgh tor Allan RLacdougall, or

Ailean Dall, (Blind Allan,) musician at Inverlochy,

afterwards family bard to Col. Raiialdson ]\Iacdo-

nell of Glengarry. In the following year ]\lac-

lachlan was introduced by ])r. Eoss of Kihntmi -

vaig to that truly Highland chief, by whose as-

sistance he was enabled to fulfil a long-cherished

desire of going to college. After a vciy strict

competition, he succeeded in obtaining the highest

bursary at King's college, Old Aberdeen. On

takitig tlie degree of A.M., he entered the divinity

hall, having been, through the good offices of hi.s

friend, Dr. Ross, presented, in 1800, to a royal

biu'sary in the gift of the barons of exchequer.

About the same time he was appointed assistant

to Mr. Gray, librarian to King's college, and

teacher of the Grammar school of Old Aberdeen.

He was subsequently made a free burgess of that

town, arid for some time was custodier of the

library attached to the divinity hall of Marlscliul

college. To add to the scanty income which his

various offices brought to him, he devoted several

hours every day to private teaching.

Besides being an accomplished scholar, Mr.

Maclachlan was well versed in oriental literatme

and in the languages of modern Europe. Of the

Iliad of Homer he translated nearly seven books

into Gaelic heroic verse, which still remain in MS.

Having begun to collect materials for a Diction-

ary of the Gaelic langtiage, he was, by the High-

land Society of Scotland, conjoined with Dr. Mac-

leod of Dundonald, in carrying on the national

Dictionar}', compiled under their patronage. The

department assigned to him was the Gaelic-Eng-

lish, and in the Preface to the work published hy

Drs. Macleod and Dewar, lie is thus mentioned :

" Mr. Maclachlan of Aberdeen especiall}^ brought

to the undertaking great talents, profound learn-

ing, habits of indtistiy which were almost super-

human, an intimate acquaintance with the Gaelic

language, and devoted attachment to the elucida-

tion of its principles."

In 1816, Mr. Maclachlan published at Aber-

deen a volume of poctiy, in various languages,

entitled ' Metrical Etl'usions.' An ode, in the

Greek language, ' On the Generation of Light,'

contained in it, gained the prize given by Dr.

Buchanan of Bengal to King's college, for the

best ode on the subject. Among the contents,

also, were an elegant Latin ode addressed to Dr.

Beattie the poet, on whose death, in 1810, Mac-

lachlan had composed an elegy in the Gaelic

tongue, and an English ode, entitled ' A Dream,'

being an apotheosis on his deceased friend.

In 1819, Mr. Maclachlan succeeded Mr. Gray

as head master of the Grammar school of Old

Aberdeen, and also principal session clerk and

treasurer of the parish of Old Machar. He wvas

likewise secretary to the Highland Society of

Aberdeen, and, wo are told, wore the full High-

land garb when officially attending the meetings

of the Society, and on other particular occasions.

In 1820 he became a candidate for the office of

teacher of the classical department of the Inver-

ness academy, but was unsuccessful, local politics,

it seems, having ruled the appointment. He died
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29th March 1822, aged 47. A Memoir of his

life and some of his Gaelic pieces are inserted in

Mackenzie's Beauties of Gaelic Poetry (Glasgow,

1841).

MACLAURIN, the surname of a clan, commonly spelled

Maclaren (badge, the laurel,) said to have been derived from

the district of Lorn in Argyleshire, the Gaelic ortliography of

vvliich is Labhrin, pronounced Laurin, hence the Maclaurins

are called the clann Lahhrin. Tliat district took its name

from Lorn, one of the three sons of Ere, wlio, in 503, airived in

Argyleshire from Ireland, and founded there the Scoto-Irish

kingdom of Dalriada, a word borne by the Maclaurins as a

motto above their coat of arms.

From Argyleshire the tribe of Laurin moved into Perth-

shire, having, it is said, acquired from Kennetli Macalpin,

after his conquest of the Picts in the 9tli century, the dis-

tricts of Balquhidder and Strathearn, and three brothers are

mentioned as having got assigned to them in that temtoiy

the lands of Bruach, Auchleskin, and Stank. In the church-

yard of Balquliidder, celebrated as containing the grave of

Kob Roy, tlie burial places of their difl'erent families are

marked off separately, so as to correspond with the situation

wliich these estates bear to each other, a circumstance which

so far favours tlie tradition regarding them.

Among the followers of Malise, earl of Strathearn, at the

battle of the Standard in 1138, were a tribe called "Laver-

nani," supposed by Lord Hailes to have been tlie clan Lau-

rin. Of those Scottish barons who swore fealty to Ed-

ward I. in 1296, were Maurice of Tiree, an ishmd in the

county of Argyle which formerly belonged to the Maclaurins,

Conan of Balquhidder, and Laurin of Ardveche in Strath-

earn, all of the clan Laurin. When the earldom of Strath-

earn became vested in the crown in 1370, the Maclaurins

were reduced from the condition of proprietors to that of

"kyndly"or perpetual tenants, which tliey continued to be

till 1508, when it was deemed expedient that this Celtic

holding should be changed, and the lands set in feu, " for in-

crease of policie and augmentation of the king's rental." The

Maclaurins were among tlie loyal clans that fought for James

111. at Sauchieburn in 1488. They were also at Flodden

and at Pinkie. In the well-known rolls of the clans pos-

sessing chiefs, dated in 1587 and 1594, "the clan Lauren"

are mentioned.

A sanguinary encounter once took place between the Mac-

laurins of Auchleskin and the Buclianans of Leny, arising

out of the following circumstance: At the fair of St. Kessaig

held at Kilmahog, in the parish of Calhinder, one of the Bu-

chanans struck a Maclaurin of weak intellect, on the clieek,

with a salmon which he was carrying, and knocked off his

bonnet. The latter said he would not dare to repeat tlie

blow at next St. George's fair at Balquhidder. To that fair

the Buchanans went in a strong body, and on their appear-

ance the half witted Maclaurin, who had received the insult,

for the first time told what had occurred at the fair at Kil-

mahog. The warning cross was immediately sent through

the clan, and every man able to bear arms hastened to tlie

muster. In their impatience the Maclaurins began the bat-

tle, before all their force had collected, and were driven from

the field, but one of them, seeing his son cut down, turned

furiously upon the Buchanans, shouting the war-cry of his

tribe, (" Craig Tuire," the rock of the boar,) and his clans-

men rallying, became fired with tlie miri-cath, or madness of

battle, and rushed after him, fighting desperately. The Bu-

chanans were slain in great numbers, and driven over a

small cascade of the Balvaig stream, which retains the

name of Linaii-an-Seicachan, " the cascade of the dead bo-

dies." Two only escaped from the field, one of whom was
slain at Gartnafuaran, and the other fell at the point which,

from him, was ever afterwards known as Sron Lainie. Tra-

dition variously fixes this clan battle in the reign of one of

the Alexanders, that is, between 1106 and 1286, and in the

16th century.

About 1497, some of the clan Lanrin having earned off the

cattle from the Braes of Lochaber, the Macdonalds followed

the spoilers, and, overtaking them in Glenurchy, after a shai-p

fight, recovered the " lifting." The Maclaurins straightway

sought the assistance of their kinsman, Dugal Stewart of

Appin, who at once joined them with his followers, and a

conflict took place, when both Dugal and Macdonald of Kep-
poch, the chiefs of their respective clans, were among the

slain. This Dugal was the first of the Stewarts of Appin.

He was an illegitimate son of John Stewart, third lord of

LoiTi, by a lady of the clan Laurin, and in 1469 when he at-

tempted, by force of arms, to obtain possession of his father's

lands, he was assisted by the Maclaurins, 130 of whom fell

in a battle that took place at the foot of Bendoran, a moun-
tain in Glenurchy.

The clan Laurin were the strongest sept in Balquhidder,

which was called "the country of the Maclaurins." Although

there are few families of the name there now, so numerous
were they at one period that none dared enter the church,

until the Maclaurins had taken their seats. This invidious

right claimed by them often led to unseemly brawls and

fights at the church door, and lives were sometimes lost in

consequence. In 1532, Sir John Maclaurin, vicar of Bal-

quhidder, was killed in one of these quarrels, and several of

his kinsmen, implicated in the deed, were outlawed.

A deadly feud existed between the Maclaurins and their

neighbours, the Macgregors of Rob Roy's tribe. In the 16th

century, the latter slaughtered no fewer than eighteen house-

holders of the Maclaurin name, with the whole of their fami-

lies, and took possession of the farms which had belonged to

them. The deed was not investigated till 1604, forty-six

years afterwards, when it was thus described in their trial

for the slaughter of the Colqnhouns: "And siclyk, John

M'CouU cheire, ffor airt and pairt of the crewall niurthonr

and burning of auchtene houshalders of the clan Lawren.

thair wyves and bairns, committlt fourtie sax zeir syne, or

thairby." The verdict was that he was " clene, innocent,

and acquit of the said crymes." The hill farm of Invernenty,

on " The Braes of Balquhidder," was one of the farms thus

forcibly occupied by the Macgregors, although the property of

a Maclaurin family, and in the days of Rob Roy, two centu-

ries afterwards, the aid of Stewart of Appin was called in to

replace the Maclaurins in their own, which he did at the head

of 200 of his men. All these farms, however, are now the

property of the chief of clan Gregor, having been purchased

about 1798, from the commissioners of the forfeited estates.

The Maclaurins were out in the rebellion of 1745. Ac-

cording to President Forbes, they were followers of the Mur-

rays of Athol, but although some of them might have been

so, the majority of the clan fought for the Pretender with the

Stewarts of Appin under Stewart of Ardsheil. Among them

was Maclaurin of Invernenty, who was taken prisoner after

the battle of Culloden, but made his escape in a veiy singu-

lar manner from the soldiers who were conducting him to

Carlisle. The incident has been introduced by Sir Walter

Scott into ' Redgauntlet,' where " Pate-in-Peril" is the hero of

it. On the way to England the party had reached the well-

known " Devil's Beef Stand," otherwise called "Johnstone's
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Beef Tub," a deep and gloomy lioUovv near Muffat, so named

from its liaving been employed, m the reiving times of old, as

a hiding-place for stolen cattle. It was a misty morning,

and Maclaurin, taking advantage of tlie opportunity, sud-

denly threw himself down the sides of the declivity, knowing

that the soldiers, ignorant of the hjcality, would not dare to

follow him. Gaining a morass, he immersed himself up to

tlie neck in water, and covering his head with a turf, he re-

miuTied there until night. In the disguise of a woman lie

afterwards lived undiscovered in Balquhidder, until the act of

indemnity was passed in 1747.

The chiefship was claimed by the family to which belonged

Colin Maclaurin, the eminent mathematician and philoso-

pher, and his son, John Maclaurin, Lord Dreghorn, memoirs

of whom follow. In the application given in for the latter to

the Lyon court, he proved his descent from a family which

had long been in possession of the island of Tiree, one of the

Argyleshire Hebrides. His great-grandfather, Daniel Mac-

laurin, author of Memoirs of his Own Times, remoYed from

Tiree to Inverness, of which he became a very useful citizen.

MACLAURIN, Colin, an eminent mathema-

tician, youngest son of tlie Rev. Jolin Maclaurin,

minister of Glenderule, autlior of an Irish version

of the Psalms, was born in the parish of Kilmo-

dan, Argyleshire, in February 1G98. Having lost

his father in infancy, and his mother before he

was nine years old, he was educated under the

care of his uncle, the Rev. Daniel Maclaurin, min-

ister of Kilfinnan. He was sent to the universitj-

of Glasgow in 1709, and took the degree of M. A.

in his fifteenth year, on which occasion he com-

posed and defended a thesis on 'The Power of

Gravity.' In 1717, after a competition which

lasted for ten days, he was elected professor of

mathematics in the Marischal college, Aberdeen.

In the vacancies of 1719 and 1721 he went to

London, where he became acquainted with Sir

Isaac Newton, Dr. Hoadley, Dr. Samuel Clarke,

Mr. Martin Folkes, and other eminent philo.so-

phers, and was admitted a member of the Royal

Society. In 1722, having provided a competent

person to attend to his class for a time at Aber-

deen, he travelled on the Continent as tutor to

the Hon. Mr. Hume, son of Lord Polwarth ; and

during their residence at Lorraine, he wrote his

essay on the Percussion of Bodies, which gained

the prize of the Royal Academy of Sciences in

1724. On the death of his pupil at Montpelier he

returned to Aberdeen ; and in 1725 he was chosen

to succeed Mr. James Gregory as professor of

mathematics at Edinburgh, where his lectures,

commenced November 3 of that year, contributed

much to raise the character of that univei'sity as a

school of science. In 1733 he married Anne,

daughter of Mr. Walter Stewart, at that time so-

licitor-general for Scotland, by whom he had seven

children. A controversy with Bishop Berkeley

led to the publication, in 1742, of his gi-eatest

work, the 'Treatise on Fluxions,' in 2 vols. 4to.

In 1745, having been very active in making

plans, and superintending the operations neces-

sary for the defence of the city of Edinburgh

against the Highland army, Mr. Maclaurin was,

upon their entering the city, obliged to witlidrau'

to the north of England, when he was invited by

the archbishop of York to reside with him. On

his journey southward he had a fall from his

horse, and the fatigue, anxiety, and cold to whicii

he was exposed on this occasion, laid the founda-

tion of a dropsy, of which he died soon after his

return to Edinburgh, June 14, 1746. His por-

trait, from an engraving in Smith's Iconograpliia

Scotica, is subjoined :

His works are

:

Geometra Organica, sive Descriptio Linearum Curvamm,
Universalis. Lond., 1720, 4to. The same, with the Life and

Writings of the Author, by Pat. Murdoch. Lond., 1748, 4fo.

Piece qui a remporte le Prix de r.Academie Royale des

Sciences propos6 pour I'annee mil sept cens vingt-quatre,

selon la Foundatione fait par feu M. Rouille de Morlav, An-
cien Consciller an Parlement de Paris. Par. 1724, 4to-



MACLAURIX. 38 MACLEAN.

A complete System of Fluxions ; with their application to

the most considerable Problems in Geometry and Natural

Philosophy. Edin. 17-12, 2 vols. 4to.

Account of Sir Isaac Newton's Philosophical Discoveries,

published from his MS. papers; with an Account of the Life

and Writings of tlie Autlior, by Pat. Murdoch. London,

1748, 4to.

Treatise of Algebra, in three Parts. To which is added.

An Appendix ooncerninj; the General Properties of Geometri-

cal Lines. Lond., 17-18, 8vo. 176G, 8vo.

On the Construction and Measure of Curves; by which

many infinite series of Curves are either Measured or reduced

to Simple Curves. Phil. Trans. Abr. vi. 356. 1718.

A New Universal Method of describing all kinds of Curves,

Dy means of Right Lines and Angles only. lb. 392. 1719.

Concerning Equations with impossible Roots. lb. Abr. vii.

145. 1726.

On the Description of Curve Lines. lb. viii. 41. 1735.

Rule for finding the Meridional Parts to any Spheroid, with

the same exactness as in a Sphere, lb. 515. 1741.

Of the Basis of the Cells wliere the Bees deposit their

Honey. lb. 709. 1743.

Cause of the Variation of the Obliquity of the Ecliptic.

Ess. Phys. and Lit. i. 174. 1754.

Concerning the sudden and surpiising Changes observed on

the Surface of Jupiter's Body. lb. 184.

MACLAURJN, John, Lord Dreghorn, an

able lawyer, son of the preceding, was born at

Edinburgh, December 15, 1734, old style. He

received the rudiments of his education at the

High school, and subsequently went through the

usual academical course at the university of tliat

city. On 3d August 1756 he was admitted a

member of the faculty of advocates at Edinburgh,

and after practising at the bar for many years

with mucli reputation, he was, on 17th January

1788, raised to the bench, when he took the title

of Lord Dreghorn. He died December 24, 1796.

' A Dissertation to prove that Ti'oy was not taken

by the Greeks,' read by him before the Royal So-

ciety of Edinburgh, of which he was one of the

original members, was inserted in the Transac-

tions of that Society in 1788. He kept a journal

of the various important events that happened in

Europe from 1792 to 1785, from which, .shortly

before his death, he made a selection, with the

view of publication. His works, in a collected

form, were published at Edinburgh in 2 vols, in

1798. At a very early period, as we learn from

the Life prefixed, he displayed a natural turn for

poetical composition, and among his school-fellows

was distinguished by the name of ' the poet.' His

poems, however, do not rank very high. Most of

them were thrown off from a private printing

press of his own for circulation among his friends '

He was the author of the following works :

Observations on some Points of Law; with a System of

the Judicial Law of Moses. Edin. 1759, 12mo.

Considerations on the Nature and Origin of Literary Pro-

perty. Edin. 1767, 8vo.

Information for Mungo Campbell, late Officer of Excise at

Saltcoats, in a Criminal Prosecution before the High Court of

.Justiciary in Scotland, for the alleged Murder of the late
'

Alexander Earl of Eglinton. London, 1770, 8vo.
|

Arguments and Decisions in Remarkable Cases before the '

High Court of Justiciary, and other Supreme Courts in Scot-
j

land. Edin. 1774, 4to.
jA Dissertation to prove that Troy was not taken by the
j

Greeks. Trans. Edin. Soc. i. 43. 1788.
j

Works. Edin. 1798, 2 vols. 8vo.
|

He also wj-ote three dramas of no great merit, entitled
j

'Hampden,' 'The Pulilic,' and 'The Philosopher's Opera."
j

Several of his pieces will be found in Donaldson's Collection,
|

printed at Edinburgh in 1760.

Maclean, the name of a clan (badge, blackberry heath)

of supposed Irish descent, founded by one of the Fitzgerald

family, as the clan Kenzie is said to have been by another.

The Macleans are not mentioned among the native tribes in

the Gaelic MS. of 1450, and the Norman or Italian origin of

their chiefs is therefore the more probable, the Fitzgeralds
|

having sprung from the Florentine Geraldi, one of whom
came over with William the Conqueror. Their progenitor, !

according to Celtic tradition, was one Gillean or Gille-oin, a
I

name signifying the young man, or the servant or follower of
j

John, who lived so early as the beginning of the 5th centuiy.

He was called GiUean-ni-Tuiodh, that is, Gillean with the

axe, from the dexterous manner in which he wielded that

weapon in battle, and his descendants bear a battle-.axe in

tlieir ci'est, between a laurel and a cypress branch. Macal-

lane, the Gaelic pronunciation ol' the name, may mean the

gi'eat stranger, from magnus, great, and alienus, a foreigner.

(See vol. ii.. p. 707, art. Mac.)

The JIacleans have been located in Mull since the 14th

century. They appear originally to have belonged to Moray.

.Mr. Skene says: " The two oldest genealogies of the .Macleans,

of whicli one is the production of the Beatons, who were here-

ditary sennachies of the family, concur in deriving the clan

Gille-eon from the same race from whom the clans belonging

to the great Moray tribe are brought by the MS. of 1450. Of

this clan the oldest seat seems to have been the district of Lorn,

as they first appear in subjection to the lords of Lorn ; and their

situation being thus between the Camerons and Macnachtaiis,

who were undisputed branches of the Moray tribe, there can

be little doubt that the Macleans belonged to that tribe also.

As their oldest seat was thus in Argyle, while they are un-

questionably a part of the tribe of Moray, we may infer that

they were one of those clans transplanted from North Moray

by Malcolm IV., and it is not unlikely that Glen Urquhart was

their original residence, as that district is said to have been in

the possession of the Macleans when the Bissets came in."

The first of the name on record, Gillean, lived in the i-eign

of Alexander III. (1249—1286), and fought against the

Norsemen at the battle of Largs. In the Ragman Roll we

find Gilliemore Macilean described as del Counte de Perth,

among those who swore fealty to Edward I. in 1296. As

the county of Perth at that period included Lorn, it is proba-

ble that he was the son of Gillean and ancestor of the Mac-

leans. In the reign of Robert the Brnce mention is made of
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three brothers, John, Nigel, and Dofuall, termed Macgillc.m

or filii Gillean, who appear to have been sons of Gilhemore,

for we find John afterwards designated Macgilliemore. The

latter fought under Kruce at Bannockburn. A dispute hav-

ing arisen with tlie lord of Lorn, the brothers left him and

to<ik refuge in the Isles. Between them and the Mackinnons,

upon whose lands they appear to have encroaclied, a bitter

feud took place, which led to a most daring act on the part

of the chief of the Macleans. When following, witli the chief

of the Mackinnons, the galley of the lord of tlie Isles, he at-

tacked the former and slew hiui, and immediately after,

afraid of his vengeance, he seized the Macdonald himself,

and earned him prisoner to Icolmkill, where he was detained

\intil lie agreed to vow friendship to the Macleans, " upon

certain stones where men were used to make solemn vows in

those superstitious times," and granted them the lands in

Mull which they liave ever since possessed. John Gillie-

more, surnamed Dhu from his dark complexion, appears to

have settled in Mull about the year 1330. He died in the

reign of Robert II., leaving two sons, Lachlan Lubanich,

ancestor of the Macleans of Dowart, and Eachin or Hector

Kegan.ach, of the Macleans of Lochbuy.

I.achlan, tlie elder son, married in 13GG, Margaret, d.augh-

ter of John I., lord of the Isles, by his wife, the princess

Margaret Stewart, and had a .son, Hector, which became a

favom-ite name among tlie Macleans, as Kenneth was among

the .Mackenzies, Evan among tlie Camerons, and Hugh

among the Mackays. Both Lachlan and his son, Hector,

received extensive grants of land from .lolin, the father-in-

law of tlie former, and his successor, Donald. Altogether,

their possessions consisted of the isles of Mull, Tiree, and

Coll, with Morvern on the mainland; and the cLan Gillean

became one of the most important and powerful of the vas-

sal tribes of the lords of the Isles.

Lachlan's son, Hector, called Eachin Riuidh ni Cath, that

is. Red Hector of the Battles, commanded as lieutenant-

general under his uncle, Donald, at the battle of Harlaw in

1411, when he and Sir Alexander Indng of Drum, seeking

out each other by their armorial bearings, encountered hand

to hand and slew each other; in commemoration of which

circumstance, we are told, the Dowart and Dnim families were

long accustomed to exchange swords. Near the field of bat-

tle is a tomb, built in the form of a malt steep, where, ac-

cording to local tradition, Donald of the Isles lies buried, and

it is commonly called Donald's tomb. But Donald was not

slain in the battle, and Mr. Tytler conjectures, with mucli

probability, that the tomb may be that of the chief of Jlac-

lean, or Macintosh, who was also slain there, and he refers,

in support of this opinion, to Macfarlane's Genealogical Col-

lections (MS. Adi-octitcs' Library, Jac. 5. 4. 16. vol. i. p.

180.) Red Hector of the Battles man-ied a daughter of the

earl of Douglas. His eldest son was taken prisoner at the

battle of Harlaw, and detained in captivity a long time by

the earl of Mar. His brother, John, at the head of the Mac-

leans, was in the expedition of Donald Balloch, cousin of the

lord of the Isles, in 1431, when the Islesmen rav.aged Loch-

aber, and were encountered at Inverlochy, near Fortwilliam,

by the royal forces under the earls of Caithness and Mar,

whom they defeated. In the dissensions which arose between

John, the last lord of the Isles, and his turbulent son, Angus,

who, with the island chiefs descended from the original family,

complained that his father had made improvident gi'ants of

land to the Macleans and other tribes. Hector Maclean, chief

of the clan, and groat-grandson of Red Hector of the Battles,

took part with the former, and commanded his fleet at the

battle of the Bloody Bay in 1480, where he was taken pri-

soner. This Hector was chief of his tribe at the date of the

forfeiture of the lordship of the Isles in 1493, when the clan

Gijlean, or Clanlean as it came to be called, was divided into

four independent branches, viz., the Macleans of Dowart, the

Macleans of Lochbuy, the Macleans of Coll, and the Macleans

of Ardgour. When King .Tames was on his second expedi-

tion to the Isles in 1495, Hector .Maclean of Dowart was

among the island cliiefs who then made their submission to

him, and the following year he was one of tlie five chiefs of

rank who appeared before the lords of council and hound

themselves, " by the extension of their hands," to abstain

from mutual injuries and molestation, each under a penalty

of £500. Lachlan Maclean was chief of Dowart in 1502,

and he and his kinsman, Maclean of Lochbuy, were among

the leading men of the Western Isles whom that energetic

monarch, James IV., entered into correspondence with, for

the purpose of breaking up the confederacy of the Islanders,

" rewarding them by presents in the shape either of money or

of gr, nts of land, and .securing their .services in reducing to

obedience such of their fellow chieftains as proved contuma-

cious, or actually rose in rebellion." (See Tytler's Hist, of
Scotland, vol. iv. p. 368). Neverthelesis, on the breaking out

of the insurrection under Donald Dubh, in 1503, they were

both implicated in it. Lachlan Maclean was forfeited with

Cameron of Loclieil, while Maclean of Lochbuy and several

others were summoned before the parliament, to answer for

their treasonable support given to the rebels. In 1505 Mac-

lean of Dowart abandoned the cause of Donald liubh and

submitted to the government ; his example was followed by

Maclean of Lochbuy and other chiefs; and this had the

effect, soon after, of putting an end to the rebellion.

The lands of Lochiel had, in 1458, been bestowed by the

earl of Ross on Maclean, founder of the family of Coll, and

this caused a quarrel between the Macleans and the Camer-

ons, in which, in course of time, were involved all of the for-

mer name. The feud raged, with more or less bitterness, for

several years, but it, and another, between the Dowart and

Lochbuy branches of the Macleans, regarding their lands in

Morvem and the isle of Tiree, appear to have been checked

for a time, by the prudent measures of James IV., towards

the end of his reign.

Laclil.an Maclean of Dowart was killed at Flodden. His

successor, of the s.'ime name, was'one of the principal sup-

porters of Sir Donald Macdonald of Lochalsh, when, in No-

vember 1513, he brought forward his claims to the lordship

of the Isles. He seized the royal castle of Carnehurgh, near

Mull, and afterwards that of Dunskiach in Sleat. By the

earl of Argyle, however, he was prevailed upon, with several

other island chiefs, to submit to the government, after hav-

ing, in 1517, with Macleod of Dunvegan, made prisoners of

Sir Donald's two brothers. In a petition which he presented

to the council on this occasion he demanded a free remission

of all offences to himself and certain of his "kin, men, ser-

vants, .and part-t.akers," whom he named; that Sir Donald

of Lochalsh, with his associates, should be proceeded against

as traitors, and their lands forfeited ; and that Sir Donald's

two brothers, then in his custody, should be executed ac-

cording to law. The remission he asked for was granted,

upon hostages being given for future obedience, but when lie

claimed an heritable grant of one hundred merk lands in Ti-

ree and Mull, free of all duties, the council would not give it

for a longer term than till the king, who was then only in

his fifth year, should come of age. With this arrangement

he was forced to be content, and having appeared before the

council, he gave his solemn oath of allegiance to the king.

From this time till 15'23, there was peace in the Isles, but
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Ill that year a feud of a most implacable character broke out

between the Macleans and tlie Campbells, arising out of an

occurrence, which forms the subject of Miss Baillie's cele-

brated tragedy of ' The Family Legend,' and is thus related

by Mr. Gregory :
" Lauchlan Cattanach Maclean of Dowart

married Lady Elizabeth Campbell, daugliter of Archibald,

second earl of Argyle
;
and, either from the circumstance of

their union being unfruitful, or more probably owing to some

domestic quarrels, he detennined to get rid of his wife.

Some accounts say that she had twice attempted her hus-

band's life
; but, whatever the cause may have been, Mac-

lean, following the advice of two of his vassals, wlio exercised

a considerable influence over him from the tie of fosterage,

caused his lady to be exposed on a rock, which was only vis-

ible at low water, intending tliat she sliould be swept away

by the return of the tide. Tiiis rock lies between the island

of Lismore and the coast of Mull, and is still known by the

name of the ' Lady's Rock.' From this perilous situation

she was rescued l)y a boat accidentally passing, and conveyed

to her brothel's house. Her relations, although much exas-

perated against Maclean, smothered their resentment for a

time, but only to break out afterwards with greater violence

;

for the laird of Dowart, being in Edinburgh, was surprised,

when in bed, and assassinated by Sir John Campbell of Cal-

der, the lady's brother. The Macleans instantly took arms,

to revenge the death of their chief, and the Campbells were

not slow in preparing to follow up the feud ; but the gov-

ernment interfered, and, for the present, an appeal to arms

was avoided." (Gregory's Highlands and Isles, pp. 127,

128.) In 1529, however, the Macleans joined the Clandonald

of Isla against the earl of Argyle, and ravaged with fire and

sword the lands of Roseneath, Craignish, and others belong-

ing to the Campbells, killing many of the inhabitants. The

Campbells, on their part, retaliated by laying waste great

portion of the isles of Mull and Tiree and the lands of Mor-

vern, belonging to the Macleans. In May 1530, Maclean of

Dowart and Alexander of Isla made their personal submis-

sion to the sovereign at Stirling, and, with the other rebel

island chiefs who followed their example, were pardoned,

upon giving security for their after obedience.

In 1545, Maclean of Dowart acted a very prominent part

in the intrigues with England, in furtherance of the project

of Henry VIII., to force the Scottish nation to consent to a

marriage between Prince Edward and tlie young Queen Ma-

ry. He and Maclean of Lochbuy were among the barons of

the Isles who accompanied Donald Dubh to Ireland, and at

the command of the earl of Lennox, claiming to be regent of

Scotland, swore allegiance to the king of England. One of

the two plenipotentiaries sent by Donald Dubh to the Eng-

lish court at this time, was Patrick Maclean, brother of

Dowart, described as justiciar of the Isles and bailie of Icolm-

kill. Of the money sent by the English king to pay the

islesmen engaged in the expedition against the regent Ar-

ran, Maclean of Dowart seems to have had the charge, but

not making a proper division of it, the insular chiefs sepa-

rated in discontent, and the expedition came, in consequence,

to an end. Macvurich, in a note quoted by Mr. Gregory,

says: "A ship came from England with a supply of money

to carry on the war, which landed at Mull ; and the money

was given to Maclean of Dowart to be distnbuted among the

commanders of the army ; which they not receiving in pro-

portion as it should have been distributed amongst them,

cauajd the army to disperse."

The clan history subsequently consisted chiefly of feuds in

which the Dowart family were engaged with the Coll branch

of the iMacleans, and the Macdonalds of KintjTe. The dis-

pute witli the former arose from Dowart, who was generally

recognised as the head of the Clan-lean, insisting on being

followed as chief by Maclean of Coll, and the latter, who held

his lands direct from the crown, dechning to acknowledge

him as sucli, on the ground that being a free baron, he owed

no service but to his sovereign as his feudal superior. In con-

sequence of this refusal, Dowart, in the year 15G1, caused

Coil's lands to be ravaged, and his tenants to be imprisoned.

With some difficulty, and after the lapse of several years,

Coll succeeded in bringing his case before the privy council,

who ordered Dowart to make reparation to him for the injury

done to his property and tenants, and likewise to refrain

from molesting him in future. But on a renewal of the feud

some years after, the Macleans of Coll were expelled from

that island by the young laird of Dowart.

Tlie quarrel between the Macleans and the Macdonalds of

Isla and Kiiityre was, at the outset, merely a dispute as to the

right of occupancy of the crown lands called the Rliinns of

Isla, but it soon involved these tribes in a long and bloody

feud, and eventually led to the destraction nearly of them

both. The Macleans, who were in possession, claimed to hold

the lands in dispute as tenants of the crown, but the privy

council decided that JIacdonald of Isla was really the crown

tenant. In 1562, the Macdonalds of Isla, assisted by those

of Sleat, invaded the isles of Mull, Tiree, and Coll, and in

1565 the rival chiefs were compelled to find sureties, to the

amount of £10,000, that they would abstain from mutual

hostilities. But even this did not restrain a high spirited

tribe like the Macleans. On the death of James Macdonald

of Dunyveg, Hector Maclean of Dowart ravaged with fire and

sword the isle of Gigha, being part of the jointure lands of

Lady Agnes Campbell, Macdonald's widow, and in conse-

quence Queen Mary, then at the castle of Dunbar, granted,

on 28th April, 1567, a commission of lieutenandry to the earl of

Argyle against him and his clan. (^Analecta Scotica, p. 393.)

Lachlan Maclean of Dowart, called Lachlan Mor, was chief

of the Macleans in 1578. He is said to have got the name of

H[or, from his great stature, but, as we have already shown

in the article on Campbell (vol. i. p. 544), this term was

frequently applied to denote superior rank. Under him the

feud with the Macdonalds assumed a most sanguinary and

relentless character. He is described as a young man of an

active and energetic spirit, and of superior talents improved

by a good education, but of a cruel and fierce disposition.

He had succeeded young to the chiefship, and during his

minority the estates were managed by his kinsman. Hector

Maclean, whose father, Allan Maclean of Gigha and Torlusk,

brother of the former Maclean of Dowart, is celebrated in

tradition as a warrior, by the name of Alnn n(£n Sop. To

obtain possession of the estates for himself. Hector designed

to deprive the young chief of his life, but Lachlan Mor dis-

covered his purpose, and on attaining his majority, had him

apprehended, and after imprisoning him for a considerable

time in the castle of Dowart, he was removed to the isle of

Coll, and beheaded by Lachlan's order. The following year,

on a renewal of the feud between the Macleans and the Mac-

donalds of Isla, the king and council commanded the chiefs

of both tribes to subscribe assurances of indemnity to each

other, under tlie penalty of treason. But although Macdon-

ald of Dunyveg, at this time, married Maclean's sister, hosti-

lities were only suspended between the clans, to break out no

long time after, with increased violence. It was in the year

1585 that this most destructive feud reached its height, and

that under the following circumstances

:

Macdonald of Sleat, on his way to visit his kinsman,

Angus Macdonald, was diiven by stress of weather to tlie
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island of Jura, and landed on tliat part which belonged to

Maclean, the other part heing the property of Angus Mac-

donald. Two of the Clandonald, who had a gradge at their

chief, one of whom was named Maedonald Terreagh, happen-

ed to arrive on the island at the same time, and that same

night carried off some of Maclean's cattle, with the ohject

that the theft might be imputed to Sleat and his party.

Under that impression Lachlan Mor Maclean assembled his

followers, and suddenly attacking tliem at night, slew about

sixty of them. The chief of Sleat himsi-lf only escaped by

his having previously gone on board his galley to pass the

night. After his return to Skye, whither he proceeded vow-

ing vengeance against the Macleans, he was visited by Angus

Maedonald, for the purpose of concerting measures of retalia-

tion. On his homeward voyage to Kintyre, Angus Maedon-

ald landed in the isle of Mull, and, against the advice of his

followers, went to visit his brother-in-law at his castle of

Dowart, in the hope of effecting an amicable arrangement of

all their disputes. His two brothers, Ranald and Coll, who

were with him, refused to accompany him, fearing treachery,

and their fears were realized
;

for, although well received at

first by Maclean, Angus and all his party were the following

day arrested by Lachlan Mor and thrown into prison. The

only one who esc.nped was Reginald Maedonald, the cousin of

Angus. To preserve his life and recover his freedom Angus

agreed to renounce his right to the disputed lands in the

Rhinns of Isla, and for the performance of this engagement

he was obliged to give his eldest son, .James, a young boy,

and his brother, Ranald, as hostages. In a short time after-

wards Lachlan Mor sailed to Isla to get the agreement com-

pleted, taking with him James Maedonald, one of the host-

ages, leaving the other in fetters in the castle of Dowart.

On his an-ival he encamped at the niinous fort of Eilan Gorm
on the Rhinns. Angus JIacdonald was then residing at

Mullintrea, to which place he invited Maclean, who declined

the invitation. " There wes," says Sir Robert Gordon, " so

little trast on either syd, that they did not now meit in

friendship or amitie, bot vpon ther owne guard, or rather bv

messingers, one from another." Angus, however, pressed his

invitation, witli the strongest assurances of safety and good

treatment, and Lachlan Mor, thrown off his guard, at length

complied. With 86 of his followers he went to Mullintrea in

the month of .Inly 1586, and on his arrival was sumptuously

entertained the whole day. The night, however, was signal-

ized by treachery and blood. The event is thus related

:

" At the usual hour for retiring to repose, Maclean and his

people were lodged in a longhouse, which stood by itself, at

some distance from the other houses. During the whole day

Maclean had always kept .Tames Maedonald, the hostage,

within his reach, as a sort of protection to him in case of an

attack, and at going to bed he took him along with him.

About an hour after Maclean and his people had retired,

Angus assembled bis men to the number of 3 or 400, and

made them surround the house in which Maclean and his

company lay. Tlien going himself to the door, he called upon

Maclean, and told him that he had come to give him his re-

posing drink, which he had forgotten to order him before go-

ing to bed. Maclean answered that he did not wish to drink

at that time, but Maedonald insisted that he should rise, it

being, he said, his will that he should do so. The peremp-

tory tone of Maedonald made Maclean at once apprehensive

of danger, and getting up and placing the boy between his

shoulders, as a sort of shield, he prepared to defend his life as

long as he could, or to sell it as dearly as possible. As soon

as the door was forced open, James Maedonald, seeing his

father with a nailed sword in his hand, and a number of his

men armed in the same manner, cried aloud for mercy to

Maclean, his uncle, which being granted. Lachlan Mor was

immediately removed to a secret chamber, where he remained

till next morning. After Maclean had sun'endered, Angus

Maedonald announced to those within the house that if they

would come without, their lives would be spared; but he ex-

cepted Maedonald Terreagh and another individual whom
he named. The whole, with the exception of these two, hav-

ing complied, the house was immediately set on fire, and con-

sumed along with Maedonald Terreagh and his companion.

The former was one of the Clandonald of the western islands,

and not only had assisted the Macleans against his own tribe,

but was also the originator of all these disturbances ; and the

latter was a near kinsman of Maclean, one of the oldest of

tlie clan, and celebrated both for his wisdom and prowess."

But this was only the beginning of the tragedy. What
followed was still more horrible. Allan Maclean, a near

kinsman of Lachlan Mor, in the hope that the Macdonalds

would put him to death, in which event he would have suc-

ceeded to the management of the estate, as guardian to his

children, who were then very young, caused a report to be

spread that the hostage left behind at Dowart castle, h:id

been killed by the Macleans. Under the impression that it

was true. Coll Macjames, the brother of the hostage and of

Angus Maedonald, took a signal vengeance on the unfortu-

nate prisoners in his hands, two of whom were executed
j

evei-y day, until at last Lachlan Mor alone .survived. An ac-

cident that hr.ppened to Angus Maedonald, as he was mount-

ing his horse to witness his execution, saved his life. Infor- '

niation of these atrocities being sent to the king (James VL),

he immediately despatched a herald to demand that Lachlan

Mor should be set at liberty, but the herald was unable to

procure shipping for Isla. Maedonald was at lengtli pre-

vailed upon to release him, on his delivering into his hands

his eldest >on, Hector Maclean, and seven other hostages.

Soon .after Angus Maedonald went on a visit to Ulster, when
Maclean, regardless of the safety of his hostages, and dream-

i

ing only of vengeance, bm'ried to I.sla and laid waste a great

portion of that island.

On his return from Ireland, Angus Maedonald, at the head

of a large force, invaded the isles of Mull and Tiree, which he

ravaged with fire and sword, .slaying many of the inhabitants,

as well as the domestic animals of every description. " Fi-

nally," says Sir Robert Gordon, " he came to the very Ben-

more in Mull, and there killed and chased the clan Lean at

his pleasure, and so revenged himself fully of the injuries

done to him and his tribe." Instead of oppo.sing him, M.ac-

lean made an inroad into Kintyre, great part of which he

ravaged and plundered, and " tlms for awhile they did conti-

nually vex one another with slaughters and outrages, to the

destruction almost of their countries and people." (^Sir

Robert Gordon's Eist. of Sutherland, p. 186). An episode

in this long continued and vindictive feud shows to what

length the feelings of bitterness and cruelty engendered by it

could be carried. To gain over to his side John Mac Ian of

Ardnamurchan, who had been a suitor for the hand of his

mother, the daughter of the earl of Argyle, Lachlan Mor, in

1.588, invited him to Mull, with the view to the proposed

alliance. Mac Ian accepted the invitation, and was accom-

panied by a retinue of the principal gentlemen of his tribe.

No persuasion, however, could induce him to join against his

own clan, the Macdonalds. Furious at his refusal, Lachlan

Jlor, on the marriage night, caused Mac lan's attendants, to

the number of 18, to be massacred
;
then, bursting into lii.s

bed chamber, would have murdered himself, had ^ot his new-

made wife interposed on his behalf, and for her sake his life
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was spared. With two of his followers, who had escaped the

fate of tlieir companions, he was thrown into a dungeon, and

not released for a year afterwards, when he and other

prisoners were exchanged for Maclean's son, and the other

hostages in the hands of Angus Macdonald.

Previous to his liberation, however, with the assistance of

a hundred Spanish soldiers belonging to the Florida, a ship

of the Spanish Armada driven by a storm into the harbour of

Tobermory in Mull, Lachlan Mor had ravaged and plunder-

ed the isles of Ruin and Eig, occupied by the Clanranald, and

those of Cauna and Muck, belonging to the clan Ian. In

this expedition he is said to have burned the whole inhabi-

tants of these Isles, sparing neither age nor sex. On the

mainland be besieged for three days Mac fan's castle of Min-

garry in Ardnamurchan. Tbe Macdonalds, on their side, as-

sisted by a band of English mercenaries, wasted the lands of

the Macleans with fire and sword.

The mutual ravages committed by the hostile clans, in

which the kindred and vassal tribes on both sides were in-

volved, and the effects of which were felt throughout the

whole of the Hebrides, attracted, in 1589, the serious atten-

tion of the king and council, and for the purpose of putting

an end to them, the rival chiefs, with Macdonald of Sleat, on

receiving remissions, under the privy seal, for all the crimes

committed by them, were induced to proceed to Edinburgh.

On their aiTival, they were committed prisoners to the castle,

and, after some time, Maclean and Angus Macdonald were

brought to trial, in spite of the remissions granted to tliem
;

one of the principal charges against them being their trea-

sonable hiring of Spanish and English soldiers to fight in

their private quarrels. Both chiefs submitted tliemselves to

the king's mercy, and placed their lives and lands at his dis-

posal. On payment each of a small fine they were allowed

to return to the Isles, Macdonald of Sleat being released at

the same time. Besides certain conditions being imposed

upon them, they were taken bound to return to their con-

finement in the castle of Edinburgh, whenever they should

be summoned, on twenty days' warning. Not fulfilling the

conditions, they were, on 14th July 159.3, cited to appear be-

fore the privy council, and as they disobeyed the summons,

both Lachlan Mor and Angus Macdonald were, in 1594, for-

feited by parliament.

At the battle of Glenlivat, in that year, fought between

the Catholic earls of Huntly, Angus, and Errol, on the one

side, and the king's forces, under the earl of Argyle, on the

other, Lachlan Mor, at the head of the Macleans, particularly

distinguished himself. Argyle lost the battle, but, says Mr.

Gregoi-y, (^Hitjhlands and Isles of Scotland, p. 259,) " the

conduct of Lachlan Maclean of Dowart, who was one of Ar-

gyle's officers, in this action, would, if imitated by the other

leaders, have converted the defeat into a victoiy. That chief

acted the part of a brave and skilful soldier, keeping his men

in their ranks, and employing, with good effect, all the ad-

vantages of his position. It was his division which inflicted

the principal loss on the rebels, and, at the close of the ac-

tion, he retired in good order with those under his command.

It is said that, after the battle, he offered, if Argyle would

give him five hundred men in addition to his own clan, to

bring the earl of Huntly prisoner into Argyle's camp. This

proposal was rejected, but having come to the ears of Huntly,

incensed him greatly against Maclean, whose son afterwards,

according to tradition, lost a large estate in Lochaber, through

the animosity of that powerful nobleman."

In 1596 Lachlan Mor repaired to court, and on making his

submission .to the king, the act of forfeiture was removed.

He also received from the crown a lease of the Rhinns of

Isla, so long in dispute between liim and Macdonald of Duny-

veg. While thus at the head of favour, however, his unjust

and oppressive conduct to the family of the Macleans of Coll,

whose castle and island he had seized some years before, on

the death of Hector Maclean, proprietor thereof, was brought

before the privy council by Lachlan Maclean, then of Coll,

Hector's son, and the same year he was ordered to deliver up

not only the castle of Coll, but all his own castles and strong-

holds, to the lieutenant of the Isles, on twenty-fow hours'

warning, also, to restore to Coll, witliin thirty days, all the

lands of which he had deprived him, under a penalty of

10,000 merks. In 1598, Lachlan Mor, with the view of ex-

pelling the i\Iacdonalds from Isla, levied his vassals and pro-

ceeded to that island, and after an ineffectual attempt at an

adjustment of their differences, was encountered, on 5th Au-

gust, at the head of Lochgruinard, by Sir James Macdonald,

son of Angus, at the head of his clan, when the Macleans

were defeated, and their chief killed, with 80 of his principal

men and 200 common soldiers. Lachlan Barroch Maclean, a

son of Sir Lachlan, was dangerously wounded, but escaped.

Sir Lachlan, according to Sir Robert Gordon, had consulted

a witch before he undertook this journey into Isla ; she ad-

vised him, in the first place, not to land upon the island on

a Thursday
;
secondly, that he should not drink of the water

of a well near Gruinard; and lastly, she told him that one

Maclean should be slain at Gruinard. " The first he trans-

gressed unwillingly," says Sir Robert, '-being driven into the

island of Isla by a tempest upon a Thursday ; the second he

transgressed negligentlie, haveing drank of that water before

he wes awair; and so he was killed ther at Groinard, as wes

foretold him, bot doubtfullie. Thus endeth all these that

doe trast in such kynd of responces, or doe hunt after them."

{Hist. p. 238.)

Hector Maclean, the son and successor of Sir Lachlan, at

the head of a numerous force, afterwards invaded Isla, and

attacked and defeated the JIacdonalds at a place called Bern

Bige, and then ravaged the whole island. He was one of

the principal chiefs of the Isles seized by Lord Ochiltree, the

king's lieutenant, on his expedition to the Isles in 1608, and

carried to Edinburgh. The following year he and Macdo-

nald of Dunyveg were selected to accompany the king's com-

missioner on his survey of the Isles. With two of his bro-

thers, and Hector Maclean of Lochbuy, and almost all the

principal islesmen, he was present at lona when the cele-

brated "Statutes of Icoimkill" were enacted. He was also

one of the six principal islanders who met at Edinburgh on

28th June 1610, to hear his majesty's pleasure declared to

them, when they were compelled to give sureties to a large

amount for their reappearance before the council in May

1611. In the conditions imposed upon the chiefs for the pa-

cification of the Isles in 1616, we find that Maclean of Dow-

art was not to use in his house more than four tun of wine,

and Coll and Lochbuy one tun each. At this time Maclean

of Dowart and his brother Lachlan, having delayed to find

the sureties required of them, were committed to ward in

Edinburgh castle, whence the former was soon liberated, and

allowed to live with Acheson of Gosfurd, his father-in-law,

under his own recognisance of £40,000, and his father-in-

law's for 5,000 merks, that he should remain there until per-

mitted by the council to return to tlie Isles. Dowart's bro-

ther was not liberated till the following year.

Sir Lachlan Maclean of Morvern, a younger brother of

Hector Maclean of Dowart, was in 1631 created a baronet of

Nova Scotia by Charles I., and on the death of his elder bro-

ther he succeeded to tlie estate of Dowart. In the civil wars

the Macleans took arms under Montrose, and fought valiantly
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for the roynl cause. At the battle of Iiiverlocli_\ , 2d Febru-

ary 1615, Sir Laclilan commanded his clan. He was also

engaged in the subsequent battles of the royalist general.

Sir Hector M.aclean, his son, with 800 of his followers, was

at the battle of Inverkeithing, 20th July IG')!, when the roy-

alists were opposed to the troops of Oliver Cromwell. On
this occasion an instance of devoted attachment to the chief

was shown on the part of the Macleans. In the heat of tn.

b.'ittle. Sir Hector was covered from tlie enemy's attacks by

seven brothers of his clan, all of whom successively sacrificed

their lives In his defence. As one fell another rashed for-

Wiird to interpose betwixt his person and the enemy, crying

out in Gaelic, Bas air so« ^arfin, '' Another for Hector !

"

This phrase, says General Stewart, has continued ever since

to be a proverb or watchword, when a man encounters any

sudden danger that requires instant succour. Sir Hector,

however, was left among the slain, with about 500 of his fol-

lowers.

The Dowart estates had become deeply involved in debt,

and the marquis of Argyle, by purchasing them up, had ac-

quired a claim against the lands of Maclean, which ultimate-

ly led to the greater portion of them becoming the property

of that grasping family. In 1674, after the execution of the

marquis, payment was insisted upon by his son, the earl.

The tutor of Maclean, the chief, his nephew, being a minor,

evaded the demand for a considerable time, and at length

showed a disposition to resist it by force. Arg}'le had re-

course to legal proceedings, and supported by a body of 2,000

Campbells, he crossed into Mull, where he took possession of

the castle of Dowart, and placed a garrison in it. The Mac-

leans, however, refused to pay their rents to the earl, and in

consequence he prepared for a second invasion of Mull. To

resist it, the Macdonalds came to the aid of the Macleans,

but .^rgyle's ships were driven back by a storm, when he ap-

plied to government, and even went to London, to ask assist-

ance from the king. Lord Macdonald and other friends

of the Macle.ans followed him, and laid a state of the dispute

before Charles, who, in Febru.iry lG7(i, remitted the matter

to three lords of the Scottish privy council. No decision,

however, was come to by them, and Argyle was allowed to

take possession of the island of Mull without resistance in

1680.

After the Revolution, a party of Macleans, under their

chief. Sir .John Maclean, fourth baronet, on their way to join

Viscount Dundee, were surprised in Strathspey, by a party

of JIackay's dragoons, under Sir Thomas Livingston, when

they threw away their plaids, and formed on an adjoining

hill. In the skirmish that ensued, they su.staijied a loss of

80 or 100 men. At the battle of Killiecrankie, Sir John

Maclean, with his regiment, was placed on Dundee's right,

and among the troops on his left was a battalion under Sir

Alexander Maclean. The JIacleans were amongst the High-

landers surprised and defeated at Cromdale in 1690. The

following day, a party of Macleans and C.amerons, who had

in the flight separated from their companions in arms, crossed

the Spey, but being pnr.sued by some of Livingston's men,

were overtal;en and dispersed on the moor of Granish near

Aviemore, where some of them were killed. Subsequently,

the earl of Argyle invaded Mull, with 1,900 foot and 60 dra-

goons, when the inhabitants took the oaths of allegiance to

the government, .and delivered up their arms. Sir John

Maclean himself, with a few of his friends, took refuge in the

f irt of Carneburgh, one of the Treslinish isles, where a party

of Macleans, during the civil wars, bad held out, for some

time, against a detachment of Cromwell's forces.

In the rebellion of 1715, the Slacleans ranged themselves

under the standard of the e.arl of Mar, and were present at

the battle of Sheriffmuir. For his share in the insurrection

Sir John Maclean, the chief, was forfeited, but the estates

were afterwards restored to the family. On the breaking out

of the rebellion of 1745, Sir .John's son. Sir Hector Maclean,

the fifth baronet, was apprehended, with his servant, at Ed-
inburgh, and conveyed to London. He was not set at liberty

till the passing of the act of indemnity in June 1747. At
CuUoden, however, 500 of his clan fought for Prince Charles,

under Macle.an of Drumnin, who was slain leading them on.

Sir Hector died, unmarried, at Paris, in 1750, when the title

devolved upon his third cousin, the remainder being to heirs

male whatsoever. This third cousin. Sir Allan Maclean,

was great-grand.son of Donald Maclean of Broloss, eldest son,

by his second marriage, of Hector Maclean of Dowart, the

father of the first baronet. Sir Allan m.arried Anne, daugh-

ter of Hector Maclean of Coll, and had three daughters, the

eldest of whom, Maria, became the wile of Maclean of Kin-

loch.aline, and the second, Sibelhi, of M.aclean of Inverscadell.

In 177.3, when Dr. Johnson and Mr. Boswell visited the

Hebrides, Sir Allan was chief of the clan. He resided at that

time on Inchkenneth, one of his smaller islands, in the dis--

trict of Mull, where he entertained his visitors very hospita-

bly. "This island," says Dr. Johnson, "is about a mile

long, and perhaps half-a-mile broad, remarkable for pleasant-

ness and fertility. Its only inbabit.ant3 were Sir Allan Mac-
lean and two young ladies, his daughters, with their .servants.

Romance does not often exhibit a scene that strikes the ima-

gination more than this little desert, in these depths of west-

ern obscurity, occupied not by a gro.ss herdsman, or amphi-

bious fisherman, but by a gentlem.an and two ladies, of high

birth, polished manners, and elegant conversation, who, in a

bahitation raised not very far above the ground, but furni.shed

with unexpected neatness and convenience, practised all the

kindness of hospitality and refinement of courtesy." From
the billowing anecdote it would appear that the feeling of

devotion to the chief had survived the heritable abolition act

of 1747, if indeed the passing of such an act w,as at all

generally known in 1773 among the humbler inhabitants of

the remote Hebrides. The Macginnises are said to be a

branch of the clan of Maclean. Sir Allan had been told that

one of the name had refused to send him .some ram, at which

the knight was in great indignation. 'You rascal!' said he,

' don't you know that I can hang you, if I please ? Refuse

to send rum to me, you rascal! Don't you know that if I

order you to go and cut a man's throat, you are to do it?'

'Yes, an't please your honour, and my own too, and bang

myself too!' The poor fellow denied that he had refused to

send the rum. His making these professions was not merely

a pretence in presence of his chief, for, after he and I were

out of Sir .Pilau's hearing, he told me, ' H.ad he sent his dog

for the rum, I would have given it: I would cut my bones

for him.' Sir Allan, hy w.ay of upbraiding the fellow, said,

'I believe you are a Campbell!'''

Dying without male issue in 1783, Sir Allan w.is succeeded

by his kinsman. Sir Hector, 7th baronet; on whose death,

Nov. 2, 1818, his brother. Lient.-general Sir Fitzroy Jelfiy

Grafton Maclean, became the 8tli baronet. He died July 5,

1847, leaving two sons. Sir Charles Kitzroy Maclean of Mnr-

vern, and Donald Maclean, of the chancery bar, .at one period

a member of parliament. Sir Charles, 9th baronet, a colonel

in the army, (1846) commanded the 81st foot for some time,

.and was sulisequently military secretary at Gibraltar. He
m.irried a daughter of the Hon. and Rev. Jacob Marsham,

uncle of the earl of Romney; issue, a son, Charles Donald,

capt. 13th dragoons, and 4 daughters; one, Fanny, married
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Capt. Hood, R.N., and anotlier, Louisa, became the wife of

Hon. Ralph Pelham Neville, son of the earl of Abei'gaveniiy.

The first of the Lochbuy branch of the Macleans was Hec-

tor Reganach, brother of Lachlan Lubanich above mentioned.

He had a son named John, or Murchard, whose great-grand-

son, John Oig Maclean of I^ochbuy, received from King

James IV., several charters of confirmation under the great

seal, of the lands and baronies which had been held by his

progenitors. He was killed, with his two elder sons, in a

family feud with the JIacIeans of Dowart. His only surviv-

ing son, Murdoch, was obliged, in consequence of the same

feud, to retire to Ireland, where he remained for several

years, and married a daughter of the earl of Antrim. By the

mediation of his father-in-law, his differences with Dowart

were satisfactorily adjusted, and he returned to the isles,

where he spent his latter years in peace. His son, John

Moir Maclean of Lochbuy, was so expert a fencer that, ac-

cording to a history of the family, lie fought on a stage in

Edinburgh before the king and court, and killed a famous

Italian swordsman, who had challenged all Scotland. By his

wife, a daughter of Macdonald of the Isles, he had two sons,

Hector, who succeeded him, and Charles, pi'Ogenitor of the

Macleans of TapuU. From the latter family descended Sir

Alexander Maclean of Ottar, mentioned in the preceding

page, who attached himself to the interests of J:imes VII.

He accompanied the fallen monarch to France, and rose to

the rank of colonel in the French service.

The house of Lochbuy has always maintained that of the

two brothers, Lachlan Lubanich and Hector Reganach, the

latter was the senior, and that, consequently, the chiefship of

the Macleans is vested in its head ;
" but this," says Mr.

Gregory, " is a point on which there is no certain evidence."

The whole clan, at different periods, have followed the head

of both families to the field, and fought under their command.

Of this house was Hector Maclean, elected bishop of Argyle

in 1680. He had in his younger years taken arms for the

king in the civil wars, but being of a religious disposition he

ultimately entered the church. The Lochbuy family now

spells its name Maclaine.

The Coll branch of the Macleans, like that of Dowart, de-

scended from Lachlan Lubanich, said to have been grand-

father of the fourth laird of Dowart and the first laird of

Coll, who were brothers. John Maclean, surnamed Garbh,

son of Lachlan of Dowart, obtained the isle of Coll and the

lands of Quinish in Mull from Alexander, e.arl of Ross and

lord of the Isles, and afterwards, on the forfeiture of Cameron,

the lands of Lochiel. The latter grant engendered, as we

have seen, a deadly feud between the Camerons and the

Macleans, which led to much contention and bloodshed be-

tween them. At one time the son and succes.sor of John

Garbh occupied Lochiel by force, but was killed in a conflict

with the Camerons at Corpach, in the reign of .Tames III.

His infant son would also have been put to death, had the

boy not been saved by the Macgillonies or Maclonichs, a tribe

of Lnchaber that generally followed the clan Cameron. This

youth, subsequently known as .John Abrach Maclean of Coll,

was the representative of the family in 1493, and from him

was adopted by his successors the patronymic appellation of

Maclean Abrach, by which the lairds of Coll were ever after

distinguished.

The tradition concerning this heir of Coll is thus related

by Dr. Johnson, in his Tour to the Hebrides: "Very near

the house of Maclean stands the castle of Coll, which was the

mansion of the laird till the house was built. On the wall

was, not long ago, a stone with an inscription, importing,

'That if any man of the clan of Maclonich shall appear

before this castle, though he come at midnight with a man's

head in his hand, he shall there find safety and protection

against all but the king.' This is an old Highland treaty

made upon a memorable occasion. Maclean, the son ot

John Garbh, who recovered Coll, and conquered Barra, had

obtained, it is said, from James XL, a grant of the lands of

Lochiel, forfeited, I suppose, by some offence against the

state. Forfeited estates were not in those days quietly re-

signed: Maclean, therefore, went with an armed force to

seize his new possessions, and, I know not for what reason,

took his wife with him. The Camerons rose in defence of

their chief, and a battle was fought at the head of Lochness,

near the place where Fort Augustus now stands, in which

Lochiel obtained the victory, and Maclean, with his follow-

ers, was defeated and destroyed. The lady fell into the hands

of the conquerors, and being found pregnant, was placed in

the custody of Maclonich, one of a tiibe or family branched

from Cameron, with orders, if she brought a boy, to destroy

him, if a girl, to spare her. Maclonich's wife, who was with

child likewise, had a girl about the same time at which Lady

Maclean brought a Doy ; and Maclonich, with more genero-

sity to his captive than fidelity to his trust, contrived that

the children should be changed. Maclean being thus pre-

served from death, in time recovered his original patrimony,

and in gratitude to his friend, made bis castle a place of re-

fuge to any of the clan that should think himself in danger,

and, as a proof of reciprocal confidence, Maclean took upon

himself and his posterity the care of educating the lieir of

M.aclonich. This story, like all other traditions of the High-

lands, is variously related ; but, though some circumstances

are uncertain, the principal fact is true. Maclean undoubt-

edly owed his preservation to Maclonich ; for tlie treaty be-

tween the two families has been strictly observed ; it did not

sink into disuse and oblivion, but continued in its full force

while the chieftains retained their power. The power of pro-

tection subsists no longer; but what the law permits is yet

continued, and Macle.an of Coll now educates the heir of

Maclonich."

The account of the conversion of the simple islanders of

Coll from popery to protestantism is curious. The laird had

imbibed the principles of the Reformation, but found his peo-

ple reluctant to abandon the religion of their fathers. To

compel them to do so, he did not trouble himself with argu-

ment or reasoning of any sort, but took his station one Sun-

day in the path which led to the Roman Catholic church,

and as his clansmen approached, he drove them back with

his cane. They at once made their way to the protestant

place of worship, and from this persuasive mode of conver-

sion, bis vassals ever after called it the religion of the gold-

headed stick. Lachlan, the seventh proprietor of Coll, went

over to Holland with some of his own men, in the reign of

Charles II., and obtained the comm.and of a company in

General Mackay's regiment, in the service of the prince of

Orange. He afterwards retiu-ned to Scotland, and was

drowned in the water of Lochy in Lochaber in 1687.

Dr. Johnson seems to have been especially gratified with

his reception at Coll. "We were at Coll," he says, "under

the protection of the young laird, and wherever we roved,

we were pleased to see the reverence with which his subjects

regarded him. He did not endeavour to dazzle them by any

magnificence of dress ; his only distinction was a feather m
his bonnet ; but, as soon as he appeared, they forsook their

work and clustered about him ; he took them by the hand,

and they seemed mutually delighted. He has the proper
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diRpositioti of 11 chieftain, and seems desirous to continue tlie

customs of his liouse. Tlie bagpiper phived regnlarly when

dinner was served, whose person and dress made a good ap-

pearance, and lie brouglit no disgrace upon the family of

Rankin, which has long supplied the lairds of Coll with here-

ditary music." As an instance of the expense which attend-

ed the funeral of persons of distinction in the western isles,

he states that nineteen years before his visit, tliirty cows and

about fifty sheep were killed at the burial of the laird of Coll,

so great was the concourse of persons present at it. From

Coll the travellers were conducted by the young laird to JIuU,

Ulva, and Sir Allan Maclean's at Inch-Kenneth. The young

laird of Coll, soon after perished in the passage between Ulva

and Inch-Kenneth. Col. Hugh Maclean, London, the last

laird of Coll, of that name, was the 15tli in regular descent

from John Garbh, son of r.auclilan Lubanich.

The Ardgour branch of the Macleans, which held its lands

directly from the lord of the Isles, descended from Donald,

another son of Lauchlan, 3d laird of Dowart. The estate of

Ardgour, which is in Argyleshire, had previously belonged to

a different tribe (the Macmasters), but it was conferred

U[ion Donald, either by Alexander, earl of Ross, or by his son

and successor, .lohn. In 1-163, Ewen or Eugene, son of Donald,

held the office of seneschal of the household to the latter earl;

and in 1493, Lachlan iMacewen .Maclean was laird of Ardgour.

Alexander Maclean, Esq., the present laird of Ardgour, is the

14tli from father to .son. His numerous brothers are colonels

m the army. Two of them are in the royal artillei-y.

During the 17th and 18th centuries the Macleans of Loch-

buy, Coll, and Ardgour, more fortunate than the Dowart

branch of the clan, contrived to preserve their estates nearly

entire, although compelled by the marquis of Argyle to re-

nounce their holdings in capite. of the crown, and to become

vassals of that nobleman. They continued zealous partizans

of the Stuarts, in whose cause they suffered severely.

From Laclilan Oig Maclean, a younger son of Lachlan Mor

of Dowart, sprung the family of Torloisk in Mull. Among

the Highland corps embodied during the latter half of the last

century was a regiment raised by Captain Allan Maclean of

Torloisk, which was reduced in 1763. The Higliland regi-

ments in America and Germany were supplied with recruits

from this corps. The estate ultimately fell to the heiress of

line, Mrs. Clephane Maclean, whose grandson, 2d son of the

marquis of Northampton, came to possess the property. An -

other grandson was the Baron Ue Norman, murdered by

the Chinese in I'ekin.

Of the numerous flourishing cadets of the different branches,

the principal were the Macleans of Kinloclialine, Ardtornish,

and Drimnin, descended fnjm the faniily of Dowart; ofTapul

and Scallasdale, in the island of Mull, from that of Lochbuy;

of Isle of Muck, from that of Coll; and of Borrera, in North

Uist and Tresliinish, from that of Ardgour. The family of

Borrera are represented by Donald Maclean, Esq., and Gen-

eral Archibald Maclean. From Isle of Muck and Treshinish

is descended A. C. Maclean of Haremere Hall, Sussex.

The Macleans of Pennycross, island of Mull, represented

by Alexander Maclean, Esq.. derives from John Dubh, the

first .Maclean of Morvern. General Allan Macle.-m of Penny-

cross, colonel of the 13th light dragoons, charged with them

at Waterloo.

General Sir .Archibald Maclaine. born in 1783, 2d son of

Gillian Maclaine, Esq. of Scallasdale, liy the eldest daughter

of Mao Quarie of Mac Quarie, chief of Ulva, after serving

with distinction in India and the Peninsular war, was knighted

for Ins defence of Fort Matagorda for 55 days, with only 155

men against 8,000 men under Marshal Soult.

Macleli.an, a surname of considerable antiquity in the

south of Scotland. The Maclellans of Bombie, a family at

one period of great power and influence, supposed origiTmlly

to have come from Ireland, were, in ancient times, sheriffs of

Galloway. Duncan Maclellan is mentioned in a charter of

Alexander II. in 1217. Among the faithful adherents who
accompanied Sir William Wallace, when he sailed from Kirk-

cudbright for France, after his defeat at Falkirk in 1293, was
Maclellan the then laird of Bombie. The family became so

flourishing about the beginning of the 15th century that, ac-

cording to Crawford {Peerage, p. 237), there were no fewer

than 14 knights of the name in Galloway at the same time.

The account of the murder of Sir P;itrick Maclellan, tutor of

Bombie, by the 8th eari of Douglas, in Thrieve castle, in

1452, has been already related. (See vol. ii. p.age 615, art.

KiUKCUDBRlGllT, baron.) Local tradition states that when
James II., in 1455, arrived with an army at Carlinwark, to be-

siege the castle of Thriev^ the MaclelLins presented him with

the celebrated piece of ordnance, called Mons Meg, wherewith

to batter down the stronghold of the rebellions chieft.-iin.

Sir Willi.ara Maclellan of Bombie, knighted by James IV.,

fell at Flodden with a number of his followers. His son,

Thomas Maclellan of Bombie, was killed in a feud with Gor-

don of Locliinvar at the door of St. Giles' church, Edinburgh,

11th July, 1526. His great-gr.andson. Sir Robert Maclellan,

was created Lord Kii-kcudbright, 25th M.ay 1633. See

KiRKCUDBKiGHT, baron.) There were also the Maclellans

of Barclay, descended from the Maclellans of Barmagachen, of

the original Bombie line.

Although the crest of the Maclellans was a Moor's head on

(he point of a sword, in allusion to their recovery of the estate

of Bombie, after being forfeited, by the slaying of a gipsy

chief who infested Galloway, as alre.ady related under the

article Kiukcudbbight, they sometimes used for crest

a mortar-piece, with the motto, " Superbo frango," having

reference, we are inclined to suppose, to the gieat iron gun

named Mons Meg, which is said to have been made by a local

smith, one Brawny Kim or M'Kim and his sons. As a re-

ward for constructing so noble an engine of war, M'Kim is

stated to have obtained the forfeited lands of Mollance, in

the neighbourhood of Thrieve castle, hence this gun was

called Mollance Meg, that being the name of the smith's

wife, afterwards corrupted into Mons Meg. There is, how-

ever, an impression on the cannon itself that it was cast at

the town of Mons in Flanders, whence it took its name. Nis-

bet thinks thiit the Maclellans adopted a mortar-piece or

bomb for their crest, in allusion to their designation of Bom-
bie, a somewhat fanciful notion certainly.

Maclennau, the surname of a minor clan, called in Gae-

lic, the Siol Fhinnan, or race of Finnan. There was a cele-

brated Highland saint of this name, and the tribe or sept of

the M.aclennans derive their descent from one of his devo-

tees. According to a tradition of the Senniichies, a chief of

the Log.ans of Drumduirfait in Ross-shire, in the beginning of

the 13th century, called Gilliegorm, had been killed in a clan

battle with the Frasei's, and his widow being carried off, bore

a son, surnamed Ci-otac/i, or humpbacked, from his crooked

appearance. It is even asserted that he was, in his infancy,

intentionally injured by those into whose hands his mother

had fallen, to prevent his ever attempting to avenge his fa-
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tiler's death, by leading his clan to battle, the Highlanders

having a strung aversion to follow a deformed leader. He
was therefore designed for the church, and with that view

was placed with the monks of Beaulieu, to i-eceive the requi-

site ecclesiastical upbringing. On coming of age, and duly

set apart for his holy work, he set out upon a tour to the

west coast, the isle of Skye, and other places adjacent, where

he built the churches of Kilmuir in Sleat, in the churchyard

of which parish the celebrated Flora Macdonald lies buried,

and Kilchrennan in Glenelg. Disregarding the recent decree

of Pope Innocent III., strictly enjoining the celib.acy of the

clergy, he married, and had several children. One of his

sons he called Gillie-Fhinnan, in honour of the renowned St.

Finnan, and as the Fh is here not pronounced in the Gaelic,

Gliilli-inan became of course Maclennan.

The Maclennans inhabited with tlie Macraes the district of

Kintail in Ross-shire, the bomidary between them being a

river which rans into Loch Duich. At the battle of Auld-

earn in 1645, they were intrusted with the standard of Lord

Seaforth, and they defended it so gallantly, that great num-
bers of them were cut down around it. Eighteen of the wi-

dows of the Maclennans slain on this occasion married their

neighboui's the Macraes. Like ths't latter, the Maclennans

were subordinate to the Seaforth branch of the Mackenzies,

and in the different rebellions, fought under the renowned

" Caber feidh," or Caberfae, as the Mackenzie's banner was

called, from the deer's head in the centre.

The old Jacobite ballad of Sherift'muir, to the tune of

" We ran and they ran,"

was written by a clergyman of this name, the Rev. Murdoch

Slaclennan of Crathie in Braemar. He became minister of

that parish in 1749, and died there 22d July 178.3, in the

82d year of his age. An abridged version of it is inserted in

Motherwell and Hogg's edition of the Works of Burns, vol. ii.

page 164.

MACLEOD, the name of one of the most considerable clans

of the western isles (badge, the red whortleberry), divided

into two tribes independent of each other, the Macleods of

Harris and the Slacleods of Lewis. To the progenitors of

this clan a Norwegian origin has commonly been assigned.

Tliey are also supposed to be of the same stock as the Camp-

bells, according to a family histoiy referred to by Mr. Skene,

which dates no farther back than the early part of the 16th

centuiy.

The genealogy claimed for them asserts (see Douglas' Bar-

onage, page 375) that the ancestor oi' the chiefs of the chin,

and he who gave it its clan name, was Loyd or Leod, eldest

son of King Olave the Black, brother of Magnus, the last

king of Man and the Isles. This Leod is said to have had

two sons : Tormod, progenitor of the Macleods of Harris,

hence called the Siol Tormod, or race of Tormod ; and Tor-

quil, of those of Lewis, called the Siol Torquil, or race of

Torquil. Although, however, Mr. Skene and others are of

opinion that there is no authority whatever for such a de-

scent, and " The Chronicle of Man " gives no countenance to

it, we think the probabilities are in its favour, from the man-

ifestly Norwegian names borne by the founders of the clan,

namely, ToiTOod and Torquil, and from their position in the

isles, from the veiy commencement of their known history.

The clan itself, there can be no doubt, are the descendants of

the ancient Gaelic inhabitants of the western isles.

Tormod, the son of the first Tormod, sided with Bruce, in

the struggle for Scottish independence, and always remained

faithful and loyal to him. His son, Malcolm, got a

charter from David II., of two-thirds of Glenelg, on the

mainland, a portion of the forfeited lands of the Bissets, in

consideration for which the reddeiidum was to provide a gal-

ley of 36 oars, for the king's use whenever required. This is

the earliest charter in possession of the Macleods. The same
Malcolm obtained the lands in Skye which were long in pos-

session of his descendants, by maixiage with a daughter of

M;icArailt, said to have been one of the Norwegian nobles of

the Lsles. From the name, however, we would be inclined to

take this MacAi-ailt for a Celt. The sennachies sometimes

made sad slips.

Macleod of Harris, originally designated "de Glenelg,"

that being the first and principal possession of the family,

seems to have been the proper chief of the clan Leod. The
island or rather peninsula of Han'is, which is adjacent to

Lewis, belonged, at an early period, to the Macruaries of

Garmoran and the North Isles, under whom the chief of the

Siol Tormod appears to have possessed it. From this family,

the superiority of the North Isles passed to the Macdonalds

of Isia by marriage, and thus Harris came to form a part of

the lordship of the Isles. In the isle of Skye the Siol Tor-

mod possessed the districts of Dunvegan, Duirinish, Braca-

dale, Lyndale, Trouterness, and Minganish, being about two-

thirds of the whole island. Their principal seat was Dunvegan,

hence the chief was often styled of that place.

The first charter of the Macleods of Lewis, or Siol Torquil,

is also one by King David II. It is historically known that

in 1369, the year before his death, that monarch proceeded in

person, at the head of a formidable expedition, against the

rebellious lord of the Isles, and compelled him and his vassal

chiefs, at Inverness, to submit to his authority. One of the

means employed by him on this occasion to effect that pur-

pose, and to keep the rude northern chief's to the obedience of

the laws, was the promise of rewards and the bestowal of

lands, on some of the principal of them. It is even said,

{Fordun a Goodal, vol. ii. p. 380,) that he used artifice to

divide them and induce them to slay or capture one another.

Certain it is, that it was in this reign that the practice of

bonds of manrent or friendship among the chiefs and nobles

began. The charter referred to contained a royal grant to

Torquil Macleod of the barony of Assynt, on the uorth-westuru

coast of Sutherlandshire. This barony, however, he is said

to have obtained by marriage with the heiress, whose name

was Macnicol. It was held from the crown. In that char-

ter he has no designation, hence it is thought that he had

then no other property. The Lewis Macleods held that island

as vassals of the Macdonalds of Isla from 1344, and soon

came to rival the Harris branch of the Jlacleods in power and

extent of territory, and even to dispute the chiefship with

them. Their armorial bearings, however, were different, the

family of Harris having a castle, while that of Lewis had a

burning mount. The possessions of the Siol Torquil were

very extensive, comprehending the isles of Lewis and Rasay,

the district of Waterness in Skye, and those of Assynt, Co-

geach, and Gerloch, on the mainland.

To return to the HaiTis branch. The gi-andson of the

above-mentioned Malcolm, William Macleod, surnamed Ach-

krach, or the clerk, from being in his youth designed for the

church, was one of the most daring chiefs of his time. To

avenge an insult which he had received, when young, from

the Frasers, he had no sooner succeeded to his patrimony,

than he ravaged the estate of Lovat in the Aird. Having

afterwards incurred tlie resentment of his superior, the lord

of the Isles, that powerful chief invaded his territory with a

large force, but was defeated at a place called Lochsligachan,
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owing to a stntt:ii;tMn, and the greater military skill of tlie

Macleiid chief. His son, John, accompanied Donald of the

Isles to the battle of Harlavv in 1411, and died in the begin-

ning of tlie reign of .James II. John's eldest son, William,

in 1640, with Hugh Macdonald of Sleat, and "the young

gentlemen of the Isles," ravaged the Orkneys. He was one

of the principal supporters of the last lord of the Isles in liis

disputes with his turbulent and rebellious son, Angus, and

was killed, in 1481, at the battle of the Bloody Bay, where

also the eldest son of Roderick Macleod of the Lewis was

mortally wounded. The son of William of Harris, Alexander

Macleod, called Allaster Crottacli, or the Humpbacked, was

the head of the Siol Tormod at the time of the foifeiture of

the lordship of the Isles in 1493, when Roderick, grandson of

the above-named Roderick, was chief of the Siol Torquil.

This Roderick's father, Torquil, the second son of the first

Roderick, was the principal supporter of Donald Dubh, when

he escaped fi-oni prison and raised the banner of insurrection

in 1501, for the purpose of regaining the lordship of the Isles,

for wliieh he was forfeited. He married Katherine, daughter

of the first earl of Argyle, the sister of Donald Dubh's mo-

ther. The forfeited estate of Lewis was restored in 1511 to

Malcolm, Torquil's brother.

Alexander the Humpback got a charter, under the great

seal, of all his lands in the Isles, from James IV., dated loth

June, 1498, under the condition of keeping in readiness for

the king's use one ship of 26 oars and two of 16, which ex-

plains the appearance of the lymphad or oared galley in the

armorial bearings of the Macleods and other island families

The right to the eyries or nests of falcons within his bounds

was also reserved to the crown. He had also a charter from

James V. of the lands of Glenelg, dated 13th February,

1539. The Macleods of Harris and Lewis joined the Mac-

leans in supporting the claims of Sir Donald Macdonald of

Lochalsli to the lordship of the Isles, but disgusted v\ith Sir

Dotuild's proceedings, they soon submitted to the government,

and endeavoured to apprehend that chief. Although he

escaped from them, his two brothers fell into their hands.

With Maclean of Lochbuy, Alexander Macleod of Hams re-

ceived a rCTuission for himself and his followers, upon giving

hostages. This was in 1517. In the following year the

Macleods of Lewis and Rasay were with Sir Donald of Loch-

alsli when he defeated Macian of Ardnanuirchan, at Craigan-

airgid, (or the Silver Craig,) in Morvern, the latter, with

two of liis sons, and a great number of his followers, being

slain. Witli the IMacdonalds of Sleat, the Harris Macleods

liad a feud regarding the lands and office of bailiary of Trou-

terness, now called Trotternish, in the isle of Skye, held by

them under several crown charters. The feud was embit-

tered by Macleod having also obtained a heritable grant of

the lands of Sleat and North Uist; and the Siol Torquil, who

had also some claim to the Trouterness bailiary and a porticm

of the lands, siding with the Macdonalds, the two leading

branches of the Macleods came to be in opposition to each

other. Under Donald Gruanuich (that is, grim-looking) aided

by the uterine brother of their chief, John MacTorqnil Mac-

leod, son of Torquil Macleod of the Lewis, forfeited in 15U6,

the Jlacdonalds succeeded in expelling Macleod of Han-is or

Dunvegan from Trouterness, as well as in preventing him

from taking possession of Sleat and North Uist. The death

of his uncle, Malcolm Macleod, and the minority of his son,

enabled Torquil, with the assistance of Donald Gruamach, in

his turn, to seize the whole barony of Lewis which, with the

leadership of the Siol Torquil, he held during his life. His

daughter and heiress married Donald Gorme of Sleat, a

clainuuit for the lordship of the Isles, and the son and suc-

cessor of Donald Gruamach. An agreement was entered into

hetween Donald Gorme and Ruari or Roderick Macleod, son

of Malcolm, the last lawful possessor of the Lewis, whereby

Roderick was allowed to enter into possession of that island,

and in return Roderick became bound to assist in putting

Donald Gorme in possession of Troutei'ness, against all the

efforts of the chief of Harris or Dunvegan, who had again

obtained possession of that district. In May 1539, accoi-d-

ingly, Trouterness was invaded and laid waste by Donald

Gorme and his allies of the Siol Torquil ; but the death soon

after of Donald Gorme, by an arrow wound in his foot, under

the walls of Mackenzie of Kintiul's castle of Ellandonan, put

an end to his rebellion and his pretensions together. When
the powei-ful fleet of James V. arrived at the isle of Lewis

the following year, Roderick M.icleod and his principal kins-

men met the king, and were made to accompany him in his

farther progress through the Isles. On its reaching Skye,

Alexander Macleod of Dunvegan was also constrained to em-

bark in the royal fleet. With the other captive chiefs they

were sent to Edinburgh, and only liberated on giving hosta-

ges for their obedience to the laws.

Alexander the Humpback, chief of the Harris Macleods,

died at an advanced age in the reign of Queen Mary. He
had three sons, William, Donald, and Tormod, who all suc-

ceeded to the estates and authority of their family. He had

also two daughters, the elder of w hom was thrice maixied,

and every time to a Macdonald. Her first liusband was

James, second son of the fourth laird of Sleat. Her second

was Alan Macian, captain of the Olanranald, whose bad

usage of her was the cause of a long subsisting feud between

the Macleods and the Clanranald, which led to a dreadful ca-

tastrophe in the island of Eig, as afterwards related; and her

third husband was Macdonald of Keppnch. The younger

daughter became the wife of Maclean of Lochhuy.

William Macleod of Harris had a da\igliter, Mary, who, on

his death in 1554, became, under a particular destination,

his sole heiress in the estates of Harris, Dunvegan, and

Glenelg. His claim to the properties of Sleat, Trouterness,

and North Uist, of which he was the nominal proprietor, but

which were lield by the Clandonald, was inherited by his

next brother and successor, Donald. This state of things

placed the latter in a very anomalous position, which may be

explained in i\lr. Gregory's words :
" The Siol Tormod," he

says (^History of tlie Hir/hlands and Isles, p. 204), " was now

placed in a position, which, though quite intelligible on the

principies ot feudal law, was totally opposed to the Celtic

customs that still prevailed, to a great extent, throughout

the Highlands and Isles. A female and a minor was the

legal proprietrix of the ancient possessions of the tribe,

which, by her marriage, might be conveyed to another and a

hostile family; whilst her uncle, the natural leader of the

clan according to ancient custom, was left without any means

to keep up the dignity of a chief, or to support the clan

again,st its enemies. His claims on the estates possessed by

the Clandonald were worse than nugatoiT, as they threatened

to involve him in a feud with that powerful and warlike tribe,

in case he should take any steps to enforce them. In these

circumstances, Donald Macleod seized, apparently with the

consent of his clan, the estates which legally belonged to his

niece, the heiress; and thus, in practice, the feudal law was

made to yield to ancient and inveterate custom. Donald did

not enjoy these estates long, being murdered in Trouterness,

by a relation of his own, John Oig Macleod, who, failing

Tormod, the only remaining brother of Donald, would have

become the heir male of the family. John Oig next plotted

the destruction of Tormod, who was at the time a student in
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Jie university of Glasgow ; but in tliis he was foiled by tlie

interposition of the earl of Argyle. He continued, notwith-

standing, to retain possession of the estates of tlie heiress,

and of the command of the clan, till his death in 1559."

The heii-ess of Harris was one of Queen Mary's maids of hon-

our, and tlie earl of Argyle, having ultimately become her

guardian, she was given by hiin in marriage to his kinsman,

Duncan Campbell, younger of Auchinbreck. Through the

previous efforts of the earl, Tormod jMacleod, on receiving a

legal title to Harris and the other estates, renounced in fa-

vour of Argyle all liis claims to the lands of the Clandonald,

and paid 1,000 merks towards the dowry of his niece. He
also gave his bond of service to Argyle for himself and his

clan. Mary Macleod, in consequence, made a complete sur-

render to her uncle of her title to the lands of Harris, Dun-

vegan, and Glenelg, and Argyle obtained for him a crown

charter of these estates, dated 4th August, 1579. Tormod

adhered firmly to the interests of Queen Mary, and died in

1584. He was succeeded by his eldest son, William, under

whom the Harris Macleods assisted the Macleans in their

feuds with the Macdonalds of Isia and Skye, while the Lewis

Macleods supported the latter. On his death in 1590, his

brother, Roderick, the Rory jMor of tradition, became chief of

the Harris Macleods. In 1695, he went with 500 of his clan

to Ulster, to assi-st Red Hugh O'Donnell, at that time in re-

bellion against the queen of England. In 1601 lie had a

quarrel with Macdoiiald of Sleat, an account of which, with

its results, has been already given, (see vol. ii. p. 714).

In December 1597, an act of the Estates had been passed,

by which it was made imperative upon all the chieftains and

landlords in the Highlands and Isles, to produce their title-

deeds before the lords of Exchequer on the 15th of the fol-

lowing May, under tlie pain of forfeiture. The heads of the

two branches of the IHacleods disregarded the act, and a gift

of their estates was gi-aiited to a number of Fife gentlemen,

for the purposes of colonization. They first began with the

Lewis, in which the experiment failed, as afterwards narrat-

ed. Roderick Macleod, on his part, exerted himself to get

the forfeiture of his lands of Harris, Dunvegan, and Glenelg,

removed, and ultimately succeeded, having obtained a remis-

sion from the king, dated 4th May, 1610. He was knighted

by King .lames VI., by whom he was much esteemed, and

had several friendly letters from his majesty; also, a particu-

lar license, dated 16th June, 1616, to go to London, to the

court, at any time he pleased. In the Denmylne MS., in the

Advocates' Library, there are various letters of Sir Roderick,

principally concerning the escape of Sir James Macdonald of

Lsia in 1615. To ensure their obedience to the laws, the

privy council had ordered the chiefs to appear before them

once a-year, on the 10th July, or oftener if required, on be-

ing duly cited ; and on the suppression of the rebellion of Sir

James Macdonald, the same year, still more stringent regula-

tions were adopted. They were compelled to exhibit

each a certain number of their principal kinsmen, and were

only to maintain in household certain proportions of gentle-

men, according to their rank, Macleod being allowed six

;

they were also to reside at certain specified places on their

estates. Various other conditions were imposed on thcin,

the mo.st important of which was one relating to the educa-

tion of their children, 'i'he chiefs were required to send all

their children above nine years of age to school in the Low-

lands, to be instructed in reading, writing, and speaking the

English language ; and none could be served heirs to their

fathers, or received as tenants to the king, until they had re-

ceived that education. The very quantity of wine they were

to use in their houses was regulated, Macleod's allotment

being four tuns, and eacli chief was bound to take strict or-

der throughout his whole estates that none of his tenants or

vassals should buy or drink any wine. This last obligation

proceeded on the narrative that " the great and extraordinary

excesse in drinking of wyne, commonHe iisit among the com-

monis and tenantis of the Yllis, is not only ane occasioun of

the beastlie and barbarous cruelties and inhumanities that

fallis oute amangis thame, to the ofTens and displeasour of

God, and contempt of law and justice ; but with that it

drawls nomberis of thame to miserable necessitie and povar-

tie, sua that they are constraynit, quhen they want from their

awne, to tak from tliair nichtbours." Finding that this reg-

ulation, strict as it was, was evaded, the privy council in

1622 passed an act prohibiting masters of vessels, under the

penalty of confiscation of the article, from carrying more

wine to the Isles than the quantity allowed to the chiefs and

gentlemen. In the preamble of this act the reason of this

new regulation is thus stated :
—" With the insatiable desyre

quhairof the saidis Islanderis ar so far possesst, that, when

tliair an-yvis ony schip or uther vescliell there with wines,

tliay spend both dayes and nights in their excesse of drink-

ing sa lang as thair is anie of the wyne left; sua that, being

overcome with drink, thair fallis oute many incoiivenientis

amangis thame, to the breck of his majesteis peace," &c.

Sir Roderick died in the beginning of 1626. By his wife, a

daughter of Macdonald of Glengarry, he had, with six daugh-

ters, five sons, viz. John, his heir; Sir Roderick, progenitor

of the Macleods of Talisker ; Sir Norman, of the i\Iacleods ot

Hernera and Muiravonside
;
William, of the Macleods of Ha-

uler ; and Donald, of those of Gi isernish.

The history of the Siol Torquil, or Lewis Macleods, as it

approached its close, was most disastrous. Roderick, the

chief of this branch in 1569, got involved in a deadly feud

with the Slackenzies, which ended only witli the destraction

of his whole family. He had married a daughter of John

Mackenzie of Kintail, and a son whom she bore, and who

was named Torquil Connanach, from his residence among his

mother's relations in Stratliconnan, was disowned by him, on

account of the alleged adultery of his mother with the breve

or Celtic judge of the Lewis. She eloped with John Mac-

Gillechallum of Rasay, a cousin of Roderick, and was, in

consequence, divorced. He took for his second wife, in 1541,

Barbara Stewart, daughter of Andrew Lord Avandale, and

by this lady had a son, likewise named Torquil, and surnanied

Oii/hre, or the Heir, to distinguish him from the other Tor-

quil. About 1566, the former, with 200 attendants, was

drowned in a tempest, when sailing from Lewis to Skye, and

Torquil Connanach immediately took up arms to vindicate

what he conceived to be his rights. In liis pretensions he

was supported by the Mackenzies. Roderick was appre-

hended and detained four years a prisoner in the castle of Stor-

iioway. In his extremity that chief had sought the assistance

of Donald Gorme or Macdonald of Sleat, who, with his sanction,

took steps to procure his own recognition as heir of the line

of Lewis, founding his claim on an alleged confession of

Hugh Macleod, the breve of the island, that Torquil Connan-

ach was in reality his son. But the feud between the Mac-

donalds and j\Iackenzies was put an end to by the mediation

of the Regent Moray. Before being released from his capti-

vity, the old chief was brought before the Regent Mar and

his privy council, and compelled to resign his estate into the

hands of the crown, taking a new destination of it to himself

in liferent, and after his death to Torquil Connanach, as his

son and heir apparent. On regaining his liberty, however,

he revoked all that he had done when a prisoner, on the

gi'ound of coercion. This led to new commotions, and in
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1576 botli Roderick and Torquil were summoned to Edin-

burgh, and reconciled in presence of the privy council, when

the latter was as;ain acknowledged as heir apparent to the

Lewis, and received as such the district of Cogeach and otlier

lands. The old chief some time afterwards took for his third

wife, a sister of Lauclilan Maclean of Powart, and had by

her two sons, named Torquil Dubh and Tormod. Having

again disinherited Torquil Connanach, that young chief once

more took up arms, and was supported by two illegitimate

sons of Roderick, named Tormod Vigach and Murdoch,

while three others, Donald, Rory Oig, and Neill, joined with

their father. Tormod Uigacli was shiin by Donald Macleod,

who was taken prisoner by Torquil Connanacli, but he

escaped and fled to his father in the Lewis. Donald, on liis

part, apprehended Murdoch, and delivered liim to his father,

who imprisoned him in the castle of Stornoway. Torquil

Connanach immediately laid siege to it, and having taken it,

released Murdoch. He then apprehended the old chief, Ro-

derick Macleod, and killed a number of his men. All the

charters and title deeds of the Lewis were can-ied off by

Torquil, and handed over to the Mackenzies. The charge

of the castle of Stornoway, with the chief a prisoner in it,

was committed to John Macleod, the son of Torquil Con-

nanach, but he was attacked by Rory Oig and killed, when

Roderick Macleod was released, and possessed the island in

peace during the remainder of his life.

On his death he was succeeded by his son Torquil Dubti,

who married a sister of Sir Roderick Macleod of Harris. As

Torquil Connanach was excluded, although he possessed the

mainland estates and was acknowledged by government as

the heir, the Mackenzies formed a design to purchase and

conquer the Lewis, and assassinate Torquil Dubh, the chief

in possession of it. Torquil Connanach had married his

daughter to Roderick Mackenzie, the brotlier of Kenneth

Mackenzie, afterwards Lord Kintail, to whom he had con-

veyed the Lewis by writing. The lands of Cogeach and

Lochbroom were ravaged by Torquil Dubh, and as he could

raise 700 or 800 men, he for some time was enabled to set

his rival and the Mackenzies at defiance. To effect liis ruin

they made a complaint against him to the privy council, styl-

ing him "the usurper of Lewis," and as he disregarded a

summons sent to him to appear and answer it, he was de-

nounced a rebel. The breve of the Lewis having agreed, on

the promise of a great reward, to put him to death, he went,

we are told, in a galley, accompanied by the greater part of

his tribe, the clan Mhic-Gille-Moir, toward the isle of Rasay,

and in his course fell in with a Dutch ship partly laden with

wine, which he compelled to follow him into the Lewis. On

his arrival there, he invited Torquil Dubh and a party of his

people to a banquet on board the Dutch vessel, but tliey had

scarcely seated themselves when they were all apprehended,

tied with cords, and carried to the country of the Macken-

zies, into the presence of Lord Kintail, who ordered Torquil

Dubh and his companions to be beheaded. This took place

iu .July 1597. At the time of their execution, it is said, an

earthquake happened, which struck terror into the minds of

the executioners.

Torqiiil Dubh left three young sons, and their uncle, Neill,

a bastard brotlier of their father, took, in their behalf, the

command of the isle of Lewis. Their cause was also sup-

ported by the Macleods of Harris and the Macleans. The

dissensions in the Lewis, followed by the forfeiture of that

i.sland, in consequence of the non -production of the title-

deeds, as required by the act of the Estates of 1597, already

mentioned, afforded the king an opportunity of can-ying into

effect a project he entertained for the improvement and civil-

III.

ization of that remote portion of his dominions. Accnrdingly,

that island, the large.st of the Hebrides, was granted to a

company of Lowland adventurers, belonging principally to

Fifeshire, who were led to join in the enterprise chiefly with

the view to the northern fisheries, a most valu.ahle, though

then and long after a neglected branch of Scottish industry.

In October 1599, with a force of about 600 soldiers, and arti-

ficers of all sorts, they landed at Stornoway, and immediately

began to build. The men of Lewis, under Neill and Mur-

doch Macleod, the bastard uncles of the young chief, gave

them .all the opposition in their power, but unable to with-

stand the colonists, they at last yielded to them ; and they,

with inconsiderate haste, proceeded to expel the Macleods

from their possessions. Burning with revenge, Murdoch put

to sea with a fleet of small vessels peculiar to those islands,

called berlings, and succeeded in intercepting Leirmonth of

Balcomy, when on his return from the Lewis to Fife in his

own vessel. Macleod immediately hanged all on board, hnt

Leirmonth himself, who for six months was subjected to a

very rigorous confinement, but ultimately liberated on pro-

mise of ransom, and died in the Orkneys on his w.ay home.

Shortly afterwards, Murdoch Macleod quarrelled with his

bi'other Ni'ill, who betrayed him, for a reward, to the govern-

ment, and he %vas, in consequence, hanged at St. Andrews.

In the meantime the .adventurers in the Lewis were surround-

ed and harassed by the people of the island, under Tormod

Macleod, only surviving legitimate son of Old Roderick Mnc-

leod of the Lewis, assisted by Neill Macleod. who had not

long continued in alliance with the colonists. At the head of

a strong force, Tormod attacked and forced the camp of the

adventurers, burnt the fort, killed many of their men, and at

length forced the principal gentlemen to capitulate, the Latter

binding themselves to obtain a remission to the Macleods for

all their past offences, and never to return to the Lewis.

Two of their number were left as hostages, for the fulfilment

of these conditions. This took place in IGOl, and the pro-

mised remission being granted, the hostages, after being de-

tained about eight months, were liberated. In the summer

of 1605, the Lewis adventurers made another attempt to

possess the island. On landing, they offered to Tormod Mac-

leod, if he would submit, to convey him to London, and ob-

tain his pardon from the king. To these proposals he agreed,

but after his arrival at court, finding he was making progi-ess

in his majesty's favour, to prevent his procuring the recall of

the grant of the Lewis, they obtained an order from the king

to send Tormod down to Edinburgh, where he was impri.s-

oned in the castle for ten years. He was .afterwards allowed

to go into the service of Maurice, prince of Orange, and he

died in Holland. Neill Jlacleod. however, still held out, and

assisted by the M.acleods of H.arris, the Macneills, and the

Cl.anranald, annoyed the colonists so greatly by his .attacks

that they were, .at length, induced to ab.indon the enterprise.

Two years afterwards, namely, in 1 607, the king gave a new

gr.ant of the island to Lord B.almerino, who, however, was

soon after forfeited. Sir George Hay of Nethercliff, and Sir

.Tames Spens of Wormestoun. The two latter invaded the

Lewis with a considerable force, hut were soon, from the want

of pro^-isions, .and the continued opposition of Neill M.acleod,

compelled to quit the island .and disband their forces. The

title to the Lewis h.aving been acquired by Kenneth Macken-

zie, Lord Kintail, (see page 19 of this volume.) he lost no

time in taking possession of the island, expelling Neill Mac-

leod, with liis nephews, Malcolm, William, and Roderick,

sons of Roiy Oig, who, with about thirty others, took refuge

on Berrisny, ,an insulated rock on the west coast of Lewis.

Here they maintained themselves for nearly three years, but

D
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vcere at length driven from it by the Mackenzies. Neill sur-

rendered to Roderick Macleod of Harris, who, on being

charged, under pain of treason, to deliver him to the privy

council at Edinburgh, gave him up, with his son, Donald.

Neill was brought to trial, convicted, and executed, and is

said to have died " very Christianlie," in April 1613. Do-

nald, his son, was banished from Scotland, and died in Hol-

.and. Roderick and William, two of the sons of R017 Oig,

were seized by the tutor of Kintail, and executed. Mal-

colm, the other son, apprehended at the same time, made his

escape, and continued to harass the Mackenzies for years.

He was prominently engaged in Sir James Macdonald's re-

bellion in 1615, and afterwards went to Flanders, but in

1616 was once more in the Lewis, where he killed two gen-

tlemen of the Mackenzies. He subsequently went to Spain,

whence he retnnied with Sir James Macdonald in 1620. In

1622 and 1626, commissions of fire and sword were granted

to Lord Kintail and his clan against " Malcolm MacRuari

Macleod." Nothing more is known of him.

On the extinction of the main line of the Lewis, the re-

presentation of the family devolved on the Macleods of Ra-

say, afterwards refen-ed to. The title of Lord Macleod was

the second title of the Mackenzies, earls of Cromarty.

In the civil wars, Sir Roderick Macleod of Han-is, son of

John, commonly called John Mor, supported the royal cause,

and Charles I. was so sensible of his services that he wrote

him a kind and friendly letter, dated at Durham, 2d May

1639, promising him his constant favour and protection. His

eldest son, also named Roderick, acquired, from his humour,

the surname of Roderick the Witty. Being a minor during

the usurpation, the whole clan followed his uncles, Sir Rod-

erick Macleod of Talisker and Sir Norman Macleod of Berne-

ra. At that time the Macleods could bring into the field

700 men. At the battle of Worcester in 1651, the Macleods

fought on the side of Charles II., and so gi-eat was the slaugh-

ter amongst them that it was agreed by the other clans that

they should not engage in any other conflict until they had

recovered their losses. The Harris estates were sequestrated

by Cromwell, but the chief of the Macleods was at last, in

May 1655, admitted into the protection of the Common-

wealth by General Monk, on his finding security for his

peaceable behaviour under the penalty of £6,000 sterling,

and paying a fine of £2,500. Both his uncles, however,

were expressly excepted.

At the Revolution, Macleod of Macleod, which became the

designation of the laird of Harris, as chief of the clan, was

favourable to the cause of James VII., and a letter written

to him by Viscount Dundee, dated Moy, June 23, 1689, giv-

ing an account of the preparations of the other chiefs, and of

his own proceedings, and enclosing a letter from the exiled

monarch to him, is printed in Browne's History of the High-

lands. In 1715, the effective force of the Macleods was 1,000

men, and in 1745, 900. The chief, by the advice of Presi-

dent Forbes, did not join in the rebellion of that year, and so

saved his estates, but many of his clansmen, burning with

zeal for the cause of Prince Charles, fought in the ranks of

the rebel army.

At page 47 it is mentioned that the bad treatment which

a daughter of the chief of the Macleods experienced from her

hnsband, the captain of the Clanranald, had caused them to

take the first opportunity of inflicting a signal vengeance on

the Macdonalds. The merciless act of Macleod, by which

the entire population of an island was cut off at once, is de-

scribed by Mr. Skene {Hist, of the Highktnds, vol. ii. page

277), and is shortly thus. Towards the close of the 16th

century, a smaU number of Macleods accideutally landed on

the island of Eigg, and were hospitably received by the in-

habitants. Offering, however, some incivilities to the young

women of the island, they were by the male relatives of the

latter bound hand and foot, thrown into a boat, and sent

adrift. Being met and rescued by a party of their own clans-

men, they were brought to Dunvegan, the residence of their

chief, to whom they told their story. Instantly manning his

galleys, Macleod hastened to Eigg. On desciying his ap-

proach the islanders, with their wives and children, to the

niJmber of 200 persons, took refuge in a large cave, situated

in a retired and secret place. Here for two days they re-

mained undiscovered, but having unfortunately sent out a

scout to see if the Macleods were gone, then- retreat was de-

tected, but they refused to sm-render. A stream of water

fell over tlie entrance to the cave, and partly concealed it.

This Macleod caused to be turned from its course, and then

ordered all the wood and other combustibles which could be

found to be piled up around its mouth, and set fire to, when
all within the cave were suffocated.

The Siol Tormod continued to possess Harris, Dunvegan,

and Glenelg till near the close of the 18th century. The

former and the latter estates have now passed into other

hands. A considerable portion of Harris is the property of

the earl of Dunmore, and many of its inhabitants have emi-

grated to Cape Breton and Canada. The climate of the

island is said to be favourable to longevity. Martin, in his

account of the Western Isles, says he knew several in Harris

of 90 years of age. One Lady Macleod, who passed the most

of her time here, lived to 103, had then a comely head of

hair and good teeth, and enjoyed a perfect understanding till

the week she died. Her son, Sir Norman Macleod, died at

96; and his grandson, Donald Macleod of Bernera, at 91.

Glenelg became the property first of Charles Grant, Lord

Glenelg, and afterwards of JMr. Baillie. I'rom the family of

Bernera, one of the principal branches of the Harris Mac-

leods, sprung the Macleods of Lusldnder, of which Sir Wil-

liam Macleod Bannatyne, a lord of session, was a cadet. For

a brief memoir of him, see vol. i. p. 236.

The first of the house of Rasay, the proprietor of which is

the representative and heir male of the Lewis branch of the

Macleods, was Malcolm Garbh Macleod, the second son of

Malcolm, 8th chief of the Lewis. In the reign of James V.

he obtained from his father in patrimony the island of Rasay,

which lies between Skye and the Ross-shire district of Ap-

plecross. In 1569 the whole of the Rasay family, except one

infant, were barbarously massacred by one of their own kins-

men, under the following circumstances. John MacGille-

challum Macleod of Rasay, called Ian 11a Tuaidh, or John

with the axe, who had, as stated on p. 48, carried off Janet

Mackenide, the first wife of his chief, Roderick Macleod of

the Lewis, married her, after her divorce, and had by her

several sons and one daughter. The latter became the wife

of Alexander Roy Mackenzie, a grandson of Hector or Ea-

chan Roy, the first of the Mackenzies of Gerloch, a marriage

which gave great offence to his clan, the Siol vie Gillechal-

lum, as the latter had long been at feud with that particular

branch of the Mackenzies. On Janet Mackenzie's death, he

of the axe married a sister of a kinsmim of his own, Ruari

Macallan Macleod, who from his venomous disposition was

surnamed NirrJineach. The latter, to obtain Rasay for his

nephew, his sister's son, resolved to cut off both his brother-

in-law and his sons by the first marriage. He accordingly in-

vited him to a feast in the island of Isay in Skye, and after

it was over, he left the apartment. Then, causing them to

be sent for one by ojie, he had each of them assassinated as



MACLEOD. 51 MACNAB.

they came out. He was, however, balked in his object, as

Rasay became the property of Malcolm or Gillechalluiii

Garbh Macallaster Macleod, then a child, belonging to the

direct line of the Rasay branch, who was with his foster-

father at the time. (^Gregm-y^s Highlands and Isles of Scot-

land, p. 211.)

The Macleods of Assynt, one of whom betrayed the

great Montrose in 1650, were also a branch of the Mac-

leods of Lewis. That estate, towards the end of the 17th

century, became the property of the Mackenzies, and the

family is now represented by Macleod of Geanies. The Mac-

leods of Cadboll are cadets of those of Assynt.

There were two Gaelic poetesses of this name, Mary Mac-

leod, born in Harris in 1569, and Flora Macleod, a native of

Skye. The former, called Main Nighcan Alasdair Riiaidh,

was the daughter of Alexander Macleod, son of Alasdair

Ruadh, a descendant of the chief of the clan. This woman,

a imrse in the family of her chief, was totally illiterate, yet

she is considered the most original of all the Gaelic poets.

She is said to have nursed five lairds of the i\Iacleods, and

two of the lairds of Applecross. Her first song was composed

to please the children under her charge, and most of her po-

ems are in praise of the Macleods. The chief, however, once

banished her to the island of Mull, for giving publicity to one

of her songs. In her exile she composed another poem, on

which the Macleod sent a boat for her, but she was only al-

lowed to return to Skye on condition tliat she made no more

songs. Soon after, she composed a song on the illness of a

son of the chief, which nearly caused her to be sent into exile

again ; but she saved herself by saying that " it was not a

song, it was only a 'croon.'" The poetess of the Isles, as

Mai-y Macleod was called, died at the advanced age of 105

years, and is buried in Harris. Specimens of her poems are

given in Mackenzie's ' Beauties of Gaelic Poetry.' The Gaelic

name of the other pi:etess, Flora Macleod, was Fionaghal

Nighean Alasdair Ruaidh. She lived in Trotternish, and

was married. Her only poems appear to be a satire on the

clan Macmartin and an elegy on Macleod of Dunvegan.

Hector Macleod, the South Uist bard, lived after 1745, in

the districts of Arasaig and Morar.

MACLEOD, John, surgeon of the Alceste,

was bom about 1782 at Boiiliill in Dunibarton-

sliire. He entered the navy as a surgeon, and

after several expeditious he accompanied the em-

bassy to Ciiina under Lord Amherst. On his re-

turn he published, in 1818, an interesting descrip-

tion of the ' Voyage of the Alceste, along the

Coast of the Corea to the Island of Loo Choo

;

with an Account of her subsequent Shipwreck.'

He died November 9, 1820.

Macnab, the name of a clan anciently located in the dis-

trict of Breadalbane, Perthshire, the badge of which was the

common heath. Tlie clan Anaba or the Macnabs are errone-

ously held to belong to the Old Celtic race, or primitive Al-

bionic stock of Scotland, which were among the clans includ-

ed under the general denomination of Siol Alpin, of which

tlie clan Gregor was the principal. The chief, styled Macnab

of that ilk, had his residence at Kinnell, on the banks of the

Dochart, and the family possessions, which originally were

considerable, lay mainly on the western shores of Loch Tay.

In the reign of David 1. [1124—1153], the name was, it is

said Macnab- Kyre, and signified the son and heir of the ab-

bot. According, however, to the view taken in tliis work of

the prefix Mac, as being no more tlian a contraction of mag-

nns, great, this legend cannot be admitted, although it lias

been stated that the founder of this clan held tlie dignity of

abl)Ot of Glendochart.

From the frequent use of the words "<)/ that ilk" in the

charters of the family of Macnab, it would appear, notwith-

standing the received tradition as to the derivation of the

name, that the origin of it is territorial or from land. There

is not an instance in Scottish history where the words " of
that ilk" are employed, in which this is not the case. And
if the form of the name be given correctly as Macnab-Eyre,

the source of the territorial designation may with great pro-

bability be conjectured. The Gaelic word for heir is not

Eyre, but Oighre. It is only an adaptation of its sound to

the common Knglisli word heir, which is fi om the Latin word

hires. The word ayre or aire, a term of frequent use in

early Scottish annals for the site, rather occasional tlian per-

manent, of a court of justice, is a corruption of the Norman-
French Oyer, to hear. Macnab-Eyre may, therefore, be held

to mean the seat of justice, or justice-place, in the territory

Macnab, and is so stated in the private histoi ies of the family.

Tradition points, liowever, at a priory where the burial place

now is placed. Whether there ever was an abbot of Glen-

dochart may well be doubted, yet there is every reason to be-

lieve that the abbots of Dunkeld held, as abtlianes,—(that is,

abbot-thanes, a secular title, defined by Ducange, as abbatcs

qui simul erant Comites, see vol. i. page 16,)— jnsticiary

power over this portion of Pertlishire. It seems, therefore,

at least probable that Macbeth-Eyre was the name given to

the occasional seat of justice of some kind or other. The

precise site of the lands bearing this particular name is now
unknown, yet as in early times lands and districts received

names from conspicuous natural objects lying in or near

them, as Carrick, in Ayr, from the carrick or craig of Ailsa

lying in the frith opposite to that district; so Macnab, the

gi'eat Nab or Nob, may not improperly be held to mean the

district around or near the mountain now called Benmore, (or

great head,) which is conspicuous all along the glen of the

Dochart, and veiy near its source. The occuricnce of Nab
in topography to designate a round-headed height or cone is

familiar in Scotland and the north of England.

The Macnabs were a considerable clan before the reign of

Alexander III. When Robert the Bruce commenced liis

struggle for the crown, the baron of Macnab, with his clan,

joined the Macdougals of Lorn, and fought against Bruce at

the battle of Dalree. Afterwards, when the cause of Bruce

prevailed, the lands of the Mainabs were ravaged liy his vic-

torious troops, their houses burnt, and all their family writs

destroyed. Of all their possessions only tlie barony of Bo-

wain or Bovain, in Glendochart, remained to them, and of it,

Gilbert Macnab of that ilk, from whom the line is usually de-

duced, as the first undoubted laird of Macnab. received from

David II., on being reconciled to that monarch, a charter,

under the great seal, to him and his heirs whomsoever, dated

in 13.36. He died in the reign of Robert II.

His son, Finlay Macnab, styled of Bovain. as well as " of

that ilk," died in the reign of James I. He is said to have

been a famous bard. .According to tradition he composed one

of the Gaelic poems which Macpherson attributed to Ossian.

He was the father of Patrick Macnab of Bov.ain and of that ilk,

whose son was named Finlay Macnab, after his grandfather.

Indeed, Finl.ay appears to have been, at this time, a favuuriie

name of tlie chief, as the next three lairds were so designated.

Upon his father's resignation, he got a charter, under the great
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seal, in tlie reign of James III., of tlie lands of Ardchyle, and

Wester Duinisli, in the barony of Glendochart and county of

Perth, dated January 1, 1486. He had also a charter from

James IV., of the lands of Ewir and Leiragan, in the same

barony, dated January 9, 1502. He died soon tliereafter,

leaving a son, Finl.iy Macnab, fifth laird of Macnab, who is

witness in a charter, under tlie great seal, to Duncan Camp-

bell of Glenorchy, wherein he is designed " Finlaus Macnab,

dominus de eodem," &c., Sept. 18, 1511. He died about the

close of the reign of James V.

His son, Fiiilay Macnab of Bovain and of that ilk, 6th chief

from Gilbert, alienated or mortgaged a great portion of his

lands to Campbell of Glenorchy, ancestor of the marquis of

Breadalbane, as appears by a charter to " Colin Campbell of

Glenorchy, his heirs and assignees whatever, according to the

deed granted to him by Finlay Macnab of Bovain, 2-lth No-

vember, 1652, of all and sundry the lands of Bovain and Ard-

chyle, &c., confirmed by a charter under the great seal from

Mary, dated 27th June, 1553." Glenorchy's right of superior-

ity tlie Macnal)s always refused to acknowledge.

His son, Finlay Macnab, the seventh laird, who lived in

the reign of James VI., was the chief who entered into the

bond of friendship and manrent with his cousin, Lauclilan

Mackinnon of Stratliordell, 12th July, 1606, quoted at page

28 of this volume. This chief carried on a deadly feud with

the Neishes or M'llduys, a tribe which possessed the upper

parts of Stratliearn, and inhabited an island in the lower part of

Loch Earn, called from them Neish island. Many battles were

fought between them, with various success. The last was at

Gleiiboultaclian, about two miles north of Locli Earn foot, in

which the Macnabs were victorious, and the Neishes cut off

almost to a man. A small remnant of them, however, still

lived in the island referred to, the head of which was an old

man, who subsisted by plundering the people in the neigh-

bourhood. One Christinas, the chief of the Macnabs had

sent his servant to Crieff for provisions, but, on his return, he

was waylaid, and robbed of all his purchases. He went

home, therefore, empty-handed, and told his tale to the laird.

Macnab had twelve sons, all men of great strength, but one

in particular exceedingly athletic, who was called for a byname,

Iain mion Mac an Appa, or " Smooth John Macnab." In

the evening, these men were gloomily meditating some signal

revenge on their old enemies, when their father entered, and

said in Gaelic, " The night is the night, if the lads were but

lads ! " Each man instantly started to his feet, and belted on

liis dirk, his claymore, and his pistols. Led by their brother

John, they set out, taking a fishing-boat on their shoulders

from Loch Tay, carrying it over the mountains and glens

till they reached Loch Earn, where they launched it, and

passed over to the island. All was silent in the habitation of

Meish. Having all the boats at the island secured, they had

gone to sleep without fear of surprise. Smooth John, with

his foot daslied open the door of Neish 's house; and the

party, rushing in, attacked the unfortun.ite family, every one

of whom was put to the sword, with the exception of one

man and a boy, who concealed themselves under a bed.

Carrying off the heads of the Neishes, and any plunder they

could secure, the youths presented themselves to their father,

while the piper struck up the pibroch of victory.

The next laird, " Smooth John," the son of this Finlay,

made a distinguished figure in the reign of Charles L, and

suffered many hardships on account of his attachment to the

royal cause. After the battle of Alford in 1645, he joined the

army of Montrose, with his clan, and was of great service to

him at the battle of Kilsyth. He was subsequently directed

by Jloutrose to garrison liis castle of Kincardine, and he con-

tinued there until besieged by General Leslie, when, their pro-

visions failing, he endeavoured, with 300 men, to make his

escape, diuing the darkness of the night. Marching out,

sword in hand, they all got off, except Macnab himself and

one of his men, who were sent prisoners to Edinburgh. Mac-

nab was condemned to death, but escaped the night previous

to the day on which he was ordered for execution. He was

killed at the battle of Worcester in 1651. During the com-

monwealth, his castle of Eilan Rowan was burned, his estates

ravaged and sequestrated, and the family papers again lost.

Taking advantage of the troubles of the times, his powerful

neighboui', Campbell of Glenorchy, in the heart of whose pos-

sessions Macnab's lands were situated, on the pretence that he

had sustained considerable losses from the clan Macnab, got

possession of the estates in recompense thereof.

This chief of the Macnabs married a daughter of Campbell

of Glenlyon, and with one daughter, had a son, Alexander

Macnab, ninth laird, who was only four years old when his

father was killed on Worcester battle-field. His mother and

friends applied to General Monk for some relief from the

family estates for herself and children. That general made a

favourable report on the application, but it had no effect. It

was directed to Captain Gascoigne, governor of Finlarig, and

was in the following terms :
" I do hereby declare, that it

was not intended by my order for repairing the laird of Glen-

urchy's losses by the Macnabs out of their estates, that the

same should extend to the molesting or intermeddling with

the estates of any of the Macnabs who live peaceably. And
forasmuch as I understand that the widow of the laird of

Macnab hath lived peaceably, you are hereby authorized, and

I desire, in case any vexation be offered to the outing or dis-

possessing of the said widow and her children of the said

lands, or anything that belongs to them, under colour of the

said order, to preserve the rights that to them belong, as if

the said order had never been made, and to enter and receive

them into their lands; and this favour also is to be extended

for Archibald Macnab of Acharne. Given under my hand

and seal at Dalkeith, 18th January, 1654. (Signed) S. S.

George Monk." After the Restoration, application was made

to the Scottish Estates, by the Lady Macnab and her son,

for redress, and in 1661 they received a considerable portion

of their lands, which the family enjoyed till the beginning of

the present century, when they were sold.

By his wife, Elizabeth, a sister of Sir Alexander Menzies,

of Weem, baronet, Alexander Macnab of that ilk liad a son

and heir, Robert Macnab, tenth laird, who married Anne

Campbell, sister of the earl of Breadalbane. Of several chil-

dren only two survived, John, who succeeded his father, and

Arcliibald. The elder son, John, held a commission in the

Black Watch, and was taken prisoner at the battle of Preston-

pans, and, with several others, confined in Doune Castle, un-

der the charge of Macgi'egor of Glengyle, where he remained

till after the battle of Culloden. The majority of the clan

took the side of the house of Stuart, and were led by Allister

Macnab of Inshewan and Archibald Macnab of Acharne.

They were mostly incorporated in the Duke of Perth's regi-

ment, of which Alexander Macnab of Dundurn was the

standard bearer. The others joined a body of Breadalbane

men under the command of Campbell of Glenlyon. The

younger son, Archibald, obtained in 1740 a commission as

ensign in the Black Watch (now the42d Highlanders), on its

embodiment, and served in Germany with that regiment. In

June 1745 he was appointed captain of Loudoun's High-

landers, and ill 1757 he distinguished himself at the battle of

Fellingbausen, Under General Wolfe, he was present at the

battle of Quebec. He served also tlironghout the American
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revolutionary war, and on its termination was promoted to

the rank of lieutenant-general, and appointed Colonel of tlie

41st Welsli Regiment. He died in Edinbingh in 1791, and

was buried at Killin.

Jiilm Macnab, tlie lltli laird, married tlie only sister of

Francis Buclmnan, Esq. of Arnprior, and had a son, Francis,

twelfth laird.

Francis, 12th laird, died, unmarried, at Calhinder, Perth-

shire, May 25, 1816, in his 82d year. One of the most ec-

centric men of liis time, many anecdotes are related of his

curious sayings and doings. He was a man of gigantic

height and strong originality of character, and cherislied

many of the manners and ideas of a Highland gentleman,

iniving in particnlar a high notion of tlie dignity of the chief-

tainship. He left numerous illegitimate children. There is

a fine full-length portrait of liim, in t)ie uniform of lieutenant-

Cdlonel of the Hreadalbane volunteers, by Sir Henry Raeburn,

in the Breadalbane collection of paintings at Taymouth-castle.

The only portion of the property of the Macnabs remain-

ing is the small islet of Innis-Buie, formed by tlie parting of

the water of tlie Docliart just before it issues into Loch Tay,

in which is the most ancient burial place of the family;

and outside there are numerous gravestones of other members

of the clan. The lands of the town of Callamler chiefly be-

long to a descendant of this laird, not in marriage.

Archibald Macnab of Macnab, nephew of Francis, succeed-

ed as 13th chief. The estates being considerably encumber-

ed, he was obliged to sell the property for behoof of his

oi'editors.

Many of the clan having emigrated to Canada about the

beginning of the nineteenth century, and being very .success-

ful, 301) of those remaining in Scotland were induced about

1817 to try their fortunes in America, and in 1821, the chief

himself, with some more of the clan, took their departure for

Canada. Ho returned in 18.53, and died at Lannion, Cotes

du Nord, France, Aug. 12, 1860, aged 83. Subjoined is his

portrait, from a daguerreotype taken at Saratoga, United

States of Ainerica, in 1848:

He left a widow, and one surviving daughter, Sophia

Frances.

The next M.acnabs by descent entitled to the cliiefsliip .'ire

believed to be Sir Allan Napier Macnab, Bart., Canada; Dr.

Robert Macnab, otb Fusileers, and Mr. .lolin Macnab, Glen-

mavis, Bathgate.

The lairds of Macnab, previous to the reign of Charles I.,

intermarried with the families of Lord Gray of Kinfauns,

Gleneagles, Inchbraco, Robertson of Strowan, &c.

Thechief cadets of the family were the Macnabs of Dundurn,

Acharne, Newton, Cowie, and Inchewen. Of one of the hitter

family the following exploit is related. In 1745, a p.arty of

soldiers, sent from the castle of Finlarig, (which means the field

or plain of Fingal,)to bum the house of Coii e Chaorach, near

Benmore, were watched, on their march, by Macnab of Inch-

ewen. After setting fire to the mansion, they commenced their

return to Finlarig, when it was obsen'ed that the fire bad gone

out. One of them was ordered back to rekindle it, but w.as

shoe by Macnab from his place of conce.ilnient. On this, the

rest of the party rushed down to the river, but other three

fell victims by the way. Macnab then retreated to the rocks

above, whence he fired, and killed three more of the redcoats.

The others then gave up the pursuit. His rifle came into

the possession of Mr. Sinclair, tenant in Inverchaggerine. It

is four feet long, and in the stock there is a recess for a

supply of bullets. It w.as at one time used by the Gaelic

poet, Duncan MTntyre, when one of the foresters of Lord

Breadalbane, and is praised in his classic poem of ' Beinii

Dourain.' Mr. Sinclair possessed also the celebrated bottle,

long in use at Kinnell, which could hold nine gallons, and

was known to many of Macnab's friends as ' the Bachelor.'

(iSee New Statistical Account of Scotland, vol. x. page

1089.)

Sir Allan Napier Macnab is descended from the Dundurn

branch. His grandfather, Robert Macnab of Dundurn, Perth-

shire, was cousin-german of John Macnab of Macnab, capt.

42d Highlanders. He married Mary Stuart of Ardvoirlicb,

and his eldest son, Allan Macn.'ib, lieutenant 3d dragoons

and principal aide-de-camp to General Simcoe, 1st governor of

Upper Canada, married Anne, youngest daughter of Capt.

William Napier, commissioner of the port of Quebec, of the

family of Lord Napier, and had a son. Sir Allan Macnab,

baronet of Dundurn-castle, Canada West, born Feb. 19,

1789; colonel of militia in Upper Canada, member and some

time speaker of the legislative assembly of Upper and Lower

Canada, and prime minister of that province
;
knighted July

14, 1838, for his efforts in putting an end to the rebellion

there; created a baronet Feb. 6, 1858. Sir Allan married

in 1821, Elizabeth, daughter of Lieutenant Daniel Brooke
;

issue a son, (born in 1822, died in 1824.) and a daughter.

His wife having died in 1825, he married, 2dly, in 1831, Mary,

eldest daughter of John Stuart, sheriff of Johnstown district,

Upper Canada
;

issue, two daughters. The elder, Sophia,

born July 5, 1832, married in 1855, WiUiam Coutts, Viscount

Bury, M.P., eldest son of earl of Albemarle.

A branch of the family of Macnab settled in Jamaica.

MacnAghton, or Macnaughvon. the name of a clan of

great antiquity in the West of Scotland (Argyleshire), the

badge of which was the trailing azalia. The MS. of 1450

ih'duees the descent of the heads of this clan from Nachtaii

Mor, who is supposed to have lived in the lOtb century. The

Gaelic name Neachtain is the same as the Pictish Nectan,

celebrated in the Pictish Chronicle as one of the great Caltic

divisions in Scotland, and the appellation is among the mo.st

ancient in the north of Irel.and, tlie original seat of the Cni-
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tlien Picts. The parish of Dunnichen, in Forfarshii-e, derived

its name from the Gaehc dun, a hill, and the word Nechtan,

the name of a Pictish chief who is traditionally reported to

have resided in the parish. According to Buchanan of Auch-

mar, {History of the Origin of the Clam, p. 84,) the heads

of this clan were for ages thanes of Loch Tay, and possessed

ail the countiy between the south side of Loch-Fyne and

Lochawe, parts of wliich were Glenira, Glenshira, Glenfine,

and other places, while their principal seat was DundeiTaw

on Loch-Fyne.

In the reign of Robei t III., Maurice or Morice Slacnaugh-

ton had a.charter from Colin Campbell of Lochow of sundry

lands in Over Lochow, but their first settlement in Argyle-

shire, in the central parts of which their lands latterly wholly

lay, took place long before this. The Macnaughtons are said

to have been originally a branch of the tribes of the province

of Moray, when united under its maormors. {Slcene^s His-

tory of the Highlands, vol. ii. p. 201.) These maormors

were the most powerful cliiefs in Scotland during the middle

ages. When Malcolm the Maiden attempted to civilize the

ancient province of Moray, by introducing Norman and Saxon

families, such as the Bissets, the Comyns, &c., in the place

of the rade Celtic natives whom he had expatriated to the

south, he gave lands in or near Strathtay or Strathspey, to

Nachtan of Moray, for those he had held in tliat province.

He had there a residence called Durmachtan castle. Nisbet

{Heraldry, vol. i. p. 419) describes this Nachtan as " an em-

inent man in the time of Malcolm IV.," and says that he

" was in great esteem with the family of Lochawe, to whom

lie was very assistant in their wars with the Macdougals, for

wliich he was rewarded with sundry lands." The family of

Lochawe here mentioned were the Campbells.

The Macnaughtons appear to have been fairly and finally

settled in Argyleshire previous to the reign of Alexander III.,

as Gilchrist Macnaughton, styled of that ilk, was by that

monarch appointed in 1287, heritable keeper of his castle and

island of Frechelan (Fraoch Elian) on Lochatve, on condition

that he should be properly entertained when he should pass

that way, whence, a castle embattled was assumed as the

crest of the family.

This Gilchrist was father or grandfather of Donald Mac-

naughton of that ilk, who being nearly connected with the

Macdougals of Lorn, joined that powerful chief with his clan

against Robert the Bruce, and fought against the latter at

the battle of Dalree in 1306, in consequence of which he lost

a great part of his estates. In Abercromby's 'Martial

Achievements,' (vol. i. p. 577,) it is related that the extraor-

dinary courage shown by the king in having, in a narrow

pass, slain with his own hand several of his pursuers, and

amongst the rest three brothers, so greatly excited the admi-

ration of the chief of the Macnaughtons that he became

thenceforth one of his firmest adherents.

His son and successor, Duncan Macnaughton of that ilk,

was a steady and loyal subject to King David II., who, as a

reward for his fidelity, conferred on his son, Alexander, lands

in the island of Lewis, a portion of the forfeited possessions

of .John of the Isles, which the chiefs of the clan Naughton

held for a time. The ruins of their castle of Macnaughton

are still pointed out on that island.

Donald Macnaughton, a younger son of the family, was,

in 1436, elected bishop of Dunkeld, in the reign of James I.

Alexander Macnaughton of that ilk, who lived in the be-

ginning of the 16th century, was knighted by James IV.,

whom he accompanied to the disastrous field of Flodden,

where he was slain with nearly the whole chivalry of Scot-

land. His sun, John, was succeeded by his second son,

The chiefship is now in an Iri^h fiimily, descended from

Shane Dhu, grandson of Sir Alexander Macnaghton, slain at

Flodden, who went to Ireland in l.'iSO, as secretary to his kins-

man, the 1st earl of Antrim, and settled there. His son Daniel

Macn.<ighton, Esq., married Catherine, niece of the celebrat-

ed primate, George Dowdall, and their great-grandson, Ed-

mund Alexander Macnaghten, Esq. of Beardiville, born Au-

gust 3, 1762, was M.P. for County Antrim, and a lord of the

treasury. The clan Macnaghton elected this gentleman and

his heirs to the chieftainship. At his decease in 1832, it de-

scended with his family estates to his brother. Sir Francis

Workman Macnaghten, born August 2, 1763, educated for the

law, and knighted on being appointed a judge of the supreme

court of judicature at Madras, in 1809. In 1815 he was

transferred to that of Bengal, and in 1823 he assumed the

additional surname and arms of Worktnan. He retired

from the bencli in 1825, and was created a baronet, July 16,

1836. He died Nov. 22, 1843. By his wife, the eldest daugh-

ter of Sir William Dunkin of Clogher, a judge of the supreme

court of judicature, Calcutta, he had 6 sons and 10 daugh-

ters. Of the eldest son, in the following paragraph. The

2d son, William Hay, of the Bengal Civil Service, was created

a baronet in 1839, and was assassinated at Cabul, Dec. 25,

1841. Stuart Macnaghten, the younge.st son, born June 20,

1815, educated at Edinburgh and Trinity College, Dublin, (B. A.

1835), called to the bar at the Middle Temple, 1839; married

in 1848, Agnes, daughter of James Eastniont, Esq. of St.

Berners, near Edinburgh, and widow of Capt. Lewis Shedden.

The eldest son. Sir Edmund Charles Workman Macnagh-

ten, of Dunderave, Bushmills, county Antrim, 2d baronet,

Malcolm Macnaughton of Glenshira, his eldest son having I

predeceased him. Malcolm died in the end of the reign of

James VI., and w.is succeeded by his eldest son, Alexander.

John, the second son of Malcolm, being of a handsome ap-

pearance, attracted the notice of King James VI., who ap-

pointed him one of his pages of honour, on his accession to

the English crown. He became rich, and purchased lands in

Kintyre. He was also sheriff-depute of Argyleshire. His

elder brother, Alexander Macnaughton of that ilk, adhered

firmly to the cause of Charles I., and in his service, like all

who remained loyal to him, sustained many severe losses.

At the Restoration, as some sort of compensation, he was

knighted by Charles II., and, unlike many others, he received

from that monarch a liberal pension for life. Sir Alexander

Macnaughton spent his later years in London, where he died.

His son and successor, John Macnaughton of that ilk, suc-

ceeded to an estate greatly burdened with debt, but did not

hesitate in his adherence to the fiillen fortunes of the Stuarts.

At the head of a considerable body of his own clan, he joined

the viscount Dundee, and was with him at Killiecrankie.

James VII. signed a deed in his favour, restoring to his fam-

ily all its old lands and hereditary rights, but, as it never

passed the seals in Scotland, it was of less value than the pa-

per on which it was written. His lands were taken from

him, not by forfeittire, but " the estate," says Buchanan of

Auchmar, " was evicted by creditors for .sums noway equiva-

lent to its value, and, there being no diligence used for relief

thereof, it went out of the hands of the family." His son,

Alexander, a captain in Queen Anne's giiards, was killed in

the expedition to Vigo in 1702. His brother, John, at the

beginning of the last centuiy was for many years collector of

customs at Anstruther in Fife, and subsequently was ap-

pointed inspector -general in the same department. The

direct male line of the Macnaughton chiefs became extinct at

his death.
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hmn April 1, 1790, M.P. tor that county, 1847-1852, mm-i ii'il

in 1827, Mary, only cliild of Edward Gwatkin, Esq.; issue

five sons, and two daugliters. The sons are 1. Francis Edmund.

major,8th Hussars, born inl828; 2. Edward, barrister-at-hiw;

3. William Henry, 1st Bengal lifzht cavalry; 4. Fergus; 5. Ed-

mund Cbarle8. The family spell their name Macnagliten.

Macneiix, tlie name of a clan of the Western isles, which,

like tlie Macleods, consisted of two independent branches,

the Macneills of Barra and the Macneills of Gigha, said to

be descended from brothers. Their badge was the seaware,

but they liad different armorial bearings, and from tliis cir-

cumstance, joined to tlie fact that they were often opposed to

each other in the cUin fights of tlie period, and that the

Christian names of the one, with the exception of Neill, were

not used by the other, Mr. Gregory thinks tlie tradition of

tlieir common descent erroneous. Part of their possessions

were completely separated, and situated at a considerable

distance from the rest.

The clan Neill were among the secondary vassal tribes of

the lords of the Isles, and its heads appear to have been of

Norse or Danish origin. Buchanan of Auchmar .styles them

Irish Celts of the O'Neil tribe, and they are classed by Skene

under the Siol Gillevray, or race of Gillebride, surnamed king

of the Isles, who lived in the 12th century, and derived his de-

scent from a brother of Suibne, the ancestor of tlie Macdonalds.

About the beginning of the 1.5th century, the Macneills

were a considerable clan in Knapdale, Argyleshire. As this

district was not then included in the sheriffdom of Argjde, it

is probable that their ancestor had consented to hold his

lands of the crown.

The first of the family on record is Nigellus Og, who

obtained from Robert Bruce a charter of some lands in

Kintyre. His great-grandson, Oilleonan Roderick Muehard

Macneill, in 1427, received fi-om Ale.xander, lord of the

Isles, a charter of that island, one of the Hebrides, eight

miles long and two to four in breadth. In the same

charter were included the lands of Boisdale in South Uist,

which lies about eight miles distant from Barra. With

John Garve Maclean he disputed the jiossession of that island,

and was killed by him in Coll. His grandson, Gilleonan,

took part with John, the old lord of the Isles, against his

turbulent son, Angus, and fought on his side at the battle of the

Bloody Bay, where he narrowly escaped falling into the hands

of the victorious Clandonald. He was chief of this sept or

division of the Macneills in 1493, at the forfeiture of the

lord.ship of the Isles.

The Gigha Macneills are supposed to have sprung from

Torquil Macneill, designated in his charter, " filius Nigelli,"

who, in the early part of the 15th century, received from the

lord of the Isles a charter of the lands of Gigha and Taynish,

with the constabulary of Castle Sweyn, in Knapdale. He
had two sons, Neill his heir, and Hector, ancestor of the

family of Taynish. Malcolm Macneill of Gigha, the son of

Neill, who is first mentioned in 1478, was chief of this sept

of the Macneills in 1493. After that period the Gigha branch

followed the banner of Macdonald of Isla and Kintyre, while

the Barra Macneills ranged themselves under that of Maclean

of Dowart.

On the insuiTection of the islandere, under Donald Dubh,

in the beginning of the 16th century, Gilleonan Macneill of

Barra was amongst the chiefs who, in 1504, were summoned

to answer for their treasonable support given to the rebels,

and the following year, when the Dowart Macleans sent in

their submission to the government, the Macneills of Barra,

as their followers, as a matter of course, did the same.

In 1545 Gilliganan Macneill of Barra vras one of the bar-

ons and council of the Isles who accompanied Donald Dubh,

styling himself lord of the Isles and earl of Ross, to Ireland,

to swear allegiance to the king of England. His elder son,

Roderick or Ruari Macneill, was killed at the battle of Glen-

livet, by a .shot from a fieldpiece, on 3d Oct. 1694. He left

three sons, Roderick, his heir, called Ruari the turbulent,

John, and Murdo. The two latter were among the eight

hostages left by Maclean of Dowart, in 1586, in the hands

of his brother-in-law, Macdonald of Dunyveg. During the

memorable and most disastrous feud which happened between

the Macleans and the Macdonalds at this period, and which

has already been described, (see pp. 4'), 41 of this volume,)

the Barra Macneills and the Gigha branch of the same clan

fought on different sides.

The Macneills of Barra were expert seamen, and did

not scruple to act as pirates upon occasion. An English

ship having been seized off the island of Barra, by

Ruari the turbulent, Queen Elizabeth complained of this

act of piracy. The laird of Barra was in consequence sum-

moned to appear at Edinburgh, to answer for his conduct,

but as the haughty and high-spirited chiefs of the remoter

isles were, in those days, sometimes very apt to do, even with

the king's citations, he treated the summons with contempt.

All the attempts made to apprehend him proving unsuccess-

ful, Mackenzie, tutor of Kintail, undertook to effect his cap-

ture by a stratagem frequently put in practice against the

island chiefs when suspecting no hostile design. Under the

pretence of a friendly visit, he arrived at JlacneOl's castle of

Chis;miil (pronounced Kisiniul), the ruins ot which stand on

an insulated rock in Castlebay, on the south-east end of

Barra, and invited him and all his attendants on board his

vessel. There they were well plied with liquor, until they

were all overpowered with it. The chief's followers were

then sent on shore, while he himself was carried a prisoner

to Edinburgh. Being put upon his trial, he confessed his

seizure of the English ship, but pleaded in excuse that he

thought himself bound by his loyalty to avenge, by every

means in his power, the fate of his majesty's mother, so cru-

elly put to death by the queen of England. This politic an-

swer procured his pardon, but his estate was forfeited, and

given to the tutor of Kintail. The latter restored it to its

owner, on condition of his holding it of him, and paying him

sixty merks Scots, as a yearly feu duty. It had previously

been held of the crown. Some time thereafter. Sir James

Macdonald of Sleat married a daughter of the tutor of

Kintail, who made over the superiority to his son-in-law, and

it is now possessed by Lord Macdonald, the representative of

the house of Sleat.

The old chief of Barra, Ruari the turbulent, had several

sons by a lady of the family of Maclean, with whom,

according to an ancient practice in the Highlands, he

bad kandfasted, instead of marrying her. He afterwards

married a sister of the captain of the Clanranald, and

by her also he had sons. To exclude the senior family

from the succession the captain of the Clanran.ald took the

part of his nephews, whom he declared to be the only legiti-

mate sons of the B.arra chief. Having apprehended the eld-

est son of the first family, for having been concerned in the

piratical seizure of a ship of Bourdeaux, he conveyed him to

Edinburgh for trial, but he died there soon after. His bro-

thers-german, in revenge, assisted by Maclean of Dowart,

seized Neill Macneill, the eldest son of the second family,

and sent him to Edinburgh, to be tried as an actor in the pi-

racy of the same Bourdeaux ship, and thinking that their

father was too partial to their half brothers, they also seized
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the old chief, and placed him in irons. Neil! Macneill, called

Weyislache, was found innocent and liberated through tlie

influence of his uncle. Barra's elder sons, on being charged

to exhibit their father before the privy council, refused, on

which they were proclaimed rebels, and commission was given

to the captain of the Clanranald against them. In conse-

quence of these proceedings, which occurred about 1613,

Clanranald was enabled to secure the peaceable succession of

his nephew to the estate of Barra, on the death of his father,

which happened soon after. (^Gregory's HiyJdands and Isles,

p. 346.)

The island of Barra and the adjacent isles are still pos-

sessed by the descendant and representative of the family of

Macneill. Their feudal castle of Chisamul has been already

mentioned. It is a building of an hexagonal form, strongly

built, with a wall above thirty feet high, and anchorage for

small vessels on every side of it. In one of its angles is a

high square tower, on the top of which, at the corner imme-

diately above the gate, is a hole, through which the gock-

man. or watchman, who sat there all night, threw down

stones upon any who might attempt to surprise the gate in

the darkness. Martin, who visited Barra in 1703, in his

' Description of the Western Islands,' says that the Highland

Chroniclers or sennachies alleged that the then chief of Bar-

ra was the 84th lineal descendant from the first Macneill

who had held it. He relates that the inhabitants of this and

the other islands belonging to Macneill were in the custom of

applying to him lor wives and husbands, when he named the

persons most suitable for them, and gave them a bottle of

strong waters for the marriage feast.

The chief of the Macneills of Gigha, in the first half of

the 16th century, was Neill Macneill, who was killed, with

many gentlemen of his tribe, in 1530, in a feud with

Allan Maclean of Torlusk, called Alein nan Sop, bro-

ther of Maclean of Dowart. His only daughter, Anabella,

made over the lands of Gigha to her natural brother, Neill.

The latter was present, on the English side, at the battle of

Ancrum-Moor, in 1544, but it is uncertain whether he was

there as an ambassador from the loi d of the Isles, or fought

in the English ranks at the head of liis clansmen. He sold

Gigha to James Macdonald of Isla in 1554, and died without

legitimate issue in the latter part of the reign of Queen Mary.

On the extinction of the direct male line, Neill Macneill

vie Eachan, who had obtained the lands of Taynish, became

heir male of the family. His descendant. Hector Macneill of

Taynish, purchased in 1590, the island of Gigha from John

Campbell of Calder, who had acquired it from Macdonald of

Isla, so that it again became the property of a Macneill.

The estates of Gigha and Taynish were possessed by his de-

scendants till 1780, when the former was sold to Macneill of

Colonsay, a cadet of the family.

The representative of the male line of the Macneills of

Taynish and Gigha, Roger Hamilton Macneill of Taynish,

married Elizabeth, daughter and heiress of Hamilton Price,

ICsq. of Raploch, Lanarkshire, with whom he got that estate,

and assumed, in consequence, the name of Hamilton. His

descendants are now designated of Raploch.

The principal cadets of the Gigha Macneills, besides the

Taynish family, were those of Gallochallie, Carskeay, and

Tirfergus. Torquil, a younger son of Lachlan Macneill Buy

of Tirfergus, acquired the estate of Ugadale in Argyleshire,

by man-iage with the heiress of the Mackays in the end of

the 17th century. The present proprietor spells his name

Macneal. From Malcolm Beg Macneill, celebrated in High-

huid tradition for his extraordinaiy prowess and great strength.

son of John Oig Macneill of Gallochallie, in the reign of James
VI., sprung the Macneills of Arichonan. Malcolm's only

son, Neill Oig, had two sons, John, who succeeded him, and

Donald Macneill of Crerar, ancestor of the Macneills of Co-
lonsay, now the possessors of Gigha. Many cadets of the

Macneills of Gigha settled in the north of Ireland.

Both branches of the clan Neill laid claim to the chiefship.

According to tradition, it has belonged, since the middle of

the 16th century, to the house of Barra. Under the date of

1550, a letter appears in the register of the privy council, ad-

di-essed to Torkill Macneill, chief and principal of the clan

and surname of Macnelis." Mr. Skene conjectures this Tor-
kill to have been the hereditary keeper of Castle Sweyn, and
connected with neither branch of the Macneills. He is said,

however, to have been the brother of Neill Macneill of Gigha,

killed in 1530, as above mentioned, and to have, on his bro-

ther's death, obtained a grant of the non-entries of Gigha as

representative of the family. If this be correct, according to

the above designation, the chiefship was in the Gigha line.

Torquil appears to have died without leaving any direct suc-

cession.

The first of the family of Colonsay, Donald Macneill of

Crerar in South Knapdale, exchanged that estate in 1700,

with the duke of Argyle, for the islands of Colonsay and Or-

onsay. The old possessors of these two islands, which are

only separated by a narrow sound, dry at low water, were the

Macduffies or Macphies (see Macphie). Donald's great-

grandson, Archibald Macneill of Colonsay, sold that island to

his cousin, John Macneill, who married Hester, daughter of

Duncan Macneill of Dumnore, and had six sons. His eldest

son, Alexander, younger of Colonsay, became the purchaser

of Gigha. Two of his other sons, Duncan and Sir John
Macneill, have distinguished -themselves, the one as a lawyer

and judge, and the other as a diplomatist.

Duncan, the second son, born in Colonsay in 1794, after

being educated at the universities of St. Andrews and Edin-

burgh, was admitted advocate at the Scottish bar in 1816.

In 1824 he was appointed sherift" of Perthshire, and in No-
vember 1834, solicitor-general for Scotland, which ofiice he

held till the following April, and again from September 1841

to October 1842. At the latter date he was appointed lord-

advocate, and continued so till July 1846. He was elected

dean of the faculty of advocates, and in May 1851 was raised

to the bench as a lord of session and justiciary, when he as-

sumed the title of Lord Colonsay. In May 1852 he was ap-

pointed lord-justice-general and president of tlie court of

session, and in the following year was sworn in a privy coun-

cillor. He was M.P. for Argyleshire from 1843 to 1851.

Sir John Macneill, G.C.B., and F.R.S.E., the third son,

was born at Colonsay in 1795, and in his 19th year graduated

M.D. at the university of Edinburgh. He practised for some

time in the East, as a physician, and in 1831 was appointed

assistant envoy at the court of Persia. In 1834 he became

secretary of the embassy, and received the Persian order of the

Lion and Sun, and in June 1836 was appointed envoy ex-

traordinary and minister plenipotentiary to that court. In

1839 he was created a civil knight grand cross of the order of

the Bath. During his residence in Persia he became thor-

oughly acquainted with the habits, policy, and resources of

the Asiatic nations ; and was enabled, even at that period, to

point out the aggressive designs of Russia with singular pen-

etration and ability. In 1844 he returned home, and soon

after he was placed at the head of the board appointed to

superintend the working of the new Scottish Poor law act of

1845. In 1851 he conducted a special inquiry into the cod-
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ditiim of tlie Western Higlilands and Islands. In Februan-

1855 he was chosen by tlie fjovcrnnient of Lord Palmerston

to preside over the coninii.ssion of Inquiry into tlie adminis-

tration of the supplies of the army in the Crimea. In 1857,

In; was sworn of the privy council, and on April 22, ISUl, he

received the degree of LL. D. from the University of Edinburgh.

He is also Doctor of Civil Law in the University of Oxford.

MACNEIL, Hectou, a popular poet and soiig-

wi'iter, descended from a respectable faniil^y in tlie

West Highlands, was boni October 22, 1746, at

llosebank, on tlie Esk, near Roslin, Mid Lothian,

where liis father, at one period an officer in the

army, had taken a farm. He was educated at the

grammar sciiool of Stirling, under Dr. David Doig,

to wliom lie dedicated his ' Will and Jean.' He

subsequently attended some classes at Glasgow,

in the higher branches of education. At the age

of 14 he went to Bristol, to a cousin, formerly a

West Indian captain, who sent him on a voyage to

the island of St. Christopher's, furnished with a let-

ter to a mercantile house there. On his arrival, he

obtained a situation in the counting-house of the

merchant to whom he had been recommended,

but having forgot himself so far as to snatch a

kiss from the wife of his cmployei', one day while

reading in the garden with her, he was soon dis-

missed. He remained for many years in tlie

West Indies, but never could rise above subordi-

nate situations. During this period, it is said,

he was employed as a negro-driver, and in 1788

he published a pamphlet in defence of the system

of slavery in the West Indies, w hich was for ever

abolished by the Emancipation act of 1830.

When upwards of forty years of age, Macneil

returned to Scotland in bad health and in any-

thing but prosperous circumstances. He had,

w hen a boy of eleven years of age, written a spe-

cies of drama, in imitation of Gay, but his poetical

powers seem to have been allowed to remain al-

most dormant during his long and struggling

career in the West Indies. He uow, however,

began "to give the world assurance" of his jios-

sessing " the vision and the faculty divine," by

publishing, in the spring of 1789, 'Thellarp, a

Legendary Tale, in two parts,' which brought

him into favourable notice in literary society, but

added nothing to his income.

Having no prospect of employment in his native

country, he again quitted it, but this time for the

East Indies. Disappointed, however, in his ex-

pectations there, he soon returned to Scotland,

and took up his abode in a cottage near St. Nin-

ians, in the immediate neighbourhood of Stirling.

During his sojourn in the East, he visited the cel-

ebrated caves of Elephanta, Caiinara, and Ambola,

of which a detailed account written by him, was

published in the eighth volume of the Archa>olo-

gia. He afterwards wrote a number of love songs

in the Scottish language, which speedily became

favourites with all classes. Of these, his ' Mary

of Castlecary,' ' I loo'd ne'er a laddie but ane,'

' Come under my plaidie,' and others, nearly all

of a dramatic nature and in the dialogue form, are

familiar to all lovers of Scottish song.

In 1795 ajipeared his priiici})al poem, ' Scotland's

Skaith, or the History of Will and Jean, ower

true a tale,' the object of which was to exhibit the

evils attendant on an inordinate use of ardent spi-

rits, in the storv of a once industrious rustic and

his wife reduced through intemperance to poverty

and distress ; and so great was its popularity that

in less than twelve months it had passed through

fourteen editions. It was followed in the ensuing

year, by a sequel, entitled 'The Waes o' War.'

All his pieces are in the Scottish dialect.

In consequence of continued bad health, in

1796, with the hope of deriving benefit from a

tropical climate, to which he had been so long

used, and also of bettering his circumstances, he

was induced to go out to Jamaica, and on the

eve of his departure composed his descriptive po-

em, entitled ' The Links of Forth, or a parting

Peep at the Carse of Stirling,' which was pub-

lished in 1799. At Jamaica he remained for a

year and a half, residing with ]\Ii-. John Graham

of Three-Mile-River, where he wrote ' The Scot-

tish Muse,' which appeared in 1809. On the

death of that gentleman he left Macneil an annu-

ity of £100.

In 1800 Macneil returned to Scotland, and hav-

ing now a competence and leisure to attend to

literary pursuits, he took up his abode at Edin-

burgh, where he mixed in good society. The

same year he published, anonymously, a novel,

entitled 'The Memoirs of Charles Macphersou,'

which is understood to contain an account of his

own early career. Soon after, he set about pre-



MACNEIL, 58 MACNICOL.

paring ii complete collection of his poeticfil works,

which appeared in two volumes, in 1801. He

next published two works in verse, entitled ' Town

Fashions, or Modern Manners Delineated,' and

' Bygane Times and Late-come Changes,' and in

1812, a novel in two volumes, styled ' The Scot-

tish Adventurers, or the Way to Rise,' in all of

which he eulogises the manners and habits of past

times, in preference to what he deemed modern

innovations and corruptions. Many minor pieces

he inserted in the Scots Magazine, of which he

was at one time editor. He died at Edinburgh of

jaundice, 15th March 1818. The statement in

Chambers' 'Biographical Dictionary of Eminent

Scotsmen,' that he was in such destitute circum-

stances at the time of his death that he did not

leave " wherewithal to defray his funeral expen-

ses," is not correct.

The portrait of Mr. Macneil is subjoined :

He is described, towards the close of his life, as

having been a tall, fine-looking old man, with a

very sallow complexion, and a dignified and some-

what austere expression of countenance. Like all

persons who have made poetiy their profession,

and felt the struggles and privations attendant on

the exclusive service of the muses, he invariably

warned all young aspirants for poetic fame against

embarking in the precarious occupation of author-

ship. His works are

:

On the Treatment of the Negroes in .Tamaica. 1788, 8vo.

The Harp; a Legendary Tale. Edin. 1789, 4to.

Scotland's Skaith, or the History of Will and Jean ; owre

true a Tale. Together with some additional Poems. Em-
bellished with elegant engravings. 2d edit. Edin. 1795, 8vo.

Again, entitled, Politicks, or the Histoiy of Will and Jean; a

Tale for the Times. 1796, 4to.

The Waes of War
;

or, The Upshot of the History of Will

and Jean. Edin. 1796, 8vo. Lond. 1796, 4to.

The Links o' Forth
;

or, a Parting Peep at the Carse of

Stirling. Edin. 1795, 8vo.

Poetical Works. Lond. 1801, 2 vols. 8vo. 1806, 2 vols.

12mo. 3d. edit. 1812.

The Pastoral, or Lyric Muse of Scotland ; in 3 cantos.

1809. 4to.

Bygane Times and late-come Changes, or a Bridge-Street

Dialogue in Scottish verse, exhibiting a Picture of the exist-

ing Manners, Customs, and Morals. 3d edit. 1812.

Scottish Adventurers, or the Way to Rise; an Historical

Tale. 1812, 2 vols. 8vo.

An Account of the Caves of Cannara, Ambola, and Ele-

phanta, in the East Indies; in a Letter from Hector Mac-

neill, Esq., then at Bombay, to a friend in England. ArchiEol.

viii. 251. 1787.

Macnicol, the name of a small but 'broken' tribe or clan

originally belonging to Ross-shire, but latterly located in the

island of Skye. They were descended from one Mackrycul,

(the letter r in the Gaelic being invariably pronounced like n,)

who, as a reward for having rescued from some Scandinavians

a great quantity of cattle cari-ied off from Sntherland, received

from one of the ancient thanes of tliat province, the district

of Assynt, then a forest belonging to them. This Mackrycul

held that part of the coast of Cogeach, which is called Ulla-

pool. In the MS. of 1450, the descent of the clan Nicail is

traced in a direct line from a certain Gregall, plainly the

Kiycul here mentioned, who is supposed to have lived in the

twelfth century. This descent is corroborated by the tradi-

tion of the country, as stated in the account of the parish of

Assynt in the New Statistical Account of Scotland (vol.

XV. p. 109). He is said to have been the ancestor, be-

sides the Macnicols, of the Nicols, and the Nicholsons. When
Gregall lived, Sutherland was occupied by Gaelic tribes, and

the Macnicols may therefore be considered of Gaelic origin.

About the beginning of the 14th centuiy, the family of the

chief ended in an heiress, who married Torquil Macleod, a

younger son of Macleod of Lewis. Macleod obtained a crown

charter of the district of Assynt and other lands in Wester

Ross, which had been the property of the Macnicols. That

sept subsequently removed to the Isle of Skye, and the resi-

dence of their head or chief was at Scoirebreac, on the mar-

gin of the loch near Portree. There were fourteen successive

lairds of Assynt of the name of Macleod. Tlie last of them

was the one through whose means the great marquis of Mon-

trose, when appreliended in Assynt, was delivered up to his

enemies, then .it the head of the government in Scotland.

Montrose offered Macleod a large sum of money for his liberty,

which he refused, and the loss of his property, with the niin

of his family, happening soon after, was deemed by the inha-

bitants of the district a just judgment upon him for having
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been the cause of that chivalrous nobleman's capture and

execution.

Even after their removal to Skye the Maciiicols seem to

have retained their independen£e, for tradition relates that on

one occasion when the head of this clan, called Macnicol Mor,

was engaged in a warm discussion with Macleod of Easay,

carried on in the English language, the seiTant of the latter

coining into the room, imagined they were quarrelling, and

drawing his sword mortally wounded Macnicol. To prevent

a feud between the two septs, a council of chiefs and elders

was held to determine in what manner the Macnicols could

be appeased, when, upon some old precedent, it was agreed

that the meanest person in the clan Nicol should behead the

laird of Rasay. The individual of least note among them

was one Loinach, a maker of pannier baskets, ajid he accord-

ingly cut off the head of Easay at Snizort.

At a Highland banquet, towards the end of the last cen-

tury, a call was made for the bards to be brought to the upper

end of the room, on which Macnicol of Scoirebreao exclaimed,

"The bards are extinct." "No," quickly replied Alastair

Buy Mac Ivor, " but those who delighted to patronize them

are gone."

In Argyleshire there were many Macnicols, but the clan

may be said to have long been extinct.

MACNISH, Robert, LL.D., a popular writer,

known in his lifetime as "The modern Pytliago-

rean," the son of a medical practitioner in Glas-

gow, was born in Henderson's Court, Jamaica

Street, of that city, February 15, 1802. He re-

ceived the elements of his education partly in his

native town, and partly at a classical academy at

Hamilton, about eleven miles from it, and after-

wards studied medicine. He obtained the degree

of master of surgery at the early age of eighteen,

when he became iissistant to Dr. Henderson of

Clyth at Caithness. He remained there for about

eighteen months, and then went to Paris for a

year, with the view of completing his medical

studies. On his return to Glasgow in 1825, he

became assistant to his father, having, the same

year, obtained his diploma fi'om the faculty of

physicians and surgeons of Glasgow, when he

gave in, as his inaugural thesis, ' An Essay on

the Anatomy of Drunkenness.' Two years after-

wards, that is, in 1827, this essay, extended and

improved, was published at Glasgow, when it

formed a thin octavo of 56 pages. It met with a

very flattering reception from the public, and

was still farther enlarged in subsequent editions.

Translations of it have appeared in the German

and French languages.

Dr. Macnish's earliest literary attempts were

contributed to the ' Inverness Journal,' when he

was in the north, and afterwards to the ' Literary

Melange,' and ' The Emmet,' two Glasgow perio-

dicals of humble pretensions. In 1822 he sent

two contributions to Constable's Edinburgh Mag-

azine, the one entitled ' MacVurich the Murder-

er,' and the other 'The Dream Confirmed,' both

founded on incidents which he had picked up in

the Highlands. In 1826 he forwarded his first

communication to ' Blackwood's Magazine,' being

a tale, entitled 'The Metempsychosis.' It ap-

peared with the signature of ' A Modern Pytha-

gorean,' the name atfi.^ed to all his after produc-

tions in that and other magazines. In 1827 he

became acquainted with Dr. Moir of Musselburgh,

afterwards his biographer.

In 1830, Dr. Macnish published at Glasgow a

treatise, entitled 'The Philosophy of Sleep,' which

was equally well received with his former work,

and also went through several editions. In 1834

appeared ' The Book of Aphorisms,' some of which

had originally been contributed to Eraser's Maga-

zine. The same year he visited the continent,

and in the following year he made a tour in Bel-

gium and Holland, France, Switzerland, and Ger-

many.

His last publication was a small treatise in

1835, entitled an 'Introduction to Phrenology,' to

which science he had become a convert. From

Hamilton college. United States, he, at this time,

received the degree of LL.D. He died of typhus

fever, January 16, 1837, in his 35th year. Ilis

Tales, Essays, and Sketches, were published at

Edinburgh, in two volumes, in 1838, under the

title of the ' Modern Pythagorean,' with a memoir

of the author, by his friend. Dr. Moir of Mussel-

burgh, the Delta of Blackwood's Magazine.

Maconochir, a surname derived from the Gaelic Macdo-

nochie, the son of Duncan. The Maconocliies of Meadow-

b;mk, Mid Lothian, the principal family of the name, are

descendants of the Campbells of Inverawe, Argyleshire, the

first of whom was Duncan Campbell, eldest son of Sir Neil

Campbell of Lochow, ancestor of the ducal house of Argyle,

by his '2d wife, a daughter of Sir .John Cameron of Lochiel.

The eldest son of that marriage, Duncan Campbell, obtained

a grant of Inverawe and Cruachan from David II. in 1330.

His eldest son w.as named Dougal, after his mother's family,

and Dougal's eldest son Duncan was called in the Highhmds

Mac Douill Vic Conochie. He named his son also Duncan,

wlio was thus Maconochie Vic Conochie, the son and grand-

S(m of Conochie, or Duncan. Maconochie, from that period, be-

came the patronymic appellation of each succeeding Camp-
bell of Inverawe, while the cadets of the family still bore the

name of Campbell.
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From the Campbells of Iiiverawe sprung the Caiupbells of

Shu-wan, Kihnartin, and Cruachan.

In 1660, Dougall Campbell, or, as he was called, the Ma-
conochie of Inveraugh, engaged in the rebellion of the mar-
quis of Argyle, in whose armament of the clan Campbell he
held the rank of major. He was tried with the marquis in

1661 and attainted. He was soon afterwards executed at

Carlisle.

After the Revolution of 1688, Dougall's son, James Ma-
conochie, who, at his father's death, was little more than nine

years old, applied to government for the restoration of the

Argyleshire property, which had got into the possession of

an uncle, but was unsuccessfuh From King William III.,

however, he obtained a grant in compensation, which he

invested in tlie purchase of the lands of Kirknewton, in

the muir now called Meadowbank, Mid Lothian, which

his descendatit still possesses, and, adopting Lowland cus-

toms, all the family took the name of Maconochie. His only

son, Alexander Maconochie, was a writer in Edinburgh. The

son of the latter, Allan Maconochie, a celebrated lawyer, born

January 26, 1748, died June 14, 1816, %vas a lord of session

and justiciary, under the title of Lord Meadowbank, being

appointed to the former in 1796, and to the latter in 1804.

While attending the university of Edinburgh, he was one of

the Sve students who originated the Speculative Society, and

was afterwards for some time Professor of the Laws of Na-

ture and Nations in that university. He was the author of

a pamphlet entitled ' Considerations on the Introduction of

Trial by Jury in Scotland,' and in 1815, when the Scottish

juiy court was instituted, he was appointed one of the lords

commissioners. He is said to have been the inventor of moss

manure, now extensively employed in various counties of

Scotland, and printed for private distribution a tract on the

subject. He mamed Elizabeth, third daughter of Robert

Wellwood, Esq., of Garvock, by whom he had issue.

His eldest son, Alexander Maconochie, passed advocate in

1799, and after being sheriff- depute of the county of Had-

dington 1810, solicitor-general 1813, and lord-advocate 1816,

was appointed a lord of session and justiciary in 1819, when

he also took the title of Lord Meadowbank. He resigned in

1841, and died Nov. 30, 1861. On the death of his cousin,

Robert Scott Welwood, he succeeded to the entailed estates

of Garvock and Pittiver, in the county of Fife, and assumed

the name of Welwood of Garvock (see Welwood). He mar-

ried Anne, eldest daughter of Lord-president Blair ; issue,

with 5 daughters, 4 .sons, viz.—1. Allan Alexander Macono-

chie, LL.D., born in 1806, passed advocate in 1829, and in

1842 appointed professor of civil law and the law of Scotland

in the university of Glasgow. 2. Robert Blair, writer to the

signet. 8. William Maximilian George. 4. Henry Dundas.

. MACPHERSON, the name of one of the two principal

branches of the clan Chattan, the badge of wliich was the

box evergreen. In the Celtic the Macphersons are called the

clan Vuirich or JIuirich, from an ancestor of that name, who,

in the Gaelic MS. of 1450, is said to have been the " son of

Swen, son of Heth, son of Nachtan, son of GiUicliattan, from

whom came the clan Chattan." The word Gillichattan

means a votary or servant of St. Kattan, a Scottish saint,

us Gillichrist means a servant of Christ; hence Gilchrist.

The descent of the lieads of the Macphersons from the an-

cient chiefs of the clan Chattan has been unbroken, and tra-

dition is uniformly in favour of their right to the chiefship of

the whole clan. The claim of the Macintoshes, the other

principal branch of the clan Chattan, to the chiefship has

been already disposed of (see vol. ii. p. 744 et seq.}. Their own

traditional story of their descent from Macduff, thane of Fife,

is extremely improbable, and if it were true, it would prove
that they were not a branch of the clan Chattan at all. On
their own showing, they obtained the chiefship by marriage,

and that from the head of the Macphersons, whom they ac-

knowledge to have been at one period chief of the clan Chat-
tan. The rule of clanship excludes females from the succes-

sion, and the heir male, not the heir of line, became chief of

the clan Chattan.

It was from Muirich or Murdoch, who succeeded to the

chiefship in 1153, that the Macphersons derive the name of

the clan Muirich or Vuirich. This Mmrich was pareon of

Kingussie, a religious establishment in the lower part of Bad-

enoch, and the sm'name, properly Macphersain, was given to

his descendants from his office. He was the great-grandson

of Gillichattan Mor, the founder of the clan, who Uved in the

reign of Malcolm Canmore, and having married, on a papal

dispensation, a daughter of the thane of Calder, he had fjve

sons. The eldest, Gilhchattan, the third of the name, and

chief of the clan in the reign of Alexander II., was father of

Dougal Dall, the cliief whose daughter Eva married Angus

Macintosh of Macintosh. On Dougal Ball's death, as he had

no sons, the representation of the family devolved on his cou-

sin and heir male, Kenneth, eldest son of Eoghen or Ewen
Baan, second son of Muirich. Neill Chrom, so called from

his stooping shoulders, Muirich's third son, was a great arti-

ficer in iron, and took the name of Smith from his trade.

Ferquhard Gillu-iach, or the swift, the fourth son, is said to

have been the progenitor of the MacGiUivrays, who followed

the Macintosh branch of the clan Chattan, and from David

Dubh, or the Swarthy, the youngest of Muirich's sons, were

descended the clan Dhai, or Davidsons of Invemahavon.

The portion of tlie clan Chattan who adhered to Kenneth

settled in Badenoch. Kenneth's son, Duncan Macpherson of

Cluny, lived in the reign of Robert the Bruce, and fought on

his side, at the head of his clan, at Bannockbum. He re-

ceived a commission to expel the Comyns from Badenoch,

and on their forfeiture he obtained, for his services, a grant

of their lands. He was also allowed to add a hand holding

a dagger to his armorial bearings. His grandson, Donald Mor
Macpherson, was chief in 1386, when a battle took place at

Invernahavon between the clan Chattan and the Camerons,

in which a great number of the former were killed, and the

latter were nearly cut off to a man. The laird of Macintosh

having carried away the cattle of the Camerons, at different

times, on account of the nonpayment of their rents, for the

lands held of him in Loeliaber, they marched into Badenoch

to the number of 400, resolved upon reprisals. To oppose

them Macintosh collected his followers, and called tlie Mac-

phersons and Davidsons to his aid. A dispute about prece-

dency greatly weakened his force, and gave the Camerons

the advantage. Tlie command of the right wing was claim-

ed both by Cluny and Davidson of Invernahavon, the leader

of the Davidsons, the former as chief of the clan Chattan,

and the latter as the head of the eldest branch. Macintosh

decided against Cluny, on which the Macphersons withdrew

from the field. In the conflict that ensued, many of the

Macintoshes and nearly all the Davidsons were slain. The

Macphersons, seeing this, forgot their wounded pride, and

next day attacking the Camerons, defeated them with

great loss, their leader being among the killed. It is the

opinion of some writers, and among the rest of Shaw, the

historian of Moray, that this quarrel about precedency was

the origin of the celebrated judicial combat on the North

Inch of Perth in 1396, which has already been described un-

der the head Macintosh, and that the parties were the
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Macphersons, properly the clan Chattan, and the Davidsons,

called in tlie Gaelic Claim Dhaibhidh, or Dhai' (the last syl-

lable being silent), pronounced Clan Chai. These rival

tribes, we are told, for a long period bore a deadly enmity at

one another, which was difficult to be restrained ; but after

the award by Macintosh, at the battle with the Cainerons,

against the Macphersons, open strife broke out between

them, and for ten years the Macphersons and the Davidsons

carried on a war of extermination, which was only put an

end to by the victory of the Macpliersons at Perth.

The Macphersons were staunch adherents of Queen Mary

in her troubles. By the intrigues of the earl of Huntly, lord

of Badenocli, (the crown having bestowed that district on his

predecessor in 1452,) a final separation took place between

the two principal branches of the clan Cliattan about 1593.

At their head he had maintained a fierce warfare with the

western clans and his neighbours of Lochaber, but it was

now his policy to divide their force and turn the one against

the other. Tliis he did by courting the Macphersons, who

readily entered into his views, and by his encouragement and

influence they declared themselves independent, and asserted

their right to the chiefship, which the Macintoshes, as the

more numerous party, had claimed for centuries. In the fol-

lowing year the Macphersons joined that nobleman, when the

youthful earl of Argyle, at the head of the royal army,

marched against him and the other two Catholic earls. En-

tering Badenoch, Argyle laid siege to the castle of liuthven,

which was so gallantly defended by the Macphersons that he

was obliged to abandon the siege. .John, chief of the Mac-

phersons, fought under Huntly's banner at the battle of

Gleiilivet which followed.

In 1609 the chief of the Macphersons signed a bond, along

with all the other branches of that extensive tribe, acknow-

ledging Macintosh as captain of the clan Chattan; and in all

the contentions and feuds in which the Macintoshes were

subsequently involved with the Camerons and other Lochaber

elans, they were obliged to accept of Macpherson's aid as

allies rather than vassals.

Donald Jlacphei-son of Cluny, who succeeded as chief in

1640, was a steady friend of King Charles I., and suffered

much on account of his sincere attachment to the king's

cause. His brother and successor, Andrew, was also a

.staunch royalist. In 1665, under this chief, when Macin-

tosh went on an expedition against the Camerons, for the

recoveiy of the lands of Glenluy and Locharkaig, he solicited

the assistance of the JIacphersons, when, to guard against

anything which might seem to sanction the pretensions of

Macintosh to be considered cliief of the clan Chattan, a nota-

rial deed was executed, wherein Macintosh declares that it

was of their mere good will and pleasure that they did so,

and on his part it is added, " I bind and oblige myself and

friends and followers, to assist and fortify and join, with the

said Andrew, Lachlan, and .John Macpherson, all their lawful

and necessary adoes, being thereunto required." In 1672, Dun-

can Macpherson of Cluny, Andrew's grandson, made applica-

tion to the Lyon office to have his arms matriculated as laird

of Cluny Macpherson, and "the only and true representative

of the ancient and honourable family of the clan Chattan."

This application was successful, but as soon as Macintosh

heard of it, he raised a process before the privy council to

have it determined as to which of them had the right to the

proper armorial bearings. After a protracted inquiry, and

tlie production of evidence on both sides, the council issued

an order for the two chiefs to give security for the peaceable

behaviour of their respective clans, thus deciding that they

were each independent. " This process," says Logan, " ex-

cited great interest in the north, and Cluny received the

hearty congratulations of many friends on his return from

Edinburgh
;
Keith, earl Marischal, and others entertaining

him by the way, and freely accepting him as their chief."

The same year, Cluny entered into a contract of friendship

with jEneas, Lord Macdonell, and Aros, " for himself and

takeing burden upon him for the liaill name of Macphersons,

and some others, called old Clanchatten, as cheeffe and

principall man thereof." Although Macpherson received a new

matriculation of his arms as those of Macpherson of Cluny,

there is nothing in this, or in the designation given to the

laird of Macintosh, to militate against his right to the chief-

ship of the clan Chattan, so long in dispute between them.

On the death, without issue, of Duncan, Andrew's grand-

son, in 1721 or 1722, the chiefship devolved on Lachlan Mac-

pherson of Nuid, the next male heir, being lineally descended

from John, youngest brother of Donald and Andrew, the

above-named chiefs. One of the descendants of this John of

Nuid was James Macpherson, the translator of Ossian's Po-

ems, a memoir of whom is afterwards given in larger type.

Lachlan married Jean, daughter of Sir Ewen Cameron of

Lochiel. His eldest .son, Ewen, was the chief at the time of

the rebellion of 1745.

In the previous rebellion of 1715, the Macphersons, under

their then chief, Duncan, had taken a very active part, on

the side of the Pretender. On the arrival of Prince Charles

in 1745, Ewen Macpherson of Cluny, who, the same year, had

been appointed to a company in Lord Loudon's Highlanders,

and had taken the oaths to government, threw up his com-

mission, and, with 600 Macphersons, joined the rebel army

after their victory at Prestonpans. The Jlacphersons were

led to take an active part in the rebellion chiefly from a desire

to revenge the fate of three of their clansmen, who were shot

on account of the extraordinary mutiny of the Black Watch,

now the 42d regiment, two years before. That corps, com-

posed principally of Highlanders, had been marched to the

neighbourhood of London, preparatoiy to being sent abroad.

As it had been formed of independent companies whose du-

ties were intended to be confined solely to the Highlands, the

determination to send them on foreign service, was deemed

by them an infringement of their compact with government,

and they resolved upon at once returning to Scotland. Ac-

cordingly, after a review on Finchley Common on 14th May

1743, they decamped from their quarters, and had reached

the vicinity of Northampton on their way home, when they

were discovered and obliged to surrender. The three who

were made yxamples of, and suffered for the rest, were Cor-

porals Malcolm, and Samuel Macpherson of Druminourd, bro-

ther of General Kenneth Macpherson of the East India

Company's service, who died in 1815, and Farquhar Shaw, a

private. These men were remarkable for their great size

and handsome figure. They were shot upon the parade,

within the Tower of London, in presence of the other prison-

ers, and met their death with great corn-age and composure.

Ewen Macphenson, the chief, at first hesitated to join the

prince, and his wife, a daughter of Lord Lovat, although a

staunch Jacobite, earnestly dissuaded him from breaking his

o.ath to government, assuring him that nothing could end

well that began with peijury. Her friends reproached her for

interfering, and his clan urging him, Cluny unfortunately

yielded. In the memorable retreat from Derby, the Mac-

phersons behaved with great gallantry, distinguishing them-

selves particularly in the moonlight skinnish with the govern-

ment troops at Clifton. Lord George Murray, who com-

manded the Highlanders on that occasion, placed himself at

the head of the Macphersons, with Cluny at his side. At
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the commencement of the action, the Glengary men, who
were on the right, kept firing as they advanced, but tlie

Macphersons, on the left, came sooner in contact with the

dragoons, and received the whole of their fire. Wlien the

balls were whizzing about them, Cluny exclaimed, "What
the devil is this?" Lord George told him that they had no

remedy but to attack the dragoons, sword in hand, before

they had time to charge again. Then, drawing his sword, he

cried out, " Claymore," and Cluny doing the same, the Mac-

phersons rushed down to the bottom ditch of the enclosure,

and clearing the hedges as they went, fell sword in hand upon

the king's troops, killing many and putting the rest to flight.

At the l)attle of Falkirk, the iVIacphersons formed a portion

of the first line. They were too late for the battle of CuUo-

den, where their assistance miglit have turned tlie fortune of

the day, and they did not come up till after the retreat of

Charles from that decisive field. In the subsequent devasta-

tions committed by the English army, Cluny's house was

plundered and burnt to the ground. Every exertion was made

by the government troops for his apprehension, but they

never could lay their hands upon him. At first he lived with

Lochiel in a retreat at Benalder, a hill on his own property

on the borders of Kaimoch. Towards the end of Prince

Charles' wanderings, for the purpose of meeting the prince,

he set out for Auchnacary, where he supposed him to be, but

missing him there, he retraced his steps, and found him in a

miserable hovel with Lochiel, at a place called IVIellenauir or

IVIillanuir, on the side of Benalder. On entering the hut,

Cluny would have kneeled before the prince, but the latter

prevented him, and, giving him a kiss, said, " I am sorry,

Cluny, you and your regiment were not at CuUoden : I did

not hear till very lately that you were so near us that day."

The day following Cluny conducted the prince and his at-

tendants to a little shieling about two miles farther into Ben-

alder, and after passing two nights there he took him to a

more secure retreat called the Cage, which he had fitted up

for him, and where he lay concealed for several weeks till the

arrival of the French frigate which conveyed him back to

France.

For himself Cluny had several places of concealment on his

estate. He lived for nine years in a cave at a short distance

from where his house had stood. " This cave," says General

Stewart, {Sketches of the Hir/klanders, vol. i. pp. 60, 61,)

" was in the front of a woody precipice, the trees and shelv-

ing rocks completely concealing the entrance. It was dug

out by his own people, who worked by night, and conveyed

the stones and rnbbish into a lake in the neighbourhood, tliat

no vestige of their labour might betray the retreat of their

master. In this sanctuary he lived secure, occasionally visit-

ing his friends by niglit, or when time slackened the rigour of

the search. Upwai-ds of a hundred persons knew where he

was concealed, and a reward of XI,000 was offered to any

one who should give information against him ; and as it was

known that he was concealed on his own estate, eighty men

were constantly stationed there, besides the parties continu-

ally marching into the country, to intimidate his tenantry,

and induce them to disclose the place of his concealment."

But neither the fear of danger nor the hope of reward could

prevail on any of his people to betray him, or even to discon-

tinue their faitliful services.

For the purpose of discovering his retreat. Sir Hector

Monro, at that time a lieutenant in the 34th regiment, at the

head of a large party, continued two years in Badenoch, yet

so trae were the clan to their chief that not a trace of him

could be found. On one occasion, while spending a few hours

at night convivially with his friends, he escaped by a back

window of the house they were in, just as the soldiery were

breaking open the door. He became so cautious that, on

parting with his wife, or any of his friends, he never told

them to which of his places of concealment he was going, or

suffered any one to accompany him, that they might have it

in their power to answer, when questioned, that they knew
not where lie was. He escaped to France in 1755, and died

at Dunkirk the following year.

Frequent mention is made in the Stuart papers of a sum of

money, amounting to £27,000, which the prince had intrust-

ed to another person, by whom it was lodged in the hands of

Cluny. Before quitting Scotland the prince gave Cluny in-

structions that "not one fartliing" was to be assigned away
without an order from himself. Another note to him, dated

from on board the Fi-ench vessel in which he embarked for

France, directs £750 to be divided among the iWacgi-egnrs,

the Stewarts, the Macdonalds of Glengary and Keppoch, and

the " Lokel clan," as the Camerons of Lochiel are called. He
likewise directs especial care to be taken of "rings, sels,

(seals,) and other trifels" belonging to him, and all lying in

certain " boxks," that is, boxes. The last letter that seems

to have been written to him by the prince on the subject,

dated "Ye 4th September, 1754," and addressed " For C.

M. (that is, Cluny Macpherson) in Scotld," is as follows

:

" Sir, This is to desire you to come as soon as you can con-

veniently to Paris, bringing over with you all the effects

whatsoever that I left in your hand when I was in Scotland,

as also whatever money you can come at, lor I happen to be

at present in great straits, which midces me wisli that you

should delay as little as possible to meet me for that effect.

You are to address yourself when arrived at Paris, to Mr.

John Waters, Banker, &e. He will direct you where to

find your sincere friend. C. P." This letter is copied from

the original draught in Charles' own hand, among the Stuart

papers, in possession of her majesty. In the perilous cir-

cumstances in which Cluny was then placed, it is not known

whether he was able to comply with all the directions he re-

ceived regarding the application of the money, but it is be-

lieved that when he escaped to France he was enabled to give

the prince a good account of the same.

Ewen's son, Duncan, was born in 1750, in a kiln for diwing

corn, in which his mother had taken refuge after tlie destruc-

tion of their house. During his minority his uncle, Major

John Macpherson of the v8th foot, acted as his guardian.

He received back the estate which had been forfeited, and,

entering the army, became lieutenant-colonel of the 3d foot-

guards. He married, 12th June, 1798, Catherine, youngest

daughter of Sir Evan Cameron of Fassfern, baronet, and on

his death, 1st August 1817, was succeeded by his eldest son,

Ewen Macpherson of Cluny, the 23d chief from Gillichattan

Mor; a captain on halfpay, 42d Highlanders, a magistrate

and a deputy-lieutenant of Inverness-shire ; married 20th

December 1832, the youngest daughter of Henry Davidson of

TuUoch Castle, Ross-shire, with issue.

In Cluny castle are preserved various relics of the rebellion

of 1745 ;
amongst the rest the prince's target and lace wrist

ruffles, and an autograph letter from Charles, promising an

ample reward to his devoted friend Cluny. There is also the

black pipe chanter on which the prosperity of the house ot

Cluny is said to be dependent, and which all true members of

the dan Vuirich firmly believe fell from heaven, in place of

the one lost at the conflict on the North Inch of Perth

!

The war-cry of the ]\Iacphersons was " Craig Dhu," the

name of a rock in the neighbourhood of Cluny Castle. The
cliief is called in the Highlands " Mac Mhurich Chlanaidh,"

but everywhere else is better known as Cluny Macpherson.
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Among the principal cadets of the bouse of Cluny were

tlie Macplicrsons of Pitniean, Inveresliie, Stratlimassie,

Breakacliie, Essie, &c. Tlie Inveresliie branch were chiefs of

a large tribe called the Siol Gillies, the founder of which was

Gillies or Elias Macpherson, the first of Invcreshie, a younger

son of Ewen liaan or Bane (so called fi'om his fair complex-

ion) above mentioned. Sir Eneas Macpherson of Inveresliie,

advocate, who lived in the reigns of Charles II. and James III.,

collected the materials for the histoiy of the clan Macpherson,

the MS. of which is still preserved in the family. He was

appointed sherilF of Aberdeen in \iiSi.

George Macpherson of Inveresliie married Grace, daugliter

of Colonel William Grant of Ballind.alloch, and his elder son,

William, dying, unmarried, in 1812, was succeeded by his

nephew, George, who, on the death of his maternal grand-

uncle, General James Grant of Ballindalloch, 13th April 1806,

inherited that estate, and in consequence assumed the name

of Grant in addition to his own. He was M.P. for the county

of Suthei land for seventeen years, and was created a baronet

2oth July 1838. He thus became Sir George Macpherson

Grant of Inveresliie, Inverness-shire, and Ballindalloch, El-

ginshire. On his death in November 1846, his son, Sir John,

sometime secretary of legation at Lisbon, succeeded as 2d baro-

net. Sir John died Dec. 2, 1850. H is ekiest son. Sir George Mac-

pherson-Grant of Invereshie and Ballindalloch, born Aug. 12,

1839, became the 3d baronet of this family. He married, July

3, 1861, Frances Elizabeth, younger daughter of the Rev.

Roger Pocklington, Vicar of Walesby, Nottinghamshire.

John Macpherson, of Calcutta, younger son of the Rev.

John Macpherson, D.D., a clergyman of the church of Scot-

land, was appointed a member of the supreme council of Ben-

gal in 1780, and governor-general of India, on the return of

Warren Hastings to England in 1784. He was created a

baronet Jan. 27, 1786, but the title became extinct ou his

death, uumarried, Jan. 12, 1821.

The celebrated outlaw, James Macpherson, executed at

Banif Nov. 16, 1700, was an illegitimate sou of one of the

family of Inveresliie, by a gipsy woman. He was one of

the best violin players of his time, and author of a Lament

which passes under his name. He performed at the foot of

the gallows, on his fevourite instrument, the Rant and Pibroch

of his own composition.

•MACniERSON, James, celebrated for his

translations of Gaelic poetry, was born in the

parish of Kingussie, Inverness-shire, in 1738.

He received the rudiments of his education at the

grammar school of Inverness, and with the view

of studying for the church, was sent in 1752 to

King's college, Aberdeen, and afterwards to the

universit}' of Edinburgh. Ou leaving college he

was for some time schoolmaster of his native vil-

lage, and subsequently was employed as private

tutor in Mr. Graham of Balgowan's family. In

1758 he printed at Edinburgh a poem in six can-

tos, entitled ' The Highlander,' which shows little

indication of poetical talent. About the same pe-

riod, he wrote an ode on the arrival of the Earl

Marisch-al in Scotland, which he called ' An At-

tempt in the Manner of Pindar,' with several

other poetical pieces, some of which were inserted

in the ' Scots Magazine.'

He seems early to have directed his attention

to the subject of Gaelic poetrj^ and the following

are the circumstances under which his celebrated

collection, called the Poems of Ossian—which led

to a lengthened literary controversy as to their

genuineness—originated. In the summer of 1759,

John Home, the author of Douglas, met Mr.

Macpherson at Moffat, when he learned from him

that he was possessed of some pieces of ancient

Gaelic poetry, and he expressed a wish to see an

English translation of them as a specimen. Ac-

cordingly Mr. Macpherson furnished him with two

fragments, which he showed to Dr. Hugh Blair

and other literary friends, who all greatly admired

them. Dr. Blair in particular was so much struck

with them, that he requested an interview with

Macpherson. From him he learned that poems in

the same strain as those in his possession were to

be found in the Highlands, on which Dr. Blair

urged him to translate all the pieces which he had,

that they might be published. Dr. Blair informs

us that Macpherson was extremely reluctant to

comply with his request, saying that no transla-

tion of his could do justice to the spirit and force
|

of the original, and that they were so different

from the style of modern poetry that he was

afi-aid they would not take with the taste of the

public. Macpherson, however, was at length

prevailed upon to translate and bring to Dr. Blair

the several poetical pieces which he had then in

his possession. These were published in a small

volume at Edinburgh in the year 17G0, under the

title of ' Fragments of Ancient Poetry collected in

the Highlands of Scotland, and translated from

the Gaelic or Erse language ;' to which Dr. Blair

prefixed an introduction. "These ' Fragments,'"

says Dr. Blair in a Letter to Henry Mackenzie,

the author of 'The Man of Feeling,' "drew much

attention, and excited, among all persons of taste

and letters, an earnest desire to recover, if possi-

ble, all those considerable remains of Gaelic poetry

which were said still to exist in the Highlands."

To encourage Macpherson to undertake the col-

lection of the ancient poetry of the Highlands,

many of the first persons of rank and taste in Ed-

inburgh met together at a dinner, to which ]\Iac-
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pherson was invited, and Dr. Blair, from wliom

this account is talcen, says tliat he had a chief

hand in convoking the meeting. Among those

present were Patrick, Lord Elibank, Principal

Robertson, the historian, Mr. John Home, Dr.

Adam Ferguson, Dr. Blair himself, and many

others. After much conversation with Macpher-

son, it was agreed that he should, without delay,

go through the Highlands for the purpose of col-

lecting all the Gaelic poetry he could find, the ex-

pense to be defrayed by a subscription raised

from the meeting, with the aid of such other

friends as they might apply to with that object.

The same year (1760) Macpherson set off to

the Highlands
;
and, during his tour, he from time

to time transmitted to Dr. Blair and his other

literary friends, accounts of his progi'ess in col-

lecting, from many different and remote parts, all

the remains he could find of ancient Gaelic poetry,

either in writing or "preserved by oral tradition.

In the course of his journey he wrote two letters

to the Rev. James M'Lagan, at one period mini-"

ster of Amalrie, and afterwards of Blair in Athol,

in tlie first of which, dated from Ruthven (in

Badenoch), 27th October, 1760, he saj's, "I have

met with a number of old manuscripts in mj' tra-

vels ; the poetical part of them I have endeavour-

ed to secure." The second, dated from Edin-

burgh, 16th Janiiarj', 1761, contains this passage:

" I have been lucky enough to lay my hands on a

pretty complete poem, and truly epic, concerning

Fingal." This is the first intimation of that re-

markable work which was soon to create a most

extraordinary sensation in the literary world.

The districts through which Macpherson travel-

led, in the prosecution of his undertaking, were

chiefly the north-western parts of Inverness-shire,

the Isle of Skye, and some of the adjoining islands

;

"places," says the Report of the Committee of

the Highland Society, afterwards published, "from

their remoteness and state of manners at that pe-

riod, most likely to alford, in a pure and genuine

state, the ancient traditionary tales and poems, of

which the recital then formed the favourite amuse-

ment of the long and idle winter evenings of the

Highlanders."

On his return to Edinburgh, Macpherson im-

mediately set about translating the Gaelic poems

which he had collected into English. Soon after,

he published the fruits of his mission, in 2 vols.

4to, the first in 1762, under the patronage of Lord

Bute, containing ' Fingal, an ancient Epic Poem

in six books, with other lesser Poems ;' and the

second in 1763, with the title of ' Temora, an Epic

Poem, in eight books, with other poems.' Both

professed to have been composed by Ossian, the

son of Fingal, a Gaelic prince of the fourth cen-

tur}', and translated from the Gaelic language.

From the first the genuineness of these poems

became a matter of dispute, and for some years

a violent controversy raged upon the subject.

Among those who believed in their authenticity

were Dr. Blair, Dr. Gregory, Lord Karnes, the

Rev. Dr. Graham of Aberfoyle, and Sir John Sin-

clair, baronet; and amongst the most distinguish-

ed of those who denied their genuineness were

Mr. Hume the historian. Dr. Samuel Johnson,

Dr. Smith of Campbelltown, and Mr. Laing, au-

thor of 'Notes and Illustrations' introduced into

an edition of Ossian's Poems, published in Edin-

burgh in 1805. The latter were replied to by

Mr. Alexander Macdonald in a work entitled

' Some of Ossian's lesser Poems rendered into

verse, with a preliminary discourse in answer to

Ml-. Laing's Critical and Historical Dissertations

on the antiquity of Ossian's Poems,' Liverpool,

1805, 8vo. They were also condemned as spuri-

ous in a work entitled ' An Inquiry into the Au-

thenticity of the Poems of Ossian.' By W. Shaw,

A.M. London, 1781. So strong was Dr. John-

son's prejudice against them, that in his ' Journey

to the Western Islands,' he declared that " the

poems of Ossian never existed in any other form

than that which we have seen," meaning in Mac-

pherson's translation, and " that the editor or au-

thor never could show the original, nor can it be

shown by any other." Sii" James Macintosh, too,

in his ' History of England,' expresses himself

very strongly against their authenticity. At the

close of a long and eloquent passage concei-ning

them he says :
" Since the keen and searching

publication of Mr. Laing, these poems have fallen

in reputation, as they lost the character of genu-

ineness. They had been admired bj' all the na-

tions, and by all the men of genius in Europe.

The last incident in their story is perhaps the
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most remarkable. In an Italian version, which

softened their defects, and rendered their charac-

teristic qualities faint, tliej' formed almost the

whole poetical library of Napoleon, a man who,

whatever may be finally thought of him in other

respects, must be owned to be, by the transcen-

dent vigour of his powers, entitled to a place in

the first class of human minds. No other impos-

ture in literar}' history approaches them in the

spknulour of their com'se.
"

To one of the books or divisions of Temora,

jMacpherson annexed the original Gaelic, but

though often called upon to publish the originals

of the remainder of the poems stated to be by Os-

sian and genuine relics of antiquit}-, as the only

means of setting .all the ca\i\ or controversy at

rest, this was the only specimen of them ever

printed by himself. At liis death, liowever, he

left to John iMackenzie of Figtree court, Loudon,

£1,000, to defray the expense of the publication of

the originals of the whole of his translations, with

directions to his executors for carrying that jnir-

posc into elTect. Various causes contributed to

delay their a]tpearaucc till 1807, when they were

]>u!)lished under the sanction of the Highland So-

ciety of London.

The investigations that were set on foot by Sir

John Sinclair and others sufliciently establi:-h the

fact that, long before the name of INIacphersou was

known to the literary world, a collection of poems

in Gaelic did exist which passed as the poems of

Ossian, and the publication of the Gaelic manu-

scripts at length settled the question of their au-

thenticity in the minds of all unprejudiced persons.

At the same time, it must be confessed that, in

the present advanced state of literature, tlie ' Po-

ems of Ossian' ai'c no longer looked upon as the

wonderful productions which they were esteemed

to be when they first appeared, and that their po-

pularity has long been on the wane.

That Macpherson, with the poetical fragments

which he translated, took the libertj- of adding to,

transposing, or completing where he deemed it

iiecessaiy, there can be no reason to doubt. On

this point the Committee of the Highland Society

reported that they were inclined to believe that he

" was in use to supph- chasms, and to give con-

nexion, by inserting passages which lie did not

nr.

find, and to add what lie conceived to be dignity

and delicacy to the original composition, by strik-

ing out passages, by softening incidents, by refin-

ing the language, in short, by changing what he

considered as too simple or too rude for a modern

ear, and elevating what in his opinion was below

the standard of good poetry. To ^\hat degree,

however, he exercised these liberties it is impos-

sible for the committee to determine." And this

is all that can now be said on the subject. The

following is his portrait:

In 17G-1: r>Iaciiherson obtained the situation of

private secretary to Captain Johnstone, on the

appointment of the latter as governor of Pensa-

cola, in which capacity he went out to America,

but a difi'creuce ari.'-iug between him and the gov-

ernor, he relinquished his post, and after visiting

the West India islands he returned to England in

17GG, with a pension of £200 a-year for life.

Taking up his residence in London, he resumed his

literary labours, and in 1771 published a disqui-

sition on the antiquities of the Scottish Gael or

Celtic race, in one volume 4to, under the title of

' An Introduction to the History of Great Britain

and Ireland,' which was very bitterl}' attacked on

its appearance, and brought neither profit nor

reputation to the author.
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Ill 1773, he issued a prose translation in two

volumes, of the ' Iliad of Homer,' which was re-

ceived with ridicule and abuse, and universally

considered a failure. The same year he wrote a

threatening letter to Dr. Johnson, in consequence

of his remarks on Ossian in his celebrated ' Tour

to the Hebrides.' The latter returned a most

sarcastic reply, wherein he told him, with the

most cutting contempt, that his " abilities since

his Homer, were not so formidable." In 1775,

jMacpherson published ' A History of Great Brit-

ain, from the Restoration to the Accession of the

House of Hanover,' in 2 vols. 4to ;
and, along

with it, the data on which his statements V('ere

founded, in two additional volumes of ' Original

Papers,' for which last work he is said to have

received tlie sum of £3,000.

About this time he was employed by the go-

vernment to w vite two pamphlets in vindication

and support of the measures whicli led to the

American war, and to the ultimate independence

of the colonies of North America, now the United

States. He was also appointed agent to the nabob

of Arcot, in behalf of whom he also published

two works. As it was thought requisite that he

should have a seat in parliament, in order the more

effectually to attend to the nabob's interests, in

1780 he was elected member for Camelford, for

which place he was rechosen in 178-4, and again in

1790. -Declining health induced him to retire to

an elegant mansion, named Belleville, which he

had built in the parish of Alvie, Inverness-shire,

where he died February 17, 179G.

Mr. Macpherson died wealthy. By his will,

besides the £1,000 for the publication of the ori-

ginals of Ossian, and the bequest of several large

legacies to his friends, he left £300 for a monu-

ment to be erected to his memory at Belleville.

He also directed that his body should be conveyed

to Westminster abbej', and it was accordingly in-

terred at Poet's corner.

His works are

:

The Higlilander; an Heroic Poem, in 6 cantos. 17o8, 12mo.

Fragments of Ancient Poetry: collected in tlie Highlands

of Scotland, and translated from tlie Gaelic or Erse Language.

1760. 8vo.

Fingal ; an ancient Epic Poem, in si.x books; together

with several otlier Poems composed by Ossian, the son of

FinKal. Translated from the Gaelic Language. London,

17G2, 4to.

Temora ; an ancient Epic Poem, in eiglit books
;
together

with several other Poems composed by Ossian, son of Fingal.

Translated from the Gaelic Language. London, 1763, 4to.

Introduction to the History of Great Britain and Ireland.

London, 1771, 4to. 2d edition revised and greatly enlarged.

London, 1773, 4to.

The Iliad of Homer. Translated into Prose. 1773, 2

vols. 4to. 2d edit. London, 1773, 4to.

The History of Great Britain from the Restoration to the

Ascension of the House of Hanover. London, 1775, 2 vols.

4to. Dublin, 4 vols. Svo.

Original Papers; containing tlie Secret History of Great

Britain, from the Restoration to the Accession of the House

of Hanover. To which are prefixed, Extracts from the Life

of James II., as written by himself. Lond., 1775, 2 vols. 4to.

The Rights of Great Britain asserted against tlie Claims of

the Colonies; being an Answer to the Declaration of the

General Congress. 1776, Svo.

A Short History of the Opposition during the last Session

of Parliament. 1779, 8vo.

Letters from Mohammed Ali Chan, Nabob of Arcot, to

tlie Court of Directors. To which is annexed, a State of

Facts relative to Tanjore; with an Appendix of Original

Papers. 1777, 4to.

The History .and Management of tlie East India Company,

from its origin in 1600 to the Present Time : vol. i. contain-

ing the Afiairs of the Carn.atic ; in wliich the Rights of the

Nabob are explained, and tlie Injustice of the Company

proved. 1779, 4to.

Ode on the Arriv.al of tlie Earl Marischal in Scotland.

Published in the European Magazine for 1796.

MACPHERSON, David, an industrious histo-

rical writer and compiler, was born in Scotland in

1747, and died August 1, 1816. Diu-ing the latter

part of his life he was one of the deputy keepers

of the public records. All his works display labo-

rious research, and contain much valuable informa-

tion. They are

:

De Orygynale Cronykil of Scotland, be Andrew Wyntown,

Priour of Sanct Sersis, yucho in Loch Levyn. Now first

published, with Notes and a Glossary. Lond. 1795, 2 vols.

4to. The same. Lond. 1795, Svo.

Geographical Illustrations of Scottish History; containing

tlie Names of Places mentioned in Chronicles, Histories, Re-

cords, &c. ; witli Corrections of the corrupted Names, and

Explanations of the difficult and disputed points in the His-

torical Geography of Scotland. With a Compendious Chro-

nology of the Battles, to 1603. Lond. 1796, 4to.

Annals of Commerce, Manufactures, Fislieries, and Navi-

gation ; with brief Notices of the Arts .and Sciences connected

with them; cont.aining the Commercial Transactions of the

British and other countries, from the earliest accounts to the

meeting of the Union Parliament in IKOL Comprehending

the valuable part of the late Mr. Anderson's History of Com-

merce, &c. Lond. 1S05, 4 vols. 4to.

The History of European Commerce with India. To which

is subjoined, a Review of the Arguments for and against the

Trade with India, and the management of it by a Chartered

Company ; with an Appendix of authentic accounts. Lond.

1S12, 4to.

^Lvc^^IK, or JiACKir, a contraction of MacdufEe, the
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name uf a clan (in tlie Gaelic the Clann Dlnibhie, or tlie dark

coloured tribe,) wliicli lield tlie island of Colonsay in Argvle-

sliire, till the middle of the 17th century, when they were

dispossessed of it by the Macdonalds. They were a branch

of tlie ancient Alliionic race of Scotland, and like all the

tribes that claimed to be so, adopted the pine for their badge.

On the south side of the church of the monastery of St.

Augustine in Colonsay, according to Martin (writing in 1703),

" lie the tombs of Macdnfne, and of the cadets of liis family;

there is a ship under sail, and a two-handed sword engraven on

the principal tombt^tone, and this in.scription :
' Hie jacet Mal-

columbus llacduffie de Collonsay ;' his coat of arms and colour-

staff is fixed in a stone, through which a hole is made to hold

it. About a quarter of ,i mile on the south side of the church

there is a cairn, in which there is a stone cross fi.\ed, called

Macduflie's cross; for when any of the heads of this family

were to be interred, their corpses were laid on this cross I'or

some moments, in their way toward the church."

Donald JIacduffie is witness to a charter by John, earl of

Ro.ss, and lord of the Isles, dated at the earl's castle of Ding-

wall, 12th April 14CS {Rerjislei- of the Great Sml, lib. vi. No.

17.) After tlie forfeiture of the lordship of the Isles in 1-193,

the clan Duffie followed the Macdonalds of Isla. The name

of the Macduflie chief in 1531 was i\Iurroch. In 1G09 Donald

Macfie in Colonsay was one of the twelve chiefs and gentle-

men who met the bi.shop of the Isles, the king's representa-

tive, at lona, when, with their consent, the nine celebrated

"Statutes of IcohnkiU" were enacted. In 1GI5, Malcolm

Macfie of Colonsay joined Sir James Macdonald of Isla, after

his escape from the castle of Edinburgh, and was one of the

principal leaders in his subsequent rebellion. He and IS

others were delivered up by Coll Macgillespick JIacdonald,

the celebrated Colkitto (left-handed) to the earl of Argyle,

bv whom he was brought before the privy council. He ap-

pears afterwards to have been slain by Colkitto, as by the

Council Records for 1(120 we learn that the latter was accused,

with several of his followers, of being " art and pairt guilty of

the felonie and crueli slaughter of uiiKjuliill .Malcolm Macphie

of Collonsay."

A brunch of the clan DufKe, after they had lost their in-

herit.ance, followed Cameron of Locliiel, and settled in Locli-

abor. At the battle of Culloden several of them were slain.

Collonsay was acquired by the Argyle family after they

had e.xpellcd the Macdonalds, and in 1700 it came into the

possession of the .Macneills, by whom it is now held.

Several gentlemen of the name of MacHeliave distinguished

themselves as merohants, particularly in Greenock and Liver-

pool. William .Macfie, Ksq., of Langliouse. who died in Nov.

1854, was for sometime I'rovost of Greenock.

JlACQUAiiUir; {Clttnii Guarie'), the name of a minor clan

which possessed tiie small island of Uiva, one of the Argyle-

shire Hebrides, with a portion of Mull, and the badge of which

was the pine. The Gaelic -MS. of HoO deduces their descent

from Gnarie or Godfrey, called by the Highland Scnnachies,

Gor or Gorbred, said to have been " a brother of Fingon, an-

cestor of the JIackinnons, and Annas or Andrew, ancestor of

the Macgregors." This is the belief of Mi-. Skene, who adds,

" The history of the ilacqnarries resembles that of the Mac-

kinnons in many respects; like them they had migrated far

from the head-quarters of their race
;
they became dependent

on the lords of the Isles, and followed them as if they had

become a branch of the clan."

According to a history of the family, by one of its mem-
bers, in 1210 Cormac Jllior, then "chief of Ulva's isle,"

ioined Alexander II., with his followers and three galleys of

si.\tcen oars each, in his expedition against the western

islands, and after that monarch's death in the island of Ker-

rera, was attacked by Haco of Norway, defeated and slain

His two sons, Allan and Gregor, were compelled to take re-

fuge in Ireland, where the latter, surnamed Garbh or the

rough, is said to have founded the powerful tribe of the Mac-

Guires, the chief of which at one time possessed the title of

Lord Inniskillen. Allan returned to Scotland, and his de-

scendant. Hector Macquarrie of Ulva, chief in the time of

Robert the Bruce, fought with his clan at Bannockburn.

The first chief of whom there is any notice in the public

records was John Macquarrie of LTlva, who died in 1473.

{Jieff. of Great &'al, 31, No. 159.) His son, DimslalF, was

chief when the last lord of the Isles was forfeited twenty

years afterwards. After that event, the Macquarries, like

the other vassal tribes of the Macdonalds, became indepen-

dent. In war, however, they followed the banner of their

neighbour Maclean of Dowart. With tlie latter, Duuslaff

supported the claims of Donald Dubh to the lordship of the

Isles, in the beginning of the ICth century, and in 1504,

" MacGorry of Ullowaa" was snmmoned, with some other

chiefs, before the Estates of the kingdom, to answer for Ins

share in Donald Dubh's rebellion. The submi-ssion of JIaclean

of Dowart, in the following year, implied also that of Mac-

quairie, and in 1517, wlien the former chief obtained his own

remission, he stipulated for that of the chief of Ulva and two

other chiefs. Dunslaff married a daughter of Macneill of

Tavnish, the bride's tocher or dower consisting of a piebald

horse, with two men and two women.

His son, John Macquarrie of Ulva, was one of the barons

and council of the Isles who in 1545 supported the preten-

sions of Donald Dubh, on his second escape from his forty

years' imprisonment. He was also one of the thirteen chiefs,

who were denounced the same ye.ar for carrying on a traitor-

ous correspondence with the king of England, with the view

of transferring their allegi.ance to him. In 1G09 Gillespock

.Macquarrie of Ulva was one of the island chief's present in

the island of lona when the nine " Statutes of Icolmkill"

were passed. Allan Macquarrie of Ulva was slain, with most

of his followers, at the battle of Inverkeithing against the

English parliamentaiy troops, 20th July 1G51, when the

Scots army was defeated, and a free passage opened to Crom-

well to the whole north of Scotland.

According to tradition one of the chiefs of Ulva preserved

his life and estate by the exercise of a timely hospitality

under the following circumstances : Maclean of Dowart had

a natural son by a beautiful yonng woman of his own clan,

and the boy having been born in a bam was named, from his

birth-place, Allaii-a-Sop, or Allan of the straw. The girl

afterwards became the wife of Maclean of Torloisk, residing

in Mull, but though he loved the mother he cared nothing for

her bov, and when the latter came to see her, he was very

unkind to him. One morning the Lady saw from ber mndow
her son approaching and hastened to put a cake on the fire

for his breakfast. Her husband noticed this, and snatching

the cake hot from the girdle, thinst it into his stepson's

li.ands, forcibly clasping them on the burning bread. The

lad's hands were severely burnt, and in consequence he re-

frained from going again to Torloisk. As he grew up Allan

became a mariner, and joined the Danish pirates who infested

the western isles. From his courage he soon got the com-

m.aud of one galley, and subsequently of a £otilla, and made his

name both feared and famous. Of him it may be said that

—

"Sir Ralph the Rover sailed away,

He scoured the teas for many a da}',
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And now, grown rich with plunder'd store,

He steers his way for Scotland's sliore."

riie thought of his motlier brouslit liim back once more to

tlie island of Mull, and one morning he anchored his galleys

in front of the house of Torloisk. His mother had been long

dead, but his stepfather hastened to the shore, and welcomed

him with apparent kindness. The crafty old man had a fuud

with JIacquarrie of Ulva, and thought this a favourable op-

portunity to execute his vengeance on that chief. With this

object he suggested to Allan that it was time he should settle

on land, and said that he could easily get possession of the

island of Ulva, by only putting to death the laird, who was

old and useless. Allan agreed to the proposal, and, setting

sail next morning, appeared before Macquarrie's house. The

chief of Ulva ^Yas greatly alarmed when he saw the pirate

galleys, but he resolved to receive their commander hospi-

tably, in the hope that good treatment would induce him to

go away, without plundering his house or doing him any in-

jury. He caused a splendid feast to be prepared, and wel-

comed Allan to Ulva with every appearance of sincerity.

After feasting together the whole day, in the evening the

pirate-chief, when about to retire to his ships, thanked the

chief for his entertainment, remarking, at the same time, that

it had cost him dear. " How so?" said Macquarrie, " when I

bestowed this entertainment upon you in free good will."

" It is true," said Allan, who, notwithstanding his being a

pirate, seems to have been of a frank and generous disposi-

tion, " but it has disarranged all my plans, and quite altered

the purpose for which I came hither, which was to put you

to death, seize your castle and lands, and settle myself here

in your stead." Iilacquarrie replied that he was sure such a

suggestion was not his own, but must have originated with his

stepfather, old Torloisk, who was his personal enemy. He

then reminded him that he had made but an indifferent hus-

band to his mother, and was a cruel stepfather to himself,

adding, ," Consider this matter better, Allan, and you will see

that the estate and harbour of Torloisk lie as conveniently

for you as those of Ulva, and if you must make a settlement

by force, it is nmch better you should do so at the expense of

the old churl, who never showed you kindness, than of a friend

like me who always loved and honoured you."

Allan-a-Sop, remembering his scorched fingers, straight-

way sailed back to Torloisk, and meeting his stepfather, who

came eagerly expecting to hear of JIacquarrie's death, thus

accosted him :
" You hoary old villain, you instigated me to

murder a better man than yourself. Have you forgotten

how you scorched my fingers twenty years ago with a burn-

ing cake ? The day has come when that breakfast must be

paid for." So saying, with one stroke of his battle-axe he

cut down his stepfather, took possession of his castle and

property, and established there that branch of the clan Mac-

lean afterwards represented by Mr. Clephane Maclean.

Hector, brother of Allan Macquarrie of Ulva, and second

son of Donald the 12th chief of the Macquarries, by his wife,

a daughter of Lauchlan Oig Maclean, founder of the Macleans

of Torloisk, obtained from his father the lands of Ormaig in

Ulva, and was the first of the JIacquarries of Ormaig. This

family frequently intermarried with the Macleans, both of

Lochbuy and Dowart. Lauchlan, Donald's third son, was

ancestor of the JIacquarries of Laggan, and John, the fourth

son, of those of Ballighartan.

Lauchlan Macquarrie of Ulva, the IGth chief in regular

succession, was compelled to dispose of his lands for behoof

of his creditors, and in 1778, at the ago of Go, he entered the

army. He served in the American war, and died in 1818, at

the age of 103, without m.ale issue. He was the last chief of

the JIacquarries, and the proprietor of Ulva when Dr. S;un-

uel Johnson and Mr. Boswell visited that island in 1773.

The room where the Doctor spent the night is yet shown

in the old mansion of the JIacquarries. Dr. Johnson and

the chief, whom he was surprised to find a person of great

politeness and intelligence, had a conversation about the

usage known by the name of 3ferckeia muUerum, which for-

merly existed in Ulva, and was a fine paid to the chief by his

vassals on the marriage of a virgin. In answer to the Doc-

tor's reference to Blackstone, who has expressed his disbelief

that any such claim on the part of landlords ever existed,

Jfacquarrie informed the Knglish sage that the eldest chil-

dren of marriages were not esteemed amongst the Gael as

among other nations, most of whom adhered to distinct laws

of primogeniture, on account of the parentage of the eldest

child, from the above-mentioned custom, being rendered

doubtful
;
hence, brothers were very commonly preferred to

the proper heirs apparent. He likewise told him that ho

himself had been in the habit of demanding a sheep, on occa-

sion of every marriage in Ulva, for which he had substituted

a fine of five shillings in money. Dr. Johnson was very foi-

cibly impressed with the following instance ol' second sight

related to him by the Macquanie chief. He said that once

when he was in Edinburgh, an old female domestic of the

family in Ulva foretold that he would return home on a cer-

tain day, with a new servant in a livery of red and green,

which he accordingly did; but he declared that the idea of

the servant and the livery occurred to him only when he was

in Edinburgh, and that the woman could know nothing of his

intentions at the time.

A large portion of the ancient patrimonial propei'ty was

repurchased by General Macquarrie, long governor of New
South 'Wales, and from whom Macquarrie county, Macquar-

rie river, and Port Jlucquarrie in that colony, JIacquarrie's

harbour, and Jlacquarrie island in the South Pacific, derive

their name. He was the eldest cadet of his family, and was

twice married, first, to Miss Baillie of Jerviswood, and sec-

ondly, to a daughter of Sir John Campbell of Airds, by whom

he h.ad an only son, Lachlan, who died without issue.

The island of Ulva is about two miles long, averaging a

mile and a quarter in breadth, and contains about COO inhab-

itants. The name is derived from the Scandinavian Ulffur,

and means the island of wolves, these animals having an-

ciently abounded there.

JIacqueen, the surname of one of the subordinate tribes of

the clan Chattan, the head of which is JIacqueen of Corry-

broun-h, Inverness-shire. The ibunder of tliis tribe is said to

have been Roderick Dhu Revan JIacSweyn or JIacQueen, who,

about the beginning of the loth century, received a grant of

territory in the county of Inverness. He belonged to the

family of the lord of the Isles, and his descendants from him

were called the clan Revan.

The JIacqueens fought, under the st.-mdard of JIacmtosh,

captain of the clan Chattan, at the battle of H.arlaw in 1411.

On 4th April 1609, Donald JIacqueen of Corrybrough signed

the bond of manrent, with the chiefs of the other tribes com-

posing the cl.an Chattan, whereby they bound themselves to

support Angus Jlacintosh of that ilk as their captain and

leader. At this period, we are told, the tribe of JIacqueen

comprehended twelve dislinct families, all landowners in the

counties of Inverness and Nairne.

In 1778, Lord JIacdonald of Sleat, who had been created

an Irish peer by that title two years before, liaving raised a

I

Highland regiment, conferred a lieutenancy in it on a son of
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Doiialil Mati|uc('ii, tlien of CoiTvliriiiigli, ami in the letter,

dated 2Gtli January of tliat year, in wliicli lie intimated tlie

appointment, lie says, " It does me great lionour to have tlie

sons of chieftains in tlie regiment, and as the Macqueens

have been invariably attached to our family, to wliom we

believe we owe our existence, I am proud of the nomination."

Thus were the JIacqueens acknowledged to have been of

Macdoriald origin, although they ranged themselves among

tlie tribes of the clan Chattaii.

MACQUEEIv, lloisEiiT, of Braxfield, an emi-

nent lawj er and judge, was born Ma}' 4, 1722.

lie was the eldest son of John ]\Iacquecii, Esq. of

Braxfield, Lanarkshire, for some time sheriff sub-

stitute of the nppcr ward of that county. After

receiving the rudiments of education at tlie gram-

mar school of Lanark, he was sent to the univer-

sity of Edinburgh, and apprenticed to a writer to

the signet in that citj-. In 1744 he was admitted

advocate. Tlie many intricate and important

feudal (piestions arising out of the rebellion of

1745, respecting the forfeited estates, in which he

had the good fortune to be apiKiiiitcd counsel for

the crown, first brought liim into notice, and for

many j'ears he had a larger practice than any

other member of the bar at that pcnod. As a

feudal la^vyLr he was considered the first in Scot-

land in his time, and he has been known to plead

from fifteen to twenty causes in one day.

In November 1770, he Avas appointed a judge

of the court of session, when he assumed the title

of Lord Braxfield. In Feliruary 1780 he was ap-

pointed a lord of justiciaiy, and in December 1787

was promoted to be lord-justice-clerk. This last

office he held during a most interesting and criti-

cal jicriod—that between 1703 and 1795. lie

presided at the memorable political trials of Muir,

Palmer, Skirving, Margaret, &c., in 1793-4, con-

ducting himself with great firmness and intrepi-

dity, but is considered to have treated the pris-

oners with unnecessary harshness. He failed,

however, in all liis attempts to intimidate them.

"It is altogether unavailing," said Skirving to

him, " for your lordship to menace me ; for I have

long learned to fear not the face of man." Even

on the bench lie spoke the broadest Scottish dia-

lect. Ilae ye ony counsel, man?" he said to

I\Iaurice Margaret, when placed at the bar on a

charge of sedition. " Xo," was the answer.

"Do you \'\'aiit to line ony appointit?" "Xo,"

replied Margaret, "I oiilv want an interpreter

to make me understand what your lordship

says
!

"

Lord Braxfield died May 30th, 1799, in his 78th

year. He was twice married, first to Mary Ag-

new, niece of Sir Andrew Agncw, baronet, by

whom he had two sons and two daugliters ; and

secondly, to Elizabeth, daughter of the lord chief

baron Ord, without issue. The elder son, llobert

Dundas Macqueen, inherited the estate of Brax-

field, and married Lady Lilia.s IMontgomery,

daughter of the earl of Eglinton. The second en-

tered the army. Tlie elder daughter, Mary, be-

came the wife of WUliam Ilonyman, Esq., advo-

cate, afterwards Lord Armadale, a lord of session,

created a baronet in 1804. The younger married

John IMacdonald of Clanronald.

Macrae, a minor clan of I!oss-shire, which has from time

immemorial been subordinate to the Seaforth branch of the

.Mackenzies. The badge of the Macraes was the fir-club

moss, and they are generally considered of the pure Gaelic

stock, although they have also been stated to be of Irish ori-

gin, and to have come over to Scotland about the middle of

the l."th century. They are said to have fought under Fitz-

gerald, the supposed founder of the clan Jlackenzie at the

battle of Largs in 1263. They settled first in the Aird of

Lovat, but subsequently emigrated into Glensheil in the dis-

trict of Kintail, Ross-shire. Dr. Johnson has inserted in his

'Tour to the Western Isles,' a story which he says he heard

in the Hebrides, that the Maor.aes " were originally an indigent
j

and subordinate clan, servants to the Maclennans, who, in
j

the wars of Charles I., took arms at the call of the heroic

j\Iontrose, and were, in one of liis battles, almost destroyed.

The women that were left at home, being thus deprived of

their husbands, like the Scythian ladies of old, married theii

servants, and the JIaeraes became a considerable race." The

writer of the accoimt of the parish of Glensheil, in the New

Statistical Account of Scotland, pronounces this an unwor-

thy invention, " destitute of nil foundation, and contradicted

by ample evidence, written and traditional." Some one had

imposed on the credulity of the great lexicographer. At the

battle of Auldearn, in i\Iay 1645, the Macraes fought unuei

the Mackenzie chief in the ranks of Montrose, and more of

their number fell than of the Maclennans. They were de-

feated at the battle of Glensheil, under William earl of Sea-

forth in 1719, when a body of 400 Spaniards attempted to

make a landing in the Stuart interest. When that nobleman,

for his share in the troubles of 1715 and 1719, was obliged

to retire to the Continent, and his lands were forfeited, so

strong was the attachment of the Jlacraes and Maclennans

to liim, that, during the time the forfeiture lasted it baffled

all the eiforts of government and its commissioner, Ross of

Fearne, to penetrate into his territory, or to collect any rents

in Kintail. On one occasion Ross and his son with a party of

men set off to collect the rents, and fearing some attack on

the way, he sent his son forward, on bis own horse, wlien a

shot from a rifle laid him dead. The father and his party

immediately abandoned their intentions, and returned home

in haste. Seafortli's tenants were aided in their resistance by

the advice of Donald Miu'chisou of Auchtertyrc, who rcgu-
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larly collected the vents, and fuuiid means to remit them to

Seaforth, then in France.

The chief or liead of the Clann '/c Rath Itfhohcli, or

"Hairy Macraes," called by Kisbet the " Macraclis," and

pronounced JIacCraws, was Macrae of Inverinate in Kintail.

A MS. genealogical account of the JIacraes, written by the

I'ev. John Jlacrac, minister in Dingwall, who died in 1701,

was in possession of the late Lieutenant-colonel Sir John

Jfacrae of Ardintoul. Tliis secluded and primitive tribe were

remarkable for their great size and courage, and it is recorded

that one Duncan JIacrae, who lived in the beginning of the

18th century, had such amazing strength, that he carried for

some distance a stone of immense size, and laid it down on

the farm of Achnangart, where it is yet to be seen. He ren-

dered himself famous by recovering stolen cattle from the

reivers of Lochaber, either belonging to himself or his neigh-

bours. He was the author of several poetical pieces, and was

killed, with many of his clan, at Sheriffmuir in 1715. His

claymore, long preserved in the Tower of London, was shown

as " the gi-eat Highlander's sword."

A great nmnber of the clan Macrae enlisted in the Seaforth

Highlanders, when that regiment was raised in 1778, and

their mutiny at Leith soon after their enrolment gave rise to

a memorable occurrence which was called " the afi'air of the

wild Macraws." The regiment had been raised chiefly from

among his own tenantiy, by the restored earl of Seaforth,

grandson of the carl who had been attainted for his partici-

pation in the rebellion of 1715. It formed a corps of 1,1."0

men. Of these, about 900 wore Highlanders, 500 of whom
were Mackenzies and JIacraes, from his lordship's own estate,

and the remainder were obtained from the estates of Scat-

well, Kilcoy, Applecross, Redcastle, and others belonging

to gentlemen of the name of Mackenzie, .all of whom bad

sons or brothers among the officers. Embodied at Klgin in

May of the year mentioned, the regiment was inspected by

General Skene, when it was found so effective that not one

man was rejecte(i. In the month of August the regiment

proceeded to Edinburgh, and in September m.arched to Leith

for embarkation to the East Indies ; but it had not been long

quartered in that towm when the men showed signs of dis-

content, and murmurs began to be expressed amongst them

that "they had been sold to the East India Company."

They had enlisted to serve only for a limited period, and

not out of Great Britain, and they complained of an infringe-

ment of their agi'eement, and that part of their pay and

bounty money was in arrear, kept back from them, as they

alleged, by their officers.

As they conld obtain neither -satisfaction nor redress, on

Tuesday, 22d September, when the regiment was dr.awn up

on Leith Links, preparatory to entering the boats which were

to convey them to the transports lying in Leith roads, .about

COO of the men refused to emb.irk, and marching out of Leith,

with pipes playing and two plaids fixed on poles instead of

colours, took up a position on Arthur's Seat, an eminence

800 feet high, in the immcdi.ate neighbourhood of Edinburgh.

There they remained for three nights, amply supplied in the

meantime with provisions by the inhabitants of the capital.

Two days were spent in negotiations with them, in which the

earls of Dunmore and Seaforth, Lord i\tacdonald. Sir James

Grant of Grant, and other gentlemen connected with the

Highlands, took an active and prominent part, and on Friday

morning a bond was signed by the duke of Buccleuch, the

earl of Dunmore, Sir Adolphus Oughton, and General Skene,

the latter two the officers first and second in command of the

forces in Scotland, containing the following conditions: A
pardon to the Highlanders for all past otiences; all levy mo-

ney and aiTears due to them to be paid before embarkation,

and that they should not be sent to the East Indies. The

soldiers being satisfied, marched down the hill with pipes

playing, the earls of Seaforth and Dunmore at their head,

and returned to their quarters at Leith. T!ie result of an

inquiry which was afterwards made was, that there was no

foundation for complaints against the ofiicers on the ground

of p.ay or arrear, and that "the cause of the retiring to Ar-

thur's Seat was from an idle and ill-founded report that the

regiment was sold to the East India Company, and that the

officers were to leave them on their being embarked on board

the transports." The regiment subsequently embarked with

the greatest cheerfulness, accompanied by their colonel, the

earl of Seaforth, one-half of the men being sent to Guernsey,

and the other half to Jersey. In May 1781, having express-

ed their willingness to go to the East Indies, the regiment

embarked at Portsmouth for JIadras. The colonel, the earl of

Seaforth, died before they reached St. Helena, when his cousin.

Lieutenant-colonel Humberston Mackenzie, succeeded to the

command. The regiment was first called the 78th, but the

number w<as subsequently altered to the 7"2d, .and in 1823 it

got the name of "the duke of Alb.any's Highlanders."

When the second battalion of the Ross-shire Highlanders,

or 78tli regiment, was raised in 1801, one gentleman of this

n.ame, Christopher Macrae, brought eighteen of his own clan

as part of his portion of recraits for an ensigncy. This regi-

ment seri-ed in Egypt in 1807, and at FA Hamet, a village on

the Nile, nearly six miles above Rosetta, a desperate affair

took place, the British being attacked by a strong body of Turks,

Albanians, and Arabs, and a great number of officers and men

were killed. On this occasion, says General Stewart of Garth,

in his ' Sketches of the Highlanders,' " Sergeant John Mac-

rae, a young man about twenty-two years of age, but of good

size and strength of arm, showed that the broadsword, in a

firm liand, is as good a weapon in close fighting as the bay-

onet. i\facrae killed six men, cutting them down with his

broadsword, (of the kind usually worn by sergeants of High-

land corps,) when at Inst he made a dash out of the ranks on

a Turk, whom he cut down ; but as he was returning to the

square he was killed by a blow from behind, his head being

nearly split in two by the stroke of a sabre. Lieutenant

Christopher Macrae, already mentioned as having brought

eighteen men of his own name to the regiment as part of his

quota of recruits, for an ensigncy, was killed in this affair,

with six of his followers and namesakes, besides the sergeant.

On the passage to Lisbon in October 1S05, the same ser-

geant came to me one evening (General Stewart was a major

in the regiment) ciying like a child, and complaining that

the ship's cook had called him English names, which he did

not understand, and throwm some fat in his face. Thus a

lad who in 1805 was so soft and so childi.sh, displayed in

1807 a courage and vigour worthy a hero of Ossian."

Both m.ales and fem.ales of the Macraes are said to have

evinced an extraordinary taste for poetry and nmsic. John

I\Iacrae, better known among his countrymen as iMac Uirtsi,

whose family are said to have possessed the gift of poetiy for

some generations, emigrated to America, in consequence

of the innovations on the ancient habits of the Highlanders,

and feelingly regretted, in Gaelic verse, his having left his

native country. A poem composed by him on a heavy loss

of cattle is considered by many equal to anything in the

language.

One of this clan was an able governor of Madras, in com-

memoration of whom a monument is erected on a rising

ground in the parish of Prestwiclr, Ayrshire.

Captain James Macrae of Holmains in April 1790 had tha
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misfortune to slioot Sir James Ramsay of Bamfl', baronet, in

a duel at Musselburgh, and was obliged in consequence to

leave Scotland. He was cited before tlie liigh court of justi-

ciary upon criminal letters to take liis trial for murder, in tlie

following July, and outlawed for non-appearance. He bad

previously conveyed bis estate to trustees, wlin, in conformity

witli l)is instructions, executed an entail of it. He died

abroad ICtb January 1820, leaving a son and a daugliter.

Macui.iimon, tbe surname of a minor sept, (the Sinl

Chmiminn,') who were the hereditary pipers of Macleod of

JIacleod. They had a sort of seminary for the instruction of

learners in b.agpipe music, and were tbe most celebrated bag-

pipe players in tbe Highlands. The first of whom there is

any notice was Ian Odbar, or dun-coloured John, who lived

about ICOO. About tbe middle of tbe 17th century, Patrick

Mor MacRimmon, having lost seven sons, (be had eight in

all,) within a year, composed for the bagpipe a touching ' La-

ment for the children,' called in Gaelic Cnmhadh na Clo'mne.

In 174.5 Macleod's piper, esteemed tbe best in Scotland, was

called Donald Ran JIacRimmon. When that chief, wiio was

opposed to I'rince Charles, with I\Iunro of Culcmrn, at the

bead of 700 men, were defeated by Lord Lewis Gordon, and

tbe Farquharsons, at Inverury, 12 miles from Aberdeen, Do-

nald Ban was taken prisoner. On this occasion, a striking

mark of respect was paid to him by bis brethren of tbe bag-

pipe, which at once obtained his release. The pipers in Lord

Lewis' following did not play the next morning, as was their

wont, and on inquiry as to this unusual circumstance, it was

found by bis lordship and his officers that tbe pipes were si-

lent because MacRimmon was a prisoner, when he was im-

mediately sot at liberty. Ho was, however, shortly after-

wards killed in the night attempt, led by tbe laird of Macleod,

to capture the prince at Moyball, the seat of Lady Macintosh

near Inverness.

On tbe passing of the heritable jurisdiction abolition bill iu

1747, tbe occupation of tbe hereditary bagpipers was gone.

Donald Dubli JIacRimmon, the last of them, died in 1822,

aged 01. The .affecting lament, Tha til, tha til, tim til, M/iic

Chruimin, "MacRinnnon shall never, shall never, shall never

return," was composed on his departure for Canada.

Mac Rorv, a surname derived from Ibe name Rodericlc,

called Ruari in the Highlands. Tbe clan Rory were so styled

from Roderick, the eldest of the three sons of Reginald, second

son of Somerlod of tbe Isles by bis second marriage. 'I'bis

Roderick was lord of Kintyre and one of tbe most noted \>\-

latcs of liis day. His descendants became extinct in tbe

third generation. Tbe clan Donald and clan Dougall sprung

liom Roderick's brothers.

MacSoki.ev, a surname derived from tbe Korsc Somerled,

which means Samuel. In the Gaelic it is Somhairle. The

Camerons of Glcnnevis were called JIacSorlcy, while those of

Strone were MacGiUonies, and those of Letteriinlay were

MacMartins. These septs, says Grcgoiy, {Highlands and

Isles, p. 77,) were all ancient families in Locbaber, and seem

to have adopted the surname of Cameron, although not de-

scended of the familv.

MacVuirich, tbe surname of a family which for several

generations held the office of b.ard and genealogist to the

JIacdonalds of Clanranald. Kiel MacVuirich, tbe last of tbe

bardic race, lived to a great age in South Uist, and died in

172(5. He wrote in tbe Gaelic l.auguage tbe bistoij of tbe

Cbmranald, as well as collected some ancient poetry, and tl;e

annals of past times. All liis own compositions have been

lost, excepting three pieces which .are given in JIackenzie's

' Beauties of Gaelic Poetiy,' pp. G5— G7.

Tbe following curious and interesting declaration of Lach-

lan MacVuirich, son of Kiel, taken by desire of the Commit-

tee of tbe Highland Society of Scotland, appointed to inquire

into tbe nature and authenticity of the poems of Ossian, will

throw much light on the bardic otHce, as well as furnish some

information regarding the celebrated Red Book of Clanran-

ald. It is a translation of the original written in Gaelic, and

addressed to Henry Mackenzie, Esq., at the time he was

writing tbe Society's report of Ossian. " Iu tbe bouse of

Patrick Kicolson, at Torlum, near Castle Burgh, in the sbire

of Inverness, on tbe ninth day of August, compeared, iu the

iifty-niiith year of his .age, Lacblan, son of Niel, son of Lach-

lan, son of Niel, son of Don.ald, son of Lacblan, son of Niel

.Mor, sou of Lacblan, son of Donald, of the surname of Jlac-

Vnirich, before Roderick M'Keil, Esq. of Barra, and declarcil.

That, according to the best of bis knowledge, he is tbe eight-

eenth in descent from Mnireach, wiiose posterity had offici-

ated as bards to the family of Clanranald ; and that they bad

from that time, as the salary of their office, the farm of Sta-

oiligaiy, and four pennies of Drimisd.ale, during fifteen gene-

rations ; that the sbxteentli descendant lost the four pennies

of Drimisdale, but that tbe seventeenth descendant retained

the farm of Staoilig.ary for nineteen years of bis life. That

there was a right given them over these lands, as long as

there should be any of the posterity of Mnireach to preserve

and continue the genealogy and history of the JIacdonalds,

on condition that the bard, failing of male issue, was to edu-

cate bis brother's son, or representative, in order to preserve

their title to tbe lands; and that it was in pursuance of this

custom tb.at his own father, Niel, had been taught to read

and write history and poetry by Donald, son of Niel, son of

Donald, bis father's brother.

" He remembers well that works of Ossian written on

parclmieut, were in the custody of his father, as received

from his predecessors; that some of the parchments were

made up in the form of books, and that others were loose and

separate, which contained the works of other burds besides

those of Ossian.

" He remembers that liis father had a book, which was

called the I^ed Bool; made of paper, wddch he bad from bis

predecessors, and which, as bis father informed him, contain-

ed a good deal of the bistoi-y of the Higliland clans, together

with part of tbe woi ks of Ossian. That none of those books

are to be found at this day, because when they (his family)

were deprived of their Lands, they lost their alacrity and zeal.

That he is not certain what became of the parchments, but

thinks that some of them were carried away by Alexander,

son of tbe Rev. Alexander JIacdonald, and others by Ronald

his son ; and he saw two or three of them cut down by tai-

lors for measures. That be remembers well that Clanran.ald

made his father give up the Red Book to James Macpherson

from Badenoch: that it was near as thick as a Bible, but

that it was longer and broader, though not so thick in the

cover. That the parchments and the Red Book were written

in tbe band in which the Gaelic used to be so written of old

both in Scotland and Ireland, before people began to use tbe

English hand iu writing Gaelic; and that bis father knew

well how to re.ad the old hand. That he himself had some

of the parchments after his father's death, but that because

he had not been taught to read them, and b.ad no reason to

set any value on them, they were lost. He says that none

of bis forefathers bad tbe name of Paul, but there were two

of them who were called Cathal. He says that the Red
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Book was not written by one man, but tliiit it was written,

from age to age, by the family of Clan JIhuiricli, who were

preserving and contiiniing tbe liistory of the Macdonalds, and

of other lieaus of Highland clans.

" After the above declaration was taken down, it was read

to him, and he acknowledged it was right, in presence of Do-

nald M'Donald of Balronald, Jam.cs i\I'Donald of Garyhe-

lich, Ewan M'Donald of Griminish, Alexander M'Lean of

Hoster, Mr. Alexander Nicolson, minister of Benbecula, .and

Mr. Allan M'Queen, minister of North Uist, who ^^Tote this

declaration." The last Lachlan above mentioned as father

of Neil Mbr and son of Donald, was called for distinction's

sake, Lachnnn Mor Mac Mhuirich Albannaich, or Lachlan

Jlur Mao Vuirich of Scotland. He lived in the loth centu-

rv, and was the author of a remarkable war-song, composed

\vliolly of epithets arranged in alphabetical order, to rouse

tbe clan Donald previous to tlie battie of Harlaw. (See Mac-

kenzie's Beauties of Gaelic Poetry, p. G2, Note.)

Every great Highland fivmily liad tlieir bard, whose busi-

ness it was to recite at entertainments the immense stores of

poetry which he had hoarded up in his memory, and to pre-

serve the genealogy and commemorate the military ai;tions of

tbe heroes or chiefs. When Neil MacVuirich, the last of the

bards, died in 1726, the bardic order became extinct in Scot-

land.

JlADDEKTY, Baron. See Stkatiiallan, Viscount of.

MAIR, or Majok, John, a scholastic divine .and

liistonan, was boi'u at the village -of Glegliornic,

parish of North Berwick, in 1469. He went to

the university of Paris in 1493, and studied at the

colleges of St. Barbe and Montacute. In 1490 he

became M.A., and 2 j-ears after removed to the

college of Kavarre. lu 1508 he was created D.D.

It appears from some passages in his writings

that in the earl}^ part of the IGtli century he was

a member of Christ's college, Cambridge. lie

returned to Scotland in 1518, in which year he

became a member of the university of Glasgow,

being then styled canon of the chapel royal and

vicar of Dunlop. In 1521 he was professor of

tiieology in the university of Glasgow. He sub-

sequently held also the office of treasurer of the

royal chapel of Stirling, and about 1523 he became

professor of divinity in the college of St. Salvator,

St. Andrews, -H hcrc he remained five j'ears. He

was certainly there in 1528, when, at the dawn of

the Reformation in Scotland, a friar who had

preached a sermon at Dundee against the licenti-

ous lives of the bishops, and against the abuse of

cursing from the altar and false miracles, being

accused of heresy, "went," says Calderwood, "to

Sanct Andrewes, and communicated the heads of

his sermoun with Mr. Johnc IMaior, whose word

was then lioldin as an oracle in maters of rcligi-

oun. ]\L'. Johne said, his doctrine might weill be

defended, and conteaned no heresie." The frinr

ultimately was compelled to fly to England, where

he was caist into pnsou by command of Henry the

Eighth.

Mair himself, although he remained a church-

man, in consequence of the religious distractions

of the times, went back to Paris, when he resumed

his lectures in tlie college of Jlontacute. While

in France he had among his puyiils several who

were afterwards eminent for their learning. One

of the most distinguished of them was his coun-

tryman, George Buchanan, who !iad studied logic

under him at St. Salvators college, and had fol-

lowed him to Paris. In 1530 he returned once

more to Scotland, and resumed his lectures as pro-

fessor of theology in the university of St. An-

drews. He was present, with the other heads of

the university, in the parish church of that city,

when John Knox, who had been one of his stu-

dents, preached his first sermon in public in 1547.

]\L-. Tytler, in his History of Scotland, (vol. v. p.

211) referring to Patrick Hamilton the martyr,

speaks of him as having been " educated at St.

Andrews, in what was then esteemed the too lib-

eral philosophy of John Mair, the master of Knox

and Buchanan." It was no small honour to have

infused into the minds of these three men, the fore-

most, in their respective provinces, of their age,

ideas and principles far in advance of the narrow

and bigoted tenets of the churchmen. He was

tlnis, perhnps unconsciously to himself, a not un-

important instrument in helping forward the great

work of the Reformation in Scotland, and in pro-

moting the sacred cause of civil and religions lib-

erty.

He is said to have died about 1549, at "a great

age, for," says Dr. Mackenzie, in his ' Lives of

Eminent Scots Writers,' "in the ycnr 1547, at

the national council of the Church of Scotland at

Linlithgow, lie subscribed by proxy, in quality of

dean of theology of Sti Andrews, not being able to

come himself by reason of his age, which was then

seventy-eight, and shortly after he died."

His works were all written in Latin. His Lo-

gical Treatises form one immense folio. His

Commentary on the Ph3'sics of Aristotle makes

another. His Theological ivorks, among which ia
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Exposition of St. ]\Iattlie\v's Gospel, amount

to several volumes of the same size. He is best

known, however, by liis history, 'De Gestis Sco-

toruni,' in which he gives an account of the Scots

nation from t!ie earliest antiquity, and rejects

many of the fables and lictions of previous histo-

rians, such as AV^yntoun and Fordoun.

The titles of his works are as follows :

Iiiti'oJuctorinm in Aristotolicnm Dialccticcn, t(jtaiiique I.o-

gicnm. Par. npud .Toniinem Lambert.—Qnrct^tio de Com-

plexo Rigiiilicabili.—Primus Liber Terminonim, cum figuni.

—Seciintlus Liber Torminorum.—Summula:, cum fi^iini qua-

tuor Propositionum et earum Conversionum.—Pra'dieabilia,

cum .'Vrbore Porpliyriana.—Pra:dicamenta, sua, cum figura.

—Syllogismi.— Posteriora, cum te.xtu Aristotelis primi et

secuiida Capitis, libri primi.—Tractatus de Locis.—Tractatus

IClencborom.—Tractatus Consequentiarum.—Abbreviationcs

Parvoruin Lof;icalium.—Parva Lnj^ioalia.—Exponibilia.—bi -

solubilia.—Obligationes.—Argumeiitu Sopliistica.—Proposi-

tum de Iniinito.—.\uaIogus inter duos Lngioos et JLigistrum.

'J'lie above were all printed in one volume at Lyons, 1514,

folio.

In qnartum Scntenti.ainm. Commentarius. Par. apud

.Toannem Granjonium, 1509. Par. 151G. Again, apnd

Jodocum Radium Aseensium.

In Primum et Secundum Sententiarum totidem Commen-

tarii. Par. apud Jod. Pjad. Aseensium, 1510.

Commentarius in Tertiam. Paris, 1517.

Commentarius in Secundum. Paris, apnd Joannem Gran-

jonium, 1519.

Litcralis in JIattlianun L.xpositio, una cum Trecentis et

Octo Pnbiis et DifHcultatibus ad ejus ICIuoidationem admn-

dum Conducentibns passim insertis; quibis Prelectis, pervia

erit quatuor ICvangelistarum Series. Paris, apud Joan.

Granjonium, 1518.

De Auctoritatc Concilii supra Pontificcm JIaxinium liber,

K.xcerptns ex ejus Commentariis in .S. Mattliajum. Paris,

1518, folio.

De Ilistori.i Gcntis Scotorum, libri sex, .':eu Historia Jla-

joris Britannia, tam AngliiB quam Scotia', e Veterum Moni-

mentis Concinnata. Paris, apud Jod. Padium, 1521. Edin.

apud Rob. Freebairn, 1740, 4to.

Commentarius in Pliysica Aristotelis. Paris, 152G.

Luculcnta; in quatuor Ev.augelia, Expositioues, Disquisi-

tiones, et Disputaliones, contra Ibtreticos; ad Caleem hu-

jusce Operis. Par. 1529, fol.

Catalogns Episcoporum Lucionensiuni. Apud Antonium

Democbarem.

MArn.ANi), a surname of Norman origin, in early times

written JIatulant, Ilautalent, or JIatalan. Nisbet, in men-

tioning the name, (^Thralclry, vol. i. p. 292,) adds, fiuasi inu-

iilatus in Bdlo, as if it had been first given to one maimed

or mutilated in war. Tlicre can be no doubt tli.at .among the

followers of William tbe Conqueror when he came into Eng-

land, was one bearing tin's name, whatever may bavo been its

derivation.

The first on record in Scotland was Thomas de JIatulant.

of Anglo-Konnan lineage, tbe ancestor of the noble family of

Lauderdale. He flourished in tbe reign of William tbe Lion,

and died in 1228. Tbe early history of tbe family, like that

of most of tbe .^nglo-N'orniau incomers, relates cbielly to tlio

acquirement of lands and donations to some particular abbey

or religious house, for they were all great benefactors t:) tbe

church, and the ' Jlatulants' formed no exception. Like
i

many Anglo-Norman and Anglo-Saxon families, tbey settled
|

in Berwicksbire. Thomas' son, William de JIatulant, was

witness to several of tbe charters of King Alexander II.,

which proves that ho must liavc been much about the court

of that monarch. He died about 1250, leaving a son. Sir

liicbard i\Iatnlant, who, in the reign of Alexander III., was one

of the most considerable barons in Scotland, being the owner

of the lands and baronies of Tliirlcstane, Blythe, Tollus, Iled-

derwick and otber properties, all in the shire of Berwick.

To Dryburgh abbey, which had been founded little more than

a century before, he gifted several lands, ''for the welfare of
,

his soul, and the souls of Avicia his wife, his predecessors

and successors." His son, William de JIautlant of Tbirl-

stane, confirmed these gifts. He was one of tbe patriots who

joined King Robert tlie Bruce as soon as he began to assert

his right to the crown, and died about 1315.

The son of this b.aron, Sir Robert Maitland, possessed the

lands of Thiriestane in bis fatber's lifetime. Among other

cliarters he had one of tbe lands of Letbington from Sir .Tobn

Giftbrd of Tester, confirmed by King David II., 17tli Octo-
[

ber, in tbe 17tli year of bis reign (13-15). Just a year after-

wards, on the same day of the mouth, he fell at the battle of

Durham, with a brotber of his, whose Christian name is not

given. By bis wife, a sister of Sir Robert Keith, great mar-

iscbal of Scotland, who was killed in tbe s.ame battle, he had

three sons, John, William, and Robert. Tbe latter m.arried

tbe beiress of Gight, Aberdeenshire, and was ancestor of tbe I

IMaitlands of Pitricliie. I

Tbe eldest son, John, got a safe-conduct to go to England

in 1363. He obtained from William, earl of Douglas, upon

bis own resignation, a charter of tbe bands of Thiriestane and

Tollus, to himself and liis son, Robert, by his wife, tbe Lady

Agnes Dunbar, d.augliter of Patrick, earl of JIarcb, and died
[

about 1395. His said son. Sir Robert JIaitland, got the '

clinrge of the castle of Dunljar, from his uncle, George, earl I

of JIarcli, when that rebellious nobleman withdrew into

ICngland, in 1398, in consequence of tbe contract of marriage

between his dangb.ter. Lady Elizabeth Dunbar and D.ivid, i

duke of Rothesay, being cancelled, tbrough the intrigues of

Arcbibald, earl of Douglas, surnamed the Grim. In conjunc-

tion witli Hotspur and Lord Talbot, the earl soon after re-

turned across the border, and laid waste the lands wliicb,

having been forfeited, he could no longer call his own. His

nepbew, Sir Robert Maitbind, having siurendered tbe castle

of Dunbar to the earl of Douglas, escaped being involved in

his ruin. He and bis family were afterwards designed of

Letbington. He died about 1434, leaving three sons. Robert,

tbe eldest, was one of tbe hostages for James L, on his

liberation from England in 1424, when liis annual revenue

was estimated at 400 merks. As he predeceased bis father,

without issue, William, tbe second son, succeeded to the

family estates. James, tbe third son, mairied Egidia, daugh-

ter of James Scrymgeour of Dudbope, constable of Dundee,

and from his grandson, John, descended tbe Maitlands of

Eccles and otber families of tbe name.

Tbe second but elder surviving son, William Maitland of

Letbington and Tliirlest.ane, was the first to change the spell-

ing of bis name to its present form. He had a charter from

Arcbibald, duke of Tnrennc and earl of Douglas, to himself

and Margaret Wardbiw, bis wife, of the lands of Blythe,

Hcdderwick, Tollus, and Burncleugb, dated at Linlithgow,

23d March, 1432, bis father being tben alive. His only son,
,

John, died befirel l71. His successor, William JIaitland of
i
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Lethington, w:is father of William Maitland of Lethington,

described as a man of great bravery and resolution, wlio was
killed at FlodJen, witli bis sovereign, James IV., with whom
he was in high favour. By liis wife, JIartha, dangliter of

George Lord Seton, lie had a son, Sir Richard Maitland, the

celebrated collector of the early Scottish poetry, after whom
the Maitland Club has been called, and a memoir of whom is

given afterwards in larger type. Sir Kichard maiTied Jlaiy,

daughter of Sir Thomas Cranstoun of Crosbie, and with four

daughters, had three sons, the eldest being William, the per-

sonage so well known in the history of the reign of the unfor-

tunate JIary, as "Secretary Lethington." Sir John, the

second son, was lord high chancellor of Scotland and first

lord Maitland of Thirlestane. Of both these brothers me-
moirs are given subsequently in larger type. Thomas,
Sir Richard's third son, was prolocutor with George Buchanan,

in his treatise D& Jure Regni ajmd Scotos. The daughters,

named Helen, Isabella, Mary, and Elizabeth, all man-ied

Berwickshire barons.

Secretary Lethington was twice married. By his first

wife, Janet Jlonteith, he had no issue. By his second wife,

Mary, a da\ighter of Malcolm Lord Fleming, he had, with a

daughter, JIary, the wife of the first earl of Ro.xburgli, a son,

James, who, being a Roman Catholic, went to the continent,

and died there, without issue. He sold liis estate of Leth-

ington, which had been restored to him by a rehabilitation

under the great seal, 19th February 1583-4, to his uncle. Sir

John Jlaitland, who carried on the line of the family. A
letter from this James Maitland to the learned Camden, is

dated from Brussels in 1620.

Sir John, first Lord Jlaitland of Thirlestane, married Jean,

only daughter and heiress of James, lord Fleming, lord high

chamberlain of Scotland in tlie reign of Queen JIary, and by

her had a son, John, second Lord Jlaitland .and first earl of

Lauderdale (see Laudekdali-;, earl of) and a daughter,

Anne, married to Robert, Lord Seton, son of the first carl of

Winton.

Connected thus, by frequent intenuarriages, with the Seton

and Fleming families, who were the most distinguished among

the nobles of Scotland for their unswerving attachment to the

beautiful and ill-fated JIary, it was no wonder that the Mait-

hinds also signalised themselves by their faithful adherence to

her interests, even when her fortunes were at the lowest, and

when at last they did transfer their allegiance to her son,

they served him with equal truth and loyalty.

The family of Gibson Jlaitland of Clifton Hall, Mid Lothi-

an, possesses a bai'onctcy, first conferred, 30th November,

1818, on the Hon. General Alexander Maitland, fil'th son of

the si-xth earl of Lauderdale. Sir Alexander died 14tli Feb-

ruary 1820. He had, with two daughters, four sons, viz.,

Alexander Charles, second baronet
;
William, a midshipman

on board the Portsmouth East Indiaman, drowned in the

Bay of Bengal in 1781; Augustus, an officer in the army,

mortally wounded at Egmont op-Zee, Cth October, 1797;

and Fredei-ick, of Hollywich, Sussex, a general in the army,

a member of the board of general ofRcera, a commissioner of

the Royal military college, and colonel of the 58tli regiment.

General Frederick Jlaitland was married and left a family.

Sir Alexander Charles Maitland, second baronet, born 21st

November 1755, married Helen, daughter and heiress of Al-

exander Gibson Wright, Esq. of Clifton Hall, a scion of the

Gibsons of Durie in Fifeshire, and with her obtained that

estate, and assumed in consequence the name of Gibson. He

had, by her, six sons and five daughters. Alexander Jlait-

land Gibson Jlaitland, the eldest son, .an advocate at tlx

Scottish bar, died in September 1828, leaving, by his wife,

Susan, eldest daughter of George Ramsay, Esq. of Barnton,

four sons .ind two daughters.

On the death of the second baronet, 7th Febru.aiy 1848,

his grandson, Sir Alexander Charles Jlaitland Gibson Mait-
land, born in 1820, succeeded as third baronet. He marriea

in 18-tl, Thomasina Agnes, daughter of James Hunt, Esq
of Pittencrieff, Fifeshire, with issue.

The JIaltlands of Dundrennan Abbey and Compstone, in

the stewartry of Kirkcudbright, and Hermand, in Jlid Lo-
thian, are descended from an early branch of the Lauderdale

family. Their immediate ancestor was AVilliam Maitland, a

distinguished Scots ecclesiastic daring the latter part of the

17th century, who acquired considerable estates in the stew-

artry of Kirkcudbright.

Thomas Jlaitland, a lord of session by the judicial title of

Lord Dundrennan, born 9th October 1792, passed advocate

in 1813, and was solicitor-general for Scotland, under the

whig administration in 1840 and 1841, and again from 184G
till the beginning of 1850, when he was appointed a lord of ses-

sion. In 1845 he was chosen JI.P. for Kirkcudbrightshire,

and died 10th June, 1851. He married, in 1815, Isabella

Grah,am,4tli daughter of James JIacdowall, ICsq. of Gartbland,

witli issue. His brother, Edward Forbes Jlaitland, Efq., ad-

vocate, was appointed in 1855, and again in 1859, solicitor-

general for Scotland. He had previously been depute .advocate

Of the name of Jlaitland there have been m.any distin-

gnkshed naval and military officers. Rear-admiral John

Jlaitland, second son of Colonel the Hon. Sir Ricliard Jlait-

land, third son of the sixth earl of Lauderd.ale and uncle of

Rear-admiral Sir Frederick Lewis Maitland, first saw active

service in the West Indies, when he was midshipman on

board the Boyne of 98 guns, the flagship of Sir John JcitIs,

and distinguished himself by his gallantry at JIartinique,

Guadaloup, &c. He was afterwards lieutenant of the Win-

clielsea frigate; from which he removed into the Lively, and

was in that ship when in 1795 it captured, after an action of

three hours, the French ship La Tourterelle. In 1797 he

Avas appointed to the Kingfisher, and on the 1st July suc-

ceeded in quelling a iriutiny on board his ship, by, with his

officers, attacking the mutineers sword in hand, .and killing

and wounding sever.al of them. This spirited conduct was

called " Doctor JIaitland's recipe," by the earl of St. Vincent,

who recommended its adoption to the fleet on similar emer-

gencies. In command of the Boadice.a, he .''aw much service

in the Channel, .and on board the Barfleur of 98 guns he

served with the Jlcditcrranean fleet until the conclusion of

the war with France in 1815. In 1821 he attained the rank

of rear-admiral, and died in ISoG.

For a memoir of Iiis cousin. Rear-admiral Sir Frederick

Lewis Jlaitland, to whom the emperor Napoleon surrendered

on board the Bellerophon after the battle of Waterloo in

1815, see page G37 of volume 2d of this work, under the

head Laudeud.vlic, Earl of.

MAITLAND, Sir Riciiakd, a distingiiishctl

poet, law^'cr, and statesman, tlie collector of the

early poetry of Scotland, was the son of William

Jlaitland of Lethington, and Martha, dangliter of

George, second Lord Seton, as alrcadj' mentioned.

He was born in 149G, and having finished the

mnixl course of academical education at tlie iini-
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versity of St. Andrews, he went to France to

study the law. After liis return to Scotland, lie

recommended hlinself to tlic favour of James Y.,

and was employed in various public commissions

by that monarch, and afterwards by the regent

Arran and Mary of Guise. In March 1551 we

find him taking his seat on tlic bench as an extra-

ordinary lord of session, and soon after he Avas

knigiitcd. lie was frequently sent as commis-

sioner to settle matters on the borders, and in

1559 concluded tlic treaty of UpscttLington, after-

wards confinned by Francis and i\Iary.

As early as October 1560, Sir Iliciiard had the

misfortune to lose his sight, but his blindness did

not incapacitate him for business. In November

1561 he was admitted an ordinary lord of ses-

sion, when he took the title of Lord Lethington.

Shortly after he was sworn a member of the pi iN'v

council, and on 20th December 1562 he was no-

minated lord privy seal. He continued a lord of

session during the troublous times of Queen

Mary and the regents, in the minority of James

VI. His advice to Queen ]\Iary was tliat of a

judicious and faitliful counsellor, that slie must sec

her laws kept, or else she would get no obedience.

(Doufj/as^ Peerage, vol. ii. p. 67).

In 1563 he was appointed one of the commis-

sioners to whom the rights of individuals to tlie

act of oblivion were to be referred, and on 28th

December of that year he was one of the com-

mittee chosen to frame regulations for the com-

missaries then about to be established for the dis-

cussion of consistorial causes. In 1567 he resigned

the ofUce of lord privy seal, in favour of his second

son, John, prior of Coldingham, afterwards created

Lord Maitland of Tliirlcstane. On the 1st July

1581, his great age compelled him to resign his

seat on the bench, in favour of Sir Lewis Bellcn-

den of Auclinouli, being allowed the })rivi]egc of

naming his successor. He had been more than

sevent}- years employed in the public service, and

the letter from the king to the court of session on

occasion of liis retirement from the bench, recorded

in the Books of Sederunt, states that he " lies dew-

lie and faithfully servit our grandshir, gud sir, gud

dam, muder, and ourself, being oftcntynies cm-

ployit in public charges, quhereof he dewtifullie

and hoiicstlie acquit himself, and being ane of vou

ordinar number thir niony yeiris, lies diligcntlie

with all sincerity and integrity servit tliercin, and

now being of werr}' greit age, and altho' in spreit

and jugement able anew to serve as appertenis;

be the gi-eat age, and being unwell, is sa dibilitat

that he is not alile to mak sic continual residena

as he wald give, and being movit in conscience

that be his absence for laik of number, justice may

be retardit and parties frustrat, lies willinglie de-

mittit," &c. Sir Ricliard died March 20, 1586, at

tlie advanced age of 90. For his marriage and

children see previous page.

With the single exception of a passage in

Knox's History, which imputes to him tlie having

taken bribes to assist Cardinal Bcthune to escape

from his imprisonment at Seton, but for Avliich it

would appear there was no good ground. Sir

Bichard ilaitland is uniformly mentioned by con-

temporary writers with respect. He collected the

"Decisions of the Court of Session from Decem-

licr 15, 1550, to the penult Jul}^ 1565," the

manuscript of which is preserved in the Advo-

cates' Library. His Collections of Early Scottish

Poetry, in two volumes, a folio and a quarto,

were, ^^ith other MSS., presented hy the duke of

Lauderdale to Samuel Pejiys, Esq., secretary of

the admiralty to Charles II. and James II., and

the founder of the Pepysiau Library at iMagdalene

College, Cambridge, in which they now remain.

A selection from these will be found in Pinkcrton's

valuable collection of 'Ancient Scottish Poems,'

published in 1786. Sir Eichard's own Poems

were for the first time printed in 1830, in a quarto

volume, for the Maiti.akd Club, which takes its

name from him. Tiie best of his poetical pieces

are his ' Satyres,' 'The Blind Baron's Comfort,'

and a ' Ballat of the Creatioun of the "World,' the

latter of which was inserted in Allan Ramsay's

'Evergreen.' Sir Ilichard's ' Cronicle and His-

toric of the House and Sirname of Seaton unto

the moneth of November ane thousand five Inm-

drcd and fifty aught 3"eires,' with a continuation

l)_y Alexander, Viscount Kingston, was printed for

the Maitland Club in 1829.

MAITLAND, Willi.\m, accounted the ablest

statcman of his age, liistoricalh' known as " Se-

crctar}- Lethington," eldest son of the preceding,

was one of the principal characters of his time in
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Scotland. He was born about 1525, and after

being educated at the college of St. Andrews, lie

travelled on the Continent, where he studied civil

law. In his youth, instead of following the usual

pursuits and aninsements of 3'oung men of his

rank, lie applied himself to politics, and became

early initiated into all the craft and mj'steiy of

statesmanship. Though his political career was

vacillating and nnstead}', his enterprising spirit,

great penetration, and subtle genius are mentioned

with admiration by contemporary ^vi-iters of every

jiarty.

He was one of the first to attend the private

preaching of John Knox at Edinburgh, about the

end of 1555, when he became a convert to the I'e-

formed doctrines. "WHien Knox began to reason

against the mass, Erskino of Dun invited the

Reformer to supper, to resolve some doubts on the

subject, " where were assembled," says Calder-

wood, (v. i. p. 305) " David Forresse, Mr. Robert

Lokhart, John Willocke, and William Matlanc of

Lethington, 3rounger." All their objections against

giving up the mass were so fully answered by

Knox that Jlaitland said, "I see perfytely that

thir shifts will serve for nothing before God, seing

they stand us in so small stead before men." So

the mass, Avhich had been attended by many from

custom, and " the eschewing of slander," was dis-

owned by the Reformed party from that time.

On 4th December 1558, during the regency of

i\Iary of Guise, Maitland Avas, by that princess,

appointed secretary of state. The violent pro-

ceedings of the queen regent against the Reform-

ers, and fears for his life, from his being known to

favour the reformed doctrines, induced him, in

October of the following year, to join the lords of

the congi-egation, who had taken possession of

Edinburgh. The queen regent and the Romish

party withdrew to Leith, but within a month the

lords tied to Stirling, and the regent re-entered

the capital in triumph. Caldenvood says, "Wil-

liam Matlane of Lethington, younger, secretarie to

the queen, perceaving himself to be suspected as

one that favoured the congregatioun, and to stand

in danger of his life if lie sould remaine at Leith,

becaus he spaiicd not to utter his minde in con-

troversies of religioun, conveyed himself out of

Leith, a little before Allliallow Eve, and randcred

himself to Mr. Kirkaldie, Laird of Grange. He
assured the lords there was nothing but craft and

falshood in the queene." (Hist, of the Kirk of

Scotland, vol. i. p. 553). He was gladly received

by the lords, who marked their sense of this his open

adhesion to their cause, by sending him to England

to lay their position and prospects before Queen

Elizabeth, and to crave her aid. She at once

sent a fleet to the frith of Forth, to prevent farther

assistance being sent from France to the regent,

and gave secret instructions to the duke of Norfolk

to meet with the Scots commissioners at Berwick,

to arrange the conditions on which her assistance

was to be given. The commissions appointed by

the lords of the congregation to represent them at

Berwick on this occasion were, lord James Stewart,

afterwards the Regent Moray, Lord Ruthven, the

masters of IMaxwell and Lindsaj', the laird of

Pitarrow, Henry Balnaves of llallhill, and the

secretary Maitland. After a great deal of nego-

tiation, a treaty was concluded between Elizabeth

and the leaders of the congregation, called the

treaty of Berwick, in consequence of Avhicli, on

the 28th March, an English force under Lord

Grey marched into Scotland, and joined the army

of the congi-egation.

Maitland acted as speaker of the parliament in

August 1560 which abolished the power and su-

premacy of the Pope in Scotland, Huntly the

chancellor having declined to attend. It is well

known that when Queen Mary in the following year

was about to sail direct from France to Scotland,

Elizabeth despatched a fleet into the Channel,

with the avowed purpose of clearing the sea from

pirates, but really with the view of intercepting

j\Iary and carrying her prisoner to England. Se-

cretary Maitland and tlie queen's brother, Lord

James Stewart, are charged with recommending

this measure to the English minister. On Mary's

arrival, however, they were chosen her principal

advisers, and on 12th November of the same year

(1561) Maitland was made an extraordinary lord

of session. According to Calderwood (vol. ii. p.

160), the ratification of the Book of Discipline by

the queen met with strong objections from Mait-

land, who, when it was proposed, sneered, and

asked "how many of those who had subscribed it

would be subject to it." It was answered, " AH
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tlie godly." "AViU the dulce?" (Cliatulerault),

said Waitlaiid. "If lie will not," said Ochiltiy, "I

wish lie were scraped out, not only out of that

book, but also out of our number and company

;

for to what purpose shall travail be taken to set

the church in order, if it be not kept, or to what

end shall men subscribe, if they never mean to

perform ?" ?.Iaitland answered, " INIany subscribed

them, in fide parentim, as the bairns are baptized."

"Ye think tliat stuff proper," said Knox, "but it

is as untrue as unproper. That book was read in

public audience ; and the heads thereof reasoned

ujion diverse days, as all that sit here know very

well, and yourself cannot deny. Xo man, there-

fore, was desired to subscribe tliat which lie un-

derstood not." The ratification, however, was

refused.

Soon after Maitland was sent as IMary's ambas-

sador to the court of Elizabeth, to salute the lat-

ter in his mistress' name, and to make known her

good will towards her. After his return to Scot-

land, he accompanied the queen, in August 15G2,

in her expedition to the north against the earl of
j

Iluntly and the Gordons. (_)n their arrival at
|

Old Aberdeen, we arc told there was such a scar- !

city of accommodation that he and llandolph, the

English ambassador, were obliged to sleep toge-

ther in the same bed. He was present at the bat-

tle of Corrichie where Huntly Avas defeated. On

this occasion he exiiorted e\'ery man to call upon

God, to remember liis duty, and not to fear the

nuiltitude, and made the following prayer: "0

Lord, thou that ruletli the heaven and the earth,

look upon thy servants M'hose blood this day is

sought, and to man's judgment is sold and be-

trayed. Our refuge is now unto thee, and our

hope is in thee. Judge then, 0 Lord, this day

betwixt us and tlie earl of Iluntly. If ever we

have sought unjustly his or their destruction and

blood, let us fall on the edge of the sword. If we

be innocent, maintain and preserve us, for thj'

great mercy's sake.''

A short time after this jNIaitland was again sent

ambassador to England, and in liis absence the

nobility blamed him for serving the queen to the

prejudice of the commonwealth. On his return

therefore he deemed it necessary to strengthen

his hands bv making friends to himself, and by

endeavouring to shake the credit of the earl of i

IMoray at court. In 15G3, when Knox appeared
j

before the queen and council to answer a charge

of treason, for writing a circular letter to the prin-

cipal protestant gentlemen, requesting them to
jj

meet at Edinburgh, to be present at the trial of

two men for a riot at the popish chapel at Holy-

rood, Mr. Secretary ilaitland conducted the pro-

secution against him. On this occasion lie showed
I

himselt bitterly hostile to the reformer. When
||

Knox was acquitted by the council, jMaitland,
||

who had assured the queen of his condemnation,

was enraged at the decision. He brought her

majesty, who had retired before the vote, again

into the room, and proceeded to call the votes a
;

second time in her presence. This attempt to

overawe them incensed the nobility. "What!"

said they, "shall the hiird of Letliington have

power to command us? Shall the presence of a ;j

woman cause US otTend God? Shall we condemn

an innocent man against our conscience, for the
j

pleasure of any creature?" And greatly to the
|

mortification of the queen and the discomfitiire of
j

the secretary, they indignantly repeated their for-
\

mer votes, absolving Knox from the charge. '

He seems after this to have thought that the re-
|

j

formed clergy assumed too much in their jiublic
j

rebukes, and after a sermon of Knox's colleague, i

Mr. Craig, against the corruptions of the times,
1

Letliington, says Calderwood, "in the presence of

many, gave himself to the devil, if after that day

he should regard what should become of ministers,

but should do what he might that his companions

have a skaire M ith him, let them Ijark and blow as

mucli as they list.'' Knox declaimed against him

from the pul]Mt, on which Maitland mockingly

said, "We must recant, and burn our liill, for the

preachers are angr}'."'

At a conference with the leading members of

the General Assembly, lield in June 1564, a long

debate ensued between IMaitland and Knox, on

those points of the reformed doctrines Avhich gave

offence to the court, but chiefly as regards the

Reformer's mode of prayer for the Queen, and on

obedience to her authority. In this memorable

disputation, although Maitland had the worst of

the argument, he is acknowledged to have acquit- '

ted himself ^^ith all the acuteness and ingenuity of I
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a practised disputant. An account of this confer-

ence will be found at length in Calderwood's His-

toiy of tlie Kii-k of Scotland, vol il. pp. 252—280.

In January 1565, Maitland was appointed au

ordinary lord of session, and in April the same

year he was despatclied to England, to intimate

to Elizabeth the intention of ]\Iary to marr}- the

Lord Darnley. In 1566 he joined tlie conspiracy

against Rizzio, "partly finding himself prejudged

by this Savoyard in tlie affairs of his office as secre-

tary, and partly for tlie favour he then carried to

the earl of Moraj-, then in exile." After Ilizzio's

murder, lie was, for his participation in it, de-

prived of his office of secretary, and obliged to

retire into concealment in Lauderdale, while the

ot'iier conspirators fled to England, but, before the

end of the year, he was restored to favour and

allowed to return to court.

On the niglit of Sunday, Februaiy 9, 1567,

occurred the murder of Darnley, by the blowing

up of the house of the Kirk of Field, which had

been procured by Maitland for the King's accom-

modation, he having been won over by the carl of

Bothwell to his designs. With the earl of Morton

he solicited and obtained from several lords of

Moray's faction, and from eight bishops a declara-

tion in writing, avowing their belief of Bothwell's

innocence of the murder, and recommending him

as a proper husband for the queen. It is alleged

that the queen had previously consented to this

niarriiige ; but her defenders deny this, and aver

that the writings which she was said to have

signed was a forgery of the secretary Maitland.

lie joined the confederacy of the nobles for the

removal of Bothwell, and after the surrender of

the queen at Carberry Hill, and her imprisonment

in the castle of Lochleven, he wrote to her, ofl'er-

ing his service, and using as an argument the apo-

logue of the mouse delivering the lion taken in the

net. He also proposed that, after providing for

the safety of the young prince and the security of

the protestant religion, the queen should be re-

established in her authority. He, however, at-

tended the coronation of King James VI., on 29th

July 1567, and although he was one of the secret

advisers of the escape of the queen from Lochleven

castle, he yet fought against her on the field of

Langsidc.

In September 15G8, when the regent Moray

was called to the conferences at York, Maitland

was one of the nine commissioners chosen to ac-

company him. The regent, says Spottiswood,

(Hist. p. 218.) was unwilling to take him, but

more afraid to leave him in Scotland. On the

other hand, Calderwood says, (vol. ii. p. 429,)

Secretary Lethington was very reluctant to go,

but he -was induced by fair promises of lands and

money, "for it was not expedient to leave behind

them a factious man, that inclined secretly to the

queen." While in England so great was his du-

plicity that, we are told, almost every night he

had secret communication with Mary's chief com-

missioners, and forewarned them of the regent's

intentions. He went out to the fields with the

duke of Norfolk, under the pretence of hunting,

but in I'cality to consult with him as to the best

means of forwarding the queen's interests, and he

it was who first conceived the fatal project of a

marriage between Mary and the duke, as a pro-

bable means of restoring her to liberty, if not of

replacing her on the throne.

He was one of the two commissioners selected

by Moray, about the end of October, to proceed

to London to Queen Elizabeth, Mr. James Mack-

gill of Eankeillour being the other, and he was

sent with him not so much to assist him as to

watch his proceedings. After his return to Scot-

land, by his secret intrigues he prevailed upon

Lord Home, Kirkaldy of Grange, and several of

his former associates, to join the queen's faction,

and retired to Perth for a time with his friend the

earl of Athol. The regent, suspecting him to be

the contriver of all the plots and conspiracies, in

favour of Maiy, in England and Scotland, sent to

him to attend a council at Stirling, and while sit-

ting in council he was arrested, on 3d September

1569, by Captain Thomas Crawford, a retainer of

the earl of Lennox, on the charge of being acces-

sory to the murder of the king's father. Lord

Darnley. Security to answer the charge having

been oft'ered and refused, he was committed a pri-
i

souer to the castle of Stirling, whence he Avas re-
I

moved to Edinburgh, and given into the custody
j

of Alexander Hume of North Berwick. Kirkaldy
j

of Grange, governor of the castle, went to Hume's

house at night, and by pretending a warrant from ^
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tlie regent, induced liiui to deliver Maitland to

him, when he was carried to tlic castle.

On the 21st November, the day appointed for

Maitland's trial, a great niunbcr of his friends

came to Edinburgh, and he not l)eing forthcoming,

tlie regent found himself compelled to postpone

his trial. Kirkaldy ofl'ered to produce him, if

tliere were any one present to accuse him, and, as

none appeared, the secretary's brother, John, af-

terwards Lord Maitland of Thirlestane, protested

tliat as there was no prosecutor he was entitled to

his liberty.

After the murder of tiie regent ?»Ioray in Janu-

ary 1570, the lords assembled to consult upon the

affairs of tlie country, when Jlaitland had the ad-

dress to obtain from them a declaration acquitting

him of all the charges against liim. The Lord

Ochiltree desired him to give his oath for their

greater satisfaction, which he did. He and Kirk-

aldy now exerted themselves to effect a compro-

mise between the rival factions, but all their en-

deavours were nnavaiiiiig. lie was the author of

the letter sent by the queen's lords to Elizabeth,

towards the end of JLirch, in behalf of Jilary, and

among the signatures ajipears his as '•^\'iiliam

IMatlane, Comptroller." At this time he was the

life and soul of the queen's party, and there was

great resort to him of all who favoured lier cause.

His house was, therefore, called the school, and

liimself tlie schoolmaster, and such as repaired to

him his disciples.

Retiring into Athol, he attended the council

of the queen's friends held there, which was called

the council of Ballacli. He and two of his bro-

thers ^^ ere summoned to take their trial at Edin-

burgh, but as they did not appear, they were de-

nounced rebels. He was deprived of his office of

secretary by the regent Lennox, who sent troops

to ravage his lands as well as those of his fatlier.

Sir Puchard IMaitland. At this time he himself

was corresponding with I\Iary, sending her letters

to be subscribed by her and forwarded to the

kings of France and Spain, the emperor of Ger-

many and the Guises, th.'it they might exert

themselves on her behalf, lie now resolved to

join Kirkaldy in Edinburgh castle, lie therefoi-e

arrived at Lcith, the 10th April 1571, and was

carried up to the castle by six workmen, says

Bannatyne in his Journal, (p. 130,) "with sting

and ling, (that is, by poles like a litter,) and Mr.

Robert IMaitland (dean of Aberdeen and a lord of

session) holding up his head; and when they had

put him in at the castell yeat, ilk ane of tlie work-

men gat iii shil : which they recevit grudginglie, !

hoping to have gottin mair for their labouris."
j

In a parliament held at the head of the Canon- '

gate, I\Iay 14, 1571, I\Iaitland was proclaimed

a traitor to his country, and attainted, with his

two brothers, John and Tiionias. He was the

principal speaker on the queen's side in the dis-

cussion which, soon after, took place with certain

of the king's party, who had gone to the castle

with the view, if possible, of bringing the two

factions to an agreement, but w hich came to no-

thing. It was by his fatal counsels that Kirkaldy

of Grange resolutely held out that fortress for

Queen Jilary, in the hope of receiving succours

from France, even after tlie Hamiltons, with

Iluntly, and the other nobles friendly to her cause,

had submitted to the regent. He, also, like the

deluded but chivalrous knight of Grange, brought

"a railing accusation" against Knox, as a sliort

time before the Keformer's death, he sent to the kirk

session of Edinburgh, a comjilaint against him, for

having jiublicly in his sermons and otherwise,

slandered him as an atheist and enemy to all reli-

gion ; in tliat he had charged him witii saying in

the castle that there was neither heaven nor hell,

which were only devised to frighten children,

"with other such language, tending to the like

effect." His letter thus continues :

" Which ivorJ.s, before God, never .-it .iiiie time proceeded

from my moutli ; nor yitt aiiie otlier sounding to tlie liiie

purpose, nor wliereof anie suclie sentence niiglit be gathered.

For, praised be God, I have beene brought up from niy youth,

and instructed in tlie feare of God ; and to know that he hath

appointed heaven fur the habitation of the elect, and hell for

the everlasting dwelling place of the reprobat. Seing he h.ith

thus ungentlie used me, and neglected his diietie, vocatioun,

the rule of Clu'istian charitie, and all good order, maliciouslie

and untruelie leing on me, I cr.avo redresse thcrof at vonr

hands : and that yee will take suche order therewith, that l:.e

may be compelled to nominat liis authors, and prove his

alledgance (or allegation); to the end that, if it be found

true, as I am weiU assured lie sail not be able to verifie it in

anie sort, I may worthilie be reputed the man he painteth

me out to be. And if (whereof 1 have no doubt) the contra-

rie fall out, yce may use him accordingly : at le.ast, that

hecreaftcr ye receave not everic word proceeding from his

mouth as or.acles; and know that he is but a man subject to

vanitic, and manie times doeth utter his owne passiouns ami
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otlicr men's inordinate affections, in place of tme doctrine.

It is convenient tluit, according to tlie Scriptures, yee beleeve

not everie spirit, but that yee tiie tlie spirits whether they

are of God or not. (Signed) William Matl^\:n'e."'

In his reply, given literally from his deathbed,

and verbally, Ivuox declared that the works of

Maitland and those who acted with him testified

that tliey denied there was any God, or heaven or

hell, wherein virtue should be rewarded or vice

punished. He declined to name his anthors, as

required by Maitland, and referring to that part

of Iiis complaint which affirmed that he was " a

man subject to vanitj-," and that the Avords from

his mouth should not be received as oracles, &c.,

lie said that the words which he had spoken would

be found as true as the oracles which liad been

uttered b}' any of the servants of God before ; for

lie liad said nothing but that whereof he had a

warrant out of the word, namelj', that the justice

of God should never be satisfied till the blood of

the shcdders of innocent blood were shed again, or

God moved them to unfeigned repentance. lie

added that Maitland was the chief author of all

the troubles raised both in England and Scotland.

When Mr. David Lindsay went to the castle, by

Knox's request, to communicate the Reformer's

memorable dying prediction to Kirkaldy, Maitland

sent out the sneering message to him, " Go, tell

'Mi: Knox he is but a dirty prophet." Lindsay

reported this to Knox, who said, " I have been

earnest with my God ancnt the two men. For

the one (meaning Kirkaldy) I am sorry that so

shall befall him, yet God assureth me that there is

mercy for his soul. For the other (meaning Mait-

land) I have no warrant that ever he shall be

Weill." Just a week thereafter, Knox died.

At length, the castle being closely besieged by

the regent Morton, and an English force under Sir

William Drury, marshal of Berwick, surrendered

to the latter, after a month's obstinate resistance,

]\Iay 29tli, 1573. Kirkaldy and his brother Avere

hanged at the cross of Edinburgh, but Maitland

escaped this ignominious fate by dying in prison

in Leith, June 9tli, 1573. Calderwood (vol. iii.

p. 285) says he "poisoned himself, as was re-

ported," and Melville (p. 25G) " that he died at

Leith befor that the rest wer dclyuerit to the

shamles ; some supposing he took a drink, and

died as the auld Roinaiis wer wont to do." He is

said to have lain so long uiiburied that the vennin

came from his corpse, creeping out under the door

of the house where he was lying.

Calderwood (vol. iii. page 285) tluis sums np

his character: "This man was of a rare witt, but

sett upon wrong courses, which were contrived

and followed out with falsehooil. He could con-

forme himself to the times, and therefore was

compared by one, who was not ignorant of his

courses, to the chameleon. A discourse went

from hand to hand, before the siege of the castell,

intituled, The Chameleon, wherein all his wyles

and tricks were described." He thus concludes,

after showing that he had trafficked with all par-

ties : "At the parliament holdin after the taking

of the queene, he, with some others, partakers of

the murther (of Danilcy), would have had her

putt to death. When that purpose wrought not,

he solicited some private men to hang her in

her owne bed, with lier belt, that he, and his

partners in the murther, might be out of feare

of suche a witnesse. AVlien this counsell was

not heard, then he turned himself to flatter the

queene, and sent to Lochlevin the apologue of

the lyoun delivered by the mouse out of the

snare."

Buchanan it was who portrayed the character of

Secretary Letliington in his tract called ' The

Chameleon.' Bannatyne calls him " the father of

traitors," and designates him "Mitchell Wylie," a

corruption doubtless of Maccliiavelli.

MAITLAND, Siii John, a distinguished states-

man, the first Lord Maitland of Thirlestane, sec-

ond son of Sir Richard Maitland, the poet, and

younger brother of the preceding, was born in

1537. After being educated at home by his fa-

ther, he was sent, as was the custom in those

days, to France, where he studied the law. On

his return, through the influence of his brother,

the secretai-y, lie obtained the abbacy of Kelso w
commendam, which he soon exchanged with Fran-

cis Stewart, afterwards earl of Bothwcll, the

queen's nephew, for the priory of Coldingham.

The queen's ratification of this transaction took

place in February 1567. On the 20th April of

the same year, he was appointed lord privy seal,

on his father's resignation of that office in his fa-

vour, and he was conliruied in it hy the regent
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Moray oa the 26th of tlie following August. On

the 2(1 June 15G8, he was constituted one of the

spiritual lords of session.

Like his brotlicr, Secretary Lcthington, the

prior of Coldiiigham ranged himself on the regent's

side, on the detlironement of Ciueen Mary, but

alter Moray's assassination he joined tlie lords

who met on the queen's behalf at Linlithgow, and

tiiereafter remained steady in his attachment to

her cause. lie was denounced rebel by tiie king's

faction in the end of 1.570, and forfeited, witli his

two brotliers, in the parliament •sv liich met in the

Canongatu in the following May. lie was de-

prived of the office of lord privy seal, which was

given to George Buchanan, while the priory of

Coldinghani was bestowed on George Home of

IManderston. He tiieu retired to the castle of Ed-

inburgh, tiien lield by Kirkaldy of Grange for the

queen, and continued with him till i(s surrender

on 'J'Jth May 1b7o. The regent ZSIorton sent liim

prisoner to Tantallan castle, on the sea-coast of

Haddingtonshire, where he was confined for nine

months, llis v\ard was tlien enlarged, and he

was allowed to reside at Lord Somerville's house

of Cowthally, with tlu^ libertj- of two miles around

it, under a penalty of £10,000, if he went beyond

tiicse bounds. lie was subsequently permitted

the range of the counties of Ayr and Kenfrew.

On the fall of Morton, he was set at full liberty

by an act of council in 1578. lie then went to

court, and soon obtained the favour of the King.

On 2Gth April, 1,581, he was restored to his seat

on the bench. He was shortly afterwards knight-

ed and sworn a privy councillor, and 18th May
158-1 made secretary of state. His forfeiture was

rescinded in tlie ]iarliamcnt which met on the 22d

of that month, and in the following year, he suc-

ceeded, great!}' to the satisfaction of the king, in

effecting a reconciliation with the exiled nobles,

on their return to Scotland. On Hist i\Iay 1586

he was appointed vice-chancellor of the kingdom.

In 1587, Sir John IMaitland was accused by

Captain Stewart, some time earl of Arran, and

then chancellor, to whom he had at one time ad-

1uM-ed, but iiad latterly deserted, of being accessory

to tlie execution of Queen Mary and of intending

to betray the king into the hands of Elizabeth.

Stewart was ordered to enter within the palace of

in.

Linlithgow, there to abide the issue of his accusa-

tion, but disobeyed tlic command. He was, in

consequence, deprived of the office of lord high

cliancellor, which ^\'as innncdiately conferred upon

Maitland.

Two years afterwards, the earls of Hunt!}',

Crawford, and Bothwell, personal enemies of the

chancellor, formed a design to march, with their

followers, to Ilolyrood-house, make themselves

masters of the king's person, and \)nt the chancel-

lor to death. On the night in which it was to l)e

carried into cft'ect, however, the king remained in

the same house with the chancellor, and thus

frustrated their intentions. All their subsequent

]ilots against him were like\\ ise defeated. On the

22d October of the same year (1589) Sir John

Maitland, as chancellor, embarked \\itli the king

at Leith on his voyage to Norway, to bring home
I

his bride, tiie princess Anne of Demmirk, who had
j

been driven in there b}^ contrary winds. The
j

royal jiarty spent the ensuing winter at Copcnha-
j

gen, where iNIaitland became intimately acfpiaint-
i

ed with Tycho Brahe, the celebrated Danish
!

astronomer, to whom he addressed several com-
|

plimentary verses. AVhile in Denmark, he wrote i

some letters on state affairs to jMr. llobert Bruce

at liome, to whom bad been intrusted the care of

the country in the king's absence. These letters,

as well as those of James to the same faithful and

energetic minister, v/ere dated from the castle of

Cronenburgh, and the last of Maitlaud's from El-

si nore.

He returned with the king and queen on the

1st of i\Iay 1590, and on the 17th of the same

month, the coronation daj' of the latter, he was
j

created a peer, by the title of Lord ^Maitland of
|

Tliirlestanc. In the procession to the abbey kirk,
|

where the ceremony took place, lie carried the
j

queen's matrimonial crown. The title was grant-
j

ed to him and the heirs male of his body, by let-
j

ters patent, dated 18th May 1590. Tiie following
j

year he resigned liis oflice of secretary of state,
j

whicli was conferred on his ncphe\\-. Sir Bicliard
j

Cockburn of Clcrkington. In February 1592 oc- I

curred the murder at Donibristlc in Fife of the
j

"bonny earl of iMoray" by the earl of Iluntly.

The king and the chancellor were suspected of

having been previously aware of lluntly's inten-
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tion, and Maitlaud is said to have " hounded on "

that nobleman to the cruel deed. " Camden in

his annals," sa3"s Caldcnvood, (vol. iv. p. 145,)

"layeth the whole burden upon the chancellor to

clear the king; but it is known that these his an-

nals were composed at tlie king's direction and

pleasure." So great was the murmuring of the

citizens of Edinburgh on the occasion that the

king and the chancellor found tliemselves obliged

to go, for a time, to Lord Hamilton's house of

Kinneil in Linlithgowshire, and it was with great

difficulty that the provost and magistrates re-

strained the crafcs of the city from taking arms to

prevent their departure. The pay of the soldiers

of the king's guard being in arrear, they seized

the chancellor's trunks and coffers, whicli had

been placed on horseback, and did not j'cstore

them till a solemn promise amis made that they

should be duly paid all that was due to them.

The turbulent carl of Bothwcll, who kept the

king and court in constant funr and turmoil,

and whose bitter hostility h;id frequently been

directed against the chancellor, hnd favourers even

in the palace, and the queen herself was brought

to lend her powerful iuHuence against Maitland.

On the penult day of March 1592, he was com-

manded to remove from court, on which he retired

to Letliington, but was soon restored to favour.

It was principally by his advice that the king was

induced to consent to the act of parliament, passed

in June of the same year, for the ratification of

the liberty of the presbyterian church, in other

words, for its legal establishment. His object in

persuading the king to this measure is said to have

been to ingratiate himself with the ministers and

people, and to strengthen himself against his ene-

my Bothwell. "With the queen he had a dispute

relative to the hinds of Musselburgh, which caused

his retirement from court for a whole year. On

her coming to Scotland, the abbey of Dunfermline,

with its lands and privileges, had been conferred

upon her by the king. Among these was tlie manor

of Musselburgh, a grant of which had been made to

the abbey of Dunfermline by David L, that " sair

saunt to the croon." The regality of Musselburgh

and the property connected with it had, some

years before the queen's marriage, come into the

possession of Chancellor jVfnitland, and as he re-

fused to resign them to the queen, her animosity

was but the more increased against him. By the

king's advice he passed the following year in

the country, but in May 1503, he returned to court

and was restored to the exercise of his office.
j

The vast estate, it may be stated, of the lordship
j

of Musselburgh, or of the wliole of the ancient

Great Inveresk and Little Inveresk, continued in

the family till 1709, when it was purchased by

Anne, duchess of Buccleuch, the widow of the

duke of Monmouth, from John, fifth earl of Lau-

derdale, who died the following year. Subjoined

is the cliancelloi''s portrait, from an engraving ia

Smith's Iconogrnphia Scotica : ,

The keeping of the yoinig prince Henry had

been intrusted by the king to the earl of Mar, but

as the queen wished to remove him from Mar's

charge, the chancellor, willing to make a friend of

her mnjesty, entered into her plans. This roused

the anger of James, who reproved him very

sharply for his interference in a matter with which

he had nothing to do. Deeply mortified, he re-

tired to Lauder, where, after two months' illness,

he died, October 3d, 1595. He was visited on his

dcatiibcd by Andrew Melville and his nephew,

Robert Bruce, and had he lived it is thouglit tliat
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the evils Avith which, soon after, tlic national

churcli was assailed, would have been averted,

i

i

The king regretted liim much, and composed an

epitaph to his memory.

Lord Thirlestane, lilcc his father, lias obtained

,
a high character from his contemporaries, for his

eminent abilities and amiable disposition. Spots-

j

wood sa3's: " He was a man of rare parts and of

j

a deep wit, learned, fall of courage, and most

I
faithful to his king and master. No man did ever

j
! carry himself in his place more wiselj', nor sustain

} it more courageously against his enemies."

[
Besides a satire ' Against Slanderis Tongues,'

I
and ' An Admonition to the Earl of Mar,' pub-

I

,
lished by Pinkerton, and described by him as the

best state poem which he had ever read, he wrote

I

several Latin epigrams, inserted in the second

!' volume of the ' Delitia; roctarum Scotorum.' The

1

1

poems attributed to him have been printed with

jj

those of his father. Sir Richard ALaitland, by the

,

• Maitland Club, in a volume issued in 1829.

' 1\L\ITL.\ND, Joiix, second earl and only duke

\' of Lauderdale, see vol. ii. page 634.

MAITLAND, William, an historical and an-

h iKjuarian writer, was born at Brechin about 1G93.

! His original occupation was that of a hair mer-

j

chant, in which character he travelled in Sweden,

I
Denmark, and Germany, and by his business he

!|
appears to have acquired some wealth. At length,

!j settling in London, he turned his attention to the

j
j

study of antiquities, and produced several compi-

j

lations, which were well received at the time, but

I

are now of small repute. In 1733, he was elected

! a member of the Royal Society, and in 1735 a

!
fellow of the Antiquarian Society, but resigned the

j

latter honour in 1740, on his return to Scotland.

}

He died at IMontrose, July IG, 1757. His works

j
'

are

:

I

Tlie Ilistoiy of London, IVoni its ioundation by the I!o-

i' mans, to the year 1709. Also Westininstcr, Jliddlcse.N,

[
i

Southw.ai-k, and otlier parts within the 15ills of Mortality.

I
Illustrated with numerous plates. London, 1739, fol. The

!
same, continued to the year 1700. Lond. 17G0, 2 vols. i'ul.

i! An edition considerably enlarj^ed and improved, was publish-

j

, ed in 17G5, 2 vols. fol. by Jlr. Entick.

i

The History of Edinburf;h, from its fnuudntlon to the pre-

j j

sent time
;
containing a faithful relation of the public trnns-

!' actions of the citizens; accounts of the several Parishes : its
I

I

Government, Civil, Ecclesiastica,l, and Military; Incorpora-

tioiis of Trades and Manufactures ; Courts of .Tusticc ; state

jj
of Learning; Charitable Foundations, &c. ; with the several

Accounts of the Parishes of the Canongate, St. Cuthbert,

&c. ; and the ancient and present state of Leith. In nine

books, with plates. Edin. 17.o3, fol.

The History and Antiquities of Scotland. Loud. 1757, 2

vols. fol.

Of the Number of Inhabitants in London. Phil. Trans.

Abr. vii, 2o7. 17o8.

.ALvt.cOLjr, a surn.ime origijially Gillecolane or Gillecljal-

lum, derived from two Gaelic words signifying the servant of

St. Columba. Someried, thane of Argylo, had a son of this

name, who was slain with him near Renfrew in 11G4.

The chief of the clan Challum or the MacCallums, an Ar-
gyleshire sept, origin.-iUy styled the clan Cliallnm of Ariskeod-

nish, is Malcolm of Poltallocli, whose family has been settled

from a very early period in that county. One of this house,

called Zachary Uad Donald Mov of Poltalloch, was killed

Jlay 2o, lGi7, at Ederline, in South Argyle, in single combat

witli Sir Alexander JIacdonald, called Allaster Mac Collkit-

tocli, or Icft-lianded. He was in the force of the marquis of

Argyle when General David Leslie advanced into Kintyre to

drive out the royalists, and was renowned in his day for his

great strength. It is alleged that he slew seven of his as-

sailants before he was himself slain. He was getting the

better of Colkitto, when a j\Iaclean came behind liiui with a

scythe and hamstrung him ; lie was then easily overpowered.

In 1411, Sir Duncan Campbell of Lochow gr:mted to

Reginald JIalcolm of Corbarron, certain lands of Craignisli,

and on the banks of I.ocli Avich, in Nether Lorn; with the

ofHce of hereditary constable of his castles of Loch.affy and

Craigiiish. This branch became e.xtinct towards the end of

the 17th century, as Corb.arron or Corr.an is said to have been

bequeathed by the last of the family to Zachary MacCallura

of Poltalloch, wlio succeeded his father in 1G8G.

Dugald j\IacCallum of Poltalloch, who inherited the estate

in 1779, appears to h.ave been the first to adopt permanently

the name of Malcolm as the family patronymic. Besides

Poltalloch, the family possesses Kilmartiu house and Dun-

troon castle, in the same county.

John Malcolm, Esq., of Poltalloch, born in 1805, a magis-

trate and deputy-lieutenant for Argylesliire and Kent, suc-

ceeded his brother, Neill, in 1857. Educated at Harrow

and O.xford, he became B.A. in 1S27 and M.A. in 1830. He

married 2d daughter of the Hon. John Wingfield, Strat-

ford, son of 3d Viscount Powcrscourt, with issue. Heir, his

son, John Wingfield.

The Malcolms of Balbeadie and Grange, Fifeshire, possess a

baronetcy of Nova Scotin, conferred in 16C5. In the reign of

Charles I., Sir ,lohn Malcolm, eldest son of John Malcolm of

Balbeadie, acquired the lands of Lochore in the same county.

A branch of the Malcolms of Lochore and Iimertiel settled in

Dumfiics-sliire.

In 17-16, Sir Jlichael Malcolm, baronet, being related to the

last Lord Balmerino, was sent for to be present at his execu-

tion on Tower-hill. A daughter of Lord Cli:mccllor Batlunst

saw him ou the scaffold, and fell in love with him. He sub-

sequently married her.

Sir Michael sold the estate of Locliore, which subsequently

came into the possession of Jlr. Jobson, Tvhose daughter mar-

ried the 2d Sir Walter Scott, baronet.

On Sir Michael's death, the title devolved upon James

JIalcolm of Grange, and at the death of the latter in 1795,

upon John JLalcolm of Balbeadie, descended from the youngest

brother of the tirst baro::ct. Sir John's son, Sir Michael
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Malcolm, married in 1824, Mniy, youngest daugliteroF Joliii

Forbes, Esq., of Bridgend, Perth, and with three daughters,

had one son, Sir John Malcolm, born April 1, 1828, who suc-

ceeded to the baronetcy, on the death of his father in 1833.

MALCOLM I., King of Scots, was tlie son of

Doiial IV., wlio reigned from 893 to 904. On

the abdication of Constartine III., Malcolm suc-

ceeded to tlie throne in 944. In 945, Edmund,

the Saxon king of England, ceded Cumberland

and part of Westmoreland to him, on condition

that he would defend that northcin territory, and

become the ally of England. Edred, the brother

and successor of Edmund, accordingly applied for,

and obtained the aid of I\ralcolm against Anlaf,

king of Nortlumiberland, which latter country he

wasted, and carried otF the inhabitants with their

cattle.

In the time of ilalcolni I., the people of tlic

province of Moray, in the north-east of Scotland,

were a mixed race, Ibrmcd of Scandinavian set-

tlers, with Scottish and Pictish Celts. Turbulent

and rebellious, thej' were continuallj' at war with

the sovereign, and an insurrection having occur-

red under Cellach, maormor of Garmoran, IMalcolrn

marched north to reduce them to obedience. lie

slew Cellach, but was, some time thereafter, as-

sassinated in 953 at Ulurn, supposed by Shaw to

be Auldearn, after a reign of nine years. Other

accounts state his death to have taken place at

Fodresach or Forres. He was succeeded b\' In-

diilph, the son of Constantlne II., and Indulph

had for his successor. Duff, tlie son of Malcolm,

who mounted the throne in 901. Another son of

]\lalcolm I., Kenneth III., succeeded in 971, after

an intermediate possessor of tlie throne named

Cnlen, the son of Inditlph.

MALCOLM II., King of Scots, tlie son of

Kenneth III., succeeded to the throne in 1003,

and had a troublous reign of about thirty years.

He defeated and slew Kenneth IV. at Monievaird

in Strathearn, and in conser|uence became king.

His first annoyance came from the Danes who, in

previous reigns, had made several attempts to ef-

fect a settlement in Scotland, but had been de-

feated in them all. They had secured a firm

footing in England, and the year after Malcolm's

accession to the throne, they commenced the most

formidable preparations, under their celebrated

king, Sweyn, for a new expedition to the Scottish
'

coasts. He ordei'ed Olaus, his viceroy in Norway,
|

and Enet in Denmark, to raise a powcifid army,

and to fit out a suitable fleet for the enterprise. 1

The coast of Moray was chosen as the scene of
j

the menaced invasion. Effecting a descent near I

Speymouth, the Danes carried fire and sword !

through that province, and laid siege to the fortress
j

of Nairn, then one of the strongest castles in the
|

north of Scotland. They were forced to raise the
j

siege for a time by Malcolm, who hastening against

them with an army, encamped in a plain near

Kilflos or Kinlos. In this position he was at-

tacked by the Danes, and forced to retreat, after

being seriously wounded. The fortress of Nairn

then capitulated to the invaders, but in violation

of an express condition that their lives should

be saved, the whole garrison were immediately

hanged.

To expel the Danes from Moray, Malcolm mus-

tered all his forces, and in the spring of 1010, with

a powerful army he encamped at Mortlach. The

Danes advanced to give him battle, and a fierce 1

and sanguinary conflict ensued, the result of i

which was long doubtful. Three of the Scottish
|

commanders fell at the very cominencemcnt of the

engagement, when a panic seized their followers,

and the king was borne along with them in their

retreat till he was opposite the church of IMort-

lacli, then a chapel dedicated to St. ]\Iol:icli.

There, while his army were partially pent up in
j

their flight by the contraction of the vale and the

narrowness of the pass, he made a vow to endow
j

a religious house on the field of battle should he
|

obtain the victor}^ Tiien, rallying and rousing

his troops by an animated appeal to their patriot-

ism, and placing himself at their head, he wheeled

round upon the Danes, threw Enotus, one of the
I

Danish generals, from his horse, and killed him
|

with his own hand. The Scots, catching his spi-
\

rit, made an impetuous onset on the enemy, whom !,

they drove from the field, thickly strewing the

ground with their corpses. In gratitude to God

for this signal victor}^, Malcolm got the church of

IMortlacli converted into a cathedral, and the vil-
j

lage into the seat of a diocese, said to have been I

i

the earliest bishopric in Scotland. His endowment
j

of it was confirmed by Pope Benedict, but in 1139

i

i
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tlie bishopric was removed to Aberdeen. In tlie

order of precedence, wliile this see lasted, it raulc-

ed next to that of St. Andrews. It was long

thought that, during tlieir occupation of j\Iuray,

the Danes had fortified Burgh Head, but the re-

mains there found are now believed to be either

of Roman or Pietisii construction.

To revenge this defeat and olher disasters which,

at tiiis time, the invaders experienced on the coasts

of Angus and Buchan, Sweyn, the Danish king,

despatched Camus, one of the ablest of his gene-

rals, to the Scottish shores. He had scarcely,

however, eft'ected a landing on the coast of Angus,

In the neighbourhood of Carnoustie, than he was

attacked in the plains of Barrio by iMalcolni, at

the head of a considerable army, and, after a

bloody contest, defeated with great loss. He

sought safety in flight, but was closely pm-sued,

and killed. 'I'hc [ilace of iiis overthrow is indi-

cated by a monumental stone, called tlie Cross of

Camus, which stands on a small tumulus at Ca-

nuistown, a village which has been named after

hiiu, in the ])arisli of Monikie. The tumulus,

according to tradition, contains the remains of

Camus, and the story of the old chroniclers is

tliat, after his defeat, he fled northwards, with a

view to escape to jNIoray, where were some of his

ships, but was pursued and oveitakcn here by

Bobert, the remote ancestor of the earls iNIarischal,

who killed him b}' cleaving his skull with his bat-

tle-axe. About the year IGiO, the tumulus was

ojiened by order of Sir Patrick Maule, afterwards

first earl of Panmure, when a skeleton of large

dimensions in good })r('servalion was discovered,

with part of the skull wanting.

The Danes, however, were not to be deterred

even b}' the repeated defeats which they had sus-

tained, from their long cherished but often baffled

scheme of the conquest of North Britain. And as

for the Scots, the spirit which animated them has

been well expressed in the lines of Home:

" The Dnncs have liindeti, wo must be:it tlieiii b;idc,

Or live the slaves of Dciinuirk.

In 1014, another Danish force landed on the

coast of Buchan, about a mile west from Slaines

castle, in the parish of Cruden. The Danes on

this occasion were led by Sweyn's celebrated son,

Canute, afterwards king of England and Denmark,

and again they experienced a signal overthrow.

The site of the field of battle has been ascertained

by the discovciy of liiiiiian bones left exposed by

the shifting or blowing of the sand. Some writers

assert that a treaty was entered into with the

Danes, by which it was stipulated that the field of

battle should be consecrated by a bishop as a

burying-place for those of their countrymen who

had fallen, and that a church should be there built

and priests appointed in all time coming, to say

masses for the souls of the slain. It is certain

that a chapel was erected in this neighbourhood,

dedicated to St. Olaus, the site of which has be-

come invisible by being covered with sand. An-

other and far more important stipulation, it is said,

was made by which the Danes agreed to quit

every jiart of the Scottish coasts, and this was fol-

lowed by the final departure, the same year, of

these ruthless invaders from Scotland.

]\Ialcolm was next engaged in war with the

Xortluunbrians, and having, in 1018, led his army

to Carhani, near AV'erk, on the southern bank of

the Tweed, he was met there by Uclitred carl of

Northumberland, when a desperate battle tocik

])Iace. The victoiy was claimed by PTclitred, who

was, soon after, assassinated, ^^ hen on his way to

pay his obeisance to the great Canute. I'o prevent

an invasion of his territories, Eadnlpli, his brother

and successor, in the year 1020, ceded to ]\Ialcolm

the fertile region of Lodonia, or Lothian. That

extensive and beautiful district had formerly been

a part of the Anglo-Saxon kingdom of Northum-

bria, Avhicli in the time of Ivlwin, from whom

Edinburgh derives its name, and who began his

reign in G17, had extended from the Hnmber to

the Avon ; but ever after it had thus been ac-

quired by Malcolm II., it formed an integral por-

tion of the Scottish dominions. On this occasion,

Malcolm gave oblations to the churches and gitts

to the clergy, who, in return, bestowed on him the

proud designation of victoi-iosissimufi.

Ill 1031, Canute, the Danish king of England,

the most powerful monarch of his time, invaded

Scotland, to compel Malcolm to do homage for

Cumbria, which he had refused, on the ground

that Canute was a usurper; but, after some nego-

tiations, Duncan, Malcolm's grandson, afterwards
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king, agreed to fulfil tlie conditions on wliicli that Malcolm died in 1033, and was buried at lona.

territory liad been granted to the Scots, and the usual place of sepulchre, for many centuries, of

Canute immediately returned to England. the Scottish kings.

Both Boece and Fordun as.^ert tiiat jMalcolm U.

was murdered in the central tower of the castle of

Glammis in Forfarshire, which seems to have been

his usual place of residence. Wyntoun states that

the cause of the insurrection which led to his as-

sassuiatioii was that he had ravished a virgin.

His words are

:

" lie luid rewvist a. f'ayre Jlay

Of the land there lyaiul by."

Tradition still pretends to point out a passage in

the castle, with blood-stains on the floor, where

tlie fatal act was perpetrated. It avers also that

the ground being covered with snow, the assassins,

in their tlight, mistook their way, and uncon-

sciously entered on the loch of Forfar, when the

ice broke, and they were drowned ; a very conve-

nient method of getting rid of imaginary mur-

derers. . The whole story is a fiction of that fertile

inventor of Scottish history. Hector Boece, and is

totally incredible, even although no less than three

obelisks, with symbolic characters, representative

of the conspiracy and the pursuit of the fancied

regicides, have for centuries stood in different

parts of the parish of Glammis, to commemorate

it. Pirdcerton {Eiiquiri/, vol. ii. p. 192) contenda

that Malcolm died a natural death, which is more

likely than the fabulous account of his assassination.

The authenticity of the pretended laws of Mal-

colm, called the Leges Malcolmi, has been denied

by Lord Ilailes. He, liowevcr, introduced many

improvements into the internal policy of his king-

dom, and in him the churcli always found a guar-

dian and benefactor.

l\Ialcolm's daughter, Bethoc, man-ied Crinan,

abbot of Dunkcld, and this marriage gave a long

line of kings to Scotland, ending with Alexander

III. Their son, Duncan, succeeded his maternal

grandfather on tlie throne, and was " the gracious

Duncan," murdered by Macbeth. Crinan is styled
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by Fordun, Abthanus de Dull ac Senescliallus In-

aularum. The title of abtliaiie appears to have ;

belonged to an abbot who possessed a thaiiedoni.

It was peculiar to Scotland, and onl}- three ab-

thaneries arc named in ancient records, namely,

tliose of Dull in Atliol, Kirkmichael in Strathardle, i

and Maddevty in Strathearn. The title of thano, :

previously known in England, was not used in ;

Scotland till the introduction of the Saxon policy

into the latter kingdom by Edgar, who began his

reign in 1097. The three tlianedoms mentioned :

' nnder the name of fibthaneries appear to liave

i been vested in the crown, and wei'e conferred by i

i
Edgar on his younger brother, Elhclred, who was ;

I
abbot of Dunkeld. On Etlielred's death they re- :

verted to the crown. i

I

In the time of Crinan, "there was certainly,"
'

j

says Mr. Skene, " no such title in Scotland, but it

is equally certain that there were no cliarters, and

j

nlthougli Crinan had not the name, he may have

j

been in fact the same thing. He was certainly

abbot of Dunkeld, and he may have likewise ])0s-

sessed that extensive territory wdiich, from the

same circumstance, was afterwards called the ab-

thanedom of Dull. Fordun certainly inspected

the records of Dunkeld, and the circumstance can

only be explained by supposing that Fordun may

have there seen the deed granliug the abthanedom

of Dull to Ethelrcd, abbot of Dunkeld, which

I

would naturally state that it liad been possessed

by his proavus Crinan, and fi'om which Fordun

would conclude that as Crinan possessed the

thing, he was also known by the name Abtha-

7UIS de Dull. From this, therefore, we learn the

very singular fact that the race which gave a long

line of kings to Scotland, were originally lords of

that district in Athol lying between Strathtay

and llannoch, which was afterwards termed the

Aht/iania de Dull^ {Skene's Ilujldmds of Scut-

land, vol. ii. pp. 137, 138.)

Departing from the generally received liistor}'

of Scotlanii at this remote and confused period of

our annals, Mr. Skene is of opinion, from the re-

markable coincidence which he found between the

Irish annals and the Xorse Sagas, that two Mal-

colms of different families reigned in Scotland

during the thirty years allotted to one, the second

of these Malcolms being in possession of the

M.VLCOLM IT. :

I

I

•

throne the last four years of that time. From his \\

account of the second Norwegian kingdom in the

north of Scotland, wliich lasted only seven years, :

that is, from 98G to 993, (vol. i. p. 108,) we learn
;

that Sigurd, the 14th iarl of Orkney, after having
|j

defeated a Celtic army under Kenneth and Mels- !

nechtan, maormors of Dala (.Argyle) and lloss, in !

an attempt on their part to recover Caithness, in
|

which ]\Ielsnechtan was slain, was obliged to re-

th'e to the Orkneys, by the approach of Malcolm, !

maormor of Jloray, with a large Scottish force, and
|

he was never afterwards able to regain a footing

on the mainland of Scotland. He had previously

made himself nmster of the districts of lloss, IMo-

ray, Sutherland, and Aigyle, but had been driven

out of them by a sudden rising of their maormors.
i

These districts were left in possession of IMalcolm,

who was enabled, by his increased power and in-

fluence, and great personal talents, even to scat :|

liimself on the throne itself. In « hat his title to I

the crown consisted is not known, but whatever it

was, ho was supported in it by the Celtic inhabi-
j

tauts of the whole of the north of Scotland. His

descendants, for many generations afterwards,

constantly asserted their right to the throne, and
^

as invariably received the assistance of the Celtic

portion of its inhabitants. "In all probability,"
^

says Mr. Skene, " the Highlanders were attempt-
,

i

ing to oppose the hereditary succession in the
!

[

family of Kenneth M'Alpin, and to introduce the !

more ancient Pictish law." Kenneth III. is said to '

'

have got a law passed by his chiefs, on the moot- '

hill of Scone, that the son, or nearest male lieir of

the king, should always succeed to the throne, h

and when not of age, that a regent should be ap-
i

pointed to rule the kingdom in his name until he I

attained his fourteenth year, when he should as-
!

sume the reins of government. As the sovereign- :

j

ty was not transmitted by the strict line of here- j'

ditary descent, brothers, by the law of tanistry, I

being preferred to sons in the succession, rival

contests and civil wars for the crown were fre-
|

quent. Kenneth's law, if passed at all, of which
|

there is no evidence, seems not to have been acted

upon, as two princes, Constantine IV., the son of
|

Culen, (mentioned on page 84,) and Kenneth IV.
j

the son of Dutf, succeeded to the crown before
j

Malcolm; that is, on the hitherto received suppo-
;

il
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sition that Malcolm II. was the son of Kenneth

III., and grandson of Malcolm I. If sncli was the

case, Kenneth IV., the son of Dnff, was his cou-

sin, and, during his reign, Malcolm stood in the

I

position of lieir presumptive to the crown, and

• was regulus or prince of Cumberland.

I

According to Skene, however, he Avas maormor

I

of Moray, and so far as appears, not allied to the

i
royal family at all. He seems to have made war

i
on Kenneth IV., but by the interposition of Fo-

;

thad, one of the Scottish bishops, a treaty was

i
agreed to between them, by which it was stipn-

!
lated that Kenneth should remain king for life,

I and that Malcolm and his heirs should succeed

after him. Impatient to possess the crown, how-

ever, Malcolm again took the field, and in a

bloody battle at Monivaird in Stratliearn, Ken-

neth, after a brave resistance, was killed. Ac-

coi'ding to the register of St. Andrews, Kenneth

j

was slain " at Moieghvard," in 1001. Other ac-

i counts make it 1003.

Soon after becoming king of Scotland, to conci-

liate Sigurd, earl of Orkney, called the Stout, and

described as " a great chieftain and wide-landed,"

^falcolm gave him his daughter for his second

wife. The issue of this marriage was four sons.

The eldest, Thorfiun, is said in the Orkneyinga

Saga, to have been " a great chieftain, one of the

largest men in point of stature, ugly of aspect,

black haired, sharp featured, and somewhat taw-

ny, and the most martial looking man ; he was a

1
contentious man, and covetous both of money and

dignity ; victorious and clever in battle, and a

bold attacker. He was then five winters old

when Malcolm, king of the Scots, his mother's

father, gave him an iarl's title, and Caithness to

rule over, but lie was fourteen winters when he

j

prepared maritime expeditions from his country,

I

and made war on the domains of other princes."

!
He thus earl}' began his career as a Vikingr. It

was on the deatii of his father Sigurd, M'ho was

slain in 1014, at the battle of Clontarf in Ireland,

fighting against the renowned Brian Boroliime,

that King Malcolm bestowed on him the district

of Caithness, his eldest half-brother, Einar, hav-

ing succeeded to the iarldoni of the Orkneys.

In the Irish annals, under the year 1029, it is

recorded that " Malcolm, son of Maelbrigde, son

of Rory, King of Alban, died." His reign would
j

thus ajipear to have lasted only twenty-six, in- '

|

stead of thiity years. On his death, the Scottish
j

i

portion of the nation succeeded in placing upon

the throne the son of Kenneth FV., also named

Malcolm, for whom, according to Mr. Skene's

view, he has been mistaken. In the Orkneyinga !

Saga he is known by the name of Kali Hundason,
|

and in the history of Scotland, of Malcolm II.

This third Malcolm commenced his reign by

attempts to reduce the power of the Norwegians

in Scotland, but found them too strong for him. !

Tliorfinn having refused to pay him tribute for the
j

territories on the Scottish mainland, wliich he
|

had received from his grandfather, Alalcolm gave
;

Caithness to Moddan, his nephew, with the title

of iarl. To enable him to take possession of his

new territory, Moddan raised an army in Suther-

land, but Thorfinn collected his followers, and

having been joined by Tliorkell Fostri, with a

large force from the Orkneys, presented such a

strong front, that Moddan found himself obliged

to retire without hazarding a battle. On this

Thorfinn siibjected to himself Sutherland and

Ross, and carried his arms far and wide in Scot-
\

land. He then returned to Caithness. I

Malcolm, on his part, with a fleet of eleven
j

ships, sailed towards the north, but was attacked

and defeated in the Pentland Frith by Thorfinn,

and his fleet completely dispersed. This sea-fight

took place a little way east of Durness. IMal-

colm fled to the Moray Frith, followed by Thor-

finn and Tliorkell. The latter, however, was soon

despatched to Thurso, to attack Moddan, who

had arrived tliere with a large arm}'. lie reached

Thurso at night, and having set fire to the house
i

in which Moddan slept, that chieftain leapt down
j

from the beams of an upper story, and was slain

by Tliorkell, who cut off his head. After a brief

fight, during which a great number were killed,

his army surrendered to Tliorkell, who, with ad-

ditional forces, then rejoined Thorfinn in Moray.
\

In the meantime, Malcolm had levied forces
|

both in the east and west of Scotland, and having
|

been joined by a number of Irish auxiliaries, he
i

marched to give battle to Thorfinn. The opposing
!

armies met in 1033, on the southern shore of the
|

Beauly Frith, when Malcolm was totally defeated,
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Miul, acconliii;,' to some accounts, slain. Otlicrs

state that lie escaped by fliglit, and died the fol-

lowing }-ear. 'J'horiinn theroaftei- conquered the

whole of Scotland, all the way south to Fife. He

then returned to his ships.

The only portion of the territory of the northern

ricts that liad not been subjected to his power

was the district of Athole and the gi-oater part of

.\rgyle, and here the Scots, on the death of I\Ial-

colni, sought for a king; Duncan, (see vol. li.,

l>age 82,) the son of Criuan, abbot of Dunkeld,

and grandson of Malcolm If., being raised to the

\ aeant throne.

]\r.\LCOL^[ nr., better known in history by

the name of J\IalcoIm Ceau Mui; or great head,

was the elder of the two sons of Duncan, king of

Scots, by his queen, a sister of Siward, carl of

Northumberland. He was born about 1024, be-

fore his father was called to the throne, and,

when the latter in 10:10, after a reign of six years,

was assassinated by IMacbeth, j\Ialcolm, then oidy

fifteen years of age, fled to Cumberland, whilst

his brother, Donald Bane, took refuge in the He-

brides.

On the accession of Kdward the Confessor to

the throne of iMigland in lObS, ]\Ialcolni ^\'as

placed by his father-in -hiw Siward, under his

])rotection, Avhen he became a resident at the

Ihiglish coui-t. In his absence various attempts

w ere niad(i by his adherents in Scotland to dis-

possess Macbeth of the throne, in one of which

Malcolm's grandfather, the aged Crinan, abbot of

Diinkeld, was slain in 1015. Nine years tliei-e-

aftcr, namely in 1054, I\I;Ucolm obtained from Ed-

w.wd the assistance of an Anglo-Saxon army,

under tlie command of Earl Siward, to support his

claims to the crown. 1'liis force he accompanied

into Scolbmd, and a furious battle is said to liave

ensued, in which iMacbelh lost 3,000 men, and

the Anglo-Saxons 1,500, including Osbert, the

son of Siward. Macbeth fled northwards, leaving

Lothian in possession of Siward, who placed Mal-

colm as king over that district, where the Saxon

influence prevailed. Supported, however, by the

Celtic inhabitants of the nortli of Scotland, and

by the Norwegians of the districts under the sway

of 'I'hdi tinn, the powerful earl of Orkney, Jlacbeth

was still enabled to retain possession of the throne.

In 1056, another English army was sent to the

assistance of Slalcolni. At this lime Tliorfinn,

and the sou of the king of Norway-, had gone to
;

the south, wllh the sti-ength of the Norwegian

power in Scotland, to attempt the subjugation of
[

England, but, according to the Irish annals, " God
j

was against them in that affair," and their fleet
jj

was dispersed in a storm. iMacbeth, dejirived of
(j

Thorfinn's aid, was not able to withstand this new I;

array against him. He was driven north to ;j

Lumiihanaii in Aberdeenshire, where he was over-
;

|

taken and slain, December 5th, 1056. The at- jl

tempt of his stepson, Lulach, to succeed him on I

the thrcnie, was, after a struggle of fo\ir montlis.
j

put an end to by his defeat and death at Essie in (|

Strathbogie, on the 25th of the Ibllowing April.
j|

Malcolm was soon af;er crowned at Scone.
|

Except the teri-itories ])0sscsscd by Thorfinn, con- j!

sisting, besides Orknc}' and the Hebrides, of the
,j

nine districts or earldoms of Caithness, Ness,
;

j

Sutherland, Ross, Morav, Garmoran, Buehau, i

!l

j\Iar, and Angus, he was master of all the rest of
!

I

Scotland. His first care was to recompense those

who had supported him in his struggle for the
j

crown. His next, to recover those northern dis-

tricts which still remained nnder Norwegian rule.

The most remarkable reward which he bestowed
'

was on Macduff, maormor of Fife (see art. Fifk,
|

page 201), vol. ii. of this work.) The titles of
|

earl and thane which jMalcolm is said to have in- '.

trodiiced, were not known in Scotland till after
j

the Saxon colonization in Edgar's time, the Nor-

wegian title iarl being confined to the Oikneys
j

and to Caithness.
|

Shaksjiere's immort;il ti-agedy of Jifacbeth, '

founded on the fables of Boece and the traditions

of the times, lias thrown an interest round the

character of the ])rincipal personages concerned in
:

it, which could never have been created by the

facts of sober history; but there is sufllcient in

the events of jNIalcolm's reign to render it one of i

the most important in our annals. Gratitude to

the king of England, as well as the unsettled state '

of his own kingdom, led ]Malcolni to cultivate the
1

alliance of Edwai'd the Confessor, and he paid
j

that monarch a visit in 1059. He had contracted
,

an intimate friendship with Tostig, -who had been

created earl of Northunibcilaiid. He was the son
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of the celebrated Earl Godwin and brother of Ha-

rold, the last king of Saxon England. Tliov

were for a time esteemed "sworn brotliers,*' but a

quarrel having taken place between tliem in 1061,

Malcolm made a hostile incursion into Northum-

berland, and after laying that country waste, he

even violated the peace of St. Cutlibert, in Holy

Island.

On the death of Tliorfiiin in 10G4, his Norwe-

gian kingdom in Scotland, wliicli liad lasted thirty

years, fell to pieces, and tlie different districts he

had conquered reverted to their native chiefs,

" who were territorially born to rule over them,"

{Orkneyinga Saga). Malcolm married Thorfinn's

widow, Ingioborge, and by her he had a son, Dun-

can II. (see vol. ii. p. 83.) This marriage, how-

ever, does not seem in the slightest to have ad-

vanced his interests in the north. Tlie chiefs of

tlie districts formerly in subjection to the Norwe-

i
gians refused to acknowledge his sovereignty, and

I

chose a king for themselves, Donald, the son of

j

Malcolm, maormor of Mora}', and king of Scot-

j

land (see page 87 of tliis volume). It took Mal-

I cohn twenty-one years to reduce the northern

I

districts under his dominion. In 1070, he is

said to have obtained a victor}' over his op-

ponents, but it was not decisive. In 1077,

as the Saxon Ciironicle informs us, lie over-

threw jNIaolsnochtan, maormor of Moray, the

son of Lulacli, and in 1085 he got rid of botli

his rivals by death. Tlie Irish annals say

that in that year, " IMalsnectai, son of Lu-

lach, king of Moray, died peacefully. Donald,

son of Malcolm, king of Albaii, died a violent

death."

Long previous to this, however, events in

connexion with England had occurred which exer-

cised an important influence on his reign, and

which may now be briefly detailed. Edward the

Confessor died 5th January lOGG, and was suc-

ceeded by Harold. Tostig, the brother of the

latter, had, from his extortions and liis vio-

lence, so irritated the people of Northumberland,

that they rose against him and drove him from

his earldom. This happened a few years previous

to the death of Edward the English king. Har-

old found it prudent to abandon his brother's

cause, on which Tostig became his bitterest ene-

my. He first took refuge in Flanders, with Bald-

win, his fatlier-iu-law, and afterwards visited

William, duke of Normandy. On Harold's acces-

sion, he collected about sixty vessels in the ports

of Flanders, and committed some depredations on

the south and east coasts of England. He next

sailed to Northumberland, and was there joined

by Harold Ilalfager, by some called Iladrada,

king of Norway, with 300 sail. Entering the

Ilumber, they disembarked tiie troops, but were

defeated and put to flight, when Tostig proceeded

into Scotland. It is not known whether Malcolm

received him at his court, or aided, or comite-

nanced in any way, his projects against his bro-

ther, the new king of England. Lord Ilailes

thinks it probable that he was not received by

Malcolm, but only remained at anchor in some

Scottish bay, with the remains of his fleet, till

joined by reinforcements from Norwa}'. On re-

ceiving these he and Iladrada again invaded Eng-

land, and were both slain at tlie battle of Stam-

ford Bridge, 25th September 10G6. Tlie battle of

Hastings took place on the 14tli of the following

October, when Harold was killed and William the

Conqueror became king of England.

Two years thereafter, Edgar Atiieling, grand-

son of Edmund Ironside, and the heir of the Sax-

on line, with his mother, the princess Agatha,

and his two sisters, Margaret and Christina, ar-

rived in Scotland. In their train came many

Anglo-Saxons, and among them Gospatrick and

other nobles of Northumberland. Some authors

say that it was their intention to proceed to Ilun-

gar}', the native country of Edgar and his two

sisters, when they were driven b}' a storm into

the Frith of Forth. INIalcolm then resided at the

tower which still bears his uanie, on the small

peninsular mount, in the glen of Pittencrieff, near

Dunfermline, in Fifesliire. On hearing of the

arrival of the illustrious strangers, he hastened to

invite them to his royal tower. There they were

liospitably entertained, and as he was at this time

a widower, there his nuptials with the princess

Margaret were, soon after, celebrated with un-

wonted splendour.

Margaret was one of the most pious and accom-

plished princesses of her day, and her character

and influence tended much to improve and refine
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the rude innnneis of her husband's subjects. On

her husband lamself her vu'tues and gentleness

exercised a most salutarj' power. We learn from

Turgot, her confessor and biographer, tliat Malcolm

liked and disliked whatever she did, and that such

was his veneration for her worth and piety, that

behig unable to read, he was In the habit of kiss-

ing her missals and prayer-books, which, in token

of his devotion, he caused to be splendidly bound

and adorned with gold and precious stones. She

persuaded him to pass the night in fervent prayer,

much to the astonishment of his courtiers. " I

must acknowledge," adds Tnrgot, " that I often

admired the works of the divine mercy, when I

saw a king so religions, and such signs of deep

compunction in a laic."

Into the court of Malcolm she introduced un-

usual splendour. She encouraged the importation

of rich dresses of various colours for himself and

his nobles, which led to the commencement of a

trading Intercourse with foreign countries, and to

this reign may be assigned the introduction of the

wearing of tartan, w hicli came afterwards to dis-

tinguish the clans. In iier own attire slie was

magniticent, and slie increased the number of at-

tendants on the person of the king. Under her

guidance the public appearances of the sovereign

were attended with more paiade and ceremony

tlian had ever previously been tlie case. She also

caused the king to be served .nt table in gold and

silver plate ;
" at least," says Turgot, afraid of

going beyond the truth, " the disljcs and vessels

were gilt or silvered over."

Malcolm seems to have intrusted the care of

matters respecting religion and tlie internal polity

of the kingdom, entirely to her. Anxious for the

reformation of the church, she held IVcqnent con-

ferences with the clergy. On one of these occa-

sions the proper season for celebrating Lent was

the subject of discussion between them. The

clergy knew no language but the Gaelic, and the

king, who had spent tifteen years in England, ami

understood the Saxon as well as his own native

language, acted as interpreter. " Three days,"

says Turgot, " did she employ the sword of the

Spirit in combating their errors. She seemed an-

other St. Helena out of the Scriptures convincing

the Jews." At last the clei'gy yielded to her

views. She was also the moans of inducing them
j

to restore the celebration of the Lord's supper, i

which had fallen into disuse, and of keeping sacred

the Sabbath, which was scarcely distinguishable

from any other day of the week.

Malcolm espoused the cause of his brother-in-

law with great ardour. In September 10G9, witli

the assistance of the Danes, and accompanied by

Edgar Atheling, the Anglo-Saxon and Northum-

brian nobles, led by Gospatrick, invaded England,

and having taken the castle of York by storm,

tliey put the Norman garrison to the sword. In-

stead, however, of following up their success, the

Northumbrians departed to their own terrltor}',
|

while the Danes retired to their ships. Tlie secret

of this change in their proceedings was that Wil-

liam had gained over Gospatrick, by conferring on

him the earldom of Northumberland, and had
|

bribed Osberne the Danish conunander, to quit

the English shores. Edgar Atheling and his few

remaining adiierents were, In consequence, obliged

to retreat to Scotland.

The following year, Malcolm led a numerous

army into England, by the western borders,

through Cumberland. If it had been intended

that he was to support the movements of Edgar,

and his Danish and Northumbrian allies, he came

too late. Nevertheless, his operations were ener-

getic enough. After wasting Teesdale, he defeat-

ed an Anglo-Norman army that attempted to op-

pose his progress, at a place called Hinderskell,

penetrated into Cleveland, and thence advanced

into the eastern parts of the diocese of Durham,

spreading desolation and dismay wherever he ap-

peared, lie spared neitlier age nor sex, and even

tlie churches, witli those who had taken refuge in

them, were burnt to the ground. While thus en-

gaged, he received intelligence that his own terri-

tory of Cumberland was laid waste by Gospa-

trick, who, as already stated, had gone over to

King William's interest.

On his return, Malcolm led captive into Scot-

land such a multitude of young men and women,

that, says the English historian, Simeon of Dur-

ham, "for many years they were to be found in

every Scottish village, nay, even in every Scot-

tish hovel." In 1072, William retali.ated by In-

vading Scotland both by land and sea. He peuc-
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trated as far as the Frith of Forth, but finding the

conquest of Scothmd not so eas}' a task as had

been tliat of England, a peace was concluded at

Abernethy, the old Pictish capital, when Malcolm

consented, in accordance with the feudal custom

of the Normans, to do homage for the lands which

he held in England. Among the hostages which

he gave on this occasion was his eldest son, Dun-

can, who thus had the benefit of living many

years under the Norman monarchs of England.

By this peace, Malcolm, in a manner, abandoned

the cause of his weak-minded brother-in-law, Ed-

gar Atheling, and that personage, after making

his peace with the English monarch, received

from liim a handsome pension, and went to reside

at Rouen in Normandy.

With Edgar Atheling, Malcolm had refused to

give up to the English king, the exiled nobles and

others who had taken refuge in Scotland. With

i the double view of strengthening his power by the

influx of so many brave and skilful strangers, and

of benefiting his subjects by the introduction

among them of those who possessed a higher civ-

ilization than, in their rude and unsettled state,

they had ever known, he even encouraged them to

come into his kingdom. Among them were per-

sons of Norman as well as of Anglo-Saxon line-

age, who had fled from the exactions and tyranny

of the Conqueror, or had been refused promised

rewards for their services. Malcolm received and

welcomed them all, and to these Norman knights

and adventurers who thus came flocking across

the border, he gave lands and heritages, to induce

them to remain. 1'hey thus became the progeni-

tors ( f many of our noble families. Thousands of

the poorer English, too, to escape the grinding

oppressions of their Norman rulers, sought a re-

fuge in Scotland, some even selling themselves for

slaves, to obtain a subsistence.

Gospatrick, having incurred the suspicions of

William, M'as deprived of the earldom of North-

umberland, and returning into Scotland, succeeded

in being reconciled to Malcolm, from whom he

obtained the manor of Dunbar, and other lands in

the Merse and Lothian. lie was the ancestor of

the earls of Dunbar and March. In 1079, in tlie

absence of 'WiHIam in Normandy, Malcolm again

invaded Northumberland, and wasted the country

as far as the river Tyne. The following year,

Robert, the eldest son of William, entered Scot- :i

land, but was obliged to retreat. To check the ji

incursions of the Scots into England, he erected a
|

fortress near the Tyne, at a place called Moncas- '

ter or Monkchester, from its being the residence

of monks, but the name of which was thereafter
|

in consequence changed to Newcastle. !

At the request of his queen, who has been can-

onized in the Romish Calendar as St. Margaret,
j

and of lier confessor, Turgot, Malcolm founded

and endowed a monastery, in the vicinity of his
;

residence, for thirteen Culdees, which, with its

|

church or cliapel, was dedicated to the Holy

Trinity. Tliis was the origin of the abbey of

Dunfermline.
|

The latter portion of Malcolm's reign was occu-
j \

pied in a struggle Avith William Rufus, the son
j

\

and successor of the Conqueror on the throne of
\

I

England. Cumberland and his other English
j

possessions having been withheld from him by
!

the English king, Malcolm, assembling his forces,
\

broke across the borders, in May 1091, when

he penetrated as far as Chester, on the Wear;
j

but on the approach of the English, with a
j

superior force, he prudently retreated without

hazarding a battle, and thus secured his booty

and his captives. In the autumn of the same year,

Rufus led a numerous army into Scotland. jMal-
|

colm advanced to meet him. By the intercession,
j

however, of Edgar Atheling, who accomi)anied the
I

Scottish army, and of Robert, duke of Normandy,
|

the eldest brother of the English king, a peace was
j

concluded, without the risk of a battle, Rufus con-
'

senting to restore to Malcolm twelve manors in I:

England which he had held under the Conqueroi-,
j

arul to make an annual payment to him of twelve
,

marks of gold, and Malcolm, on his part, agreeing
j

to do homage for the same, under the same tenure
|

of feudal service as before.
j

In 1092, William Rufus began to fortify the
j

citv of Carlisle and to build a castle there. As
!

this was an encroachment on Malcolm's territory
I

of Cumberland he remonstrated against it, when

the English king proposed a personal interview on
j j

the subject. Malcolm, in consequence, proceeded
\\

to Gloucester, 24th August 1093. As a prelimi-

nary measure Rufus required him again to do
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lioniago to liiin there, in presence of the Englisli

bnrous. This Malcolm absolutely refused, but iil-

tliougli he luul done homage to Rnfiis for his Eng-

lisli lands not much above a year before at Abcr-

nctliy, ho now oflercd to do it, ns formerly had

Dcen the custom, on the frontiers of the two king-

doms, and ill presence of the chief men of botli.

Some of his councillors advised Rufus to detain

the Scottisli king, now tliat he had him in his

power, till lie had complied with his request; but

although he had the grace to reject this base pro-

jiosal, it was with the most unkiiigly contumely

tliat ho dismissed him from his coui-t. ]\Lalcolm

returned home, burning with indignation and

vowing revenge, and hastily assembling a tumul-

tuous and undisciplined army, he burst into Xortli-

umberland, whicli lie wasted, tlien, sweeping on-

wards to Alnwick, he laid siege to the castle. lie

had not been many days there, however, before

he was surprised by Robert de i\Ioubray, at the

head of a strong Norm;in and English Ibrce. A
fierce engagement ensued, when INLilcoIm was

slain, with his eldest son. This fatal fight took

))lacc Ultli Xovember 1093. Malcolm's fourth

son, Edgar, who was also in the battle, escaped, and

three days after reached the castle of Edinburgh,

where his mother lay dying. On his appearance,

she in a faint voice cagcrlj' enquired, " How fares

it with your father, and your brother, Edward?'"

The youth was silent. "I know all," she ci'ied
;

" I adjure you by this holy cross, and by your filial

atlection, that you tell me the truth." lie an-

swered, "your husband and your son are both

slain." Raising her eyes and hands to heaven,

the dying queen said, " Praise and blessing be to

thee, .\lmight3- God, that thou hast been pleased

to nrake me endure so bitter anguish in the hour

of my departure, thereby, as 1 trust, to purify me,

in sonie measure, from the corruption of my sins.

,\ii(l thou. Lord Jesus Christ, who, through the

will of the Father, hast enlivened the world by

thy death, O deliver me!" and straightway ex-

]iired. So gieat was the benevolence of this truly

excellent princess that she secretly paid the ran-

som of many of her Saxon countrymen in bondage

iu Scotland, when she found their condition too

gi-ievons to be born(\

The character of Malcolm Canmore is that of

an able, wise, and energetic monarch, wlio, after

sidijccting to his sovereignty the vai-ious rude a:;d
;

discordant tribes that iiiliabited his kingdom, ^^as
!

successful in maintaining its independence unim-

paired during a long reign of 37 years, and that

against two such formidable opponents as AVilliam

the Conqueror and his son, "William Rufus. As
i

an instance of his personal intrepidity the follon-- !

ing incident is related: Having received iutilli- i

gencc that one of his nobles had forined a design

against his lite, he took an opporfunity, when out

hunting, of leading him into a solitary i)lace, '

then, unsheathing his sword, he said, '' Here wc
\

are alone, and armed alike. You seek my life.
|

Take it." The astonished noble, overcome by I

this address, threw himself at the feet of tiie king,
j

and implored his clemency, which was readily i

granted.
j

The removal of his court from -\bernethy to
|

Diinfermline, about the year 10G3, and the en-
^

coiu'ageiiieiit which, after the Norman conquest of i

iMighiml and his marriage v. ith Queen Margaret,
j

ho gave to the immigration of Anglo-Saxons and
!

Norrnau adventurers into the kingdom, had the
|

eflect of causing the Gaelic population to retire
[

inland from the plains, and to divide themselves

into clans and tribes, with the institution of sepa-

rate chiefs, and the preservation of all those feelings i

and usages which long kept them a peculiar and

distinct race from the other iidiabitants of Scot-

land. In the reign of IMalcolm Canmore, the i

whole of the countiy south of the Forth was ])0S-

sessed by the Scots, and those who spoke the

Saxon language, while the Celtic i)ortion of the

nation occupied the remaining districts. Tena-

cious of their native language and ancient customs,

the latter viewed with equal scorn and disgust the

introduction of foreign manners and races into the il

kingdom, and hence began that long struggle be- !'

tween the Scottish aiul Celtic communities wliich ;j

lasted for nearly seven hundred years, and was
jj

only terminated on the field of Culloden in 171G. 'i

"The people," says General Stewart of Garth, 'i

referring to the Gaelic inhabitants (Shctc/ics, vol.
|[

i. ]1. 20), " now beyond the reach of the laws, jl

became turbulent and fierce, revenging in person
j|

those wrongs for which the administrators of the
j|

laws were too distant and too feeble to aflbrd re- |i
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dress. Thence arose the institution of chiefs, wlio

naturally became the judges and arbiters in the

quarrels of their clansmen and followers, and who

were surrounded by men devoted to the defence of

their rights, their property, and their power ; and

accordingly the chiefs established within tlicir own

territories a jurisdiction almost whoUj' indepen-

dent of their liege lord."

Malcolm had by his queen, Margaret, six sons

and two daughters. The sons were, Edward,

who was slain with his fntlior near Alnwick

;

Etlielred, who was bred a churchman and became

Cuklce abbot of Dunkcld; Edmund; Edgar, Alex-

ander, and David. The three last were succes-

sively kings of Scotland. Tlie elder daughter,

]\Iaud, man-ied Henry I. of England, a man'iage

Avhich united the Saxon and the Norman dynas-

ties, and Mar}', the younger, became the wife of

Eustace, count of Boulogne.

MALCOLM IV., King of Scots, born in ILil,

was the son of Prince Henry, son of David I., and

succeeded his grandfather, IMay 24, 1153, a year

after his father's death, being then onlj' twelve

years old. The same year he was crowned at

Scone. He acquired the name of Malcolm the

Maiden, either from the effeminate expression of

his features, or from the softness of his disposition.

In tlie following November Somerled, thane of

Argyle, invaded the Scottish coasts, at the head of

all the fierce tribes of the isles. Tlie accession of

a new king, and he a mere boy, appears to have

been deemed by this formidable chief a favourable

time to endeavour to advance the cause of iiis

grandsons, the sons of the monk Wimond (see

vol. ii. p. 24) otherwise IMalcolni MacIIetli, who

claimed the earldom of Moray, and who had been

imprisoned in Roxburgh castle by David I. as an

impostor. In 1156, Donald, a son of Wimond,

was discovered skulking at Whithorn in Galloway,

and sent to share the captivity of his falhcr.

After harassing the country for some years, So-

merled was at last forced back to his own territo-

ries, by Gilchrist, earl of Angus, and a treaty of

peace was concluded with him in 1157, which was

considered of so much importance at tlie time as

to form an epoch in the dating of Scottish charters.

Malcolm had no sooner accommodated matters

with Somerled, than a demand was made upon

him by Henry I. of ]']ngland, for those parts of

the English territory which the Scottish kings

held in that kingdom. On this account Malcolm

had an interview with Henry at Chester, when he

did homage to him for the same, as his prede-

cessors had done, " reserving all his dignities."

Malcolm was then only sixteen years of age, and

ITcnry, taking advantage of his inexperience,

easi!}' prevailed upon the youthful monarch, to

surrender to him Cumberland and Northumber-

land, at the same time bestowing upon him the

earldom of Huntington. Fordun says that the

English king had, on this occasion, corrupted his

councillors.

In 1158, desirous of obtaining the honour of

knighthood from the king of England, Malcolm

repaired to Henry's court at Carlisle, for the pur-

pose, but Henry refused to bestow upon him an

honour, probably on account of his youth, which

was highly prized in that age, and M.alcolm re-

turned home greatly disappointed. In the follow-

ing year, IMalcolm passed over to France, where

the English monarch then was, and after serving

under his banner he was at lengtli knighted by

him. Tiie Scots, indignant at his subserviency to

Henry, and apprclicnsive that he would become

the mere vassal of England, sent a deputation to

remonstrate with ]\Ialcolm on his conduct. " We
will not," said thej", " have Henr}' to ride over

us." IMalcolm, in consequence, hastened back to

Scotland, and on his arrival assembled a parlia-

ment at Perth.

The lierce nobles who, as governors of their re-

spective provinces, were bound to maintain the

independence of the kingdom, availed themselves

of this opportunity to attempt to seize the king's

person. Accordingly, Fcrquhard, carl of Strath-

ern, and five other earls assaulted the tower in

which Malcolm had taken refngc, but were re-

pulsed. On the interference of the clergy, a re-

conciliation took place between tlie young king

and his offended nobles.

Fortunately for Malcolm an occasion almost

immediately occurred to give employment to them

and their followers. Fergus, lord of Gnlloway,

the most potent feudatory of the Scottish crown,

and the son-in-law of Henry I., threw ofi' his al-

legiance, and stirred up an insurrection against
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Malcolm. At the licnd of a powerful armj-, the

king entered Gallowny, and though twice driven

back, he at length succeeded, in 1160, in over-

powering its rebellious lord. He then compelled

Fergus to resign his lordship, and to give his son,

Uclitrcd, as an hostage for the peace concluded

between them ; after whicli Fergus retired to the

abbey of Holyi'ood, where he died of a broken

heai-t.

In llGl, a still more formidnblc insurrection

broke out among the iiilinbitants of the province

of Morn}', whicli comprehended all what is now

Elginshire, all Nairnshire, a considerable jmrt of

Banffshire, and the half of continental Tnveniess-

shire. Tlie pretext was the attempt on IMalcoIm's

]i!ii-t to intrude the Anglo-Norman jurisdiction

upon their Celtic customs, and the settling of

Flemish colonists among them. The men of INIo-

rny were never wanting in an excuse for rising in

•ii-ms. 'J'hey were the most unruly nnd rebellions

of all the subjects of the sovereigns of Scotland.

According to Fordun, " no solatiums or largesses

could nllm'o, or treaties or oaths bind them to

their duty." On this occasion the insurgents laid

wnstc the neighbouring counties, and so regard-

less were they of the royal authority that they

actually hanged the her.ilds -who were sent to

snmmon them to lay down their arms. IVIaleobn

despatched against them a strong Ibrcc under that

Earl Gilchrist who had been sent against Somer-

led, bnt he was routed, and forced to recross the

Grampians.

This defeat roused all the energy of ]\Ialcolm's

character, and with the whole arraj- of the king-

dom he marched against them, lie found them

assembled on the muir of Urqnhart, near the Spey,

ready to give him battle. After crossing that

river, iMalcoIm's nobles, seeing their strength, ad-

vised him to negotiate with the rebels, and to pro-

mise them that if they snbmitted, their lives would

be spared. The i\Ioraynien accepted the offer,

the king kept his word, and now occurred the ex-

traordinary circumstance of diff'erent parts of the

country exchanging their populations. To put an

end, at once and for ever, to the frequent insur-

rections which occurred in the province, IMalcolm

ordained that all who had been engaged in the

rclicHion should remove out of Moray, and that

their places should be supplied with people from
|

other parts of the kingdom. In consequence,
[j

some transplanted themselves into the northern,

but tlie greater number into the southern districts,

as far as Galloway. The older historians say that

the Moraymen were almost totally cut off" in an

obstinate battle, and strangers put in their place,

but this statement is at variance ^^ith the register

of Paisley. Among the new families brought in
j

to replace those who were removed, the ])rincipal
j

Avere the powerful earls of Fife and Stratliern, 1

with the Comyns and Bissets, and among those

who remained were the Inncscs, the Caldcrs and
!

others. After tlius removing the rebels, and colo- :

nizing the province with a quieter race, Malcolm,
jj

as ^^ell as his successor, William the Lion, appear
1

1

to ha^e fi'cqncntly resided in IMoray, for from In-
|[

verness, Elgin, and various other of its localities, i|

several of their cliarters ai-e dated.

In July llGo, j\Ialcolm did homage to the king
|;

of England and his infant son at "Woodstock. ,j

The following year he fotindcd and richly endow- j;

ed an abbey for Cistertian monks at Coupar- :

Angus. He had previously, in 115G, founded the

priorv of Emanuel near Linlithgow, for nuns of

the same order.

In 11G4, S(nnerled, the ambitious and powerful

lord of the Isles, made another and a last attcmjit

to overthrow the king's anthoi-ity. Assembling a

numerous arm}' from .'Xrgyle, Ireland, and the

Isles, he sailed up the Clyde with IGO galleys, and
j

landed his forces near Renfrew, threatening, as !

some of the old chroniclers inform us, to make a

conquest of the ^^hole of Scotland. Here, accord-

ing to the nsual acconnts, he was slain, with his

son, Gilleeolane, after a battle, in -which he was

defeated by an inferior force of the Scots. Ti'adi-

tion, however, states that he was assassinated in

his tent by an individual in whom he placed con-

fidence, and that his followers, deprived of their

leader, hastened back to the Isles, without haz-
,

arding an engagement.

IMalcolm died at Jedburgh, of a lingering dis-

ease, December 9, 1165, at the early age of 21,

and was succeeded by his brother "William, styled

\^illiam the Lion.

MALCOLM, Sir PultexkY, a distinguished I

naval officer, an elder brother of Sir John 'Mai-



]MALCOL:\r, 9G SIR rULTENEY.

colm, tlio subject of the following notice, was born

at Douglan, near Lnngliolai, Duinfries-sliirc, Feb-

ruary 20, 1768. His father, George Malcolm,

farmer, Burnfoot, hail, hy liis wife, the daughter of

James Pasley, Esq. of Craig and Burn, 17 children.

Bobert, the eldest son, at his death was high in the

civil service of the East India Company
;
James,

Pulteney, and John, the next three sons, were

lionouved with the insignia of knights commanders

of the Bath at the same time, the former for his

distinguished services in Spain and North America,

when commanding a battalion of royal marines,

and Sir John, for his military and diplomatic sei'-

vices in India. The younger sons were Gilbert,

rector of Todenham
;

David, in a commercial

house iu India ; and Admiral Sir Charles Mal-

colm, of whom a memoir is given at page 99.

Pulteuey entered the navy, October 20, 1778,

as a midshipman on board the Sybille frigate, com-

manded by his maternal uncle, Captain Pasley,

with whom he sailed to the Cape, of Good Hope

;

and on his return thence, removed with him into

the Jupiter, of which he was appointed lieutenant

in March 1783. At the commencement of the

French revolutionary war, he was first lieutenant

of the Penelope at Jamaica ; in which ship he as-

sisted at the capture of the luconstante frigate,

and Gaelon corvette, both of which he conducted

to Port Koj'al in safety. He also commanded the

boats of the Penelope in several severe conflicts,

and succeeded in cutting out many vessels from

the ports of St. Domingo. In April 1794 he was

made a commander, when he joined the Jack Tar;

and upon Cape Nichola Mole being taken posses-

sion of by the British, he had the direction of the

seamen and marines landed to garrison that place.

In October 179-4 he was promoted to the rank of

post captain, and the following month was ap-

pointed to the Fox frigate, with which lie subse-

quently served in the North Sea. Having pro-

ceeded M'ith a convoy to the East Indies, he cap-

tured on that station La Modesto, of 20 guns. In

1797 the duke of AVeliington, then Colonel Wel-

lesle}', of the S',k\ I'cginicnt, took a passage with

Captain ]\Ialcolm, in the Fox, from the Cape of

Good Hope to Bengal. He afterwards served in

the Suffolk, the Victorious, and the Royal Sover-

eign ; and in March 180.5 was ajipointed to the

Donegal, in which he acconqinnicd I-ord Nelson

in the memorable pursuit of the combined squa-

drons of France and Spain to the West Indies.

On his return to the Channel, Captain Mal-

colm was sent to reinforce Admiral Collingwood

ofi" Cadiz. Four days previous to the battle of

Trafalgar, the Donegal, being short of water, and

greatly in need of a refit, was ordered to Gibral-

tar. On the 20th October Captain ^Malcolm re-

ceived information that the enemv s fleets >\'erc

quitting Cadiz. His ship Avas then iu the jMole

nearly dismantled, but b}' the greatest exertions

he succeeded in getting her out before night, and

on the 23d joined Admiral Collingwood in time to

capture El Rayo, a Spanish three-decker. To-

wards the close of 1805 the Donegal accompanied

Sir Jolin Duckworth to the "West Indies, in quest

of a French squadron that had sailed for that

qmirtcr ; and in the battle fought ofi' St. Domingo,

Februar}' 6, 1806, Captain Malcolm greatly dis-

tinguished himself. On his return to England,

he was honoured with a gold medal for his con-

duct in the action, and, in common with the other

officers of the squadron, received the thanks of

both houses of parliament.

In the summer of 1808 he escorted the army

under General Wellesley from Cork to Portugal,

and- for his exertions in disembarking the troops,

he received the thanks of Sir John Moore and Sir

Arthur Wellesley. The Donegal was subsequent-

ly attached to the Channel fleet under the ordei-s

of Sir John Gambier ; and after the discomfiture

of the French ships in Aix Roads in April 1809,

Captain INIalcolm was sent with a squadron on a

cruise. He next commanded the blockade of

Cherbourg, on which station the ships under his

orders captured a number of privateers, and on

one occasion di'ove two frigates on shore near

Cape La Hogue. In 1811 the Donegal was paid

off, when Captain Malcolm was appointed to the

Royal Oak, a new 74, in which he continued off

Cherbourg until March 1812, when he removed

into the San Josef, 110 guns, as captain of the

Cliannel fleet under Lord Keith. In the subse-

quent August he was promoted to the rank of col-

onel of marines, and December 4, 1813, was ap-

pointed rear-admiral. In June 1814 he hoisted

his flag in the Royal Oak, and proceeded to North
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America with a bod}- of troops, luuler Brigadier-

general Ross. Soon after liis arrival, lie accom-

panied Sir Alexander Cochrane on an expedition

up the Clicsnpeake, when the duty of regulating

tiie collection, embarkation, and re-embarkation

of the troops emplo3-etl against AVashington, Bal-

timore, and New Orleans, devolving upon him,

he performed it in a manner that obtained the

warmest acknowledgments of the commaudcr-iu-

chief. He was afterwards emploj-ed at the siege

of Furt Boj'er, on Mobile Point, the surrender of

which, by capitulation, on February 14, termi-

nated the war between Great Britain and the

United States.

At the extension of the order of the Bath into

three classes, January 2, 1815, Admiral JIalcolm

was nominated, with his two brothers, a knight

commander. After his arrival in F.ngland, on the

renewal of hostilities with France, in consequence

of the return of Napoleon from Elba, he was ap-

pointed commander-in-chief of the naval force

01 dered to co-operate with the duke of "Welling-

ton and the allied armies, on which service he

continued until after the restoration of the Bour-

bons. His liist appointment was to the important

office of commander-in-chief on tlic St. II lena

station, where he continued from the spring of

181 G until the end of 1817. By the cordiality of

his disposition and manners, he not only obtained

the confidence, but won the regard of the emperor

Napoleon. " .\h ! there is a man," he exclaimed

in referen.cc to Sir rultenej- ISIalcolm, "with a

countenance really pleasing: open., frank, and sin-

cere. There is the face of an Englishman—his

countenance bespeaks his lie;irt; and I am sure

he is a good man. I never yet beheld a man ol'

whom I so immediately formed a good opinion as

of that fine so!dier-like old man. lie carries his

head erect, and sjieaks out openly and boldly

what he thinks, without being afraid to look yon

in the face at the time. His iihysiognomy would

make every person desirous of a further acquaint-

ance, and render the most suspicious confident in

hiui." One day when fretting at the nrqust treat-

ment he received, he exclaimed to tlie admiral,

"Does your government mean to detain mc upon

this rock until my death's day ? " Sir rulteney

replied, " Such I apprehend is their purpose."

III.

" Then the term of my life will soon arrive," said

Napoleon." "I hope not, Sir," answered Sir

Pulteney, "I hope 3'on will survive to record your

great actions, which ai-c so nmnerous, and tlic

task will insure you a term of long life." Napo-

leon felt the compliment and acknowledged it by a

bow, and soon recovered his good humour. On
his deathbed he paid a well-merited tribute to the

generosity and benevolence of Sir Pulteney, whose

conduct at St. Helena is described by Sir Walter

Scott in his ' Life of Napoleon,' in a manner

highly honourable to him. He was advanced to

the raidc of vice-admiiMl July 19, 1821, and of

admiral January 10, 1837. He 1 icd July 20,

1838. A monument has been erected to his mem-

ory. Subjoined is his portrait

:

Sir Pulteney jMalcolm married, January IS,

1809, Clementina, eldest daughter of the Hon. W.

F. Elphinstone.

M.vLCOLM, Sir Johx, a distinguished soldier

and diplomatist, a j'ounger brother of the subject

of the foregoing mesnoir, was born Mv.y 2, 17G9,

on the farm of Bnrnfoot, near Langliolin, in T3uni-

fi-ies-shire. In 17S2 he went out to the East In-

dies as a cade* in the Company's service. On h'lz

arrival he was placed under the care of his uncle,
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Dr. Gilbert Paslej', and asskUionsly applied liim-

self to the study of tlie manners and languages of

the East. The abilities which he displayed at the

siege of Seriugapatam, in 1792, attracted the notice

of Lord Cornwallis, wlio appointed him Persian

interpreter to a body of Britisli troops in tlie ser-

vice of one of tlie native princes. In 179-1, in

consequence of bad health, he revisited his native

country; but the following year he returned to

India on the staff" of Field-marshal Sir Alured

Clarke; and for his conduct at the taking of the

Cape of Good Hope, he received the public thanks

of that officer. In 1797 he obtained a captain's

commission. In 1799 he was ordered to join the

Nizam's contingent force in the war against Tip-

poo Saib, with the chief command of the infantry,

in which post he continued till the surrender of

Seriugapatam, where he highly distinguished him-

self. He was then appointed joint secretary, with

Captain, afterwards Sir Thomas Munro, to the

commissioners for settling the new government of

Mysore. In the same year he was sent by Lord

Wellesley on a diplomatic mission to Persia, a

country which no British ambassador had visited

since the reign of Queen Elizabeth.

Captain SLalcolm returned to Bombay in 1801,

when he was appointed private secretary to the

governor-general, who stated to the secret com-

mittee that " he had succeeded in establishing a

connection ^\'ith the actual government of the Per-

sian empire, Avhich promised to British natives in

India political and commercial advantages of the

most iniporlant description." In January 1802

he was promoted to the rank of major; and on

the death of the Persian ambassador, who was

accidentally shot at Bombay, he was again sent

to Persia to make the necessary arrangements for

the renewal of the embassy. In Febi'uary 1803

he Avas appointed Resident with the rajah of My-

sore ; and in December 1804 he attained the rank

of lieutenant-colonel. In June 1 805 he was no-

minated chief agent of the governor-general, in

which capacity he continued to act till March

1806, during which period he concluded several

important treaties with native princes.

On the arrival in India, in April 1808, of the

new governor-general. Lord Minto, he dispatched

Colonel Malcolm on a mission to Persia, with the

view of endeavouring to counteract the designs of

Napoleon, who then threatened an invasion of

India from that quarter. In this difficult embassy,

however, he did not wholly succeed. He returned

in the following August, and soon after proceeded

to his residency at Mysore. Early in 1810, owing

to a change in the policy of the Persian court, he

was again appointed ambassador to Persia, where

he remained till the nomination of Sir Goi'C Ouse-

ley as minister pleuipotcntiarj'. On his departure

the shah conferred upon him the order of the Sun

and Lion, presented him with a valuable sword,

and made him a khan and sepahdar of the

empire.

In 1812 Colonel Malcolm again visited England,

and soon after his arrival received the honour of

knighthood. The same year he published, in one

volume, ' A Sketch of the Sikhs, a singular Na-

tion in the province of the Punjaub, in India.'

In 1815 appeared his ' History of Persia,' in 2

vols. 4to, which is valuable from the information

it contains, taken from oriental sources, regarding

the religion, government, manners, and customs of

the inhabitants of that country, in ancient as well

as in modern times. He returned to India in

1817, and on his arrival was attached, as political

agent of the governor-general, to the force under

Sir Thomas Hislop in the Deccan. With the

rank of brigadier-general, he was appointed to the

command of the third division of the army, and

greatly distinguished himself in the decisive battle

of Mehidpoor, when the army under Mulhar Rao

Holkar was completely routed. For his skill and

valour on this occasion he received the thanks of

the house of commons, on the motion of Mr.

Canning, who declared that " the name of this

gallant officer will be remembered in India as long

as the British flag is hoisted in that country."

His conduct was also noticed by the prince regent,

who expressed his regret that the circumstance of

his not having attained the rank of major-general

prevented his being then created a knight grand

cross, which honour, however, A\as conferred on

him in 1821.

After the termination of the war with the Mah-

rattas and Pindarries, he received the military and

political command of Malwa, and succeeded in

establishing the Company's authority, both in
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tli.'it province Mud the other territories adjacent,

wliicii liad been ceded to tlieni.

In April 1822 lie retnrned once more to Britain

\vitli tlie rank of major-general. Short!}' after, he

was presented by the oflicers who had acted under

him in the late war witli a snperb va.se, valued at

£1,500. The court of directors of the East India

Company likewise testified their sense of his

merits by a grant to him of £1,000 a-year. In

July 1827 he was appointed governor of Bombay,

which important ]iost he resigned in 1831, and

finally I'oturned to Britain. On quilting India, he

rccei\ ed many gratifying instances of the esteem

and high consideration in which he \\'as held.

The jirincipal Eiii-opean gentlemen of Bombay re-

quested him to sit for his statne, which was exe-

cuted by Chantrey, and erected in that city; the

members of the Asiatic Society requested a bust

of him for their library ; the native gentlemen of

Bombay solicited his portrait, to be jilaced in the

public room ;
the East India Amelioration Society

voted him a service of plate ; and the United So-

ciety of Missionaries, iiirliuling iMiglish, Scots,

and Americans, acknowledged with gratitude the

assistance they had received from him in the pro-

secution of their pious labours.

Subjiiiiiod i> S'r.Tolin ^.rulcolm's poi'trait:

Soon after his ai'rival in England in 1831, he

was elected JI.P. for Ijaiinceston, and took an ac-

tive part ill the proceedings in the house of com-

mons upon sevei-al important questions, particu-

larly the Scottish retVn-m bill, which he wai-ndj'

opposed. After the dissolution of parliament in

1832 he oft'ered himself for Carlisle, but being un-

successfid, lie retired to his seat near Windsor,

and employed himself in writing a Treatise upon

' The Government of India,' with the view of ehi-

eidatiiig the difficult questions relating to the I'C-

newal of the East India Company's charter, which

was published onl}' a few weeks previous to his

death. Ills last address in public was at a meet-

ing in the Thatched House Tavern, London, for

the purpose of forming a subscription to buy up

the mansion of Abbotsford for the family of the

great novelist ; and on that occasion his conclud-

ing sentiment \\ as " that \\ heu he Avas gone, his

son might lie prond to say that his father had

been among the contributors to that shrine of

genius." On the day following he was struck

witli iiaralysis, and died at London, May 31, 1833.

A monument has been erected to his memory in

^\\stminster Abbe}-, and also an obelisk, 100 feet

high, on Langholm hill, in his native parish of

^Vesterkil•k. He marrie<l, in June 1807, Char-

lotte, daughter of Sir Alexander Campbell, Bart.,

by whom he had five children.

Sir John jMalcolin's «'orks arc

:

Sketch of tlie Politic;il History of Indi.n, from tlie Intro-

diictiun of Mr. Pitt's Bill, a. d. 1784, to the present d:ite.

London, 1811, 8vo.

Sketch of the Siklis, a nation who inli;ibit tlie provinces of

tlie rnnjaub, situated between the rivers Jnmna and Indus

in India. London, ISI'2, 8vo.

Observations on the Disturbances in the JLidras .'\rniy in

1800: in 2 parts. London, 1812, 8vo.

History of Persia, from the most early period to the pre-

sent time, containing an .iccomit of the religion, government,

usages, and cluiracter of the inhabitants of that kin^'doin.

London, 1815, "2 vols. 4to.

A memoir of Central India, including MaUva and adjoining

Provinces, with the liistory and copious illustrations of the

past and present condition of that country. London, 1823,

2 vols. 8vo.

The Political History of India from 1784 to 1823. Lond.,

182G, 2 vols. 8vo.

The Government of India. London, 1833, 8vo.

The Life of Robert, Lord Clive, collected from the Family
Papers, communicated by the carl of Pouis. London, 183G,

3 vols. 8vo. Posthumous.

i\L\LCOLM, Sir Charles, an eminent naval
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ij oflicor, the tciitli son of George iMalcolm of Biirii-

j

foot, and 3-onngest brother of tlie preceding, was

I

born at Enrnfoot, Dninfries-sliire, in 1782, and

entered tlie navy in 1791, when only nhic years

old. In 1798, lie was master's mate of tiic Fox,

of 32 guns, commanded by las brother, Pultency,

wlien, with the Sybille, of 38 guns, that ship en-

tered the Spanish liarbonr of Manilla, the capital

of the Pliilii)pines, under French colours, and in

j

the face of three ships of the line and three frig-

i
ates, succeeded in capturing seven boats, taking

prisoner 200 men, and carrying oft' a large quan-

tity of amniunition and niateiials of war. In

j
1807, he got the command of the Narcissus, 32.

On board this ship he attacked a convoy of 30

sail in the Conquet Roads, on which occasion he

was slightly wounded. In 1809, he assisted in the

capture of Les Saintes, islands in the West Iiulies.

In June of the same year he was appointed to

the Riiine, 38, in which he actively co-operated

with the patriots on the north coast of Sjjain.

Subsequently he served in the West Indies, and

on the coast of Brazil. On July 18, 1815, he

landed and stormed a fort at Corriglon near Aber-

vack, which was the last exploit of the kind

achieved during the w ar. In July 1822, he was

I

nominated to the command of the ^\'illianl and

I

Mary, royal yaclit, lying at Dublin, in attendance

:| on the lord-lleutenant ; and in 182G, to tlie lloyal

i

Charlotte, yacht, on the same service. In 1827

I lie was knighted by the Marquis Wellesley, then

I
lord-lieutenant of Ireland. Soon after he was ap-

j

pointed superintendent of the Bombay marine.

I

During tlie ten years that lie held that office, he

j

effected a complete reform in the administration

I

of the service, and converted its previous sj-stem

into that of the Indian navy. lie also instituted

many extensive and important surveys, and was

I

prominently concerned in the establisliment of

1
steam navigation in the Red Sea. In 1837 he

j

was promoted to the rank of rear-admiral, and

in 1817 to that of vice-admiral. lie died at

Brighton, June 14, 1851, aged 09. He married

first in 1808, his cousin, Magdalene, daughter of

Ch.arlcs Pasley, Esq., issue, one daughter; and,

Sdl}', in 1829, Eimira Riddell, youngest daughter

of Major-general Shaw, and by her had three sons,

two of whom entered the navy.

MALLEI'. I

M.^LLET, David, a ]ioet and niiscellaneous il

writer, was born at Ciieff, in Perthshire, about
''

1700. His father, said to have been a descendant jl

of the proscribed clan Grcgor, was named James
j

Malloch, and kept a small public-house in that
j

tO'AH. It is uncertain where lie got his eai ly edu-

cation, but he appears to have studied for some Ij

time under a professor Ker in .Aberdeen, and diir-
jj

iiig his residence in that city, he wrote a pastoral ji

and a few other short pieces, \\hich attracted
j|

some notice. He afterwards removed to Ediii- ii

burgh, and in 1720 was employed as a tutor in
|

tiie family of a Mr. Home of that city. At the
!|

same lime he attended the university, and in 1723
jj

he was recommended l)y the professors as tutor
jj

to the two sons of the duke of ]\Ioiitrose, with
j|

whom he made the tour of P^ui'ope. |i

On their retui n to London, he continued to re- |'

side in the family of the duke, through whom he N

got introduced to the best society of the daj'. lie
!

now began to cultivate his poetical talents with
|

great assiduitj-. In July 1724 he jiublished in
|

Aaron Hill's 'Plain Dealer,' No. 3C, his beautiful \[

ballad of 'William and Margaret,' which at once

procured him a high poetical reputation. On set-
j

tliiig in Loudon he Iiad Anglicised his name to
j

Mallet. Having, says Dr. Johnson, " by degrees i I

cleared his tongue from his native ])ronuucIation,
||

so as to be no longer distinguished as a Scot, he
i

seemed inclined to disencumber himself from all
j

adhcrences of his original, and took upon liiin
j

to change his name from Scotch Malloch to Eng-
|

lish Mallet, without any imaginable reason of pro- '

ference which the eye or ear can discover." Den-

nis, the Critic, used in derision to call him Moloch,

which was possibly one reason for the change.

In 1728 he published a poem, entitled 'The Ex-
i

cursion,' being a scries of landscape descriptions

in blank verso, in the style of Thomson's Seasons,

but greatly inferior to that noble poem. In 1731
j

he produced a tragedy, entitled 'Eurydicc,' which
j

was acted at Drury Lane theatre, but without

success.
j

:

I

:

His employment as tutor in the family of the

duke of iMontrose having come to an end, he went
^

to reside with a Mr. Knight at Gosfield, it is sup-

posed, as a teacher. About this time he formed an
\

acquaintance with Pope, and to court the favour !

100
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1 of that eminent poet, he published his poem on

'Verbal Ci-iticism.' Pope introduced Iiini to I>ord

Bolingbrolce, and he was soon after appointeil un-

der secretary to Frederick, prince of Wales, at

that time at \niinncc with his father, with a sal-

ary of £200 a-ycar. In 1739, his tragedy of

' ]\Iustaplia' was produced, and owed its tempo-

rary success to some pnlitical allusions in it to the

king and Sir Robert Walpolc. To serve and gra-

tify his patron, the prince, he exhibited Sir Robert

r.nder the character of Iliistan llie \i/'jer, and the

king as Solyman the Aragnificent. On the first

night of its representation the heads of the oppo-

sition attended, and by their plaudits sustained

the performance throughout. In the following year,

in conjunction with Thomson, he wrote, by com-

mand of the prince, the masque of ' Alfred,' in

j

j

honom- of the birthday of liis royal highness' eldest

j

daughter. Tlie same year (1740) he wrote a life

1 of r.acon, prefixed to an edition of his works,

I

which was of very little merit, and is now forgotten,

j

In 1747 he published liis 'Hermit, or Amyntor

and Theodora,' a poem which has been praised by

Joiinson for copiousness of language and vigotn*

i
of sentiment, and censured by Warton for naiisc-

iius allectation.

On the death of Pope in 1744, Mallet, who was

indebted to him for his introduction to Lord

I
]5ulingbroke, was by the latter emi)loyed to de-

! fame the character of his former frieiul, who, in a

I

letter to Mr. Knight had once thus kindly spoken of

I

him: "To prove to you how little essential to

I

friendship I hold letter-writing, I have not yet

written to Mi\ Mallet, whom I love and esteem

greatly, nay, whom I know to have as tender a

i' heart, and that Ibels a frieiidiv remembrance as
!

!

I long as any man." Mallet performed his ungra-

1 cious task with tlie utmost malignitv, in his pre-

jl
fiicc to the revised edition of Bolingbrokc's 'Pa-

I triot King,' Pope's offence being that he had

1
allowed the first version of that work to be sur-

I

reptitiously printed. ISolingbrokc rewarded him

jj
with a bequest of all his writings, published and

I unpublished, and Mallet inimedialel}' began to

!
prepare them for the press. " His conduct,"

I says Chalmers, "at the very outset of this busi-

j

ncss affords anotlicr illustration of his character,

i

rrancklin, the printer, to wdioni many of the poli-

I

tical pieces written diirmg the opposition to W : .

I

1

1

I

pole, had been given, as he supposed, in pcrpc-
-,

j

j

tuity, laid claim to some compensation fov those,
j!

Mallet allowed his claim, and the question was
||

referred to arbitrators, who were empowered to Ij

decide upon it, by an instrument signed by the |i

t j

parties; but when they decided unfavourable to :|

Mr. ^lallet, he refused to yield to the "decision,
:j

and the printer was thus deprived of the benefit
||

of the award, by not liaving insisted ui)on bonds |j

of arbitration, to which INIallct had objection as
j

degrading to a man of honour. lie then pro-
|

cectled, with the help of Jliiiar, the bookseller, to
|

publish all he could lind ; and so sanguir.c Avas ho
j

in his expectations that he rejected the offer of
j

£3,000 which Millar offered him for the copyright,
||

although he Avas, at this time, so distressed for
;j

money that he was forced to borrow some of Mil-
]

lar to pay the stationer and jtriuter. The work at

last appeared in a vols. 4to, and I\Iallet had soon

reason to repent his refusal of the bookseller's

offer, as this edition was not sold oft" in twenty

years. As these volumes contained many bold

attacks on revealed religion, they brought much

(obloquy on the editor, and even a presentment

was made of them by the grand jury of West-

minster."

In the beginning of 1757 Mallet was hired by

the Newcastle administration to assist in directing

the ]iublic indignation, for the disgrace brought on
j

the I'ritisli arms in the affair of ]\Iinorca, towards

the unfortunate Admiral I'yng; and, accordingly,

wdiile that officer was on his trial, he wrote a let-

ter of accusation, under the character of " A Plain

jMan," which, printed on a large sheet, was circu-

lated with great industry. "The price of blood,"

says Dr. Johnson, "was a pension which he re-

tained till his death." i\Iallct was unprincipled
|

enough to accept; of a legac}' of £1,000, left by

Sarah duchess of IMarlborough at Iier death in

1744, as the price of a Life of her illustrious hus-

band, of wdiich lie never wrote a line. Besides

this bequest, he received also an annual sum from

tiic second duke, to encourage him to proceed with

it, but he never even commenced the Avork.

On Lord Bute becoming premier, JIallet wrote

his 'Truth in I'diynie.' lie also wrote 'Edwin

and Emma,' :i ballad. His tragedy of 'Elvira,'
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produced at Diiiry Lane in 17G3, ^vas written

with the design of promoting tlic political views of

the new administration. As a recompense, he

was appointed keeper, of the Boole of Entries for

ships in tlie port of London. lie died April 21,

1765. A collected edition of las poems was pub-

lished by liimself in three vols, in 1750 ; bnt mo.=t

of iiis writings arc now only known by name. lie

was an avowed infidel, and ;i venal writer of the

vcrj' worst description. Ho was twice married.

Of his first wife, by whom he liad several children,

nothing is known. One daughter, named Cilesia,

wlio married an Italian of rank, and died at Ge-

noa in 1790, wrote a tragedy called ' Almida,'

whicli was acted at Drnry Lane. His second wife

was a Lncy Elstob, a frcethiidccr like himself, tlie

dauglitcr of Lord Carlisle's steward, willi whom

;ie received a considerable fortune.

M.AN. James, an antagonist of Kuddiman, was

born at Whitewreath, in Elginshire, about 1700.

He studied at King's College, Aberdeen, where he

obtained the degree of i\l..\. in 1721. Soon after

leaving college he became schoolmaster of the

parish of Tough in Aberdeenshire, but though

licensed to preach, it never was his fortune to ob-

tain a church. In 1742 ho was appointed Master

of tlie Poor's Hospital in Aberdeen. Li 1751 he

published at Aberdeen an octavo work, entitled

'A Censure and Examination of Mr. Thomas

Ivuddimau's Philological Notes on the AVorks of

tlic Great Buchanan, more particularly on the

History of Scotland; in which also most of the

Chronological and Geographical, and many of the

Historical and Political Notes are taken into con-

sideration. In a Letter to a Friend. Necessary for

restoring the true readings, the graces, and beauties,

and for understanding the true meaning of a vast

number of passages of Buchanan's writings, which

have been so foully corrupted, so miserably de-

faced, so grossly perverted and misunderstood.

Containing many curious particulars of his life,

and a Vindication of his Character fi'om many

gross calumnies.' This work was answered by

Ruddiman the following year, in u publication en-

titled ' Anticrisis, or a Discussion of the Scurrilous

and INIalicious Libel, published by one James Mnn

of Aberdeen.' Among other literary projects, IMr.

?tlan made collections for an edition of Dr. Arthur

Johnston's Poems, and contemplated a ' IIi.-;tory

of the Church of Scotland,' whicli he was pre-

vented from accomplishing by his death in Octo-

ber 1761. He had some time previous sent his

edition of Buchanan's History to the press, the

last sheets of whicli were corrected In' Professor

Gerard, and it was published in 1762. By fruga-

lity he had saved about £155, of which he be-

queathed £60 to his relations, and settled the re-

mainder on the Poor's Hospital for apprentice fees

to the boj'S educated in that useful institution.

JFansfield, e.nrl of, ,i title in the pccrnge of tlio United

Kingdom possessed by tlie viscount Stormont, (see Stor-

5I0NT, Viscount.) and first conferred, in 177G, on the ccle-

brntcd l.-jwjer ,^nd statesm.nn, AVillinm JIurray (see Murray,
Wii.i.iAji, first carl of Mansfield).

M\ORj[OR, tlie liigLcst title of Iionour amongst the Ili.^h-

landcrs of Scotland, in the lOtli, 11th, and 12th centuries,

the persons bearing it having been the patriarchal chiefs of

the great tribes into which the Celtic population was then

divided. They had jurisdiction and authority over extensive

districts, as Athole, Jloray, Ross, Garmoran, Mar, and Biich-

an. The word seems to hnve been derived from the Gaelic

viaor, steward, and mJibr, great, and its office .and dignity

appear to have been next to that of the king. So great in-

deed was the power of the maromors and so extensive the

ten-itorics which they ruled over, that they sometimes were

enabled to wage independent war even against the sovereign

Iiimsclf. Tlie snccession to the maordom was strictly heredi-

tary in the male line. In proof of this, Jlr. Skene (Hiffh-

landers, vol. i. p. 79) instances the succession of the maor-

mors of Sloray. In 1032, the Annals of Ulster mention the

death of Gilcomgain Mac Jlaolbride, maormor of Murcvo.

In 10.58, they record the death of Lulach M-ic Gileomgain,

king of Scotland, and in 1085, that of Maolsnechtan i\Iac-

I.ulach, king or maormor of JIurevc. Thus sho^'iing, that

although Lulach had been driven from the throne, his son

succeeded to the maordom of Jloray in his place.

The title of maormor was peculiar to the Scottish Gael,

and was altogether unknown among the Irish, although they

too were a Celtic race. It was exclusively confined to the

north of Scotland, and was never held by any ot those Saxon

or Norman barons who obtained extensive territories by grant,

or succeeded, as they sometimes did, by marriage to the pos-

sessions and power of the maormors. When the line of the

ancient maormors gradually s.ank under the ascendant influ-

ence of the feudal system, the clans forming the great tribes

became independent, and their leaders or chiefs were held to

represent each the common ancestor or founder of his clan,

and derived all their dignity and power from tlie belief in

such representation. The chief possessed bis office by I'iglit

of blood alone, as that right was understood in the High-

lands ; neither election nor marriage could constitute any title

to this distinction ; it was purely hereditary, nor conid descend
|

to any person, except to him who, according to the Highland
1

rule of succession, was the nearest male heir to the dignity.
|

Mai!, Karl of. See Maru.

Makcii, Krtil of, a title which| with that of carl of Dun-
j
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bar, was long enj(jyccl by llie dcscendimts of Cospati'ick, eail

of Noi'tliumbeilaiid, wlio came info Scotland in tlic leif^n of

JIalcoini Canmore (see art. DuNn.vi!, vol. ii. p. 7."). On the

forfeiture of George, lltli earl of Dunbar and Marcli, in 143-1,

it was vested in the crown. lu 1478, the earldom of JIareli

was conferred by King James III. on his brother, Alexander,

duke of Albany, on whose forfeiture it was again annexed

to the crown by act of the estates, 1st October, 1487. It

continued in the crown till 1582, when, with the lordship ot

Dunbar, it was conferred on Iiubert Stuart, granduucle of

James VI., on liis relinquishing the earldom of Lennox to

his nephew, Esme Stuart of Anbigny (sec vul. ii. p. 651).

On his death, witliont legitimate issue, in 1586, the title

once more reverted to the crown.

Lord William Douglas, second son of the first duke of

Queensberry, was created carl of March, 20th April 1697.

He succeeded as second duke, and on the deatli, without is-

sue, of his grandson, William, fomth duke of Queensberry

and third earl of March, in December 1810 (see QuKicxs-

DiCRitY, duke of), the latter title, with the gi'cat estates of

the Queensberry family in the county of Peebles, devolved on

the si.xth earl of Weniyss, whose great-grandfather married,

fur his first wife, Lady Ann Douglas, eldest daughter of the

first (lid<c of Qucen.sberry, and sister of the first carl of JLuxh

(see Wejivss, earl of).

The word March or Mersc, signifying boundaiy or limit,

anciently more particularly applied to the eastern part of

the Scottish border, is now confined to Berwickshire. Chal-

mers, however, thinks it more probable that the frontier

province got its name from the Anglo-Saxon merse, a marsh,

or from 7na7-isciis, a naked plain.

M.VRCiiMONT, carl of, a title (dormant since 1794) in the

peerage of Scotland, conferred by William III. on Sir Patrick

Mume of I'olwartli (a memoir of whom is given at page 502

of vol. ii.) He was descended from Sir Patrick Home of

Polwarth, comptroller of Scotland from 1499, when he was

knighted, to 1502, second son of David Home, younger of

Wcdderburn. The comptroller's gi'cat-grandsou, Patrick

Home of Polwarth, was a chief promoter of the Heformation

in Scotland, and one of those who in 1560 entered into an

association to protect the preachers of the gospel. The eld-

est sou of this gentleman. Sir Patrick Home of Polwarth,

was, in 1591, appointed master of the household to Kijig

James VI., one of tlie gentlemen of his bedchamber, and

warden of the marches. He died 10th June 1009. Sir Pa-

trick Home, his son, had a pension of ^100 sterling from

James VI., from whom he received several other marks of

favour. By Charles I. he was created a b.aronet in 1625,

soon after his accession to the throne. He died in April

1648. His eldst son was the first earl of Marchmont, so

created 2od AprU 1697. He had previously, 26th December

1690, been raised to the peerage by the title of Lord Pol-

warth. The patent of the earldom was to hiui and his heirs

male wh.atsoever, and the secondary titles were viscount of

Blasonberrie and Lord Polwarth of Polwarth, Redbracs and

Greenlaw. This nobleman, it is well known, when Sir Pa-

trick Home, suffered much for his patriotism, during the per-

secution in Scotland in the reigns of Charles IL and James

VII., and had many narrow escapes of being taken. When
he had decided upon leaving his place of concealment (sec

vol. ii. p. 503) for the continent, he set out dming night ac-

companied by a trustworthy servant named John Allan, who

was to conduct liim part of his way to London. In travel-

ling towiu'ds the Tweed, they unconsciously separated. Sir

Patrick having somehow quitted the proper road without be-

ing aware of it till he reached the banks of the river. Thi.s

mistake proved his safety; for his servant Allan was over-

taken by those very soldiers who were in pui-suit of hiin. In

the assumed capacity of a surgeon Sir Patrick got safely to

London. Thence he proceeded to Holland, and retunicd to

Scotland at the lievolntion. He had four sons and five

daughters. His eldest daughter, Grizel, afterwards Lady

Grizel Baillie (see vol. ii. p. 486) was the heroine who, when

only twelve years of age, supplied her father with food and

other necessaries, at the time he was under concealment in

tlie family burial-vault, beneath the parish church of Pol-

warth. His eldest son. Lord Polwarth, predeceased him in

1710. His second son, the Hon. Captain Robert Hoine, also

died young, without issue.

The third son, Alexander, was the second earl of Maixh-

mont. lioni in 1075, he was admitted advocate 25th July

1690. He mairied in July 1097, Jlargaret, daughter and

heiress of Sir George Campbell of Cessnock, A}Tshire, and

liaving been knighted, he assmned the name of Sir Alexander

Campbell. He was elected member in the Scots parliament

for Berwickshire, and on 16th October 1704, appointed a

lord of session, taking his seat as Lord Cessnock, He was at

the same time made a comuussioner of the conrt of exchequer,

and sworn a privy councillor. He supported the Union in

parliament, and in November 1714 he resigned his seat in

the com't of session in favour of his younger brother, the

Hon. Sir Andrew Home of Kimmerghame, Berwickshire. On

the breaking out of t)ie rebellion of 1715, he raised 400 of the

Berwickshire militia, on the side of the government, and

marched with three battalions to join the duke of Argyle at

Stirling. The same year he was appointed envoy extraordi-

nary to the courts of Denmark and Prussia. In December

1710, he became lord-clerk-registcr. In 1721 he was ap-

pointed first amba.ss.ador to the congress at Cambray, and iji

March of that year made his public entry into that city in a style

of .splendour and magnificence becoming the representative of

the Brithsh nation. He succeeded his father as earl of JJarcli-

mont, August 1, 1724, and the following year was invested

with the order of the Thistle. In 1726 he was sworn a privy

councillor, and in 1727 chosen one of the sixteen representa-

tive Scots peers. In 1733 he joined the opposition against

Sir Robert Walpole, and in consequence he was, in May

of that year, dismissed from his office of lord-clerk-rcgis-

ter. He died at London February 27, 1740, in his 65lh

year, and was buried in Canongate churchyard, Edinburgh.

In the Scots JIagazine for March 1740, is a high character of

this nobleman. He had four sons and four daughters. The

two eldest sons died young. The two youngest, Hugh, third

earl, and the Hon. Alexander Home, were twins, born at

Edinburgh 15th February 1708. At the general election of

1734 the latter was chosen JI.P. for Berwickshire, and con-

stantly reehosen till his death 19th July 1760. He took an

active part in parliamentary business, and was an eminent

barrister in London. In 1741 he was appointed solicitor to

the prince of Wales, and 27th January 1750, lord-clerk- re-

gister of Scotland.

Hugh, third carl of Marchmont, became eminent for his

learning and brilliant genius. At the general election of

1734, he was chosen JI.P. for Berwick, and in the House of

Commons he made himself so formidable to the government

as one of the leaders of the opposition, that Sir Robert Wal-

pole, then prime minister, declared that there were few

things lie more ardently desired than to see that young man

at the head of his family ; which would have had the elTect

of removing him from parliament altogether. On the death
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of Iiis fatl:er in February 17i0, lie became third earl of

Slarclimont.

By his contempuraries his lordslilp was held in high esti-

mation. He foi-ined an intimate friendship ivith Lord Cob-

liam, who gave his bust a place in the Temple of Worlhics at

Stow, and with Pope, who introdnced his name into the

well-known inscription in Lis grotto at Trt ickenliam :

" There the bright flame was shot through Marchmont's soul."

He was one of the executors of Pope, .Tnd also of Sarali,

duchess of JIarlliorongh, both of whom died in 17-14. Tlic

latter left him a legacy of £2,500. In 1750 he was elected

one of tlie sixteen representative peers of Scotland, and rc-

cliosen at every general election till 1784. During the 34

years that he nat in the house of Lords, he took an active

part in the business of the house, few of tlicir Inrdsliips pos-

sessing .1 gi-eater amount of parliamentary information and

experience. In 1747 he had been appointed first lord of

police, a department long since .abolisheil, and on 28th Janu-

ary 17G4, keeper of the great seal of Scotland. He died at

Hcmel-lTempstead, Hertfordshire, 10th January 1794, in liis

86th year, when t!ie earldom of Marchmont became dor-

mant. He built Marchmont House, in tlie parish of Pol-

warth, Berwickshire, and on his death Sir Hugh Pnrves,

sixth baronet of Purves Hall, great-grandson of Lady Anne
Purves, eldest sister of the third earl of Marchmont, assumed

the names of Hume and Campbell on succeeding to tlie

estates.

His lordship married, first, in May 1731, Miss Anno Wes-
tern, London, by whom he had a son, Patrick, Lord Pol-

warth, who died yoimg, and three da\ighters. The youngest

daughter. Lady Diana Home, married, 18th April, 1754,

Walter Scott of Harden, Berwickshire, M.P., wlio died at

Tonbridge, 25th January, 1793, and had one son, Hugh Scott

of Harden, who, in 1835, made good his claim to the title of

Lord Polwarth in the Scottish peerage (see Poi.-wAr.Tir,

lord). Lady Diana was the only one of the earl's daughters

who left surviving issue, and the Polwarth peerage, when
conferred on the Ci'st earl of Marchmont, was with remain-

der to the heirs m.ale of his body, and failing tliese to the

heirs general of such heirs male. His coimtess having died

Otli May 1747, the earl married, secondly, at London, 30th

January 1748, Miss Elizabeth Crompton, daughter of a linen-

draper in Cheapside. By this lady he had one son, Alexan-

der, Lord Polwarth, born in 1750, married ICth July 1772,

Lady Annabella Ynrke, eldest daughter of Philip, second earl

of Hardwicke. He was created a peer of tlic United King-

dom by the title of Baron Hume of Berwick, 14th May,

1776. He died, witliout issue, 9tli Marcli 1781, in liis 31st

year, when his British title became extinct.

Lord Marchmont bequeathed his library, consisting of one

of the most curious .-md valuable collections of books and

manuscripts in Great Britain, to his sole executor, the Right

Hon. George Rose, wiiose son. Sir George Henry Rose, pub-

lislied in 1831, ' A Selection from the papers of the Earls of

JIarchmont, illustrative of Events from 1685 to 1750,' in 3

vols. 8vo.

Marischal, Eari, a title (attainted in 171G) in the Scot-

tish peerage, conferred by James II., before 4th July 1458,

on Sir William Keith, great marischal of Scotland (sec vol.

ii. p. 587). The first earl died before 1476. His son, Wil-

liam, second carl, j<iined the confederacy against King .Tames

III.
,

in 1488, and sat in tlic fir.st parliament of King Jau;es

IV. ,
the same year. He had four sons. From John, tlie

youngest son, descended the Keiths of Craig, to which family 1

belonged Sir Robert Murray Keith, K. B., British ambassador
;

to Vienna, St. Petersburgh, and Copenhagen ; his brother,
]

Sir Basil Keith, governor of Jamaica; and their sister, Mrs.
|

Murray Keith, the well-known Mrs. Bethnne Baliol of Sir
|

Walter Scott, notices of whom are given at page 587 of vol.
|

ii. of tliis work. I

William, the eldest son, succeeded as third earl ]\L-irischaI.

In 1515, when the castle of Stirling was surrendered by the

queen-mother to the regent Albany, the young king, James

v., and liis infant brother, the duke of Ross, were committed

to the keeping of the earl Jlarisch.il, with the lords Fleming

and Borthwick, -whose fidelity to the crown w.-is unsuspected

;

and in 1517, when Albany went to France, the young king i

was conveyed to the castle of Edinburgh, and intrusted to the
j

charge of Loi-d Marischal and Lord Erskine. The carl died
|

about 1530. With four daughters he had four sons. Robert,
,

Lord Keith, and his brother, William, the two eldest sons,
j

fell at the battle of Flodden, 13th September 1513. The
j

pennon of the carl M.-n-ischal borne in that fatal battle, hav-

ing on it three stags' heads, and the motto, " Veritas Yin- :

cit,'' is preserved in the Advocates' Library, Edinburgh.
1

Lord Keith had, with three daughters, two sons ;
William,

|

fourth carl JIarischal, and Robert, commendator of Deer, i

whose son, Andrew Keith, was created Lord Dingwall, in

1587, but died with.out issue (see vol. ii. p. 38). From the

earl's youngest son, Alexander Keith, descended Bishop Ro-

bert Keith, author of the Catalogue of Scottish Bishops, a

memoir of whom is given at page 591 of vol. ii.

William, fourth carl, the elder of the two sons of Lord

Keitli, succeeded his grandfather in 1530. He accompanied

King James V., on his matrimonial expedition to France in

1 536, and was appointed an extraordinary lord of .session, 2d

July 1541. At the meeting of the Estates, 12th JIarch 1543,

he was selected, with the e:ul of Jlontrose, and the lords
]

Erskine, Ruthven, Lindsay, Livingston, and Seton, to he
j

k-eepers of the young Queen Mary's person, and nominated ;

one of the secret council to th.e regent Arran. Sir Ralph
j

Sadler, the English ambassador in Scotland, describes him at
j

this time, in a letter to his sovereign, as " a goodly young
j

gentleman," and as well inclined to the project of tlie mar-
j

riage of Queen Mary with Prince Edward. He also mentions i

him as one ''who hath ever borne a singular good affection"

to Henry. In tiie list of the English king's pensioners in !

Scotland, we find the eari Marischal, Jolin Cliarteris and the

Lord Gray's friends in the North, set down at 300 marks.
j

On the IHth December of the same year (1543), his place in
j

the council, with that of the earis of Angus, Lennox, and
j

Glencairn, was filled up, on the ground that they were ab-
|

sent and would not attend. He was one of the principal
j

nobles who signed the agreement in the following June, to i

supjiort the authority of the queen-mother as regent of Scot-
|

land, against the eari of Arran, declared by that instrument
j

to be deprived of his oflice. (rythr's Hist, of Scotland, vol.
[

V. p. 369, Note.)
|

The eari seems early to have been well inclined towards
j

the doctrines of the Reformation, and he was doubtless in-

duced, with the other nobles favourable to the proposed ma-

trimoni.al alliance with England, to give it his support, in the

belief that it would tend to the introduction into Scotland of

a purer faith and a more simple form of worship, than the

Roman Catholic. In 1544, when George Wishart, the mar-

tvr, preached in Dundee, and denounced from the pidpit the

judgments of heaven against that town for having been in-

terdicted by the civic autliorities from preaching there any

more, lord Marischal and several other noblemen were present,
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and cndcnvoured to iiuliice liini to rcmuiii, or go witli tln'iii,

!mt lio prefenci! procecJing to Eiiiiibui-gli. Tvtlci- incTitions

the carl Marisclial as one of tlic persons associated witli tlic

carl of Cassillis in his conspiracy to assassinate Cardinal

IJethune, by the. Iiands of one Forstor, an Englislunan, com-

missioned tliereto Ijy Henry VIII. Tlic plot, lie says, he

discovered during his resrarclics in the fccret correspondence

of the State Taper ofnce, and was previously unknown to

any Scotti.sh or Knglish historian. (J/isf. (f Scothmcl,

V. p. .387). His lordship fought at I'inkie in 1547, when

several of his followers were slain. In Sopteniber 1550 he

accomp.anied the queen dow.-iger to France.

In May iobG, when Knox, was summoned to appear before

the bl.shops in the clrarch of the Blackfriars at Edinburgh,

' the carl of Glencairn," says Calderwood, "allured the c.-irl

Maiisehal, with his counsellcr, Haric Drnmrr.ond, to hear his

exhortation in the night;" when they were .so well plp.".sed

with what they heard that they induced the Reformer to

write a letter to the queen regent, in the hope that she might

be persuaded to listen to his preaching. lie accordingly .sent

by Glencairn a long cpi.stle to her majesty, which is printed

in Caldenvood's History, (vol. 1. pages 308

—

olG) and is the

s:ime which called from her the sneering remark, on delivering

it to r.etlinne, bishop of Glasgow, " Please you, my lord, lo

re.-id a pasquil
!

" Lord Marischal was one of the noblemen

ill the suite of the queen regent when she made her entry into

Perth, 20th May 1.559 ; and with the carls of Argyle .md

Glencairn, and the lord .Tames Stuart, afterwards the regent

Moray, he was called to the deathbed of that princess in June

l.")GO, wlien she expressed her sorrow for the calamities under

nhieli Scotland was at that time sulferiiig, and earnestly ex-

horted ihem to send hiuli the Trench and English aniiies out

of the comitry, and to continue iheir allegirmee to their lawl'ul

sovereign.

When the Confession of Faiih wms ratified by the three

estates of the kingdom at Edinburgh, 17th July 15G0, the

earl Marischal m.-ulo the following remarkable speech :
" It is

long since I had some favour into the Irnth, and was some-

what jealous of the Roman religion
;
but, praised be God, I

am this d.iy fully reS(dved ; for seeing my lords the bishops

who by their learning can, and for the ".cal they owe to the

truth, would, as I suppo.-;e, gainsay anything repugnant to

the same, yet speak nothing against the doctrine proponed, I

cannot but hold it the very tnith of God, and the contrary of

it false and deccavable doctrine. Therefore, so far as in me
lyetb, I approve the one, and condcnni the other, and do

farther a^k of God, that not only I, but al.-rO my posterity,

may enjoy the comfort of the doclrinc that this d.ay our cars

li;ive heard. Farther, I protest if any persons ccclesiaslical

sh.dl hereafler oppo.sc themselves to this our confession, that

they have no place nor credit, considering that time of ad-

visement being granted to them, and they h.aving full know-

ledge of this our confession, none is now found in lawful, free,

and quiet parliament to oppose thein.selves to that which we

profess. Ami, therefore, if any of this generation pretend to

do after this, I protest he bo reputotli rather one that lovcth

his own commodity and the glory of the world, than the

glory of God, and salvation of men's souls." (CahkrwoocV

s

Hist., vol. ii. p. 37). He was one of the twenty-four lords

selected by the estates, from among whom the crown was to

choose eight and the estates si.x, for the government of the

country. He also subscribed the Book of Discipline.

On the return of Queen Mary from France in August,

l.^Ol, he was sworn one of the lords of her privy council.

He took an active part in all questions respecting religion,

and in the General Assembly which met at Edinburgh in

December 15G3, ho was one of the commiitee appointed to

revire the Book of Discipline. He did not, however, interl'ere
|

much in political matters, and when the nation came to bo
i

divided against itself, on the death of Dariiley and the ini- I

prisonment of the qnccn, he retired to his castle of Dunnottar,
j

on the seacoast of Kincardineshire, whence he .so seldom
|

stirred that he acquired tiie name of William of the Tower.
j

So e.xfensivo was his landed properly at that time tli.-it his
j

yearly rental amounted to '270,000 marks. It was situated
i

in .so many different counties that it is said he could travel

from Berwick to the northern extremity of .Scotland, eating

his meals and sleeping every night on his own estates.

{Pour/!ris' I'eera^c, vol. ii. p. 192.) He died 7th October

I.'jSI. By his conntos.s, Margaret, daughter and co-heiress

of .Sir William Kcilh of Iiiverngie, BaufTsliire, he liad, with

.seven daughters, tivo sons, William, Lord Keith, and Roliert,

Lord Altrie. (See vol. i. p. 122.)

William, Lord Keith, the elder son, was taken prisoner, in

an inroad into Engl.and in l.-)58, and placed in the cu.stody of
j

liie earl of NorthumberUmd, but allowed to go home in De-
|

ccinber l.")59 on bond. The exorbit.ant sum of £2,000 was
I

demanded for his ransom. He died lOlli August I.'iSO, Icav-
|

ing four sons and four daughters.
j

His eldest son, George, hl'th carl Jlaritchal, the founder of
^

Mariscli.il College, Aberdeen, succeeded his grandfather in
,

October 1581. Of this nobleman a memoir is given at page '

588 of vol. ii. His eldest son, William, succeeded as sixth
|

earl on his death, April 2, 1C23. The latter was a member !

of the Scotli.sh privy council, under Charles I., and in 1G34,

he fitted out a fleet which he .sent to Uhid!,^lans VII., king of

Poland. He died 28th October 1035, leaving four .sons and

three daughters. The two eldest sons, William and George,

succeeded as .seventh and eighth carls. John, the fourth son,

was the first earl of Kintore. (Sec Kintoke, carl of, vol. ii.

page GlI.)

William, seveiilh earl, was a staunch Covenanter. M'hen

the earl of Jlontrose, in iM.-irch IC39, went to Aberdeen to

force the covenant on the inh.-ibitants of that city, the carl

M.-irischal, according to .Spalding, had one of the five colours

carried by his well appointed army on that occasion. .Some-

time after its departure to the south, the Covenanters of the

north appointed a committee meeting to be held at 'I'urrilT, ,i

.sm:ill town in Aberdccn.shire, on the 2-lth A[)ril, consisting of

the carls Marischal and Seaforth, the Lord Eraser, the Mas-

ter of Forbes, and some others. The meeting was afterwards

postponed till the 2Cth of April, and .subsequently adjourned

to Aberdeen, to be held on the 20ih of M.-iy. A body of

about 2,000 Covenanters having assembled at Turriff as early

as the 13th, the Gordons resolved to attack them before they

should be joined by more, ;ind having siirpri.scd them on the

morning of the 14th, they were soon dispersed, .and a few

t.akcn prisoners. The loss on cither side in killed and

wounded was very trifling. This skirmish is called by the

writers of the period, " the Trot of Tuiray," and is distin-

guished as the place where blood was first shed in the civil

wars.

JIarching to Aberdeen, the Gordons expelled the Cove-

nanters from the towm, and being joined there by a larger

force, they sent Jidm Leith of Haithill and William I.unis-

den, advocate in Aberdeen, to Dunnottar, for the pnrpo,se of

ascertaining the sentiments of the e.irl JIarischal, in relation

to. their proceedings, and wdiether they might reckon on his

friendship. The earl intim.-itcd that he would require eight

days to advise with his friends. This answer was considered

quite unsatisfactory, .and the chiefs of the army were at a loss

bow to act. Robert Gordon of Slraloch and J.imes Burnet of
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Crai^mile, a brother of the laird of Loys, proposed to enter

into a negotiatiim witli tlic carl, but Sir George OgiIxT of

HanflF would not listen to such a proceeding, and, addressing

Straloch, lie said, "Go, if you will go; but prythee, let it bo

as quarter^naster, to inform the earl that we are coming."

After having had an interview with the carl, Straloch and

Burnet returned with the answer that his lordship had no

intention to take up arms, without an order i'rom the Tables,

as the boards of representatives, chosen respectively by the

nobility, country gentry, clergy, and inhabitants of the burghs,

were called, that if the Gordons would disperse he would

give them early notice to re-assendjle, if necessarv, for their

own defence, but that if they should attack him, he would

certainly defend himself.

On receiving this answer the Gordons di>baiided their army

on the 2Lst May. The depred;itions of the Highlanders upon

the properties of the Covenanters were thereafter carried on

to such au extent that the latter complained to the earl, who

immediately assembled a body of men out of Angus and the

Mearn.s, with which he entered Aberdeen on the S.ld May.

Two days afterwards he was joined by Montrose, at the head

of 4,000 men, an addition which, with other accessions,

made the whole force assembled at Aberdeen exceed G,000.

This army was soon after marched into the Mearns by Mon-

trose.

On the approach to Stonehaven from Aberdeen of a royal-

ist force under the viscount of Aboyne, on the Mth June, the

earl Marischal posted himself with 1,200 men and some pieces

of ordnance from Duunottar castle, on the direct road which

Aboyne had to pass. As the latter descended the Meagre

hill, on the morning of the loth, the earl opened a heavy lire

upon him, which threw his men into complete disorder, and

in a short time his whole army gave way. Tliis r.ffair was

called " the Raid of Stonehaven."

The earl Marischal and Montrose now .advanced towards

the Dee with .all their strength, and as .'\boync was anxious

to prevent their passage of that river, a battle took place at

the Bridge of Dee, in which the royalists were defeated and

their army obliged to fly. Tlio next day, the 20lh June,

1G39, the tidings arrived of the pacification of Berwick, con-

cluded two days before, when both parties disbanded their

forces.

The earl was one of the association which Montrose had

formed at Cumbernauld in January 1G41, for supporting the

royal authority. In September lG-14, however, he joined the

army of the earl of Argyle, on its route to the north, to op-

pose the royalist forces under Montrcse, after the battle of

Aberdeen. In the following October ho was one of the com-

mittee of the Estates sitting in that city, when Jloutrose en-

tered .-Vngus, and on hearing of his approach, they issued, on

the 10th of that month, a printed order, to which the earl

MarischaFs name was attached, ordaining all persons, of

whatever age, sex, or condition, having horses of the value of

forty pounds Scots or upwards, to send them to the Bridge of

Dee, the appointed place of rendezvous, on the 1-lth October,

with riders fully equipped and armed ; with certification, in

case of failure, that each landed proprietor should be lined

£1,000 ;
every gentleman not a lauded proprietor, £500

Scots; and each husbandman 100 merks, besides confiscation

of their horses. With the exception, however, of I.ord Gor-

don, eldest son of the marquis of ITuntly, who brought three

troops of horse, and Captain .Mexander Keith, brother of the

earl ilarischal, who appeared with one troop at the appointed

place, no attention was paid to the order of the committee

by the people, who had no desire to expose themselves again

to the vengeance of Montrose and his troops. In the battle

of Fyvie which followed, the only person of note who was

killed was the above-named Captain Keith.

Tlie carl was now to find a bitter opponent in his fomicr

associate and friend, the marquis of Jlontrose. The latter

took up his quarters at Stonehaven on 19th .March 1615, and

the following day he wrote a letter to Lord iMarischal, who
with sixteen ministers and some persons of distinction, had

shut himself up in his castle of Dunnottar. The bearer of

the letter, however, without being suffered to enter within

the gate, was sent aw.ay without an answer. It is said that

he was advised to this line of conduct by liis countess and

the ministers who had taken refuge in Dunnottar. Highly

incensed at the carl's silence, Jlontrose desired I.ord Gordon

to write to George Keith, the earl's brother, who had an in-

terview with Montrose at Stonehaven, when the latter in-

formed him that all he wanted from the earl was that he

should serve the king his master against his rebellious sub-

jects, and that if he failed to do so, he would feel his ven-

geance. But the earl declined to comply, as he said "he

would not be against the country." (^Sjyalding, vol. ii. p. 30G.)

In consequence of this refusal, Montrose at once subjected

his property to military execution. On the 21st of March,

he set fire to the houses adjoining the castle of Dunnottar,

and burnt the grain stacked in tlie barn-yards. He next set

fire to the town of Stonehaven. The lands and houses of

Cowie shared the same fate. The woods of Fetteresso were

also burnt, and the whole of the lands in the vicinity ravaged.

A ship in the harbour of Stonehaven, after being plundered,

was also set fire to, with all the fishing boats. The vassals

and dependents of the earl crowded before the castle of Dun-

nottar, and with loud erics of pity, implored him to save

them from niin. No attention was paid to their supplica-

tions, and the earl witnessed from his stronghold the total

destruction of the properties of his tenants without making

any effort to prevent it. He is said, however, deeply to have

regretted his rejection of Montrose's proposals, when he be-

held the smoke ascending all around him; " but the famous

Andrew Cant, who was among the number of his ghostly

company, edified his resolution at once to its original pitch of

firmness, by assuring him th.at that reek would be a sweet

smelling incense in the nostrils of the I.ord, rising, as it did,

from property whicli had been sacrificed to the holy cause of

the covenant."

In 1G48, the earl raised a Iroop of horse for the " Kngage-

ment," formed by the duke of Hamilton for the release of ihe

king from his captivity, and was present at the rout of Pres-

ton, but escaped. In 1G50, he entertained King Charles II.,

ill the castle of Dunnottar, and on Gth June 1G51, his castle

of Dunnottar was selected by the Scots Estates and privy

council, as the fittest place for the preservation of the regalia

of Scotland (see Kintoiuc, earl of, vol. ii. p. 611). He was

one of the committee of the Estates arrested by a detachment

of English horse from Dundee, on 28th August, 1G5I, when

sitting at Alyth in Angus. Carried prisoner to the Tower of

London, he remained there till the Restoration, having been

excepted from Cromwell's act of grace and pardon, 12lli

April, 1654. He was sworn one of the privy councillors of

Charles II., and appointed keeper of the privy seal of Scot-

land. He died in IGGl.

His brother, George, succeeded as eighth earl. In his

vounger years this noblem.an .served in the French army, and

rose to the rank of colonel. At the commencement of the

civil wars in Scotland, he returned home, and at the battle of

Preston in 1G48, he commanded a regiment of foot under the

duke of Hamilton. At the battle of Worcester in 1851, he

had the charge of three regiments appointed to guard a par-
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ticular ])iist, wlien, being overpowered by numbers, he was

made prisoner. At tlic Revolution lie seems to have taken no

part on eitlier side. In ,i letter from Viscount Dundee to tbe

earl of Melfort, dated June 27, 1G89, giving .m nccount of

the position and views of several of tlie Scots nobihty and

gentry in regard to the struggle for tbe tlirone, Dundee says

of liim, " Earl iMarshall is at Edinburgh, but docs not med-

dle." The earl died in IG!)-!.

His only son, William, ninth earl, took tlie oaths and his

seat in the Estates, l!)th .July 1G98, and always opposed the

measures of King William's reign. In the parliament of Cth

Jl.ay 1703, he protested against the calling of any of the carls

before himself Ho voted against the Union on every occa-

sion when any question reg.irding it was before the bouse,

and when the treaty was agreed to, be entered a solemn pro-

test against it. As heritable keeper of the regalia of Scot-

land, he ordered the same to be delivered up to the earl of

Glasgow, treasurer-depute, to be lodged in the castle of Edin-

burgh, protesting, at the same time, that this should not in-

validate his right as keeper thereof, and that if it should be

found necessary, at any future time, to transport tl]e regalia

to any other place within the kingdom, this should not be

done till intimation be made to him or his successors. Tbe

principal instnmieut, attested by seven notaries public, in

the bands of Alexander Keith of Dunnottar, is printed in tbe

second volume of Is'isbet's System of Ilcraldiy. At the gene-

ral election, lOtli November 1710, the earl was chosen one of

the shxtecn Scots representative peers. He died 27th May
1712. By his coimtess, J.ady Mary Drummond, eldest

daughter of the fourth earl of I'ertb, high chancellor of Scot-

land at the Revolution, he had two sons and two daughters.

George, the cider .son, succeeded as tenth earl JIarischal.

James Francis Edward, the younger son, was tbe celebrated

Jlarshal Keith, a memoir of whom is given at page 57G of

vol. ii. Lady M:ny Keith, the elder daughter, married the

sixth earl of Wigton, and was the motlier of Lady Clementina

Fle:ning, wife of the tenth Lord Elpbinstone, one of whose

sons. Admiral Sir George Keith Elpbinstone, K.B., was cre-

ated Vi.-^coimt Keith. (See vol. ii. p. 139.) Lady Anne, the

younger daughter, became countess of Galloway.

George, tenth earl, was born about 1G93. Of the once

vast property of his fanily all that he inherited were tbe

estates of Dunnottar, Eetteresso, and Inncrugie, the remain-

der having been dilapidated in the time of Cromwell, or given

as provision to the younger branches. From Queen Anne,

his lordship received the command of a troop of horse, and on

the death of lieutenant-general the carl of Crawford (see vol.

i. p. 71G) lie was appointed, 3d February 171-1, captain of the

Scottish troop of horse grenadier guards. He signed the pro-

clamation of George I., August 1, the same year; but not

being acceptable to the duke of Argyle, he was deprived of his

command, at the same time that his cousin the earl of Mar

was dismissed from his office of secretary of state. Lord

Marisclial, on his way back to Scotland, met his brother

James, the future Marshal Keith, at York, hastening to Lon-

don, to apply for promotion in the army. They returned

homo together, and instigated by their motlier, who was a

Jacobite and a Roman Catholic, they at once eng.aged in the

rebellion of 1715.

The earl was one of the disafiected nobles who attended

the pretended hunting match, summoned by the earl of Mar

lit Aboyne in Aberdeenshire, when he unfolded his plans in

favour of the Chevalier to those assembled, and he afterwards

proclaimed "King James VIII." at Aberdeen. At tbe battle

of SheritTiiuur he had the command of two squadrons of

horse. On his arrival in Scotland 22d December, the Cheva-

lier passed the next night at Newburgh, a scat of the carl

Marischal, and at Fetteresso, tbe principal seat of the earl,

he remained several days, suffering from ;igue. Here be held

a reception, when the earl of JIar, tlie earl Marischal, and

about thirty other noblemen and gentlemen, were iiitrodneed

to him, and had the honour of kissing his hand. When the

Chevalier made his public entry into Dundee, on Gth January

171fi, the earl of JIar rode on his right hand and the carl

M.'U'iscbal on bis left. After tbe failure of the enterprise, the

e;irl escaped to the continent, but his titles, with the here-

ditary office of Maiischal of Scotland, which had been in the

family since the days of Malcolm Canniore, were attainted,

and his estates forfeited to the crown.

In 1719, the c.-n-l returned to Scotland, with the Spanish

troops sent by Cardinal Alberoni, prime minister of tbe king

of Spain, to make another attempt in the Pretender's favour.

This small force landed in the western Highlands, and was

joined by .some Highlanders, chiefly Se.aforth's men. A dif-
j

ference arose between the carl JIarischal and the marquis of

Tullibardine .'ibout the command, but this dispute was put

an end to by the advance of General Wigbtman from Inver-

ness, with a body of regidar troops. The Highlanders and

their allies had taken possession of the pass at Glenshiel

;

but, on the approach of tbe government troops, they retired

to the pass at Strachell, which they resolved to defend. Gen-

eral Wigbtman attacked and drove them from one eminence

to another, when, seeing no chance of making a successful

resistance, the Highlanders dispcr.sed during the night, and
I

the Spaniards on the following day surrendered themselves I

prisoners of war. Marischal, Se.ifortb, and Tullibardine,
j

with the other officers, retired to tbe western isles, and there- !

after escaped to the continent. i

On the rupture between Great Britain and Spain in 1710, i

the Chevalier despatched Lord Marischal to iMadrid to in-

duce the Spanish court to adopt measures for his restoration.

Alluding to his expectations of assistance from I'Vance, the

Chevalier, in a letter written to Lord j\Iarisehal on lltli Jan-

nary 1710, while his lordship was on his way to the Spanish

capital, says, " I am betwi.xt hopes and fears, tbo' 1 think

there is more room for the first than the la.st, as you will

have perceived by what Lord Scmpil (so an active agent of

James was called) has, I suppose, writ to you. I conclude I

shall some time next month see clearer into these great af-

fairs." The original is among tlie Stnart papers in her M.-i-

jesty's possession. In 1713, the carl was at Boulogne, and

in the following year, when the French government were

meditating an invasion of Great Britain in support of the

Pretender, a small force in connection with it was to be

landed in Scotland under his lordship's command. In a let-

ter, however, to the Chevalier from Lord Marischal, dated

Avignon, 5th September 1711, his lordship insinuates that

there existed a design, on the part of the French ministry,

or of the Chevalier's agents at Paris, to exclude both the

duke of Ormond and himself from any share in the expedi-

tion.

The carl took no part in the attempt of Prince Charles in

1745. Having gone to reside in Prussia, he gained the con-

fidence of Frederick the Great, who, in 1750, appointed him

his ambassador extraordinary to France. He also invested

him with the Prussian order of the Black Eagle, and bestow-

ed on liim the government of Neufchatel. In 1759, the earl

was ambassador from Prussia to Spain, and discovci'ing,

while at the court of Madrid, the secret of the " Family

Compact," by which tbe different branches of the house of

lionrbon had bound themselves to assist each other, he com-

mnnicatcd that important intelligence to Jlr. Pitt, then
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inline minister of Knglund, nfterw.-uxls the first c:irl of Cliat-

liam. The hitler liaving represented liis case to George II.,

a I'ardon was granted to hiin 291 li May 1759. 'I'hc carl

tlierenpon quilted Jladrid, but liad not been pone 3G hours

bel'ore intelligence was received of the coniinuiiication he had

made to England.

.Vrriving in London he was introdnccd to George II., 1.5lli

June I7C0, and most gracionsly received. An act of parli.a-

ment passed the same year, to enable him to inherit any estate

that might descend to him, notwithstanding his allaiiider,

and he was thus enabled to possess the entailed estates of the

earl of Kintore, on his de.ith in 1761 (see Kintore, earl of,

vol. ii. p. Cll). He took the oaths to the government in the

court of king's bench 2Gth January, 17(J1. His own estates

liad been sold in 1720 to the York liuilding Company fur

i;-ll,I72, and his c.islle of Dunnottar dismantled, but in

17GI an act of parliament was passed to enable liis majesty,

George III. to grant to him out of the principal sum and in-

teicst remaining due on his forfeited est.ite, the sum i^f

i.'3,()l8, with interest from Whitsunday 1721. In 17C1,

Lord Marischal purchased back part of the family est;ites,

with the intention of taking up his residence in Scotland.

The king of Prussia, however, was urgent for his return to

lierlin. In one of his letters ho said, "If I liad a fleet, 1

would come and carry you off by force." The earl, in conse-

quence, went back to I'russia, where he spent the remainder

of his days. A traveller, who visifed Berlin about 1777, thus

writes: "We dined almost every day with the Lord ilaris-

cha.I, v.ho was tlien 85 years old, :md was still as vigorous as

ever both in body and mind. The king had given him a

house adjoining the gardens of Sans Souci, and frequently

went thither to see liim. lie had excused himself from dining

with liim, having found that his health would not allow liiin

to bit long at table, and he was of all those who had enjoyed

the favour of the king the only one who could truly be called

his friend, and who was sincerely attached to his person

Of course, every body paid court to liim. II j w.as called the

king's friend, and was the only one who had merited that

til'e, for lie had always stood well with liim without flatter-

ing him." His lord.ship died, unmarried, at Potsdam, 28th

.May 1778, in liis 8Glh year. An ' Eloge de My lord ilare-

clial ' by D'Alembcrt, was published at lierlin iu 1779.

^^\R.TORIllA^•Ks, a territorial surname, from the lands of

Ratlio-Marjorie, Kenfrewshire. See p. Hi of this volume.

Makr, or Mar, earl of, a litlc in the Scots peerage, now

nosse.'?.sed by the family of Erskiiie. The ancient district of

.Mierdeenshire of this name, lying chiefly between the Don and

!lie Dee, was one of the old inaormnnioiiis into which the north

of Scotland w.as divided, whose origin is lost in antiquity. The

first mcntiim of it is iu lOGo, when Martacbus, maormor of

.Marr, w.as witness to a charter of Malcolm Canmore in favour

of the Cnldees of I.oelileven. His son, Gratn:icli, witnessed iu

11 U the foundation charter of the monastery of Scone by

Alexander I. Properly, Gratn.acli may he considered the

liist earl of .Marr, and not JIartachus, as stated by Douglas

in his Peerage, the Saxon title of earl not being known in

Scotland iu Malcolm Canmore's days. He had a son, .Mor

j

gtmdiis, who witnessed a grant of lands by David I., to the

i
monks of Dunfermline, and was father of Gilloclier, witness

j

to a charter of the same monarch in 1093. Gillochei's son,

I

.Morgund, received from King William the Lion in 1171, a

I grant of the renewal of the investitures of the earldom of

I
Marr. He had five sons, the three eldest of whom, Gilbert,

! G'lthrist, and Duncan, according to Douglas, were succes-

sively e.irls of Marr, but the succession, as given in the Iiide.x ;

to Anderson's Diphmata Scotia, runs as follows: 1. Grat-
|

n.ieli ; 2. Morgnnd ; 3. Gilclirist ; 4. Duncan, his brother;
|

5. William; G. Donald; 7. Gratney ; 8. Don.ald II.; 9. Tho-

mas, &c. Karl Duncan died before 1234.

His son, William, fifth earl, according to the above enn-

mrralion, was, in 1258, dining the minority of Alexander

III., appointed one of the regents of Scotland. In 12G1 he
|

obt.ained the oflice of great chamberlain, and in 1270 he w.as
j

sent on a special mission to Henry III. of England. Ho died I

the same year. I!y bis countess, ICliz.abctli, daughter of Wil-

liam Comyn, earl of Buchan, he had two sons, Donald and
j

Duncan.
j

Donald, the sixth, usually called the tenth earl of .Marr, i

was knighted at Scone, by Alexander III., 29lb September
]

1270, and witnessed a charter of that monarch to the fourth !

carl of Lennox in 1272. He was also a witness to the mar-

riage contract of the prince.-is Jl.arg.iret of Scotland with

Eric, king of Norway, in 1281, and one of the Scots nobles

who, in the parli.amcnt of Scone, 5th Eebruaiy 1283-1, swore

to acknowledge the Maiden of Norway as their sovereign in

the event of the death of Alexander III. He was present iu

iho assembly at Ilrigham 12tli July 1290, when the treaty

fur the m.arriage of the Maiden of Norway, Alexander's

gr.and-daughter and successor, with the prince of W.ales, af-

terwards Edward II. of England, was concluded, but her

death at Orkney, on her passage from Norway, put an end to

that project for the union of the two kingiloms.

Dniuild, earl of JIarr, was one of the nominees chosen on

the part of Robert liruee, earl of Carrick, in his competition

for the Scottish crown in 1190. He died in 120-1, leaving a
j

son, Gratney, who succeeded him, and two daughters. Isa-
j

bclla, the elder, ns the wife of Pobcrt the Uruce, wa.s queen
;

of Scotland. JIary, the younger, married Kenr.cth, third

earl of Sutherland.

Gratney, 7th, called 11th earl, married the lady Christian

Bruce, sister of Pobcrt I., the Bruce .and jMarr families being

thus doubly united. With a son, Donald, bis siiece.'^Eor, be

liad a d.aughter. Lady Elyne JIarr, the wife of Sir .lohn .Men -

teith, and mother of a daughter, Christian, married to Sir

Edward Keith. Lady ICcilh's daughter, Janet, married Sir

Thomas Erskine, and her son by him. Sir Robert Erskine, in

her right, claimed the e.arldom of Marr. The Lady Christian

Bruce brought to the family of Marr the magniiicent castle of
j

Kildrmnmie, in Aberdeenshire, wliich, at an early period, was

royal property. In 1335, when besieged by the e.-irl of Athole,
j

wlnnn the Baliol faction had made governor of the kingdom,
j

it was under lier charge. After Earl Gralney's de.atb, tlie

countess married Sir Christojdier Seton of Si lon, and after-
j

wards Sir .Andrew Moray of Botliwell.
j

Donald, Slli, called 12lh earl, wr.s very young at his father's

death. On the defeat of his uncle, Robert the Brnee, at Mctli-

ven in 1300, the earl of Mar w.as taken pri.-^oncr by the i"ng-

lish. During the long and arduous strngglo for Scotland's in-

dependence, he remained a captive in England. When, how-

ever, it had at last been achieved on the field of Banuockburii,

he obtained his liberty, being, with the wife, sister, and daugh-

ter of Bruce, and the bi.shop of Glasgow, exchanged for the

earl of Hereford. He was present in the parliament of Scone

in 1318, but as be appears to h.ive chiefly resided in England

during the uneasy reign of Edward IL, his name does not

appear at the famous letter of the Scottish nobles to the Pope

in 1320. He was appointed by King Edward guardian of

the castle of Bristol, and in September 1320, wdien the Eng-

lish queen Isabella, with her par.imour. Lord Jlortimer,

lauded in ICngland from France, with an army, against ha?
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liiibb.-iml and lii.s favourites tlie Despcnscrs, he dolivored iip

llie castle to lier, and ix-lunied to Scotland. In the loUoninj;

vcar he lield a subordinate coinuiand in tlie Scottish army

wldcli, under Randolph and Doii<;las, invaded England.

On tlie deatli of U.-uidolpli, Jnlv 3(1, i;i;!2, tlie earl cjf Marr.

on 2d August, was choten rr;;cnt in liis stead, liis principal

recommendation beinj; that he was the nephew of llie lale

king, as lie wa.s every way unfitted for an office so arduous.

He lielJ the appointment, l.'owever, only for ten days. On

the very day of his election he received notice that Edward

Baliol, accompanied by the lords Beaumont and Wake, had

appeared with :i fleet in the Frith of Forth. After defeating

11 small force which had li.-istily collected to oppose his land-

ing at Kinghorn, Riiliid marched to IVrth, and encamped

near Forteviot, having the river Karn in his front. The earl of

JIarr drew up his army, of oO,000 men, upon Duppliii moor,

on the opposite bank of the river. Raliol's Ibrce did not ex-

ceed 3,000 men, but lie liiid friends in the Scollisli camp.

Many of the Scots nobles, whose relatives had been disinher-

ited bv Bruce, secretly favoured his preten.sioiis, as offering a

chance of their being restored to their e.st.ates. Despising so

small a force as Baliol commanded, the Scots abandoned

tlieniselves to careless security, and alter spending the day in

di'unkeniiess, went to rest, without taking the common ]ire-

caiition even of placing .sentinels. During the night of tlie

]2tli of August, the English crossed the river by a ford

pointed out to them by Andrew Murray of TiiUihardino, one

of the disaffected Scottish barons, and attacking the Scots

armv in their sleep, put them to complete rout. Among the

Killed was the earl of Marr. lie left a son. Thomas, niiilli

e:u-l, and .1 daughter, Lady Margaret, who succeeded her

brother.

Thomas, ninth called thirteenth carl, was one of the am-

bassadors sent to treat with England, for the temporary re-

lease in I.'?.')! of David II.. from his English captivity; and

in l.i.Oy, when that weak king was at L'ligth set at liberty, he

was one of the seven great lords from whom three were to be

selected as hostages for the payment of his ransom. In 13.58,

the earl of Marr was appointed great chamberlain of Scotland.

In 13(;2, he was named an ambassador to treat with England,

.mid in 13G9 he was one of the guarantees of a truce with

that nation. He appears to have favoured the iMiglisli in-

terest, as he had a pension from King Edward III. of GOO

merks yearly. He died in 1377, leaving no issue. In him

ended the direct male line of the old earls of .Marr.

His sister, Marg:iret, succeeded as countess of .Marr. She

married, first, William, first earl of Douglas, who, in her

right, became carl of Marr, and is designed earl of Douglas

and JIarr in several charters. Having been divorced from

him, she took for her second husband Sir John Swinton of

Swintoii, killed at Homildon hill in 1402. By the earl of

Douglas she had a son, James, Earl of Douglas and Marr, and

a daughter, Isabella. The second marriage was without issue.

James, earl of Douglas ,md Marr, fell .at Otterbnrn, July

3), 138S (.see vol. ii. p. 43.)

" This deed was done at Otterbournc,

Abnut the breaking of the day
;

Earl Douglas was buried at the braken bush,

And the Percy led captive away."

As he left no legitimate issue his sister, Is.ibella, became

countess of Marr. She married, first. Sir Malcolm Drum-

niond of Drummoud, styled, in her right, earl of JIarr. He
died without issue, before 27th May, 1403. At this time the

countess w.as residing tranquilly at her castle oi' Kildrummie,

and Alexander Stewart, a natural son of the earl of Uuclian,

called the wolf of Badenoch, deeming her and her broad lands

a prize worth the having, at the head of a formidable band of

outlaws ar,d robbers, stormed the castle, and either by vio-

lence or persuasion, obtained her in marriage. The father of

this lawless young man was the fourth sou of Ktng Robert

II., and as his father's brother, the duke of Albany, governor

of the kingdom, for his own purposes, winked at the feuds

.ind excesses of the nobles, lie took advantage of the disturbed

st.ate of the country and the unprotected condition of the

countess, to commit an act, which was attended with com-

plete success. On 12th August, 140 1, the countess made

over her earldom of Marr and Gariocli, with all her- other

lands, to the said Alexander Stewart, " and the heirs to bo

procreated between him and her, whom failing, to his heirs

and assignees whatsoever." 'i'o give a legal aspect to the

whole transaction, on the lOtli .September, he presented him-

self at the castle gate of KildrmiiMiie, and surrendered to the

countess not only the castle, but all within it, and the title

deeds therein kept ; in testimony of which he delivered to her

the keys to dispose of as she ple.-ised. The counte.ss, bedding

them in her hand, deliberately and of her own free will, clio.se

him for her husband, and conferred upon him the castle, per-

tinents, &c.. as a free marriage gift, of which he took iiistrii-

iiients. This, however, was not deemed sunicient, for, on the

Otli December following, the countess, standing in the fields,

outside the castle of Kildmmniie, in presence of Alexander,

bishop of Ross, and tlie whole tenants, that it might appear to

have been conferred without force on his p.art or fear on hers,

granted a charter of the same to him, duly signed and sealed.

After this the said Alexander Stewart was usually styled earl

of Marr and lord of Gaiioch.

In 1400, he was one of the ambass.adors sent to England,

to treat of peace. The following year he was again in Eng-

land, when he engaged in a tournament with the carl of Kent

at London. In 1408, he went to France and ITandciv, with a

splendid retinue, and, according to Wyutoun (Chroiu/Lil, vol.

ii. pp. 421—440) gained great distinction in the .service of the

duke of Burgundy, by whom he was sent to assist in quelling

a rebellion at Liege, of the inhabitants .again.st John of Bava-

ria, their bishop. It is said that, on this occasion, although

his wife the countess of Marr was then alive, he married the

lady of Duffyl in Brabant. In a charter to his brother, An-

drew Stewart, with his other acquired titles, he is styled

" dominus de Dufie." This was the earl of Marr who com-

manded the royal army against Donald, lord of the Isles, at

the battle of H.arlaw in 1411. The ostensible cause of the

battle was the earldom of Ross, wdiicli h.ad been held by his

father, the Wolf of Badenoch, in right of his wife, the countess

of Ros.s, and was claimed by his uncle, the regent Albany, for

his second son, the earl of Buchan, as well as by Donald of

the Lsles in right of his wii"e. (See vol. i. p. 37.) The strug-

gle, however, was only a part of that long contest which took

place betwixt the Saxon and the Celtic portions of the nation

for the sovereignty of the country, which lasted till the latter

were finally obliged to succumb. The lord of the Isles, with

an army of 10,000 men, bad advanced .as far as the di.strict of

Marr, intending to plunder the city of Aberdeen, and to

ravage the country to the borders of the Tay, but was stopped

ill his progress by the earl of Marr, as thus related in the old

historical ballad called ' The Battle of Hariaw :

'

" To hinder this prouil entorprize,

The stout and mighty earl of .Mar,

With all his men in arms did rise,

Even frae Curgarf to Craigievar.
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And doun tlie side of Don riglit

Angus and Meiirns did all convene

To i'echt, or Donald came sae neai',

The royal burgh of Aberdeen.

" And thus the martial earl of .Mar

Jfarcht with his men in richt array,

Before the enemy w.as aware,

His banner bauldly did display,

For weel eneuch tliey knew the way,

And all their semblance weel they saw,

Witliont all danger or delay,

Came hastily to the Harlaw."

In l llG the earl was appointed ambassador extraordinary

to Kngland, and soon after wai'den of the marches. His

uncle, the duke of Albany, being at tliis time governor of the

kingdom, may partly account for his being preferred to such

high offices, especially after the signal service he had done

liim in defeating his formidable rival, Donald of the Isles.

Tlie countess of JIarr died in 1419, when the fee of the

earldom should have devolved on the heir of line, Janet Keith,

wife of Sir Thomas Krskine, but Earl Alexander, conscious

that he had only a liferent right to it, used the device of re-

signing it into the hands of the king, James I., on which a

charter of the earldom, dated 28tli Jlay H2G, was granted by

the king, to liimself for life, and to his niitural son, Sir

Thomas Stewart, after him, .and the lawful heirs male of his

body, and on their failure to revert to the crown. Earl

Alexjmder died, without legitimate issue, in August 1435,

and his natural son, Sir Thouias Stewart, having predece.ased

him, the earldom, according to the charter, became vested in

the crown.

Sir Hobcrt Erskine, only son of Sir Thomas Erskine and

Lady Janet Keith, great-gr.auddaugliter of Gratney, 7th,

called the 11th earl, (see page 108) now .advanced his claims

to the earldom, in right of his mother, (see vol. ii. p. 144.)

On 22d .April 1438, he was, before the sheriff of Aberdeen,

served heir to tlie Countess Isabel, and in the following

November infefted in the estates. Assuming the title of

earl of Marr, he grrmted various charters to vassals of the

earldom. He was not, however, allowed to retain possession

of it. In 1437, immediately alter the .assassination of James

I. an act of parliament was passed that no lands or posses-

sions belonging to the king should be given to any man with-

out the consent; of the three Estates, till the young king

(James 11., then only seven years old) should be twenty-one

years of age, and in 1440, it was agreed " for the good and

quiet of the land, that the king should deliver up to Sir

IJobert Erskine, calling liimself earl of JIarr, the castle of

Kildrmnmie, to be kept by him till the king's majority, when

the said Sir Robert should come before the king and the three

Estates, and show his rights and claims, as far as law will."

At the same time Sir Kobert delivered up to the king the

castles of JIarr and Dumbarton Iield by hiin. In 1442, Sir

Robert Erskine took a protest at Stirling, in presence of the

king and council, comphiining .against the chancellor, for re-

fusing to retour him to the lordship of Gariocli, and put him

in possession of the castle of Kildrummie. He afterwards

besieged and took the castle, whereupon the castle of Alloa,

belonging to him, was taken possession of in the king's name.

In 1448, in consequence of a new indenture. Sir Robert

Erskine obliged himself to deliver up the castle of Kildrum-

mie to the king.

On Sir Robert's death, after 1449, the king, on various

grounds, obtained a i-cduclion of his seiTice before an assize
|

of eiTor, held, in his- presence, at Aberdeen, loth Jlay

1457.

The earldom, being thus unjustly withheld from the right-

ful owners, was never long enjoyed by any of the various

pei-sonages on whom it was subsequently conferred, the fate

of all of whom vv.as singularly unfortunate. The first of

these was John, 3d son of James II., a young prince of great

accomplishments, and expert in all the knightly exercises

and pastimes of tlie age. Having rendered himself obnoxious

to the favourites of his brother, James III., he was iu 1479

by them accused of plotting ag.ainst his life by spells .and in-

cantations, and by the king's command imprisoned in Craig-

millar castle. Being condemned to die by the king's domes-

tic council, he was removed to the Cauongate, Edinburgh,

and bled to death by having a vein opened. The earldom

was next bestowed, or rather the revenues of it, on Coch-
rane, the principal favourite of the king, who stvled hinisi-if

earl of JIar, hanged at Lauder Bridge in 1482.

The next possessor was Alexander Stewart, duke of Ross,

third son of James III., who had a charter of the same, 2d

JIarch, 148G. After his deatli, the date of which is unknown,

it returned to the crown, and in February 15(11-2, it \vas

conferred by Queen JIary on her natural brothei', the lord

.Tames Stewart, afterwards regent. A week previous he had

been created earl of Jloray, a title which he preferred to that

of JIarr, the latter being claimed by the Erskine family.

At length in lufio, tlie earldom of JIarr was restored by

Queen JIary to its legitimate proprietor, John, fifth Lord Er-

skine, after the family had been deprived of it for 130 years.

John, fifth Lord Erskine, and first acknowledged earl of

JIar of that family, was elected regent of the kingdom, on

the death of the regent Lennox, in 1571. A notice and por-

trait of him are given at page 144 of vol. ii. From Queen

JIary and King Henry (Lord Darnley) ho received a charter,

18th July 15G'', granting to liiin, heritably and irredeemably,

and his heirs, bearing the surname and arms of Erskine, the

oflice of sheriff of Stirlingshire, and the captainship and cus-

tody of the castle of Stirling, with the office of b.ailiary and

chamberlainry of the lands and lordship of Stirling and of the

water of Forth. The Erskines had been hereditary keepers

of Stirling castle from the time of Sir Robert Erskine, who

received the appointment from David II. (see vol. ii. p. 144).

The earl was by far too honest .and patriotic for the post ol

regent, to which he had been elected at a time when a civil

war of unex.ampled ferocity raged in tlio kingdom, and being

unable to prevent the scenes of blood and disorder which

were continually occurring, or to bring about any union of

parties, he sank beneath the burden of anxiety and grief

which the distracted state of tho kingdom occasioned him,

and died 29th October 1572. By his wife, Annabella, daugh-

ter of Sir William JIurray of TnUibardine, ho had a son,

John, and a daughter, JIary, countess of .Angus.

John, 2d, properly 7th earl of Jl.ir, of the name of Erskine,

born about 1558, was, though eight years older than the

prince, educated with King James VI. at Stirling castle, by

George Buchanan, under the eyes of the countess of JIar, his

mother, and Sir Alexander Erskine of Gugar, his uncle, an-

cestor of the earls of Kellic. (See Kiii.i.iic. earl of.) He was

only 14 years of age when he succeeded his father iu 1572.

In April 1578 the earl of Jlorton prevailed upon him to re-

move his uncle. Sir Alexander, from Stirling castle, and to

take the keeping of the castle and of the king's person iiilo

his own hand. Jlorton then obtained tidmission to the castle,

with his friends and followers iu small parties, and after

I
that the young earl durst do nothing but what he commanded
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In August ITiSi, Mar was one of the nobles cngaj^ed in

the Raid of Iluthven, tlje ol ject of wliicli was to get rid of

tlie favourites, Lennox and Arran. The fullowing year, Aixan

being recalled to conrt, Mar was committed to the custody of

the carl of Argyle, and ordered to deliver up the castle of

Stirling to the king and council, on pain of treason. On his

doing so, tlie king gave the keeping of Stirling castle to Ar-

ran, and also appointed liini provost of Stirling. Mar, in the

meantime, with the others concerned in the Iluthvcn afl'dr,

had taken refuge in Ireland. Returning to Scotland, they,

on the 17th April 1.584, surprised Stirling castle, but were

forced hurriedly to leave it, on the 27t!i, on the approach of

the king with a large force, and to take .shelter in Kngliiid.

In the parliament which met 22d August of that year, the earl

was attainted, with the others. In November \o85, however,

he and the other banished lords re-entered Scotland, and as-

sembling their retainers, at the head of 8,000 men, took pos-

session of Stirling castle and the king's person, the unpi iuciijled

Arran, stripped of all his titles and estates, being allowed to

drop into his original obscurity. In the parliament which

met in December of the same year, the pardons of the con-

federated lords were ratilied, and their honours and estates

restored.

On the arrival of the king with Queen Anne from Den-

mark 1st May 1500, they were received at the top of the

st.-nrs at the pier of Leith, by the duke of I.euiio.K, the earls

of Mar and Bothwell, and others; the countesses of Mar and

Mari.sch.al standing first in order amongst the si.\teen noble

women and ladies selected to receive the queen. In 1592 he

was appointed governor of the castle of Kiliuburgh. At this

time he was in high credit at coiu't, and held the office of

great master of the household. In JIarcli 1594 he was one

of the noblemen who .subscribed the bond at Aberdeen, where

the king then was, for the security of the protest.ant religion,

against the Popish earls, Iluntly, Angus, and ICrrol, and

others. After the baptism of Trince Henry on the penult

day of .\ugust that year, the king dubbed the royal infant

a knight, when he was " touched with the spur by the earl of

jMar." At the banquet which followed, "the king and queen,

with the ambassadors, sat at table in the great hall, at eight

hours at even; the office men to the king, the earl of jMar,

great master liousehold ; the lord Fleming, great usher; the

earl of Montrose, carver; the earl of Glencairn, cupper; the

e.arl of Orkney, sewer; to the queen, the lord Seton. carver;

the lord Hume, cupper; the lord Sempill, sewer. The table

was so served that every one might see another."

In the spring of 1595, the queen insisted that the young

prince should be removed from Stirling to Edinburgh caslle,

with Ruccleuch as governor of the latter fortress, but the earl

of Mar, who had charge of the infant, would n(it allow her to

come near him, except with a small retinue, lest he should be

carried offi In .Tuly of that year the king form.ally intrusti'd

the keeping and education of the prince to the e;n l, by a war-

rant under his own hand, being the fifth generation of the

royal family which had been put under the charge of an Krs-

kiue. At a convention held at Holyrood palace, Dec. 10,

1598, the carl of Mar was sworn one ol the council .-ippointed

to meet twice a-week to assist the king wiili their .Mdvice.

In the mysterious business of the Gowrie con.-^piracy the

carl of Mar was one of the king's principal attendants (see

vol. ii. p. 559). In IGOl he was sent to ICngland, as ambas-

sador, and to his e.Ncellent management on this occasion is

in part attributed the smo(.tli accession of King James to

the English throne. When in I.onilon, Robert I'ruce

the celebrated preacher, then in banishment for his disbelief

of the guilt of the Gowrie brothers, li.ad an interview with

him, and through the earl's influence with the king, he

subsequently received a license to return to Scotland, li:

1603, the earl was one of the Scots nobles who accompanied

the king on his departure for London to take possession of

the throne of England. Before reaching York, however, he

was compelled to return, as the queen had taken advantage

of his absence to go to Stiiling with a large retinue of noble-

men and others, and demand that prince Henry should be

delivered up to her. The countess of Mar, the earl's mother,

refused to give him up, without an order under the earl's

own hand. The queen, cnr.-iged at the refusal, took to her

bed, and, s.nys Calderwood, " parted with child the lOlh of

.May, as was constantly reported." He refused to give to

any one but herself the letters lie had brought from

the king to her nnijesty, and both the queen and the earl

wrote to James express regarding this business. The duke

of Lennox was, in consequence, sent from court to have the

affair adjusted. He arrived at Stirling the 19th iMay, with

the king's approval of the proceedings of the earl and his

mother, and with commissi(jn to transport both the queen

and prince to England. The carl I'f .Mar then repaired to

London, and on his arriv.al at court, he was sworn a member

of the ICnglish privy council, and installed a koiglit of the

Garter, 27th July the same year. In 1004 he was created

Lord C:irdross (sec vol. i. p. 587), at the s.anie time obtain-

ing the barony of that name, with the power of assigning the

barony and title to any of his male heirs. The king's reason

for conferring this unusual privilege upon him, as staled in

the grant, was that he " might be in a better condition to

provide for his younger sons, by Lady Mary Stewart, daughter

of the duke of Lennox, and a relation of his niajestv," His

portrait is subjoined.

In the beginning of ICOC, he retunied to Scotland from

London, to assist at the trial of Mr. John Welch and five

other ministers at Linlithgow, on a charge of treason, for
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liMviiig liecliiicJ the jurisdiction of the privy council in a mat-

ter jnirely cccleti:ibtieal. He was rallier favoiirahle than

otljeruise to tlie prisoners, for when tlie justice-depute, on a

prchminary olijcetion being talcen to the relevancy of the in-

dictment, declared that by the uniform votes of the whole

council and lords there present, the trial should proceed, the

earl of Mar and two others interposed, and said, " Say not

a'l, for there are here that arc not, nor ever will be, of that

judgment." Tliey were, however, overruled. He was a

member of the court of high commission erected in ICIO for

the trial of ecclesiastical offences, and also on its renewal in

1C19. In December IGIG, he was appointed lord-high-

treasurer of Scotland, an office which he held till 1630. At

the opening of the parliament at Edinburgli, 2utli July 1C21,

he carried the sceptre, as he had often done on similar occa-

sions before. It was at this pariiameut that the obnoxious

live articles of Perth were ratified, the earl of JIar being

among those who voted for them. As a courtier and favour-

ite cf King James he could not have done otherwise. In

102." he was one of the noblemen named in a coumiission to

sit at Edinburgh twice a-week for the redress of grievances,

but which never took efTeot. He was at the proclamation of

Ciiarles I. as king at the Cross of Kdinburgh, betwi.\t six

and seven o'clock in the evening of the last day of March

1U25.

The earl died at Stirling castle 14th December IGoJ, aged

77, and was buried at .-Mloa. He was twice mimied, first, to

Anne, second daughter of David, second Lord Drummond,

by whom he had a son, Jolm, his successor; and secondly,

to I.ady JIary Stewart, second daughter of Ksme, duke of

Lcnno.\, already mentioned. Cy this lady lie had five sons

and four daughters. The eldest of these sons, Sir James

Erskine, married Mary Douglas, countess of Buchan, in her

own right, and was created earl of Buchan (see Biicii^VN',

earl of, vol. i. p. 454-, where his portrait is given). The .sec-

ond son, Henry, received from his fallier the barony of Car-

dross, and was known :is the first Lord Cardross. The thii'd

son, Colonel the Hon. Sir Alexander Erskine, was blown up

at Dunglas-house, in East Lothian, with his brother-in-law,

the earl of Haddington, in 1640. He was a man of elegant

person, and the hero of the beautiful and pathetic Scottish

Bong, beginning " Baloo, my boy," the heroine of which was

Anna Bothwell, daughter of Lord Ilolyroodhouw. the victim

of an unfortunate passion (see vol. i. p. 364). 'j'he Hon. Sir

Charles Erskine of Alva, knight, the 4th son, was ancestor of

the Erskiiies of Alva (see vol. ii. p. 14."i), a family now re-

presented liy the earls of Ilosslyn ; and the Hon. William Ers-

kine, the youngest son, was cupbearer to Charles II., and master

of the Charter House, London. All the lord-treasurer's four

daughters were married to earls, namely, Mai'isclial, liothes,

Kinghorn, and H.addington. The carl himself was familiar-

ly called by his classfellow, James VL, "Jocky o' Sclait-

tis," that is, slates ; .and this name he continued to

give him even after he had become lord-treasurer. When

a widower, the earl had fallen deeply in love with Lady

Mary Stewart, the daughter of Lennox and cousin of the

king. As his lordship was twice her age, and had already a

son and heir, she at first positively refused to take hiin. The

king, liowevcr, took his part, and in liis own homely way,

said, "I say, Jock, ye sanna die for ony l.iss in a' the land."

He is said to have prevailed on the lady to marry him by

promising to make a peer of her eldest son.

John, the eighth eari, was invested with the order of the

Bath at the creation of Henry prince of Wales, 30th May

IGIO; sworn a privy councillor, 20th July 161.5, and ap-

Doiuted governor of Edinburgh castle. On 1st Februaiy

1G20, while still Lord Erskine, he was named one of the e.-c-

traordinary lords of session, and in 162G was superseded with

the rest of the extraordinary lords. Reappointed ISlh June

1628, he .again sat on the bench till IGOO. He succeeded his

father in 1634, and in 1638 was deprived of his command of

Edinburgh castle. General Ruthven, afterwards earl of Forth

(see FouTiT, earl of, vol. ii. p. 2o4), having been recalled

from the Swedish service and by the king appointed governor

of the castle, at the commencement of the civil commotions in

Scotland, when the infatuated Charles resolved to suppress

the covenant by force. He got security, however, for a com-

pensation of £3,000. The same year, he was prevailed upon

to sell to the king the shcrifi'ship of Stirling and bailiarv of

the Forth, for £8,000 sterling, for whieh he obtained a bond,

1st November 1G4I. (^Doughs' Petnir/e, vol. ii. p. 216.)

He was one of the noblemen proposed by the king to the

Scots Estates to be a privy councillor, and w-as accordingly

sworn one for life on the 13th of the same month. Being a

great prijector, he obtained a patent for the t.anning of lea-

ther, but in consequence of its having been complained of as

a monopoly, it was discharged by parliament, on 16th No-

vember the same year. A remit was, lio.vever, nuide to t'le

council to consider his expenses, that reparation might be

made to him for the same.

The earl of Mur at first favoured the Covenanters, but

soon joined the Cumbernauld associ.ation to support the king.

In consequence, his property was forfeited by the ICstates. He
is said to have .sold several lands in Scotland, and with the

money received for them, purchased an estate in Ireland,

which he lost by the Irish rebellion. He died in 1654. By

his countess, Lady Christian Hay, daughter of Francis, ninth

earl of Errol, he had three sons and two daughters.

The elder son, John, called the 9th carl of JIar of the

name of Erskine, had, when still Lord Er.'^kine, the command

of the Stirlingshire regiment in the Scots army which, in

1G40, marched to England. The following year, with his

father, he acceded to the Cumbernauld association to sup-

port the royal cause. In 1615. on the approach of Montrose's

army to Alloa, the Iri.-:h in his .service plundered that town

and the adjoining lordship which belonged to the carl of

Mar. Notwithstanding this unprovoked outrage, however,

the earl and Lord Erskine his son, gave the royalist leader

and his principal officers .an elegant entertainment, and for

doing so, the marquis of x\rgyle subsequently threatened to

burn his castle of Alloa. (^Gidhri/s ifemoirs, p. 153.) After

the battle of Kilsyth, 15th .August 1645, Lord Erskine joined

Montrose, and was .at the rout of Philiphangh, on 13th Sep-

tember following, but escaped, and was sent by Montrose

into the district of M;ir, to raise forces to recruit his discom-

fited army. He was fined by the Estates 24,000 nierks, .and

his houses of Erskine and Alloa w-ere plundered by their or-

der. On succeeding his father in 1654, liis whole estates

were sequestrated, and till the Kestoration he lived privately

in a small cottage at the gate of Alloa house. To add to his

misfortunes, he was struck w ith blindness. In his portrait

he is represented as a fair-h.aired, mild-looking old man.

When King Charles got " his own .again," the earl was re-

stored to his estates. He died in September 1668. He was

twice married. His first wife. Lady JIary Scott, eldest

daughter of the first carl of Buccleuch, had surviving issue.

By his second countess. Lady Mary Mackenzie, eldest daugh-

ter of the second carl of Sealbrth, lie had two sons and three

daughters.

The elder son, Charles, tenth earl of the Erskine name,

born I'Oth October 1G50, succeeded to the earldom in his 14th

year. In 1679 he raised the 21st regiment of foot, or Koy.al
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Scots Fiisilcers, of wliicli lie was tippointeJ colonel. In 1C82

he was sworn a lord of tlic Scots privy council, and continued

one in the reign of James VII., but not approving of that

monarch's arbitrary measures, he had left Iiis lumse to retire

to the continent, when tidings of the landing of the prince of

Orange arrived in Scotland. (^Doxiyhs' rccraye, vol. ii. p.

217.) He appeared in the convention of Estates held at Ed-

inburgh, 14th JIarch 1689, but gave the viscount Dundee a

promise that he would accompany him to a proposed conven-

tion of the king's friends to be held at Stiriing. After Dun-

dec's abrupt departure, with his troopers, from Edinburgh,

the earl was approliondcd, not unwillingly it is supposed, in

a feigned attempt to esc.ipe from the capitid, but was re-

leased on giving his parole that he would not leave the city

without the permission of the convention. He died on the

2.3d of the following montli. In Douglas' Peerage, and in

Swan's Views on the Clyde, p. G5, it is erroneously stated

that he was obliged, from the heavy incumbrances on his

estates, to sell, " .shortly previous to the year 1G89" iiis lands

of Erskine in Konfrcwshire, the most ancient possession of

the family. They were, however, disposed of fifty years pre-

viously', liaving been bought, in 1G38, by Sir John Hamilton of

Orbiston, from John, eighth carl. In 1703, they became the

property of the noble family of Blavityre.

By his covuitcss. Lady Mary JIaulc, eldest daughter of the

second earl of I'anmure, Earl Charles had eight sons and one

daughter, I.ady Jean, married to Sir Hugh Paterson of Ean-

nockbuni, baronet, a zealous .Jacobite, in wliose house near

Stirling, Prince Charles slept in 1745, on his advance from

the north to Edinburgh, with the Highland army, and who

was afterwards forfeited fur his share in tlie rebellion. Oi'

the sons, five died young. The others were, John, eleventh

earl; the Hon. James Erskine of Grange, lord-justice-clerk;

and lieutenant-colonel tliC Hon. Henry Erskine, killed at the

battle of Almanza, in 1707, aged 25, nnmarriid.

Of the eldest son, John, eleventh earl of the Erskine fam-

ily, the leader of the rebellion of 1715, a memoir has been

already given (see vol. ii. p. 155). Thomas, Lord Erskine,

his only surviving son, by his countess. Lady JIargaret Ilaj-,

J.auglitcr of Tliomas, earl of Kinnoul, was commissary of

stores at Gibraltar, and was elected M.P. for Stirlingshire, on

a vacancy in 1747, and for the county of Clackmannan at

the general election the same year. He died IGtli March

17GG. The Mar estate which, with the titles, had been for-

feited, was purchased for him from government, by his uncle,

the Hon. James Erskine of Grange.

This gentleman, whose name has been rendered conspicu-

ous by the proceedings in relation to his wife, pas.sed advo-

cate 28th July 1705, and was appointed a lord of session

fifteen months afterwards, namely, on 18th October 170G,

when he assumed the title of Lord Grange. His brother, the

earl of M.-ir, was at that time secretary of state for Scotl;md,

which accounts for his speedy promotion. On Gth June

1707, he was constituted a lord of justiciaiy, and on 27th

July 1710, appointed lord-juslice-clerk. From a wish to

join the opposition against Sir Uobert Walpole, he was anx-

ious to enter parliament, and iu 1734, offered himself as a

candidate for the county of Stirling. ^Vith the view to ex-

clude him from the house of connnons, Walpole got the act

of that year passed, which incapacitates judges from being

members of parliament. Lord Grange, thereupon, resigned

his .scat on the bench, both of the court of session and justi-

ciary, and was elected M.P. for Stiriingshire. He took an

active share in the debates, but, as the Walpole administra-

tion continued in oflice, he was disappointed in being m.ade

secretary of state for Scotland, the great object of his ambi-

IIT.

tion, in the event of their overthrow. He is said to have

held the office of secretary to the prince of Wales, but soon

retired from political life, and again appeared in the court of

session as an advocate ; but in a short time relinquished his

practice and left the bar. He died at London 24th January
|

175 1, in his 75th year.

He married Eachel Cliiesley, the daughter of that Cliiesley

of Dairy who, on 3Ist JIarch 1G89, shot Lord-president
!

Lockhart in the Old Bank close, Lawnmarket, Edinburgh, in

consequence of a decision given by him fh.at ho was bound to

support his wife. The story of Lady Grange is one of the

most romantic and extraordinary that occurred in real life in

the 18th century. There can he no doubt there was madness

in her family, and the unfortunate lady herself was unfortu-

nately a confirmed drunk.ard. Becoming jealous of her hus-

band, she employed spies to watch him when he was in Eng-

land, and is said to have often boasted of the blood from

wdiich she had sprung, alluding to her father's murder of the

president, as a significant intimation of what she might be

able to accomplish, if driven to extremities. Wodrow (.4)i«-

lecta, vol. iv. p. ICG. Ufailland Cluh,') thus describes her con-

duct, in July 1730, just before her celebrated abduction, an

account of which and her confinement in the Western Isles,

is given in the Edinburgh Magazine for 1817: " She inter-

cepted her husband's letters in the post- oflice, and would

have palmed treason upon them, and took them to the justice

clerk, as is said, and alleged that some phrases in some of her

lord's letters to Lord Dun, related to the Pretender, without i

the least shadow for the inference. Last month it seems his

lady, being for her drunlcenness palpable and open, and her

violent unhappy temper and mismanagement, inhibited by

my lord, left tlie family. This was pleasing to her lord, and

he did not use any endeavours to have her back, since some-

times she attempted to murder him, and was innumerable

ways uneasy. L'pon this, my lady gave in a bill to the lords

for a maintenance, and containing the grounds of her separa-

tion. But the matter was taken up, and my lord entered

into a concert with her friends, allowed her £100 a-ye.ar, and

she declared she would be satisfied with that : and so they

live separately." On the evening of 22d January 1732,

Lady Grange, as she was commonly called, who then lived

in lodgings next door to the house of her husband, was

seized and gagged by .several Highlanders, who h:id been so- '

cretly admitted into the house. The celebrated Simon, Lord
\

Lovat, one of Lord Grange's most intimate friends, was f

charged with being the m.-iin instrument in her abduction,

and she herself declared that those who carried her off wore

I.ovat's livery, by which, it is supposed, she meant his tartan.

She also mentions that Lovat had an interview with her

principal gaoler near Stirling, to arrange as to her jouraey.

She is said to have possessed herself of a dangerous letter by

her husband, and had even taken her place in the coach to

London to deliver it to the king. Lord Lovat, iu the strong-
j

est language, denied all share in the transaction. " As to

that story about my Lord Grange," he says, "it is a much
less sui-prise to me, because they said ten times worse of me,

when th-at damned woman went from Edinburgh than they

can say now ; for they said it was all my contrivance, and

that it was my servants that took her away ; but I defied
j

them then, as I do now, and do declare to you upon honour,
i

that I do not know what has become of that woman, where
]

,

she is, or who takes care of her, but if I had contrived, and ]
\

assisted, and saved my Lord Grange from that devil, w ho
\

j

threatened every day to murder him and his children, I \',

would not think sh.ame of it before God or man." By this
j

[

lady, Lord Grange had four sons and four daughters. He is
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said to have been the gi-eat lay head of tlie ultra-presbyte-

rian party in Scotland, and Wodrow records that on one

occasion " he complains much of preaching up of mere mo-

rahty, and very little of Christ and grace." (Wodroip, An-

alecta, vol. u. p. 207.) His lordship left a diar)-, very full of

earnest piety, which, under the name of the Diaiy of a Jlem-

ber of the College of Justice, was privately printed in 18-13.

Lord Grange's two eldest sons died young. James, the

third son (advocate, 1734, appointed knight marischal of

Scotland, 1758) married liis cousin. Lady Frances Erskine,

only daughter of the eleventh earl of Mar, and died 27th

February 1785, aged 75. He had two sons, John Francis

Erskine of Mar, and James Francis Erskine, a colonel in the

amy, died 5th April, 1806, aged 63.

John Francis Erskine of Mar, the elder son, was an officer

of dragoons, and in 17G2 obtained a captain's commission in

the first regiment of horse. He quitted the army in 1770,

and succeeded to the estate of Alloa, on the death of his mo-

ther in 1776. On 17th June 1824, the attainder was re-

versed by act of parliament in his favour, when he became

twelfth, but was styled fourteenth earl of i\Lar of the name of

Erskine. He died 20th August 1825. By his wife, Fran-

ces, only daughter of Charles Floyer, Esq., governor of IMa-

dras, he had four sons and five daughters. John Thomas,

the eldest son, succeeded his father. The second son died

without issue. Henry David, the youngest son, married in

1805, Mary Anne, daughter of John Cooksey, Esq., and died

31st December, 1846. Henry David's second sou, Walter

Coningsby Erskine of Shaw Park, Alloa, captain in the 73d

regiment Bengal Native infantry, is heir presumptive (1856)

to the earldom of Kellie (sec vol. ii. p. 579) ;
man-ied, with

issue.

John Thomas Erskine, the eldest son, fifteenth, properly

thirteenth earl of Mar, born in 1772, died 20th September

1828. He married 17th March 1795, Janet, daughter of

Patrick Miller of Dalswinton, Dumfries-shire, the well-known

steamboat projector, and, with two daughters, had a son,

John Francis Miller Erskine, called the sixteenth earl, born

28th December, 1795. On the death of Methven Erskine,

tenth earl of Kellie, in 1829, he claimed that title, as heir

male general, with the minor titles of Viscount Fcnton and

Baron Dirleton, and his right was allowed by the house of

lords. (See Kellie, earl of, vol. ii. p. 581.) His lordship

married, in 1827, the eldest daughter of Sir Charles Gran-

ville Stewart Menteath, baronet of Closeburn. The countess

died loth December 1853, without issue.

The earl's two sisters were, Lady Frances Diana, married

William James Goodeve, Esq. of Clifton, and, besides daugh-

ters, had an only son, John Francis Erskine Goodeve, born

at Clifton, 29th March 1836, heir presumptive to the earldom

of Mar (1856) ; and Lady Janetta, wife of Edward Wilmot-

Chetwode, Esq. of Woodbank, Queen's county, L-eland, with

issue. The sixteenth earl was many years in the army, and

served at Quatre Bras and Waterloo; 33d in descent from

Murtachas, maormor of Mar in 1065, and premier earl, vis-

count, and baron of Scotland,

JIakjoribANKS, a surname, derived from the lands of

Ratho-Marjorie, in Eenfrewsliire, so named from their hav-

ing been bestowed on the princess Maijime, only daughter of

Robert the Bruce, on lier nuptials in 1316 with Walter, high

steward of Scotland, ancestor of the rnyal line of Stunrt.

These lands, subsequently called "Terre de Eatho-lMarjori-

banks," came into tlie possession of a family of the name of

Johnston, who, from them, assumed the name of Marjori-

banks, though they continue to bear in part the Johnston

arms. Several of this family were members of the Scottish

Estates. On the institution of the court of sessiun in 1532,

by James V., Thomas JIaijoribanks was one of the ten ad-

vocates selected to " procure '' or plead before the lords. On
March 2, 1 535, he was appointed advocate fur the poor, jointly

with Dr. Gladstanes, the salary of £10 a-year, with his con-

sent, being given to the hitter. He acquired the lands of

Ratlio in September 1540. The same ycnr he was provost of

Edinburgh and commissioner for that city in the Estates, and

again represented it in p.arliamcnt in 1546. He was admitted

a lord of session and appointed clerk-register 8th Febriiaiy

1549, but v>-as deprived of the hitter office in 1554, on an ac-

cusation of having falsified a waiTant of the court.

Li 1539, Thomas Marjoribanks had a charter as follows:

" Magister Thonia; Maijnribai.ks, 30 Bovatrs terrarnm de

Uatho."

In 1514, there appears a crown charter in favom of

"Thomas Marjoribanks dividist;it. terrarum deJIains of Spotts

et terrarnm de Handarewood."

In 1552, there is an entry in the records, "L^nam terrain

in Edinburgh, Jacobi i\Iarjorib:inks."

Christian Marjoribanks, believed to be the grand-daughter

of the above-named Thomas JIarjoribanks, married in 1586,

George Heriot, the founder of the magnificent Hospital at

Edinburgh. She was Lis first wife, and is described as " the

daughter of a respectable burgess."

In 1604, Thomas I^Laijoribanks of Eatho, held these lands,

as appears from the following :
—" Thomas Marjoribanks de

Ratlio et Maria; Douglas, ejus conjugi villa et terrarum de

Ratho extendandam ad triginta sexta bovatas cum mansione

lacu et pratu."

In 1610, John Maijoribanks of Ratho got a charter as fol-

lows:—" Johannis Marjoribanks de Ratho, triginta sex bo-

vatas terrarum de Ratho."

In 1645, Andrew Maijoribanks possessed certain propertv

at Salt Prestons, now Preston Pans, thus described :
—"Magis-

ter AndiK Marjoribanks, quorundani tenementarium et acra-

rum in Salt Prestons."

James Marjoribanks of Maijoribanks and Bowbardie or Bal-

bardie, had two sons, Andrew, and George, surgeon, Edinburgh.

The latter went to Waterford, in Ireland, and married the

daughter of the Bishop of Waterford, by whom he had several

daughters. The eldest married Mr. Jloneypenny of Pitmilly,

Fifeshire, and was grandmother of Lord Pitmilly, a judge of

the court of session, who retired from the bench in 1831.

The elder son, Andrew JIarjoribanks of JIarjoribanks, m.ar-

ried in 1744, Mary Chalmers, and had 3 sons and 2 daugh-

ters. Christian, one of his daughters, married Jlr. Wardrop

of Torbanehill, and was mother of James Wardrop, Esq., the

celebrated oculist and surgeon in ordinary to George IV.

The eldest son, Alexander JIarjoribanks of Jlaijoribanks,

born in 1750, was convener of Linlithgowshire for more than

30 years. He was proprietor and superior of the barony of

Bathgate, which was part of the extensive possessions given

by King Robert the Bruce, to his daughter Marjorie, on her

marriage with Walter, the high steward of Scotland, bat in

1824 he voluntarily relinquished the superiority, that Bath-

gate might be created a burgh of barony, of which he was

chosen the first provost. He sold the estate of i\IaijoriI)anks.

He died Sept. f, 1830. He married in 1700, Kathcrine,

daughter of Gilbert Laurie of Polmont, lord provost of Edin-

burgh, and had, besides other children, who died in infanc;/,

8 sons and 4 daughters.

Sons: 1. Alexander. 2. Andrew, born in 1797, died i.i

1824. 3. William, born in 1800, lieutenant, R.N., lost in tlu

ship Confiance, off the coast of Cork, April 21, 1S22. 4.
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James, burn in 1801, lieuteiKint, Eiist Iiidi:i Company's ser-

vice, died Nov. 28, 1825. 5. Gilbert, boni in 1802, went to

Sidney, New Soutli Wales, and died there. G. George, born in

180G, snri^con, died in 1828. 7. Thomas, bom in 1809, or-

dained in 1S3-1, minister nf I.ochmaben, Dnmfries-shire, and

in 1810 translated to Stento:i, Iladdingtmishire, married in

1835, Mary, only dangliter of Rev. Dr. Cook, Proiessor of

Moral Philosophy in the university of St. Andrews; issue, 3

sons and a daughter. 8. Erskin?.

Daughters: 1. Ivatlieriiie Krskinc, wife of William P>alfm:r,

merchant, of the family of I'alfonr of Pilrig, who died in 1859

wiihout issue. 2. JIary, married I'obert llorsburgh, Esq.,

factor at Tongue to the Duke of Sutherland. 3. Christian,

wile if John Scott MoncrielT, Esq., Accountant, Edinburgh-

*1. S:irali, wife of William Tnrnbnll, Esq., died without issue.

The eldest son, Alexander JIarjoribanlcs, born Oct. 31, \

is a magistrate for J.inliihgowshire. Tlie estates of ISalbardie

and Uatligate, which had been for several centuiies in the

fnnily, were at Whitsunday 18C1 sold to the Trustees of

Stewart's Ilosjjital, Eiiinbiugh, for £-18,000.

The descendant of a younger branch of this family, ICdwanl

Maijoribanks, a native of Linlithgowshire and proprietor of

the estate of llallyards, Mid Lothian, married a daughter of

Archibald Stewart, Esq., lord provo.st of Edinburgh when

Prince Charles had possession of that city in 1715, and was

for many years .i wine merchant at Bordeaux in France.

On succeeding to the estate of Lees in Berwickshire, in

1770, as heir of entail, he returned with his family to Scnt-

land. His eldest son, John, born at Bordeau.\ in 17G2,

at one period a captain in the Coldstream guards, became

a partner in a banking house at Edinburgh. In 1814, he was

elected lord provost of that city, and the following year created

a baronet. In 1811, he was chosen JI.P. for Buteshire, and

in 1818 for Berwickshire. While chief magistrate of Ediri-

burgli he distinguished himself by carrying forward the im-

provements of the city, and was the chief promoter of the erec-

tion of the new g.aol and the Regent's bridge. In 1825, he was

again lord provost of Edinburgh. Sir John died Feb. 5, 1833,

in his 71st year. He had married in 1790 Alison, eldest daugh-

ter of William Ramsay, ICsq., of Barnton. His eldest surviv-

ing son. Sir William Maijoribanks, 2d baronet, born Deo.

15, 1792, died Sept. 22, 1834. Sir William's son, John, born

in 1830, became 3d baronet.

JI.\RSii.\iJ,, a surname derived from the ancient and hon-

ourable office of inarisclial, and not confined to Scotland.

There was a painter of this name, George Marshall, a scholar

of the younger Scougal (see Scougal, Geoeoe) and there-

after of Sir Godfrey Kneller, whose paintings are rem.arkable

for good colouring, although llicrc is a flatness in them which

is displeasing to the eye. After a long practice in Scotland,

he went to Italy, but this prodnced novi.-^ible improvement on

his works. He died about 1732.

JIAIISII.VLL, WiLT.T.vjr, a cclrbriited composer

of Scoltish airs and melodies, was born at Focli-

abcrs, jMoraysliirc, Dec. 27, 1748, old style,

In his 12th year lie became employed under the

house steward at Gordon castle, Baufl'sliii'c, the

seat of the Dnkc of Gordon, but was soon ap-

poined butler and house steward, a situation

which he held for nearly 30 years. " The

correctness of ]\Iarsliairs ear," says a MS. me -

moir of him quoted in Stenhouse's Johnson's

Scots Musical Museum, (vol. iv. p. 413,) to

which we arc indebted for this notice, " was

unrivalled, and his style of playing strathspeys

and reels lively and inspiring, while his fine taste

and peculiarly touching manner of executing the

slow and more plaintive Scottish airs and melo-

dies, delighted all who heard him." He is styled

by Burns " the first composer of strathspeys of

the age."

About the beginning of 1790, the delicate state

of his health obliged him to relinquish his situa-

tion at Gordon castle, when he retired for a short

time to a small f,irni in the neighbotu'hood of

Fochabers. Tlie same year he removed to the

larger farm of Keithmore, belonging to the duke

of Gordon, in the lord.ship of Auchendown and

parish of Mortlach, where he became a keen agri-

culturist. Shortly thereafter he was appointed

factor or land steward to the dtike, over a ver}-

extensive range of his estates in the counties of

BantT and Aberdeen, comprehending the districts

of Cabrach, Auchendown, Glcnlivet, Strathaven,

Strathdown, &c. This situation he filled with

fidelity and honour till 1817. lie died at New-
field cottage, 29th i\Iay 1833, aged 85. He had

married, at the age of 25, Jane Giles, who prede-

ceased him, on 12th December 1825, and by

whom he had five sons and a daughter.

A collection of IVIarshall's ' Airs and Melodies'

was published, by subscription, in May 1822. con-

taining 17G tunes. It was followed by a supple-

ment of about 74 additional tunes. Many of

them had appeared separately, before the close of

the 18th ccnturj-, and were well known.

MAPlTIN, D.wid, an eminent artist, the prin-

cipal portrait painter in Edinburgh of his day, was

born in Scotland, and studied under Allan Ram-

say, the celebrated painter, the son of the poet,

whom he accompanied to Rome, but at a time

when he was too yonng to receive much advantage

from the visit. On his return to England, he at-

tended the drawing academy in St. Martin's Lane,

London, and obtained some premiums fur draw-

ings after life. He subsequently practised both as

a painter and an engraver, and also scraped some

portraits in niczzotinto. In the latter department
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he finished a very good print of Roubilliac the

sculptor. Among his engraved portraits tlierc is

a \yliole length of Lord Bath, from the original

picture which he painted of his lordship
;

also, a

whole length of Lord Mansfield, from another of

his own pictures. Ills best portrait is a half

length of Dr. Franklin, said to be the truest like-

ness of that remarkable person, from which a

mezzotinto print was published in 1775. Mr.

RLartin married a lady of some fortune, and lived

for some years in Dean Street, Soho, but after her

death, which was very sudden, he went to reside

at Edinburgh. (Edwards' Anecdotes of Palnthuj).

The Surgeon's Hall, Advocates' Librarj-, and

Ileriot's Hospital, of that city, possess many fine

portraits by j\Lirtin, of the most eminent men of

his time, in the several departments of phj'sic, law,

and philosoph)'. After succeeding his brother, a

General Martin, he lived principally at No. 4, St.

James' Square, Edinburgh, where he died 13th

December 1797. Some time prc\ ious to his death

he had been appointed limner to his royal higli-

ness the prince of Wales. According to his obi-

tuary notice in the local papers, he was " very

extensively known, not only in his own but in

other countries, fur his eminence in his profession,

his knowledge of, and exquisite taste in, the fine

arts, in general. He will long be remembered

and much regretted by his numerous acquaint-

ances, but more particularly by his friends, not

more for his genius and taste than for his genero-

sil}' and spirit, warmth of heart and other amiable

(jualities." So little was this llattering notice re-

alized that, within sixty years of his death, he was

so absolutely forgotten in the cit^' in which he

lived and died, that, the exception of an old

artist or two, who had known him in their j'outh,

and his own descendants, few had ever heard of

his existence, and scarcely anj' knew that he was

a Scotsman. His reputation was completely

eclipsed by the more brilliant talent of Sir Henry

Raeburn (sec Raebuun, Sir Henry), who had

his attention first directed by David Martin

from miniature to the more powerful and facile

process of oil painting, in wiiich he gave him

some instructions and advice in a friendly :vav,

although, not being a pupil of his, he refused to

show him how to prepare his colours. 'J'he iden-

tity of style of tlie early works of Raeburn with

those of ^Martin, is very remarkable, and the dif-

ference of the two masters only begins as Raeburn
j

became more confirmed in that style in which he

ultimately distinguished himself, and Avhich be-

came so peculiarly his own.
j

:

The follov>-iug is a list of most of the plates
j

which Martin engraved: La Muchela Gabriela, i

after P. Bottoni
;
Lady Frances Manners ; Earl of

|j

jMansfield; David Hume; Rousseau; The Earl of ['

Bath ; Roubilliac ; a portrait of Rembrandt ; Pro- j

'

fessor Fergussou ; Summer Eveniug, after Cuyp
;

jj

and the Ruins of ancient Bath, after Gasper It

Poussin.
,

:

MARTINE, George, a physician, was born in
\

Scotland in 1702. After studying at Edinburgh, !

he went to Leyden, where he took the degree of !

M.D. in 1725, and on his return home commenced

practice at St. Andrews. In 1740 he accompa-

nied Lord Cathcart ou his expedition to America,
j

as physician of the forces under his command ;

'

and died tlierc of a bilious fever in 1743.—His )

I

works are :
!

Essavs, Mediciil and Plillosophical. LonJ. 17-10, 8vo.
I

De Similibus Animalibus et de Animalibus Galore, libri

duo. Lond. 1740.

In Bartholoinaci Eustacliii Ta'oulas Anatomicas Commen- i

tarii. Edin. 1755, 8vo. Published by Dr. Muuro.
|

Account of the Operation of Bronchotome, as performed at
|

St. Andrews. Phil. Trans. 1730.

An Essay on the alternate motions of the Thorax and

Lungs, hi Respiration. Ed. Jled. Ess. i. 158. 1731.
j

An Essay concernhig the Analysis of Human Blood, lb.
'

ii. 6G.
'

,

Some Thoughts concerning the Production of Jlineral
!

Heat, and the Devarication of the Vascular System. lb. i

iii. 334.

Experiment of Cutting the RecuiTent Nerves, carried far-

ther than has hitherto been done. lb. Wi.
Reflections and Observations on the Seminal Blood Ves-

sels, lb. V. 227. 1736.

MARY STUART, Queen of Scots, celebrat-

ed for her beauty, her accomplishments, her err-
j

ors, and her misfortunes, was born at the palace \

of Linlithgow, December 8, 1542. She was the

daughter of James V., by his queen, Mary of

Lorraine, of the family of Guise. Her father dy-

ing when she was only eight days old, she became

queen, and was crowned at Stirliug, September 9,

1543. After an ineftectual attempt ou the part of

Cardinal Bethune to obtain the regency, the gov-

ernment of the kingdom was, during her infancy,

i
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vested ill the earl of Arraii. The two first years

of her cliildhooil were spent at Linlithgow, under

tlic care of her motlicr; and the fuliowing tliree

years at Stirling, under the charge of the Lords

Erskinc and Livingstone. Owing to tlie distract-

ed state of tlie country, she A\-as subsequently

removed, fur a few months, to the priory of Iiicli-

malionie, a small island in the beautiful lake of

Menteitli, Perthshire, where she had for licr at-

tendants and companions four young ladies of no-

l]le rank, all named like herself, Maiy'
;

nanielj',

Mary Bethuno, niece of the cardinal
;
l\Iary Flem-

ing, daughter of Lord Fleming; Mary Liviiig-

S'tone, daugliter of one of lier guardians; and

Mary Seton, daughter of the lord of that n:inie.

At the age of six she embarked at Dumbarton for

Franco, where she was instructed in every branch

of learning and polite accomplisliment. Besides

I'liakiiig herself mistress of the dead languages, she

spoke the Frencli, Italian, and Spanish tongues

fluently, and devoted much of her lime to the

j

study of history. Through the influence of the

j

Fi-cncli king and her uncles, the Guises, she was

' married, Api'il 20, IDjOS, to the dauiihin, after-

l'
v.ards Francis If. of France, who died in 15G0,

I about sixteen months after his accession to the

Ihrone. On her marriage slic had been induced,

I by the persuasion of the French court, to assume,

!

I

w ith her own, the style and arms of queen of Eng-

I

I land and L-elaiid, an ofTeiicc wliicli Elizabeth never

j'
forgave, although, as soon as i\[ary Ix'canie her

own mistress, she discontinued tlie title.

The widowed queen soon found it necessary to

return to Scotland, A\'hither she was invited by

her own subjects, and arriving at Leitli, August

19, 15G1, she was received by all ranks with cvi-ry

demonstration of welcome and regard. At first

the committed the administration of afl'airs to

I'rotestaiits, licr principal advisers being her na-

tural brother, the Lord James Stuart, prior of St.

Andrews, and Slaitland of Lethingtoii, and so

long as slie abided by their counsels her reign was

mild, prudent, and satisfactory to her people. In

August 15G2 she made a progress into the north,

where, by the aid of her brother, afterwards crc-

;i!ed earl of Moray, she crushed the formidable

rv'bellion of tlie earl of Iluntly. In February

l.')G3 occurred at St. Andrews the execution of

the young and accoinplislied French poet Chate-

lard, who, liaving fallen deeplj' in love with liis

bcantifal mistress, had tu ice intruded himself into

her bed-chamber, for the purpose of urging liis

passion. It was the wish of lier subijecfs that the

queen should marry, tliat the crown might descend

in the right line from their ancient monarchs, and

slic had already received matrimonial overtures

fi'om various foreign princes. The ardour of

youthful inclination, however, rather than the dic-

tates of prudence, led her to prefer lier cousin,

Ileiiiy Lord Dariiley, to all her suitors. This

young man, wliose only recommendation \\'as the

elegance of his person and manners, was the eldest

son of the earl of Lennox, who had been forced to

seek refuge in England, in the reign of James Y.,

and Lady Margaret Douglas, daugliter of the carl

of Angus and the qiiecn dowager Margaret, sister

of Henry "\TIL ; and after Mary herself, he was

the nearest heir to the crown of England, and

next to the eail of Airaii in succession to the

crown of Scotland. The royal nuptials were cel-

ebrated July 29, l.oG5, in conformity to the rites

of the church of Rome, of ^vhich ]Mary was a

zealous atlherent, vthWa the majority of her sub-

jects were Protestants.

With this ill-fated marriage began the long series

of her misfortunes, which were terminated only

by her melancholy deatli upon the scaffold. The

marriage had been disapproved of by the earl of

Jloray and the leaders of the protestant party,

who, having taken up arms, were opposed by the

queen in person, with remarkable energy and

promptitude. At the head of a superior force, she

I)ursued the insurgents from place to place, and

compelled them at last to quit the kingdom.

Mary now not only joined the league of the popish

princes of Europe, but e\ iiiced her full determina-

tion to re-establish the Romish ix'ligion in Scot-

land. But all her plans were frustrated by an

unexpected event which took place on the evening

of March 9, I.jGG. Darnley, upon \\liom she had

conferred the title of king, and whose vreak and

licentious conduct veiy soon changed the extrava-

gant love she had entertained for him into equally

violent hatred, e.xcited by jealousy of David Riz-

zio, her foreign secretary, and favourite, had or-

gani;;ed a conspiracv for his destruction ; and on
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the evening mentioned, ivliile the queen was at

supper with Rizzio and the countess of Argj-le, he

suddenly entered her chamber, followed by Lord

Rutliven and some other factious nobles, and

caused the unfortunate secretary to be dragged

from her presence and murdered. This atrocious

deed, aggravated as it was by the situation of his

wife, then six montlis advanced in pregnancy,

could not fail to increase the queen's aversion for

her husband. Dissembling her feelings, however,

she prevailed upon Darnley to withdraw from his

new associates, to dismiss the guards which had

been placed on her person, and to accompany her

in her flight to Dunbar. In the course of a few

days, at the head of a powerful army, she returned

to Edinburgh, when Ruthven, Morton, Maitland,

and Lindsay, the chief of the conspirators, were

forced to take refuge in Newcastle, and Moray

and his friends, who had in the meantime anived

from England, were again received into favour, and

intrusted, with the chief management of affairs.

The birth of a son, afterwards James VI.,

on June 19, 15GG, had no effect in producing a

reconciliation between Mary and the king, and,

enraged at his exclusion from power, the latter

sullenly retired from court, declared his intention

to quit the kingdom, and refused to be present at

the baptism of the infant prince. He took up his

residence with his father at Glasgow, where, in

the beginning of 1567, he was seized with the

small-pox, or some other dangerous disease. On

hearing of his illness, Mary sent her own pln'si-

cian to attend him, and, after the lapse of a fort-

night, she visited him herself. When he was able

to be removed, she accompanied him to Edin-

burgh, and lodged him in a house in the south-

ern suburbs, called Kirk-of-Field, near to where

the iiniversity of that city now stands. Here she

attended liim with the most assiduous care, and

slept for two nights in the chamber under his

apartment. On the evening of the 9th of Febru-

ary she took leave of him with many embraces, to

be present at the marriage of one of her servants

at Holyrood. During the same night the house

in which Darnley slept was blown up with gun-

powder, and his dead body and that of his page

were next morning found lying in the adjoining

garden.

Of this atrocious deed, the earl of Bothwell, the

new favourite of the queen, was openly accused of

being the perpetrator, and Mnvy herself did not

escape the suspicion of being accessory to the crime.

At the instigation of the carl of Lennox, the father

of Darnlej', Bothwell was brought to trial, but he

was attended to the court by a formidable array

of armed followers, and neither accuser nor Avit-

ness appearing against him, he was formally ac-

quitted by the jury. On the 20Lh of April, Both-

well prevailed upon a number of the nobles to

subscribe a bond, in which they not only declared

him innocent of Darnley's murder, but recom-

mended him as a fit husband for the queen. Four

days afterwards, at the head of a thousand horse,

he intercepted Mary on her return from Stirling

to Edinburgh, and dispersing her slender suite,

conducted her to the castle of Dunbar, of which

he was governor. Having proposed marriage, on

the queen's refusal, he produced the bond signed

by the nobles, and, as is aflBrmed by Mary's par-

tizans, compelled her by force to yield to his de-

sires, when the unhappy princess consented to

become his wife. Mary's accusers, on the other

hand, say that, in the whole of this transaction,

the queen was a willing actor. Her marriage to

Bothwell took place May 15, 1567, only three

months after the death of Darnlej', and it is a

prominent point in her history, for which it is im-

possible to find anj' justification. That act of

follj^ virtually discrowned her. A confederacj'"

of the nobles was immediately formed for the pro-

tection of the infant prince, and for bringing to

punishment the murderers of the late king. As

the people generally shared their indignation, they

soon collected an army, at the head of which they

advanced to Edinburgh, Bothwell and the queen

retiring before them to Dunbar, where thej' as-

sembled a force of about 2,000 men. At Carberry

Hill, near Musselburgh, the two hostile armies

confronted each other, June 15 ;
but, to avoid a

battle, Mary, after a brief communication with

Kirkaldy of Grange, agreed to dismiss Bothwell,

and to join the confederates, by Avhose councils

she declared herself willing to be guided in future,

on condition of their respecting her " as their born

princess and queen." Taking a hurried farewell

of Bothwell, who, ^\^ilh a few followers, slowly
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rode off the field, and wlioni slic never saw again,

slie gave her liaiid to Grange, and surrendered to

i
tlic associated lords, liy Avlioni slic was conducted

in triunipli to tlie capital. As she passed along,

slie was assailed by the insults and reproaches of

the populace, and a banner was displayed before

her, on which was painted the dead body of

Darnley, with the infant prince kneeling beside it,

saying—" Judge and revenge my cause, 0 Lord!"

Xext day, she was conveyed a prisoner to Loch-

leven castle in Kinross-sliire, situated in the mid-

dle of a lake, and committed to the charge of

I.ady Douglas, mother of the Regent Moray by

James V., and widow of Sir Robert Douglas, -wlio

fell at the battle of Pinkie. On July 24, 1,567,

she Avas compelled to sign a formal renunciation

of the crown in favour of licr son, and to appoint

as regent, during the king's minority, iier brother,

the carl of Moray, commonly called the Regent

Murray, wlio soon after arrived from France, and

entered upon the government.

Mary now employed all her art to recover lier

liberty, and having gained over George Douglas,

' youngest son of the lad}' of Lochleven, on IMarch

I

25, 15G8, she attempted to escape in the disguise

i of a laundress, but the whiteness of her hands be-

j

trayed her to the boatmen, by whom she was

conducted back to the castle. Iler beauty and

misfortunes, however, had made a deep impression

on "\'\'illiam Douglas, an orphan youth of sixteen,

j

a relative of the family, and he was easily pre-

I

! vailed upon to assist in a project for her escape,

j

Accordingly, on Sunday, jMay 2, 1;jG8, at the hour

I of supper, he found means to steal the keys, and

1

1

opening the gates to the queen and one o/ her

' maids, locked them behind lier, and then threw

' the keys into the lake. i\lary entered a boat

jj
which had been prepared for her, and, on reaching

'
I the opposite shore, she was received by Lord

ij
Seton, Sir James Hamilton, and others of lier

j
friends. Instantly mounting on horseback, .she

I

rode first to Niddrie, Lord Setoii's house in West

Lothian, and next day to ILamilton, Avliere she

was joined by a number of the nobility, and in a

;
few (lays found herself at the head of about 6,000

j

iiicu. On May l." her forces were defeated by

I

the regent at the baltlc of Langside, and the un-

happy qnecn, who had anxiously beheld the cn-

QUEEN OF SCOTS.

j

gageniciit from a hill at a short distance, to avoid
j

falling again into the hands of licr enemies, fled
.|

from the field of battle, accompanied b}' Lord

Herries and a few other attached friends, and i

rode, without stopping, to the abbey of Dundron-
[

nan, in Galloway, full sixt}' miles distant. After

resting there for two days, with about twenty at-
j

tendants, she embarked in a fisher boat at Kirk-

cudbright on the 16th, and crossing the Sohva}',
j

landed at Workington, in Cumberland, where she
j

claimed the protection of her kinswoman, the
j

queen of England. " As well might the hunted
|

deer have sought refuge in the den of the

tiger." By Elizabeth's orders, she was conducted

to Carlisle, from whence, on the IGtli of June,

she was removed to Bolton castle. But though

treated on all occasions with the honours due to

her rank, Elizabeth refused to admit her to a per-
'

sonal interview. To adjust the differences be-

tween Mary and her subjects, a conference was

held at York in October 1568, and afterwards re-

moved to Westminster, but without leading to

any decisive result. Under various pretences,

and in direct violation of public faitli and hospita-

lity, Elizabeth detained her a prisoner for nine-

teen j-ears ; and after having encouraged the

Scots commissioners to accuse her publicly of the

murder of her husband, denied her an opportunit}'

of vindicating herself from the revolting charge.

In the beginning of 1569, ]\Iary Avas transfeired

to Tutbury castle, in Staflbrdsliire, and placed

under the care of the earl of Shrewsbury, who dis-

charged the important trust committed to liim

with great fidelity for fifteen years. She was sub-

sequently removed from castle to castle, and at

last consigned to the custody of Sir Amias Pawlet

and Sir Drue Drnry, by whom she was finally

conveyed to Fotheringay, in Northamptonshire.

Throughout all the sufferings and persecutions to

which she was subjected by the jealousy and per-

fidy of Elizabeth, she preserved, till tlie closing

scene of all, the magnanimity of a queen of Scot-

land. She made many attempts to procure her

liberty, and, for this purpose, carried on a con-

stant correspondence with foreign powers. Being

the object of successive plots, on the part of the

English Roman Catholics, who made use of her

name to justify their insurrections and conspira-

11!)
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cies, Elizabeth at length resolved upon her death,

and caused her to be arraigned ou a charge of

being accessarj- to the conspiracy of Anthony

Babiugtou. A commission was appointed to con-

duct licr trial, and tlioiigli no certain proof ap-

peared of her connection wltli the conspirators,

slie was found guilty of having compassed divers

matters tending to the death of the queen of Eng-

land. Although Elizabeth airected great reluc-

tance to put Maiy to dcatli, slie disregarded the

entreaties of the ambassadors from Scotland and

France on her behalf, and signed the warrant for

a mandate to be made out uiuler the great sea! for

licr execution. A commission was given to tlie

earls of Shrewsbury, Kent, Ciimbcrhind, Derby,

and others, to see it carried into effect, and the two

former lost no time in proceeding to Fotheringay.

The sentence was read to Mary in presence of her

own domestics, and she was desired to prepare lier-

sclf for deatli the next day. Slie crossed her

breast, in the name of the Father, tlie Son, and

the Holy Ghost, and said she was ready to die in

the Catholic faitli, which her forefathers professed.

She forgave them tluU were tlie procurers of her

death, yet, she said, she doubted not but God

would execute vengeance upon them. i\Iary then

prepared for lier fate witli tlie utmost serenitj',

fortitude, and resignation. She was attended to

tlie hall of Fotheringay castle, where lier head was

to be struck oft', by Robert iMelville, her master of

the household, her jihysiciaii, chirurgeon, aiidapo-

thecar}'. At the foot of the staii's leading into the

hall, she desired iMr. Tdelviile to commend her to

her son. To the executioners she said that sho

pardoned them, and she desired Jane Kennedy,

one of her attendants, to bind hei- eyes with a hand-

kerchief. She v,-as beheaded Feb. 8, 1587, in the

45tli year of her age. " The admirable and saintlj-

fortitiide with which slic suffered," it has been avcU

remarked, "formed a striking contrast to the

despair and agony wliich not long afterwards

darkened the deathbed of the English queen."

Mary's body was embalmed and interred, August

1, with royal pomp, in the cathedral of Peter-

borough. Her funeral was also celebrated with

great pomp at Paris .at the charge of tlie Gnises.

Twenty years afterwards, lier son, James I., or-

dered her remains to be removed to AVestminster,

and deposited among those of tlie kings of I^ng-

land, ill Hcni'3' the Sevcntirs ch:ii>cl, where a mag-

nificent monument was erected to her mcmoiy.

The portraits of Mary are numerous, but many

of them are fictitious. In some of them, says

Pinkerton, she is confounded ^^itll j\Iary of Guise,

her mother, with Mary queen of Fi ance, sister of

Heniy VIII. , and even with iMary de Medicis.

While the conduct and character of Queen

JJaiy have been tlie subject of much controversy

with historians, lier learning and accomplishments

are universal!}' acknowledged. Slie wrote witli

elegance and force in tlie Latin and Frencli, as

well as in the English language. Among her

compositions arc

:

Eoyal Advice to lier Sou; in two books : tlie Cor.soLition

of lier long Iinprisonmont.

Eleven Letters to James Earl of Botliwell. Translated from

tlie French originals, by Edward Simnionds, of Oxford.

Westminster, 172G, 8vo.

Ten Letters, with licr Answer to tbe Articles exbibitcd

against her were publislied in Haynes' State Papers.

Six Letters; printed in Anderson's Collections.

A Letter, published in the Appendix to her Life, by Dr.

Jebb.

Many of her letters to Queen Elizabeth, Cecil, and otliers,

are preserved in the Cottonian and Ashmoleon libraries, and

in the library of the king of France.

Besides the above, she wrote " Poems on Various Occa-

sions," in the Latin, Italian, French, and Scotch languages.

SIastkrtox, a local surname of gi'eat antiquity in Scot-

land, derived from lands of that name in Fifeshire. Accord-

ing to tradition, one of the principal architects .it the building

of the abbey of Dunfermline, obtained from Malcolm Can-

more the estate of Masterton, in that neighbourhood, and

was the founder of a family of the name. Among the barons

recorded in the Ragman KoU as having sworn a compulsory

fealty to Edward L of England in 129G, appears William de

Masterton. A female descendant of this family, Margaret,

daughter of Alexander Masterton of the lands of Bad in

Perthshire and Parkmill in Fifeshire, and wife of Mr. James

Primrose, was nurse to Henry, prince of Scotland, eldest son

of James VL, for which she and her husband had a pension

during their hves.

Mr. Allan Masterton, teaclier of writing and arithmetic in

Edinburgh, is known to all the admirers of Burns the poet,

as one of liis most intimate companions and the composer ot

the .nirs to many of his songs. He is said to have possessed .i

good ear and a fine taste for music, and, as an amateur,

played the violin remarkably well. Among the tunes coin-

posed by him for Burns' pieces were those to ' Strathallan's

Lament,' 'Beware of Bonnie Ann,' ' The Braes of Balloch-

myle,' 'The Bonnie Banks of Ayr,' ' 0 Willie brewed a peck

o'Maut,' and ' On hearing a Young Lady Sing.' On .^ug. 26,

ITL'o, Dugald and Allan Masterton, and Dugald Masterton,

jun., were elected writing masters in the High School of Edin-

burgh. The verses beginning, '• Ve galhmts bright, I rede you

right," were written, in 1788, by Burns, in compliment to

Miss Ann Masterton, the daughter of the composer.
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Mathkson, tlie name of ii clan (Claim Mhcitluwi), from

the Gaelic Ifalhaineach, heroes, or rather, from Mathan, pro-

nounced Malian, a bear. Tlie name is not the same as the

I'ji};lish Matliison, which is a corniption of iMatthewson. The

JIacJIalhans were sctlleii in Loclialsli, a liistrict of Wester

Ross, from an early period. They are derived by ancient

geiiealoi;ies from the same stock as the Karls of Ross. Ken-

neth MacMathan, who was const.-ible of the castle of Ellen

Oonan, is mentioned both in tlie Norse account of the expe-

dition of the kin? of Nnrw.ay against Scotland in 1203, and

in the Cli.amberlain's Rolls for th.at year, in connection with

I

that expedition. lie is said to have married a si.ster of the

j

Karl of Ross, The chief of the clan was eng.i,!:cd in the

rebellion of Donald, lord of the Isles, in 1411 (see vol. ii.

p. oJG), and was one of th^ cliiels arrested at Inverness

by J.-imes I., in 1427, when he is .said to have been able

to muster 2,000 men. The possessions of the Jlatbcsons,

at one lime very extensive, were greatly reduced, in the

1 com-se of the IGth century, by feuds with their turbulent

1

nei;,'libours, the Macdonalds of Gloiigariy.

I

The clan Jlatheson was divid' d into two great branches,

namely of J.ochalsh, from which descended the Matliesons of

I Attadale, now Ardross, ;ind of Shinness, Sntherlandshire.

The former is descended from .lohii Matheson of I.oehalsli, con-

stable under Mackenzie, the laird of Kintail, of the castle

I of Kllen Donan, who was killed in di'Teiuiing that fortress

!
against the JIacDonalds of Slcat in 1.517. His son, Diigald

Roy, was succeeded by his son, JIurdoch. The latter had 2

SOILS, Roderick, ancestor of the Matliesons of Bennctsfield,

and Dug.ald, who inherited lialmacarra, and had o sons.

John Matheson of Attadale, the Gth from this last Dugald,

married JIargaret, eldest daughter of Donald Matheson, Ksq.

of Sliinness, and died in 182G. He had 5 sons :ind 2 daugh-

ters. The sons were, 1. Alexander of Ardross. 2. Hngli,

merchant, Liverpool. 3. Tarquhar. minister of Lnirg. 4.

Donald, settled in America. 5. .lohn, deceased.

The eldest son, Alexander Jlatheson, Ksq. of Ardross

I

and Attad.ale, born in 1805, is a merchant in London, (f'or-

j

merly of Canton, in China,) a Director of tlie liank of Kng-

l land, .1 magistrate and deputy lieutenant of the counties of

l!o.ss, Cromarty, and Inverness; has been M. P. tor the Inver-

ness burghs since 1847. In 1851, he purchased the estate of

I.ochalsh, forfeited by his ancestors in 1427. He m.arried, first,

j

ill 1840, JIary, only d.aughterof J. C. MacLeod, Ksq.of Geauies.

2iily, in 1853, Lavinia Mary, sister of Lord Be.aumont; issue,

j

a son and a daughter 3dly, in 1860. ICIeanor, daughter of

Spencer Perceval, Ksq., by whom he has two sons.

!
The representative of the family of Shinness is Donald Ma-

theson, Ksq. of Gi andon Lodge, Surrey, eldest son of Duncan

J

.Matheson, Ksq., Advocate, ICdinburgh. His uncle. Sir James
Matheson of Achany and the Lews, Bart., 2d son of Capt.

Don.ild Jlatheson of Shinness, was born in 1796, at Lairg,Suth-

orlaiidshire. He was at one period a jiartner in the house of Ja.'-

I

dine, Matheson, and Co., and resided many years in India

and China. On his return to England, he received from the

merchants of Bombay a service of plate, with an address, re-

cording their .sense of his conduct during the opium disputes

with China. Owner of the estate of Achany in Sutheriand-

.shire, and, jointly with Lord Clinton, lord of the borough

]

and manor of Asliburton, Devonshire, he purchased the island

of Lewis, ivhich is about 40 miles long by about 20 broad,

and, with his other property, he li.as an extent of territoiy as

great as th.at possessed by the ancient chiefs of Loehalsli

;

I
:i deputy lieutenant of the counties of Ross and Sutheriand

;

member of the board of trustees for manufactures and of the

fishery board in Scotland ; a vice-president of the C.iledonian

Asylum, London; F.R.S. ; was M.P. for A.shburton from

1843 to 1847, and in the latter year was elected for the

counties of Ross and Cromarty. He was created a baronet

in 1850, on account of his benevolent and untiring efforts in

alleviating the sufferings of the iiih.abitants of the Lewis at

the period of tlie famine; author of a pamphlet on the China

trade He mairicd, in 1843, Mary Jane, 4lh daughter of M. H.

Perceval, Esq. of Quebec, w ithout issue. See Siti'LICMKNT

JI.VULK, a surname of Norman origin, assumed fi om the

town and lordship of Maule in France, wdiicli, for four cen-

turies, belonged to the lords of that name. In the army ot

William the Conqueror, on his invasion of Engl.and in 10G6,

was Guarin de Maule, a younger son of Arnold, lord of Maule.

From the Conqueror, besides other lands, he obtained the

lordship of Hatton, in Cleveland, Yorkshire One of his

sons, Robert de Maule, attached liimself to D.avid, earl of

Cumberland, afterwards David I., who was educated at the

English court, and accompanying him into Scotland, received

a grant of lands in Jlid Lothi.in. He died about 1130. The

eldest of his three sons, Wiiliam de Maule of Fowlis in Perth-

shire, was at the battle of the Standard in 1138, but died

without m.ale issue The second son, Roger de JIaule, was

the progenitor of the Maules of Panmure The marriage of

his d.-iughter Cecilia to Walter de Ruthven brought the bar-

ony of Fowlis into the Go'.vrie family, of which her husband

was the ancestor.

Roger de JIaule's gi'andson. Sir Peter de Maule, m.arried,

about 1224, Christian, only daughter and heiress of William

de Valoiiiis of Pannomor, or Panmure, and got with her the

baronies of that name and Benvie, in Forfarshire, .as well as

other lands both in England and Scotland. He had two

son.s. Sir William and Sir Thomas. The latter was governor

of the castle of Brechin in 1303, when it sustained a siege

for twenty d.ays by the English, under Edward I. ; and it was

not till the governor. Sir Thomas Maule, was killed, by a

stone thrown from an engine, that the garrison surrendered.

The elder son. Sir William de Maule of Panmure, was sher-

iff of Forfar at the death of Alexander III., and was among

the barons who swore fealty to luhvard I. at St. Andrews,

10th July 1292.

His son, Sir HeniT do JIauIe of Panmure, was knighted

by King Robert the Brnce, on account of his services. Sir

Henry's eldest son, Sir Walter de Maule of Panmure, was

governor of the castle of Kildrummy, Aberdeenshire, in the

reign of David II. He had two sons, .Sir William and Hen-

ry, the latter the first of the Maules of Glaster.

Sir William's son. Sir Thomas de Maule of Panmure, led

a strong body of his name to the assistance of the earl of

Mar at the battle of llariaw, against Donald, lord of the

Isles, in August 1411. As the old ballad says:

" P.inmure w ith all his men did cum."

The Forfirshire clans mustered .strong on the occasion ; be-

sides the Maules, the Lyons, Ogilvies, Carnegies, Linds.ays, and

others belonging to Angus, hastened to range themselves under

the banner of Mar. Sir Thomas Maule was among the slain,

" The knight of Panmure, as was sene,

A mortal man in armour bright."

His posthumous son, afterwards Sir Thom.as de Jl.aule of

Panmure, was, notwithstanding his infancy, seiTed heir to

his father in 1412, an act of parliament having been p.assod
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to allow this in all cases of heirs in nonage, where the fathers

had f;illen in the king's service. Tlie lordship of Brechin

lield b_v the earl of Atliol by conrtesy since the death of his

wife, Elizabeth Barclay, belonged by right to Sir Thomas

Maule, the grandson of her aunt, Jean Barchiy, but although

that nobleman, previous to his execution for being concerned

in the conspiracy which led to the assassination of James I.,

in 1437, declared this to be the case. Sir Thomas received

hut a small portion of it, as it was annexed to the crown by

act of parliament. His great-grandson, Sir Thomas JIaule

of Panmure, fell at the battle of Flodden. With a daughter,

married to Ramsay of Paiibride, he had two sons, Piobert and

William, the latter ancestor of the Maules of Boath.

The elder son, Pobert jManle of Panmure, joined the earl

of Lennox in his unsuccessful attempt to rescue James V.

out of the hands of the Douglases in 152G, for which he got

a remission. Two years afterwards, the king granted him a

dispensation for life, from all public duties and attendance,

on account of the true, good, and faithful services done by

him to his majesty. He was one of those who opposed the

projected marriage between the young Queen JIary and Ed-

ward prince of Wales in 1543. In 1547 he bravely defended

Lis house of Panmure against the English till he was severely

wounded, when he was taken prisoner, and sent to London.

Ho remained in the Tower till 1549, when, at the solicitation

of the marquis d'Elbosuf, French ambassador to Scotland, he

was released. One of his sons, Henry Maule of Jlelgum, a

learned antiquarian, was author of a history of the Picts,

published after his death.

Thomas Maule of P.anmurc, his eldest son, in his father's

lifetime accompanied David Lethune, abbot of Aberbrotli-

wick, afterwards archbishop of St. Andrews, when he went

to France as ambassador in 1538. He was taken prisoner in

the engagement with the English at Hadden Rig, 25 th Au-

gust 1542, when the Scots were commanded by the earl of

]luntly, and sent to Jlorpeth, where he remained till after

the death of James V., when he was released by order of

Henry VIIL He fought also at the battle of Pinkie in 1547,

and in 15G7, he joined the association for the safety of the

infant Prince James, on the marriage of his mother. Queen

.Alary, to Bothwell. He died 17th March IGOO. With three

daughters, he had seven sons. Robert JIaule, the fourth son,

commissary of St. Andrews, a learned and judicious anti-

quary, was the author of several treatises, particularly Pcriodi

Uentis Scotorum, a history of his own family, and a tract on

the Antiquity of the Scots nation. A branch of the Maules,

descended from Thomas JLaule, heutenant-colonel of the

marquis of Ormond's regiment, son of Thomas, the fifth son,

settled in L-eland. One of this family, Henry Maule, dean

of Cloyne, was consecrated bishop of Cloyne in 1720, trans-

lated to Dromore in 1731, and to Meath in 1744.

Patrick Maule of Panmure, the eldest son, married Marga-

ret, daughter of John Erskine of Dun, superintendent of

Angus and Mearns, and died 21st May 1G05. With two

daughters he had a son, Patrick Maule of Panmure, who

was one of the select few that accompanied James VI. to

England in April 1603, when he went to take possession of

die English throne. On 3d August 164G, he was by Charies

I. created Baron Maule of Brechin and Navar and earl of

Panmure, in the Scottish peerage (see Panmui;e, carl of).

JLvxTONE, a surname derived from the lands of Maxton

in Roxburghshire. A family of this name has for centuries

owned the estate of Cultoquey, Perthshire, which, during the

;iine that it has been in their possession, has never, it is said,

been larger or smaller than when they got it. They had tlie

same common ancestor as the Maxwells, the one name being

derived from Maccus-fan, a Saxon termination, and the other

from Maccus-!fe?Z, (in course of lime shortened into Maxton

and Maxwell,) to denote the manor and well of JIaccus, a

Saxon baron who came into Scotland at an early period,

(see next article,) and received a grant of lands upon the

Tweed.

Robert de Maxtone had a charter of the lands of Cultoquey

dated 1410, but that the family possessed the estate previous

to that time is proved by mention being made of them in

charters of other houses of older date. His descendant, Ro-

bert Maxtone of Cultoquey, who had a charter of the lands of

Ardoch in 1487, was s'ain at Flodden in 1513. Anthony

ILaxtone of the same family, was, in the reign of Charles I.,

prebendary of Durham. The succession in the male line has

been uninterrupted from father to son from the first. The

13th proprietor, James Maxtone Graham, Esq. of Cultoquey,

born June 20, 1819, succeeded his father in 184G.

One of the proprietors of this house is celebrated for hav-

ing repeated the following curious addition to his litany every

morning at a well near his residence :

" From the gi'eed of the Campbells,

From the pride of the Gndiams,

I'rom the ire of the Drunimuuds,

And the wind of the jMurrays,

Good Lord deliver us."

His estate was surrounded by the Breadalbane, Jlontrose,

Perth, and Alhol families, and he thus showed his appre-

hensions of his more powerful neighbours.

James Maxtone Graham of Cultoquey, married in 1851,

the daughter of George E. Russell, Ktq., East India Coin-

pany's Service. In 1859 ho succeeded to the estate of

Redgorton, Perthshire, on the death of his uncle, Robert

Graham, Esq., cousin of the celebrated Lord Lyncdocli, and

in consequence assumed the name and arms of Graham under

letters patent of the Lord Lyon.

JIaxweix, a surname of ancient standing in Scotland,

originally JIaccus-well, so called from the territory of that

name on the Tweed, near Kelso. In the history of the Anglo-

Saxons mention is m.ade of JIaccus, the sou of Anlaf, king of

Northumbria, (949— 952.) Anlaf was surnamed Cwiran,

and appears to be identical with the Amlaf Cuarran whose

name occurs in the Annals of Ulster, (944—94G.) On the

expulsion of Anlaf by the treachery of his people. King Eric,

a son of the Danish king, Ilarald Bhitaud, was set on the

Northumbrian throne, but, with his son Henry and his brother

Regnald, was slain in the wilds of Stanmore, by the hand of

Macciis, the son of Anlaf. {Lappenherg's Ilistory ofEngland

under the Anglo-Saxon Kings. Thorpe's Translaiicn, vol.

i. p. 125, London, 1845.) A potentate of the same name,

"Maceus of JIan and the Hebrides," is also mentioned some-

what later in the same centuiy. The following is from I.ap-

penberg (_H/id. vol. ii. p. 143), " On making his annual sea-

voyage round the island. King Edgar found, on his arrival at

Chester, eight sub-kings awaiting him, in obedience to the

commands they had received, who swore to be faithful to him,

and to be his fellow-workers by sea and land." These were

Kenneth of Scotland, Malcolm of Cumbria, Jlfacciis of ^lan

and the Eehrides, Dyfnwall or Dunwallon of Strat Clyde,

Siferth, lago, (Jacob) and Howell of Wales, and Incliill of

Westmoreland. All these vassals rowed the proud Basilcus

on the river Dee in a barge, of which Edgar was the steers-

man, to the monastery of St. John the Baptist, where they



MAXAVELL, 123 AYMKR.

(ifTin-ed up tlieir orisons, and then returned in tlie snme order

to tlic palace."

Tlie same in substance is nienlinned in tlie Cln-onica de

Melros, wliicli styles ifaccus tlie " King of many Isles."

Roger of Wendover and William of JIalniesbury also relate

tlie same, tlie latter of wliom calls llaccus " tliat Prince of

pirates," thus identifying him with iifasciisius Archipirtila,

who about the same time (973) was a witness to a charter by

King Edgar of England, and who signs imniediately after

" Kinadius re,^ Albanie" and the royal family, and before all

the bishops, "Ego Mascusius .\rcliipirata conlbrtavi." {Dtirj-

dida Monast. vol. i. p. 17.) This JIaccus would therefore ap-

pear to have been a friend or ally of Kenneth king of the

Scots, and may have held lands under him.

The name of JMaks or Max, in medieval Latin JI.-icus, is

fuund in Domesday Book as being that of a baron liolding

several manors in England before the conquest ; and Mex-

borougli in Yorkshire, and JIaxstoke in Warwickshire, still

preserve the memorial of his residence and possessions.

'I'lic latter, JIaxstoke, is said to have belonged to Almundus,

nr .'\ilwynd, the same name, no doubt, as Undewyn, as the

father of iMaccus, hereafter mentioned, was called. The sal-

tiie cognizance of the JIaxwclls appears on the ceiling of the

ancient priory of Maxstoke, along with many others of Nor-

man descent, but without name.

At an early period extensive possessions on the Tweed had

oeen held by a person of the name of Macais, from whom

.Maccuston (i\Iaxton) and Maecus-well (Maxwell) were de-

signated. Maccns-well has been supposed originally to have

been called Maccns-ville, but the old cliartularies give no

countenance to this supposition. JIaccuswel or Jlaccuswell

means evidently the pool, weil, or well of Jlaccus, (Saxon, ici/Ue,

see charters in Saxon in Dngdale, where the word is trans-

lated Jbiis, a well), probably from his having aright of fishing

there ; in the same way as other fishings on the Tweed, as

the fishings of Scliipwell or Sipwcll (Lj'i. da Melros, Tom.

i. pp. IG, 17), and of Blackwell, (Jteij. Cart, da Kelso, pp. 33,

•1-1, &c.) Probably long before the time of David I., the n.ame

came to be given to the adjoining territory and church, in tho

same way that it was afterwards called MaxwcU-heugh, from

another natural characteristic, probably coincident with the

well or pool of former times.

The origin of the family who held tlie lands of Jlaccus-

well, in or before the time of David I., is doubtful. The opin-

ion generally entertained at the present time is that they were

directly descended from Jlaccus, from whom the lands got

their name, but this opinion is far from certain.

A Macchus was witness to a charter of foundation of the

monastery of Selkirk in 1113, afterwards transfeiTcd to Kelso,

(Jleg. Carl, dc Keho, p. 4.)

Maccns filius Unwein is a witness to the Inquisition by

Earl David, afterwards David I., into the possessions of the

Church of Glasgow, about 1117.

Maccns filius Undwain is also witness to charter by David

I. in the life of Prince Henry; which charter mentions a Per-

ambulation of the lands which took place Anno scilicei sc-

cundo, quo Slephnnns Rex Anglic caj^tus est." Stephen was

taken prisoner in 1411, so that the charter must have been

between 11 13 and 1152, when Prince Henry died, and there-

fore the Maccns here mentioned is evidently not tho ancestor

of tho JIaxwells, (^Liber da ?felros, Tom. i. p. 4.)

Old writers say that the family came from England. The

history of the Maxwell family, printed in Ihe Ilerries Pceracje

Case, (page 294) gives the same account. The manuscript

was got in a monastery in Flanders, probably Douay, and

sent to Terregles in 17G9. It seems to liave been written

chiefly before ICCO, and although inaccurate in many particu-

lars, shows that the writer must have Iiad means of informa-

tion which probably do not now exist.

Other copies of this manuscript are extant, but all, as well

as the printed one, seem to have been carelessly copied from an

older and not very legible manuscript, and added to in the

transcription. A more correct copy is in the possession of

the Kirkconnel family, but only brought down to 1580, about

which time it seems to have been originally compiled.—The

chronicles and cliartularies of the monasteries in Dumfries-

shire and Galloway may have at that time been extant, and

furnished materials for family history which do not now exist.

Captain Grose must have seen a copy of this genealogical

history as authority for the facts he relates. He mentions

that there was a tradition that the first of the JIaxwell name

in Scotland was a Norwegian in the suite of Edgar Athuliiig

and his sisters, on their arrival in the Frith of Forth two years

after the Norman conquest.

Ewin Maccuswel of Oarlaverock was at the siege of Alnwiik

with JIalcolni Canmoro in 1093. Qllist. Familg oj' Maxu'ell,

printed as mentioned above.') This seems the same name as

Eugene or Hugh.

Herbert de Maccuswel made a grant of the ciiurch of

Maccuswel to the monastery of ICelso, probably in the time of

David I., as it is among the earlier grants to that monastery.

(/iVf?. Cart, de Kelso, pp. 7 and 14.) He is said to have

died ill 1143. (J^amily Tree at Terregles.')

Edmund de Maolieswel, probably a brother of Herbert, was

witness to a charter before 1152, (JJart. da Kelso, [>. 145.)

Other witnesses to the same charter are Hugo de Jlorvile,

William de Sumervile, and William de Jlorvile, whose sur-

names have all the Norinan terininatioii i-iVe— differing in a

marked manner in this from Edmund de ilacliesffe/.

Eugene de JIaxwell was taken prisoner w ith King William

in 1174. He assisted Pioland, lord of Galloway, and married

his daughter, (^Ilist. Fami'g ofMaxiccU.)

Herbert de Maccuswel makes a grant to a chapel in the

church of St. Michael of Maccuswel, in honour of St. Thomas

the Martyr, circa 1180, (^Eeg. Carl, dc Kelso, p. 325.) He
was sheriff of Tevidale, and witness to various charters from

1180 to 1198. (See Lib. de Ktlso, and Cliartuhirg oj

Paisley.)

Sir John de JIaccuswel was sheriff of Roxburgh and Tevi-

dale in 1207, and in 1215 was ambassador to King John.

{lii/mer's Fccdcra, v. i. part i. p. 135.) In 1220, he was one

of the guarantees of the marriage of King Alexander II. with

tlie princess Joan, sister of Henry III. of England, and ho

was one of the witnesses to the grant of dowry to her on

June 18, 1221. He was elianiberlaiii of Scotland fioni 1231

to 1233, and died in 1241.

His son Eumcrus or Aymer de Maxwell, under the desig-

nation of Homer JIaxwell, is witness in the reign of Alexander

II., in a donation of the kirks of Dundonald ;md Sanquhar to

Paisley, by Waller the Great Steward. By his marriage with

Mary, daughter and heiress of Roland de Jlearns, he obtained

the lands and baronies of Mearns and Nether Pollock, in

Renfrewshire, and Dryps and Calderwood in Lanarkshire.

He was one of the councillors or in the household of the

young king, and in 1255, he and jMary his wife, with tlie

Coinyns, John de Baliol, Robert de Ros, and others, were re-

moved by Henry, king of I'higland, to make way for Neill,

carl of Carriek, Robert de Brus, William de Duneglas, and

others of the English party. He was sherifT of Dumfries-

shire, and great-cli.amberlain of Scotland. In 1258, with

other barons he engaged that the Scots should not make peace

with the English without the consent of the Welsh, in
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12G5, lie was justiciary of Galloway, de Melrose, Tom.

i. p. 271.) lie bad three sons: Sir Herbert, his successor;

Sir John, to whom he grive ti.e lands of Nether Pollock in

Renfrewshire, and who was the founder of the family of that

designation, baronets of 1G82 ; and Alexander, of whom no-

thing is known.

Sir Herbert, the eldest son, sat in the parliament at Scone,

oth February, 1283-i, when the nobles agreed to acknow-

ledge the Jlaiden of Norway as queen of Scotland, on the

death of her grandfather, Alexander III. He is witness to

an .igreement between the Convent of Passelet .",nd John de

Aldhus, in 1281, {Chartulanj of Paiskii, p. 6G.) In 1289,

he was one of the barons who subscribed the letter to Edward

I., from Brigham, .is to the marriage of the i\Iaiden of Nor-

way with liis son Edward. On June G, 1292, he was one of

those named on the part of John Baliol to discuss before Ed-

ward the right to the throne of Scotland, and in the same

year he swore fealty to Edward. He died before 1300. Of

three sons which he had, the eldest predeceased him.

Sir Herbert, the second son, succeeded him, and soon after

his castle of Carlaverock sustained a siege from the English,

a singularly curious and minute description of which has

been preserved in a poem, in Norman- French, supposed to

have been written by Walter of Exeter, a celebrated Francis-

can friar, who is also said to have been the author of the ro-

mantic history of Guy, earl of Warwick. This description of

the siege of Carlaverock castle suggested to Sir Walter Scott

Iho idea of the siege of the castle of Front de ISceuf in

"Ivanhoe." About the 1st of July, 1300, the English army

l^ft Carlisle commanded by i^dward I. in person, attended by

the prince of Wales, afterwards Edward II., and the whole

chivalry of England. At this time Edward was in possession

of almost every stronghold in Scotland between Berwick and

the Jlor.-iy frith. The strong castle of Carlaverock alone held

out. The assaults of the English were made by every de-

scription of engine then in use, while the besieged showered

upon their assailants such " huge stones, quarrels, and

arrows, and with wounds and bniises they were so hurt and

exhausted, that it was with very great difficulty they were

able to retire." Indeed, the courage of the garrison, which

amounted only to sixty men, was most conspicuous. We are

told that as ono of them became fatigued anothersupplied his

place, and they defended the fortress gallantly the whole of

one day and night, but the numerous stones thrown by the

besiegers, and the erecti(in of three large battering engines of

great power, caused them to surrender. To obtain a cessa-

tion of hostilities, they hung out a pennon, but the soldier

who exhibited it, was shot through the hand to his face by

an arrow. The rest demanded quarter, surrendered the castle,

and submitted to the mercy of the king of England.

Sir Herbert's son. Sir Eustace Maxwell, succeeded his

father before 1312. Entertaining the hereditary feelings of

his family in favour of the Baliols and Comyns, in opposition

to Robert the Bruce, he regained possession of the castle of

Carlaverock, and on April 30, 1312, he received from Ed-

ward II., an .allowance of £20 for its more secure keeping.

He afterwards joined the party of Robert the Bruce. His castle

of Carlaverock was ag.-iin in consequence besieged by the Eng-

lish, and (ielended for several weeks, when the assailants

were compelled to retire. Fearing that it might again fall

into the hands of the English, Sir Eustace demolished a part

I'f the fortifications, for which he was rew.arded by King Ro-

bert Bruce. Sir Eustace was one of the barons who signed

the letter to the Pope, asserting the independence of Scot-

land, in 1320, and in the same year w.as tried for being ac-

ccssorv to a conspiracy against the king, but was acquitted.

124 SIR JOHN.

In 1332, Edward Baliol landed in Scotland, and w.as crowned

at Scone. He was afterwards besieged in Perth, when the

men of Galloway, under Sir Eustace de Maxwell, invaded the

lands of the besiegers, and caused them to raise the siege,

{Chron. de Lanercost, p. 2G9,) On Dec. 13, 1333, Sir Eustace,

with others, was chosen by Edward III., to ascertain the

value of the castle, county, and city of Berwick upon Tweed,

{Ruiidi Scothe, vol. i. p. 2G0.) January 2G, 1335-G, be was
appointed one of the conservators of the truce with the Scots,

on the part of Edward, and on August 23, following, a letter

was sent to hhn as sheriti" of Dumfries, as well as to tlie other

sheriffs of Scotland, rebuking them for their tardiness in giv-

ing in their accounts, {Tbid. vol. i. p. 441.) In 1337, be

made a temporary defection from Baliol, and caused the men
of Galloway on his own side of the Cree, to rise against the

English, although he bad only immediately before received

from Edward III
,
money and provisions for the more secure

keeping of Carlaverock castle, {Chronicoii de Lanercost, p.

290.) The castles of Dumbarton and Carlaverock are said

to have been the only strong cabtlcs then in possession of the

Scots. The latter had therefore been repaired after its de-

molition. On August 20, 1339, Sir Eustace de Maxwell,

Duncan Makduel, and iMichael IMageth, of Scotland, received

from Edward III. letters of pardon, and adnutting them to

the king's peace, for havingjoined with his enemies, (Jlutuli

Scotiw, vol. i. p. 571.) Sir Eustace was a witness to a

charter of confirmation by Edward III., in 1310. He died

at Carlaverock, March 3, 1342-3.

Sir John tie Maxwell, knight, "son of the deceased Sir

John Maxwell of Pencateland, and heir of Sir Eustace de

iMaxwell, his brother," succeeded, as appears by chaiter

granted by him to the Abbey of ].)ryburgli, confirmed by

William, Prior of St. Andrews in 1343, being -'ihe patronage

of the church of Pencateland, which John de Jlaxwell of

Pencateland, and Sir John Maxwell, knight, dominus de

.Maxwell, granted to the abbot and convent of Dryburgh "

Sir John JIaxwell was taken prisoner, with David II , at lb.)

battle of Durham, in 134G, and died shortly after.

Sir John Maxwell, Lord (dominus) of jMaxwell, his son,

probably did not for a time regain possession of Carlaverock.

Roger de Kirkpatrick had fn the end of 135G taken the castle

of Carlaverock and levelled it with the ground, and when re-

siding in the neighbourhood, was, in June following, assassinat-

ed by Sir James Lindsay. Sir John Maxwell sat in the meeting

of the Estates at Edinburgh, 2Gth September 13o7, when
the terms proposed by Edward III. relative to the release of

David II. were agreed to, and he was engaged in the nego-

tiations relating thereto. A charter was granted by Robert II.

to Robert de Jlaxwell, son .".nd heir of John Maxwell of Car-

laveroc'.c, knight, on the resignation by his father of the lands

he held of the king, under reservation of his liferent, and of

the terce, to Christian his spouse, in case she survived him,

dated Sept. 19, 1371. He is supposed to have died in 1373.

His son. Sir Robert Maxwell of Carlaverock, succeeded. In

the charter of resignation mentioned above, be is called by

King Robert II., dilectiis consanguincits noster, which would

infer that bis mother Christian was related to the king. He
is supposed to have erected the castle of Carlaverock on its

present site, the former one luu ing been in a lower situation

more to the east. He made a grant to the monastery of Dry-

burgh, for the welfare of his soul and of the soul of Sir Her-

bert de Maxwell, his son and heir, before 1400, (_Libcr de

Drijhurr/h, p. 273.) He seems to have been alive in 1407, but

was dead before Nov. 23, 1413. The Sir Robert JIaxwell

who was then sent as ambassador to the Englith court must

have been Sir Robert Maxwell of Calderwood.
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Sir Herl/ert Maxwell of Carlaverock, liis son, succeeded.

He married in 1385 or 13SG, Katlierlne, daugliter of Sir

Jolin Stuart of Dalswiiiton, under a dispensation from tlie

pope. From liis kinsman, Archibald, earl of Douglas, lie had

received a charter of the stewardship of Aniiaiidale, dated

8tli February 14U9-10. He was probably dead belbre Oct.

20, 1120, but certainly so before March IG, 1-121. Besides

Herbert, his successor, he left another son, Aymer, who mar-

lied the heiress of Kirkconnel of that iik (see Maxwki.l of

KikivConnel).

The elder son, Sir Herbert Maxwell of Carlaverock, suc-

ceeded. In his father's lifetime he had a safe conduct, Nov.

3, 1-113, with others, to go to England as hostages. On

JIarcli 10, 1421, he was retoured heir to his father in the

lands of MekiU Dripps. He was knighted at the coronation

of James I., May 21, 1-124, and some yeai s afterwards was

created a lord of parliament, ;i dignity established by King

James under tlie Act, March 1, 1427. His ancestors, from

an early period, ranked among the magnates or proceres reg-

ui; and in several charters in the vernacular yet extant are

styled lords of Carlaverock, in the same way as the lords of

Galloway and others. In 1425 he was arrested witli Murdoch,

duke of Albany, but soon liberated. Albany was at first sent

to Carlaverock castle, but soon taken back to Stirling, where

lie was executed. Tlie tower at Carlaverock, in which he

w.as confined, was from him called Murdoch's tower. In

the parliament held at Perth, I\I:irch 10, 1429, Jlfaxu-ell is

entered as one of the lords of parliament who adjudicated on

the plea between Margaret, lady of Craigy, and I'liillp de JIow-

bray. (Acts of Scut^ Pari, vol. iL, p. 28). In 1430 and

1-138 he was warden of the west marches, and on 20th March

Df the latter year he was one of the conservators of the truce

with England. He was one of tlie lords of parliament present

in parliament, June 28, 1445. He is again named a conserva-

tor of the truce, April 29, 1450, April IG, 1451, and May SO,

1453. (JioluU Scotia'.') On Aug. 8, 1440, he had a charter

under the great seal authorising him to build a tower on the

crag of the Mearns, and on May 15, 1444, he had a letter from

tlie king empowering him to build the castle of the Mearns.

He died before Feb. 14, 1453. He was twice married : first,

to a daughter of Sir Herbert Herries of Terregles, by whom he

had two sons, Ilobert his successor, and Sir Edward Jlas-

well,' of whom descended the JIaxwells of Tinwald and

Monreith ; and secondly, to Katlierine, daughter of Sir

William Seton of Seton, widow of Sir Allan Stewart of I)er-

nely, and mother of the first earl of Lennox. I!y this lady, he

had, with other issue, George, ancestor of the Maxwells of

Cornsalloch, and Adam, of the Ma.xwells of Soutlibar.

The eldest son, Robert, 2d Lord Maxwell, was retoured

heir to his father February 14, 1453-4. On the forfeiture of

the Dongl.ises in 1455, the extensive lordship of Eskdale was

acquired by him, and remained with the JIaxwell family

throughout the IGtli and 17tli conluiics. He was a guarantee

to a treaty with the English in 1457, and again in 1459.

He had, before January 20, 1424, inarncd Janet, daughter of

Sir John Forstar (Forrester) of Corstorpliine. On M.srcli G,

1457, he was appointed one of the visitors of hospitals in Gal-

loway. On Feb. 10, 1477, he executed .i resignation of the

baronies of Maxwell, Carlaverock, and Mearns, in favour of

John JIaxwell, his eldest son, on which tho latter had char-

ter from the king on the lith of the same month. He died

before May 8, 1485. He had three sons, John, his succes-

sor, Thomas, who married the heiress of Maxwell of Kirk-

connel, and David. An illegitimate son, also named John,

was killed in a quarrel with the .Murrays.

The eldest son, John, 3d Lord Maxwell, as ho was called

in his latter years, although he predeceased his father in

1454, married Katherine Crichton, daughter of George Earl

of Caithness. He was appointed steward of Annandale
That he was cilled Lord Maxwell in his father's lifetime,

alter the resignation of the baronies of Maxwell, Carlaverock,

and Mearns, to him as already mentioned, appears from the

Ada Audttoruvi. On March 27, 1482, '-John Lord Max-
well " is mentioned. On December 12, 1482, John Jlaxwell,

son and apparent heir of " Robert Lord Maxwell; " and in a

mutual grant of certain lands to endow a chapel in Car-

laverock, " Robert Lord iMaxwell," and " John Lord Maxwell,"

his son, are mentioned by these titles, and as then alive, June

5, 1483. John Lord Maxwell, or the Master of Maxwell

was treacherously slain by one of his own countrymen at the

close of a battle in Annandale with a party of English and

some rebel Scots, July 22, 1484. Besides John, his succes-

sor, he left numerous sons, from whom descended the Max-
wells of Cowhill and Killylung, of Cavens, of Porlrack, o*"

Hills, and Drumcoltran, &c.

John, 4th Lord Maxwell, his eldest son, was one of the

coinmissioners nominated to settle border differences by the

treaty of Nottingham, Sept. 23, 1484. He fell at Flodden,

9th September 1513. By his wife, Agnes, daughter of Sir

.-Mexander Stewart of Garlies, ancestor of the e.arls of Gallo-

way, he had, with three daughters, three sons, viz., Robert,

fourth Lord JIaxwell
;
Herbert, ancestor of the Maxwells of

Clowden ; and Edward, taken prisoner with his brother at

the rout of Solway in 1543, but released the following year,

on payment of a ransom of £100 sterling.

Robert, fifth Lord Maxwell, the eldest son, was a conspicu-

ous character in Scottish history in the first half of the IGtli

century. On the 10th June, preceding the battle of Flodden

Field, he had been knighted by James IV., and, at the

same time, on the resignation of his father, he was ap-

pointed steward of Annandale. In 151G he acquired part of

the lands Ibrfeited by Lord Home, and in the following year

lie was appointed warden of the western marches. In 1524

he was lord provost of Edinburgh, and in that capacity cho-

sen one of the lords of the articles for the commissionei's of

burghs. On 2lEt June 152G, on James V. being declared of

age to assume the government of the realm, Lord i\Iaxwell

was sworn a member of the secret council, formed to assist

the earl of Angus with their advice and support as guardian

of the king's person. Soon after, he was with the young

monarch, on his return from his expedition against the Arm-
strongs, when, at Melrose bridge, Angus' party was attacked

by Walter Scott of Buccleuch, wilh the design of rescuing

his majesty from the hands of the Douglases. In 152G he

was infcl't as steward of Kirkcudbright and keeper of Threave

castle, ofBces afterw.'irds made hereditary. On the escape of

James from Falkland castle to Stirling in 1528, Lord M.-ixwell

was one of the first of the lords who attended the council

.summoned by the king. In the distribution of offices which

took place when the king soon after proceeded to Edinburgh,

a fi'ce monarch, to his lordship was intrusted the command of

the capital with the provostship of the city. Angus' brother,

Sir George Douglas, the late master of the king's household,

and his uncle, Archibald Douglas of Kilspiiidy, the late trea-

surer, having made an attempt to raise the inhabitants, were

attacked by Lord Maxwell, and driven from the capital. He
was rewarded wilh ,i portion of the lands of the forfeited .\n-

gus. (^Doitglas Peerage, vol. ii. p. 317).

The same year, his lordship and other principal border-

chiefs were arrested and placed in l-^dinburgh castle, prepa-

ratory to the king's celebrated journey into Eusdale and

Teviotdalc for the punishment of the border thieves, whose
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disorders tliey luid overluoked, if not encour:igcd, during the

time tli;it Angus had usurped the government. In a few

months, liowever, they were released, after delivering pledges

for their allegiance. On 17th November 1533, his lordship

was appointed an cxtr.aordinary lord of session. In 1530 he

)nade a hostile incursion into England, and burnt Penrith. In

August of the same year he was appointed one of the mem-
bers of the regency, to whom the government of the kingdom

was intrusted during the absence of James V., on his matri-

monial expedition to France; and in the I'ollowing December

he was one of the ambassadors sent to that country to ne-

gotiate the marriage of James with JIary of Guise, widow

of the duke of LongueviUe, whom he espoused as prosy for

the king.

In 1512, after the discontented nobles had refused to in-

vade England, and James was obliged to disband his army

encamped on Fala niui]'. Lord JIaxwell offered Iiis services

for a new expedition. A force of 10,000 men having been

speedily collected, it advanced, under his command, into

England, by the western marches, and reached the Sohvay

Moss, wliilst the king awaited at Carlaverock castle the re-

sult of the invasion. The appointment of the king's favour-

ite, Oliver Sinclair, to the chief command, gave so much
offence to the nobles in the Scots army, that they refused to

serve under him, and on the approach of Sir Thomas Dacre

and Sir John Musgrave, two English le.-iders, with 300hor.se,

they yielded themselves prisoners. Lord JIaxwell on foot

was endeavouring to restore some degree of order, and being

urged to mount his horse and fly, he replied, "Nay, I will

rather abide here the chance that it shall please God to send

me than to go home and there be hanged."

On the death of James V., which happened soon after, his

lordship, with the other captive lords, was allowed to return

to Scotland, liis ransom being 1,000 marks. They were pre-

viously compelled, however, to enter into a bond or obligation

to promote the designs of the English monarch on their native

country. He zealously promoted the fruitless projects of

Henry VIII., relative to a marriage betwixt the infant Queen

JIary and his son. Prince Edward.

While in England he is supposed to liave become a convert

to the doctrines of the Reformation, and in the first parliament

of the young queen, wliich met March 13, 1543, he presented

an act that all should have liberty to read the Bible in the

Scottish or English tongue, but under the proviso, not very

consistent with his reformed views, that " na man dispute or

liald opinions under the pains conteinit in the actis of parlia-

ment." This act was passed into a law, and publicly ratified

by the regent Arran, notwithstanding the protest of the lord-

cliancellor and the prelates. Towards the end of the same

year he was apprehended at Edinburgh, with Lord Somer-

ville, on a charge of entering into a treason.able agreement

with England, but on the arrival of an English fleet in Leith

Roads on 3d May following, he was set at liberty. On IGth

September, 1545, with the lairds of Locliinvar and Johnston,

aided by some French troops, lie invaded England by the

western borders, but was taken prisoner. As his conduct

towards King Henry had been suspicions and vacillating, he

was threatened to be sent to the Tower by that imperious

)nonarcli, when lie offered to serve under the earl of Hertford,

on Ills invasion of Scotland, with a red cross on his armour,

to show tluat he was true to the English interests. By de-

livering up Carlaverock to the English, he was allowed to

return to Scotland, but early in November of the same year,

the regent and Cardinal Bethune attacked and stormed that

fortress, whilst Loclimabcn and Thieave, lield by his sons,

experienced a similar fate. JIaxwell liimself, being taken

with his English confederates, was imprisoned in Dumfries.

He died 9th July 1546. He was twice married, but had only

issue by his first wife, Janet, daughter of Sir William Doughis

of Drumlanrig, namely, a daughter, Margaret, countess of

Angus, and afterwards I>ady Baillie of Lamington, and two
sons, Robert, Gth Lord JIaxwell, and Sir John JIaxwell of

Terregles, who married Agnes, daughter of the third Lord

Herries, and as the 4tli Lord Herries, but first of the JIaxwell

family, distinguished himself by las faithful adherence to

Queen JIary. (See vol. ii. p. 473.)

Robert, sixth Lord JIaxwell, was one of the commissioners

to treat witli the English, 8th Jlay, 1551, and died 14th Sep-

tember, 1552. By his wife. Lady Beatrix Douglas, the 2d of

3 daughters of James, 3d earl of Jlorton, he had Robert, who
died young, and a posthumous son, John, 7th Lord JIax-

well.

John, seventh lord, was not born till the spring following his

father's decease. His uncle, the JIastcr of JIaxwell, was his

tutor andgovernor; afterwards W'iUiam Douglas of Whitting-

ham, John Jlure of Eowallan, and Robert JIaxwell of Cow-
hill

,
were appointed his curators, until he attained his majoril v

in 1574. He was a zealous supporter of Queen Jlaiy, and in

1570, when the earl of Sussex was sent by Queen Elizabeth

into Scotland, with an army of 15,000 men, to support King

James VI., after the assassination of the regent Jloray, the

English commander "took and cast down the castles of Car-

laverock, Hoddam, Dumfries, Tinwald, Cowhill, and sundrv

other gentlemen's houses, dependcrs on the house of Max-
well, and having burnt the town of Dumfries, returned with

great spoil to England." Lord JIaxwell and Lord Herries

attended the parliament held in Queen JIary's name at Edin-

burgh, 12tli June, 1571. In right of his mother he was heir

of one-third of the earldom of Jlorton ; he had acquired right

to another third from JIargaret, her elder sister, with consent

of her husband, the duke of Chatelherault, and he was heir

apparent of the youngest sister, who died childless. He,

therefore, considered that the earldom of Jlorton was his by

right, and that all the entails executed by James, 3d earl,

were illegal. The earl of Jlorton, appointed regent of the

kingdom Nov. 24, 1572, seemed himself to doubt their leg.il-

ity, for he "pressed by all means that the Lord JIaxwell

should renounce his title thereto, quilk he refusing he com-
manded him to prison in the castle of Edinburgh, wliere

lykwayes refusing to renounce, he was sent to Blackness, and

from thence to St. Andrews, where he and the Lord Ogilvie

abode till the JIarch thereafter." (^Hist. Family ofMaxwell.')

In 1579, Jlorton caused Lords John and Claud Hamilton to fly

the country, and delivered the Duchess of Cliatellicrault, their

mother and Lord Jlaxwell's aunt, and the earl of Arran, then

insane, into the charge of the notorious Captain Lammie, and

in order to injure, as much as in his power, every descendant

of the 3d earl of Jlorti n, to whom he was indebted for his

honours and estates, ho deprived Lord JIaxwell of the warden-

ship, and conferred the oflice on the laird of Johnston, the

hereditary enemy of the house of JIaxwell. On the execution

and attainder of the regent Jlorton, Lord JIaxwell obtained,

as representative of his mother, a charter of the earldom of

Jlorton, erected of new in his favour, June 5, 1581, and rati-

fied with consent of the Estates, Nov. 19 thereafter. He seems

to h.ave been, about the same time, reponed as warden of the

west marches, which oiiice he held till tlie conspiracy of the

earl of Gowrie in 1582, when the duke of Lennox was dri\ eu

from the government. He adhered to the duke, and accom-

panied him to Glasgow on his way to Dumbarton castle. On
Nov. 30 of that year, when Lennox meditated the seizure of

the c:ipital, Lord JIaxwell and others of his supporters arrived
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in that city, with their fullowers, to assist hiin, hut departed

ivitliout carrying tlieir design into eflect.

Tlic attainder of tlic earldom of Morton was rescinded hy tlie

liing's letters under tlie great seal, in January 1585, in favour

of Arcliihald earl of Angus, the heir of entail, (ratilied hy act

of parliament of 29th July 1587,) who therehy succeeded to

the oW title of earl of Jlorton, hut not affecting Lord Jlaxwell's

title of earl of Morton created in 1581 (see Morton, earl of).

Having incurred Arran's displeasure for refusing to exchange

his lands of Pollok and Maxivellhaugh, which lay contiguous to

Arran's estate, for otliers of equal value. Lord Maxwell pro-

ceeded to collect a force in his own defence, when he was de-

nounced rehel, and put to the horn, through the malice of the

earl of Arran, on which the lieges were commanded hy pro-

clainalion to meet the king on Crawfordniuir, on Oct. 24, to

proceed against him. He joined the hanished nobles in their

conspiracy for the removal of Arran, whom they considered the

cause of all the evils that afflicted the country, and was with

them when, on Nov. 1, they took the castle of Stirling. On
tliis occasion his followers availed themselves of the op-

portunity to do a little hit of business on their own account,

while in eiFect assisting in the overthrow of the court fa-

vourite, for, we are told, they carried off hy force all the horses

they Could find, "not respecting friend or foe." A general

act of indemnity was passed in favour of the lords who had

driven Arran from court, and on December 10, 1585, a special

Act of Parliament granted Lord Maxwell, his friends and

servants, entire indemnity for all their unlawful doings within

the realm, from April 15G9 to the date thereof. Of the men

named in the act, there were about GOO from Lord Maxwell's own

estates in Nithsdale and Gallow.ay, COO from Eskdale, Ewes-

dale, and Wauchoped.ile, mostly Beatties, Littles, and Arm-
strongs, 310 from Lower .Annandale, chiefly Carruthers, Bells,

and L vings, and about 450 better organized soldiers, in three

companies of infantry, and two troops of cavalry, one troop

being from Gallow.ay and Nithsdale, commanded by John

Maxwell of Newlaw and Alexander Maxwell of Logan; and

the other from Annandale, commanded by Gewge Carrutli-

crs of Holmends, and Charles Carruthers, his son.

Having, contrary to law, caused mass to be celebrated

openly in the college of Lincluden, ne.ar Dumfries, on 24th,

25th, and 2Gth Dec. of the same year, his lordship, and the

rest of the hearers, were charged to appear before the secret

council. On his appearance he offered himself to trial, but

was committed to the castle of Edinburgh. It does not

appear how long he remained a prisoner. Tytlers.ays {Hist, of

Scotlantl, Vol. ix.. p. 4), that when the king received the news

of his mother's execution, he sent for Lord JIaxwell, and others

of the more warlike of the border leaders, to consult as to

what should be done. lie was nut, however, employed in the

matter, for on .April 12, 1587, he gave bond, with John, Lord

Hamilton, William, Lord Herries, and Sir John Gordon of

I.ochinvar, as cautioners, that he would leave the realm and

go beyond sea in a month, and in the meantime should not

trouble the country, nor, when abroad, do .anything to injure

the religion then professed, or the peace of the realm, and

should not return without his Majesty's .special license. Lord

Herries, also, on May29 following, gave bond that Sir Robert

JIaxwell of Dinwiddie, John JLaxwell of Conheath, and Ed-

ward JIaxwell of the Hills— probably imprisoned at the same

time as Lord JIaxwell—should not do or attempt anything

to the prejudice of the religion then professed. Soon .after.

Lord JIaxwell went to Spain, and when there he did what he

could to promote the success of the invasion of England by

the .Armada, .and, wilh that view, to produce a diversion in

Scotland, where a powerful body of the nobility was ready to

assist {Jbid. vol. ix., p. 17.) In the month of April 15S8, he

returned to Scotland without the king's license. He at once

began to assemble his followers, that he might be ready to

assist the Spaniards on the arrival of their much-vaunted

Armada. He fortiticd the castle of Loclim.aben, the connnaiid

of which he gave to Jlr. David JIaxwell, brother of the laird

of Cowhill, while he himself took refuge on hoard a ship.

With a large force James marched to Dumfries, and sum-
moned Lord Jlaxwell's various castles to surrender. They
all obeyed, except Lochmaben, but after two d;ivs' firing it

also w.as given up, when the governor and five of his officers

were hanged before the castle gate. In the meantime. Sir

William Stewart, brother of Captain Stewart, the quondam
earl of Aixan, was sent after Lord JIaxwell. Einding himself

pursued, his lordship, quitting the ship, took to the boat, a)id

had no sooner landed than ho was .apprehended. He was at

first conveyed to Dumfries, hut afterwards removed to the

castle of Edinburgh, and deprived of his office of warden of

the western marches, which was conferred on the laird of

Johnston.

With other imprisoned nobles. Lord JIaxwell was released

from his confinement on 12th September, 1589, to do honour,

by their attendance, to the queen of James VI. on her arrival

in Scotland from Denmark. He had become, from policy or

otherwise, a convert to Protestantism, and on 2Gth Januarv,

1593, subscribed the Confession of Faith before the presbyterr

of Edinburgh, under the name of Jlorton. On the 2d Feb-

ruary following he and the new carl of Jlorton, striving for

precedency in the church at Edinburgh, were parted by the

provost before they h.ad time to draw their swords, and con-

veyed under a guard to their lodging, as was also Lord Ham-
ilton, for h.iving assisted JIaxwell.

He had been restored to the wardenship of the western

marches, but in consequence of its having been held for a

time by the laird of Johnston, the old feud was renewed be-

tween the two families. On the 7th December, 1593, at the

head of about 2,000 men. Lord JIaxwell, having a commission

of lieutcn.antcy, went to demolish some houses belonging to the

Johnstons, when he was resisted by the chief of that name,

with his allies, the Scotts, Elliots, and other border clans, to

the number of 500 men, and ' being a tall man and heavy in

armour," was slain. This affair was called the battle of Dryfe

sands. The JIaxwells, though much superior in numbers,

were routed and pursued ; and lost, on the field and in the

retreat, about 700 men, besides their commander. JIany of

those who were killed or wounded in the retreat were

cut down in the streets of Lockerby, and hence the phrase,

currently used in Annandale to denote a severe wound, "A
Lockerby Lick." By his wife, Lady Eliz.abcth Douglas,

second daughter of the 7th earl of Angus, Lord JIaxwell

had, with three daughters, three sens, John and Robert, 8tli

and 9th Lord JIaxwell, and James JIaxwell of Kirkconnil

and Springkell, who left no issue.

John, Sth Lord JIaxwell, the eldest son, was put to the

horn for various acts of disobedience to the king's authorilv,

and by the laws then in force as to religion, before the year

IGOO. The old feud between the JIaxwells and the Johnstons

was kept up by the .appointment of Sir James Johnston

to the wardenship, June 17, IGOO. Lord JIaxwell was

in JIarcli 1C02 imprisoned in the castle of Edinburgh on

account of his favouring popery. He afterwards broke out of

ward, and was proclaimed a traitor. A sort of reconciliation

h.ad taken place between the JLixwells and the J(dmstons, in

testimony whereof Lord JIaxwell executed " Letters of Slavns,"

June II, 1G05.

In 1C07, Lord JIaxwell, asserting still his rights as carl of
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Morton, got into disputes witli tlie other earl of Morton about

holding courts in Eskdalemuir, in consequence wliereof he

was coiiimitted to the castle of Edinburgli. He escaped from

tlie castle Dec. 4 of that year, along with Robert Max-

well of Dinwiddie. He was then put to the horn, and diligent

search made for him. On Feb. 2, 1G08, King James wrote

to the privy council, complaining that, in contempt of his

authority. Lord Maxwell travelled openly through the country

with 20 horse, and even appeared at Dumfries, and directed

that lie be sought for, and cither taken or put out of the

bounds. In answer, tlie privy council informed the king that

they had used all diligence in searching for Lord JIaswell,

and punishing his resetters, and asked to have designed a

certain cave to which he used to resort. The cave inquired

about was probably what is now called " Lord Jlaxwell's

cave," in Clawbelly Hill, parish of Kii'kgunzion. Tired of

this uncomfortable life, Lord Maxwell desired to be restored to

tlie king's favour, .and for that purpose, in April, 1C08, sent a

mess.age by his cousin. Sir Robert JIaxwell of Orcliai dlon, to Sir

James Johnston of Joliiislon, the brother-in-law of the latter,

who had expressed a wish for a reconcihation, that a friendly

meeting might take place between them. Accordingly, they

met on horseback on the 6th of that month, Lord Maxwell at-

tended by Charles Maxwell of Kirkliouse, and Sir James John-

ston by William Johnston of Lockcrby, Sir Robert Maxwell being

also present. Wilh Sir Robert JIaxwell, the two chiefs rode

apart to confer together, but, a quarrel taking place between

the attendants, Johnston's friend was shot at by a ))istol fired

by the other. The laird of Johnston, crying out " treason," rode

forward to see what was the matter. Lord JIaxwell, at that

moment, shot liim in the back, and ho fell oft' his horse dead.

His lordship immediately fled to the continent. His title and

estates were fur.'eited, and all his offices vested in the crown.

In JIarch 1612 he ventured to return to Scotland, and being

closely pursued, retired to Caithness, intending to take ship-

ping there for Sweden, but was betrayed by his kinsman,

George, 5th earl of Caithness, conveyed by sea to Leith, and

imprisoned in the jail of Edinburgh. For the " treasonable

murder," as slaughter under trust was then termed, of Sir

James Johnston, (who had married Sarah Maxwell, sister of

John, 7th Lord Herries, and was ancestor of the marquises of

Annandale,) he was, on 2l6t May following, beheaded at the

cross of Edinburgh. He married Lady Margaret Hamilton,

only daughter of John, first marquis of Hamilton, without

issue.

His brother, Robert, 9th Lord JIaxwell, was restored to tho

tiile and estates of the family, 13th Oct., 1618, and on 29th

August, 1020, the title of earl of jMortun, at one time held by

this family, was clianrjed to earl of Nitlisdale, with the pre-

cedency of the former title. (See Nitiisdai.b, earl of.)

Tliere are five baronetcies lield by families of the n.ame of

]\!axwel!—namely, of Pollok, Renfrewshire; of Calderwood,

Laii>''.rkshire ; of Cardoness, Kirkcudbrightshire ; of Monrcitli,

Wigtownshire; and of Springkell, Dumfries-sliiie.

The lariinetcy of Orchardton, extinct or dormant, was

about to be claimed by the heir in 1805, but the estates hav-

ing been sold the idea was given up.

Tlie Pollok branch was allied by marriage to royalty.

This family, descended from Sir John JIaxwell, 2d son of

Eunierus or Aymer de Maxwell (see page 123), .were usually

styled " Domini de Pollok," or "Nether Pollok." Besides

the lands of that name in Renfrewshire, which he received

from his father. Sir John got a grant of the lands of Lyon-

croce, in the same county, from Robert the Bruce. Towards

the close of the reign of that monarch he was governor of the

c.a,stle of Dumbarton. He was succeeded by Sir Robert JIax-

well of Pollok.

The next possessor of Pollok was Sir John JIaxwell, who

ni.an ied, 1st, Isabel de Lindsay, daughter of Sir James Lind-

say of Crawford, by Lady Egidia Stewart, sister-in-law of

Robert II., and daugliter of Walter the liigh steward, and by

her he had 2 sons, John, his successor, and Robert, ancestor of

the JIaxwells of Calderwood; 2dly, Elizabeth de St. Jlichel,

heiress of Whitcliesten, Roxburghshire, supposed without issue.

His elder son. Sir John JIaxwell, knight, early distinguished

himself in arms, especially at the battle of Otterburn in 1388.

According to Froissart, he there made prisoner Sir Ralph

Percy, brother of Hotspur, an exploit that drew from John

Dunbar, earl of Jloray, under whom he sen'ed and graduated

in chivalry, the encomiastic exclamation of " Well, JIaxwell.

hast thou earned thy spurs to-day!" With his relatives the

Lindsays, Montgomeries, and others, all emulous of military

glory, he readily joined the renowned and gallant James, earl

of Douglas, in that entcrprize. He married a daughter of

the Sieur de Montgomery, who also fought at Otterbourne.

Thomas JIaxwell of Polluk, succeeded. He was alive in

1440. His son, John JIaxwell of Pollok, was living in 1452.

His male heir, before and after 1500, Sir John JIaxwell of

Pollok, married Lady Elizabeth Stewart, daughter of John,

earl of Lennox, and had by her four sons. 1. Sir John, his

heir. 2. Robert, bishop of Orkney, a distinguislied prelate. 3.

George, of Cowglcn, whose sen, Sir John JIaxwell, acquired

the estates by m.arringe. 4. Thomas, whose descendants car-

ried on the line of the family.

The eldest son. Sir John JIaxwell of Polli;k, had a son,

John JIaxwell, who predeceased him in 1536. The latter

married Elizabeth, daughter of Sir Patrick Houston of Hous-

ton, and had a daughter, Elizabeth, sole heiress of Pollok.

This Elizabeth succeeded her grandfather, and married Sir

John Maxwell, son of the above-mentioned George JIaxwell

of Cowglen, the collateral heir male. He was knighted by

Queen JIary, and fought at Laugside.

Their son, Sir John JIaxwell of Pollok, succeeded. He fell

at the battle of Lockerby, in 1593. He married, 1st, Jlarga-

ret, daughter of William Cunningham of Caprington, by

whom he had a son, John, and a daughter, Agnes, wife of

Jolin Boyle of Kelburn, ancrstor of the earls of Gla.sgow

;

2dly, Marjory, daughter of Sir William Edmonston of l)un-

treath, and widow of Mungo Graham of Urchill, a cadet of

the house of Jlontrcse.

The son. Sir John JIaxwell of Pollok, who figured after

1593 and in the reign of Charles L, married, 1st, Isabel

Campbell, daughter of Hugh, Lord Loudoun, by whom he

had a daughter; and, 2dly, Grizel, daughter of John Blair of

Blair, without issue. To fix and secure the inheritance in

the m.ale line. Sir John settled his whole estates, heritable

and moveable, upon his cousin, George, afterwards Sir George

JIaxwell of Auldliouse, descended from Thomas, youngest

son of Sir John JIaxwell, his great-great-grandfather. Sir

John died in 1047.

George JIaxwell of Auldliouse, afterwards Sir George, suc-

ceeded, according to the settlement made in his favour, and his

descendants continued to enjoy the estates, notwithstanding

of two attempts made by the Calderwood br.anch to di^turb

the succession. He was knighted by Charles II., and is do-

scribed as having been a gentleman of singular accomplish-

ments, and justly esteemed for his piety, learning, and other

good qualifications. He married in 1616, Annabella, daugh-

ter of Sir Archibald Stewart of Blackball and Ardgowan,
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descended from Robert III,, ;uij liiid a son and 3 daughters,

lie died in 1677.

j

Sir George Maxwell's name is associated with one of the

I most extraordinary causes celihrefes in witchcraft which oc-

curred in Renfrewshire. Having been taken suddenly ill,

while in Glasgow, on the night of Oct. 14, 1G77; he was, on

liis return home, confined to bed witli severe bodily pains.

A vagrant girl, named Janet Douglns, who pretended to

be dumb, and was considered a clever witch-finder, and who

owed some of his tenants a grudge, accused several of them

of bewitching Sir George, and, to confirm her .issertions, she

contrived, in one or two instances, to secrete small wax fig-

ures of the sufTeriiig knight, stuck with pins, in the dwell-

ings of the accused persons. A special commission was

issued for the trial of the case on the spot, and after a long

investigation, at which were present, besides some of the

lords of justiciary, most of tlie leading men of lienfrewshiie,

the following unfortunate creatures, namely, Janet Mathie,

widow of John Stewart, under miller in Shaw mill, John

Stewart, lier son, and three old women, the parties accused,

were condemned to be strangled and burned, and Annabil

Stewart, a girl 14 years old, the daughter of JIathie, or-

dered to be imprisoned ! The case is recorded in Crawford's

' History of Renfrewshire.' A ballad has also been written

on the subject. The accused confessed their guilt!

The son. Sir John Maxwell of Pollok, was created a baronet

of Nova Scotia by Charles II., April 12, 1G82, with extension

of the title, in virtue of another patent, March 27, 1707, to

Ins lieirs male whatsoever. In July 1C83, Sir John Maxwell

was imprisoned for refusing to take the test, and Decembers,

1C84, lie was fined £8,000 by the privy council, for allowing

recusants to live on his lands, and refusing the bond and test.

The council, however, declared th.at if paid before the end of

the month, the fine would be reduced to £2,000. In 1G89,

Sir John was sworn a privy councillor to King William. The

same year he represented the county of Renfrew at the con-

vention of estates. He was afterwards commissioner for the

same county in the Scots parliament. In 1G9G he was ap-

pointed one of the lords of the treasury and exchequer. On
the Gtli February 16'J9 he was admitted an ordinary lord of

session, and on the 14th of the same month nominated lord-

justice-clerk. In the latter office he was superseded in 1702.

He died July 4, 1732, in his 90th year, without issue.

His cousin. Sir John Maxwell, previously styled of Blawert-

hill, succeeded as 2d baronet of Pollok. He was the son

of Zecliarias Maxwell of Blawerthill, younger brother of Sir

i George Maxwell of Auldhouse and Pollok. He m.arried, 1st,

I
I.ady Ann Carmiohael, daughter of John, earl of Hyndford,

and had a son, John, and 2 daughters
;
2dly, Barbara, d.aughter

of Walter Stewart of Blairhall, issue, 3 sons; 1, George, of

Blawerthill, who died unmarried
; 2, Walter; 3, James; and

2 daughters; Sdly, Margaret, of the family of Caldwell of

Caldwell, without issue. He died in 1753.

His eldest son, Sir John Maxwell, became 3d baronet. On

I

his death, his half brother. Sir Walter, succeeded as 4th

' baronet, .and died in 17G1.

Sir Walter's only son. Sir John, became 5th baronet, but

died nine weeks after his father.

I The title and estates reverted to his father's youngest

brother. Sir James, Gtli baronet. This gentleman married

I Prances, 2d d.aughter of Rcibert Colquhoun, Esq. of St.

Christoplicr's, of the family of Kenmure; issue, 2 sons; 1,

John, his successor; 2^ Robert, a captain in the army, died

I

without issue; and 2 daughters, 1, Frances, wife of John

;
Guimingham of Craigends; 2, Barbara, married Rev. Greville

' Fwiug. Sir James died in 1785. I

' nr.

His elder son. Sir John, 7tli baronet, was M.P. for the

Paisley Burglis. He married Hannah Anne, daughter of

Richard Gardiner of Aldborough, Suffolk; issue, a son, Sir
|

Jolm, and 2 daughters, Harriet, who died in 1842, and Eliza-

beth, wife of Archibald Stirling, Esq. of Keir.

The son. Sir John Maxwell of Pollok, 8tli baronet, suc-

ceeded July 30, 1844; F.R.S.; was educated at Westminster
and Christ Church, Oxford; JI.P. for the county of Ren-
frew from 182G to 1831, and for Lanarkshire from 1832 to

1837; deputy lieutenant for counties of Lanark and Renfrew.

He married in 1839 Lady Matilda Harriet Bruce, daughter

of Thom.as, earl of Elgin and Kincardine. This lady died Aug.

31, 1827.

The family of JIaxwell of Pollok are in possession of sev-

eral original writings of considerable interest. One of these

is the letter written by Queen JIary, after her escape from

Lochleven, to Sir Jolm Maxwell, whom she had knighted,

requiring him to hasten to her aid with all his people, " bod-

in in fear of weir," that is, equipped for war. He obeyed

the call, and as stated above, fought at tlie battle of Lang-
side, on the very border of his osvn domains.

The Maxwells of Calderwood are descended from Sir John
JIaxwell of Pollok, knight (see page 128). He got from his

father the lands and baronies of Nether Pollok, Renfrewshire,

and of Dryps and Calderwood, Lanarkshire. By his first

wife, Isabel de Lindsay, Sir John had 2 sons, Sir John, liis

successor, .and Sir Robert, ancestor of the Maxwells of Calder-

wood. He died in the beginning of the reign of David II.

The younger son. Sir Robert Maxwell, who inherited Pol-

lok and Calderwood, died in 13G3.

Sir Robert's eldest son and successor. Sir John Maxwell of

Pollok and Calderwood, had 2 sons, John, to whom he gave

the lands of Nether Pollok, .and Robert.

The latter, Sir Robert Maxwell, g"t the barony of Cal-

derwood and other lands. A mutual indenture was entered

into by the two brothers, dated at Dumbarton, Dee. 18, 1400,

in which .all their lands were enumerated, imd under the au-

thority of their father—the principal p.arty—this deed allo-

cated or partitioned certain lands to the sons and their respec-

tive heirs at law. Sir Robert married in 1402, Elizabeth,

daughter and co-heir of Sir Robert Denniston of Denniston. by

whom he obtained the barony of Newark, in Renfrewshire.

From this marriage lineally descended Sir James Maxwell

of Calderwood, who died in 1G22. He was thrice married,

and liad issue by all his wives. His third wife. Lady Marga-

ret Cunningham, daughter of James, 7lh earl of Glencairn,

and widow of Sir James Hamilton of Evandale, was sister

of Ann, marchioness of Hamilton. By her he had 4 daugh-

ters and 2 sons ; 1 ,
John, lineal .ancestor of the present baro-

net, and 2, Alexander.

His son, Sir James Maxwell of Calderwood, who suc-

ceeded him, was by his 2d wife, Isobel, daughter of Sir

Alexander Hamilton of Innerwick. He was created a bar-

onet of Scotland .and Nova Scotia, with remainder to his heirs

male whatsoever, M.arch 28, 1627. On the death of Sir John

Maxwell of Pollok without surviving issue, in 1647, Sir

James attempted to set aside a disposition of the Pollok es-

tates, m.ade some time before his death, by Sir John Max-
well in favour of George Maxwell of .Auldhou'sc, but without

effect. His son. Sir William, .also prosecuted his claim to the

Pollok est.ates, founding, like his father, on the deed of in-

denture of 1400, above mentioned, but he was equally unsuc-

cessful. Sir James died in 1GG7. His half brother, Colonel

John Maxwell, has ,an historical name as having attended his

cousin, the duke of Hamilton, on his unfortunate expedition

I
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into I'.iigland in 1648 for the rescue of Charles I. On his

return lie was obliged to do penance for his share in the " en-

gngemeiit," as it was called, before the congregation in the

parish church of Carluke, in which parish the family at that

time resided. }Ie served as colonel in the Scots army which

opposed Cromwell on his entering Scotland in IGoO, and was

killed at the battle of Duiib.ir that year.

Sir James' eldest son, Sir William, 2d baronet, married

Jean, daughter of Sir Alexander Maxwell of Sar.ghton Hall,

and had two sons, and one daughter, who predeceased him.

His lirst cousin. Sir John, son of Colonel Maxwell, half

brother of the first baronet, succeeded as 3d baronet. He
was tirst designed of Abington, but afterwards of Calderwood.

His only surviving son. Sir William, 4th baronet, died in

1750. He married Christian, daughter of Alexander Stew-

art, Esq. of Torrence, and had, with 4. daughters, 3 sons. 1.

William. 2. John, a colonel in t!ie army, who had the com-

mand of a regiment of grenadiers, and served with great rep-

iitation in the German war, under Prince Ferdinand. 3.

Alexander, a merchant in Leith, who married Mary, daugh-

ter of Hugh Clerk, Esq., of the fandly of Penicuik. Their

son, Captain Sir JInrray Maxwell, distinguished himself as

a naval oificer. A memoir of him is given at page 134.

Sir William's eldest son, Sir William, oth baronet, died

January 2, ITSD.

The only surviving son of the latter. Sir William, Cth baro-

net, born in 1748, died without isslie, August 12, 1829, and

was succeeded by his cousin.

Sir Williatn Maxwell, 7th baronet, .1 distinguished general

in the army, died JIarch 10, 1837. He had four sons.

The eldest son. Sir William Alexander Maxwell, 8th baro-

net, born ill 1793, became a colonel in the army in 1851, and

retired in 1853; married, without issue. Two younger

brothers died unmarried. Hugh Bales, his younger brother,

was born in 1 707 ;
married, issue, a son, William, born in 1828.

The Maxwells of Cardoness, Kirkcudbrightshire, descend

from William JIaxwell of Newlands, younger son of Gavin

Maxwell, Esq., whose eldest son. Sir Robert JIaxwell, knight,

was grandfather of tiie tirst baronet of Calderwood.

David Maxwell of Cardoness, son of Major John JIaxwell,

by his wife, a daughter of Irving of Conshaw, was created a

biironet, June 9, 1804. He married in 1770, his cousin, Hen-

rietta, daughter of David JIaxwell, Esq. of Cairnsinore, Kirk-

cudbrightshire, and had 4 sons and 4 daughters. He died

in 1825.

His 2d son, David, succeeded ; his eldest son, William, having

been drowned on his passage to Minorca, Feb. 17, 1801. Sir

David, 2d baronet, born in 1773, vice-lieutenant of Kirkcud-

brightshire, and honorary colonel of Galloway Rifles, married

(Jeoigiua, eldest daughter of Saiimcl JIartin, Esq. of Anti-

gua, and had 3 sons and 3 daughters Sir David died Nov.

13, 18G0, and was succeeded by his eldest surviving son.

Sir William, 3d baronet, born 1809, married 1st, 1841,

JIary, daughter of .J. Spr.it, Esq . by whom (who died 1840)

he had 2 sons and 1 daughter. Sir William married, 2illy,

1851, Louisa Maria, eldest daughter of Geoffrey .1. Shakciley,

Esq., and by her also (who died 185G) has issue 4 daughters.

The Maxwells of Monreith, Wigtownshire, are descended

from Heibei't of Carhiverock, first Lord JIaxwell. His 2d

son. Sir Edward JIaxwell, obtained a ch.arter of the barony of

JIureilh, now Jlonreith, Jan. 15, 1481. He was lineal an-

cestor of William JIaxwell of Jlonreith, cre:ited a baronet of

Nova Scotia, January 8, 1C81. He died in 1709. His eldest

son, William, was drowned in the Nith, in 1707.

His 2d son, Sir Alexander, succeeded as 2d baronet, and
.' ir William, the eldest son of Sir .Alexander, became 3d b.-ir-

onet. Sir William died Aug. 22, 1771. liv his wife, Jlag-

dalene, daughter of William Ulair, Esq. of Blair, Ayrshire, he

li.id, with 3 daughters, 3 sons. 1, William; 2, Hamilton,

lieutenant-colonel, 74th regiment, who commanded the gren-

adiers of the army under Lord Cornwaliis, in the war against

Tippoo Sultaun. He died in India, unmarried, in 1800; 3,

Dunbar, R. N., died young in 1775.

Sir William, the eldest son, succeeded as 4th baronet. He
married his cousin, Katherine, daughter and heiress of Da-
vid Blair, Esq. of Adainton, and had 3 .sons and 6 daughters.

He died in 1812.

The eldest son, Sir William, 5th baronet, served as lieufen-

ant-colonel in the 26th foot under Sir John Jloore iu Sp.ain,

and lost an arm at Corunna. He died Aug. 22, 1838.

His eldest son, Sir William JIaxwell, Gth baronet, born

in 1805, succeeded. He was a captain in the army, but re-

tired from the service in 1844; lieutenant-colonel of militia;

inarried Helenora, youngest daughter of Sir Michael Shaw
Stewart, hart., of Greenock and Blackball; issue, Herbert

Eustace, born .I:in. 8, 1815, another son and 4 daughters.

Tlie JIaxwells of Spriiigkell, in Annand.ale. baronets, are a

branch of the family of .Auldbouse, of which JIaxwell of P(j1-

lok is the senior representative. They are second in succes-

sion from Pollok. George JIaxwell, E.sq. of Auldliouse,

inarried, l.st, Janet, daughter of John Jliller, Esq. of Kew-
ton, .and had one son, .Tolin, whose son, George, succeeded to

the P(dlok estates; 2dly, Jean, daughter of William JIuir,

Esq. of Glandorstoiio, issue, a son, William; 3dlv, Janet,

daughter of Douglas of Waterside, issue, a son, Hugh.

William Jl.axwell, the 2d son, acquired in 1609, the bar-

ony of Kirkconnel and Spiingkell, in Annandale.

His son, Patrick JIaxwell of Springkell, was created a

baronet of Nova Scotia in 1683. He died in 1720, leaving a

son, and 4 daughters.

His son. Sir William, 2d b.aronet, died in 1760, and was

succeeded by his only son, Sir William, 3d baronet, who died

Jhirch 4, 1804. The latter had, with 3 daughters, 4 sons,

namely, 1. William, a lieutenant 30th regiment, who died,

unmarried, in 1784. 2. Jlicliael-Stewart, colonel of Dum-
fries-shire light dra.goons, who died, unm.arried, in 1830. 3.

Patrick, an officer in the army, drowned by the up.sotting of

a boat in a river in Nova Scotia, in 1790. 4. John. The

youngest son succeeded his father.

Lieutenant-general Sir John Jl.-ixwell, 4tli b.aroiiet, who
succeeded M.aich 4, 1804, married JIary, only .surviving child

and iieiress of Patrick Heron, Esq. of Heron, in the stewart-

ry of Galloway, JI.P., and on the death of his father-in-law,

assumed the surname and arms of Heron, in addition to his

own. He died January 29, 1830.

His eldest son. Sir I'atiick Hermi JIaxwell, died, unmar-

ried, August 27, 1844.

His next brother. Sir John Heron Maxwell, became 6Lh

baronet; born in 1808 ; an officer R.N.
;
married, issue, 4 sons.

The JIaxwells of Paikhill ; and other families of the name,

sprung from the same common ancestor as the Calderwood

family. The Rev. Robert Maxwell, 2d son of Sir John JIax-

well of Calderwood, kniglit, in the end of the reign of Queen

ICIizabeth was sent over to Ireland, by James YI., to secure

an interest for his majesty in that kingdom. He was .ap-

pointed dean of .\imagh, and was ancestor (jf the earls of

Farnliam peerage of Ireland, and of the Waring-JIaxwells of

Finnibrogue, cimiify Down.
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The M.ixwells of DMr^iivel are an old laiuily in Renfrt'w-

sliiie. .Icihn Hall Maxwell, Ksq., present firoprietor of Dar-

gavel, is also the representative of another aneient family in

tlie same county, tlie Halls of Fulbar, the reputed chiefs of

tlie name, which in the charters of the time is given in the

Latin form of de Aula. The ancestor of the latter ohtained

a charter of the lands of Fulbar from James, high steward of

Scotland, grandfather of King Pobert II., confirmed by that

monarch in 1.370. One of the descendants of this family fell

at Klodden.

The Darg.ivel branch of the family of Maxwell was a cadet

of the house of Newark, an offshoot of the family of CaUler-

wood (see page 129). Of the Jlaxwells of Newark, Jlr.

Hall Maxwell is now ahso the representative.

.John, eldest son, by his 2d wife, of Patrick Maxwell of

Newark, obtained from liis father in lolG, a charter of the

lands of Dargavcl, in the parish of Krskine, with tliose of

liashielce and Il.-dtonridge, in the adjacent parishes of Inch-

innan and Kilmalcolm. One of his descendants was slain in

the desper.'ile conflict at I.ocl;crl)y in 1j93, between the rival

clans of M:ixwell and Johnston.

Joim Maxwell, the proprietor of Dargavel in 1710, entailed

that estate, and died without issue. He was succeeded by

his brother, William Maxwell of P'rceland, who also died

childless.

Their sister, Margaret Maxwell, had nianied Uobert Mall

of Fulbar, and the '2d son of this marriage, John Hall, suc-

ceeded to Dargavcl, as next heir of entail, when he took the

name of Maxwell. By the death of Ids elder brother, he be-

came proprietor of Fulbar and male representative of the

fan)ily of Hall.

His grandson, John Maxwell of Dargavel, died in 1830.

His brother, W'illi.am Maxwell, succeeded, lie married

Mary, daughter of Julni Campbell, Fsq. of Fossil, Dumbar-

toiisliire, and had by her a numerous fandly. He died in

isit;.

His eldest son, John Hall Maxwell, Esq. of Ilargavel, C.li.,

born in 1812, passed advocate at the Scottisli bar in 183.'),

and iu 181G was appointed secretaiy to the Highland and

-Agiicultur.al Society of Scotland. In 1856 he was made st

companion of the liath ; a magistrate and deputy lieutenant

of Kenfrowsiiire. Ho nnirried iu 1843, Anne, daug!:ter of

Thomas Williams, Ksq. of Hurwond House, wiili issue. His

son and heir, WiUi.im Hall, was born in 18-17.

The Maxwells of Kirkconnel descend from one of the older

cadets of the Maxwell family. IJepresenting the family

of Kirkconnel of Kirkconnel, it is one of the oldest families

in Galloway, and has been settled iu the parish of Troqueer

for centuries. The Maxwells spell the name Kirkconnell.

The first of t!ie house of Kirkconnel of that ilk is supposed

to h.ave been a person of Saxon origin, who had come from

I
the north of Kngland and settled .at Kirkconnel, near the

I
mouth of the Nilh, in the time of Karl David, afterwards

David I., or iu that of King Malcolm his father. The

names, John, William, and Thomas, which the Kirkconnel

family used, indicate their north of England extraction;

while the surname of the family being the same as the name

of their lands, gives right to infer that they held these lands

from the time of JIalcolm Canmore (1057— 1093) wlicii

family surnames derived from territorial ]io,-sessions began

to be used in Scotland.

The arms of tlie Kirkconnels, azure, two croziers, or, placed

in saltire ardosst's, with a mitre of the last placed in chief

(.Vi.<ic('s llcnddri/, Part "2, ch. 10) being the same as those

of the bishops of Argyle or Lismore iu the l"2l!i century.

might be thought to show that llie one was derived from tha

other, but was probably .assumed fiom the name of the terri-

tory .and its connexion with the church.

The first of the name on record is John, "dominus de

Kirkconnel, fundavit Sacrum lioscum." (^Dvijihde's Monas-

tkon (IGGl) Cccnobia Scotica, vol. ii. p. 1057.) He founded

the abbey of Holywood some time in the r2th century, in

the place of a former religious house. He was probably the

father of Michael de Kirkconnel, whose son, William Fitz-

Jlichael de Kirkconnel, about the year 1200 m.ade a gi'ant of

lands in Kirkcotmel, in favour of the abbey of Holmcidtram

in Cuud)crland (Ihdcheson's Ctimh rlaiid, vol. ii. p. 331).

Gilchrist, the son of Gllctin'd, is witness to a charter of

lands in Dunscore near Dercongall or Holywood, granted by

.MVrica, daughter of l'"dgar, to the moid;s of Melrose, in the

reign of William the I.ion or of Alexander II. {I.ihcr de }fel-

rose, vol. i. p. 182).

There is no farther account of any one of the name until

the contest arose for the throne of Scotland between John

Ualidl, lord of Galloway, and Robert Bruce, lord of Annan-

dale, .^mong those wlio swore fealty to Edward I. in 129G,

we find Thomas de Kirkconnel of the county of Dumfries,

wliich then included both sides of the Nith. Tliere can be

little doubt that Tliomas de Kirkconnel and liis immediate

successors, like the rest of the men of Nithsdale and Gal-

loway, supported the cause of lialiol. In 1324 mention is

made of " Dmnhms de Kivhconnell in valle de iViW/," {Chalm-

ers' Cidedoni(().

Owing to the wars and confusion of the times little is

known of the Kirkcon)iels for two or three generations, but

it is probable that they generally supported and shared flie

fortunes of their greater neiglibonrs on the otlier side of the

Nitli, the Maxwells of Carlaveroek. The connexion between

the families of Maxwell of Carlaveroek and the Kirkcoimels

was drawn closer by the marriage of Aymer de Maxwell,

2d son of Sir Herbert de Maxwell of Carlaveroek and brother

of Sir Herbert de JlaxwcU of Carlaveroek, 1st Lord .Max-

well, with Janet de Kirkconnel, the heiress of the ancient

fandly of Kirkconnel, when the n.amc de Kirkconnel was

merged in that of JIaxwell, and the property went to their

descendants of that name. The date of tlio marriage is un-

known, but it may have taken place before the year 1410.

On 11th July 1448, there was a perambulation (jf the

nuu'clies of Little Airds, belonging to the abbey of Sweet-

heart, and Meikle Airds, belonging to Kii kconnel, to which

.'\ymer de Maxwell was a party. (^Original Papers and

JJeeds ai KirJcconnel.') On 20tli JLireh 14oG, Aymer de

Maxwell and Ja.net de Kirkconnel, his spouse, had a ch.arter

of resiginition and contirmation of their lands of Kirkconnel,

in the stewartry of Kirkcudbright. On IStli November 1461,

Avmer de JIaxwcI! of Kirkconnel, superior of the estate of

Kelton, which probably was his own, .and not acquired by his

wife, granted a ten to George Neilson of part thei eof.

Aymer's son, Herbert -Maxwell of Kiikconnel, succeeded

him. He left two sons, and probably others.

'I'he elder son, whose Christian name is not known, is sup-

posed to have predeceased his father. His brother's nam.e

was John. The former had a daughter, Elizabeth, who snc-

ceeded her grandfather, and another daughter, probably

named Agnes .Maxwell.

l^lizabcth JIaxwell of Kirkconnel had precept from the

Crown directing sasine to be given to her .as heir of the late

Herbert JIaxwell of Kirkconnel and Kelton, her grandfather,

in virtue whereof she was infeft in the lands of Kelton in the

sherifTdom of Dumfries on 5th November 1492. Among the

witnesses of the iufeitment were "John JLixwell, uncle of
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tlie s;iiJ Klizabetli, Harbert Jliixwell, son of the said John,"

&c. Dying without issue, Elizabeth was succeeded by her

nephew, Herbert.

Herbert Maxwell of Kirkconnel, under precept from the

crown, liad sasine given to liim, as " lieir of the late I^liza-

hclli Maxwell, his aunt," (aviincula—mother's sister,) of the

lands of Kirkconnel and Kelton, on 12th April 1495. All

accounts of the Kirkconnel and Maxwell families, and gene-

alogists generally, concur in stating that Thomas Maxwell,

2d son of Robert, 2d Lord Maxwell, married Agnes Max-

well, the heiress of Maxwell of Kirkconnel, and that from

them the present Kirkconnel family are descended. It is

more than probable that Elizabeth's married sister, whose

son Herbert succeeded his aunt, was the Agnes who became

the wife of the said Thomas Maxwell, probably between

1450 and 1470, and that it was tlieir son Herbert who was

heir to his aunt Elizabeth. This might be inferred from the

seal of Herbert attached to a charter granted by him on July

4, 1517, being a saltire, between two small chevrons. The

chevron being often used as a mark of cadency, {Nishet's

Ilerahlnj, vol. i. p. 151,) it would seem that the two chev-

rons were intended to show his descent from two cadets of

the Maxwell family
;
Aymer, who inarried Janet de Kirkcon-

nel, and Thomas, thought to have been the father of Her-

bert. As a follower of the chief of his name, Herbert M.ix-

well of Kirkconnel was present at the affray, on July 30,

15U8, on the sands of Dumfries, between John Lord Max-

well, and Lord Crichton of Sanquhar, and their respective

followers, when the latter nobleman was driven from the

town, and many of his friends shun. (Z?«?/o!(c's Annah,

1508.) For this and other lawless doings Herbert IMaxwell

received a general remission from the crown on 17th Octo-

ber the same year. He was twice married. By his first

wife, whose name is not ascertained, he had four sons : Ro-

bert, John, William, and Edward. His 2d wife was Euphe-

mia Lindsay, issue unknown. William, the third son, was

in the hou.'^ehold of Mary of Guise, and afterwards for a time

in a regiment of Scots men at arms in the serv'ice of the king

of France (il/<S^. on Scottish Guard History). On the IGtli

February. 1557, he had a grant of the lands of Little Airds.

His son, William, succeeded him in Little Airds. The latter

had a son, James, who wrote his Autobiography, and was

author also of several polemical works.

Herbert died before 28th Dec. 1548. His eldest son, Ro-

bert, on July 4, 1517, had a charter from his father of the

lands of Kelton. He married Janet Crichton, and on Aug-

ust 16, 1519, had a grant of Auclienfad. He predeceased

his father, leaving 2 sons, Herbert and John.

The elder son, Herbert Maxwell of Kirkconnel, liad sasine

in the lands of Kiikconnel and Kelton as heir to his grandfa-

ther, Dec. 28, 1548, and had chatter of Auchenfad, January

22, 1548-9. He married a Janet Maxwell, and had a son,

Bernard, and three daughters, Agties, Catherine, and Mar-

garet. He died before 1560.

Bernard Iilaxwell of Kirkconnel succeeded his father in his

mitiority. On jMay 6, 1571, with consent of his curators, he

executed a disposition of the lands of Kirkconnel and Kelton,

in favour of his uncle, John Masivp!], and his heirs male,

whom failing, to his owit heirs general, and reserving his

liferent, with power of redeinption, in the event of having

lieirs male himself, and the lands to be held of hitnself, for

£1,000 Scots, on which deed sasine was taken on the follow-

ing day
;

also, another deed of the same date, in nearly the

same terms, the lands to be held of the crown, on which sa-

sine was taken. He was alive and collecting the feu duties

of Airds in \hl'^ and 1577.

John Maxwell, tutor of Kirkconnel, during the minority

of Bernard, his nephew, was infeft, as above stated, in the

property, Slay 7, 1571. He died before his nephew, and be-

fore August 1573.

His son, John Maxwell of Kirkconnel, succeeded him, and

to his right to the estate in his minority, his tutors or cu-

rators being James Crichton of Carco and William Sumer-

ville, vicar of Kirkbean. On July 8, 1574, he w.as retoured

heir male to John JLixwell of Kirkconnel, his father, in the

lands of Kirkconnel, reserving the liferent therein of Bernard

Maxwell and of Janet Maxwell, relict of Herbert JIaxwell,

in a part thereof; in virtue whereof John JIaxwell was in-

feft therein, Oct. 8, 1574, Bernard Maxwell, the liferentcr,

being a witness to the infeftment. In April and Jlay, 1593,

he took part iti the slaughterings and feud between the Jlax-

wells and Johnstons. On Nov. 26, 1601, John Maxwell of

Kirkconnel and several others were sumiuoiied before the

privy council, for contravening the Acts of Parliament against

saying and hearing of mass, and entertaining priests, espe-

cially Dr. John Hamilton and Abbot Gilbert Brown, and

havitig children baptized by them (^Chambers' Domestic An-

nals, vol. i., pp. 358, 359). John Spottiswoode, archbishop

of Glasgow, having, with a party of soldiers, invaded New
Abbey, in search of priests, broke into the house of the exiled

abbot, Gilbert Brown, and plundered it of whatever savoured

of popery. The books found there were given into the care

of John Maxwell of Kirkcontiel, who afterwards, being un-

willing to part with them, was served with letters of horning

on ten days' charge, ordering him to deliver the same over to

Spottiswoode (^Original Letters as to Ecclesiastical Affairs,

Bannatyne Club, pp. 409-411). John Maxwell of Kirkcim-

nel died after June 29, 1614. He had five sons— 1. Herbert,

his successor. 2. John, of Whitehill and Jlillhill, supposed

to have been the father of John Maxwell of Barncleiigh, town-

clerk of Dumfries. 3. Jaiues. 4. Thomas. 5. George.

The eldest son, Herbert Maxwell of Kirkconnel, was esqitire

in ordinary to the body in the household of James VI., when

he succeeded to Kirkconnel. Preferring to continue his attend-

ance on royalty, the king granted him a pension for life of

£200 out of the escheats of Scotland. He received charter

of confirmation of the lands of Kirkconnel and others, Aug.

28, 1616, and was infeft therein 25th Sept. following. He
got into some dispute with James ilaxwell of Innerwick,

a lord of the bedchamber, afterw.ards earl of Dirlton, the son

of John JIaxwell of Kirkhonse. The dispute came before the

Court of Session, and four days after the hearing of the case

(March 11, 1G28), and as if at the instigation of his opponent,

Herbert JIaxwell of Kirkconnel, Charles Brown in New
Abbey, Barbara JLixwell, Lady Mabie, and others, were

charged by the privy council with contemning " excommuni-

cation and horning," persisting in " obdured and papish opi-

nions and errors," and visiting all parts of the country, " as

if they were free .and lawful subjects." Sir William Grierson

of Lag, and Sir John Charteris of Amisfield, were commis-

sioned to apprehend those thus denounced, as well as their " re-

setters," or hrnbourers. How it fared with Herbert jMaxwell

does not appear, but the commissioners were successful in

capturing in New Abbey Charles Brown of Clachan. and

Gilbert Browm of Shambellie (/Jomesiic Annals, \6\. ii. pp.

18 and 19); whereupon Janet Johnston of Newbie, Lady

Lochbill, spouse of John Brown, assembling the women of

the parish, attacked the minister and schoolmaster, their

wives and servants, with sticks and stones. For this ener-

getic defence of her faith Lady LochhiU was banished the

realm, under a pcn.alty of 1,000 merks if she dared to retm n.

1 Herbert Maxwell of Kirkconnel died in Oct. 1637, leaving
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issue—1. Jolin, liis successor. 2. KilwarJ. 3. Gcoi-f^e. 4.

Kobert. 5. Bnrbara (Lady Mabie, March ICi'J). G. Jla-

rion, and an illegitimate son, Herbert.

The eldest son, John Maxwell of KirkconncI, was retoured

lieir to liis father, Dec. 19, IGoSi, in the lands of Kirkconnel,

with salmon fishings in the water of Nith, &c., and bad

sasine therein, Jan. 31, 1039. James Maxwell of Innerwick

had received iVom Cliarles I. agift of the non-entry of the lands.

In lCi2, John Maxwell of Kirkconnel marripd Agnes, daughter

of Stephen Laurie of Maxwellton, and Jhuion Corsone, liis

spouse. John Maxwell of Kirkconnel got into difficulties

soon after Iiis marriage, but the estate was preserved by

the prudent management of his lady, liberally assisted by

Lady Maxwellton, her mother. He died in or before the

year 1C79, bis wife surviving him. They bad 4 sons and

3 daughters. 1. James. 2. William. 3. Herbert, a Jesuit

priest. 4. Stephen, a Jesuit priest, o. Kupbemia, 711. the

laird of Corboatb. 6. Marion. 7. Agnes, m. Ednnmd, eldest

son of William Brown of Nunton.

The eldest son, James JIaxwell of Kirkconnel, married, in

1C72, Klizabeth, only daughter of Alexander Durham of Ber-

wick, son of Sir John Durliam of Duntarvie and Lady j\Iar-

garet Abercromby, probably of BirI;enl)Og. Herbert i\Lax-

wcll, Jesuit priest, was, in Oct. 1G86, appointed chaplain to

the earl of Melfort, secretary of James VIL, and about the

same lime, liis brother, James JIaxwell of Kirkconnel, was

appointed one of the receivers -general of the Customs, &c.

(commission dated at Wliiteli.all, Oct. 22, 1G8G). When, on

Dec. 10, 1G87, King James, by bis royal writ, reduced the

number of the receivers-general from lour to two, be granted

to Kirkconnel the office of superintendent of the customs,

foreign excise, rents, casualties of niy.al property, and funds

allocated for tlie payment of fees and pensions. The salary

was at first X200 but afterwards £300 yearly. Tlio devo-

lution soon deprived Iiim of all place and pension. He died

in or before the year 1G99. He had 4 sons and 2 daughters,

viz,— 1. James, his successor. 2. William, who succeeded

James. 3. Alexander. 4. Stephen, Jesuit priest. 5. Agnes.

G. Elizabeth.

The eldest son, James Maxwell of Kirkconnel, was edu-

cated at Douay, and served heir general to his father Dec.

21, 1G99, liut never otherwise made up bis titles. The Lord

.\dvocato cited him and the earl of Nitlisdale to appear before

the Justiciary Court in Edinburgh, Feb. 2, 1704, to answer

for contravening the acts of parliament against hearing mass
and harbouring and concealing Jesuits and priests, and of

which "shaking off all fear of God," it was alleged, they

were guilty. This did not prevent liim from petitioning the

government, in that very year, for p.ayment of a balance due

to his father as receiver-genei al. The books of the kirk ses-

sion of New Abbey in 1705 stigmatised the i\Laxwells of Kirk-

connel as " a popish family," and warned Protestants not to

take domestic service with them. James Maxwell died,

without issue, about 1705.

His next brother, William Maxwell, succeeded to Kirk-

connel. Like James, ho was educated at Dou.ay, whence he

returned to Scotland in IGOG. In the inquest by tlie pres-

bytery into the number of papists in each parish in 1704,

William is mentioned as brother of the laird of Kirkconnel
Ho was served heir general to his brother James, Feb. 14,

1706, in which year he was called on as an heritor to p.ay liis

proportion of £137 Gs. Scots money for building of the manse
of Troqueer. He married, April 29, 1706, Janet, eldest

daughter of George Maxwell of Carnsallocb, widow of Colonel

John Douglas of Stenbouse, and eventu.ally heiress of Carn-
sallocb, under the disposition and deed of entail executed bv

I

James Ma.xwell of Carnsalloch, lier brother, March 11,

1745. On Jlay G, 1708, William JLaxwell executed a dis-
|

position, settling the succession to his estates. On June 15,

1733, be agreed to dispone heritably to \\'illiam and Robert

Birnio 3 merklands of the 12 merklands of Kelton, James
Maxwell of Barncleugh, as next Protestant heir to Kirkcon-

nel, giving his assent thereto, which was probably considered

necessary by the purchasers, owing to the penal laws then

in force against Homan Catholics. John JIaxwell of

Barncleugh, and Margaret Young, bis spouse, the father

and mother of tlie James JIaxwell here mentioned, are both

entered as " papists " in the lists made out for the privv

council ill 1704. William Maxwell of Kirkconnel died April

13, 1746. John liigg, sometime tenant in Jleikle Knox, and
j

formerly in Towiibcad, near Kirkconnel, used to relate that

when James JIaxwell, his son and heir, went off in 1745 to
}

join Prince Charles, tlie old man, his father, rejoiced, saying
[

that bis son was going in a good cause, and that if be lost his ',

11113 it would be well spent. He had issue— 1. Klizabeth,
|

married, before 1780, to William JIaxwell of i\Iunclies. 2.
j

James, his successor. 3. Agnes. 4. Janet. ,5. JIarv. G.
,

George, Jesuit priest. 7. JIarg.aret. 8. William, Jesuit priest.
[

9. JIarion, m.irried John Menzies of Pitfoddels. 10. Halbert.
'

The eldest .son, James JIaxwell of Kirkconnel, connnenccd ',

grammar at Douay college, August 21, 1721, and was dis-

tinguished as a student of great genius .and persevering dili-

gence. After concluding liis course of philosophy, be re-
j

turned to Scotland in 1728. In 1745, James JIaxwell, then

younger of Kirkconnel, took part in the insurrection, and be-
|

came an officer in the Pretender's service, and of such rank
j

as to have had access to know the most material things that I

were transacted in the council, though not a member of it."
|

He w.as, moreover, an " eyewitness of the greatest part of what

Iiappened in the field." After the b.attle of Cullodcn he

escaped to France, and while residing at St. Germains for

several years, drew up a "Narrative of Charles, Prince of

Wales' Expedition to Scotland in the year 1745" (printed by

the JIaitland Club, 1841), wliich he evidently intended for

publication. While he thus resided abroad, his mother, Janet

JIaxwell of Carns.alloch, managed the Kirkconnel estate to

the best advantage, and protected her son's interests as far

as in her power. In June 1746, the whole troop horses of

St. George's regiment of dragoons were put into the Kirkcon-

nel policies, besides 40 or 50 galloways belonging to the ofii- I

cers or soldiers; and the tacksmen petitioned Lieuteiiant-

General Bland, commander-in-chief in Scotland, for compen-

sation in consequence. In 1750, James Maxwell of Kirkconnel

ventured to return to Scotland, and built, with bricks made

on the property, the modern portion of the fiont of Kirkcon-

nel-house. He sold the estate of Carnsalloch, derived from

his mother (who died in 1755), to Jlr. Alexander .Johnston.
j

merchant in London, ancestor of JI.njor-General Johnston of
:

Carnsalloch (1862), and purcluased the estate of JIabie. He !

was a witness in 1755 to the marriage of his sister Jl.arion
j

with John Jlenzies of Pitfoddels. In 1758 he married JIary,

youngest daughter of Thomas Piiddell of Swinburne Castle.
'

He died July 23, 1762, .aged 54 years. "His Narrative," the

JIaitland Club editor says, "is composed with a remarkable '

degree of precision and taste, inasmuch as r.ather to appear ^

the production of a practised litterateur than the work of a i

private gentleman who merely aimed at giving memoranda
j

of a series of reniaik.able events which he had chanced to wit- 1

ness." He left 3 sons—1. James. 2. William. 3. Thomas,
'

who died June 1, 1792. The two younger sons were edu-

cated at the New College of the Jesuits at Dinant, in France,

arriving there Sept. 3, 1771. During bis attendance at the '
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medical schools in France, WiH'nini, the 2(1 son, imbibed tlie

French revolutionary ideas of the time, and was o;ie of the na-

tional guards present at the execution of I.onis XVI., Jan.

21, 1793. lie afterwards settled as a physician in Dumfries,

and was for many years one of the most eminent in Scotland

of his profession. lie died at Edinburgh, at the house of his

relative, John Jlenzies of Titfoddels, Oct. 13, 1834. •

Tlie eldest son, James JIaxwell of Kirkconnel, when very

young, was, Nov. 16, 1764, seiTed heir in special to liis fa-

tlier, and infeft, under a precept from the crown, April 19,

17G5, in tlie lands and barony of Kirkconnel. He was twice

married, 1st, to Clementina Eliz;ibeth Frances, daughter of Si-

mon Scroope of Danby, Yorkshire, without issue; and, 2dl3',

to Dorothy, daughter of William William, ICsq., solicitor of

Gray's Inn, London, grandson of William Witham of Cliffe,

Yorkshire, the marriage contract signed Aug. 29, 1817. He
died Feb. 6, 1827, leaving an only dangbter, Dorothy JIary

Maxwell.

This lady, heiress of Kirkconnel, was on July 27, 1827,

served as nearest and lawf'nl lieir of tailzie and provision of

the deceased James Maxwell of Kirkconnel, lier father. She

mank'd at Southampton, April 17, 1844, her cousin, Robert

Sliawe James Witham, eldest surviving son of William Wi-

tham, solicitor. Gray's Inn, London, and gi-eat-grandson of

Willi.im Witham, Fsq. of Cliffe, York.sliire. The Witham

pedigree is given in BurKe's Commoners of England, vol. ii.

p. 0. This gentleman, as Robert JIaxwell Witham, was,

with his spouse, duly infeft, under a precept of sasine, dated

Oct. 29, 1846, contained in a charter of liesignation granted

by the crown, in the lands, barony, and lishings of Kirkcon-

nel, to be holden by them of the crown, in conjunct fee and

liferent, and to the heirs of the marriage. The sasine was

registered at Edinburgh, Nov. 16, 1846. They had also sa-

sine of the lands of Gillfoot, recorded Feb. 11, 1852. They

had G sons and 3 daughters. 1. James Robert, died, an in-

fant, jSIay 5, 1845. 2. Frances Mary. 3. and 4. James and

Thomas, twins. 5. William Herbert. 6. Janet, died, an

infant, Jlay 13, 1853. 7. JIaud. 8. Robert Bernard. 9.

Aynier Richard.

The JIaxwells of Brediland are a branch of the ancient

family of the JIaxwells of Cavhiverock. Crawford, in his

History of Renfrewshire, says, "A little towards the north of

the castle of Staiiiley lie the house and lands of Brediland,

which have been possessed by the JIaxwells of this race

for upwards of two hundred years. Their original cli.arter,

which I have seen, is granted by Robert, abbot of Paisley,

to Tliom.is Jlaxwell, designed son of Artlumr JIaxwell, an-

no 1488, in the reign of James lY., of whom John Maxwell,

now of Dredil.iiid, is the lineal heir." This family has fur-

nished some considerable cadets, as the Maxwells of Castle-

liead, the Maxwells of Merkswortli, and the Maxwells of

Dalswinton.

Gavin Maxwell of Castleliead, the son of Hugh Maxwell of

Brediland, married Janet, a daughter of Cochran of Clip-

pens, a cadet of the family of Duiulonald. Of this family the

second son (on the failure of the eldesl) succeeded to Bredi-

land, which estate is now in that line.

The third son was James Maxwell of Jlciksworth. He

married Janet Leckie, of Croy I.eckie, who (through Wil-

liam Campbell of Glenfallflcb) was lineally descended from

Archibald, 2d earl of Argyll, and from John, 4th carl of

Athole. He had a son, Charles, and a daughter, Ann. The

son married Anna JIaxwell, the heiress of Wiiliainwood.

She was lineally descended from James Maxwell of William-

wood, whose sufferings in the cause of the Reformation are

so fully and graphically described by Wodrow in his His-
|

tory of the Church. She sold the estate of Wiiliainwood

in 1812, and, on her death in 1815, she was succeeded in
j

the representation of both the families of Williamwood and
\

Merkswortli by her next sister, Janet, who married James '

Graham, Esq., merchant, Glasgow, and the two families
|

came thus to be represented by her eldest son, .lames Max-
|

well-Grabain, Esq. On liis death the estate of Jlerksworth i

was inherited by his eldest sister, Agnes, whose daughter
1

(by her m.arriage with James Smith, Esq of Ci-aigend) mar-

ried David Stuart, 8th, properly 13lli, earl of Buchan.

Ami, the daughter of James JIaxwell of Merkswortli,

married James Black, Esq. of Paisley, the father of the late

Jlr. Black of Clairmont. near Glasgow, and of others of that

name in Glasgow. (See Leckiis, surname.)

IMAXWELL, Sir Murray, a gallant tiiul dis-

tinguished naval officer, was the son of Alexander

ilaxwcll, Esq., merchant in Leith, and gi-andson

of Sir "William Maxwell, baronet, of Calderwood.

lie commenced his career at sea under the aus-

pices of Admiral Sir Samuel Hood, and in 1796

was appointed a lieutenant. He obtained his

commission as post-captain in 1803, when he be-

came commander of the Centaur, a third-rate.

After serving with distinction in the West Indies,

and in the expedition against Surinam, he ex-

changed, in the summer of 1805, to the Galatea

frigate ; and was next nominated to tiie Alceste,

46, in which, -with two otlier ships under his or-

ders, he greatly signalized himself in an attack

on a Siianish fleet near Cadiz. In the spring of

1811, when cruising on the coast of Istria, he as-

sisted in the destruction of a French 18-gun brig,

in the harbour of Parenza; and towards the close

of the same year, after an engagement of two

hours and twenty minutes, he captured the French

frigate La Pomone, of 44 guns and 322 men. In

October 1815, Captain Maxwell, at the particular

request of Lord Amherst, who was then about to

proceed on his celebrated embassy to China, was

appointed to convey him in the Alceste, which

sailed from Spitliead February 9, 181G, and land-

ed his lordship at the mouth of the Peilio river,

on the 9th of August. During Lord Araliei'st's

absence at Peldu, the Alceste, accompanied by

the Lyra brig and General Hewitt, East India-

man, was employed in a survey of the coasts, in

the course of which cruise considerable accessions

were made to the knowledge of the hydrographer.

Captain Basil Hall, who commanded tlie Lyra,

published, on his return to England, a very inter-

esting narrative of the 'Voyage to Corea and
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j

the Island of Loo Clioo,' dedicating tlic volume to

Sir Murray Maxwell, "to whose ability in con-

ducting the voyage, zeal in giving encouragement

to every inquiry, sagacity in discovering the dis-

position of the natives, and address in gaining

their confidence and good-will," he attributes

I

whatever may be found interesting in his pages.

From this survey Captain iMaxwell returned at

the beginning of November, and immediatelj' ap-

plied to the Chinese authorities for a pass for the

Alceste to proceed up the Tigris, to undergo some

needful repairs. His request was treated with

evasion and delay, and on his attempt to sail

without the requisite permission, an inferior

I

mandarin went on board, and desired the ship

' to be brought to anchor, or the batteries would

fire and sink her. Instead of complying with

this insolent demand, Claptain Ma.xwell at once

detained the mandarin as his prisoner, and

issued orders that the Alceste should be steered

' under the principal fort of the Bocca. On her

!
approach, the batteries, and about eighteen war-

j

junks, opened upon her a heavy, though ill-direct-

i ed lire ; but the return of a single shot silenced

' the flotilla, and one determined broadside put an

I

end to the ineflcctual attack from the batteries,

j

Tiio Alceste proceeded without farther molesta-

j

tion to Whanijioa, Avliere she remained until the

return of Lord Amherst in January 1817. In

I

consequence of Captain Maxwell's si)iriled con-

duct, it was publicly announced by the Chinese,

[

Avitli their usual dissimulation, that the affair at

I the Bocca Tigris was nothing more than a friend-

[

ly salute

!

I

On her homeward bound voyage, the Alceste

j

had proceeded as far as the Straits of Caspar,

i

when, on the 18th February, she struck on a

i

sunken and unknown rock, three miles distant

I

from I'ulo Beat. A landing having been eflectcd

on that barren island. Lord Andicrst and his suite

i

proceeded in the barge and cutter to Batavia, a

j

distance of 200 miles ; and after a passage of four

i nights and three days, in Avhich they sufTered

much from the scarcity of water and provisions,

they happily arrived at their destination. The

Company's cruiser Ternate was immediately dis-

I

patched to Captain Maxwell, and those who re-

;
maiued with him ; but in consequence of contrary

currents, she did not arrive for a fortnight. Their

situation in the nieautime hud attracted the notice I

of the Mahn' proas, or ])irate boats, who had
j

obliged Lieutenant Ilinckman and his detachment
|

to quit the wreck, which the}' had burnt to the I

waters edge. These boats having increased to ;

about sixt}' in number, each containing from
|

eight to twelve men, conii)letely blockaded the
|

shipwrecked crew ; but on the approach of the
!

Ternate they speedily disappeared. For some

days Captain Maxwell had been actively emi)loy-

ed in fortifying a hill, and providing his party
j

with ammunition; and so well prepared were they !

for an attack, that at length thev rather wished

than dreaded it. Mi: Ellis, the thii'd commissioner '

of the embassy, who had returned from Batavia in

the Ternate, in his published 'Journal,' says,

"My expectations of the security of the position

were more than realized when I ascended the hill ; !

and man}' an assailant must have fallen before an
!

entrance could have been effected. Particiiiation
]

of jirivation, and equal distribution of comfort,

had lightened the weight of sufleriug to all : and

I found the universal sentiment to be, an enthu-

siastic admiration of the temper, energy, and ar-

rangements of Captain iMaxwell."

On his return to England he was tried by a

court-martial at rortsmouth in August 1817, for the

loss of the Alceste, but was most honourably ac-

(juitted, the court at the same time declaring that

" his coolness, self-collection, and exertions, were

highly conspicuous." He received the honour of

knighthood May 27, 1818; and May 20, 1819, he

was presented by the East India Company with

the sum of £1,500 for the services rendered by

him to the embassy, and as a remuneration for

the loss he had sustained on his return from Chi-

na. He was appointed to the Bulwark', a thiixl-

rate, in June 1821, was removed to the Briton

frigate, November 28, 1822, and was afterwards

employed on the South American station. In

May 1831 he was appointed lieutenant-governor

of Frince Edward's Island, and \\ as prejiaring for

his departure, when he died, after a sliort illness,

June 2G of that year.

His portrait, which furmcd the frontispiece to

one of the volumes of the once celebrated Percy
i

Anecdotes, is given on the following page :
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I

MAYNE, John, author of 'The Siller Gun,'

!
and otlier poems, was born in Dumfries, 2Gtli

!
Mardi 1759, and received his education at tlic

Grammar scliool of tliat town, under the learned

Dr. Chapman, whose memory he has eulogised in

the tliird canto of his principal poem. On

leaving school, he was sent at an early age

to learn the business of a printer, and was for

some time in the office of the Dumfries Jour-

nal. He afterwards removed to Glasgow, with

his father's family, who went to reside on a pro-

I

pcrty they had acquired at the head of the Green,

near that cit3^ While yet a mere youth, " ere

care was boni," he began to court the muses, and

he had earned a poetical reputation before the

j

publication of the poems of Burns, who, to a little

! piece of Mayne's, entitled ' Ilallow-een,' is under-

stood to have been indebted for the subject of his

inimitable poem under the same name.

In 1777 the original of ' The Siller Gun' was

written, with the object of describing the celebra-

tion of an ancient custom, revived in that year, of

shooting for a small silver gun at Dumfries on the

king's birth- daJ^ The poeni consisted at first of

only twelve stanzas, printed at Dumfries on a

small quarto page. It was shortly after extended

to two cantos, and tlien to three, and became so

popular that it was several times reprinted. In

1808 it was published in four cantos, with notes

and a glossary. Another elegant edition, enlarged

to five cantos, was published by subscription in

1836. It exhibits many exquisitely painted scenes

and sketches of character, drawn from life, and

described M'itli the ease and vigour of a true pact.

For some time after its first publication, Mr.

Mayne contributed various pieces to Ruddiman's

AVeekly Llagazine, among the chief of which was

his ' Hallow-een.' He also exchanged verses in

print with Telford, the celebrated engineer, like

himself a native of Dumfries, -wJio, iu his youth,

was much attached to the rustic muse.

While he resided at Glasgow, he passed through

a regular term of service with the Messrs. Foulis,

the printers, of the Glasgow University press,

with whom he remained from 1782 to 1787 ; on

the expiry of which he proceeded to London,

where he was for many years the printer, editor,

and joint proprietor of the Star evening paper, in

which not a few of his beautiful ballads were first

published. He also contributed lyrical pieces to

various of the Magazines, particularly to the Gen-

tleman's ]\[agazine, from 1807 to 1817. His onlj'

other poem of any length is one of considerable

merit, entitled ' Glasgow,' illustrated with notes,

which appeared in 1803, and has gone through

several editions. In the same year he printed

' English, Scots, and Irishmen,' a patriotic ad-

dress to the inhabitants of the united kingdom.

He excelled principall}' in ballad poetrj', and his

' Logan Braes,' and ' Helen of Kirkconnell Lea,'

are inferior to no poems of their kind in the lan-

guage. In private life Mr. Majme was very un-

assuming. Allan Cunningliam says of him, that

" a better or warmer-hearted man never existed."

He died at London, at an advanced age, March

14, 1836. He left a son, W. H. Mayne, M'ho

held an official situation in the India house.

Melfort, earl of, a title in the Scottish peerage, conferred

in 1686, on tlio Hon. John Drnmniond, second son of tlie

third earl of Perth. In 1680 he had been appointed general

of the ordnance, and deputy govcrnov of Edinburgh castle, in

1G82 treasurer depute, and in September 1684 one of tlie

principal secretaries of state for Scotland, an oiBoe wliich he

held during the last persecuting years of the Stuarts. On
the accession of James VII., he was, 14th April 1685, cre-

ated viscount of Melfort in Argylcshire, part, of the forfeited
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estate of the earl of Argyle, with tlie secondary title of Lord

Drummond of Gilstoun. He had married, first, SOtli April,

1G70, Sophia, daughter and heiress of Margaret Limdin of

Lundiii, Fifeshire, by the Hon. Robert Jlaithind, brother of

the duke of Lauderdale, and by her had three sons and three

danghters. He married, secondly, Eupheniia, daughter of

Sir Thomas Wallace of Craigie, a lord of session and lord-

justice-clcrk, and by her had si.K sons and live daughters.

He was created earl of Mclfort, vi.scount of Forth, Lord

Drummond of Rickortoun, Castlemains, and Gilstoun, 12th

August 168G, the patents of his honours being taken to liini

and the heirs male of his body of his second marriage, which

failing, to the heirs male whatever of Ids body. The reason

of the issue of his first marriage being thus passed over was

tliat he was frustrated by the Lundin family, who were zeal-

ous protcstants, in liis attempt to educate liis sons by tliat

marriage in the Romish faitli, to which he had become ,i

convert.

On tlie revival of the order of the Thistle in 1G87, Lord

Mclfort was constituted one of tlie knights companions

thereof. At the Revolution he repaired to the abdicated

king in France, and in 1G90 attended him to Ireland. By

the fallen monarch lie was invested with the order of the

Garter. Not returning to Scothuid within tlie time limited

by law, he was outlawed by the high court of justiciary, 23d

.July, 1G94, and attainted by act of parliament, 2d July 1695.

A special clause, however, provided tliat bis forfeiture should

in noways afiect or taint the blood of the children of his first

marriage with Sophia Lundin. He was created duke de

Mclfort and count de Lussan in France in 1701, and had the

chief administration at St. Germains for several years. He

died there in January 1714. His second wife lived to be

above 90 years of .age, and supported herself in her latter

years by keeping one of the two faro tables authorized by

i.ouis XIV.

The eldest son of the second marriage, John, second duke

of Jlelfort, died in 1752. Thomas, the second son, an officer

in the service of Charles VI., emperor of Germany, died

anmarried, in 1715 ; William, the third son, abbe-prirol of

Liege, died in Spain in 1742
;
Andrew, the fourth son, a col-

onel of horse in the French service, married a lady named

Magdalene Silvia de St. Ilermione, described as a lieutenant-

general in the French army. {^Doiirjlas' Peerage, vol. i. p.

221, Wood's edition.) By her he had a son, designed Count

de Mclfort, a m.ajor-gencral in the same service. The si.xth

son, Philip, also an ofiicerin the Frencli army, died of wounds

received in the wars of Louis XIV.

The second duke of Melfort married tlie widow of Henry

Fit7jaines, duke of Albemarle, natural son of James VII.,

and had three sons: Thomas, his heir; Lewis, major-general

in the French service and colonel of the regiment of royal

Scots, on the reduction of which corps he got a pension from

the court of France; and John, lieutenant of the guards of

the king of Poland, elector of Saxony, with the rank of ma-

jor-general.

Thomas, the eldest son, third duke of Melfort, had a con-

siderable estate in Lower Languedoc. By a lady of the name

of iMaiy de Berenger, he had four sons and two daughters,

but he seems not to have married her till after some of them

were born. In 1805, Charles Edward Drummond, styling

himself duke of Melfort, the second but eldest surviving son,

entered a claim for the estate of Perth. He stated liimself

to have been born 1st January 1752, although his father was

not married to M.ary de Berenger till 2Gth July 1755. His

youngest brother, Leon Maurice Drummond, residing in Lon-

don, fourth son of the third duke, took a protest that he was

great-grandson and lawful heir of John duke of Jlelfort. He

married Luce Elizabeth de Longuemarre, and with two daugh-

ters h.ad a son, George, born in London, Cth Jlay 1807.

This George, duke of Melfort, succeeded his uncle in the

French honours in 1840, and in 1841 petitioned the queen

for the restoration of the Scottisli attainted titles of Perth.

In 1848 he proved his descent before the committee of privi-

leges of the house of lords, and was restcu'cd in blood by act

of parliament in 1853. The same year he was re-invested in

the e.arldoin of Perth. (See Pkiitu, earl of.)

MELGUir, viscount of, a title, now extinct, in the peerage

of Scotland, conferred on Lord John Gordon, second son of

the first marquis of Huntly, by Charles I. in 1G27, with the

secondary title of Lord Aboyne. He was burnt to death in

the castle of Frendraught, 18th October, 1630 (see vol. ii. p.

271). He had married Lady Sophia Hay, fifth daughter ot

Francis, ninth earl of Erro), and had an only daughter. The

ballad called ' The Burning of Frendraught,' thus describes

her anguish on receiving, by his servant, the intelligence of

her lord's fate

:

" 0 w.ae be to you, George Gordon
;

An ill death may you dee,

Sae safe and sound as ye stand there.

And my lord bereaved from me.

' I bade him loup, I b.ade him come,

I bade him loup to me

;

I'd catch him in my armis two,

A foot I should not flee.

He threw me rings from his white fingers.

Which were so long and small,

To give to you his lady fair.

Where you sat in your IialL'

Sophia Hay, Sophia Hay,

O bomiie Sophie was her name

;

Iler waiting maid put on her clothes,

But I wat she tore them oft" again."

The courtesy title of Viscount Melgum is held by the eld-

est son of the earl of Minto, a peerage of the united kingdom,

of the creation of 1813, (sec vol. ii. p. 132).

Mki.rosk, earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred, 20th March 1G19, on Sir Tliomas Hamilton of Drum-

cairn, an eminent advocate and lord of session. After hold-

ing it for eight years he exchanged it for that of earl of

Haddington, (see vol. ii. p. 394). Baron Jlelros, in the peer-

age of the united kingdom, is the title by which the earls of

Haddington have sat in the house of lords since 1827.

j\Ii;LViLi,E, a surname of .ancient standing in Scotland,

derived from lands of that name in Mid Lothian. Before tlie

middle of the 12th century, a baron of Anglo-Norman lino-

age, n.amed iMale, settled, under David I., on the lands refer-

red to, and called liis manor, after himself, JIaleville,

whence the surname of Melville. Galfrid de Maleville, the

first of the family, was vicecomes of Edinburgh castle under

iMalcoIm IV., and justiciary under William the Lion. The

family remained in possession of their ancient manor

till the reign of Robert II. The original stock then

terminating in an heiress, Agnes, she married Sir .John

Ross of Halkhead, and their descendant was, hy James
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IV., created Loid Kor.s, in wliose fiimily the barony of Jlel-

ville remained till J 705.

MfiLViLLE, earl of, a title in tlie pecrat;e of Scotland, con-

joined since 1704 with that of earl of Leven, and conferred,

in 1G90, on George, fourtli Lord Melville, descended from Sir

John de Melville of Railh, in Fife, who swore fealty to Ed-

ward I. in 129G. Sir John Melville of Raith, the niiitli in

descent from this baron, was a favourite with James V., hy

whom he was appointed master-general of the ordnance and

captain of the castle of Dunbar. In 153G, and again in 1542,

he obtained charters to himself and Helen Napier his wife, of

the king's lands of Murdocairnie in Fife. He early joined the

party of the Reformation in Scotland, and after suffering

from the animosity of Cardinal Bcthune, at length fell a vic-

tim to his successor in the primacy, Archbishop Hamilton.

In 1550 he was tried for high treason, and executed. Cal-

derwood (^flist. of Kivk nf Scotland, p. 2G2) says, "Johne

Jlelville, laird of Railh iu Fife, an aged man, and of great

accompt with King James the Fyft, was beheaded for writing

a letter to an Englishman, in favour of a captive, his friend,

with whome he was keeped as prisoner. Although there was

not the least suspicioun of anie fault, yitt lost he his head,

becaus he was knowno to be one that unfainedlie favoured

the trutlie, and was a great friend to those that were in the

castle of Sanct Andrews, (the conspirators against Cardinal

Bethune). The letter, as was alledged, was found in the

house of Ormiston. Howsoever it was, the cruel beasts, the

bishop of Sanct Andrews and the abbot of Dunfermline,

ceased not till his head was strickin frome him. They were

I

not content of his death, till he was forfaulted also, and his

1

patrimonie bestowed upon Hamiltoun, the governor's young-

est son." With a daughter, Janet, married to Sir James

Kirkaldy of Grange, kniglit, he had si.K sons, five of whom

were eminent during the reign of Queen Mary and the regen-

cies which followed her resignation of the crown.

The eldest son, John Melville of Raith, was restored to his

father's estate by the queen regent .about 1553, at the special

request of Henry II. of France. He was one of the barons

who, in July 15G7, subscribed the articles passed in the Gen-

eral Assembly for the support of the Reformed religion and

the putting down of popery. The second son, Sir Robert

Melville of Murdocairnie, was the first Lord Melville, of whom

afterwards. Of Sir James Melville of Hallhill, the thii d son,

an eminent courtier and statesman, a memoir is subsequently

given in larger type. William Melville, the fourth son, com-

mendator of Tongland and Kilwinning, was appointed an or-

dinary lord of session, 14th August, 1587, when he took the

title of Lord Tongland. Soon after, he was sent by James

VI. to the court of Navarre, to see and report upon the prin-

cess, as a wife for the king, and returned with a portrait of

the lady, and " a good report of her rare qualities." The

marriage, however, did not take place. He was frequently

employed as one of the lords commissioners for opening the

Soots parliament, and is supposed to Ilivc died in the autumn

of 1613. He is said, by his brother, in his Memoirs (p. 3G5),

to have been a good scholar, and to have been able to speak

perfectly "the Latin, the Dutche, the Flemyn, and the

Frenche tongue." Sir Andrew Melville of Garvock, the filth

son, was master of the household to Queen Mary, and at-

tended her in her last moments at Fotheringay. He was

also master of the household to James VI. David Melville

of Newmill, the sixth son, was a capt.ain in tlie .army.

To return to the second son, Sir Robert Melville, first Lord

I

Melville,—he was a very eminent character during the reigns

j
of Marv and James. Having gone .abroad in his youth, he

was much noticed at the court of France, and obtained an

honourable employment under Hemy 11. In 1559 he re-

turned to Scotland, and was sent to England with Maitland

of Lethhigton, to solicit the .assistance of Queen Elizabeth for

the lords cf the congregation. In 1562 he was sworn a privv

councillor. After the " Chase-about Raid," in 1665, he was
employed by the earl of Moray, one of the principal nobles

who opposed Mary's mani.age to Darnley, to intercede for his

pardon with the queen. Shortly after he was sent to Eng-
land as amb.issador, and on his return he skilfully unravelled

to his mistress the crooked policy of Eliz.-ibeth and her mini-

sters. {MelnUe's Memoirs.) After the assassination of

Damley he w.as reappointed .ambass.ador to England, and
again after the marriage of Mary to Bothwell.

When Mary was confined in Lochleven castle, he was sent

to her by the e.irl of Athole and the lairds of Tullibardin .and

Lethington, her principal councillors, with a ring which she

knew to be theirs, advising her to subscribe the resignation

of the crown, as it would be held null, being extorted from

her by fears of her life. He also conveyed to her a writing

from Sir Nicholas Tlirogmorton, the English ambassador, de-

siring her to subscribe whatever they required, as what she

signed in her captivity could not be held valid, and assuring

her of Queen Elizabeth's protection. This afterwards formed

the chief ground of Mary's ill-founded reliance on her con-

sin's promises. On Mary's escape from Lochleven he joined

her at Hamilton, and publicly avowed the restraint under

which she had acted in resigning the crown.

In the civil war which followed the assassination of the re-

gent Jlor.ay, he adliei'cd to the queen's party, and with Kirk-

.aldy of Grange and JIaitland of Lethington held out the

castle of Edinburgh till its smrender iu 1573. He would

have shared the fate of Kirkaldy but for the intercession of

Killigrew, the English ambassador. During the remainder of

the earl of Jlorton's regency, he appears to have lived in re-

tirement, and in 1579 the benefit of the pacification of Perth

was extended to him.

In August 1582, he was appointed treasurer-depute, and

in October of the same year knighted. In December 1586,

he was sent by James VI., with the master of Gray, to Eng-
land to entreat Queen Elizabeth for his mother's life. This

duty he performed with fidelity and zeal. According to his

brother's account, "he spak brave and stout language to the

consaill of England, sa that thequen herself hoisted him of his

lyf
;"' and he would have been afterwards detained prisoner,

but for the interest of the master of Gray. (^Melville's Me-
moirs, p. 357.) In 1589, when James sailed for Norway, to

bring over his queen. Sir Robert Melville was made vice-

chancellor of the kingdom, and he received the grateful

thanks of his m.-ijesty, on his return, for the w.ay in which he

had managed matters in his absence. On 7th June 1593, he

was again sent ambassador to England. On 11th June 1594,

he was admitted an extraordinary lord of session, and took

his seat on the bench as Lord i\Iurdocairnie. Tiie king's

letter of nomination states that his m.ajesty had " experience

of the faithful sendee done to us at all tymes" by Sir Robert,

" and how willing he is to discharge his dewtie therein to our

honour and wiell of our realm and lieges thereof." (Boohs of

Sederunt.) He resigned his office of treasurer-depute in Jan-

uary 159G, in consequence of the appointment of the Octavi-

ans, as the eight connnissioners of the treasury were called,

at which time the king was largely in his debt. In 1597, an

act was passed by which his m.ajest}', with advice of the

Estates, promised to pay the balance due, .and prohibited any

diligence being executed at the instance of his creditors

against him, until he should be so paid. (.4fi. Pari. vol. iv.
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p. 147.) On 2Cth I'Vuruary ICOl, he resigned his sc.it on

tlie bench in favour of liis son, and in 1C04 lie was ajipointcd

one of tlie conunissioners for tlie pvojorted union between the

two kingdoms. He was raised to tlie peerage by the title of

Lord Melville of Jlonimail, 30tli April 1616, and died in

1621, at the advanced age of 94.

His only son, Robert, second Lord Melvilh', was a privy

councillor to King James, by wliom lie was knighted, and in

Febiiia'y 1601, on the resignation of his father, he was ap-

pointed an extraordinary lord of session, by the title of Lord

Burntishmd. He was removed in February 1626, when an

entire change of the extraordinary lords took place. He was

also a privy councillor to Charles L, and one of the royal

j

commissioners to open the parliament of Scotland, 18lh June

I

1631). In that assembly he energetically, though unsneeess-

j

fully, opposed the act I'or conferring on the king the power

of regulating ecclesiastical habits, and addressing the king,

then present, he exclaimed aloud, " I have sworn with your

! father and the whole kingdom to the Confession of Taith, in

which the innovations intended by these articles were so-

lemnly abjured." He died at Edinburgh, without issue, 9th

March 1633, and was succeeded by his cons'n, .Tohn Jlelville

of I!aith, third Lord Melville, whose brother, Tliniiias Mel-

ville, acquired from him the lands of Murdocairnie, and was

ancestor of the Melvilles of Jlurdocairiiie.

The third Lord Melville died in 1643. His elder sou

I George, fourth lord, and first earl of Melville, in consequence

of his known liberal principles, found it necessary to retire to

the continent on the detection of the Ryehouse plot in 16S3,

although he had no connexion with that conspiracy. In

June 1685, he accomjianied the duke of Monmouth when he

landed at Lyme from Holland, and on the failure of his at-

tempt to overturn the government of his uncle James VII.,

Lord Melville again escaped to the continent. His estates

were forfeited by act of attainder the same year.

In 1G8S he came over to England with William, prince of

Orange, and, immediately after, his forfeiture was rescinded.

On 8th April 1690, he was created earl of Jlelville, viscount

of Kirkcaldy, Lord Rait.li, Monimail, and Balwearie. Tlie

same year he was appointed sole Kecretary of state for Scot-

land, and con.stituted high commissioner to the Scots parlia-

ment. As high commissioner also to the parliament which

met in September following, he gave the royal assent to the

act for .abolishing patronage. In 1G91 he resigned the office

of secretary of state, and was appointed keeper of the privy

seal, an ofHce which he held till 169C, when he became presi-

dent of the council. He died in 1707. By his countess,

Catherine, daughter of Alexander, Lord Balgonie, son of the

renowned military commander, Alexander Leslie, first carl of

Leven, he had three sons and one daughter. His eldest son,

Alexander, Lord Raith, a nobleman of considerable talent,

was appointed treasurer depute of Scotland in 1689, and died,

without issue, before his father in 1698.

The second son, David, second earl of Jlelviile, succeeded,

on the death of his mother in 1713, to the earldom of Leven.

(See Lkvkx, carl of.) The titles were thenceforth conjoined.

MKl.viLr.K, viscount of, a title in the peerage of tlie united

kingdom, conferred, with the secondary title of baron Dnnira,

in the county of Rerth, December 21st, 1802, on the Right

Hon. Henry Dimdas, a distinguished statesman, a memoir of

whom is given at vol. ii. page 97. By his first wife, Eliza-

beth, daughter of David Rennie, Esq., who h.ad purchased

Melville Castle, Mid Lothian, which he bestowed, with his

daughter, on his son-in-law, he had one son and three daugh-

ters. A second marriage was without issue.

His son, Robert, second Vi.scount Melville, was born in 1771,

He was educated at the High school of Ediiibuigli, and Em-
manuel College, Cambridge. One of his school companions

at the former was Sir Walter Scott, neither of them being

then titled, his friendship with whom was strengthened by

their subsequent service together in the Mid Lothian yeo-

manry. In 1802 he was chosen M.P. for Mhl Lothitin, for

which he was subsequently five times re-elected. The ques-

tion of his father's impeachment caused him to fake a fre-

quent part in the debates in parliament in 1805 and 1806.

On the change of ministry in March 1807, when the duke of

Portland became premier, Mr. Duiidas entered office as presi-

dent of the board of control, and was sworn a member of the

privy council. In 1809, when Sir Arthur Wellesley, after-

wards the duke of Wellington, was called from the Irish chief

secretaryship to take the command of the British armies in

Spain, Mr. Dundas was appointed his successor, and was en-

rolled in the privy council of Ireland. In January 1810, soon

after the formation of Jlr. Spencer IVrcival's administration,

he returned to the presidency of the board of control.

The sudden death of his father, on 29th May 1811, gave

him a place in the house of peers. The same year he was

appointed keeper of the privy seal of Scotland, a sinecure

office which exjiired with him. On the formation of a new
ministry, having the earl of Liverpool at its head, in the sum-
mer of 1812, the office of first lord of the admiralty, with a

seat in the cabinet, was assigned to Viscount Melville, and he

continued at the head of that department for fifteen years.

In 1814 he was elected chancellor of the university of St.

Andrews. Nominated in 1821 one of the four extra knights

of the Thistle, on the enlargement of the order in 1827 he

was enrolled one of the ordinary knights. On the accession

of Jlr. Canning to power in the hitter year, his lordship re-

tired from office, declining a seat in the cabinet. When tlie

duke of Wellington formed his administration in January

1828, Viscount Melville resumed his place at the head of the

admir.alty. With the dissolution of the Wellington ministry

in November 1830, his lordship's official career terinliiatcd.

He was a member of the royal commission of 1826-30 for the

visitation of the Scottish universities; in 1813-4, of the roval

commission for inquiry into the operation of the poor-law in

Scotland, and in 1817, of the prison board for Scotland. He
was also keeper of the signet, a deputy-lieutenant of the

counties of Edinburgh and Linlithgow, one of the commis-

sioners of the board of trustees for manufactures in Scotland,

one of the commissioners for the custody of the Scottish re-

galia, a lieutenant-general of the royal company of archers in

Scotland, an elder brother of the Trinity house, govenior of

the Bank of Scotland, &c. He died at Melville castle. Mid
Lothian, 10th June, 1851, in his SOtli year.

His lordship married, in August 1796, Anne, daughter and

co-heiress of Richard Huck Saunders, JI.D., grand-niece of

Admiral Sir Charles Saunders, K.B. On his marriage he

assumed the name of Saunders before his own. He hail four

sons and two daughters.

The eldest sou, Heniy, third Viscount Melville, born in

1801, entered the army in 1819, and became a m.-ijor- general

in 1854. He commanded the 83d foot during the insurrec-

tion in Ujiper Canada in 1837-8, and was for a short time

aide-de-camp to the queen. At the battle of Gujerat in In-

dia, he commandp,! a brigade, and for his services he received

the order of the Bath and the thanks of parliament and of the

East India Company. In 1853 he was appointed to com-
mand the Sirliind division of the Indian army, and li-om 1854

to 1860 was connnaiuier-iu-cliief of the forces in Scotland;

colonel of 100th regiment of foot ; unmarried.
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Tlie 2d son, Vice-admiral the Hon. Kichard Saunders Dun-

das, C.B., succeeded Admiral Sir Cliarles Napier in tlie com-

mand of the Baltic fleet, in the war with Russia, in 1855;

and commanded at the hombardment of Sweaborg, Aug. 9 of

that year. Born June 11, 1802, lie entered the navy June

15, 1817, as a volunteer on board the Ganymede, 26 guns,

.md remained midshipman of that ship and of tlie Owen

Glendower until Deo. 1820, on the Mediterrane.in and South

American stations. He became lieutenant 18th June, 1821,

and post-captain 17th July, 1821. In the Melville, 72, he

took part in the campaign in China. During this service he

received the warm thanks of Sir Gordon Bremer for his con-

duct at the capture of Ty-cock-tow, as well as at that of the

forts of the Bocca Tigris. In 1828-29-30 he was private

secretary to his father, then first lord of the admiralty. In 1845

he held the same office under the earl of Haddington, the first

lord of that period. In 1841 the military companionship of

the Bath was conferred upon him for his services in China.

In 1851 he was appointed superintendent of Deptford dock-

yard. Rear-admiral of the blue 1853 ; rear-admiral of the

white 1855 ; in 1858 he became vice-admiral of the blue ; one

of the lords of the admiralty from 1852 to 1855. He died

suddenly, June 3, 1861. The 3d son, the Hon. Robert Dun-

das, born in 1803, storekeeper-general of the navy. The 4th

son, the Hon. and Rev. Charles Dundas, rector of Epwortli,

born Sept. 10, 1806, married, in 1833, Louisa M.aria, daugh-

ter of Sir William Boothby, issue, 3 sons and 7 daughters.

MELVILLE, Sir James, an eminent courtier,

son of Sir Jolin jMelvillo of llaitli, was boi-n in

Fifesliire about 1535. At the age of 14 he was sent

to Paris by the queen-mother, under tlie protec-

tion of the French ambassador, to be a page of

honoiu- to the j'outhfiil Mary, queen of Scots, then

tlie consort of tlie dauphin of France. In IMay

1553, by the permission of liis roj'al mistress, he

entered tlie service of the constable of France, and

was present at the siege of St. Qucntin, where the

constable was wounded and taken prisoner, and

he seems to have attended him in his captivity.

After the peace he visited his native country in

1559, on a sort of secret mission, to ascertain the

state of parties in Scotland. He afterwards tra-

velled on tlie continent, and remained three years

at the court of the elector palatine, who employed

him in various negotiations with the German

princes. In May 1564 he returned to Scotland,

having been recalled by Mary, by whom he was

appointed gentleman of the bedchamber, and no-

minated one of her privy councillors. Soon after

he was sent on an embassy to Elizabeth, relative

to ]\Iary's proposed marriage with Darnley, and

in June 1566 he was again dispatched to the Eng-

lish court with the intelligence of the birth of the

prince, afterwards James VI. He maintained a

correspondence in England in favour of Mary's

succession to the crown of that kingdom; but ven-

turing to remonstrate with her on her unhappy

partiality for Botliwell, the queen communicated

his admonitions to the latter, and the faithful

Melville was, in consequence, obliged for some

time to retire from court. He was, however, pre-

sent at tlie ill-starred nuptials of Mary to that

nobleman, and he continued her eontideutial ser-

vant as long as slie remained in Scotland. He

appears to have had a high idea of his own im-

portance, and occasionally in his Memoirs blames

himself for the unfortunate propensity, which lie

says he possessed, of finding fault with the pro-

ceedings of the great.

By James VI., to -whom he was recommended

by his unfortunate mother, and who continued

him in his offices of privy councillor and gentle-

man of the bedchamber to his queen, Anne of

Denmark, he was intrusted with various honoura-

ble employments. On tlie accession of King

James to the English throne, he declined to ac-

company him to England, but afterwards paid his

majesty a visit of duty, when he was graciously

received. On account of his age he retired from

the public service, and occupied his remaining

years in writing the 'Memoirs' of his life for the

use of his son. He died November 1, 1607. His

manuscript, accidentally found in the castle of

Edinburgh in 1660, and which affords minute and

curious descriptions of the manners of the times,

was published in 1683, by Mr. George Scott, un-

der the title of ' Memoirs of Sir James Melvil of

Hallliill, containing an impartial Account of the

most remarkable Affairs of State during the last

Age, not mentioned by other Historians ;' repub-

lished in 1735. He had acquired the estate of

Hallhill, in the parish of Collessie, Fifeshire, from

the celebrated Henry Balnaves, (see vol. i. page

229). It remained the property of his descend-

ants till the reign of Charles II., Avhen it was pur-

chased by Lord Melville.

MELVILLE, Andrew, one of the most Illus-

trious of the Scottish Reformers, M'hose name is

second only to that of John Knox, was the young-

est of nine sons of Richard Melville of Baldovy,

near IMontrose, where he was born August 1,

1545. His father lost his life in the battle of Pin-

kie, when Andrew was only two years old, and
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his motlier dying soon after, lie was brought up

under the care of his eldest brother, afterwards

minister of Maiyton, who, at a [jroper age, sent

him to tlie grammar school of Montrose. Having

acquired there a tliorougli knowledge of the clas-

sics, he was, in 1559, removed to the university

of St. Andrews, where his great proficiency, espe-

cially in the Greek language, excited the aston-

ishment of his teachers. On completing the usual

academical course he left college with the charac-

ter of being " the best philosopher, poet, and Gre-

cian, of any j'onng master in the land." In 15G4

he went to France, and remained for two years at

the university of Paris. He next proceeded to

Poictiers, for the purpose of studying the civil

law, and was elected regent or professor in the

college of St. Marceon. After continuing there

for three years, lie repaired to Geneva on foot,

carrying only a Hebrew Bible at his belt, and the

fame of his great attainments having preceded

Iiim, by the influence of Beza he obtained the hu-

manity chair in the academy, at that time vacant.

In July 1571 he returned to Scotland, after an

absence of ten years. Beza, in his letter to the

General Assembly, wrote tliat the greatest token of

affection the kirk of Geneva could sliow to Scot-

land was that they had suflercd themselves to be

spoiled of ]Mr. Andrew Melville, that thereby the

kirk of Scotland might be enriched. On his ar-

rival in Edinburgh, he was invited by the Regent

Morton to enter his family as a domestic tutor,

but he preferred an academic life to a residence at

j

court, and declined the invitation. Shortly after-

I

wards he was appointed by the (Jeneral Assembly

I piiucipal of the university of Glasgow, which, un-

1 der his cbarge, from the improved plan of study

md discipline introduced by him, speedily acquired

a high reputation as a seat of learning. Besides

his duties in the university, he officiated as minis-

ter of the church of Govan, in the vicinity. As a

member of the General Assembly, he took a pro-

minent part in all the measures of that body

against episcopacy ; and as he was unflinching in

his opposition to that form of church government,

he received the name of " Episcopomastix," or

'The Scourge of Bishops.' A remarkable in-

I
stance of his intrepidity occurred at an interview,

I which took place in October 1577, between him

1

and the Regent Morton, when the latter, irritated

at the proceedings of the Assembly, exclaimed,

' There will never be quietness in this country

till half a dozen of you be hanged or banished !

"

"Hark! Sir," said Melville, "threaten your

courtiers after that manner! It is the same to

me whether I rot in the air, or in the ground.

The earth is the Lord's. Patria est ubicunque est

bene. I have been ready to give up my life where

it would not have been half so well wared, at the

pleasure of my God. I have lived out of your

country ten years, as well as in it. Let God be

glorified, it will not be in your power to hang or

exile his truth." This bold language Morton did

not venture to resent.

Melville was moderator of the General Assem-

bly which met at Edinburgh 24th April 1578, in

which the second Book of Discipline was approved

of. The attention of the Assembly was about this

time directed to the reformation and improvement

of the universities, and Melville was, in December

1580, removed from Glasgow, and installed prin-

cipal of St. Mary's college, St. Andrews. Here,

besides giving lectures in divinity, he taught the

Hebrew, Chaldee, Syriac, and Rabl>inical lan-

guages, and his prelections were attended, not

only by young students in unusual numbers, but

also by some of the masters of the other colleges.

He was moderator of the Assembly which met at

St. Andrews 24th April 1582, and also of an ex-

traordinary meeting of the Assembly, convened at

Edinburgli 27th June thereafter, in consequence

of the arbitrary measures of the court, in relation

particularly to the case of Robert Montgomery,

the excommunicated archbishop of Glasgow. He

opened the proceedings with a sermon, in which

he boldly inveighed against the absolute authority

claimed by the government in ecclesiastical mat-

ters. A spu'ited remonstrance being agreed to by

the Assembly, Melville and others were appointed

to present it to the king, then with the court at

Perth. When the remonstrance was read before

his majesty in council, the king's unworthj' favour-

ite, the earl of Arran, menacingly exclaimed,

"Who dare stabscribe these treasonable articles?'

" We dare," said the undaunted IMelville, and tak-

ing a pen, immediately signed his name. His

example was followed l\v the other commis.sion-
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ers, and so much were Lennox and Arran over-

!
awed by their intrepidity, that they dismissed

1 them peaceably.

I

For about three years Melville had preached,

assisted by his nephew, in the parish church of

St. Andrews. In February 1584 he was cited

before the privy coimcil, to answer a charge of

treason, founded on some seditious expressions,

wiiich it was alleged he had made use of in a ser-

mon on the 4tli chapter of Daniel, on the occasion

of a fast kept during the preceding montli
;
par-

j

ticularly that he had compared the king's motlicr

to Nebuchadnezzar, who was banished from the

kingdom, and would be restored again. At his ap-

pearance, he denied using these words, entered in-

to a full defence of those he had actually used, and

presented a protest and declinature, claiming to be

I

tried by the ecclesiastical court. AVhen brought be-

1 j

fore the king and council, he boldly told them that

jl the}' had exceeded their jurisdiction in judging of

i
I

the doctrine, or calling to account any of the ambas-

I

j

sadors or messengers of a king and council greater

!
than they, and far above tlieni. Then loosing a

;
little Hebrew bible from his belt, and throwing it

! on the table before them, he said, " That you may

!
see your weakness, oversight, and rashness, in

I

taking upon you that wliich neither you ought nor

can do, there are my instructions and warrant. Let

me see which of you can judge of them or control

me therein, that I have passed by my injunc-

tions." Arran, finding the book in Hebrew, put

it into the king's hands, saying, " Sir, he scorns

your majesty and council." " No, my lord, " re-

i plied Melville, " I scorn not, but with all earnost-

\

ness, zeal, and gravity, I stand for the cause of

Ij
Jesus Christ and his church." Not being able to

I

prove the charge against him, and nuM'illing to

\\ let him go, the council declared him guilty of de-

I

clining their jurisdiction, and of behaving irrever-

entl}' before them, and sentenced him to be impi-i-

soned in the castle of Edinburgh, and to be further

punished in his person and goods at the pleasure

j

of tlie king. Before, however, being charged to

I

enter himself in ward, liis place of confinement

|i was ordered to be changed to Blackness castle,

j

j

which was kept b}' a dependant of Arran. While

Ij
at dinner the king's macer was admitted and gave

! him the charge to enter within 24 hours; but he

avoided being sent there by secretly withdrawing

from Edinburgh. After staying some time at

Berwick, he proceeded to London, and in the en-

suing July visited the universities of Oxford and

Cambridge, at both of which he was received in a

manner becoming his learning and reputation.

On the disgrace of the earl of Arran, ]\Ielville

returned to Scotland with the banished lords, in

November 1585. Having assisted in re-organiz-

ing the college of Glasgow, he resumed, in the

following March, liis duties at St. Andrews. The

synod of Fife, which met in April, proceeded to

excommunicate Adamson, archbishop of St. .An-

drews, for his' attempts to overturn the prcsbyfe-

rian form of government in the church
;
and, in

return, that prelate issued a sentence of excom-

munication against INIelville, and his nephew,

James Melville, with others of their brethren. In

consequence of this difference with the archbishop,

Melville received a written mandate from ti:e

king to confine his residence to the north of the

Tay, and he was not I'cstored to his office in the

univcrsitj' till the following August. Some time

after, when Adamson had been deprived of his

archbishopric, and was reduced to great povert}-,

finding himself deserted by tlie king, he addressed

a letter to his former antagonist, jMclville, expres-

sing regret for his past conduct, and soliciting his

assistance. Melville liastened to visit him, and

not only procured contributions for his relief

among his friends, but continued for several

months to support him from his own resources.

In June 1587, Melville was again elected mode-

rator of the Assembly, and nominated one of the

commissioners for attending to the proceedings in

parliament. He was present at the coronation of

the queen, ]\Iay 17, 1590, and recited a Latin po-

em composed for the occasion, which was imme-

diately published at the desire of the king. In

the same j'ear he was elected rector of the univer-

sity of ot. Andrews, an office which, for a scries

of years, he continued to hold by re-election. In

May 1594 he was again elected moderator of the

Assembly. Shortly after, he appeared on behalf

of tlie church before the lords of the articles, and

urged the forfeiture of the popish lords, and along

with his nephew and two other ministers, he ac-

companied the king, at his express request, on ]n"s
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expedition ngainst tliem. In tlie following 3'ear,

when it was proposed to recall flie popisli nobles

from exile, he went witli sonic otlier ministers to

tiie convention of estates at St. Andrews, to re-

monstrate against tlic design, but was ordered by

tlic Idng to witlidraw, wliicli lie did, after a most

resohite reply. The commission of the x\ssembly

having niut at Cii])nr in Fife, they sent Melville

and some other members to expostnlate with the

king. Being admitted to a private audience,

James Melville began to address his majesty with

great mildness and respect ; but the king becom-

ing impatient, charged them ^itli sedition, on

which Andrew took him bj- the sleeve, and calling

him "God's silly vassal," said, "This is not a

time to flatter, but to speak plainh-, for our com-

mission is from the living God, to whom the king

is subject. Wo will always humbly reverence

your majesty in public, but having opportunity of

being with your majesty in private, we must dis-

charge our duty, or else be enemies to Clirist:

And now. Sire, I must tell you that there are two

kingdoms—tlic kingdom of Christ, w hU-h is tlie

chui'ch, whose subject King James VI. is, and of

whose kingdom he is not a head, nor a lord, but a

member; and they whom Cliiist hath called, and

commanded to watch over Ids church, and govei'u

his spiritual king<linn, have sufficient powei' and

autlioritv from him so to do, which no Chi'istian

king nor prince should control or discljarge, but

assist and support, otherwise they are not faithful

subjects to Christ." Tlic king listened patiently

to this bold admonition, and dismissed them with

many fair promises which he never intended to

fuUil. For several years following King James

made repeated attempts to control the chnreli, ac-

cording to his own arbitrary notions, but lie inva-

luably encountered a strenuous opponent in .An-

drew Melville ; and he had i-ecourse at last to one

of those stratagems whicli he tliought the very

essence of " king-craft," to secure the removal of

this champion of presbyterianism from Scotland

altogether. In Jlay 1606, jMelville, witli his ne-

phew, and six of their brethren, were called to

London by a letter from the king, on the specious

pretext that his majesty wished to consult them

as to the aflairs of the church. Soon after their

I arrival they attended the famous conference held

September 23, in presence of the king at Hamp-

ton Court, at which Melville spoke at great length,
I

and with a boldness which astonished the English

nobility and clergy. On St. jMichael's day, I\Iel-

ville and his brethren were commanded to attend

the roj'al chapel, when, scandalized at the popish

character of the service, on his return to his lodg-

ing he vented his indignation in a Latin e])igram,*

for which, a copy lia\ ing been conveyed to the

king, he was brought before the council at White-

hall. Being by them found guilty of " scandalum i

magnatnm," he was committed first to the custod}'
j

of the dean of St. Paul's, and afterwards to the

charge of the bishop of Winchester; but was ulti-

mately sent to the Tower, where he i-emained a I

prisoner for four years.

At first he was treated with the utmost rigoui-, !

and denied even the use of pen, ink, and paper

;

but his spirit remained unsubdued, and he be-
j

guiled his solitary hours by composing Latin ver- !

ses, which, with the tongue of his slioe buckle, he

engraved on liis ]irison walls. By the interference
i

of some friends at court, his confinement was, af-
|

ter the lapse of nearly ten months, reridered less

j

severe. About the end of 1607 the protestants of

Koclielle endeavoured to obtain his services as

professor of diviuitj' in their college, but the king

would not consent to his liberation. At lengtli,

in February IGll, at the intercession of the duke

of Bouillon, he was released from confinement, (jn

condition of his becoming professor of theology in

the protestant university of Sedan, in Fr;inee,

where he spent the remainder of his life, and died

there in 1G22, at the advanced age of 77.

* Tlic following is tlie epigi ain :

Cur sinnt clnusi Aiiglis libii duo rogia in nrn,
!

I.uniina c:ve:i duo, polluhni sicca duo?
j

Nuin sensum cultumque Dei tenet Anglia claupum, I

I.umine cn:ca sno, sorde sspulta sua?

Romano an ritu, dum rcgaleni instruit nram,
j

Purpnreain pingit religiosa hipani? i

Thus rendered in au old translation :

j

Why stand there on the altar high
1

'i'wo closed books, blind ligiits, two basins dry?
|

Doth England liold God's mind and worsliip close,
|

I'lind of lier sight, and buried in her dross?

Doth she, wilh chapel put in Romish dress,
j

The purple whore religiously express?
j

And for tliis Melville was sent to the 'lower'
I
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His biographer, Dr. M'Crie, says that Andrew

Melville "was the first Scotsman who added a

taste for elegant literature to an extensive ac-

quaintance with theology." Although he sustain-

ed a conspicuous part in all the important public

transactions of his time, he neither was nor af-

fected to be the leader of a party. In private he

was an agreeable companion, remarkable for his

cheerfulness and kindliness of disposition. lie

was never married. Beyond the statement that

he was of low stature tliere is no description of his

personal appearance extant, nor is there an}'

known portrait of him.

The greater part of his writings consists of Lat-

in poems. Dr. M'Crie, whose Life of Andrew

Melville was published in 1824, in 2 vols. 8vo, has

given the names of all his works, printed and left

in manuscript, and there is none of any great ex-

tent among them. The subjoined list has been

made up from his account.

Cannen Mosis,—Andrea Melvino Scoto Avctore. Basil-

ese. 1573, 8vo. This, liis earliest publication, consisted of

a poetical paraphrase of the Song of Moses, and a chapter of

the Book of Job, with several small poems, all in Latin.

2TE4'ANI2KION. Ad Scotia; Regem, liabitum in Coro-

nntiono Reginre. Edinbvrgi, 1590. 4to.

Carmina ex Doctissimis Poetis Selecta, inter quos. qim-

dam Geo. Buchanani et And. Mehiniinseruntur. 1590. 8vo.

Principis Scoti-Britannorvm Natalia. Edinbvrgi. 1594. 4to.

Theses Theologica; de libero arbitrio. Edinburgi, 1597. 4to.

These, Dr. M'Cne thinks, might be the Theses of some of his

students.

Scholaslica Diatriba de Rebvs Divinis ad Anqiiirendam et

inveniendam veritatem, a candidatis S. Theol. habenda (Deo

volente) ad d. xxvi. et xxvii. Julij in Scholis Tlieologicis

Acad. Andreana;, Spiritu Sancto Prjrside. D. And. Melvino

S. Theol. D. et illivs facultatis Decano <rvl^nT-/i(rrj moderante.

r'dinbvrgi, Excudebat Robertas Waldegraue Typograplius

Regius 1599. 4to. pp. IG.

Gathelus, sen Fragmentum de origine Gentis Scotovuni.

This poem was first printed along with ' Jonstonl Inscriptio-

ncs Ilistorica; Regum Scotorum.' Amstel. 1G02.

Pro suppliei Evangelicorum Ministrorum in Anglia—Apo-

logia, slve Anti-Tami-Cami-Categoria. 1G04. A petition

had been presented to the king by the English Puritans,

commonly called, from the number of names attaclied to it,

the millenary petition, for redress of their grievances, which

was opposed by the universities of Cambridge and Oxford.

This satirical poem, attacking the resolutions of the universi-

ties, was written by Melville, in defence of the petitioners, and

circulated extensively in England.

Select Psalms turned into Latin verse, and printed (pro-

bably at London while lie was in the Tower) in 1609.

Nescimus Qvid Vesper Servs Vchat. Satyra Menippxa

Vinccntii Liberii Hollandii. 1C19. 4to. Another edition

1620. Ascribed to Melville.

Viri Clarissimi A. Melvini JIvsx et P. Adamsoni Vita et

Palinodia et Celsa; commissionis—descriptio. 1620, 4to, pp.

G7. John Adamsoii, afterwards principal of the college of I

Edinburgh, was employed in collecting Melville's fugitive

poems, but it is uncertain whctlier he or Calderwood was the

publisher of the Mnsa. Melville himself was not consulted

in the publication of them, nor was he, says Dr. M'Crie, the
|

author, as has often been inaccurately stated, of the tracts 1

added to them. :

De Adiaphoris. Scoti tdu Tu^min; Aphorismi. Anno i

Domini 1622. 12ino, pp. 20.

Andreas Jlelvini Scotia; Topographia. This poem is pre-

fixed to the Theatrum Scotia; in Bleau's Atlas.

Jlelville contributed largely to a collection of poems, by

Scotchmen and Zealanders, ' In Obitvm Johannis Wallasii

Scoto Belgse. Ludg. Batav. 1G03.' 4to. There are tno

poems by him in John Johnston's ' Sidera Vcteris jEvi,' p.

33. Salmurii, IGll. He has also verses prefixed to 'Com-
ment, in Apost. Acta M. Joannis Malcolmi Scoti.—Middleb.'

1615.

Among his works in MS. Dr. M'Crie enumerates the fol-

lowing :

D. Andrex Jlelvini epistola; Londino e turri carceris ad

Jacobum Melvinum Nouocastri exulantem scripta;, cum ejus-

dem Jacobi nonnnllis ad eundem. Annis supra millesimu se.K-

centcssimo octavo, nono, decimo, undeoimo. Item Ecclesia;

Scoticana; Oratio Apologetica ad Regem An. IGIO, mense

Aprilis. This volume is in the library of the university of

I'dinbnrgh. It brings down the correspondence between

Melville and his nephew, Mr. James Melville, till the end of

the year 1G13.

Six Letters from Andrew IMelville to Robert Dury at Ley-

den. In Bibl. Jnrid. Edin. M. 6. 9. num. 42.

Floretum Arcbiepiscopale ; id est, errores Pontificii, as-

sertioncs temeraria;, et hyperbolica; interpretationes. Ibid,

num. 47. They are extracted from Archbishop Adamson's

academical prelections at St. Andrews, in Melville's hand-

writing, and subscribed by him.

Parapbrasis Epistola; ad Hebra?os Andrea; Melvini (Harl.

MSS. num. 6947-9); a metrical paraphrase of the epistle to

the Hebrews.

A. Melvinus in cap. 4 Danielis. In Bibl. Col. S. Trinit.

Dublin.

There are verses by him, in his own handwriting, among

the Sempill papers, and in a collection of Letters from Learn-

ed Jlen to James VI. His biographer says that copies of

Melville's large 'Answer to Downham's Sermon' were at one

time not uncommon. Four letters from Melville to David

Hume of Godscroft are prefixed to the ' Lusus Poetici' of the

latter.

The manuscript of ' Commentarius in Divinam Panli Epis-

tohmi ad Romanos, auctore Andrea Melvino Scoto,' in posses-

sion of Mr. David Laing, Librarian to the Writers to the

Signet, was published for the first time, with an English

translation, in one of the volumes issued by the Wodrow

Sociely, under the editorial care of the Rev. David Dickson,

D.D., minister of St. Cuthbert's, Edinburgh.

MELVILLE, James, an eminent divine and

scholar, nephew of the preceding, was the son of

Richard Melville of Baldovy, minister of Mary-

ton, Forfarshire, by his spouse, Isabel Scrirageour,

and was born July 25, 1556. After receiving his

school education at Logic and Montrose, he was,
j

in November 1571, sent to St. Leonard's college,
|
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j

St. Andrew?, wlioro lie stiuliccl for four years. It

j

I is recorded of liiiii that, first wlieii lie attended tlie

1 1 leetnres, Avliioli were delivered in Latin, he was so

h mortified at not being able to understand tliein,

I
tliat lie burst into tears before (lie \\ Imle class

;

j
wiiicli induced his regent, or professor, A\'illiani

i

( 'ollaee, to give him private instructions in tlie

l-a(in language. His father iiiti'udi'd liini for tiie

j

law, but James had a strong predilection for the

i
clinrcli, and as a jiractical iiiliniatiuii of Ids de-

j

sires, he composed a sermon, and placed il eare-

I

fully in one of the Commentaries wliieh his father

was in the habit of consulting. The slralagem

I

succeeded; and on the arri\al of Ids unele, iNfr.

Andrew IMelville, from the continent, he was put

under his eliarge, ^\hen he revised, under Ids di-

rections, botii his classic-il and pliilosopiiical edit-

cation. lie accompanied Iiis uncle to (ilasgow,

in Octolier ]o74, on Ids becoming principal of that

university, and in tlic fullowing year dames ^lel-

, A ille was elected one of the regents, as the profes-

.sors were llien called. He was the first regent in

Scolhtnd wlio rc-iil tlie ( Ireelc autliors to his class

in the original language. In ]')77 lie wa.s ap-

'

l)ointed teacher of mathematics, logic, and moral

)ihih_)soiiliy, at (ilasgow; and while he continued

ill this ca]iacity, having strictly admonislied the

afterwards celeln-ated I\Iark Alexander Boyd for

his irregularities, he was assaulted by him and his

cousin, Alexander ( 'unninghame, a relation of tlie

! earl of Gleneairn, for whicli Cnnninghamc was

iibliged, bareheaded ami barefnoted, to crave par-

I

dull ))ul)licly.

When Andrew ;\h'lville was translated to the

j

Xew College of St. Andrews in December loSO,

!
he took along with him Ids nephew, who was ad-

[

initted professor of the oriental languages tliere.

' lie also divided ^^ith his uncle the duty of preacli-

j

iug in tlic town during the vacancy in the parish

I

diiirch. Amid all the diifienlties which Andrew

Melville had to encounter, he found an aide and

I

iHcfiil coadjutor in Ids nephew, upon whom, when

the former, in l.'iS-f, tied to England, the manage-

ment of the all'airs of the college chielly devolved,

lie taught theology from his iinchs's chair, besides

continuing his own lectures, and undertaking the

;
niaiiagenient of the revenues of the college and the

board of the students. In ]\In v of that rear, after

JAMES.

tlie parliament had decreed the overthrow of the

presbyterian form of chiireh government. Arch- .'

bishop Adainsoii of St. Andrews obtained a war-
|

rant for James ^Melville's apprehension, for cor-
|

responding with Ids uncle, of which being apprised

in time, he escaped to Dundee, whence he pro-

ceed(Hl, in the disguise of a shipwrecked seaman,

ill an iii>en boat to Berwick. He was soon after

joined by ids wife, wlio was a daughter of John

Dury, minister of Edinburgh. Being invited by

the earls of Angus and ]\rar, then in exile at New-

castle, to go and preacli to them, he at first refus-
;

ed, because, as lie says himself, he was not entered
,

in the niiiiistry, neither was lie of any experience
|

of knowledge in their matters, being but a young
l

man brought np in the schools, and tlierefore had I

resolved to keep his own calling. The truth was,

however, tliat he was afraid to have anything to '

do with them, being the king's rebels, and not
\

knowing their cause well and disposition of lieai t. i

(Diari/, \i. 1-21^). On reacliing Newcastle, on his
|

way to London, he was persuaded to remain, and
;

accordingly entered on his ministerial labours.
|

While with the banished lords he drew up a letter I

and order of discipline for their guidance, and at !

their request an account of the abuses and corrup- i

tion of the kirk and (Commonweal of Scotland; also '

a letter to the ministers in Scotland who liad sub-
'

scribed to the supremacy of the king and the bish- i

ops, all of which ^vill be found in Calderwood (vol.

iv.) In February I080, on the exiled lords proceed-

ing to London, he returned to Berwick, where he
|

had left Ids wife, who had there borne a son, and
I

soon after fidiowed the former to the capital. After

the taking of the castle of Stirling, he returned, in

the ensuing November, to Scotland, and in March

loSG, resumed the duties of his professorship at

St. AndKi^A's, when he occu]iied himself in setting '

the college att'airs in order.

James ^Melville's zeal in behalf of the church,
^

though less impetuous than that of Ids uncle, was

equally uniform and consistent ; and he could,

when occasion required, evince similar intrepidity

In the beginning of April 1580, he preached the

opening sermon at tlie meeting of the synod of

Fife, in the course of which, turning towards

Archbisliop Adanison, who was present, he charg-

ed him with attempting the overthrow of the
|

It
I

U5
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presbyteiiau cluircli, laul oxlioitcd flic brctlireu

to cut off so corrupt a member from among- tliem.

The archbishop was in consequence excommuni-

cated, but he retaliated by excommunicating botii

Andrew and James Melville, and other obnoxious

ministers, in return. For their sliare in this

I

transaction, nncle and nephew were summoned

befoi'e the king, who commanded the former to

confine himself beyond the Tay, and the latter to

remain within his college.

In July 1586, James Melville became, at the

solicitation of the people, minister of Anstruther,

to which were conjoined the adjoining parishes of

Pittenweem, Abercrombie, and Kilrcnny. Hav-

ing some time after succeeded in procuring a dis-

junction of these parishes, and provided a minister

for each of them, he undertook the charge of Kil-

renuy alone, where, besides building a manse, he

purchased the right to tlie vicarage and tithe-fish,

for the support of himself and his successors, and

I

paid the salary of a schoolmaster. He likewise

j maintained an assistant to perform the duties of

I the parish, as lie was frequently engaged in the

public affairs of fhe church. Some years after-

wards he printed for the use of his people a cate-

chism, which cost him five hundred merks.

I In 1588 he was the means of affording shelter

i

and relief to a number of distressed Spaniards who

had belonged to the Armada desfined for the in-

vasion of England, but whose division of the

squadron, after being driven to the northward,

had been wrecked on the Fair Isle, where they

i
had sutlered the extremities of hunger and faligne,

I

and had at last taken refuge off the harbour of

Anstruther

At the opening of the General Assembly at

Edinburgh, in August 1590, he preached a sermon

fiom 1 Thess. v. 12, 13. in which, after insisting

on the necessity of maintaining the strictest disci-

pline, he exhorted his hearers to a more zealous

support of the presbyterian establishment, and re-

commended a supplication to the king for a full

i and free assembly.

In the spring of 1594 he was unjustly suspected

at court of having furnished the turbulent earl of

Botliwell with money collected for the piotestants

of Geneva, and at the meeting of the Assembly in

Ma V of that year, some of the brethren tliouglit that

1 ;

as he was a suspected person he should not be sent
j

as one of the commissioners from the church to the

king as usual ; on \\hk]\ he stood up and said that
i

he had often been employed on commissions against

liis will, but now, even for the reason alleged, he

would request it as a benefit from the brethren
j

j

that his name should be on the list, that he might
j

;

'

have an opportunity of clearing himself, and If i
•

they declined sending him, he was determined to 1

go to court liimself, to see if any one had aught to

say against him. He was accordinglj- included
|

among the commissioners. On their arrivnl at
|

Stirling, where the king was, they wei'C most gra-

ciously received. After they had executed theii*

business with the king, James Melville stepped

forward and requested to be Informed if his ma-

jesty had anything to lay to his charge? 'J'he

king replied that he had nothing to say against

him more than against the rest, except that he

found his name on every commission. He an-

swered that he thanked God that this was the

case, for therein he was serving God, his kirk, and

the king publicly, and as for any private, unl;•l^\•-

ful, or undutiful practice, if there were any that

had traduced him to his majesty as being guilly of

such, he requested that they should be made to

show their faces when ho Avas there to answer for

himself. But no reply was miide. After this the

king took him into his cabinet, and having dis-

missed his attendants, conversed with him alone

on a variety of topics M ith the gi'catest affability
j

and familiarity. He sent his special coramenda-
|

tions to his uncle, Mr. Andrew Melville, and de-

clared that he looked upon both of them as Adtli-

fiil and trusty subjects. " So,"' says James Mel-

ville, '• of the strange working of God, I that cnne

to Stirling the traitor, returned to Edinburgh a

great courtier, yea, a cabinet councillor." {iJianj,

p. 212.)

With his uncle and two other ministers he ac-

companied the king, in October 1594, in his expe-

dition to the north, against the popish lords, and

A\ hen the royal foix'cs were about to disperse, for

want of pay, James Melville was sent to Etiin-

burgh and other principal towns, with letters from

the king and the ministers, to raise contributions for

their aid. In this service he was successful. For
j

ten years subsequently, the life of James Melville
|
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I

was principally distingiiiriliecl by liis zealmis ami

1
iiinvcaried (ip|iosilioii to the tlc.si,!,nis of tiie court

for tlic re-cst-.iblishmciit of cpiscoiiacy, \\liicl, lie

early had the discernment to detect.

He went witli his uncle to London in Sciitendjcr

I

160G, \vhcn, '.vitli six other ministers, they were

!
invited thither to confer with the hing, as was the

i

pretext, as to the measures best calculated to pro-

i

mote the tranquillity of the church. After the

j
committal of Andrew Melville to the tower, (sec

j

page James was ordered to leave London

I

in six days and confine himself to Ncwcastle-

!
upou-Tjne, and ten miles round it. Previous to

ji his departure he made an unsuccessful attcni[it to

obtain some relaxation of his uncle's confinement.

! He left London 2d July 1007, and went by sea to

Newcastle, and during his residence in that lon n

several attempts were made to gain him over to

the support of the king's views
5 but neither pro-

mises nor threats could shake his attachment to

I presbyterianism. He e\cn rejected a bishopric,

wiiicli was ofl'ei'ed to him by Sir AVilliam, or, as

Dr. M'Crie (alls him, Sir John Anstrnther, in the

name of the king. Having been a widower for

about two years, he took for his second ^ife,

while in exile at- Newcastle, the daughter of the

j

vicar of Berwick. He was afterwards ordered to

I

remove to Carli^le, and subsequently to Berwick,

I

where he wi'ote his 'Apology for the Church of

j

Scotland,' which was not published till thirty-one

I
years after his death, tinder the title of ' Ecclesia;

1 Scotican.T) libellus snpplex Apologeticus.'

I
Although manj' etVorts were made for his re-

j

lease, it was not till 1614 that he obtained leave

to return to Scotland, but he had not proceeded

far on his way home when he was taken suddenly

ill, and he was with difficulty conveyed back to

Beru ick, where be died the same year.

I

liis works, a list of which is given in one of the

notes to Dr. M'Crie's Life of Andrew Melville,

may be mentioned as folloA\ s

:

' 111 ir)02, as lie savs himself, he '• first [jiit in print siiiii of

liis poe.iie; to wit, tlie Description of the Spainvarts Xaiu-

j

rail, out of Julius Scaliger, witli sum Kxliortationes for warn-

I

in;; of kirk and countrcj."

j

liis Catechism was publislicd under tlie title of " .\ Spir-

itvall Propine of a Pastour to liis People. Hcb. it. l^d-

I iutmrijli, 1,^98, 4to. Pp. 127.

j

A Poem, called 'Tlie IMack Bastill, or a Lamentation of

the Kirk of Scotland, compiled liv Mr. James Melville. su!iie-

tinic minister at Anstrutiier, and no'.v confvneil in England,'

w;is printed in ICIl.

Ecclesix Seoticana; lil.ellus snpplex ifro'/n-j r:riKo; xai

iXn'pvs'nKOs Auctore Jacobo Jlclvino Verbi Del Ministro, t)o-

niiiii Andreai Melviiii mv xaw nepote. Londini, 1C15, 8vo.

His ' Diary,' printed for tlie Ijaimatvne Club in 1829, one

vol. 4to, contains much curious information relative to the

ecclesiastical and literary history of Scotland between the

years ISou and IGOO. The JIS. is preserved in tlie Advo-

cates' Library. New and improved edition, published by the

Wodrow Society, with Supplement, &e.

A MS. volume in the Advocates' Library, deposited by the

Itev. William DIackie, minister of Yetliolm, contains poems

in the Scottish language by James Melville, in the handwrit-

ing of tlie Hutlior. They appear, says Dr. M'Crie, to have

been all written during his banishment. The greater part of

them are expressive of his feelings on the overthrow of the

liberties of the church of .Scotland, .and the imprisonment and

banishment of his uncle.

Dr. M'Crio thinks that another MS. in tlic same library,

entitled ' History of the Declining Age of the Church of

Scotland,' bringing down the history of that period till ICIO,

was also composed by James Melville.

The letters which passed between .-Vndrew Melville and his

nephew, from 1G08 to 1C13, as stated in tlie aeconnt of the

MSS. of the foiTncr, are preserved in the Library of l!ic Col-

lege of Ldinburgh.

MELVILLE, Kdbicrt, an eminent military

olficcr and antiquarian, was the son of the mini-

ster of the parish of Moniniail, Fifeshire, m here he

was born October 12, 1723. In 1744 he entered

the army, and served in Flanders till the peace of

Aix-la-ChapcIle, in 1748. In 1750 he obtained

the rank of major in the o8tli regiment, then in

Antigua, and soon after he was employed in ac-

tive service, particidarly in the invasion of Gua-

daloupe, for which he was created lieutenant-

colonel ; and in 1700 was appointed governor of

that island. Shorth' after, he proceeded as sec-

ond ill command with Lord Hollo to the captin-e

of Dominica. In I7G2 lie contributed much to

the taking of Martinico, which was followed by

the surrender of the other French islands; and

Colonel Melville, now promoted to the rank of

brigadier-general, was made governor-in-chief of

all the captured possessions in the West Indies.

After the general peace he travelled over Europe,

and made numerous observations to ascertain the

passage of Hannibal over the Alps. He also

traced the sites of many Roman camps in Britain,

and applied his antiquarian knowdedge to the Im-

provement of the modern art of war in several in-

ventions. He was a fellow of the royal and anti-

quarian societies, and had the degree of LL.D.

conferred on him by tlio university of Edinbuigh.
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A treatise of liis, ' On an Ancient Sword,' is in-

serted in tlie 7tli volume of tlie Archteologi.a. In

1798 he was appointed a full general, and died,

unmarried, in 1809.

i
Mi;NTiirrn, the proper spelling of wliicli is Mentkth, a

local surname, (Icrived from the district of Monteitli, in the

south-west of Perthshire, through which the river Teitli runs,

and is compounded of mciie, a valley, and Teith.

Mekxeitii, earl of, a titie of very ancient date in Scotland,

ilurdoch, the first recorded earl of Menteitli, is mentioned in

the chartulaiy of Dunfermline, in the beginning of the reign

of D.ivid I., who ascended the throne in 1124. Gilchrist,

second earl of Menteith, mentioned in a charter of donation

to the monastery of Scone by JIalcolm IV., was witness to

several charters of William the Lion. His successor, Jlauri-

tins, third earl, vicecomes of Stirling, lived in the end of the

reign of the latter monarch and beginning of the reign of

Alexander II. He had two daughters, but their names have

not been transmitted. The elder married, before 3d Febru-

ary, 1231, Walter Comyn, second son of Willi.im, earl of

Buchan (see vol. i. p. 453). In his wife's right, he became

fourth earl of Jlenteith. He lirst appeared, with his father

and other nobles, at the marriage of the princess Joan of

England to Alexander II. at York in 1221, and in 1230 he

acqiured from that monarch a grant of the extensive district

of Badcnoch, in Inverne.ss-slnre, then in the crown (nee vol.

i. p. 223). He was one of the Scots nobles who swore to

maintain the agreement betwixt his own sovereign and Hen-

ry III. at York in September 1237. On the death of his

lather he became the most influenti.il man in Scotland, and

acted a conspicuous part in the early part of the reign of Al-

exander III. (see vol. i. p. 79), being at the head of the na-

tional party, in opposition to the English faction. He was

one of the regents of the kingdom at the time of his death in

1 258. His only child, a daughter, man-ied his grand-nephew,

William Comyn. His widow married Sir John Russell, an

I'lnglish knight, and they were both imprisoned on suspicion

of having poisoned her first husband (see vol. i. p. 86), but

afterwards allowed to leave the kingdom.

Walter Stewart, called Bailloch, or the freckled, third son

of the third high stew.ard of Scotlarid, having married the

countess' younger sister, laid claim to the earldom in right of

his wife, and by favour of the Estates of the realm, obtained

! it in 1258, and kept it. He distinguislied himself at the

i
battle of Largs in 1263, under his brother Alexander, the

I

high steward. He witnessed the marriage contract of

i

the princess Margaret with Eric, king of Norway, in 1281,

and, with his countess, accompanied her to her husband's

kingdom. He was one of the nobles who, in the parliament

of Scone, Feb. 5, 1283-4, swore to acknowledge Jlar-

garet, the Maiden of Norway, as their sovereign, in the

event of the de.atli of Alexander III. He was also one of

the assembly at Brigham in March 1260, where the mar-

riage of Queen Margaret to Prince Edward of England Was

agreed upon. In 1292 he was one of the nominees on the

l)art of Bruce, the competitor for the Scottish crown. He

swore fealty to Edward I., IStli June that year, and was

present when Baliol did hom.age to Edwiu-d, 20th Nov. fol-

lowing. He was summoned to attend the English king into

France, Sept. 1, 1294, and died soon after. He had 2 sons,

who assumed tlie name of Menteith, although they retained

the Stewart arms ;
Alexander, 6tli e.-irl, and Sir John de

.Menteith of Ruskie, whose n.aine appears in history as the
I

betr.ayer of Sir William Wallace. He altered the Stewart

fesse into a hend, and the colours to sable and niyeiit.

On 9th August, 1297, Sir John Menteith was relea.sed

from an English prison, on condition of serving with the Eng- '

lisli .against the French. In 1305 he was, by King Edward,
'

appointed keeper of Dumb.arton castle, and, the same year,

according to tradition, he treacherously delivered over the

heroic Wallace into the hands of the Ihiglish. From this

charge, however, he has been vindicated by Lord Ilailes. He
held the castle of Dumbarton for the English fill 1309, and

is said, but upon very doubtful authority, to have fought

valiantly at the b.attle of Bannockbnrn on the side of Bruce,

notwithstanding that Edward II. h.id caused his banner to be

displayed in the English army. {Fordun, b. ii. p. 243.) He
was ciistos comiUttus of Jlenteith in 1320, when he signed

tlie famous letter of the Scots nobles to the Pope, asserting

the independence of Scotland. In June 1323, he was one of

the commissioners and conservators of the treaty of Berwick,

and died soon after. He had tln'ce sons and three daughters,

one of whom, Joanna, married Malise, earl of Strathearn;

another became the wife of Sir Archibald Campbell of I.och-

ow, .and .a third was the wife of Maurice Buch.an.an of Bu- i

ch.anan. His eldest son, Sir Walter Menteith, was killed

in one of the feuds of the period, 'oy John and M.aurice Drum-
mond, and his eldest son, Sir Alexander Menteith of Ruskie,

;

was father of Sir Robert Menteith of Ruskie, who married, in

1392, Lady Margaret Lennox., a younger daughter of Dun-

can, eighth earl of Lennox (see vol. ii. pp. 630, 631).

Sir John Menteith of Arran, 2d son of Sir John Menteith,

the supposed betrayer of Wallace, married the Lady Elyne,

daughter of Gratney, seventh earl of Mar (see p. 108 of this

volume), and through his granddaughter, the wife of Sir

Thomas Erskine, the earldom of Mar ultimately came into

the Erskine family (see p. 110).

Alexander, Gtli earl of .Menteitli, elder son of Walter Stew-

art, Bailloch, wiis one of the ma<jnates Scotice who, in the par-

liament of Scone, Feb. 5, 1283-84, engaged to support the

succession of JIargaret of Norw.ay to the throne of Scotland,

He sw'ore fealty to Edward I. at Norliam, June 12, 1292, and

appears to have succeeded his father in 1295. He w.as one
1

of the leaders of the Scottish army which invaded Cumber-

land in JIarcli 1296. Taken prisoner by the English at the

battle of Dunbar, 2Stli -April following, he w.as released on

eng.aging to serve lidward in his foreign wars. He died be-

fore 1320, in which year the e.arldom of Jlenteith was under

the ch.arge of his brother. Sir John, during the minority of

his son, Al.an, 7th e.irl.

The latter joined Robert the Bruce when he asserted his

title to the throne of Scotland in 1306. Taken prisoner tiie

same ye.ar, he was forfeited, and died in England, leaving a

son, who died without issue, and a daughter, Mary, countess

of Menteith in her own right. The eighth earl of Jlenteith,

JIurdocli by name, is snpposod to have been the brother of

Earl Alan, but this is uncertain. It would seem th.-it, in

1330, he made an agreement with JIary, daughter of Earl

Alan, for the possession of tlie earldom. He was killed 19tli

July, 1333, at the battle of Halidonhill, where he was one of

the commanders of the second division of the Scots army.

JIan', countess of Jlenteith, married Sir John Graham,

who, in her right, became 9th earl of Jlenteith. Ho w.as taken

prisoner at the battle of Durham, 17th October, 1346, and
!

having renounced the fealty which he had formerly sworn to
i

Edward III., he was put to death as a traitor in February
'

1317. By his countess he had one daughter, Jlargaret,

countess of Menteith, who married Robert Stewart, third son

of Robert II., earl of jlenteith in his wife's right, duke of
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I. gintunt Stottisb ^iiw.
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1. Murdoch,
earliest on record.

Keign of
David I.

J. GilcliriBt.

3. Manritias,

died reign of

Alexander II.

4. Walter Conriyn,

2d son of

eari of Buchan, in

right of his wife,

cider dr. of 3d
earl, regent of

Scotland, died
1258.

I. Sentient Scottish "Mint.
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I. Maliie, present
at battle of

Standard 1138.

2. Ferquhard or

Ferteth, his son,

reign Malcolm
IV., died 1171.
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3. Gilbert, son of

Ferqnhard,
founder of Inch-

affray mouasterv.
1198.

4. Robert, his

son, died before

1244.

5. 6, 7

5. Malise, son of

Robert, Sied ll!70.

6. Malise, his snr;,

died before 1294.

7. Malise, his nor.,

(e. of C. and Ork-
ney by marriage, j

Forfeited

1345.

ir. Jint of Stttoart.
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6. Walter, sur-

namcd Uaillocli,

3d son of 3d High
Steward of Scot-

land, in right of
cis wife, younger
daughter of 3d

earl. Died soon
after 1294.

6. Alexander, el

derson of5th earl

died before 1320.

7. Alan, his son
died before 1330.

8. Murdoch, his

supposed Urother

killed atHallidon
hill. 133;)

9. Mary, dr. of 7th
j

earl, countess in

her own right, m.
Sir John Graham,
9th carl in her
right, who was
executed by
Edward HI.

1347

III. ^ogal fine of Stttoart,

10 11

Robert, duke of

Albany, 3d son
of King Robert

11., in right of his

wife, Margaret,
dr. of 9tli earl.

Hied 1411.

Murdoch, duke
of Albany, their

son, executed
by .Lames I.

i425. Title for-

feited and vested
in crown

11. Porag.

1

Sir Maurice Mo-
ray of Drumsar-

gard, lord of

Clydesdale,
nephew of 7lh

earl, created 1343.

Slain at battle of

Durham 1346.

III. Sttfeart, laogal fiiu, Ist.

1 2

/n maie lint.

1. Robert, Stew-
ard of Scotland,

nephew of David
II., afterwardk
King Robert II

.

created 1361.

2. David, his son;

(E. PAtATrNK

' mie re •

vived in 1631 in

favour of William,

1th earl of Men-
teth, but cancelled

1632.

IV. fim of (graham. V. SfEtoarl. % f., 2(1.

3 4 1

Eapbame, dr. ot

Earl David, rn

Sir Pat. Graham
of Duudaff, who
assumed earldom

in her right.

Killed at Crieff,

1413.

Malise, theii

son. deprived of

earldom by James
J. Instead, earl of

Menteth, 1427.

See line of

Graham, earl of

Menteth, below

Walter, earl of
Athole, uncle and

murderer of

JameeL Created
e.orl of Strathern
H27. Executed

Earldom
annexed to

Crown, 14.55

VII. tfaiibom of McnUtb contimieb.-

1. Malise Graham,
deprived carl of
Strathern, cnmted
earl of Menteth,

1427. Died
before May 17,

1491.

2 & 3

2. Alexander,
grandson of 1st

earl.

3. William, elder

son of 2d earl
Died l.'>37.

4 & 5

4. John, eldest

s<in of 3d earL
Killed 1.547.

5. William, sou
of 4th earl.

-IV. 1fin£ of (graljnm, €arl of ^tratgjErn.

6. John, son of

5th earl.

Died 1598.

V. (ff arlbom of ^irt^ anb Pmtttb. ^Tiiu of dta^am, (Sari of Stral^ent, foutinutb.

William, 7th earl

ofMentotli, per fa-

vour of Charles I.,

obtained. In 1631.
patentof"EAK
Stkathkkn and
MKHTETH"ashcir
female of David
earl palatine .

Stratheni. But (as

was then suppos-
ed to be the case),
he claimed to be
iicjirer in blood lo

of

of

the crown tlu^n

the king, and in

consequence his

patent was can-
celled in 1632. In-

stead he was cre-

ated Eahl of
AiuTH, 1633, hut
with precedence of
Menteth, which
I itterwasthercliy
virtually extin-
guished as an tin-

fien/ Scottish tille.

Titles claimed by
the late Robert

Barclay Allardice

of Urie, Esq.

ARMS OF EAltl.DOM OF AIRTH.

VuArterings:—1 and 4. for Gralmni. 2 and 3. for Stewart of Strathern.
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Albany nnd regent of Scotland. In 1371 lie became eail of

j

Fife, by resignation of Isabella, countess of File, widow of bis

j

brotlicr, Walter Stewart, second son of Kobert II. (See vol.

I
i. p. 33). On tbe execution and forfeiture in 1425, of Mnr-

I dac, duke of Albany, their son, tbe earldom of Jlentcitli bo-

I came vested in tbe crown, and w.is granted, Gtb September

j

1127, to Malise Grabam, earl of Sfrathcrn. (See Stratiiern,

j
earl of.)

Malise Grabam, under tbe designation of earl of Jlenfi-itb,

\
went to Kiigland, 9tb December, 1127, tbree montbs after

j

obtaining tbe earldom, as a supplementary hostage for James

j

I., in room of Robert Krskine. He was not released till 17tb

I

June 1453, when Alexander, master of Menteitb, his son,

I

surrendered himself as a hostage in bis stead. He was dead

before May 17, 1491. He liad three sons. 1. Alexander,

who predeceased him, leaving a son of his own name, the

successor of bis grandfather. 2. Sir John Graham of Kil-

bride, called Sir John with tbe bright sword, from whom de-

scended the Grahams of Gartmorc, tbe Grahams of West

Preston, the Grahams of Netberby, near Carlisle, baronets,

i the Grahams of Norton Conyers, Yorkshire, baronets, and

i

otlier families of tbe name. 3. Walter.

Alexander, 13th earl of Menteitli, had two sons, William,

14th carl, who died in 1537, and Walter, ancestor of the

Grahams of Gartur. Tbe eldest son of the 14tb earl, Jolm,

15th earl of Jlenteitb, was one of the prisoners taken at the

I

rout of Solw.ay in 1452. He was ransomed for 200 marks,

!
being designed in I!ymer's Foedera, Lord Monkcrcth. He

I

was killed in a scuflie with the tutor of Appin in October

' 1517.

His son, William, IGtb earl, had a son, John, 17th earl,

I

who was one of the lords of the congregation, and took a pro-

j

minent part in their proceedings against the queen regent in

j

1559 and 15C0. His name appears in tbe letters of demis-

;

sion and constitution of procurators forced from Queen Mary

I

in 15G7 r.t Lochleven castle, as one of the noblemen author-

ized to transfer the crown to her son. Prince James. With

the Regent Moray be fnugbt against the queen at the bat-

I tie of I.angside. He died in 1598. His son William, ISth

I earl, born in 1589, was served heir of bis father in the earl-

dom ol Menteitb, 7th August, IGIO. He voted against the

! live articles of Perth in 1G21, and on 18th November, 1G28,

! he was appointed .an extraordinary lord of session, being

! at that time president of tbe privy council and justice

]

general. On 25tli August 1G30, be was served heir to

David, carl of Strathern, eldest son of Robert II. by Eu-

phemia Ross, and was allowed by Charles I. to assmnc

the stylo of earl of Strathern and Menteitb. This service,

however, was objected to by Drummond of Hawtbornden,

who informed his majesty that " the restoring the earl Men-

teitb in blood, and allowing his descent and title to the earl-

dom of Strathern, is thought to be disadvantageous to tbe

king's majesty." The earl on his part is said to have re-

nounced his claim to the crown, with a reservation of the

rights of bis blood, and to b.-we boasted that he had " the

redilest blood in Scotland." The power of Robert H. to le-

gitimatize his cbiblrcn by Elizabeth i^Iure being di^puted,

David, earl of Strathern, was considered tbe eldest legitimate

son. His retour and patent were set aside March 22, 1633,

but on 2Sth of same month he was created carl of Aii th,

with the precedency of Jlenteitb. In IGU he was one of the

noblemen proposed liy King Charles I. to be chosen privy

councillors, but was rejected by tbe Estates. He did not

appe.ar in tbe parliament of th.at year, but was present on

17th January, IG\ I, when be '• did sueare and subscrive so-

lemnly tbe covenant, bande, and othe of pail." The same
year be was nominated one of the committee of war for tbe

county of Perth. His portrait, from an engraving in Pink-

erton's Gallery, is suhjoined :

His eldest son, John, Lord Kllpont, joined the marquis of

Montrose in 1G44, with a body of 500 men, and at the battle

of Tippermuir commanded the left wing of the royal army.

He was assassinated on the morning of tbe 5tli September in

Montrose's c:imp, by one of his own vassals, James Stewart of

Ardvoirlicli, who had long enjoyed his confidence. His lord-

ship's father, the earl of Airth, had frequently warned him

against continuing bis intimacy with Stewart, whom lie .always

suspected, but, disregarding bis father's injunctions, be put

himself entirely under his guidance. It is asserted that it

was by his advice that Lord Kilpont joined the roy.al army,

and that wishing to ingi'atiate himself with the Covenanters,

he formed a design to assassinate Montrose, or bis major-

general, Macdonald ; but as he thought that he could not

carry his design into execution without the assistance of bis

lordship, he endeavoured to prev.iil upon him to assist in the

execution of his wicked project. On the night in question

they slept together, and having prevailed upon Lord Kilpunt

to rise and take a w.alk in the fields before d.aylight, he there

disclosed his horrid purpose, and entreated his lordship to

concur therein. On Lord Kilpont rejecting the base propo-

sal with indignation, Stewart, alarmed lest bo might discover

the matter, suddenly drew his dirk, and mortally wounded

him in several pl.aces. He then fled, and killed, in passing,

a sentinel who stood in his way. Aided by the darkness of

the morning, he escaped, and thereafter joined the forces of

tbe carl of Argyle.

Lord Kilpont left a son, Willi.am, who succeeded his grand-

father as second earl of Airth and .Menteitb, and two daugh-

tcr.s, Mary and Elizabeth. Tbe second carl, after disposing

of his whole landed property to the marquis of Jlontrose and

Sir John Grabam of Gartmorc, died without issue, 12tli Sep-

tember, 1G94, when bis titles became dormant, (see vol. i. p.
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32). The p;iris!i of Aberfnylc in IVrtlisliire, I'ob Hov's conu-

try, icinnerly the pruporlv of the e;iils of Menteith, c:iine

thus into the possession of the Montrose family. The eaiTs

i^hlei' sister, JIar}', styled Lady Mary Graham, married, 8th

Octiilior, IGG'2, Sir John Allardice of Allardice, baronet.

'J'heir descend.-mt, James Allardice of Allardice, horn 29th

Janii.uy 1727, married in 17.5G, Anne, daughter of James

Harc'lay, hanker, London, and by her had an only child, Sa-

rah Anne Allardice, liis sole lieiress, who married in 1776,

IJulicrt Barclay of Urie, Kincardineshire, and their son, Ro-

bert Barclay Allardice of Urie, well known in his day as Cap-

tain Barclay, the pedestrian, claimed the titles of Airth,

Menteith, and Strathern, but died in 1855, when Lis claim

was before the House of Lords. He left a daughter, who

man led a person of the name of Ritchie, and had a son. (See

vol. i. p. 2-11.)

The second earl's younger sister, Eiiz:il)cth, wife of Sir

William Graham of Gartmore, Perthshire, baronet, had a

son. Sir John Graham, and a daughter. The former died

12th July 1708, without issue. The latter, by her husband,

James Hodge of Gladsmuir, advocate, had one daughter,

Jlary Hodge, married, in her I4th year, to William Grahimi,

son of John Graham of Callingad. They had a son, William

Graham, born in 1720, who assumed tlie title of earl of Men-

teith, and voted as such at the general election of the sixteen

Scots representative peers, 5lh May 17'jl, bat his vote was

disallowed by the house of peers, 2d March, 17C2. He died

without issue in 1787.

The family of Stuart Mentetli of Clostburn, Dumlries-

s!;ire, an estate which they purchased from its old posses-

sors, the Kirkpatricks, descend from Sir John Menlcth, first

of the Jlenteths of Kar.ss, living in the reign of David II.,

second son of Sir Walter Mentcth of Rusky, slain by the

Di iimmonds, (see p. 118 of this volume). A baronetcy of

Nova Scotia was conferred in 1838 on Sir Charles Granville

Stuart Jlenteth of Closeburn, who died in December 18-17.

His eldest son, Sir James Stuart Menteth, born in 1792,

was educated at Rugby, and is author of a work on the geo-

logy of the Snowuon range. Heir presinnptive|liis nephew.

Menteth of Closeburn claims to be chief of the ancient house

of Menteth, but his right to that distinction is disputed by

Dalyell of Binns, as descended from Magdalen, elder daugh-

ter of Sir Thomas Dalyell, the second baronet of that family.

This lady m.arried, in 1688, James Menteith of Auldcathy,

heir-malo and representative of the earls of Menteith. Their

eldest son, James Menteith, succeeding as the third baronet

of Binns, assumed the name of Dalyell, (see vol. ii. p. 1.5).

JIkn'ZIICS, a surname originally Mengues, or Mingles (pro-

nounced Meenies,) was one of the first adopted in Scotland,

about the time of Malcolm Canmore. Fi'om the armorial

bearings of the Menzieses it has been conjectured that the

first who settled in Scotland of this surname was a branch of

the Anglo-Norman family of Jleyners, by corruption Man-

ners. But this supposition does not seem to be well-founded.

The family of iMenzies obtained a footing in Athol at a

very early period, as appears from a charter granted by Robert

de Jleyners in the reign of Alexander II. This Robert do

Meyners, knight, on the accession of Alexander III. (1219)

was appointed lord high chamberlain of Scotland. His son,

Alexander de Jleyners, possessed the lands of Weem and

Abcrfeldy in Atlwl, and Glendochart in Breadalbane, besides

his original seat of Durrisdeer in Nithsdale, and was succeed-

ed by his eldest son, Robert, in the estates of Weem, Aber-

feldy, and Durrisdecr, whilst liis second son, Thomas, obtain-

ed the lands of Fortingal.

From the former of these is descended the family of Men-
zies of Castle Jlenzies, but that of Menzies of Fortingal ter-

minated in an lieiress, by w hose marriage with James Stewart,

a natural son of the Wolf of Badenoeh, the property was

transfeired to the Stewarts.

In 1487, Sir Robert de Mengues, knight, 'ibtained from the

crown, in consequence of the destruction of his mansion-house

by fire, a grant of the whole lands and estate erected into a free '

j

barony, under the title of the barony of Jlenzies. From this i

Sir Robert lineally descended Sir Alexander Menzies of Cas-
'

tie Menzies, who was created a baronet of Nova Scotia, 2d

September 1665.

Sir Robert Menzies, the seventh baronet, who succeeded

his father 20th August 1844, is the 27th of the family in

regular descent; marii^'d, with issue. Seats: Castle Men-

zies, R.-innoch Lodge, and Foss House, Perthshire. The an-
;

j

cient designation of the family was Menzies of Weem, their i

common style in old writings. In 1423 " David Jlenzies of
;

j

Weem (de Wimo)" was appointed governor of Orkney and J

Shetland, " under the most clement lord and lady, Eric and

Philippa, king and queen ofDenmark, Swedland, and Norway."
'

The clan Menzies, the badge of which is a species of heath
j

called the Jlenzies heath, like the Frasers, the Stewarts, and

the Chisholms, is not originally Celtic, though long estab-

lished in the Highlands. The Gaelic appellation of the clan

is .Veiiiinii-ich, a term, by way of distinction, also applied to

the chief. Of the eighteen clans who fought under Robert

Bi-uce at Bannockburn, the Jlenzieses were one.

The " Jlenyesses" of Athol and Appin Dull are named in

the parliamentary rolls of 1587, as among " the clans that

have captains, chiefs, and chieftains." Castle Jlenzies, the

principal modern seat of the chief, stands to the east of Loch

Tay, in the parish and near to the church of Weem, in Perth-

shire. Weem castle, the old mansion, is picturesquely .situated, :

under a rock called Craig Uamli, hence its name. In 1502,
[

,

it was burnt by Niel Stuart of Forting.il, in consequence of a i

!

dispute respecting the lands of Rannoch. i

In IGl-i, when the marquis of Jlontrose appe.ired in arms
|

j

for Charles I., and had commenced his march from Athol to-

wards Strathern, he sent forward a trumpeter, with a friend- '

I

ly notice, to the Jlenzieses, that it was his intention to pass :

through their country. His messenger, unhappily, was mal-
j

treated, and as some writers say, slain by them. They also
I

harassed the rear of his army, which so exasperated Jlon- i I

troso that he ordered his men to plunder and lay waste their

lands and burn their Iiouscs.
;

,

During the rebellion of 1715, several getitlemen of the clan '

!

Menzies were taken prisoners at the battle of Dunblane. One
i

of them, Jlenzies of Culdares, having been pardoned for his
1

1

share in the rebellion, felt himself bound not to join in that of

1745. He sent, however, a vaUnible horse as a present to '

Prince Charles, but his servant who had it in charge, was
j

seized and executed, nobly refusing to divulge his master's
I

name, though offered his life if he would do so. In the lat- '

!

ter rebellion, Jlenzies of Shian took out the clan, and Iield i 1

the rank of colonel, though the chief remained at home. The
\

effective force of the clan in 1745 was 300. i

The old family of Menzies of Pitfoddels in Aberdeenshire, '

\

is now extinct. Gilbert Jlenzies of this family, cariying the
;

[

royal standard at the lust battle of Jlontrose, in 1650, re-
^

peatedly refused quarter, arid fell rather than give up his charge.
j

The last laird, John Jlenzies of Pitfoddels, never married, and :

j



MERCER, 151 JAMES.

(levotcil tlio fjroiilm- p.irt of liis Inrge estate to tlie endowment

of a Ivoniaii Catliolic colIeg'\ lie died in 1813.

]\IP^RCER, Hugh,' brigadier - general in the

American Revolutionary army, was born in Scot-

land in 1721. Having studied medicine, lie acted

as a surgeon's assistant in llie memorable battle

of Ciilloden, but on which side he served is not

mentioned. Not long after he emigrated to Penn-

sylviinia, but removed to Virginia, where he set-

tled and married. He was engaged with Wa.sli-

ington ill t1ie Indian wars of 17.')'> and following

3'e,irs, and for his good conduct in an expedition

against an Indian settlement, condiirtril liy Colonel

Ai-mstroiig, in St'])tciiilii'r ITTiG, lii> was jirescnted

w'nh a medal l)y tin', corporation of the cit}- of

Philadelphia. In one ni' the engagements with

the Indians he was wnuinhMl in the right wrist,

and being separated from his party, on the ap-

proach of some hostile Indians, he took refuge in

till' hollow trunk of a large tree, >\ hcrc he remain-

ed till they disappeared. He then pursued his

course through a trackless wild of abijut one hun-

dred miles, until he reaclied Fort Cumberland,

subsisting by the way on the body of a rattlesnake

which he met ami killed. "\\'lien the \\:\v liruke

out between the colonists and the niothrr eonntry,

he relinquished an extensive medical jjraclice, and

immediately joined the standard of Independence.

Under Washington he soon reached the rank of

brigadier-general, and particularlj' distinguished

himself in the battles of Trenton and rriucctun.

in the M'inter of 177C-7. In the latter engage-

ment he commanded the van of the American

army, and after exerting the utmost valour and

activity, had his horse killed under him. Being

thus dismounted, he was surrounded by some

Ibilish soldiers, with whom, on being refused

quarter, he fought desperately, until he was com-

pletely overpowered, and after being severely

wounded, was left for dead on the lield of battle.

He died about a week after in the arms of I\Iajor

George Lewis, the nephew of Genenil Washing-

ton, whom his uncle had commissioned to attend

him. Another American olBcer, General Wilkin-

son, in his ' ^lemoirs,' observes, "In General

fiercer we lost, at Princeton, a chief who, for

education, talents, di.'sposition, integrity, and pa-

triotism, was second to no man but the com-

mander-in-chief, and was qualified to till the

highest trusts in the country."

jMERCER, James, the friend of Beattie, and

himself a poet of some consideration, was born at

Aberdeen, February 27, 1731, and received his

education at the grammar school and Marischal

college of that city. He was the eldest of two

sons of Thomas Mercer, a gentleman of fortune in

Aberdeenshire, who, in 17-1.'), took arms for the

Pretender, and for his share in the rebellion wr.s

obliged lo retire to France. At the commence-

ment of the Seven Years' war, James Mercer,

who had resided with his father for several years

in Paris, came to Kugland, and joined the expedi-

tion ag.'iinst Cherbourg as a volunteer. He after-

wards proceeded to Germany, and in a short time

was promoted to an ensigncy in one of the English

regiments serving with the allied arm\'. He sub-

sequently received a lieutenant's commission in a

battalion of Ilighhinders, then newly raised by

Lieutenant - colonel Campbell. During several

years arduous service in the lield, he distinguished

himself liy his bravery and skill, and at the battle

of ]\Iin(len in 17.j!), his regiment was one of the

six whose gallantry on that occasion saved the

rc]iutation of the allied arms.

Shortly beAu-o the peace of 176:3, General

Gr;eme, a relation of Mv. Mercer, presented him

with a company in a regiment which he had un-

dertaken to raise, and which was afterwards called

the Queen's. On his return to Britain he took up

his residence at Aberdeen, where he enjoyed the

society of Dr. Beattie, Dr. Ileid, Di'. Campbell,

ami other eminent men, and where, in the summer

of ]7<Jo, he married a daughter of Mr. Douglas

of Fccliil, the sister of Lord Glenbcrvie. The

" Queen's," with other new corps, being reduced

at the peace, Captain fiercer purchased a com-

pany in tlie -19th regiment, and removed with it

to Ireland, where he served for nearly ten }-cars.

The majority of his regiment becoming vacant, he

succeeded to it by purchase. In 1772 he conclud-

ed a li'caty an ith the lieutenant-colonel for becom-

ing his successor; but the commission being given

to another, induced him to sell out of the army,

when he retired with his family to a small cottage

in the vicinity of Aberdeen. In 1776-7 the did<e

of Gordon raised a regiment of Fencibles, the ma-
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jority of which he coiifencd on Mercer, who held

it during the American war. On the return of

peace, the major again settled with his family in

the neighbourliood of Aberdeen, where he died

November 18, 1803. In 1797 a small volume of

his ' Lyric Poems' was published anonymously. A
second edition, with seven new pieces, appeared

early iu ISOi with his name. To a third edition

an account of his life was prefixed, by Lord Glcn-

bervie. Major Mercer was not only an elegant

I and accomplished scholar, but possessed much

original genius as a poet, conjoined with a high

feeling of refined modesty, which led him to con-

ceal, even from his intimate friends, the poems

which he wrote for his own amusement. There

are some interesting notices of him in Sir William

Forbes' Life of Dr. Beattie.

His daughter, Miss IMercer of Aldie, in Tertli-

sliire, an ancient barony at one time possessed by

the jNIercers of Meikloui-, in the same county, be-

came the wife of Admiral Lord Viscount Keith,

and the mother of Baroness Keith, Countess

Flahaut. (See vol. ii. p. 140).

MESTON, William, a burlesque poet, the son

of a blacksmith, was born in the parish of Mid-

mar, in Aberdeenshire, iu 1688. After comi^leting

his studies at the Marischal college of Aberdeen,

lie became one of the teachers in the grammar

school of that city. He was subsequently for

some time tutor to the young Earl Marischal and

his brother, afterwards Marshal Keith ; and in

1714, by the interest of the countess, was ap-

pointed professor of philosophy in the Marischal

college. On the breaking out of the rebellion in

1715, he espoused the cause of the Pretender, and

was by the Earl Marischal made governor of

Dunottar castle. After the defeat of the rebels at

Sheriflfmuir, he was forced to flee for refuge to the

mountains, where, till the passing of the act of

indemnity, he lurked with a few fugitives like

j

himself, for whose amusement he composed scve-

I

ral pieces in rhj'me, which he styled ' Llother

I
Grim's Tales.' He subsequently chiefly resided

' in the family of the countess of Marischal, till the

j

death of that lady ; and some years afterwards, in

conjunction with his brother Samuel, he com-

menced an academy in Elgin, which, however, did

not ultimately succeed. He then successively

settled at Tun-iff, Montrose, and Perth, and finally
'

became preceptor in the family of Mr. Oliphant of

Gask. His health beginning to decline, for the

benefit of the mineral waters, he removed to

Peterhead, where he was principally supported
\

by the bounty of the countess of Errol. Subse-
[

qucntly he removed to Aberdeen, where he died
^

in the spring of 1745. He is said to have been a

superior classical scholar, and by no means a con-
j

temptiblc philosopher and mathematician. He
I

was much addicted to conviviality, and is stated
'

to have had a lively wit, and no small share of

humour. His poems, however, are very coarse

productions. The first of them printed, called
j

' The Knight," appeared iu 1723. It is a scur-

rilous description of Presbyterianism, after the i

manner of Butler, of whom he was a professed

imitator. Afterwards was published the first de-

cade of 'Mother Grim's Tales;" and next the

second decade, by lodocns, her grandson; and

some years after, the piece called ' j\Iob contra

Mob.' The whole, collected into a small volume,

appeared at Edinburgh in 1767, with a short ac-

count of his life prefixed. Some Latin poems are

included in the second decade, but these are of

inferior merit.

MKTiivr.N, Lord, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred in 1528, by James V., on Henry Stewart, second son

of Andrew, Lord Evandale, afterwards Lord Ocliiltree, a de-

scendant of Kobert, duke of Albany, son of King Robert IL

He owed liis peerage and success in life to the favour of tlic

queen-niotlier, Margaret, sister of Henry VII 1. of England,

and widow of James IV. In 1524, previous to lier divorce

from the earl of Angus, lier second husband, she raised Stewart

first to the oftice of treasurer, and afterwards to that of chan-

cellor, intrusting to his inexperienced hands the chief guid-

ance of public affairs. In the following year, on the divorce

being granted, she married liim. The lordship of Jlethven,

in Perthshire, was part of the dowry lands usually appropri-

ated for the maintenance of the queen-dowager of Scotland,
'

together with tlie lordship and castle of Stirling and the lands

of Balqnhidder, &c., and wlien JIargaret procured the peer-

age for her third husband, the barony of Jlethven was dis-

solved from the crown, and erected into a lordship, in favour

of Henry Stewart, and his heirs male, on the queen's resign-

ing her jointure of the lordship of Stirling.
|

Subsequently, when Angus held the supreme power, an
|

attempt on his part to obtain forcible possession of the

queen's dowry lands, so alarmed Margaret and Jlethven,

that, in their terror, tliey took refuge in the castle of Edin-

burgh. That fortress, however, was soon delivered up to

Angus, when ho ordered Jlethven to a temporary imprison-

ment. The queen afterwards endeavoured to obtain a divorce

from Jlethven, but her son, the young king, put a stop to

the proceedings. By Lord Jlethven the queen had a daugh-

ter, who died in infancy. Her own death took place at the
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custlo of Mctliven in 1540. Lord Mcthven afterwards married

.Timet Stewart, daugliter of tlic carl of Atliol, by wlioin lie

liMil a son, Hcniy, second Lord Metliveii.

The second Lord Jletliven married Jean, daugliter of Pa-

trick Lord lUitliven, and was killed at I!rou{;Iiton, in the yi-

cinity of Kdinburgh, by a cannon-ball shot from the castle of

that city during the siege thereof, .'id March 1572. He left

a son, Henry, third Lord Methven, who died without heirs

male in 1581, when the title became extinct.

The lordship of Jlethven was jiurcliased in lOGI, by Patrick

Smythe of I'raco, whose great-grandson, David Smythe of

Jlethven, was .i lord of session from 1793 to 1800, under

the title of Lord Methven.

MICKLE, Wii.i.iAvi , 1 11.U S, tmiisl;ttoi-of 'The

Liisiiul,' was boin ;il Lniigholii), Duinfrius-shire,

September 29, 17;>1. He w.ns the tliird sou of the

Rev. Alexander IMiekle or Meikic, iiiiiiister of

Laiigliolin, ulio, (liniiio' his residenee in London,

previous to liis obtnininj; tliat living, superintend-

ed (he translation (if I?ayie's Dictionary, to wliicli

lie is said to liave contributed the greater part of

tiic additional notes. Ilis son AVilliam received

the early jntrt of bis education at the grammar

school of his nati\ e parish, and on tlie removal of

his fatlier, in his old age. to Kdinburgh, was sent

to the High school of that city, where he acquired

a competent knowledge of the Latin and Greek

languages. Ilis fatlier having, on the death of

IMr. Myrtle, his brother-in-law, a brewer in the

neighbourl'.ood of Edinbiu'gli, pm-chascd the busi-

ness for his eldest son, the poet was, in his six-

teenth year, taken from school to be employed as

a clerk in the, counting-house, and five years af-

terwards the breweiy was transferred to him.

Before he was eighteen lie liad Mrittrn several

pieces, and some of his poems appeared in the

'Scots Magazine;' two of which, one 'On passing

through the rarliament Close at ^Midnight and

the Other, entitled ' Knowledge, an Ode,' were

reprinted in Dcmaldson's C'ollection. In 1702 he

sent to Ldudou an ethic ]ioeni, enliilcd ' Provi-

dence," which was published anonymously, but did

not meet with much success. Having sustained

consideralilc losses in business, ^^ilich led to his

bankruptcy, he quitted Edinburgli hastily, in April

176li, and on the 8th of May arrived in London,

lie had previously written a letter to Lord Li t-

tleton, to whom he submitted some of his pieces,

but without producing any other result than a

comidimentary correspondence. lie had hoped to

have obtained through his lordship's interest some

civil or commercial appointment, either in the

West Indies or at home ; but in this he Avas dis-

appointed, and hearing that the humble situation

of corrector to the Clarendon press, at Oxford,

wa.s vacant, he offered himself as a candidate, and

being successful in his ajiplication, he entered up-

on his duties in 17G."i. During the same year he

published ' PoUio, an Elegiac Ode,' and in 17G7

ajipeared 'The Concubine,' a poem, in two cantos,

in the manner of Spenser. The former did not

attract miu-h notice, but the latter was most fa-

vourably received, and after it had gone through

three editions, the title, to prevent misapprehen-

sion, was changed to ' Sir Martyn.'

In 1771 ]\lickle issued proposals for printing by

subscription a translation of the ' Lusiad,' by

Camoens, to (pialify himself for which he learnt

tiie Portuguese language. He published the first

book as a specimen, and from the encouragement

lie received, he was induced to resign his situation

at the C^Iarendon press, with the A'icw of devciting

his whole time to tiie work, when he took up his

i-esidence at a farm-house at Eorest-liill, about five

miles from 0-xford. During the progress of the

translation he edited Pearch's Collection of Poems,

in which he inserted several of his own. particu-

larly ' Ileiigist and Mcy," a ballad, an ' Eleg}- on

jNIaiT Queen of Scots.' To Evans' Collection he also

contributed his beautiful ballad of ' Cuninor Ilall,'

founded on the tragic story of the lady of the earl

of licicester, the favourite of Queen Elizabeth.

Ilis translation was finished in 1775, and publish-

ed in a quarto volume, under the title of 'The

Lusiad, or the Discovery of India,' to which lie

]n-efixed an Introduction, containing a defence of

commerce and civilization, in re}ily to the misre-

presentations of llousseau, and other visionaiy

philosfiphers ; a History of the Portuguese criu-

quc-ts in India; a Life of Camoens; and a Dis-

sertation on the Lusiad, and Observations on

Epic Poetry. The work obtained for him a high

reputation, and so rapid was its sale, that a second

edition was called for in June 1778. By the two

editions he is said tfi have realized about £1,000.

Previously to its publication he had written a

Tragedy, entitled the ' Siege of Marseilles,'' w hicli

was rejected by Garrick, and afterwards by Mr,

Harris, and was never acted.

!
I

.1
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In May 1779 he was, by Commodore John-

stone, a distant relation of his own, appointed his

secretary, and lie sailed on board of the Roniney,

man-of-war, with a small squadron, destined for

the Tagns. In the ensuing November he anived

at Lisbon, whore, as the translator of the national

poet of Portugal, he received many flattering

marks of attention from the nobility, gentry, and

literati of that countrj', and was admitted a mem-

ber of the Iloyal Academy, at its opening. AVhile

in that capital he wrote his poem of ' Almada lliil,

an Epistle from Lisbon,' published in 1781, but

without adding to his reputation. In 1780 the

squadron returned to England, and Mickle re-

mained for a time at London, as joint agent for

the disposal of some valuable prizes taken dui ing

the expedition. lie had acquired considerable

wealth, and in 1783 he married Miss Mary Tom -

kins, the daughter of the farmer with ^hom he

had resided at Foresthill, and v. ith this lady he

received a handsome dower. He now went to re-

side at Wheatley, near Oxford, where he emplo}--

ed his leisure in writing some occasional pieces, in

revising his published poems, and in contributing

a series of Essays, entitled 'Ti:e Fragments of

Leo,' and some other articles, to the European

i\[agazine. He died, after a short illness, October

2S, 1788. He left one son, for whose benctit a

volume of his collected poems was published by

subscription in 1795.—His works are:

Providence, or .\r.iiulus and Emiloc; a Poem. London,

17G2.

Tlie Concubine. 1705. 2J edition, under the title of Sir

Jlartyn ; a Poem, in the manner of Spenser. London, 1778,

' 4to.

The first hook of the Lusiad; publislied as a specimen of

a Transhition of that celebrated Epic Poem. Oxf. 1771, 8vo.

The Lusiad, or tlie Discovery of India ; an Epic Poem.

From the original Portngncse of Camoens. O-xf. 1775, 4to.

2d edit. 1778, 4to. Also in 2 vols. 8vo.

X Candid Examination of the Reasons for depriving the

East bidia Company of its Charter. 1770, Ito. Tliis pam-

phlet is written in defence of the Company.

Tlie Siege of Marseilles ; a Tragedy.

Almada Hill; an Epistle from Lisbon. Lond. 1781, ito.

The Prophecy of Queen Emma ; a Ballad. 1782.

A Letter to Dr. Ilarwood, whereby some of his evasive

glosses, false translations, and blundering criticisms, in sup-

port of the Arian Heresy, contained in his liberal tr;'.nslation

of the New Testament, are pointed out and confuted.

Voltaire in the Shades
;

or, Dialognes on the Delstical

Controversy.

Poems, and a Tragedy. Lond. 1791, lio. This contains

an account of his life, by Mr. Ireland.

A more full and correct collection of liis poems appeared in I

1807, with a Life, by the 13ev. John Sim.

j

MiDDi.KTox, earl of, a title, now extinct, in the peemge of

Scotland, conferred in 1660, on John Middleton, the elder

son of John Middleton of Caldhanie, Kincardineshire, who
j

was killed sitting in his eh.iir, by Montrose's soldiers in 1645
j

He was a descendant of Malcolm the son of Kenneth, who
got a charter from William the Lion of the lands of Jliddle-

ton in that county, confirming a donation of King Duncan of

the same, and in consequence assumed the name.

The first earl was from his youth bred to arms. He at

first "trailed a pike" in Hepburn's regiment in Prance, but
j

in the civil wars of 1G42, he entered into the senice of the
|

parliament of England as connnander of a troop of horse, and
I

lieutenant-general under Sir William Waller. He afterwards I

returned to Scotland, and got a comm.and in General Leslie'.s

army. At the battle of Philiphaugli, 13th September 1G45, i

he contributed so much to the defeat of Montrose, that the

Estates voted him a gift of 25,OHO marks. Wlien Montrose,

soon after, sat dov,-n before Inverness, General Middleton,

with a small brigade, was detached from General Leslie's

army and sent nortli to watch his motions. In tlie beginning

oC May 1016, he left .\berdeen, with a force of GOO horse and

800 foot, and arrived in the neighbourhood of Inverness, on

the 9th of that month. Montrose immediately withdrew to

a position at some distance from the town, but. soon quitted

it. Two regiments of cavahy, despatched by Middleton

after him, attacked his rear, cut oft" some of his men, and

captured two pieces of cannon, and part of his baggage,

lietreating into Ross-shire, he was pursued by Middleton,

who, as Montrose avoided an engagement, laid siege to the

castle of the earl of Seafortli in the chanonry of Ross. After

a siege of four days he took it, but immediately restored it to

the countess of Seaforth, who was within the castle at the

time.
i

Learning that the marquis of Huntly had seized upon I

-Aberdeen, Jliddleton retraced his steps, and re-crossing the

Spey, made him retire into JIar. He then returned to Aber-
i

dcen. When Jlontrose received orders from the king to dis-

band his forces, Middleton was intrusted by the committee
|

of Estates with ample powers to negotiate with him, and in

order to discuss the conditions offered to the former, a con-

ference was held between them on 2"2d July 1646, on a lue.a-
'

dow, near the river Hay in Angus, where they " conferred
|

for the space of two hours, there being none i;ear them but

one man for each of them to hold his liorse." {Gtit/iri/'s t

^femoirs, p. 179). The conditions were that his followers,
j

on making their submission, should be pardoned, and that
j

Montrose and a few others of the principal leaders shoiild
j

leave the kingdom. i

The following year, Middleton was occupied in pursuing

the marquis of Huntly, who had appeared in arms for the

king, through Glenmoriston, Badenoch, and other places in

t!;e north, till he was captured by Lieutenant-colonel Men-

zios in Strathdon. Some Irish taken at the same time were

shot by Middleton's orders in Strathbogie. In 1G48, when

the "Engagement" was formed for the rescue of the king,

he was appointed lieutenant-general of the cavalry in the

army ordered to bo levied by the Scots Estates for that pur-

pose. The levy being opposed by a large body of Covenant- '

ers and others at Mauchliue in Ayrshire, on the 12th June,
;

Middleton charged them, and put the whole to the rout, with
j

the loss of eighty killed and a great many taken prisoners,
j

among whom were some ministers. He also dispersed som.e
j

gatherings of the western Covenanters at Carsphairn and .
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otliiT places. He beliaveil with grent gallantly at the battle

of I'reston in Enf;land, ITlli August tlio same year, Init liis

Imrsc being shot uniier him, lie was taken prisoner .and sent

to Newcastle. He scon made his escape, however, and witli

Lord Ogilvy attempted a rising in Athol in favour of the

king. The jiarty being dispersed by a force nnder tlic orders

of General David Leslie, Jliddleton was allowed, on giving

security to keep the peace, to return to his home.

When Charles IL, in 1C50, arrived in Scotland, General

Middleton immediately repaired to him. Many small bodies

of men were rai.sed lor the defence of the king in the north,

and it was at one time proposed to have placed General Mid-

dleton, who conunanded a small division of the armv, at the

head of all the hyiil forces that could be Collected for the

purpose of opposing Cromwell, but this was never c:uTied

into etlect. For his conduct in support of the king the com-

mission of the churcli summarily excommunicated him on

the motion of .lames Guthrie, who prononnced the sentence

from his pulpit at Stirling.

To compel the northern royalists to lay down their arms,

General Leslie, by order of the committee of Estates, crossed

the Tay on the 21th October with a force of 3,000 cavalry,

with the intention of proceeding to Dundee and scouring An-

gu.s. At this time Jliddleton w.as lying at I'orfar, and, on

hearing of Leslie's advance, he sent him a letter, enclosing a

copy of a. "bond and oath of engagement" which had been

entered into by lluntly, Atliol, Seaforth, and himself, with

olhers, by which they jdedged themselves not to lay down

tl."ir arms without a gencnd consent, and promised and swore

that they would maintain the true religion as then estab-

lished in Scotland, the national covenant, and the solemn

liMgue and covcn.ant ; and defend the person of the king, his

prerogative, greatness and .'inthority, the privileges of parlia-

ment, and the freedom of the subject. Jliddleton st;ited

that Leslie would perceive, from the terms of the document

si'Ut, that the only aim of liimsclf and friends was to unite

Scotsmen in defence of their common rights, and he proposed

to join Leslie, and put himself under his command, as their

objects appeared to be precisely the same. The negotiation

was finally concluded on 4th November at Stratlibogie, when

a treaty was agreed to between Leslie and the chief royalists,

by which the latter accepted an indemnity and laid down

their arms.

On the 12lh January IGol, .Middleton was relaxed from

his e.\coniniunie:\ti(in, and did penance in sackcloth in the

parish church of Dundee. He commanded the horse in the

royal army that marched into Kngland on the 31st July; and

at the battle of Worcester, 3d September, the chief resistance

was made by him. He charged the enemy so vigorously that

he forced them to recoil, but being severely wounded, he was

taken prisoner after the battle, and sent to the Tower of

London. Cromwell was so incensed against him that he de-

signed to get him tried for liis life, as having formerly served

in the parliamentary army, but he contrived to make his

escape. After renniining for some time concealed in London

he retired to France, and joined Charles IL .at Paris. In

Itio.'J he was sent honu; witli a couimission from the king,

appointing him generalissimo of all the royal forces in Scot-

land, and took the command of the troops at Dornoch.

Middleton soon found himself sorely pressed by General

Monk, who h.id advanced into the Highlands with a large

army. In an attempt to elude his pursuers he ^vas surprised

in a defile near I.ochgariy, 2Gth July 1G5-1, when his men
were either slain or dispersed, .and he himself escaped with

great difhculty. After lurking for some months in the coun-

trv, Middleton again got over to the king, who was then at

Cologne, and was excepted by Cromwell from p.ardon in his

act of grace and indemnify the same year.

At the Restoration, he accompanied King Charles IL to

England, and was created earl of Middleton and Lord Cler-

mont and Fettcrcairn, by patent, dated 1st October IGfiO, to

him and his heirs male, having the name and arms of Jlid-

dleton. He was also appointed commander-in-chief of the

forces in Scotland, governor of Edinburgh castle, and lord

high commissioner to the Scots parliament. On the 31st

December he arrived at Hcdyrood-house, having been escort-

ed from Musselburgh by the nobility and gentry tlien in the

capital, attended by a thousand horse. He was allowed 900

merks per day for his table, and he lived in a style of great

magnificence. He opened parliament 1st .January IGGl, with

a splendour to wliich the Scots people had long been un.ac-

customed. In this " terrible parliament,'' as it is well named
by Kirkton, the king's prerogative was restored in its fullest

extent, and a genaral .act rescissory of the parliimients from

1G,';3 was passed. Various other acts of a most unconstitu-

lional nature also became law. On the rising of parliament

in the following Jidy, Jliddleton hastened to London, to lay

an account of its proceedings before the king. On his arrival

at court, he assured his majesty and the Scottish privy coun-

cil in London, th.at the majority of the Scottish nation de-

sired the establishment of episcopacy, and it was accordingly

•agreed that " as the government of the state was monarchy,

so that cf the church should be prelacy.'' Jliddleton's ob-

ject in thus reconnnending the establishment of the episcopal

church in Scotland was that he might strengthen his own

authority by that of the bishops, and thwart Lauderdale

whoui he haled, and who at that time was favonr.able to pres-

byterianisni.

He was again appointed lord high commissioner to the

Scots parliament, which met Gtli Jlay 1GG2, and on l.jth

July following, he w.as nominated an e.xtraordinaiy lord of

ses.sion. In September of the same year, Middleton and the

privy council made a progress through the west of Scotland,

and when at GIa.sgow, luuler the influence of drink, as V>ur-

net s.ays, passed the act for depriving the covenanting minis-

ters of their benefices, by which more than 200 were thrown

out. After proceeding through Ayrshire to Dumfries, they

returned to Edinburgh. Having procured the passing of the

famous act of billeting, by which Lauderdale and his friends

were incapacitated, that unprincipled nobleman resolved upon

his overthrow. He misrepresented all his actions to the king,

and so prejudiced the royal mind against him that Jliddleton

in 1GG3 was ordered up to London to give an account of his

administration in Scotland. When the C(mncil met, L.auder-

dale accused him of many miscarriages in his great office,

and p.articularly of having accepted bribes from many of the

presbyterians, to exclude them from the list of fines. Jlid-

dleton was defended by Clarendon, Archbishop Sheldon, a^d

Monk, duke of Albemarle. The Scottish prelates also wrote

in his favour, and in vindication of his general policy. Their

interpo.silion, however, was in vain. He v.-.as declared guilty

of arbitr.ary conduct as commissioner, and deprived of all his

offices, to the great joy of the Scottish people, whom he had

disgusted by the oppressive character of his measures, as well

as by his open debauchery .and intemperance, being, accord-

ing to Burnet and Wodrow, most ostentatious in his vices.

Tlic former s.iys that he was " perpetually drunk."

After his dlsgi'ace he retired to the friary near Guildford, to

the liouse of a Scotsman niimed Dalmahoy, who had been

gentleman of the horse to William duke of Hamilton, killed

at tlie battle of Worcester, and who had married that noble-

man's widow. There he built a bridve o\ er the river which
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ran tlirough Dalmahoy's estate, and was called Middleton's

I
Bridge aftei' him. He afterwards, as a kind of decent exile,

I received the appointment of governor of Tangier, a seaport

I

town of Fcji in Africa, wliicli made part of the dowry of the

' princess Catherine of Portngal, \vhona Charles II. married

I soon after the Restoration. lie died tlicrc in 1073, having

fallen in going down stairs, which in tliat hot climate pro-

duced inflammation.

I

His only son, Cliarlcs, second and last earl of Jliddleton,

I was JI.P. for Winchelsea, in the long parliament. He was

j
bred in the court of Charles II., by whom he was appointed

envoy extraordinary to tlie court of Vienna. On his return

i home he was constituted one of the principal secretaries of

state for Scotland, 26th September 1G8'2. On lltli July

1684 he was sworn a privy councillor of England, on tl;e 15th

of the same month was admitted an extraordinary lord of

session in Scotland, and on 2.3tli August same year appoint-

ed one of the principal secretaries of state for England. His

seat on the bench, however, he resigned in February 1G8C,

in favour of his brother-in-law, the earl of Strathmorc.

At the Revolution, though he had opposed the violent

measures of King James, he adhered to liim steadily. He

refused all the offers made to him by King 'William, and af-

ter being frequently imprisoned in England, lie followed James

to France, and was, in consequence, outlawed by the high

court of justiciary, 23d July 1694, and forfeited by act of

j

parliament, 2d July 1G95. Before the Revolution, we are told,

i lie firndy stood in the gap, to stop the torrent of some priests

who were driving King James to his ruin, and had so mean

an opinion of converts that he used to say a new light never

came into the house but by a crack in the tilting. Yet this

man, who had withstood all the temptations of .James' reign,

and all the endeavours of that prince to bring him over, to

the surprise of all who knew him declared himself a Roman
Catholic on the king's death, and obtained the entire man-

agement of the exiled court at St. Germains. (J/r/rf-y's

Memoirs, p. 238.) He is described as having been a black

man, of middle stature, with a sanguine complexion. He
had two sons and three daughters. Lady Elizabetli, the eld-

est daughter, was the wife of Edward Drummond, son of

James, earl of Perth, high-chancellor of Scotland. She was

styled duchess of Perth, and died at Paris after 1773. The

sons, Lord Clermont and the Hon. Charles Jliddleton, were

taken at sea by Admiral Byng, coming with French troops

to invade Scotland, in 1708, and committed to the Tower of

London. They were soon released, when they returned to

Franco.

MILL, James, the liistorinn of British Lidin.

was bom in the parish of Logie-Pert, Forfavsliire,

April G, 1773. The early part of his education lie

received at tlie grammar scliool of Montrose, on

i

leaving -wliich, through tlie patronage of Sir John

I

Stuart, baronet, of Fettcrcairn, one of tlie barons

I

of the exchequer in Scotland, on wliosc estate his

! father occupied a small farm, he was sent to tlie

I

nniversitv' of Edinburgh to study for the church.

I

In 1800, after being licensed as a preacher, ho

;
went to London as tutor in Sir Jolin Stuart's fam-

ily, and, settling in the metropolis, he devoted

' himself to literary and philosophical pursuits. By

his powerful and original productions, as well as

by the force of his personal character, he soon

earned for himself a high reputation as a writer. (

During the tirst years of the Edinburgh Review,
i

he contributed to it many articles on Jurispru-
j

dence and Education, and he was also the author

of a number of masterly papers in tlie 'Westmiii- '

ster, tlie London, the Britisli, the Eclectic, and
j

Monthly Ivcview.^. In politics he belonged to the
j

Radical party, and among other articles whicli he
j

wrote for tlie "SA'cstminster Review Avere the cele-
j

brated ones ' On tlic Formation of Opinions,' in

No. 11, and ' On the Ballot,' in Xo. 25.

About 1806 he commenced his ' llistorv of

British India,' which occupied a considerable por-
;

tion of his time for more than ten years, and was I

publislied about tlie end of 1817, in three volumes

4to. The information contained in this valuable

work, with the author's enlarged views on all

matters connected with India, tended greatly to

tlic improvement of the administration of our cm-

l>ire in the East, and induced the East India Com-

pany to appoint him in 1810 to the second situa-

tion in the examiner's office, or land revenue

branch of the administration, at the India House.

On the retirement of Mr. William M'Culloch, he

became head of the department of correspondence

with India. In 1821 Mr. Mill published his 'Ele-

ments of Political Economy,' containing a clear

summary of the leading principles of that science.

In 1829 appeared, in two vols. 8vo, his 'Analysis

of the Phenomena of the Human Mind,' a work

on which he bestowed extraordinary labour, and

whicli displayed much philosophical acuteness.
'

Besides these works he contributed various valua-
j

ble articles to the Supplement of the Encyclopa;-

dia Britannica, i>i incipally on Government, Legis-

lation, Education, Jurisprudence, Law of Nations,
|

Liberty of the Press, Colonies, and Prison Disci-
j

pline, which were also published as separate trea-
|

\

tises. In 1835 he produced, without his name,
||

his 'Fragment on Mackintosh,' in which he sc- :

verely criticises Sir James Mackintosh's ' Disser-
|

tation on the History of Etiiical Philosophy.' IMr.

Mill died of consumption, June 23, 1836, and was

buried at Kensington, where he had resided for
|,

the last five years of his life. He left a wld»w
|

and nine children.
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]\IILLAR, James, M.D., a learned and iudiis-

ti'ious compiler, was educated chiefly at 4lie uni-

versity of Glasgo\r, where he acquired an exten-

sive and accurate knowledge of the classics, and

early evinced a taste for the varied departments

of natural historj-. He took his medical drgrec

at Edinburgh, where he settled. In 18(i7 he pub-

lished, in connection with William \'azie, Esq.,

an 8vo pamphlet, entitled ' Observations on the

Advantages and Tracticability of making Tunnels

under Navigable Rivers, jiartirularly aii]ilicable to

tlic proposed Tunnel under the Forth.' He was

the original projector and editor of the 'Encyclo-

jjanlia Kdinensis, or Dictionary of Arts, Sciences,

and iMiscellaneous Literature.' He was also cho-

sen to sui)erintend the fourth edition of the Ency-

clopa'dia liritannica, to the improvement and in-

terests of which he devoted a large portion of his

time. Some of his essays and larger treatises

Mrilten for those works, whcji published sepa-

rately, were very favourably received by the pub-

lic. He likewise contributed largely to several of

the periodical Journals both of London and Edin-

burgh. In 1819 he published, in 12nio, with col-

oured engravings, 'A Guide to Botany, or a Fa-

miliar Illustration of the Linmean Classification

<if Plants.' Dr. ISIillar was one of the physicians

to the Disjiensary at Edinburgh, and in that ca-

pacity, while attending to the usual duties, he

caught a fever, of which he died in July 1827.

MILLAR, John, an eminent lecturer on law,

was born June L'l', IT.'l"), at the manse of Shotts,

Lanarkshire, of which parish his father, who was

afterwards translated to Hamilton, was minister.

He studied at the university of Glasgow, and was

at first intended for the church, but subsequently

preferred the bar. On leaving college he was for

two 3 ear3 tutor to the eldest son of Lord Karnes,

during which time he became acquainted with

David Ilimie, whose metaphysical opinions he

adopted. He was admitted advocate in 1760, and,

in (he following year, was appointed to the chair

of civil law in the university of Glasgow, which

he fdled for nearly- forty years with signal success.

His lectures on the different branches of jurispru-

dence, and on the general principles of govern-

ment, excited much interest at the period
;
they

were attended by many who afterwards distin-

guished themselves In public life, and from iiim !

Lord Brougham, Lord Jcftrey, Lord Chief Com- i

missioner Adam, the earl of Lauderdale, and some

other ennnent Whigs, received their first lessons

in political science. In 1771 he publislied ' Ob-

servations concerning the Distinction of Ranks in
I

Society,' which pnssed through several editions,

and was translated into French. In 1787 he pub-

lished ' Elements of the Law relating to Insur-
j

ances.' The same year appeare<l his more

elaborate work, entitled, 'An Historical View i

of the English Government, IVom the Settle-
[

ment of the Saxons in Britain to the Acces- I

siun of the House of Stuart," in which he follows
!

the path of i)hilosophical speculation, as to the i

origin of the laws and institutions of nations,

which had been previously traced out hy Lord

Kames and Dr. Adam Smith. He afterwards

brought down the History of the C'onstitution to

(he Revolution, and the work, with tliis addition,

was published in 1 vols. 8vo in LSOo. Professor

Jlillar died i\Iay .">(», 1801, leaving four sons and

six daughters. A fourth edition of his ' Origin of

the Distinction of Ranks' appeared in 1808, with a

memoir of his life, b}^ his nephew,- Mr. John Craig.

Mii.i.ia;, tlio name ul' :i laiiiilv jjoiisossiiig a baronetcy of

Great Britain, confeneJ in 1788 on Sir Thomas Miller of

Barskininiing in Ayrshire, and Glenloe in Galloway, a distiii-

guishcil lawyer and judge, second son of Mr. 'William Jliller,

writer to the signet. lie was born 3d November 1717, and

admitted advocate at the Scottisli bar, 2 1st February 1742.

In 1718 he was nominated slieritT of tlio stewartry of Kirk-

cudbriglit, and the same year was elected joint principal clerk

of the city of Glasgow. These offices he resigned in 1755 on

being appointed solicitor to the excise in Scotland. On 17tli

-March 1759 lie became solicitor-gcner.al, and on 30th April

17G0, he was constituted lord-advocate. The following ye:ir

he was chosen M.P. for Dumfries. In November 17C2 be

was elected rector of the nniversity of Glasgow, and on 11th

June 17GG, on the death of Sir Gilbert Elliot of Jlinto, ap-

pointed lord-justice-clerlc. On 15th January 1788, he suc-

ceeded Robert Dundas of Arniston as president of the court

of session, and on February 19 of the same year was created

a baronet. He died at liis seat of Barskimming September

27, 1789. He was twice married, and by his lirst wife, a

daughter of John Murdoch, Esq. of Rosebank, lord provost

of Glasgow, lie had a son and a d.aughter. Burns, in his

' Vision,' alludes to Sir Thomas Miller as "An aged judge

dispensing good."

The son, Sir Willi.am Miller, second baronet, also an emi-

nent judge, was admitted advocate, 9th August 1777. At

the keenly contested election in 178-0, lie was returned JI.P.

for the city of Edinburgh, in opposition to Sir Lawrence

Dundas, and took his seat in parliament; but was nnseated

upon a petition, and his opponent declared duly elected. On
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2'jd Mmv, 1795, \v;is appoiiili'd ii lord of session, when Ijc

foiilc tlie title iif I.oiil Gicnlee. He resigned his seat in 1840,

liavinj; been a judge I'or ubove forty-five years. Besidi-s

being an acconipli.ihed scholar, he was esteemed one of the

best; hiwyers of his time on the Scottish bench. He died in

IS-IG. He was the senior vice-president of the RoyA Society

of Edinbnrgh, and was frequently vice-president of tlie So-

ciety of Scottish Antiquaries, of wliich he w.as the first ad-

mitted fellow (of date 1781), and oldest member. He mar-

ried Grizcl, daughter of George Chalmers, Esq., by whom he

had 6 sons and 3 daughters.

His eldest son, 'I'hom.ns Jliller, Esq.. predeceased his father

in 1827. ]5y his wife, tlie youngest daui;liter of Sir Alexan-

der Penrose-Gordon-Cummiiig, baronet, he had five sons.

The eldest son. Sir William Miller, third baronet, born in Ed-

inburgh in 1815, married in 1839 the eldest daughter of

Lieutenant-General Sir Thomas M'JIahon, baionet, K.C.15.,

issue, 2 sons and 2 daughters. He was educated at Eton,

and was for some years an officer in the 12th Lancers; ap-

pointed a magistrate for Ayrshire in 1838, succeeded liis

grandfather as 3d baronet, Jlay 0, 1816, made a knight com-

mander of the order of the Temple in January the same year.

The second son of the second baronet, Lieutenant-Colonel

William Jliller, 1st Foot Guards, was mortally wounded at

Quatre Bras, June 16, 1815, and died at Brussels the follow-

ing day. " In his last mortal scene," says a letter dated

Brussels, June 23, 1815, published at the time, " he displayed

tlie soul and the spirit of a hero. On finding himself wounded,

he sent for Colonel Thomas (who was killed two days al'ter-

wards, at Waterloo)— 'Thomas,' said he, 'I feel 1 am
mortally wounded ; I am pleased to think that it is my fate

rather than yours, whose life is involved in that of your young

wife.' After a pause, he said faintly, ' I should like to see

the colours of the regiment once more before I quit thein for

ever.' They were brought to him, and waved round his

wounded body. His countenance brightened, he smiled; and

declaring himself satisfied, he was carried from the field. In

all this you will see the falling of a hero—a delicacy of senti-

ment, a self-devotion, and a resignation, which liave never

been surpassed." His remains were interred at Brussels, in

a cemetery where lie many of the more distinguished of the

heroes who fell at Quatre Bras and Waterloo. On a monu-

mental stone erected to his memory, with a suitable inscrip-

tion, it is stated that he was thirty-one years old at the lime

of his de.ith.

MILLER, Hugh, the first of Scottish geologists,

was boni in Cromartj', in tiie north of Scotland,

October 10th, 1802. His father, the owner and

1
commander of a sloop in the coasting trade, wlio

I had served in tlie British navy, perished in a storm

i in November 1807, when Hugh was just five years

of age. He was descended from a long line of

seafaring men, and he mentions two uncles of his

fiitlicr, sailors, one of Avhoni had sailed round the

world with Anson, and the other, like himself,

perished at sea. The paternal grandfather of

Hugh, when entering the frith of Cromarty, was

struck overboard during a sudden gust, by the

boom of his vessel, and never rose again. His

great-grandfather, whose name was John Feddes,

was one of the last of the buccaneers.

Previous to his father's death Hugh hud been

sent to a dame's school, where he remained a year,

and was taught to pronounce his letters in the old

Scottish mode, a peculiarity which he could never

get quit of. He was subsequently transferred to

the parish grammar school, where he made some

progress in the rudiments of the Latin language.

He was a great reader, and as he read every book

th;it came in his waj', he thus came to acquire,

in course of time, a vast fund of information.

Even at this early period his turn for geologic. 1

1

enquiries began to develop itself. " The shoi es

of Cromarty," he says, in his ' Schools and School-

masters,' " are strewed over with water-rolkd

fragments of the primary rocks, derived chieHy

from the west during the ages of the boulder clay;

and I soon learned to take a deep interest in

sauntering over the various pebble-beds when

shaken up by recent storms, and in learning to

distinguish their numerous components." From

his uncle Sandy, wlioin he used frequently to ac-

company in his evening walks along the seashon.',

he derived some insight into natural histor}', and

especially conchology. He subsequently extend-

ed his researches to the Hill of Cromarty and the

caves in the Cromarty Sutors, and began to make

collections. Even in his school dnys he set about

writiiig poetry, so that he soon came to be looked

upon as a sort of village prodigy. He was after-

wards sent to a subscription school which had

been opened in his native place, where he only

remained a few months. On quitting it, whieli

he did abruptly, in consequence of a severe drub-

bing which he had received from the schoolmastei',

he revenged himself by writing a satirical poem,

which he styled ' The Pedagogue.'

At the age of 17 he was bound apprentice to an

uncle-iu-Iaw, a stone mason, to serve for the space

of three years. He was set to work in the quar-

ries of Cromarty. " The quarry," he says, " in

which I commenced my life of labour was a sand-

stone one, and exhibited in the section of tlic

furze-covered bank which it presented, a bar ol

deep red stone beneath, and a bar of pale red clay

above. Both deposits belonged to formations

equally unknown at the time to the geologist.
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Save t'ortlic wliolcsonie ix'straiiit tliat coiifinctl me

for (iny alter day to tliis spot, I slioiild i>iTliapj have

paid little alteiition to either. It n as the necessity

whieli made me a qiiarrier that taught me to be a

;

geologist." Though both a skiU'id and vigorous

workman, he never sieiiis to have taken kindly

I

to his trade ; nor did he cither associate or

j

sympathize with hi-, fellow-masons. lie uas

i seldom with his f'ellou-m.isons, except when at

j

work, and he spent the hours, which they devoted

I

to jollity and drinking-, in a close and enlliusiastic

I

reading of poetry and science,

i After working for some years as a country nia-

I

son, storing his mind all the time, by reading and

observation, with a know ledge of the facts and

processes of nature, jMr. Miller, on reaching the

age of twenty-one, resolved upon going to Edin-

j

burgh, and making liis way ns a mechanic among

the stone-cutters of the Scottish capital, perhaps,

as he says, the most skilful in their profession in

the world. lie soon got employment from a mas-

ter-builder, and was engaged to work at a manor

house near the village of Kiddry iMill, a few miles

to the south of Edinburgh, at twenty-four shil-

lings a-wcck wages. On a reduction of the wages

of the men to til'ieen shillings, a strike took pbice,

in which, honevcr, he took no part.

In 1824 occurred the memorable lires in the

parliament close and High Street of Edinburgh,

and a building mania having thereafter set in,

which ended disastrously in a year or two, mason-

work was for a time exceedingly plcnlifnl in that

city. Mr. Miller, however, (inding his hnigs af-

fected, I'njm the dust of the stone which he had

been he\\ing for the previous two years lodging in

j

them, instead of taking employment in Edinburgh,

I

returned to Ci'umart}" to recruit his health. "I

I

was," lie says, "too palpably sinking in llcsh and

I

strength to render it safe for me to encounter the

consequences of another season of hard work as a

stone-cutter. From the stage of the malady at

I

which I had already arrived, poor workmen, iina-

I

ble to do what I did, throw themselves loose from

j

their employment, and sink in si.x or eight months

i
iuto the grave—some at an earlier, some at a later

j

period of life ; but so general is the afl'ection, that

! few of our Edinburgh stone-cutters pass their for-

tieth j-ear unscathed, and not one out of every

fifty of their number ever reaches his forty- (ifth

year."

On recov ering from a long and depressing ill-
j

ness, he resolved iii)on following a higher branch

of the art than ordinary stone-cutting. This was

the hewing of ornate dial stones, scidptured ta-

blets and tombstone inscriptions. Jt was an ad-

vantage to iiim that his new branch of emphiy-

ment brought him sometimes for a few days into

country districts, and among solitary churchyards,

which presented new fields nf observation, and

opened up new tracts of inquiry. But of this sort

of work there was not a superabundance, at least

in tliat locality, and about the end of June 1828,

Mr. Miller found that he had nothing to do, and \\

acting on the advice of a friend, who believed that i

his style of cutting Inscriptions could not fail to i

secure for him a good many little jobs in the

churchyards of Inverness, he \isitcd that pl.ice,

and inserted a brief advertisement in one of the

newspapers, soliciting employment. While v,,sit-

ing for it, he was accosted one day in the .-ticet

by the recruiting sergeant of a Highland regiment,

who asked him if he did not belong to tlie Alrd.

" No, not to the Aird, to Cromarty," he rejilicd.
{

'Ah 1 to Cromarty—very fine iilace I But would
1

you not better bill adieu to Cromarty, and c<me
|

along with me V \\c have a capital gremi(!ier
|

company; and in our regiment a stout steady man

is always sure to get on." I^Ir. Miller thanked
j

him, but of course declined the invitation.

AYhile at Inverness he first "rushed into print."
|

|

Selecting some of his best pieces in verse, he got !

j

them printed in a volume iii the office of the In-
i

;

verncss Courier, the editor of that paper, Mr.
j; ;

Robert Carruthcrs, inserting from time to time
|| j

some of them ill his " poet's corner." The vohuiic
j j

was published w ithout his name. On the title-j'age
I

it was simply intimated that the poems had been
|;

|

'•written in the leisure hours of a journeyman ji
i

mason," and, thus modestly announced, the bi>ok,
j|

'

for a first efi'ort, was very favourably recei\ ed.
j|

,

On his return to Cromarty he began to contribute
j;

!

a series of letters, on the herring fishery, to the
j: I

newspaper above mentioned. These letters at- j;
i

traded attention, and were republished, on his
j;

behalf, by the proprietors of the paper, "in cou-

sequeuce of the interest they had excited in the
\
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uortlieni counties." His Verses and his Letters

soon enlarged tlic circle of his friends, and amongst

others, Sir Thomas Dick Lauder, baronet, author

of the ' AVolf of Badenocli,' and other works. Miss

Dunbar of Boath, and Principal Baird of Edin-

burgh, showed him much kindness. The latter

urged him to quit the north and proceed to Edin-

burgh, as the proper field for a literary man in

Scotland, but as lie did not think that he could

enjoy equal opportunities of acquainting himself

with the occult and the new in natural science, as

when plying his labours in the provinces as a me-

chanic, he determined to continue for some years

more in the couutr3'. At the principal's desire,

however, he wrote for him an autobiographic

sketch of liis life, to his return from Edinbui-gh to

Cromarty in 1825.

jNIr. Jlillcr next set himself to record, in his

leisure hours, the traditions of his native place and

the surrounding district, and a bulky manuscript

volume soon grew up under his hands. All this

time lie lost no opportunity of continuing his geo-

logical researches, and, gradually advancing in

discoveries, in course of time he came to have a

thorough knowledge of the extinct organisms of

the primitive world. j\Iany of his friends wished

to fix hiin down to literature as his proper walk,

but he liimself thought that his special vocation

was science, and he accordinglj' devoted his mind

to it with an ardour that soon enabled him to at-

tain to surpassing excellence even as a literary

man. After the passing of the Reform Bill, he

was elected a member of tlie town council of Cro-

marty, but he never attended but one meeting of

the council.

It was in his working attire that he first met

the lady who was destined to become his wife.

He had been hewing, he tells us, in the upper

part of his uncle's garden, and had just closed his

work for the evening, when three ladies made

llieir appearance to see a curious old dial stone

which he had dug out of the earth long before.

With the youngest of the three he afterwards had

many opportunities of meeting, and at length they

came to a mutual understanding. It was agreed

between them that if in the course of three years

no suitable field of exertion should open for him

at home, they should marry and emigrate to the

United States. Two years of the time agreed

upon had passed, and he was still an operative

mason, when In 1834 a branch of the Commercial

Bank of Scotland being established In Cromarty,

the oflSce of accountant was oftered to him by Mr.

Ross the agent. He was at this time thirty-two

years of age, and although afraid that he would

make but an Indifterent accountant, never having

had any experience In figures, he was yet induced

to accept the appointment. He was accordingly

sent to the parent bank at Edinburgh, to acquire

the necessary instructions to fit him for his new

situation.

On his arrival, lie was ordered to the Commer-

cial Bank branch at Linlithgow, to be initiated

into the proper system of book-keeping. Being,

as he says himself, "altogether deficient In the

cleverness that can promptly master isolated de-

tails, when In ignorance of their bearing on the

general scheme to which they belong,"' he was at

first rather at a loss, and was looked upon by the

local agent as particularly stupid. But as soon

as he came to comprehend the central principle

by which the system was governed, he at once

showed his competence to manage the business of

the bank. In tlie arena of science this law ruled

his genius with a necessity not less inexorable

than in the commercial field. From the centre of

any science, when once he Avas able to master it,

he could proceed with the utmost ease, but he in-

variably found that when he attempted to ap-

proach as if from the outside, the details baffled

and repidsed him.

After two months' probation In the branch bank

at Linlithgow, he returned to Cromarty, and

straightway commenced his new course as an ac-

countant, at a salary of £80 a-year. When falrlj'

seated at the desk he felt, he says, as if his latter

days were destined to differ from his earlier ones,

well nigh as much as those of Peter of old, who,

when he was "young, girded himself, and walked

whither he wotdd, but who, when old, was girded

by others, and carried whither he would not." A
sedentary life had at first a depressing etfcct on

his intellectual pursuits, and for a time lie inter-

mitted them almost entirely, but as he became

inured to it, his mind recovered its spring, and, as

before, he began to occupj' his leisure hours in
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literary and scientific exertions. Tlie publication,

in 1835, of his 'Scenes and Legends of the North

of Scotland,' made his name known in literary

circles. With a fe^y exception?, the book was

higldy commended by the critics. lie relates, with

a very natural feeling of satisfaction, that " Leigii

Hunt gave it a kind and genial notice iu his Jour-

nal; it was characterized by Robert Chambers

not less favourably in his; and Dr. Hetherington,

the future historian of the Church of Scotland and

of tlie Westminster Assembly of Divines—at that

time a licentiate of the church—made it the sub-

ject of an elaborate and very friendlj' critique in

the ' Presbyterian Review.' Nor was I less grat-

ified," he continues, " by the terms iu which it

was spoken of by the late Baron Hume, the ne-

phew and residuary legatee of the historian—him-

self veiy much a critic of the old school—in a

note to a north country friend. He described it

as a work ' written in an English style which ' he

' had begun to regard as one of the lost arts.'
"

The work, however, from the local nature of the

subjects, attained to no great popularity, but as

the author's reputation increased, its later editions

have sold better than the first.

After a courtship of five years, he married the

young lady formerly mentioned, Lydia Fraser,

who was then residing with her mother in Cro-

marty, engaged in teaching. After their mar-

riage, his Avife continued to take a few pupils, and

at this time, he tells us, the united earnings of the

household did not much exceed a hundred pounds

a-year. He, therefore, began to add to his in-

come by writing for the periodicals. To Wilson's

' Border Tales,' commenced in 18^.5, he contri-

buted, after the death of iMr. John Mackay Wil-

son of Berwick-upon-Tweed, their origiinvtor,

several stories, for which he got £25 in all, being

at the rate of three guineas a-piece, the stipulated

wages for filling a weekly number. For supplying

the same space with a tale weekly, which he did

for three or four weeks, the writer of this got five

pounds each story from the proprietors of the

new ' Tales of the Borders,' published in Glasgow

in 1848.

Finding that some of his stories were njected

by the editor, Mr. iNIiller ceased to write for the

'Border Talcs.' He then made nu otlVr of his

III.

services to Mr. Robert Chambers, by whom they

were accepted, and for the two following years he
;

occasionally contributed papers to Chambers'

Journal, with his name attached to his several

articles.

He still continued his researches among the

rocks in the neighbourhood of Cromarty, in deter-

mining the true relations of their various beds and
!

the character of their organisms. To enable him
|

to examine the best sections of the Sutors and
j

the adjacent hills, w ith their associated deposits,

which cannot be reached without a boat, he pur-

chased a light little yawl, furnished with mast and
j

sail, and that rowed four oars, to enable him to

carry out his explorations. At this time a letter

of his on a local subject, inserted in one of the dis-

trict papers, procured him the ofl!"er of a newspa-
j

per editorship, which, not deeming himself quali-

fied for it, lie at once declined.

Amongst his other occupations at this busy

period of his life was writing the memoir of a

deceased townsman, Mr. William Forsyth of Cro-

marty, at the request of his relative and son-in-

law, INIr. Isaac Forsyth, bookseller, Elgin. This

little work was not intended for publication, being

printed fur private circulation among Mr. For-

syth's friends. His career hitherto had been pros-

perous for a person in his condition in life. From

the humble and obscure position of a journeyman

stone-mason he had attained to that of an ac-

countant in a bank. He was known as an author

and respected as an explorer in geological science.

In private lie had made " troops of friends," and

altogether he had " got on " in the world better

than in his early days he could have had any rea-

son to expect. He was now to be removed to a

higher sphere, and to be placed in circumstances

more favourable fur the full development of his

genius, and the complete display of his extraordi-

nary attainments, than any that even his wildest

ambition could have hoped for a few years before.

He had taken very little interest in the Volun-

tary controversy, but when the Non-infrusion

question came to be agitated, he deemed it time

to buckle on his armour, in other words, to take

up his pen manfully in behalf of the rights of the

church when assailed by the civil courts. The

famous Auchtcrarder case was the occasion of his

L
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first nppearance as a writer in tlie field of ecclesi-

astical controversy, in wliicli lie was destined to

take such a prominent and influential part. Tlie

campaign was a prolonged one, and ended, as

every body know,?, in the disi'uption of the Estab-

lished Church of Scotland. At no time of his life

did he exhibit greater energy of intellect tlian as

the champion of the non-intrusion and Free church

party in the church, although it must be confessed

that, sometimes led away alike by prejudice and

zeal, he proved himself less the judicious and dis-

criminating advocate than the bitter and uncom-

promising ecclesiastical partizan.

The struggle began in 1834, with the passing of

j

the celebrated "Veto Act," founded on the early

principle of the church, that ministers should not

be intruded on parishes contrary to the consent of

tlie parishioners. As the cliurch thus considered

the acceptability of a presentee a necessarj^ quali-

fication, the object of the act was to instruct all

presbyteries to reject presentees to whom a majo-

rity of male heads of families, communicants, ob-

jected. In the case of the .A.uchterarder presen-

tation, when this was acted upon, the presentee

brought an action in the court of session, to de-

clare it an undue interference with his civil rights.

The church, in replj', contended that the matter

was purely ecclesiastical, and altogether beyond

the jurisdiction of the civil courts. The court of

session thought otherwise, and, in March 1838,

decided that as patronage had been constituted

property by act of parliament, the obnoxious pre-

sentee, Mr. Young, was entitled to be " intruded

upon" the reclaiming parish, as the rights of the

patron must be maintained. The church appealed

to the House of Lords, who, in May 1839, con-

firmed the judgment of the court of session. The

General Assembly declined to implement the de-

cision of the civil tribunals, holding itself irrespon-

sible to any civil court for its obedience to the

laws of Christ.

On reading Lord Brougham's speech, and the

decision of the House of Lords, in the Auchterar-

der case, Mr. IMiller felt deeply the peril of the

church. That night, he tells us, he slept none,

and in the morning, determined upon taking the

popular view of the question, he commenced his

famous ' Letter from one of the Scottish People to

the Right Hon. Lord Brougham and Vaux, on the

opinions expressed by his Lordship in the Auch-

terarder case.' That letter had an important and

decisive effect oli his after life. On finishing it,

he despatched the manuscript to the manager of

the Commercial Bank at Edinburgh, Mr. Robert

Paul, from whom he had already experienced

some kindness, and who, in the great ecclesiasti-

cal struggle, took a decided part with the church.

That gentleman, after reading it, hastened with
j

it to his minister, the Rev. Mr. afterwards Dr.
|

Candiish of St. George's, who, recognising the

ability it displayed and its popular character,
i

urged its immediate publication. It was accord-

ingly put into the hands of Mr. John Johnstone,

the then well-known Church bookseller. The
i

evangelical party in the cliurch had been for some
|

time anxious to establish an ecclesiastical news- i

paper in Edinburgh for the support of their prin-
;

ciples, and a meeting of ministers and elders had !

been held in that city, shortly before, to take
,

measures for the purpose. A properly qualified

editor was wanted, and on reading the manuscript
j

j

of Mr. Miller's 'Letter to Lord Brougham,' Dr. '

Candiish instantly fixed upon its writer as the
;

very person thej' had been looking for to fill that
|

oftice.
I

'

Meanwliile the 'Letter' was published in the ij

form of a pamphlet, and was at once successful,

j

It ran rapidly through four editions of a thousand

copies each, and was read pretty extensively by
'

men who were not Non-intrusionists. "Among

these," says its author, "there were several mem-

bers of the ministrj' of the time, including Lord .

Melbourne, who at first regarded it, as I have !

been informed, as the composition, under a popu- I

lar form and a nom-dc-guerre, of some of the Non-
\

intrusionist leaders in Edinburgh ; and by Mr. I

Daniel O'Connell, who had no such suspicions,
!

and who, though he lacked sympathy, as he said,

with the ecclesiastical views which it advocated,

enjoyed what he termed its ' racy English,' and

the position in which it placed the noble lord to

whom it was addressed." Mr. W. E. Gladstone, too,

in his elaborate work on ' Church Principles Con-

sidered in their Results,' noticed it very favoura-

bly. His words are :
" Over and above the judi-

cial arguments in the reports of the Auchterardcr I

I
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and Letlicndy cases, tlie Church question lias been

discussed in a great variety of pampldets, sonic of

flieni very long and very able, others of them very

long without being particularly able, and one of

tliem particularly able without being long ; I mean

tlio, elegant and masculine production of Hugh

Miller, entiilcd 'A Letter to Lord Brougham.'"

Almost immediately after its publication, ]\Ir.

Miller received a letter from Edinburgh, request-

ing him to meet there with the leading non-intru-

sionists. lie accordingly proceeded to the capital,

and agreed to undertake the editorship of their

projected news])ap('r, the AVitness. lie then re-

turned to f'roiiiarly lo make arrangements for

liually quitting that place. He closed his con-

lui.xion with the bank, and devoted a few weeks

\ery sedulously to geology, and was fortunate

euougli to find specimens on which Agassiz fouud-

I'd two ofliis fossil species. On leaving his native

town ho was presented with an elegant breakfast

service of plate from a numerous circle of friends,

of all shades of politics ami both sides of tlie

cliiirch, and A\ ns entertained at a public dinner.

After being fifteen years a journeyman stoue-ma-

pou, and five years a bank accountant, he was now

at last placed in his true position, and was oua-

bli'd to give those ivondorfid works to the press

wliich have procured for him a woi'ld-wide repu-

tation.

The Witness commenced at the beginning of

1810. During the first twelvemonth, he wrote for

its columns a series of geological chapters, which

attracted the notice of the geologists of the British

Association, assembled that year at Glasgow. In

the collected form they v, ere afterwards ]niblished,

under the title of • The Old Red Sandstone
;

or.

New Walks in an Old field.' Of this work the

"Westminster Review said : '-'i'lie geological for-

mation known as the Old Red Sandstone was long

supposed to be peculiarly barren of fossils. The

researches of geologists, especially those of Mr.

Miller, have, liowever, shown that formation to

be as rich in organic remains as any that has been

explored. Mr. Miller's exceedingly interesting

book on this forinalion is just the sort of work to

render any subject popular. It is M-ritten in a

remarkably pleasing style, and contains a A\onder-

I'lil anioinit of information." Tlie ^^itness, in tlie

meantime, under his editorshii> rose rapidly in

ciiculation. That paper, indeed, owed its success

lo his able articles, literary, ecclesiastical, and geo-

logical, and during the course of the first three

years his employers raised his salary to £400. He

had published another pamphlet on the chuich

question, entitled ' The AVhiggism of the Old

School, as exemplified by the past histmy and

present condition of the Church of Scotland,'

which soon reached a second edition.

As the crisis of the church's fate approached,

Jlr. I\Iiller's consummately able articles in the

AVitness greatly aided in enlightening the public

mind on those principles mi which the Free church

was formed, and he may be said to have exercised

an influence among the supporters of the s]iiiitual

independence of the church as great as that even

of Dr. Chalmers himself. His masteiy of the

ICiiglish language was complete, and to this he

added a singular felicity of reasoning and a won-

derful vividness of imagination not usuallj' com-

bined. In originality and appropriateness of illus-

tration, and graphic force and telling significaucy

of diction, no contemporary could compete v.ith

him. In the early years of the Witness, a tuicc-

a-wcek paper, his was indeed a life of strife and

toil. Ill the circumstances of the time, when po-

lemical feeling was carried beyond due bounds on

both sides, as the editor of the principal, and for

a ^\ liile the only, non-intrusion paper in the king-

dom, it Mas impossible but that his combative

spirit would be exerted to the utmost. He had

to contend with main' liercc and uiiscrnpulous

enemies, as almost the entire newspaper press

was against him and the principles for which he

so ably and fearlessly contended. " For full

twenty years," he says, "I had never been en-

gaged in a quarrel on my own account : all my
quarrels, either directly or indirect!}', were eccle-

siastical ones ;—I had fought for my minister, or

for my brother parishioners : and fain now would

I have lived at peace with all men ; but the edi-

torship of a non-intrusion paper involved, as a

portion of its duties, war with all the world."

This truth he experienced to its fullest extent,

but he was a match for all opponents, and at

length few indeed were the antagonists willing to

coi:c with him. From Dr. Chalmers, himself "the
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greatest living Scotsman " of Lis day, he obtained

that proud title, and wliile in public this self-edu-

cated and self-reliant working-man showed no

mercy to those who entered the lists against him,

or assailed the principles of the Free church, in

private he was a singularly manly, modest, and

sensitive being, whose demeanour, in itself invari-

ably respectful, was at all times calculated to win

the respect of those who came personally in contact

with him. With his retiring and unassuming

manners, his life was, for his position, as editor of

such a paper as the Witness, a remarkably seclud-

ed one. Besides furnishing those splendid arti-

cles to its columns which were the admiration of

all who read them, and most of which have been

republished in some one or other of his works, he

continued to devote himself, with cliaracteristic

ardour, to the prosecution of scientific inquiries,

and made frequent pedestrian excursions, for geo-

logical purposes, to different parts of the country.

Being now in circumstances to follow the natural

bent of his genius and inclination, and develop

that power of observation and research which he

had cultivated from his early boyhood, whenever

opportunity enabled him to put it in practice, he

became known over the empire as a discoverer in

science, and as one of the best and most efTective

writers of his time.

His celebrated work on the '01''. Ecd Sand-

stone' was published in 18-41. AVhile it placed

him in the very front rank of geologists, it charm-

ed non-scientific readers by its marvellous powers

of description and the fascinating graces of its

style. A succeeding work, ' First Impressions of

England and its People,' Avas written after a visit to

England, which he made in 1847. The principal

characteristic of this small book was earnest and

vigorous thought. In 1849 he produced another

geological work of even a more profound character

than his former publications, entitled ' Footprints

of the Creator, or the Asterolepis of Stromness,'

which Dr. Buckland, who said that he " would

give his left hand to possess such powers of de-

scription as this man had," made one of the text-

books for his geological lectures at Oxford. Other

teachers of geology in our universities followed

his example. It was Avritten chiefly with the

view of exposing the flimsy sophistries and athe-

istical tendency of a work published anonymously

shortly before, with the specious title of ' Vestiges

of the Natural History of Creation,' and was well

described as a contribution to natui'al theology of

inestimable importance.

In 1845, on the retirement of Mr. Johnstone

from the joint proprietorship of the Witness, Mr.

Miller purchased his share of that prosperous

and influential journal. Subsequently he and his

co-partner, Mr. Fairley, were enabled to pay up

the sum of one thousand pounds which had been

advanced at its starting, by a committee of Non-

intrusion ministers and elders, and which gave

them a certain control over its management.

This being at last satisfactorily got quit of,

thenceforward, in the eyes of the public, m Iio were

ignorant of what took place behind the scenes,

the paper assumed a more independent and com-

manding tone than formerly.

Mr. Miller's habits of composition were pecu-

liar. His mind, with all its weight and force, and

in spite of the rich intellectual stores which he

possessed, wanted elasticity, and he was in gen-

eral a slow and cautious writer. Before putting

pen to paper on any subject, he spent a long time

in deep thought, arranging, as it were, all its de-

tails within himself, meanwhile balancing the

poker or the tongs in his hands, or gazing mu-

singly into the fire. The author of this work was

associated with him for some time as sub-editor of

the Witness, and had many opportunities of ob-

serving his characteristics. He was fond of ath-

letic exercises, and took delight in such acts as

leaping upon the table, poising a chair by one of

its hind legs in his right hand, and doing other

feats of strength, in which no one present could

compete with him. He also took a pride in snuff-

ing a candle by the mere wave of his arm, when

no other arm, though half-a-yard nearer, could

do it.

In 1855, he published an autobiographical work,

entitled ' My Schools and Schoolmasters,' giving

an account of his own self-education and the

means by which he overcame the difficulties of his

position. Although necessarily somewhat egotis-

tical, it furnishes a very interesting as Avell as

most instructive history of his youth and early

manhood, and describes, in his own charactcristi-
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cally attractive style, tlie progress of his unassist-

ed intellectual training.

Recognised as tlie most eloquent living exposi-

tor of the profonndest truths of geology, in llic

hitter years of his life he was induced to give a

scries of lectures on his favourite science. As n

lecturer, however, he did not make the same dis-

tinguished appearance as a writer. His accent

was against him, being that of the Cromarty Scot-

tish, which, with his natural bashfidness and not

very graceful address, rendered his delivery bad

as a lecturer. His lectures were, therefore, not

nnfrequently I'cad for him by others. Neverthe-

less, his high reputation as a geologist and llie

peculiar prestige of his name, rendered them

highly popular. Whenever he made his appear-

ance as a lecturer, the lecture- room was crowded.

He began, we think, in Portobello, where, at a

place called Shrub ]\Iouut, he latterly resided. He

subsequently lectured in the Edinburgh Philoso-

pliical Institution, and of the eminent men whom

that association ha.s engaged to deliver lectures,

no one commanded such audiences as assembled in

their hall to listen to his prelections.' His lectures

were also most acceptably and even enthusiasti-

cally received by crowded audiences when he ap-

peared before the Christian Institutes of London

and Glasgow. But, as we have said, from tlie un-

coutliness of his pronunciation, and his want of flu-

ency, his carefully written and elaborately prepared

lectures were, in these cities, read by others, he

himself sitting by. His services were always

clieerfully and readily given, as far as time and

strength would allow, often, indeed, beyond liis

strength, solely fiom the desire to do good. 'With

characteristic generosity his lectures were given

i gratuitously, as he invariably refused payment for

llicm, being only anxious to be serviceable to the

cause of popular education.

His latest work, 'The Testimony of tlie Rocks,'

embodies his lectures, twelve in number, on geo-

logical science. A prefatory note informs the

reader that four of them were delivered before the

members of the Edinburgh Philosophical Institu-

tion, one in Exeter Hall, London, and two in

j

Glasgow ; Avliile two others were read before the

j

Geological Section of the British Association in

1 18.55. Of the five others, written nniinly to com-

plete, and impait a character of unity to the

volume into which the\' have been introduced,

three were addressed, vim voce, to popular audi-

ences. The third was published both in this coun-

try and in America, and translated into some of

the continental languages. The rest appeared in

the volume for the tirst time.

This, the greatest etfort of liis genius, proved

fatal to him. In tlie preparation of it for the

press, his intellect exhausted itself. So great was

tlie intensity with which he wrote upon it that his

brain gave way, and he fell a victim to mental

overwork. The circumstances of his death are

mournful in the extreme. The statement pub-

lished by his friends in the Witness, Avhen that

event took place, relates them so minutely, and

describes the state of his mind for some time pre-

viously so full}', that it cannot fail to be adopted,

in its main points, by every one who narrates the

story of his life. For months his overtasked in-

tellect had given evidence of disorder. He be-

came the prey of false or exaggerated alarms, and

fancied that, occasionally, for brief intervals, his

faculties quite failed him. He laboured too close-

ly on his treatise on the ' Testimony of the Rocks,'

devoting to it all the day, and often half the night.

This overtoiling of the brain told so fearfully on

his mental powers that there can be no doubt that,

latterly, his understanding was completely shat-

tered. To guard against the apprehended attacks

of robbers he was accustomed, when out of doors

after nightfall, to carry a loaded pistol with him.

He also followed the same practice when travel-

ling, or when on his pedestrian excursions. It

was, mentioned in one of the local newspapers

that, once being touched on the shoulder by one

of his oldest friends from the countiy in a well-

frequented street in I'dinburgh, that gentleman

was amazed by his suddenly turning round and

presenting a pistol at him. This dangerous habit

of carrying loaded fire-arms he is supposed to

have acquired wlien he was accountant in the

Cromarty branch of the Commercial bank, and

employed occasionally to convey specie to the other

branches.

In July, 1855, when residing at Portobello,

about three miles from Edinburgh, he had fur-

nished himself with a revolver. An impression
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took possession of his miiul that his house would

some night be bvolvCii into, and robbed. His mu-

seum, situated in a separate outer building, w:is

especially, he thought, exposed to the di-predatioiis

of burglars. Connected with this morbid fear of

thieves was tlie strange fascination which descrip-

tions of liouse robberies in the newspapers had fur

liim, and he was liaunted with tlie idea that rob-

bers and other desperate characters were continu-

ally prowling about his premises. To guard against

tlieir assaults, he nightly placed his revolver within

his reach on going to bed, beside it lay a broad-

bladed dagger, whilst behind him, at his bedhead,

stood a ready claymore.

A week or two before his death, the most alarm-

i ing indication of his mental malady presented itself,

' in sudden and singular sensations in his head. It

was only, however, in lengthened intervals that

they came, and mostly at night, but during the

short time that tliey lasted, they were extremely

violent. Up to Monday, the 22d December, 1856,

two days before his death, he had spoken of them

to no one, but about ten o'clock of that day he

I

called on Dr. Balfour in Portobello, to consult him

in regard to them. That gentleman, in a commu-

nication which he afterwards drew up, thus de-

scribes what took place:—-"On my asking him

what was the matter with liim, he replied, 'My

brain is giving M ay. I cannot put two tliouglits

together to-day: I ha\-e had a dreadful night of it.

I cannot face another such. I was impressed with

the idea that my museum was attacked by robbers,

and that I had got up, put on my clothes, and

gone out with a loaded pistol to shoot them. Im-

mediately after that I became unconscious. How

long that continued I cainiot say; but when I

awoke in the morning I was trembling all over,

and quite confused in my brain. On rising, I felt

as if a stiletto m as suddenly, and as quickly as an

electric sliock, passed through my brain from front

to back, and left a burning sensation on the top

of the brain, just below the bone. So thoroughly

[

convinced was I that I must have been out through

I

tlie night, that I examined my trousers to see if

i they were wet or covered with mud, but could

find none.' He further said, ' I may state that I

M'as somewhat similarly affected through the night

twice last week, and I examined my trousers in

the morning, to see if I had been out. Still, thi

terrible sensations were not nearly so bad as they

were last night ; and I may farther inform you

that, towards the end of last week, while passing

through the Exchange in Edinburgh, I was seized
j

with such a giddiness that I staggered, and would,
j

I think, ha\e fallen, had I uot got into an entry,
\\

where I leaned against the wall, and became quite
|

unconscious for some seconds.'" Dr. Balfour told

him that he was overworking his brain, and agreed

to call on him on the following day, to make a
1

fuller examination. Mrs. Jliller, that same fore-
i

noon, went to Edinburgh to consult Professor
!

Miller, one of the most eminent surgeons of thn t i

citj', as to her husband's health. 'What follovis
j

may be given almost in the words of the narrative
j

of his melancholy fate wiiich appeared in the Wit-

ness newspaper:—" I arranged," says that gentle-

man, " to meet Dr. Balfour at Shrub Mount, (Jlr. :

Hugh Miller's house.) on the afternoon of next |i

day. AVe met accordingly at half-past three on
|

Tuesday. He was a little annoyed at Mrs. j\Iil-
[

ler's having given me the trouble, as he called it,

but received me quite in his ordinary kind, friendly

manner. We examined his chest, and found tlint

unusual!}' well ; but soon Ave discovered that it

was head symptoms that made him uneasy. He

acknowledged having been night after night up till '

very late in tlie morning, working hard and con-
j

tinuously at his new book, ' which,' with much
|

satisfaction, he said, 'I have finished this day.'
j

He was sensible that his head had suffered in con-
j

sequence, as evidenced in two ways: first, occa-
j

sionally, he felt as if a very fine poignard had been i

suddenly passed through and through his brain,
j

The pain was intense, and momentaiily followed
|

by confusion and giddiness, and the sense of being
|

'very drunk'—unable to stand or walk. He
|

thought that a period of unconsciousness must i

have followed this—a kind of swoon, but he had
j

never fallen. Second, wliat annoyed- him most,
j

however, was a kind of nightmare, which for some

nights past had rendered sleep most miserable. It

Avas no dream, he said; he saw no distinct vision,

and could remember nothing of what had passed

accurately. It was a sense of vague and yet in-

tense horror, with a conviction of being abroad in

the night wind, and dragged through places as if
j
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j

hy some iiiviiiible power. ' Lust night,' lie suid,

I

' I felt as if 1 liiid been ridden by a witch for fifty

i

miles, and rose far more wearied in mind and body

I

than wliei! [ lay down.' So strong was his con-

j

viction of having been out, that he had difficulty

; in persuading himself to the contrary, by carefully

examining his clothes in the morning, to sec if they

were not wet or dirty ; and he looked inquiringly

and anxiously to his wife, asldng if she was sure

he had not been out last night, and walking in this

i
disturbed trance or dream. His pulse was quiet,

I

but tongue foul. The head was not hot, but he

1

1 could not say it was free from pain. But I need

|i not enter into i)rofcssional details. Suffice it to

j

say, that we came to the conclusion that he was

j

suffering from an overworked mind disordering his

I

digestive organs, enervating his whole frame, and

I

threatening serious head affection. "We told him

I this, and enjoined absolute discontinnnnce of wovk

! —bed at eleven, light supper (he had all his life

made that a iirincipal meal), thinning the hair of

\ the head, a warm spongiiig-batli at bed-time, i.^c.

' 'J'o all our commands he readily promised obedience,

;
not forgetting the discontinuance of neck-rubbing,

' to which he had unfortunatclj' been prevailed to

submit some days before. For fidly an hour we

talked together on these and other subjects, and I

left him with no apprehension of impending evil,

and little doubting but that a short time of re^t

and regimen would restore him to his wonted

I

vigour."'

After the professor's departure, as it was near

the dinner hour, the servant entered the room to

lay the cloth. She found Mr. Miller in the room

j,
alone. Another of the paroxysms was on him.

;
His face was such a picture of horror, that she

shrunk in terror from the sight. He flung himself

on the sofa, and buried his lie.ad, as if in agony,

upon the cushion. Again, however, the vision

flitted by, and left him in perfect health. The

evening was spent quieth' with his family. Dur-

j;
ing tea he employed himself in reading aloud

|:
Cowper's ' Castaway,' the ' Sonnet on Mary Un-

j

win,' and one of his more playful pieces, for the

special pleasure of his children. Having corrected

some proofs of the forthcoming volume, he went

' up stairs to his study. At the appointed hour he

had taken the bath, but unfortunatelv, his natural

and peculiar repugnance to physic had induced him

to leave untakcn the medicine that had been pre-

scribed. He had retired into a sleei)ing-room—

a

small apartment opening out of his study, and

which for some time past, in consideration of the

delicate state of his wife's health, and the irregu-

larity of his own hours of study, he occupied at

nigiit alone— and lain sometime upon the bed.

The liori'ible trance, more horrible than ever, must

have returned. All tliat can now be known of

what followed is to be gathered from the facts,

tiiat next morning his body, half-di-csscd, \\as

found lying lifeless on the floor— the feet ujion the

study riig, the chest pierced with the ball of the

revolver pistol, which was found lying in the bath

that stood close by. The deadly bullet had per-

forated the left lung, grazed the heart, cut through

the pnlmonarj- artery at its root, and lodged in the

rib in the right side. Death must have been in-

stantaneous.

On looking round the room in which the body

had been discovered, a folio sheet of paper was

seen lying on the table. On the centre of the page

the following lines Meie written—the last -which

that [len was ever to trace: -

" DEAr.r.si' I.viiiA,

" My brain burns. I 7niist have imlked; and a fi'ar-

ful dream rises upon me. I cainiul boar tlie liorriblc tbor,i;lit.

God and Father of tlie Lord Jesus Christ have mercy upon

me. Dearest I.ydia, dear children, farewell. My brain liurns

as the recollection grows. dear dear wife, farewell.

" IIl f;l{ JIn.i,;;i;."

A post-niottem examination of the Ixxly was

made by Professor Miller, and Drs. A. H. Balfour,

W. T. Gairdner, and A. M. Edwards. Tlie fol-

lowing is the conclusion to \\liich they came:—

'• Ki)iNi;i'r,f:ii, Ik'ceinher 2G,

" \Vc hereby certify on soul and conscience, that we have

this day examined the body of Mr. Hugh Jlillor, at Slinib

Mount, Portobcllo.

"The cause of death we found to be a pistol-shot tin'ougli

the left side of tlie chest ; and this, we are satisfied, was in-

flicted by his own liand.

" From tlie diseased appearances found in the brain, taken

in connection with tlie history of the case, we have no doubt

that the act was suicidal, under tlie impulse of i:iNanity."

It is impossible to convey any adequate idea of

the gloom which pervaded Edinburgh on the par-

ticulars of Hugh Miller's lamentable death being

known. And this gloom was deepened by the oc-

currence of another sad tragedv in connexion with
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tlie fatal revolver with which he had terminated

his life. After the medical inquiry into the cause

of his death had been completed, Professor Miller

took tlie revolver to the gunsmith in Edinburgh

from whom it had been purchased by Mr. Miller,

to ascertain how many shots had been fired, and how

many still remained in the chamber. In the mas-

ter's absence, the foreman, Thomas Leslie, received

the weapon from the professor, and looked into the

muzzle, holding the hammer with his fingers, while

he turned the chamber round to count the charges.

The hammer slipped from his fingers, struck the

cap, and the charge in the barrel exploded. The

charge entered his right eye and penetrated the

brain, and he fell dead on the floor.—Subjoined is

Mr. Miller's poi'trnit

:

Mr. Miller was buried in the Gr;\iiyu cemetery,

on the south side of Edinburgh, his s'-ave being

on the same line, and a few paces distant, from that

of Dr. Chalmers. The attendance of mourners

[

at the funeral was very great, and the concourse of

j

s]iectators equally so. At one part of the route

j

the procession was joined by the kirk session of

j

Free St. John's church, of which Mr. Millei' was a

j

deacon, by the members of the Royal Physical

Society', by the compositors in the Witness office,

and by several hundreds of gentlemen. Along

all the streets through which the procession passed,

the shops were shut at the request of the magis-
]

trates. ;

In person Mr. Miller was large and muscular.

He had a stalwart form, and a broad and massy

forehead, with a singular conformation of head.

2so one could see him without being convinced

that there was something remarkable about him,

and the individuality of his appearance was ren-

dered the more striking by the homely dress, in-

cluding the plaid thrown across the shoulder, in

which he was accustomed to attire himself. It

was emphatically said of him by the duke of Ar-

gyle, that " Hugh Miller was not a learned man.

He knew no language but his own. He could

read nothing but English ; and yet, by careful

and industrious habits, by spending his spare

iiours on the writings of the greatest authors to

whom he could get access, he was enabled to

write books which have attained a classical rank

in the literature of the English language."

Ills townsmen have erected a statue of him at
j

Cromarty. His much-cherished geological collec-

tion was, in 1858, purchased by government for

£500, to be preserved in the ]\Iuseum of the uni-

versity of Edinburgh. An additional sum of £600,

subscribed by various persons, with a view to its

private purchase, was paid over to his widow, mak-

ing in all £1,100, which the family received for

this memento of her Iiusbnnd's scientific labours.

The 'Testimony of the Rocks' was published

soon after his death, and from the peculiar circum-

stances in ^Yhich it appeared, as well as from its

own extraordinary merits, it attracted an unusual
|

share of public attention. Its object is to demon-

strate the bearing which geology has on both na-

tural and revealed religion, and whatever may be

the opinions entertained of the author's peculiar

and thoroughly original views as to the creation

and deluge, the work must certainly be considered

one of the most remarkable contributions to science

of the present century. He had long projected a

great work on ' The Geology of Scotland,' as the

completion of his scientific labours, and one on

which his reputation was permanently to rest, but

his strong intellect had run its course, and it never

shone clearer, as appears conspicuous on every
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page of his final volume, than just before it sud-

denly sunk in darkness, to be relumed no more in

this world.

Mr. Miller left a family of two sons and a

daughter. Tlie eldest son was fourteen years old

at tiie time of his fatiier's death. lie himself was

fji years of age when lliat event took place.

The works of Hugh Miller are:

I'ooms written in the Leisure Hours of .a Joiu'noyniau

Mii.son. Inverness, 1829. 12mo.

On the Herring Fishery. A pamphlet. Inverness, 1829.

Contributed originally in a series of letters to tlie Inverness

Courier.

I-etter from one of the .Scotti>h People to tlie Right Hon.

Lord Brougham and Vaux, on the opinions expressed by his

Lordship on the Auchterarder case. Edinburgh, 1839.

Fourth edition, 18.57.

The Whiggisni of the Old Sehool, as exemplified by the

past history and present condition of tlie Church of Scotland.

JOdiiiburgh, 1839. 8vo. Second edition.

Scenes and Legends of tlie North of Scotland. Fdinburgh,

1835. Fifth edition, crown 8vo, 1857.

The Old Red Sandstone ; or New Walks in an Old Field.

Kdiiiburgh, 1811, crown 8vo, with plates. 7th edition, 1857.

The Fo.ssiliferous Deposits of Scoll.wd
;
being an address

to the Royal Physical Society, delivered 22d November 1851.

Fdinburgh, 12ino, 1851.

The Sites Bill and the Toleration Laws. Being an !"x-

aniination of the Resolutions of the Rev. Dr. Ale.saiuler of

.\rgyle Square Chapel Congregation. Edinburgh, 1818, riiiio.

First Impressions of England and its People. ICdinburgh,

1817. Fourth edition, 1857, crown 8vo.

Footprints of the Creator; or. The Asterolepis of Strom-

ness. London, 1819, IGmo. Sixth edition, foolscap 8vo,

1857, with numerous woodcut illustrations.

The Two Parties in the Church of Scotland Exhibited as

.Missionary and .\nti-Missionary. Their contendings in these

opposite characters in the Past .and their Statistics now.

Edinburgh, 1812, 8vo. Second edition.

Words of Warning to the People of Scotland on Sir Robert

Peel's Scottish Currency Bill. Edinburgh, ISi-i, 8vo.

My Schools and Schoolmasters; or. The Story of my Edu-

cation. Edinburgh, 1851. 8th edition, crown 8vo, 1857.

The Testimony of the Rocks; or. Geology in its beaiing on

the Two Tlieidogies—Natural and Revealed. Posthumous.

Fdinburgh, 1857, post Svo, profusely illustrated.

The Cruise of the Betsey
;

or, A Summer Ramble .among the

Fossiliferous Deposits of the Hebrides. With Rambles of a

Geologist
;

or. Ten Thousand miles over the Fossiliferous

Deposits of Scotland. Edinburgh, 1858. Svo. Posthumous.

He also contributed an account of the geology of the Bass

Rock to a work, published in 1850, liaviiig for its object a

fidl description of that once celebrated state prison.

A Sketch Bo(dv o( Popular Geology. Posthumous. Edited

by his widow. Being Lectures delivered belbre the Philoso-

phical Institution of Edinburgh. With an Introductory Pre-

face. By Mrs. Miller. Edinburgh, 1859, Svo.

Oil Mr. ^lillor's widow govcrnineut settled a

pension of £70, and on his aged mother at Crom-

arty, one of £30.

MILNE, Colin, LL.U., a writer on botany,
1

born at Aberdeen in 1744. lie became tutor to

Lord Algernon Percy, younger son of the duke

of Northumberland, and entered into holy orders.

He was afterwards rector of North Chapel, in

Essex, and also obtained the lectureship of Dept-

ford. He received the degree of LL.D. from Mar-

ischal college, Aberdeen, and was likewise D.D.

and F.L.S. He died in 1815. His works are

:

Botanical Dictionary
;

or, ICleinents of Systematic .ind

Philosophical Botany. London, 1770, Svo. 2d edit. 1777,

Svo. A Supplement. 1778, 8vo. 3d edit, revised, coiTCcted,

and enlarged, 25 plates. London, 1805, Svo.

Institutes of Botany. In two parts. London, 1770-72,

Ito. Siipiileinent to the same. 1778, 4to.

The Boldness and Freedom of Apostolic Evidence ; a Ser-

mon. 1775, Svo.

Sermon preached at the Anniversary Meeting of the Royal

Linna;.-in Society. 1779, Svo.

Sermons. London, 1780, Svo.

Indigenous Botany, or Habitations of English Plants.
|

Vol. i. Lond. 1793, Svo. In conjunction with .^lex. Gordon.

MILNE, William, D.D., a distinguished mis-

sionary to the Cliiiiese, was born of poor parents,

in the parish of Kinnethmont, Aberdeenshire, in

April 1785. He received his education at the

parish school, and afterwards resided in one or

two families in the capacity of a servant. He

early began to entertain religious impressions, and

having read the Transactions of the London Mis-

sionary Society, and the Life of David Brainerd

and of Samuel Pearce, he was induced to offer

iiiinsclf to that society as a missionar3\ In con-

sequence he was called up to England, and put

under the care of the Rev. David Boguc at Gos-

port, with whom, having gone tlirougli a regular

course of stud3', and made great progress both in

classical and theological knowledge, he was or-

dained at Portsea, July IG, 1812.

Soon after he was appointed colleague to IMr.

Morrison in China, and ha^ing married a J'oung

lad}' in his native count}-, he sailed with his wife

from Portsmonth, September 4, 1812, and arrived

at !Macao, July 4, 1813. He immediately com-

menced the study of the Chinese language, but

was soon compelled by the Portuguese authorities

to proceed to Canton. After remaining there a

short time, he nnide a tour through the chief set-

tlements of the Malay Ai'chipelago for the purpose

of distributing tracts and New Testaments, and

afterwards returned lo China. In April 1815 he
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embarked with his family for Malacca to take

charge of the missionary establishment at that

phice, wlierc he also preached once a- week to the

Dutch protcstants. On application to the gover-

nor at Penang, a grant was made of ground for

the erection of missionary buildings, and a free

press was allowed at Malacca. Having esta

blished a school for the instruction of the children

of the poor, he composed for his Chinese scholars

the Youth's Catechism, and printed various tracts

for their use. He also translated into the Chinese

language a part of the Old Testament, of Avhich

the Book of Deuteronomy, after being revised by

Mr. Morrison, was printed in 1816. In May 1817

Mr. IMilne commenced ' The Chinese Gleaner,' a

periodical work containing extracts from the cor-

respondence of the Eastern missionaries, with

miscellaneous notices relative to the philosophy

and mythology of the Indo-Chinese nations. In

September 1818 Malacca was by treaty restored

to the Dutch government, and on November 10 of

the same year the foundation stone was laid of tlie

Anglo-Chinese college, on which occasion both

the English and Dutch authorities attended.

Previous to this period, Mr. Milne, along with

Mr. Morrison, had received from the university of

Glasgow the degree of D.D., which had been

granted them December 24, 1817. In Marcli

1819 he had to mourn the loss of his wife. In

November of the same year the whole of the Old

Testament, translated by him and his colleague,

was completed, Dr. Milne having undertaken the

historical portions, and Dr. Morrison the books of

Solomon and the Prophets. In 1820 Dr. Milne

published ' A Pietrospect of the First Ten Years

of the Protestant Mission to China,' in which he

gives an interesting account of the history of that

country, its manners, its morals, and its religion,

and of the various attempts to introduce the know-

ledge of the gospel into that benighted land. Af-

ter suffering much from the effects of the climate,

Dr. Milne died at Malacca, 1822, at the age of

37, leaving four children.

MiNTo, eail of, a title in tlie peerage of Great Britain con-

nected with Scotland, see vol. ii. p. 132, article Elliot.

JllTCHK.I,!., a surname from the Anglo-Saxon Micliel, sig-

nitying great; or it may be from tlie German Mit schuler. a

disciple, literally " witli a school." Th« Danish Mod-schiohl,

means courage-sliield. The crest of the Jlitchells is a liaiui

holding a pen; motto, Favente deo siqiero.

^MITCHELL, Sill David, au eminent na\al

commander, in the reign of William HI., was de-

scended from a respectable family in Scotland,

where he was born about the middle of the seven-

teenth century. He early entered the navy, and

after the intermediate steps he was promoted to

the command of the Elizabeth, of 70 guns. At

the battle of Beachy-head he behaved with great

gallantry; and in 1693 he was appointed rear-

admiral of the blue. In 1694 he was knighted,

and about the same time attained the rank of

rear-admiral of the red. In 1698, when Peter the

Great was invited by King "William to visit Lon-

don, Admiral Mitchell was commissioned to briu;:

him over to England, and after a stay of three

months he conveyed him back to the Continent.

He was subsequently sent to Holland, on a diplo-

matic commission. He died soon after his return

to England, June 1, 1710.

MITCHELL, Sir Andrew, an able diploma-

tist, was the onh' son of the Rev. William Mit-

chell, originally of Aberdeen, and latterly one of

the ministers of tlse High Church of Edinburgh.

Tlie date of his birth is not specified, but he is

said to have been married in 1715, when very

young, to a lady, who died four years after in

childbirth, and whose loss he felt so deeply as to

be obliged to discontinue the study of the law, for

which his father had designed him, and divert his

grief by travelling. In 1741 he Avas appointed

secretary to the marquis of Tweeddale, minislcr

for the atfairs of Scotland, and in 1747 was elect-

ed M.P. for the Banff district of burghs. On the

death of Thomson the poet in 1748, he and Lord

Lyttleton were named his executors.

In 1751 he was nominated his majesty's repre-

sentative at Brussels, where he resided for two

years. Soon after his return to London in 1753

he was created a knight of the Bath, and appoint-

ed ambassador extraordinary to the court of Prus-

sia, where, by his abilities and address, he suc-

ceeded in detaching his Prussian majesty from the

French interest. At Berlin he was much cele-

brated for the liveliness of his conversation and

the readiness of his repartees, and he became so

much a favourite with the Great Frederick that
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I
he usually accompanied him in liis campaig-ns. In

j

consequence of bad health he returned to England

j

in 1765, and spent some time at 'I'Mubridge Wells.

!
In the following year he resumed the duties of his

j
office at Berlin, where he died, January 28, 1771.

j

The court of Frussia lionoured his funeral with

J

tlieir presence, and the king himself, from a bul-

! cony, is said to have beheld the procession \\\lh

:
tears.

j,
MITCHELL, .losKi'ii, a (lr;iiniiti.-t and tliini-

!j rate poet, was the son of a stone-cutter, and was

ji

born about 1681. lie received a university edu-

II
cation, and is described as " one of a club of small

j

wits who, about 1719, published at Edinburgh, a

! very poor miscellany, to which Dr. Young, the

I

well-known author of the ' Night Thoughts,' pre-

i fixed a Copy of Verses." lie afterwards repaired

ji
to London, where he was fortunate enough to ob-

Ij tain the patronage of the carl of Stair and Sir

ji Robert AValpole : on the latter of whom he was

j; for a great part of his life almost entirely depend-

j;
ent, and was styled "Sir Robert AValpole's Poet."

I

His dissipiition and extravagance, however, kept

i; him constantly in a state of distress; and having

j' on one occasion applied to Aaron Hill for some

j

pecuniary assistance, that gentleman made hiin a

!

present of his traged}' of ' The Fatal Extrava-

' gance,' which was acted and imblished in I\lit-

clu'll's name, and produced liim a consideiable

I

Slim. lie was candid enough, however, to inform

i
llie pnlilic who was the real author of the i)iecc,

and ever after gratefully acknowledged his obli-

I

gations to Mr. Hill. A collection of Mitchell's

j

Miscellaneous Toenis, in two volumes 8vo, was

ji published in 1729; and in 1731 he brought out

;! 'The Highland Fair, a Ballad Opera,' which was

his own composition. He died Cth February,

1738.

;; He was the autiior of several popular Scottish

:, songs, inserted in Johnson's Musical Museum,

ij particularly 'Leave Kindred and Friends, sweet

Betty,' adapted to the tune of ' Blink over the

j;
Burn, sweet Betty,' and ' By Pinkie House oft let

j

, me walk,' also ' As Sylvia in a Forest lay.' To

the air of Pinkie House he also wrote another

song, beginning ' As lovesick Croydon beside a

murmuring rivulet lay,' which is printed in Watt's

Musical Miscellany, vol. v. London, 1731. The

|i
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j

ballad called the 'Duke of Argyle's Levee,' usu-

ally ascribed to Lord Binning, was written by

Mitchell.

MITCHELL, Sir Andukw, a gallant admiral,

was born in Scotland about 1757, and received his

education at Edinburgh. In 1776 he accompanied

Admiral Sir Edward Vernon to India as a mid-

shipman, and during his services in the East, lie

was rapidly advanced to the rank of post-captain.

At the conclusion of the war, he returned to Eng-

land with a convoy, and on the breaking out of

hostilities with the French republic, he was ap-
j

pointed to the command, first of the Asia, 61, and
i

then of the Impregnable, 90. In 1795 he became
j

j

a rear-admiral; and in 1799, on being promoted ;i

to the rank of vice-admiral of the White, he
;

hoisted his flag on board the Zealand, 61, from i

I
i

w hich ship he removed to the Isis, 50, in Avhich
j

he joined Lord Duncan off the coast of Holland. \\

At the end of August he entered the Texel, where
j;

the Dutch fleet surrendered to him without firing
,

:

j

a shot. For this service he was made a knight of
'

I

the Bath. In 1802 he was appointed commander-
j

in-chief on the coast of America. He died at i

Bermuda, February 26, 1806.
I

MITCHELL, Sir Tiio.aias Livingstoxi;, •

|

D.CLL., a distinguishwl Australian explorer, w as
|

i

born in 1792. He was the eldest son of John Mit-
\

j

clicll, Esq., of Grangemouth, descended from (lie
|

Mitchells of Craigeud, one of the oldest families in
!

Stirlingshire, which took the additional name of
j

Livingstone. Entering the army as lieutenant of :

tiie 95lh Rifles, now the Rifle Brigade, at an early
j

age, he passed through the most active period of '

i

the Peninsular War. After 1815 he was sent into
!

Spain and Portugal to survey the different fields
j

!

of battle in those countries. This service he sue-
j

1

j

cessfully accomplished, and several of his models
;

I

may be seen in the United Service Institution, i

London. About 1827 he was, by George IV.,
j

appointed surveyor-general of New South Wales. !

j

To this arduous service he devoted the remaining !

|

twenty-eight years of his life. He cut all the
j

!

passes which lead through the mountains to the
j

interior of the Australian continent ; laid out up- ' '

wards of 200 towns and villages ; and conducted

four expeditions of discovery, during one of w hich ';

he conquered from the aborigines, and surveyed,
!
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at the same time, Australia Felix, afterwards cel-

ebrated for its gold fields. He has been deserv-

edly called "the Cook of the Australian conti-

nent." In 1839 he was knighted by Queen Vic-

toria, on presenting her Majesty with a map of

his surveys and discoveries.

In 1838 he published, in 2 vols. Svo, his ad-

mirable work, entitled ' Three Expeditions into

the Interior of Eastern Australia,' and iu 1848 he

brought out a second work on his Australian dis-

coveries, being ' A Journal of an Expedition into

the Interior of Tropical Australia, in search of a

route from Sydney to the Gulf of Carpentaria.'

Sir Thomas was the author of several other works.

His 'Manual' and ' Platoon Exercises' long form-

ed part of the requisite equipment of 3-oung officers

joining the army, as his plans of battles, drawn at

the roj'al military college, have been for many

years the only studies for military students of the

senior department at Sandhurst. He prepared

and published several maps of Australia, a

beautiful Trigonometrical survey of Port Jackson

on a large scale, and a translation of the ' Lusiad

of Camoens.' He also invented tlie boomerang

propeller, which was patented in Great Britain

and America, and was adopted in many vessels as

superior to every other. In 1853 he published a

pamphlet entitled ' The Origin, History, and De-

scription of the Boomerang Propeller.'

Sir Tliomas represented Melbourne for some

years in the Legislative Assembly of New South

Wales, and died at Sydney on Oct. 5, 1865. lie

was doctor of civil law of the university of Oxford,

and a fellow of the Royal Geographical and Geo-

logical Societies, and other learned bodies. He

Avas much beloved and respected in the colony of

New South AVales, and was honoured with a public

fiuieral. lie married in 1818, Mary, eldest daugh-

ter of General Richard Blunt, colonel of the CCth

regiment, by M'hom he had a numerous issue.

His younger brothers are : J. M. Mitchell, of

Mayville, merchant and Belgian consul in Leith,

knight of the order of Leopold of Belgium, and

Houston Mitchell of Polmood and Meadowbank.

On 16thApril 1857 Sir Thomas' second daughter,

Emily, married at Sydney the Right Hon. George

Hdward Thicknesse Touchet, 20th Lord Audley,

descended from a family who were barons by

tenure before the reign of Henry III., but the ex-

isting peerage, created in 1313, dates from the
j

earliest writ of summons. Camilla Victoria, Sir

Thomas' third daughter, was married the same

day to J. F. Mann, Esq., son of General Mann. ,

Lady Audley died April 1, 1860. '

Sir Thomas was chief of the family of Mitchell

of Craigend, which, as above mentioned, assumed

the name of Livingstone, on a marriage with the

heiress of a brother of Lord Viscount Kilsj'th, at-

tainted in 1716. He was chiefly remarkable for

enei-gy and perseverance in whatever he under-

took, and a determination to do his duty in all

circumstances. AVhen sent to the Peninsula, after

the battle of Waterloo, in 1815, to survey the

different fields of battle in which our troops had

been engaged, although he was there under the

direct auspices of the Duke of AVellington, and al-

though he had been introduced by Mr. Canning,

then British ambassador at Lisbon, to the imme-

diate protection of General Bnllasteros, the Span-

ish prime minister, his surveys excited a good deal

of jealousy amongst the Spaniards, and he was ex -

posed to so much danger that he had frequently i

to work with the theodolite in one hand and the
j

rifle in the other. On his return to Britain he

was employed, under Sir Henry Torrens, iu draw-

ing plans for the manoeuvres of the army, accord-

ing to a design of his own invention, by which

their accuracy could be tested on mathematical
j

principles, and under which test many old errors !

of movement in echelon and wheeling were ex-
j

ploded, and new methods of forming squares were
j

introduced from his drawings.
i

The publication of his work, "Plans of the Fields

of Battle in the Peninsula," which, connected as

they were with the days of his early service in the
j

army, naturally had stronger claims on liim, was i

delayed to allow him to publish his " Three Ex-
j

peditions into the Interior of Eastern Australia,"

undertaken, as these expeditions were, by order

of government. Tiie most attractive of his duties,

as he himself tells us in his preface to his "Tro-

pical Australia," ever was to explore the interior

of that country. Australia was then very little

known to the world, and Sir Thomas Mitchell's

works on the subject have been of vast use to all

subsequent explorers.
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MOIR, David Macbeth, an accomplished poet

and miscellaneous writer, the Delta of Black-

wood's Mapnzine, was born at Musselburgh, 5th

January 1798, being the second of four children

which his parents had. He got the rudiments of

his education at a school of minor note in his

native place, and was then entered at the grammar

school, where he learned the Latin, Greek, and

French languages, and the elements of geometry

and algebra. When thirteen years old, he was

placed as an apprentice for four years with Dr.

Stewart, a medical practitioner of Musselburgh.

In the last year of his apprenticeship he began to

attend the medical classes in the university of

Edinburgh, and after pursuing the usual course of

study, he received his diploma as surgeon in the

spring of 181G, when he was only eighteen years

of age. Soon after he joined Dr. Brown of Mus-

selburgh, as junior partner, in his medical practice,

which was extensive.

His first poetical attempt bears date 1812, being

then in his fifteenth year. He soon after sent two

short prose essays to ' The Cheap Magazine,' a

small Haddington publication. He subsequently

contributed to the Scots Magazine, and having in

1817institutedadebating society in his native place,

called " The Musselburgh Forum," he became its

secretary, and took an active part in its proceed-

ings. So pleased were the members with his ser-

vices that at the end of their session they unani-

mously voted him a silver medal with a suitable

inscription. Towards the close of the same year

he ventured to print anonymously a small

volume entitled ' The Bombardment of Algiers

and other Poems,' which he distributed almost

entirely among his friends. Having become ac-

quainted with Mr. Thomas Pringle, the poet, one

of the editors of Constable's Edinburgh Magazine,

he contributed various articles, both in prose and

verse, to that periodical.

His first contribution to Blackwood's Magazine

was some verses, shortly after the starting of that

periodical, when he was only nineteen years of

age. They were sent without any signature, but,

to distinguish his pieces, he adopted the subscrip-

tion of Delta, by which nom-de-phanc he was ever

afterwards known. His earliest poem with that

subscription, first entitled ' Emma,' but subse-

quently altered to Sir Ethelred, appeared in Janu-

ary 1820. For more than thirty years he conti-

nued to enrich its pages with the productions of

his pen. His poems, in particular, were remark

able for their smoothness and facility of style, and

evinced a delicate and graceful fancy, with a sweet

pure vein of tenderness and pathos.

Towards the close of 1824, he published in a

separate volume, 'The Legend of Genevieve, with

other Tales and Poems,' consisting chiefly of

selections from his contributions to the Magazines,

with some new pieces. This work was well re-

ceived, and greatly increased his poetical reputa-

tion. In October of the same year he began to

contribute also to Blackwood's Magazine, one of

the most laughable as well as lifelike embodiments

of Scottish humour known to literature, entitled

'The Autobiogi-aphy of Mansie Waugh.' It was

not concluded till 1828, Avhen it was published

in a volume by itself, with additions, and in a

short time ran through several editions. It was

also reprinted in America and France. That the

author of the touching ' Legend of Genevieve,' and

the writer of the facetious history of ' Mansie

Waugh,' the Dalkeith tailoi", was one and the

same person, could scarcely be believed at the

time. lu the literaiy world the authorship was

universally assigned to John Gait, then in the ze-

nith of his fame. But this was not the only hu-

morous piece which the Magazine received from

his pen. Among his other jocose papers furnished

to that periodical were 'The Eve of St. Jerry,'

' The Auncient Waggonere,' ' Billy Routing,' &c.

some of which were ascribed to Maginn, then also

a frequent contributor to its pages.

Mr. j\Ioir wrote likewise for the Edinburgh Lit-

erary Gazette, and his contributions were prized

so highly that in the end of July 1829, he was

presented by the proprietors with a handsome

silver jug, in token of their gratitude. On 8tli

June of the same year, he had married Miss Char-

lotte E. Bell of Leith, by whom he had eleven

children, eight of whom survived him.

In 1830 he edited the collection called ' Weeds

and Wildflowers,' a posthumous volume of prose

and poetry, by Alexander Balfour, published fur

the benefit of his family, and wrote the memoir

prefixed of Balfour's life.
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Meantime his professional career as a medical

man liad kept pace with liis literary success. Dur-

ing tlie terrible visitation of the cholera in 1832,

JIusselburgh -was one of its first points of attack,

and Mr. Moir was night and daj' in attendance on

the sufl'erers. " Being," says his biogi'aplier, Mr.

Aird, "medical secretary of tlie Board of Health

at Musselburgh, the inquiries which he had to an-

swer from all parts of the countrj', as to tlie pre-

vention and treatment of the malady, were innu-

merable, and, almost in self-defence, in order to

answer if possible once for all, he hurriedly threw

together his 'Practical Observations on Malignant

Cholera.' A second edition Avas called for in a

few days after tlie publication of the lirst. He

followed it up with ' Proofs of the Contagion of

Malignant Cholera.' The second visitation of

cholera in 18i8-9'only confirmed him in his doc-

ti'ine of contagion."

In 1831 he published his ' Outlines of the An-

cient History of Medicine, being a view of the

Progress of the Healing Art among the Egyptians,

Creeks, Romans, and Arabians,' a work of great

research and diversified erudition. He liad been

tlie same year presented with the freedom of liis

native place, and being also elected a member of

the town council, lie took an active part in the

public affairs of the burgh. It may also be men-

tioned here that in 1841, lie was chosen a member

of the kirk session of luvercsk, and discharged

the duties of the eldership with exemplary fidelity,

and that in 1846 he ivas appointed to represent

the burgh of Annan in the General Assemblj- of

tlia church of Scotland, an office which was con-

ferred upon him every succeeding year, during the

remainder of his life.

In the beginning of 1833, Dr. Brown having

j

retired from business. Mr. Moir became senior in

the practice, having admitted a junior partner.

On the death of Mr. Blackwood, the publisher, in

1834, Mr. Moir was named one of the executors

for his family, the only one who was not a relative,

a proof of the confidence whicli was placed in his

judgment and integrity.

lu 1837, on the death of Dr. M-Nish of Glas-

gow, Mr. Moir, with whom he had been in habits

of intimacy and constant correspondence for j-ears,

collected his fugitive pieces, and published them

with a life of the autlior. He also contributed

memoirs of Mr. Kennie of Phantassie, the eminent

agriculturist, and Sir Jolin Sinclair, to the 'Jour-

nal of Agriculture,' and wrote a biograpliical

sketch of Admiral Sir David Milne ; besides edit-

ing a collected edition of the works of ]Mrs. Tic-

mans, with notes. A memoir of Gait, written by

Mr. Moir, was published in 1841. In the end of

1843 'Mr. Moir published Iiis 'Domestic Verses.'

His last contribution to Blackwood's Magazine,

'The Lament of Selim,' was sent in only about a

fortnight before his death. From first to last he

contributed in all to its pages 370 articles in prose

and verse. lie was a zealous member of the So-

ciety of Antiquaries of Scotland, and in 1850, at a

meeting of the Society, he read a paper on the

Roman antiquities of Musselburgh.

For the benefit of his health i\Ir. ^loir, on the

1st of July 1851, set out with Mrs. Moir, and their

litile boy, John Wilson, to Ayrshire and Dum-

fries, to see if a short release from professional

care and change of scene would do him any good.

At the latter place he was seized with a severe

attack of spasms, to which he had been for some

time subject, and died at the King's Arms inn,

Dumfries, on the Ctli of the same month, in the

53d year of his age. He was buried in the church-

yard of Inveresk. A full length statue of hini

has been erected to his memory in his native

place.

His poems, with a well-written life of him by

his friend, Mr. Thomas Aird, were published at

Edinburgh, in 2 vols, small 8vo, in 1852.

IMOLYSON, David, a poet of considerable

local reputation in Fifeshire, was the eldest son of

a small shopkeeper, who had been originally a

tailor, and was born in the village of Moiiiniail,

May 4, 1789. After receiving the rudiments of

his education at the parish school, he was removed

to the school of Collessic, where he studied Latin

and Greek. He was then sent to learn the trade

of a printer with Mr. Robert Tullis, in Cupar-Fife.

His leisure hours he devoted to the classics,

and without the assistance of a teacher he ob-

tained a knowledge of the Italian language. By

an arrangement with his employer he was enabled,

during his apprenticeship, to attend the university

of St. Andrews, where he distinguished himself by
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liis acquirements, and obtained prizes in tlie nia-

tlieniatical, natural philosopliy, and Latin classes.

Soon after liis return to Monimail, lie was ap-

pointed editor of a daily newspaper in Dublin,

culled 'Saunders' Ncws-Letter,' wliere he remain-

ed for about two years, when an unfortunate dis-

agreement with the proprietor caused liim to re-

sign his situation. During his residence in the

1
Irish capital, he acqiured a knowledge of the

Spanish and German languages, and became so

!
far master of architecture and drawing, that he

I

once had tlie intention of going to London and

j

' following the profession of an architect.

1

On leaving Dublin, he returned to Monimail on

a visit to his parents, and soon after accepted the

I situation of condnctor of a pi'ivatc academy in

Kirkcaldy, of which the llev. .lolin Martin was one

of the chief mnnngcrs. This office, however, he

only held during a few months. Ou ing to some

misunderstanding with one of the managers, he

resigned the appointment, in July ISl i, and en-

listing as a private soldier in the service of the

East India Company, immediately embarked for

Bombay. In this capacity he soon attracted the

notice of his superiors. Having drawn up a me-

morial for one of his comrades, the otliecrs were

struck with the superioi' style in whicli it was

written, and made inquiry as to the author. Soon

after, the following circumstance occurred. Tiie

officers of the regiment had been unsuccessfully

endeavouring to Avork some difficult problem in

engineering, relative to the throwing of shells,

which they left unsolved on the table of their

room. Molyson had occasion to see it lying there,

when lie solved it at once. The officers found it

next morning, and on inquiry were informed that

private ^Molyson was the name of the person who

had solved the problem which had so much puzzled

them, on which they promoted him at once to the

rank of sub-conductor of the ordnance. He had

I also some connection with tlie post-office, and all

I
the letters which came to soldiers who were dead

j

fell into his possession. Of some of these he made

an interesting use afterwards, in a series of arti-

cles which he wrote for Chambers' Edinburgh

Journal, entitled 'The Dead-Letter Box.'

After a residence of twenty-two months in Bom-

bay, his healtli began to fail under an enstern cli-

mate
;

and, liaving obtained his discliargc, he

returned to Scotland with a broken constitution !

and a small pension of about two shillings a-dnj'.

He now took up liis residence at Monimail, where

iie devoted himself to study, and particularly to

poetry. During his stay in India, he had made

liimself tlioroughl}' acquainted with Hindostanee,

and in his retirement he translated a long poem

from that language, which, on his death, was

found among his manuscripts. He wrote a great

many poems for Blackwood's Magazine, the prin-

cipal of which, entitled ' Hubert ; au Indian Tale,'
j

in blank verse, extended over six or eight pages
j

of tliat periodical. He also contributed largely to
j

the Caledonian Magazine, a Dundee publication.
;

About 1829 he was appointed editor of the Fife
|

Herald, which he conducted with talent and spirit
!

|

during the peculiarly arduous period which fol-
j

j

lowed Earl Grey's installation into office. Hav-
I

ing paid some attention to the Gaelic language, he

wrote several papers for the Herald, showing that
\

many places in Fifcshire derive their names from
j

the Gaelic. In July 1831 bad health obliged him
I

to resign his situation, when he returned to his
j

native village, where he commenced the business
'

of a land-surveyor. In this profession he obtain-
|

cd so much employment as enabled him, with the
!

assistance of his pension, not only to sup]iort him-
j

self, but also to provide for those who remained
j

of his father's famih'. His father died July 30,

1832 ; and to recruit his own health he went with
\

his brother, for a short time, to the fishing village
j

of Buckhaven, an interesting description of which

lie afterwards contributed to Chambers' Journal.

He died, unmarried, at Monimail, after a linger-

ing illness, March 4,1834. He was of a modest
!

and retiring disposition, and much esteemed by all
]

who knew hiin. To him his native village is in-
I

debted for a libraiy, of which he was the first

suggester and president, and a tribute of esteem '

!

and gratitude is recorded in its minutes to his
'

memory.

MONBODDO, Loni). See BunNF/rr, James.

i:

Moxcr.EiFF, the sunianie of an old family, originally of !

!

Pertlisliire, tlio progenitor of ivliicli in Scotland is stated to !

j

have been a Mortimer, of Anglo-Norman lineage, who as-
i

[

snmod the name of Jfoncrcift' on obtaining the lands of Mon- I
i

croiff in that conntv. Ramerus de JIoncreifT, who lived in i

|

the beginning of the l"2th centnrv, was keeper of the ward- j

'
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robe to Alexander I. In the Ragman Roll, among those who

swore fealty to Edward I. in 1296, is mentioned Johannes de

Moncrief, chevalier. A charter of the barony of Moncreiff

was granted in 1495 to Sir John iMoncreiff, whose great-

grandson, Sir John Moncreiff of Moncreiff, was created a bar-

onet of Nova Scotia, with remainder to his heirs-male what-

soever, 22d April 1626. This baronetcy is thus one of the

oldest in Scotland, the order of knight baronet projected by

James VI. in 1621, being instituted by Charles I. on 28th

May 1625.

The first baronet died in 1C30. The second baronet, the

eldest son of this gentleman, being embarrassed in his affairs,

was compelled, in 1633, to sell the estate of Moncreiff to a

younger cadet of the family, Thomas Moncreiffe, Esq., one

of the clerks of the Exchequer, who was created a baronet in

1685. Sir John died, unmamed, in 1675, when the title de-

volved upon his brother. Sir David, third baronet, on whose

death, also unmarried, his younger brother. Sir James Mon-

creiff, became fourth baronet. With him the direct line of

the first baronet expired, and the baronetcy reverted to his

heir-at-law, Sir John Moncreiff of Tippermalloch, fifth baro-

net, an eminent physician, descended directly from Hngh

Moncreiff, a brother of the first bai'onet. Sir John married

Nicholas, daughter of Jloncreiff of Easter Moncreiff, and died

about 1710.

His only son, Sir Hngh, sixth baronet, died, unman-ied, in

1644, when be bequeathed the estate of Tippermalloch to his

nephew, Mr. George Moncreiff, the son of his sister. The

title devolved on his kinsman, the Rev. Sir William Mon-

creiff, minister of Blackford, in Perthshire, seventh baronet,

descended from Archibald Moncreiff, uncle of the first baro-

net. Sir William was eldest son of the Rev. Archibald Mon-

creiff, by Catherine, eldest daughter of John Halliday, Esq.

of Tulliebole, Kinross-shire. By his wife, Catherine, eldest

daughter of Robert Wellwood, Esq. of Garvock, he had six

sons and one daughter, and died 9th December 17C7.

His eldest son, the Rev. Sir Henry Welhvood Jloncreiff,

D.D., eighth baronet, a distinguished divine of the Church of

Scotland, was born at Blackford manse in February 1750.

He received his early education at the parish school of his

native place, and being destined for the ministry, he was

sent to the university of Glasgow, where, after the usual

course of preliminary study, he entered the divinity hall. On

his father's death, which took place during his attendance at

college, he was fixed upon as his successor in the parish of

Blackford, but as he was then too young to be ordained, an

assistant was appointed in the meantime, and the young bar-

onet removed to the university of Edinburgh, to complete his

theological studies. In 1771 he was licensed to preach the

gospel, and August 15th that year, was ordained minister of

the church and parish of Blackford. In October 1775 he

was translated to St. Cuthbert's parish, Edinburgh, one of

the most populous and important charges in the metropolis.

Here he soon became distinguished for his devoted zeal and

fidelity in the discharge of his ministerial duties, for the mild-

ness and benevolence of his disposition, and fur his great per-

sonal worth, as well as for his genius and eloquence as a

preacher. Taking from the first an active share in the busi-

ness of the church courts, in opposition to the moderate, then

the dominant party, he soon became the leader of the evan-

gelical section of the church ; and in 1785 he was unanimous-

ly elected moderator of the General Assembly.

In 1784, he had been appointed collector of the fund for

I the widows and children of the clergy, and filled that impor-

}
tant situation till his death, receiving annually, for the long

!
period of forty-three years, the thanks of the Assembly, for

the able, faithful, and affectionate manner in which he dis-

charged the duties of the office. He was also one of the

original members of the society of the sons of the clerg)-, and

by his influence and exertions contributed greatly to its suc-

cess. He died, after a fingering illness, August 9, 1827, in

the 78th year of his age and 56th of his ministry.

His funeral sermon was preached by Dr. Andrew Thom-
son, minister of St. George's, Edinburgh, and afterwards

published. In the following eloquent passages. Dr. Thomson

has faithfully described his public and private character :

—

" It was in early life that he began to take an active part in

the government of our national church. The principles of

ecclesiastical polity which he adopted, as soon as he entered

on his public career, he adopted from full and firm convic-

tion, and he maintained and cherished, and avowed them to

the very last. They were the veiy same principles for which

our forefathers had contended so nobly, which they at length

succeeded in establishing, and which they bequeathed as a

sacred and blood-bought leg.acy to their descendants. But

though that circumstance gave a deep and solemn interest to

them in his regm-d, he was attached to them on more ra-

tional and enlightened grounds. He viewed them as founded

on the word of God, as essential to the rights and liberties of

the Christian people, as identified with the prosperity of

genuine religion, and with the real welfare and efficiency of

the Establishment
;
and, therefore, he embraced every oppor-

tunity of incvilcating and upholding them ; resisted all the

attempts that were made to discredit them in theory, or to

violate them in practice, rejoiced when they obtained even a

partial triumph over the opposition they had to encounter,

and clung to them, and struggled for them, long after they

were borne down by a system of force and oppression, and

when, instead of the numerous and determined host that

fought by his side in happier times, few and feeble, compa-

ratively, were those who seconded his manly efforts, and held

fast their own confidence ; but he lived to see a better spirit

returning. This revival cheered and consoled him. Fer-

vently did he long .and pray for its continuance and its spread.

Nor did he neglect to employ his influence, in order to intro-

duce pastors who would give themselves conscientiously to

their blaster's work, preaching to their flocks the truth as it

is in Jesus, watching for souls as those that must give an ac-

count, and faithfully and fearlessly performing all the duties

incumbent on them, both as ministers and as rulers in the

Church.

" He stood forth from among his oontempor.aries, confess-

edly pre-eminent in strength of personal and social character.

There was a magnanimity in his modes of thinking and of

acting, which was as evident to the eye of observation as

were the lineaments of his face and the dignity of his gait.

His great and primary distinction was a clear, profound, and

powerful understanding, which spurned from it all trifles, and

advanced to the decision it was to give with unhesitating

promptitude and determined firmness. Those who knew him

best can best give witness how faithfully and habitually he

embodied his knowledge, and his principles, and his hopes, as

a Christian, into his life and deportment, his daily walk and

conversation ; how tenderly he cared for the fatheriess and

the widow that were so often committed to his charge; how

active and assiduous ho was in helping forward deserving

youth, in giving counsel and aid to the many who had re-

course to him in their difficulties, and in doing good to all his

brethren, with unaffected kindness, as he had opportunity

;

how patient and resigned amidst the severest bereavements

(and of these he experienced not a few) with which Provi-

dence can visit the children of mortality, how feiTent in his
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devotions and prayers; how diligent in his study of the sacred

volume, from which he drew all his religious opinions ; how

correct and dignified in the whole of his personal demeanour;

how engaging in the lighter play, as well as in the graver

exercise of his social affections; and how ready, amidst all

the attainments he had made, and all the honour he had re-

ceived from men, to acknowledge the inadequacy of his ser-

vices, and t!ie sinfulness and imperfection that mingled in all

his doings, and still to betake himself to the blood of sprink-

ling and the finished work of the Messiah, as all his refuge

and as all his hope."— Sir Henry was the author of

—

Sermons. Edinburgh, 180G, 8vo.

A Sermon preached at tlie funeral of the Rev. Andrew

Hunter, D.D. Edinburgh, 1809, 8vo.

Discourses on the Evidences of the Jewish and Christian

Revelations, with notes and illustrations. Edin. 1815.

Account of the Life and writings of John Erskine, D.D.,

one of the ministers of Edinburgh. Edin. 1818.

He also wrote a small work on the Constitution of the

Church of Scotland.

His Sermons were collectively publi.shed in 3 vols., 8vo,

with a short Memoir of the Author by his son. Lord Mon-

creitf. Edin. 1829-31.

Sir Henry married in 1773, his cousin, Susan, daughter of

Mr. James Robertson Barclay of Keavil, Fifeshire, writer to

the signet, by whom he had five sons and two daughters.

Tlie eldest son, William Wellwood Moncreiff, LL.D., became

king's advocate in the admiralty court of Malta, where the

husband of his eldest sister, Sir Jolin Stoddart, presided as

chief justice, and died, unmarried, September 5th, 1813.

His second son, James Wellwood Moncreiff', afterwards a

lord of .session, under the title of Lord Jloncreiff, .succeeded

as the ninth baronet. Born 13th September 177G, he com-

pleted his education at O.xford, and was admitted an advocate

at tlie Scottish bar, 2Gth January 1799. On 7th February

1807 he was appointed sheriff of Clackmannan and Kinross.

He rapidly attained to great distinction in bis profession,

though some of the greatest jurists that Scotland has pro-

duced, were then members of the bar, taking rank with Clerk

and Cranstoun, with Cockburn and Jeffrey. In 1826, he was

chosen dean of faculty, as successor to Cranstoun. In the

following year, when the murderer Burke and his associate

Hare were tried for that series of murders which has made

the name of the former a synonyme in our language for sud-

den and violent death, he and the leading advocates of the

Scotch bar generously undertook their defence, from the fear

lest their poverty and the instinctive horror felt for the crimi-

nals might leave them without the assistance of counsel.

He was elevated to the bench, and took his seat as Lord

Moncreiff, 24th June 1829. He was, at the same time, ap-

pointed a lord of justiciary. As a judge he fully sustained

his reputation as an advocate. In tlie court of session his

judgments were distinguished for learning and sagacity, and

in the justiciary court he was most remarkable for his dispas-

sionate weighing of evidence, his sound appreciation of the

rides of law, and the impressive solemnity of his charges on

great occasions.

In 1832 he was called to give evidence before a select com-

mittee of the house of commons appointed to inquire into the

origin and exercise of church patronage in Scotland. The

questions he had to answer reached to the very foundations

of the ecclesiastical polity of the Presbyterian church, and his

evidence was remarkable for its fulness, clearness, and know-

ledge of the subjects under inquiry. For extensive and sound

legal knowledge, for acuteness, combined with an ever lieal-

tliy and reli.ible judgment, and for indefatigable industry,

III.

few of his contemporaries at the bar or on the bench, and

there were many able men among them, were superior tu

him.

Sir James Jloncrelft' died 30th April 1851, aged 75. He
bad married in 1808, Ann, daughter of Captain Geoige Ro-

bertson, K.N., and by tliis lady, who died in 1813, he had

five sons and tliree daugbters, Elizabeth, Louisa Ann, and

Catherine Mary.

The eldest son, the Rev. Sir Henry Wellwood Moncreiff, 15. A.,

tenth baronet, born in 1809, was ordained minister of the parisli

of East Kilbride, Lanai-ksliire, in 1836, and at tlie disruption,

in 1813, he joined tbe Free Church. He was afterwards

translated to St. Cuthbert's, Edinburgh. He married in

1838, Alexina-Mary, daughter of George Bell, Esq., of that

city. He is one of the two principal clerks of the General

Assembly of the Free Churcli of Scotland, the Rev. Patrick

Clason, D.D., Buccleuch church, being tlie otlier; and on the

de.-itb, in 1861, of Dr. James Roliertson, professor of divinity

and church history in tlie university of Edinburgh, he was

appointed liis successor as secretary to her majesty's sole :md

only master printers in Scotland.

It is a remarkable circumstance in the history of tliis

branch of the family of Jloncreift' that the present baronet is

tlie 7th in lineal succession who have been ministers in the

Cburch of Scotland.

The 2d son, James Moncreiff, born in 1811, educated at

High School and university of Edinburgh, passed advocate

in 1833 ; became sohcitor-general of Scotland in February

1850, and lord-advocate in April 1851; continued in the

latter office till Marcli 1852; and from December 1852 till

February 1858; elected M.P. for Leith in 1851, and several

times recliosen ; elected dean of faculty of advocates in

1858; LL.D. (Edin.) 1858; re-appoiiited lord advocate in

June 1859; M.P. for Edinburgh in 1859; a deputy lieutenant

for Mid Lothian, and lieutenant-colonel of Edinburgh Volun-

teers; married in 1834, Isabella, only daugliter of Robert

Bell, Esq. ; with issue.

Tbe 3d son, William, born in 1813, married in 18G0, Su-

san Ballantyiie, youngest daughter of J. Dykes-Ballantyne

Dykes, Esq. of Dwenby Hall, Cumberland.

The 4th son, the Rev. Geoige Robertson Moncreitf, A.B.,

born in 1817, of Bahol college, O.xford.

The 5th son, Thomas, was born Oct. 5, 1821.

The family of iMoncreiffe of Moncreille, a yourger branch

of the original family of the name, ;dso possesses a baronetcy

of Nova Scotia, created 30th November 1685, with remain-

der to. the heirs-male whatsoever of the first baronet. Sir

Tbomas Moncreiffe, clerk of the exchequer and treasury. This

gentleman, having acquired great wealth, purchased, as al-

ready stated, tlie estate of Moncreiff'e, tbe ancient inherit.ance

of his ancestors, from his cousin. Sir John Moncreilf, the

second baronet of the older branch. He married a lady of

the house of Hamilton, who bequeathed to the parish of Dun-

barny, Perthshire, in which the estate of Moncreiffe is situ-

ated, two silver communion cups, bearing the inscription

:

" Dam. Betha, Hamilton, spouse to Sir Thomas Jloncreilie

of that ilk, left in legacy those two cups to the church of

Duubarny. Anno Domini, 1703." She also bequeathed to

the s.ame parish a large silver baptismal plate or font. Sir

David died without issue, when the title and estate devolved

upon his nephew. Sir Thomas Moncreiife, the second baronet,

who, by his wife, Margaret, daughter of David Smythe, Esq.

of Jlethven, had two sons and three daughters. David Stu-

art Jloncreiffe of Moredun, the second son, having passed

advocate, was early promoted to the office of king's remem-

M
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brancer in the Scottish excliequcr court, and was afterwards

appointed one of the barons of the exchequer in Scotland.

Sir Thomas Moiicreiffe, the fifth baronet, the nephew of

this gentleman, man-ied Lady Elizabeth Rams.iy, daughter

of the earl of Dalhousie, and by her had one son, the si.xth

baronet. The match is said not to have been a happy one,

and as it was mainly brought about by Baron JIoncreifFe, he

deemed himself bound to take the lady's part, and at his

death he left her tlie estate of Moredun in the parish of Lib-

erton, near Edinburgh. It afterwards became the property

of David .'Anderson, Esq. She died 3d June. 1848, from in-

juries sustained by lier dress accidentally catching fire.

Sir Thomas, 7th baronet of tliis branch, born Jan. 9, 1822,

succeeded on the death of his father, Nov. 20, 1830. He mar-

ried, May 2, 1843, Lady Louisa Hay, eldest daughter of the

earl of Kinnoul ; issue, 3 sons and 8 drs. Robert Drum-

mond MoncreUTi!, his eliJest surviving son, born Nov. 3, 1855.

The Moncreiffe family possesses tlie patronage of two bur-

saries in the university of St. Andrews. The view from the

beautiful hill of i\Ioncreifr, within two miles of Perth, whence

they derive their name, was called by Pennant "the glory of

Scotland." In Scott's ' Fair Maid of Perth' there is a most

graphic description of it.

MoxcuR, a surname derived from the French words more

cceur, my heart. There was an old family, Moncur of that

ilk, in Perthshire. In the charters of Robert I. and David

II. this name of Jloncur is mentioned, and in the reign of

Robert III., Andreas Moncur de eodem is witness in a char-

ter of Rait of Hallgreen. The ruins of the ancient castle of

Moncur are still to be seen in the parish of Inchture, in the

carse of Gowrie.

JIoNUO, the name of the clan Roich. See JIunro.

MONRO, Alexander, M.D., an eminent ana-

tomist, tlie founder of tlie medical school at Edin-

burgh, styled Primus, to distinguish him from his

son and successor, was descended, by his father,

from the family of Munro of Milntoun, in Ross-

shire, and by his mother, from that of Forbes of

Culloden, tliougli he himself was born in London,

September 8, 1697. His father John, youngest

son of Sir Alexander Monro of Bearcrofts, who

was a colonel in the army of Charles II. at the

battle of Worcester, served for some years as a

surgeon in the army of King William in Flanders;

and, on his retirement, settled at Edinburgh,

where he soon acquired an extensive practice.

He gave his son Alexander the best education

which that city afforded, and then sent him to

London, where he attended the anatomical lec-

tures of Chcsclden. Young IMouro afterwards

pursued his studies at Paris and Leyden, at the

latter place under the celebrated Boerhaave. On

his return to Edinburgh in the autumn of 1719,

Messrs. Drummond and M'Gill, who were then

conjunct nominal professors and demonstrators of

anatomy to the Company of Surgeons, resigned in

his favour. In 1720 by the advice of his father,

he began to give public lectures on anatom)' ; and

at the same time Dr. Alston, (see vol. i. p. 121,)

then a young man, also at the suggestion of the

elder Monro, commenced delivering lectures on

the materia medica and botany. His father like-

wise communicated to the physicians and surgeons

of Edinburgh a plan for having the different

branches of physic and surgery I'egularly taught

at Edinburgh ; and by their interest, professor-

ships of anatomy and medicine were instituted in

the university. To complete the plan, subscrip-

tions were set on foot for the establishment of an

hospital, and considerable suras raised, chiefly by

the exertions of Mr. George Drummond, lord pro-

vost, and Dr. Alexander Monro, who wiote a

pamphlet, strongly pointing out the advantages of

such an institution. The Royal Infirmary was in

consequence founded, Provost Drummond and Dr.

Monro being appointed a committee to superin-

tend its building; and on its being opened, he

delivered clinical lectures there for the benefit of

the students. Thus was commenced at Edin-

burgh that regular course of instruction which ob-

tained for the medical school of that city the repu-

tation of being the best in the world.

Dr. jMonro had been elected, in 1721, the first

professor of anatomy in the college of Edinburgh,

but he was not received into the university till

1725, when he was inducted along with the cele-

brated mathematician, Mr. Colin Maclaurin. In

1726 appeared his ' Osteology, or Treatise on the

Anatomy of the Bones,' which passed through

eight editions during his life, and was trans-

lated into various foreign languages. In the

later editions he added a concise description of

the Nerves, and of the Lacteal Sac and Thoracic

Duct. A society having been established at

Edinburgh by the professors, and other practi-

tioners of the town, for the purpose of collecting

and publishing papers on professional subjects,

Dr. Monro was appointed secrctarj', and under

his active superintendence, six volumes of ' Medi-

cal Essays ' were published, the first of ^\ hich ap-

peared in 1732. Of this collection many of the

most valuable papers were written by Dr. Moni-o,

ou anatomical, physiological, and practical sub-
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jects. When the society was afterwards cxteiuled

to the admission of members eminent in litcratnre,

and philosopliical as well as medical papers were

received, Dr. Monro became one of its vice-presi-

dents, and furnished several nseful contribntions

to tlie two volnmes wliicli were published of its

j\Iemoirs, entitled ' Essays, Physical and Liter-

ary.' In 17.59 he resigned the anatomical chair to

his 3-onngest son. Dr. Alexander jMonro, Srriindiis,

but still continued his clinical lectures at the Li-

firmary. He died July 10, 17G7, at the advanced

age of 70. By his Avife Isabella, danghter of Sir

Donald iSIacdonald of Sleat, baronet, he had seve-

ral children.

Ills works are :

Osteoloijy ; or a Treatise on tlie Anatomy of the Bones.

To wliich arc added, A Treatise of tlie Nerves, an Acconnt of

tlie Reciprocal Motions of the Heart, and a Description of the

Human Lacteal Sac and Duct. Kdin. 172G, 1732, 8vo.

Gtli edit, corrected and enlarged. 1758, 8vo. Also, 17C3,

8vo. And frequently since. To the hitter editions of this

Work lie added a concise Neurolo<;y, and a very accurate ac-

count of the Lacteal System and Thoracic Duct. In German.

Lips. 17G1, 8vo. In French entitled, Traite d'OsteoIogie.

Tradnit do I'Aiiglois, auquel M. Sue a .ajoutO des Planches

aveo leurs E.xplications. Avig. 1759. I'aris, 1759, 2 vols,

folio. With splendid plates, hy CI. Sue.

Kssay on Comparative .\natoniy. Lond. 1744, 8vo. A
new edition, with considerable improvements and additions,

hy liis son, and other hands. Edin. 1783, 8vo.

Observations Anatomical and Physiological ; wherein Dr.

Hunter's Claim to some Discoveries is examined. Illustrated

with figures. Edin. 1758, 8vo.

Answer to Noti'S on the Postscript to Observ.ations .Ana-

tomical and Physiological. 1758, 8vo.

An E.xpostuiat.oiT Epistle to Dr. William Hunter. Edin.

17G2, 8vo.

An Account of the Inoculation of Small Po.x in Scotland.

Ellin. 1765, 8vo.

Essay on the Art of Injecting the Vessels of Animals. Ed.

Med. Ess. i. 94. 1731.

On the Articulation, Muscles, and Lu.xation of the Lower
.Taw. lb. 124.

Improvements in performing the Operation of the Para-

centesis or Tapping of the Belly. lb. 214.

Of a Tympany. lb. 294.

Essay on the Nutrition of tlie Foetus. lb. ii. 121. 1743.

Sequel to the same. lb. 203.

On tlie Noiu-islimcnt of Plants while in a Foetus state. lb.

225.

Practical Corollaries from the same. lb. 232.

On the Coats of the .Arteries, their Diseases, and particu-

larly Aneurism. lb. 2G4.

On the Aneurism occasioned by Blood Letting. lb. 279.

.Anomalous appearances after an Ague. lb. ii. 301. 1733.

On the EITects of the Conissi Bark. lb. iii. 32. 1734.

Remarks on Chalybeate W'aters. lb. 47.

Essay on the Method of Prep.aring and Preserving the

Parts of .Animal Bodies for Anatomical use. lb. 107.

On the Diseases of the Lachrymal Canals, lb. 280.

f
Account of a Procidentia Uteri. lb. 305.

An uncommon Angina, lb. 342

Asthma, with uncommon Symptoms. lb. 349.

Description and Uses of the Intcstinum Duodenum. lb.

iv. 65.

An Aneurism caused by a Puncture in Bleeding. lb.

299.

Of a White Swelling. lb. 302.

Of a Loose Cartilage in the Joint of t)ie Knee. lb. 305.

History of an Ulcer of tlie Leg. lb. 313.

Remarks on the Amputations of the Larger Extremities,

lb. 321.

Dropsy from Steatomatons Omentum. lb. 428.

On Peruvian Bark in Gangrenous Ulcers and Small Pox.

lb. V. 98. 173G.

A Skull, uncommon for the number and size of the Ossa

Triquetra. lb. v. 220. 173G.

iMeclianism of the Cartilage between the true Vertebra?,

lb. 224.

Remarks on tlie Spermatic vessels and Scrotum, with its

Contents, lb. 249.

On Inguinal Hernia in Men. lb. 270.

Of Hydrocele, Ha3matocele, Pneumatocele, Variocele, Sper-

matocele, and Sarcoccle. lb. 299.

An Essay on Caries of the Bones. lb. 339.

Histories of the Cure of Lymphatics opened in Wounds,

lb. V. 395. 173G.

Artificial P.-^ssages for Natural Liquors. lb. 403.

On Collections of Bloody Lymph in Cancerous Breasts,

lb. 410.

Description of several Chinirgical Instruments. lb. 454.

Histories of Successful Indulgence of Bad Habits in Pa-

tients, lb. 491.

Unexpected Cures. lb. 494.

Dissection of a Cataractous Eye. lb. v. G03.

The Ureters obstructed by Small Stones. lb. CG5.

Four Cures of the Tumified Ovarium. Tb. 770.

Proofs of the Contiguity of the Lungs and the Pleura.

Ess. Phys. and Lit. ii. 27G. 1756.

Of a Child escaping .at a rent of the Womb into the Abdo-

men, lb. .339.

Histories of Tophncious Concretions in the .Aliment.ary

Canal. lb. 345.

Reni.arks on Procidentia; Ani, Intersnsceptio, Inflamm.a-

tion, and Valvula of the Intestines. lb. 353. 1756.

Attempt to determine by Experiments how far some of the

most powerful Medicines, such as Opium, Ardent Spirits, &c.

afl'ect Animals by acting on the Nerves, to which they are

primarily apfjlied. lb. iii. 292.

A collected edition of his works, including several Essays

left in manuscript, was published by liis son. Dr. Alexander

Monro, Sectmdus, at Edinburgh in 1781, with a Life prefixed,

by .another of his sons. Dr. Donald Monro, tlie subject of the

following article.

MONRO, Donald, M.D., riiysician in Lon-

don, an elder son of the preceding, was born at

Edinburgh in 1731. lie obtained an extensive

practice in the metropolis, and became a fellow

of the royal college of physicians, and senior phy-

sician to the army. He died in July 1782, aged

71. His works arc :

Thesis de Hydrope. Edin. 1753, 8vo.
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An Essay on the Dropsy, and its diffei-ent Species. Lend.

1755, 12mo. 1756, 1765, 8ro. Par. 1760. Leips. 1761.

An Account of the Diseases which are most frequent in

the British Military Hospitals in Germany, from January,

1761, till the return of the Troops to Engl.md, in March,

1763 : to which is added, An Essay on the Means of Pre-

serving the Health of Soldiers, and Conducting Militaiy

Hospitals. Lond. 1764, 8vo.

Treatise on Mineral Waters. Lond. 1770, 2 vols. 8vo.

Pra;lectiones Medicse ex Cronii Institute, &c., et Oratio

Harveii, &c. Lond. 1775, 8vo.

Observations on the Means of Preserving the Health of

Soldiers, and of Conducting Military Hospitals ; on the Dis-

eases incident to Soldiers in the time of service ; and of the

same Diseases, as they have appeared in London. Lond.

1780, 2 vols. 8vo.

A Treatise on Medical and Pharmaceutical Chemistry, and

the Materia Medica ; to which is added. An English Transla-

tion of the Pharmacopeia of the Royal College of Physicians

in London, of 1788. Lond. 1788, 3 vols. 8vo. Appendix

1789, 8vo. To this a 4th volume was added in 1790, 8vo.

An Account of some Neutral Salts, &c. Phil. Trans. Abr.

xii. 479. 1767.

On the good Effects of the Quassia Root in some Fevers,

lb. 515. 1768.

Of a pure Native Crystallized Natron, or Fossil Alkaline

Salt, found in the Country of Tripoli, in Barbaiy. lb. xiii.

216. 1771.

On the Sulphureous Mineral Waters of Castle-Leed and

Fairburn, in Ross-shire, and of the Salt Purging Water of

Pitcaithly, in Perthshire, Scotland. lb. 271. 1772.

Dissection of a Woman with Child, and Remarks on Gra-

vid Uteri. Plates. Ess. Phys. and Lit. i 403. 1754.

Cases of Aneurism; with Remarks. lb. iii. 178. 1771.

Account of the Lisbon Diet Drink, in Venereal Cases,

lb. 402.

On the State of the Intestines in Old Dysenteries. lb. 616.

On the Use of Mercury in Consumptive Disorders. lb. 551.

Uncommon Cases. Violent Scurvy. Venereal Disorders.

Obstinate intermittent Fever. Tumour in the Brain. Hy-

drocephalus. Ossifications in the Mysentery. Med. Trans,

ii. 325. 1772.

Of the Method of making the Otto of Roses, as it is pre-

pared in the East Indies. Trans. Soc. Edin. i. 12. 1790.

He also wrote the life of his father, prefixed to the edition

of his works of 1781, as above stated.

MONRO, Alexander, M.D., styled Secundus,

also a distinguished physician and professor,

youngest son of Dr. Alexander Monro, Primus,

was born at Edinburgh March 21, 1733. He re-

ceived the rudiments of his education under Mr.

Mundell, an eminent teacher of languages, and

went through the usual academical course at the

university of his native city. About the eighteenth

year of his age, he entered on his medical studies

under his fatiier, and soon became a useful assist-

ant to him in the dissecting room. In October

1755 he obtained the degree of M.D., on which

occasion he published and defended an inaugural

dissertation, ' Do Testibus et Scmine in variis

Animalibus.' In July 1756 he was admitted

joint-professor of anatomy and surgerj' with his

father ; but previous to entering upon the duties,

with the view of further prosecuting his studies,

he visited both London and Paris, and afterwards

attended for some time the anatomical lectures oi

the celebrated Professor Meckell at the university

of Berlin. He returned to Edinburgh in the sum-

mer of 1758, when he was admitted a licentiate of

the Royal College of Physicians, of which he was

afterwards president. He was soon chosen a Fel-

low of the Royal College of Physicians ; and on the

resignation of Dr. Monro, Primus, in 1759, he be-

came full professor of anatomy. He also succeeded

his father as secretary of the Philosophical Society

of Edinburgh, in whose ' Essays and Obsei-vations,

Physical and Literary,' appeared several able

articles from his pen, on important subjects in

medical science.'

Having early adopted the idea that the valvular

lymphatics over the whole of the animal body

were one general system of absorbents, he pub-

lished at Berlin, in 1758, a short treatise, ' De

Venis Lymphaticis Valvulosis.' This idea was

afterwards claimed by Dr. William Hunter of

London, which led to a controversy between these

two distinguished physicians, and produced from

Dr. Monro his ' Observations, Anatomical and

Physiological, wherein Dr. Hunter's claim to some

discoveries is examined,' and his ' Answer to the

Notes in the Postscript to Observations, Anato-

mical and Physiological.' In 1782 the Philoso-

phical Society was incorporated by royal charter,

when it took the name of the Royal Society of

Edinburgh. Dr. Monro was elected one of its

first fellows, and enriched its Transactions with

various valuable contributions. In 1783 he pub-

lished a large folio volume ' On the Structure and

Functions of the Nervous System,' illustrated by

numerous engravings, which was translated into

the German and other languages. In 1785 he

produced another folio volume ' On the Struc-

ture and Physiology of Fishes,' illustrated with

figures, which also was honoured with various

foreign translations. In 1788 appeared his ' De-

scription of all the Bursje Mucosa of the Human

Body,' which at once became a standard work.

His last publication was a quarto volume, consist-
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ing of three treatises, on the Brain, tlie Eye, and

the Ear, published at Edinburgh in 1797. His

reputation, both as a lecturer and author, extended

throughout Europe, and he was elected a member

of the Royal Academics of Paris, Madrid, Berlin,

Moscow, and other learned institutions.

In 1798, increasing years caused him to receive

at his class the assistance of bis son. Dr. Alexan-

der Monro, Tertius, then appointed conjunct pro-

fessor of anatomy with him. He continued, liow-

ever, to deliver lectures till the session of 1808-9,

Mdien he finally retired from the anatomical chair.

At the same time he relinquished his practice,

wliich was very extensive. lie died October 2,

1817, in his 85th year.—His works are :

De Testibiis et Semine in Variis Aiiimalibus. Dis. Iiian^.

EJin. 1755, 8vo.

De Venis Lymphaticis Valvulosis et de earuiii, imprimis

origine. 1757. 1770, 8vo. Edin. 1773, ]2ino.

Oratio Anniversaiia Harveiana in Tlieatro Coll. Reg. Me-

dic. Lond. liabita die 18, Oct. 1757. 1758, 4to.

State of Facts concerning tlie First Proposal of performing

tlio Paracentesis of the Thorax, on account of Air effused

from tlie Lungs into the Cavities of the Pleiiria;, in answer

to Mr. Hewson. Edin. 1770, 1772, 8vo and 12mo.

Observations on the Structure and Functions of the Ner-

vous System. Illustrated witli Tables. Edin. 1783, fol.

Tlie Structure and Physiology of Fishes explained and

compared with those of Jlen and other Animals. Illustrated

with Figures. Edin. 1785, fol.

A Description of all the Bursx Mucosa; of the Human Pio-

dy, their Structure explained and compared with that of the

Capsular Lig.aments of the Joints, and of these Sacs which

line the Ca\'ities of the Thor.ax and Abdomen ; with Remarks

on the Accidents and Diseases which affect these Sacs, and

on the Operations necessary for their Cure. With Plates.

EJin. 1788. fol. In Gennan. Lcipsic, 1800, fol.

Experiments on the Nervous System with Opium and Mo-

talHc Substances ; made chiefly with a view of determining

the Nature and Effects of Animal Electricity. Edin. 1703.

Ito.

Observations on tlie Muscles, and particularly on the Ef-

fects of their Oblique Fibres. Edin. 1794, 4to. Also in

Tr.ans. Soc. Edin. ili. 250.

Three Treatises, on the Br.ain, the Eye, and the Ear. II-

histrated liy Tables. Edin. 1797, 4to.

Description of the Seminal Vessels. Ess. Phys. and Lit.

i. 390. 1754.

Observations on Gravid Uteri. lb. 426.

Remarks on the Intercostal Muscles. lb. 447.

The Cure of a Fractured Tendo .Achilles. lb. 450.

History of a Genuine Valvuliis of tlie Intestines. lb. ii.

.•iC8.

Description of a Human M.ale Monster ; illustrated by Ta-

bles and Remarks. Trans. Soc. Edin. iii. 215. 1794.

Experiments relating to the .Animal Electricity. lb. 231.

Dr. Alexander Monro, Tertius, the successor of

his father iu the anatomical chair, born Nov. 5,

1773, was educated at the High school and uni-

versity of Edinburgh. He studied medicine, an-

atomy, and surgery in London, and subsequently

repaired for a short time to Paris. In 1799 he

took his degree of JiI.D. In 1803 the class of

practical anatomy iu the university of Edinburgh

was instituted by him, and in 1808 he succeeded

his father as professor of anatomy. His works are:

Observations on Crural Hernia. To which is prefixed, A
General Account of the other varieties of Hernia. Illustrat-

ed by engravings. Edin. 1803, 8vo.

The Morbid -Vnatomy of the Human Gullet, Stomach, and

Intestines. Plates. Edin. 1811, 8vo. New ed. 1830, Svo.

Outlines of the Anatomy of the Human Body, in its Sound

and Diseased State. Edin. 1813, 4 vols. 8vo.

Observations on the Thoracic Duct. 1814, 4to.

Observations on the different kinds of Small-Pox, and es-

pecially on that which follows Vaccination. Edin. 1818, 8vo.

Three Cases of Hydrocephalus Chronicus ; with some Re-

m.-irks on that disease. Illustrated with a plate. Annals of

Med. viii. 364. 1803.

The Elements of Anatomy, 1825.

A Treatise on the Nervous System, 1825.

The Morbid Anatomy of the Brain. Edin. 1827, Svo.

The Essays and Heads of Dr. Munro, Secundus, 1840.

The Anatomy of tlie Pei inajuni, 1842.

In 1828 he was president of the Royal College

of Physicians of Scotland. He retired from his

chair iu 1847, with tlie title of Emeritus Professor

of Anatomy ; and thus ended the connection be-

tween the college of Edinburgh and the familj' of

Monro, which had occupied professorial chairs

within her walls for upwards of one hundred j'ears.

He died at his seat of Craiglockhart, near Ed-

inburgh, March 10, 1859. At the time of his

death he was actively engaged in tlie execution

of a work upon ' Graniologj^ and Idiotcy.' He
was the father of the Royal Society of Scotland,

and contributed valuable and instructive papers

both to that Society and tlie Royal College of

Physicians.

MoNTfiATii, or lMi)NTi:rni, a suruame, see Micnteith, p.

148 of this volume.

MONTEITH, or ^Monteth, Robert, an emi-

nent historian, was born at Salnionet, near Grange,

in Stirlingshire, and flourished about the middle of

the seventeenth century. The particulars of his

life are involved in much obscurity. According to

tradition, he was obliged to leave Scotland, being

suspected of adultery with the wife of Sir James

Hamilton of Prestonfield. He appears to have

been a cliaplain of Cardinal de Retz, who also

made him a canon of Not;-e Dame. Another
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account states that having, in consequence of his

loyalty, taken refuge in France, he ingratiated

himself with Cardinal Richelieu, and was offered

a situation under government, provided he could

show a pedigree. He said he was of the family of

Salmonet in Stirlingshire, and was promoted ac-

cordingly. Accordhig to tradition his father had

been a salmon fisher in the Borough meadow of

Stirling; and the son had taken liis title from the

net in which the salmon were caught. But thi

is not correct. He was the son of an old and re-

spectable family, and tliere was once a place in

Stirlingshire called Salmonet.

He wrote a work in French, embracing tlic

period of Scottish histoiy from tlie coronation of

Charles I. to the conclusion of tlie rebellion ; a

translation of wliich, by James Ogilvie, appeared

at London in 1735, under tlie title of 'History of

the Troubles of Great Britain, containing an

Account of tlie most remarkable Passages, from

1633 to 1650.' The date of his deatli is unknown.

It must liave been previous to the publication of

the original work, as in tlie privilege for printing

it, granted September 13, 1G60, to Jacques St.

Clair de Roselin, the author is styled "Le defunct

St. IMontet." He must not be confounded with

another Robert Monteitli, the compiler of a scarce

and valuable collection of all the epitaphs in Scot-

land, published under the name of ' An Tlieater of

Morality,' in 1701.

JIoNTGOMERY, the sufnamc of t)ie noblo familv of Eglin-

ton, nliieh traces its descent from Roger de Jrundegunibrie,

Viscount de Hiesmes, son of Ilugli de llundegumbrie and

Joceline de Beaumont, niece of Gonnora, wife of Richard,

duke of Normandy, great-gi'andmotlicr of William the Con-

queror. Roger de Mundegumbrio, tlius nearly allied to the

ruling house of Normandy, after having obtained great dis-

tinction under tlie Norman banner in France, accompanied

his kinsman, William the Conqueror, into England, and com-

manded the van of the invading army at the decisive battle

of Hastings in 1066. In reward of his biavei-y he was, by

the Conqueror, created earl of Chichester and Arundel, and

soon after of Shrewsbury. He also received from him large

grants of land, becoming, in a short time, lord of no fewer

than fifty-seven lordships throughout England, with exten-

sive possessions in Salop. Having made a hostile incursion

into Wales, lie took the castle of Baldwin, and gave it his

own name of Montgomery, a name which both the town in

its vicinity and the entire county in which it stands have

permanently retained.

It is not known whence the name was derived. Eustace,

in his ' Classical Tour,' vol. i. p. 298, mentions a lofty hill,

called lilonte Gomero, not far from Loretto; and in the old

ballad of ' Chevj- Chase,' the name is given as Mongon-byriy.

The first of the name in Scotland was Robert de Montgo-

mery', supposed to have been a grandson of Earl Roger.

When Walter, the son of Alan, the first liigh steward of

Scotland, whose castle of Oswestry was in the vicinity of

Shrewsbur}-, came to Scotland to take possession of several

grants of land which had been conferred upon him by

David I., Robert de Montgomery w.as one of the barons who
accompanied him from Wales, and received from him the

m.anor of Eglisham, in the county of Renfrew. This was for

two centuries the chief possession of the Scottish section of

the Montgomeries, and still remains their property undimin-

ished as at first. Robert de Montgomery is a witness to the

foundation charter of Walter, the high steward, to the mon-
astery of Paisley in 1160, and to other charters between that

year and 1175. He died about 1177.

In the Ragman Roll appear the names of John de Mont-

gomery, and his brother Murthaw, as among the barons who
swore fealty to Edward I. in 1296. The former is designated

of the county of Lanark, which then comprehended the coun-

ty of Renfrew. The latter was the reputed ancestor of the

Montgomeries of Thornton.

Sir John Montgomery, the seventh baron of Eaglesham,

one of the heroes of the battle of Otterburn, married Eliza-

beth, only daughter and sole heiress of Sir Hugh de Eglinton,

justiciary of Lothian, and niece of Robert II., and obtained

with her the baronies of Eglinton and ."^rdrossan. He was

the ancestor of the earls of Eglinton, as mentioned under

that title, where the lineage of that noble family has been

already given, (see vol. ii. page 119).

A baronetcy of the United Kingdom was possessed by the

family of Montgomery of JIacbeth Hill, or Magbie Hill, Pee-

bles-shire, descended from Troilus Montgomciy, son of Adam
Montgomery of Giffen, a cadet of the Eglinton family, living

in the reigns of J.ames V., and Mary queen of Scots. It was

conferred, 28th May, 1774, on William Jlontgomery of Mag-

bie Hill, but expired on the death of his son. Sir George

Montgomery, second baronet, 9tli July 1831.

Sir William's brother, Sir James Montgomer)-, of Stan-

hope, Peebles-shire, an eminent lawyer, was also created a

baronet. Born at Magbie Hill, in 1721, he w.as educated for

the Scottish bar, and attained to considci-able distinction as

an advocate. On the abolition of the lierit.nble jurisdictions

in Scotland in 1748, he was one of the first sherifTs then

named by the crown, and he was the last survivor of those

of this first nomination. He rose gradually to the ofiices of

solicitor-general, and lord-advocate, and in 1775 was ap-

pointed lord-chief-baron of the court of exchequer in Scot-

land. Upon his retirement from the bench in 1801, he was

created a baronet of the United Kingdom. His exertions in

introducing the most improved modes of agriculture into

Peebles-shire gained for him the title of ' Father of the coun-

tv.' He died April 2, 1803, at the age of 82. His eldest son,

William, lieut.-col. 43d foot, having predeceased him, he was

succeeded by his 2d son, Sir James, 2d baronet, born Oct. 9,

17G6; appointed lord-advocate in 1804, resigned in 1806 ; at

one time M.P. for Peebles-shire. He died May 27, 1839.

His sons by a first wife having predeceased him, he was

.succeeded by his eldest son by his 2d wife, daughter of Thomas

Graham, Esq. of Kinross. This son, Sir Graham Gr.aham

Montgomery, 3d baronet, born July 9, 1823, graduated at

Cliri.st Church, Oxford, B.A.; 7n. in 1845, Alice, daughter of

.lohn James Hope-Johnston, Esq. of Annandale, M.P. Issue

4 sons and 4 drs. Sons: J.ames Gordon Henry, born Feb. 6,

1850, Basil-Tenipler, Charles Percy, and Arthui' Cecil. M.P.

for Peebles-shire, 1852; lord-lieut. of Kinross-shire, 1854.
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Tiie first of tlio fiiiiiily of Jlontgomerie of Aniiick Lodge,

Ayr.sliire, was Alexander, second son uf Ilngli Jlontgonieiie

of Coilsfield, brother of Hugh, twelftli carl of Kglinton. His

son, Williani Eglinton Montgomerie, succeeded iiim in 1802.

Tiie eldest sister of tlie latter, Eiizabetli, was the first wife

of tlic night Hon. David Boj'le, lord-jnsticc-gcneral of Scot-

land, and died in 1822.

The Irish family of Jlontgomeiy of Grey Abbey, county

Down, is descended from Sir Hugh Jlontgoinery, si.\th laird

of liraidstone, in tlie parish of lieitli, Ayrsliire, a cadet of the

noble house of Eglinton, and tlie princijj.al leader in the colo-

nization of Ulster in IGOG. The insurrectionary disturbances

in Ireland before the death of Queen Elizabeth, liad placed a

large extent of confiscated property at the disposal of the

crown. The laird of Braidstone, with a view of cbtaining

some portion of it, effected the escape of Con O'Neil, the

chief of Ulster, from the castle of Carrickfergus, where he

had long been imprisoned. O'Neil, in consequence "granted

and assigned one half of all his land estate in Ireland" to him

" liis heirs and assigns." Thereafter, O'Neil and Braidstone

went to Westminster, when, through the influence of Braid-

stone's brother, George, who was chaplain to his majesty,

O'Neil received pardon of the king; Braidstone was knighted,

and orders were given that the agreement betwixt them

should be confirmed by letters patent, under the great seal of

Ireland, "at such rents as therein might be expressed, and

under condition that the lands should be planted with British

protestants, and that no grant of fee farm should be made to

any person of mere Irish extraction."

In the winter of 1G05, Sir Hugh Montgomery obtained

from O'Neil a deed of feofment of all his lands. In the fol-

lowing May, the plantation of Ulster had begtm. Amongst

tlie gentlemen who joined Sir Hugh in the enterprize were,

John .Shaw of Greenock, Patrick Jlontgomerie of Blackliouse,

Colonel David Boyd, Patrick Shaw of Kersc-land, Hugh
Montgomerie, junior, Thomas Nevin of Monkreddin, Patrick

Mure of Dugh, Sir William Edmiston of Duntreatli, and

Messrs. Neill and Calderwood; besides a great many retainers.

In 1(!10, only four years after the first planting. Sir Hugh

brought before the king's muster-master 1,000 able fighting

men.

The success of this Scotch enterprize led to the formation

of the London companies in 1G12, and thus was founded the

protcstant province of Ulster, which, says Hume, from being

'• the most wild and disorderly province of all Ireland, soo)i

heciuiie the best cultivated and most civilized."

In 1622, Sir Hugh Montgomery was raised to the peerage

of Ireland as Viscount Montgomery of Ardes, county Down.

He was grandfather of Hugh, third Viscount Montgomery of

Ardes, created in IGGl, earl of IMount Alexander. These

titles expired with Thomas, seventh e.arl, in 1758.

The Montgomeries of the Hall, county Donegal, possessing

a baronetcy of the united kingdom, of the creation of 1808,

and the Montgomeries of Convoy House, in the same county,

are also descended from the Eglinton family, their progenitors

in Ireland being among the settlers in Ulster in the reign of

James VI. and I.

MONTGOilERY, Alexander, a celebrated

poet of the reign of James VI., supposed to have

been a j-oungor sou of Montgomery of Hazleliead

Castle, iu Ayrsliire, a branch of the noble family

of Eglintouu, was born probably about the middle

of tiie 16tli century. Of his personal history

there are no autlientic memorials. In his poem,

entitled 'The Ntivigatioun,' he calls himself " ane

German born." Dempster describes him as " Equus

Montanus, vulgo vocatus;" but it is certain that

he was never knighted. In the titles to his works

he is styled " C:ii)tain," and it is conjectured that

he was at one time a commander in the body

guard of the Regent Morton. Melvil, in his

'Diary,' mentions him about 1577, as "Captain

Montgomery, a good honest man, and the regent's

domestic." His poetical talents procured him the

patronage of James YI., from wlioni he enjoyed

a pension. In his majesty's ' Reulis and Cautclis

to be observit and csclieuit iu Scottish Poesie,'

published iu 1584, the royal critic quotes some of

Montgomery's poems, as examples of the difTerent

styles of verse.

In his latter years, he seems to iiavc fallen into

misfortunes. His pension was withheld from him.

He was also involved in a tedious law-suit before

the court of session, and he was for some time the

tenant of a gaol. One of his minor pieces is en-

titled 'The Poet's Complaynte against the Un-

kindncs of his Companions, when he \ves in

Prissone.' His best known production is his

allegorical poem of 'The Clierrie and the Slae,' on

which Ramsay formed the model of his 'Vision,'

and to one particular passage in which he was

indebted for his description of the Genius of Cale-

donia. It was tirst published iu 1595, and reprinted

in 1597, by Robert Waldegrave, "according to a

copie corrected by the author himselfe." Another

of his compositions is styled ' The Flyting betwixt

Moiitgomrie and Polwart.' He also wrote 'The

Mindc's Jlelodie,' consisting of Paraphrases of the

Psalms, two of which were printed by Ramsay iu

his Evergreen. Foulis of Glasgow published, iu

1751, an edition of his poetry, and Urle of the

same place brought out another in 175-1. He com-

posed a great variety of Sonnets in the Scottish

language ; and among the books presented by

Drmnmoiul to the university of Edinburgh is a

manuscript collection of the poems of Montgomer}-,

consisting of Odes, Sonnets, Psalms, and Epitaphs.

His death appears to have taken place between

1597 and 1615, in which latter year an edition of

his ' Cherrie and Slae' was printed by Andrew
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Hart. Ill 1822 a complete edition of bis poems

was piiblislied at Edinburgh, under the superin-

tendence of Mr. David Laing, with a biographical

preface by Dr. Irving.

MONTGOMERY, James, an eminent religious

poet, was born in Irvine, in Ayrshire, November

4, 1771. His father, the Rev. John Montgomery,

of Ii-ish birth though of Scottish extraction, was a

preacher in the church of the United or Moravian

brethren. When the poet was about four years and

a half old, his parents returned to their native par-

ish in the county of Antrim, in the north of Ire-

land. About two years afterwards he was sent to

the seminary of the United Brethren at Fulneck,

near Leeds, for his education, and he remained

there for ten years. In 1783, his parents went to

preach the gospel among the slaves in the West

Indies, where they both died, his mother at Toba-

go in 1790, and his father at Barbadoes in 1791.

He was early inspired with a desire to write

poetry by hearing a portion of Blair's 'Grave'

read. Wlien only ten years old, the bent of his mind

was shown by his composition of various little

hymns. About 15 he began to write a heroic po-

em on the subject of ' Alfred.' He was first placed

as an assistant in a genei'al dealer's shop, at Mir-

field near Fulneck, but anxious for a higher

occupation, he one day set off, with three shillings

and sixpence in his pocket, to walk to London.

He was at a little public house at Wentworth,

when a youth of the name of Hunt entered, and

getting into conversation with him, informed him

that his father, who kept a general store at Wath,

in a neighbouring village, required an assistant.

He accordingly applied, and M^as successful. The

following year (1790) he obtained an introduction

to Mr. Harrison, a London publisher, and having

offered him a manuscript volume of his verses, the

latter took him into his shop as an assistant, although

he declined to publish his poems. In two years

more, namely in 1792, he was fortunate enough

to obtain a situation in the establishment of Mr.

Gales, a bookseller of Sheffield, who had set up a

newspaper called the Sheffield Register. In a

short time his emploj^er had to leave England, to

avoid imprisonment for printing articles too liberal

for the then government, and Montgomer}^ at the

age of twentj'-two, became the editor and pub-

lisher of the paper, the name of which, on its be-

coming his part, property, he changed to the more

poetical one of The Sheffield Iris.

At that period, the government, apprehensive

of the diffusion in England of the democratic and

republican principles of the first French revolution,

watched with a jealous eye the freedom of the

press. In January 1794, amidst the keen political

excitement that prevailed, Montgomery was pro-

secuted by the Attorney General on a charge of

having reprinted and sold to a street hawker,

six quires of a ballad, written b}' a clergyman

of Belfast, commemorating ' The fall of the Bas-

tile' in 1789, which by the crown was interpreted

into a seditious libel. Being found guilty, not-

withstanding the innocence of his intentions, he

was sentenced to three months imprisonment, in

the castle of York, and to pay a fine of £20. In

the following January he was again tried, for a

second imputed political offence, the publication in

his paper of a paragraph which reflected on the

conduct of a magistrate in quelling a riot at Shef-

field. He was again convicted, and sentenced to

six months' imprisonment in York castle, to pay

a fine of £30, and to give security to keep the

peace for two j-ears. " All the persons," said

Montgomery, writing in 1825, " who were ac-

tively concerned in the prosecutions against me in

1794 and 1795, are dead, and, without exception,

they died in peace with me. I believe I am quite

correct in saying that from each of them distinct-

\j, in the sequel, I received tokens of good will,

and from several of them substantial proofs of

kindness. I mention not this as a plea in exten-

uation of offences for which I bore the penalty of

the law ; I rest my justification, in these cases,

now on the same grounds, and no other, on which

I rested my justification then. I mention the

circumstance to the honour of the deceased, and

as an evidence that, amidst all the violence of that

distracted time, a better spirit was not extinct,

but finally prevailed, and by its healing influence

did indeed comfort those who had been conscien-

tious sufferers."

After his release, his health having been af-

fected by the confinement, he went for a few

weeks to Scarborough, and then resumed his du-

ties as editor of the Iris. The proprietorship of
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that paper up to July 3(1, 1795, had been a co-

partnery between the poet, and Benjamin Nay-

lor, but at that date the partnership was dissolved.

IMontgomery, who thence became sole proprietor,

giving an engagement for the payment of £1,600.

the sum originally paid for the property ; and al-

though he considered the terms somewhat hard, a

few years of industry and prosperitj^ enabled liim

to liquidate the bond. To tlie columns of his pa-

per he had contributed occasional pieces of poetry,

as well as written for it a series of Essays, of an

entertaining or satiricrd nature, entitled 'The En-

tliusiast.' Between 1790 and 1796 he had writ-

ten a novel in four volumes, which was never

printed, and was ultimately committed to the

flames. lie had also composed various hymns,

both political and religious, and written four ad-

dresses, which were spoken at the theatre at

Sheffield. At the beginning of 1797, he published

his first work, entitled ' Prison Amusements, by

Paul Positive,' a name which he earlj' adopted for

his juvenile pieces, and the initials of which were

often mistaken for those of Peter Pindar, the cel-

ebrated satirist of the day. The volume contain-

ed twenty-four poems, many of which, as the

Preface states, were composed in bitter moments,

amid the horrors of a gaol, under the pressure of

sickness. One of the most conspicuous pieces in

the volume was entitled the 'Pleasures of Impris-

onment.' It was afterwards corrected and greatly

abridged by the author. Tlie largest and most

elaborate piece, however, was 'The Braraiii,' in

two cantos, and in heroic verse. The same 3-ear

he commenced a new series of Essays, in the col-

umns of the Iris, under the designation of ' The

AVhisperor, or Hints and Speculations by Gabriel

Silvertongue, Gent.' These lucubrations were,

the following year, collected by the author, and

published in a volume at London. He afterwards

got ashamed of the work, and did all he could to

suppress it.

In 1801, with the view of extending his poeti-

cal claims, he transcribed three of his poems, from

the columns of the Iris, and with the signature of

Alcreus, sent them to the editor of the ' Poetical

Register.' These were the ' Remonstrance to

Winter,' 'The L3Te,' in blank verse, and 'The

Battle of Alexandria.' In the following year he

also contributed some pieces to the same publica-

tion, and on both occasions his poems were high-

ly eulogised by Dr. Aikin, in noticing that work in

the 'Annual Review,' and quotations given. From

this period till 1806, he wrote and inserted in the

columns of the L is many of the best of his minor

pieces, such as ' Tlie Pillow ;' ' The Thunder

Storm;' 'The Joy of Grief;' The Snowdrop;'

'The Ocean;' 'The Grave;' 'The Common Lot,'

&c. In that year appeared 'The Wanderer of

Switzerland, and other Poems,' among which were

the pieces naiiied and others. On its publication,

it was at once acknowledged that a new poet had

arisen whose claims to have his name inscribed on

the bard-roll of his country could not be disputed.

The work was most favourably received, and in

tlic course of a few weeks ever}' copy of the first

edition was sold. A second edition was also

speedily exhausted. A third edition of a thou-

sand copies was issued by Messrs. Longman and

Co., the eminent London publishers, who had en-

tered into an arrangement ^\ith tlic author for the

purpose. Among other periodicals which wel-

comed Mr. Montgomery's work with high and

discriminating praise, was the ' Eclectic Review,'

then conducted by Mr. David Parken, a barrister.

This gentleman soon entered into a correspondence

^^•ith the poet, wliich led to his becoming one of

the regular contributors to that publication, when

he had for his associates such men as Robert Hall,

Adam Clarke, Olitithus Gregory, and John Fos-

ter.

On the appearance in 1807, of the third edition

of 'The Wanderer of Switzerland,' tlie Edinburgh

Review opened its batteries upon it, and in a most

abusive critique predicted " that in less than three

years nobody would know the name of the ' Wan-

derer of Switzerland,' or any of the other poems

in the collection." As in the memorable case of

Lord Byron, however, the judgment of the pub-

lic reversed the decision of the critic. Within

eighteen months, a fourth edition of 1,500 copies

of the condemned volume was passing tlirough the

press where the Edinburgh Revieio itself was

printed, and fifteen years afterwards, namelv in

January 1822, It had reached its ninth edition.

At that period Montgomery acknowledged that so

great had been the success of the work that it had
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produced him upwards of £800, and more than

twelve thousand copies had been sold, besides

about a score of editions printed in America.

In Byron's ' English Bards and Scotch Review-

ers,' published in 1809, Montgomery found him-

self noticed in this strain :

" With broken lyre and cheek serenely pale,

Lo ! sad Alcteus wanders down the vale

!

Though fair they rose, and might have bloomed at last,

His hopes have perished by the northern blast:

Nipped in the bud by Caledonian gales,

His blossoms wither as the blast prevails!

O'er his lost works let classic Sheffield weep

;

Jlay no rude hand disturb their early sleep
!

"

And in a note he adds, " Poor Montgomery,

though praised by every English Review, has been

bitterly reviled by the Edinburgh ! After all, the

Bard of Sheffield is a man of considerable genius

;

his ' Wanderer of Switzerland ' is worth a thou-

sand ' Lyrical Ballads,' and at least fifty ' De-

graded Epics.'"

I\Ir. Montgomery's next work was ' Tlie "West

Indies,' a poem in four parts and in the heroic

couplet, written in honour of the abolition of tlie

African slave-trade by the British legislature in

1807. It was produced at the request of Mr.

Bowyer, the London publisher, to accompany a

series of engravings representing the past suffer--

ings and the anticipated blessings of the long-

wronged Africans, both in their own land and in

the "West Indies, and appeared in 1809 in connec-

tion Avith poems on the same subject, by James

Graliame, author of ' Tlie Sabbath,' and Miss Ben-

ger. When Montgomery's poem was republished

by itself, accompanied by about twenty occasional

poems, upwards of ten tliousand copies were sold

in ten years. His parents had laid down their

lives in behalf of the enslaved and perishing

negro, and in this poem, their son, with a vigour

and freedom of description and a po\A-cr of pathetic

painting entirely his own, raised his generous ap-

peal to public justice in the negro's behalf, which,

no doubt, had its effect when, twentj' years after,

slavery itself was abolished in all the colonies be-

longing to Britain.

In tlie spring of 1813, Mr. Montgomery pub-

lished ' Tlie World before the Flood,' a poem in

ten cantos in the heroic couplet, suggested to the

poet by a passage iu the eleventh book of Para-

dise Lost referring to the translation of Enoch,

lie had now begun to take an active and promi-

nent part in the religious and benevolent meetings

of Sheffield and its neighbourhood, particularly in

connexion with missionary movements, the Bible

Society, and tlie Sabbath School Union, and in

1814 he was regularly admitted a member of the

Moravian church, of which his brother, the Rev.

Ignatius Montgomery, was a minister. He him-

self had been intended for the ministry in connex-

ion with the United Brethren, had not his early

tendency to poetry prevented his entering upon

the studies necessary for it. Another of his bro-

thers, Robert ilontgomery, was a grocer at Wool-

wich. They were all three educated at the Mora-

vian seminary at Fulneck. While the poet was

there, the institution was on one occasion visited

by no less a personage than Lord Monboddo, the

celebrated Scottish judge. None of the boys had

ever seen a lord before, and Monboddo was a very

strange-looking lord indeed. He wore a large,

stiiF, bushy periwig, surmounted by a huge, odd-

looking hat ; his very plain coat was studded with

broad brass buttons, and his breeches were of

leather. He stood in the schoolroom, with his

grave absent face bent downwards, drawing and

redrawing his whip along the floor, as the Mora-

vian teacher pointed out to his notice boy after boy.

"And this," said the IMoravian, coming at lengtli

to young Montgomery, "is a countryman of your

lordship's." His lordship raised himself up, look-

ed hard at the little fellow, and then shaking his

huge whip over his head, "Ah," he exclaimed,

" I hope his country will have no reason to be

ashamed of him." " The circumstance," said the

poet, " made a deep impression on my mind, and

I determined,—I trust the resolution was not

made in vain,—I determined in that moment that

my country should not have reason to be ashamed

of me."

In January 1817 a volume was published, enti-

tled ' The State Lottery, a Dream,' by Samuel

Roberts, a friend of Montgomery, directed against

tliat species of national gambling, which, too long

authorized by government, was some years after

put an end to by act of parliament. The book
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contained 'Tlioiiglits on Wliecls, a poem in live

parts,' by James Montgomery, in which he inlro-

(luccd an ' Ode to Britain,' written in a lofty strain

of patriotism, whicli was included in the first edi-

tion of the poet's collected poems in 183G, and a

quarter of a century after its first publication he

recited it at a public breakfast given to him at

Glasgow, when he visited Scotland in 1841.

In 1819 he produced 'Greenland and other

Poems.' The principal piece is in live cantos, and

contains a sketch of the ancient Moravian church,

its revival in the 18th century, and the origin of

the missions by that people to Greenland in 1733.

Tlie poem as published is only a part of the author's

original plan. It consists of a series of episodes,

some of which are xcry beaulilul, while the glow-

ing descriptions of the peculiar natural phenomena

of the arctic regions are striking and original. In

1822 appeared his little volume of ' Songs of Zi-

on,' being imitations or paraphrases of the Psalms

of David. In the following year he was elected

vice-president of the Sheflield Literary and Phi-

losophical Society, then newly formed, when he

delivered the opening lecture ;
" thus," says liis

biographers, "presenting himself for the first time

in that interesting character which he was des-

tined so often afterwards to sustain, not only be-

fore his own townspeople, but in various other

places." In this address, speaking of the litera-

ture of some of the celebrated nations of antiqui-

ty, whose political vicissitudes fill so large a space

in the page of history, he made this striking re-

mark : "There is not in existence a line of verse

by Clialda\in, Babylouian, Assyrian, Egyptian, or

Phccniciau bard."

"Tlioy luid 110 pact, and tliov died."

In December of the same year, he delivered a

'Lecture on Modern English Literature' before

the same Society. It is comprised in the series

afterwards published.

In 1824, a request having been made to him by

his publishers, jNIessrs. Longman and Co., to sup-

ply them with as much matter in ]iiosc as would

make two volumes, appeared anonymously liis

' Prose by a Poet.' Some of the most interesting

portions of this work had been reconstructed out

of the best written of his newspaper articles, and

for a time it sold well, but ditl not long retain it3

popularity. Montgomery himself remarked that

'Prose by a Poet' would probably- fail to please

either of two large classes of readers, namely,

persons of taste merely, who would be disgusted

with the Introduction of religious sentiments ; ami

individuals of a deeidedl}- religious character, who

would consider much of the matter too light or

sentimental ; and he A^ as not mistaken. The

same year was published a volume entitled 'The

Chimney Sweeper's Friend, and Climbing Boys'

Album,' containing pieces by different authors,

' arranged by James IMontgomery,' and dedicated

to the king, George IV. The work was got up,

niainlj^ by Montgomery's exertions, to aid in ef-

fecting the abolition, at length happily accom-

plished, of the cruel and unnatural practice of

employing boys in sweeping chimneys.

In 1825 his connexion with the Iris terminated,

as he that year disposed of the newspaper and

his printing business and materials to Mr. John

Blackwell, who had been at one time a j\IctIiodist

preacher, but afterwards became a dealer in old

books, and was then a printer and stationer. On

his retirement from the paper, which he had con-

ducted for thirty years, every class of politicians

in the town of SheiBeld united in giving him a

public dinner, Lord Milton, afterwards Earl Fitz-

william, in the chair, as a testimony that there

was among them but one feeling of goodwill to-

wards him, and but one opinion as to the integrity

with which lie had for so long a time discharged

his duties as an editor. The dinner took place on

the poet's birthday, November 4th, 1825, when

IIG gentlemen sat down to the table. In return-

ing thanks, the poet entered into some details re-

lative to his early life, as well before as after his

residence in Sheflield
;
alluding also to his varied

labours and ultimate success as a poet, in which

character his name will be known to all time,

lie spoke with pardonable pride of the success

which had crowned his labours as an author,

"Not indeed," he said, "with fame and foi'tune,

as these were lavished on my greater contempo-

raries, in comparison with whose magnificent pos-

sessions on the British Parnassus my small plot of

ground is no more than Nabotli's vineyard to

Ahab's kingdom ; but it is my own ; it is no
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copyhold ; I borrowed it, I leased it from none.

Every foot of it I enclosed from the common my-

self ; and I can say that not an inch which I had

once gained have I ever lost." Some of his

friends who could not attend, including manj'

ladies, afterwards presented him with 200 guineas,

to be applied to the revival of a mission which his

father, the Rev. John Montgomery, had begun in

Tobago, but which had been suspended since his

death in 1791. The proprietor of the estate

on which it was situated, Mr. Hamilton, a

Scotchman, had in his will bequeathed £1,000,

contingent on the renewal of the mission. To

this sum, the two hundred guineas were to be

added, and the gift was accompanied by the deli-

cate request that the renewed mission should be

distinguished by the name of Montgomery, in

honour both of himself and his father.

At the close of 1825 appeared 'The Christian

Psalmodist; or Hymns, Selected and Original.'

These compositions, 562 in number, are from a

great variety of authors, including one hundred

from his own pen, which form part fifth of the

collection. The compilation was made for Mr.

Collins, the Glasgow publisher (who died January

2, 1853) and for it he received one hundred

guineas. The prefatory essay contains some judi-

cious remarks on the writing of hymns, as one

brand) of the poetic art, and on the works of

Bishop Kenn, Dr. Isaac Watts, Addison, Top-

lady, Charles Wesley, and others who have ex-

celled in it. Montgomery also wrote an Intro-

ductory essay to an edition of Cowper's poems,

then about to be issued by Messrs. Chalmers and

Collins.

In 1827, appeared ' The Pelican Island,' by Mr.

Montgomery, a poem in blank verse, suggested by

a passage in Captain Flinders' ' Voyage to Terra

Australis,^ describing the existence of the ancient

haunts of the pelican in the small islands on the

coast of New Holland. The narrative is supposed

to be delivered by an imaginary being who wit-

nesses the series of events related after the whole

has happened. To the 'Pelican Island' was

added, as usual, some of his smaller poems. Pre-

vious to its publication a work called ' The Chris-

tian Poet' was issued by Mr. Collins of Glasgow,

with an admirable introductory essay by Mr.

Montgomery, a species of writing in which he ex-

celled. He also wrote the Introductory Essays to

new editions of ' The Pilgrim's Progress,' ' The

Olney Hymns,' the ' Life of the Rev. David Brai-

nerd,' and other works published hy the same

firm. In 1830 he contributed to the Cabinet Cy-

clopedia the brief memoirs of Dante, Ariosto, and

Tasso, which appeared in the series of ' Literary

and Scientific Men of Italy.' The same year he

compiled for the London Missionary Society, ' The

Missionary Journal,' from a vast mass of valuable

materials which had been placed in his hands; for

which he received £200. He also delivered a

course of lectures on the History of English Lite-

rature before the members of the Royal Institu-

tion of Great Britain at London. The following

year he lectured on Poetry at the same Institu-

tion. Both courses he prepared for the press and

published in 1833.

In 1841 he visited Scotland, for the first and

only time since his childhood. On this occasion

he accompanied the Rev. Mr. Latrobe. Their

main object was the promotion of the missions of

the United Brethren, but Montgomery had also a

great desire to see the land of his birth. " Scot-

land," he said, in a letter, written in July 1844,

to the committee of the Burns' Festival, "took

such early and effectual root in the soil of my
heart that to this hour it appears as green and

flourishing, in the only eyes with which I can now

behold it, as when, after an absence of more than

threescore years, I was favoured to see it with the

eyes that are looking on this paper. Though

scarcely four and a half years old when removed,

I have yet more lively, distinct, and delightful

recollections of little Irvine, its bridges, its river,

its street aspect, and its rural landscape, with sea-

glimpses between, than I have equal reminiscen-

ces of any subsequent period of the same length

of time, spent since then in fairer, wealthier, and

more familiar, and therefore less romantic, Eng-

land. Yet those fond recollections of my birth-

place, and I'enewals of infant experience had be-

come, through the vista of retrospect, so ideal,

that when, in the autumn of 1841, for the first

time, I returned to the scenes of my golden age,

the humble realities, though as beautiful as hea-

ven's daylight could make them in the first week
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of a serene October, I could liardl}- reconcile with

the ideal of themselves, into which they had been

transmuted by frequent repetition and retouching

—every time witli a mellowing stroke—in the pro-

cess of preserving the identity of things, ' that

were to me more dear and precious,' which had

been so soon and so long removed out of sight,

but never out of mind. I can, however, say that

with the brief acquaintance which on that occa-

sion I made with my country and my birthplace,

and especially with what is the glory and the

blessing of both, the frank, and kind, and gracious

inhabitants,—my brief acquaintance, I was going

to sa}', with these had more than ever endeared to

my better feelings the land that gave me birth and

the blood kindred with whom I felt myself hum-

bly but honestly allied." In a postscript he ex-

plained that by " blood kindred," he meant his

kinship to all the blood of Scotland, neither less

nor more, pretending to no affinity witli the noble

house of Eglinton.

lie was received with great enthusiasm by the

magistrates and inliabitants of Irvine. That town

is distinguislied as " the only spot in Scotland

where the United Brethren first found a footing."

The house in which the poet was born is still

(1856) standing in Halfway Street. In his fa-

ther's time the dwelling-house was under the same

roof with the little chapel in which he ministered.

The latter was afterwards converted into a wea-

ver's shop. A tablet has been placed on the wall

to remind visitors that that humble dwelling was

the birthplace of the author of 'The World before

the Flood.' His reception in Edinburgh and

Glasgo^v was also most gratifying to his feelings.

In the latter city a public breakfast was given to

him.

A collected edition of his works with autobio-

graphical and illustrative notes, had been pub-

lished in 1841, and in 1851 the whole of his works

appeared in one volume 8vo. In 1853 he issued

a collection of ' Original Hymns, for Public, Pri-

vate, and Social Devotion.' In his latter years he

enjoyed a pension of £150.

One of his last public appearances was at the

meeting of the Wesleyan Conference at Sheffield

in October 1852. He entered leaning heavily on

the arm of Dr. Hannah, and was by him conduct-

ed to a seat in front of the platform. A few ap-

propriate words from Dr. Hannah introduced him

to the Conference. The president addressed him

in simple and graceful terms. Then the aged and

hoary poet, somewhat bent and very feeble in

body, with the silver hair shining in flakes as it

fell thin upon his temples, or waved slightly up-

wards fron) the side of his head, stepped forward

to the front of the platform, and, raising his hands

in prayer and blessing, pronounced the words

—

" The Lord bless and keep you
;
the Lord make

liis face to shine upon you and be gracious unto

you; the Lord lift up his countenance upon you,

and give you peace." The beautiful and impres-

sive way in which he uttered the last words of

tliis jtrayer was said to have been inexi)ressibly

afiecting.

Sir. Montgomery, who was ne\"cr married, died

at his residence, The Mount, Sheffield, May 1st,

1854, and was hurled at ShefFu-Id. His jiortrait

is subjoined :

His funeral was a public one, and a munuuient

was afterwards erected to his meaioiy in the town

of Sheffield. 'Memoirs of the Life and Writings

of James Montgomery, including Selections from

his Correspondence, renin ins in prose and verse,
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and Conversations on varions subjects; by John

Holland and James Everett have been published

in six volumes 8vo, London, 1854-56.

MoNTROSK, Duke of, a title in the peerage of Scotland,

conferred by James III. on D.ivid, fiftli earl of Crawford, by

royal cliarter, dated 18th May, 1488, to himself and liis heirs

(see vol. i. p. 710). On the 19th September 1489, a new-

patent or charter, under the great seal, was granted to him

by James IV., conferring the dukedom upon him for life on-

ly. He died at Finliaven at Christmas 1495, and the duke-

dom is said to have then become e,\tinct. In 1848 a petition

was presented to the queen by the earl of Crawford and Bal-

carres, clainiiiig it on the ground of its being vested in the

heir male. This petition was referred to the House of Lords,

and the claim was opposed by the Crown and the duke of

Montrose, on the ground that the charter of 18th May 1488,

was annulled by the act of the first year of tlie reign of

Jiimes IV., called the Act KescissoiT, and that the grant of

the dukedom, made in 1489, was never registered. After hear-

ing parties, on Aug. 5, 185.S, their lordships adopted a resolu-

tion to the effect that the claimant had not made out his right

to the dignity. Soon after. Lord Lindsay, son of the earl of

Crawford and Balcarres, addressed a letter to the Times

newspaper, protesting against the resolution of the House of

Lords, and stating that he had published a full " Report of

the Montrose Claim," containing, among other documents,

" an Address to lier Majesty, in humble remonstrance against

the opinion reported to her Majesty." Lord Lindsay sub-

mits that the principles on which the decision of the peers is

founded are, one .and all, wholly repugnant to the under-

standing and pr.actice of past times, and to plain equity and

justice. Tlie opinion, he farther asserts, is entitled to less

than usual weight in respect to the unwonted and strange

departure from established fornis of procedure—the decision

having been given before the voluminous evidence was or-

dered to be printed, and the evidence thus " arbitrarily de-

graded to a mere cipher or phantom." He adds, in conclu-

sion :
" I therefore now, on these and various other grounds,

formally protest, before her majesty and the country, against

the opinion or report (which, be it observed, is certainly not

in law a sentence or final judgment) delivered by the House

of Lords on the 5th of August 1853 as unjust in itself, pro-

ceeding on error and misrepresentation throughout, and as

having, in its principles, and in its application of those prin-

ciples, a direct tendency to revolutionize the whole system of

peerage law, and, indeed, to innovate on other departments

of law, and certainly of justice, hitherto sacred from such en-

croachments."

Montrose, Earl, marquis and duke of, titles in the peerage

of Scotland, possessed by the noble family of Graham, whose

origin and descent have been .already given (see vol. ii. pp. 341,

342). They were first ennobled in the person of Patrick Graham

of Kincardine, who in 1451 was created Lord Graham. His

grandson, William, third Lord Graham, was on 3d March

1505, creiited e.arl of Montrose, the title being derived from

liis hereditary lands of " .4uld Montrose " and not from the

town of that name, (see vol. ii. pp. 342, 343). He fell at

the battle of Flodden, 9th September 1513. He was thrice

m.arried. By his first wife, Annabella, daughter of John,

Lord Drummond, he had, William, second earl. By his sec-

ond wife, a daughter of Sir Archibald Edmonstone of Dun-

treath, he had three d.aughtcrs; and by his third wife. Chris-

tian Wawane of Segy, relict of Patrick, sixth Lord Halyburton

THIRD EARL OF.

of Dirletoun, he had two sons: Patrick, ancestor of the Gra-

hams of Inchbraco, Gorthy, Bucklivie, and other families of

the name ; and Andrew, consecrated bishop of Dunblane in

1575.

William, second earl of Montrose, was one of the peers to

whom the regent duke of Albany committed the charge of

the young king, James V., when he himself went to France

in 1517. He was one of the commissioners of regency ap-

pointed by that mon.arch on 29th August 153G, during his

m.ajesty's absence in France, and in 1543, he was chosen by

the Estates of the kingdom, along with Lord Erskine, to re-

main continually in the castle of Stirling with Queen JIary,

for the sure keeping other person. He died 24th May 1571.

By his countess. Lady Janet Keith, eldest daughter of Wil-

liam, third earl Jlarischal, he had four sons and five daugh-

ters. Robert, Lord Graham, the eldest son, fell at the battle

of Pinkie, 10th September 1547. His posthumous son,

John, by his wife, Margaret, daughter of Malcolm, Lord

Fleming, became tliiid earl of Montro.se. The Hon. JIungo

Graham of Orchill, the third son, was gi-e.it-grandfather of

James Graham of Orchill, who, .as nearest agnate above 25

years of age, was served tutor at law of James, fourth mar-

quis of Montrose, IGth JLircli 1G88. The Hon. William

Graham, the fourth son, was .ancestor of the Grahams of

Killcarn.

John, third earl of Montrose, succeeded his grandfather in

May 1571, .and on 7th September the same year, he was ap-

pointed a privy councillor at the election of the regent Mar.

He was one of the commissioners for the king, who concluded

the Pacification of Perth, February 3d, 1572. On the king's

assumption of authority in 1578, he was appointed a privy coun-

cillor. He joined the faction against the regent Morton, and

was one of the principal among those who, in 1581, brought

him to the block ; with the court favourite, the earl of Arran,

he guarded him from Dumbarton to Edinburgh, to stand his

trial, and as chancellor of the jury returned the verdict of

"guilty art and part" against him, circumstances which ne-

cessarily led to a feud between j\Iontrose and the powerful

family of Douglas. In 1583 the castle of Glasgow, then held

for the duke of Lennox, surrendered to liim. He was ap-

pointed an extraordinary lord of session, 12th May 1584, in

the room of the earl of Gowrie, who was beheaded on the 4th

of that month, and on tlie 13th he succeeded that nobleman

as lord-treasurer. After the return of the earl of Angus and

the banished lords in November 1585, he w.as deprived of

both ofKces. On Gth November 1591, he was again admitted

an extraordinary lord of session, tlie king's letter bearing

that he had " been dispossessed of the place of befoir without

ony guid caus or occasion." He was appointed high-treasurer

of Scotland, 13th M.ay 1584, and lord-chancellor, 15th Janu-

ary 1599, after the office had been vacant for more than three

years.

After James' accession to the throne of England, the carl

of Montrose was nominated lord-high-conimissioner to the

Estates which met at Edinburgh 10th April 1604. In a

continuation of this parliament held at Perth 11th July,

1G04, he was appointed one of the commissioners for the

treaty of union then projected between the two kingdoms of

Scotland and England. H.aving resigned the office of chan-

cellor, it was conferred on Alexander Seton, Lord Fyvie, one

of the lords of session, and in recompense, a patent was

granted by the king to the earl, dated at Royston, in Decem-

ber 1G04, creating liim viceroy of Scotland for life, the high-

est dignity a subject can enjoy, and bestowing on him a

pension of X2,000 Scots. In virtue of this commission he

presided at the meeting of the Estates at Perth, 9th July
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160G, wherein tlie episcopal government in tlie cliurch was

restored. His name appears as commissioner to tlie parlia-

ment wliicli met at Eilinbiirgh IStli March 1G07. He died

9th November 1C08, in liis 01st year. CalderwooJ says:

" Because he had been his majesty's grand commissioner in

the parliaments preceding, and at conventions, his majesty

thought meet that he should be buried in pomp, before any

other were named. So he was buried with great solemnity.

The king promised to bestow forty thousand merks upon the

solemnity of tlie burial, but the promise was not performed,

which drew on the greater burden upon his son." (///si. of
the Kirk ofScotland, vol. vii. p. 38.) By his countess, Jean,

eldest daughter of David, Lord Drummond, he had three

sons and a daughter. The sons were, 1. .lolm, fourth earl;

2. Sir William Graham of Braco; and 3. Sir I'obert Graham

of Scottistown.

John, fourth earl, was appointed president of the council

in July 16'2G, and died 24th November same year. In Bir-

rel's Diary (p. 31), under date 19th January 1595, it is men-

tioned that the young earl of Montrose fought a combat with

Sir James Sandilands at the Salt Trone of Edinburgh, think-

ing to have revenged the slaughter of his cousin, Jlr. John

Graham, who was slain by a pistol-shot, and four of bis men

killed with swords. The fourth earl married Lady JIargaret

Rutliven, eldest daughter of the first earl of Gowrie, who was

executed for treason in 1584. He had one son, James, filth

earl and first marquis of Jlontrose, and five daughters. A
memoir of the first marquis of Montrose is given at page 345

of volume ii. (See J.vmks Giiaii.\m.) By liis countess,

L.idy Magdalen Carnegie, si.xth daughter of the first earl of

.Southesk, the first marquis had two sons. The elder, Lord

Grah.am, earl of Kincardine, a youth of great promise, accom-

panied his father in his campaign of 1645, and died at the

Bog of Gight in Strathbogie, in March of that year, when

only sixteen years of age, and was buried at Bellie church.

James, second marquis, called the good marquis, as his fa-

ther is called the great marquis of Montrose, was born .about

1G31. He was restored to tlie family estates, sworn a privy

councillor, and had a patent of the title of marquis of Mon-

trose, 12tli October IGGO. On the trial of tlie m.arquis of

Argyle, the great enemy of his father, in 16G1, the marquis

of Montrose refused to vote, as he felt too much resentment

to judge in the matter, (^Buruct's History, vol. i. p. 213).

He was appointed one of the extraordinary lords of session,

25th June 1GG8, but died in February following. He mar-

ried Lady Isabella Douglas, countess dowager of Roxburgh,

fifth daughter of the second carl of Morton, and with one

daughter had two sons, James, third m.irquis, and Lord

Charles Graham, who died young.

James, third marquis, being a minor at his fathers death,

the king, Charles II., took him under his immediate protec-

tion, appointed him captain of the guards, and afterwards

president of the council. At the trial of the earl of Argyle,

r2th December 1G81, the marquis of Jlontrose, his cousin-

german, was chancellor of the jury who found him guilty.

He died 25tli April 1G84. By his wife. Lady Christian Les-

lie, second daughter of the duke of Rothes, chancellor of

Scotland, he had a son, James, fourth marquis and first duke

of Montrose. As the hitter was a mere child when he suc-

ceeded to the titles and estates of his family, his father had

nominated as his tutors, his mother, the e.arls of Haddington

and Perth, Hay of Drummelzier, and Sir William Bruce of

Kim-OSS. The marchioness, his mother, took for her second

husband, Sir John Bruce, younger of Kinross, and on her

marriage, the tutory was found null by decision of the court

of .session, 1st February 1G88. Tliis was thought to be a

device of the king, James VIL, to have the young marquis

educated as a Roman Catholic. But if so, he had no oppor-

tunity of carrying his design into cfTect, as he was then fast

verging to his fall. The case was rendered remarkable by

two of the judges who had voted in favour of the tutors se-

lected by his father, Lords Harcarse and Edmonstone, being,

in consequence, removed from their scats on the bench, by a

letter from the king himself. His nearest agnate, Graham
of Br.aco, being under 25 years of age, could not be tutor at

law, and James Graham of Orchill, the nearest agnate above

25, was accordingly served his tutor.

In 1702 the marquis made a great addition to his estates

by purchasing the property of the duke of Lennox, as well as

many of its jurisdictions; among these were the hereditary

sheriffdom of Dumbarton, the custodiership of Dumbarton

castle, and the jurisdiction of the regality of Lennox. He
was appointed high-admiral of Scotland, 23d February 1705,

and president of the council, 2b'th February 170G. He stead-

ily supported the union and the protestant succession, and

was advanced to the dignity of duke of Jlontrose by patent,

dated 24th April 1707. He was one of the sixteen Scots re-

presentative peers chosen by the last parliament of Scotland,

13th February 1707, and rechosen at the general election ot

1708. He was subsequently three times re-elected. Ap-

pointed keeper of the privy seal of Scotland, 28th February

1709, he was removed in 1713, for not complying with the

tory administration. At the death of Queen .\nne the fol-

lowing year, the duke of Montrose w.as appointed by George

I. one of the lords of the regency. He was one of the noble-

men who attended the proclamation of his majesty at Edin-

burgh, 5th August 1714, and on 24th September, six days

after the king had landed in England, his majesty appointed

his grace one of the princip.al secretaries of state in the room

of the carl of Mar, whose dismissal led to the rebellion of

1715. His grace was sworn a privy councillor at St. James',

4th October 1717. He had been constituted keeper of the

great se.al in Scotland in 171G, but was removed from that

office in April 1733, in consequence of his opposition to Sir

Robert Walpole.

At the meeting of parliament in 1735, a petition was pre-

sented, signed by six Scots noblemen, the duke of Montrose

being one, complaining of the undue interference of govern-

ment in the recent election of the sixteen Scots representa-

tive peers. It stated that the peers had been solicited to

vote for a prep.ared list called the king's list, that sums of

money, pensions, offices, and discharges of crown debts were

actually granted to peers who voted for it, and to their rela-

tions, and that on the day of election a body of troops v.'as

drawn up in the Abbey court of Edinburgh, evidently with

the view of overawing the peers at the election. So strong,

however, was the ministry at the time that the petition was

rejected.

In the celebrated Rob Roy Macgregor Campbell, the duke,

when marquis of Montrose, found a persevering and irrecon-

cilable enemy, who turned him into ridicule and set all his

power and influence at defiance. Rob Roy had been so suc-

cessful in his profession of a drover or cattle-de.aler, that be-

fore the year 1707 he had pmxhased the lands of Craig-

rostane, on the banks of Lochloinond, from the family of

Montrose, and relieved the estate of Glengjde, the property of

his nephew, from considerable debts. Previous to the union

of the two kingdoms no cattle were permitted to be imported

into England, but free intercourse being allowed by the

treaty of union, various speculators engaged in this trafiic,

and among others, the marquis of Jlontrose, afterwards cre-

ated duke, .and Rob Roy entered into a joint adventure. The
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capital to be advanced was fixed at 10,000 raerks eacli, and

Kob Hoy was to purchase the cattle and drive tliem to Eng-

land for sale. Macgregor made his purchases accordingly,

but finding the market overstocked on his arrival in England,

he was obliged to sell the cattle below prime cost. The duke

refused to bear any share of the loss, and insisted on repay-

ment of the whole money advanced by him with interest.

Macgregor refused to pay either principal or interest, and

having spent the duke's money in organizing a body of the

Macgregors in 1715, under the nominal command of his ne-

phew, his grace took legal maans to recover it, and in secu-

rity seized the lands of Craigrostane This proceeding so

exasperated M;icgregor that he resolved in future to supply

himself with cattle from his grace's estates, and for nearly

thirty years, down to the day of his death, he carried oflf the

duke's cattle with impunity, and disposed of them publicly in

different parts of the country. Although these cattle gener-

ally belonged to the duke's tenants, his grace was the ulti-

mate sufferer, as they were unable to pay their rents, to

liquidate which their cattle mainly contributed. JIacgregor

also levied contributions in meal and money, but he never

took it away till delivered to the duke's storekeeper in pay-

ment of rent, and he then gave the storekeeper a receipt for

the quantity taken. At settling the money rents Macgregor

often attended, and several instances are recorded of his hav-

ing compelled the duke's factor to pay him a share of the

rents, which he took good care to see were discharged to the

tenants beforehand.

His grace, who was chancellor of the university of Glas-

gow, died at London, 7th January 1742. From a portrait of

him by Sir John Medina, engraved by Cooper, the subjoined

woodcut is taken

:

By his duchess, Lady Christian Carnegie, second daughter of

the third earl of Northesk, he had, with one daughter, four

sons, namely, 1st, James, marquis of Graham, who died in

infancy
;
2d, David, marquis of Graham, created a peer of

Great Britain, by the titles of Earl and Baron Graham of

Belford in Northumberland, 23d May 1722, with remainder

to his brothers. He took the oaths and his seat in the House

of Lords, 19th January 1727, and died, unmarried, 2d Octo-

ber 1731, in his father's lifetime; 3d, William, second duke

of Montrose ; and 4th, Lord George Graham, a captain R.N.,

who in 1740 was appointed governor of Newfoundland. At

the general election of 1741 he was chosen M.P. for Stirling-

shire. He saw a good deal of active service afloat, and Aa-

ron Hill wrote a poem to him on his action near Ostend,

24tli June 1745. He died, unmarried, at Bath, 2d January

1747. In Buchanan House, Stirlingshire, the seat of the

family, there is a painting, about quarter size, by Hogarth.

It represents Lord George Graham at table in the cabin of

his ship with attendants. Some parts of the group bear

marks of the characteristic humour of the immortal artist.

William, second duke of Montrose, was in August 1723,

on the recommendation of some of the professors of the uni-

versity of Edinburgh, placed, with his brother, under the tui-

tion of David Mallet, the poet, at that time a young man
still bearing his father's name of Malloch. On his arrival,

the same month, at Shawford near Winchester, where the

family resided. Mallet wrote to a friend, " Both my lord and

my lady received me kindly, and as for my Lord William and

Lord George, I never saw more spriglitly or more hopeful

boys." With their tutor they made the tour of Europe, and

Mallet translated Bossuet's ' Discours sur I'Histoire Univer-

selle ' for the use of his young charge.

In 1731, his grace, then Lord William Graham, succeeded

his elder brother in the British peerage of Earl and Baron

Graham of Belford. He also then became, by courtesy,

marquis of Graham, as heir to the dukedom. On the 12th

July 1739, the following adventure occurred to him. Riding

at some distance before his servant near Farnham in Surrey,

he was attacked in a by-hine by two highwaymen, one of

whom, laying hold of the bridle of his horse, and bidding him

deliver, his lordship drew a pistol, and shot him through the

head. The other robber, snapping his pistol, made off, and

was pursued by his lordship, till quitting his horse, he escaped

into a wood.

On his father's death in 1742, he became second duke of

Montrose. Under the abolition of the heritable jurisdictions

act of 1747, his grace was allowed as compensation for his

hereditary offices, in all £5,578 18s 4d. in full of his claim

of £15,000 ;
being, for the sheriffship of Dumbarton £3,000,

the regality of Montrose £1,000, of Menteith £200, of Len-

nox £578 18s. 4d., and of Darnley £800. He died 23d Sep-

tember 1790. By his duchess. Lady Lucy Manners, young-

est daughter of John, second duke of Rutland, he had two

sons, and a daughter. Lady Lucy Graham, married to the

first Lord Douglas of Douglas. The elder son died the day

he was born.

James, third duke of Montrose, the youngest of the family,

born 8th September 1755, was educated at Trinity college,

Cambridge, where he took the degi-ee of M.A. At the g«n-

eral election of 1780, he was chosen one of the members for

Richmond in Yorkshire. He zealously opposed Mr. Fox's

India bill, and on the formation of the Pitt administration,

27th December 1783, his lordship was appointed one of the

lords of the treasury.

In 1784 he was chosen one of the representatives of Great

Bedwin, in Wiltshire. On 10th June that year he became

president of the Boai-d of Trade, on 13th July joint postmas-

ter-general, and on 6th August, jointly with Lord Mulgrave,

paymaster of the forces. He procured the repeal of the pro-

hibitory act of 1747, whereby the Highlanders obtained the
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restoration of tlieir ancient dress, wliich liad been proscribed

after the last rebellion. In 1789, when, on tlie illness of

Georfje III., tlie project of a regency was supported with

great zeal by the opposition, Bnrke was, on one occasion, so

carried away by the violence of bis feelings that, in reference

to his majesty, he declared " the Almighty had hurled hiin

from his throne." The marquis, who was seated beside Pitt

on the treasury bench, instantly started to his feet, and with

gre.-it wiunith exclaimed, "No individual within these walls

shall dare to assert that the king was hurleii fi-oMi bis throne."

A scene of great confusion ensued. On the recovery of his

majesty, the marquis was the mover of the address to the

queen.

On the death of bis fither in September 171)0, be succee.i-

ed to the dukedom. In Novcnd)er of the same year he w as

appointed master of the horse, and on 12th Jlay 1791, be

was constittiteil one of the commissioners for the affairs of

India, and sworn a privy councillor. lie was made a knight

of the Thistle, lltb June 1793, and in 1795 was appointed

lord-justice-general of Scotland, when be resigned the mas-

tership of the horse. On the change of administration in

Februaiy 180G, liis grace was removed from the presidency

of the Hoard of Trade, and the joint postmaster-generalship,

but on bis friends coming into power, the office of master of

the liorse was again conferred upon liim, 4tb April 1807.

He retained that office till 1821, when he succeeded the mar-

quis of Hertford as lord-chaniberbiin. This last office he

resigned in 1827. In 1812 be had been elected one of the

knights of the Garter, under the regency of the prince of

Wales. His grace, like his father, was chancellor of the uni-

versity of Glasgow. He was also a general of the Royal

Arciiers of Scotl.ind, .and loi'd-lieut. of the counties of Stir-

ling and I)uml)artoii ; D.C.I,. He died Dec. 30, 183G.

In'Wraxall's Memoirs of his own Times,' the following

sketch of bis grace is given :
' Few individuals, however ciis-

tinguisbed by birth, talents, parliamentary interest, or public

services, have attained to more splendid employments, or

have arrived at greater lionours than Lord Graham, under

the reign of George III. Besides enjoying the lucrative sin-

ecure of justice general of Scotland for life, we have seen

him occupy a place in the cabinet, while he was joint post-

masler general, dining Pitt's second ill-fated administration.

In liis person be was elegant and pleasing, as far as those

qualities depend on symmetry of external figure: nor was he

deficient in all the accomplishments befitting his illustrious

descent. He possessed a ready elocution, sustained by all the

confidence in himself necessary for addressing the bouse.

Nor did he want ideas, while he confined himself to common
sense, to arginnent, and to matters of fact. If, however, be

possessed no distinguished talents, he displayed various qual-

ities calculated to compensate for the want of gi-eat ability
;

particularly the prudence, sagacity, and attention to his own

interests, so characteristic of the Caledonian people. His

celebrated ancestor, the marquis of Montro.se, scarcely exhib-

ited more devotion to the cause of Cb.arles I. in the field, than

his descendant displayed for George III. in the hoiise of com-

mons. Nor did he want great energy, as well as activity of

mind and body. During the progress of the French Revolu-

tion, when the fabric of our constitution was threatened by

internal and external attacks. Lord Graham, then become

duke of Montrose, enrolled himself as a private soldier in the

city light horse. During several successive years, he did

d\ity in that cap.acity, night and d.ay, sacrificing to it his ea.se

and bis time ; thus holding out an example worthy of imita-

tion to the British nobility,"

He was twice married, first, to the eldest daughter of the

111.

earl of Ashburnhani, by whom be had one son, William, e.ii l

of Kincardine, who died in his infancy; and, 2dly, to Lady

Caroline JIaria Montague, eldest daughter of George, 4th

duke of Jl.anchester
;

issue, 2 sons and 4 daughters.

James, 4th duke, the elder son, born in 1799, elected chan-

cellor of the university of Glasgow in 1837, and in lS-13 ap-

pointed lord-lieut. of Stirlingshire, married, in 183G, previous

to succeeding to the dukedom, 3d daughter of Lord Decies ;

issue, 3 sons .-nul 3 daughters. Sons: 1. J:imes, bom in

184.1, died in 184G. 2. James, marquis of Graham, born June

22, 1847. 3. Doughis-Beresford-.Malise-Ri.nald, born Nov.

7, 18o2. ."Major-general of the Royal .\rcbers, colonel of tlie

Stirling, Dumbarton, Clackmann.an, and Kinross militia; a

knight of the Thistle 1845 ; sworn a privy councillor 1850.

Chk.vtio.ns,—Baron Graham, 1451, earl of Montrose,

1503, marquis of Montrose, earl of Ki)icardine, Baron Gra-

ham and JIugdock, 1G44, duke of .Montrose, marquis of Gra-

ham and Buchanan, viscount of Dundafl', Lord Aherrutliven

and Fintry, 1707, to the heirs male of the body of the first

duke, whom failing, to the lieirs of the marquis of Montrose

by former patents granted to bis ancestors; and ICarl and

Baron Graham of I'elford in the peerage of Great Britain,

1722, by which last creation the duke of Montrose holds bis

seat in the House of Lords. The estate of Buchanan in

Stirlingshire was purchased by the third marquis, who is

known to antiquarians as having presented to the university

of Gla.sgow one of the most beautiful of its Roman rem.ains.

The family have long ceased to possess any connexion with

cither the town of j\Iontrose, whence they derive their prin-

cipal title, or its vicinity.

MoKYPKNNY, Lord, a title in the Scottish peerage, which

became extinct about the beginning of the IGth century.

The surname of Monj-penny is one of great antiquity in Scot-

land. Ricardus Monypenny obtained from Thomas, prior of

St. Andrews, in 1211, the lands of Pitmullen or Pitmilly in

I'"ife. John Monvpenny of Pitmilly was one of the Scottish

barons whose name appears in the Ragman Roll as having

sworn fealty to King Edward I. of ICngbmd in 1296. Ano-

ther, or probably the same John Monypenny, was one of the

;nnbassadors from the pope and the French king to solicit

Edward III., on behalf of the Scots, and be olitained a safe-

conduct to pass into Scotland, 22d .Tamiary 133G.

The Monypennys cairy a dolphin in their aiTns, which li.as

led some writers to conjecture that they ai'e originally from

the province of Daupbiny in France. Th.it province, it is

historically reconied, in the year 1343 was transferred by

Humbert IL, Dauphin de Vennois, its sovereign, having no

issue, to Philip of Valois, on condition that the direct heir of

the I'rench crown should be called the Dauphin, and wear a

dolphin in his :utis.

Thomas Jlonypenny and Christian Keith, his wife, had a

charter from Robert III. of the third part of the lordship of

Leucbars in Fife,, wliich third part was afterwards called

Leuchars-Monypennj'. Another third part, that to which

the castle was attached, was conferred on Sir .Alexander

Ramsay, whose only daughter married Enstacbius de Mony-

penny, .and their successor leaving only a d.augliter, she mar-

ried Rams.ay of Collutbie, and this portion of the lands, with

the castle, passed to that family.

Thomas Monypenny is supposed to have been the father

of John Monypenny of Pitmilly and Sir William Monypenny.

The batter's son, William Jlonypenny, bad a safe-conduct,

dated December 5th, 1444, to go to England, to the corona-

tion of HeniT IV. He .acquired the lands of Congressault in

France, and appears to have resided, in the latter part of bis

N
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life, in that country. He had another safe-conJuct, 1-lth

July 1447, in which he was styled Nat'if d'Escosse, escuier

cTesmiieres of the king of Fiance, to negotiate the marriage

of the princess Eleanor of Scotland to the dauphin. Three

commissions passed the great seal of Scotland, 8th November

1458, to the same William Monypenny, baron of Retre, lord

of Conquersanlt in France, and John Kennedy, provost of

St. Andrews, to proceed on an embassy to the French king,

to demand the earldom of Xantoign, which had been granted

to James I. They were also directed to form a treaty with

the king of Castile, to settle the debt due by Scotland to the

king of Denmark, and aftenvards to pass to Kome, to testify

the king's obedience to the new pontiff Pius II.

This William Monypenny was created a peer of Scotland,

under the title of Lord Monypenny of Conquersall, a corrup-

tion of Congressault, by James II., before 1464. He was

ambassador from France to England, 16th Februaiy 1471.

His son, Alexander, second Lord Monypenny, liaviiig no male

issue, exchanged, in 1495, his barony of Earlshall, in Fife,

with Sir Alexander Bruce of the Airth family, for his lands

of Escariot in France, and on his death the peerage became

extinct.

David Monypenny of Pitmilly, an eminent lawj'er, born in

May 1769, (eldest son of Lieutenant-colonel Alexander Mo-

nypenny of Pitmilly of the 56th foot, who died in 1800,)

passed advocate 2d July 1791, was appointed sheriff-depute

of the county of Fife, 7tli February 1807, solicitor-general,

22d February 1811, admitted a lord of session, 25th Febru-

ary 1813, when he took the title of Lord Pitmilly. He also

became a lord of justiciary, and at the original constitution

of the juiy court in civil cases in Scotland, he was nominated

one of the lords commissioners, 13th June, 1815. His lord-

ship retired from the bench in October 1830. In 1831 he

published a pamphlet on the Scottish poor laws. With one

sister he had two brothers, Alexander Jlonypeiiny of Edin-

burgh, and William Monypenny, collector of customs, Kirk-

caldy.

A branch of the Pitmilly family is settled at Hole House,

Eolvenden, Kent, which property was acquired by the mar-

riage, 31st May, 1714, of a Jlonypenny with Mary, daughter

and heiress of Robert Gybbon, Esq. of Hole House.

MOOR, James, LL.D., an eminent Greek

scholar, the son of Mr. Robert Moor, teacher of

mathematics in Glasgow, and his wife, Margaret

Park, was born in that citj', June 22, 1712. He

entered the universitj' of his native city in No-

vember 1725, and wliile at college acquired much

distinction for his proficiency in the ancient lan-

guages, mathematics, and geometry. Ou com-

pleting his academical course, he kept a school for

some time at Glasgow. He was afterwards tutor

in the families successively of the earls of Selkirk

and Kilmarnock, and travelled with his pupils on

the continent. When Dean castle, the seat of

the latter nobleman, was accidentally burnt, Mr.

Moor lost his valuable collection of books, as well

as his manuscript speculations on philological

and mathematical subjects. In November 1742

he was appointed librarian to the university of

JACOB.

Glasgow, and in July 1746, he became professor

of Greek there, on which occasion the earl of Sel-

kirk advanced him £600, to enable him to pur-

chase the resignation of his predecessor.

In conjunction with professor Muirhead, he su-

perintended, at the request of the university, a

splendid edition of Homer, published by the Fou-

lises of Glasgow. He also edited their Herodo-

tus. In 1761 he was appointed vice-rector of the

university, which, in April 1763, conferred on him

the degi-ee of LL.D. Besides other works, he was

the author of various Essays which pui-ported to

have been " read to a literary Society in Glasgow,

at their weekly meetings within the College."

Several of these were never printed. He resigned

his chair in May 1774, and died, unmarried, Sep-

tember 17, 1779. His library and cabinet of me-

dals were purchased by the university, of which

lie was such a distinguished member.

Dr. Moor was possessed of considerable poeti-

cal powers, and among other pieces, is stated to

have been the author of the popular Scots ballad

of ' The Chelsea Pensioners,' which was published

in the newspapers at the commencement of the

French revolution, as the production of a young

lad}'.—His works are :

Three Essays. Glasgow, 1759, 12mo.

On the End of Tragedy, according to Aristotle ; an Essay

in two parts, read to a Literary Society in Glasgow, at their

weekly meetings within the College. Glasg. 1764, 8vo.

On the Pra;positions of the Greek Language ; an Introduc-

tory Essay, read to a Literary Society in Glasgow, at their

weekly meetings within the College. Glasg. 1766, 12mo.

Vindication of Virgil from the charge of a Puerility which

was imputed to hira by Dr. Pearce, in his Notes on Longi-

nus. 1766.

Elementa Lingua Graeca. Glasg. 1783, 8vo. Edin. 1798,

1809, 8vo. Glasg. 1817, 8vo. This, his principal work,

though incomplete in some respects, soon became a standard

schoolbook.

He also contributed a few poems to ' The Edinburgh Mag-

azine and Review.'

MOOR, Jacob, an eminent landscape painter,

a native of Edinburgh, was the author of three

Essaj's ; on the Influence of Philosophy on the Fine

Arts ; on the Composition of the Picture described

in the dialogue of Cebes, and on Historical Com-

position; which were read before a literary society

held in the college of Glasgow in the years 1752,

1754, and 1755, and afterwards printed by An-

drew and Robert Foulis, in 1759. He went to

Rome about 1773, where he attained considerable

194
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reputation. lie was employed by the Prince

Borgliese to conduct the alterations which were

made in the gardens of his villa, near the Porta

Pinciana, executed in imitation of the modern

style of gardening now practised in England, for

which he was liberally remunerated. He died of

a fever at Rome in 1793, leaving a respectable

property to liis relations.

MOORE, John, M.D., an eminent physician

and miscellaneous writer, the son of the Rev.

Charles Moore, an episcopalian clergyman at Stir-

ling, and his wife, the daughter of John Ander-

son, Esq., of Dowhill near Glasgow, was born in

Stirling in 1730. He was educated at the univer-

sity of Glasgow, and began the study of medicine

and surgery under the care of Dr. Gordon, an

eminent practitioner in that city. At the same

time, he attended the anatomical demonstrations

of Professor Hamilton, and the medical lectures

of the celebrated Dr. Culleu, then professor of

medicine at Glasgow. In 1747 he went to the

Netherlands, where the allied army was then

serving, and attended the military hospitals at

Maestricht. Soon after, he was recommended by

Dr. Middleton, director-general of military' hospi-

tals, to the earl of Albemarle, colonel of the Cold-

stream Guards, then quartered at Flusliing, and

was appointed assistant-surgeon of that regiment,

which he accompanied to Breda. On the conclu-

sion of peace in the summer of 1748, he returned

to England.

After remaining some time in London, during

which lie attended the anatomical lectures of Dr.

AVilliam Hunter, Mr. Moore went over to Paris

to prosecute his studies in the hospitals of that

city. Soon after his arrival, the earl of Albe-

marle, then British ambassador at the court of

France, appointed him surgeon to liis household.

Two years afterwards, he was induced to become

the partner of his old master, Dr. Gordon, sur-

geon at Glasgow ; aiul on tlie latter subsequently

commencing practice as a physician, Mr. Moore

went into partnership with Mr. Hamilton, profes-

sor of anatomy in Glasgow college.

In the spring of 1772, Mr. Moore obtained the

diploma of i\I.D. from the university of Glasgow.

He was soon after engaged by the duchess of Ar-

gyle as medical attendant to her son, the duke of

Hamilton, who was in a delicate state of health
;

and whom he accompanied to the continent,

wlicre lie spent five j'ears in travelling with his

grace. On their return in 1778, Dr. Moore re-

moved his family from Glasgow to London, and

in 1779 he published ' A View of Society and

Planners in France, Switzerland, and Gei'many,'

in 2 vols. 8vo. In 1781 appeared 'A View of

Society and Manners in Italy,' 2 vols. 8vo. In

1786 he published his 'Medical Sketches;' and in

1789, a novel, entitled ' Zeluco.'

In the summer of 1792 he paid a short visit to

Paris, as medical attendant of the earl of Lauder-

dale, and having witnessed some of the principal

scenes of tiio French Revolution, on his return

he publislied ' A Journal during a residence in

France, 1792.' Dr. Moore edited a collected edi-

tion of Smollett's Works. He died at London,

Feb. 20, 1802. His portrait is subjoined :

He had two sislei-s, one married to the Pev. Dr.

Wm. Porteous, one of the ministers of Glasgow,

and the other to George Macintosh, Esq. of Dun-

liatton. The eldest son of the latter, Charles Mac-

intosh, F R.S., celebrated for his chemical discov-

eries, was the inventor of the gentleman's covering
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called a iiiaciiitosli, and otlier gutta percha arti-

cles (see vol. ii. p. 752.) Dr. Moore's -works are:

A View of Society and JIanners in France, Switzerland,

and Germany. Lond. 1779, 2 vols. 8vo. Several editions, and

translated into the Frencli, German, and Italian languages.

A View of Society and JIanners in Italy. London, 1781,

2 vols. 8vo.

Medical Sketches, in two Parts. London, 1786, 8vo.

Zeluco, a Novel. London, 1789, 2 vols. 8vo.

A .lournal during a Residence in France, from the hcgin-

ning of August to the middle of Decemher, 1792. London,

1792, 2 vols. 8vo.

A View of the Causes and Progress of the French Revolu-

tion. London, 1795, 2 vols. 8vo.

Edward: a Novel. London, 179G.

Jlordaunt, a Novel. London, 1800, 3 vols. 8vo.

MOORE, Sir John, a distinguished British

commander, son of tlie subject of the preceding

article, by his wife, a daughter of Professor Sim-

son, of the university of Glasgow, was bora in

that city, Nov. 13, 1761. He received the rudi-

ments of his education at the local High School,

and at the age of eleven accompanied liis fatlier,

then engaged as travelling physician to the duke

of Hamilton, to the continent. In 1776 he ob-

t.Tined an ensign's commission in the 5lst foot.

] le was next promoted to a lieutenancy in the 82d

legiinent, and served in America till the conclu-

sion of the war in 1783, when his regiment being

reduced, he Avas put upon half-paJ^ On his re-

turn to Britain, with the rank of captain, he re-

sumed the studies of fortification and field tactics,

and on the change of ministry, which soon fol-

lowed the peace, he was, hy the Hamilton influ-

ence, elected to represent the Lanark district of

burghs in parliament. In 1787 he obtained the

rank of major in the 4th battalion of the 60th

regiment, and in 1788 he exchanged into his first

regiment, the 51st. In 1790 he succeeded by

purchase to the lieutenant-colonelcy, and in 1791

he went with his regiment to Gibraltar.

In 1794 Colonel IMoore was ordered to accom-

pany the expedition for the reduction of Corsica,

and at the siege of Calvi he was appointed by

General Charles Stuart to command the reserve,

at the head of which he gallantly stormed the

Mozzello fort, amidst a shower of bullets, hand

grenades, and shells, that exploded among them

at every step. Here he received his first wound,

in spite of which he mounted the breach with his

brave followers, who drove the enemy before

them. Soon after the surrender of the gari ison,

he was nominated adjutant-general, as a step to

farther promotion.

A disagreement having taken place between the

British commander. General Stuart, and Sir Gil-

bert Elliot, the viceroj' of the island, the former

was recalled, and Colonel Moore was ordered bj'

the latter to quit Corsica within 48 hours. He

returned to England in November 1795, and was

almost immediatel}' promoted to the rank of bri-

gadier-general in an expedition against the French

West India islands. He sailed from Spithead

February 28, 1796, to join the army under Sir

Ralph Abercromby at Barbadoes, where he ar-

rived April 13. His able services under this gal-

lant veteran during the West India campaign,

especially in the debarkation of the troops at St.

Lucia, and the siege of Morne Fortunee, were, as

declared by the commander-in-chief in the public

orders, " the admiration of the whole army."

On the capitulation of St. Lucia, Sir Ralph ap-

pointed General IMoore commandant and governor

of the island, a charge which he undertook with

great reluctance, as he longed for more active

service. But he performed his duty with his ac-

customed energy and success, uotwithstanding the

hostility of the natives, and the numerous bands

of armed Negroes that remained in the woods.

Two successive attacks of yellow fever compelled

him to return to England in August 1797, when

he obtained the rank of major-general. In the
'

subsequent December, his health being complete-

ly re-established, he joined Sir Ralph Abercromby

in Ireland as brigadier-general, and during the

rebellion of 1798 was actively engaged. At Hore-

town, he defeated a large body of the rebels

under Roche, and immediately encamped near

Wexford, which he delivered from the insurgents.

In the disastrous expedition to Holland, in

August 1799, he had the command of a brigade

in the division of the army under Sir Ralph Aber-

cromby ; and in the engagement of the 2d Octo-

ber, he received two wounds, which compelled

him to return to England. In 1800 he accompa-

nied Abercromby in the expedition to Egypt;

and, at the disembarkation of the troops, the bat-

talion which he commanded carried by assault the

batteries erected by the French on a neighbouring

eminence of sand to oppose their landing. At the
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battle of Aboiikir, March 21, wlioie lie was gen-

eral officer of the da}-, his coolness, decision, and

intrepidity, greatly contributed to the victor\-,

Avhicli, however, was dearly purchased with the

life of Sir Ralph Abercromby. In this battle

General IMoore received a dangerous wound in the

leg by a musket-ball, which confined him tirst on

board one of the transports, and afterwards in

the neighbourhood of Rosetta, till the conclusion

of the expedition. He returned home in 1801, in

time to soothe the last moments of his venerable

father; on whose death he generously conferred

an annuity on his mother, the half of which only

she would accept.

After this period, General Moore was encamped

•with an advanced corps at Sandgate, on the Kent-"

ish coast, opposite to Boulogne, jireparing for the

threatened invasion of the French. As he largely

enjoyed the confidence of the duke of York, then

commander-in-chief, he was engaged, at his own

request. In a camp of instruction, in training sev-

eral regiments as light infantry, and the high state

of discipline to which he brought them was of es-

sential service in the subsequent campaigns in the

reninsula. Towards the end of 1804, General

INIoore's merits induced the king to confer on him

the order of the Rath. In 1806 he was sent to

Sicily, where he served under General Fox, and

in the following year he was appointed command-

er-in-chief of all the troops in the Mediterranean.

In May 1808 he was despatched, at the head of

10,000 men, to Sweden, with tlie view of assisting

the gallant but intractable sovereign of that conn-

try, Gustavus Adolphus IV., in the defence of his

dominions, then threatened by France, Russia,

and Denmark; but refusing to comply with the

extravagant demands of that eccentric monarch,

he was placed under arrest. He had the good

fortune, however, to effect his escape, and imme-

diately sailed with the troops for England. On

his arrival off the coast, his landing was prevented

by an order to proceed to Portugal, to take part in

the expedition against the French in that country,

under the command of Sir Harr}' Bnrrard.

After the liberation of Portugal, the troops were

preparing to advance into Spain, when a letter

from Lord Castlereagh, dated September 25, 1808,

arrived at Lisbon, appointing Sir John Moore

commander-in-chief of an army of 30,000 infantry

and 5,000 cavalry, to be employed in the north of

the Peninsula, in co-operating with tiie .Spanish

forces against the French invaders. He began

his march on the 18th of October, and on the loth

of November he reached Salamanca, where he

halted to concentrate his forces, and where, dis-

tracted by every sjiecies of disa]^poinlment and

false information, and deluded by the representa-

tions of iNIr. Frere, the British ambassador in

Spain, he I'emained for some time uncertain whe-

ther to advance upon Madrid, or fall back upon

Portugal. At length, learning tliat the whole of

the disposable French armies in the Peninsula

were g.'itliering to surround hiin, he commenced,

on the evening of December 24, a rapid march to

the coast, through the mountainous region of Gal-

licia, and after the most masterly retreat tliat has

been recorded In the annals of modern warfare,

conducted, as it was, in tlie depth of winter, aiul

M hile pressed on all sides by the skilful and har-

assing manoeuvres of the pursuing enemy, he ar-

rived at Corunna, on January 11, ISOl), with the

army under his command almost entire and un-

broken. In this memorable retreat 250 miles of

country had been traversed, and mountains, de-

files, and rivers had been crossed, amidst suffer-

ings and disasters almost unparalleled, and yet

not a single ])iece of artillery, a standard, or a

military trophy of any kind, had fallen into the

hands of the pursuijig enenn-.

Finding that the transports, which had been

ordered round from Vigo, had not arrived, Sir John

I\Ioore quartered a portion of the troops in the

town of Corunna, and the remainder in the neigh-

bouring villages, and made the dispositions that

appeared to him most advisable for defence against

the enemy. The transports anchored at Corunna

on the evening of the 14th, and the sick, the cav-

alrv, and the artillery were embarked in them,

except twelve six-pounders, which were retained

for action. Several general officers, seeing the

disadvantages under which either an embarkation

or a battle must take place, advised Sir John

Moore to send a flag of truce to Soult, and open a

negotiation to permit the embarkation of the army

on terms
;
but, with the high-souled courage of

his countr}', Moore Indignantly spurned the pro-
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posal as unworthy of a British army, which,

amidst all its disasters, had never known defeat.

The French, assembled on the surrounding hills,

amounted to 20,000 men, and their cannon, plant-

ed on commanding eminences, were larger and

more numerous than the British guns. The Bri-

tish infantry, to the number of 14,500, occupied a

range of heights, enclosed by three sides of the

enemy's position, their several divisions, under

the command of Generals Baird, Hope (after-

wards fourth earl of Hopetoun), Paget (afterwards

first marquis of Anglesey), and Frazer, being

thrown up to confront every point of attack.

About two o'clock in the afternoon of the IGth,

a general movement was observed along the

French line ; and on receiving intelligence that

the enemy were getting under arms, Sir John

Moore rode immediately to the scene of action.

The advanced pickets were alreadj' beginning to

fire at the enemy's light troops, who were pouring

rapidly down the hill on the right wing of the

British. Early in the battle Sir David Baird,

while leading on his division, had his arm shat-

tered with a grape-shot, and was obliged to leave

the field. At this Instant the French artillery

plunged from the heights, and the two hostile

lines of infantrj' mutually advanced beneath a

shower of balls. They were still separated from

each other by stone walls and hedges. A sudden

and very able movement of the British gave the

utmost satisfaction to Sir John Moore, who had

been watching the manoeuvre, and he cried out,

"That is exactly what I wished to be done."

He then rode up to the 50th regiment, commanded

by M.^jors Napier and Stanhope, who had got

over an enclosure In their front, and were charg-

ing most valiantly. The general, delighted with

their gallantry, exclaimed, " Well done, the 50th!

Well done, my majors!" They drove the enemj^

out of the village of Elvina with great slaughter.

In this conflict. Major Napier, advancing too far,

was wounded and taken prisoner, and Major Stan-

hope received a ball through his heart, which kill-

ed him instantaneously.

Sir John Moore proceeded to the 42d, and ad-

dressed them in these words, " Highlanders, re-

member Egypt!" They rushed on, driving the

French before them. In this charge they Avere

accompanied by Sir John, who sent Captain (af-

terwards first Viscount) Hardinge, to order up a

battalion of guards to the left flank of the High-

landers, upon which the ofiicer commanding the

light company, conceiving that as their ammuni-

tion was nearly expended, they were to be re-

lieved by the guards, began to withdraw his men
;

but Sir John, perceiving the mistake, said, " My
brave 42d, join your comrades ; ammunition is

coming, and you have your bayonets."

When the contest was at the fiercest. Sir John,

who was anxiously watching the progi'ess of the

battle, was struck in the left breast by a cannon-

ball, which carried away his left shoulder, and

part of the collar-bone, leaving the arm hanging

by the flesh. The violence of the stroke threw

him from his horse. Captain Hardinge, who had

returned from executing his commission, immedi-

ately dismounted, and took him by the hand.

With an unaltered countenance he raised himself,

and looked anxiously towards the Highlanders,

who were hotly engaged. Captain Hardinge as-

sured him that the 42d were advancing, on which

his countenance brightened. Hardinge tried in

vain to stop the effusion of blood with his sash,

then, with the help of some Highlanders and

Guardsmen, he placed the general upon a blanket.

He was lifted from the ground by a Highland ser-

geant and six veteran soldiers of the 42d, and

slowly conveyed towards Cornnna. In raising

him, his sword touched his wounded arm, and be-

came entangled between his legs. Captain Har-

dinge was in the act of unbuckling it from his

waist, when he said, in his usual tone, and with

the true spirit of a soldier, " It is as well as it is
;

I had rather it should go out of the field with me."

When the surgeons anived, he said to them,

" You can be of no service to me
;
go to the sol-

diers, to whom you may be useful." As he was

borne slowly along, he repeatedly caused those

who carried him to halt and turn round, to view

the field of battle ; and he was pleased when the

firing grew faint in the distance, as it told of the

retreat of the French.

On arriving at his lodgings he was placed on a

mattress on the floor. He was in great agony,

and could only speak at intervals. He said to

Colonel Anderson, who had been his companion

4-
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in arms for more tlian twenty years, and who had

saved his life at St. Lucia, " Anderson, you know

tliat I always wished to die in this way." He

frequently asked, "Are the French beaten?" And

wlien told tliat tlie}"^ were, he exclaimed, " I Iiope

the people of England will be satisfied ; I hope my

country will do me justice." He spoke affectionate-

ly of his motlier and his relatives, inquired after tlie

safety of his aides-de-camp, and even at that so-

lemn moment mentioned those officers whose mer-

its liad entitled tliem to promotion. He tlien

asked Major Colborne if the French were beaten
;

and on being told that tliey were, on every point,

he said, "It is a great satisfaction for me to know

we have beaten the French." He tlianked the

surgeons for their trouble. Captains Percy and

Stanliopc, two of his aides-de-camp, came into

the room. He spoke kindly to both, and asked if

all his aides-de-camp were well. After an interval

lie said, " Stanhope, remember me to your sister."

This was the celebrated Lady Hester Stanhope, tlie

niece of Pitt. A few seconds after, he died without

a struggle, January 16, 1809. The ramparts of the

citadel of Corunna were selected as the fittest place

for his grave, and there he was buried at the hour

of midniglit, " witli his martial cloak around him."

Tlie chnplain-general read the funeral service of

tlie Church of England by torch-light ; and on the

succeeding day, when the British were safely out

at sea, the gims of the French paid the wonted

military honours over the gi'ave of the departed

hero. Soult afterwards raised a monument to

his memory on the spot. A marble monument has

been erected to his memory in the Cathedral of

Glasgow. There is also an open air statue of him in

George Square of the same city. Another stands

in St. Paul's Cathedral, by order of Parliament.

Sir John Moore had, with one sister, who died

unmarried in December 1842, four brothers, viz.,

1st, James Carrick Moore, Esq. of Corswall,

Wigtonsliire, author of a ' Nan-ative of the Cam-

paign of the British Army in Spain, commanded

by Lieutenant-Gcneral Sir John Moore, authenti-

cated by official papers and original letters.' Lon-

don, 1809, 4to ; also ' The Life of Licutcnaiit-

Gcncral Sir John Aloore, K.B.' London, 183-1, 2

vols. 8vo. He assumed, in 1821, the additional

surname of Carrick, in compliance with the testa-

mentary injunction of his relative, Robert Carrick,

a banker at Glasgow, who bequeathed to him

estates in the counties of Wigton, Kirkcudbright,

and Ayr. 2d, Admiral Sir Graham IMoore, C.B.,

whose son, John Jiloore, held the rank of com-

mander, R. N. 3d, Charles Moore, of Lincoln's

Inn, barrister at law, auditor of public accounts,

who died unmarried; and 4tli, Francis Moore, at

one time under secretary of war. The latter mar-

ried Frances, daughter of Sir William Twysden,

baronet, and relict of the eleventh earl of Eglin-

ton, and by her had two sons, William, a colonel

in the army, and John, who died unmarried.

jMOORE, Dugald, a self-taught poet of con-

siderable vigour of imagination and expression,

was born in Stockwell-street, Glasgow, in August

1805. His father was a soldier in a Highland

regiment, but died early in life, leaving his mother

in almost destitute circumstances. While yet a

mere child, Dugald was sent to serve as a tobac-

co-boy in a tobacco-spinning establishment in his

native city ; an occupation at whicli veiy j'oung

boys are often employed, at a paltry pittance,

before they are big enough to be apprenticed to

other trades. He was taught to read chiefly by

his mother, and any education which he received

at schools was of the most trifling description.

As he grew up, he was sent to the establishment

of Messrs. Lumsden and Son, booksellers. Queen

Street, Glasgow, to learn the business of a copper-

plate pressman. Here he was much employed in

colouring maps. Ilis poetical genius earlj^ de-

veloped itself, and long before it was suspected by

those around him, he had blackened whole quires

of paper with his effusions. Dugald found his first

patron in his employer, Mr. James Lumsden, after-

wards provost of Glasgow, who exerted himself

successfully in securing for his first publication a

long listof subscribers among the respectable classes

of Glasgow. This work was entitled 'The African

and other Poems,' and appeared in 1829. In the

following year Dugald published another volume,

entitled ' Scenes from the Flood, the Tenth Plague,

and other Poems;' and in 1831 he produced a

volume larger and more elegant than the previous

ones, entitled 'The Bridal Night, the First Poet,

and other Poems.' The success of tlicse several

publications enabled their author to set up as a
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booksnller and stationer in his native city, wliere

lie acqnired a good business. Dngald. indeed,

ma}' be cited as one of the few jjoets whose love

of the Muses, so far from injuring liis business,

absolutely established and promoted it. In 1833

he publislied ' The Bard of the North, a series of

poetical Tales, illustrative of Highland Scenery

and Character;' in 1835, 'The Hour of Retribu-

tion, and other Poems;' and in 1839, 'The De-

voted One, and other Poems.' This completes

the list of his publications ; but when it is con-

sidered that each, six in number, was of consider-

able size, and contained a great number of pieces.

It will be at once acknowledged that his muse was

in no ordinary degree prolific. Most of his pro-

ductions arc marked by strength of conception,

copiousness of imager}-, and facility of versifica-

tion. Dugald IMoore died, after a short illness, of

inflammation, January 2, 1841, while yet in the

vigour of manhood. He was never married, but

resided all his life with his mother, to whom he

was much attached, and whom his exertions had

secured in a respectable competency. He was

buried in the Necropolis of Glasgow, where a mo-

nument was erected to his memor}-, from a sub-

scription, raised among his personal friends only,

to the amount of one hundred pounds.

Moray, Earl of, a veiy ancient title, the n.itivc possessors

of wliicli, during tlie middle ages, onginally called maormors,

appear to have been the most powerful chiefs in Scotland.

In the tenth and eleventh centuries their territories extended

nearly from sea to sea, and until they snnk under the ascen-

dency of the kings of the line of JIalcolm Canmore, they mav

oe s.aid to have been the real sovereigns of the north.

In the year 1120, during the reigu of Alexander I., Angus,

earl of Jloray, the grandson of Lulach, stepson of JIacbeth,

laid claim to the crown, and excited an insurrection in his

own territories, which was suppressed by the king in person.

Ten years afterwards, in the reign of David I., Earl Angus

again took the field, but that monarch liaving collected all

his forces, and being aided by the martial barons of North-

umberland, with Walter L'Espec at their head, Angus was

defeated and slain at Strickathrow, one of the passes in For-

forfarshire, whither he had advanced with his anny. In

nil, Wimond, called by historians Malcolm MacHcth, a

monk of Furness Abbey, Lanarkshire, claimed the earldom

of Moray, as the son of Earl Angus, and at various times

previous to ll.il, invaded the Scottish coasts, but at length

had his eyes put out, and was imprisoned in Roxburgh

castle as an impostor. (See vol. ii. p. 24.) He had married

a daughter of Somerled, thane of Argyle, who, in 1153, on

the accession of Malcolm IV., invaded Scotland, accompanied

by his grandsons, the sons of Wimond, one of whom, Donald,

being found skulking in Gallow.ay, was imprisoned, like his

father, in Roxburgh castle. (See page 94 of this volume.)

Under Gildominick, the Moraymen, about 1160, raised such

a fonnidable rebellion that the king, Malcolm IV., marched
north with a powerful army, and after compelling them to

submit, caused all who had appeared in arms against him,

to transplant themselves to the southern parts of the king-

dom. The earldom of Moray w.as subsequently held by the

family of Randolph, by that of Dunbar, by an illegitim.ate

son of James IV., by the regent Moray, and by the descen-

dants of his daughter, also Stuarts.

The first of the family of Randolph was Dunegal, a Celtic

chief, proprietor of Strathnitli or Stranith, the original name
of Nithsdale, who lived in the reign of David I. On his

death his extensive possessions appear to have been shared

among them by his four sons, only two of whom, Ranulph or

Randolph, the eldest, and Dovenald, the youngest, can now
be traced.

Randolph, as superior of the whole of Nithsdale, transmit-

ted the designation of lord of Stranith to his posterity. He
married Bethoc, heiress of the lands of Bedrule, a contraction

of Bethoc-rule, and Buecastle in Teviotdale, and from him

his descendants assumed the surname of Randolph. Thomas,

his son, was one of the anti-Anglican party removed from the

administration of affairs during the minority of Alexander

III., 21st September, 12.55, .and died in 12G2. His son,

Thcm.as Randolph, lord of Strathnitli, was sheriff of Ro.x-

bnrgbshire in 12GG, and great-chamberlain of Scotland from

1207 to 1278. He sat in the pariianient at lirigbam in 1290,

when the project of marriage between Qneen Margaret and

Prince Edward of England was agreed to, and in 1292 he

was one of the nominees on the part of Robert de Bras in his

competition for the crown of Scotland. He swore fealty to

Edward I., 13th June of that year, and on the 2Gth of the

following December, with his son, the celebrated Sir Thomas

Randolph, afterwards earl of Jloray, he was present when

Baliol did homage to the English monarch. In 1294 he was

summoned to attend King Edward into France. By liis wife,

Lady Isabel Brnce, eldest daughter of Robert, earl of Carrick,

eldest son of the competitor, he liad, with a daughter, (Isa-

bel, the wife of Sir William Moray,) a son, Sir Thomas Ran-

dolph, already mentioned, one of the chief coinpanions in

arms of his uncle, Robert the Brnce, who, in guerdon of his

services, conferred on him the earldom of Moray, with many

goodly lands and baronies. (See Randolph, Tiiojlvs, earl

of Jloray.)

Dovenald, or Donald, the youngest son of Dunegal of Stra-

nith, appears to have obtained the barony of Sanquhar, the

lands of Morton, and some other possessions in Upper Niths-

dale ; and be is supposed to have been the Donald who,

along with Ulric, led the men of Galloway at the battle of

the Stand.ard in 1138, and fell in the conflict. His descend-

ants assumed, in the loth century, the surname of Edgar,

from the name of Don.ald's son ; and they continued, in the

14th ceiiturv, to hold various lands in Dumfries-shire. Dur-

ing the reign of Robert the Bruce, Richard Edgar possessed

the castle and half the barony of Sanquhar, with some ad-

jacent lands; and Donald Edgar obtained from David II.

the captainship of the clan MacGowan in Nithsdale.

Sir Thomas Randolph, the first earl of Jloray of the name,

married Isabel, only daughter of Sir John Stewart of Bonkyl, :

and with two sons, Thomas, second card, and John, third 1

earl, had one daughter, Lady Agnes, married to Patrick, ninth

earl of Dunbar and March.

Thomas, the eldest son, second earl of Moray of the Ran-

dolph family, succeeded his father, 20th July 1332. At that

time Edward Baliol had invaded Scotland, and the earl of
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(comprised counties of BANFK, ELGIN, NAIRN, AND PORTIONS OF CULNTIES OF INVERNESS AND ABERDEEN.

I. Malcolm
Maorinor 'JM.

Till King of Scol-

lund as sup. Mal-
culm II., lUOl to

loao.

Vol. iil |i. H8.

7. Mac-Both, or
Hi'th, Maorinor

of Koss. In licht
of .stepson Ln-

lach, 8un of Mal-
colm. To 1039.

When usurped aa
king. Vol. 11.

p. 710.

3. Lnlach, nip.

son (by Gruoch,
graiiddausliter of
Kenneth IV.) of
Malcolm IL
King mi.
Killed 1055.

Vol. Hi. pp. 89
and 90.

4. Donald,
his brother,

In;io.<«.Till (rcl>cl)

King of North
Scotland, lOfit

VoL UL p. 90,

6. Mnlsncchtan,
son of Lulach.

Maormor in. rtb.

lOCA. Dicdinpoji.
1085. Vol. uL

p. 90.

0. Angus, Bur-

namcd Heth, ur

Head, son of
daughter of Lu-
lach. In pt'.^s.

1098. £V. Earl,

as sup. by Edgar.
VoL L p. 5*.

II. an (Karlbom. ^ccorbing to Skciu, ITiac of ^ulatb.

1

l9t sup. Earl.

Angus Heth, or

Head, (ith maor-
mor 1098.

Killed, uAstip. in a
rising againat
Alexander L

llli;

Vol. L p. 81

2. Angus Ilcth,

sup. son of l»t

Earl Shiln at

Strickathrow in

rebellion against
David I.

1130. VoL iL

p. 24.

/n Rebellion.

3. Malcolm Mac
Heth, orWy-

mond. Monk in

Furness Abbey.
Bishop of Man.
Alleged son of

Angus, 2d Earl.

Mar. d. of Somer-
led of the Isles.

In poss. 1141 to

114S. Betrayed.
Eves put out.

Dd Byland Ab-
bev, circa 1160.

VoL iL p. 24.

In RebeUion.
4. Kenneth, son

of Malcolm Mac-
Heth. In poss.

from U80.
Driven out. Went
to Ireland, 1187.

In Western Isles.

1210. Invaded
Scotland. Slain

by Earl of Russ,

1215. VoL i.

p. 70.

III. ITint of ^anbolpb of Stranltb, anb |sab IV. ^Duglas anb ^unbar.

(1.) MALE LINE. (2.) LINE OP DUNBAR AND OF HEIRESS iiP RANDOLPH.

2, 3

1. Sir Thomas
Randolph, their

son, ncphciv of
Kolicrtl. O.

1312. Died July
20, 1332.

2. Thomas, his

son. Killed nl Du-
plin, August 12,

1332.

3. John, his

brother, killed

at Durham,
1346.

1. Patrick, 9th
earl of Dunbar, by
marriage with
Agne.H. only

daughter of 2d
Earl. Cr. after

ri4i!.

5, 6

2. John dc Dun-
bar, 2d son of

I'airick, su(. 13G9.

Killed in a tour-

ney, 1394.

3 Tlioma,<;. .son of
.lolm. Prisoner

Hoinildou
1402.

7,8

4. Thomas, son of
Thomas Hostage

for James L,

1433.

ft. James, grand-
son of 3d earl.

Lino of Fren-
draught D. about

1430.

Archibald Doug
las. Mar. Mary,
vr. Jr. of 5th

Earl. Cr. after

1430. In preju-

dice of el. dr.

Slain, in rehi llion,

1455. Forfeited.

huut, llogal Ihu. Y. (§axian. VI. 2d .Stuart, ^ogal fine. VII. 2d ^xogal Stuart anh ^Ibang

1

James, nat. son
of JaiJieJ

IV. HIkJ J:lIUl
KoiiiumIv. cy.

lAOl rf. ir.44.

No inftlc isfiue.

Revertod to

cro*va.

4. 5

2, 3

George Gordon,
4lh Earl i.f

Iluntly. Cr. 1.149.

Re.'^iijntd 15.'i4.

Resld.'lMi. Slain

inreb., 15G2. Rer.
to crown.

6. 7

James, nat, son
of James V. and
Margaret Erskinc
Prior of St. An-

drews at 5 years.

Earl 15i;4. Ke-
gcnt 15C7.

Assassinated
1570. No ni. A.

L James, lin. riesc

of 1st Duke of
Albany. In line of
Bcath. Mar.

Elizabeth, older

dr. of Uegent
Earl 1580. Slain,

through private

pique, 1592.

i. Alexander, 2d
aon of 3d eart
K.T. Iti87.

Died 1700.

i. Charles, 2d son
of 4th earl. Died.

t. p., 1735.

H. Francis, brother
of carl Charles.

Dieil 17.39.

7. James, son of

Earl Francis.

Died 1767.

2. James, their

elder son. Suj>-

presse<l rising of

Cl.iQ Chattan
1624. Died 1G38.

3. James, his only
son. Died

1663.

8. Francis, son of

Eari Jame.-).

Haron Sliuirt

U. Kincjm. n mr.
to m. h 1796.

Died 1810.

9. Francis, 3d mn
of 8tli carl. Died

184a

10. Francis, elder

eon of 9th carl

Died, unm. 1859
11. John, brother
oflOlhearL Bora

1797.

ARMORIAL BEARINGS OF STUART, EARL OF MORAY.

Quarteriiigs—1st and 4th, Arms of Regent Moray ; 2. for Stewart of Doune ; 3. for Randolph, Earl of Moray

.
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Moray lind a cliief conitnaiid in tlic army under tlie earl of

Mar, at Diipliii, 12tli Anfrust tlie same year, and was killed

at tlie iirst alarm. Dying unmarried, twenty-tlirce days

after .succeeding to the title, it devolved on liis brother, John,

third earl and last of tlie male line of his heroic family.

Thongh quite a youth at the time, he .at once took arms in

hehalf of his youthful sovereign and cousin, David Bruce, and

surprised and defeated lialiol at Aiman in Duteniher 1332.

At the battle of Hallidon Hill, 19th .Inly 1333, he couimand-

ed the first division of the Scots army, supported by Lord

Andrew Fraser and his two brother.-i, Simon and James.

Kscaping from the carnage of that dreadful day, he retired

to France, where the young king, David II., and Ids queen,

liad been sent for security, but returned to Scotland the fid-

lowing year, when he and the higli steward were chosen joint

regents of the kingdom. He w:is successful in taking pris-

oner Comyn, earl of Athol, commander of the Knglisli forces

in Scolland, but, on his swearing allegiance to David liruce,

ho .set him at liberty. Coniyn, however, disregarding his

oath, K'paired to the Fnglish camp, and resumed his hostili-

ties to his lawful sovereign. The carl of IMoray ne.xt, in Au-

gust 13.S5, with a cho.sen party, attacked, near Kdinburgli. a

body of foreign auxiliaries in the service of tlie Knglish king,

under Ccmnt Guy of Namur, and forced them to surrender,

but escorting the count to the borders, he fell into <an ambush

and was made prisoner by William de Pressen, warden of

Jedburgh. He w;is confined first at Nottingham, and after-

wards in the Tower of London. On 25th July 1340, he was

removed to Windsor castle. He was allowed to go to France,

and even to visit Scnthind, which he did in 1341. The same

year he was excli.-inged for the carl of Salisbury, a prisoner

with the French. In February 1342 he invaded Fngland, his

Bovereign David II. serving as a volunteer under him. At

the fatal battle of Durham, 17th October 134C, the earl of

Moriiv, with Douglas, the knight of Liddesdale, comm.anded

the right wing of the Scottish army, and was killed at the

first attack of the English. He married his cousin, Isabel,

only daugliter of Sir Alexander Stewart of ISonkyl, widow of

Donald, carl of JIar, slain at Duplin, but had no issue.

On his death, his .sister, Lady Agnes, countess of Dunbar

and March, commonly called, from her dark complexion,

" Black .Agues," and celebrated in liisfory as the successful

defender of the castle of Dunbar in 1337-8, against the earls

of Salisbury and Arundel, succeeded to the vast estates of

the earldom, and lier husband, in her right, assumed the addi-

tional title of earl of Moray. Tlie countess died about 13G9,

leaving two sons, George, tenth earl of Dunbar and March,

and John, who became earl of Moray in his mother's right.

John, second earl of Moray of the Dunbar family, w.is one

of the commissioners sent to endeavour to get Scotland in-

cluded in the treaty betwixt England and France in 1384,

and had 1,000 francs for his share of the money brought by

John de Vienne, admiral of I'rance in 1385. He was en-

gaged in the battle of Otterburn in 1388, and according to

Buchauiin, was the leader of the Scots, after the death of

Douglas, .-dthough Major s.ays it was the earl of March. By

the courtesy of the earl of Jloray, Ralph Percy and many

of the prisoners were set at liberty, on their word to return

when called for. He was one of the guarantees of a treaty

with the Knglish, ICth .Tuly 1390, and was killed in a tour-

ney with the earl niar.shal of F2nglaud in 1394. liy his coun-

tess, Marjory, eldest daughter of King Robert II., he had,

with one daughter, Lad*- Mabella Dunbar, countess of Suth-

erland, two sons, Thomas, third earl of Moray of this branch,

•md Alexander Dunbar of Frendraught, in BanfTbhire, whose

son .subsequently succeeded to the earldom.

Thom.as, third earl of the Dunbar family, was one of the

prisoners taken by the English at the battle of Ilomildon iu

Northumberland, 14th September 1402. He had a son,

Thomas, fourth earl of Jloray, one of the hostages for King

James I. when ho was permitted to visit Scotland, 31st May
1421, al.so, for his final libenition, nominated by treaty of 1

13th December 1423. On the latter occasion his annual rev-

enue was estimated at 1,000 merks. His cousin, James

Dunbar of Frendraught, succeeded him in the earldom of

iMoray. The latter had two daughters. Lady .Janet, the
j

elder, became the wife of James, .second Lord Orichton, eldest
]

son of Lord-ch.mcellor Criehton, and in 1493 the earl re-
j

signed the barony of Frendraught in favour of her grandson,
'

Sir James Criehton, ancestor of Viscount Frendraught, (see
[

FuiiNDUAUOliT, viscount, vol. ii. p. 271). Lady Maiy, the
\

younger daughter, married Archibald, third son of James,

seventh earl of Douglas, and her husband, through the influ-
i

ence of his brother with the young king, was created earl of
|

Moray, to the prejudice of the husband of the elder daughter.
j

In revenge for the murder of the eighth earl of Douglas by
|

King James II. in Stirling castle, on 13th February 1452,
|

Archib.-ild Dougla.s, earl of Moray, and others of his friends,

burnt the town of Stirling. The earl of Jloray had a safe-
j

conduct to pass through England, on his way to Rome, with '

his brother, James, ninth earl of Douglas, 2d May 1453.
\

The following year lie endeavoured to excite a rebellion in l

the north, but was obliged to take shelter in the Ilebride.s.
J

Thence he proceeded into Annandale. to join his brother, the I

carl of Douglas, who, after repeated rebellions, was defeated
|

by his kinsman the earl of Angus, leader of the king's troops,

at Arkinholme in Dumfries-shire, 1st Jlay 1455. In this

battle the earl of Moray and the earl of Orniond, brothers of
j

the earl of Douglas, were slain. Six weeks after his decease,
|

namely, on 12tli June 1455, the earl of Moray was attainted
|

for fortifying the castles of Locliindore and Tarnau against i

the king, and other acts of treason, by which attainder the i

earldom of Moniy became vested in the crown.

The next possessor of the earldom of .Moray w.as James

Stewart, n.atural son of King James IV., by J-wet, daughter

of John Lord Kennedy. It was conferred upon him and the

heirs male of his body, by the king his father, by charter,

dated 20tli June 1501. He was then but two years old.

In 1517, when Lord Home was arrested by the regent duke

of Albany, and put on his trial, .Tames, earl of Moray, s.ays
;

Calderwood, "accused him chiefely of the slaughter of his 1

father King James; for it was whispered among mauie, that

the king was not slaine at Floddon field, but one cloathed
:

with his apparell, like him in countenance and stature: that

he was seen to return through Tweed, and that he was slaine

beside Kelso by the Lord Hume's friends or dependers."

(Hist, of Kirk of Scotlund, vol. i. p. 59.) In 1529, the earl

was one of the commissioners for treating of peace with the '

English. In March 1530, he w:is .appointed lieutenant-gen-

eral of the kingdom, and sent to the borders, to meet the earl

of Xorthumberland at a d.iy of truce; but nothing was done,

because they could not agree wdiether they should meet on

Scottish or English gi"ound. The same year he w.as, with the

earl of Argyle, employed against the Island chiefs, having

been appointed lieutenant over the north isles, when he de-
j

clared that he undertook the expedition upon his own expen-
j

ses, from a desire to forward the king's service, and to pacify

the country, and that he expected no remuneration unless his \

endeavours were successful. The princlp.al chiefs having

given in their .submission, the insurrection in the isles was

suppressed in the sunmicr of 1531. Soon after, the earl of
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Argyle presented a complaint to the secret council, against

Alexander of Isla, which he did not appear to sustain, but

proceeded again to the Isles, in concert with the earl of

Moray, for which he was summoned before the king, and im-

prisoned, while Jloray's conduct on the occasion seems to

have given the king great dissatisfaction, if we may judge

from an original letter in the State Paper office, dated New-
castle, 27th December 1531, from the earl of Northumber-

land to Henry VIII., which alludes to "the sore imprison-

ment of the earl of Argyle, and the little estimation of the

earl of Mnrray," by the king of Scots.

In 1534, the earl of Moray and Lord Erskine, with the

bishop of Aberdeen and one Robert Reid, were sent on an

embassy to France, to negotiate the marriage of James V.

with a French princess. The earl married Lady Elizabeth

Campbell, only daughter of Colin, third earl of Argyle, and

had a daughter. Lady Maiy Stewart, wife of John, mas-

ter of Buchan. Dying, without issue male, 14th June 1544,

the earldom reverted to the crown, and was conferred on

George, fourth earl of Huntly, high-chancellor of Scotland,

his heirs and assignees, by charter, dated 13th February

1549. The grant, however, was recalled in 1554. (See vol.

ii. p. 519.)

The earldom of Moray was next bestowed, in 1562, by

Queen Mary, on her half-brother. Lord James Stewart, natu-

ral son of James V., and afterwards regent of Scotland, as-

sassinated by Hamilton of Bothwellhaugh at Linlithgow in

1570. For a memoir of the regent Moray, see Stuart,

James, Earl of Moray. He held his titles by a variety of

gi'ants, which occasioned perplexity respecting their inherit-

ance. In February 1562 he obtained the charter of the

earldom. In January 1564 he had another charter, limiting

the succession to heirs male ; in June 1566 a third charter

was granted to him, throwing open the succession to his

heirs general, and in 1567 he obtained from parliament a

ratification of the charter of 1563, again limiting the succes-

sion to his heirs male. He married Lady Ann Keith, daugh-

ter of William, fourth earl Marischal, afterwards countess of

Argyle, and had by her two daughters, Lady Elizabeth,

countess of Moray, and Lady Margaret, afterwards countess

of Errol.

In 1580, James Stuart, eldest son of Lord Doune, and lin-

eally descended from Robert Stuart, duke of Albany, gover-

nor of Scotland from 1389 to 1419, received from James VI.

the ward and marriage of the two daughters of the regent

Moray, and a few days thereafter he married the elder, Lady

Elizabeth, and assumed the title of earl of Moray. Thus, on

both sides, the first of each that branched from the royal

family were regents of Scotland.

Sir James Stewart of Beith, father of Lord Doune, was the

third son of Andrew, Lord Avandale, (see vol. i. p. 170).

He was gentleman of the bedchamber to James V., and lieu-

tenant of his guards. That sovereign also granted him the

custody of Doune castle in Menteith, which afterwards came

into the possession of his son. He was killed at Dunblane

at Whitsunday 1547, by the Edmonstones of Duntreath, in

resentment for the office of steward of Menteith, formerly in

their family, h.iving been confeired on him.

His son. Sir James Stewart, Lord Doune, obtained the ab-

bey of St. Colme in commendam. He early joined the Refor-

mation, and was one of the lords of the articles in the Estates

of August 1560, when the popish religion was overturned.

In 1501 he was sent to England to demand a safe-conduct

from Elizabeth for Queen ^L^ry, then about to return to

Scotland, and, in the end of the same year, was despatched

as ambassador to France. He was knighted when Lord

Darnley was created earl of Ross, 15th May 1565, and ap-

pears to have been concerned in the murder of Rizzio, as,

among others, he was, by act of privy council 19th March

1566, ordered to be summoned to compear and answer under

pain of rebellion, &c. He joined the association against

Mary and Bothwell in June 1567, and attended the corona-

tion of .Tames VI., but on the escape of Mary from Lochleven

castle in the following year, he went over to her side, and

was in the castle of Edinburgli with the queen's party in Au-
gust 1570, when his castle of Doune, a place of prodigious

size and strength, was rendered without slaughter to the

regent Lennox. Of this celebrated stronghold, Grose has

given a view. Several modern views of it have also been

painted by Stevenson and others. Appointed a privy coun-

cillor by James VI., 11th November 1579, he was created

Lord Doune, 24th November 1581. He was collector-general

of his majesty's revenues, and on 23d January 1583, was ad-

mitted an extraordinaiy lord of session, an office which he

held for three years. He died 20th January 1590. By his

wife. Lady Elizabeth Campbell, eldest daughter of the fourth

earl of Argyle, he had, with two daughters, two sons, James,

called " the bonny earl of Moray," and Henry, Lord St.

Colme, (see St. Coljie, Lord).

The elder son, James Stuart, as the royal surname was

usually spelled after Queen Mary's return from France, was

the husband of Lady Elizabeth, the elder daughter of the re-

gent Moray. As his claim to the earldom was doubtful, a

charter was given to him in 1592 by James VI. and the

Scottish Estates, ratifying to his son all the charters granted

to the regent and the Lady Elizabeth. This, as it confirmed

both what declared the succession general, and what limited

it to heirs male, rendered the entire principle of the family

succession inexplicable. The eai-1, therefore, lost no time in

obtaining an entirely new charter to himself and his heirs

male. Deemed the handsomest man of his time in Scotland,

he is known in history and in song as " the bonny earl of

Moray." His personal attractions and accomplishments are

said to h.ave made a deep impression on the heart of the

young queen, Anne of Denmark, Goon after her coming to

Scotland
;
according to the old ballad :

" He was a braw gallant,

And he pl.ayed at the gluve

;

And the bonny earl of Moray

Oh ! he was the queen's luve."

Some commendations of his beauty, imprudently but no

doubt innocently enough made by her majesty in the king's

hearing, as to the earl's being " a proper and gallant man,"

excited his jealousy, and he granted a commission to the earl

of Huntly, to bring Jloray to his presence. Between these

noblemen a deadly feud existed, the earl of Jloray having in

1589 joined the combination against Huntly, (see vol. ii. p.

522). On the pretence that the earl of Moray had given

harbour to the turbulent earl of Bothwell, Huntly, on 7th

February 1592, beset his castle of Donibristle in Fife, and

summoned him to surrender. A gun being fired from the

castle, which mortally wounded one of the Gordons, Huntly's

men set fire to the house. Dunbar, sheriff" of Jloray, wlio

was with the earl at the time, anxious to save him, said to

him, " Let us not stay to be burned in the flaming house.

I will go out first, and the Gordons, taking me for your lord-

ship, will kill me, while you escape in the confusion." Ha

accordingly rushed out, and was at once slain. Moray fol-

lowed, and fled towards the rocks on the sea-shore, but the
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Bilken tassels attached to liis skullcap or helmet having

caught fire, as he ran out through the flames, betrayed liiui

to his enemies. He was pursued by Sir Thomas Gordon of

Cluny, whose brother had been slain at Darnaway two years

previously, and Gordon of Gight, and mortally wounded.

Having been stabbed in the face, some s.ay by Iluntly him-

self, with his last breath he exclaimed, " You h.ive spoiled a

better face than your own."

" Oh ! lang will his lady

Look ower the castle Doune,

Ere she see the carl of Murray

Come sounding through the toun."

Huntly departed for the north, and took refuge in the castle

of Ravenscraig, belonging to Lord Sinclair, who told him,

with a mi.\ture of Scottish caution and hospitality, that he

"was welcome to come in, but would have been twice .is

welcome to have passed by." The countess dowager of Mo-

ray brought the dead bodies of her son and the sheriff of

Moray in litters to Leith, to be buried in the aisle of St. Giles'

church at Edinburgh, in the Good Regent's tomb. She

caused her son's picture to be drawn as he lay dead, and pre-

sented it to the king " in a fyne lane cloth," with lamenta-

tions, and earnest cries for justice ; but as Huntly was a

favourite at court and personally liked by the king, her erics

were little regarded. Tumults took place among the people,

not only in tbe capital but in other p.arts of the kingdom, on

account of the murder, which obliged the king to cancel tlie

commission he had given to Huntly. That nobleman was

summoned, at tlie instance of Lord St. Colme, the brother of

the murdered earl, to stand his trial. He accordingly sur-

rendered at Edinburgh, and on the 12th March was commit-

ted a prisoner to the castle of Blackness. On the 18th a

proclamation was is.sued by the king, prohibiting the young

earl of Moray from pursuing him for his father's slaughter,

in respect that he was warded in Blackness castle, and will-

ing to abide a trial by his peers, s.aying that he did nothing

but by his majesty's commission. On giving sufficient sure-

ty, however, that he would appear and stand trial, on re-

ceiving six days' notice, he was released by the king on the

20tli of the same month.

The feud that subsisted between the families of Huntly

and Moray originated in their riv.al claims to the earldom of

Moray, which had been held by Huntly's grandfather, previ-

ously to being conferred on the regent Moray, and there can

be no doubt that the chancellor Maitland, and even the king

himself, were both concerned in the death of " the bonny

earl." With three daughters, the latter had two sons, James,

second earl of Moray, his father being reckoned the first in

the present line of succession, and the Hon. Sir Francis Stu-

art, knight of the Bath, one of the members of the celebrated

Mermaid club, founded by Sir Walter Raleigh, to which

Shakspere, Ben .Jonson, Be.iumont and Fletcher, and other

poets, also belonged.

James, second earl, was in 1601, by the special mediation

and appointment of King James VL, reconciled to the mur-

derer of his father, who, two years before, had been created

marquis of Huntly, in testimony of which he married Lady

Anne Gordon, the marquis' d.aughter. He was one of the

train of nobles who accompanied the king to London, on his

accession to the English throne in 1G0.3, and on 17th April

Ifill, he obtained a new investiture of tlie e.arldom of Mor.ay,

to liimself and the heirs m.ile of his body, whom failing, to

Sir Francis, his brother, with the same limitation.

In 1G24 he was engaged in suppressing a formidable in-

surrection of the clan Chattan against him, an account of

which has been given under the head of Macintosh (see

vol. ii. p. 733). He was one of the chief mourners at the

funeral of his father-in-law, the marquis of Huntly, 30th

.'August, 1C3G. He himself died at his seat of Damawav, or,

more correctly, Taniaway, in Elginshire, Gth August 1G38.

His son, James, third earl, took no part in the civil wars,

though a royalist, .and died 4th March 1G53. By his coun-

tess. Lady Margaret Home, elder daughter of the first earl of

Home, he had, with four daughters, four sons, namely, 1.

James, Lord Doune, who died before his father, unmarried;

2. Alexander, fourth earl; 3. The Hon. Francis Stuart of

Culalay, who died unmarried ; and 4. The Hon. Archib.ald

Stuart of Dunearn, Fifcshire.

Alexander, fourth earl, was, by Cromwell's act of grace

and indemnity 1G.54, fined £3,500, for his loy.altv. He was

admitted justice-general 1st June 1675
;
appointed a com-

missioner of the Treasury, 27th September 1G78; nominated

an extraordinary lord of session 17th July 1680, .ind on 2d

November the same year, succeeded the duke of Lauderdale

as sccret.ary of state. Entering readily into the designs of

James VII., he was constituted lord-high-commissioner to

the Estates in 1686, when it was attempted to obtain tolera-

tion for the Roman Catholics, and in 1687 he was made a

knight of the Thistle. At the Revolution the earl was de-

prived of all his offices, and retiring to his castle of Donibris-

tle, on the northern shore of the Forth, he resided quietly

there till his death, 1st November 1700. B}' his countess,

Emilia, daughter of Sir William Balfour of Pitcullo, heuten-

ant of the Tower of London, he had four sons: 1st, James,

Lord Donne, who predeceased his father; 2d, Charles, fifth

e.arl, who was created a baronet of Nova Scotia, 23d Septem-

ber 1681, and died, without issue, 7th October 1735, in his

76th year; 3d, Hon. John Scott, who died November 9th

;

and 4th, Francis, sixth earl. The latter was one of those

who were summoned on suspicion of disaffection during the

rebellion of 1715. He held the c.arldom only four years, dy-

ing 11th December 1739, in liis 6Gth year.

His eldest son, James, seventh earl of Jforay, bom about

1708, was made a knight of the Thistle in 1741. The same

year he was elected one of the sixteen Scots representative

peers, and .afterwards rechosen three times. He died 5th

July 1767, in his 59th year. Under the act of 1747, abol-

ishing the heritable jurisdictions in Scotland, he received in

all £4,200, in full of his claim of £14,000, namely, for the

sheriffship of iMoray, £3,000, and for the stewartry of Men-

teith, £1,200.

His son, Francis, 8th earl, born Jan. 11, 1737, made exten-

sive improvements on his estates. In 1767 and 1768 he

pl.anted at D.arnaway, Doune, and Donibristle, upwards of 13

millions of trees, of which 1,449,660 were oaks. At the gen-

eral election of 1784 and in 1790, he was chosen a Scots re-

presentative peer, and on May 28, 1796, was created a Brit-

ish peer by the title of Baron Stuart of Castle Stuart, in the

countv of Inverness, to himself and the heirs male of his

body.' He died Aug. 28, 1810, aged 74. With 4 daughters,

he had 5 sons. Tlie two eldest sons died young.

Francis, the 3d son, became 9th earl. Born at Edinburgh

Feb. 2, 1771, he died Jan. 10, 1848. He raised an inde-

pendent company of foot, which was disbanded in 1791. He

was twice man-ied, 1st, to Lucy, 2d daughter of M.Tjor-gen.

John Scott of Balcomie, Fifeshire, JI.P. ; .and, 2dly, to his

cousin, Margaret Jane, d.aughter of Sir Philip .Ainslie, knight

of Pilton, Mid Lothian, By the former he had two sons,

Fr.incis, Lord Doune, born in 1795; and the Hon. Jidin

Stuart. By the latter he had 4 sons and 4 daughters.
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Francis, 10th earl, born Nov. 7, 179o, died unmarried May

6, 18o9, when his brother, the Hon. John Stuart of Borland,

born January 25, 1797, a captain in the army, succeeded as

lull earl. His surviving brotliers' names are Jlon. Archibald

George, born in 1810, and Hon. George, born in 18 U.

MoKAY, a surname, originally Murreff, now Murray,
wliich see. The acknowledged chiel'tainship of the great

family of this name is vested in Moray-Stirling of Abercair-

ny, and Ardoch, both in Perthshire, descended from one

Freskine, a Fleming, who settled in Scotland in the reign of

David I. (1122—1153), and acquired from that monarch the

lands of Strathbrock in Linlithgowshire, and of DufFus in

Moray. In 1158 he was succeeded by his elder son, William.

His younger son, Hugh, was the ancestor of the earls of

Sutherland, (see Sutherland, Earl of). William's elder

son, also called William, succeeded his father in 1200. He
assumed the name of William de Moravia, having extensive

estates and great local influence in the province of Moray.

He married the daughter and heiress of David de Oiifard,

son of Walter de Oiifard, justiciary of Lothian, who died in

1242, and acquired with her the lands of Bothwell and Dram-
sargard, in Lanarkshire, and Smailholm in Berwickshire.

Drumsargard, anciently Drumshargat, is now called Cambus-

lang, and forms a part of the entailed estate of the duke of

Hamilton. Betides Sir Walter, his heir, he had several sons,

who, says Chalmers, "propagated the name of Moray, by

founding other houses, one of which was the Murrays of Tul-

libardine, now represented by the duke of Athol."' Sir Wal-

ter succeeded in 1226 to the family estates, and was the first

of the name designated of Bothwell. He died in 1284. He
had married a daughter of Malcolm, earl of Fife, a marriage

which enabled his descendant in the fifth degree to plead the

privileges of that family. His elder son, Sir William de Mo-

ravia, dominns de Bothwell, was, by Alexander IIL, appoint-

ed liereditariiis panitarius Scotice, an office similar to that of

the gi-eat master of the household in modern times. He was

one of the magnates of Scotland who were summoned to

Berwick as an auditor of the claims to the crown of Bruce

and Baliol. He died without issue in 1293.

His brother, Sir Andrew Moray of Bothwell, the celebrated

patriot, succeeded him. He was one of the first to join Wal-

lace, when he reared the standard of national independence.

Among the barons who swore fealty to Edward L in 1292

and 129G, whose names appear in the Ragman Roll, there

are no less than 17 named Jloray, MuiTcfF, or Moravia. But

Sir Andrew Moray of Bothwell is not foumi amongst them.

Of all the barons of Scotland, he and Sir William Wallace

form the exceptions. There is an Andrew Moray in the roll,

but that name was a common one at that time, and the

statement in Douglas' Peerage that it was the lord of Both-

well, is a mistake. In 1297, when Wallace was basely de-

serted by the leaders of the Scots at Irvine, Sir Andrew Mo-

ray alone remained faithful to him. He fell at the battle of

Stirling, 13th September that year, being the only person of

distinction slain on the Scottish side. This was the most

complete victory which Wallace ever gained in a regularly

fought field, yet, such was his modesty that he allowed the

name of Sir Andrew Moray to stand before his own as the

leader of the Scottish army. By his wife, a daughter of Sir

John Cumyn, lord of Badenoch, the lord of Bothwell had

two sons, Sir Andrew, his successor, and Sir William Moray

of Drumsargard. from whom the Jlorays of Abercairny are

lineally descended.

Sir Andrew Moray of Bothwell, the elder son, was, when

very young, joined in command with Sir William Wallace,

(^llailes' Annals, vol. ii. p. 212,) when he iuv.aded England,

soon after the battle of Stirling, and his name takes prece-

dence of Wallace's in the protection granted to the canons of

Hexham, in Northumberland, by which the priory and con-

vent were admitted under the peace of the king of Scotland,

and all persons prohibited, on pain of death, from doing them

injury. Hemingford has inserted in his history a copy of

this remarkable document, which is still extant, and is dated

Hexham, 8th Noveujber 1297.

Sir Andrew Moray afterwards joined the stand.-ird of

Bruce, and adhered to him under every change of fortune.

His faithful services were rewarded by his receiving in mar-

riage, in 132G, in the abbey of Canibuskenneth, the king's

sister, the Lady Christian Bruce, widow of Gratney earl of

Mar and of Sir Christopher Seton. The lordship of Both-

well had by Edw.ard I. been given to Aymer de Yallence,

earl of Pembroke, whom he had appointed his governor of

the south part of Scotland, but upon his forfeiture it was re-

stored by Robert the Bruce to Sir Andrew Jloray. After the

fatal battle of Duplin, 12th Au;;ust 1332, and the coronation

of Edward Baliol as king at Scone, on the 24th September,

Brace's party chose Sir Andrew Moray regent of the king-

dom. One of his first acts was to send the young king, -Da-

viil 11., and his queen, for safety to France. Early in the

following year he attempted to surprise Baliol in Roxburgh

castle, but was unfortunately taken prisoner. One of his

soldiers, named Ralph Golding, having advanced before his

companions, was thrown to the ground. The regent gener-

ously attempted to rescue him, but not being promptly sup-

ported by his followers, he fell into the power of his enemies.

Disdidning to surrender to Baliol, he cried out, " I yield to

the king of England; conduct me to him." He was

conveyed to Edward at Durham, and detained in close

custody, but, the following year, he either escaped, or

was set at liberty. His return to Scotland infused new spirit

into the national party, and he was even joined by some of

the English malcontents. Marchijig into Buchan, at the

head of a considerable force, he laid siege to the castle of

Dnndarg, then held by Henry de Beaumont, one of Baliol's

adherents, whom he compelled to capitulate.

In 1335, wlien Cumyn, carl of Athol, whom the English

faction had made governor of Scotland under Baliol, was be-

sieging the castle of Kildrunnnie, which was then under the

charge of Lady Christian Bruce, the wife of Sir Andrew

l\Iorav, he was attacked by the latter and others of the

loyal nobility, defeated and slain, oOth September that year.

Sir Andrew Moray was, thereafter, at a meeting of the

Instates held at Dunfermline, re-elected regent.

In the summer of 133G, Edw[ird IIL again invaded Scot-

land, .and wasted the country wherever he went, when the

Scots, remembering the lessons of the good king Robert, had

recourse to a sort of guerilla warfare, taking refuge in forests

and morasses, where the English could not follow them. On

Edward's departure. Sir Andrew Moray issued from his fast-

nes.ses, and laid siege to the castle of Stirling. Edward has-

tened to its relief, when the regent retiring to the north,

made liimself master of the castle of Dunnottar, in Kincar-

dineshire, which Edward had refortified in his progress

through Scotland. He also took the castles of Laurieston, in

the same county, and Kinclaven, in Perthshire, and during

the following winter, he harassed the Mearns and Angus.

The tower of Falkland he likewise wrested from the English,

and in Febraary 1337, assisted by the earls of Fife and March,

he got possession, after a siege of three weeks, of both the

town and castle of St. Andrews. In this siege he is said to

have employed very powerful battering machines, from some
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of wliicli stones weigliing 200 pounds were tlirown at tlie

walls. Kullowing the jjliin of tlie f;ri':it Brnce, Mor;iy en-

tirely razed and destroyed these castles. At the .same time

he besieged the castle of Cupar, which was defended liy Wil-

liam Bulloch, a warlike ecclesiastic, whom lialiol, the vassal

king, had created chamherlain of Scotl.uid .aiid governor of

the c.-istles of St. Andrews and Cnpar. Findinj; it impossible

to make any impression on this stroni; fortress, the regent

was obliged to raise the siege. In March he took his own

castle of liothwell, and attempted to reduce the castle of

Edinburgh, hut did not succeed. He subdued, however, the

whole of Lothian, and invaded Cumberland. In 1.138 Sir

Andrew Moray, worn out with the fatigues of the constant

warfare in which he had been eng.-iged, died at his castle of

Avoch in Koss, respected and hiuiented by all true Scotsmen,

and was buried in the abbey of Dunfermline, where Bruce

and liandolph had been already interred. He had two sons,

John Morav, loril of Hothwell, .and panetorinm Scntliv, who

died ill i;!52, without issue, and 'I'honias, who succeeded his

brother.

In l.'3.')I, Thomas Moray, who, the iidlowing ye.ar, became

lord of Bothwell, w.as one of the seven hostages sent to Eng-

land, when David II., then a prisoner, was permitted to visit

his dominions. In LIST lie was one of the commissioners

appointed to treat with the English for David's release. He

was also one of the eight gi'eat lords of whom three were to

place themselves in the hands of the English, in security of

the conditions being fulfilled on which the Scots monarch

was liberated. He accordingly went to England, and died of

the plague in London about Michaelmas 13GL He left an

onlv child. Je.an, liis sole heiress, who married Archibald the

Griin, lord of GalhiW.'iy and third earl of Douglas.

Tlio Abercairiiy family are lineally descended from Wil-

liam, second son of the patriot. Sir Andrew Moray of Both-

well, and younger brother of the regent of the same name.

Erom his uncle and godfather he got the lands .and b.-irnny of

Drumsargard, part of the barony of Bothwell. In a letter to

King Edward I., dated in 1290, and signed by a gre.at num-

ber of the Scots nobility, concerning a marriage between the

' >Laiden of Norway,' the infant queen of Scotland, and Prince

Edward of England, William de Jloretf de Drumsargard is

one, (^Ri/iiier's Ftvdera, vol. ii. p. 471). His name appears

in the Ragman Roll, as having sworn fealty to Edward I. in

129G. He died .about 1300, and was succeeded by his son,

Sir John Moray de Drumsarg.ard, a personage of great power

and authority in his time. He married in 1290, the Lady

Mary, only daughter of Malise, earl of Strathern, and with

her acquired the lands of Abercairny and Ogilvy in Perth-

shire. He had three sons: 1. Maurice, created earl of Stratli-

eni, 9th EebruaiT 1333, and slain at the battle of Durh.am in

134(), without issue; 2. Sir Alexander Jloray of Drumsar-

gard, Ogilvy and Abercairny, who carried on the line of the

familv; and, 3. Walter, ancestor of the Murrays of Ogilface,

in Stirlingshire, a family now e.xlinct.

Sir Ale.s.ander Moray, the second son, was retonred heir to

his paternal inheritance in 1349. On the death of Thomas,

last lord of Bothwell, witho\it male issue in 13CG, he claimed

the succession to his honours and estate, being his cousin and

next heir male; but was unable to recover them from the

earl of Douglas, the husb.and of Thomas' daughter. " The

power of the Douglases,'' says the Baronage (p. 100), " being

then very great, he found it impossible for him to get justice

in the ordinary' courts of judicature; yea, their influence was

then so universal that he could not get lawyers to plead his

;ause." He. therel'nre, resigned the lands and biroi,_\ of

Drumsargard to his brother, Walter, and removed to Perth-

shire, where he settled, and where his posterity have resided

ever since. In 1397 he had the misfortune to be concerned

in the slaughter of one Spalding, and was obliged to plead

the jirinlege of the clan Macdnti", as being within the ninth

degree of consanguinity to the noble family of Fife, and the

privilege was granted to him. He died, at an advanced age, in

the beginning of the reign of .lames I. By his wife. Lady

Janet, daughter of William, e:nl of Ross, and sister of Queen

Euphemia, relict of the baron of iMonymusk, he had a son,

Sir Andrew .Moray of Abercairny and Ogilvy. This gentle-

man was knighled by .T.uiies II. He h.ad a .son, Sir Hum-
phry Moray, who succeeded his father in the beginning of

the , reign of James III. His son, Andrew Jloray of Both-

well, married a daughter of Robertson of Strowan, and was

killed at Klodden, with his eldest son, George, in September

1513. This son had married Agnes, a daughter of the illus-

trious house of Linds.MV, and had a son, John Moray, who
.succeeded his grandfather, and was slain at Pinkie in 1547.

By his wife, who was his own cousin. Lady Nicholas Graham,

daughter of William, earl of Montro.se, he had, with six

daughters, three sons.

His eldest son, William Moray of Abercairny, died in

1558, without issue, and was succeeded by his brother, Ro-

bert, who married, in 1560, Catherine, d.iughter of William

Murray of Tullibardine, progenitor of the dukes of Atliol,

and, with two daughters, had si.\ s^ms.

The second son was the celebrated poet and .scholar, Sir

David Moray of Gorthy, keeper of the privy purse to Prince

Henry, eldest son of James VI., " thereunto appointed by his

highnes.s' speci.all dyrreicon .and cnmmandemente." He was

the author of a very rare volume of poems, dedicated to

Prince Henry, entitled ' The Tragicall Death of Sophoni.sba,

written by David JIurray, Scoto-Brittaine, printed by John

Smethwick, in Saint Dunstan's Churchyard, in Fleet Street,

1611;' to which is added, 'Ciclia, containing certain Sonets

and small Poems.' This volume, with a few other pieces by

Sir David, was reprinted in 1823, for the liannatyne Club,

the editor of which reprint erroneously describes the author

as having been tutor to Prince Henry, instead of keeper of

his privy purse. The work itself is so very scarce that, at

the sale of Mr. Finlay's library, an original edition of Sopho-

nisba sold for no less a sum than thirty-two guineas. Among
the commendatory tributes ])refi.\cd, there is one from John

Murray, a cousin of the author, and another by Drayton.

Prince Henry died November 6, 1G12, and Sir David attend-

ed his funeral, sitting in a chariot at the feet of the "lively

effigy," or ligiire, which represented the dead prince lying in

state. What became of him afterwards is not known. We
learn from a rare tract of four pages, preserved in the uni-

versity library at Edinburgh, among the books presented by

Drummond of Hawtliornden, that, in 1G15, he published at

Edinburgh, a paraphrase of the 104th Psalm, and that in

1616 he addressed an elegant sonnet to his friend Drummond.

His poetry is praised for the easiness of the versification, and

the more th.-m customary purity of the language.

The third son. Sir I\Iungo iMoray of Craigie, liad, by his

wife, a daughter of George H.alket of Pitfirrane, two sons,

namely, 1st, Sir Robert Moray, lord-justice-cleik and preei-

dfflit of the Royal Society, of whom a memoir is given under

the head of Muhh.w, in larger type; and 2d, Sir Willi.am

Jloray of Dreghorn, ni.aster of the works to Charles II.

The fourth son was the Rev. .John Murr.ay, at first minister i

at Bortbwick, where lie was for seven years. 'I'lience he was i

translated to Leith, at the earnest suit of the people thereof.
I

He was a great opposer of the bishops, aT:d on '.'oih Eehruai'y I
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1G08, after being four yeai-s and a half in Leith, he was sum-

moned to appear before tlie council, to answer for a sermon

preached by him, on Galatians v. 1, at a synodal assembly at

Edinburgh, as moderator of the preceding synod, wherein he

inveighed against the avarice and ambition of some of the

prelates. This sermon was printed at London without his

knowledge, he having given a written copy of it to a friend

who had requested it of him. He acknowledged it to be his,

but gave in a general answer to the council, which in effect

was a declinature of their jurisdiction, in the form of a sup-

plication that the matter might be remitted to his own eccle-

siastical superiors. Although favourably dismissed from the

council, he was, at the instigation of the bishops, apprehend-

ed on a warrant from the king, and put in ward in the castle

of Edinburgli. After being detained there a year, he was

removed to Newabbey near Dumfries, and ordered to confine

himself within four miles of that place. His charge at Leith

was declared vacant, and Mr. David Lindsay inducted there

in his stead. He remained at Dumfries about a year and a

half, preaching either there or at the kirk of Traquair, on

the other side of the Nith, and then went with his wife and

children to Dysart in Fife, where he remained privately half-

a-year. Removing to Prestonpans, then called Saltpreston,

he resumed his public preaching. In 1617, at the urgent re-

quest of the parishioners and the presbytery, he was placed

at Dunfermline. On the 12th December 1621, he was sum-

moned by the bishop of St. Andrews to appear before the

high commission, and answer for not conforming to the five

acts of Perth, and as he paid no attention to the summons,

though twice cited, he was removed from Dunfermline, and

ordered tp confine himself within the parish of Foulis in

Strathern.

The fifth son. Captain Andrew Mui'ray, and the sixth,

who was named James, both died without issue.

The eldest son. Sir William, succeeded his father in 1594.

Being about the same age as James VI., he was brought up

with him at Stirling, his majesty being then under the charge

of the old countess of Mar, Abercairny's aunt on the mother's

side. He was knighted by the king and appointed master of

the horse to the queen. He lived mostly at court, both in

Scotland and after James' accession to the crown of England,

and died in 1640, leaving his estate greatly encumbered with

debt. He had a son, Robert, who predeceased him in 1628,

and left two sons, William and David.

William, Robert's elder son, succeeded his grandfather, and

was a great loyalist, but died while still a young man, in

1642. His eldest son, Sir Robert Moray of Abercairny, born

in 1636, was, immediately after the Restoration, knighted by

Charles II. He died in April 1704, in his 68th year. Witli

two daughters, he had five sons, namely, 1st, William, his

heir ; 2d, Robert, who was so strongly attached to the inter-

ests of the Stuart family that he waited upon James VII.,

after his expatriation, at St. Germains, and was by him, it is

said, intrusted with some commission of importance to his

adherents in Scotland. 3d, Captain John Moray, who, after

the Revolution, went into the French service, and rose to the

rank of lieutenant-colonel. After the accession of Queen

Anne, he and Captain James Murray, brother of Sir David

Murray of Stanhope, were by the exiled family at St. Ger-

mains, sent over to Scotland, under the protection of her

majesty's indemnity, as a check upon Simon Eraser of Beau-

fort, afterwards the celebrated Lord Lovat, and to sound the

dispositions of the people. He died, unmarried, in 1710.

4th James, and 5th, Maurice, both died young and unmar-

ried.

The eldest son, William Moray of Abercairny, greatly im-

proved his paternal estate, and entirely relieved it from all

the encumbrances upon it. He died in 1735. By his wife,

a daughter of Graham of Balnagowan, he had a son and two

daughters. His only son, James, had, with four daughters,

two sons, Alexander and Charles, who both inherited the

estate. The latter. Colonel Charles Moray of .•\bercaimy,

married the eldest daughter and heiress of Sir William Stir-

ling, baronet of Ardoch, and died in 1810. With five daugh-

ters, he had three sons. James, the eldest son, succeeded

him. He was a magistrate and deputy-lieutenant of Perth-

shire; captain, 15tli hussars, and subsequently lieutenant-

colonel of the Perthshire local militia. He died, without

issue, in Decemser 1840, and was succeeded by his brother.

Major William Moray-Stirling of Abercairny and Ardoch.

He married the Hon. Fanny Douglas, daughter of Archibald,

Lord Douglas, and served for a long period in the army. He
was ten years in India, and was severely wounded at Water-

loo. He succeeded his mother in Ardoch, when he assumed

the additional name of Stirling.

jMoRDiNGTON, Lord, a (dormant) title in the peerage of

Scotland, conferred in 1641, on Sir James Douglas, second

son of the tenth earl of Angus. He had married Anne, only

child of Lawrence, fifth Lord Oliphant. This lady claimed

the peerage of Oliph.^nt, but in the court of session in 1633,

it was determined, in presence of Charles I., in favour of the

heir male. The king, however, was pleased to create her

husband a peer by the title of Lord Mordington, 14th No-

vember 1641, with the precedency of Oliphant (1458). He
obtained a grant from the crown of the lands and barony

of Over Mordington in Berwickshire, on 24th August

1634. These lands at one period belonged to the cele-

brated Randolph, earl of Moray, by gift from his uncle, Ro-

bert the Brace, and at the death of John, third earl, passed

to his sister. Black Agnes, countess of Dunbar. They were

given as a dowery with her daughter, Agnes, on her marriage

to Sir James Douglas of Dalkeith, and continued in the pos-

session of his successors, the earls of Morton, till the attain-

der of the regent Morton in June 1581, when they reverted

to the crown. The first Lord Mordington died 11th Februa-

ry 1656.

His son, William, second Lord Mordington, married Eliza-

beth, eldest daughter of Hugh, fifth Lord Sempill, by whom

he had two sons
;
James, third Lord Mordington, and the

Hon. James Douglas. James, third lord, during tlie lifetime

of his father, had a charter, "To James, master of Mording-

toun," of the lands of Nether Mordington, of date 2d August,

1662. His son, George, fourth Lord Mordington, has ob-

tained a place in Walpole's Royal and Noble Authors, (Park's

edition, vol. v. p. 147,) as the author of a work called 'The

great blessing of a monarchical government, when fenced

about with, and bounded by, the laws, and these laws se-

cured, defended and observed by the monarch. Also, that as

a Popish government is inconsistent with the true happiness

of these kingdoms, so great also are the miseries and confu-

sions of anarchy. Jlost humbly dedicated to his majesty by

George Douglas, Lord Mordington.' London, 1724. Two

pieces against a weekly paper, called the Independent Whig,

are also mentioned there as written by his lordship. He

died 10th June 1741. His only son, Charles, went to sea

when young, and did not return till after his father's death.

As he had no landed property, he did not assume the title.

Engaging in the rebellion of 1745, he was taken pisoner,

and tried 11th September 1746, under the designation of

Charles Douglas, Esq. He then pleaded his peerage, which

was objected to by the counsel for the crown ; but on proving
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Lis descent, liis trial was postponed, and himself remanded to

the castle of Carlisle, from whicli lie was soon after released.

On the abolition of the heritable jurisdictions the following

year, he claimed for the privilege of regality over the lands of

Nether Jlordington, £300, which was refused. He died

without issue, and in hini terminated the male line of the

family. His sister, Mary, assumed the title of Baroness

Mordington, and died 22d July 1791, without issue. Her

husband, William Werner, Esq., an officer of the royal regi-

ment of horse guards, fought at the battles of Dettingen and

Fonteiioy. The peerage of Mordington is represented, it is

said, by the Baroness Seni]iill.

MonE, a surname signifying great, from the Gaelic Mbr,

big or large. In Scotland it is variously spelled Mure, Muir,

or Moir. Those of this name and that of Morison cany

three Moors' heads in their annorial bearings, as having some

allusion to their name. See MuKK.

MokkiIjVji, a surname taken from lands in Haddington-

shire, now a parish. The de Moreliams flourished under

Alexander I. and 11., and in the Kagman Roll appears the

name of Thomas de Moreham 2)umee, that is, tlie younger,

as having sworn fealty to Edward I. Sir Reginald More,

lord-grcat-chaniberlain under David II., belonged to this

family. He had sunk the last syllable of his name. Remov-

ing into Stirlingshire, he resided on the north bank of the

Carron, at a place now called Scaithmoor, where he built a

fine house. Ho married one of the coheiresses of the Gra-

hams of Eskdale, with whom he acquired the lands of Aber-

corn in Linlithgowshire, once the possession of Sir John the

Graham, the " fidus Achates" of Wallace. Here his family

resided for some generations, and were known in writs as

the Mores of Abercorn. The sole heiress married Sir Wil-

liam Lindsay of the Byres.

MORISON, TiiOM.vs, a learned pliysiciaii of

the .sixteenth ccntiny, was boni at Aberdeen, and

studied at tlie university of Montpelier, at wliich

lie is supposed to liave talcen a degree. In 1593

he published at Frankfort a treatise, 'De Mctallo-

rum Causis et Transubstantiatione,' and in 1594

he produced at Edinburgh a work on the Popedom,

entitled ' Papatus
; sen depravataj Religionis Ori-

go et Incrementuni ;' botli dedicated to James

VI. The latter volume, which i.-; now exceed-

ingly rare, is said to be highly prized by the

learned for its singuhir erudition. He was the

friend of Lord Bacon, with whom, as well as with

his brother, IMr. Anthony Bacon, he maintained a

correspondence. We are also informed that he was

employed to furnish intelligence from Scotland

to the earl of Essex. From a letter addressed to

him by Bacon, dated " from his chambers in Gray's

Inn," in 1603, soliciting his influence with the

king in his favour, it nppears that Dr. Morison's

death must have taken })lace after that year,

though Dempster places it in IGOl.

MORISON, Robert, M.D., an eminent physi-

cian and botanist of tlie 17th century, was born at

Aberdeen in 1620, and received his education at

Marischal college in that city. In June 1639, on

the breaking out of the civil wars in Scotland, he

signalized his zeal in the cause of the king, by ap-

pearing in arms at the battle of the Bridge of Dee,

where he was dangerously wounded in the head.

Soon after his recovery his attachment to the roy-

al cause obliged him to retire to France, when,

fixing his residence at Paris, he applied assidu-

ously to the study of botany and anatomy, and

took the degree of M.D. at Angers in 1648.

His reputation as a botanist induced the duke of

Orleans to apjioint him, in 1650, to the charge of

the royal gardens at Blois, of tiie phmts in which

he afterwards published an accurate catalogue,

under the title of ' Hortus Regius Blesensis.'

On the Restoration he removed to London, and

was appointed by the king his pliysician and royal

professor of botan}', with a salnry of £200. In

1669 he published his 'Prailudium Botanicum,'

and soon after he was elected professor of botany

in the university of Oxford. In 1672 appeared his

' Plantarum Uinbelliferarum Distributio Nova,' the

substance of wliich is incorporated in the 'Plan-

tarum Historia,' 2 volumes, 1678. A 3d was added

after the author's death by Jacob Bobart. Dr.

Morison died at London, Nov. 9, 1683, aged 63.

MoKTLMiSR, the surn.ime of an ancient potent family of

Norman descent, who possessed the lands of Aberdour in

Fife. At an early period these lands belonged to a family of

the name of Vetere-Ponte or Vipont, a surname still known

in Scotland, under the latter form, though novr very rare.

This family ended in an heir female, Anicea, only daughter

and sole heiress of 'Johannes dominus de Vetere-ponte or Vy-

pont, anno 2 regni Davidls I.' She married, in 1126, Alanus

lie Mortuo-Mari or Mortimer, who thereby acquired right to

her lands The name, though fancifully supposed to have

heen fust borne by a crusader, and said to be derived from

" De Mortuo Mari." "from the Dead Sea," was taken from

a place in Normandy, the great ancestor of the family being

a relative by blood of William the Conqueror. In the Register

of the abbey of St. Colme there is the following entry in

Latin :
' Sir Alan Mortimer, lord of .\berdour, gave the half

of the lands of his town of Aberdour to God and the monks

of St. Colme's Isle for the benefit of a burial-pl.ice to him-

self and his posterity, in the church of their monastery."

Sibbald (llUlor;/ of Fife, page 92, edition 180.3) says, " It is

rejiortcd that .Alain the founder being dead, the monks car-

rying his corpse in a coffin of lead, by barge, in the night-

time, to be interred within their church, some wicked monks

did throw the samen in a great deep, bet\vi.\t the land nnd the

monastery, wliich t» this day by the neighbouring fishermen

and salters is called Mortimer's Deep." With the Mortimer
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fainilv tlie lands of Aberdour conliimed for more tlian a

century, wlicn tliey came to the ancestors of tlie earl of Mor-

ton, tlie present proprietor.

Morton, earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred I)_v James II. Hth March 1458, on James Douglas of

Dalkeith, descended from Sir John Douglas, second son of

Sir James de Douglas, of Loudon, who was assassinated by

order of Sir David Barclay of Brechin in 1350, and whose

eldest son. Sir James Douglas, had, in 1351, a grant of tlie

barony of Aherdmir in File, from his uncle, William de Dou-

glas, lord of Liddisdale, and some time earl of Athol, (see vol.

i. p. 1G3). The remote ancestor of the noble family of Mor-

ton was Andrew, second son of Archibald de Douglas, the

second of that illustrious race who bore the name of Douglas.

Tlie title is taken from the lands of Jlortoune in the parish

of East Calder, Mid Lothian, anciently called Calder-Clere

;

having been at one time the property of the family of de CIcre.

.James, first earl of Jlorton, had a safe-conduct into Eng-

land, as one of the ambassadors from Scotland, 14th June

1491, and ng.ain, 28th July 1494. He mnrried Johanna, the

widowed countess of Angus, daughter of King James L, and,

with two daughters, had a son, John, second earl.

The second earl of Morton was present in the estates of

parliament when the settlements on the princess Margaret of

England by James IV. were confirmed, loth May 1504. He

was succeeded by his son, James, third earl, who received a

safe-con."iuct Gth Februaiy 151G, to go to England. The Dou-

glases of Loudon o!>tained, in early times, a baronial jurisdic-

tion over many lands, in several shires, which was called the

regality of Dalkeith. In 1541, James, third earl of Morton,

obtained a charter from James V., confirming this regality. On

the .abolition of the heritable jurisdictions in Scotland in 1747,

the duke of Buccleuch, to whom this regality then belonged,

received £3.400 for it. The earl of Morton married Cathe-

rine, natural daughter of James IV., by JIargaret Boy I, and

had 3 daughters; Lady Margaret, married to the earl of Arrari,

duke of Chatelherault, regent of Scotland
;
Lady Beatrix,

wife of Eobert, fifth Lord Maxwell ; and Lady Elizabeth,

wife of James Douglas, second son of Sir George Douglas of

Pittendreich, (see vol. ii. p. 47,) the brother of the sixth earl

I
of Angus. Having no male issue, he made an entail of his

estates and honours in favour of Sir Robert Douglas of Loch-

leven, who had a charter of the same, 17th October 1540.

Afterwards, however, he altered the destination, and a char-

ter of the lands and earldom was granted in favour of his

son-in-law, James Douglas, and the Lady Elizabeth, his

wife, and the longest liver, in conjunct fee, and the heirs

male to be procreated between them, the remainder to others

therein mentioned, and the heirs male of their bodies respec-

tively, which was conlh-med by royal charter, 22d April 1543.

The third earl died in 155.3.

His son-in-law, James Douglas, became fourth earl of

Morton, in terms of the above-mentioned settlement, and

was the famous regent Jlorton, of whom a memoir is given

in vol. ii. p. 53, in larger type. He left no lawful issue, al-

though he had several natural children. On his execution in

1581, his estates and titles became forfeited to the crown.

John, 7th Lord Maxwell, grandson of the 3d earl, obtained,

in right of his mother, a new charter of the earldom of .Morton,

June 5, l.iSl (see p. 120 of tliis volume), and was 5tli earl of

Morton. The attainder being reversed in Jan. 15So, \.tnd

Maxwell had to relinquish the title, which devolved on the

next heir of entail, Archibald, 8tli earl of Angus of the Doug-

las family, (see vol. ii. p. 47). The hitter, 6tli e.arl of Morton,

died, without surviving issue, in 1588. In the superstition of

the times he was suspected to have died by witchcr.ift. This

earl, says Calderwood, (vol. iv. p. G80,) was " more nor anie

of his predecessors, yea, nor .anie of all the erles in the coun-

trie, much beloved of the godlie. The king w.as wont com-

monly to call him ' the ministers' king.' He gave a proof of I

his religiim and pietie at his last and greatest extremitie

;

for liowbeit he w.as assured he was bewitched, yitt refused he

all helpe by witches, but refen-ed the event to God."
j

On the earl of Anpis' death. Sir William Douglas of Loch-

leven became 7th earl of Jlortoii. He was descended
|

from Sir Henry Douglas of Lugton, who, in the reign of
[

liobert I L, obtained a grant of the c.i.stle of Locldeven, in

the neighbourhood of Kinross, with lands on the shore of the

lake. He was the third .son of Sir .Tohn Douglas of Dalkeith,

by Agnes Monfode. In 15GG, Sir William Douglas of Loch- !

leven, the ne.ar kinsman of the regent Morton, and half- i

brother to the regent Moray, was selected as the jailer of

the unfortunate Queen Maiy when she was imprisoned in

Locldeven castle, IGth .Tune 15G7. .She in.ade her escape, it
j

is well known, on the 2d Jlay 15G8, by means of George
|

Douglas, youngest son of Sir Robert. The sixth earl died 24th
\

September, IGOG. His grandson, William, seventh earl, was

a privy councillor, and one of the gentlemen of the bedcham-

ber both to King James VL and Charles I. On 12th April

1C30, he was constituted high-treasnrer of Scotland, and held

that office till 1G35, when he was appointed captain of the

yeomen of the guard, and besides being made a knight of the
;

Garter, was sworn a member of the English privy council.

In 1641 he was nominated high-chancellor of Scotland, but;

the appointment being opposed in parliament by his own

son-in-law, the famous marquis of Argv'le, the husband of

his second daughter. Lady Margaret Douglas, the king did
j

not persist in it.

On the breaking out of the civil wars, the earl of Morton,

who was then one of the richest noblemen in the kingdom,

advanced large sums for the support of the roy.al cause.
!

Among other estates disposed of for that purpose, the est.ate i

of Dalkeith was in 1G42 sold to the Buccleuch family. On
that account the islands of Orkney and Zetland were, 15th

June 1643, with .all the regalities belonging to them. giMuted

by royal charter in mortgage to the earl, redeemable by the

crown on the payment of £30,000 sterling. In 1G4G, when

diaries I. took refuge with the Scots army at Newcastle, the

earl of Morton went to that town to wait on his majestv.

He .afterwards retired to Orkney, where he died 7tli .'August

1G48, in his GGth year. With five daughters, he had four

sons.

His eldest son, Robert, ninth e.arl, mortgaged the islands

of Orkney and Zetland, to assist Charles, but died towards

the end of the year 1649. His son, William, tenth earl, re-

ceived in 1GG2 a new grant of Orkney and Zetland, which

had been confiscated by Cromwell, not in his own name,

liowever, but in that of the Viscount Grandison, the brother

of his countc-s, in trust for the Morton family. Both this

and the tbrmer grant were contested by the lord-advocate,

and being reduced, these islands were, by act of parliament,

27tli December 1669, annexed for ever to the crown. The

earl died in 1G81, without surviving issne, when the title de-

volved on his uncle, the Hon. Sir .James Douglas of Smith-

field, who was knighted by the earl of Lindsay under the I

royal standard at the Isle of Rhee for his gallant behaviour. '

He was a gentleman of the privy chamber to Charle9 I. i

The 11th earl died in 1G8G. He had, with one daughter,

five sons. The eldest, Charies, Lord -Aberdour, was drowned

at sea on his passage to Holland, unmarried.

The second son, .lames, twelfth carl, supported the Revo-
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Intion, and was a privy councillor to Queen Anne. He was

one of tlie commissioners for tlie Union, wliicli lie zealously

supported in parliament. The same ye.ir (1707) Orkney and

Zetland were placed under liis jurisdiction as their admiral

and hereditary steward and justiciary, having been restored

by act of parliament, to himself and his heirs, in the old

form of mortgage, redeemable by the crown on payment of

£30,000, but .subject to an annual feu d\ity of £.500 to his

lordship. He died unmarried in December 171u.

His brother Robert, thirteenth earl, described as a man of

talent and honour, and well versed in the knowledge of the

antiquities of his country, also died unmarried, in 1730, when

his next brother, George, became the fourteenth earl of Mor-

ton. He was a colonel in the army and M.P. for Kirkwall

in the last parliament of Scotland. He steadily supported

the Union, and was named one of the members of the House

of Commons in the fir.st parliament of Great Britain, Febru-

ary 1707. At the general election of 1715, he was chosen

jVI.P. for Peebles, &o., and in 1722 and 1727, for the county

of Orkney. In May 1733, three years after succeeding to

the earldom, he was appointed vice-admiral of Scotland, and

died at Edinburgh, 4th J.anuary 1738, in his 77th year.

His son, James, loth earl, born at Edinburgh .about 1702,

was a nobleman of abilities and learning. In 1738, after his

accession to the earldom, he was invested with the order of

the Thistle, and in 1739 appointed a lord of the bedchamber.

On 12th May the same year he was elected one of the six-

teen Scots representative peers, and afterwards four times re-

chosen. He was a frequent speaker in the House of Lords,

in which he sat for thirty years. On visiting Orkney in

1739, his lordship had severe contests with Sir J.ames Stew-

art of Rurray, baronet, whicli, in 1740, formed the subjects

of judicial investigation. The earl was assoilzied, and Sir

.Tames, being found guilty, was fined and imprisoned for as-

saulting bis lordship.

In 1742, though his revenues from Orkney and Zetland

were computed to amount to £3,000 sterling a-year, on the

ground that they did not yield a rental equal to the interest

of the mortgage, the earl contrived to obtain an act of par-

liament vesting them irredeemably in himself and liis heirs.

He also got a temporary lease of the rents of the bishopric of

Orkney, and a donation of the rights of admiralty, which, in

these islands, had .alw.ays been considered as distinct from

those of the admiralty of Scotland. Being at Paris in 1746,

he was confined three months in the Bastile. His countess

(Agatha, dauglitcr and heiress of James Halyburton of Pit-

cur) and child, and a sister of the countess, were also impris-

oned, but in separate apartments. The cause of this impris-

onment was never known. He retunied to England, 3d M.ay

1747, and on tlie .abolition of the heritable jurisdictions the

same year, he was compensated for the office of steward and

justiciary of Orkney and Zetland with the sum of £7,147.

In 17G0 his lordship was appointed lord -clerk-register of

Scotland. He established the Edinburgh Philosophical Soci-

ety, and on 27th March 17G4, was elected president of the

Ivoyal Society of London. In 1766, .after being harassed

with complaints, quaiTcls. and lawsuits, on account of the

manner in which the rents, feu-duties, and services were ex-

acted, lie sold his estates in Orkney and Zetland, for £60,000,

to Sir Lawrence Dundas, grandfather of the first e.arl of Zet-

i.uid. His lordship died at Chiswick, October 12th, 1768,

leaving a distinguished reputation for scientific .attainments

and philosophical knowledge. At the time of his death he

was one o( the trustees of the British Museum, and a com-

missioner of annexed estates. He was twice married. By
his first countess, Agatha H.alyburton, he had five sons and

III.

two daughters. By his second countess, Bridget, eldest

daughter of Sir John Heathcote of Normanton, county of

Rutland, baronet, he li.ad a son, the Hon. John Douglas, an

officer in the amy, .and a daughter. Lady Bridget I'.ouverie,

she having married the .second son of the first earl of Radnor.

Charles, Lord Abcrdour, his eldest son, having died young,

Sholto diaries, the second son, born in 1732, .also in his father's

lifetime styled Lord Aberdour, became 16th earl of Morton.

In 1759 he niised a corps of light dragoons, of which he was

made captain-commandant. He was one of the lords of po-

lice at the accession of George III., and held that otBce till

his death, which took pbace in Sicily, 25th September 1774,

aged 42. He had married .at Edinburgh, 19th November

1758, Katherine, fourth daughter of the Hon. John Hamil-

ton, second son of the sixth earl of Haddington, and had two

sons, George, seventeenth earl, and the Hon. H.amiIton Doug-

las, -who, on the death of Colonel J.ames ILalyburton of Pit-

cur, at Dundee, 9th M.ay 1765, acquired that estate, and

thereafter assumed the addition.al name of Halyburton. He
was a lieutenant in the royal n.avy, .and on oOtli Decembef

1783, he was sent in command of the b.arge of the Assist-

ance, 50 guns, then assisting at the evacuation of New York,

in search of some deserters, when a dreadful storm arising,

on new year's morning, 1784, the barge was discovered lying

on her side on the Jersey shore, and the dead bodies of .all

her crew on their faces in the mud, whence they liad strug-

gled in vain to extricate themselves. The relations of Lieu-

tenant Halyburton, who thus unfortunately died in his 21st

year, erected a monument at Sandyhook to his memoiy and

that of his fellow-sufferers. The estate of Pitcur, in virtue

of the entail under which it was held, devolved on his aunt

Mary, countess of Aboyne, (see vol. ii. p. 414).

George, the elder son, 17th earl of Morton, born April 3,

1761, was in 1784 chosen one of the 16 Scots representative

peers. He was created a baron of Great Britain by the title

of Lord Douglas of Lochleven, Jan. 10, 1791, and appointed

chamberlain of the queen's household in 1792
;
knight of the

Thistle, July 26, 1797. He wiis vice-president of the Royal

Society
;
vice-president and manager of the Royal Institu-

tion ; lord-lieutenant of the county of Fife, and colonel of the

Fifeshire militia. He died July 17, 1827, without issue,

when the Briti-sh title of Lord Douglas of Lochleven, being to

himself and the heirs male of his body, became extinct, and

the Scottish honours devolved on his cousin, George Sbcdto

Douglas, Esq., son of the Hon. John Douglas, 2d son of the

16th carl.

George Shollo, 18th eari, born in London in 1789, was

educated at Trinity college, Cambridge, where he graduated

M..A. in 1810. He was attached to the mission in Spain in

ISU, made secretary of legation at Stockholm, in July 1812,

and elected a representative peer of Scotland in 1830. In

September 1841 he was appointed a lord in waiting to her

majesty, an oiBce which he held till June 1849. Reappoint-

ed in Feb. 1852, he held the s.anie till Dec. of the same year.

In 1843 he w.os appointed lieut.-col. of the Mid Lothian yeo-

manry cavalry, but resigned in 1844. Deputy-lieut. of Mid

Lothian in 1854. He died March 31, 1858. He had mar-

ried in 1817, Frances Theodora, eldest diiughter of Right Hon.

Sir George Hemy Rose, G.C.H. ;
issue, 5 sons .and o drs.

Sholto-Jobn, the eldest son, succeeded as 19tli earl. Bnrn
[

at lieriin, April 13, 1818, he became a lieutenant 11th lins-

s;irs in 1843, but retired in 1844. He succeeded his father

in that ye.ar as lieut.-col. of the Mid Lothian yeomanry cav-

alry, and became lieut.-col. commandant in 1;:52. Married,

1st, Jan. 24, 1844, Helen, diiughter of James Watson of

Saughton, Mid Lothian; issue, Sholto George Watson. Lord

O
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family tlie lands of Abcrdimr continued for more than a

century, when they came to the ancestors of the earl of Mor-

ton, the present proprietor.

JIoRTox, earl of, a title in the peerai^e of Scotland, con-

ferred liy James II. 14th March 1458, on James Douglas of

Dalkeith, descended from Sir Joh.n Douglas, second son of

Sir James de Douglas, of Loudon, who was assassinated by

order of Sir David Barclay of Brechin in 1350, and whose

eldest son, Sir .Tames Douglas, had, in 1351, a grant of the

barony of Aberdour in File, from his uncle, William de Dou-

glas, lord of Liddisdale, and some time earl of Athol, (see vol.

i. p. 1C3). 'I'he remote ancestor of the noble family of Mor-

ton was Andrew, second son of Arcliib.ald de Douglas, tlie

second of that illnstrious race who bore tlie name of Douglas.

The title is taken from the lands of Mortoune in the parish

of East Calder, Mid Lotliian, anciently called Calder-Clere

;

having been at one time the property of the family of de Clere.

James, first earl of Morton, had a safe-conduct into Eng-

land, as one of the ambassadors from Scotland, 14th June

1491, and .ngain, 28th July 1494. He m.irricd Johanna, the

widowed countess of Angus, daughter of King James I., and,

with two daughters, had a son, John, second earl.

The second earl of Morton was present in the est;ites of

parliament when the settlements on the princess Margaret of

England by .Lames IV. were confirmed, 13th May 1504. He

was succeeded by his son, James, third earl, who received a

safe-conduct Gth February 1516, to go to England. The Dou-

glases of Loudon olitained, in early times, a baronial jurisdic-

tion over many lauds, in several shires, which was called the

regality of Dalkeith. In 1541, James, third earl of iMorton,

obtained a charter from James V., confirming this regality. On

the abolition of the heritable jurisdictions in Scotland in 1747,

the duke of Buccleuch, to whom this regality then belonged,

received £3.400 for it. The earl of Morton married Cathe-

rine, natural daughter of James IV., by Margaret Boy i, and

had 3 daughters; Lady Margaret, married to the carl of Arraii,

duke of Chatelherault, regent of Scotland
;
Lady Beatrix,

wife of Robert, fifth Lord Maxwell ; and Lady Elizabeth,

wife of James Douglas, second son of Sir George Douglas of

Pittendreich, (see vol. ii. p. 47,) the brother of the sixth ear!

I
of Angus. Having no male issue, he made an entail of his

estates and honours in favour of Sir Robert Douglas of Loch-

leven, who had a charter of the same, 17Hi October l.i40.

Afterwards, however, he altered the destination, and a char-

ter of the lands and earldom was granted in favour of his

son-in-law, James Douglas, and the Lndy Elizabeth, his

wife, and the longest liver, in conjunct fee, and tlie heirs

male to be procreated between them, the remainder to others

therein mentioned, and the heirs male of their bodies respec-

tively, wliich was conKrmed by royal clia\'ter, 22d April 1543.

The third earl died in 1553.

His son-in-law, James Douglas, became fiiurth e.irl of

Morton, in terms of the above-mentioned settlement, and

was the famous regent Morton, of whom a memoir is given

in vol. ii. p. 53, in larger type. He left no lawful issue, al-

though he had several natural children. On his execution in

1581, his estates and titles became forfeited to the crown.

.John, 7th Lord Maxwell, grandson of the 3d earl, obtained,

in right of his mother, a new charter of tlie earldom of .Morton,

June 5, 1581 (see p. I2G of this volume), and was 5th earl of

Morton. The attainder being reversed in Jan. 15f<5, Lord

Maxwell had to relinquish the title, which devolved on the

next heir of entail, Archibald, Stli earl of Angus of the Doug-

las family, (see vol. ii. p. 47). The latter, Glh e.arl of Morton,

died, without surviving issue, in 1588. In the superstition of

TWELFTH EAlir. OF.

the times he was suspected to have died by witchcr.ift. This

earl, says Calderwood, (vol. iv. p. C80,) was " more nor aiiie

of his predecessors, yea, nor anie of all the erles in the couii-

trie, much beloved of the godlie. The king was wont com-

monly to call him ' the ministers' king.' He gave a proof of
j

his religion and pietie at his last and greatest extremitie ; |

for howbeit he was assured he was bewitched, yitt refused he
|

all helpe by witches, but refen-ed the event to God."
i

On the earl of Angus' death, Sir William Douglas of Loch-

leven became 7th earl of Morton. He was descended
|

from Sir Henry Douglas of Lugton, who, in the reign of i

Robert IL, obtained a grant of the castle of Loclileven, in
'

the neighbourhood of Kinross, with lands on the shore of the
|

lake. He was the third son of Sir .Tolm Douglas of Dalkeith,
i

by Agnes Monfode. In loGfi, Sir William Douglas of Loch- I

leven, the ne.ar kinsman of the regent Morton, and half-

brother to the regent Moray, was selected as the jailer of
'

the unfortunate Queen Jlaiy when she was imprisoned in

Loclileven castle, 16th .Tune 15G7. .She made her escape, il;

j

is well known, on the 2d May 15G8, by means of George
|

Douglas, youngest son of Sir Robert. The sixth earl died 24th
i

September, IGOG. His grandson, William, seventh earl, was

a privy councillor, and one of the gentlemen of the bedcham-

ber both to King James VL and Charles I. On 12th April

1G30, he was constituted higli-tre.-isurer of Scotland, and held

that ofiice till 1635, when he was appointed captain of the

yeomen of the guard, and besides being made a knight of the

Garter, was sworn a member of the English privy council.

In 1G41 he was nominated high-chancellor of Scotland, but

the appointment being opposed in parliament by his own

son-in-law, the famous marquis of Argyle, the husband of

his second daughter, L.ady Margaret Dougla.s, the king did
I

not persist in it.

On the breaking out of the civil wars, the e.arl of Morton,

who was then one of the richest noblemen in the kingdom,

advanced large sums for the support of the royal cause.

Among other est.ates disposed of for that purpose, the estate

of Dalkeitli was in 1642 sold to the Bnccleucli family. On
that account the islands of Orkney and Zetland were, loth

June 1643, with .all the regalities belonging to them, gi-anted

by royal charter in mortgage to the earl, redeemable by the

crown on the payment of £30,000 sterling. In 1G4G, when
Charles I. took refuge with the Scots army at Newcastle, the

earl of Morton went to that town to wait on his majesty.

He afterwards retired to Orkney, where he died 7th August

1648, in his C6th year. With five daughters, ho had four

sons.

His eldest sou, Robert, ninth e.arl, mortgaged the islands

of Orkney and Zetl.and, to assist Charles, but died towards

the end of the year 1649. His snn, William, tenth earl, re-

ceived in 1GG2 a new grant of Orkney and Zetland, which

li.ad been coiifi.scated by Cromwell, not in his own name,

however, but in that of the Viscount Grandison, the brother

of his countess, in trust for the .Morton family. Both this

and the former grant were contested by the lord-advocate,

.and being reduced, these islands were, by act of parliament,

27th December 1669, annexed for ever to the crown. The

earl died in 1G8I, without surviving issue, when the title de-

volved on his uncle, the Hon. Sir J.aiiies Douglas of Smith-

field, who was knighted by the earl of Lindsay under the

royal standard at the Isle of Rhee for his gallant behaviour. !

He was a gentleman of the privy chamber to Charles 1. !

The 11th earl <iied in 1G86. He had, with one daughter, I

five sons. The eldest, Charles, Lord -Aberdour, was drowned
|

at sea on his passage to Holland, unmarried.

The second son, James, twelltli earl, supported the Revo-
j
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Intion, and was a privy councillor to Queen Anne. He was

one of the commissioners for tlie Union, wliicli lie zealously

supported in parliament. The same year (1707) Orkney and

Zetland were placed under his jurisdiction as their admiral

and hereditary steward and justiciary, having been restored

by act of parliament, to himself and his heirs, in the old

form of mortgage, redeemable by the crown on payment of

£30,000, but subject to an annual feu duty of £500 to his

lordship. He died unmarried in December 1715.

His brother Robert, thirteenth earl, described as a man of

talent and honour, and well versed in the knowledge of the

antiquities ot his country, also died unmarried, in 1730, when

his next brother, George, became the fourteentli earl of Mor-

ton. He was a colonel in the army and M.P. for Kirkwall

in the last parliament of Scotland. He steadily supported

the Union, and w.as named one of the members of the House

of Commons in the first parliament of Great Britain, Febni-

ary 1707. At the general election of 1715, he was chosen

iM.P. for Peebles, &c., and in 1722 and 1727, for the county

of Orkney. In May 1733, three years after succeeding to

the earldom, he was appointed vice-admiral of kScotland, and

died at Edinburgh, 4th Janu.ary 1738, in his 77th year.

His son, James, loth earl, born at Ediidmrgh about 1702,

was a nobleman of abilities and leaming. In 1738, after his

accession to the earldom, he was invested ivitli the order of

the Thistle, and in 1739 appointed a lord of the bedchamber.

On 12th May the same year he was elected one of the six-

teen Scots representative peers, and afterwards four times re-

chosen. He was a frequent speaker in the House of Lords,

in which he sat for thirty years. On visiting Orkney in

1739, his lordship had severe contests with Sir James Stew-

art of Burray, baronet, which, in 1740, formed the subjects

of judicial investigation. The earl was assoilzied, and Sir

James, being found guilty, was fined and imprisoned for as-

saulting his lordship.

In 1742, though his revenues from Orkney and Zetland

were computed to amount to £3,000 sterling a-year, on the

ground that they did not yield a rental equal to the interest

of the mortgage, the earl contrived to obtain an act of par-

liament vesting them irredeemably in himself and his heirs.

He also got a temporary lease of the rents of the bishopric of

Orkney, and a donation of the rights of admiralty, which, in

these islands, had always been considered as distinct from

those of the admiralty of Scotland. Being at Paris in 1746,

he was confined three months in the Bastile. His countess

(Agatha, daughter and heiress of James Halyburton of Pit-

cur) and child, and a sister of the countess, were also impris-

oned, but in separate apartments. The cause of this impris-

onment was never known. He returned to England, 3d May
1747, and on the abolition of the herit.able jurisdictions the

same year, he was compensated for the office of steward and

justiciary of Orkney and Zetland with the sum of £7,147.

In 17G0 his lordship was appointed lord-clerk-rogister of

Scotland. He established the Edinburgh Philosophical Soci-

ety, and on 27th March 17C4, was elected president of the

Ivoyal Society of London. In 176G, after being harassed

with complaints, quaiTcls, and lawsuits, on account of the

manner in which the rents, feu-duties, and services were ex-

acted, he sold his estates in Orkney and Zetland, for £60,000,

In Sir L.awrence Dundas, grandfather of the first earl of Zet-

i.-md. His lordship died at Chiswick, October 12th, 1768,

leaving a distinguished reputation for scientific attainments

and philosophical knowledge. At the time of his death he

was one of the trustees of the British Museum, and a com-

mi-ssioner of .annexed estates. He was twice married. By
his first countes.<:, Agstha Halyburton, he had five sons .and

III.

two daughters. By his second countess, Bridget, eldest

daughter of Sir John Heathcote of Normanton, county of

Rutland, baronet, he h.ad a son, the Hon. John Dougl.as, .an

officer in the anny, and a daughter, Lady Bridget Bouverie,

she having married the second son of the first earl of Radnor.

Charles, Lord Aberdour, his eldest son, having died young,

Sholto Charles, the second son, born in 1732, .also in his father's

lifetime styled Lord Aberdour, became 16th earl of Morton.

In 1759 he raised a corps of light dragoons, of which he was

made captain-commandant. He was one of the lords of po-

lice at the accession of George III., and held that office till

his death, which took place in Sicily, 25th Sej)tember 1774,

aged 42. He had married at Edinburgh, lOtli November

1758, Katherinc, fourth daughter of the Hon. John Hannl-

ton, second son of the sixth earl of Haddington, and had two

sons, George, seventeenth carl, and the Hon. Hamilton Doug-

las, who, on the death of Colonel J.ames Halyburton of Pit-

cur, at Dundee, 9th May 1765, acquired that estate, and

thereafter assumed the additional n.ame of Halyburton. He
was a lieutenant in the royal navy, and on 30th December

1783, he was sent in comnnind of the b.arge of the Assist-

ance, 50 guns, then assisting at the evacuation of New York,

in search of some deserters, when a dreadful storm arising,

on new year's morning, 1784, the barge was discovered lying

on her side on the Jersey shore, and the dead bodies of .all

her crew on their faces in the mud, whence they had strug-

gled in v.ain to extricate themselves. The relations of Lieu-

ten.ant Halyburton, who thus unfortunately died in his 21st

year, erected a monument at Sandyhook to his memoiy and

that of his fellow-sufferers. The est.ate of Pitcur, in virtue

of the entail under which it was held, devolved on his aunt

Mary, countess of Aboyne, (see vol. ii. p. 414).

George, the elder son, 17th earl of Morton, born April 3,

1701, was in 1784 chosen one of the 16 Scots representative

peers. He was created a baron of Great Britain by the title

of Lord Douglas of Lochleven, Jan. 10, 1791, and appointed

chamberlain of the queen's household in 1792
;
knight of the

Thistle, July 26, 1797. He was vice-president of the Royal

Society; vice-president and manager of the Royal Institu-

tion ; lord-lieutenant of the county of Fife, and colonel of the

Fifeshire militia. He died July 17, 1827, without issue,

when the British title of Lord Douglas of Lochleven, being to

himself and the heirs male of his body, became extinct, and

the Scottish honours devolved on his cousin, George Sholto

Douglas, Esq., son of the Hon. John Douglas, 2d son of the

16th carl.

George Sholto, 18th eari, born in London in 1789, was

educated at Trinity college, Cambridge, where he graduated

XLA. in 1810. He was attached to the mission in Spain in

1811, made secret.ary of legation at Stockholm, in July 1812,

and elected a representative peer of Scotband in 1830. In

September 1841 he was appointed a lord in waiting to her

majesty, an office which he held till June 1849. Reappoint-

ed in Feb. 1852, he held the same till Dec. of the same year.

In 1843 he w.as appointed lieut.-col. of the Jlid Lothian yeo-

manrv cavalry, l)ut resigned in 1844. Deputy-lieut. of Mid

Lothian in 1854. He died JLarch 31, 1858. He had mar-

ried in 1817, Frances Theodora, eldest daughter of Right Hon.

Sir George Heniy Rose, G.C.H.
;

issue, 5 sons and 5 drs.

Sholto-John, the eldest son, .succeeded as 19th eari. Born

at Beriin, April 13, 1818, he became a lieuten.ant 11th hus-

sars in 1843, but retired in 1844. He succeeded his father

in that year as lieut.-col. of the Mid Lothian yeomanry cav-

ah v, and became lieut.-col. commandant in !' 52. Married,

1st, Jan. 24, 1844, Helen, daughter of James Watson of

Saughton, Mid Lothian; issue, Sholto George Watson. Lord

O
J
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Aberdour, b. Nov. 5, 1844
;
2dly, in 1853, Lady Alice Lamb-

ton, 3d daughter of the 1st e.irl of Durliam. Appointed

deputy lieutenant of Mid Lothian in 1848, and of Argyleshire

in 1859. In April of the lattei- year he was elected a repre-

sentative peer of Scotland.

JIouvTr.LE, surname of. See Supplement.

MOTHERWELL, William, a higlily-gifted

poet, was bora in Glasgow, October 13, 1797.

His family originally belonged to Stirlingshire,

where for several generations they resided on a

small property of their own, called Muirmill. At

an early age he was placed under the care of an

uncle in Paisley, and after receiving a good edu-

cation, was apprenticed to the sherifF-clerk of the

county, with the view of following the legal pro-

fession. On the termination of his apprenticeship

he was employed for some time by Dr. Robert

Watt, in assisting in the compilation of that valu-

able and useful work, the ' Bibliotheca Britanni-

ca,' in which occupation he displayed a passionate

love of antiquarian lore, that characterized all his

after years. Having early begun to "try his

'prentice hand" on poetry, he about the same

time contributed some pieces to a small periodical

published at Greenock, called ' The Visitor.' At

the age of twenty-one he was appointed deputy to

the sheriff-clerk at Paisley, which office he held

for about ten years. In the year 1819 he contri-

buted an Essay on the Poets of Renfrewshire, to

a collection of Songs and other poetical pieces

published at Paisley, entitled ' The Harp of Ren-

frewshire,' in which a few of his own productions

also appeared. He subsequently become editor of

a work of a somewhat similar nature, but of high-

er pretensions and greater merit, being a valuable

collection of ballads, published in parts, and com-

pleted in 1827, under the title of 'Minstrelsy,

Ancient and Modern,' illustrated by a most inter-

esting historical introduction and notes, which ex-

hibited his extensive acquaintance with the ballad

and romantic literature of Scotland.

In 1828 Mr. Motherwell became editor of the

'Paisley Advertiser,' a paper of conservative po-

litics, which he conducted with spirit and success

for nearly two years. At the same time he edited

the 'Paisley Magazine,' a monthly periodical,

which, though it displayed much talent and liveli-

ness, only existed for a year. In the beginning

of 1830, on the retirement of Mr. MacQueen, the

able and at that period well-known advocate of

the West India interests, from the ' Glasgow Cou-

rier,' Mr. Motherwell was engaged as editor of

that journal, and he continued to conduct it till

his death. He entered upon the editorship at a

period of great public excitement, when the prin-

ciples he supported, those of conservatism, were,

for the time, exceedingly unpopular, but he advo-

cated the cause which he conscientiously believed

to be the true one with signal intrepidity, un-

flinching zeal, and consummate ability, and for

upwards of five years sustained with distinction

the character of the newspaper under his charge.

Of Motherwell it may be truly said that " he gave

up to party what was meant for mankind," for

politics, in a great measure, thus withdrew him

from the more congenial pursuits of literature.

He did not, however, wholly forsake poetry, for,

in 1832, a volume of his ' Poems, Narrath-e and

Lyrical,' was published at Glasgow, and wS most

favourably received. A few months previously

he had furnished his friend, Mr. Andrew Hender-

son, with an able and interesting preface for his

collection of Scottish Proverbs, in which he show-

ed a thorough acquaintance with the "saws" and

sayings of his countrymen.

The same year he contributed a number of

pieces in prose and verse to ' The Day,' a periodi-

cal then published at Glasgow. His ' Memoirs of

Peter Birnie,' a Paisley bailie, formed one of the

most amusing papers in that publication. In

1834-5 he superintended with Hogg, the Ettrick

Shepherd, an elegant edition of the works of Burns,

in five volumes, published by Messrs. A. Fullar-

ton & Co. A large amount of the notes, critical

and illustrative, was supplied by him.

Mr. Motherwell was of short stature, but stout

and muscular. The engrossing and exciting na-

ture of his duties, combined with other causes,

gradually undermined his health, and he was lat-

terly subject to occasional attacks of illness. On

the evening of 31st October 1835, he was seized

with an apoplectic fit, and though medical aid

was speedily procured, in less than three hours,

during which he scarcely spoke, he died, Novem-

ber 1, in his 39th year. He was never man-ied.

A monument to his memory was erected in Glas-

gow Necropolis, where he was buried.
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lie was very fond of tbe poetry of Norway, and

in liis 'Poems, Narrative and Lyrical,' lie has in-

troduced three remarkable pieces, thoroughly em-

bued with the character of the Norse legends.

With regard to tliese, he says, in his dedication

to a brother poet, William Kennedy, author of a

volume of 'Lyrics,' they "are intended to be a

faint shadowing forth of something like the form

and spirit of Norse poetry ; but all that is histori-

cal about them is contained in the proper names.

The first, 'Sigurd's Battle Flag,' does not follow

the story as given in the Northern Sagas, but only

adopts the incident of the Magic Standard, wliicli

carries victory to the party by wliom it is display-

ed, but certain death to its bearer. ' Jarl Lgill

Skallagrim's Wooing Song' is entirely a creation,

and nothing of it is purely historical, save tlie

preserving of the name of that warrior and Skald.

From the memorials, however, he lias left us of

himself, I think he could not well have M oocd in a

different fashion. As for ' Thorstcin Randi,' or the

Red, that is a name which occurs in Northern his-

tory; but, as may well be supposed, lie never said

so much in all his life about his sword or himself,

as I have taken the fancy of putting into his mouth."

As a poet, Mr. Jlotherwell possessed consid-

erable genius and originality. His princi])al

characteristics arc purity of spirit and depth of

feeling. Ilis ballad compositions are simple, but

full of truth and pathos. His most exquisite pro-

ductions are ' Jcanie Morrison,' and 'INfy head is

like to rend, AVillie,' which, especially the former,

no one possessing any sensibility can read without

being deeply affected. There is a touching ten-

derness about them both which appeals at once to

the best sympathies of our nature, and they ap-

proach nearer to the sweetness and simplicity of

some of the songs of Burns than any poems of the

kind in the language. Ilis ' Sword Chant of

Tliorstcin-Raudi,' and similar pieces, are distin-

guished by a spirit of warlike enthusiasm which

stirs the heart like the blast of a trumpet. Per-

sonally he was endeared to his fi iends by many

admirable qualities. Kindness of heart, genero-

sity of disposition, and nrbanit}- of manner, were

not the least striking features of his character,

lie left various manuscripts, finished and nnfiii-

ished, among wliicli was a orose work, embodying

the wild legends of the Norsemen, a department

of literature to which he was much devoted. A
new edition of his poems, containing a selection

from these manuscripts, was published in one

volume at Glasgow in 184G, with a memoir by

Dr. M'Conechy, his successor in the Courier, and

a personal friend of his own.

MouBRAY, tlie suraame of an ancient family, tlie first of

wliom in Scotland, Philip de Jloubray, descended from one of

the Norman adventurers wlio came over witli William the

Conqueror, was the second son of Nigel de Moubrav, and

brother of William de Moubrav, ancestor of the duke of Nor-

fiilk of that name. He came to Scotland with William the

Lion, and by liis marri.age with Galiena, daughter of Wal-

dcve, carl of Dunbar, he acquired the lands of Barnbongle

and Dalmeny in Linlithgowshire, and Inverkeithing in Fife-

shire. In 1215, and again in 1220, he was ambassador to

England, to treat of the marri.age of Alexander IL willi the

princess Joan. Galfride or Gotofride de Moubray, the next

on record, was one of the Magnates Scotia: from 1287 to

129-1. lie was among those who swore fe.ilty to Edward I.,

and those of his name in Scotland, like many of the barons

of that period, frequently changed sides in the great contest

for the national independence at the end of the 13th and be-

ginning of the 14th ccntuiy. He married the second daugh-

ter of the Red Cumyn, slain by Bruce, .and had five sons.

The fourth son is supposed to have been the Sir Philip de

Moubray, who was govemor of Stirling castle in the Englisli

interest, previous to the battle of Bannockburn. On the day

after that decisive victory lie surrendered the castle to Robert

the Bruce, and entering his service, ever after continued

faithful to him. He accompanied Edward Brure to Ireland,

and fell with him at the battle of Dundalk in 1318.

He had a son and a daughter. The son, Sir John

Moubray of Redcastle in Forfarshire, his mother's pro-

perty, was slain at Annan in 1332, on Edward Baliol's

side. The daughter, Philippa de Jloubray, heiress of her fa-

ther, married Sir Bartholomew de Loen, a foreign knight,

probably of the house of Heynberg in Guelderland, related to

the dukes of Gueldres. Their only cliild, David, assumed the

name of Moubr.ay, and was contracted in m.arriage to the

Lady Janet Stewart, daughter of the duke of Albany, gover-

nor of Scotland. His son, Sir John de Jloubray, was dead

before 1st Febniary 142G.

This line of the Moubrays subsisted till the reign of

James the Fifth, when Sir John Jloubray of Bambougle

left a daughter, his sole heiress, who married Robert Barton,

son of Sir Robert Barton of Over Barton. In con.sequence

he changed his name to Jloubray, and in his line the family

continued till lG7o, when it failed. Bambougle castle, the

ancient seat of the family, on the shore of the Frith of Forth

near Cramond, had passed by sale from them, in 1G20, and

is now tlie property of the earl of IJosebery.

William Jloubray or Jlowbray, as the name is usually

spelled, the brother of the .above-named Sir John Jloubray of

Bambougle, was the founder of tlie branch of the Jloubrays

of Cockaimey in the parish of Dalgetty, Fifeshire, the hinds

of that name having been bestowed upon him by the latter in

1.511.

Roger de Moubray, the brother of Philip first .above men-

tioned, Iield lands in Perthshire under William the Lion, and

his brother, .Mexander IL, some of whose charters he wit-

nessed. Ho granted in subinfeudation the lauds of Moa-
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creif and Balmachin to Matthew, who from them assumed

the name of Moncreif.

The family of Cockalrny have continued in an uninterrupt-

ed male line. Sir Robert Moubray, who succeeded in 1794,

was kniglited in 1825, and died in 1848.

MowAT, a surname originally Montealt. A family, de-

riving their name from the lands of Montealt in the county of

Flint, Nortli Wales, settled in Scotland in the reign of David

I., and in course of time the name was softened into Mowat.

In the Ragman Roll is the name of Willielmus de Monte

Alto, miles. There is a charter of William, earl of Douglas

and Mar, to James Mowat of the lands of Easter Fowlis,

dated at the castle of Kildrummy, 26th July 1377. The

principal family of the name was Mowat of Balquollie, Aber-

deenshire. There were also Mowat of Stanehouse in Clydes-

dale, and Mowat of Busbie in Cunningham, but all these

families have long been extinct.

MUDIE, Robert, a voluminous writer, author

of ' The Feathered Tribes of the British Islands,'

aud numerous other popular and scientific works,

was a native of Forfarshire, and was born in

1777. Tiie son of a country weaver, he received

the rudiments of his education at a humble rural

school in his native place, about six or seven miles

north-west from Dundee. For whatever learning

he afterwards possessed, he was solely indebted

to his own industry and native vigour of mind,

and he furnishes another remarkable example of

those individuals who, by the force of their genius,

application, and steadiness, have raised them-

selves from a lowly rank in life, without the aid

of either school or college, to a conspicuous posi-

tion among the higher class of literary and scien-

tific men of their day. In his early j'outh, he

was put to the loom, and plied the shuttle for sev-

eral years, until he was drawn for the militia.

From his boyhood he had evinced an insatiable

desire for knowledge of every description, and all

the hours which he could spare from his employ-

ment as a weaver, or his militiaman's duties, were

devoted to the reading of books. He used to

mention that before he left home, he was much

indebted to a gentleman who lent him some vol-

umes of the ' Encyclopedia Britannica,' in which

he indulged at large his taste for variety, and that

in the towns where his regiment was stationed he

always contrived to find a good supply of books.

By the time that his militia service of four years

expired, he had attained to so much knowledge

that he was emboldened to undertake the duties

of a village school in the south of Fife. Besides

other accomplishments, we are told, he had ac-

quired considerable skill in tlie art of drawing, a

respectable acquaintance with arithmetic and ma-

thematics, and great facility in English composi-

tion. He also wrote verses with ease.

He was soon appointed to the situation of draw-

ing-master in the academy of Inverness, and

afterwards in that of Dundee, where he was not

long till he was transferred to the department of

arithmetic, theoretical and practical, and English

composition. At Dundee he remained for about

twelve years, and besides contributing much to

the local newspaper, and conducting for some

time a monthly periodical, he published a novel,

called ' Glenfurgas,' in 3 volumes. Becoming a

member of the Dundee town council, he engaged

eagerly in the cause of burgh reform, in conjunc-

tion with R. S. Rintoul, afterwards the editor of

the London Spectator.

About 1820, Mr. Mudie left Dundee for Lon-

don, and at first obtained employment as a parlia-

mentary reporter for the newspapers. He was

for some time connected with the ^Morning Chron-

icle, and subsequently editor of the Sunday Times.

He also contributed largely to several of the peri-

odicals of the day. His life thenceforward was

that of a laborious literary hack, and as he wrote

with great facility, he produced altogether up-

wards of ninety volumes, on almost every subject.

Many of his works were hastily produced, to pro-

vide for the passing wants of the day, and he has

been known to throw off a volume of his ' Sea-

sons' in eight days. He was an able writer, an

expert compiler, an acute and philosophical ob-

server of nature, and particularly happy in his

geographical dissertations and works on natural

history. With all his acquirements, however,

and with all his industry and perseverance, his

was but the fate of too many literary men, con-

stant drudging and perpetual poverty, and at last

complete bodily exhaustion. He died 29th April

1842, aged 64, leaving the widow of a second

marriage in poor circumstances.

In the Appendix to Dr. Hannah's Life of Dr.

Chalmers, a brief account of Mr. Mudie is given

by Professor Duncan, of the university of St. An-

drews, who was rector of the academy of Dundee,

when the subject of this notice was one of the
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teachers in it. Mr. Miidie was a visitor at tlie

manse of Kilniany in Fife, at tlie time Dr. Clial-

mers was minister of tliat parish, and Dr. Ilannali

relates, (^Life of Chalmers, vol. i. p. 22,) tliat in

the autumn of 1811, wlien tliat eniiuent divine

was alone at the manse. My. Miidie and Mr. Dun-

can came in upon him from Dundee. On con-

sulting his servant privately, as to what tlierc was

for dinner, lie found, to Ids dismay, that tliere

was notliing whatever in the house but two sepa-

rate parcels of salt fisli. Having given particular

directions that a portion of eacli sliould be boiled

apart from the otlier, lie joined liis friends, and

went out with tliem to enjoy a walk. On return-

ing to the iiouse, tlic dinner was served, two large

and most promising covered dishes being placed

at the liead and foot of tlie table. " And now,

gentlemen," said the liost, as the covers were re-

moved, " you have variety to choose among

;

tliat is hard fish from St. Andrews, and tliis is

hard fish from Dundee."

The following is a list of Mr. Mudie's works, as

nearly as can be given :

The Mnid of Griban. A poetical Fragment. 1810.

Glenfnrgiis. A Novel in 3 vols.

First Lines of Zoology. By Question and Answer, for tlie

use of tlie Vonng. London, 18.31, 12mo.

Modem Athens. A Sketch of Edinburgh Society.

Babylon the Great, a picture of Men and Things in Lon-

don, 4 vols.

The British Naturalist, 2 vols.

A Popular Guide to tlie Observation of Nature, forming

vol. Ix.xvii. of Constable's Miscellany. London, 1832, 18ino.

First Lines of Natural Philosophy, in 5 parts. London,

1832, 12mo.

The Botanical Annu.al, 1832.

The Feathered Tribes of the British Islands, 2 vols. Lon-

don, 1834, 12ino.

Conversations on Modern Philosophy, 2 vols.

The Natural History of Birds. London, 1834, 16to.

The Elements. The Heavens. The Earth. The Air. The

Sea. 1835.

Popular Mathematics. Being the first elements of Arith-

metic, .Mgebra, and Geometry, in their Relative Series. Lon-

don, 18oG, 8vo.

I
The Seasons ; or the Causes, -Appearances, and Effects of the

Seasonal Renovations of Nature, 4 vols. 18mo. London, 1837.

History of Hampshire and the Channel Islands, 3 vols.

Gleanings of Nature, containing fifty-seven groups of Ani-

mals and Plants; with popular descriptions of their habits

;

and coloured engravings. London, 1838, 8vo.

Domesticated .Animals popularly considered. Winchester,

16to.

Man in his Physical Structure and Adaptations. London,

1838, 18mo.

Man in bis Intellectual Faculties and Adaptations. Lon-

don, 1839, 12mo.

Man in his Relations to Society. 1840, 18mo.

.Man as a Moral and Accountable Being. 1840, 18mo.

China and its Resources and Peculi:irities, with a View of

the Opium Question, and a notice of .Assam.

Arithmetic for the Winchester Schools.

He furnished the letterpress to Gilbert's Modem Atlas

;

and the greater part of the natural history department of

the British Cyclopedia. He was also the literary conductor

of the scientific publications called The Surveyor, the Engi-

neer, and the .Architect.

MuNito, frequently spelled .1/orero, and sometimes with a

final c at both forms of the surname, the n.ame of a clan (in

Gaelic Claim Hoick or liot/iicli) whose possessions, situated

on tlie north side of the fi-ith of Cromarty, were generallv

known in the Highlands by the name of FeaiTann Donull

or Donald's country, being so called from the progenitor of

the clan, Donald the son of O'Ceann, who lived in the time

of Macbeth. The Monroes were vassals of the earls of Ross,

and may be regarded as a portion of the native Scot-

tish Gael. According to Sir George Mackenzie, they came
originally from the north of Ireland with the Macdon.alds, on

which great clan "they had constantly a depending." Their

name he states to have been derived from "a mount on the

river Roe," county Derry. Cl.an tradition, however, holds

that they formed a branch of the natives of Scntland who,

about 357, being driven out by the Romans, and forced to

take refuge in L'eland, were located for several centuries on

the stream of the Roe, and among the adjacent mountain.s.

In the time of Malcolm IL, or beginning of the 11th century,

the ancestors of the Munroes are said to have come over to

Scotland to aid in expelling the Danes, under the above-

named Donald son of O'Ceann, who, for his services, received

the lands of Ea.st Dingwall in Ross-sliire. These lands,

erected into a barony, were denominated Foulis, from Loch

Foyle in Ireland, and the chief of the clan was designated of

Foulis, his residence in the parish of Kiltearn, near the moun-

tain called Ben Uaish or Benwyvis.

Another conjecture as to the origin of the name of Munro

is that from liaving acted as bailiffs or stewards to the lords

of the Isles in the earldom of Ross, they were called " Mun-
rosses." Skene ranks the clan as members of a great family

called the Siol O'Cain, and makes them out to be a branch

of the clan Chattan, by converting O'C-iin into O'Catb.an,

and thus forming Chattan. Sir George Mackenzie .says the

name originally w.is Buuroe.

Hugh Munro, the first of the family authentically desig-

nated of Foiilis, died in 1126. He seems to have been the

grandson of Donald, the son of O'Ccaim above mentioned.

Robert, reckoned the second baron of Foulis, was actively

engaged in the wars of David I. and JIalcolm IV. Donald,

heir of Robert, built the old tower of Fowlis. His successor,

Robert, married a daughter of the earl of Sutherland. George,

fif'th baron of Foulis, obtained charters from Alexander II.

Soon after the accession of .Alexander III., an insurrection

broke out .against the ear! of Ross, the feudal superior of the

Munroes, by the clans Ivor, Talvigli and Laiwe, and other

people of the province. The earl h.aving apprehended their

leader, and imprisoned him at Dingwall, the insurgents

seized upon his second son at Balnagowan, and detained him

as an hostage till their leader should be released. The Mun-

roes and the Dingwalls immediately took up arms, and set-

ting off in pursuit, overtook the insurgents at Bealligh-ne-

Broig, between Ferrandonald and Loch-Broom, where a san-

guinary conflict took place. "The clan Iver, clan Talvigh,

and cl.an Laiwe," says Sir Robert Gordon, " wer almost uter-
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lie extinguished and slain." The Muiiroes and Dingwalls

lost a great many men. Dingwall of Kildun, and seven

score of the surname of Dingwall were killed. No less than

eleven Munroes of the house of Foulis who were to succeed

one after another, fell in this battle, so that the succession of

Foulis opened to an infant "then lying in his cradel." The

earl's son was rescued, and to requite the service performed

he made various grants of land to the Munroes and Ding-

walls.

Tlie child lying in his cradle was afterwards Sir Robert

Munro, the sixth of liis house. He fought in the army of

Bruce at the battle of Bannockburn. His only son, George,

fell there, leaving an heir, who succeeded his grandfather.

This George JIunro of Foulis was slain at Halidonhill in

1333. The same year, according to Sir Robert Gordon, al-

though Shaw makes the date 1454, the following remarkable

event occurred in the clan history : John Munro, the tutor of

Foulis, in travelling homeward from Edinburgh to Ross,

stopped in a meadow in Strathardle that he and his ser-

vants might obtain some rest. While they were asleep, the

owner of the meadow cut off the tails of their horses. To
revenge this insult, on his return to Ross, he summoned his

whole kinsmen and followers, and having selected 350 of the

best men amongst them, he returned to Strathardle, which

he wasted and spoiled
;
killing some of the inhabitants and

can-ying off their cattle. In passing by the castle of Moy,

on his way home, the laird of Macintosli sent a message to

him demanding a sliare of the spoil. This was customary

among the Highlanders when a party drove cattle so taken

through a gentleman's land, and the part so exacted was

called a Staoig Rathaid, or Siaoig Creich, that is, a road

collop. Munro offered Macintosh a reasonable share of the

booty, but the latter would not accept of less than the half.

This Munro refused, and drove off the cattle. Collecting his

clansmen, Macintosh went in pursuit of him, and came up

with him at Clach-na-haire, near Inverness. On perceiving

his approach, Munro sent home fifty of his men with the cat-

tle, and in the contest that ensued, Macintosh and the great-

er part of his men were killed. Several of the Munroes were

also slain, and John Munro himself was left for dead on the

field of battle, when Lord Lovat had him carried to his house

in the neighbourhood, where lie was cured of his wounds.

One of his hands was so mutil.ited, that he lost the use of it,

on which account he was afterwards called John Bao-Laimh,

or Ciotach. The Munroes had great advantage of the ground,

by taking up a position among rocks, from which they an-

noyed the JIacintoshes with their arrows.

Robert, the eighth baron of Foulis, married a niece of Eu-

phame, daughter of the earl of Ross, and queen of Robert II.

He was killed in an obscure skirmish in 13G9, and was suc-

ceeded by his son, Hugh, ninth baron of Foulis, who joined

Donald, second lord of the Isles, when he claimed the earl-

dom of Ross in right of his wife. The decisive battle of

Harlaw, in 1411, put an end to his pretensions.

Tlie forfeiture of the earldom of Ross in 1476, made the

Munroes and other vassal families independent of any supe-

rior but the crown. In the charters which the family of

Foulis obtained from the Scottish kings, at various times,

they were declared to hold tlieir lands on the singular tenure

of furnishing a ball of snow at Midsummer if required, which

the hollows in their mountain property could at all times sup-

ply ; and it is said that when the duke of Cumberland pro-

ceeded north against the Pretender in 1746, the Munroes

actually sent him some snow to cool his wines. In one

charter, the addendum was a pair of white gloves or three

pennies.

In 1497, when Sir Alexander Macdonald of Lochalsh a

second time invaded Ross, he was encountered by the Mun-
roes and the Mackenzies, at a place called Drumchatt, where,

after a sharp skirmish, he and his followers were again rout-

ed, and driven out of the country. In 1502, a commission

was given to the earl of Huntly, the Lord Lovat, and Wil-

liam Munro, twelfth baron of Foulis, to proceed to Lochaber,

and let the king's lands of Lochaber and Mamore, for the

space of five years, to true men. Sir William Munro of Fou-
lis was nominated justiciary of Inverness by James IV. He
fell in battle in 1505. In 1514 Munro of Foulis and Mac-
kenzie of Kintail were appointed lieutenants ^ro tempore of

Wester Ross. Robert, the 14th baron, fell at the battle of

Pinkie in 1547. Robert More Munro, the fifteenth chief,

was a faithful friend of Mary, queen of Scots. Buchanan

states that when that unfortunate princess went to Inver-

ness in 1562, " as soon as they heard of their sovereign's

danger, a gi'eat number of the most eminent Scots poured in

around her, especially the Frasers and JIunroes, who were

esteemed the most valiant of the clans inhabiting those coun-

tries." These two clans took for the queen Inverness castle,

which had refused her admission.

With the Mackenzies the Munroes were often at feud, and

Andrew Munro of Milntown defended, for three years, the

castle of the canonry of Ross, which he had received from

the regent Jloray in 1569, against the clan Kenzie, at the

expense of many lives on both sides. It was, however, af-

terwards delivered up to the Mackenzies under the act of

pacification.

The chief, Robert More Munro, became a protestant at an

early period of the Scottish Reformation. Of the family of

Foulis, there is a sketch appended to Dr. Doddridge's well-

known ' Life of Colonel Gardiner,' and Robert More Slunro

is there described as " a wise and good man, who left an opu-

lent estate to the family." James VI. granted to liim a

lease of certain crown customs or dues in the shires of Inver-

ness, Ross, Sutherland, and Caithness. He died in 1588.

His son, Robert, sixteenth baron of Foulis, died, without

issue, in July 1589, and was succeeded by his brother. Hec-

tor Munro, seventeenth baron of Foulis. The latter died

14th November 1603.

Hector's eldest son, Robert JIunro, eighteenth chief of

Foulis, styled "tlie Black Baron," was the first of his house

who engaged in the religious wars of Gusta\nis Adolphus, in

the seventeenth century. In 1626 he went over with the

Scottish corps of Sir Donald Mack.ay, first Lord Reay, ac-

companied by six other officers of his name and near kindred.

Doddridge says of him, that " the worthy Scottish gentle-

man was so stnick with a regard to the common cause, in

which he himself had no concern but what piety and virtue

gave him, that he joined Gustavus with a great number of

his friends who bore his own name. Many of them gained

great reputation in this war, and that of Robert their leader

was so eminent that he was made colonel of two regiments

at the same time, the one of horse, the other of foot in that

service." In 1629 the laird of Foulis raised a reinforcement

of 700 men on his own lands, and at a later period joined

Gustavus with them. The officers of JIackays and Munro's

Highl.and regiments who served under Gustavus Adolphus, in

addition to rich buttons, wore a gold chain round their necks,

to secure the owner, in case of being wounded or taken pris-

oner, good treatment, or payment for future ransom.

The " Black Baron " died at Ulm, from a wound in his foot,

in the year 1633, and leaving no male issue, he was succeeded

by his brother. Hector JIunro, nineteenth baron of Foulis,

who had also distinguished himself in the German wars, and
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who, on }iis return to Britain, was created by Cliarles I., a

baronet of Nova Scotia, 7tli June 1G31. He married Mar}',

daugliter of Hugli Mackay of Farr, and dying in 1G35, in

Germany, was succeeded by his only son, Sir Hector, second

baronet, wlio died, unmarried, in 1G51, at tlic age of 17. The

title and property devolved on his cousin, Robert JIunro of

Opisdale, grandson of George, third son of the fifteenth baron

of l'"oulis. His uncle. Colonel Robert Jlonro, who also served

with reputation in the German wars, was author of a work,

entitled, 'Munro, his Expedition witli the worthy Scots regi-

ment called Mackay's, in the wars of Gustaviis Adolplms of

Sweden,' &c., published at London in lGi;7, folio; a work

which Sir Walter Scott acknowledges having suggested to

liim the character of the renowned soldado, Dugald Dalget-

ty. In the service of Gustavus, there were at one time not

less than " three generals, eight colonels, five lieutenant-

colonels, eleven majors, and above thirty captains, all of the

name of Mimro, besides a great number of subalterns.''

During the civil wars at home, when Charles I. called to

his aid some of the veteran officers who had sen'ed in Ger-

many, this Colonel Robert Munro was one of them. He was

employed chiefly in Ireland from 1641 to Ida, when he was

surprised and taken prisoner personally by General Monk.

While in Ireland he published ' Relation of the proceedings of

the Scottish army in Ireland, in Three Letters, sent to Gen-

eral Leslie,' London, IG 12, 4to ; and ' Letter of great conse-

quence to the Committee for Irish affairs in England, con-

cerning the state of the rebellion there,' London, 1CI3, 4to.

His nephew, Colonel Sir George Munro, succeeded him in the

Irish command. He was subsequently lieutenant-general of

the royalist troops in Scotland, when he fought a duel with

the earl of Glencairn. (See vol. ii. p. 312). Afterwards he

joined Charles II. in Holland. At the Revolution he was

appointed commander-in-chief of the forces in Scotland.

Sir Robert JIunro, third baronet of Foulis, died in 1G88,

and was succeeded by his eldest son. Sir John, fourth baron-

et, who, in the Scottish convention of estates, proved himself

to be a firm supporter of the Revolution. He was such a

strenuous advocate of Presbytcrianism, that, being a man of

large frame, lie was usually called " the presbyterian mortar-

jiicce." In the Stuart persecutions, previous to liis succes-

sion to the title, ho Ii.ad, for his adherence to the covenant,

been both fined and imprisoned by the tyrannical government

that then ruled in Scotland. He died in 169G. His son. Sir

Robert, fifth baronet, though blind, was appointed by George

1. high shcrill' of Ross, by commission, under the great seal,

dated 9th June 1725. He married Jean, daugliter of John

Forbes of Culloden, and died in 1729.

His eldest son, Sir Robert, twenty-seventh b.aron and si.xth

baronet of Foulis, a gallant military officer, was the compan-

ion in arms of Colonel Gardiner, and fell at the battle of

Falkirk, 17th Januaiy 1746. " He went early," says Dr. Dod-

dridge, "from the miiversity to the camp, and seiwed seven

years in Flanders, being some time captain in the Royal

Scots. It was here that he contracted that acquaintance

and strict friendship with good Colonel Gardiner, which ran

through the rem.iindcr of their lives." In the rebellion of

1715, when the majority of the Highlanders espoused the

cause of the exiled family, the JIunroes, like the Mackays

and Rosses, joined the government forces. On his retum

tVom Flanders, Sir Robert, with his clan, assisted the earl of

Sutherland in retarding, for nearly two months, the march of

the earl of Seaforth, with 3,000 m.cn, to the rebel camp at

I'erth, and thereby prevented the e.arl of JIar from crossing

the Forth, till the duke of Arg\'le had gathered sufficient

strength to ojipose him. In 171G, Sir Robert was made a
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commissioner of inquiry into the forfeited estates, and wc
are informed by Dr. Doddridge, that by his interest with the

government, he did eminent service to the unfortunate wi-

dows and children of such as had, to the ruin of their fami-

lies, been engaged in the rebellion. He was for 30 years a

member of parliament. From the termination of his com-

mission of inquii-y in 1724 till 1740, he had no post under

government.

In Jlay 1740, when the Independent companies were

formed into the 43d Highland regiment. Sir Robert Munro
was appointed lieutenant-colonel, John earl of Crawfurd and

Linds.ay being its colonel. Among the captains were his next

brother, George Munro of Culcairn, and .John Munro, pro-

moted to be lieutenant-colonel in 1745. The surgeon of the

regiment was his youngest brother. Dr. James Munro. Em-
barking for Flanders, the 43d was engaged in the battle of

Fontenoy in 1745. The Highlanders on this occasion were

commanded by Sir Robert, in whom, besides great military

experience, were united all the best qualities of the soldier.

Aware of the importance of allowing his men to follow their

accustomed tactics, he obtained leave of the duke of Cum-
berland to allow them to fight in their own way. He ac-

cordingly, says Dr. Doddridge, "ordered the whole regiment

' to clap to the ground' on receiving the French fire; and in-

stantly after its discharge they sprang up, and coming close

to the enemy, poured in tiieir shot upon them to the certain

destruction of multitudes, and drove them precipitately

through their lines; then retreating, drew up again, and at-

tacked them a second time after the same manner. These

attacks they repeated several times the s.ame day, to the sur-

prise of the whole army. Sir Robert was eveiywhere with

his regiment, notwithst.anding his great corpulency, and

when in the trenches he was hauled out by the legs and

arms by his own men ; and it is observed tb.at when he com-

manded the whole reginient 'to clap to the ground,' he him-

self alone, with the colours behind him, stood upright, re-

ceiving the whole fire of the enemy ; and this because, as he

said, though he could easily lie down, his great bulk would

not suffer him to rise so quickly. His preservation that day

was the surprise and astonishment not only of the whole ar-

mv, but of all th;it heard the particulars of the action." Sir

Robert was subsequently appointed to the command of Gen-

eral Ponsonby's regiment, that general having been slain &t

Fontenoy. It was ordered to Scotland during the rebellion,

and made part of the left wing of the royal army at the bat-

tle of Falkirk, 17th January, 1746. His regiment partook of

the panic which had seized the other regiments on the left,

.and fled, lea-ving its colonel alone and unprotected. In this

situation, Sir Robert w,as attacked by six men of Lochiel's

regiment, and. for some time, gallantly defended himself

with his halfpike. He killed two of his assailants, and

would prcbably have despatched more, had not a seventh

come up and shot him in the gi-oin with a pistol. On fall-

in;:, the Highlander struck him two blows across the face

with his broadsword, which killed him on the spot. Dr.

Munro of Opisdale, his brother, who had attended him to the

field, was standing close beside him when he fell, and shared

his fate, at the h.ands of the same Highlander, who, after

firing another pistol into his breast, cut him down with his

clavmore. The bodies of the two brothers h.iving been re-

cognised the next d.ay, were honourably interred in one grave

in the churchyard of Falkirk in presence of all the chiefs.

The fate of Sir Robert's other brother. Captain George

Munro of Culcairn, was peculiar. He was shot on the shores

of Loch Arkaig, on the Lord's d.ay, 31st Aug., 1746, amongst

the wild rocks of Loch.abcr, by one of the rebels named Du-
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gald Roy Cameron, or, as he is still styled in tradition, Du

Ehtu After tlie rebellion, an order was issued to the High-

landers to deliver up their arms. Dugald, accordingly, sent

his son to Fort-William with his arms to be delivered up.

When proceeding down Loch Arkaig, the young man was

met by an officer of the name of Grant, who was conducting

a party of military into Knoydart, and being immediately

seized, was ordered to be shot on the spot. His father swore

to be revenged, and learning that the officer rode a white

horse, he watched his return beliind a rock, on a height above

Loch Arkaig. Captain Munro had unfortunately borrowed

the white horse on which Grant rode, and he met the fate

which was intended for Grant. Dugald Roy escaped at the

time, and afterwards became a soldier in the British service.

Sir Robert left a son, Sir Harry Munro, 7th baronet and

25th baron of Foulis, an eminent scholar and M.P. The friend

of Euddiman, he is mentioned as having criticised Buchan-

an's Latin edition of the Psalms elaborately. He died in 1781.

His son, Sir Hugh, 8th baronet, bad only a daughter, Mary

Seymour Munro, who died January 12, 1849.

On his decease, JMay 2, 1848, his kinsman. Sir Charles, be-

came 9th baronet and 27th baron of Foulis; eldest son of George

Munro, Esq. of Culrain, Ross-shire, (who died in 1845,) and

lineal male descendant of Lieut.-gen. Sir George Munro, next

brother to the 3d baronet of this family. Bora May 20, 1795,

and educated at Edinburgh, he early entered the army, and

served under Wellington in the Peninsula and in France,

and received a medal and six clasps. In 1817 ho commanded

the 1st regiment of English lancers in the service of Venezu-

ela, and in 1818 was made general in the Columbian army by

Bolivar. He married 1st, in 1817, Amelia, daughter of Fred-

erick Browne, Esq., 14th dragoons
;
issue, 5 sons and 2 daugh-

ters; 2dly, in 1853, Harriette, daughter of Robert MiJgley,

Esq. of Essington, Yorkshire. Charles, the eldest son, born

in 1824, married in 1847, with issue.

The military strength of tlie Munroes in 1715 was 400,

and in 1745, 500 men
;
badge, the common club moss. The

clan slogan or battle cry was " Caisteal Foulis na theine "

—

Castle Foulis in flames.

The family of Munro of Lindertis, Forfarshire, possesses a

bai'onetcy of the United Kingdom, conferred in 1825 on

MMjor-general Sir Thomas Munro, who distinguished him-

self by his services in India, and of whom a memoir is given

below in larger type. On his deatli, July 6, 18^7, his eldest

Bon, Sir Thomas, born in 1819, formerly captain 10th hus-

sars, became the 2d baronet. Heir presumptive, his brother,

Campbell, captain grenadier guards, born in 1823 ; married.

There are also tbe family of Munro of Teaninich, county

Ross, a branch of the house of Foulis ; Munro of Novar,

county Ross, and Munro of Poyntsfield, county Cromarty,

besides other respectable families of the name.

Donald Munro, or Monro, dean of the Isles, was the author

of a ' Description of tlie Hybrides, or Western lies, in 1549,

with Geneoh)gies of the Chieff Clans of tlie lies ;' a little work

which is mentioned with praise by Buclianan. It was pub-

lished in 1774, and reprinted in 1805 and 1818.

MUNRO, Sir Thomas, a, distinguished civil

and military officer in India, was born at Glas-

gow, May 27, 1761
;
being the second son of Al-

exander Munro, a once affluent merchant in that

city, and his wife, Margaret, daughter of Thomas

Stark. He was educated for tbe mercantile pro-

fession, but his father having become involved in

his circumstances, in consequence of the revolt of

the North American colonies of Great Britain,

with which he principally traded, young Munro,

in the end of 1779, proceeded to Madras as an in-

fantry cadet, in the service of the East India

Company. His conduct, during Lord Cornwallis'

Mysore war against Hyder Ali, attracted the no-

tice of government, and after he had been pro-

moted to the rank of lieutenant, his talents and

discretion obtained for him, in August 1788, the

appointment of assistant in the Intelligence De-

partment. In this capacity he served under the

orders of Captain Alexander Read, in the occu-

pation of the ceded district of Guntoor, until the

breaking out of the war with Tippoo Saib in 1790,

when he again took the field with the army, and

remained with it till the hollow peace of 1792.

On the cession by Tippoo of the Baramahl, he

was again employed under Captain Read, in the

civil administration of that district till 1799. In

the ensuing campaign Captain Munro served in

the army of Lord Harris, as secretary to his

friend, now Colonel Read, who commanded a de-

tached force
;
and, after the fall of Seringapatam,

he was appointed, with Captain, afterwards Sir

John Malcolm, joint secretary to the commission-

ers for the settlement of Mysore. Soon after he

was nominated by Lord Mornington (afterwards

the Marquis Wellesley), then governor- general of

India, to the charge of the civil administration of

Canara, a wild and rugged province on the west-

ern or Malabar coast of the peninsula.

In May 1800 Munro was promoted to the rank

of major, and having established order and tran-

quillity in Canara, he applied for and obtained the

superintendence of the extensive and valuable

province ceded by the Nizam in commutation of

his subsidy ; and in this new field, where he con-

tinued for seven years, he not only achieved the

complete organization of a disturbed and barbar-

ous territory, but so far gained the confidence and

good will of the inhabitants as to be styled by

them " The Father of the People."

In 1804 he obtained the rank of lieutenant-col-

onel; and in 1808, after twenty-eight years' un-

interrupted service in India, he revisited his na-
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tive country. On the renewal of the Company's

charter, he was, for many ilays consecutively, ex-

amined before a committee of the House of Com-

mons. In 1813 he attained the full rank of colo-

nel, and in 1814 he married Jane, daughter of

Richard Campbell, Esq. of Craigie, Ayrshire, by

whom he had two sons, Tliomas and Campbell.

In the latter year he returned to Madras, at the

head of a commission of inquiry into tlie judicial

administration of our Eastern dominions, for which

his vigorous and comprehensive understanding,

his long and extensive experience, and his habits

of laborious research rendered him peculiarly qua-

lified.

In the war with the Pindarries and Mahrattas

in 1817 and the following year, he greatly distin-

guished himself. Being in the neighbourhood of

Soondoor, where he had been sent as commis-

sioner to take charge of the districts ceded to the

Company by the Pcishwa, he was appointed by

Lieutenant-general Sir Thomas Hislop to under-

take the reduction of the rebellious feudatory of

Soondoor, and shortly after he was vested with a

separate command of the reserve, with the rank

of brigadier-general, under orders from the mar-

quis of Hastings. "With a very inadequate force

he immediately entered upon active measures,

and fortress after fortress was surrendered at his

approach. Mr. Canning, in moving, March 4,

1819, the thanks of the House of Commons to the

marquis of Hastings and the army in India for

their splendid services in the war of 1817 and

1818, thus describes the conduct of jMunro on the

occasion :
—" To give some notion of the extent

of countrj^ over which these actions were distri-

buted, the distance between the most northern

and most southern of the captured fortresses is not

less than 700 miles. At the southern extremity

of this long line of operations, and in a part of the

campaign carried on in a district far from public

gaze, and without opportunities of early and spe-

cial notice, was employed a man whose name I

should have been sorry to have passed over in

silence. I allude to Colonel Thomas Muuro, a

gentleman of whose rare qualifications the late

House of Commons had opportunities of judging

when be was examined at their bar, on the re-

newal of the East India Company's charter, and

than whom England never produced a more ac-

complished statesman, nor India, fertile as it is in

heroes, a more skilful soldier. This gentleman,
,

wliose occupations for some time past have been
j

rather of a civil and administrative tlian of a mil-
!

itary nature, was called, early in the war, to ex- f

ercise abilities which, though dormant, liad not

rusted from disuse. He went into the field with

not more than 500 or 600 men, of whom a very

small proportion were Europeans, and marched

into the IMahratta territories, to take possession

of the country which had been ceded to us by the

treaty of Poona. The population which he sub-

dued by arms, he managed with such address,
j

equity, and wisdom, that he established an em-

pire over their hearts and feelings. Nine forts

were surrendered to him, or taken by assault on

his way ; and at the end of a silent and scarcely

observed progress, he emerged from a territory
|

heretofore hostile to the British interest, with an

accession instead of a diminution of force, leaving

everything secure and tranquil behind him."

At the conclusion of the war. Colonel Munro

resigned his military command, and, accompanied

b}" his family, again visited England, where he

arrived in 1819. In November of that year he

was invested with the insignia of a knight com-

panion of the Bath. In 1820, with the rank of

major-general, he returned to Madras as governor

of that presidency
;
and, as a farther reward of

his distinguished services, he was created a bar-

onet of the United Kingdom, June 30, 1825. The

Burmese war prevented him from retiring from

India so early as he wished ; and, sacrificing his

personal wishes and convenience to the public

service, he retained his olEce till its conclusion.

At length, in 1827, he made every arrangement for

retm-ning to enjoy his well-earned honours in his

native land, and before his departure proceeded to

pay a farewell visit to the people of the Ceded

Districts, for whom he had continued to feel a

strong interest, but was attacked on July 5 with

cholera, then prevalent in the country, and ex-

pired on the 6tli at Putteecondah, near Gooty,

where he lies interred. ''There was something
|

exceedingly solemn and touching in the funeral,"

says a gentleman who was present on the occa-

sion. " The situation of the churchyard ; the mel-
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anclioly sound of the minute guns reverberating

among tlie hills ; the grand and frowning appear-

ance of the fortress towering above the Gour, all

tended to malce the awful ceremony more impres-

sive." An equestrian statue, by Chautrey, has

been erected to his memory at Madras. In 1 830

was published ' The Life of Sir Thomas Munro,

with Extracts from his Correspondence and Pri-

vate Papers. By the Rev. G. R. Gleig,' 3 vols.

In the Extraordinary Gazette issued at Ma-

dras, after his death, the following tribute was

paid to his merits. After stating that he had

been more than 47 years in the service of the East

India Company, it continues, " From the earliest

period of his service, he was remarkable among

other men. His sound and vigorous understand-

ing, his transcendent talents, his indefatigable

application, his varied stores of knowledge, his

attainments as an Oriental scholar, his intimate

acquaintance with the habits and feelings of the

native soldiers, and inhabitants generally, his pa-

tience, temper, facility of access, and kindness of

manner, would have insured him distinction in any

lino of employment. These qualities were admi-

rably adapted to the duties which he had to per-

form in those provinces where he had long been

known bj' tlie appellation of Father of the people."

Mure, a surname, the same as More, Muir, and Moore.

The chief of the name in Scotland was Mure of Rowallan, in

Ayrshire, whose family, terminating in an heiress, is now re-

presented by tlie noble family of Loudoun, the head of wliich

is marquis of Hastings in tlie peerage of Great Britain. In

1825 was published at Glasgow a work entitled The Histo-

ric and Descent of the House of Rowallane. By Sir William

Mure, knight, of Rowallan, written in, or prior to 1657,' in

which it is stated that it was a tradition of their house that

they came originally from " the ancient tribe of O'More in

Ireland." In a note, the editor, William Muir, says, "The

surname 'More' certainly occurs very early in all the three

British kingdoms, and is most probably of Celtic origin," and

adds, " in most early writings in which the name is found,

accordant with the idiomatic usage of Celtic patronymics, the

preposition de is omitted, which so invariably accompanies

all early Saxon designations." This, however, is a mistake, as

David de More, of the house of Polkelly, Renfrewshire, ap-

pears as a witness to a charter of Alexander II. WiUielmi

de Afora and Laurentii de Mora also occur in two charters

granted by Robert the Bruce.

The first on record of the family is stated to have been the

above-named David de More. His successor is supposed to

have been Sir Gilchrist More, the first of the name mention-

ed in the family ' Historic.' In the beginning of the reign of

Alexander III., Sir Walter Cumyn took forcible possession of

the house and living of Rowallan, " the owner thereof, Gil-

christ More, being redacted fur his safety to keep close in his

castle of Pokellie." The latter distinguished himself at the

battle of Largs in 1'2G3, and for his bravery was knighted.

"At which time," says the ' Historic,' " Sir Gilchrist was re-

poned to his whole inheritance, and gifted with the lands

belonging to Sir Walter Cuming before mentioned, a man
not of the meanest of that powerful tribe, which for might

and number have scarcelie to this day been equalled in

this land." He married Isobel, daughter and heiress of the

said Sir Walter Cumyn, and on the death of his father-in-

law he found himself secured not only in the title and full

possession of his old inheritance, but also in the border lands

wherein he succeeded to Sir Walter Cuming, within the sher-

iffdom of Roxburgh. Sir Gilchrist " disponed to his kinsman

Ran.ald More, who had come purposlie from Ireland for his

assistance" in the time of his troubles, and also at the battle

of Largs, the lands of Polkellie, which appear to have been

the original inheritance of the family. He died " about the

year 1280, near the 80 year of his age," and was buried

" with his forfathcrs in his own buriell place in the Mures

Isle at Kilmamock." He had a son, Archibald, and two

daughters, Elizabeth, the wife of Sir Godfrey Ross, and Ani-

cia, married to Richard Boyle of Kelburne, ancestor of the

earls of Glasgow.

Archibald was slain at Berwick when that town was taken

by the English, and the army of John Baliol totally routed,

in 1297. By his wife, a daughter of Sir John Montgomerie

of Eastwood, he had, with two d.aughters, William, his suc-

cessor. He is said to liave had other sons, the supposed an-

cestors of the Mures of Caldwell and Auchindrane.

In the Ragman Roll, among those barons who swore fealty

to Edward I. in 1296, we find the names of Gilchrist More

of Craig and Reginald More de Craig, that is, the Craig of

Rowallan. The foiTner is stated to have been the ancestor of

the Mures of Polkellie, who, Nisbet thinks, were "the stem

of the ]\Iures, and an ancienter family than the Rowallan."

The latter was in 1329 chamberlain of Scotland.

William More, the son and successor of Archibald, manned

a daughter of the liouse of Craigie, then Lindsay, and with

two daughters, had a son, Adam, who succeeded him. Of

William honourable mention is made in .an indenture of truce

with England in the nonage of King David, wherein he is

designated Sir William. He died about the time when King

D.avid was taken prisoner at the battle of Durham, fought

17th October 13-lG. There is supposed to have been an older

son than Adam, named Reynold. The editor of the 'Histo-

ric,' on the authority of Cr.awford's Officers of State, (vol. i.

p. 290,) says in a note: Ket/nold, son and heir of Sir Wil-

liam More, was one of the hostages left in England at Da-

vid's redemption. This is certainly the same Sir William

mentioned above, but whether of Rowallan seems still doubt-

ful; if so, he mnst have lived long after 1348. There is a

William More, Miles, mentioned in M'Farlane's MS., as liv-

ing in 1363. Supposing this Sir William More to have been

of Rowallan, Reynold probably never returned from England,

and thus the estate may h.ave fallen to Sir Adam, a younger

son. During the long protracted p.avment of the king's ran-

som, many of the hostages died in confinement.

Sir Adam More, who, "in his father's .auld age," had the

management of all his aftairs, both private and public, consi-

derably enlarged and improved the estate. He m.irried, in

his vounger years, Janet Mure, heiress of Polkellie, grand-

daughter of Ranald More, and thus restored that estate to

the family. By this marriage he had two sons, Sir Adam,

his successor, and Andrew, and a daughter, Elizabeth, mar-

ried in 1348, to Robert, the high steward, afterwards King

Robert II. She was a lady of great bcanty and rare virtues,

and attracted the high steward's regard in his younger years
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when living in concealment about Dundonald castle during

Edwnrd Baliol's usurpation. There was long considerable

doubt as to this marriage, and Buchanan and earlier histori-

ans were of opinion that none had ever taken place. The

fact of her marriage, however, is now set beyond all question,

and the authorof the ' Historie' says, " Jlr. John Leannonth,

chaplain to Alexander, archbishop of St. Andrews, hath left

upon record, in a deduction of the descent of the lionse of

Rowallan, collected by him at command of the said archbi.sh-

op, that Robert, great steward of Scotland, having taken

away the said Elizabeth, drew to Sir Adam her father ano

instniment that he should take her to his lawful wife, which

myself have seen, saith the collector, as also ane testimonic,

written in Latin by Roger M'Adam, priest of our Ladie Ma-

rie's chapel, (' Our Lady's kirk of Kyle,' in the parish of

Monktown,) that the said Roger married Robert and Eliz.a-

betli foresaids." The editor of the 'Historie' remarks in a

note : " Mr. Lewis Innes, principal of the Scots college at

I'aris, first completely proved the fallacy of Buchanan's ac-

count of King Riiberfs marriages, by publishing in 1694, a

charter granted by him in 1304, wliich charter showed that

Elizabeth More was the first wife of Robert, and made refer-

ence to a dispensation granted by the pope for the marriage.

That dispensation was long sought for in vain, but was at

length discovered in 1789, at which time a dispensation for

the marriage with Euphemia Ross was also found. Those

discoveries have decided the question. The dispensation for

the marriage with Elizabeth Jlore is dated in December, in

the si.^th year of the pontilicate of Clement VL He was

elected pope in 1342; this dispensation must therefore have

been p'.-mted in December 1347. The dispensation for the

marriage with ICuphemia Ross is dated in the third year of

the pontificate of Innocent VL He was elected pope in

1352 ; this dispensation must therefore have been given in

looo."

Sir .'\dam, the eldest son, had on his own resignation, a

new cliartor fioni Robert III., of the barony of Rowallan and

whole lands holden of the crown, as also of the barony of I'ol-

kellie, &.C., with very ample privileges, the designation given

him by the king being ' consanguineus.' He manned Joan,

daughter of Danielston of that ilk, and by her had three sons.

" Caried away," says the 'Historic,' "as appears with emptie

surmises and hopes founded on court favors, he made una-

wares a new rent in his estate and provyded his second son,

Alexander, to the barronic of Pokcllie, together with the lands

of Linillare and Lowdonehill, wherein his lady was infeft in life-

rent, and wer given out by him, now the second time, to the

great damage and prejudice of his house and posteritie. How-

ever, at that time the court seemed to smile upon him, his proper

estate considerable, his friendship strong, .and of the greatest

of these times. He gave a quartered coat of the arms of

JIurc and Cumyn. The hoarseness and asperitie of the Irish

pronunciation of his title and lands is forgot, and Rigallane

is now Row.allane, Pothkellath is now Pokellic, &c., and Jlore

is now Mure by the court dialect." (P.age 59.) He died in

1399. His two younger sons, Alexander and Rankine, were

steady adherents of the Douglases. From the carl of Doug-

l.as, who married Marg.aret, daughter of Robert III., he had

the lands of Hareschaw and Drumbowy, Lanarkshire, by a

precept of infeftment dated in 1417. Tlie family of Polkellie,

sprung from him, continued for nearly loO years, when Mar-

g.aret, daughter and heiress of William JIure, the last of that

Louse, marrying Robert Cunningham of Cunningliamhoad,

her whole inheritance came into possession of that family.

Rankine, the youngest son, was " commonlie called of Aber-

corn," says the 'Historic,' "not that he had these lands in

heretage, for that doth never appear by historie nor evident

that ever come to my hands, notw ithst.anding of the common
tradition thairanent, being establlsbed thair as bailiffe and a

chief officer under his lord, the carle of Dnglass, having

charge of his men thair in all his noble atchiefenienls." lie

" rose to no mean respect, place, and power, and is said to

have attained to large posses-sions in Stirlingshire within

AbcrcoiTi, the Carses Calder and other places adjacent where

lie .also settled divers of his surname and friends." He was

.an active and stirring adversary of Sir Alexander Livingstone

of Calender, guardian of the young king, .Tames II., one of

the principal enemies of the earl of Douglas. Rankine's

gi'andson long held out the castle of Abercorn for the Doug-

lases, and was slain when it was stormed, and the power of

that gi'eat family overthrown.

Archibald, eldest son of Sir Adam, succeeded. lie m.ar-

ricd Euphanie Kennedy, daughter of the knight of Dunure,

ancestor of the marquis of Ailsa, and had a son, named Ro-

bert. He is said by the author of the ' Historic' to have

"died in batted against Ingland, 142G."' The date is evi-

dently wrong, for, as the editor remarks in a note, " Nothing

in history of this nature corresponds to the date 142G. The

action alluded to should possibly be referred to the battle of

Sark, 1448 ; and if so, we must pl.ace Archibald, who fell,

after a Robert, probably his brother, and both sons of an

Archibald." In a charter of " George Fullertoun, lord of

Corsbie," in 1430, Robert More of Rowallan is designated

sheriff depute, it is understood of Ayrshire. He is supposed

to have been succeeded by a son or brother named Archibald,

father of another Robert " who frequented tlie court in the

minoritie of King James the Third. He was ane man black

hared and of ane budge large stature, therefore, commonlie

called 'the Rud of Rowalhane.' " The epithet ' Rud ' is ex-

plained in a note to me.an of great stature and strength, "a
man with ' a back as braid as a barn door,' and who, in addi-

tion to his bodily ability, has .also the inclination for a fray."

The 'Historic' docs not give a good account of this fierce

personage, 'the Rud of Row.allan,' nor of his wife either.

"The king, in his bearne head proponed to round with him,

and as he ofTered swa to doe d.ing out his eye with the spang

of ane cockle shell. He was a m.an reguarded not the well

of his house, but in following court, and being unfit for it,

waisted, sold, and wadset all his proper lands of Row.allane,

whilk may be .ane example to all his posteritie. He married

M.argerie Newtoune, daughter to the laird of Michaelhill in

the Merse; ane druncken woman, and ane waistor man,

what made then this house to stand but the grace of God?"

The ' Rud of Row.allan' died in 1504. He had four sons and

a daughter.

John, his eldest son, married " Elizabeth Stewart, d.augh-

ter to the Jlrst Lord I'>vaudale," says the ' Historie,' " whose

mother was daughter to the carle of Crawfnrd, called Earle

Beardie." The first Lord Evandale, who was the son of

Lord James Stew.art, son of .Murdoch, duke of Albany, of the

rov.al house of Stewart, died witliout issue in 1488. His ne-

phew, Andrew Stewart, who afterwards succeeded to the

estate of Evandale, was created a peer by the same title.

He left several sons and daughters, .and Elizabeth Stewart,

who m.arricd John JIure of Rowallan, must have been one of

the latter, .although not mentioned so in the published histo-

ries. If, as is understood, she was the daughter of the second,

not the Jirst, Lord Evandale, she was the sister of Andrew

Stewart, third Lord Evandale, and also of Henry Stewart,

created Lord Methvcn, the third husband of JLargaret, queen-

mother of Scotl.and, daughter of Henry VII. of England, and

grandmother of M.ary, queen of Scots. He had four sons and
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three daughters. The sons were, Joliii, his successor; Arch-

ibaUi, called 'Mickle Archibald;' Patrick Boyd, and James.

From Pitcairn's Criminal Trials, we learn that " Nov. 3.

1508.—Patrick Boyde, brother to the laird of Rowallaii,"

and 27 others, were " convicted of art and part of convocation

of the lieges against the act oC parliament, coming to the kirk

of Stewarton, in company with John Mure of Rowallan, for

the olEce of parish clerk of the same kirk, against Robert

Cunyngh.anie of Cunynghamehed and his servants, in the

year 1608 ;" and that " James Muir, brother to the laird of

Rowalloun was, in 1508, convicted of art and part of the

forethought felony and oppression done to John Mowat, ju-

nior, laird of Busbie, and Andrew Steviiistone, in the town of

Stewarton, in company with the laird of Rowalloun." John

is said to have " deceast before Robert his father in 1501
;"

if so, he must have possessed the estate on his father's resig-

nation. The editor adds in a note, that he was dead in 1495.

A long feud had existed betwixt the lairds of Crawfurdland

and Rowallan, the latter being superior of the lands of Ar-

doch as Crawfurdland was first called, during which the evi-

dents of both houses were destroyed. In a justice-eyre, held

at Ayr about 1476 by John, Lord Carlyle, chief justice of

Scotland on the south side of the Forth, Robert Muir of

Rowallan and John Muir his son, and others their accom-

plices, were indicted for breaking the king's peace against

Archibald Craufurd of Craufurdland.

John Mure of Rowallan, the eldest son, and grandson of

Robert " the Rud," married Margaret, third daughter of Ar-

chibald Boyd of Bonshaw, brother of Thomas, master of

Boyd, created earl of Arran about 1467. This lady was the

means of putting an end to the feud of the Rowallan family

with the Crawfurds. In her youth she had been mistress to

James IV., by whom, with a son, Alexander, bishop of St.

Andrews, she had a daughter, Catherine Stewart, married to

the third earl of Morton. She afterwards " procured to her-

self the ward of the laird of Rowallan, John Muir, and mar-

ried him." Tliey had sasine of the lands of Warnockland,

the gift of James IV., in Janu.ary 1498. This John Mure of

Rowallan was slain at Flodden in September 1513. He had

four sons and four daughters.

Mungo, his eldest son, succeeded him. His half-sister,

Catherine, countess of Morton, had three daughters, the eld-

est of whom. Lady Margai-et Douglas, married the regent

earl of Arran, duke of Chatelherault, ancestor of the dukes

of Hamilton ; the second. Lady Beatrix, married Lord Jlax-

well; and the youngest. Lady Elizabeth, became the wife of

the regent Morton. These noblemen, therefore, stood in near

relationship to Mungo Mure of Rowallan, which they were

all very ready, the regent Morton in particular, to acknow-

ledge. Mungo Mure of Rowallan was with Robert Boyd of

the Kilmarnock family when he arrived, with a party of horse,

to the assistance of the regent Arran in the skirmish at Glas-

gow, in 1543, with the earl of Glencairn. In the Appendix

to the 'Historie' there is an account of " the behaviour of

the house of Kilmarnock towardis the house of Rowallane,

and of thair house towards them, ' in which he is thus refer-

red to: " It is understandit that Mungow Muir of Rowallane,

quhois mother wes Boyd, joynit with Robert Boyd guidmane

of Kilmarnock, in seeking revengenient of the slaughter of

James Boyd, the king's sisteris sone, quho sould have bene

Lord Boyd, hot befoir he was fullie restorrit was slaine be the

earl of Eglintoune. Nixt, my lord of Glencairne proponing

ane richt to the barronrie of Kilmarnock prociaimit ane court

to be holdin at the Knockanlaw, quhair the said Robert Boyd

guidmane of Kilmarnock and Mongow Muir of Rowallane,

with the assistance of thair friends, keipit the said day and

place of court, ofifirit battel to the said earl of Glencairn, and

stayit him from his pretendit court hoilding. Thridlie, the

foirsaid Robert Boyd guidmane of Kilmarnock, and the said

Mungow Muir of Rowallane, entirit in the field of Glasgow,

the said Mungow being lairglie better accompanied then the

foirsaid Robert, they behavit tliemselfe so valiantlie in that

fact that the Duik Hamiltone quho reckonit both his lyfe and

honour to be preservit be thair handis, maid the said Robert

Boyd, guidman of Kilmarnock, Lord Boyd, lyk also as he

revardit the said Mungow Muir with dyvers fair giftis. The

said Robert Boyd hichlie esteemit of the said Mungow Muir

of Rowallane and gave him the first place of honour al his

dayis, acknawleging the alteration of his estait to the worthi-

nes of the said Mungowis handis." This Mungo is particu-

larly mentioned as having greatly improved the old castle of

Rowallan. He was slain in battle at Pinkiefield " at the

black Satterday, in the yeare of our lord 1547." He married

Isabel, daughter of Sir Hugh Campbell of Loudoun, sheriff of

Ayr, and had five sons and six daughters.

His eldest son, John Mure of Rowallan, took great delight

in planting, and built a portion of Rowallan castle. He
" lived gratiouslie," says the ' Historic,' and " died in 1581, in

the 66th year of his age." The year is supposed to be a

mistake for 1591, as it is given in the family Genealogical

tree, drawn up in 1597. A 'letter of Sleance,' subscribed at

Irvine and Kilwinning, 16th and 17th March 1571, is insert-

ed in the Appendix to the ' Historic' so often quoted, from

Alexander Cowper, mason in Kilwinning, " wyth consent and

assent" of certain persons named, his " cheife and capitall

branchis, bayth on the father syde and mother syde," grant-

ing his remission, free forgiveness and pardon to John Mure

of Rowallan, William Mure, his son and heir, John Mure and

Mungo Mure, his sons, and two others, and "thair complices,

kin, freindis, allys, assistaris and parttakeris, the crewall

wonding, hurting and binding of me, the said Alexander, to

the great effusione of my blude, done and committit be the

saidis persones thair seruandis and complicis," in the month

of February, 1570. In March 1571 Robert Lord Boyd and

John Mure of Rowallan were charged by the regent Mar to

appear before the secret council, with a view to adjust the

feud which prevailed between the families of Kilmamock and

Rowallan. The account above quoted of the mutual friendly

offices between these ftimilies appears to have been drawn up

in reference to this charge. It recites many good deeds done

by the Mures to the Bcyds, in particular, amongst others,

that after Robert, master of Boyd, had slain Sir Neil Mont-

gomerie of Lainshaw, he was received and concealed by John

Muir of Rowallan, who, with his friends and servants, was

the means of saving his life, when pursued by the Montgom-

eries; and also that after the battle of Langside he kindly

received the said Robert, being then Lord Boyd, although he

had fallen into disfavour with the regent Moray, and much

more to the same purport. John JIuir of Rowallan subscribed

the bond in support of the Reformation in 15G2, and the

s.ame year he was a member of the Scottish estates. In

1568, when Queen Mary escaped from Lochleven castle, she

wrote the laird of Rowallan a letter dated 6th May that year,

requiring him to meet her at Hamilton, as soon as he could

muster his retainers, all well armed for her service. It does

not appear, however, that he complied with the summons.

In 1584 John Mure of Rowallan, " and his spouse and six

persons with them in company," received a license from James

VI., to eat flesh in Lent, and upon Wednesdays, Fridays, and

Saturdays " for ane zeir next hereafter," and in February 1588

he had the present of a gray courser from his kinsman, the earl

of Morton, on the latter going abroad. In the letter which
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accompanied the gift he says : " I thinlc ze sail find him als

meit an baikney for zour self or zour wife to ryd upoun as

ony uthur, for I cliosit liim to have been presentit to the

king quhen the Scots horse suld have been send to the duke

of Gwies." He married a daughter of Cunninghame of Cun-

ningliamehead, and had three sons and tljrce daughters. His

third son, i\Iungo Mure, received a remission, of date 1st

March 1607, for being concerned in the slaughter of Hew,

fourth earl of Eglintoun. He died in London in November

1632. Before his departure, we are told, he greatly lamented

the crying sinne of innocent blood."

William, the eldest son, succeeded his father. He was

" of a meik and gentle spirit, and delyted much in the study

of phisick, which he practised especiallie among the poore

people with very good success. He was ane religious man,

and died gratiouslie in tlie yeare of his age C9, the year of

our lordo IGIG." With three daughters he had three sons.

Sir William, who succeeded him; John Mure of Blacklaw,

who was slain at a combat at Beitb, and Hugh of Skirnalhuid.

Sir William, the eldest son, the ne.\t laird of Kowallan, is

described as " ane strong man of bodie, and delyted much in

hunting and balking." He died in 16,St), aged 63. He was

thrice niaiTied, and had issue by each of bis wives.

His eldest son, by his first wife, Elizabeth Montgomery,

daughter of tlie laird of Hazlehead, was WilMam Mure of

Rowallan, the eminent poet, a memoir of whom is given be-

low, in larger type. He was succeeded by bis eldest son. Sir

William Mure of Rowallan, in the end of lGo7. This Sir

William Mure was firmly attached to the Reformed doctrines,

and was the ititimate friend of the celebrated Mr. Guthrie,

first minister of Fenwick. It is said th.at conventicles were

held in the house of Rowallan during his time. Whether on

this account or not, it is certain that he suffered much during

the troubles of the Church of Scotlimd. He was imprisoned

in 1G65, in the castle of Stirling, with the lairds of Cunning-

hamhead and Nether-Pollock. When other gentlemen were

liberated upon the bond of peace in 1668, these three were

retained in conKnement, but in the year following, on the re-

moval of Bishop Burnet from Gbisgow, they presented a peti-

tion for release to the duke of L.auderdale, the commissioner,

which was granted. In 1C83 Sir William JIure again fell

under the .suspicion of the court, and was appreliended, with

his eldest son, in London. They were sent to Edinburgh and

committed prisoners to the Tolbooth. In the s.ame year his

second son, John, was taken prisoner, and carried to Edin-

burgh. In a short time tl}e health of the young laird of

Rowallan required indulgence, and he was allowed to be re-

moved from the prison to a private house. In April IGS-i,

they were both discharged, upon giving a bond of £2,000, to

appear when called upon. Sir AMlliam died in or about

1G86. He married about 1640, EMzabeth, daughter of James

Hamilton of Aikenbead, provost of Glasgow, and had two

sons and a daughter.

The elder son, William Mure of Rowidbin, the last lineal

representative of tlie family, was entered a student at the

university of Glasgow in 1660. His share in the afflictions

of his father has been already noticed. This did not shake

his attachment to the church for which be suffered. His

name frequently occurs in the records of the parish of Kil-

marnock. He is mentioned there, for the last time, in lG9o,

in a commission to defend a process of translation before the

synod. He was a member of the Scots parliament, and died

in 1700. He m.arried about 1670, Dame Mary Scott, appa-

rently heiress of CoUarny in Fife, by whom be had three

daughters, Anna, Marg,aret, and Jean. The latter, his only

surviving daughter .and sole heiress, married, first, William

Fairhe of Bruntsfield, near Edinburgh, afterwards designed

of Fairlie, to whom she had issue. Tradition still points out

the spot where Fairlie was m.arried to tlie heiress of Rowal-

lan. Tlie ceremony was performed by a curate, in the fields,

about a quarter of a mile from the house of Rowallan, at a

tree, still called the marriage tree, which stands on the top of

a steep bank, above that part of the stream called "Janet's

kirn." The Iieiress of Rowallan married, secondly, David,

first earl of Glasgow, and had to liim three daughters, Lady

Betty, who died in infancy; Lady Jean, who, by special des-

tination, succeeded to Rowallan, and Lady Anne, who died

unmarried. Jean Mure, countess of Glasgow, died Septem-

ber 3, 1724, and was succeeded by her elder surviving daugh-

ter of the second m.arriage. Lady Jean Boyle JIure of Rowal-

lan, who married the Hon. Sir James Campbell of Lawers,

K.B., third and youngest son of the second earl of Loudoun

(see vol. ii. p. 695). Their son, James Mure Campbell, suc-

ceeded to the estate of Rowallan, and was the fifth earl of

Loudoun (see Loudoun, fifth earl).

The Mures of Caldwell in Renfrewshire are directly de-

scended from Sir Reginald Mure of Abercorn and Cowdams,

who appears to have been chamberlain of Scotland as early

as 1329, the first year of the reign of David II. He is sup-

posed to have been the same Reginald whose name appears

with that of Gilchrist More in the Ragman Roll, as having

sworn fealty to Edw.ard L in 1296. His paternal inherit-

ance seems to have been Cowdams in Ayrshire, which be-

longed to him previously to 1326, as an agreement concern-

ing these lands between him and the monks of Paisley is

dated in that year. Mr. Mure of Caldwell is still their feudal

superior. Gilchrist More, here mentioned, was Sir Regi-

nald's son. He received the half of the estate of Caldwell

on his marriage with the daughter of Caldwell of that ilk.

Johannes Mure, jun. de Cowdams, appears in 1446, as one

of the commissioners for fixing the boundaries of the burgh
j

of Prestwick, near Ayr.

Sir Reginald, who was granduncle of the queen, Elizabeth

Mure, first wife of Robert I., acquired his extensive estates

of Abercorn, &c., in the Lothians and Stirlingshire, by mar-

riage with one of the coheiresses of Sir John Graham of Esk-

dale .and Abercorn. He adhered steadily to tlie cause of

D.avid II. in the Baliol wars with England, and was one of

the commissioners appointed in 1340 to tre.it with the lords

Percy, Moubray, and Neville of a truce between the two i

kingdoms. With one daughter, be had two sons, William,

who succeeded to Abercorn, and died without male issue, and

Gilchrist More, already mentioned, who carried on the line of

the family.

Sir Adam Mure, the fourth in succession from Gilchrist,

was knighted by James IV., and is supposed to have been

slain at the battle of Flodden. His son, John Mure of Cald-

well, on 20th Febru.ary 1515, took by assault, at the head of

liis followers, "the castle and palace" of the archbishop of

Glasgow, situated near the city, battering the walls in breach

" with artillery," and carrying oS a rich booty. He married

Lady Janet Stewart, daughter of Matthew earl of Lennox,

and gr.and-aunt of Lord Darnley, husband of Mary, queen of

Scots, and died in 1539. His eldest son, John Mure of

Caldwell, had, with other children, two sons, .lobn, his heir,

and William of Glanderstoun, ancestor of the Mures of Glan-

derstoun. The granddaughter of the latter was the mother

of the Rev. Willi.am Carstairs, a divine of great political in-

fluence in the reign of William III. (See vol. i. p. 600.)

Sir John, the elder son, was knighted by James V. He
was slain, 10th September 1570, by the Cunningbames of
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Cunninghaniehead and Kaebarne of tliat ilk, the same wlio

were afterwards principals in tlie murder of his cousin, Hugh,

earl of Eglintoun, in 1585.

His son, Sir Kobert Mure of Caldn ell, was one of the jury

appointed in 1580 to try the Lord Ruthven, high-treasurer of

Scotland, for the murder of David Rizzio. He was on terms

of great intimacy and confidence witli James VI., by whom
he was knighted, and to wliom he was related tlirough the

Lennoxes. Six letters addressed to him by that monarch,

preserved at Caldwell, have been inserted in the ' Selections

from the Caldwell Papers,' printed for the Maitland Club in

3 vols. 4to, in 1854. About 1610 the lands of Thornton near

Kilmarnock, long in possession of the family, were alienated

to a cadet, founder of the house of Mure of Thornton, tlie

I male line of which becoming extinct in 1701, in the person

of Sir Archibald JIure, lord provost of Edinburgh, the estate

passed by his heir female to John Cuningham of Caddell,

and is now held by his descendant, in feu of the Caldwell

family.

I

William Mure of Caldwell, the fourth in succession to Sir

1
Robert, was a staunch Covenanter. He and a few other

west-country gentlemen of similar sentiments, met in arms

at Chittei-fleet, in the parish of Beith, on 28th November

1666, and having collected a body of horsemen, amounting

to about fifty in all, and consisting chiefly of the tenantry of

' Caldwell and the neighbouring estates, they set out, under

Caldwell's command, to join Colonel Wallace of Achans, who

i was marching from Galloway in the direction of the Pent-

lands, by Lesmahago and Lanark. On the way, finding

themselves intercepted by the king's troops, under General

Dalzell, they retraced their steps, and dispersed. Caldwell

j

was attainted, fled to Holland, and died in exile. His estates

1
were bestowed on General Dalzell; and Caldwell's lady, a

daughter of Sir William Cunninghame of Cunninghamehead,

was imprisoned, with two of his daughters, in BLickness

castle, where she underwent much cruel persecution.

Barbara Mure, the second daughter, lived to obtain, by

special act of parliament, 19th July 1690, a full restoration

of the family estates. She married John Fairlie of that ilk,

but dying without issue, was succeeded, in 1710, by her kins-

man, William Mure, fourth laird of Glanderstoun, descended

from William, second son of the John Mure who inherited

Caldwell in 1539. This William Mure bore his share in the

persecution of the times, having been imprisoned and fined,

i on a charge of nonconformity, in 1683. A Journal of a tour

by him through England and the Netherlands in 1696, is

printed among the ' Caldwell Papers.' Dying without issue,

he was succeeded by his nephew, William Mure, eldest son

of Mure of Rhoddens in Ireland. His son, William Mure of

Caldwell, M.P. for Renfrewshire from 17-12 to 1761, was ap-

pointed one of the barons of the exchequer in Scotland in the

latter year. In 1753 he bought Wester or Little Caldwell

from the duke of Hamilton. The portion of the estate the

Mures had previously possessed was called Easter Caldwell.

Baron Mure was an intimate associate of David Hume the

historian, and the author of one or two tracts on speculative

points of political economy, printed for private circulation.

His correspondence and miscellaneous papers occupy the

greater part of two of the three volumes of the ' Caldwell

Papers.' He was rector of the university of Glasgow in

1764-5, and died in 1776.

His eldest son. Colonel William Mure of Caldwell, was the

friend of Sir John Moore, but early left the anny. He was

rector of the university of Glasgow in 1793-4. He married

Anne, eldest daughter of Sir J. Hunter Blair, bart. of Dun-
skev, with issue, and died February 9, U31.

Col. Mure's eldest son, William Mure of Caldwell, D.C.L.,

born July 9, 1799, was educated at Westminster, and studied

at Edinburgh and in Germany, where he imbibed that taste for

critical inquiry which made his name extensively known among
the scholars of modern Europe. He married in 1825, Laura, 2il

daughter of William Markham, Esq. of Bccea Hall, Yorkshire

with issue ; vice-lieutenant of Renfrewshire and colonel of its

militia; was M.P. for that county from 1846 to 1855; lord-

rector of Glasgow university in 1847-48 ; author of ' Brief

Remarks on the Chronology of the Egyptian Dynasties;

snowing the Fallacy of the System laid down by -Messrs.

Champollion, in Two Letters on the Museum cf Turin,' Lon-

don, 1829, 8vo ; ' A Dissertation on the Calendar of the Zo-

diac of Ancient Egypt, Edinburgh, 1832, 8vo ; 'A Tour in

Greece,' 1842; 'A Critical History of the Langu.age and

Literature of Ancient Greece,' 5 vols., 8vo, 1850-57 ; and the

compiler of the ' Caldwell Papers.' He died at London, April

1, 1860, in his 61st year.

His eldest son, William JIure of Caldwell, lieut.-colonel

Scots fusilier guards, m. 3d daughter of 1st Lord Leconfield.

David Mure, born in 1810, 3d son of Col. William Mure,

who died in 1831, p.assed advocate at the Scottish bar in the

latter ye.ar. In 1853 he was .appointed sheriff of Perthshire,

and in 1858 solicitor-general for Scotland; lord-advocate in

April 1859, and elected M.P. for Buteshire soon after.

The Mures of Auchindrane were long a flourishing family

in the south of Ayrshire. In 1611, John Mure of .Auchin-

drane was accused of the murder of a retainer of Kenneciy of

Colzean, committed where there were no witnesses, but which

was discovered in a remarkable manner. The corpse of the

murdered man had been buried in Girvan churchyard, but

the laird of Colzean dreaming of him in his sleep, caused his

bodj' to be taken up, and insisted on all who lived near to

come and touch the corpse. All did so but Auchindrane

and his son, whom nobody suspected, till his young daugh-

ter, Mary Mure, seeing the crowd, went in among them, and

when she came near the dead body, the blood sprang from it,

on which Auchindr.me was apprehended and put to the tor-

ture. 'The Auchindrane Tragedy,' founded on this murder,

is one of the dramatic compositions of Sir Walter Scott.

JIURE, Sir William, of Rowallan, a poet ot

the 17tli centuiy, was born in 15Qi. lie was tlie

eldest son of Sir William Mure of Rowallan, by

his wife, Elizabeth, daughter of Montgomery ot

Hazlehead, and sister of Alexander Montgomery,

author of ' The Cherrio and the Slae.' He ob-

tained an excellent classical education, and in his

early years began to cultivate a taste for poetiy.

The ' Historic' of his family above quoted says of

him: "This Sir William was pious and learned,

and had an excellent vein in poesie ; he delytcd

much in building and planting." Before his twen-

tieth year he attempted a poetical version of the

story of Dido and Eneas, from Virgil. In the

' Muse's Welcome,' a collection of poems and ad-

dresses made to King James on his visiting Scot-

land in 1G17, there is an address by Mure of Row-

allan. In 1628, he published a translation, in
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English sappliics, of Boyd of Troclirig's beautiful

Latin poem, ' Ilecatombe Christiana,' together

with a small original piece called 'Doomesday.'

His principal work is his 'True Crucifixe for true

Catholikes,' published at Edinburgh in 1629.

For some years afterwards he seems to have

been employed on a version of the Psalms, which

was much wanted in Scotland at that time. The

old English version was not popular; and the one

executed by King James and Sir William Alex-

ander of Menstric, subsequently earl of Stirling,

was so disliked that the bishops would not press

it upon the church. King James' version was

not sanctioned by the Assembly, and some ex-

pressions in it gave offence to the people, such as

the sun being called "The lord of light," and the

moon, " The pale lady of the night." Though this

I

version was rejected, still many wished that the

old one should be improved, or a better one sub-

stituted in its place. Several gentlemen attempt-

ed particular psabns ; but a version of the whole

was undertaken by Sir W. Mure of Rowallan,

which he seems to have finished in 1639. Prin-

cipal Baillie, who attended the Westminster As-

sembly, as a commissioner from the Church of

Scotland, in a letter, dated at London, January

1st, 1644, says, "I wish I had Eowallan's Psalter

licrc, for I like it better than any I have yet

seen." It docs not, however, appear that Sir

William's version was transmitted to the Assem-

bly. That of Mr. Rous, which was recommended

by the English parliament, was finally adopted,

and has ever since been used in Scotland ; but the

committee appointed iu 1650 to revise Mr. Rous's

version, were instructed to avail themselves of the

help of Sir William Mure's. (Historic and De-

scent of the House of Eowallane, pp. 92—94.)

During the civil war. Sir William Mure took

arms on the popular side. In the first army raised

i against the king, he commanded a company in the

Ayrshire regiment, and was a member of the con-

vention of 1643, by which the Solemn League and

Covenant was ratified with England. He was a

member of the ' Committee of warre' for the sher-

itfdom of Ayr in 1644, and in the beginning of

that year he accompanied the Scots army which

marched to the aid of the parliamentary cause,

and was woundod at the battle of Longmarston

Moor, July 2. He was also present at the storm-

ing of Newcastle, in the following month. He
died in the end of 1657. Specimens of his poems,

many of which are still in manuscript, will bo

found in Lyle's ' Ancient Ballads and Songs,' pub-

lished at London in 1827. Sir William INIure was

twice married, first, in 1615, when only twenty-

one, to Anna, daughter of Dundas of Newliston,

by whom he had five sons and six daughters;

and, secondly, to Dame Jane Hamilton, Lady

Duntreath, by whom he had two sons and two

daughters. His second son. Captain Alexander

Mure, was slain in the war against the rebels in

Ireland ; another of them, Patrick, the youngest

son of the first marriage, was created a baronet

of Nova Scotia in 1622. The title is now extinct.

i

Murray, a very common surname in Scotland, the origin
\

of which has .ilready been explained ; see Athoi,, duke of,

(vol. i. p. 1G4,) .md iMouAV, a surname, (page 204 of this
j

volume). An account of the Murrays of Tullibardine, the

ancestors of the Atliol family, is given under the former head,
'

and tliose of liothwell and Abcrcairney under tlie hitter.

Tlie first baronet of the family of Murray of Blackbarony.

was Sir Archibald Murray, who was created a baronet of
|

Nova Scotia, Jlay 15, 1G28. He was the son of Sir John
|

Murray, eldest son of Andrew Murray of Blackbarony, wliose
j

ancestors had been seated at Blackbarony for five genera-

tions prior to 1552. Sir John was the brother of Sir Gideon

Murr.iy, lord-high-treasurer of Scotland and a lord of session,

father of the first Lord Elibank, (see vol. ii. p. 128,) and of

Sir William Murray, ancestor of tlie Clermont family. Lieu-

ten.ant-colonel Sir Archibald John Murr.ay, baronet of Black- I

barony, formerly of the Scots fusilier guards, son of Sir John

Murray, baronet of Blackbarony, by his wife, Anne Digby, of

the noble family of Digby, died, without issue, Jlay 22, 18G0.

He w.as succeeded by his brother. Sir John Digby Murray,

b.aronet, born in 1798, married, Ist, in 1823, Miss Susannah

Cuthbert, issue one son, John Cuthbert; 2dly, in 1827, Fran-

ces, daughter and coheiress of Peter Patten Bold, Esq., M.P.,

of Bold Hall, Lancashire; issue, 3 sons and 4 daughters.

I

The family of JIurray of Clermont, Fifesliire, which pos-

sesses a baronetcy (date 1626), is a branch of the ancient

house of JIurray of Blackbarony, wliose baronetcy is dated

two years later. Sir William Murray, 4tli .and youngest son

of Sir Andrew Jlurr.iy of Blackbarony, who lived in the reign
j

of JIary, queen of Scots, was knighted by James VL, and
j

having acquired tlie est.ate of Clermont in Fifeshire, it be-

came the designation of his family. His only son, William

Murray of Clermont, was created a baronet of Nova Scotia,
j

July 1, 1G26. Sir James Murray, 5th baronet, receiver-

general of the customs in Scotland, died in February 1G99,

without issue, when the title devolved on his nephew, Sir

Kobert Murray, 6th baronet, who died in 1771. His elde>t

son. Sir .lames Murriiy, 7th baronet, a distinguished militaiy

officer during the first American war, was aujutant-gener.-d

of the forces serving on the continent in 1793. He m.arricd

in 1794 the countess of Bath in her own right, and in conse-
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quence assumed tlie surname and arms of Pultenev. He
subsequently held the office of secretary at war; was colonel

of the 18tli foot, and a general in the army. He died April

26, 1811, leaving no issue, when his half-brother, Sir John
Muiray, became 8th baronet. Sir John was a lieutenant-

general in the army, and colonel of the 56th foot. He died,

without issue, in 1827, when the title and estates devolved

upon his brother, the Rev. Sir William Murray, who died

May 14, 1842. The eldest son of the latter. Sir James Pnl-

teney Murray, 10th baronet, died unmarried, Feb. 2, 1843.

His brother, Sir Rubert MuiTay, born Feb. 1, 1815, became

11th baronet; married, in 1839, Sus.an-Catherine Sanders,

widow of Adolphns Cottin Murray, Esq., and 2d daughter

and co-heir of John Murray, Esq. of Ardeleybury, Herts,

lineally descended from Sir William Murray, father of 1st

earl of Tullibardine ; with issue, a son, William Robert, 23d
tusiliers, born in 1840, and- a daughter.

The first baronet of the Stanhope family was Sir William

Murray of Stanhope, an active supporter of the royal cause

during the civil wars, who for his loyalty was created a bar-

onet of Nova Scotia, after the Restoration, with remainder to

his heirs male whatsoever, 13th February 1664. His ances-

tor, John Murray of Falahill, descended from Archibald de

Moravia, mentioned in the chartnlary of Newbottle in 1280,

was known in histoiy as the outlaw Murray. He died in

the early part of the reign of James V. His exploits are com-

memorated in one of the ballads of the ' Minstrelsy of the Scot-

tish Border.' He married Lady Margaret Hepburn, and had.

with three daughters, two sons. His eldest son, John Mur-

ray of Falahill, was ancestor of the Mnrrays of Philiphaugh.

His second son, William Murray, married Janet, daughter

and heiress of William Romanno of that ilk, Peebles-sliire,

and had a son, William Murray of Romanno, living in De-

cember 1531. Tlie gi'eat-grandson of the latter. Sir David

Murray, who was knighted by Charles I., acquired the lands

of Stanhope in the same county, and was the father of Sir

William Murray, the first baronet of Stanhope. Sir David

Murray, the fourth baronet, was implicated in the rebellion

of 1745, and received sentence of death at York the follow-

ing year, but was subsequently pardoned on condition of his

leaving the country for life. The family estates were sold

under the authority of the court of session. Sir David died

in exile, without issue, when the representation of the family

devolved on his uncle, Charles Murray, collector of the cus-

toms at Borrowstownness, who, had the title not been forfeit-

ed, would have been fifth baronet. His son. Sir David Mur-

ray, died without issue at Leghorn, 19th October 1770. The

representation of the family then devolved on John Murray

of Brougliton, the well-known secretary to Prince Charles.

This personage having assumed the title after the general act

iif revisal, became Sir John Mtu"ray of Brougliton, baronet.

He married Margaret, daughter of Colonel Robert Ferguson,

lirother of William Ferguson of Carloch, Nithsdale, and had

ihree sons, David, his heir, Robert, and Thomas, the last a

lieutenant-general in the army. Sir John died 6th Decem-

l>er 1777. His eldest son. Sir David, a naval officer, was

succeeded, on his death in June 1791, by his brother. Sir

Robert, ninth baronet. The son of the latter. Sir David,

Viecame the tenth baronet in 1794, and on his death, without

Issue, was succeeded by his brother, Sir John Murray, elev-

enth baronet
;
married, with issue.

The first baronet of the Ochtertyre family was William

Moray of Ochtertyre, who was created a baronet of Nova

Scotia, with remainder to his heirs male, 7th June 1673.

He was descended from Patrick Moray, the first styled of
Ochtertyre, who died in 1476, a son of Sir David Moray of
Tullib.irdine. The family continued to spell their name Mo-
ray till 1739, when the present orthography was adopted by
Sir William, 3d baronet. Sir William Murray, 5th baronet,

married Lady Augusta Mackenzie, youngest daughter of 3d
earl of Cromartie; issue, 3 sons and 2 daughters. He died

in 1800. Of General Sir George Murray, G.C.B., his second

son, a memoir is given at page 232 in larger tvpe.

The eldest son. Sir Patrick Murray, 6th baronet, born Feb.

3, 1771, passed advocate at the Scottish bar in 1793, and was
appointed a baron of the court of exchequer in Scotland in

1820. He died June 1, 1837. By his wife. Lady Mary Hope,

youngest daughter of the 2d earl of Hopetoun, he had 6 sons

and 4 daughters. Capt. John JIurr.iy, the 2d son, assumed

the name of Gartshore, on succeeding to the estate of that

name in Dumbartonshire. (See vol. ii. page 284.)

Sir William Keith Murray, tlie eldest son, 7th baronet of

Ochtertyre, born in 1801, married 1st, Helen Margaret Oli-

phant, only child and heiress of Sir Alexander Keitli of Dun-

nottar, knight marischal of Scotland; issue, 10 sons and 3

daughters
;
2dly, Lady Adelaide, youngest d;mghter of 1st

marquis of Hastings. He assumed the name of Keith, on his

marriage with his first wife, and on her death in Oct. 1852,

his eldest son, Patrick, born Jan. 27, 1835, captain grena-

dier guards, (retired in June 1861,) succeeded to the estates

of Dunnottar, Kincardineshire, and Ravelston, Mid Lothian.

Sir William died Oct. 16, 1861, when his eldest son. Sir Pa-

trick, became 8th baronet.

The Murrays of Toucliadam are supposed to derive from

the Morays, lords of Bothwell. Their progenitor. Sir Wil-

liam de Moravia, designed of S.anfovd, joined Robert the

Bruce, but being taken prisoner by the English, was sent to

London in 1306, and remained in captivity there until ex-

changed after the battle of Bannockburn. His son and suc-

cessor, Sir Andrew de Moravia, called by David IL " our

dear blood relation," obtained from that monarch a charter

of the lands of Kepmad in Stirlingshire, dated 10th May
1365. This was his first acquisition in that county. On
28th July 1369 he received another royal charter of the lands

of Toulcheadam, as Touchadam was then called, and Tulch-

maler, in the same county. His great-grandson and repre-

sentative, William Muiray of Touchadam, was scvtifer to

James II. , and was appointed constable of Stirling castle

imder James TIL His eldest son, David MuiTay of Touch-

adam, having no issue, made a resignation of his whole estate

to his nephew, John Murray of Gawamore, captain of the

king's guiirds and lord provost of Edinburgh, who succeeded

to the same on the death of his uncle, about 1474. He was

a firm and devoted adherent of J.ames IIL, and .nfter the bat-

tle of Sauchieburn he was deprived of a considerable portion

of his lands. A great number of the family writs were at

the same time embezzled or lost. His son, William Murray,

the seventh from the founder of the family. Sir Andrew de

Mora\-ia, about 1568, married Agnes, one of the daughters

and coheiresses of James Cuninghame of Polmaise, Stirling-

shire, whereby he acquired that estate. His son and succes-

sor. Sir John Murray, knight, got a charter under the great

seal of the lands and barony of Polmaise, 8th April 1588.

His grandson. Sir William Murray of Touchadam and Pol-

maise, obtained from Charles I. a charter of the lands of

Cowie in 1636. During the civil wars, he supported the

royal cause, and was at the battle of Preston in 1648, when

the army of the royalists under the duke of Hamilton was

defeated. In 1654 he was fined by Cromwell £1,500.
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William Murray of Touchadaiii and I'olmaise succeeded his

father, William Wuiray of Toucbadam, Polmaise, and Pitlo-

cliie in Fife, in 1814. He died in 1847, when his cousin,

John Murray, born in 1797, the 19th from Sir Andrew de

Moravia, succeeded. He married in 1830, Elizabeth, daugh-

ter of James Bryce, Esq. Edinburgli, with issue. His eldest

son, John, captain grenadier guards, was born in 1831.

The first on record of the family of Murray of Pliiliphaugli

in Selkirlvshire, Archibald de Moravia, mentioned in the char-

tulary of Newbottle in 1280, was also descended, it is sup-

posed, from tlie Morays, lords of Bothwell. In 129C l)e swore

fealty to Edward I. His son, Roger de RIoravia, obtained in

1321, from James, Lord Douglas, the superior, a charter

of tlie lands of Fala, subsequently designated Falahill, for

many years the chief title of the family. The 5tb in direct

descent from Roger was John Murray of Falaliill, the celebrat-

ed outlaw, who took possession of Ettrick Forest witli 500 men,

" a' in ae liverye clad,

0' the Lincome grene .sae gaye to see
;

" He and his hidye in purple clad,

0 ! gin they lived not royallie !

"

The king, James IV., sent James Boyd to bini,

" The earle of Arran his brother was he,"

to ask him of whom he held his lands, and desiring him to

come and be the king's " man,"

" And bald of him yon forcste free."

On Boyd delivering tliis message to him,

"Thir landis are mine! the outlaw said;

1 ken nae king in Christentie;

Fr;ie Soudron I this foreste wan,

When the king nor his knightis were not to see."

And he declared his intention to keep it

" Contrair all kingis in Christentie."

The king, in consequence, set forth at the head of a large

force, to punish the outlaw, and force him to submission.

The outlaw summoned to his aid his kinsmen Murray of

Cockpool and Murray of Traquair, who hastened to Ettrick

with all their men. The barony of Traquair before it came

into the possession of the Stuarts (earls of Traquair) was the

property of the family of JIuiTay, ancestors of the Murrays of

Blackbarony. The lands of Traquair were forfeited by Wil-

lielmus de Moravia previous to 14G4. They were aftenvards,

by a charter from the crown dated 3d February 1478, con-

veyed to James Stewart, earl of Buclian, son of the black

knight of Lome, from whom they descended to the earls of

Traquair. On the approach of the royal force, the outlaw,

'' with four in his cumpanie," came and knelt before the king

and said,

" I'll give thee the keys of my castell,

Wi' tlie blessing o' my gay ladye.

Gin thou'lt make me sherifle of this Foreste,

And a' my oflspring after me."

l"o this the king consented, glad to receive his submission cn

III.

any terms, and the usual ceremony of feudal investiture w."s '

gone through, by the outlaw resigning his possessions into

the hands of the long, and receiving them back, to be held

of him as superior.

" He was made sherifle of Ettricke Foreste,

Surely while upward grows the tree;

And if lie was na truitour to the king,

Forfaulted he suld never be."

It is certain that, by a charier from James IV., dated No-

vember 30, 1509, John Murray of Philiphaugh is vested with

the dignity of heritable sheriff of Ettrick Forest, which in-
;

eluded the greater part of what is now Selkirkshire, an office
j

held by liis descendants till the abolition of the heritable

jurisdictions in 1747. " The tradition of Ettrick Forest,"

s.ays Sir Walter Scott, in his introduction to 'The Sang of

the Outlaw Murray,' in the ' Minstrelsy of the Scottish Bor-

der,' " bears that the outlaw was a man of prodigious strength,

possessing a baton or club, with which he laid lee (i. e. waste)

the country for many miles round, and that he was at length

slain by Bucclcuch, or some of his clan, at a little mount,

covered with fir trees, adjoining to Newark castle, and said

to have been part of the garden. A varyijig tradition bears

the place of his death to have been near to the house of the

duke of Buccleuch's gamekeeper, beneath the castle, and that

the fatal arrow was shot by Scott of Haining from the ruins

of a cottage on the opposite side of the Yarrow. There was

extant, within these twenty years, some verses of a song on

his death. The feud betwixt the outlaw and the Scotts may
serve to explain the asperity with which the chieftain of that

clan is handled in the ballad." Tlie laird of Buccleuch liad

counselled " fire and sword " against the outlaw; for, says he,

" He lives by reif and felonie !

"

But the king gave him this rebuke

:

" And round him cast a wilie ee,

—

Now, baud thy tongue. Sir Walter Scott,

Nor speak of reif nor felonie :•

—

For, had every honest man his awin kye,

A right puir clan thy name wad be !

"

The outlaw's wife. Lady Margaret Hepburn, w:is the daugh-

ter of the first earl of Bothwell. He had two sons, James,

his heir, and William, ancestor of the Murrays of Ronianna,

afterwards Stanhope, baronets, (see previous page).

James Murray of Falahill, the elder son, died about 1529,

and his son, Patrick Murray of Falahill, obtained, under the

great seal, a charter, dated 28th Jaiiuaiy 1528, of the lands

of Philiphaugh, situated near the royal burgh of Selkirk, and

celebrated as the scene of the .signal defeat of the marquis of

Montrose, loth September 1645, by General Leslie. The hol-

low under the mount adjoining the ruins of Newark castle,

mentioned above as the place where the outlaw Murray is

said to have been slain, is called by the country people Slain-

man's-lee, in which, according to tradition, the Covenanters,

a d.ay or two after the battle of Philiphaugh, put m.any of

their prisoners to death. A number of human bones were, at

one period, found there, in making a drain.

Patrick's great-great-grandson. Sir John Murray of Philip-

haugh, knight, was appointed by the Scottish Estates one of

the judges for trying those of tlie counties of Roxburgh and

Selkirk, who had joined the standard of Montrose in 1646.

In 1649 he claimed £12,014, for the damages he had sus-

tained from Jlontrose. He died in 1G7C.

1'
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His eldest son, Sir James Murray of Pliilipliaugli, burn in

1G55, was Hilmitted a lord of session in 1680, and appointed

lord-register iu 1705. On liIs deatli in 1708, lie was suc-

ceeded by bis eldest son, Jobn JIurray of Pliilipbaugli, M.P.

from 1725 till Iiis decease in 1753. 'i'liis gentleman's fourtb

son, Charles, married u sister of Robert Scott, Esq. of Danes-

field, Bucks, and was grandfather of Charles Robert Scott

Jlurray, Esq. of Danesfield, M.P. for that county.

The eldest son, John Murray of Philiphangli, was several

times M.P. for the county of Selkirk, and once for tlie Sel-

kirk burghs, after a severe and expensive contest with Mr.

Dundas. He died in 1800. His eldest son, John Murray of

Philiphaugh, died, unmarried, in 1830, and was succeeded by

his only surviving brother, James JIunay of Philiphaugh,

the 17th of the family, in a direct line; married, wltli issue.

The Murrays of Lintrose, Perthshire, are a junior branch

of the Murrays of Ochtertyre, being derived from i^Inngo

Murraj', born loth July 1G62, youngest son of Sir William

MuiTay of Ochtertyre, baronet, by Isabel, his wife, the

daughter of John Oliphant, Esq. of Bachelton. Captain

William Jlurray, a son of this family, served with the 42d

Highlanders, under Wolfe, in America, and afterwards in the

West Indies. Subsequently, with the rank of major in the

same distinguished regiinent, he served under General Howe

against the American revolutionists. On the 15th Septem-

ber 1776, when the reserve of the British army were in pos-

session of the heights above New York, Major Murray was

nearly carried off by the enemy, but saved himself by his

strength and presence of mind. Attacked by an American

ofHcer and two soldiers, he kept his assailants at bay for

.some time with his fusil ; but closing upon him, his dirk

slipped behind him, and being a corpulent man, he was una-

ble to reach it. Snatching the sword of the American officer

from him, he soon compelled the party to retreat. He wore the

sword as a trophy during tlie campaign. He became lieu-

tenant-colonel 27th regiment, and died the following year.

The Murrays of Cringletie, Peebles-shire, are descended

from a junior branch of the family of Jlurray of Blackbarony.

James Wolfe Murray, Esq. of Cringletie, born in 181-i, eldest

son of James Wolfe Jlurray, Lord Cringletie, a senator of the

College of .lustice, by Isabella Katherine, daughter of Jam;s

Charles Edward Stuart Strange, Esq., (godson of Prince

Charles Edward.) succeeded his father in 183G
;
appointed

to 4;2d Royal Highlanders in 1833; married iji 1852, Eliz.i-

beth Charlotte, youngest daughter of John Whyte Melville,

Esq., and grand-daughter of 5th duke of Leeds, with issue.

His son, James Wolfe Murray, born in 1853.

Other old families of the name are the Jlurravs of Brough-

ton, Wigtownshire; Murray of Murraytliwaite, Dumfries-

shire; and Jlurray of JIurrayshall, Perthshire. The family

of JIurraythwaitc have been settled there since about 1421.

The Jlurnays of Murrayshall derive in the male line from

the ancient family of Gra;me of Balgowan, and in the female,

from that of Jlurray, Lord Balvaird, (see vol. i. p. 231,)

whose eldest son succeeded as Viscount Stormont, (see Stok-
MONT. Viscount of). John Jlurray, advocate, son of An-
drew Jlurray of JIurr.ayshall, at one period sheriff of Aber-

deenshire; born in ISOD, succeeded in 1847; m. in 1853,

Robina, dr. of Thomas Hamilton, ICsq. ; educated at Edin-

burgh university, JI.A. 1828. Passed advocate in 1831.

The Murrays of Henderland, Pccbics-sliiie, have given two

judges to the court of session, namely, Alexander JIurrav,

Lord Henderland, who died in 1795, and his second son. Sir

John Archibald JIuiTay, appointed in 1830, when he assumed

the judici:d title of Lord Jlurray. He had previously been

lord-advoc.-ite, and recorder of the great roll, or clerk of the

pipe, in tlie court of exchequer, Scotland, a sinecure office

which had also been held by his father, and was resigned by

Lord JIurr.ay, some time before his first appointment as lord-

advocate in 1834. He was JLP. for the Leith district of

burghs from 1832 to 1838. He died in 1859.

MURRAY, Sir Robert, one of the founders

and the first president of tlie Roj-al Society of

London, was tlie son of Sir Robert Murraj^ of

Craigie, by a daugliter of George Halket of Pit-

ferran. He is supposed to liave been born about

tlie beginning of tlie seventeenth century, and re-

ceived his education partly at St. Andrews and

partly in France. Earlj^ in life lie entered the

French arnij', and became so great a favourite

with Cardinal Richelieu that he soon obtained the

rank of colonel. He returned to Scotland about

the time that Charles I. took refuge with the Scots

arm}'
;
and, while his mnjesty was with the latter

at Newcastle in December 1646, he formed a plan

for the king's escape, which was only frustrated

b}' Charles' want of resolution. "The design,"

says Burnet, " proceeded so tar that the king put

himself in disguise, and went down the back stairs

with Sir Robert Murray ; but his majesty, appre-

hending it was scarce possible to pass through all

the guards without being discovered, and judging

it highly indecent to be catclicd in such a condi-

tion, changed his resolution, and returned back."

In May 1651, being then in Scotland with Charles

II., he was appointed justice-clerk, an office which

appears to have remained vacant since the depri-

vation of Sir John Hamilton in 1G49. A few days

after he was sworn a privy councillor, and in the

succeeding June was nominated a lord of session,

but he never exercised the functions of a judge.

At the Restoration he was reappointed a lord of

session, and also justice-clerk, and made one of

the lords auditors of the exchequer; but these

appointments were merely nominal, to secure his

support to the government; for, though he was

properly the first who had the style of lord-justice-

clerk, he was ignorant of the law, and it does not

appear that he ever sat on the bench at all. He

was high in favour with the king, Charles II., by

whom ho was employed in his chemical processes,

and was, indeed, the conductor of his laboratory.

He was succeeded in the office of justice-clerk in
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1663 by Sir Joliii Home of Rciiton; and in 16G7

he had a considerable sliare in the direction of

public atl'airs in Scotland, -wlicn, not being so ob-

stinately bent oil the establishment of Ei>iscopac3'

as some of his colleagues, an unusual degree of

moderation marked for a time tlie proceedings of

the government. Sir Robert's principal claim to

distinction, however, consists in his having been

one of the founders of the Royal Society of Lon-

don, and its first president. " While he lived,"

says Bishop Burnet, " he was the life and soul of

that body." He was a member of almost all its

committees and councils, and besides assisting in

obtaining its charter, in July 1G22, and in framing

its statutes and regulations, was indefatigably

zealous in promoting its interests in every respect.

Several of his papers, chiefly on the phenomcmx of

the tides, on the mineral of Liege, and on other

scientific sidijects, are inserted among the early

contents of the riiilosophical Transactions. Sir

Robert IMurray, who had married a sister of Lord

Balcarrcs, died suddenly, in his pavilion, in the

Garden of "Whitehall, July 4, ICTo, and was in-

terred at the king's expense in AVestminstcr Ab-

bey.

MURR.\Y, TnoM.vs, an eminent portrait paint-

er, was born in Scotland in 1666 ; and at an early

age went to London, where he became a pupil of

Riley, state-painter to Charles IT., and successor

to Sir Peter Lcly. lie studied nature carefully,

and in his colouring and style imitated his mas-

ter, Riley. He painted portraits with great suc-

cess and credit ; and being em]iloyed by the royal

family, as also by many of the nobility, he ac-

quired, in the course of time, a considerable for-

tune. The portrait of i\Iurray, by liimsclf, is

honoured with a place in the gallery of painters

at Florence. He died in 1721.

MURRAY, r.\Tuicic, fifth Lord Eiibank, a

learned and accomplished nobleman, sec Elibank,

Lord, vol. ii. p. 130.

MURRAY, Wiixi.vM, first carl of INIansfield, a

celebrated lawyer and statesman, the fourth son

of David, fifth Viscount Stormont, was born at

Perth, ]\[arch 2, 170.'). He was removed to Lon-

don in 1708, and in 1719 was admitted a king's

scholar at Westminster school. In June 1723 he

was entered at Christ church, Oxford, ^^here he

distinguished himself by his classical attaimnents.

In 1730 he took the degree of IM.A., and after-

wards travelled for some time on the Continent.

Having become a student at Lincoln's Inn, he was

called to the bar at Michaelmas term 1731. Ilis

abilities Avere first displayed in ap])cal cases before

the House of Lords, and he gradiiall}' rose to em-

inence in his profession. In 1736 he was em-

ployed as one of the counsel for the lord provost

and town council of Edinburgh, to oppose in par-

liament the Bill of Pains and Penalties, which af-

terwards, in a modified form, passed into a law

against them, on account of the Portcons riots.

For his exertions on this occasion, he was pre-

sented with the freedom of the city of Edinburgh

in a gold box. In iSJovember 1742 he was ap-

pointed solicitor-general in the room of Sir John

Strange, who had resigned. About the same time

he obtained a seat in the House of Commons, as

member for Boroughbridge, in Yorkshire. His

eloquence and legal knowledge soon rendered him

very powerful in debate, and as he was a strenu-

ous defender of the duke of Newcastle's ministry,

he was frequently opposed to Pitt, afterwards earl

of Chatham ; these two being considered the best

speakers of their respective parties. In March

1746 he was appointed one of the managers for

the impeachment of Lord Lovat, and the candour

and ability which he displayed on the occasion

received the acknowledgments of the prisoner

himself, as well as of the Lord-chancellor Talbot,

Avho presided on the trial.

In 1754 Mr. Murray snccceded Sir Dudley Ry-

der as attorney-general, and on the death of that

eminent lawver, in Xovember 1756, he became
j

lord-chief-justice of the king's benc.i. Immedi-
j

ately after he was created a iicer of the realm, b\'
j

the title of Baron Mansfield, in the county of Xot-

tingham. He was also, at the same lime, sworn

a member of the privy council, and, contrary to

general custom, became a member of the cabinet.

During the unsettled state of the ministry in 1757,

his lordship held, for a few mouths, the office of

chancellor of the exchequer, and during that pe-

riod he cfl'ectcd a coalition of parties, which led to

the formation of the administratio)i of his rival

Pitt. The same j^ear, on the retirement of Lord

Hardwicke, he declined the otTer of the great sea!,
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which he did twice afterwards. During the Rock-

ingham administration in 1765, Lord Mansfield

acted for a short time witli the opposition, espe-

cially as regards the bill for repealing the stamp

act. As a judge his conduct was visited with the

severe animadversions of Junius, and made the

subject of much unmerited attack in both houses

of parliament. He was nniforml}' a friend to re-

ligious toleration, and on various occasions set

himself against vexatious prosecutions founded

upon oppressive laws. On the other hand, he in-

curred much popular odium by maintaining that,

in cases of libel, the jury were only judges of the

fact of publication, and had nothing to do with

the law, as to libel or not. This was particularly

shown in the case of the trial of the publishers of

Junius' letter to the king.

With regard to his thrice refusal of the great

seal. Lord Campbell, in his Lives of the Chief

Justices of the King's Bench, (vol. iii. p. 469,)

saj's, "In 1770, the king and the duke of Grafton,

repeatedly urged Lord Mansfield to become lord

chancellor, but whatever his inclination may have

been when Lord Bute was minister, in the present

ricketty state of aff'airs he peremptorily refused the

office, and suggested that the great seal should be

given to Charles Yorke, who had been afraid that

he would snatch it from him. By Lord Mans-

field's advice it was that the king sent for Charles

Yorke, and entered into that unfortunate negotia-

tion with him which terminated so fiitally—oc-

casioning the comparison between tliis unhappy

man, destroyed by gaining his wish, and Semele

perishing by the lightning she had longed for.

For some months the chief justice presided on the

woolsack as Speaker of the House of Lords, and

exercised almost all the functions belonging to the

office of the Lord Chancellor."

In October 1776, having been previously cre-

ated a knight of the Tiiistle, Lord Mansfield

was advanced to the dignity of an earl of the

United Kingdom by the title of earl of Mansfield,

with remainder to the Stormont family, as he had

no issue of his own. During the famous London

riots of June 1780, his house in Bloomsbury

Square was attacked and set fire to by the mob,

in consequence of his having voted in favour of

the bill for the relief of the Roman Catholics, and

all his furniture, pictures, books, manuscripts, and

other valuables, were entirely consumed. His

lordship himself, it is said, made his escape in

disguise, before the flames burst out. He declined

the ofi'er of compensation from government for the

destruction of his property. The infirmities of

age compelled him, June 3, 1788, to resign the

office of chief-justice, which he had filled with

distinguished reputation for thirty-two years.

The latter part of his life was spent in retirement,

principally at his seat at Caen Wood, near Hamp-

stead. He died March 20, 1793, and was buried

in Westminster Abbey. The earldom, which was

granted again by a new patent in July 1792, de-

scended to his nephew. Viscount Stormont. (See

Stormont, Viscount of) A life of Lord Mans •

field, by Holliday, was published in 1797, and

another, by Thomas Roscoe, appeared in 'Tlie

Lives of British Lawyers,' in Lardner's Cyclopaedia.

MURRAY, Lord George, lieutenant-general

of the rebel Highland army in 1745-6, was the

fourth son of the first duke of Athol, and brother

of the second duke. Born in 1705, he took a

share in the insurrection of 1715, though then but

ten years old, and he was one of the few persons

who joined the Spanish forces which were defeat-

ed at Glenshiel in 1719. He afterwards served

several years as an officer in the king of Sardinia's

army ; but having obtained a pardon he returned

from exile, and was presented to George I. by his

brother the duke of Athol. He joined Prince

Charles at Perth in September 1745, and was im-

mediately appointed lieutenant-general of the in-

surgent forces. The battle of Preston, where he

commanded the left wing of the prince's army,

was, in a great measure, gained through his per-

sonal intrepidity. " Lord George, " says the

chevalier Johnstone, in his ' Memoirs of the

Rebellion,' " at the head of the first line, did

not give the enemy time to recover from their

panic. He advanced with such rapidity that

General Cope had hardly time to form his troops

in order of battle when the Highlanders rushed

upon them, sword in hand, and the English cav-

alry was instantly thrown into confusion."

On the advance of the rebel army into England,

Lord George had the command of the blockade of

Carlisle, which soon surrendered. Owing to the
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intrigues of Murray of Brougliton, secretary to

the prince, wliose " nnbouiided amljilioii," wc arc

told, " from tlic beginning aimed at iiotliing less

than the whole direction and nianngemeiit of every

thing," Lord George was induced, at this time, to

resign his command as one of the lieutenant-gen-

erals of the army, acquainting the prince that

thenceforward he would serve as a volunteer. At

the siege of Carlisle, the duke of Perth had acted

as principal commander, and Lord George, it was

tliought, \ras not willing to serve nnder liim for

the rest of the campaign. The duke, liowever,

subscqnently declined the i)rincipal command,

wlien Lord George, wlio had resumed his place,

became general of the army under the prince.

He was the first to recommend the retrograde

movement from Derby, of which he offered to un-

dertake the conduct. In that memorable retreat

he commanded the rear-guard, and contrived to

keep the English forces efi'ectiially in check. Be-

ing delayed hy the breaking down of some bag-

gage waggons, the enemy came upon him at

Clifton in Cumberland. His force consisted of

about a thonsand men, and he applied to the

prince, who was then at Penrith with the main

body of tlic army, for a reinforcement. Instead

of receiving it, however, orders were sent to him

to pursue his retreat
;
but, after requesting the

messenger to keep secret the orders he had brought,

he determined to attack the enemy with what

force he had. He, therefore, drew np his troops in

order of battle, and the English, nnder the duke

of Cumberland, came up just as the sun was

setting. After making his hasty arrangements,

which were not completed till it was quite dark,

he made a powerful charge upon the English,

lighted by the moon which broke at intervals

through the dark clouds. The English cavalry

were forced back with a severe loss, while the

Iliglilanders lost but twelve men.

At the battle of Falkirk, Lord George had the

commaml of the right wing, and took his place at

the head of the Macdonalds of Keppoch, with his

drawn sword in his hand, and his tnrget on his

arm. When the English dragoons came within

ten or twelve paces of him, he gave orders to fire.

"The cavalry closing their ranks, which were

opened by tin-; discharge," says Johnstone, '"put

spurs to their horses, and rushed upon the High-

landers at a hard trot, breaking their ranks, and

throwing down everything before them. A most

extraordinary combat followed. The Highland-

ers, stretched upon the ground, thrust their dirks

into the bellies of tlie horses : some seized the

riders by their clothes, dragged them down, and

stabbed them with their dirks
; several of them

again nsed pistols, but few of them had sufficient

.space to handle their swords."' This victor}', like

that at Preston, was, in a great measure, achieved

by the personal bravery of Lord George Murray,

thongh the prince himself commanded.

On arriving at Inverness, Lord George received

information of various cruelties practised by the

English troops on the people of Athol. He " set

off instantly," says Johnstone, "with the clnn of

-Vthol, to take vengeance for these outrages, and

he conducted his march so well, passing through

b3'ewn3'S across the mountains, that the eneni}'

had no information of his approach. Having

planned his march so as to ari-ive at Athol in the

beginning of the night, the detachment separated,

dividing itself into small parties, every gen-

tleman taking the shortest road to his own house,"

and in this way all the English were surprised at

their posts. jVfany were put to the sword, and

about 300 were made prisoners. Sir Andrew Ag-

new, who held the castle of P>lair, marched out

with a detachment to ascertain who they were

that had attacked his posts, but owing to the pre-

cautions taken by Lord George, he returned to

the castle, without venturing on an attack. Lord

George then invested the castle, which he block-

aded, and the garrison, reduced to great distress

from want of provisions, were expected soon to

surrender, when his lordship received an order

from the prince to return to Inverness, in conse-

quence of the advance of the duke of Cumberl.nnd.

It was Lord George Murray who proposed the

night mnrch to Nairn, the evening before the bat-

tle of CuUoden, with the view of surprising the

army of the duke of Cumberland. He led the

van for that attack, but finding that the rear of

the Highlanders did not come up in time, he at

once advised a retreat. At the battle of Culloden

Lord George commanded the right wing of the

prince's army. Tiie English artillery was rapidly
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thinning his ranlis when he gave orders to charge.

The first line of the English army reeled and gave

way before them. But tlieir opponents were so

nnmerous that before the Highlanders could reacli

tlie second line of the English they were entirely

destroyed. On this occasion Lord George dis-

played all his former heroism. Wliile advancing

towards the second line, in attempting to dismount

from liis horse, which had become unmanageable,

lie was thrown
;
but, recovering himself, he ran

to the rear and brought up two or three regiments

from the second line of tlie Highlanders, to support

the first ; but although they gave their fire, no-

thing could be done,—all was lost.

After their defeat. Lord George and the other

chiefs who remained with the army retired to

Ruthven, wliere they assembled a force of about

3,000 men, but two or three days after tlie battle

tliej^ received orders from tlie prince to disperse.

His lordship liad written to Charles, pointing out

the principal causes whicli had led to the loss of

the battle, and requesting him to accept of the

resignation of his commission, but when he found

that it was the intention of the prince to depart

for France, lie sent a message to him earnestly

dissuading him from such a course, and advising

liim to remain in Scotland and try another cam-

paign. He maintained that the Highlanders

" could have made a summer's campaign without

tlie rislv of any misfortune;" and"t]iough tliey

liad neither money nor magazines, they would not

liave starved in that season of tlie year so long as

there were sheep and cattle."

On the prince's escape. Lord George withdrew

to the Continent, and having spent some j^ears in

France and Italy, died in Holland on the 8th July

1760. His character is thus sketched bj- John-

stone :
—" Lord George Murray, who liad the

charge of all the details of our army, and who had

the sole direction of it, possessed a natural genius

for military operations ; and was a man of surpris-

ing talents, whicli had they been cultivated by

the study of military tactics, would unquestiona-

bly have rendered him one of the greatest gener-

als of his age. He was tall and robust, and brave

in the highest degree
;
conducting the Highland-

ers in the most heroic manner, and always the

first to rush, sword in hand, into the midst of the

enemy. He used to say, when we advanced to

the charge, 'I do not ask you, my lads, to go be-

fore, but merely to follow nie.' He slept little,

was coutinuallj' occupied with all manner of de-

tails ; and was, altogether, most indefatigable,

combining and directing alone all our operations

:

—in a word, he was the only person capable of

conducting oiu- army. He was vigUant, active,

and diligent; his plans were always judiciously

formed, and he carried them promptl}' and vigor-

ously into execution. However, with an infinity

of good qualities, he was not without his defects

:

—proud, haughty, blunt, and imperious, he wish-

ed to have the exclusive ordering of everything,

and, feeling his superiority, he would listen to no

advice. Still, it must be owned, that lie had no

coadjutor capable of advising him, and his having

so completely the confidence of his soldiers ena-

bled him to perform wonders."

MURRAY, Alexandek, D.D, a celebrated

self-taught philologist, was born at Dunkitterick,

in the parish of Minnigaft', stewartiy of ICirkcud-

briglit, October 22, 1775. His father was a hum-

ble Galloway shepherd, an occupation followed

by his ancestors for several generations, and for

which he himself was originally designed. He

was taught to read by his father, who was in his

seventieth year at the time of his birth. U'he

method which the old man adopted was to draw

the figures of the letters on an old wool card with

tlie ends of the burnt roots of the heatlier that

grew on the hills. After thus learning the letters

by means of the burnt sticks, he was advanced to

the catechism, which was the child's primer in

those days. Then he somehow obtained a New

Testament, and afterwards a whole Bible, by go-

ing to a place where an old tattered cop}' of it lay,

M'hich he carried off bit by bit. In the wild soli-

tary glen where his fiither lived, he made himself

master of the whole contents of the sacred vol-

ume, and also devoured every printed scrap of

paper on which he could lay his hands, and so

strong was his memory that even when he was

but a boy he could repeat the names of the patri-

archs and scripture characters from Adam to our

Saviour without omitting one. When about seven

years old, he was employed on the hills in herd-

ing sheep. The poverty of the family, and the
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remote situation of tlicir liiit, prevented his being

sent early to seliool, and in fnct he wonkl never

have obtained any regnlar instruction at all, had

not a brother of his niotiier, named AVilliam Coch-

rane, oll'ercd. in May 1784, to be at the expense of

sendinrf him to school, and boarding him for a

short time in New Gallowny. Bad health, how-

ever, obliged him to relnru home before he had

been six montlis at scliool, and for more than four

years after this he had no opportunity of resuming

his attendance. In the nn\'uitimehe was employ-

ed as usual as a shepherd hoy, and for about three

years tlie Bible, and what "ballads and penn}'

stories" l:e could y'lck up, foi-nied his only reading.

In the end of 1787 he engaged to teach tlirough-

tiut tlie winter tlie children of two neighbouring

farmers, and as a remuneration, lie received six-

teen shillings, jiart of which he immediately laid

out in the purchase of books. Soon after he began

to give irregtdar attendance for a short time at

tlic school of jNIimiigaff, chiefly for the purpose of

improving his arithmetic, \\ iih tlie view of becom-

ing a merchant's clerk. In 1790, having obtained

a ciieap copy of Ainsworth's Dictionary, lie began

tli(! study of liatin, and in ]\lay of tliat year com-

menced to learn I'rcnch. In the summer of 1791

he again attended school for about three months,

and read with avidity whatever books he could

anywhere borrow, whether in English, French,

Latin, Greek, or Hebrew, for so gi'cat was his ap-

plication, tliat he had made himself master of all

tiiese languages within the space of only about

eighteen months, and that chiefly by his own un-

aided exertions.

In the winter of 1792-3 he again engaged in

teaching, when he received, as he informs us, for

his labours, about thirty slnllings. During the

same winter he went in the evenings to a school

at Bridgend of Cree, where he remained for about

three months and a half. The whole period of

his school attendance, scattered over a space of

eight years, did not exceed thirteen months
; but

every spare liour m as given to study, and as he

himself tells us, rrench, Latin, Greek, and He-

brew occupied all his leisure time. In 1791 he

had made himself acquainted with the Abyssinian

alphabet, from an inaccurate copy -which he tran-

scribed from iin odd volume of the Uiuversnl His-

tory. The Arabic letters he had learned i>re\ i-

ously from Robertson's Hebrew Grammar. He

had purchased the same year, for a trifle, a man-

uscript volume of the Lectures of Arnold Drack-

enburg, a German professor, on the lives and

writings of the Roman authors, from Livius An-

dronicus to Quintilian, which he afterwards trans-

lated, and in 1794 ottered Ids version to the book-

sellers at Dumfries, with a number of poems which

he had composed, chiefly in the Scottish dialect,

but neither of the two booksellers in that town

would undertake the publication. During this

visit to Dumfries he was introduced to Burns, the

poet, who treated him with great kindness, and

gave him some useful hints as to his poetry.

The fame of his extraordinary' acquirements

having extended to Edinburgh, in Novendior 1794

he was invited to that city, wlicn he underwent

an examination before Principal Baird and two of

the other city clergymen. The extent and accu-

racy of his classical attainments made such an im-

pression on these gentlemen, that they exerted

their influence to procure for him a free attend-

ance at the classes in the nniversity, and contri-

buted to his means of subsistence during the first

two years of his academic careei-. At the end of

that period he obtained a bursary, or exhibition,

from the city, and soon after was able to supjiort

himself by private tenching. He continued to

devote himself with all his wonted enthusiasm to

the study of langii.nges, and after having attained

to a knowledge of all those spoken in Europe, he

commenced his investigations into the Oriental

tongues, and of the six or seven dialects of the

Abyssinian or Ethiopic language, in particular, he

made himself completely master. The latter cir-

cumstance induced I\Ir. Constable, the publisher,

to employ him in 1802 to superintend a new edi-

tion of ' Bruce's Travels to discover the Source of

the Nile,' which appeared in seven volumes 8vo,

in 1805, with a Life of the author prefixed, and a

mass of illustrative notes. The Life of Bruce he

afterwards enlarged and published separately.

He liad previously contributed several miscellane-

ous ])ieccs to the Scots Magazine, of which he was

at one time editor.

Having passed tlu'ough the usual college course,

to (jualily him for the niinistiy in the Church ot
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Scotland, he was appointed in 1806 assistant and

successor to the Rev. Mr. Muirhead, minister of

Urr, in the stewartry of Kirl^cudbright, and on

the death of the latter in 1808, he succeeded to

the full incumbency of the parish. In 1812 he

became a candidate for the vacant professorship

of Oriental Languages in the university of Edin-

burgh, and among the numerous testimonials of

his qualifications which were published on the oc-

casion, Avas one from Mr. Salt, formerly envoy to

Abyssinia, whose admiration of the deep erudition

and extensive research displayed in his edition of

Bruce's Travels, caused him, on his return to

England in February 1811, to recommend him to

the marquis of Wellesley, " as the only person in

the British dominions" adequate to translate an

Ethiopic letter which he had brought from the

governor of Tigre to George III. In remembrance

of Mr. Murray's services in translating this letter,

a pension of £80 a-j^ear was after his death grant-

ed by his majesty to his widow. He was elected

professor of Oriental Languages on July 8, by a

majority of two votes, and a few days thereafter

the senatus of the university conferred on him the

degree of D.D. He was not destined, however,

to occupy long a chair which he was so admirably

qualified to fill. On October 31 he entered upon

the discharge of his professional duties in a weak

state of health, and continued with the utmost ar-

dour to teach his classes during the Avinter. At

the commencement of the session he published his

' Outlines of Oriental Philologj',' an elementary

Avork, designed for the use of his students. In

the beginning of February a new impression of

his edition of Bruce's Travels also made its ap-

pearance. Soon after, liis illness assumed such

an alarming aspect as to prevent his lecturing,

though he continued his literary labours to the

last, having been the very day before his death

engaged nearly twelve hours in arranging his

papers, &c. He died on the morning of April

15, 1813, in the 37th year of his age. In his lat-

ter years he had Avritten a Avork of great learning,

entitled ' Historj"- of European languages,' which

Avas published after his death in 2 vols. 8vo, un-

der the auspices of Sir Henry Monereiff and Dr.

Scott of Corstorphine. By his Avife, whom he

married Avhile residing at Urr, Dr. Murray had a

son and daughter, tlie latter of whom died in 1821.

Subjoined is his portrait, from a painting by Gcd-

des, engraved by Burnet:

MURRAY, Sir George, an able military offi-

cer and dii:)lomatist, the second son of Sir William

Murray, the fifth baronet of Ochtertyre, Avas born

at the family seat in Pertlishire, February 6, 1772.

lie AA^as educated at the high school and univer-

sity of Edinburgh, and on 12th March 1789, Avas

gazetted an ensign in the 71st foot. Soon after,

he removed to the 34th regiment, and in June

1790 to the 3d Guards. In 1793 he Avas in the

army under the duke of York Avhicli was employed

against the Fiencli in Flanders, and in January

1794 he was promoted to a lieutenancy, Avith the

rank of captain. In April of that year he return-

ed to England, but having rejoined the army in

Flanders during the summer, he Avas present in

the retreat through Holland and Germany. In

1795 he Avas appointed aide-de-camp to Major-

general Sir Alexander Campbell, on the staff of

Lord Moira's army in the expedition intended for

Quiberon. In the autumn of tlie same year, he

proceeded to the West Indies under Sir Ralph

Abercromby, but in consequence of ill-health he

soon returned, and he served on the stafi:' in Eng-
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land and Ireland during the years 1797 and 1798.

In August 1799 he was appointed a captain in

the guards, with the rank of lieutenant-colonel.

He participated in all the dangers and disasters of

the expedition to Holland that year, and was

wounded at the Heldcr. He was soon, however,

able to proceed with his regiment to Cork, whence

he embarked with it to Gibraltar, as part of the

force under the orders of Sir Ralph Abercromby.

Having been placed in the quartcr-master-gencr-

al's depai'tment, he went to Egypt for (lie purpose

of making arrangements preparatory to the cele-

brated expedition against the French in that

country, and Avhile there he displayed so much

gallantrj' and skill that the Turkish government

conferred upon him the order of the crescent, sec-

ond class.

He was present in every one of the engage-

ments in Egypt, at Marmorice and Aboukir, at

Rosetta and Rahmanieh, at Cairo and Alexandria,

and had the good fortune to escape without a

wound. In 1802 he went from Egypt to tlie West

Indies, and remained there a year as adjutant-

general to the British forces in Ihose colonics. On

his return to England, he filled a situation at the

Horse Guards. In 1801 he was appointed dep-

uty quarter-master-general in Ireland. In 1806

he was engaged in active service in the expedi-

tion to Stralsund, but that design was rendered

abortive by the successes of the French in Poland.

About two years thereafter. Colonel Murray was

intrusted with a diplomatic mission to Sweden,

and being tliere at the time that the expedition

under Sir John Moore went to that country, he

received from that distinguished commander the

appointment of quarter-master-general. Very

soon afterwards, the troops under Sir John iloore

joined the army in Portugal, and Colonel Murray,

who went along with them, served all through the

peninsular war. On new year's day 1812, he

became a major-general, and on 9th August 1813

he was appointed colonel of the 7th battalion of

the 60th regiment. In 1617 he was removed to

the 72d foot, and on September 11, 1813, was no-

minated a knight of the Bath, before the enlarge-

ment of that order.

After serving for a short time as adjutant-gen-

eral in Ireland, Sir George was apjioiiited governor

of the Canadas. He had not been long there

when the secretary of state announced to him that

the Emperor Napoleon had landed at Cannes from

Elba. He had tlie choice of either remaining in

Canada, or returning to Europe, to engage in ac-

tive service. He preferred the latter, but the de-

lay occasioned by the embarkation of a large body

of troops, and the slow progress made in sailing

with a fleet of transports, prevented his arriving

in time, and he did not join the duke of Welling-

ton's army till it had nearly reached Paris, after

the battle of Waterloo.

During the stay of our army of occupation in

France, Sir George remained with them, witli the

local rank of a lieutenant-general. "W^hile in Pa-

ris he received seven orders of knighthood, besides

those conferred by his own sovereign, so highly

were his character and services held in estimation

by continental monarchs. He became a knight

Grand Cross of Hanover; knight Grand Cross of

Leojjold, St. Alexander Newski, and the Red Ea-

gle ; a commander of the Tower and Sword,

Maximilian Joseph, and St. IleniT.

On the return of the army of occupation to

England in 1817, Sir George Murray was appoint-

ed governor of Edinburgh castle, but he held that

office only for a year, as on 18th August 1819, he

was nominated governor of the Royal Military

College at Woolwich. On lllh June 1820, the

university of Oxford conferred on him the degree

of D.C.L., and in January 1824 he was chosen a

fellow of the Royal Society. In September 1823

he had been appointed to the command of the 42d

foot, and on 6th i\Iarch following he became lieu-

tenant-general of the ordnance. The same year

(1824) he was cliosen M.P. for the county of

Perth. At this time he filled the ofiQce of com-

mander of the forces in Ireland.

At the general election of 1826, he was again

returned for Perthsliire. In January 1828, when

the duke of AVellington became prime minister,

Sir George Murray was appointed secretary of

state for the colonies ; on which occasion he re-

signed the command of the army in Ireland, and

was sworn a member of the privy council. From

that period he distinguished himself as a ready

and fluent speaker in the House of Commons.

Ho supported the Roman Catholic emancipation
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bin of 1829, ;ui(l after the whig government came

into power in November 1830, lie was one of the

principal members of the opposition. In tliat

year, and again in 1831, he was re-elected for

Perthshire, bnt on the dissolution of parliament in

1832, after the passing of the Reform Bill, he was

defeated by the earl of Ormelie, afterwards mar-

quis of Breadalbane. In 1834 his lordship became

a member of the House of Lords, and Sir George

Murray was again elected M.P. for Perthshire.

In Sir Robert Peel's administration of 1834-5,

Sir George held the office of master-general of the

ordnance. At the general election winch ensued

he was opposed by Mr. Fox Maule, afterwards

Lord Paumure, who defeated him by a majority

of 82. At the general election of 1837, Sir George

stood for AV'estminster, but was unsuccessful,

j

Two years subsequently he became a candidate

I j

for Manchester, and was again defeated,

j

On the death of Lord Lynedocli in 1843, he

!
succeeded him as colonel of tlie 1st or Royal regi-

j

ment of foot. He attained tlie rank of lieutenant-

general May 27, 1825. and that of general, ISTo-

vembcr 23, 1841. He was editor of 'The Duke

i
of Marlborough's Letters and Despatclies,' from

1702 to 1712, which were published in 1845. He

will be remembered as a successful soldier, an able

minister, and a skilful and fluent debater. He

died in London 26th July 1846, aged 74, and was

j

buried at Kensal Green. At the time of his death

j
lie was governor of Fort George and president of

the Royal Geographical Society. He had mar-

ried ill 1826, in the 54th year of his age, Lady

Louisa Erskine, sister of the marquis of Anglesey

and widow of Lieutenant-general Sir James Er-

skine, baronet. Lady Louisa was then 48. She

died 23d January 1842. Tliey had one daughter,

who married H. G. Boycc, Esq., of the 2d life

guards, and died in 1849.

MYLNE, RoBEKT, an eminent architect, was

born at Edinburgh, January 4, 1734. His father,

Thomas Mylne, an architect and magistrate of

that city, belonged to a family who held the here-

ditary office of master-mason to the kings of Scot-

land, conferred by King James III. Robert

Mylne of Balfargie, who died 24th December 1667,

built Mylne's Court, and Mylne's Square, Edin-

I
burgh, as well as tlie additions to Holyrood-house,

in tlie reign of Charles II. Young ]\lylne received
j

his education in his native city, and afterwards

travelled to Rome, where he resided for five years.

In September 1758 he gained the first prize in the
j

acadeni}- of St. Luke, in the first class of architec-

ture, and was unanimously elected a member of

that body, the necessary dispensation liaving been

obtained from the Pope, on account of his being a

Protestant. He was also elected a member of tlie

academies of Florence and Bologna. He subse-

quently visited Naples and Sicily, and his profes-

sional skill and classical knowledge enabled him

to illustrate several obscure passages in Vitruvius.

His account of this excursion, with his fine collec-

tion of drawings, intended for publication, was

left in manuscript to his son, but never published.

After making the tour of Europe he repaired to

London, where his plan for constructing a bridge

at Blackfriars was preferred to those of twenty-

otlier candidates, and he was employed to super-

intend that vast public undertaking ; wliich was

commenced in 17G0. It was the first structure of

the kind erected in Great Britain, in which arches

approaching to the form of an ellipsis were sub-

stituted for semicircles ; and the great superiority

of Mr. Mylne's mode of centring, though disputed

at the time, is now universally allowed. Amongst

others, Dr. Johnson came forward to condemn the

form of the arch, but the short controversj' that

took place between Mr. Mylne and his illustrious

opponent, on this occasion, did not prevent their

afterwards becoming intimate friends. The bridge

was completed in 1769, for the exact sum speci-

fied in Mr. Mylne's estimate, namely, £153,000;

his own remuneration being an annual salary of

£300, with five per cent, on the money actually

laid out on the work.

On completing the bridge, Mr. Mylne was ap-

pointed surveyor of St. Paul's Catliedral, and

he it was who suggested the felicitous inscrip-

tion, placed over tlie entrance of the choir, to

the memoiy of Sir Cin-istopher AVrcn, ending,

" Si monumentnm requiras, circumspice? " Among

the buildings erected, altered, or repaired by him,

may be enumerated Rochester Cathedral ; Green-

wich Hospital, of which he was clerk of the works

for fifteen years; King's Weston, the seat of Lord

de CliflTord ; Blaze Castle, near Bristol ; the duke
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of Nortliiimborhind's liousc on tlie banks of the

Thames at Sion ; and other edifices in England

;

and Ardincaple House, and Inveraiy Castle, in

Scotland. He died May 5, LSll, at the New
River Head, London, where he had long resided

as engineer to that conipanj-. In 1770 he mar-

ried Mary, sister of Mr. Home, surgeon, by whom

BAllOX.

he had nine children, and of tliese one son and

four daughters survived Iiiin. Tiie burial-place,

over which is a suitable monument, of the Mylncs,

hereditary master-masons to the kings of Scot-

land, is in Greyfriars churchyard, Edinburgh, to

the left of the eastern gate, as the churchyard is

entered from the head of tlie Candlcmaker Ron-.
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Nairxic, B:iroii, a title in tlie Scottish peerafje, confen-ed

ill IfiSl, on Robert K-iime of Sti'atlionl, descended from Mi-

chael de Narn, witness to a charter of Robert, duke of Albany,

to Andrew de Hamylton of the lands of Gallvston, lOtli Feb-

ruaiy l-lOG-7. One family of the name was the Nairnes of

Sandford. Alexander Nam of Sandford, comptroller of the

liousehold to James II., and a commissioner to treat with

the English, 17t!i April and 5th July 1547, witnessed three

charters of that monarch, under the dcsi<;nation of " nostro-

rmii coniputori\iii rotidator." Another branch was that of

^iiikhersy, to which the noble house of Nairne bi'lonp;ed.

John Nairn and Margaret Oliphant Ids wife, had .-x charter

from Georqe, bishop of Dunkeld, of the hinds of Mukkersy,

7th December 15H. He is supposed to have been the an-

cestor of Thomas Nairn of Mukkersy, who had u charter of

the lands of Ocliteri;aven, now Auchteiijaven, in Pertlisliirc,

ill 1G05. His son, Robert Nairn of Mukkersy, advocate, had

a charter of the barony of Strathord, liltli July 1021, and

died in February lGr)'2. I5y Ids wife, ilarj;aret, daughter of

Sir .Tohn Preston of Pennycuik, lord president of the court of

session from 1C09 to IGIG, he had, with two daughters, four

sons, namely, 1st, Robert, first Lord Nairne; 2d, Jolin Nairn

of JInkkersy; od, Alexander Nairn of Greenyards; and Itli,

William Nairn, a captain in the service of King Cln.iles II.,

killed at the battle of Worcester in IG.'il.

Robert Nairne of Stratliord, the eldest son, was a strenuous

rov.-dist during the civil wars. With the earls of Crawford,

Marischal, Leven, and other principal royalists, he was taken

prisoner, by a detachment sent by General Monk, at Alyth

ill Forfarsliire, 28th August 1G51. They were shipped .at

Droughty Fen-y, and sent to the Tower of London, where he

ri'inained till the Restoration. lie was knighted by Charles

H., and appointed one of the lords of session 1st June 16G1,

also one of the judges of the court of justiciary, lltli Janu-

ary 1G71. He was created a peer of Scotland, by the title of

Lord Nairne, by patent, dated .at Whitehall, 27th January

lOfil, to himself for life, and after his decease, having no sons,

to Ills son-in-law, Lord William Murray, fourth son of the

first marquis of Alhol, who had mamed his only daughter,

Margaret. He died in IGS.".

Lord William Mun-av, second Lord Naime. was a naval

oflleer, and showed signal instances of valour. After the

Revolution ho did not take the oaths to government nor his

seat in parliament. Engaging in tlie reliellion of 1715, he

wa.s taken .it Preston. 14tli November that year, and being

Bent prisoner to the Tower of London, was brought to trial.

lOtli .January 171fi, when, pleading guilty, he was sentenced

to death on !)th February, but respited and afterwards par-

doned. An act of parliament was passed in 1716, to enable

the king to make provision for Margaret, Lady Nairne, and

her children, out of her husband's forfeited estate. His lord-

.sliip died in 1725, and she survived till 14th November 1747.

They had four sons and eight daughters. The second .son,

the Hon. Robert Nairne, married .lean Mercer, lieiress of the

ancient family of Mercer of Aldie, Perthshire. He engaged

in the rebellion of 174.5, and was killed at the battle of Cul-

loden, 16fh April 1746, by wliich the estate of Aldic was

saved from forfeiture. Their eldest son, Colonel William

Mercer of Aldie and Meikleour, married Margaret Murray,

heiress of Pitkeafbly, and died Ifllb .January 1790, leaving

three daughters, the eldest of whom, Jane, man'ied George

Lord Keith, (see vol. i. p. 13!),) and had ar. only child, Mar-

garet Jlcrcer Elphinstone, Baroness Keilh of Banheath and

Stonehavon-JIarischal, and countess of I'labault in France,

of whom afterwards.

The eldest son, John, third Lord Nairne, born about 1G91,

was with his father in the rebellion of 1715. He was lieu-

tenant-colonel of Lord Charles Murr.ay's regiment, and was

taken, on the surrender of the insurgents at Preston, l.jth

November 1715. He was in consequence forfeited with his

father, but in 1738 he obtained an act of parliament, to ena-

ble him to sue or maintain any action or suit, and to inherit

any real or person.al estate that might descend to him. In

.spite, however, of this partial reversal of the attainder, lie

took part in the rebellion of 1745, having, with several other

Perthshire gentlemen, joined the prince at Blair Athol, on

his m.irch to Edinburgh. Previous to the arrival of Charles

at the castle of Blair, the marquis of Tullibardine, who, in

the absence of his father, the duke of Athol, to whom it be-

longed, acted as liost while the prince remained there, bad

written to Mrs. Robertson of Lude, a daughter of Lord Nairne,

desiring her to repair to the castle, to get it put in proper

order, and to do the honours of the lionse.

From Blair, the prince sent forward I.oril Nairne and Lo-

cbiel, with 400 men, to take possession of Diinkeld, in which

town tliey proclaimed the Pretender. .After remaining two

days tit the castle of Bl.air, Charles repaired to the house of

I.udc, where he spent the night, and ne.\t day went to Dun-

keld, whence he proceeded to Lord Nairne's liouse, where he

dined and slept. The following day he entered Perth.

Lord Nairne was at the battle of Preston
;
and, in com-

m.and of the Nairn regiment, 200 strong, forming part of the
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Athol brigade, he marched with the prince into England.

He shared in all the dangers of the rebellion, and after the

battle of CuUoden, escaped to the continent. He was in-

cluded in the act of attainder, 1746, and died in France, 11th

July 1770, aged 79. By his countess, Lady Catherine Mur-

ray, third daughter of the first earl of Dunmore, he had eight

sons and three daughters. The eldest son, James, died un-

manied. John, the second son, succeeded to the representa-

tion of the family. Charles, the third son, an officer in the

service of the States-general, died in June 1795. Thomas,

the fourth son, an officer in Lord John Drummond's regi-

ment, was taken in October 1745, on board ' L'Esperance,'

a French vessel, on his passage from France to Scotland, to

join the prince. He died at Sancerre in France, 3d April 1777.

John Nairne, the eldest surviving son, entered the army,

and rose to the rank of lieutenant- colonel. But for the at-

tainder, he would have been fourth lord. He had two sons

and a daughter. John, the elder son, an officer in the army,

died unmarried. William Mun'ay Nairne, the younger son,

born in 1757, was assistant inspector-general of barracks in

Scotland, and a major-general in the army. The title was

restored to him by act of parliament 17th June 1824. He

had married in June 1806, Carolina, third daughter of Lau-

rence Oliphant of Gask, a lady whose fine lyrical genius and

enthusiastic love of music have caused her name to be en-

rolled among the most gifted poetesses of Scotland.

Cai-olina, Lady Nairne, the authoress of the popular songs

of 'The Laird o' Cockpen' and 'The Land o' the Leal,' was

bom in the old mansion of Gask, Perthshire, 16th July 1766.

So beautiful was she in her youth that she was known in her

native district by the poetical designation of ' The Flower of

Strathearn.' In the ' Modern Scottish Minstrel,' by Charles

Rogers, LL.D., vol. i., there is a well-written and compre-

hensive memoir of Lady Nairne, with a selection from her

songs and other pieces, some of them published there for the

first time. From this memoir we learn that her first compo-

sition in Scottish verse was a piece called 'The Pleuchman,'

which she sent anonymously to the president of an agricul-

tural dinner that took place in her youth in the neighbour-

hood of her father's house. The production, on being publicly

read, was received with warm approbation, and speedily set

to music. Her motive in first entering upon the composi-

tion of Scottish verse was a very laudable one, namely, the

purification of the national minstrelsy from the loose ribaldiy

which tainted the songs and ballads that then were popular

among the peasantry, and in this she was eminently success-

ful. To this early period of her life, says Dr. Rogers, may be

ascribed some of her best lyrics. ' The Laird o' Cockpen,'

and 'The Land o' the Leal,' at the close of the last century,

were sung in eveiy district in the kingdom. Dr. Rogers at-

tributes the restoration of her husband's title in 1824 to

George the Fourth having learned during his visit to Scot-

land in 1822, that the song of ' The Attainted Scottish No-

bles' was the composition of Lady, then Mrs. Major Nairn.

At the request of several ladies, her acquaintances, she con-

tributed various songs to ' The Scottish Minstrel,' begun in

1821, and completed in 1824, in six royal 8vo volumes, form-

ino- one of the best collections of our Scottish melodies yet

published. It was brought out by Jlr. Robert Purdie, mu-

sic-seller, Edinburgh, and edited by R. A. Smith. Her

pieces were contributed on the express condition that her

name should he kept secret, and it does not appear that

either Mr. Purdie or Mr. Smith ever knew it. The signa-

ture which she assumed was ' B. R.,' and these gentlemen

believed that her real name was ' Mrs. Bogan of Bogan.'

Dr. Rogers says in a note, that a daughter of Baron Hume
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was one of the ladies who induced Lady Nairne to become a

contributor to 'The Scottish Minstrel' Many of the songs

were sent to the editor through the medium of Miss Hume,
who thus expresses herself in a letter to a friend:—"My fa-

ther's admiration of 'The Land o' the Leal' was such that

he said no woman but Miss Ferrier was capable of writing it.

And when I used to show him song after song in MS., when
I was receiving the anonymous verses for the music, and ask

his criticism, he said— ' Your unknown poetess has only one,

or rather, tico, letters out of taste, viz. choosing ' B. B.' for

her signature.' " Lady Nairne herself never divulged, beyond

a small circle of confidential friends, the authorship of any of

her verses, even when she saw them attributed to others.

Her ladyship died at Gask 27th October 1845, aged 79.

During the last years of her life, she devoted all her energies

to the seiTice of religion, and her benevolence, we are told,

extended towards the support of eveiy institution likely to

promote the temporal comforts or advance the spiritual inter-

ests of her countrymen. Her contributions to the public

charities were ample, and from the extreme modesty of her

disposition, they were almost always anonymously given.

To the Free church and school in the West Port, Edinburgh,

she contributed £300, under the strictest injunctions of se-

crecy, and Dr. Chalmers, in an address delivered at Edin-

burgh on 29th December 1845, only revealed the fact when
her death left him at liberty to do so. Some years after her

death, appeared, in an elegant folio volume, ' Lays from

Strathearn : by Carolina, Baroness Nairn. Arranged with

Symphonies and Accompaniments for the Pianoforte by Fin-

lay Dun.' It bears the imprint of London, and has no date.

Lord Nairne, her husband, had died July 9, 1830. Their

only son, William, sixtli Lord Nairne, born in 1808, was in

his 22d year when he succeeded to the title. In the spring

of 1837 he was seized with a severe attack of influenza, and

for the recovery of his health he went with his mother to the

Continent, and died at Brussels, 27th Dec. that year, without

issue. The title is claimed by Margaret, Baroness Keith,

mentioned on the previous page.

This lady, horn in 1788, married in 1817, the count de

Flahault de la Billarderie, in France, a general in the army of

Napoleon I., and French ambassador at the British court,

1861 ;
issue, 5 daughters. In her youth she was the bosom

friend of the lamented Princess Chariotte. She succeeded

her father (see vol. i. p. 139) in 1823, as Baroness Keith of

Stonehaven-Mariscbal in the peerage of Ireland, and as

Baroness Keith of Banheatli in that of tlie United Kingdom.

A baronetcy was possessed by the family of Nairne of Dun-

sinnan, Perthshire, the supposed site of a stronghold of Mac-

beth, 15 miles from Bhnam, celebrated by Shakspere :

" JIacbeth shall never vanquished be, until

Great Birnam wood to high Dunsinane hill

Shall come against him."

It was conferred, 31st March 1704, on Sir William Nairne of

Dunsinnan, descended from Michael de Nairn, who lived in

the reign of Robert III. Sir William Nairne, the fifth

baronet, a younger son of the second baronet, was a lord

of session. Admitted advocate in 1755, he was, in 1758,

appointed commissary clerk of Edinburgh, conjunctly with

Alexander Nairne, a relative of his own. In 1786 he was

promoted to the bench, and took his seat as Lord Dunsinnan.

In 1790 he succeeded to the baronetc}', on the death of his

nephew. At the same time he bought the estate of Dun-

sinnan from another nephew, for the sum of £16,000. it

236
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comprises almost the entire pai-isli of Colliice, and as soon as

it came into liis lianJs, lie spared no expense in putting it

into a state of the highest improvement. He was appointed

a lord of justiciary in 1792, and continued to attend the du-

ties of the circuit until 1808, when he resigned, and in 1809

he retired from the bench altogether. He died, at an ad-

vanced age, at Dunsinnan house, 25th March 1811. The
title became extinct at his death. His sister's son succeeded

to the estate and assumed the name of Nairne.

Lord DunsiiMian was uncle to the famous Catherine Nairne

or Ogilvie, whose trial in 1705, for tlie crimes of mnrder and

incest, occupied public attention veiy much at tlie time. Slio

liad married, in that year, being then only nineteen, Thomas
Ogilvie of Eastmiln, Forfar.shire,—a gentleman, as stated at

the trial, forty years of age and of a sickly constitution.

Three or four days before the marri.age, his younger brother,

Patrick Ogilvie, a lieutenant in the 89th foot, returned, on

.account of bad health, from India, and took up his residence

at his liouso. In less than a week after the marriage an

improper intimacy is stated to have connnenced between the

brother and Mrs. Ogilvie. Four months afterwards, at his

instigation, she poisoned her husband witli arsenic, and with

lier accomplice, was brought to trial, when they were both

found guilty, and condemned to be hanged. Patrick Ogilvie

was, in spite of every effort made to save him, executed in

the Grassmarket of Edinburgh. The interval betwixt his

condemnation and execution he almost exclusively de-

voted to playing on the violin, of which he was very fond.

Catherine Nairne escaped from the Tolbooth. The execu-

tion of her sentence had been delayed on account of pregnan-

cy, and, soon after her accouchement, she disguised herself

in the clothes of the midwife, Mrs. Shiells, who, for several

days, while in attendance on her, had had her head niutHed

up, under pretence of a violent attack of toothache, and so

got out of prison. Her uncle, Mr. Nairne, then an advocate of

ten years' standing, is supposed to have assisted in licr

escape. It was on Saturday, loth March 1766, that she

contrived to get away from the Tolbooth, and the same night

she left the city, in a carriage, accompanied by Mr. Nairne's

clerk, Mr. James Brcmner, afterwards solicitor of stamps.

This gentleman went with her as far as Dover, on her way

to France. Her behaviour on the way was marked by great

frivolity, as she was continually putting her head out of the

window and laughing immoderately. In the proclamation

issued for her apprehension by the magistrates of Edinburgh,

she is described as attired in "an ofRcer's habit, with a hat

slouched in the cocks, and a cockade in it and " about

twenty-two years of age, middle-sized, and strong made, has

a liigh nose, black eyebrows, and a pale completion." Gov-

ernment offered a reward of £100 for her apprehension, and

the city of Edinburgh the same. It is said she afterwards

married a Dutch gentleman, by whom she had a numerous

family. It was also reported that she had retired to a con-

vent and taken the veil, also that she died in England soon

after the beginning of the nineteenth centuiy.

Napier, a surname of considerable antiquity both in Scot-

land and England. It is principally, however, Scotch. Tliere

is a charter of the 44th of King Henry III. (1259), " Johes

le Naper, venator regis Haveringe, i\Ianer, IS acres terre

messuag. Essex." According to an old tradition, mentioned

in a MS., temp. Charles I., written by Sir W. Segar, Garter

king of arms, quoted in Burke's Commoners, the surname

arose from the following event :—One of the ancient earls of

Lennox had throe sons; the eldest succeeded him in the earl-

dom, the second was named Donald, and the third Gilchrist.

The then king of Scots being engaged in war, and having

convocated his subjects to battle, the earl of Lennox was

called on, amongst others, to send such force as he could col-

lect to the king's assistance, which he accordingly did, keep-

ing his eldest son at home with him, but putting his men
under the command of his two younger sons. The battle

went hard with the Scots, who were not only forced to lose

ground, but were actually running aw.ny, when Donald

snatched his father's standard from the bearer, charged the

enemy with the Lennox-men, changed the fortune of the day,

and obtained a victory. After the battle, as the custom wim,

every one reported his acts, when the king said, "You have

all done valiantly ; but there is one amongst you who had

'Nae Peer,'" (that is, no equal); and, calling Donald to him,

commanded him to change his name from Lennox to Napier,

and bestowed upon him tlie lands of Gosford, and lands in

Fife, as a reward for his service. This is ju.st a specimen of

the old legends with which the early history of Scotland

abounds, not one of which is worthy of the slightest credit.

The name w.as originally Le Naper, and seems most likely

to have been derived from an office attached to the court,

such as Le Botiler, Le Gros Veneur, &c. In England, says

Lower, (^Evrjlhli Swnatiies, vol. ii. p. 206,) William de Hast-

ings, temp. Hen. I., held the manor of ,-\shele, co. Norfolk,

by tlie service of taking charge of the napery (table-clotlis

and linen) at the coronation of the English kings.

Napier, Baron, a title in the peerage of Scotland, confer-

red in 1027 on Sir Archibald Napier, eldest son of Sir John

Napier of Merchiston, the celebrated inventor of the Loga-

rithms, of whom a memoir is given at page 244 in larger type.

Merchiston cnstle, within a mile and a half of I^dinburgh,

was, from a very early period, the [latrimony of the family of

Napier, descended from John de Napier, who had considera-

ble estates in the county of Dumbarton, .and is mentioned in

a charter of Malcolm, earl of Lennox, as early as 1280. He
is witness to another charter of the same earl in 1294. Jo-

han le Napei', Johan le Naper del counte de Dunbretan, .and

Malhew le Naper de Aghelek, swore fealty to Edward I. in

1296.

In 1303, when Sir William Oliphant defended Stirling cas-

tle against all the power of Edw.ard I., John de Napier was

one of the Scots leaders assisting him. The garrison sur-

rendered in 1304, and were sent prisoners to England. Al-

though Edward heaped various indignities upon the governor

and principal men with him, he yet excepted them from be-

ing chained. John de Napier was fined in three years' rent

of his estate by the same monarch, for his patriotic .adher-

ence to his countiy's cause. William de Napier, the third in

succession from him, was governor of the castle of Edinburgh

in 1401.

William's son, Alexander Napier, the first mentioned as

having acquired the lands of Merchiston, was provost of Ed-

inburgh in 1437. Sir Alexander Napier of Merchiston, liis

son, held the office of comptroller to King James II., as ap-

pears from a charter of that monarch, 7th March 1449-50,

of the lands of Philde, Perthshire, then in the gift of the

crown by the forfeiture of the Livingstones. In this charter,

.as in other old documents, the name is spelled Napare.

When the queen-mother was in 1439 imprisoned by Sir Al-

exander Livingstone of Callendar, guardian of James II.,

(see vol. ii. p. 677,) Alexander Napier was wounded in her

defence. He was one of the amb.assadors sent to England in

1451, when he took the opportunity of going on a pilgrimage

to the shrine of St. Thom.is a Becket at CanterbuiT. In

1455 he was provost of Edinburgh. He was also vice-admi-
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ral of Scotland, being so designed in a safe-conduct to liim

as one of tlie ambassadors to the court of England, 24th

September 1461. He had another safe-conduct to go to

England in 1464. In 1468 he was sent to Denmark, with

the lord-chancellor, to negoti.ite the mairiage between King

James III. and the Danish king's daughter, the princess

Margaret. He was employed on several other public occa-

sions, and held the office of master of the household to James

III. He died about the end of 1473.

His son, John Napier of Mercliiston, was in the liousehold

of Mary, dowager of James II., and having been employed in

several negotiations with the court of England, had a pen-

sion for life of 50 marks sterling from King Henry VI.,

granted when that monarch came to Scotland, after the to

him disastrous battle of Towton in 1461. He married Eli-

zabeth, one of the two daughters of Murdoch Menteth of

Rusky, whose mother was Lady Margaret, second daughter

of Duncan earl of Lennox. Elizabeth Menteth was co-heiress

with her sister Agnes, wife of John Haldane of Gleneagles,

of her brother, Patrick Jlenteth of Rusky, and John Napier,

after his marriage with her, used the designation of Merchis-

ton and Rusky indiscriminately. The disputes (see vol. ii.

p. 648) between Stewart of Demely, Haldane of Gleneagles,

and Elizabeth Menteth, about the earldom of Lennox, appear

to li.ave been finally adjusted, 19th .Tune 1492, when Eliza-

beth Menteth was left peaceably in possession of the fourth

part of the earldom. By this marriage his descendants were

allied to the first families in Scotland, and even claimed a

connection with the royal family of Great Britain, in conse-

quence of the union of Lord Darnley with Mary, queen of

Scots. The Lennox arms appear to li.ave been previously

those of the Napiers, as they were used by Alexander Napier

the first of Merchiston, and were not first assumed by this

John de Napier, on account of his marriage. (^Doiirjlas'

Peerage, Wood's edition, vol. ii. p. 283.)

.John's eldest son, Archibald Napier, the next laird of Mer-

chiston, was dead before 8th May 1529. Among various

charters which be obtained was one of the lands of Gartness,

Rusky, Cailzemuch, &c., on his own resignation, the whole

incorporated into the free barony of Edinbellie Napier, 21st

May 1509. Ho was the father, with other children, of Sir

Alexander Napier, who succeeded him, and, by a second

marriage, of Alexander Napier of Inglistoun, who is sup-

posed to have been the ancestor of the Napiers of Linton-hoo

in Bedfordshire, baronets, the direct male line of which ter-

minated in 1747.

The eldest son. Sir Alexander Napier of Merchiston, fell

at the battle of Flodden, 9th September 1513. His only

son, Alexander Napier of Merchiston, was little more than

four years old at his father's death, and after he came of age

he spent se\eral years in France. He was killed at the battle

of Pinkie, in September 1547, being then about 38 years old.

His son, Sir Archibald Napier of Mercliiston, born before

1535, was knighted in 1565, and appointed master of the

mint in 1587. He died at Merchiston castle in May 1608,

aged about 74. His eldest son was John Napier, the inven-

tor of the Logarithms, of whom afterwards. Another son,

by a second marriage. Sir Alexander Napier of Lauriston,

was appointed a lord of session 14th February 1026, and died

in 1629. His brother, Archibald Napier, was slain in No-

vember 1600, by five of the name of Scott and Thomas Crich-

ton, riding home to his own house to the Wowmit, in revenge

for the death of one of their relations, who was killed by him

in self-defence.

John Napier of Jlerchiston, the inventor of the Log.arithnis,

was twice married. His son, by his first wife. Sir Archi-

bald, was the first Lord Napier. John Napier, the eldest by

the second marriage, was designed of Easter Torrie. Robert,

the second son by that marriage, designed of Drumhony,

was editor of liis father's posthumous works, and ancestor of

the Napiers of Culcreuch, now of Milliken, baronets, of whom
afterwards. Alexander, the third son, was designed of Tor-

rie. William, the fourth son, styled of Ardmore, was ances-

tor of the Napiers of Craigamet ; .and Adam, the fifth son, of

the Napiers of Blackstoun, Renfrewshire.

The eldest son. Sir Archibald Napier of Merchiston, was

matriculated at Glasgow university in March 1593. His at-

tention having been early directed to agricultural improve-

ment, he received in June 1598, from James VI., with ad-

vice of the lords of the secret council, to him only and to

such as he should depute, the royal license for 21 years, to

use such manure over .all the lands in the kingdom as he

should publicly set forth and recommend in print. He ac-

cordingly published his plan, entitled 'The new ordei- of

gooding and manuring all sorts of field land with common

salt, whereby the same may bring forth in more abundance,

both of grass and corn of all sorts, and I'ar cheaper than by

the common w.ay of dunging used heretofore in Scotland.'

He was appointed gentleman of the privy chamber to

James VI., whom he accompanied to London, on his acces-

sion to the English throne in 1603. He w.as sworn a privy

councillor, 20tli July 1615, constituted treasurer-depute of

Scotland for life, 21st October 1622, appointed lord-justice-

clerk, 23d November 1023, and two days thereafter admitted

one of the lords of session. He resigned the office of lord-

justice-clerk, 9th August 1024. He had a license, 14th Jan-

uary 1625, allowing him to export 12,000 stone weight of

tallow annually, for seven years, " in remembrance of the

mony good serviceis fra tyme to tyme done to his majestie

thir mony j-ears bigane, be his right tnistie and wel beloved

Sir Archibald Naper." The officers of state having been, by

a new regulation entered into after the accession of Charles

I., incapacitated from sitting in the court of session as ordi-

nary judges, his majesty appointed Sir Archibald Napier one

of the extraordinary lords of session, 15th Febraary 1626.

He was created a baronet of Nova Scotia, 2d JIarch 1 027,

and by warrant of privy seal of 1st May, the same year,

a pension of £2,400 Scots yearly was granted to him, for

having, at the king's special desire, advanced to Walter

Stewart, gentleman of the privy chamber, the sum of £6,000

Scots.

He was created a peer of Scotland by the title of Baron

Napier of Merchiston, by patent dated at Wliiteh.all, 4th

Jliiy 1627, the honours being limited to the heirs m.ale of his

body. He was appointed one of the commissioners of

tithes, and obtained a lease of the crown lands of Orkney for

45,000 marks annually, which he subleased to William Dick

for 52,000 marks. In March 1631, he surrendered the lease

of Orkney, his pension, and the office of trcasiu-er-depute,

and was allowed £4,000 sterling, as compensation.

On the breaking out of the civil war in Scotland, he took

a decided part in favour of Charles I. When the marquis of

Hamilton, with the king's fleet, anived in Leith Roads in

May 1639, Lord Napier was sent to him with a conciliatory

proposal from the committee of Estates, and the marquis

soon after i-etired from the Frith of Forth. Lord Napier was

one of those who signed the association formed by Jlontrose

at Cumbernauld in January 1G41, for the support of the

roval authority. On 11th June the same year, he was appre-

hended, with Montrose and Sir George Stirling of Keir, and

committed prisoner to the castle of Edinburgh, but released

16th November following. In 1644 he was confined by the
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covenanting purty to liis apartments at Holyrood-liouse, witli

liis son, the master of Napier, and liis son-in-law, Sir George

Stirling of Keir, and commanded not to stir tljence under a

heavy penalty. The master of Napier, disregarding the in-

junction, made liis escape. The rnling party immediately

imprisoned his father, with his brother-in-law. Sir George

Stirling, Ladv Klizabetli Napier, his wife, and I-ilias Napier,

his sister, in the castle of Edinburgh, and confined his other

sister, I.ady Stirling, to the house of Merchiston. In addition

Lord Napier had to pay i,'10,000 Scots, as cautioner for his

son, for breaking his confinement.

In consequence of the raging of the plague in the castle of

Edinburgh, Lord Napier and liis connexions were removed to

the gaol at Linlithgow, whence they wore liberated by the

master of Napier after the battle of Kilsytli. His lordship

accompanied the marquis of Montrose to the south of Scot-

land, and after the defeat at I'hiliphaugli, escaped witli him

into Athol. He was left there on account of bad health,

and died at Fincastle in November 1G45, aged upwards of 70,

and was buried in the church of Blair. In 1G47, tlie ruling

party threatened to take up his bones to pass a sentence of

forfeiture on him, but this was prevented by his friends pay-

ing 5,000 marks. He was, says Bisliop Wisliart, a man "not

less noble in his personal accomplishments than in his birth

and descent; a man of the greatest uprightness and integri-

ty, and of a most happy genius, being, as to his skill in the

sciences, equal to his father and grandfather, who were fa-

mous all the world over for tlieir knowledge in philosophy

and mathematics, and in the doctrine of civil prudence far

beyond tliem." Montrose had been accustomed from his

earliest years to look up to this gifted nobleman with feel-

\

ings of reverential and filial awe. He was the author of ' A
' True Relation of the Unjust I'ursute against the Lord Na-

j

pier, written by himself, containing an account of some court

intrigues, in which he was the sufferer.' This was published

bv Francis, seventh Lord Napier, under the title of ' Memoirs

of Archibald, first Lord Napier, written by himself; pub-

lished from the original MS.,' Edinburgh, 1793.

By his wife. Lady Mary Graham, second daughter of the

fourth earl of Montrose, and sister of " the great marquis" of

Montrose, the first Lord Napier had two sons, John, who

died voung, and Archibald, second Lord Napier, and two

daughters, as above mentioned.

I Archibald, second Lord Napier, was, like his father, a

faithful adherent of the royal cause. After making his escape,

when master of Napier, from his confinement at Ilolyrood-

hnuse, as above stated, he joined his uncle, the marquis of

Montrose, at the ford of Cardross, 21st April IG'l 5. At the

battle of .'Auldearn, '1th May of that year, lie displayed signal

valour. He commanded tlie reserve at the battle of Alford,

on 2d July following, and after the victory of Kilsyth, 15th

August the same year, he was sent by Montrose, with a se-

lect body of horse, to Edinburgh, to summon that city to

surrender, and to set the prisoners at liberty. On his way,

he had the satisfaction of releasing his father and his wife,

with Sir George Stirling of Koir, his brother-in-law, and his

sister, from the prison of Linlithgow.

In Februarv IG-IG, after succeeding to the title of Lord

I

Napier, lie hastened to the relief of his tenants who were

I then oppressed by the marquis of Argyle, and subsequently

!
was besieged by Gener.al Middleton at Kincardine, a seat of

the m.arquis of Jlontrose. After holding out for fourteen

davp, he was at last obliged to capitulate. The evening pre-

vious, however, to the place being surrendered, his lordship

made his escape through a postern gate, and joined the mar-

quis of Montrose. 'When the latter disb.anded his army,

Lord Napier retired to the Continent. He attended the mar-

quis of Montrose to Paris, where, as appears by a letter fron:

himself to his lady, dated Bruxelles, 14th June 1G48, "it

was ever sayde yt Montrose and his nephew was like ye

Pope and yo church, who wold be inseparable." When the

marquis proceeded to Germany tlnit year, Lord Napier went

to Flanders. He was so .strongly attached to his uncle that,

for the purpose of being near liiin for facility of correspond-

ence, he refused the command of a regiment in Spain, whicli

was offered him. He was particularly excepted in Crom-

well's act of grace and pardon, 12th April lGo4, his lady be-

ing allowed £100 a-year out of his forfeited estates, with a

farther sum of £50 in .Inly, lGo8. He died in Holland in

the beginning of IGCO. By his wife, Lady Elizabeth Ers-

kinc, eldest daughter of John, eighth earl of Mar, he had

two sons and three daughters. The Hon. John Napier, the

second son, was killed in a .sea-fight .against the Dutch in

1G72, without issue. After tlio Kestoration, Lady Napier

obtained a pension of X500 per annum in consideration of

her husband's loyalty and snft'erings.

Archibald, third Lord Napier, obtained in 1GG2 from

Charles II. a warrant, addressed to the earl of Middleton,

then lord-high-commissioner to the Scots parliament, autlio-

rising him to pay his mother, Lad}' Napier, and himself

£3,000 sterling, for the loyalty shown by them during the

civil commotions; but as the warrant is preserved among the

Napier papers, it is bcdieved that the mimcy was never paid.

Being unmarried. Lord Napier resigned his peerage into the

king's hands 20th November, 1C7G, .and olitained a new pa-

tent of the same, with the former precedency, dated at

Whiteh.all, 17tli Febmaiy 1G77, granting tlie title to himself

and the heirs of his body; failing them, to his three sister.s,

,Tean, Margaret, and Jl.ary, in successicni, and the heirs male

of their bodies, with remainder to the heirs of their bodies

;

and failing them, to his own heirs male wli.atever; failing all

tliese, to his heirs and assigns whatsoever, the heir female be-

ing obliged, on succeeding to the title, and her heirs, to as-

sume the name and arms of Napier. Lord Napier died a

bachelor in August 1C83.

The Hon. Jean Napier, his eldest sister, predeceased him.

She married Sir Thomas Nicolson of Carnock, Stirlingshire,

baronet, and had a son, Sir Thomas Nicolson of Carnock,

who, on the death of his uncle, became fourth Lord Napier.

(See Nicoi.sox, baronet.) He died in France, 0th June,

1GS6, in his IStli year, unmarried. The title then devolved

on his annt, Margaret, baroness Napier, second daughter of

the second Lord Napier, and widow of John Brisbane, Esq.,

secretarv of the royal navy in England, who died in 1GS4,

while preparing to set out for Portugal, to which countiy he

had been appointed envoy extraordinary. She had a pension

of £200 sterling from Charles II., 4th August 1083. on ac-

count of the pnlilic services of her husband. Lady Napier

died in September 1706. She had two sous and a daughter,

who .ill predeceased their mother.

The daughter, Margaret, who, as the last survivor of them,

was styled mistress of Napier, married William Scott, Esq.,

eldest son of Sir Francis .Scott of Thirlestane, Selkirkshire,

and had, with two daughters, who died young, a son, Fran-

cis, fifth Lord Napier.

This nobleman, bom 16th November 1703, succeeded to

the title when only three years old. He inherited the estate

of Thirlestane .and the title of baronet, on the death of his fa-

ther in 1725. He scired as a volunteer in the .allied army,

under the c.arl of Stair, in the campaign of 1743, and was

appointed one of the lords of police in Scotland, 2d October

1701, an office long since .abolished. The san;e j-ear, at hi.<<
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own expense, he procured a survey of a navigable canal to

form a communication betwixt the Forth and Clyde. He
died at Lewes, Sussex, 11th April 1773. He married, first.

Lady Henrietta Hope, third daughter of the first earl of

H«petoun, and by her had, with one daughter, who died in

infancy, five sons, namely, 1. William, sixth Lord Napier;

2. The Hon. Charles Napier of Merchistoun Hall, Stirlingshire,

Captain R.N., who died, 19th December 1807, in his 77th

year, leaving issue by his second wife. Christian, daughter of

Gabriel Hamilton, Esq. of Westburn, Lanarkshire. His

eldest son was the celebrated Admiral Sir Cliarles Napier, of

whom afterwards. 3. The Hon. Francis Napier, lieutenant-

colonel of marines, who died without issue at Dublin in 1779.

4. The Hon. John Napier, lieutenant 25th regiment, who died

in Germany, 31st July 1759. 5. The Hon. Mark Napier,

major-general in the army, who died 10th June 1809, aged

71, leaving issue. His lordship manicd, secondly, Henrietta-

Jlaria, daughter of George Johnston, Esq., a cadet of the

Hilton family, and had by her three dauj^hters and five son.s.

The eldest, the Hon. George Napier, born at Edinburgh in 1751,

died a colonel in the army and comptroller of army accounts

in L-eland 13th October 1804. He had served in the Ameri-

can campaign in 1777, was on Lord Moira's staff in the duke

of York's expedition in Holland, and was selected to take the

command of the 102d or Londonderry regiment, on its being

raised. He was one of the most powerful and active men

in the British army, and at his death it was said of him that

" a better or braver soldier never served his country, a more

upright or more diligent servant of the public never filled an

otfice of trust." In consideration of his services his majesty

granted a yearly pension of ill,000 to his widow. Lady Sarah

Lennox, seventh daughter of the second duke of Richmond.

By this lady he had eight children. His eldest son. Lieu-

tenant-general Sir Charles James Napier, G.C.B., the con-

queror of Scinde, was bom 10th August, 1782, of whom
on page 242.

Vice-admiral Sir Charles Napier, K.C.B., one of the most

distinguished of British naval commanders, and remarkable

especially for his daring and intrepidity, the eldest son of

Captain the Hon. Charles Napier of Merchistoun Hall, Stir-

lingshire, R.N., above mentioned, was bom at Falkirk, 6th

March 1786. In the male line, as has been seen, he wasa Scott,

one of the rough border clan of that name, to which the author

of Waverley belonged. At the time of his birth, his father

was regulating captain on the Leith station, where his duty

was to superintend the entry of seamen for the navy, and to

forward them to their destination at the Nore. He spent a

great portion of his early years at Merchistoun Hall, with his

younger brother, afterwards Major-general Thomas Erskine

Napier, in 1854 commander-in-chief of the forces in Scotland.

He received his education principally at the high school of

Edinburgh, and in 1799, at the age of thirteen, he joined the

Martin sloop of war, as a first class volunteer, and went to

the North Seas. Removed, in the following spring, to the

Renown, 74, the flagship of Sir John Borlase Warren, he

sailed to the coast of Spain, and was present in the attack

on Ferrol. He afterwards went to the MediteiTanean, and

in November 1802 became a midshipman in the Greyhound,

32. On his return from a visit to St. Helena in the Egypti-

enne, he joined successively in 1804-5, the Mediator and

Renommee frigates. In November 1805, he got his lieuten-

ancy, as soon as he " passed," at 19 years of age. He was ap-

pointed to the Courageux, 74, which formed part of the squa-

dron of Sir J. B. Warren ; and assisted at the capture of the

French 80 gun ship the Marengo, and the 44 gun frigate the

Belle Poule. In March 1807, being then in the West Indies

in the Prince George, 98, he was nominated acting command-
er of the Pultusk frigate, and the appointment was confirmed

by the admiralty on 30th November following. He was pre-

sent at the reduction of the Danish islands, St. Thomas and

St. Croix, and on 17th July 1808, he assisted, with the boats

of the Fawn sloop, in cutting out a Spanish merchantman

from under two batteries on the coast of Porto Rico, the

guns of one of which lie spiked. In August of the same

year he removed to the Recruit brig of 18 guns. A day or

two after receiving the command he came in sight of the

French corvette Diligente of 22 guns, making in the direction

of the island of Martinique. He immediately gave chase,

and the two vessels exchanged broadsides within pistol-shot

of each other. Captain Napier was struck by a shot at the

very commencement of the action, which broke his thigh-

bone, but he refused to go below. The result he told the

public, in his own characteristic way, in one of his election

speeches at Portsmouth in 1833. " I had once the misfor-

tune," he said, " of receiving a precious licking from a French

corvette ; the first shot she fired broke my thigh, and a

plumper carried away my main-mast. The enemy escaped,

but the British flag was not tarnished." In February 1809

he assisted at the reduction of Martinique. The jEolus, Cle-

opatra, and Recruit were ordered to beat up in the night be-

tween Pigeon island and the Main, and anchor close to Fort

Edward. The enemy fearing an attack, burnt their shipping.

With five men he landed in open day, scaled the walls ot

Fort Edward, and planted the Union Jack on the ramparts.

A regiment being landed in the night, Fort Edward was taken

possession of, and the mortars turned against the enen\y.

Sir Alexander Cochrane, his commander-in-chief, wrote him

a letter saying, that his " conduct was the means of saving

many lives, and of shortening the siege of Martinique."

In the ensuing April he assisted Sir Alexander Cochrane

in a chase of three French ships of the line, which, after a

running fight of nearly fifty-five hours, terminated in the

capture of the Hautpolt, 74. For his services in this affair,

the commander-in-chief appointed him to the command of

tlie captured vessel, and the post commission thus confeiTed

upon him was confirmed by the admiralty 22d May 1809.

At this time he was only 23. In the following summer he

returned with convoy to England in the Jason frigate, and

did not again go afloat till 1811. During this inters'al he

served a campaign as a volunteer with the anny in the Pen-

insula, and was present at the battle of Busaco, at which he

carried off the field his cousin. Major Napier, afterwards

Lieutenant-general Sir Charles James Napier, who was shot

through the face. In the course of the campaign he himself

was wounded.

In the early part of 1811 he was appointed to the Thames

frigate of 34 guns, in which he served in the Mediterranean

under Sir Edward Pellew, afterwards Lord Exmouth. On
26th July that year, in concert with the Cephalus under Cap-

tain Augustus Clifford, he silenced the fire of eleven gun-

boats and a felucca moored across the harbour of Porto del

Infreschi, as well as that of a round tower, and captured 14

merchantmen, and a quantity of spars destined for a ship of

the line and a frigate. On 1st November, in command of his

own boats and those of the Imperieuse, he landed with 250

men of the 62d regiment, at the back of the luirbour of Pali-

nuro, and carried the neighbouring lieights, under a heavy

fire from the enemy, who were compelled to retire. Next

day he succeeded in capturing 10 gunboats, 22 richly laden

feluccas, and the battery of 24-pounders by which they had

been protected. In the spring of 1812 he was employed as

the senior officer on the coast of Calabria. On 14th May he
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attacked the port of Sapri, took 28 sliips laden with oil, and,

supported by the Pilot sloop, compelled a strong battery and

tower to surrender at discretion. On 2Gtli February 1813,

in concert with the Furieuse, 36, and with the second battal-

ion of the 10th regiment, lie took possession of the island of

Ponza, and that without loss, although exposed to the fire of

four batteries and a tower. On his removal soon afterwards

to the Euryahis, 3G, with the aid of his boats he captured,

Iflth May, La Fortune, xebecque, carrying ten long 9-pound-

ers, four swivels, and 95 men, with upwards of 20 merchant

vessels, lying in Cavalrie roads. In tlie following winter he

drove on shore the Balleine French store-ship of 22 guns and

120 men, and compelled a gaberre of 30 guns and loO men

to seek refuge under the land batteries.

Shortly afterwards, on the breaking out of the American

war, he sailed with a squadron under Captain King for North

America. His services here were chiefly up the Potomac.

He took part in the brilliant expedition under Capt.ain, after-

wards Vice-admiral Sir J. A. Gordon, against Alexandria,

and assisted him in bombarding Fort Washington. After

the American batteries were silenced, and their powder m.ag-

azine blown np, the squadron, carrying with it 21 sail of

prizes, safely reached the mouth of the river, on coming

down which they found the brushwood swarming with the

enemy, who fired a volley of musketry, a ball of which struck

him in the neck.

In the subsequent operations ag.iinst Baltimore, in Septem-

temher 1 814, Captain Napier, having a division of boats un-

der his orders, rendered good service in causing a diversion,

which favoured an ass.ault upon the enemy's entrenched camp

on the o|i]iosite side of ihe city. In June 1815, his ship, the

Euryalus, was paid off, and on the 4th of that month he was

made a C.B. He remained unemployed till 1829, and dur-

ing the interval ho directed his attention to the numerous

abuses in the management of the navy, and published a num-

ber of letters on the subject addressed to Lord jMelville, then

at the head of the admiralty, to the Lord-high-admiral (the

duke of Clarence), and others in authority, under the sign.a-

ture of a post-captain. On 8tli January 1829 he was ap-

pointed to the Galatea, of 42 guns, and from that period un-

til the end of 1832 he was employed on particular sen'ice on

the coast of Portugal. The object of his mission appears to

liave been to obtain restitution from Don Mignel, who had

usurped the Portuguese thrnne, of certain British ships which

had been seized, upon a pretext wholly unjustifiable, off the

Western Islands. Of his sei-vices on the Portuguese coast,

on the part of tliis country and on that of the constitutional

government of Portugal, he has given a detailed account in

his ' History of the War of Succession in Portugal.'

In 1833, Captain Napier succeeded Admiral Sartorius, in

the command of Donna Maiia's fleet, and on 4th July th.at

year, he achieved a signal victoiy off Cape St. Vincent over

the more numerous and powerful squadron of Don Miguel,

by boarding. In this action, the following was the relative

strength of the two fleets. Donna Mari.a's squadron, under

Napier, three frigates, a coiTctte, and a brig, 17C guns in all.

Don Miguel's squadron, two ships of the line, mounting 8G

guns each, a frigate of 52 guns, a 50 gun ship, three cor-

vettes and two brigs, in all 372 guns. Tlie result of this

brilliant achievement was the evacu.ation of Lisbon by the

Migiielites, and the establishment of Donna Maria on tlie

throne of Portugal. For this important service he was cre-

ated by the Portuguese government Viscount Capo San Vi-

cente, .and appointed admir.il-in-chief of the Portuguese fleet.

He .also obt.ained the Grand Cross of the Tower and Sword
;

but receiving nothing but incivility .and ingi-atitude from the

III.

Portuguese officials, he returned to England in the following

November. In January 1837 he was awarded the Captain's

good service pension.

On 1st January 1839 he was appointed to the command of

the Powerful, 84, fitting for the Mediterranean, with special

instructions to take soundings of the Dard.anelles, and

drawings of the various ports along the coast, &c., all

preparatory to the naval operations which were soon

after carried into effect in that quarter. In 1840 he

hoisted his broad pendant as commodore, and became second

in command under Sir Robert Stopford, of the fleet employed

on the coast of Syria. He was a principal actor in the brief

but brilliant war that ensued for the settlement of what w.as

called the Eastern question. From the landing of the Brit-

ish, Turkish, and Austrian forces in Djounie Bay, he was in-

defitigably employed in every operation of the war. He ob-

tained a signal success over a force commanded by Ibrahim

Pacha, which occupied a strong position among the moun-

tains of Beyrout. The evacuation of that place immediately

followed, .and the submission of the .army of Suliman Pacha,

with its cannon and stores. On the 24tli September he cap-

tured Saidn, and within a month took .about 10,000 prisoners,

cleared all Lebanon of the Egyptians, forced Ibrahim Pacha

to abandon the passes of the TauiOLS, and to concentrate the

whole of his army at Zachle and Damascus. At Sidon Com-
modore Napier particularly disfingnishcd himself. On the

3d November Acre was bombarded by Sir Robert Stopford,

Commodore Napier leading the division of the squadron which

att.icked the north side of the town. Immediately after the

reduction of Aa'e, he was sent to Alex.andria, in comm.and of

a division of the fleet, and there he acted on his own respon-

sibility, .and concluded a convention with Meliemet Ali, pacha

of Egypt, who agreed to the immediate removal of the Egyp-

tian troops from Syria and the delivery of the Ottoman fleet,

on condition of a cess.ation of hostilities, and his reinstate-

ment in the hereditary government of Egypt. This conven-

tion Sir Robert Stopfm-d refused to ratify. The British am-

bassador .at Constantinople and the Ottoman Porte also

disclaimed it. It was, however, approved of by Lord Palm-

erston, then secretaiy of state for foreign affairs, and formed

the basis of the agreement on which the E.astern question,

after a protracted correspondence, was settled. For his ser-

vices in this war. Commodore Napier was created a knight

commander of the Bath. 4th December 1840. He was also

presented by the monarchs of the different countries with the

cross of Maria Theresa of Austria, the cross of St. George of

Russia, and the insignia of the second class of the order of

the Red Eagle of Prussia.

In the spring of 1841, he returned to England, and, not

long after, was elected M.P. for Maiylebone. On 30th No-

vember of the same yeai' he was appointed one of the naval

aides-de-camp to the queen. In 1846 he was made rear-

admir.ll of the blue, and in 1847 .appointed to the command

of the Channel fleet, which he held for two years. In 1851

he published a volume, containing all the letters on naval

reform which he had contributed to the London papers dur-

ing the previous thirty years, with the title of ' The Navy,

its Past and Present St.ate;' the Introduction to which was

written by his cousin, Major-general Sir William Napier,

author of the 'History of the Peninsular War.'

In 1853 he was promoted to be vice-admiral of the blue.

On the breaking out of the Russian war the following ye.ar,

he w.as .appointed to the comm.and of the Baltic fleet ; but

with the exception of the t.aking of Bomarsund, he did no-

thing whatever in the Baltic sea. He, however, brought

home his fleet in safety and good order. In June 1855 ho

Q
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became vice-admiral of the white, and in 1858 admiral of tlie

blue. In November of the same year, on the death of Sir

William Moleswortli, he was elected M. P. for Southwark.

He married the widow of Edward Eiers, Esq., R.N., and

tlieir son. Captain Charles Napier, was drowned in December

1847, whilst in command of the Avenger steam frig.ate, when

she was wrecked on the Sorelle rocks in the Mediterranean.

Sir Charles Napier died at his seat, Merchiston Hall, Hamp-

shire, November 6, 18G0. His portrait is subjoined.

His cousin, Lieutenant-general Sir Cliarles James Napier,

G.C.B., son of Colonel George Napier, by Lady Sarah Lenno.x,

was born at Whitehall, London, 10th August, 1782. Wlien

he was between two and three years old, his father removed

to Ireland, and in January 1794, before ho liad completed his

twelfth year, he obtained a commission in the 33d regiment.

He first served in the Irish rebellion of 1798, and was aide-

de-camp to Sir J.imes Duff, commanding in Limerick, in

1800. In 1803 be again served in Emmet's rebellion.

In 1804 he received a captain's commission in the 50tb, of

which regiment he became major in 1806, and commanded it

all tlirough Sir ,Tohn Moore's memorable retreat to Corunna.

At tliat famous battle, he and Major Stanhope charged tlie

French most gallantly, wliich caused Sir John to exclaim,

shortly before receiving bis death-wound, " Well done, the

50th! Well done, my majors
!

" In endeavouring to silence

an advanced gun which was making great havoc in the Brit-

ish lines. Major Napier was severely wounded and taken

prisoner. Besides a bayonet stab in his back from a French

soldier who came behind him, lie had received a musket-ball

in bis leg, and a sabre-cut on his head. The soldiers were

about to despatch him, when he was saved by the interven-

tion of a drummer, named Gibert, whom Soult afterwards

rewarded for his conduct. Having been returned in the Ga-

zette as among the slain, Lis friends went into mourning for

him, and obtained from the Prerogative court administration

of bis personal estate. In the meantime, lie was treated

with the greatest kindness by JIarshal Soult, who recom-

mended him to the consideration of his successor, Ney. The
latter permitted him to return on liis parole to England,

where be arrived 30th March 1809, and eventually procured

his liberation by an exchange. For his galUmt conduct in

this battle be obtained a medal, then seldom given and much
prized.

He subsequently joined Lord Wellington's army in Portu-

gal as a volunteer. At the Coa two horses were shot under

him, and at Busaco, 27th September 1810, he was shot

through the face, the bullet lodging behind the ear. He was

compelled to travel a hundred miles to Lisbon, for efficient

surgical assistance, when the bullet was extracted. He was

present at Fuentes, at the second siege of Bad.ijoz, and in

many skimiishes. In 1811 he attained the rank of lieuten-

ant-colonel in the 102d regiment, and went out to Bermuda
j

in command of it. In 1813 he served in the expedition to !

Chesapeake Bay, under Sir Sidney Beckwith. Afterwards
;

he commanded at the affair of Little Hampton, wliich proved
j

most successful.

Having made all Iiaste to reach Waterloo as a volunteer,

he arrived from Ghent on the field, on the evening of the

181b June, too late to take part in the battle, but be was

present throughout the march upon Paris, and at the storm-

ing of Cambray. On bis homeward voyage to England, the i

ship he took passage in sunk off Flushing, and he saved him-

self by swimming.
;

In 1818 he was appointed inspecting field officer in the

loni.an islands, where he executed many public works, de-

signed by himself, .md in 1824 was made lieutenant-governor

or resident of Cephalonia, when he introduced most impor-

tant improvements in the administration of justice and in the
i

intern.al condition of the island. After bis return to Eng-

land, he published a work, entitled 'The Colonies and the

Ionian Islands;' also, another on 'The Roads and Bridges of

Cephalonia.'

In 1835, the commissioners for the colonization of South

Australia obtained for him the offer of the governorship of

that colony, but as the government would not allow him I

either men to defend it, or money to promote its improve-

ment, he declined the iippointment. At this time be pub-

lished ' Colonization, with Remarks upon Small Farms and

Over Population,' in which he eloquently advocates the rights

of native tribes. Having fixed his residence for some time in

Dublin, he published, in 1838, a pamphlet treating of the I

neglected waste lands and defective agiicultui'e, at that pe-

riod, of Ireland.

In 1837 he obtained the brevet rank of major-general, and

soon .afterw.ards he published his ' Remarks on Military Law,

and the Punishment of Flogging,' which he disapproved of in

time of peace. He also, about the same time, edited De

Vigny's 'Lights and Shadows of French Military Life.' In

March 1839 he was appointed to the command of the north-

ern district of England, and is said to have prevented a

Chartist outbreak at Nottingham, by bringing the leaders to

witness a review of the troops under his command, when ho

pointed out to them the fearful inferiority of their half-

armed, undisciplined m.asscs to his soldiers. In 1841 he was

appointed to the command of the troops in the Bombay pres-

idency, and in 1842 he was sent to Scinde, to take the com-

mand of an army of reserve stationed there, to keep open the

communications between Generals Nott, English, and Pollok,

then advancing into Afighanistan. Here he had to fight at

an immense disadvantage. At Sleeanee, on 17th Febru.iry,
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1843, lie defeated a strong JJeloocli force of 35,000 men, the

force under his command beini; im\y 2,700. His own loss at

this battle was 20 (jllicers and 2.00 rank and tile, while that

of the enemy was G.OOO. For this brilliant action he received

the grand ci'oss of the Bath. Hyderabad immediately sur-

rendered, and six of the Amcer.s on being taken prisoners,

olfered him their costly swords, which he returned. AVith

5,000 men .against 20,000, he defeated Sliere Mahommed,
styled the Lion, the most warlike of the hostile Ameers, at

the battle of Hyderabad or Dubba, on 24tli March. At this

b.attlc a Belooch powder magazine exploded close beside him,

killing or wounding all around him, singeing his clothes, and

breaking his sword in his hand, though leaving him person-

ally unliurt. One feature of his proceedings in Scinde is wor-

thy of sjiecial mention. For the first time in the practice of

the Britisli .army he inserted in his despatches the names of

the private soldiers who had distinguislied themselves in battle.

He was now appointed by Lord Kllenborough, then gover-

nor-general of Luiia, governor of Scinde, when he abolished

tlie suttee and slavery, and greatly checked the practice of

infanticide. He opened canals, and organised a native po-

lice force. In a campaign of 54 days in 1845, he com-

pletely subdued tlie hill tribes or mountain robbers north of

Scinde. The thanks of both houses of parliament for " the

skill and gallantry with which the operations in Scinde were

carried on, .and for the decisive victories with which they

were crowned," were awarded to him. Besides his other

works, he was author of two smaller ones on ' The Greek

Revolution.'

hi the spring of 1819, after his return to England, when

the disasters of the last Sikli compaign had excited the anx-

ieties of the people of this country, by tlie advice of the duke

of Wellington, .Sir Charles James Napier was appointed to

the command of the Indian army, and on 24th March of that

year, he set out for India, but when he arrived there, he

found tliat tlie object of the war had been .attained. He,

liowever, exerted himself in reforming the flagrant .abuses

which had grown up in the army, especially among the offi-

cers. Having remained in India about two years, he resigned

his command .and returned to England. He did more, per-

haps, to reform the British .army than any other general offi-

cer of his time. He was particularly opposed to debt and

idleness among the officers, and was remarkable for the sim-

plicity of his own style of living. He died Aug. 29, 1853,

.aged 71. His next brother, General Sir George Thomas Na-

pier, K.C.B., born in 1784, for some years governor at the

Cape of Good Hope, lost his right arm at Giudad Rodrigo,

where he led the storming party. He died Sept. 3, 1855,

leaving 3 sons .and 1 dr. Another brother. General Sir Wil-

liam Francis Patrick Napier, K.C.B., born in 1785, autiior of

''I'he History of the Peninsular War,' and of works on the

' Conquest of Scinde,' on the Poor Law, and on the C(n'n

Laws, with some reviews and works of fiction, died Feb. 12,

18G0. A younger brother. Captain Henry Napier, R.N., au-

thor of the Florentine History, liornin 1789, died in 1853.

William, 6th Lord Napier, born Jl.-iy 1, 1730, became in

1747 a cornet in the Scots Greys, and major Nov. 14, 1770.

He sold his commission in 1773, on account of bad health, and

the same year he succeeded his father. He was dcputy-adju-

tant-general to the forces in Scotland, with the rank of lieut.-

colonel in the army from 17th January 17G3, till his death,

2d January 1775, in his 45th year. By his wife, M.ainie, or

JIarion Anne, fourth daughter of Cliarles, eighth Lord Catli-

cart, he had one son, Francis, seventh Lord Napier, and four

daughters. The Hon. JIainie or .Marion Sliaw Napier, the

eldest daughter, married, in 1779, the Rev. Andrew Hunter

of Barjarg, D.D., then one of the ministers of Dumfries,

afterwards professor of divinity in the university of Edin-

burgh, and one of the ministers of the Tron church in that

city. Dr. Hunter died 21st April 1809. His youngest son,

the Rev. John Hunter, became one of the ministers of the

Tron church, Edinburgh, in October 1832.

Francis, seventh Lord Napier, born at Ipswich, 23d Feb-

ruary, 1758, entered the army as ensign in the 31st foot, 3d

November 1774, and became lieutenant of the same regiment

21st March, 177(i. He served in America under General

ISurgoyne, in the war of independence, and was one of those

who surrendered with him to General Gates at Saratoga the

following ye.ar. After being detained a prisoner for six

months, he obtained permission to return to Europe on pa-

role, not to serve in America until regularly exchanged, which

took place in October 1780. On 17th November 1779, he

had purchased a captain's commission in the 35th foot, and

.after being on half-pay for a short time, he exchanged to full

pay as captain in the 4th foot, 31st .M.ay, 1784. On 29tli

December following, he purchased the majority of that corps,

but sold out in 1789.

On the IGth September of that year, Lord Napier, as grand

master mason of Scotland, laid the foundation of the new

university buildings of Edinburgh, Dr. Robertson, the histo-

rian, being at that time principal. On the 11th November he

had the degree of LL.D. conferred on him by the university.

In 1793, when the Ilopetoun fencibles were embodied, his

lordship was appointed lieutenant-colonel of that corps, and

held the commission until it was disbanded in 1790. He was

elected one of the sixteen Scots representative peers in 179G,

and appointed lord-lieutenant of Selkirkshire, 17th Novem-

ber 1797. Nominated high-commissioner to the General

Assembly of the Church of Scotland in 1802, he annually

filled that office for nearly twenty years. On 10th Novem-

ber 1803, he was elected a member of the society in Scotland

for propagating Christian Knowledge, and on 3d Januaiy

1805 he became president of that society. On 5tli February

180G, he was constituted a member of the board of trustees

for the encouragement of Scottish fisheries and manufactures.

His lordship died 1st August 1823.

His eldest son, William-John, eighth Lord N.apier, born at

Kiiisale loth October 178G, entered the navy at the age of

IG, .and was a midshipman on bo.ard the Defiance at the bat-

tle of Trafalg.ar. In 1809 he was promoted to the rank of

lieuten.ant, and five years afterwards to th.at of post-captain.

In 1815, at the age of 29, owing to the peace, he retired

from active service, and entered the university of Edinburgh.

He .afterwards turned his attention to agricultural pursuits,

and was long distinguished in the south of Scotland as an

improver in store-farming.

In 1824, the year after he had succeeded to the title, he was

.appointed to the command of the Diamond, bound lor the

South American station. In the course of three years he

again retired from active service, and returned to Scotland.

Ill 1833, he was appointed superintendent of the trade and

interests of the British in China. Finding, on landing at

M.ac.ao, in July 1834, that the governor of Canton was dis-

posed to obstruct his farther progress until notice of his arri-

val should have been sent to the court at Pekin, he deter-

mined to proceed in spite of even- obstacle. On the 24tli of

that month, he sailed up the Canton river, and next morning

arrived at the British factory. Commercial transactions be-

tween the British and Chinese merch.ants were immediately

prohibited by the governor, in consequence of which his lord-

ship sent the Imogene .and Andromache frigates up the Bogue

river. They were fired at by the forts, wliich in return they
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battered about the ears of the Chinese soldiers. This occur-

red on the 7th September, but, owing to calms, the ships

were obliged to come to an anchor for several days. On the

14th, Lord Napier became seriously indisposed, and that the

interests of the British merchants might not be injured by a

farther suspension of their trade, the men of war were ordered

"to move out of the river," and he returned to Macao, where

he died Uth October 1834, of a lingering fever, brought on

by anxiety. He was one of the 16 Scots representative peers.

With four daughters, he had two sons
;
Francis, who suc-

ceeded him, and William, clerk of the works at Hong-Kong.

Francis, the elder son, 9th Lord Napier, born Sep. 15, 1819,

married, in 1845, the only daughter of Robert Manners Lock-

wood, Esq., issue, 4 sons. In Aug. 1840, he was attached

to the embassy at Vienna, and in Sep. 1842, appointed paid

attach^ at Teheran. In Jan. following he became paid

attach^ at Constantinople, in May 1846, secretary of lega-

tion at Naples, in April 1852 secretary of legation at St.

Petersburg, and in April 1854, secretary of embassy at Con-

stantinople. In 1857 he was appointed British mir]ister at

Washington, and in 1858 at the Hague. His eldest son,

William John George, was born Sep. 22, 1846.

The head or chief of the ancient family of Napier, is Milli-

ken Napier of Napier and Milliken, Renfrewshire, baronet,

descended from Robert Napier of Culcreuch, Stirlingshire,

the second son of the second man-iage of John Napier of Mer-

chiston, the inventor of the Logarithms. He is, therefore, his

lineal representative and male heir. Robert Napier left one

son, Alexander Napier of Culcreuch, born in 1621, who married

Margaret, eldest daughter of John Lennox of Woodhead, or

Lennox castle, Stirlingshire, and died in 1692. His eldest

son, John Napier of Culcreuch, born in 1665, married his

cousin, Jean Lennox of Woodhead, and died in 1734. The

son of John, William Napier of Culcreuch, a general in the

army, married Jane, daughter and heiress of James Milliken,

Ksq. of Milliken, Renfrewshire, and on his death in 1780,

left a son, Robert John Milliken Napier, who took the name

of Milliken, in compliance with the will of his maternal

grandfather. He was senior colonel in the army, and com-

manded at the siege of Mangalore, in the East Indies. He

died in 1808, from wounds received in action, at the age of 43.

His only son, Sir William Milliken Napier of Napier and

Milliken, baronet, bom in 1788, married in 1815, Elizabeth

Christian, 5th daughter of John Stii-ling, Esq. of Kippenross,

Perthshire, with issue, 2 sons and 1 daughter. He was served

heir male general of Archibald, 3d Lord Napier, JIarcli 17,

1817, and succeeded to the baronetcy of Nova Scotia, wljich

had been conferred on the first Lord Napier, JIarch 2, 1627.

Sir William died Feb. 4, 1852.

His eldest son. Sir Robert John Jlilliken Napier of Napier

and Jlilliken, 10th baronet, born Nov. 7, 1818, married, April

4, 1850, issue, 3 sons and 3 daughters. Archibald Lemiox,

theeldest son, was born Nov. 2, 1855.

The Napiers of Ballikenrain, Stirlingshire, were an ancient

family. The last in the male line, John Napier, Esq. of Bal-

likenrain, was the 16th of the name and family of Napier

who, in succession, possessed the estate. His heiress mar-

ried Robert Dunmore, Esq., whose second son, John Dunmore

Napier, Esq., inherited his mother's lands.

NAPIER, John, of Merchiston, the celebrated

inventor of the Logarithms, was born at Mercliis-

ton castle, near Edinburgh, in 1550. Local tradi-

tion had pointed to Drumbeg, a common thatched

farmhouse in the parish of Drj-men, Stirlingshire,

as his birthplace, when the earl of Buchau, who

wrote -a biography of him, showed, by an insci'ip-

tion on Napier's portrait, engraved by Cooper

from an original painting, that he was born at

Merchiston castle. Part, however, of his patri-

monial inheritance lay in the parish of Diymen.

He was the eldest son of Sir Alexander Napier of

Edinbellie and Mercliiston, master of the mint to

James VI., by his first wife, Janet, only daughter

of Sir Francis Bothwell, a lord of session, and sis-

ter of Adam, bishop of Orkney. At tlie time of

his birth, his father was only sixteen j'ears old.

He was educated at St. Salvator's college, St. An-

drews, which he entered, it is stated, in 1562-3.

He afterwards, according to Mackenzie, spent

several years in France, the Netherlands, and

Italy ; and on his return to his native countrj',

about 1571, he applied himself closely to the study

of mathematics. It is conjectured that he ac-

quired a taste for this branch of learning during

his residence abroad, especially in Italy, where at

that period there were a considerable number of

mathematicians of reputation.

While at college, during his " tender years and

bairn age," he contracted an intimate friendship

with a Roman Catholic gentleman, whom he styles

his " familiar," and frequently defended the Re-

formers and their doctrines against his attacks.

At the same time, he was also an attentive hearer

of the sermons of that worthy Euglisliman, Mr.

Christopher Goodman, on the Apocalypse; and

his interpretation of its m3-steries, as applied to

the papists, determined him, to use his own words,

" with the assistance of God's Spirit, to employ

his study and diligence to search out the remanent

mysteries of that holy booke." The fruits of this

resolution appeared in his ' Plain Discovery of the

whole Revelation of St. John,' published at Edin-

burgh in 1593; in the dedication of which to the

king, he urged his majesty to attend to the en-

forcement of the laws and the protection of reli-

gion, beginning reformation " in his own house,

family, and court." From this work it appears

that, amidst his various mathematical specula-

tions, Napier paid some attention also to the cul-

tivation of poetry, for prefixed is a metrical ad-
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dress to Antichrist, and certain versified prophe-

cies out of tlie Oracles of S3'bilia are annexed.

The same year (15911) he was cliosen by tlie Gen-

eral Assenibl}' one of the commissioners appointed

to assemble at Edinburgh to counteract the de-

signs of the Roman Catliolics for the overthrow

of the Reformed faitli, then recently established.

In 159G he published a ' Letter to Anthony Ba-

con, (brother of Lord Bacon,) entitled Secret In-

ventions, profitable and necessary in these daj's

for the Defence of this Island, and withstanding

Strangers, Enemies to God's Truth and Religion.'

His portrait is subjoined.

Napier had for several years directed his inqui-

j

ries to the discovery of a short and expeditious

; method of calculation, to facilitate the solution of

1

trigonometrical problems, and at length his eflorts

were crowned with the most complete success.

I

In 1614 he produced his book of Logarithms, by

which the science of astronomy and the arts of

practical geometry and navigation have been won-

derfully aided and advanced. The work, entitled

'^Mirifici Logarithmorum Canonis Descriptio,' was

dedicated to Prince Charles, afterwards Charles

I. This important discovery soon made his name

known all over Europe, aud Kepler dedicated his

Ephemcridcs to the inventor of the Logarithms,

considering him the greatest mathematician of his

age. In his last work, styled ' Rabdologia;, sen

Numeratio per Virgulas,' in two books, published

in 1617, Na])ier describes a method of performing

the operations of multiplication and division by

means of a number of small rods, which continue

to be known and used b}' the name of Napier's

Bones. This illustrious mathematician died at

Merchiston castle, April 3 or 4, 1G17, and was

buried in the church of St. Giles at Edinburgh.

He was twice married ; first in 1571, to Elizabeth,

daughter of Sir James Stirling of Keir, by wliom

he had a son and a daughter; secondly, to Agnes,

daughter of James Cliisholm of Cromlix, in Perth-

shire, by whom he had five sons and five daugh-

ters. His eldest son, Archibald, was the first

Lord Napier of Merchiston.

During a considerable part of the period of his !

being employed in his calculations he resided at
!

the house of Gartness on the Endrick, in the par-

ish of Drymen, close to a romantic cascade, called

the Pot of Gartness. The incessant sound of the

cascade, it is said, never annoyed him, while the

clattei'ing noise of a mill in the immediate neigh-

bourhood so shattered his thoughts that he was

frequently obliged to request the miller to stop its
\

movements. Accustomed frequently to walk out '

'<

in the evening in his nightgown and cap, and i

wearing an aspect of deep abstraction, he obtained

the reputation among the country people in his

vicinity of being a warlock. Hume, in Iiis His-

tory of England, says of him, that he was "the

person to whom the title of ' Gi'cat Man ' is more

Justly due than to any other whom his country

ever produced." In his 'Provincial Antiquities,'

Sir Walter Scott refers to a curious contract ex-

isting in the charter chest of Lord Napier, betwixt
I

Logan of Restalrig, who is said afterwards to have '

leagued with the earl of Gowrie in his conspiracy

against James YI., and the inventor of the Loga-

rithms, dated in July 1594, by which Napier

bound himself to go to Berwickshire, and "use all

craft and ingine " (genius or ingenuity) to disco- i

ver a treasure alleged to have been hidden within
i

Logan's house of Fast castle. For his reward he
^



NASMYTH. 246 NASMYTH.

was to have the third of what was found, and to

te safelj' guarded by Logan back to Edinburgh.

And in case he should find nothing, he refers the

satisfaction of liis labour and pains to the discre-

tion of Logan. It has been suspected by Mr.

Mark Napier, in his ' Memoirs ' of his great name-

sake, that Logan had another object in view than

that expressed in the contract. Napier seems to

have sustained some serious injury from the un-

principled laird of Rcstalrig, as appears from the

terms of a lease granted in 1596, by which his

tenant is prohibited from subletting his land to

any one who should bear the surname of Logan.

Nasmyth, a surn.nme, formerly and properly Naesmyth.

The family tradition accounts fur the origin and spelling of

the name by the foUo'^'ing romantic incident. In the reign of

Alexander III., the ancestor of the family, being in attendance

on the king, was, on the eve of a battle, required by him to

repair his armour. Although a man of great stature and

power, he was unsuccessful. After the battle, having per-

formed prodigies of valour, he was knighted by the king,

with the remark that " although he was nae Smit/i, ho was a

br.ive gentleman." The armorial hearings of the family h.ave

reference to this origin of the name, viz., a drawn sword be-

tween two war hammers or " martels '' broken, with the

motto, " Non arte sed marte" in old Scotch, "Not by kna-

verie but by br.averie," (arte and hiavery meaning skill, not

cunning). Naesmyth of Posso is the head of this ancient

family, being descended from the stalwart knight of the legend.

The Naesmyths of Posso, created baronets of Nova Sco-

tia, have held lands in Tweeddale since the 13th century,

Their ancestor, Sir Michael Naesmyth, fought in the wars

with Bruce. Another Sir Michael Naesmyth was chamber-

lain to the archbishop of St. Andrews, and obtained, in 1544,

in marriage with Elizabeth, daughter of John Baird of Pos-

so, the estate of that name in Peebles-shire. He was a

staunch adherent of Queen Mary, and the tower of Posso

was frequently inhabited by her on hawking excursions. It

was fitted up for her reception by her royal mother, Mary of

Guise, from the palace at Leith. The tower was burnt down

in the reign of Charles I., and is now a ruin. Sir Michael

Naesmyth fought on Queen Mary's side at Langside in

the year 1568. He was subsequently banished, and liis

property confiscated by the regent Moray. He died at an

advanced age in 1G09. His second son, John, was chief chi-

rurgeon to James VI., and to the king of France. "Johne
Nesmith, chirurgian," was by chance riding beside King

James, as he was hunting at Falkland on Ofh August 1600,

the morning of the Gowrie conspiracy catastrophe, when Al-

exander Ruthven came to his majesty, .and was the person

sent by the king to bring Ruthven back, after he had spoken

with him, to say that he had determined to proceed to the

earl of Cowrie's house at Perth, in search of some imaginary

treasure, as soon as the chase was ended. He died at Lon-

don in 1G13, and in his last will he bequeathed his "hert to

liis young m.aistcr the prince's grace," meaning Henry, prince

of Wales. His son, James Naesmyth of Posso, was falconer

to James VI. The royal eirie of Posso Craig is on the fam-

ily estate, and the lure worn by Queen Mary and James, pre-

sented to him by the latter, is preserved as .an heirloom.

James Naesmyth, sheriff of Peebles-shire, son of the

falconer, was a member of the Scottish parliament in 1627.

Under his sheriffship the last " weaponshaw " was held

for the county of Peebles on the Sheriff's muir. His eldest

son, James Naesmyth, .an eminent lawyer, was known as

" the deil o' Dawick," that is, Dalwick, the family se.at. He

died in 1706. A younger son of James the Sheriff was a

loy.al gentleman
;
having raised a troop of horse, he served

under Cl.averhouse in behalf of the royal cause. The deed

signed by Charies II. at Windsor is in the family ch.arter

chest. Another Naesmyth (John,) fought at the battle of

Preston. His claymore, inlaid with gold, bearing on one

side, " For God, my Country and King, James the Eight,"

and on the other, " Prosperitie to Scotland and Nae Union,"

is retained in the family

The lawyer's son, Sir James Naesmyth, was created a b.ar-

onet of Nova Scotia, 31st July 170C, with limitation to liis

Iieirs m.ale. On his death in 1720, his eldest son. Sir J.imes

Naesmyth, M.P., became the second baronet. He distin-

guished himself by his improvements and plantations on the

estate of Dalwick, and is described by Sir Thomas Dick Lau-

der, as " a gentleman of much scientific acquirement. He

was a pupil of I.innaius, and studied under him in Nonvay.

In addition to his own ordinary gardens, he created others for

extensive botanical collections, with greenhouses for rare

plants; and on these he put the strikingly appropriate mot-

to: 'Solomon, in .all his glory, was not arrayed like one of

these.' " In 1735 he planted an avenue of silver-firs at Dal-

wick, most of the trees of which are nearly of equal magni-

tude. He had travelled into Switzerland and Italy, and was

the first who brought over and planted the larch in Scotland,

which he did in 1725, some years before the Duke of Athole.

He died 4th February 1779. He had two sons. The elder,

Sir James Naesmyth, 3d baronet, married in 1785, Eleanor,

2d daughter of John JIurray, Esq. of Philiphaugh. Whea
a child, this lady was saved from the flames of Hanglngshaw

castle, on its accidentally catching fire, by being let down in

a basket through a window. Sir J.ames died Dec. 4, 1829.

His only son. Sir John Murray Naesmyth, 4th b.ironet,

born at Dalwick, Dec. 30, 1803, w.as educated at Rugby, and

greatly exceeded his grandfather's example, in improving the

beauty of the family seat. He married, 1st, Mary, 4th daugh-

ter of Sir John Marjoribanks, 1st baronet of Lees, issue, 5

sons and 1 dr.; 2dly, Hon. Eleanor Powys, daughter of

Thomas, 2d Lord Lilford, issue, a son and a dr. The eldest

and only surviving son, .Tames, of the Bengal civil service,

born Feb. 9, 1827, married Eliza Gordon Brodie, eldest dr.

of F. Whitworth Russell, Esq., Bengal civil service, 2d son of

Sir Henry Russell, Bart, of Swallowfield, chief justice of India.

NASMYTH, Alexander, a celebrated artist,

the father of the Scottish school of landscape

painting, was born at Edinburgh in 1757, and re-

ceived his elementarj' education in that city. In

his youth he went to London, and became the ap-

prenticed pupil of Allan Ramsay, the son of the

poet, at that period one of the most esteemed por-

trait painters of the metropolis. He afterwards

repaired to Italy, where he pursued his studies for

several years in the society of the best Roman

artists of the time. On his return to his native

city he commenced practising with great success
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as a portrait painter ; and to his friendsliip with

Burns, the worhl is indebted for the only autlien-

tic portrait which exists of our national bard.

The natural bias of Mr. Nasmyth's mind, however,

was towards landscape painting; and the pleasure

he derived from the execution of some pieces in

tliat branch of art, and the applause with which

they were received, induced him almost entirely

to abandon portraits, and to devote himself to the

painting of landscapes. The distinctive charac-

teristics of his chaste and elegant compositions are

well known. His industry was so unceasing, and

his name so popular, that his productions found

their way into many of the mansion-houses in

England and Scotland, besides gracing the walls

of more humble domiciles innumerable.

Mr. Nasmyth numbered among his early em-

ployers many of the nobility and gentry of Scot-

land, and as he was frequently invited as a guest

to their country seats, his sound judgment and

great knowledge of scenic effect enabled him, in

many instances, to suggest important improve-

ments for the beautifying and adornment of their

pleasure-grounds. Ilis advice in this delightful

department of art being eventuall}- much sought

after, he was induced to adopt it as a lucrative

branch of his profession. And it is not too much

to say that to his suggestions and plans, and to

the principles he promulgated, much of the beau-

ty of some of the finest park scenery of Scotland

is to be attributed. In the improvement of his

native city he was at all times of his life much in-

terested ; and not a few of the most ingenious

and beneficial changes in the street architecture

of Ediuburgli are to be traced to his invention.

For many years he employed a considerable

portion of his time in giving tuition in the princi-

ples and practice of his art ; and from this source

he derived a larger income than any contcmporar}'

teacher. He took an active interest in all the in-

stitutions established in Edinburgh for the promo-

tion of art. He was one of the few distinguished

members of the original Society of Scottish Art-

ists ; and one of the first elected associates of the

Royal Institution, to whose exhibitions he became

a principal contributor; and altliough his great

age, at the period of the union of the artists of

that body with the Royal Scottish Academy, pre-

vented his joining their institution, he allowed

himself to be named as an honorar\- member, and

ever continued to feel deeply interested in its

prosperity. The fineness of his intellect, and the

freshness of his fancy, continued unimpaired to

the end of his labours. His last work of all was

a touching little picture, entitled ' Going Home.'

He died at Edinburgh, April 10, 1840, aged 83.

Soon after his return from Italy he married the

sister of Sir James Eouiis of Woodliall, Colinton,

by whom he had a large family, who all inherited,

in a greater or less degree, their father's skill and

genius in the arts. Peter, the eldest son, is the

subject of the succeeding notice. George and

James, the two youngest of the family, became

the leading partners in the firm of Nasmytlis,

Gaskell, and Company, engineers, Patricroft, near

Manchester.

NASMYTH, Pktek, a distinguished painter,

eldest son of the preceding, was born at Edin-

burgh, in 1786. He carl}' evinced an extraordi-

nary capacity for art, and a no less ardent incli-

nation to study it in the school of nature. Instead

of attending to the lessons of his schoolmaster, the

truant boy was frequently found with a pencil in

his hand, drawing some old tree, or making out

the auatomj' of a hedgc-fiower. Finding it a vain

effort to keep him to his books, his parents at last,

after many attempts, allowed him to take his own

course, and to follow out in his own way the dic-

tates of his powerful genius. On one occasion,

when going on a sketching excursion with his fa-

ther, Peter had the misfortune to injure his right

hand
;
but, nothing disheartened, with his left

hand he made some admirable sketches, whicli

are now eagerly sought after b}' collectors for

their truth and fidelity. His ingenuity suggested

many contrivances to facilitate the study of nature

in the stormy atmosphere of his native mountains.

One of these was a travelling tent, which is men-

tioned as having been more creditable to his en-

thusiasm than to his mechanical skill. At the

age of twent}- he proceeded to London, where his

wonderful talents were soon appreciated. Pos-

sessing a character intensel_v English, many of his

landscapes vie with the works of Ruysdacl and

Ilobbiiua, who seem to have been his favourite

masters. "Without being a copyist of their man-
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ner, he may be said to have infused their spirit

into his works, and he was honourably distin-

guished by the name of the English Hobbima.

So high is the estimation la which his pictures

are held, that many of them have sold for

more than ten times the sum which the artist

received for them.

In his habits he is described as having been pe-

culiar. From the age of 17, in consequence of

sleeping in a damp bed, he had been afiiicted with

total deafness. He died at South Lambeth, near

London, August 17, 1831, aged 45.

Newall, derived from Neville, or Nokl, the surname

of .1 family of Norman extraction, wliicli came to Scotland

about the 16tli century, and settled in Galloway.

William Newall of Barskeocli in Kells, and of Earlston in

Dairy, in tlie stewartry of Kirkcudbriglit, married Jean Boyle

Cunningliam, eldest daughter of Sir Alexander Cunningham

of Corshill, great-grandson of James, earl of Glencairn, and

had 5 sons and 2 daughters. The sons were, 1. John. 2.

Robert. 3. Charles. 4. William. 6. James.

John, the eldest son, married, 1st, Jean Blair, daughter of

Blair of Dunrod, issue, 5 sons ; and 2dly, Agnes, daugh-

ter of W. Rorison of .\rdocIi, and had 2 sons and some daugh-

ters. The sons of both marriages all died without issue.

The last of them was Colonel Newall Maxwell of Goldielea,

he having taken the name of Maxwell from his wife.

James, the youngest son of William Newall of Barskeoch,

married his 2d cousin, Agnes Montgomeiy M'CuUoch, daugh-

ter of John M'CulIoch, Esq., his mother being descended

from the Eglinton family. They left one son, Thomas Cuth-

bert, and three daughters.

The son, Thomas Cutlibert Newall, married Janet Brack-

enridge, eldest daughter of William Brackenridge, Dowhill,

Ayrshire, issue, 6 sons and 3 daughters.

James, the eldest son, succeeded Colonel Newall Maxwell

as proprietor of Goldielea, and represents the male line of

the Newalls of Barskeoch and Earlston.

Newark, Lord, a title in the peerage of Scotland (now

extinct) conferred, 31st August, 1661, on the celebrated

Genei'al David Leslie, a memoir of whom is given in a previ-

ous part of this work, (see vol. ii. p. 660,) with limitation to

the heirs male of his body. His son, David, second Lord

Newark, succeeded his fiither in 1682, and died loth May
1694, without surviving male issue, when the title properly

became extinct. His eldest daughter, Jean, on his death, as-

sumed the title of Baroness Newark. She manied Sir Alex-

ander Anstruther, knight, and on her death, 21st February

1740, her eldest son, William, styled himself Lord Newark.

He frequently voted at elections of representative peers in

ScotLand, without challenge, till 2d January 1771, when the

duke of Buccleuch objected, on the ground that he was not

the heir male of the body of the first Lord Newark. He was

captain of marines, but the corps to which he belonged was

reduced in 1749, and in 1755 he got a company of invalids.

He died at Edinburgh 3d February 1773. His brother,

Alexander, a merchant at Boulogne, also assumed the title of

Lord Newark, and voted, as such, at the general election of

Scots representative peers in 1774, without challenge; but

at that of 1790 the duke of Buccleuch protested against his

vote in the same terms as against his brother's. He died

10th JIarch 1791, aged 80. His eldest son, the Hon. John

Leslie, assumed the title, but the house of lords having in

1793 decided that the votes given by his father were not good,

he was obliged to relinquish it. He was lieutenant-colonel

of the 3d regiment of foot, and aide-de-camp to the king.

The family is represented, it is said, by Leslie of Wardes and

Findrassie, baronet.

Newburgh, Earl of, a title confeiTed in 1660, on Sir

James Livingstone, of Ivinnaird, baronet, (see vol. ii. p. 677).

He had been one of the gentlemen of the bedchamber to

King Charles I., who created him Viscount Newburgh, 13th

September 1647, to him and the heirs male of his body. On
Cromwell's discovering that he corresponded with Charles IL

in his exile, his lordship in 1650 escaped into Holland, and

repaired to the king at the Hague. He was excepted from

pardon by Cromwell's act of grace in 1654. At the Resto-

ration he was appointed captain of the guards, and by pa-

tent, d.ated 31st December 1660, created earl of Newbui-gh,

viscount of Ivinnaird, and Baron Livingstone of Flacraig, to

him and his heirs whatsoever. He died 26th December 1670.

His only son, Charles, second earl of Newburgh, died in 1694,

leaving a daughter, Charlotte Maiia, countess of Newburgji

in her own right. This lady, who possessed the title 61 years,

died 4th August 1755. She was twice married
;

first, to

Thomas, eldest son of Hugh, Lord Clifford of Chudleigh, by

whom she had two daughters
;
and, secondly, to the Hon.

Charles Radcliffe, third son of Francis, Lord RadclifTe, by

Mary Tudor, a daughter of King Charles IL, by whom she

had three sons and four daughters. Her second husband,

Charles RadclifTe, was the brother of the unfortunate earl of

Derwentwater, who was beheaded 24th February 1716, for

engaging in the rebeUion of the previous year. He himself,

after being condemned to death for his shai'e in that insurrec-

tion, escaped out of Newgate, and took refuge in France,

where he married the countess of Newburgh. After the

breaking out of the rebellion of 1745, he was taken on board

a French privateer, when on her way to Scotland with sup-

plies for Prince Charles, and beheaded on Towerhill, in terms

of his former sentence, 8th December 1746. On tlie death

of his nephew. Lord Radcliffe, in December 1731, he had as-

sumed the title of earl of Derwentwater. The Chevalier de

St. George wrote a letter of condolence to bis widow, under

the title of ' Lady Derwentwater,' on her husband's execu-

tion, and in her answer she informed " his majesty " that the

king of France, on the recommendation of " the prince of

Wales and the duke of York," had given her son, " that was

Captain in Dillon's," the brevet of colonel, with appointments

of 1,800 livres a-year, and to his sisters 150 livres a-year

each, " with his royal promise of liis protection of the family

for ever." The son refeired to, James Clement Radcliffe

Livingstone, rose to be a general in the French sernce. By

an act of parliament passed in 1749, the forfeited Denvent-

water estates were invested for the benefit of Greenwich

Hospital, after allotting 4:30,000 out of the sum derived from

the sale of a portion of them for the relief of the cliildren of

the said Charles Radcliffe.

James Bartholomew, the eldest son, bora at Vincennes in

France, 23d April 1725, was the third earl of Newburgh.

WHiile Lord Kinnaird, he was captured, with his father, on

board the French vessel in 1745. Ten years afterwards, he

succeeded his mother, and died at Slindon in Sussex, the

property of his wife, the only daughter and heiress of An
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tliony Kemp of Slinilon. His son, Anthony James Uad-

clitl'e Livingstone, fuurtli earl of Nevvburgh, was born in 17C7.

Having presented a petition to parliament, a bill was passed

in 1788, for granting £2,500 yearly to bis lordship and tlie

heirs male of his body, payable from the Derwentwater

estates, commencing from March 1787. He died Nov. 29, 1814,

when the title was assumed by his cousin, Francis Eyre, Esq.,

son of Mary, wife of Francis ICyre, Esq. of Hassop, Der-

byshire, and Walworth castle, Northamptonshire, and eldest

daughter of Charlotte Maria, countess of Newburgh by her

2d husband, the Hon. Charles Radclilfe.

Besides the title, this gentleman assumed also tlie addi-

tional double name of Kadcliffe-Livingstone. He died Oct.

23, 1827, in his GGth year. His elder son, Thomas, also .as-

sumed the title of earl of Newburgh. He married in 1817

Lady Margaret Kennedy, 3d daughter of the earl of Cassillis,

created in 1831 marquis of Ailsa, but died, witliout issue, May

22, 1833. He was succeeded by his brother, Francis, called

the 7th earl, who died, unmarried, in 1852. His sister, Mary

Dorothea, then assumed the title of countess of Newburgh.

She married, July 21, 183G, Colonel Charles Leslie of Bal-

quliain, Aberdeenshire, at one time an officer of the grenadier

guards, and knight of the Royal Hanoverian Guelphio order,

and died Nov. 22, 1853, without issue.

Immediately after her death, the titles were claimed by

Maria Cecilia, Princess Giustiniani, marchioness dowager

liandini, as descended from Lady Anne CliiTord, daughter by

her first husband, of Charlotte Maria, countess of Newburgh

in her own right, daughter of the 2d earl. Lady Anne mar-

ried at Naples in 1739, Sir James Joseph JIaliony, Count

Mahoni, a lieutenant-general in Naples. They had one

daughter, Cecilia, who married Benedict, 5th Prince Giusti-

niani, and with 2 daughters had 3 sons; 1. Vincenzio Guiseppe,

Prince Giustiniani. 2. The Chevalier Lorenzo Giustiniani.

3. Cardinal James Giustiniani. She married, 2dly, in 1773,

Charles, Count Sanseverino, and died in 1793.

The eldest son, Vincenzio Guiseppe, 6tli Prince Giustini-

ani, had one daughter, Maria Cecilia Giustiniani, already

mentioned, born in 179G, married, in 1815, Charles, 4th

Marquis Bandini of Lanciano and Rnstano, in the Roman

States, issue, a son, Sigismund Nicholas, and 4 daughters.

The Newburgh earldom in Scotland had by right descend-

ed, in 1814, to Vincenzio, Gth Prince Giustiniani, but

£iom his residence in Italy, he did not take proceedings to

establish his succession to the peerage of his .incestors, and

the assumption of the titles by Francis Eyre Kadclifl'e- Living-

stone, so called 5th earl, was therefore a usurpation. The

House of Lords, on July 29, 1858, allowed the claim of Ma-

ria Cecilia, Princess Giustiniani, dowager marchioness of

Bandini, as heir of the first marriage, and in consequence she

became second countess of Newburgh in her own right. Her

highness was naturalized by act of parliament in 1857, and

resides in the Papal States.

Her son, Sigismund Nicholas, Viscount Kinnaird, born

June 30, 1818, succeeded his father in 1850, as 5th marquis

of Bandini, and as.sumed the name of Giustiniani, as the

adopted heir of his uncle, the Cardinal Prince Giustiniani.

^Yith his mother, he was naturalized by act of parliament in

1857. He miirried, Sept. 14, 1848, i^Iaria Sophia Angelica,

dr. and coheir of Signor Guiseppe-Maria JIassiiii of Rome,

issue, 2 sons and 3 drs., all naturalized .as British subjects.

Ne\vha\f.m, Viscount, a title in the peerage of Scotland,

conferred, by patent, dated 17th M.iy, IGSl, on Charles

Clieyne of Cogenho, descended from an old Northampton-

shire family of the name. (For surname of Cheyne, see vol.

i. p. 638.) The principal title was taken from Newhaven.

in the county of Edinburgh ; the secondary title was Lord

Cheyne. Previous to being created a viscount, he had been

M.P. for Agmondish.am, and as a Scottish peerage, previous

to the Union, held by an English subject, stood on the same

footing as an Irish one at present, he still possessed in Eng-

l.and merely the rank of a commoner, and was eligible to being

elected a member of parliament. In 1695, Viscount Newha-
ven was chosen M.P. for Newport in Cornwall, and died 13th

July, 1698, in his 74th year. His only son, AVilliam, second

Viscount Newhaven, was M.P. first for Buckinghamshire and

afterwards for Agmondisham till the Union in 1707, when

he became a peer of the realm. In 1712 he was appointed

lord-lieutenant of Buckinghamshire, but removed from that

office on the accession of George I. in 1714. He died 14th

December 1738, in his 82d year, without issue, when the

peerage, being to the heirs male of the body of the first vis-

count, became extinct.

Newton, a surname common to both Scotland and Eng-

land. A family of this name possessed a baronetcy of Nov.i

Scotia, conferred in 1625, among the first of the creation, on

Adam Newton, dean of Durham, an accomplished scholar

and courtier. Born in Scotland, he was educated in France,

wliere he governed the first class of the college of Saint Iilai.s-

ant, in Poitou, in the reign of Henry III. While in that

siluation he appears to have conformed to the Pnpish reli-

gion, but on his return to Scotland he professed himself ii

zeidous Protestant. About 1600 he was nominated tutor to

Prince Heniy, eldest son of James VI., whom he accomp.a-

nied to England
;
and, although not in ordei-s, was, by com-

m.and of the king, installed dean of Durh.am, September 27,

160G. In 1610 he was appointed secretary to the prince,

and after the death of his royal pupil, in 1G12, was made

treasurer to Prince Charles. In April 1625 ho was created

a baronet, as Sir Adam Newton of Charlton, in Kent, which

manor was conferred on him by grant from the crown. By

desire of his majesty, he translated into Latin the work which

King James wrote against Conrade Vorstius, and also the

first SIX books of 'Father Paul's Histoiy of the Council of

Trent;' and he has been much praised for the neatness and

perspicuity of his Latin style. In September 1628 he suc-

ceeded Fulk Greville, Lord Brooke, as secretary to the March-

es of Wales, and died Januaiy 13, 1G29. By his wife, Dor-

othy, daughter of Sir Thomas Puckering, lord keeper of the

great seal in the time of Queen Eliz.abeth, he had five daugh-

ters and two sons, both of whom successively enjoyed the

baronetcy, which became extinct, on the death of the young-

er, in 1700. They had assumed the name of Puckering.

NICIIOL, Jonx Pringle, LL.D., an eminent

astronomer, the eldest son of a mercliant in Bre-

chin, Forfarshire, was born in that town, Janu-

ary 13, 1804. He was educated at Brechin aca-

demy, and showed so much talent and energy that

his friends were persuaded to send liim to col-

lege to fit him for the clinrch. He, accordingly-

studied at King's College, Old Aberdeen, where

he gained the highest honours. He M-as scarcely

seventeen years of age when he was appointed

schoolmaster of the parish of Dun, in the neigh-

bourhood of his native town. He was afterwards
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parish sclioolmaster at Hawick, and thereafter at

Cupar-Flfe. Subsequently he became rector of

the academy at Montrose, in wliich capacity he

frequently delivered lectures upon chemistry, geo-

logy, electricity, and astronomy, elucidated with

sucli apt experiments and illustrations, as made

them extremely popular.

Meanwhile, he had, at intervals, attended the

divinity class at college, where he studied for the

Established Church of Scotland, and in due time

was licensed to preach the gospel. His tastes,

however, led him to the pursuits of science, and

having been in early life a keen mathematician,

he soon abandoned the pulpit, and devoted him-

self to the more congenial study of astronomj-.

Without having, in his early years, special ad-

vantage or encouragement, lie was indebted for

the position which he attained in the world of

science solely to his own merit and perseverance.

While teaching others, he continued an ardent

student himself. By his writings and by his lec-

tures, which latter were, in a high degree, popu-

lar, fascinating, and instructive, he soon became

generally known, and in 1836, when the profes-

sorship of practical astronomy in the university

of Glasgow became vacant. Lord Melbourne, then

prime minister, at once appointed ^Ir. Nichol to

the chair.

From that period he resided in Glasgow, and

it was owing mainly to his exertions that the mag-

nificent Observatory in its immediate vicinity was

erected. He expended upon it a large amount of

his own private means, and there, by the aid ofsome

of the finest instruments in Great Britain, he pur-

sued his favourite studies, and, from time to time,

gave to the world the results of his observations

in solar regions. He was the first to make the

public familiar with that which is called the " Ne-

bular Hypothesis." He delivered frequent courses

of lectures on his favourite science to crowded au-

diences in the City Hall of Glasgow, and also in

many of the larger and smaller towns throughout

the kingdom ; and appeared to take as much de-

light in explaining the laws that regulate the hea-

venly bodies to the unpretending mechanic as to

the carefully educated student. He died at Rothe-

say, September 19, 1859. He was twice married,

and left a son and a daughter. His works are

:

View of the Architecture of the Heavens. In a series of
Letters to a Lady. Edinb. 1837, 8vo.

The Solar System. Edinburgh, 1842, 8vo.

The Planet Neptune. Edinb. 1848, 8vo.

The Stellar Universe. Edinb. 1848, 16mo.
Thoughts on some Important Points relating to the Sys-

tem of the World. 1848, 8vo.

The Planetaiy System. Edinburgh, 1851.

The Cyclopedia of the Physical Sciences. Edinburgh,

1857, 8vo.

NicnoLsox, the name of a family which possesses a bar-

onetcy of Nova Scotia, conferred, 2d July 1629, on John

Nicholson of Nicholson and L.isswade, with remainder to his

heirs male generally. Sir James Nicholson, the sixth baron-

et, dying without issue, Arthur Nicholson, Esq. of Lochend,

was served heir-male to the family in 182C, and as such in-

herited the title as seventh baronet. Sir Arthur Nicholson

man'ied Miss Jack, daughter of the very Rev. ^Vi^iam Jack,

D.D., principal of King's college, Aberdeen. The family

seats are Brough Lodge, Fetlar, and Gremista, near Lerwick,

Shetland.

NICHOLSON, Peter, an eminent architect,

the son of a stone-mason, was born in the parish

of Prestonkirk, East Lothian, on 20th July 1765,

and received the rudiments of his education at the

parish school. When a boy, mathematics formed

his principal stud}', in which he became remarka-

bly proficient. At the age of twelve he was taken

from school to assist his fiither. He had before

this employed himself in making drawings and

models of the numerous mills in the neighbour-

hood of his native place, and having expressed a

wish to be a cabinetmaker, he served an appren-

ticeship to it of four years at Linton, the principal

village in the parish, and afterwards worked as a

journeyman first in Edinburgh and subsequently

in London. Having commenced teaching at an

evening school in Berwick Street, Soho, he was so

successful that he soon abandoned his trade for

authorship, and in 1792 published ' The Carpenter's

New Guide,' the plates of wliich were engraved by

his own hand. Among subsequent works of his,

at this period, were ' The Student's Instructor to

the Five Orders,' and ' The Principles of Architec-

ture,' 3 vols. 8vo. The latter work, commenced

in numbers in 1795, was not completed till 1799.

In 1800 Mr. Nicholson retm-ned to Scotland,

and went to reside in Glasgow. He built a wood-

en bridge across the Clyde, long since removed.

He also designed Carlton Place, Laurieston, and

the large and singularly out -of- place Grecian

structure which terminates the second quadrangle
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of the university of that city. Eight years after-

wards he removed to Carlisle, having, through

the recommendation of his countryman, Thomas

Telford, been appointed architect of the county of

Cumberland. In this situation he superintended

the building of the new court houses in the county

town. While at Carlisle lie obtained rewards

from the Society of Arts for an improvement in

handrailing, and for the invention of an instru-

ment called the Ccntrolinear. In 1810 he re-

turned to London, where he published several

professional and other works, a list of which is

subjoined to this memoir.

In 1827 he commenced the publication of a

work entitled 'Tlie School of Architecture and

Engineering,' which lie designed to complete in

twelve numbers at Is. 6d. each, but in conse-

quence of the bankruptcy of the publishers, only

five numbers appeared. In 1829 he removed to

Morpeth, and in 1832 to Newcastle on Tyne,

where he opened a school in the Arcade. Here

he was elected president and honorary member of

several societies connected with architecture, civil

engineering, and the fine arts. Having, in his

old age, fallen into pecuniaiy difficulties, a gen-

eral subscription was, in 1835, set agoing by his

friends in Newcastle to purchase an annuity for

him, but as only £320 was subscribed, a petition

was presented from the inhabitants of that town

to his majest_y, for a grant for a pension to Iiim

from the privy purse, in which his writings are

thus referred to:—"The works of Peter Nichol-

son, while they have contributed to the advance-

ment of knowledge, have tended to raise the Eng-

lish mechanic to that pre-eminence he has attained

over the other artificers of Europe ; and while thej'

have been honoured with the proudest marks of

' distinction by the various learned societies of this

I

kingdom, have yet failed to produce to their au-

!
tlior those benefits which are necessary for his

I

existence ; and it must ever be a source of regret

[
that an individual who, having devoted his best

j

energies to the advancement of science, should be

!
left at the close of a long and laborious life, and

i

in his 73d year, to struggle in penury and want."

1

j

^Ir. Nicholson returned to Carlisle in October

1841, and died there June 18, 1844, in his 79th

I year. He was twice married, and had two sons

and a daughter. His elder son, Michael Angelo

Nicholson, author of ' The Carpenter and Join-

cr"s Companion,' died in 1842.

Mr. Peter Nicholson's works are

:

Tlie Carpenter's New Guide, with pl:ites. Lond. 1792, 4to.

Tlie Carpenter's and Joiner's Assistant. 4to.

The Student's Instructor to the Five Orders. 8vo.

The rrinci])les of Arcliitecturc, containing the fundamen-

tal Rules of the Art, in Geometry, Arithmetic, and Mensu-

ration. London, 3 vols. 1705, 17U9, 4to. Edition, Ilevised

and Corrected by Josepli Gwilt. Loudon, 1848, 8vo.

The Architectural Dictiouaiy, 2 vols, large 4to. 1811, 1812.

Mcclianical Exercises ; or the Elements and Practice of

Carpentry, Joining, &c. Loudon, 1811, 8vo.

Mechanical Exercises, containing a Description of the Tools

Iielonging to eacli branch of Business, and directions for tlieir

use. London, 1812, 8vo.

Treatise on Practical Perspective, w itliout tlic use of Van-
ishing Points. London, 1815, 8vo.

An Introduction to tlie i\Icthod of Increments, expressed

by a new form of Notation, showing more ultimately its rela-

tion to tlie Fluxion.il Analogies. 1817, 8vo.

Essays on the Combinatiorial Analysis, showing its appli-

cation to tlie most useful and interesting problems of Alge-

bra, in the Multiplication, Division, and Extr.iction of Roots.

London, 1818, 8vo.

Essay on Involution and Evolution.—For this work the

author received the thanks of the Academie des Sciences at

Paris.

Analytical .md Arithmetical Essays.

Rudiments of Algebra.

A Treatise on the Construction of Staircases and Hand-
rails. London, 1820, 4to.

The Builder and Workman's New Director
;
comprehend-

ing Definitions and Descriptions of the Component parts of

Buildings, the Principles of Construction, and the Geomet-

rical Devclopement of the Principal Difficulties tliat usually

occur in the different brandies of mechanical professions em-
ploj'ed in the formation of edifices. London, 1824, 4to.

The same, London, 1834, 4to. Tlie same, London, 1848, 4to.

The School of Architecture and Engineering. Five num-
bers. London, 1827.

Popular and Practical Treatise on JIasonry and Stone-

cutting. London, 1828, 8vo.

The Guide to Railway Masonry; containing a complete

Treatise on the oblique arch in four parts. Lond. 1S4G, Svo,

3d edit.

NICOLL, Alex.vndeu, D.C.L., an eminent

oriental scholar, was the youngest son of John

NicoU, IMonymusk, Aberdeenshire, wiiere he was

born, April 3, 1793. His parents belonged to the

Scottish Episcopal communion, in the principles

of which he was strictly educated. He received

the first rudiments of learning at a private semi-

nary
;
and, after being for some time at the pnrish

school, he was sent in 1805 to the grammar

school of Aberdeen. Having soon after obtained

a small bursary, he attended the classes of Latin

and Greek at the JIarischal college of that city
;



NICOLL, 252 ROBERT.

and, at the close of his first session at college, he

gained the prize of the silver pen, bestowed on

the best Greek scholar in the first class. In 1806

he entered the class of mathematics, then taught

by Dr. Hamilton, the celebrated writer on finance,

and also attended the prelections of Professor

Beattie in naturiil and civil history.

In 1807 he went to Oxford, having been in-

formed that there was a vacancy at Baliol college,

in one of the exhibitions on Snell's foundation.

He carried -^vith him a letter of recommendation

from Bishop Skinner of Aberdeen to Dr. Parsons,

the Master of the college, and was at once elected

to the vacant exhibition. For the next four years

he prosecuted his studies with great diligence and

success, and in 1811 obtained the degree of B.A.

In 1813 he turned his attention to the oriental

languages, and of these soon acquired an exten-

sive knowledge, on account of which he was ap-

pointed one of the sub-librarians of the Bodleian

library, with the salary of about £200 a-year. In

1817 he received deacon's orders, and became cu-

rate of one of the churches in Oxford.

He now applied himself to cataloguing the ori-

ental manuscripts in the Bodleian, a very arduous

task, when it is considered that these amounted

to about thirty thousand. After preparing and

publishing a catalogue of the MSS. brought from

the east by Dr. E. D. Clarke, he set himself to

complete the unfinished general catalogue of the

eastern MSS., which had been begun about a hun-

dred yeai-s before bj' Uri, the celebrated Hunga-

rian. His first fasciculus of this great work made

liis name known throughout Europe. He had

made himself master of so many of the modern

languages, that it was commonly said of him that

he could walk to the great wall of China without

requiring an interpreter.

In June 1822, on the promotion of Dr. Richard

Lawrence to the archbishopric of Casliel, Nicoll

was, without solicitation on his part, appointed

regius professor of Hebrew in the university of

Oxford, to Avhich chair was attached the canonry

of Christ church. In the letter in which the

earl of Liverpool, then prime minister, announced

the appointment, he said, that it had been con-

ferred by his majesty on account of his high repu-

tation as an oriental scholar and the value at-

tached to his labours. His income was now about

£2,000. He soon after took the degree of doctor

of civil law. He died of bronchitis, September 24,

1828, in the 36th year of his age. He was twice

married : first to a Danish lady, who died in

1825; secondly, to Sophia, daughter of the Rev.

J. Parsons, editor of the Oxford Septuagint, who

wrote a Memoir of Dr. Nicoll, prefixed to a post-

humous volume of his Sermons. By his second

wife he had three daughters, who survived him.

NICOLL, Robert, one of the most precocious

poets that has appeared in Scotland, was born

January 7, 1814, at a farm-house at Little Tully-

beltane, in the parish of Auchtergaven, Perthshire.

He was the second son in a family of nine chil-

dren. His father, at the time of his biith, was

tenant of a small fiirm in Auchtergaten, but hav-

ing become security, to the amount of five or six

hundred pounds, for a connexion by marriage,

who failed and absconded, the utter ruin of his

own family was the consequence ; he gave up his

whole property to his creditors, and engaged him-

self as a day-labourer on the fields he had former-

ly rented. Robert received the little education

he ever got at the parish school, and at an early

age he was sent to a neighbouring fanner, who

employed him to tend cattle, or assist in rural

operations, during the summer months, while he

continued to attend the parish school in winter.

His propensity for reading early showed itself.

In going to, or returning from school, or when

herding upon his own " Ordie braes," he was

never Avithout a book, and his friends bestowed

upon him the familiar nickname of 'the minister.'

AVhen he was about thii-teen he first began to

write, and at the same time became a correspond-

ent of one of the Perth papers.

When he was eighteen years of age he left his

home, " by the bonnie Ordie's side," and became

an apprentice to a grocer in the High Street of

Perth. Being employed in the shop from seven

in the morning until nine in the evening, it was

chiefly during the night that he wrote and studied.

During his stay in Perth, and when no more than

nineteen years of age, he wrote his prose tale, en-

titled 'II Zingaro,' his first production of any

length, which was published in Johnstone's Edin-

burgh Magazine. It is the story of an ardent
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youth, who, smitten with love for a beautiful girl,

became a water-carrier in an Italian city, and

who, by enduring privations, and exerting won-

derful energy, gets to be the pupil of an eminent

painter, and in course of time, becomes himself

eminent, and finally obtains the hand and aftec-

tions of the object of his love.

On the expiry of liis apprenticeship, NicoU went

to Dundee, and opened a small circulating librarj',

with something less than £20, which he had bor-

rowed for the purpose. In 18.35, he publislicd a

thin volume, entitled ' Poems and Lyrics,' which

was largely subscribed for by his friends in his

own rank of life. It received from the periodicals

of the day a degree of praise seldom bestowed

upon the work of so young a man ; for he ^vas

then only twenty-one years of age. The most

elaborate notice of the vcilume appeared in Tail's

Magazine, in which a high estimate is given of

his poetical powers.

Having no capital to carry on his business, he

received into partnership a young tradesman, pos-

sessed of some monej', and also started a local pe-

riodical, which did not succeed. He soon after

retired from the business, making it over entirely

to his partner. On his leaving Dundee, IMr.

AVilliam Tait, the then publisher and proprietor

of Tait's Magazine, offered him temporary em-

plo3-ment on that periodical, and through Mr.

Tait's exertions, he was appointed, in the summer

of 1836. editor of The Leeds Times. About the

end of the same year he married Miss Alice Sou-

ter, of Dundee.

At the time of his entering on this journal, its

circulation was only a thousand, but before he

left the paper, it had increased to nearly four

times that amount, a fact which shows the char-

acteristic force and vigour of his mind, and the

untiring perseverance with which he followed out

every undertaking in whicii his heart was engaged.

Besides the duties of his own paper, he also wrote

leaders for a Sheffield print, but the exhausting

nature of newspaper work soon began to tell fa-

tally on his constitution. It was his close appli-

cation to his duties which first undermined his

health, and brought on rapid consumption. At

the conclusion of a general election, when Leeds

was contested bv Sir William jMolesworth and

Sir John Beckett, Nicoll, who had devoted his

whole energies to the interest of the former, was

seized with a severe illness, and at the urgent re-

rpiest of his friends in Edinburgh, he resigned Ids

situation and returned to Scotland, in the hope

that his native air would, in some measure, aid in

restoring him. He was received into the house of

Mr. and Mrs. Johnstone, at Laverock Bank, near

Leith, and every means which the best medical

skill could suggest was tried for his benefit, but in

vain. Ilis case having been represented to Sir

William !Molesworth, by a literary friend in Edin-

burgh, that gentleman immediately placed fifty

pounds in his hands for the dying poet's service.

He breathed his last, December 9, 1837, aged

only 2Ir, and his remains were interred in North

Leith churchyard.

In private life, Mr. Nicoll was universally re-

spected. His talents were of a very high order,

and his writings are full of promise. As he said

himself, he had " written his heart in his poems."

Above the middle size, his figure was slender, his

features pleasing, and he had a pair of large dark

eyes which Mary Howitt declared to be the finest

she had ever seen. He was styled by Ebenezer

Elliot "Scotland's second Burns." His disposi-

tion was frank, social, and kindly ; his feelings

warm and generous, and his friendships lasting.

A complete edition of his poems, which are mostly

in the Scottish language, with a memoir of his

life, by his steady and affectionate friend, Mrs.

Johnstone, authoress of 'Clan Albyn,' 'Elizabeth

de Bruce,' &c., was published by Mr. Tait in

1842. It contains upwards of 1-iO pieces, all of

them of merit, and many of them showing un-

doubted proofs of genius, which was fast matur-

ing when he was called away. His love songs

are remarkable for purity, tenderness, and beauty,

and his lighter pieces are marked by a spirit and

humour entirely his own.

Nicoi^soN, .1 family of this n.-ime, stvled of C.irnock and

Tillicoultry, possesses a baronetcy of Xova Scotia, conferred,

16th January 1637, on Thomas Nicolson of Camock, Stir-

lingsliire, with remainder to his heirs male generally. He

died 8th January 16-16. His f;reat-gr.indson, Sir Thomas

Nicolson, fourth baronet, inherited in 1683, the barony of

Napier, and was fourth Lord Napier, (see p. 239 of this vol-

ume). Dying, unmarried, in 16SG, in his 18th year, the

barony of Napier reverted to liis matem.al .aunt, the estate of

Carnock vested in liis sisters, and the baronetcy devolved on !
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his cousin and lieir male, Sir Thomas Nicolson of TillicoultiT,

ClLickniannaiisliire, wlio became otli baronet. The latter sold

that estate in 1693, and retired to Holland. On the death

of his grandson, Sir David, 8th baronet, without issue, at

Breda, Oct. 19, 1808, the baronetcy devolved on his kinsman,

Major-general Sir William Nicolson, 9th baronet, born in

Scotland in 1759. He died in 1820, and was succeeded by his

son, Sir Frederick William Erskine Nicolson, captain R.N.,

bom April 22, 1815. The latter married, 1st, only dr. of James

Loch, Ksq., M.P., issue, 2 sons and a dr.; and 2dly, only dr.

of Kobert CuUington, Esq., issue, a son and a dr.

NiDDRiK, a surname, meaning king's champion, derived

from two Gaelic words, Niadh, champion, and Hi or Rioch,

king, and denoting that it was once the place of his resi-

dence. Niddry-Marshal, in the parish of Libcrton, Jlid Lo-

thian, was so called from the Wauchopes, who, in ancient

times, were guardians of part of the south borders of Scot-

land, (see Wauchope, surname of,) and to distinguish it

from Longniddry in East Lothian, and Niddiy Seton, Lin-

lithgowshire.

NIMMO, Alexander, F.R.S.E., M.R.I.A., an

eminent civil engineer, was born at Kirkcaldy, in

Fifesliire, in 1783. His father was originally a

watclimaker, but latterly kept a hardware shop.

From the Grammar school of his native town,

Alexander was sent for two years to the college of

St. Andrews, and finally' completed his education

at the university of Edinbnrgli. He was an ex-

cellent Greek and Latin scliolar, and the bent of

Lis mind was early directed towards tlie higher

brandies of mathematics and algebra. At the age

of nineteen he was appointed rector of the Inver-

ness academy by the unanimous vote of the pro-

prietors, after a severe competition witli other can-

didates, during an examination which lasted three

days. Whilst in this situation he was, at the re-

commendation of Mr. Telford, first employed in a

public capacity by the parliamentary commission-

ers for fixing and determining the boundaries of

the Scottisli counties ; and his services in tliis un-

dertaking, whicli were perforaied during the vaca-

tions, gave great satisfaction to his employers.

His report on the occasion, which is of considera-

ble length, is one of the most interesting documents

of the kind ever published. Soon after he was

again recommended by Mr. Telford to the com-

missioners for reclaiming the bogs of Ireland. In

this situation he became well acquainted with the

habits and wants of the Irisli peasantry ; and his

reports and mivps of the Irish bogs were in the

liighest degree creditable to him.

After completing the bog surveys, Mr. Nimmo

visited France, Germany, and Holland, and per-

sonally inspected tlie great public works of those

nations. On his return he was employed in the

construction of Dunmore harbour—a work of im-

mense magnitude and utility, on a shore much

exposed to the roll of the Atlantic, and where

the depth of water at the extremity of the pier

exceeds that of the Plymouth breakwater. He
was also engaged hy the Fishery Board in making

surveys of the harbours of Ireland, and construct-

ing harbours and piers ; and by the Ballast Board

to make a chart of the whole coast, which vfa.%

executed with great skill and accuracy. Besides

these labours he compiled a book of sailing direc-

tions of St. George's Channel and the Irish coast.

During the great distress of 1822, he was ap-

pointed engineer to tlie western district of Ire-

land; and, between that year and 1830, he caused,

by the improvement of land and the formation of

what may be termed new settlements, an increase

of revenue in that district to tlie amount of not

less than £106,000 per annum. Mr. Nimmo's

engagements, in extent and variety, were sur-

prisingly great. Upwards of thirty piers or har-

bours on the Irish coast were built under his

direction ; also Perth Cawl in South AV^ales. He

designed the Wcllesley bridge and docks at Lim-

erick ; and in his latter years, was engaged in Lan-

cashire, projecting a railway from Liverpool to

Leeds, and also the Manchester, Bolton, and Bury

railway. He was consulting engineer to the duchy

of Lancaster, the Mersey and Irwell navigation, the

St. Helen's and Euncorn Gap railway, the Preston

and Wigan railway, and the Birkenhead and

Clicster railway. In addition to his classical and

mathematical attainments, he was well versed in

modern languages, particularly French, German,

Dutch, and Italian. He was also thoroughly ac-

quainted with practical astronomy, cheniistiy, and

geology. To tlie latter science, in particul.ar, he

was much attached, and wrote an excellent paper,

showing how it might become available in navi-

gation, which was published in the Transactions

of the Royal Irish Academ}^ of which he was a

member. He was likewise a fellow of the lloj'al

Society of Edinburgh. Mr. Nimmo was the au-

thor of the article on Inland Navigation in Dr.

Brewster's Encyclopa;dia
;

also, in conjunction
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with Mr. Telford, of tliat on Bridges, and, with

Mr. Peter Nicholson, of that on Carpentry. Be-

sides these, he wrote several papers for various

periodicals. His evidence on the trial between

the Corporation of Liverpool and the Mersey

Company is highly interesting to engineers and

practical mathematicians. On this occasion he

was cross-examined hy Mr. afterwards Lord

Brougham, and he was undoubtedly the on-

ly engineer of the age who could at all have com-

peted with the learned couusel's knowledge of the

higher mathematics and natural philosoph}-, on

which the wliole subject in dispute depended.

Mr. Nimmo died at Dublin, January 20, 1832,

aged 49.

NisBKT, or Nesbit, a local surname derived from lands in

tlie shire of Berwick. These lands, says Nisbet, {System of

Heraldry, vol. i. p. 313,) "were of an ancient denomination,

for, in the donation of King Edgar, the son of Malcolm Can-

more, in whose reign surnames came first to he hereditary, to

the monks of Dunfermiing, to pray tor the soul of his father

and for the health of his own, amongst other lands he gives

these of Nisbet, at least the patronage of the church called

Kast Nisbet (of late Ehnbank), and the teinds of Nisbet (af-

terwards called West Nisbet), where the castle of Nisbet

stood, memoralde in our histories fur the fatal overthrow the

English gave, by the assistance of tlie then rebel carl of

March, to the flower of the youth of the Lothians." The

lands of Nisbet are in tlie parish of Edrom. East Nisbet, at

one time called Allanbank, is now known by the name of

Bighouse.

Philip de Nesbyth is a witness to one of the charters of

David I. to the monks of Coldingliam. Willielmus de Nes-

byth is a witness in a charter granted to the monks of Dur-

ham in the reign of Malcolm IV., David's successor, by Earl

Patrick, one of the progenitors of the earls of March and

Dunbar. Thomas Nisbet was prior of the monastery of Col-

dingliam from 1219 to 1240. On 18th June 1221, he attest-

ed the dower-charter of Alexander II., at York, granting to

his queen, .Johanna, the baronies of Jedburgh and I.essuddcn

(Jii/mers Fadcra, vol. i. p. 2a2). Philip de Nesbit is men-

tioned in the bond of submission given by the barons of Scot-

land to Edward I. of England, in 1296. James and John

Nisbet also .appear there, and in the Ragman Roll is the

name of Adam Nisbet, supposed to be the ancestor of Nisbet

of Nisbet. A charter was granted by Robert the Bruce to

Adam Nisbet of that ilk of the lands of Knocklics. In the

reign of David II. this or another Adam Nisbet of Nisbet

distinguished himself on the southern borders. He was suc-

ceeded by Philip Nisbet of that ilk.

The chief line continued to flourish until the civil wars in

the reign of Charles I. Among those who were conspicuous

for their loyalty to that unfortun.atc monarch was Sir Alex-

ander Nisbet of Nisbet. who, during the peaceable part of his

reign, was shcrift' principal of Berwiclishire. He strenuously

opposed the Covenanters, but he and his five sons were at

last forced to leave Scotland and join the king's army

in England. The eldest son, Philip, was on his travels on

the continent when the civil wars broke out. Hastening

home, he olTered his scr\-iccs to the king, who knighted him.

and made him colonel of a regiment. He was lieutenant-

governor of Newark-npon-Trent, when besieged by the Cov-

enanters. Afterwards returning to Scotland, he became one

of the officers of tlie marquis of Montrose, with whom lie

continued till the b.attle of Philiphaugh, where he was taken

prisoner. He was beheaded at Glasgow, 28th October 1046,

with Alexander Ogilvie, eldest son of Sir John Ogilvie of

Innerquharity, a youth scarce twenty years of age. Two of

Sir Philip's brotliers, Alexander and Robert, both captains,

were killed in the field, fighting under Montrose. Adam, his

youngest brother, was the father of Alexander Nisbet, the

celebrated antiqu.arian and heraldic writer, tlie last m.ale re-

presentative in the direct line of Nisbet of Nisbet. His mo-

ther, Janet Aikenhead, was the granddaughter of David

Aikenhead, lord provost of Edinburgh.

Alexander Nisbet, the heraldist, was born at Edinburgh in

1G72. He was educated for the law, but devoted his time

almost exclusively to the study of antiquities. His first

work, published at Edinburgh in 1702, was entitled ' Heral-

dic Essay on Additional Figures and Marks of Cadency

;

shewing tlie Ancient and Modern Practice of ditferencing

Descendants.' In 1718 he produced 'An Ess.ay on the An-
cient and Modern use of Armories ;' and the same year ap-

peared a work of a different description, being his collection

of the ' Decisions of the Court of Session from 1655 to 1687
;

with his Law Doubts. His principal work, the ' System of

Heraldry, Speculative and Practical, witli the true Art of

Blazon, with Cuts,' which is considered the best treatise on

that subject in the English language, was published at Edin-

burgh, in two vols, folio, in 1722-42. A second edition ap-

peared in 1804, price five guineas, and another in 1816. He
also wrote a vindication of Scottish Antiquities, which re-

mains in manuscript in the Advocates' Library, Edinburgh.

He died at Dirleton, in 1725, aged 56.

Several families, most of which are now extinct, branched

off, at various periods, from the chief stock; such as, the

Nisbets of Paxton; the Nisbcts of Spittle; the Nisbets of

Swinewood, Berwickshire; the Nisbets of Dalzell, Lanark-

shire; the Nisbets of C.arphin, in the same county; the Nis-

bets of Johnstone, Renfrewshire ; the Nisbets of Dean,

baronets; the Nisbets of Craigintennies, and the Nisbets

of Dirleton, Haddingtonshire. The three last came of

three sons of Henry Nisbet, merchant and lord pro-

vost of Edinburgh, in the reign of J.ames VL, descended

from Nisbet of that ilk. The Nisbets of D.ilzell continued

from the 14th century to the reign of Charles II. It came

into the family by the marriage of a son of the laird of West

Nisbet to the younger daughter and co-heiress of the laird of

Dalzell, and he " and his successors, for distinguishing him

from the laird, was commonly called the baron of Dalzell,

and did possess the one half of the barony in right of that

m.arri.age," until the first earl of Carnwath, when Lord Dal-

zell (see vol. i. p. 593) purchased it from him. {Ilamilton's De-

scription of the Shires of Lanark and Renfreio, p. 45.) From

them descended the Nisbets, eminent citizens of Glasgow.

The first of the Nisbets of Dirleton was the celebrated law-

yer. Sir John Nisbet, Lord Dirleton. His fiitlier. Sir Patrick

Nisbet of Eastbank, was the third son of James Nisbet, mer-

chant in Edinburgh, a brother of the above-mentioned Henry

Nisbet, by his wife, Margaret Craig, sister of Thomas Craig

of Riccarton. He was admitted a lord of session, 1st Novem-

ber 1636, when he took the title of Lord Eastbank, and was

knighted by the marquis of Hamilton as roy.al coinmis-sioner

14tli November 1638. He was superseded in 1641.

Sir John Nisbet, his son, admitted advocate 20th Novem-
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ber 1633, was in 1639 sheriff-depute of the county of Edin-

burgh. He was afterwards appointed one of the commissa-

ries of Edinburgh. He purchased tlie lands of Dirleton in

1663, and was appointed lord-advocate and admitted a lord

of session, 14th October, lee^l. As lord-advocate he was

very severe on the unfortunate Presbyterians, who were pro-

secuted at the instigation of the prelates, and as an instance

of the zeal with which he persecuted them, Wodrow (vol. i.

p. 293) relates that one Robert Gray having, when brought

before the council, refused to tell the hiding-places of certain

proscribed individuals of that party. Sir John Nisbet took a

ring from the man's finger, and sent it with a messenger of

his own to Mrs. Gray, with an intimation that her husband

had told all he knew as to the whigs, and that the ring was

sent to her as a token that she might do the same. The

poor woman, in consequence, revealed the places of conceal-

ment, which so affected her husband that he died in a few

days thereafter. Lord Dirleton resigned his offices in 1677,

and was the last who held the office of lord-advocate with a

seat on the bench. He was succeeded as lord-advocate by

Sir George JIackenzie, a still more bitter persecutor, and

died in April 1687, aged about 78. Bishop Burnet, (Ilistory,

vol. i. p. 484,) describes him as a man of great learning, chiefly

in the Greek, and adds, " he was a person of great integrity,

only he loved money too much." Forbes says that " at the

burning of his house. Lord Dirleton lost a curious Greek

manuscript, written with his own hand, for recovery whereof

he offered £1,000 sterling."

Lord Dirleton's Law Doubts, methodized by Sir William

Hamilton of Whitelaw, and his Decisions from 7th Decem-

ber 1665 to 26th June 1677, were published in 1698.

The Dirleton family ended in an heiress, Mrs. Hamilton

Nisbet Ferguson of Raith, previously countess of Elgin, the

danghter of William Hamilton Nisbet of Dirleton, the last

proprietor in the male line. Mrs. Hamilton Nisbet Ferguson

died in 1855, when R. A. Christopher, formerly Dundas, of

Bloxholm Hall, Lincolnshire, became possessed of Dirleton,

and for the second time changed his name to Hamilton Nis-

bet. (See vol. ii. pp. 95, 128, and 197.)

A branch of the Dirleton family, designated of Woodhill,

settled in county Donegal, Ireland. Another L'ish family of

the name, the Nisbets of Derrycairne, county Leitrim, are

descended from Captain James Nisbet, who went from Ber-

wickshire to L-eland, about 1640, and engaged in the wars

between King Charles L and the Irish insurgents.

A family of the name of Nisbet, which settled in Ayrshire,

was distinguished in the religious history of Scotland. One

of the most eminent martyrs of the Covenant was John

Nisbet of Hardhill, in the parish of Loudoun, in that coun-

ty. Born about 1627, he was a lineal descendant of Mur-

doch Nisbet of Hardhill, one of those who, about 1500, were

styled the Lollards of Kyle. He spent his youth in military

service on the Continent, but returning to Scotland in 1650,

he was present at the coronation of Charles II. at Scone, and

swore the Covenants at the same time that that profligate

monarch subscribed them. He soon after married, and went

to i-eside at Hardhill. He was a man of a bold, decided, and

straightforward character, and a fine specimen of the Cove-

nanters of his class. In 1664 he incurred the displeasure of

the Episcopalian incumbent of his parish, for having had a

child baptized by one of the ejected ministers; and in conse-

quence of his attachment to Presbyterianism, lie was much

exposed to the persecutions of those tyrannical times. In

1666 he joined in renewing the Covenant at Lanark, and in
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the engagement at Pentland Hills, November 28, he behaved

with great courage and resolution, and was so severely wound-
ed that he was left for dead among the slain. On his recov-

ery he returned home, but was not allowed to remain long in

peace, and again taking up arms, he distinguished himself at

Drumclog and Bothwell Brig, where he had the rank of cap-

tain. After the defeat and dispersion of the Covenanters, he

was denounced a rebel, and a reward of three hundred merks
was offered for his apprehension. Lieutenant Nisbet, a cou-

sin of his own, with a party of Colonel Buchan's dragoons,

surprised him and three others in a house called Midland, in

the parish of Fenwick, upon a Sabb-ith morning, in the month
of November 1685. His companions were killed upon the

spot, but Nisbet was preserved for the sake of the reward.

He was carried first to Ayr, and then to Edinburgh, where

he was examined before the privy council, and finally con-

demned to be hanged. He behaved with much consistent

firmness both during his confinement and at his trial, and he

met his death with the utmost fortitude. His execution

took place at Edinburgh, December 4, 1685. By his wife,

Margaret Law, he had several children, but only three sons

survived him, namely, Hugh, James, and Alexander. The
second of these was author of the ' Private Life of the Perse-

cuted, or Memoirs of the first years of one of the Scottish

Covenanters,' pubhshed from the original MS., at Edinburgh,

in 1827.

The first president of Dickinson college, Pennsylvania,

United States, was Charles Nisbet, D.D., born at Had-
dington in 1736, and educated at Edinburgh. After being

for some years minister of Montrose, in 1783, when Dickin-

son college was instituted, he was invited to become its pres-

ident, and in 1785 he went to America. He held the ap-

pointment till his death, January 17, 1804. He is described

as having been an admirable classical scholar, and particu-

larly conversant with Greek. His memory was so retentive

that at one period of his life he could repeat the whole of the

jEneid and also tlie whole of Young's Night Thoughts.

NiTHSDALE, Earl of, a title (attainted) in the peerage of

Scotland, conferred by patent dated at Farnham, Aug. 29,

1620, on Robert, ninth Lord Maxwell, (see page 128 of this

volume,) with precedency from 29th October 1581, the date

of his father's charter of the earldom of Morton ; the title

being changed from earl of Morton to eai'l of Nithsdale.

At the meeting of the Estates at Edinburgh 25th July 1621,

he was chosen one of the lords of the articles. It was in this

parliament that the five articles of Perth were ratified, and

Lord Nithsdale was one of the noblemen who voted for them.

In Jlay 1623, lie was one of the members of the council ap-

pointed by the king to sit twice a-week to hear grievances,

but this commission, says Calderwood, "took no effect."

In 1625, he was named by King Charles 1. commissioner for

obtaining an unconditional surrender of the tithes, but was

deterred by the violent opposition of the proprietors from

caiTying out his instructions. He joined the marquis of

Montrose, with his son. Lord Slaxwell, in support of the

king, in 1644, for which they were excommunicated by the

General Assembly. His lordship died at Edinburgh in May
1646. His only son, Robert, second earl, was taken prisoner

at the capture of Newcastle by the Scots Covenanters, when

he retired from the contest, and was restored by act of par

liament, 3d Febniary 1647, against his father's forfeiture.

He died, unmarried, in October 1667. He was commonly

styled the Philosopher. At his death his titles and estates

devolved on John, 7th Lord Hemes. (See vol. ii. p. 475.)

John, third eai-1 of Nithsdale, had also, when Lord Herries,

256
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joined the marquis of Jloiitrose, for which he was also ex-

communicated. His son, Robert, fourth earl of Nitlisdale,

died in March 1695. By his countess, Ladv Lucy Doui^Ias,

he liad a son, William, fifth earl, and a daughter, Lady Mary

Maxwell, countess of Traquair.

William, fifth earl of Nitlisdale, engaged in the rebellion of

1715, and was taken prisoner at Preston in Lanca.sliire, 1-lth

November of that year. Sent to the Tower of London, he

was tried by his peers in January 171 G, for high treason, and

pleading gnilty, was sentenced to be beheaded, with the earl

of Derwentwater and Viscount Kenmure, 21th February

1716. The countess of Nitlisdale and Lady Nairne, whose

husband had also been condemned, surprised the king, as he

was passing through his apartments at St. Jame.s', and

throwing themselves at his feet, implored his mercy in behoof

of their husbands, but he turned aw.ay from them with con-

temptuous indifference. The courage and resolution of his

countess. Lady Winifred Herbert, daughter of William, mar-

quis of Powys, effected what the king refused to bestow, his

escape from an ignominious death. On the evening of the

23d, he succeeded in getting out of the Tower, dressed in fe-

male attire, provided by his countess and some other ladies

who liad paid liim a farewell visit. When the king heard of

Iiis escape next morning, he observed that " it was the best

thing a man in his condition could have done." A circum-

stantial narrative of his escape, written by the countess, and

published in the Transactions of the Society of Antiquaries

in Scotland, vol. i., has been often quoted. He liad disposed

of his estate to his son. Lord Maxwell, '28th November 1712.

reserving his own liferent. It was finally determined by the

liouse of lords, 21st Januaiy 1723, that only this liferent was

forfeited. His lionours were attainted, and he died at Koine,

20lli March 1714. He Iiad a son and a daughter, Anne, the

wife of Lord Bellew, an Irish nobleman.

The only son, John Lord Maxwell, on his father's death,

came into possession of the family estates, and assumed the

title of earl of Nithsdale. Under the act abolishing heritable

jurisdictions in 1747 he got £523 4s. Id. for the regality of

TerregU'S and bailiary and regality of Linokuiden. He died

at London, Aug. 4, 177G. He had married his cousin. Lady

Catherine Stewart, 4th daughter of Charles, 4th earl of Tra-

quair
;

issue, 2 daughters, ALwy, who died in her loth year,

and Winifred, styled Lady Winifred Maxwell, who died July

13, 1801, ill her GGtli year. She married William Hagger-

ston Constable of Everinghame, 2d son of Sir Caniaby Hag-

gerston of Haggerston, bishopric of Durham, hart., and had 3

sons and a d:iugl]ter. Her eldest son, JLirm.ididje William

Constable Maxwell, succeeded to his mother's estates: and in

1858 the title of Lord Herries was restored, by act of parlia-

ment, to this gentleman, the direct descendant of the family

on the mother's side, (see page 472 of this vol.)

The title of earl of Nithsdale, which was restricted to heirs

male, is claimed by William Maxwell, Esq. of Carruchan, de-

scended from James Maxwell of Brakenside, 2d son of John,

6th Lord Herries. He lias been twice married, without issue.

NoRTiiEsic, Earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland,

conferred in 1647 on Sir John Carnegie, (see vol. i. p. 593,)

brother of David, first earl of Southesk, (.see Soutiiksk,

Earl of). Sir John Carnegie, second son of David Carnegie

of Panbride, obtained from his father the lands of Aitliie,

Cuiekstoun, &c., Forfarshire, of which he had a charter 1st

March 1596. He was first styled of Aithie, and was created

n peer, by the title of Lord Lour, by patent, dated at York,

20th April 16.'i9, to him and his heirs male, and advanced to

the dignity of carl of Etliie, Lord Lour and Egglismadie, by

III.

patent, dated 1st November 1G47, to him and his heirs male

for ever. He was fined i,'G,O0O sterling by Cromwell's act of

grace and pardon in 1654. On 15th December 1658, he was
served heir of conquest of Robert Carnegie of Dunniclien, liis

immediate younger brother, in Caraldstone and other lands

in Forfarshire, with the office of dempster in parliaments,

justice courts and circuit courts, of the sheriffdom of Forfar.

In 1G62 his lordship got his titles changed to earl of North-

esk and Lord Rosehill. He died 18th January 1667, aged

about 88. He was twice married, and by his first wife,

Magdalen, daughter of Sir James Halyburton of Pitcur, la;

had two sons and four daughter.s. Lady Jean, the youngest

daughter, married to William Graham of Claverhouse, was

the mother of the celebrated Viscount Dundee.

David, the elder son, second earl of Northesk, died 12th

December 1677. He had five sons and two daughters. Da-
vid, the eldest son, third earl of Northesk, died in October

1C88. His son, David, fourth earl, was by Queen Anne con-

stituted high sheriff of Forfarshire, and sworn a privy coun-

cillor in 1702. He was also appointed one of the commis-

sioners of the chamberlain's court and a lord of police. He
su])ported the treaty of Union in parliament, and in 1708 he

was chosen one of the sixteen Scots representative peers, and

was twice afterwards recliosen. He died in 1729.

His son, David, fifth earl, died unmarried at Ethie, 24th

June 1741, and was succeeded by his brother George, sixth

earl, an officer in the royal navy. He attained the rank of

captain, 25th August 1741, and commanded the Preston

of 50 guns in the fleet under Sir John Non-is in January

1744. While on a voyage to the East Indies, with Commo-
dore Burnet, they fell in with and captured in the straits of

Banca, on 25th January 1745, three very valuable French

East Indiamen from Canton to Europe. He commanded the

Oxford of 66 guns in 1755, and the following year was pro-

moted to a flag. He rose by seniority to the rank of admiral

of the white, and died at Ethie, 22d January 1792, being

then the third flag ofiicer in the service. He married Lady

Anne Leslie, eldest daughter of Alexander, earl of Leven

and Melville, and had by her four sons and three daughters.

David, Lord Rosehill, the eldest son, an ensign in the 25th

foot, in 1767 quitted the army and went to America. He
died at Rouen in Normandy, 19tli February 1788, aged 39.

William, seventh earl of Northesk, a distinguished naval

coinmander, the second jon, was born in 17S8. At the age of

eleven he entered the navy, his first ship being the Albion.

He afterwards served in the Southampton frig.ite with Cap-

tain JLicbride, at the time he conveyed the queen of Denmark

to Zell ; and in the Squirrel, with Captain Stair Douglas.

He then obtained an acting appointment as lieutenant of the

Nonsuch, and, in 1777, was confirmed by Lord Howe in the

Apollo. He afterwards served under Sir John Lockhart

Ross, in the Royal George, at the cajiture of the Caracca fleet

off Cape Finisterre, and of the Spanish squadron under Don
Juan de Langara, and at the relief of Gibraltar; then in the

West Indies with Lord Rodney, who promoted him from the

flagship, after the celebrated action of April 17, 1780, to be

commander of the Blast fireship. He was subsequently re-

moved into the St. Eustatia, and was present with her at the

reduction of the island of that name, February 3, 1781. He
obtained post rank, April 7, 1782, and at the ensuing peace

returned to England in the enterprise frig.ate. In 1788 his

eldest brother died, when lie succeeded to the title of Lord

Rosehill. In 1790, on the equipment of the fleet in conse-

quence of the dispute with Spain relative to Nootka Sound,

he was appointed to command the Heroine frigate, but was

soon alter 2>aid off.

R
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On the death of liis father, in January 1792, lie became

earl of Northesk, and in Januaiy 1793, proceeded to tlie West

Indies in command of the Beaulieu frigate. He returned in

the Andromeda in December, and was soon after pl;iced on

half-p.iy. In 1796 he was appointed to the Monmouth, 64,

and joined tlie Nortli Sea fleet under the command of Lord

Duncan. In May 1797 the mutiny, which had commenced

in the Channel fleet, extended to the ships employed in the

North Sea, and the Jlonmouth was brought by her refractory

crew to the Nore. On the first symptoms appearing of the

men's return to duty, the mutineers on board the Sandwich

sent for Lord Northesk, to endeavour to effect a reconcilia-

tion with the government. On reaching the Sandwich, his

lordship was ushered into the cabin, where Richard Parker,

as president, and about sixty seamen, acting as delegates

from the several ships, were sitting in close deliberation.

I'arker requested him, as " the seamen's friend," to proceed

to the king, with a declaration of the terms on which they

wei'e willing to give up the ships. His lordship consent-

ed, but told them he had no expectation of success. He im-

mediately hastened to London, but, of course, the terms,

from the unreasonableness of the demands, were at once re-

jected. Lord Northesk afterwards resigned the Jlonmouth,

and remained unemployed till 1800, when he was appointed

to the Prince, of 98 guns, in the Channel fleet, in which ship

he continued till the peace in 1802. On the renew.il of the

w.ir in 1803, he was appointed to the Britannia of 100 guns.

In May 1804 he was promoted to the rank of rear-admiral,

and, in the following month, hoisted his flag in the Britan-

nia, and served in the .nrduous blockade of Brest till August

1805, when he w.is detached with a squadron, under the or-

ders of Sir Robert Calder, to reinforce Vice-admiral Colling-

wood off Cadiz. At the battle of Trafalgar, he was third in

command, and maintained his well-earned reputation by a

display of the most undaunted valour. In his ship the Bri-

tannia, he broke through the enemy's line astern of their

fourteenth ship, and pouring in on each side a most tremen-

dous and destructive fire, he continued engaging frequently

on both sides, and with two or three at a time, with very

little intermission for five hours, when all resistance ceased

For his eminent services, on this occasion, he was, on Janu-

ary 29, 1806, honoured with the insignia of the order of the

Bath. He .also received the thanks of both houses of parli.a-

ment, the freedom of the city of London, and of the Gold-

smiths' Company, with a sword of the value of one hundred

guineas from the city of I^ondon, an admiral's medal from

his majesty to be worn roimd the neck, and a vase of the

value of £300, from the Patriotic Fund at Lloyd's. In April

1808 he became a vice -admiral, and, June 4, 1814, an

admiral. In November 21, 1821, he was appointed rear-

admiral of Great Britain, and on M.-iy 27, commander-

in-chief .at Plymouth, where lie remained till 1830.

He died M.ay 28, 1831. His lordship married Mary,

only daughter of William Ricketts of Longwood in Hamp-
shire, by Mary Jervis, eldest sister of the first earl of St.

Vincent, and liad by her four sons and five daughters.

George, Lord Roseliill, the eldest son, w.as lost in his 16th

year, on board his majesty's ship, 'The Blenheim,' in which

he was a midshipman, 2d February 1807, when that ship

foundered in the East Indies.

The second son, William Hopetoun, eighth earl, born 16th

October 1794, married 4th February 1843, Georgiana JIaria,

eldest daughter of Rear-admir.al the Hon. George Elliot, with

issue a son, George .lohn, Lord Roseliill, born 1st December

1843, and a daughter. Lady Margaret Maria Adeliza Carnegie.

In the early part of 1853, the countess of Northesk pub-

lished a compilation, entitled 'The Sheltering Vine,' a selec-

tion of passages of holy writ, and of extracts from fathers of

the English church, ' with a view to present comfort and

consolation to persons laid low, either bodily or spiritually,

by afllicting providences.'

The title of Viscount St. Vincent in the peerage of Great

Britain is in remainder to the male issue of the seventh earl's

countess, after her brothers and their heirs male.

0

Ochiltree, Lord Stewart of, a title (dormant) in the

peerage of Scotland, the fir.st possessor of which was Andrew

Stewart, third Lord Avandale, (see vol. i. p. 170,) who, hav-

ing exchanged his lordship of Avandale, with Sir James

Hamilton of Fyimart, for the barony of Ochiltree in Ayrshire,

the regent Arran, with consent of the Estates, ordained him

to be called Lord Stewart of Ochiltree, 15th March, 1543.

He died in 1548. By his wife. Lady Margaret H.amilton,

only child by his first wife, of James, first earl of Arran, he

had a son, Andrew, second Lord Ochiltree, commonly called

the good Lord Ochiltree, the father-in-law of John Knox.

He was one of the lords of the congregation, and a principal

actor in all the transactions :md negotiations with the queen

regent, Mary of Guise, in 1559-GO, and afterwards in all

the proceedings of the Reformers in the reign of Queen Jla-

ry. When Knox was called before the queen. Lord Ochiltree

accompanied him to the palace of Ilolyrood. He opposed

the queen's marriage with Lord Darnley, and declared openly

that he would never consent that any of the popish faction

should he king of Scotland. After " the Chase-about Raid,"

in which he was actively engaged, he took refuge in Eng-

land, with the Lord James Stewart, afterwards the regent

Jlor.ay, and the others. At the battle of Langside, where he

fought against Queen Jlary, he was wounded by the Lord

Herries. He had five sons and two daughters.

His eldest son, Andrew, master of Ochiltree, died before

10th September 1578, leaving two sons and six daughters.

His lordship's second son. Captain James Stewart of Both-

welhnuir, was the unworthy favourite of James VI., the

usurper of the titles and estates of the earl of Arran, and

iord-high-chancellor of Scotland, (see vol. i. p. 160). The

third son. Sir James Stewart of Jlonkton, was killed in

Blackfriars-wynd, Edinburgh, 30th January 1588, by Fran-

cis, earl of Bothwell.

Andrew, the elder of the two sons of the master of Ochil-

tree, succeeded his grandlather as third Lord Ochiltree. He
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was a gentleman of the bedclmmbor tu James VI., general oF

tlie ordnance, governor of Kdinbnrgh castle, and a privy

conncillor. He sold tlie lordsliip of Ochiltree to his cousin.

Sir James Stewart of Killeitli, eldest son of the usurping earl

of Arran, and resigned his title in his favour in l(jlo. An-
drew Stewart, formerly Lord Ochiltree, was created Lord

Castle Stuart, in the peerage of Ireland, by patent, dateii

7th November 1G19. He died in 1G32, leaving three sons,

the youngest of whom, the Hon. Colonel Robert Stewart,

carried on the line of succession.

Sir James Stewart of Killeitli, fourth Lord Ochiltree, hav-

ing, iu 1G3], from the hereditary enmity which he bore to

the house of Hamilton, brought a charge of treason against

the m:u-quis of Hamilton, alleging that with the troops r.-dsed

by him for the service of Gustavus Adolphus, king of Swe-

den, in aid of the elector-palatine, he intended to assert his

right to the Scottish crown, was tried for leasing-niaking.

found guilty, and sentenced to imprisonment for life in

the castle of Blackness. He remained there for more than

twenty years, and was released in lGn2 by the ICnglish, after

the b.-ittle of Worcester. lie died in 1G59. He was twice

uiarried. By his first wife, j\Iargaret, daughter of Uchtred

-Maedowall of Gartliland, he had a son, who predeceased him,

leaving a sou, William, fifth Lord Ochiltree, a young noble-

man of gi'eat promise, who died in liis IGth year, while .at-

tending the university of Edinburgh, 12th February 1G7.5.

Ry his second wife, Mary Livingston, the fourth Lord Ochil-

tree had a sou and three daughters. The title of Lord Ochil-

tree has been dormant since lG7o.

Andrew Thomas Stewart of Stewart Hall, county Tyrone,

the great-great-grandson of the Hon. Colonel Robert Stewart

above mentioned, at the election of a Scots representative

peer, 2Gth October 17G8, appeared and answered to the title

of Lord Ochiltree, but the clerks refusing to receive his vote,

he took a protest against them. In 1774 he presented to the

lord-lieutenant of Ireland a petition claiming the title of Lord

Castle Stuart, which had been dormant since 1G8-1. It

was referred to the Irish house of peers, and their lordships,

on 24th May 1774, declared that he had fully proved his right

to the same. He voted as Lord Ochiltree at the election of

Scots peers, 24th July 1790, but it was decided in a commit-

tee of privileges of the house of lords, IGth April 1793, that be

had not made out his right. He was created Viscount Stuart

in 1793, and earl of C.-istlc Stuart, 29tli December 1800, and

died 20th August 1809, leaving issue. This family have

adopted the spelling of Stuart, as being a branch of the

royal house of that name, descended from the regent duke of

Albany. The possessor of the title of earl of Castle Stuart is

also a baronet of Nova Scotia, of date 1037.

OciiTKiu.oNY, a Forfarshire surname. From the Ochter-

lonies of Kelly in that county, already mentioned, (see Ai:cii-

TKiii.ONV, vol. i. p. 1C9), sprung the Ocliterlonies of Kin-

trocknt, and the Ocliterlonies of Pitforthy, in Ayrshire. To

the Kintrockat branch belonged Major-general Ochterlony of

the Russian service, who IcU at the battle of Inkerman, 5th

November 18.54. He was lineally descended from Prince

Rupert, and w.as a grandson of John Ochterlony of Montrose,

whose son, the general's father, settled in Russia in 1794.

(icneral Ochterlony's great-grandfather, Robert Ochterlony,

Esq. of Kintrockat, married Anna, daughter of Robert Young,

Esq. of .'\nldbar, (see Young, surname of).

Of the Pitforthy branch, was Major-general Sir David

Ochterlony, (i.C.B. of the Ea.st India Company's service,

who greatly distingc.isbed himself in the Nepaulcse war, for

which he received the thanks of both houses of parliament,

and in 181G was created a baronet of the United Kingdom.
He was the grandson of Alexander Ochterlony, Esq. of Pit-

forthy, and was born at Boston, New England, Feb. 12, 17i8.

Being unmarried, he obtained a second patent of his baron-

etcy Deo. 8, 1823, with remainder to Charles Metcalfe Och-

terlony, only son of Roderick Ochterlony, Esq. of Delhi. Sir

David died July 15, 1825, when Sir Charles Jletcalfe Ochter-

lon3% horn Dec. 21, 1817, lieeanie 2d hart.; married, in 1844,

Miss Sarah Tribe of Liverpocjl
;
i.ssue, 3 sons and 2 daughters.

OttlLBY, John, a miscellaneous writer, Ijoin

at or near Edinburgh, in November IGOO, removed

in his youth with his parents to London. His fa-

ther, a gentleman of a respectable familj-, having

spent his patrimony, was thrown into the King's

Bench ]irison for debt, and his son became appren-

tice to a dancing-master. In the saltatory art lie

showed so much proficiency that the pupils sub-

scribed sufficient money for him to buy up his in-

dentures, and begin business as a teacher of danc-

ing on his own account. While officiating at a

masque given by the dnke of Buckingham, by a

false step he unfortunatelj' sprained his ankle, and

was thereby rendered lame for life. In 1G33,

when the unfortunate carl of Strafford went to

Ireland as lord deputy, Ogilby accompanied him

as teacher of dancing to his children. He also
|

acted occasionally as his lordship's amanuensis,
i

and became one of the earl's troop of guards.
!

Having composed poetical versions of some of
i

iEsop's Fables, and a humorous piece, entitled '•

'The Character of a trooper,' the earl made liim

deputy-master of the revels. He now erected a

little theatre in Dublin, where he exhibited dra-

matic entertainments, but in the rebellion of 1G41

he lost all his property. He quitted that countr}-

about 1C46, but was shipwrecked on his passage

to England, and reached London in a most desti-

tute condition.

Soon after he proceeded on foot to Cambridge,

where he was patronised by many of the scholars,

and having devoted his attention to classical stu-

dies, lie boranie a complete master of the Latin

language. In 1049 he published a translation of

the works of Virgil, and in 1651 'The Fables of

^Esop, paraphrased in verse.' At the age of 54

he learnt Greek, and i-emovin,' o London, in 1660

he ])ublishcd a magnificeni ' ersion of Homer's

Iliad, dedicated to Charles il., «ith engravings
'

by Hollar and otlier artis's, and annotations by
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Shirley. The same year he publislied at Cam-

bridge, with the assistance of Dr. John Worthing-

ton, and other learned men, a superb edition of

the ' English Bible,' embellished with illustrative

maps and engravings. A copy of this work was

presented to the king, and another to the house of

commons, and from the latter he received a gra-

tuity of £50.

On the coronation of Charles II. in 1661, Ogil-

by was employed to supply the poetical part of

the pageantry, including the speeches, emblems,

mottoes, and inscriptions. He accordingly wrote

'The Eolation of his Majesty's Entertainment

passing through the City of London to his Coro-

nation,' &c., in ten sheets folio. This work,

afterwards, by his majesty's command, published

in a large folio volume on royal paper, with five

engravings, is said to have been found useful in

succeeding coronations.

In 1662 Ogilby obtained the patent of master

of the revels in Ireland, when he again went to

Dublin, and built a larger theatre than his former

one. Soon after he returned to England, and in

1665 published a second volume of Translations

from JCsop, with some fables of his own. The

same year he produced a translation of the Odys-

sey, with notes and embellishments.

Though Ogilby's poetry was of inferior merit,

he contrived to get rid of his diiFerent works as

they were published, by means of a lottery, by

which he acquired large sums of money.' In the

great fire of London, his house in AVhitefriars,

with all that it contained, was burnt to the ground.

Besides his whole stock of published works, there

perished in the flames three unpublished poems of

his own, two of them heroic poems, entitled ' The

Ephesian Matron' and 'The Roman Slave,' and

the third an epic, in twelve books, styled ' The

Cjirolics,' in honour of Charles I. He immedi-

ately set about reprinting all his former publica-

tions, and revived his lottery scheme, whereby he

obtained money to the amount of £4,210, which

enabled him to set up a printing office. By his

interest at court he received the appointment of

cosmographer an geographic printer to the king,

and in this capaci >" he projected a General Atlas

of the World, of >^ ich several parts were pub-

lished. He also pn luced several minor works,

illustrative of the topography of England, and

issued several ]\Iaps of London. Ogilby died

September 4, 1676.

His works are

:

The Character of a Trooper : a Hamourons Piece.

The Works of Virgil, translated and published ; with his

Portrait. London, 1649-50, 8vo. Elegantly reprinted in

165-1, royal folio. Also, a beautiful edition of it in Latin.

1658, folio. Again, with sculptures and annotations. 8vo.

Fables of iEsop paraphrased, in verse ; adorned with sculp-

tures, and illustrated with Annotations. 1651, 4to. 1665,

2 vols, folio. 1673-4, 2 vols. 8vo.

Homer's Iliad, translated into English vei-se ; adorned

with engravings by Hollar and others. 1660.

Kelation of the Entertainment of his Majesty Charles IL,

in his Passage through the city of London, to his Corona-

tion
;
containing an exact account of the whole Solemnity

;

the Triumphal Arches and Cavalcade, dehneated in sculp-

ture ; the Speeches and Impresses illustrated from Antiqui-

ty: to these is added, a brief KaiTative of his Majesty's so-

lemn Coronation, with his magnificent Proceeding and Royal

Feast in Westminster Hall ; with cuts. London, 1661, 1662,

1669, folio.

A Translation of Homer's Odyssey. 1665.

Africa
;
being an accurate Description of the Regions of

Egypt, Barbaij, Libya, and Billedulgerid, the Land of Ne-

groes, Guinea, ^Ethiopia, and the Abyssines, with all the ad-

jacent Islands, either in the Mediterranean, Atlantic, South-

ern, or Oriental Seas, belonging thereunto. Lond. 1670, fol.

America; containing the Original of the Inhabitants, and

the remarkable Voyages thither; the Conquest of the vast

Empires of Mexico and Peru, and other large Provinces and

Territories, with the several European Plantations in those

parts. Lond. 1670, folio.

Atlas Japanensis; being remarkable Addresses, by way of

Embassy, from the East India Company of the United Pro-

vinces to the Emperor of Japan : containing a Description of

their several Territories, Cities, Temples, Fortresses, &c.,

with the Character of the Ancient and Modern Japannese.

Lond. 1670, 1671, 1673, folio.

Atlas Chinensis
;
being a relation of remarkable Passages

in two Embassies from the East India Company of the Unit-

ed Provinces to the Vice-Roy Singlamong and General Tai-

sing, Lipovi, and to Konclii, Emperor of China and East Tar-

tary
;
containing a more exact Geographical Description than

formerly, of the whole Empire of China, from the original of

A. Montanus. Lond. 1671, 1673, 2 vols, folio.

Asia, the first part
;
being an accurate description of Per-

sia, tlie Empire of the Great Mogul, and otlier parts of India,

and their several Kingdoms and Regions ; with the Descrip-

tion of their Cities, Towns, the various Customs, Religion,

and Languages of the inhabitants, their Government and

Commerce; also the Plants and Animals peculiar to each

country. Part ii.
;
containing an Embassy from the East

India Company of the United Provinces to tlie Grand Tartar

Cham, Emperor of China, delivered by their Excellencies

Peter Goyer and Jacob de Keyzer, at his Imperial City of

Pekin
;
together with a general description of the Empire of

China. Lond. 1673, 2 vols, folio.

Britannia
;
being an Illustration of the Kingdom of Eng-

land, and Dominion of Wales, by an Historical and Geogra-

phical description of the Principal Roads thereof ; described

by 100 Maps on copperplates. London, 1675, 1698, folio.

1719, 4to.
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Sun'ey of the Roads of England. Loiul. 1G75, 1698, folio.

Explanation of tlie large Map of London, hy T. Ogilby and

W. Morgan. 1677, 4to.

An Actual Survey of the principal Roads of England and

Wales, improved by J. Sonox. Loud. 1717, 8vo.

Ogilvy, a surname derived from a barony in the parish

of Glammis, Forfarshire, which, about 116o, was bestowed

by William the Lion on Gilbert, ancestor of the noble family

of Airlie, and, in consequence, he assumed the name of Ogil-

vy, (see vol. i. p. 31, article Airlie, earl of). He was the

third son of Gillibrede, maormor of Angus, or, as some

say, of Gilchrist {GiUe Chrlosda, the servant of Christ),

maonnor of Angus. In the charters of the second and

third Alexanders there are witnesses of the name of Ogil-

vy. Sir Patrick de Ogilvy adliered steadily to Robert

the Bruce, who bestowed upon him the lands of Kettins in

Forfarshire. The barony of Cortachy was acquired by the

family in 1369-70. For notices of this family see Aiii-

LiE, (vol. i. pp. 31, 32). The "gracious gude Lord Ogilvy,"

as he is styled in the old ballad of tlie Battle of Harlaw, in

which battle the principal barons of Forfarshire fought on the

side of the earl of j\Iar, who commanded tlie royal army,

was the son of Sir Walter Ogilvy of Aucliterhouse, slain

in a clan battle with the Robertsons in 1391.

" Of the best amang them was

The gracious gude Lord Ogilvy,

The slierifT-principal of Angus,

Kenowiiit for truth and equity

—

For faitli and m.agnanimity

He had few fellows in the field,

Yet fell by fatal destiny.

For lie nae ways wad grant to yield.''

His eldest son, George Ogilvy, was also slain.

Ogilvy, Lord, the first title of the Airhe family, confeiTcd

by James IV., in 1191, on Sir John Ogilvy of Lintiatlien.

The sixth Lord Ogilvy of Airlie was dangerously wounded in

an encounter on the High street of Edinburgh, with Sir

John Gordon, third son of the earl of Huntly, on 27th June

1.562, (see voh ii. p. 520). For his faitliful adlierence to

Queen Mary, Lord Ogilvy suffered a long imprisonment. In

159G he was ambassador from King James VI. to the Dan-

ish King, Cliristiern IV.

The title of Lord Ogilvy of Deskford was conferred, 4th

October 1616, on Sir Walter Ogilvy of Deskford and Find-

later, whose son, Jame.s, second Lord Dcsktbrd, was •reatcd

oarl of Findlater, 20th February 1038, (see vul. ii. p. 211).

He was descended from Sir W.ilter Ogilvy of Auchleven,

second son of Sir Walter Ogilvy of Lintrathen, high treasurer

of Scotland.

The Clan Ogihj are called " the Siol Gilchrist,'' the race

or posterity of Gilchrist. In 1526, the iMacintoslies invaded

tlie country of the Ogilvies, and massacred no fewer

than 24 gentlemen of the name. A feud between the

Campbells and the Ogilvies subsisted for several centuries.

In Fitcairn's Criminal Trials we find James Ogilvy com-

plaining, on 21st October, 1591, tliat a body of Argyle's

men liad .ittacked him when residing peaceably in Glen-

isla, in Forfarshire, which anciently belonged to the Ogil-

vies, killed several of his people, ravaged the country,

and compelled him and his lady to flee for their lives. When,

in 1640, the m.arquis of Argyle, in the absence of the earl of

Airlie, who had gone to England, to avoid subscribing the

Covenants, destroyed the castles of Airlie and Forthour, (.see

vol. i. p. 32.) he is said to liave treated the Lady OgilN-y,

who then resided in the latter, with groat cruelty, refusing to

let her remain, to be confined, slie being then in a state of

pregnancy, or to permit her grandmother, liis own kinswo-

man, Lady Driinmie, to admit lier into her house of Kelly.

The house of Craig, in Glenisia, belonging to Sir John Ogil-

vy of Craig, cousin of the earl of Airlie, was also destroyed

by his orders. He had sent Sergeant Campbell, one of liis

clan, to Craig, with directions to demolish it, but on liis an'i-

val there the sergeant found only a sick gentlewoman and

some servants in the house, and having more hum.anity than

his chief, he returned to the marquis and reported that it

was a place of no strength, and not worth demolishing. Ar-

gyle, in a rage, told him it was his duty to obey the orders

given to him, and commanded him to go back and deface

and spoil the house, which he did. The Ogilvies had their

revenge in 1645, for the burning of " the bonnie house of

Airlie," and the other .strongliolds of the Ogilvies, when Cas-

tle Campbell, near Dollar, or the Castle of Gloom, its original

name, was destroyed by them and the Macleans, and the ter-

ritory of the marquis of Argyle was oven'un by the fierce and

nithless clans tliat followed Montrose, and carried fire and

sword throughout the whole estates of the clan Campbell.

The family of Inverquharity are descended from Sir Jolin

Ogilvy, third son of Walter Ogilvy of Aucliterhouse, above

mentioned. From his elder brother. Sir Walter Ogilvy, he

obtained the lands of Inverquharity in Forfarshire, by char-

ter dated 3d June 1420. Under Alexander Ogilvy of Inver-

quharity, a sanguin.ary battle took place between the clan

Ogilvy and the Lindsays, at Arbroath, on 13th January

1445-6, when 500 of the Ogilvies were slain. Alexander

Ogilvy himself, severely wounded, was taken prisoner, and

died, soon after, in the castle of Finh.aven, to which he had
j

been removed. For the details, and the cause of the feud

between these powerful families, see vol. i. of this work, pp. \

708 and 709. I

Sir John Ogilvy of Inverquharity was created a baronet

of Nova Scotia, 26th September 1625, with remainder
;

to his heirs male generally. The family, like the whole i

clan Ogilvy, were distinguished by their unflinching attach-
'

ment to the cause of Charles I. and the house of Stuart, and

Sir John's second son, Alexander, a youth of extraordinary

promise, was taken prisoner at Philipli.augh, fighting under

Montrose, and executed at Glasgow in 1646.

Sir John's eldest son, Sir David, second baronet, m.an'icd

in 1662, Margaret, daughter of Sir John Erskine of Dun,

and had four sons and three daughters. Captain Ogilvy, .i

son of Sir David, was with King James at the battle of the

Boyne, and is said to have been the author of the Jacobite

song,

" It was .a' for our rightful king

We left fair Scotland's strand."

He was one of the hundred gentlemen who volunteered to

attend their royal master in exile, and fell in an engagement

on the Rhine.

Sir David's eldest son. Sir John, third b.aronet, was suc-

ceeded by his eldest son. Sir John, fourth baronet, who w.as

twice married : 1st, in 1720, to Helen, daughter of Sir Law-

rence Jlercer of Aldie
;
and, 2dly, to Anne, daughter of

J.iuies Carnegy, Esq. of Finliavcn, and had issue by both

marriages. His eldest son, Sir John, fifth biu'onet, man-ied
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in 1754, Charlotte, daughter of Dr. Walter Tulhedelph of

Tulliedelpli, Forfarshire, and died in 1802. Sir John's eldest

son. Sir William, 6tli baronet, and his 2d son. Sir John, Ttli

baronet, both died unmarried, when the 3d son, Sir William,

became 8th baronet, an admiral in the royal navy, who died in

1823, leaving 8 sons and 1 daughter. Sir John, 9th baronet,

the eldest son, born at Edinburgh, Marcli 17, 1803, and edu-

cated at Christ Church, Oxford, was an officer in the guards;

twice married, with issue, by the first marriage a son and

daughter, and by the 2d, 2 sons and 4 daughters.

The family of Ogilvy of Carnousie, Banffshire, possess a

baronetcy, conferred in 1G2G. Its representative. Sir William

Ofilvie of Boyne, born in 1810, succeeded his father. Sir Wil-

liam Ogilvie of Carnousie, in 1824. He was educated at

Westminster, and the MilitaiT college, Edinburgli, and was

at one time in the army. He married in 1838, Augusta Por-

ter, youngest daughter of James Grange, Esq., formerly of

Her Majesty's Treasuiy. He claimed the dormant titles of

Baron Banff and Earl of Findlater, in the peerage of Scot-

land. He died at Christchurch, New Zealand, Feb. 20, 18G1.

The family of Ogilvy of Barras, Kincardineshire, also pos-

sessed a baronetcy, conferred in 1G61. The first baronet was

Sir George Ogilvy, lieut.-governor of the castle of Dunuottar,

in Cromwell's time, he being so created for his exertions in

the preservation of the regality of Scotland during the siege,

in 1G52, of that celebrated stronghold by the English parlia-

mentary forces under General Lambert. Ogilvy did not sur-

render till the siege had been converted into a blockade, when

he was reduced by famine and a consequent mutiny in the

garrison. He had previously, however, removed tlie regali:i,

by a stratagem, on account of which he was long imprisoned

in England, (see vol. ii. p. 611, article KiNTOitE, earl of).

In 16G0 the regalia was by him presented to Charles II., and

for this good service, with his long imprisonment and loss of

property, he received no farther reward than the title of a

baronet of Nova Scotia and a new coat of arms. The family

of Barras had in their possession a receipt granted by the earl

Marischal on the delivery of the regalia. Sir William Ogilvy

of Barras, the 7th baronet, succeeded his father in 1837.

OGILVIE, John, D.D., a poet of considerable

genius, was tlie son of the Kev. Mr. Ogilvie, one

of the ministers of Aberdeen, where he was born,

about 1733. He was educated at the Marisclial

college, which afterwards honoured him with the

degree of doctor in divinity. Having been duly

licensed for the Church, he was appointed, in

1759, minister of Midmar, Aberdeenshire, where

he continued till his death, in 1814. His life was

devoted to literaiy pursuits, and the faithftil dis-

charge of his pastoral duties ; and his personal

history was only varied by the publication of his

numerous works, and an occasional visit to Lon-

don, where he became acquainted with Dr. John-

son, by whom he was much esteemed. He was a

fellow of the Eoyal Society, Edinburgli. Scarcely

one of Dr. Ogilvie's works is known to the general

reader, even by name, at the present day. " The

truth is," says the writer of his memoir, in the

Lives of Eminent Scotsmen, " Ogilvie, with pow-

ers far above the common oi'der, did not know how

to use them with eflfect. He was an able man lost.

His intellectual wealth and industry were wasted

in huge and unhappy speculations. Of all his

books, there is not one whicli, as a whole, can be

expected to please the general reader. Noble

sentiments, brilliant conceptions, and poetic gra-

ces, may be culled in profusion from the mass

;

but there is no one production in which they so

predominate, if we except some of his minor pie-

ces, as to induce it to be selected for a happier

fate than the rest. Had the same talent which

Ogilvie threw away on a number of objects been

concentrated on one, and that one chosen with

judgment and taste, he might have rivalled in po-

pularity the most renowned of his contemporaries."

His works are

:

The Day of Judgment; a Poem. Edin. 17o9, 4to.

Poems on several subjects : to wliich is prefixed, an Essay

on the Lyric Poetry of the Ancients. In two Letters. Lon-

don, 17G2, 4to.

Providence; an Allegorlcil Poem, in 3 books. London,

1764, 4to.

Solitude
;
or, the Elysium of the Poets ; a Vision : to which

is subjoined, an Eleg}-. 17G6, 4to.

Six Sermons on several subjects. Lond. 1767, 8vo.

Paradise ; a Poem. 1769, 4to.

Poems on several subjects, (including those above men-

tioned). Lond. 17G9, 2 vols. 8vo.

Philosophical and Critical Observations on the Nature,

Characters, and various Species of Compositions. London,

1774, 2 vols. 8vo.

Rona ; a Poem, in seven books. Illustrated with a cor-

rect map of the Hebrides, and elegant engravings. London,

1777, 4to.

Inquiry into the Causes of Infidelity and Scepticism of the

Times ; with occasion.al Observations on the Writings of Her-

bert, Shaftesbury, Bolingbroke, Hume, Gibbon, Toulniin, &c.

Lond. 1783, 8vo.

The Theology of Plato compared with the Principles of

Oriental and Grecian Philosophers. 1793, 8vo.

Britannia; a National Epic Poem, in 20 books: to wliich

is prefixed, a Critical Dissertation on Epic JIachineiy. Aber-

deen, 1801, 4to.

An Examination of the Evidence from Prophecy, in behalf

of the Christian Religion ; a Sermon. 1803, 8vo.

Oi.U'iiANT, a surname originally Olifard. The first in

Scotland of tliis name was David de Olifard, who accompanied

David I. from Winchester in 1141. A branch of the Olifards

settled in Kincardineshire. Under Malcolm IV., Osbert

Olifard was sheriff of Mearns, and his only daughter married

Hugo de Abcrbothenoth, ancestor of the viscounts Aibuth-

nott, (see vol. i. p. 143).

Ot.irn.VNT, Lord, a title (doi-mant) in the Scottish peer-

age, conferred before 1458, on Sir Lawrence Oliphant. de-
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scended from the above-named David de Olifard, wlio, at tlie

siege of Winchester castle in 1141, being then a soldier in the

army of King Stephen, rescued liis godfather. King David I.

of Scotland, holding tliat stronghold for liis niece, the em-

press Maud, and having concealed him from liis pursuers,

conveyed him in safety to his oun dominions, (see vol. ii. p.

21), He was rewarded with grants of land in Roxburgh-

j

shire, and with the office of justiciary of Lothian, being the

first who held that otlice in Scotland of whom any account

appears. His eldest son, David Olifard, was also justiciary

of Lothian. He had four other sons. Walter, the second

son, was one of the hostages for W'illiam the Lion, on his re-

lease in 117-1. The second David Olifard witnessed a charter

of that monarch respecting the woods and wastes belonging

to the priory of Coldingham. His son. Sir Walter Olifard,

was justiciary of Lothian for more than twenty years Jindcr

Alexander IL, and one of the most frecjuent witnesses of that

king's charters. He was present at the marriage of Alexan-

der with the princess Joan, sister of Henry IIL of England,

18th June 1221. He gave to the monks of Coldingham the

right of e.\acting yearly from the church of Smailliolm two

mark:< and a-half of silver. He died in 1242. His grand-

son. Sir William Olipliant, was one of the most distinguished

actors in the struggle for Scottish independence in the days

of Wallace and Bruce. Although, like many other patriotic

barons, forced to submit to Kdward L in 1297, he took the

earliest opportunity of throwing off his allegiance to that

grasping monarch and of opposing his ambitious schemes

against liis n.itivc country. In 1300 he defended Stirling

castle for throe months, when Edward besieged it, but at

length was obliged to capitulate. In 1303 the Scottish lead-

ers compelled the English to surrender that important for-

tress, when Sir William Oliphant was again appointed its

governor, and under him it was the only fortress in Scotland

which defied King Edward's power. The castle was stormed

by the English, and after an offer of capitulation had been

refused, it surrendered at discretion, 20th July 1304. Ed-

f
ward sent the br.ive garrison to ditTerent prisons in England,

and the governor, Sir William Oliphant, to the Tower of

London. He was detained in captivity till the 24th May
1308, when he was set at liberty by Edward II. He was

one of the subscribers of the famous letter to the Pope in

1320, asserting the independence of Scotland. He died 5th

February 1329. His son, Sir Walter Oliphant of Aberdalgy,

married the princess Elizabeth, youngest daughter of Kobert

the Bruce, as appears by a charter of David II.
,
erecting the

lauds of Cask, in Perthshire, into a free barony, dated 11th

January 1304. His gr.indson. Sir .John Oliphant, was knight-

ed by Piobert II., and died about 1420. His son. Sir Wil-

liam, was one of the hostages for James I. Sir William's

son, Sir John Oliphant of Aberdalgy, m.arried Isabel, d.augh-

ter of Walter Ogilvy of Auchterhouse, and was slain in the

encounter between the Ogilvics and the Lindsays at Arbroath

in January 144G. (See vol. i. p. 709.)

The son of Sir John, Sir Laurence Oliphant of Aberdalgy,

was the first Lord Oliphant. In his youth, he accompanied

the carl of Douglas to France, and afterwards travelled into

Italy. He was created a peer by James II. , but the precise

date is not known. It was, however, before October 1458.

He was a noble of great influence and power, and on two or

three occasions was sent as ambassador to treat of peace with

England. In the first parliament of James IV., Cth October

1488, he was chosen one of the lords of the articles for the

barons. He was also sworn a privy councillor, and consti-

tuted justiciary within his own bounds, and those of Strath-

brand, in 1190. He obtained bonds of manrent from 13

gentlemen in his neighbourhood, a list of whom is given by
Crawford {Peeraye, p. 379). He died about 150O. He had
three .sons. 1. John, second Lord Oliphant. 2. William,

who married Christian, only daughter and heiress of Alexan-
der Sutheriand of Duffus, in M(jiay, Strabrock in West Lo-

thian, and Berriedale in Caithness, in consequence of which
he took the designation of William Oliphant of Berriedale.

His lady also inherited a fourth part of the earldom of Caith-

ness, to which she was coheir. From them descended the

Olipliants of Cask. Their son, Andrew Oliphant, having no
male issue, in 1520 resigned his estates in Caithness to his

kinsman and chief, Lord Oliphant, on condition that his lord-

ship should provide suitable matches and tochers for his three

daughters. Two of them were accordingly married to cou-

sins of their own, namely, Margaret, to Walter Oliphant of

Newton, and Catherine to Andrew Oliphant of Binzian.

The third son of the lirst Lord Oliphant was George Oliphant

of Bachilton.

John, second Lord Oliphant, the eldest son, was one of the

peers who ratified in pariiament the settlements on Marga-
ret, queen of James IV., 13th Jlay 1504. He had two sons,

Colin, master of Oliphant, and Laurence, abbot of Inchaf-

fray, both slain on the fatal field of Flodden. The master

left a son, Laurence, third Lord Oliphant, who succeeded his

gi-andfather in 151G. He was one of the noblemen taken

prisoner at the rout of Solway in November 1542, when his

annual revenue was estimated at 100 marks steriing. At
first lie was ordered to remain with Sir Thomas Lee, an Eng-
lish knight, but was allowed to be ransomed for 800 marks
steriing, 1st July 1543. He died 20th March 1566. Be-
sides four daughters, he had three sons. The latter were, 1.

Lawrence, fourth Lord Oliphant. 2. Peter, ancestor of the

Olipliants of Langton. He got from his father the lands of

Turing and Diimmie, part of the dowry lands given by King

Piobcrt I., with his daughter. Lady Elizabeth Bruce, to Wal-

ter Oliphant. 3. William, mentioned in a remission, dated

5th Slay 1576, to himself and two others of the name, for

being art and part in the slaughter of one James Ross, com-

mitted in September 1571.

James, fourth Lord Oliphant, joined the association in be-

half of Queen Mary at Hamilton, 8th May, 15G8, and always

continued true to her cause. He died in Caithness, IGth

.January 1593. With three daughters, he had two sons,

Laurence, master of Oliphant, and John Oliphant of New-
land. The former m.arried Christian, second daughter of

William Douglas of Loclileven, second earl of Morton. In a

chance pursuit of Lord Ruthven, with whose family the Oli-

pliants were at feud, Alexander Stuart, of the house of Tia-

quair, a kinsman of Ruthven, was slain by a follower of

the master of Oliphant. This happened in October 1580.

Lord Ruthven prosecuted the master at law for the same,

and in M.arch 1582, the latter went to the lodgings at I'2din-

burgh, of his lordship, who was then earl of Cowrie, at nine

o'clock one night, without his sword or any other weapon,

and offered himself in his will. In August of the same year,

the master was one of the persons engaged in the Raid of

Ruthven. In March 1584 he was charged with his brother-

in-law, Mr. Robert Douglas, to quit the realm, .and on their

passage to the continent they were drowned. They " were

never scene ag.ain," says Calderwood, " they, nor sliippe, nor

anie belonging thcrunto. The manor is uncertane : but the

most commoun report was that being invaded by Holl.anders

or Flusingers, and fighting valianntlie, slue one of the princi-

pall of their number, in revenge whereof they were all sunke;

or, as others report, after they had randered (surrendered)

they were hanged upon the mast of the sliippe. They were
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two youthes of great expectation." {Hist, ofKirk ofScot-

land, vol. iv. p. 46.)

Hi3 son, Laurence, fifth Lord Olipliant, born 24th Jlarch,

1583, succeeded his grandfatlier ten years afterwards. He
dissipated most of the extensive estates of the family. By

his wife, Lilias Drammond, eldest daughter of James, fourth

Lord Maderty, he had a daughter, Anne, married to Sir

James Douglas of Jlordington, brother of the marquis of

Douglas. With the view of preserving the peerage in the

male line, his lordship resigned his honours and estates in

favour of Patrick Oliphant, his cousin-german and heir male;

but this settlement not having been ratified by the crown,

Anne Oliphant, his daughter, claimed both, by action before

the court of session. The case was decided 11th July 1633,

in presence of Charles I. It was found that the deed by

which Lord Oliphant liad disposed of his honours barred the

succession of his daughter, while it did not vest the peerage

in the heir male, and the dignity was declared to be at the

disposal of the king. In consequence of this decision Charles

created the heu- male Lord Oliphant, with the former prece-

dency, by a new patent, dated 17th July 1633, and at the

same time raised Sir James Douglas, husband of Anne Oli-

phant, to the peerage, by the title of Lord Mordington, (see

p. 206 of this volume,) with the precedency of Lord Oliphant.

Patrick, sixth Lord Oliphant, the lieir male, on whom the

king thus conferred the title, was the son of John Oliphant

of Newland, second son of Laurence, fourth Lord Oliphant,

and previously had the designation of master of Oliphant.

He was twice married : first, to Elizabeth, daughter of Sir

Patrick Cheyne of Esslemont, by whom he had a daughter,

Lilias, wife of Sir Laurence Oliphant of Gask
;

and, second-

ly, to Mary, daughter of James Crichton of Frendraught, and

had by her tlu'ee sons, Charles, William, and Francis, who

all succeeded to the title.

Charles, seventh Lord Oliphant, took the oaths and his

seat in parliament, 12th October, 1706, and opposed the

treaty of Union. His son, Patrick, eighth Lord Oliphant,

died without issue, in 1721, when the title devolved on his

uncle, William, ninth lord, a colonel in the army, who also

died without issue. His brother, Francis, tenth lord, voted

at the elections of Scots peers down to 1747. On his death,

19th April 1748, William, son of Charles Oliphant of Lang-

ton, one of the clerks of session, assumed the title, and voted

at an election in 1750, since when no one has voted as Lord

Oliphant at the elections of Scots peers. He died 3d June,

1751, acknowledging Laurence Olipliant of Gask to be heir

to his peerage. That gentleman, however, having, with his

eldest son, been attainted for engaging in the rebellion of

1745, did not assume the title. John Oliphant of Bachilton,

who died in March 1781, was styled Lord Oliphant. His

posthumous daughter, Janet Oliphant of Bachilton, was the

wife of the eighth Lord Elibank, and their children, in con-

sequence, adopted the name of Olipliaut-Murray as their

family name. (See vol. ii. p. 131.)

The Oliphants of Gask were descended from William Oli-

phant of Newton in Perthshire, 2d son of Colin, master of

Oliphant, slain at Flodden. They were devoted J.acobites.

The paternal grandfather of Carolina Oliphant, (Lady Nairne

tlie poetess, see p. 236 of this volume,) had attended Prince

Charles Edward .as aide-de-camp during his disastrous cam-

paign of 1745-6, and his wife had cut off a lock of his hair

on the occasion of his accepting the hospitality of the family

mansion. The portion of hair is preserved at Gask; and

Lady Nairne has alluded to the circumstance in her song of

'The Auld House.' The estate of Gask escaped forfeiture,

but the father of Lady Nairne, L.inrence Oliphant of Gask,

did not renounce his Jacobite sentiments. He named liis

(huighter, Carolina, in honour of Prince Charles; and would

not permit the n.imes of the reigning monarch and his queen

to be mentioned in his presence, nor allow them to be desig-

nated otherwise than by the initial letters, " IC. and Q."

In. 1755, Laurence Oliphant of Gask married his cousin,

Margaret, daughter of Duncan Robertson of Strowan, by the

daughter of Lord Nairne. On the death of her brother, the

.•iged chief of Strowan, his grand-nephew of Gask became heir

of line of the family. Mr. Olipluant died Jan. 1, 1792. His

grandson, James Blair Oliphant of Gask, succeeded, on the

death of his elder brother, unmarried, Dec. 31, 1824, and

was the 13th in descent from the first lord, and 23d from

David de Olifard, the first of the name in Scotland.

Mr. Oliphant of Gask was, Aug. 18, 1839, served heir

male of Francis, 10th Lord Oliphant, also heir of the body of

William Oliphant of Newton, brother of Laurence, 3d Lord

Oliphant. He was also heir general to the last acknowledged

Lord Oliphant, and to the principal branch of the family.

He married in 1840, Henrietta Gr:eme, only surviving daugh-

ter of JIarg.iret Anne Graeme, daughter of Wilham Grahame

of Orchill by James Gillespie-Grahame, Esq. Mr. Blair

Oliphant died in 1847.

Laurence Oliphant of Condie and Newton, Perthshire, de-

scended from Laurence Oliphant, first of Condie, giMndson

of William Oliphant of Newton, by his wife, the heiress of

Berriedale, succeeded to the est.ate in 1806. The eldest son

of Ebenezer Oliphant of Condie and Newton, by Mary, 3d

daughter of Sir William Stirling, baronet, of Ardoch, he was

born in 1791, and has been thrice married. His son .and heir,

by his 3d wife, Marianne, eldest daughter of Stuart Oliphant,

Esq. of Rossie, named Laurence-James, was born in 1846.

The estate of Condie was purchased by this fomily in 1601.

Orkney, Iarl, or earl of, a very ancient title held under

the Norse kings. When Harald Harfager, or the fair-haired,

one of the chiefs of Norwaj', subdued the Orkney islands in

876, he conferred the govei-nment of them on Ronald or Rog-

novald, count of Merca, father of Rollo, the famous invader

of Norway, and the gi-eat-great-grandfather of William the

Conqueror. Ronald ceded the government of the Orkneys to

his brother, Sigurd. A long line of Scandinavian iarls suc-

ceeded, who all afiected the style of independent princes.

About the year 1325, the male line of the ancient iarls failed

in the person of iMagnus V., who married the countess of

Caithness, and his daughter, Isabella, having become the

wife of i\Ialise, earl of Strathern, her husband, in her right,

possessed also the earldoms of Caithness and Orkney. One

of their daughters, Isabella, married Sir William Sinclair of

Roslin, and her son, Henry, obtained the earldom of Orkney,

in 1379, from the Norse king, Haco IV.

His son, Henry, second earl, was admiral of Scotland, and

chief attendant on Prince James, afterwards James I., when

he was captured by the English at sea in 1405, on his voy-

age to France. The earl of Orkney was sent to the Tower

of London, and his brothers were permitted to visit him in

August of the same year. In the following month he was

allowed to return to Scotland, his brothers apparently re-

maining as hostages for him. He died before 1418. Fordun

eiToneously states 1420.

His son, William, third earl of Orkney, was one of the hos-

tages for James I., when allowed to visit Scotland, 31st May
1421, and he had a s.afe-conduct to meet him at Dmliam,

13th December 1423. As admiral of Scotland he conveyed

the princess Slargaret to France in 1436, on her marriage
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with tlie dauphin. In 1446 he founded RosHn Chapel, which,

althouf;h cnlled a cliapel, was really, from the very outset, a

collegiate church, and endowed it with various lards and

revenues. He was liigli-cliancellor of Scotland from 1454 to

1 158. He had a grant of the earldom of Caithness, 28th

Aug. 1455, in compensation, as the charter bears, of a claim

of right which he had to the lordship of Nithsdale, tlirougli

his mother, Kgidia, daughter and heiress of William Douglas,

lord of Nithsdale, by Kgidia, daughter of Robert II. In his

time, tliC young king, James III., married the princess Mar-

garet of Denmark, and in 1468 obtained as her dowry, be-

sides 2,000 florins in money, the Orkney islands, in pledge for

50,000 florins, and Shetland for 8,000 more. As the islands

were never ransomed, they thencefortli became part of the

dominions of Scotland. In 1470 the earldom of Orkney and

lordship of Shetland were purchased by the king from the

Sinclairs, and in 1471 they were annexed to the crown by

act of parliament. As some compensation, the king granted

to the earl the castle of Ravenscraig, now in ruins, situated on

a lofty rock, overhanging the seashore, at Dysart, in Fife, with

several lands .adjoining, by charter, dated 17tli Sept. 1470.

He was now styled earl of Caithness and Lord Sinchair. In

1471 and two following years, he was sent .amb.assador to

Kngland. He was twice married, and resigned the earldom

of Caithness in favour of William Sinclair, his eldest son of

the second marriage, wlio, in consequence, obtained a charter

of that earldom, 7th December 1470. His first wife was Lady

Margaret Douglas, eldest daughter of the fourth earl of Dou-

glas, by whom he had one son, William Sinclair of New-

burgh, ancestor of Lord Sinclair, .and a daughter, Lady Ca-

tlierine, married to Alexander, duke of Albany, second son of

James II., but divorced on account of propinquity of blood.

His second wife was the daughter of Alexander Sutherland

of Duubeath, and by her he had William, earl of Caithness,

three other sons, .and four daughters. (See Caithness, earl

of, vol. i. p. 521, and Sinclaui.)

The title of duke of Orkney, with tluat of marquis of Fife,

was bestowed on the fourth earl of Bothwell, 12th May 1567,

three days before Queen Mary's ill-fated marriage with him.

but lie held it for little more than a month, and w.as forfeited

29th December of the s,ame year, (see vol. i. p. 356).

The earldom of Orkney was, 28th October 1581, conferred

by James VI. on Lord Robert Stewart, abbot of Holyrood-

liouse, n.atural son of King James V. In 1569 he had ex-

changed the temporalities of the abbacy of Holyrood-house

for the tempor.al estates of the see of Orkney, with Ad.am

Bothwell, bishop thereof. He died in 1592, .and was suc-

ceeded by his son, Patrick, wdio, in 1600, got charters of

both the e.arldom and the bishopric. Like his father, he w:is

proud, avaricious, cruel, and dissipated, and h.aving, by his

profuse style of living, involved himself deeply in debt, he

endeavoured to extricate himself by the most illegal .and op-

pressive acts on the people of Oi kney, confiscating their pro-

perty, and depriving them of their udal privileges. Numer-

ous complaints against him reached the king, and he was, in

consequence, committed prisoner to the castle of Edinburgh

in 1611, accused of high treason. One of his savage orders

was, that if any m.an endeavoured to give relief to vessels in

distress, he should be fined and imprisoned, " at the earl's

pleasure." Previous to bis apprehension, he took refuge in

the king's castle at Kirkwall, which he maint.ained with

nnich desperate valour for some time against the king's

troops, till it was at last taken and demolished. H.aving

mortgaged his estates to Sir John Arnot, the king purchased

his right, and took possession of Ins castles of Kirkwall and

Birsay. To the latter the earl had made great additions, as

well as his father, Earl Robert, and above the gate w.as the

famous inscription, which, among other points of dittay,

(crimes charged ag.iinst him in the indictment,) cost him his

head. It was as follows :
" Dondnus Robcrtus Stuartus,

filius Jacobi Quinti Rex Sc<itorum, hoc opus instruxit."

Aliove his coat of .arms was the motto, " Sic fuit, est, et

erit." The earl's natural son, Rol;ort Stewart, at the head of

500 men, seized these castles in 1613, but by the king's or-

ders, the earl of Caithness proceeded to Orkney, and snoceed-

ed in taking them from him. Being sent a prisoner to Edin-

burgh, Roliert Stewart was condcnmed and executed. The

earl was tried for high treason in October 1613, and behead-

ed at the market cross of Edinburgh, February 6, 1614. He
left no issue.

The title of earl of Orkney was next bestowed, Januarj' 3,

1696, on Lord George Hamilton, fifth son of William and

Anne, duke .and duchess of Hamilton, his secondary titles

being viscnunt of Kirkwall, and Baron Dechmont. He was

.an eminent military commander, and field-marshal of the

forces. Born in 1666, he was bred to the profession of .arms

under his uncle, the earl of Dumbarton. He had the rank

of colonel in the army in 1690; the command of the 7th

regiment of foot in 1692, and was promoted to the colonelcy

of the Rc.yal Scots the s.ame year. He distinguished himself

at the battles of the Boyne, Aughrim, Steinkirk, and Landen,

and at the sieges of Athlone, Limerick, and Namur. At the

.attack of the latter place, he was m.ade a brigadier-general

by King William, who commanded in person. As a reward

for his eminent sendees in Ireland and Flander,<;, King Wil-

li.am, in January 1696, advanced him to the dignity of a

peer of Scotland by the title of earl of Orkney, viscount of

Kirkwall, and B.aron Dechmont; and his countess, the sister of

ICdward, first earl of Jersey, got a grant, under the great

seal of Ireland, of almost all the private estates of King

James in that country. His portnait is subjoined :
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Upon the accession of Queen Aiine, Lcird Orkney was, in

1 1702, promoteJ to tlie rank of niajor-peiieral, and in 1700 to

that of lieutenant-general, and was likewise made a kniglit

of the Thistle. He afterwards served under the duke of Marl-

borough, and by his gallantry contributed to the victories of

Dienheim, Kamillies, Oudenard, and Malplaquet. In 1708 he

1

was elected one of the sixteen peers of Scotland, and was re-

chosen at every general election till 1734. In 1710, his h)rdsliip

was sworn of the privy council, and made general of the foot in

1 the Low Countries. In 1712 he received the colonelcy of the

[

royal regiment of Fusileers, and again in Flanders under the

j

duke of Onnond. In 1714 he was appointed gentleman ex-

traordinary of the bedchamber to George the First, and soon

after governor of Virginia. Subsequently he was constituted

governor of Edinburgh castle, and lord-lieutenant of Lan-

arkshire, and promoted to the rank of field-marshal of the

forces. He died at London in 1737, in liis 71st year. He

had 3 daughters
;
Lady Anne, who succeeded as countess of

j

Orkney; Lady Frances, countess of Scarborough ; and Lady

Harriet, countess of Orrery, afterwards of Cork,

j

The eldest daughter, Lady Anne, countess in her own

right, died in 1756. She married, in 1720, her cousin-

german, the 4th e.arl of Inchiquin in Ireland, and had 4 sons

and 4 daughters. Lady Mary O'lirien, the eldest daughter,

succeeded her mother as countess of Orkney, and died JIarch

10,1791. She married in March 1753, her cousin-german,

Murrough, 5th earl of Inchiquin, afterwards marquis of Tho-

mond. This lady was deaf and dumb. Shortly after the

birth of her first child, the nurse saw her cautiously approach

the cradle in which the infant was asleep, and fling down a

large stone with all her force upon the floor. The noise it

made awoke the child, who cried. The countess fell on her

knees in a transport of joy. She had discovered that her

child possessed the sense which was wanting in herself. She

had 4 sons, who all died young, and 4 daugliters.

Her eldest daughter, Lady Mary O'Brien, born in 1755,

jecame, on the death of her mother, countess of Orkney.

She married, Dec 21, 1777, the Hon. Thomas Fitzmaurice,

M.P., brother of the 1st marquis of Lansdowne, and had one

son, John, viscount of Kirkwall, born Oct. 9, 1778, elected

M.P. for Heytesbury, Wiltshire, in 1802, and married, 11th

j

August that year, the Hon. Anne JIaria De Blacquiere, eld-

est daughter of the first Lord Ue blacquiere. He died Nov.

23, 1820, leaving 2 sons. The countess died in 1831.

Her elder son, John, Viscount Kirkwall, having prede-

ceased her, she was succeeded by her grandson, Thomas John

Hamilton Fitzmaurice, born Aug. 8, 1803. In 1833 he was

elected one of the 16 Scots representative peers. He married,

in 1826, the second daughter of the 3d Lord Boston ; issue, 5

sons and 3 daughters. His eldest son, George William Ham-

ilton, Viscount Kirkwall, born in 1827, entered the army as

an ensign in the 92d foot, in 1845, and in 1862 was a cap-

tain Scots Fusileer guards.

OnJiiSTOX, a surname derived from lands of that name,

now a parish, in East Lothian. They were so called from an

Anglo-Saxon, named Orme, who possessed them in the

reign of Malcolm the JLaiden. Whether this was the same

Orme, the son of Hugh, who was abbot of Abernethy, in

Perthshire, in the reign of William the Lion, and whose de-

j

scendants, from liis possessing the lands of Abernethy, as-

sumed that name, (see vol. i. p. 14,) is not known. There

are various places in Scotland of the name of Ormiston.

Ormond, carl of, a title conferred in 1445 on Hugh Dou-

glas, fourth son of James, seventh earl of Douglas. He had

i

a safe-conduct to pass through England with his brotliers,

the p.-uls of Douglas and Moray, 12th May 1451, and again

on 2d May 1453. For engaging in the rebellion of his bro-

ther, the eighth earl of Douglas, in the spring of 1455, he

was executed for high treason in Slay of that year, and at-

tainted. (See vol. ii. p. 44.) His son, Hugh, dean of Bre-

chin, died without issue.

The title of marquis of Ormond was bestowed, at his b.ap-

tism, on Prince James Stewart, second son of James III..

" an empty title," says Douglas, (Peerage, vol. ii. p. 345.)

"unusual in Scotland, without territory, and without juris-

diction." He was afterwards created duke of Boss.

Ork, a surname common in Renfrewshire, particularly in

the parish of Lochwinnoch, where, at one period, there were

some heritors of the name. Hewe de Orr appears in the

Ragman Roll as having sworn fealty to Edward I. in 1296.

The name occurs also in writs of the time of James IV. The
familj' of Orr of Barrowfield came originally from the par-

ish of Cambusnethan, in the upper ward of Lanarkshire.

Hugh OiT, bom at Lochwinnoch, January 13, 1717, and

bred a gunsmith and door-lock filer, went to America, at the

age of twenty, and settled at JIassaclmsetts. At Bridgewa-

ter, in that State, he set up the first tilt hammer in that part

of the country, and for several years he was the only maker
in that quarter of edgetools, the manufacture of which he was

the means of spreading through various parts of Massachu-

setts, Rhode Island, and Connecticut. In 1748 he made 500

muskets for the province of Massachusetts Bay, and during

the revolutionary war he engaged actively in the manufac-

ture of arms. In conjunction with a French gentleman, he

established a foundry for the casting of cannon and cannon-

shot. He also originated the business of exporting flax-seed

from the part of the country in which he resided. For sev-

eral years he was elected a senator for the county of Ply-

mouth. He died in December 1798, in his 82d year.

Orhoic, a surname derived from lands in the parish of

Burntisland, Fifeshire, long possessed by a family of that

name, but subsequently the property of.T. E. Drinkwater Be-

thune, Esq. of Balfour. Simon de Orrok is mentioned in the

Ragman Roll. The name is supposed to have originated from

the rocks on that part of the Fife coast, where the lands lie.

The Orroks of that ilk, says Nisbet, for armorial bearings

had sable, on a chevron, betwixt 3 mullets argent, as many

chess rocks of the first. Crest, a falcon perching proper.

Motto, " Solus Christus mea Bupes."

Oswald, an Anglo-Saxon name. The first syllable, like

Ead or Ed, in Edward, Edmund, Edwin, Edgar, &c., was

intended to show derivation and family relationship by the

use of ti\m\hw 2KVSonal names, a practice which seems to liave

been common in Anglo-Saxon families, thus, Oswald, Oslaf,

Oslac, Oswin, Osfrith, Osric, Osbald, &c. Jlr. Kemble, in

his ingenious and valuable work ' On the Names, Surnames,

and Nicknames of the Anglo-Saxons,' gives several instances

of this practice.

Since the end of the 17th century a family of the n.ame of

Oswald have possessed the estate of Dutmikier, in the parish

of Dvsart, Fifeshire, on part ot which the village of Pathhead

is built. This property anciently belonged to the family of

Lundin of Balgonie, and afterwards, according to Sibbald, to

a Mr. John Watson, who built the old house in Pathhead,

and mortified several acres of land near Burntisland for main-

taining poor widows.

-

!
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I'ersDiis of the iiaiiie of Oswald liave (or arms. Azure, a

niikeJ boy, poiiitinj; at a star, in tlie dexter cliiuf point.

The family of Oswald of l'inf;alton liad. Azure, a savaije

wreathed about tlie middle with bay leaves, liaving a sheaf

of arrows Ijangiug by liis side, and bearing a bow in Ids left

hand, all proper, and pointing with the other liaiid to a

comet, placed in the dexter chief point, or. Crest, a dexter

hand, issuing out of a cloud, and pointing to a star of eight

rays, proper. Motto, " I'orti favet Coeluni." (.Visiei'i Sys-

tem of IleraMnj, vol. i.)

Oiie of the most eminent of flie family of Oswal.l of l)un-

nikier was the Higlit lion. James Oswald of Durinikier, a

statesnnm and patriot, who was long a member of parliament.

Horn in 171.5 in the town of Kirkcaldy, lie was educated at

the burgh school, wliere he had for associates Dr. Adam
Smith and Dr. John Drysdale, with whom lie continued his

friendship during life. Througli his influence the latter gen-

tleman obtained a presentation to a city cliarge in Kdinbnrgh.

Jlr. Oswald was the eldest of four sons. His next brother

was promoted to the dignity of a bishop. His fatlier died

young. After having the advantage of foreign travel, he

p.-issed advocate in 1740, but it docs not appear that he ever

practised at the Scottish bar.

At an early period of his life Mr. Oswald had .shown a de-

cided taste for literature, and had prosecuted literary pur-

suits with great ardour. He had also made considerable

proficiency in classical learning. Politics, however, and pub-

lic business soon withdrew his attention from studies ill

wliieh, had he continued to cultiv.ate them, he bade fair to

attain high distinction. One long an intimate in his family,

and himself an elegant scholar, left this posthumous record

respecting his literary attainments .and connexions:—"That

eminent person, Mr. Oswald, who joined tlie accoiiiplish-

inents of a scholar to the qualities of a statesman, willingly

gave the leisure he could spare to the company of men of

letters, whom he valued, and who held his great talents in

high estimation. He was the first patron of Douglas ; Da-

vid Hume submitted to liim his Essays on Political Kcono-

my, and the pages of his History, before they went to the

press, drew from his deep insight into the political state

of Knghmd, both in ancient and modern times, many valua-

ble remarks. Lord Karnes consulted hiin upon his literary

labours, and Adam Smith was indebted to that large and

comprehensive inind, for many of the views of Finance, that

are found in the Wealth of Nations."

In 1751 Mr. Oswald was elected member of parliament

for his native town and conjoined burghs, and in every suc-

ceeding p.arliament he was lelurned either for these burghs

or for the county of Pile, until 17G8, when ill health com-

pelled liiin to vacate his seat in favour of his son, James

Townsend 0.swald. He filled successively the situations of

commissioner of the navy, lord of trade and plantations, lord

of the treasury, and treasurer of Ireland, and was also a mem-

ber of the privy council. George II. and George III., sensible

of his merits, conferred upon liim valuable marks of their

consideration, and each bestowed a reversionary grant on his

son, of an honourable patent oflice which lie held. The ' Me-

morials of the Public Life and Character of the Piiglit Hon.

James Oswald of Dunnikier,' consisting of his Correspond-

ence, was published in 1825, with a portrait, in 1 voh 8vo.

Of this family ,ilso was Sir .Tohn Oswald of Dunnikeir, a dis-

tinguished officer. He entered the army when very young, and

was engaged in active service for nearly fiity-three years. In

November 1793, wlien captain in the 3d foot, he joined the

.second battalion of grenadiers under Lieutenant-colonel Cra-

dock, and, embarking for the West Indies, with his battalion,

in the expedition under Sir Charles Grey, was present at the

capture of the islands of Martinique, St. Lucia, and Guada-

loupe. Thence he proceeded to St. Domingo, and in April

1797 was appointed lieutenant-colonel in the 35th foot. In

1799 lie embarked in the expedition to Holland, and was

wounded in the action of September 19. For his conduct on

this occasion, ho was particularly thanked by tlie duke of

(iloucesfer, then Prince William, to whose brigade he be-

longed.

In February 1800, lie sailed for the Mediterranean, with

flic corps under Genond Pigot. Landing in Minorca, he pro-

ci'cded to the blockade of Malta, at the capture of which

island he was present. He remained there till the peace of

Amiens. On the recommencement of hostilities in 1801, he

rejiiincd his regiment, but in M;iy 1805 was compelled to re-

turn to England, on account of liis private affairs. In Octo-

ber of the same year, he had the brevet of colonel
;
and, in

Feliniary 180G, he joined the army under Sir James Craic.

On the troops landing in Sicily, he was appointed command-
ant of Melazzo. In June the same year he commanded the

advance destined to cover the disembarkation of the troops

under Sir James Stuart in ICufemia Bay; on which occasion

he defeated a considerable body of the enemv, wlio liad at-

tacked his force. He was next appointed to the third bri-

gade of that army, and commanded the same at the battle of

Maida. Two days after tlio Jiction, lie marched with the

same brigade into Lower Calabria, captured about three hun-

dred French prisoners at Monteleone, with all the enemv's

depot, and pushed forward, by forced inarches, to the invest-

ment of Scylla castle, the sicgi^ of which was confided to him.

After a resistance of twenty days, he succeeded in subduing

it. He then returned to Sicily with the army ; and was ap-

pointed, in November, by General Fox, brigadier-general, but

this nomination was cancelled by order of the commander-

in-chief.

In Febniary 1S07 he accompanied the corps under Jlajor-

general Eraser to Egypt ; and was intrusted with the com-

mand of the party selected for assaulting the forts in Alex-

andria, when he stormed and carried the western lines and

forts, taking a consider.able quantity of artillery, and driving

the Turks, who defended them, within the walls. The place

capitulated two days after, and Colonel Oswald proceeded as

second in command in the second (unsuccessful) expedition

against Rosetta. On the return of the troops he was ap-

pointed commandant of Alexandria. When the army with-

drew to Sicily, he was made commandant of Augusta bv Sir

John Moore ; and in June 1808 appointed brigadier-general

on tlie Jlediterranean. In October following he returned to

Melazzo, where he w.as second in command of a large force,

the charge of disciplining which in a great measure devolved

npon him. In 1809 he had the command of the reserve of

the army destined for Naples, .and on the surrender of Proci-

da, was appointed commandant of that place. In September

the s.ame year he commanded the force employed to expel

the enemy from certain of the Ionian islands. Among these,

Zante, Cephalonia, Ithaca, and Cerigo, surrendered to the

troops under his orders. In March 1810 he proceeded against

Santa Maura, with a force amounting to about 2,000 men,

where he Landed on the 23d, and drove the enemv from the

town, and stormed the intrenchment. In addition to his

military duties, he was charged with the whole civil admini-

stration of the different islands. He perfected the orcaniza-

tion of the civil and military local government of each ; esta-

blished an advantageous interccmrse with the neighbouring

Turkish pachas, and by liis firm and equitable sway con-

firmed the favourable prepossessions which the Greeks gener-
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ally entertained towards the British name and control. In

February 1811 General Oswald was appointed colonel of the

Greek light infantiy, a corps he had formed and disciplined

chiefly from the prisoners of that nation. Upon quitting the

Ionian isles, he received from their respective inhabitants ad-

dresses expressive of their sense of the benefits which they

had derived from his administration, with an appropriate gift

from each. In June 1811 he was promoted to the i-ank of

major-general ; and in November of the same year was

placed on the staff of the Western district of England. Dur-

ing that command he succeeded in re-establishing the peace

of Bristol, which had been endangered by the fury of a mob

stimulated to mischief by seditious harangues.

In August following General Oswald was nominated to the

Peninsular staff. Rejoined the army under the marquis of

Wellington, October 22, and accompanied it during the se-

vere cavalry affair of the 23d and 24th. He was placed in

command of the fifth division of the army, vacant in conse-

quence of General Leith being wounded, and took the direc-

tion of the left of the army, at the moment when warmly

engaged, both at Villa Morilla and Palencia. He continued

to conduct that division during the remainder of the arduous

retreat; and after placing it, with little comparative loss, in

cantonments on the Douro, he returned to Britain.

In May 1812 he rejoined the army on taking the field,

when he resumed the command of the fifth division, form-

ing a portion of the left column under the orders of

General Sir Thomas Graham, afterwards Lord Lynedoch.

He directed that division during the masterly march

througli the north of Portugal, and the Spanish pro-

vinces of Z.amora, Leon, and Palencia, till it crossed the

Ebro. At the battle of Vittoria he had the command of all

the troops composing the advance of the left column, with

which he attacked and drove the enemy from the heights.

He held the same command during the blockade of St. Sebas-

tian, until the return of Sir James Leith on the 30th August,

when he continued his services as a volunteer, and accompa-

nied the lieutenant-general to the trenches on the occasion of

the assault. On General Leitli being again wounded, the

command of the fifth division once more devolved upon Gen-

eral Oswald ; but family affaii's soon after obliged him to

return to Britain.

This distinguished officer was twice honoured with his sov-

ereign's gracious acknowledgment of services, in which he

held chief command ; and three times for those in which he

held a subordinate situation. Twice by name he obtained

the thanks of parliament ; and he bore three medals, one for

Maida, one for Vittoria, and one for the siege of St. Sebas-

tian. He was nominated a knight commander of the Bath

at the enlargement of the order in 1815; was advanced to

the grade of Grand Cross, Febniary 25, 182-1, and was in-

vested at Carlton House 9th June following. In July 1818

lie obtained the colonelcy of the rifle brigade. In August

1819 he received the brevet of lieutenant-general, and the

9th October following was removed from the rifle brigade to

the colonelcy of the 35th foot. Sir John Oswald died at

Dunnikeir, June 8, 18-10. He was twice mamed ;
first, in

January 1812, to Charlotte, eldest daughter of the Rev.

Lord Charles Murray-Aynsley, uncle of the duke of Atholl,

and that lady having died, February 22, 1827, he man-led,

secondly, in October 1829, her cousin, Emily Jane, daughter

of Lord Henry Murray, who survived him.

OSWALD, John, a poet and political writer,

wlio published under the assumed name of Si/l-

vester Otway, was a native of Ediiiburgli, wliere

his mother is said to liave liept John's Coffee-

house. He served an apprenticcsliip to a jewel-

ler, and followed that occupation till a relation of

liis died, and left him a considerable legac}'.

With this money he purchased a commission in

the 42d Highlanders. Some accounts saj' that

his father was a goldsmith, that he was brouglit

up to the same business, that he enlisted in the

18th or Royal Irish regiment, and from his good

education was soon made a sergeant, and that

when quartered at Deal, he married a native of

the place, with whom he got a sum of money suf-

ficient to purchase his discharge, as well as to buy

him a commission as an ensign in the 42d, then

engaged in active service in America. La 1780,

when the 2d battalion was raised, he went out as

lieutenant with it to the East Lidies. On the

passage out, he fought a duel with the officer com-

manding the two companies, in the transport, in

which he was not the aggressor. They fired two

rounds at each other, luckily without bloodshed.

His finances not permitting him to join the mess

on board the transport, he lived upon the same

rations that were served out to the soldiers. Af-

ter being in India a short time, he sold his com-

mission, and returned to England, overland, in

1783. On his outward voyage he had obtained a

knowledge of Latin and Greek without the as-

sistance of a master; and during his residence in

India, he made himself acquainted with the Ara-

bic. In politics he was a republican, and in reli-

gion somewhat of an infidel. In London, it is

believed, he supported himself chiefly by his pen.

He wrote both in prose and verse. His poetical

effusions were mostly of an amatory cast, and

some of them received the approbation of Burns.

In his habits, Oswald was very singular, and, in

imitation of the Brahmins, he rigidly abstained

from animal food.

On the breaking out of the first French Revo-

lution, Oswald went to Paris, where, in 1792, he

published a new edition, translated into French,

with considerable additions, of a pamphlet which

he had brought out in Loudon in 178-4, entitled

' Review of the Constitution of Great Britain.'

Tills pamphlet displayed some ability, and as,

from its extreme views, it was quite in accord-
!
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ance with tlie s])int of the times in France, it at

once gained hiui admission into the Jacobin club.

"Witli tliat ferocious body lie soon acquired so

much influence as to be aclvnowled'red tlie fii-st of

j

Anglo-Jacobins, lie took a leading jiart in all

its transactions, and was nominated by the llevo-

liitionary government to the command of a regi-

ij
ment of infantry, raised from the refuse of Paris

1 and the departments. Being joined by his two

sons, on the true principle of equality, he made

them both drummers! His severe system of dis-

cipline made him very unpopular with his men
;

and having attempted to substitute for the mus-

ket in his regiment a pike of superior construction,

to render them fit to make or \\ ithstand a charge,

the soldiers mutinied, and flatly refused to be

trained to its use. Colonel Oswald's corps was

one of the first of those employed against the ro}'-

alists in La Vendee, where he was killed in bat-

tle. It is said that his men took advantage of the

occasion to rid themselves of their obnoxious

commander, and to despatch also his two sons,

and another English gentleman who was serving

In his regiment.

Os\vald's appearance in the French service ex-

cited some attention in this countrj^ at the time,

and it is a renmrkable fact that an attempt was

made to prove his identity with Bonaparte. Ilis

countryman, Dr. '\\'illiam Thomson, then a well-

known author in London, had prepared a work in

which he seriously endeavoured to prove that the

first consul's real name was John Oswald, the son

of a goldsmith in Edinburgh. Oswald, he argu-

ed, was a man of enterprize and courage, and a

great admii-er of Ossian's poems, and so was Bo-

naparte. Having read his manuscript to a fi'iend

of his, that gentleman happened to dine that very

day with the Corsican general Paoli, then an e.x-

j{
ile in London, to whom he related the circum-

j!
stance, when the latter mentioned tliat he not

' only knew Bonajtarte's early history, but had ac-

tually held him n]i at the baptismal forit. This

of course prevented the publication of Dr. Thom-

son's absui'd speculation.

Oswald's works are :

Keview of the Coiistilntiim of Gl•c.^t Britain. Lon Jon, 17S4.

3d edition, with considerable additions. Paris, 1792, 8vo.

' Ranne Comicx Kvangelizantcs ; or the Comic Frogs turned

ilethodists. 178G, 8vo.

The Manning Progress of French Politics; a Pamphlet on
tlie Commercial Treaty. 1787.

The British Mercury; a periodical publication. 1787.

Kuplirosyne; an Ode to Beauty. London, 1788, 4to.

Poems; to which is added, The Humours of John Bull, an

Operatical Farce; in two acts. London, 1789, 12mo. This

and the preceding appeared under the pseudonym of Sylvester

Otway.

The Cry of Nature ; or .an Appeal to Jlercy and Justice,

on belialf of the Persecuted Animals. London, 1791, 12mo.

O.VFUKD, Viscount of, a title (dormant) in the peerage of

Scotland, conferred, in IGtil, with the secondary title of

liaron Makgill of Cousland, on Sir James Makgill of Cran-

ston-Riddell, great-grandson of Sir James Jlakgili, who was

provo.st of Edinburgh in the reign of James V., and was one

of the tirst wlio embraced the Reformation in Scotland. He
was descended from a family of the same name in Galloway,

and had two sons. The elder, Sir Jaiucs Makgill, pnrcliased

the estate of Netlier Rankeillour, in tlie parish of Collcssie,

Fifeshire. He was educated at Edinburgh, for the law. In

June 1554, he was appointed clerk-register, and on the 20th

August following, an ordinary lord of session, when he took

his seat on the bench as Lord Rankeillour. He was repeat-

edly employed in settling disputes on the borders, and in

1559 was one of the commissioners who concluded the treaty

of Upsettlington. The same year he joined the Reformers,

and was in familiar friendship with Kno.x. After the return

of Queen Mary from France in 15G1, he was sworn a mem-
ber of her council, and was one of those to whom the modifi-

cation of the stipends for the reformed clergy was intiiisted.

In 15G3 he was one of a parliamentary commission api)ointed

for visiting the universities. In loGG, for being implicated

in the murder of Rizzio, he was deprived of the office of clerk-

register, forced to fly from I'dinburgli, and conceal himself in

the Highlands. He was soon afterwards, however, pardoned,

but ordered to remain north of the Tay. By the favour of

the regent Moray, he was restored to the office of clerk-

register in December 15G7. The following year he wis one

of the commissioners chosen to attend the regent to York, to

manage the accusation against Queen Maiy, and was sent by

him to London, with ALaitland, younger of Lethington, not

so much to assist the hitter, as to watch liis proceedings, as

he was known to incline to the cause of Queen JIary. In

1571 and 1572, he was employed as ambassador to the court

of Queen Elizabeth. He appears to have suffered considera-

bly in the civil war wliich raged in Scotland at this time, as

on the night of April 28th, 1571, a party of the queen's par-

tisans entered liis Iiouse in Edinburgh, and on his wife de-

manding what tliey wanted, she was killed by a stroke from

one of them. (^Caldenvood, vol. iii. p. 70.) His house is said

to have been pulled down by the same party, and sold for tire-

wood. In the following month, "thre cofferis of Mr. James

M'Gillis going out of Leyth to Pinkie, estemed worth 1,000

lile," were taken by tlie queen's party. (Hist, of Senators of

CoUer/e of Jusilcc, p. 90.) He had either acquired tlie bar-

ony of Pinkie near Musselburgh, or resided there for gi'cater

security. In 1578 he and George Buchanan were chosen

extraordinary members of the king's council. He died in

1579. From him descended the XLakgills of Rankeillour.

The viscounts of Oxfurd descended from David Makgill,

the younger brother of Sir James Makgill of Nether Ran-

keillour. He was styled of Nisbet and Cranston-Riddell. Ap-

pointed a lord of ses.sion, 27th June 1582, he took the title

of Lord Cranston-Riddell, and tlie same year he became lord

advocate. Tliis last office he held till 1589. He died before
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12tli Mareli 1504. His son, David Makgiil, was also a lord

of session, appointed 2oth Jlay lo97, and died in 1G07.

Tliis centleman's eldest son, David Makgill of Cranston-

Riddell, died witliout male issue, loth May 1G19.

His brother, Sir James Mak^ill, succeeded him in his es-

tates, and was the first Viscount Oxfurd. He was created a

baronet in 1627, appointed a lord of session, 3d November

1629, and constituted one of the commissioners of exche-

quer, 1st February lG-15. He was elevated to the peerage,

by the title of viscount of Oxfurd, and Lord Makgill of Cous-

land, by patent, dated 19th April 1651, to him and his heirs

male of entail and provision whatsoever. He died 5th Jlay

1663.

His son, Robert, second viscount, died 8th December 1706,

aged about 58. He was twice married, but had issue only

by his first wife, Lady Henriet Livingston, only daughter

of the third earl of Linlithgow, namely, a son, the Hon.

Colonel Thomas Makgill, who died without issue, in Septem-

ber 1701, and three daughters. The eldest daughter, the

Hon. Christian JIakgill, married the Hon. William Mait-

land, a younger son of the third earl of Lauderdale, and died

in 1707, in her 30th year, leaving a son, Robert, who assum-

ing the title of viscount of Oxfurd, voted as such at an elec-

tion of a representative peer, 21st September 1733. In 1734,

.Tames Makgill of Nether RankeiUour, the sixth in descent

from Sir James, Lord RankeiUour, claimed the title. His

claim was referred to the lords' committee of privileges, but

was by them refused, on the ground that although he had

proved liis being heir male whatsoever, he did not possess

the other requisites in the patent, that of heir of entail and

of provision. The title, therefore, has remained dormant

since the death of the second viscount in 1706. On the death

of her nephew, Robert Makgill, above mentioned, in 1755,

the Hon. Henriet Makgill, youngest daughter of the second

viscount and wife of James Hamilton, younger of Orbistonn,

assumed the title of viscountess of Oxfurd. She died 11th

October 1758, without issue.

James JIakgill, the claimant, having died without issue,

he was succeeded in Nether RankeiUour, and his other es-

tates, by his sister, Isabella Makgill, who married the Rev.

William Dick, one of the ministers of Cupar. Their daugh-

ter, JLargaret, heiress of Nether RankeiUour and Lindnres,

man'ied the Hon. Frederick Lewis JIaitland, sixth son of the

sixth earl of Lauderdale, a captain R.N. Their eldest son,

Colonel Charles JIaitland, when captain in the 17th light

dragoons, was aide-de-camp to his cousin, JIajor-general

Thomas Dund.as, in the West Indies, in 1794. He was suc-

ceeded, in 1827. by his eldest surviving son, David Mait-

land Makgill, Esq. of RankeiUour, who, in .Tune 1839, was

served heir of line in general to the first viscount of Fren-

draught, (see vol. i. p. 727.) when he assumed the additional

name of Crichton, his ancestor. Sir James Makgill of Ran-

keiUour, having married in 1GC5, the Hon. Janet Crichton,

only daughter of the first Viscount Frendrauglit. Mr. Da-

vid JIaitland Makgill Crichton of RankeiUour, who distin-

guished himself by his support of the Free church of Scot-

land, died 11th .Tuly 1851, leaving issue.

P

j

PAN'MUltE, Karl of, a title (attainted) in the peerage of

I Scotland, conferred od August 1640, with the secondary title

I of Baron Maule of Ilrechin and Navar, on Patrick JIaule of

! P.anmure, (see p. 122 of this volume, article Maulk). He
' was a faithful adherent of Charles L, and attended that un-

fortunate monarch in his imprisonment at Holdenby am\

I Carisbi-ook, till compelled to leave hiin by the orders of par-

li.iment. Rv Cromwell he was, in 1054, fined in the exorbi-

tant sum of X'10,000 sterling, iind £2,500 on .account of his

vounger son, Henry, who had the conmiand of a regiment in

the duke of Hamilton's army, raised for the rescue of the

king in 1648, and who, at the battle of Dunbar in 1650, also

commanded a regiment. The earl's fine was mitigated to

£4,000, and that for his son, Henry, to £1,000. His lord-

ship died 22d December, 1661.

His elder son, George, second earl, when Lord Maule,

fought at the head of the Forfarshire regiment of horse, of

which he was colonel, at the battle of Dunbar, 3d September

1650, and also at an engagement with the English at Inver-

keithing, 20th July following, when he was wounded. Alter

the defeat of the royalists at Worcester, many of them re-

paired to Lord JIaule, but, finding that he could be of no fur-

ther service to the king's cause, he made bis peace with Gen-

eral Monk in 1052. The second earl of Panmure died at

Edinburgh 24th March 1671. Ry his countess. Lady .lean

Campbell, eldest daughter of John, earl of Loudoun, high-

1 ch.ancellor of Scotland, he had nine children, of whom four

i

sons and one daughter died young.

The eldest surviving son, George, third earl, was a privy

councillor to Charles 11. and James VI L, and died 1st Feb-

ruary 1686. He had a son, George, Lord JIaule, who prede-

ceased him. The third earl's brother, the Hon. .T.anies JIaule

of Ballumby, succeeded him as fourth earl. In his youth, he

served as .a volunteer at the siege of Lu.\embourg. He was

a privy councillor to James VII., but was removed for op-

posing the abrogation of the penal laws against popeiy. At
the convention of estates in Jlarch 1689, he vigorously sup-

ported the interest of the abdicated monarch. When the

crown was settled on King William and Queen JIary, the

earl of Pannmre, with his brother, the Hon. Harry JIaule of

Kelly, who was also a member of the con\'ention, left the

meeting, and never appeared again in the parliament of Scot-

land. When the rebellion of 1715 broke out, the earl and

his brother joined the standard of the Pretender, and the for-

mer proclaimed .Tames VIII. at Brechin. At the battle of

Sberiftmuir, his lordship commanded a battalion of foot, and

was taken prisoner, but rescued by bis brother. He after-

wards took refuge in France, and was attainted by .act of

parliament. The yearly rental of his estates was £3,456

sterling, the largest of the confiscated properties, and though

the government twice oll'ered to restore them, if he would re-

turn rmd take the oath of allegiance to the house of Hanover,
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he rpiTiained firm in liis attaclirnuiit to tlie Stuart family.

In 1717, an .ict of parliament was passed, to enable Kinj;

George to m.ilce such a provision to his countess, I.ady JIary

Hamilton, third d.aughter of William and Anne, duke and

duchess of Hamilton, as she would have been entitled to had

lier husband been dead. His lordship died at Paris, llth

April 1''23, in his G-ltli year, without issue.

His brother, Jlr. Maule of Kelly, after the Revolution lived

in a retired manner till the rebellion of 1715, and spent much

of his time in the study of the laws, history, and antiquities

of his native country. He died at Kdiuburs^li in 1734. He
was twice married. I?y his first wife, I.ady Mary Fleming,

only daughter of the first earl of Wigton, he had, with other

issue, a son, William, carl of I'anmure in the Irish peerage,

of whom afterwards; .ind :i daughter, .Jean, married, first, to

George, Lord Ramsay, eldest sou of the sixth earl of Dalho\i-

sie. I'y his second wife, .\nne, daughter of the Hon. Patrick

Lindsay Crawford of Kilbirnie, he had, with other issue,

.John Maule of Inverkeillour, one of the barons of the court

of exchequer in Scotland, who died, unmarried, in 1781.

William Maule, above mentioned, was, on Cth April 17-1",

created a peer of Ireland, by the titles of earl of Paninure of

Forth, and Viscount Maule of Whitecliurch. This nobleman

purch.ased in 17C'l: the forfeited Pammu'c estates from the

York Buildings Company, for £19,157 18s. 4d. He had

early entered the army, and served several campaigns in

Flanders. He was at the battles of Dettingen and Fontenoy,

.and in 1770 attained the rank of general. He died at Edin-

burgh 1st J.nnuary 1782, aged 82. As his titles were limited

to the heirs male of his body, and those of his brother of the

half-blood, John Maule of Inverkeillour, who predeceased

him, without issue, they became e.\tinct at his death.

P.\NMUUE, P>aron, of Brechin and Xavar, a title in the

peerage of the United Kingdom, cop.fi'rred, 9th September

1831, on the Hon. William Maule, formerly Ramsay, second

son of the eighth earl of Dalhousie, (see Dai-HOI'SIK, vol. ii.

p. 3,) and grandson of George, Lord Ramsay and Jean JLauIe,

daughter of the Hon. Harry Maule of Kelly. He was bom
27th October 1771. His granduncle, William earl of Pan-

mure, in the Irish peerage, had, in 1775, executed an entail

of his estates, which form the largest landed property in For-

farshire, in favour of his nepliew, George, earl of Dalhousie,

in liferent, and his second and other sons in fee. This set-

tlement was .attempted to he set aside by Thomas Jl.aule,

lieutenant of invalids, heir male of the Panmure family,

grandson of Henry Maule, bishop of Meath ; but the court of

session, on 1st March 1782, determined in favour of the earl

of Dalhousie, except as to certain long leases of Panmure .and

Brechin Parks, which were found to belong to Lieutenant

Maule. On the death of the earl of Dalhousie, 4th Novem-

ber 1787, tlie estates devolved on his second son, the Hon.

William Ramsay, then IG years of age, who thereupon as-

.iumed the name and arms of ^Lu^Ie. In 1789 lie entered

the army as a comet in the llth dragoons, and afterwards

raised an independent company of foot, which was disbanded

in 1791. At the general election in 179G, he was elected

JLP. for Forfarshire. The politics of his family were ton.-,

hut he came forward on the whig interest, to which he firm-

ly adhered during his long life. He was rechoscn at all the

subsequent elections, till 9th September 1831, when he was

raised to the peerage. His lordship died at Brechin castle,

April 13, 1852. He was twice married: 1st, in 1794, to P.a-

tricia Heron, daughter of Gilbert Gordon, Dsq. of Ilalleaths;

and, 2dly, in 1822, (bis first wife having died in 1821,) to

Miss lilizabeth Barton. By tlie bitter be had no i>sue, but

by the former he bad, with 5 daughters, 3 sons, viz. 1. Fox,

2d Baron Panmure, and llth K.arl of Dalhousie. 2. Hon.

Lauderdale Maule, lieut.-colonel 7yth Highlanders, who died

at Varna, Aug. 1, 1854; and 3. Hon. William Maule, born in

1809, died Feb. 17, 1859. He married in 1844, Elizidieth,

daughter of Thomas Binny, Esq. of JIaulesden and Fearn

;

issue, 2 sons, who died in childhood, and 4 daughters.

In iin obituaiy notice of the lirst Lord Panmure, it is stat-

ed that " lie was emphatically a remarkable man. Endowed

with much natural shrewdness, he neglected the cultivation

of liis talents; but of an energetic and fearless character, he

drew attention to himself by bis systematic defiance of con-

ventional decorums. His public career was marked by con-

sistent devotion to popular liberty, and mutual tolerance, and

by benevolence r.ire both in its extent and its intensity.

-Mike unmeasured in his loves and hatreds, he was devotedly

and tenderly attached to those who did not thw.art him, im-

placable to those wdio did; liberal and humane to all who
only came in contact with Iiim in the abstractions of public life,

he was a despot to those who stood in more intimate rela-

tions to him. Kind, liberal, tolerant, so long .as nothing

touched him personally, he was fierce and unrelenting as

soon as his self-will was opposed." 'With his eldest son and

some other members of his family he was long at variance.

His munificence and liberality were shown in bestowing a

pension on the widow of Fox, whose principles he had adopt-
|

cd and maintained steadfastly to the last, and after whom he

named his eldest son, and also in conferring an annuity of

£50 on the widow of Robert Burns, which was continued till

the poet's family assured him that it was no longer needed.

In 1838, he enlarged the building of the Public schools of

Brechin, and erected a hall, with library, &c., fur the Me-
chanics' Institution, at his own expense, and in 1841, he

gifted the whole in perpetuity to the town council of that

town. In 1830 his tenantry erected a handsome column,

105 feet high, in honour of his lordship, as a lasting memo-

rial of their respect for him as their landlord. It is called

the Panmure or ' Live and Let Live' testimonial, and stands

on the highest part of the Downie hills, Forfarshire, com-

manding a view of large portions of seven counties.

The eldest son, long known as the Hon. Fox M.aule, be-

came second Lord Panmure. Born 22d April 1801, he was

educated at the Cliarter-lionse, and when young entered the

.army as .an ensign in the 79tli Highlanders. He served for

sevcr.al years in Canada, on the staff of his uncle, the earl of

Dalhousie, and retired from the army in 1831. with the rank

of captain. He entered ]iarlianient in 1835 as member for

Perthshire, and in .April of that ye.ar was appointed under

secretary of state for the home department, in Viscount Mel-

bourne's administration. Ilejecteii in 1837 for Perthshire, in

the following year he was chosen for the Elgin district of

burghs, and in 1841 was returned for Perth. In .lune of the

latter vear he was appointed vice-president of the board of

trade, .and sworn a privy councillor, but only held the fiinuer

office till the following September. In November 1842 he

was elected lord-rector of the university of Glasgow, and in

July 184G, on the restoration of the whigs to power, he he-

came a cabinet uiini.ster, and w.as constituted secretarj' at

war. In 1849 he was appointed lord-lieutenant of Forfar-

shire. He continued secretary at war till 1852, when the

expiration of the ICast India Company's charter rendering it

necessary to have a minister of infinence to direct the affairs

of India, he was promoted to the presidency of the board of
|

control. Soon afterwards he succeeded his father .as Lord I

Panmure. In May 1853, the oflice of keeper of the privv

se.al of Scotland, to which no .salary is attached, vacant by
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the death of Lord Melville, was conferred upon him. Under

the Aberdeen coalition ministry he held no office, hut when

Lord Palmerston became prime minister in 1854, he accepted

the office of minister of war. Li 1853 he was created a

knight of tlie Tliistle, and in 1855 was decorated with the

order of the Bath. On the death of his cousin, James Andrew

Ramsay, 10th earl and 1st marquis of Dalhousie, without

male issue, Dec. 19, 1860, he succeeded to the earldom of

Dalhousie in tlie Scottish peerage ; the marqulsate, a cre-

ation of the United Kingdom, became extinct. In 1861 he

resumed the family surname of Ramsay after that of Maule.

He married in 1831, Montagu, eldest daughter of George, 2d

Lord Abercromliy. Slie died, without issue, Nov. 11, 1853.

PANTHER, or Paxiter, David, a statesman

and prelate of the 16tli century, belonged to an

ancient family in Forfarshire. He was first prior of

St. Mary's Isle, in Galloway, and afterwards vicar

of tlie church of Carstairs, in the diocese of Glas-

gow, and commeudator of the abbej^ of Cambus-

kenneth. For some time previous to 1545, he was

principal secretary of state and a privy councillor.

In that year he was elected bishop of Ross, but'

not then consecrated, being at that time ambassa-

dor from Scotland at the court of France, where he

resided for 7 years, and during all that period he

regidarly received the revenues of the see. On

his return he was consecrated bishop at Jedburgh.

At the request of the king of France he induced

the earl of Arran to resign the regency into the

hands of the queen dowager, and as a reward for

this service, the French monarch conferred on him

an abbey in Poitou. He was one of the commis-

sioners sent from the Scottish parliament to Eng-

land, in 1550, to conclude a peace with that

country. Wlien Queen Mary was married to the

dauphin. Panther and several other eminent men

went over to Paris to be witnesses of the royal

nuptials. This prelate, who is represented as

having been a man of the most immoral habits,

died at Stirling, October 1, 1558. Calderwood

(vol. i. p. 332) says that " he departed eating and

drinking, which, together with the rest that there-

upon depended, Avas the pastime of his life."

Shortly before his death, he advised the popish

clergy against entering into disputations with the

reformed ministers. In Calderwood's ' Historic,'

(vol. i. p. 414,) it is stated tliat "Mr. David Pan-

ter, then lying at Restalrig, dissuaded them, af-

firming that, if ever they disputed but where

themselves were both judge and party, and where

fire and sword sliould obey their decree, tliat then

their cause was marred for ever : for their victory

stood, neither in God nor his word ; but in their

own wills, and things concluded by their owne

councels, ' whereto,' said he, ' these fellowes will

give no place, but will call you to your compt-

booke, that is, to the Bible, and by it ye will not

be found the men that ye are called. Therefore,

if ye love yourselves, enter never in disputation

with them, nor call the matter in question, but

defend yourselves, or else all is lost.'

"

Panther's otficial letters, written in elegant Latin,

were published hy Ruddiman, in two volumes, in

1722-24. The whole of the second volume was

composed by him, the first being the production

of his uncle, Patrick Panther, D.D., professor of

divinity in the university of St. Andrews, and au-

thor of a Latin poem, entitled 'Valliados,' in

praise of the heroic exploits of Sir William Wallace.

PARK, MuNGO, an enterprising traveller, the

third son and seventh child of a respectable farm-

er, was born at Fowlshiels, a farm on the estate of

the duke of Buccleuch, near Selkirk, September

10, 1771. He received the rudiments of his edu-

cation in his father's family, and was afterwards

sent to the grammar school of Selkirk, where he

distinguished himself b}' his application and profi-

ciencj'. He was originally intended for tlie church,

but, preferring the medical profession, he was, at

the age of fifteen, apprenticed to ]\Ir. Thomas An-

derson, a respectable surgeon in Selkirk, with

whom he resided three years. In 1789 he re-

moved to the university of Edinburgh, where for

three successive sessions lie attended the custom-

ary medical classes. His favourite study at this

time was the science of botany, to prosecute his

researches in which he made a tour through the

Highlands with his brother-in-law, Mr. James

Dickson, who had settled in London as a nurserj'-

man and seedsman. On leaving college, Park re-

paired to London, and was introduced by Mr.

Dickson to Sir Joseph Banks, by whose recom-

mendation he obtained the appointment of assist-

ant-surgeon to the AVorcester, East Indiaman.

In February 1792 he sailed for Bencoolen, in the

island of Sumatra, where he collected a variety of

specimens in natural history. He returned the

following year, and, November 4, 1794, he com-

municated to the Linnasan Society a paper con-
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taining a description of eiglit new species of fislies

fi'om tlie waters of Sumatra, wliicli was printed in

tlie third volume of tlieir Transactions. Soon af-

ter, at tlie suggestion of Sir Joseph Banks, he

offered his services to the African Association,

and engaged to go out on an expedition to the in-

terior of Africa, for the purpose of exploring the

source of the Niger. He sailed from Portsmouth,

May 22, 1795, on board the Endeavour, an Afri-

can trader, and reached Pisania, a Britisli factory,

about 200 miles up the Gambia, July .'>. Here

he remained five months, learning the Mandingo

language, and collecting information as to the

liabits and customs of the countries in his route.

He left Pisania on the 2d of the ensuing Decem-

ber, and reached Yarra, a frontier town of Luda-

niar, then governed by the chief of a predatory

horde of nomade jMoors, February 18, 179G. Aii,

the Moorish chief, detained him a captive till July

1, when he made his escape. At this time he had

been deprived by the Moors of every thing but a

horse, with its accoutrements, a few articles of

clothing, and a pocket-compass, which he iiad

saved by concealing it in the sand. Undismayed

by the hardships and dangers which surrounded

him, he travelled on to the Joliba, or Niger, which

he reached at Sego, after a journey of fifteen days.

He explored the stream downwards to Silla, and

upwards to Bammakoe, then crossed a mountain-

ous country to Kamalia, a Mandingo town, which

he reached September 16. Here, five hundred

miles from the nearest European settlement, his

liealtli at length gave way, and for upwards of a

month his strength and energies were entirely

prostrated by a fever. After his recovery he was

detained in the same place five months more be-

fore he obtained the means of Journeying to the

coast. At last, on June 10, 1797, he returned to

Pisania, and was received by the British resi-

dents there "as one restored from the dead."

After an absence from England of two years

and seven months, Mr. Park arrived at Falmouth,

December 22, 1797, and reached London on

the morning of the 25th. An Abstract of his

Expedition, drawn up b}' I\Ir. Bryan Edwards,

secretary to the African .Association, from mate-

rials furnished by Mr. Park, was immediately

printed for the use of the members. In June
111.

1798 Mr. Park went to reside at his mother's

house at FoM'lshiels, \\ iiere he spent the summer

and autumn in preparing liis volume of Travels.

His simple but interesting narrative was publish-

ed in 1709, with an Ajipendix, containing Geo-

graphical Illustrations of Africa, by Major Ken-

nell
;
and, on its appearance, it was received with

uncommon avidity, and has ever since continued

a standard work.

Having resolved to settle in Scotland, Mr. Park

married, August 2, 1799, a daughter of ilr. An-

derson of Selkirk, with wliom he had served his

apprenticeship. In October 1801 he commenced

practising at Peebles as a surgeon. In tlie au-

tumn of 1803 a proposal was made to him by

Government, to undertake a second expedition to

.\frica
;
and, in December of that year, he quitted

Scotland for London. Owing to changes in the

ministry, however, and other unavoidable causes,

the expedition was delayed till January 30, 1805,

when, every thing being arranged, he once more

left the shores of England for the deadly and in-

hospitable regions of Central Africa. He was

empowered to enlist at Goree any number of the

garrison under forty-five, and to draw for an)'

sum not exceeding .£5,000. From Goree he was

directed to proceed up the river Gambia, and

thence, crossing over to the Senegal, to travel by

such routes as he should find most eligible to the

banks of the Niger. In his first journey he had

traced its easterly course, but lie had not been

able to follow it down to its mouth. His object

now was to cross the country from the western

coast, enter Bambara, construct two boats, and,

embarking on the river, endeavour to reach the

ocean.

On March 28 Mr. Park arrived at Goree, from

whence he proceeded to Kayee, a small town on

the Gambia, a little below Pisania, where he en-

gaged a Mandingo priest named Isaaco, who was

also a travelling merchant, to be his guide. Here

he remained for some days arranging matters for

the expedition, and here commences Mr. Park's

interesting Journal of his last mission, which in-

cludes regular memoranda of his progress and ad-

ventures to November IG of the same year. On

the morning of April 27 the expedition set out

from Kayee. It coiisi>ted of I\Ir. Park himself,

S



witli tlie brevet cominission of a captain in Africa,

liis brother-in-law, Mr. Alexander Anderson, sur-

geon, with a similar commission of lieutenant, and

Mr. George Scott, draughtsman, five artificers

from tlie Roj'al dock-yards, Isaaco the guide, and

Lieutenant Martyn and thirty-five men of the

Royal African corps, as tlieir niilitarj' escort. In

two days they arrived at Pisania, which they

quitted on May 4, and on the 11th reached Me-

dina, the capital of the kingdom of Woolli. On

the 15t]i they arrived at Kussai, on the banks of

tlie Gambia, and about tliis time one of tlie sol-

diers died of epilepsy.

Park's hopes of completing the objects of his

mission in safety depended entirely on his reach-

ing the Niger before the commencement of the

rain}' season, the effects of which are always fatal

to Europeans. The half of his journej', however,

had not been finished when the wet season set in,

and, in a few days, twelve of tlie men were seri-

ously ill, and others were soon affected in a great-

er or less degree by tlie climate. On the morning

of June 13, when they departed from Dindikoo,

tlie sick occupied all the horses and spare asses,

and by the 15th some were delirious. On the

18th tliey arrived at Toiiiba, from whence they

ascended the mountains south of that place
;
and,

having attained the summit of the ridge which

separates the Niger from the remote branches of

the Senegal, Mr. Park had the satisfaction of

once more seeing the Niger rolling its immense

stream along the plains. But this jjlcasure was

attended with the mortifying reflection, that, of

the party that had set out with him from the

coast, there survived only six soldiers and one

carpenter, with Lieutenant jMaityn, ilr. Ander-

son and the guide. Mr. Scott, the draughtsman,

who had been left behind at Koomikoomi, on ac-

count of sickness, died M'ithout reaching the Ni-

ger. On August 21 Jlr. Park and the few sur-

vivors embarked in a canoe, and on the 23d they

arrived at Maraboo. Isaaco was immediately de-

spatched to Sego, the capital of Bambarra, to ne-

gotiate with Mansong, the sovereign, for permis-

sion and materials to build a boat for the purpose

of proceeding down the Niger. Whilst waiting

for his return Mr. Park was seized with a severe

attack of dysentery, but, by the aid of medi-

cine and a good constitution, he soon recovered,
i

After manj' dela3's, INIansong sent a messenger
j

to conduct the traveller towards Sego. The king
!

and his chiefs were much gratified by the presents I

whicli they received from Mr. Park, who, on Sep-
|

tember 26, proceeded to Sansanding. It was with :

difficulty, however, that he procured from Man-
|

song, in return for his presents, two old canoes,
j

wherewith he constructed, with his own hands,
|

and some assistance from one of the surviving
j

soldiers, a flat-bottomed boat, to which he gave
!

the title of his majesty's schooner, the Joliba. In
'

the meantime he was informed of the death of Mr.
j

Scott, and he uow had to lament the loss of liis

friend Mr. Anderson, who died, after a lingering

illness, October 26. On November 16 every
|

thing was ready for the voyage, and, during tlie
j

succeeding days, previous to his embarkation,
|

which was on the 19th, Mr. Park wrote several
j

letters to his friends in Great Britain, with which
j

Isaaco the guide was sent back to the British set- I

tlements on the Gambia.
j

Some time elapsed without an\- farther intelli- i

gencc being received of Mv. Park and his com-

panions ; but in the course of 1806 various unfa-

vourable reports became current regarding their

fate. Information was brought down to the coast

by the native traders from the interior of Africa,

to the effect that iMr. Park and those with him

had been killed during their progress down the

river. Lieutenant-general Maxwell, the gover-
j

nor of Senegal, in consequence, engaged Isaaco,

Mr. Park's former guide, to proceed to the Niger,

to ascertain the truth of these rumours, and in

January 1810 he left Senegal on this mission. He

returned on September 1, 1811, bringing a full

coulirmation of the reports of jMr. Park's death

;

and delivered to the governor a Journal from

Amadi Fatouma, the guide who had accompanied

Park from Sansanding down tlie Niger, which,

after being translated from Arabic into English,

was transmitted bv him to the secretary of state

for the colonial department. From the information

procured by Isaaco, it appeared that the expedi-

tion proceeded from Sansanding to Silla, whence

Mr. Park, Lieut. Martyn, three other white men,

three slaves, and Amadi, as guide and interpreter,

nine in number, sai'eil do« ii the Niger ; and in
/
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the course of tlicir voyage were j'cpeatcdly at-

lacked by tlie natives, -wliom tliey as often re-

pulsed with much slauglitcr. At leugtli Iiaving

passed Kaffo and Gournion, and supplied them-

selves \\ ith provisions, they entered the country

of Ilaoussa. Park had delivered some presents

to the chief of Yaouri, a village in this district, to

be transmitted to the king, ^\iio lived at a little

distance. The chief, having learned that Park

was not to return, treacherously appropriated

them to himself, and sent a message to the king

that the white man had departed without giving

them any presents. At Yaouri, Amadi's engage-

ment Avith Park terminated, and on going to pay

his respects to the king he was put in prison, and

an armed force was sent to a village called Bous-

sa, near the river side, to intercept Park's pro-

gress. This force was posted on the top of a rock,

which stretches across the wliole breadth of the

river, and in \vliich there is a large cleft or open-

ing through which the water flowed in a strong

current. "When IMr. Park arrived at this opening,

and attempted to pass, he was attacked by the

jnitivcs with lances, jiikes, arrows, and stones.

For some time he resolutely defended himself;

but at length, o^erpowcled by numbers and fa-

tigue, and unable to keep the canoe against the

current, he laid hold of one of the white men and

jumped into the watei-. Lieutenant ^Nfartyn did

the same, and they were drowned in tlie stream

in attempting to escape. One slave was left, and

they took him and the ranoe, and carried them to

the king. After having been kept in jirison for

three months, Amadi was released ; and obtained

information from the surviving slave, concerning

the manner in M hich IMr. Park and his compan-

ions had (lied. Xothing was left in the canoe but

a sword belt, of A\ hich the king had made a girth

for his horse, and this belt Isaaco afterwards re-

covered. Captain Clapperton in his second Ex-

jiedition received accounts confirming this state-

ment, and visited the spot where the travellers

perished. He was likewise told that the chief of

Yaouri had some of Park's ])apei'S, Avhicli he was

willing to pive up to him, if he would go to see

him. The Lar.ders also visited the ]ilace, and

were shown bv the chief one of Park's books,

Avhich had fdhm into his hands.

The portrait of Mungo Park is subjoined

:

]\Ir. Park's death is supposed to have taken

place about four months after his departure from

Sansanding. Of his enterprising spirit, indefati-

gable vigilance, calm fortitude, and nnsliaken per-

severance, he has loft permanent memorials in the

Narrative of his Travels, and in his Journal and

Correspondence, published in 1815, with his Life

prefixed by l\lv. AVishaw. His widow, who was

left with three children, died in February 1840.

PAE.K, Patkic, a sculptor of considerable ge-

nius, the sou of Matthew Park, an eminent build-

er in Glasgow, who erected the new ]iart of Ham-

ilton palace, was born in Glasgow in 1808. He

earl}^ evinced a decided taste lor art. and studied

at Rome for some years, as a pupil ofThorwald-

sen. In 1S.3-L he settled in London, and was

mucli engaged in bust sculpture. At different

periods he had a studio in Glasgow and Edin-

burgh, and latterly at Manchester. Li 1851 he

was elected an associate of the lloyal Scottish

Academy of Painting, Scidpture, an<l Architec-

ture, and \\as afterwards clioseu an academi-

cian. He excelled principally in busts, and those

of many eminent personages of his time were ex-

ecuted by him, among whom may be mentioned
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Thomas Campbell the poet, aud General Sir

Charles Napier. His fine bust of Napoleon III.

was remarkable for its faithful likeness and beauty

as a work of art. So also are Lis busts of tlie Duke

of Cambridge and Mr. Layard, M.P. Anotlier of

his master-pieces Is the " Scottish Lassie," a beau-

tiful head of a female in marble, an idealized

likeness of his wife, belonging to the Royal

Scottish Academy, which is placed in the Na-

tional Gallery of Scotland at Edinburgh. His

genius was peculiarly fitted for largo open-air

statues, but he was never employed in this the

highest brancli of the art. Perhaps his eccentric

character and independent disposition interfered

to prevent his being engaged in what was all his

life the object of liis great desire. Pie wrote well

ou Sculptural subjects, and in 1846, printed at

Glasgow, fur private circulation, A Letter to

Archibald Alison, Esq., LL.D., sheriff of Lanark-

shire, ' On the Use of Drapery in Portrait Sculp-

ture.' lie died at Warrington, Aug. 16, 1855.

He had gone from Manchester to give a gentle-

man wliose bust he was taking a sitting, and on

his return to the station at Warrington, lie per-

ceived a porter endeavouring to carry a heavy

trunk. Rushing forward to his assistance, in the

attempt to lift it, the weight of the box caused

him to burst a blood vessel. In the 28th Annual

Report of the Royal Scottish Academj^, dated Nov.

14 of that year, the Council thus alludes to his

merits and decease:

" A vacancy lias occurred in tlie list of academicians, by tlie

premature and lamented death of their highly talented bro-

ther academician, Patric Park, Esq., sculptor, an event which

occurred suddenly at Warrington, on the IGth August last.

Mr. Park had, at the time of his decease, only attained the

age of forty-fuur years, and being an enthusiastic student

and lover of his profession, his works, especially his portrait

^>usts—long distinguished by some of the highest qualities of

liis noble art, seemed every succeeding year to gain in

strength and refinement, so that, had life been spared, many
works of still higher excellence might have been looked for

from his prolific studio. The Academy exhibitions, for a

long series of years past, and none of them more strikingly

than that of 1855, when his fine bust of the Emperor of the

French occupied a place of honour, sufficiently attest the

justice of this brief eulogiu[ii of the council, and justify their

sorrow that, in the death of Patric Park, the Academy has

lost one of its most talented members, and the department

of sculpture, in which he more peculiarlv excelled, one of its

most eminent professors."

He married a daughter of Robert Carrutliers,

Esq., Inverness, aud had 4 sons and a daugliter.

Pasley, the surname of a Dumfries-shire family, several

members of wliicli h-ive distinguished themselves in the ser-

vice of their countiy. James Pasley, Esq. of Craig and

Burn, near Langholm, who died April 13, 1773, at the age

of 78, left six sons and four daughters. His wife was ilag-

dalene, daughter of Robert Elliot, Esq. of Jliddleniiln, Rox-

burghshire, and grand-daughter of Sir Gilbert Elliot of

Stobs, baronet.

The fifth son, Admiral Sir Thomas Pasley, bom JIarch 2,

1734, commanded a division of the fleet under Earl Howe, in

the memorable defeat of the French fleet, June I, 1794, and

greatly distinguished himself. For his gallant conduct on

the occasion, he was created a baronet of the United King-

dom, Sept. 1, of that year, with remainder, having no sons,

to the heirs male of his daughters successively. He married

JIary, daughter of Tliomas Heywood, Esq., of the Kunnery,

Isle of Man, one of His Majesty's deemsters for that island,

and had two daughters, the elder of whom, Maria, married,

in 1800, John Sabine, Esq., of the grenadier guards, and had

an only son, who succeeded his grandfather. Sir Thomas died

Nov. 29, 1808.

His grandson. Sir Thomas Sabine, born Dec. 26, 1804,

became 2d baronet, and by royal permission, assumed, in

1809, the surname and arms of Pasley; married, with issue,

7 sons and 4 daughters. In 1857 Sir Thomas was raised to

the rank of Rear-admiral of the White.

The first Sir Thomas' sister, Margaret, 3d daughter of

James Pasley, Esq. of Craig and Burn, above mentioned,

married, in 1761, George Malcolm, Esq. of Burnfoot, Dumfries-

shire, and was the mother of a large family. Three of her

sons were Col. Sir James JIalcolm, died in 1829, Adnjiral

Sir Pulteney Malcolm, and General Sir John Malcolm (See

pp. 95 and 97 of this vol.)

General Sir Charles William Pasley, K.C.B., (1845) was,

in his time, well known for his attainments in literature and

science. He entered the army as 2d lieutenant in the artil-

lery in 1797, and removed to the Royal engineers in 1798.

He served at the defence of Gaeta in 1806, at the battle of

Maida, at the siege of Copenhagen, and at Corunna in 1809,

and was twice wounded. He was chief engineer of the iilar-

quis of Huntly's division at Walcheren. In 1841 he became a

major-general, and in 1851 a lieutenant-general. He was also

a colonel commanding a corps of engineers. In 1844 he was

created D.C.L. at Oxford. He was the inventor of some im-

provements in pontoon bridges, and author of a treatise on

' Military Instruction,' and ' An Essay on the Military Po-

licy and Institutions of the British Empire.' For some years

he was inspector-general of railways. He died in April 18G1.

Paterson. a family of this name at one period possessed

the estate of Bannockburn, Stirlingshire, and also a baronet-

cy of Nova Scotia, conferred in 1686, but which has been

long extinct. In 1745, Sir Hugh Paterson of Bannockburn,

baronet, joined the rebellion. His mother, I.ady Jean Er-

skiiie, was sister of the Eail of Mar, a strong Jacobite con-

nection, and Prince Charles Edward slept at Bannockburn

house on the 14th September of that year. Bannockburn

house was also the prince's head-quarters dm-ing January 1746.

Sir Hugh's grand-daughter is said to have been privately

married to the prince, but she released him to promote the

Stuart cause. Another iMiss Paterson, belonging to a re-

spectable family at Baltimore, made, in the present century,

an equally romantic match, having married Prince Jerome,

brother of Napoleon I. ; but was obliged to separate from her

husband by a dynastic divorce.

John Paterson, one of the ministers of Aberdeen, was con-
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secrated bishop of Riiss in 1CC2, by James Sliarp, arclibisbop

of St. Andrews. He liad at one time signed tlie Covenant.

His son, Jolin Paterson, incumbent of tlie Tion Cliurcli, Kd-
iiibur^b, was in 1G74 consecrated blsljop of Galloway, in liis

father's lifetime. He was bitterly opposed to the Presbyte-

rians. In 1679 lie was transferred to the see of Edinburj^h.

In 1687 he was appointed archbishop of Gla.swow. At the

Revolution he was deprived of his see. In 1692 he was ar-

rested and committed to tlie castle of Edinburgh for plotting

against the I!evolution settlement, being at the time under

sentence of banishment. In 1701 he was still in confine-

ment. He died Dec. 9, 1703, in his own house at Edinburgh,

in his 76th year. He was the last archbishop of Glasgow,

and h's violent counsels seem to have contributed to the

overthrow of the Stuart government His family went to

England, and his grandson, an eminent solicitor in London,

took an active part in the architectural improvement of the

metropolis, as was recognised by the votes of the corpora-

tion, and borne witness to in his portrait by Sir Joshua Rey-

nolds. He was a member of parliament, and chairman of

Ways and iMeans. With the Lord-chancellor Camden, he

was one of the executors of the will of his friend, David

Garrick.

In the United States, as tlirougluiut the colonies, as well

as on both sides of the Tweed, persons of this name are nu-

merous. The progenitors of most of the families which bear

it, are supposed to have been of Scandinavian origin.

PATERSOX, William, llie fouiukT of the

bank of EnL,'laiid, aiitl projector of tlie Daricti Ex-

pedition, was born at the farm of Skipmyre, Duni-

fries-sliire, in March or April 1G55. His father

A\a3 a farmer, ^vho ajipcars to liave possessed lands

of his own, at some distance from the farm he held

on lease. lie seems to have received the ediica-

lioii common (o bo^'s of his condition at the period,

viz., gramniai-, writing, aritlimetic, and some Latin,

and, according to tradition, was destined for the

Presbyterian chtircli, but in l(i72, in liis ]7ih

year, lie was obliged to leave Scotland, council

warrants having been issued for his seizure, on a

cliarge of having had communication with the per-

secuted ministers and others then in hiding in the

wilds of Dumfries-shire. He went to Bristol, to

a relative of his mother's, a widow, who, on her

death soon after, left liini some small amount of

property, lie was afterwards received into the

counting-house of a relative, a mercliant in Lon-

don. Subsequently, he was engaged in trade in

the '\\'est Indies. There is no authority whatever

for the loose statements tliat have been made that

he was at one time a missionary, and, at another,

eng.aged with the buccaneers. It seems certain,

however, that he had acquired much information

respecting Spanish America, which could only be

furnished by the latter, as he had not been there

himself.

On his return from the West Indies, lie became

eminent as a merchant in London. In 1690 he

founded the Ilampstead Water Company, and he

was treasurer of a similar Company in South-

wark. In 1C91 he projected the Bank of England,

taking, it is said, the bank of St. George, in Ge-

noa, as a model. The scheme met, at first,

with great opposition, one of the most influential

and most persevering antagonists of his financial

views being ]\Ir. Lowndes, the secretary of the

treasury, but, being supported by the principal

London merchants, the bank was established in

1G9-1. Its shares, to the amount of £1,200,000,

were taken with great raiiidity. Its first body of

proprietors numbered 1,.300, among whom was the

celebrated John Locke. Paterson himself sub-

scribed for £2,000 stock, and was one of the first

directors of this great national establishment.

He next proposed to found the Orphan Fund

bank, to relieve tlie Corporation of London, on

account of money due to the city orphans, a pro-

ject which led to his withdrawal from the bank of

England. The directors conceived that he was

not entitled to do any other banking business than

theirs, and, not to be restricted in his operations,

he sold the stock he held as a qualification for a

seat at the board, and voluntarily retired, ^y'nh

the bank of Scotland, founded in 1695, he had no

participation whatever, although this lias been

frequently erroneously stated.

His great plan for the formation of a Company

of trade and colonization in Africa and the Indies,

afterwards called the Darien Company, M-as not

at first a Scottish affair. For ten years he had

offered it to the English minister, to the merchants

of Hamburg, to the Dutch, and to the elector of

Brandenburg, who all declined to entertain it.

On the invitation of some of his countrymen he '

next propounded his scheme in Scotland. It is

stated by Sir John Dalrymple, that that ardent

patriot, I\Ir. Fletcher of Salton, brought Paterson

to Edinburgh, to submit his plan of trade to the

Scottish parliament and people, and that Fletcher

introduced him to the marquis of Twecddale, then

Scots minister, and persuaded him to adopt the

project. Lord Stair and Mr. Johnston, the two
;
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secretaries of state, with Sir James Stuart, tlie

lord advocate, also gave their sanction to tlie

scheme
;
and, in June 1G95, a statute was passed

in the Scots parliament, followed by a charter

from the crown, for creating a trading Company

to Africa and the Indies, with power to plant col-

onies in places not possessed by other Europeans.

Paterson's plan was to form an emporium on

each side of the isthmus of Darien, for the trade

of the opposite continents. The manufactures of

Europe were to be sent to the Gulf of Darien, and

thence conve3-ed by land across the ridge of moun-

tains that intersects the Isthmus, there to be

exchanged for the produce of South America and

of Asia; and thus, to use his own emphatic lan-

guage, he woi;ld wrest the keys of the world from

Spain, then in possession of South America. Eng-

lish as well as foreigners were admitted into the

Company. The original leaders in the "scheme,

whoso names arc inserted in the Act 1695, were

nine residents in Scotland, with Lord Belhaven,

and Sir E,obert Chiesley, lord provost of Edin-

burgh, at their head, and eleven merchants of

London, headed by William Paterson and Tho-

mas Coutts. Tlie sum of £300,000 was, in a few

days, subscribed in London, and there the first

meetings, for the constitution of the Company,

were held.

This magnliicent project was ruined through

the infamous partiality of William III., who was

mainly indebted for his ci'own to the Presbyteri-

ans of Scotland, and the mean jealousy of the

English nation. 'J'he alarm was first excited by

the East India Company, and the AVest India

merchants. In Holland and Hamburg the sum

of £200,000 had been subscribed. In the latter

city the English consul presented a memorial to

the senate, disowning the Company, and warning

them against all connectioTi with it. But though

the assembly of merchants returned a spirited re-

ply, they soon withdrew their subscriptions, and

the Dutch followed their example. Both houses

of parliament, on December 13, 1695, concurred

in a joint address to the king, remarkable for its

absurd, narrow, and illiberal views, against the

establishment of the Company. The House of

Commons instituted an inqnir^ into the case, and

after examining Paterson, his Scottish colleagues

in London, and their English partners, issued an

impeachment against them for raising money in

England by shares in their Company, under an

act of the Scottish parlinmeut. Although the

impeachment was soon abandoned, the English

subscriptions were withdrawn, and the prospects

of the Companj- in London were nipped in the bud.

Paterson, however, was not easily intimidated,

and the Scots people, indignant at the opposition

which the scheme had met with in England,

avowedly because it would be beneficial to Scot-

land, immediately subscribed £400,000, although

at that time there was not above £800,000 of

cash in the kingdom. So great was the national

enthusiasm, that young women threw their little

fortunes into the stock, and widows sold their

jointures to get the command of money for tlic

same purpose. Paterson himself subscribed £3,000

to the stock of the company. At the very outset

a mishap befell the Scottish company and its pro-

jector which had an adverse influence on the for-

tunes of both. This was the loss of a large por-

tion of the Company's capital, amounting to

£25,000, which had been entrusted by Paterson

to an agent in Holland, for the purchase of stores
|

for the Company's projected expedition of five I

ships to America, but misappropriated by the lat-
j

ter. A board of inquiiy was appointed to inves-
j

tigate the circumstances, and their report fully !

acquitted Paterson of all blame, and recommended

that his services should be continued by the Com-

pany. The directors approved of the report, ex-

cept as to that part relative to the acceptance of

his services, and to the great deti'iment of the in-

terests and prospects of the Company, the very

man Avho had called it into being, was not em-

ployed officially in its first expedition, and had no

part in its guidance. He sailed simply as a pri-

vate adventurer, with his wife, and one servant.

Tlie name of the latter stands in the Company's

books for a subscription for £100.

On the 26th of July 1C98, five large vessels,

laden with merchandise, military stores, and pro-

visions, with 1,200 persons on board, sailed from

Leitli to form the projected colony. On the ar-

rival of the colonists at the isthmus of Darien,

they purchased lands from the natives, and estab-

lished their settlement at Acta, a jilace midway
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between Porto Eello .'uid Ciutliagena, having a

secure and capacious harbour, formed by a penin-

sula, wliich they fortified, and named Fort Saint

Andrew. Tlic settlement itself they called New
Caledonia; and, on the suggestion of Paterson,

their first jjublic act was to publish a declaration

of freedom of trade and religiun to all nations.

The infant colony was soon exposed to internal

dissensions, from want of a proper head; and tlie

native Indians continued to alarm them witii pre-

parations of the Siiauiards for their expulsion. It

was much harassed by the latter, and, in consequence

of orders sent from England, the governors of the

colonies in the "West Indies and America issued

proclamations, prohibiting any succour being giv-

en to the Scots at Darien, on the weak, pretext

that their settlement there was an infringement of

the alliance between England and Spain. But in

the jKipcrs of the Darien council, preserved in the

Advocates' Librar}', it is averred tliat previous to

the colony leaving Scotland, the right of the Com-

pany was debated before King "William, in jires-

cncc of the Spanish ambassador ; and tiiat, during

the time the subscrijitions were in course of being

collected, Spain had made no comi)l;iints against

the formation of the Com])any. Besides this,

that part of the country where the colony settled

was a territory never jiossessed by tlie Spaniards

at all, and was inhabited by a people continually

at war with them. To add to the misfortunes of

the settlers, their provisions were soon exhausted,

and they were indebted to the hunting and fishing

of the natives for the scantj^ supplies they re-

ceived. At the entl of eight mouths those who

survived were compelled, by disease and famine,

to abandon the settlement, and return to Europe.

Paterson himself was seized with fever, and his

wife dying was buried in the colony. In his ill-

ness ho was carried on board the ' Unicorn,' one

of the Company's ships, and conveyed to New

York, where his life was for some time despaired

of. On his recovery, he sailed for Scotland, and

arrived at Edinburgh on the 5th December, 16'JS.

He soon regained the confidence of the Company,

was admitted among tlie directors, and his name

appears to their subsequent atts.

In the meantime, two other expeditions had

sailed from Scotland. When the second arrived,

they found the huts burned, and the forts demol-

ished. After being joined by the third party that

went out, they were attacked by the Spaniards

from Panama, but liaving stormed the enemy's

camp, they repulsed the Spanish force with great

slaughter. At last a larger force arrived from

Cartliagena, and, after a siege of nearly six; weeks,

they were obliged to capitulate, on condition that

they should be allowed to embark with their ef-

fects for Europe. Of the three expeditions, not

more than thirty persons survived, to carry to

their native country the disastrous intelligence of

the utter ruin of the colony. An interesting de-

scription of tlie rise, progress, and failure of this

well-conceived, but ill-fated, undertaking -will be

found in Sir John Dalrymplc's Memoirs of Great

Britain and Ireland.

Patersons spirit was still ardent and unbroken,

and while he was among the foremost to calm the

liublic irritation at the treatment received from

the English government, to avoid a war between

the two countries, which ajipeared imminent, he

set himself to devise suitable means for recovering

the Company's losses. He projected a new plan,

admitting England to a large share in the advan-

tages of the settlement, which he presented to the

Darien Company. In 1700 he is said to have

published, anonymously, 'Proposals and Peasons

for Constituting a Council of Trade,' a woi'k which

has been erroneously attributed to the pen of John

I.,aw of Lauristim. Although the latter was a

relative of his own, he invariably ojjposcd liis

schemes as unsound and pernicious. The provi-

sions contained in this pamplilct were, in 1705,

embodied, to a limited extent and in a modilied

form, in the ' Act for appointing a Council of

Trade,' one of the last eflbrts at independent action

of the Scots parliament and nation. To I'ater-

son's enterprising spirit the trade and prosperity

of his country wcvc much indebted, lie was an

ardent advocate of free trade, and his principles

were those which now govern the mercantile

policy of this country.

In 1701, he submitted to King William his

new plan of commerce and colonization in Sjian-

ish America, in order to counteract tiie ambi-

tious designs in Europe of Louis XIV. It was

adopted by the king, with whom he had several
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personal interviews on the subject. Tlie decided

cliaructer of the llevolution in tlie politics of Eu-

rope and tlie acknowledgment of King James' son

by the French king, bad led his ninjesty at last to

turn a favourable ear to the project of the Darien

Company. Unfoi'tunately, his death, soon after,

put an end to the scheme altogether.

Paterson was a warm advocate of the luiion

with England, and he was employed, both in

London and Edinburgh, to settle one of the most

difficult branches of the treaty, namel}', the ar-

rangement of the public accounts between the two

kingdoms. In this olfice two other gentlemen

were associated with him. Dr. Gregory and Mr.

Bower, and they had £200 sterling each for the

work. lie was elected a member of the first Im-

perial parliament for the Dumfries burghs, but

there being a double return, a Mr. Johnstone hav-

ing been also chosen, he was unseated on petition.

In the last Scots parliament, resolutions had

been passed recommending Paterson to her Ma-

jesty for his good services, but the recommenda-

tion, like many others, was disregarded. By the

treaty of union, a sum amounting to nearly

£400,000 was agreed to be paid by the united

kingdom, as an indemnity to Scotland, for the loss-

es sustained by the Darien Company, and this

was secured by an act of the Imperial parliament.

Of this money Paterson claimed about £30,000,

cliiefly founded on his contract when forming the

Company, and a special act of parliament passed

in his favour in 1708. The Court of Exchequer

decided that he had "a just right to be paid

out of the equivalent money," and "in regard

that he had been very instrumental in carr3'-

ing on other matters of a public nature, much

to nis country's service, the judges thought it just

that some way should be found to give him the

recompense for his services he merited, and of

which he had been disappointed." Pursuant

tliereto, the House of Commons, March 18, 1708,

passed a resolution in Paterson's favour, in regard

to his Darien claims, " and likewise that such a

recompense be given to him as might be suitable

to his services, expenses, losses, and public cares."

The ministers of Queen Anne, however, were not

to be moved into doing him justice, and it was

not till after the accession of George I., and he

had been i-educed to great poverty, that he ob-

tained the sum due to him.

Meantime he continued to urge financial reform

on the attention of ministers. A representation

which he made to Lord-treasurer Godolphin, in

December 1709, on the disorders of the finances,

was disregarded. Lord-treasurer Harley, Godol-

phin's successor, adopted some of his views, but

did not employ him. He had presented a memo-

rial to ministers on his claims, and stating his

distress, but all the relief he seems to have got

were two or three sums of £100 and £50, which

stand opposite to his name in Queen Anne's boun-

ty list in 1712 and 1713.

His latter years were spent in London, and it

is believed that, in the period of his extreme dis-

tress, he taught mathematics in Westminster. In

1703 he proposed that a public libraiy of agricul-

ture, trade, and finance, should be formed, and

gave his owui books towards founding such an in-

stitution in London. It is thought that he was

tlie original of Addison's Sir Andrew Freeport in

the ' Spectator.' Having, on the accession of

George I. to the throne in 1714, presented a

memorial to his Majestj', the latter referred it to

his Treasury, and an act of parliament was passed,

whereby Paterson obtained the sum of £18,241

10s. lOid., charged on the Scottish equivalent.

His last successful effort in finance was the con-

struction of the Sinking Fund iu 1717, for the re-

demption of the national debt, which is still an

essential element in our financial system. He

died, January 22, 1719. In the obituary of the

'llegister' of 1718-19, he is styled "the gi-eat

calculator."

He was a voluminous writer on mercantile and

financial subjects, but all his works were pub-

lished anonymously. A volume entitled ' William

Paterson, the Merchant Statesman, and Founder

of the Bank of England : his Life and Trials. By

S. Bannister, M.A., formerly Attorney-general of

New South Wales,' was published at Edinburgh

in 1857. 'I'he author mentions the following as

among his principal publications :

A Brief account of tlie biteiided Bank of England. Lon-

don, 1694, 4to.

The Occasion of Scotland's Dec.iy in Trade ; with a proper

Expedient for Recovery tliereof, and the Increasing our

Wealtli. 1705, 4to.
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Proposals and Reasons for Constituting a Council of Trade.

1700. This work was reprinted in 1751, l)y R<ibert and An-

drew Foulis, Glasgow, and b_v tliein erronpously attriljuted to

Jolin Law of Lauriston. 'J'liis mistake led Professor Dugald

Stewart in 1761, to mention Law as its autlior, but lliere can

be no doubt it was written by Paterson.

An Liquiry into tlie Reasonableness and Consequences of

an Union witli Scotland. With Oliservations tliereupon, as

communicated to Lawrence Philips, Esq., New York. Lon-

don, 170G, 8vo, p. 160.

Essay Concerning Inland and Foreign, Public and Private

Trade. 170.5.

Fair Payment is no Sponge. 1717. A tract written in

reply to a pamphlet by one ISroom, against tlie proposal of a

Sinking Fund, entitled 'No Club Law,' declaring that it

would apply a sponge to the public debt.

Wednesday Club Conferences. London, 1717.

Several of Paterson's Letters are contained in a volume

entitled 'The Darien Papers, being a selection of Original

Letters and Olncial Documents,' relating to tlie Company,

printed by the Bannatyne Club in 1849, from the manu-

scripts preserved in the Advocates' Library.

Of liis other numerous writings it is impos.sibIe now to give

even tlie titles.

All lli.storical Romance, entitled ' Darien
; or

the Merchant Prince,' by ICliot ^^'arbnrton, pnb-

lislied in 185:2, in 3 vol.?., i.s fonnded on the Darien

expedition, and lias William Paterson for its hero.

So imbued with admiration of Paterson's charac-

ter and genins was the autlior, that he was pro-

ceeding to tlie veiy scene of Ids enterprize, with

tlie view of promoting its revival, when, with all

oil board, the ship went down, and was lost at

sea. Paterson's family are said to have been re-

lated to that of Paterson, arehbisliop of Glasgow.

PATON, George, an eminent antiqnaiy. See

SurPLEMEKT.

PATRICK, St., the patron saint of Ireland,

was born in 373 at a village called Bonaven Ta-

berniiE, supposed to be the town of Kilpatriek, on

tlie Clyde, between Dumbarton and Glasgow.

Jones, in his ' Historical Account of the AVelsh

Bards,' states Ids birth-phxce to have been tlie

Vale of Rhos, Pembrokeshire. lie is also said

by some to have been a native of Cornwall, and

by others of Brittany. All the information i-c-

corded of liim is founded on conjecture, except

what may be traced in hi.s own writings, his

' Confessions,' and a letter which he addressed to

Corotic, a AV'elsh inince. He styles himself both

a Briton and a Roman, and says his father was of

a good finiily, named Calphurnins, ^^ho appears

to have come to Scotland in a civil capacity with

the Roman troops. His mother's name was Con-

cha, or Concliessa, the niece of St. Martin, bishop

of Tours.

In his sixteenth j-ear he was carried captive to

Ireland by a band of the wild Irish, who had made

an excursion into Scotland. After passing si.x.

3'ears in keeping sheep, lie made his escape to

France, and hy his iiiotlier's uncle at Tours was

ordained a canon regular of his church. At the

age of sixty, being moved by visions, and other

signs, to undertake the coiivcision of the pagan

Irish, he repaired to Rome, to receive the Pope's

sanction and authority for this Iioly purpose. His

original name is stated to have been Saccuthns,

or, (according to Nennius, abbot of Bangor)

Maur ; that of Patricins being given to him by

Pope Celcstine, when he consecrated hiin a bish-

op, and sent him into Ireland in 433. The great-

est success is said to have attended his missionary

efforts. He converted and baptized the kings of

Ulster and INInnster, and the seven sons of the

king of Connaught. He fixed his metropolitan

see at Armagh, and founded monasteries, estab-

lished schools, planted churches, and ordained

priests in various parts of the coniitiy. Several

miracles are attributed to him. He died at Down

in Ulster, according to Usher, in 493, to Tilie-

mont, about 45.3, and to Nennius, in 464. His

works, or at least those attributed to him, were

published, with remarks, by Sir James Ware, in

1G58.

PEDEN, Alexander, famed for his piety and

zeal, and supposed powers of prophecy, was born

in the parish of Sorn, Ayrshire, in 1G26. After

having obtained a regular university education, lie

was for some time employed as schoolmaster, pre-

centor, and session-clerk, in the parish of Tarbol-

ton. According to Wodrow, he was also at one

period precentor at Fenwick. Shortly before the

Restoration, he was settled minister of New-Luce,

in Galloway, Mdiere, however, he only continued

three years, having been, in 1662, ejected from his

charge, with the majority of the Scots Presbyterian I

clergy. On quitting his parish, he preached a fare-

well sermon to liis people, who, during its deliv-

ery, were deeply aflccted, especiallj- when he told

tliem that they should never see his face again in

that pul]iit. On the conclusion of the sen'ice,

which lasted till night, he closed the pulpit door,
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and knocked three times on it witli his Bible,

saying as often, "I arrest thee in my Master's

name, tliat none ever enter thee but such as come

in by tlic door as I have done." It so liappened,

' tliat none of the Indulged or Episcopal ministers

ever oflSciated in the pulpit of New-Luce churcli,

which was not again opened till the Revolution

restored it to the Presbyterians. Tliis remarka-

ble circumstance, with several striking coinciden-

ces of a similar kind, procured for Peden the credit

of possessing, in a high degree, the gift of foresee-

ing and foretelling future events, relating to him-

self and the oppressed Church of Scotland.

I

After liis ejection he lurked in various retired

parts of the countr}', and had frequent narrow es-

capes from his persecutors. In 1666 a proclama-

tion was issued against him and several of the

ejected ministers, for having, contrary to law,

continued to exercise their ministerial functions

;

and as Peden disregarded a summons to appear

before the privy council, he was declared a rebel,

and forfeited in both life and fortune. For greater

safety, be occasionally passed some time in Ire-

land. At length, in 1673, he was apprehended

by Major Cockburn, in the house of Hugh Fer-

guson of Knockdow, in Carrick, who was fined

1,000 merks for harbouring him. Being carried

prisoner to Edinburgh, Peden was, after exami-

nation, sent to tlie Bass, where he was kept in

close confinement till 1678. In December of that

year he was, with sixty others, removed to Edin-

j

burgh, and condemned to be transported to Vir-

i! ginia, not to return to Scotland under pain of

I

death. After this sentence was passed, Peden

j

frequently exclaimed, " That the ship was not yet

!
built which should take him and his fellow-prison-

I
ers to America !" They were sent by sea to Lon-

I

don, and on their arrival there, the captain of the

i

vessel that was engaged to convey them to Virgi-

nia, finding that they were pious Christians, who

were banished for their Presbyterian principles,

and not thieves and robbers, as he had been given

to understand, indignantly refused to be the in-

I
strument of carrying their iniquitous sentence into

j

execution, and they were in consequence soon set

! at liberty. Peden spent some time in London

j

and other places in England, and ventured to re-

I

turn to Scotland in 1679, but during the remainder

i

of his life was forced to lurk, as before, in diff'er-

ent places of concealment. He sometimes found

a retreat in Ireland, sometimes in Scotland, till,

at length, worn out with his prolonged toils and

sufferings, he returned to Sorn, and lived chiefly

in an artificial cave in the immediate vicinity of

the garrison posted in Sorn castle, uniformly pro-

tected, as he had been in a hundred places before,
j

from the peering searches of the bloodthirsty sol-

diery. He was visited on his deathbed by the

celebrated James Renwick, and after he had been

vainly searched for In his brother's house, he died

there January 1686, In his sixtieth year. He was

interred in the churchj'ard of Auchinleck ; but

forty days afterwards his bodj* was lifted by a

troop of dragoons, who carried it two miles to the

village of Old Cumnock, with the view of hanging
j

It, as a mark of Ignominy, on a galloivs there, but

they eventuall}- buried It at the gallows foot.

"The place," says Mr. M'GavIn, "Is now the

common burying -ground for Cumnock parish."

What are styled ' The Prophecies of Alexander

Peden,' fathered upon him after his death, were

collected into a small tract, Mhicli long formed

one of the publications most highly prized by the

peasantry of Scotland.

Pennecuik, :i surname derived from the p.'irisli of Peni- !

cuick, ill Jlid Lothian, belonging to Sir George Clerk, baron-
i

et. The name was in early times spelled Penicok, and is
\

believed to have been derived from the Gaelic Bein-na-ciiach,
\

or the British Pcn-y-coc, both of which mean the Cuckoo's hill.

PENNECUIK, Alexander, M.D., an eminent
;

physician and poet, was born at Newhall, near
I

Edinburgh, in 1652. His father, of the same
[

name, served as a surgeon in the Swedish army,

during the Thirty Years' War, and was after-
|

wards surgeon-general to the Auxiliarj' Scots ar-
j

j

my sent into England in 1644. He was proprie- 1

1

tor of tlie estates of IsTewhall in the county of
j

Edinburgh, and Romanno in Peebles-shire, and is
I

j

said by his son to have lived to be " the oldest
jj

iEsculapius of the age." After receiving his edu-
(

cation, which he completed on the Continent,
|

Alexander went to reside M ith his father on the
\

family property, which he Inherited at the old

gentleman's death. There he continued to prac-
j

tise as a physician, and to cultivate poetry and

science. He wrote a ' Description of Tweeddale,'
j

esteemed for the antiquarian and botanical infor-
j
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matioii it contains, avIucIi, with liis miscellaneous

poems, was published in 1715. Ilis poetical pie-

ces arc cliicily descrii>tive of rural manners. lie

died in 1722, leaving; two married daughters, to

the elder of whom he ;;ave, as a dower, the estate

of Ncwhall, and to the younger he left, at his

death, the lands of Romauno. A new edition of

his works, with a life <if the author, ap])earcd at

Leith in 1815, exactly a century after their first

publication. Dr. Pennecuik is ti'aditionalh' said

to have furnished Allan Ramsay \\ ith the plot of

'The Gentle Shepherd ;' but like many other tales

handed down by tradition, there seems no foun-

dation for the statement.

There was anotlier Alexander Pennecuik, a

poet, and bm'gess of Edinburgh, the author of

' Streams fi om Helicon,' published in 1720 ; and

'Flowers from Parnassus,' in 172G. He wrote

also an account of ' The Blue Blanket, or Crafts-

man's Banner;' and shortly before his death com-

menced a periodical, entitled ' Entertainment for

the curious.' In his poetry he imitated Allan

Ramsay. His life was dissipated, and he is said

to have died of starvation in the streets.

Penney, :i .surn;Hne not very common in Scotland, hut

apparently derived from tlie coin of that name. An eminent

lawyer of tliis surname, William Penney, was in May 1808

.appointed a jiuige of tlio court of session, wlien lie assumed

the judicial title of Lord Kinlocli. He was born in Glasgow,

Stii August, 1801, being the eldest son of William Penney,

merchant in that city, by the daughter of the Kev. David

.Johnston, D.D., minister of North Leith (see vol. ii. p. u7!*).

He was educated at the university of Glasgow, and for a short

time assisted liis father in his counting-liouse. The bent

of his mind leading liim to the study of the law, in ]t>24 he

passed advocate, and long luul a considerable practice at the

bar. He is the author of a work called ' The Circle of Chris-

tian Doctrine, A Handbook of Faith, framed out of a Laymans

E.x])erience,' Kdin. 18G1. Lord Kinloch married, 1st, in 18-S<,

the daughter of Charles Campbell, Esq. of Leckuary, Argyle-

sliire. She died in ISo'J, and in 184'.' lie married, 2dly, the

daughter of John Campbell, Esq. of Kinloch, Perthshire, from

which estate his judicial title has been assumed. Issue of both

marriages, 13 sous and drs. His two elder sons went to liom-

bay. His eldest daughter m.inied Colonel Frazer, conunand-

.lutof Agra durijig the Indian mutiny, and was left a widow.

PERRY, James, an able political writer and

journalist, the sou of an eminent builder, was born

at Aberdeen, October HO, 175G. He was at first

destined for the profession of the huv, but his

father having become unsuccessful in business, he

left Aberdeen in 1771, and proceeded to Edin-

burgh. Disappointed in procuring employment

there, ho went to iManchester, where he was for

two years engaged as clerk to Mr. Dinwiddie,

a respectable maiinfactiircr. Jii the beginning

of 1777 he quitted I\Ianehester for London, but

did not at first succeed in obtaining employment.

To amuse his leisure hours, he occasionally occu-

pied himself in writing essays and fugitive verses

for an opposition paper called the ' (ieneral Ad-

vertiser,' which he (Iroi)ped into the editor's bo.\.

and tiiey were always inserted. Calling one dav

at the shop of iMessrs. Richardson and Urquhart,

booksellers, to inquire, as was his custom, whe-

ther they knew of any situation that would suit

him, the latter, laying down the Advertiser,

which he had been reading, replied in the nega-

tive, but pointing to a ))articular article in the

paper, said, " If you could write such articles as

this, you might obtain immediate employment."

It happened to be a humorous essay written b}-

Mr. Periy himself. On intimating this fact to Mr.

Urquhart, he expressed great satisfaction at the

discovery, and, as he was one of the principal

proprietors, he got him next day engaged on the

paper at a salaiy of a guinea a- week, with an ad-

ditional half guinea for contributing to the London

Evening Post, belonging to the same parties. On

the memorable trials of Admirals Kepi)el and Pal-

liser, he, for six successive weeks, by his indivi-

dual eft'orts, managed to transmit daily, from

Portsmouth, eight cohinins of a report of the jiro-

ceedings, taken by him in court, a circumstance

which raised the sale of the Advertiser several

thousands a-day. Besides his contributions to the

two papers on which he was engaged, he fmind

time to publish, anonymously, several occasional

l)olitieal pamphlets ami poems on subjects of tem-

porary interest. In 1782 he projected and ^vas

the first editor of the 'European ^Magazine ;' but

after conducting it for about a year, he was a])-

pointed editor of the 'Gazetteer,' at a salaiy of

four guineas a-weck, and accepted the situation

on the express condition that he should be left to

the free exercise of his own ]iolitical opinions,

which were those of the whig jiartj'.

lu the latter journal he had the merit of iutro-

diiciug an important improvement in the manner

of giving the parliamentary debates, namely, full

reports by a succession of shorthand writers, in-

stead of mere hasty abstracts by one mans nnas-
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sisted efFoits, in each liouse of parliament, as liad

been till tlien the practice. For several years lie

acted as editor of Debrett's Parliamentary De-

bates. He afterwards purchased the 'Morning

Chronicle,' and for a few months carried it on in

conjunction with his friend Mr. Gray, after whose

death he conducted it himself as sole editor and

proprietor. Under his management that paper

became the organ of the whig opposition ; and it

is mentioned, as a proof of the ability and judici-

ous care with which he conducted it, that in the

course of forty years he was only twice prosecut-

ed under ex officio informations. The first time

was for printing in it the ' Resolutions of the

Derby Meeting,' and the second for inserting a

paragraph, copied from the Examiner, regarding

the prospective popularitj' of the prince of Wales,

if he adopted a liberal policy on succeeding to the

throne. On the former occasion he was defended

hy Lord Erskine ; on the latter he pleaded his

own cause in person with great tact and ability,

and in both cases he was honourably acquitted.

He had twice an opportunity of entering the liouse

of commons, having been solicited by Mr. Pitt,

and afterwards by Lord Slielburne, to accept of a

seat in parliament ; but firm to tlie cause he liad

espoused, he declined both offers.

In 1798 he married Miss Anne Hull, by whom

he had eiglit children, one of whom died j'oung.

For a considerable time previous to his decease,

his declining health compelled him to relinquish

the management of the Chronicle ; and during the

four last months of his life he resided at Brighton,

where he died, December 4, 1821, in his G5tli

year. Having, by a long course of useful indus-

try and active exertion, amassed a considerable

fortune, he had the happiness to maintain his aged

parents in comfort, and bring up the orphan fami-

ly of his sister by her first marriage. She was

afterwards married, for the second time, to the

celebrated Professor Porson, and died in 1796.

His second son. Sir Thomas Erskine Perry, born

in 1807, was called to the bar at the Inner Tem-

ple, in 1834, and in 1841 was appointed a judge

of the supreme court at Bombay, when he was

knighted. In September 1847 he was promoted

to be chief justice of Bombay, but resigned his

seat on the bench in 1852, and in May 1854 wns

elected M.P. for Devonport. He married in 1833,

the only cliild of James M'Elkiney of Brighton,

and niece maternallj' of Madame Jerome Bona-

parte. Slie died in 1841.

Perth, Earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland, confer-

red 4th JIarch 1605, on James, fourth Lord Drummond, (see

vol. ii. p. 63,) to Lira and his heirs male whatsoever. Dying

without issue male, his brother, John, became second earl,

18th December 1611. This nobleman was one of those who
voted for the five articles of Perth in 1621. With his son,

James, Lord Drummond, he joined the association formed by
the marquis of Montrose at Cumbernauld in 1641, for the

support of the royal authority, and in 1654 he was, with liis

son, fined by Cromwell £5,000. He died 11th June 1662.

With two daughters, lie had five sons: 1. Henry, Lord

Drummond, who died in infancy. 2. James, third earl of

Perth. 3. The Hon. Robert Drummond of Aucliirelliot,

who died young. 4. The Hon. Sir John Drummond of Lo-

gie-Almond, who also joined Jlontrose. Drummond of Logie-

Almond was one of the partisans of the Pretender in 1715,

and was taken prisoner at the battle of Sheriftmuir. To this

family belonged the distinguished scholar and antiquary. The

Right Hon. Sir William Drummond of Logie-.\lniond, a me-
moir of whom is given at vol. ii. p. 67 ; and 5. William, sec-

ond earl of Roxburghe, (see Roxburghe, earl of).

James, tliird earl, joined the marquis of Montrose in Au-
gust 1645, and on tlie loth of the following month was taken

prisoner at the battle of Philiphaugh. He died 2d June

1675. By his countess, Lady Anne Gordon, eldest daughter

of the second marquis of Huntly, with whom he got a tocher

of £30,000 Scots, he had a daughter, Anne, countess of

Errol, and two sons, James, fourth earl of Perth, and John,

first earl of Melfort, (see p. 136 of this volume).

James, fourth earl of Perth, born in 1648, studied at the

university of St. Andrews, and afterwards visited the conti-

nent. In 1678 he was sworn a privy councillor. He joined
j

the opposition to the duke of Lauderdale, after whose fall he
j

was, in May 1682, appointed lord-justice-general. On 16th

November following, he became one of the extraordinary
|

lords of session, and on 23d June 1684, lord-chancellor of

Scotland, and sheriff-principal of the county of Edinburgh. I

On the accession of James VIL, he was continued in all his
j

ofiices, and had the management of afiairs in Scotland. He
i

declared himself a Roman Catholic, and was invested with

the order of the Thistle, on its revival in 1687. Having ren-

dered himself obnoxious, by the cruel proceedings of the gov-

ernment against the persecuted Presbyterians, on James'

abdication, the mob plundered his house in Edinburgh, and

in attempting to make his escape to the continent, in a ves-

sel from Burntisland, he was pursued by some seamen from

Kirkcaldy, and taken near the Bass, at the mouth of the

Forth. After being detained for five days in the common

prison of Kirkcaldy, he was sent to Alloa, wliere he was de-

livered into the custody of the earl of JIar, and he remained

for nearly four years a close prisoner in Stirling castle. A
guard of 300 was kept up at Kirkcaldy for four months,

as information was received that a body of his clansmen were

coming from the Highlands, to burn the town, in revenge for

the earl's apprehension. On his liberation in August 1693,

liis lordship went to Rome, where he resided for two years.

King James sent for him to St. Germains, and created him

duke of Perth, first lord of his bedchamber, and knight of the

Garter. He was also made chamberlain to the exiled queen,

and governor of the young prince of Wales, afterwards the
j
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Chevalier de St. George. He died at St. Germains, in France,

11th March, 1716, and w.-is interred in the chapel of the

Scottish college at Paris.

James, Lord Druminond, his eldest son, h_v his conntess.

Lady Jane Douglas, was a firm adherent of the house of Stu-

art. He .attended .James VIL in his expedition to Ireland in

1690, after which he returned to Scotland. He opposed the

Union, and was one of the first to join in the rehellion of

1715. He formed the daring project of seizing the c.istle

of Edinburgh, of which he was to have been made governor

had it succeeded, but the attempt was frustrated in time.

He escaped to France in the same vessel with the Chevalier

de St. George, and was attainted for his .share in the insur-

rection. He had executed a disposition of his estates 28th

August 1713, in favour of his son, which was sustained by

the court of session in 1719, and affirmed by the house of

lords in 1720. On his father's death in 171C, he assumed

the title of duke of Perth. He died at Paris in 1730. He

married Lady Jean Gordon, only d.aughter of George, first

duke of Gordon, and by her he had two sons, who adhered

faithfully to the exiled family. When the duke of Cumber-

land arrived at Perth, on his way to the north, he caused the

duchess of Perth and the countess of Strathallan, 11th Feb-

ruary 1716, to be apprehended, conveyed to Kdinburgh and

imprisoned in the castle, and they were not liberated till the

17th of the following November. The duchess died in 1773,

aged about 90.

The elder son, .Tames, styled duke of Perth, joined Prince

Charles Edward, on his arrival at Perth, in September 1745.

He is said to have shot one or two of his vassals who refused

to take up arms for the prince, but the charge is very likely

to have been a fabrication. At the battle of Preston or

Gladsmuir, he commanded the right wing, as lieutenant-

general, " and," says Douglas, " in spite of a very delic.ite

constitution, lie underwent the greatest fatigues, and w.is

the first on every occasion of duty, where his head or his

hands could be of use ; bold as a lion in the field, but ever mer-

ciful in the hour of victory." He accompanied the Highland

army into England, and at the siege of Carlisle had the prin-

cipal command. He directed the attack, signed the capitu-

lation, and gave orders in the town till the prince's arrival.

On the retre.at from Derby, the duke was despatched from

Preston, with 100 horse, to bring up from Scotland some rein-

forcements which had arrived from France under his brother,

John, styled Lord John Drummond. The latter, who, with

the duke, was educated at the Scots college of Dou.ay, and

afterwards at Paris, had entered the service of tlie king of

France, for whom he raised a regiment called the Royal Scots,

of which he was appointed colonel. In November 1745, he

.arrived .at Montrose, in command of the troops sent to

Charles' assistance by the French king. He also brought

with him a train of artillery, and a considerable quantity of

arms and ammunition. He joined the prince at Stirling, on

his return from England, and commanded the left wing at

the battle of Falkirk. After the action he was slightly

wounded in the arm by a straggling shot, on entering the

town. The duke of Perth had been left at Stirling with sev-

eral battalions, to prosecute the siege of the castle. At the

battle of Culloden, the duke commanded on the left of the

first line. After that disastrous battle he escaped to the

coast of Moydart, where he embarked for France, but his

constitution being quite exhausted with the fatigues he had

undergone, be died on the passage, 11th May 17-lG, having

just completed his 33d year. His brother and heir, Lord

John Drummond, succeeded in making his escape to Fr.ancc,

and afterwards served with distinction under Marshal Saxe

in Flanders. After the siege of Bergen-op-Zoom in 1717,
he had the rank of major-general. At the time he received

this promotion he was lying ill of a fever, of which he died

the same year, without issue. Before this he had been at-

tainted by the British parliament, and his estates and titles

forfeited to the crown. On liis death, his uncle, the Hon.
John Drummond, also styled Lord John Drummond, assumed
the title of duke of Perth. He died at Edinburgh, 27th Oc-
tober 1757, and was buried in the Abbey church of Holyrood.

On his death, his brother, the Hon. Edward Drunnnond,
till then styled Lord Edward Drummond, assumed the title

of duke of Perth. He died at Paris, 7th February 1700,
when this line of the family became extinct.

On June 28, 1853, George Drummond, Duke de .Mellbrt,

Comte de Lussan, and Baron de Valrose, in France, descend-

ed from John, earl of Melfort, in the Scottish peerage, at-

tainted in 1095, was restored by act of parliament to the titles

of earl of I'erth and Lord Drummond of Stobliall and Monti-

fex. Viscount Melfort .and Forth, and Lord Drummond of

Kickertoun, and Oastlemaine and Galstoun, in the peerage of

Scotland; the said earl of Melfort being the Hon. John

Druminond, second son of the third earl of Perth, (see p.

137 of this volume). Born in London May 6, 1807, he was at

one time a e:iptain 93d Higldanders. He 7?!. 1st in 1831, the
i

Baroness Albertine de liothery, widow of General Conite

Rapp, issue, with a daughter, who died in infancy, 2 sons,

Willoughby, born in 1832, died in Feb. 1833. 2. Malcolm,

Viscount Forth, born at Naples, May 13, 1834, m. in 1855

Mary, eldest daughter of Hon. Adolplius Capel, and niece of

the earl of Essex, and died in 18G1, leaving a son, George

Essex Montifex, Lord Drummond, born in 1856. The eail

m. 2dly in 1847, Susan, widow of Col. Burrowes, and dr. of

Thomas Bermingham Sewell, Esq. of Athenry, issue 2 drs.

Perth, Baron, a title in the peerage of the United King-
|

dom, conferred, in 1797, on James Drummond, the lineal

descendant of John, earl of Jlelfort, who, in 1785, had ob-
j

tained possession of the Perth estates. He was also, at the

same time, created Baron Drummond of Stobliall. He died
j

in 1800, without surviving male issue, when his titles became

extinct; but the estates devolved upon the Hon. Clementina

Sarah Drummond, his daughter and sole heiress. In April

1807 she married the Hon. Peter Robert Burrel, eldest son

of the first Lord Gwydyr, who, on 5tli Nov. following, assumed,

by sign manual, the additional surname and arms of Drum-
;

mond. In .June 1820, he succeeded his father as 2d Lord
[

Gwydyr, and in December 1828, his mother as 19th Baron
1

Willoughby de Eresby, as well as joint hereditary great

chamberlain of England.

PICKEN, Andrew, a talented niiscellaiieous

writer, was born in Paislev in 1788. His fatlier, I

an eminent manufacturer in tliat town, educated

liim for the mercantile profession. At an early
|

age lie went to the "West Indies, but, being disnji- i

pointed in his prospects tlicrc, lie returned to Eu-

rope, and obtained a confidential situation in tlir

Bank of Ireland. He subsequently removed to

Glasgow, and entered into business in that city.

He first came before the world as an author in
j

1824, by publishing 'Talcs and Sketches of the

West of Scotland,' a work which had great local I
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success. In this volume appeared his popular and

pathetic story of ' Mary Ogilvie ;' and among the

Sketches was one ' On the Changes in the West

of Scotland during the last Half Century,' wliich

contained much playful satire, but some of the re-

marks unfortunately gave offence to the citizens

of Glasgow ; and this, with other circumstances,

induced Mr. Picken to quit that place. He re-

moved to Liverpool, where he establislied himself

as a bookseller.

In 1826, when the mania for speculation raged

like an epidemic in the world of business, Picken

joined in some of the hazardous projects of the time,

and lost his all. His creditors would readily have

assisted him to commence business anew, but he

pi-eferred following the precarious profession of an

author; he repaired to London with the manu-

script of a novel, called ' The Sectarian,' which

was published in 1828, and excited considerable

interest on its first appearance. It showed great

skill in wliat may be termed the morbid anatomy

of tlie mind
;
but, owing in a great degree to the

nature of the subject, it did not meet with the suc-

cess which its merits deserved. It had the effect,

liowever, of making the author known to the edi-

tors of the principal periodicals
;
and, from this

time, Mr. Picken became a regular contributor to

tlie leading Magazines and Reviews. Tiie publi-

cation of 'Tiie Dominie's Legacy' in 1S30 finally

established his fame as the delineator of Scottish

humble life. When Colbnrn's 'Juvenile Librarj-'

was projected, Mr. Picken undertook to supply

' Tiie Lives of Eminent Missionaries ;' but before

he had finislied his part of the contents, the work

was discontinued. Tlie 'Lives' were, however,

published in 1830 by Kidd, under the title of

' Travels and Rescarclics of Eminent English Mis-

sionaries,' and two large impressions were sold.

His next publication was 'Tlie Club Book, to

which several of the most popular living writers

contributed. The talcs written by the editor were

iu his happiest style. The story entitled 'The

Three Kearneys,' founded on circumstances which

he had witnessed during his residence in Ireland,

showed that the author had thorouglily investi-

gated the mixed character of tlie Irish peasantry.

The ' Deer-Stalkers,' also a tale of great interest,

was dramatized, and acted at the Queen's Thea-

tre with much success. Soon after, in the sum-

mer of 1832, he produced a work on the Canadas,

professedly a compilation, the information it con-

tained being condensed from original documents

furnished by his friend Mr. Gait, to whom the

volume is dedicated. To Leitch Ritchie's ' Libra-

ry of Romance ' he contributed ' Waltliam, a Tale,'
j

which, though not very favourably received, dis-
j

played high powers of thought and sentiment. i

In the course of 1833 he published 'Tradition-

ary Stories of Old Families,' in two vols , intended

as the first part of a series, which would embrace

the legendary history of Scotland, England, and

Ireland. The project excited considerable inter-

est, and man}' members of the aristocracy offered
j

to aid the author by giving him access to their
j

family papers. But he was not destined to finish
j

the work, or avail himself of the ample stores thus

opened to him. On November 10, 1833, while '

conversing witli his son, lie was suddenly struck

down with apoplex3^ He was conveyed home

insensible, but iu the course of a few Aays seemed

to be recovering, wlien a second stroke caused his

death on the 23d of the same month. He left a

widow and six children. A novel, which he had

completed shortly before his last illness, and which

he himself regarded as the best of his productions,

was published after his deatli under the title of

' The Black Watch ;' the original name of the gal-

lant 42d regiment.

PiNKERTON, a local surname, derived from lands in the

parisli of Crail, Fil'esliire. There is also a village of the

name in the iieiglibourhood of Dnnbar.

PINKERTON John, F.S.A., an eminent an-

tiquarv and industrious miscellaneous writer, was

born at Edinburgh, February 13, 1758, and claim-

ed to be descended from an ancient family, origi-

nally seated at Pinkerton, near Dunbar. His

grandfather, a yeoman at Dalserf, Lanarkshire,

had a numerous familj'. His father, James Pink-

erton, settled in Somersetshire, where having ac-
j

quired a moderate property as a dealer in hair, an

article, as wigs were generally worn, then greatly

in request, he returned to Scotland about 1755, i

and married a Mrs. Bowie, whose maiden name
|

was Heron, the widow of a respectable merchant

in Edinburgh, who brought him an increase of
|

fortune and three sons. James, the eldest, joined
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the army as a volunteer, and was slain at the bat-

tle of Minden ; wliile llobert, the second son,

succeeded to an estate in Lanarkshire left by tlie

father. The subject of tliis notice acquired tlie

rudiments of his education at a small school in

the suburbs of his native cit}-, and was in 17Gi

removed to the f^rammar school of Lanark, kept

by Mr. Thomson, the brother-in-law of ihc poet

of the Seasons, where he remained for six 3'ears.

He was afterwards apprenticed to Mr. William

Aytoun, an eminent wriler to the signet at Edin-

burgli, in wliose otlice he served five years. In

1770 he jiublished an Elcgj', called ' Craigmillar

Castle,' A\ hicli he dedicated to Dr. Beattie. He

also wrote one or tw o Tragedies, but these were

never printed. On the death of his father in 1780

ho visited London, principally with the view of

procuring copies of rare books, M hicli he could not

obtain in Edinburgh, aiul in the end of the fol-

lowing year was induced to settle there altogether.

In 1781 he published nn 8vo volume of miscella-

neous poetry, under the alfected title of ' Rimes,'

with dissertations prefixed ' On the Oral Tradition

of Poetry,' and 'On the Tragic Ballad,' which

reached a second edition. In 1782 he produced

'Two Dithyrnmbic Odes on Enthusiasm, and to

Laughter,' in a sixpenny quarto pamphlet, and

soon after ' Talcs in Verse.' In 1783 appeared

his ' Select Scottish Ballads,' in 2 volumes ; most

of the pretended ancient pieces in which wore fab-

rications of his own. The forger}' being detected

by a gentleman, who directly accused him of the

same, by a letter in the Gentleman's Magazine

for November 1781, he confessed himself guilty,

but, in jinlliation of his conduct, pleaded his youth

and purity of intention : professing that the impo-

sition was onl}' intended to give pleasure to the

world. " All which," snys the satirical Ritson,

(in his Essai/ on Scottis/i Sonr/, p. 77,) "it is to

be hoped he has found some charitable person to

believe."

A fondness for collecting medals, and other cu-

riosities, first caused by his having, while a boy,

received from a hidy a rare coin of the Emperor

Constanline, on his Sarmatian victory, which she

had taken as a farthing, drew his attention to the

defective stnte of all the books ])ublishcd on the

subject, and led him to prepare a manual and ta-

bles for liis own use, which he eventually enlarged,

and, in 1781, ]iubiished under the name of an

'Essa3'on Medals,' in 2 vols. In compiling this

excellent work he was materially assisted by the

late ]\Ir. Soutligato of the British jMuseum, and

IMr. Douce. In 1785, under the assumed name

of Robert Heron, the surname of his mother, he

published a singular work, entitled 'Letters of

Literature,' which was nnfortunafcl}' ascribed to

the ill-fated author of that name, then rising into

notice. This work is remarkalile for his dogmati-

cal depreciation of the Greek and Roman autliors,

and liis recommendation of a new system of or-

tliograpliy much more (jiitri: than tliat proposed

b)' Elphinstone. The book, however, obtained

for him an inti'oduction to Horace AVnlpole,

tln-ough whom he became acquainted M ith Gibbon

the historian, and by the latter he was recom-

mended to the booksellers ns a fit person to trans-

late a projected work called ' The English I\Ionk-

ish Historians,' which, liowcvei', •\\'as dropped

from want of encouragement. .Vfter the death of

the carl of Orford, a collection of his remarks,

witticisms, and letters, sold by Pinkerton to the

]iroi)rietors of the ^Monthly Slagazine, was pub-

lished in two small volumes, with a portrait, un-

d(>r the title of ' Walpoliana.'

In 178G Mr. Pinkerton published a selection of

'Ancient Scottish Poems, never before in print,'

with notes and a glossary, being chiefly taken

from the manuscript of Sir Richard I^Iaitland of

Letliington, in the Pepysi;in Librnr}' at Cam-

bridge, in which work, in a ' List of all the Scot-

tish Poets, with brief remarks,' he coolh- confesses

the forgery of several pieces in the previous col-

lection. In 1787 he brought out, under the feign-

ed name of H. Bennet, M.A., ' The Treasury of

Wit,' being a selection of apophthegms and jests,

from books in several languages, accompanied by

a discourse on wit and humour, considered under

four difi'erent heads. The same year he produced,

in one volume, his celebrated ' Dissertation on

the Origin and Progress of the Scythians or Goths,

being an Introduction to the Ancient and Modern

History of Europe,' in which those singidar pre-

judices against everything relating to the Celtic

name or nations, which pervade all his historical

and antiquarian disquisitions, were first fidly dis-
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played. la 1789 he edited a collection of ' An

-

cient Latin Lives of tlie Scottish Saints,' only one

hundred copies of which were printed, a work

which tended to illustrate the early history of his

native country. This was soon after followed by

a new and greatly enlarged edition of his 'Essay

on Medals,' which has become a standard work

for information in numismatics. In the same

year he piiblished an edition of Barbour's old Scots

poem of ' The Bruce, or the History of Robert,

King of Scotland.' In 1790 appeared another nu-

mismatic work, entitled 'The Medallic History of

England, to the Revolution.' Shortly after he

brought out ' An Inquiry into the History of Scot-

land preceding the Reign of Malcolm III., includ-

ing the authentic History of that period,' which,

from the many rare and curious documents it

contains, is of great value to the student of Scot-

tish antiquities. In 1792 he edited three octavo

volumes of ' Scottish Poems, reprinted from scarce

editions.

In 1793 Mr. Pinkerton married Miss Burgess of

Odiham, Hants, sister of the bishop of Salisbury
;

but the union was not a happy one, and a separa-

tion soon took place. In 1797 he issued another

work of laborious research and great importance,

in spite of the distorted style in which it is writ-

ten, entitled ' The History of Scotland, from the

Accession of the House of Stuart to that of ]\Iary,'

2 vols. 4to, embellished with a portrait of the

author, with " spectacles on's nose." Soon after

he published ' Iconographia Scotica, or Portraits

of Illustrious Persons of Scotland, with Biogra-

phical Notes ;' and in 1799 another similar work,

entitled 'The Scottish Gallery, or Portraits of

Eminent Persons of Scotland, with their Charac-

ters.' He next turned his attention to geography,

and in 1802 issued a standard work in two vols,

rtto, entitled ' The Modern Geography, Digested

on a New Plan ;' a second edition of which, in

three vols., was published in 1807. An abridg-

ment of which also appeared in one volume Svo.

In 1806 he visited the French capital, and on

his return published his observations, under the

title of ' Recollections of Paris,' in two volumes

8vo. Subsequently he was employed in superin-

tending ' A General Collection of Voyages and

Travels,' extending to seventeen volumes 4to

;

and a ' New Modern Atlas,' in parts, the former

of which was commenced in 1808, and the latter

in 1809. He also edited for a short time ' The

Critical Review,' with but inditiereut success.

His last original work was ' Pctralogy, or a Trea-

tise on Rocks,' which appeared in 1811. In 1814

he republished in two volumes 8vo, his 'Inquiry

into the History of Scotland,' along with his ' Dis-

sertation on the Scythians or Goths.' In his lat-

ter j'ears he resided almost entirely at Paris,

where he died, March 10, 1826. His appearance

was that of a verj^ little and very thin old man,

with a small, sharp, yellow face, thickly pitted by

the smallpox, and wearing a pair of green specta-

cles. He was an eccentric but highly industrious

literary workman ; and his talents, though in

some instances ill directed, were commensurate

with undertakings of no ordinary rank in litera-

ture. His portrait is subjoined

:

PiTCAiRX, a local surname, derived from hinds of tli:it

name in the parish of LesHe, Fifeshire. Tlie family of Pit-

cairn of ritcairn was one of the oldest in that county. Piers

de Pitcairn, their ancestor, swore fealty to Edward I. in

129G. Nisbet (Historical and Critical Remarks on Racjman

Roll, appended to System of Heraldry, vol. ii. p. 38) states

that he had seen charters of this family as far back as 1417,

and adds :
'• Of them was Robert Pitcairn, comniendator of

Dunfermline, secretary during the regency of Jloray, Lennox,
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Mar, and Morton; u great coinplier with eveiTtliing upper-

)nost, a great tiinesorver, a great enemy to Queen Mary, and

a very humble servant of the regents. There is no memory

of liiin remaining." He was one of tlie nine persons chosen

hy tlie regent Jloray to aecompany him to England in I0G8,

when lie wiMit to justify liis proceedings against (Jneen Mary,

and one of the commissioners for him during all the confer-

ences at York. Calderwood (Historic, vol. ii. p. r>O l) calls

hin\ " a wise and trustie man." He was ai)pointed a lord

of session in loGS, was often chosen a lord of tlie articles,

anil iu 1570 was seeret.ary of state, whicli oHice lie held

during the three succeeding regencies, and afterwards

niulcr Janu s VI. After the assa.ssination of the regent

Moray and tlie retirement of the lords of the queen's

party to Linlithgow, the commendator of Dunfermline

was sent ambassador to Queen Kli/.ahelh to solicit her

.•lid against them, and to signify to her that a regent

would not h' chosen without her appointment or consent.

In l.'(72 he was one of the commissioners appointed to meet,

" ami conclude with the superintendents and ministers in the

kirk, or commissioners authorised Iiy them, aneiit all mat-

ters" relating to the church. The following year lie was one

of the commissioners who signed the articles of p:icificatioii

concluded at Perth. In 1.578 he w.as sworn a member of the

king's council. On 'JRtli January 1,581, with the rest of the

king's household, he subserihed the second Confession of Faith,

commonly called the king's confession. He was one of the

parties engaged in the l!:iid of Kuthven in ].')82, and in Au-

gust of the following year, when Colonel William Stewart,

(see I'lTTK.NWiiKM, baron, post), had regained all his favour

with the king, the commendator of l)unfeiniline sent him

a velvet purse, containing 30 four- pound jiieces of gold,

and desired friendship with him. The colonel straightway

informed the king, insinuating that it was a bribe that he

might betr.iy his m;ijesty, and divided the pieces among thirty

of the guard. Kvery man bent Iiis piece and carried it hang-

ing at his knapsack or hat, all the way from Perth to

Falkland, wliile the purse was carried on a spear point,

{Cdldcriroocl, vol. iii. p. 721). A few days thereafter, tiie

commendator of Dunfermline was apprehended at Falkland,

where tlie king then was, ;iiid confined in I.oclilevcn castle,

where he remained about a month. He was set at liberty on

23d September, on tinding caution to remain in Dunfermline,

and about .six miles round about, under a pen.alty of £10,000.

On his death in 1,581, he was succeeded as commendator of

Dunfermline hy the master of Gray, on whose extrusion in

1,587, Henrv Pitcaiin hecanie commendator.

One of the family of Pitcairn of Pitcairn acquired by mar-

riafe the estate of Fortliar, also in Fifeshire, after which the

lands of Pitcairn went to a younger son, from whom was de-

scended Archibald Pitcairne of Pitcairn, the celebrated physi-

cian, poet, and wit, a memoir of whom is given below, in

larger type. Of the elder branch, David Pitcairn, M.I)., be-

came the representative, on the death of his uncle, Dr. Wil-

liam Pitcairn, who practised as a physician in London for

nearly half a century, and was many years president of the

college of physicians there. Of Dr. David Pitcairn a notice

is also given below, in larger type.

Mr. Kobert Pitcairn, writer to the signet, the editor of the

valuable and e.y:tensive collection of ' Ancient Crimin.-d Trials

of Scotland,' 3 vols. -Ito, which bears his name, was a native

of Perth. For a long time he was the head of the Fdin-

burgli Printing and Publishing Company, and secretary of

the Cidvin Translations Society, instituted in May 1843, for

the publication of new and original translations of the writ-

ings of .Toiiu Calvin. For the la.-t two years of his life he

111.

held a situation in the General Kegister House, Edinburgh

He died suddenly, on the street, in July 1855.

PITC.VlllNE, Auciiiis.vLu, an eminent pli_vsi

cian anil poet, wa.s boni at Etlinburgli, December

25, 1G52. Wis father, Alexander Pitcairne, who

was engaged in trade, and became one of tlie nia-

gisti'ate.s of that city, was a descendant, as above

indicated, of the ancient family of Pitcairn of Pit-

cairn, in Pifesiiire, and his mother, vvliose name

was Sydserf, belonged to ;i good faniil}' in tlio

county of Haddington, descended fi-oin Sydserf of

Riithlaw. lie commenced !iis classical education

at tiic school of Dalkeith, and from thence remov-

ed in 1668 to tlie university of Edinburgh, where

he obtained in 1671 his degree of M.A. lie stu-

died first divinity, and then the civil law, the lat-

ter of whicli lie pursued with so much ardour as

to injure his health, lie was, in consequence,

advised by his physicians to proceed to the south

of France ; but by the time he reached Paris ha

found himself much recovered, and resolved to at-

tend the law classes at the university thei'e.

^Meeting, however, with some of his countrymen,

who were medical students, he was induced to

abandon the study of the law, and for several

iiK.iiitlis attemli'd the hos])ita!s with them. On

his return to Edinburgh he became acquainted

with Dr. David Gregory, the celebrated professor

cif mathematics, and directing his attention to the

exact sciences, he soon attained to such prolicien-

cy as to make some improvements in the method

of inliiiite series, then lately invented.

Believing, with many learned men of his time,

that there was some necessary connection betu een

mathematics and medicine, and hoping to reduce

the healing art to geometrical precision, he finally

fixed on physic as a profession. There being,

however, in Eiiinburgli at this jieriod, no other

medical school than the sick-chamber and the

drug-shop, he returned to Paris about 167.5, where

he prosecuted his medical studies with diligence

and enthusiasm. In August 1680 he received

from the faculty of Rheinis the degree of M.D.,

which iu August 1G99 was likewise conferred on

him by the university of Aberdeen. After making

himself master of the science of medicine from the

earliest periods, he returned to Ivliiiluirgli, with

the lirm resolution to irl'orni and iinp,"o\e it iu

X
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practice. In November 1681 the royal college of

physicians of Edinburgh was incoi-porated, and

his name, as one of the first members, graced the

original patent from the crown. He settled as a

physician in his native city, and ere long rose to

the liighest eminence in his profession.

Soon after establisliing himself in Edinburgh,

he married Margaret, daughter of Colonel James

Ilay of Pitfour, who died, after bearing him a sou

and a daughter, when he wrote an elegiac poem

to her memory. The children, also, were soon

removed by death. In 1688 he published his

' Solutio Problematis de Historicis,' in vindicatioji

of Harvey's claim to the discovery of the circula-

tion of the blood. In consequence of his high

reputation, he was invited, in 1692, by the cura-

tors of the university of Leyden, to fill the chair

of physic there, at that time vacant. His well-

known Jacobite principles excluding him from all

public employments at home, he accepted the in-

vitation, and delivered his inaugural oration the

26th April of that year. During his residence at

Leyden, where among his pupils was the celebrat-

ed Boerhaave, he published several dissertations,

chiefly with the view of showing the utility of

mathematics in the study of medicine. In little

more than a year after, he returned to Scotland to

fulfil a matrimonial engagement with Elizabeth,

daughter of Sir Archibald Stevenson, one of the

king's physicians at Edinburgh. This lady he

married in 1G93, and as her friends were unwilling

that she should leave her native place, he resigned

his chair at Leyden, and once more settled in

practice in Edinburgli. His great success, how-

ever, as well as his powers of satire, soon raised

around him a host of enemies, and he was attacked

in various publications of the period, particularly

in a sarcastic little volume, entitled ' Apollo Ma-

thematicus,' the production of Dr., afterwards Sir

Edward, Eyzat. Sir Robert Sibbald having pub-

lished a treatise in ridicule of the new method of

applying geometry to physic. Dr. Pitcairne pub-

lished an answer in 169G, under the title of 'Dis-

sertatio de Legibus Ilistoria; Naturalis.' The

opposition to him was shown even within the

college of physicians itself. Having, on Novem-

ber 18, 1695, tendered a protest against the ad-

mission of certain Fellows, one of whom was Dr.

Eyzat, on account of its having been conducted in

an irregular manner, the matter was referred to a

committee, who, on the 22d, delivered in a report

that Dr. Pitcairne's protestation was " a calumni-

ous, scandalous, false, and arrogant paper." The

meeting approving of this report, did thereupon

suspend him " from voting in the college, or sit-

ting in any meeting thereof;" nay, it was even

proposed to proliibit him from the practice of phy-

sic. After a violent and protracted contention,

during which various attempts at reconciliation

were made, the president. Dr. Dundas, on Janu-

ary 4, 1704, proposed an act of oblivion, which

was unanimously agi-eed to, and Dr. Pitcairne re-

sumed his seat in the college.

In October 1701 the college of surgeons admit-

ted him a Fellow, an honour which had never

been bestowed upon any other physician. He

appears to have held, also, the nominal appoint-

ment of medical professor in the university of

Edinburgh. During the year last mentioned he

republished his Medical Treatises, with some new

ones, at Rotterdam, in one volume 4to, under the

title of ' Dissertationes Medicse,' dedicating the

work to Lorenzo Bellini, professor at Piza, who

had inscribed his ' Opuscula' to him. A more

correct edition of the same appeared a few months

before his death.

Dr. Pitcairne died at Edinburgh, October 20,

1713, and was interred in the Greyfriars' church-

yard. By his second wife he had a sou and four

daughters, one of whom, Janet, was, in October

1731, married to the earl of Kelly. He was uni-

versally considered the first physician of his time.

He is said to have had one of the best private

libraries of that day, which, after his decease, was

purchased by the czar of Russia. His Latin po-

ems, collected after his death, were, with others,

published by Ruddiman, in 1727, in a small vol-

ume, entitled ' Selecta Poeniata Archibaldi Pit-

cairnii et aliorum ;' and, according to Lord Wood-

houselee, they comprise almost all that are of anj^

value in that publication. He was also the author

of a comedy called 'The Assembly,' printed at

London in 1722, which Mr. George Chalmers

says is " personal and political, sarcastic and pro-

fane, and never could have been acted on any

stage."
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At the solicitation of his literary and political

friends Dr. Pitcairne was in the habit of printing,

for private circulation, the numerousycux (Vesprit

which lie composed from time to time with extra-

ordinary facility. These were generally on single

leaves or sheets of writing pajier, and many of

them were distinguished for their brilliancy and

elegant Latinit^^
;
but, from this ephemeral way

of distributing them, few of them, it is supposeil,

have been preserved. Of these pieces, Archibald

Constable, Esq., the well-known publisher of Ed-

inburgh, who died in 1827, and who was named

after Dr. Pitcairne, had formed a ver}' large and

valuable collection, with numerous manuscript

cfi'iisions in prose and verse. These ]\Ir. Consta-

ble had intended to publish, v illi the rest of his

miscellaneous poetry, accompanied by a Life of

Pitcairne, for ^^•hich he had amassed extensive

materials. A large fulio volume of printed and

]\IS. pieces, being part of these collections, appear-

ed in a London bookseller's catalogue, priced at

£10 10s. ; but it is not known into whose posses-

sion the volume was ti'ansferred.

A small atheistical pamphlet, attributed to Dr.

Pitcairne, entitled 'Epistola Arcliimcdis ad regem

Gelonem Alb;e Gra'ca?, reperta anno a'ra?. Christi-

ana;,' 1G88, was made the subject of the inaugu-

ral oration of the Rev. Thomas Ilalyburton, pro-

fessor of divinity in the university of St. .Andrews,

I

in 1710, which was published at Edinburgh in

1714, under the title of 'Natural Religion Insuffi-

cient, and Revealed Necessary to Man's IIap])i-

ness.' Dr. Pitcairne has been generally repre-

sented as a professed unbeliever, and it must be

admitted that his profane jests but too much ex-

posed him to the character of a scoft'er at religion.

But, as remarked b)- the writer of his life in the

Encyclopasdia Britannica, whatever doubts might

be entertained as to the soundness of his creed,

they are completely removed by his verses writ-

ten on Christmas Day ; and l^r. Drunimond has

stated, that, during his last illness, he continued

in the greatest tranquillity of mind, and evinced

just apprehensions of God and religion.

A pleasing specimen of this eminent physician's

poetical powers, being a poem ' On the King and

Queen of Fairy,' in two versions, Latin and Eng-

lijli, will be found in Donaldson's Collection, un-

der the assumed name of Walter Denestone. An :

account of the Life and Writings of Dr. Pitcairne, I

by Charles Webster, M.D., was published at Ed-
j

inburgh in 1781.

Dr. Pitcairne was likewise author of ' Babell,

or the Assembly, a Poem, m.dc.xcii.' Like the

comedy of ' Tiie Assembh',' this satirical poem

was written in ridicule of the proceedings of the

General Assemblj', in the year 1C92; but until

1830 it remained in iSIS., when it was printed for

the members of the Maitland Club, under the edi-

torial care of George R. Kinloch, Esq. That

gentleman made use of two MSS., one in the pos- !

session of Dr. Keith of Edinburgh, the other in '

the library of Mr. Dundas of Arniston, which had

fornierl}' belonged to the well-known Scottish col-

lector, Robert i\Iilne of Edinburgh.

Dr. Pitcairne's published works arc

:

Solutio Prolilpmatis de Historicis; seu de Inventorilms,

Dissei'tatio. Kdin. 1GS8. Afterwards much enlarged. Ley-

den, 1G93, 8vo.

Oratio, qua ostenditur Jledicinam ab omni plnlosopliandi

secta, esse liberam. Lu.^d. Bat. 1G92, 8vo. or 4to. Edin.

1713, 4to.

Babell, or the .Assembly ; a Poem. 1G92.

De Sanguinis Circuhatione iis animalibus genitis et non !

genitis. I.eydcn, 1C93, 4to.
]

Apollo JIatlieniaticus ; or tlie Art of Curing Diseases by
j

the Mathematicks, according to Dr. Pitcairne's principles,
j

1G95, 8vo.

Dissertatio de Curatione Febnum, qua? per evacnafiones

instituitur. Edin. lG9o, and in various collections.

Dissertatio de I.egibns Historic Naturalis. Edin. 1695,

12mo.

Dissertationes Medica?. Roterdam, 1701 , -Ito. The s.ime.

Edin. 1713, -Ito.

Opuscula Medica. Roterd.am, 1714, 4to.

Elementa Medica I.ibris duobus, quorum prior tbeoriam,

posterior praxin esbiliet. Hag. 1718, 4to. Leydeii, 1737,

8vo. In English, bond. 1718, 1727, 8vo.

The .Assembly; a Comedy, bond. 1722. New edition.

Edin.

Opera omnia, duobus tomis comprehensa. Hag. Cam.

1722, 4to.

Selecta Poemata Arcliibaldi Pitcnirnii ct aliorum. Edin.

1727, 8vo. Published by Ruddiman.

Opera omnia Medica. Ven. 1733. Leyden, 1737, 4to.

riTCAlRN, Davip, ."M.D., an eminent physi-

cian, the eldest son of aMajor John Pitcaii-n of the

marines, killed in the attack upon Bunker's Hill,

in 1775, and Elizabeth, daughter of Robert Dal-

rymple, Esq. of Annetield, Dumfries-shire, was

born May 1, 1749, in the house of his grandfa-

ther, the Rev. David Pitrairn, minister of Dysart,

Fifoshire. After being at the High school of
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Edinburgh for four years, lie attended the classes

at the university of Glasgow till he was twenty

;

spending much of his leisure time with tlie family

of the Kev. James Baillie, minister of 15othwell,

Lanarkshire, father of Dr. Matthew Baillie and

Joanna Baillie. In 1769 Mr. Pitcairn entered at

the university of Edinburgh, and studied medicine

there for three years. In 1772 he went to Lon-

don, and attended the lectures of Dr. AVilliam

Hunter and Dr. George Fordyce. About the

same time, that he might obtain an English de-

gree in physic, he entered at Bennet college, Cam-

bridge, where he graduated. In 1780 he was

elected physician to St. Bartholomew's hospital,

London, and in 1792 physician to Christ's hospi-

tal. The former ofiBce, on account of the great

increase of his private practice, he resigned in

1793. By the death of Dr. Warren in June 1797,

Dr. Pitcairn was placed at the head of his profes-

sion in London. It was his friendship for Dr.

Matthew Baillie which first brought that eminent

physician into notice. Although there was a

great disparity of years, there existed betwixt

them a long and uninterrupted friendship, and the

confidence reposed by Dr. Pitcairn in the profes-

sional abilities of his friend was sincere, Dr. Bail-

lie being his only medical adviser to the last mo-

ment of his existence.

Dr. Pitcairn died in April 1809. He was a

man of elegant literary accomplishments, joined

to much professional knowledge. In person he

was tall and erect. He was fond of country sports

and athletic games, particularly of golf. It was a

saying of his that " the last thing a physician

learns in the course of his experience is to know

when to do nothing." A flattering tribute to his

memor}', written by Dr. Wells, was inserted in

the Gentleman's Magazine soon after his decease.

Jt thus concludes: "Although of great practical

knowledge, and having made main' original obser-

vations on disease, he never published anything,

but he fell a victim to a disease which had before

escaped the observation of medical men, inflam-

mation of the larynx, and so had the peculiar and

melancholy privilege of enlightening his profession

in the very act of dying."

PrrsLiGO, Baron Forbes of, a title (attainted in 1740) in

tbe peerage of Scotland, conferred by patent, dated at Holy-

PITTENWEEM.

rood, 'J4tli March, 1633, to him and liis lieirs male whatso-

ever, on Alexander Forbes of Pitshgo, Aberdeensliire, descended

from Sir William Forbes, second son of Alexander de Forbes,

justiciary of Aberdeen, who died in 1405, (see vol. ii. p. 227).

On the death of the first Lord Pifsligo, 25tli October, 1635,

his son, Alexander, became second lord, and was succeeded

by his only son, .Alexander, third lord, who died in 1691. Of
his son, Alexander, fourth and last Lord Pitsligo, celebr.ated

for his share in the rebellion of 1745, .and for his v.arious ad-

ventures and escapes subsequent to it, a memoir is given at

page 238 of volume 2d. After Culloden, with Lord Ogihy

and Hunter of Burnside, lie got safe to Bergen in Norwav,

whence the party proceeded to Sweden. Lord Pitsligo after-

wards returned to Scotland, and lurked amongst his tenantry

in Aberdeenshire, till his death in 1762, at the advanced age

of 85. His sister, the Hon. Mary Forbes, by her first Inis-

band, John Forbes, younger of Monymusk, was the mother

of Sir ^Yilliam Forbes, baronet, father of the eminent banker

of that name, a memoir of whom is given at page 242 of

volume 2d. Lord Pitsligo's only son, John, master of Pitsli-

go, died in 1781, without issue.

The title is claimed by Sir John Forbes of Pifsligo and

Fettercairn, baronet
;
by Sir Cliarles Forbes of Newe and

Edinglassie, baronet; and by John Alexander Forbes, Esq.,

formerly lieutenant-colonel of the 92d Highlanders.

PiTTENWEEJl, Baron, a title (extinct) in the peerage of

Scotland, conferred in IGOG, on Frederick Stewart, son of

Colonel William Stewart, captain of the king's guard, who,

on 31st July 1583, obtained a charter of the priory and lands

of Pittenweem, and was thenceforth styled commendator

thereof. This Colonel William Stew.art, one of the unworthy

favourites of James VI., was the second son of Thomas

Stewart of Galston, in Ayrshire, third in descent from Alex-

ander Stewart of Dreghorn, second son of Alan Stewart of

Darnley. On obtaining favour at court he seems to liave

changed the spelling of his name to Stuart, as being of kin

to liis majesty. Calderwood (vol. iv. p. 448) says of him :

" Colonell Stuart was (as is constantlie reported) first a

cloutter of old shoes. He went to the Low Countries, wliere

he served in the warres, first as a souldiour, then .as a cap-

tane, at last as a colonell. He returneth home, and was im-

ployed by the king to apprehend anie subject, in anie corner

of the kingdom, that the court had anie querrell at. He
wanted not likewise his rewaird, for he was gifted with tlie

pryorie of Pittinweme, and marled the Ladie Pitfirrane, not

without siispicioun of the murther of her former liusband."

In October 1582 he and Mr. James Halyburton, provost of

Dundee, were the king's commissioners to the General As-

sembly. In January 1583, after the Raid of Rnthven, by

Colonel Stuart's interest, the king obtained permission from

the confederated lords to visit the earl of March at St. An-

drews, and on his entrance into the castle there, the colonel

ordered the gates to be shut, and his followers excluded.

The profligate earl of Arran soon regained his ibrnier place

in tlie royal favour. In April, Colonel Stuart was sent am-

bassador to England. At a parliament held at Edinburgh,

4th December of the same year (1583), those who had been

concerned in the Raid of Rnthven were declared guilty of

high treason. At this parliament it was also, says Calder-

wood, (vol. iii. p. 761,) "statuted that the old placks, ba-

ilees, three pennie peeces, and twelve pennie pceces, sould be

brought in betwixt and Julie next, to be brokin ; and that a

new coine be strickin, foure pennie groats, eight pennie groats,

sixteen pennie groats, and that they be three pennie fyne.

Yitt were they not so fyne. This was done to gett silver to

292
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Colonell Stewart to pay the wai,i;i-il nion nf wan-e. The

burrowes disasseiited from breaking of the ohi coin." In

AnJcrson's Diploniata et NximUmata Scollce are eiigi-aviiigs

of 13 gold and 23 silver coins of James VI., some of which

are here ^iveii

:

It was Col. Stewart, or Stuart, as lie called liiiiiself, who ap-

prehended the earl of (lowrie at Dundee, April l.S, 1854. (see

vol. ii. p. 340). The earl was beheaded at Stirling on the 4tli

of the ibllowing m(nith, and on the earls of Mar and Angus

and the master of Glanimis seizing the castle of th.at town,

Colonel Stuart hastened thither with 500 men. Hearing of

the approach of .lames with 20,000 men, they fled to Kng-

land, whence they returned in October 1585, with .i large

force, and having laid .siege to .Stirling castle, succeeded in

obtaining possession of it and of the king's persoir. On this

occasion, Colonel Stu.-u't, who had been directed to defend

the street at the west port of the town, had a narrow escape.

Being fiercely assaulted he fled to the castle, but was fol-

lowed, and overtaken by .Tames H.-ildane, brother of the laird

of Gleneagles, who, as he was laying liands upon him, was

shot by the colonel's servant. Joshua Henderson. This led to

the downfall .ind removal of the king's favourites, and Colonel

Stuart was deprived of the command of tlie king's guard.

In Juno 1589 he was sent to Denmark, with a full commis-

sion, to be present with the earl Marisehal, James' ambassa-

dor, at the ratification of the king's marriage with the prin-

cess Anne, the youngest daughter of the Danish king, and

having soon after returned to Scotland, he w.ts again de-

sp.itched, on 'iSth March 1590, by the nobility witli five

ships, to bring home the king and queen. On "JOtli January

Xh'yi he was warded in the castle of J-^dinburgh for taking

part with the qucei; in her intrigues against the chancellor,

but was soon released. On the 15th .August following, hav-

ing accused Lord Spynie of secret conference with the turbu-

lent earl of Bothwell, who at this time was the torment of

.lames' life, Spynie challenged him to single combat, on

which he was again imprisoned for a short time in the castle

of Edinburgh, Spynie being w.arded in that of Stirling.

In IGOG, the lands and baronies belonging to the priorj' of

Pittenwcem were by act of parliament erected into a tempo-

ral lordship, in favour of Colonel .Stuart's son, Frederick, to

him and liis heirs and assigns, and he had farther charters of

tlie same in KiOO and l(jl8. Lord Pittenwcem died without

issue, and the title has never been claimed by any heir gen-

eral or .assignee. Previous to his death, he disponed the

lordship to Thomas, earl of ICcIlic, who, witli consent of hi.s

son, Ale.N.ander, Lord Fenton, surrendered the superiority of

the same into the hands of tlic king.

l'L.\YFAIR, Joiix, an eminent niatlicniatician

and natnral pliilosoplior, born ;\rarch 10, 1748, at

Benvic in Forfar.sliire, vas tlic eldest son of tlie

llev. James Plaj fair, minister of the united par-

ishes of Liff and Benvic. He received the rudi-

mentary part of liis education at lioine
;
and, at

the age of fourteen, was sent to the university of

St. .\ndrews, M lierc lie soon became distinguislied
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1

for his love of stud}', and especially for the rapid

progress which he made in mathematical learning.

While yet a mere student, he was usually selected

by Dr. Wilkie, author of 'The Epigoniad,' then

professor of natural philosophy, to deliver the lec-

tures to his class during his own absence from in-

disposition. In 1766, when only eighteen years

old, he became a candidate for the professorship

of mathematics in Marischal college, Aberdeen.

After a lengthened and very strict examina-

tion, only two out of six rival competitors were

judged to have excelled him, namely. Dr. Trail,

who was appointed to the chair, and Dr. Hamil-

ton, who subsequently succeeded to it. In 1769

he went to reside at Edinburgh ; and on the death

of Dr. Wilkie, in 1772, he offered himself as his

successor, but was again unsuccessful. The same

year his father died ; and the care of providing

for the support of his mother and her young fam-

ily having in consequence devolved npon him, he

considered it his duty to enter upon the ministry,

for which he had been educated, notwithstanding

his strong predilection for scientific pursuits. He

accordingly applied to Lord Gray, the joint pa-

tron with the Crown, for the vacant living of Lifif

and Benvie, and his request was at once complied

with ; but his lordship's right of presentation be-

ing disputed, he did not obtain induction till Au-

gust 1773.

During the nine following years his time was

chiefly occupied with his pastoral duties, and the

superintendence of the education of his brothers.

He did not neglect, however, the prosecution of

his own philosophical researches. In 1774 he

1
visited Schichallion, in Perthshire, to witness the

experiments of Dr. Maskelyne, the astronomer

I royal, on the attraction of the mountains in that

I

district, on which occasion he formed a perma-

j nent friendship with that celebrated philosopher.

I His earliest contribution to science was a paper

jl

communicated to the Royal Society of London,

and inserted in their Transactions for 1779, 'On

the Arithmetic of Impossible Quantities,' which Is

said to exhibit a greater taste for purely analyti-

cal investigation than had been shown by any of

the British mathematicians of that age.

lu 1782 he was induced, by an advantageous

offer made to him by Mr. Ferguson of Raith, to

resign his charge, and to become the tutor of his

two sons, Mr. Robert Ferguson, subsequently a

member of parliament, and his brother, afterwards

Sir Ronald. In consequence of this arrangement,

he removed to Edinburgh with his pupils.

In 1785, when Dr. Adam Ferguson exchanged

his chair of moral philosophy for that of mathe-

matics, taught by Mr. Dugald Stewart, and, in

consequence of declining health, retired from the

duties of the professorship, Mr. Playfair was ad-

mitted into the university of Edinburgh as his

assistant, being appointed joint professor of math-

ematics. On the institution of the Royal Society

of Edinburgh, in 1783, he became one of its ori-

ginal Fellows, and in subsequent years he contri-

buted many valuable papers to its Transactions.

In 1789 he communicated his ' Remarks on the

Astronomy of the Brahmins,' which excited con-

siderable attention both in Europe and India, and

gave rise to much speculation and controversial

discussion. The same year he succeeded Dr.

Gregory as secretary to the physical class of the

society
;
and, owing to the illness of Dr. Robi-

son, the duties of general secretary, with the ar-

rangement of the Society's Memoirs for publica-

tion, were for many years chiefly performed by

him. In 1792 he communicated to the Society's

Transactions a learned treatise ' On the Origin

and Investigation of Porisms,' in which he gives a

clear and beautiful philosophical analysis of this

class of geometrical propositions.

In 1795 he published his ' Elements of Geome-

try,' for the use of the pupils attending his class,

a work which has gone through numerous edi-

tions. In 1802 he published his 'Illustrations

of the Huttonian Theory of the Earth,' in one

vol. 8vo, a work on which he had been engaged

for five years, and in which he powerfully, and

with all the arguments he could derive from rea-

son, science, and philosophy, effectively supports

the geological system of his friend Dr. James

Hutton, an admirable biographical account of

whom he communicated in 1803 to the Transac-

tions of the Royal Society.

On the death of Dr. Robison in 1805, Mr. Play-

fair succeeded him as general secretary to the

Royal Society, and also as professor of natural

])hilosophy in the university of Edinburgh. He
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;
resigned, in consequence, liis former chair of matli-

! ematics, on which occasion his class presented

him with a valuable astronomical circle, now in

tlie Observatory of the Astronomical Institution

at Edinburgh. The opposition of the clergy to

the appointment of Mr. Leslie as his successor in

the vacant chair, induced Mr. Playfair to come

forward in his vindication, which he did, first, in

a Letter to the lord provost, and afterwards in a

strongly-written pamiililet, i)ublishcd ui 1806, nei-

ther of which have been reprinted in the collection

of his works.

In 1807 he was elected a Fellow of the Royal

Society of London, and soon afterwards commu-

nicated to that learned body his ' LIthological

^

Survey of Schichallion,' which appeared in the

|j
Philosophical Transactions for 1811.

1
1 In 1814 appeared, in two vols. 8vo, his ' Out-

lines of Natural Pliilosopliv,' being the heads of

lectures delivered to his class, an elementary work

of great value. In 1815 he drew up for the Royal

Society of Edinburgh a very interesting memoir of

jj
his distinguished predecessoi-. Dr. John Robison,

which was published in their Ti-nnsactions. To

the Supplement of the ' Encydopaidia Britannica'

he contributed an Introductory Dissertation on

!
'The Progress of INIathematical and Physical Sci-

ence since the Revival of Letters in Europe ;'

^

which masterly production comprises not only a

! succinct history of the sciences, but also gives

' comprehensive biograi)liical sketches of those per-

sons by whom they have been principally culti-

vated in this and other countries. For the same

work he also wrote the valuable biographical ac-

j
I

count of iEpinus, and the learned article on ' Phy-

' sical Astronomy.'

Having planned a greatly enlarged edition of

his 'Illustrations of the Iluttonian Theory,' he

had at difterent times made excursions to various

parts of Scotland and England, for the purpose of

extending his geological inquiries, besides deriv-

ing materials for his intended republication, from

the most approved works on geology ; but he had

I no opportunity of visiting the Continent till the

general peace of 1815 threw it open to travellers

from Britain. At the age of sixty-eight he un-

dertook a long journe}' through France and Swit-

zerland into Italy, and spent a considerable time

in exploring the mineralogical and geological phe-

nomena of the Alps. On his return, after eigh-

teen months' absence, other occupations unfortu-

nately prevented him from maturing for publication

the vast body of valuable materials he had col-

lected for the proposed second edition of his Illus-

trations. For some time before his death he

suffered much from a severe attack of disease in

the bladder, which occasionally interrupted his

literary labours, and of which at last he died on

the morning of July 19, 1819, in the 72d year of

his age. A monument has been erected to his

memory on the Calton Hill, Edinburgh. His por-

trait is subjoined

:

His works are

:

Elements of Geometry, cont;iiiiing tlie first si.x books of

Kuclid, with two books on the Geometry of Solids : to wliich

are added, Elements of Plain and Spherical Tngononietry.

Edin. 1794, 8vo. Numerous editions.

Illustrations of the Iluttonian Theory of tlie Earth. Edin.

1802, 8vo.

A Letter to the Autlior of the Examination of Professor

Stewart's Statement. 1806, 8vo.

Outlines of Natur.il Philosophy, being Heads of Lectures

delivered in the University of Edinburgh. Edin. 1812, 1816,

2 vols. 8vo.

On the Arithmetic of Impossible Qu.mtities. Phil. Tr.ans.

1778, Abr. xiv. 356.

.^n Account of a Lithologic.al Survey of Schichallion, made

in order to determine the Specific Gravity of the Rocks which

compose that Mountain. lb. 1811, 317.
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On the Causes which afiect the Accuracy of Barometrical

Jleasureinents. Trans. Soc. Edin. 178G, vol. i. 87.

The Life of JIattliew Stewart. lb. vol. i. p. 57.

Remarks on the Astronomy of the Drahniins. lb. 1789,

vol. ii. 1.35.

On the Origin and Investigation of Porisnis. lb. 1792,

vol. iii. 154.

On the Trigonometrical Tables of the Brahmins, lb. 1795,

vol. iv. 83.

Meteorological Abstract for the years 1794, 1795, 179G.

lb. 213.

Investigation of certain Theorems relating to the Figure of

the Karth. lb. 1798, vol. v. 1 ; and in Nicholson's Journal,

vii. 102.

Meteorological Abstract for the years 1797, 1798. and

1799. lb. 193.

Biographical Account of the late Dr. James Hutlon. lb.

1803, vol. v. 39.

On Solids of Greatest Attraction. lb. 1807, vol. vi. 187.

On the Progress of Heat when communicated to Spherical

Bodies from their Centres. lb. 353.

Biographical Account of the late John Robison, IJ,.D., &,c.

lb. 1815, vol. vii. 495. The same, in Thoni. Ann. I'liilos.

vii. 169, 181G.

Dissertation second; exhibiting a general view of the Pro-

gress of JIatlieniatical and Physical Science since the revival

of letters in Europe. Part I. Part II. unfinished, in tlie

Supplement to the Encyclopaidia Britannica. 181G and 1819.

From 1804 Professor Playfair was a frequent contributor

to the Edinburgh Review, the majority of his articles being

of a scientific nature. The most celebrated of these is his

admirable analysis of the ' Mecanique Celeste' of Laplace,

and his masterly review of ' Leslie's Geometry.' In general

literature he wrote for the same periodical an able and inter-

esting paper on Madame de Stael's ' Corinne.' Tlie whole of

liis articles are reprinted in tlie fourth volume of the collect-

ed edition of his works published at Edinburgh in 1822, in

four vols. 8vo, with a Life prefixed by his nephew. Dr. .James

G. Playfair. An unfinished Memoir of .Tohn Clerk of Eidin,

the inventor of the N.aval Tactics, left by him in manuscript,

was published, after his death, in the 9th volume of the Ed-

inburgh Transactions. An interesting account of tlie cliar-

•acter and merits of this illustrious mathematician, from the

pen of Lord .Jeffrey, has been inserted in the Ii)ncyclop;rdia

Britannica, and in the Jlemoir prefixed to his works by his

nephew.

PLAYFAIR, "William, an ingenious nieclianic

and miscellaneous writet-, brotlier of the preced-

ing, was bom in 1759. His fatlier dying wlien

lie was very 3'oung, liis education and .support

devolved on his brother. He early discovered a

strong predilection for mechanical science, and

when of sufficient age was apprenticed for a short

period to a millwright of the name of Meikle, in

Dundee, where he liad for his fellow-apprentice

John Ronnie, the celebrated engineer. He subse-

quentl}' Avent to Birmingham, and was engaged,

in 1780, as a draughtsman, at tlic Soho Works,

in tlic employment of ^Ir. James Watt. Being

ambitious to be known as an author, he turned

his attention to politics and political economy, and

published a great variety of pamphlets connected

therewith. During the early period of his literary

career, however, he did not altogether neglect his

mechanical pursuits, having successively obtained

five patents for various inventions. He also in-

vented a machine to complete the ornamental

part or fretwork of silver tea-boards and sugar-

tongs, which had hitherto been executed by the

hand only. The same machine was applicable to

the manufacture of coach ornaments, buckles and

even horse shoes.

After residing some time at Birmingham he

went to London, where he opened a silversmith's

shop for the sale of plate of his own manufacture

;

but this he soon relinquished, and proceeded to

Paris, where he entered on some mechanical spe-

culations, particularly a rolling-mill on a new

plan, for the manufacture of which he obtained an

exclusive privilege. One of the most important

of his discoveries was that of the plan of the tele-

graph, then in constant use in France, which,

with an alphabet invented by himself, he commu-

nicated to the British government
;
though the

great service he thus renciered to his countiy was

not only totally unrewarded, but was even very

tardily acknowledged. He happened to be at

Frankfort-on-the-Maine, when a member of the

parliament of Bordeaux arrived at the same inn,

and described to him a telegraph which had been

erected on the mountain of Belville. Having at

once comprehended the plan, in the course of the

next daj' he executed two working models of the

instrument, which he sent to the duke of York

;

"and lience," says the Encyclopaedia Britannica,

" the plan and alphabet of the machine came to

England."

While residing in Paris, Mr. Playfair became

acquainted with Mr. Joel Barlow, who had been

sent to France as agent for the sale of about three

million of acres of land, on the banks of the Sci-

oto, a river falling into the Ohio, which had been

purchased by a company at New York, to be dis-

posed of in lots to intending emigrants. As Mr.

Barlow was without connections in Paris, and un-

acquainted with the French language, Playfair

undertook the management of the business. The

lands were to be sold at five shillings per acre,
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one-half to be paid on signing tlie act of sale, and

the other half to remain on mortgage to the Unit-

ed States, to he paid -within tw o years after taking

possession. In November 17S9 lie opened an

office in a street contiguous to the Palais Royal,

and in less than two months fifty thousand acres

of land were disposed of. Two vessels sailed

from Havre laden with the first settlers in the

colony of Scioto, which was thus formed by Mr.

Playfair. Having soon after unfortunately ex-

pressed himself in an unguanlcil manner concern-

ing the French llcvolution, he incurred the hos-

tility of Barrere, tlie president of the National

Convenlion, who obtained an (u'der for his arrest.

Being, however, seasonably apjirized fif his dan-

ger, he succeeded in escaping into Holland, and

thence returned to England. On his arrival in

London, he projected a Bank, under the name of

the Security Bank, which was opened in Cornhill.

Its object was to divide large securities, so as to

facilitate the negotiation of small loans; but suf-

ficient attention not being paid to the nature of

the securities, bankruptcy ensued. Ho now de-

voted himself more closel}' than ever to literary

pursuits, and his life, like that of most authors,

was henceforth miu'h chequered. His pamphlets

and other publications, which are chiefly on sub-

jects of temporary interest, amount to nearly a

hundred distinct works. In politics he was a firm

supporter of Government, and able vindicator of

its measures towards France.

On the restoration of the Bourbons, he went

again to Paris, and was for soine time editor of

Galignnni's Messenger, until obliged to quit France

b}' a prosecution for libel. From that jjcriod he

picked up a precarious living in London by cssa\--

writing and translating. He died February 1],

1823, in the C4th year of his age
;
leaving a wi-

dow, two sons, and two daughters, one of the lat -

ter being unfortunateh- blind.

His prineijial works are :

rti'gulatioiis tor tlie Interest of Money. 17S.5. Rvn.

TIio Commerciiil and Political Atlas. I.onci. ITSd, 4to.

On theNational Debt, with copperplate Cliarts. 1787, 4to.

Tlie Inevitable Consequences of a Reform in rarliainent.

1792, 8vo.

A General View of tlie .\otiial Force and Hesources of

France in 179.3; to wbicli is ailded, a Talde, .sbowini; tlie

nepreciation of Assignats, ari^in!; from tlicir increase in

quantity. I.ond. 1793, 8vo.

Better Prospects to the Mercliants and Manufacturers of

Great Britain. Lond. 1793, 8vo.

Tiionglits on the Present State of French Politics. Lnnd.

1793, 8vo.

Peace with the .Tacobins impossible. 179t, 8vo.

Letter to Karl Fitzwilliam, occasioned by liis two Letters

to the Earl of Carlisle. 1795, 8vo.

The History of Jacobinism, its Crimes, Cruelties, and Per-

fidies; comjirising an Inquiry into the manner of disseminat-

ing, under the appearance of philosophy and virtue, princi-

ples which are equally subversive of order, virtue, rehgion,

liberty, and happiness. Lond. 179a, 8vo.

A Ileal Statement of the Resources and Finances of Great

Britain. 179G, 8vo.

Letter to Sir W. Pulteiicy, Bart., on the ICstalilislimeiit of

another Public Bank in London. Lond. 1797, 8vo.

Statistical Tables, exhibiting a View of all the States of

Europe; translated from the German of Boetticlicr, with a

Supplementary Table containing the changes since the publi-

cation of the original Work. Lond. 1800, 4to.

Strictures on the Asiatic Establishments of Great Britain,

with a view to an Inquiry to the true Interests of the East

India Company. Lond. 1800, 4to.

'I'he Statistical Breviary, on a principle entirely new ; the

Resources of every State and Kingdom in Europe, illustrated

with Pl.-vtes; to which is added, a similar exhibition of the

Ruling Powers in Ilindostan. Lond. 1801, 8vo.

Proofs relative to the Falsification by the French of the

intercepted Letters found on board the Admiral Aplin East

Indiaman. Lond. 1804, 8vo.

An Inquiry into the permanent Causes of the Dcdine and

Fall of Powerful and Wealthy Nations, illustrated by four

engraved Charts. Lond. 1805, 4to.

Smith's Wealth of Nations, with Notes, Supplementary

Chapters, &c. Eleventh Edition, 1805, 3 vols. 8vo.

A Statistical Account of the United States of -America,

translated from the French. 1807, 8vo.

Briti.sli Family Antiquity. Lond. 1809-10. 5 vols. 4to.

Plan for establishing the Balance of Power in Europe.

1813, 8vo.

Political Portraits of this new .'Era, with Notes Historical

and Biographical. 1814, 2 vols. 8vo.

The Statement of Buonaparte s Plot made to Earl Buthurst

and the French Ambassador. 1815, Svo.

Supplementary Volume to Political Reports in this new
vEra, with Explanatory Notes, Historical and Biographical.

Lond. 1816, 8vo.

France as it is; not Lad)' Morg.an"s France. 1820, 2 vols.

8vo.

Pollock, a surname derived from lands in Reiifiew.shire,

called, since the 14tli century, the parish of Eastwood, from

.an extensive forest which was fbrnierly there. The name is

supposed to be from the Gaelic poUarj, ' a little pool.' In old

writings the name is spelled Polloc and Pollolc, the latter be-

ing the form genendly adopted. The greater part of the par-

ish belongs to Sir .John Maxwell of Nether Pollok, baronet.

I'ciLl.oK, the name of an ancient family of Renfrcw.sliire,

descended Irom Robert, youngest brother of " Pctrus son of

Fulbert," who was the first to assume this surname from his

hereditary lands of Pollok in that county. About 1163, the

church of Pollok, with its pertinents, was granted by Peter

de Pollok to the then recently foimded monastery- of Pai.sley.

His next brother, Helias, gave to the same monastery the

church of .Me.arns, the next parish to Eastwood. Peter de
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Pollok was also possessor of the barony of Rotlies, Aberdeen-

shire, whicli he gave to his daughter, Mauricle de Pollok, or, as

some say, his grand-daughter, Eva de Jlortach, who married

Sir Norman Leslie, and was the ancestress of the earls of

Rothes, (see RoTiins, earl of). Peter de Pollok was suc-

ceeded by his brother Robert, who is witness in the donation

of the kirks of Strathgryfe and Innerwick by Walter, dapifer,

founder of the monastery of Paisley in the beginning of the

reign of William the Lion. He is also a witness in several

of the charters of Allan the son of Walter. Robert, son of

Robert de Pollok, mortified a yearly rent to the same mon-

astery, for the soul of Peter de Pollok, and Robert, son of

Fulbert, his father. In the reigns of Alexander IL, and Al-

exander III., Thomas de Pollok is witness in many charters.

John Pollok of Pollok, the twelfth in descent from the first

Robert, fought on Queen Mary's side, at the battle of Lang-

side, for which he was forfeited. His son, John Pollok of

Pollok, was killed at the faction fight of Lockerbie in 1593,

when assisting his kinsman, Lord Maxwell, against the laird

of Johnstone.

His descendant. Sir Robert Pollok of Pollok, for his dis-

tinguished services in the reigns of William III. and Queen

Anne, was, by the latter, created a baronet of Nova Scotia,

13th November 1703. He was a commissioner for the shire

of Edinburgh to the Scottish Estates, and after the Union he

represented that county in the Imperial parliament. On his

death in 1736, his grandson, Sir Robert, became the second

haronet. He married Ann, daughter of the ReV. Cornelius

Crawfurd, of the family of Jordanhill, and had an only daugh-

ter, Cornelia, who succeeded to the estate, on her father's

death in 1783. Dying in infancy two years afterwards, the

estate was next inherited by her aunt, Jean Pollok, daugh-

ter of Walter Pollok, 2d son of the 1st baronet, and sister of

the 2d baronet. She was succeeded by her cousin, Robina,

only child of Captain John Pollok of Balgray, 3d son of the

1st bart. This Captain John Pollok was killed at the battle

of Fontenoy in 1745. She married Sir Hew Crawl'urd of Jor-

danhill, bart., (see vol. i. p. 70G,) and had 2 sons and 3

daughters. On tl:e death of Sir Hew, July 1, 1794, he was

succeeded in the baronetcy of Kilbirnie, by his eldest son. Sir

Robert, in whose person the families of Pollok of Pollok and

Crawfurd of Kilbirnie and Jordanhill were united. On the

death of his mother in 1820, he became possessed of her es-

tate, when he assumed the additional name of Pollok, in terms

of the settlement of the Renfrewshire property. He died,

without issue, Aug. 7, 1845, when his nephew, Sir Hew Craw-

furd Pollok of Pollok and Kilbirnie, born in 1794, eldest son

of Captain Hew Crawfurd, deceased, succeeded to the estates

and the baronetcy of Kilbirnie, whicli last dates from 1G38.

He married Elizabeth Oswald, daughter of Matthew Dunlop,

Esq., issue, a son. Hew, born in 1843, and a daughter, Jane.

POLLOK, RoBEUT, M. A., author of 'The

Course of Time,' was born in 1799, in the parish

of Eaglcsham, Renfrewshire, at the farm of North

Muirhouse, of which his father, John Pollok, was

tenant. The farmliouse was overshadowed by some

trees, to whicli he thus alludes in his poem

:

" Much of my native scenery appears,

And presses forward to be in my song

;

But must not now
; for much behind awaits

Of higher note. Four trees I pass not by,

Which o'er our house their evening shadow threw:

—

Three ash, and one of elm. Tall trees they were,

And old ; and had been old a century

Before my day. None living could say aught

About their youth ; but they were goodly trees

:

And oft I wondered, as I sat and thought

Beneath their summer shade, or in the night

Of winter heard the spirits of the wind

Growling among their boughs—how they had grown

So high in such a rough tempestuous place

:

And when a hapless branch, torn by the blast.

Fell down, I mourned as if a friend had follen.''

His mother, Margaret Dickie, was from the par-

isli of Fenwick. Her ancestors, of the name of

Gemmel, were for many generations possessors of

a property in that parish called Horseliill. He
acquired the rudiments of his education at Lang-

lee, and at a school at Newton-MeaiTis. For

some time he assisted his father on the farm, but

finding the laborious duties of an " npland farm-

er" too arduous for his constitution, he abandoned

the plough, and went to reside at Barrhead with

David Young, a brotlier in-law, for the purpose

of learning the carpenter trade. After making a

few chairs and some other trifling articles, he be-

came dissatisfied with a mere mechanical employ-

ment, and took up his abode with an uncle, Mr.

David Dickie, at Fenwick, where, with a view

to the ministry of the United Associate church,

he applied himself to study. He learned Latin

and Greek under Mr. Fairlie, the parish teacher,

and subsequently went to the university of Glas-

gow, where, after the usual curriculum, he took

his degree of master of arts. He next attended

the divinity hall of the United Secession church,

at Glasgow, under the Rev. Dr. Dick of that city,

at that time sole professor of theology in that

communion. He seems also to have attended the

theological lectures of Professor ]\LacGiIl in Glas-

gow university.

In the spring of 1827, he was, by the United

Associate presbytery of Edinburgh, with his bro-

ther, licensed to preach the gospel. In the begin-

ning of the same year, his celebrated poem, 'The

Course of Time,' was published by the Messrs.

Blackwood of Edinburgh, and at once took a

foremost place in his country's literature. It is

in blank verse, extending to ten books, and
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throughout displays a strong original genius, with

frequently a power and enthusiasm most extraor-

dinary in so young a man. The style, always

expressive and fervid, is often scriptural and

intensely poetical. It speedily passed through

numerous editions. A beautifnlly illustrated edi-

tion was issued by the same publishers in 185G.

Soon after receiving his license, he was attacked

with pulmonary disease, and went to reside, for a

short time, at Aberdeen, without any visible im-

provement of his health. lie preached once for

Dr. John Brown, in the United Presbyterian

church, East Rose Street, Edinburgli, and once

or twice for Dr. Belfrage, Slateford. These were

his only pulpit appearances. He spent the great-

er part of the summer of 1827 under the hospita-

ble roof of Dr. Belfrage, and received every ad-

vantage which the best medical skill and the

anxious attentions of atfectionate friends could

bestow.

As the malady under which he suffered seemed

to gain ground, lie was advised by Dr. Abercroni-

bie of Edinburgh, and other eminent physicians,

to remove to a more genial climate during the ap-

proaching winter. It was, therefore, determined

that he should set out for Pisa, in the grand-

duchy of Tuscany, and the means for prosecuting

such a journey were readily supplied by the ad-

mirers of his genius. In the commencement of

autumn he left Edinburgh, accompanied by his

sister, afterwards I\Irs. Gilmour, Eaglesham, and

travelled by a steam-vessel to London. During

the short time he remained in that city he resided

at Camberwell with his kind and hospitable coun-

tryman, John Pirie, Esq., subsequently Sir John

Pirie, an eminent shipowner and alderman, who,

in 18-12, was lord mayor of London, to whom he

had been introduced by a mutual friend, and who

made every exertion to contribute to his comfort.

After arrangements had been entered into for

his voyage to Italy, his medical advisers in Lon-

don, fearing that he would never reach that coun-

try, recommended his immediate removal to the

south-west of England, and the neighbour-

hood of Southampton was selected as a suitable

situation. On his arrival there, he took up his

residence on Shirly Common. His disease, how-

ever, had made too much progress to be arrested.

and in the course of a few weeks he died of con-

sumption, September 18, 1827. He lies buried

in the churchyard of Millbrook, the parish in

which Shirly Common is situated. An obelisk of

Peterhead granite has been erected over his grave,

bearing, with the dates of his birth and death, the

following simple inscri]ition :
—"Tlie Grave of

Robert Pollok, A.M., Author of 'The Conr.se of i

Time.' His immortal Poem is his Monument."

Pollok was also the author of three small juve-

nile tales, at first published anonymousl}', under

the title of 'Tales of the Covenanters.' After his

death they were reprinted with his name. It was

chiefly from the details of the sufferings of her

own family in the time of the persecution in Scot-

land in the seventeenth century, as related to him

by his mother, that the poet was led to their com-

position. An edition of these tales was published

by W. Oliphant of Edinburgh in 1833, with a
|

portrait and a Life of the author. His portrait is

subjoined :

One of his early tales was named ' Ralph Gem-

mel, a Tale for Youth.' The Bible he had studied

intensely, and hence acquired that scriptural style

which often glows in long passages in 'The Course

of Time.' Milton, Young, and Byron, were the
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only poets he read. The spirit of poetry and in-

spiration was formed, and "became a living soul"

within him, in the green moorland solitudes round

about his fatlier's house, in the wild and beautiful

parishes of Eaglcsliam and Meariis. His short

compositions, written in early youth, gave little

promise of power, and most of them were destroy-

ed about the time of tlie publication of ' Tlie

Course of Time.' lie was only 27 when he died.

He may be described in his own words

:

" A youth of great religious soul, who sat

Rotired in voluntary loneliness,

In reverie extravagant now wrapped,

Or poring now on book of ancient date,

Witli filial awe, and dipping oft his pen

To write immortal things."

His father died in 1841. His mother's death took

place in 1825. Besides his brother, his cousin,

the Rev. Robert PoUok, Avas a minister of the

United Associate Synod, the latter at Buckhaveii

in Fife.

PoLWARTH, Baron, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred 2(jtli December, 1G90, on the distinguished statesman

and patriot, Sir Patricic Hume, who, on 2od April 1697, was

raised to the higher dignity of earl of Marchmont, (see page

103 of this vol., and page oU2 of vol. ii.). Tlie Pohvartli

peerage was in remainder to the heirs male of his body, and

failing these to the heirs general of such heirs male. The

title, with that of earl of Jfarchmont, became dormant on

the death of the third earl, lOtli January 1794. His youTig-

est daughter, Lady Diana Hume, mari'ied Walter Scott of

Harden, P)erwickshire, M.P., who died 25th January 1793.

She was the only one of the earl's three daugliters who left

surviving issue. Their only son, Hugh Scott of Harden,

succeeded, in 1835, in establishing his claim to the title of

Lord Polwarth, before the House of Lords, and thus became

fourth Lord Polwarth. He married the daughter of Hans

Morits, Count von Bruhl, Saxon minister in England, and

died Dec. 28, 1841. aged 83. His son, Henry Fr.incis Hep-

burne-Scott, born Jan. 1, 1800, succeeded as otli Baron Pol-

wartli. In 1843 he was elected one of the IG representative

Scots peers, and in 1845 was appointed lord-lieutenant and

sheriff-principal of Selkirkshire. In 1835 he married Geor-

gina, 3d daugliter of George Baillie of Jerviswoode and Mel-

lerstain, witli issue, 2 sons and 3 daughters. His elder son,

Walter Hugh, master of Polwarth, was born Nov. 30, 1838.

His lordship assumed the additional surname of Hepburne,

in consequence of tlie estates of tlie Hepburnes of Ilunibie

(see vol. ii. p. 468) having descended to him through Helen
Hepburne, countess of Tarras, his great-great-grandmothcr.

Lord Polwarth is twelfth baron of Harden, representative of

the Scotts of Synton, and twenty-second in lineal male de-

scent from Uchtred Fitz-Scott, who flourished in the reign of

David I. By the failure of the male heirs of Sir Robert

Scott of Murdochstone, from whom derives the ducal liouse of

Buccleuch, the chieftainship of all the Scotts in Scotland,

devolves on Lord Polwarth, both families being descended

from sons of Sir Michael Scott, who was killed in 1346.

Pont, a surname rare in Scotland, and in the case of the

sidijects of the two following memoirs, a contraction of Kil-

pont. Lord Kilpont was the secondary title of the earl of

Airth, a peerage dormant since 1694. " The kindred names,"

says Lower, (^Enr/Ush Surnames, i. p. 81,) '^Pontuts,

Ponio, Dupont, Da Ponte, &.c., occur in most of the ancient

and modern languages of Europe," and are derived from

Pons, a bridge.

PONT, Robert, an eminent clnirchman, judge,

and miscellaneous writer, gonerall}- called, in his

younger years, Kynpont or Kylpont, was born at

Culross about 1524. Dr. Andrew Crichton, in a

note to his Life of the Rev. John Blackadder, says

that he was the son of John du Pout, an illustri-

ous Venetian, who, being banished his countr}'

for professing the Reformed religion, came to

Scotland in the train of Marj' of Guise, queen of

James V. ; and that Nicholas du Pont, or da

Ponte, father of the said Jolin du Pont, was elect-

ed doge of Venice in 1578. Queen ISIary of

Guise, however, did not arrive in Scotland till

1538, which is inconsistent with the date of Ro-

bert Font's birth, and the probability is that his

parents, like himself, were natives of Scotland;

where the surname of Pont is stated to have been

known long before the Reformation. He received

the rudiments of his education at Culross school,

and in 1543 went to the university of St. An-

drews, where, after finishing the philosophical

curriculum, he entered on the study of theology.

It is conjectured that he afterwards studied \a\y at

one of the continental universities. In 1559 his

name appears as an elder in the kirk-session rec-

ord of St. Andrews, and he Avas sent as one of the

commissioners from that place to the first General

Assembly, by which he was, with twenty others,

declared fully qualified for the ministry.

In 1562 Pont was appointed to preach till the

next Assembly at Dunblane, and in the following

December he was named minister of Dunkeld.

In 1563 he was put upon the leet with Bishop

Alexander Gordon for the office of superintendent

of Galloway, but was not elected, and b}^ the As-

sembly of the same j'ear he was appointed com-

missioner to visit the diocese of Sloray. Being

deeply skilled in the canon and civil laws, and

highl}' esteemed for his prudence, zeal, and learn-

ing, he took an active and influential part in all
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the ecclesiastical triiiisiictioiis of tliat periotl. In

loOG the Assembly approved of liis ' Traiislatioii

and Interpretation of the (latter) Helvetian Con-

fession,' and ordered it to be printed. In 1570

he was chosen moderator of the Assembly, an

oflice to which he was fonr times elected after-

wards. In January 1571 he was apjiointed pro-

vost of Trinity college, Edinburgh ; and in tlie

same 3-ear he was proposed by the regent as a

senator of the college of justice. This dignity he

did not deem himself at liberty to accept until he

liad obtained the sanction of the General Assem-

bly, which he accordingly received on January

12, 1572. The following year he was charged

with neglect of duty in non-residence and not

visiting the churches in ]\Ioray ; and for his ex-

cuse alleged want of leisure in conse(iuence of

his judicial duties. In November of the same

year (1573) he received a pension from the king

of ;>00 merks, on account of lun ing no ecclesias-

tical living " quhairupon he may comniodiously

leif." In the Assembly of February 1571 he re-

signed his office of commissioner of Moray ; and

in that year was appointed colleague to AVilliam

Ilarlaw, minister of St. Cuthbert's church, Edin-

burgh
;
and, December 2',), 1581, was presented

to the vicarage of St. Cuthbert's, vacant by Ilar-

law's decease.

In July 1574 he was, with others, appointed by

the Assembly to revise all books that were printed

and published. About the same period he drew

up the Calendar, and framed tlie rules for under-

standing it, fir Arbuthnot and Bassandyne's edi-

tion of the Bible. He had also a considerable

share in the preparation of the Second Book of

Discipline. In 1582 he became, on invitation,

minister of St. Andrews, but did not remain there

above a year. In 1581 he publicly protested,

with I^Ir. Walter Balcanqual and Mr. James

Lawsou, ministers, in name of the clergy and peo-

ple of Scotland, against the acts uf parliament

concerning the church, commonly called "The

Black Acts," on their proclauiatiiMi at the market-

cross of Edinburgh
;

anil, having been di'inived of

his seat as a lord of session, he lied to England

with many of his brethren : but in a few months

he returned to Scotland ^itli ihc earl of .\ngus,

and the other Protestant lords. He now re-unied

his ministerial duties at St. Cuthbert's, and in

1587 was nominated by the king to the temjjo-

rality of the bislioi)ric of Caithness, but the As-

sembly refused to ratif}' the apjiointment. In

15'.tl he was directed by the Assembly to write

against sacrilege, and his three sermons on that

subject, after being approved of by the presbytery

(if Edinburgh, were jiriuted in 15'Ji.). In 1594 he

]iublislied 'A New Treatise of the Right Reckon-

ing of Yeares and Ages of the World,' with the

^ iew of showing that the year IGOO was errone-

ously supposed to be the year of Jubilee. In 1600

he and two others were chosen commissioners to

visit Orkney and C'aithuess ; and in IGOl the

Assembly ajipointed him to revise the Psalms. In

1G04 he i)ublished a Latin treatise on the Union

of the Two Kingdoms. He died May 8, IGOG.

A second edition of his work on the Jubilee

Year was published in quarto in 1C19, in which

year appeared also his ' De Sabbaticornm anno-

rum periodis.' His ' Chronologia de Sabbatis'

was published at London in 1G2G. He left sev-

eral woi'ks in manuscript, which, however, have

not been preserved.

He was twice married : first, to Catherine,

daughter of Masterton of Grange
;
and, secondly,

to iMargaret Smith, who survived him. One of

his daughters by the first marriage, Helen Pont,

married Adam Blackadder of Blairhall, the grand-

father of the Rev. John Blackadder. Of his eld-

est son, Timothv, a brief notice follows. His

second son, Zachary, obtained in October 1590,

a full license, under the pri\ y seal, as chief printer

within the realm. He married Margaret, a daugh-

ter of John Knox by his second wife, and is men-

tioned as minister of Boar, in Caithness, in 1G05.

Dr. IVrCrie, in his Life of Knox, however, states

tliat it was Robert I'out, the fither, who married

Knox's daughter. His works arc :

'I'hii'C Sermons ajrainst Sacrilege. Edlii. 1509, 8vo.

A mnve TiT;itise uf tliu right reckoning of Yearcs and Ages

of the World, and men's lives, .ind of the estate of the last

ilccaj-ing age thereof, this IGOO ycare of Clirist, (erroneously

l alled 11 yeare of jubilee,) which is from the Creation the

.")j4S veare. Containing sundrie singularities, worthie of ob-

servation, concerning courses of times, and revolutions of tlie

Heaven, and reformations of Kalendar.s, and prognostications,

&c. &c. Edin. 1599, 4to. Latine. 1G19, 4to.

De Unione 15ritaiini:c, seu de Uegnonim Anglia- et Scotia^

i.iiiniumqup adjacentiuni insulaium in unani mouarchiam
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consolidatione, deque multiplici ejus unionis utilitate, dialo-

gus. Edin. 1604, 8vo.

PONT, Timothy, a celebrated topographer,

eldest son of the preceding, is styled, in the Bool;s

of Assignation 1601-8, "Minister of Dwnet."

Very little is known of his personal history, and

tlie precise date of Ids death has not been record-

ed. According to Sibbald, he undertook, in 1608,

a pedestrian expedition to explore the more re-

mote parts of Scotland. Bishop Nicholson de-

scribes liim as " a complete mathematician, and

the first projector of a Scotcli Atlas, for wliicli

great purpose he personally surveyed all the sev-

eral counties and isles of the kingdom." The

originals of his maps are preserved in the Advo-

cates' Libraiy. They were ordered by King

James to be purchased from his heirs; and Sir

John Scott of Scotstarvct afterwards prevailed

upon Sir Robert Gordon of Stralocli to prepare

tliem for publication. Their revision was conti-

nued by his son, Mr. James Gordon, parson of

Rothiemay, with Avhose corrections and amend-

ments they were published in Bleau's Atlas, un-

der the title of ' Theatrum Scotiaj.'

Pope, a surname common to botli England and Scotland,

thongli somewhat rare in the hitter. In the list of those

present at the meeting of tlie General Assembly at Glasgow,

in June 1610, we find the names of Mr. William Pope and

Jfr. Thomas Paipe, both ministers. The Rev. Alexander

Pope, minister of Reay, Caithness-shire, who died in 1776,

was the author of a Description of the Shires of Caithness,

Strathnaver, and Sutherland, in Pennant's Tour. He also

wrote a Description of the Dune of Dornedilla, for the

Archajology, 1779, vol. v. p. 216. In the summer of

1732 he rode on his pony all the w.ay from Caithness to

Twickenham, in order to visit his namesake, the poet,

when the latter presented him with a copy of the sub-

scription edition of the Odyssey, in five volumes quarto,

and a handsome snuffbox. They subsequently corresponded

with each other, and from this and other circumstances

it is thought probable that a relationship existed between

them.

PoRTMORE, Earl of, a title (now extinct) in the peerage

of Scotland, conferred in 1703 on Sir David Colyear, elder

son of Sir Alexander Robertson, of the family of Strowan,

Perthshire, who was created a baronet of England 20th Feb-

ruaiy 1677, and settled in Holland, where he acquired a con-

siderable property, and assumed the name of Colyear. Be-

sides Sir David, he had another son, Walter Philip Colyear,

who had the command of a regiment in the Dutch service in

1695, and was appointed govei'uor of Namur in 1718. He
attained the rank of field - marshal, and died at Maes-

tricht in November 1747, aged 90. His daughter Elizabeth,

maid of honour to Queen Anne, and lady of the bedchamber

to Queen Caroline, consort of George I., married in January

1709, Lionel, duke of Dorset, and died 12th June 1768.

Sir David Colyear, first earl of Portmore, went as a volun-

teer into the army of William prince of Orange, in 1674.

He had the command of a Scottish regiment in the Dutch

service, and came to England, with King William, at the

Revolution. He served with great reputation in Ireland in

1689 and 1690, and afterwards in Flanders. He was cre-

ated a peer of Scotland, by the title of Lord Portmore and

Blackness, to him and the heirs male of his body, June 1699,

and took the oaths and his seat in parliament, 31st October

1700. We learn from a contemporary writer th.at his lord-

ship had but one eye. In 1702 he became m.njor-general,

and on 27th Febniiviy 1703, had the command of the 2d

regiment of foot. He was raised to the dignities of earl of

Portmore, viscount of Jlilsington, and Lord Colye.ar, by pa-

tent, dated at St. James' 13th April 1703, to him and the

heirs male of his body. He was sent with the duke of Or-

leans to Cadiz, and served in the war of succession in Spain

as lieutenant-general. In 1710 he was appointed command-

er-in-chief of the forces in Scotland, and in January 1711,

was promoted to the rank of general. In 1712 he com-

manded in Flanders, under the duke of Ormond. The same

year he was sworn a privy councillor, and made a knight of

the Thistle. In August 1713, he was created governor

of Gibraltar, and in October following was chosen one

of the sixteen representative peers of Scotland. AVhen the

Spaniards in March 1727 laid siege to Gibraltar, the earl of

Portmore embarked for tli.at place, to assume the command
as governor. The siege was raised upon the approach of

Admiral Wager, with eleven ships of the line. Spain then

offered two millions sterling for possession of Gibraltsir, but

in vain, and by a compact at Seville in 1729, the Spanish

government agreed to renounce all its claims upon it. Lord

Portmore died 2d January 1730. He h.ad married Cathe-

rine, countess of Dorchester, the mistress of James VIL, and

the only child of the witty and accomplished Sir Charles

Sedley, of Southfleet in Kent, baronet. Her father took an

active part in bringing about the Revolution, and it is related

of him, that on being reproached by James for doing so, he

sarcastically replied, that his majesty li.aving made his daugh-

ter a countess, in gratitude he could not do less than aid in

making his daughter a queen ! The countess had a pension

of £5,000 per annum on the Irish establishment, .and died al;

Bath, 20th December 1717, having had, by Lord Portmore,

two sons, David, viscount of Jlilsington, who predeceased his

father, and Charles, second earl of Portmore.

The second earl, born 27th August 1700, was in 1732 ap-

pointed ambassador to compliment Don Carlos, afterwards

king of the Two Sicilies, son of Philip V. of Spain, on his

obtaining possession of the duchies of Parma and Piacenti.a.

The same year he was invested with the order of the Thistle.

At the general election of 1734, he was chosen one of the

sixteen Scots representative peers, and in 1741 was rechosen.

He was remarkable in his day for the splendour of his equi-

pages and the magnificence of his dress. He was also a

conspicuous member of the turf. He died in London, 5th

July 1755. By his countess, Juliana, duchess dowager of

Leeds, he had two sons and two d.aughters. The elder son,

David, viscount of Jlilsington, an ensign in the Coldstream

guards, died, unmarried, 10th January 1736, aged 18.

The younger son, William Charles, third earl of Portmore,

m.arried 5th November 1770, Lady Mary Leslie, second

daughter of the ninth earl of Rothes, and had four sons and

three daughters. His two eldest daughters died at Bath, the

same day, 11th August, 1800.

The eldest son, Thomas Charles, fourth earl, was an officer

in the army. He married Lady JIary Elizabeth Bertie, only
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child of the fiftli duke of Aiicaster, and had one son, Brown-

low Charles Colycar, viscount of Milsinj;ton, who, on the

death of liis grandfather Brownlow, duke of Ancfister, 8th

February 1809, succeeded to liis large personal property,

lie died at Rome, in 1819, of wounds received from banditti.

The earl married a second time, but died, without surviving

issue, IStli January 1835, when the titles of earl Portmore,

&c., became extinct.

Preston, Viscount of, a title (extinct) conferred in 1(181,

on Richard Graham, one of the principal secretaries of state

under James VII., descended from Sir John Graham of Kil-

bride, called Sir John of the bright sword, second son of

^lalise, earl of Menteith, (see p. 149 of this volume). His

grandfather, Sir Richard Graham of Esk and Netherby, was

master of the horse to the duke of Buckingham, the unwor-

tljy favourite of James VI. and Charles I., and was one of

tlie party who attended the latter when prince of Wales, on

his secret and romantic expedition to Sp.ain in 1G23. He
was created a baronet of Kngland 29th JIarch 1G29. In

1041 Sir Richard joined the royal army, and at the battle of

Edgehill, October 23, 1642, was so severely wounded that he

lay all night on the field among the dead. In 1648, when

Charles was a prisoner in Carisbrook castle, in the Isle of

Wight, he repaired thither, to take a last adieu of his unfor-

tunate sovereign. He died in 1053. With four daughters,

he had two sons. The younger of these. Sir Richard Gra-

ham of Norton Conyers, Yorkshire, was created a baronet of

England, 17th November 1662.

The elder son. Sir George Graham of Netherby, county of

Cumberland, died in 1657, aged 33. He had five sons and

one daughter.

Sir Richard Graham of Netherby, the eldest son, was cre-

ated a peer of Scotland, by the title of viscount of Preston,

in the county of Haddington, and Lord Graham of Esk, to

him and the heirs male of his body for ever, by patent, dated

at Windsor Castle, 12th iMay 1681. In 1685 he was elected

M.P. for Cumberland in the English parliament, and the

same year was sent ambassador to tlie court of France. On
his return to England in 1G88, he was appointed one of the

principal secretaries of state. By James VII., at the period

of his abdication, he was created a peer of England, by the

title of Baron Esk, but on claiming his seat in the House of

Lords, 11th November 1689, he was ordered into custody,

and directed to be prosecuted for a misdemeanor. On mak-

ing his submission, however, this last order was discharged,

and he was released. On the 30th of the following month

his lordship and a Jlr. John Asliton were apprehended on

board a vessel in the Thames, with several treasonable papers

in their possession, among which was an invitation to the

French king to invade England, (^Dotiylcis' Peerarje, vol. ii.

p. 375). Lord Preston was arraigned for high treason at the

Old Bailey, under the designation of Sir Richard Graham,

baronet, viscount of Preston, in the kingdom of Scotland.

His plea, that he was a peer of England, was overruled, and,

17th January 1690, lie w.as found guilty and sentenced to

death, his estates and title of baronet of England being for-

feited to the crown. Through the intercession of his friends

he obtained a pardon in June 1691, and retired to Nunning-

ton, Yorkshire, where he died Dec. 22, 1695. The attainder

did not afiect his Scottish peerage, and his only son, Edward,

succeeded as 2d viscount of Preston. The latter died in 1709,

aged 31. His son, Charles, 3d viscount, died, without issue,

at Bath, Feb. 22, 1739, when his titles became extinct. His

extensive estates (see vol. ii. p. 343) came into possession of

the Rev. Dr. Robert Graham, grandson of Sir George Graham,

2d bart. of Esk, and grandfather of the Right Hon. Sir James

Robert George Graham, M.P., 2d baronet of Netherby, who

died Oct. 25, 1861. Sir James' son. Sir Frederick Ulric

Graham of Netherby, bart., born April 2, 1820, is heir male of

the viscounts of Preston. The original baronetcy of Esk re-

verted to the last viscount's cousin, the Rev. William Graham.

Pui-.STDX, a surname derived from priest's town, the name
of various places both in Scotland and England, and assumed

in North Briton by the ancestor of the family of Preston of

Valleyfield, Perthshire, from his territorial possessions in

Mid Lothian, in the time of Malcolm Canmore.

The first of this family on record was Leolphus de Preston,

in the reign of William the Lion. His grandson, Sir William

de Preston, knight, was one of the Scottish nobles summoned
to Berwick by Edward I., in the competition for the Scottish

i

crown between Bruce and Baliol, in 1291. Sir William's '

son, Nichol de Preston, was one of the Scots barons who
swore fealty to the English king in 1296. Nichol's grandson,

Sir John de Preston, accompanied King David Bruce in his

unfortunate expedition into England in 1346, and was taken

prisoner at the battle of Durham. After several years' con-

finement in the Tower of London, he was released by ransom.

Sir John's son. Sir Simon de Preston, witnessed a charter

of donation to the monastery of Newbottle in 13G0. His son,

also named Sir Simon de Preston, purchased in 1374, from

.Tohn de Capella, the castle of Craigmillar, in the parish of

Liberton, about three miles from Edinburgh. He had three

sons. Sir George, Sir Henry, and Andrew. George Preston

of Wliitchiil, the son of Andrew, was great-grandfather of

Sir Richard Preston, created a peer of Scotland by the title of

Lord Dingwall in 1607, to himself and his heirs whatsoever,

(see vol. i. p. 38). This title fell, through man-iage, to the

last duke of Ormond in the peerage of Ireland, who was at-

tainted in 1710, but it is doubtful if his attainder could af-

fect the Scottish jjeerage, to which the Preston family have

a claim.

William Preston of Craigmillar, great-grandson of Sir

George, Sir Simon's eldest son, was a member of the parlia-

ment which met at Edinburgh June 1, 1478. He had the

title of Domine de Craigmillar. This castle continued in the

possession of the Prestons for nearly 300 years, and is often

mentioned in the history of the period. On her return from

France, it became the residence of the ill-fated Queen Marv.

During the time the Prestons possessed it, that family held

the highest offices in the magistracy of Edinburgh. In

1567, Sir Simon Preston of Craigmillar and "of that ilk,"

knight, was lord provost of Edinburgh, and, in that capacity,

on his application, a charter was obtained from James VI.,

conveying to the city, Trinity Hospital, church, and property,

for the behoof of the poor of Edinburgh. The copy of a

bond betwixt Kirkaldy of Grange, governor of the castle, and
j

Sir Simon Preston, on the part of the town of Edinburgh,

for mutual defence and support, is given in Calderwood,
!

(vol. ii. p. 412). Under 1591, we find the following entry

in Calderwood, (vol. v. p. 117,) " Upon the 13th of

Januar, the laird of Crigmillar intended divorcement be-

fore the commissars of Edinburgh against his wife, for

adulterie committed with the laird of Nidrie. The wit-

nesses being sworne, and to be examined, one of them, who
j

could depone most in that matter, was taikin by force out of

the Tolbuith by the Lord Bothwell, the king sitting in the

meantime with the lords of the session in the Tolbuith, and

was taikin captive to Crichton, where Bothwell threatened

him with the gallows. Manie enomiities were committed, as

if there had been no king in Israeli ; so contemptible was the
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king's authorities, .-mil tliat tlirougli liis own defaultc, wanting

due care and coni-ai;e to minister justice."

Tlie magnificent ruins of Craiginillar castle, tlie ancient

seat of the faniilv, stand about two miles and a lialf south of

Kdinburgh, on a rocky eminence commanding a fine view of

the city and sumiunding country, The outer wall displays

tlie armorial bearings of tlie Piestons. About the time of

the Kestoration, it was acquired by Sir John Gilmour, lord

president of the court of session, wlio, in IGGl, built some

additions to it. It now belongs to his descendant, Walter

Little Gilmour, Ksq.

William Preston of Craigmillar had two sons. Sir Simon,

whose line failed with Robert I'restoii of Craigmillar in 1639,

and Henry, father of James Preston, who, in 1544, acquired,

by charter, from William, commendator of Culross, the lands

and barony of Valleyfield, Perthshire, wliicli ever after be-

came the designation of the family. James Preston's great-

grandson. Sir .John Preston, succeeded his fatlier. Sir James,

as fourth baron of Valleyfield, and obtained a crown chaiter,

Feb. 4, 1594. He married Grizell, daughter of Alexander

Colville, commendator of Culross (whose son succeeded as

third baron Colville of Culross), and with three d.aughters,

the eldest of whom, Mary, married to Sir George Bruce of

Carnock, he had three sons, James, who died without issue,

George, his successor, and Robert, whose descendants carried

on the line of the family.

George Preston, the sixth of Valleyfield, was created a

baronet of Nova Scotia, JIarch 31, 1637. He married in

1634 Marion, only child of Hiigli, 5tli Lord Seinplll, by his

first wife. Lady Anna Hamilton, daughter of James, 1st earl

of Aliercorn, and died Nov. 26, 1679. He had, with two

daughters, two sons, Sir William, 2d baronet, and George,

a general in the army, wlio, on the arrival of Prince Charles

Edward at Edinburgh in 1745, was superseded in the com-

mand of the garrison in the castle by General Guest, but af-

terwards resumed the command of the fortress. It is said

tliat he was instrumental in preventing General Guest from

capitulating, which was at one time his intention. General

Preston was subsequently commander-in-chief in Scotland,

when 80 years of age. He died, July 7, 1748. He paid off

incumbrances on the estate of Valleyfield, and thus acquired

tlie right to entail the property on the heirs, male and female,

of his brother. Sir William, and his nephew, Sir George.

The latter, son of Sir William, and third baronet, on his

death in 1741, was succeeded by his eldest son. Sir George,

fourth baronet, who died in 1779, having had five sons .and

.I daughter. The daughter, Maiy, married, in 1744, Robert

Welwuod, Esq. of Garvoik, advocate, and had, with other

issue, a daughter, Elizabeth, who married Allan Maconochie

of Meadowbank, a lord of session. (See Maconochiis, p.

GO of this vol., and Welwood, ^jo.sV.) Patrick, the eldest

son, and Alexander, the next, predeceased their father. The

former liad two daughters, the elder of whom, Ann, Lady

liaird Preston of Valleyfield and Ferntower, widow of General

Sir David iJaird, died without issue in 1847.

Sir Charles, the 3d son, was the 5th baronet. An officer

in the armv, he distinguished himself by his gallant defence

of Fort John against the American general, Montgomery,

having only surrendered at the last extremity. Subsequently

.•I commissioner of the customs, and ALP. for the Kirkcaldy

burghs, he died, wtliout issue, March 23, 1800.

His brother, Sir Roliert, born in 1740, succeeded him as

sixth baronet. He was commander of the East India Com-

pany's ship Asia. He is said to have been the originator of

the Ministerial White Bait dinners, which take place at

Greenwich towards the close of eacli session of parliament.

He was for some time M.P. for Dover, .and had a cottage at

Dagenham Reach in Essex, on the bank of a lake formed by

the sudden eruntion of the waters of the Thames over the

adj.acent country, about the ndddle of the last century. He

called it his "fishing cottage," and often in Spring he went

thither witli a friend or two for a few weeks' relaxation in

the country. His most frequent guest was Sir George Rose,

secretary of the Treasury, and an elder brother of the Trinity

House, of which Sir Robert also was an .active member. On

the suggestion of Sir George, Mr. Pitt, then prime minister,

was invited, and tor a few years he was an annual visitor at

Dagenham Reach, always accompanied by Rose. Finding

the distance from town inconvenient for tlie premier. Sir

Robert proposed that they should in future dine nearer Lon-

don. Greenwich was n;mied, and Mr. Pitt requested to be

permitted to bring Lord Camden, thus making the party

four. Soon after, a fifth guest was added, Jlr. Long, after-

wards Lord Farnborough. In course of time others were in-

vited, all belonging to the tory party. Ultimately Lord

Camden considerately remarked that, as they were all din-

ing at a tavern, it was only fair that Sir Robert Preston

should not bear all the expense. It was then aiTanged that

the invitations should be issued as usu.il by Sir Robert, and

he insisted on still contributing a buck and champagne, but

the rest of the charges were tlienceforward defr.ayed by the

several guests, and on this plan the meeting continued to

take place annually till the death of Mr. I'itt. The list

of guests, by this time, included most of the cabinet

ministers. The time for meeting was usually after Trinity

i^Ionday, a short period before the end of the session. By

degrees the meeting appears to have assumed a semi-poli-

tical character, and is now one of the established customs

of the party in power. Sir Robert died, without issue, M.ay

7, 1834, at the advanced .age of 95. He bouL'ht Culross ab-

liev from the earl of Dundonald, who died iri Paris in 1831,

and who ruined himself by his coal-tar and other scientific

speculaticms. In Sir Walter Scott's diary, under date June

19, 1830, there is the following entry: "After breakfast to

Culross, (from Blair-Adam, being then on a visit there,) where

the veteran. Sir Robert Preston, showed us his curiosities.

Life has done as much for him as most people. In his 92d

vear, he has .an ample fortune, a sound understanding, not

the least decay of eyes, ears, or t,asfe, is as big as two men,

and eats like three. Sir Robert amuses himself with repair-

ing the old House of Culross, built by the Lord Bruce. Wliat

it is destined for is not very evident. It is too near his own

mansion of Valleyfield to be useful as a residence."

Tlie whole male descendants of Sir George Preston, the

first biironet, having become extinct, the baronetcy, in terms

of the patent of creation, devolved on Sir Robert Preston, sou

of General George Preston, after mentioned, as nearest colla-

teral heir male general, descended from Robert, third son

of Sir John Preston of Valleyfield, knight. This Robert ob-

tained a charter of the lands of Preston. Mid Lothian, 20lh

August, 1633. was knighted, and admitted a lord of session,

4th March, 1672, when be took the title of Lord Preston,

and died in October 1G74. His son, William Preston of

Gorton, an estate acquired by Sir John Preston in 1342, was

a major in the army, and died in 1733. He had two sons

and a daughter. John, the elder son, succeeded to the estate

of Gorton, which he left to his son, .Tolm, who died unmar-

ried. The major's younger son, George, entered the army,

and greatly distinguished himself by his courage and skill in

the wars of Germany. He rose to the rank of general, and

was colimel of the Scots Greys.

His only child. Sir Robert Preston, 7th b.-ironet of Valley-
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field, was born Jan. 3, 1757, and estalilislied liis title to the

succession hy sei-vice beCoi-e tlie sheriff of EdiMbuigli, Nov,

9, 1835. He married his cousin, Eupliemia, da\ighter of

Jolin Preston, Ksq. of Gorton, issue, 2 sons and 1 daugliter,

Jlrs. Boswell of Blatkadder, lierwickshire. On his deatli in

1846, his elder son. Sir Uobert, at one period a major in the

army, became 8tli baronet
;

married, without issue. Sir

Kobert died Oct. 23, 1858, when his brother. Sir Henry-

Lindsay, succeeded as 'Jth baronet. He entered the royal

navy in ISO), and became a commander in 1830.

A baronetcy of Nova Scotia was conferred in 1628, on Sir

.John I'reston of Airdrie, Fifeshire, the son of John Preston

of Fentonbarns, lord president of the court of session from

1G09 to 161G, by his wife, Klizabeth, daughter of William

TurnbuU of Airdrie. The president died Hth June of the

latter year, and on 29th April 1652, Sir John, his son, mar-

ried Lady JIaijory Scot, relict of Sir James Scot, younger of

Scutstarvet, director of the Chancery, and daughter of the

first earl of Nortliesk. In 16G3, Sir John Preston was served

heir to his father and mother in the lands of ."Virdrie. One

of the family erected a mansion-house on these lands, to

whicli was given tlie name of Prestonhall. The baronetcy

has long been extinct.

Primrose, Viscount of, a title in the Scottish peerage,

conferred 30tli November 1703, on Sir James Primrose, bar-

onet, of the Rosebery family. (See Rosebery, Earl of.)

Pringle, a surname prevalent in the south of Scotland, a

corruption, as Sir George Mackenzie conjectures, of the word

Pelerin or pilgrim. The accoimt of the Pringles states that one

Pelerin, who had gone on pilgrimage to the Holy Land, having

settled in Teviotdale, his descendants were called from him Hop

Pringle. Tlie prefix Hop being synonymous with the Britisli

Ap or Irish 0, signifying a son or descendant, Hop Pringle

is, therefore, supposed to have meant the son of the pilgrim.

The pilgrim's badge of a scallop shell forms a part of the ar-

morial bearings of all the families of the name.

The Hop Pringles of that ilk, afterwards the Pringles of

Torsonce, on Gala Water, were the head of one branch of the

name settled in Mid Lothian, and the adjoining portions of

East Lothian and Berwickshire. The principal families of

this branch were the Pringles of Burnhouse, Hawtree, and

Glengelt, and those of Rowchester and Lees in the Merse.

Their male line failed on the death of John Pringle of Tor-

sonce in 1738. His only daughter, JLirgaret, having mar-

ried Gilbert Pringle, one of the Pi'ingles of Stitchell, carried

the estates into that family. She had no children. John

Pringle of Lees then became heir male, but his family also is

extinct. (^Burke's Landed Gentry, Supp. p. 262.)

Another branch of the Pringles were the descendants of

the family of Wliitsomc, Berwickshire, afterwards designed

of Smailholm and Galashiels. Robert Hop Pringle of Whit-

some is mentioned in a donation to the monastery of Soltray,

confirmed by King Alexander III. For their support of the

Bruce family, in their competition for the crown, the Pringles

of Whitsomo were deprived of their lands by King John Ba-

liol, who conferred them upon John de L'yle, confirmed by a

ch.irter from King Edward L of England, 13th October

1295. After the battle of Bannockburn, the lands were re-

stored to Reginald Hop Pringle of Wliitsomc, by charter

from Uobert Bnice in 1315. During the brief and shadowy

sovereignty, of Edward Ballol, after that monarch's death, by

a mandate from King Edward IIL of England, they were

ordered to be delivered up to " Walter de Insula," son of

in.

John de L'yle. Tliey were restored, in L336, to Tliomas

Hop Pringle of Wliitsome, who, in 1363, had a safeguard to

go into England, with his son and twelve persons in their

retinue.

The Pringles of Whitsome were adherents of the house of

Douglas, and held the oflice of scuii/er, or squire, to the earls

of that name. Kobert Hop Pringle of Whitsome was pres-

ent, in that capacity, with James, second carl of Douglas, at

tlie battle of Otterbourne in 1388, where the earl was slain.

From Archibald, third earl of Douglas, lord of Galloway,

styled the Grim, he got a charter of the lands of Smailholm,

Roxburghshire, in 1408, as well as a grant of the lands of

Pilmuir and Blackchester in Lauderdale, which remained foi

nearly three centuries in possession of tlie family. From the

Douglases also, who were then lords of Ettrick forest, he got

the forest steadings of Galashiels and Mosalee, which were

held by the Pringles as kindly tenants till the forfeiture of

the Douglases in 1455. They were subsequently held by

them as kindly tenants of the crown till 1587, when they

were feudalized by charter and sasine. It was this Robert

Pringle who built the tower of Smailholm, a large square

building, now entirely ruinous, and originally a border keep,

situated among a cluster of rocks on an eminence in the farm

of Saudy-knowe. The apartments rise above one another in

separate floors or stories, and mutually communicate by a

narrow stair. A wall suiTouiids the building, enclosing an

outer court, and being defended on three sides by precipice

and morass, the tower is accessible only by a steep and rockv

jiatli on the west. At the farm of Sandy-knowe, which was
leased by his paternal grandfather. Sir Walter Scott spent

some years of his boyhood. In a note prefixed to the ballad

of ' The Eve of St. John,' he s.ays that he wrote that ballad

in celebration of Smailholm tower and its vicinity ; and in

the epistle preliminary to the third canto of Marniion, he no-

tices the influence which the place had exerted on his tastes.

In 1406, Robert Pringle of Smailholm, which became his de-

signation after the erection of the tower, had a safe-conduct

from Henry IV., to go to England, and in 1419 he had ano-

ther, from Henry V., with John Wallace, to pay the ransom

of James de Douglas, who succeeded his gi-and-nephew as

seventh earl of Douglas, November 24, 1440, and was called

James the Gross. The laird of Smailholm accompanied

Archibald, fourth earl of Douglas, duke of Touraine, (the

Douglas of Shakspere,) on his famous expedition to France,

in 1423, and was slain, with him, at the battle of Veriieuil,

the following year. (See vol. ii. p. 43.)

His son and successor, Robert Pringle of Smailholm, is

said to have been the person who erected a drawbridge of a

very peculiar construction over the Tweed, a river long re-

markable for the very few bridges it possessed, at a small

hamlet about a mile and a half above Jlelrose, called from

the circumstance. Bridge-end. It is thus described by Sir

Walter Scott, in 'The Monastery,' from the account of it in

Gordon's Ilinerarium Scplentrionah: "Two strong abut-

ments were built on either side of the river, at a part where

the stream was peculiarly contracted. Upon a rock in the

centre of the current was built a solid piece of m.asonrv, con-

structed like the pier of a bridge, and presenting, like a pier,

an angle to the current of the slream. The m.isonry conti-

nued solid until tlie pier losc to a level with the two .abut-

ments upon either side, and from thence the building rose in

the form of a tower. The lower story of this tower consisted

only of an archw.ay or passage through the building, over

either entrance to which hung a drawbridge with counterpoi-

ses, either of which, when dropped, connected the archway

with the opposite abutment, where the farther end of the

U
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drawbridge rested. When both bridges were thus lowered,

the passage over the river was coinplete." Sir Walter Scott

says in a note tliat the vestiges of tliis uncommon species of

bridge still exist, and that he often saw the foundations of

the columns when drifting down the Tweed at night, for the

purpose of killing salmon by torchlight. A stone, taken

from the river, bore this inscription :

" I, Robert Pringle of Pilmore stede,

Give an hundred nobles of gowd sae reid.

To help to bigg my brigg ower Tweed.''

Sir Walter Scott quotes the first hne as

" I, Sir John Pringle of Palmer stede."

It is certain that the bridge belonged to this family of the

Pringles, and the money here mentioned may have been spent

in repairing it, but the original builder of it, according to ac-

counts likely to be more correct, was that " sore saint to the

crown," David I., to afford a passage to his abbey of Jlelrose,

and to facilitate the journeys of the devout to the four great

pilgrimages of Scotland, namely, Scone, Dundee, Paisley,

and Jlelrose. By his wife, Elizabeth, daughter of Sir James

Dishington of Ardross, Fifesbire, Robert Pringle of Smail-

holm had four sons and three daughters. Over the doorway

of the old house of Galashiels belonging to the family, the

following inscription, under the date 1457, was cut, which is

supposed to have reference to this lady

:

" Elspeth Dishington builted nie,

In syne lye not

;

Tlie thynge thou canst not gctte

Desyre not."

The eldest son, David Pringle of Smailholm, was, after

the forfeiture of the Douglases, as we learn from the Exche-

quer Rolls of l-ioG, appointed cursor or ranger of the ward

of Tweed, an office, held also by his son and grandson. In

I'lGT he was succeeded by his son, James, who appears to

liave been ranger from 14u7 to 1495. Besides David his

heir, he had a son, William, progenitor of the Pringles of

Torwoodlee, and another, John, ancestor of the Pringles of

Blyndlee.

David Pringle of Smailholm and Galashiels was ranger of

the ward of Tweed for ten years. In 1505, Alexander,

Lord Home, great-chamberlain of Scotland, became ranger

or chamberlain of the whole of Ettriek Forest. In 1510

David Pringle obtained a charter of the lands of Redhead

and Whytbank, which had been occupied by the ranger of

the ward of Tweed pro officio cursoris, and these lands are

still in possession of the family. He and his brother, Wil-

liam, are subscribing witnesses in the sasine of JIargaret,

queen of James IV., in her jointure lands of Ettriek Forest,

1st June 1505. He was twice married. By his first wife

he had a son, David, younger of Galashiels and Smailholm,

wno, with four of his sons, was slain at Flodden, and a

daughter, Isabella, viife of Sir David Home of Wedderburn,

and mother of the seven shears of Wedderburn. By his sec-

ond wife, Margaret, daughter of Thomas Lundie of Lundie,

Fifesliire, he had, with two daughters, a son, James of Wood-

house and Whytbank, from whom the Whytbank family are

descended, of whom afterwards.

John Pringle, youngest son of David, slain at Flodden,

succeeded his grandfather on his death in 1535. This John

Pringle of Smailholm and Galashiels fought at Pinkie in

1547, and afterwards, with George Pringle of Torwoodlee

and William Pringle of Wolfliousebyre, was surety to the

English for 100 gold nobles, the ransom of Hugh Rose

of Kilr.avock, taken in that battle. He died about 15GG.

By liis wife, Jlargaret, daughter of Sir James Gordon of

Stitchell and Lochinvar, he had three sons and one daughter.

His eldest son. Andrew Pringle of Galashiels and Smail-

holm, made an entail of bis estates in 1585, the year of his

death. He had two sons, James his heir, and Robert of

Howlatstown, on Gala Water, and a daughter, Isabella, mar-

ried to George Pringle of Blyndlee.

The elder son, Sir James Pringle of Smailholm and Gala-

shiels, was, in IGIO, bailie of the regality of Stow, .and, in

1G22, he had a commission under the gi-eat seal as sheriff

principal of Ettriek Forest. He was knighted by James VI.,

and being much about court, and living extravagantly, be

was compelled to alienate a considerable portion of his estates.

In 1G23, be and George Pringle of Torwoodlee were commis-

sioners to the Estates for tl:e county of Selkirk. He died in

1635. He had four sons and as many daughters. Jean,

his eldest daughter, married Hugh Scott of Deuchar, who
got possession of the estate of Galashiels, having claims upon

it. From him .'u-e descended tlie Scotts of Gala.

The two eldest sons having predeceased him, Sir James

was succeeded by his third son, John, designed of Smailholm,

but his inheritance was small, and even of that portion of

the property which came to him, being encumbered with

debt, he was ultimately deprived through legal diligence, by
|

Sir Hugh Scott of Harden. John Pringle died in 1G50, and

his youngest brother, George, having predeceased him, Robert

Pringle of Howlatstown, youngest son of Andrew Pringle of

Smailholm and Galashiels, and brother of Sir James, became

the malo representative of the family. He died, without

issue, in 1G53, when the male representation devolved upon

James Pringle of Whytbank, great-grandson of James Prin-

gle of Woodbouse and Whytbank above mentioned.
|

In early life, James Pringle of Whytbank served for some

ye.ars in France as an officer in the Scottish guards. He .iiid

James Murray of Philiphaugh represented the county of Sel-

kirk in the Estates in 1G33. For his adherence to the cause

of King Charles I., he was heavily fined by the committee of

Estates in 1G4G. He greatly improved his estate, and added

several lands to it, both in Selkirkshire and Jlid Lothian.

He married in 1622, Sophia Schoner, a Danish lady, maid of

honour to Anne of Denmark, queen of James VI., on which

occasion, we are told, " her majesty presented her with her

portrait, enamelled on mother of pearl, and set with small

rubies and emeralds, suspended by a massy gold chain, a

relic still preserved by the family." On his death in 1G67,

he w.as succeeded by his only son, Alexander Pringle of

Whytbank, who, in 1652, was sheriff principal of Selkirk-

shire. Warmly attached to the Presbyterian form of church

government, he was a frequent member of the ecclesiastical

courts. He died in 1G95, without issue, and was succeeded

by John Pringle, grandson of his father's next brother, George

Pringle of Balmungo, Fifesbire, a major in the army of Gus-

tavus Adolphus of Sweden, who, after serving, with consid-

erable reputation, during the Thirty years' war, returned

home, having married one of the daughters of Sir Patrick

Ruthven, a general in the same service, created by Charles

I., earl of Forth in Scotland, and Brentford in England, (see

vol. ii. p. 254). His only son, the Rev. John Pringle, min-

ister of Fogo, described as an elegant scliolnr, was father of

John Pringle of Whytbank, who succeeded his father's cousin

in 1G05, and died of a fever in 1703, at the .age of 25. He
had a son, Alexander Pringle of Whytbank, who died in
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1772, and was succeeded in his lands of Wliytbank by liis

eldest son, Lieutenant Jolm Pringle. Tlie latter sen-ed on

tlie staff of his relative, the Hon. General James Murray,

commander of the British forces in Canada, after the deatli

of General Wolfe. Lieutenant Prinn;Ie died in Canada in

1774, when his next brother, Alexander Pringle, then in the

civil service of the East Lidia Company on the JLidras estab-

lishment, became proprietor of Wliytbank. Ho returned to

Scotland in 1783, and some years afterwards repurchased

from the duke of Bucclencb the family estate and residence

of Yair in Selkirkshire, which bad been sold, with some other

portions of bis lands, by his father. At Yair he built a new

mansion-house, and devoted a considerable part of his atten-

tion to the improvement of his estates. He commanded the

Selkirkshire volunteers, until that corps was disbanded at the

peace of Amiens, JLu'ch 27, 1802. The same year be was

appointed vice-lieutonant of Selkirkshire, on the establish-

ment of that oiTice by act of parliament. He was Sir Walter

Scott's neighbour at Ashestiel, when he went there to reside

in 1804, and in the second Epistle of Marmion he is men-

tioned as

"The long descended lord of Yair."

An extract of a letter from him to the author of JFarmion, on

the publication of that poem in 1807, is given in Lockhart's

Life of Scott, (p.age 184, Svo edition). In 1812, Mr. Prin-

gle obtained the patent ofHcc of chamberlain of Ettrick For-

est. He died in 1827. By his wife, Mary, daughter of Sir

Alexander Dick of Prestonfield, he h.ad, with six daughters,

five sons, three of whom, namely, John Alexander Pringle of

Castlcdykes, the second son; William Alexander Pringle, the

third ; and David Pringle, the youngest, were in the Bengal

civil service, and Robert Keith Pringle, the fourth son, was

in the Bombay civil service, and afterwards became chief sec-

retary to the government at that presidency.

The eldest son, Alexander Pringle of Wliytbank, studied

at Cambridge, and was admitted an advocate at the Scottish

bar in 1814. In July of the following year, with Scott of

Gala, he accompanied Sir Walter Scott to the field of W.ater-

loo, and leaving him in Paris, he made a tour in Switzerland,

lie continued to practise as an advocate till 1830, when, at

the general election which followed the death cjf George IV.,

he was elected M.P. for Selkirkshire. After the dissolution

in 1831, he was re-elected. At the general election, after

the passing of tlie Reform Act in 1833, he was defeated by

Pringle of Clifton, by a majority of nine. Re-elected in 183.3,

by a large majority, he again sat for the county in 1837 and

1841. In the latter year he was appointed one of the lords

of the Treasury, in the ministry ot Sir Robert Peel, and also

a commissioner of Revenue Inquiry. In July 1845 he re-

signed office, as he could not give his support to the ministe-

rial measure for increasing the endowment of the Roman

Catholic college of JIaynooth. In Januaiy 184G, he was

appointed principal keeper of the General Register of S.asines

in Scotland, when he retired from parliament. In 1830 he

had been appointed vice-lieutenant of the county of Selkirk.

He died 2d September 18o7. He married his cousin, Ag-

nes Joanna, daughter of Sir William Dick of Prestonfield.

His only son, Alexander Pringle, succeeded to Wliytbank.

The Pringles of Torwoodlee, Selkirkshire, are descended

from William Pringle of Sinailbolm, (see previous page,)

who b.ad a tack of the forest steid of Caddonlee in 1488, and

one of Torwoodlee in 1.309, to him and his son George. The

same year he had .1 charter of one-fourth part of the barony

of Cliftoun, Roxljurgbshire, which afterw.ards was sold to

another branch of the Pringles. He was slain at the battle

of Flodden in September 1.313.

His son, George Pringle of Torwoodlee, was at the battle

of Pinkie in 1547. In 15G8 he was murdered in bis own
house by a party of Liddesdale reivers, to the number of 300,

consisting of Elliots, Armstrongs, and other lawless clans

from the west border, under John Elliot of Copshaw, who
had attacked, plundered, and burnt the house af Torwoodlee.

George's son, William Pringle of Torwoodlee, was father of

another George Pringle, who, in 1587, had a charter and sa-

siiie of Torwoodlee and others of his lands, previously held

by him and his forefathers as kindly tenants and rentallers.

From Pitcairn's 'Criminal Trials' we learn that in 1G07 ho

and his brothers, James .and David, cited the surviving mur-

derers of their grandfather to take their trial for the crime,

when, not appearing, they were outlawed. In 1G17 and

1021, George Pringle of Torwoodlee was one of the represen-

tatives in the Estates for the county of Selkirk. His grand-

son, also named George Pringle, an eminent patriot, and

remarkable for his integrity and strength of character, suc-

ceeded to Torwoodlee, on the death of his father, James
Pringle, about 1G57. During the civil wars he took arms for

the king, and was in most of the engagements in Scotland

fought on his account, but after the Restoration, bis .attach-

ment to the Presbyterian discipline and form of worship ex-

posed him to much suffering, both in person and property,

bis house of Torwoodlee having frequently afforded an a.sy-

lum to the persecuted Covenanters. Wlien the earl of Ar-

gyle, .after being sentenced to death, made his escape, on the

night of the 20th December 1G81, from Edinburgh castle, by

the direction of Jlr. John Scott, minister of Hawick, he rode

straight to the house of Torwoodlee. Mr. Pringle gave him

refuge, and sent his sen-ant with him to the house of Mr.

AVilliam Veitch, who conducted him in safety to England.

On this becoming knowm to the government, Mr. Pringle

was obliged to quit bis own house, and for nearly two years

to lurk in concealment. At length, in 1G83, on a charge of

being concerned in the Ryehouse plot, warrants were issued

against him and others, and with much difficulty he and Sir

Patrick Hume of Polwarth made their escape to Holland.

In the first parliament of King J.ames A'lL, his estates were

confiscated, and bestowed on General Drummond of Crom-

lis. At the Revolution ho hastened back to Scotland, and

was a member of the convention of Estates which conferred

the crown on William and Marj'. His attainder was removed

and bis estates restored by a special act of parliament. lie

died in 1G89.

His only son, James Pringle of Torwoodlee, who succeeded

him, was bnt sixteen years of age when his father escaped to

Holland, and although he was from home, .and had no part

in any of the circumstances which led to his exile, he was

apprehended and imprisoned in Edinburgh castle, and only

released .at the end of three months by finding bail to the

amount of £5,000 sterling. In 1G85, on the failure of the

earl of Argyle's expedition, he was again seized, and impris-

oned in Blackness castle, where he suffered gi-eat hardship.

After succeeding to the est.ate, he took an active part in pub-

lic aflairs, and held various oljices of .authority in his own
district. His eldist son, George Pringle of Torwoodlee, ad-

vocate, died, unmarried, in 1780, and was succeeded by his

nephew, James, son of his younger brother, James Pringle of

Bowland, writer to the signet, and latterly one of the princi-

pal clerks of session. This gentleman purchased the lands of

Bowland and Windydoors in 1722, and afterwards those of

Catha. He died in 1778. His only son, James Pringle,
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sold Bovvlaiid, and acquired the lands of Buckliolin and Wil-

liamlaw, Euxburghsliire. He studied at Canibridge and

Leyden, for the law, but on succeeding liis uncle in Torwood-

lee, he devoted himself entirely to the improvement of his

property. He was a friend and neighbour of Sir Walter

Scott, and Lockhart, in his Life of Scott, (p. 383, folio edi-

tion,) records a joyous evening spent in November 1818, at

his beautil'ul seat, which, though mentioned in Scott's

poetry as " distant Torwoodlee," is only about five miles from

Abbotsford. Mr. Pringle was convener of the county of Sel-

kirk, and commandant of the Selkirkshire troop of yeomanry

cavalry from 1797, when it was raised, for about twelve years.

From 1827 to 1830 he was vice-lieutenant of that county.

He died in 1840, when his eldest son, Rear-admiral .James

Pringle, became tenth laird of Torwoodlee; married, with is-

sue. The Admiral's eldest son, James Thomas, Lieutenant,

B.N., was born in 1832.

The Pringles of Clifton were also an old family. In 17C0,

Robert Pringle of Clifton made an entail of his estates, and

died, unmarried, in 1780. He was succeeded by his cousin,

John Pringle of Haining, second son of his uncle, John Prin-

gle, who was the second son of Andrew Pringle of Clifton

(deceased in 1702) and his wife, Violet Rutherl'urd, daughter

of John Rutherfurd of Edgerstone. This John Pringle passed

advocate 18th June 1C98, and in 1702 purchased the estate of

Haining, parish of Selkirk. On 1st July 1729, he was ad-

mitted a lord of session, when he took the title of Lord Hain-

ing. His lordship died 19th August 1754. With three daugh-

ters he had three sons, namely, 1. Andrew, also a lord of

session, under the title of Lord Alemoor; 2. John Pringle of

Haining ; and 3. Robert, a doctor of medicine.

The eldest son, Andrew, did not take up his father's succes-

sion to Haining, as his aft'uirs were embarrassed, and his next

brother, John, who had made a handsome fortune as a mer-

chant in Madeira, purchased it on his father's death, and

cleared off all the incumbrances upon it. Admitted an ad-

vocate in 1740, Andrew Pringle was very eminent at the bar,

being greatly distinguished for his scholarship and eloquence.

Li 1750 he was appointed sheriff of Wigtonshire, and in the

following year sheriff of Selkirkshire. In 1755 he was ap-

pointed solicitor-general for Scotland, and 14th June 1759

lie was raised to the bench, as Lord Alemoor, from a property

which he had acquired in Selkirkshire. At the same time

he was appointed a lord of justiciary. He died at his

villa of Hawkhill, near Edinburgh, 14th January 1776, un-

married, and was succeeded in all his property by his next

brother, John Pringle of Haining. The hitter for a long

time represented Selkirkshire in parliament. On the death

of his cousin, Robert Pringle of Clifton, in 1780, he was

served heir of provision to him under his entail, and thereaf-

ter assumed the designation of Pringle of Clifton, with the

arms of the elder branch, undifferenced. He died in 1792,

unmarried, and was succeeded by his cousin and grand-

nephew, Mark Pringle of Fairnalie, grandson of i\lark Prin-

gle of Crichton, third and youngest son of Andrew Pringle of

Clifton, by Violet Rutherfurd of Edgerstone, above mentioned.

On 2d October 1707, the day of the head court at Selkirk,

Slark Pringle had an after-dinner quarrel with William Scott

of Raeburn, then only about twenty- one years of age, the

great-granduncle of Sir Walter Scott, and next morning they

fought with swords, as was the fashion of the time, says the

latter, in a field near Selkirk, when Raeburn was killed.

The field " was called, from the catastrophe, the Raeburn

Meaduw Spot. Pringle fled from Scotland to Spain, and

was long a captive and slave in liarbary." Having at length

made a considerable fortune as a merchant, he returned to

Scotland in 1738, and purchased the estate of Crichton in

Mid Lothian. He died in 1751. His eldest son, John Prin-

gle of Crichton, who had married Ann, eldest daughter of

Robert Rutherfurd of Fairnalie, sister of Mrs. Coclibuni, au-

thoress of ' The Flowers of the Forest,' (see vol. i. p. 6G0 of

this work,) continued to be engaged extensively in commer-
cial pursuits, till the house with which he was connected

became bankrupt. He was then forced to part with liis

lands, and his father-in-law, Mr. Rutherfurd, being involved

along with him, had to sell some of his estates. His son,

Jlaric Pringle, advocate, first designed of Fairnalie, on the

death of his granduncle, John Pringle, became possessed of

the estates of Haining and Clifton, the former as heir of line,

through his grandmother, Ann Pringle, the wife of Robert

Rutherfurd of Fairnalie, and the latter as heir male, through

the entail executed by Robert Pringle of Clifton. At the

general election of 1790, Mr. Pringle of Clifton was elected

jM.P. for Selkirkshire, and he sat for that county till the dis-

solution in 1802. He died in 1812. He had, with one

daughter, two sons, John, and Robert, of Fairnalie.

The elder son, John Pringle of Clifton, was a minor on

succeeding to the estates. He studied at Christchurch col-

lege, Oxford, and at the peace of 1815, entered the army as

a cornet in the 7th hussars, and served in the army of occu-

pation in France. In 1819, when the general reduction took

[ilace, he was obliged to go on lialf-pay. In 1820, he was

elected M.P. for the Selkirk burghs, on the Whig interest.

In 1831 he was killed by being thrown out of his open car-

riage near his own house of Haining. Dying unmarried, he

was succeeded by his brother, Robert Pringle of Fairnalie,

afterwards of Clifton, also an officer in the 7th hussars. In

the first parliament after the passing of the Reform Bill he

sat as member for Selkirkshire. He died at Haining in 1841,

when the estate of Clifton passed, under the powers of the

entail, to Robert Elliot of Harwood, whose father was the

eldest son of the eldest sister of the entailer, Robert Pringle

of Clifton, which made him heir of line of that family. Hain-

ing and the other estates of Robert Pringle descended to his

only sister, Margaret Violet Pringle. This lady married

Archibald Douglas, Esq. of Adderston, whose family are ca-

dets of the house of Cavers: issue, one daughter. In com-

pliance with her brother's settlement, she and her husband

assumed the name and designation of Pringle of Haining in

addition to that of Douglas.

The Pringles of Stitchell are sprung from the Hop Prin-

gles of Craiglatch and Newliall, Selkirkshire, believed to have

been very old cadets of the house of Sniailholm. In the

crown rentals of Ettrick Forest for 1485 and 1490, tlie lands

of Craiglatch are mentioned as having been in the possession

of William Hop Pringle and Alexander, liis son. William

Pringle of Craiglatch, also designed of Wliittoun, Roxburgh-

shire, had a charter of the lands of Hut, on the river Kale,

in that county, in 1492, and crown tacks of Craiglatch in

1485 and 1490. His great-grandson, Alexander, was retoured

in 1539. In 1587, Alexander's son, George Pringle of Craig-

latch, obtained a charter of his Ettrick Forest lands. For the

crime of march-treason he and his eldest son, George, incur-

red the forfeiture of the lands of Craiglatch. March-treason

included several species of offences peculiar to the border,

such .IS holding communication with the English, and aiding

them in their depredations on the Scottish side, as well as

breaking border truce. The penalties for this crime were

verv severe. In ' The Lay of the Last Jlinstrel,' the herald

of the English warden lords thus begins his address to the
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wiiliuvfJ l:idy of Bucclcucli, on tlicir :ippc;u-aiice before the

Willis of Braiiksoine Tower:

" It irks, liigli dame, iny noble lords,

'Gainst ladyo fair to draw tlieir swords:

Bnt yet they may not tamely see,

All through the western wardenry,

Your law-contemnins; kinsmen ride.

And burn and spoil the Border side.

We claim from thee William of Dcloraino

That he may suffer march-treason pain."

Of the forfeited lands of Craiglatch, Sir James Prinsle of

Smailliohn obtained a gift, and lie restored them to the fam-

ily in IfiOl, in the person of George I'ringle of Newhall,

elder son of George Pringle, the son, above mentioned.

In consequence, however, of the burdens incurred in their

misfortunes, one-half, called the Knows, was alienated in

1617 to .lames Pringle of Whytbank, .and the other half,

called Newhall, became, from that time, the family designa-

tion. The lirst George Pringle had, besides Geoige, Iiis

heir, another son, Robert, ancestor of the Stitchell family.

This Robert Pringle, first designed of Bartingbusli, writer

to the signet, realized a large fortune in bis profljssion, and,

besides acquiring the lands of Templeliall, Berwickshire, and

various other properties, he pm-chascd, in 1(]"28, from Sir

John Gordon of Loehinvar, (first viscount of Kenmure,) the

estate of Stitchell, I!o.\burghsliire, and was subsequently de-

signated of Stitchell. lie died in lG-19. His eldest son,

John, predeceased him, leaving two sons, Robert, the first

baronet of Stitchell, and Walter, of Graycrook, advocate,

who is mentioned in Wodrow's History as having ably plead-

ed for the Covenanters taken at Bothwell Bridge, when put

upon their trial in 1G79. His uncle, Walter Pringle of

Greenknowc, a zealous Covenanter, suffered many hard.sbips

and persecutions. His Memoirs were published at Edin-

burgh in 1723, 8vo. He married Janet, second daughter of

James Pringle of Torwoodlce. The ruins of Grcenknowe

tower, Berwickshire, his residence, are still rcm;iining.

Sir Robert Pringle of Stitchell succeeded his grandfather in

1640, and in 1667, on the death of Rcjbert Pringle of New-

ball, he inherited the possessions of the elder branch of the

faniilv. He was created .1 baronet in 1GS3. By his wife,

Margaret, daughter of Sir John Hope, a lord of session, with

the title of Lord Craighall, he had, with other children, (19

in all.) 1. John, .second baronet; 2. Sir Walter Pringle of

I.ochton, admitted advocate, 10th December 1687, constitut-

ed a lord of .session, as Lord Newhall, Gth June, 1718, at the

same time appointed a lord of justiciary, and knighted. He

died Mth December I'SG, when bis funeral was attended, as

a mark of great respect, by the other judges, in their robes

of office. The faculty of advocates .also met on the occasion,

when an elegant eulogium on his lordship's character, writ-

ten by Sir Robert Dnndas of Arniston, then dean of faculty,

was ordered to be engrossed in their minutes, expressive of

the high esteem in which he had been held by that learned

bodv. An epitaph on Lord Newhall by Hamilton of Ban-

gour is printed in the works of that poet. 3. The Right

Hon. Robert Pringle, a distinguished statesman, who. May

18, 1718, was appointed secretary at w.ar, an office wliich he

held till 21th Doceniber following. 4. Thomas Pringle, wri-

ter to the signet, from whom descended the Pringles of

Edgefield and the Pringles of Weens. His son, Robert Prin-

gle of Edgetield, passed advocate Ith July 1721, and in 1718

was appointed sberilT-depute of BanlTshire. Admitted a

lor.l of session, 20th November 1754, he took the title of

Lord Edgefield; and died Sth April 17S4.

Sir .John Pringle of Slitcl'.ell, second baronet, married

Magdalen, daughter of Sir William Gilbert Elliot of Stobbs,

baronet, and had four sons and two daugliters. The sons

were, 1. Sir Robert, third baronet. 2. Gilbert, an officer of

dragoon.s, who married Margaret, only daughter and heiress of

.John Pringle of Torsonce. 3. Walter, advocate and sheriff

of Ro.Kburghshire, who succeeded to Torsonce on his brother's

death, and died unmarried; and 4. Sir John Pringle, the cel-

ebrated physician, of wliom a memoir follows, in I.-irger type.

The eldest son. Sir Robert Pringle, third baronet of Stit-

chell, married Katherine, eldest daughter of James Pringle

of Torwoodlce, and died at the age of 88. His son. Sir

James, fourth baronet, served many years as an officer in the

army, first in the fusileers, and afterwards in the 59th regi-

ment, which he commanded. Subsequently he was colonri

of the Southern fencibles, and for a .short time commanded

the Ro.Kburglishire yeomanry cavalry, after that corps was

raised in 1797. He was master of works for Scotland, and

represented Berwickshire in four parli.aments. He died in

1809. By his wife, Elizabeth, eldest daughter of Norman
Macleod of M.acleod, he had, with three daughters, three sons,

n;imely, I. Robert, younger of Stitchell, who predeceased his

father. 2. John, fifth baronet. 3. Norman, major of the

21st North British fusileers, and afterwards British consul at

Stockholm. He had purchased Torsonce from his father,

which he afterwards sold.

Sir John Pringle, tilth baronet of Stitcliel! and Newhall,

born in 1781, served for ten years in the 12th light dragoons.

He m.arried, first, his cousin, Emilia Anne, 2d daughter of

General Norman .Macleod of Macleod, and had 3 sons and 5

daughters; and, 2dly, Lady Elizabeth Maitland Campbell,

daughter of the 1st marquis of Breadalbane, issue, 2 daughters,

the elder of whom, Mary Gavin, married in 1861, Robert, 2d

son of George, lOtli earl of Haddington. Heir, James, his

eldest son by the first marriage. His 2d son, Norman, a ca-

det in the roy.al engineers at Woolwich, was accidentally

drowned in the Thames. Sir John is vice-lieutenant of Rox-

burghshire, and a deputy-lieutenant of Berwickshire.

PRIXGLE, Sir Joiix, baronet, nn eminent

pliysiciau ami natural pliilosoplier, was tlie young-

est son of Sir Jolin Pringle, second baronet of

Stitchell, and :\Iagdalcn, daugliter of Sir AVilliam

Gilbert Elliot of Stobbs, and was born at Stiteliell

House, Roxburglisliire, April 10, 17U7. He re-

ceived his grammatical education at lionie inidera

pi'ivate tutor, and afterwards entered the nniver-

sit}' of St. Andrews, where a relative of his father,

jMr. Francis Pringle, was at that time professor of

Greek. In October 1727 he removed to Edin-

burgh to studj' medicine, with the : iew of follow-

ing the profession of a jjliysician. In the follow-

ing year he proceeded to Leyden, at that period

the most celebrated medical school in Europe

;

and, July 20, 1730, took the degree of :\r D. in

the tiniversity there, where he was the pupil of

the illustrious Boerhaave. He completed his med-

ical studies at Paris, after which he settled as a

physician at Edinburgh. In ^March. 1 70 1 he was
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appointed by the mugistratcs and town council

assistant and successor to Mr. Scott, in tlie cliair

of moral pliilosophy in tliat university. In 17 4:2

he was nominated pliysician to the earl of Stair,

then commander-in-chief of the British ami}'

;

and, through the interest of this nobleman, he was

constituted, in August of the same year, physician

to the military hospital in Flanders. During his

absence from the university, Messrs. Muirhead

and Cleghorn were appointed to teacli tlie moral

philosopliy class in liis stead. At the battle of

Dettingen, fought June 26, 1743, Dr. Pringle was

present in a coach with Lord Carteret, and at one

period of the engagement was exposed to great

danger. Through his exertions a convention -was

entered into, in the early part of the campaign of

that year, between Lord Stair and Marshal No-

ailles, for the mutual protection of the hospitals of

the contending armies, which was faithfully ad-

hered to by both generals.

After the retirement of Lord Stair, Dr. Pringle

attended the army in Flanders throughout the

campaign of 1744. Having b}^ his diligence and

ability recommended himself to the duke of Cum-

berland, he was in the following spring appointed

physician-general to his majesty's forces m the

Netherlands, and also physician to the royal hos-

pitals there. He now resigned his professorship

in the university of Edinburgh. In the end of

1745 he was recalled from Flanders to attend the

forces under the duke of Cumberland, ordered

against the rebels in Scotland. At this time he

was chosen a member of the Royal Society of

London. He remained with the royal troops till

after the battle of Culloden, April 16, 1746, and

in the two succeeding years he again served with

the army on the Continent. On peace being con-

cluded by the treaty of Aix-Ia-Chapelle in 1748,

he embarked with the forces on his return to Eng-

land. From this time he principally resided in

London, and in 1749 was appointed physician in

ordinary to the duke of Cumberland. In 1750 he

published ' Observations on the Jail or Hospital

Fever.' The same year he communicated to the

Iloj'al Society liis famous ' Experiments upon

Septic and Antiseptic Substances, with Remarks

relating to their Use in the Tlieory of IMediciuc,'

which were comprehended in sevci-al papers, for

which he received the Copley medal. Many of

his papers after this period appear in the Philoso-

phical Transactions
;
and, besides these commu-

nications, he wrote in the Edinbnv;:li ]\Iedical

Essays, volume fifth, ' An Account of the Success

of the Vitrum Ccratum Antimonii.' In 1752 lie

published his celebrated work ' On the Diseases

of the Army,' which passed through numerous

editions, and was translated into the French,

German, Italian, and other languages. In 1753

he was elected one of the council of the Royal

Society. In 1758, on relinquishing his appoint-

ment in the army, he was admitted a licentiate of

the London college of physicians.

Soon after the accession of George III. he was,

in 1761, appointed physician to the queen's house-

hold, and in 1763 physician extraordinary to her

majesty. The same year he was chosen a mem-

ber of the academy of sciences at Haarlem, and

fellow of the college of physicians, London ; and

in 1764 he succeeded Dr. Wollaston as physician

in ordinary to the queen. In 1766 the king was

pleased to testify his sense of his long services, as

well as of his abilities and merit, hy raising him

to the dignit}- of a baronet of Great Britain. In

1772 he Avas elected president of the Eoyal Soci-

ety, and in 1774 was appointed ph3-sician extra-

ordinary to his majesty. In 1776 he became a

member of the academy of sciences at Madrid,

and most of the other learned bodies of Europe at

different periods enrolled his name in the list of

their members. In 1778 he succeeded Linnscus

as one of the eight foreign members of the acade-

my of Sciences at Paris; and in 1781 he became a

fellow of the then recently instituted society of

antiquaries at Edinburgh.

His declining health induced him, at the close

of 1778, to resign the presidencj' of the Royal

Society. The discourses which he delivered as

president, six in number, were published the year

after his death, by his friend Dr. Kippis, in one

volume 8vo. Hoping to derive benefit from the

air of his native country, he spent the summer of

1780 in Scotland, residing chief!}' in Edinburgh,

and formed the design of fixing his residence alto-

gether in that citj'. With this view, in 1781, he

disposed of his house in Pall I\Iall, with the great-

er part of his library, and removed to Edinburgh
;
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but the keenness of the climate induced li'nu to

return to London in the beginning of the follow-

ing September. On quitting the capital of tlie

north, lie jiresented the Etiinburgh college with

ten manuscript folio volumes of medical and pliy-

sical observations, on the singular condition that

they should never be j^rinted, nor lent out of the

library of the college, lie died January 18, 178:.',

in the 75tli year of his age, and, on February 7,

his body M as deposited in a vault in St. James'

church. Ilis portrait is sulijoiiied :

A monument to his niemoiy, by Nollelviiis, was

afterwards erected in A\'e.-liiiinster Abbey, at the

expense of his uepliew . lie had married in 1752

the second daughter of Oliver of Bath, but

his wife died, without children, in less than three

years ; and the baronetcy conferred on him be-

came extinct at his death.—His >\ oi ks are :

Dlsputiitio de Marcore ^onili. Lcvd. 1730, 'Ito. Tlie

same. Loiul. 17C5, Svd.

Observations on tlie Natnrc and Cure of Hospital and Jail

Fevers, in a Letter to Dr. Mead. Loud. 17.00, Svo.

Ob.servations on the Diseases of the Avmv, in Camp and

in Ganison. I.ond. 17.5"2, 17.")o, 17G1. 4tli edition, 17G5,

4to. otli edition, 1775, Svo. This last is somewhat fuller

than the others. "K new edition, 1810, Svo.

Discourse on the different kinds of Air, delivered at tlie

Anniversary Meeting of tlie Roval Society, 177o. I.ond.

I77i, -Ito.

A Discourse on the Torpedo, delivered at the Anniversary

Meeting of the Kjyal Society. Loud. 1775, 4to.

Discourse on the Attraction of Mountains. Lond. 1775, 4to.

Discourse upon some late Improvements of the Jleans for

preserving the Health of Mariners. Lond. 177G, 4to.

A Discourse on the Invention and Improvements of the

Reflecting Telescope. Lond. 1778, 4to.

Discourse on the Theory of Gunnery. Lond. 1778, 4to.

Si.\' Discourses, delivered hy Sir .lohn Pringle, Bart, wlien

President of the Royal Society, on occasion of six annual

assignments of Sir Godfrey Copley's Medal ; to which is pre-

fixed, the Life of the Author, hy A. Kippis, D.D. Lond.

1783, Svo.

An Account of the Success of the Vilnim Ceratum Anti-

monii. Edin. Med. K.ss. vol. v. p. 194, 173(;.

Experiments on Substances resisting Putrefaction. Phil.

Trans. 1750, Abr. x. p. 57. On the same. lb. p. 73. Con-

tinued, p. 84.

Several Persons seized with the Jail Fever working at

Newgate. lb. p. 318.

Reinarkahlo Case of Fragility, Flexibility, and Dissolution

of the Bones. lb. p. 40G.

Of the Earthquakes felt at Brussels. lb. p. C'JG, 1755.

On the Agitation of the Waters, Xov. 1, 1755, in Scotland

and at H.amburgh. lb. p. G97.

Accounts of the Fiery Jletcoi- which appeared on Nov. 2G,

17GS, between S and 9 at niglit. lb. p 377, 1759. I'.e-
|

marks on the same. lb. p. 3S8.

Account of the Influenza as it appeared in 1775. Jled.

Obs. and Inq. vi. p. 318.

PllINGLE, TnoM.\s, a highly esteemed poet

and miscellaneous writer, the son of a farmer, was

born on the farm of Blaiklaw, in Teviotdalc, Jan-

uaiT 5, 1780. Owing to an accident -which he

met M'ith in the nurse's arms, when only a few !

months old, by which liis right limb was dislocat-

ed at the hip-joint, he was unfortunately rendered

lame for life. lie learnt the rudiments of Latin

at the grammar school of Kelso, and completed

his studies at the university of ]Cdinburgli. He

afterwards became a clerk in the Register Ofiice,

Edinburgh, in the ser\ ice of his majestj-'s com-

missioners on the ])ublic records of Scotland. In

1811, ill conjunction with a friend, he published

a satirical poem, called tlie 'Institute,' which

did not sell, and is now forgotten. In 1816 he

contributed a descriptive poem to the 'Poetic

IMirror,' which M as the means of introducing him

to Sir Walter Scott. Soon after he projected the

' Edinburgh jMonthl}- Magazine,' the first number

of which appeared in April 1817. It contained

an article by Pringle on Scottish Gipsies, the

materials for which Avere dictated to him by
j

Scott, and have been inserted in the Introduction
j

to Guy Alannering. To enable him to devote

liis undivided attention to this periodical, -which,
j
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soon falling into the hands of new proprietors, be-

came ' Blackwood's Magazine,' he had relinquished

his situation in the Register Office ; and about the

same time he undertook the editorship of the

' Edinburgh Star' newspaper. He also became

joint-editor of Constable's ' Scots Magazine.'

Owing to some dispute with Mr. Blackwood,

he soon retired from all connection with his Mag-

azine, a circumstance which drew down upon him

the abuse of some of his former coadjutors. Pre-

vious to this separation he had married Margaret,

daughter of Mr. William Brown, an East Lothian

fanner of great respectabilit3\ In January 1819,

having relinquished the editorship of the ' Star,'

he resumed liis former occupation of copj'ing old

records in the Register Office ; and in the same

year he published the ' Autumnal Excursion, or

Sketches in Teviotdale, with other Poems.' His

earnings being totally inadequate to the support

of his family, and circumstances compelling the

other members of his father's house to have re-

course to emigration, he applied, through his

friend Scott, to Lord Melville, for an allotment of

land in Southern Africa for his father and brother,

and readily obtained a grant of eleven hundred

acres of the unoccupied territory at the Cape.

The little band of emigrants, consisting of twelve

men, including three farm servants, six women,

and six children, his wife, her sister, and himself,

being of the number, sailed from London in Feb-

ruary 1820, and arrived at Algoa Bay on the 15th

j\Iay, where they disembarked. On reaching

their place of settlement, they called it Glen-

Lynden, which is now the official name of the

liver, and the whole of the valley, conferred in

compliment to Pringle by General Bourke, when

lieutenant - governor. Li this remote location

Pringle acted as the physician and surgeon of the

party, there being no other within a hundred

miles ; and was at the same time the civil and

military chief of the settlement, and the religious

instructor and officiating minister. In June 1821

he obtained from Sir Rufane Donkin, the acting

governor, an extension of the location, which put

his party in possession of twenty thousand acres

of land.

Through the interest of Sir Walter Scott, and

others of his friends at the colonial department.

he was appointed librarian of the government

library at Cnpe Town ; and in September 1822,

with his wife and her sister, he commenced a resi-

dence there of liearlj' three years. His salarj' be-

ing only £75 a-year, he at first received pupils for

private instruction, and then, in conjunction with

a Dutch clergyman of the town, made arrange-

ments for publishing a periodical in both the Eng-

lish and Dutch languages. The governor, how-

ever. Lord Charles Somerset, withheld his sanction

from the latter project, and it did not make its

appearance till some time afterwards, when, hav-

ing obtained the approval of the government at

home, it was at last published, under the name of

the 'South African Journal.' Previous to this

he had been joined by Mr. John Fairbairn from

Edinburgh, with whom he organized a private

academy on an extensive scale, which succeeded

to his utmost wishes; and soon after the appear-

ance of his 'Journal,' he was appointed joint-

editor of the 'South African Commercial Adver-

tiser,' a paper recently started by Mr. Greig, a

printer. A dispute with the governor, however,

arising from an attempted censorship of the press,

to which Pringle would not submit, soon led to

the discontinuance of both publications, the ruin

of his academy, and the resignation of his office of

government librarian. From October 1824 to

April 1826 he was diligently employed in making

himself acquainted with the true condition of tlic

colony, and more especially of the frontier where

his own relatives were located. During the great-

er part of 1825 he was in correspondence with the

commissioners of inquiry, not onlj^ respecting his

own case, but on the subject of various abuses In

the local administration, the treatment of the col-

oured race, and the defence of the frontier. He

was one of the originators of the second great

measure next to the political emancipation of the

Hottentots, namely, their establishment as inde-

pendent occupiers of land. A paper, given in by

him to the commissioners in 1823, was entitled

' Hints of a Plan for defending the Eastern Fron-

tier of the Colony by a Settlement of Hottentots.'

He also acted as secrctar}^ to the Society for the

relief of the distressed Settlers in iWbany, in which

capacity he sent a pamphlet for publication to

Loudon, entitled ' Some Account of the Present
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State of the English Settlers in Albaiij', South

Africa,' which had the effect of procuring contri-

butions to the relief fund, of £7,000 from England

and India, besides £3,000 raised in tlie colonJ^

After visiting his relatives at Glen-Lynden, lie

returned to London in Jul}' 182G, and immedi-

ately applied to the Colonial Government for

compensation for his losses at the Capo, but his

claims were disallowed. An article, however, in

the New IMonthly IMagazino, on (lie State of Sla-

ver}' in the Colon}', which he had transmitted to

England pri'vious to his deiiai'tiirc from Cape

Town, led to his acquaintance with j\[r., afiei--

wards Sir Fowell Buxton and i\Ir. Zachary Mac-

aulay, and eventually to his being engaged, in

1827, as secretary to the Anti-Slavery Society, a

situation which he held until the object of that

body was accomplished. To the cause of aboli-

tion he devoted the energies of his body and mind,

discharging the duties of his office in a way that

showed his wliole heart to be in the cause of jus-

tice and humanity. lie soon after became editor

of ' Fi ieiidship's Offering,' a well-known annual in

its day, which he conducted for seven or eight years

with sound judgment and correct taste. In 1 828 he

published his ' Ephemeridcs,' I)eing a collection

of his juvenile poems, songs, and sonnets, and

miscellaneous jiieces, most of ^^llich are distin-

guished by their elegance and beauty, and all

being rich in evidences of the truly benevolent

and Cliristian spirit tint actuated the autliur

throughout his life. In ISoi those of his poems

^^llicll relate to South Africa were reprinted in a

volume, entitled 'African Sketches,' in which his

interesting prose 'Narrative of a Residence in

South Africa' appeared for the first time. After

the author's death, it was republished in a sepa-

rate form, with a j\Iemoir prefixed, from the pen

of Mr. Josiah Conder.

On the 28th June 1S34, the day after his offi-

cial announcement to the public of the abolition

of slavery, he was seized with his last illness.

Symptoms of consumption having soon become

distinclly apparent, he was advised by his physi-

cian to remove to a warmer climate before the

approach of winter. lie, therefore, turned his

thoughts towards Soullicrn Africa; and after a

fruitless application to Government for an ap-

pointment at the Cape, or for an advance of

money to assist him on his return, the necessary

preparations were hastily completed, and the pas-

sage for himself, his wife, and her sistei', actually

engaged. Three days, however, before the time

appointed for sailing, he was attacked with a diar-

rhoea, which his already enfeebled constitution

could not resist, and he died December 5, 1834.

His remains were interred in Bunliill Fields bury-

ing-ground, where a simple stone bears an elegant

tribute to his memory, composed by William

Kennedy. In 183S) a collection of liis poetical

work's, ;\ ith a sketch of liis life by Leitcli Ilitchie,

which has furnished the materials of this notice,

w as ]iul)lislied l)y I^Ioxon of London, for the ben-

efit of his ^^ idow.

Q

QuEENSBERnv, Carl, marquis, nnd (hike of, titles in tlic

peerage of Scotlanii, possessed by abrnncli of tlic .^IlcieIlt .md

mice dominant family of Douglas, and tlie latter lield, since

1810, by tlie dnko of Biiccleucli. Tlie title of e.irl of Qneens-

bevry was conferred in 1G">3, hy Cliarles I., on Sir William

Douglas of Dnimlanrig, descended from Sir William Douglas,

tlic elder of tlie two natural sons of James, second earl of

Douglas, wlio was killed at the battle of Otterbnrn in 13SS,

(sec vol. ii. of this work, p. 43). Tlie barony of Dnimlan-

rii:, in tbe parish of Durrisdecr, Dumfrie.s-sliirc, was bestow-

ed upon liim by bis father by charier, .and he was subsequent-

ly designated dominus de Drunilanrig. In 1111, Sir William

Douglas of Dnimlanrig and Sir Gavin de Dunbar attacked

Roxburgh, tlien in possession of the Knglish, bro];e down the

bridge, and burnt the town. On 24lli September tliat year,

with the earls of Douglas .and March, he was a commissioner

to treat for a peace with the I^ngli.sh. He obtained from

King James I. a letter, dated at Croydon, 30th November

1412, confirming to him the lands of Drumlanrig, '• Haw-
yke," and Selkirk, which is still extant. lie liad a safe-

conduct to come .and go to England, to negotiate the release

of that monarch, then a captive there, 16th April 1413.
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Upon various other occ:isions lie liail also a safe-coiiiluct to

f;o to England, particularly one on IGth December 1-114, to

him and six persons chosen by liim, attended by eighty

horsemen, to go to Carlisle, to perform certain feats of arms

before judges, against Sir John de Clifford and six persons

of his nomination. In 1420 he accompanied the Scottish

auxiliaries to France under the earl of Buchan. He was

kniglited at the coronation of James I., 21st May 1424, and

is said to have been killed in battle against the English in

France in 1427. By his wife, Elizabeth, daughter of Sir

Robert Stewart of Dumsdeer and Rosyth, he had a son,

William Douglas of Drumlanrig, who was one of the hostages

for King James I., 9th November 1427, in the room of Sir

Adam de Hebburn. In 1448 he was in the army command-

ed by the earls of Douglas and Ormond, when a sanguinary

battle was fought with the English on the banks of the river

Sark in Annandale, and the latter were defeated with great

slaughter. He died in 1458.

His son, William Douglas of Drumlanrig, distinguished

himself at the siege of Roxburgh, where James II. was killed

in 14G0, and also in December 1462 in the expedition of the

earl of Angus to the relief of Alnwick, then held by a French

garrison, imder Breze, liigh-steward of Normandy, (see vol.

ii. p. 45,) when he succeeded in bringing them off, iu sight of

a superior English force, commanded by King Edward IV. in

person. He died in 1464. His son, Sir William Douglas of

Drumlanrig, was killed while fighting on the king's side

against the duke of Albany and the ninth and last earl of

Douglas, in the engagement near Lochmabcn, when they in-

vaded Scotland 22d July 1484. With three daughters, he

had four sons, namely, 1. James, his successor. 2. Archi-

bald, ancestor of the Douglases of Cashogle. 3. George, an-

cestor of the Douglases of Penziere; and 4. John, vicar of

Kirkconnell.

The eldest son, James Douglas of Drumlanrig, married, in

1470, Janet, eldest daughter of Sir David Scott of Branx-

liolm, ancestor of the duke of Buccleuch and Queensberry,

and died in 1498. He had, with one daughter, a son, Sir

William Douglas of Drumlanrig, who fell at the battle of

Flodden, 9th September 1513. Witli two d.aughters the lat-

ter had two sons. Sir James, and' Robert, appointed provost

of Lindudden in 1547. He was the last provost of that an-

cient religious house, and was allowed to enjoy tlie benefice

for about forty years after the Reformation. He was one of

the persons who accompanied King .James 'VI., when he em-

barked for Norway, 22d October 1589, and appears to have

been collector of the revenue, as on the appointment of the

Octavians in 1596, he demitted that office, on being required

to do so. The Douglases of Burford were descended from

him. He is said to have been a natural son, but legitimated

in 1559.

The elder son, Sir James Douglas of Drumlanrig, was one

of the barons who, with Sir Walter Scott of Buccleuch, at-

tempted to rescue King James 'V. from the hands of the earl

of Angus, near jUelrose, in June 1526, for which he obtained

a remission. The oldest extant charter of the town of Haw-
ick is one of confirmation granted by tliis James Douglas of

Drumk\nrig, baron of Hawick, dated 11th October 1537. He
was knighted by the regent Arran, duke of Chatelherault,

and in 1553 appointed guardian of the west marches, with

full powers of justiciary. He subscribed the Book of Disci-

pline 27th January 1561, and was one of the confederated

barons who marched .against Queen Mary, in 1567, when she

surrendered at Carberi-y hill. On this occasion, his son, Sir

William Douglas of Hawick, with Hume of Jfanderstoii and

Hume of Huttonhall, was sent Ibnvard to break the ari iiy of

the queen's gunners, when she stood with her army on tiie

hill. When the queen escaped from Lochleven, the son. Sir

William Douglas, joined the regent Mor.ay at Glasgow, and

on the latter being advised to retire to Stirling, he declared,

" If ye depart, I will go to the queen, as my Lord Boyd hath

done." At the battle of Langside, he had the command of .1

party of horse on the regent's side. Old Drumlanrig, as his

father was called, was with the forces under the earl of Jlor-

ton at Leith, in 1571, and engaged in some of the skirmishes

with the castle of Edinburgh, then held by the queen's party.

On the 23d of June the same year, he was taken prisoner as

he was riding home, on some business betwixt liim and Lord

Herries, and others who were at variance. Lord Herries

treacherously appointed to meet him where the laird of

Wormeston lay in wait for liim, and he was conveyed to the

castle of Edinburgh. On this occasion his son, Sir WiUi.am,

narrowly escaped. Not being certain whether his son had

been killed or not, he sent him the following curious epistle:

"Willie, Thou sail wit that I am haill and feare. Send me
word th.iirfoir how thow art, whether deid or livand? Gif

thow be deid, I doubt not 'out freindis will let me know the

treuth ; and gif thow be weill, I desyre na mair," &c. He
showed this letter to his captors, that they might be sure it

contained no treason; and to save his purse, he sent it with

the letter, desiring the messenger to deliver it to his son.

(Calderioood, vol. iii. p. 105, note.) He was one of those

who visited Knox on his deathbed, and died in 1578. His

son. Sir William Douglas, having predeceased him in 1572,

he was succeeded by his grandson. Sir James Douglas of

Drumlanrig, who distinguished himself in Euppressiiig dis-

turbances on the borders, and died 16th October 1615.

With two daughters. Sir James had four sons. 1. Sir Wil-

liam. 2. Sir James Douglas of Jlouswald, Dumfries-shire,

derived from Moswold, "the wood near the moss.'' 3. D.a-

vid Douglas of Airdoch ; and 4. George Douglas of Penziere.

The eldest son. Sir Vf'illiam Douglas of Drumlanrig, was

the first earl of Queensberry. He had obtained a reversion

of the provostry of Lincludden, and after the death of his

granduncle, Robert Douglas, above mentioned, he enjoyed its

revenues during his own life. He was a member of the Gen-

eral Assembly which met at Glasgow 8th June 1610, and

entertained King James VI., at his house of Drumlanrig,

when his majesty visited Scotland in 1617. By patent,

dated at Whitehall, 1st April 1628, he was created a peer, by

the titles of viscount of Drumlanrig, and Lord Douglas of

Hawick and Tibberis, to him and his heirs male, bearing the

name and arms of Douglas. He got vested in himself and

his heirs the patronage and tithes of the churches of Terre-

gles, Lochrutton, Colvend, Kirkbean, and Caerlaverock, be-

longing to the provostry of Lincludden, and also a sm:dl part

of its lands. When Charles I. visited Scotland in 1633, he

advanced the viscount of Drumlanrig to the title of earl of

Queensberry, to him and his heirs male bearing the name

and arms of Douglas, by patent, dated at Seton, ISlh June

of that year. The title was taken from a mountain called

Queensberry, in the parish of Closeburn, Dumfries-shire,

having its name from the Anglo-Saxon berg, a hill, softened

into berry. Situated amid a collection of h.eights, it is liter-

allv tile "queen hill" of the district. He died 8th JIarch

1C40. He had, with two daughters, four sons : I.James,

second earl of Queensberry. 2. Hon. Sir William Douglas of

Kelhead. 3. Hon. Archibald Douglas of Dornock, ancestor

of the Douglases of Dornock ; and 4. Hon. George Douglas,

who died unmarried.

James, second carl of Queensberry, the eldest son, .adiiered

to the cause of Charles I. in the civil wars, and was on his
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way to join the marquis of I\Iontrose nfter tlie battle of Kil-

syth in August 16-15, wlien the leading men of the district of

Glencairn intercepted and took him prisoner. A fine of

120,000 marks Scots was imposed on him by the Estates,

whicli he paid, and by Cromwell's act of grace and pardon in

1C51, another fine of £4,000 sterling was exacted from him.

He died in 1C71. He was twice married; first, to Lady

Maiy Hamilton, third daughter of the second marquis of

Hamilton, without issue; and, secondly, to Lady Margaret

Stewart, eldest daughter of John, first earl of Traquair, high-

treasurer of Scotland, by whom he had, with five daughters,

four sons, namely, 1. William, third earl. 2. Hon. James

Douglas, who, after passing advocate, entered tlie army, and

was made colonel of the guards in Scotland in July 16S4.

He rose to be lieutenant-general, and died at Namur, in

1C91. 3. Hon. John Douglas, killed at the siege of Treves

in 1G73 ; and 4. Hon. Kobert Douglas, killed at the siege of

Maestricht in 1G76.

William, third earl and first duke of Queensberrj', the eld-

est son, celebrated as a statesman, was born in 1G37, and

had charters of the office of slieriflf and coroner of the county

of Dumfries in 1GG4 and 1GG7. In the latter year he was

sworn a privy councillor, and succeeded his father in 1G71.

Li .Tune 1680, he was appointed justice-general of Scotland,

and w.as admitted an extraordinary lord of session, 1st No-

vember 1G81. He was created marquis of Queensbcny, earl

of Drumlanrig and Sanquhar, viscount of Nith, Torthor-

wald, and Ross, and Lord Douglas of Kinmonth, Jliddlebie,

and Dornoclc, to him .and his heirs male whatsoever in all

future time, by patent, dated at AVhitehall, lltli February

1G82 ; and in April following he obtained a warrant author-

izing the lion king at arms to give to him and his heirs for

ever the double tressure, as it is carried in the I'oyal achieve-

ment. On being constituted high-treasurer of Scotland by

commission, dated 12th Hay 1G82, he resigned the place of

justice-general, and on 21st September following was ap-

pointed constable and governor of Euiuburgli castle. By

Ch.arles H. he was created duke of Queensbeny, marquis of

Dumfries-shire, earl of Drumlanrig and Sanquhar, viscount

of Nith, Torthorwald, and Ross, Lord Douglas of Kinniouth,

3Iiddlebie and Dornoek, to him and the heirs m.ale of his

body, by patent, dated at Whitehall, 3d November 1684.

On the accession of James VIL in 1685, his grace was

continued in all his offices, and appointed high-commissioner

to represent his majesty in the first session of his only Scots

parliament, which met at Edinburgh 23d April of that year.

After the king's letter had been read, his grace, referring to

the Covenanters, said, among other things :
" My lords, his

majesty certainly expects from the prudence and loyalty of

this parliament th.it ellectual ways will be fallen upon for

destroying that desperate, fanatical, and irreclaimable party,

who have brought us to the brink of ruin and disgrace, and

are no more rebels against the king than enemies of man-

kind, wretches of such monstrous principles and practices as

past ages never licard nor those to come will hardly believe
;"

concluding with, "how inconsiderable soever they appear,

assure yourselves they ought not absolutely to be contemned, for

if thev had not support and correspondence not yet discovered,

it is not to be supposed they could have so long escaped the

care and vigilance of the government." The following year

the treasury being put in commission, his grace was appoint-

ed president of the council, but disapproving of the king's

measures for repealing the penal laws against popeiT, he

was, the same year, deprived of all his ofiices. He retired to

his estates in Dumfries-shire, and occupied himself in super-

intending the building of Drumhmrig castle, which he had

begun some years before. This magnificent edifice to(dc

ten years in building, and was not finished till 1C89, the

year after the Revolution. He expended upon it such enor-

mous sums of money, and during the only night that he ever

passed within its walls was so annoyed at not being able to

obtain medical advice, to relieve him from a temporary fit of

illness, that lie .abandoned it in disgust, and afterwards fold-

ing up the artificers' bills for erecting it in a sealed parcel,

wrote upon the latter, "The deil pike out his een that looks

herein." He concurred in the Revolution, and with others

of the Scottish nobility waited on the prince of Orange at

London, to request that he would take the administration of

affairs into his hands, and call a convention. His grace was a

.second time appointed an extraordin.ary lord of session, 23d

November 1G93, and died at Edinburgh, 28th JIarch 1695,

.aged 58. He was buried at Durrisdeer, where a m.agnificcnt

monument was erected to his memory. By his duchess,

Lady Isabel Dougl.as, sixth daughter of William, first mar-

quis of Douglas, he had, with one daughter, three sons, viz.

I.James, second duke. 2. William, created earl of JIarch,

20th April 1697 ; and 3. Lord George Douglas, who died,

unmarried, at Sanquhar in July 1693. His father presented

the books belonging to this young noblem.an to the library of

the faculty of advocates at Edinburgh. The daughter, Lady

Anne Dougla.s, married in 1697, David Lord Elclio, after-

wards third earl of AVemyss. Her clothes catching fire

whilst at prayers, 13th February 1700, she was so severely

scorched that she died on the 21st. Her great-grandson,

Francis, earl of Wemyss, succeeded in December 1810, to tlie

title of earl of March and the great estates of the Queens-

berry family in the county of Peebles, (see page 103 of this

volume, and Wkjiyss, earl of).

James, second duke of Queensberry, the eldest son, was the

eminent statesman who succeeded in effecting the treaty of

union with England. Born at Sanquhar castle, 18tli Decem-

ber 1GG2, he was educated at the university of Glasgow, after

leaving which he proceeded to travel on the Continent. On
his return in 1684, he was sworn a privy councillor, and made

lieutenant-colonel of Lord Dundee's regiment of horse, from

which he was removed in 1G88. He entered heartily into

the revolution, and joined the prince of Orange at Sherbourne

30th November that year. By King William he was appoint-

ed colonel of the sixth or Scottish troop of horse guards, a

privy councillor, and one of the gentlemen of his bedcliamber.

In 1692 he was made a commissioner of the treasury, and in

1G93 was .authorized to sit and vote in parliament as lord-

higli-trcasurer. On the death of his father in 1695 he quit-

ted the army, and was appointed an e.xtraordinary lord of

session in his room, also keeper of the privy seal. In 1700

he represented the king as high commissioner to the parlia-

ment of Scotland, and 18th June 1701 was nominated a

knight of the Garter, .and installed at Windsor 10th July

following. In 1702 and 1703 Queen Anne appointed his

grace secretary of state, and her commissioner to the parlia-

ment of Scotland; but his administration creating great dis-

satisfaction, he was shortly afterwards deprived of all his

oflices, except that of lord of session. In 1705 he was re-

stored to oflice, and appointed keeper of the privy seal and

a lord of the treasui-y, and in the following year was consti-

tuted high-commissioner on the part of Scotland to cany

through the treaty of Union between the two kingdoms.

That import.ant national measure was concluded, in 1707,

chiefly by his address, skill, and ability, in spite of the most

powerful opposition. In Scotland, where the Union was pe-

culiarly obnoxious, the duke was vciy unpopular, but in

England he was received with great distinction, and, as a
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reward of his services, a pension of £3,000 per annum was

conferred on him, the wliole patronage of Scotland was vest-

ed in liis hands, and he was created a British peer, 2Gth Jlay

1708, hy the title of dulte of Dover, marquis of Beverley, and

earl of Kipon, with remainder to his third son, Charles, earl

of Sohvay, third duke of Queensberry, of whom afterwards.

On 12th June 170G, his grace surrendered to the crown the

title of duke of Queensberry and other dignities conferred

upon his father, and obtained a new patent of these honours,

d;tted at Windsor castle, the 17lh of the same month, grant-

ing them to him and his heirs of entail, male or female, suc-

ceeding to the estate of Queensberry, such heirs of entail

being descended from the first earl of Queensberry. In this

resignation the titles of marquis and earl of Queensberry, vis-

count of Drunilanrig, Lord Douglas of Hawick and Tibberis,

were not included. On 9th February 1709, his grace was

appointed third secretary of state. He died, after a short

illness, 6th July 1711, in his 49th year. His portrait is

subjoined

:

By Iiis duchess, Mai y, fourtli daughter of Charles Boyle,

Lord Clifford, he had four suns and three daughters. The

two elder sons died yung, and the third, Charles, succeeded

him. His second daughter. Lady Jean Douglas, married 5th

April 1720, Frai.-eis, earl of Dalkeith, afterwards duke of

Buccleuch, with issue.

Charles, third duke of Queensberry and second duke of

Dover, the third hut eldest surviving son, born at Edin-

burgh, 24th November 1G98, was created earl of Sohvay,

viscount of Tibberis, and Lord Douglas of Lockerbie, Dal-

veen, and Thornhill, by patent, dated at Windsor castle 17th

.June 170G (the same date as that of the new patent of the

dukedom of Queensberry granted to his father), to him and

the heirs male of his body. He became duke of Queens-

beny, on his father's death, in I'H. He was a privy coun-

cillor and lord of the bedchamber to George I., and by George

IL was appointed vice-admiral of Scotland.

His grace married, 10th March 1720, Lady Catherine

Hyde, second daughter of Henry, earl of Clarendon and Eo-

chester, celebrated for her beauty, her wit, and her sprightli-

ness,- by Pope, Swift, Prior, and other poets of her time.

Both the duke and duchess had a smcere regard for Gay the

poet, who said of her,

"Yonder I see the cheerful duchess stand.

For friendship, zeal, and blithesome humours known."

They received him into their house, treated him with all re-

spect and attention, and undertook the regulation of his

money matters, a task to which he had ever proved himself

inadequate. He accompanied them to Scotland, and spent

some time with them at Queensbeny house, Edinburgh.

In consequence of their patronage of Gay, they were forbid

the court, the ' Beggar's Opera,' written by him, having, on

its production in 1727, greatly offended those in power. His

grace, in consequence, attached himself to Frederick, prince

of Wales, then in opposition to his father, George II., and

was appointed by him one of the lords of his bedchamber.

On the death of Gay, in December 1732, the duchess erected

a monument to his memory at Westminster Abbey, with an

inscription by Pope.

Under the heritable jurisdiction .abolition act of 1747, his

grace was allowed £6,C2l 8s. 5d. in all, for his regalities, in

full of his claim of £14,500. On the accession of George

III. in 1760, the duke of Queensberry was sworn a privy

councillor. In the following year, he was appointed keeper

of the great se.il of Scotl.ind, and, on IGth April 17G3, lord-

justice-general. In 1778 he was honoured by a visit from

the king and queen, at his seat of Amesbury, Wiltshire.

Soon after he proceeded to London, to return thanks for this

mark of distinction, but on the way, while stepping out of

his carriage, he hurt his leg, and a mortification ensuing, he

died at London 22d August of that year, at the age of SO.

By his duchess he had two sons.

The elder son, Henry, earl of Drumlanrig, born 30th Oc-

tober 1722, was educated at the college of Winchester, and

the university of Oxford. Afterwards, entering the army, he

served two campaigns under the earl of Stair, and one under

Charles Emanuel, king of Sardinia. For his signally gallant

conduct, particularly at the siege of Coni, the latter oi'dered

his ambassador in London to wait on his father, to thank

him for the services performed by him. In Jlay 1747, his

lordship got a commission to raise a regiment of two battal-

ions and twenty companies in the Highlands, for the service

of the States of Holland. On the second battalion being dis-

banded in 1749, his lordship brought them back to Scotland

at his own expense. On 10th July 1754, he m.arried Lady

Elizabeth Hope, eldest daughter of the second earl of Hope-

toun. On their way to London a few weeks thereafter, with

his father, mother, and brother. Lord Drumlanrig was killed,

by the accidental discharge of his pistol, while riding in front

of the carriiiges. (^Dour/las' Peerage, Wood's edition, vol. ii.

p. 383.) This is said to have happened near Bawtry in

Yorkshire, 19tli October of the same year, his lordship being

then 32. There is another account of his death, which has

in it something of a romantic char.acter. It is stated that he

had become enamoured of a Miss Mackay, and was desirous

of marrying her, but the duchess, his mother, opposed the

match, and, by intercepting their letters, caused an estrange-
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nient to tiike pl;ice between tliem. Beiiij; at length assured

that Miss Mackay was married, liis lordsliip espoused Lady

Betty Hope, the lady whom her grace had fixed upon for his

wife. While proceeding to London with his lady, lie met

Miss Mackay on the road, at a town where they temporarily

.stopped, and learning from her th.at she w.as not married, as

he had been led to helieve, he, the following day, shot liim-

self in his carriage, by the side of his wife. (.See Chambers'

Journal, vol. x. p. 18.) His countess never recovered the

shock. Slie survived him oidy about a year .and a half, and

died, childless, 7th April 17oG, in her 21st year.

Charles, the younger son, became earl of Drumlanrig on

his brother's death. Born 17th .July 1726, he was .also edu-

cated at Winchester and O.xford. He was chosen JLP. for

the county of Dumfries, .at the general election of 1747, and

re-elected in 1754. Having gone to Lisbon on account of

his health, he was in that city wdien the celebrated earth-

quake took place, 1st November 1755. He returned home

the following year, and died, 21th October 175G, unm.arried.

On the death of the duke, their father, his grace's British

titles of duke of Dover, &c., a.s well as the Scottish earldom

of Solway, became extinct. The dukedom of Queensberry,

with extensive estates, both in England and Scotland, de-

volved on his cousin William, earl of March and Ruglen, de-

scended from Lord William Douglas, first earl of March,

second son of the first dnke of Queensberry.

From his father, Lord William Dougl-as received the castle

of Neidpath, with a considerable est.-ite in the county of Pee-

bles, purchased in 168G from the 'I'weeddale family. In his

description of Tweeddale, Dr. rennccuick thus celebrates

Neidpath castle :

" The noble Nid Path Peebles overlooks.

With its fair bridge, and Tweed's meandering brooks.

Upon a rock it proud and stately stands.

And to the fields about gives forth commands."

In the reign of .Tames VIL, Lord William Douglas was lieu-

tenant-colonel of a regiment of horse. After the Revolution

he .abstained for some years from taking the o.aths to the

new government; and when he did so, he was created a peer

of Scotland, 20th April 1G97, by the titles of eari of JLarch,

viscount of Peebles, and baron Douglas of Neidpath, Lyne,

and Jlunard, by patent, to the heirs male of his body,

which failing, to the heirs male of entail. He was by Queen

Anne appointed governor of the castle of Edinburgh, by

commission, dated 31st December 1702; but recalled in 1704.

He died at Edinburgh, 2d September 1705. By his countess,

Ladv Jean H.iy, second daughter of the first m.arquis of

Tweeddale, high-chancellor of Scotland, he had, with three

daughters, three sons: 1. William, second earl of March. 2

Hon. .John Douglas of Brougliton, M.P. for Peebles; and 3.

Hon. James Douglas of Stow. The two younger sons died

unmaiTicd.

William, second earl of JIarch, married Lady Anne Ham-

ilton, the elder daughter of John, earl of Selkirk and Ruglen,

and his countess, Lady Anne Kennedy, only daughter of the

seventh earl of Cassillis, .and had one son, William, third

earl of JLu'ch and fourth duke of Queensberry, His lordship

died at Barnton, near Edinburgh, 7tli March, 1731, in his

35th year. On the death of her father, 3d December 1744,

the countess of March, (who subsequently married Anthony

Sawyer, Esq., payma.ster of the forces in Scotland, without

is.sue.) became also countess of Ruglen, in her own right.

William, third earl of JIarcli, succeeded his mother as earl

of Ruglen, on her death in April 1748, and in 1759, on the

death of the eighth earl of Cassillis, he claimed that title as

Inar general, but liis claim was disallowed bv the House of

Lords, and the titles of earl of Cassillis and Lord Kennedy
adjudged to Sir Thomas Kennedy of Culzean. baronet, 27th

January 1702, (see vol. i. p.age G08). He was .also unsuc-

cessful in a litigation for the estates of the Cassillis family.

On the accession of George III. in 17G0, the earl of March
was nominated one of the addition.al lords of the bedcham-

ber, and in 17C1 he was made a kiught of the Thistle. Cho-

sen one of the si.\teen representative Scots peers at the gen-

eral election that year, he was subsequently rechosen four

diff'erent times. He was vice-.admiral of Scotland from 17G7

till 2Cth October 177G, when he was nominated first lord of

police, the board of which was abolished in 1782. He suc-

ceeded his cousin in 1778, .as fourth duke of Queensberry,

thus nnitiirg in his person three difl'erent peerages, .and in

addition lie was created a British peer, by the title of Baron

Dougl.as of Amesbury, Wiltshire, 8th .August, 178G, with

limit.ation to the heirs male of his body. On the king's

recovery, he was, early in 1789, dismissed from the ofhce of

lord of the bedchamber, on account of his supporting the

right of the prince of Wales to the regency independent of

the consent of parli.ainent, and uniformly voting against

ministers on that question.

His grace, wdieii earl of March, had, in eariy life, made
Neidpath castle, near Peebles, his residence. The wood
which surrounded the castle he, in later years, caused to be

cut down and sold, either for the purpose of impoverishing

the estate before it should fall to the heir of entail, or to give

the proceeds to his natural daughter. His conduct with re-

gard to it called forth the following indignant sonnet from

Wordsworth

:

" Degenerate Douglas! Oh ! the unworthy Lord,

Whom mere despite of heart could so far please.

And love of havock, (for with such disease

p'anie taxes him,) that he could send forth word

To level with the dust a noble horde,

A brotherhood, of vener.able trees.

Leaving an ancient dome and towers like these.

Beggared .and outraged ! Many hearts deplored

The fate of those old trees ; and oft with pniu

The traveller, at this day, will stop and gaze

On wrongs whicli nature scarcely seems to lu'cd :

For sheltered places, bosoms, nooks and bays,

And the pure mountains and the gentle Tweed,

And the green silent pastures yet rem.ain."

When his grace fir.st went to London, in his youth, being

then earl of March, he became one of the principal patrons of

horseracing of that day. At the outset of his career on the

turf he distinguished himself by a wager with the celebrated

Count Taafe, an Irishman who had spent some time in the

.Austrian service, that he would travel in a four-wheeled ma-

chine the space of 19 miles in si.xty minutes, and having got

one made for the purpose, he gained it, this match against

time having come off on the course at Newmarket, 29th .Au-

gust, 1750. He took a house ,at Newmarket, overlooking

the course, and was very successful in his betting specula-

tions. He had a choice stud of racehorses, with trainers and

groomboys, the latter dressed in scarlet. From the duke of

Cumberland, the victor at Culloden, Mr. Jennings the .anti-

tiquary, and various others, he gained large .sums. In 175G

he rode a match in person, dres.sed in his own running .stable

livery, consisting of a red silk jacket, a velvet cap, .and buck-

skin breeches, when he was successful. After he had left
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the tuif, lie sold liis house at Newmarket, and betook him-

self to the study of books and coins, the enjoyment of pic-

tures and statues, and the acquisition of one of the noblest

and most expensive collections of sliells in the kingdom.

His later years were spent in retirement at his house in

Piccadilly, London. He had an ear for music, and is said to

have displayed great taste in a song. A munificent patron

of musicians, especially foreign ones, in his house were to be

seen all the great singers who were attracted to England in

his time. " In point of person," says a writer in the Scots

Magazine for February 1811, " his grace was of the middle

size, neat, slim, and at an early period of life, graceful and

elegant. In consequence of a speck in one of liis eyes, a

ridiculous story prevailed that he wore a glass one. He spent

the greater part of his later years at the south-east extrem-

ity of his parlour bow window, where he sat eight or ten

hours daily. Behind liim stood a servant out of lively who

acted the part of a nomenclator, and pronounced the names of

such of the passengers as were of any distinction. So uniform

was his grace in attendance during certain fixed hours, and

of such long continuance of practice, that a gentleman who

set out for India in quest of a fortune, on his return after ten

years' absence, actually found him fixed in the same spot.

His favourite pony was saddled every forenoon, and, until

the day of his death, stationed nearly opposite the door, in

constant readiness, precisely at the same moment as for-

merly."

His grace died at London, 23d December 1810, in his 8Gth

year, unmarried. The titles of duke of QueeusbeiTy, mar-

quis of Dumfries-shire, earl of Drumlanrig and Sanquhar,

viscount of Nith, Torthorwald and Ross, with Drumlanrig

castle, passed, by special limitation, to the duke of Buccleuch,

the grandson of Lady Jean Douglas, duchess of Buccleuch.

Those of marquis and earl of Queensberry, viscount of Drum-

lanrig and baron Douglas, devolved upon Sir Charles Doug-

las, sixth baronet of Kelhead, heir male of the family, of

whom below. With these titles he got the baronies of Tin-

wald and Torthorwald, and other estates in Dumfries-Ehirc.

The titles of earl of JIarch, viscount of Peebles, and Lord

Neidpath, Lyne, and Munard, with Neldpath castle, and the

estate attached to it in Peebles-shire, passed to the earl of

Wemyss; while those of earl of Ruglen and Lord Douglas of

Amesbury became extinct. The Wiltshire property of Amcs-

buiy went, in accordance with a settlement executed by the

third duke of Queensberry, to Archibald, Lord Douglas of

Douglas. His grace's persona] fortune, amounting to about

a million sterling, was devised in legacies to various persons,

tlie earl of Yarmouth being the I'esiduary legatee. A list of

these is given in the number of the Scots Magazine above

quoted.

Sir Charles Douglas of Kelhead, baronet, who succeeded as

fifth marquis of Queensberr}', derived his descent from the

Hon. Sir William Douglas of Kelhead, second son of the first

earl of Queensbern-. He was an officer in the army, and
governor of Carlisle in 1647. He was created a baronet of

Nova Scotia, by patent dated 20tlr Febniary 16G8, and died

before 1673. He was twice married
;

first, to Agnes, daugh-
ter of Fawsyde of Fawsyde, parish of Tranent, Haddington-

shire; and, secondly, to Jean Stewart, of the Traquair fam-
ily, relict of Andrew Eiddell of Haining, and by the fonner

had five sons and several daughters.

His 3d eldest surviving son. Sir James Douglas, 2d bart.

of Kelhead, born Sept. 19, 1639, succeeded him, and died be-

fore April 1708. By his wife. Lady Catherine Douglas, 2d

daughter of the 2d earl of Queensberry, Sir James had one

son, Sir WiUiam Douglas, 3d baronet, who died in 1733.

The latter had 10 sons and 4 daughters. The eldest son.

Sir John Douglas, 4th baronet, was chosen M. P. for Dumfries

county at the general election of 1741. Apprehended in Ju'v

1746, on suspicion of having favoured the cause of the Pre-

tender, he was, on Aug. 14th, committed to the Tower of

London, and not liberated till JIarch 1748, when he got out

on bail. He died at Drumlanrig, Nov. 13, 1778. His eldest

son. Sir William Douglas, 5tli b.ironet, M.P. for the Dum-
fries burghs, died May 16, 1783. He married the eldest

daughter and coheir of William Johnston, Esq. of Lockerby,

Dumfries-shire, and, with 3 daughters, had 5 sons.

Sir Cluirles, the eldest son, 6th baronet of Kellie.ad, born in

1777, became in Dec. 1810, as already shown, oth marquis

of Queensberry. He was a knight of the Thistle, a lord of

the bedchamber, lord-lieutenant of Dumfries-shire, and colo-

nel in its militia. In 1833 he was created Baron Solway of

Kininouiit, in the peerage of the United Kingdom, a title

which became extinct at his death in 1837. By his march-
ioness. Lady Caroline Mont.ague, 3d daughter of Henrj', duke

of Buccleuch and Queensberry, he had 5 daughters.

He was succeeded by his next brother, John, 6th marquis

of Queensberry, born in 1779; .appointed a lord of the bed-

chamber in April 1835. He died Dec. 19, 1856. He liad

married, in 1817, Sarah, daughter of J.ames Sholto Douglas,

Esq., with issue. His son, Archibald William, 7th marquis,

born in 1818, was educated at Eton, and became a cornet in

the 2d Life Guards, but retired in 1844. As Viscount Drum-
lanrig, he w.as elected JLP. for Dumfries-shire in 1847: mar-

ried the daughter of Major-general Sir William Robert Clav-

ton, baronet; issue, 4 sons and 2 daughters. He was killed

at Kinmount, Dumfries-shire, by the accidental discharge of

his gun, while shooting rabbits, Aug. 6, 1858.

His eldest son, John Sholto Douglas, Viscount Drumian-

rlg, born July 20, 1844, succeeded as 8th marquis.

E
Rae, sum.ime of, see Suppi.kmext.

R.'VEBURN, Sin Henry, a distingnislicd por-

triiit painter, tlie j'oiniger son of Mr. William

Raeburn, manufacturer at Stockbridgc, a suburb

of Edinburgh, was born tlicre, IMarch 4, 175G.

Ilis ancestors lived on the border, and his father,

on liis removal to Stockbridge, married Ann

Elder, and commencing manufacturer, became
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the proprietor of mills. I!o had two sons, Wil-

liam, who succeeded liim in his business, and

Henry, tlie subject of tliis notice.

lie lost both his parents while yet young, and

received his education in Ilcriot's Hospital, Edin-

burgli, called by those who have been brought up

in it, ' Ileriot's Wark.' At the age of fifteen, he

was apprenticed to a goldsmith in Edinburgh.

Soon after lie began to amuse himself by drawing

miniatures, which, although he had never received

any lessons, were finished in such a superior man-

ner as to excite attention. Ilis master, aston-

ished at his performances, tooli him, about the

year 1772, to see the paintings of David Martin,

then the jirincipal portrait painter in tlic Scottish

metropolis. IMariin, wlio painted many portraits

in what Allan Cunningham calls " the first starch-

ed Hudson style of Sir Joshua Reynolds," at that

time resided in St. James' Square, lie received

the young aspirant courteously, and lent him sev-

eral pictures, with permission to copy them. lie

refused, however, to teach liim how to prepare liis

colours, leaving liim to find that out for himself

In thus maintaining the mystery of his profession,

Martin acted properly enough. lie had given

liim all the assistance which a younger artist, not

a pupil, is entitled to expect from au elder, in the

way of advice and encouragement, and so far was

entitled to praise rather than censure. But when

liis jealousy of tlie rising talents of the j-outli, or

his own captious temper, led him somewhat hast-

ily to accuse him of selling one of the copies

which he had permitted him to make, the case

was different. Raeburn indignantly established

his innocence, and refused all further assistance

from liini.

He continued to paint iniuiatui-es, for which

there was soon a general dcniaiul, and he usually

finished two in a week. As this employment

necessarily withdrew his time from trade, an ar-

rangement was entered into with his master,

Avherebj' the latter, on receiving part of his earn-

ings, dispensed with the young painter's attend-

ance. In the course of his apprenticeship he be-

gan to paint in oil, and on a large scale, a style

which lie soon adopted in lu'el'erence to miniature

painting.

^\'helI the expiration of his apprenticeship ren-

dered liim free, he became professionallv a por-

trait painter. At the ago of twenty -two, he

married Ami, daughter of Peter Edgar, Esq. of

Bridgelands, with whom lie received a handsome

fortune. He had fallen in love -with this young

lady while she sat to him for lier portrait. "With

the view of improving himself in his art, he re-

paired to London, where he Avas introduced to

Sir Joshua Reynolds. That artist, struck with
j

the genius displa}-ed in his works, advised him to '

enlarge his ideas by a visit to Italy, and even
;

ofl'ered to supply him with money for the pur-

pose, which, however, Raeburn did not need. lie

accordingly set out for Rome, accompanied hy his
'

wife, and well furnished with letters of introduc-
1

tion from Sir Joshua to tlie most eminent artists
\

and men of science in that capital. lie spent two

j-cars in Italy, diligently engaged in studying tlie

most celebrated works of art. Returning to Ed-

inburgh in 1787, he established himself in George
|

Street of that city, where lie soon rose to the head

of his profession in Scotland, an eminence which
i

he maintained to the end of his life. i

In 1795 he built a large house in York Place,
|

the upper part of which was lighted from the
\

roof, and fitted np as a galleiy for exhibition,
j

while the lower was divided into convenient paint-
:

lug rooms. His dwelling-house was at St. Bei'-
j

nard's, near Stockbiidge, on the banks of the Wa- !

1

ter of Leith. The history of his life is limited to '!

his professional pursuits. He painted the por-

traits of many of tlie most eminent of his cotem-

poraries in Scotland, and his likenesses are uni- I

versally regarded as most striking and exact,

while they arc executed with a freedom, vigour, !

and dignity, in which he M as excelled by none.

His style was free and bold; his drawing ci'iti-

cally correct; his colouring rich, deep, and hai'- J

monious ; the accessories, whether draperj-, furni-

ture, or landscape, were always appropriate ; and
]

he had the peculiar power of rendering the head

of his figure bold, prominent, and imposing. His

equestrian pieces, in particular, are universalh-
[

admired. The most interesting of his later works

arc a scries of half-length portraits of his literary

and .scientific friends, which he painted solely for

his own private gratification. A great number

of his portraits have been engraved. Constantly
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emploj-cd as a portrait painter, lie devoted no

part of liis attention eitlier to historical or land-

scape painting. He was elected a member of the

Roj'al Society of Edinburgh, of the Imperial Aca-

demy of Florence, and of the New York and

South Carolina Academies. On November 2,

1812, or, as stated by some, in 1814, the Eoyal

Academy of London elected him an associate, and,

on February 10, 1815, he was chosen an acade-

mician.

In 1822, when George IV. visited Edinburgh,

his majesty, as a compliment to the fine arts in

Scotland, conferred the honour of knighthood on

Mr. Eaeburn, a dignity which was wholly unex-

pected on his part. A few weeks thereafter his

brother artists, as a mark of their respect, invited

him to a public dinner. Soon after, he was nomi-

nated portrait painter to his majesty for Scotland,

an appointment which, however, was not an-

nounced to him till the very day when he was

seized with the illness which terminated in his

death. His portrait is subjoined

:

The last pictures on which he was engaged

were two portraits of Sir Walter Scott, one for

himself, and the other for Lord Montague. He

died, after a short illness, arising from general

decay, July 8, 1823. His widow survived him

ten years. He had two sons, Peter, who died at

nineteen, and Henry, who with his wife and fa-

mily, lived under the same roof with his father,

and to whose children he left the bulk of his for-

tune, consisting of houses and ground-rents on hi^

propert}^ at St. Bernard's, Stockbridge, which, in

liis latter years, he had occupied his leisure in

planning out into elegant villas and streets, and

now forms part of one of the suburbs of Edinburgli.

Rait, or Rate, a surname, originally Uhet, supposed to

liave been derived from a German, wlio came to Scotland in

tlie reign of JIalcolin the Slaideii, from tbe country of Ehe-

tia, wlience tlie name. He is said to have got from that

monarch some lands in Perthshire, which he called after his

own name. In the reign of John Baliol mention is made of

Sir Gervase Rait of that ilk. The name appears in the Rag-

man Roll as that of one of the Scuts h;u-ons who swore fealty

to Edward I. of England in 1296. In the reign of Robert

HI., Sir Alexander Rait of that ilk having killed the thane

of Calder, fled to the Mearns, and obtained the protection of

the earl ilarisclial. His son, JIark Rait, married the heiress

of Hallgreen, named Dunnet or Durand, and got with her

that estate, which became the designation of the family.

David Rait of Hallgreen and Drunmagar had a charter from

King James III. of these lands. A second son of this fam-

ily was ancestor of the Ruits of Pitforthie.

The Raits of Anniston House, Forfarshire, are also a

branch of the Hallgreen family.

John Rait, D.D., bishop of Aberdeen in 1351, is witness to

a charter the last day of February in the 23d year of David

II. He died in the 2Gth year of the same king, viz., 1355.

Another of the family was minister of Inverkeillom-, Forfar-

shire, and died about 1GS8.

There was likewise a Capt. Rait, R.N., of whom honour-

able mention is made in the Life of William IV., as " the

gallant Rait."

Dr. George Rait, brother of Rait of Hallgreen, married

Catherine, daughter of Bishop Douglas of Dunblane, and had,

with a daughter. Lady Ramsay of Banff, a son, William Rait,

Esq., whose son, John Rait of Anniston House, nuuTied in

1799 Elizabeth, daughter of James Guthrie, Esq. of Craigie,

Forfarshire, with issue.

His son, James Rait of Anniston House, born Nov. 20,

ISOo, educated at Eton, Edinburgh, and the University of

St. Andrews; major of the Forfarshire militia, and a magis-

ti-ate and deputy lieutenant of the county; was formerly

Captain loth Hussars. He commanded a regiment of lancers

in the British legion in Spain in 1835-7, and gained the 1st

class medal of St. Ferdinando. He was also decorated by

General Cordova in the field with the 2d class medal of the

same. He married July 17, 1S38, Lady Clementina Drum-

mond Ogilvy, 2d daughter of the earl of Airlie, with issue.

R.VLSTON, a surname deri\'ed from lands originally called

Ralphston, in Renfrewshire. The ancient family of Ralston

of that ilk descended from one Ralph, a contraction of Ran-

dolph, who obtained some lands from the high steward of

Scotland, which he called after his own name, Ralphston.

In course of time softened into Ralston, it became the sur-

name of the family. Nicolaus de Ralston is witness to a
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donati<m to the monks of Paisley in 1272. In tlie Kngnian

Roll is tlie name of Hew de Ralstoun of tliis family. Jaco-

bu.s Rjdston of Ralston is witness in an instrument upon

electing an abbot of tbe monasteiy of Paisley, whose snniame

was John Ralston of tlnit ilk. Crawford, in his ' History of

Renfrewshire,' says that the family were descended from the

Macduffs, thanes or earls of Fife. But, as Nisbet remarks,

this is not favoured by their arms, for they do not carry

the lion rampant, the arms of the old earls ot Fife, but three

acorns on a bend, intiinating that they are of the same r.icc

and stock with tliose of the surname of Muirhcad.

In the reign of James II. lived John de Ralstone, who, in

14'14, was made lord keeper of the privy seal, in 1448 bishop

of Dunkeld, and in 1449 lord-liigh-treasurer. The same

year he was sent ambassador to Kngland, and again in 1452.

(^Keith's Catalogue of Scottish Bishops.') He was succeeded

in the estate of Ralston by his nephew. In 1505 Thomas

Ralston of Ralston obtained a charter of his lands from John

Lord Ross. Hugh de Ralston of Ralston fell at the battle of

Pinkie 10th September 1547. The sou of the latter, also

named Hugh, acquired in 1551, from Gavin, commendator of

Kilwinning, the lands of Woodside and Turnerland, parish of

Beith, Ayrshire. Ho was the si.xth laird of Ralston.

The Ralstons of Warwickhill are descended from his young-

er son, AViHiam Ralston, grandfather of Gavin Ralston, the

first of Auchintorlie near Paisley, a man of such singular

opinions with regard to religion that he acquired the name of

the -Pagan. William Henry Ralston, the third in descent

from him, .i captain in the army, purchased the lands of

Warwickhill, and was succeeded by his nephew, Alexander

Macdougall Ralston
;
married, with issue.

Rajisay, ,t surname derived from Tlamsi't/ or Hanjsca, the

island of rams. Lower, in his ' Essays on English Surnames,'

(vol. ii. p. 103,) says that the abbot of Ramsay bore on his

seal a ram in the sea. Simnudus de Ramsay, the ancestor of

the Dalhousie family, the first of the name in Scotland, came

from the county of Huntingdon, in England, where the name

of Ramsay is a local appellation, and received a grant of lands

in Jlid Lothian from David I. (see vol. ii. p. 2. article Dai.-

HOU.SIE). Wo leam from Douglas, (Peerar/e, Wood's edit,

vol. i. p. 401,) that he was a witness in a charter of Arch-

bishop Thurston to the monks of Holyrood in 1140, and also

in one, in the reign of Jl.alcolm IV., wherein William de

Morville, constable of Scotland, granted the lands of Gilmer-

ton, near Edinburgh, to Eudulph, the son of Uchtred. Wil-

liam de Ramsay is witness to a charter to the church of Col-

dinghain, in the reign of King William the Lion, before 1198.

Patrick de Ramsay is witness to a charter of King Alexan-

der II., to the abbacy of Dunfermline in 1227. Another

William de Ramsay was of the council of King Alexander

III. in 1255, in the minority of that monarch. He wit-

nessed a charter of Duncan de Lascels in 12G0, also, a dona-

tion of Symon de K}Tier or Kinneir, to the nioidcs of Balme-

rino, in Fife, 1st September 12G1, and another, signed in

presence of King Alexander III., in the castle of Edinburgh,

in May 1278. He is said to have had three sons: William,

liis successor; Malcolm, witness to a charter of William de

Valloniis in 1284 ; and John, witness to the same and to an-

other charter in 1278.

William de Ramsay, the eldest son, swore fealty to Ed-

ward I. of England, for his lands of Dalwolsie or Dalhousie,

in the county of Edinburgh, and of Foulden. Berwickshire,

in 129G, .and again in 1304. He joined King Robert the

Brus, and was one of the patriot barons who signed the let-

111.

ter to the pope, asserting the independence of Scotland, Clh
April 1320.

Sir Alexander de Ramsay of Dalhousie, supposed to be hia

(referred to in the article Daluousik, carl and marquis

of,) distinguished himself by his valour and daring in the

reign of David II., and was one of the most con.spicuous of

the Scottish leaders against the English at that period. In

August 1335, when Edward III. invaded Scotland, and a

considerable body of foreign troops, under the command of

Guy count of Namur, had landed to his assistance, the latter

were encountered and defeated on the Borougliinuir of Edin-

burgh by the regent Randolph, earl of Moray, the earl of

March, and Sir Alexander Ramsay. Collecting together a

band of adventurous young men, the latter took shelter in the

caves of Hawthornden near Roslin, and in the adjacent caves

of Gorton, and continually harassed the English by his sallies

ag:dnst them. He relieved the castle of Dunbar, when be-

sieged by the earl of Salisbury in 1338, (see vol. ii. of this

work, p. 78). He even extended his inroads across the bor-

der, and, on one occasion, returning from Northumheriand

with much booty, he was encountered by Robert planners

near Wark castle. Pretending to fly, he led the party into

an ambuscade, when he attacked and totally defeated Ihem,

making their leader prisoner. He took the strong fortress of

Roxburgh by storm from the English, 20th March 1342.

As William Douglas, the knight of Liddesdale, (see vol. ii. p.

42.) had previously failed in an attempt on the same fortress,

D.avid II. conferred his oflice of sheriff of Teviotdale on Ram-
say. This roused the resentment of Douglas, formerly his

friend and companion in arms, and while Ramsay was hold-

ing a court in the church of Hawick, 20th June 1342, he

came with an armed retinue, and dragging him from the

judgment-seat, conveyed him to his castle of Hermitage,

where he shut him up in a dungeon, and left him to perish

of hunger. It is related that above the place of his confine-

ment there was a granary, and that with some grains of corn

which dropped down through the crevices of the roof, Ram-
say protracted a miserable existence for seventeen days.

Sir William Ramsay of Dalhousie, said to be his son, con-

ducted a body of men across the border, in August 1355, and

pillaged the country about Norham, six miles above Berwick.

Sir Thomas Grey of Chillingh.ame, the governor of Norham
castle, attacked him on his return, but was drawn into an

ambush and taken prisoner. Sir William's elder son, Sir

I'atrick Ramsay of Dalhousie, had a charter from David II.

of the lands of Kerrington, in Mid Lothian, and died in 1377.

His son, Alexander, designed of Carnock, having prede-

ceased him, he was succeeded by his gi'andson. Sir Alexander

Ramsay, the son of the latter. This baron defended Dalhou-

sie castle, when attacked by the English under HeniT IV.,

so stoutly that the king was compelled to retreat from before

it. Sir Alexander was slain at the battle of Homildon, 14th

September 1402.

Sir Alexander Ram.say, the next feud.al baron of D.alhou-

sie, obtained a letter of safe-conduct to go to England in

1423, to accompany James I. to Scotland, on his return

from his long captivit}', and was knighted at In's coronation

the following year. At the conflict at Pipeden, 30th Septem-

ber 1435, when the English were defeated, he was one of the

principal commanders. He died before 19th March 14G5.

He had four sons. Alexander, the eldest, predeceased his

father, leaving .i son of the same n.ime. Robert, the second

.son, is supposed to have been the ancestor of the Ramsavs of

Cockpen. The R.amsavs of Whitehill, in the county of Edin-

burgh, descended from a second son of Cockpen, h;id the title

of baronet. The family terminated in an heiress, who mar-

X
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ried Balfour of Balbirnie. Tlie two younger sons were George

Eamsay of Hallhouse and Lekbernard, Jlid Lothian, and

William Ramsay. Sir Alexander made an entail of liis

estate, by charter, dated 3d April 145ti, in favour of his

grandson, Alexander, and the heirs male of his body, which

failing, to his remaining sons in their order, and the lieirs

male of their bodies respectively.

Tlie grandson. Sir Alexander Eamsay of Dalhousie, was a

minor at the death of his grandfather. The baronies of Foul-

den and Dixlliousie were confirmed to him by James III.,

22d March, 1473. He was slain at Floddon in September

1513. His son, Nicol, who succeeded him, had a commis-

sion of justiciary on D.alhousie, Kerrington, and Foulden, 2d

Jlay 1542, and died in 1554.

Kieol's son, George Ramsay of Dalhousie, signed the bond

of .issociation in 15G7 fur the defence of James VI., but on

the escape of Queen Mary from Lochleveu castle, he'joined

her party, and entered into the band at Hamilton to support

ner cause, 8th Jl.ay 1568. He died in December 1579. In

Carr's History of Coldingham Priory, under the head of

Foulden (page 158), it is stated that he was the last of the

family, probably meaning that possessed Foulden, and that

he died 4th Janu.ary 1592, aged 74. He was buried in the

churchyard of Foulden, where a tombstone bearing the latter

date, with a quaint inscription, marks his dust, llis eldest

son, John Ramsay of Dalhousie, who succeeded him, died in

1592, without issue. His next brother, James, predeceased

him, but left two sons, George, first Lord Rams.iy, and John,

viscount of Haddington and earl of Holderness. The latter,

when Sir John Ramsay, was the chief instrument in saving

the life of James VI., when attacked in Gowrie house in

ICOO, (se« Haddington, viscount of, vol. ii. p. 394).

George Ramsay of Dalhousie, the elder son, had the bar-

ony of Dalhousie, on his own resignation, and the lordship

of Melrose on the resignation of his brother John, viscount of

Haddington, erected into the free barony of i\lelrose, to him-

self and his heirs m.ile of entail, with the title of Lord Ram-

say of Melrose, by charter, dated 25tli August 1618. He
afterwards obtained a letter ft-om King James VI., dated at

Whitehall 5th January 1619, changing the title to Lord Ram-

say of Dalhousie. He died in 1629. He m.arried, first,

Margaret, daughter and heiress of Sir George Douglas of

Helenhill, brother of William, earl of Morton, and had, with

two daughters, a son, W^illiam, second Lord Ramsay of Dal-

housie, and first earl of Dalhousie, (see vol. ii. p. 2). By a

second marriage he li.ad two sons, the Hon. John Ramsay

and the Hon. James Ramsay.

A baronetcy of Nova Scotia was conferred, 3d September

1625, on Gilbert Ramsay of Balmain and Fasque in Kincar-

dineshire, grandson of Sir John Rams.ay, knight, the page of

James III., and the only one of his favourites not put to

de.ath at Lauder Bridge, who was created by that monarch

Lord Bothwell (see Bothwici.l, Lord, vol. i. p. 353). Sir

Alexander, the sixth baronet of this family, died 11th Febru-

ary 1806, without issue, when his kinsman and heir-at-law.

Sir Thomas Ramsay, colonel East India Company's service,

became seventh baronet. Sir Thomas died in 1830, without

issue, when the title became extinct.

Sir Alexander, the .sixth baronet, had bequeathed the

estates to his nephew, Alexander Burnet, Esq., second son of

Sir Thomas Burnet of Leys, baronet, by Catherine Rams.ay,

his sister. Jlr. Burnet, in consequence, assumed by sign

manual the surname and arms of Ramsay, and was created

a baronet in May 1800, by the designation of Sir Alexander

Ramsav of Balmain. He died 17th M.iy 1810. By his wife,

Elizabeth, daughter and coheir of Sir Alexander Bannerman
of Elsick, baronet, he h.id eight sons and three daughters.

The four eldest sons were. Sir Alexander, second baronet

;

Thomas, a captain in the 47th regiment, who was twice mar-
ried, with issue; Robert, a captain in the 14tli regiment,

married, with issue ; and the Very Rev. Edward Ramsav,
dean of Edinburgh, in the Scots Episcopal church, married.

The eldest son. Sir Alexander, third baronet, born 14th Feb-
niaiy 1785, was twice married, and had issue by both mar-
riages. His 2d wife was Elizabeth, 2d daughter of the 1st

Lord Panmure. Sir Alexander died April 26, 1852.

Sir Alexander, tiie eldest son, 3d baronet, born May 26,

1813. married Dec. 29, 1835, Ellen JIatilda, eldest daughter

of John Ent«isle, Esq. of Foxliales, county of Lancaster,

issue, 4 sons and a daughter. The eldest son, Alexander

Entwisle, was born January 14, 1837.

A baronetcy of Kova Scotia is also possessed by the family

of Rams.ay of Bamff, Perthshire, confen'ed in 1666, on Sir Gil-

bert Ramsay, knight, grandson of George Ramsay of Bamff,

descended from Adam de Rams.ay of Bamff, one of the Scottish

barons who swore fealty to Edward I. of England in 1296,

and the father of Alexander Ramsay, physician to King

James and Charles I.

Sir Gilbert's son. Sir James, second b.aronet, died in 1730,

when his eldest son. Sir John, became third baronet. He
was succeeded in 1738 by his eldest son, Sir James, whose

eldest son, Sir John, fifth baronet, advocate and sheriff of

Kincardineshire, died without issue. The title then devolved

upon his brother, Sir George, the sixth baronet, who fell in a

duel with Captain James Macrae of'Holmains in April 1790,

(see pp. 69, 70 of this volume). The dispute between them

arose out of some insolent behaviour which one of Lady Ram-
s.ay's footmen had ofl'ered to Captain j\Iacrae at the Edin-

burgh theatre, for which th.at gentleman beat him severely

on the spot. This was on the evening of the 7th April.

The footman, James Merry, having on the 12th raised an

action ag.ainst him, the captain wrote to Sir George, insisting

on the prosecution being stopped or that the footman should

be instantly dismissed. Sir George declined to interfere, and

a duel was the consequence. On the 14th the parties met at

Musselburgh, when Sir George received a wound of which he

died on the 16th. Captain Macrae took refuge iu France.

Leaving no issue. Sir George was succeeded by his brother,

Sir William, 7th baronet, who died in 1807. The latter had

3 sons: James; George; and William, professor oF human-

itv in the university of Glasgow, appointed in 1831, who

married Catherine, daughter of Professor Davidson, of the

same university, issue, one daughter.

Sir James, M.A., baronet, born Sep. 26, 1797, married in

1828, Jane, only child and heiress of John Hope Oliphant,

Esq., first iu council of Prince of Wales Island. He died

without issue, Jan. 1, 1859.

His brother. Sir George, born March 19, 1800, succeeded

as 9th hart. He married in 1830 Emily-Eugenie, daughter

of Henry Lennox, Esq., county Westmeath, issue, 3 sons.

In the reign of David II., families of the name of Ramsay

acquired lands in various parts of the kingdom. In Fife

there were the Ramsays of Northbarnes, the Ramsays of

Lumquhat, and the Ramsays of Balbartan ; in Forfarshire,

the R.ams.ays of Mains; and in Kincardineshire the Ramsays

of Cracknestown.

One-third of the lordship of Leuchars, in Fife, that to

which the castle was attached, was conferred by Robert II.

on Sir Alexander Ramsay, and to distinguish it from tlie
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other two-tliirJs it was subsefjuently designated Lcucluirs-

Eamsay. Sir Alexander I'amsay dying witliout male issue,

liis only daughter married Eustachius de Jlonypenny, wlio

tlius acquired the lands of Leuchars-Ramsay, and their suc-

cessor leaving only a daughter, who married llamsay of Col-

lutliie, this portion of tlie hinds came to that fandly.

About 135G Sir William Hainsay of Colluthie nuirried Isa-

bel, countess of Fife, daughter of Duncan, the last earl of

Fife of the ancient race of JIacduft', (see vol. ii. p. 211,) in

consequence of which ho was invested witli the earldom, says

Sir .lames Balfour, by David II., by the cincture of the belt

and sword, as the custom then was, (A'isbet's Ileraldrij, vol.

i. p. 31). Sibbald s;iys that in a charter to the Scrimgeours,

lie is placed before the carl of JIarch, from wliich he con-

cludes that he h.ad probably some right to the title by blood.

'I'licrc is no reason to believe, however, that he had any other

rinht than was derived from the investiture of the crown, in

consequence of his marriage with the heiress. He accompa-

nied the earl of Donghis to France in 135G, probably previous

to his marriage with the countess of Fife, and w;is present at

tlie battle of I'uictiers, lOtli September of that year, when

Archibald de Douglas, brother of the knight of Liddesdale,

was made prisoner by the English, but effected his escape

through the presence of mind of Sir William Ramsay. The

circumstances are related at vol. ii. p. 43. Sir William Ram-

say, earl of Fife, died without issue, when the investiture

reverted to the crown ; .and his own estate to his heirs, whose

successors long possessed CoUulliie.

Elizabeth Ramsay, the daughter and heiress of the last

m;de heir of the family, NN'illiam Ramsay of Colluthie, mar-

ried David Carnegie of Panbride, who received with her the

lands of Leuchars-Ramsay and Collutliie. Two of the sons

of this David Carnegie, by a second wife, were, after his

death, raised to the peerage, his eldest sou being created earl

of Southcsk, and his second son, earl of Northesk. See

those titles.

A baronetcy was possessed by a fan;ily of the name of

Ramsay, proprietors for a time of the lands of Abbotshall, in

Fife. They were piu-chascd from the Scotls of Balwcarie by

Sir Andrew Ramsay, styled of Waughton, who was created a

baronet in 1GG9, and was son of Andrew Ramsay, a rector of

the college of Edinburgh, and minister of the Greyfriaj-s

church there. He obtained the latter estate by liis

marriage with the heiress of Hepburn of Waughton, Had-

dingtonshire. Sir Andrew Rams.ay was bred a merchant,

and elected lord provost of Edinburgh in 1G54, and for the

tliree succeeding years. He gained the favour of the duke of

Lauderdale by prevailing on the town council to give that

impriuclpled statesman £5,000 sterling for the superiority of

I.eith, and under his .auspices he was re-elected lord provost

of Edinburgh in 1GG2, and kept that office for twelve succes-

sive years, in spite of all the attempts of the council to re-

move him. In 1G71 lie was nominated a privy councillor

and admitted an ordinary lord of session. Ho was also com-

nussioner to parliament for Edinburgh. From the various

offices which he held ho was extremely useful to Lauderdale,

and necessarily obnoxious to his opponents. It was, there-

fore, resolved to get quit of him by impeachment, and ac-

cordingly articles were given in by the carl of ICglintoii

bearing that, " albeit by the .act against billeting it was de-

clared a crime in .any man to endeavour to thrust any of his

majesty's subjects out of their employment without a formal

and legal sentence, yet he, the s.aid Sir Andrew, had pro-

cured a letter from his m.ajcsty to thrust 5Ir. Rochcad out of

his cmploynscnt as town clerk of Edinburgh, and .albeit ihc

making lies betwixt the king and his people was punishablo

by death, he liad represented to his m.ajesty that the town

had risen in a tumult ;igainst the king, and had thereupon

procured another letter commanding the privy council to pro-

ceed against the chief citizens as nndefactors." This struck

at L.auderdale himself as the procurer of these letters, and he

therefore prevailed on Sir Andrew to escape from the im-

jieachment by resigning his situation both as a magistrate

and as a lord of session in 1G73. Sir Andrew died in 1G80,

and was succeeded by his son. Sir Andrew Rams.ay of Ab-

botshall and Waughton. He was named a commissioner of

trade in 1G85, and died in 1709, without issue, when he was

succeeded by his nephew, Jlr. Andrew Ramsay, a grandson

of the laird of Whitston in the Mearns. The baronetcy has

long been extinct.

RAMS.-VY, AxDKKW Micn.\EL, better known

as the Chevalier do Eanis.t}-, wa.s born at Ayr,

June 9, 168G. lie was tlie son of a baker, in

good circumstances, and received a liberal educa-

tion, first at the scliool of Lis native place, and

afterwards at the university of Edinburgh. He

was subsequently appointed tutor to the two sons

of the carl of Weniyss. Becoming unsettled in

his religious piinciplcs, he repaired to the Conti-

nent, and at the university of Leydcn he made

the acquaintance of T\I. Poiret, a mystic divine,

who induced liim to adopt the docti'inos of that

system of theology. In 1710 he visited the cele-

brated Fenelon, archbishop of Cambray, who had

imbibed the fundamental principles of mysticism
;

and \>y that amiable prelate he was persuaded to

become a Roman Catholic. Fenelon's influence

procured him the appointment of preceptor to the

duke de Chateau-Thierry and the prince de Tu-

renne, when he was made a knight of tlie order

of St. Lazarus. He was subsequently engaged

by the Pretender to supei-intend the education of

his two sons. Prince Charles Edward and Henry,

afterwards cardinal do York; and for this pur-

pose he removed to Rome in 1724 ; but on his

arrival there, he found so many intrigues and dis-

sensions that lie soon requested leave to return to

Paris. Some time after he visited Scotland, and

was kindly received by the duke of Argyle and

Greenwich, in whose family he resided some

years, and employed his leisure in writing several

of his works. In 1730 the university of Oxford

conferred on him the degree of LL.D., having

been admitted for this purpose of St. Mary's Hall

in April of that year. "While in his native coun-

try he ollered to settle an annuity on his relations,

but they indignantly refused to accept it, on the
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ground of his having i-enoiinccd the Protestant

religion. After his return to France he resided

some time at Pontoise, a seat of tlie prince de

Turenne, dulie de Bouillon, in whose family he

continued in the capacity of intendant till his

death, which happened at St. Germain-en-Laye,

May 6, \7i3. He was the author of the follow-

ing works

:

Discours sui- le Poeme Epique, prefixed to tlie latter eJi-

tions of Teleinaclms.

La Vie de M. Fenelon, of which there is an English trans-

lation.

Essai sur le Gouvernemeiit Civil. In Englisli. London,

1769, 8vo.

Le Psycliometre, ou Reflexions sur les difFerens Cliarac-

teres de I'Esprit, par un Jlilord Anglois. These are Remarks

upon Lord Sliaftesbury's Characteristics.

Les Vovages de Cyrus, avec uu Discours sur la JFythologie

des Payens. Paris, 1727, l-2mo. Lend. 1728, 2 vols. 8vo.

Et avec Additions, &c. Lond. 1730, 1733, 4to. In English.

Lond. 1730, 4to. 1739, 12mo. With .Additions. Glasgow,

1755, 2 vols. 12mo. This is the only Work by which he is

much known in this country. It is written in imitation of

Telemachus.

Poems. Edin. 1728, 4to.

Plan of Education for a Young Prince. Lond. 1732, 8vo.

L'Histoire de M. Turenne. Par. 1735, 2 torn. 4to. Haye,

1736, 4 torn. 12mo. In Englisli. Lond. 1735, 2 vols. 8vo.

Philosophical Principles of Natural and Revealed Religion,

explained and unfolded, in a geometrical order. Glasgow,

1749, 2 vols. 4to. (posthumous).

Two Letters in French to M. Racine, upon the True Sen-

timents of Mr. Pope in liis Essay on JIan. Printed in Les

CEuvrcs de M. Racine le Fils, torn. ii. 1747.

Poema Sacr.i. Lond. 1753, 8vo.

RAMSAY, Allan, next to Burns the most dis-

tinguished of the national poets of Scotland, was

born October 15, 1686, at Leadhills, in the parish

of Crawfordmuir, in Lanarkshire. He was great-

grandson of Captain John Ramsay, a sou of Ram-

say of Cockpen, a branch of the family of Ramsay

of Dalhousie. His grandfather, Robert Ramsay,

a writer in Edinburgh, and after him, his father,

also named Robert Ramsaj', was superintendent

of Lord Hopetoun's lead mines at Lead-hills,

and his mother, Alice Bower, was the daughter

of a gentleman of Derbyshire. His grandmother,

Janet Douglas, was a daughter of Douglas of

Muthil. All the education which he ever re-

ceived was obtained at the parish school. He

lost his father at the early age of twenty-

five, and his mother soon after married Mr.

Crichton, a small landholder of Lanarkshire,

by whom she had several children. In 1700

his mother died, and in the following year his

stepfather took him into Edinburgh, and bound

him apprentice to a periwigmaker, an occupation

which most of his biographers are very anxious

to distinguish from that of a barber. In those

days, however, from the prevalent fashion of

wearing periwigs, wig-making -was a very lucrative

and highly respectable profession. Allan himself,

it would seem, was not ashamed of his trade, but

continued at it long after his apprenticeship had

terminated. The earliest of his poems which can

now be traced is an epistle addressed, in 1712,

'To the most happy members of the Easy club,'

a convivial societj' which, in 1715, appointed him

their poet laureate ; but it was soon after broken

up by the Rebellion. In 1716, while still a wig-

maker, Ramsay published an edition of James the

First's poem of ' Christ's Kirk on the Green,' with

a second canto by himself, to which, two years

after, he added a third. From the imprint of this

latter edition, it appears that he had shortly be-

fore abandoned his original occupation, and com-

menced the more congenial business of a book-

seller. His first shop was " at the sign of the

Mercury, opposite to Niddry's Wynd." In 1721

he published a collection of his poems, in one vol-

ume 4to, which was so liberalh' subscribed for,

that he is said to have cleared four hundred gui-

neas by it. The greater part of the pieces in this

volume had previously appeared at difterent times

in the detached form of sheets or half-sheets, at

one penny each, and so popular had his name be-

come, that it was quite customary for the citizens

of Edinburgh to send their children, with a pen-

ny, for " Allan Ramsay's last piece." In 172-4 he

published the first volume of 'The Tea-Table

Miscellany,' a collection of songs, Scottish and

English, which was speedily followed by a second;

a third volume appeared in 1727, and a fourth

after another interval. This publication went

through no less than twelve editions in a few

years. The rapid sale of the first volume induced

him in the same year (1724) to bring out ' The

Evergreen, being a Collection of Scots Poems,

wrote by the Ingenious before 1600.' It professed

to be chiefly selected from the Bannatyne MS.,

and was equally successful. Ramsay, who was a

Jacobite in principle, inserted in this publication

a poem of affected antiquitj', under an assumed
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name, entitled 'The Vision,' liaving reference to

the Pretender.

His next publication at once cstablislied liis

fimic upon a permanent foundation. In 1725

appeared ''I'lie (lentle Shepherd,' a pastoral com-

edy, in five acts—the best poem of its kind, per-

hajis, in any language. In 1721 lie had ]iublished

an eclogue, under the title of ' Patic and Roger,'

and in 172:1 a sequel under that of ' Jenn}' and

Maggie.' The ]niblic approbation of these de-

tached scenes encouraged him to make them the

groundwork of the complete drama called ' The

Gentle Shepherd,' the success of which was in-

stantaneous and unprecedented. Edition rapidly

followed edition, and in a few years it was known

to every admirer of poetry in the three kingdoms,

aud had secured a welcome place in almost ev-

ery cottage in Scotland. The great popularity of

Gay's 'Beggar's Opera,' not long after, induced

Ramsay to ]iriiit a new edition of ' The Gentle

Shepherd,' with songs abundantly interspersed,

adapted to popular Scottish airs, and these it has

ever since retained.

In 1726 he removed to a house at the east end

of the Luckcnbootlis, afterwards occupied by

Creech the bookseller, and instead of IMercur}-,

adojjted for his sign the heads of Ben Jonson and

Drumniond of Ilawthornden. Ramsay is said to

have been the first who established a circulating

library in Scotland. After his death, it passed

into the hands of .Mr. Sibbald, and subsequently

into those of jNIr. IMackay, by whose respective

additions it was rendered the most extensive

establishment of the kind, jiei haps, in Britain.

In 1728 a second quarto volume of his poems

appeared, and was reprinted in 8vo during the

same vear. In IT^^O he published his 'Thirty

Fables,' undoubtedly the best of his minor pro-

dnctions. Among them is 'The Monk and the

^Miller's "Wife,' a slory Avhicli, though previous!}'

told by Dunbar, " would of itself," as a compe-

tent critic has remarked, "be P^amsay's passport

to immortality as a ])oet." "\\'ith these he seems

to have conchuled his poetic labours. "I e'en

gave over in good tinu\" he says in a letter to

Smibert, the painter, " before the coolness of fm-

cv that attends advanced years should make me

risk the reputation I have acquired." His fame

had now extended be3'ond the limits of his native

country. An edition of his poems was published

by the London booksellers in 1731, and another

appeared at Dublin in 1733. His acquaintance

was courted by the rich and the noble, and his

shop was the usual resort of the literary charac-

ters and wits of Edinburgh. Ilis intercourse with

coutemiiorary poets was lU'ctl}' extensive. Ham-

ilton of Bangour, Hamilton of Gilbertfield, Gay,

and others, were among the number of his friends,

and he addressed verses to Pope and Somerville,

author of 'The Chase,' the latter of whom return-

ed his poetical greetings in two epistles.

In 17oG his passion for the drama and enter-

prising spirit prompted him to erect a new theatre

in Carrubber's Close ; but in the ensuing year the

act for licensing the stage was passed, aud the

magistrates ordered the house to be shut up. By

this speculation he lost a good deal of money

;

and it is remarked b}' his biographers, that this

was, perhaps, the only unfortunate project in

which lie ever engaged. In 1743 he lost liis wife,

Christian Ross, daughter of a writer in Edinburgh,

whom he had married in 1712, and who left him

a sou and three grown-up daughters, out of seven

children she had borne to him. Soon after her

death, with the view of spending his days in dig-

nified retirement, he erected a house on the north

side of the Castlehill, commanding a magnificent

view, though now intercepted by the houses of

the New Town of Edinburgh. The mansion it-

self, however, is biiilt in rather a whimsical style

of architecture. Here he spent the last twelve

years of his life, although he did not give up his

shop until 1755, three years before his decease.

He died January 7, 175S, aged 72, and was bur-

ied ill the Grcyfriars' churchyard, \\liere a moun-

nient was, after the ln]ise of more than half a

century, erected to his memory. Allan Ramsay's

works are :

Clirist's Kirk on tlie Grecp. ^Vitll a secnnd Canto hy

Ramsay. Kiiiii. 171G, 8vo. In 3 Cantos, the tliird also l>y

Eamsay. ICdin. 1718. Fifth edition, 1722.

Scots Songs. Edln. 1718, 8vo. Second edition, 1710.

Klegics on ^Ia<:sie Johnston, Jolm Cowpcr, and Lucky

Wood. Edin. 1718, 8vo.

Many of liis Poems were origin.ally published at Edin-

burirh in separate forms. They were afterwards collected and

printed in one volume, with a portrait of the author by

Smibert. Edin. 1721, 4to.
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Tartana; or tlie Plaid. Edin. 1721, 8vo.

Fables and Talcs. Edin. 1722.

Tale of Three Bonnets. Edin. 1722.

Fair Assembly. Edin. 1723.

Health ; a Poem. Edin. 1724.

The Tea Table Jliscellany ; a Collection of the most Choice

Songs, Scottish and English. Edinburgh, 1724, 24mo. The

2d volume appeared soon after; the 3d volume in 1727, and

the 4th at London in 1740. A pirated edition of the three

volumes then ready was published at Dublin in 1729, 3 vols,

in one, 12mo, pp. 334, printed for E. Smith. On the publi-

cation of the 9tli edition in 1732, Kamsay, as we learn from

a contribution of j\Ir. Peter Cunningham to the Gentleman's

JIagazine for April 1853, addressed a letter, dated IStli July

of that year, to Mr. Andrew Jlillar, the London publisher, in

which he granted him permission to print the three volumes

of the Tea Table Miscellany then published, in what form he

pleased, on p.iymcnt to him of five pounds sterling at Jlar-

tinmas following. He also empowered Mr. Millar to take up

fur him five guineas from the printers of his poems, the un-

jiaid moiety as agreed on between them and Mr. M'Ewen,

who had instructions from him to transact with them, and

to whom they paid the first moiety. The letter was taken

by his son, Mr. Allan Pamsay, the celebrated painter, and

he added in a postscript: "My son brings you this, if he ap-

proves of it. If we agree, I desire that you send none to

this country—it is scarce worth your while." This, says

Mr. Cunningham, relates to the ninth edition of the first col-

lected edition of the Tea Table Miscellany, that in three thin

duodecimo volumes, printed for Andrew Millar in 1733, and

called "the ninth edition, being the compleatest and most

coiTcct of any yet published by Allan Ramsay." The tenth

edition .appeared in 1740, with the addition of 150 songs.

The eleventh edition was published at London, four volumes

in one, 12mo, 1750. The 18th at Edinburgh in 1792.

The Evergreen
;
being a Collection of Scots Poems wrote

by the Ingenious before IGOO. Edin. 1724, 2 vols. 12mo.

Edin. 17G1, 2 vols. ]2mo.

A Scots Ode to the British Antiquarians. Edin. 1726, 8vo.

The Gentle Shepherd ; a Pastoral Comedy. Edin. 1725,

8vo. The same, with a Glossary, published by David Allan,

Glasgow, by Foulis, 1788, 4to. Again, with Illustrations of

the Scenery; an Appendix, containing Memoirs of David

Allan, the Scots Hogarth ; besides original and other Poems

connected with the Illustrations; and a comprehensive Glos-

sary. To which are prefixed, an authentic Life of Allan

Eamsay ; and an Inquiry into the Origin of Pastoral Poetry;

the propriety of the Rules prescribed for it; and the Practice

of Eamsay. Edin. 1808, 2 vols. 8vo. The editions which

this admirable Pastoral has gone through are very numerous,

but the above are the best. It has been translated into Eng-

lish by Cornelius A^mderstop. Lond. 1777, 8vo. By Wil-

liam Ward. Lond. 1785, 8vo. And by JIargaret Turner.

Lond. 1790, 8vo.

Collection of Scotch Proverbs, more correct and complete

than any hithcrfore published; to which are added, the Tales

of the Three Bonnets. Edin. 177G, 1797, 12mo.

Poems, including the Gentle Shepherd. Edin. 1720, 1724,

2 vols. 12mo. Poems (subscription edition). Edin. 1721,

1728, 2 vols. 4to, and many subsequent editions. The fol-

lowing are the most valuable and perfect,—Poems ; to which

are prefixed, a Life of the Author, from authentic documents,

and Remarks on bis Poems, by George Chalmers, Esq.,

F.R.S. Lond. 1800, 2 vols. 8vo. The works of Allan Ram-

say, with Life of the author, by George Chalmers; and an

Essav on his genius and writings by Lord Woodhouselce

;

JAMES.

.in appendix and additional pieces, portrait, and various

illustrations. 3 vols. Edin. Fullarton & Co. 1848-1851.

RAMSAY, Allax, an eminent portrait paint-

er, eldest son of the preceding, uas born at Edin-

burgh in 1713. Having shown an early attach-

ment to art, after receiving some instructions in

London, he went to Italj', where he studied under

artists of great celebrity. 'On his return he prac-

tised for some time in Edinburgh, but afterwards

resided chiefly in London, where he acquired con-

siderable reputation as a portrait painter. By
the interest of Lord Bute he was introduced to

George III., when prince of "\A''alcs, whose por-

trait he painted both in whole length and in pro-

file, the former being engraved by Ryland and

the latter by "Woollett. Several mezzotiuto prints

were also published after portraits by him, of sev-

eral of the most distinguished of his own country-

men. In March 1767 he was appointed principal

painter to the king; a situation which he retained

till his death, though he I'etired from practice

about 1775, in consequence of having injured his

arm by an accident. He visited Rome at four

different times, and on the last occasion he spent

several years in Italj-. Finding his health decline

he returned to England, but died, a few days af-

ter landing, at Dover, August 10, 1784. His

portraits are celebrated for their resemblance to

nature, and their unstudied simplicity ; and he

himself is described as having contributed to im-

prove the style of portrait painting in Great Bri-

tain.

Ramsay possessed considerable literary taste,

and was the founder of the " Select Society" of

Edinburgh in 1754, of which all the eminently

learned men of that capital were members. He

was the author of some able pamphlets on historj',

politics, and criticism, published at different times,

but afterwards collected into a volume, entitled

'The Investigator.' He also wrote a pamphlet

on the subject of Elizabeth Canning. He was an

excellent classical scholar; spoke the Italian and

German languages fluently, and, like Cato, learn-

ed Greek in his old age. He is frequently men-

tioned by Boswell as being of Dr. Johnson's par-

ties. He married Margaret, eldest daughter of

Sir Alexander Lindsay of Evelick, baronet, a

niece of Lord Mansfield, by whom he had a son,

326
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.7oliii, who attained tlie i-ank of major-general in

tlie army, and two daiigliters, Amelia, married to

Sir Archibald Campbell of Inverness, and Char-

lotte, who became the wife of Colonel Malcolni of

Ford Farm, Surrey.

RAMSAY, jA^fEs, an eminent iihilantliropist,

and one of tlie first who wrote against the slave

trade, was born at Fraserburgh, Aberdeenshire,

July 25, 1733. After receiving his grammatical

education, ho was apprenticed to Dr. Findlny, a

medical practitioner in his native town, and in

1750 entered as a student of King's college, Aber-

deen, where he obtained one of the principal bur-

saries. In 175.5 ho repaired to London, and stud-

ied surgery and pharmacy under Dr. Macaul}-, in

whose familv he lived for two years, lie after-

wards obtained an appointment as surgeon in the

royal navy, in which he served for several years.

While on board the Arundel he unfortunatel}' fell

on the deck and broke his thigh-bone, by which

he was confined for ten months, and rendered

lame for life. This accident determined him to

quit the navy, and turn his thoughts towards be-

coming a minister of the church of England. Ac-

cordingly, while the Arundel hy at St. Christo-

pher's, he obtained, from some of the principal

inliabitants, strong recommendations to tlie bishop

of London, by whom, on his coming to England,

he was admitted into holy orders. Returning to

St. Christopher's, he was presented by the gover-

nor to two rectories, valued at £700 a-year. In

17fi3 ho married Rebecca Akers, the daughter of

a planter of high respectability.

On his first settlement in the West Indies he

made some public attempts to instruct the slaves

;

which, however, were misunderstood and misre-

presented
;
and, in addition to nis clerical duties,

he took the charge of several plantations in the

capacity of medical adviser. In 1777 he returned

to Britain, and visited his native place. In the

following year he was appointed chaplain to Ad-

miral linrrington, then about to proceed to the

West Indies. lie resigned his pastoral charge in

the island of St. Christopher's, and returned to

England his ^^ ife and family in the end of

1781. On his arrival he was, through the inter-

est of his friend Admiral Sir Charles i\Iid<lIeton,

presented to the livings of Teston and Xetlleslead

in Kent. In 1785 he published an 'Essay on the

Treatment and Conversion of African Slaves in

the British Sugar Colonies,' which involved him

in a controversy on the slave trade that embit-

tered his latter years. He died at London, Jn]y

20, 1789. His works arc:

Sei-mon on Dent, xxxii. 29, ."0. 177S, 'Itn.

Twelve Seniioiis for the use of the Ro_v.il N:iv_v. 17S2, 8vo.

An Essay on tlie Treatment and Conversion of Afi-ic;m

Slaves in tlie liritisli Sufjar Colonies. London, 1785, 8vo.

A Manual for African Slaves. Lond. 1787, 12mo.

Essay on tlie Duty and Qualifications of a Sca-oflicer.

A Treatise on Signals.

RANDOLPH, earl of Moray, one of the chief

companions in arms of Robert the Bruce, and
j

afterwards regent of Scotland, was the son of

Tiiomas Randolph, lord of Strathnith, and lord-

high-chainberlain of Scotland, (see p. 200 of this '

volume). Tytler, apparently not aware that

Strathnith or Stranitli was the original name of

Xitlisdale, erroneously styles him lord of Strath-

don, a district in Aberdeenshire, with which he

had no connection whatever. Randolph's mother

was the Lady Isabella Bruce, eldest daughter of

Robert earl of Carrick, and sister of the conqueroi

at Bannockburn. We first find him in public life

present with his father on tlie 2Gth December

1L'[I2, when Baliol did homage to King Edward I.

of England. After the murder of the Red Comyn,

in February 1305, Randolph was among the small

band of patriotic barons who hastened to join his

uncle, Robert the Bruce, in his attempt to obtain

the crown. In the defeat at Methven, in June

130G, Sir Thomas Randolph, then, says Barbour,

" a young bacheler," was among the prisoners

taken by the English. Tlirough the intercession

of Adam de Gordon he obtained a jiardon from

King Edward, to whom he swore fealty, and at
1

1

once joined his forces against his uncle. " What
!

was the iiriv.Ue history of this alienation," saj's

Tytler, "it is now impossible to ascertain, but it

is evident that he was animated by a A^er^' deter- l:

mined spirit of liostilit}' to the royal cause." He I

was in the army of the earl of Pembroke when,
j

with John of Lorn, that nobleman attacked the
|

small force of Bruc j in his retreat in Carrick, and
;

forced it to disperse and seek safety in flight. The
|

following year he was taken jirisoner b\- the good '

Sir Jam-es Douglas in Twecddale, and conducted, I
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with Stewart of Boukyl, also a prisoner, to the

king. Witli Adam de Gordon, and two other

barons in the English interest, they had led a

strong force into Scotland, and occupied a fortalice

situated on the water of Line, which joins the

Tweed a little above the town of Peebles, but the

place was attacked by Douglas during night, and

after a blood}' struggle, Randolph and Stewart were

made prisoners, while Gordon and the others

escaped. When Randolph was brought into the

presence of his royal uncle, the following conver-

sation, as we learn from Barbour (pp. 188, 189),

took place between them. "Nephew," said the

king, " thou hast for a while forsworn thine alle-

giance, but we must now be reconciled." "Thou

meanest to rebuke me," replied Randolph, haugli-

tily, "but the rebuke applies with more force to

thyself. Since thou hast chosen to make war

upon the king of England, it became thee to sup-

port thy title on a plain field, and after the fash-

ion of a brave monarch, instead of having recourse

to subtle and cowardly ambuscades." "Such a

contest," Bruce calmly replied, " must yet arrive,

and perchance it is not far distant. In the mean-

time it is fitting that thy proud words and I'udc

demeanour should be punished as they deserve,

till thou hast been taught to bow to my right, and

to understand thine own duty." He then ordered

him into close confinement. On due submission,

he was soon, however, pardoned, and restoied to

liis uncle's favour, and ever after continued steady

in his attachment to the national cause. By his

faithful services and the high capacity for com-

mand which he displayed, it was not long before

he acquired the complete confidence of the king,

who bestowed on him the district of Annandalc,

with the Isle of Man, and various baronies in dif-

ferent parts of the kingdom. Bruce also confeired

upon him the earldom of Moray, and the charter

conveying it to him forms the basis of the Essaj-

on Honour and Dignity by Lord Karnes. It has

no date, as was usual with charters in those days,

but is supposed to have been granted in 1312. In

failure of heirs male, the earldom Avas to return to

the king and his heirs.

On the 14th JLirch 1313, the earl of Moray

took by assault the castle of Edinburgh, which

had been in possession of the English since 1296.

This celebrated fortress, which before the inven-

tion of artillery was deemed impregnable, was

then commanded by Sir Piers Lelaud, a knight of

Gascony, in the service of the king of England.

The garrison was strong, well disciplined, and

resolute, and Randolph endeavoured at first to

reduce the place by famine. But, finding it well

provisioned, he opened a communication with the

governor, and the garrison, suspecting the fidelity

of the latter, deposed and imprisoned him, and

chose another commander in his place. Randolph

then resolved upon attempting to take the castle

by surprise. Among his followers was a soldier

named "\^'illiam Frank or Francis, who appears

to have been at a former period in the English

service. This man, Avhom Barbour designates

" wycht and apert, wyss, and curyuss," that is,

strong, active, prudent, and skilful, was well ac-

quainted with the castle rock, which he had often

scaled in his j'outh, while engaged in a love-aflair

in the cit}'. One day, when Randolph was sur-

veying the castle from below, he came to him, and

thus addressed him: "Methinks, my lord, you

would rejoice if some one were to devise some

means of putting this fortress into j-our posses-

sion, or show you how the walls could be scaled."

" Thou sayest trulj'," replied the earl, " and could

such a man be found, I pledge m3'self that his

services shall be amply rewarded, not only by me,

but bj' my royal uncle." "The generosity of the

king and of thyself, noble Randolph," said the sol-

dier, " is well known, but the love of country

should be above such a consideration. Know

that I can enable you to enter the castle with no

greater aid than what a twelve feet ladder affords.

If you Avish to know how this can be done, I shall

explain it in a few words. Know, then, that my

father in my youth was keeper of yonder fortress,

and that I, then a wild gallant, loved a certain

maid in the town beneath. That I might repair

to her when I pleased, I was wont to lower mj'-

self from yonder wall by night with the help of a

ladder of ropes which I procured for the purpose,

and by a secret path which I discovered, descend-

ed, returning by the same way unperceived by

the garrison. I did this so often that I could

find my way in the darkest niglit. If, therefore,

you should think of trying to obtain access to the
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castle in this manner, I will be your guide." The

carl, resolved to hazard the attempt, and associ-

ating Sir Andrew Gray (see vol. ii. p. 371) with

liimself in the enterprise, he selected thirty men,

and during a very darlc night tlicy proceeded to

scale the roclcs. The place chosen for tliis peril-

ous exploit is supposed to have been somewhere

aljout the north-east side, facing what is now

Prince's-street, and overhanging the ruins of the

Wellhouse Tower, above which there is a part of

the rock of extremely diflicult access, popularly

called Wallace's Cradle.

When the little party were about half-way up

the crags, they came to a fiat spot covered by a

projecting rock, where they stopped to recover

tlieir breath, and prejiare for the more dangerous

part of the adventure. While arranging their

scaling ladder, the}' distinctly heard the rounds,

or check-watches, as Barbour calls them, passing

along the walls above them. It chanced that one

of the English soldiers, in mere wantonness and

levity, and without any suspicion that there was

any one beneath, took up a stone, and threw it

from the battlements down on the clifl's, exclaim-

ing at the same time, "Away! I sec you well !"

Randolph and his companions had pi-esencc of

mind to remain wliere tliey were, and the senti-

nels passed on in their usual rounds. The adven-

turers resumed the ascent, and arrived in safety

at the foot of the wall. They fixed their ladder,

and Francis their guide ascended first, after him

came Sir Andrew Gray, and Randolph himself was

the third. They were speedily followed by the

rest of the party. The sentinels, hearing the

ringing of armour, took the alarm, and raised the

cry of "Treason!" The garrison ran to arms,

and the new governor of the castle, whose name

has not been transmitted, and others, rushed to

the spot. A desperate combat ensued, and Earl

Raiulnlph was for a time in great persnnal dan-

ger. Barbour tells us that

" Tlie constable and liis comp.my

Met liim and liis right hardily."

Taken by sm-prise, and not knowing, in the dark-

ness, the number of their opponents, many of the

garrison lied over the walls, while others, with

the governor himself, were slain. Not one of

Randolph's party appears to have been killed.

On obtaining ])ossession of the castle. Sir Piers

Leland was released from his dungeon, and en-

tered into the service of the Scots. His name-

sake, Leland the antiquarian, styles him Pctrus

Lclaiidius, viscount of Edinburgh, but this appel-

lation of viscount must refer to his former olHce of

governor of the castle for Edward II. He adds

that "Bruce after surmised treason upon him,

because he thought that he had an ICnglish heart,

and made him to be hanged and di'awn."

At the decisive battle of Bannockburn, 24th

June, 1:>M, the command of the vaward was

given to Randolph. Previous to the battle, with

his division, he was removed from the centre, and

posted on the elevated ground above St. Ninians,

with strict orders to guard the passage to Stirling

castle. A select body of horse, mustering 800

strong, under the command of Sir Robert Clifford

and three other leaders, having eluded his obser-

vation, were rapidly approaching the castle, when

the quick eye of Bruce detecti'(l tliem. Riding up

to his nephew, he exclaimed, " Ah ! Randolph,

little did I dream j-ou would have suftered these

men to pass! A rose has fallen from your chap-

let." Randolph, with five hundred spearmen,

hastened to retrieve his error by endeavouring to

intercept the fai-tlier jirogress of Clifford and his

jiarty. In the encounter, he was exposed to great

peril, and Douglas, having received the reluctant

]>ermission of the king to go to his assistance, was

hastening to his aid, when he ])crceived that Ban-

dolpli, with liis spearnien formed in a compact

square, had sustained Clifford's attack, and after

a desperate contest, in which the assailants suf-

fered severel)', had dispersed and defeated them.

He then commanded his men to halt, lest they

should deprive Randoljdi of the honour so nobh'

won by him, (see vol. ii. p. 51). In the battle of

the next day, Randolph, as second in comnn^nd,

led the centre of the Scots arm}- against the vast

English host opposed to them. In the act of the

settlement of the crown of Scotland in the parlia-

ment held b}' Bruce at Ayr for the purpose, 2Gth

April 1315, it was provided that in the event of

the heir being a minor, "Thomas Banulfi, comes

iMoravia?," should be guardian of the sovereign

and the kingdom.
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Wlien the Irish of Ulster the same year ofiered

Edward Bruce tlie crown of Ireland, Randolph

accompanied him to that country, as principal

leader of the 6,000 Scots troops which his bro-

ther, King Robert, sent along -with liim. Em-

barking at Ayr, they landed at Carrickfergus on

the 25th of IMay, and when attacked soon after by

a body of English and Irish, Randolph, who com-

manded the advance, charged them with such

impetuosity that they were speedily put to flight.

He continued with Edward Bruce in all the re-

markable successes which attended him in the first

part of the campaign in Ireland. On the 29th

June Dundalk was stormed and burnt. Atlier-

dee and other places of less note experienced a

similar fate. After the battle of Coleraine, in

which the English were defeated, Randolph on

the 15th September passed over to Scotland for

the purpose of obtaining a reinforcement, and in

three months he returned with a select body of

500 men at arms. He found Edward Bruce en-

gaged in pressing the siege of Carrickfergus, but

on being rejoined by Randolph he abandoned it,

and marching sonthward bj'' Dundalk, thej' pen-

etrated through Meath into Kildare. At Arscoll,

in the province of Lcinster, they encountered

Butler, the lord justiciarj^ whose armj^, although

superior in numbers, was enfeebled by discord,

and was broken and defeated at the first onset.

The Scots now became a prey to famine, and

dreading its effects amongst their followers, Ran-

dolph and Edward Bruce broke up their encamp-

ment, and retreated through Meath into Ulster.

On arriving near Kenlis, they were met by a large

and tumultuary force of English and Irish, which

attempted to intercept their progress. At the

first attack, however, they were put to flight.

In April 1316, Randolph again proceeded to Scot-

land for reinforcements, and in the spring of the

following year, King Robert the Bruce, at his so-

licitation, accompanied him in person to Ireland,

to the assistance of liis brotliei'. Soon after his

arrival, an Anglo-Irish army, 40,000 strong, un-

der the command of Sir Richard Clare and other

barons, was defeated by him, while passing

through a wood near Carrickfergus, Randolph with

himself leading the Scots rearward. King Robert,

the same year returned to Scotland, taking Ran-
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dolph with him. The death of Edward Bruce in

the disastrous battle of Dimdalk, October 5, 3317,

rendered a new settlement of the succession to the

crown of Scotland necessary, and at a parliament

held at Scone in December 1318, the offices of

tutor and curator of the heir, if under age, and

guardian of the kingdom, Avere granted to Sir

Thomas Randolph, earl of l^Ioray and lord of

Man, and failing him to Lord James of Douglas.

A short time previous to this, the town of Ber-

wick had been taken by the Scots. Barbour gives

this account of its capture. A citizen of the town

named Spalding, having been harshly treated by

the governor, wrote to a nobleman in Brace's

camp, supposed to have been Patrick eaii of

March, oftering to betray at night the post where

he kept guard. The earl communicated Spalding's

offer to King Robert, and M'as commended by the

king for having come direct to himself, instead of

going to Randolph or Douglas, as these two cliiefs

were emulous of each other's glory. " You did

well," said Bruce, " to make me your confident,

for if 3'ou had told this either to Randolph or to

Douglas, j'on would have offended the one to

whom you did not at first tell it. Both of them,

however, shall assist you in executing the enter-

prise." Bruce then commanded him to assemble

a body of troops at a place called Dunse Park,

and gave separate orders to Randolph and Doug-

las to meet the earl at the same place. At a part

of the wall left unguarded, a portion of the Scots

entered the town, and concealed themselves till

daydawn, when, aided by their comrades without

the walls, the}' were masters of the town before

the hour of noon. The castle soon after capitu-

lated.

On the investment of Berwick in September of

the following j'ear by Edward II., at the head of

the whole English force, Bruce sent Randolph

and Douglas, at tlse head of an army of 15,000

men, across the borders, with the object of com-

pelling Edward to raise the siege. They entered

England by tlie west marches, and penetrating

into Yorkshire, ravaged all the districts through

which they passed. The whole of the militar}-

strength of England was at this time with Ed-

ward before Berwick, but the archbishop of York,

at the head of an undisciplined force of about
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20,000 men, consisting chiefly of church vassals

and priests, ventured to oppose tlicm at INIitton,

near Boronglibridge, 20tli September 1319, and

was defeated witli great slaughter. Fi'om the

great number of ecclesiastics slain in this battle,

it was derisively termed by tiie Scots the " Cliap-

ter of Jlitton." This success caused lulward to

abandon the siege of Berwick, and the Scots,

eluding an attempt of his to intercept them on

their homeward march, returned to Scotland with

great spoil.

Earl llandolph was one of the eiglit earls wlio

signed tlie famous letter or memorial, asserting

the independence of Scotland, addressed to tlie

pope in 1320 by the barons, freeholders, and

whole community of Scotland. lie liad iu many

a hard-fought field evinced his skill and prowess

as a military commander. lie was now to sliow

tliat his talents as a statesman were cquallj- great.

In 1321, he entered into a correspondence witli

the earl of Lancaster, who had risen in rebellion

against his cousin, the king of England, but was

defeated and executed before he could receive an}'

assistance from the Scots. Edward now collected

his whole force for a new invasion of Scotland,

and, in the meantime, the Scots broke across the

border, and laid waste Lancashire, returning with

much cattle and long trains of waggons laden

with booty.

After the signal defeat of Edward at ljih^n<l

Abbe}' in Yorkshire, by the Scots army, under

Bruce, in 1322,— where Randolph, in tlie true

spirit of chivaby, fought under Douglas iu endea-

voiu'ing to force a narrow pass, Mhieh led to the

English camp,—negotiations for a truce were en-

tered into, and Randolph, with Lamberton, bishop

of St. Andrews, and Sir John Slonteith, were no-

minated on the part of the Scots to meet with

commissioners from England, when a fifteen

years' truce was concluded. A still more impoi--

tant mission was now intrusted to him. To pre-

pare the way for a reconciliation with the pope,

and to counteract the misrepresentations of the

English envoys at the papal court, Randolph was

despatched to Avignon, where the pope then re-

sided, and with consummate political skill ob-

tained from the pontitF the recognition of the title

of king to Bruce. With this concession, he also

prevailed upon his holiness to refuse the request

of Edward to publish anew the sentence of ex-

communication against Bruce, and to sanction the

election of Scotsmen to the office of bishop, in

spite of the charges of the English that they held

the censures of the church in contempt, that they

\\ere barbarous heretics who put priests to the

torture, and that they encouraged the nobility

and people in their rebellion. Suljsequently, with

the l)ishop of St. Andrews, he was empowered by

Bruce to meet the Despencers on the part of King

Edward, to negotiate a lasting peace, but the

conferences between them led to no result. In

1326, Randolph was sent ambassador to France,

and in April that year concluded an alliance, of-

fensive and defensive, with Charles le Bel, the

brother of the English queen.

He and Douglas liad the command of the Scots

army, amounting to nearly 20,000 men, principal-

ly mounted troopers, which invaded England by

the westei-n marches, on the 15th June 1327. By

the deposition of Edward II., in the preceding

January, his son, Edward III., then in his four-

teenth year, had succeeded to the English throne,

lie ver}' earh' disi)layed his martial character,

and arixious to repel the invaders, he led an army

of 50,000 men against them. But though seldom

out of view of the smoke which mark-ed their des-

olating march, he never could overtake them, and

he was driven to proclaim a reward of lands to

the value of £100 sterling annually for life, with

knighthood to any person who sliould conduct

him in sight of the Scots. A Yorkshire esquire,

named Thomas Rokeby, was the first to bring

him certain information as to their whereabouts.

Edward was then, with his army, at the Cister-

cian abbey of Blanch, on the river Derwent, still

called Blanchland, and Rokeby reported that the

Scots were encamped on the side of a hill about

nine miles distant washed by the river Wear. lie

stated also, that having ventured too near to re-

connoitre, he was made " prisoner, and taken be-

fore Randolph and Douglas, who, when informed

of the nature of his errand, dismissed him without

ransom, requesting him to tell King Edward that

he could not be more desirous of meeting them

than they were of fighting him." On the 1st of

August, the English armj-, under Rokeby's guid-
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ance, advanced towai-ds the Scots, and Douglas

having watched their approach, returned and in-

formed Randolph of tlie great strength of the vast

array coming against them. On this occasion

the two rival Scots commanders seem to have

changed characters. " It matters not," said Ran-

dolph, who was usually cool and cautious, " we

shall fight them, were thej' still more numerous

than you report them." "Praise be to God,"

said Douglas, curbing his natural impetuositj^,

"that we have a leader who would not scruple to

fight with twenty against sixty thousand, but by

St. Bride, it would be folly to fight at present,

when we may, in a little while, engage them with

far more advantage." Edward found that the

Scots occupied a position, with the river Wear in

front, which was impregnable, and he sent a her-

ald to the Scottish leaders, offering to leave suffi-

cient space for them to di'aw up their army, if

they would descend fi-om the heights and cross

the river, or allow him to pass the river, and leave

him room to arrange his forces, so that they might

figlit on equal terms, but Randolph and Douglas

were not to be moved by this bravado. " Go

back," they said to the herald, " and tell your

master that it is not our custom to follow the

counsel of our enemy. The king of England and

his barons are not ignorant of the injuries which

have been inflicted by us on their kingdom. On

our road hither, we have burnt and despoiled the

countr}^ and if they are displeased, let them now

chastise us as thej' best can, for here we mean to

remain as long as it suits our convenience."

On the fourth morning after, to the surprise of

Edward, the Scots were not to be seen, and it

was discovered that they had removed some miles

farther up the river "Wear, where they occupied a

position, at a place called Stanhope Park, with a

wood in their rear, which was still stronger than

the one they had held before. The next night,

while the English camp was buried in sleep, Dou-

glas broke through their lines, penetrated to the

royal pavilion, and, but for the spirited defence of

the chaplain and domestics, would have carried

oft' the young king. On regaining his own camp,

he was asked by Randolph what success he had

had. " We have drawn blood," he replied, "but

little more." At this stage, Randolph again ear-

nestly proposed to risk a battle. Douglas, how-

ever, recommended a retreat, which was immedi-

ately resolved upon. On tlie succeeding night,

the Scots army silently left their camp, and cross-

ing a morass which lay in their rear, were far on

their homeward way before day broke, and dis-

closed to Edward the mortifying fact that they

had escaped out of his hands. The result was a

treaty of peace, in which England at last acknow-

ledged the independence of Scotland, and recog-

nised Bruce as its lawful king. This treatj' was

ratified In a parliament held at Northampton in

April 1328.

During the last years of the heroic Bruce, Ran-

dolph was frequently his companion in his retire-

ment at Cardross on the Clyde. On the death of

his royal uncle, in accordance with the act of

settlement, he became regent, and guardian of

the young king, David II., during his minority.

His first act was to ratify the peace with Eng-

land, and he next applied himself with great vig-

our and success to the restoration of the internal

tranquillity of the kingdom. He was strict in the

dispensation of justice and severe and summary

in his sentences on criminals. Of this two in-

stances are recorded. While holding a justice-

aire at Wigton, his protection was claimed for a

man who had escnped from an ambuscade placed

for his assassination in a neighbouring wood. The

men in ambush being arrested were, by the re-

gent's orders, executed, their purpose, though

not carried into eff"ect, having been murder. In

the other case, while sitting in justiciar}' at In-

verness, he noticed a man who, some time before,

had murdered a priest, and then hastening to

Rome had received absolution from the pope for

the crime. Deeming himself safe, he returned to

Scotland, but Randolph had verj- different notions

of the claims of justice, and regardless of pope or

pardon, as well as the plea of the murderer that

the person slain, as a priest, was the subject of

Rome, he put him on his trial, and being found

guilty his execution followed.

In 1332, the English prepared to invade Scot-

laud, when Randolph, though then suff"ering se-

verely from the stone, assembled an army, and

advanced into Berwickshire to oppose them.

Finding, however, that thej' were coming by sea,
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lie proceeded towards the Forth, but died at

IMiisselburgh, on the 20th July of that year. Tlie

story that the English king had employed a va-

grant monk to poison him, has been shown by

I^ord Ilailes to be a pure invention.

Rattray, a surname, see Supplement.

Kkay, Lord, a title in the peerage of Scotland, conferred

in 1028, on Sir Donald M;ickay of Far, baronet, the elder

son of Hucheon or Ilngli Mackay, by his second wife. Lady

Jean Gordon, eldest danghter of the eleventh earl of Suther-

land, (see p. 7 of tliis volume). He was horn in February

1591, and in lfil2, in his father's lifetime, was engaged, un-

der a comniis.sion from the king to him and Jolm Gordon,

younger of Embo, in arresting at Thurso a notorious coiner

named Arthur Smith, a servant of the wicked earl of Caith-

ness, when a tumult ensued in which John Sinclair of Strick-

age, a nephew of the latter, was killed. The matter was

brought before the privy council, on the complaint of both

parties, and the proceedings that took place thereupon are

related at page 523 of vol. i. In December 1G13 Donald

Mackay, with others concerned, obtained a remission and

pardon for their share in the transaction. He succeeded his

father in 1G14, and in IGIG was knighted at Theobald's by

King James YL Believing Iiimself to have been ill used by

his uncles Sir Robert and Sir Alexander Gordon, in 1G18 he

abandoned the house of Sutherland with which he was con-

nected, and formed an alliance with the rival family, that of

the earl of Caithness, who had long been their mort.al ene-

my, the principal object of this alliance being the destruction

of the clan Gun. Through the interference, however, of his

uncle, Sir Robert Gordon, he was soon after reconciled to the

Sutherland family, and in 1G22, wlien Caithness was de-

nounced a rebel, his name was included, with those of his

uncles and James Sinclair of JIurkle, in the new commission

of fire and sword issued against him. In 1G2G Sir Donald

obtained the king's license to raise a regiment in the north to

assist Count JIansfeldt in his campaign in Germany, and

collected about 3,000 men, the greater part of whom em-

barked at Cromarty in October of that year. On account of

bad health lie was obliged to delay his own departure, and

on 18th JLarch 1 G27 he was created a baronet. Soon after

he proceeded to Germany, and distinguished himself in the

service of the king of Denmark. In 1G2S he was again in

Britain, when he was r.aised to the peerage by the title of

Lord Re.ay, by patent dated 20th June of that year, to him

and his heirs male for ever. Returning to Germany, he

served two campaigns ag.ainst the imperialists, and in 1G30

lie joined the king of Sweden with his regiment, in conse-

quence of a peace h.aving been concluded between the king of

Denmark and the emperor of Germany. A considerable

number of gentlemen, chiefly from Ross, Sutherland, and

Caithness, joined him on this occasion, .some of whom rose

to high rank in the army of Gustavus Adolphus. In 1631,

he returned to England, and was accused by one David Ram-

say of having said that the troops raised by the marquis of

Hamilton for the Swedish service were intended to .assist

him in asserting his right to the Scottish crown. Lord

Re.ay denied the charge, but Ramsay persisting in his story,

his lordship challenged him to combat. As the case involved

a matter of treason, it was considered so important that a

high court of chiviilry was, by commission under the great

seal, constituted, to superintend the combat, which was ap-
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pointed to be fought in Tothill Fields, Westminster, 12th

April 1631, the English earl of Lindsey being nominated for

the occasion higli constable of England, and the earl of Ar-

undel, earl Mnrisclial. The parties were ordained to be

armed each with a long sword, a short sword, a pike and

dagger. The meeting was adjourned to 17th -May, and on

the 12th the court assembled, when both Lord Reay and

Ramsay were committed to the Tower of London till they

found security to keep the jieace.

On the breaking out of the civil wars, his lordship, with

the earl of Sutherland and others, joined the Covenanters on

the north of the river Spcy. He afterwards took arms in

defence of Charles I., and in 16-13 arrived from Denmark,
with ships and arms, and a large sum of money, for the ser-

vice of the king. He was in Newcastle in 16-14, when that

town was stormed by the Scots, and being made prisoner,

was conveyed to Edinburgh tolbootli. He obtained his re-

lease alter the battle of Kilsyth in August lC-15, and em-
barked at Thurso in July 1648 for Denmark, where he died

in February 1649. He married, first, in IGIO, Barbara, eld-

est daughter of Kenneth, Lord Kintail, and had by her Y
Jl.ackay, who died in 1G17; Jolm, second Lord Reay, two

other sons and two daughters. By a second wife, Rachel

AVinterfield or Harrison, he had two sons, the Hon. Robert

Mackay Forbes and the Hon. Hugh Forbes. Of this mar-

riage he procured a sentence of nullity, and then took to wife

Elizabeth, daughter of Robert Thomson of Greenwich, but in

1637 was ordained to pay his second wife £2,000 sterling

for part maintenance, and £3,000 sterling yearly during his

non-adherence. By Elizabeth Thomson he had one daughter.

John, second Lord Reay, joined the royalists under the

earl of Glencairn in 1654, and was taken at Balveny and un-

prisoned. By his wife, a daughter of Donald JIackay of

Scourie, he had three sons : 1. Donald, master of Reay, who
predeceased his father, leaving by his wife Ann, danghter of

Sir George Munro of Culcairn, a son, George, third Lord

Re.ay. 2. The Hon. Brigadier-general iEneas Mackay, who
married Margaretta, countess of Puchlor; and 3. The Hon.

Colin Jlackay. jEiieas, the second son, was colonel of the

Mackay Dutch regiment. His family settled at tlie Hague,

where they obtained considerable possessions, and formed

alliances with several noble families. Their representative,

Berthold Baron Mackay, died 2Gth December 1854, at his

chateau of Ophemert, in Guelderland, .aged eighty-one. He
married the Baroness Van Reuiisse Van Wilp, and his eldest

son, the Baron jEneas Mackay, at one time chamberlain to

the king of Holland, became next heir to the peerage of

Reay, after the present family.

George, third Lord Reay, F.R.S., took the oaths and his

seat in parliament, 29th October 1700. In the rebellion of

1715, he raised his cl.an in support of the government. In

1719, when the earls Marisclial and Seafbrth, and the mar-

quis of Tnllibardine, witli 300 Spaniards, landed in tlie

Western Highlands, he did the same, and also in 1745. He
died at Tongue, 21st March 1748. He w.as thrice mairied

;

first, to JIargaret, d.aughter of Lieutenant-genenil Robert

Mack.ay of Scourie, colonel of the 21st regiment of foot,

killed at Steinkirk in 1692, and had by her one son, Donald,

fourth Lord Re.-iy
;
secondly, to Janet, daughter of John

Sinclair of Ulbster, by whom he had a son, the Hon. Colo-

nel Hugh Jlack.ay of Bighouse, and a daughter, Anne, wife

of John Watson of Mnirhouse, Mid Lothian
;

.and, thirdly, to

M.iry, d.aughter of John Dowel, Esq., writer in Edinburgh,

•and had by hei' four daughters and two sons, the Hon.

George M.ackay of Skibo, and the Hon. Alexander Mackay,

captain in the earl of Loudoun's Highbinders, on that regi-
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ment being raised, 8tli June 1745. At the battle of Preston

or Gladsmuir that year, he commanded one of the tliree

companies of liis regiment engaged in it, and was taken

prisoner by the rebels. He attained the rank of lieutenant-

general in the army, and was commander-in-chief of the forces

in Scotland, colonel of the 21st foot, and governor of Stir-

ling castle. He died 31st Jlay 1789. Christian, the third

daughter, was the wife of the Rev. John Erskine, D.D., of

Carnock, minister of the old Greyfriars church, Edinburgli.

Donald, fourth Lord Ueay, succeeded his father in 1718,

and died at Durness, 18th August, 17G1. He was twice

married, and, with one daughter, the Hon. Mrs. Edgar, had

two sons, George, tifth Lord Reay, who died at Bosebank,

near Edinburgh, 27th February 1768, and Hugh, sixth lord.

The fifth Lord Reay was also twice married, but had issue

only by his second wife, a son, who died young, and three

daughters. Hugh, his half-brother, who succeeded him,

was for some years in a state of mental imbecility. He

died at Skerray, 26th January 1797, unmarried, wlien the

title devolved on Eric iMackaj', son of the Hon. George Mac-

kay of Skibo, third son of the third Lord Reay. Admitted

advocate in 1737, Mr. Mackay of Skibo was, in 1757, elected

M.P. for the county of Sutherland, and two years afterwards

was appointed master of the mint of Scotland. He died .at

Tongue, June 25, 1782. By his wife, Anne, third daughter

of Hon. Eric Sutherland, only son of the attainted Lord Duf-

fus, he had 5 sons and 4 daughters. His eldest son, George,

died in 1790. Eric, the 2d son, became 7th Lord Reay.

Alexander, the next, an officer in the army, succeeded as 8tli

Lord Reay. Donald Hugh, the 4th son, a vice-admiral, died

March 26, 1850. Patrick, the youngest, died an infant.

Eric, 7th Lord Reay, was, in 180G, elected one of the repre-

sentative Scots peers. He died, unmarried, July 8, 1847, and

was succeeded, as 8tli Lord Reay, by his brother Alexander,

barrack-master at Malta, born in 1775. He married in

1809, Marian, daughter of Col. Goll, military secretary to

Warren Hastings, and relict of David Ross, Esq. of Calcutta,

eldest son of the Scottish judge, Lord Ankerville, issue, 2

sons and 6 daughters. George, the eldest son, died in 1811.

The 2d son, Eric, master of Reay, was born in 1813.

Reid, a surname, being the old spelling of Hed. The fam-

ily of Reid of Barra, Aberdeenshire, possesses a baronetcy of

Nova Scotia, conferred in 1706 on Alexander Reid of Ban'a.

The fifth haronet, Sir Alexander Reid, succeeded his brother.

Sir John, Capt. R.N., in 1S45; married, with issue.

General John Reid of Stratldoch, the founder of the pro-

fessorship of music in the university of Edinburgh, adopted

that surname in preference to his patronymic, Robertson.

He was the son of Alexander Robertson of Strathloch, a pro-

perty near Strathardle in Perthshire, whose forefathers for

more than three centuries were always called Barons Rua,

Roy, or Red, from the first of the family having red hair.

They were descended from the youngest son of Patrick Ro-

bertson, the first of Lude. All the younger children bore the

name of Robertson. The general, however, though the heir,

chose the name of Reid. He was born Feb. 13, 1721, and

educated at the university of Edinburgh. He became a

lieutenant in the earl of Loudoun's Highlanders, raised in

1745, and rose to the rank of general. He had a fine taste

for music, and was one of the best flute-players of the

age. In 1770 he published a set of Minuets and j\Iarches,

styled General Roid's Minuets, inscribed to the Right Hon.

Lady Catherine Murray. In this collection appeared the cele-

brated and well known air, composed by him when major of

the 42J regiment, to the words of "The Garb of Old Gaul"

written by Captain afterwards Sir Harpi' ICrskine of Alva,

baronet. It is there entitled " The Highland, or 42d Regi-

ment's March," which it has ever since continued to he. He
likewise published Si.K Solos for a German Flute or Violin,

with a thorough bass for the harpsichord, in which he styles

himself "a member of the Temple of Apollo." These are

usually called Captain Reid's Solos, he having been only a

captain when he composed them. He died at London, Feb-

ruary C, 1807, aged 85. In his will, dated at London, 19th

April 1803, he describes himself as " John Reid, Esq. Gen-

er.al in his Majesty's anny and Colonel of the 88th regiment

of foot," and states that he was " the last representative of

an old family in Perthshire, which on my death will be ex-

tinct in the male line." He left £52,000 in the 3 per cents,

subject to the liferent of his daughter, for the purpose of

establishing a professorship of music in the university of Ed-

inburgh, where he was educated, the salary not to be less

than .£300 per annum. He directs in his will that annually

on his birthday, the 13th of February, there shall be a con-

cert of music held, including a full military band, to com-

mence with some pieces of his own composition, to show the

style of music that prevailed about the middle of the 18tli

century, among the first of which is that of 'The Garb of

Old Gaul.' The chair of music was founded in 1839, when

nearly £80,000 became available for its endowment.

EELD, Thomas, a philosopher and Latin poet

of considerable reputation in his time, the sou of

James Reid, tlie first minister, after tlie Refor-

mation, of Banchory-Ternan, in Kincardinesliire,

flourislied in the seventeenth century. He studied

at Marischal college, Aberdeen, and afterwards

travelled through the greater part of Europe.

Having mnintained public disputations in several

of the foreign universities, he collected into a vol-

ume the theses he defended. His Latin poems

are preserved in the ' Dclitiaj Poetarum Scotorum.'

On his return to Britain, he was appointed Latin

secretary to James I. of England. While on the

Continent he had purchased the best editions of

all the classics which were printed from the time

of Aldus Manutius until 1615, also several curious

manuscripts, particularly a Hebrew Bible, of most

beautiful writing, supposed to have been the work

of the twelfth century, all of which he bequeathed

to the Marischal college, Aberdeen, with a con-

siderable sum of money as a fund for a yearly snl-

arj' to a librarian. He belonged to the family

from which the celebrated philosopher. Dr. Tlio-

mas Reid, was descended.

His brother, Alexander Reid, an eminent phy-

sician, was the first, it is said, who read physical

lectures to the Company of barber-chirurgcons at

London. In 1C20 he was created doctor of physic

at Oxford by royal mandate. He
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physician to Cliai'les I., and died about 1G80.

He publislied a ' Mnmial of Anatomy,' and otlier

medical worlcs.

REID, Thomas, a distinguislied moral pliiioso-

plier, was born, April 2G, 1710, at the manse of

Stracban, Kincardinesliire, a parish situated about

twenty-three miles from Aberdeen, on the north

side of the Gramjjian mountains. His fatlicr, tlic

Kev. Lewis lleiti, was minister of tiiat parish for

fifty years, and liis mother, the daugliter of Mr.

Gregory of Kinnairdie, was sister to David, James,

and Charles Gregory-, tlie celebrated professors.

After two years spent at the parisli scliool of Kin-

eardine-O'iSreil, young Keid was sent to Aberdeen

for his classical education. About the age of'

twelve or tliirteen, being intended for tlie church,

he was entered as a student in IMarisclnd college,

wliere his instructor in pliilosopliy, for three years,

was Dr. George Tiirnbuli, who afterwards attract-

ed some notice as an author, particularly by a

book, entitled 'Principles of Moral riiilosophy,'

and by a voluminous 'Treatise on Ancient Paint-

ing,' published in 17-11, but long ago forgotten.

It does not appear that Keid gave au}- early in-

dications of future eminence, altliough his indus-

try and modesty were conspicuous from liis chikl-

hood. At college, however, he excelled the other

students in mathematics, for whicli lie soon show-

ed a decided ])rediIection. He continued longer

than usual at the university, in consequence of

liaving been appointed to the oflicc of librarian,

wliich liad been endowed liy his ancestor, the sub-

ject of the previous notice. During tliis period

he formed an intimacy with John Stewart, after-

wards professor of mallicmatics in ]Marisclial col-

lege, and author of a Commentary on Newton's

Quadrature of Curves. In 173C he resigned tlie

librariansliip, and accompanied jMr. Stewart on an

excursion to England, when they visited London,

Oxford, and Cambridge. His uncle, Dr. David

Gregory, procured him a I'cady access to Martin

Folkcs, the philosoplier and antiquary, at whose

house he met many eminent men in literature

and science. At Cambridge he saw tlic vain and

erudite Dr. Bentlcy, and enjoyed repeated con-

versations witli Sanderson, the blind mathemati-

cian, who presented a phenomenon in the liistory

of the human mind, to which Dr. lleid has more

tlian once referred iu his pliilosophical specula-

tions.

In 1737 lie was preferred, by tlic King's college,

Aberdeen, to tlie living of New Jilachar, in the

same county ; but so great was tlie aversion

of the people to the law of patronage, tliat his

settlement not only met with most violent oppo-

sition, but he himself was exposed to personal

danger. His unwearied attention, liowevcr, to

tlie duties of his office, with the mildness and for-

bearance of his temper, soon overcame all preju-

dices, and in a few years afterwards, when called

to a different situation, lie was followed by the

tears and benedictions of tlic very same people

who would formerly have rejected him.

During his residence at New Machar, the great-

er part of his time was spent in intense study,

more particularly in a careful examination of tlie

laws of external perception, and of the otlier prin-

ciples wliich form the groundwork of jiumaii

knowledge. His cliief relaxations were garden-

ing and botany, to both of which pursuits he re-

tained liis attachment in old age. In 1710 he

married his cousin, Elizabeth, daughter of Dr.

George Reid, pliysician in London.

In 1748 he coinmunicated to tlie Transactions

of the Royal Society ' An Essay on Quantity, oc-

casioned by reading a Treatise, in which Simple

and Compound Ratios are applied to Virtue and

Merit.' In 17o2 he was elected professor of mo-

ral pliilosophy ill Iving's college. Old Aberdeen.

Soon after his removal tliere, in conjunction with

his friend, Dr. John Gregoiy, he projected a lit-

erary Society, Mliich subsisted for many years,

meeting once a-week for tlie discussion of philo-

sophical subjects, and it numbered among its

members the illustrious names of Reid, Gregory,

Campbell, Beattie, and Gerard. In 17l>4 he pub-

lislied his celebrated 'Inquiry into the Human

Jlind, on the Principles of Common Sense,' one

of the most original and profound works which

appeared about that period. As its professed ob-

ject was the refutation of Mr. Hume's sceptical

theory, with the view of avoiding any miscon-

struction of the historian's meaning, he submitted,

through Dr. Blair, some detached parts of the

work to Mr. Hume for his perusal. 'With these

the latter was so much pleased, that he at once
j
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addressed a letter to the author, expressing his

satisfaction at the perspicuous and philosophical

manner in which he had replied to his reasonings.

Soon after the publication of the 'Inquiry,' he

received the degree of D.D. from the university of

Aberdeen. A short time previous, the university

of Glasgow had invited him to the chair of moral

pliilosopliy, then vacant by the resignation of Dr.

Adam Smith, the superior advantages of which

professorship induced him to accept of it, and, ac-

cordingly, he entered upon its duties in 1764.

In the class-room, Dr. Reid was careful to divest

his lectures of all metaphysical and merely scho-

lastic terms and theories, teaching moral science

on the sound principles of inductive philosophy, as

inculcated by Bacon. Although there was no-

thing attractive in his elocution or mode of in-

struction, his style was so simple and perspicuous,

his character so full oT "'•avity and authority, and

his students felt such an interest in the doctrines

which he taught, that he was uniformly heard

with the most respectful attention.

In 1781, while his health and faculties were

j'ct entire, though he was at this period upwards

of seventy years of age, he withdrew from his

public labours, in order to devote himself wholly

to philosophical investigation. In 1785 he pub-

lished his 'Essays on the Intellectual Powers of

Man;' and in 1788, those on 'The Active Pow-

ers,' which are generally published together, un-

der the title of 'Essays on the Powers of the

Human Mind.' Tiiese works, with his 'Inquiry,'

the 'Essay on Quantity,' already mentioned, and

a short but mastei-ly analysis of Aristotle's Logic,

which forms an Appendix to the third volume of

Lord Karnes' 'Sketches,' published in 1773, com-

prehend the whole of Dr. Reid's published writ-

ings. At different times he read some essays

before a Philosophical Society, of which he was a

member, among which were ' An Examination of

Dr. Priestley's Opinions concerning Matter and

Mind,' ' Observations on the Utopia of Sir Tho-

mas More,' and 'Physiological Reflections on

Muscular Motion.' He outlived his wife and a

numerous family of children, save one daughter,

married to Patrick Carmichael, M.D. During

the summer of 1796 ho was prevailed upon by

Dr. Gregory to pass a few weeks at Edinburgh.

He returned to Glasgow in his usual health and

spirits ; but about the end of September of that

year he was seized with his last illness. After a

severe struggle, attended with repeated attacks of

palsy, he died on the 7th of October following, at

the advanced age of eighty-six. His portrait is

subjoined

:

His works were collected by Mr. Dugald Stew-

art, and published in four volumes in 1803, with

his Life prefixed, on Avhich all the biographical

accounts of Dr. Reid are founded. A French

translation of this great philosopher's writings, by

Jouffroy, with an Introductory Essay and Notes

by Ro3'ard-Collard, appeared at Paris in 1828.

REID, John, M.D., an eminent anatomist and

phj'siologist, the sixth child of Henry Reid, a

farmer and cattle-dealer, was born at Bathgate,

Linlithgowshire, April 9th, 1809. He received

his rudimentary education at the village school,

and at the age of fourteen entered the university

of Edinburgh, where for the first two or three

years he chiefly studied Latin, Greek, and mathe-

matics. He was originally intended for the

church, but, preferring the medical profession, he

devoted himself, for five years, with ardour to

the requisite studies, and in 1830 took his degree
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of i\I.D. For a year lie acted as clerk or assist-

ant physician in the clinical department of the

Edinburi,'h lufimiar}', and in the autumn of 1831

he proceeded to Paris, for the pni-pose of imjirov-

ing himself in its medical schools. While in the

French capital, as he himself tells us, his habit

was to ^0 to one of the hospitals for three hours

in the morning before breakfast ; after breakfast

to the dissecting rooms for three or four hours

more, and then he attended a lecture or two.

The following year he returned to Edinburgh,

and with three other medical men was sent to

Dumfries, where the cholera was then raging, to

assist the jiliysicians of the district during the

prevalence there of that fearfid scourge. lie sub-

sequenth' became a partner iu the school of ana-

tomy in Old Surgeon's Hall, Edinburgh, and for

three years discharged the duties of demonstra-

tor, with high reputation to himself and to the

great advantage of tlie numerous students avIio

attended there. In 183G he was appointed lec-

turer on physiology in the Edinburgh Extra-

Academical Medical School, and, two j-ears after,

practical pathologist to the Eoyal Infirmary of

that city, of which institution in the ensuing year

he became the sui)erintendcnt.

At this time he was engaged in some of those

interesting pln-siological researches which caused

his name to be held in high estimation liy his pro-

fessional brethren. An abridgment or abstract of

his great 'Experimental Investigations into the

Functions of the Eight pair of Iv'erves, or the

Glossopharyngeal, Pneuniogaslrie, and Spinal

Accessor}-,' made at this period, was intimated

to the British Scientific Association at the meet-

ings of 1847 and 1848, and published iu detail in

the 'Edinburgh IMedical and Surgical Journal'

for January 1848, and April 1849. In :\.larcli

1841 he was appointed Chandos professor of ana-

tomy and medicine in the nniversity of St. An-

drews, and besides the regular lectures wliich be-

longed to the chair, he delivered also a course

on comparative anatomy and general physiology.

Having directed his inquiries to the natural his-

tory of the marine animals on the coast of Fife, he

communicated the results in several papers to tlic

'Annals and jNIagazine of Natural History.' In

1848 he publi.-hcd iu one volume his ' Physiolo-

III.

gical. Anatomical, and Pathological Researches,'

being the papers and essays, twenty-eight iu all,

which he had for thirteen years contributed to va-

rious scientific journals.

Dr. Keid had long been alTlicled with cancer in the

tongue. In the year mentioned an operation was

performed, and in consequence his health rallied

so greatly that hopes were entertained of his ulti-

mate recovery ; but the insidious disease had made

progress in his neck and throat, which caused liis

death, on 30th July 1841), at the early age of 41.

In his latter years he gave evidence of having

come under the power and infiuence of religion,

and died a true Cliristian. By his wife, a lady of

the name of Ann Blytli, he had two daughters,

one of them a posthumous child. His Life, by

George Wilson, M.D., was published in 1851.

RENNIE, Geoiige, an eminent agriculturist,

was born on the farm of Phantassie, in the county

of Haddington, in 1749. His father, James Rcn-

uie, a respectable farmer, was one of tlie most ac-

tive promoters of agricultural improvements in his

day, and his brother, John Rennie, was the cele-

brated civil engineer, of whom a short notice fol-

lows. He earlj' exhibited indications of that ac-

tivity, penetration, and intelligence, for which he

was remarkable in after years. When scarceh'

sixteen, his father sent him to Tweedside to make

a survey of the state of agriculture in that part of

the country, where several gentlemen, among

whom were Lord Kames, Hume of Ninewclls,

Renton of Lammcrton, Fordycc of Ayton, and

others, had commenced a system of extensive

improvement of their own estates ; and here his

powers of observation enabled him to obtain much

of that practical knowledge which afterwards ren-

dered him so distinguished. In 1765 he was in-

trusted with the superintendence of a brewery,

erected by his father on the ground afterwards

occupied by the Linton distillery ; but IMr. Ren- i

nie, senior, dying tiie follow^ing year, the cstab-
\

lishment was relinquished, and in 1770 was let to

a tenant. In 1783 he again undertook the man-

agement of the works, and commenced the busi-

ness of distilling on a large scale. The distillery

remained in his hands until 1797, ivhen the whole

work was let on lease. His reputation as a suc-

cessful agriculturist had, in the mcnntime, become
Y

I
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known over Scotland, and in 1787 he caused Jlr.

Meikle, the inventor of the drum thrashing ma-

chine, one of the most important discoveries which

the agricultural art owes to mechanical genius, to

erect on the Phantassie property, the first macliine

in the county worked with horses, the only previ-

ous one being that of Mr. Meikle himself, at

Knowsmill, near Tyninghara, which was impelled

by water. The merit of this useful discovery be-

ing disputed by several persons, Mr. Rennie came

forward in vindication of his friend Meikle, who

was then between eighty and ninety years of age,

and completely established his claim to the inven-

tion, in a letter originally inserted in a pamphlet

by Mr. SlierifF, entitled ' A Reply to an Address

to the Public, but more particularly to the Land-

ed Interest of Great Britain and Ireland, on the

subject of the Thrashing Machine. Mr. Rennie

died October 6, 1828. His son, George Rennie,

at one period governor of the Falkland Islands,

and in 1841 elected M.P. for Ipswich, died March

22, 1860. In early life he devoted himself to

sculpture, and produced at Rome some remark-

able works, one of which, the ' Grecian Archer,"

he presented to the Athenaeum Club.

RENNIE, John, a celebrated engineer, brother

of the preceding, and uncle of governor Rennie,

was born on the farm of Phantassie, East Lothian,

June 7, 1761. He acquired the rudiments of his

educatiou at the parish school, and after being

for two years with Mr. Andrew Meikle, an emi-

nent millwright, he was sent to the school of

Dunbar. On the promotion of the master to Perth

Academy, the latter recommended him as his suc-

cessor; but preferring mechanical employment, he

soon resumed his labours with Mr. Lleikle. After

acting for a short time on his own account, in

1783, lie was induced to remove to London, and

soon after was employed by Messrs. Boulton and

Watt in the construction of two steam engines,

and the machinery connected therewith, at the

Albion flour mills, near Blackfriars Bridge ; which

in 1791 were unfortunately destroyed by wilful

fire. He was next engaged in superintending the

construction of the new machinery of Whitbread's

brewery, the execution of which increased his

reputation. Having commenced business for him-

•sclf as a civil engineer, from 1794 he was regard-

ed as standing at the head of the profession in

Great Britain, and was connected with every

public work of magnitude in the kingdom. Ca-

nals, bridges, harbours, wet docks, and machines

of every description, were extensively executed

from his designs, and under his direction. Among

his principal works may be mentioned Ramsgate

harbour ; "Waterloo and Sonthwark bridges, Lon-

don ; the London docks, and the East and West

India docks, at Blackwall ; the Prince's dock at

Liverpool ; the docks at Hull, Dublin, Greenock,

and Leitli, and the breakwater at Plymouth, with

several similar structures, where submarine ma-

sonry was carried to the utmost perfection. The

greatest effort of his genius is generally considered

to be the Bell Rock lighthouse, constructed on the

same principle as that on the Eddystone rocks,

erected by Smeaton. He built the stone bridges

at Kelso, Musselburgh, and other places in Scot-

land, and the iron bridge over the AVitham in

Lincolnshire, and superintended the formation of

the Grand Western canal, and the execution of

the Aberdeen canal which unites the Dee and the

Don, as well as other canals in different parts of

the country. Before his death he had given plans

for improving the docks at Sheerness, which were

executed by liis sons, George and John, aftei"-

wards Sir John Rennie, architect, who was knighted

iu 1831. He also furnished the designs for the new

London bridge, the charge of the construction of

which was intrusted to Sir John Rennie, who, in

1831, finished that magnificent structure.

Mr. Rennie was remarkable for his steady reso-

lution and perseverance, and for his indefatigable

industry. On going to France for a short time in

1816, he declared it to be the first relaxation he

had taken for nearly thirty years. He married in

1789, and had four sons and two daughters. He

died of inflammation of the liver, October 16, 1821,

and was buried in St. Paul's Cathedral, London.

Rentox, a surname derived from lands in Berwickshire of

that name, forming part of the liuronv of Coldingham. In

old charters it is spelled Regnintun, Reignintun, Raynton,

&c. The ancient family of Kenton of Renton lield tlie office

of forester over the woods of the priory of Coldingham from

the days of William tlie Lion, and this being liereditary, led

them to assume the name of Forester in preference to that of

Renton. In the 15th century the family ended in a female.

David Renton of Billy in the Merse, a descendant of the

ancient foresters of Coldingham, became, iu the beginning of
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the sixteenth century, proprietor of" the estate of Lainberton,

in tlie same county. Agnes, d:iu{;hter of Rentim of Billy,

was tlie first wife of Alexander Lesly, first earl of Leven, the

commander of the covenanting army at Dunse Law in May

1G39. The fainily sold the estate of Eilly about the begin-

ning of the 18tli century.

Sir Thomas Ronton, M.D., second son of William Renton

of Moscastle, of the liouse of Billy, became so eminent in liis

day, by his skill in tlie cure of ruptures, that lie was called to

London in 1719, and appointed physician to Chelsea Hospi-

tal. He was knighted by George I., who made him his own

phvsician extraordinary, and conferred on him a present of

i"o,000 in money, with a yearly pension of £.500. His ma-

jesty also gave orders to Lord Carteret, then secretary of

state, to cause a patent to be drawn out creating Sir Thomas

a baron of Great Britain, under the title of Lord Renton, but

he declined the peerage. He often attended the king in his

journeys to Hanover.

The Rentons of Laniberton were in 1S.3C {Hist, of Cold-

inrjham Priory, p. 147) represented by Alexander Campbell

Kenton, Esq., grandson of the last lineal descendant, Lieu-

tenant-colonel Alexander Renton.

RENWICK, James, a celebrated ficld-prcach-

er, and the last martyr for the covenanted work

of Reformation in Scotland, was born in the par-

ish of Glcncaini, in Nithsdale, Febrnary 15, 1G62.

He was the son of Andrew Renwick, a weaver,

by his wife, Elizabeth Corsan. From his cluld-

hood he evinced a pious disposition, and even at

two years of age was observed to be aiming at

prayer. His parents, being in very poor circnm-

stances, with difficulty kept him at scliool, and

dnring the time he attended tiie university of Ed-

inburgli, he supported liimself chicflj- by assisting

some gentlemen's sons in their education. On

tlie conclusion of liis academical course, liaving

refused to take the oath of allegiance, lie was de-

nied laureation, but, Avitli two others, afterwards

received it privately at Edinburgh, where, for

some time, he remained prosecuting Iiis stu-

dies. He subsequently attached liimself to the

persecuted Presbyterians, and attended their se-

cret meetings, taking an acti\-e part in all their

proceedings. Having been present at tlie mar-

tyrdom of Mr. Donald Cargill, July 27, IGSl, he

determined to unite with the small remnant that

adhered to his principles ; and when the more

zealous of the Covenanters agreed to publish tlie

Lanark Declaration, Renwick was enijiloyed to

proclaim it, which he did January 12, 1G82, al-

though he had no hand in its composition, and

disapproved of some of its expressions.

Finding it impossible, in tlie then circumstances

of the times, to obtain license in his own country,

he was, by his party, sent over to Holland, in

December 1C82, when he entered a student at the

university of Groningen. In si.x: months he was

found ciualified for the ministry, and accordingly

received ordination there. He commenced his

ministerial labours in his native land, his first

public sermon lieing preached November 23, 1G83,

in a moss at Darniead, in the parish of Cambus-

nethan
;
when, in vindication of himself, and for

tiie information of his hearers, he gave an account

of his call to the ministrj-, and declared his firm

adherence to the persecuted Church of Scotland.

At the same time he fully explained his mind as

to the various religious questions then in agita-

tion, and described particularly the class of preach-

ers and professors he was resolved to hold no

communion with. This gave great offence to

some of the indulged ministers and false brethren,

who had been led away by tlie defections of the

times, and exposed him to much calumnious mis-

representation.

His fame and success as a field-preaclier at-

tracted the notice of the council, by whom he was

publicly proclaimed a traitor, and all his adher-

ents were treated as abettors of rebellion. In

1G84 his troubles and discouragements began

still more to thicken around him
;
nevertheless,

he continued to preach wherever and whenever

he could find opportunity. During that year his '

enemies became more vigilant in their search after

him, and letters of intcrcommuning were issued

against him and his folloAvers, which led to the

latter publishing, at the market-cross and church

doors of several towns, their famous Apologetical

Declaration, November 8, 1G84. After this, the

unhappy fugitives were hunted, like beasts of

prey, through the mosses, muirs, and mountains

of their native land, having often no place of ref-

uge or retirement but a desert glen, or wild cavern

of the earth. Renwick himself was often hotly

pursued by the sanguinary soldiers, and had many

signal escapes and remarkable deliverances.

On the accession of James VIT. to the throne,

Renwick, and about two hundred men, -wcwt to

Sanquhar, i\Iay 28, 1G85, and published a ]irotest

against his succession, at the same time renounc-

ing their allegiance to him, which was afterwards
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called the Sanquhar Declaration. In October

1687 a reward of one hundred pounds sterling

was offered for his apprehension. Having gone

to Edinburgh in January 1688, to deliver to tlie

Synod of indulged ministers a protestation against

the toleration they had accepted, which he lodged

in the hands of Mr. Hugh Keuned}% their mode-

rator, he was discovered, and after a short resist-

ance, seized, on Februarj' 1, and committed close

prisoner to the Tolbooth. On the 8th he was

tried before the high court of justiciar}-, on an in-

dictment which charged him with disowning the

king's authority, refusing to pay the cess, and

maintaining the lawfulness of defensive arms. He

was found guilty, on his own confession, and exe-

cuted in the Grassmarket of Edinburgh, on the

17th, being then only twenty-six years and two

days old. His life was written by a contemporarj^

field-preacher, Mr. Alexander Shields ; and in

1777 appeared at Glasgow, ' A Choice Collection

of very valuable Prefaces, Lectures, and Ser-

mons, preached upon the Mountains and Muirs

of Scotland, in the hottest time of the Persecu-

tion,' by Mr. James Renwick ; to which are add-

ed, b}' the same author, the Form and Order of

Ruling Elders, a Reply to Mr. Langlan's Letter

to Gavin Wotherspoon, &c., which work has been

several times reprinted.

Richardson, the nnmo of i\ family which possesses :i

baronetcy of Nova Scotia, conferreJ, loth November 1C30,

on Sir Robert Richardson of Pcnc.iitland, Haddingtonshire,

whose son, Sir Robert, .second baronet, sold that estate, and

died without issue in 1640. The baronetcy devolved on his

cousin, Sir James Richardson of Smeaton, tliird baronet, who

died in 1G80. His son, Sir James Richardson, fourtli b.iro-

net, sold tlie Smeaton estate in 1708, and died in 1717. On

the death of Sir John Richardson, tlie twelfth baronet, 12tli

April, 1821, the baronetcy became dorm<ant. In 1837, Sir

John Stewart Richardson, son of James Rich.ardson, Esq. of

Pitfour, Perthshire, was served heir male general to this bar-

onetcy as heir of the first baronet's elder brother, and accord-

ingly became 13th baronet. Born Sep. 1, 1797, in Aug. 1843

he was appointed secretary to the order of the Thistle. In

1826 he married Mary, daughter of James Hay, Ksq. of Col-

liepriest, Devonshire, issue 4 sons and 3 dis. James Thomas,

the eldest son, 78tli Highlanders, Wiis born Dec. 24, 1840.

RICHARDSON, Williasi, a miscellaneous

wi'iter, sou of Rev. James Richardson, minister

of Aberfoyle, was born there Oct. 1, 1743, and

educated at the parish school. In his 14th

year he was sent to the university of Glasgow,

and after finishing the usual curriculum, entered

on the studj' of divinit}'
;
but, before he had com-

pleted his theological course, he was appointed

tutor to the two sons of Lord Cathcart, whom he

accompanied to Eton, where he remained for two

years. In 1768 he went with his pupils to St.

Petersburg, their Aithcr having been nominated

ambassador-extraordinary to the empress of Rus-

sia; and, during his residence there, he acted as

secretary to Lord Cathcart. In 1772 he returned

with his only surviving pupil to Glasgow, and

soon after, through the interest of Lord Cathcart,

then lord rector of the universitj' there, he was

chosen professor of humanit\-, having succeeded

Professor Muirhead in that chair. He died No-

vember 3, 1814. His works are:

A Philosophic.il Analysis and Illustration of some of

Sliakespear's Remarkable Characters. Ghigg. 1774, 12mo.

Cursory Remarks on Tragedy, Shakespear, and certain
'

Italian and French Poets. Ghisg. 1774, 8vo.

Poems, chiefly Rural. Glasg. 1774, 12mo. 1781, 8vo.

Essays on Sliakespear's Dramatic Characters of Richard

III., King Lear, .nnd Timon of Athens; with an Essay on

the F.iults of Shakespear. I.ond. 1783, 8vo. Lond. 1785,

2 vols. 12mo. 1797, 8vo.

Anecdotes of the Russian Empire, in a series of Letters,

written a few years ago from St. Petersburgh. Glasgow,

1784, 8vo.

Essays on Shakespear's Dramatic Character of Falstaff,

and on his imitation of Female Characters: to which are

added, some General Observations on the Study of Sh.ake-

spear. Lond. 1789, 12mo. The same; to wliich is added,

an Essay on the Faults of Shakespear. Lond. 1797, 8vo.

The Indians; a Tragedy. Lond. 1790, 8vo.

Ess.ays on Sliakespear's Dramatic Characters of Jlacbeth,
|

Hamlet, Jacques, Imogen, Richard III., Sir John FalstaiF,

King Lear, Timon of Athens; with an illustration of his re-

presentations of National Character in that of Fluellen ; and

Observations on the chief Objects of Criticism in his Works,

8vo. The whole of his Essays on Shakspere, as the name is

now spelled, were collected into one volume.

The Maid of Lochlin; a L}Tical Drama; with Odes, .ind

other Poems. Lond. 1801, small 8vo.

The Philanthrope, a periodical Essayist, published at Lon-

don in 1797.

Poems and Plays. Lond. 1805, 2 vols. 12mo.
j

On the Dramatic or Ancient Form of Historical Composi-

tion. Trans. Soc. Edin. 1788, vol. i. 99.

He was also a contributor to Gilbert Stewart's Edinburgh

Magazine and Review, and to the Mirror and Lounger; and

wrote the Life of Professor Arthur prefi.xed to his works,

and .m Essay on Celtic Superstitions, appended to Dr. Gra-

ham's Inquiry into the Authenticity of the Poems of Ossian.

He left in manuscript an Essay on Figurative Langu.age, and

some other p.apers.

RiDDELL, the surname of an ancient Roxburghshire fam-

ilv. The first in Scotland of the name was Gervase de

Riddel, who accompanied from England David, prince of

Cumberland, afterwards David I., and received from liim

considerable lands in that county. He was of Norman es-
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traction, his grandfather, tlie Sieur de I'iddel, having come

over witli William the Conqueror. The hitter is particularly

named in tlie roll oF Battle Abbey, with " Avenell and l!os,"

and hinds in various parts of England were bestowed on him

by the Conqueror. From Dugdale's IJaronage, (vol. i. p.

55"),) we learn that liis sou Geoffrey, Lord Riddel, father of

Gervase, was lord-chief-justioe of Kngland in 1107, and tliat

he married Geva, daughter of Ilugli de Abrincas, earl of

Chester, of whom descended Matilda or JIaud, wife of Da-

vid, carl of Huntingdon, and grandmotlicr of Robert Bruce

the competitor, grandfather of King Robert the Bruce. He

perished at sea in the same ship with Prince William, sou of

Henry I., on their return from France in 1120. His son,

Gervase or Geoffrey, was progenitor of the Scottish family of

Riddell of Riddell.

This Gervase or GcofiVey liiddell was the earliest slieriU'of

Roxburghshire. He was witness to most of the cliarters and

donations of King David I., and also to tlie well-known In-

quisition made by that monarch wlien prince of Cumberland,

for the old possessions belonging to the church of Glasgow,

lie died about IHO, leaving two sous, Vt'alter, liis heir, and

Sir Anketil, who succeeded his brother.

The elder son, Walter de Riddell, had a charter from D.i-

vid I., of the lands of Lilliesleaf, Wliittunes, &c., in the

countv of Roxburgh, to he lield of the k'mg per servitlum

iiniiis niiiiti.^, sicul iintis baronum nostrormn, &c. This is

admitted to be the oldest charter extant by a Scottish king

to a laic. It is witliout a date, as was usual in those days,

but must have been granted sometime between 1140 and

1153. Kisbet, (vol. i. p. 374) says that he had seen a tran-

snmpt of it, made by order of Lord Gr.-iy, justice-general of

Scotland, in a justiciary court held at .Jedliurgb in 1500.

The lands named were afterwards called the liarony of Rid-

dell. In the 'Lay of the Last Minstrel,' Sir Waiter Scott

mentions

"Ancient Eiddi'H'.s fair domain."'

And in a note he says, "The family of Riddell have been

very long in possession of tlie barony calied Kiddell or Rey-

dale, part of wliich still bears tlie latter name. Tradition

carries their antiquity to a point extremely reu::'te; and is iu

some degree sanctioned by the discovery of two s!one coflin.s,

one containing an earthen pot filled with aslies and arms,

bearing a legible date, A. I). 727, the other dated 93G, and

filled with the bones of a man of gigantic size. These cof-

fins were discovered in the foundations of what was, but lias

long since ceased to be, the chapel of Riddell, and, as it was

argued with phrasibility that they contained tlie remains of

some ancestors of the family, tliey were deposited in the mo-

dern jilace of sepulture, comparatively so termed, tliough

built in 1110." 'I'here is nothing in the discovery of two

stone coffins with the respective dates mentioned, to support

the supposition that the family of Riddell was .settled at tb.at

place in the seventh or eighth century, as has been rather

hastily assumed. The finst grant of land they liad iu Scot-

land was in tlic reign of David I., as above sliown, when the

first of the name came from England and obtained posses-

sions in Roxburghshire.

Of Sir Anketil de Riddell, Walter's brother and successor,

we find in DaliTmple's Collections many rem.arkable docu-

liiouts, particularly two bulls iu coufirinatiou from Popes

Adrian lY. and Alexander III., of the lands of Lilliesleaf,

Wliittunes, &c., subsequently called Riddell, which have re-

mained iu the family through a long train of unbroken liue.al

succession. Sir Anketil bad three sons: 1. Waller, liis heir;

2. Hugo or Hugh, who w;is one of the liost.agcs for King

William the Lion, when taken prisoner at the battle of Aln-

wick in 1174 ; and 3. Jordanus de liiddell, who is witness to

a charter of King William to the abbey of Dunfermline.

Hugh, the second son, was progenitor of the Riddells of

Craiistonriddell, having received a grant of the manor of

Cranston in Mid Lothian from Karl Henrv. The fauiilv

terminated in an heiress, who, about 1478, married a son of

the house of Crichton.

The eldest son, Walter de Riddell, had two sons: Sir Pa-
trick, who, after succeeding to the estate, made donations of

jiortions of his lands of Wliittunes to the church at Melrose,

iu the reigns of William the Lion and Alexander II. ; and

Radnlphus or Ralpli, who is mentioned iu several charters,

and is supposed to have been progenitor of the Riddells of

Swiuburu castle in Northumberland. Sir Patrick's son,

Walter de Riddell, got :dl his lands erected into the free barony

of Riddell, and was tlie first of the family designated of that

ilk. He confirmed his father's donations to Jlelrose, and

himself made many donations to the monks of that place

and Kelso. He had two sons. Sir William, and Patrick, who
is mentioned in several writs.

Sir William, the elder .son, was kniglited, when a voung

man, by King Alexander II. He left two sons, Sir William,

who, with his kinsman. Sir Hugh Riddell de Cranston,

swore a forced fealty to Edward I. of England in 129G, and

Gidfrid or Geoffrey, who succeeded liis brother. Galfrid's

son. Sir William de Riddell, succeeded about 1325, and died

in the reign of Robert II. His son, Quintin de Piiddell, was

the next proprietor, and tlie fifth iu regular descent from

him, but the fourth who possessed the lands, was Walter de

Riddell of that ilk, who married Jlariota, d.aughter of Sir

James Pringle of Galashiels, and died iu the beginning of the

reign of James VI. He liad three sons: Walter, Robert,

progenitor oi' the Riddells of Kinglass, and A^'illiam.

The eldest son, Walter, was served heir to his father iu

15SS. His son, Andrew Riddell of Riddell and Hainiug in

Selkirkshire, succeeded in 1595. The hitter was twice mar-

ried, liis second wife being Violet, daughter of William Dou-

glas of Pompherston, Esq. He died in the beginning of the

reign of Charles I. With four d.aughters, he liad four sons:

1. Sir John, the first baronet of the family. 2. William, an-

cestor of the Riddells of Newliouse. 3. James, progenitor of

the Riddells of Maybole ; and 4. Walter, upon whom lie be-

stowed the lands of Haining. This gentleman's last heir

female, JIagdalene Riddell, married David Erskine of Dun,

a lord of session, and the family is now represented by the

marquis of Ailsa, through the Erskines of Dun.

The eldest son, John, was by Cliarles I. created a baronet

of Nova Scotia, 14tli Jlay 1028. With two daughters, he

had four sons, namely. Sir Walter, second baronet; Sir Wil-

liam Riddell, governor of De.sburgh in Holland; and John

and Thomas, both captains in the Dutch service.

The eldest son. Sir Walter, was knighted in his father's

lifetime, and succeeded him as second baronet. He had

three sons: Sir John, third baronet
;
William, progenitor of

the Riddells of Glenriddel iu Dumfries-shire, of whom after-

wards; .and Archibald, one of the ministers of Edinburgh,

commemorated by Wodrow. He took part with the cele-

brated Blackadder in conducting field-preacliings in the

south, and about the year 1G79, .suffered imprisonment for

his adherence to the covenant. He had two sous : Captain

Walter Riddell of Granton, who died without issue, and Dr.

John Riddell, physician in Edinburgh.

Sir John Riddell, third baronet, got .i remission from

James VII. in 1G87, for having been engaged in some trea-

sonable practices ag.ainst the government. His son, Sir
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Walter, died in 1747. The fifth baronet, his son, also named

Sir Walter, was succeeded in 1765, b_v his son, Sir John,

sixth baronet, who died at Hampstead, near London, 16lh

April 1768. By his wife, Jane, eldest daughter and eventu-

ally heiress of James Buchanan, Esq. of Sunden, Bedford-

shire, he had three sons, who all succeeded to tlie baronetcy,

namely. Sir Walter, Sir James Buchanan Riddell, an officer

1st foot-guards, who died at Brunswick a few months after in-

heriting the title; and Sir John Buchanan Riddell, M.P. for

Selkirkshire. The latter died in April 1819, leaving 4 sons

and 5 daugliters. The eldest son. Sir Walter Buchanan Rid-

dell, barrister-at-law, 10th baronet, born Aug. 8, 1810, has

been since February 1842 steward of tlie manorial courts of

the duke of Northumberland. Recorder of IMaidstone. He

married in 1859 Alicia, youngest daughter of William Ripley,

Ksq., 62d foot.

The RidJells of Ardnamurchan, in Argyleshire, are said to

be descended from Galfridus Riddel, baron of Blaye in Gui-

enne, who aided the Normans in the conquest of Apulia, and

accompanied William the Conqueror to England. From

that monarch he obtained considerable grants of land. John

Riddell, the sixteenth in descent from Galfiidus, was the

first of the family in Scotland. He married a daugliter of

Thomas Urquliart of Cromarty, and was succeeded in 1584

by his son James Riddell, who, engaging in commercial pur-

suits, was for some time a merchant at Kasimier in Craco-

nia, Poland. In Douglas' Baronage, (page 201,) his father's

name is said to have been Robert, the second son of William

Riddell of that ilk. The armorial bearings of the two fami-

lies are different, and as it does not appear that the stock

from which they both were derived was the same, it is probable

that there is some mistake in this statement. About 1595

James Riddell was made a free denizen of the royal city of

Kasimier, and in 1G02 he had, from Alexander, then king of

Poland, all tlie privileges of a free citizen confii-med to

him. On his return to Scotland, he became a burgess and

guild - brother of Edinburgh, and died in 1620. By liis

wife, Elizabeth, daughter of Adam Allan, merchant in Edin-

burgh, he had a son, James, who acquired the lands of Kin-

glass, in Linlithgowshire, and was the first designated by that

title. During the civil wars in the time of Charles L, he

was much in the confidence of Oliver Cromwell and General

Monk. The former lodged with him in his house at Leith, and

he afterwards carried on a correspondence with him. He

was appointed by the Scots Estates commissary general to

their forces in their expedition to the north, and is so desig-

nated in his burgess ticket from the town of Brechin in 16-15.

This gentleman was among the first who estabUshed the

woollen manufactures in Scotland. Mr. Hogg, the minister

of South Leith, having remembered the king in his prayers,

the church was, by General Jlonk's order, turned into a sta-

ble, and the parishioners prevented from worshipping there.

Previous to Monk's return to England, he asked j\Ir. Riddell

if there was anything wherein he could be serviceable to him

or his family. He replied that the only favour he could

show him was that he would restore their cinn-cli to the par-

ishioners of South Leith, and allow them their fonner liberty

of meeting in it for divine service. Monk not only granted

the request, but ordered a new roof to be put upon the church

at his own expense. In return the inliabitants conferred on

Mr. Riddell a large space in the body of the church for a

seat for his family. He afterwards got a pass from General

Monk, dated 25th November 1659, allowing him to pass and

repass, free from molestation, with his servants, horses, arms,

&c., about his private affidrs. After the Restoration, lie ob-

tained from Charles II. an order to himself and some others,

for erecting a new manufactory of woollen .and tow cards, the

first of the kind in Scotland, for which he obtained an act of

the Scots parliament held at Edinburgh, 23d September
1663, and John, earl of Crawford and Lindsay, joined in

partnership with him, their indenture of copartnery being
dated Gth December 1663. He died in 1674. By his wife,

Elizabeth, daughter of George Foulis of Pv.avelston, master of
the king's mint, lie had four sons and two daughters.

The eldest son, James Riddell of Ivinglass, was a captain

in tlie Dutch sersuce. He greatly encumbered his paternal

estate, and dying unmarried, in 1688, was succeeded by his

brother, George, a wine merchant at Leith. This gentleman
manied Jane, eldest daughter of Captain John Taylor, and
dying in 1706, was succeeded by his son. Captain George

Riddell, who married Christian, daughter of Andrew Pater-

son of Kirktown, and had 5 sons and 2 daughters. The sons

were, 1. George, who became an eminent physician in York-

shire, Virginia. 2. Andrew Riddell of Enfield, an officer in

the army. 3. James Riddell of Belton, the first of Ardna-

murchan, of whom afterwards. 4. John, who acquired a

considerable estate by commerce in Virginia; and 5. Robert

Riddell of Carzield, Dumfries-shire, an officer in the royal

regiment of horseguards blue.

The extensive estate of Ardnamurchan was, with Simart

and the lead mines of Strontian, in Argylesliire, acquired by

James Riddell, LL.D., the third son. He was for some time

superintendent-general to the Hon. society of the British fish-

ery, which office he resigned in 1754. He was also a mem-
ber of the Society of Arts and Sciences in England, and had

the degree of LL.D. conferred upon him by the university of

Edinburgh, 27th February 1767. He was created a baronet,

2d September 1778, and died 2d November 1797. By his

wife, Mary, daughter and heiress of Thomas Milles of Bil-

lockby Hall, Norfolk, he had two sons, Thomas Milles Rid-

dell and George James Riddell, who both possessed property

in the county of Norfolk. The former predeceased his father

on 17th July 1796, leaving, by his wife, Margarett.a, daugli-

ter of Colonel Dugald Campbell of Lochneil, Arg)-leshire, two

sons and a daughter.

Sir James Milles Riddell, the elder son, born June 3, 1787,

succeeded his grandfather as 2d baronet in 1797. He graduated

at Christ Church, Oxford, and was made D.C.L. He married

in 1822, IMary, youngest daughter of Sir Richard Brooke,

bart. , of Norton Priory, Chester, issue, two sons and a daugh-

ter. He died Sept. 28, 1861. His elder son, Sir Thomas

Milles Riddell, born Dec. 25, 1822, married in 1851 Mary

Anne, daughter of John Hodgson, Esq. of St. Petersburg.

The Riddclls of Glenriddell, Dumfries-sliire, were descend-

ed from Sir Walter Riddell, second baronet of that ilk,

through William, his second son, an advocate at the Scottish

bar. This William acquired the hands of Friarshaw in Te-

viotdale, and afterwards Glenriddell, and married Elizabeth,

daughter of Captain Francis Wauchope of the Niddry family.

His son, Walter, married Catharine, eldest daughter of Sir

Robert Lawrie of Maxwellton, baronet, and had, with two

daugliters, two sons, Robert, who succeeded liim, and John,

who married Helen, daughter of Sir j\Iichael Balfour of

Denmilne, with issue. The elder son, Robert, mairied J.ane,

daughter of Alexander Fergusson of Craigdarroch, by whom

he had several daughters.

Of this family was Robert Riddell of Glenriddell, an emi-

nent antiquarian and musical amateur, and an early patron

and correspondent of Burns. He composed the airs to seve-

ral of Burus' songs, particularly ' The Banks of Nitli,' ' The
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Wliistle,' 'Nitlisdiile's Welcome Home,' 'The Blue Eyed

Lassie,' and ' The Day Returns.' The last sonj; was com-

posed as a tribute of gratitude and respect to Mr. Kiddell and

liis Uidy, on the anniversary of their marriage day. "At
tlieir fireside," says Burns, "1 have enjoyed more pleas;int

evenings than at all the houses of fashionable people in this

count;y put togetlier; and to tlieir kindness and hos])itality

I am indebted for many of the happiest Inmrs of my life."

In tlie ballad of ' Tlie Whistle,' Burns styles him " The trusty

Glenriddell, so versed in old coins." That ballad commonio-

rates a drinking match which took place, October IGtli, 17D0,

at Friar's Carse Hermitage, Dumfries-shire, Mr. liiddell's

residence, between Sir Robert I.awrie of JIaxwellton, Mi'.

Riddell, and Mr. Fergusson of Craigdarrooh, a relative of the

latter, for the celebrated ebony whistle, which had been ori-

ginally brought to Scotland by a Danish gentleman, in the

train of Anne of Denmark. On this occasion it was gained

by Mr. Fergusson. Friar's Carse afterwards became the

property of a family of the name of Cricliton, and the origi-

nal JIS. of 'The Whistle,' in Burns' handwriting, is said to

liave been left in their possession. Tlie poet's well-known

lines on Friar's Carse Hermitage were written at the request

of Mr. Riddell in 1788, shortly after Burns had become the

tenant of the farm of Ellisland, in its neighbourhood. Hav-

ing distinguished himself by his researches concei'ning the

antiquities of his native country, Mr. Riddell was elected a

member of the philosophical society of Manchester and a fel-

low of the aiiti<(Uarian societies of Edinburgh and London.

He died April 21, 1791. He published in the Archa^ologia

' Account of the ancient Lordship of Galloway, from the

earliest period to the year 1455, when it was annexed to the

Crown of Scotland.' Archajol. 1789, vol. ix. 49. ' Remarks

on the Title of Thane and Abtliane.' lb. 3"29. ' Of the An-
cient Modes of Fortification in Scotland.' lb. 1792, vol. x.

99. ' On Vitrified Fortifications in Galloway.' lb. 147.

'Account of ii Symbol of Ancient Investiture in Scotland.'

lb. 1794, vol. xi. 45. ' Account of a Brass Vessel found

near Dumfries in Scotland, 1790.' lb. 105. ' Noriccs of

Fonts in Scotland.' lb. lOG.

Captain Walter Riddell, a younger brother of Glenriddell,

acquired by purchase a property in the neighbourhood of

Dumfries, which he named Woodley Park, in honour of his

wife, a Miss Maria Banks, who was born at Woodley in Eng-

land. Her father was governor of the Caribbee islands, and

in April 1788 she went out to visit him. On her return, af-

ter her marriage with Captain Riddell, she published ' Voy-

ages to the Madeira and Leeward Caribbean Isles, with

Sketches of the Natural History of these Islands.' Edin.

1792, 1 vol. 12mo, dedicated to Mr. William Smellie, to

whom she was introduced by Burns by a letter published in

liis Correspondence. She was also the authoress of some

poems and songs.

RrrCIIIE, Wii.Li.ur, LL.D., an iiigeiiiou? .<^clf-

lauglit pliiloso]ilicr, was originally educated for

the Cliurcli of Scotland, in wliicli he Avas licensed

to preach the go?pcl. He became rector of tlic

Royal Academy of Tain, in Ross-sliire, wlicrc lie

contrived, hy extreme frugality, to save from liis

small annual sti]iend a sum sufficient to enable

him to attend a course of (he lectnrcs of Messrs.

Thenard, Gay-Lussac, and Biot, at Paris, and also

to pay a substitute for tiic performance of his du-

ties during his temporary absence from Scotland.

Ilis skill and originality in devising and perform-

ing experiments witli the most simple materials,

ill illustration of various disputed points of natu-

ral philosoph}', attracted tlie attention of the cele-

brated pliilosoiiliers whose occasional pupil he had

become. He had also communicated to the Royal

Society, through Sir John Herschell, who took a

strong interest in his fortunes, papers ' On a New
Photometer;' 'On a New Form of the Differen-

tial Tiiermomcter;' and 'On the Permeability of

Transparent Screens of extreme Tenuity by Radi-

ant Heat,' which led to his appointment, on the

recommendation of ]\[njor Sabine, to tlie profes-

sorship of natural philosophy at the Royal Insti-

tution, where he delivered a course of probationary

lectures in the spring of 1829. From this time he

became a permanent resident in London, and was

appointed professor of natural philosophy at the

London tniiversity in 1832. In the following

year he published a small introductory work, en-

titled 'Principles of Geometry Familiarly Illus-

trated,' designed for the instrnction of the young

;

and in 1836 he brought out another elementary

work, under the name of 'Principles of the Differ-

ential and Integral Calcidus, applied to a variety

of useful Purposes.' lie subsequently comnunii-

catcd to the Royal Society, of which he was elect-

ed a fellow, papers ' On the Elasticity of Threads

of Glass, and the Application of tliis Propert_y to

Torsion Balances ;' and also various experimental

researches on the electric and chemical theories of

galvanism, on electro-magnetism, and voltaic elec-

tricity. He died in the prime of life, September

15, 1837. Shortl}' before his death he was en-

gaged in experiments, on an extensive scale, on

the manufacture of glass for optical purposes, for

the examination of the results of which a commis-

sion was appointed by the Government, with a

view to their further prosecution by a public grant

of money, or by affording increased facilities of

experiment by a relaxation of the regulations of

the excise.

ROBERT T. See Bruce, Robert.

ROBERT 11., the first of the royal line of

Stewart, born March 2, 1316, was the only child

of Walter, the Steward of Scotland, by his wife,

the princess Maijory, daughter of King Robert



ROBERT II. 344 ROBERT III.

the Bruce. In accordance with the act of settle-

ment of the crown, he succeeded to tlie throne on

the death of David II., February 22, 1371, being

at that time 55 years of age, and in the following

month lie was crowned at Scone by the archbishop

of St. Andrews. William, first earl of Douglas,

at first opposed his accession,' and urged a right to

the throne as representative of the families of

Comyn and Baliol, but, finding all the nobles ad-

verse to his claim, he prudently withdrew his pre-

tensions. For some years immediately following

Robert's succession, Scotland was visited by a

grievous scarcity, and for the space of two years

the plague raged with great violence. For the

principal events of his reign, none of which were

of great importance, reference may be made to

the article Albany, first duke of (vol. i. p. 33).

The year before his father's death, the duke, then

earl of Fife and Meiitcith, was appointed governor

of the kingdom. King Robert, now relieved of

the cares of sovereignty, retired from Dunfermline,

wliere the court was then held, to his castlo of

Dundonald, in Kyle, where he died, 19th April

1390, in his 75th year, and the 19th of his reign.

The following woodcut is taken from a portrait of

Robert II. in Finkerton's Scottish Gallery:

He was twice married, first to Elizabeth, daugh-

ter of Sir Alexander Mure of Rowallan, by whom

he had four sons and six daughters, all born be-

fore marriage
;

and, secondly, to Euphemia, a

daughter of the earl of Ross, by whom lie had

two sons and four daughters. Besides these, he

had a numerous illegitimate progeny by various

women. He was popular!}' designated "Blear-

Eye," from the breaking out of an inflammation

in his eyelids, which deformed his originally hand-

some countenance. According to a tradition,

which Lord Ilailes has been at pains to refute, his

mother was killed by being thrown from her horse

when pregnant with him
;
and, being cut out of

her side, by the Ctesarean operation, he received

a wound in one of his eyes from the surgeon's

knife, which left tliere an unseemly mark ever

afterwards.

ROBERT III., eldest son of Robert II., by Eli-

zabeth jMure, was born about 1340, and, during

his father's reign, bore the title of earl of Carrick.

His Christian name was John, but on succeeding

to the throne, he changed it to Robert, to which

the Scots were partial, and considered John, after

John Baliol and King John of England, an un-

lucky name for a king. He married Annabella,

a daughter of Sir John Drummond of Stobhall, by

whom he had several children. During the great-

er part of his reign, the kingdom was disturbed

by the feuds and dissensions of a rude and turbu-

lent nobility. In his youth, the king had re-

ceived a kick from a horse, which reudei'ed liim

lame, and as lie was of an indolent and pacific

disposition, but amiable and intelligent withal,

the administration of afi"airs devolved upon Jiis

brother, the earl of Fife, created by him duke of

Albany, with the title of guardian of the king and

kingdom. Robert's eldest son, the duke of Rothe-

say, was by a strong party of the nobility consi-

dered to have a better right to that post than the

king's brotlier, and in 1398, Albany was com-

pelled to resign his ofiice. When Henry IV. of

England invaded Scotland in 1400, tlie govern-

ment was in the hands of the heir apparent. But

the licentious habits of that ill-fated prince led

his father, in 1402, to give Albany an order to ar-

rest him. He was imprisoned in the castle of

Falkland, and there he died, in his 29th year.
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After Rotliesay's deatli, Albany was allowed by

tl:c feeble monarch to wield at will the reins of

IClNt; KoBliUT 111.

goveiiimeut
;

until, roused to a strong suspicion

of his brother's ambitious designs, he resolved to

send Ills only surviving son, James, then In his

11th year, to France for safety. On tlie passage

the young prince was seized by the English, March

30, 1405, and detained a prisoner in the Tower of

London, an event which is said to have hastened

the king's death at Rothesay castle, April 4, 140C.

UoBHUToN, :i surnamo derived from lands of tliat name in

Laniirkshii e. Tlie first of tlie name was Kubertiis de Kober-

ton, or Rohertus de Villa Itoberti, abont 1200. Steven de

Iloberton, one of the adherents of John Baliol, swore fealty in

129G to Kdward I. for liis lands in Lanarhsliire. Ite was for-

feited by Kobert the Bruce, and liis barony of Roberton be-

stowed upon Sir .Tames UougUis, ancestor of the earls of Mor-

ton. The family was afterwards designed of Earnoclc, and

tliere were frequent intermarriages between them and various

branches of the house of Hamilton. James IJoberton of Bed-

lay, a cadet of tlie Earnock family, was appointed a lord of

session at the Restoration. A daughter of the house of Ro-

berton married the famous Jlr. David Dickson. Janet, daugh-

ter of Jolm Roberton of Karnock, married Robert Hamilton of

Little Earnock, and her grandson. Sir John Hamilton of Let-

trick, was father of tlie first Lord Bargeny. Another grand-

son, James Hamilton, was the first of the family of Bangonr.

Robertson, flie name of a IliglilaiiJ clan, cillcd in Gaelic

the clan Donachie, of whicli Robertson of Strowan in Perth-

shire is the chief. Tradition claims for tlie clan Donachie a

descent from the great sept of the Macdonalds, their remote

ancestor being said to have been Dnncin the Fat, son of

.^ngus Jlor, lord of the Isles, in the reign of William the Lion.

Skene, however, in his History of the Highlanders, traces

them from Duncan, king of Scotland, eldest scm of IMalcolra

IIL, their immediate ancestor being Conan, second son of

Henry, fourth and last of the ancient Celtic earls of Atlioll.

This C(nian, in the reign of .Mexander IL, received from his

father the lands of Glenerochy, afterwards called Strowan, in

Gaelic Slmthan, that is, streamy. His son, Ewen, had several

sons, one of whom was the progenitor of the family of Skene

(see Skicne, surname of).

Ewen's grandson, .Andrew, was styled of Atlmll, de Alho-

lia, whicli was the uniform designation of the family, indica-

tive of their descent from the ancient earls of Allioll.

Andrew's son, Duncan, it was who gave the clan their dis-

tinctive appellation of the clan Donachie, or the children of

Duncan. He married, 1st, a daughter of a certain Galium

Rua, or Malcolm the redhaired, who, being styled Leamnach,

IB supposed to have been connected with the earls of Lennox,

and by his wife he acquired a considerable accession of terri-

tory, including the southern division of the glen or district of

Rannoch. The clan Donachie were adherents of Bruce, and

on one of the two islands in Loch Rannoch a Macdougal of

Lorn, taken prisoner in one of their clan battles, was confined

for some time, but contrived to make his escape. By his

first wife he had son, Robert de .Atlioli.i. Duncan married,

2iily, the co-heiress of Ewen de Insulis, thane of Gleiitilt,

and got the east half thereby. By her he had, 1. Patrick de

Atholia, first of Lude. 2. Thomas de Atholia of Strowan.

3. Gibbon, who had no legitimate issue.

Duncan's eldest son, Robert de Atholia. married a daughter

of .Sir John Stirling of Glenesk, and obtained with her part

of her father's property, which their daughter, Jane, received
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on lier marriage with Jlenzies of Fotliergill. Robert took

for liis second wife one of the daughters and co-lieiresses of

Fordell, and had an only son, Duncan. In the celebrated

foray which the Highlanders made into Angns in 1392, the

clan Donachie acted a conspicuous part. It was on this oc-

casion that it appeared for the first time as a distinct tribe.

Thomas, the 2d son of the 2d marriage, had a dr., who ob-

tained part of her father's possessions on marrying Alexander,

2d son of Patrick of Lude, but the estate of Strowan went,

probably by marriage of an elder dr. of Thomas, to Duncan,

the son of Itobert, who is mentioned in the liotuli Scotice ns

Duncanus de Atholia, dominus de Ranagh, or Rannoch.

From his son, Robert liiach (grizzled), who succeeded him,

tlie clan derive their name of Roberts»n.

Tliis Robert was noted for his predatory incursions into

the Lowlands, and is historically known as the chief who ar-

rested and delivered up to the vengeance of the government,

Robert Graham and the master of AthoU, two of the mur-

derers of James I., for which he was rewarded with a crown

charter, dated in 1451, erecting his whole lands into a free

barony. He also received the honourable augmentation to

liis arms of a naked man manacled under the achievement,

with the motto, Viriutls gloria merces. He was mortally

wounded in the head near the village of Auchtergaven, in a

conflict with Robert Forrester of Tonvood, with whom he

had a dispute regarding the lands of Little Dunkeld. Bind-

ing up his head with a white cloth, he rode to Perth, and

obtained from the king a new grant of the lands of Strowan.

On his return home, he died of liis wounds. He had tlu-ee

sons, Alexander, Robert, and Patrick. Robert, the second

son, was the ancestor of the earls of Portmore, a title now

extinct, (see Portmoke, Earl of).

The eldest son, Alexander, was twice married. By his

first wife, a daughter of the third Lord Glammis, grandson

of Lady Jane Stewart, daughter of Robert II., he had four

sons and a daughter. Tlie sons were, Duncan, who prede-

ceased his father, leaving a son, William
;
Robert; Andrew,

progenitor of the Robertsons of Ladvkirk, and other families

of the name ; and James, ancestor of the Robertsons of Auch-

leeks, &c. The daughter married Jloray of Ogih'y and Aber-

cairnie. His second wife, a daughter of the earl of Atholl,

bore to him two sons and one daughter. The sons were,

Alexander, progenitor of the Robertsons of Faskally, and

John, of whom sprung the Robertsons of i\Iuirtown, Gladney,

&c. The daughter, Margaret, married the earl of Errol.

Alexander Robertson of Strowan died in, or shortly prior to,

1507, and was succeeded by his gi-andson, William. This chief

liad some dispute with the earl of AthoU concerning the marches

of their estates, and was killed by a party of the earl's follow-

ers, in l.')30. Taking advantage of a wadset or mortgage

which he held over the lands of Strowan, the earl seized near-

ly the Inilf of the family estate, which the Robertsons could

never again recover. William's son, Robert, had 2 sons, Wil-

liam, who died without issue, and Donald, who succeeded him.

Robert, the son of Donald, was the tenth laird of Strowan.

He sold a considerable part of the estate, but the sale was

reduced by a decreet of recognition, and a grant thereof given

to John Robertson, merchant in Edinburgh, a near relation

of the family. The latter got a charter under the great seal,

dated Aug. 7, 1G06, but he reconveyed the same, under a

strict entail, to the said Robert Robertson of Strowan, and his

heirs male. This Robert, by his wife, a daughter of Macdo-
nald of ICeppoclr, had 4 sons and 1 daughter, who married

Macintosh of Strone. The sons were, Alexander, Donald,

tutor of Strowan, Duncan il/or of Drnmachnne, and James.

The eldest son, .'Alexander, married .-i daughter of Graham

of Inchhraikie, and died in 1636, leaving an infant son, Al-

exander, in whose minority the government of the clan de-

volved upon Ills uncle, Donald. Devoted to the cause of

Charles I., the latter raised a regiment of his name and

followers, and was with the marquis of Montrose in all his

battles. Montrose's commission to liim as colonel of his

regiment is dated June 10, 1046. From Jlontrose, from

Charles II. in his exile, and from General Miduleton and

others, he received several letters which are still preserved.

After the Restoration, the king settled a pension upon him.

His nephew, Alexander Robertson of Strowan, was seiTed

heir to nine of his predecessors, 22d February, 1681, namely,

up to the Duncan de Atholia designed Dominus de Rannoch

before mentioned. He was twice married, but his son, Ro-

bert, by his first wife, a daughter of Dnimmoud of JIachany,

predeceased him. By his second wife, JIarion, daughter of

General BaiUie of Letham, he had two sons and one daugh-

ter, and died in 1688. Duncan, the 2d son by the 2d mar-

riage, served iu Russia, with distinction, under Peter the Great.

Alexander, the elder son of the second marriage, was the

celebrated Jacobite chief and poet. Born about 1670, he

was destined for the church, and sent to the univers ty of St.

Andrews; but his father and brother by the first marriage

dying within a few months of each other, he succeeded to the

family estate and the chiefship in 1688. Soon after, he

jnined the Viscount Dundee, when he appeared in arms iu

the Highlands for the cause of King James, but though he

does not appear to have been at Killiecrankie, and was still

under age, he was, for Lis share in this rising, attainted by

a decreet of parliament in absence in 1690, and his estates

forfeited to the crown. He retired, in consequence, to the

court of the exiled monarch at St. Germains, where he lived

for several years, .and served one or two campaigns in the

French army. In 1703, Queen Anne granted him a remis-

sion, when he returned to Scotland, and resided unmolested

on his estates, but neglecting to get the remission passed

the seals, the forfeiture of 1690 was never legally repealed.

With about 500 of his clan he joined the earl of JIar in 1715,

and was taken prisoner at the battle of Sheriffmuir, but res-

cued. Soon after, however, he fell into the hands of a party

of soldiers in the Highlands, and was ordered to be conduct-

ed to Edinburgh, but, with the assistance of his sister, he

contrived to escape on the way, when he again took refuge in

France. In 1723, the estate of Strowan was granted by the

government to Margaret, the chief's sister, by a charter un-

der the great seal, and in 1726 she disponed the same in

trust for the behoof of her brother, substituting, iu the event

of his death without lawful heirs of his body, Duncan, son of

Alexander Robertson of Drumachune, her father's cousin, and

the next lawful heir male of the family. JIargaret died un-

married in 1727. Her brother had returned to Scotland the

previous year, and obtaining in 1731 a remission for his life,

took possession of his estate. In 1745 he once more "mar-

shalled his clan" in behalf of the Stuarts, but his age pre-

venting him from personally taking any active part in the

rebellion, his name was passed over in tlie list of prescrip-

tions that followed. He died in his own house of Carle in

Rannoch, April 18, 1749, in his 81st year, without lawful

issue, and in him ended the direct male line. A volume of

his poems was published .after his death. An edition was

reprinted at Edinburgh in 1785, 12mo, containing also the

'History and Martial Achievements of the Robertsons of

Strowan.' He is said to have formed the prototype of the

Baron of Bradwardirie in Waverley.

The portion of the original estate of Strowan which remain-

ed, devolved upon Duncan Robertson of Drumachune, a pro-
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perty wliich liis greiit-grandfatlier, Duiuvm .l/or, (wlio died

iii 16S7,) brother o!' Donald tlie tutor, had acquired from tlie

Atholl family. As, liowever, his name was not included in

the hist act of indemnity passed by tlie government, he was

dispossessed of the estate in 1752, when he and his family

retired to France. His son. Colonel Alexander Roberlson,

obtained a restitution of Strowan in 1784, and died, unmarried,

in 1822. Duncan Jfor's second sun, Donald, had a son,

called Robert Bane, whose grandson, Ale.iander Kobertson,

now succeeded to the est;ite.

The son of the latter. Major-general George Duncan Kob-

ertson of Strowan, C.I5., passed upwards of thirty years in

active service, and received the cross of the Imperial Austrian

order of Leopold. He was succeeded by liis son, George

Duncan Robertson, born 2Cth July 1816, at one time an offi-

cer in tlie 42d Higlilaiiders.

Tlie force which the Robertsons could bring into the field

was estimated at 800 in 1715, and 700 in 1745. The prin-

cipal seat of Robertson of Strowan was formerly the castle of

Jnvervaclc; it is now Jlount Ale.xander in Rannoch. The

badge of the clan is the fern or bracken.

Of the branches of the family, the Robertsons of Lude in

lihiir-Athol are the oldest, being of contemporary antiquity

to that of Strowan.

Patrick de Atliolia, eldest .son of the 2d marriage of Dun-

can de Atholia, received from his father, at bis death, about

1358, the lands of I.ude. He is mentioned in 1391, by Wyii-

tnun (Book ii. p. 3G7) as one of the chieftains and leaders of

the clan. He had, with a daugliter, married to Donald, son

of Farquliar, ancestor of the Farquharsons of Invercauld, 2

sons, Donald and Alexander. The latter, known by the

name of liua or Red, from the colour of his hair, acquired

the estate of Sfrathlocli, for ivhich he had a charter from

.laines 11. in 1151, and was ancestor of the Robertsons of

Stratliliicli, I'erlli.shire. His descendants were called the

llanins l!ua. The last male heir of the family was General

John lieid, who left his large fortune to found a music

chair in the university of Edinburgh (see page 334 of this

volume).

Donald, the elder son, succeeded his father. He rpsigned

bis lands of Lude into the king's hands on Feb. 7, 1447, but

died before he could receive bis iiifeftment. He had two

sons : John, who got the charter under the great seal, dated

March 31, 1448, erecting the lands of Lude into a barony,

proceeding on his father's resignation ; and Donald, who got

as his patrimony the lauds of Strathgarry. This branch of

Lude ended in an heiress, who married an illegitimate son of

Stewart of Invermeath. About 1700, Strathgarry was sold

to another family of the name of Stewart.

Bv his wife, Margaret, daughter of Sir John Druinmond,

ancestor of the earls of Perth, John Robertson of Lude had

two sons, Donald, his .successor, and John, ancestor of the

Robertsons of Guay. " Robertson of Guay " jidned the in-

suigents in 1715, was taken prisoner, and confined in New-

gate in 1710. when the estate was forfeited.

Donald, the elder son, the next laird of Lude, died in 147G.

Charles, his son, imirried Lilias, daughter of Sir John La-

mont of L.amont, chief of the n.ame. This lady brought with

her a curious old harp, called the " Lamont Harp," which

has been in the possession of the family for several centuries,

and is mentioned in Gunn's historic.il work on the Perform-

ance of the Harp. He had a son, Jidm, called iM'Cliariick,

son of Charles, and a daughter, ^^uion, who married Alex-

ander Red, eldest son of Alexander Red of Strathloch.

The son, John M'Charlick, also called Tarloson, married

Margaret, daughter of Sir James Ogilvie of Inchmartiii, of

the family of Findlater.

His son, also named John, succeeded while still a minor,

and was afterwards induced, by his mother and lier brother. Sir

Patrick Ogiivy of Inchmartin, to resign the barony of Lude in

favour of the latter, reserving his liferent. The estate was not

entirely recovered from the Ogilvies till the time of his grand-

son, and then only by the payment of a Large sum of money.

In 15G3, Queen JIary presented John's wife, Beatri.'c Gardyn,

widow of Fiiila iMore, ancestor of the Farquharsons of Inver-

cauld, witli her own harp, which has been carefully pre-

served as a family heirloom. (See Gunn's work, as above.)

John had, with one daughter, Jhiijory, married to Farquhar-

son of Invercauld, 2 sons; Alexander, and John, of j\Ionzie.

Alexander, the elder son, the first of the family who ceased

to add the Christian n.ame of his father to that of Robertson,

the family surname, w.as .served heir in 15G5. He married

.•\gnes, daughter of Alexander Gordon of Abergeldie, and
died ill 1615. With 5 daughters he li.ad 3 sons. 1. Alexan-

der, his successor. 2. Donald, who got from his father the

lands of Kincraigie, and was ancestor of that family. 3.

.lohn, who got the lands of Inver. The latter, with his bro-

ther, Donald, greatly assisted Montrose in bringing the

Atholl men to the royal standard in 1644. By iMuntrose,

Jidm of Inver was made captain and keeper of Blair Castle.

Numerous letters to him from the great marquis are printed

in Napier's Memoirs of Jlontrose. His son, Donald, acquired

the estate of Tullybelton, and from liiin descends, in a

direct line, JIajor-general Richardson Robertson, C.B., of

Tullybelton, Perthshire (1862). Isabel, 3d daughter of Alex-

ander Robertson of Lude, married Alexander Forbes of Newe.

The eldest son, Alexander, a zealous protestant, assisted,

in 1627, in raising 3,000 men fur the service of Gustavus

.•\doli)hus, king of Sweden. He married Beatrix, daughter

of George Graham of Inclibraco, now luchbraikie, and had,

with a daughter, 2 sons, Alexander, liis successor, and Jolm,

of Fowli,'-, afterwards tutor of Lude. He died, suddenly, in

1639, at Dulcaben, the seat of the earl of Portinore.

The elder son, Alexander, was a minor at his father's

death, and his uncle, Patrick Graham of Inchbraikie, known
as " Black Pate," became his guardian, .and commanded the

Atholl Highlanders under Montrose. Though quite a youth,

Alexander Robertson of Lude also joined iloiitiote, in

" Highland weed," and was with hiin at Tippermuir. His

house was burned by Cromwell's troops, and a fine levied on

the estate. He died in 1673. He was three times married.

By his 1st wife, Jean, daugliter of Sir Alexander Jleiizies of

that ilk, he had a daughter, wife of Alexander Robertson of

F.a.skally. By his 2d wife he had no issue. By his 3d wife,

Catherine, sister of the first earl of Breadalbane, he had 3

sons and a daughter.

His eldest son, John, in 17IG, gave up part of bis lands to

save the life of a brother who was taken prisoner for having

been engaged in the cause of the Stuarts.

He was succeeded by his only son, also John, served heir

in Nov. 1730 He was only a few years in possession, and at

his death left 2 sons and a daughter.

His eldest son, .James, succeeded wlien only 4 years old,

and was served heir to his father in 1758. He m. his cousin-

geriiian, Margaret Mercer of Aldie, eldest daughter of Hon.

Robert Nairiie and Jean Mercer, heiress of the ancient family

of Aldie and Meikleour, in the counties of Kinross and Perth

(see Si.'prLiCMEN'T), and had 6 sons, of whom five entered

ihc army, two were killed in actions, one at Seringapatam,

and the other in India, and one died in the West Indies. Ha

himself died in 1802. This hdrd was G2 years in possession.
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He was succeeded by liis eldest son, General William

Kobertson of Luiie. This gallant officer entered the army at

15 years of age, served in the American war, and in Holland,

and also at the taking of St. I.ucia, and several of the West

India Islands. In 1794 he raised a rer;iment of infantry

called the Perthshire Fencibles, and in 180i a corps nf volun-

teers. In 1805 he accompanied the expedition to the coast

of Spain under Sir.Tames JIurray Pulteney, was subsequently

appointed to the staff" in Scotland, and served in that capa-

city, as a commanding officer in the Channel Islands and in

various districts in England, until tlie end of 1813, when he

was promoted to the rank of lieutenant-general. He m., 1st,

Jlargaret, eldest daughter of George Haldane of Gleneagles,

Pertlishire (represented by the earl of Caniperdown), and

Hon. Margaret Drumniond, eldest daughter of James, viscount

of Strathallan
;

issue, 2 sons, of whom the younger died in

1814, at a very early age. General Kobertson married, 2uly,

Miss Menzies of Guldares ; without issue.

His eldest son, Colonel James Alexander Robertson, for-

merly of the 82d regiment, is now tlie representative of the

family. In I860 he printed, for private circulation, an ac-

count of the ' Comitatus de Atholia, the Earldom of Atholl.

Its boundaries stated. Also, the extent therein of the Pos-

sessions of the family of De Atholia, and their Descendants,

the Robertsons. With Proofs and a Map.' The estate was
sold, in 1821, to a gentleman of the n.ame of MTnroy.

The Robertsons of lushes, Inverness-shire, are descended

from Duncan, second son of Duncan de Atholia, dominus de

llanarjh, above mentioned. One of this family, John Robert-

son, burgess of Inverness, called, from his great strength and

courage, " Stalwart John," was standard-bearer to Lord Lovat

at the battle of Loch-Locliy in 1544. From William, his

third son, sprung the Robertsons of Kindeace, Ross-shire,

which branched off" about 1544, and from James, William's

younger brother, came the Robertsons of Shipland. Another

of the family, William Robertson, the second styled of Inslies,

was bred to the law, and studied at Leyden with the cele-

brated Sir George Mackenzie of Rosehaugh. He was em-

ployed in several confidential political negotiations by the

government of his time. A letter from him to the duke of

Hamilton, led, it is stated, to the terms of Union.

Arthur John Robertson of lushes, the filth in descent from

him, possesses in Upper Canada and the United States an

extensive territory, derived through marriage with a Canadian

lady, his first wife. By her he had two sons and two daugh-

ters. Arthur JIasterton, the elder son, was born January

9, 1826; Thomas Gilzean, the 2d son, in 1827. By a second

marriage he had a daughter. His estates in Upper Canada

are held under a singular old original grant, signed by the

hieroglyphics of 18 Indian chiefs, March 15, 1796, and cer-

tified officially May 12, 1797. Captain A. Robertson, 4th

dragoon guards, is the son of Robertson of Inshes.

The Robertsons of Kindeace descend from William Robert-

son, 3d son of John, ancestor of the Robertsons of Inshes, by

his wife, a daughter of Fearn of Pitcullen. He obtained from

his father, in patrimony, several lands about Inverness, and

h.aving acquired great riches .as a merchant, purchased, in

1G15, the lands of Orkney, Nairnshire, and in 1639, those of

Kindeace, Ross-shire; the latter becondng the chief title of

the family.

Charles Robertson, Esq. of Kindeace, Greenyards, .and

Glencabre, born July 2G, 1790, lieutenant-colonel in the army,

formerly in the 78th and 96th regiments; a justice of the

peace and deputy lieutenant of Ross-shire; succeeded his

father in 1844; married, in 1816, Helen, 4th d.aughter and

co-heir of Patrick Cruiksliank, Esq. of Stracathro, Forfar-

shire, issue, William Cruiksliank, born May 17, 1817, two

other sons and two daughters.

The family of Robertson of Auchleeks, Perthshire, descend

from James Robertson of Calvine, 2d son of the 5th baron of

Strowan, who died in 1505, Donald, the first of Auchleeks,

being his 2d son.

Charles, .an ancestor of this family, called Charlich nan

dead, that is, " Charles of the Strings,'' from his great skill

as a hai-per, married Beatrix Bobertson, of the family of I.iide.

In 1661 Duncan Robertson of Auchleeks was a commis-

sioner of supply for Pei-thshire.

In 1821 Duncan Robertson of Auchleeks sold the estate to

his cousin, Robert Robertson, 9th proprietor, born Feli. 7,

1777. In 1827 this gentleman purchased the estate of Mem-
bland, Devonshire. In 1836 he was high sheriff" of Devon.

A justice of the peace and deputy lieutenant. He married,

in 1816, Bridget, daughter of George Atkinson, Esq. of Tem-
ple Sowerby, Y/estmoreland; issue, 5 sons and 6 daughters.

The Robertsons of Kinlochmoidart, Inverness-shire, are

descended from John Robertson of Muirton, Elginshire, 2d

son of Alexander Robertson of Strowan, by his wife, Lady

Elizabeth, daughter of the earl of Atholl.

The fifth in succession, the Rev. William Robertson, one of

the ministers of Edinburgh, was father of Principal Robert-

son, a memoir of whom follows, and of Mary, who married

the Rev. James Syme, and had an only child, Eleonora,

mother of Henry, Lord Brougham. The principal had three

sons and two daughters.

David, the eldest son, born in 1764, a lieutenant-colonel in

the army, raised the first Jlalay regiment in Ceylon. He
married, in 1799, Margaret Macdonald of Kinlochmoidart,

sister and heiress of Lieutenant-Colonel Donald JIacdon.'dd,

governor of Tobago, and assumed the name of JIacdonald.

By her, he had 3 sons, and was succeeded by his eldest son,

William, of whom below.

William, the second son of Principal Robertson, was a

judge of the court of session. Born in December 1754, he

passed advocate in 1775. In 1779 he was chosen procurator

of the Church of Scotland, and in 1805 was appointed a lord

of session, when he took the title of Lord Robertson. He

retired from the bench in 1826, and died 20th Nov. 1835. He

was twice married, but left no children by either of his wives.

For James, the 3d son, and the two daughters of Principal

Robertson, see end of the memoir of the Priiicipal's life, page

351, 2^ost.

William Robertson of Kinlochmoidart, born May 26, 1802,

the eldest son of Col. David Robertson, married, in 1828,

Sarah Ad.-ims, daughter of James Beck, Esq. of Prior's Hard-

wick, Warwickshire, issue 3 sons. William James, the eld-

est, born June 10, 1829, married, in 1857, a daughter of

Frederick Sydney Crawley, Esq.

The Robertsons of Ladykirk, Berwickshire, descend from a

branch of the Robertsons of Strowan. David Marjoribanks,

youngest son of Sir John Marjoribanks of Lees, Bart., mar-

ried in 1834, Mary Sarah, eldest daughter of Sir Thomas

Haggerston, Bart, of Ellingham, Northumberland, and co-

heir of her mother Margaret, only child and heir of William

Robertson of Ladykirk, with issue, .and assumed the name of

Robertson, on succeeding to the estates of his wife's maternal

grandfather. Born April 2, 1797, elected M.P. for Berwick-

shire in May 1859.
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Tlie lainily of RdDKitisoN-GLASGOW of Mnuntgi-eenan,

Avrsliire, tnniitioiially claims descent frain the RDbfrtsons of

Strowan, I'ertlisliire, anil in tlie female line, represents the

Setons of JIunkmylne, Iladdin^tonsliirc, lineally descended

from Sir Clirl.stoplu'r Seton and Cliiistian linice, sister of

Kohert I.

In IG'2-I, William Robertson pm-cliased from Alexander

Meirns certain lands and lieritaf;es in tlie parish of ICye-

nioutli, Berwickshire. Trying in 163S, lie was sncceeded by

i his eldest son, ,Iolm Robertson. The latter died before 16G8.

His eldest son died previous to Sept. 10, 1GS6. His son,

William, married Margaret Seton, heiress of Robert Seton of

Monkmylne, and was, in conseqnence, designated of that

place. His sister, Margaret, married Andrew Home of Fair-

neyside, and had an only daughter, Elizabeth, of Fairneyside.

William Robertson of Morikmyliie died in 17'20. He had

two sons, William, who succeeded him, and Robert, of whom
al'terwards, and a daugliter, Isabella, wife of William Gramme,

Ksq. of Jordanstown.

The elder son of Willinni Robertson of Jlonkmvlne, also

named William, died, without issue, Aug. 7, 1738.

He was succeeded by his brother, Robert Robertson of

Prenderguest and Brownsbank, born Nov. 4, 1713, married,

1st, in 1743, Margan t, daughter of Rev. George Hume of

(^liirnside, '2d son of Alexander Hume of ICennetsidehead, one

of the martyrs of the Covenant. (See vol. ii. p. 501.) This

lady was cousin-germaii of David Hume, the historian. He
married, 2dly, in 17GI, Anne Martin of Headrigg, Berwick-

shire, and 3dly, in 1778, his cousin-german, Elizabeth Home
of Fairneyside. (See IlnMl'.s of Kiinmcrghame and Redhaugli,

vol. ii. p. 485.) He died .July 30, 1788, having had issue only

by his first wife, 2 sons, Alexander, born in 1748, and Wil-

liam Robert, of Eyemouth, born in 17GI, died July 7, 1833.

' The latter married in 1801 Margaret, daughter of John Ja-

meson, Esq., sheriff-clerk of Clackmannanshire, issue, 3 sons

and 6 daughters. Sons, 1. Robert, born in 1802, p.-issed ad-

I vocate in 1823; .sheriff-substitute of Stirlingshire; married,

in 1827, Alicia Catherine, eldest daughter of Rev. Charles

Eustace of Robertstown, co. Kildare, heir-uiale and repre-

scnt.itive of the ancient viscounts of Baltinglass, issue, 2 sons

I and 2 daughters. 2. .lohn James, of Gledswood, co. Dnb-

I

!in, born in 1804, issue, 4 sons and 3 daughters. 3. Rev.

William, minister of New Grayfriars parish, Edinburgh, born

in 1805, married, in 1834, Georgiana Toucliet, daughter of

.John Cossins, ICsq. of Weymouth, by his wife, Hon. Eliza-

beth Susanna, a daughter of George, 18th Lord Audley, is-

sue, 4 sous and a daughter. Jean, the 3d daughter of Robert

Robertson of Prenderguest and lirownsbank, married Thomas

Potts, E.sq., grandson maternally of Haig of Bemersyde (see

vol. ii. p. 397), issue, a sou, Thomas, of the Daison, Tor-

quay, Devonshire.

Alexander Robertson of Prenderguest, the elder son of

Robert Robertson of Prenderguest and Brownsbank, died in

1804.

The eldest of his six .sons, Robert Robertson of Prender-

guest, Brownsbank, and Gunsgrcen, married, in 1804, Aune,

daughter of Robert Glasgow, Esq. of Mouiitgreenan, Ayr-

shire, and having thereby acquired that estate, and also the

property of Glenarback, Duiiibartonshiro, he assnmcd the

name of Glasgow only. Ho died January 27, 1845.

He was succeeded by his only surviving son. Robert Ro-

bertson-Glasgow of Mouiitgreenan, born in 1811, died Sept.

20, 18G0. By his wife, Mary Wilhelinina, daughter of John

Campbell, Esq. of Stouelield, Argyleshire, he had two sous

and a daughter.

His cider son, Robert Bince Robertson- Glasgow, born

April 3, 1842, succeeded ; an ensign in the 27lh reg. of foot.

Another judge (see p. 348), who assumed the title of Lord
Robertson, was Patrick Robertson, the sou of James Robert-

son, writer to the signet. Born iu Edinburgh in 1794. lie

passed advocate in 1815, and the clearness of his intellect,

with the readiness and versatility of his powers, enabled liiin

in a short time to attain considerable practice both in the

court of .se.s.sion and at the b.ar of the General Assemblv of

the Church of Scotland. His real strength lay in his pov.-crs

of wit .ind humour, united with acute perception and know-
ledge of human nature. In sheer power of ridicule no one

approached him, and his convivial and social qu.alities were
of the highest order. He was croupier at the famous Edin-
burgh Theatrieal Fund dinner in 1827, when Sir Walter

Scott .announced himself the author of Waverley, and took

his seat as chairman after Scott had left the room. In No-
vember 1842, Jlr. Robertson was chosen dean of the facultv

of advocates, and a year afterwards, on the resignation of

Lord Meadowbank, he was promoted to the bench. In 1845
he astonished the literary world by the publication, at Lon-
don, of a volume entitled ' Leaves from a Journ.al, and other

Fragments, in Verse,' 8vo ; and in 1847 appeared his 'Gleams
of Thought, reflected from the writings of Milton ; Sonnets

.and other Poems,' Edinburgh, 8vo. In 1848 he was elected

by the students lord rector of .Marisclial college and university

of Aberdeen, and in 1849 he published ' Sonnets, Reflective

and Descriptive, and other Poems,' Edinburgh, 8vo. As a
poet his attainments were not nearly so brilliant as were

those he possessed as a lawyer and a judge. Lord Robertson

died suddenly by a stroke of apoplexv, .TanuarvlO, 1855.

In Lockhart's Life of Sir Walter Scott there will be found

various interesting notices of his lordship.

nOBERTSOX, AViLLiAM, D.D., a di.stingui.slicd

liistofian, tlic son of tlic llev. Willinm Robertson,

mini.stcr of Bortlnvick, in ]\Iid-Lotliian, was bora

in tlie manse of tliat parisli, in 1721. His mother

was Eleanor Pitcairn, daughter of David Pitcairn,

Esq. of Drcghorn, and by liis father's side lie was

descended from tlie Robertsons of Gladney in
!

Fifesliire, a branch of the Robertsons of Striian.
[

He received tlie first rudiments of his education at
j

the scliool of Dalkeith, under 'My. Leslie, then a

teacher of high reputation. His father liaving

Iiecii appointed minister of the Old Greyfriars'

church, Edinburgh, lie removed, in l?.".", wilh the

family to tliat city, and towards the close of the

same year he entered on his course of academical

.study at the university there. From this period

until 1759, when the iiublication of liis ' History

of Scotland' commenced a new era in the literary

annals of his country, the habits and occurrences

of his life offer but few materials for biograpliy.

In 1741, he was licensed to preach by the pres-

bytery of Dalkeith; and, in 1713, lie was pre-

sented by the carl of Hopetouii to the living of

Gladsmuir, in East Lothian. Xot long after, his I
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father and mother died, within a few lioiirs of

each other, leaving six daughters, and a younger

son, Mr. Patrick Robertson, afterwards a jewel-

ler in Edinburgh, almost entirely dependent on

him for subsistence. Though his stipend was

small, not exceeding sixty pounds a-year, he at

once took his father's family to Gladsmuir, and

continued to educate and support his sisters until

tliey were all respectably settled in the world.

One of them, Mrs. Sj'me, Avas the grandmother of

Henrj' Lord Brougham.

On the breaking out of the rebellion of 17-15,

he was induced, by the critical circumstances of

the times, to lay aside his clerical character, and

hasten to Edinburgh, whei'e he joined the volun-

teers collected for the defence of tlie city. When,

liowever, it was resolved to surrender the capital

to the Highlanders, he was one of a small band

who repaired to Haddington and offered their ser-

vices to General Cope, who declined receiving

them, on account of their not being properly dis-

ciplined. He then returned to the duties of his

parish, by the faithful discharge of which he in

a short time acquired the veneration and attach-

ment of his people. He also soon became distin-

guished for his eloquence and good taste as a

preacher, and made himself known as a powerful

speaker in the General Assembly of the Church of

Scotland. His great talents for public business

soon obtained for him an ascendency in ecclesias-

tical matters, and he was for a long time the

leader of the Moderate part}' in the church. In

1757 he ably defended his friend Mr. Home, the

author of the tragedy of 'Douglas,' in the pro-

ceedings adopted against him in the church courts,

and contributed greatly, by his persuasive elo-

quence, to the mildness of that sentence in which

the prosecution at last terminated.

The earliest of Di'. Robertson's publications

was a Sermon preached in 1755 before the Society

for Propagating Christian Knowledge. This ser-

mon, the only one he ever published, passed

through several editions, and was translated into

the German language. In 1758 he received a

call to the cliarge of Lady Tester's clinrch, Edin-

burgh, to wliich he was translated the same year.

In February 1759 he published at London his

' History of Scotland, during the Reigns of Queen

Mary and James VI.,' in two vols. Ito, which

was received with such general approbation, that,

before tlie end of the month, he was desired by

his publisher to prepare for a second edition. He
is said to h.ave cleared by this work £600 ; and

he was gratified by receiving congratulatory let-

ters from the most eminent men of the time

;

among others, from David Hume, between whom
and Dr. Robertson, notwithstanding religious and

political differences, an uninterrupted friendship

was maintained through life.

From this period the whole complexion of his

fortunes was changed. Tlie distinction which he

acquired by the publication of his ' History of

Scotland' led to his immediate preferment. In

the same year lie was appointed chaplain of Stir-

ling castle, and in the following year one of

the king's chaplains for Scotland. In 1761, on

the death of Principal Goldie, he was elected

principal of the university of Edinburgh, and

translated to the Greyfriars' churcli. Two years

afterwards the ofiBce of historiographer for Scot-

land was revived, and conferred upon him by the

king, with a salary of £200 per annum.

In 1769 appeared his 'History of the Reign of

Charles V.,' in three vols. 4to, Avhich fully main-

tained and extended his already high reputation.

For the copyright of this work he received no less

than £4,500, the largest sum then known to have

ever been paid for a single book. It was trans-

lated into French by M. Suard, afterwards an

eminent member of the French Academy. In

1777 he published, in two volumes 4to, his ' His-

tory of America,' which was received with the

same success as his former works. On its publi-

cation he was elected, August 8, 1777, an hono-

rary member of the royal academy of history at

Madrid, one of its members being at the same

time appointed to translate the work into Spanisli

;

an undertaking, however, which was interdicted

by tlie Spanish government. In 1780 Dr. Robert-

son retired from the business of the Church courts,

but still continued his pastoral duties. In 1781

he was elected one of the foreign members of the

academy of sciences at Padua, and in 1783 one of

the foreign members of the imperial academy of

sciences at St. Petersburg. His last work came

out in 1791, in quarto, under the title of 'Ilisto-
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I'ical Disquisition concerning tlie Knowledge which

the Ancients liad of India, iind the Progress of

Trade witli tljat Country, prior to tlie Discovery

of tlie Cape of Good Hope;' which took its rise,

as he himself informs us, from the perusal of Ma-

jor Rennell's IMemoir for illustrating his iNIap of

Ilindostan. It was commenced in the G8th year

of his age, and conchuled in less than a twelve-

month.

Towards the end of 1791, Dr. Robertson's

health began to decline. Strong symptoms of

jaundice suddenly displayed themselves, and laid

the foundation of a lingering and fatal illness; in

the concluding stage of which lie removed to

Grange House, in the neigliboui'liood of Edin-

burgh, for the advantage of the free air and se-

questered scenes of the country. While he was

able to walk abroad, he usually passed a part of

the day in a small garden, enjoying the simple

gratifications which it afl'orded with all his wonted

relish. He died June 11, 1793, in the scvcnty-

lirst year of his age. His portrait is subjoined :

He married, in 1751, his cousin ]\Iary, daughter

of the Rev. ]\Ir. Nisbet, one of the ministers of

Edinburgh, and left tliree sons and two daughters.

The eldest son was bred to the law, and became a

lord of session. (See p. 324.) The two younger

sons entered the army ; one of them. Lieutenant-

general James Robertson, distinguished himself

under Lord Cornwallis in India ; and the other,

having married the heiress of Kinloch-]Moidart, re-

tired to reside almost entirely on his estate. His

elder daughter married Patrick Brydone, Esq. of

Lcnnel House, author of ' A Tour through Sicily

and Malta;' and the younger became the wife

of John Russell, Esq., writer to the signet.

ROBERTSON, John Parish, an enterprising

South American merchant, was born either at

Kelso or Edinburgh, in the year 1792, and

educated at tlie grammar school of Dalkeitli.

His father was at one time assistant-secretary

to the Bank of Scotland in Edinburgh, and

his mother, Juliet Parish, was the daughter of an

eminent Hamburgh merchant of Scottish extrac-

tion. While he was still a bo}% his father was

obliged, on account of bad health, to resign his

situation in the bank, and enter a commercial

house at Glasgow. In 180G, on tlie news reach-

ing England of a British force, under General,

afterwards Viscount Beresford, having sailed up

the river Plate and taken the city of Buenos

Ayres, young Robertson, then fourteen years of

age, became anxious, like other ardent youths, to

go out to South America to push liis fortune there.

Accordingly, in December of that yeav, he sailed

from Greenock in a fine ship called the Enter-

prise, commanded by Captain Graham. After a

voyage of three months they reached the mouth

of the river Plate, where they were hailed by a

British ship of war, and informed that the Span-

iards had regiiined possession of Buenos Ayres

and made Beresford and his army prisoners. An

expedition, under Sir Samuel Auchmuty, was,

however, investing JIonte-Yideo, and Captain

Graham was directed to proceed with his ship to

the roadstead of the besieged city, and there to

place himself under the orders of the British ad-

miral. The Enterprise soon took its station off

Monte-Yideo, among hundreds of ships similarly

situated, and those on board of them were eye-

witnesses of the bombardment of that city. 'NMicn

it had been taken, after an obstinate resistance,

by assault, young Robertson and the rest of the

passengers in the different ships landed and found
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our troops in complete possession of the place.

" 111 a week or two," he says, ' the more promi-

nent ravages of war disappeared, and in a month

after the capture, the inhabitants were getting as

much confidence in their invaders as could possi-

bly be expected, in the altered relative position in

M'hich they stood to each other."

During the voyage from Scotland he had made

himself pretty well master of the principles of the

Spanish language
;

and, by hourly intercourse

with the natives of Monte-Video, he soon ac-

quired tolerable fluency in speaking it. He was

invited into society ; and availed himself of everj'

opportunity of obtaining a knowledge of the hab-

its and manners of the people. He was in IVIonte-

Video when General Whitelock arrived from Eng-

land with 8,000 men, to supersede Sir Samuel

Auchmuty and attempt the recapture of Buenos

Ayres. AVhitelock's attack on that city was re-

pulsed, and his expeditionary force totally de-

feated. By the disgraceful capitulation which he

then entered into, Buenos Ayres Avas abandoned,

and Monte-Video restored to Spain, while the

British residents and the remains of the army

were "permitted" to leave the country. In a

few days the whole fleet, consisting of two hun-

dred and fifty ships, sailed out of the river Plate,

and the youth Robertson was obliged, among

hundreds of ruined and disappointed merchants

and speculators, to return to Britain.

After a sojourn at home of only a few months

he once more turned his thoughts to South Amer-

ica, an intercourse having been opened up with

Brazil, in consequence of the emigration of the

royal family of Portugal to Rio de Janeiro ; and

he sailed in the Ajax for that capital, arriving

there on the 8th October 1808.

He did not long remain in Rio, as lie liked nei-

ther the climate nor the people, and the succes-

sion of political events having once more opened

up a free intercourse with the river Plate, he

availed himself of a favourable ofler made to him

to proceed to Buenos Ayres. At the latter place

he was introduced to the viceroy. General Liniers,

the conqueror of General Whitelock. After re-

maining upwards of two years at Buenos Ayres, he

undertook a mercantile expedition to the isolated

province of Paraguay, then but little known. The

ship engaged for the purpose being equipped and

stored with all things necessary, commenced, in

December 1811, the laborious navigation of the

river Parana. Slie had twelve hundred miles al-

ternately to sail and warp, against a stream which

runs at the rate of three miles an hour, and as she

was not expected to make the passage in less

than three months, while the distance could be

performed on horseback in fifteen or sixteen days,

he determined to proceed by land. Attiring him-

self, therefore, in the travelling costume of a South

American, witii a huge straw-hat, and his carving

knife and pistols stuck in his girdle, he set off on

horseback, accompanied by his servant, Francisca,

a complete Gaucho and old post-rider, and a

guide, for the city of Assumption, called hy tlie

Spaniards Asuncion, the capital of Paraguay.

He was the first British subject who had ever

visited that countrj', except a Scottish seijeant, a

deserter from Beresford's army, whom he met

with in Assumption.

The cit}' of Assumption at this time contained

only about 10,000 inhabitants. In extent, archi-

tecture, convenience, or population, it did not rank

with a fifth-rate town in England. Its largest

buildings were the convents, and it took him nearly

a month to find a house large enough in which to

accommodate his limited establishment.

On the arrival of the ship with Mi: Robertson's

effects at Assumption, the government issued its

edicts, imposing on him certain fiscal restrictions

of a special and unusual nature. The whole

cargo, contrary to general practice, was sent to

the government stores
;

and, among other regu-

lations, it was not onlv ordered that he shoidd

take out but a limited amount of property at a

time, but that his supercargo, Gomez, should

be sworn to deliver in a monthly account of

his emplo3"er's whole transactions. Mr. Robert-

son was forbidden to export specie, or to im-

port more merchandise. Every package of' that

wliich he had brought was strictly examined,

before it was allowed to be convej-ed to his

own house. Double guards were put on board

the vessel, and all the precautions taken which

suspicion could suggest, but nothing was found

wrong. His transactions became extensive, bo'h

with the native merchants and with the cultiva-
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tors of produce. Tlie large amount of wealth whkli

lie coutrollod liruii;^iit, by degree.-;, the lusual coii-

comitants alteiuhint ui)Oii the lufliicnce of pro-

perty, lie paid large duties to the state. He

bccauie iutiniate with the assessor, Cerda, as well

as with the individual members of the govern-

ment, lie visited and was visited by them ; and

at length he was told that aUhough, in coini)li-

ance with the lingering jealousies of the people, it

was necessary to keep the existing decrees against

him as if in literal force, he might consider the

most obnoxious of them as virtually abolished.

In less than thrcM' months from the time of his

arrival lie tells us that he became popular among

all classes. Ho dealt liberally with the rich, gave

employment to the poor, and intermeddled not

either with iiolitics or religion. At this time he

was not twenty years of age.

His principal friend in the place was the asses-

sor, Don Gregorio de la Cerda, and, through his

good offices, he was offered and took possession of

spacious apartments in the country residence, at

Campo Grande, of an old lady of the name of

Dona Jiiana Ysquibel. Her nimicrons slaves and

horses, her whole lionsehold establishment in

short, with the ]iroduce other estate, were at his

command and disposal, and game of every kind

abounded within a few liundred yards of the

house. She was continually making him pres-

ents, and would accept of no refusal or return.

As he had declared himself fond of the plaintive

airs sung by the Paraguayans, especially when

accompanied by the guitar, the old lady, at this

time eighty-four years of age, straightway hired

a master of that instrument, and set herself to

learn how to play upon it. On his remonstrating

with her, on her strange conduct, she acknow-

ledged that it all proceeded through her intense

love for him, and at once made him an offer of

her hand and estate. He reasoned with her, and

protested that he must leave her house, unless she

solemnly promised to make him no more presents,

and no longer to talk of love or play the guitar,

and she reluctantly consented.

This incident is mentioned, as his residence at

Campo Grande was the means of his first inter-

view with Dr. Francia, then living in seclusion in

a neat and unpretending cottage in the ncighbour-

111.

hood. He had gone out shooting one evening,

and fired at a partridge, which at once fell to the

ground. A voice from behind called out " Buen

tiro"—"a good shot." He turned, and beheld a

gentleman whom he thus describes. He was

" about fifty years of age, dressed in a suit of

black, with a large scarlet capote, or cloak, thrown

over his shoulders. He had a mate-cup in one

hand, a cigar in the other, and a little urchin of a

negro, with his arms crossed, was in attendance

by the gentleman's side. The stranger's counte-

nance was dark, and his black cj-es were very

penetrating, while his jet hair, combed back from

a bold forehead, and hauling in natural ringlets

over his shoulders, gave him a dignified and strik-

ing air. He wore on his shoes large golden buc-

kles, and at the knees of his breeches the same."

This was the man who, wlien dictator of Para-

guay, afterwards became terrible, the sanguinary

despot. Dr. Jose Gaspar Rodriguez de Francia. Mi-.

Robertson apologised for having fired so close to his

residence, but he politely assured him that his house

and grounds were at his service, and he was wel-

come to amuse himself with his gun in that direc-

tion whenever he chose. He then invited Mr.

Robertson to sit down under the corridor, and

take a cigar and a cup of mate—the Faragu.ay tea.

In 1813, after a good deal of private intrigue,

Francia was recalled to power. No one thought

that the affairs of the country were safe in other

hands than his, or that anybody but he had suf-

ficient political sagacit}' to frame a treaty with a

foreign state. Buenos Ayrcs, in consequence of

the odium artfully excited against it by Franci.i,

began to be considered not onl}- as a foreign

power, but as one of which the policy was at di-

rect variance with the best interests of Paraguay.

Mora, one of the members of the junta, was civilly

dismissed. Don Gregorio de la Cerda, the as-

sessor, was arrested, and ordered to quit the coun-

try in eight days. Francia filled up the vacancies

thus created in the junta, by at once naming him-
j

self a member of it, and becoming its assessor.

On being informed of his friend Ccrda's arrest,

;\Ir. Robertson immediately Avaited upon Francia,

and requested to be allowed to visit him during

the eight days of his confinement, and to furnish

him with what assistance his comforts and wants

z
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required under the adverse circumstances wliicli

liad overtalicu liim. Francia gave liini permission

to do botli, saying that he did not consider Don

Gregorio as a formidable rival of liis. " Besides,"

lie added, " he is a Cordovez, and a charlatan

;

and the Paraguayans hate both. I think it pro-

per to send him out of the way, because he had

the impudence, on my leaving the government, to

take the assessorship of it, knowing that I both

hated and despised him. But go, in the mean-

time, and do what you will. Only let him be-

ware how he ever again sets foot in Paraguay."

On the first meeting of the congress of depu-

ties in Assumption called by Francia, he had the

art to obtain the rejection of all proposals for an

amicable intercourse with Buenos Ayres. Then,

one of his colleagues in the government, Cavalle-

ro, was dismissed, and Francia elected first con-

sul, with Yegros as second, for one year. This

was in October 1813. In the following October

Yegros retired from the government, in which lat-

terly he had taken no part, and Francia was de-

clared absolute dictator for three years. At the

expiration of that time he took care to have his

power confirmed for life. This extraordinary man

died at Assumption, 20th September 1840, at the

age of 83, retaining his dictatorship to the last.

In the spring of 1814, Mr. Robertson had been

joined by his brother from Edinburgh, Mr. Wil-

liam Parish Robertson, and having long meditated

a voyage to England, he resolved upon now put-

ting his design into execution. As, however, the

port of Assumption was closed against all egress,

in accordance with Francia's policy of non-inter-

course with the neighbouring provinces, and espe-

cially with Buenos Ayres, he sought and obtained

from that personage a special license to leave the

country. His motive for granting it was explain-

ed by Francia, in an interview with him, to be his

desire to effect an alliance, offensive and defen-

sive, with Great Britain. This, he thought, could

be accomplished through Mr. Robertson's good

ofBces, and for this purpose he furnished him with

several large packages of the productions of the

soil of Paraguay, witli some beautifully embroi-

dered cloth made from Paraguayan cotton, and,

in singular ignorance of diplomatic forms and cer-

emonies, as well as of the usages of the British

constitution, as soon as he got to London, he was

directed to present them and himself at the bar of

the House of Commons, and, in his name, request

that a treaty of commerce and political alliance

should be entered into between the two countries!

In ascending the Parana, his ship and cargo

were seized, and himself carried before a lawless

adventurer, named Artigas, the leader of numer-

ous bands of brigands, who made that part of

South America the theatre of continued civil war

and general depredation. This brutal marauder

was about to shoot him, Avhen his brother arrived,

and successfully interceded for him. He had pre-

viously been stripped of everything, even his linen,

by the soldiers of Artigas, and a soldier's old coat

thrown to him in place of all.

In 1815, he and his brother were compelled by

Francia to leave Paraguay. Mr. Robertson, accord-

inglj', sailed, with his property, for Buenos Ayres,

but, on his waj', stopped at Corrientes, whither

bis brother had preceded him. Although in a

state of continual alarm lest at any moment a

gang of Artigas' robbers should break in upon

him, IVIr. Robertson was induced to remain for

about a year at Corrientes, from the following

circumstance : He was sitting one evening under

the corridor of his house, when there came up to

him, on horseback, a tall, raw-boned, ferocious-

looking man, in Guacho attire, with two cavalry

pistols stuck iu his girdle, a sabre in a rusty steel

scabbard pending from a besmeared belt of half-

tanned leather, red whiskers and mustaches

;

unkempt, unwashed, and blistered to the eyes.

He wore a pair of plain ear-rings, a foraging cap,

a tattered poncho, blue jacket, with tarnished red

facings ; a large knife in a leathern sheath ; a pair

of potro boots and rusty iron spurs, with rowels

an inch and a half iu diameter. He was followed

by an attendant, Avhom he called Don Edwardo,

the very counterpart of himself, except that the

hair of the latter was jet black. He took them

for two of the most ferocious of Artigas' banditti,

and expecting them to be speedily followed by

others, he gave himself up for lost. This, how-

ever, proved a friend, one Peter Campbell, or Don

Pedro Campbell, as he was called there, one of

the many deserters from Beresford's army, who

had remained in the country after it had been
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evacuated by the British. lie liad been bred a

tanner in his yontli, and mailing his way to Cor-

rientcs, had got employment tliere in a large tan-

nery
;
but, when the revolution broke out, he of-

fered his services to Artigas, and, having per-

formed many daring exploits, he soon acquired

the confidence of tliat powerful chieftain, and at

this time held a command under him. llis fol-

lower, Don Edwardo, was like himself from Tip-

perary.

Campbell had previously seen Mi: Robertson

when a prisoner in the camp of Artigas, and on

his arrival at Corrieiitcs, he conceived a plan of

operations for their mutual benefit. "I know,"

he said, "you have the control of large properly

licre, and that you are endeavouring to convert it

into produce to take to Buenos Ayres
;
but, in the

present disturbed state of the countrj', you will

never get all you want till you employ my ser-

vices, and command my humble abilities. There

is not an ostanciero that has the courage to go to

his own estate, or to peep out of his own window,

or slaughter one of his own animals, unless he

knows that I am out to protect him ; nor is there

a gaucho amongst them who dares, knowing that

I am out on your business, to interfere with it.

Therefore, let me go out and scour the country

with your money, carried bj' Edwardo (ins fol-

lower), and I promise you that in a year the hides

of fifty thousand bullocks and one hundred thou-

sand horses shall be sent here or to Goya," (a

port, or inlet of the river Parana, 150 miles nearer

Buenos Ayres, where INIr. Robertson formed an

establishment). " I don't want much salary," he

continued ;
" I like the occupation. Give me

twelve hundred dollars a-ycar (about £250 ster-

ling), for myself and Edwardo, and I am your

man. I want nothing for my expenditure either

in food or horses : my friends are ever too happj^

to see me to admit of any remuneration for either."

After some consideration, this agreement was

entered into. Mone}' to a large amount was from

time to time advanced to this man, and he always

faithfully accounted for it. lie made manv' large

purchases of hides for the Robertsons, so that they

soon became not only the hide merehnnts but the

carriers of the province, and for the transport of

their merchandise, thc}^ put into operation three

of the best-appointed troops of waggons, drawn

by bullocks, that liad ever been seen in that part

of the world. The purchase and outfit of these

cost about £5,000, and they worked them at a

monthly expense of about £500. As the country

people returned to their abandoned and dilapidat-

ed farm-houses, Campbell and his men assisted

them in putting them and their corrales or pens

for cattle into proper repair, and, under his pro-

tection, they were not long in resuming their for-

mer occupations. With unwonted industry they

applied themselves to the furnishing the IMessrs.

Robertson with their produce, especially hides,

so that in a very short time, tlirougli Campbell's

energetic exertions and the enterprise and liberal-

ity of his employers, the province of Corrientes

was restored to active prosperity and to general

security of life and propertj'. After a year, how-

ever, the Robertsons were induced, by prudential

considerations, to wind up their business, and retire

to Buenos Ayres.

In 1S17 i\Ir. Robertson made a voyage to Scot-

land, at once to revisit his native country and esta-

blish more extensive and intimate relations with it,

leaving his brother and an English friend in charge

of matters in Buenos Ayres. He in due time set-

tled in Liverpool, for the purpose of forming connec-

tions there and at Manchester; to which he added

Glasgow, Paisley, and London. In the end of

1820 he sailed again for Buenos Ayres, but des-

tined for Chili and Peru. In those countries he

likewise effected settlements, and thus, as he

states, in the last of his ' Letters on South Amer-

ica,' their connection extended " from Paraguay

to Corrientes, from Corrientes to Santa Fc, from

Santa Fe to Buenos Ayres, and round Cape Horn,

and across the Andes, to Chili and Peru."

In the autumn of 1824 Mr. Robertson returned

to Scotland, landing at Greenock, whence he had

originally sailed to enter upon his active and pros-

perous career in South America. He brought with

him claims and assets to the value of £100,000, in

a ship chartered for his sole use, and bearing the

character of political agent and representative in

this country of several of the South American re-

publics. Soon after, he established himself in

London, in connection with some of the first mer-

chants there, and was prepared to carry on South
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American business with new spirit :intl new means,

when tlie wide-spread ruin of 1826 seriously in-

volved him, and he was compelled to return to

South America to attempt the recovery of some

part of his fortune. In this object, liowever, he

was unsuccessful, owing to the unsettled state of

the country. Even his estate of Monte Grande

was almost devastated by the savage followers of

the different political parties then contending for

power ; the trees on it being broken down for fire-

wood, and the walls of the gardens and houses

used as fortifications. In 1830 he returned to

England, comparatively an impoverished man.

Finding that he could not prosecute his usual

business avocations, till he had better prospects of

success, he quietly entered himself a student in

Corpus Christ! college, Cambridge, that he might

acquire some scholarship, in which he felt himself

very deficient. He was, at this time, approach-

ing forty years of age, nevertheless he pursued

his new studies with characteristic enthusiasm.

Though under the middle size, Mr. Robertson was

of a robust frame of body ; but in the course of

his adventurous career in South America he had

undergone much fatigue and hardship. While

still a youth he had made many long journeys on

horseback across the Pampas and the Cordilleras,

and in various other directions, in pursuit of busi-

ness objects. With his constitution thus severely

tried, three years' close application to studj', so

difi'erent from his former course of life, soon began

to affect his health, and he found it necessary to

retire from college sooner than he intended, and

seek for new vigour in a beautifully situated cot-

tage in the Isle of Wight.

Here, for about a year, he was chiefl}' occupied

with endeavours to obtain an arrangement of his

business affairs. In 1834 he returned to London,

where for some years more his pursuits were al-

most solely of a literary kind. In 1838, lie and

his brother published by subscription, at London,

a work entitled 'Letters on Paraguay
;
compris-

ing an account of a four years' residence in that

Republic, under the government of the dictator

Francia. By J. P. and W. P. Robertson.' 2

vols. 8vo. The}' subsequentlj' issued another

work of an equally interesting kind, bearing the

title of ' Francia's Reign of Terror.' Besides
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these two works, which supplied new and valua-

ble information on South America, as well as con-

tained a graphically written account of his own

adventures, INIr. Robertson contributed many
papers on similar subjects to the magazines, and

thus was enabled to realize some moderate gains.

In 1843 he and his brother published ' Letters on

South America; comprising Travels on the Banks

of the Parana and Rio de la Plata.' 3 vols. 8vo.

London. He is said to have contemplated a third

series of Letters on South America, but was pre-

vented by death from carrying his purpose into

execution. He died 1st November 1843, at Ca-

lais, whither he had gone for the benefit of a mild

climate. lie left a widow.

ROBISON, John, LL.D., a distinguished me-

chanical philosopher, was born at Boghall, Stir-

lingshire, in 1739. His father, of the same name,

a respectable merchant in Glasgow, had acquired

some fortune in business, and piu'chased the estate

of Boghall, v.'here he resided during the latter

period of his life. Young Robison received his

education at the grammar school and university of

Glasgow, and completed his academical studies

before he was ninteteen. He was originally in-

tended for the church, but early manifested a

peculiar predilection for the mathematical scien-

ces. In 1758 he went to London, with the view

of applying for the situation of mathematical in-

structor to the young duke of York, at that time

intended for the i\av}'; but being disappointed, as

his royal highness was not going to sea, he ac-

cepted the office of tutor to the son of Admiral

Knowles, who, as midshipman, was then about to

accompany the expedition under General Wolfe,

for the reduction of Quebec. Besides instructing

his pupil in mathematics and navigation, he was

employed in making surveys of the coasts and

harbours on the river St. Lawrence, liaving been

rated as a midshipman on board the Royal Wil-

liam, in which his pupil was soon made a lieuten-

ant. After quitting that situation, he was, by

Admiral Knowles, recommended to Lord Anson,

then first lord of the admiralty, and in 1762 was

appointed by the Board of Longitude to proceed

to Jamaica on a trial voyage, to take charge of

the chronometer recently completed by Mr. Har-

rison, the celebrated liorologist. On his return,
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finding no prospect of promotion in tlie navy, in

17G3 lie went back to Glasgow, and resumed his

studies, devoting liimscH" more particularly to me-

chanical pllilosoph3^ At this period he formed an

intimacy with the celebrated James Watt, then

employed in ])erfecting the steam-engine. In

1766, when Dr. Black was called to Edinburgli,

Mr. Robisoii was, on his recommendation, ap-

pointed by tlie universKy of Glasgow to succeed

him as lecturer on chemistry, without the ap-

pointment of a professor, and for about four years

he accordingly read lectures on that science. In

1770 his friend Admiral Knowles having been re-

commended by the British government to the em-

press of Russia as a fit person to superintend the

improvement of her navy, was appointed president

of the Russian board of admiralty, and invited

Mr. Robison to accomjiany him to St. Petersburg

as his private secretarj^ with a salary of £250

a-}'ear. This situation he accepted, and in 1772 lie

was appointed by tlie empress inspector-general of

the marine cadet corps of nobles at Cronstadt,

with the rank of culoncl. He relinquished that

office in 1773, on being oflered by the magistrates

and town council of Edinburgh the vacant chair

of natural philosophy in that city. The empress

parted with him reluctantly, and requested that

he would undertake the charge of tw o or three of

the cadets, promising him for Ids care of them a

pension of 400 rubles, or £80 a-year. During

three years that the young men resided in Edin-

burgh, the pension was regularly paid, but after

their departure it was discontinued,

j

In the winter of 177-1 he commenced the duties

of liis professorship at Edinburgh. His lectures

were universally allowed to be distinguished for

the extent and value of the information commu-

nicated, rather tlian for perspicuity of style or

liveliness of illustration. In 1783, when the Royal

Society of Edinburgh was incorporated by royal

charter, Dr. Robison was elected the general sec-

retary, and discharged the functions to their en-

tire satisfaction. A few years before his death,

bad health obliged him to resign the situation.

To the Transactions of that learned body he con-

tributed several very interesting jinpers. In 1798

lie received the degree of LL.D. from the univer-

fity of New Jersey, America; and in 1799 the

university of Glasgow conferred on him a similar

honour. After the death of Dr. Black, he ])iib-

lislied in 1799 the lectures of that great chemical

discoverer, with notes, a copy of which he sent to

the emperor of Russia, and received in return a

box set w ith diamonds, with a letter of thanks.

He died January 30, 1805. His works are:

Proofs of .a Conspiracy .igainst all tlie Religions and Gov-

ernments of Kurope, carried on in the Secret Meetings of Free

Masons, Illiiininati, and Reading Societies ; collected from

good autlioritics. 2d edition, corrected, to wliicli is added, a

Postscript. Edin. 17!)7, 8vo.

Elements of Meclianical Pliiloso])liy, being tlic Substance

of a Course of Lectures on that Science; vol. i. including

llynamics and Astronomy. Edin. 1S04, 8vo. With Plates.

Tlie Orbit and Motion of the Georgium Sidus. Trans.

Soc. Edin. 1788, vol. i. lb. 1700, vol. ii. 37.

On the Motion of Light, as afl'ected by refracting and re-

flecting Substances which are in motion. lb. 83.

Dr. Robison furnished some most valuable contributions to

the 3d edition of the ' Encyclopai'dia Britannica,' and to the

Supplement to the same work, which was superintended by

his friend Dr. Gleig.

A collected edition of his works, with .additions and anno-

tations, was published in 1822, in 4 vols. 8vo, edited by Dr.

Brewster.

RociiElD, (pronounced Rougheid,) a surname obviously

having a personal origin. The old family of Rocheid of

Craigleith .and Inverleith, near Edinburgh, in allusion to

the name, bore a crest of the head of a man in profile all

rough and Iniiry. In 1704 a baronetcy was conferred on this

ancient family, which terminated with Sir James Rocheid,

tlie second baronet, whose daughter and coheir, Mary, mar-

ried Sir Francis Kinlocli of Gilmerton, baronet, and her third

son. on succeeding to the estates of his maternal grandfather,

took the name of Itoclieid. His son, James Rocheid of In-

verleith, an eminent agriculturist, on whose property the

villas of Inverleith How, in the immediate neighbourhood of

Edinburgh, are built, died in 1821.

RoDGEH, or RoOEP., a surname obviously of Norman ori-

gin. Among the immediate retainers of William the Con-

queror was '• a valiant captain of the name of Roger." C:un-

den affirms that Roger was " mollified from Rodgeras or

Rotgerus." The name Roger is common in Normandy to

this dav, and it occurs in the Russian dominions under the

form of Rudiger. As a baptismal name, it appears to have

been frequent both in Scotland and England previous to its

being adopted as a surname.

It is of considerable antiquity in Scotland. Roger, bishop

of St. Andrews, (1188—1202,) the son of the eari of Leices-

ter, of the stock of the ancient earls of Melleiit in Normandy,

and a cousin of William the Lion, was appointed by that

mon.-vrcli lord-chancellor of Scotland, (^Balfour's Annals, vol.

i. p. 28) Ills seal is given in Anderson's Diplomata Scotia:

Roger, bis nephew, is witness to a charter of David 1. There

was also a Roger, prior of Dunfermline.

The earliest notice of any one bearing this surname

in our annals is that of Sir William Roger, an English

musician (a. T) 1482), one of the favourites of James III.,

who was hanged over tlie bridge of Lauder by the incensed

nobles of tliat monarch. John Roger, a Black friar, was in
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1544 confined in the castle of St. Andrews by orders of

Cardinal Bethune. A number of persons of the name liave,

from time immemorial, been located in the parish of Galston,

Ayrshire. George Roger, a native of that county, and a mer-

chant in Glasgow, purchased in 15G9, the farm of Marywell,

part of the lands of Coupar Grange, belonging to the abbey of

Coupar Angus. From this family was descended Ralph Roger

some time minister of Ardrossan, afterwards of the inner

high church, Glasgow, and lord-rector of the university

of that city. He was ejected at the Restoration, but re-

placed at the Revolution. From the Marywell family also

descended Robert Roger, provost of Glasgow in 1707, and

M.P. for the Dumbarton burghs. His son, Hugh Roger, was

likewise provost of Glasgow.

ALEXANDER RODGER, a minor poet, born

at East Calder, Mid Lothian, July 16, 1784,

was the son of a farmer at Ilaggs near the

village of Dalmaho}', but -when his sou was

about seven j'ears of age, he removed to Edin-

burgh, in which city Alexander was apprenticed

to a silversmith. On his father going the fol-

lowing j-ear to Hamburgh, the young poet was

taken to his mother's relations in Glasgow,

where he spent the remainder of his daj^s, and

Avas styled " The bard of the west." In 1797 he

was sent to learn the weaving business, and in

1806 he married. In 1819 he was employed

upon a paper published in Glasgow, called ' The

Spirit of the Union,' which advocated radical re-

form, and on 7th April of that year, he and sev-

eral others were apprehended and confined in

prison for several weeks. In 1821 he became

reader and reporter for the Glasgow Chronicle.

He was subsequently employed upon two other

papers in Glasgow, and died in 1816. A small

volume of his poems and songs was published at

Glasgow in 1827. In 1838 a complete edition of

his pieces appeared in the same city, and a third

and last volume soon after followed. He was also

the editor of ' Whistlebinkie,' a Glasgow publica-

tion of wit, humour, and song.

RoLLO, Baron, a title in tlie peerage of Scotland, conferred

in 1651, on Sir Andrew Rollo of Duncruib, knight, descended

from Richard de Rollo, an Anglo-Norman baron, who settled

in Scotland in the reign of David I., and witnessed several of

liis charters. He was the son or grandson of Eric de Rollo

or Raoul, who came to England witli his kinsman, William

the Conqueror, in the capacity of .secretary, and was sprung

from a collateral branch of the family of the first duke of

Normandy. The latter was a lineal descendant of Rollo, the

Danish vilcing, who, in 912, was baptized by the archbishop

of Rouen, and was acknowledged the vassal of his fathcr-in-

hiw, Charles the Simple, king of France, for the country

called Normandy, from the northern origin of its conquerors.

Tlie above Richard de Rollo appears as a witness to a charter

of Robert de Brus, grandfather of Robert I., of the manor of

Ailewick before 1141, (^Dour/las' Peerage.') The name in

ancient times was sometimes written Rolloclie, and some-

times Rowolc, and is the same as Rolloek. Robert RoUoche

obtained from King David II. charters of some property in

Perth, and of the lands of Threepwood, Lanarkshire, and

from the same monarch John de Rollo got a charter of a

tenement in Edinburgh, dated 23d July 13G9. This John

de Rollo was notai-y public to the act of settlement of the

crown of Scotland by King Robert II., 27th JIarch, 1371.

He was secretary to King Robert III., and got a charter of

the lands of Duncruib in Perthshire from David, earl of

Strathern, with consent of King Robert his father, dated 10th

Fcbruaiy 1380.

Robert Rollo of Duncruib was one of the lords of the arti-

cles and judges of causes in the parliament of James II. at

Edinburgh, 9th October 14G7. Robert Rollo of Duncruib,

said to have been his great-grandson, got Duncmib erected

into a free barony in 1512, and is supposed to have fallen at

Flodden. His eldest son, Andrew, hereafter a fiivonrite

name witli this family, had a charter of all his lands united

into the free barony of Duncruib, 21st May 1540. It was

his grandson, Sir Andrew Rollo of Duncruib, who was the

first Lord Rollo. Knighted by James VI., on 25th Septem-

ber 1G33, he was appointed by Charles I. sheriff of Perth-

shire, and by Charles II., when in Scotland, created Baron

Rollo of Duncruib, in the Scottish peerage, by patent, dated

10th January 1651, to him and his heirs male whatsoever.

In 1654, he was lined £1,000 sterling, by Cromwell's act of

grace and pardon. He died in June 1659. He had five

sons and four daughters. The Hon. Andrew Rollo, the

fourth son, was minister of Duiming, the parish in which

Duncruib is situated. The Hon. Sir William Rollo, the fifth

and youngest son, on the breaking out of the civil wars, es-

poused the cause of Charles I. He joined the marquis of

Montrose, on his declaring for the king in 1644, and accom-

panied that chivalrous nobleman, when he entered Scotland,

disguised as a groom, to erect the royal standard. He was

with Jlontrose in all his battles, and at Alford in 1645, with

Viscount Aboyne he had the command of the left wing of

the royal army. He was among the prisoners taken at Phil-

iphaugh, and was executed at the market cross of Glasgow,

28th October, 1645. Wisluart (p. 223) says that the chief

crime laid to Sir William's charge was that he had not as-

sassinated Montrose after having agreed to do so ; for, liaving

been sent by the marquis, after the battle of Aberdeen, with

some despatclies to the king, he was appreiiended by the

Covenanters, and would have been immediately executed, but

for Argyle, who used all his endeavours to engage him to cut

off Montrose, and by alternately threatening him with imme-

diate death and promising him very high rewards, prevailed

upon liim at length seemingly to comply. Hiiving thereby

obtained his life and liberty, he returned straight to Mon-

trose, and disclosed the whole matter to him, entreating him

at the same time to look more carefully to his own safety, as

some person would imdoubtedly be found who would not

scruple to commit such a crime for the promised reward.

James, the eldest son, second Lord Rollo, was in his fa-

ther's lifetime knighted by Charles I. He, nevertheless,

joined the party of Argyle, and previously to the battle of

Invcrlochy in 1644, was one of the persons who accompanied

that nobleman on board his galley on the loch, that he might

avoid the risk of the battle. He survived the Restoration,

and died in 16G9. Andrew, his son, third Lord Rollo, died

1st March 1700. He had two sons and four daughters.

,Tohn, master of Rollo, the elder son, was killed by Patrick
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Graham, youngei- of Inclibraco, witli tlie sword of James Ed-

nionstoii of Newton, 20th May 1C91. Tliey were visiting at

Invermay, and going liome on liorseback after supper, some

words passed between tliein, and an encounter ensued in tlie

darlt, wliitli proved fatal to tlie master. Kdnionston was

tried before the h.igh court of justiciary at Edinburgh, utli

August 1G95, for being accessory to his murder. At the

trial one of the witnesses swore that he found the master of

Hollo lying on the ground mortally wounded, supported by

a person of the name of Clevedge, and on the latter crying

out that such a horrid murder was never seen, Kdmonston

said, "I think not; I think it was fairly done," and he as-

sisted Graham to make his escape. Kdmonston was found

guilty, and sentenced to banishment for life. Graham was

outlawed for the murder in 1C9G. The Hon. Susan Hollo,

the tliird daughter, became the wife of Robert Gillespie of

Cherryvalley, Irel.ind, and her grandson, Major-general Ko-

bert Uollo Gillespie, distinguished himself by his services in

India, particularly in tlie reduction of .lava in 1811.

Ilobert, the second son, fourth Lord Hollo, supported the

treaty of Union in tlie last Scots parliament. He was one of

the Jacobite noblemen who attended the pretended great

hunting match at Aboyne in Aberdeenshire, 27th August

1715, at which the earl of Mar explained his plans in favour

of the Pretender, but the following year he surrendered him-

self, with tlio marquis of Huntly, to Brigadier-general Grant,

and obtained the full benefit of the act of grace passed in

1717. He died at Duncruib, 8tli March 1758, in his 78tli

year. By his wife, Mary, eldest daughter of Sir Harry EoUo

of Woodside, Stirlingshire, he had four sons and three

daughters.

Andrew, the eldest son, fifth Lord Fiollo. was a distin-

guished ofHcer during the American war. Like Lord Lyne-

docli, he was upwards of forty before he entered tlie army.

For his gallant conduct at the b.'ittle of Dettingcn in 1743,

ho was promoted to a company in the 22d foot, of which

regiment he was appointed major 1st June 1750, and lieu-

tenant-colonel, 2Gth October 175G. In 1758 he commanded

the 22d in the expedition to Louisburg, and was afterwards

sent to take possession of the French island of St. John's,

lie was ne.\t employed in assisting General Murr.ay in his

attack upon j\Iontreal, tlie surrender of which terminated a

series of successful operations which secured Canada to the

British crown. In June of the following year, with 2,600

men, he landed in Dominica, and imnieiiiately attacked and

drove the French from their batteries and entrenchments.

Next day the whole island submitted to him. He became

colonel lOtli February 17G0, obtaining also the r.ink of brig-

adier-general in America. An armament li.aving been sent

out for the juirpose of operating against Martinique and the

Havannah, Lord Rollo, in December 17G1, joined General

Jlonckton in Carlisle B.ay, Barbadocs, and the IGtli of the

following month arrived at Martinique, which island surren-

dered on the 4th February. The general in his despatches

spoke in high praise of his lordship and his officers. At the

siege of Havannah in June 1762, he commanded 2,400 men,

but his health being affected by the clim.ate, he sailed for

England before the surrender of Cuba. His lordship died at

Leicester, 2d June 1765, and was buried in that place.

John, master of Hollo, his only son, captain 77th foot,

having predeceased him, his lordship was succeeded by his

brother John, sixth Lord Hollo. The latter died in 1783, when

his only son, James, became seventh Lord Hollo. This baron

was an officer of marines, and served at the taking of i'on-

dicherry and Manilla. He died in 1784, having had two

sons and five daughters. The Hon. Roger Rollo, the second

son, was an officer in the royal regiment of artillery, and af-

terwards collector of customs at Ayr.

The elder son, John, eiglitli Lord Rollo, a lieutenant in tlie

3d foot-guards, served on the Continent during the cam-
paigns of 1793, 1794, and 1795, and quitted the army in

1796. He had 3 sons and 2 daughters, .and died Dec. 24,

1846. H is son, W illiam, 9th Lord Hollo, born in 1809, mar-
ried in 1834, the only daughter of Dr. John Rogerson ot

Wamphray, Dumfries-shire, and died Oct. 8, 1852, leaving

an only son, John Rogerson, tenth Lord Rollo, born Oct. 24,

1835. On 15th Nov. 1860, he was elected one of the 16

Scottisli representative peers. He m. in 1857 his cousin Ag-
nes Bruce, eldest daughter of Capt. Robert Knox Trotter of

Ballendean, with issue.

EOLLOCK, EoBicRT, au eminent scholar and

divine, son of David Eollock of PoM'is, was bom
not far from Stirling in 1555. At tlie grammar

school of Stirling, he commenced his education

under Thomas Buchanan, the nephew of the his-

torian. From this seminary he was removed to St.

Salvador's college, St. Andrews, and Avent through

the regular course of four years' study, and so

eminently distinguished himself, thnt he had no

sooner taken the degree of M.A. than he was cho-

sen regent or professor of philosophy in that col-

lege. During the four years that he discharged

the duties of this office his reputation was greater

than that of any of his contemporaries. In 1582,

while still under twenty-eight years of age, he

was chosen by the magistrates of Edinburgh the

first teacher of the university lately founded by

James VI. in that cit}' ; and for some tiiue was

the sole professor in that institution. In the win-

ter of 1583 ho entered upon his new duties, and

his high character soon attracted numerous stu-

dents to the infimt university. In February 1585

he was created principal, and after the first laure-

ation had taken place, was also ajipointed professor

of theology, for which, and preaching every Sun-

day morning in the High church, he was allowed

400 merks yearly.

In the settlement of the ecclesiastical affairs of

the period, Principal Eollock was thought to be

too complying, and is styled by Calderwood " a

man simple in church matters." In 1597 he was

chosen moderator of the Assembl}^ held at Dun-

dee, which passed several acts favourable to Epis-

copacy. He wrote several commentaries in Latin

on (liiTei'eiit portions of the Scripture, which were

published between 1G02 and ICIO. Though

tinged witli the scholastic theology of the times,
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they discover great natural acuteiiess, with verj'

extensive leaniir.g. He died January 8, 1599, in

the 43d year of Ijis age. His worlds are

:

Comm. in Epistolam ad Epheseos. EJiii. 1590, 4to. And,

Genevaj, 1593, 8vo.

Comm. in I.ibrum Danielis. Edin. 1591, 4to. Sanctan-

dreanse, 1594, 4to.

Comm. in Epist. ad Rom.inos. Edin. 1594, 12mo. Ge-

neva;, 1596, 8vo.

Qusestiones et Responsiones aliquot, de Foedere Del et de

Sacramentis. Edin. 159C, 8vo.

Traotatus de Vocatione efficaci, que inter locos tlieologie

communissimos recensetur, deque locis specialioribus, qui sub

vocatione oomprelienduntur, &o. Edin. 1597, 8vo.

Certain Sermons on several places of St. Paul's Epistles.

Edin. 1599, 8vo.

Comm. in Joannis Evangelium, una cum Harmonia ex iv.

Evangelistis in Mortem, Resurrectionum, et Ascensionum

Dili. Geneva;, 1599, 8vo. Edin. 1599, 8vo.

Comm. in selectos aliquot Psalmos. Geneva;, 1598, 1599,

8vo. An Exposition of some select Psalms of David ; con-

taining great store of most excellent and comfortable doc-

trine, &c. Translated out of Latin into English by C. L.

Edin. ICOO, 8vo.

Comm. in utramque Epistolam ad Thessalonicenses, et

.Analysis in Epist. ad Pliilemonem, cum Notis Joan. Pisca-

toris. Edin. 1598, 12mo. Herborn. Nass. 1601.

Analysis in Epist. ad Galatas. Lond. 1602, 8vo.

Prolegomena in Primum librum Quaistionum Tlieodori

Beza;.

Tractatus Brevis, de Providentia Dei, et tractatus de Ex-

commnnicatione. Genev. 1602, 8vo. Lond. 1604.

Comm. in Epistolam ad Colossenses. Edin. ICOO. Ge-

neva;, 1602, 8vo.

Comm. in Epistolam ad Hebrpcos. Edin. 1605, 12mo.

Comm. in Epistolas ad Corintliios. Herborn. Nass. ICOO,

12mo.

A Treatise of God's Effectual Calling ; translated by H.

Holland. Lond. 1603, 4to.

Lectures upon the History of the Passion, &c. Edinburgh,

1616, 8vo.

Episcopal Government instituted by Clirist, and confirmed

by Scripture .and Reason. Lond. 1G41, 4to.

His elder brother, Hercule.? Rollock, was for a

sliort time one of the professors of King's college,

Old Aberdeen. His Latin poems, published in

liis lifetime, are preserved in tiie ' Delitife Poeta-

rum Scotorum,' edited by Dr. Artliur Jolmston, at

the expense of Scott of Scotstarvct, in 1637. He

also wi'ote several epitaplis on the principal, liis

brotlier, wliicli will be found in tlie same collection.

Rose, the name of a N.airnsliire sept, the chief of which is

Rose of Kilravock, pronounced Kilraik. The name is obvi-

ously derived from tlie British word Ros, a promontory.

According to a tr.idition at one period prevalent among the

clan Donald, the first of the Kih'avock family came from

Ireland, with one of the Jlaedonalds, lords of the Isles.

Tliere does not seem, however, to be any foundation for this,

except, perhaps, that as vassals of the earls of Ross, the clan

Rose were connected for about half a century with tlie lord-

ship of the Isles. Jlr. Hugh Rose, the gene.aloglst of the

Kilravock family, is of opinion that they were originally from

England, and from their having three wafer bouggefs in their

coat armour, lilce the English family of Roos, it has been

conjectured that they were of the same stock. But these

figures were carried by other families than those of the name

of Rose, or Roos. Four water bouggets with a cross in the

middle were the arms of the Counts D'Eu in Normandy, and

of the ancient earls of Essex in England of the surname of

Bourcliier. They wei'e indicative of an ancestor of the re-

spective families who bore them having been engaged in the

crusades, and forced, in the deserts of Palestine, to fight for

and carry water in the leathern vessels called bouggets, bud-

gets, or buckets, which were usually slung across the horse

or camel's back.

Tlie family of Rose of Kilravock appear to have been set-

tled in the county of Nairn in the reign of David I., their

first designation being of Geddes. In the beginning of the

reign of Alexander II., that is, about 1219, Hugh Rose of

Geddes was witness to the foundation charter of the priory of

Beauly by Sir John Bisset of Lovat. His son, also named

Hugh Rose of Geddes, acquired the lands of Kilravock, which

became the chief title of the family, by his marriage with

Mary, daughter of Sir Andrew de Bosco, by Elizabeth, his

wife, daughter and coheiress of Sir John Bisset of Lovat;

^vhich Elizabeth, designed Lady Kilravock, in her widow-

hood, disponed the lands of Kilravock to her son-in-law,

Hugh Rose, .nnd her daughter, Mary, his wife, and their

heirs. The charter granted by her was confirmed by King

John Baliol. This Hugh Rose, first of Kih-avock, died about

ISOC.

His son, Sir AVilliam Rose of Kilravock, married JIuriella,

daughter of Andrew de Donne, and had two sons, Hugh and

Andrew, the latter progenitor of the Roses of Anchlossen.

Tlie next three lairds of Kilravock were all named Hugh, the

succession continuing in a direct line from father to son.

The second of tliese, by his wife Janet, daughter of Sir Ro-

bert Chisholm, constable of the castle of Urquhart, got a

considerable accession to his estate in Stratlinairn. In 1390,

in the time of their son Hugh, the fifth Rose of Kih-avock,

the whole writs and evidents of the family were burnt in the

cathedral church of Elgin, in which they had been pl.accd

for preservation and security. He died about 1420. His

son, John Rose of Kilravock, was served heir to his father,

lltli April 1431, and obtained a confirmation of liis estates

both from the king, .Tames I., JLiy 30, 1433, and Alexander,

earl of Ross, lord of the Isles, his immediate superior of Kil-

r.avock and Geddes, 22d June 1440, and from John Cbis-

holm of that ilk, his grand-uncle, in the lands of Stratli-

nairn. By liis wife, Isobel Clieyne, a daughter of the ancient

f'anj^ly of Esslemont in Buchan, he had four sons; Lachl.in, a

churchman, who never married
;
Hugh, his father's heir

;

Alexander Rose of Dunearn, of whom several of the Roses,

provosts of Nairn, were descended; and William, progenitor

of some families of the name in Mar.

The second son, Hugh Rose of Kilravock, built in 1460

the old tower of Kilravock. The family genealogist says

:

" I heard by tradition that the towers of Caldcr, Kilravock,

Ironsyde, and Spynie, were built about the same time, the

architect of them all being that Cochran, the gi-cat minion of

James III., and by him created enrl of Jlar, remembered for

liis being luinged over the bridge of Lauder, in his own scarf, by

the ancient nobility." Amongst the writs inserted by Mr.

Cosmo liines, advocate, in the history of the Kih'avock family,

published for the Spalding Club, are the following : A con-

tract of friendship between William, Lord Forbes and others,
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on the one part ; and Duncan JIacintosli, clik'f and captain

cf the clan Chattan, Hngh Rose of Kilravock and others, on

tlio other part, dated in 1467 ; and a Bond of maintenance

hv Farquhar Macintosh, son and apparent heir of Duncan

JIacintosh, captain of the ch\n Chattan, to Hugh Rose of

ICih'avock, dated in 1481. This Iltigli Rose of Kilravoclv was

keeper, under the earl of Huntly, of the castle of Ardmanach

in Ross, the lands of which, after the battle of Blairepark, in

1 191, were ravaged by the JIackenzies, because Kilravock's

son, Hugh Rose the younger, was the only crown vassal of

the earldom of Ross who liad joined Alexander Macdonald of

I.ochalsh, the nephew of the aged htrd of the Isles, in his

attempt to recover its possession. (Gregmifs Western Uifjh-

lands and Isles, pp. 5G, 57.) On the forfeiture of Jolin, earl of

Ross, in 1471, this Ilugli Rose of Kilravock got himself con-

firmed by James III. in his lands of Kilravock and Geddes, to

be Iiolden immediately of the king, wliich originally they did,

by charter under the great seal, dated 2d March 1475. Al-

though he was in hands of ainity and friendship with the

Macintoshes, I.achlan Macintosh of Gallow.ay and Don.ald

Macintosh Angnsson upon one occasion surprised and seized

the tower of Kilravock, but did not keep it long. By

his wife, Jloir, daughter of Jlalcolm Beg Macintosh, captain

of the clan Chattan, he had three sons: Hugh, liisbeir;

Alexander, progenitor of the Roses of Holme; and William,

who, on being taken by William, thane of Calder, and put in

iron.s, the king ordered the enrl of Iluntly to set him at lib-

erty in 1488. This Hugh having had some diffi'rences witli

.\ndrew, bishop of Moray, .about the marches of tlie lands of

Kilravock, Kildrnmmie, &c., they were in 1492 compromised

and settled, by the mediation of the gentlemen in the neigh-

bourhood. He died the following year.

His eldest son, Hugh Rose of Kilr.avock, was four times

man-ied, and by his second wife. Lady Margaret Gordon,

daughter of the first earl of Huntly, had three sons: Hugh,

his heir; .lohn, of whom came the Roses of Bellivat ; -Mex-

ander, progenitor of the Roses of Inch. He had also daugh-

ters, who were married into the families of (the thane of) Cal-

der, Gordon, and Stewart. He died M.arch 17th, 1517. His

eldest son, Hugh Rose, seventh of that name and nintli of

Kilravock, was long a prisoner in the castle of Dumbarton,

as appears by discharges for his maintenance granted by

George Stirling of Glorat, captain of the castle, in 1536.

His offence is supposed to have been seizing upon the abbot

of Kinlo,ss, and keeping liim prisoner. "This Hugh Rose of

Kilravock," s.ays the family genealogist, "appears to have

been skilled in the laws, acting for himself and friends. Be-

ing a grandchild of the fanuly of JIaciutosh, he concurred

with them, to his great loss, especially in the depredation of

Cromarty, and demolishing of the house of Il.-dlhill, a caslle

in Petty, where the Macintoshes inhumanly murdered a greal

many gentlemen of the Ogilvics."

His son, .also Hugh Rose, tenth laird of Kilr.avock, was

t.aken prhsoner at Piukiefield in 1547. His ransom was a

hundred angels nobles, his cautiimers being rringle of Snu\il-

hohn, Pringle of Torwoodlee, and Pringle of Wowhouseln-re.

the English generally requiring securities within their

re.ach. He was sheriff of Ro.ss, con.stable of tlie castle of

Inverness, and appointed jusiice-depute from th.e easlmost

part of tlio shire of Nairn to Badenoch and Ross, by comnus-

sion from Archibald, earl of Argyle, justice-general of Scot-

land, October 9tb, 1556, constituted sheriff-principal of In-

verness, by letters signed bj- Henrie and JIarie, king and

queen of Scotland, September 22d, 1565, and bailie of the

lordship of Str.'ithnairn and Cardel, by the regent .\Iorav,

October 7, 1566. He died June 10th, 1507, in his OOtli

year. This baron of Kilr.avock, known tradition.ally .as " the

black baron," is described as a vei-y discreet and peaceable

pei-son. He contrived to st.and well with all parties during

the stormy period that followed the Reformation in .Scotland.

He corresponded with them all, and kept all their letters,

and no one could tell which side he favoured. " He lived

under the regents Jloray, Lennox, and Morton. His own

country and immediate neighbourhood were especially sub-

ject to continual convulsions, as Huntly or Moray, the queen's

party or the king's, obtained the ascendency,—not to men-

tion the usual elements of n.ative disturbance on the High-

land border, yet, through .all he lived in pe.ace, attending to

his own affairs. He .settled amicably sever.al complicated

lines of marches with his neighbours, while parliament was

settling the RefoiTnatien. Each party reposed confidence in

him, and employed him in the administration of liis own

district." A debate liaving arisen betwixt him and two

neighbours, lie subscribed himself " Hucheon Rose of Kilra-

vock, ane honest man, ill guided bctwi.xt them both." King

James VI. being in Kilr.avoelc. in his progress to the north in

1589, inquired how he conld live amongst such ill turbulent

neighbours, when he replied that they were the best neigh-

hours he could have, for they made him thrice a-day go upon

his knees, when, perhaps, otherwise he would not have gone

once. The king is tradition.ally s.aid to have .addressed him

as Father, and ordered him to be covered in his presence.

His youngest brother, John Rose, provost of Inverness, was

progenitor of the Roses of Wester Drakes.

The black baron's son, William, got a charter under the

great se.al, containing an entail to his heirs male of the bar-

ony of Kilravock, Easter Geddes, Culmorcs, &c , in the shires

of Kairn, Ross, and Inverness, annexed to the barony of Kil-

r.avock, dated 8th March IGOO. He was involved in much

trouble by his kinsmen the Roses of Bellivat, who are de-

scribed as having been a bold, daring, .and headstrong race,

while the Kilravock lairds, on the otiier hand, were of a

peaceable and conciliatoiy disposition. With the Dunbars of

Moyncss the former had a feud, on account of one D.avid

Rose MacWilliam of the Bellivat family, who resided at Clune,

claiming that place, which was a pendicle of the barony

of Moyncss. Being, in October 1598, outlawed for paying no

attention to an ejection which had been served upon him,

this David Rose MacWilliam, as related by Shaw in his

' History of Jloray,' :issociated with him a bold and desperate

band of his own name, the JIacWilliams, with the M.ac-

Watties, and MacDonachies, and burned and spoiled the

lauds of Moyness and others belonging to the Dunbars. The

latter, on their part, burned the house and destroyed the

l.inds of Geddes, besides laying waste the lands of Bellivat.

In 1600, David Rose JIacWilliam w.as betrayed into the

hands of the Dnnb;irs by a MacGregor and put to death.

In revenge bis a-ssociates attacked and slew Alexander Dun-

bar of Tarbet. The Dunbars called to their aid the clan

Ranald from I.ochaber, while the Roses obtaised the .assist-

ance of a band of the nithless MacGregors. The peace of

the country being in this manner quite broken, the privj'

council interposed, and required Kilravock to apprehend and

bring to justice all those of !iis clan th.at were concerned in

these tumults, in terms of the gencr.al b.and engrossed in an

act of parliament of 1594. Being unable to do so, both ho

and his eldest son, Hugh, were imprisoned in Edinburgh,

and fined in a large sum. By his majesty's special warrant

to the privy council, dated 24th August 1603, they were lib-

erated .and obtained a remission. On account of these dis-

turbances .John Rose of Bellivat was obliged to sell bis lands

and retire beyond the Spey. William Rose of Kilravock died
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April 8, 1611. With three daughters, lie liad five sons,

namely, Hugh, his heir; William, the first of the family of

Clava
;
Alexander, designed of Cantray ; John of Bradley

;

and David of Earlsmilne.

The eldest son, Hugh, ninth of that name and twelfth laird

of Kilravock, was, from some resemblance in his character to

that of his grandfather, also called ' the black baron.' In

the beginning of the civil wars in Scotland, the nobility who

supported the covenant, by their letter, dated March 26th,

1G38, desired Rose of Kilravock to meet at Inverness, in April,

the commissioners whom they had appointed to meet there

with the earl of Sutherland, Lord Lovat, the master of Ber-

riedale, and others. After the "Trot of Tnrreff," as it was

called. May 14, when the Gordons drove the Forbeses and

Frasers out of Tun-eflf, 4,000 men met at Elgin, under the

command of the earl of Seaforth and other gentlemen, among

whom was the baron of Kilravock. Encamping at Speyside,

to prevent the Gordons and their friends from entering JIo-

ray, they remained there till the pacification, which was

signed June 18. By act of council July 28, 1643, the bro-

ken men of the name of Eose were bound upon Macintosh,

who was ordained to be accountable for them. The laird of

Kilravock died of a dropsy, June lOtli, 1643. He is de-

scribed as being very hospitable and generous, and yet frugal

and provident, and very successful in reconciling differences

among his friends and neighbours. Shaw says of him that

" he might truly be called the father of his clan and tenants."

His only son, Hugh, thirteenth laird, like his father, sup-

ported the covenant, and in 1645 commanded a battalion of

his clan in the battle of Auldearn. In 1647 he was ap-

pointed sheriff principal of Inverness. The following year

he was colonel of a regiment of dragoons in the duke of

Hamilton's 'Engagement' for the rescue of Charles I. This

regiment he raised himself, and the expense incurred in levy-

ing and paying it, involved him in debt, and at his death, in

March 1649, at the age of 29, he left his estate heavily bur-

dened.

His eldest son, Hugh, was only eight years old when he

succeeded his father. He had a brother, John Rose of Rari-

chies. The young laird's tutor in his minority was his grand-

uncle, William Rose of Clava. He was educated at King's

college. Old Aberdeen, and contributed 216 merks towards

the expense of the edifice of the new work, in return for

which the masters and members of that university allotted

to him, his heirs and nearest relations, or their representa-

tives, a chamber and study in the college. He died in 1687.

He was twice married, first, to Margaret, daughter of Sir

Robert Innes of Innes, and by her had five sons and two

daughters; and secondly, to Mary, daughter of Alexander,

Lord Forbes, lieutenant-general in the Swedish sen'ice. By

this lady, a native of Stadt in Germany, he had six sons.

Alexander, the eldest of these, entered the army young, and

served for some years with great honour under the duke of

Marlborough. When the rebellion of 1715 broke out, he was

a lieutenant-colonel, and at the battle of Sheriflfmuir, when

the colonel of his regiment, the earl of Forfar, was mortally

wounded. Colonel Rose took the command, and made a safe

retreat to Dunblane. In 1740 he was colonel of a regiment

of dragoons, and died unmarried. The fifth son, Arthur Rose,

a merchant, in a voyage to the Lev.aut, in 1706, was taken by

the Algerine corsairs, and after being detained in captivity

for some time, was purchased by the British consul at Grand

Cairo in Egypt, and ransomed in 1714. In the rebellion of

the following year he held the r.ank of captain in the service

of the government, and was killed in an attack on Inverness,

as afterwards related.

The eldest son, Hugh, the twelfth of that name, and fif-

teenth laird of Kilravock, was twenty-four years old when he

succeeded his father, in 1687. He was sherifi" of Ross, and

in the last Scots parliament was one of the 82 members who
voted against the incorporating union with England. He
voted, however, for the Protestant succession in the fiimily

of Hanover. He was one of the commissioners named to re-

present Scotland in the first British parliament. On the

breaking out of the rebellion of 1715, he and about 200 of

his clan preserved the peace of his district, and having gan-i-

soned his house of Kilravock, it proved an asylum to many
of his neighbours at that disturbed time. He afterwards

joined Lord Lovat, who at that period took a decided part on

the side of the government, and having collected a body of

Frasers and Grants, had invested Inverness. A detach-

ment, under the command of Captain Arthur Rose, above

mentioned, the brother of Kilravock, was sent into the town

to surprise it, but it was repulsed, and the captain killed.

It was then resolved to surround the town, preparatory to a

general assault, but Sir John JIackenzie of Coul, the Jaco-

bite governor, who was Kilravock's son-in-law, evacuated the

castle and left the town. This happened on the night of the

13th November, the day of the battle of Sherifl'inuir, and also

of the surrender of the rebels at Preston. This laird of Kil-

ravock died 23d July 1732. He was five times married.

One of his daughters, Mary, was the wife of Duncan Forbes

of Culloden, lord president of the court of session, but died

young, leaving a son, John. The country people still point

out the trysting stone under an old oak tree at Kilravock

where they used to meet wlien courting.

The eldest son of the fifteenth laird, also Hugh Rose of

Kilravock, was in 1734 elected M.P. for Ross-shire. Ac-

cording to the family history, two days before the b.-ittle of

Culloden, Prince Charles, on leaving Inverness, for the scene

of his last fight, dined at the house of Kilravock, and made
himself very agreeable. After dinner he walked in the gar-

den with the laird, and said to him, "How happy must you

be, living here quietly with your family!" The following

day the duke of Cumberland arrived at the house, and re-

marked to Kilravock, " You have had my cousin here." The

laird said he had no means of preventing his coming. The

duke replied that he had done quite right ; that he could not

refuse to receive Charles Edward and treat him as a prince.

A daughter of this laird, Margaret, married Dr. Joshua Mac-

kenzie, a physician in Edinburgh, and was the mother of

Henry JIackenzie, the author of the 'Man of Feeling,' several

of whose letters are given in the History of the Family of

Kilravock, edited by Cosmo Innes, advocate, and printed in

1847 for the Spalding Club.

Hugh, the seventeenth laird and fourteenth of that name,

succeeded his father in 1755. Born July 12, 1705, he was

admitted advocate, January 18, 1729. In his father's life-

time he was called Hugh Rose of Geddes. In 1748 he was

appointed sheriff-depute of Ross and Cromarty. He died

November 26th, 1772. By his wife, Elizabeth, daughter of

Colonel William Clephan, of the family of Carslogie, he had

several children.

Hugh, the eldest son, eighteenth laird and fifteenth named

Hugh, was educated at the university of Glasgow, and, like

his father, passed advocate but did not practise. He mar-

ried Anne Eraser, a girl of low birth but great beauty, and

died 21st August 1782. His widow survived him till 1837.

He is described as of a gentle, amiable disposition, fond of

music and theatricals, and a writer of verses. He was suc-

ceeded by his sister, Elizabeth, who died in 1815. She mar-

ried her Idnsman, Hugh Rose, son of Rose of Brea, and her
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son, Hugh Rose, was twentietli laii'd of Kilravock. Tlie lat-

ter died in 1827. He was twice married, and liad issue by

both marriages. Isabella, his eldest dauglitcr, married Cos-

mo Innes, Esq., advocate, editor of the family papers.

Hugh Rose, twenty-first laird of Kilravoclc, tlie eldest son,

liaving obtained an appointment in the civil service of tlie

East India Company, went to Bengal immediately .after his

father's deatli, and died in 1847, of the effects of fever, on

his way to the coast. His brother, John Baillie Rose, at one

time an officer in the army, succeeded him as twenty-second

laird.

The badge of the elan Rose is the wild rosemary. In 1724

those of his name are said to have been able to muster uOO

fighting men, but in 1725 Marshal Wade cstim.ated their

force at only 300. They were always well affected to the

government.

ROSE, Geohge, <aii cniinciit st.itcsman, tlie

son of the Rev. David Rose, an Episcopal cler-

gyman at Letlniot in Forfarshire, was born at

Brechin, June 11, 1744. His mother was tlie

daughter of Donald Rose of AVaterclunie, and was

descended from the Roses of Kilravocic, or Kil-

raak, an ancient family in Nairnshire. Owing to

the poverty of his father, George, when little

more than iive years of age, was sent to the care

of an nncle, who kept an academj' near Hampstead,

where he obtained his education. He was early-

apprenticed to a surgeon in that village, but, not

liking the profession, he went into the navy, and

soon obtained the situation of purser. His father

liaving become tutor to Lord Tolwartli, eldest son

of the earl of Marchmont, young Rose was induced

to retire from the sea, and through the interest of

tlie latter nobleman, he was made dcputy-cham-

bcrlain of the Tally court of the Exchequer.

Soon after he was appointed keeper of the public

records, which he found in a state of great confu-

sion, and in consequence arranged and classed

them in alphabetical order. His punctuality, dis-

patch, and aptitude for business, having rcconi-

j

mended him to the notice of Lord North, then

premier, in 17G7, he was selected to superintend

I the completion of tlic Journals of the House of

; Lords, in thirty-one folio volumes ; for which he

was liberally remunerated. From this period he

was constantly employed by nearly all succeeding

ministers, except Mr. Fo.x.

When the Pitt and Dundas administration came

into power, he was appointed, in 1784, joint scc-

vetarj- to the treasuiy, and readily obtained a seat

in parliament as member for Christ-church, in

Hampshire. In all matters connected with the

trade of the country, he was allowed to possess

great practical information, and he gave the most

important assistance to Mr. Pitt in all his finan-

cial measures. In 1801, on the elevation of ]\Ir.

Addington to the premiership, he retired with Mv.

Pitt, and became an active member of the oppo-

sition. When Mv. Pitt returned once more to

power, he was admitted into the privy council,

and in consequence became entitled to be ad-

dressed as right honourable. He was likewise

nominated first vice-president, and afterwards

president, of the Board of Trade and treasurer of

tlie navy.

After the death of Mr. Pitt in 1806, Mr. Rose

was again for a short time forced into the opposi-

tion, but when the coalition ministry of Lord

Grenvillc and IMr. Fox retired, he resumed his

former office, wliich he retained during the re-

mainder of his life. To enumerate all the speech-

es made, and the various occasions on which he

came before the notice of the public, in the course

of his political career, would be to detail all the

important occurrences in parliament for nearly

forty years. He was a great encourager of friend-

ly societies and savings' banks, and introduced

laws for the protection of the property of such

associations. He published several pamphlets,

principally on commercial and financial subjects

;

and the manuscript translation of a History of

Poland, which he presented to the king, is now in

the Royal Library. In 17G7, when the House of

Lords passed a vote for publishing a superb en-

graved edition of ' Domesdaj' Book,' Mr. Rose

was appointed to superintend this great national

work, and executed his task with due care and

uiideviating fidelity. In 1809 he produced his

' Observations on the Historical Work of the late

Right Hon. Charles James Fox ; with a Narra-

tive of the Events which occurred in the Enter-

prise of the Earl of Argylc, in 1685
;
by Sir Pa-

trick Hume.' Mr. Rose died at his seat of Cuflnels,

near Lyndhurst, in Hampshire, Jannary 13, 1818,

in the 75th year of his age. He married a lady

belonging to the island of Dominica, by whom he

had several children. On his eldest son devolved

the lucrative rcver.sionaiy office of clerk of the,

parliament, wliich he himself had enjoyed for

many years. His works are :
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The proposed System of Trade with Ireland expluiiied.

1785, 8vo.

Considerations on the Debt of tlie Civil List. 1802, 8vo.

Observations on tlie Poor Laws, and on tlie Management

of the Poor in Great Britain. Lond. 1805, 8vo,

A Brief Examination into tlie Increase of the Revenue,

Commerce, and Navigation of Great Britain dnring the ad-

ministration of the Rt. Hon. William Pitt, with a Sketch of

Mr. Pitt's Character. Lond. 180G, 8vo.

Observations on the Historical Work of the late Rt.

Hon. Cliarles James Fox; with a narrative of Events which

occurred in the enterprise of tlie Earl of Argyle in 1G85, by

Sir Patrick Hume. Lond. 1809, 4 to.

Observations witli respect to the Public Expenditure and

the Influence of the Crown. Lond. 1810, 8vo.

Letter to Lord Jlelville respecting a Naval Arsenal at

Northfleet. 1810, 8vo.

Substance of his Speech in the House of Commons on the

Report of the Bullion Committee. Lond. 1811, 8vo.

Speech on the Corn Laws. Lond. 1811, 8vo.

Speech on the Property-Tax. Lond. 1815, 8vo.

EOSE, J. A., one of the most extraordinary

nctors in tlie first Frencli Revolution, was born in

Scotland in 1757, and went early to Paris. Named

nslier of the National Assembly, Rose, by his

conduct, rai.«ed himself above his position, and

became the friend of the most distinguished men

of that eventful epoch. Mirabeau was particu-

larlj' attached to him, and when dying appointed

him, by will, to execute his wishes. On the eve

of the lOlh of August 1792, lie found means to

warn the unfortunate Louis XVI. of tlie evils

which threatened him. During the time the king's

trial lasted. Rose paid every attention to the

monarch, and he rendered the same services to the

queen on her arraignment. Those good actions,

as well as many others, were unknown to the

world. The friends of Rose alone were acquaint-

ed with the number of persons whose lives he had

saved. Rabaut St. Etienne owed his life to hiin,

but lost it at a later period. Tiie duke de Mon-

tesquieu, more fortunate, awaited the end of the

"reign of terror" in the asylum v.'hich Rose had

procured for hini. As usher of the Convention, it

was Rose who arrested Robespierre. Having

then gone with Com-voi to carry the decree of ac-

cusation to the commune, he was pursued by a

furious mvdtitude, and was only indebted for his

safety to his physical strength and his intrepidity.

This circumstance made an impression upon him

which was never effaced. " It was this fist," he

used to say with strong emotion, at the same time

holding up his large hand, "it was this fist which
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arrested the monster." He preserved his func-

tions at the Council of Ancients, who voted him a

sword of honour for the firmness he displayed dur-

ing a stormy debate.

Ill 1814 M. de Semonville attached him to the

chamber of peers. The duke de Choiseul having

met Rose in the lobbj' of the chamber, threw him-

self on his neck, exclaiming, " This is one of the

happiest da3's of my life." He only resigned his

situation when weighed down by the infirmities of

old age. From that period he led a retired life,

devoted to literature and the practice of all Cliris-

tian virtues. He was a Protestant in religion.

He died at Paris, March 19, 1841, at the age of

84. The Abbe Coquerel accompanied his remains

to the grave, and in an eloquent oration recapitu-

lated the principal events of his histoiy. He died,

he said, with the tranquil conscience of a man

who had concluded a well-spent life.

RosEBERY, earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred in 1703 on Archibald Primrose of Carrington, descend-

ed from Dnncan Primrose, who was settled at Culross in

Perthshire, in the reign of Queen Mary. The surname of

Primrose was originally derived from lands of that name in

Fife. T)ie said Duncan had two sons, Gilbert and Archi-

bald, the former principal surgeon to James VI. and liis

queen, and father of Gilbert Primrose, D.D., one of the

ministers of the Protestant church of Bordeaux in France,

afterwards of the French Church in London, chaplain in or-

dinary to James VI. and Cliarles I., dean of Windsor, 1G28,

and author of several w^orks on religious subjects. The sec-

ond son, Archibald, was father of James Primrose, who, in

1602, was appointed clerk of the privy council, and on 17th

August 1C23, clerk of the council for the prince's revenues in

Scotland. This James was twice married, and had nineteen

children. His eldest daughter, Alison, was the second wile

of the celebrated George Heriot, jeweller to King James VI.

On his death in 1641, he was succeeded in his oilice of clerk

to the privy council by his eldest son by the second marriage,

afterwards Sir Archibald Primrose of Carrington, appointed

tliereto, 2d September that year.

A steady royalist, after the battle of Kilsyth, 15th August

1645, Sir Archibald, then Mr. Primrose, joined the marquis

(if Montrose, and was taken prisoner at the rout of Philip-

liaugli, loth September following. In 1C4G be was tried by

the parliament .at St. Andrews, and found guilt}' of higli

treason, but by the interposition of the marquis of Argyle his

life was spared. He w.as, however, detained in prison till the

capitulation of Montrose in the end of that year. On ob-

taining his release, he repaired to the king, who was then at

Newcastle with tlie Scots armj', and received from liim the

honour of knighthood. In 1648 he was one of the promoters

of the ' Engagement' for the rescue of his captive sovereign.

He attended Charles II. wlien he marched into England in

1651, and was created a baronet 1st August of that year.

After the battle of Worcester, bis estates were sequestrated,

and all sums of money due to him ordered not to be paid.

After the Restoration, Sir Archibald was, in August 1660,
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appointed lord-clerk-register of Scotland, and on 1st June

f'ollowinff constituted one of the lords of session, hy the title

of Lord Canin^ton. The Records of Scotland having heen

CHrricd to London by Cromwell, Sir Archibald, in his capa-

city of lord-register, applied to have tliein returned. Tliey

were accordingly packed up in eighteen casks or hogsheads,

when Lord Clarendon, tlie English chancellor, fancying that

the original Covenant signed in 1G51 by Charles II., was

amongst them, and being anxious to keep it out of the hands

of tlie Scots, had the casks reopened to search for it. Tlie

document was rot found, but in this way, so much time was

lost that the records were sent down in winter, and the ves-

sel, a trader belonging to Kirkcaldy, whicli conveyed them,

being cast aw.ay near tlie Fern Islands, they were irrecovera-

bly lost. (Douglas' Peerage, Wood's ed. vol. ii. p. '103.)

His opposition to Lauderdale rendered him so obnoxious

to the court that, with the duke of Hamilton and others, he

was in 1G7G dismissed from tlie council, and on 11th June

of that year, deprived of bis offices of lord-clerk-register and

a lord of session. He was, however, appointed lord-justice-

gencral, and as such, he presided at the trial of James Mit-

chell, 7th January 1678, for the attempted assassination of

Arclibishop Sliarp. According to liurnet, (Ilislory of his

Own Times, vol. ii. p. 129,) "the judge, ns lie hated Sliarp,

as he went up to tlie bench, passing by the prisoner, said to

him, 'Confess nothing, unless you are sure of your limbs as

well as your life.' Upon tliis hint he, apprehending the dan-

ger, refused to confess." Mitchell, it is well known, had

previously made a confession on the promise of his life, which

was inserted in the records of council. Burnet states that

Primrose " fancied orders had been given to raze the act that

the council had made, so he turned the books and found the

act still on record. He took a copy of it and sent it to Mit-

chell's counsel." When the prisoner prayed tli.at the books of

council should bo sent for, the lord-justice-gener.al and an-

other judge were for granting tlie request, but the majority

of the court were against them, .md the prisoner was con-

demned. Burnet declares that Primrose said to him bis

conscience led him to give Duke Lauderdale this warning of the

matter, but that he was not sorry to see him thus reject it;

and upon it, he said within himself, "I have you now!"

He adds, "Primrose did most inhumanly triumph in this

matter, and said it was the greatest glory of bis life tliat the

four gi'catest enemies he had should come and consign the

damnation of their souls in bis hands." (Hid. vol. ii. pages

130 and 134.)

In consequence of his continued opposition to Lauderdale's

administration, he was removed from office soon after. In

July 1G79, at the urgent request of the country party, be

hastened to London, to support the duke of Hamilton and

his friends in their complaints against Lauderdale, but the

king approved of the measures of his minister, whicli became

more oppressive than ever. Soon after his return to Scot-

land, Sir Archibald died 21st November the same year. Hav-

ing acquired a large fortune, he bought, in lGfi2, the barony

of Bariibougle and Dalmeny, Linlithgowshire, from the fourth

earl of Haddington. He was twice married
;

first, to Eliza-

beth, eldest daughter and coheiress of the Hon. Sir James

Keith of Benholni, second son of the fifth earl Marischal,

and by her had tln-ee daughters and five sons; and, secondly,

to Agnes, daughter of Sir William Gray of Pittendrum,

widow of Sir James Dundas of Newliston, and by her he had

two daugliters and a son, Archibald, first earl of Rosebery.

Margaret, his eldest daughter, became the wife of Sir John

l''owlis of Ravelston, and their son, George Fowlis, assumed

the name and arms of Primrose, his grandfather, Sir Archi-

bald, having settled upon him the estate of Dunip.ace, in Stir-

lingshire, on that condition. He was the father of Sir Archi-

bald Primrose of Dunipace, baronet, who w:is executed at

Carlisle, loth November 174G, for his share in the rebellion

of the preceding year.

Sir William Primrose of Carrington, eldest son of the lord-

justice-general, was admitted clerk of notaries 1st November

1G66, and succeeded his father, as second banmet, in 1G79.

He died 23d September 1G87. His son. Sir James Primrose

of Carrington, third baronet, elected JI.P. for tlie county of

Edinburgh in 1703, was created a peer of Scotland, by the

title of Viscount Primrose, Lord Primrose and Casth-field, by

patent dated at St. Jame.s', 30th November that year, with

remainder, in default of the heirs male of his owu body,

to those of his father, Sir William Primrose. His lord-

ship died 13th June 170G. His eldest son, Archibald, second

Viscount Primrose, died, unmarried, in .lune 1716, when bis

brother, Hugh, became tliird viscount. This nobleman served

as a volunteer with the earl of Crawford in the Imperial ar-

my on the Rhino, and being out on a reconnoitring party,

17th October 173,5, he was severely wounded with a musket-

ball, wliich broke bis jawbone, and came out a little below

one of his eyes. He was appointed lieutenant-colonel of the

33d foot in December 1738, and died 8tli May 1741, without

issue, when his title became extinct, the remainder being to

the heirs male of the body of the first viscount's father.

The first earl of Rosebeiy, Archibald Primrose, only son

by the second marriage of Sir Archibald Primrose, lord-

justice-general, was born 18th December IGGl, and in his

youth served in the Imperial arm}' in Hungary. Before he

was raised to the peerage, he opposed the arbitrary me.asures

of .lames VII., and on 2Gth June 1688, was cited before the

pri\'y council on a charge of leasing-making on the lord-

chancellor, the earl of Perth, and sowing discord among the

officers of state, but by the friendly offices of the duke of

Berwick, King .James' natural son, be obtained a counter-

mand of the process. At the Revolution he went up to Lon-

don, and was appointed one of the gentlemen of the bed-

chamber to Prince George of Denmark, on whose death his

salary of £600 a-year was continued to him for life. In

1695 he waf chosen one of the members of parliament for

the county of Edinburgh, and by patent, dated at Kensing-

ton, 1st April 1700, he was created Viscount Rosebery, Lord

Primrose and Dalmeny, with remainder, first to the heirs

male of his body, and then to the heirs female, and, in de-

fault of them, to his heirs of entail in the lands of Rosebery.

On the accession of Queen Anne, he was sworn a privy

councillor, and created earl of Rosebery, viscount of Inver-

keithing, and Lord Dalmeny and Primrose, in the Scottish

peerage, by patent, dated at St. James', 10th April 1703,

with remainder to the heirs male of his body, and failing

them to the heirs female. He was one of the commissioners

for the treaty of union, and afterwards one of the sixteen re-

presentative peers of Scotland. He died 2nth October 1723,

in bis 59th year. By his countess, Dorothea, only child and

heiress of Everingli.am Cressy of Rirkin, Yorkshire, represen-

tative of the ancient English families of Cressy, Everingliam,

&c., he had six sons .ind six daughters.

The eldest son, James, second earl of Rosebery, born in

1090, on the death in 1741, of his kinsman Hugh, Viscount

Primrose, inherited the family estate and the title of baronet.

He died 26th November 1755, aged 65. He married JIary,

daugliter of the Hon. Lieutenant-general John Campbell,

sister of the fourth duke of .\rgyle. Tliree of his sons liav-

ing predeceased him, bis fourtli son, Neil, bom in 1728, be-

came third earl of Rosebery. He was one of the sixteen
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Scots representative peers, and in Marcli 1771 lie was made

a knight of tlie Tliistle. He died 25tli March 1814. He

was twice married, and by liis second wife, JIarv, only daugh-

ter of Sir Francis Vincent, baronet, he had, with four daugh-

ters, two sons, Archibald John, fourth earl, and the Hon.

Francis Ward Primrose, barrister at law.

Archibald John Primrose, D.C.L., fourtli earl of Rosebery,

born 14th October 1783, studied at Cambridge, and was M.P.,

first for Helston, and afterwards for Carlisle. He was created

a baron of the United Kingdom, by the title of Lord Rose-

bery, 17th Jimuary, 1828. He became a privy councillor in

1831, and a knight of the Thistle in 1840, and in 1843 was

appointed lord-lieutenant of Linhthgowshire. He married,

1st, in 1808, Henrietta, second daughter of the Hon. Bartho-

lomew Bouverie, which marriage was dissolved in 1815, and

she died in 1834; 2dly, in 1819, Anne JIarg.aret, daughter

of the first Viscount Anson. By his first wife he had two

sons .and a daughter, viz., Archibald, Lord Dalmeny, born in

1809, Tsl.F. for the Stirling burghs from 1832 to 1847, was a

lord of the admiralty from April 183.5 till August 1841, mar-

ried in 1843, Lady Catherine Lucy Wilhelmina, only daugh-

ter of the fourth Earl Stanhope, and died 23d January 1851,

leaving, besides another son and two d.iughters, Archibald

Philip, Lord Dalmeny, born 7th May 1847; Lady Hamet,

born in 1810, married in 1835, Sir John Dunlop of Dunlop,

b.aronet; the Hon. Bouverie Fr.ancis, born in 1813, receiver-

general of the post-office in Scotland, married in 1838, Fre-

derica Sophia, sister of the first earl of Lichfield, with issue.

The offspring of the second marriage were Lady Anne, born

in 1820, married in 1848, the Right Hon. Henry Tufnell,

with issue ; and Lady Louisa, born in 1822.

RosEiiiLii, Lord, the courtesy title of the eldest son of the

earl of Northesk.

Ross, the name of a clan, called in Gaelic Cla7i Hosich na

Gille Andras, or the offspring of the followers of St. An-

drew, one of the e.arly chiefs having devoted himself to that

s.aint. The badge of the clan Ross was the juniper, and in

former times, when its chiefs were earls of Ross, they pos-

sessed a large portion of the county of that name in the

north of Scotland. Ross of Pitcalnie is the representa-

tive of the ancient earls. The clan Ross was one of the

eighteen Highland cl.ans that fought on Bruce's side at B.an-

nockburn. In 1427 they could muster 2,000 fighting men
;

in 1716 but 300, and in 1745, 500.

Ross, Earl of, an ancient territorial title in Scotland, the

first who bore it being M.alcolm, in the reign of JIalcolm the

Maiden (1153—1165). Ferquhard, the second earl, called

Fearchar Mac aii t-Sagairti or son of the priest, at the head

of the tribes of Mor.ay, repulsed Donald M'William, the son

of Donald Bane, when, soon after the accession of Alexander

II. in 1214, th.it restless chief made an inroad from Ireland

into that province. In 1235 the earl of Ross marched against

the Gallowegians, who had appeared in arms in support of

the claims of Thomas, the illegitimate son of Alan the last

lord of G.alloway, and defeated them with great slaughter.

In September 1237 he witnessed the treaty entered into by

Alexander II. with Henry III. of England .at York. This

earl was the founder of the abbey of Fearn in Ross-shire.

In the time of William, third e.arl of Ross, about 1250, an

insurrection broke out against him of some of the people of

his own province, and having apprehended their leader, he

impnsoned him at Dingwall. In retaliation, the Highland-

ers seized upon tlie carl's second son at Balnagowan, but
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were pursued by the Monroes and the Dingwalls, and after a

s.inguinai-y conflict the youth was rescued. In requital, the

earl made various gi-ants of land to those who had so bravely

assisted him, (see page 213 of this volume). He was one of

the Scots nobles who entered into an agreement, 8th JIarch

1258, with Lewellyn, prince of Wales, that the Scots and

Welsh should only make peace with England by mutual con-

sent. He sat in the parliament at Scone, 5tli Febi-uary

1283-4, when the succession to the throne of Scotland was

settled on Margaret of Norway.

His son, William, fourth earl, was one of the magnates

ScoticE, and was present in the convention of Brigham, 12th

JIarch 1290, wlien the marriage of Queen Margaret with

Prince Edward of England was proposed. In 1292 he was

one of the nominees on the part of B.aliol in his competi-

tion for the crown, and he swore fealty to Edward I., at

Berwick, od August of the same year. He was in the

Scots array at the battle of Dunbar, 28th April 1296,

and on its defeat he took refuge in Dunbar castle,

which, at that period, was considered the key of Scotland on

the south-east border. The day following. King Edward,

with the main body of the English army, arrived before the

castle, and compelled the garrison to surrender. The earl of

Ross was sent a prisoner to London, but soon obtained his

release. He was one of the witnesses to the treaty of Bruce

with Haco, king of Norway, 28th October 1312. With his

clan he w.as at the b.attle of Bannockburn, and he signed the

memorable letter to the Pope in 1320, .asserting the indepen-

dence of Scotland. He had two sons, Hugh, his successor,

and John, who with his wife, Margaret, second daughter of

Alexander Comyn, fourth earl of Buch.an, got the half of her

father's whole lands in Scotland. He had also a daughter,

Isabel, who became the wife of Edward Bruce, earl of Car-

rick and king of Ireland, brother of Robert the Bruce, 1st

June 1317.

Hugh, the nest earl of Ross, fell, in 1333, at Halidonhill, the

holy hill or mount, (the addition.al word hill is supei-fluous,) so

called from the supernatural aid which Oswald king of Nor-

thumbria is said to have received in battle with Cedwall, a no-

ble British chief, and it was, in consequence, long known by

the name of He.aven-field. Hugh's successor, Willi.am, left

no male heir. His eldest d.iughter, Euphemia, married Sir

Walter Lesley of Lesley, Aberdeenshire, and had a son, Al-

exander, earl of Ross, and a daughter, JIargaret. Earl Alex-

ander m.arried a d.aughter of the regent Albany, and his only

child, Euphemia, countess of Ross, becoming a nun, she re-

signed the earldom to her uncle John, earl of Buchan, Alba-

ny's second son. Her aunt Margaret had married Don.ald.

second lord of the Isles, and that potent chief assumed in her

right the title of earl of Ross, and took possession of the e.arl-

dom. Tliis led to a contest with the regent Albany, and as

Donald asserted his claim with all the clans of the Hebrides

to back it, the battle of H.arlaw in 1411 was the result.

(See vol. i. of this work, pp. 37 and 38, and vol. ii. p. 546.)

On the death of the earl of Buchan and Ross at the battle

of Verneuil in France in 1424, the earldom of Ross reverted

to the crown. James I., on his return from his long captiv-

ity in England, restored it to the heiress of line, the mother

of Alexander lord of the Isles, w-ho, in 1420, h,id succeeded

his father, Donald, above mentioned. In 1425, Alexander,

lord of the Isles .and master of Ross, was one of the jury on

the trial of JIurdoch, duke of Albany, and his sons, and the

aged earl of Lennox. H.aving become embroiled with his

kinsmen, the descend.ants of the first lord of the Isles by his

first wife, (see vol. ii. p. 546,) .and been a participator in va-

rious feuds and disturbances which had thrown the Hebrides

366
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into confusion, lie was, in 1427, sumuioneJ, witli other High-

land chiefs, to a parliament Iield at Inverness by James I.

On his arrival there, however, he and the other chiefs were,

to the nuniher of forty, by a stratagem of the king, arrested

and confined in separate prisons. The countess of Ross, his

mother, was also apprehended, and imprisoned at the same

time, on a charge of encouraging her son in his lawless pro-

ceedings. Some of the imprisoned chiefs were executed, but

the greater part, and among them the lord of the Isles, were

soon set at liberty. In 1429 he summoned togetlier his vas-

sals, both of Koss and the Isles, and at the head of 10,000

men, wasted the crown lands in the vicinity of Inverness,

and burned the town itself to the ground. At the head of

some troops, which he had promptly collected, the king has-

tened, by forced marches, to Locliaber, and surprised the

earl. The mere display of the royal banner won over tlie

clan Chattan and the clan Cameron from his support, and he

himself, suddenly attacked and hotly pursued, was compelled

to sue, but in vain, for peace. Driven to despair, he resolved

to cast himself on the royal mercy, and on Kastcr Sunday,

on the eve of a solemn festival, with his legs and arms quite

bare and covered only with a plaid, he rushed into the king's

presence, amidst his assembled court in the churcli of Holy-

rood, and surrendering his sword, which lie held liy the point

in his hand, fell upon his knees, ;ind abjectly implored his

sovereign's clemency. His life was spared, but he was com-

mitted to close ward for two years in the castle of Tantallon.

His mother, the countess, was also kept in close confinement

in the ancient monastery of Inchcolm, on the small island of

the name in the Frith of Forth. (Fordun, vol. iv. p. 128G.)

They were both released .after about fourteen months' im-

prisonment, and about the same time he succeeded his mo-

ther as earl of Uoss. In 1431, he received a free pardon in

p.arliament for all his crimes, and for some time afterwards

ho conducted himself peaceably, .and even rose into favour.

During the minority of James II. he held the office of justi-

ciary of Scotland north of the Forth, .and to punish the chief

of the cl.an Cameron for deserting him in his conflict with the

Crown in 1427, he forced him to fly to Ireland, .and bestowed

his forfeited lands upon another. In 1445, the earl entered

into a treasonable league with the earls of Douglas and

Crawford against the infant possessor of the throne, but be-

fore his designs could he carried into eflect, he died in 1449,

at his castle of Dingwall. From this stronghold tlie charters,

by which many of the ancient families in Ross-shire held

their hands from the earls of Ross, were dated, " apud cas-

trum nostrum de Dingwall."

Alexander's son, .John, the ne.xt earl of Ross and lord of

the Isles, h.aving joined the earl of Dougl.os in his rebellion

against .Tames II., sent in 1455, to the western coast of Scot-

land, an expedition of .'),000 men, nnder the command of his

near kinsman, Don.ald Balloch, lord of Isla. With this force

lie desolated the whole coast from Innerkip to Bute, the

Cumbr.ays, .and the island of Arran, but from the prudent

precautions taken by the king to repel the invaders, the loss

was not very considerable. The summary of the damage

sustained is thus related in a contemporary record : "There

was slain of good men, fifteen; of women, two or three; of

children, three or four. The plunder included five or six

hundred horse, ten thousand oxen and kine, and more than

a thousand sheep and goafs. At the same time, they burnt

down several mansions in Innerkip around the church ; har-

ried all Arran ; stormed and levelled with the ground the

castle of I'rodick; and wasted, with fire and sword, the isl-

aiuis of the Cumbrays. They also levied tribute upon Bute,

carrying away a hundred bolls of malt, a hundred marts, and

a hundred marks of silver." {Atichinkck C/a-otiicle, p. 55.)

The earl of Ross, on his part, with about 500 followers,

made an incursion into Sutherland, and encamped before the

castle of Skibo. Ho was, however, compelled to retreat into

Ross, whence he sent a party of his men to Stratliflcet in

Sutherland, to lay waste the country. The earl of Suther-

land's brother, ;it the head of a strong force, attacked them
on the sands of Stratlifleet, and overthrew them with great

slaughter. The earl of Ross afterwards made his submis-

sion, and was received into the royal favour. "We find him
in 1457 one of the wardens of the marches. In 14C0, previ-

ous to the siege of Roxburgh castle, he offered, at the head of

.3,000 armed vassals, to march in tlie van of the royal army,

so as to sustain the first shock of conflict from an expected

invasion of the English, and was ordered, with his followers,

to remain, as a sort of body-guard, near the king's person.

On the accession of James III., however, his rebellious dis-

position again showed itself. Edward IV. of England hav-

ing entered into a negotiation with him to detach him from

his allegiance, on the 19th October 1401, the earl of Ross,

Donald Ballocli, and his son, John of Isla, held a council of

their vassals and dependents at Astornisli, at which it was

agreed to send ambassadors to England to treat with Ed-

ward, for assistance to effect the entire conquest of Scotland.

The result has already been related, (see vol. ii. of this work,

pp. 54G, 547. Article, The Lord of the Isles). On the for-

feiture of the lord of the Isles in 1476, the earldom of Ross

became vested in the crown.

Hugh Ross of Raricliies, brother of the last earl of Ross,

obtained a charter of the hands of Balnagow.in in 1374, and

on him by clan law the chiefship devolved. In the begin-

ning of the eighteenth century, Donald Ross of Balnagowan,

the last of his race, sold that estate to the Hon. General

Ross, of whom afterwards, the brother of the twelfth Lord

Ross of H.awkhead, who, although bearing the same surname,

was not in any way related to him.

In February 1778, Munro Ross of Pitcalnie presented a

petition to the king, claiming the earldom of Ross, as male

descendant of the above-named Hugh Ross of Rarichies.

'i'his petition was sent to the House of Lords, but no deci-

sion appears to h.ave followed upon it.

Ross, Duke of, a title possessed hy Prince James, second

son of James III. By roy.al charter dated 2od January

1480-1, when he was only in his fifth year, the whole lands

of the earldom were conferred on him, .and on 29th January

1487-8, he was created duke of Ross, marquis of Ormond,

earl of Edird.ale, and lord of Brechin and Navar. Entering

into holy orders, he became in 1497 archbishop of St. An-

drews, and went to Rome, where he was confii-med by the

Pope. On liis retum, he received from his brother, James

IV., the abbacies of Holyrood and Dunfermline commen-

dam. He also held, in the s.ame way, the monastery of Ar-

broath. In 1502 he w.as appointed lord-liigh-chancellor of the

kingdom, but died in the beginning of 1504, .aged twenty-

eight, and was interred in the chancel of the cathedral of

St. Andrews. He is celebrated by Ariosto (Orlando Fiirioso,

canto X.) in some lines, which Hoole has translated thus:

No form so graceful can our eyes behold.

For Nature made him .and destroy'd the mould
;

The title of the Duke of Ross he bears.

No chief like him in dauntless mind compares.

The next who bore the title of duke of Ross was Ale."!.--!!-
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der, the posthumous son of James IV., born 30th April 1514,

died December 18, 1515.

Lord Daruley, the husband of Queen Mary, was bv lier

created earl of Ross, by charter dated 15th Jlay 1565. One

I f the titles conferred on Charles I., at his baptism, 23d De-

cember 1600, was earl of Ross, and the lands of the earldom

which were possessed by his mother, Anne, queen of James

VI., were conferred upon him, after her death, by charter,

dated 20th June 1619.

Ross, lord of Hawkhead, a title of the earl of Glasgow,

(see vol. ii. p. 308), by which he liolds his seat in tlie house

of lords. The title had been previously held, for nearly three

centuries, by a different family, originally from England, the

first of whom, Godfrey de Kos, came into Scotland in the

twelfth century. He belonged to a Nonnan family which took

tlieir designation from the lordship of Ros in Yorkshire. From

Richard de Morville he received the lands of Stew;u'ton in

Ayrshire, and many of that potent baron's charters were

witnessed by him and his sons, James, Reginald, and I'eter

de Ros. His descendant, Sir John Ross of Hawkhead, was

that Sir John Ross who, in 14-19, with James Douglas, bro-

tlier of the earl of Douglas, and James Douglas, brother of

Douglas of Lochleven, formed one of the combatants against

three Burgundian kniglits, in presence of James II. and his

court, and who, ia 1673, was one of the ambassadors to

England.

The son of this doughty knight, Sir John Ross, first Lord

Ross of Hawkhead, was one of the barons of parliament, od

February 1189-90, and Ross de Halkliead is inserted among

the domini barones in the parliament, 11th JIarch 1503-4.

He appears to have died in 1506. His son, John, second

Lord Ross of Hawkhead, fell at Flodden, leaving a son, Nin-

ian, third Lord Ross. The latter w<is one of the Scots nobles

who, in 1515, were sent ambassadors to France, to endea-

vour to get Scotland inchrded in the pacification with Eng-

land, and in 1584 he ratified a treaty with the English. By

a first wife, a daughter of John, earl of Lennox, he had a

son, Robert, master of Ross, who was killed at the battle of

Pinkie in 1547, in the lifetime of his father. By a second

wife, Elizabeth, the widowed countess of Errol, daughter of

the first Lord Ruthven, he had another son, James, fourth

Lord Ross, who was one of the jury on the mock trial of the

earl of Bothwell in April 1567, and entered into the associa-

tion in support of Queen Mary at Hamilton, 8th May 1568.

He was one of the lords of the queen's party who subscribed

the letter to Queen Elizabeth on Mary's behalf, in JIarch

1570. He died in April 1581. Tlie fourth lord had, with

two daughters, two sons, Robert, fifth lord, who died in Oc-

tober 1695, and Sir William Ross of Muiristou, who carried

on the line of the fiunily.

The fifth lord's son, James, sixth Lord Ross, married i\Iar-

garet, eldest daughter of Walter, first Lord Scott of Buc-

cleuch, afterwards countess of Eglinton, and had, with three

daughters, three sons, James, seventh Lord Ross, who voted

against the five articles of Perth in the parhament of 1621;

William, eighth Lord Ross; .and Robert, ninth Lord Ross,

who all died unmarried : the first in March 1636, the second

in 1640, and the third in August 1648. On the death of the

ninth lord, the title and estates devolved on the heir male.

Sir William Ross of Muiriston, .appointed sherift" principal of

Renfrewshire in 1646, son of Sir William Ross of j\Iuiriston,

above mentioned.

William, tenth lord, was colonel of foot in the counties of

Ayr and Renfrew in 1G48, and one of the committee of the

Estates in 1649. lu 1654 he was fined by Cromwell X3,000

sterling, and died in 1656. His son, George, eleventli Lord
Ross, was, at the Restoration, sworn a privy councillor, and
appointed lieutenant-colonel of the royal regiment of guards.

He died in 1682. He married first, Lady Grizel Cochrane,

only danghter of the first earl of Dundonald, by whom he
had a son, William, twelfth lord, and a daughter, the Hon.
Grizel Ross, the wife of Sir Alexander Gilmour oi' Craigiuil-

lar, baronet, with issue. By a second wife. Lady Jean Ram-
say, eldest daughter of the second eari of Dalbousie, after-

wards viscountess of Oxfurd, he had a son, the Hon. diaries

Ross, who purchased Balnagowan. This gentleman, an oiS-

cer in the army, entered heartily into the Revolution, but

engaged in the plot of Sir James Jlontgomery of Skelmorlie

in 1690, for the restoration of the abdicated family, for which
he was committed to the Tower of London. In 1693 he was
one of the lessees of the poll tax, and in 1695 he became
colonel of the 5th, or Royal Irisli regiment of dragoons.

Elected JLP. for Ross-shire, in 1707, he took an active part

in the debates of the House of Commons, in support of the

Tory administi-ation. In 1712 he was promoted to the rank
of general in the army. On the accession of George I. in

1714, he was deprived of the command of the Royal Irith

regiment of dragoons. In 1720 he was one of the secret

committee of the House of Commons to inquire into the con-

duct of the South Sea directors, and having made a com-
plaint against Mr. Vernon, JI.P. for Whitchurch, for making
corrupt application to him on behalf of Jlr. Aislabie, one of

the directors, that gentleman was expelled parliament, 12th

May 1721, and General Ross received the thanks of the

house. In 1729, soon after the accession of George II., ho

was restored to the command of his regiment. He died un
m.arried at Bath, 5th August 1732. He had a sister, the

Hon. Jean Ross, who married the sixth earl of Dalhousie,

with issue.

William, the twelfth lord, born about 1656, succeeded his

father in 1682, and entered zealously into the Revolution of

1689. He was a privy councillor to King AVilliam and after-

wards to Queen Anne, and in 1704 was lord-higli-commis-

sioner to the Church of Scotland. He was also one of the

lords of the treasury, and a commissioner for the Union, of

which treaty he was a staunch promoter. At the general

election in 1715 he was chosen one of the sixteen Scots re-

presentative peers, and the same year was appointed lord-

lieutenant of Renfrewshire. He died 15th March 1738. lie

was fom- times married. By his first wife, Agnes, daughter

and heiress of Sir John Wilkie of Fouldean, Berwickshire, he

had a son, George, thirteenth Lord Ross, and three daugh-

ters. 1st, Euphemia, countess of Kilmarnock, mother of that

earl of Kilmarnock, who was beheaded on Towerhill for his

share in the rebellion of 1745. 2d, Mary, duchess of Athol

;

and 3d, the Hon. Grizel Ross, wife of James Lockhart of

Carstairs, Lanarkshire, baronet, with issue. None of liis

lordship's other wives had issue, except Lady Anne Ha}',

eldest daughter of the second marquis of Tweeddale, by

whom he had a daughter, Anne, who died unmarried.

George, thirteenth lord, was appointed one of the commis-

sioners of excise in Scotland, 24th November 1720, and one

of the comnnssioners of the customs, 21st September 1730.

He succeeded his father in 1738, and made a settlement of

his estates, 17tli June 1751, on his son and the lieirs male of

his body, and failing them on his daughters, Jane, the wife

of Jolm Maekye of Polgowan, advocate, and JI.P., who took

the name of Roi^s, but had no issue; Elizabeth, who married

the third earl of Glasgow, with issue ; and Jlary, who died

unmarried, and the heirs male of their bodies, remainder to

his nearest heirs and assigns. He died 17th June 1754, in
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liis 73d year. P>y liis wife, Laiiy Eliziibeth Kerr, tliird

daughter of the second marquis of Lothian, lie liad, with the

three daugliters ah'eady mentioned, three sons: I.William,

fiiurteentli Lord Koss ; 2. The Hon. Charles Ross, who, on

Ihe death of his grand-imcle, General Ross, in August 1732,

inherited the estate of Balnagowan. In 1741 he was elected

.M.P. for Ross-shire. He was an officer in the army, and

fell at llie battle of Fontenoy, 30th April 1745, luimarricd.

His untimely fate was commemorated by Collins in one of

liis beautiful odes. Balnagowan devolved on liis father.

3. The Hon. George Ross, who died without issue.

William, 14tli lord, was, when master of Ross, an officer in

the royal army, commanded by the carl of Loudoun at Inver-

ness in 174.5. In the attempt to surprise Prince Charles

ICdward at Moy in February 174G, lie was tlirown down by

the cavalry in their flight, and much hurt. He declared that

he had been in many peril.s, but never ibund himself in such

a grievous condition as on that day. He succeeded his fa-

ther in June 1754, but possessed the title little more than

two months, as he died 19th August the same year, aged 34,

unmarried, when the title became extinct.

The estate of Balnagowan, after an inefTectual opposition

from Sir Alexander Gilmour, went to bis lord.sbip's cousin.

Sir James LocUliart, second baronet of Carstairs. The fifth

baronet of the Lockliart family, Admiral Sir John Lockhart,

assumed the name of R.i.ss, (see vol. ii. p. GS5,) and the

estate of Cav.stairs being .sold in 17G2, lie adopted the desig-

nation of Haliuigowan, by which the family is now known.

'I'he admiinrs oldest son. Lieutenant-general Sir Charles

Ro.'^s, sixth baronet, m.arried, first, JLatilda Theresa, a coun-

tess of the Holy Hom.-m empire, the daughter and heiress of

General Count James Lockhart of Carnwath, and by her liad

a son, who died in childhood, and a daughter, Matilda. Ho
married, secondly, Jlary, eldest daughter of the second duch-

ess of Leiiistcr, with issue. His brother, Lieutenant-colonel

John Ross of the Coldstream Guards, was killed at the battle

of Talavera. The sixth baronet's eldest son. Sir Charles

William Augustus Ross, seventh baronet, born in 1812, suc-

ceeded his father 8tb February 1814. He married bis cousin,

IClizabeth, eldest daugliter of Colonel Robert Ross of the 4lli

dragoon guards, with issue.

The family of Ross of Dalton, Dumfries-shire, and Ross

House, Shropshire, are descended from Randolph Ross, sec-

ond son of John, second Lord Ross, who fell at Flodden, and

brother of Kinian, third Lord Ross.

The ancient family of Ross of Craigie, Perthshire, were

hereditary governors of Spey castle in Pertli, till tlie Refor-

mation, when the keys of the fortress were surrendered, un-

der protest, to the provost and council, by John Ross of

Craigie. This gentleman, one of the chief favourites of King

James V., was taken prisoner by the English at the rout of

Sohvay. On the 11th September 1G18, Jlr. Thomas Ross,

some time a minister, a son of the laird of Craigie, was exe-

cuted .at the Cross of Edinburgh, for that while studying at

Oxford, he affixed upon the principal gate of one of the col-

leges .1 libel against his own countrymen in England, liken-

ing them to the seven lean kine of Egypt, and using many
opprobrious terms against them. The vice-chancellor of

Oxford sent him to the king, who ordered him down to Scot-

land. At his cx.amination, lie said that necessity drove him

to it, that be might procure some benefit from the king. He
confessed at his execution that he was a man of a proud

spirit, but thought the punishment greater than the fault.

(^Caldencoocrs Historic, vol. vii. p. o3G.)

III.

General Patrick Ross of Innernethie, descended from the

Craigie line, by liis wife Mary Clara Maule, related to tlie

Panniure family, had, with other issue, Major-general Sir

Patrick Ross, born 2Gth January 1778. He entered the .ar-

my in 1794, and served in Lidia for nine years, .as captain of

the 22d light dragoons. During the Peniiisuhir war, he was

lieutcn;int-colonel of the 48tli foot, .and served in the Ionian

islands for seven years as lieutenant-colonel of the 75tli foot.

After being resident .and commandant of St. Maura and

Zante, he served as major-general on the staff .at Corfu, and

in 1819 was created a knight grand commander of the order

of St. Jlichael and St. George. He was afterwards governor

and commander-in-chief of Antigua, Jlontserrat, and Bar-

buda, and on his return to England in 1834 he was made a

knight commander of the royal order of the Guelphs of Han-

over. In 1821 he att.ained the rank of m.ajor-general, and

in 184G was .appoiiited governor of St. Helena.

The family of Ross of Netlierley in Kincardineshire, for-

merly of Rossie, Forfarshire, is a branch of the Rosses, Lord

Ross of Hawkhead, and therefore of Norm.an lineage. In

February 1853, Mr. Horatio Ross, at one period JLP. for

Aberdeen, having sold Rossie, purchased the estate of Neth-

crley for £33,000. He married a Miss JlacRae of Inverness-

shire, with issue. Rossie castle, a handsome pile near Mon-
trose, was erected by his father, Hercules Ross of Rossie, in

1805.

ROSS, Alexakder, a voluminous miscellane-

ous writer, the author of about thirty different

works, in prose and poctr}', most of which are

now forgotten, was born at Aberdeen, in 1690.

After being episcopal!)^ ordained, he left Scotland

some time in the reign of Charles I., and was ap-

pointed one of his majcst3''s chaplains, and master

of lliC free school of Soutliampton. He retired

from the latter a sliort time before his death, and

passed the remainder of his days in tlic familj' of

the Hcnleys of Hampshire, to whom he left his

library and a sum of money concealed among his

books. Very little is recorded concerning him,

except tliat, uotwithstanding the troubles of the

times, he contrived to accumulate much wealtii,

and died in 1054, leaving, among numerous other

benefactions, £200 to the town council of Aber-

deen, for the foundation of two bursaries, £50 to

the poor of Southampton, £50 to the poor of the

parish of All-Saints, and £50 to the Bodleian Li-

brar}-. Ross appears to liave enjoyed considera-

ble reputation in his day, and is alluded to hy

Butler, in his Hudibras, in the well-known lines :

"Tlierc was an .ancient sage Philosopher,

And lie had read Alexander Ross over."

His works are

:

Remm .Tudaicanim, Libri 2. Carmine. I.ond. 1617, .?vo.

Lib. Tertius. Lond. 1019. Liber quartus. Lond. 163-'. Ito.
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Questions and Answers on the first vi. Chapters of Gene-

sis, the first book. Lond. 1G20, 8vo.

Tonsor and Cutem Rasus. Lond. 1G27, 8vo.

Three Decads of Divine Meditations, wliereof each one

containeth three parts ; 1. History ; 2. An Allegoiy ; 3. A
Prayer; witli a commendation of a priuate countrey life.

Lond. (without date, but about 1630,) 4to.

Commentum de Terra; motu circulari, refutatum, 2 libris,

contra Lansbergum et Carpentarium. Lond. 1634, fol.

Virgilii Evangelizantis Cliristiadus, libri xiii. Lond. 1634,

1638, 8vo. A worlc much admired in its time, being a Cento

on the Life of Christ, collected from Virgil.

The New Planet no Planet; or, the Earth no wander-

ing Star, against Galilseus and Copernicus. London, 1640,

1646, 4to.

Jlel Heliconium
;

or, Poetioall Honey gathered out of the

weeds of Parnassus. The first book is divided into vii. Chap-

ters, according to the first vii. letters of the alpliabet, con-

taining xlviii. Fictions; out of Vih'ich are extracted many

liistoricall, natural), morall, politicall and theologicall obser-

vations, botli delightfull and usefull, with xlviii. Meditations

in verse. Lond. 1642, 12mo.

God's House, or the House of Prayer vindicated from Pro-

faneness; a Sermon. Lond. 1642, 4to.

God's House made a Den of Thieves ; a Sermon. Lond.

1642, 4to.

Medicus Medicatus
;

or, the Physician's Religion cured.

Lond. 1645, 8vo.

Philosophical Touchstone
;

or, Observations on Sir Ken-

elm Digby's Discourse on tlie Nature of Bodies and of tlie

reasonable Soul ; and Spinoza's opinion of the Mortality of the

Soi.l briefly confuted. Lond. 1645, 4to.

The Picture of tlie Conscience. Lond. 1646, 12mo.

Mystagogus Poetious, or the Muses' Interpreter. Lond.

1647, 8vo. Of this work the Cth edition was printed at

London, 1675, 8vo.

Enchiridium Oratorium et Poeticum. Lond. 1650, 8vo.

Arcana Microcosmi ; or the Hid Secrets of Man's Body

discovered in Anatomical Duel between Aristotle and Galen
;

with a refutation of Tliomas Browne's vulgar errors from

Bacon's Natural History, and W. Harvey's book De Genera-

tione, &c. Lond. 1651, 12mo. 1652, 8vo.

View of all the Religions in the World, with the Lives of

certain notorious Heretics. Lond. 1652, 12mo. 1672, 1675.

sixth edit. 1683, 8vo.

The History of the World, the second Part, in six Books,

being a Continuation of Sir Walter Raleigh's. Lond. 1652,

folio.

Observations upon Hobbes's Leviathan. Lond. 1653, 12nio.

Animadversions and Observations upon Sir W;dter Ra-

leigh's History of the World, wherein his mistakes are noted,

and some doubtful passages cleared. Lond. 1653, Svo.

Abridgement and Translation of John WoUebius's Chris-

tian Divinity. Lond. 1657, 8vo.

Chymera Pythagoria.

Meditations upon Predestination.

Melis.somachia.

Four Books of Epigrams in Latin Elegiacs.

CoUoquia Plautina.

Chronology in English.

There was another Alexander Ross, an episco-

pal divine at Aberdeen, and author of ' A Conso-

latorie Sermon, preaclied, April 15, 16">5, npon tlic

Death of Patrick Forbes, late Bisliop of Aber-

dene,' who is frequently confounded with the pre-

ceding. He was the son of James Ross, minister

of Strachau, in Kincardinesliire, and afterwards at

Aberdeen. He is supposed to have been born

between 1570 and 1580, and was minister fii-st of

Insch, then, iu 1631, of Footdee, and lastly, in

1G36, of St. Nicholas cliurch, Aberdeen. He died

August 11, 1639.

ROSS, Alexander, an eminent poet, the son

of a farmer in the parisli of Kincardine-O'Neil,

Aberdeenshire, was born there, April 13, 1699.

He studied at Marischal college, Aberdeen, where

lie obtained a bursary, and took the degree of

M.A. in 1718. Soon after he was engaged as tu-

tor in the family of Sir William Forbes of Craig-

ievar, baronet, and, on quitting tliis situation, he

became for some time teacher first at the parish

school of Aboyne, and subsequently at that of

Laurencekirk. In 1726 he married Jane Cattan-

acli, the daugliter of a farmer in Aberdeenshire,

by wliom lie had a numerous family. In 1732,

through the interest of Mr. Garden of Troup, he

was appointed schoolmaster of Lochlee, in Forfar-

sliire, where he spent the remainder of his simple

and unvaried life in the discharge of tlie duties of

his humble office. His beautiful pastoral poem,

entitled ' Helenore, or the Fortunate Shepherdess,'

was published at Aberdeen in 1768, together with

a few Scottish songs, among which are the fav-

ourite ditties of ' Woo'd and Married and a'
;'

'The Rock and the wee Pickle Tow;' 'The

Bride's Breast Knot ;' ' To the Begging we will

go,' &c. A second edition appeared in 1778, de-

dicated to the duchess of Gordon, and the work

has since been frequently reprinted. A fifth edi-

tion of 'The Fortunate Shepherdess' was pub-

lished at Dundee in 1812, with a Life of the

author, prefixed by his grandson, the Rev. Alex-

ander Tliomson, minister of Lentrathen, in For-

farshire. On the first publication of the poem, a

letter, highly laudatory of it, appeared in the

Aberdeen Journal, under tlie fictitious signature

of Oliver Old Style, accompanied by an epistle in

verse to the author, from the pen, it is imder

stood, of Dr. Beattie, being the latter's only at-

tempt in the Scots vernacular. In tlie north of

Scotland, where the Buchan dialect is spoken,

' The Fortunate Shepherdess ' continues to be as
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popular as the procUictions of Burns or Ramsay.

Ross died May 20, 1784. He left in manuscript

ei^jlit small voIiudcs of pucnis and other composi-

tions, au account of which is given in Canipbeirs

Introduction to the History of Poetry in Scotland.

ROSS, Sir John, a celebrated arctic voyager,

was the fourth son of the Rev. Andrew Ross,

minister of Inch, Wigtonshire, where he was born

in 1777. His mother, Elizabeth Corsan, was a

descendant of the Coi-sans of Micklcknox, who,

for seventeen generations, were jjrovosts of Dum-

fries. He entered the navj- in 178G, and afier

being a midshipman for (iftcen years, was pro-

moted to be lieutenant in ISOi. In ISOG, when

lieutenant of the Sininam, ho was wounded in

cutting out a Sjjanish vessel from under the bat-

teries of Bilboa. In 181:2 lie was appointed com-

mander of the Briscis, on the Baltic station. V\"\t][

his lieutenant, a midsliiinnan, and 18 men, he

gallantly attacked and recajitured an English

merchant ship, armed with six guns and four

swivels, and defended b}' a party of French troops.

Subsequently, he captured also a Frencli priva-

teer, and drove on shore three other vessels of the

same description. In 1814, Captain Ross was

appointed to the Actaion, 16 guns, and in 1815 to

the Driver sloop.

In 1818, the year which was distinguished as

tlic commencement of his Arctic career, he be-

came a post-captain. The cxtraordinarj- changes

reported to have taken place in the state of the

Polar sea, determined the government to send out

an expedition for Arctic discovery, the command

of which was given to Captain Ross. In his in-

structions, he was directed to explore Baffin's

Bay, and search for a north-west passage from it

into the Frozen Ocean, and thence into the Paci-

fic. Parliament oftered a premium of £20,000

sterling to the first vessel which should reach tlie

North Pole, and pass it. The vessels employed

were the Isabella of 3GS tons, commanded by

Ross himself, and the brig Alexander, of 2.52 tons,

under Lieutenant, afterwards Sir Edward Parry.

The chief geographical i-csidt of his voyage was

the more accurate determi\nvtion of the situation

of Baflin's Bay, which, until then, was believed to

extend ten degrees farther to tlie cast than it ac-

tually docs, and the re-discovery of Lancaster

Sound, up which, however, he did not continue

his progress far enough to find that it was open.

He was obliged to leave the coast on account of

danger from the ice, and, on his return, he pub-

lished an account of his expedition under the title

of 'Voyage of Discovery for the purpose of ex-

ploring Baffin's Bay.' London, 1819, 4to.

In 1829, Captain Ross was enabled, through

the munificent aid of liis friend, Mr., afterwards

Sir Felix Booth, an eminent distiller, then serv-

ing tlie office of sheriff" of London, to undertake

another expedition into the Arctic seas, with a

view' to determine tiie practicability of a new

jiassage ^^ hieli had been confidently said to exist,

particularly by Prince Regent's Inlet. In May

of the year mentioned he set sail from London in

the Victory steamer, witli his nephew, Command-

er Ross, R.N., as second in command. The lat-

ter, afterwards Sir James Clark Ross, had the

departments of astronomy, natural history, and

surveying, in the expedition. He was the third

son of George Ross of Balsarroch, county of Gal-

loway, and had accompanied his uncle in his first

expedition. Between 1819 and 182.3 he was en-

gaged, under Sir Edward Pai'iy, in three other

voyages to the Arctic regions, and again in 1827

he was the companion of Parry in his attempt to

reach the Pole from the northern shores of Spitz-

bergen, b}' travelling with sledge-boats over the ice.

Captain Ross fixed 1832 as the period of his

return, but from the 27th day of July 1829, when

he left the port of AVideford in Greenland, where

he had been obliged to refit,—his vessel, the Vic-

tory, having lost her mainmast,—till August 1833,

nothing was heard of him. In that month he and

his crew were i)icked up in a most miserable con-

dition by Captain R. W. Humphreys of tlic Isa-

bella of Hull, his own old ship, and brought safely

to England. A public subscription had been set

on foot for sending out a ship in search of him.

The sum of £7,000 was raised, the Treasury con-

tributing liberally, and Captain Back, whose ex-

perience had eminentlj' qualified him for the ser-

vice, was appointed to connnand it. He sailed in

the spring of 1833, but received intelligence of

Captain Ross's return, in time to prevent him

fiom encountering any dangers in the prosecution

of the search for him.
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The sufferings of Captain Ross and his crew,

during their protracted stay in the Arctic regions,

were of the severest description. After passing

three winters of unparalleled rigour, finding their

provisions nearly consumed, they were obliged, in

May 1832, to abandon the Victory, and set out

upon a journey of nearly 300 miles over the ice,

which proved one of uncommon hardship and

difficulty. In the month of July they reached

Fury Beach. " During tliis journey," we are told,

" they had not only to carry their provisions and

sick, but also a supply of fuel. Without melting

snow they could not procure even a drink of wa-

ter. Winter set in, and no choice was left but to

retrace their steps, and spend another inclement

season in canvas, covered with snow." In August

1833, they fell in with the Isabella, and were

taken on board, " after having been for four years

lost to the civilized world."

The narrative of this second expedition was

published in 1835, in a quarto volume of 350

pages. Its great results were the discover}' of

Boothia Felix, a countrj' larger than Great Bri-

tain, and so called after Sir Felix Booth, and that

of the true position of the north magnetic Pole.

The latter was discovered by Captain Ross's ne-

phew, who liad tlie honour of placing thereon the

British flag. This intrepid officer, whose whole

life may almost be said to have been passed in the

Arctic and Antarctic seas, commanded the expe-

dition to the South Polar regions from 1839 to

1843, and attained the highest latitude ever

reached (78 deg. lOmin.). He approached with-

in 160 miles of the south magnetic Pole, and dis-

covered a southern continent which he named

' Victoria Land,' and an active volcano of nearly

13,000 feet elevation, which he called Mount Er-

ebus, after his ship. For these services he Avas

knighted in 1844. In 1847 he published at Lon-

don, in 2 vols. 8vo, 'A Voyage of Discovery and

Research in the Southern and Antarctic Regions

during the years 1839-43, by Captain Sir James

Clark Ross.'

In consequence of his Arctic voyages. Captain

Ross received numerous marks of public approba-

tion. In 1834 he was knighted and made a com-

panion of the order of the Bath. The freedom of

the cities of London, Liverpool, Bristol, Hull,

and other towns, was bestowed upon him. He
was presented with gold medals from the Geo-

graphical Society of London, the Geographical

Institute of Paris, the Royal Societies of Sweden,

Austria, Denmark, &c. Foreign powers also

marked their sense of his discoveries. He was

appointed a commander of the Sword of Sweden
;

a knight of the second class of St. Anne of Rus-

sia (in diamonds)
; the second class of the legion

of honour of France ; the second class of the Red

Eagle of Prussia ; and the second class of Leo-

pold of Belgium. He also got six gold snuff-

boxes from Russia, Holland, Denmark, Austria,

London, and Baden
; a sword of the value of £100

from the Patriotic Fund ; and one of the value of

£200 from the king of Sweden, for service in the

Baltic and AVhite Seas, and various other acknow-

ledgments.

In 1838 Sir John Ross was appointed British

consul at Stockholm, and he held that office till

1844. The following year, when Sir John Frank-

lin went out on his last fatal expedition to the

Polar seas, his friend, Sir John Ross, made him a

promise, that if he should be lost, he would sail

for the Arctic regions and look for him. This

promise he kept. In 1850, at the age of seventy-

three. Sir John went out in the Felix, a small

vessel of no more thnn 90 tons, and remained a

winter in the ice. He relinquished his half-pay

and his pensions for the cause he had so much nt

heart, yet the admiralty refused to contribute even

a portion of the necessary stores. Though the

first of our Arctic voyagers, he was excluded

from the Arctic councils, nt which his experience

and advice would have been very valuable. In

the spring of 1855, he published n pamjihlet on

his ill treatment. At the time of his death he

was a rear-admiral. He died in London, Aug.

31, 1^56. He was twice married: first, in 1816,

to the daughter of T. Adair, Esq., writer to the

signet, Edinburgh
;
and, 2dly, in 1834, to a daugh-

ter of T. Jones, Esq. of London. His works are:

Voyage of Discovery in H. M. S. Isiibella and Alexaniier,

for tlie purpose of e.xploriiig Bnffin's Bay, and enquiring into

the possibility of a Koi th-west passage. London, 1819, 4to.

A Treatise on Navigation by Steam, comprising a History

of the Steam Engine. London, 1828, 4to.

NaiTative of a Second Voyage to the Arctic Regions.

London, 1834, 12mo.

Narrative of a Second Voyage by Capt. Ross, R.N., in
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se.'ircli of a Nortli-west passnge, including; tlie Reports of liis

nepliew, Ciipt. James Cl.irk Ross. Loudon, 1835, 4to.

Appendix. London, 183.'), -Ito.

Lettei's to younj; Sea Officers.

Memoirs of Lord de Saumarez.

A painplilet on his ill treatment by tlie Admiralty. Lon-

don, 18oj.

His iiei)lie\v, Sir Juiiies Ci;trk Ross, the son of

George Ross, Esq. of Ikiis.aiTocli, was also a dis-

tinguished Arctic navigator. Born in London,

April 15, 1800, he entered tlie navy in .April 1812,

on board the Briseis, commanded by his uncle,

Captain Ross, and accompanied him, as a midship-

man, in his first voyage in seai'cli of a North-west

passage. From 1819 to 1825, he was engaged

with Captain Party in his three voyages, and dur-

ing his absence, in 1822, he was made lieutenant.

He again accompanied Captain Tarry in 1827, and

on his rctiu'n to England he was appointed com-

mander, lie also joined his uncle. Captain John

lloss, from 1829 to 1833, on his second voyage in

search of a North-west passage, .and in Oct. 183i,

became post-captain. In 1839 he was appointed

to the command of an expedition in the Erebus

and Terror, to the Antarctic seas. After his return

in 1813 he married, and received the honour of

Icnighthood in 181:4:. In 1847 he publised the re-

sults of his discoveries and Researches in the

Southern and .\ntaretic regions in two volumes.

In Jan. 1848 lie made a voyage in the Enterprise

to Ballin's Bay, in search of Sir John Franklin,

but M'as unsuccessful, lie died -April 3, 18G2.

Rossi.YN', a title in the peerage of Great Britain, now pos-

sessed by the family of Krskine, but originally, iu 1801, con-

ferred on Alexander Wedderburn (see Weddekisurx, sur-

name of). Lord -high -chancellor of England. This distin-

guished lawyer, the eldest son of Peter Wedderburn, Lord

Chesterhall, one of the senators of the college of justice in

Scotland, was bom in East Lothian, February 13, 1733. His

great-grandfather, Sir Peter \\'edderburn of Gosford, de-

scended iVoni an old family in Forfarshire, w;is an eminent

lawyer and judge during the reigu of Charles IL

Young Wedderburn studied at the university of Edinburgh.

He was educated for the law of Scotland, and was admitted

advocate in 1752, at the early age of nineteen. He soon ob-

tained a respectable share of practice, but liaving gained a

cause in which the celebrated Lockhart was the opposing

counsel, that eminent barrister, in his chagrin at being de-

feated, styled liim "a presumptuous boy." The young ad-

vocate's reply was so very sarcastic, that it called down upon

him a severe rebuke from one of the judges, on which Wed-
derburn indignantly threw off his gown, and declared that he

would never again plead in a place where he was subjected to

insult. Removing to London, he entered himself a member

of the Inner Temple, May 8, 1753, by which society he was

called to the Englhsli bar November 23d, 1757. In 1763, he

obtained a silk gown as king's counsel, and became a bencher

of Lincoln's Inn. He rapidly acquired reputation and prac-

tice, and was eminently successful as counsel for the cele-

brated Lord Clive. In 17(;8-9 he was one of the barristers

engaged in the great Douglas cause, and his eloquent pleading

on this occasion not only attracted the favourable notice of

Lord Camden, but secured for him the friendship and patron-

age of the earls of Bute and JIansfield. He was subsequently

called to the degree of sergeant-at-law, and, in January 1771,

he was appointed solicitor-general. In June 1773 he was

made attorney-general. The year following, the offensive

nature of his language towards Franklin, when arguing before

the privy council on American affairs, drew upon him, at the

time, some severe though well-merited censure. He first sat

ill parliament as member for Kichinond; in 1774 he was

chosen both for Castle Rising and Oakhampton, hut preferred

the latter; and, in 1778, he was elected for Bishop's Castle.

In 1764 lie distinguished himself by a spirited opposition to

the e.spulsion of John Wilkes. In the course of the ne.xt

year he married the (Laughter and heiress of John Dawson,

Esq. of Jlorley, Yorkshire. He joined Mr. George Grenville

in opposition to the administration, and was most eloquent

and animated in his speeches against their policy with regard

to the American colonies, predicting that by the measures of

ministers, these colonies would, "in the reign of George III.,

be dissevered from the British empire." In the course of

Hilary Term 1771, he accepted the office of solicitor-general

to the king and coflerer to her majesty. After he became

solicitor-general, however, he changed his views, and defend-

ed all the acts of government in regard to America,—conduct

which brought upon him the re.'^entinent of his former politi-

cal friends. " It is at least candid to believe," says one im-

partial writer, " tliat Jlr. Wedderburn, upon this occasion,

was actuated by the purest motives, and that a ch.ange so

sudden, a conversion so instantaneous, originated in the most

profound conviction. His enemies, however, were bitter in

their resentment, and so illiberal in tlieir animosity, that they

would not allow the intervention of any one honourable prin-

ciple. They carried their hatred to such a length, that they

attacked his principles, his profession, and even his country."

In respect to his profession, it was observed, "that the patri-

otism of a lawyer is always problematical," and that, " having

been accustomed, in tlie courts below, to plead for or .igainst,

according to his brief, he had carried the same facility of

disposition up stairs with him."

In Trinity Term, 1778, be was nominated attorney-general,

in consequence of tlie elevation of Lord Thurlow to the

Chancery bench. In this situation it does not appear that

he exercised the office of pro.secutor for the crown with any

degree of asperity. On the contraiw, his official conduct, as

compared with that of any of his predecessors, was mild and

meritorious. In the meantime, be persevered in supporting

the measures of Lord North, wliicli were intended to reduce

America to a state of unconditional submission. So strenuous

was the zeal of some individuals at this period, that they

offered to subscribe money and raise regiments for the pur-

pose of coercing the colonies. Wedderburn's arguments, it

was said, were full of confident assertions and predictions,

never meant to be fulfilled, but merely to answer the tempo-

rary purposes of debate.

in June 1780 be was sworn a member of the pri\-y council,

and appointed chief justice of the common ple.as, being raised

to the peerage under the title of Lord Loughborough, of

Loughborough, in the county of Leicester. In April 1783
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he united with Lord North in forming the celebrated coalition

ministry, in which he held the appointment of first commis-

sioner for keeping the great seal. On its dissolution he was

thrown out -of office, and joined the opposition under Mr.

Fox ; but in January 1793, under the alarm produced by the

French Revolution, with many others, he gave in his acces-

sion to Pitt's administration, and on the 27th of that month

he succeeded Lord Tliurlow as lord-high-chancellor. He re-

tired from that office in April 1801, when he was created earl

of Rosslyn, in Mid-Lothian, with remainder to his nephew, Sir

James St. Clair Erskine of Alva, leaving no children of his

own. He had been twice married, his second wife being the

Hon. Charlotte Courtney. He died at Bayles, in Berkshire,

January 3, 1805, and was interred in St. Paul's Cathedral.

Lord Rosslyn was an able lawyer, and an eloquent speaker,

and " appeared," says Sir Egerton Bridges, " to be a man of

subtle and plausible, rather than solid talents. His ambition

was great, and his desire of office unlimited. He could argue

with gre.at ingenuity on either side, so that it was difficult to

anticip.ate his future by his past opinions. These qualities

made him a valuable partizan, and a useful and efficient

member of any administration." In 1755 he contributed to

the first Edinburgh Review, Critiques on Barclay's Greek

Grammar, the Decisions of the Court of Session, and the

Abridgment of the Public Statutes; and in 1793 he published

" Observations on the State of the English Prisons, and the

means of improving them."

Sir James St. Clair Erskine, sixth baronet of Alva, second

earl of Rosslyn, was the eldest son of Lieutenant-general Sir

Henry Erskine, fifth baronet of that family (see vol. ii. page

145), by his wife, Janet Wedderburn, daughter of the above-

named Lord Chesterhall and sister of the first earl of Rosslyn.

Born in 17G2, he succeeded his father in the baronetcy the fol-

lowing year, and in 1778 entered the army as cornet in the

1st horse-guards. In 1782 he served on the staff in Ire-

land, as aide-de-camp to the lord-lieutenant, and was subse-

quently appointed assistant-adjutant-general in that countrj'.

In 1783 be became major in the 8th light dragoons. In

1789 he succeeded Colonel Paterson, son of the Hon. Grizzcl

St. Clair and John Paterson of Prestonball, in the St. Clair

estates, parish of Dysart, Fifeshire, and in consequence as-

sumed the name and arms of St. Clair. These estates at

one period belonged to the Lords Sinclair, and had been set-

tled on the Hon. James St. Clair, second son of the seventh

Lord Sinclair, John, master of Sinclair, the eldest son, hav-

ing been attainted for his share in the rebellion of 1715. On

the latter receiving a pardon in 172G, his brother, wdio was

afterwards a general in the army, generously gave the estates

up to him, but succeeded him in them in 1750. On Gener.al

St. Clair's death in 1702, without issue, he was succeeded in

his heritable property by his nephew, Colonel Paterson, who

assumed the name of St. Clair, and died unmarried. In

1792 Sir James Erskine received the lieutenant-colonelcy of

the 12th light dragoons. Tlie following year he served with

his regiment at Toulon, and afterwards as adjutant-general

to the forces in the Mediterranean. In 1795 he obtained the

rank of colonel, and was appointed aide-de-camp to the king.

From November 179G to the end of 1797 he was employed .as

brigadier-general and adjutant-general to the British army

in Portugal. In 1798 he attained the rank of major-general,

and was present at the reduction of Minorca. In January

1805 he succeeded his uncle as second earl of Rosslyn. The

same year he became lieutenant-general, and was pl.aced on

the staff in Ireland. Before his accession to the peerage he

had been for 23 years a member of the House of Commons.

In 180G he again served in Portugal. In 1807 he was at the

siege of Copenhagen, and in 1809 in the Zealand expedition.

In June 1814 he attained the full rank of general. In 1829

he was appointed keeper of the privy seal, and sworn a

member of the privy council, and in December 1S34 he was

lord-president of the council in Sir Robert Peel's brief ad-

ministration. He was a knigbt grand cross of the Bath, and

lord-heutenant of Fifeshire. He died 18th January 1837.

His eldest son, James Alexander St. Clair, Lord Lough-

borough, born 15th February 1802, succeeded as third earl of

Rosslyn. In 1841 he was sworn a member of the privy

council, and from September of that year to July 1846 he

was master of the buckhounds to the queen. In 1854 he

became a major-general in the army. He married, 10th

October 1826, Frances, daughter of Lieutenant-general We-
myss of Wemyss; issue, a daughter, L.ady Han'iet Elizabeth,

and two sons, James Alexander, Lord Loughborough, born

10th Jlay 1830, an ofScer in the life-guards, who died, un-

married, 28th December 1851, and Robert Francis, Lord

Loughborough, born 2d JIarch 1833.

EoTiiES, earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred, before 20th March, 1457-8, on George de Lesley of

Rothes, Fifesliire, the ninth in descent from Bartholomew, a

Flemish baron, ancestor of the family in Scotland, (see vol.

ii. p. 655). The first earl died about 1488, and having been

predeceased by his only son, Andrew, master of Rothes, was

succeeded by his grandson, George, second e.arl, who, with

his younger brother, William, was killed at Flodden. The

latter had two sons: George, who succeeded as third earl,

and John, one of the prisoners taken by the English at the

rout of Sohv.ay in 1542. He has obtained .an historical name

as being one of the chief conspirators in the assassin.ation of

Cardinal Bethune. After the martyrdom of George Wishart,

March 1, 154G, he declared in al! companies, holding his

dagger in his hand, that "that same dagger and th.at same

hand shall be priest to the c.irdin.al," and he kept his word.

George, third earl, was in 1529 appointed sheriff of Fife.

He attended King James V.. on his matrimonial expedition

to France in 1536. He was admitted a lord of session, Nov.

IG, 1532, and on Dec. 7, 1541, he had a charter of the office of

sherifi" of Fife to himself in liferent, and to Norman bis son

in fee, on his own resignation. In 1543 he fell under the

suspicion of the governor Arran and Cardinal Bethune, and in

Nov. of that year was apprehended at Dundee, with Lord

Gray and Balnaves of Halhill. The foUoning year he was

set at liberty, and on Nov. 7 was appointed a lord of the

articles. In June 154G, after the murder of Cardinal Bethune,

in wliich his brother John and his son Norman were the two

principal actors (see vol. i. pp. 293, 294), the friends of the

cardinal prevailed on the governor to have him tried for ac-

cession to the murder, while the Scots army was on its way

to repel an invasion on the western borders, when he was ac-

quitted. In June 1550, he was sent ambassador to Denmark,

and on Dec. 18, 1557, he was one of the eight commissioners

elected by the estates to represent the Scots nation at the

nuptials of Queen Mary and Fr.ancis the daupliin in Paris,

April 24, 1558. The firm conduct of these commissioners in

refusing the crown matrimonial to that prince, gave great

offence to the French court, and it w.as thought that poison

was administered to them, as the earls of Rothes and Cassillis,

and Ileid, bishop of Orkney, three of then- number, died at

Dieppe, on their way home, in November.

The earl was four times married. By his 1st wife, and his

4th, he had no issue. His 2d wife, (according to Douglas'

Peerage) was Agues, daughter of Sir John Somerville of Cam-

busnethan, and by her he had 4 sons and 2 if not 3 daugh-
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ters. The sons were, 1. Andrew, who succeeded as 4lh earl

of Hothes; 2. Peter; 3. James; i. John. In 1517, previous to

liis nuptials with Agnes Sonicrville, lie had contracted a mar-

riage with Jlargaret, only daughter of WilMani, 3d Lord Crich-

tou, and granddaughter of James II. This marriage was de-

clared, before 1524, to he uncanonical. By this lady, "Lis

afKdate spouse," and whom, after the death of Agnes Somer-

ville, he married regularly, he had four sons born previously

to his marriage with the latter. 1. George, who died un-

married ; 2. Norman, called the JIaster of liothes, of wlioni

ai'lerwards; 3. William; 4. Robert of Findrassic, ancestor of

the Leslies of Wardes and Findrassie.

Tlie above-named Norman Leslie, master of Rothes,

is well known in Scottish liistory. He distinguished himself

at the battle of Ancrum iMoor against tlie English in Feb.

1545, but was forfeited in parhanient, Aug. 1540, for his

share in the deatli of Cardinal Bethune. After the surren-

der of the castle of St. Andrews to the French in June fol-

lowing, he was carried, with the otiier prisoners, to France.

Ho alterwanls entered into the king of France's service, and

gained great reputation in the wars between that monarch

and the emperor of Germany. He was killed in an engage-

ment fought between their armies near Canibray in 1554.

Referring to his two younger brothers, j\Ir. David Laing, in his

edition of ' Kno-t's History of the Reformation,' says in a

note:—"The reader may be referred to the appendi.\ of Nis-

bet's 'Heraldry,' to explain the grounds upon which tliey, as

heirs-male, were passed over in the succession at their father's

death in 1558, when Andrew Leslie, the eldest son by a sub-

sequent marriage, and who had married a niece of the gover-

nor, the Earl of Arran, became Earl of Rothes." Of these

two brothers, William is understood, died without issue, as

Nornnm also liad previously done. Robert, the otlier brother,

settled in Morayshire, in the parish of Spynie, and became

founder of the Findrassie family. He married Janet Eljihin-

stone, a daughter of Robert Lord Elphinstone, and left three

sons and two daughters. The representative of this family

in the direct line is Sir Charles Henry Leslie, of Wanies and

Findrassie, baronet, a minor (18G2), who, as descended from

an elder son of the third Earl of Rothes, is the uiuloubtcd re-

presentative of tlie Leslies. (See vol. ii. p. 655.)

Andrew, eldest son "f George, third earl of Rothes, by

Agnes Somerville, succcr.ied his father as 4th carl ia Nov.

1558. In Juno of the following year, he joined the lords of

the Congregation at Cupar, " with a goodly company," when

threatened by the troops of the queen regent, and as he was

hereditary slieriff of Fife, his prompt accession at that time,

greatly strengthened their cause. He was one of the pro-

test.mt noblemen who signed the ratification of the contract

of Berwick, lOtli May 15G0, for the assistance of the English

against the party of the queen regent. In September 15G1,

when the youthful Queen JIary, after her return from France,

made a tour through some of the principal towns of the

kingdom, she spent a night at Leslie house, Fife, the seat of

the carl of Rothes. Randolph, the English ambassador,

wrote to Cecil, Qnecn Elizabeth's minister, that the plate

and some other .articles belonging to the earl, disappeared

diu-ing this short visit, but he does not insinuate who among

the queen's fiiUowers, many of them Frenchmen, were sup-

posed to have taken them. On the m.arriage of the qneen

with Lord Darnley, 27tli July 1765, he was one of the noble-

men engaged in the " Clinse-abont Raid," and with the other

malcontent lords was forced to take refuge in England. He
was afterwards panloned by the queen. He joined the asso-

ciation on her behalf at Hamilton, !)th ILiy 1568, and fought

on her side at Langside. In 1581 he was one of the jury on

the trial of the regent Morton, and as he had also been on

the juiy at the mock trial of the earl of Bothwell, it w.is af-

terwards alleged against him and the laird of Lochinvar, who
had likewise been on both assizes, that they had found Mor-

ton guilty of that whereof they had cleared Bothwell. In

1583, he was appointed tempor.'xry keeper of the castle of

Lochleven. He married, first, Grizzel, daughter of Sir James

Hamilton of Finnart, and, with other issue, h.ad, James,

master of Rothes, who was engaged in the raid of Rulhven

in August 1582, but died before his father, leaving a son,

.John, fifth earl of Rothes ; .and Patrick, commendator of

Lindores, ancestor of the first four Lords Lindores and of the

Lords Newark. By his second countess, Jean, daughter of

Patrick, Lord Ruthven, the widowed Lady Jletliven, he had

two daughters; and by his third wife, Janet, daughter of

David Durie of Durie, Fife, he had three sons and a daugh-

ter. The second son. Sir .Tohn Leslie of Newton, was the

ancestor of the fifth and subsequent Lords Lindores.

John, fifth earl, the great Covenanter, born in IGOO, was

.served lieir to his grandfather, earl Andrew, in 1621. In

th.at year he was one of the few noblemen who had the cour-

age to oppose the act of confirmation in parliament of the

five articles of Perth. In 1626 he was one of the commis-

sioners sent to London with a petition against the king's

measures in relation to the church, at which Charles is said
;

to have "storm'd as if too high a straine for sulijects and
j

petitioners." (^Balfour's Annals, vol. ii. p. 153.) He car-

ried the sceptre in the procession of the 18th June 1633,

when the king, on his visit to Scotland that year, went in

state from the castle of Edinburgh to the chapel royal of

Holyrood- House. In the parliament wliich met two days

after, at which the king w:is present, lie opposed, with great

spirit, the act " anent his majesty's royal prerogative and

apparel of kirkmen," insisting that it should be divided, but

the king said that it was now one act, and he must either

vote for it, or against it. The e.arl said he was for the pre-

rogative as much as any man, but that addition relative to

the apparel of kirkmen, was contrary to the liberties of the

church, and should not be agreed to, until they were heard.

The votes were declared to be in favour of the act, when his

lordship challenged their correctness. Clarendon s.a^'s that,

after this, Charles was so highly offended with Rothes that

he would not speak to him ; and in his progress to Falkland

palace, in July, he is said purposely to have changed his

route, to avoid the gentlemen of Fife, who had been collected

by the earl of Rothes, for his reception. His lordship was

one of the chief preparers of the Covenant, .and when the

marquis of H.amilton, the king's commissioner, .attempted to

dissolve the famous Glasgow Assembly of 1638, Lord Rothes

presented a protest against the dis.solution, as he did also

against the marquis' proclamation thereanent. From th.at

period till the conclnsion of the treaty at Rippon in June

1641, he took a very active share in public matters, and was

the author of ' A Relation of proceedings concerning the af-

fairs of the Kirk of Scotland, from August 1637 to July

1638,' which was printed for the Bannatyne Club in 1830,

in one volume 4to, with a full-length portrait of the carl.

Various public letters written by him during 1637 and 1641

are contained in Mr. Thomson's edition of the Acts of par-

liament (Acts 1641, vol. v.); in Balcanquhall's Large Decla-

ration, 1639; in Baillie's Letters .and Journals ; in Balfour's

.•\nn.ils; in Burnet's Lives of the Dukes of Hamilton ; and

in different mannscript collections. In 1639 he was one of
|

the commissioners deputed by the Scottish army, then en-
]

camped on Dnnse L.aw, to treat with the king, who, with his

forces, was stationed at the Birks, a plain on the English
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side of the Tweed, about three miles from Berwick. In

Hardwicke's State Papers (vol. ii. pp. 130—139), is printed

an interesting account of a conference held between the king

and Rothes and the other Scottish commissioners, in the tent

of the lord-general, the earl of Arandel, 11th June 1639,

which led to the pacification of Benvick. So keen was lie

at this time in the cause of the Covenant, that in one of his

letters to the earl of Pembroke, then lord-chamberlain, dated

Edinburgh, 29th Januaiy 1639-40, "he threatens the Eng-

lish nation with war, if the hierarchy of the church was not

new-molded, to the minds of the Scottish commissioners."

The same year (1640) he was nominated chief of the com-

missioners sent to London to treat with the king. His resi-

dence there and his intercourse with the court appear to have

had some influence in moderating his views, if not of gaining

liim entirely over to the king's party. Clarendon says

:

" Certain it is, that he had not been long in England before

he liked both the kingdom and the court so well, that he

was not willing to part with either. He was of a pleasant

and jovial humour, without any of those constraints which

the formality of that time made that party subject them-

selves to." He was to have been appointed one of the lords

of the bedchamber and a privy councillor, and he had the

prospect of a marriage with Lady Devonshire, "a very wise

lady," says Baillie, "with £4,000 sterling a-yeav." A life-

pension of £10,000 Scots (£833 6s. 8d. sterling) had been

settled on him, and was confirmed by parliament in Augu.st

1641, in which month he was to have accompanied the king

to Scotland, had not illness prevented him. He died at

Richmond upon Thames on the 23d of the same month, and

his death was considered a great blow to the king's hopes of

accommodation with the Scots, happening as it did so sud-

denly, just at that particular time. By his countess, Lady

Ann Erskine, second daughter of John, earl of Mar, he had

a son, John, created duke of Rothes, who was as much op-

posed to the Covenant as his father had been for it, and

two daughters. Lady Margaret, who was thrice married, being

successively Lady Balgonie, countess of Buccleuch, and coun-

tess of Wemyss, and had issue to all her husbands, and Lady

Mary, countess of Eglinton.

John, sixth earl, was the duke of Rothes of Charles the

Second's reign. Born in 1680, he was eleven years of age

when he succeeded his father. On the arrival of Charles II.

in Scotland, in 1650, he waited on the king, and carried the

sword of state at his coronation at Scone, 1st January 1651.

The following month he was appointed colonel of one of the

two regiments of horse levied in Fife for the king's service,

and was taken at the battle of Worcester, 3d September the

same year. He was confined in the Tower of London till

1654, when he was removed to Newcastle. By the interest

of the countess of Dysart, afterwards duchess of Lauderdale,

with Cromwell, he obtained his liberty in July 1655. In

January 1658, he was committed to Edinburgh castle, by

order of Cromwell, in order to prevent a duel between him

and Viscount Howard, on account of the earl's supposed

gallantry to the viscount's wife. His estate was sequestrated

in April the same year, and through the good offices of

General Monk, he was liberated the first of December follow-

ing. He afterwards went to Breda, to wait on Charles II.

At the Restoration he was appointed lord-president of the

council of Scotland "by the joint consent of all the opposite

parties, for his youth h.ad as yet suffered him to have no

enemies, and the subtlety of his wit obliged all to.court his

friendship." (^Mackenzie's Memoirs, p. 8). He was also

named a lord of session, 1st June 1661, and at the same time

was appointed one of the commissioners of exchequer. On

the fall of the earl of Middleton, he was constituted lord-high-

commissioner to the parliament which met at Edinburgh,

18th .June 1663, and the same year he received the staff of

high-treasurer of Scotland, in room of his father-in-law, the

earl of Crawford. He was also appointed captain of the

troop of life-guards and general of the forces, and sworn a

privy councillor of England. The following year, on the

death of the earl of Glencaii-n, he was appointed keeper of the

privy seal of Scotland, so that he held the three highest

offices in the kingdom. In all matters relating to the church

the earl of Rothes followed the violent counsels of Archbishop

Sharp, and his conduct in reference to the oppressed Presby-

terians w.-is in consequence of the most persecuting kind.

In 16G7, Lauderdale supplanted him in the royal favour,

and on 16th -^pril that year, he was stripped of all his em-
ployments, except the chancellorship. He had been repre-

sented to the king, and that not by the Presbyterians, but by

some of his own colleagues in the government, as unfit to hold

such high ofiices, on account of his dissolute and lascivious

life, which it was said was wholly given up to debaucherv.

He afterwards joined the party of the duke of York, through

whose influence he was, by patent, dated at \\'indsor, 29th

May 1680, created duke of Rothes, marquis of Ballenbreich,

earl of Lesley, viscount of Lugton, Lord Auchmutie and

Caskiebery, with limitation to the heirs m.ale of his bodv.

He did not long enjoy his new titles, as he died of jaundice

at Holyrood-house, Edinburgh, 27th July 1681, aged 51. As
he had no m.ale issue, his ducal titles became extinct at his

death. He had two daughters, Lady JIargaret, on whom the

earldom devolved, and Lady Christian, marchioness of Mon-
trose, mother of the first duke of Montrose.

The duke of Rothes does not bear an enviable char.actcr

among the Scots statesmen of Ills time. His talents were of

no mean order, though he was totally devoid of learning.

Lord Fountainhall says, he gave himself " great libertie in

all sorts of pleasures and debaucheries, particularly with

Lady Anne, sister to the first duke of Gordon, whom he took

along with him in his progress through the country in hat

and feather, and by his bad example infected many of the

nobility and gentry." He is said to have excused his gallan-

tries on the ground that, as Charles' commissioner, it became

him in all things to represent the rov.al person. The follow-

ing passage, suppressed in the earlier editions of Burnet's

history, gives a singular account of his intemperance: " He
was unhappily made for drunkenness. For as he drank all

his friends dead, and was able to subdue two or three sets of

drunkards, one after another, so it scarce ever appeared that

he was disordered, and after the greatest excesses, an hour

or two of sleep carried them all oft' so entirely that no sign of

them remained. He would go about his business without

any uneasiness, or discovering any heat either in body or

mind. This had a terrible conclusion
;

for, after he had

killed all his friends, he fell at last under such a weakness of

stomach that he had perpetual cholics, when he w.is not hot

within and full of strong liquor, of which he was presently

seized; so that lie was always either sick or drunk."

His elder daughter, Margaret, countess of Rothe.s, married

Charles, fifth earl of Haddington, and died 20th August

1700. They had three sons, viz., John, seventh earl of

Rothes; Thomas, sixth earl of Haddington, and the Hon.

Charles Hamilton, who died young.

John, seventh earl of Rothes, the eldest son, was appointed

keeper of the privy seal of Scotland in 1704, but the follow-

ing year he was removed from that ofiice. At the general

election of 1708, he was chosen oue of the sixteen Scots re-

presentative peers, and subsequently was twice re-elected.
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After the accession of Geoige I., he was, in November 1714,

appointed vice-admiral of Scotland, and in 1715, governor of

Stirling castle. He was lord -l]igh - commissioner to tlie

Oliurch of Scotland from 1715 to 1721, botli inclusive. On

the breaking ont of tlie rebellion of 1715, lie rendered liimsclf

very active on the side of the government. With 500 men

of tlie Fife militia lie niarclied to seize Perth, but was pre-

vented obtaining possession of that town by tlie rebels being

beforehand with him. On 2Gth September, when a party of

tlie rebels liad assembled at Kinross, for the purpose of ))ro-

claiining the Pretender, Lord Rothes entered the town, sword

in hand, with a detachment of the Scots Greys, put them to

flight, and seizing Sir Thomas Bruce of Kinross, carried him

prisoner to Stirling. In the following month a party of the

rebels went to his seat of Leslie, and searched it for arms.

Forcing the church doors, they broke into the family burial

place, .and having dug up the coffins, tore them open. On

the 17th October, his lordship and Lord Torphichen, with

300 volunteers and 200 horse, marched from Edinburgh to

Seton House, Haddingtonshire, then garrisoned by the rebels,

but found them so strongly entrenched within the gates that it

was impossible to dislodge them without artilleiy. At the

battle of SlierifTinuir, on the 13th November, he commanded

the horse volunteers, and behaved with great gallantry. On

2d January 171G, he attempted to possess himself of the

royal palace of Falkland, but was repulsed with loss by the

rebels. Besides being heritable sheriff of Fife, he was lord-

lieutenant of the counties of Fife, Kinross, and Aberdeen,

lie died 9tli May 1722. By his countess. Lady Jean Hay,

daughter of the second marquis of Tweeddale, high-chancellor

of Scotland, he had eight sons and four daughters.

The eldest son, .Tohn, eighth earl, entered the army, and

at the battle of Dettingen, ICth June 1713, acted as major-

general. He was one of the sixteen Scots representative

peers, and in June 1744, was appointed chamberlain of Fife

and Stratliern. At the battle of Rocoux, 1st October 174G,

betwixt the British and the French, the latter commanded

by Marshal Saxe, his lordship was at the liead of the first

line of cavalry, and behaved with great bravery. Under the

lieritable jurisdictions abolition act of 1747, he received for

the hereditary sheriflship of Fife, £G,268 IGs. In 175], he

was appointed governor of Duncannon fort, and a lieutenant-

general on the staff in Ireland. In March 1753, he was in-

vested with the order of the Thistle. He was subsequently

commander-in-chief of the forces in Ireland, a general in the

army, colonel of the third regiment of foot-guards, and a mem-
ber of the privy council in Ireland. He died 10th December

17G7. He married, first, Hannah, daughter and heiress of

Matthew Howard of Thorpe, county of Norfolk, and by her had

two .sons and two daughters; secondly, Jliss Lloyd, daughter

of Mary, countess of Haddington, by her first husband, but by

her had no hssue. This countess of Rothes, after the death

of the earl her husband, became the wife of Bennet Langton

of Langton, Lincolnshire, the friend of Dr. Johnson, and to

Jlr. Langton she had a large family.

John, ninth earl of Rothes, an officer in the army, died

18th April 1773, in his 29th year, without issue, when, his

brother having predeceased him, his elder sister. Lady Jane

Elizabeth, became countess of Rothes. Her right to tlie suc-

cession was contested by her uncle, the Hon. Andrew Leslie,

cquery to the princess dowager of Wales, but both the court

of session and the House of Lords on appeal, decided against

him. Her ladyship died June 2d, 1810, in her 61st year.

She mai'ried, first, George Raymond Evelyn, youngest son of

William Evelyn Glanville of St. Clere in Kent, by whom she

had three sons, the two eldest of whom died infants, and the

third, George William, was tenth earl of Rothes. She mar-
ried, secondly, in 1772, Lucas Pepys, JLD., physician to

George III., and jihysician general to the army, created a

baronet of Great Britain, lOlh December, 1783, and had to

him two sons and a daughter, who assumed their mother's

maiden name of Leslie instead of that of Pepys. The elder

son. Sir Charles Leslie, second baronet, died in 1833, and

was succeeded by his brotlier. Rev. Sir Henry Leslie, third

baronet. Tlie daughter, Harriet, countess of Devon, died in

1839.

George William, 10th earl, born JIarch 28, 17G8, married,

1st, Lady Henrietta Anne Pelliam, eldest daughter of the 1st

earl of Chichester, and had two daughters. Lady Henrietta

Anne, and Lady Mary. He married, 2uly, Charlotte Julia,

daughter of Colonel .John Campbell of Dunoon, by whom he

bad a daughter, Elizabeth-Jane, married to JIajor Watheu

loth light dragoons. His lordship died in 1817.

His eldest daughter, Henrietta Anne, 3d countess of

Rothes in her own right, horn in 1790, man'ied in ISOG

George Gwyther, who assumed the surname and arms of

Leslie, and had two sons and four daughters.

The elder son, George William Evelyn Leslie, 11th earl,

succeeded his mother, Jan. 30, 1819. Born Nov. 8, 1SU9,

lie married, May 7, 1831, Louisa, 3d daughter of Colonel

Anderson-Morshead, colonel-conimandant of engineers, and,

with a daughter, Lady Hannah Anderson Morsliead, had an

only son, George W illiam Evelyn Leslie, born Feb. 4, 1S35.

The latter succeeded him, on his death iMarcb 10, 1841, as

12th earl, and died at Edinburgh, unmarried, Jan. 2, 1859,

succeeded by his sister, Henrietta Anderson Morshead Leslie,

countess in her own right. Burn in 1832, she married, Jan.

22, ISGl, Hon. George Waldegrave, 3d son of William, Blli

earl of Waldegrave.

RoTHF.s.w, Duke of, one of the titles which was vested

from his birth in the eldest son of the possessor of the Scot-

tish throne. The first who bore it was the unfbrtun;ite Da-

vid, earl of Carriek, and prince and steward of Scotland, eld-

est son of King Robert III. In a solemn council held at

Scone 28tli April 1398, he was created duke of Rothesay in

the Isle of Bute, his uncle the earl of Fife, regent of Scot-

land, being at the same time created duke of Albany. This

was the first introduction of the ducal dignity into Scotland.

The duke of Rothesay has continued from that time the title

of the king's eldest son as a collateral fcir Scotland to that of

prince of Wales for England. David, first duke of Rothesay,

then in his 29th year, is cniTcntly said to have fallen a vic-

tim to the ambition of his uncle the regent Albany, on 27th

March 1402, but it is more likely that he died from weakness

and dysentery, the consequence of his dissipated life. (See

vol. i. p. 35.) The dukedom was transferred by charter,

dated at Perth 10th December 1404, to his brother, James,

afterwards James I. of Scotland. By an act of pariiamcnt

passed 27th November 1409, it was declared that " the lord-

ship of Bute, with the castle of Rothesay, the lordship of

Cowal, with the castle of Dunoon, the earldom of Carriek,

the lands of Dundonald, with the ca.stle of the same, the bar-

ony of Renfrew, with the lands and tenandries of the same,

the lordship of Stew.arton, the lordship of Kilmarnock, with

the castle of the same, the lordship of Dairy; the lands of No-

disdale, Kilbryde, Narristown, and Cavirton ; also the lands

of Frarviizan, Drumcall, Trebrauch, with the fortalice of the

same, ' principibus priniogenitis Reginm Scotia; successorum

nostrorum, perpetuis futuris temporibus, uniaiitnr, incorpo-

rentur, ct annexantur.'" Since that period, the dukedom cf

Rothesay, in common with the principality and stewartry of
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Scothmd, tlie earldom of Carrick, the lordship of the Isles,

and tlie barony of Renfrew, has been vested in the first-born

son and heir apparent of the sovereign, witli all the privileges

of a peer of Scotland. In the event of the death of the eld-

est son, these titles pass to the king's next surviving son,

to the exclusion of a grandson, the son of the eldest prince

;

and when the king has no son or heir apparent, they vest in

himself, as the representative of the prince who ought to pos-

sess them. He can neither give them nor withhold tliem.

In the Union roll of the peerage of Scotland, that is, the

list of Scottish peers as it stood on 1st May 1707, laid before

the House of Lords, the title of duke of Kothes.ay is not in-

serted, as the then sovereign. Queen Anne, had no son in

existence at the time. On the accession of George I. in

1714, his eldest son and heir apparent, George, prince of

W.iles, afterwards Geoi-ge II., became of course duke of

Rothesay, and that title was accordingly placed at the head

of the roll of the peers of Scotland. His Royal highness as

duke of Rothesay, voted twice by proxy at the election of

Scots peers, the first time on 3d March 1715, and the second

time on 28th February 1716. Wlien he succeeded as king,

his eldest son, Frederick, prince of Wales, became duke of

Rothesay of right, but he never exercised his privilege of

voting for a Scottish peer. He predeceased his father, 20tli

March 1751, and on 20th April following, his eldest son,

George, afterwards George III., was created, by patent,

prince of Wales and earl of Chester in England. In this pa-

tent the titles of prince and steward of Scotland, duke of

Rothesay, earl of Carrick, lord of the Isles, and baron of

Renfrew, in Scotland, as well as that of duke of Cornwall in

England, were omitted, these honours being annexed to

estates limited by law to the eldest son and heir apparent of

the sovereign. In 1751, a signature being presented to the

barons of Exchequer in Scotland, for expediting a charter by

the king as prince and steward of Scotland, a doubt ai-ose as

to whether the principality did not belong to Prince George,

the eldest son of the late prince as heir apparent of the

crown. In December of the same year, tlie question became

the subject of a conference between the whole judges of the

courts of session and exchequer, but they dilfered in opinion,

and the point was not then determined. Subsequently a

temporary act of parliament was passed, entitled an act to

obviate doubts that had arisen with regard to the admission

of vassals within the principality of Scotland until the prince

became of age, and authorizing the king to possess the prin-

cipality and to exercise all acts connected with it. The

prince of Wales attained majority 4th June 1759, but no far-

ther steps were adopted for ascertaining the right to the

principality. On his accession to the throne, 25tli October

1760, that right became vested in his majesty, and so conti-

nued till 12th August 17G2, when his eldest son, afterwards

George IV., was born. His Royal highness exercised his

privilege as a peer of Scotland by voting by proxy for two

representatives of the Scottish peerage 28th JIarch 1787,

and at several subsequent elections. (See Douglas' Peerage,

Wood's edition, vol. ii. p. 436.)

ROW, John, a celebrated Reformer, and the

first Trotcstant minister of Perth, was born in

tlie iieiglibourliood of Stirling, about 1525. At

that period there were in Scothind several fami-

lies of the name, supposed to have come originally

from England, but to which of them he belonged

is not known. His parents were in good circum-

JOHN.
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stances, and he received a liberal education. Af- i

ter being taught Latin at the grammar school of

Stirling, he was sent to the university of St. An-

drews, where he particularl}' addicted himself to

the study of the civil and canon laws. Soon after

taking the degree of JiI.A. he entered as an advo-

cate in the diocesan court of St. Andrews, in

which he is supposed to have commenced prac-

tising about two years before the death of Cardi-

nal Bethune. In 1550 his I'eputation as a pleader,

and superior knowledge of the canon law, induced

the Scottish Popish clergy to send him to Rome

as their agent and representative there ; and on

Ids arrival in the papal city, he was graciously

received by Pope Julius III. While he remained
|

in Italy, his most intimate friend was Guido As- !

canius Sforza, created by Paul III. cardinal of !

Sancta Flora, at the earlj' age of fifteen
;
and, at

j

his desire, Mr. Row took the degree of doctor of
j

laws in the university of Padua, of which the
|

youthful cardinal was chancellor. He returned

to Scotland in September 1558, in the character

of nuncio or legate from the then reigning pon-

tiff, Paul IV., with the view of opposing the pro-

gress of the Reformation. A wicked fraud prac-

tised by the Popish priests on the credulity of the

populace, whereb)' they pretended to have re-

stored the sight of a supposed blind boy at Our

Lady's Chapel of Loretto, Musselburgh, in the

beginning of 1559, was the means of directing

Mr. Row's mind to an impartial consideration of

the new doctrines, tlie result of which, and his

attending the preaching of John Knox, led to his

conversion soon after to the Reformed religion, of

which he became a zealous and influential min-

ister.

For some time, like the rest of the Protestant

clergy, he visited different parts of the country as

an itinerant preacher, but especially Perth and

the neighbourhood. In April 1560 he was one of

the six ministers appointed to compile the old

Confession of Faitli, and the First Book of Dis-

cipline. In July of tlie same j-ear he was nomi-

nated by the committee of parliament minister of

Perth, where he was finally' settled, after officiat-

iiig for some time at Kennoway, in Fife. As

minister of Perth, he was present in the first

general assembly of the Church of Scotland, which

378
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met at Eclinburgli, December 20, 15G0. After

this he took a prominent piirt in all tlie ecclesias-

tical transactions of the period, being almost con-

stantly elected a member of tlic Assembl}-, and

was at least four times chosen its moderator.

In July 15G8 Mr. How was appointed by the

Assembly commissioner or ecclesiastical superin-

tendent of Galloway; and in August 15G9 he re-

ceived from the Regent jMoray the first foundation

charter of King James VI. 's Hospital at Perth.

On the arrival of Andrew IMelville from Geneva,

in July 1575, a debate, of two days' continuance,

took place in a committee of the Assembly', on a

question proposed b}' Mr. John Durie, one of the

ministers of Edinburgh, as to "whether bishops,

as now allowed in Scotlniul, had their function

from the word of God," when Mr. Row was

chosen, « itli three others, to argue on the side of

episcopacy. On the point being decided against

him, however, he, witli all that took part with

liim in the argument, jielded, and afterwards,

says his manuscript history, " he preached down

prelacy all his days." That he full}' approved

of Presbyterianism is sufficient!}'- evident, as is

shrewdly remarked by IMr. James Scott, in his

History of the Lives of the Reformers, from liis

being one of the compilers of the Second Book of

Discipline, the eleventh chapter of \\ hicli decidedly

condemns the oflice of bishops. He died at Perth,

October IGth, 1580. He is said to have been the

first who introduced the study of the Hebrew

language into Scotland, a knowledge of which he

had acqtiired on tlu^ rontinent. He married, about

1560, Margaret Relliune, daughter of the laird of

Balfour in Fife, and by her he is said to have had

eight sons and two daughters. Three of the sons

became eminent ministers of the Church of Scot-

land.

The eldest, James Row, born in 15G2, was,

in 1587, ordained minister of Kilspindy, in the

Presbytery of Perth, and died suddenly in bed,

December 29, 1614.

ROW, Wir.T.iAJr, the second son of John Row,

the Reformer, is supposed to have been born

at Perth, about 1563, although his name does

not appear in the parish register. About 1500

he was appointed minister of Forgandennj-, in

the presbytery of Perth, in which lie succeed-

ed a person of the same name with his father,

probably a relative of the family. Some writers

state that he was at one time minister of

Stratlimiglo, in Fife
;
but this is evidently a mis-

take. For his declared disbelief of the truth of

the Gowrie Conspiracy, in IGOO, he A\as jirose-

cuted by the king. In IGOG lie joined, wilh his

brother James and some other ministers, in a l e-

monstrance to parliament against bishops ; and in

Calderwood's History, [vol. vi., pp. 645-651,] will

lie found related at lengtli his intrepid behaviour

ill a meeting of the Synod of Perth in April 1G07,

(if wliieh he was moderator, in opposition to the

king's wish for a constant moderator. "\V(! are

told that as old moderator, " being commanded by

the Assembly to proceed, and gather the votes for

the choice of a new moderator, he took the cata-

logue in liis hand. The comptroller, (Sir David

Murray, one of the three commissioners appointed

by the king to be present), raged, and began to

rise out of his chair, and take the catalogue out of

the moderator's hand per force; but he held it in

his left hand, tlie comptroller sitting on his right

hand. He held the comptroller with his I'ight

hand in his chair, till he called all the names." For

his contumacy on this occasion he was summoned

to take his trial
;
but, not appearing, was put to

the horn, and obliged for a time to keep himself

concealed. By the favour of Alexander Lindsay,

bishop of Dunkeld, patron of his parish, his son

William was, June 29, 1024, ordained his assistant

and successor in Forgandenny. He died in the

beginning of October 1C34. William, his son and

successor, distinguished himself in the time of the

civil wars, as a zealous Covenanter, and attended

the Scots army into England as one of its chap-

lains. He died in 1660.

ROW, Joiix, a well-known ecclesiastical histo-

rian, third surviving son of John Row, the Re-

former, was born at Perth, about the end of

December 15G8. He was a twin, but his brotlicr

of the same birth was still-born. Being very

weakly in his earlier years, he was at first in-

structed at home, and when only seven years of

age he had acquired a knowledge of the Hebrew

language. Subsequently put to the grammar

school at Perth, he taught his master to read tlie

Hebrew. After his father's death, both he and
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his brother, William, enjoyed a friar's pension

from King's Hospital, Perth. He was first em-

plo3 ed as tutor to his uncle's children, Bethune of

Balfour, and iu 1586 was enrolled a student in the

tlien newlj' created college of Edinbui-gh. He took

the degree of M.A. iu August 1590, and was for

two years schoolmaster at Aberdour. In the end of

1592 he was ordained minister of Carnock in Fife,

and three years afterwards he married Grissel, a

daughter of the Eev. David Fergusson, minister

of Dunfermline, and by her had a numerous family.

In 1619 he was summoned before the court of high

commission at St. Andrews for nonconformity and

opposition to prelacy, and on 6th February 1622,

he was charged by the council to keep within his

own parish bounds. {Calderwood, vol. vii. p. 543.)

He was a member of the famous Glasgow Assem-

bly of November 1638, and was one of the four

oldest of the ministers present put in nomination

with Alexander Henderson, as a mark of respect

to their years, for the moderatorship. At this as-

sembly he was appointed one of the committee to

report upon the state of the cliurch registers, and

upon their report, which is contained in tlie printed

acts of tlie assembly, these volumes were received

as authentic registers. In this and subsequent

assemblies he took an active interest. He died

26th June 1646, having been for 54 years minister

of Carnock. His ' Historic of the Kirk of Scot-

land from the year 1558 to August 1637, with a

continuation to July 1639, by his son, John Row,

principal of King's College, Aberdeen,' was printed

in 1842, for the Wodrow Society. In compiling

it, he made use of the papers of his father-in-law,

Mr. David Fergusson, minister of Dunfermline.

An edition of Row's History has also been printed

for the Maitland Club of Glasgow.

ROW, John, a learned and eminent divine,

grandson of John Row the Reformer, and second

son of the preceding, was born about the year

1598. He studied at the university of St. Andrews,

and on leaving it, became tutor to George Hay,

afterwards second earl of Kiinioul. He was sub-

sequently for some time master of the grammar

school of Kirkcaldj'. On the recommendation of

the father of liis pupil, who was then lord-chan-

cellor of Scotland, lie was, in 1632, appointed rec-

tor of the grammar school of Perth. In 1634 he

published the first edition of his Hebrew Gram-

mar, to which were prefixed some commendatory

verges from Alexander Henderson, Samuel Ruth-

erford, and others of his friends. In 1641 he

was persuaded by tlie celebrated Andrew Cant to

remove to Aberdeen, and become minister of the

church of St. Nicholas in that city. In 1643 he pub-

lished a vocabulary of the Hebrew language, which

he dedicated to the Town Council of Aberdeen, for

which he received, "for his paines, four hundred

merk Scotts money." In 1644 he brought out, at

Glasgow, the second edition of his Hebrew Gram-

mar, TOider the title of ' Hebrese Lingure Institu-

tione3Compendiosissime,'&c. ; the work being dedi-

cated to George, earl of Kinnoul. About the same

period he wrote some other books, relating chiefly

to the political controversies of the times. In

1645, on the approach to Aberdeen of the mar-

quis of Montrose with the roj-alist forces, Row,

witli Cant, and others of the Presbyterian party,

took refuge in the castle of Dunnottar. In 1651

he was appointed principal of King's college. Old

Aberdeen, in the room of Dr. Guild, deposed bj^

Monk's military commission, for his opposition to

the Covenants. It has been incorrectly stated in

some of the biographies of him, that on October 8,

1656, Pi incipal Row preached before the parlia-

ment in "\^'estminster Abbey, on a day appointed

for a public thanksgiving, but the John Row who

preached on that occasion was an Independent

minister iu London.

At the Restoration, with the view of ingratiat-

ing himself with the new authorities, he published

at Aberdeen, in small quarto, a poetical address

in Latin to the king, which was no less laudator_v

of his majesty than abusive of Cromwell, Avhom

he characterized as "Trux vilis vermis," being

the anagram of " O vile cruel worm," (Oliver

Cromwell,) latinised. This truckling, however,

did not save him, as some of his works, which re-

flected severely on the royal family, were taken

from the college and burnt at the cross of Aber-

deen, b}' the common hangman. In 1661 he re-

signed Ills ofiSce of principal, and removed to New

Aberdeen, where he endeavoured to maintain

himself by keeping a school, being occasionally

assisted by donations from charitable persons. In

his latter years he took up his residence with his
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soE-in-law, Mr. John IVIercei-, minister of Kiiiellar,

where he died .ibout 1G72. He enlarged liis

fatlier's History of tlic Church ah-eady referred

to; his continuation bearing the following quaint

title: 'Supplement to the Historic of the Ivirk of

Scotland, from August, anno 10^7, and tliciicefor-

ward to July 1G."0; or ane HamlfiiU of fioate's

Ilaire for the furthering of tlic I'uihling of the

Tabernacle ; a Short Table of Principall Things

for the promoving of the most excellent Ilistorie

of this late blessed work of Reformation ; written

by John Row, Minister at Aberdenc.' His young-

er brother, James Row, minister of I\Ionivaird

and Strowan, in rcrlhshire, was the author of tiie

famous ' Pockmanty Sermon,' preached in St.

Giles' church, Edinburgh, on the last Sunday of

July 1G:38, first printed at London in 1042, as

'The Red-Shanke's Sermon,' and reprinted from

an original manuscrii)t in the library of David

Laiug, Esq., in 1828, under the title of 'A Cupp

of Bon Accord,' with, prefi.xod, ' Jlcmorials of the

Family of Row,' taken fron> a manuscript account

by Robert Milne, jun., a descendant of the family.

RoxRl'ncin, ^ snniame doiivcd frnm tlio nncicnt town of

tliat name, in Lower Teviotiiale. Tlie word is of Norman

origin. In Kelliam's Dictionary it is tlnis ^'wcn, " Rohelo-

rnth, Hoxbvrr/h;" from roA-e. a rock, and horvth,—perhaps

originally written loriich,—evidently (lie same with the An-

glo-Saxon borh, hvrr/h, 'a borongh.' In charters of David

I., the orthography is Rnlccslnirg. It also appears as 7?o7.-s-

hiirg, lloceslwff, Rochelhiirc, Roheshurch, Roshurg, or Rose-

liitrgh, which is the vulgar pronunciation, and Rotislnirge.

Some have urged that this is the proper appellation of the

place, being most expressive of its beautiful situation ; as in

the supposed etymon of Montrose from Mons rosartim.

ROXBURGH, "William, an eminent i>hysi-

cian and botanist, was born at Underwood, in the

parish of Craigie, Ayrshire, June 29, 1759. After

receiving the usual education at the parish school,

he was sent to the university of Edinburgh, where

lie attended the medical classes; and, before he

was eighteen years of age, was appointed surgeon's

mate on board of an East Indiaman. In this ves-

sel he made two voyages to the East, after which

he was induced to settle at :Madrns. Having

early directed his attention to the study of botany,

he communicated several interesting papers, on

subjects in natural history, to the Royal Society,

which were inserted in their Transactions ; and

occasionally transmitted to England some curious

seeds and other pi'oductions of Asia, suspending

the finer specimens in a mucilage of gum arable,

to preserve them from the effects of tlu; heat and

moisture. In 1781 he M-as stationed at Samulcot-

tali, ^\'herc he jiaid particular attention to the cul-

tivation of pepper, and various other plants, and

also endeavoured to introduce the culture of silk,

as w('ll as to improve the manufacture of sugar.

Some large collections of plants which ho had

made in the Carnatic he had the misfortune to

lose, with his books and papers, in an inundation

at Ingeram; but, with characteristic ardour, he

recommenced making a fresh collection, and the

Court of Directors sent him out a present of bo-

tanical books. In the autumn of 1793 he was

appointed by the government of Bengal superin-

tendent of the botanical garden recently estab-

lished at Calcutta. On the formation of the

Asiatic Societj', he became one of its original

members, and contributed several papers to their

Researches
;

particularl}' one on the colouring

matter of the lacca insect. In 1797 he visited

England, on which occasion he married his first

wife, and took his degree of M.D.

On his return to Calcutta, he sent several valu-

able communications to the Society for the Pro-

motion of Arts, particularly as to the cultivation

of hemp in Bengal, the growth of trees in India,

e^'C, for which he received, at difTerent times,

three gold medals from that society. He also

wrote several dissertations on the Hindoo method

of cultivating the sugar-cane, which, together with

remarks on the copper coins of the northern cir-

cars, were afterwards published in Dalrymple's

Oriental Repertory. During the time that he

held the office of superintendent, he had made

three difTerent voyages for the benefit of his health,

once to the Cape, and twice to Europe. In tlie

summer of 1813 he left India for the last time,

and, after some stay in London, he repaired to

Edinburgh, where he died, April 10, 1815, in the

57th year of his age. He was twice married, and

had children b}' both his wives. His collection of

drawings of Indian jilants, amounting to neailj'

3,000, was sent to the Court of Directors, and

published under the title of 'Plants of the Coast

of Coromaiidcl,' London, 1795, 1802, 2 vols, folio.

His works are

:
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Plants of the Coast of Coromandel ; selected from Draw-

ings and Descriptions presented to tlie Court of Directors of

the East India Company. Lond. 1795, 1802, 2 vols, folio.

Botanical Description of a new species of Swietenia, or

JIaliogany; with Experiments and Observations on the Bark

thereof, in order to determine and compare its powers with

those of Peruvian Bark, for which it is proposed as a substi-

tute. London, 1793, 4to.

An Essay upon the Natural Order of the Scitaminea;.

Calcutta, 4to.

A .Meteorological Diary, &c., kept at Fort George in the

East Indies. Phil. Trans. 1778, Abr. xiv. 322. Continua-

tion, lb. 1780, 681.

An Account of the Trigonometrical Operation, by which

the Distance between the Jleridians of the Royal Observato-

ries of Greenwich and Paris has been determined. lb. 1790.

xvi. 649.

Cliermes Lacca. lb. 1791, svii. 62.

Account of the Tusseli and Anindy Silk-Worms of Ben-

gal. Trans. Linn. Soc. 1802, vol. vii. p. 33.

A Botanical Description of Urseola Elastica, or Caout-

chouc Vine of Sumatra and Pullo Pinang; with an Account

of the Properties of its inspissated Juice, compared with those

of the American Caoutchouc. Kicliolson's Journal, iii., 435,

1799.

On the Culture, Properties, and Comparative Strength of

Hemp, and other Vegetable Fibres, the Growth of the East

Indies, lb. xi. 32, 1805.

The Botanical and Economical Account of the Bassia Bu-

tyracea, or the East India Butter Tree. lb. six. 372, 1808.

On various Natural Productions of the East Indies. lb.

sxWi. 69, 1810.

Some Account of the Teak Tree of the East Indies. lb.

xxxiii. 348, 1812.

His general descriptive work of the plants of India, called

' Flora Indica,' did not appear till some years after his death.

A complete edition, in three volumes, was published by his

sons in 1832.

RoxBURGHE, Duke of, a title in the peerage of Scotland,

possessed by the noble family of Ker of Cessford, date of

creation, 1707. The Kers of Cessford and of Fernihirst,

the former the Roxburghe, and the latter the Lothian branch

(see vol. ii. p. 601, article Kekr, and p. 690, article Lothi-

an), sprang from the same Anglo-Norm.an ancestor; and

are regarded as in common the head of the sept of Ker, Kerr,

or Carr, a name derived from the British word Car, a forla-

lice or strength. The surname abounds in the south of

Scotland, particularly in the counties of Roxburgh and Ber-

wick. Robert Ker got from David II. the lands of Olton-

burn or Auldtounburn, lying upon the water of Bowmont,

Teviotdale. John Ker of Oltonbum had two charters of the

same, dated in 1357 and 1358. Andrew Ker of Oltonbum,

the third in succession from John, had several charters from

Archibald Douglas, duke of Touraine, among others of the

barony of Cessford, in 1446. His eldest son, Andrew Ker of

Oltonburn and Cessford, was one of those selected to accom-

pany the earl of Douglas to Rome in 1450. He had a char-

ter of the king's lands of the barony of Auld Roxburghe, 6th

February 1451-2. He was concerned with the Boyds in car-

rying oft" James III. from Linlithgow, for which he received

a remission, loth October 1466.

His son, Walter Ker of Cessford, a powerful border baron,

was, under the name of Wat Carre, one of the commissioners

for settling border disputes with the English, 18th October,

1484. In 1499 he received from James IV. a grant of the

site of the ruined town and castle of Roxburgh, and died 25th

November 1501. With one daughter, he had two sons, Sir

Robert Ker, his successor, and Mark Ker of Dolphingston

and Littledean, from whom was descended JIajor-gencral

Walter Ker of Littledean, who, on 18th June 1804, was
served nearest lawful heir male of Robert, first earl of Rox-
burghe, and his son, Hary, Lord Ker.

Sir Robert Ker of Cavertoun, the elder son, was in great

favour with James IV., being his chief cupbearer. He was
also master of the king's artillery, and warden of the middle

marches. He died before 6th November 1500, Pinkerton

(vol. ii. p. 71) states that having sliown great severity as

warden on the borders, he was slain, in 1511, by the bastard

Heron, Lilburn, and Starked, three Englishmen, and that his

son, Andrew Ker, having sent two of his adherents after his

assailants, they brought him the head of Starked, wliicli was

exposed on one of the most public places in Edinburgh. The

date, 1511, is however erroneous. By his wife. Christian,

daughter of James Rutherford of Rutlierford, he had two

sons. Sir Andrew Ker, and George Ker of Fawdnnside.

Sir Andrew, the elder son, was one of those who signed

the letter to the king of France about comprehending Scot-

l.and in his treaty with England, loth Jlay 1515. Like his

father, he was guardian of the middle marches, and in the

summer of 1526 was in the expedition to the borders, under

the earl of Angus, which, on its return by Melrose to Edin-

burgh, was, on 18th July, intercepted by his brother-in-law,

Scott of Buccleuch, with a thousand men, assembled to free

King James V. from the power of the Douglases. In the

engagement that ensued, Ker of Cessford was the only per-

son of note killed on the side of Angus. His death was la-

mented by both parties, and occasioned a deadly feud be-

tween the Scotts and the Kers, which led to much blood

being shed on tlie borders. His two daughters, Catherine

and ]\Iargaret, were married to two powerful border chiefs.

Sir John Ker of Fernihirst, and Sir John Home of Colding-

knows. He had, besides, three sons, Sir Walter, his succes-

sor; Mark Ker, commendator of Newbottle, fother of the

first earl of Lothian (see vol. ii. p. 690), and Andrew.

Sir Walter Ker of Cessford, the eldest son, had a letter

of remission under the great seal to himself and John Ker of

Fernihirst, for being art and part in the cruel murder of Sir

Walter Scott of Buccleuch, committed in October 1552. He
was one of the commissioners of Francis and Mary to treat

with the English, 28th August, 1559. He promoted the

reformation, and in 1567, after the marriage of Queen Mary

with Bothwell, he was among the border chiel's commanded

to enter the castle of Edinburgh, during Botliwell's intended

excursion against the thieves of Liddesdale. All of them,

"suspecting some other thing, went home in the night, ex-

cept Sir Andrew Ker of Fernihirst, who was judged not ig-

norant of the inurder of the king, and Walter Ker, laird of

Cessford, a well meaning man, suspecting nothing." (CnWer-

woud, vol. ii. p 3G0.) When the queen and Bothwell were

in Borthwick castle, from which they were forthwith obliged

to flee, "Lord Hume came, with eight hundred men iu'med

with jack and spear, of which number a hundred gentlemen

came with young Cessford, to assist him." (Jhid. p. 361.)

Sir Walter Ker of Cessford was one of the chief leaders

against the queen and Bothwell at Carbery hill. He entered

into the association in support of the young king, James VI.,

and fought on the side of the regent Moray at the battle of

Langside. When the queen's faction in 1571 had possession

of Edinburgh castle, the laird of Cessford was with the party

in arms for the king at Leith, and took part in some of the

conflicts of that unhappy time. In a parliament held by the
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queen's partisans at Kdinburgli in Au<;ust tlie same voar, Sir

Walter Ker of Cessf'ord was among tlie parlies, to tlie num-

ber of 200, forfeited by them. Soon afler, when Ker of Fer-

nihirst and Scott of iiucclenoh, at tlie head of their own fol-

lowers and "the thieves of LiJdesdale, Ensdale, Kskdale,

West Teviotdale, and some also out of the Knglish borders,"

in all 3,000 men, advanced to plunder Jedburi^h, the inhab-

itants sent for Sir Walter Ker of Cessford to assist them, and

witli the aid of Lord Ruthvcn, who had arrived "with 120

shot and some horsemen," and their own proud warcry of

" Jeddart's here," soon put them to flight. He died in 1584

or 1585. By Isabel, a daughter of Sir Andrew Ker of Fer-

uihirst, he had, with two daughters, two sons, Andrew, who

predeceased him, and William, warden of the middle march-

es. The latter also had, with two daughters, two sons, Sir

Robert Ker, first Lord Hoxhurghe, and Sir ISIark Ker of Or-

miston, died in September ICOS.

Sir Robert Ker, first Lord Roxburghe, born about 1570, in

1585 joined, the banished lords in tlieir successful attempt to

drive from court the king's infamous favourite, Captain James

Stuart, some time earl of Arran. Two years afterwards, he

and Buceleuch were committed to ward, for making incur-

sions on the borders, their warding being urged by Lord

Hunsdon, the English representative in Scotland. At the cor-

onation of Anne of Denmark, queen of .lames VL, in 15y0,

he was one of the twelve gentlemen selected to be dubbed

knights. The same year, he was engaged in the murder of

William Ker of Ancrnm, for which he had a remission under

the great scid, 18th November 1591. Having fiiiled to give

up some Knglisli prisoners, taken on the borders, in contra-

vention of an agreement entered into by commissioners on

both sides, in December 159(3, whereby there was to be .m

exchange of prisoners, he, the following year, suiTendered

himself to Sir Robert Gary, the English warden. That

knight, who in his Memoirs (p. G7) describes him as a brave

and active young man, .ifter courteously entertaining him for

some time, delivered him, by order of Qneen Elizabeth, to

the archbishop of York. The latter wrote thus of him to the

treasurer: "I understand that the gentleman is wise and

valiant, but somewhat haughty and resolute." He was soon,

however, released and allowed to return to Scotland. lie

was created a peer, by the title of Lord Roxburghe, about

the end of 1599. The date of the creation does not appear,

but in the ranking of the nobility in 1606, he was placed be-

fore Lord Liiuiores, so created 31st JIarch 1600. As one of

James' principal courtiers, he accompanied him to London in

1603, on his accession to the English throne. A union with

England being a favourite scheme of James VL, Lord Rox-

burghe was by the parliament, holden at Perth 11th July

1604, appointed one of the commissioners to treat with the

English commissioners about it, but the project did not take

effect till a full century afterwards. Li 1607 he was present

as king's commissioner, at the meeting of the synod of Jlerse

.md Teviotdale, with the view of urging on them the admis-

sion of one of tlie constant moderators of the presbyteries to

be moderator of the synod, but as honest Calderwood says,

"ho got a flat Kolumns." He was created earl of Rox-

burghe and Lord Ker of Cessford and Cavertonn, 18th Sep-

tember 1616. In the parliament which met 25th July 1621,

he was chosen one of the lords of the articles, and in the

same parliament he voted for the confirmation of the five ar-

ticles of Perth, so obnoxious to the great body of the Scots

people. In 1623, a commission was appointed to hear griev-

ances in Scotland, of which the earl of Roxburghe was a

member, but it never was intended that it should take effect,

and accordingly nothing followed on the proclamation re-

garding it. In 1637, he was appointed lord privy .seal. In the

riot which took pl.-ice at Edinburgh, July 23d, that year, on
occasion of the new liturgy being introduced at St. Giles'

church, his lordship was the means of saving the bishop of

Edinburgh, by taking him into his coach, and driving him
off to Holyrood-house, his servants being obliged to draw

their swords against the populace. On the breaking out of

the civil war in Scotland in 1639, he joined the king, but

returned home on the pacification of Berwick. In conse-

quence of his having supported the ' Engagement' for the

rescue of the ill-fated Charles, in 1648, he was deprived of

his office of privy seal by order of the Estates, 13th February

1649. He died 18th January 1650, in his SOth year. He
was thrice married. By his first wife, JLirgaret, only daugh-
ter of Sir William JIaitland of I.cthington, he li.ad a son,

William, Lord Ker, who died in France, before 19th August
1618, and three daughters. Lady Jean, married to the second

carl of Perth, witli issue; Lady Isabel, married to .Tames

Scrimgeour, second viscount of Dundee, killed at ilarston

Jloor in 1644; and Lady JIary, married, first, to James
ILilyburton of Pitcur, and, after his death, to the second earl

of Southesk. He married, secondly, Jane, third daughter of

the third Lord Drummond, and sister of his son-in-law the

earl of Perth. This countess of Roxburghe was governess of

the children of James VL, and died in 1643. In the Gen-

tleman's Magazine for February 1799. is an autograph of her

ladyship, Jane Roxburghe, said therein to be the signature of

Jane, duchess (in mistake for countess) of Roxburghe, to a

receipt, dated lOtli Jlay 1617, for £500, part of the sum of

£3,000, a gilt from his majesty to her, in consideration of

lier long and faithful service to the queen, as one of the ladies

of her bedchamber. They had one son, Hary, styled Lord

Ker, after liis brother's death. The earl married, thirdlv,
j

Lady Isobel Douglas, fifth daughter of the second earl of
j

Jlorton, without issue. This lady married a second time,

James, second marquis of Jlontrose, called the good marquis,

a nobleman sixty years younger than her first husband.

Hary, Lord Ker, was, with his father, in the king's forces

in 1639, but quitted the royal army and joined the Covenant-

ers at Dunse Law, it is thought, with his father's connivance.

When the association in behalf of Charles I. was formed at

Cumbernauld by the marquis of Jlontrose in January 1641,

Lord Ker joined it, and continued faithful to the royal cause.

He predeceased his father in January 1643. By his wife,

Lady JIargaret Hay, only daughter of William, tenth earl of

Errol, and after Lord Ker's death, countess of Gassillis, he

had four daughters, namely. Lady Jane, countess of Rox-

burghe; Lady Anne; Lady JIargaret, married in 1666, to

Sir James Innes of Innes, baronet, with issue, whose repre-

sentative ultimately succeeded to the honours of the family;

and Lady Sophia, who died unmarried.

Lady Jane Ker, the earl's eldest daughter, married her

cousin-german, the Hon. Sir William Drummond, fourth son
j

of the second earl of Perth, by his countess. Lady Jean Ker,

and on him the earldom of Roxburghe devolved, in accord- <

ance with a new destin.ition of the same, obtained by the

first earl, in 1643, renewed by charter under the great seal,

dated 31st July 164G, and nominated under liis hand as au-

thorised by the latter, and executed by him on 23d Febiuary
\

1648, one of the conditions of the said Sir William Drum-

mond's succession to the title being that he should marry the

earl's eldest daughter, or one of her younger sisters in their

order. This cliarter was ratified by act of parliament, 10th
j

June, 1648, and their marriage contract is dated 17th Jl.ay
j

1655. When a young man. Sir William Drummond had the

command of a regiment in the Dutch service, but on the
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breaking out of the civil war, he returned to Scotland, and

joined the royalists, for which he was fined £6,000 by Crom-

well in 1654. On his marriage with Lady Jean ICer, he he-

came second earl of Roxburghe. In 1661, he obtained a par-

liamentary confirmation of the deed of nomination executed

by the first earl in his favour in 1648 ; and in 1663, he pro-

cm'ed a ratification of the same deed from Sir Walter Ker of

Fawdonside, then the nearest male heir of the Cessford family.

He died 2d July 1675. The new line introduced by this

m;irriage retained the name of Ker, and carried on the peerage

as if the snccession had been direct by male descent. With

a daughter, Jane, countess of Balcarres, he had four sons,

viz., Robert, third earl ; the Hon. Hary Ker, and the Hon.

William Ker, sheriff of Tweeddale, both of whom died with-

out issue; and John, second Lord Bellenden. His grand-aunt,

JIargaret, sister of the first earl of Roxburghe, having mar-

ried Sir James Bellenden of Broughton, father of the first

Lord Bellenden, he succeeded the latter in his title and

estates. (See vol. i., page 283.)

Robert, third earl, was a privy councillor of King Charles

IL He was one of the retinue of the duke of York when he

embarked in the Gloucester frigate for Leith, on 3d May
1682. On the night of the 5th the Gloucester struck on a

sandbank about 16 leagues from the mouth of the Humber,

and was wrecked. The duke escaped by going out at the

large window of the cabin into a small boat. He and those

:vho went with him were forced to draw their swords to keep

the people off. Before going lie inquired for Lord Roxburghe

and Lord O'Brien, but the confusion was so great that tlioy

could not be found. The earl of Roxburghe was drowned,

and about 200 other persons. By his countess. Lady Mar-

garet Hay, eldest daughter of John, first marquis of Tweed-

dale, lord-high-chancellor of Scotland, he had three sons,

Robert, fourth earl, who died, unmarried, at Brussels, 13tli

June, 1G96, in his 19tli year; John, fifth earl, and the Hon.

William Ker, a lieutenant-general in the army. The latter

.served with reputation on the continent under the duke of

Jlarlborough. At the battle of Sheriffmuir, 13th November

1715, he was wounded in the thigh, and liad his horse shot

under him. He died, unmarried, 7th January 1741. The

third earl's countess survived lier husband in constant widow-

hood {or the long period of 71 years, and died at Broomlands,

near Kelso, in January 1753, in her 96th year. She is said

to have been the heroine of the Scottish song called " John

Hay's Bonnie Lassie." Her walking-stick is still preserved

at Fleurs castle, the family seat in Roxburghshire.

John, fifth earl, a most accomplished nobleman, was, in

1704, appointed one of the secretaries of state in Scotland.

He heartily promoted the union with England; nor was he

without his reward, for, by patent, dated at Kensington, 25th

April 1707, he was created, in the Scots peerage, duke of

Roxburghe, marquis of Bowmont and Cessford, earl of Kelso,

viscount of Broxmouth, and Lord Ker of Cessford and Caver-

toun, to himself and the heirs male of his hody, with remain-

der to the other heirs destined by the former patents to suc-

ceed to the title and dignity of earl of Roxburghe. His grace

was one of the sixteen Scots representative peers, and one of

the lords of the regency before the arrival of George L in

England. By that monarch he was appointed keeper of the

privy seal of Scotland, 24th September 1714, and, on 1st

October, sworn a privy councillor at St. James'. On the

breaking out of the rebellion of 1715, he accompanied the

duke of Argyle to Scotland, and served under him as a volun-

teer at the battle of Sheriffmuir. The following year lie was

constituted secretary of state for Scotland. During the

king's absence in Hanover the same year, and again in 1716,
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1720, 1723, and 1725, he was one of the lords justices of the

kingdom. On 10th October 1722, he was invested with the

order of the garter. He joined Lords Carteret and Cadogan

in their attempt to remove Sir Robert Walpole and his bro-

ther-in-law, Lord Townshend, from the government, for

which he was dismissed from his place as secretary of state,

25th August 1725. At the coronation of George II. he offi-

ciated as deputy to the countess of Errol, high constable of

Scotland. His latter years were spent on his estates. He
died at Fleurs, 24tli Fibruary 1741.

His only son, Robert, second duke of Roxburghe, was, in

early youth, created a British peer, as earl and baron Ker of

Wakefield, county of York, 24th May 1722. He died at

Bath, 23d August 1755. He had four sons and three daugh-

ters. His two youngest daughters. Lady Essex Ker, and

Lady Mary Ker, were two of the bridesmaids to Queen Char-

lotte, on her nuptials with George III. in 1761.

His eldest son, John, third duke of Roxburghe, was the

celebrated bibliomanist, of whom a memoir is given, in larger

type, in another part of this work. (See vol. ii., p. 601.) On

his death, unmarried, in 1804, he left a vast accumulation of

wealth, as well as an extensive library of rare bonks, the sale

of which realized a prodigious sum. While travelling on the

continent, he and Cliristiaua, eldest daughter of the duke of

Jlecklenburg-Strelitz, foimed a mutual attachment, and were

on the eve of being married, when Charlotte, her younger

sister, became espoused to George III., and German etiquette

forbade that the elder sister should assume a station which

would render her the subject of the younger. The duke and

the princess, in consequence, broke off their match, but testi-

fied the warmth of their mutual affection and esteem by re-

maining single, during their lives.

The direct line having again failed, the heir of entail, Wil-

liam, seventh Lord Bellenden, a descendant of the second

earl, succeeded as fourth duke of Roxburghe. The Lords

Bellenden held the office of usher of exchequer, with a salary

of about £250 sterling a-year, and appear not to have been

in opulent circmnstances. John Ker, second Lord Bellenden,

fourth son of the second earl of Roxburghe, (see previous

column, and vol. i. p. 283,) died in March 1707. He had five

sons and a daughter. The sons were, 1. John, third Lord

Bellenden, died 16th jNLarch 1740. 2. The Hon. Robert Bel-

lenden, died unmarried. 3. The Hon. William Bellenden, a

lieutenant-colonel in the army, who died in 1759, leaving a

son, William, who succeeded as seventh Lord Bellenden and

fourth duke of Roxburghe. 4. The Hon. James Bellenden, a

captain in the army; and 5. The Hon. Sir Henry liellenden,

gentleman usher of the Black Rod of the order of the Garter,

who died without issue at London, 7th April 1761. Both

Sir Henry and his sister, the Hon. Mary Bellenden, one of

the maids of honour of Caroline, princess of Wales, and af-

terwards duchess of Argyle, are mentioned by Horace Wal-

pole. For the latter particularly, see Lord Orford's Works

(vol. iv. p. 300). With six daughters the third Lord Bellen-

den had two sons, Ker and Robert. Ker, fourth Lord Bel-

lenden, an officer in the royal navy, died 23d May 1754,

leaving an only son, John Ker, fifth Lord Bellenden, who

died, insolvent, at Edinburgh, without issue, 20th October

1796, and was succeeded by his uncle, Robert, sixth Lord

Bellenden. The latter died, unmarried, 14th October 1797,

when the title devolved on the above-mentioned William

Bellenden.

William, seventh Lord Bellenden, for some time an officer

in the army, succeeded in 1804 as fourth duke of Roxburghe,

being then in his 76th year. He enjoyed liis new honours

only about a year, dying at Fleurs castle 22d October 1805.
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His wiJow, Man', <l:uij;litcr of Benjamin I'eclicnoe, Esq.,

captain R. N., iiiaiTicii, a second time, Jolin JIaiiners, ICsq.,

afterwards Talmasli, second son of tlie coniitess of Dysart.

As tlie fouvtli dulce died witliout survivinj; issue, tlie whole

male line of tlio second earl of Hoxbnrglie failed with him.

The title of Lord Hellcndon became dormant, and tlie Kng-

lish titles extinct. For the Scottish honours and the estates

a lengthened contest arose between Lady Essex Ker, as heir

of line; Sir James Norcliffe Lines, afterwards designed Sir

James Lines Ker, baronet, as heir male of Margaret, daugh-

ter of Hary, Lord Ker; Major-general Walter Ker of Little-

dean, as heir male of the first earl ; and the Right Hon.

William Drummond of Logie-Alniond, as heir male of the

Bccond earl. The fourth duke had executed an entail of the

estates in favour of Mr. Bellenden Ker Bellenden, nephew of

the fifth Lord Bellenden, and others, but the court of session

set aside the entail, and decided in favour of Sir .Tames Innes

Ker. On appeals, the whole decisions in his favour were af-

firmed by the House of Lord*, and on 11th May 1812, he

was declared dulce and earl of Roxburghe.

James, fifth dnke and ninth carl of Roxburghe, born about

1738, son of Sir Hary Junes, fifth b.aronet of limes (see vi'l.

ii. p. 530), was in his youth an officer in tlie army. He died

19th July 1823. He man-ied, first, Mary, eldest daugliter

of Sir John Wray of Glcntworth, county of Lincoln, baronet,

and assumed the additional surname of Norcliffe, upon Lady

Lines' inheriting tlie estate of her maternal ancestors at

Laiigton, Yorkshire. He afterwards dropped that surname

on assuming the n.ame of Ker. He niariicd, secondly, Har-

riet, daughter of Benjamin Charlewood of Windlcsliam, K.'-q.,

and by her had an only son, James Henry Robert, sixth duke.

The duchess survived him till lOtli January 1855, having

taken for her second husband, Lieutenant-colonel Walter

Frederick O'Reilly, C.B. 41st foot, who died 4th March 1844.

.Tames Henry Robert Innes Ker, fitli duke of Roxburghe,

K.T., born July 12. IRIG, created Karl Innes in 1838, he

married Dee. 20, 183G, Susanna Stephenia, only child of

Lieutenant-General Sir Charles Dalbiac, IC.C.H., issue, James

Henry Robert, marquis of Bowmont and Ce.'^sford. born Sept.

5, 1839; another son, and two daughters, the elder of whom,

L.ady Susan Harriet, m. in 1850 .T. Grant Suttie, Esq. eldest

son of Sir George Grant Suttie, Bart.

Roy, a sm'name, from a Gaelic word signifying red, and

like More, great, Begg, little, Bav,, fair, and similar names,

originally assumed from some person.al qu.ality, such as the

colour of the hair or complexion, in the first bearer.

ROY, Rob, that is Red Rob, see Macgregoh,

(vol. ii., page 740).

ROY, Wii.Li.\M, Major-Gcncral, an oniinent

antiquarian, was born in the parish of Carluke,

upper -wai'd of Lanarlishire, about tlie year 17:^0.

Ill the winter of 17-iG, M'liilc colonel of artillery, lie

and Ills engineers, under Colonel Watson, made

an actual survey of Scotland on a very large scale,

and the result of their laboiu's is now known as

the " Duke of Cumberland's Map," the original of

which is in the Ordnance Ottice. Tiiis map, on

whicli the sites of all the Roman camps and other

remarkable objects arc accurately pointed out, he
in.

afterwards I'cduced to a smaller size, and had a

few engraved as presents to his friends. lie con-

tributed many important papers to the Transac-

tions of the Royal Society; and for one of these,

being a curious account of the measurement of a

bas(! on Ilounslou'-IIeatli, he obtained the Copley-

medal. A short time before his death, lie had

completed, by command of the king, a most elabo-

rate set of trigonometrical experiments and ob-

servations, to determine the exact latitude and

longitude of the royal observatories of Greenwich

and Paris, according to a mode proposed by him-

self in some of his papers in the Philosophical

Transactions. They were illustrated by tables

computed hy actual measurements, to enable him

to take which his majesty had fui'iiished him with

some very expensive trigonometrical instruments.

He had drawn up and presented to the Royal

Society an account of these experiments, the

printing of which he was engaged superintending

for their Transactions, when he was seized witli

an illness of which he died in two hours, July 1,

1790. At the time of his death, besides being a

major-general in the army, he was deputy quarter-

master-general, colonel of the .30th foot, surveyor-

general of the coasts, and a fellow of the Royal

Society, as well as of the Society of Antiquaries.

Ilis valuable work, entitled 'Jlilitaiy Antiquities

of the Romans in Britain,' was ]niblished at the

expense of tlie Antiquarian Society of London, in

1793. His works are

:

Experiments and Ob.servations made in Britain, in order

to attain a Rule for Jleasuring Heights with the Barometer.

Lend. 1778, 4to.

An Account of the Mode proposed to be followed in the

Trigonometrical Operation for determining the relative situa-

tion of the Royal Observatories of Greenwich and Paris.

Lond. 1787, 4to.

An Account of the Trigonometrical Operations whereby

the distance between the Meridians of the Observatories of

Greenwich .and Paris has been determined. Lond. 1790, 4to.

The Jlilitary Antiquities of the Romans in Britain, and

particularly their ancient System of Castramentation, illus-

trated from vestiges of the Camps of Agricola existing there;

published by the order .and at the expense of the Society of

Antiquaries of London. Lond. 1793, fol. (Posth.)

Experiments and Ob.servations made in Britain, in order to

obtain a Rule for measuring Heights with the Barometer.

Phil. Trans. 1777, Abr. xiv. 22G.

Account of a Measurement of a Base on Hounslow-Heath

lb. 1785, xvi. 22. Reprinted separately same year.

An Account of the Mode proposed to be followed in Deter-

mining the relative Situation of the Royal Observatories of

Greenwich and Paris, lb. 1787, 240.
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RUDDIMAN, Thomas, an eminent grammari-

an and scholar, tlie son of a respectable farmer,

was born in the parish of Boyndie, Banffshire, in

October 1674. lie received the grammatical part

of his education at the parish school, and, in No-

vember 1690, he obtained, by his superior know-

ledge of Latin, the first bursary in Iving's College,

Aberdeen. In Jmie 1694 he took the degree of

M. A., and soon after was engaged by Mr. Eobert

Young, of Auldbar, as tutor to his son. In Febru-

ary 1695 he was appointed schoolmaster of Lau-

rencekirk, in Kincardineshire, where he remained

about three years and a half. About the end of

1699, the celebrated Dr. Pitcairu being detained

for a night by bad weather at the village inn, sent

for tlie schoolmaster to partake of his dinner, and

spend the evening with him, when he was so much

pleased with his conversation and attainments,

that he invited him to Edinburgh, with the pro-

mise of his patronage. Ruddiman accordingly

repaired to the metropolis about the beginning of

1700, and on his arrival Dr. Pitcairn i^rocured

him employment in the Advocates' Library. In

1701 he married Barbara Scollay, the daughter of

a gentleman of Orkney, and May 2, 1702, lie was

formally appointed assistant librarian in the Advo-

cates' Library, with the insignificant salary of £8

6s. 8(1. sterling per annum. He contrived to as-

sist his income, however, by copying chronicles

and chartularies for the university of Glasgow,

and revising and editing works for the booksellers.

His first i)ublication of this kind was Sir Eobert

Sibbald's ' Introductio ad Historiam Rcrum a Bo-

manis Gestarum in ea Boreali Britanniaj parte

quai nltra Murum Picticum est;' and he next re-

vised ' The Practiques of the Laws of Scotland,'

by Sir Bobert Spotiswoode. In 1707 he published

an edition of the ' Aninii Tranquillitate Dialogus,'

hy Volusenus, or Wilson, with a new preface, and

a sketch of the author's life. The same year he

commenced practising as a book auctioneer, con-

fining himself principally to the sale of learned

works and school-books. In 1709 he published

a new edition, with notes, of ' Johnstoni Cantici

Solomonis Paraphrasis Poetica,' which he dedi-

cated to Dr. Pitcairn. To an edition of the trans-

lation of Virgil's ^neid, by Gavin Douglas, pub-

lished in 1710, Mr. Ruddiman added a glossary.

explanatory of the difficult words, and serving for

a dictionary to the old Scottish language. A va-

cancy happening soon after in the grammar school

of Dundee, the magistrates invited him to fill the

office of rector, but the faculty of advocates volun-

taril}- increased his salarj-, and he declined the

offer. In 1711 he aided in preparing for publica-

tion a new edition of the works of Drummond of

Hawthornden, and assisted Abercromby in pub-

lishing the first volume of his ' Martial Achieve-

ments of the Scots Nation.' In 1713 he published

a new and improved edition of the Latin Vocabu-

lary of John Forrest; and, on the death of his

friend, Dr. Pitcairn, tli#same year, in his charac-

ter of auctioneer, he managed the sale of his libra-

vy, which was purchased by Peter the Great,

emperor of Russia.

In 1714 Ruddiman published his ' Rudiments of

the Latin Tongue,' which at once superseded

every work of a similar nature, and continues to

be the standard elementary class-book for the

Latin language in the schools of Scotland. In 1715

appeared his accurate and valuable edition of the

works of Buchanan, with notes, in two volumes

folio ; but his free strictures on Buchanan's char-

acter and political principles involved him in a

lengthened controversy with various persons. In

the same year (1715), he commenced printer, in

partnership with his brother Walter, who had

been brought up to the business, and the first

production of their press was the second volume

of ' Abercromby's Martial Achievements.' In 1725

he published the first part of his ' Granimaticaj

Latina; Institutiones,' and the second part ap-

peared in 1732.

In 1724 he began to print 'The Caledonian

Mercury;' and in 1729 he acquired the whole

property of that newspnper, which continued in

his family till 1772, when it was sold by the trus-

tees of his grandchildren. In 1728 he was nomi-

nated, conjunctly with James Davidson, printer

to the university; and in 1730, on the death of Mr.

John Spottiswood, he was appointed principal keep-

er of the Advocates' Library. In 1739 he edited

the ' Diplomata et Numismata Scotiai,' a work left

incomplete by the death of the author, Mr. James

Anderson, to which he prefixed an admirable

introduction in Latin. In 1745 he published a
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' Viiulication of Ijuclmiiau's Version of the I'salins,'

ill opposition to an Eiiglisli gciitleinan of llie name

of I'eiisoii, wiio liad i)refon'ed tlie version of Dr.

Artliur Johnston. During the summer of tiiat

j'car he retired from the disturbed scenes of Edin-

burgh to tlie sequestered quiet of tlie count ly,

where lie wrote, but witliout an_v view to publica-

tion, ' Critical Observations on I'urman's Com-

mentary npon Liican's I'iiarsali.i,' A\hich that

eminent scholar iiad published at Lc\'den in 1740.

He afterwards issued several small treatises on

disputed parts of Scottish history, to which he

was impelled by the abusive attacks of his adver-

saries. He contributed liis assistance to various

other works than those mentioned, and also ])rint-

ed many of the classics, which are still sought af-

ter. His portrait is subjoined.

In 1751, at the age of 77, his eyesight began to

fail, a misfortune, however, wliicli did not prevent

him from continuing his correspondence with his

friends, or pursuing his studies, with his accus-

tomed ardour; and, in the course of the same

year, he brought out at Edinburgh his edition of

Livy, ill four volumes 12mo, which Harwood de-

clares is one of the most accurate ever published.

He resigned his cliarge of librarian to the faculty

of advocates, Jauuaiy 7, 1752, and was succeeded

by Da\ id Hume, lluddiman dicnl at Edinburgh

January 19, 1757, aged 83, and was interred in

the Greyfriars churchyard, where a monument

was in ISOG erected to his memory. His works arc :

Vohiseni <lt> Aniiui Tranquillilate, Dialogns. To wliicli lie

piclixeJ !i Life of Voluscmis (or Wilson). Edin. 1707, 8vo.

Jolmstoni Caiitici Solomoiiis I'iU-aplirasis Poolica. Kdiii.

17n;», Svo.

Ki'W etiition of Vii'gil's iEneiil, by Gawin Douglas, with

Corrections and a Glossary. Edin. 1710, fol.

He also publislied a valuable and accurate edition of Georpe

Buchanan's Works, printed by U. Freebairn, 171.5, 2 vols,

fol. Tins edition was republished, witb a Preface, and a few

additional Notes, by the learned Peter Burman, at I.cyden,

1 725, 2 vols. 4to.

Kudiments of tlie Latin Tongue with Notes, e.xplairiiiij: the

terms and rules of Grammar. Edin. 1714, 12ino. 17tli

edition. Edin. 17Cn, 8vo. W"itli Additions by Mr. Moir.

Edin. 177!), 8vo. New stereotype edition liy J. Dyinock.

Graminatica; Latina; Institutiones, facili, atque ad Puerorum

captum accoininodatii, methodo perscriptsc; addita; sunt, in

provectiorum gratiam, nota; perpetua;; quibus non solum

I.alini sermonis pnccepta plenius explicantur, sed et ea ple-

raque onmia, quK ii sumniis gr.amniaticis rdiisque ad banc

artem illustrandum .sunt observata, succinct^ simul perspicu-

6que traduntur. Perfecit, et suis animadversionibus auxit,

Tlionias Ruddimannus, A.J[., duobus partibus, Edlnburgi

:

in Kdibus auctoris. Edin. 1725-31, 2 vols. 8vo. Grainma-

tica; I.alinaj Institutiones, (sine Notis perpetuis). Edin.

1740, 12mo. It has since passed througli many editions.

Anderson's Diplomata Scotix. 1730. Begnn by Ander-

son, but finished and published by Ruddiinan, who wrote the

admirable Introduction, a translation of wliicli was published

separately at Edinburgh, 1773, 12mo.

A Vindication of Mr. George Buclianan's Paraphrase of

tlie Book of Psalms, against the objections of William Ben-

son, Esq. Edin. 1745, Svo.

An Answer to the Rev. G. Logan's late Treatise on Gov-

ernment. Edin. 1747, 8vo.

A Dissertation concerning the Competition for the Crown

of Scotland betwixt Bruce and Baliol in 1291, wherein is

proved that the right of Bruce was preferable to that of Ba-

liol. Edin. 1748, Svo.

Animadversions oil a late pamphlet, entitled, A Vindica-

tion of Jlr. George Buchanan, &c. Edin. 1749, 8vo.

An edition of Livy. Edin. 1751, 4 vols. 12mo. This is

said to be the most accurate edition of Livy ever publislied.

Anticrisis; or, a Discussion of Jlr. Mann's scurrilous and

malicious Libel published .ag.ainst him. Edin. 1754, Svo.

Audi Alter.im Partem
;

or, a farther Vindication of his

edition of Buchanan's Works, against Jlr. James JIann.

Edin. 175G, Svo.

A Cat.alogue of his own Libraiw, which, after his death,

was sold by auction ; ent. Bibliotheca Romana, Catalogus

Auctorum Classicoruin. Edin. 1757, Svo.

Besides writing or editing the above works, Ruddiman

contributed his assistance to a great many others, .such as

:

Sibbald's 'Introductio ad Ilistoriain Remm a Romanis

gestarum," iScc.—Spottiswood's ' Pratiques of the Law of

Scotland.'—Dnnnmond of Hawtbornden's 'Works.'—Aber-

crombie's ' JIartial Achievements.'—Ames's 'Topographical

Antiquities,' &c. &c.
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RuGLEN, Earl of, a title in tlie peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred by patent, dated otli April 1G97, on Lord John Ham-
ilton, fourth son of William and Anne, duke and duchess of

Hamilton, with the secondary titles of viscount of Riccartoun

and Lord Hiilhouse, to liim and the heirs male of his body,

remainder to the heirs whatsoever of his body. Born in Jan-

uary 16G5, he was for some time master of the mint in Scot-

land, but was deprived of that office for opposing the pro-

ceedings of the government. On the death of his brother,

Charles, earl of Selkirk, in 1739, that title devolved upon

him, and he was thenceforth stj'led earl of Euglen and Sel-

kirk. He died at Edinburgh, 3d December 1744, in his 80th

year, having been twice married, first, to his cousin-german,

Lady Anne Kennedy, only daughter of the seventh earl of

Cassillis, and by her had one son and two daughters
;
and,

secondly, to Elizabeth Hutchinson, relict of John, Lord Ken-

nedy, mother of the eighth earl of Cassillis, without issue.

The son, William, Lord Riccartoun, born in 1696, after his

father became earl of Selkirk, was styled Lord Daer. He

was an officer in the army, and died, unmarried, at Edin-

burgh, 20tli February 1742, in his 46th year, of a fever, oc-

casioned by overheating himself in dancing with Jliss Blair,

heiress of Kinfauns, afterwards Lady Gray. Anne, the elder

of the two daughters, succeeded her father as countess of

Euglen. Tlie earldom of Selkirk devolved on her father's

gi'and-nephew, Dunbar Hamilton of Baldoon (see Selkirk,

earl of). The younger daughter. Lady Susan, married her

cousin, John, eighth earl of Cassillis, the son of her step-

mother.

Anne, countess of Euglen, married, first, the second earl

of March, and by him had an only cliild, William, fourth

duke of Queensberry, earl of March and Euglen. Slie mar-

ried, secondly, Anthony Sawyer, Esq., paymaster of tlie forces

in Scotland, without issue. She died at York, on her way

to London, 21st April 1748, in her 51st year, when the title

of earl of Ruglen devolved on her son, William, earl of March

and Ruglen, at one period celebrated on the turf, and in his

latter years called " Old Q in the comer," from his daily habit

of sitting in tlie parlour bow-window of his house in Picca-

dilly, London, looking out on the passers-by in the street; on

whose death, in December 1810, the title became extinct.

.See Queensberry, Duke of, page 317 of this volume.

Rule, a surname, a contraction of Regulus. In the fourth

century, St. Regulus or St. Rule, a monk of Patras, a city in

Achaia, where the hones of St. Andrew .are said to have been

kept, arrived with some of them, as tradition asserts, at Mu-
cross, afterwards St. Andrews, in the east of Fife, and thus

brought the name into Scotland. Tlie surname, in some in-

stances, may have been derived from the rivulet Eule on the

southern side of Teviotdale, the channel of which is a deep

gullet through sandstone, and of which Leyden says,

" Between red ezlar banks that frightful scowl,

Fringed with gray hazel, roars the mining Rowll."

EUNCIMAN, Alexander, a celebrated paint-

er, the son of an architect, was born at Edinburgh

In 1736. He early evinced a decided taste for draw-

ing, and while yet a mere boy employed himself

almost constantly in sketching landscapes. In

1750 he was sent as an apprentice to Messrs. John

and Robert Norrle, house-painters in his native

city, and under the instructions of the former,

whose mantle-piece decorations were much ad-

mired at the time, he made rapid improvement.

After studying as a pujiil in the academy of the

brothers Foulis at Glasgow, he began, about

1755, to paint landscapes professionally, and this

department of art he pursued for about five years

with increasing reputation, but with little profit.

In 1760 he was induced to commence historical

painting, a branch in whicli he found greater en-

couragement than in portraying rural scenery.

—

His portrait is subjoined.

Having attracted the notice of Sir James Clerk

of Penicuick, baronet, then a chief patron of Scot-

tish art, he was, in 1766, sent by that gentleman to

Ital}', to study the works of the great masters
;
and,

M'hile in that country, he mnde such a good use of

his opportunities as to excel many of his contempo-

raries, particularly in the rich yet chastened style

of colouring of the Venetian school. He returned

to Scotland in 1771, and the same year was ap-

pointed, by the trustees for the Encouragement of

Arts and Manufactures, master of the academy

established at Edinburgh for the study of draw-

ing, with a salary of £120. His principal work,

of which the design was entirely his own, was the
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paintings in tlie Ilall of Ossian at Penicuick. To

tliis great undci-taking he devoted liimself so closely

as to contract an illness, from wliicli he never re-

covered, from being obliged to lie constantly on his

back while decorating tlie ceiling with scenes from

Ossian's Poems. Tliesc paintings, witli tlie pic-

ture of 'Tlie Ascension' on the ceiling above the

altar of tlic old Episcopal chapel, Cowgate, Edin-

liiir^'li ; his ' King Lear;' his ' Andromeda ;' and his

' A;;ri])j>iiia landing with the Ashes of Gerinanicns,'

fully established his fame as an historical painter,

lie executed several other pieces, of most of which

engravings -were publislied. He died October 21,

17^5, droiipiiig down suddenly on the street, when

about to enter his lodgings. His brotlier, John

Iluiicinian, was also a painter of some eminence

in Ills day.

FicssKLL, a surname originally Knglisli, having tlie same

nieaniiig as litij'us, lions, and tlie French liousseau, iianifly

red, and derived fruiii colour or complexion.

The family of liiissell of Aden, Aberdeenshire, descends

from one Kuzel or Russell, an English baron who accouipa-

iiied Kdward III. to tlie siege of Henvick and battle of Hali-

di)n Hill in 13o3, and settled in Scotland, being designed

Russell of that ilk. In IGOO Alexander Russell of tliis fam-

ily purchased property near Klgin, and his son, Patrick Riui-

scll, who married a sister of Archbishop Sharp, in IGSi)

bought part of tlie lands of Jloncoffer, Banffshire, wliiL-h

were sold by his grandson, Alexander Russell, who, on liis

part, purchased .-ideii and other estates in Aberdeensliire.

Of the family of Russell of Ashiesteel, Selkirkshire, two

members liave distinguished themselves by tlieir military

services, namely, Colonel William Russell of Ashiesteel, wlio,

when lieutenant of the 79th, led tlie storming party at the

siege of Manilla, and afterwards, as adjutant-general of the

MadiMS army, was engaged ill all the memorable expeditions

in India, under Clive, Cuute, Laurence, &c., and his son, (by

his wife, a daughter of John Rutherford, .M.D. of Ediiiburgli,)

Major-general Sir,lames Russell, bora ill 1781, who sei"ved in

the East Indies from 1799 to 1825, commanded a brigade of

cavalry at the battle of JIahedpoor, and in 1837 was nomi-

nated K.C.B. The latter died in ISGO. He married in 1834

Katlierine, daughter of Sir J. Hall, Bart., with issue. Ue

was succeeded by bis daughter, Helen Jane Mountstuart.

PtUSSKLL, ALE.x.vxDEit, an eminent physician

and naturalist, the son of a lawyer, was born and

educated in Edinburgh, lie studied in the uni-

versity of his native city, and having taken his

degree of M.D. he repaired about 17oi to Lon-

don. Shortly after he sailed for Aleppo, and in

lliO was appointed physician to the Eiiglisli fac-

tory there. He soon became the princii)ai prac-

titioner in the place, being lionoureil by the i)ar-

ticular regard and coiiiidence of the pasha. He

returned to England in 17o4, and in 175C he pub-

lished his 'Natural History of Alc])po,' with a

diary of the progi'css of the plague in 1742-3-4. In

1759, a vacancy occurring in St. Thomas' Hospital,

London, Dr. Ptussell was elected physician to that

institution, which office he retained till his death,

November 25, 17G8. He contributed several jia-

jiers to the lloyal and J\Iedical Societies, which ^\ilI

be found in tlieir Transactions. His works are :

Tciitamen Medicum et .Medicastrorum audacltate. Edin.

1709, 8vo.

The Natural History of Aleppo and parts adjacent, con-

taining a Descrijition of the City, and the principal Natural

Productions in its neighbourhood
;
together with an Account

uf the Climate, Inhabitants, and Diseases, particularly the

Plague ; with the methods used by the Europeans for their

preservation. Loud. 1756, 410. 2d edition revised, enlarged,

and illustrated with Notes, by liis brother, Patrick Russell,

.M.D. Loud. 1791, 2 vols. 4to. Tliis valu.able history has

been translated into different European langu.agcs.

Of a remarkable Marine Production. Phil. Trans. 17C2,

-•Vbr. xi. G35. Vorticella Ovifera Lin.

Letter describing the Scanmiony Plant. Med. Obs. and

Inq. i. p. 12, 1755.

Account of two Paralytic Cases. lb. p. 29G.

Cases of Lues A'enerea cured by a solution of Corrosive

Sublimate, lb. ii. p. 88.

Of several Hydatids discharged with the Urine. lb. iii. p.

146. 1767.

Experiments made with the Decoction of Mezereon iu

Venereal Nodes. lb. p. 189.

Case of almost universal Enipliysema. III. p. 397.

An Essay on liis Character. Lond. 1770, 4to.

RUSSELL, Patrick, M.TJ., a younger brotlier

of the preceding, was born at Edinburgh in 1726.

.After com])leting his medical studies at tlie univer-

sity of that city, he went out to Aleppo, where he

resided witli liis brother, whom he succeeded, in

1754, as ])hysician to the British factory there.

During his residence at Aleppo, the great plague

of 17C0 and tlie two following years broke out in

Syria ; and his quarto Treatise on the snbject,

published in 1791, some years after his return to

England, contains an historical and medical ac-

count of the disease in all its varieties. Besides

superintending the publication of an enlarged edi-

tion of his brother's 'Natural History of Aleppo,'

in 1796 he published an account of the Indian

serpents collected on the coast of Coromnndel.

He was a fellow of the Pioyal Society, and con-

tributed various articles to the Transactions of that

body. He died July 2, 1805. His works are :

A Treatise on the Plague, containing an Historical .Tonm.al,

and Medical Account of the Plague at Aleppo in the years



RUSSELL. 390 RUTIIERFOIID.

1760-1-2 ; also, Remarks on Quarantines, Lazarettoes, and

the administration of Police in times of Pestilence. With an

Appendi.i, containing Cases of the Plague, and an Account of

the Weather during the Pestilential Season. Lond. 1791, 4to.

An Account of the Indian Serpents, collected on the Coast

of Coroniandel, containing descriptions and drawings of each

Species; together with Experiments and Reniarlcs on their

several Poisons. Lond. 179G, foL Lond. 1801-5, 2 parts, 4to.

Of the late Earthquakes in Syria. Phil. Trans, xi. 17C0,

437.

On the Inoculation in Ar.ahia. lb. 17C8, xii. 529.

Account of the Tabasheer. lb. 1790, xvi. C53.

Observations on the Orifices found in certain Poisonous

Snakes, situated between the Nostril and the Eye ; with Ee-

marfe, by Everard Home, Esq., F.R.S. lb. 1804, 70.

Remarks on the voluntary Expansion of the Skin of the

Neck, in the Cobra de Capello, or Hooded Snake of the East

Indies; with a Description of the Structure of the Parts

which perform that office. lb. 353.

An Account of two Cases, showing the existence of the

Small-Pox and the Measles in the same person at the same

time ; and an Account of a Case of Ague in a Ciiild in Utero.

Trans. Med. and Cliir. ii. p. 90, 1800.

RUSSELL, William, nu able liistoriaii, poet,

and miscellaneous writer, eldest son of Alexander

Russell and Christian Ballantyne, was born iu

1741 at Windydoors, a farm-house in Selkirkshire.

He was educated at tlie school of Innerleithen and

Edinburgh, and was bound apprentice to the book-

selling and printing business. About 1763 he

published at Edinbui-gh a ' Collection of Poems,'

which seems to have attracted some temporary

attention, and recommended him to the notice of

Lord Elibank.

In May 1767 Russell set out for London, and

became corrector of the press to Mr. Strahnn. In

1769 he was appointed overseer of the printing

office of Brown and Adlard. He published vari-

ous pieces in prose and verse, and in 1779 brought

out the first and second volumes of his ' History

of Modern Europe,' the work by which he is best

known. The three volumes which complete 'The

Histoiy of Modern Europe ' made their appear-

ance in 1784. He died in 1793. His works are:

Collection of Modern Poems. Printed at Edinburgh .about

17G3.

An Ode to Fortitude. Lond. 1709, 4to. Reprinted at

Edinburgh same year.

Sentimental Tales. 1770.

Collection of Fables, Moral and Sentiment.al, in Verse.

Lond. 1772, sm. 8vo.

Essay on the Character, JIanners, and Genius of Women

;

from the French of M. Thomas. 1772.

Julia; a Poetical Romance. 1774.

Tim History of Modern Europe; Avitli an Account of the

Decline and Fall of the Roman Empire, and a View of the

ProTess of Society from the 5th to the 18th centun-: in a

series of Letters from a Nobleman to his son. Lond. 1779,

2 vols. 8vo. Part II., from the Peace of Westphalia in 1G48,

to the Peace of Paris 1763 ; with a View of the Progress of

Society during the present century : in a series of Letters

from a Nobleman to his Son. Lond. 1784, 3 vols. 8vo. The

first of these was anonymous, but the .author in the last

subscribed his name, in the Dedication to the duke of Bed-

ford. An enlarged and improved edition of tlic two parts

conjoined was published, 1786, 5 vols. 8vo. New edition in

6 vols. 8vo; the last volume written by Dr. Coote.

The History of America, from its first Discovery by Colum-

bus, to the conclusion of the late War. Lond. 1779, 4to.

The Tragic Muse. 1783. A just compliment to the abi-

lities of Mrs. Siddons.

The History of Ancient Europe ; with a View of the Re-

volutions in Asia and Africa: in a series of Letters to a young

Noblem<an. Lond. 1793, 2 vols. 8vo.

Besides the above Dr. Russell wrote an immense number of

Articles for the Various London Magazines, which, if col-

lected, would form several volumes. He also left a great

many unfinished Productions, which have not been printed.

A Life of him, by Irvine, was published in 1801, 12mo.

Rutherford, a border surname, borne origin.ally by the

ancient Teviotdale family of Rutherford of th.at ilk. The

surname is traditionally said to have had its derivation from

the circumstance that their ancestor guided Kuther, one of

the Scots kings of " hoar antiquity," through a ford iu the

river Tweed, in an expedition against the Britons, and the

lands adjacent being conferred upon him were thereafter

called Rutherford, which n.ame his posterity .adopted, when

surnames became hereditary iu Scotland. Another tradi-

tionary story,—which, if correct, must refer to a time pre-

ceding the epoch of authentic border history,—gives a different

account of the origin of the name. It says that an English

army once occupied for several days a position on a rocky

height, overhanging the Tweed, in the parish of Maxton,

Roxburghshire, called Ringly Hall, when, finding itself con-

fronted by a Scottish force ensconced on the opposite bank of

the river, it forded the Tweed, and was defeated after a se-

vere encounter. The spot was afterwards called Ruc-the-

ford, on account of the disaster sustained by the English in

fording the river, and the name, altered into Rutherford, w.as

transferred to the lands around it, and to a village, now ex-

tinct, in its vicinity.

In the frequent border for.ays into England under the

Douglases, the Rutherfords bore a conspicuous part. Among
the first of them on record were Robertus dominus de Ruth-

erford, witness to a charter granted by David I. to Jervasius

Ridal in 1140, and Hugo de Rutherford, in a grant by Philip

de Valoniis of some lands in Northumberland in 1215. Hu-

go's son, Sir Nichol de Rutherford, mentioned in a charter of

Alexander III., in 1201, is also witness in several donations

to the monastery of Kelso, and in 1270 and 1272 is designed

Nicholaus de Rutherford, miles. He had two sons, Sir Nichol,

who succeeded him, and Aynier de Rutherford, both of whose

names are in the Ragman Roll as among the Scots barons

v/ho swore a forced fealty to Edward I. of England in 129G.

The son of the former. Sir Robert de Iiutlierford, is particu-

larly mentioned in Barbour's History as fighting vali.antly

under Robert the Bruce, for the independence of Scotland.

His son. Sir Richard Rutherford of that ilk, was witness in a

charter granted to the abbacy of Coupar in 1328. Sir Rich-

ard's grandson. Sir Rioh:ud Rutherford, a distinguished fa-

vourite of Robert III., was in 1390 witness to a charter

granted by William TurnbuU to \\'illiam Stewart, his ne-
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phew, of tlie lands of Minto. In 1398 he was appointed one

of the ambassadors extraordinary to the court of ICngUind,

and in 1400 lie and Ids sons were made wardens of the

marches. By liis wife, Jean Douglas, he had three sons,

James, who succeeded him
;
John, who had a grant from

Archibald, earl of Douglas, in 1421, of the lands of Chatto,

and was ancestor of tlie Rutlicrfords of Chatto and Hunthill,

of whom were the Lords Kutherford
; and Nicliol, ancestor of

the Ituthcrfords of Ilundalee, whicli family, about the begin-

ning of the eigliteenth century, ended in a female, married to

Sir James Ker of Crallinghill. The Hutherfords of Fairnilee

were descended from the lamily of Hundalce.

In 1449, James Iiuthorford of that ilk, the eldest sun, was,

with his brother, Nicliol, appointed guarantee of a treaty

with the English. His son, James Rutherford of that ilk, in

1457 was one of the conservators of a truce with England.

In 14.i9 he was appointed one of the wardens of the inarch-

es. In 1484, under the designation of James, Lord Ruther-

ford, he was one of the commissioners for settling the marches

on the borders. He afterwards got a charter from .Taincs

IV., of the barony of Edger.^ton, loth .T.anuary 1492 ; also

another charter from the same monarch of the lands of Ruth-

erford and Wells, to himself and Rich.ird Rutherford, his

gi'andson, whom failing to his second son and apparent heir,

and his heirs male, &c. He died in 1493. By liis wife,

Margaret Erskine, daughter of Lord Er.skine, he had Pliilip

;

Thomas, who became heir male of the family ; three other

sons ; and a daughter, Christian, wife of Sir Robert Ker, only

son and apparent heir of Sir Walter Ker of Cessford. Tlie

eldest son, Philip, predeceased his father. B}' his wife, Eli-

z.abetli, daughter of Sir Walter Ker of Cessford, he had a

.son, Richard, who .succeeded his gr.andfatlier, and two daugh-

ters, Helen, married, first, to Sir John Forman of Davine.

brother of that artful and avaricious prelate, Andrew For-

man, archbishop of St. Andrews; and secondly, to Andrew

Rutherford of Hiinthill ; and Christina, wife of James Stuart

of Traquair, ancestor of the earls of Traquair (see Ti;aqu.\iu,

carl of).

Richard Rutherford of that ilk died without issue. Helen,

his elder sister, succeeded him in the lands of Rutherford and

Wells, while the barony of Edgerston went to the heir male,

her cousin, Robert Rntherfnrd, the son of Thomas, above

iiientinned. On Helen's death, without i.'isue by cither of

lier husbands, her sister, Christi.an, Lady Stuart, as heir of

line, got the lands of Rutherford and Wells, which thence-

forth remained in possession of the Traquair family (_Xisbet's

Jlernldn/, vol. ii. A pp. p. 22).

Robert Rutherfurd of ICdgerston was engaged in constant

feuds with the Stuarts of Traquair and their allies, the Kcrs

of Cessford. His son, Thomas Rutherfurd, commonly .stvled

the " black laird" of Edgerston, was the terror of the bor-

ders, his exploits against the Engli.sh being numerous and

daring. At the battle of the Red Swire, 7th July 1575,—the

last skirmish of any consequence fought on the borders,—at

the head of his followers and the men of Jedburgh, he was

m.ainly the cause of the victory being secured to the Scots.

It was fought on a part of Carterfell, and was called the llaid

or battle of the Red Swire, from the colour of the heath and

the form of the hill at the place, the word " swirc" denoting

in Scottish topogi'aphy the swelling descent of a liill or the

neck of a mountain. The occasion of the battle was as fol-

lows: At .a border gathering held by both wardens of the

marches, agreeably to border usage, for hearing complaints

and redressing wrongs, an accusation of theft was brought

by a Scotsman ag.-iiiist an English freebooter of the name of

Farnstein, and on the latter being demanded to be delivered

u|i, Sir John Forster, governor of Berwick, the English war-

den, alleged that lie had fled from justice, and could not ba

found. Sir .Tohn Carmicliael, the Scots warden, suspecting

this to be .^ mere pretence to screen the offender, bade the

English functionary "play fair." Forster retorted by some

injurious expressions regarding Carmichael's family, and gave

other open signs of resentment. The Tynedale and Reesdale

men, the most ferocious of the ICngli.sh borderers, glad of any

occasion for a fight, discharged a flight of arrows among the

Scots. A general skirmish immediately ensued. Sir John

Carmicliael was beaten down and made prisoner, and the

Scots, taken by surprise, were at first driven from the field.

l!ut, reinforced by the Rutlierfords and the Jedburgh men,

whom they met coming to the tryst, they turned back upon

the Engli.sh, and put them to flight, taking their warden and

a number of the English border chiefs prisoners. The old

ballad says,

"The Rutherfonrds, with giit renown,

Convoyit the town of Jeddart out."

Amongst the Rutherfords engnged on this occasion were the

lairds of Ilundalee and Hunthill

:

" Bonjefhart, Hnndlie and Hunthill,

Three, on they laid wocl at the last."

The "black laird" of Edgerston was father of Richard Rnlh-

erfurd, who succeeded him, but dying young, left a son, Ro-

bert, a minor. The latter had a numerous issue.

His eldest son, John Rutherfurd of Edgerston, distinguish-

ed himself during the civil wars in the 17th century. In

1()39 he raised a troop of horse, and the following year he

was at the capture of Newcastle. He continued with the

army until the king's suirender in 1G46. In l(j48 he joined

the "Engagement," under the duke of Hamilton, for the de-

liverance of the king from his captivity in the Isle of Wight,

and was in the battle of Preston, where the Scots army was

defeated. Subsequently he became a principal officer in the

army rai.sed for the support of Charles II. after his arrival in

Scotland in 1650, and in the battle of Dunbar that year, he

was severely wounded and his whole troop slain, with the

exception of five men. After the Restoration, he command-

ed an independent troop of liorse for keeping good order on

the borders, and was always one of the chief commissioners

of the crown for trying thieves and other offenders in a sum-

man' wav. With twelve daughters, he had four sons, viz.,

.lolin. who pi-edeceased his father; Andrew, who succeeded

in 1G82, and entailed Edgerston
;
Thomas, who succeeded

his brother, Andrew, in 1718; and Robert Rutherfurd of

Rowland.

The third son, Thomas Rutherfurd of Edgerston, got as-

signed to lum by Robert, Lord Rutherford, that peerage,

with the est.ates att;iched to it. but he did not assume the

title; neither did his son, Sir John Rutherfurd. The latter

was knighted in 170G, when young, in his father's lifetime,

bv an order from Queen Anne, to the duke of Queensberry,

then her majesty's commissioner to the parliament of Scot-

land. He succeeded his father in 1720. He was twice mar-

ried, first, to Eliz.abeth Cairncross, heiress of the ancient and

lionour.able house of Colmslie, I'"ifesliire, and had by her 19

children ; and, secondly, in 1741 to Sarah, si.ster of Sir Alex-

ander Nisbet, baronet, and by her had, with one d.aughter, a

son, who inherited Hunthill.

The eldest son, John Rutherfurd of Edgerston, .advocate,

born 12th June 1712, was for some time JLP. for Roxhuigh-
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shire. During the first American war, lie accepted an inde-

pendent company at New York, and was killed at the unsuc-

cessful attack on Ticondero,!^a in 1758. By his wife, Eleanor,

daughter of Sir Gilbert Elliot of Jlinto, a lord of session, he

had eleven children. Three of his sons were, John, his heir;

Robert, killed in a mutiny of the Sepoys at Vellore, East In-

dies, about 1770 ; and Archibald, a captain in the army.

Jane, a younger daughter, married William Oliver of Dinla-

byre, sheriff-depute of Roxbm-gbshire, and died in June 1820.

One of her sons, William Oliver, born in 1781, succeeded, in

1834, his uncle John Rutlierfurd of Edgerston, M.P., when

lie assumed the surname and arms of Rutherfurd. William

Oliver-Rutherfurd of Edgerston, married in ISOi, Agnes,

daughter of Alexander Cliatto, Esq., with issue.

His eldest son, William Alexander Rutherfurd, Esq., mar-

ried in Sept. 1861 Margaret Jane, only daughter of Edward

Young, Esq., deceased, and grand-daughter of Heniy Young,

Esq., M.D. of Devonshire Place, London, also deceased.

RuTHERFOKD, Baron, a title in the peerage of Scotland,

conferred in 1661, on Lieutenant-general Andrew Rutherford,

son of William Rutherford of Quarrelholes, a branch of the

Rutherfords of Chatto and Hunthill, by his wife, Isabel,

daughter of the above-named Sir James Stuart of Traquair.

His lordship acquired great honour in the French service, and

at the Restoration was particularly recommended by the king

of France, to Charles II., by whom he was created Lord

Rutherford, by patent, dated at Whitehall, Jan. 10, 1661, to

himself and "to his heirs and assignees whatsoever, and that

under what provisions, restrictions, and conditions the said

Lord Rutherford should think fit." Soon after he was ap-

pointed governor of Dunkirk, which had been captured from

the Spanish in 1658, by the French and English combined,

and taken possession of by the English. On the sale of that

place in 1662 to Louis XIV., for £100,000, Lord Rutherford

returned to England, but while in that trust, he had given

so much satisfaction to Cliarles II., that the Latter farther

advanced him to he earl of Teviot, by patent, dated 2d Feb-

ruary 1663, with limitation to the heirs male of his body.

He was appointed colonel of the 2d, or Tangier regiment of

foot, 6th April 1663, and the same year was sent out as

governor of Tangier. This seaport, which is in the province

of Fez in Morocco, situated on the straits of Gibraltar, had

been ceded to England as a marriage portion with the prin-

cess Catherine of Portugal, queen of Charles 11. He was

killed in a sally against the Moors, 4th May 1664. In his

last will he ordered eight chambers to be built in the college

of Edinburgh, where he was educated, and an inscription

placed therein, announcing that he had done so. Dying

without issue, the earldom of Teviot became extinct, but the

title of Lord Rutherford devolved on Sir Thomas Rutherford

of Hunthill, in virtue of a general settlement executed by the

first Lord Rutherford at Portsmouth, 23d December 1663.

The second Lord Rutherford died, without issue, in April

1668, when his brother, Archibald, became third Lord Ruth-

erford, and sat in parliament as a peer. He died, without

male issue, in 1685, and was succeeded by his brother, Ro-

bert, fourth Lord Rutherford. The latter sat as a peer in

parliament in 1698, and after the Union voted for the repre-

sentatives of the Scottish peerage. He died without issue in

1724, when the peerage became dormant.

The title of Lord Rutherford was assumed by George Du-

rie of Grange, grand-nephew of the first lord, earl of Teviot,

whose sister Christian married Robert Durie of Grange, in

Fifeshire. This George Durie voted as Lord Rutlierford at

the election of a representative peer in 1733, and at the gen-

eral election the following year. On the latter occasion,

however, his vote was protested against by the procurator of

Captain or Lieutenant John Rutherford, who also claimed

the title and voted as Lord Rutherford at several elections.

At the election of 1739, as well as at the general election of

1741, and at an election in 1742, both gentlemen voted as

Lord Rutherford. At an election in 1744, George Durie's vote

was protested against, on behalf of his rival. Captain Ruther-

ford died loth Febraary 1745, but his son, Alexander, took

up his claim. At the general election of 1747 George Durie,

styling himself Lord Rutherford, addressed the assembled

peers and voted without challenge, and in March 1748 he

printed 'Jlemorial of George Lord Rutherford, setting forth

his title and claim to the peerage of Rutherford, and for de-

feating the chymerical pretensions one Lieutenant Ruther-

ford did set up to that dignity, as now does his son, Alex.an-

der, who represents him.' At an election in 1750 Alexander,

claiming to be Lord Rutherford, protested against the vote

of Geoi-ge Durie of Grange, as Lord Rutherford, which was,

nevertheless, received. At an election in 1752, and again at

the general election in 1754, they both voted as Lord Ruth-

erford. George Durie died at Grange, near Burntisland, 18th

June 1759, leaving a son, David, who also claimed to be

Lord Rutherford. To put an end to the pretensions of both

claimants, the House of Lords, on 16th March 1761, issued

an order that Alexander Rutherford and David Durie should

attend the house and show by what authority they assumed

the title. At the general election of 1761, the former voted

as Lord Rutherford. He also presented a petition to the

king, setting forth his right to the title, which, in accordance

with the usual practice, was laid before the House of Lords,

14th December 17G1. The lords' committee of privileges re-

solved, 15th March 1762, that neither claimant should be

considered as having right to the title until they should have

made out their claim, and until the same is allowed, they

should not be admitted to vote at elections of peers, in virtue

of said title. Of these parties we hear no more, but on 11th

January 1788, John Anderson in Goland, a cousin of David

Durie, voted as Lord Rutherford, for Lord Catlicart. On
the 21st April, however, his vote was rejected by the House

of Lords. No one has claimed the title since. (See Doug-

las' Peerarje, Wood's edition, vol. ii. p. 460.)

Of this surname was a distinguished lord of session, the

Right Hon. Andrew Rutherford, born in 1791. He passed

advocate in 1812, and early came into extensive practice,

being remarkable for his masterly power of analysis, his vast

legal erudition, and his eloquence in forensic debate. As a

scholar and critic he also attained to considerable eminence.

From an early period he associated himself with the whig

party, and in 1837, he was appointed solicitor-general for

Scotland, under the Melbourne administration. In 1839, he

became lord-advocate, and was elected M.P. for the Leith

burghs. He held the office of lord-advocate until the acces-

sion of Sir Robert Peel to power in 1841, and was reinstated

in it on the dissolution of the Peel administration in 1846.

In 1851, he was promoted to the bench of the court of ses-

sion, when he assumed the judicial title of Lord Rutherford,

and was sworn a member of the privy council. He died at

Edinburgh, 13th December 1854, in his 63d year. To his

services in parliament Scotland owes the Court of Session

Act, the ICntail Reform Act, and other most valuable mea-

sures of forensic reform. His wife, Sophia, a daughter of

Sir James Stewart of Fort Stewart, county Donegal, Ireland,

baronet, predeceased him in 1852. A splendid mausoleum
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was erected by him in tlie Dean cemetery, Edinburgh, to her

memory and his own.

RUTHERFORD, Samukl, a celebrated refoi--

mcr and divine, was bom about IGOO in the parisli

of Niabet, now aniie.Ked to ('railing, in tiie pres-

bytery of Jedburgh. Of liis parentage tliere is no

certain information, but ids father is believed to

have been a farmer. 'i"he editor of the first edi-

tion of his Letters, which appeared in 1664, states,

that he was "a gentleman by extraction;" while

Wodrow says, that he was sprung of mean but

honest parents in Teviotdale. He is supposed to

have received liis earlj'' education in the school of

Jedburgli. In 1617 lie was sent to the univer-

sity of Edinburgh, where, four years later, he

took the degree of I\LA. His attainments at col-

lege, particularly in classical literature, were so

great that, in 1G23, after a comparative trial, lie

was elected professor of humanity there, in prefer-

ence to three other carididates. Two years after-

wards, however, some reports connected with his

marriage having been raised to his prejudice, for

which there docs not appear to have been any

foundation, he resigned his ))rofessorship, and de-

voted himself to the study of theology. "Where or

M'heu lie obtained license to preach is not known,

but about 1627 he was settled as parish minister

of Anwoth, in the stewartiy of Kirkcudbright, an

appointment which he obtained through Gordon

of Kenmurc, who was soon after raised to the

jieerage. Prelacy l)eing at that period in the as-

ccudant in Scotland, no minister could be induct-

ed into a parish without declaring his submission

to the bishop of (he diocese. Mi: Rutherford,

however, was abowed to enter upon his charge

"without coming tnider any engagement to the

bishop." While he was at Anwoth, wc are told,

it was his custom to rise every morning at three

o'clock, and after dedicating tlie early part of the

day to study or private devotion, he spent the re-

mainder of it in visiting and instructing his peo-

ple. His reputation being soon spread throngliout

the country, multitudes came from all quarters to

hear him ]ireacli. His unwearied zeal in the dis-

charge of his niiinslcrial duties was the occasion

of his being sunnnoiied, iu ,Iune 1630, before the

high court of commission of Edinburgh ; but the

archbishop of St. Andrews was prevented by tem-

pestuous weather from attending, and the diet

against him was in consequence deserted. About the

same time he lost his first wile, Eupham Hamilton,

after a protracted illness of thirteen months, while

lie himself suffered severely for thirteen weeks un-

der a tertian fever. About ten years afterwards

he married a second wife, by whom he had only

one child alive at the time of his own death.

Rutherford's elaborate works in Latin on the

Arminian controversy, entitled ' Exercitatioues

Apologeticaj pro Diviiia Gratia,' was first pub-

lished at Amsterdam in 1636. In consequence of

this publication, lie was accused by Thomas Syd-

serfT, bishop of Galloway, of non-conformit}', be-

fore a high commission court held the same year

at Wigton, and deprived of his ministerial office.

To obtain a confirmation of this sentence, SydserfF

cited him before a similar court at Edinburgh.

On his appearance lie declined the jurisdiction of

the court ; but after a lengthened examination of

the charges against him, which lasted for three

days, he was, Jidy 27, 1636, deposed from his

pastoral charge, and sentenced to confine himself

to the town of Aberdeen, there to remain during

the king's pleasure.

During his residence in that city, which was

then noted for its strong attachment to episcopacy,

he wrote most of his celebrated Letters, of which

there have been numerous editions ; the latest of

which, in two vols., with a life of the author an-

nexed, appeared at London in 1836, edited by the

Rev. Charles Thomson of North Shields, who has

judiciously modernized the language. These Let-

ters have long formed one of the most cherished

books of the lu asantry of Scotland, especially iu

the southern districts.

In Februarj' 1638, when the king's arbitrary

enforcement of prelacy had roused the people of

Scotland to the most determined resistance, Ruth-

erford ventured to return to his flock at Anwoth.

He was a member of the famous Assembly whicii

met at Glasgow iu November of that j'car, and

which has become memorable in the ecclesiastical

annals of Scotland for the abolition of episcopacj',

and the re-establishment of presbyterianism. Two

months after he was elected one of the ministers

of Edinburgh, but the commission of the Assem-

bly appointed him, iu preference, professor of divi-
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iiity in the New college of St. Andrews, and col-

league to Mr. Robert Blair, the minister of that

town. In 1C42 he published his ' Peaceable Plea

for Paul's Presbytery.' In 1643 he was chosen

one of the commissioners from the Church of

Scotland to the Assembly of Divines at Westmin-

ster. On this occasion he remained in London

for four years. By his talents and learning he

acquired considerable influence in that venerable

synod, and took an important share in the busi-

ness before them.

While in London he preached several times

before the parliament, and published various the-

ological treatises, some of tliem controversial, and

others of a practical nature, and also his celebrat-

ed 'Lex Rex,' or, the Law and the King, which

appeared in 1644, intended as a reply to a book

published by John Maxwell, the excommunicated

bishop of Ross, in support of absolute monarchy.

At length, in October 1647, the principal business

of the Westminster Assembly being concluded,

he returned to St. Andrews, and, in January

1649, he was appointed principal of the New col-

lege
;
and, a few months thereafter, rector of the

universit}^ From the following letter it would

appear that in the summer of this year he received

a call to Edinburgh ; but whether it was to be

one of the ordinary' ministers or a professor in the

university does not appear. We think, however,

from the terms, " that worthie societie," as well

as from tlie fact of Rutherford's being at that pe-

riod a professor at St. Andrews, that it was to

fill the latter situation.

RyGT IIONOKABLE

Tlic mater of my transportation is so poor a oon-

troversie, I truely not becing desyrous to be the subject of

any dinn in the General Assemblie of tlie Kirk of Scotland

who liave greater bussieness to doe, and haveing sufi'ered once

the paine of transportation, most humbly intreat yor Lo) tliat

favour as to cast yor thouglits upon some fitter man, for as

it is unbeseeming me to lie or dissemble so I must f'riely shew

you it will but mak me tlie subject of suffering and passive

obedience. And I trust yor Lo) intends not that hurt to me.

And I am persuaded it is not yor mind. It shal be my
prayer to God to send tliat wortliie sccietie an hable and pi-

ous man. Grace be witli you.

Yours at all humble

observance in tlie Lord

Samuei, Rutherford.

St. Andrews tlie last of June 16-19.

The Rygt honorable my verie good Lord, Sir James Stewart,

Provost of Kdinburgh and remanent Magistrates of the

citie.

About the same time he received an invitation to

fill the cliair of divinity and Hebrew in the then

newly established university of Harderwyck, in

Holland, which he declined, having no desire to

leave his native land in the midst of lier troubles.

The Dutch, however, appear to have been very

anxious that he should accept of a chair in one of

their universities, for on May 20, 1651, he was

elected professor of divinity in the University

of Utrecht. Rutherford's brother, Mr. James

Rutherford, then an officer in the Dutch service,

was intrusted with the charge of conveying the

appointment to Scotland, but on the voyage, the

ship on board of which he had embarked, was taken

by an English cruiser. James Rutherford, stripped

and plundered of everything, including the notifi-

cation of his brotlier's appointment, was carried a

prisoner into Leith, and it was only by the inter-

vention of the States that he obtained his release.

Rutherford being made aware of his election as

Utrecht divinity professor, and having no other

voucher of the same than his brother's word, did

not feel himself at liberty to accept it. Thereupon,

James Rutherford returned to Holland, and in

the end of the same year, the magistrates of

Utrecht, the patrons of the University, sent him

back to Scotland with his brothers appointment,

cordially inviting him to become a professor in

their college.

In 1648 he had published a controversial work

against the Antimonians, entitled ' Survey of the

Spiritual Antichrist ;' and, the year following, he

produced his 'Free Disputation against Pretended

Liberty of Conscience,' directed against the Inde-

pendents. On the death of his pati'on, Lord Ken-

mure, he wrote, in Latin, an elegiac poem to his

memor}', and, in 1649, he published ' The Last

and Heavenly Speeches, and Glorious Departure

of John, Viscount Kenniure,' a work in which he

gives a detailed account of the spiritual conferen-

ces which he had held with that nobleman. With

Lady Kenmure he continued to maintain a fre-

quent correspondence on religious subjects through-

out the whole of his life, and one of the last letters

he ever Avi'ote was to that ladj^ At the Restora-

tion, he was one of the first marked out for perse-

cution by the government. His work ' Lex Rex'

was ordered to be burnt at the cross of Edinburgli
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by the liands of tlic common liaiigman, an indig-

nity to wliicli it was also subjected at the gates of

the New college of St. Andrews. lie himself was

deprived of his stipend and his ofliccs both in the

nniversity and tlie clini-ch, ami cited to appear

before the ensning parliament on a charge of high

treason, a summons which he did not live to obey.

His health had long been declining, and, ^\hvn he

received the citation, he was on his deathbed.

Sensible that he was dying, he emitted, in Febru-

arj' IGGl, a Testimony to the Truth of Jesus

Christ, and to the Covenanted "Work of Reforma-

tion in Great Britain and Ireland. He died Jlarch

19, IGGl, about live o'clock in the morning, the

exact Iiiuir which he himself had foretold. His

works are :

Kxcrcifaliones Apolo;otica; pro Divina Gi'.'iti:i. contra .'\r-

ininimn, &c. Ainst. ICoG, 8vo. Fninck. IGCO, 12mo.

A Peaceable ami Temper.ate Plea for Paul's Prosbyterio in

Scotland; or, a modest and brotherly Dispute of tlie Govern-

ment of the Cliurcli of Scotland, bond. 1042, ito.

Sermon on Dan. vi. 2G. I-ond. 16-13, 4to.

Fast Sermon
;
preached before the House of Commons,

Jan. 31, 1G43. Lond. 1G44, 4to.

The due Plight of Presbyteries ; or, a peaceable Plea fur

tlie Government of the Clnn-ch of Scotland. London, 1G4 I,

IGta, 4to.

Le.K Rex : the Law and the Prince ; a Dispute for the just

Prerogative of King and People, containing the Peasons ;md

Causes of the most necessary defensive Wars of the Kingdom

of Scotland, and of their Expedition for the ayd and help of

their dear brethren of JCngland ; in wliich their innocency is

asserted, and a full Answer is given to a seditions P.miplilet

intituled, Sacrosancta Regnm Majestas, under the name of .1.

A. but penned by .To. Maxwell, the excommunicate P. Pre-

late. Lond. 1G44, 1G67, 4to. (Anon.)

The Tryal and Triumph of Faith. Lond. 1G45, 4to.

Fast Sermon, before the House of Lords, 25th .Inne IGl.j,

Lond. IGlo, 4to.

Semion on LuK-e viii. 22, 23, 24, 25. Lond. 1G45, 4to.

The Divine Piglit of Church Government and Excommn-

nication ; wherein the removal of the Sen-ice-Book is justi-

fied: Also, a brief Tractate of Scandal ; with an Answer to

the Doctors of Aberdeen. Lond. 1G46, 4to.

Christ's Dying and drawing Sinners to himself; delivered

in Sermons upon John xii. 27, 28, &c. Lond. 1G47, 4to.

Kdin. 1727, r2nio.

Suirey of the Spiritmd .Antichrist
;
opening the Secrets of

Familisnie and Antinoniiauisni. In 2 Parts. Lond. 1G48, 4to.

A free Disputation against pretended Liberty of Conscience,

tending to resolve Doubts moved by Jlr. Jo. Goodwin. .To.

Baptist, Dr. Jer. Taylor, the Belgick Arminians, Socinians,

&c. contending for lawle-sse Liberty, or licentious Toleration

of Sects and Heresies. Lond. 1G49, 4to.

Disputatio Schohistica do Divina Providentia, variis pne-

lectionibus tradita. Fdin. 1649, 1G50, 4to.

The Covenant of Life opened
;

or, a Treatise of the Cov-

enant of Grace. Kdin. 1G55, 4to.

Treatise of Civil Policy. Lond. ]Go7, 4to.

Inflnenccs of the Life of Grace, &c. Lond. 1G59, 4 to.

A Survey of Jlr. Thomas Hooker's Survey of the Church

Dhscipline of New Enghmd. Lond. 1G5S, 4to.

A Testimony to the Truth of Jesus Christ, or to the Doc-

trine, Worship, Discipline, and Government of the Kirk of

Scotland, against the Errors .-md Heresies of the Times
;
by

him and others. Kdin. IGGO, 12mo. 1703, 4to.

Joshua Kedivivus ; or, (Religious) Letters, divided into 2

parts. 1CG4, 12mo. Religious Letters, in 2 parts, written

during his Confinement in Aberdeen. 1G71, Svo. 1675, 8vo.

1G92, 12mo. Glasg. 1765, Svo. Numerous editions; the

ISth, Edin. 1809, 12mo.

Examen Arminianisnii recensitum et editum ;\ Matthia

Netlieno. Ultraj. 1GG8, 8vo.

Discourse on Pr.'iyer. 8vo.

Several Sermons; Sacramental Discourses, &c., Ii.ivc like-

wise been published in his n.ame.

Among his posthumous works are, his Letters, and several

Discourses and occasional Sermons.

RUTHERFORD, Joiix, a learned physician,

and one of the founders of the medical school of

Edinlnirgli, the son of the Rev. Mr. Rutherford,

minister of Yarrow, Selkirkshire, was born Aug- i

ust 1, 1G95. He received his classical education '

at tlic school of Selkirk, and after going through

the usual course of literary and philosophical study

at the nniversity of Edinburgh, he bectime appren-

tice to iVIr. Alexander Nesbit, a respectable sur-

geon of that city. Ill 171 G lie repaired to Eondon,
|

where ho "walked the liospitals," and attended

lectures on anatomy, surgery, and materia medi-

ca. He next proceeded to Leydeii, where he be-

came a pupil of the celebrated Boerliaave. In

1719 he went to France, and, about the end of

July of that year, lie was admitted to the degree

of JI.D. in the univcrsit}' of Rlicims. In 1721 he

returned to Edinburgh, and commenced practising

there as a physician. As Edinburgh in those
i

days had no botanical garden, in i^oveiiiber 1724,
^

he and Drs. Sinclair, riummcr, and Iiiiies pre-
|

scnted a memorial to the town council of that
,

I

city, stating that having purchased a house for a

chemical laboratory, adjoining to the college gar-

den, they desired " that they might be allowed

tlie use of that ground for the better furnishing

the apothecary shops wiili chemical medicines,
j

and instructing the students of medicine in that
j

]iart of the science," which the town council grant-

ed. At a meeting of the town council on 9th

February, 172G, in accordance with a petition
'

from "John Rutherford, Andrew Sinclair, An-
'

drew Plummer, and John Innes, fellows of the

royal college of physicians at Edinburgli," these
\
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gentlemen were appointed joint medical professors

in tliat vmivcrsity, " witli fnll power to them to

examine candidates, and to do every other thing

reqnisite and necessary to tlie graduation of doc-

tors of medicine, as amply and fully, and \vitli all

tne solemnities, that the same is practised and

done by the professors of medicine in any college

or university whatever." On the death of Dr.

Innes, soon after. Dr. Plunimer was appointed

professor of chemistry and materia medica, Dr.

Sinclair of the institutes of phj'sic, and Dr. Enth-

erford of the practice of medicine. As long as he

continued in that chair, he lectured to his class in

Latin, using as a text-book a work of his old mas-

ter, Boerhaave. About 1748 he began to deliver

clinical lectures in tlie Infirmary, being the first to

introduce a pi-actice which is now an essential

part of medical education. In 1765 lie resigned

his professorship, and was succeeded by Dr. John

Gregory.

Dr. Rutherford died at Edinburgh in 1779, in

the 84tli year of his age. He was twice married,

first to a daughter of Sir John Swinton of Swin-

ton, and secondly to Miss Mackay, and had chil-

dren hy both his wives. His daughter by his first

marriage, Anne Rutherford, became the wife of

Mr. Walter Scott, writer to the signet, and was

tlie motlier of the author of Waverley.

RUTHERFORD, Daniel, an eminent chemi-

cal philosopher, and professor of botany, the son

of the preceding, by his second wife, was born at

Edinburgli, November 3, 1749. He studied at

the university of his native place for the medical

profession, and in 1772 took the degree of M.D.

For his thesis on tliis occasion he chose a chemical

subject, being 'De Ac're Mephitico,' wliich, from

the originality of its views, obtained the higliest

encomiums of Dr. Black and other distinguished

chemists of tlie time. In this dissertation he de-

monstrated the existence, though without explain-

ing its properties, of a peculiar air, or new gaseous

fluid, to which some eminent modern pliilosophers

have given the name of azote, and others of nitro-

gen. That Dr. Rutherford first discovered this gas

is nowgenerally admitted, and, as has been remark-

ed, the reputation of his discovery being speedily

spread through Europe, his character as a chemist

of the first eminence M'as firmly established.

On completing his academical course. Dr. Ruth-

erford visited London, France, and Italy, with tlie

view of prosecuting his professional studies. Af-

ter passing about tliree years abroad, he returned

to Edinburgh, and immediately entered upon prac-

tice as a physician. In 177C he became a licenti-

ate, and, in May 1777, was admitted a fellow of

tlie Royal College of Physicians there. He was

also elected a member of the Philosophical Soci-

ety, afterwards incorporated by charter under the

name of the Royal Society of Edinburgh ; and to

tliat body lie furnished, in 1778, an interesting

paper, containing some valuable and original sug-

gestions on nitre or nitrate of potass. In Decem-

ber 1786, on the death of Dr. John Hope, Dr.

Rutherford was elected his successor as professor

of botany in the university of Edinburgh, and

nominated a member of the faculty of medicine in

that institution. He was, at the same time, ap-

pointed king's botanist for Scotland, in conse-

quence of which he was intrusted with the charge

of the royal botanical garden at Edinburgh. In

1791 he succeeded Dr. Henry Cullen as one of

the physicians in ordinary to the royal iiifirmaiy.

From his boyliood he had been atfiicted with he-

reditary gout, both liis father and grandfather

being subject to tliis disease at very early periods

of life ; and he died suddenlj-, December 15, 1819,

in the 71st year of his agi'. It is somewliat re-

markable that one of his sisters died two days

after him, on the 17tli, and another, the excellent

motlier of Sir AValter Scott, expired on the 24th

of the same month, and that none of the three

knew of the death of the other. Dr. Rutherford

married, in December 1786, Harriet, j'oungest

daughter of John Mitclielson, Esq. of Middleton,

b}^ whom he had several cliildren.

RuTHVEjf, a surname derived from lands in Pertlisliire.

From the similarity of their armorial bearings, it has been

supposed that tlie family who first bore it in Scotland came

originally from Aragon in Spain. On more authentic grounds,

however, tliey are believed to have derived tlieir descent from

Swan, (Suanus.) tlie son of Thor, a person of Saxon or

Danish blood, who settled in Scotland in the reign of David

I. Swan, who flourished in the reign of William the Lion,

possessed the manors of Ruthven, Tibbermore, and other lands

in Perthshire. He was also superior lord of the territory of

Crawford, in Upper Clj'desdale, which the progenitors of the

Lindsays held as vassals under him. In the Ragman Roll,

among those who swore fealty to Edward L of England in

129G, are the names of Williehnus de Rothein, Sir 'William

de Rothwen, and Doiiiinus Willielnius de Ruthven.
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Ruthve;^, Lord, a title in tlie peera{,'e of Scotland, tirst

conlerred by James III. in 1487 on Sir William de liutliven,

ancestor of the earls of Gowrie, (see vol. ii. of tliis worlt,

page 339). He is saiii, in tlie first edition of Dour/las' Peer-

age, to have been tlie son of Sir William de Uutbven, the

ninth in descent from Swan, son of Tbor, above mentioned.

His gi'andfatlier, of the same name and s\irname, obtained

from King Robert III. charters of the sheriflship of St. John-

f ton, afterwards Perth, so called from St. John, its patron

saint, and of the lands of Ruthven, Perthshire, and Baller-

nach, Jlid Lothian. His father, al.sn named Sir William de

Rnthven, was one of the commissioners appointed to treat

with the Knglish for the release of King James L in I4i3.

and one of the hostages for his majesty in 142-1, when his

annnal income was stated to be 400 mnrh.s. In the Ada
Auditorum, 1478 (G3) as noted by Jlr. Wood in liis edition

of Doiiijlas' Peerage, (vol. i. p. GCO), William Rnthven of that

ilk is stated to have been the son of Patrick of Rnven of that

ilk, and grandson of John of Ruthven of that ilk, knight.

Sir William de Rnthven, the first Lord Ruthven, was cre-

ated a peer of parliament, 29th January 1488. He was

twice married, fir.st, to Isabel, daughter of Livington of Salt-

co.ats, Haddingtonshire, relict of Walter Lindsay of Beaufort;

and, secondly, to Christian, daughter of the eighth Lord For-

bes. By his first wife he had two sons, born before man-iage,

namelv, William, master of Ruthven, slain at Flodden, 9th

September 1513, and John, who, with his brother, both pre-

viously named Linds.ay, obtained a legitimation under the

great seal, 2d July 1480; and a daughter, Margaret, countess

3f Bnchan, afterwards married to John Er.skine of Dun. By

his second wife, lie had a son, William Ruthven, progenitor

of the earl of Forth (sec vol. ii. of this work, p. 2.>1), and a

daughter, Elizabeth, countess of Errol, afterwards wife of

Lord Ross.

The first Lord Ruthven died in 1528, and was succeeded

by liis grandson, William, the son of the master of Ruthven.

The following year he was elected provost of Perth. From

Pitcairn's Criminal Trials, (vol. i. p. 158,) it appears that

on February 2 and February 20, 1532, Lords Ruthven and

Oliphant, with the lairds of Ardoch, Moncrieffe, Tullibardine,

and other barons, to the number of 28, were fined for not

coming forward to pass upon the jury for the trial of Lady

Olammis at Forfar, for poisoning her husband. In 1539,

Lord Ruthven was appointed an extraordinary lord of session.

He was one of the early supporters of the Reformation in

Scotland, and in the p.arliament held 13th March 1543, he

was a chief reasoner for the laity having the Scriptui'cs. He

is called by Calderwood {Uidorie of the Kirk ofScotland,

vol. i. p. 158) "a stout and discreet man in the cause of

God." In the same parli.amcnt, he and the earls Jlarischal

and Jlontrose, and the lords Erskine, Lindsay, Livingston,

and Seton were appointed keepers of the yoiing Queen Ma-

ry's person. For his " knowledge of the \\'or(l," he was

h.atcd by Cardinal Bethune (Jhid. p. 1G8), who in 1544 pro-

cured that the ofiice of provost of Perth should be confeiTcd

on John Chartcris of Kinfauns, which led to the sanguinary

conflict on the bridge of Perth between Lord Rnthven, sup-

ported by the townsmen and the laird of MoncriefTe on the

one side, against Lord Gr.ay and Xorinan Leslie on the other,

when the latter were defeated, an account of which is given

under the head of Chahteris (vol. i. of this work, p. G37).

Lord Ruthven had a heritable grant of the king's liouse in

Perth, of which he was keeper 13th September 154G, and

the following year, he became lord privy seal. He died be-

fore IGth December 1552. By his wife, .Janet, eldest of the

three daughters and coheiresses of Patrick, Lord Halybm-ton

of Dirleton, he got that barony and a considerable accession

to his estate. He had, with seven daughters, three son.s.

1. Pati-ick, third Lord Ruthven. 2. Jaines Ruthven of Te-

viot. 3. Alexander Ruthven of Frceland, ancestor of the

Lords Ruthven of the second creation.

Patrick, third Lord Ruthven and Diileton, the eldest son,

born about 1520, and educated at St. Andrew.s, has acquired

.an historical name as the principal actor in the murder of

Rizzio. Like his father he was a staunch supporter of the

Protestant doctrines, and in 1559, when the queen regent

requested him to suppress the new religion in Perth, of which

town he was provost, he sent hack the answer that he could

make the bodies of the citizens come to her grace and

prostrate themselves before her, but he liad no power over

their minds or consciences. She said, in great fury, that he

was too malapert to give such an answer, and threatened to

cause him and them both repent. (Calderwood, vol. i. p.

438.) On the approach of her forces to Perth soon after, his

lordship, an.xious, with the other leading reformers, to pre-

vent extremities, went to the regent, but finding her full of

deceit and falsehood, with the earl of Argyle and Lord .Tames

Stewart, afterwards the regent Moray, the earl of Jlcnteith

and the laird of Tullibardine, he left lier, when they entered

into an engagement for the defence of each other and the

establishment of protestantism. Lord Ruthven with the cav-

alry formed the van of the army of the Congregation sta-

tioned on Cupar muir, and after a truce for eight days had

been agreed to, with Argyle and other leaders, he marched to

Perth, to expel from that city the French left there by the

regent. The earl of Hunlly, chancellor of the kingdom,

hastened to entreat them to delay their purpose for a few

days, hut knowing this to be hut artifice on the regent's part,

they refused, and having regularly invested the town, twice

summoned the garrison to surrender, without efl'cct. On the

night of the 25th June, Lord Ruthven, on the west quarter,

gave orders to open the first battery on the town, which was

speedily followed by others, and the following day the gam-
son was compelled to capitulate. He was one of the com-

missioners sent by the lords of the Congregation to confer

with the queen regent, and also with the commissioners ap-

pointed by her to meet with them, but their conferences,

owing to the duplicity of the regent, came to nothing.

The queen regent having employed her French troops in

fortifying Leith, the Protestant lords, and among them Lord

Ruthven, on the 29th September, addressed a letter to her

from Hamilton, expressing their astonishment at her con-

duct, but to this remonstrance no answer was returned. Col-

lecting their forces at Stirling, they marched to Edinburgh,

which they entered on the 18th October. The regent now

used every means in her power to conciliate the principal

leaders of the Congregation, but without eficct. To Lord

Ruthven, she sent the lord-justice-clerk with large promises

to induce him to join her faction, but to no purpose. She

was compelled to place herself under the protection of the

French troops at Leith, when the lords again addressed her;

but their messenger was dismissed without .any answer. A
few da3's afterwards she sent Robert Fonnan, lyon herald

king of arms, who commanded the Congregation to leave

Edinburgh, and disperse themselves, under the pain of high

treason. It was now resolved to deprive her of her authori-

ty, and accordingly, at a convention of the nobility, barons,

and burgesses, held at Edinburgh on the 21st October, at

which Lord Ruthven took a prominent part in the proceed-

ings, an edict was passed and sent to her, suspending her

commission of regency and removing her from the govern-

ment. At the head of COO horse. Lord Ruthven, with Lord
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Jiiines Stewart ami Kii'knlJy of Grange, annoyed the French

by incessant attacks, intercepted their provisions, and beat oif

their straggling parties. In January loGO, Lord Ruthven

was engaged iigainst a party of tlie Frencii troops wlio were

fortifying Burntishmd. Tlie following month he was one of

the commissioners selected by the lords of the Congregation

to meet with the duke of Norfolk at Berwick, to arrange the

conditions on which the assistance of Queen Elizabeth was to

be given to the reformers in Scotland.

In 15G3, when John Knox was accused before the council

for writing a circular letter, requesting several of the Protestant

leaders to meet at Edinburgh on tlie 24t.li October, and the

queen asked, " Who gave him authority to convocate my

lieges? Is not that treason?" Lord Ruthven at once an-

swered, "No, Madam, he convocateth the people to hear

prayers and sermons almost daily ; and whatever your grace

or others will think thereof, we think it no treason." " Hold

your peace," said the queen, " and let him answer for him-

self." He did answer for himself, and was acquitted of trea-

son, very greatly to the chagrin of poor Mary. In the Gen-

eral Assembly which met at Edinburgh on the 25tli December

of the same year. Lord Ruthven was one of tbe noblemen

appointed with others to revise the Book of Discipline. His

last public appearance was on the memorable night of Riz-

zio's murder, 9th March 15GG, when lean, wan, and ghost-

like from a long illness, he appeared in armour, with his son

and others, behind Lord Darnley, in presence of the queen,

and dagger in hand, commanded the Italian, who, thougli

Tigly and deformed, was from his accomplishments a favour-

ite with the unfortunate Mary, to leave a place of which he

was unworthy. After the murder, abandoned by Darnley,

he fled into England, and died there 13th June, just three

months afterwards. " He made a Christian end," says Cal-

derwood (vol. ii. p. 317), " thanking God for the leisure

granted to him to call for mercy."' He is included in Wal-

pole's Catalogue of Royal and Noble Authors, (vol. v. p. 49,)

for having written a memoir of Rizzio's murder, in which, it

has been remarked, there is not one expression of regret, or

one symptom of compunction for the crime. He was twice

married, first, to Janet Douglas, natural daughter of Archi-

bald, earl of Angus, and, secondly, to Lady Janet Stewart,

eldest daughter of the second earl of Athol, who was thrice a

widow, and was then Lady Jlethven. By his first wife, he

bad, with two daughters, three sons. 1. Patrick, master of

Ruthven, who predeceased him; William, fourth Lord Ruth-

ven and first earl of Gowrie; and 3. Alexander. By his sec-

ond wife, he had a son, the Hon. James Rutnven.

William, fourth Lord Ruthven, was created earl of Gowrie

23d August 1581. (For an account of the earls of Gowi ie

see vol. ii. of this work, pp. 339, 340.) The title of Lord

Ruthven was forfeited in IGOO, on the attainder of that of the

earl of Gowrie, on account of the mysterious affair known in

history as the Gowrie conspiracy. At the meeting of the

Estates of parliament in November of that year, an act was

passed that all of the surname of Ruthven should choose

other names, as their own they would no longer be allowed

to retain.

RuTHVE^f, Baron, a title in the Scottish peerage, re-

vived in 1651, in the person of Sir Thomas Ruthven of

Ereeland, grandson of Alexander Ruthven, third son of the

second Lord Ruthven of the first creation. Previous to being

raised to the peerage. Sir Thomas was a commissioner for

the treaty of Rippon in 1G41. In 1G44 he was colonel of one

of the regiments sent against the marqiiis of Huntly, and in

1G4G and the following year, he was one of the committee of

Estates. After the execution of Charles I., in 1C49, he was

one of the colonels for Perthshire for putting the nation in a

posture of defence. The same year he was a commissioner

of exchequer. By King Charles II. he was created a peer of

Scotland, by the title of Lord Ruthven, in 1G51. He died

Gth May 1673. In Park's edition of Walpole's Royal and

Noble Authors, (vol. v. p. 49,) and also in Watt's Bibliotheca

Britannica, a publication entitled ' The Ladies' Cabinet en-

larged and opened,' (4th edition, London, 1G77,) is attributed

to that "learned cliymist the Lord Ruthven." This, how-

ever, is a mistake for Lord Grey de Ruthyn, an English peer.

By his wife, Isabel, third daughter of Robert, Lord Balfour

of Burleigh, he had, with three daughters, a son, David, sec-

ond Lord Ruthven. This nobleman was one of the lords ot

the treasury in the reign of William III., and died without

issue in April 1701.

The patent of the Ruthven peerage had been burnt with

the house of Freeland, 15th March 1570, and its hmitations,

not being on record, were understood to be to the heirs general

of the first baron's body, {Dovylas Peerarje, Wood's edition,

vol. ii. p. 4G4). In consequence, Isabel, niece of the second

lord, and daughter of his sister the Hon. Elizabeth Ruthven,

by her husband. Sir Francis Ruthven of Redcastle, a descend-

ant of the house of Gowrie, succeeded as baroness Ruthven.

She was summoned as a baroness to the coronation of George

I., and also to that of George II. She died in 1732. She

had married Colonel James Johnston of Gratney, Dumfries-

shire, who assumed the name of Ruthven, and, with one

daughter, had a son, James, third Lord Ruthven, who died

at Edinburgh, 3d July 1783. He was twice married, first,

to Janet, daughter of William Nisbet of Dirleton, by whom
he had two sons, James, fourth Lord Ruthven, and the Hon.

William Ruthven; and, secondly, to Lady Anne Stewart,

second daughter of the second earl of Bute, and by her had

two sons and eight daughters.

James, fourth Lord Ruthven, the eldest son, was a captain in

the army when he succeeded to the title. He died 27th De-

cember 1789. By his wife. Lady JIary Elizabeth Leslie,

second daughter of the sixth e.arl of Leven and Melville, he

had three sons and six daughters. James, the eldest son,

fifth Lord Ruthven, born 17th October 1777, was a major in

the 90th regiment of foot, but quitted the aniiy in 1807.

He married, in May 1813, Mary, d.aughter of Walter Camp-

pell of Shawfield, and died, without issue, 27th July 1853.

The title then devolved on his only surviving sister, the Hon.

Mary Elizabeth Thornton Ruthven, who married, loth Octo-

ber 1806, Walter Hore, Esq. of Harpcrstown, county Wex-

ford, Ireland, with issue, five sons and six daughters. On
her ladyship succeeding to the title her husband and family

assumed the surname and arms of Rutliven. Tlie eldest son,

William, married, in liSoO, Dells Honoiia, daughter of Major

Lowen, and died in 1847, leaving Walter-James, lieutenant

rifle brigade, Charles Stewart, and 3 daughters. The 5th

son, the Hon. Cavendish Bradstreet Ruthven, lieutenant R.N.,

died in 1855 of wounds received before Sebastopol.

IIYMER, Thomas, of Ercildoune, otherwise

called Thomas the llbymer, or Thomas Lear-

month, which is erroneously supposed to be his

family name, was a poet or romancer of high tra-

ditional reputation, who flourished about the close

of the thirteenth century. Sir Walter Scott, who

styles him the earliest Scottish poet, conjectures

that he was born between 1226 and 1229. Tlie
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family to wliich he belonged seems to have

taken its territorial title from Ercildoimc, or, ;ic-

cording to the modern name, Earlstouu, a village

in Ijerwickshire. He himself resided in a tower

at the w(!stcrn extremity of this village, the ruins

of which are still pointed out ; and on :i stone yet

preserved in the front wall of the churcli of that

place is the inscription :

—

Lies ill this Plaoe."

Among liis countrynuMi he is celebrated as a

prophet as well as a poet, and many of the popn-

lar rhymes ascribed to him will be found in the

second volume of 'The Minstrelsy of the Scottish

Borderi 'The Prophecies of Thomas the Rhy-

mer' were published in Latin and English, at

Edinburgh, in 1G91, and have been repeatedly

reprinted. He is mentioned by Eordun, Barlwur,

^\'intoun, Henry the IMiustrel, and other early

historians; antl Eobcrt de Ermine, an English

poet who was contemporary with liim, comniemo-
|

rates him as the author of a metrical Romance,

entitled ' Sir Tristreni,' which ^^as considered to
j

be lost, till a copy of it was discovered among the

Auchinleck manuscripts in the Advocates' Libra-

ry, and ])ulilished in 180i, with an introduction

and notes, by Sir M'altcr Scott. The day previ-

ously to the death of Alexander IH. in 1286,
!

'J'liomas the Rhymer foretold that disastrous event.

(See vol. i. p. DS). He is supposed to have died

before IL'OO.

S

S.VGIC, Joiix, a learned episcopalian divine,

and controversial writer, the son of Captain Sage,

a royalist oflicer of merit, was born in the parish

of Creich, Eifeshire, in 1G52. He received liis

education at the university of St. Andrews, and

obtained the degree of jM.A. about 1C72. He was

afterwards appointed schoolmaster of Bingry in

his native county, and subscfiuently of Tipper-

muir in rcrthshire. In IGSf he was admitted

into priest's orders by the archbishop of Glasgow,

when he became minister of one of the cliurehes

in that city, and soon after lie was appointed clerk

of the diocesan synod. At the Revolution, when

the episcopalian clergy Avere de])rived of their

charges, he went to Edinburgh, where he em-

ployed himself in writing some of his controver-

sial works. As he occasionally preached in the

episcopalian chapels of that city, he was sum-

moned before the privy council to take the oath

of allegiance ; but refusing to comply, he was pro-

hibited from exercising his ministerial functions

within the city and suburbs, and formally ban-

ished from the metropolis. He found a refuge at

Kinross, in the house of Sir A^'illiani Bruce, sherift'

of that county. In 1005 he published at London a

work w ithout his name, entitled ' The Fundamental

Charter of Presbytery examined,' directed against

the presbyterian form of church government.

"Although," says his biographer fiillan {Life of

Scifje, 1714, 8vo, pp. 21, 22), "all care was taken
|!

to conceal the author, yet it was to no purpose.
|

j

In spite of all the caution that was used, it was

soon discovered by the presbyterians that Mr.
1

1

Sage was the person who, to their eternal re-
: i

proach, had thus exposed their principles and
j

j

practices ; and this filled thein with tlie liighesu
j

resentments against him, which they did not fail '

to express as often as they had opportunity ; for Ij

his afl'airs, and a passionate desire of visiting his
I

dear friends at Edinburgh, obliged him to ven-
j

ture thither for a few days. But though some of

his colleagues who had been banished with him

were allowed to staj- there, or at least were con-

nived at, yet he no sooner came to the city than
]

he w-as observed on the street by a privy conu- i

cillor, whose greatest pleasure was to persecute

the episcopal clergy, and by his order he was

carried before the magistrates of the city, and
j
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obliged to find bail to leave tlie town and never

to return tliltlier." The following year, when his

friend, Sir William Bruce, was imprisoned in the

castle of Edinburgh, on suspicion of carrying on a

treasonable correspondence with the exiled mon-

arch, an order was issued for the appreliension of

Mr. Sage, who had ventured to return to Edin-

burgh. The captain of the town-guard, with a

party of soldiers, searched all the houses where he

was accustomed to lodge or visit. After being

concealed for about eight days, he escaped in a

boat from Leith to Kinghorn, and subsequenth-,

under the name of Jackson, lurked for many

months in concealment in the hills of Angus. He

afterwards became chaplain to tlie countess of

Callendar and tutor to her son, the earl of Lin-

lithgow, and subsequently accepted the invitation

of Sir John Stewart of GrandtuUy, in Perthshire,

to reside in his family as chaplain. To preserve

the episcopal succession in Scotland, Mr. Sage

was, on 25th January 1705, consecrated a bishop,

by the titular archbishop of Glasgow and the

bishops of Edinburgh and Dunblane ; Mr. John

Fullarton, formerlj' episcopal minister at Paislej^,

being also consecrated a bishop at the same time.

We are told that " they concealed their charac-

ters, and performed no episcopal deed, without

special advice and authority from the consecra-

tors." In consequence, Bishop Sage assumed no

Jurisdiction over any body of presbyters, but only

assisted the bishops who had been consecrated

before the Revolution. Being afflicted with con-

sumptive symptoms, in 1709 he proceeded to

Bath, for the recovery of his health, and after-

wards visited London, where he formed the ac-

quaintance of many learned and eminent men of

that age. He wrote, but never published, a tract

ngainst Mr. Dodwell's ' Natural Mortality of tlie

Soul.' He returned to Scotland in 1710, and died

at Edinburgh June 7, 1711. His works are

:

The Second and Third Letters concerning the Persecution

of the Episcopal Clergy in Scotland. Lond. 1689, 4to. The

Fcv. Thomas Morer having written the First, and Professor

Jlonro the Fourth.

The Case of the Afflicted Clergy in Scotland. London,

1600, 4to.

An Account of the late Estahlishment of Presbyterian

Government by the Parliament of Scotland in 1690. Lond.

1C93.

The Fundamental Charter of Presbytery, as it hath lately

been establislied in Scotland, examined and disproved ; with

a Preface in answer to the Vindicator of the Kirk (Gilbert

Rule). Lond. 1695, 8vo. (Anon.). Lond. 1697, 8vo.

The Principles of the Cyprianic Age, with regard to Epis-

copal Power and Jurisdiction, asserted. Lond. 1695, 4to.

A Vindication of tlie Principles of the Cyprianic Age, in

answer to G. Rule. Lond. 1701, 4to.

Some Remarks on a Letter from a Gentleman in the City

to a Minister in the Country, on Mr. David Williamson's

Sermon before the General Assembly. Edin. 1703.

A brief E.xamination of some things in Jtr. Jleldi-uni's

Sermon against a Toleration to those of the Episcopal Per-

suasion. Lond. 1703, 4to.

The Reasonableness of a Toleration of those of the Episco-

pal Persuasion, inquired into purely on Church Principles.

Lond. 1705, 8vo.

The Life of Gawin Douglas, Bishop of Dunkeld
;

prefi.Ked

to Ruddiman's edition of Douglas's Virgil. 1710.

An Introduction to Drummond's History of the Five

James's, with Notes by Ruddiman. Edin. 1711.

He left in manuscript several treatises on various subjects,

which were published at London in 1714, .and projected, among
other things, the publication of 'An imp.artial and accurate

Survey of the Westminster Confession of Faith.' He also

intended to have employed his pen ' on the Rise and History

of the Commission of the General Assembly,' a design which

he did not live to execute.

St. Colme, Baron, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred in 1611, on Henry Stewart, second son of James,

Lord Doune, and brother of " the bonny earl of lUoray."

(See page 202 of this volume.) He got from his fiither

the -abbey of St. Colme in the Frith of Forth, and the lands

thereto belonging. The charter is dated 23d August 1584.

By special favour of James VL he had a charter of the mon-
astery of St. Colme's Inch, and the lands of the s.ame, erect-

ed into the temporal lordship of St. Colme, with the title of

a lord of parliament, 7th March 1611. He died 12th July

1612. His son, James, second Lord St. Colme, a colonel in

the service of Gustavus Adolphus, king of Sweden, died with-

out issue, when the title and estates devolved upon the earl

of Moray, in which I'amily they still remain.

Sai.toun, Baron, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred 28th June 1445, on Laurence Abernethy of Saltoun

and Rothiemay, (see vol. i. of this work, page 15, article

Abeknethy). Th.at family having, in the direct line, ended

in 1669, in the person of Alexander, ninth Lord Abernethy

of Saltoun, the title devolved on his cousin, Sir Alexander

Eraser of Pliilorth, (see vol. ii. page 261, article Eraser of

Philorth). Born in March 1604, Sir Alexander had the

command of a regiment in the Scots army that marched into

England in 1648, to attempt the rescue of Charles I. His

cousin sold the estate of Saltoun, which is in East Lothian,

in 1643 to Sir Andrew Fletcher, but he succeeded him in his

title as heir of line. It was confirmed to him by Charles IL,

who had borrowed large sums of money from him when in

Scotland in 1651. The patent, dated at Whitehall 11th July

1670, was ratified in parliament 21st of the same month.

The tenth Lord Saltoun died 11th August 1093, in his 90th

year. His son, Alexander, master of Saltoun, predeceased

him in 1682. The latter was thrice married, and by his

first wife, Lady Anne Ker, eldest daughter of the third earl

of Lothian, he left a son, William, eleventh Lord Saltoun.

This nobleman was a great promoter of the Darien scheme,

and opposed the treaty of union with England. He died

18th March 1715, in his 61st year. By his wife, JIargaret,
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second d;iugliter of Arclibisliop Slmrp, lie li.-id three sons iind

four daugliters. The sons were, 1. Alex:inder, twelfth Lord

S;dtonn. 2. Hon. William Fraser, advocate, who pnrcliascd

tlie estate of Balgownie, Aberdeenshire, from Lord Gray in

1721, and cliani^ed its name to Fraserfield
;
and, 3. Hon.

James Fraser of Lonmav.

Alexander, twelfth Lord Sallnuii, was edncated at Oxford.

He died 24th July 1748. By liis wife. Lady Mary Gordon,

third dauj;liler of the first carl of Aberdeen, hi_i;h-clKincelIor

of Scotland, he bad, with two daughters, three sons. Alex-

ander, the eldest son, thirteenth Lord Saltoun, died, unmar-

ried, at Pliilorth, 10th October 1751, aged 41, when his

brother George, a lieutenant of marines, became fourteenth

Lord Saltoun. He married liis cousin, Helen, daughter of

Jolm Gordon, Ksq. of Kinellar, and died 30th August 1781,

aged 01. His eldest son, Alexander, fifteenth Lord Saltoun,

passed advocate in 1780, at t)ie age of twenty-three, and

before succeeding to the peerage published ' Thoughts on the

Disqualilications of the eldest sons of the Peers of Scotland

to sit from that country in I'arliainent, with observations on

the civil polity of the kingdom.' He died at Baldwins in

Kent, 13tli September 1703, in his 37tli year.

His eldest son, Alexander George, sixteenth Lord Saltoun,

a distinguished general, was publicly descrilied by the duke of

Wellington, as " a pattern to the army both as a man and a

soldier." Born in 1785, he succeeded his father when only

eight years of age. He entered the army in 1802 as an en-

sign in the 42d regiment, and in 1804 became captain in the

first foot-guards. He served with the army in Sicily in

180G and 1807, and through Sir John Moore's campaign and

retreat in 1808, and was at the battle of Cornnna ICth Jan-

uary ISOn. He accompanied the expedition to Walcheren in

the latter ye.ir, and went to Cadiz in 1811. He was at the

storming of Seville, the passage of the Bidassoa, the battle of

the Kivelle 10th November 1813, and at that of tlie Nive,

fought on the 9th to the 13th December; at the p.assage of

the Adour, and the blockade of Bayonne. He was also all

through the campaign of 1815, including the battles of Qu.a-

tre Bras and Waterloo. In the famous defence of Hougo-

niont he greatly distinguished himself by his gallantry, and

had four horses killed under liim. That important post was

held all day against the overwhelming mimbers of the French

hv Colonel Macdonnell within, and Lord Saltoun without.

He returned to his place in the line with about one-third of

the men whom he had led into action. He then took a pro-

minent part in the last celebrated charge of the guards, and

was present at the storming ot Pcronne. He was nominated a

companion of the Bath in 1815, and K.C.B. in 1818, and

promoted to the rank of major-general January 10th, 1837.

He became a lieutenant-general and colonel of the second foot

in 18-lG. In 1841, during the opium war in China, he went

out to that country with reinforcements, and commanded a

brigade at the attack and capture of Chin-Kiang-Fou. He

received the thanks of both houses of parliament for " the

energy, ability, and gallantry" he had displ.ayed in China.

In 1852 he was invested with the insignia of the order of the

Thistle. He was a patron of many of the musical institu-

tions of London, as president of the Madrigal Society, chair-

man of the Musical Union, &c. From 1807 he w.as one of

the sixteen Scots representali.e peers. He was a knight of

the Austrian order of Maria Theresa, and of the Russian or-

der of St. George, and G.C.H. He died 18th August 1853,

aged G8, and having no issue by his wife, Catherine Thur-

low, natural daughter of Lord-chancellor Tburlow, he was

succeeded by his nephew, Alex.inder, the eldest son of his

brother, the Hon. William Fraser.

ni.

Alexander, seventeenth Lord Saltoun, born 5th May 1820,

a major, 28th regiment, formerly licutenant-col. Koyal Aber-

deen militia; a deputy-lieutenant for Inverncss-shire ; mar-

ried in 1849, Cliarlotte, 2d daughter of Tliomas Browne-

Kvans, Ksq. of Wean House, county Oxford, issue 2 sons and

I drs. The elder son, Alexander-William-Fredeiick, Master

of Saltoun, was born Aug. 8, 1851; and tlie younger son,

Arthur Hay-David, Aug. 19, 1852.

S.\NDE^I.\lSr, Robert, tlie founder of a minor

sect called Saiuleinniiians, a bfancli of the Glas-

itea, was bofii at i'eitli in 1723. He studied fur

two years at the tinivcrsity of Edinbiirgli, but af-

terwards engaged in the linen trade, first at Perth,

and subsequently at Dundee and Edinburgli. He

married Catlicrine, daughter of Rev. John rila.s,

founder of the Glasites. In 1757 he pnblislied a se-

ries of letters on the Rev. James Hervey's 'Tlieron

and Aspasio,' to show that a justifying faitli means

nothing more tlian a simple assent to the divine

mission of Christ, a doctrine wliicli led to consid-

erable controversj'. In 1758 lie commenced a

correspondence with ]\Ir. Samuel Pike, an Inde-

pendent minister of London, who adopted liis

views, and in 17G0 he himself removed to London,

where he attracted much notice b}' his preaching.

In 17G4 he accepted an invitation to New Eng-

land, where he died, April 2, 1771. His followers

received tlie name of Sandcmanians, which they

still retain. The sect, wliich has never been very

numerous, has more congregations in America

than in Great Britiiin. For an account of their

tenets and practices, see the third volume of AVil-

son"s ' History and Antiquities of the Dissenting

Churches,' or Evans' ' Sketch of all Denomina-

tions.' i^rr. Sandeman's works are :

Letters on Theron and Asp.asio. 1757.

Thoughts on Christianity.

The Sign of the Prophet Jonah.

The Honour of Marriage opposed to all Iinpurities.

On Solomon's Song.

Correspondence with Mr. Samuel Pike.

SANDERS, Robert, a literary compiler, was

born in Scotland in 1727. He was by trade a

painter, which calling he relinquished for that of a

writer for the press. Having travelled over a

great part of the countrj', lie published, under the

name of Spencer, a folio work, entitled ' The Com-

plete English Traveller,' whicli passed through

mail)' editions. In 17<j4 he produced, in six vol-

umes, 8vo, the far-famed 'Newgate Calendar.'

lie was at one time emploved as an amanuensis

2c"
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by Lord Lyttleton, aiul assisted liis lordsliip in

preparing for publication Ids ' History of Henry

II.' He was engaged on a treatise on Genei-al

I

Clironology wlien lie died of an asflima in March

I 1783. His -works are :

The Complete Englisli Traveller. Fol.

Tlie Newgate Calendar ; or Memoirs of those unfortunate

Culprits who fall a sacrifice to the injured L'lws of tlieir

Country, and tliereby make their exit at Tjbourne. Lond.

17G4, 6 vols. 8vo.

Gaffar Greybeard. 4 vols. 12mo. A Satire upon several

dissenting Divines.

Koman History, written in a series of Letters from a No-

bleman to liis Son. 2 vols. 12mo.

He was also the compiler of Notes on the Bible, published

under the name of Dr. Henry Southwell.

SANDERS, George, an eminent portrait paint-

er, was born in Kingliorn, ITifesliirc, in April

1774. After receiving an ordinary education at

Kingliorn parish school, he was bound apprentice

to Mr. Smeaton, a coacli-painter in Edinburgh,

and liad for his fellow-workman the afterwards

celebrated Sir William Allan, president of the

Royal Scottish academy. It is interesting to no-

tice two men, who subsequently attained so high a

position in their respective departments of art,

thus associated, at the commencement of their ca-

reer, in a vocation so comparatively humble as

that of panel painting.

On completing his apprenticeship, Mr. Sanders

commenced to practise in Edinburgh, as a minia-

ture painter, and met with considerable success.

At this period his leisure studies were devoted to

marine subjects, and several beautiful sea-pieces,

then executed by him, are still in fine preserva-

tion and repute. About this time also, he painted

a panoramic view of Edinburgh, taken from Leitli

Roads, which was publicl}' exhibited and very

much admired. From the high reputation which

his miniatures had attained, he Avas advised to

remove to London, and devote himself exclusive-

ly to that branch of art. By Mr. Thomas Bryd-

son, author of a work entitled 'Distinctions of

Rank,' he was introduced to several of the Scot-

tish nobility, as an artist of great promise, and he

became, ere long, the first miniature painter of the

day. His miniatures commanded the highest

prices, 80 to 100 guineas, and b}' competent judg-

es they were regarded as faithful in likeness as

they were exquisite in execution.

About 1811, his name came under the observa-

tion of the royal family, and he was commanded

to paint a portrait of the Princess Charlotte. The
great estimation in Avhich this beautiful picture

was held secured for Mr. Sanders the patronage

of her royal highness, and she commissioned him

to paint the portraits of several of her personnl

friends. Having become afiiicted with ophth.nl-

mia, he was obliged to discontinue his labours for

a time. The Princess Charlotte sent frequently

to inquire for his health, and when he was suffi-

ciently restored to be enabled to take carriage

exercise, she wrote to him a kind invitation to

pass a few days at Windsor. This note, and sev-

eral others from that amiable princess to him, were

left in the possession of one of the artist's most

intimate friends in Leitli.

This severe attack of ophthalmia was speedily

followed by others, and their frequencj' at length

obliged INIr. Sanders to abandon, in a great mea-

sure, the miniature branch of the art, and apply

himself to the department of life-like portrait-

painting, as less trying to the eyes. Nor did his

reputation suifer from the change. He became as

great in portrait-painting as in miniature, and the

circle of his admirers and patrons was soon large-

ly increased. Amongst these was Lord Byron,

the poet, whose portrait by Sanders, painted in

1807, is the only one considered worthy of the

noble bard.

Mr. Sanders, with all his genius, was of a proud

and very eccentric disposition, and his peculiari-

ties operated greatly to the prejudice of his popu-

larity. Even at the commencement of his career

In London, he preferred the Indulgence of his own

whims to the benefit of being on a good footing

with the Royal Academy, and declined member-

ship with that body, rather than adopt the usual

course for obtaining It. This earl}' display of

temper caused a jealous}-, if not dislike, to spring

up In the academy against him, and this was .so

strongly returned by him that he would not for

many years allow any of his works to be sent to

the Exhibition, although his portraits were paid

for by his sitters at prices ranging from one hun-

dred to one hundred and fifty guineas for half-

lengths, two hundred to four hundred for whole

lengths, and eight hundred guineas for groups.
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A few years before his death, at the urgent solici-

tation of tlie ducliess of Gordon, lie so far yielded

as to send a jiortrait of the duke, her husband,

and another of a lady, to the Koyal Academy's

exhibition. Although not fully finished when

placed in the rooms, these fine works attracted

general admiiation.

In middle life, jMr. Sanders became an elegant

scholar, very deeply read in the Greek and llo-

man classics, and fluent in several modern lan-

guages. He was entirely self-taught, but in this

respect thoroughly educated. He had man}-

steady and intimate friends, amongst the most

distinguished of whom were the dukes of IMarlbo-

rough, Gordon, and Rutland; the carl of Weniyss;

Sir AVilliam Cumniing; Mr. Campbell of Islay
;

]Mr. Watson Taylor ; I\Ir. Tassie; and Mrs. Lang-

ford Brooke ; and by all wlio knew liis private

worth, those constitutional peculiarities which

had spoiled him for wider popularity were unno-

ticed, or kindly overlooked.

For the last twenty years of his life he was a

periodical sufferer fiom his early complaint, in-

flammation of the eyes. Such was tlie severity of

this affliction that nearly six months of every

year of those twenty were passed in pain and

helpless inactivity. He fell, in consequence, into

irretrievable arrear with his sitters, to the great

injury of his fame and fortune. It was to the

considerate and afl'ectionate kindness of some of

those persons whom we have enumerated, and

also to one particular friend, Mr. Robert Men-

zies, shipbuilder, Leitli, that his last j'cars were

soothed, and his home made comfortable. Mr.

Sanders died at London in iMarch ISiG.

SANDFORD, Siu D.\niei. Keyte, D.C.L., an

accomplished Greek scholar, was the second son

of the Right Rev. Daniel Sandford, episcopal

bishop of Edinburgh, in which city he was born

February 3, 1798. After receiving the rudiments

of his education under the superintendence of his

fiXther, who died in Januarj- 1830, he was sent to

the High school, and afterwards to the university

of his native town, where he distinguished himself

by his progress in classical learning. In 1813 he

was placed under the care and tuition of his god-

father, Mv. Keytc, at Runcorn, in Cheshire, and

remained there for two or three vcars, pursuing

his studies with enthusiasm and success. In 1817

he was entered as a commoner of Christ Church,

O.xford. At the jiublic examination in Easter

term, 1820, he was placed in the first class, m
Litcris Hitmanioribits, and October 20, the same

year, he took his degree of B.A. In 1821 he

gained the chancellor's prize for an English essay
|

on 'The Study of Modern Ilistorj' ;' and May 25,
i

1825, he proceeded to the degree of M. A., as a
j

grand compounder. The Greek chair In the uni-

versity of Glasgow having become vacant, by the
;

death of Professor Young, Mr. Sandford, although

an Episcopalian, was, on the recommendation of

men of all parties, elected his successor in Sep-

tember 1821, at the early age of 23. In the be-

ginning of the session of that j-ear he entered on

the duties, and hy his unrivalled skill as a teach-

er, and the enthusiasm of his classic genius, he

soon awakened a love for the study of Greek lite-

rature, not onlj- in the university of Glasgow, but

throughout Scotland.

During the Catholic emancipation struggle in

1829, Professor Sandford hastened to Oxford, and

gave his vote, as a member of that university, for

Sir Robert Peel
;
and, in 1830, the honour of

knighthood was conferred on him by King "W'il-

liam IV., in consideration of his literary emi-

nence. Ambitious of political distinction, on the

first election under the Refornr Bill of members for

Glasgow, in 1832, he was one of six candidates for I

the representation of that city, on which occasion
j

he was deteated, his name being third on the poll,
j

In 1831 he was elected member for Paisley ; and I

in June that year he took the degree of doctor of
i

civil law. After sitting one session in parliament,

ill health induced him to resign his seat, and in

the beginning of the following winter he resumed

his academic duties. He died of typhus fever,

at Glasgow, February 4, 1838, in his 40th year,

and was buried at Rothesay. He married, in
^

1824, a I\Iiss Charnock, b}- whom he left a nn-
|

merous family. Ilis eldest son, who for several

years held a high ajipointment in the educational

department of the Privy Council, was, in 18C2,

appointed by the Commissioners, fn-st secretary,
j

and then general manager of the great Interna-
'

tional Exhibition at London that year.

Sir Daniel published several clementarj- works
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for the use of his class, such as, a translation from

tlie German of Thiersch's Greek Grammar ; Greek

Extracts ; Introduction to the "Writing of Greek
;

Exercises in Homeric and Attic Greek, &c. He

also contributed various articles to the Edinburgh

Review and Blackwood's Magazine. In the lat-

ter periodical appeared some of his occasional

translations of Greek poetrj', as well as several

eloquent and interesting papers from his pen, en-

titled ' Alcibiades.' His most finished production,

however, was an ' Essay on the Rise and Progress

of Literature,' Glasgow, 1847, 8vo., originally

written for the ' Popular Encyclopaidia, or Con-

versations Lexicon.'

Sandilands, a surname. See TonpiircnEN, Baron.

Sanquhau, Baron Cp.iciiton of, a title in tlie peerage of

Scotland, conferred 29tli January 1487-8, by King James

III., on Sir Robert Cricliton of Sanquhar, wlio signalised

himself at Loclimaben in 1484, wlien the recreant earl of

Douglas and the treacherous duke of Albany made an incur-

sion into Scotland from England, and attempted to burn that

town on the day of St. JIagdalene's fair. He was the son of

Sir Robert de Cricliton of Sanquhar, appointed in 1464 he-

reditary sheriff of Dumfi ies-shire, great-grandson of Isobel

de Ross, heiress of the Ross family, the original proprietors

of the castle of Sanquhar and circumjacent lands. The first

Lord Sanquhar died in 1502.

His son, Robert, second Lord Sanquhar, had, with a daugh-

ter, two sons- Tlie elder son, William, third Lord Sanquhar,

was killed at Edinburgh, in the house of the regent Arran,

duke of Chatelherault, about 1552, by Robert, third Lord

Semple; but the latter escaped all punishment, through the

intercession of the regent's brother. Archbishop Hamilton of

St. Andrews, whose mistress was Semple's sister. By his

wife, Elizabeth, a daughter of Lord Fleming, he had Robert,

fourth Lord Sanquhar, and Edward, fifth lord.

The son of the latter, Robert, sixth Lord Sanquhar, met

with an ignominious end. Being, about 1G05, on a visit at

Lord Norreys' seat in Oxfordshire, he engaged there in a

fencing match with one John Turner, a fencing master. On

taking up the foils Lord Sanquhar told Turner that he )ilay-

ea but as a scholar, and not as one that could contend with a

master in his own profession, and requested that he would

fence as with a scholar, the nde in such a case being to spare

the face. Notwithstanding this precaution, Turner put out

one of his lordship's eyes, and for some days his life was in

danger. After the lapse of seven years, he hired two men to

assassinate Turner. One of them, named Robert Carlyle,

shot him with a pistol, llth Jlay 1612, for whicli murder he

and his accomplice were executed. Lord Sanquhar abscond-

ed, and a reward of £1,000 was offered for his apprehension.

He was taken, and brought to trial in the king's bench,

Westminster Hall, 27tli June of the same year, being ar-

raigned as a commoner, under the name of Robert Cricliton,

Esq. He made an eloquent speech, confessing his crime,

and was capitally convicted on his own confession. Arch-

bishop Abbot of Canterbury, and other influential person-

ages interceded for him with the king, James VL, but in

vain, and he was hanged on a gibbet, erected in Great Palace

yard, before the gate of Westminster Hall, on 29th June.

He died penitent, professing the Romish religion. It is re-

lated thiit on a visit which he paid to the court of France,

Heniy the Great casually asked him how he lost his eye?
" By the thrust of a sword," said his lordship, not caring to

enter into particulars. The king, supposing this accident to

be the result of a duel, immediately inquired, "Does the man
yet live?" These words but added to his desire for ven-

geance on Turner, who, he was persuaded, had deprived him
j

of his eye on purpose. James would have pardoned him,
[

had it not been that the insolence of the Scots had already
j

led to several outrages being committed in Engl.and, in their

pride that they had given a king to their " auld enemies,"

the English, and he thought that an example was uecess.aiy

to curb them in future. His lordship had married in 1608,

Anne, daughter of Sir George Farmer of Easton, Northamp-
tonshire, without issue, but he had a natural son, Robert

Cricliton, who was served heir of entail to him in the estate

of Sanquhar, loth July 1619.

Tlie title devolved upon Willi.im Crichton, son of John

Cricliton of Ryliill, second son of the second Lord Sanquhar,

who thus became seventh lord. In 1622, he was created

viscount of Ayr, and in 1633, earl of Dumfries, (see vol. ii.

p. 73, article Dumfries, Earl of), both peerages now held

by the marquis of Bute, (see vol. i. p. 514, article Bute,

Marquis of).

Scot, a surname. See Scott.

SCOT, Alexander, an accomplished poet, i

styled the Anacreon of Scotland, flourished dur-
I

ing the reign of the unfortunate IMarj-, to whom
|

he addressed 'A New Year's Gift, when she came

first hame, 1562.' In this poem he styles himself

her " simple servant, Sanders Scot," and strongly
j

recommends the Reformed religion to her mnjes-
j

ty's protection. lie appears to have been totally
j

neglected by the court, and in a beautiful little

fable, entitled ' The Eagle and Robin Redbreast,'

he feelingly laments his own hard fiite in being ob-

liged to sing without reward or notice. His poems,

which are chiefly amatory, display a delicacy of

sentiment, and an ease and elegance of versifica-

tion, not exceeded by anj' production of the six-

teenth century. The best of his pieces are, 'The

Flower of Womanheid;' 'The Rondel of Love ;'

and an address to his Heart, beginning,

" Return hameward my heart again.

An' bide where thou was wont to be.

Thou art a fool to suffer pain,

For love o' ane that loves not thee."

In Allan Ramsay's Evergreen, and in the collec-

tions of Hailes, Sibbald, and Phikerton, will be

found some pleasing specimens of his poetry. An

edition of his poems was printed at Edinburgh in

1821, small 8vo.
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SCOT, Daviu, M.])., ail eminent oriental

scliolar, was born in tlie parisli of renniciiili,

where lii-; father occupied a snial! farm, lie was

ecliicatcd at tlic university of ICdiubur^li fur tlie

ministry
;

but, after being licensed, having no

immediate prospect of a church, he became a

student of medicine, and obtained the degree of

M D. llis favourite study, ho\\ ever, was the at-

tainment of languages, and cspecialh' the cuUi-

vatiuii of oriental literature. Having acquired a

knowledge of most of the Eastern languages, both

ancicmt and modern, he applied himself to the

teaching and preparing young men intending to

go out to India; a department in which he was

eminently successful. In 1814, on a vacancy oc-

curring, he was presented to the church of Cor-

storphine, near Edinburgh, in which lie continued

to labour for nineteen 3'ear.t. About 1832 he was

elected jirofessor of Hebrew in St. IMary's college,

St. Andrews ; but his career there lasted oi\\y for

two sessions. He had visited Edinburgh to be

present at the meeting of the IJritisli Association,

but was seized with a dropsical complaint ; and

after two or three days' illness, died September

18, 1834. Dr. Scot edited Dr. Murray's History

of the European Languages ; and published the

following works

:

Obscrv.itions on tlic Propriety mid Usefulness of an Estab-

lishment in Edinburgli for teacbiiig Oriental Langii.ij;es, for

civil and commercial purposes, to young gentlemen going to

India. Edin. 1819.

Essays on various subjects of Belles Lettres; to which arc

added tiro Dissertations, written during the late war against

France. Edin. 1824, 8vo.

Discourses on some important subjects of Natural and Ke-

vealed Religion. Edin. 1825, 8vo.

A Key to tlic Hebrew Pentateuch. Lond. 182G, 8vo.

A Key to tlie Psalms, Proverbs, Ecclesiastes, and Song of

Solomon. Lond. 1828, 8vo.

Lives of some of the Scottish Poets.

A Hebrew Grammar for the use of his own class.

Scott, originally Scot, a surname conjectured to have

been at first assumed by, or conferred on, a native of Scot-

land, and afterwards adopted as a surname, when .surnames

became in use. Uchtredus Jilhts Scoti, that is, Uclitred, the

son of :i Scot, is witness to an inquisition respecting posses-

sions of the church of Glasgow in the reign of Alexander I.

(1107—1124); also to the foundation charter of the abbey of

Ilolyrood by David I. in 1128, as is also Herbert Scot, and

to tliat of the abbacy of Selkirk in 1130. He was called

Uclitredtis Jilius Scoti, to distingui.sh him from others of tlie

same Cliristian name, probably Saxons or Normans. His

son, Richard, called Richard le Scot, is witness to a cliarter

of Robert, Libliop of St. Andrews, founder of the priory of that

place, wlio died in 11,58. Otliers bearing tliis suniaiiie, living

in that and the following century, are mentioned by Douglas

and Nisbet as occurring in old charters. .John Scott was

bishop of Dniikeld from 1200 to 1203, and Matthew Scott,

bishop of Dnnkeld, held the ollice of chancellor of Scotland

from 1227 to 1231.

Tlie above-mentioned Pucliard le Scot is said to have had

two sons, Ricliard, whose name appears in the Ragman Roll

as Richard le Scot dc Murtliockston, and Micliael. The for-

mer was ancestor of the Scotts of Murdockstone, of whom
came the Buccleuch family, (.see vol. i. of this work, p. 448,)

and the latter was progenitor of the Scotts of Balwearie in

Fifcshire, now represented by the Scotts of Ancrum, baronets.

The younger son. Sir Jlicliael Scott, w.as jicssessed of a

considerable estate in Eifeshire in the reign of William the

Lion. Erom the Chart.ulary of Dunfermline, it is ascertained

that he married Margaret, daughter of Duncan Syras of Sy-

ras, and obtained with her the lands of Ceres. He had a

son, Duncan, who succeeded him and who had two sons, the

younger of whom w.as named Gilbert. Tlie elder son. Sir

Jlichael Seott, was knighted by Alexander II., and was one

of the assize upon a perambulation of tlie marches between

the monastery of Dunfermline and tlie lands of Dundaff in

1231. By his wife, JIargaret, daughter and sole heiress of

Sir Richard Balwearie of B;divearie, he got that estate in the

parish of Abbotsliall. He had a son. Sir Michael Scott of

Balwearie and Scotscr.aig, tlie famous wizard, of whom a me-

moir is given below in larger type. In the R.'igman Roll is

the name of Michael Scott, one of the Scottish barons who
swore fealty to Edward I. of England in 1292, said to have

been this learned personage. He had two sons: Sir Henry, and

Duncan Scott, proprietor of lands in Forfarshire, and progen-

itor of the Scotts in the North.

The elder son. Sir Henry Scott, died in the beginning of

the reign of David II. His son. Sir Andrew Scott of Bal-

wearie, distinguished himself by his patriotism, .and was slain

at the taking of Berwick by the Scots in 1355. He left an

infant son, afterwards Sir William Scott of Balwearie, who

died in the end of the reign of King Robert III. His son.

Sir Michael Scott of Balwearie, was one of the hostages for

James I. in 1424, and died in the following reign. Sir Mi-

chael's son, Sir ^^illianl Scott of B.-dwearie, married Is.abel,

daughter of Sir John Moncrief of that ilk, and with one

daughter, had two son.s. Sir William, who succeeded him,

and .'\lexander Scott of Fingask, Perthshire.

The elder son. Sir William Scott of Balwearie, obtained, in

February 1509, a crown cliarter of the lands of Strathiniglo,

Fifcshire, with certain other lands possessed by him, all unit-

ed into the barony of Stiatlimiglo, The lands of "Stra-

miglo" had been held by the Scotts of Balwearie, under the

earls of Fife from about 1251, and iilter the forfeiture of ilur-

do, duke of Albany, in 1424, under the crown. Sir William

.accompanied James IV. on his unfortunate expedition to

England in September 1513, and being taken prisoner at

Flodden, was obliged to sell part of his lands to pa}' his ran-

som. He was repeatedly afterwards chosen one of the lords

of the articles for the barons, and was the only individual

under the degree of a peer who ever obtained that honour.

On various occasions he was appointed a commi.s.sioner of

parliament for the decision of legal questions, and on 24th

November 152G he is styled Justice, in ab.sence of the justice-

general. In that capacity lie was joined with Archibald

Douglas of Kilspindie, provost of Edinburgh, tlie well-known

Greysteel of King .James V., and the jnstice-clerk, to do jus-

tice on the "malt niakaris of I.eith, for commonne oppres-

sioune througli the exorbitant derth rasit be thame, and of
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ther causing throu all tlie hail realme." {Act Pari. ii. 315.)

He was on two occasions appointed a commissioner for effect-

ing a treaty of peace with England. On the first institution

of the College of Justice in Scotland on 13th May 1532, Sir

William Scott, as laird of Bahvearie, was nominated the first

senator on the temporal side ; but he died shortly after his

appointment. He had two sons. Sir William, and Thomas.

The latter obtained a charter of the lands of Pitgorno, under

the great seal, on 2d January 1526, and was named .i sena-

tor of the college ofjustice in his father's place in November

1532. The following is the record of his admission : "The

clerk-register presented a letter from the king, bearing that

his grace had chosen Thomas Scot of Petgorno, .ine of the

lords, in place of umquhile William Scott of Balwery, knicht,

lately deceasit, his father, and desiring the lords to admit

him vrto, and tak liis aith for administration of justice. The

said lords, at the king's command, lies .admitted the said

Thomas to ye said session, and to be yr college in that be-

half, quhilk lies ffworn in their presens lelely to administer

justice efter his knowledge and conscience, and to keep all

statutes maid hereupon of before." He was a great favour-

ite of King James V., by whom he was appointed justice-

clerk in 1535. He died in 1539. The following are the cir-

cumstances as related by Knox, {Hist. edit. 1C44, p. 25,)

under which his death occurred :
" How terrible a vision the

said prince saw lying in Linlithgow, that night, that Thomas

Scot, justice-clerk, died in Edinburgh, men of good credit

can yet report; for, afraid at midnight or after, he called

.aloud for torches, and raised all tliat lay beside him in the

palace, and told that Thomas Scott was dead, for he had

been at him with a company of devils, and had said unto him

these words : ' 0 wo to the d.ay that ever I knew thee or thy

service ; for serving of thee against God, against his servants,

and against justice, I am adjudged to endless torment.' How

terrible voices the said Thomas Scott pronounced before his

death, men of all estates heard, and some that yet live can

witness his voice ever was, ' Justo Deijusticio condemnatiis

sum.''
"

The elder son, Sir William Scott, in his father's lifetime de-

signated of Invertiel, married Isabel, daughter of Patrick, fifth

Lord Lindsay of the Byres, and had by her two sons, Sir Wil-

liam, and Andrew, progenitor of the Scotts of Ancrum, of

whom next article. Sir William Scott of Bahvearie, the elder

son, who was .also in his father's lifetime designed of Inver-

tiel, had two sons, Michael, who predeceased his father, and

Sir William, who succeeded as laird of Bahvearie and Strath-

miglo. His son. Sir James, was in 1579 served heir to his

father. He was one of the twelve gentlemen knighted by

King James VI. at the coronation of his queen, Anne of

Denmark, in 1590. In his person the barony of Strathmiglo

was at its greatest extent, but with him the wealth and dig-

nity of the family came to an end. Unfortunately for him-

self, he was involved with the popish earls of Angus, Errol.

and Huntly in their various rebellions against James VI.

He was also connected with the turbulent earl of Bothwell,

(see vol. i. of this work, p. 358,) whom the popish lords so

often excited .against the king, and was repeatedly fined for

I'eal or alleged as.sistance given to that unprincipled noble-

man in his various frantic attempts to gain possession of the

king's person in 1591, and three following years. In Octo-

ber 1594, Sir James Scott was with the earl of Huntly at the

battle of Glenlivet, in which that nobleman defeated the royal

troops under the earl of Argyle. On the 25tli February

T595, however, he obtained a remission under the great seal,

for himself, his brother Robert, and John Kinnaird, younger

of that ilk, for which, doubtless, he was obliged to pay heav-

ily to the needy courtiers of the king. In consequence of the

numerous fines to which he was subjected, he was obliged

from time to time to sell off various portions of liis estates,

till, towards the ye.ar 1600, his whole barony of Strathmiglo

was disposed off, excepting the tower and fortalice with the

lands adjoining, and the village of that name. In that year,

he granted a charter to nineteen different feuars who held of

him, erecting the village of Str.athmiglo into a burgh of baro-

U}', in virtue of the crown charter gi'anted to his ancestor Sir

Willi.am Scott, in 1509, which had not been .acted on by him.

By three subsequent charters granted immediately after-

w.ards. Sir James included three other feuars who held of

him in the burgh. The small remaining portions of his once

extensive estates were sold, either immediately before or af-

ter his death. Mr. .Tohn M. Leighton, in his Histoiw of the

county of Fife, (vol. ii. p. 18G, note,) says: "Sir James

Scott is among the few Fife gentlemen who are ch.ar.acterized

by John Knox as being 'enemies to God and traitors to their

country.' His opposition to the Reformation, .and his con-

nection with the popish party may explain the reason why,

notwithstanding his having conferred the honour of a burgh

on Strathmiglo, his memory has been so little revered by the

inhabitants. The traditions of the place represent him as a

persecutor, and the downfall of the family is looked upon as

a punishment from heaven for his treatment of the Reform-

ers. He is also blamed for .avarice, although he certainly

made little by it, if he possessed that vice, and harshness to

the poor. An instance of this latter is still handed down.

He was looking over a window, it is said, of his castle of

Strathmiglo, situated to the east of the village, while his ser-

vants were throwing a gre.it quantity of oatmeal into the

moat which surrounded the castle, owing to its being old and

unfit for use. An old beggar man came to the outer end of

the drawbridge, and requested to be allowed to fill his wallets

with the meal, but the h.aughty baron of Bahvearie refused

this humble request, on which the poor man pronounced a

wo upon him, declaring he should beg before his death. It

cannot be said that the curse, if ever perpetrated, was liter-

.ally fulfilled, but certainly Sir James saw the ruin of his fam-

ily; and the tradition still is that, such was his poverty at

his death, a subscription was raised among the neighbouring

proprietors to p.ay the expenses of his funer.al."

He had two sons, William and James. The former, it is be-

lieved, died before his father. His son, Walter Scott, styled of

Bahvearie, having been deprived of all portion of the family

estates, through the misconduct of Iiis grandfather, entered the

armv, rose to the rank of colonel, and died unmarried in

Flanders, during the reign of Charles I. Shortly before his

death, he sent over from Holland, to Sir John Scott of An-

crum, baronet, the seal of the family of Balwearie, with a

letter acknowledging him to be his heir male, which is still

preserved in that family. In Colonel Walter Scott ended the

whole male line of the ancient family of Scott of Bahvearie,'

which had continued for sixteen generations, the eldest son

having ahv.ays succeeded during that long period. What is

still more remarkable, from the time of the origin.al Sir Mi-

chael Scott, who lived in the reign of William the Lion, till

Sir .Tames, the fourteenth baron, in whose time the estates of

the family were lost, thirteen of the barons had attained the

honour of knighthood, the only exception being Duncan, son

of the first Sir Michael.

The Scotts of Ancrum, Roxburghshire, descend from An-

drew, the younger of the two sons of Sir William Scott of

Balwearie above mentioned. This Andrew Scott lived in

the time of Queen JIary, and had from his father the lands
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of Glendoich, on condition that at liis death tliev were to re-

turn to the family. He ohtained tlie lands of Kiikstvle in

tlie parisli of Kinfauns, Pertlisliirc, wliicli were sold by liis

Kieat-grandsoii, I'atriclc Scott, wlio lived in tlie reign of

James VI. The latter pnrcliased Langshaw in the south of

Scotland, and al'terivards acquired the lands and harony of

Ancruin. Ili.s .son, .Sir .Jolin Scott, obt.ained a charter under

the great seal, in 1G70, of the lands and harony of Ancruni,

and was created a baronet of Nova Scotia, 27tli October

I'JTl, with remainder to his heirs male generally. He died

ill 1712, having been thrice married, first, to Kli/.alii'tli,

daughter of Francis Scott, Ksq. of Mangerton, and had by

her five sons and five daughters; secondly, to Elizabeth,

daughter of Sir William Rennet of Grubbet, by whom he had

two daughters; and thirdly, to Barbara, daughter of Kcr of

I.ittledean, without issue. His eldest son. Sir Patrick Scott,

second baronet, a lawyer of eminence, was at the Itcvolution

summoned by tlie prince of Orange, to the Scottish conven-

tion in 1G8!), for the county of Selkirk. He was twice mar-

ried. I'y liis first wife, Anne, daughter of William Wallace,

Esq. of Helington, he obtained a considerable furtune. By

liis second wife, Margaret, daughter of Sir William Scott of

Harden, he had two sons and four daughters. The elder son.

Sir .loh.n Scott, third baronet, m;irried Ciiristian, daughter of

William Nisbet, Esq. of Dirlton, and had four sons and a

daughter. He died 21st February 174G. His son, Sir Wil-

liam, fourtli baronet, died Kith .Tunc 17()!), and was succeed-

ed by his nephew, Sir John Scott, fifth baronet. He married

Harriet, dauglifer of William Graham of Gartmore, .-iiid had

four daughters, and a son, Sir William, sixth baronet. The

latter, born 2Gth July 1803, married IClizabetli. daughter and

heiress of David Anderson, Esq. of Calgay, Forfarshire, witli

issue.

.Tames, second son of Sir .Tames Scott, fourteenth baron of

l?alwearie, purchased the lands of I.ogie in Forfarshire, and

was the ancestor of several families of the n.ame in that coun-

ty. His son, also James Scott of Logic, acquired considera-

ble landed property, and was enabled to bestow an estate on

each of his six sons. These were James Scott of Lngie ; Ro-

bert Scott of Benholme : Hercules Scott of Brotherton ; Pa-

trick Scott of Craig, from whom descended Sir David Scott,

baronet of DuniiiaUl, nephew of I.ady Sibbald, wife of Sir

James Sibbald, baronet (see Sibdam)); John, and D.avid.

His grandson, .Tames Scott of I.ogie, had three sons; James

of I.ogie; Alexander of Baldovie; and David of Balhall.

The second son, Alexander Scott of Baldovie, was father of

John Scott, Esq., whose second son, William Scott, captain

R.N., commanded the Bedford, 74, in the American war.

He married his cousin, Janet, eighth daughter of Robert

Scott of Duninald, and had two sons and two daughters.

William, the elder .son, .i senior merchant in the Bengal civil

seiTice, with his wile, Emily, only child of Thomas Evans,

Esq., was drowned in the Company's ship Calc\itta, which

foundered in a hurricane in the Indian Ocean between 14th

and loth March 1809. He was succeeded in the representa-

tion of the family by his brother David, also a senior mer-

chant in the Bengal civil service
;
married, with issue.

The Scotts of the south of Scotland were among the most

noted moss-troopers of their time. As most of the chief bor-

der families had popular epithets applied to them, as the

haughty Humes,' and the ' bauld Rutherfords,' they were

called the 'saucy Scotts,' and the 'cappit' or irrit.ible Scotts.

The chief family of the n.aine was that of Buodeuch, (sec vol.

i. of this work, page 418,) originalh' of Murdieeton, Clydes-

dale. De Gen'ille, a French writer, says, " What is curious,

the duke (of Buccleucli) seeks his surname in Kormandy, and

pretends that it was originally rEscot." Tlie duke of Buc-

cleucli, as descended from the unfortunate duke of Mon-
mouth, illegitimate son of Charles II., is properly a Stewart;

in the male line, and the chieftainship of the once numerous

and powerful border clan Scott, has devolved on Lord Pol-

wartli (see page 300 of this volume), the head of the Scotts

of Harden, of which famil}' Sir Walter Scott, the celebrated

novelist and poet, was a scion. Their device and motto, a

crescent moon, with the words, "The moon will refill her

horns," indicate that they lived by border reiving or cattle

lifting.

Among the most .nncient branches of the house of Buc-

clencli were the Scotts of Syiiton, in the counties of Rox-

burgh and Selkirk, from whom descended the Scotts of Har-

den. Their iniiiiediate ancestor was Walter Scott of Synton,

who lived in the reigns of Robert II. and III. He is said

(.'.\;»///?((s' Jlaroiiar/c, p. 213) to have been the son or grand-

sun of Michael Scott, who fell at the b.-ittle of Durham, 17tli

October 134G, the supposed son of Sir Richard le Scot, wlio

obtained the lauds of JIurdieston in Lanarkshire by mar-

riage, which were afterwards exchanged for the half of the

h.arony of Branxliohn, in Roxburghshire, as rel.ited under the

head of Bucci.EUCii. Sir Walter Scott expressly states,

however, that the house of Harden came off the Buccleucli

family before the marriage of Sir Richard with the heiress of I

Murdiesfon, in 1290. (Sec 'Note to Lay of Last .Ifitistrer).

Robert Scott of Stricksliaws, second son of Walter, the

fifth in descent from Michael, had two sons, Walter, liis

heir, and William, progenitor of the Scotts of Harden. Wal-

ter, the elder brother, succeeded his uncle in the estate of
j

Synton, and from James, his fourth son, came the Scotts of i

Satchells. His eldest son, George Scott of Synton, had a
j

son, Walter, the father of another George Scott of Synton, i

who was the last of the original family styled of .Synton.
i

William Scott, the fir.st of Harden, obtained that estate

and barony from his brother, Walter Scott of Synton, con-

firmed by a charter from George, third Lord Home, the su- i

perior, in looo. He died in 1,tC3. Of liis son, Walter,
|

usually styled " Auld Wat of Harden," m.iny anecdotes arc
j

preserved by tradition on the borders. He was a renowned

freebooter, and used to ride with a numerous band of follow-
|

ers. The spoil which they carried off was concealed in a deep
|

precipitous glen, on the boundary of which the old tower of
j

Harden was situated, in the deep nan'ow v.ale of Borthwick '

w.ater. When the last bullock was devoured, a dish was
J

placed on the table, which on being uncovered, w.as found to
|

contain nothing but a 'if clean spurs—a hint from the

wife that it was time to set off for more cattle. On one oc-

casion when he was returning from a foray, with " a bow of

kye and a basscned bull," he passed a very large h.aystack

;

but having no means of carrying it away, he was fain to take

leave of it with this apostrophe, which became provcrbi.al,

" Bv my conscience, had ye but four feet, ye should not stand

lang there." Wat of H:irden took for his first wife, Jlaiy

Scott, celebrated as " the Flower of Yarrow." Two songs in
;

her praise bear the names of 'Mary Scolt,' and 'The Rose
j

in Yarrow.' By their marriage contract, her father, Philip
j

Scott of Dryhope, in Selkirkshire, bound himself to find Har- I

den in horse and man's meat at his tower of Dryhope, for a !

year and a day, and five barons pleilged themselves that, at the !

end of that period, the .son-in-law should remove. Harden also I

agreed to give Dndiope tlieprofitsof tliefirst Michaelmas moon. <

A notarv public signed for .all the parties to the deed, none of ,

whom could write their names. By the Flower o! Yarrow,
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the laird of Harden liad, witli six daugliters, four sons, viz.,

1. Sir William, liis lieir. 2. Walter, wlio was killed in a fray,

at a fishing, by one of the Scotts of Newhouse. 3. Hugli,

progenitor of the Scotts of Gala; and 4. Francis, who mar-

ried Isabel, sister of Sir Walter Scott of Whitslead, from

whom the modern family of Scott of Svnton are descended.

By a second wife, a daughter of Edgar of Wedderlie, widow

of William Spotswood of that ilk, he Iiad a daughter named

Margaret, after her mother. According to tradition, Wat o'

Harden had six sons, five of whom survived him. The sixth

was slain at a fray in a hunting match by his kinsman, Scott

of Gilmans-cleugh. His brothers prepared to revenge his

death, but the old laird secured them in the dungeon of his

tower, hurried to the king at Edinburgh, stated tlie crime,

and obtained a gift of the lands of the offender. He s'eturned

to Harden with equal speed, released his sons, and showed

them the charter. "To horse, lads!" he cried, "and let us

take possession ; the lands of Gilmans-cleugh are well worth

a dead son." He died about 1629, in extreme old age. One

of his daughters, Margaret, commonly called " Maggy Fen-

dy," was mamed to Gilbert Elliott of i\Iinto, " Gibbie wi' the

gowden garters." Mary Scott, the Flower of Yarrow, is

said to have fostered an unknown boy brouglit home by

" Auld Wat," from one of his predatory excursions, who
was so gifted that he is believed to have been the anonymous

author of not a few of the border songs. In Leyden's ' Scenes

of Infancy,' there is the following allusion to Mary of Harden

and her interesting charge :

" Amid the piles of spoils that strew'd the gronnd.

Her ear, all-anxious, caught a wailing sound
;

With trembling haste the lovely nymph then flmv,

And from the plunder'd heaps an infant drew!

Scared at the liglit, his feeble hands he flung

Around her neck, and to her bosom clung,

While beauteous Mary soothed in accents mild

His fluttering soul, and kiss'd her foster child.

Of milder mood the gentle captive grew.

Nor loved the scenes that scared his infant view

;

In vales remote from camps and castles fai-.

He shunn'd the cruel scenes of strife and war.

Content the loves of simple swains to sing.

Or wake to fame the harp's heroic string

;

He lived o'er Yarrow's fairest flower to shed a tear,

And strew the holly leaves o'er Harden's bier

;

But none was found above the minstrel's tomb.

Emblem of peace, to bid the daisy bloom
;

He, nameless as the race from whence he sprung.

Sung other names, and left his own unsung."

The eldest son. Sir William Scott of Harden, was knighted

by James VI. in the lifetime of his father. He had charters

of various lands in the counties of Dumfries, Selkirk, Rox-

burgh, Berwick, and Peebles. During the civil troubles in

Scotland in the reign of Cliarles I., he continued loyal to the

king. He was one of the commi.ssioners for conserving the

treaty of Rippon, IGth November 1641, and in 1644 one of

the comnuttee of parliament. On 8th March following lie

was appointed one of the committee of estates, and on 7tli

March 164?, sheriif of Selkirkshire. For his attachment to

the royal family he was fined by Cromwell in 1G54, ^3,000.

He married, first, Agnes, daughter of Sir Gideon Murray of

Elibank, treasurer-depute of Scotland, in the reign of James

VI., and had by her five sons and three daughters. He nuu-

ried, secondly, Margaret, daughter of William Ker of Linton,

without issue. His sons were: 1. Sir William, his heir. 2. Sir
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Gideon Scott of Highchester. 3. Walter, ancestor of the Scotts

of Raeburn. 4. James, ancestor of t!ie Scotts of Thirlestane

(see next article); and 5. John, progenitor of the Scotts of

Wool. He died in 1655, at an advanced age. According to

tradition, his man-iage with his first wife w:is thus brought

abont : In his youth, engaging in a foray upon the lands of

Sir Gideon Mmray of Elibank, he was overpowered by that

baron's retainers, and carried prisoner to his castle, now .i

heap of ruins, on the banks of the Tweed. Elibank was on

the point of ordering him to be instantly hanged, when his

more considerate dame interposed, suggesting th.at he was

heir to a good estate, and that they had three unmarriea

daughters. To save his life, young Harden consented to wed

the plainest of the three.

His eldest son, Sir William Scott of Harden, was knighted

by Charles II., immediately after the Restoration. His son,

Sir William Scott of Harden, was engaged in the rebellion of

the earl of Argyle, but obtained a remission from King James

VII., dated 12th December 1685. He died in 1707, without

issue, and was succeeded by his only brother, Robert Scott,

till then styled of Iliston. The latter died, also without issue,

in 1710, when the estates devolved on liis nearest male heir,

Walter Scott of Highchester, lineally descended from Sir

Gideon Scott, second son of the fir.st Sir William Scott of

Harden, and grandson of "Auld Wat." Sir Gideon, who,

by Charles I., was appointed sheriff of Roxburghshire, m.ar-

ried Margaret, daughter of Sir Thomas Hamilton of Preston,

and had by her two sons and three daughters.^

The elder son, Walter, when little more th.an fourteen

years of age, married Mary, countess of Buccleuch in hec

own right, then only eleven years old. In consequence of

this match he was created, for life only, earl of Tari-as, Lord

Alemoor and Campcastell, by patent dated 4th September

1660. His principal title was taken from the small but ro-

mantic river Tarras, in Eskdale, Dumfries-shire, celebrated

for its " good bull trout," also for the ruggedness of its chan-

nel. An old rhyme, referring to its rocky bed and precipi-

tous falls, says

:

"Was ne'er ane drown'd in Tarras, nor yet in doubt.

For ere the head can win down, the liarns are out."

The countess died two years after the marriage, a girl of

thirteen. The earl succeeded his father in Harden in 1672.

The mantel-piece of one of the rooms in Harden castle com-

memorates his title, by bearing an carl's coronet inscribed

with the letters W. E. T., the initials of " Walter, earl of

Tarras." In 1683, his lordship joined in the treasonable

designs of the duke of Monmouth, who had married his de-

ceased wife's sister, Anne, duchess of Buccleuch. A plan of

insurrection was formed for a simultaneous rising in England

and Scotland, and Lord Tarras engaged to take arms with

his friends on the border. When apprehended he confessed

his guilt, and threw himself on the king's mercy. An at-

tempt was made by the tyrannical government of th.at day to

obtain from him evidence against Baillie of Jerviswood,

whose nephew he was by his l.-idy, and although his testi-

mony was objected to, the objections were repelled by the

court, and Baillie was condemned. His lordship was himself

brought to trial 5th January 1 685, and being found guilty,

his titles and estates were forfeited and his arms ordered to

be torn. He was confined in the castle of Edinburgh, and

the time, place, and manner of his execution were left to the

king. A remission was granted to him 5th February fol-

lowing, and he was at once set at liberty. He was rehabili-

tated by letter under the great seal 28th June 1687. He
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was one of tlie first who cnpijjed in tlic Ki'VoluUun of 1088.

He died in 1693, ajiei about 48. By a second wife, Helen,

eldest d:inj;liter of 'lliomas Hepburne of Hunibie, he had

three sons and three daughters.

The ehlest son, tlie Hon. (iiileon Scott of Hi;;licliester, died

in 1707, leaving two sons, Walter, who succeeded to Harden,

and died in 1()19; and John, who al.so inherited that estate,

but dyinf; without issue male in 1734, Harden devolved on

bis uncle, the Hon. Walter Scott, second son of the earl of

'I'arras. This gentleman was four times married, and by liis

third wife, Anne, a dauglitcr of John Seott, Ksq. of Gonen-

bonny, he had, with two daughter.^ two .sons, Walter, his

lieir, and Francis of lieecbwood. The former was JI.P. for

Ro.xburglisbire, from 17-17 to 17G.5, in which latter year he

was appointed general-receiver of the customs or cashier of

excise in Scotland. He died in 1793. He married Lady Di-

ana Hume Campbell, daughter of the third earl of March-

niont, Lord I'ohvartb, an alliance which opened the succes-

sion to the latter title in the peerage of Scotland to liis only

son, Hugh Scott, eleventh baron of Harden and fourth Lord

I'olvvarlb (see page 300 of this volume).

'I'lio gathering word and place of rendezvous of the clan

Scott was Bellenden, a place situated near the head of Bortli-

wick water, in the centre of the possessions of the Scotts.

The Scotts of Thirlestane, .'^elkirl;sbire, now represented liy

Lord Napier, are descended from the Scotts of Howpaisley,

in Eskdalc, Dumfries-shire. The first of that family, David

Scott of Howpai.sley, got the lands of Tliirlestane from the

abliacy of Melrose. By his wife, a daughter of Scott of Ro-

berlon, lie Inid three sons: Robert, who succeeded him;

Walter, commonly called Hardy Wat, killed at the battle of

Pavia; and James, who went to Germany. Robert, the eld-

est son, was the first who assumed the designation of Thirle-

stane. He had five sons: Sir John, his heir; Scott of Hun-

dleshope; Scott of Dryhopc; Scott of Jlontbenger; and

Scott of Bowhill. Sir John Scott, tlie eldest son, is the chief

idhided to by Sir Walter Scott in the following stanza of

'The Lay of the Last Jlinstrel:'

" From fair St. Mary's silver wave.

From dreary Gainescleugh's dusky height,

His ready lances Thirlestane brave

AiTayed beneath a banner bright

The treasured fleur-de-luce he cl.iims

To wreathe his shield, since royal .James

Kncamped by Fala's mossy w:ive,

The proud distinction graceful gave,

For faith mid' feudal jars;

What time, save Thirlestane alone,

Of Scotland's stubborn barons none

Would march to soutliern wars

;

And hence, in fair remembrance worn.

Yon sheaf of spears his crest hath borne:

Hence his high motto shines reve:iled,

—

' Ready, aye ready,' for the field."

When James V. had assembled his nobility and their feudal

retainers at Fala, in June 1542, for the purpose of invading

Kngland, and his peers obstinately refused to accompanv

him. Sir John Scott of Thirlestane alone declared himself

ready to follow the king wlierever he should lead, and with

70 hincers on hoi sebaek ranged himself under the king's ban-

ner. For this loyal conduct, he had a warrant from the

king, granting an augmentation to bis arms of a border of

Jiciirs dc lis, about his crest, such as is in the royal banner.

and also a bundle of lances above his helmet, w ith the mot-

to, '• Heady, .aye ready." His estates of Thirlestane, Games-

cleuch, &c., as we learn from a note to the stanza above

quoted, lay upon the river of Et trick, and e.xtended to St.

Mary's Loch, at the head of Yarrow. By Iiis wife, a daugh-

ter of Scott of Allanliangb, he had four sons : Robert, his

successor; Simon, called Longspcar, who w.as tutor of Thirle-

stane, and built the house of Ganiescleuch ; Arthur or An-
drew Scott, from whom the families of Newburgh and Ravel-

burn are descended, and Adam, of Gilmanscleucli.

The eldest son, Robert Scott of Thirlestane, warden-depute

of the west borders, joined the associ.-ition in support of King

James VI. in 15G7. By his wife, Margaret, daughter of Sir

Walter Scott of Buccleuch, he had three sons, Robert, Wil-

liam, and Walter. William, the second son, h;id two sons,

Walter, who died without issue, and Robert, who acquired

the lands of Howpaisley, the original estate of the family,

and dying without issue, left it to his cousin Patrick Scott,

first designed of Tanlawhill, and afterwards of Thirlestane.

Walter, the youngest son, married Janet, daughter of Sir

Patrick Porteous of Hackshaw, and had two sons, Patrick

just mentioned, and Simon, and two daughters, Marion and

Margaret.

Patrick Scott acquired the lands of Thirlestane from the

elder branch of the family by purchasing the wad.sets or

mortgages, with wliich it was encumbered, and the payment

of certain sums of money. In April 105-1, he was fined

£2,000 by Cromwell, but the fine was remitted by act of

council, 17th July 1055. He died 22d June ICOG.

His eldest son. Sir Francis Scott of Thirlestane, was cre-

ated a baronet, 22d August, 1606, to him and the heirs male

of his body. He was member for Selkirkshire in the Scots

parliament from 1G93 to 1701, both inclusive, and was ap-

pointed master of works, with a salary of £300 per annum,

17th October 1701. He died at Edinburgh, 7th March,

1712, in liis 67th year.

His eldest and only surviving son. Sir William Scott of

Thirlestane, second baronet, supposed to liave been born

about 1670, passed advocate 25th February 1702. He exe-

cuted an entail of his estate of Thirlestane 20th May 1719,

and died October 8, 1725. There is a family tradition that

he was the author of the humorous song, called ' The Blythe-

some Bridal,' at one time attributed to Francis Semple of

Beltrees. In his 'History of the Partition of the Lennox,'

(pp. 237—239, Edin. 1835, 8vo,) Mr. Mark Napier gives the

following extract from a letter to himself from the eighth

Lord Napier, dated Thirlestane, 15th December 1831 : "Sir

William Scott was author of that w ell-know n Scots song,

' Come, fye ! let us a' to the wedding.

For there'll be lilting there ;'

—

a better thing than Horace ever wrote. My authority was

VII/ father, who told me be had it from his, and that he had

it from his, who was Sir William's son." (See Johnson's

Scottish Musical Museum, with Notes hy Slcnhovsc, vol. i. p.

*121.) Several of his Latin poems are printed in a volume

entitled ' Selecta Poemata Archibald! Pitcarnii, Jlcd. Docto-

ris, Gul. Scot a Thirlestane F.quitis, Tboma; Kinc;idii, et

aliorum.' Edinb. 1727, 12ino. He married, in his father's

lifetime, (marriage contract dated 15th December 1699,)

Elizabeth, mistress of Napier, and their son, Francis, became

fifth Lord Napier, (see that title, page 239 of this volume).

He married, secondly, Jean, daughter of Sir John Nisbct of

Dirleton, widow of Sir Willi:im Scott of Harden, without issue.
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Tlie Scotts i)f Rsieburn, Duinfiies-shire, are descended

from Walter, third son of Sir William Scott, third laird of

Harden. He lived at tlie time of the Restoration, and both

lie and his wife, Isobel, daughter of William Makdougall of

Jlakerston, becaine Quakers, the tenets of that sect Iiaving

at that period made their way into Scotland. They were, in

consequence, subjected to much persecution by the tyrannical

government of the day. By an edict, dated June 20, 1GG5,

the Scottish privy council directed his brother. Sir William

Scott of Harden, to take away his three children, and edu-

cate them separately, so that they might not become infected

with the same heres}'. By a second edict, dated July 5,

1G6G, the council directed two thousand pounds Scots money

to be paid by the laird of R.aeburn for the maintenance of the

children. He was at this time confined in the tolbooth of

Edinburgh. The council, however, ordered him to be con-

veyed to the jail of Jedburgh, wliere his wife was incarce-

rated, and where no one was to have access to him but such

as might be expected to convert him from the principles of

Quakerism. " It appeals," says Sir Walter Scott, " that the

lainl of M;ikerston, his brother-in-law, joined with Raeburn's

own elder brother, Harden, in this singular persecution, as it

will now be termed by Christians of all persuasions. It was

observed by the people that the m.ale line of the second Sir

William of Harden became extinct in 1710, and that the re-

presentation of Jlakerston soon passed into the female line.

They assigned as a cause that when the wife of Raeburn

found herself deprived of her husband, and refused permission

even to see her children, she pronounced a malediction on her

husband's brother as well as on her own, and prayed that a

male of their body might not inherit their property." (^Lock-

hart's Life of Scott, ]). 20.) With two daughters, Walter

Scott of Raeburn had two sons, William, his heir, and Wal-

ter. The latter received a good education at the university

of Glasgow, under the anspices of liis uncle. Sir William

Scott of Harden. He was a zealous Jacobite, and a friend

and correspondent of Dr. Pitcairn. "They had," says Sir

Walter Scott, "a Tory or .Jacobite club in Edinburgh, in

which the conversation is said to have been maintained in

Latin." He was called ' Beardie,' from a vow which he had

made never to shave his beard til! the exiled roy.-il family of

Stuart were restored. In Lockharfs Life of Scott, there are

some interesting notices of the Scotts of Raeburn by Sir Wal-

ter Scott himself. Of his gre.at-grandfather Beardie he

says, that it would have been well if his zeal for the ban-

ished dynasty of Stu.art had stopped with his letting his

beard grow. " But he took arms and intrigued in their

cause, until he lost .all he had in the world, and, as I have

heard, run a narrow risk of being hanged, had it not been for

the interference of Anne, ducliess of Buccleuch and Mon-
mouth." On the death of his brother, William Scott of Rae-

burn, "Beardie became, of course, tutor of Raeburn, .as the

old Scottish phrase called him, that is, guardian to his infant

nephew. lie also managed the estates of Makerston, being

nearly related to tliat family by his mother, Isobel Makdou-
gall. I suppose he had some allowance for his care in either

case, and subsisted on that and the fortune he had bv his

wife, a Jliss Campbell of Silvercraigs." He left three sons.

The eldest, Walter, had a family, of which any that now
remain have been long settled in America,—the male heirs

are long since extinct. The third was William, father of

James Scott, well known in India as one of the original set-

tlers of Prince of Wales island. The second son, Robert

Scott, was Sir AValter's grandfather. He was originally in-

tended for the sea; "but being shipwrecked near Dundee in

his trial voyage, he took such a sincere dislike to that ele-

ment, that he could not be persuaded to a second attempt.

Robert w.as one of those active spirits to whom this was no

misfortune. He turned whig upon the spot, and fairly .ab-

jured his father's politics, and his learned poverty. His chief

and relative, Jlr. Scott of Harden, gave him a lease of the

farm of Sandyknowe, comprehending the rocks in the centre
;

of which Smiiilhohn or Sandyknowe Tower is situated. He i

took for his shepherd an old man called Hogg, who willingly i

lent him, out of respect for his family, his whole s.avings,

about £30, to stock the new farm." With the money he in

the first instance bought a high mettled hunter, greatly to

the old man's dismay; but having speedily sold the horse for

double its origin.al price, he was enabled to stock the farm in

earnest, and, says Sir Walter Scott, " the rest of my grand-

father's career was that of successful industry. He was one

of the first who were active in the cattle trade, afterwards
!

can-ied to such extent between the Highlands of Scotland
|

and the leading counties of England, and by his droving '

transactions acquired a considerable sum of money." He i

married, in 1728, Barbar.a, daughter of Thomas Haliburton

of Newmains, Berwickshire, who at one time possessed the
j

p.irt of Dryburgh comprehending the ruins of the abbey, and
|

were descended from the ancient fainily of Haliburton of i

Mertoun. Of these Haliburtons Sir Walter Scott was, in
|

right of his father's mother, the lineal representative, and in i

1820, he printed for private circulation a work entitled 'Me- !

morials of the Haliburtons.' In the Introduction to the third
j

canto of Marmion, he gives a fine description of his grandfa-
|

ther, Robert Scott of Sandyknowe. The latter's eldest son,
j

the poet's father, Mr. Walter Scott, writer to the signet, was

born in 1729, .and admitted a writer to the signet in 1755.

He is said to have been " by no means a man of shining

abilities. He was, however, a steady, expert man of busi-

ness, insomuch as to prosper considerably in life; and nothing
|

could exceed the gentleness, sincerity, and benevolence of his I

character."

The Quaker-laird's elder son, William Scott of Raeburn, a

person of considerable erudition, married Anna, eldest daugh-

ter of Sir John Scott of Ancrum, baronet, and died Gth Au-

gust, 1G99. His widow married, secondly, in 1702, John

Scott of Synton. With a daughter, Isabel, the wife of John

Rutherford, JLD., he had a son, Walter Scott of Raeburn,

who was killed in a dnel by one of the Pringles of Crighton,

near Selkirk, 3d October 1707, in a field still named Rae-

burn's Meadow, at the early age of 24. He had married,

19th November 1703, Anne, third daughter of Hugh Scott

of G.ala, and had one son, William, and two daughters, Iso-

bel and Anne. His only son, William Scott of Raeburn,

married in 1743, being then in his fortieth ye.ar, Jean Elliot,

and had a son, Walter Scott of Raeburn, and a daughter,

Anne, the wife of Thomas, second son of Robert Scott of

Sandyknowe.

The Scotts of Tushielaw in Ettrick, at one period a pow-

erful section of the clan Scott, were, like all the race, reavers

and freebooters. Their tower of Tushielaw, now in ruins, is

celebrated alike in song, tradition, and story. The exploits

of Adam Scott of Tushielaw, one of the most famous of their

chiefs, and usually called " King of the thieves " .and " King

of the border," with the excesses of the other border biirons,

roused the wrath of James V., and in 1528, he "made pi'o-

clamation to all lords, barons, gentlemen, laudwardmen, and

freeholders, that they should compear at Edinburgh, with a

month's victuals, to pass with the king where he pleased, to

danton the thieves of Tiviotdale, Annandale, Liddisdale, and

other parts of that country ; and also warned all gentlemen
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that )iad good dogs to bring tlietn, that lie might hunt in tlie

said country as lie pleased." In the course of tliis excursion,

guided by some of the borderers, the king penetrated into the

inmost recesses of Eusdalu and Teviotdale, and .seizing Cock-

barn of Henderland and .Scott of Tushiehuv, one morning he-

fore breakfast, summarily hung them in front of their own

strongholds. The old asli-trcc on which Scott of Tushielaw

was suspended is said to be still standing among the ruins,

and is still called the Gallows tree. It is .isserted to bear

along its branches numerous nicks and hollows, traced by

ropes, in the ruthless execution of wretched captives, on

whom that bold and reckless border marauder inflicted the

fate which eventually became his own.

The Scotts of Malleny, Mid I.otliian, branched oif from

the house of Murdieston, previous to the ancestor of the liuc-

cleuch family exchanging that estate for the half of the bar-

ony of liranksome. James Scott of Scotsloch, the first of

the family in Mid Lothian, appears to have settled there in

the reign of Queen Mary. His son, Laurence Scott of Harp-

rig, was, in the reign of Charles I., clerk to the privy

council, and also one of the clerks of session. He had three

.sons, Sir William, his successor; James, wlio received from

his father the lands of lionnytoun, Linlitligow.sliire ; and

Laurence, progenitor of the Scotts of Bavelaw. The eldest

son, Sir William Scott of Clerkington, was, in November

lG-11, knighted by Charles I. In June 1G49 he was appoint-

ed one of the ordinary lords of session, when he took the title

of Lord Clerkington. He was also one of the committee of

estates and planters of kirks. He was twice married. By his

first wife, a daughter of Mon'i.son of Picstongrange, he had

one son, Laurence ; and by his second wife, Barbara, daughter

ofSirJolm Dalmahoy of Dalm.ahoy, baronet, he had three

sons and three daughters. The sons were John, the first

styled of .ALdleny
;
James, of Scotsloch ; and Robert, dean of

H.imilton. The eldest son, Laurence Scott of Clerkington,

m.arried a sister of his father's second wife, and h.avingonly two

daughters, was succeeded by liis brother of the h;ilf-blood,

Tohn Scott, who received from his father in patrimony, the

lands and barony of JIalleny, in the parish of Cnrrie, Jlid Lo-

thi.in, and it became the chief title of the family. He had, with

two daughters, two sons, Thomas and William. The latter, an

advocate, was twice inarried, first, to Magdalene, daughter and

heiress of Willi.am Blair, Esq. of Blair, by whom he had one

son, William ; and, secondly, to Catherine, only daughter of

Alexander Tait, merchant, ICdinburgh, and had by her five

sons and six daughters. William, the only son of the first

marriage, having inherited the estate of Blair, assumed tliat

surname, and dying without issue in 173'2, he settled the

lands on the cliihiren of his father's second marriage, who

all in consequence took the name of Blair.

John Scott of Malleny's elder son, Thomas, succeeded to

the estate in 1709. His son, John Scott of Malleny. married

Susan, daughter of Lord William Hay of Ncwhall, third son

of the second marquis of Twceddale, and had seven sons and

four danghfeis.

The eldest son, Goncr.-d Thomas Scott of Malleny, born

25th December 17-15, entered the army as an ensign in the

24tli regiment, 20th JLiy 17G1. During the whole of the

campaign of the following year, he served under Prince Fer-

din.and, and at the battle of Wellcn.stall he carried the col-

ours of his regiment, as he did .also at the .attack of the

British picquots on the Fiilda. In 17C.'? be returned to

England, and in 17G5 was promoted to a lieutenancy. In

177G he accomp.auied his regiment to America, and served two

campaigns under General Burgoyne, witli a company of

imiiksinen attached to a large body of Indians. He con-

ducted himself so greatly to the satisfaction of his command-
ing officer, Brigadier-general Frazer, that he twice received

thanks in public orders. After the battle of the lOtli Sep-

tember, 1777, the critical situation of Burgoyne rendering it

indispensably necessary that the commander-in-chief. Sir

Henry Clinton, should be informed of it, Captain Scott, who
j

was well known to be an excellent pedestrian, was one of two

officers selected to go on this perilous enterjiri.se by different

routes. Tliis mission he executed with the greatest dexterity

and success. Having secured the despatches in his rifle, he

assumed the dress of a pedlar, and in that disguise pas.sed

safely through the enemy's tents. His fearless conduct on

this occasion was acknowledged by a handsome pension, with-

out any .solicitation on his part, being settled on him for life.

In 17S8 he returned to Europe. In 1791 he served, with a
'

detachment of the 5."d regiment, for six months on board his
j

majesty's ship, Hannibal, comm.anded by Sir John Colpoys.
j

In 1793, when the duke of York was sent to Flanders at the

head of a British army to oppose the French revolutionary

forces. Captain Scott, under Sir Ralph Abercromhy, accom-

panied the expedition, and was present at the siege of Valen-

ciennes, which surrendered July 2G, and at that of Dunkirk,

in August following
; also, in the attack in which the Aus-

trian general D'Alton was killed. He w.as subsequently with

tlie ood regiment in garrison in Kienport, when it was be-

sieged by the French, and received his commission as major

for his exertions in its defence. He was attached to the stafT

of Prince William of Gloucester during the three days that

he commanded a brigade, and was present at the attack of

the village of Premont. In the action of the 24tli M.ay 1594,

he was wounded in the inside of the right thigh by a mus-

ket-ball. In 1794 he was appointed lieutenant-colonel of

one of the battalions of the 94tli. He afterwards served in

the Mysore country in South India, and was at the capture

of Seringapatam, May 4, 1799. In 1800, in consequence of

bad health, he left Hindostan for Europe, but the ludiaman

in which lie was a passenger, was boarded in the British

Channel, and taken by a French privateer. After being

detained some weeks at Cherbourg, Colonel Scott was ex-
;

changed, in consequence of an application to the French gov-
|

ernmeiit, by the desire of the duke of York. In 1801 he !

was appointed colonel by brevet ; in 1802, inspecting field
I

officer of the Edinburgh recruiting district; in 1803, deputy-
J

inspector-general of the recruiting service in North Britain ;
'

in 1804, brigadier-general; in 1808, m.ajor-general on the
{

stafl"; in 1813, lieutenant-general ; and in 1830, full gen-

eral. He died in 1841, at the advanced age of 96, and was

succeeded by his nephew, Carteret George Scott, Esq. of

.Malleny, at one period a captain in the East India Comp.a-

iiy's service; a magistrate and deputy-lieutenant of Mid Lo-

thi.an ; second but eldest sun-iving son of Francis Carteret
j

Scott, Esq., collector of custoius at .Montego B:iy, ,Limaica,
j

from 1771 to 1800.
'

j

The Scotts of Duninald, in the pari.sli of Craig, Forfar-
]

shire, were descended from Patrick Scott of Craig, (born in t

1G23, died in 1G90.) the son of James Scott, the first of Lo-
!

gie (see page 407 ante). About the beginning of the 18th 1

century the three contiguous estates of Rossie, Usan, and
I

Duninald, were the property of three brothers of the name of i

Scott, who are said to have obtained them in marriage with

three sisters, heiresses of the same. Patrick Scott of Rossie,

the son of Patrick Scott of Craig above mentioned, succeed-

ed, alter the death of his brothers, to Duninald and Usan.

His son, Robert Scott of Dunin.ald, born in 1705, was for
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many years M.P. for Forfarsliire. During the rebellion of

1745, he was a faithful adherent of the house of Hanover,

and when the rebels arrived in Montrose a party of them

went to Duninald house, and threatened liini with instant

deatli, for his support of the government. His wife, Ann
Jliddleton of Seton, Aberdeenshire, usually called Lady Dun-
inald, entered the hall at the time they had her husband in

their hands. Being a woman of a fine appearance and man-

ner, and near her accouchement, her entreaties that they

would spare bis life prevailed ; but he was carried off to the

tolbooth of Montrose, and there immured. On the advance

of the duke of Cumberland, however, he was at once set at

liberty. He died in December 1780.

His son, David Scott of Duninald, m.arried Jlrs. Louisa

Jervis, a widow, daughter and coheiress of William Delagard,

Esq., and died Oct. 4, 1805. He had one son, also named
David, born July 25, 1782, and 3 daughters.

Mrs. Scott's sister, Klizabeth, the other coheiress, married

James Sibbald, Esq. of Sillvvood Park, Sussex, who was cre-

ated a baronet of the United Kingdom, Dec. 13, 1806, and

died, issueless, Dec. 17, 1819. As the baronetcy's remainder,

in default of male issue, was to the nephew of his wife, the

only son of Mr. David Scott of Duninald, accordinglv, became

Sir David Scott, 2d bart. of SilUvood Park. On succeeding to

tliis title and estate, he sold Duninald to Patrick Arklay, Esq.

Sir David was a knight of the order of the Guelplis of Hano-

ver, and for some years M.P. fur Yarmouth. He died June

18, 1851. By bis wife, Caroline, daughter and coheiress of

Benjamin Grindali, Esq., of the Bengal Civil service, a lineal

descendant of Edmund Grindali, archbishop of Canterbury in

tlie time of Queen Elizabeth, he had 2 sons and 3 daughters.

His elder son. Sir James Sibbald David Scott, 3d b.aronet

of Silhvood Park, born June 14, 1814, graduated at Christ

church, O.Kfbrd, B.A., in 1835; a deputy- lieutenant and cap-

tain in tlie royal Sussex militia, 1846. By his wife, Harriet

Arnie, only daughter of Henry Sliank, Esq. of Castlerig,

Eifeshire, he has 3 sons and 3 daughters. Heir, his son Mi-

chael David Sibbald, born in 1849.

The Scotts of Eenholme, Forfarshire, descended from tlie

family of Logic, are represented by Hercules James Robert-

son, a lord of session under the title of Lord Benholme, the

son of George Robertson-Scott, Esq., by his wife Isabella Scott

of Benliolme and Hedderwick. Born in Edinburgh in 1796,

l)e was educated at the High school and university of Edin-

burgh, and passed advocate in 1817. In 1842, he was ap-

pointed sherifi' of Renfrewshire, and in 1853 raised to the

bench as Lord Benholme. In 1829 he married the youngest

daughter of the Right Hon. Charles Hope of Granton, lord-

president of the court of session. His wife died in 1840.

The Scotts of Brotherton, Kincardineshire, are also a

branch of the Scotts of Logie. Hei-cules Scott, born in 1621,

third son of James Scott, the first of Logie, (see ante, page

378,) had, with five daughters, two sons, Hercules, the first

of Brotherton, and James Scott of Commieston, a general in

the army. The elder son, the laird of Brotherton, married

in 1707 Helen, daughter of Sir Charles Ramsay of Balmain,

baronet. Their m.arriage contract, signed by seventeen wit-

nesses, and dated at Easque in 1706, is mentioned as a curi-

ous old document. The Chevalier St. George, a short time

previously to his embarkation for France from Montrose in

1716, was concealed in the garden of Brotherton, The la.st

night he was in Scotbuid he slept in the house of Scott of

Logie. Hercules Scott died in 1747, leaving two sons and

sis daugliters. His elder son, James Scott of Brotherton,

born in 1719, was succeeded on his death in 1807 by liis ne-

phew, James, son of his brother. David Scott of Nether Ben-
holme. Dying Sept. 22, 1814, he was succeeded by bis

brother, David Scott, Esq. of Brotherton, born June 16, 1782.
The latter died Dec. 18, 1859. His son, Hercules Scott,

Bengal civil service, born in 1823, succeeded to Brotherton.

He also left eight daughters.

Of the Scotts of Scotstarvet, Fifeshire, the immediate an-

cestor was David, second son of Sir David Scott of Buccleucb,

the eleventh generation of that noble house in a direct male

line. David Scott, designed of .Allanhangh and Wbitchester,

lived in the reigns of .Tames IV. and V., and died at an

advanced age about 1530, leaving three sons, Robert, Alex-

ander, and James. The youngest, a churchman, was pro-

vost of Corstorphine, where he built a manse for himself and

his successors in office. He was clerk of the treasury and a

lord of session on the spiritual side of the bench, according

to the distinctions of that court on its first institution in

Scotland. Sir Alexander Scott, the second son, was by

James v., in 1534, appointed vice-register of Scotland, and

died six years thereafter. His son, Robert Scott, acquired

the lands of Knightspottie, and was appointed clerk of the

parliament and director of tlie chancery, 17th October 1579.

With one daughter, he had two sons, Robert and James, the

latter designed of Vogrle. He resigned his office of director

of the chancery, first, in favour of his elder son, Robert, who

predeceased him in 1588, and, secondly, in favour of Sir

William Scott of Ardross, his stepson, to be held till his

grandson, Jolin, son of Robert, became of age. The latter

succeeded his grandfather 28th March 1592, when he was

only seven years of age. He was the celebrated Sir John Scott

of Scotstarvet, and, on coming of age, he obtained the office

of director of the chancery. (Dovfflas' Baronage, p. 222.)

Among other charters he had one of the lands and barony of

Tarvet, Fifeshire, dated 28th November 1611. These lands

lie called Scotstarvet. He was knighted by King James VL
in 1G17, and appointed of his privy council. Sir James Bal-

four styles him " a busy man in foul weather." In Brunton

and Haig's Senators of the College of Justice, (p. 280,) there

is a somewhat elaborate life of him. M'e learn from it that

he was admitted an extraordinary lord of session 14th Janu-

ary 1629, when he took the judicial title of Lord ScotstaiTet.

He was displaced in November 1630, and appointed an ordi-

nary lord 28th July 1632. He was one of the four judges of the

court who, in 1639, refused to take the king's covenant when

tendered by the royal commissioner, in respect that he did not

conceive the innovations which had been introduced into the

church since 1580, could subsist with the covenants then sub-

scribed, of which it was a copy, and that it belonged to the

General Assembly to clear doubts of this nature. (Balfoiir's

Annals, vol. ii. p. 147.) In 1640, he was appointed one of

the committee of estates established for the defence of the

country. In November 1641, he was reappointed by the

king, with consent of the estates, a judge ad vitam aut cul-

pnm. On 1st February 1645, he was named one of the com-

missioners of the exchequer, and in 1648 and 1649, a mem-

ber of the committee of war. During the commonwealth lie

lived retired, and in 1654 he was fined by Cromwell £1,500

sterling. At the Restoration, notwithstanding his well-

known loyalty, his office of director of the chancery was taken

from him and bestowed on another, and by Charles II. he

was fined £6,000 Scots. He died in 1570, in his 84tb year.

According to Nisbet, (^Ileraldnj, vol. ii. p. 293,) he was "a

bountiful patron of men of learning, ivho came to him from

all quarters, so that his house became a kind of college."
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Aiiioiii; uUrm'.s, he eiicuuriiged 'I'imolliy Punt, in liis survey of

Scotland, and prevailed upon Sir Robert Gordon oC Stralocli

to prepare the maps wliich lie left, for publication. Tliey

compose the ' Theatrum Scotia?,' p\il)lished by John I'leau in

tlie sixth volnme of liis celebrated Atlas, which appeared in

1G62, dedicated to Sir John Scott of Scofstarvet. Being

anxious that the maps of the different counties should be ac-

companied by correct topographical descriptions. Sir John

petitioned llie General Assenilily that these might be fur-

nished by some of the ministers of every parish, in the way

that a cenlnry and a half later was done for the New Statis-

tical Account of Scotland ; but although his request was ac-

ceded to, very few complied with the order. In consequence,

most of the descriptions were supplied by himself and his

friends. So an.\ious was ho as to the publication of tliis great

work that he made a second visit to Holland for the purpose

of superintending it, and, according to Blcau, spent whole

days in his house in Amsterdam, writing tlie description of

the counties from memory. (^Seria/ors of CoUeye of Justice,

p. 282.) In the old tower of Scotstarvet, parish of Ceres,

he wrote his curious work alliteratively entitled 'The Stag-

genng State of Scots Statesmen, by Sir .John Scott of Scots-

tarvet.' published by Kuddiman in 17.54. He took a great

interest in tlie work entitled ' Delitiai Poet.'u'um Scotorum,'

edited by Arthur .Johnston, and to superintend tlie printing

of it, we are told, that he took a voyage to Holland, and dis-

bursed "a hundred double pieces." Some of liis pieces of

anollier kind appear among the contcnt.s, but, as has been

remarked, they are not quite deserving of the high compli-

ment paid to liiin on their account, that he shines among the

other poets whose works are contained there as a moon

among stars. Sir John Scott of Scotstarvet, among other

benefits conferred on learning, founded a professorship for

teaching the Latin language in St. Leonard's college, St. An-

drews, and gave a mortification to the smiths of Glasgow,

f )r which his descendants had the presenting of apprentices.

(Sibbalcrs Ilhtory of Fife, ed. 180.^, p. 3-11.) He was three

times married; first, to Anne, daughter of Sir John Drum-

mond of Hawthornden, by whom he had two sons and seven

daughters; secondly, to Jl.argaret, daughter of James Mel-

ville of Hallhill, by whom he had one son, George Scott of

Pitlochie; and, thirdly, to Margaret, daughter of Monypenny

of Pitmilly, relict of Rigg of Aitherney, by whom lie had a

son, Walter Scott of Edenshead.

His eldest son, Sir James Scott, conjunct director of chan-

cery with his father, was knighted by Charles I. He prede-

ceased his father in 1G50, and his ehier .son, .lames Scott,

.succeeded to Scotstarvet on his grandfather's death twenty

years thereafter. Pying without issue, James Scott of Scots-

tarvet was succeeded by his brother David, who greatly im-

proved the family estate, and died in 1718, in liis 73d year.

The son of the latter, David Scott of Scotstarvet, advocate,

was long a member of the Imperial parliament. He died in

176G. His elder son, David Scott of Scotstarvet, was suc-

ceeded by liis brother Jrajor-general John Scott, who pur-

chased the estate of Balcomie, parish of Crail, and was M.P.

for Fifesliire. General Scott died without male issue. His

eldest daughter married in 1795 the marquis of Titchfield,

who in consequence assumed the name of Scott in addition

to his own of Bentinck. She subsequently sold Scotstarvet

and tlie other Fifesliire estates belonging to herself. Her

husband became fourth duke of Portland in 1809, and the

duchess died in lS-14, leaving issue. Her eldest son, William

John Cavendish Scott-Bentinck, succeeded his father as fifth

duke of Portland in 1850'.

The .Scotts of Gala, l'o.\bnrglisliiie, are descended from

Hugh, third son of Walter Scott of Harden, by his wife, Ma-
ry Scott, the Flower of Yarrow. This Hugh Scott lived in

the reigns of James I. and Charles I., and was designed of

Deuchar. He married Jean, eldest daughter of Sir James

Hop-Pringle of Galashiels, and had several sons, namely,

James, his heir; Walter, a major in the army; George, pro-

genitor of the Scotts of Auclily-Donald, Aberdeenshire;

John, settled in Italy; and David, a surgeon in Kdinbiirgh.

On the deatli of her only brother, John Hop Pringle, without

issue, their mother became heir of line of that ancient fami-

ly. Hugh Scott died in IG-lfl or 1G41. His eldest son and suc-

cessor, James, got a cliartcr of the lands and barony of Gala,

dated Otli June 1G40, and was the first designed by that

name. His son, Hugh Scott of Gala, by his wife, a daughter

of Sir James Kerr of Cavers, had five sons and three daugh-

ters. Sir James, the eldest son, married Kiipliemia, daugh-

ter of Sir William Dougl.as of Cavers, heritable sherilf of

Ro.xburglishire, and had four sons and two daughters. Hugh,

the eldest son, niarried Klizabeth, daughter of Colonel .John

Stewart of Stewartfield, near Kdinburgli, and liad two sons

and 8 daiigliters. The elder son, John Scolt of Gala, was

cousin-geriiian and heir of line of the last John Stewart of

Stewarlfield. By his wife, Anne, only daughter of Colonel

George Makdougall and Jhdcerston, he had 1 son, and 2 drs.

In August 1815 John Scott of Gala, an intimate friend of his

kiiisman Sir Walter Scott, aocompanied him on his visit to the

field of Waterloo, ami returned with him to Scotland. His

reminiscences of Sir Walter in London in 1831, are published

in Lockhart's Life of Scott. Jlr. Scott of Gala died at Kdin-

burgli, April 19, 1840, and was succeeded by his son, Hugh
Scott of Gala, bom in 1822; at one time Captain 92d High-

landers, and m.ijor of militia; appointed in 1848 one of the

deputy lieutenants of Selkirkshire; married in 1857 Elizabeth

Isabella, daughter of Capt. Johnstone Gordon of Craig, with

issue. Heir, his son, John Henry Francis Kinuaird, born in

1859.

The first of the Scotts of Hasscndean, Roxburghshire, was

David Scott, who lived in the middle of the 15th century.

He was the eldest son of Sir William Scott of Kiikurd who

e.\clianged Mmdicston for Branksome. Captain Walter Scott .

of Satchells, in his rhyming and ' True History of the families

of the name of Scott,' alludes to him in the lines,—
1

" Hasseiidean came without a call.

The ancientest house of them all."

Sir Alexander Scott of Hassendean fell at the battle of Flod-

den in September 1513. Among the border b.irons who in

1530 neglected to fulfil their bonds there was a William Scott
j

of Hassendean. He is .again mentioned in 1539, as having
j

been robbed by Thomas Turiibull of Rawflat, of some iinpor-
j

tant legal documents. The Criminal Trials record the slaugh-
I

ter in 1564 of a David Scott, laird of Hassendean, by William
|

Elliot of Horsliehill. It does not appear to be ascertained
j

at what period the male line of this family failed. Perhaps

it was at the death of the said David Scott. In the appen-

dix to Scott of Satchell's curious work, it is stated that the

Lands returned by purchase to the Scotts of Buccleuch, while

the representation of the family devolved on William Scott of

Burnliead and Crowbill, as lineal male descendant of the first

John Scott of Burnhead, younger brother of David Scott of

Hassendean, and second son of Sir Walter Scott of Kiikurd,

(see New Stat. Account of Scotland, vol. iii. p. 3CS). The

original barony of Hassendean now forms the estates of H.is-

sendean-bank, Hassende.in-bmn, and Teviot-bank, and some
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lands belonging to tlie duUe of Buccleucli. In old cliarters

the iKUiie was spelled Halstaneadene, Halstenden, Halstans-

dene, and Hastendene, supposed to signify dean of the holy

stone, or Halstein's dean, Halstein being a common Scandi-

navian name. The modern name Hassendean, simply a sof-

tened form of the old one, has been changed into Hazeldean

in song merely by the caprice of poets. Both Sir Walter

Scott and Leyden (in his Scenes of Infancy) are wrong when

tliey give Hazeldean as the ancient name.

SCOTT, Michael, a celebrated pliilosoplier of

the thirteenth century, whose knowledge of the

more abstruse branches of learning acquired for

him the reputation of a magician, was born about

1214, at his paternal estate of Balwearie, in the

parish of Abbotsliall, Fifeshire. lie early became

versant hi tlie occult sciences, and in his youth,

after stud}'ing with nnusual success at home,

went to Oxford, where he had Roger Bacon for a

fellow-student, wlio afterwards was not sparing in

his censures of him, and in no very measured

phrase accused him of being botli a plagiarist and

an impostor. He then proceeded to the univer-

sity of Paris, where he remained for some years,

being styled Micliael the Mathematician, and for

his attainments in theology, he obtained the de-

gi'ee of doctor in divinity. He sitbsequently re-

paired to the university of Padua, and afterwards

resided for some time at Toledo in Spain. Be-

sides mathematics, chemistry and medicine, as-

tronomj' and the sister art of astrology became

his favourite pursuits. In Spain he acquired an

intimate knowledge of the Arabic langnaage, whicli,

in the general ignorance of the Greek whicli then

prevailed, was the only source whence an ac-

quaintance with the Aristotelian philosophy could

be obtained. From the Arabic of the famous

physician and philosopher Avicenna, who flour-

ished in the eleventh century, he translated into

Latin Aristotle's nineteen books of the History of

Animals. This work recommended liim to the

notice of the Emperor Frederick II. of Germany,

a prince the most eminent of his time, both for his

own learning and for the encouragement of learn-

ed men. Ho invited him to his court, and ap-

pointed him royal astrologer. At that monarch's

desire he translated from the Arabic the greater

part of the works of Aristotle, assisted by one

Andrew a Jew. He predicted the time, place,

and circumstances of the Emperor Frederick's

death, and his prophecy is said to have come true

in all its details. After leaving jiis court, lie

practised for some time as a phy.-;iciau with suc-

cess, and then repaired to Enghind.

He was received with great favour by Edward

I., and permitted by him to retiu-n to Scotland.

He arrived in his own country shortly before the

deatli of Alexander III. At this time he is styled

Sir Michael Scott, having been knighted by that

monarch. In 1290 he was, by the regents of

Scotland, appointed one of tlie ambassadors sent

to Norway to bring over the infant queen Mar-

garet, styled the Maiden of Norway. In this

embassy, Sir David AV'emyss, another Fifeshire

gentleman, was associated with him. They suc-

ceeded so fiir in their mission as to get the j-oniig

princess intrusted to their care ; but the royal in-

fant, as is well known, sickened on her passage to

Scotland, and died in Orkney, an event which in-

volved Scotland in man}' dire calamities. Sir

Michael Scott's name does not again appear in

history. He died at an advanced age about 1300,

and by some accounts he is represented as having

been buried at Home-Cultram in Cumberland,

where Henry, son of David I. of Scotland, had

founded a Cistercian abbey, of which Lysous snys

Michael Scott was a monk about the year 1190.

It is more generally believed, however, that he

was buried in Melrose abbey, where his magical

books are said to have been buried witii him.

Some curious traditionary notices of this

' Wizard of dreaded fame"

will be found in the notes appended to 'The Lay

of the Last Minstrel.' " It is well known," says

Tytler, in his ' Lives of Scottish AVorthies,' (vol.

i. p. 121,) "that many traditions are still preva-

lent in Scotland concerning the exti'aordiuary

powers of the wizard ; and if Ave consider the

thick cloud of ignorance which overspread the

country at the period of his return from the conti-

nent, and the very small materials which are re-

quired hy Superstition as a groundwork for her

dark and mysterious stories, we sliall not wonder

at the result. The Arabic books which lie brought

along Avith him, the apparatus of his laboratoiy,

his mathematical and astronomical instruments,

the oriental costume generally worn by the astro-

logers of the times, and the appearance of the
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wlute-liiiircd and venerable sage, as lie sat on the

roof of Ills tower of Bahvearic, obscrvin;^ the faee

of the heavens, and coiivei'siii'' with tin; slars,

were all anijjly sullieient to iinjiress the minds of

the vulgar witii awe and terror." His own pro-

ductions are ' ])e Procreatione, ct Iloniinis I'hisi-

onomia,' also printed under the title of ' De Secre-

tis Natnr;c a chemical tract on the transnnita-

tioii of metals into gold, styled ' Dc Natnra Soils

et Luna?;' and 'jNIensa Philosophica,' a treatise

relating to the visionary sciences of chiromancy

and astrology. His conimentarv on the ' S])hcre

of Sacrobosco' was thought worthy of being pre-

sented to the learned world of Italy at so late a

period as 1495.

SCOTT, Uavii), author of a History of Scot-

land, was born near Haddington, in KiTT), and

became a lawyer in Edinburgh. After the Revo-

lution, he was for some time impi'isoned for liis

Jacobite principles. His Histor}' Avas published

in 1727 in folio, but is now little known. He died

at Haddington in 1742.

[

SCOTT, Hklknus, iM.U., an able physician,

! the sou of a clergyman, was born at Dundee, and

received his grammatical education there. He

studied at Aberdeen and Edinburgh for the nicdi-

j

cal profession, and, after visiting London, tra-

,
veiled as far as Venice, with the intention of pio-

j

ceediug overland to Bombay ; but the w ant of

j

money compelled him to return to England, w here

I

lie married. Shortly after lie obtained an ap-

j

pointnient in the East Indies, and having wi'itten

I

an entertaining Romance, styled ' The Adventures

I

of a Rupee,' he sent it to a friend in London, and

I

it was published in one small volume in 1782.

During his residence in India, lie acquired a con-

siderable fortune by his practice. He died on his

voyage to New South Wales, November 16, 1821.

SCOTT, Sir Walter, baronet, a distinguished

])oet and the most celebrated novelist of his day,

born at Edinburgh, August 15, 1771, was the

third child of i\lr. AValter Scott, writer to the sig-

net, the son of j\Ir. Robert Scott, farmer at Sau-

dykuowe in Roxburghshire, lineally descended

from the Scots of Harden. For the pedigree of

the family, see p. 410 of this volume). His motlie:-,

Anne Rutherford, was the daughter of Dr. Joliii

Rutherford, professor of the practice of medicine in

the university of Edinburgh, a memoir of whom is

given at p. o'M) of this vol. His maternal grand-

mother was Jean Swintoii, a daughter of Sir John ;

Swinton of Swinton, Berwickshire (sec Swinton,

surname). His father's family consi.sted of eleven

sons and one daughter. An elder brother, Robert,
[

was an oilicer iirst in the navy, and afterwards in
|

the East India Company's service. Anotlier i

brother, John, innjor in a foot regiment, was obliged

to retire from the army on account of his health.
j

Thomas, the next brother to Sir Walter, a writer
j|

to the signet like his father, was ft)r some years
j

factor to the marquis of Abercorn, but died in

Canada in 1822, in the capacity of paymaster to

the 70tli regiment. The youngest brother, Daniel,
|

died on his return from the West Indies, in 180(3.
|

The house in which the novelist was born stood

at the head of the College Avynd, a narrow alli'^-
j

leading I'rom the Cowgate to the gate of the i^ld

college of Edinburgh, aiul was long since puHed

down to make way for the new university. While
j

yet a child of three years old, Sir Walter was re-
|

moved, on account of his delicate health, to the

farm of his paternal grandfather at Sandyknowe,

situated near the bottom of Leader water, among
j

the romantic hills of Roxburghshire. In the

neighbourhood stands the deserted and ruined

border fort of Smailholni Tower. In the fourth i

year of his age he was taken to Bath for the ben-
|

elit of his health, where he spent about a twelve-
|

month, and acquired the rudiments of reading at
j

i

a day-school kept by an old dame. He then
]

returned to Edinburgh, and thereafter went back

to Sandyknowe, where he chiefly resided till his

eighth year, and where he stored his mind with
jj

much of that traditionary lore which he afterwards
j

j

introduced with such admirable effect into his
jj

writings. At this time he spent half-a-year wiiii
Ji

j

an aunt at Kelso, where he attended a school, kc|)t
|

]

j

by a iSIr. Lanncelot \\'hale, and had for school-
j

fellows, James and John Ballantyne, the printers,
jj

j

with whom he afterwards became so closely asso- ii
}

elated. In 1779 he was sent to the second class jl
i

of the High school of Edinburgh, at that time
j

superintended by ISIr. Luke Eraser, and two j'cars ji

j

afterwards was transferred to the rector's class,
j

i

then tan"ht bv Dr. Alexander Adam, but he iiev- ;|

er w as in any way remarkable for his proficiency
j
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as a scholar. lie quitted the High school in 1783,

and at that early period of his life he had a strong

desire to enter the army, but this his lameness

prevented, the malady wliich aflBicted his early

years having had the effect of contractiug his right

leg, so that he could hardl}" walk erect.

In October 1783 he entered the university of

Edinburgh ; but the precarious state of his health

interfered much with his academical studies. He

appears to have attended only the Greek and

Latin classes for two seasons, and that of logic

one season. At the age of fifteen, the rupture of

a blood-vessel caused him to be confined for some

time to his bed. During this illness, he had re-

course for amusement to the books contained in

the circulating library founded by Allan Ramsay,

and he read nearly all the old romances, old plaj's,

and epic poetrj', which the libraiy contained.

After his sixteenth year his health gradually im-

proved, and being designed for the bar, he at-

tended the lectures on civil and municipal law in

the universitj', as well as those on llistorJ^ On

May 15, 1786, he was apprenticed to his fatlier as

a writer to the signet, to enable him to acquire a

technical knowledge of his profession. About

this period he applied himself to the study of for-

eign languages, and soon made a considerable

proficiency in Italian, French, and especially

German. He passed advocate July 10, 1792,

and in the course of time obtained a tolerable

practice at the bar.

In 1796 his first publication, a thin quarto,

made its appearance, witliout his name, being a

translation of two of Btirger's Ballads, entitled

'Leonore,' and 'Tlie AVild Huntsman.' The suc-

cess of this work was by no means flattering, the

translator having distributed so many copies among

his friends as materially to injure the sale. In tlie

spring of 1797 his loyal feelings were gratified by

his being made quarter-master-general of the Ed-

inburgh corps of volunteer cavalry. In December

of that year he married Miss Charlotte Margaret

Carpenter, a young French lady of good parent-

age and some fortune, daughter of a gentleman of

Lyons, whom he had accidentally met in the pre-

ceding autumn, while on an excursion to Gilsland

Wells in Cumberland. Early in 1799 he pub-

lislied at London ' Goetz of Berlichingen,' a tra-

gedy, translated from the German of Goethe.

The ballad called ' Glenfinlas' was his first origi-

nal poem. His next was 'The Eve of St. Joim,'

the scene of which was at Smailholm Tower.

Having, on his marriage, taken up his residence

at Lasswade, a village south of Edinburgh, he was

accustomed occasionally to make what he called

"raids" into Liddesdale, for the purpose of col-

lecting the ballad poetry of that romantic district.

He not only visited many of the scenes alluded to

in the metrical narratives, but gathered all the

local anecdotes and legends preserved by tradition

among the peasantrj' ; and of the extraordinary

retentiveness of liis memory at this period several

interesting proofs have been recorded. In De-

cember 1799 he obtained, through the influence of

the duke of Buccleuch, the crown appointment of

sheriff-depute of Selku-ksliire, to which was at-

tached a salary of £300 a-year, wlien he removed

to Ashestiel, on the banks of the Tweed. His

first publication of any note was ' The Minstrelsy

of the Scottish Border,' consisting of his Liddes-

dale collections, and various other contributions
;

which work issued from the printing-press of Mr.

James Ballantyne of Kelso, in 1802, in two vol-

umes 8vo. In the ensuing year he added a third

volume, consisting chiefly of original ballads, by

himself and others. In 1804 he published the

ancient minstrel tale of ' Sir Tristrem,' said to

have been composed by Thomas the Kliymer

in the 13th centur}', the notes to which showed

the extent of his acquirements in metrical anti-

quities.

In 1805 appeared his first decidedly original

poem, 'The Lay of the Last Slinstrel ;' the poeti-

cal beauty and descriptive power of which, with

the singular construction of the verse, at once at-

tracted public attention, and secured for the work

an extensive popularity. This work produced to

him £600. In the spring of 180G, on the retire-

ment of Mr. George Home, he obtained tlie rever-

sionary appointment of one of the principal clerks

in the court of session, the duties of which he per-

formed without salary till the death of his prede-

cessor in 1812, when he became entitled to the

full emoluments, which usually amounted to

£1,200 a-year. In 1808 he brought out his sec-

ond considerable poem, 'Marmion,' for which he
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received from Constable a thousand pounds, a

sum required by tlic autlior, it is said, for " tlie

special purpose of assisting a friend ^\ll0 was tlicn

distressed." A few wcclis tlicreafter lie ])rodiu:ed,

ill eighteen volumes, 'Tiie Worlds of John Diy-

deji ; illustrated with Notes, Ilistorieal, Critical,

and Explanatory, and a Life of the Author,' price

nine guineas. In the .same year lie edited ' Cap-

tain George Carleton's !\Icmoirs ;' Strutt'.s ' Queen

IIoo Hall,' a romance left unfinished by the death

of tlie author; and 'Ancient Times,' a drama.

In 1809 lie assisted Sir. Clifibrd in editing 'Tlie

State Papers and Letters of Sir Ralph Sadler,' in

two vols. 4to, with a life and historical notes. In

the same year he cuiti-iliutcd simihir assistance

to a new edition of Lord Somers's Collection of

Tracts, -which appeared in twelve volumes 4to,

and also edited ' Tlie IMemou's of Sir Robert Ca-

rj-.' Jlr. Ballantyne liaving removed to Edin-

burgh, commenced printer on a large scale, in

partnership, as has been proved by subsequent

disclosures, -witli Scott, wlio had become concern-

ed with the prose works above mentioned from

liis connection w ith Rallantync. Ilo now engaged

as a contributor to the Edinburgh Annual Regis-

ter, started by ]Mr. SoutliC}-, the first volume of

which for 1808 nppcai-cd in 1810 in two ]iarts. It

was conducted in a spirited manner for a few

years, but not meeting with adequate support,

was evcnturiliy discontinued.

In June 1810 lie published his ' Lady of the

Lake,' suggested by tlie deep impressions which

liad been left on his mind by the romantic sceneiy

of Perthshire. This poem, which is certainly one

of the finest specimens of his poetical genius, met

with extraordinary success. In 1811 appeared

' Tiie Vision of Don Roderick,' and in 1813 ' Rokc-

b}',' the reception of which was decidedly unfa-

vourable. To retrieve his laurels, he publislied,

in 1814, 'The Lord of the Isles;' the sale of which

was by no means encouraging. The public, be-

come familiar with his style, Iiad ceased to be

captivated by it, and, with jn'overbial fickleness,

had transferred their homage to the more impas-

sioned muse of I'.yron, now rising into the ascend-

ant. To test his popularity, lie published two

poems anonymously, entitled ' Harold the Daunt-

less,' and 'The Bridal of Tiierniain,' and the re-

in.

coptiou of these pieces convinced liim that his

reputation as a poet was on the wane.

About 1805 lie had commenced a prose romance,

descriptive of the passing manners and customs

of Scotland, which circumstances prevented liim

from completing at the time. "I had been a

good deal in the Highlands," lie snys, "at a time

when they were much less accessible, and much

less visited, than thej' have been of late years,

and was acquainted with many of the old warriors

of 1745, who were, like most veterans, easily in-

duced to fight their battles over again, for the

benefit of a willing listener like myself. It natu-

rally occurred to me tliat the ancient traditions

and high spirit of a people, who living in a civil-

ized age and country retained so strong a tincture

of manners belonging to an early period of soci-

ety, must aflord a subject favourable for romance,

if it should not prove a curious tale marred in the

telling. It was with some idea of this kind that

about the year 1805, I tlircw together about one-

third part of the first volume of Waverley. It

was advertised to be published under the name of

' "\^^avcrle^, or 'Tis Fift}- Years since,' a title after-

wards altered to 'Tis Sixty Years since', that the

actual date of publication might be made to corre-

spond with the period in Avhich the scene was laid.

Having proceeded as far, I think, as the seventh

chapter, I showed my work to a critical friend,

whose opinion was unfavourable, and having some

poetical reputation, I was unwilling to risk the

loss of it by attempting a new style of composi-

tion. I therefore threw aside the work I liad

commenced, without either reluctance or remon-

strance. This portion of the manuscript was laid

aside in the drawers of an old writing-desk, which,

on my first coming to reside at Abbotsford, in

1811, was placed in a lumber garret, and entirely

forgotten. Thus, though I sometimes, among

other literary avocations, turned my thoughts to

the continuation of tlie romance which I had com-

menced, yet, as I could not find what I had al-

ready written, after searching such repositories as

were witliin my reach, and was too indolent to at-

tempt to write it anew from memory, I as often

laid aside all thoughts of that nature." Sir Wal-

ter then mentions two circumstances which parti-

cularly fixed in liis mind the wish to continue

2 D
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this work to a close—namely, the success of Miss

Edgeworth's delineations of Irish life, and liis be-

ing emplo}-ed in 1808 to finish the romance of

Queen IIoo Hall, left imperfect by Mr. Strutt.

"Accident," he continues, "at length threw the

lost sheets in my way. I happened to want some

fishing tackle for the use of a guest, when it oc-

curred to me to searcli the old writing-desk al-

ready mentioned, in which I used to keep articles

of that nature. I got access to it with some difii-

cult}^ and in looking for lines and flies, the long-

lost manuscript presented itself. I immediately

set to work to complete it according to my origi-

nal purpose." It was, in 1814, published anony-

mously, under the title of ' Waverley, or 'Tis

Sixty Years Since.'

The appearance of this memorable romance

makes an epoch in the history of modern litera-

ture. Its progress at the outset was slow, but

after two or tliree months it made its way to a

higli place in public estimation, and in a short

time the sale amounted to about twelve thousand

copies. Some time previously he liad removed

'I'ith his fumilj' to a small estate which he had

nirchased near the ruins of Melrose Abbey, and

to which he gave the name of Abbotsford, instead

of Cartley-Hole, which it formerly possessed.

Here he erected a mansion-house, and employed

his leisure in the improvement of his property by

planting and farming. Viewing the character of

a proprietor of land as more wortiiy of attainment

than that of a mere author, however successful,

it was tlie great object of his ambition to be able

to leave an estate to his descendants ; and for this

purpose he laboured incessantly on those delight-

ful fictions which now followed each other in rapid

succession from his pen. To Waverlej' succeed-

ed, in 1815, 'Guy Mannering;' in 1810, 'The

Antiquary,' and the first series of ' The Tales of

my Landlord,' containing 'The Black Dwarf and

'Old Mortality;' in 1818, 'Roy Roy,' and the

second series of ' The Tales of my Landlord,' con-

taining ' The Heart of Mid-Lothian ;

' and in 1819,

the third series of ' The Tales of my Landlord,'

comprising ' The Bride of Lammermoor,' and ' A
Legend of Montrose.' In 1820 he published his

chivalric romance of ' Ivanlioe,' and in the course

of the same year appeared 'The Monaster}^' and

'The Abbot,' the latter being a sequel to the for-

mer, and both relating to the period of Scottish

history comprising the reign of the unfortunate

Mary, and the regency of her brother, the earl of

Moray. In only one instance had the author

permitted his own prejudices to jar upon the feel-

ings of liis countrymen, by giving, in the tale of

' Old Mortality,' a somewhat harshly drawn, and

highly coloured, delineation of the Coveuanteis.

This led to an admirable series of papers by Dr.

M'Crie in the Edinburgh Christian Instructor,

which were afterwards collected and published in

the form of a pamphlet. Sir Walter, though the

child of Presbyterian parents, was himself an

Episcopalian.

On the accession of George TV., Mr. Scott was,

March 1820, created a baronet. In the beginning

of 1821 appeared his romance of English history

entitled ' Kenilworth,' which completed the num-

ber of twelve volumes, all published, if not en-

tirely written, within a year. In 1822 he pro-

duced 'The Pirate,' and 'The Fortunes of Nigel
;'

in 1823 'Peveril of the Peak,' and ' Quentin Dur-

ward;' in 1824 'St. Ronan's Well,' and 'Red-

gauntlet ;' in 1825 ' Tales of the Crusaders ;' in

1826 'Woodstock;' in 1827 'Chronicles of the

Canongate,' first series ; the second series of which

appeared in the following year; in 1829 'Ann of

Gierstein ;' and in 1831 a fourth series of ' Tales

of my Landlord,' containing ' Count Robert of

Paris,' and ' Castle Dangerous.' The whole num-

ber of his novels extended to seventy-four vol-

umes; and, besides contributing to the Edinburgh

Review, daring the first j-ears of its existence,

and afterwards to the Quarterly Review, he wrote

for the Supplement of the sixth edition of the En-

cyclopedia Britannica the articles Cliivahy, Ro-

mance, and the Drama. In 1814 he edited the

works of Swift, in 19 vols., with a Life of the

Author, and fin-nished an elaborate introductory

essay to the ' Border Antiquities,' a work in two

vols, quarto. In 1815 he made a tour of France

and Belgium, and, on his return, published 'Paul's

Letters to his Kinsfolk,' and a poem styled 'The

Field of Waterloo,' which he had visited in his

route. In the same year he joined Mr. Robert

Jameson and Mr. Ileniy Weber in composing a

quarto volume on Icelandic antiquities. In 1818
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lie wrote one or two prcse articles for 'Tlie Salc-

Room,' a short-lived periodical started by liis

fi-ieud Mr. John Ballaiitvne. lu 1819 lie i)ub-

lislicd an account of the Regalia of Scotland, and

furnished the letter-press to tlie work entitled

' I'roviucial Antiiiiiitics and ricturesque Scenery

of Scotland.' His dramatic poem of 'Ilalidon

Ilill' ajipeared in 1822; and, in the succeeding;

j'car, he contributed a smaller piece, under the

title of 'MacDuifs Cross,' to a collection of Jo-

anna Baillie. His last attempts in this species of

composition, 'The Doom of Devorrjoil,' and 'The

Aucliindrane Tragedy,' were brought out in one

volume in 1830.

On George the Fourth's arrival in Scotland in

1822, Sir Walter was commissioned by the ladies

of Scotland to present an elegant jew elled cross of

St. Audreu- to his majesty, as a token of welcome
;

and in the whole proceedings connected with that

auspicious event he was a prominent actor. In

1825 he visited Ireland, where he was received

witii every mark of distinction. 'J'iic freedom of the

guild of merchants in Dublin was conferred on

him, and soon after he was pi-esented by Trinity

college with the honorary degree of LL.D.

In January 1S2G the publishing house of Con-

stable and Co. was announced to be bankrupt,

which led to the insolvency of Ballantyne and

Co., with both of which firms Sir A^'alter was

connected. It then became known that, by bill

transactions and other liabilities, he had rendered

himself responsible for debts to the amount of

£120,000, of which not above one-half were ac-

tually incurred on his own account. This unex-

pected, and to any otiier man, overwhelming dis-

aster he encountered ^\ith dignilied and manly

intrepidity. On meeting the creditors he declared

his determination, if life and health were granted

him, of paying off every shilling, and asked only

for lime to enable him to do so. He insured his

life in favour of his creditors for £22,000 ; sold

his town house and furniture, and signed a trust-

deed over his own effects at Abbotsford, including

an obligation to pay iu cash a certain sum yearly

until the debts were liquidated. On the marriage

of his eldest son to Miss Jubson of Lochore, Ab-

botsford itself had been secured in reversion to

his son. Oil the 15th of the subsequent ^lay.

Lady Scott died ; and on Sir Walter's return to

Ldiuburgh, in the end of that month, he estab

-

lished himself in thirtl-rale lodgings in St. Da-

^•id's Street. He then set himself calmly down to

the stupendous task of reducing, b3' his own un-

aided exertions, the enormous load of debt for

which he had become responsible. Several disin-

terested offers of assistance were made to liim bj'

various persons, but these he steadily declined.

The political letters which in the sj)ring of this

year he published under the signature of Sir Ma\-

aclii ]\lalagi owthei-, were the means of averting

from Scotland that change in the monetary sys-

tem which had such a disastrous effect upon Eng-

huul ; and this is not the least of the benefits

which his writings confei'red npon his native

country. The exposure of Constable's afi'airs ren-

dered indispensable the divulgement of the secret

of the authorship of Waverley, if secret it could

still be called; and the announcement was ac-

cordingly made by "the Great Unknown" him-

self, at the first anniversary dinner of the Edin-

burgh Theatrical Fund Association, in Februarj-

1827.

At the time of the bankruptcy Sir Walter was

engaged on a 'Life of Napoleon ;' and in the au-

tumn of 182G, accompanied by his younger

daughter Anne, he \ isited Paris, to obtain certain

materials for the work, of an historical and local

nature, which he could only procure in the French

capital. On this occasion he was received with

distinguished kindness by the reigning monarch,

Charles X. ' The Life of Napoleon' appeared in

nine volumes in the summer of 1827, and is said

to have produced to its author about £12,000.

This, with sums dei-ived from other sources, ena-

bled him to pav a dividend of Gs. 8d. to his credi-

tors. About the same time the copyright of all

his past novels was bought, at public auction, by

Mr. Robert Cadell, at £8,400, for the purpose of

being republished in a cheap and uniform series

of volumes, illustrated by notes and prefixes from

the jien of the author. For his literary aid Sir

Walter was to have half tiie profits. The new

edition began to appear in 1829, and the sale was

very extensive.

In November 1828 Sir Walter published the

fii>t part of his Juvenile History of Scotland, un-



I

SCOTT, 420 SIR AVALTER.

der the title of 'Tales of a Grandfather,' being

addressed to liis grandson, John Hugh Lockhart,

under the name of Hugh Littlcjohn, Esq. In the

following j'car appeared the second, and in 1830

the third and concluding series of that work. In

the latter 3-ear he also contributed a ' Histor}' of

Scotland,' in 2 vols., to ' Lardner's Cabinet Cy-

clopaedia ;' and ' Letters on Demonology and

Witchcraft,' to the Family Library. In 1831 he

added to his ' Tales of a Grandfather' a uniform

series on French Historj'. In the same year two

sermons, which he had m-itten for a young cleri-

cal friend, were published in London, and met

with an extensive sale. The profits of these vari-

ous publications enabled him to pay a farther

dividend of 3s. in the pound, which, but for the

vast accumulation of interest, would have reduced

his debts to nearly one-half. Of £54,000 which

had now been paid, all except about £7,000 had

been produced by his own literary exertions. He

had, besides, paid up the premium of the policy

upon his life; and to mark their high sense of his

honourable conduct, his creditors presented him

with the librar}', manuscripts, curiosities, and

plate, at Abbotsford, which had once been his own.

In November 1830 he retired from his office of

principal clerk of session, with the superannuation

allowance usually given after twenty-three years'

service. Earl Grey, the then prime minister, of-

fered to grant him the full salar\- ; but he declined

to accept of such a favour from one to whom he

was opposed in politics. During the succeeding

winter he was attacked by the symptoms of gra-

dual paralysis, a disease hereditary in his fami!}-.

His contracted limb became weaker and more

painful, and his utterance began to be affected.

During the summer of 1831 he grew gradually

worse. It was now obvious that he had over-

tasked his strength, and his physicians forbade all

mental exertion, but he could not be restrained

altogether from his literary labours. In the au-

tumn a visit to Italj' was recommended ; and

through the kind offices of Captain Basil Hall, a

passage to Malta was readily obtained for him in

his majesty's ship t1ie Barham, then fitting out for

that port. He was with difficulty prevailed on to

leave Scotland, but yielded at length to the en-

treaties of his friends, and, accompanied by his

eldest son and his daughter Anne, he embarked

at Portsmouth on the 27th October. His health

seemed to be improved by the vo3'age, and on the

27th December he landed at Naples, where he was

received b}'' the king and his court with the most

flattering honours. In April he proceeded to

Rome, and afterwards visited Tivoli, Albani, and

Frescati. His fast decaying strength, however,

warned him to return to his native land, and he

hurried rapidly homewards. During the joumc}'

he sustained another serious attack of apoplexy,

and arrived in London in nearly the last stage of

ph}'sical and mental prostration. After remaining

there three weeks, in accordance with his own

earnest desire, he was convej'ed by the steam

packet to Newhaven, near Edinburgh, and on

July 11, 1832, he reached once more his favourite

residence of Abbotsford. Mr. Lockhart relates,

that as the carriage descended the vale of the Ga-

la, he roused himself to a momentary conscious-

ness, and b}' degrees recognised the features of

that familiar landscape. After lingering in a state

of insensibility till mortification had commenced

in different parts of his mortal frame, he expired

without a struggle, September 21, 1832, and was

interred amidst the ruins of Dryburgh Abbej% his

burial-place there being in right of his grandmo-

ther, Mrs. Barbara Scott of Sandyknowe, daugh-

ter of Mr. Thomas Haliburton of Newmains. A
magnificent monument to his memory, from a de-

sign of Mr. George Kemp, was, some years after

his death, erected in Prince's Street, Edinburgh,

for which collections were made in all parts of the

country. A very handsome pillar, surmounted

with a statue, was also erected in George's Square,

Glasgow. In the market-place of Selkirk there is

also a statue of him in freestone. The Memoirs

of Sir Walter Scott, in 7 vols. Bvo, by his son-in-

law, Mr. Lockhart, were published in 1837-8.

He left two sons and two daughters, none of

whom survived him manj"- j^ears. His elder son,

Sir Walter Scott, second baronet of Abbotsford,

was born in July 1801, and very early gave indi-

cations of a bold and manly spirit. In 1818 he

was made a cornet in the corps of the Selkirkshire

yeomanry cavalry, and all his studies took tiie

direction of a military life. The following j-ear

he obtained a commission as cornet in the IStli
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hussars. In ISiil, his reghiient being one ol' sev-

eral about that time to be reduced, he quitted

Enghuid for Berlin to complete his military edu-

cation there, and returned in July 1823. lie af-

terwards sjieiit a brief pei'iod, for the same jiur-

pose, at the Eoyal i\Iilitary College, Saudiiurst,

and ere long he obtained a commission as lieuten-

ant in the 15tli or king's hussars, in which distin-

guished corps his father lived to see him major.

On 3d February 1825, ho married Miss Jobson,

the heiress of Lochore, in Fife, but had no issue.

In 1839 he became lieut.-col. of the 15th hussars,

and died atsea,olf the Cape of Good Hope, 8th Feb-

ruary 1817, of dysentery, on his return to England

from IMadras. He was the last surviving child of

the author of Waverloy. His brother, Charles, a

clerk in the Foreign oilice, was attaclicd to Sir John

M'NciU's embassy in Persia, and died at Teheran

in November 1841. The elder daughter, Sophia,

married in April 1820, Mr. John Gibson Lock-

liart, advocate, editor of the Quarterly Keview,

and died in Jlay 1837 ; the younger, Anne, did

not long survive her f.ither, d3 iug, unmarried, in

Juno 1833. Of Mr. Lockhart's two sons, men-

tion is made at page G87 of vol. ii. of this work.

The elder, John llugli Lockhart, the ''Hugh Lit-

tlojohn"' of U'ak's of a Grandfather, always a deli-

cate cliild, died in 1832, at the age of eleven.

The younger, Walter Scott Lockhart, a cornet, ICth

lancers, on succeeding to Abbotsford, assumed the

additional name of Scott, and died, unmarried,

January 10, 18.j3, at tlie early age of 27. His sis-

ter, Cliarlotte, married in August 1847, James

Kobert Hope, Ka^., Queen's Counsel, a Roman

Catholic gentleman, who, in her rigiit, on her ob-

taining Abbotsl'ord, also assumed the name of

Scott. IMrs. Hope Scott died in Oct. 1858, and

January 7, 18G1, i\Ir. Hope Scott married Lady

Victoria Howard, eldest daughter of the 13th duke

of Norfolk.

SCOTT, Michael, author of 'Tom Cringle's

Log,' born in Edinburgli, Oct. 30, 1789, received

his education in that city. In 1806 he went to

Jamaica. In 1822 he returned tinally to Scotland,

where ho engaged iu commercial speculations, and

composed the popular and entertaining sketches,

which first appeared in Blackwood's Magazine

under the title of 'Tom Cringle's Log,' and which

have since been collected, and published in two

volumes, and also in orie volume, forming part of

the series of Blackwood's Standard Novels. Not-

withstanding the great interest and curiosity

which this series of papers excited, i\Ir. Scott

preserved his incognito to the last. He died at

Glasgow on 7th November 1835 ; and it was not

till after his death that the sons of Mv. Black-

wood were aware of the name of one who had so

long and so successfully contributed to their cele-

brated magazine.

SCOTT, David, U.S.A., a painter of singular

genius, was born, on 10th October 180G, in one

of those high ancient houses which, before the

great fire of 1824, formed the east side of the Par-

liament Square, Edinburgh. He was tlie fifth son

of Kobert Scott, an eminent engraver, who for

upwards of half-a-ceiitury carried on the most

extensive business in that department of art in

Scotland. John Burnet, the celebrated engraver,

Douglas, the well-known miniature painter, Stew-

art, the engraver of Sir "William Allan's 'Circas-

sian Captives,' and Ilorsburgli, the eminent por-

trait engraver, and others who subsequently

distinguished themselves in art, were among his

pujiils. At a very early age, as is the case with

all who rise to distinction as artists, the tendency

of David Scott's mind was developed, and the ru-

diments of his art were supplied by the sketches

and prints whicli were so abundant in his father's

dwelling. He was educated at the High school

of his native city, and, besides making considerable

progress in the classics, acquired French and Ital-

ian. "While yet a boy he designed and engraved

illustrations for various publications. He soon,

however, turned his attention from engraving to

painting; and in April 1827, with the aid of some

other young artists, he established the first Life

academy in Edinburgh. His first exhibited pic-

ture, in 1828, 'The Hopes of early genius di.spclled

by Death,' gave great promise, while it also fore-

shadowed his own fate. During the session of the

same year, he studied anatomy in Dr. IMonro's

class iu the university of Edinburgh. Several large

pictures painted by him at this period indicated the

possession of high imaginative faculties, and were

marked by a loftiness of aim and a depth of

meaning which all his work showed, in a greater
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or less degree. Among them were ' Lot and liis

Daiigliters,' and 'Fingal and the Spirit of Lodi.'

In 1821 lie had commenced drawing in the

Trustees' Acadeni}', Edinburgli, then nnder the

direction of Andrew Wilson. His portrait is

subjoined.

In 1832 he visited Italy, taking the Louvre in

his way, returning homeward by Lyons. He re-

mained for two years in Italy, visiting every city

remarkable for Its collections, and in letters to his

brother, gave expression to his feelings on tlie

works of the old masters. His own carefully kept

journals also contain many valuable and deeply

appreciative remarks on the various pictures which

he had seen. He did not, like the generality of

artists, make elaborate copies of celebrated works,

but only small sketches of what he conceived ex-

cellent in design. At Rome, where he remained

for nearly a year, he commenced his large picture

of ' Family Discord—the household Gods destroy-

ed,' which, with 'Sappho and Anacreon,' and a

scries of impersonations, called ' Morning, Noon,

Evening, and Night,' were exhibited in the rooms

of the Scottish Academ}'. For the Roman Cath-

olic chapel of St. Patrick's, Edinburgh, he was

employed to paint an altar piece, the ' Taking

down from the Cross.' This splendid painting was

engraved, and was the first from which copies were

circulated among the subscribers to the Association

for the promotion of the Fine Arts in Scotland.

The works which, year after year, Mr. Scott

exhibited on the walls of the Scottish Accademy

were singular and wonderful manifestations of

genius. But from his peculiar views of art, and

especially from his having conceived an ideal of

his own as to colour, they were unattractive to

the great body of picture-buyers, however much

they may have been gazed upon with admiration

and awe, by those who were able to penetrate

bej'ond the somewhat forbidding aspect of most of

his creations. Among his numerous productions

the following may be mentioned:

Nimroil, tlie Miglity Hunter.

S.irpedon CMTied by Sleep and Death.

Wallace defending Scotland.

Mary, Queen of Scots, receiving her Death warrant.

,Iane Shore found dead in the Street.

Adiilles addressing the manes of Patroclus.

Orestes pursued liy the Furies.

Christian entertained by Faith, Hope, and Cliarity.

Paracelsus the Alchemist.

Merry Wives of Windsor played before Queen Elizabeth.

The Baron in peace.

'I'lie Vintager.

Adam and Eve singing their Jlorning Hymn.

Glo'ster conveyed to prison at Calais.

Hope, passing over the horizon of Despair.

The Triumph of Love.

Richard the Third receiving the children of Edward IV.

The dead rising at the Crucifixion.

Peter the Hermit addressing the Crusaders.

The Challenge.

The Baptism of Christ

The Death of the Red Cuming.

Vasoo de G.iraa encountered by the Spirit of the Cape.

'J'hese were all upon a gigantic scale. Man}' of

his smaller pictures are full of interest, such as,

Dante .and Beatrice.

Ave Jlaria.

Time and Love.

Ariel and Caliban.

Love whetting his Darts.

Beauty wounded hy Love.

Ascension of Christ.

The Abbot of Misrule, or Christmas -Mummers.

Queen >Ln-y at E.xecution.

Oberon and Puck listening to the Jlermaid's song.

Machiavelli and tlie Beggar.

The Widow's Memories.

The Crucifixion.

Racliel weeping for her children.

Puck fleeing before the Dawn.

Mercury trying the Lyre.
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All j\Ir. Scolt'.s works arc chnrarteriscd by

grandeur of concciitioii, and ]io\vcr and boldness

of execution. The grand and not the bcautifid

was his forte, and for the sake of the iiiysterions,

he frequently sacriliced the pleasing, lie \\'as also

sometimes unhappy iu his clioice of suljjects. The

love of the quaint was strongly dcvelojied in liim,

as it often is in minds of great de|)th and serious-

ness. In the region of the spiritual and super-

natural lie had no e(iual in art, and his happiest

efforts were those which relate to the jnirely

superhuman. He painted xvvy few portraits.

His greatest Avork, ' Vasco de (Jama encountered

by the S[)ii'it of the Cai)c,' employed him some of

the latest years of Ids life. A public subscription,

begun before his death, was set on foot for the

purchase of this ])icture, for the hall of the Trinity

house, Leith, to \vliich it was removed.

As an art-crilic, Mv. Scott showed unusual

learning and great energy of thou^dit and style.

In a careful examination of the best works of the

great masters, in the collections of Eome and the

other Italian states and cities, he had acquired

that profound knowledge of the principles of art

ivhich throughout his after-life guided his practice

and distinguished both his jiaintings and his wv'i-

tings. To Blackwood's IMagazine in 1810 (Nos.

280, 284, 291, 298, and ,305) he contributed an

able series of papers on the characterislics of the

great masters in connexion with their schools.

Into the competition for decorating the new

houses of parliament \villi pictorial subjects, he

entered with enthusiasm. He prepared two car-

toons of large dimensions, the one representing

"the Scottish people under AVallacc, stemming

the tide of Engli-li aggression, at the battle of

Falkirk," the other "Sir Francis Drake on his

quarter- deck, viewing the destruction of the Span-

ish Armada." lioih were exhibited with the nu-

merous others, but neither was deemed wortliy of

a prize. For the second competition of frescos,

lie sent in two otlier works, but was again unsuc-

cessful. This second failure visibl}' aflected him.

Tall and large-limbed, he was far from being

Strong, and his untiring application to his art, and

constancy of study and labour, conil)incd with

many bitter disappointments, contributed to un-

denniiie his constitution. After an illness of

several weeks' duration, he died, unmarried, at

Edinburgh, March 5, 1849, at the age of 42. He

was simple and reserved in his manners, and in

his habits somewhat auslere. At the time of his

death, he was engaged n]>on some etching illus-

trations to 'The Architecture of the Heavens,'

by Professor Nichol of Glasgow, afterwards pub-

lished. In JannaiT 18:31 he Iiad published a work

of a singularly abstract description called " I\Iono-

grams of i\Ian," a series of outline engravings,

what may well be called nietaphj'sical enigmas,

and at a later time a series of etchings from the

' Ancient Slarincr,' in which he thoroughly entered

into the spiiit and meaning of that remarkable

poem. A series of forty 'Illustrations to the Pil-

grim's Progress' wdiich he left behind him, were,

in 1851, published by IMcssrs. A. Fnllarton & Co.

His life. In- his brother, also an artist, was pub-

lished at Edinburgh in 1850, in one vol. 8vo, under

the title of 'llemoir of David Scott, i;.S..\., con-

taining his Journal in Italy, Kotes on Art, and

other papers, with seven illustrations. By AVilliam

15. Scott.' The wovk contains also selections from

his poetry.

ScouGAL, a Eurnarrie deiivej fVoni lands of that n.ime in

ITaddingtoiisliirf'.

Of this sunianip there were two eminent painters in Scot-

land, called tlie cider and the younger .Scougal. The former

flourished in the reign of Charles II., and imitated Sir Peter

I.ely in his drapery. He was veiy successful in likenesses,

ami tliere are portraits by liim in the possession of many old

Scottish families. He had <i son, George, whom he bred a

painter. The latter was known by the name of the younger

Scougal, but as an artist he was greatly inferior to liis father.

For some time after the Revolution, he was the only portrait

painter in Scotland, and his great amount of business seems

to have caused him to adopt an ineon'ect aiul slovenly man-

ner, totally devoid of expression. His carelessness occasioned

many complaints amongst his employers, but his contemptu-

ous answer was that they might seek another; well knowing

that there was none to be found at that time in Scotland.

Of the family of Scougal of that ilk, was Patrick Scougal,

who was bishop of Aberdeen from IGGl to 1G82. He was

the son of Sir John Scougal of Scougal, and in 1G3G lie

became minister, under the episcopal .system, of the parish

of Dairsie, Fifeshire. In ]G45 he was translated to I.eucliars

in the same county. In 1C60 he got the living of Salton in

Haddingtonshire, and on tOth April lGG-1 he was consecrated

bishop of Aberdeen. Keith s.ays he was a man of great

worth, and liaillie calls liim " a good and noble scholar." He

died in February 1G82, at the age of 73. He was one of the

earlv patrons of Bishop Burnet, who has commemorated his

piotv and learning. A portrait of Bishop Scougal is pre-

served in King's college, Aberdeen, of wliich he was chancel-

lor. An engraving of it will be found in Pinkerton's Galleiy

I

of Scottish Portraits. There is also a curious sculptured fig-
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nre of liim in the cathedral of Old JIachar. He miirried

Margaret Wemyss, a Fifeshire lady, and had by her three

sons and two daughters. .lolin, the eldest son, was com-

missary of Aberdeen. Henry, tlie second son, was the author

of the work, called ' Tlie Life of God in the Soul of JIan,'

a memoir of whom follows ; and James, the youngest son,

succeeded his eldest brotlier as commissary of Aberdeen,

and was in 1G96 appointed one of the judges of the court of

session, under the title of Lord Whiteliill. He appears also

to have studied medicine, as he translated from the Frencli a

work on Anatomy, and published a treatise called ' The

Country Physician.' Katherine, the elder daughter, married

Alexander Scroggie, bishop of Argyle ; and the younger, Joan,

Patrick Sibbald, one of the ministers of Aberdeen. Bishop

Scougal's brother, John, was also a lord of session from ITtli

Fehraary 1661, to January 1672, under tlio title of Lord

AVhitekirk.

SCOUGAL, Henry, an eminent religious wii-

ter, the second son of Patrick Scongal, bisliop of

Aberdeen, above mentioned, was born about tlie

end of June 1G50. His birthplace is usually sup-

posed to liave been S.ilton in East Lothian, but it

is more likely to have been Leucliars, in Fife,

ivhere Iiis father was minister from 1G45 to 1659.

He early displayed great progress in learning. Of

a sweet and mild temper, he mingled little in tlie

plays and diversions usual among boys, but as liis

biographer, Dr. Gairden, assures us, " employed

liis time in reading, prayer, and such serious

thoughts as that age was capable of." It is said

tliat liis choice of the ministry was determined by

his having one day taken up the Bible, and open-

ing it at random, the first words that caught his

eyes were these :
" By what means shall a young

man learn to purify his way? By taking heed

thereto, according to thy word." He was educat-

ed at King's college, Aberdeen, and, besides Latin

and Greek, he acquired Hebrew and other orien-

tal languages, and obtained an acquaintance with

history, mathematics, and logic. He took his de-

gree in 1G68, and was immediately selected to

teach the class of one of the regents who was oc-

casionally absent. In the following year, at the

age of nineteen, he became professor of philosophy

in the same university ; and according to Dr.

Gairden, he was the first in Aberdeen, if not in

Scotland, who introduced the philosophy of Bacon

into his class. From his youth and the mildness

of his temper, he docs not seem to have been able

to preserve due authority over the students, and as

some disorders arose in his class, the ringleaders

were expelled. In 1673, he resigned his chair,

and was appointed to the pastoral charge of the

parish of Auchterless, Aberdeenshire. The year

after, however, he was chosen uuanimousl}' by the

clergy of the diocese, to fill the chair of theology

in lOng's college. In compliance with the cus-

tom of the age, he printed a thesis on his acces-

sion to this chair, entitled 'De Objecto cultus Re-

ligiosi.' He died on the 27th June 1678, in his

28th j^ear. He was the author of an eloquent

and able work of practical piety, entitled 'The

Life of God in the Soul of Man, or the Nature and

Excellency of the Christian Religion,' first pub-

lished without his name, in 1677, with a preface

by Bishop Burnet, and several times reprinted.

A French translation of it was published at the

Hague in 1722. In 1726, an edition appeared

with ' Nine Discourses on important subjects,' by

himself, and a sermon preached at his funeral by

George Gairden, D.D.

Scougal is said to have died of consumption,

but Pinkerton, in his own sarcastic way, quotes a

tradition which afiirms that he had uufortunatel}''

become attached to a married lady at Aberdeen,

and '"died in the struggles of virtue and passion."

He adds, " He had grown so corpulent in his re-

treat, the steeple of the Cathedral church of St.

Machar at Old Aberdeen, that his executors were

forced to extract the body tl:"~''.gh a window."

He was buried in the chapel of King's college,

where a tablet of black marble, with an inscrip-

tion in Latin, was erected to his memory. He

left several manuscripts in Latin, particularly 'A

Short System of Ethics or Moral Philosophy ;' ' A
Preservative against the Artifices of the Romish

Missionaries,' and an unfinished treatise ' On the

Pastoral Cure ;' besides some ' Occasional Medi-

tations,' which were not published till 1740. For

the cathedral of Aberdeen he composed 'the Morn-

ing and Evening service.' He bequeathed his

library to King's college, with five thousand merks

to increase the salary of the professor of divinity

in that university. A portrait of Scougal is pre-

served in the college hall. It has been engraved

in Pinkerton's Iconographia Scotica.

ScRiMGEOUR, a surname first bestowed on one Sir Alex-

ander Carron, a brave knight who, in the first year of Ale.x-

ander L (1107), signalized his valour, says Crawford, (Pecr-

arje, p. 115,) against the northern rebels who attempted no

less than the murder of the king, for which he had the nama
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changed to Scrinij;eoiir, or the Haniy Fighter. 'Wlierclore

he had a speci.il grant from the king to Iiimself and the licirs

male of his body to he liereditary standard-bearers to the

kings of Scotland, and for liis coat of arms—Gules, a lion

rampant, or, in the dexter paw, a crooked sword proper, and

the Latin word " Dissipate," for his motto.

It has been already stated in a previous part of this work,

(see article Dundici;, earl of, vol. ii. p. 99.) that one of the

heroic associates of Sir William Wallace was Sir .Mcsander

Scrymseour, hereditary standard-he.arer of Scotland, on whom

lie conferred the office of constable of Dnndoo, and made it

liereditary in liis family. The grant of Wallace and the

Scots parliament, conferring it, is dated at Torphiclien, 29lh

JIarch, 1298. I?y this deed ho also received six ineiks of

land in the cnmpiis superior, or upper iield, of Dundee called

Upper Dudhope. If these lands had not been then in pos-

session of the crown, or the personal property of the sover-

eign, Wallace could not have granted them, but, being crown

demesne, lie had authority, as governor of the kingdom, to

alienate them. From the first constable of Dundee till the

time of John Scrimgeour, Viscount Dudhope and earl of

Dundee, there were, including the hitter, thirteen of that

family who held the offices of constable and royal standard-

bearer in .succession.

One of tlie first to declare in favour of Hobert the Brace

was Sir Alexander Scrymseour, who bore the roy.al standaril

at Bannockburn, as he had previously done, under Wallace,

at Falkirk; and for liis faithful adherence and g.allant ser-

vices that monarch bestowed upon him sundry lands .about

the burgh of Iiiverkeithing. His son, Nicholas Skyrmeshour,

obtained from the same monarch a charter of the otTice of

heredit.ary standard-bearer. Sir John Scrimgeour was killed

at the battle of Ilalidon-liill in 13.33. Alexander Scrimgeour,

the third constable of Dundee, .acquired cert.ain lands near

tliat town, and in 1378 he resigned into the hands of Robert

II. the lands of Jlilltown of Craigie, which were afterwards

given to the chapel of St. Salvator in Dundee.

His son. Sir James Scrimgeour, knight, the fourth consta-

ble in succession,

" The vanguard l^d before them .all,"

in the army of the liegent Albany, ag.ainst Donald, lord of

the Lsles, at the battle of Ilarl.aw in 1411, and was among

the slain. The ballad s.ays :

" Sir James Scrimgeour, of Dudhope, kuiclit,

Grit constable of fair Dundee.

Unto the dulefii' death was dicht;

The king's chief bannerman w.-is bo;

A valiant man of chivalrio."

Of this br.ave knight, Wyntoun, the quaint old rhyming prior

of I.oclileven, says, {Chronicle, ii. p. 4o.'i) :

" Scliere .Tames Scremyeourc of Dundee,

Comendit a famous knight was he;

The kingis bauneoure of fe,

A lord that wele audit lovit he."

James Scrvmseourc, the seventh constable of Dundee, ac-

quired from Andrew, Lord Gray, on 27th .^pril M95, the

lands of the cnmpus inferior, or lower field of Dundee, called

Lower Dudhope, with the colt silver, or custom .accruing

from young horses brought into the town for sale, which

belonged to his lordship as high sherilT of the county. Sir

James Scrimgeour, the tenth con.stable of Dundee, was, in

January lo8-l, charged to depart furlh of the realm for fa-

vouring the earl of Angus, one of the lords engaged with the

first earl of Gowrie in the raid of Kuthven. He received a
'

new charter of his estates under the great seal, dated at Ho-
lyrood-house, 25lh November 1587. In this charter, which

limited their destination, the grants made by King Alexander

I., to Sir Alexander Scrimgeour, the iirst of the r.ame, some-

times written Skirmischur, and the first knight we read of in

Scottish history (see Nishct's HeraWnj, vol. ii. App. p. 49),

as well as all subsequent grants of honours, lands, privileges,

and immunities, to him and to his heirs male, bearing the

name and arms of Scrimgeour, are conlirmed. The consta-

ble of Dundee was one of the commissioners who, in .Tune

1589, went to Denmark to conclude the negotiations as to

the marriage of James YI. with the princess Anne. In IGOl

he was one of the commissioners appointed to treat with the

English commissioners as to a union with England. He died

in 1012.

His son. Sir John Scrimgeour, was the eleventli constable

of Dundee in succession. In 1G17, when James VI. came to

Scotland, he slept a night in Sir John's castle at Dudhope.

In the parliament of 1G2I, the constable of Dundee was cho-

sen one of the lords of the articles, and in the same parlia-

ment he voted for the obnoxious five articles of Perth. He
was raised to the peerage by Charles I., by the titles of Baron

Scrimgeour of Inverkeithing and viscount of Dudhope, by

patent, dated 15th November 1C41 ; and died 7th March

1G43. John, third viscount, his grandson, was created earl

of Dundee, by patent, dated 8th September IGGO, (see Dun-
dee, earl of, vol. ii. of this work, p. 99). On his death,

without issue, in June 1GG8, his titles became extinct.

His whole estates and offices should have devolved upon

John Scrimgeour, then of Kirkton, having been entailed on

his gi'andfather, John Scrimgeour of Kirkton, and the heirs

m.ale of his body, by the charter of 1587 above mentioned,

and by a previous settlement of the estates in 1541. The
estates, however, were held to have fallen to the king as ulti-

mtts hares, and the duke of Lauderdale, then at the head of

affairs in Scotland, procured irom Charles II. a gift of the

same to his brother. Lord Hatton. Tliey afterwards came

into possession of Grali.am of Claverhouse, viscount of Dundee.

John Scrimgeour of Kirkton, first above mentioned, ap-

pears to have been the great-grandson of the fifth constable

of Dundee. He married Elizabeth, eldest daughter of James

Scrimgeour of Dudhope, the eighth constable. With her he

got the lands of Ballegarno. Dr. Alexander Scrimgeour, the

fifth from him, was professor, first of humanity, and lastly of

theology in the university of St. Andrews. His son, David

Scrimgeour of Birkhill, advocate, .and sheriff of Inverness af-

ter the abolition of the lieritable jurisdictions in 1747, mar-

ried Catherine, third daughter of Sir Alexander Wedderburn I

of Blackness, baronet, and, besides other children, had a .son,

Alexander, the eldest of the family, who succeeded, in 1778,

to the estate of Wedderburn in Forfarshire, and in conse-

quence assumed the name and arms of Wedderburn, (see

that surname).

In Burke's Landed Gentry (Supp. p. 291) it is stated that

the office of royal standard-bearer of Scotland has been

claimed at all the coronations since that of George III., for

the pui-pose of a salvo jure, by the descendants of .Tames

Scrimgeour, Esq., formerly of Foxliall, parish of Kirkliston,

Linlithgowshire, whose father married a lady named Camer-

on, of tlie family of Lochiel, and took arms for the Pretender

in 1745. By his wife, a relative of Principal Hill of the uni-

versity of St. Andrews, he had, with other children, a son,
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James Sciiingeour, wlio married Janet, youngest daugliter of

Robert Shedden of Morris Hill, Ayrshire. His eldest son,

James Scrimgeour, acting adjutant of the 11th light dra-

goons, was mortally wounded in the brilliant cavalry affair of

Fuente Giiinaldo in Portugal, during the Peninsular war.

Borne off by his comrades, he was buried with military hon-

ours. His next brother, Robert Shedden Scrimgeour, resi-

dent at Totteridge, Hertfordshire, claims to be male repre-

sentative of the Scrimgeours, hereditary standard-bearers of

Scotland and constables of Dundee. He married JIargaret,

eldest daughter of James Wilson, Esq., F.R.S., formerly pro-

fessor of anatomy to the royal college of surgeons, and many

years lecturer to the Hunterian school. Windmill Street, Lon-

don ; with issue, a son and two daughters.

A branch of the Scrimgeour family, styled of Mjtcs in

Fifeshire, held the office of liereditaiy macers and sergeants

at arms of the royal palace of Falkland. In Jlarch 148-1,

John Scrimgeour had a charter to himself and his heirs

male, of the office of macer .ind sergeant at arms, with the

lands of the Myres of Auchtermuchty. He is supposed to

have been the second son of Sir James Scrimgeour, constable

of Dundee, who was killed at the battle of Harl.-iw in

The family appears also to have possessed the office of mas-

ter-builder to the king. In February 1531, John Scrim-

geour, ' master of the king's works,' son of John Scrimgeour,

macer, had a charter to himself and his heirs male, of the

office of macer and sergeant at arms, and of the lands of

Myres; and in January 15il-2, he had another charter of

the same office and lands. The Scrimgeours of Myres are

mentioned in all the entails of the Dudhope family. In

1527, James Scrimgeour of Dudhope had a charter to himself

and the heirs male of liis body, which failing, to John Scrim-

geour of Glaster, James and Walter, brothers of John, David

Scrimgeour of Fardel, John Scrimgeour, macer, &c., of the

barony of Dudhope, office of constable of Dundee, of the

lands of Hadfield, &c., jn the barony of Inverkeithing, and of

other lands; and in the charter of 1541, occurs the name of

John Scrimgeour of Jlyres. In loCo Sir J.ames Scrimgeour

of Dudhope had a charter of the same office and lands to

himself and substitutes, among whom John Scrimgeour of

Jlyres is one; and in the charter of 1587, above mentioned,

John Scrimgeour of Myres is one of the substitutes. The

lands of Jlyres became afterwards, by marriage, the heritage

of the Jloncrieffs of Reedie, who also succeeded to the hered-

itary office of macer of the court of session, and for a consid-

erable time they had the right of appointing one of the four

macers of that court. This right having been found incon-

\-enient, was at length purchased by the crown, and the ap-

pointment of this macer has since been under the same pa-

tronage with tlie others.

SCRIMGER, or SCRIMZEOUR, Henry, one

of tlic most learned men of liis time, was born at

])undee in 1506. He was tlie son of Walter

Scrimger of Glasswell, a descendant of tlie famil}^

of Dndliope, of that name, constables of Dnndee,

and liereditaiy standard-bearers of Scotland. He

received the rndiineiits of liis education at the

grammar school of his native place, from which

lie removed to the university of St. Andrews, and

afterwards to tliosc of Paris and Bourges, wiiere

lie studied the civil law. He subsequent))' went

to Ital}- in the capacity of private secretary to the

bishop of Renues, who was employed on a diplo-

matic mission, and he was at Padua at the time

of the death of Francis Spira, tlie apostate, a nar-

rative of whose history he wrote in the Latin lan-

guage. On his return from Italy, he was invited

to commence tlie public teaching of philosopliy at

Geneva, but had not been long there before he

lost ail his property by an accidental fire. He

then went to Augsburg, where he resided with

Ulrich Fugger, who employed him to form his

library. The Fugger family were originally linen

weavers, but they came to be amongst the richest

nobles in Germany. In 1563 he returned to Ge-

neva, for tlie purpose of printing some of his trea-

tises at tlie press of Heniy Stephen, when he

resumed his lectures on philosophy, and also be-

came the first professor of civil law in that cit\'.

He died at Geneva about tlie end of 1572. His

works consist chiefly of annotations on the Greek

authors, most of which still remain in manuscript.

Those published are

:

Justinian's Novels, translated into Greek. Par. 1558.

And ag;dn, with Holoander's Latin Version, at Antwerp,

1575. This has been highly extolled for its purity of lan-

guage and accuracy.

Critical and explanatory Notes upon Athena:u's's Dcipno-

sophists, published by Isaac Casaubon. Lcyd. 1600. But

without distinguishing his own Notes from those of Scrimger.

A Commentary and Emendations of Strabo, published also

without acknowledgment, in Casaubon's edition of that geo-

grapher, 1G20.

Seafield, earl of, a title in the Scottish peerage conferred

in 1701 on the Hon. James Ogilvie, created viscount of Sea-

field in 1C98, chancellor of Scotland. He was the second

son of the third earl of Findhiter, and in 1711, his elder bro-

ther being dead, he succeeded his father in that title, (see

FiNDLATEH, earl of, vol. ii. p. 214). On the death, without

issue, of James, seventh earl of Findhiter and fourth earl of

Seafield, at Dresden, 5th October 1811, the former earldom

became dormant, and the titles of earl of Seafield, viscount

of Seafield and Reidhaven, and Lord Ogilvie of Desfbrd and

Cullen devolved on his cousin. Sir Lewis Alexander Grant of

Grant, baronet, (see vol. ii. p. oG2,) the grandmother of the

latter being Lady ]\Iary Ogilvie, eldest daughter of the fifth

earl of Findlater and second earl of Seafield.

The fifth earl of Seafield, on succeeding to the title, as-

sumed the surname of Ogilvie, in addition to his own. He

died, unmarried, in 1840, when his brother, the Hon. Colonel

Francis William Ogilvie Grant, became sixth earl. The lat-

ter had entered the army in 1793, and in 1809 he became a

colonel. In 1807 he was elected M.P. for Elginshire and

Nairnshire, and represented these counties in eight parlia-

ments. In August 1841 he was elected one of the sixteen

Scots representati\-e peers. He was also lord-lieutenant of
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Inverness-sliire and a depufy-lieutenant of Banffshire, and

ciilonel of the Inverness-sljire militia. He died July 30, 18o3.

lie was twice married, 1st, to Mary Anne, only daiigliter of

John Cliarles Dunn, Esq. of Hij^hani House, issue, G sons and

1 (laughter
;
and, 2dly, to Louisa Knima, 2d daugliter of

liohert Geijr};e .Maunsell, Esq. of I.iinericlc, without issue.

His 2d sou, John Cliarles Ogilvie Grant, born Sept. 4,

1815, succeeded as 7th earl, his eldest son liaviiir; prede-

ceased liim. lA Nov. 18.^3, the Ttli earl was elected one of

the IG representative puers of Scotland, and was created a

b:iron of the United Kini;doui, Aug. 14, 1858, by the title of

Baron Strathspey of Strathspey. He married in 1850, Hon.

Caroline Stuart, youngest daughter of the 11th Lord Blantyre,

issue, a son, John Charles, viscount of Beidhaven, b. in 1851

.

SicAl'-ouTii, earl of, a title (attainted) in the peerage of

Scotland, conferred by James VI. 3d Heceuiber lljiS, on

Colin, second Lord .Mackenzie of Kintail, to him and his

heirs male, (see vol. ii. of this work, page 20). He married

Lady Margaret Seton, third daughter of the first earl of Dun-
fV'i-ndine, high-chancellor of Scotland, and had by her two
daughters. Having no male i.ssne, at his death, loth April,

1G33, his titles devolved upon his brother of the half-blood,

George, second carl of Seaforth.

Tills nobleman was one of those wlio were opposed to the

unconstitutional and high-banded attempt of diaries L to

establish Englisli episcopacy in Scotland. In 1G39 he joined

a large body of the Covenanters assembled north of the Spev,

who were placed under liis command. For the purpose of

opposing their advance, tlie Gordons crossed the river, but an

agreement was entered into between both parties that, on

their repassing the Spey, Seafm-th and his men should also

retire to their own country. Soon after, on receipt of a

despatch from the earl (afterwards marquis) of Jlontrose,

containing the intelligence of the pacification of Berwick, he

disbanded liis army, and returned home.

In February 1G45, when Jlontrose, then opposed to the

Covenanters, was laying waste part of Moray, a ccinnniltee

of the estates, consisting of the earl of Seaforth, his brother

the Hon. Thomas Mackenzie of PInscardine, the laird of In-

nes, Sir Robert Gordon, and others, was sitting at Elgin. On
licaring of his approach, they sent notice tln-ongli the town,

by beat of drum, prohibiting the holding of the fair annually

kept there on Fastren's eve, lest the property brought into the

town for sale might be seized by Montrose's sohliers. They
al.so sent a deputation to treat with him, but he refused to

enter into any negotiation. Before, however, his answer

could be received, most of the gentry .assembled in Eb^in had
fled from the town in consequence of his rapid advance. The
earl of Seaforth remained, and, with his brother, JFackenzie

of Pluscardine, Sir Robert Gordon, the lairds of Grant and
Findrassie, and several other gentlemen, joined his ranks.

On Ins departure from Elgin, on the 4tli Jfarcb, they accom-
panied him across the Spc}'. He then allowed them to re-

turn home to defend their estates, first exacting from tliem a

solemn oatli of allegiance to the king. At the same time he
made them come under .an engagement to return to him witli

all their forces as soon as they could do so. The eari, not-

withstanding, again went over to the Covenanters. In a

letter wdncli he wrote to the committee of estates, at Aber-
deen, he stated that he had yielded to .Montrose throuiili fear

only, and he avowed that he would abide by " the good cause

to his death." (^Spnldini;, vol. ii. p. 301.) A detachment
from tlie garrison of Inverness sent out to t.ake vengeance on

those gentlemen who had joined Montrose, having entered

Elgin, took prisoners tliere, .Alackenzie of Pluscardine and

bis brother the Hon. Simon JIackenzie of Loclisliu, and car-

ried them to Inverness, but they were soon released by the

intercession of the earl, who was suspected of having con-

nived at their an est. In ,Iune 1G4G, his lordship was ex-

communicated by the General Assembly, for having joined

the marquis of Jlontrose. After the execution of the king in

1G49, he repaired to Charles II. in Holland, and was nonu-

nated by him princip.al secretary of state for Scotland. He
accompanied the king to Scotland, and with Huntly, Athol,

Middleton, and others, entered into a "bond and oath of en-

gagement," in behalf of the king, and the maintenance of the

true religion, as then established in Scotland, the national

covenant, and the solemn league and covenant. This being

sent to General Leslie by Middleton, a negotiation was begun,

which w.as concluded, on the 4th November 1G50, .at Strath-

bogie, agreeably to a treaty between Leslie and the chief roy-

alists, by which the latter accepted an indemnity and laid

down their arms. The earl died, soon after, in 1G51. By
his countess, Barbara, eldest daughter of Arthur, ninth Lord

Forbes, lie had, with two daughters, two sons, Kenneth, third

earl, and the Hon. Colin Mackenzie, whose son, George JLic-

kenzie, M.D., a physician practising at Edinburgh, was au-

thor (rf the Lives and Characters of the most eminent writers

of the Scots nation, in 3 vols, folio. (A short notice of him

is given in vol. ii. p. 23.)

In the beginning of ICoO, a royalist rising took place in

the north, under the Hon. Thomas Mackenzie of Pluscar-

dine, brother of the earl of Seaforth, Sir Thomas Urquhart cf

Cromarty, Col. John Mniiro of Luinlair, and Colonel Hng.\

Eraser. At tlie head of a number of their friends .and fol-

lowers, they entered the town of Inverness, on the 22d Feb-

ruary, expelled the troops from the garrison, and demolished

and razed the walls and fortifioations of the town. They

asserted that the parliament had sent private commissioners

to apprehend them, but the fact appears to be that the in-

surrection took place at the instigation of Charles II., then

at the Hague, between whom and Pluscardine a correspond-

ence had been previously opened. General David Leslie was

sent to the north with a force to suppress the insurgents,

and, on his ajiproach, they fled to the mountains of Ross.

Urquhart, Munro, and Eraser, speedily entered into term.s,

but Pluscardine would listen to no accommodation. Being

obliged to proceed into Athol, Leslie left a g.arri.son in tlie

castle of Chanonry, and also three troops of horse in Jlorav,

to watch his motions. On his dep;irture, Pluscardine de-

scended from the mountains and attacked tlie castle of Cli.a-

nonry, wliich he retook. He was, thereupon, joined by his

nephew, Lord Re.ay, at tlie head of 300 men. He was also

jcrined by Lord Ogilvy and Gener.al Middleton, who induced

him to advance southward into Badenoch, where they were

joined by the marquis of Huntly, and took the castle of Rnth-

ven. A portion of liis men were surprised and de.''eated by

Leslie at Balveny, and Pluscardine and the rest, on giving

security to keep the peace, were allowed to return to their

homes. In the Scots .army which invaded England under

Cliaries II., and was defeated at Worcester in IGul, the laird
i

of Pluscardine was one of the colonels of foot for Inverness

.and Ross.

Kenneth, third earl of Seaforth, the elder son of the second

earl, was excepted out of Cromwell's act of grace and ])ar-

don, 1G54. His estate was forfeited, and he was imprisoned

till the Restoration. He had a commission of the ofnce of

.sheriff of Ross, 23d April 1GG2, renewed to him and Kenneth,

Lord Kintail, his elder son. Gist July 1G75. He died in

December 1G78. By his countess, Isabel, daughter of Sir

John Mackenzie of Tarbat, baronet, sister of the first earl of
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Cromarty, lie had, with two daughters, two sons, Kenneth,

fourth earl, and the Hon. John Mackenzie of Assynt.

Kenneth, fourth earl, was nominated one of the kni jhts of

the Thistle on the revival of that order by James VII. in

1G87, and sworn ii privy councillor. At the Revolution he

adhered to King James, and according to Douglas' Peerage

he followed him to France and attended him to Ireland. He

afterwards returned home, and undertook to jniu Jlajor-

general Buchan at Inverness with a body of the northern

clans. On the approach of General JIackay to Inverness,

after the skirmish of Cromdale in 1690, the earl sent two

gentlemen of his clan to him, to endeavour to make his peace

with the government. They stated that although in honour

he was bound to make appear as if he favoured King James,

they were authorized to assure him that he had never entertain-

ed any design either of molesting the government or of joining

Major-general Buchan in his intended attack on Inverness,

and they offered, on the carl's part, any security that might

be required for his peaceable behaviour in future. In reply,

Mackay declared that no securitj' short of the surrender of

the earl's own person, as a prisoner, would satisfy him, and

that if he I'ailed to comply, his territory would be destroyed

by fire and sword. Thereafter, Mackay was waited upon by

the earl's mother, the countess-dowager of Seaforth, and

Mackenzie of Coul, who brought him a letter from the earl,

stating that he would accede to such conditions as might be

agreed upon between them. It was accordingly arranged

that the earl should deliver himself into Mackay's hands, to

be kept as a prisoner at Inverness till the privy council

should decide as to his future disposal, and to conceal this

arrangement from the Jacobite party, it was farther agi'eed

that the earl should allow himself to be seized as if by

surprise, by a party of horse under I\Iajor JIackay, at one of

his seats during the night. The earl, however, disappointed

the party sent to apprehend him, in excuse for which, both

he and his mother, in letters to Mackay, pleaded the state of

Iiis health, which they alleged would suffer I'rom imprison-

ment. Irritated at the deception pr.actised upon him, Mac-

kay resolved to visit the earl's vassals " with all the rigour of

military execution," and accordingly sent orders for a large

body of men, to be placed under the command of one Major

Wishart, who was to harry the upper part of the earl's coun-

try, while Mackay himself, with his cavalry and three batta-

lions of foot, intended to lay waste the lower parts. Having,

however, a warm i'eeling for the earl's friends, on account of

their being " all Protestants, and none of the most dangerous

enemies," as he says, and being more desirous to obtain pos-

session of tlie earl's person than to ruin his followers, he

caused information of his intentions to be sent to Seaforth's

camp, by some of his own party, as if from a feeling of

friendship to him. Contrary to Mackay's anticipation, Sea-

forth surrendered himself, and was committed prisoner to the

castle of Inverness. Mackay was directed by the privy

council, by warrant, dated 7th October 1690, " to transport the

person of Kenneth, earl of Seaforth, with safety from Inver-

ness to Edinburgh, in such way and manner as he should

think fit." In consequence, he was entered a prisoner within

the castle of Edinburgh, on Cth November following, whence

he was liberated on 7th January 1G92, on finding caution to

appear when called upon. He was bound not to go ten miles

beyond Edinburgh. He was again imprisoned, but made his

escape, and was apprehended at Pencaitland on 7th Jlay

1692, and again kept in close confinement, within tlie castle

of Edinburgh. He was afterwards liberated, on giving secu-

rity for his peaceable behaviour. {Records nf ilic Privy Coun-

cil). He subsequently went to France, and was by the ex-

iled monarch created marquis of Seaforth. He died at Paris

in January 1701. liy his countess, Lady Frances Herbert,

second daughter of the marquis of Powis, he had, with one

daughter, two sons, William, fifth earl, and the Hon. Colonel

Alexander JIackenzie.

William, fifth earl, engaged in the rebellion of 1715, and

joined the earl of Jlar at Perth, with the northern clans,

about the beginning of November of that year. His inarch

was at first impeded by the earl of Sutherland, at the head

of a considerable number of his own men, and of the Mac-

kays, Rosses, Monroes, and others, but he compelled them to

disperse, and at Alness, where he took up his quarters, he

collected a large quantity of booty from the lands of the

Monroes. After spending some days there, he proceeded to

Perth with about 3,000 foot and 800 horse, having left

sufficient force behind to protect his own country, and keep

the loyal clans in check. He was at the battle of Sheriff-

muir, and afterw.ards was despatched to the north, for the

purpose of collecting forces, and of attempting the reduction

of Inverness, which important town had been captured for

the government by a party of the Erasers, Gr.ants, and others,

under the command of Simon Eraser of Beaufort, afterwards

the celebrated Lord Lovat. The earl afterwards retired into

the island of Lewis, where he collected a considerable body of

his men. A detachment of government forces under the

command of Colonel Cholmondeley, was sent against him,

and on the appearance of this Ibrce, the earl crossed into

Ross-shire, whence he escaped to France. He was attainted

by act of parliament, and his estates forfeited. In April

1719, with the marquis of Tullibardine and the earl Jl.aris-

chal, he landed in Kintail, Ross-shire, with a party of Span-

iards, and was joined by some Highlanders, chiefly of his own

clan. He was dangerously wounded in an engagement with

the government soldiers at Glensheil, in which he command-

ed the Highlanders, and was carried on board a vessel by his

followers. With Marischal, Tullibardine, and the other offi-

cers, he retired to the western isles, and thereafter escaped

to France. Although his estates were forfeited, so strong

was the attachment of his clan, particularly the Macraes and

JIaclennans, to his person and family, that government

found it impossible to collect the rents, and for some years

they were regularly sent to the chief himself in his exile in

France, (see vol. ii. p. G9, article Macuae). After the pass-

ing of the disarming act in 1725, General Wade, who had

proceeded to Inverness, for the purpose of carrying it into

execution, was waited upon by a body of about 150 gentle-

men of the naine of JIackenzie, headed by Loi'd Tarbet, Sir

Colin Mackenzie of Coul, and Sir Kenneth Mackenzie of

Cromarty. On the part of Seaforth's tenants and vassals,

they stated that they would not give up their arms till they

knew how they were to be received ; that their rents had for

several years been uplifted by Daniel Murdochson, the earl's

factor or servant, and that they were not able to pay them a

second time, but if they were discharged of these rents, they

would pay them in future to the government, deliver up their

arms, and live peaceably. Wade, who, according to Lock-

hart, was "a good enough tempered man," at once .acceded

to this request, and told the deputation that if the cl.in per-

formed what had been promised, he would endeavour, in the

next session of parliament, to procure a pardon for Seaforth

and his friends. After being well entertained for two or

three davs at Inverness, the deputation, accompanied by

Wade and a small body of dragoons, went to Castlebran,

where the arms of the clan were delivered up, but not until

Murdochson had secreted all those of any value. {LockhaTt

Papers, vol. ii. p. 196).
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Wilde seems to liave been as f^ood as liis word, tor by let-

ters patent, dated 12th July 1726, tlie carl was by George I.

discbargej I'roni the penal consequences of Iiis attainder, so

far as imprisonment or tlje execution of his person was con-

cerned, and King George II. made him a grant of the arrears

of feu duties due to the crown out of his forfeited estates.

He died in the island of Lewis, 8th January 1740.

The eldest son, Kennetli, Lord Fortrose, was cliosen JLI'.

for the Inverness burglis in 1741, and for Koss-shire in 1747

and 1754. During the rebelHon of 1745-0, lie ^howed tlie

utmost zeal in favour of the government. He died at Lon-

don, Oct. 19, 1701, and was buried in Westminster Abbey.

By his countess. Lady Mary Stewart, eldest dauglitcrof the Glh

carl of Galloway, he had a son, Kenneth, and si.K daughters.

JIary, the 2d daughter, the 2d wife of Henry Howard, Ksq.

of Arundel, had a son. General Kenneth Alexander Howard,

who, on the decease, without issue, of IJiehaid Howard, 4th

earl of Effingham, in the peerage of England, Dec. 11, ISIG,

succeeded liim as lltli Lord Howard of ICllingham, .and in 1838

was created earl of Effingham in tlie peerage of Great Britain.

Kcmieth Mackenzie, Lord Eortrose's only son, born at Edin-

burgh, January 15, 1744, purchased his grandlather's forfeited

estate from the crown. Ho was created Baron Ardelve and

Viscount Fortrose in the peerage of Ireland, in 17(iG, .md earl

of Seaforth, in the Irish peerage, in 1771. In 1778, he raised

the 78tli regiment, called Seafurlli's Highlanders, afterwards

the 72d. Appointed colonel, he accompanied the regiment to

the East Indies, but died on the passage in August 1781. liy

his countess, Lady Caroline Stanhope, eldest daughter of the 2d

carl of Harrington, he had one daughter. Lady Caroline Mac-

kenzie, married to Count .Melford. As the earl died without

male issue, his titles became extinct, and his estates were pur-

chased by his cousin and heir-male, Colonel Thomas Frederick

JIackenzie Humberstoii, grandson of Hon. Colonel .\lexander

JIackenzie, 2d son of Kenneth, 4tli earl of Seatield. Colonel

JIackenzie Humbcrston, with 4 daughters, had an only son,

JIajor William i\Iackenzie, who married Mary, only daughter

of Matthew Huniberston, a gentleman of an ancient family,

Lincolnshire, and had three sons and three daughters.

Colonel Thomas Frederick JIackenzie Humberston, the

JIajor's eldest son, born in 1754, assumed the surname of Hum-
berston, on snceeeuing to that estate. Having raised a bat-

talion of foot, he embarked with it in spring 1781, for the

East Indies, with the rank of lieut.-col. Appointed to a

separate command on the .Malabar coast, he took the city of

Calicut, as well as every other place of strength in the king-

dom. Tippoo Saib proceeded against him, but was repulsed,

and on atteinjiting to force the fort of Panaini held by Hum-
berston, defeated with great slaughter. In 1782 Col. Hum-
berston served with distinction under General JIalthews

against Hyder Ali, and 0)i that officer being superseded by

Col. Macleod, accompanied the latter from Bombay, in April

1783, when he sailed to assume the command. Falling in

with .isqu.-idron of large ships of war belonging to the Mah-

rattas, their small vessel was attacked and taken possession

of, after a desperate eng.igenient, in which the greater num-

ber on board were killed. Among the wounded was Col.

Humberston, who died of his wounds at Geriah, a, seaport of

the Malirattas, April 30, 1783, aged 28.

Se.vfoutii, Baron, .i title in the peenige of Great Britain,

conferred in 1797, on Francis .Mackenzie Humberston, bro-

ther of Colonel Thomas I'rederick Mackenzie Humberston,

above mentioned, whom he .succeeded, on his death in April

1783, in his estates of Seaforth .•md Hnmherstnn. In 1784,

lie was elected JI.P. for Koss-shire, and in 1790 re-chosen.

In 1792, letters of service were issued to him to raise a regi-

ment, and the Ross-.shire Highlanders were, accordingly,

embodied, 10th February 1793. Of this corps, the lirst regi-

ment raised in the war against revolutionary France, he was

appointed lieutenant-colonel commandant. It was num-
bered the 78th, being the .same number as that of the regi-

ment raised by the last earl of Seaforth in 1779. In 1794, a

second battalion was rai.sed by him. Jlr. Humberston was

iippointed lord-lieutenant of lioss-shire, and created .1 British

peer, by the title of Lord Seaforth, Baron Mackenzie of Kin-

tail, to liiin and the heirs male of his body, 26tli October

1797. Having resigned the command of the 78th foot, his

lordship was, in 1798, constituted colonel of the Ross-shire

regiment of militia. In November 1800, he was appointed

governor of Barb.adocs, and early the following year he sailed

for that island. During his administration a planter having

killed one of his own sliives, was tried for the murder, and

acquitted, the law considering that such an act was not mur-

der. When proved, which was very seldom the case, the

crime was punish.ablc only by a fine of £15 currency. Lord

Seaforth resolved to put an end to the practice of slave-

killing, which was not unfrequent on the island. He pro-

cured an act from the B;irbadian legislature making it felony

to kill a slave, and, thereupon, sailed to I'^ngland, to obtain

for it the sanction of the crown. Soon after his return, an-

other slave was killed by his owner. The latter was tried,

convicted, and sentenced to be hanged for murder, under the

new act. At the time appointed, the condemned prisoner

was brought out for execution, but so strong was the public

feeling .against the new law that the ordinary executioner

was not to be found. The governor then required the sheriff

to perforin liis office, either in person or by deputy, but, after

soiue excuses, he absolutely refused. His lordship then ad-

dressed the guard of soldiers, stating that " whoever would

volunteer to be executioner should be subsequently protected,

as well as rewarded then." One presented himself, and it

thenceforth became as dangerous to kill a slave as a freeman

in Barbadoes. His lord.ship's introduction of this law ren-

dered him very unpopular in Barbadoes, and be quitted that

island in 1806. In 1808 he became lieutenant-general in the

army. He died 11th January 1815, in his GOth year, \\ itli

six daughters, he had four sons, all of high promise, who all

predeceased hitu. His eldest daughter, the Hon. Mary Fre-

derika Eliz.abeth, married at Barbadoes, in Kuvember 1804,

Sir Samuel Hood, K.B., one of the commissioners for Trini-

dad, elected M.P. for Westminster in 180G. After his death

she took for her second husband Mr. Stewart JIackenzie.

Beferriiig to Lord Seaforth's de.nth and his having outlived

the last of his sons, Sir Walter Scott, in a letter to Mr. Mor-

ritt, M.P., dated 19th January 1815, s.ays, "What a pity it

is he should h.ive outlived his promising young representa-

tive. His state was truly pitiable ;—all his fine faculties lost

in paralytic imbecility, and yet not entirely so but th.it he

perceived his deprivation as in a glass darkly. Sometimes

he was fretful and anxious because he did not see his son
;

sometimes he expostulated and complained that his boy had

been allowed to die without his seeing him
;
and, sometimes,

in a less clouded state of intellect, he was sensible of, anc

Lamented his loss in its fullest extent." He then rei'eis to a

propliccv that when there should be a deaf Cabcrfae, the

house of Seaforth should fail. The chief of the clan Mac-

kenzie was called Caberfao in the Celtic, from a stag's head

forming the crest of the family. It is stated in a note to the

above passage in Lockhart's Life of Scott, (Edition in 1 vol.

8vo, 1845, p. 307,) that the prophecy alluded to, is also

mentioned by Sir Humphrey Davy in one of his Journals.
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" It connected the f ill of tlic house of Seafortli not only with

the appearance of a deaf Caberfae, but with the contempora-

neous appearance of various different physical misfortunes in

several of the other great Highland chiefs ; all of which are

said—and were certainly believed both by Scott and Davy

—

to have actually occniTed." Mr. Morritt " lieard the pro-

phecy quoted in the Highlands at a time when Lord Seaforth

had two sons both alive and in good health—so that it cer-

tainly was not made aprcs coup.'" In Scott's Poetical ]Vor!:s,

(p. 6-i7, Ed. 1841,) are some verses on Lord Seaforth's death.

His eldest daughter, the Hon. Mrs. Stewart Mackenzie, suc-

ceeded to the family estates.

Selkirk, earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred in 1G4C, on Lord William Douglas, eldest son of the

first marquis of Duuglas. by his 2d wife, (see vol. ii. p 48).

Born Dec. 24, lf)34. he was created earl of Selkirk, Lord Daer

and Slinrtcleugh, by patent dated Aug. 4, 1C46, to him and

his heirs male whatsoever. He married Anne, duchess of

Hamilton, in her own right, and, on a petition from her

grace, was created duke of Hamilton for life, 12th October

1660. He had seven sons and four daughters, who all took

the name of Hamilton. Having resigned the earldom of

Selkirk, he obtained from .Tames VII. a new patent, dated

6th October 1688, conferring it, with the original precedence,

upon his third son. Lord Charles Hamilton. This nobleman

was baptized at Hamilton, 5th February 1664, and was ap-

pointed colonel of the first regiment of horse, 20th November

1688, in room of his eldest brother, the earl of AiTan, after-

wards fourth duke of Hamilton and first duke of Brandon,

(see vol. ii. of this work, page 421). The earl of Selkirk

entered early into the Revolution, and by King William,

whom he attended in most of his campaigns, was appointed

one of the lords of the bedchamber. He held the same office

under Queen Anne and Kings George I. and II. In 1696 he

was appointed lord-clerk-register of Scotland, and held that

office till the death of King William, but in 1733 was restored

to it by George II. He strenuously opposed the Union. At

the general election of 1713, chosen one of the sixteen repre-

sentatives of the Scottish peerage, he was afterwards three

times rechosen. He was sheriff principal of Lanarkshire,

and, dying, unmarried, at London, IStli IMarcli 1739, was

succeeded by his brother. Lord John Hamilton, carl of Uug-

len, who was thenceforth styled earl of Selkirk and Ruglen.

(See Ruglen, earl of, page 888 of this volume.) The latter

died without male issue, 3d December, 1744, when the titles

of eaid of Selkirk, Lord Daer and Shortcleugh, with the

estates of Crawford-Douglas and Crawford-john, devolved

upon Ills nearest male heir, his grand-nephew, Dunbar Ham-
ilton, grandson of his brother. Lord Basil, sixth son of Wil-

liam aTid Anne, duke and duchess of Hamilton.

Of Lord Basil Hamilton an account is given in Douglas'

Peerage, (Wood's edition, vol. ii. p. 488.) where he is de-

scribed as a young man of distinguished abilities, great spirit,

and an amiable disposition. Several of his letters to his fa-

ther are printed in Dalrymple's Memoirs of Scotland. In

consequence of King William having withheld his protec-

tion from the Scotch settlers at the isthmus of Darien, the

niin of the colony followed, and many of the colonists were

thrown into prison by the Spaniards. In beh.alf of these un-

fortunate persons. Lord Basil Hamilton was, in November

1699, deputed by the Darien company to present an address

at London to the king. His majesty desired the Scottish

secretaries to intimate to the Company that he would attend

to their request, and would endeavinn- to promote the trade

of Scotland, but refused to see Lord Basil Hamilton, because
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he had not appeared at court when last in London. There-

upon the directors of the Company requested the lord-chan-

cellor of Scotland, then in London, to urge his majesty to

receive his lordship. An audience was accordingly fixed to

be in the council chamber, after a council meeting. The king

forgot the appointment, and was passing into another room,

when Lord Basil placed himself in the passage, .and said that

he was commissioned by a great body of his subjects to lay

their misfortunes at his feet—that he had a right to be heard,

and would be heard. The king returned to the council

room, listened with patience, gave instant order to apply to

Spain for redress, then turning to those ne.ar him, said,

" This voung man is too bold, if any man can be too bold in

his country's cause." In the autumn of 1701, his lordship,

then in his 30th year, was drowned in the Jlinnock, a .small

river in Dumfries-shire, then swelled by a sudden rain, in

sight of his brother, the earl of Selkirk, and several gentle-

men, who could render him no assistance. His servant had

ridden forward, in order to Uj the ford, and was dismounted

in it. Lord Basil rashed in, and caught the man, but his

horse falling at that moment, they were both carried down

bv the torrent. His untimely death was deplored as a na-

tional loss. He married Mary, grand-daughter and heiress

of Sir D.ivid Dunb.-ir of Baldoon, Wigtonshire, baronet, and

had two sons, who both inherited Baldoon, and two daugh-

ters, Mrs. Murray of Philiph.augh, and the countess of Dun-

donald. Basil Hamiltcn, the second son, succeeded his brO'

ther in Baldoon in 1703. He engaged in the rebellion of

1715; had the command of a troop of horse under Viscount

Kenmure, and was among the number of those who surren-

dered at Preston, where he had displayed great courage.

When the prisoners were marched iuto London, his youth,

interesting figure, and unconcerned demeanour, attracted the

attention and commiseration of the spectators. He was tried

the 31st May 171G, found guilty, and sentenced to he exe-

cuted, 13th July, but reprieved and pardoned. In 1732, an

act of parliament was passed for restoring Basil Hamilton in

blood. At the general election 1741 he was elected M.P. fir

the stewartry of Kirkcudbright, and died in November 1742.

An epitaph was written upon him by Hamilton of Bangoin-.

Bv his wife, Isabella, daughter of the Hon. Colonel Alexan-

der JLackenzie, M.P., second son of the fourth earl of Sea-

forth, he had Dunbar, fourth earl of Selkirk, another son,

and two daughters.

Dunbar Hamilton of Baldoon, succeeded the earl of Sel-

kirk and Rnglen, in 1744, as fourth earl of Selkirk, on wliicli

occasion he resumed the paternal name of Douglas. He stu-

died at the university of Glasgow, and on the breaking out of

the rebellion of 1745, exerted himself strenuously and suc-

cessfully in support of the government. In 1787, and again

in 1793, he was chosen one of the sixteen Scottish represen-

tative peers. He died at Edinburgh, 2-)th May 1799, in his

77th vear. By his countess, Helen, fifth daughter of the

Hon. John Hamilton, second son of Thomas, sixth ear! of

Haddington, he had, with six daughters, seven sons, who .all

predeceased him except the youngest, Thomas, who became

fifth earl of Selkirk.

The second son, Basil William, Lord Daer, born IGth

March 1763, early displayed great abilities and uncounnon

activity of mind. On the completion of his education he tra-

velled on the continent for a short time in 1783. Three

vears afterwards his father transferred to him the manage-

ment of all his landed property in the stewartry of Kirkcud-

bright and county of Wigton. During the meeting of the

constituent assembly in 1789, he went to Paris. Being a

warm admirer of the Revolution, he lived much in (he society
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of swne of tlie first ilisfin<;uislieJ actors in it, pai-ticuliirly t)ie

due de la KocliefoucaiilJ, tlie marquis de Coiidorcet, and M.

Lavoisier. On liis return to Scotland, he became a member

of the Society of the Friends of tlie People, and was a zealous

advocate for parliamentary reform. Conceiving that the ar-

ticle in the treaty of Union on which was founded the exclu-

sion of the elder sons of Scottish peers from being members

of parliament, and from possessing the elective franchise,

W.1S erroneously interpreted, his lordship, with a view of try-

ing the question, claimed to be put on the roll of freeholders

for the stewartry of Kirl;cndln-ight. His claim was sustained

by a majority of the freeholders, but some of the minority

brought the claim before the court of session. A decision

was given against his lordship in 1792. Supported by a

number of Scottish peers, he appealed to the liouse of lords,

but the judgment of the court of session was affirmed {Dou-

ghs' Peerar/e). The elder sons of Scottish peers have, how-

ever, long been eligible both for parliament and the franchise.

He died of consumption 5th November 1791, mnnarried, at

the age of thirty. It was this Lord Daer who invited Burns

the poet to dinner, as commemorated in his " Lines on an

Literview with Lord Daer."

Tliom.as, fifth carl of Selkirk, the only surviving son of the

fourth earl, was born in 1771, and when the Hon. Tliomas

Douglas, was an associate of Sir Walter Scott, and a member

of " the Club," mentioned in Lockhart's Life of Scott. In

1797, on the death of his brother, formerly the Hon. John

Douglas, advocate, he became Lord Daer, and in Jlay 1799

succeeded his father in his title and estates. This nobleman

visited America in 1803, and settled a British colony on

Prince Kdwards Island. On his return in 1805, he pub-

lished 'Observations on the present State of the Highlands

of Scotland, with a View of the causes and probable conse-

quences of Emigration,' London, 1805, 8vo, in which he ad-

vocates liberal views in regaid to emigration, and gives an

interesting account of the settlement formed by him on

Prince Edward's Island. At the general election in 180G, he

was cho.sen one of the si.\teen representative peers, and re-

chosen the following year. On 28th March 1807, he was

appointed lord-lieutenant of the stewartry of Kirkcudiirigbt,

and in July 1808 was admitted a fellow of the Royal Society.

In the previous year he addressed 'A Letter to the Scots

Peers,' in which he proposed that their sixteen representatives

should be chosen for life, and in case of death, their places

should be filled up by the election of a new peer. He also

thought that Scots peers should be eligible to become mem-

bers of the house of commons, and, in short, should enjoy the

same rights, privileges, and functions, as the peers of Ire-

land. In ISOS his lordship published a pamphlet entitled

' The Necessity of a more effectual System of National De-

fence, and the means of establishing the permanent security

of the Kingdom,' and in 1809, ' A Letter to John Cartwright,

Esq.' (generally known as Major Cartwright), on parliamen-

tary reform, in which lie retracted some of the opinions which

he had previou.sly entertained on that subject. He died, 8th

April 1820, at Pau, in the south of France, whither he had

gone for the recover)' of his health. By his countess, .Jean,

only daughter of James Wedderburn-Colville, Esq. of Ochil-

tree, he had I son, Dunbar-James, Gth earl, and 2 daughters.

Dunbar-Janu'S, Gth earl of Selkirk, born at London, Aprd

22, 1809, graduated at Christ church, Oxford, where he was

first class in matbennitics, B .A. 1830. In 1831 he was elect-

ed one of the IG represi'Utative peers, in 1815 appointed loni-

lieutenant of the stewartry of Kirkcudbright
;
keeper of the

great seal of Scotland from August to December 1852, and

reappointed in February 1858; unni.arried.

SELKIRK, or SELCRAIG, ALicxANfiiK, a

.saiiov, wlio passed some years alone on tlie i.slaud

of Jiiau Feniamlez, -was tlic seventh son of a shoe-

maker and tanner in good circnmstances, at Lar-

go, in Fifesliire, wliere lie was born in 1G7G. In

his youth he disjjlayed a restless and quarrelsome

disposition. From the session books of liis native

parisli it appears tliat on Atignst 25, 1695, " Al-

ex. Selchraig, son to Jolm Seleliraig, elder, in

Netlicr Largo, was dilated for liis iindecciit beai-

viar in ye chnrcli," and tlie cluircli oflicer was or-

dered to summon him for the 27lli. On the ses-

sion meeting that day he was "called, but did

not compear, being gone away to the seas." He

went to sea about his twcntietii year. In Novem-

ber 1701, wlien at liome, lie was again cited bcfoi e

the kirk session, for committing an assanit on his

brother, Andrew. The latter, liaving brought

into the house a canfull of salt water, Alexander

" did take a drink through mistake, and lie laugh-

ing at him for it, liis brother, Alexander, came

and beat liim, upon wliicli he ran out of the liouse,

and called liis brother," 'John Selchraig, young-

er.' The session books contain the examinations

of tlie two Johns, father and son, as well as that

of Wargaret Bell, the wife of tlie latter, and of

.\iidixMv the other brother. The father being

asked "what made him to sit on the floor with

his back at tlie door, he said it was to keep down

his son, Alexander, who m as seeking to go up to

get liis pystole." ]\Iargaret Bell deponed that

when she came to the house she found Alexander

"gripping botli her father and her husband, and

she labouring to loose Alexander's hands from her

husband's head and lireast, her husband fled out

of doors." The culprit himself 'compeared' on

the 29th, and " confcst that he did beat his bro-

ther twice with a statT; he confest also that he

had spoken very ill words concerning his brothers,

and particularly he challenged his eldest brother

John, to a combat, as he called it, of ueiflfels
;"

and the next day, according to the session's ap-

pointment, " Alex. Selcraige compeared before

the pulpit, and made acknowledgment of his sin

in disagreeing witli his brothers, and was rebuked

in face of the congregation for it, and ])romised

amendment in the strength of the Lord, and so

was dismissed."
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He seems to have early engaged in the bucca-

neer expeditions to the South Seas; and in 1703

he joined the Cinque Ports galley, in tlie capacity

of sailing master. While lying off the coast of

Brazil, Selkirk had a remarkable dream, in which

he was forewarned of the total fiiilure of the ex-

pedition, and the wreck of his ship ; and having

soon after had a quarrel with his commander.

Captain Stradling, he was, in October 1704, with

liis own consent, pnt ashore on the uninhabited

island of Juan Fernandez, with his sea chest, a

few books, including his Bible, his nautical instru-

ments, some tobacco, a gun, with a pound of gun-

powder, and some balls, a knife, a kettle, an axe,

a flip-can, &c. Before the boat quitted the beach he

changed his mind, but the captain would not allow

him to return on board, and after four j-ears and

four months' solitary residence, he was discovered

and taken off the island b}' Captain Woodes Rogers,

in January 1709. Rogers made liim his mate,

and a few Avceks thereafter appointed him to the

command of a prize, which was fitted out as a

privateer, in which situation he conducted himself

with great vigour, steadiness, and prudence. Af-

ter going on a privateering expedition across the

Pacific, in October 1711, they returned to Eng-

land, from which Selkirk had been absent upwards

of eight years. Of the sum of £107,000 which

Rogers had realized by plundering the enemy,

Selkirk seems to have shared to the amount of

about £800.

In the spring of 1712 he once more set foot in

Largo, bringing home with him his gun, sea chest,

and drinking cup, which he had with him on the

island. They were long preserved, in the house in

which he was born, by the descendant of one of liis

brothers, but in 1862 they were sold. Having

formed an attachment to a country girl, named So-

phia Bruce, whom he met in his solitary walks, he

eloped with her, and never returned. He went to

sea again in 1717, and died in the situation of

lieutenant on board his majesty's ship Weymouth,

in 1723. His widow, a second wife, named Fran-

ces Candis, claimed and received his pi'opertj' in

his native village. His history is supposed to

have suggested to Defoe the groundwork of his

matchless narrative of Robinson Crusoe. Sel-

kirk's Life and Adventures, written by John How-

SEMPLE.

ell, author of an ' Essay on the War Galleys of

the Ancients,' was published by Oliver and Boyd,

Edinburgh, in 1829.

SEjrpLE, a surn.nne of great antiquity in the west of Scot-

land. Mr. Lower, in his list of Englisli surnames formed

from baptismal names, gives Semple as derived from Sam-
pol, a corruption of St. Paul, {EnrjUsh Surnames, vol. i. p.

155) ; but this does'not seem to have been the origin of the

Scottish name. Hamilton of Wishaw, in his Description of

the SlieriffJom of Renfrew, (printed for tlie JIaitland Club,

1831, p. 141,) referring to the old tradition, which docs not

appear to liiive had any foundation, of King Robert II., called

Blear-Eye, being cut from his mother's womb, at a place

near Renfrew, by Sir John Forrester of EUiestoun, says,

"before that lie was reputed a simple man—from whence the

house of Sempill and lords thereof have their name and p.art

of their estate." The family of Semple, however, were

known in Scotland at an earlier period. The first on record

was Robert de Semple in the reign of Alexander II. (121-1

—

1249). He was vass.al in Elziotstoun, on the south side of

Loch Winnoch, Renfre^Yshire, under the high steward of

Scotland, about 1220. The family were heritable bailies of

the regality of Paisley and sheriffs of Renfrewshire, under

the lord high steward of Scotland, and had large possessions

in that and the two adjoining counties of Ayr and Lanark.

Semple, or as it is now spelled, SE>tpiLi,, Baron, a title

in the peerage of Scotland, conferred in 1489 on Sir John

Semple of the family above mentioned. Robert de Semple

is witness to a donation of Walter, lord high steward of

Scotland, of the church of Largs to the monastery of Paisley

about 124G. His son, Robert de Semple, seneschal or cham-

berlain of Renfrew, in the reign of Alexander III., witnessed

a charter of JIalcolm earl of Lennox about 1280, .also, a

grant of James, high steward of Scotl.and. He had two sons,

Robert and Thomas, both great patriots .and staunch friends

of Robert the ]?ruce, from whom the latter obtained half of

the lands of Lougniddry.

Robert, the elder son, seneschal of Renfrew, for his faith-

f\il services received from King Robert, by a grant under the

great seal, all the lands in the parish of Largs, Ayrshire,

which previously belonged to John Baliol, to him and his

heirs for ever. He is witness in an agreement between the

monastery of Paisley and the town of Renfrew, 1313, and in

the coll.ation of the church of Largs, 1318. He died before

1330. His son, William de Semple, steward of Renfrew, is

witness in the ratification of Kilpatrick, granted by Malcolm,

earl of Lennox, in that year. Under the designation of

liam de Semple of Elliotstoun or Ellieston, he witnessed a

charter of Adam de Fullerton in 1344.

His great-grandson, John Sempill, the fourth design.ated

of Elliotstoun, was employed in several negotiations of state,

and in 1421 was one of the Scots commissioners appointed to

treat with the English for the liberation of James L He

waited upon his majesty at Durham, 13th December 1423,

on his return to his own dominions. He was knighted by

that king about 1430, and died ten years afterwards.

His son, Sir Robert Sempill of Elliotstoun, had a charter

from James II., of the hands of Southcnnan (a corruption of

South Annan), in the parish of AVest Kilbride, Lanarkshire,

31st October 1401. Sir Robert's son. Sir William Sempill of

Elliotstoun, w.as made sheriff of Renfrewshire, and in 1474

he obtained from James III. a charter of the baronies of El-

liotstoun and Castleton. His son, Thom.as Sempill of ElUot-
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Ktniiii, slicrifT of licnfrew, iiintli in succession of tlie liiniily,

s:it ill parliament, 2oth February 1484. He fell at the bat-

tle of Saucliieburn, lighting on the side of Jame.s III., 11th

June 1488.

His only son. Sir .Tolm Sempill, iirst Lord Seinpill, w;is

created a peer by .Tames IV. about 1489. The precise date

is unknown, but according to Crawfurd, (^lliat. of Renfrew-

shire, p. 70,) it was in the first year of that monarch's reign.

The collegiate church of Lochwinnoch was founded by him in

1505. He also erected, or rather rebuilt, near the eastern

end of the loch, the castle of Castleton, the name of which

he changed to Castle-Semple. He fell at the battle of Flod-

den, 9th September 151.3. He was twice married, fu'st, to

Margaret, daughter of Sir Kobert ColviUe of Ochiltree, and

had by her two sons, William, second Lord Sempill, and Ga-

briel, progenitor, by his second son, Jolin Sempill, of the

Sempills of Cathcart
;
and, secondly, to .Margaret, daughter

of James Crichton of Ituthvendeuny, widow of Sir William

Stirling of Keir, without issue.

The elder son, William, second Lord Sempill, obtained a

charter of the lordship of Scmplc from James V., with the

consent of the Regent Albany, in 1515. By the same mo-

narch, he was appointed justiciary of the regality of Paisley,

with consent of his privy council. He was one of the nobles

who assenlcil to the project of a marriage between (Jueen

Mary and I'rince Edward of England, 25th August 1543,

which was never carried out. In 1547 he purchased from

John Bruntcholls, the last of the family of Binntchells of

that ilk, the estate of I'runtchells (a corruption of Burnt-

shields) in the parish of Kilbarchan, Renfrewshire. He died

in 1548. He was twice married, but had issue only by his

iirst wife. Lady JIargaret Montgomery, eldest daughter of

Hugh, first earl of Eglinton, two sons, Robert, third Lord

Sempill, and David, ancestor of the Sempills of Craigletts, a

branch of whom settled in Spain.

Robert, third Lord Sempill, the elder son, called the great

Lord Sempill, had, when master of Sempill, with other char-

ters, one of the oflice of governor and const.able of the king's

castle of Douglas, 20th October 153.3. He was taken pris-

oner by the Engli.sh at the battle of Pinkie, 1547, and suc-

ceeded his father the following year. He was one of the

supporters of the queen regent, Mary of Guise, against the

lords of the Congreg.ation. In 15G0, his castle was besieged

and taken, for h.aving disobeyed the laws .and ordinances of

the council, especially, because he persisted in retaining the

mass, and had beset the earl of Arran with a great number

of his friends, while he was riding on his w.ay with his accus-

tomed company. He w.as faithful to the interests of Queen

Mary till the murder of D.arnley, but in 15G7 he entered into

the association to defend tlie young king, James VL, and

was one of the jury on the trial of the earl of Bothwell. At

Carberry- hill he was one of the lords who commanded

the rear-guard of the confederated force in arms against

the queen and Bothwell. Ho was one of the lords who

signed the letters to Douglas of Lochleven to take in charge

the ill-fated Queen Mary. lie had a command in the av.ant-

guard of the army of the Regent Jloray, at the battle of

L.angside, in 15GS, and in consideration of his many v.alu.able

services to the king and government, he obtained from him,

in 15G9, a charter of the abbey of Paisley, on the forfeiture

of Lord Cl.aud Hamilton, but it was afterwards restored to

the latter. Ho was one of the secret council of the regent,

and after his murder he was taken prisoner, in 1570, by the

Haniiltons, while riding home securely from the army of the

earls of Lennox and Glencairn at Glasgow. He was carried

prisoner to Dr.aficn, whence in a few days he was removed

III.

to Argyle by Lord Boyd, and detained there for a year. He
engaged in the gi'cat feuds between the lionses of Eglinton,

with which the Sempills had formed various marriage con-

nexions, and Glencairn, or the Jlontgomeries and Cunning-

hams. These fends lasted from 1488 to 158G. He built the

Peel, the ruins of v/hich still e.xist, on a small isle on Castle-

Seniple Lnch. He died in 1572. He married, first, Isabel,

daughter of Sir William Hamilton of Sanquhar, and had,

with four daughters, two sons, Robert, master of Sempill, who

predeceased him, leaving a son, Robert, fourth Lord Sempill

;

and Andrew, who, in 15G0, got from his father the lands of

Bruutchells, and was ancestor of the Sempills of Bruntchclls

and Millbank. He married, secondly, Elizabeth, a daughter

of Ciu'lyle of Torthorwald, and had, with three daughters, a

son, .Tohn, whose wife, JIary Livingstone, one of ' the Queen's

JLiries,' was the youngest daughter of the fifth Lord Living-

stone. John Knox notices the marriage of Mary Livingstone

the lusty to John Semple the dancer. He acquired the lands

of Beltrees, and was ancestor of the Sempills of Beltrees,

celebrated for their poetical t.alents (see ne,\t article). In

1577, John Sempill conspired against the Regent Morton,

with the design of procuring liis death. The conspiracy was

revealed by one of his accomplices, Gabriel Sempill, who
avowed it before the council, and offered to maintain the

truth of his declaration .against him in single combat. John

Sempill then confessed, and subscribed his confe.ssion with

his own hand, but instantly swooned, and could not hold the

pen in his hand. When he recovered, he craved mercy, but

was convicted by .an assixe, and sentenced to be hanged,

drawn, and quartered. At the intercession of his friends,

howevei', lie was reprieved, and committed to prison in the

castle of Edinburgh, to remain there during the regent's

pleasure. He was not set at liberty till Jlorton resigned the

regency.

Robert, fourth Lord Sempill, succeeded his grandfather to-

wards the end of the year 1572, and was left under the guar-

dianship of James, earl of Morton. At the baptism of Prince

Henry at Stirling in 1594, he " carried the lavyer with wa-

ter," and at the banquet afterwards in the great hall he offi-

ciated as sewer to the queen. He was one of the privy coun-

cillors of James VL, and in 159G was sent ambassador to

Spain. Being a Roman Catholic, he never held any other

public office. At the convention of the ministry at Linlith-

gow in December ICOG, certain popish noblemen were ordered

to be confined to various towns, and .among the rest Lord

Sempill was restricted to Irving in Ayrshire. The presbytery

of that place having, after long dealing and conference with

him, failed to convince him of the errors of popery, the Gen-

eral Assembly, in August 1G08, ordered him to be excommu-

nicated as a confirmed and obstinate papist. As the ecclesi-

astical punishment of excommunication was in those days

enforced by the courts of law, it involved also civil penalties,

such as the confiscation of landed property, .and on th.at ac-

count was .alw.ays dreaded by the nobility and those who h.id

anything to lose, even although they cared little for its spir-

itual effi;ct. This fonnid.able and powerful weapon in the

h.ands of the clergy was put at end to at the Revolution, by a

law being passed revoking and repealing " .all acts enjoining

civil p.ains upon sentences of excommunication." Robert,

Lord Sempill died 25th March IGll. He w.as twice mar-

ried, first to Lady Anne Jlontgomcry, second daughter of the

third earl of Eglinton, and had one son, Hugh, fifth Lord

Sempill, and four daughters; .and, secondly, to Dame Jo-

h.anna de Evieland, a Dutch lady, by whom he h.ad one son,

Sir .Tames Sempill, who settled in the north of Ireland.

Hufli, fifth Lord Sempill. was one of the neers that sat
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upon the triul of Patrick, eai-l of Orkney, in 161-1. He never

•n-ent to court, or interfered in public affairs, but lived al-

ways at home in great splendour and magnificence. He died

19th Septemher 1639. Like his father, he was twice mar-

ried, first, to Lady Anue Hamilton, eldest daughter of the

first earl of Abercorn, and had by her a daughter, JIarian,

Lady Preston of Valleyfield; and, secondly, to Lady Eliza-

beth Hay, third daughter of the ninth earl of Errol, and,

with two daughters, had four sons, namely, 1. Francis, sixth

Lord Sempill, who died, without issue, 3d November, 1644.

2. Robert, who succeeded his brother as seventh Lord Sem-

pill. 3. Archibald Sempill of Dykehead ; and 4. James, who

entered a religious order on the continent.

Robert, seventh Lord Sempill, was never concerned in any

state affairs, but from his well-known attachment to the

royal cause, he was fined £1,000 by Cromwell's act of grace

and pardon, 1654. He died 8th September 1675. By his

wife, Anne Douglas, daughter of the first Lord Mordington,

he bad two sons, Robert, master of Sempill, who died in his

18th year, unmarried, and Francis, eighth Lord Sempill, and

two daughters, Anne, of whom afterwards, and Jean, wife of

Alexander Sinclair of Eoslin.

Francis, eighth lord, became a Protestant, and was the

first of the Lords Sempill who had appeared in parliament

since the reign of Queen Mary, being excluded on account of

their adherence to popery. He married the sister of the

first earl of Eosebery, but died without issue in 1684.

His elder sister, Anne, succeeded as baroness of Sempill.

She married Francis Abercromby of Fetterneir, who was cre-

ated, for his life only. Lord Glassford, his title being taken

from an estate of the Sempill family of that name, 5th July

1685. (See vol. ii. of this work, p. 309.) Lady Sempill

obtained a new charter of the title and estates. May 16,

1688, settling them on her female issue in default of male,

with remainder to her heirs and assignees whatsoever. She

died in 1695. She had, with one daughter, five sons. 1.

Francis, ninth Lord Sempill. 2. Hon. Captain Robert Sem-

pill, killed in the wars abroad, without issue. 3. John, tenth

Lord Sempill. 4. Hon. Alexander Sempill, who died young;

and 5. Hew, eleventh Lord Sempill, born after the entail.

Francis, ninth Lord Sempill, was educated in the popish

religion, but after succeeding to the title, he became a Pro-

testant, and took bis seat in parliament, 14th May, 1703.

He gave the treaty of union all the opposition in his power,

voting against every article. He died, unmarried, not long

afterwards. His brother, John, tenth Lord Sempill, was

very active during the rebellion of 1715, on the side of gov-

ernment, in promoting the training and disciplining of the

Ayrshire fencible men. He died, unmarried, in August 1716.

His only surviving brother. Hew, eleventh Lord Sempill,

earlv entered the army. His first commission was dated in

July 1709. He served with reputation in Flanders and

Spain, and in 1718 w.is major of the 26th regiment of foot,

or Cameronians. In 1731 he was lieutenant-colonel of the

19th foot, and 14th January, 1741, he succeeded the earl of

Craufurd as colonel of the 42d foot. During his command

that regiment was designated Lord Sempill's Highlanders.

In 1743 he accompanied it to Flanders. In that and the

following year the regiment was quartered in different parts

of that country ; and by their quiet, orderly, and kind de-

portment, acquired the entire confidence of the people among

whom they mixed. The elector-palatine wrote to his envoy

in London, desiring him to thank the king of Great Britain

for the excellent behaviour of the regiment while in his terri-

tories in 1743 and 1744, .and for their .sake, he adds, "I will

alvv.ays pay a respect and regard to a Scotchman in future."

Lord Sempill commanded in the town of Aeth, when it was

besieged by the French, and made a gallant defence. He
was appointed colonel of the 25th foot, 25tli April 1745.

At the battle of CuUoden, 16th April 1746, he acted as a

brigadier-general. His regiment was placed in the second

line in the left wing of the roy.al army. In the middle of

August following, he amved at Aberdeen, and assumed the

command of the troops stationed in that quarter. He died

in that city, 25th November the same year. His death was

occasioned by the puncture of the tendon of bis arm on being

let blood. In 1727 he had sold the estates of Elliotstouu

and Castle-Semple, after they had been for about five hun-

dred years the property of the Sempill family, to Colonel

M'Dowall, a younger son of M'Dowall of Garthland, and in

1813, William M'Dowall of G.artbland and Castle-Semple

sold the latter estate to .Tohn Harvey, Esq. of Jamaica. In

1741, Hew, Lord Sempill, bought the estate of North Barr,

in the same county. The Sempill family at one period pos-

sessed property which at the present day would bring a ren-

tal of upwards of £20,000, but most of it has passed into

other hands. He was the author of ' A short Address to the

Public, on the practice of cashiering Military Officers without

a Trial ; and a Vindication of the Conduct and Political

Opinions of the Author,' Lond. 1793, 8vo. By his first wife,

Sarah, daughter and coheiress of Nathanael Gaskill, Esq.

(called Gascoigne in Douglas' Peeraye) of Manchester, his

lordship had five sons and six daughters. Two of his sons

were officers in the army.

,John, twelfth Lord Sempill, the eldest son, succeeded his

father in 1746, and died at Sempill house, 15th January

1782. He married Janet, only daughter and heiress of Hugh

Dunlop of Bishoptoun, Renfrewshire, and had Hugh, thir-

teenth Lord Sempill, two other sons, and three daughters.

Hugh, thirteenth Lord Sempill, an officer in the 3d regi-

ment of foot-guards, (ensign, 24tb December 1777, lieuten-

ant, 26th February 1781,) retired from the army in 1793.

He died 25th January 1830. By his wife, JIaria, daughter

of Charles Mellish, Esq. of Ragnal, Nottingh.amshire, he had

two sons, Selkirk, who succeeded him, and Francis, died 2d

January 1843, and two daughters, the Hon. Maria Janet,

and the Hon. Sarah Sempill.

The elder son, Selkirk, fourteenth Lord Sempill, born 12th

February 1788, died unmarried in 1835. The title then de-

volved on his sister, JIaria Janet, second Baroness Sempill

in her own riglit. She married in 1826, Edward Candler,

Esq. of Morton Pinkney, a deputy lieutenant of Northamp-

tonshire, who assumed the name of Sempill only, by royal

license, dated 26th August 1S53.

The Sempills of Beltrees, Renfrewshire, were descended

from John, third son of the third Lord Sempill. This gen-

tleman, called "John the dancer" by Knox, mamed, as al-

ready stated, Mary Livingstone, one of the maids of lionour

to Queen Mary, with whom thej' were both great favourites.

Their son. Sir James Sempill of Beltrees, w.as ambassador to

Queen Elizabeth in the reign of James VI. He was an inti-

mate .and faithful friend of Jlr. Andrew Melville. In Dr.

M'Crie's Life of Melville, he is frequently mentioned. Being

a great favourite of King James VI., Sir James was employ-

ed to transcribe the famous Basilicon Doron, written by that

monarch, and having sent it to Melville to peruse, the latter

took objection to some passages in it, and the subject was

brought before the synod of Fife, by Mr. John Dykes, minis-

ter at Anstruther, in September 1599. The king sent Mr.

Francis Bothwell to apprehend Dykes, but he escaped. This

obliged the king, in self-defence, to publish the work entire.
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After Melville had been decoyed to London, in 1606, and

committed to the Tower, Sir James Senipill exerted liimsolf

strenuously on liis behalf. He first procured for him a relax-

ation of his confinement, and in IGU, with the duke de

Bouillon, used his influence to obtain for him permission to

retire to France. He became professor of theology in the

Protestant university of Sedan, where he liad Daniel Tilenus,

a Silesian by birth, w^o lield Arniinian principles, for a col-

league, and it is conjectured tluit at Melville's sufr^estion Sir

James Sempill engaged in a controversy with him. To in-

gratiate himself witli King .lames, Tilenus proceeded to Eng-

land, and pul)lislied a pamphlet, entitled Parcencsis ad Scotos

Generensis disciplinw zelotas, wherein he defended episcopacy

and abused the Scottish prcshyterians. This w.is confuted

by Sir James Sempill in a work published in 1G22, entitled

'An .\nswer to Tilenus' Defence of tlie Bishops and tlie Five

Articles,' and also in Calderwood's Altare Damascenum.

In this controver.sy Sir James obtained secret assistance from

Melville, and public and effectual aid from Calderwood. Sir

James was also the author of ' Sacrilege sacredly handled, in

two parts; with an Appendix, answering some objections,'

London, 1619, 4to; ' Cassander Scotiana to Cassander Ang-

licanus,' 1G16; and 'Sacrilege saved by Cassander,' 1619.

He likewise wrote 'The Packman and the Priest,' a satirical

poem ag.ainst the Church of Rome. In a letter, quoted in

Calderwood, (vol. vii. p. 183,) to Sir James Sempill, from

the eminent minister Robert Bruce, dated at Inverness, where

lie was in exile, 10th February 1G13, he styles Sir James

"Riglit Honourable Cousin." When King James visited

Scotland in 1G17, an oration in tlie form of an allegory, wel-

coming his majesty, was pronounced in the gi-eat hall of the

earl of Abercorn, by a very pretty boy, nine years old, Wil-

liam, the youngest son of the slierifl'of Renfrewshire, Sir James

Sempill of Beltrees. There can be little doubt that Sir J.ames

was himself the author of this oration. He died in his house

at the Cross of Paisley in February IG'25. By his wife, Egi-

dia, daugliter of Elphinstone of lilythswood, he had a son,

Robert Sempill of Beltrees, autlior of an Epit.aph and Elegv

on H.abbic Simpson, tlie piper of Kilbarclian, who died .aliout

the beginning of the seventeenth centuiT, a poem of much
local celebrity. A statue of the piper was, in 1822, placed

in a niche of the steeple of Kilbarclian. In 1584, Semple

OTote a poem, entitled 'The Legend of the I.ymmar's Life,'

on the journey of Archbishop Adamson to and from London,

and his beh.aviour on the road. He married a daughter of

Lyon of Auldb.ir. His son, Francis Semple of Beltrees,

was the author of tlie ' Banishment of Poverty,' a piece

of considerable merit, and among other favourite Scottish

songs, of the celebrated one, ' She rose and let me in.' The

famous comic ballad beginning

" Wha wadna be in love wi' bonny Maggie L.auder?"

was written by him .about 1642. Some epitaphs written by

him are preserved in Pennycooke's Collection of Poetical

Pieces. The following anecdote of liim is given in the fifth

number of the Paisley Repository : " When Cromwell's forces

were garrisoned in Glasgow, the city was put under severe

martial law, which, among other enactments, ordained 'That

every person or per.sons coming into the city must send a

particular account of themselves, and whatever they may
bring with them, unto the commander of the forces in that

place, under the penalty of imprisonment and confiscation,

both of the offender's goods and whatever ch.attels are in the

house or houses wherein the offender or offenders ni.ay be

lodged,' &c. Francis Semple and his lady, (a daughter of

Campbell of Ardkinglas.) set out on a journey to Glasgow,

accompanied by a man-servant, sometime in 1G51, or a little

after that, to visit his aunt, an old maiden lady, his father's

sister, who had a jointure of him, which he paid by half-yearly

instalments. When he came to his aunt's house, which was

on the High Street, at the bell of the brae, now known

by the name of ' The Duke of Montrose's Lodging, or Bar-

ren's Ha',' his aunt told him that she must .send an account

of his an'ival to the captain of Cromwell's forces, otherwise

the soldiers would come and poind her moveables. Francis

replied, ' Never you mind that ; let them come, and I'll speak

to them.' 'Na, na,' quoth his aunt, 'I maun send an ac-

count o' your coming here.'— ' Gie me a bit of paper,' says

Francis, 'and I'll write it mysel'.' Then taking the pen, he

wrote as follows :

—

' Lo doon near by the city temple.

There is ane lodged wi' .-miitie Semple,

Fivancis Semple of Beltrees,

His consort also, if you please;

There's twa o's horse, and ane o's men,

Thai's quarter'd down wi' Allan Glen.

Thir lines I send to you, for fear

O' poindin' of auld auntie's gear,

Wbilk never ane before durst stear.

It stinks for staleness I dare swear.

Glasgow. (Signed) Francis Se.mi'Le.

Directed 'To the commander of the guard in Glasgow.'

" When the captain received the letter, he could not un-

derstand it on account of its being written in the Scottish

dialect. He considered it as an insult put upon him, and

like a man beside himself with rage, he exclaimed, ' If 1 had

the scoundrel who has had the audacity to send me such an

insulting, infamous, and impudent libel, I would m.ake the

villanous rascal suffer for his temerity.' He then ordered a

party of his men to go .md apprehend a Francis Semple, who

was lodged with a wom.an of the name of Semple, near the

High church, and carry him to the provost. Mr. Semple

was .accordingly brought before the provost, and liis accuser

appeared with the insulting, infamous, and impudent libel

against him. It was read ; but it was impossible for the

provost to retain his gravity during the perusal
;
nay, the

captain himself, after hearing an English translation of the

epistle, could not resist joining in the laugli. From tliat

moment he and Beltrees became intimate friends, and he

often declared, that he considered Semple to be one of the

cleverest gentlemen in Scotland. On no account would the

captain part with Beltrees during his residence in Glasgow.

Tlie time, therefore, that Francis intended to have passed

with the old lady his aunt, was humorously spent with the

captain and the other officers of Cromwell's forces, who kept

him in Glasgow two weeks longer than he otlierwise would

have stayed."

It seems probable that tliese officers introduced two of

Scrapie's song into England before the Restonition ; for they

were both printed, and well known in England, in the reign

of Charles II., the words and music being engraved by Tho-

mas Cross. Henry Playford afterwards introduced the song

of ' She rose and let me in,' in his ' Wit and Jlirth,' (vol. i.

printed at London in 1G98). G.ny introduced the air of

^[aggie Lauder in his musical opera of Achilles, printed in

1733. The same air had previously been used for a song,

called Sally's Kew Answer, set to the tune of ^fogey Lauiher,

a sort of parody on Carey's Sally in our Alley, as well as for

a song in the Quaker's Opera, written by Thomas Walker,
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anti acted at Lee and Harper's Booth in Bartholomew Fair,

ill 1728. (^Johnson's Scots Musical Museum, vol. \\. p. 477.)

The Poems attributed to the Semples of Beltrees were pub-

lished at Edinburgh in 1849, in one volume 8vo.

Francis Sempill was the last of tlie three rhyming lairds of

Beltrees. He sold Beltrees, wliich is in tlie parish of Loch-

winnoch, retnining the superiority, and in 1677, towards tlie

end of his life, tlie family removed to a property in the par-

ish of Kilbarchan, called Tliirdpart, which he had purchased.

He had a son, Robert, who married JIary, sister of Sir

Robert Pollok of Pollok. Their son, also named Robert,

born 8th January 1C87, died in July 1789, in his 103d year.

In 1697, when only ten years old, he was present at the

burning of the witches at Paisley. To prevent his going his

parents hid his shoes, and he went without them. He was

appointed a justice of the peace in 1708, and at his death

was probably the oldest judicial functionary of that or any

other rank in the British empire. Sir John Sinclair, in his

' Code of Health and Longevity,' makes Robert Sempill's age

105, and in the Old Statistical Account of Kilbarchan, it is

made 108. William Semple, however, in his ' Continuation

of Crawfurd's History of Renfrewshire,' (Part IL p. 163,)

PKpreKsly states that the old gentleman was " born ..January

1G87," adding that, " on March 21st, 1782, I was in company

with lilm, his daughter, his grand-daughter, and his great-

grandson, all in good health." William Semple was himself

a native of Kilbarchan parish, having been the son of a farm -

er, and born 10th May 1747, as he has taken care to leave

on record (^Continuation of Craicfurd's Ilistory, p. 128, note).

In the New Statistical Account of Paisley (p. 1G5) he is er-

roneously called a native of that town. We learn from the

latter useful work that the old man's son, Robert Sempill,

acquired some money and retrieved the circumstances of the

family, but left it all to Mr. Hamilton Collins, who had

married his youngest sister,—Mrs. Campbell, the eldest sister,

being entirely overlooked. The daughter of the latter married

Mr. Stewart, a merchant in Greenock, and their son took the

title of James Stewart of Beltrees.

Seton, a surname derived from Satj-tun, the dwelling of

Say. Anciently there were in Engl.and two families named

Say, of Norman descent. The first of the race M'ho came into

Scotland was Secher or Saiker de Say, who obtained from

David I. lands in Haddingtonshire, and was the ancestor of

the noble family of Seton, earls of Winton. He was the

son of Dngal de Say, by his wife, a daughter of De Quincy,

carl of Winchester, constable of Scotland. Alexander de Se-

ton, son of Secher, witnessed a charter of David I., to Wil-

li.am do Riddell of the lands of Riddell in Roxburghshire.

He was proprietor of Seton and Winton in East Lothian,

and Winchburgh in Linlithgowshire, and his son, Philip de

Seton, got a charter of these lands from Willi.im the Lion, to

be held in capite of the crown. Philip's eldest son. Sir Al-

exander de Seton, witnessed many charters of Alexander IL,

and also a donation of Sayer de Quincy, earl of Winchester,

to the .abbacy of Dunfermline, before 1233. His son, Serlo

or Secher de Seton, had two sons and a daughter. Sir -Alex-

ander, Sir John, and Barbara, the wife of Sir William Keith,

great marischal of Scotland. Among those who swore fealtv

to Edward I. in 129G w.as Alisaundre de Seton, vallet, Rich-

ard de Seton, del counte de Dunfres, and John de Seton of

the same county. Sir Alexander, the elder son, was father

of Sir Christopher Seton, who married Lady Christian Bruce,

third daughter of Robert earl of Carrick, sister of King Ro-

bert I., widow of Gratney, earl of Mar-. He was one of the

principal supporters of his brother-in-law, and was present at

his coronation at Scone 27th JIarch 1306. At the disas-

trous battle of Methven, loth June following, he rescued

Bruce when he was unhorsed by Philip de Jlowbray. He
afterwards shut himself up in Lochdoon castle in Ayrshire,

and on its surrender to the English, Sir Christopher Seton

was, by order of Edward I., executed at Diunfries. He ap-

pears to have been succeeded by his brother Sir Alexander

Seton, who signed, with other patriotic nobles, the famous

letter to the Pope in 1320, asserting the independence of

Scotland. He liad grants from King Robert 1. of various

lands, as well as of the manor of Tranent and other extensive

possessions previously belonging to the noble family of De
Quincy, attainted for their espousal of the cause of Edward.

He also got the lands of Falside or Fawside, forfeited by Al-

exander de Such, who married one of the daughters and

heiresses of Roger de Quincy, earl of Winchester. Falside

castle, situated ne.ar the boundary with Inveresk, was one of

the ancient strong fortalices of the Setons. A younger

br.anch of the family styled themselves the Setons of Falside.

Their principal castle was Niddiy in Linlithgowshire, the

ruins of which still remain. Sir Alexander de Seton had a

safe-conduct into England 7th Janu.ary 1320, and Robert 1.

applied for another, 21st March 1327, for him to treat with

the English. He was governor of the town of Berwick when
it was besieged by the English in 1333. His son Thomas
was given as a hostage to King Edward III., that that place

would be surrendered on a certain day if not relieved before

then. Sir William Keith having arrived with succours, as-

sumed the governorship, and refused to deliver up the town.

Edward ordered Thomas Seton, and, some accounts say, two

sons of Keith, who had fallen into his h.ands, to be executed

in sight of the besieged. The day after the defeat of the

Scots army at Halidon-hill, 19th July 1333, Berwick sur-

rendered to the English. Sir Alexander Seton was present

in Edward Baliol's parliament, 10th February following,

when he witnessed the concession of Berwick to the English.

He had a safe-conduct to go to England, 15th October 1337,

and in August 1340, he was one of the hostages for John,

earl of Moray, when he was liberated for a time. He ap-

pears to liave entered into a religious order in his old age, as

" Frater Alexander de Seton miles, hospitalis sancti Johan-

nis Jerusalem in Scotia" had a safe-conduct into England on

the affairs of David IL. 12th August 1348. By his wife,

,

Christian, daughter of Cheyne of Straloch, he had three sons

and a daughter, namely, Alexander, killed in opposing the

landing of Edward Baliol near Kinghorn, 6th August 1332

;

Thomas, already mentioned; and William, drowned in an

attack on the English fleet at Berwick, in sight of his father,

in July 1333. The daughter, Margaret, became heiress of

Seton. She married Alan de Wyntoun, supposed to liave

been a cadet of the Seton family. This marriage, we are

told, produced a feud in East Lothian, and occasioned more

than a hundred ploughs to be laid aside from Labour. His

children took the name of Seton. He died in the Holy Land,

leaving a son, Sir William Seton, and a daughter. Christian

or JLargaret, countess of Dunbar and JIarch.

The only son. Sir William Seton of Seton, visited Jenisa-

lem. He lived previously to 13GG, and it is recorded of him

that he "was the first creatit and maid lord in tlie parlia-

ment, and he and his posteritie to have .are voit yairin and

be callit Lords." Accordingly, in the Records of the Scottish

parliament, held .at Scone 2Gth JLarch 1371, at the corona-

tion of Robert IL, William de Seton is named among the

"Nobiles Barones," as "Dominus de Seton." He m.arried

Catherine, daughter of Sir AVilliam Sinclair of HeiTnandston,

and had, with four daughters, two sons, Su- John and Sir
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Alexander. The latter married Elizabeth de Gordon, and

was ancestor of the marquises of Huntly (see vol. ii. p. 517);

the Setons of Toucli, who lielii the offico of hereditaiy

armour-bearers to the kinp; the Setons of iMeldrum, &c. Sir

John Seton of Seton, the elder son, was taken at the battle

of Homildon in 1'I02. He was one of the hosta<;cs for the

release of .James I. by the treaty of 4tli December

his annual revenue beiii!; estimated at COO marks. He liad ;i

safe-conduct to meet tffe kin j, 13th of the same month, and

was one of the guarantees of the treaty for his majesty's release,

28tli M.-irch 1421. He died in 1441. By his lirst wife. Lady

.Janet Dunbar, daup;htcr of the tenth earl of Dunbar and

Slarch, he had a son, Sir William Seton, and two dauf;liters.

Sir AVilliam Seton, the only son, accompanied the Scots

auxiliaries to the assistance of Charles the daupliin in I'^r.-mce,

and was killed at the battle of Verneuil in Normandy, in the

lifetime of liis father, 17th August, 1424.

Jlis son, George, accompanied the chancellor Cricliton in his

embassy to France and Burgundy, and had a safe-conduct to

pass through Kngland, April 23, 1448. He was soon after-

wards created a peer of parliament, by the title of Baron Seton,

(^Douykis Peera(/e, Wood's ed., vol. ii. p. 642,) and 1448 is

the date usually assigned as that of the creation of the peerage

of Seton. He was one of the .ambassadors to Kngland to

whom a safe-conduct was granted JIarch 16, 1472. He died

in 1478. By his first wife, I.ady Margaret Stewart, only

daughter .ind heiress of John, earl of Buchan, constable of

France, killed at Verneuil in 1424, he had a son, John, who
predeceased him, leaving a son, George, second Lord Seton.

By a second wife, Christian Murray, of the house of Tullibar-

dine, he had a daughter. Christian.

Geo)-ge, second Lord Seton, succeeded his grandfather. By
the treaty of Nottingham, 22d September 1484, he was .ap-

pointed one of the commissioners for settling border differ-

ences. He erected the church of Seton into a collegiate

est.abli.shinent for a provost, si.x prebendaries, two singing

boys and a clerk, 20th June 1493, assigning for their support

tlie tithes of the church and various chaplainries which had

been established in it by his ancestors. He was one of the

conservators of treaties with the English 30th September

1497, and 12th .July 1499, and he witnessed the assignation

of the dower of Margaret, queen of Scotland, 24th Mav L503.

He died in 1507. He is described as "mcikle given to leich-

ery, and was cunning in divers sciences, as in music, theo-

logy, and astrolog)'. Ho was so given to learning that after

lie was married he went to .St. Andrews and studied there

long, and then went to Paris for the same purpose. He was,

on a voyage to France, taken by some Dunkirkers, and plun-

dered. To be revenged of them he bought a great ship

called the Eagle, and harassed the Flemings. The keeping

of that ship was so expensive that lie was compelled to wad-

set (mortgage) and dispose of several lands." (^Doughs'

Peerage, Wood's edition, vol. ii. p. 643.) He m.arried Lady
Margaret Campbell, eldest daughter of the lirst earl of Ar-

gylo, and with one daughter, Martha, the wife of Sir William

.Maitl.and of Letliington, had two sons, George, third Lord

Seton, and .John, ancestor of the Setons of Nortlirig.

George, third Lord Seton, was a favourite of James IV.,

and fell with him at Flodden, loth September 1513. He
married Lady .Janet Hepburn, eldest danchter of the first

carl of Bothwell, and had one son, George, fourth Lord Seton,

and one daughter, Mariot, countess of Eglinton.

George, fourth Lord Seton, was in 1526 .appointed a mem-
ber of the parliamentary committee pro judidbus, and ad-

mitted one of the extraordinary lords of .session, 5th March,

15-12. In March of the following year, Cardinal Bethune

w.as placed in his custody in Blackness c.istle, but he per-

mitted him to escape, being, according to the writers of the

time, bribed for the purpose. It seems certain, however,

that the cardin.al was .set at liberty with the consent of the

governor, Arran. In May 1544, the English army, under

the earl of Hertford, then in Lothian, " came and lay at Se-

ton, burnt and destroyed the castle thereof, spoyled the kirk,

tnk aw.ay the bellis and organis and other tursabic (portable)

tliingis, and pat thame in th.air schippis, and briiit the tym-

ber wark within the said kirk." In November of the same

year, ho was employed by parliament as one of the negoti.a-

tors between the governor of the kingdom, Arran, and the

queen-dowager, afterwards regent. He died in July 1545.

At his request. Sir Kichard Maitland compiled the History

of the house of Seton. The following is the character he

gives of him: "He was ane wise and vertewes nobleman ; a

man well experienced in .all g.ames, .and took pleasure in balk-

ing, and was holden to be the best falconer in his days."' He
was twice married, first, to Eliz.abeth, daughter of .John,

Lord Hay of Yester, by whom he had, with four daughters,

three sons, namely, 1. George, fifth Lord Seton. 2. .John,

ancestor of the Setons of C.arriston, Fifesliire. 3. James.

Secondly, to Mary Pyeres or Peris, a French lady, who came

to Scotland with Mary of Lorraine, and by her had one son,

Robert.

George, fifth Lord Seton, was the chivalrous and devoted

adherent of Mary, queen of Scots, and with two of his chil-

dren, figures conspicuously in Sir Walter Scott's tale of 'The

Abbot.' He was one of the commissioners appointed by the

parliament of Scotland, 17tli December 1557, to be present

at Mary's nuptials with the dauphin of France. In 1558,

when several of the nobility went in secret to hear the re-

ibriiied preacher, J(din Willock, expound from his sickbed

the doctrines of the Gospel, Lord Seton was one of them, but

afterwards he was the first to fall back into popery. The

following year he was provost of Edinburgh, and joined the

party of the queen-dowager against the lords of the Congre-

gation. Calderwood (_Hist. of the Kirk of Scoilimd, vol. i.

p. 474) says, "The eile of Argile and Lord .lames (after-

wards the regent Jloray) entered in Edinburgh the 29th .Tune

1559. The Lord Seton, provost, a man without God, with-

out lionestie, and often times without reason, had diverse

times before troubled the bretlirciii. He had takin upon him

the protection of the Blacke and Gray friers, and for that

purpose lay himself in one of them everie night, .and also

constrained the honest burgesses of the toun to watch and

guarde these monsters, to their great grcefe. AVhen he heard

of the suddane coming of the lords, he abandoned his charge."

In autumn of the same year he was sent by the queen-dowa-

ger, with the earl of Huntly, to solicit the brethren assembled

in St. Giles', Edinburgh, to allow mass to be said either be-

fore or after sermon, but of course they could get no other

answer than that they were in possession of the church and

would not suffer idolatry to be erected there again. About

the same time, suspecting one Alexander ^\'llitela^v to be John

Knox, he pursued him as he came from Preston, accompa-

nied with William Knox, tow.ards Edinburgh, .and did not

give up the ch.ase till he came to Ormiston. On Queen Ma-

rv's return from Fr.ance in 1561, he was sworn a privy coun-

cillor, and appointed master of the household to her majesty.

The night after the murder of Kizzio, Lord Seton, with 200

horse, attended the queen first to Seton and then to Dunbar,

Darnley being compelled by threats to go with her. On

D.arnley's assassination, the queen and Bothwell, it is well

known, went to Seton, where they remained for some d.ays,

and there the marriage contract between them was iigned.
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Lord Seton was one of her cliief supporters at Carberry Hill,

and when she made her escape from Lochleven castle in tlie

beginning of Jlay 15G8, he was lying secretly among the hills

on the other side, and immediately joining her, conducted

her first to his castle of Niddry, in Linlithgowshire, and then

to Hamilton. He was present at the battle of Langside, and

on the defeat of the queen's forces there, retired to Flanders.

He remained two years in exile, and for his living was com-

pelled to become a waggoner. A painting of him driving a

waggon with four horses was in the north end of the long

gallery of Seton. He was in Scotland in the spring of 1570

actively employed on behalf of Queen Mary. He was one of

the nobles of her faction who signed the letter to Queen Eli-

zabeth, dated in March of that year. On the report that tlie

lords of the king's party were to come to Edinburgh on the

first of May, some of the queen's lords left the town, but

' Lord Seton assembled his forces at the palace of Holyrood-

house, and bragged that he would enter in the town, and

cause beat a drum, in despite of all the carles. He had in

company with him the Lady Northumberland." This lady

was in Scotland on the captive queen's behalf, and the same

year she was sent with Lord Seton to the Low Countries to

solicit the assistance of the duke of Alva for the friends of

Mary's cause in Scotland. On the downfall of the Regent

Morton in 1581, he was committed to the charge of Lord

Seton and sundry other noblemen, to be conveyed to Dum-
barton castle. In January of the same year he was one of

the lords of the king's household, who subscribed the Second

Confession of Faith, commonly called the King's Confession.

He was one of the jury on Morton's trial, and with the laird

of Wauchton w;is objected to by him, as knowti to be his en-

emies. At his execution, " Lord Seton and his two sons

stood in a stair, south-east from the cross." He was one of

the noblemen who conveyed the duke of Lennox on liis way
to England in December 1582, when ordered out of Scotland.

Tlie following year he was complained upon by the synodal

assembly of Lothian for entertaining of " Seminary priests."

In January 158-i, he was sent by King James VI. ambassa-

dor to France. He died soon after his return, on 8th Janu-

ary 1585, aged about 55, and was buried in the family vault

at Seton, wliere there is a monument to his meniorv. By
his wife, Isabel, daughter of Sir William Hamilton of San-

quhar, high-treasm-er of Scotland, he had five sons and one

daughter, JIargaret, married to Lord Claud Hamilton. The
sons were, 1. George, master of Seton, who predeceased his

father in JIarch 1562. 2. Robert, sixth Lord Seton. 3. Sir

John Seton, Lord Barns, of whom afterwards. 4. Alexan-

der Seton of Pluscardine, first earl of Dunfermline, (see vol.

ii. p. 104). 0. Sir William Seton of Kyllismore, sheriff of Mid

Lothian and postmaster of Scotland. It is related that

George, fifth Lord Seton, declined tlie dignity of earldom,

being unwilling to forego what he considered a great distinc-

tion, and that his accomplished sovereign commemorated the

fact in the following lines

:

" Sunt Comites, Ducesque alii, sunt denique Keges,

Setoni Dominium, sit satis esse mihi."

An engi-aving of the Seton family from a painting by Sir

Antonio Jlore, consisting of Lord Seton and five youngest

children, is given in Pinkerton's Scottish Gallery. The fol-

lowing is a woodcut of it

:
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Koliert, the second son, sixth Lord Sctnn, was created earl

of Winton, ICth Noveinber ICOO. (See Winton, Karl of.)

Of liis next brother, Sir Jolin Seton, Lord Barns, tlie fol-

lowing particuhirs are given in Haig and I'runton's Senators

of tlie College of Justice : According to a liistorical account

of the family written by Alexander, Lord Kingston, lie "was

a brave young man, and went to Spaine to King Pliilip IL,

liis court, by whom lie was made knight of the royal order of

St. Jago, att tliat tyme the only order of kniglitliood in that

kingdonie of gi'eatest esteem, in memory whereof, lie and his

lieirs lies a sword in the coat of arines, being the badge of

that order. King Pliilip also preferred him to be a gentle-

man of his chamber and cavalier de la Boca (master of tlie

liouseliold). Ho also carried tlie golden key at his syde in a

blew ribbing, all which were tlie greatest honours King Phihp

of Spaine could give to any of his subjects, except to be made

a grandee of Spaine. He had a pension granted to liiin and

his heirs of two tliousand crowns yearly." (^^elviIle's I\fc-

moirs, p. 3C.").) He was recalled to Scotland by James VI.,

who appointed him treasurer of his household. He was con-

stituted master of tlie horse, and in 1581, sent ambassador

to Queen Elizabeth, to complain of the conduct of her am-

bassador in interfering on behalf of the Regent Jlorton, after

his downfall, but was not allowed to enter England. He
was appointed one of the extraordinary lords of ses.sion, as

Lord Barns, in room of his brother, Alexander, admitted an

ordinary lord, 17th Eebruary 1587. He was a favourite of

the king, as well as of the duke of Lennox, who quarrelled

with the profligate earl of Arran (Captain Stewart) on ac-

count of an indignity offered to Sir John, by the latter. He

was afterwards appointed comptroller, and died 25th M.iy,

159-t.

From the earliest period, the family of Seton filled a pro-

minent place in the annals of Scotland. They were surpassed

by none in loyalty to the tlirone and firm attachment to the

dynasty of the Stuarts. Their military ardour, and daunt-

less and patriotic bearing appear from their ancient war-cry

of " Set-on," and their earliest motto of " Hazard, yet for-

ward." It was in consequence of so many other noble fami-

lies having sprung from tliem that the Lords Seton were

styled JIagn;c Nobilitatis Domini." Owing to their inter-

marriages, upon four different occasions, with the royal fam-

ily, their shield obtained the addition of the royal or double

trcssure. Their unshaken loyalty is marked by another of

their mottoes, " Intamiiiatis fulget honoribus," and it was

tliis lieniic spirit that led to the last earl of Winton, the de-

scend.-int and repre.'^entative of the Setons, joining in the

rebellion of 1715, for wliich his titles and estates were

forfeited. (See Winton, Earl of.) The lands which tlie

family held were very extensive, and their chief seat was

recognised in the royal chartei-s as the palace of Seton, in

consequence of having often been tlie place of royal enter-

tainment, as for ages it had been the scene of great magnili-

conce and splendid hospitality. The representation of the

noble family of Seton is claimed both by the earl of Eglinton

and George Seton, Esq.

John Seton, the first of the Setons of Carriston, younger

son of George, sixth Lord Seton, and Elizabeth, d:iugliter of

John, Lord Yester, progenitor of the marquis of Tweeddale,

obtained that estate by his marriage with Isabel, the daugh-

ter and heiress of Balfour of Carriston, Fifeshire. His grand-

mother, L.ady Janet Hepburn, acquired for him the lands of

Foulstruther in East Lothian. During the exile in Flanders

of liis brother George, fifth (sometimes called seventh) Lord

Seton, a report having been spread of his death, John was

put in possession of liis whole estate, as appears by a charter

under the great seal, dated in 1545. He also assumed the

title of Lord Seton, and sat in parliament as a peer. On his

brother's retwn, he was obliged to relinquish both estate and

title. Their temporary possession, however, proved very un-

fortunate to him and his descendants, as, to enable him to

clear off" the extraordinary expenses incurred thereby, he was

compelled to sell his lands in East Lothian, as well as a por-

tion of his estate in Fifeshire. He got a charter under the

great seal from Queen Mary of the barony of Carriston, &c.,

dated in 1553. He had two sons, George Seton of Caniston,

and Sir John Seton, knight, a captain in the Scots guards in

France. The latter married a daughter of the count de

Bourbon, and had a daughter, who married Adinston of that

ilk. East Lothian, of whom was lineally descended Christian,

fourth countess of Winton. The family of Adinston was,

from the time of Robert the Bruce, the liereditaiy standard-

bearers of the house of Seton. The estate of Carriston con-

tinued in the family of Seton in a direct male line till George

eighth and last proprietor, who died, unmarried, in 1789.

The representation of the family then devolved on his bro-

tlier, Christopher, who died in 1819. His sister, Margaret,

married Henry, grandson of David Seton of Blackball, Fife-

.sliire, fourth son of the fourth laird of Carriston, which

estate had come into possession of the said David Seton by

his marriage with JIarjory, daughter and heiress of Alexan-

der of Blackhall. JIargaret had, with two daughters, two

sons, David, a captain in the army, who died, without issue,

in 182G, and George Seton of Bombay, who died in 1825,

leaving one son, George Seton, B.A. of Oxford, born 25th

June 1822, and two daughters, one of them the wife of Ed-

ward James Jenkins, Esq., and the other married to John

Buchanan Hamilton, E.sq. of Lcny and Bardowie, chief of

the clan Buchanan.

Besides the Setons of Carriston, already mentioned, there

were several families of the name in Fifeshire, snch as the

Setons of Lathrisk, the Setons of Kirkfortlier, and the Setons

of Drumaird. Tlie lands of Lathrisk, in the parish of Kettle,

were acquired by John Seton, descended from Seton of Par-

broath, on his marriage with J.anet Lathrisk of that ilk.

About the middle of the last centuiy, Lathrisk became the

property of a family of the name of Johnston.

The Setons of Pitmedden are descended from AVilliam Se-

ton, second son of Sir Alexander Seton who, in 1408, mar-

ried Elizabeth de Gordon, heiress of Gordon, Huntly, and

Strathbogie. He married Elizabeth, daughter and heiress

of William de Meldrum of Meldram, and got with her that

b.arony and other estates. He was killed, fighting under his

brother, the earl of Huntly, at the battle of Brechin, in M.ay

1452. His only son, Alexander Seton, was served lieir to

his mother, Elizabeth de Jleldrum, in 1456. His son, Wil-

liam Seton of Meldram, was put in possession of the estates

in the lifetime of liis father. Alexander Seton of Meldrum,

tlie son of William, was sen'cd heir to his grandfather in

1512. He was murdered about the year 153G, by the mas-

ter of Forbes. His eldest son, William Seton of Jlcldram,

was served heir to his father in 1553. He was twice married,

and had five sons, one of whom, George Seton of Barras, was

chancellor of Aberdeen.

James, the youngest son, was the first of Pitmedden. He
was first styled of Bourtie. Aberdeenshire. He afterwards

acquired the lands of Pitmedden, in the s.ame county, as ap-

pears by a cli.-irter under the great seal from King James

VI., dated 25th March, 1619. His only son, Alexander Se-

ton of Pitmedden, had three charters under the great seal,
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one dated 19th November 16-22, another, 20th July 1020,

and the third, 10th July 1630.

His son, Jolm Setou of Pitmedden, accompanied the earl

of Errol, lord-high-coiistable of Scotland, at tlje coronation

of Cliarles I. in 1633. He was a steady loy.alist, and in i\Iay

163S, the marquis of Pluntly having been appointed the kind's

lieutenant in tlie north, is said to have sent the following

letter to him :
" Eight special cousin. Being resolved, upon a

special commission from the king, to be present at Dalkeith,

6th June, for attending his majesty's service there, and being

desirous of both the company and advice of my best friends,

as occasion m.ay offer, I heartily entreat you, as one in whom
I confide, to meet me at Fettercairn upon Fi-iday 1 June at

night, for accompanying me in that journey; and it shall

oblige me at other times to acquit myself in your occasions,

as one who is your assured cousin, Huntly." This letter,

quoted from Douglas' Baronage, is dated " Aberdeen, 2Ist

May 1638," but Huntly was at that date a prisoner in Edin-

burgh castle. The date probably should be j\I.'irch. On the

m.arquis's second son, tlie Viscount Aboyne, arriving at Aber-

deen in June, as commander of the king's forces in the north,

Seton joined his standard. He commanded a detachment

of loyalist troops at the battle of the Bridge of Dee, and

while riding along the river side with Lord Aboyne, he was shot

through tlie heart by a cannon-ball, being then only in his

29th year. In consequence, his descendants have a heart,

with drops of blood issuing from it, in the centre of their

coat of arms. He had two sons, James and Alexander, both

infants at their father's death. With their mother they were

driven from their house, which was plundered, and the whole

rents of their estates seized by the Covenanters. In 10-10,

they were placed by the king under the guardianship of their

kinsman, George, earl of Winton. Their mother married the

earl of Hartfell, and on her death, Winton took them into

his own family. In 16-19, he sent them to the university of

Aberdeen. After completing their education, James, the

elder son, proprietor of Pitmedden, went upon the continent,

and visited most of the courts of Europe. He returned home

at the Eestoration, and became an officer in the English fleet

under the dul;e of York. He was present in the desperate

engagement near Harwich, where the English obt.iined a sig-

nal victory over the Dutch, 3d June 1665. In tlie attack of

the Dutch on the English fleet at Chatham, in 1007, he was

severely wounded, and died of his wounds at Eondon soon

after, without issue.

His brother, Sir Ale.xander, succeeded him. He passed

advocate at the Scottish bar 10th December 1661, and was

knighted by Charles II., in 1064. He was appointed an or-

dinary lord of session olst October 1677, when he .assumed

the title of Lord Pitmedden, and a lord of justiciary 5th July

1082. He was created a baronet of Nova Scotia by royal

patent, 15th January 1684. He represented the county of

Aberdeen in the Scots parliament, and for his boldness and

independence in opposing the measures of James VII., he

was deprived by that monarch of his seat on the bench. At

the Revolution he was offered to be restored as a lord of ses-

sion and justiciary, but he declined, as inconsistent with the

oaths he had previously taken. He died, at an advanced

age, in 1719. According to Wodrow, he possessed a vast

and curious library. Ho published an edition of Sir George

Mackenzie's ' Law of Scotland in matters Criminal,' with a

treatise on i^Iutilation and Demembration, annexed. He

had, with five daugliters, five sons. Of these may be men-

tioned Sir William, second baronet
;
George, ancestor of the

Setons of Mounie; and Alex.ander, a physician, who served

under the duke of Marlborough.

Sir William, second baronet, was, in his father's lifetime,

M.V. for the county of Aberdeen, from 1702 to 1706. He
was one of the commissioners to treat of the Union, ,nnd af-

terwards one of the commissioners of equivalent. With four
daughters, he had five sons, .and died in 1741.

His eldest son, Sir Alexander, third baronet, was an officer

in the guards. Dying without issue, his next brother. Sir

William, became fourth baronet. He also died without issue,

and was succeeded by his next brotlier. Sir Archibald Seton,

R.N. On his decease, without issue, the title devolved on
his nephew. Sir William, sixth baronet, the son of a vounger
brother, Charles. Sir William died in 1819. He had 3
sons and 2 daughters. Charles, the eldest son, died young,

.lames, the 2d son, major 99th Highlanders, was killed in the

Peninsular war in 1814.

His only son. Sir William Coote Seton, succeeded his grand-

father as 7th baronet. Born Dec. 19, 1808, he passed advo-

cate in 1831. He married Eliza-Henrietta, 2d daughter of

Henry Lumsden, Esq. of Cushnie, Aberdeenshire, and widow
of Captain Wilson, East India Company's service

;
issue, 5

sons and 3 daughters. The eldest son, James Lumsden,

lieutenant, 1st Madras fusiliers, was born in 1835.

The Setons of Abercorn, Linlithgowshire, are descended

from Sir Alexander Seton, eldest son of Alexander Seton,

earl of Huntly, by his second wife. He inherited the hands

of Touch and Tullibody, and was appointed heritable armour-

bearer and squire of the body to James III. From his son.

Sir Alexander Seton of Touch, came in a direct line, Sir

William Seton of Abercorn, created a baronet of Nova Scotia

in 1663, with remainder to his heirs male whatsoever. His

eldest son, Sir Walter, advocate and commissarv-clerk of

Edinburgh, 2d baronet, was succeeded by his son. Sir Henrv,

od baronet. On the death, without issue, of the last James
Seton of Touch, he became undoubted male heir of Sir Alex-

ander Seton, eldest son of 1st earl of Huntly. Sir Henry died

in 1751. His son, Sir Henry Seton of Culbeg, baronet,

was father of Sir Alexander, 5lh bart., who died in India in

1810. He m. in 1795, Lydia, 5th daughter of Sir Charles

William Blunt, baronet, and had 5 sons and 1 daughter.

The eldest son. Sir Henry John Seton, born April 4, 1796,

5th baronet of Abercorn, and one of the grooms in waiting to

her majesty. Queen Victoria, served in the Peninsular war.

He claims to be direct male heir of Sir Alexander Seton, 1st

Lord Gordon. His next brother, Charles Hay, born in 1797,

married in 1829, Caroline, daughter of W. P.Hodges, Esq.;

issue, a son.

Of the family of Touch was Sir Alex.inder Seton, (knighted

by Charles I. in 1633,) 2d son of James Seton of Touch, 7th

generation from Alexander Seton, Lord Gordon, in a direct

male line. Appointed an ordinary lord of session, as Lord

Kilcreuch, Feb. 14, 1626, he resigned his seat June 6, 1637.

His grandson. Sir Walter Seton of Culbeg, w.as created a

baronet of Nova Scotia in 1633, to him and his heirs mala

whatsoever. The Setons of Touch are represented by the

family of Seton-Steuart, baronet. (See Steuart.)

The Setons of Mounie, Aberdeenshire, are a branch of the

Setons of Pitmedden. George Seton of Jlounie, tlie first of

the fiimily, was second son of Sir Alexander Seton, Lord

Pitmedden. His son, William Seton of Mounie, died un-

married, when the estate devolved on his eldest sister, Mar-

garet, married to James Anderson of Cobenshaw, (of the

Andersons of Broughtoii, Northumberland, from whom the

earls of Yarborougli in England are descended,) who assumed

the name of Seton. They had, with other issue, a son, Alc.\-
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aiider Si'ton, Ksq. of Mounie, wlio in 1810 manic^d liis cousin,

Janet, daughter of tlie l!ev. Skene Ogilvy, D.D., Aberdeen,

whose wife was Isahelhi Seton, Jliirgaret's younger sister,

and who was the lineal descendant and male representative

of Francis, sixth son of John, sixth Lord Ogilvy of Airlie.

SiiAUir, a surname having the same derivation as that of

Sharp, which see. The family of Shairp of Houston have

Iield lands in the parish of Uphall, Linlitligowshire, since the

reign of David II. Their ancestor, William IC'scharp, is

said to have come from Normandy. Some of the family p.i-

pers bear date as far back as 1402. Most of tlie property

was acqiured by Sir John Sliairp, advocate for Queen Mary.

Many of his descendants distingnished themselves in battle.

In the last Scots parliament Thomas Sliairp of Houston,

with Ills brother-in-law, Murray of Livingston, represented

the county of Liidithgow, and rendered himself conspicuous

by his opposition to the treaty of union with ICngland. iMa-

jor Norman Shairp of Houston, the representative of the

family, born 2(jlh October 1779, second son of Thomas Shairp

of Houstoun and Mary, youngest daughter of Nonnan Mae-

leod of JIacIeod, was for many years in the East India Com-

pany's service, and acted as one of the aides-de-camp of

General Viscount Lake, when he overthrew the Mahratta

army under the French general Perron in 1803, and took

possession of Delhi, the capital of the Mogul empire; also

in his campaign against Scindiah and Holcar, in 1804 and

1805. Major Shairp served, in 1810, at the taking of the

Isle of France, and in March 1831, he succeeded his father

in the estate of Houston. He married, Gth JIarcli 1808,

Elizabeth Binning, fourth daughter of Jidm Campbell, Esq.

of Kildallog, Argylesliire, with issue, three sons and seven

daugliters. He had several brothers and two sisters, the

elder of whom, Ann IMacleod, married in 1804, Captain In-

nes, n.N., and the younger. Christian, became in 1810, the

wife of William Mitchell Innes, Esq. of Parson's Gi-een and

Avtiin.

Sii.vjJK, a surname derived from lands of tbat name in

Mid Lothian. Murdoch Shank or Schank, of the family of

Shank of that ilk, received from Robert the Bruce a grant of

the estate of Castlerig, parish of Kinghorn, Fifeshire, in com-

memoration of his having discovered and taken charge of the

body of Alexander III., who was killed in 12SG, by bis horse

falling over a precipice near the sea, while riding in a dark

night from Inverkeithing towards the castle of Kinghorn.

The lands of Castlerig have remained in possession of his

family ever since. They are mentioned in a charter of con-

linnatiou of the mortification of a chapel and hospital in

Kinghorn in lo(iO, as then belonging to Kobert Shank. Al-

exander Shank of Castlerig, the eleventh in descent from

Murdoch and twelfth proprietor of Castlerig, died, without

surviving issue, after 1747, when the estate devolved upon

his kinsman, the Kev. Alexander Shank, minhster of St. Cy-

rus, Kincardineshire. By his wife, Diana, daughter of IIo-

bcrt Scott of Duninald, the latter had three sons and two

daughters. Alexander, the eldest son, was drowned .at sea,

in the total loss of the "Anna" of Bombay in 1817. Mar-

tin, the second son, died without issue. Henry, the third

son, succeeded in 1825 to the estates of Castlerig and Glen-

iston, Fifeshire, and of the Villa, Laurencekirk, Kincardine-

shire. Jlr. Shank, a depnty-lieutenant of the city of London,

married, in 1808, Anna JIaria, the sister of Sir James IJivett

Carnac, baronet, of Kookclifl", Hants, at one period governor

of Bombay, with issue, four sons and tliree daughters. Hen-

rietta Anna, the youngest daughter, nnu'ricd in 1811, .lames

Sihbald D.avid, eldest son of Sir David Scott, of Duninald,

baronet, K.H.

Of this family was ,Tolm .Shank, or, as he chose to spell

his name, Scli.-mk, a brave and scientilic naval officer, bom
at Castlerig in 1740. When very young he entered the mer-

chant service, but subsequently joined the na\'y. After serv-

ing for many years he was promoted to the rank of lieuten-

ant, and shortly after was appointed, first, superintendent,

and then senior officer of the naval department of St. .lohn'.s,

North America. The force under his comm.and consisted of
|

four different flotillas, which he rendered very effective in

annoying the enemy, during the American revolutionary war.

His exertions and great merit called forth the highest enco-

miums from the admiral commanding on the station, p.arti-

cularly on account of the wonderful expedition with which

he constructed a ship of above 300 tons, named the Inflexi-

ble; which ship he built, rigged, and completed, and with it

fought and beat the enemy, all in less than six weeks from

the time that she was originally put on the .stocks at Que-

bec ! Besides fitting out various armaments to be employed

on the lakes of Canada, he had the direction of four different

dockyards at the same time. His services were also of great

use to the army under General Burgoyne in 1777, which he

attended in the capacity of engineer, and constructed several

floating bridges and rafts for the progress of the troops over

rivers, &c. At the pe.ace, he retumed home, and in 1783

was promoted to the rank of post-captain. Thereafter, he

occupied his leisure with plans fur the improvement of ship-

building. In 1793, he published a treatise on an ingenious

invention of his own relative to the construction of vessels

for sailing in sh.allow water, by means of sliding keels,

worked by mechanism. He was one of the original members

of the "Society for Improving Naval Architecture," and

wrote several valuable p.apers for that institution. In 1799,

he was appointed to superintend the transport service con-

nected with the expedition to Holland
;
and, on the e.'-tab-

lishment of the Transport Board, he was nominated one of

the commissioners. He retired from that office in 1802, in

consequence of a disorder in one of his eyes. In 1805 he

was raised to the rank of rear-admiral, in 1810 to that of

vice-admiral, and in July 1821 to that of admir.il of the blue. I

Ho died at Dawlish in Devonshire, March 6th, 1823. He

married a sister of Sir William Grant, master of the rolls,

with issue.

Sii.M'.r, a surname derived from the French heraldic term

Escliarp. Sir George Mackenzie, in his Science of Heraldiy,

savs that the word Jesse, from the Latin faseia, a scarf, re-

presents the scarf of a warrior en escharp, and from bear-

ing argent a fesse aznre the first of the Sharps, who came

from I'rance with King David, was called Jlonsieur dc

I'^scharp, and by corruption Sharp." (See Kisbefs Ueraldry,

vol. i. p. 43.)

Sll.Vlir, James, a prelate avIio.sc name is con-

nected with the establi-siiment of Episcopacy in

Scotland, was born in the castle of ]>anff, May 4,

1613. He was the son of William Sliarp Sher-

iff-clerk of BanliVhire, whose fatliei-, David Sharp,

liad been a niercliant in Aberdeen. Ills motlicr

was Isobel Lesly, daughter of Lcsly of Kininvy, a

near relative of tlie carl of Kotlies. Being early

destined for the ministry, he was i)laced at IMaris-
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dial college, Aberdeen, on quitting which he pro-

ceeded into England, and visited the universities

of Oxford and Cambridge. On the recommenda-

tion of the celebrated Alexander Henderson, he

subsequently obtained the professorship of philo

sophy in the university of St. Andrews. In

16-48, at the request of Mr. James Bruce, min-

ister of Kingsbarns, he was presented by the earl

of Crawford to tlie church and parish of Crail, on

which he resigned his chair. Eemarkable in his

early career for his attachment to Presbyteriauism,

he enjoyed the full confidence, and took part iu

all the councils, of the leaders of the church of

Scotland, and in 1650 was elected one of the min-

isters of Edinburgh, but the troubles of the time

consequent on Cromwell's invasion of Scotland

prevented his acceptance of the call.

In August 1651 he and a number of other minis-

ters, with some of the nobilitj% were surprised by

a party of the English at Alyth, in Angus, at

the time General Monk was besieging Dundee,

and being put on board a ship at Broughty Ferry,

were carried prisoners to London. He seems to

have obtained the favour of Cromwell, who set

him at liberty, while the rest were retained for

some time in confinement.

When the division took place among the Pres-

byterians of Resolutioners and Protesters, Sharp

joined the former, and in 1657 was sent by his

part}' to London to plead their cause with Crom-

well, in opposition to Messrs. James Guthrie,

Patrick Gillespie, and tlie other commissioners

from the Protesters. On this occasion he so much

distinguished himself by his address that Cromwell

remarked to the bystanders, "That gentleman,

after the Scotch way, should be called Sharp of

that ilk." In January 1660, on the prospect of

the Restoration, he was again, with five ministers

of Edinburgh, despatched to London by the lead-

ing ministers on the side of the Resolutioners, to

communicate the views of their party to Monk.

He remained in London till May 4, when he was

sent by Monk to Breda, to procure the sanction of

Charles II. to the proposed settlement of the ec-

clesiastical afi'airs of Scotland. He returned to

I>ondon, May 26, and appears to have continued

there till about the middle of August, being all

the time in close communication with the princi-
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pal leading persons and parties of the day, main-

taining, at the same time, an active correspondence

with the Presbyterian clergy of Scotland, who

placed their entire confidence in him. A full ab-

stract of his letters on the occasion, which are

preserved in the library of the university of Glas-

gow, will be found in Wodrow's History.

When he returned to Scotland, he delivered to

Mr. Robert Douglas a letter from the king, to be

communicated to the presbytery of Edinburgh, iu

which his majesty declared his resolution to pro-

tect and preserve the government of the Church

of Scotland, as "settled by law;" a phrase which

completely blinded the clergy to the designs of

Charles, and their representative. Sharp, who ap-

pears by this time to have been gained over, for

the introduction of prelacj'. On the subversion

by parliament of the Presbyterian Church in

August 1661, the roj'al pledge was thus at once

transferred to the support of that episcopacy which

had been overthrown in 1638, and which the peo-

ple of Scotland could never be prevailed upon to

recognise as the national religion.

During his absence in England, Sharp had been

elected professor of divinity in St. Mary's college,

fc^t. Andrews. He was also appointed his majesty's

chaplain for Scotland, with a salary of £200 per

annum.

Having, on the rising of parliament, again gone

up to London, he was nominated archbishop of

St. Andrews, and he and three others were con-

secrated with great pomp at Westminster, Decem-

ber 15, 1671. On his i-eturii from London in

April, he and his coadjutors, Fairfoul, bishop of

Glasgow, and Hamilton, bishop of Galloway, en-

tered Edinburgh in great state, and soon after

Sharp went over to Fife, and having dined at

Abbotshall with Sir Andrew Ramsay, on the 15th

of that month, he proceeded to Lesley House.

The earl of Rothes had prepared a sort of triumphal

progress for him, by writing to several persons

and corporations to meet him at difi^erent points

of the route, so that the cavalcade swelled to seven

or eight hundred horsemen. Among the company

were the earls of Rothes, Leven, and Kellie; Lord

Newark; Sir William Scott of Ardross, John

Lundie of Lundie, Dr. Alexander Martin of

Strathendrie, Arthur Forbes of Rires, Thomas
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Alexander of Scaddoway, and Sir John Gibson of

Durie. Only two ministers, however, were pre-

sent. In May 1662 Siiarp and Fairfoul, with

Leigliton, bishop of Dunblane, proceeded to con-

secrate the ten other bishops of Scotland, the par-

liament having postponed Its meeting till the

bishops should be ready to take their seats.

Tiie unrelenting persecution of the faithful ad-

herents of the Covenant which followed Sharp's ele-

vation to the primacy, increased the general odium

in w hicli his character was held, from the belief,

which was common anuing thcni, that he had be-

In chiiiiging sides, and lurniiig from rresb\-te-

riunism lo Episcopacy, Sliarp acted only as Leigh-

ton did, but the diliercnce between the two men

was that Leightou \\ a3 conscientious and sincere,

and wholly devoted to his episcopal and ministe-

rial duties, while Sharp was more a political than

a, religious adherent of his party, and took (he

lead in the persecution of tlie Covenanters
; and

hence the very different estimate which history

lias made of these prelates.

In 1679 occinreil that memorable act of ven-

geance which has been difterently represented by

different historians. On Saturday, May 3, in that

year, while travelling with his eldest daughter,

trayed the cause of the church. On Satiirdaj',

July 9, 1668, he narrowly escaped assassination,

by being shot at with a pistol, as he was entering

his carriage in the High Street of Edinburgh, by

Jlr. James Mitchell, who was not apprehended

till five years afterwards, and who was executed,

in 1678, in violation of a solemn promise to the

contrary.

Two portraits of Archbishop Sharp are sub-

joined, the one representing him in middle life,

and the other at a more advanced age, when his

features had become harsher:

Isabel, from Edinburgh l)y Kennoway to St. An-

drews, tlie jirimate's carriage was met on Mngus

Moor, within three miles of the latter town, by

nine of the more zealous of the persecuted Pi-es-

bytcrians, of whom Balfoui' of Burley, Russell of

Kettle, and Ilackston of Ralhillet were three.

They were waiting there to intercept Carniicliael,

sheriff-substitute of Fife, an active and unscrupu-

lous agent of the archbishop and the council in

oppressing the Covenanters. On Rnthillet declin-

ing to act as captain, Balfour of Bui-ley, a little

man, squint-eyed, and of a very fierce aspect,"

was chosen to command the partj'. The following

is I lie account given of the murder of the arch-
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bishop : Soon after passing tlie farm-lioiise of

Magus, between eleven and twelve o'cloclc, the

coachman, looking round, saw the conspirators

riding at ftdl speed, pistols in hand, witli swords

drawn, and hanging from their wrists ; and lie

immediately called to the postillion to drive on,

for he suspected their pursuers had evil intentions.

Finding his coach driven at such an Increased

speed, his grace looked out to see what was the

cause. Russell was by this time so near as to see

and recognise the archbishop. He immediately

fired and called to the rest to come up. Tlie pri-

mate urged the coachman to drive on, and he kept

on for half-a-mile at the same rapid rate. One

Henderson, who was best mounted, got ahead of

the postillion, and, after wounding him in the

face, cut his horse's hams. The coach being thus

stopped, was immediately surrounded by the pur-

suing party. On this. Sharp, turning to his

daughter, exclaimed, "Lord have mercy on me

!

My poor child, I am gone !" Tiiey then fired into

the coach, and wounded him two inches below the

collar-bone, the ball entering between the second

and third ribs. This pistol was fired so close to

his body that tlie wadding burnt his gown, and

v^as rubbed off hy Miss Sharp. One of them,

named Geoi'gc Fleman, then rode forward, and

seized the horses' reins on the near side, and held

tlicm till George Balfour had fired into the coach.

James Russell alighted, and, taking Fleman's

sword, opened the coach door, and desired "Ju-

das" to come forth, saying that the blood he had

shed was crying to Heaven for vengeance on him,

at the same time thrusting his sword at him, he

wounded him in the region of tlic kidneys. John

Balfour, who was still on horseback, also com-

manded him to come forth, and fired his pistol

at him. James Russell desired him again to

come forth, "and make ready for death, judg-

ment, and eternity." The archbishop addressing

them, said, " Gentlemen, if you will spare my life,

whatever else you will please to do, you shall

never be questioned for it." His daughter now

sprung out, and falling on her knees, with tears

and jirnyers begged her father's life, but she ap-

pealed to them in vain. Sharp then came out of

the coach, and said that " he did not know that

he had ever injured any of them, but if he Iiad, he

was ready to make i-eparation, beseeching then;

to spare his life, and he would never trouble them

for that violence ; but prayed them to consider,

before they brought the guilt of innocent blood

upon themselves." After receiving various wounds

from tiieir swords, Balfour gave him a tremendous

cut above the left eye, on which he exclaimed,

"Now you have done the turn," and then fell

forward, with his head resting on his arms. Miss

Sharp was all this time held by Andrew Guillan,

with the view of securing her from danger, when

interposing herself between her father and the

conspirators. The spot where the assassination

took place Is still marked by a stone erected to

the memory of Guillan, a weaver lad, one of the

only two of the party who were executed for the

deed, the other being Hackston of Rathillet, nei-

ther of whom, it is remarkable, had any actual

participation in the murder. Rathillet, according

to the historians of the time, remained aloof, on

horseback, his face muffled in his cloak, but near

enough to be recognised b}' Sharp, who appealed

to him, as a gentleman, to protect him, to which,

according to Guillan's account, Rathillet replied,

"I shall never lay hand on you."

According to " the evidence of two persons

who were present," as preserved by Kirkton, (5e-

ci'et and True History of the Kirk of Scotland, p.

421,) the conspirators first " poured in on the

bishop's body a shower of ball ;" but one of them

having heard liis daughter say to tlie coachman,

"Tliere is life in my father yet," they" forced

him out of the coach," and " discharged a new

shower of shot on him, on which he fell back, and

lay as dead. Some gave him a prick with a

sword, on which he raised himself. Then they

saw shooting would not doe, and drew their

swords. On the sight of cold iron his coiu'age

failed, and he made hideouse schriecks as ever

wer heard ; one of them gave him a blow on the

face, and his chafts fell down : then he spoke

somewhat, but it could not be understood
;
they

redoubled their stroaks and killed him outriglit."

The assassination of Archbishop Sliarp forms the

subject of an admirable painting by Sir William

Allan, which has been engraved. The event

brought much opprobrium on the Presbyterians,

" though unjustly," says Sir AValter Scott, " for
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the moderate persons of that persuasion, compre-

liending the most numerous, and by far the most

respectable, of the bod}', disowned so cruel an ac-

tion, altliough tliey nii;;ht be, at the same time, ol

opinion tliat tiie arclibishoi), wlio had been the

cause of many men's violent death, merited some

sucli concUision to liis own."

Treated by Presbyterians and Presbyterian au-

thors as an apostate and traitor. Archbishop Sluirj)

has, on the other liand, received from Episcopa-

lian writers, witli the exception of Bishop Bur-

net, the highest encomiums and commendations.

Mr. Elliott says of him, "1 can justly, and on

good grounds, say that he was a most reverent

and grave churchman, vcvy strict and circumspect

ill his course of life ; a man of great learning, great

wit, and no less great and solid judgment, a man

of great council, most faithful in his episcopal

ollice, and most vigilant over the enemies of the

church."

By his wife, Helen IMoncrieff, daughter of the

laird of Randerston, Archbishop Sharp had a son.

Sir William Sharp, and three daughters, the eldest

of whom was married to Erskinc of Cambo, the

2d to Cunningham of Barns, and the youngest,

Margaret, to William, eleventh Lord Saltoun. A
magnificent marble monument was erected by his

son over the place where his i-emains were interred

in the parish church of St. Andrews.

SIIARPE, Charles Kirkpatrick, an accom-

plished amateur in literature, art, and music, was

born about 1781. He sprung from a house which,

in more than one generation, had been distin-

guished by a taste for literature. In 1G90 his an-

cestor, John Sharpe, Esq., purchased from the

carl of Southcsk, the estate and castle of Hod-

dam, Dumfries-shire, which has ever since conti-

nued in the family. His grand-uncle, Matthew

Sharpe of Hoddani, fought at Preston on the side

of Prince Charles, and died in 17G9, at the age of

76. He corresponded with l)a\id Hume, the

historian, who addressed to him one of his most

characteristic letters. His father, Jlr. Charles

Sharpe of Iloddam, was a grandson of Sir Tho-

mas Kirkpatrick of Closcburn, the second baronet

of his line. Burns, in 1790 or 1791, wrote to him

a humorous letter under a lirtitious signature, en-

closing tlirce stanzas, written by him to what he

calls "a charming Scots air" of Mr. Sharpe's

composition. In this letter lie says, "You, I am

told, play an exquisite violin, and have a stand-

ard taste in the bclli:<; Icttrcs.'' 'J'he subject of

this notice was his second son, the eldest son be-

ing General IMatthew Sharpe of Hoddain, ]\I.P-

for the Dumfries burghs from 1832 to 1841. His

mother was a daughter of Renton of Lambcrton,

a lady whose charms have been commemorated

by Smollett in Humphrey Clinker. His brother

was a whig of extremely liberal i)olitics, but he

himself was a toi-y of the old high cavalier school.

He was educated at Christ church, O.xford, and

at one period was designed for the ministry in the

Church of England, but never took orders. Be-

fore lie had attained his thirtieth j-ear he had

fixed his residence in ICdinburgh, devoting his
j

time principally to the cultivation of literature,
1

music, and the fine arts.

Ilis first appearance in print was in the 'Bor-

der Minstrelsy,' edited by Sir Walter Scott, to

which publication he contributed, in 1803, ' The

Tower of Repentance,' a ballad of some merit.

In 1807 he published at Oxford a volume of 'IVIe-

trical Legends and other Poems,' 8vo. He show-

ed, however, higher skill as an artist than genius

as a poet. At Abbotsford is his original drawing

of Queen Elizabeth "dancing high and disposed-

ly" before the Scottisli envoy. Sir James Melville,

who had excited her jealous}' by commendations

of the exquisite grace with which Mary Stuart led

the dance at Holyrood or Linlithgow. On I'e-

ceiving it from Mr. Sharpe, then at Oxford, Sir

AValter Scott, in a letter dated SOtli December

1808, earnestly endeavoured to enlist him as a

contributor to two works which he was at that

time busy in projecting, viz., the ' Quarterly Re-

view,' and the ' Edinbui'gh Annual Register.'

I\Ir. Sharpe's drawing of the ' Jlarriage of IMuckle

IMou'd INIeg,' illustrative of a well-known inci-

dent in border history, like his ' Queen Elizabeth

dancing,' is a fine specimen of the humorous.

Etchings of them were made, as ^^•ell as of the

' Ecast of Spurs,' and many other things of the

same kind from his ever ready pencil.

In 1817 Mr. Sharpe edited the ' Secret and

True History of the Church of Scotland, from the

Restoration to the year 1G78, by the Rev. James

J
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Kirkton, with an account of the murder of Arch-

bishop Shaipe, hy James Russell, an actor there-

in,' Edinburgh, 4to. To this woi'k he appended

a series of Notes remarkable for their piquancy.

In 1820 lie published an edition of the Rev. Ro-

bert Law's ' Memorialls, or the considerable things

that fell out within this island of Great Britain

from 1638 to 1684,' Edinburgh, 4to. This work,

it is said in Watt's ' Bibliothcca Britannica,' forms

a collection of perhaps the best selected tales of

"witchcraft and wiznrdy which lias been yet pub-

lished. In 1823 he produced his 'Ballad Book,' a

small collection of Scottish ballads, inscribed to

the editor of the Border Minstrelsy. In 1827 he

edited 'Tlie Life of Lady Margaret Cuuuiiig-

hame,' and a narrative of the ' Conversion of Lady

Warristoun.' In 1828 he edited for the Banna-

tyne Club the ' Letters of Lady Margaret Ken-

nedy,' or Burnet, to John, duke of Lauderdale,

and in 1829, for the same Club, the ' Letters of

Archibald, Earl of Argyle,' to the same noble-

man. He also furnished the curious engravings

illustrative of Sir Richard Maitland's ' History of

the House of Seton to the year 1559, witli the

continuation by Alexander Viscount Kingston to

1687,' printed for the Maitland Club in 1829. A
small collection of his characteristic etchings ap-

peared in 1833, under the title of ' Portraits by

an Amateur.' In 1837 he edited 'Minuets and

Songs by Thomas sixth Earl of Kelly,' and ' Sar-

gundo, or the Valiant Christian,'—a Romanist

song of triumph for the victory of the Popish

earls of Glenlivat in 1594. Of these works the

impressions were limited, and they are not much

known, except to antiquaries and bibliogi'aphers.

When Sir Walter Scott began to keep a diary in

November 1825, about the first portrait he in-

scribed in it, was that of the subject of tliis no-

tice. " Charles Kirkpatrick Sharpe," it begins,

" is another very remarkable man. He was bred

a clergyman, but never took orders. He has

infinite wit, and a great turn for antiquarian lore,

as tlie publications of Kirkton, &c., bear witness.

His drawings are the most fanciful and droll

imaginable—a mixture between Hogarth and

some of those foreign masters who painted temp-

tations of St. Anthony, and such grotesque sub-

jects. As a poDt he has not a very strong touch.

Strange that his finger-ends can describe so well

what he cannot bring out clearly and firmly in

words! If he were to make drawing a resource

it might raise him a large income. But though a

lover of antiquities, and, therefore, of expensive

trifles, Charles Kirkpatrick Sliarpe is too aristo-

cratic to nse his art to assist his purse. He is a

verv complete genealogist, and has made many

detections in Douglas and other books on pedi-

gree, which our nobles would do well to suppress

if they had .an opportunity. Strange that a man

should be so curious after scandal of centuries old!

Not but that Charles loves it fresh and fresh also;

for being very much a fashionable man, he is al-

ways master of the reigning report, and he tells

the anecdote with such gusto that there is no help-

ing S3'mpathising with him—a peculiarit}- of voice

adding not a little to the general effect. My idea is

that Charles Kirkpatrick Sharpe, with his oddities,

tastes, satire, and high aristocratic feelings, re-

sembles Horace Walpole—perhaps in his person

also in a general way." One of the great pub-

lishing houses of London offered him a large sum

for his autobiography, but he refused the offer.

Mr. Sharpe died 18th March 1851, aged upwards

of 70. His collection of antiquities was among

the richest which any private gentleman had ever

accumulated in Scotland.

Shaw, a surname, tlie origin of which in Scotland, says

Nisbet, is commonly attributed to one Sh.iw, second son of

Duncan earl of Fife, who was cupbearer to Alexander III.,

and whose descendants assumed tlieir surname from his pro-

per name, and their armorial bearings from the badge of his

office. In England the word Shaw means a small wood or

copse. In the county of Dublin, Ireland, there is a family i f

the name of Shaw, possessing a baronetcy, which were origi-

nally Scotch, and formed part of the clan Chattan.

In the Ragman Roll is the name of William de Shaw, oi^e

of the barons who swore fealty to Edward I. in 1296. lie

was the progenitor of the Shaws of Hailly and Sornbeg, •in

old family in Ayrshire. The principal family of the name

was that of Shaw of Sauchie, Stirlingshire. John Shaw nf

Sauchie was comptroller to James III. The lands of Green-

ock were acquired in marri.-ige by one of his progenitors wiili

one of the coheirs of Galbraith of Greenock in the reign of

Robert III. In the reign of James V., Alexander Shaw of

Sauchie gave the lands of Greenock in patrimony to John

Shaw, his eldest son hy his second wife, Elizabeth, daughter

of William Cunningham of Glengarnock. The family of

Sauchie failed in succession about the end of the seventeenth

century, and have since been represented by that of Sliaw

Stewart of Greenock and Blackhall. (A^isbefs Heraldnj, vol.

i. p. 43.)

The family of Shaw of Bargarran, Renfrewshire, (ierived

their descent from a younger brother of the family of Sau-
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cliie. Tlie remarkable case of Cliristian Shaw, a dau<;liter,

eleven years old, of John Shaw of Bargarran, wlio in the end

of 1C9G and beginning of 1C97, represented herself as being

grievously tormented by witches, is one of the most extraor-

dinary in the annals of witclicraft in Scotland. In the Old

Statistical Account it is stated that " one of the last trials

for witchcraft which happened in Scotland, had its origin in

this parish in 1G9G-7. The person supposed to have been

bewitched or tormented by the agency of evil spirits, or of

those who were in compact with them, was Christian Shaw,

daughter of John Shaw of Bargarran, then about eleven years

of age. A short account of this trial may be seen in Arnot's

' Collection of Criminal Trials.' Tliree men and four women
were condenmed to death, as guilty of the crime of witch-

craft, and were executed at Paisley. Tliis may furnish am-

ple matter of speculation to those whose object it is to trace

the progress and variation of manners and opinions among

men. The subsequent history of tliis lady is, however, more

interesting to tlie political inquirer. Having acquired a re-

markable dexterity in spinning fine yarn, slie conceived the

idea of manufacturing it into thread. Her first attempts in

tliis way were necessarily on a small .scale. She executed al-

most every part of tlie process witli her own hands, and

bleached her materials on a large slate placed in one of the

windows of the house. She succeeded, however, so well in

these essays as to have suflncient encouragement to go on,

and to take the assistance of her younger sisters and neigh-

bours. The then Lady Blantyre carried a parcel of lier

thread to Bath, and disposed of it advantageou.sly to some

maimfacturers of lace, and this was probably the first thread

made in Scotland that had crossed the Tweed. About this

time a person who was connected with the family Iiappening

to be in Holland, found means to learn the secrets of the

thread manufacture, which was then carried on to great ex-

tent in that country, particularly the art of sorting or num-

bering the threads of diflerent sizes, and packing them npfor

sale, and the construction and management of the twisting

and twining machine. This knowledge he communicated on

his return to his friends in Bargarran, and by means of it

they were enabled to conduct their manufacture with more

regularity, and to a gi'eater extent. The young women in

the neighbourhood were taught to spin fine yarn, twining

mills were erected, correspondences were established, and a

profitable business was carried on. Bargarran thread became

extensively known, and, being ascertained by a stamp, bore a

good price. From the instructions of the family of Bargar-

ran, a few families in the neighbourhood engaged in the s.ame

business, and continued it for a number of years. It was not

to be expected, liowever, that a manufacture of that kind

could be confined to so small a district, or would be allowed

to remain in so few.hands for a great length of time. The

secrets of the business were gr.adually divulged by appren-

tices and assistants. Traders in Paisley availed themselves

of these comumnications, and laid the foundation of the well

established and extensive manufacture of thread, which has

ever since been carried on in that town."

A family of the name of Shaw was settled at the farm of

RIosshead, parish of Riccarton, A)Tshire, since the fifteenth

century. One of its descendants, Sir James Shaw, baronet,

alderman and city chamberlain of London, was born there,

26tli August 17G4. In his fourth year his father removed to

Kilmarnock, about two miles from Mosshcad, where he

opened a public-house. In his IGth or 17th year, young

Shaw went to America, to fill a situation in a commercial

house procured for him by his brother, David Shaw, who was

secretary to General Crosbie, barrack-master at New York
during the revolutionary war. He afterwards returned to

Britain, and became a junior clerk in a mercantile house in

London, and by diligence and ability gradually rose till he

became a partner in the firm. In 1798 he was elected alder-

man for the ward of Portsoken. In 1803 he served the office

ofsherift", and in 1805 he was elected lord mayor, the first

Scotsman that had ever filled that situation. The fol-

lowing year he was chosen one of the members of the city of

London, which he represented till 1818, when he resigned

his seat. On 21st September 1809, he was created a baronet.

On 14th Januaiy 1813, he obtained a second patent, with

remainder to his nephew, John M'Fie, son of John MTie of

Greenholm, Ayrshire, by JIargaret, sister of Sir James. His

nephew had assumed the name of Shaw, by royal sign man-
ual, Oct. 6, 1807. In 1831 Sir James was appointed cham-

berlain of the city of London, when he resigned his aldermanic

gown. He died Oct. 22, 1813, in his 79th year. He was ex-

tremely charitable, and particularly liberal in his donations

to the people of Kilmarnock, in which town a monument was

soon after liis death erected to his memory. He was suc-

ceeded by his nephew, above mentioned. Sir John Shaw, 2d

baronet, burn Dec. 21, 1787.

SiiEDDEN, the name of a family originally of Ayrshire,

the progenitor of which, Robert Shedden, the son of John

Shedden, merchant in Beitb, was for some time a merchant

in Holland. He afterwards settled in Beitli, his native place,

where he acquired property previous to 1G75. Robert, his

eldest son, bought, in 1C90, the estate of Roughwood, in

Beitli parish; also the lands of Jlilnburn, in Tarbolton, and

of Coalburn and Auchingree, in Dairy, all in the county of

Ayr, and the lands of Kerse, Ronficwshire. This gentle-

man's grandson, Robert Shedden, born in 1741, in the parish

of Beith, succeeded in 1751, his father, Willi.im Shedden of

Auchingree and Kerse, third son of Robert Shedden of

Roughwood, by Beatrice, daughter of Robert Dobie, cham-

berlain of Giffen. In 1759, he went to Virginia, and settled

as a merch.ant in Norfolk in that colony. In 17G7, he mar-

ried there Agatha Wells, daughter of John Goodrich, Esq. of

Nansemond Plantation, and by her had five sons and three

daughters. On the breaking out of the American revolu-

tionary war, he was compelled to take refuge with his family

on board Lord Dunmore's fleet, and his property in Virginia

was confiscated. In 1776 he went to Bermuda, .and after-

wards to New York, where he resided as long as that place

remained in possession of the British. On the peace of 1783,

he returned to Britain, and settled in London as an under-

writer and general merchant. He purchased the lands of

Gatend, Beith, which he burdened with a pei-petual annuity

of £50, vested in trustees, who were directed to apportion

the same among persons of respectable char.acter resident

three ye.ars in the parish, in annuities not exceeding £10,

nor less than £5 each. He died in London, 29th September

182G, aged 85, and was succeeded by his eldest son, George

Shedden. The third son. Colonel John Shedden, of Kaston-

ton and Efford, Hants, mamed Sophi.i, daughter of Matthew

Lewis, Esq., under-secretary of war, and coheiress, with her

sister, Fanny Maria, Lady Lushington, of JIatthew Gregory

Lewis, Esq., XLP., author of 'The Monk,' who died in 1818,

and had issue by her.

Colonel Shedden's next brother, William, was a merchant

in London. He married Wilhelmina, younger daughter of

Captain William Miller, R.N.. and left at his death, in 1820,

an only son, Robert, of whom afterwards. Jlrs. Shedden
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married again, James Watson, Esq., 47th regiment, son of

James Watson, Esq. of Bridge Castle, Linlitligowsliire, wri-

ter to the signet; without issue. Mrs. Shedden Watsun died

in Jan. 18G1. She was a great traveller, and liad fourteen

times crossed the Bay of Biscay. Three times she liad vis-

ited Egypt, and had gone over the whole of Syria and the

Holy Land. She spoke several languages with fluency. For

a memoir of lier uncle, Sir David J. Hamilton Dickson, see 2d

vol. of this work, page 38. Her elder sister, Jane Marguerite,

married John Ilohertson, Esq. of Ednam House, Kelso, with-

out issue. This lady has heen a great benefactor to that town.

Robert Shedden, tlie only son of Mrs. Shedden Watson, by

her first husband, a young and enterprising navigator, was

cut off' in the spring-time of his days, while prosecuting tlie

search fur the missing expedition to the Arctic regions under

Sir John Franklin. Early in life he entered the navy, and

served throughout the Chinese war, in which he was severely

wounded. In possession of an ample fortune, in 1847 lie

built the Nancy Dawson yacht schooner, in which he sailed

from England in November of that year, on a voyage round

the world. At the end of his second year's absence, he touch-

ed at Petropaulski, Kamschatka. He fell in with ice on the

passage through lieliring's Straits, and found her majesty's

ships. Herald and Plover, which liad been despatched by

government for Sir John's relief, just as they were sailing

from Kotzebue Sound. His yacht kept company with tliein

for some days, and went with the boats despatched from the

Plover round Point Barrow, rendering gi-eat assistance to

the bo.it expedition to the Mackenzie river. The Nancy

Dawson sailed south in company with the Herald, ami

arrived at Mazatlan on November 11, 1849. On the pas-

sage Mr. Shedden was extremely ill, and five days after his

arrival at Mazatlan, he died on the 16th of tliat month, in

liis 29th year. A park ne.ar Kelso, given by his aunt, Mrs.

Robertson, to the inhabitants, is called Sliedden P:ak, after

his name. She expended not less than £3,000 in its pur-

chase and laying out. In June 1801 she presented to the

town a valuable range of houses situated at the west end of

Shedden Park; the rents of which, amounting to .-ibout £60

a-year, are to be applied to its einbellishinent or enlargement.

Mr. William Sliedden's brother, George Shedden, Esq. of

Paulersbury Park, Northamptonshire, Knockmarlocli, Ayr-

shire, and Hadiiiead, Buckinghamshire, mariied liis cousin,

Maiy, elder daughter and coheiress of William Goodrich, Esq.

of Spring Hill, Isle of Wight; issue, 8 sons and 4 daughters.

He succeeded his father in 1826.

In 18G1 a case relating to the succession to tlie Rough-

wood property, which liad been before the Court of Session,

was argued in the Probate Court, London, under the Legiti-

macy Declaration Act. A petition was presented to the hit-

ter court by a gentleman of the name of Shedden and his

daughter, praying to be declared a natural born subject of

}ier majesty and the legitimate son of Mr. William Ralston

Shedden, deceased, of Roughwood, Ayrshire. The latter had

gone to America in 1770, and afterwards engaged in business.

In 1790, being then a widower, he is said to have married a

Miss Wilson, then 16 years of age, and by her had 2 children,

of whom the petitioner was one. Miss Shedden conducted her

father's case throughout with great skill, fluencv, and eloquence,

but the decision of the court was adverse to his claims.

The Shcddens of Morris Hill, also in Ayrshire, descend

from John Shedden, younger brother of Robert Shedden, the

first of Roughwood.

SHORT, James, an eminent optician, tlie son

of Williiim Sliort, a joiner in p]dinbni'gli, was

born in tliat city, June 10, 1710. At tlic ajre

of ten lie was admitted into Ileriot's Hospital,

and in 1726 was entered a student of the univer-

sit}' of Edinburgh, wlicre lie took his degree of

M.A. At the earnest solicitation of his grand-

mother, he attended the divinity hall, and passed

his trials, with the view of becoming a minister,

but finding the clerical profession little suited to

his genius for mechanics, he relinquished it, with-

out being licensed. His taste for mathematics

having attracted the notice of the celebrated Mac-

laurin, whose class he attended, he kindly per-

mitted him the use of his rooms in the college for

his apparatus, where he commenced the practice

of his art, and, under the superintendence of that

eminent professor, he made great proficiency,

especially in the casting and polishing of the me-

tallic specula of reflecting telescopes. In 1736 he

was appointed, by QuQcn Caroline, mathematical

tutor to William duke of Cumberland. On his

removal to London, he was elected a fellow of the

Ro3'al Society, and became a contributor of many

excellent papers to the Philosophical Transactions.

In 1739 he accompanied the earl of Morton, by

whom and the earl of Macclesfield he was much

patronized, to make a surve}- of the Orkney Isl-

ands. On his return to London, he established

himself there as an optician, and obtained a high

reputation for his skill in the construction of tele-

scopes, and other mathematical instruments. lie

died at Newington Butts, near London, June 15,

1768, leaving a fortune of about £20,000, acquired

by his ov, n exertions.

Shortt, (Scliorte, Schoj-t, or Short,') the surname of a

Dumfries-shire family, supposed to have come originally

from Holland. According to tradition, Archibald Schort

was in 1491 proprietor of Cambus Barron, Stirlingshire.

For tlieir adherence to the Covenant, Alexander and Robert

Shortt, of this family, brothers, suffered great persecution.

The former was obliged to fly to Holland, with the forfeiture

of his propertv, wliile tlie latter was hunted for years by the

dragoons of " the bloody Claver'se." Robert married in

1664, Janet, daughter of Matthew Kirkpatrick, brother of

the laird of Closeburn, and by her h.ad Dr. Thomas Shortt,

physician to George II., a notice of whom is given on the

following page. Robert's gi-andson, Thomas Shortt, married

Margaret, second daughter of Francis Carruthers of Hart-

wood, Dumfries-shire, and had by her an only son, Francis

Shortt of Courance and Whitelaud, in the same county.

The hitter had three sons, the youngest of whom, Major

John Macourtie Shortt, Bombay army, born 5th February

1803, succeeded to the estate; married, with issue.
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SIIOIITT, Thomas, a medical writer, physician

to George II., was born iu Scotland about the

end of the seventeenth century. lie was educat-

ed at the university of Edinburgh, and early in

life settled in SliefBeld, wliere he obtained con-

siderable practice. In 1732 lie married Mary,

dangliter of Mr. Parliins of Mortimley, rear Slief-

field, by whom he liad two sons and two daugli-

ters. On the deatli of liis wife in 1762, he retired

to Rotlierham, wlicrc lie died at an advanced age,

November 28, 1772. lie was the author of the

following publications

:

Discourse on tlie Iiiw;inl Use of Water. Lond. 172.5, 8vo.

Discourse on the Causes and Eflects of Corpulencv. Lond.

1727, 8vo.

Dissertation upon Te.i, explaining its nature and proper-

ties, by ni5in_v new experiments. Lond. 1730, 4to. 1753, 4to.

E.Niilanation of the Technical Words made use of in Bota-

ny. Lond. 1731.

The Natural, Experimental and Medicinal History of the

Mineral Waters of Derbyshire, Lancashire and Yorkshire,

particularly those of Scarborough. Lond. 1734, 4to.

Medicina Botanica; or, a Treatise on such Physical Plants

as are found in the fields or gardens of Great Britain. Lond.

1745, 1747, 8vo.

History of the Mineral Waters of Cumberland, North-

umberland, Westmoreland, Durham, Lancashire, Cheshire

StafTordshire, Shropshire, Worcestershire, Gloucestershire,

Warwick.shire, Northampton.shire, Leicestershire and Not-

tinghamshire. Lond. 1740, 4to.

Discourse on Tea, Sugar, Jlilk, Made-Wines, Spirits,

Punch, Tobacco; with plain and useful IJules for Country

People. Lond. 1750, 8vo. This work also contains some

Remarks on Hydrophobia : reconnneuds submersion in the sea.

New Observations, Jloral, Natural, Civil, Political and

Medical, on City, Town and Country Bills of Mortality ; to

which .are added, large and clear Abstracts of tlje best -Au-

thors who have wrote on that subject ; with an Appendix on

the Weather and Meteors. Lond. 1750, 8vo. "This work,

thongli not conducted with the greatest regularity, is not

without its merits." Jlontli. Uev.

Treatise on the diflerent sorts of Cold Jlincral Waters in

England. Lond. 176G, Svo.

.\ Comparative History of the Increase and Decrease of

JIankind in England, and several countries abroad; and also

a Meteorological Discourse. Lond. 17G7, 4to.

Case of Epilepsy from an uncommon cause. Ed. Med.

Ess. iv. p. 41G. Cured by an operation.

Total Obstruction of the Valve of the Colon. lb. p. 441.

.\n extraordinary Iniposthumation of the Liver. Phil.

Trans. 1731, Abr. vii. p. 500.

Account of several Meteors. lb. 1740, Abr. viii. p. 4CD.

Of an extraordinary Dropsy, lb. p. 307.

SiBB.^LD, an ancient surname in Scotland. The lands of

Balgonie, in the parish of Markinch, Eifeshire, were at an

early period possessed by a family of this name. Their pro-

genitor, Duncanus Sibbauld, is witness to a cliarfer to Sever

de Seton by Rogerus de Quinci, earl of Winton or Winches-

ter, before 1240. The same year, Donatus Silibauld is wit-

ness to a charter by the same Rogerus de Quinci, to Adam
III.

de Seton, " de marit.agio heredis Alain de Eauside." Dun-
canus Sibauld is mentioned in a bull of Pope Innocent IV.

in 1250. The name apjiears in various other charters about

that period. Matheus Sybauld is witness to several charters

of Duncan the last earl of Eife of the Macdufl's. Thomas
Sybald, miles, is witness to several charters in the time of

Robert II., particularly to that writ of alienation of the

earldom of Eife by Isabella, counte.ss thereof, to Robert Stew-

art, earl of Monteith, in 1371. There is a charter by King

Robert to Alexander Sybald, of the lands of Cuickston ; also

one by the Regent Albany, earl of Eife, to Sir John Sibbald

of Balgonie, of the lands of Rossie and Creinberg, and one by

King Robert to Thomas Sibbald, " De quinque marcis annui

redditus de firmis burgi de Crail." {Sihhald's Uistonj of
Fife, ed. 1803, p. 3C9.) Sir Thomas Sibbald was principal

treasurer to James 11. Sir Robert Sibbald says he had seen

the autograjjh of a cli.arter by King James V., dated at Falk-

land the last d.-iy of September, " anno regni nostri vigpsimo

septimo," confirming a charter of alienation made by Jaco-

bus Sibbauld de Rankeillour-Over, or Upper, to Alexander Sib-

bauld his brother, and his heirs, of the third part of the lands

of Pitcullo lying within the county of Eit'e. Elizabeth,

daughter of Sir Andrew Sibbald of Balgonie, married George

Douglas, earl of Angus. Their son, Archibald, earl of An-
gus, was father of the learned Gavin, bishop of Dunkeld, and

grandfather of that Archibald earl of Angus who married

Margaret, queen-dowager of Scotland, and whose daughter,

Lady Margaret Douglas, was the wife of JIatthew, earl of

Lennox, and the mother of Henry Lord Dandey, tlie hus-

band of Man-, queen of Scots, and father of James VI., " so

that," says Nisbet, (vol. ii. --Vpp. p. 127,) " of this ancient

family of Sibbald of Balgonie, not only the royal family of

Great Britain are descended, but most of all the crowned

heads in Europe who have intermarried with that serene

house.''

Sir Andrew Sibbald of Balgonie, .sheriff of Eife in 1457,

and again in 14GG, left an only daughter, Helena, who mar-

ried Robert Lundin, second son of Sir John Lundin of Lun-

din, .and of them came the Lundins of Balgonie. These latter

quartered the arms of Sibbald with their own.

Ne.\t to the Sibbalds of Balgonie, the principal family of

the name, were the Sibbalds of Rankeillour. Andrew Sibbald

of Rankeillour Over had, by his wife, Margaret, daughter of

George Learmontli of Balcomie, three sons, viz. 1. James,

father of Sir David Sibbald of Rankeillour, in whom this fam-

ily terminated. 2. George Sibbald, M.D., profes.sor of philoso-

phy on the continent; and 3. David, keeper of the great

seal under the earl of Kinnoul, who was appointed lord-higli-

chancellor of Scotland in 1G22. He was fallier of the cele-

brated Sir Robert Sibbald of Kipps, M.D., a learned antiquary,

author of the History of Fife and other works, a memoir of

whom follows in larger type. Upper Rankeillour remained in

possession of the Sibbalds till the reign of Charles II., when

it became the property of Sir .Archib.ald Hope, gi-andson of

the famed Sir Thomas Hope of C'raighall.

The familv of Sibbald of Kair, Kincardineshire, a cadet of tlie

Balgonie family, was one of the most ancient in that county,

and at one period possessed extensive property there. Among

the last of the Kair family was Dr. David Sibbald, preceptor

to the young duke of Gloucester, the son of Charles I.

He suffered much in the civil wars, on account of his loyalty,

was imprisoned iu London, and had his estate forfeited. He

survived the Restoration, and died in his own house of Kair,

in IGCl. Of this family were the Rev. John Sibbald, one

of the ministers of Arbuthnot, who left a library of books,

chiefly iu divinity, for the use of his successors, but which

2 F



SIBBALD, 450 SIR ROBERT.

have all disappeared, and the Rev. Patrick Sibbald, parson

of St. Nicholas' church, Aherueen, and rector of JIaiisclial

college there.

SIBBALD, Sir Robert, an eminent physician,

naturalist, and antiqnaiy, was a 3'onnger son of

David Sibbald, tliird brotlier of Sir James Sibbald

of Ranlceillour, a descendant of the Sibbalds of

Balgonie, Fifeshire. He was born in 1G41. Bow-

er, in Ids ' History of tlie University of Edinburgli,'

says tliat lie was a native of tliat city. He began

to learn Latin in tlie burgli school of Cupar in

1650. The following year his parents removed

with him to Dundee. They were in that town

when it was taken by General Monk by assault,

after a stubborn and prolonged resistance by the

inhabitants. During this memorable siege the

subject of this notice had a very narrow escape

for his life, and his father was severely wounded.

In the pillage which followed, the family were

robbed of everything they possessed by the Eng-

lish soldiery, and had to walk to Cupar from ina-

bilitj'- to pay for any mode of convej'ance. After-

wards young Sibbald became a student in the

university of Edinburgh, where he remained for

five years. He applied himself to the profession

of physic, in which his uncle, Dr. George Sibbald

of Gibliston, had attained considerable eminence.

In March 1660, he went to Holland, and for a

year and a half studied anatomy and surgery at

Leyden, then the most celebrated medical school

in Europe. lie took his doctor's degree there in

1661, his inaugural dissertation on the occasion

being published under the title of ' De Variis Ta-

bis Speciebus.'

On leaving Leyden he went to Paris, and after-

wards to Anglers, where he remained a j'car,

pursuing his studies with great assiduity. He

next repaired to London, and in October 1662

returned to Edinburgh, where he commenced the

practice of medicine. About 1667 he and Dr.

afterwards Sir Andrew Balfour, who had been

long in France, formed the design of instituting

a botanical garden in Edinburgh, and for this pur-

pose they procured an enclosure " of some fortj'-

feet every way," as he takes care to tell us, in the

north yards of the abbey, which they stocked with

a collection of 800 or 900 plants. Other physicians

in Edinburgh now joined them, and subscriptions

were raised for the support of the garden. From

the town council they afterwards obtained a lease

of the garden belonging to Trinity Hospital and

adjacent ground, for the same purpose. It was

principally through the instrumentality of Dr.

Sibbald that the royal college of physicians of

Edinburgh, of which he was one of the original

members, obtained their charter of incorporation.

The great seal w.is appended to it, 29th Novem-

ber 1681, being St. Andrew's day. In 1682 he

was knighted by the duke of York, then high-

commissioner in Scotland.

By the encouragement of the earl of Perth, Sir

Robert had, with his other pursuits, begun to

make collections for an accurate geographical and

statistical account of Scotland, with a description

of the natural history of the kingdom. Through

that nobleman, he was appointed by Charles II.,
|

by patent dated 30th September 1682, geographer
j

roj'al for Scotland, and he got another patent to be
!

his physician there. At t'le same time he receiv-
j

ed his majesty's commands to publish the natural
|

history of the countiy, with its geographical de- I

scription. "This," says Sir Robert, in his auto-

biography, " was the cause of great pains and

very much e.xpense to me, in buying all the books

and manuscripts I could get for that use, and pro-
|

curing informations from all parts of the country,
|

even the most remote isles. I employed John

Adair for surveying, and did bestow much upon

him, and paid a guinea for each double of tiie I

maps he made. He got much money from the

gentry', and an allowance from the public for it
;

j

but notwithstanding the matter was recommended

by a committee of the council, and my pains and

progress in the work represented, yet I obtained

nothing except a patent for one hundred pounds

sterling of salary from King James the Seventh
j

as his physician. I got only one year's paj-ment."
]

In 1682 he had published an advertisement rcla- !

five to his geographical work, with queries, which

was distributed over the kingdom. The follow-

ing year, he issued, in Latin and in English, an

account of the projected work, stating what had

been effected and what required to be done, with

proposals for printing it. In 1684 he published

his principal work, entitled ' Scotia Illustrata, sive

Prodromus Ilistoria; Naturalis Scotia?,' folio, sev-
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enty copies of wliicli, lie says, lie gave away in

presents. Of tliis woi'lvDr. Pitcairii published an

anonymous review in 1G9(). "Sililmld," says

Bower, {History of the Univcrsitij of li.<Unl)ur(jh,

vol. i. p. D?],) "had condemned the medical sys-

tem of Bellini, I'itcairn's <rreat master, and this

was the cause of no mercy being shown to his

Prodromns. Jle laughs at him for giving credit

to the report that there were in Scotland ' wild

oxen with manes,' and 'badgers like swine,' 'bea-

vers,' &c. Quotations are given, from which his

ignorance of natural history, botany, zoology, and

geograph}^ is jiroved, as well as his plagiarism

from Ray, Sutherland, and others. It must be

confessed that the criticism is most unreasonably

severe." To this chai'ge of ignorance and l^lagi-

arism, Sibbald re])lied, in a pamphlet, entitled

'Vindicia\ Trodronii Naturalis Ilistoria; Scotia!,'

&c., iu which he gives some account of his early

years and studies.

In December 1684, Sir Robert was elected in e-

sident of the Royal College of Physicians, and

while he filled that office the Dispensatory or

Pharmacopoeia for Edinburgh was completed. In

the following ]\Iarcli lie was appointed by the

town council the first professor of medicine in the

universit}- of Edinburgh. lie had been educated

in episcopalian principles, and associated con-

stantly with those who were opposed to the Cov-

enant. In this year (1685), by the persuasion of

the carl of Perth, then chancellor of Scotland, he

became a convert to the Roman Catholic religion,

and was in consequence very nearly assassinated

b}' a mob who surrounded the house in which he

resided, in Carrubber's Close, Edinburgh. They

broke into it, w hile he with difficult}' escaped by

the yard behind. Forcing their way into his

room, they searched his bed, and not finding him,

Avent away, after having sworn that they would

" Rathillet" him. He went for a time to London,

where the conduct of the Jesuits with whom he

came in contact, and the evil influence they exer-

cised over the mind of the king, so struck him

that, as he says, " I repented of my rashness,

and resolved to come home, and return to the

church I was born in." lie is also said to have

been disgusted with the rigid discipline and ex-

treme fastings of pojiery.

Having coinjiiled a catalogue of his museum, he

dedicated it to the magistrates and citizens of

Edinburgh, as a testimony of his gralitndc for the

honours conferred upon him. In 1097 he pre-

sented it to the university of Edinburgh, under the

modest title of ' Auctarium IMusau Balf<.»uriaiii c

Musico Sibbaldiano,' as if it had onl)- been an ap-

pendix to Dr. Balfour"s. The catalogue was

printed at the expense of the university, and con-

tains 216 pages in 12mo. It is divided into four

classes. 1. Fossils—minerals, stones, and metals,

also marine substances. 2. The more rare vege-

table substances taken from jilants, their roots,

bark, timber, and fruit ; also marine plants. 3.

The more rare productions from the animal king-

dom ; and 4. Works of art connected with the

various arts and sciences ; to which are added

manuscripts and some scarce books. The follow-

ing portrails of eminent men were also bequeathed

b}- him to the university, viz., Charles I. and IT.,

James VII., the carl of Perth in his robes as

chancellor, and Sir George Mackenzie, Lord Ad-

vocate, founder of the Advocates' library. The

only original portrait of Drummond of Ilawthoni-

den is in the same collection. In 1706, Sir Ro-

bert proposed to teach natural history and medi-

cine during spring in private colleges, a phrase

which implies that his lectures would be delivered

iu his own house. An advertisement of his in

Latin appears in the Edinburgh Courant, 14th

February of that year. In it he modestly desig-

nates himself P/u'liatiis, that is, ' studious of med-

icine,' and we are informed that he had success-

fully practised medicine for forty-three years.

Those who attended his class were to be " well

acquainted with the Latin and Greek languages,

all pliilosophj-, and the principles of mathematics
;

and certificates from the different professors under

whom they liad studied were to be produced."

The lectures, according to the universal practice,

were delivered in Latin.

Two editions of his 'History of Fife' were pub-

lished in his lifetime, the most correct of which

appeared in 1710. An edition of it, with notes

and illustr.itions and an accurate list of his writ-

ings, was ]iublis!icd at Cu]iar in 1803. To a rare

species of plant discovered by him among the in-

digenous phnits of Scotland LiiiiKi?us gave the
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name of Sibbaklia. The period of Sir Robert

Sibbald's death is not known, but from the last of

his published works being dated in 1711, it is

supposed to have been in 1712. In 1722 a cata-

logue was printed at Edinburgh of " the library

of the late learned and ingenious Sir Robert Sib-

bald of Kipps, doctor of medicine," to be sold by

auction. Many of his manuscripts and printed

books were purchased for the Advocates' library.

The following is a list of his works, most of whicli

exhibit deep antiquarian research, extensive ob-

servation, and judicious inquiry into the actual

state of his native country in his own time

:

De Variis Tabis Speciebus. Leyd. 16G1, 4to.

Nuncius Scoto-Britannus, de Descriptione Scotito Antiquse

et Moderna3. Edin. 1683, folio.

An Account of the Scottish Atlas. Edin. 1683, folio.

Scotia illustrata; sive Prodromus Historiae Naturalis ; in

quo regionis natura, incolarum ingenia et mores, morbi iis-

que medendi methodus, et medicina indigena, accurate ex-

plicantur, &c. Edin. 1G84, fol. The work of twenty years.

Phalainologia Nova ; sive Observationes de rarioribus qui-

busdam Bala3nis in Scotice littus, nuper ejectis, &c. Loud.

1773, 8vo. A reprint of a Work published at Edinburgh

1692, 4to.

An Advertisement anent the Xiphias or Ssvordfish exposed

at Edinburgh.

An Essay concerning the Thule of the Ancients. Edin.

1693, 12mo.

Rogatu Joannis Sletzeri rei tormentarias in Scotiaa Pra;-

fecti Theatmm celebriorum urbium, arcium, templorum, et

inonasteriorum Scotia;, lingua Latina scripsi, quod in liiigu-

am nostram versum edidit, cum Iconibus. Lond. 1693, fol.

Additions to the Edition of Camden's Britannia. 1695.

Introductio ad Historiam Rerum a Romanis gestarum, in

ea Borealis Britannia; parte, qua; ultra Munim Picticum est.

Edin. 1696, ful. Edited by Thomas Ruddiman. 1711.

Auctarium Musei Balfouriani, e musco Sibbaldiano ; sive

ennmeratio et descriptio rerum rariorum, tarn naturalium

quJim artificialium, quas R. Sibbaldus, Academias Edin-

burgena;, don.avit. Edin. 1697, 8vo.

Provision for the Poor in time of dearth and scarcity.

Edin. 1699, 8vo.

Menioria Balfouriana. Edin. 1699, 8vo.

Coelii Sedulii Scoti poemata sacra ex MSS. optima; nota;

transcripsi, contuli cum variis ejus editionibus et notis, Ne-

brissensis et meis illustr.avi: hoc opus recognitum cum selec-

tis notis ediderunt Joannes GiUane et Joannes Forrest, meo
rogatu. Edin. 1701, 8vo.

Georgii Sibbaldi, M.D. Domini de Giblistone, Regula; bene

et salubriter vivendi, partim prosa partim metro expressa;

nunc priiiium ex MSS. autographis authoris in lucem edita;,

et notis illustrata;, per R. S. M.D. ex fratre Davide, Nepo-

tem. Edin. 1701, 8vo. Quibus accessere Roberti Bodii de

Trochoregia, de tilii sui promogeniti institutione monita, ali-

aque ex authoris autographis MSS. edita.

An Advertisement anent a rare sort of Wliale came in

near Cramond. 1701.

The Liberty and Iiidependencie of the Kingdom and Church

of Scotland, asserted from ancient records. Edin. 170~2, Ito.

Now very rare.

Commentarius in Vitam Georgii Buchauani, &c. Edin.

1702, 8vo.

An Answer to the second Letter to the Lord Bishop of

Carlisle, wherein the Scots ancient possession in Britain is

asserted, and answers are given to the objections against it in

the 2d letter, and in .Mr. Atwood's late book. Edin. 1704, 8vo.

De Gestis Gulielmi Valise Herois Scoti, Collectanea varia.

Edin. 1705, 8vo.

In Hippocratis Legem, et in ejus Epistolam ad Thessijum

Filium, Commentarii. Edin. 1706, 8vo.

Historical Inquiries concerning the Roman Monuments

and Antiquities in the north part of Britain called Scotland
;

in which there is an account of the Roman walls, ports, colo-

nies and forts, temples, altars, sepulchres, and military ways

in this country, and of the Roman forces lodged there, from

the vestiges and inscriptions yet remaining, and from the

urns, medals, measures, and buckles and arms, and such like

antiquities found there, with copper cuts. Edin. 1707, fol.

A Letter to Dr. Archibald Pitcairn. Edin. 1709, 8vo.

VindiciEe Scotia; illustrata;, sive Prodromi Naturalis Histo-

rioe Scotia;, contra Prodromomastiges, sub larva libelli de

legibus historia; naturalis, latentes. Edin. 1710, fol.

Miscellanea qua;dam eruditte Antiqiiitatis qua; ad borea-

lem Britannia; majoris partem pertinent ; in quibus loci qui-

dam historicorum Uomanorum, variaque monumenta antiqua

illustrantur. Edin. 1710, fol.

The Histoiy, Ancient and Jlodern, of the Sheriffdoms of

Linlithgow and Stirling; with an account of the natural pro-

ducts of the land and water, in two Books. Edin. 1710, fol.

Account of the Writers, Ancient and Modern, printed, and

manuscripts not printed, which treat of the Description of

North Britain, called Scotland, as it was of old, and is now

at present ; with a catalogue of the maps and prospects, and

figures of the ancient monuments. 2 parts. Edin. 1710, fol.

The History, Ancient and Modern, of the Sheriffdoms of

Fife and Kinross, with a Description of both, and of the Friths

of Forth and Tay, and the Islands in them ; in which there

is an account of the royal seats and castles, and of the royal

burghs and ports, and of the religious houses and schools,

and of the most remarkable houses of the nobility and gen-

try ; with an account of the natural products of the hand and

waters. Edin. 1710. fol. Reprinted, Ciipar-Fife. 1803, 8vo.

Description of the Islands of Orkney and Zetland, with

the Maps of them. Edin. 1711, fol.

Portus, Colonia;, et Castella Romana, ad Bodotriam et ad

Taum
;

or. Conjectures concerning the Roman Ports, Colo-

nies and Forts in the Friths of Forth and Tay. Edin. 1711, fol.

Commentarius in Julii Agricolse Expeditiones 3, 4, 5, 6, 7,

in vita ejus, per Cornelium Taciturn genemm ejus, descrip-

tas; et in boreali Britannia; parte, qua; Scotia dicitur gestas.

In quo, ex vestigiis castrorum, &c. textus Taciti illustrantur.

Edin. 1711, folio.

Specimen Glossiarii de popnlis et locis Brit.annia; borealis,

in explicatione locorum quorundam difficilium apud scripto-

res vetercs. Edin. 1711, folio.

Series renirh a Romanis, post avocatum agricolam in Bri-

tannia boreali, gestarum. Edin. 1711, folio.

A Catalogue of the Library of Sii- Robert Sibbald, JI.D.

Edin. 1722, 4to.

Account of several Shells observed in Scotland. Phil.

Trans. Abr. iv. p. 111.

Concerning several Stones voided by a Boy. lb. p. 295.

Account of some Stones and Plants lately found in Scot-

land, lb. p. 526.

Account of the Pediculus Ceti, Lepas Diadema Linn. lb,

1706, Abr. v. p. 317.
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He also contributed various essays to tlie Roval Society,

chiefly on subjects connected with Scotti^li antiquities, whicli

were collected after his death, and published in 1739, under

the title of ' A Collection of several Treatises in folio concern-

ins; Scotland.'

SIBBALD, Jamics, an ciuiiKMit bookseller and

liteniiy aiitiqiiariaii, tlie .'^oii of John Sibbald,

farmer at Wiiitelaw, Koxbiirghsliirc, was born

there about the end of 1747. He was educated

at the graniniar school of Selkirk, and afterwards

look a lease of the farm of Kewton from Sir Gil-

bert Elliot of Stobs. While engaged in agriciil-

ttire, lie still imrsticd his literarj- and scientific

studies, and directed his attention for a time par-

ticularly to botany, bnt he did not continue long

attached to any one subject.

Erom the depression of the agricultural interest

at that period, he decided upon abandoning farm-

ing operations, and in May 1799 lie disposed of

his stock, and with about one hundred pounds in

his pocket went to Edinburgh, where he found

ciiiployment in the shop of i\Ir. Charles Elliot, the

])ublisher. About 1781, he purchased the circu-

lating library which had belonged to Allan Piam-

say, and commenced business as a bookseller in

the Parliament Square. This library was the

oldest institution of its kind in the kingdom, and

almost all the eminent men of the last and begin-

ning of the present centuiy who sttidied at Edin-

buigli, were among the stibscribers to it. Sir

'\^'alter Scott particiilaily mentions the aviditv

with which, when a .youth, he read its contents,

lie says, "I fastened, like a tiger, upon eveiy

collection of old songs or romances which chance

tiirew in my way, or whicli my scrutiny was able

to discover on the dusty shelves of James Sib-

bald's circulating binary in the Parliament Square.

'I'his colleclion, now dismantled and dispersed,

contained at that time many rare and curious

works, seldom found in such a collection. Mr.

Sihbald himself, a man of rough manners but of

some taste and judgment, cultivated music and

]ioclry, and in his shop I had a distant view of

some literary characters, besides the privilege of

ransacking the stores of old French and Italian

books, which were in little demand among the

public of his subscribers. Here I saw the unfor-

tunate Andrew l\Iacdonald, author of Vimonda
;

and here, too, I saw at a distance the boast of

Scotland, Kobert Burns." In 1783 Mr. Sibbald

commenced a monthly literary miscellany under

the name of 'The Edinburgh Magazine,' which

was illustrated Avith engravings. The principal

pajiers in it were written by himself, being chiefly

articles on the antiquities of Scotland. This pub-

lication, to which Lord Ilailes and other eminent

literary men of Edinburgh of the time, contribut-

ed, he conducted for several years, with consider-

able success. He had previouslj' introduced the

better order of engravings, mostl}' of the mezzo-

tinto kind, into sale in Edinburgh. Many of

these were coloured to resemble paintings, and in

the belief that they were entirely London or

French productions, they were extensively pur-

chased ; but having been one day detected in the

act of colouring them himself, from that unlucky

period his business in this line fell off.

About the beginning of 1791 he made an ar-

rangement with two 3'oung men, Messrs. Lawrie

and Symington, hy which they were to take the

management of his business, and allow him a

3 early sum for the use of his stock and magazine.

The following year he became the editor of a new

pa]ier, called ' The Edinburgh Herald,' which did

not succeed, and was soon discontinued. In July

179r), he renewed his engagement whh IMessrs.

Lawrie and Symington for ten years. lie subse-

quently repaired to London, where he devoted

himself to literary jnirsuits. "While residing there,

he wrote a work entitled ' llecord of the Public

Ministry of Jesus Christ; with Preliminary Ob-

servations,' the full title of which is given below.

It was published at Edinburgh in 1798, after his

return to that city. Mr. Sibbald maintained, in

this work, that the period of our Sa\ iour's minis-

try on earth did not exceed twelve months. He

had the previous year edited at Edinburgh a mu-

sical work, entitled 'The Vocal Magazine.'

In 1799 he entered upon a new agreement with

Mr. Lawrie, for twenty-one j'ears, but soon after

the latter retired altogether from the concern,

when Mr. Sibbald resumed the business. In 1802

he produced his ' Chronicle of the Poetry of Scot-

land,' in 4 vols. I\Ir. Sibbald died at his lodgings

in Leith AValk, in April 1803. The Edinburgh

Circulating library, which ultimately comprised

above 30,000 volumes, was after his death pur-
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chased and greatly enlarged by Mr. Alexander

IMacka}', tlien a bookseller in the High Street,

Edinburgh. Having acquired money and pur-

chased the estate of Blackcastle, Mid Lothian,

Mr. Macka}^ retired from business about 1832,

when not finding a purcliaser for Iiis library en-

tire, he sold it oft' by public auction.

Mr. Sibbald's works are :

The Euinburgh M.-itjazine, commenced in 1783. Subse-

quently conducted by Dr. Eobeit Anderson, author of 'The

Lives of the Poets.'

Tlie Vocal Majjazine, a Selection of the most esteemed

English, Scots, and Irisli Airs, Ancient and Modern, adapted

for the Harpsichord or Viidin. Edin. 1797.

Eecord of tlie Public Jlinisfry of Jesus Christ; compre-

hending all that is related by the Four Evangelists, in one

regular narrative, without repetition or omission, arranged

with strict attention to the Chronology, and to their own

words, according to the most esteemed translation; with

Preliminary Observations. Edin. 1798.

Chronicle of Scottish Poetry, with a Glossary of the Scots

Language. Edin. 1802, 4 vols. I'imo. A valuable acquisi-

tion to Scots literature.

SIMPSON, SiK Geoege, governor of the Hud-

son's Bay Company's territories, only sou of Mr.

George Simpson, Lochbroom, Ross-shire, was born

there in 1792. In early youth he was received into

the counting-house of a London firm, extensively

engaged in the West India trade. His active and

energetic habits soon attracted tlie notice of the

eaii of Selkirk, then at the head of the Hudson's

Bay Company, and Mr. Andrew Colville, a large

stockliolder, and through their influence he was

selected to superintend the affairs of the Conipanj-

at their settlements in British North America.

He accordingly proceeded thither in February

1820. A troublous warfare was then carried on

between the Hudson's Bay Company, which was

chartered, and the North West Fur Company,

unchartered, but owing to Mr. Simpson's tact and

daring, ability, energy, and uprightness, in 1821 a

coalition of the rival Companies took place, where-

by the North-West Company retained over one-

half of the capital stock of the united association,

and secured more than half of the othces in the

territory for their resident associates. The charter

of the Hudson's Bay Company had originally been

granted by Charles 11. in 1G70, to Prince Rupert

and others, empowering them to trade exclusively

with the aborigines on and about Hudson's Bay.

Tlie North-West Fur Company was formed at

Montreal in the winter of 1783-4. It disputed the

right of the Hudson's Bay Company, and actively

opposed it. When the companies united, the new

association became known as the Hudson's Bay

Fur Company. Mr. Simpson was immediately

appointed resident governor at Rupert Land, one

of the divisions of the country held by the united

Companies. lu this situation he exhibited so

much address and dexterity that, a few years

afterwards, he was appointed governor of the

whole of what is called the Hudson's Bay Coni-

jiany's territories.

In 183G, when the renewal of the charter of the

Compau}' became necessarj-, Mr. Simpson was in-

structed hy the directors to fit out an expedition

to connect the discoveries of Captains Ross and

Back in tlie Arctic Regions, witli the view of in-

quiring into the nature of the countrj- itself and

the resources of the surrounding territory, and

leporting to the British government. Under the

conduct of his nephew, Mr. Thomas Simpson,

noted in Arctic discovery, the expedition was en-

t\re\y successful. During a period of three years,

it traced the Arctic coast of America, from the

mouth of the Mackenzie river to Point Barrow,

and from the mouth of the Coppermine river to

the gulf of Boothia. " His experience in the Indian

country," said Sir Roderick Impey Murchison, vice-

president of the London Geographical Society,

speaking of Sir George, in his address delivered at

the anniversary meeting of the Society, May 27,

1861, " his intimate knowledge of its resources, and

his influence both with tiie white and Indian pop-

ulation, tended greatly to facilitate the progress

through it of the land Arctic expeditions, and to

lessen the hardships and privations they Iiad to

encounter. The Arctic expeditions ur.dertaken by

the Hudson's Bay Company were planned and fitted

out under his immediate direction, and the instruc-

tions which he gave to their respective commanders,

independently of their admirable adaptation to the

ends in view, were eminentlj- calculated to promote

the objects for Avhich they were issued." In con-

sideration of the services of these Arctic expe-

ditions, lie liad the honour of knighthood con-

ferred on him in 1841. On March 3 of that year

he set out from London on an overland journey

round the world, wliich he accomplished in 19

months and 26 days. Of this journey he pub-



SIMSON, willia:m, r.s.a.

lisliod an iiiterc'Stiiig acconiir, uiuler the name of

'Nari'ative of a Journey llounil the AVorld.' 2

vols. 8vo. J^ondiin, 1S47.

Ills snavity of niannors, patience, resolution,

and energy amidst scenes of trial and dililculty,

and dev(ition to business, -witli the amazing accu-

racy and extent of his knouledge of tiie Com-

pany's affaii's, and tlie masterly readiness and

precision with -w liich he invariably applied it, ren-

dered him enunently qiialilicd for the important

situation he held, lie died at his residence. La

Cliine, near Montreal, Sept. 7, ISGO, a few days

after he had hospitably entertained the Prince of

Wales and his suite, on their passage through

Canada. He was a fellow of the Royal Geogra-

pliical Society. He married, in 1827, Frances

Ramsay, second daughter of I^Ir. Geddcs Mac-

kenzie Simpson, of Great Tower Hill, London,

and Stamford Hill, Middlesex, and left a son and

three daugliters.

SIMSON, RoBEKT, I\LD., an eminent mathe-

matician, the eldest son of Jlr. John Simson of

Kirton hall, Ayrshire, was born there, October

14, 1GS7. He was educated at the university of

Glasgow, being at first destined for the clmrcli,

and sucli was his progress in learning, that, at an

early age, din-ing the illness of the professor, lie

taught tlie class of oriental languages. While at-

tending the divinity hall, he took a fancy for ma-

thematics, and became so niucli attached to the

stud}-, that, abandoning theology, he determined

to make the exact sciences the profession of his

life. He devoted himself chiefly to tlie ancient

method of pure geometry, preferring it to the mo-

dern analytical system. On finishing his academ-

ical course, he visited London; and, in 1711.

when a vacancy occurred in the mathematical

chair in the university of Glasgow, he was unani-

mously elected, after giving a specimen of his skill

in mathematics and algebra. He discharged the

duties of a professor for more than half a century,

always using in his lectures the geometry of Eu-

clid. In 1735 lie published a work on ' Conic

Sections,' intended as an introduction to the study

of Apollonius. By the advice of Dr. Ilallcy, he

directed his eflForts to the restoration of the ancient

geometers. His first task was to restore the Por-

isms of Euclid; his next was the 'Loci Plani' of

Apollonius, which he completed in 1738, but after

this work was i)rinted, he was far from satisfied

that he had given the identical propositions of

that author, and he did not venture to publish it

till 1746. He afterwards recalled all the copies

in the hands of his bookseller, and kept the im-

pression beside him for several years. He subse-

quently revised and corrected this work, which

greatly extended his reputation. The restoration

of the Elements of Euclid was the great object of

his care, and along with the data, he published

this valuable work in 1750. He also bestowed

great labour and pains on the ' Sectio Determina-

ta' of Apollonius, Avhich, however, did not appear

till after his death, when it was printed, along

with the Porisms of Euclid, and published at the

expense of Earl Stanhope. Dr. Simson died, un-

married, December 1, 17C8, leaving to the college

of Glasgow his valuable collection of mathemati-

cal books and manuscripts. His Life, by Dr.

William Trail, was published at London in 1822.

His works arc

:

Sectioiium Coiiic.iriim, I.ibii v. Eiiiii. 173.5, 4to. 2ii edit.

Ellin. 17.")0, 4to. Elements ol' Conic Sections. Kdin. 177u,

Svo.

Apollonii Peri^a;! Locoruin I'l.moruni, Lib. ii. restituti.

Ghisg. 1749, 4to.

Euclidis Elcmcntorum, Libri vi. priores; item undeciinus

et duodecimus, e."v versione Latina Frederici Commandini

;

subbitis iis, quibus oliiii libri a Tlieone aliisve vitiati sunt, et

<]nilnisd:im Euclidis Deinonstrationibus restitutis, cum Notis

Ci'iticis et Geometricis. Glasg. 175G, 4to. Many editions

in yvo.

The Elements of Euclid, viz. the first six Books, togetliei'

witli tlie eleventh .ind twelfth. In this edition the errors by

which Tlieon or others hixve long ago viti.ited these books,

are corrected, and some of Euclid's Demonstrations are re-

stored, and Notes, critical and geometrical, are subjoined.

Glasg. 175G, 4to. The same, with tlie Data, corrected, and

Notes. Glasg. 17G2, Svo.

A Treatise concerning Porisms, No. i. Loud. 1777, Svo.

A Tract on Logaritlims. Loud. 1777.

On the Limits of Quantities and Katios, &c.

Opera qua?dam Reliqua post Auctoris Mortem, edita cuia

Jac. Clow. Ghuig. 1774, 4to.

Two General Propositions of Pappus of Alexandria, in

wliicli many of Euclid's Porisms are included, restored, &c.

Phil. Trans. 1723, Abr. vi. 659.

An Explanation of an obscure Passage in Albert Gerard's

Commentary on Simon Stevin's Works, p. 1G9, 170. lb.

17o3, X. 430.

SIMSOK Wirxi.VM, R.S.A. , an eminent artist,

born ill Dundee in 1800, was the third son of Al-

exander Simson, a merchant there. His father

dying w liile he was yet young, he received in con-
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sequence but a limited education. About 1814

tlie family removed to Edinburgli, wliere his elder

surviving brother had settled some years previ-

ously. William was fii'st intended to be a sailor,

but the skipper under whose charge he was placed

thought him too delicate for the sea, and he soon

relinquished that occupation. His friends then

wished him to be an optician or a grocer, but lie

liked neither employment. Having amused him-

self with cutting out little figures in paper and

produced a regiment of soldiers, the taste and

truth with which they were executed, attracted

the attention of a gentleman, who purchased

them, and a friend, who saw this specimen of his

talents, succeeded in getting him placed as an ap-

prentice with a Mr. Stephen Lawrence, a drawer

in water colours on satin. As a branch of fash-

ionable education in Edinburgh at that time, 3'oung

ladies employed themselves in covering over the

subjects on the satin, principally scenes from 'The

Lady of the Lake,' &c., with needlework in silk

and worsted. He commenced his engagement

with Mr. Lawrence, 31st August, 1815, boarding

with him through the day, and returning home at

night. His evenings were at first occupied occa-

sionally in assisting a Mr. Kay, a water colour

artist then in Edinburgh, and afterwards in at-

tendance at the antique academy of the board of

Trustees, a school of design in which Sir David

Wilkie, Sir William Allan, and John Burnet the

engraver, were educated. It was then under the

superintendence of Mr. S. Graham, and after his

death of Mr. Andrew Wilson, an eminent land-

scape painter. After Simson had been about four

years engaged on satin samplers for young ladies,

;Mr. Wilson proposed to take him as an assistant

teacher in his private classes. This he gladly

agreed to, and in 1824, when that gentleman re-

signed his private teaching, he was succeeded by

Mr. Simson and his elder brother, who had at-

tained considerable proficiency as an artist. In

1826, the brothers were elected masters of the

Hill Street Institution, Edinburgli, where they

continued for four years.

Disliking the drudgery of teaching, William

Simson commenced to practise art independently.

His first works were coast pieces, somewhat in

the style of Collins, sketched chiefly on the sands

of Leith and the shores of Fife. At these he :

worked for nearly ten years, acquiring during

that time both patrons and popularity. Among

the earliest purchasers of his coast scenes were

Baron Hume, Lord Abercrombie, the earl of Le-
i

ven. Lady Jane Stuart, Mr. W. Tytler, Mr. Do-

nald Smith, and IVIr. J. G. Kinnear. His prices

at first were small, and for the first six years the i

[

highest price which he obtained for a single pic-

ture was £50.
I

,

In 1829 he became a member of the Royal

Scottish Academy, on the junction of that body
j

with the associates of the Royal Institution. In '

this year he produced his picture of ' The Twelfth
|

of August,' for which he received one hundred '

\

guineas from Mr. Donald Smith. He .also, the ':

same year, painted the portrait of his steady
i

friend, Mr. William Scrope, the author of several

books on deer-stalking. Mr. Simson was of great

assistance to J\Ir. Scrope in his sporting works,

aiding him, it is said, on more than one occasion
jj

with the palette and the pencil. In 1830, he re-
|

ceived one hundred and thirt}' guineas from Mr. i

J. M. Melville, for his painting of ' Sportsmen
1

1

Regaling,' and the same year the same sum from
j

!

Mr. J. G. Kinnear for 'The Highland Deer 'i

Stalkers.' The next three or four years were de- !

voted to portrait painting, and he soon realized a

sufficient sum to enable him to visit Italy, which

he did in 1835, and where he remained for three

years. On his return in 1838, he settled in Lon-

don. His paintings subsequently exhibited in the

Royal Academy, Trafalgar Square, or the British

Institution, Pall Mall, were the following

:

A Camaldolese monk showing the relics of liis convent.

1838. This painting formed the suhject of the first engrav-

ing issued b}' tlie Art Union of London.

Giotto discovered lierding sheep by Cimabue. 1838. Bought

by Sir Robert Peel, the eminent statesman, for 150 guineas.

A Dutch family. 1839. Bought by the marquis of Lans-

downe for 1.50 guineas.

Columbus asking bread and water for his child at tlie door

of tlie convent of Santa Maria du Rabida. 1839. Bouglit

liy Sir Willoughby Gordon for 200 guineas.

Goatherds of the Campagna di Roma. 1839. Bought by

Mr. Wells of Redleaf, for 80 guineas. For the same gentle-

man he also painted a duplicate of his Columbus.

Gil Bias introducing himself to Laura. 1840. Purchased

by Mr. Sheepshanks for 100 guineas.

The Temptation of St. Anthony. 1841. An old subject,

but in this instance cleverly and delicately treated.

The Chateau of Rubens. 1841.
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Mary, Qaeen of Scots, and her retinue returning from tlie

cliMse to tlie castle of Stirliii!;. 1811.

Tortniit of Mr. Bnrnet, tlie eminent engraver. 1811. An
ailinirable painting.

'I'lic Murder of tlie two Princes in tlie Tower. 1812.

Hagar and Islimael. ISl'2.

Alfred dividing liis last loaf witli the Tilgrim. 1Si'2.

Group of B.-iroiiial Retainers. 181 1.

Salvator Rosa's first Cartoon on tlie walls of the Certosa.

1841.

The Arrest of William Tell. A composition containing

niuneroMs figures.

A Highland Home. A large picture.

Tlie distingiiisliing cliai-.icteristic of Simson's

works con.sists in their adinirahle colour. So

cnrefiilly did lie complete tiic iinlinislied pictures

liy Wilkic, of tlic Siiltan niid IMclicinet Ali, that

it was impossible to tell where AVilkie left off, and

where Sinison began. Man}- of his portraits are

amongst the best of their class, lie died at his

residence in Sloane Street, Chelsea, 29th August,

1847.

Si.NTi,.\.in, a .surname of Nurman origin, the first who borp

it in Britain, Walderne, Count de Santo Claro, having come

into England witli William the Conqueror. His son, by

Margaret, daughter of Richard, duke of Normandv, Wil-

liam de Sancto Claro, was one of the many Anglo-Norman

barons who settled in Scotland in the reign of David I.

From that monarch lie obtained a grant of the bai-onv of

Ro.sliii, Mid I.othian. He was called, in allu.sion to his fair

deportment, the seemly St. Clair. His descendants became

possessors, besides Roslin, of Cousland, Penthind, Catticune,

and other lands. They afterwards olitained also the earldom

of Orkney. From the same stock sprung the earls of Caithness,

(see vol. i. of this work, p. 521). Another branch of the

Sinclairs, those of Ilei mandston, deriving their origin from a

settler, under the Jlorvilles, constables of Scotland, are repre-

sented by the Lords Sinclair, (see ne.\t article).

William de Saint Clair, above mentioned, progenitor of

" The lordly line of high Saint Clair,"

had a son. Sir William St. Clair, of Roslin, who got a confir-

m.ation of that barony in 1180. His son, Sir Henry Sinclair

of Roslin, witnessed many charters of Ale.Nandcr II. The

son of Sir Henry, Sir Willi.am St. Cl;ur, of Roslin, witnessed a

donation of the same monarch to the monastery of Newbot-

tle in 1213, and died about 1270. The following year, his

son. Sir William St. Clair, of Roslin, was appointed sheritT of

the county of Edinburgh for life. He sat in the parliament

of Scone 5tli February 1284, when the succession to the

crown of Scotland was settled, in the event of the death of

Ale.xander III. The same year he was one of the commis-

sioners sent to France to obtain a wife for his sovereign, then

n widower. They fixed upon ,Ioleta, daughter of the count

de Dreux, wliom Alexander made his queen. Sir William de

St. Clair was in the assembly at Brigb.im, ]2tli March, 12!)0,

when the marriage of the princess Margaret of Scotland with

Prince Edward of England was propo.sed. In the competi-

tion for the crown of Scotland in 1292, he was one of tlie no-

minees on the part of Baliol. He swore fealty to Edward I.,

13th June that year, and he was present in the following
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November, and again in December, when Baliol did homage
to the English king. On the 28tli of tlie latter month, Ed-
ward addressed a letter to him to pay certain .sums to Eric,

l;iug of Norw.ay. He was summoned to attend the imperious

Edward into France, 1st September 1294. He died about

1300, leaving three sons: 1. Sir Henry, his successor. 2.

William, consecrated bisliop of Dunkeld about 1312; and, 3.

Gregory, ancestor of the Sinclairs of J,ongforinacus, Berwick-

shire, baronets. The second son is historically known by bis

spirited conduct in repelling an invasion of the English in

131". The latter had landed in considerable numbers at

Doiinybiistle in Fife. The fighting men of the county ap-

pear to have been at this time with Douglas, who was ravag-

ing the English borders, and the sheriff of Fife had great

diffictdty ill gathering together a force of 500 cavalry. With

these he made an attempt to encounter the invaders, but, in-

timid.-ited by their superior numbers, they disgracefully took

to flight. Sinclair, bishop of Dunkeld, was at the time re-

siding at Auchtertool, in the neighbonrliood. Like other

churchmen of the period, he bad as much of the soldier as

the ecclesiastic about him, and receiving notice of his coun-

trymen's retreat, be put himself at the he:id of sixty of his

servants, and with a linen frock or rochet cast over his ar-

mour, threw himself on horseback and rode olT to meet the

fugitives. "Wliither are ye flying?" said he, addressing

their leaders, when be came to them; "ye are recreant

knights, and ought to have your spurs liacked ofT." Then

seizing a spear from the nearest soldier, and calling out,

"Turn for shame I let all who love Scotland follow me!"

he furiously charged the enemy. Encouraged by his gallant

examjile, the Filemen instantly rallied, .and the attack was

renewed. The English, who had not completed their land-

ing, speedily gave w;iy, and were di-iven back to their ships,

with the loss of 500 men, besides many who were drowned

by the swamping of one of their vessels. On his return from

Ireland, where he was at the time, Bruce highly commended

the spirit which Sinclair had shown, and declared that he

should be his own bishop. Lender the appellation of the

king's bishop, tliis brave cliurohman was long afterwards af-

fectionately remembered by his countrymen. For all his

patriotism, however, be performed the ceremony of crowning

Edward Baliol, the puppet king, in 1332. The St. Clair

family favoured the claims of the Baliols from the beginning

of the contest for the crowm. The bishop died in 1337.

Sir Henry St. Cl.-iirof Roslin, Sir William's eldest son, swore

fe.-ilty with his father, to Edward I., loth June 1292, and appears

at first to have been on the English side in the great struggle

for the independence of the Scottish monarchy. On 30th

September 1307, and again on 20lh Jlay 1308, letters wore

addressed to him and others of Edward's friends in Scotland,

calling upon them to assist in suppressing " the rebels."

Subsequently he gave in his adherence to Robert the Bruce,

from whom, in 1317, he obtained a grant of all his majesty's

lands in the moor of Pentland, in free warren for the service

of the tenth part of a knight's fee. He was one of the patri-

ots who in 1320 signed the letter to the pope, asserting the

independence of Scotland, and one of the guarantees of a

truce with the English, 1st .Tune 1323. He held the office

of Pctnelariu.i Scotia:, or chief butler of the kingdom.

His son, Sir William St. Clair, was the adventurons knight

of whom the fidlowing romantic hunting story is told. King

Robert the Bruce bad been repc:itedly baulked by a fleet

white deer which be had started in his hunts among the

I'entlands; and having asked an assembled body of his no-

bles whether any dogs in their possession could seize the

game which had escaped the royal hounds, Sir William St.
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Clair proTiiptly offiired to pledge liis heiid tluit two favourite

dogs of his, called " Help and Hold," would kill tlie deer be-

fore she crossed the Marcli-burii. Tlie king instantly accept-

ed the offer, and pledged himself to give the forest of Pent-

land moor,—which included the northern division of the

great Jlid Lothian hill-range,—in guerdon of success. A
few slow-hounds having been let loose to beat up the deer,

the king stationed himself on the best vantage-ground for

commanding a view of the chase. Sir William, on his part,

after slipping his dogs, prayed earnestly to St. Katherine, to

give the deer up to them, and, on a fleet-footed steed, went

in full chase after the deer. Arriving at the March-burn, he

threw liimself from his horse in desp:iir. ' Hold,' just

in the crisis of fate, stopped the deer in the brook, and the

nest instant 'Help' came up, drove her back, and killed

her on the winning side of the stream. The king, who had

witnessed the result, came speedily down from his vantage-

ground, embraced Sir William, and granted him in free tbr-

estry the lands of Logan-house, once a favourite hunting

seat of the Scottish kings, Kirton, and Earncraig. In grati-

tude for the fancied interference of St. Katherine in liis

favour, the knight, in the superstition of the times, built the

chapel of St. Katherine in the Hopes, parish of Penicuick.

Sir William accompanied Sir .James Douglas on his expedi-

tion to the Holy Land with the he.art of Bruce, and was

killed with him fighting against the Moors in Spain, 25tli

August 1330. His tomb is said to he still seen in Roslin

chapel, and it .nppropriately represents the pcr.son of a knight

in armour, attended by a greyhound. Sir Walter Scott, in

' The Lay of the Last Minstrel,' says,

"There are twenty of Ilosliu's b.irons bold

Lie buried within that proud chapelle ;"

" And each St. Clair was buried there.

With candle, with book, and with knell."

He left an infant son, who was .ilso Sir Willi.am St. Clair.

By the marriage of this knight of Koslin, with Isabel, one of

the daughters and coheiresses of Malise, earl of Strathern,

Caithness, and Orkne}', his elder son, Henry St. Clair, be-

came earl of Orkney, and in 1379 obtained a recognition of

his title IVom Haco IV., king of Norway, (see page 264 of

this volume, article Orkney, earl of).

Besides another son, named David, Sir William had a

daughter, Margaret, who married, first, Thomas, second earl

of Angus ;
and, secondly. Sir William Sinclair of Herdmans-

toun, Haddingtonshire, and had issue by both.

The baronial m.agniliccnce and nule hospitality for which

the early knights of Koslin were renowned are said to have

been exceeded by Sir William St. Clair, tliird earl of Orkney,

in the reigns of James I. and II. Father Hay, a member of his

liouseliold, speaks of him as ' a prince,' who maintained his

state " at his palace of the castle of Koslin," where " he kept

a great court, and was royally served at his own table, in

vessels of gold and silver; Lord Dirleton being his master of

the household. Lord Borthwick his cupbearer, and Lord

Fleming his carver; in whose absence they had deputies to

attend,—viz. Stewart, laird of Drumlanrig; Tweedie, laird

of Dumferline ; and Sandilands, laird of Calder. He had his

halls and other ajjartments richly adorned with embroidered

hiingings. His princess, Elizabeth Douglas, was served by

75 gentlewomen, whereof 53 were d.aughters of noblemen, all

clothed in velvet and silks, with their chains of gold and

other ornaments, and was attended by 200 riding gentlemen

in all journies ; and if it happened to be dark when she went

to Edinburgh, where lier lodgings were at the toot of Bl.aclc

Fryars wynd, 80 lighted torches were carried before her."

The St. Clairs of Koslin were hereditary grand-masters of

masonry in Scotland, that office having been conferred on them

by James II. William St. Clair, carl of Orkney and Caithness,

the first gi-and-master, and his successors, held their courts,

or assembled their grand lodges, in Kilwinning, Ayrshire, as

the seat of the earliest fraternity. In 173G, William St.

Clair of Roslin, obliged to sell his estates, and destitute of an

heir, resigned to an assembly of the lodges of Edinburgh and

its vicinity, all claim to the grand-mastership, .and empow-

ered them, in common with the other lodges of the country,

to declare the office elective. Ou St. Andrew's day of that

year, the representatives of about 32 lodges received the re-

signation, elected William St. Clair himself their grand-

master, and constituted themselves into the grand lodge of

Scotland, lliis William St. Clair, the last of the direct

male line of Koshn, died in 1778, aged 78.

Si.vcLAiR, Baron, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred 2Gth January 1189, by act of parliament, on Henry,

son of Willi.im Sinclair, son of William, third earl of Orkney

of his family, lord-chancellor of Scotland, by his first wife.

Lady Margaret Douglas, eldest daughter of the fourth earl of

Douglas, duke of Touraine. This William Sinclair had from

his father the barony of Newburgh, Aberdeenshire, in which

he was infeft, 16th March, 1450. In 1470 his father re-

signed the earldom of Orkney to James III., and was subse-

quently styled earl of Caithness. The latter title devolved to
|

the earl's second sou, William Sinclair, by his second marriage
|

with Maijory, daughter of Alexander Sutherland of Dun-

heath. A younger sun. Sir Oliver Sinclair of Roslin, received

from his father large estates. The settlement was disputed

by William Sinclair of Newburgh, the eldest son, when a

compromise was entered into. Sir Oliver relinquished to

him the lands of Cousland, Mid Lothian, with the barony of
I

Dysart and the castle of Ravenscraig in Fife, and the lands
|

of Dubbo, Carberry, and Wilston, adjacent thereto. These
|

had been bestowed on the earl their father on his resigning
|

the earldom of Orkney. On the other hand, William Sin-
|

clair of Newburgh and his eldest son, Henry, renounced all

title to the barony of Koslin, by indenture dated 9th Febru-

ary 1482.

This son, Henry, had ch.arters of various lands, and parti-

cularly of Dysart and Ravenscraig. He was created Lord

Sinclair in 1489, and fell at the battle of Flodden, 9th Sep-

tember 1513. His son, William, second Lord Sinclair, had

two sons, Henry, third Lord Sinclair, and the Hon. Magnus

Sinclair of Kininmont, Fife.shire. The third Lord Sinclair

supported the Reformation in Scotland. In May 1568, on

Queen Mary's escape from Lochleven, he joined the associa-

tion in her behalf at Hamilton. He died 21st October 1601.

By his wife, Elizabeth, second daughter of the seventh Lord

Forbes, he had, with four daughters who were all married,

two sons, James, master of Sinclair, who predeceased him,

and Captain the Hon. Lawrence Sinclair. The master of

Sinclair left three sons. Henry, the eldest, succeeded his

grandfather as fourth Lord Sinclair, but died soon after com-

ing of age in 1602, without issue. His next brother. James, i

succeeded as fifth Lord Sincl.-iir, but lield the title only for a

short time. He died umnanied, when Patrick, the youngest

son, became sixth Lord Sinclair. The latter died in 1615,

leaving two sons, John, seventh Lord, .and Colonel the Hon.

Hemy, died at Dysart, 5th September 1670, and one

daughter, Elizabeth, Lady Campbell of Glenurchy.

John, seventh Lord Sinclair, bom 29th October, 1610,

I
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was a member of tlie committee of estates in 1G41, and

again in lGt4 and lG4o. He was also a privy councillor

of the parliament, and colonel of the Fifeshire liorse. He
entered into the " Enga<;ement," for the rescue of Charles

I. in IG'll. In 1651 he attended Charles II. into Kng-

land, and was taken prisoner at tlie battle of Worcester

in September of the latter year. He was excepted out of

Cromwell's act of grace and pardon in 1651, and was detained

nearly nine years in prison, being only set free by Gener.-d

Monk in March IGGO. He died in 1G7G, in liis GGth year,

liy his wife, Lady Mary Wemyss, he had an only daughter,

the Hon. Catherine Sinclair, liis sole heiress. This lady

married at Glasgow, 14th April IGoS), .John St. Clair, younger

of Ilerdmanstoun, Haddingtonshire, eldest of four sons of Sir

John Sinclair of Herdmanstoun.

The St. Clairs of Herdmanstoun derive their descent from

Henry de Santo Claro, vice-comes of Hichard de Morville,

constable of Scotland, from whom in 11G2 lie had a grant of

the lands of that name. The cliarters are engraved in An-

derson's Diploniata Scotia; (No. 75). In 1163 William tbe

lion granted to Henry St. Clair acluirtcr of the lands of Her-

nnuuistoun and Carfrae. In 1292 Sir William St. Clair of Her-

inandstoun was chosen one of the nominees of Hobert Bruce

in his competition for the crown, as Sir William St. Clair of

Roslin was for IJaliol. At the battle of Bannockburn Sir

William St. Clair of Hermandstoun signalized himself by sncli

extraordinary acts of valoiu', that, after the victory, Bruce

presented him with the sword whicli lie himself had fought

witli on that memorable day. Herdmanstoun still belongs

to the family. The lion. Catherine Sinclair predeceased lier

father, 1.3th July 16GG, dying in childbed of a daughter. She

had besides two soils.

Henry, the elder, born 3d June 1G60, succeeded his grand-

father in 167G, as seventh Lord Sinclair, in virtue of a desig-

nation made by him and approved of by Charles II., who, by

letters patent dated 1st June 1G77, created him of new Lord

Sinclair, with the former precedency. This nobleman w:is so

strongly attached to the liouse of Stuart that, in the conven-

tion of 1G89, he was the only person that had the courage to

protest against settling the crown on William an<l Mary, ;md

having done .so, he left the house. He died in March 1723,

in his God year. By liis wife, Grizel, daughter of .Tames

Cockburn of Cockburn, be had six sons and five daughters.

The eldest son, John, master of Sinclair, born 5th December

1G83, was ill 1708, chosen M. P. for the county of Fife, but his

election was declared void, on account of his being the eldest

son of a peer. He engaged in the rebellion of 1715, and was

in consequence attainted by act of parliament. After making

some stay at Kirkwall, in Orkney, where the castle built by

his fathers afforded to him a melancholy subject of contem-

plation, he took refuge on the continent. In 1726, he re-

ceived a pardon and returned to Scotland. The family estates

had been settled by his father on his brother, the Hon. James

St. Clair, afterwards a general in the army, but he generously

restored them to the m.-ister of Sinclair, on his arrival at

home, and in 173G, the latter obtained an act of parliament

removing the personal disabilities of the attainder, so far as

to allow him to sue and maintain suits in courts of law, and

to inherit property. The seventh Lord Sinclair procured an

extension of the ]iateut to the heirs male whatsoever of liis

father, but the title remained dormant from 1723 till 1782.

The ma.ster of Sinclair married, first, in August 1733, Lady

Marv Stewart, countess dow.ager of Southesk, daughter of

the fifth earl of Gallow.ay, and, sccoiuily, 24th April 1750,

seven nu>nths before his death, Amelia, eldest daughter of

Lord George Murray, the chivalrous commander of the High-

land army of the Pretender, and sister of the third duke of

Athol, but had no issue by either. He died at Dysart, 20th
November, 1750, in liis G7tli year.

His next brother, General St. Clair, succeeded as nintli Lord

Sinclair, counting the master of Sinclair as the eighth, but did

not assume the title, preferring to remain a member of tlie

house of commons. He became colonel in the army 2Cth

July 1722; major-general, 15th August 1741; lieutenant-

general, 4th June 1745; and general, 10th March 17G1. He
served several years in the 3d regiment of foot guards, and

had the command of the 22d regiment of foot, 30tli October

1734. On 17th June 1737, he was appointed colonel of the

first or royal Scots regiment of foot, and in 1745 quarter-

master-general of the British forces in Flanders. The fol-

lowing year, he was nomin.ated commander-in-chief of a force

of C,000 men, intended for the conquest of Quebec, and then

embarked on board transports at Spitliead. The expedition

having, from various causes, been delayed until tlie season

was too far advanced for crossing the Atlantic, it was resolved

to employ it in making a descent on the coast of Brittany,

with the double object of surprising Port I'Orient, then the

repository of all the stores and ships belonging to the French

East India company, and compelling the French to withdraw

a portion of their troops from Flanders, where their army,

under Marshal Saxe, was superior to that of the allies. On
this change of resolution. General St. Clair applied to the

government for maps and plans of the .scene of his intended

operation.s, when the duke of Newcastle, then secretary of

state, with his usual blundering, sent him by express a map
of Gascony, instead of a chart of Brittany!

A reinforcement of 2,000 of the foot guards and a large

detachment of artillery being added to the force under Gene-

ral St. Clair, the expedition sailed from Portsmouth, 15th

September 17-16, the fleet commanded by rear-admiral Les-

tock, and on the 20th the troops were landed, without much
opposition, in Qnimpcrly bay, ten miles from Port I'Orient.

General St. Clair reached the latter place on the 2 1th, and

having, on the evening of the next day, completed his bat-

teries, he Laid siege to the town. The inhabitants oftered to

surrender on terms which were considered too favourable for

them, and they were accordingly rejected. As the besieged

soon obtained a great accession of force, and as the general

perceived that, from the bad state of his artilleiy and the in-

sufliciency of his ammunition, he could not take the place,

he abandoned the siege. Proceeding to Quiberon b.ay, he

landed there, 4th October, and at the head of the royals and

the 42d regiment, took possession of a fort in which were 18

guns, and destroyed all the forts on the peninsula of Quibe-

ron and the isles of Houat. The troops, re-embarking 17th

October, returned to England. Subsequently, General St.

Clair was sent ambassador to the courts of Vienna and Tu-

rin. His secretary in the expedition to Brittany, and in his

embassy, was David Hume the historian. In 1722 and 1727

the general was chosen M.P. for the Dysart burghs; in 173G

and 1741, for the county of Sutherland, and for the Dysart

burghs again in 1747. In 1754 and 17G1, he was elected

for the county of Fife. He died at Dysart, 30th November

1762, without is.sue, being at the time of his death governor

of Cork and a m.ijor-geiieral on the .staff in Ireland. He
was succeeded in his heritable property by his nephew, Colo-

nel ,7anies Paterson, who assumed the name of St. Chair.

He was the son of his eldest sister, the Hon. Giisscl St. Clair,

and John Paterson of Prestonhall, the son of John I'aterson,

archbishop of Gla.sgow, and, through his mother, the un-

doubted heir of line of the earls of Orkney. The St.

Clair property, on Colonel I'aterson's death in 1780, de-
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volved on Sir James Erskiiie, bai'onet, secimd earl of Ross-

Ivn, grandson of the Hon. Catherine St. Clair, the general's

second eldest sister, who married Sir John Erslcine of Alva,

b.'ironet, (see Rcsslyn, earl of, p. 374 of this volume). The

general's third sister, the Hon. Mary St. Clair, married Sir

William Baird of Newbyth. His fourth sister, Elizabeth,

countess of VVemyss, had two daughters, Elizabeth, countess

of Sutherland, and JIargaret, countess of Moray.

The title of Lord Sinclair devolved on the general's cousin,

Charles St. Clair of Herdmanstoun, advocate, who, however,

did not assume it. He died at Edinbiu-gh, 4th November

1775. With one dMughter, Elizabeth, the wife of Colonel

Dalrymple, he had two sons, Matthew, who died young, and

Andrew, eleventh Lord Sinclair dejure, but neither did he

assume the title. He died in December 1776, little more

than a year after Iiis father. He married a daughter of John

Rutherford, Esq. of Edgerston, and with one daughter, Eleo-

nora, who died unmarried, he had two sons, Charles, twelfth

Lord Sinclair, and the Hon. Matthew St. Clair, master and

commander in the royal navy, 1797. He was appointed to

the command of the Martin sloop of war of 16 guns, which,

in 1800, sailed from Yarmouth to Heligoland, and was lost

at sea.

Charles St. Clair of Herdmanstoun, the elder son, born in

1768, claimed the title of Lord Sinclair, and had it confirmed

to him by a decision of the House of Lords, 2.5th April 1782.

His lordship was in the army, which he quitted, with the

rank of lieut -col., in 1802. In 1803 he became lieut.-cul. of

the Berwickshire militia, but resigned in 1805. In 1807 he

was chosen a Scots representative peer, and the following year

appointed to the cnmuiand of the Haddingtonshire militia.

He married, 1st, in 1802, Maiy Agnes, daughter of Chisholm

of Chisholm, and had by her 3 sons and 1 dr. Lady Sinclair

died in 1814, and in 1816 he married, 2dly, Isabella, daugh-

ter of Alexander Chatto, E.^q. of Main Hou.se, Roxburghshire;

issue, 2 drs. Heir, his eldest son, James, master of SiTiclair,

J. P. and D.L., formerly Capt. Gren.-gds, born July 3, 1803,

m. in 1830, Jane, eldest dr. of Archibald Little, Esq. of Sliab-

den Park, Surrey
;

issue, 4 sons and 2 daughters.

The above-named Sir Oliver St. Clair of Roslin, second son

of the second marriage of William, third earl of Orkney of

his family, by his wife, a daughter of Sir William Bortliwick

of Bortliwick, had five sons. George, the eldest, succeeded

him in Roslin. Henry, the second son, was educated for the

church at the university of St. Andrews. He was highly

esteemed by James V., and was for years in his family. He

acquired the lands of Stevenston, Haddingtonshire, in 1536,

but in the following year resigned them to his younger

brother, James. On 13th November 1537, he was admitted

an ordinary lord of session, .and on 16th December 1538, he

was appointed rector of Glasgow. In 1541 he became per-

petual commendator of the abbey of Kilwinning, which last

benefice he exchanged with Gavin Hamilton for the deanery

of Glasgow in 1550. In 1544 he was president of the court

of session. He was ambassador from Scotland to England,

and Flanders, and in 1560 was appointed bishop of Ross.

He died in France, where he went to get cut fur the stone,

J.inuary 2, 1565. The character of this prelate has been

elegantly drawn by Mr. Tytlcr. He lias, however, decided

against him the doubt which Lord Hailes had expressed as to

w hether the Reports of decisions, known as Sinclair's Prac-

tick.s and which commence 1st June 1540 and are continued

till 28th May 1549, were compiled by him or his brother,

John. Sir Oliver Sinclair, the third son, was the celebrated

favourite of James V., who had the comniaud of the Scots

army at the rout of Sulway Moss in 1542. He got a charter

under the great seal of the lands and barony of Pitcairn,

dated 12th January, 1537, and afterwards one from Queen

Mary, of the lands of Boreland, near Dysart, Fifeshire, dated

29th July, 1516. He left issue. John, the fourth son, rec-

tor of Snaw, was admitted an ordinary lord of session, 27th

April 1540. He was afterwards dean of Restalrig. He at-

tended his brother, the bishop of Ross, to France in 1564,

and brought home with him the materials which he had

commenced for a continuation of Boece's History of Scot-

land. He succeeded his brother as president of the court of

session. Sinclair, dean of Restalrig, married Queen Maiy
and Lord Darnley, in the abbey church of Holyrood, 29th

July, 1565. Shortly afterwards he was promoted to be

bishop of Brechin, but died in April 3566. The fiith son

was James Sinclair of Stevenston, already mentioned.

The Sinclairs of Dunbeath, Inverness-shire, baronets, de-

scend from the Hon. George Sinclair of Mey, third son of the

fourth earl of Caithness of the name of Sinclair. By his

wife, Margaret, daughter of the seventh Lord Forbes, Mr.

Sinclair of Mey had, with several daughters, three sons. 1.

William, who succeeded to the estate of Mey. 2. Sir John

Sinclair, who got a charter of the lauds of Dunbeath, 30th

July 1624. 3. Alexander Sinclair of Lathrone. The second

son. Sir John Sinclair, was, as Sinclair of Canisby, created a

baronet of Nova Scotia, by p.atent, dated 2d January 1631,

to himself and the heirs male of his body. Having only a

daughter, Margaret, married to Hugh Rose of Kilravock, he

was succeeded, in default of issue male, by his nephew, Wil-

liam, eldest son of his younger brother, Alexander. The lat-

ter Iiad, with 3 daughters, 4 sons. 1. William, his heir. 2.

Alexander Sinclair of Stempster. 3. John Sinclair of Brab-

ster. 4. George Sinclair, first of the Sinclaii-s of BaiTock.

The eldest son. Sir William, was the 2d baronet. During

the civil wars, he adhered to the cause of Charles I., and in

1650 his house was plundered by the Covenanters.

His cousin, Sir James Sinclair of Dunbe.ath and Stempster,

was the 3d baronet. He m. Isabel, daughter of Sir Archibald

Muir, lord provost of Edinburgh, and died in 1742. His

eldest son. Sir William Sinclair of Dunbeath, 4th baronet,

had a son. Sir Benjamin, 5tli baronet, who died in 1796.

His son, Sir John, 6th baronet, a major-general in the

Ea.st India Company's service, died Oct. 1, 1842, and was

succeeded by his cousin, Sir John Sinclair, 7th baronet, born

Sept. 16, 1794, married in July 1821, the daughter of John

Learmonth, Esq. of the Dean, Edinburgh; issue, with one

daughter (who died in 1849), three sons. 1. John, captain

39th Madras N. I., born in 1822, killed at the capture of

Ihansie, April 5, 1858. 2. Alexander Young, born in 1824,

capt. H. M. Bombay army, married. 3. George, born in 1826,

formerly capt. H. M. Bengal army, married, in 1859, Agnes,

only dr. of John Learmonth of the Dean.

The Sinclairs of Longformacus, Berwickshire, who also

possess a baronetcy of Nova Scotia, are descended from Sir

George St. Clair, third son of Sir William St. Clair of Roslin,

the sixth generation of tli.at " lordly line." The first baronet

of this branch was Sir Robert Sinclair, the twelfth proprietor

of Longformacus, advocate, who was retoured heir to his

father, James Sinclair, in those lands, 4th November, 1647.

He was an active supporter of the royal cause during the

civil wars, and by Charles II. was created a baronet of Nova

Scotia, by patent, dated 10th December 1664, to him and his

heirs male whatsoever. He died in 1678. His eldest son,

Sir John, second baronet, had one son, Sir Robert, third
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baronet, wlio was succeeded by Ids son. Sir Jolin, f'ourtli

baronet. On tlie death of tlie latter, witliout issue, liis

brotlier, Sir Henry, became fiftli baronet. He died in 17(18,

also witliout issue, when the succession devolved on his

cousin, John, grandson of George .Sinclair, the second son of

the first baronet. Sir George Sinclair, who thus became the

sixth baronet, married Elizabeth, daughter of Charles Allan,

Esq., and died 7th .January, 1798. His sun. Sir John, suc-

ceeded as seventh baronet.

The Sinclairs of Stevenston, East Lothian, baronets, are

descended from George, second son of Matthew Sinclair of

Longformacus, the ninth of that family in a direct male line.

George Sinclair died about 1G20, leaving a son, John, an

eminent merchant in Edinburgh. This gentleman acquired

a large fortune, and purchased the lands of Stevenston, of

which he got a charter dated 1st June 1G24. He likewise

\
acquired other hinds in the counties of Haddington, Edin-

burgh, and Berwick. By Ch.arles I. he was created a baronet

of Nova Scotia, by patent, dated 18th .January, IC^d, to him

' and his heirs whatsoever. He died in lG-18 or IGl'J. John,

his only son, predeceased him, leaving two sons ; Sir John,

j

who succeeded his grandfather as .second b.ironet, and Sir

Robert, who, on his brothers death, became third baronet.

The latter early gave his support to the Hevolutiou, and liy

!
King William was appointed sheriff of Haddingtonshire, 7th

December 1GS9. In .May thereafter, he was sworn a privy

councillor, and admitted one of the lords of the e.\chcquer.

: He was also named a lord of session, but declined the ollice,

although he continued tive years in the nomination. Queen

Anne also made hiui a member of her privy council in 1703.

He had si.\ sons and three daughters. Sir John, the eldest

son, fourth baronet, in his father's lifetime took an active

part in the politics of the day. He was one of the represen-

tatives of Lanarkshire in the last Scnts parliament. He op-

posed the treaty of union, and his name is recorded as one of

the adherents to the protest of the duke of Argyle against

that measure. He married .Martha, daughter and heiress of

John Lockhart of Castleliill, Lanarkshire, one of the lords of

session, widow of Cromwell Lockhart of Lee, and had eight

sons and five daughters. He died in 1726. Sir Robert, the

eldest son, was fifth baronet. John, the second son, succeeded

to the estate of Castlehill, and assumed the name of Lock-

hart. The third son, George Sinclair, advocate, was in 17J7

appointed sheriff of I^anarkshire, and in 17.il, w.as admitted

a lord of session, when he .assumed the title of Lord Wood-

hall. On the death of his brother, John, without issue male,

! he succeeded to the estate of Castlehill. As Lord Woodliall

I

died unmarried, Castlehill devolved on his nephew, James,

second son of Sir Robert Sinclair, liis lordshiji's eldest brother.

Sir Robert Sinclair, the tiftli b.ironet, had four sons and

four daughters. The eldest son. Sir John, si.\th baronet,

succeeded to the estate of JInrkle, Caithness-shire, on the

death of the ninth earl of Caithness in 1765. At his own

death in 1789, his eldest son, Sir Robert, became seventh bar-

onet. He was lieutenant-governor of Fort George, and died

4th August 1795. He married Lady ^ladalina Gordon, sec-

ond daughter of Alexander, fourth duke of Gordon. His

only son. Sir John Gordon Sinclair of Stevenston and Mur-

kle, eighth baronet, born 31st July 1790, entered the navy

when young, and distinguished himself at Morgion, and again

nt Cassis in 1813. He attained the rank of captain in 1814,

and was for some time captain of the port at Gibraltar. In

1847 he was appointed additional captain of the Victory, 104

guns, fin- service at Southampton, and in 1S.52 he was pro-

moted to be a rear-admiral of the blue. He married, 15th

June 1812, Anne, only daughter of Admiral the Hon. Mi-

chael de Courcy and niece of the 2Gth Lord Kinsale; issue, 3 '

sons and 5 daughters. His mother, I,ady Madalina Sinclair, ' I

took for her second husband, Charles Eysche I'ahner, Esq.

The Sinclairs of Ulbster, Caithness-shire, who possess a

baronetcy of the United Kingdom, conferred in I-'ebruary i

|

1786, are a branch of tlie noble house of Caithness. In
|[

1596 and 1G03, George, 5th earl of Caithness, conveyed to !

his cousin, Patrick Sinclair, the lands of Ulbster. Patrick,

living without issue, was succeeded by his brother, John

Sinclair, to whom the e.arl renewed the former grants, by

charter, dated 29th December 1615. His descendant, John

.Sinclair of Ulbster, purchased in 1719, the greater portion

of the estates of the earl of Caithness. He had mar-

ried, 9th April 1714, Henriett.i, daughter of George Brodie,

Esq. of Brodie, and died in 1736. He had three sous and

one daughter. The latter, Emilia, the wife of John Suther-

land, Esq. of Forss, had a son, George, who claimed the earl-

dom of Sutherland, in competition with the countess, after-

wards duchess of Sutherland. Mr. Sinclair of Ulbster's
\

\

eldest son, George, married 24th October 1740, Janet, daugli-
!

^

ter of William Lord Strathn.aver, and sister of the seventeenth

earl of Sutherland, and had twelve children, of whom two sons
j

and three daughters survived him. He died in 1770. Hiseldest i

son w.is the celebrated Sir John Sinclair, baronet, a memoir of

whom is alterwards given in larger type, (see page 462). The

daughters were: 1. Helen, married Aug. 1, 17G5, General

.-Vlexaiider Campbell of Barcaldine, with issue. Jane, one of

her daughter-s married in 1784, the 12th earl of Caithness.

2. Mary, married in 1770, James Home Rigg, Esq. of Mor-

ton and Gamalshiels. 3. Janet, married iu 18tJ3, Willi.im

Baillie, Esq. of Polkemmet. '

Sir .lolin Sinclair was twice married, and had by his first
j

,

wife two daughters, Hannah, authoress of a work on 'The
I

Principles of the Christian Faith,' and whose .Memoirs have
|

been published, and Janet, married to Sir James Colquhoun
j

of Luss, baronet. By his 2d wife he had 7 sons and 6 daugli-
j

ters. Sous: 1. Sir George, 2d baronet, of whom afterwards.
|

2. Alexander, at one period in the civil service of East India
|

Company. 3. John, M.A. and F.R.S.E., archdeacon of Mid-
I

-

dlescx and vicar of Kensington, author of ' Dissertations Yin-
^

'

dicating the Church of England with reg:ird to some essential

points of polity and doctrine,' London, 1833, 8vo; An Essay ,

on Church Patronage; 'Memoirs of the Life and Works of

the Right Hon. Sir John Sinclair, Baronet,' 2 vols. Edin-
j

burgh, 1837, 12mo, &c. 4. Arcliib;ild, a captain, R.N.,

founder of the Naval and Military Club in Scotland, and i

.author of a popular volume of naval reminiscences. He died
i

June 1, 1859. 5. William, incumbent of St. George's, Leeds.
j

]

6. J:unes, East India Company's service, died in 1826. 7.

Godliey, bom in 1812, a farmer in Northumberiaiid. D.augh- i

j

ters: 1. Elizabeth Diana. 2. Marg.aret. 3. Juli.a. married,
jj

Nov. 13, 1824, to George, 4tli earl of Ghusgow. 4. Catherine,
^

.authoress of ' Modern Accomplishments, or the March of In-
^

tellect,' Edinburgh, 1836, 12ino; 'Scotland .ind the Scotch,

or the Western Circuit,' Edinburgh, 1840, 12mo, a work

tnmslated into several foreign languages, and republished iu

America; ' Jloderu Flirtations, or a Month at Harrowgate,'

Euinbuigli, 1841, 3 vols. 12mo; ' Popular Legends and Bible
i i

Truths,' London, 1852, 12mo, and various other works. 5. |'

Helen, married Aug. 10, 1826, to Stair llathorn Stewart, Ivsq.

of Phvsgill, and died April 25, 1845. 6. Jane, died unmarried.

Sir George, 2d baronet, born Aug. 23, 1790 ;
succeeded his

father Dec. 21, 1835; was .M.P. for Cailhnes.s-shire in 1811
j

and 1818, :md from 1831 to 1811; author of 'The Debate
}|
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ami Division,' 'Tiie Bore,' jiiui otljer publications. He iimr-

ried. May 1, 1816, I-ady Catherine Camilla Tolleniaclie, sister

of the 6th earl of Dysart; issue, 3 sons and 3 dau<;liters.

Sons: 1. Dudley, died unmarried. 2. John George Tolle-

inache, horn Nov. 8, 1825; married, in 1853, Kmma, daugh-

ter of the deceased William S. Standish, Esq. of Duxbury,

county Lancaster; issue, Clarence Granville, born April o,

1858; Amy-Camilla, and two other dau!^btcrs. 3. Granville,

died in 1833. D.auglitcrs: 1. Kmiliu .Magdalen Louisa, mar-

ried, 1st, in 1837, Henry Tollemaclie, Esq., -.md 2dly, her

former marriage being dissolved by divorce, in 1841, iMajor

John Power; issue by 1st marriage, a son, and by 2d, one son

and 2 daughters. 2. Adelaide Mary, married in 1845, George;

2d son of .lohn James Hope Johnstone, Esq. of .Ani}andale,

M.P.
;

issue, one son and 2 daughters. 3. Olive Sophia.

In Caithness-shire .are .also the Sinclairs of Forss, an estate

acquired from the earl of Sutherland in 15G0, the representa-

tive of which family, James Sinclair, Esq. of Forss, advocate,

succeeded liis father in 1822; the Sinclairs of Lybster; the

Sinclairs of Freswick; and other families of the name.

Tlie Sinclairs are understood to be a cLan, their badge being

a branch of whins or gorss, and their tartan red. For the

feuds and achievements of the clan, see vol. i. of this work

(article Caithnicss, earl of, pp. 521—525). President Forbes

says that in 1745 the earl of Caithness could raise 1,000 men.

According to an old superstition no Sinclair will willingly

dress in green, or venture to cross tlie mountain called the Ord

of Caithness on a Monday, for in such an arr.ny and on that

day, forty Sinclairs, led by the earl of Caithness, by that road

marched to the fatal field of Flodden, and were all slain, ex-

cept the drummer, who w.as dismissed before the battle began.

Of the great house of Sinclair, the earl of Caithness is the

collateral heir male, the direct heir of line being Jlr. An-

struther Thomson of Charleton, Fifeshire. The latter is thus

descended : JIargaret Paterson, sister of Colonel James Pa-

tcrson St. Clair, above mentioned, (see p.age 456,) whose

jnotlier was the Hon. Grizel St. Clair, daughter of the 7th

Lord Sinclair, married John Thomson, Esq. of Charleton,

Her daughter, Grizel JIariu Thomson, heiress of Charleton,

became the wife of C(donel John Anstrutlier, 2d son of Sir

Philip Anstruther of Balcaskie, baronet, and her son, .Tolm

Ansti uther Thomson, by his wife, Clementina, only dr. of the

Right Hon. William Adam of Blair-Adam, had a son, John

Anstruther Thomson, representative of the earls of Orkney.

SINCLAIR, George, a distingiiiilicd mathe-

matical writer of the seventcciitli century, of

wliose early liistory little is known, Avas admitted

professor of pliilosopliy in the university of Glas-

gow, April 18, 1654. In 1661 he published his

lirst work, ' Tyrociuia Matliematica ; in iv. Trac-

tatus,' &c. In 1662 he was ejected from his

chair, for declining to comply with the episcopal

form of church government then forced upon Scot-

land. He afterwards pursued, with some suc-

cess, the business of a mineral surveyor and prac-

tical engineer. About 1670 he was employed by

the mngistrates of Edinburgh to superintend the

introduction of water into that citj-. In 1672 he

published a quarto, entitled ' Ilydrostaticks
;

or,

the Force, AVeight, and Pressure of Fluid Bodies.'

And, in 1680, a similar work in 8vo, under the

title of ' Ilydrostatical Experiments, with ]\Iiscel-

l.any Observations, and a Relation of .an Evil

Spirit; also a Discourse concerning Coal.' Tiiis

strange compound of science and superstition con-

tained an account of the AVitclies of Glenluce ; the

irjgenious author being, like many other learned

men of his time, a firm believer in the black art.

His Hydrostatics were attacked in a curious pam-

phlet, entitled ' The Art of Weighing Vanity,' by

Professor James Gregory', under the assumed

name of Patrick Jlather, Archbeadle of the Uni-

versity of St. Andrews. An unpublished answer

b}' Sinclair, quaintly styled ' Cacus pidled out of

his Den b}' the Heels,' remains in manuscript in

the library of the university of Glasgow, to which

it was presented by the author in 1692. Sinclair

is said to have been among the first in Great Bri-

tain who attempted to measure the heights of

mountains by the barometer. His best-known

work is his ' Satan's Invisible "World Discovered,'

published about 1685, and frequently reprinted.

At the Revolution lie was recalled to his chair of

philosophy in the university of Glasgow, and on

March 3, 1691, he was transferred to the profes-

sorship of mathematics, on its revival by the fac-

ulty of the college. He died in 1696. His woiks

are

:

Tyrociuia Mathematica; in iv. Tractatus, viz. arithmeticum,

spliericum, geographicum, et echometricum divisa. Glasg.

1661, 12mo.

Ars Nova, et magna Gravitatis ac Levitatis, seu Dialog-

ornm Philosophicoruu\ Libri vi. de Aiiris vera et reali gravi-

tate. Rott. 1669, 4to.

Ilydrostaticks; or, the Force, Weight, and Pressure of

Fluid Bodies, made evident by Physical and sensible Experi-

ments; together with .some Miscellaneous Observations; the

last whereof is a short History of Coal. Edin. 1672, 4to.

Natural Philosophy improved by new Experiments. The

same W'ork with a new title, .and Miscellaneous Observations,

wliicli contains a Relation of an evil Spirit; with a Discourse

on Coal. Edin. 1683, 4to.

Satan's Invisible W^orld discovered; or, a Choice Collection

of Relations anent Devils, Spirits, Witches, and App.iritions.

Edin. 1685, 12mo. Glasg. 1769, 12mo. This important

discovery of the old gentleman's cellarages .and colleagues

was long a favourite with the lower classes, but it is now

less popular, as its marvellous descriptions are now less

credited.

Principles of Astronomy and N.avigation; or, the Doctrine

of the Sphere: on Jlercurial Weather Glasses: Method of

buoying up a ship of any burden from the ground of the Sea.

Edin. 1688, 12mo.

Translation of Dickson's Truth's Victory over Error.
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SINCLAIR, SiK John, of Ulbstcr, biironct, a

(listinguished agricultural and political writer and

gereral statist, whose parentage is given on pnge

400, was born at Tliurso c.istle, Caithness-sliire,

May 10, 1754. Ilis early education was for a short

time conducted by Logan the poet, who had been

recommended to his father for the purpose b}' the

celebrated Dr. 131air. He subsequently acquired

the rudiments of Latin and Greek at the High

school of Edinburgh, and at the age of thirteen

entered tlui university of that city. Four years

thereafter, he removed to the university of Glas-

gow, to attend the lectures on civil law of Profes-

sor Millar, and then returned to the university of

Edinburgh, to complete his studies for the Scottish

bar. Succeeding his father in 1770, when only

sixteen j'ears of age, he immediatelj- commenced

improving tlie family estate, whereby he added

considerably to its annual value.

In 1774, he entered at Lincoln's Inn, and the

following year he matriculated at Trinity college,

Oxford. The same A'e.ar (177o) he was admitted

at Edinburgh a member of the faculty of advo-

cates. He was afterwards called to the Englisli

bar, but he preferred public life to following out

the prof(!ssion of the law. At the general election

of 1780, Mr. Sinclair was elected member of parlia-

ment for the county of Caithness, ami at first gave

his support to the cabinet of Lord North, then as-

sailed by a very strong opposition in parliament.

He was re-elected in 1790, in 1802, and in 1807 ;

but as the county of Caithness was, at that time,

only alternately represented in parliament, with

Bute, he was, in 1784, chosen for Lostwithiel, in

Cornwall, and in 179G, for Pctersfield, in Hamp-

shire. With the exception of a very short inter-

val, he continued a member of the house of com-

mons till July 1811, lu'ing a space of more than

thirty years.

In 1782, he published two political tracts, the

one on jiarliamcutary reform, and the other ' On

the Naval Strength of the Biitish Empire.' The

latter was written with the design of dispelling the

alarm which had begun to pervade the nation on

the desertion of their old allies the Dutch, and the

formidable aspect of the French navy. A few-

days after its publication Lord Rodney gained his

celebrated victoi'y over De Grasse, on the 12lli

A])ril. This pamphlet was followed by another '

regarding the management and improvement of
j

the navy. About the same time, he pressed on
j

the attention of the ministry the propriety of estab-
j

lishing a militia force, and having published his
|

' Considerations on ISIilitias and Standing Armies,'
j

some of his suggestions were afterwards adopted.
[

From this period till his death there was scarcely
!

any tojiic in the whole range of political, statisti-

cal, or medical science, on which he did not issue

from the press some pamphlet or other publica-

tion, and for nearly hnlf-a-century he filled a very

prominent place as a ]niblic man.

On the accession of the earl of Shelijurnc to
!

power in 1783, when overtures of peace cnme to
1

be entertained, much discussion ensued on the '

financial state of the country. With the object of

giving a comprehensive and accurate view of the

national resources, ]\Ir. Sinclair published his

' Hints on the state of our Finances.' This pam-

])hlet was succeeded b}-- another, containing a plan
[

for the re-establishment of public credit. The
j

ludilicntion of a still more impoi'tant and elabo-
j

rate work in 1784, his ' History of the Public
j

Revenue of the British Empire,' in 2 vols. 4to, at
j

once plnccd his reputation high both as a financier
|

and an economist. The same j-enr he applied to i

Mr. Pitt, then prime minister, for the grant of a I

baronetage to which he h;id a claim, as heir and

i-epresentative of Sir George Sinclair of Clyth
;

j

and on 4th February 178G, he was created a bar- i

onet of Great Bi'itain, with reniaindci-, in default
j

of his own male issue, to the heirs male of his !

daughters, by his first wife.
i

He had married on 2Gtli Marcli ]77(i, Sarah, i|

daughter of Alexander IMaitland, Esq. of Stoke

Newington, near London, and on her death in

1785, with the view of dissipating his grief, he set

out on a tour to France during the Christmas
j

recess. On his ariival in Paris he was kiudlv re- !

ceived by Neckcr, the celebrated niinister of

finance to the ill-fated Louis XVI. "The ladies

of the family," says his biographer, "seemed
|

to have resolved on giving their Scottish guest an i

agreeable reception. He found ZMadame Necker
j

reading ' Blair's Sermons,' and Mademoiselle
j

Neckcr, afterwards Baroness de Stael, plaxing

' Lochabor no more' on the piano.''
i
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In the following j'ear, he made an extensive

tour through the northern countries of Europe,

with the view of inquiring into tlieir political and

commercial condition. In the course of this jour-

ney, he travelled above 7,500 miles, and was in-

troduced to nearly all the courts of the various

countries through which he passed. He also be-

came acquainted M'ith many of tlie most eminent

and remarkable men on the continent. It was

not, however, till 1830, when he published two

large volumes of his correspondence, that a digest

of the valuable observations made on the occasion

on the political, commercial, agricultural, moral,

and religious state of the countries he had visited,

was submitted to the public. On his return to

Scotland in 1787, he proceeded with those im-

provements on his own estate wliich speedily tend-

ed, in a great degree, to give a new aspect to the

county of Caithness, and to which the large in-

crease of the population of that county, which

subsequently took place, is mainly to be attributed.

On the 6th of March 1788, Sir John Sinclair

married a second time, at London, the Hon. Di-

ana Macdonald, only daughter of Alexander first

Lord Macdonald. The same year the degree of

doctor of laws was conferred on him by the uni-

versity of Glasgow. Having, about this time,

directed his attention to the improvement of Brit-

ish wool, he published several papers on the sub-

ject, and in 1791 procured the establishment of a

society at Edinburgh for the encouragement of

valuable breeds of sheep, of which he was chosen

the president. By the exertions of this useful

Society, great improvements were effected in the

pastoral districts ; and many lands were doubled

in value by the new mode of sheep-farming intro-

duced.

The previous year he had begun to entertain

the idea of that great national undertaking which

is associated with his name, the Statistical account

of Scotland. So little had the subject been at

that time attended to that the very term ' statis-

tics' is of his invention. Being a lay member of

the General Assembly, it occurred to him that he

might be able to prevail on a great proportion of

the clergy of the Church of Scotland to furnish

the requisite information regarding eveiy parish,

so that a complete statistical account of the king-

dom might be obtained. His original plan was to

draw up a general statistical view of Scotland,

without reference to parochial districts ; but such

a mass of useful facts and observations was con-
;

tained in the communications sent to him, that he
|

resolved upon preparing the work for press in the

extended form in which it was published. After
j

unwearied exertions he succeeded in bringing out

the first volume of this great work in 1791. But,

although backed by a recommendation from the

General Assembly', and supported by the active

exertions of some of the leading members of the

church, he had to contend with many difficulties

before he could complete the undertaking. De-

termined to bring it to a satisfactory conclusion,

he engaged five statistical missionaries, to whom

he allotted different divisions of the country ; and

by their means the accounts of no less than

twenty-five parishes, which must otherwise have

been wanting, were accurately obtained. The

work was at length completed on the 1st of Janu-

ary 1798, seven 3'ears and a half after its com-

mencement. It was comprised in twenty thick

8vo volumes, to which another was subsequently

added. The profits of the publication were given

to the Society instituted for the benefit of the Sons

of the Clergy ; and for the same benevolent pur-

pose Sir John obtained a grant of £2,000 from

government. A New Statistical Account of Scot-

land, in 15 volumes, 8vo., was published by Black-

wood of Edinburgh in 1845, Sir John Sinckiir's

work having been taken as its model.

In May 1793 Sir John printed and circulated a

plan for establishing a Board of Agriculture and

Internal Improvement
;
and, on the 15th of the

same month, he moved, in his place in parlia-

ment, an address to the crown in favour of the

proposed establishment. After an animated and

interesting debate, which was adjourned till the

17th, his motion was carried, on a division, by a

majority of 75. Soon after the Board was ap-

pointed, and received a charter from the crown,

in Avhich Sir John Sinclair was nominated its first

president. To the exertions of this board the

country is indebted, in a great degree, for its rapid

progress in the art of husbandry. A spirit of en-

terprise was excited among the farming classes,

a"-ricultural associations were formed all over the
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I

kingdom, lepurts were published, in 50 octavo

voliunes, describing accurately every county in

Great Britain, and the substance (jf the infornia-

tion tlius accumulated was digested, by Sir John

himself, into liis 'Code of Agriculture,' jjublished

in 1819. He continued president of the board for

thirteen yeais. In 1803 Sir Humphrey Davy

gave his first course of lectures on agricultnial

cliemistr)' before the board of agriculture. Ap-

pointed their professor with a salary of £100 per

annum, Da.vy continued fur ten years to detail

before them the enlarged vie\\ s which his scienti-

fic acquirements enabled him to take of the sub-

ject, and in 1813 the lectui-es wove jniblished at

the request of the board. When Sir John Sin-

clair ceased to superintend its operations, the

board of agriculture gradually declined, and was

finally abolished.

Soon after the commencement of hostilities with

I'rance in 1793, so great was the stagnation that

prevailed in the commerce of Great Britain, that

a deficiency in the circulating medium was the

consequence, and the national bankruptcy seemed

almost inevitable. In this emergency, Sir John

came forward with a plan for the issue of Exche-

quer bills to the amount of five millions, to be

issued by way of loans in small sums to merchants

and manufacturers. This plan received the ready

ajijiroval of Pitt and Dundas, and having speedily

passed, proved the means of preventing general

ruin.

In 1791, when the call to arms was made by

government. Sir John Sinclair received letters of

service to raise a fencible regiment in the counties

of Ross and Caithuess, the services of which

should extend to England. The regiment on be-

ing formed amounted to one thousand men. It

was at first called the " Caithness fenciblcs,"' but

in compliment to the chief title in Scotland of

the Prince of Wales, the name was subsequently

changed to that of the " Rothesay and Caithuess

fenciblcs." The uniform of the regiment was a

bonnet and feathers, with a plaid and tartan

trews. The latter was adopted by Sir Jolm Sin-

clair in the belief that it was more ancient than

the kilt, and, as was usual with him on every

matter that engrossed his attention, he wrote a

pamphlet on the subject. A second battalion, at

111.

first of 600 and afterwards of 1,000 men, was in

1795 raised by him, which served in Ireland in

sup])res.sing the rebellion of 1798 During the

volunteer period. Sir Jolni commanded the camp

at Aberdeen, and published several pamphlets on

military matters. In one of these, entitled ' Cm--

sory Observations on the Military System of (Sreat

Britain,' the tactics of Nnpoleon were investi-

gated, and improvements in the system of Great

Britain suggested. "\Mii'n the ex]>edition to

Egypt was undertaken two liundrrd and twenty

of the Caithness fenciblcs volunteered into the

regiments of the line, particularly the 79th and

92d Highlanders. One of them. Sergeant Sinclair,

of the 79tli regiment, took an eagle from the

French Invincibles at the battle of Alexandria, for

which Sir John procured him promotion.

Having, as early as 1783, acquired a considera-
j

ble reputation as a writer on finance, lie was in-
[

duced to follow out the subject in his 'Review of
1

the Financial Administration of the Right Hon.

William Pitt,' to which an appendix was added

in 1789, and a third part in 1790. In 1797, when

Pitt, then combining in himself the offices of

prime minister and chancellor of the exchequer,

found tli.it the treasury was exhausted, whilst the

demands upon it Avere increasing, he consulted Sir

John Sinclair, at that time. thi-ough the interest

of the prince of \Vales, menibei- for Petcrsfield, as

to what was to be done in the emergenry. The

result was the scheme known by the name of the

" Loyalty Loan," the germ of several subsequent

financial projects. He supported the minister in

liis war measures against the French republic, but

when he saw a prospect of peace he was willing

to take advantage of it. He joined the party

known by the name of the " Armed Neutrality," 1

of which the earl of Moira was considered the head,

and which siqiported economy and retrenchment,

and parliamentary reform. During the greater

part of the sessions 1797, 98, and 99, he took a

leading part in the business of the house of com-

mons, especially in opposing tlie financial nieasmes

of the government. 'When the bill for a union

with Ireland was under discussion in parliament,

he made an eflort to have the number of the Scot-

tish representatives increased, but ^^•as unsuccess-

ful.

2 a
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Being led, about 1802, to tlie consideration of

the subject of liealtli, lie published in 1803 a quarto

pamphlet, entitled ' Hints on Longevity.' In

the same year he collected his Essays on Miscel-

laneous Subjects, and published them together in

one volume octavo. He afterwards compiled an

extensive work on the general subject of health,

in which he condensed into a manageable form all

the widely scattered materials found in ancient

and modern authors. This was published in

1807, as a 'Code of Health and Longevity,' in

4 vols. 8vo, subsequently abridged Into one vol.

la May 1805, Sir John was appointed by Mr.

Pitt a commissioner for superintending the con-

struction of new roads and bridges in the north of

Scotland. In 1810, he was sworn a privy councillor.

His speech on the bullion question was among the

last delivered by him in parliament, from which

he retired in July 1811, when he was succeeded

by his eldest sou. The same year, under the

administration of Mr. Percival, he was appointed

cashier of excise in Scotland, with a salary of

£2,000 a-year. Tliis situation he was induced to

accept in consequence of his private affairs hav-

ing become much embarrassed by the vast ex-

penses incurred in his public life, and by the un-

successful prosecution of certain claims which he

had on the East India Company.

Early in 1815, Sir John visited the Netherlands,

principally with the object of examining into tlie

agricultural state of that countiy, and of ascer-

taining the relative prices of grain in Great Britain

and the continental corn countries, more especially

Flanders and France. The escape of Napoleon

from Elba caused him to return sooner than he

wished. The following year, he published his

' Hints on the Agricultural State of the Nether-

lands compared with that of Great Britain.' After

the victory of Waterloo, he again visited the con-

tinent, and went over the field of battle. At

Calais, on his return homeward, he met with Ser-

geant Ewai't of the Scots Greys, who had dis-

tinguished himself by capturing one of the French

eagles, and it was through Sir John Sinclair's

interest that that intrepid soldier was promoted to

an ensigncy in a veteran corps.

Besides the works specified. Sir John published

a great variety of smaller pamphlets and tracts, on

subjects connected with agriculture or political

economy. Among the first of his writings was

a work on the Sabbath, which by the advice of

Dr. Adam Smith, to whom he had submitted it in

manuscript, was never publislied. He had early

obtained the friendship of that eminent philoso-

pher, a circumstance which greatly strengthened his

taste for political economy. His agricultural writ-

ings, having been translated into the French, Ger-

man, and other languages, he was elected a member

of most of the agricultural societies of the continent,

and held no less than twenty-five diplomas from

institutions in France, Flanders, Prussia, Aus-

tria, Saxony, AVirtemberg, Germany, Sweden,

Denmark, Russia, Italy, the United States, and

the West Indies. He was likewise a fellow of

the royal societies of London and Edinburgh, and

of the antiquarian society of London. He was

president of the Highland Society of London, as

well as an original member of the Highland

Society of Scotland. Whatever tended to the pre-

servation of the national language, dress, or man-

ners of his native countrj', he was always anxious

to promote. He frequently presided at the annual

competition of pipers in Edinburgh, and was en-

thusiastic in the admiration of the music of Scot-

land.

His intimacy with the most eminent men of his

time, both at home and abroad, led him into an

extensive correspondence, and two very interest-

ing volumes of it were published at London in

1831. His name and works were well known in

America. With Presidents Washington, Jefl'er-

son, and Adams, he had frequent communications;

whilst few foreigners of any distinction visited

Scotland without letters of introduction to him.

Sir John Sinclair died at Edinburgh, where he

had resided for the last twenty years of his active

and useful life, December 21, 1835, and was buried

in the Royal chapel of Holyrood. B.y his first

wife he had two daughters, and by his second,

seven sons and five daughters. The names of his

children are given in the genealogical account of

the family prefixed to this memoir. " In early

life," says his son, " he was tall, well-proportioned,

and athletic. He was six feet two inches in

height. His features were formed nearly after the

Grecian model. He was always of a spare
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habit, and as he advanced in lite, stooi)ed coii-

sidei-abl}'." It was said of him by tlie Abbe

Grogoire tliat " the Clievalicr Sinclair was not

only the most indefatigable man in Enrope, bnt

the man of the most extensive ac([naintance."

A remarkable instance of that energy of character,

for which he was distingnished dnring his whole

life, was evinced by him at the early age of

eighteen, in the forniatiun of a road over the liill

of Ben Cheiit, in the centre of the connty of

Caithness. It was believed that the whole " sta-

tnte labonr" of the conntry conld not make a road

over it, bnt liaving resolveil npon completing one

in the shortest possible time, he surveyed the

ground in person, and marked out the intended

line, then appointed all tlie neighbouring farmers to

meet him on a certain day with their servants.

They accorilingly assembled to the number of

1,260, and being divided into parties and plenti-

fully supplied with tools and provisions, they

worked from day -dawn, " nntil a road," as we

are told by his son, " whicli had been hardly pas-

sable for horses in the morning, became practicable

for carriages before night." To this feat he was

indebted for his first wife's clioice of him, ont of

many snitors. One of his rivals, on an excnrsion

to the lUglilainls, had lu'cn unexpectedly recalled

from Inverness to ]>ondon. Calling npon Miss

Maitland he expressed to her and her mother his

great disappointment at not being able to extend

his tour. He had heard, he said, of a young gen-

tleman in Caithness, of the name of Sinclair, who

was carrying on improvements in that connty with

an energy never before heard of. He then gave

an account of his making "a road over a hill

which liad been looked npon as impassable," and

of " his phms for introducing commerce and manu-

factures, and for advancing agriculture." This

encomium decided the young lady's preference in

favour of Sir John, then I\Ir. Sinclair. His pro-

posals for her hand were accepted, and the mar-

riage contract drawn up. Nothing more was re-

quired than the naming of the marriage day, when

an unexpected obstacle presented itself in the re-

pugnance of ]\Irs. Maitland to the removal of her

daughter from her own neighbonrhood. She in-

sisted on a promise from lier future son-in-law

that he would reside permanently in England.

To this he would not consent, and, under the

imjiression that i\Iiss Maitland agreed with her

mother, he set otf cm his lirst excursion to tlie

continent. On iiis return, he learnt that the

young lady did not ajijirove of the maternal

stipulation, and the marriage accordingly took

place.

Asa ]>ractical benefactor of his conntry and true

patriot, his name \\ ill be long remenil>cred. Soon

after he first enteied jiarliament, he was the

means of procuring a government grant for the

relief of his suffering ctuintrymcn, wiiicli earned

for him their lasting gratitude. The summer of

1782 had been cold and stormy, and a general

failure of the cro])s took ])lace throughout the

northern counties. By the exertions of Sir John,

then Mr. Sinclair, the sum of £15,000 was obtained

from Government, by which the inhabitants of

fifteen counties, amounting to 111,521 souls, were

preserved from starvation.

Of Sir John Sinclair there are many portraits.

The best are two full lengths, one by 'West, and

the other by Sir Henry Raeburn. Both represent

him in the uniform of his feneil)le regiment; a

dress which he delighted to wear, long after the

corps had ceased to exist.

A catalogue of the various books, tracts, and

papers printed by Sir John Sinclair, is given at

the end of the Memoirs of his Life and Works, by

his son, the Rev. John Sinclair. The}^ amount

to 307. A complete list of them would occupy

more than five pages of this work in small type.

The following are the more important

:

Lucubrations duriii!; a short Recess; containing a plan for

a more equal Representation of tlie People. I.oniioii, 1782,

Svo.

Observations on tlie Scottish Dialect. London, 1782, 8vu.

History of the Public Revenue of tlie Hritisli ICnipire.

London, 1784. 2 vols. 4to. .Appendi."!, 4to, Part iii. 1790. 4to.

Tlie same, with a Review of Pitt's Financial Administration,

1803-4, ,3 vols. Svo.

State of Alterations wliich may be proposed in tlie Laws

for regulating the Klectiou of Members of Parliament for

Shires in Scotland. 1787, Svo.

Address to the Landed Interest on the Corn Bill nov.- be-

fore parliament. London, 1791, Svo.

l)is.sertation on the Authenticity of the Poems of Ossian.

179.5, 4to. With an Appendix. 1807.

.^iccount of the Origin of the Board of Agriculture and its

progress (or three years. London, 179(), 4lo.

Communications to the Board of Agriculliirc on subji'cts

relative to Husbandry and Internal Imi'voveinent. London,

1797, 4to.
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Tlie Statistical Account of Scotland, drawn up from the

Communications of tlie Ministers of the different Parishes.

21 vols. 8vo. Edin. 1791-1799.

Tliou<;l]ts respecting the ensuing Campaign on the Bor-

ders of Italy, and its probable Issue. 1797.

Inquiry into the State of Scotland. 1800.

Essays on Miscellaneous Subjects. London, 1802, 8vo.

On the Political State of Europe. 1803.

Observations on the Propriety of Preserving the Dress, the

Language, the Poetry, the Music, and the Customs of the

Ancient Inhabitants of Scotland. 1804.

Tlie Code of Health and Longevity. Edin. 1807, 4 vols. 8vo.

Four subsequent editions in one vol. 8vo ; the tirst published

in 1819.

General View of the Agriculture of the Nortliern Counties

and Islands of Scotland. Edin. 1812, 8vo. 3d edition, with

numerous plates. Edin. 18'20, 2 vols. 8vo.

Account of the Highland Society of Scotland. London,

1813. 8vo.

Thoughts on the Agricultural and Financial State of the

Conntiy. 1815.

History of the Campaign of the Armies imder tbe Duke of

Wellington, and of the Prussians under Prince Blucher. By

Baron .Muffling. Edited, with additional particulars, and an

Appendi.x. 1815.

The Code of Agriculture. 1817. 5 editions, 8vo. Trans-

lated into the F'rench, German, and Dutch languages.

Analysis of the Statistical Account of Scotland. 2 Parts,

1825, 2 vols.

Fingal, a Tragedy in Five Acts. 1830.

The Correspondence of Right Hon. Sir .lohn Sinclair,

Bart. ; with Reminiscences of distinguished Characters. 2

vols., London, 1831, 8vo.

Tlie minor works, painplilets, and fugitive pie-

ces, may be classified as follows

:

LiTERAUY.— Impulse of the Jloment. 1782.—Song for

tlie Rothesay and Caithness Fencibles. 1792. — Sketch of

an Intended System of Education for George Sinclair. 1801.

Sketch of a System of Education for a Young Gentlem.m.

1802.— Genealogy of the Sinclairs of Ulbster. 1810.—

Miscellaneous Papers. 1811.—On the State of Society

in Edinburgh. 1811.—Letter from Sir John Sinclair to

George Sinclair, Esq., regarding the literary undertakings

lie lias in contemplation. 1813.—Ode on the Restora-

tion of the House of Orange. 1815.— A Messieurs les

ReJacteurs de I'Observateur. 1815.—A General View of

the Principles of the Christian Fidtli, as explained in iM'ss

Hannah Sinclair's Treatise on that Subject, 1818.—Evi-

dence to prove that the celebrated air called ' Gramacliree

Molly' was composed in Scotland. 1819.—Prospectus ex-

plaining the nature and superior advantages of the ' Codean

System of Knowledge.' 1819.—Account of some singular

Incidents in the Life of the Right Hon. Sir John Sinclair,

Bart., 1820.—Address to the Citizens of Edinburgh on His

Majesty's expected visit to Scotland. 1820. — Letter on

Codification. 1820.—Reparation of St. Giles' Church, Edin-

burgh. Circular Letter to the Faculty of Advocates. 1821.

—Letter on Jlount.iin Dew. 1822.—On the Importance of

Scotland as a separate Division of the British Empire. 1822.

—On the Impropriety of Indulging Grief for the loss of near

relations or particular friends. 1823.—-Gretna Green Mar-

riages. 1823.—Address to the Public on Infant Schools. 1829.

— Letter to the Commissioners for the Improvements in the

City of Edinbvirgh. 1829.—To the Members of the Board of

SIR JOHN.

Trustees fur promoting the Fisheries, Manufactures, and nther

Iinprovenientsin Scotland. 1829.—.Address to the Inhabitants

of Edinburgh on the City Improvements. 1830.—Thoughts

regarding proposed future Literary Labours. 183L—On the

Monument to Burns. 1831.—Preliminary Obsemitions on the

Plan of a Code, or Digest of Religion. 1 834.—Hints on the Pro-

po.sed Monument to the memory of Sir Walter Scott, 1835.

—Letter to Dr. D. B. Reid, on the Piiilosophical Society of

Edinburgh. 1835.—Plan of a Meeting for Constituting a

Society to supply the City of London with Milk. 183.5.

—

Information respecting the Castle of Dunsinane.—On the

tendency of Ignorance and Want of Education to produce an

excessive population, as exemplified in the state of Ireland.

—

Plan for procuring the sum necessary to complete the Th.ames

Tunnel.—On the great advantages which Literature derived

from the erection of the Monastery and College of lona.

—

Hints respecting 'The Course of Time,' a Poem, by Robert

Pollok, M.A., with a short account of the Author.—Hints as

to Autographs.—Hints on the Character of General Wash-

ington.—On the Means of Improving the Systems of Educa-

tiini in Scotland.— Obser\-ations on the Training of Pugilists,

Wrestlers, Jockeys, and others; and the Training of Running

Horses, &c.. Nicholson's Journal, xiii., 309, 180C.—Extracts

from a Collection of Papers on the subject of Athletic Exer-

cises. 111. XV. 67.—On the Breeding and Feeding of Game
Cocks. lb. xvi., 207. 1807.

Statistical.—Address to the Clergy of the Church of

England, on the Nature and Principles of Statistical Philo-

sophy. 1792.—Specimens of Statistical Reports. 1792.

—

History of the Origin and Progress of the Statistical Account

of Scotland. 1798, 8vo.—Statistical Account of the Parish

of Tliurso. 1798.—Sketch of an Introduction to the proposed

Analy.sis of the Statistical Account of Scotland, ! 02.—On

the Advantages to be derived by Political Economy from

Statistical Researches. 1833.— Statistical display of the

Population of Great Britain and Ireland. 1835.—Statistical

Display of the Occupation of the Male Population in each

section of the United Kingdom, deduced from the returns

made to Parliament in 1831.

PoLiTicAi,.—On the Propriety of Dissolving Parliament.

1782.—Reflections on the Expediency of Incre.ising the num-

ber of the Representatives of the People. 1782.—The Crisis

of Europe. 1783, 8vo.—The Propriety of Retaining Gibral-

tar. 1783.— Letters to the Chamber of Commerce at Edin-

burgh on the subject of the Corn Laws. 1787.—General

View of the Enquiries essential for the Internal Improvement

of the Kingdom. 1795.—Speech on the Bill for Imposing an

Income Tax, 1798, 8vo.—Thoughts on the dismissal of the

Minister and the R storation of Peace, addressed to the

Livery of the City of London. 1798.— Hints on the present

alarming Crisis. 1798.—Letters on the state of the Nation,

addressed to Lord Thurlow. 1798.— Imp.artial Thoughts on

Peace and War. 1803 —Address to the Chairman, Deputy

Chairman, and Directors of the East India Company, 1809.

—

Letter to the Chancellor of the Exchequer in Ireland, relative

to the Dissolution of the Union. 1810.—Three other Pam-

phlets against the Repeal of the Union.—Hints regarding the

renewal of the charter of the East India Company. 1813.

—On the State of the Country in December 1816.—Four

Letters on the Distresses of the Times. 1816.—On the

means of airesting the progress of National Calamity. 1817,

2 editions.—On the State of the Nation. 1819.— Address to

the Reformers of Great Britain. 1819.—On the Cau.ses of

our National Distresses. 1820.—Nine other Pamphlets on

the Distresses of the Country.—On the means of promoting

the Prosperity of a great Political Community. 1826.— Ob-

468
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serviitions on Mr. Secietiiry Caniiiiij;'s Plan for liegul.itiiig

the Corn Trade. I8'27.—On tlie Coin Laws of France. 1827.

— Tliirteen otiier paiiiplilets on tlie Corn Laws.
—

'I'liouglit.s

on Catholic EmanciiJation. 1828.—Three otlier paniplilets

on the Catliolic cpiestion.—To tlie Secretary of the Society

for tlie liiiprovemeiit of Ireland. 1829.—IVtition to the

Lords Spiritual ami Temporal in Parliament assembled.

1830.—To the President of the United States of America.

18iJ0.—Thoughts on the Means of preventing the Public

Mischiefs ari^illg from the great load of public and private

business with which the House of Commons is overwhelmed.

1830.— Political Hints. On the new Plan of Reform, &c.

1831.—Five other pamphlets on Parliamentary Pofurm.

—

Thoughts on the Times. 1831.— Plan for preventing the

fatal Political Revolution with which we are now threatened.

1833.—Two pamphlets on the Tithe Question. 1831, 1835.

—Thoughts on the Propriety of Dissolving Parliament. 183-1.

— Oil the Means of rendering Great liritain unconquerable.

1834.—Three pamp'ilets on ihe repeal of the Jlalt Tax.

1834, 183.5.— Plan for enabling Government to reduce Taxes.

1831.—On the Means of Saving the Nation from Impending

Calamities.— Hints on the dangerous tendency of what is

called the Free Trade System.—Hints explanatory of the

Nature and Objects of a Proposed Code of Political Economy.

— Hints regarding the proposed Reduction in our Peace Ksta-

hlishments.—Whigs and Tories.

Aguicui.tuhal.— Report of the Committee of the High-

land Society of Scotland on the suliject of Shetland Wool.

1787, 8vo.— Address to the Society for the Improvement of

British Wool, constituted at Edinburgh 1791. London, 8vo,

2 edilions.— Plan for Est.iblishing a Board of Agriculture

and Internal Imprcvement. 1792.— Plan for converting Cat-

tle Farms into Sheep Farms. 1792.—Description of the Che-

viot lireed of Sheep. 1792 —Speech in Parliament on pro-

posing the establishment of a Board of Agriculture. 1792.

—

Address to the Board of Agriculture, on the first day of its

being assembled. 1792. Five subsequent addresses to the same

Board, 1794, 179.i, 179G, 1797.—Alarm to Landholders. 1798.

•— Proposals for establishing a Tontine Society for ascertaining

the Principles of Agricultural Improvement. 1799.—Hints re-

garding the .Advantages of a Corporation with a large capital,

devoted to .•\gricultural Improvement. 1800.—Proposals for

establishing by Subscription a new Institution to be called

The Plough, or Joint Stock Farming Society. 1800.—

A

Note of various measures calculated for the improvement of

the County of Caithness, 1801. Ditto, 1802. Ditto, 1803.

—Observations on the Means of enabling a Cottager to keep

a Cow. 1801.—On the Culture of Potatoes. 1801.—On

the subject of the Culture and Use of the Potato he

suksequcntly published nine other pamphlets.— Account

of the Corn Stands at VVoburn Abbey. 1802.—Hints

.•is to the Advantages of Old Pastures, and on the Conversion

of Grass Lands into Tillage. 1802.— Hints submitted to the

consideration of the Select Committee on the Survey of the

Coasts and Central Highlands of Scotland. 1803.— .Account

of the Moss Improvements of John Wilkinson, Esq. of Ca-S-

tleliead, Lancashire. 180C. — Introductory Observations,

pointing out some additional measures submitted to the

Board of Agriculture. 1807.—Enquiry into the Nature .and

Ciusesof the Blight, the Rust, and the Mildew. 1809, 8vo.—

An Account of James Small, and of his Improvements in the

Construction of .Agricultural Implements. 1811.—.Address

to the Dalkeith Monthly Farming Clnb, Dec. 2G, 1811.—

Hints regarding the Means of enabling Great Britain to pro-

vide her people with food from her domestic resources. 1812.

—An Account of the Systems of Husbandry adopted in the

more Improved Di.-tricts of Scotland. 1812, 8vo.—On more

Economical .Modes of Feeding Horses. 1812.—An Account

of the Improvements carried on by Sir .luhn Sinclair on his

estates iii Scotland. 1812.— Hints submitted to the Board

of Agriculture. 1812.— Political M.-ixims regarding the im-

portance of Agriculture, and its means of Improvement.

1812. Ditto, 1813.—Some particulars regarding the origin

and progress of a work entitled 'An Account of the Hus-

bandry of Scotland.' 1813.—Address to the Board of Agri-

culture. 1813.— Hints on the Agricultural Advantages to be

derived from our East Indian PossessioiLs. 1814.—Account

of some Experiments to promote the Improvement of Fruit

Trees. With Engravings. 181,x— Hints on the Agricultural

State of the Netherlands. 181C.—Thoughts on the Agricul-

tural Question. 1819.— Plan for establishing a Company for

the Cultivation of the Waste Lands of the Ivingdoin. 1819.

—

Remarks on the Merchant's Petition, and on the depression

of Agriculture. 1820. - Hints as to the most advantageous

mode of managing the Merino Breed of Sheep in Caithness.

1821.—Hints on Agricultural distress. 1821. Ditto, 1822.

—Address to the Owners and Occupiers of Land. 1822.

Important Information respecting the Agricultural Question.

1822.— .Answer to a Tract by David Ricardo, Esq., M.P., on

Protection to .Agriculture. 1822.—Twelve other pamphlets

were published by him at various times, on the Landed and

Farming Interests, and on Agricultural Distress.—On the

Ability of the United Kingdom, with the aid of its Colonies,

to supply itself with grain. 182G.—On the use of Barley or

Big as food for Horses. 1826.—On the importance of Oil

as a iManure. 1826. Two numbers.—On various modes of

feeding Horses. 1827.— On the advantages derived from the

estabiishmeiit of a Board of Agriculture. 1827.—On Crim-

son Clover. 1827.—On Potato Ponder, or Farina. 1828.

—

On Potato Meal. 1828.—On the great Importance of the

Wool Question. 1829.—On the Means of preventing the

Ravages of Slugs, Grubs, the Wireworm, and the Wheat Fly

(or Tipula Tritici) on our Crops of Wheat. 1829.—On the

.Means of Improving the Condition of the Indu.strious La-

bourers in Husbandry. 1831.—Letter by an Agriculturist

on Wilful Fires. 1831.— Lecture on the Science of Agricul-

ture. 1831.—On tlie Advantages derived by Cottagers from

the possession of a Garden. 1832.—On the Culture of White

Peas. 1833.—Address to the Friends of Agricultural Im-

provement in the county of Caithness. 1833.—On Shell

.Marie as a Manure for Turnips. 1833.—Account of the

origin of Cattle Shows and other Agricultural Meetings.

1833.—On Spade Husbandry. 1834.— Hints on Vegetation.

1834.—Letter to the Chairman of the Lothian Tenantry.

1835.—Hints regarding Cattle.— On Drilling Cidmiferous or

Corn Crops.—On the Management of an Extensire Property.

— Pl.an of an Agricultural Festival.—On the Establishment

of .an Experimental Farm in the immediate neighbourhood of

London.—Address to the Inverness-shire Farming Society.

—

Anecdote illustrating the hazards attending speculations in

Farming.—On the Cape of Good Hope Wheat.— Protecting

Averages indispensable for the safety of the British Fanner.

—

On the superior Importance of .Agriculture.—Information re-

garding the Carlisle and Keswick Apples.—Hints regarding

a Spanish grain called Escanda.

The following works were suggested by Sir John Sinclair,

and printed under his direction : Original County Agricul-

tural Reports. 10 vols. 4to.—Reprinted County Agricultural

Reports of England, Scotland, Wales, and the Isle of Man.

70 vols. 8vo.—General Report of the Agricultural St.ate and

Political circumstances of Scotland. 5 vols. 1814. 8vo.

FiN.vxciAt,.—Hints addressed to the Public, on the State
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of our Finances. London, 1783. 8vo. 3 edition.s.—Memoir,

containing a Plan for Re-establishing Public Credit. 1783.

— Letters to the Directors and Governors of tlie Bank of

England, on tlie Pecuniary Distresses of tlie Country. 1797,

8vo.—Proposals for a Tontine on a new principle, by the

establishment of Age Annuities, increasing by Survivorship.

1803.—Cursoiy Hints regarding Paper Currency. 1810.

—

Ob.servations on the Report of the Bullion Committee. Lon.

1810, 8vo.—Remarks on a Pamphlet concerning the Depre-

ciation of Currency, by William Huskisson, Esq. 1810, 8vo.

—Speech on the Report of the Bullion Committee on May

15. 1811.— Letter to the Proprietors of the Public Funds in

general, and of Bank Stock in particular. 1814.—On Cir-

culation and Coin. 1816.—Plan to promote the establish-

ment of Country Bank.s. 1817.—On the approaching Crisis,

or the Impracticability and Injustice of resuming Cash Pay-

ments at the Bank. 1818.—Two other pamphlets on the

subject of the Resumption of Cash Payments were published

by him. 1818, 1819.—Thoughts on Paper Circulation.

1819.—The Creed of Improved Circulation. 1820.—Hints

on reducing the National Debt. 1820.—Political JIaxims on

the subject of Circulation or the Currency. 1820.—On the

subject of Circulation or the Currency he subsequently pub-

lished, at various times, no fewer than 25 pamphlets, besides

those mentioned.—Correspondence respecting the Financial

state of the Country. 1820.—Hints as to a Metallic Cur-

rency and a Free Trade. 1823.—Proofs of the numerous

Advantages derived from the Bank Restriction. 1823. An-

other pamphlet on the same subject. 1827.—Plan for estab-

lishing "A fixed and permanent Fund" for promoting the

Improvement of Scotland. 1823.—On the Means of reliev-

ing the pecuniaiy embarrassments of the Country. 1826.

—

On the Paper Circulation of Scotland. 1826.—On the Bank

Monopoly. 1826.—Letter to Sir Henry Parnell, Bart, M.P.,

Chairman of the Financial Committee. 1828.-—On the Na-

ture of Exchange. 1829.—Proofs of the Assertion that when

the Price of the Precious Metals is higher in England than

in Foreign Countries, it operates through the medium of the

Exchange: Ist, As a Bounty on the Exportation of British

Commodities; and, 2d, As a Tax on the Importation of For-

eign Commodities. 1829.—Plan for enabling Government to

reduce Four Millions of Taxes. 1830.—A Brief Statement

of the Advantages derivable by converting the Dead Weight

to the amount of from Four to Five Millions sterling, from

Temporary into Perpetual Annuities. 1834.—On the Pro-

priety of making Silver, jointly with Gold, a Legal Tender.

—

Hints on the Importance of Wealth.—On the Means of Tax-

ing the Funded as well as Landed Interest.—On the Nature

of Cash Accounts, as granted by the Banks of Scotland.

—

Account of the Scotch Banks is.suing Notes which have sus-

pended their payments in the course of the last fifty years.

—

Plan of an Institution for the purchase and sale of Temporary

Reversionary Interests in the Public Funds.

Works on Health and Longkvity.—Hints on Longe-

vity. 1803, 4to.—Result of Inquiries regarding Athletic

Exercises. 1807.—Plan of a Society for ascertaining the

Means of preserving Health. 1808. Ditto, 1816.—Hints to

the Officers of Regiments ordered on service in the West In-

dies, on the Means of preserving their Health. 1823.

—

Hints to Persons afflicted with Paralytic or Apoplectic Dis-

orders. 1823.—On the Cure and Prevention of Cholera,

Fever, &c., by means of Cold Bathing. 1826.—Hints on the

Preservation of Health in Hot Cliiriates. 1826.—Proofs of

the advantages derived fVom the publication of the Code of

Health. 1827.—Address to the Hygeian Society. 1827.—

Accouat of a singular Mode of Preventing Coughs and Sore

Throats, by diminishing the length of the Uvula. 1828 —
Hints on the Preservation of Health. 1828.—Ration.al .Mode

of Employing Time for Invalids, or Persons advanced in

years. 1829.—On Ruptures. 1829.—Medical Hints. 1831.

— Ditto, On Fever, Sore Throat, Lumbago, and Weakness of

the Joints. 1832.—On Preventing the Extension of the cho-

lera. 1832.—On the Means of Presen-ing Health, and at-

taining Longevity. 1833.— On the Means of Preventing the

i\lischievous Efi'ects of tlie Roman Malaria. 1833.—On a

valuable Means of applying Friction and Heat in Chronic In-

flammation and Swelling of the Eyelids. 1835.—On Venti-

lation, with a diagram.

Naval and IMilitary.—Thoughts on the Naval Strength

of the British Empire. Part I. London, 1782, 8vo. Part

IL 1783, 8vo.—Considerations on Militias and Standing Ar-

mie.s. 1782.-—Hints respecting the State of the Camp at

Aberdeen, and on Encampments in general, 1795.—Address

to Farmers, with a Plan for a more speedy conveyance of his

Majesty's forces. 1797.—Observations regarding the Remu-
neration applied for by the Fencible Regiments. 1793.

—

Cursory Observ.ations on the Military System of Great Bri-

tain. 1798.—Account of the Rothesay and Caithness Fen-

cibles. 1800.—Hints regarding the absolute necessity of

gi-eater energy in conducting our Military operations. 1809.

—On Percussion. 1830.—Hints regarding the Clothing of

the British Army.

Miscellaneous.—Thoughts on Peace. 1795.—Plan of

an agreement among the Powers of Europe and the United

States of America for rewarding Discoveries for the Benefit

of Society. 1796.—Letter to tho Planters, Jlerchants, and

others interested in our West India Islands. 1814.—Hints

regarding the use of Coffee. 1814.—Letter to the Commit-

tee of Merchants interested in the Warehousing or Bonding

System. 1814.—Address to the Mercantile interest. 1814.

—On the Peace Establishment. 1814.—Four Letters on tlie

Distresses of the Times. 1816.—Exhortation to the Opera-

tive Weavers in Glasgow, Paisley, &c. 1819.—On the Uses

of Chamomile Tea. 1821.—Speech on receivinga Silver Cup

from J. W. Coke, Esq. of Norfolk. 1821.—Hints as to a

motion Sir John Sinclair proposes to make in the General

Assembly. 1822.—Sketch of a Report from the General

Committee appointed by the associated Counties in Scotland.

1823.—On the means of giving public Relief to the Distressed

Manufacturers. 1826.—Address to Manufacturers on their

Depressed State. 1827.—On the Proposed Alterations in the

Entail Laws of Scotland. Letter to the Conveners of Coun-

ties. 1828.—Hints on the Characteristical Qualities of the

Irish Nation. 1828.— Brief Statement on Improving our

Settlements at the Cape of Good Hope and at the Mauritius.

1829.—Letter to the East India Company, on the Introduc-

tion of the Bitter Cassana. 1829.—Plan for Promoting the

Improvement and Prosperity of our West India Colonies.

1829.—Plan for publishing Digests or Codes of four of the

most Interesting Branches of human Knowledge. 1. Agri-

culture. 2. Health. 3. Political Economy. And 4. Reli-

gion. 1830.—Letter to the Chairman of the West India

Committee, on the D.angers of Immediate Emancipation.

1830.—Final Appeal on the West India Question. 1831 —
Hints on the Advantages of Fhix Husbandry and the Linen

JLinufacture, as practised in Flanders. 1832.—Hints for the

Consideration of the Committee on the Silk Trade. 1832.

—

Letter to Lord Viscount St. Vincent, on the West Indian

Question. 1833.—Hints on the me.ans of Improving the

Laws regarding Church Patronage in Scotland. 1834.—On

a Plan by which the BritLsh Settlements in the East and

West Indies might be essentially benefited.—Hints regarding
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the Policy of establishing a Colony on a great scale at the

Cape of Good Hope.—On the formation of a Company for

the erection of a Breakwater in Portland Ruads.—On the

Herring Fishing at Gottenhnrg.

PuiNTKD FOR PltlVATE ClUCULATION.—Pnhlic Hints fO

the Independent Senators of Great Britain, in 4 Parts. 1782.

— Historical Essay on Addison. 1783.—General Observa-

tions regarding the state of Denmark, Sweden, and Russia.

3 Paniplilet.s, 4to. Drawn up by desire of George ill. Print

ed but not published. 17.'^7.

From tlic great miiiibcr of hi.'; publicntioii.?, on

nil subjects of public interest, it niny readiiy be

conceived that Sir Jolm Sinchiir's pen was never

idle. He was characterized indeed, during liis

life, as the most indefatigable man in ICurope. It

is nicorded of liim that, so early as his ICth year,

ho was accustomed to detail many plans of pro-

jected improvements on his estates, which includ-

ed a sixth part of the conntj' of Caithness. Being

frequently met by the old proprict{)rs with the

half jocular inquiry if he could carry a road over

the " impracticable hill of Ben-Chii lt," he deter-

mined to attempt it. He examined the iiiountain

in ])erson ; marked out a road with great cugi-

neei ing skill
;
appointed 1,2G0 labourers to meet

him early one morning; set them simultaneously

to work ; and before night a sheep track, six miles

in length, which had been hardly passable for tra-

vellers, was rendered perfectly easy for carriages.

His fourth daughter, Miss Catherine Sinclair, at

1-1 years of age was regularly installed as his sec-

retar}', and often wrote, from his dictation, five or

six hours daily for many j-ears. Sir John Sin-

clair was one of the most conspicuous and most

honoiiri'd men of his age. He was the confidential

friend of I'itt, Perceval, Lord Duudas, and the

leading statesmen of his time, and had frequent in-

tercourse and correspondence with George III.

Skk.ne, a .surname derived, according to the following tra-

dition, from the word skiati, Gaelic syian, a dagger, dirk, or

knife. King Malcolm II., on his return south from the de-

feat of the Danes at Mortlach in jMoray, in 1010, was pur-

sued by a r.avenous wolf, through the wood of Culblean to the

forest of Stocket near Aberdeen, where the fierce animal came
up with, and was about to att.ack him, when a younger son

of Donald of the Isles, or as Sir George Mackenzie states, of

Robertson of Strnan, seeing the king's danger, thrust his

left arm, round which he had wrapped his plaid, into its

mouth, and with his dirk stabbed it to the heart. Tlie

king, in return for this service, gave him all the lands

that form the parisli of Skene, Aberdeenshire. In the

New Statistical Account of Scotland (article Skf.nk) the

king is said to have been .M.alcohn Canmore, while hunt-
ing in that district, and the animal is designated a wild

boar. The armorial bearings of the Skene family have

three dirks, with as many wolves' heads above them, the

shield supported by two Highlandmen, the one, dexter, in a

gentleman's dress, holding .a dirk in his right hand, point up-

ward, the other, sinister, in a gillie's habit, his target on tlie

left arm, and the darlach on the right side. (^Nisbet's Ilernl-

dn/, vol. i. p. 3,"1.) The reward offered by the king is saiil

to have been as much land as was encompassed by a hound's

chase or a h.awk's flight. The young Celt preferred the lat-

ter. His dirk was long prcsen'ed in the charter chest of the

family at Skene. The barony of Skene formed a portion of

the extensive possessions of Allan Dnrward, who died in

r275, and it is conjectured tl)at .John de Skene, afterwards

mentioned, obtained that estate in marriage with one of his

tliree daughters, co-heiresses.

The fii'st on record of the name was John de Skeen, who

lived during the reign of Malcolm Canmore. After the death

of that inonareh he gave his allegiance to Donald Bane, wlio

usurped the throne, and for doing so was forfeited by King

Edgar. In the reign of Alexander I., he joined the royal

army then marching against the rebels in the north, and was

of great service in assisting them to pass the rivers, and other-

wise facilitating their progress. The king, in consequence,

restored Ids estate, and removed the forfeiture. This hap-

pened in 1118. From this laird of Skene was lineally de-

scended another John de Skene temp. Alexander III., sup-

posed to have been his gre.at-grandson. In 1290, the latter

was one of the arbitrators at Berwick in the competition for

the crown betwixt Baliol and Bruce. In 1296 lie and his

son, Patrick de Skene, swore fealty to Edward I., when th.at

"ruthless king" oven-an Scotland. Patrick's son, Robert de

Skene, w.as a staunch friend of Robert the Bruce, from whom,

in 1318, he obtained a charter of the lands of Skene, erecting

them into a free barony. He married Marion Mercer, daugh-

ter of the baron of Aldie and Monclure, then provost of

Perth. His grandson, Adam de Skene, was slain at the bat-

tle of Harlaw, in 1411, fighting .ag.ainst the lord of the Isles.

Shortly previous lie liad married Janet Keith, a d.TOghter ot

the great marisclial of Scotland. From his f'atlier-in-law lie

borrowed 300 merks, to enable liim to equip him.self fitly for

the field, mortgaging p.art of his estate for that sum. His

wife was pregnant when he left her, and soon after his death

gave birth to a son, William Skene of Skene, who died, a

young mar, in 1445. Alexander Skene of Skene, the fourth

in direct descent from this laird, fell at Flodden in 1513, as

his grandson, another Alexander .Skene of Skene, did at Pin-

kie in 1547. This last Alexander had a son, James Skene of

Skene, wdio, by a daughter of the family of Gleiibervie, had

three sons. 1. .Mex.inder, his .successor. 2. Robert Skene

of Ramore. 3. Andrew Skene of Anchrie, ancestor of the

Skenes of Hallyards, Fifcshire, represented by Skene of Pit-

lour. His great-grandson, J.ames Skene of Skene, adhered

to the cause of Ch.arles I., and having sufi'ered much on ac-

count of bis loyalty, went to the continent, and served in the

army of Gust.avus Adolplius, the Lion of the north. He

died before the Restoration, leaving two sons, John, who

.succeeded him in Skene, and J.ames, who, for his adherence

to the covenant, was executed in the Grassmarket of Edin-

burgh. The elder son, J<din Skene of Skene, had, with four

daughter.s, three sons. 1. Alexander, his successor. 2.

Major George Skene, a brave oflicer, who .served under the

duke of Marlborough in the wai-s during Queen Anne's reign.

In 1720 he purchased the estate of Camston or Carrolstone,

Forfarshire. 3. Thomas, also an officer in the army, killed

in Spain. The eldest son, Alexander Skene of Skene, died

in January 1724. SVitb two daugliteifi, he liad four sons.
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1. George, his lieir. 2. Alexander, a mercliant in Jamaica.

3. Daviii, surgeon of an East India s'nip. 4. .lolni, an officer,

under General Cope, killed at the battle of Preston in 1745.

George Skene of Skene, the eldest son, married, first, his

cousin, Elizabeth, daughter of Major George Skene, who en-

tailed his estate of Carriston upon her and the heirs male of

her body. He had 2 sons. 1. George, his successor. 2. James,

a captain in the army. He married, 2dly, his tirst cousin,

Sarah, daughter of Baillie William Simpson, without issue.

The family of Skene of Skene became extinct in 1827,

when the est.-ites, including Carriston, devolved on James,

fourth earl of Fife, nephew of the last Skene of Skene ; his

father, Alexander, third earl of Fife, having married, April

17, 1811, Mary, daughter of George Skene of Skene.

Agnes Skene, daughter of Alexander Skene, younger of

Skene, married Captain Watts of the royal army, who was
at Culloden in 1746, and had a son. Vice-admiral E. G.

Watts, C.B., a notice of whom is given under Watts.

The Curriehill branch is descended from James, 2d son of

Alexander Skene of Skene, who lived in the IGth century.

He purchased the estate of Wester Corse, Aberdeenshire, and

had 7 sons, of whom James, the eldest, was ancestor of the

Skenes of Wester Corse and Ramore, a family long extinct

;

John, the Gth son, a celebrated lawyer, afterwards Sir Jolm

Skene, was progenitor of the Curriehill family, and Gill)ert,

the youngest, was ancestor of the Skenes of Eubislaw.

Sir John Skene of Curriehill is said, in a manuscript me-

moir of him in possession of his representative, Mr. Skene of

Rnbislaw, (quoted in Brmiton and ffaig^s Senators of the

College of Justice, p. 230,) to have been the second son of

James Skene of Wester Corse and Ramore, by Janet, second

daughter of Alexander Burnet of Leys. He appears to have

been born in 1.549, and received his early education in Aber-

deen and at King's college. Old Aberdeen. In 1556 he went

to the university of St. Andrews, wliere he took the degree of

M.A. In 1564 and 1565, he was a regent or professor in the

latter university. He spent several years in Denmark, Nor-

way, and Sweden, which was afterwards of much use to him.

On his return to Scotland, he selected the profes.sion of the

law, and was admitted advocate 19th March, 1575. The

regent Morton commissioned him and Sir James Balfour to

make a general digest of the Scottish laws, but they were

prevented from completing it by the fall of that nobleman.

Skene, however, for his labours, got from him an annual pen-

sion of ten chalders of meal, granted to him for life out of

the revenues of the abbey of Aherbrothock, 10th .June 1577.

At the meeting of the General Assembly at Gla.sgow, 24th

April 1581, it was agreed to submit to the king and council

a proposal that a judge should be appointed to sit at Edin-

burgh, to decide upon the injuries and wrongs done to mini-

sters in execution of their offices, and that i\Ir. .lohn Skene

should be nominated procurator for the ministers so injured.

In 1587, he was named member of a commission appointed

to consider the statutes passed in the two previous parlia-

ments, and to determine how many of them should be print-

ed. In January 1589, the year after the destruction of the

Spanish Armada, when the intrigues of the .Jesuits and the

popLsh priests, as well as the treasons of the three popish

earls, Huntly, Errol, and Crawford, threatened much danger

to the protestant religion in this realm, Mr. John Skene was

one of thirteen commissioners appointed at a public meeting

held at Edinburgh " to meet every week to consult upon af-

fairs pertaining to the weal of the kirk in so dangerous a

time." When Sir James Melville, the same year, was chosen

by the king to proceed as ambassador to Denmark, for the

purpose of concluding a marriage with the princess Anne, he

selected Skene as his legal adviser. " His majesty," says

Melville, (^Memoirs, p. 366.) " thocht then that ther were

many better lawSrs. I said ' that he was best acquanted

with the conditions of the Germans, and culd ui;dc them lang

harangues in Latin; and was a gude, trew, stout man, lyk a

Dutch man.' Then his majesty was content that he suld ga

with me." Melville was prevented by court intrigues from

undertaking the intended embassy, but Skene accompanied

the earl Marischal to Denmark in the summer of 1589. On
the 22d October of the same year, when King .T.ames himself

embarked at Leith for Norway, he was one of the persons se-

lected to accompany him.

In 1589 he was appointed joint lord-advocate with Sir

David M'Gill. In the following ye.ar he accompanied Colonel

Stewart on an embassy to Germany. In 1591 he was him-

self ambassador to the States General. In 1592 he was ap-

pointed one of the commissioners to examine '• the lawes and

actis maid in this present parliament, and all otheris munici-

pall lawes and actis of parliament bygane;" and "to consider

quhat lawes or actis necessarlie wald be knawin to the sub-

jectis," and to cause the same to be printed. The execution

of this undertaking was intrusted to Sir John Skene, who

had been knighted by James VI. The first part was pub-

lished in 1598, being the acts of parliament from James I.

downwards. To this was appended Sir John's well-known

work, ' De Verborum Significatione.' In September 1594 he

had been appointed clerk-register, and on the 30th of the

following month admitted an ordinary lord of session, when

he took the title of Lord Curriehill. He is said to have

owed his preferment to the influence of Walter Stewart, prior

of Blantyre, who was married to a sister of his wife, Helen, a

daughter of James Somerville of Camnethan. In 1596 he

was appointed one of the eight commissioners of the exche-

quer, known as the Octavians, but, with his fellow-commis-

sioners, he resigned this obnoxious office in the following

year. In July 1604, after King James' accession to the Eng-

lish throne, he was, at a parliament held at Perth, named one

of the commissioners for treating of the intended union be-

tween Scotland and England, which did not then take effect.

In 1607, having completed his treatises of the Rer/iam Ma-
jestatem and Quoniam Attachiamenta, he presented them to

the privy council, who recommended the work to the king in

a letter, dated 15th March that year. The volume was af-

terwards presented to parliament, and ordered to be printed,

commissioners being appointed to fix a sum of money to be

paid to Sir John, to defray the expenses and for remunera-

tion to himself. In the end of 1611, being then aged and

infirm, he executed a resignation of his office of clerk-regis-

ter, in favour of his eldest son, Sir James Skene, afterwards

lord-president of the court of session, and sent him to comt

with it, instructing him not to make use of it, unless he

found the king willing to admit him. Instead of the office

of clerk-register, however, the son was induced to accept the

less lucrative situation of an ordinary lord of session. On

being informed of this, his father died, a few daj's after, of

vexation. The works of Sir John Skene are : ' Lawes and

Actes of Parliament, maid by King James 1st. of Scotland,

and his Successors Kinges of Scotland,' Edin. 1597, folio;

' The Aulde Lawes and Constitutions of Scotland, collected

fui th of the Register, and other anid authentick Bukes, fra

the d.-iys of K. Malcolme the Seccmd, unfill the time of King

James the First,' Edin. 1609, folio; ' Regia JIujestas, seu

Veteres, Leges et Constitutiones ScoticEc, cnm Annott.' Lon-

don, 1613, folio. In Scotch, 1774, 4to ;
' De Verborum Sig-

nificatione ; an Explanation ot Ternies, difficile Wordes, &c.
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contained in the 4 books of Uegiain Potestateni,' 1U41, 4to
;

1644, 4to. At the end of Acts of Parliament, &c. piiiited

by liim in 1597. Edin. IfiSI, fulio. SeveJi Manuscript Col-

lections of popular old Scottisli Tunes, bound in one volume,

and preserved in tbe Advocates' Library, were at one period

supposed to have been compiled by Sir .lolin Skene, ' when

he WHS a very younfi; man." On the first leaf is tlie signature,

" Magister Johannes Skeine." being that of Sir John's second

son, John Skene of Ilallyards, Mid-Lothian, by whom there

can be little doubt the collection was formed, about the early

part of tlie 17tli century, apparently about IGlo. In 18.38

tlu!y were published under the following title, and e.scited

much interest among all admirers of Scottish nuisic;—
'Ancient Scottish Melodies, from a Manuscript of the Reign

of King .Tames VI. With an Iiitrodnclory Enquiry, illustra-

tive of the History of tlie Music of Scotl.'ind, by William

Dauney, Esq., V. S. A. Scot.' Edin. 18.38, 4to.

The eldest .son. Sir James Skene, was admitted advocate 6th

Jtdy 1603, and became a lord of session, in place of liis father,

I'ith June 1G12. In 1619 lie narrowly escaped deprivation

of his office for not taking the sacrament in conformity to

the five articles of Perth. Calderwood (vol. vii. p. 38.3) say.s,

" About this same time a warrant was sent from the king, to

warn Sir James Skene, one of the lords of the ses.sion, before

the lords of secret council, to hear and see liimself deprived,

for not communicating kneeling at Easter. He compeared

the 22d of June. After protestation of his affection to the

king and his service, lie purged himself of contempt of tlie

king's proclamation, and alleged he was examining witnesses

at the direction of the lords, in time of the preparation ser-

mon. The lords accepted his excuse, and wrote to the king

in liis favour. Some ascribed his not conforming, not to con-

science, but to the di.ssuasions of his mother-in-law, and her

daugliter, a religious gentlewoman." He was appointed pre-

sident of the court of session, 14th February 1626, and by

Charles I. created a baronet of Nova Scotia 16th .Tannary

1630. He died at Edinburgh 1.5th, Sir .lames Ralf'oursays,20tli

October 1633. He had two sons, John and Thomas. The elder

son. Sir .lolin Skene, second baronet, sold the estate of Currie-

liill in 1637, and having raised a regiment of men at his own

expenses, went to Germany, and died there, without issue-

As his brother died unmarried, the representation of the fam-

ily devolved upon the descendants of Gill)crt Skene, younger

brother of his grandfather. Sir John Skene, first of Currie-

hill. This Gilbert Skene was professor of medicine in King's

college. Old Aberdeen, and subsequently physician to the

king. The latter office he resigned in l.lfll, .-ind retired to a

small property of his own, called PoUerton, Aberdeenshire, where

he died. His elde.st son, David Skene of Pollerton, married,

first, a daughter of William Loask of I.eask, by whom he had

two sons, David, who succeeded him, and Thom.as, whose

grandson, George Skene, inherited I!nbi^lau•. He married,

secondly, a lady of the name of Seton, and had by her a

son, George, who realized a large fortune, and purchased

the estates of Rubislaw, Fintray, &c., Aberdeenshire.

Under the designation of George Skene of Fintray, he

was provost of Aberdeen from 1676 to 1685. He was

afterwards knighted. He was succeeded by his grand-ne-

phew, George Skene, above mentioned, grandson of Thomas

Skene of Pollerton. Tlie son of this George Skene of Rubis-

law, also George Skene of Rubislaw, had an only son, another

George Skene of Rubisl.aw, who married Jane, one of the

daughters and coheiresses of ,lames Moir of Stony wood, and

had by her two sons and three daughters. 'I'he elder son,

George, died, unmarried, 30lli September 1791, while on his

way to take possession of his paternal estate. J.iuies, the

younger son, the friend and correspondent of Sir Walter

Scott, succeeded to Rubislaw. Tbe danghtei's were. 1. Mar-

garet, the wife of Colonel Ramsay, with issue. 2. Helen. 3.

Catherine, married to Sir Henry Jardine, with issue

James Skene of Rubislaw, the second son, born olh March

1775, in his youth resided several years in Saxony, where

he obtained a thorough knowledge of the German language,

and accumulated an excellent collection of German bocik.s

On his return to Edinburgh, about the end of 1796, Sir Wal-

ter, then Mr. Scott, according to Lockhart, "requested to be

introduced to liim by a mutual friend, Jlr. Ednionston of

Newton ; and their fondness for the same literature (the

German) with Scott's eagerness to profit by liis new ac-

quaintance's superior att.-iinment in it, thus opened an inter-

cour.se which general similarity of tastes soon ripened into

the familiarity of a tender friendship." " Among the com-

mon tastes," he continues, "which served to knit tliese

friends together was their love of horsemanship, in which, as

in all other manly exercises, Skene highly excelled; and the

fears of a French invasion becoming every day more serious,

their thoughts were turned with corresponding zeal to the

project of organizing a force of mounted volunteers in Scot-

land." Of the Edinburgh light horse, thus raised, Mr. Skene

of Rubislaw was one of the cornets, and Mr. Scott at first

p.\vmaster, quarter-master, and secretary. In 1822 Mr.

Skene visited France, and on his return was enabled to fnr-

nisli his friend Sir Walter Scott with the materials for his ro-

mance of Qnentin Durwnrd. He was an excellent draughts-

man, and in the course of his tour "lie liad," says Lockhart,

"kept an accurate and lively journal, and executed a vast

variety of clever drawings, representing landscapes and an-

cient buildings, such as would have been most sure to interest

Scott, had he been the companion of his wanderings. Jlr.

Skene's MS. collections were placed .at his disposal, and he

took from one of their chaptei-s the substance of the original

Introduction to Qnentin Durward." Mr. Skene also sug-

gested some of the Jewish scenes in Ivaiihoe. In Scott's

Diary, under date, Abbotsford, 4th .Janu.iry, 1826, there is

the following notice of Skene and his wife: "Mr. and Mrs.

Skene, my exadlent friends, came to us from Edinburgh.

Skene—distinguished for his attainments as a draughtsman,

and for his highly gentlemanlike feelings and character— is

laird of Rubisljiw in Aberdeen. Having had an elder bro-

ther, his education was somewhat neglected in early life,

against which disadvantage he made a most gallant fight,

exerting himself much to obtain those accomplishments which

he has since possessed. Admirable in all exercises, there

entered a good deal of the cavalier into his early character.

Of late he has given himself much to the study of antiqui-

ties. His wife, most excellent person, Wiis tenderly fond

of Sophia. They bring so much old-fashioned kindness and

good humour with them, besides the recollection of otlier

times, that they must be always welcome guests." Sir Wal-

ter's last letter to him was dated at Malta, November 25,

1831, when he had set off in the liarham frigate in a vain

search for health. It gave an interesting account of the re-

markable .submarine volcano, called Graham's Island, whicli

rose out of the Mediterranean and in four mouths dis-

appeared. Mr. Skene married, lltli September 1806,

Jane, daughter of Sir William Forbes of I'ilsligo, baronet,

with issue, three sons and four daughters. Gecjrge, the eld-

est son, born in 1807, niari ied in 1832, Georgina, datighter

of Dr. Alexander Monro of Craig Lockhart, with issue.

Henrv, the third son, at one time an officer in the arniv,

married, in 1833, Rlialon, daughter of Rhizos-Rliangal.e,

I
niece of the last reigning prince of Wallacliia.
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Jolin Gordon Cummiiig, Ksq. of Pitlurg and Birness,

Aberdeensliire, deriving his descent from Adam de Gordun,

the first of the name wlio settled in iScotland in 1057, inher-

ited in 1815 tlie estates of liis relative, Skene of Dyce, the

eldest collateral branch of Skene of Skene, and assumed the

name of Skene, in addition to his own, in conformity with a

deed of entail. Tlie name of Gumming was also an assumed

one, on his father, .lohn Gordon, Esq. of Pitlurg, inheriting

tlie estate of Birness, pai-ish of Logie Buclian, in right of his

mother, (who died in 1755,) BarL)ara, daughter of KoLert

Gumming, Esq. of Birness. Mr. Gordon Gumming Skene

also possesses a small property in the parish of Fintray.

Of this name, and belonging to one of the Aberdeenshire

families of Skene, was Andrew Skene, an eminent advooite,

the fourth son of Dr. GeOiVge Skene, a distinguished physi-

cian in Aberdeen, and professor of natural history in Maris-

clial college of that city. Mr. Skene was born there, Febni-

ary 26, 1784; and, after receiving the rudiments of his

education at the grammar-scliool, completed his ac.-idemical

studies at Marischal college. He was originally destined by

his friends for the practice of the law in his native place,

but, preferring a higher field of exertion, he was removed to

the metropolis, and entered as a student of law in the uni-

versity of Edinburgh, in tlie winter session of 1803, when tlie

civil and Scotti-sh law classes were taught by the hite Lord

Newton and Baron Hume. He was a diligent student, and

prosecuted his legal researches with perseverance and indus-

try. In June 1806 he was admitted advocate; and, for

some time after being called to the bar, he experienced much

discouraging neglect. In the course of a few years, however,

his great talents began to be appreciated, and, about the

year 1815, he was fully established in respectable practice.

In 1834 he succeeded Lord Cockburn as solicitor-general

for Scotland. He had not, however, held his appointment

many days when a change of ministry occurred, on which

he tendered liis resignation. At the end of the winter

session of 1835 lie seemed in his usual health, when he

was suddenly seized with an alarming illness, which indi-

cated an inflammatory affection of the brain. After a few

days' illness he expired, April 2, 1835, at the age of 51. An
elegant monument to his memory, by iMr. Patric Park,

sculptor, was erected by his sister in the New Galton bury-

ing-ground, Edinburgh, where he lies interred.

SKINNER, Rev. John, a popular song-writer

and ecclesiastical historian, was born at Balfour,

in tlie parish of Birse, Aberdeenshire, October 3,

1721. He was the son of the schoolmaster of

that parish, his mother being the widow of Don-

ald Farquharson, Esq. of Balfour. At thirteen

years of age he was sent to the Marischal college,

Aberdeen, where he obtained a bursary. On

leaving the university lie became assistant to the

parish sclioolinaster of Keninay, and in 1739 re-

moved to Monymusk, where he held the same

situation. Through the kindness of Lady Grant

he was allowed the use of the extensive library at

Monymusk House. About this time he quitted

the Presbyterian church, in which he had been

educated, for the Scottish Episcopal comnuinion,

and thereafter directed his studies for the minis-

try. In 1740, he went to Shetland, as tutor to

tlie only son of Mr. Sinclair of Scalloway, and

while there he married the dauglitcr of Mr. Hun-

ter, the only Episcopalian clergyman in that re-

mote part of the countrj'. Having returned to

Aberdeenshire, he was ordained by Bishop Dun-

bar at Peterhead, and in Nov. 1742, was ap-

pointed to the charge of the Episcopal congrega-

tion at Longside, near that town. Here he

officiated for the long period of 65 yenrs, residing

all the time in a small thatched cottage at Linshart.

With his brethren, who were in general Jacobites,

he suffered in the troublous period of 1745-6. More

than once imprisoned, he had often to leave liis

house, and resort to stratagems to avoid falling

into the hands of the soldiery. On one occasion

he disguised himself as a miller, and on another,

on his return home, he found his house in posses-

sion of a military party, and was robbed of every

thing, even the linen intended for Mrs. Skinner,

then confined with her 5tli child. Soon after-

wards his little chapel, with all its furniture, was

burned. He continued quietly and faithfully to

discharge the duties of his office, often addressing

his people from the door or ^window of his lowlj'

cottage, until he was apprehended in j\Iay 1753,

on a warrant from the sheriff, and committed to

prison for six months, for preaching to more than

four persons,contrary to the then rigorous law.

He took a leading part in the polemical discus-

sions of his time, and several pamphlets of a con-

troversial nature issued from his pen. In all these

he evinced considerable acuteness, with a remark-

able power of ridicule. In 1746 he published a

small pamphlet, entitled ' A Pi-eservative against

Presbytery;' and, in 1757, he brought out at

London a ' Dissertation on Job's Pi-ophecy,' which

obtained the approbation of Bishop Sherlock. In

1767 he issued another painphlet in vindication

of the Scottish Episcopal church. He assisted

Dr. Glcig of Stirling, in preparing some of the

articles for an edition of the ' Encyclopedia Bri-

tannica.' He tried farming, too, having about

1758 entered upon IMains of Ludquliarn in the

vicinity of Longside, but this speculation proved

a failure. He is popularly known to his conn-
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tiynicii liy his excollent soii^'s of ' Tnlloc'lifro-

niiti,' sf vied by Burns " tlie host Scotch sniif;

Scothiiid ever saw;" 'John of I?;i(li'nyon ;' 'The

Ewie wi' tho Croolted Horn;' '()! why should

Ohl Afjc so miicli wound us, ()! jMost of

tluMU were, written ere the npiiearance of Bui'us.

wiio was n warm admirer of SkiTiner. Natural,

tender, and fcenial, tliey liavc talceii hold of tlie

feelings and lived in the memories of liis counlry-

men, and are among tlie best in the Seottisli lan-

guage. In 1788 lie published, at London, in 2

vols. 8vo, his ' I'A'clesiastical History of Scotland,

from the first appearance of Christianity in the

Kingdom,' with a dedication in elegant I^atin to

his son, I'islio]) Sliinnei- of Aberdeen. In a letter

to Rurns, dated Nov. 14, 1787, lie states that he

had attempted a Latin translation of 'Christ's

Kirk on the Green,' which he had by heart ere

lie was twelve years of age. He also wrote a

Latin version of Ramsay's tale of ' The Monk

and Miller's Wife.' In 1799 he lost his wife,

and, in the spring of 1807, he went to reside

with his son at Aberdeen. Twelve days after

his arrival there, he was taken ill during dinner,

and (lie(i nliiiost immediately, June Ifi, 1807.

He was bui ied in the church} ard of Long-

side, where his congregation erected a monument

to his memory. In 1809 his miscellaneous works

were published in 3 vplumes 8vo, with a biogra-

phical memoir by his son, the Bishop. In 1859

an edition of his 'Song.s and Poems' appeared at

Peterhead, with a Biogi-apliical Sketch by II. G.

Kcid. This volume contains several pieces pre-

viously unpublislied, and adds some fresh facts in

his life.

His son, Dr. John Skinner, bishop of Aber-

deen, who died July 13, 1816, was the author of

Primitive Ti-ntl] .iml Order VinHiratpd from Mniii'rn Mis-

repre.scntation ; witli a Defoncp of Episcopacv. bond. 180.'!,

8vo. Also of a more popular pnlilication, entitled ' A bay-

man's Account of liis Faitli and Practice a.s a Member of the

Kpiscopal Cliurcli in Scotland.'

Tlie Duty of Holding Fast the Doctrine of the Gospel; a

Sn-mon. 1804, 8vo.

The yonngest son of Bishop John Skinner, ^\'il-

liam Skiiuier, I).l>., succeeded him as bisho]) of

Aberdeen and rrinius, and died in 18.57.

SMELLIE, WILLIAM, a learned and ingeni-

ous printer and eniiiieiit naturalist, wa-; born in the

Pleasance of Edinburgh in 1740, and received the

tlrst rudiments of his education at Duddingston

school, where, and at the High School of his na-

tive place, he obtained a thorough knowledge of

the Latin language. His father, who, like his

grandfather, followed the occupation of an archi-

tect or master builder, and belonged to the sect of

lieformcd Presbyterians, originally intended to

apprentice him to a staymaker, but some difTerence

occurred as to the terms of the indenture, and, in

October 1752, he was apprenticed for six years and

a half to Hamilton, Balfour, and Xeill, ]irinters to

the university of Edinburgh. His diligence and

regular conduct recommended him to his employ-

ers, who, after he had been four years with tlieni,

ajipoiiited him corrector of the press, with a small

increase of wages. His evenings he devoted to

study, and in the hitter part of his apprenticeship

he was allowed to attend several of the classes in

the university. In 1757 the Edinburgh Philoso-

phical Society oflered a jirize for the most accurate

edition of a Latin classic, on which occasion young

Smellie produced an edition of Terence, in duode-

cimo, wholly set up and corrected by himself,

which procured for his masters a silver medal.

In 1758 he attended the Hebrew class, to enalile

him to snperiuteiid the jirinting of a Hebrew

grammar edited by Professor Robertson. In Sep-

tember 1759, his apprenticeship having expired,

he transferred his services to the oflice of Murray

and Cochrane, printers, where, besides being cor-

rector of the press, he was employed in making

abstracts and collecting articles for the Scots

iMagaziiie.

Having an ardent desire for learning, IVIi'.

Smellie not only attended the mathematical and

philosophical classes at the university, but all the

medical courses, including chemistry and botany.

His studies, indeed, had been so regular and com-

plete, that he was well qiialilied for any of the

learned professions, and he was solicited by his

friends either to enter the church or become a

phvsician, but he preferred remaining a printer.

In 17(1:1 he married Jane Robertson, daughter of

an army agent in London, by whom he had several

chihlren. To the study of botany he devoted so

much attention, that, in 1765, his Dissertation on

the Sexes of Plants, in which he opposed the
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doctrines of Liiin£eiis, gained tlie golil medal given

by Dr. Hope, the botanical professor, and was in-

serted in the first edition of the Encyclopedia

Britannica. "While attending this class, the pro-

fessor, during an illness which confined him to the

house, selected Smellie to continue the course of

lectures in his absence.

In March 1765 he commenced business as a

printer in partnership with Robert and William

Auld, the former of whom was a solicitor, and to

enable him to enter upon this connection, two of

his friends, Drs. Robertson and Hope, advanced

liim the sum of seventy pounds. Two years there-

after, on the retirement of Robert Auld, John Bal-

four, a bookseller, was admitted into the copart-

nery. They publislied the Weekly Journal, a

newspaper conducted by Smellie, which being an

unprofitable concern, led to disputes which termi-

nated in a dissolution of the company in Novem-

ber 1771. He now carried on the business in

connection with Balfour, and easily obtained from

Lord Kames tiie favour of his becoming security

to the Royal Bank for a cash account to the extent

of about £300. Their acquaintance had originated

in the following circumstance: When his lord-

ship's ' Elements of Criticism' were in course of

being printed by Murray and Cochrane, Mr. Smel-

lie communicated to liis lordship, anonymously, a

series of criticisms on the work. Lord Kames re-

quested the name of his unknown correspondent;

and, on being informed, ever afterwai'ds honoured

him with various marks of his friendship. Balfour

and Smellie were appointed printers to the univer-

sity; and the latter's correct taste and complete

knowledge of the Latin and English languages

often proved very serviceable to authors in the

passage of their works through the press. In par-

ticular, he afforded to Dr. Buchan the most effi-

cient aid in his ' Domestic Medicine,' first pub-

lished in 1770, to such an extent, indeed, that the

authorship of the entire work was confidently

ascribed to iiim. The principal articles for the

first edition of the Encyclopaedia Britannica, 3

vols. 4to, which began to be printed in 1771, were

written, designed, or compiled by Smellie, who

prepared and superintended the entire publication,

for which he was paid by Mr. Andrew Bell, en-

graver, the principal proprietor, the sum of £200.

Of the second edition of this work he was offered

a share conjointly with the editorship, but he un-

fortunatel}- declined it, and thus lost all chance of

obtaining any adequate reward for his immense

labour.

In October 1773, in conjunction with Dr. Gil-

bert Stuart, Mr. Smellie commenced ' The Edin-

burgh Magazine and Review,' edited by the latter,

which only extended to five volumes 8vo, closing

with the number for August 1776. Although

conducted with great spirit and ability, the strong

personalities indulged in by Dr. Stuart led to its

downfall. In 1775 Mr. Smellie's friends urged

him to become a candidate for the vacant chair of

natural liistorj' in the university of Edinburgh, but

the patronage being in the gift of the crown, the

superior interest of Di-. John Walker caused him

to be chosen in preference. In 1781 Mr. Smellie

was elected superintendent of the Museum of Na-

tural History belonging to the Society of Scottish

Antiquaries, of which he was an oilginal member.

In 1782 he published an ' Account of the Institu-

tion and Progress of the Societj' of Antiquaries in

Scotland,' to which he added a second pail in

1784 ; and in 1793 he was elected the secretary of

that society. At their desire he had, in 1781,

drawn up the first regular plan for procuring a

statistical account of the parishes of Scotland,

wliich was printed and circulated, and although it

attracted little attention at the time, it had the

merit of being the precursor of the scheme which

Sir John Sinclair afterwards brought to maturity.

His excellent translation of Bufi'on's ' Natural His-

tory,' in nine vols. 8vo, with numerous plates and

occasional notes, appeared in 1781, and soon passed

through five editions.

On the dissolution of the firm of B.alfour and

Smellie, in 1782, Mr. Smellie assumed as his part-

ner, Creech the bookseller, who continued in con-

nection with him till the close of 1798, after which

Smellie carried on the business on his own account.

In 1784 he published a tract 'On the Nature,

Powers, and Privileges of Juries,' which, contain-

ing a clear and judicious exposition of legal prin-

ciples, was quoted with much approbation by Lord

Erskine, in his famous speech in defence of Dr.

Shiplej', Dean of St. Asaph. He was the author

of several other pamphlets, chiefly relating to local
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polilics. In 1790 appeared tlie first volume of liis

pi iiicipal work, ' The I'liilosopliy of Natural Mis-

tor}',' for the copyright of which he received one

tliousaiid guineas from Mr. C. Elliott, bookseller,

Edinburgh, and fifty guineas for every subsequent

edition, besides being employed to print it. Tlie

bargain was concluded before a single page of tlie

work was written. Tiie second voliinio, which

concluded the work, was published b\' his son in

1799, four years after the author's dcalli. It was

reprinted in Ireland and America, and translated

into the German language. After a long illness,

Mr. Sniellie died June 24, 1795, aged (!').

lie is described as being about the middle size,

and in his j'outh good-looking and active, but

when past middle life, he acquired a sort of loung-

ing gait, and became careless and somewhat slov-

enly in his dress and appearance. Burns, the first

Edinburgh edition of whose poems he printed, in

a letter to Mr. Peter Ilill, bookseller, mentions

him as " a man positively of the first abilities and

greatest strength of mind, as well as one of the

best hearts and keenest wits that he had over met

with." In Jannar}' 1787 he introduced Burns to

the Croclialian club, which consisted of the liter-

ary men and wits of Edinburgh, and in a good-

humoured extemporaneous satirical fragment writ-

ten by Burns on his introduction, he thus refers to

Mr. Smellie

:

" To Crocliiilhin came

Tlie old cocked liat, tlie brown surtout the same;

His bri.itling beard just rising in its might,

('Twas four long nights and davs to shaving night)

;

His uncomb'd grisly locks, ivild-staring, thatched

A head for thought profound and clear unmatched :

And, though his caustic wit was biting rude,

His heart was warm, benevolent and good."

i\Ir. Smellie left a widnw with four sons and

four (laughters. Ills eldest daughter married i\Ir.

(ieorge Watson, an eminent ]iortrait painter, of

Edinburgh. lie had projected a scries of the lives

of men of literary eminence with whom he was

personally acquainted; but he only lived to com-

plete four of them, —namely, those of Lord Names,

Dr. John Gregory, David Ilume, and Dr. Adam

Smith, which were published in 1800 by his son,

Mr. Alexander Smellie, who succeeded him in the

printing business.

SMETOK

liis works are

:

Thesaurus Medicus, sive Disputationum in Academia Edin-

ensi ad Uem Medicam pertinentium, a Collegio instituto ad

hoc usque tempus. Delectus. Vol. i. Kdin. 1778, 8vo. Vol.

ii. 1778. iii. and iv. 1785.

Natural History, general and particular; from the I'rcncli

of Count de Buffon. Hlustratcd with 300 Co[ipcrplates ; and

occasional Notes and Observations by the Tra?islator. Edin.

1780, 9 vols. 8vo. 2d edit. 1785-6, 9 vols. 8vo.

Account of the Institution and Progress of the Society of

Antiquaries of Scotland. Edin. 1783, 4to.

An Address to the People of Scotland, on the Nature,

Powers, and Privileges of Juries: by a Juryman. Edin.

17«l. 2d edit. Edin. 1820.

The Philosophy of Natural History. Edin. 17;»0-17;)9, 2

vols. -Ito.

Dissertation on Public Spirit, and three ICssays. Edin.

1800, 8vo.

Smeton, Smeninn, or Smi/than. a surname, having the

same derivative as Smith, which see.

SMETOX, TiioiviAS, a learned divine of the

church of Scotland, was born at the village of

Gask, near Perth, about 1536. lie received the

first part of his education at the school of Perth,

and in 1553 was entered at St. Salvator's College,

St. Andrews, where he prosecuted his studies with

so much success, tiiat he was chosen one of the

regents. "When the reformed doctrines gained

ground in the university, he went to France, and

with the view of enquiiing into the truth, he

studied for some time in the Jesuits' college at

l^aris, as the order of the Jesuits was the most

learned and cnniiing in jiopish doctrines. By the

advice of Edmond Hay, the Jesuit, who was anx-

ious to secure him to his order, he next proceeded

to Rome. On tlie way he visited Geneva, and

had an opportunity of conversing with I\Ir. Andi'cw

.Melville, Mr. Gilbert MoncriefF, and the other re-

formers there.

On arriving at Rome he entered a Jesuits' college,

and, during his residence there, obtained permission

to accompany in his visits the father ap]iointed to

wait upon such persons as were in prison for

heresy. As they returned to the college, he would

adopt the opinions of the prisoners, and maintain

thein against the Jesuit, as if for the sake of argu-

ment, but in reality to have his doubts resolved.

The more he enquired, the stronger became his

convictions of the truth of the protestant doctrines,

and after residing there a year and a half, he be-

came suspected, and was remitted back to Paris,

Ihroitgh all the colleges of the Jesuits by the wnv.

477
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On his return to the French capital, Etimond

Hay perceived tlie change that had taken place

in his sentiments, and advised him to go to

the college of Clermont, where, according to

Dempster, he taught humanity with great ap-

plause. It appears, however, that on the way he

was seized with a dangerous fever, on his recovery

fronj which he resolved upon embracing protes-

tantism
;
and, returning to Paris, he began to mix

openly with the reformers. This was in 1572,

and at the time of the massacre of St. Bartholo-

mew, which happened shortly after, his lodgings

were narrowly searched. He took refuge in the

house of Sir Francis Walsingham, the English

ambassador, which, as Calderwood says, " was a

girth to many" in that terrible time. He accom-

panied Walsingham to England, and at first set-

tled as a schoolmaster in Colchester in Essex.

In 1578, Smeton returned to Scotland, and was

appointed minister at Paisley. In October that

year, he was named one of the assessors to the

moderator of the General Assembly, and on 7tli

July following he was himself chosen moderator.

At the desire of Mr. Andrew Melville, he wrote an

answer to the book of Mr. Archibald Hamilton the

apostate, ' De Confusione Calvinianje Sectte apud

Scotos." This answer, entitled ' Eesponsio ad

Hamiltonii Dialogum,' was published at Edin-

burgh in 1579. When, in that year, the attention

of the General Assembly was directed to the re-

formation and improvement of the universities,

Smeton and Andrew Melville were the first to pro-

pose that the college of St. Mary's, St. Andrews,

which had been founded by Archbishop Bethune

in 1537, should be exclusively appropriated to the

study of theology. In October 1580, when An-

drew Melville was removed to the divinity college

there, or New college, as it came to be called, as

its first principal, Smeton was appointed his suc-

cessor as principal of the university of Glasgow,

lie took a very active part in church matters, and

was at every Assembly named one of the assessors

to the moderator. At the General Assembly held

24th April 1583, he was again elected moderator,

but died at Glasgow, December 13th, the same

year, of a fever.

SMIBERT, John, an eminent artist, whose

works are described as having had a powerful and

lasting intlueuce on the arts of design in America,

was born in the Grassmarket, Edinburgh, about

1684. His father was a dyer. He served his ap-

prenticeship to a house-painter in his native city
;

but, anxious to raise himself above that humble

occupation, he repaired to London, where, for sub-

sistence, he was at first obliged to work for coach-

painters. He was subsequently employed iu copy-

ing pictures for dealers, and obtained admittance

into the academy. After pursuing his studies

there for some time, he found means to visit Italy,

where he spent three years in copying Raphael,

Titian, Vand^'ck, and Reubens, and became the

fellow-traveller of the celebrated Dean Berkeley,

afterwards bishop of Cloyne, in Ireland. AVliile

at Florence he was engaged by the grand duke of

Tuscany to paint two or three Siberian Tartars

presented to his highness by the Czar of Russia.

On his return to England his improvement was so

great that he soon obtained a large share of busi-

ness.

In 1728, when his friend Dr. Berkeley went to

America to found a universit}' in the Island of

Bei'muda, for the conversion of the American

savages to Ciiristianitj', he took Smibert with him

as professor of drawing, painting, and architecture,

in his intended institution ; and with this learned

and philanthropic individual he resided for two

years at Newport, Rhode Island. A large paint-

ing by Smibert, representing Berkeley and some

of his family, with the artist himself, on their first

landing in America, is shown at Yale College,

being, it is believed, the first picture of more

than a single figure ever painted in the United

States.

Being disappointed in obtaining assistance froir.

England, Berkeley abandoned his project of a

university, and after his return to Britain Smibert

settled at Boston in New England, w here he mar-

ried a daughter of Dr. Williams, the Latin school-

master of that town, by whom he had two children

He acquired considerable fortune and a high repu-

tation by his art, and died there in 1751. His

son, Nathaniel, who died young, was also an artist

of much promise. Some account of Smibert, who

was an acquaintance and correspondent of Allan

Ramsay, will be found in AValpole's 'Anecdotes

of Painting,' and in Dunlap's valuable ' History
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of llie Ki.se and Progress of the Arts of Desii,'ii in

tlie United States.'

S.Miril, a stirnaiiie ilcrivcd from tlie word Smite, and cvi-

dejitlv taking its origin from tlie most useful of all the arts.

In the Icelandic the word Smid)- signities, as originally

did in this conntry, an artist in general ; one who strikes or

smites with a hammer; an artificer, a carpenter, a Ssirrii,

an author, a maker. In the Anglo-Saxon, one who worked

in iron was called isen-smid, an iron-smith. Under its

dilVerent modes of spelling and pronunciation, as for in-

stance in German Schmitz, or Schmidt; French, Snieets;

the name is connnon in ino.st countries of Europe. In

Lardiicr's Cyclopedia the following paragraph occurs: "One
of our historians ohserves, that, immediately preceding the

Conquest, the art of working in iron and steel had risen to

such a state of improvement that even the horses of some of

the chief knights and barons were covered with steel and

iron armour. Artificers who wrought in iron were so highly

regarded in those warlike times that every military of?icer

had his smith, who constantly attended his perscm, to keep

his arms and armour in order. The chief smith was an offi-

cer of considerable dignity in the court of the Anglo-Sa.xon

and Wcl.sh kings, where his u-ere(/cld was much higher than

that of any other artiticcr. In the Welsh court, the king's

smith ."iat next to the domestic chajjlain, ami was entitled to

a draught of every kind of liquor that was brought into the

liall." No surname in the United Kingdom is of so frequent

occurrenfe as is that of Smith. Of names derived from em-

ployments. Smith is the most numerous and Taylor the next.

In the Celtic it is Gow, M'Gowan, or Cowan. According to

an absurd Highland tradition, quoted by Douglas in his Ba>--

0!iaf/c, the progenitor of all the families of the name of Smith

ill Scotland was Neil Cromb, the third son of Murdoch of the

clan Cliattan. who lived in the reign of Willi.-mi the I.ion.

In the Syriac, the word Iladad means Sniitli. There was

a whole family of Assyrian kings of the name. Ben-Hadad

means sou of Smith, or Smithson.

The [ninripal family of the name appears to be Sinythe of

Mcthven, Perthshire, formerly of Braco (see post, page -181)).

Daniel Smythe, father of the present proprietor, an eminent

judge, bore the title of Lord Methven. He miu'ried Kiiphe-

iniii Murray of I.introse, distinguished as the Flower of

Strathmore, and celebrated by Burns, with evident allusion

to ' the Flower of Yarrow,' as

" a bonnier lass

Than braes of Yarrow ever saw."

In .Ayrshire is the family i.f Smith of Swiiiridgenniir. .lolin

Smith, a former proprietor of this estate, an eminent agricul-

turist, may be said to have been the first who set the exam-

ple of rendering peat moss productive, by judicious drainage

and the liberal application of lime. Mr. Smith died in 1838,

and was succeeded by his nepliew. Colonel Neil of Barnweill,

who added the name of Smith to liis own. He was succeeded,

in 1850, by Brigadier- General Smith Neill, who served with

great distinction in India and the Crimea. At the outbreak

of the Indian mutiny he led his regiment, the 1st JIadras

European Fusilccrs, to the relief of Benares, the victory of

Allahabad, and the ciipture of Cawnpore, and he was the

first to stem the tide of tlie rebellion. His whole progress

was a series of brilliant .ictions, and while in sole command

of Cawnpore, his signal punishment of the high caste mur-

derous Brahmins, and his salutary strictness, effected the

restoration of order. He led a brigade from Cawnpore to the

relief of Lncknow, and on that memorable occasion, when
cariying the batteries at the point of the bayonet, fell at the

very moment of complete success.

The old family of Smith of Craigend have possessed

their lands since the introduction of surnames, and, like the

Macgregors of Gleiigyle and Inversnaid, ancestors of Bob

Roy, lield as ''kindly tenants" of the noble family of Mon-
trose. John Smith, the last of the old Kentallers of Craig-

end, died in IGiO. His son, Kobert, acquired by purchase

the fee simple of the lands, which continued in his family till

the death of .John Smith, the sixth in descent, when they

were sold to .laines Buchanan. Esq., and are now (18(;2) the

property of his son, Sir Andrew Buchanan of Craigend Cas-

tle, K.C.B., minister plenipotentiary at the Hague. Agnes
Ur.ihain, only surviving sister of the last-named John Smith,

married llie 13th earl of Buchan. Akchihai-d SMrrii, the

youngest son of James Smith of Craigend, an eminent mer-

chant of Glasgow, acquired, in 1800, the estate of Jordanhill,

Renfrewshire. He died in 1821, and was .succeeded by his

son, James Ssiith of Jordanhill, F.R.S., born August 1.5,

1782, a distinguished geologist and liiblical critic.

Mr. Smilli, though an independent country gentleman, li.as

devoted much of his time to literary and scientific pursuits,

.•ind by his valuable researches in geology, and his admirable

works in one important branch of Biblical criticism, has ac-

quired a high reputation. His communications to the Geo-

logical and other scientific Societies are numerous, and he is

the author of other works to be afterwards noticed. His most

important work is his 'Voyage and Shipwreck of St. Paul

;

With Dissertations on the Sources of the Writings of St.

I.uke, and the Ships and Navigation of the Ancients,' 1848.

In 1856 a second edition was published, with " additional

proofs and illustrations." Mr. Smith resided for at winter at

M:ilta, and possessing a thorough knowledge of navig.-ition,

acquired as a zealous yacht sailor, he visited and minutely

inspected the scene of the Apo.stle's shipwreck and the local-

ities referred to in the voyage, while in the best libraries ot

the Continent and in our own country, and in the Records of

the Admiralty, he had access to every available source of

information. These researches, joined to his own practical

knowledge, .and guided by no inconsiderable amount of .scho-

larship, formed a combination of advantages seldom realized

in one individual. The result has been one of the most in-

teresting works in this department of Biblical illustration

which has yet appeared. It includes a dissertation on the

ships of the ancients, now recognised as the standard work

on the subject, and an equally original and striking disserta-

tion on the sources of the writings of St. Luke. In 1853 he

published a ' Dissertation on the Origin and Connection of

the Gospels, with a Synopsis of the parallel pa.ssages in the

Original and authorized Version, and Critical Notes,' 8vo,

Edinburgh ; a work of a very high order, and exhibiting

much ingenuity and research, with a critical knowledge of

the sacred text.

In the separate field of geological science his researches

have been scarcely less valuable. The estuary of the Clyde,

in ihc neighbourhood of his own estate, and the shores of the

western coast of Scotland generally, afford a rich field for the

geologist, and Mr. Smith h;is largely turned to account the

opportunities for its study. The discussions between Dr.

Euckland and Dr. Fleming, regarding the Diluvian hy])otiifc-

sis, ciiUed attention to those recent and superficial deposit.!

already known but veiT imperfectly understood. On these
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and kindred sulijects he has from time to time furnished

valuable communications to the Geological and other scientific

Societies, and he has also funiislied important memoirs on

similar formations which fell under his notice in Spain, Por-

tugal, France, and Madeira. In addition to the works above

mentioned, Mr. Smith is the autlior of the following:—!. 'A

Voyage round the World from 1806 to 1812, in wliich Japan,

Kanischatka, the Aleutian Islands, and tlje Sandwicli Islands

were visited, including a narrative of the Narrator's Ship-

wreck on the Island of Sannack, and his subsequent wreck

in the ship's longbnat ; with an Account of the present state

of the Sandwicli Islands, and a Vocabulary of their Lan-

guage
;
by Archibald Campbell—Drawn up by Mr. Smith

from the verbal account of the author,' Kdinburgh, 1816,

8vo.—2. 'Journal of a Voyage to Spitzbergen and the east

coast of Greenland in his Majesty's Ship Griper, by Douglas

Charles Clavering, Esq., F.R.S., Conmiander—Communicat--

ed by James Smith, Esq. of Jordanbill, F.R.S., with a Chart

of the Di.-coveries of Captains Clavering and Scoresby—from

the Edinburgh New Philosophicid Journal for July 1830,

—

With a Biographical Notice of Captain Clavering drawn up

from liis papers.'— 3. ' Letters to an English Peer on the

present state of the Church of Scotland,' 8vo, London, 1841

and 1843. 4. ' Researches in Newer Pliocene and Post Ter-

tiary Geology,' 8vo, London, 1862.

Mr. Smith married IMary, daughter of Alexander Wilson,

Esq., issue, one son and five daughters. The son, Archibald

Smith, Esq., F.R.S., married Susan Emma, daughter of

Vice-Chancellor Sir James Parker of Temple Rotheby, Lei-

cestershire. D.-iughters—1. Christina Laura, married Walter

Buchanan, Esq., M.P. for the city of Glasgow. 2. Isabella,

m.irried Henry Gore Booth, Esq., son of Sir Robert Gore

Booth, bart. ; 3. Loui.sa, married William Hamilton, Esq.,

of Minard Castle, Argyleshire. 4. Sabina Douglas Claver-

ing. 5. Jane Charlotte.

SMITH, Adam, LL.D., a distinguished writer

on morals and political economy, was the on]y

child of Adam Smith, comptroller of the customs

at Kiikcald}', and of Margaret, daugliter of Mr.

Douglas of Strathenry. He was born at Kirk-

caldy, June 5, 1723, a few months after the deatli

of liis father. When about three years old, he

was stolen by gipsies, but was soon recovered bj'

his uncle, who followed and overtook the vagrants

in Leslie Wood. He received his early education

at the grammar school of his native place, and

soon attracted notice by his fondness for books,

and by his extraordinary powers of memorj'.

His constitution, during his infancy and boyhood,

was weak and sickly, which prevented him from

joining in the sports and pastimes of his school

companions. Even at this early period he was

remarkable for those habits which remained with

him through life, of speaking to himself when

alone, and of absence in company. In 1737 he

was sent to the university of Glasgow, where his

favourite studies were mathematics and philoso-

phy. In 1740 he removed to Baliol college, Ox-

ford, as an exhibitioner on Snell's Foundation,

(see Snell,) with the view of entering the Church

of England
;
and, while there, he cultivated, with

great success, the study of languages. After ;i

residence at Oxford for seven years, not finding

the ecclesiastical profession suitable to his taste,

he returned to Kirkcaldy, and for nearly two

years remained at home with his mother. In

1748 he fixed his residence at Edinburgh, where,

during that and the following years, he read lec-

tures on rhetoric and belles lettres, under the

pati-onage of Lord Kames. At what particular

period his acquaintance with Hume the historian

commenced does not appear, but it seems to have

.speedily ripened to a lasting friendship. In 1751

he was elected professor of logic in the university

of Glasgow ; and the year following, on the death

of Mr. Thomas Craigie, the immediate successor

of Dr. Hutcheson, he was removed to the chair of

moral philosophy in the same university. In this

situation he remained for thirteen years. In 1759

he published his 'Theory of Moral Sentiments,'

to the second edition of which he appended a trea-

tise ' On the Origin of Languages.' He had pre-

viously contributed to the first Edinburgh Review,

which was begun in 1755, a Review of Dr. John-

son's Dictionary of the English Language, and

some general observations on the state of litera-

ture in the different countries of Eui'ope. In

1762 the senatus academicus of the university of

Glasgow unanimously conferred upon him the

degree of doctor of laws.

Towards the close of 1763 he received an invi-

tation from l\Ir. Charles Townsend, who had mar-

ried the widowed duchess of Buccleuch, to accom-

pany her grace's son, the young duke, on his

travels ; when the liberal terms offered, with his

strong desire to visit the continent, induced him

at once to resign his professorship. He joined

the duke at London earlj' in 1764, and in the

month of March they set out for Paris. After a

stay of ten or twelve days in that city, they pro-

ceeded to Toulouse, where they remained eighteen

months; after which they journeyed through the

southern provinces to Geneva. About Christmas

1765 they returned to Paris, where the}' remained

for nearly a year. Among his acquaintances in
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tlic French capital wore, Tiirgot, (iuesnay, Neck-

er, d'Alembert, Helvetius, tlie duke de la Roclie-

foucault, Marmontel, ISIadame Kiccaboni, and

other eminent persons, to several of whom he Irul

been recommended by David llume.

In October 17G6, he returned to London \\ iili

liis noble charge, the young duke of Euccleucli,

\vho settled ujton him an annuity of £300, for su-

perintending his education and travels. Shortly

after, ho went to reside with his mother at Kirk-

caldy, A\ liere, for the next ten years, he spent his

time in studious retirement, with the exception of

a few occasional visits to Edinburgh and London.

During this long interval he was engaged upon

his great work on i)olitical economy, which was

published in 177G, under the title of an ' In-

quiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth

of Nations,' 2 vols. 4to. On the death of his

friend, David Hume, the same year, Dr. Smith,

in a letter to Jlr. Strahau of London, gave an in-

teresting account of his last illness, \\ liich being

published, called forth a reply from Dr. Ilorne,

bishop of Norwich, under the title of ' A Letter to

Adam Smith, LL.D., on the Life, Death, and

I'hilosophy of David Hume, Esq. I?y one of the

People called Christians.' Oxford, 1777, 12mo.

In that publication, that eminent and exemi)lary

prelate, on no other grounds than the high eu-

logium which Dr. Smith had passed on Hume's

character, charged him with entertaining the same

sceptical sentiments and opinions which had been

held by the deceased historian.

In 1778, through the interest of the duke of

Buccleuch, Dr. Smith was appointed one of tlie

commissioners of customs In Scotland, in conse-

quence of v\liieh lie went to reside in Edinburgh,

where he spent the remainder of his life. He was

accompanied by liis mother, who survived till

1784, and by his cousin, Miss Jane Douglas, who

died in 1788. On receiving this appointment he

had ottered to resign his annuity, but the duke

would not hear of it. In 1787, Dr. Smith was

chosen lord rector of the (ilasgow university, an

honour which, like Thomas Campbell the poet, he

estimated as one of the highest tliat could be con-

ferred upon him. Soon after, his health began to

decline. After a lingering and painful illness,

arising from a chronic obstruction in his bowels,

lu.

he died in July 1790. A few days before his

death, all his manuscri])ts were burnt by his or-

ders, exce]iting some detached essays, which he

intrusted to the care of Drs. Black and Ilutton,

\\ hom he ajipointed his executors, and who sub-

seiiuently published six of them. His library,

which was a valuable one, devolved to ids ne-

jihew, David Douglas, a lord of session, under the

title of Lord Rcston.

Dr. Smith was a fellow of the Royal Societies

both of London and Edinburgh. His portrait,

engraved by Beugo, from a medallion by Tassie,

ajipeared in the Scots IMagazinc for June 1801,

(vol. Ixiii.) IVoni which the subjoined is taken.

" In his external form and a]ipearance," says

his biographer, Dugald Stewart, " there was no-

thing uncommon. AVhen perfectly at case, and

when warmed with conversation, his gestures

were animated, and not ungraceful
;
and, iu the

society of those he loved, his features were often

brightened with a smile of inexpressible benigni-

ty. Iu the company of strangers his tendency to

absence, and perhaps, still more, his conscious-

ness of this tendency, rendered his manner some-

what embarrassed,—an etfect which was probably

not a little heightened bv those speculative ideas

2 "ii
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of propriety which his recluse habits tended at

once to perfect in his conception, and to diminish

his power of realizing. He never sat for his pic-

ture; but the medallion of Tassie conveys an

exact idea of his profile, and of the general ex-

pression of his countenance." He was equally

remarkable for absence of mind and simplicity of

character, and for muttering to himself while

walking the streets. As an instance of the very

high regard iu which he was held by the leading

statesmen of tlie day, it is related that tlie last

time he was in London, he had engaged to dine

with Lord IMclviUe, then Mr. Dundas, at Wim-

bledon; Mr. Pitt, Mr. Greuville, Mr. Addington,

afterwards Viscount Sidmouth, and some others

of his lordship's friends, were there. Dr. Smith

arrived Inte, after the company hnd sat down to

dinner. Tlie moment he entered the room all the

company rose. He apologised for being late, and

entreated tliem to keep their seats. " No," said

they, " we will stand till you are seated, for we

are all your scholars." His works are

:

The Theoiy of JIor:il Sentiments ; to which is added, .1

Dissertation on tlie Origin of Languages. Lond. 17159, 8vo.

Lond. 17G1, 8vo. 6tli edition, witli considerable additions

and corrections. Lond. 1790, 2 vols. 8vo.

An ICnquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of

Nations. Lond. 177G, 2 vols. 4to. Supplement. 178'1, 4to.

The work has passed through numerous editions. The lltli

edition appeared with Notes, Supplementaiy Chapters and a

Life of the Author
;
by William Playfair. Lond. 1805, 3 vols.

Svo. Again, with Notes and Additions, by Mr. Buchanan.

Edin. 1814, 4 vols. Svo. In French, avec des Notes et Ob-

servations par Germain Garni^r de ITnstitut National. Pa-

ris, 1802, 5 vols. 8vo. 1809, 3 vols. Svo.

Letter to Mr. Strahan on the last Illness of David Hume.

Lond. 1777, Svo.

Essays on Philosophical Subjects; to which is prefi.'ved an

Account of the Life and Writings of the Author, by Dugold

Stewart. Lond. 1795, 4to.

Complete Works, with his Life, by Dugald Stew.art. 1812,

5 vols. 8vo.

SMITH, James, of Dcanston, an eminent sci-

entific agriculturist, was born in Glasgow, 3d

January 1789. His father had settled in that

city in business, and became a wcalthj' man. His

mother was a daughter of Mr. Buchanan of Car-

ston, Stirlingsliire. His fatlicr died in his infancy,

and his mother went to reside with her youngest

brother, who at that time was the managing part-

ner of very extensive cotton works at Dcanston,

now a beautifid village, 011 the romantic river

Tcitli, about eight miles north-west of Stirling.

Mr. Smitli's education was completed at the

university of Glasgow. After leaving it he went

to reside with his uncle at Catrine works, Ayr-

shire, belonging to the same firm as tliose at

Dcanston. At Catrine, young Smith devoted his

energies to the attainment of a practical and thor-

ough knowledge of the numerous intricacies of

both mechanics and cotton-spinning. He entered

the factor}' in the lowest station, working, at the

same time, twelve hours a-daj-; and at the age

of eighteen, liis uncle unhesitatingly appointed

him to tlie entire management of the Deansion

works.

In 1812 tlie Dalkeitli Farmers' Club oflercd a

premium of £500 for an effective reaping macliine.

This led Mr. Smitli to turn his mind to the con-

struction of one
;
but, from some cause or otlier,

the machine he produced did not succeed. The

committee, however, were so much pleased with

the ingenuity of his invention that they encour-

aged him to bring forward, during the next ses-

sion, a machine, for tlie same object, on the same

principle. He complied with their wishes, but, in

the course of trial, an accident happened to tlie

implement, which again prevented the committee

from awarding to liiin the premium. For this

ingenious invention lie received from the same

club a superb piece of plate, valued at fifty gui-

neas; from the Highland Societ}' of Scotland,

anotlier piece 01 plate ; from the Gargunnock

Farmers' Club, in his own neighbourhood, a pair

of silver cups, and from the Imperial Agricultural

Society of St. Petersburg, a massive gold medal,

transmitted through the Russian ambassador at

the British court. At the time these numerous

presentations were made to him Mi'. Smith was

only twenty-four j-ears of age.

Previous to 1823, he had been successful in

many of his experiments upon his micle's fiinn;

but he never could get Mr. Buchanan to adopt

his theory on the proper cultivation of the soil,

to its full extent. In the year mentioned, how-

ever, he got into his own possession tlie Dcan-

ston farm, comprising upwards of 200 acres,

then in a miserable state of culture, and he then

commenced his celebrated fhorougli drainage and

deep-working operations, which ended in its com-

plete reclamation.
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Ill a ytuall publication of liis, on 'Tlior-

oiigli Diaiiiing and Deep rioiigliing,' attracted

conslderaljle attention anmng tlic agricnlturists of

tlie suiTouuding districts; but it was not till tlic

great agricultural distress of 1834, that tlic merits

of this jKunphlet became more extensivel\' ac-

knowledged. In 18-i:.'5 appeared the Cth edition,

exti-acted from the third Report of Drummond's

Agricultural Museum, Stirling.

In 1848, Mr. Smith was, b\' the government of

Sir Robert Peel, appointed one of the commis-

sioners to iiiipiire into, and report upon, the sani-

tary condition of the manufacturing towns and

ditlerent districts of England, and in that capaci-

ty he proiimuidcd his great plan for economising

sewerage manure. After a most determined and

protracted opposition on the part of rival interests,

he and his friends succeeded in obtaining the con-

sent of the legislature to his scheme for this ptu'-

pose. By his invention of the system of deep

draining, and the introduction of the :ipplication of

sewerage manure, jMr. Smith earned a title to be

considered one of those benefactors of the human

race by whom the sources of reproductive indus-

try have been multiplied through science.

In political economy Mr. Smith was a thorough

believer in the views taken by his celebrated

nnmesake, Adam Smith. He was a member of

the Glasgow Philosophical Society, and to its

'Transactions' he contributed several important

scientific papers. In connection with the Royal

Agricultural Improvement Society of Ireland he

rendered many valuable services to that countr}^

and he was justly considered by that useful asso-

ciation one of its most distinguished members.

I\Ir. Smith died suddenly on the morning of

10th June 1850, at Kingencleneh, near Mauch-

line, Ayrshire, the residence of a cousin of his,

where he was staving on a temporary visit. He

was never married. At the period of liis death he

was engaged in bringing into use a particular kind

of sheep dip composition.

Sjiou.inT, tlio surn.mio, evidently origin.illy territori.il, of

;i Diuiib;irtoiisliire fiiniily, one of wliose iiieiiibers, Dr. Tobi:is

Smolli'tt, by bi.s genius mul writings, li.is rendered it illustri-

ous ill tlie annals of literature. Ilis grandfatlier, Sir James

Smollett of Boiiliill, pari.sh of Cardross, from wliom tlie family

derived its first eminence, was a native of the burgli of Dum-
bar'on, and was bred to tlie law in the oflioe of a writer in

Edinburgh. lie represented Dumbarton in tlie convention

of estates in 1CS8, .is well as in several subsequent par-

liaments. He warmly supported the Revolution, and by

King William III. was knighted, and made ii judge in the

commissary court of Edinburgli. He was a zealous advocate

of the union witli England, and in 1707, was appointed one

of the commissioners for framing the articles of union. He
was the first inemher who represented the Dumbarton district

of burghs in the liritish parliament. By his wife, Jane,

daughter of Sir Aul.iy JI'Aulay of Ardincaple, he had several

sons and daughters. His fourtli son, Arcbibald, married,

without his father's knowledge, Barbara, daughter of Cun-

ningham of Gilberttield, Lanarkshire. She had no fortune,

and Sir James, though displeased at first with the match,

gave his son a liferent of his farm of Dalquliurn, which, with

an annuity, made his income about X300 a-year.

Archibald had three children, and Dr. Smollett, the novel-

ist, poet and historian, of whom a memoir follows, was the

youngest. Jean Smollett, the doctor's sister, married Alex-

ander Teller, Esq. of Symington, Lanarkshire, and on the

deatli of her cousin-german, Jlr. Commissary Smollett, she

succeeded to Bonljill, when she resumed her in/iiden name of

Smollett. Her son and successor, Alexander Telfer Smollett

of Bonhill, married Cecilia, daughter of John Renton, Esq. of

Laniberton, Berwickshire, and with one daughter Iiad four

sons. 1. Alexander, lieutenant-colonel, Coldstream guards,

and M.P. for Dumbartonshire, killed at the battle of Alkmaar

in 179'J. 2. John Ronett, a naval officer, who succeeded to

the estate. 3. Tobias George, captain 78tli regiment, Ross-

shire Higlilanders. 4. James, accidentally killed at sea.

The 2d son, Reai-adiniralJolin Rouett Smollett, succeeded

to Bonhill. He married, 1st, Louisa, daughter of William

Rouett, Es(j. of Aucbiiideiiiian, Dumbartonshire, and had an

only daughter, who died in infancy; 2dly, in 1800, Eliza-

beth, 2d daughter of Hon. Patrick Boyle of Shewulton, Ayr-

shire, 2d son of 2d earl of Glasgow; issue, 4 daughters and

2 sous, Alexander, and Patrick Boyle. Elizabeth, the eldest

daughter, married, in 1830, Charies Villieis Stuart, Esq.,

voungest brother of Lord Stuart do Decies.

.Alexander Smollett, Esq. of Bonhill, the admiral's elder

son, born Nov. 29, 1801, passed advocate in 1824, M.P. for

Dumbartonshire from 1841 to 1859.

Patrick Boyle, the younger son, born in 1805, was in the IC.

I. Co.'s civil sen'ice at Madras, from which he retired in 1858.

Elected 1859 M.P. for Dumbartonshire in room of his brother.

SMOLLEIT, Dr. Tobias Gkoiige, a distin-

guished novelist and liistorian, was born in 1721,

at the old house of Dalquliurn, in Dumbarton-

shire. He was the youngest of three children of

Archibald Smollett and Barbara Cunningham,

daughter of Cunningham of Gilbertfield near

Glasgow. His father dying while he was very

_voung, his education was undertaken by Sir James

Smollett, his grandfather. He received his first

lessons in classical learning in tf.e school of Dum-

barton. '\Micn the usual school routine M-as

completed he wa.s sent to the university of

Glasgow, where he studied medicine, being at the

same time articled as apprentice to a 'Mr. John

Gordon, a surgeon there. At the early nge of

eighteen, his capabilities for poetry began to miiti-
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ifest themselves
;

and, besides writing several

keen and skilful satires, he composed ' The Regi-

cide,' a tragedy, founded on the assassination of

King James I. In 1740 his grandfather died,

witliout leaving any provision either for the mo-

ther of Smollett or the family, and thns thrown

upon his own resojirces, Smollett resolved to visit

London after the expiry of his apprenticeship, and

endeavour to obtain employment in the army or

navy. On his arrival there he presented his tra-

gedy to the managers of the theatres, but meet-

ing with no success in his endeavours to bring it

on the stage, he published it, in 1749, with an

angry preface. In 1741 he obtained the appoint-

ment of surgeon's-mate on board a man-of-war,

and sailed in the unfortunate expedition to Car-

thagena. While the ship was in the West Indies

he quitted the service, and, during his residence

in Jamaica, he became attached to a Miss Anne

Lascelles, whom he afterwards married.

On his return to London in 1746, his feelings

of patriotism led him to write the beautiful and

spirited poem of 'The Tears of Scotland.' The

same year he published 'Advice, a Satire ;' and

about the same time composed the opera of 'Al-

ceste,' which, however, was never acted, in con-

sequence of some ill-timed satires on Rich the

manager. He had expected £3,000 with his

wife, but of this sum he obtained only a small

part, and that after a very expensive lawsuit re-

garding it. He was therefore obliged to have

recourse to his pen for support, and in 1748 he

published ' The Adventin-es of Roderick Random,'

in two volumes, which soon became the most po-

pular novel of the age.

In 1750 Smollett visited Paris, and on his re-

turn In 1751 he produced 'The Adventures of

Peregrine Pickle,' in four volumes 12mo, which

had a rapid sale, and was soon translated into

French. Having obtained the degree of M.D., he

settled at Bath, with the view of entering upon

medical practice
;
but, being disappointed in his

design, he returned to London, and fixing his

residence at Chelsea, became an author by pro-

fession. In 1753 he published the 'Adventures

of Count Fathom,' and in 1755 his translation of

'Don Quixote.' About this time he visited his

reliitiuns in Scotland, and on his return to London

he undertook the editorship of ' The Critical Re-

view.' In 1757 his farce of 'The Reprisal, or the

Tars of Old England,' was performed at Drury

Lane theatre. Being convicted of a libel on Ad-

miral Knowles, Inserted in ' The Critical Review,'

he w^as sentenced to pa}' a fine of £100, and to be

imprisoned in the King's Bench for three months.

During his confinement, he composed the 'Adven-

tures of Sir Lancelot Greaves,' a sort of English

Quixote, in which the character of Theodore, king

of Corsica, his fellow-prisoner, is beautifully deli-

neated. His ' Complete History of England,

from the earliest times to the Treaty of Ai.K-la-

Chapelle,' in four quarto volumes, appeared in

1758, and is said to have been written in the short

space of fourteen months. The success of this

work encouraged him to write a continuation of It

to 1764. By this work, the most important of

his productions, he Is said to have realized the

sum of £2,000.

In June 1763 he had visited the Continent, In

the hope of dissipating the melancholy which

preyed upon his mind in consequence of the death

of his only daughter this year. On his return he

published his 'Travels through France and Italy,'

in two vols. Soon after, on account of declin-

ing health, he again went to Scotland, and on

his return to London he made an unsuccessful

attempt to obtain from government an appoint-

ment as consul at some port in the Mediterranean.

Ilis novel entitled 'Adventures of an Atom' was

published In 1769. His health becoming again Im-

paired, he set out early in 1770 for Italy, whence he

never returned. During the journey he wrote his

' Expedition of Humphrej^ Clinker,' which. In the

opinion of man}^ Is his best novel.

Dr. Smollett died October 21, 1774, at a village

called Monte Nuovo, near Leghorn, where he had

taken up his abode. His widow, the Narcissa of

' Roderick Random,' was left nearly destitute In

a foreign land ; and March 3, 1784, a benefit was

procured for her In the Theatre-Royal, Edinburgh,

the proceeds, amounting, with private donations,

to £366, being remitted to her in Italy.

The only work he published connected with liis

profession was a treatise ' On the External Use of

Cold Water,' a subject which many years after-

wards began to occupy considerable attention in



SMOLLETT. 485 SMYTir.

Germany, as well ns in (jrcat liritain, where

several establislimeiits for the " Cold water cure"

of diseases were, in course of time, set on foot.

Smollett's ' Ode to Levcn AVatcr,' and his ' Ode

to Independence,' with ' The Tears of Scotland,'

written on hearing of the barbarities inflicted by

the army of the duke of Cumberland in the north

of Scotland in 1746, contain much of the feeling

and inspiration of real genius, and cause regret

that he did not cuUivate his talents for pootiy.

Three years after his death a lofty Trajan column,

with a Latin inscription, was erected to liis me-

mory, by his cousin, Smollett of Boidiill, on the

banks of the Lcven, near the house in -which he

was born. His portrait is subjoined :

Dr. Smollett's woi'ks ai-e:

Acivico; a Satire. ITKi.

lU'proof; a Satire; being the second part of .Aiivico. 17-17.

The Adventures oF Uodcrick Handom. bond. 1718, 2 vols.

V2ma. Lend. 1750, 2 vol.-!. 12ino. Tlie lOtli edition. I.ond.

177S, 2 vols. 12nio. Edinb. 178-1, 2 vols. 8vo. Inniunerable

editions. In German. Berlin, 1790, 2 vols. 8vo. And also

in most of tlie other Knropcan I.angn.ages.

The Regicide; a Tragedy. Lond. 17-10, 4to.

The Adventures of Peregrine Pickle, in wliicli are inchided.

Memoirs of a Ladv of Qu;dity. Lond. 1751. 4 vols. 12mo.

Second edition, same year. Reprinted, bond. 1781, 4 vols.

8vo. Lond. 1784, 3 vols. 12mo. Knmerons impressions.

An Ess.lY on the external use of water; with particular

Remarks on the present Method of using the Mineral Waters

of Bath. Lond. 1752, 4to.

The Adventures of Ferdinand Count Fathom. Lond.

1753, 2 vols. 12uio. Lond. 1782, 2 vols. 8vo.

Don Quixote; translated into English. Lond. 1755, 2

vols. 4to. This is reckoned the best translation of Cen'antes.

Compendium of Voyages. 1757, 7 vols. 12mo.

The Reprisals; or the Tars of Old England; a Comedy.

1757.

A Complete History of England, deduced from the descent

of Julius Ca;sar, to the Treaty of Aix-la-Cliapelle, 1748;

containing the Tran.sactions of one thousand eight liundred

and three years. Lond. 1757-8, 4 vols. 4to. Reprinted,

Lond. 1758-GO, 11 vols. 8vo. Continuation, printed, Lond.

17(j".-!, 4 vols. 8vo. Vol. v. 17C5, 8vo.

The Adventures of Sir Launcelot Greaves. Lond. 17G2, 2

vols. 12mo. 1782, 2 vols. 8vo.

The Works of M. de Voltaire; translated from the French

:

with Notes, Historical and Critical. Lond. 176."), &c. 27

vols. 12ino. Written in conjunction witli T. Francklin and

other.^.

The Present State of all Xations. Lond. 1 7G4, 8 vols. 8vo.

Travels through France and Italy; containing Observations

on Character, Cnstoins, Religion, Government, Police, Com-

merce, Manufactures, Arts, and Antiquities; with a partieu-

l.ar Description of the Town, Territory, and Climate of Nice,

and a register of the weatlier for eigliteen months in that

city. Lond. 17C6, 2 vols. 8vo. Tiie same. Duhl. 17GG, 2

vols. 8vo.

The Adventures of <an Atom. Lond. 17G0, 2 vols. 12mo.

Lond. 178G, 2 vol<!. 8vo. Tliis is a .satire upon the conduc-

tors and measures of government from the year 1754.

Ode to Independence. Glasg. 1773, 4to.

The Adventures of Telemachus, the son of Ulysses; tran.s-

lated fiom the Freneb of Mons. F. Salignac de la Mothe

Fcn^lon. Lond. 177G, 2vols. 12mo.

The Adventures of Gil Bias of Santlllane, translated.

Lond. 1797, 4 vols. 12mo.

Plays and Poems, with Memoirs of the Life and Writings

of tlie Author. Lond. 1777, 8vo.

Miscellaneous \\'orks, with Memoirs of his Life and Writ-

ings; by Robert Anderson, M.D. Euin. 1700, C vols. 8vo.

The same, with Memoirs of Ins Life ; to whicli is prefixed, a

View of the Commencement and Progress of Rcjmance; by J.

Moore, M.D. Lond. 1797, 8 vols. 8vo.

Smollett wrote many articles in the Briti.sh Magazine, and

opposed Wilkes in a weekly paper called
'

'J'he Jirilon.' He

was also, as is well known, the founder of 'The Critical Re-

view,' which be conducted for several years with a spirit then

new in the annals of criticism.

SMYTH, J.\MKs C.^n^rIC^AEL, a distiiigni.slied

physician, only son of Thomas Carmiehael, Ksq.,

representative of the Carmicliaels of ]jalmadie,

and his wife IMargaret, eldest daughter and heir-

ess of James Smyth, Esq. of Atlieiiry, was born

in Fifeshiie in 1711. In compliance with the tes-

tamentary injunctions of his maternal grandfather,

he assumed the name and arms of Smyth, in ad-

dition to his own. After studying for six vears

at the university of Edinburgli, he graduated there

in ]7fi4, when he wrote a dissertation ' De Para-
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lysi,' and iuti-oduced into it a short histoiy of

Medical Electricity in its application to the cure of

this disease. He subsequently, for professional

!
improvement, visited France, Italy, and Holland,

1

I

and in 1768 settled in London. His first public

j

appointment was pliysician to the Middlesex lios-

! pital ; he had also considerable private practice,

i

His attention having been parl'cularly directed to

the prevention of contagion in cases of fever, he

had recourse to the effect of nitric acid gas, the

preventive power of which he fully established.

His experiments made by order of government on

board of the Spanisli prison ship at Winclioster,

where a pestilential fever prevailed, were deemed

satisfactor}', and in 1802, parliament, in requital

of his services, voted him a reward of £5,000.

His claim to tlie original merit of tliis valuable

discovery was disputed by Dr. James Johnstone

of Kidderminster, for liis fatlier, and by M. Cliap-

tal of France, on behalf of Guyton-Morveau, and

lie was involved in a severe polemical dispute in

consequence with several of the profession. Soon

after, for his health he went to the south of France,

and subsequently, retiring from professional pur-

suits, went to live at Sunbiiry. He Avas a fellow

of the Royal College of Physicians, London, also

j

a fellow of the Royal Society, London, and pliysi-

I

cian extraordinary to tlie king, George III. He

died 18th June 1821. He had married in 1775,

Mary, only child and heiress of Thomas Holy-

land, Esq. of Bromley, Kent, and had by her eight

sons and two daughters. His eldest sou. General

Sir James Carmichael Smyth, was created a bar-

onet of the United Kingdom in 1821. His eldest

daughter married Dr. Alexander Monro, professor

of anatomy in the university of Edinburgh. (See

vol. i. p. 591, col. 2, art. C.^kmichael of Bal-

madie.)

Dr. Carmichael Smyth was the autiior of the

following medical publications

:

Tentamen Med. Iiiaug. de I'aralysi. Edin. 17G4, 8vo.

.^n Account of the Eli'ects of Swinging, eniploj'ed as a

Remedy in Pulmonary Consumption and Hectic Fever.

I.ond. 1787, Svo.

The Works of tlie late Dr. M'illiani Stork. I.ond. 1788, 4to.'

A Description of the .Tail I^istemper, as it appeared among

the Spanish Prisoners at AVinchester in the year 1780 ; with

an Account of tlie means employed for curing that Fever,

and for destroying the Contagion which gave rise to it.

Lond. 1795, Svo.

An Account of the E.\periments made on hoard the Union

Hospital Ship, to determine the Etiect of the !Nitrous Acid in

destroying Contagion, and the safety with which it may he

employed. Lond. 1796, Svo.

The Effect of the Nitrous Vapour in preventing and de-

stroying Contagion; ascertained from a variety of trials,

made chiefly hy Surgeons of his Majesty's Navy in Prisons,

Hospitals, and on board of ships: with an Introduction, re-

specting the Nature of Contagion, whicli gives rise to the

Jail and Hospital Fever, and the various methods formerly

employed to prevent or destroy this. Lond. 1799, 8vo.

Letter to William Wilberforce, ICsq., containing Remarks

on a Pamphlet, entitled 'An Account of the Discovery of the

Power of the Jlineral Acid Vapours to destroy Contagion,

by .Tolin Johnstone, JLD.' Lond. 1805, Svo.

Remarks on a Report of M. Chaptal; with .an Examina-

tion of the Claim of JL Giiyton de Morveau to the discovery

of the power of Mineral Acid Gases on Contagion. London,

1805, Svo.

A Treatise on the Hydrencephalus, or Dropsy of the Brain.

Lond. ISU, Svo.

Letter from Mr. Young relating his own case, in which an

enlarged Spleen was cured hy the .application of the actual

Cautery. Ann.als of Med. vi. 437, 1801.

S.MYnii-;, one of the modes of spelling the surn.ame of

Smith. The family of Smythe of SIcthven. Perthshire, de-

scend from Thomas Smith, who was apothecary to King

James IIL, as appe.ars by a charter, of date 29th Jan-

uary 1477. His son, Patrick Smith of Braco, Perthshire,

temp. James IV., was succeeded by his son, William Smith

of Braco. The latter, by his wife, Agnes Scott, of the fami-

ly of Bahvearie, Fifeshire, relict of Christopher Snel of Bal-

garvie, in the same county, had a son, Patrick Smith of

Braco, who was served heir to his father in 1561. Alexan-

der, Patrick's son, predeceased him in 1C03, leaving two sons,

Patrick, who succeeded his grandfather in 1604, and An-

drew. On the consecration of their guardian, George Gra-

ham, minister of Scone, as bishop of Orkney, they were

removed thither, where they settled. Andrew acquired the

estate of Rapness, and marrying in Orkney, left issue. Pa-

trick, the elder son, laird of Braco, was thrice married. Lis

first wife being Catlierine Graham, daughter of his guardian,

and had issue by all his wives. Henry, liis eldest son, joined

the army of Charles L, and fell at Jlarston Moor in 1644.

George, the secoiid son, predeceased his father, who was

succeeded by Patrick, the third son. The latter made great

additions to his paternal estate in Perthshire, and .acquired

also the lands of Mailt in Orkney. He was cast away about

1651, in crossing the Pentland frith, when himself and the

whole boat's crew were drowned. His eldest surviving son,

Patrick Smith of Braco, sold his estates in the Orkneys, and

in 1664 purchased from the duke of Lennox, the lands of

Methven, Perthshire, part of the dowi-y lands formerly appro-

priated for the maintenance of the queen-dowager of Scot-

land. Patrick Smith of Methven was twice married. Pa-

trick, his only son by his first wife, was accidentally shot by

his tutor, on a shooting party, on the loch of Methven. Da-

vid, his eldest son, by his second wife, succeeded him. His

first wife, Anne, daughter of .James Keith of Benholm, bro-

ther of the sixth earl Marischal, was a lady of a bold military

spirit, who distinguished herself by her opposition to the

Covenanters. On Sund.iy, 13th October 1678, during her

husband's absence in London, some of that persecuted body,

chiefiv from Perth, met for worship in the neighbourhood of

Methven castle, when Mrs. Smythe, at the head of lier 1ms-

band's tenantry, drove them off the estate. In a letter to
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lior liuslxuid, wlioiii she calls lier " lienrtkeeper," slie tlius

(li-^cribes the occurrence: " Jly precious love,—A multituile

of men and women from east, west, and south, came to hold

a field conventicle two bows' draft above our church
;
they

had their tent set up before the sun on your ground. I, see-

ing tlii'in flocking to it, sent tlirough your ground, and

charged them to repair to your brother David, the bailie and

me, to the Castlehill, where we had but sixty armed men.

Yonr lirothor, with drawn sword and bent pistol, I, with tlie

light horseman's piece bent on niy left arm and a drawn tuck

in my right hand, all your servants well armed, marclied for-

ward, and kept the one half of them fronting with the other,

that were guarding their minister, and their tent, which is

their standard. . . . 'I'hey sent off a party of one hun-

dred men to see what we meant by hindering tliein to meet

;

we told them, if they would not go from the parish of ^Mctli-

ven presently, it sliouhl be a bloody day. . . . They, see-

ing we were desperate, marched over the Pow ; and so we

went to the church, and heard a feared minister preach.

They have sworn not to stand with such an affront, but are

resolved to come next Lord's day ; and I, in the Lord's

strength, intend to accost them wilh all that will come to as-

sist us." In the same letter she says :
" I have written to

your nephew, the treasurer of Kdinlmrgh, to .send me two

brass hagbutts of found, ami that with the l)earer. If they

come .against Saturday, I will h.ive them wilh n.s. My love,

present my humble duty to my lord marquis (of Montrose)

and my hidy, likewise all your friends
;
and, my blessed hive,

conilbrt yourself in this, if the fanatics chance to kill me, it

.>^hall not be for nought. I was wounded for our gracious

king, and now in the strength of (he Lord God of heaven,

I'll hazard my person with the men I may command before

these rebels rest where ye h.-ive power." In a subsequent

letter she says, " If every parish were armed, and the stout

loyal heads joining, with orders to concur and liberty to sup-

press them as enemies to our king and the nation, these rag-

ing gypsies would settle." It was no wonder that this fiery

lieroine sliould have been deemed worthy of especial honour

by Archhisho)) Sharp. AVriting to her husbiind in 1079, she

informs him that the jn-ovdst and dean of guild of I'erth hav-

ing waited on the archbishop at St. Andrew.^, in relerence to

the induction of u clergyman to the parish church of St.

.Idhn's, in that city, the archbishop inquired "at the provost

all tlie way of my proceeding against the conventicle, which

was truly repeated, tlie archbishop drank my good health,

and said the clergy of this nation were obliged to me." Af-

terwards, :is an evidence of his good opinion of her, he ap-

priivoil iif a minister of her recommending to the church of

Jlethven.

The second son, David Sniythe, Ksq. of Metliven, was the

first to change tlie spelling of his name, lie died in 17.3.").

His son, David Smythe of Methvcn, born 24tli .June 1711,

married, first, Mary, eldest daughter of James Graham of

Ilraco, sister of General David Graham of Gorthie, and, with

other issue, had a son, David, and a daughter, JLirgaret,

wife uf George Oswald, Ksq., merchant, Glasgow; 2dly, in

17(il. Katheriiic, daughter of Patrick Campbell, a lord of

session under the title of Lord Monzie, without issue. The

son, David Sniythe of Methvon. burn 17th January 17-lG,

pa.ssed advocate, 4th August 17G9. He married, Slh April

1772, Elizabeth, only daughter of Sir Hobert JIurray, of

Ilillhead, barniu-t, and sister of General Sir James Murray

Pulteuey, baronet. On the death of this lady in 1785, he

began to practise at the b.ir, and soon alter was appointed

.sheriff-depute of Perthsliiie. Admitted a lord of session,

l.'ith Xovember 1793, he assumed the title of I-iird Methven.

On JIaicli 11, 179G, he was appointed a lord of justiciary.

The hitter office he resigned in 1804, and died Jan. 30, 1801).

He had married, 2dly, in 1794, Amelia Kuphemia, only daugh-

ter of .Alungo JIurray, Esq. of Lintrose, styled, "the Plower

of Strathmore." She is celebrated by Burns in his song of

'Blythe was she,' liaving been seen by the poet, when on a

visit to her relative. Sir William Murray of Ochtei tyre. By

his 1st wife Lord Methven had 3 sons and 4 daughters, and

by Ills 2d, G sons and 2 daughters. Catherine Campbell, the

elder of these last, became the wife of the liiglit Hon. David

lioyle, lord-justice-general of Scotland.

His three surviving sons were, 1. Robert Smythe of Meth-

ven, horn in 1778, married, 1st, in 1810, Mary, 2d daughter

of .lames Townsend Oswald, Esq. of Dunnikier, Fifesliire;

2dly, in 1817, Susan Kenton, eldest daughter of Sir Alex-

ander JInir JIackcnzie of Delvine, baronet; without issue.

2. William, of whom below. 3. The Kev. Patrick M. Smythe,

of Tamworth, Warwickshire. Another son, George Smythe,

Esq., was killed by a fall from a gig. This gentleman, a

member of the Bannatyne Club, contriliuted to that Society

a volume, entitled 'Letters of.John Grahame, of Claverhouse,

Viscount of Dundee, with iilustrative Documents.' Edin.

182G, 4to.

Robert Smythe, Esq. of Methven, died in 1847. His lialf

brother, William Smythe, Esq., born 18U.j, succeeded. He

married, 1st, in 1838, Margaret, eldest daughter of James

Walker, Esq. of (ireat George Street, Westminster; and,

2dly, in 1849, Emily, d.iughter of General Sir .John Oswald

of Dunnikier, G.C.B. ICducated at Westminster and Christ

Church, Oxford, (B..A. 182G, .AI.A. 1828,) he was called to

tlie bar .at Lincoln's Inn in 1829, and to the Scottish bar in

183G. but retired from ])ractice; appointed secretary to the

Board of Supervision in Scotland in 1845, resigned in 1852 ; a

magistrate and deputy lieutenant and convener of Perthshire.

His son and heir, David Murr.-iy Smythe, w.as born in 1850.

Snkll, a surn.ime, from a word in the Anglo-S.ixnn, mean-

ing agile, or liardy. . In the Scotch, the word Snell means bitter

or sliarp. In the year 1G88, Mr. John Snell. with a view

to support Episcopacy in Scotland, bequeathed the estate of

Uffton, ne:ir Leamington, Warwickshire, for the maintenance

of Scottish students at Baliol coll 'ge, Oxibrd, who had been

lor some years at the university of Glasgow, in which the

patron.-ige is vested.

Soi.vv.w, Earl of, a title in the Scottish peerage, wliich,

with the secondary titles of Viscount Tibberis, and Baron

Douglas of Lockerby, D.ilveen, and Thornhill, was conferred,

by patent, dated 17th June 170G, on Lord Charles Douglas,

third son of the second duke of Queen.sberry, afterwards third

duke of Queensberry, and second dnke of Dover, (see page

."IG of this volume). On his accession to the dukeiioni in

1711, it, became merged in that title. Extinct on his death

in 1778.

SoMEKViLi.E, a surname originally Norman. The first of

the name in Great Britain was Sir Gualter de Somerville,

who accompanied William the Conqueror into England, and

obtained from hiin estates in Staffordshire and Gloucester-

shire. He left three sons, and died at the commencement

of the twelfth century. From his eldest son. Sir Gualter de

Somerville, descended Sir Philip de Somerville of Wbichnour,

Staffordshire, who there instituted the gift of a flitch of ba-

con, called the Dunmow flitch, to the liusbands and wives

who had lived together a year and a day without any strife

or disagreement. The last of his house in England was
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William Somerville, the poet, author of 'The Chase," &o.,

descended from the third son.

William de Somerville, the second son, came to Scotland

with David L, from whom he had a grant of the lands of

Carnwath in Clydesdale. He witnessed the foundation char-

ter of Melrose ahbey by that monarch in 1136, also donations

by him to the monasteries of Dunfermline and Kelso. He

died in 1142, and was buried at Melrose. He had two sons,

William, who witnessed a charter of David I. to the abbacy

of Kelso in 1144, as well as several of Jlalcolm IV., and

died in 1161 ; and Walter, witness to a charter of the latter

monarch betwixt 1154 and 1160. The former left a son,

also named William de Somerville, witness to several char-

ters of Malcolm IV. and William the Lion. In the reign of

the latter he slew a monstrous animal which greatly devas-

tated the district of Linton, Roxburghshire. According to

tradition, it was a serpent, supposed to have been the last

that infested that part of the country, and in 1174 he ob-

tained the lands of Linton from the king as a reward. A
place is pointed out as the animal's den, bearing the name of

" the worm's hole," and the ground in its vicinity is called

Wormington. On an ancient stone on the south wall of the

parish church is the figure of a horseman spearing the mouth

of an animal resembling a dragon, and underneath it were

inscribed the words

:

" The wode laird of Lariestone

Slew the wode worm of Wirmieston,

And won all Linton parochine."

The crest of the Lords Somerville has the inscription "The

wode laird," and contains other allusions to William de Som-

erville's exploit. After obtaining the lands of Linton, the

latter became chief falconer to the king and sheriff of Rox-

burghshire. He was buried in the choir of Linton church.

William de Somerville of Linton and Carnwath, the son of

this adventurous baron, is said to liave distinguished himself

at a tournament at Roxburgh, before Alexander 11. His

son, Sir William de Somerville, fought at the battle of

Largs, 2d October 1263, and died in 1282. The son of this

baron. Sir Tliomas de Somerville of Linton and Carnwath,

was present in the convention at Brigham, r2th March 1290,

when a m.arriage between the Princess Margaret and Piince

Edward of England was proposed. He swore fealty to King

Edward I., 15th May 1296, but the following year he joined

Sir William Wallace. He made several donations to the

monks of Melrose out of his barony of Linton, and died about

1300, leaving two sons. Sir Walter, and Sir John de Somer-

ville. The former was one of the few barons who supported

Wallace, under whom he commanded the third brigade of

cavalry at the battle of Biggar. He was also a steady ad-

herent of Robert the Bruce. The latter was taken by the

English in 1806. During the wars of this period, Linton

tower, built by William de Somerville, the serpent-slayer, was

often put in peril, from its position on the borders, by its

owners' sturdy opposition to the aggressions of the English.

Sir Walter de Somerville of Linton and Carnwath, one of

Bruce's principal associates, died about 1330. By his wife,

Giles, daughter and heiress of Sir John Herring, he got the

lands of Gilmerton, Drum, and Goodtrees, Mid Lotliian, and

had three sons. 1. Sir James, killed at the battle of Dur-

ham in 1346. 2. Sir Thomas, who fought in the same bat-

tle, and succeeded his brother. 3. Richard, witness to a

charter of the earl of Lennox in 1340.

Sir Thomas de Somerville of Linton and Carnwath, between

1362 and 1366, had three safe-conducts into Ejigland to

visit the shrine of St. Thomas a Becket at Canterbury, and

one to go through England to visit St. John of Amboise in

France. He died before 1370. His eldest son. Sir William

de Somerville, one of the hostages for the release of Da\'id

II., 3d October 1357, died in 1403, lea\ing two sons, Sir

Thomas, first Lord Somerville, and William, ancestor of the

Somervilles of Cambo.

Somerville, Baron, a title in the peerage of Scotland,

conferred before 1430, on Sir Thomas Somerville, above men-

tioned. He had a safe-conduct to England to meet James

I., 13th December 1423, and he was one of the guai-antees of

the treaty for his release, 28th December 1424
;

also, one of

the jury on the trial of Murdacli, duke of Albany, in May
1425. He held the office of justiciary of Scotland south of

the Forth, and appears to have been created a peer, by the

title of Lord Somerville, before 1430. He died in 1445. He

married Janet, daughter of Sir Alexander Stewart of Derne-

ley, and got with her the barony of Cambusnethan, Lanark-

shire. His son, William, second Lord Somerville, was fre-

quently a commissioner to treat with the English as to peace,

and was a conservator of several tmces with the English.

He died in June 1455. With two daughters, he had two sons;

John, third Lord Somerville, and Thomas Somerville, of Plane,

Stirlingshire.

John, third Lord Somerville, was wounded at the battle

of Sark against the English in 1448. He was present with

James II. at the siege of Roxburgh, when his majesty was

killed by the bursting of a cannon in 1460. He was con-

cerned with the Boyds in carrying off James IIL from Lin-

lithgow to Edinburgh, 9th July 1466, for which a pardon

under the great seal was granted to him by pailiament, 13th

October that year. He died in Kovember 1491. He was

twice married; first, to Helen Hepburn, sister of Patrick,

first earl of Bothwell, and had by her a son, William, master

of Somerville, who died in 1488, and two daughters; 2dly,

to Mariot, daughter of Sir William Baillie of Lamington, and,

with a daughter, Mary, had a son. Sir John SomeiTille of

Cambusnethan, tutor to his nephew, John, fourth Lord

Somen'ille, who was of weak intellect. Sir John was kUled

at Flodden 9th September 1513. He married Elizabeth, a

daughter of Carmichael of Balmedie, Fifeshire, and was an-

cestor of the Somervilles of Cambusnethan. His son, Sir

John Somerville of Cambusnethan, was called Red Bag. from

carrying a red leathern bag for holding his hawk's meat. He

married a sister of the earl of Jlontrose. Their son took

to wife, Catherine, daughter of Sir John Carmichael of

i\rcadowflat, captain of Crawford, one of the mistresses

of James V. In that curious book, 'The Memorie of the

Somervilles,' published in 1815, 2 vols., from the original

manuscripts, many interesting notices are given of the

royal visits to Cowthally, Lord Somerville's seat in

the parish of Carnwath; and especially of the flirtations

of James V. with " Jlistress Katherine Carmichael, the cap-

tain of Crawfnird's daughter, a young lady much about sex-

teinth years of age, admired for her beautie, handsomeness of

persone, and vivacity of spirit." The work was written by

James Somerville of Drum, who died in 1690, styled

in tlie title-page, James eleventh Lord Somerville. Al-

luding to "Mistress Katherine's" connexion with the king,

the author thus concludes an admirable defence of her:—
" Thus far I have digressed in vindication of this excellent

lady that it may appear it was nether her choyse nor any

vitious habite that prevailed over her chastitie, but ane ine-

vitable fate that the strongest resistance could hardly with-

stand." She died in loo2. She was descended from tha
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family of BahneJie or Baliiicadow in I'ife, wliicli Sibbald

(^History of Fife, p. 409) says in liis time gave " title to Sir

David Carmicliael in Pertlisliire. This was exchanged bv

the earl of Fife with the earl of Angus giving Balnicdie for

Balbirnie ; and in King James III.'s reign, tlie earl of Angus

gave Balmedie with the heritable bailiary of the regality of

Abernethy to a gentlem;m of the name of Carmichatl, cap-

tain of the castle of Crawford, Sir David's predecessor, who

married tlie earl's mother when a widow."

William, master of Somerville, left two sons, John, fimrth

Lord Somerville, wlio died without issue, and Hugh, fifth

Lord Somerville. The latter sat in parliament, IGth Novem-

ber 152-i. He was taken prisoner at the rout of Sohv.iy in

November 1512, and placed in the custody of Lord Audlcy,

lord-chancellor of England. His income was estimated at

400 marks sterling yearly, and he was ordered to be relea.sed

1st July ISl.'J, on payment of 1,000 marks sterling. He

supported the proposed match between the infant Queen

Mary and Kdward, prince of Wales, the son of Henry VII

L

This, indeed, was one of the conditions on which he and

some others of the noblemen taken prisoners at Solway ob-

tained their liberty, and to insure his adherence to the pro-

ject, he had from the Knglish monarch n pension of 200

marks. The earls of Glencairn and Cassillis, and the Lords

Somerville, Maxwell, Fleming, and Oliphant, were the no-

blemen who agreed to Henry's conditions. They subscribed

the bond, by which, to use the words of the regent Arr.an,

they were tied in fetters to England, and Iiaving confirmed it

with their oaths and left hostages in the hands of the Eng-

lish king, they were allowed to return to Scotland. To

Lord Somerville was intrusted, in 1543, the bond or cove-

nant drawn up by the earl of Angus and his confederates,

—

wherein Ihey bound tliemselves to fulfil their engagements to

the English king, his lord.ship undertaking to deliver it to

Henrj'. But before he could proceed to London, both lie and

Lord Maxwell, the principal agents of .-Vngus in conducting

)iis intrigues with England, were arrested, and on Lord Som-

erville was fcnind the bond .signed at Douglas castle, with

letters wliich fully disclosed the treasonable plans of the par-

ty. In the following year Lord Somerville was one of tlie

principal nobles who signed the agreement to support the

authority of the queen-mother as regent of Scotland, on the

deprivation of the end of Arran of the office. The same

ye.ar he w.is in an expedition wliicli Arran led against Eng-

land, but which, owing to the treacherj' of tlie Douglases,

w.as shamefully put to flight at Coldingham, by an English

force inferior to them in number.?. About this time Linton

tower on the borders was first dilapidated by the warden of

the English marches, and next totally destroyed by the carl

of Surrey. With the other nobles who were in secret commu-
nication with England, Lord Somerville had given his adhe-

rence to the Kefnrined doctrines. He died in 1519. By his

wife, Janet, daughter of William Maitland of I.cthington, he

had, with two daughters, three sons. 1. .Tames, sixth Lord

Somerville. 2. John, who died without is.sue. 3. Hugh,

ancestor of the Soinervilles of Spittal.

James, the eldest son, was detained in England, when

ma.stcr of Somerville, as a hostage for his father. In 1543,

the latter wrote to Sir Ralph Sadler, the English ambassador

in Scotland, requesting that he should be allowed to return

home, as he was very ill with the stone. Unlike his father,

he opposed the Reformation, and when the Confession of

Faith was ratified by the estates, 17th July 15G0, he and

the earl of Atliol and Lord Borthwick were the only three

who voted ag.ainst it, saying, " We will believe as our fathers

believed."' He adhered to the cause of Queen M.uy, and

joined her forces at Hamilton in May 15C8, with 300 horse.

He fought at their head at the battle of L.angside, where he

was severely wounded. He died in December 1509. By liis

wife, Agne.s, daughter of Sir James llaiiiilton of Finnart, he

had, with two daughter:?, two .sons, Hugh, seventh Lord

Somerville, and another, who got from liis father part of the

barony of Carnwatli.

Hugh, .seventh Lord Somerville, was at fir.st one of Queen

Mary's faction, and his name appears, with that of the other

lords, at the letter sent to Queen Elizabeth on her behalf,

dated the end of March 1570. When, however, the queen's

lords held a parliament in the Tolbooth of Edinburgh, 12lh

July 1571, for the purpose of declaring all the proceedings

regarding the young king's coronation null, his lordship, who

had been written to, declined to vote, alleging in excuse that

he was a man of small judgment, and therefore behoved to

advise before he rashly voted to depose a crowned king, and

took documents of his refusal. He was beginning to veer

with the tide, and was sworn a privy councillor to James

VI. In the General Assembly which met at Edinburgh 4tli

.August 1590, the bailies of that city presented a complaint;

from the town council, as to the viol.ation of the Sabbath in

the different burgh.s, by the going of mills, receiving of loads

within tlieir gate.s, selling of flowers, &c. Lord Somerville,

being present, .alleged the privilege of his infeftment for hold-

ing the market of Carnwatli on the Lord's day, yet consented

that neither fair nor market should be kept there. If he

failed, the Assembly commanded the presbytery to proceed

against him, according to the acts, (Cahkrv:ood, vol. v. p.

110). He died in 1597. By his wife, Elinor, daughter of

Lord Seton, he had sixteen children, eight of whom died

young. Of the rest four were daughters and four sons. 1.

William, master of Somerville, who predeceased his father.

He had a renii.ssion, 2Gth J.anu.ary 15S8, for having acciden-

tally killed his brother, Robert. 2. Robert. 3. Gilbert,

eighth Lord Somerville. 4. Hugh Somerville of Drum, who

carried on the line of the family.

Gilbert, eighth Lord Somerville, entertained .Tames VI.

with great splendour, at his castle of Cowllially, punuingly

called by the king Cowdaily, because he had observed that a

cow and ten sheep were killed there every day. By his ex-

travagance Lord Somerville greatly reduced his estate, and in

1G03 Carnwath was sold to the earl of JIar. It afterwards

came into the possession of the family of Dalzicl, to whom it

gives the title of c.arl. In the ranking of the Scots nobility

in 160G, the title of Lord Somerville does not occur. His

lordship died in 1G18. With three daughters, he had an only

son, who died in infancy. His brother, Hugh Somerville of

Drum, succeeded him, but did not a.ssuuie the title. He died

at Drum in 1G40, in his 70th year. By his wife, Margaret,

daughter of Gavin Hamilton of Raplocli, lie had, with two

daughters, two sons.

James, the elder son, properly tenth Lord Somerville,

served with reputation in the French and Venetian service,

and on his return home had the rank of lieutenant-colonel in

the army. He died 3d January 1G77, and was buried at

Holvrood-lionse. By liis wife, Lilias, daughter of Sir .Tames

Bannatyne of Kewhall, a lord of session, he had a son, James

Somerville of Drum, properly eleventh Lord Somerville. Be-

ing on the jury at the trial of Campbell of Cessnock in March

1684, lie was one of the three juiTmeu who complained of

the undue pains taken by the king's advocate to procure evi-

dence against the prisoner, and when they were reproved for

interfering in the matter, they boldly replied (hat it concerned

them and their consciences to see that tne probation was fair

and equal. They were indicted for a riot in interrupting the



SOMERVILLE,

court on tliat trial, but it w;is passed over. James Somor-

ville of Drum died in 1G90. His son, James Somer\-ille,

younger of Dram, predeceased Ids fatlier. In a dninken

quaiTel, lie was iiiortallv wounded by Thomas, son ofTlio-

mas Learmontli, advocate, witli tbe sword of Hugli I'ater-

son, 3'ounger of Binnioclcburn, 8tli Juiy 16S2. He lived a

day or two afterwards, forgave Learmontli, and counselled

liim to leave the country. It was alleged that the wound

w.as rendered mortal by bad management. His son, James

Somerville, born in 1674, succeeded his grandfather, and was

properly twelfth Lord Somerville. He died 4th December

1709, leaving, with two daughters, four sons. 1. James.

2. George Somerville of Dinder, Somersetshire. 3 and 4.

John and William, who both died without issue.

John, the eldest son, thirteenth Lord Somerville, claimed,

at the keenly contested election of a representative peer of

Scotland in 1721, to be admitted to vote, but his claim was

not allowed. He thereupon entered a protest. At the gen-

eral election 21st April 1722, the same took place. At the

election, however, of loth August following, his vote was ad-

mitted, and on a petition to the king, his right to the peerage

was acknowledged by the House of Lords, 27th May 1723.

At the general election of 1741, he was chosen one of the

sixteen Scots representative peers. He adiled considerably

to his fortune by an arrangement with his kinsman, the cele-

brated .author of ' The Chase,' William Somerville, Ksq. of

Eadstone, Warwiclishire, and Somerville Aston, Gloucester-

shire, representative of the English branch of the Somer-

villes, by which, in consideration of certain sums applied to

the relief of burdens, the latter, who was unmarried, settled

the reversion of his estates upon him. He succeeded to

them, on the death of the poet in 1742. He built the ele-

gant house of Drum, and laid out the plantations there in

great taste. He died at Drum, 14th December 1765. He
was twice married, to English ladies, and had two sons and

two daughters.

The elder son, .Tames, fourteenth Lord Somerville, an offi-

cer in the 2d regiment of dragoon guards, served several

campaigns with great credit. He quitted the army in 1764,

with the rank of lieutenant-colonel. He was chosen a repre-

sentative peer 7tli August 1793, and died 16th April 1796,

unmarried.

His brother, the Hon. Hugh Somerville, was also an officer

of the 2d dragoon guards, and afterwards major of the 16tli

light dragoons. In 1762 he accompanied the latter regiment

to Portugal, and was in the force under Brigadier-general

Bui-goyne, which surprised a Spanish advanced partv in

the town of Valencia d'Alcantara, Aug. 27, 1762, when tliev

entirely destroyed one of the best regiments in the Spanish

service. In 1768 he became lient.-col. of his regiment. He
quitted the army soon after, and died at York house, Cliftim,

May 7, 1795. He was twice married, like his father, and

to English ladies. By his first wife he had a son, John,

15th Lord Somerville, and by his second, si.\ sons and one

daughter

John, IStli Lord Somerville, distinguished himself liv the

attention wliich he paid to agriculture, and lias transmitted

his name to posterity by the introduction of the breed of .Me-

rino sheep from Lisbon into Great Britain. In 1805 and

subsequent years, while residing at his seat of The Pavilion

on the Tweed, he was the companion of Sir Walter Scott in

salmon-spearing and other sports. To Scott his skill in

every dep.artnient of the .science of rural economy was of

great use, and he .always talked of him in particular as his

master in the art of planting. In Scott's work, ' Paul's Let-

ters to his Kinsfolk,' he figures as Paul's laird. He succeed-

THOMAS, D.D.

ed Sir Jolin Sinclair in 1813, as president of the Board of

Agriculture, and died, unmarried, in 1819.

His lialf-brutlier, -Mark, succeeded as IGth lord. Born

Oct. 26, 1784, he died, unmarried, June 3, 1842.

His brother, Kenelm, became 17th lord. He was born

Xov. 14, 1787; educated at Bugliy ; entered the royal navy

in 1801
;
placed on the retired list of rear-admirals in 1846.

lie commaniied the Thames on the coast of America, and

was officially recommended for his services during the expe-

dition up the P.atuxent river. He married, Sept. 3, 18o3,

Frances Louisa, only daughter of John Haymtin, Esq. ; issue,

two sons, viz. 1. Hugh, bom Oct. H, 1^39; 2. Frederick-

Noel, born Oct. 8, 1840, and five daughters.

SOMERVILLE, Thom.\.s, D.l)., an einiiieiit

divine and lilstorian, was born in tlic spring of 1741,

at Hawick, of wliich parish his father was minister.

He studied at tlie university of Edinburgli
;
and, in

the autumn of 1 7G2, regularly licensed as a preaclier

of tlie gospel. Shortly after, lie was appointed by

Sir Gilbert Elliot of Minto, tutor to liis son, the

first Lord Minto, afterwards governor-general of

India. In 1767, the church of IMirito becoming

\acant, he was presented by Sir Gilbert to tliat

charge. In 1772, on the translation of Dr. James

Macknight to Edinburgh, Sir Gilbert's interest pro-

cured for him the more lucrative living of Jedburgh.

At the commencement of the American Revolution-

ary war, lie publislied a pamphlet, entitled ' Candid

Thoughts oi; American Independence,' wiitten in

a spirit of determined hostility to the claims o(

the colonists, which drew forth a reply from Mr.

Tod of Kirtlands, called ' Consolatoiy Tlionghls

on American Independence, by a Merchant.' In

1792 lie produced liis 'History of the Political

Transactions, and of Parties, from the llestoration

of Charles II. to the Death of King William,' a

work which displays considerable research. In

1793 he was nominated one of the chaplains in or-

dinary to his majesty for Scotland, and also elected

a member of the Royal Society of Edinburgh.

In 1798 he published a ' Histoiy of the Reign

of Queen Anne,' dedicated by permission to

George III. ; and being, at the time of Its

publication, in London, he was introduced at

St. James', and personally presented a copy of

the work to the king. He furnished the statisti-

cal survey of the parish of Jedburgh to Sir John

Sinclair's work, and on tlie attempt to introduce

the culture of the tobacco plant into Roxburgh-

shire, he was among the first to aftbid it a fair

trial. He died at Jedlnirgli, j\Iny IG, 1S30, m

490
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tlio OOtli j'car of liis :ige, luid Gltli of his ministry,

llis worlds arc :

Ciiiidid Thoughts on American IiiJependence.

History of Politic.il TraiisMCtions and of Parties, from the

Restoration of Kin;; Charles II. to the; deatii of Kinj; Wil-

liam 111. Loud. 17!)2, 4to.

Ohservations on tlie Constitution and Present State of

Britain. Lond. 17!).'), 8vo.

History of (Jreat IJritain durin;; tlie reign of Queen Antie
;

witli an .Appendix. I.ond. 179S, -Ito.

A Sermon. 1811, 8vo.

A Collection of Sermons. ISl.), 8vo.

Two Sermons, communicated to the Scotcli Preacher.

A Sermon, on the Nature and Oblig;ition of an Oath, in-

serted in the Scottish Pul|iit.

SOMERVILLE, Andhew, U.S.A., an artist of

great promise, tiie eldest son of a wire-worker in

Eiliiil)iirgli, was born in that city in 1S08, aiui edu-

cated at tlie IIi;,'ii scliool. lie was at lirst a pupil

in ^[r. AVilliam Simpson's drawing academy, and

afterwarils assisted his master in teaching, till tlio

latter removed to London. Young SonierviUc's

paintings on being sent to the exhibition, then in

the Wati'rloo llooms, soon began to attract atten-

tion. He first exhibited in 1S3(), and was elected

!i member of the Scottish Academy in February

1832. He was chosen an associate in November

18:):>. Some of his favourite subjects were the

' IJride of Yarrow,' 'Editli,' and 'Bonny Kil-

meny.' His 'Flowers of the Forest,' one of liis

best productions, a picture of the fatal lield of

Flodden, is now in the possession of Adam Sim,

Esq. of Coulter Mains, Lanarkshire. He was

equally successfid in the pathetic and the humour-

ous—the latter being admirably shown in his pic-

ture of ' Donnybrook Fair.' He ilied in January

IS.'JI, at the early age of 2G.

Stn'.iiY, or Soitmn, tlie surname of an ancient Galloway

family, wlio owned the lands of Sorhy, which now form the

parish of Sorbie, Wigtownshire. The Haini.nvs, another an-

cient Galloway family, originally named De Atmetli and

Ahannay, succeeded them in the possession. See H.\nn.vy,

vol. ii. p. 400.

Sovi.is, an .incient surname, home by a once potent fam-

ily which scenis to liave lel't no representative. The first of

the name was Ranulph de Sules, an Anglo-Saxon baron of

Northamptonshire, who accompanied David I. into Scotland,

and received from him a grant of lands in I.iddesdale, with

the manor of Nisbet in Teviotdale, as well as other lands in

East Lothian. He is a witness to sever.al of the charters of

that monarch. He and his successors were lords of Liddes-

dale; in charters tj^ey were often styled rinceriia Jierjis.

Ranulph built a fortalice in Liddesdalc, called Hermitage

Ciistle, which gave rise to the now e.xtinct village of Castle-

town. In 1271 William de Sonlis was knighted at Hadding

ton by Alexander III., and niider the same monarch he be-

came justiciary of Lothian. He was one of the vutijnate.i

Scotiie who, in 12S4, engaged to support the succession of

the princess JIargaret to her grandfather, Alexander III. In

]"2yO, he and Sir John Soulis were present in the meeting of

the Estates of Scotland at Brigham, now Birgham, a village

on tho northern bank of the Tweed, when the proposal for a

marriage between the heiress of .Scotland and the prince of

Wales was agreed to. Sir John de Soulis was one of the

ambassadors to France to arrange the marriage of Joletta,

daughter of the count de Dreux, with jVlexander III. In

1294, he again went to France, to negotiate the man'iage of

Kdvvard Balicd with a daughter of Charles, brother of the

French king. In 1299 he was appointed by John Baliol

ciislos rerjni ScotUc, keeper of the Scottish kingdom. In

1300 he commanded at the .siege of Stirling castle, which was

surrendered to him by the English. In luO.'J he was one of

the Scots commissioners at Paris. At the capitulation of

Strathurd, 9th February 1.304, he was excepted by i^dward

I. from the ignominious conditions imposed on the vantniish-

I'd, and it was provided that he should remain in exile for

two years. He joined Robert tlie Brace, and for liis services

to that monarch, was rew.arded with a grant of tho baronies

"f Kirkaiidrews and Torthorwald, and tho lands of liretta-

lach, Dnmfries-shire. Accompanying Edward Bruce to Ire-

land, he was .slain with him in battle near Dundalk, bt\i

October, 1318.

In 129G, Sir Thomas de Soulis, of the county of Roxburgli.

the brother of Sir John, swore fe.alty to Edward I. In 1300

he was taken prisoner by the English in Gallow.ay, and as

we learn by the Wardrobe accounts, lOdward I. ordered four-

pence a-day to be jiaid .as his allowance. In 130() his widow,

Alicia de Soulis, diii homage to Edward for lands in Scotland.

Nicholas de Soulis, of this family, was one of the claim-

ants of the crown of Scotland after the death of Alexander

III. Prynne the histori.an thus states liis claim,—"Alex-

ander II. left a bastard daughter, JIargery, who married

Allan Durward, au active, ambitious baron, who died in

1275, leaving three daughters. One of these daughters,

Ermangard, married a Soulis; and of this Soulis was Nicho-

las the competitor." His grand.son, Sir Wiiliam Soulks, is de-

signed Bnlellarhis llcyiis 'm lo'lO. He was one of the Scots

nobles who sent the famous letter to the Pope that year,

asserting the independence of Scotland. He was governor of

Berwick ; but soon after was convicted of treason and for-

I'oited by King Robert the Bruce, and Sir Alexander Seton

was appointed governor of Berwick in his place. He was sen-

tenced to imprisonment for life. Barbour insinuates that the

ol ject of the cons]iirators was to place Soulis on the throne.

The barony of Cavcrton, Roxburgh.shire, also belonged to

the Soulises, one of whom. Lord Soulis, according to tradi-

tion, was boiled alive at the Nine-stane rigg in the p.arish of

Castletown, near his castle of Hermitage. In the town of Kil-

mamock, .Ayrshire, stood Sonli.s's Cro.ss, a stone pillar, eight

or nine feet high, placed at the south entrance of the High

church, and erected to the memory of Lord Soulis, said to

have been an Engli.<li nobleman, who was killed on the spot

in 1444, by an arrow from one of the family of Kilnianiock.

In 1825, the inhabitants rebuilt it by subscription, and pl.aced

a small vase on its top, with the in.scription, "To the Memory
of Lord .Soulis, 1444."

SocTiiicsK, E.arl of, .i title in the peerage of Scotland,

conferred in lG3o, on Sir David Carnegie of Kinnaird. eldest

son of Sir David Carnegie of Panbri(ie, also designed of CuUu-
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thie, by his second wife, and grandson of Sir Robert Carne-

gie of Kinnaird, appointed a lord of session, July 4, 1547,

(see vol. i. p. 593). Sir David was kniglited by James VI.,

and in 1604 nominated one of tlie parliamentary commis-

sioners for tbe projected union betwixt Kngland and Scot-

land. He was also a visitor of the university of St. An-
drews. In the parliament which sat in 1G12, he was one of

the commissioners for the shire of Fife. In 1615 he was a

member of the court of high commission. He was first cre-

ated a peer by tlie title of Lord Carnegie of Kinnaird, 14tli

April 1616, to liim and las lieirs male, bearing the name

and arms of Carnegie. He was constituted an ordinary lord

of session 5th July 1616, and he was one of the royal com-

missioners to the Perth assembly which met 25th August

1G18, when the obnoxious five articles passed. In tlie par-

liament which met soon after, he was appointed commissioner

for the plantation of kirks, as well as for tbe abolition of ho-

reditaiy jurisdictions tlien contemplated by James VI. On

15tb February 1626, he was admitted one of the extraordi-

nary lords of session, and removed 8th February 1 628. At

the coronation of Charles I. in Scotland in 1633, he was cre-

ated earl of Southesk, Lord Carnegie of Kinnaird and Leu-

chars, by patent, bearing date, Holyrood-liouse, 22d June of

that year, tbe preamble narrating the eminent services of his

grandfather and father, with remainder to bis

heirs male for ever. In 1641 he was one of tbe

noblemen selected by the king and parliament

to be privy councillors, and in 1645 he was one

of the committee of estates to whom the whole

management of the country was intrusted, as

also in 1648 and 1651. He held the office of

high sheriff of Forfarshire. In 1654 he was

fined £3,000 by Cromwell's act of grace and

pardon. He died at Kinnaird in Febniary

1658. By his wife, Margaret, d.augbter of Sir

David Lindsay of Edzell, he liad, with six

daugliters, four sons. 1. David, Lord Carne-

gie, who predeceased Iiis fatlier. 2. James,

second earl of Southesk. 3. Hon. Sir John

Carnegie of Crnig. He bad a charter, with his

fatlier, of Ulyshaven or Usan, in 1619, of Fearn

to himself the same year, and of Pittarrow in

the Mearns in 1631. 4 Hon. Sir Alexander

Carnegie of Pittarrow. Lady Magdalen Car-

negie, the youngest daughter, was the wife of

the great marquis of Montrose. The first earl

of Southesk had three brothers. 1. John, first \ .

earl of Northesk. 2. Sir Hobert Carnegie of

Dunnichen and Caraldstone, kniglit. 3. Alex-

ander, ancestor of the Carnegies cf Balnamoon.

Sir David Carnegie of Panbride, their fa-

ther, was brother to Sir John Carnegie of

Kinnaird, who died witliout male issue. Sir David, by

his marriage with F-lizabeth, daughter of William Ram-
say of Collutbie, Fifesliire, obtained the lands of Leu-
chars Ramsay and Collutbie. She was his first wife, and

had two daughters, one of whom got Leucbars Ramsay, and

the other. Margaret, tbe estate of Collutbie. The latter mar-

ried William Dundas of Fingask, and with her husband's

con.sent, slie disponed Collutbie to her father, as her sister

did Leucbars. Sir David Carnegie took for his second wife a

daughter of Wemyss of Wemyss. In 1583 he obtained to

liiniself and Eupheniia Wemyss his wife, a charter of the lands

of Collutbie. According to Archbishop Spottiswoode, Sir

David Carnegie of Collutbie was a wise, pe.aceable, and sober

man, in good credit and estimation with the king, and taken

into tlie privy council for liis knowledge of civil affairs. In

1595 he was constituted one of the eight cominhssioiiers of

the treasury, culled from their number the Octavians.

James, second earl of Southesk, had a charter, in his fa-

ther's lifetime, of the barony of Ros.sie, Forfarshire, 25th

March 1632. In 1650 he waited on Charles II. in Holland,

and in August 1652 was one of the commissioners cliosen for

Scotland to sit in the paiTianient of England. He succeeded

his father in 1658, and in August 1660 he killed tbe master

of Gray in a duel near London. He was sworn a privy coun-

cillor to Charles II., and had a grant of the office of sheriff

of Forfar. He died at Kinnaird in March 1 669. By his wife.

Lady Rachel Ker, relict of Halyburton of Pitcur, and young-

est daugliter of the first earl of Roxburglie, he bad, with two

daughters, a son, Robert, third earl of Southesk.

Robert, 3d earl, was captain in the Scottish guards in

France, and afterwards colonel of the Forfarshire militia.

He had a grant of the office of sheriff of Forfar, to him and

his son, 29th April 1682. He died 19th February 16S8.

He married Lady Anne Hamilton, eldest daughter of the 2d

duke of Hamilton, a lady who figures conspicuously in the

' Memoires de Gr.ammoiit,' in wliich work is an engraving of

her ladyship, from a drawing after Sir Peter Lely. Suljoined

is a woodcut of the seal of James, earl of Southesk:

They had two sons; Charles, fourth earl of Southesk, and

tbe Hon. William Carnegie, killed in a duel at Paris, in 1681,

by William Talmash, son of tlie duchess of Lauderdale.

The fourth earl of Southesk was, on 8th May 1688, served

heir male of his father in his extensive estates in the counties

of Aberdeen, Dumfries, Fife, Forfar, Kincardine, Kirkcud-

bright, Peebles, and Selkirk. Disapproving of the Revolu-

tion, he never went to court or p.arliament after that event,

and died 9th August 1699. By his wife. Lady Mary Mait-

land, second daugliter of the third earl of Lauderdale, he had

J.-imes, fifth earl. This nobleman engaged in tbe rebellion of

1715, and was attainted by act of parlimnent. His estates,

at that time of the annual rental of £3,271, probably about

a tenth of their present value, were forfeited to the crown.
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Ill 1717 an act passed to enable liis majesty to make pro-

vision for liis wife and children. He died in France in 17'2!1.

He married I.ady Margaret Stewart, eldest daughter of the

fifth earl of Galloway, and had a son and a danijliter, who

both died younf;. With this earl the elder branch became

e.\tinct. His countess took fur her second husband John,

master of Sinclair.

The representation of tlie family devolved on Sir James

Carnegie of I'ittarrow, descended from Hon. Sir .'Me.xander

Carnegie of Pittarrow, fourth son of the first earl of Soulhesk.

He died before 1680. By liis wife, Margaret Arbutliiiott,

sister of tlie first Viscount Arb\ithn(itf, he had, with two

daughters, two sons. 1. Sir David, first baronet. 2. Mungo

Carnegie of liirkliill, advocate.

The elder sou, Sir David Carnegie, created a baronet of

Nova Scotia Feb. 2, lliti'i, ?«., first, Catlierine, second dr. of Sir

Areliiliald I'rimrose of Dalmeny, lord-register, sister of the

first earl of Kosebery, by wliom he had a son, Sir John, and two

daughters, the elder ofwhom, Margaret, married Henry Fletcher

of SaUon, and was mother of Andrew Fletcher of Saltmi, a

lord of session under the title of Lord Milton
;
2dly, Catherine,

daughter of Kobert Gordon of Pitlurg, widow of the sec-

ond Viscount Arbiithuott, without issue; 3dly, Jean, daugh-

ter of Burnet of Lngaron, by wliom he had two sons and two

daughters. The eldest son, Sir John Carnegie, 2d baronet,

died in April 1729, leaving, by his wife, Mary, daughter of

Sir Thomas Burnet of Leys, 5 sons and 5 daughters. George,

the youngest son, a merchant at Gotteuburg, purchased the

hinds of Pittarrow, and married in 17C9, Susan, daughter of

David Scott of l!enliolm, Kincardineshire, with is.sue.

Sir James Carnegie of Pittarrow, the eldest son, 3d baronet,

jecame heir male uf the family of Soutliesk, anil was allowed,

by act of parliament, in 17G1, to purch.ise liom the York

Building Company, into whose possession they liad come, the

forfeited estates of the family in Forfarshire, for which he paid

£o(;,870 14s. 2d. He was a captain in the army, and M.P.

for Kincardineshire, and had 4 sons and 2 daughters.

The eldest son. Sir David Carnegie of Kiunaini, 4th baronet,

repurchased several estates of his family in Fifeshire, and re-

built the castle of Kiimaird; M.P. for Forfarshire. He died

in London 25th May 1805. By his wife, Agnes Murray Elliot,

daughter of Andrew Klliot, Esq. of Greenwells, lio.\burgh-

shire, he had 2 sons and 10 daughters. Emma, the 9th daugh-

ter, married Douglas of Cavers; and Magdalene, the youngest,

became, in 18lt), the wife of Sir Andrew Agnew, baronet.

Sir James Carnegie of Kinnaird, the elder son, tlien a mi-

nor, succeeded as .Ttli baronet. Born in 1799, he was at one

time M.P. for the Montrose burghs. He claimed the earldom

of Soutliesk, and died .Ian. 30, 18-19. By his wife, Charlotte,

dr. of liev. Daniel Lysons, F.R.S., of Henisted Court, Glou-

cestershire, author of the Afayna Dritaiinw, he liad 3 sons and

2 daugliteis; 1st, James; 2d, John, b. 1829, lieut., H.N.;

3d, Charles, b. 1833, M.P. for Forfarshire, 18G0; 4th, Lady

Charlotte, b. in 1839, m. in 18G0, Thomas F. S. Fothering-

liam, Ksi)., of Fothringliam; 5tli, Agnes, died in 1842.

His eldest sou. Sir James Carnegie of Kinnaird, born at

Edinburgh in 1827, succeeded .is Gtli baronet. Educated at

Sandhurst military college, he entered the army in 1845. He

served for live mouths in the 92d foot, and was afterwards for

three years in tlie grenadier guards. By the reversal of the

attainder, by act of parliament in 185.5, the titles of carl of

Suuthesk, and Lord Carnegie of Kinnaird and Louchars, which

had been attainted in 171G, were restored to him with the

original precedence, and his brothers and sister were sub-

sequcntlv restored to their relative rank as children of an earl.

He m. in 1849, Lady Catherine Hamilton Koel, 2d daughter

of 1st earl of Gainsborough, and had by her 3 drs.; 1st, Lady

Arabella Charlotte, b. 1850; 2d, Lady Constance JIary, b. in

1851; 3d, Lady Beatrice-Cecilia-Diana, b. in 1852; and one

son, Charles Noel, Lord Carnegie, b. in 1854. Her ladyship

died in 1855. He m. 2dly, in 18G0, Lady Susan Catherine- '

.Mary Murray, eldest daughter of Gth earl of Duumore. The

earl was lord-lieut. of Kincardineshire from 1849 to 185G.
j

SPAL])IX(J, Joiix, aiitlior of ' ^Iciiioi-ialls of
'

tlie Tniblos in Scotland and in England from
j

tlic year 1G2-1 to 10-15,' was commissaiy-clcrk of
j

Abcnlecn in the reign of Cliarle.s I. He is de-
j

scribed also as a lawyer or advocate in Aberdeen. !

His work was first jirinted in 1792 from a man-
;

nscrijit jireserved in the library of the King's col- !

lege, Aberdeen. In 1829 a new edition was pub-

lished at Aberdeen in one volmne 8vo, and in 1828 I

and 1829 another was iiriiitcil by the Baiiiiatyiie
!

Club, under the editorship of Mr. Skene of Riibis-

law. The name of Spalding, of whose personal

history scai-cely anything is known, lias been

adopted as the designation of an antiquarian club I

instituted in Aberdeen in December 1839. Lord

Saltoun, one of its members, printed, as his con-

tribution to the Club, an edition, said to be the

onh- correct one, of SjialdiDg's ' IMeinorialls,' from

a copy in the collection of the earl of Fife, at

Skene iiouse, in 2 vols. 4to. 1850.
'

According to Kisbct, {Ileraldnj, vol. i. p. 114.)
j

the lii'St of tlie name of Spalding in Scotland was
j

an Englishman who assisted Sir Thomas Eau-
j

dolph, earl of Moray, in rescuing Berwick from
[

the English in 1318, for which service he got

lands in Scotland. Eichard Spalding had a char-

ter of confirmation from Prince David, the unfor-

tunate duke of Rothesay, eldest son of Eobert

IlL, of Lumlctham and Craigaw, Fifeshire.

SrKiP.s, a suiTiame, sometimes written Spears, having re.*"-

erence evidently to that well-known military weapon, tlie

lance. A band of spearmen was numbered by their spears,

just as 500 c.av.-ilry are now styled 500 sabres.

In Heiifrewshire are the families of Spier of Burnbrae, and

Speir of Blackstoun, as also Speirs of Elderslic.

In 17G0, the lands of Inch near Hcnfrew were puich.-ised by

Alexander Speirs, Esq., an eminent merchant in Glasgow, and

in 1769 he bought from Mrs. Campbell of Succoth, mother of

Sir Hay Campbell, baronet, lord- president of the court of ses-

sion, the estate of Elderslie in the same county, with which

the name of Sir William Wallace is so intimately associ-

ated. That lady was of the hero's name and lineage, being

the only child and lieirc.is of John Wallace of Elderslie. Jlr.

Speirs having in 1777-82 built .i spacious mansion-house at
[

Hich, g.ave it the name of Elderslie house, from the estate
, I

whence he took his designation. He died in 1782. His

eldest surviving son, Archibald, in early life held a commis-
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hioii ill tlie 3d (irasiooii gu:inis, and from 1810 to 1818, was

M.P. for Renfrewsliire. He dii'd in 1832, and was succeeiied

by his eldest son, Alexander Speirs, Esq. of Elderslie, at one

period lord-iieiitenant of the county, and M.P. for Richmond.

He died in 1844.

His only son, Arcliibald Alexander, born in 1840, was edu-

cated at Eton ; a lieutenant Scots fusilier guards, and a ma-

gistrate for Renfrewshire.

Spexs, or SpENCE, .1 surname, originally a Fifesliire one,

derived from a word, meaning in Scotland, a spare room be-

side tlie kitclien, and in England, a yard, an enclosure, a

buttery. The family of Spens of Lathallan, of great anti-

quity in thai county, from their carrying tlie lion rampant of

JlacdufF in tlieir arms, arc said to have been descended from

the old earls of Fife. Of the Spences of Wolmerston, or Wor-

mieston, in the parish of Crail, we have the following notices

;

Tlie Spences of Wormieston adhered to tlie cause of Queen

JIary, and at the parliament held by the regent Lennox at

Stirling, 28th August 1571, David Spence of Wormieston

was amongst the " rebels" forfeited. He is described as one of

tlie most able and upright characters of the period. In the

daring attempt to surprise the parliament at Stirling, on the

4th September, planned by Kirkaldy of Grange, he had re-

ceived from the latter the charge of securing the regent and

saving his life at every risk, and after the regent had surren-

dered, he e.xecuted liis charge so faitlifully that when at-

tacked by his murderers, he received through his own body

the bullet by which Lennox was mortally wounded. Wor-

mieston was afterwards barbarously hacked to pieces by the

king's party who came to the rescue, although tlie wounded

Lennox repeatedly called to spare his life. After James VL
had succeeded to the throne of England, Sir James Spence of

Wormieston was sent ambassador to the king of Sweden,

with the view of effecting a peace between that monarch and

the king of Denmark. The barony of Wormieston after-

wards came into possession of the Lindsays.

Count de Spens, wlio was ranked .amongst the first of the

nobility in Sweden, and was generalissimo of the Swedish

forces, was a descendant of tlie house of Wormieston.

It is not improbable that Sir Patrick Spens, of the ancient

ballad which bears that name, was a baron of Wormieston. The

occasion of the ballad was the expedition which conveyed the

princess JIargaret, daughter of King Alexander III., to Nor-

way in 1281, when she was espoused to Eric, king of tliat

country. " In returning liome," saj's Fordoun in his History

of Scotliind, " after the celebration of her nuptials, the abbot

of Balmerinocli, Bernard of Monte-alto, and many other per-

sons were drowned." The command of the sliip that bore

the princess to Norway, was given to Sir Patrick Spens, as

" tlie best sailor

Tliat ever sailed the sea
;"

and the gallant commander and all his company are repre-

sented as having been lost on their homeward voyage:

" Sir Patrick he is on the sea,

And far out ower the faem,

Wi' five and fifty Scots lords' sons

That longed to be at h.ime."

Midway between Norw.iy and the coast of Fife, they were

all caat away

" Half ower, half ower, to Aberdour."

Sir Walter Scott preferred to read it,

" 0 forty miles off" Aberdeen,"

remarking that in a voyage from Norway, a shipwreck

on the north coast appears as probable as either in the

fritli of Forth or Tay. But as Aberdour was tlie nearest

port to Dunfermline, where the Scottish monarchs chiefly

resided from the time of Malcolm Canmore to that of Alex-

ander III., .and as the royal commissioners, Wemyss of We-

my.ss and Scott of Balwearie, sent to escort tlie young prin-

cess to her husband, belonged to Fife, it seems more likely

that tlie common reading is tlie correct one :

" Half ower, half ower, to Aberdour,

Full lifty fathoms deep.

And there lies gude Sir Patrick Spens,

Wi' the Scotch lords at his feet."

Tlie immediate ancestor of the Lath.allan family was Hen-

ry de Spens, who flourished in the end of tlie thirteenth cen-

tur\-. Like most of the other Scots barons he was compelled

to swear fe.alty to Edward I. in 1296. Contemporary with

him was Nicol de Spens, who was also forced to swear alle-

giance to that imperious monarch. Henry died soon after

1300. His son, Thomas de Spens, is mentioned in two

charters, in the reign of Robert Bruce, to the monastery of

Soltray. His son and successor, William cie Spens, had

two sons, William liis heir, and Walter de Spens, witness in

a writ of the bishop of Aberdeen in 1382. William, the elder

son, was proprietor of the lands and barony of Lathallan,

and several others iu the same county, of which the earls of

Fife were superiors till tlie forfeiture of Murdacli duke of

Albany and earl of Fife in 1425, .after which the family held

the Lands of tlie crown. He died about 1432, at an advanced

.age. He married Isabel, daughter and heiress of Duncan

Campbell of Glen Douglas, Tarbet, Dunib.artonshire. In

consequence of tliis marri.age the Spens' of Lath.allan, with

several cadets of the fiimily, added to their arms gijronny of

eight, the paternal coat of Argyle. With one daughter, he

had two sons, .Tolm, his heir, .and Willi.am, first of tlie Spens'

of Kilspindy, Perthshire, who flourished principally iu the

reigns of James I. and II., but have long been extinct.

John de Spens, the elder son, in his father's lifetime was

designed of Glen Douglas, and he retained that designation

with that of Lathallan, as long as he lived. He is described

as having been a person of great p.arts and spirit, and ex-

tremely active in business. In 1434, he was chosen one of

the lords of the articles in a full parliament held at Perth by

King J.ames I. He died in the beginning of the reign of

James II. By his wife, Is.abel, daughter of Sir John We-

mvss of Rires, progenitor of the carls of Wemyss, he h.ad four

sons. 1. Alexander, his heir. 2. Robert, of Pittedie, Fife-

shire. 3. Tliomas, bishop of Galloway, a learned prelate,

appointed in 1458 lord-privy-seal for Scotland. The follow-

ing ye.ar, on being translated to the see of Aberdeen, he re-

signed the pri\T seal, but in 14G8 received it again, and held

it till 1471. Being very prudent and expert in business.

Bishop Spens was employed in several embassies, particularly

in the treaty of m.arriage between the duke of Savoy and

Lewis, Count de Maurienne, his son, with Anabelha, sister of

King James II., in 1449, and on 27th July 1451, he w.as ap-

pointed ambassador from Scotland to negotiate a trace with

England. There is an efHgy of Bishop Spens in the collegi-

ate church of Roslin. He erected an hospital at Edinburgh,

where he died, and was buried in the Trinity college church-
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:it tlie fciot of Leitli Wynd in 14S0. 4. Patrick, an offi-

cer ill tlie company of Scots !;iiani.s, sent from Scotland liv

King James II. to Cli:irlcs VII. of France in 1450. He was

ancestor of tlie family of Spens- Destignots of France.

The eldest son, Alexander Spens of Latlialhin, was by

James II. appointed liigli constable of the town of Crail for

life, and got a charter of the same, dated 20th December

1458. By his wife, Katherine, sister of Sir Andrew Wood of

Largo, lie liad a son, Robert Spens of Lathallan, who died

before 1474. The hitter left a son and .successor, John Spens

of I.atli.-dlan, who died in 1494. He married JIargaret,

daugliter of Patrick Dunbar of Kilconquhar, son and lieir of

the twellth earl of Marcli. Donglas, in his ISarontige, states

tliat as lie could discover no descendant of that family in ex-

istence, excepting those of the said Marg;iret, the Speii.s' of

Latliallan are undoubtedly the heirs of lino of that great and

illustrious house. Jolm Spens of Lathallan had two sons

;

John, his heir, and David, rector of Flisk, who got a charter

under the great seal of tlie lands of Muirton, dated 12th

June, 1513. The elder son, John Spens of Lathallan, was

retoured heir to his father in 1495, and died i:i 1520. His

son, Alexander Spens of Latliallan, married a lady of the an-

cient family of Durie, and with a daughter, Lilias, Mrs. Ar-

iiot of tlie house of Balcormo, had a son, James Spens of

Lathallan, who, by prudence and economy, greatly improved

his estate. By his wife, Elizabeth, daughter of Jolm Seton of

Lathrisk, the latter had four sons, and died at an advanced age

in 1505. The second but eldest surviving son, Arthur Spens

of Lathallan, married Janet, daughter of William Dudding-

ston of St. Ford, .'ind left a son, Alexander Spens of Lath-

allan, who married Isabel Bethune, a daughter of the family

of Crcigh, but having no issue, lie made a resignation of his

whole estate, 14tli October 1009, in favour of his uiuioubted

heir male, his uncle, Alexander Spens of the city of St. An-

drews, third son of James Spens of Lathallan, by Klizabeth

Seton. Alexander Spens, wlio thus succeeded to Lathallan,

li.ad three sons. 1. Thomas, his heir. 2. James, writer in

Kdinburgh. o. Alexander. The eldest son, Thomas Spens

of Lathallan, living in ICIO, married JIargaret, daughter of

Nathaniel Jloncrieff of Randerston, and had three sons and

two daughters. Alexander, the eldest son, predeceased his

father. Nathaniel, the second son, was retoured heir in

1G62. He married a daughter of Sir Thomas Gourl.-iy of

Kincraig, and had a son and successor, Thomas Spens of

Lathallan, who died before 1700. The latter married liis

cousin, Margaret Gourlay, grand-daughter of Sir Thomas

Gourlay, and had two sons; Thomas, his heir, and the Rev.

Nathaniel Spens, a clergyman of the Episcopal church of

Scotland.

The elder son, Thomas Spens of L.athallan, in.anied Janet,

daughter of Sir Robert Douglas of Glenbervie, baronet, and

had iive sons and three daughters. Nathaniel, the fourth

son, was the first of the Spens' of Craigsanqnhar. The

eldest son, Thomas Spens of Lathallan, married Margaret,

daugliter of Archibald Hope, Esq., of the Craigh.all family,

and had three sons and three daughters. His eldest son,

Thomas Spens, Esq., succeeded his father, 9th May 1758.

He sold the ancient patrimonial estate of Lathallan, and

died, unmarried, in 1800, when the representation of the

family devolved on his brother, Archibald Spens of Manor

House, Invercsk,lieut.-col, East India Company's service, horn

22d June 1705, died in Jlay 1845. By his wife, Charlotte,

second daughter of Aiimdel Phillip, Esq. of Exeter, he had

three sons and two daughters. The eldest son, .'\rchil)ald,

East India Company's civil service, Bombay establishment,

born 17th August 1809, married ISth March 1829, Hemi-

etta Ochterlony, eldest daughter of Sir Thomas Malcolm,

K.C.B. and K.G., with issue, three sons and two daughters.

Nathaniel Spens, JI.D. of Edinburgh, younger son of Tlio-

mas Spens, the sixteenth laird of Lathallan, purchased in

1792, the estate of Craigsanquhar, Fifeshire, which at one

period formed part of Lathallan, but had been disjoined from

it in 1524. By his wife, Mary, second daughter of James

Milliken, Esq. of Millikcn, Renfrewshire, Dr. Spens had

James, his heir; Thomas, M.D., fellow of the Royal College

of Physicians, Edinburgh, and first physician to the royal

infirmarv' of that city ; two other .sons, and a daughter. The

eldest son. Lieutenant-colonel James Spens, 73d regiment,

became, in 1700, proprietor of Craigsanquhar. He was three

times married, but had issue an\y by his third wife, a daugh-

ter of .lolm Davidson, Esq. of Ravelrig, Mid Lothian, by his

wife, Hannah, sister of Henry Mackenzie, author of 'The

Man of Feeling,' and died in 1840. With one daughter,

Hannah, Mrs. Monypenny of the Pitniilly family, he had two

sons, Nathaniel, his lieir, and John, M.D., fellow of the

Royal College of Physicians, Edinburgh. The elder son,

Nathaniel Spens of Craig.s.-inquhar, born ISth February 1805,

became a writer to the signet in 1830. He married 23d

Januaiy 1840, Jliss Janet Law Guild, with issue. His only

surviving son, Colin, was born 0th November 1843.

The Spences of Boiiham, Aberdeenshire, says Donglas,

have been free barons ever since the reign of James III.

Sever.al other families of the name of Spence in the same

county, also, the Spences of Berryhole, Fifeshire, are all de-

scended from the family of Lathallan.

In the reign of Queen JIary, Sir John Spence of Condie

was lord advocate He favoured the Reformers, and in De-

cember 15G3, wlien .John Knox was indicted for h.iving

written his famous letter to the leading Protestants, which,

to gratify the queen, the privy council declared to be trea-

sonable, he went in secret to Mr. Knox, and after he had

heard his declaration, and considered the letter, he said, " I

thank God, I came to you with a fearful and sorrowful heart,

fearing you had committed some offence punishable by the

law.s, which would have brought no small grief to the hearts

of all those who have received the word of life out of your

mouth. But I depart greatly rejoicing, as well because I

perceive you have comfort in the midst of your troubles, as

that I clearly understand you have not committed such a

crime as is bruited you will be accused of; but God will as-

sist you." The queen, s.ays Calderwnod, (vol. ii. pp. 234,

237,) commanded him to accuse, which he did, but very

gentlv. Knox, it is well known, was acquitted, greatly to

poor Jlary's chagrin.

SroTTiswoor>, a local surname, assumed from the lands

.and barony of that name in Berwickshire. The family of

Spottiswoode of Spottiswoode are descended from Robert

Spoftiswood, lord of Spottiswood, who was born in the

reign of Alexander III., and died in that of Robert the

Bince. His son, John Spottiswood of Spottiswood, was

witness, in the reign of David II., to a charter of Alexander

Lindsay of Onniston. He had a son, Robert Spottiswood

of Spottiswood, who married a daughter of the ancient

fiimily of Leighton of Vlysh.aven or Usan, Forfarshire, and

was father of Henry Spottiswood of that ilk. The Latter

died in the end of the reign of .Lames II. His son,

James Spottiswood of Spottiswood, was foi-fcited for his ad-

herence to James III. He was, however, restored to his
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estate hj James IV. This baron's son, Williiim Spottis-

wood of Spottiswood, fell at Floduen, in September 1513.

By liis ivife, Elizabeth, daughter of Henry Hop-Pringle of

Torsonce, he had, with two younger children, two sons, Da-

vid, his successor, who died toward the end of the reign of

James V. ; and John, superintendent of Lothian, a memoir

of whom is given below in larger type. The latter mar-

ried Beatrix, daughter of Patrick Crighton of Lugton and

GUmerton, and had, with one daughter, two sons, John,

archbishop of St. Andrews, who carried on the line of tlie

family, and James, appointed bishop of Clogher in Ireland

in 1621, who dying in London in 16-14, was buried in West-

minster Abbey. The descendants of his son, Sir Henry
Spottiswood, still continue in Ireland.

David Spottiswood of Spottiswood left an only son, Nin-

ian Spottiswood of Spottiswood, who was served heir to his

father in 1550 ; and left two sons. William, his successor,

died unmarried in luO-i. John succeeded his brother, and

died soon after, without issue.

The representation of the family devolved on his cousin,

John Spottiswood, archbishop of St. Andrews, a memoir of

whom is given on page 466 in larger type. This eminent

prelate sold, in 1620, the estate of Spottiswood to a family

of the name of Bell. He nianied Rachel, a daughter of Da-

vid Lindsay, D.D., bishop of Ross, and with a daughter,

Anne, wife of William Sinclair of Roslin, had two sons, Sir

Jolin, and Sir Robert. The elder son succeeded to the estate

of Dairsle, Fifeshire, which had been purchased by his father,

and was one of the gentlemen of the bedchamber to James

VI. His only son, Mi-. John Spottiswood, was a faithful

adherent of Charles I., and having joined the marquis of

jMontrose, was taken prisoner with him, tried, condemned,

and executed for high treason in 1650. Of Sir Robert, the

second son, president of the court of session and secretary of

state for Scotland, beheaded 16th January 1646, a memoir is

inserted at page 468, in larger type. By his wife, Bethia,

eldest daughter of Sir Alexander Morrison of Prestongrange,

a lord of session, Sir Robert had, with three daughters, three

sons. 1. John, who died, unmarried, before the Restoration.

2. Alexander. 3. Robert, physician to the governor and gar-

rison of Tangier, and author of a ' Catalogue of Plants grow-

ing within the fortifications of Tangier in 1673,' inserted in

the Philosophical Transactions for 1696 (Abr. iv. p. 85).

He died in 1688, leaving an only son, Alexander, born in

lb'7C. a general in the army, appointed governor of Virginia

in 1710. The latter married and left issue.

Sir Robert's second son, Alexander Spottiswood, advocate,

succeeded to the representation of the family, and died in 1675.

His only surviving son, John Spottiswood, an eminent advo-

cate, was professor of law in the university of Edinburgh.

He purchased back, in 1700, the lands and barony of Spot-

tiswood from the heirs of the Bells, after they had been

eighty years out of the family. He was the author of the

following works on j urispiTidence : 'Introduction to the

Knowledge of the Style of Writs, simple and compound,

made use of in Scotland,' Edin. 1707, 4to; 'The Form of

Process before the Lords of Council and Session : to which is

prefixed, the Present State of the College of Justice,' Edin.

1711, 8vo; 'The Law concerning Election of Members in

Scotland to sit and vote in the Parliament of Great Britain
;

second edit, corrected and au*^niented with several Acts and

Statutes relative to Elections,' Edin. 1722, 12mo; ' Notes on

Hope's Minor Practicks, and an Account of all the Religious

Houses in Scotland at the Reformation,' Edin. 1734, 12mo.

His only son, John Spottiswoode of Spottiswoode, had three

sons and three daughters. The eldest son, John Spottis-

woode of Spottiswoode, married, June 10, 1779, JIargaret Pe-

nelope, daughter of William Strahan, Esq., the eminent print-

er of London, and had 6 sons and 3 daughters. He died Feb.

3, 1805. The sons were, 1. John, his heir. 2. William, died

unmarried. 3. George, of Gladswood, Berwickshire, lieut.-col.

in the army, who died in Sept. 1857. 4. Andrew, of Broom

Hall, Surrey, married JIary, daughter of T. N. Longman,

Esq., of the publishing house of Longmans and Co., with is-

sue, 2 sons, William, of the house of Eyre and Spottiswoode,

printers to the Queen, London, and George, and 3 daughters.

5. Robert, and 6. Henry, both d ed unmarried.

The eldest son, John Spottiswoode of Spottiswoode, born

June 17, 1780, married, Sept. 13, 1809, Helen, 2d daughter

of Andrew Wauchope of Niddrie Marisclial, issue, 2 sons,

J(din and Andrew, officers in the army, and 2 daughters,

Alicia Anne, mamed in 1836, Lord John Douglas Montague

Scott, only brother of the duke of Buccleuch, and Margaret

Penelope, who, in 1834, became the wife of Sir Hugh Hume
Campbell of .Marchniont, bart., and died Oct. 16, 1839. The

name is now spelled with a final e. Heir, Andrew, boiu in

1812, a colonel in the army, and commanding the Istdr.agoon

guards, married, in 1844, Jane Emily, dr. of Lieut.-col. Wm.
Campbell, 9th lancers.

The Spottiswoodes of Jluiresk, Aberdeenshire, are a branch

of the family of Spottiswoode of that ilk.

SPOTTISWOOD, or Spotswood, John, super-

intendent of Lothian, descended from an ancient

family of that name in the Merse, as above shown,

was born in 1510. He was scarce!}' four years of

age when liis father was slain at Flodden. In June

1534 he was entered a student at the university

of Glasgow, where he applied himself chiefly to

the study of divinity, and took the degree of M.A.

Having imbibed the doctrines of the Reformation,

and perceiving the danger of professing them open-

ly, he went to England in 1538, and at London was

introduced to Archbishop Cranmer, by whom he

was admitted into holy orders. In January 1543,

on the return of the Scots nobles who had been

taken prisoners at Solwaj' Moss, he came back to

Scotland, in company of the earl of Glencairn,

with whom he resided for several years. In 1544

he was employed b}' the young earl of Lennox in

a private mission to the English court, relative to

his marriage with the Lady Margaret Douglas,

niece of Henry VIII., in which he was successful.

In 1547 he was presented to the parsonage of

Calder, by Sir James Sandilands, afterwards the

first Lord Torphichen, a zealous promoter of the

Ilcformation. In 1558 he accompanied Lord

James Stewart, afterwards the Regent Murray,

and the other parliamentary commissioners, to

Paris, to witness the marriage of the young Queen

i\Iary to the dauphin of France. On the estab-

lishment of the Presbyterian religion in Scotland,
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lie was one of tlie six iiiiiiistcrs appointed hy tlic

lords of the congi-C!?ation to prepare tlic First

V)0()k of Discipline, and lie also assisted in fVaniin;;

tlie old Confession of FaiUi. When eccle.-^iastical

superintendents were, in July 1500, placed over

the different districts, I\Ir. Spottiswood was ap-

pointed to superintend the counties of Lothian,

Berwick, and Teviotdale ; and to this office he

was formally admitted in the following March.

On this occasion John Knox presided and preach-

ed the sermon. In all the i)ublic proceedings of

the church he now bore an active part, and on the

birth of James YI. in June 156G, he was sent by

the General Assembly to congratulate Queen Ma-

ry on the auspicious event, and to desire that the

])riuce "might be baptized according to the form

nsed in the Ilcfornied church." He was graci-

ously received bj^ her majesty, who commanded

that tlu; child should be brought and jilaced in his

arms, on which, kneeling down, he offered up a

prayer for the young prince's hai)iMness and pros-

perity. Although the queen was much touched

b}' this affecting incident, she did not comjily with

the request of the Assembly. At the coronation

of the 3'oung king, at Stirling, 29th Juh' 15G7,

the crown was placed upon his head by the super-

intendents of Lothian and Angus, and the bishop

of Orkney. On the escape of Queen IMary from

Lochleven, in May L')GS, he published an admo-

nition, addressed to all within his bonnds, declar-

ing that that "wicked woman, whose iniqnity,

knowcn and lawfully convict, dcserveth more than

ten deaths," had been most justly deposed, and

denouncing and warning all Protestants against

assisting her cause. In Calderwood's ' Historic

of the Kirk of Scotland,' (vol. ii. p. 478.) it is

stated, that in the General Assembly which met

25th February 15GS, "Mr. Johne Spotswod, su-

perintendent of Lothiane, M as delated for slack-

nesse in visitationns, &c. lie allcdged non-pay-

ment of his stipend for three years bypast ; and

that diverse times he had exhibited to the justice-

clerk the names of haynous offenders, but could

find no execution." In 1574: he and the superin-

tendents of Angus antl Strathearn dcniitted their

offices, but the Assembly did not accept of the

same, but continued them. At the next Assem-

bly he again gave in his demission, " partly be-

lli.

cause he was unable to travel, partly because he

received no stipend." lie was again requested to

c(uitinue in the office, and at the Assembl}' which

nu't at Edinburgh 24th April 1576, he was com-

plained npon for having inangurated the bishop

of Ross in the abbey of Ilolyrood-house, after

being admonished by his brethren not to do it.

He admitted his fault. In a subsequent Assembly',

that of the lOlh October 1583, the synod of Lo-

thian craved that the Assembly take order with

Mr. John Spottiswoode for setting the tack of

his benefice, without consent of the Assembly.

His health had for some time been impaired,

which rendered him unable to overtake the active

superintendence of the churches in his extensive

district, and as he had for several years received

no slipend or remuneration for his labours, on

16th December 1580, a pension A\ as granted to

him and his second son for three years of £46 9s.

Gd., besides an allowance for grain, and this grant

was renewed, November 26, 1583, for fn e years.

He died December 5, 1585, in his 76th year.

SrOTTISAVOOD, John, a distinguished pre-

late, archbishop of St. Andrews, eldest son of the

preceding, was born in 15G5. Tlie house of

Greenbaiik near the village of IMid Caldcr, Edin-

burghshire, is mentioned as his birthplace. He

was educated at the nniversitj- of Glasgow, study-

ing languages and philosophy uudii' James Mel-

ville, and divinit}' under his nncle, Andrew Jlel-

ville, then principal. lie took his degree in his

sixteenth year, and at eighteen succeeded his fa-

ther as minister at Caldcr. In IGOl, he attended

Ludowick, duke of Lennox, as chaplain in an em-

bass}' to France, when he is said to have been

present with him during the celebration of mass.

LTpon the accession of James VI. to the throne

of England, in lGO;i, he was among those who

were appointed to attend liis majcst}" to his

new dominions ; and the same year, on the

death at Paris of James Bethnne, the last Ro-

man Catholic archbishop of Glasgow, he was

advanced to the archbishopric of Glasgow, and

sworn a member of the priv}- council in Scot-

land. The king also ajipointed him to attend tlie

queen on her journey to England as her almoner.

He zealously promoted the designs of the court

for the cstablislimciit of episcopacv in Scot-
2 I
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liiial, ;ind in 160G was one of the four Scots pre-

lates summoned by tlie king to assist at the fa-

mous Hampton Court conference for settling the

peace of the cliurch, held in his own presence,

20tli September that year. He is supposed to liave

made no less than fifty journeys to London, chiefly

on that account, and for tlie purpose of increasing

the I'eveuues of his see. In 1615 he was translated

to St. Andrews, and in consequence became primate

of Scotland. The ensuing year, he had very nearly

come into collision with the primate of England,

the archbishop of Canterbury, on the following

account. The marquis of Huntl}^ who had been

excommunicated by the General Assembly of

the Church of Scotland for his adhesion to poperj-,

had gone to London, and at the desire of the

king, in the presence and with the consent of

the bishop of Caithness, was absolved by tlie

archbishop of Canterbury, and admitted to the

communion, in the chapel at Lambctli, on the Sth

July. I\Ir. Stephen, in his History of the (Epis-

copal) Church of Scotland, (vol. i. p. 474,) thus

narrates what followed: "Tlie news of this cre-

ated a considerable sensation in Scotland, and was

considered as a practical revival of the old claim

of supremacy which the archbishops of York had

formerly set up, but which had been always no-

bly resisted. On the 12th of July, Archbishop

Spottiswood noticed it in his sermon, in St. Giles',

and said that the king had provided that the like

should not fall out hereafter. Archbishop Spot-

tiswood wrote a long letter of remonstrance to the

king, who condescended to apologise and explain,

among other things, that ' all that was done was

with a due acknowledgment and reservation of tlio

power and independent authority of the Church

of Scotland.' Still farther to allay the justly

aroused indignation of the Scottish church, the

archbishop of Canterbury wrote to the archbisliop

of St. Andrews by the king's desire, and, as he

said, ' that the archbishop's letter, written to that

effect, should be put upon record, and kept as a

perpetual monument for ages to come.'

"

Archbishop Spottiswood continued in high fa-

vour with James VI. during his whole reign. His

'History of the Church and State of Scotland'

was written at his command. He was the means

of carrying the obnoxious five article? of Perth, in

the assembly liekl in tliat city, August 25, 1618.

He was also held in much esteem by his son,

Charles I., who, in 1629, wrote to his privy council

in Scotland, and appointed the archbishop of

St. Andrews to take precedence of the lord-

chancellor in tlie council and in public. This

gave deep offence to the carl of Kinnoul, who

was then chancellor, and also increased the irri-

tation of the nobilitj' against the episcopal or-

der. At the coronation of Charles in the Abbey

church of Holyrood-liouse in 1G33, Archbishop

Spottiswood had the honour of placing the crown

upon his head. Having, by means of one Peter

Hay of Naughton, in Fife, obtained possession of

the copy of a statement of grievances, a duplicate of

which was in the hands of Lord Balmerino, and had

been intended for presentation to the parliament,

Archbishop Spottiswood hastened with it to the
j

king, who had returned to London. Balmerino

was forthwith brought to trial under the statute
|

of leasiiig-making, and chiefly through the influ-

j

ence of the archbishop and his son Sir Kobert,
|

president of the court of session, condemned to 1

death. The whole proceedings, however, were so
[

unpopular that it was found expedient to pardon
j

Balmerino. (See vol. i. p. 229.)
j

In 1G35, on the deatli of the earl of Kinnoul,

he was appointed lord-chancellor of Scotland.

He was present in the Cathedral church of St.

Giles', Edinburgh, on the 23d July 1637, when

the memorable riot took place on the reading of

the liturgy, and when Jenny Geddes threw her

stool at the officiating bishop's head. Archbishop

Spottiswood, from his seat in the gallery, com- i

manded the provost and magistrates to suppress

the riot. The following year, when the national

resistance to the introduction of the liturgy had

shown itself unequivocally, he assembled the privy

council at Stirling, and on the same day, at ten

o'clock, read the king's proclamation at the mar-

ket cross, expressive of his majesty's intentions in

the matter of the liturgy and book of canons, pro-

mising a full pardon of all past offences, enjoining

peaceable behaviour, and commanding all stran-

gers to quit Stirling on six hours' notice, under

pain of rebellion. Soon after, on being informed

of the proceedings of the Covenanters, he said,

" Now all that we have been doing these thirty
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years past is tlirovvii ilowu at once ;" and (earing

violence to liis person from tlie fnry of tlie i-abble,

lie retired to Newcastle. On the abolition of

episcopacy at tiie celebrated Glasgow Assembly

of 1C38, wlien the censure and excommunication

of the bisliops came in hand, Arclibisliop Spottis-

wood did not escai)e. lie was charged witli

" profaning the Sabbatli, carding and diccing,

riding tlirougli the country the wliole day, tippling

and drinking in taverns till midnight, falsifying

the acts of Aberdeen Assembly, lying and slan-

dering the old Assembly and Covenant in his

wicked book, of adidtery, incest, sacrilege, and

frequent simony. lie was dei)Osed, and decreed

to be exconnnunicutcd." Of all these charges,

Arclilii.>li'>p Si)otli»wooJ.

particularly the gravest of them, it is not vciy

probable that he was guilty, but in the excite-

ment of the period there was little delicacy used

in accusing an opponent. From Newcastle, where

be remained some time, the archbishop wrote to

the king, earnestly soliciting iiermission to resign

his office of lord-cliancellor, which had been con-

ferred on him for life by patent. Charles accept-

ed his resignation, and wrote with his own hand

nn affectionate letter of thanks for his past ser-

vices. Age, fatigue of bod}-, and grief of mind,

threw him into a fever, and on liis I'ccovery he

went to London, where he had a relapse. During

his illness, which A\ as to prove his last, he re-

ceived the holy eommiuiion I'rom the archbishop

of Canterbury, and was visited by many persons

of distinction, and jiarticularly by the marquis

of Hamilton, the king's commissioner to the Glas-

gow Assembly. He died November 2Ct!i, 1639,

and was buried in "Westminster abbey. His body

was followed to the grave by a large body of the

Scottish and English nobility then in London,

with all the king's sei'vants ; the funeral proces-

sion, attended by 800 torches, being met at the

west door by the dean and in-ebendaries in their

robes. Archbishop Spottiswood published the

following works

:

Rcfutatio I.ibelli Jc Ilegiiiiiiie Kcclesicc Scotic.iiia!. Loud.

lG-20, 12mo.

History of tlie Cliurch and State of Scotland, from tlie

year of our Lord 203, to the end of tlie reign of King James

VL 1G25. Loud. IGoo, fol. The same. 1G77, fol. A work

composed witli great impartiality.

SPOTTISWOOD, Sm Robei-.t, an eminent

lawyer and judge, author of ' The Practicks of tlic

Law of Scotland,' second son of the preceding,

was boiMi in 15'JG. lie was educated at the gram-

mar-school of Glasgow, and in 1C09 was sent to

the university of that city, where four years after-

wards he took the degree of M.A. From Glas-

gow he removed to Exeter college, Oxford, and

studied nnder the celebrated Dr. Prideaux. On

quitting Oxford he made the tour of France, Ita-

ly, and Germany, studying the laws of those

countries, as well as tlie civil and canon law, and

theology, in which he was deeply A'ersed. He is

also said to have been well skilled in the Hebrew,

Chaldaic, Syriac, and Arabic languages, and in

most of the European tongues. AVhilc at Rome

he recovered the famous ' Black Book of Paisley,'

and other manuscripts and records of the Roman

Catholic church which had been carried abroad

from Scottish monasteries at the time of the Re-

formation. On his return from the Continent,

after an absence of nine years, he was graciouslj-

received at the Englisli court by James I., who

appointed him one of the cxtraordinaiy judges of

the court of session, when he assumed the title of
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Lord New-Abbc}', from the barony of tliat name

in Galloway, which had been conferred on him by

the archbishop his father. On the accession of

Charles I. he was nominated an ordinary lord of

session, February 1-1, 1626, and on the death of

Sir James Skene, in November 1633, he was cho-

sen president of the court. Having disposed o*"

the estate of New-Abbey to King Charles, whc

bestowed it on the newlj' erected bishopric of Ed-

inburgh, he assumed the name of Lord Duni-

pace, from an estate he had purchased in Stirling-

shire.

Li 1637, when the Scots nation commenced that

resolute opposition to the oppressive measures of

the king, which ended in the overthrow of episco-

pacy. Sir Robert Spottiswood, who, from his big-

oted partizanship, had rendered himself obnoxious

to his countrymen, was obliged to quit the king-

dom, when he attached himself closely to the

king's person. On Charles visiting Scotland in

1641, the Estates petitioned his majesty to remove

Sir Robert Spottiswood from his person and coun-

cils, a request with which he was obliged to com-

ply. In 1645, however, he was recalled by the

king, and appointed secretary of state for Scot-

land, in which capacity he signed the commission

of the marquis of Montrose, as lieutenant-governor

and captain-general of all his majesty's forces in

Scotland, with power to summon a parliament, to

meet at Glasgow, and to confer the honour of

knighthood. Being himself the bearer of this com-

mission, as he could not travel by any of the ordi-

nar}' roads without risk of apprehension, he took

a circuitous route from Oxford. Passing through

Wales, and embarking at the island of Anglesey,

he crossed over to the Isle of Man. Thence he

sailed for the West Highlands, and landed in

Lochabei'. Proceeding into Athol, he was con-

ducted by a party of Athol-men to the marquis of

Montrose, then at Bothwell Moor. lie accompanied

the royalist army till its defeat at Philiphaugh,

where he was taken prisoner, September 13, 1645,

with only his walking-cane in his hand. He was

arraigned before the parliament which met, accord-

ing to adjournment, at St. Andrews. Witli Colonel

Nathaniel Gordon, the Hon. William Murray, and

Captain Guthrie, also prisoners. Sir Robert Spottis-

wood pleaded exemption from trial, on the ground
,

of " quarter," but after three hours' debate, on the

10th January 1646, the parliament overruled this

defence, and the committee of estates found them

all " guilty of high treason against the states of

the kingdom." His three fellow-prisoners were

condemned to death under an act passed the pre-

ceding year, declaring that all persons who after

having subscribed the Covenant, should withdraw

from it, should be held as guilty of high treason.

But as Sir Robert Spottiswood had not subscribed

the Covenant, the committee stated in a special

report the grounds on which they found him

guilty of high treason, namely, 1st, that he had

advised, docqueted, signed, carried, and delivered

to the marquis of Montrose the commission ap-

pointing him "lieutenant-governor and captain-

general " of all his majesty's forces in Scotland
;

and, 2dly, that he had been taken in anus against

the country at Philiphaugh. After a lengthened

debate, the parliament decided that both these

charges were capital offences, and according]}' Sir

Robert was condemned by a large majority to

lose his head, with forfaulture of lands and goods,

heritable and moveable.

When the vote was taken whether Sir Robert

Spottiswood should suffer, the earls of Egliuton,

Cassillis, Dunfermline, and Carnwath voted that

his life should be spared ; and the lord-chancellor

and the earl of Lanark, by leave of the house, de-

clined voting. The following passage is extracted

from the Life of Sir Robert, prefixed to his work,

entitled ' The Practicks of the Law of Scotland,'

printed in 1706. "Though many liked not his

party, they liked his person, which made him

many friends even among the Covenanters, inso-

much that after his sentence was read, some of

the nobility spoke in his behalf, and entreated the

house to consider the quality and parts of that

excellent gentleman and most just judge, whom

they had condemned, and begged earnest!}' his

life might be spared. But an eminent knowledge

and esteem which, in other cases, might be a mo-

tive to save a criminal, was here only the cause of

taking an innocent man's life—so dangerous is it,

in a cornipt age, to be eminenth' constant and

virtuous. The gentlemen who spoke were told

that the authority of the established government

was not secure ^vhile Sir Robert's life was spared.
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Whereupon the iiublciiieu who prcsiilecl at the

meetuig of tlie estates at Ghisgow, and in the par-

liament at St. Andrews, openly deelared, wlien

tliey signed the i-espective sentences, tliat they

did sign as preses, and in obedience to tlie com-

mand of tlie estates, but not as to tlieir particular

judgment."

Sir Robert was beheaded at St. Andrews, IGth

January 1G4G, tlie maiden having been brought

from Dundee for the purpose. After he had

mounted the scall'uld, lie surve\'ed the scene

around liini with singular composure. His ap-

pearance was naturally grave and dignified, and

could not fail to make a deep impression on the

spectators. He had prci)ared a speech to be de-

livered to the people, but on turning round to ad-

dress them ho was prevented by the provost of

St. Andrews, who had formerly been a servant of

the archbishop his father. This person liad been

instigated to impose silence upon him by Robert

Blair, one of the ministers who had been commis-

sioned to attend him. Blair's motive is said to

have arisen from a dread he entertained tliat Sir

Robert would expose the designs of the Cove-

nanters, and impress the bystanders with an nn-

favourablc opinion of their proceedings. Sir Ro-

bert bore the interruption without showing any

signs of disappointment. As he saw no chance of

being allo\\cd to deliver it, he threw the manu-

script of his speech amongst the crowd, and be-

took himself to his private devotions. But here

again Blair officiously iuterfeied, and rudeh' asked

him wlietlier he would incline that he and the

people should pray for the salvation of his soul?

Sir Robert answered tliat he indeed '-desired the

prayers of the people, but would have no concern

with his prayers, wliicli lie believed were impious,

and an abomination unto God; adding, that of

all the plagues with which the ofleiided majesty

of God had scourged the nation, this was certain-

ly the greatest, greater tlian even the sword, fire,

or pestilence, that, for the sins of the people, God

had sent a lying spirit into the moutlis of tlie pro-

phets." This answer roused the anger of Blair,

who assailed Sir Robert with the most acrimoni-

ous imputations, and reviled the memory of his

father by the most infamous charges; but vSir Ro-

bert took no notice of his reproaches, and having

finished his devotions, laid his liciul upon the

block, saying, "Merciful Jesus! gather my soul

unto thy saints and martyrs who have run before

me ill this race." In an instant his head was sev-

ered from his body. His remains were taken care

of by Hugh Scriingeour, a wealthy citizen of St.

Andrews, who had formerly been one of Arch-

bishop Spottiswood's servants, and honourably

interred in the parish church of that city, by him,

Sir Robert Murray of Melgum, and other friends.

Scrimgeour did not long survive the melancholy

office, for some days after, seeing the scafTold still

standing, he fainted in the street, and being car-

ried home, (lied at his own threshold. The da3' be-

fore his execution. Sir Robert wrote a letter to

the marquis of IMontrose, ofleriiig the " last tri-

bute of his service," and exjircssing a hope that

"the king's cause" would be advanced hy his

death. He encouraged the marquis to go on and

crown the work he had "so gloriously " begun,

and recommended to him to })ursue the course he

had hitherto followed, " by fair and gentle car-

riage, to gain the people's alleclion to their prince, i

rather than imitate the barbarous inhumanity" of

his adversaries. He concluded by recommending

his orphans and his "brother's house" to his care.

The axe with which his head was cut oft' is still

preserved in the College library, St. Andrews.

Sprewel, or Spheult., a surn.ime of old standing in

tlie west of Scotland. Tliose of tliis surname, savs Kisbet,

(vol. i. p. 437,) carry purses or palmer scrips in tlicir arms.

The name is now spelled SpreuU or Sproul. In the reign of

Alexander III. Walter Sprewel of Cowden or Colden, Ken-

fi-ewsliire, seneschal to JIalcohn earl of Lennox, had a grant

from that nobleman of the lands of Dalquliairn, Dumbarton-

shire. In 12'J-l lie was threatened witli e.KCommunication

upon the eaiTs account. In the reign of Robert the Bruce,

another Walter Sprewel, scnescliallus de Dumbarton, obt.ained

a charter of tlie same lands. The Sprewels are several times

thereafter mentioned in the Chartulaiy of Paisley. The

family continued in a lineal succession till 1C22, when the

lands of Cowden were sold by Jolin Sprewel, the then pro-

prietor, to William Lord Cochrane, father of the first earl of

Dundonald.

The first of the Sprewels of Ladvmuir and Blackairne was

.John Sprewel, a younger son of the family of Cowden, who,

in 1507, was made vicar of Dundonald. He was also one of

the professors of pliilosophy in the university of Glasgow,

and rector of the said university. Subsequently he was one

of the prebends of the metropolit.an church, to which the rec-

tory of Ancnim was attaclied. He purchased tlie lands of

Ladymuir, Castleliill, and Kingsnieadows, from Gabriel Sem-

ple, who had married his sister, Janet, and w.as brother of

the first Lord Semple ; .il.so the lands of Bhackairne, within

the lordship of Provan, and a dwelling-house or lodging in
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tlie city of Glasgow. At his death in 1555 he was succeeiic-J

by !iis nephew, John Sprewel, tlie son of his brother, Kobert

Sprewel, burgess of Glasgow. The grandson of tliis .Tolm

Sprewel, also named John, was provost of lienfrew about the

beginning of the reign of Charles I. He was father of John

Sprewel, town-clerk of Glasgow, and afterwards one of the

principal clerks of session. Tlie son of the latter, John

Sprewel of Ulackairne, man'ied Agnes, danghter of Andrew

Sprewel of Milton. Their son, Andrew Sprewel of Black-

airne, was a writer in Edinburgh.

SpyNiE,Baron, a title (dormant since 1671) in the peer-

age of Scotland, conferred in 1590, on Alexander Lindsay,

fourth son of the tenth earl of Crawford. This personage

was vice-chamberlain of James VI., whom he accompanied

on his matrimonial expedition to Denmark in October 1589.

He lent the king fen thousand gold crowns towards the expens-

es of the expedition, and in the following characteristic letter

James promises to raise him to the peerage on his return

:

" Sandie. Qnhill(till)youregoode happe furneis me sum better

occasion to recompense youre honest and faitlifull service ut-

terid be youre diligente and cairfulle attendance upon me,

speciallie at this tyme, left this assure you, in the inviolabill

ivorde of youre awin prince and maistcr, that quhen Godd

randeris me in Skotlande, I sail irrevocablie, and with con-

sent of parliament, erect you the tenipoi alitie of JIurraye in

a temporall lordshipp, with all honours thereto appertaining,

and left this serve for cure to your present disease. From

tlie cistle of Croneburg, quhare we are drinking and dryving

our in the auld manner. J. R." In fulfilment of this pro-

mise, and in acquittance of the 10,000 gold crowns lent to him,

the king granted a charter of the lordship of Spynie, Kin-

nedder, Hafford, .and other lands in the counties of Elgin,

Banff, and Inverness, formerly belonging to the see of Mo-
nty, united into the free barony of Spynie, with the title of

Baron Spjmie, to Alexander Lindsay and his heirs and assig-

nees, dated 6th May 1590. A new charter was granted, 17th

April 1593, of the lands of Spynie and others above men-

tioned, to him and dame Jean Lyon, countess of Angus, his

wife, and the longest liver of them, in conjunct fee, and to

the heirs lawfully procreated between them, which failing, to

the nearest heirs male of the said Alexander Lord Spynie

wliomsoever. This lady was the eldest daughter of the tenth

Lord Glammis, and widow first of Robert, master of Jlorton,

and, secondly, of Archibald, eighth earl of Angus. Lord

Spynie's marriage with her was brought about by the king,

when he was still only Alexander Lindsay, and two letters

from James to her on the subject are inserted in the Lives of

the Lindsat/s, (vol. i. pp. 321-2). The king even wrote from

Norway to Lindsay, who had evidently been sent back lo

Scotland previous to the return of James himself, in the fol-

lowing familiar terms, rel.ative to the marriage, on which his

heart seems to have been set:—"Sandie. We are going on

here in the auld way, and very merry. I'll not forget you

when I come hame.—You shall be .i lord. But mind Jean

Lyon, for her auld tout will mak you a new horn. J. R."

This last phrase is equivalent to " his auld brass will make ine a

new pan," in one of Burns' songs. On the 15tli August 1592,

Colonel Stuart accused the Lord Spynie of secret confer-

ence with James' great tormentor, the turbulent earl of Both-

well, with the view of bringing him to court to make his re-

conciliation with the king. Spynie seems in this to have been

actuated by spite to the master of Glammis, then treasurer,

whom he knew Bothwell also hated. With the former Spy-

nie had been at feud since November, 2, 15SS, when he took

the gift of the king's guard over his head, although the mas-

ter of Glammis had been appointed captain of the guard by

parliament. Part of the charge .against him was that he liad

received Bothwell into his lady's house of .\berdour, in Fife,

where he lived in great magnificence and hospitality, "that

family," s.ays Row, (^Hist. of the Kirk, vol. i. p. 470,) "being

rather like a court than a nobleman's family." Spynie de-

nied the charge, and offered to fight his accuser by single

combat. This the king would not permit, but appointed a

day for his trial, and in the meantime the colonel was warded

in the castle of Edinburgh, and Spynie in the castle of Stir-

ling. On the day fixed for the trial, Spynie appeared, but

his accuser did not come forward. Another day was fixed,

at which his accuser's probation failing, Spynie was restored

to his honour, dignity, and service, yet did he never recover

his former credit with the king, but was still held suspected,

and whether offended at this, or that the first decl.aration

was true in itself, the year following he took open part with

Bothwell, and was therefore denounced rebel. (^SpotCiswood's

HiHluvj, p. 389.) Some inclination, s.ays Lord Lindsay, to

the Popish faith may have also concurred to this. When the

earl of Botliwell invaded the palace of Holyrood-liouse on

the night of the 2-ltli July that year, Lord Spynie was ono

of the noblemen who interceded for him with the king. In

1605 he resigned the temporalities of the see of Moray, at tlie

desire of the king, when the latter wished to restore the an-

cient bishopric. A letter from James to him on this occa-

sion, written in a more diguitied style than some of his for-

mer epistles, in which he desires him " to be content with

the terms of payment," is inserted in the Lives ofthe Lind-

says, (vol. i. p. 324, Kote). The patronage of the church

livings, above fifty in number, was reserved by Lord Spynie,

and held by the family till the title became dormant in the

end of 1671, when it was resumed by tlie crown. Lord

Spynie was inadvertently slain in a casual encounter in

the High Street of Edinburgh in July 1607, in attemjit-

ing to prevent bloodshed between his kinsmen, the earl

of Cr.iwfoid and Sir David Lindsay of Edzell, the fatal

stroke having been given by tlie latter. Sir David was in

arms to avenge upon the earl the assassination of his uncle,

Sir AValter Lindsay. The ballad entitled ' Lord Spynie' is

founded on a tradition which seems to have nothing of truth

in it but the circumstance of the first lord's accidental death

on the High Street of Edinburgli. According to it, however,

the young Lord Spynie had seduced and deserted Lady Jane,

tlie sister of Linds.ay of Edzell. Her elder brother having,

says the stoiT, met the "false lord" on the High Street of

Edinburgh, told him, in the usual style of such romantic le-

gends, that " all the blood in his body could not wash out the

stain in his sister's character," and then plunged a dagger

into his heart, as a matter of course, "and though the deed

was done in open day and in the presence of several persons,

he was allowed to escape liome." Lord Spynie had three

sons and two daughters. The latter were, the Hon. Anne

Lindsay, married to Sir Robert Graham of Innermay, and

the Hon. Margaret Lindsay, wife of John Erskine of Dun.

The eldest son, Alexander, second Lord Spynie, voted for

the obnoxious five articles of Perth in the p.arliamcnt of

1621. He fought in Germany under Gustavus Adolphus of

Sweden, and acquired high reputation as a brave and enter-

prising officer, particularly for his defence of Sti-alsund. By

letters patent for life, dated 26th June 1C2G, he had been

appointed mnster-master-general, which office was confirmed

to him 2Sth June 1633, after his return from Germany. He

joined the marquis of Montrose at Perth, after the battle of

Tippermuir, in September 1G44. He was taken prisoner

by the earl of Argyle, at Aberdeen, on the 19th of that
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montli, two days tliereafter, sent unciur a tuard to

Kdinburgli. He died in March 1(140'. He was twice mar-

ried, but had issue (two sons and two dau;,'hters) only by

liis second wife, Lady Mari;aret Hay, only danghtcr of the

iirst earl of Kinnnul, lord-chancellor of Scotland. Alexander,

master of Spynie, his elder son, predeceased hini, without is-

sue. George, liis younger son, was third and last Lord Sji^'-

nie. The Hon. Margaret Lindsay, liis elder daughter, mar-

ried William FuUarton of Fullarton, Ayrshire.

The third Lord Spynie steadily .idhered to Charles L in

his misfortunes. He opposed the delivering up of that ill-

fated king to the parliament of England, in .January l(i-17,

and in the " Kngagement" for the rescue of Charles in 1(M8,

lie was colonel of tlie Stirlingshire and Clackmannan lioise.

After the king's death, he greatly impoverished his estate by

raising forces for the service of Charles IL Taken prisoner

at the battle of Worcester in he was sent to the Tower

of London, and excepted out of Cromwell's act of grace and

pardon in IGo-i. On the death of Ludovick, fourteenth earl

of Crawford, the male representation of that ancient family

devolved on Lord Spynie, who was served heir male of Da-

vid, carl of Crawford, 8tli November IGGG. He died, without

issue, in December IGTL

In accordance with an order of the House of Peers, the

lords of session made a return dated 12th June 1730, of the

state of the Scots peerage at that period. As to this title,

the following is their report: " .Spynzie.—That the p.atent

creating Lord Spyn/.ie lias not hitherto been found in the

records, nor has any person sat in parliament under that title

since the year IGGO, neither has any person claimed a vote in

virtue tlicreof at any election since the Union ; but whellier

this peerage is extinct, they cannot say."

In 17S-1, William Fullarton of Fullarton, at one period

lieutenant-colonel in the Portuguese service, great-great-

grandson of Lady Margaret Fullarton, daughter of the second

Lord Spynie, claimed the title as great-great-grandnephew

and undoubted heir of line of the third lord. The House of

Lords, on 18th April 1785, decided that the succession was

limited to the heirs male of the first Lord Spynie; con.se-

quentlv that the claimant had no right to the peerage. His

grandson, Mr. Lindsay Carnegie of Spynie and I5oysack, be-

came the representative of the family in the female line.

ST.vin, Viscount of, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred '21st April 1G90, on Sir James Dalrymple, an eminent

lawver and statesman, a memoir of whom is given at vol. ii. p. 7.

Staii'., Karl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland, confeiTcd

in April 170,'>, on Sir .lolm Dalrymple, eldest son of Viscount

Stair, (see vol. ii. p. 7.) by his wife. Margaret Pioss, coheir-

ess of the estate of Balneil, ^\igt(lnsllile. He was born about

1G18, and .admitted advocate Febrnary 18, 1G72. In 1G81,

lie was one of the counsel for the carl of Argyle on his trial

for treason, on .account of the test. On his father's retire-

ment to Holland in October 1G82, in consequence of tlie ty-

rannical measures of the then persecuting administration, he

was at first subjected to many vex.atious proceedings on the

part of the government. In 1G82 he was compelled by the

council to pay £oOO sterling, on the pretext that, as herita-

ble bailie of Glenluce, he had interfered with the jurisdiction

of the sherifV, and had not exacted fines suiliciently high from

his own and his father's tenants for attending conventicles.

In September IGSi he was seized during the night at his

country house at Newlistou. and committed to the Tolbooth

of Edinburgh, whence, after being detained for three months,

he wa? released on giving security to the amount of £y,000
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sterling. Piy his talents and address, ho ever, he contrived

to make his peace with the king, and had influence enough

to procure a pardon for his father, who h.-id been prosecuted

and outlawed for his alleged concern in the Pivehouse Plot.

In IGSG Sir John Dalrymple was appointed lord-advocate

in the room of .Sir George M;ickenzie, and on his return to

Edinburgh from London, he brought with him an order from

the king for XI, '200, whereof £600 was ibr the fine he paid

in 1G8L', and the remainder for the expenses of his journey

and his loss of practice. He also brought a comprehensive

remission to his father and mother, brothers and sisters, par-

ticularly for their iuterconr.se with traitors, and to his second

son, who had accidentally shot his brother. On 23d Febru-

ary 1G88, he was created a lord of session and lord-justice-

cleric. He gave his support to the lievolution, and was a

member of the Convention parliament held at Edinburgh in

March 1G89. A committee of eight lords, eight knights,

and eight burgesses, were appointed to prep.are and report

upon a plan of settling the government. After considerable

discussion, the committee agreed to the following resolution,

on the motion of Sir John Dalrymple, wlio, in a speech of

powerful reasoning, exposed the unmeaning application of

the term abdicate, which had been used by the English con-

vention :
—" The estates of the kingdom of Scotland find and

declare that King J.amcs VII. being a professed papist, did

assume the royal power, and act as king, without ever t.aking

the oath as required by law; and had, by the advice of evil

and wicked counsellors, inv.aded the fundamental constitu-

tion of this kingdom, and altered it from a legal .and limited

monarchy, to an arbitraiy despotic power, and had governed

the same to the subversion of the Protestant religion and

violation of the laws and liberties of the nation, inverting .all

the ends of government, whereby he had forfaulted the right

of the crown, and the throne was become vacant." This vote

was approved of by a great majority in the convention, and

Sir .Tohn Dalrymple was one of the three commissioners sent

to London to offer the crown to William and I\Iaiy. He was

one of the si.x per.sons excepted by King James VII. out of

his intended act of indemnity. In IGOO he was re-appointed

lord-.advocate, and in 1691, w.as constituted one of the principal

secretaries of state. His conduct in regard to the massacre of

Glenco has stamped his name with lasting infamy. Previous

to tlie massacre, in his letters to the militaiy officers of date 1st

and 3d December IGOLlie exulted that as the winter was the

oiilv season in which the Highbinders could not escape, they

could easilv lie destroyed " in the cold long nights." He .seems

to have contemplated the total extirpation of the clans, for, in

a letter to Sir Thomas Livingston, dated .lanuary 7, lGfl2, he

savs, "You know in general that the troops po.sted at Inver-

ness and Invcrlochie will be ordered to take in the house of

Invergarie, and to destroy entirely the country of Lochaber,

Lochiel's land.s, Keppocli's, Glengarie's and Glenco," and he

adds, " I assure von your power shall be full enough, .and I

hope the soldiers will not trouble the government with pris-

oners." In .sending Livingston the instructions, signed and

countersigned liy the king on the 11th Januaiy, "to march

the troops against the rebels who had not taken the benefit

of the indemnity, and to destroy them by fire .ind sword," he

said in his lette-, as a hint to Livingston how to act, "Just

now inv Lord Ar; vie tells me th.at Glenco li.ath not t.aken the

oath, at which I rejoice. It is a great work of charity to be

exact in rooting out that damnable sect, the worst of the

Highlands." Addraonal instructions, bearing date the IGth

Januarv, were sent to Livingston, and in the letter contain-

ing them, Secretary D.ilrymple said, " for a just example of

vengeance I entreat the thieving tribe of Glenco may be
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rooted out to purpose." A duplicate of these instructions

was at the same time sent by liim to Colonel Hill, the gov-

ernor of Fort William, with a similar letter. The odium

against the government that arose in the nation when the

accounts of the massacre were known, alarmed the king, and

to pacify the people he dismissed Sir John Daliymple from

office and from his councils. A commission of inquiry into

the massacre was granted 29th April 1G95, and in their re-

port, which was afterwards adopted by parliament, the com-

missioners threw the whole blame upon Secretary Dalrymple,

stating that his letters had exceeded the king's instructions.

In their address to the king, founded upon the same, the

estates stated that, in the first place, tliey had found that tlie

letters of the JIaster of Stair (Secretary Dalrymple) had ex-

ceeded his M.ajesty's instructions as to the killing and destruc-

tion of the Glenco-men, and tliey conclude as follows:—"that

considering that the Master of Stair's excess in his letters

against the Glenco-men has been the original cause of

this unhappy business, and hath given occasion, in a great

measure, to so extraordinary an execution, by the warm direc-

tions he gives about doing it by way of surprise ; and con-

sidering the station and trust he is in, and that he is absent,

we do, therefore, beg that your Majesty will give such orders

about him for vindication of your government, as you in your

royal wisdom shall think fit. And, likewise, considering that

the actors have barbarously killed men under trust, we humbly

desire your Majesty would be pleased to send the actors home,

and to give orders to your advocate to prosecute them accord-

ing to law.'' The estates also solicited his Majesty to order

reparation to be made to the surviving inhabitants of the

glen for the losses they h.id sustained in their properties.

Whether this was ever done, does not appear, but it is highly

prob.able that this part of the address was as little heeded as

the rest. The murderers, instead of being brought to trial,

were allowed by ^ViUiam to remain in his service, and some

of them were even promoted. The report of the Scottish

parliament, though drawn up as favourably as possible

for the king, was carefully suppressed during his life-

time, a proof that the government of the day were anxious

to have the whole matter buried iu oblivion at once and fur

ever.

The s.ame year, Sir John succeeded his father as 2d Viscount

Stair, but did not take his seat in p.arliament for some years.

In 1G98, he made a strong attempt to do so, but was dis-

suaded from it by the duke of Queensberry, the earis of Ar-

gyle, Leven, and Seafield, and by his brother, the Hon. Sir

Hugh Dalrymple of North Berwick, baronet, lord-president

of the court of session. The lord-justice-clerk was deter-

mined, if he offered to take his seat, to call for the vote and

address to the king, passed respecting the affair of Glenco, by

which it was declared to be a barbarous murder. He took

the oaths and his seat in parliament 21st February 1700,

and on the accession of Queen Anne was sworn a privy coun-

cillor. He was ci-eated earl of Staii-, Viscount Dalrymple,

and Lord Newliston, Glenluce and Stranraer, April 8, 1703,

by patent, to the heirs male of his body, with rem.ainder to

the heirs male of his father. In 1705, he was named one of

the commissioners for the treaty of Union, and was so instru-

mental in cari-ying that measure through parliament as to

give rise to the opinion that without his assistance it could

not have passed. He died suddenly, January 8, 1707. On
that day, after speaking warmly in favour of the 22d article

of the treaty of Union, he walked home, and dined very

cheerfully with company, but died the same evening. Ac-
cording to a contemporary (^Macht/s Memoirs) he was an

able lawyer, and possessed of good natural parts. His con-

versation was lively and facetious ; and he made always a

better companion than a st.atesman, being naturally very in-

dolent. In his person he was handsome, tall and fair. He
married Elizabeth, daughter and heiress of Sir John Dundas

of Newliston, Linlithgowshire, and by her had five sons and

two daughters.

His second son, John, second earl of Stair, a distinguished

military commander and accomplished statesman, was bom
at Edinburgh, July 20, 1G79. When a mere boy, he had the

misfortune to kill his elder brother, James, by the accidental

discharge of a pistol. About 168-1 he was sent to Leyden,

where he made great proficiency in the languages, and other

branches of education. On his return to Scotland, he was

sent to the university of Edinburgh, under a guardian, to

finish his studies. He was designed by bis father for the

law, but he himself was anxious for a military life. In 1GS7

he went over to Holland, where be passed through the first

military gradations, under the eye of the prince of Orange.

At this time he could speak the French, Spanish, German,

Itiilian and Dutch Languages with great purity. At the Re-

volution he returned to Scotland. He was amongst the first

to declare for William and Jlaiy, and went up with his father

to London to pay his homage to King William, by whom he

was most graciously received. He attended the king to Ire-

land, and in 1692 accompanied his father and King William

to Flanders. His majesty conferred a colonel's commission

on him, and he served as a volunteer under the earl of An-

gus, colonel of the Cameronian regiment, at the battle of

Steinkirk, August 2d of that year, where Angus was killed.

Although so young, no British officer signalized himself more

in this engagement than Colonel Dalrymple. He several

times rallied his regiment when the ranks were broken by the

cannon, and brought them back to the charge. In the suc-

ceeding winter he was sent to study the law at the univer-

sity of Leyden, where he had previously received the greater

p.art of his education. In 1700 he accompanied Lord Lex-

ington in bis emb.assy to Vienna, and after making the tour

of Germ.any and Italy, he returned home in 1701. Soon af-

ter he was appointed lieutenant-colonel of the Scots regiment

of foot guards. In 1702 he served as aide-de-camp to the

duke of JIarlborongh at the taking of Venloo and Liege, and

the attack on Peer. At the assault on the citadel of Venloo,

when the fort of Chartreuse was taken by the allies. Colonel

Dalrymple had the good fortune to save the life of the prince

of Hesse-Cassel, afterwards king of Sweden, who, in wresting

the colours from a French officer, was upon the point of be-

ing cut down by a grenadier, when Dalrymple shot the as-

sailant dead upon the spot, with his pistol. In April 1703,

he had a colonel's commission in the Dutch service. In J.an-

uary 170G he obtained the command of the Cameronian regi-

ment, .and in the succeeding August that of the loy.al Scots

Greys. He was a brigadier-general at the battle of Kamilies,

12th M.ay that ye.ar; and, succeeding his father in January

1707 as second earl of Stair, was soon after chosen one of the

representative peers of Scotland in the imperial parliament.

He held an important command at the victories of Oudenarde

and Malpl.aquet ; and was promoted to the rank of lieuten.ant-

general, January 1, 1710. In the winter of 1709 he had

been sent ambassador extraordinary to the king of Poland,

but in May 1710 he went to the siege of Douay, which sur-

rendered to the allies on the 26th of June. In the same

year he was invested with the order of the Thistle. On the

dismissal of the Godolphin ministry in 1711, when the duke

of Marlborough was superseded by the duke of Ormond in

the command of the army. Lord Stair sold his commission,

and retired from the military service for the time.
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Oi\ tlie accession of George I., liis lordsliip was appointed

one of tlio lords of tlie bedclianiber, sworn a privv councillor,

and, in the absence of the duke of Ar<r_vle, was constituted

commander-in-cliief of the forces in Scotland. In 1715 he

was sent on a diplomatic mission to France, and after the

death of Louis XIV. was appointed ambassador extraordinary

to tlie Frencli court. He entered Paris in a splendid man-

ner, and was successful in all his negotiations for the defeat

of the attempts made in favour of the Pretender. Several of

his letters are published in the Hardwicke Collection of State

Papers. He was recalled in 1720, when he retired to Ins

seat at NewHston, where he turned his attention to agricul-

ture, and was the first in Scotland wlio introduced the culti-

vation of turnips and cabbages in the open fields. The Hue

woods that adorn Newliston were planted by Inni, and it is

s:ud, that lie arranged them so as to represent tlie position of

the British troops at one of the victories ;it which he had

been engaged. In April 1730 he was appointed lord-admi-

ral of Scotland. He held that and other posts till April

1733, when he fell into disgrace at court, for opposing a bill

brought in by government for changing tlie duties on tobacco

and wine, and bringing them under the laws of e.xcise, whicli

was greatly disliked by the trading part of the nation.

On the dissolution of the Walpole administration in 17 12,

Lord Stair was recalled to public life, appointed field-mar-

shal, sent ambassador to Holland, and nominated governor of

Minorca. He was subsequently appointed commander-in-

chief of the allied army in Flanders, and was present with

the king at the battle of Dettingeii, June 16, 1743. Dis-

gusted, however, at the preference given to the Hanoverian

generals, he soon after resigned his command, and retired to

the Hague. The memorial which he presented to his ma-

jesty on this occiision is printed in D;ilrymple"s Jlcmoirs of

Great Britain. In 1744 he was appointed commander-in-

chief of tlie forces in tlie United Kingdom, and restored to

liis command of the Scots Greys. Upon the breaking out of

the rebellion in 1745, he repaired to court, and ofl'ered his

services to the government, which were gladly accepted. He

accompanied the duke of Cumberland to Edinburgh. After

the suppression of the rebellion, he continued at court till the

winter of 174G, when he removed for his health to Scotland.

He died at Queensbcrry House, Edinburgh, Jlay 9, 1747, m
the 74th year of liis age. The earl of Stair, in person, was

about six feet liigh. He was, perhaps, one of the handsom-

est men of his time, and remarkable, among the nobility, for

his graceful mien and majestic ap]iearance. His complexion

was fair, but rather comely than delicate ; his forehead was

largo and gr.iceful, his nose straight and ex<piisitely propor-

tioned to his face. He was universally acknowledged to have

been the first diplomatist of his day. His lordship married

Lady Eleanor Campbell, fourth daughter of James, second

earl of Loudon. She was first married to .lames, fii-st Vis-

count Primrose, who died iu 170(5, and was mother of the

second and third Viscounts Primrose. She had no issue to

the earl of Stair, whom slie survived, and died at Edinburgh

21st November 1759. Some remarkable circiim.stances in

the early life of this lady formed the groundwork of a tale by

Sir Walter Scott, under the title of 'Aunt Margaret's Mir-

ror.' These have been related in a more ample form by Jlr.

Hobert Chambers, iu his ' Reekiana, or Jlinor Antiquities of

Ediuburgli,' and copied into the 88tli number of ' Chambers'

Journal,' first series. It appeai-s that Lord Primrose, her

first husband, was a man of bad temper and dissolute char-

!>cter, and treated her so barbarously that, under the appre-

hension that ho meditated putting an end to ner life, she

made her escape from his house, and never lived with him

again. According to tradition, she was shown by a foreign

conjuror who had taken up his residence in the Canongate of

Edinburgh, the shadowy representation of her husband's in-

tended nuptials with a merchant's daughter on the Conti-

nent, which were prevented at the altar by the opportune

appearance of the brother of the viscountess. The resolution

which she had formed, after the death of Lord Primrose,

never to marry again, is said to have been overcome by the

following manoeuvre of Lord Stair, who had sought her hand

in vain. By dint of bribes to her domestics, his lordship got

liiin.self admitted one night, into a small room in her lady-

ship's liouse, where she used to say her prayers every morn-

ing, and the window of which looked out upon the principal

street of Edinburgh. At this window ne.\t morning Lord

Stair showed himself, half undressed, to the people passing

along the street, and lest lier reputation should sutler, her

ladyship felt herself constrained to accept of him as her sec-

ond husband. His portrait is subjoined :

The e.irl of Stair, .and his grandmother, JIargaiet, the first

viscountess Stair, and the original of Lady Ashton in Scott's

tale of ' The Bride of Lammermuir,' lie inteired in the family

vault at Kirkliston church.

As the earl's next brother .and heir presumptive, Colonel

the Hon. William DaliTinple of Glennmre, had married the

countess of Dumfries, a peeress in her own right, his lordship

surrendered all his honours to the crown, and obtained a new-

charter, of date 27th Febru.iry 1707, ratified by an act of

the Scots parliament, 21st March of the same year, contain-

ing, in default of male issue, a reversionary clause in favour

of any one of the male descendants of the first viscount of

Stair, as he should nominate to succeed him. By a writing

under his hand, dated 31st March 1747, sis weeks before his

death, he named as his successor, his nephew, Ca]>tain John

Dalrympic, eldest son of a younger brother, the Hon. George

Dalrymple of Dalmahoy, one of the barons of exchequer in
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Scotland. The succession to tlie titles was contested l)y

James Dalrvmple, second surviving son of Colonel the Hon.

William Dali-ymple, above mentioned, on the ground that it

was not in the power of the sovereign to transfer the right to

create or nominate a peer to any individual. Both cousins

voted as earl of Stair at the general election of Scots repre-

sentative peers, 13th August 17-17, and petitions to the king

were presented from both, claiming the titles, as also one from

the carl of Dumfries, eldest son of Colonel William Dalrvm-

ple and the countess, if it was not adjudged to his brother,

James. The House of Lords having, on 4th May 1748, de-

cided in favoiu' of James Dalrymple, he accordingly became

third earl of Stair. His father, Colonel the Hon. William

Dah'yraple of Glenmure was the fourth but second surviving

son of the first earl of Stair, and M.P. (or Ayrshire in tlie

last parliament of Scotland. He was a firm supporter of the

treaty of Union, and afterwards sat first for Clackmannan-

shire, then for the Stranraer burghs, and latterly for Wigton-

shire, in the imperial parliament. He died od December

1744. By his wife, the countess of Dumfries, he had six

sons, the three youngest of whom died unmarried, and two

daughters. His eldest son, William, succeeded as earl of

Dumfries. His second son. Captain the Hon. John Dalrym-

ple, the favourite nephew of the great earl of Stair, died, un-

married, 23d February 1742. The third son, James, passed

advocate in 1728, and by the resolution of tlie House of

Lords became tliird earl of Stair, 4th May 1748. He
died, without issue, 13th JIarch 17G0, and in pursuance of

the remainders in the patent, the earldom of St.air reverted

to his eldest brother, William, fourth earl of Dumfries, who
thus became fourth earl of Stair also. (See Dumfriks,

earl of, vol. ii. p. 73.) Dying, without surviving issue, 27tli

July 1768, he was succeeded as fifth earl of Stair by his cou-

sin. Captain John Dalrymple, to whom the title had at first

been assigned under the new patent, eldest son of the Hon.

George Dalrymple, fifth son of the first earl of Stair. His

father passed advocate in 1704, and was appointed one of the

barons of the court of excliequer in Scotland in 1707. He
purchased at a judicial sale, the estate of Dalmahoy, Jlid

Lothian, and died at Moflfat, 29th July 1745. With two

daughters, he had a younger son. General William Dalrym-

ple, lieutenant-governor of Chelsea liospital, who died at

London, 23d February 1707, leaving an only son, John Wil-

liam Henry Dalrymple, who became seventh earl of Stair.

The fifth carl passed advocate in 1741, but afterwards

went into the army, and had the rank of captain. He sold

the estate of Kewliston to Roger Hog, Esq. Chosen one of

the sixteen representative Scots peers on a vacancy in 1771,

lie opposed the measures of the administration which led to

the revolt of the American colonies. Having presented the

petition of the agent for Massachusetts against these mea-

sures, he received the thanks of that province in 1774. He

was the author of several pamphlets on political subjects,

which have entitled him to a place in Walpole's Catalogue of

Koyal and Noble Authors, vol. v. Park's edition (1805).

Their titles are: 'Considerations preliminary to the fixing

the Supplies, the Ways and Means, and the Taxes for the

year 1781,' Lond. 1781, 8vo ; 'Facts and their Consequences

submitted to the consideration of the Public at large,' Lond.

1782, 8vo ; An Argument to prove that it is the indispensa-

ble duty of the Credil;ors of the Public to insist tliat Govern-

ment do forthwith bring forward the considerati(m of the

State of the Nation,' Lond. 1783, 8vo; 'State of the Public

Debts,' Lond. 1783, 8vo; 'Address to and Expostulation

witli the Public,' Lond. 1784, 8vo; ' Comparative State of

the Public Revenues for the years 1783-4,' Lond. 1785, 8vo;

' The Proper Limits of the Government's inteiTerence with

the affairs of the East India Company,' 1784. In this tract

he severely attacked the coalition ministry, and promised his

support to the Pitt administration so long as they should

continue to de.-^erve it. He died Oct. 13, 1789. He in.arried

a daughter of George Jliddleton, Esq., banker in London,

and had one son, .Tohn, who succeeded.

.Tohn, sixth earl of Stair, born Sept. 24, 1749, became a

captain in the 87th foot in 1779, and served iu the first Amer-

ican war. He was at the successful attack on New London

and Fort Griswold, in Sept. 1781, under Sir Henry Clinton,

wlio sent him home with the despatches. He was appnintcd

minister plenipotentiary to the king and republic of I'oland,

Jan. 5, 1782, and envoy extraordinary and minister plenipo-

tentiary to the court of Berlin, Aug. 5, 1785. Succeeding

liis father in 1789, he was chosen one of the sixteen Scots

representative peers at the general election of 1790, and sev-

eral times rechosen. He died, without issue, June 1, 1821.

His cousin, .lohn William Henry Dalrymple, son of Gen-

eral William Dalrymple, above mentioned, became seventh

earl. Born November IG, 1784, he married in 1808, Laura,

youngest daughter of John Planners, Esq. of Griintliam

Grange, and Louisa, countess of Dysart. This marriage was

dissolved the following year, in consequence of his having en-

tered into a marriage contract in 1804 with Joh.anna, daugh-

ter of Charles Gordon, Esq. of Cluny. The latter marriage

was, however, dissolved in June 1820. The e.-irl died at Pa-

ris, without issue, March 22, 1840.

His kinsman. Sir John Hamilton D.alrymple, baronet, suc-

ceeded him as eighth earl. (See vol. ii. p. 5.) He was the

4tli but eldest surviving son of Sir John Dalrymple of Cran-

ston, fourth baronet of that family, one of the barons of the

court of E.xcliequer in Scotland, and author of those 'Jle-

moirs of Great Britain .and Ireland,' wliicli first revealed

the painful fact that Sidney and some others of the great

whig patriots, in the reign of Charles XL, were pensioners of

tlie French king, (see vol. ii. p. 12). The eighth earl, born

loth June 1771, succeeded, on the death of his father, 2Gth

February 1810, to the baronetcy of Nova Scotia, which had

been conferred on his great-great-gi-andfather. Sir J.-nnes

Dalrymple of Borthwick, 28th April 1698. Through his

mother, Elizabeth, only child of Thomas Hamilton MacGill

of Fala, and heiress of the Viscounts Oxenford, he inherited

the estates of Oxenford and Fala. He entered the army as

ensign in the 40th foot, 28tli February 1790, and attained

the rank of general 28tli June 1838. In 1813 he was ap-

pointed colonel of the 46th foot. Long known as Sir John

Dalrvmple, he early embraced the whig cause, and more than

once before the passing of the Reform Bill in 1832, contested

the representation of Mid Lothian, without success. In De-

cember of that year, he carried his election for the county by

a majority of 65 votes. He succeeded liis cousin, the seventh

earl of Stair, in that title and the ample estates connected

with it, in JIarch 1840, and in the following month was ap-

pointed keeper of tlie great seal of Scotland, an oftice which

he held till September 1841. On the 11th August that

vear he was created liaron Oxenford of Cousland in the peer-

age of the United Kingdom, with remainder to his brother,

North Hamilton Dalrymple of Cleland and Fordell. In Au-

gust 184G, he was reappointed keeper of the great seal of

Scotland. In 1847 he was made a knight of the Thistle.

In his latter years his .attention was engrossed by the man-

agement of his extensive estates in Mid Lothian and Gallo-

wav. Of the former county he was for some years convener.

He died at bis seat of Oxenford castle, Mid Lothian, 10th
I

January 1853, at the age of 82. Although twice married,
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(sc-e vi)l. ii. p. S,) lie li:ui no issue. JUs titles and estates

devolveii tin Ins brotlier, Nurtli Mainiltoii Dalrvniple.

Niji-tli Hamilton Dalryniple, 9tli earl of Stair, liorn in Kd-

inl)urf;li in 1776, married, first in 1817, Marg.aret, youngest

dangliter of James Penny, Esq. of Arrad, Lancasliire; and,

LMly, in 1831, Martha Willet, daiij;liter of Colonel George

Dalryniple. By liis first wile, lie Iiad, with 4 daugliters, a

.son, .lolin, Viscount Dalryniple, I(n'd-lieuten;int of Wigtown-

shire, at one period a captain in tlie guards, and M.l*. for

that county froin,Jnly 1841 to Feb. 18oG. lioni April ], 1819,

Lord Dalryniple married, in 184G, Louisa .lane Henrietta

Kmily de FraiKpietot, eldest daughter of Augustin, Due de

Coigny, hy his wife, Henrietta Dundas Dalryni]ile Hamilton,

daughter of Sir Hew Dalrymplu Hamilton, baronet; issue, o

sons and o daughters. By Ins 2d wife the 9th earl had a

son, Hon. George Grey, born in 18.32, an ollicer in the Scots

fusileer guards. The latter married Ellinor Alice, 5th daugh-

ter of !)th Lord Napier, with issue. Marg.aret Penny, 4th

d.augliter of tlic 9th earl, married, in 18.59, Allan Ale.xander

Macconochie Welwood, Esq., LL. !)., eldest .son of .Mexaiider

M. Welwood, Esq. of Meadowhank and (jarvoelt, a judge of

the court of session under the title of Lord JIeadowb;ink.

St.\i;k, a surname, meaning strong, said to have been

first borne by one of the name of JIuirhead, for his having

rescued King .Tames IV. from a bull in the forest of Cnmber-

nauld. From his strength be w.is called Stark, (^Xishct's

Heraldry, vol. i. p. 340). In Fifeshire were the Starks

of Kingsdale, and the Starks of Ten.sses, and in Kinross-

shire the Stiiiks of Bridgeland.

The innne S i'AiUvK in Scotland is originally the same. .Tames

Starke of Troqueer Holm, in the stewartry of Kirkcudbright,

passed advocate at the Scottish bar in 1824. A member of

the society of Antiquaries, Scotland, in 1835 he presented to

that society, 'Observations on the .Insticiary Court, with a

continued series of the Justiciars and .Justices General,' and in

1836 delivered a course of lectures on .Turisprudence before the

members of the Edinburgh Philosophical Association. In

1839 he was appointed her Majesty's advocate - general

of the island of Ceylon, in which capacity he was also

.•I member of the executive aiul legislative councils of

the island. He was afterwards r.aised to the bench of the

supreme court there. He is the .author of a 'Treatise on the

Law of Partnership,' and several other works on law. He

was a contributor to that tiseful work the Penny Cyclopedia,

and also to the ICncyclopedia Britannica, the Scottish Chris-

tian Herald, the Christian Instructor, the Law Chronicle, and

other literary and legal undertakings of his time. When in

Cevlon he was maiidy instrmneiital in originating and org.an-

izing the Ceylon branch of the Royal .'\siatic Society, of which

lie was elected president, and as one of its members contri-

buted several valu.able papers. He married the eldest daugh-

ter of Major Jaines Gibson, and grand-daughter of iM;ijor

Tliom.is Hamilton, Roy.al Irish dragoons, only son and lieir

of Thomas Hamilton, Esq. of Olivcstob, who in early life

went out as lieutenant of marines on board the Wager man-

of-war in Lord .Anson's expedition to the South Seas; issue,

2 sons, .lames Gibson Starke, born 1837, M..-\. 1859; William

Starke, born 1839, captain loth foot.

Stkiimax, a surname adopted by Charges Barton, son of

the celebrated Scottish admiral, Sir .Andrew Barton, a me-

moir of whom is given at vol. i. p. 257 of this work. Charles

Barton m.irried Susan, daughter of Charles Stedinan and his

wife Janet Neilson of Leith. Susan w.as possessed of con-

siderable property, and Charles, on his marriage, took the

name of his wife, and his descendants continued it. He had

several children. Ilis eldest son, Alexander, died in 1593.

Alexander's son, William, married Margaret Anderson,

and died in 1606, leaving a son, Alexan(ier Stednnin, Kin-

ross. The son of the hitter, Ilobert Stedman, of the Milne

Lead and Gala Hill, Kinross, .and of Little Seggie and Bal-

lingall, Kinross-shire, married Agnes, daughter of Micliael

Henderson of Turfhills, in the same county.

Kohert left three sons. L .lame.s, the eldest, succeeded to

the hinds of Little Seggie, which became the designation of

his family. He was also seized in the lands of iMilnathoit,

Kinross-shire, in 1648. Born in 1598, he died in 1686. He
married Enplian, dangliter of James Dempster of Tillyochie,

|

Kinross-shire. 2. John. He succeeded to his father's pro-

perty in lands and houses in Kinross. He married Jean

Dempster of Tillyochie, and died in 1673. 3. Kobert. He
succeeded to the lands of Balliiigall, which became the desig-

j

nation of his family. He was twice married, and left issue.
j

.TaiTies Stedman of Little Seggie, the eldest son, )iad a .son,

the Ilev. Ivobert Stedinan, for 52 years minister of Carriden,

Linlithgowshire. In the old churchyard of the p.-irish there

is a monument to his memory, erected by his relict, Sarah,

daughter of Sir -Mexander Inglis of Inglistown, in that coun-

ty. He joined llie protesting party in the Church of Scot-

land, and was deposed in 1661. Subsequently lie was re-

stored, and was the first moderator of the presbytery of

Linlllhgow. Nov. 30, 1G87. Born in 1625, he died in 1701.

He left four sons, Alexander, .Tames, llobert, and John.

1. .Alexander, ordained minister of Bi-ith, Fifcsliire, in

1691, succeeded his father in Little Seggie.

2. James, born in 1662, married .lanet Bairdie, Linlith-

gow. He predeceased his father, without male issue. At

the base of the public fountain in Linlithgow, there was, in

1843, a large tombstone of Dutch marble, (removed from the

burial-ground of Linlithgow Cathedral,) with the remains of

an in.scriptioii, '• Here lyes the Body of Janet Bairdie, spows

of Stedman," and the figures 67, supposed to be her age.

3. IJobert, born in 1667, like his ancestors, the Bartons,

seems e.arly to have been prepossessed in favour of a m.ari-

time life. He became the owner and commander of a ship

which traded between Borrowstownncss and Holland. He

extended his voyages to Denmark, Norway, an<i Sweden,

and, in course of time, became possessed of no fewer than 13

ships. He amassed consideralile wealth, which he ultimately

lost. He died in 1738. By his wife, Margaret, daughter of

Edward .Tossey of West Pans, E.-ist Lothian, he h.id several

sons. Edward, the eldest, born in 1699, was minister of

Haddington, !ind died in 1756. Alexander, the 3d son, born

in 1703, and educated for the Scottish bar, was ^iistiIlgni^lled

as a sound lawyer and profound mathematician. He joined
j

the Pretender in 1745, and, with his brothers, John and

Charles, was taken prisoner at Culloden. They all efieetcd

their escane, Alexander and Ch.arles to America, and .John

to Rotterdam. Ale.\ander settled in Philadelphia, where he I

practised his profession with great success, and having made
i

his peace with the mother country, was appointed a judge of
j

tlie supreme court of Pennsylvania, M;irch 19, 1764. On
\

the declaration of Independence of the American Colonics,
!

iie returned to Scotland, and .subsequently went to Swansea,

in Wales, where he died at the advanced age of 91. His son,

Charles Stedman, born in 1753, on the revolt of the .Ameri-

can colonies, joined the British forces, and was placed at the

head of tlie commissariat department. Soon after the battle

(.f Brooklyn in 1776, he was made prisoner, and carried to

Xew York. The raidd advance of the British army caused

the Americans to abandon that city in haste, and he was re-
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leased. In 1780 lie was iigaiii taken prisoner, while com-

maiidint; a foraging party in the vicinity of Springfield, Bur-

lington, New Jersey, but made liis escape. He was appointed

aide-de-camp to Baron Linsingen, then in command of the

auxiliary Hessian troops, retaining his coinmissai-y powers.

Owing to the scarcity of provisions, a rifle corps of German

emigrants was raised, to the number of 400, and, being placed

under his command, proved an efficient foraging force. At

the battle of Guildford Court-house, March 15, 1781, he was

wounded in bis sword hand, in single combat with an Ameri-

can dragoon, and was only saved from being cut down, by

tlie appearance of a British liglit horseman, who slew his

adversary. At the peace of 1783, be came to England, and

retired on the half-pay of a colonel. He was the author of a

' History of the American War,' published in 1791. In 1797,

through the influence of the Jlarquis Cornwallis, be was ap-

pointed deputy-comptroller and accountant-general of the

revenue of stamps, an office created on the occasion. He died

in 1812, and was succeeded in his office by bis only son John,

born in 178G. In 1813 the latter was appointed civil secretary

at Gibraltar and registrar of the Supreme Court of Appeal, and

in 1816 one of the judges of the Court of Admiralty there.

4. John Stedman of Wester Baldridge, Fifesbire. Born in

1678, he was ordained, in 1699, minister of Dalmeny, Lin-

lithgowshire, and, in 1710, translated to the Tron cliurch,

Edinburgh. He died in 1713. By bis wife, Jean, 2d

daughter of Eev. John Kinnaird, minister of East Calder,

be had three sons; Robert, Alexander, and Jolin, and six

daughters. Robert Stedman, the eldest son, born in 1701,

entered in 1730, as ensign in the Scots brigade in the Dutch

service, and rose to the rank of lientenant-colonel. He was

at the battles of Fontenoy and Rocroix, and the sieges of

Dendermond and Bergen-op Zoom, and died at Breda in

1770. He left two sons, John Gabriel, born 1741, and Wil-

liam George, born 1748, both lieut.-colonels in the Scots bri-

gade, Dutcli service. John Gabriel, the elder son, was infeft in

Ernieside, Kinross-shire, in 1791. In 1796 be published a

' Narrative of a Five Years' Expedition against the revolted Ne-

groes of Surinam from 1772 to 1777.' The same year be was

appointed to the command of a British regiment of the line,

then in garrison at Gibraltar, but was prevented by an acci-

dent from joining it, and died in 1797.—Alexander, the 2d son,

died at Jamaica, unmarried. Jolin, the 3d son, born in 1710,

was, in 1740, appointed surgeon to the North British dra-

goons, or Scots Greys. He afterwards practised as a physi-

cian in Dunfermline, and subsequently settled in Edinburgh.

Besides several medical treatises, he was the author of ' Lae-

lius and Hortensia, or Thoughts on the Nature and Olyects

of Taste and Genius.' He succeeded to Little Seggie in 1765,

and married Peggy, daughter of Robert Wellwood of Pitliver,

Perthshire. He died in 1791.

Lieutenant-colonel John Gabriel Stedman of Ernieside had

3 sons. 1. William George, bora 1784, who succeeded him

in that property. He was a lieutenant in the royal navy,

and was killed while boarding a F'rench privateer off the

island of Cuba. 2. Robert Adrian, born in 1790, lieutenant-

colonel 1st light cavalry, in the East India Company's ser-

vice, and C.B. He succeeded his brother in lirnieside in

1812. He was at the battle of Alisval in the Punjaub, Jan.

28, 1846, and was mentioned with high praise in tlie de-

spatch of Sir Harry Smith, the commander-in-chief. He
died at sea, April 12, 1849, on his voyage home, after hav-

ing served 41 years in India. A monument to bis memory

is erected at Cawnpore by bis brother officers. 3. John

Cambridge, born in 1796, a captain 34th light infantry. East

India Company's service, was killed in 1834 in battle in Burmah.

Lieutenant-colonel William George Stedman had an only

son, Lient.-general John Andrew Stedman, born in 1788,

who entered the Dutch service as a cadet, and rose to the

rank of lieutenant-general. On 17th and 18th June, 1815,

he covered with the Dutch troops the right wing of the allied

army, and the road from Mons to Brussels, under the com-

mand of tlie Duke of Wellington. He received several orders

of knighthood, and was made by Louis XVIII., an officer of

the Legion of Honour. He died in 1824. His only son,

Charles John William, became a naturalized subject of Prus-

sia, and Baron de Stedman in that kingdom.

Steuaiit, of Allanton, an ancient family in Lanarkshire, a

branch of the great bouse of Stewart, lineally descended from

Sir Robert Stewart of Daldowie, sixth son of Sir John Stew-

art of Bonkill, son of Alexander, fourth lord-higli-steward of

Scotland, Sir John was killed at the battle of Falkirk in

1298. He had bestowed in 1290, the estate of Daldowie, in

Clydesdale, part of his extensive possessions in the counties

of Lanark and Renfrew, in patrimony on his son. Sir Robert.

The latter fought at Bannockburn, and with three of bis bro-

thers. Sir Allan, Sir Walter, and Sir Hugh, accompanied

Edward Bruce to Ireland in 1315. He was in the battle of

Dundalk in 1318, in which Edward Bruce was killed.

The lands of Allanton, in the parish of Cainbusbmg, which

afterwards came into the possession of this family, previously

belonged to the abbey of Aberbrothwick.

From Allan Stewart of Daldowie, a staunch adherent of

the house of Douglas, killed in 1385 in action against the

English, descended James Stewart of Allanton, who had

two sons. Sir Walter, born in 1606, and Sir James, of Colt-

ness, twice lord-provost of Edinburgh. Sir Walter Stewart

of Allanton married Margaret, eldest daughter of Sir James

Hamilton of Broomhill, and sister of the first Lord Belhaven.

" It is recorded that Oliver Cromwell, in 1G50, after the bat-

tle of Dunbar, in his progress through Lanarkshire, baited

with a few attendants at Allanton house, where he was hos-

pitably entertained by Lady Stewart, and where he passed

the night. Sir Walter, being a royalist, took care to be out

of the way. On the Protector's arrival, it is said, some

choice canary and other refreshments were presented, but he

would .suffer nothing to be touched until he himself had first

said grace, which he fervently did for more than half-an-hour,

to the great edification of the lady. He then courteously in-

quired after Sir Walter, and on drinking the health of the

family, observed that his mother's name was Stewart, and

that he always felt a kindness for the name." Sir Walters

eldest son and heir apparent, Gavin, predeceased his father in

March 1652, leaving an only daughter, Margaret, who only

survived him a year. William, another son of Sir Walter,

succeeded him as proprietor of Allanton. The offer of a bar-

onetcy of Nova Scotia was, in 1687, made to him by King

James VII., but declined, from the chivalrous feeling preva-

lent at that period, that the title of a knight banneret con-

ferred by the hands of royalty on the field of battle, which

so many of his ancestors had so gloriously acquired, was a

more honourable distinction. On his refusal it was given to

his cousin, Robert Stewart of Allanbank, loth August 1687.

James Steuart, born in 1715, tenth baron of Allanton. and

thirteenth in descent from the lord-high-steward of Scotland,

died in 1772. He married in 1754, bis cousin, Margaret,

daughter of Henry Steuart Barclay, Esq. of CoUairnie, Fife-

shire, younger brother of Sir James Steuart of Goodtrees,

baronet, solicitor-general for Scotland, in the reign of George

I. His son. Sir Henry Steuart, an elegant scholar and ac-

complished gentleman, born 20th October 1759, was, in
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1814, created a baronet of tlie United Kingdom, with re-

mainder to liis son-in-law, Rej^inald Macdoiiald of StatTa,

tliird son of Colin Macdonald of Boisdale, but tlie eldest son

by bis second marriage. Celebrated for bis skill and success

as an arboriculturist, and as the founder of tbe art of trans-

planting large trees, Sir Ilcnry was tbe autbor of the follow-

ing pulilications :
' Genealogy of the Stewarts refuted, in a

Letter to Andrew Stnavt, Esq.,' Kdin. 1799, 4to; 'Account

of a Plan for tbe better supplying the City of Edinburgh

with Coal,' 1801, 8vo; 'The Works of Sallust; to wliicb are

prefixed, Two ICssays on the Life, Literary Character and

Writings of tbe Historian; with Notes, historical, biographi-

cal and critical,' London, 1806, 2 vols. 4to; 'An Essay on

the Ik'st Mode of Transplanting Trees.' He was LL.I).,

F.R.S. and F.A.S. Edinburgh. He died in March 183G.

lie bad married, in 1787, Lillias, daughter of Hugh Seton,

Esq. of Toucb-Scton, Stirlingshire, and bad by her two

daughters, tbe elder of whom died in infancy. The other,

Elizabeth Margaret, his sole lieiress, born 31st October 1790,

married in January 1812, Ueginald .Macdonald, Esq. of Staf-

fa, sheriff of Stirlingshire, and, with two daughters, had

three sons, tbe youngest of whom, Colin Reginald, was

drowned. On succeeding, in 1835, in right of lier mother, to

tbe estate of Toucb-Seton, the property of her maternal un-

cle, the Hon. Archibald Seton, at one period a member of

the supreme council of Bengal, and governor of Prince of

Wales' Island, she took tbe surname of Seton, in addition to

her own. Her busb.ind succeeded his fatbcr-in-Iaw as sec-

ond baronet in 1836, and thereafter was styled Sir Reginald

Macdonald Steu.art Seton, baronet of Stali'a, Allauton, .and

Touch. He died in 1838. Their eldest son, Sir Henry

.Tames Seton Stcuart, born in 1812, succeeded bis father as

third baronet. He married in 1852, Elizabeth, eldest daugh-

ter of Robert, younger son of Sir James Montgomery, of

Stanhope, baronet. As the representative of the Setons of

Touch, he holds tlie office of hereditary armour-bearer to tbe

sovereign, and squire of the royal boiiy. The Setons of Touch

claim tbe title of Baron Seton de Uordon, (see page 440 of

this volume).

Tlie progenitor of tbe Coltness family was Sir James Stcu-

art, second son of James Stenart of Allauton. Born in 1608,

Sir James was a banker in Edinburgh, of which city he was

in 1649 elected lord-provost. He acquired a large fortune,

and in 1653 purchased the lands of West Carbarns or Kirk-

field, Lanarkshire, from Sir John Somen-ille of Cambusne-

than, and soon after tbe estate of Coltness, in the same

county, from Sir John Hamilton of Udston. Being a zealous

Covenanter, be w.as, in 1650, chosen, with the marquis of

Arpyle and tbe earl of Egliuton, on tbe part of the Scots, to

hold a conference with Oliver Cromwell in Bruntsfield Links.

In 1659 he was .again elected lord-provost of Edinburgh, but

on account of his covenanting principles, was dismissed at

the Restoration, and after being confined in tbe castle of Ed-

inburgh, was sent prisoner to Dundee, and fined £1,500

sterling. In 1670, he obtained a pardon. Archbishop Leigh-

ton w.is brought up at Edinburgh under his care, and the

undaunted Hugh Mackail, executed in 1666, had been chap-

lain in his family. Among many particulars recorded in tbe

Coltness manuscripts, tbe following, inserted in the New
St.atistical Account of Scotland, (vol. v. p. 618, Note. Parish

of C.ambusncthan,) may be quoted here :
" Sir James Stew-

art, who bad been twice first m.igistrate of Edinburgh, when

nearly seventy-three years of age, after bis last visit to Colt-

ness, when going to Edinburgh, accompanied by some of tbe

most respectable in the land; at Muiryett, about two miles

from Allanton, there was a rising ground wliicli draws an

extensive prospect ; there he stopt, and having turned his

horse, he looked around upon a scenery that be was convinced

he should behold no more, and exclaimed, while tears of gra-

titude flowed down his venerable cheeks, ' Westshiel, and

Lanark, and Carnwath church, my early home, my favourite

haunts, farewell! Coltness, and Allanton, and Cambusne-
than church, my later sweet abodes, farewell ! Ye witnesses

of my best spent hours and of my most ardent devotions, a

last farewell! It is long since I bade tlie vanities of this

world adieu.'
"

Tbe 4tb son of this worthy man, who was also named Sir

James Steuart, born in 1635, was one of the mo.st eminent

advocates of his time. In 1695 be was created a baronet of

Nova Scotia. He died in 1715.

His only son. Sir James Steuart of Goodtrees and Coltness,

2d hart., born in 1G8I, was also an advocate, and became so-

licitor-general for Scotland. By his wife, Anne, daughter of

Sir Hugh Dalrymple of North Berwick, lord-president of the

court of session, be had, with one son, James, tbe subject of

the following notice, three d.aiighteis. 1. Margaret, born in

1715, wife of Thomas Calderwood, Esq. of Poltown. 2. Ag-
nes, born in 1717, married David, earl of Bucban, father of

Thomas, first Lord Erskine in the peerage of Great Britain,

and tbe Hon. Henry Erskine. 3 Marion, born in 1723, the

wife of Alexander JIurray, Esq. of Cringletie, father of James

Wolfe Jlurray, a lord of session under the title of Lord Crin-

gletie.

The son. Sir James Dcnham Steuart of Coltness, 3d hart.,

an eminent writer on political economy, was born at Edin-

burgh, October 10, 1713. He received the rudiments of his

education at the school of North Berwick, from which lie w.as

removed to tbe university of Edinburgh. He succeeded his

father in 1727, and in 1734 was admitted advocate, but

without any intention of prosecuting the law as a profession.

Soon after, he set out on a tour on the continent, and in

1740 returned to Scotland. In October 1743 he married

Lady Frances, eldest daughter of the earl of \\'emyss, and

sister of Lord Elcho, one of the principal adherents of Prince

Charles Stuart. Having while at Rome been introduced to

the prince, Sir .James, on the arrival of the young adventurer

in Edinburgh in 1745, prevailed upon his brother-in-law to

conduct him, apparently as a prisoner, to bis presence. Tbe

earl of Bucluin, who had married one of Sir James" sisters,

was also brought by Lord Elcho to Holyrood, on the same

pretence. As the prince refused to see them except as avow-

ed adherents of his cause. Lord Bucban retired, not wishing

to commit himself, but Sir James at once offered his services

to the young Pretender, and was despatched by him on a

mission to the court of France, where be was at tbe time of

the battle of Culloden. Being among these who were excepted

in the .act of indemnity, he was forced to remain in exile for

eighteen years, residing chiefly in the town of Angouleme,

but visiting other parts of the continent. While residing at

Spa during the Seven years' war, lie was arrested, though iu

a neutral territory, by a body of French troops, for bis en-

thusi.Tstic rejoicings in the success of tbe British arms, and

conveyed to a prison in the duchy of Luxemburg, where he

was detained for several months. In 1758 he published at

Frankfort on the Main, a vindication in French of Newton's

Chronology, .and tbe same year, while settled at Tubingen in

Suabia, he produced bis 'Treatise on German Coins,' written

in the German language. In 1763 he returned to Scotland,

and was allowed to remain unmolested on his estates, which

bad never been forfeited. His ' Enquiiy into the Principles

of Political Econjui) ' was the first considerable work on this
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subject published in Great Britain. It appeared in 1767, in

two volumes quarto, and tor the copyriglit of the work he got

£500 from Messrs. Miller and Cadell. As this work was

published nine years before that of Dr. Adam Smith, Sir James

Steuart is well entitled to be considered the father of politi-

cal economy in Great Britain. In 1771 he obtained a full

pardon, and in 1772 he published, at the request of the East

India Company, a treatise on ' The Principles of Honey as

applied to the Coin of Bengal.'

In 1712, Sir James Steuart of Goodtrees purchased

from his nephew, Sir David, the son of his eldest bro-

ther. Sir Thomas Steuart, the estate of Coltness, and

in 1773, Sir James Denham Steuart, the political econo-

mist, on the death of Sir Archibald Steuart Denham, suc-

ceeded to the baronetcy of Coltness, which became united

in his person with that of Goodtrees. Sir James died of

an inflammation in his toe, November 2G, 17S0. He was

buried in the family vault at Cambusiietlian church, Lan-

arkshire, and a monument was erected to his memory in

Westminster Abbey.

His works are: ' Dirleton's Doubts and Questions in

the Law of Scotland resolved and answered,' lidinbui-gh,

1715, folio; 'Apologie du Sentiment de Newton sur I'An-

cienne Chronologie des Grecs, contenant des responses a,

toutes les objections qui y ont ete faites jusqu'a present,'

Franc.-sur-le-Mein, 1757, 4to; 'A Treatise on German

Coins;' in German, Tubingen, 1757; ' A Dissertatipn upon

the Doctrine and Principles of Money applied to the German

Coin,' Tubingen, 1758; 'An Inquiry into the Principles of

Political Economy
;
being an essay on the science of domes-

tic policy in free nations; in which are particularly consider-

ed, population, agriculture, trade, industry, money, coin,

interest, circulation, banks, exchange, public credit, and

taxes,' Lond. 17G7, 2 vols. 4to ; Dublin, 1770, 3 vols. 8vo;

' The Principles of Money applied to the present state of

Bengal,' 1772, 4to; 'A Plan for introducing Uniformity in

Weights and Measures within the limits of the British Em-
pire,' Lond. 1790, Svo ;

' Considerations on the Interest of

the County of Lanark in Scotland ; which may be applied to

that of Great Britain in general, in relation to agriculture,

maintenance of the poor, wages of labourers, and connection

and interest of the land and trade, &c.' His works, com-

plete in si.K volumes Svo, with a Memoir, were published in

1805, by his son, who also published in 1818, at Greenock,

the Correspondence between his father and the celebrated

Lady Mary Wortley Montague, whose acquaintance he had

made at Venice in 1758.

The son. Sir James Steuart, fourth baronet, born in 1744,

a general in the army, colonel of the 2d dragoons, and M.P.

for Lanarkshire, died, without issue, in 1839, when his

cousin. Sir Henry Barclay Steuart, eldest son of Henry

Steuart B.irclay, Esq. of. CoUairnie, Fifeshire, succeeded as

fifth baronet.

The family of Steuart of Auchlunkart, Banffshire, are de-

scended from Alexander Stewart of Stradown, advocate,

fourth son of the earl of Athol, (see vol. i. page 163). His

son, Andrew Stuart of Tannadice, was father of another

Andrew, who was the first to spell his name Steuart. Tlie

great-grandson of this Andrew Steuai-t of Tannadice, Patrick

Steuart, married his cousin, Elizabeth, daughter of Alexan-

der Stewart of Auchlunkart, an estate which came into the

family by marriage with the heiress of Innes of Auchlunkart.

Patrick was succeeded by his brother, Andrew, who married

Harriet, daughter of James Gordon of Cocklarachie, Aber-

deenshire, and had three sons and two daughters, the younger

of whom, Mary, married David Monypenny, Esq. of Pitmilly,

a lord of session under the title of Lord Pitmilly. Patrick

Steuart of Auchlunkart House, Andrew's eldest son, married
J

9th November 1820, Rachel, only daughter of Lachlan Gor-
j

don of Park ; with issue, an only son, Andrew, born 25th

May 1822, of the Inner Temple, London.

The family of Steuart of Dalguise, Perthshire, are descend-

ed from Sir John Stewart of Anitullie and Cardneys, also

designed of Dowallie, the youngest natural son of King Ro-

bert II. of Scotland, by JIarion or Mariota de Cardney,

daughter of John de Cardney of that ilk, sister of Robert

Cardney, bishop of Dunkeld from 1396 to 1436. Sir John

Stewart, knighted at the coronation of King James I. at

Scone in 1424, married .lean Drnmmond, sister of Annabella

Drummond, queen of Robert III., and daughter of Sir John

Dnimmond of Drnmmond. His grandson, the third laird of
I

ArntuUie, died about 1320, leaving three sons. The eldest

continued the family of Arntullie, the lineal .and male repre-

sentative of which, Ronald Steuart Jlenzies, Esq., w.as the

grandson of John Steuart of Cardneys, who assumed the

name of Menzies, on succeeding as heir of entail to Culdares

and the other estates of his maternal uncle, Colonel Jlenzies.

At the Reformation in Scotland, the lairds of Arntullie and

Kinnaird received an order signed by the lord James Stew-

art, afterwards the regent Moray, the earl of Argyle and

Lord Ruthven, to take down and burn the images at the

cathedral church of Dunkeld. The laird of Arntullie, on that

occasion unroofed the cathedral. At that time he held the

office of bailie of the regality of Dunkeld, which continued

for some time in his family. John, the second son, was an-

cestor of the family of Steuart of Dalguise. The third son,

Sir Thomas, was vicar of Dowallie.

John Steuart of Dalguise died in 1576. The lands of

Dalguise had been granted to him in 1543, by George,

bishop of Dunkeld. By his wife, Elizabeth, daughter of

Alexander Stewart of Grandtully, he had a son, Alexander

Steuart, whose son, John Steuart, usually styled in Gaelic,

Ian Molir Ilacalastair, or great John, the son of Alexander,

was leader of the Athole Stew.arts under the banner of the

marquis of Jlontrose, during the civil wars, and having been

chamberlain to the bishops of Dunkeld, he possessed consid-

erable influence in the neighbouring districts. He married

Elizabeth, daughter of Mr. Stewart of Kinnaird, of the fam-

ily of Ro.syth, and died in 1G53. With several daughters,

he had three sons. Alexander, the eldest son, succeeded.

William, the second son, got from his father the lands of

Jliddle Dalguise, and married a d.iughter of Menzies of Bol-

fjacks. From the third son arc descended several Stewarts

in Strathbran.

John Steuart, the sixth laird of Dalguise, was a commis-

sioner of supply for the county of Perth, and took a part in

many of the military and political tr.insactions of his time.

He married his second cousin, Isobel, only daughter of Wil-

liam Steuart of Middle Dalguise .above mentioned, and died

in 1706. His eldest son, John Steuart of Dalguise, born in

1G89, possessed the estate for the long period of 70 years.

He was engaged in the rebellion of 1715. He was present,

as an officer of cavalry, at the battle of Slieriffmuir, and suf-

fered both fine and imprisonment. He built the house of

Dalguise, and was a magistrate and commissioner of supply

for the county of Perth, as wei'e also the subsequent propri-

etors of Dalguise. He died 25th September 1776, aged 87,

and was succeeded by his eldest son, John Steuart, eighth

hiird of Dalguise. His fifth son, David, at one period a

banker in Edinburgh, in partnership with Robert Allan, Esq.
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w:i.s ill 1781 elected lorj-provost of Unit eitv, office wliieli

lie filled for two yeiirs. lie siilisequeiitly beciiiiie ;i inercliiiiit

in Leitli, iiiid afterwards a wine iiieicliant in Kdinliiirj;li.

Haviiii; in liis youth resided for some years on the continent,

lie liiul acquired a knowledge of several modern languages,

lie was A great book collector, and two of the finest sjieci-

niens of early printing now in the Advocates' lihrary were

formerly in his possession, namely, the first edition of the

Latin Bible, in two large volumes folio, one of the carlie^t

books executed with iiioveablc types, supposed to have been

printed by Gntteniberg and Faust in l-loO. The other is

the Breviary of the lioman Church, beautifully printed on

the finest vellum at Venice, by Nicholas Jeiison in 1478, and

finely illuminated. Provost Steuart married Ann I'ordyce,

an Aberdeenshire lady, by whom he had si.\teen cninji>.r.,

and having left Kdiiiburgh in 1815, he died at Urctna Hall

near Annan, 17tli Jlay 18-4.

The eldest son, John Steuart, eighth laird of Dalguise,

died in 178.i, aged 7i), and was succeeded by his filth son,

Charles, the four eldest having all died young.

Charles Steuart, 9th laird of Dalguise, was appointed dep-

uty-lieut. for Perthshire, on the first institution of that office

iii'.Sc,itland in 1794. lie died Oct. 27, 1821, aged (Jo.

His eldest son, John Steuart of Dalguise, born Aug. 7, 1799,

married in 18-9, the Hon. Janet Uliphant Murray, eldest

daughter of the Sili Lord Elibank: issue, five daughters ; a

ilepiity-lieut. and magistrate for the county of Perth, and in

1829 high-sheriff <if the colony of the Cape of (jood Hope.

The Stcuarts of llallechiii, in the same county, are de-

scended from Sir John Stesvart, an illegitimate son of King

James IL of Scotland. Having purchased the lands of

Sticks in Glenquaich from Patrick Cardney of that ilk, he

got a charter of those lands from King James IIL. dated in

December 148G. The family afterwards acquired the hinds

of Ballecliin.

STEVEXSOX, RoiiicKT, a (listiiigiii.shed civil

cngiuccr and tlio .?olc designer and executor of tlic

Im'II fdclc liglitIiou,-ie, was boni at Glasgow-, 8tli

June 177-. He was the only son of Allan Ste-

venson, incfcliant in tliat city, v\ lio died, wliilst

liis son was yet an infant, at St. Cliristoplier's,

in tlic ^Vost Indies, being a partner in an cstab-

lislinieiit connected Mitlilliat i.-Iand. At first lie

was designed for tlie ministry, bnt liis inotlier,

whose maiden name was Jane Lillie, liaving mar-

ried again, when he was fifteen years of age, he

was placed nnder his stepfather's care and brought

lip to his profession, ller second husband was

Thomas Smith, a widower with several children,

originally a tinsmith in Edinburgh, bnt who after-

wards devoted himself lo engineering, and had

the merit of introdncing into lighthouses oil lamps

with parabolic mirrors, instead of the open coal

fires placed in elevated cholfers, which had pre-

viously lighted them. "When the Board of com-

missioners for the northern lighthouses was esta-

blished in 178G, Jlr. Smith was appointed its

engineer. At the age of nineteen, i\li-. Stevenson

was iiitrnsted by him with the erection of a light-

house on the island of Little Cnnibrae, in the fritii

of Cl\'de, which he had been commissioned by the
j

Clyde Trustees to construct. This umlcrtaking
|

he executed with so much satisfaction to his

stepfather that he was soon after adniiltcd his

partner. As his education had been somewhat

neglei'ted, he devoted the winter months to at-

temlance, first, at tlie Andersonian liistitntion,
j

Ohisgiiw, aim afterwards at the university of Ed- 1

inbnrgh, his principal studies being mathematics,

natural iiliilosophy, chemistry, and natiu'al liisto-
j

ry, also logic, moral jihihisophy, and agriculture.
j

lie succeeded his stejifatiier as ciigiuccr to the
j

commissioners, and snperintendent of lightliouses, !l

and his fii-st tour of ins])ection was made in 1797.
:j

In 1809 he married ]\Ir. Smith's eldest daugliter.
jj

III! resigned tlie ofiice of superintendent of light-
j[

houses ill l.sl:'>, and during the long period that
|[

he liad held it he erected no fewer than twenty-
;

three lighthouses within the distiict of the com-

mission. His princiiial Mork was tlic Bell rock '!

lighthouse, in the (Jei-inan ocean, about twelve !

miles from Arbroath, on the east coast of .Scot-

land. His plans liaving received the approbation
j!

of ^Ir. Rennic, the celebrated engineer, operations '

I

were commenced in the summer of 1S07, and af- ![

ter overcoming almost iiisiirmoniitablc dilhculties, !;

the building was completed in October 1810. In

the course of the winter the internal fittings went
;

forward, and on the 1st February 1811, the bea-
|[

con was lighted for tlie first time. The expense [\

of the whole was about £60,000. The light is I

revolving, and by means of colouretl glass, it '|

shows alternatelv red and white every two minutes,
j

;

In foggy weather, two large bells arc tolled by
|

the same train of machinciy that moves the lights.
1

1

It is one of the most prominent and serviceable
j

beacons on the Scottish shores, and has been the

means of preventing innumerable wrecks. An
1

account of it was ptiblished by Mr. Stevenson in
^

1824, in one volume 4to. For his invention of

the fiashing lights, he received a gold medal from

the king of tlie Xetherlands.

After the eventful ycav 181.5, when it was
|

shown that 1
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" Peace has its victories as well as w;u-,"

Ml'. Stevenson was generalh' consulted as an au-

tliorit}' in all matters relating to tlie construction

of harbours, roads, docks, breakwaters, and rail-

wa3-s. He it was who first brought into notice

the superioritj' of malleable iron rods for railways

over the old cast iron. His labours were princi-

pally exhibited on the coasts of Scotland ; scarce-

ly a harbour, rock, or island, but bears evidence

of his indefatigable industry, and the amount of

life and property which, by his exertions, have

been saved, is beyond calculation. The beautiful

eastern approach to Edinburgh by the Calton hill

was planned hy him, and executed unddr his di-

rection. His suggestion of a new form of sus-

pension bridge, applicable to small spans, was

partially adopted in the bridge over the Thames

at Hammersmith, London. In 1815 he was elect-

ed a fellow of the Royal Society of Edinburgh.

He afterwards became a member of the Geological

Society of London, and the Werneriau and Anti-

quarian Societies of Scotland.

Mr. Stevenson died at his residence in Edin-

burgh, 12th July 1850. Besides his account of

the Bell rock lighthouse, lie was the author of

several articles in the Encyclopedia Britannica,

also in Brewster's Edinburgh Encyclopedia, and

other scientific journals. In 1817, he published a

series of letters in the Scots Magazine, containing

an account of a tour which he made through the

Netherlands and a description of the engineering

works connected with the drainage and embank-

ment of Holland. His printed professional reports

and contributions are also sufficient to fill four

quarto volumes. A marble bust of him, executed

by Mr. Samuel Josephs, sculptor, at the command

of the commissioners of the board of northern

lighthouses, stands in the library of the Bell rock

lighthouse, the noblest monument of his genius.

A memoir of him by his son, Mr. Allan Steven-

son, who succeeded him in office, was contributed,

shortly after his death, to the New Philosophical

Journal.

Stewart, a surname derived from the liigh office of stew-

ard of the roj'al lionseliold, and distiiiguislied as being that

of a race of Scottisli kings wliich occupied tlie tin-one of Scot-

land for upwards of three hundred, and that of England for

more than one hundred years. Tlie name is sometimes writ-

ten Steuart, and hy tlie later royal family of Scotland,

Stuart. As various families throughout Scotland, as well as

in England and Ireland, bear this surname, some of the prin-

cipal branches having diverged from the main line at a pe-

riod antecedent to its becoming royal, it may be assumed

that those who retain the original spelling belong to some

one or other of these branches, that the families who adopt

the spelling of Steuart are oflfshoots, generally illegitimate, of

the royal house previously to Queen Mary, and that the form

of Stuart, which was only assumed, for the first time, when

that ill-fated princess went to France, is exclusively that of

the royal blood. In the death-warrant of Charles I. the

name is spelled Steuart.

The first of the family of Stewart is said by Pinkerton to

have been a Norman baron named Alan, who obtained from

William the Conqueror the barony of Oswestry in Shropshire.

He was the son of Flaald, and the father of three sons, Wil-

liam, Walter and Simon. It is from the second that the

royal family of Scotland descend.

The eldest son, William, was the progenitor of a race of

earls of Arundel, whose title, being territorial, and lands, ul-

timately went by an heiress into the family of the duke of

Norfolk. The two younger sons, Walter and Simon, came

to Scotland. Walter was by David I. appointed dapifer,

that is, meat-bearer or steward of the royal household

;

sometimes called seneschallus. Simon w.as the ancestor of the

Boyds, his son, Robert, having been called Boidh, from his

yellow hair.

The duties of high-stew.ird comprised the management of

the royal household, as well as the collection of the national

revenue and the command of the king's armies, and from the

ofiice Walter's descendants took the name of Stewart.

From David I. —1153) Walter obtained the lands of

Renfrew, Paisley, Pollock, Catlicart, and others in that dis-

trict, and in 1157, King Malcolm IV. granted a charter of

confirmation of the same. In 1160, he founded the abbey of

Paisley, the monks of which, of the Cluniac order of Reform-

ed Benedictines, were brought from the priory of Wenlock in

Shropshire. Walter died in 1177, and was interred in the

monastery at Paisley, the burying-place of the Stewarts be-

fore their accession to the throne, Renfrew being their usual

residence.

Walter's son and successor, Alan, died in 1204, leaving a

son, Walter, who was appointed by Alexander II. justiciary of

Scotland, in addition to his hereditary ofHce of high-steward.

He died in 124G, leaving four sons and three daughters.

Walter, the third son, was earl of Jlenteith. The eldest

son, Alexander, was, in 1255, one of the councillors of

Alexander III., then under age, and one of the regents of

Scotland. He married Jean, daughter and lieii-ess of James,

lord of Bute, grandson of Somerled, and, in her right,

he seized both the Isle of Bute and that of Arran. The

complaints made to the Norwegian court by Ruari or

Roderick of Bute, and the other islanders, of the aggressions

of the Scots, led to Haco's celebrated expedition, and the

battle of Eargs, 2d October 1263, in which the high-steward

commanded the right wing of the Scots army, and the Nor-

wegians were signally defeated. In 1265 the whole of the

western isles were ceded by treaty to Scotland.

Alexander had two sons, James, his successor, and John,

known as that Sir .John Stewart of Bonkill, who fell at the

battle of Falkirk in 1298, (see p. 510 of this volume). Un-

der Sir John Stewart, in this battle, were the men of Bute,

known at that time by the name of the Lord-high-steward's

Brandanes, and they were almost wholly slain with their

valiant leader. Wyntoun says

:
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"Tliare Jlion Stwrirt a-pon fute,

W}'tli livm tlic ISrandanjs tliare of Bute."

Sir .John Stewart liad seven cons. 1. Sir Alexander, ancestor

of tlie Stewarts, earls of Angus. 2. Sir Alan of Dregliorn,

of the earls and dukes of Lennox, of the name of Stewart.

.S. Sir Walter, of the earls of Gallnw.ay. 4. Sir James, of

the earls of Athol, Buclian, and Traquair, (sec these titles)

and the Lords Lorn and Innermcatli. 5. Sir John, killed

at Halidonliill in 1333. C. Sir Hngli, who fought in Lelaml

under Edward Bruce. 7. Sir Kohert of Daldowie.

James, the elder .sou of Alexander, succcedcii as fifth liigli-

steward in 1283. On the death of Alexander IlL in 128G,

lie was one of the six magnates of Scotland chosen to act as

regents of the kingdom. In the subsequent contest for the

crown, he was one of the auditors on the part of Kobert de

ISrus, but fought br.ively under Sir William Wallace in his

memorable attempt to retrieve the national independence. lie

subinitled to Edward L, 9th July 1297. In 1302, with other

six ambassadors, he was sent to solicit the aid of the

French king against Edward, to whom lie was compelled

to swear fealty at Lancrcost, October 23d, 1306. To

render his oath if possible secure, it was taken upon the

two crosses of Scotland most esteemed for their sanctity,

on the consecrated host, the holy gospels, and certain relics

of saints. He also agreed to submit to instant excommuni-

cation if lie should break his allegiance to Edward. Con-

vinced that his faith was to his country and not to a usurper,

in spite of all, he once more took part in the patriotic cause,

and died in the service of Bruce, in 1309.

His son, Walter, the sixth high-steward, when only twcn-

tv-oiie years of age, commanded with Douglas the left wing

of the Scots army at the battle of Bannockburu. Soon after,

on the liberation of the wife .and daughter of Bruce from their

long captivity in England, the liigh-steward was sent to re-

ceive them on the borders, and conduct them to the Scotti.sh

court. In the following year. King Robert bestowed his

daughter, the Princess Jlarjoiy, in marriage upon him, and

from them the royal house of Stuart and the present dynasty

of Great Britain are descended. The lordship of Largs, on

the forfeiture of John Baliol, had been conferred by Bnice on

the high-steward, and with his daughter he got in dowry an

extensive endowment of lands, particularly the barony of

Bathgate, Linlitligow.sliire. The princess died in 131G. Ac-

cording to a local but unauthenticated tradition, she was

thrown from her horse and killed at a place called the Knock,

near llenfrew, leaving a sou, afterwards Kobert II.

During the .absence in Ireland of his illustrious father-in-

law, to the high-steward and Sir James Douglas, Bruce

confided the government of the kingdom, and by them the

borders were gallantly defended against all the inroads of the

English. On the capture of Berwick from the English in

1318, he got the command of that town, which, on 24th July

1319, was laid siege to by ICdward II. The English brought

formidable engines against the walls, and on these being de-

stroyed by the garrison, the steward rushed from the town, and

by a sudden onset beat oft" the enemy. In 1322, with Douglas

and IJandiilpli, he made an attempt to surprise the English

king at Biland abbey, near Melton, Yorkshire. Edward,

however, escaped, though w ith the utmost difficulty, to York.

Walter pursued him with live hundred lior.se, and in the spirit

of chivalry, w.aited at the gates till the evening for the enemy

to issue forth and renew the combat. He died 9tli .-\pril 132G,

at the castle of Bathgate, one of his chief residences, which was

curiously situated in the centre of a bog. At the time of

his death lie was only thirty-three years of age.

III.

His son, Kobert, seventh lord-liigli-steward, had been de-

clared heir presumptive to the throne in 1318, but the birth

of a son to Bruce in 132G interrupted his prospects for a

time. From his grandfather he received large po.ssessions of

land in Kintyre. During the long and disastrous reign of

David II. the steward acted a patriotic part in defence of the

kingdom. At the fatal fight of Halidon-hill in 1333, when

little more than seventeen years of age, he commanded the

••iecond division of the Scottish .army, under the in.spec-

tion of his father's brother. Sir James Stewart of Durris-

deer. A .short time after, when Scotl.-ind was nearly over-

run by Edvv.ard III., he was forfeited by that monarch,

and his oflico of high - steward given to the English

carl of Arundel, who pretended a right to it, in consideration

of his descent from the elder brother of Walter, the first

steward of the family. Kobert Stewart, as he was usually

called, "was," says Fordun, "a comely youth, tall and ro-

bust, modest, liberal, gay, and courteous, and, for the innate

sweetness of his disposition, generally beloved by all true-

hearted Scotsmen." In 1334, after the temporary success

of Edward Baliol, the young steward was forced to ccm-

ceal himself for a time in Bute. Escaping thence the fol-

lowing year, he recovered his own castle of Dunoon, in

Cowal, which had been taken by B.aliol. He next re-

duced the island of Bute, and caused the people of Renfrew-

shire and Ayrshire to acknowledge David II. On the death,

in 1Q38, of the regent. Sir Andrew Jloray of Bothwell, the

command of the Scots army devolved upon the steward
;
and,

shortly aftcrw.ards, by the treachery of its governor Bulloch,

.an ecclesiastic whom Baliol had appointed chamberlain of

Scotland, lie obtained possession of the castle of Cupar in

Fife, which the late regent had in vain attempted to take by

fcirce. Bv his exertions, the English were driven from the

country, and on tlie return of David II., then in his eigh-

teenth year, from his nine years' exile in France, in .Tune

1341, he was enabled to restore to him his kingdom free, and

once more established in peace and order. In 134G, when

D.avid 11. was defeated and taken prisoner at the battle of

Durham, the remains of the Scots army were conducted home

in safety bv the earl of March .and the steward of Scotland.

The latter, during the imprisonment of the king, was again

appointed regent. In 1357, he effected the liberation of the

kins:, liis own eldest son being one of the hostages sent to

England in his stead. King David, the following year,

conferred on liim the earldom of Stratlierii. The king

afterwards entered into a di.<graceful plot with the Eng-

lish mon.wli, to have the kingdom of Scotland settled

on Prince Lionel, diike of Clarence, a son of the latter.

On proposing this to tlie Scots pariiament in 13C3, the

steward assembled his adherents, to enforce his right of

succession, which had been confirmed by a former pariiament.

The king, on his part, marched with .an army against the

partisans of the steward, and soon awed them into submis-

sion. David, however, was compelled to respect the law of

succession as established by King Robert the Bruce; and he

conferred the earldom of Carrick, formeriy belonging to that

monarch, u]>on the eldest son of the steward, afterwards Ro-

bert IIL On D.ivid's marriage with the daughter of Sir

John Logic in 13G8, the steward and his adherents were

thrown into prison. On the death of David, without is.'iue,

February 22d, 1371, the steward, who w;is at that time fifty-

five years of age, succeeded to the crown as Robert II., (see

page 343 of this volume,) being the first of the family of

Stewart who ascended the throne of Scotland.

The direct male line of the elder branch of the Stewarts

terminated with James V., and at tlie accession of James

2 Jv
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VF., whose descent on his fiitlier's side was tlirough the earl

of ijennox, the liead of the second branch, there did not exist

a male offset of the family which had sprung from an indi-

vidual later than Robert II. Widely as some branches of

the Stewarts have spread, and numerous as are the families of

this name, there is not a lineal male representative of any of

the crowned heads of the race, Henry, Cardinal York, who

died in 1804, being the last. The crown which came into

the Stewart family through a female seems destined ever to

be transmitted through a female. From the princess Eliza-

beth, daughter of James VI., descended, through her daugh-

ter, Sophia, electress of Hanover, the present line of British

monarchs. The nearest heir of the royal house of Stuart by

direct descent is Francis V., grand-duke of i\Iodena, born

June 1, 1819, (accession, 1846, ceased to govern, 1859,) his

mother having been JIary Beatrice, of the royal house of

Sardinia. The princess Henrietta, younger daughter of

Charles I. of Great Britain, married the duke of Orleans, and

had 2 daughters, one of whom married the king of Sardinia,

whose elder twin daughter married the duke of Jloden.a.

The male representation or chiefship of the family is claim-

ed by the earl of Gallow.ay (see vol. ii. p. 278) ;
also, by the

Stewarts of Castlemilk as descended from a junior branch of

Darnley and Lennox.

Strwart, the name of one of the Scottish clans not ori-

ginally of Celtic origin. The first and principal scat of the

Stewarts was in Renfrew.shire, but branches of them pene-

trated into the western Highlands and Perthshire, and ac-

quiring territories there, became founders of distinct famihes

of the same name. Of these the principal were the Stewarts

of Lorn, the Stewarts of Athole, and the Stewarts of Bal-

quhidder, from one or other of which all the rest h.ave been

derived. The Stewarts of Lorn were descended from a natu-

ral son of John Stewart, the last lord of Lorn, who, with the

assistance of the M'Larens, retained forcible possession of

part of his father's estates. From this family sprang the

Stewarts of Appin, who, with the Athole branches, were

considered in the Highlands as forming the clan Stewart.

The badge of the original Stewarts was tlie oak, and of the

royal Stuarts, the thistle.

The district of Appin forms the north-west corner of Ar-

gylesliire. In the Ettrick Shepherd's well-known ballad of

' The Stewarts of Appin,' he thus alhides to it

:

" I sing of a land that was famous of yore.

The land of green Appin, the ward of the flood,

Where every grey cairn that broods over the shore,

JIarks graves of the royal, the valiant, or good
;

The land where the strains of grey Ossian were framed,

—

The land of fair Sehna, and reign of Fingal,

—

And late of a race, that with tears must be named.

The noble Clan Stewart, the bravest of all,

Oli-hon a Rei ! and the Stewarts of Appin I

The gallant, devoted old Stewarts of Appin!

Their glory is o'er,

For the clan is no more,

And the Sassenach sings on the hills of Green Appin !
"

In the end of the fifteenth century, the Stewarts of Appin

were vassals of the earl of Argyle in his lordship of Lorn. In

1493 the name of the chief was Dougal Stewart. He was

tlie natural son of John Stewart, the last lord of Lorn, and

Isabella, eldest daughter of the first earl of Argyle, (see vol.

i. p. 546). The assassination of Campbell of Calder, guar-

dian of the young earl of .^rj}dp, in February 1592, (see vol.

i. p. 374.) caused a feud between the Stewarts of Appin and

the Campbells, the effects of which were long felt. During

the civil wars, the Stewarts of Appin ranged themselves un-

der the banners of Jlonfrose, and at the battle of Inverlocby,

2d February 1645, rendered that chiv.alrous nobleman good

service. They and the cause which they upheld were op-

posed by the Campbells, who possessed the north side of the

same parish, a small rivulet, called Con Ruarjh, or red bog,

from the rough swamp through which it ran, being tl.e divid-

ing line of their lands.

The Stewiirts of Appin under tlieir chief, Robert Stewart,

engaged in the rebellion of 1715, when they brought 400

men into the field. They were also "out "in 1745, under

Stewart of Ardshiel, 300 strong. Some lands in Appin were

forfeited on the latter occasion, but were afterwards restored.

The principal family is extinct, and their estate h.as passed

to others, chiefly to a family of the name of Downie. There

are still, however, many branches of this tribe remaining in

Appin. The chief cadets are the families of Ardshiel, Inver-

nahyle, Auchnacrone, Fasnacloich, and Balachulish.

Between the Stewarts of Invernahyle and the Campbells

of Dunstaffnage, there existed a bitter feud, and about the

beginning of the sixteenth century, the former family were

.all cut olT hut one child, the infant son of Stewart of Inver-

nahyle, by the chief of Dunstaffnage, called Cailein Uaine, or

Green Colin. The boy's nurse fled with him to Ardn.imur-

chan, where her husband, the blacksmith of the district, re-

sided. The latter brought him up to his own trade, and at

sixteen years of age he could wield two forehammers at once,

one in each hand, on the anvil, which acquired for him the

name of Domhnull nan ord, or Donald of the hammers.

Having made a two-edged sword for him, his foster-father,

on presenting it, told him of his birth .and lineage, .and of the

event which was the cause of his being brought to Ardna-

murchan. Burning with a desire for vengeance, Donald set

off with twelve of his companions, and .at a smithy at Cor-

pach in Lochaber, he forged a two-edged sword for each of

them. He then proceeded direct to Dunstaffnage, where he

slew Green Colin and fifteen of his retainers. Having re-

covered his inheritance, he ever after proved himself " the un-

conquered foe of the Campbell." The chief of the Stewiirts

of Appin being, at the time, a minor, Donald of the ham-

mers was appointed tutor of the clan. He commanded the

Stewarts of Appin .at the battle of Pinkie in 1547, and on

their return homewards from that disastrous field, in a fam-

ishing condition, they found in a house at the church of Port

of Jlenteith, some fowls roasting for a marriage party. These

they took from the spit, and greedily devoured. They then

proceeded on their way. The earl of Jlenteith, one of the

marriage guests, on being apprised of the circumstance, pur-

sued them, and came up with them at a place called Tober-

nareal. To a taunt from one of his attendants, one of the

Stewarts replied by an arrow through the heart. In the con-

flict that ensued, the earl fell by the ponderous arm of Don-

ald of the hammers, and nearly all his followers were killed,

riie History of Donald of the Hammers, written by Sir Walter

Scott, will be found in the fifth edition of Captain Burt's

Letters.

The Stewarts of Athole consist almost entirely of the de-

scendants, by his five illegitimate sons, of Sir Alexander

Stewart, earl of Buchan, called, from his ferocity, 'The wolf

of Badenoch,' (see vol. i. p. 454,) the fourth son of Robert

II., bv his first wife, Elizabeth More. One of his natui'al

sons, Duncan Stewart, whose disposition was as ferocious as

his father's, .at the he.ad of a vast number of wild Cntlierans.
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•iniii'd only with tlie swonl ;iiul target, desceniU-d from tlie

range of liills which divides the counties of Aberdecnftind

Forfar, and began to devastate tlie country and murder tlic

inhabitants. Sir Walter Ogilvy, sheriff of Angus, Sir Pa-

trick Gray, and Sir David Lindsay of Glenesk, immediately

collected a force to repel tliem, and a desperate conflict took

place at Gasklune, near the water of Isla, in which the for-

mer were overpowered, and the greater part of tliem slain.

James Stewart, another of tlie Wolf of Badenoch's natural

sons, was the ancestor of the family of Stewart of Garth,

from wliich procce<l almost all the other At hole Stewarts. A
battle is traditionally said to have been fought in Gleulyon

between the M'lvcrs, who claimed it as their territory, and

Stewart of Garth, commonly called 'the fierce wolf,' the bro-

ther of the earl of Buchan, which terminated in the utter de-

feat of the M'lvcrs, and their expulsion from the district.

The Garth family became e.xtiuct in the direct line, by the

death of General David Stewart, author of a History of the

Highlands, a memoir of whom is given below. The posses-

sions of the Athole Stewarts lay mainly on tlie north side of

Loch Tay.

The Balquhidder Stewarts derive their origin from illegiti-

mate branches of the Albany family.

The Stewarts of Grandtully, Perthshire, are descended

from .Tames Stewart of Pieiston and Warwickliill, Ayrshire,

who fell at Dupplin in 1332, 4th son of Sir .James Stewart of

Boukill, son of .'Me.^ander 4th lord-high-steward of Scotland,

(see p. 512). Of this family was Thomas Stewart of Balca.s-

kie, Fifeshire, a lord of session, created a baronet of Nova

Scotia, June 2, 1683.

His son, Sir George Stew.art, 2d hart., inlieiitod Grandtully,

and died without issue. His brother. Sir John Stewart, 3d

hart., an officer of rank in the army, married, 1st, Klizaheth,

daughter and heiress of Sir James Mackenzie of Royston, and

had by her an only surviving son. Sir John, 4th baronet; 2dly,

Lady Jane Douglas, only daughter of James, marquis of Doug-

las, and his son, by her, Archibald Stewart, after a protracted

litigation, succeeded to the immense estates of his uncle, the

htst duke of Douglas, and assuming that name, was created a

peer of tlie United Kingdom by the title of Baron Douglas,

(see vol. ii. p. 49). Title extinct on the death of the 4tli Lord

Douglas in 1857. Sir John Stewart married, odly, Helen, a

di: of the 4th Lord Elibank, without issue. He died in 1764.

His .son, Sir .lohn, 4th hart., died in 1797.

Sir Jolm's eldest son, Sir George, oth hart., married Catlie-

rine, eldest daugliter of .Tolin Drummond, Esq. of Logic

Almond, and died in 1827, leaving 5 sons and 2 daughters.

The eldest son, Sir John, 6th hart., died without issue.

May 20, 1838.

His brother. Sir William Drummond Stewart, born Dee.

25, 1795, succeeded .as 7th baronet. He served in the loth

Hussars in the campaign of 1815, and is a knight of the or-

der of Christ of Italy and Portugal ; married in 1830 ; i.ssue. a

sou, William George, capt. 93d Highlanders, born in Feb. 1831.

The family of Stewart, now Shaw Stewart of Blackhall

and Greenock, Renfrewshire, is descended from Sir John

Stewart, one of the natural sons of Robert II L From his

fatlier Sir John received three charters of the lands of Ard-

gow.an, Blackhall, and Aucliiiigoun, all in Renfiew.shire,

dated 1390, 1396, and 1404. Sir Arcliib.ald Stewart of

Blackli.all, the fifth from Sir John, was one of the commis-

.sioners to p;\riiament for the shire of Renfrew, in the reign of

diaries L, by whom he w.as made one of his privy council,

aud knighted. He was also of the privy council of Cli.arlos

IL, when in Scotland in 1650. He dieii in 1658. His

grandson. Sir Arcliibald Stewart of lilackh.all, was created a

baronet of Nova Scotia, 27tli March 1667. lie had three

.sons and a daughter. His youngest son. Waller Stewart of

Stewarthill, which estate lie purchased in 1719, was solicitor-

general for Scotland.

The eldest son, Sir John Stewart of Blackhall, the second

baronet of the family, was one of the commissioners for Ren-

frewshire to the union parliament. His son. Sir Jlichael

Stewart, the third baronet, was admitted advocate in 1735.

He married Helen, daughter of Sir .Tolin Houston of Hous-

ton, by his wife, Margaret Sli:iw, only daughter of Sir John

Shaw of Greenock, and of D.ame Kle.anor Nicolson, daughter

of Sir Thomas Nicol.snn of Camock. With two daugliter.s.

Sir Jlichael had three sons. 1. Sir John, who, on the death

of his grand-uncle. Sir J<din Shaw of Greenock, in 1752,

without male issue, inherited the entailed estate of Greenock,

con.sisting of the conjoined baronies of ICaster and Wester

Greenock, as also Fiunart. 2. Houston, who, on the death

of .Sir .John Houston, succeeded to the entailed estate of Car-

nock, and assumed the additional surname of Nicolson. His

only son, Mich.'iel, succeeded .as fifth baronet. 3. Archib.ald,

who purchased an estate in Tobago in 1770, and was killed

in 1779, in repulsing some American privateers who had

landed and burnt two ]dantations on that i.sland.

The eldest son. Sir John Shaw Stewart of Greenock and

lilackliall, became fourth baronet on his father's death, 20th

October 1796. He was M.P. for Renfrewshire, and dying

without issue, in August 1812, was succeeded by liis nephew.

Sir Michael Shaw Stewart, fifth baronet. The latter was

lord-lieutenant of the county of Renfrew, and died in August

1825. He married his cousin, Catherine, youngest daughter

of Sir William JIaxwell, baronet, of Springkell, and had .six

sons and three daughters. His third .son. Rear-admiral Sir

Houston Stewart, K.C.B., born at Springkell in 1791, was

educated at Chiswick. He entered the navy in 1805, and

served under the earl of Dundonald, then Lord Cochrane.

He was at the .siege of Flushing, and commanded the Ben-

bow at the bombardment of St. Jean d".^cre. In 1846 he

held the temporary command .at Woolwich for a few months.

In November of that year he was appointed comiJtroller-

general of the coast guard, an office which he held till Feb-

ruary 1850, when he became a lord of the admiralty. In

1851 lie attained the rank of rear-admiral, and in February

1852 was elected JLP. for Greenwich, but only retained his

place in p.arliament till July of that year, and in the follow-

ing December he ceased to be a lord of the admiralty. In

1855 he w.as created a knight eomm.ander of the Bath, for

Iiis services as second in command of the naval forces off Se-

bastopol in that year. In 1858 he was appointeii a \-ice-ad-

miral of the white. He married a daughter of Sir \\ illiam

Miller of Glenlee, bart., issue 4 sons

The eldest son, Sir Michael Sh.iw Stewart, Gth baronet, w.as

.NLP., first for I.anark.shire and afterwards for Renfrewshire,

and died Dec. 19, 1836. By his wife, Eliza Marv, onlv child

of Robert Farquhar, Esq. of Newark, Renfrewsliire, he had

6 children, three of whom were daughter-s

His eldest son. Sir Michael Robert Sli.-iw Stewart. 7th bart.,

horn in 1826, is 17tii in direct male descent from the founder

of the family. Educated at Christ Church, Oxford, and

formerly lieut. 2d Life-guards; he married, in 1852, Lady
Octavia Gro.svennr, d.iughter of 2d marquis of Westminster;

issue, 2 sons and 2 ilrs; is a magi.'itrate and depnty-lieut. of

Renfrew.shire. and w.as iM.P. for that county in 1855. His

elder son, .Michael Hugh, was born in 1854. Sir Jlichael's

next brother, John Archibald, inherited Carnock.
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The Stewarts of Di-umin, Banffshire, now of Belhidrum,

Inverness-shue, trace tlieir descent from Sir Walter Stewart

of Stratliaven, kniglited fur liis services at tlie battle of Har-

law in 1411, one of tlie illegitimate sons of the Wolf of Bad-

enoch, and consequently of royal blood. The representative

of the family, John Stewart, Ksq. of Belladrum, born 29th

May 1784, was II. P. for Beverley in the last parliament of

George IV. He died in 18C0. He had 2 sons and 2 daugh-

ters. Sons: 1. Charles, horn in 1817, appointed in 1839 to

the East India Company's civil service. 2. John Henry

Fraser, born in 1821, formerly an officer in the army.

The Stewarts of Bi:mie, Linlitligowshire, descend from Sir

Robert Stewart of Tarholton and Cruichston, 2d son of Wal-

ter, 3d high-steward and justiciary of Scotland, in the reign

of Alexander II. (See p ^g^ 512 of this volume.) The lands

of Binnie were purcliased by Eobert Stewart, advocate, the

12th of the family. Previously to his time the family desig-

nations were, of Torbane and Raiss, Halrig, and Shawood.

The representative of the family, John Stewart of Binnie,

born March 4, 1776, at one period a captain in the Kast In-

dia Company's maritime service, succeeded his elder brotlier,

Robert Stewart, in 1802.

The Stewarts of St. Foi-t, Fifeshire, representatives of the

old family of Stewart of Urrard, Perthshire, are descended

from John, another natural son of the Wolf of Badenoch.

John Stewart of Urrard, the fifth of the family, liad, besides

.lames his heir, another son, who died in childhood, of fright

during the battle of Killiecrankie, which was fought beside

the mansion-house of Urrard in 1CS9. The elder son, James

.Stewart of Urrard, had, with other children, a daughter,

.lean, called Miiiay n'm lean, the wife of Niel M'Glashan of

Glune. She is said to have acted a distinguished part in

Stirling castle, after the battle of Sheriffmuir in 1715. Ro-

bert Stewart of this family, born in 1746, was a captain in

the East India Company's service, on the staff of General

Clavering. On his return to Scotland he purchased the es-

tates of Castle Stewart in Wigtownshire, and St. Fort in Fife-

shire, the former of which was afterwards sold. By his wife,

Ann Stewart, daughter of Henry Balfour of Dinbory, he had,

with two daughters, three sons. 1. Archibald Campbell,

who succeeded him, and died unmarried. 2. Henry, who

succeeded his brother. .'5. William, an officer in the Cold-

stream guards, wlio assumed the surname of Balfour, in addi-

tion to Stewart, in conformity to the will of his maternal

uncle, Lieutenant-general Nisbet Balfour.

Henry Stewart of St. Fort, born in 179G, married, in 1837,

.Tane, daughter of Jaines Fraser, Esq. of Calderske'.l, issue, 2

sons. Robert Balfour, the elder, was born in 183S.

The Stewarts of Physgill and Glenturk, Wigtownshire,

descend from John Stewart, parson of ICirkmahoe, 2d .son of

S>r Alexander Stewart of Garlics, who died in 1590.

^gnes, only child of Lieutenant Robert Stewart, R.N., and

grand- daughter of John Stewart of Physgill, succeeded to

both the estates of Physgill and Glenturk, the latter in right

of her mother, Agnes Stewart, heiress of Robert Stewart of

Glenturk. lu 1740 she married John Hathorn of Over

Airies, in the same county, and had a .son, Robert Hathorn

Stewart, who succeeded his mother. This gentleman mar-

ried, in 1794, Isabella, only daughter of Sir Stair Agnew, of

Lochnaw, bart. ; issue 2 sons and 2 daugliters. He died

Nov. 7, 1818.

His elder son. Stair Hathorn Stewart, Esq. of Physgill,

born iu 1796, was educated at O.xford; a magistrate and a

deputy-lieutenant- and convener of the county of Wigtown.

Helftnarried, 1st, in 1820, JIargaret, only daughter of James

.Tolinston of Straiton, issue, a son and a (laughter; 2dly, in

182G, Helen, youngest daughter of the Right Hon. Sir John

Sinclair of Ulbster, bart., issue, 2 sons and 2 daughters;

3dly, in 1846, Jane Rothes, daughter of John JIaitland, Esq.

of Freugli, Wigtownshire. His eldest son. Robert Hathorn

.Johnston, horn in 1824, an officer 93d Highlanders, suc-

ceeded, in 1841, on the death of his uncle, James Johnston,

Esq. of Straiton, to his entailed estates in Jlid Lothian and

West Lothian, and in consequence assumed the additional

name of Johnston. He married, 1st, in 1851, Ellen, daugh-

ter of Archibald Douglas, Esq. of Glenfinnart, Argyleshire;

2dly, iu 1856, Anne, daughter of Sir William Maxwell, of

Monreith, baronet.

The Stewarts of Coll and Knockrioch, Argyleshire, were

formerly designed of Benmore, Perthshire. The present re-

presentative, John Lorne Stewart, Esq., born in 1800, is the

eldest son of Duncan Stewart, Esq. of Glenbuckie, by Jlar-

garet, daughter of Duncan Stewart, Esq. of Ardsheal. He
married, in 1831, Mary, daughter of Archibald Campbell,

Esq., with issue. Is a magistrate for Perthshire, and a de-

puty-lieutenant of Argyleshire. His son and heir, Duncan,

born in 1834, married, in 1858, Ferooza Margaret, d.aughter

of Sir John M'Neill, G.C.B.

In the stewartry of Kirkcudbright are the, families of

Stewart of Shambelly, .and Stewart of CairnsmorJ.

William Stewart, Esq. of Shambelly, born in 1815, eldest

son of William Stewart, Esq. of Shambelly, by Bertha,

d.aughter of Charles Donaldson, Esq. of Broughton, suc-

ceeded in 1844. In 1841 he was appointed a deputy-

lieutenant of the stewartry, and, in 1846, major in the Gal-

loway militia, but resigned in 1854. In 1845 he married

Katlierinc, daughter of John Hardie, Esq. Heir, his son,

William, born in 1848.

Lieut.-Colonel .Tames Stewart, 42d Highlanders, younger

of the two sons of Charles Stewart of Shambelly, had an

only child, Williainina Helen Stewart, who married Colonel

James John Forbes Leith of Whitehaugh, Aberdeenshire, the

representative of the Tolquhoun Forbeses.

The Stewarts of Ardvoirlich, Perthshire, are descended

from James Stewart, called .James the Gross, 4th and only

surviving son of Murdoch, duke of Albany, regent of Scot-

land, beheaded in 1425. On the ruin of his lamily he fled to

Ireland, where, by a lady of the name of Macdonald, he had

seven sons and one daughter. James II. created Andrew,

the eldest son, Lord Avandalc. (See vol. i., p. 1C9.)

.Tames, the third son, ancestor of the Stewarts of Ardvoir-

lich, married Ann.abel, d.aughter of Buchanan of that ilk.

His son, AVilliam Stewart, who succeeded him. married

Mariota, daughter of Sir Colin Campbell of Glenorchy, ances-

tor of the marquis of Breadalbane, and had several children.

From one of his younger sons, .John, the family of Stewart of

Glenbuckie, and from another, that of Stewart of G.artna-

fer.iran, both in Perthshire, were descended.

His eldest son, W.dter Stewart, succeeded his father, and

married Eupheniia, daughter of James Reddocli of Culto-

braggan, comptroller of the household of James IV.

His .son, .Ale.x.mder Stewart of Ardvoirlich, married Mar-

garet, daughter of Drumniond of Drummoiid ICrinoch, and

had two sons, James, his successor, and .lohn, ancestor of the

Perthshire families of Stewart of Annat, Stewart of Bal-

lachallan, and Stewart of Craigtoun.
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The elJer son, J:iiiies btuwiirt of Ardvoirlidi, reiidered

liimself ruiiiarl;;ible by tlie as-assination »{ ]i\a iVieiid Lord

Kiipoiit, son of the earl of Airth and Meiitetli, in .Montrose's

c.nnp, near CoUace, Sept. 5, 1644. (See p. WJ of this vol.)

After the bloody deed Stewart joined tlie earl of Arpyle, then

in arms aj;ainst Jlontrose, and was appointed a major in his

army. He afterwards distini;nislied himself, on the .>ide of

the Covenanters, in Leslie's campaigns. He married Barbara

-Murray of Buclnnity, Perthshire, with issue.

His eldest; son, Robert Stewart of Ardvoiilicli, married

Jean, dani;hter of David Drnmmond of Comrie, and had tw o

sons, James and William. The hitter married Jean, dani;h-

ter of Patrick Stewart of Glenbucicie, and was iatlier of Ko-

bert Stewart, who, on the death of Ids first cousin, inherilud

Ardvoirlicli.

The elder son, James Stewart of Ardvoirlicli, married

Elizabeth, only child of John Buchanan, hi^t of Buchanan.

His son, Robert Stewart of Ardvoirlicli, died nnmarried, in

1750, when his cousin, Robert, succeeded. This gentleman

married Margaret, daughter of John Stewart of Aniiat.

His son, William Stewai t of Ardvoirlicli, married, in 1797,

Helen, eldest daughter of James Maxtone of Cultoquhey, and

]i;id two sons, Robert and William Murray, and a daughter.

The elder son, Robert Stewart of Ardvoirlicli, succeeded

Ids father Feb. 2G, 1838, .and died, unmarried, July IG, l.~;; l.

Jle was succeeded by his neiiliew, William Stewart, who
was the eldest of 7 sons of William Murray Stewart, Bengal

Liliintry, younger son of William Stewart of Ardvoirlicli.

He was an officer in the Heng.d Artillery, and died in 1857.

His next brother, Robert, born in 1829, succeeded liim.

Heir, liis brother, John, lieut. Bengal Artillery, born in 18o3.

[Preserved at Ardvoirlicli, for centuries, is a lump of pure

white roelc crystal, about the size and shape of an egj:, bound

witli four bands of silver, of very antique workmanship, and

known by the Gaelic name of Clack Deary, the red stone,

arising probably from a reddish tinge it seems to assume

when held up to the light. The water in which the stone

has been dipped was lormerly ignorantly considered a sove-

reign reineily in all diseases of eattle.J

The family of Stewart of Tondergliie, Wigtownsliire, is a

branch of the noble house of Galloway, their progenitor be-

ing Sir William Stewart of Dalswinton .md Garlics, who w.as

living in 1479. He obtained Jlinto, in 1429, after much op-

position from the Tnrnbulls, the former possessors. He had

4 sons. 1. Andrew, who predeceased Ins father. 2. Alex-

ander, who succeeded. 3. Sir Thomas Stewart of Minto.

ancestor of the Lords Blantyre, the Marquises of London-

deny, in Ireland, and other families. 4. Walter, of Tonder-

gliie, from whom the Stewarts of Shambelly, the Earls of

Blessington in Ireland, and other families are descended.

In direct descent from Walter was Alexander Stewart of

Tondergliie, who, in 1694, married Janet, daughter of Hugh

M'Guft'og, or M'Gnfi'iek, of Ru.sco Castle. Their son left an

only daughter, Harriet, who married Colonel Dun. The pro-

perty being entailed, male or female, Colonel Dun had to

assume the surname of Stewart. This was the first de\ia-

tion from the direct male line. The nc.Kt in succession in the

entail was Captain Robert M'Kerlie, through his grandmotlicr,

Elizabeth, eldest daughter of Alc-sander Stewart of Ton-

dergliie. (See M'ICkulii-, p. 25 of this volume.)

Colonel Dun Stewart left a son, Hugh, and a daughter,

Harriet. The son, Hugh, the present representative, a liep-

uty-lieutcnaiit of Wigtownshire, served as major of the Gallo-

way mililia. The daughter, Harriet, married John Siinsou

cf l!aiTachan, with issue.

STEWART, Du. IMArniEW, professor of ma-

tlicmatics in the tmiversity of Edinbiirgli, tlie .son

(if tlic Rev. Diir;ald Stewart, minister of Rotiiesa}',

ill the Isii! of Bute, was born at that ])lace in

1717. After receiving liis elementary education

at the grammar school, being intended liy Ids fa-

ther for the cliiircli, he was sent to the universily

of Glasgow, where ho was entered a student in

1734. lie made great progress in mathematics,

under tlie celebrated Dr. Simson, whose predilec-

tion for the, ancient geometry he fully adopted.

In 1741 he wont to Edinliurgh to attend the uni-

versity lectures there; and, after having been

duly licensed, became minister of Roseneatli. In

1746 he published his ' General Theorems,' which,

although given without the demonstrations, are of

considerable nse in the higher parts of mstliema-

tics, and at once placed their discoverer among

geometricians of the first rank. In Se]itcmber

1747 he was elected to the vacant chair of mathe-

matics in the nniversity of Edinburgh. In this

situation he still more systematically pursued the

object which of all others he most ardently wished

to obtain, namely, the application of geometry to

such problems as the algebraic calculus alone had

been thought able to resolve. His first specimen

of this kind, the solution of Kepler's problem, aji-

peared in the second volume of the 'Essays of the

Philosophical Society of Edinbui-gh,' for 17.5fi;

and in the tirst volume of the same collection are

some other propositions by him. In 17G1 he pub-

lished his 'Tracts, Physical and Mathematical."

in farther prosecution of his plan of introduciu;;-

into the higher branches of mixed matlieniatie-

the strict and simple form of ancient demonstra-

tion. The transit of Venus, which took place the

same year, led to his essay on the ' Distance of

the Sun from the Earth,' which he piililished in

17C.3; and although the correctness of his compu-

tation was disputed iu some important points, he

declined entering into any controversy on the

subject. A few months previously he had pro-

duced his ' Propositiones Geometrica; ]\Iore Ycte-

riim Deniop.strata;,' consisting of a series of geo-

metrical theorems, mostly new, and investigated

bv the analytical method of the ancient geometers.

Soon after, his health began to decline. In 1772

he retired to the country, where he spent the re-
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mainder of his life, pursuing his mathematical

researches as an amusement ; his duties in tlio

university being performed by his son, the after-

wards celebrated Dugald Stewart, who, in 1775,

was associated with him in the professorship. Dr.

Stewart died January 23, 1785, at the age of 68.

His works are

:

General Theorems, of considerable use in the higher parts

of Mathematics. EJin. 174G, 8vo.

A Solution of Kepler's Problem. Edin. 1756, 8vo.

Tracts, Pliysical and Matliematical
;
containing an e.xpLa-

nation of several important Points in Physical Astronomy,

and a new Method of ascertaining tlie Sun's distance from

the Eartli by the Theory of Gravitation. Lond. 1761-3, 8vo.

Distance of tlie Sun from the Earth determined by the Tlie-

ory of Gravitation, together witli several otlier things relative

to the same subject; being a Supplement to his Physical and

Mathem:itical Tracts. Edin. 1763, 8vo. The same, 176-1, 8vo.

Propositiones Geometricai more veterum demonstrata?, ad

Geometriam antiquam illustrandara et promavendam idonea;.

Edin. 1763, 8vo.

Pappi Ale.XMndrini Collectionum Mathematioarum libri

quarti, Propositio quarta generalior facta: cui Propositiones

aliquot eodem spectantes adjioiuntur. Ess. Phys. and Lit. i.

p. 111. 1751:.—Solution of Kepler's Problem. lb. ii. p. 116.

STEWART, DUG.A.LD, a distinguished writer

on ethics and metaphysics, was born in the college

of Edinburgh, Nov. 22, 1753. He was the only

son, who survived the age of infancy, of Dr.

Matthew Stewart, professor of mathematics in

that university, and Marjory, daughter of Archi-

bald Stewart, Esq. of Catrine, Ayrshire, writer to

the signet. At the age of seven he was sent to

the High School, and, in October 1766, was en-

tered a student at the college of his native city,

where his studies were chiefly directed to history,

logic, metaphysics, and morals. In 1771 he re-

moved to the university of Glasgow, to attend the

lectures of the celebrated Dr. Reid; and during

the session he composed his admirable Essay on

Dreams, first published in the first volume of the

' Philosophy of the Human Mind,' in 1792.

Tiie declining state of his father's health com-

pelled him, in the autumn of 1772, to return to

Edinburgh, and officiate in his stead to the mathe-

matical class in the university, a task for which,

at the early age of nineteen, he was fully qualified.

When he had completed his twenty-first year he

was appointed assistant and successor to his fa-

ther, on whose death, in 1785, he was nominated

to the vacant chair. In 1778, during Dr. Adam

Ferguson's absence in America, he supplied his

place in the moral philosophy class. In 1780 he

received a number of young noblemen and gen-

tlemen, as pupils into his liouse, and, in 1783, he

visited Paris in company with the marquis of Lo-

thian. On his return, lie married, the same year,

Helen, daughter of Neil Bannatyne, Esq., mer-

cliant in Glasgow, by wliom he had one son. In

1785 he exchanged liis chair for that of moral

philosophy, to allow Dr. Ferguson to retire on the

salary of mathematical professor, and thenceforth

devoted himself almost excl usively to the prosecu-

tion and culture of intellectual science. In 1787

his wife died, and the following summer he again

visited the continent, with Mr. Ramsay of Barn-

ton. In 1790 he married Helen D'Arcy Cranstoun,

a daughter of the Hon. George Cranstoun, and

authoress of the song, ' The tears I shed must

ever fall.

In 1793 he read before the Royal Societj' of

Edinburgh his Account of the Life and AVritings

of Dr. Adam Smith, and the same year he pub-

lished the ' Outlines of Moral Philosophy,' for tlie

use of his students. In March, 1796, he commu-

nicated to the Royal Society his account of the

Life and Writings of Dr. Robertson, and, in 1802,

that of the Life and Writings of Dr. Reid. The

Memoirs of Smith, Reid, and Robertson, were af-

terwards collected into one volume, and published

with additional notes. In 1796 he again took a

number of pupils into his house, and, in 1800, he

added a course of lectures on political economy to

the usual course of his chair. So extensive were

his acquii'ements, and so ready his talent for com-

municating knowledge, that his colleagues fre-

quently availed themselves of his assistance in

lecturing to their classes, in cases of illness or ab-

sence. In addition to his own academical duties

he repeatedly supplied the place of Dr. John

Robison, professor of natural philosophy. He

taught for several months during one winter the

Greek classes of Professor Dalzel; he more than

one season taught the mathematical classes for

Mr. Playfair ; he delivered some lectures on logic

during an illness of Dr. Fiulayson, and he, one

winter, lectured for some time on Belles Lettres

for the successor of Dr. Blair

In 1806 he accompanied the earl of Lauderdale,

when he went on a political mission to Paris. On
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tlie accession of the Wlii;,' administration, in tliiit

year, a sineciue oflice, tliat of gazette-writer for

Scotland, was created for tlie express purpose of

rewarding Mr. Stewart for tlie services lie had

rendered to pliilosoi)hy and education, the sahuy

being £300 a-jear. " Mr. Stewart's personal

character and jjhilosophical reputation," says his

biograplier, Mr. Vcitch, " rendered his house the

resort of the best society of Edinburgh, at a time

when the city formed the winter residence of

many of the Scottish families." Color.el Stewart,

referring to this period, speaks of his father's

house " as the resort of all who were most dis-

tinguished for genius, acquirements, or elegance

in Edinburgh, and of all the foreigners who were

led to visit the capital of Scotland." " From an

early period of life," he continues, "he had fre-

quented the best society both in France and in

this country, and he had, in a peculiar degree, the

air of good company. The immense range of his

erudition, the attention he had bestowed on almost

every branch of jjliilosophy, his extensive ac-

quaintance with cveiy department of elegant liter-

ature, ancient or modern, and the fund of anec-

dote and information which he had collected in

the course of his intercourse with the world, with

respect to almost all the eminent men of the day,

either in this country or in France, enabled him

to find suitable subjects for the entertainment of

the great variety of his visitors of all description.s,

who at one period frequented his house." He held

the lirst place as a powerfid and impressive lec-

turer, and his popularity as a lecturer increased to

the last. Among liis students were found, not

only the youth of Scotland, but many, and some

of the highest rank, from England. The continent

of Europe and America likewise furnished a large

proportion of pupils. " As a public speaker,"

says the writer of his biography In the Annual

Obituary of 1829, "he was justly entitled to rank

among the very first of his day; and, had an ade-

quate sphere been aiforded for the display of his

oratorical powers, his merit as an orator would

have sutficed to procure him an eternal reputation.

The case, the grace, and the dignity of his action;

the compass and harmony of his voice, its ficxibi-

lity, and variety of intonation ; the truth with

which its modulation responded to the impulse of

his feelings, and the symjiathetic emotions of his

audience; the clear and jierspicuons arrangement

of his matter; the swelling and uninterru))ted flow

of his periods, and the rich stores of ornament

which he used to borrow from the literature of

Greece and Home, of France anti England, and to

interweave with his spoken thoughts with the

most apposite ajiplicatiou, were ijcrfections not

possessed b_v any of the most celebrated orators

of the age. His own opinions were maintained

without any overweening partiality; his eloquence

came so warm from the heart, was rendered so

impressive by the evidence whicli it bore of the

love of truth, and was so free from all controver-

sial acrimony, that what has been remarked of the

purity of i)urpose which inspired the speeches of

BrutusyHnight justly be applied to all that he spoke

and wrote." His portrait is subjuiued :

—

In hSlO he rL'limpiishcd his pi-ofessorsiiip, and

removed to Kinneil House, a seat belonging to

the duke of Hamilton, on the banks of the Frith

of Forth, where he spent the remainder of his

days in retirement. He was a member of the

Academics of Sciences at St. Petersburg and I'hi-

ladelphia, and other learned bodies. He died at

Edinburgh, June 11, 1828, and was buried in the
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Canongate clmrcliyai'd. A monument to his me-

mory stands on the Calton Hill, Edinburgh. He

left a widow and two children, a son and a daugh-

ter, the former of whom. Lieutenant-colonel Mat-

thew Stewart, has published an able pamphlet on

Indian affairs. His widow, who holds a high

place among the writers of Scottish song, sur-

vived her husband ten years, dying July 28, 1838.

She was the sister of the Countess Purgstall, the

subject of Captain Basil Hall's ' Schloss Hainfcki,'

and of Mr. George Cranstoun, advocate, after-

terwards Lord Corehouse. Dugald Stewart's

works are

:

Elements of the Pliilosophy of the Human Jlind. Lond.

1792, 4to. Likewise in 8vo. Edin. 1814, vol. 1st, Svo,

vol. 23, 4to.

Outlines of Jlonil Pliilosopliy ; for the use of Students in

the University of Edinburgh. Edin. 1793, Svo. ^
Dr. Adam Smith's Essays on Pliilosophical Subjects; with

nn Account of the Life and Writings of tlie Author. Lond.

1795, 4to.

Account of the Life and Writings of Wilham Robertson,

D.D. Lond. 1801, 8vo.

Account of the Life and Writings of Thomas Reid, D.D.

Edin. 1803, 8vo.

Statement of Facts relative to the Election of a Mathemat-

ical Professor in the University of Edinburgh
;
accompanied

with original papers and critical remarks. Edin. 1805. 3d

edit. Svo.

Postscript to a Statement of Facts relative to the election

of Professor Leslie: with an Appendix, consisting chiefly of

Extracts from the Records of the University and from those

of the City of Edinburgh. Edin. 180G, Svo.

Pliilosopbical Essays. Edin. 1810, 4to.

Biographical Memoirs of Adam Smith, LL.D., William

Robertson, D.D., and Thomas Reid, D.D. ; now collected in-

to one volume, with additional Notes. Edin. 1811, 4to.

Some Account of a Boy born Blind and Deaf. 1812, 4to.

Supplement to the fourth and fifth editions of the Ency-

clopaedia Britannica, with a Prelimin.ary Dissertation, exhib-

iting a General View of the Progress of Metapliysiciil, Ethi-

cal, and Political Philosophy, since the revival of Letters in

Europe. Edin. 1816, 4to.

The continuation of the second part of the Philosophy of

the Hum.an Mind. 1827.

The Philosophy of the Active and Moral Powers of ''an.

Tliird volume of the Philosophy of the Huni.au Mind. 1828.

Works in ten volumes, edited by Sir William Il.amilton,

Baronet, with an original Memoirof the Author. Edin. 1805-7.

STEWART, David, of Garth, a major-general

in the army, and popular writer on the Highland-

ers, was the second son of Robert Stewart, Esq.

of Garth, in Perthshire, where he was born in

1772. la 1789 lie entered the 42d regiment as an

ensign, and in 1792 was appointed lieutenant.

He served in the campaigns of the duke of York in

Flanders, and was present at the siege of Nieu-

port and the defence of Nimeguen. In October

1795, his regiment forming part of the expedition

under Sir Ralph Abercromby, he embarked for the

West Indies, where he was actively engaged in a

variety of operations against the enemy's settle-

ments, particularly in the capture of St. Lucia

;

and was afterwards employed for seven months in

unremitting service in the woods against the Ca-

ribbs in St. Vincent. In 1796 he was promoted

to the rank of captain-lieutenant, and in 1797 he

served in the expedition against Porto Rico ; af-

ter which he returned to England ; but was almost

immediately ordered to join the head-quarters of

his reginiGut at Gibraltar. In 1799 he accompa-

nied the expedition against Minorca; but was

taken prisoner at sea, and after being detained for

five months in Spain was exchanged. In Decem-

ber 1800 he was promoted to tlie rank of captain,

a step which, like all his subsequent ones, was

given him for his services alone. In 1801 he re-

ceived orders to join Sir Ralph Abercromby against

Egypt. At the lauding in the Bay of Aboukir,

on the morning of March 8, 1801, he was one of

the first who leaped on shore from the boats ; and

by his gallant bearing he contributed greatly to

the dislodging of the enemy from their position on

the Sandhills. He also distinguished himself in

the celebrated action of the 21st JIarch, where he

received a severe wound, which prevented him

from taking part in the subsequent operations of

the campaign.

Some time after his return from Egypt, he re-

cruited, as was then the custom, for his majority,

and such was his popularity among liis country-

men, that, in less than three weeks, he raised his

contingent of 125 men. He now, in 1804, enter-

ed the second battalion of the 78th or Ross-shire

Highlanders, with the rank of major, and in Sep-

tember 1805 accompanied the regiment to Gibral-

tar, where it continued to perform garrison duty

till the ensuing May, when it embarked for Sicily,

to join in the descent which General Sir John

Stuart was then meditating on Calabria. At the

battle of Maida, July 4, 1806, where he greatly

distinguished himself, he was again severely

wounded, which forced him to retire from the

field, and ultimately to return to Britain. In

April 1808 he was promoted to the rank of lieu-
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tenant-colonel, witii a regimental appointment to

the tliird West India Rangers, then in Ti-inidad.

In 1810 lie was present at tlie capture of (inada-

loiipc, for which service, and tliat at Maida, he

was rewarded willi a nicdul and one clasp, and

was subsequently appointed a companion of the

Bath. In 1814 he became colonel, and the year

following retired upon half-pay.

In 1822 he published his well-known 'Sketches

of the Character, Manners, and present State of

the Highlanders of Scotland, with details of the

Military Service of the Highland Regiments,' a

most interesting work, which added greath- to his

reputation. A few months aftei', he succeeded to

the patrimonial iniieritance of his family, by the

deaths, witliin a short period of each other, of his

father and elder brother. The success of his

'Sketches,' and an ardent desire to do justice to

the history and character of the Highland clans,

induced him to commence collecting materials for

a history of the Rebellion of 1745; but the diffi-

culties he encountered in obtaining accurate infor-

mation soon caused him to abandon the task. In

1825 he was promoted to the rank of major-gen-

eral, and soon after was appointed governor and

commander-in-chief of the ishuid of St. Lucia, in

the capture of which from the French he had for-

merly assisted. He died at St. Lucia, of fever,

December 18, 1829, while actively occupied witli

many important improvements which he had jiro-

jectcd for the prosperity of the island.

Stiuung, a sunuiuie derived from the town of tliat name,

and supposed to be a contraction of Strlvelinr/, that is, a

pl.-ice of strife or contention. The name is most probably of

Celtic orifjin. Barbour bas it vcnttm Streice!t/ti
;
Wyntoun,

Strcvelt/n, SCrU-eb/nc, and Slri/veli/ne ; Bellendeii, Striueh/ne,

also Strivelinc, Siriveling, Strevchjne, and Streveli/nij. In

En{;lisb deeds of the reigns of Kdward I., II., and III., it

appears most commonly as Stri/ixli/n, sometimes JCstrivelin.

In the translation of Froissart, it is in the form Estnilei/ii,

and by a strange misnomer, of Eslurinehjne. In ancient

times, the fortress of Stirling foniied a sort of boundary to

tlie possessions of dift'erent bostile tribes, and the conjectiu-e

that it derived its name from being the (jbject of frequent

contention, is not without con.sidcrablo plausibility. Stryve-

linr/, it has been said, "wbicli was the ancient name of the

plain, signifieth ' the bill,' or ' rock of strife,' to which the

nionkisb writers seem to allude, wlien they give it the Latin

name of ^^ons Dolonim.'' In Irish and Gaelic, .f/ciV/i un-

doubtedly signifies strife, while linn in the Irisb denotes a

streigbt or narrow entrance, as if referring to the position of

this rock, between wliicb and the river there is only a narrow

passage. JIacpher.son remarks that " that tract of country

oetween the friths of Forth and Clyde h.as been, tbrougli all

antiquity, famous for battles and rencounters between tbe

ciifl'erent nations who were possessed of North and South

Britain. Stirling, a town situated there, derives its name
from that very circumstance. It is a corrnption of the Gaelic

name Striki, the hill or rock of contention." In the Appen-

di.x to Kinnno's History of Stirlingshire (edition 1817), the

old name of Stirling is given as Stritjh-larjh, meaning 'strife

of tbe archery.' It is afterwards explained that tbe word

Strila, the ancient name of Stirling, is deriveii from Siv'ujh,

' strife,' and hif/h, ' bending the bow.' " It could not," it is

added, "be law, the Scoto-Sa.\on for 'bill,' witliout violating

one of the fi:\v canons of etymology."

Sniti.i.NG, Earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland,

which, with tbe secondary title of Viscount Canada, was

conferred, 14tb .lune I G33, on Sir William Alexander, an emi-

nent poet and statesman, a memoir of whom is given in vol. i.

of this work, p. lOG. He bad previously, on 4tli September

1 ()."(), been created Viscount Stirling and Lord Alexander

of Tullibodie. An account of the earls of Stirling will be

found in the iirst volume, (page 105,) under the head of Al-
n.XANnicit. When the descendants of .Alexander M'Alaster

—

who, on settling at Meiistrie, Clackmannanshire, first took the

surname of Alexander—became numerous, the family, for the

sake ot distinction, were divided into five separate brandies,

all bearing the original arms and motto; but the four young-

er and subordinate branches were then marked off from the

eldest, and from each other, by diflerent .and distinctive crests.

.\s a matter of course, the eldest branch retained, as being

the most honourable, the original crest of the fandly, viz. a

bear sitting up erect—a distinction of winch they were ex-

ceedingly proud, and which became a m.atter of envy and

jealousy to the other branches; because it denoted tbe elder-

ship and superiority over them. From this eldest branch the

carls of Stirling derived their descent, and therefore " a Bear,

sejant, erect, proper," is their authorized and recorded crest;

and it w.as their excessive pride in their possession of this,

which forms the subject of that severe satire of Sir Walter

Scott, in his romance of Waverley, where he so conspicuous-

ly and Iudicrou,sly parades this favourite crest of the earls of

Stirling as ''the Great Bear of the Barons of liradw.ardine."

On the death, without issue, of Henry, otii earl of Stir-

ling, in 1739, the male descendants of the 1st earl became

extinct, and tbe earldom bas since remaineii dormant ; but

the honours not being granted to him and the beirs nnile of

bis body, but, by the patent of IGtS, " To himself and his

beirs male for ever, bearing the luime and arms of Alexan-

der," the title was claimed and assumed by JIajor-general

Alexander, of the United States service, as the next heir, he

being tbe only nude descendant remaining of John Alex.an-

der of Gogar, the 2ii son of Andrew .\lexander, grandfather

of the iirst earl. He w.as served heir male in 17.')!), and pre-

sented a petition to the king, which was referred to the

House of Lords in 17G0. But tbe Comiiuttee of Privileges

in 17G'2 resolved that he should not possess the title until be

bad established it by course of law. Tbe revolutionary war

breaking out, he returned to America, and having joined the

republican forces, .and commanding a division, was taken

prisoner at Long Island, .-md never returned to England to

prosecute his claim. He died at Albany, near New York,

in 1793, leaving two daughters, but no son. On bis death

the m.ale descendants of .John, the 2d brother of tbe father of

the 1st earl, became extinct, and the representation has de-

volved into the line of James, the 3d brother of .-Mex.inder,

father of the 1st earl, :md is claimed by Arthur .Alexander of

.Maryvllle, iu the county of Galway, Ireland. Colonel sir
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James Edward Alexander of Westerton, descended from tlie

family of Alexander of Jlenstrie, ancestor of the noble family

of Stirling, may also be able to establish a claim to this title.

Alexander Hiimphrys, calling himself Alexander, (men-

tioned at page lOo of vol. i.,) claimed the title, as descended

in the female line from a son of John Alexander of Gartmore,

the 4th son of the 1st earl, but it was proved by the officers

of the crown that John Alexander of Gartinure had no son,

and that Gartmore descended to his daughter, because there

was no male heir, and at the trial of Alexander Humphry's in

the high court of justiciary at Edinburgh, for forgery, in

1839, it. was proved that the pretended charter of Nova

Damns, granting the honours to the heirs female of the last

9arl, was a manliest forgery.

The principal family of the name of Stirling is considered

to be that of Stirling of Keir, Perthshire. It is of great

antiquity, and supposed to be descended from Walter de

Strivilin, witness in a charter of Prince Henry, son of David

I. , of the grant of the church of Sprouston, by John, bishop

of Glasgow. Robert de Strivilin is frequently a witness in

charters of King William the Lion, and in those of Alexander

II. Robert and Walter Strivilin are witnesses. In the reign

of the latter monarch, Thomas de Strivelin was chancellor of

Scotland. In the transunipt of a charter of Alexander III.,

the thirteenth year of his reign, to Richard de j\]oravia, bro-

ther of Gilbert, bishop of Caithness, of the lands of Cowbin,

one of the witnesses is Thomas de Strivilin, cancellarius.

(See Nisbet's Heraldry, vol. i. p. 410.) In the Ragman Roll

are several barons of the name of Strivilin, who swore fealty

to Edward I. in 1292, 1296, and 1297, viz., 1. Johannes de

Strivilin, miles, of Glenesk. Sir John Stirling of Gleneslc

had a daughter, his sole heiress, who, in the reign of David

II., married Sir Alexander Lindsay, second son of David

dominus de Crauford, and carried the estate of Glenesk into

that family. 2. Alisandre de Strivelyne del conte de Lanerk,

the head of the family of StU'ling of Calder, near Glasgow,

which in the reign of James V. termiuiited in an heiress,

who, in 1535, married James Stirling of Keir. 3. Johannes

de Striviliiig de Moravia, also designed Johannes de Strivelyn

de IMurriff. 4. Johannes de Striviling de Carse, Stirling-

shire. Sir John Stirling of Carse favouied the cause of

Edward Baliol, and, according to Dugdale, was summoned

to attend the English parliament as a peer of England. His

daughter and sole heiress, Slarjory, married John Menteith,

son of Sir Walter Menteith of Husky, and brought him the

estate of Carse. 5. William de Strivelyn. Under this name

it is stated that the Stirlings of Calder "seem to be the root

of all the other Stirlings, and from whom all the rest of the

Stirlings in the western parts of Scotland are descended."

On the extinction of the male line of Glenesk, the Stirlings

branched off into two principal families, the Stirlings of Keir

and the Stirlings of Calder. The direct line of the latter be-

came extinct in the IGth century, though many of its branches

still exist, and the estate of Calder became by marriage the

property of the house of Keir. Andrew Stirling, the last

laird of Calder, had an only child, Janet, whose ward and

marriage James V. bestowed upon Sir James Stirling of

Keir, by gift under the great seal, dated July 22, 1529. In

a confirmation of the marriage contract to the archbisliop of

Glasgow in 1532, the young lady is called " spouse Jacobi

Stirling." She, however, eloped from him, but he retained

possession of the estate, and transmitted it to his descendants.

In the reigu of James VI., the proprietor of Keir was Sir

Archibald Stirling, who had charge of the young Prince

Henry at Stirling castle. On the 7th May 1603, after James'

dep.arture for London, the queen went to Stirling to obtain pos-

session of the prince, but tlie countess of Mar and her son and

the laird of Keir would not allow the prince to go with her.

In the reigns of Charles I. and 11. Sir George Stirling of

Keir was a staunch royalist, and fought under Jlontrose. On

June 11, 1641, he was apprehended with ilontrose himself

and Lord Napier, and committed to the castle of Edinburgh.

They were released in Nov. of the same year. In 1644 he

was again arrested, (see page 238 of this vol., art. Fiust

Lord Napier.) Sir George married Lady Elizabeth Napier,

daughter of the first Lord Napier, and niece of the great

Montrose.

William StirUng, Esq. of Keir, the representative of that an-

cient family, the only son of Archibald Stirling, Esq. of Keir,

by Elizabeth, his wife, daughter of Sir John Maxwell, hart, nf

Pollok, was born at Kenmure, near Glasgow, JIarch 8, 181.'^,

and graduated at Trinity college, Cambridge. Having visited

Palestine, on his return in 1846, he printed for private circu-

lation, a small volume entitled 'Songs of the Holy Land.'

They were afterwards published with considerable additions

in an 8vo volume, in 1848. He afterwards turned his atten-

tion particularly to the language and history of the Spanish

peninsula, and in 1848, lie produced a work of much research

and learning, in 3 vols. 8vo, called 'The Annals of the Artists

of Spain.' In 1852 he published 'The Cloister Life of

Charles V.' While preparing for the latter woik, he visited

the convent of Yuste, the place to which " the contentious

monarch" retired. At the general election of 1852 Mr. Stir-

ling was elected M.P. for the county of Perth, and in 1855

published the Life of Velasquez, the famous Spanish painter.

In, October 1857, he was appointed one of a commission to

inquire into the expediency of uniting the two universities of

Aberdeen. In April 1861, the degree of doctor of laws was

conferred upon him by the university of Edinburgh.

The Stirlings of Kippendavie, Perthshire, and Garden, Stir-

lingshire, are cadets of the Keir family. The ancestor of the

Kippendavie branch was Archibald Stirling, son of Archibald

Stirling of Keir, to whom his father gave the lands of Kip-

pendavie by charter, dated Aug. 5, 1594.

John Stirling of Kippendavie married JIary, 2d daughter

of William Graham, Esq. of Airth Castle, and had a son,

Patrick, who married in 1810, Catherine Georgina, 2d daugh-

ter of John Wedderburn, Esq. of Spring Garden, Jamaica.

He died March 30, 1860, leaving 2 sons and 1 daughter.

The elder son, John Stirling, Esq. of Kippendavie, J. P.,

born Aug. 19, 1811, married Aug 8, 1839, Catherine Mary,

only child of Rev. John Wellings by Mary Wedderburn, his

wife
;

issue, 3 sons and 1 daughter.

The Stirlings of Ardoch in Strathallan, also a branch of

the house of Keir, possessed a baronetcy of Nova Scotia, con-

ferred 2d May 1666, but this family merged, by marriage, in

that of Moray of Abercairnie, the heiress being the eldest

daughter of Sir William Stilling, baronet of Ardoch. See

p. 205 of this vol.

The family of Stirling of Glorat, Stirlingshire, are said to

be descended from the Stirlings of Calder. The first of the

family was Sir John Stirling, armonr-bearer to King James

I. of Scotland, comptroller of the royal household, governor

of Dumbarton castle, and sheriff of Dumbarton. He was

knighted in 1430, on the baptism of the twin princes. He

obtained the Lands of Glorat in dowry with his wife, the

daughter of the laird of Galbraith.

His son, William Stuling of Glorat, was also governor
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of Dunibartdii castle and slierilV of iJuiiibartoii. In lo'25,

Jolni, earl of Lennox, };ave a grant of the lands of Park

of Incliinnan, Itenfrewsliire, to William Stirliii;; of Glorat,

and JIargaret Houston, liis spouse. Tliis William Stirling of

Glorat is also said to liave beei\ governor of Dumbarton cas-

tle, and slierilfof Dmnbartonsliire.

His eldest son, George Stirling of Glorat, is likewise said

to have been governor of Dumbarton Castle and slierilT of the

county. It is likely, says I'layfair, in a note, that he held

the office of lieutenant-governor, from the earl of Lennox

;

and we are told that, in 154J, when there was a plan in con-

templation, for annexing the Scottish crown to England, for

which purpose the earl of Lenno.x reached Dumbarton Ca.stle

and signified to his lieutenant his desire of promoting the

design, the hitter refused his aid, and compelled him to leave

the castle. For his fidelity he obtained an addition to his

arms, consisting in a hand supporting a crown. A younger

son, Andrew Stirling of Portnellan, obtained the Inehinnan

lands in patrimony. His hneal heir was ,Iolin Stirling of Law.

William Stirling's son, also William Stirling of Glorat, was

governor of Dumbarton Castle, by a grant of James V., un-

der the privy seal. He was also, probably from consanguin-

ity, appointed sole tutor and curator of the minor earl of Len-

nox, and baillie of his regalities of Lennox and Glasgow.

His great-grandson, Sir .Mungo Stirling of Glorat, knight,

a staunch adherent of Charles I., was succeeded by his son.

Sir George, who, in IGGG, was created a hart, of Nova Scotia.

The Glorat family were granted an honourable additanient

to their arms for their loyalty to Charles I. and II.

Sir George's son and heir, Sir Mungo, 2d bart., died in 1712.

His son, Sir James, 3d baronet, dying without issue, was

succeeded by his cousin. Sir Alexander, 4th baronet. The

son of John Stirling, Esq., by Klizabeth, eldest daughter and

co-heir of Sir Alexander Homo of Renton, he was born in 1715,

and married Mary Willis of Kochester. He died in 1791.

His son. Sir John, 5th baronet, married Jliss Folsonie of

Stratford, North America, and had a large fandly.

His eldest son, Sir Samuel, Gth baronet, was admitted ad-

vocate in 1808. He married in 1813, Mary Anne, only

daughter of iMajor Robert Bcrrie, E.I.C.S., and died, without

issue, M.ay 2, 1858.

His nephew. Sir Samuel Home Stirling, son of Captain

George Stirling, 9th regt., then became 7th baronet. Born

Jan. 28, 1830, he married, in Oct. 1854, Mary Margaret

Thornton, youngest daughter of Colonel Thomas Stirling

Begbie, 44th regt., and had Mary Eleanor, and another

daughter. He died Sept. 19, 18GI.

His brother. Sir Charles Elphinstone Fleming Stirling,

born in 1832, succeeded as 8th baronet.

The Stirlings of Faskine, Lanarkshire, are said to derive

their descent from Henry, third son of David, earl of Hunt-

ingdon, brother of King William the Lion. Having been

born in the town of Stirling, he assumed that name for his

surname. They .are lineally descended from Walter Stirling

of Balquharage, Stirlingshire, a collateral branch of the Stir-

lings of Calder, and great-grandfather of John Stirling, lord-

provost of Glasgow, born in IGIO, died in 1709. His grand-

son. Sir Walter Stirling of Faskine, captain R.N., b(n-n 18th

May 1718, commanded the Saltash shiop under Viscount

Keppel, in his expedition to Goree in 1758, and served with

Lord Rodney in the West Indies. He was knighted on bring-

ing home the despatches announcing the capture of St. Eus-

tatia from the Dutch in 1781. Subsequently appointed

commodore and connnander-in-chief at the Nore, on George

III. reviewing the siiips under his connnand, his majesty of-

fered to make him a baronet, but he declined it. He die.i

24th November 178G, and with a daughter, Anne, had twu

sons, Walter and Charles, the latter vice-admiral of the

white. The elder son, Walter, born 24lh June 1758, was

created a baronet of the United Kingdom, 15th December

1800. He was M.P. first for Gatton and afterwards for St.

Ives, Cornwall, and in 1804 high-sheriff for Kent. On his

death, Aug. 2G, 1832, his son. Sir Walter George Stirling,

became 2d baronet. Born JIarch 15, 1802, he married in

1835, Lady Caroline Frances Byng, daughter of the first earl

of Strafford, issue, 2 sons and 2 daughters.

Anne, daughter of Sir Walter Stirling, knight, m.irried her

cousin, Andrew Stirling, Esq. of Drumpellier, Lanarkshire,

with issue. Their fifth son, Rear-admiral Sir James Stirling,

born in 1791, entered the navy at an early age. He com-

manded the Brazen in the war with America in 1812, ob-

tained post rank in 1818, and became a vice-admiral in 1861.

He was for ten years governor of Western Australia, and was

knighted in 1833, on his return from establishing that colony.

A junior lord of the admiralty in 1852, and subse((Uently

commander-in-chief on the China station.

A baronetcy of the United Kingdom was conferred, 17th

July 1792, on James Stirling, lord-provost of Edinburgh, to

mark the royal approbation of his conduct during the riots iji

that city the same year. He was the son of Alexander Stir-

ling, cloth merchant in Edinburgh, and in early life went to

the West Indies, as clerk to Mr. Stirling of Keir, .an exten-

sive and ojiulent planter. In a short time, through tlie in-

fluence of his employer, he was appointed secretary to Sir

Charles Dalling, governor of Jamaica. Having .accumulated

a considerable sum of money, he returned to Edinburgh, and

became a partner in the banking house of Manslield, Ramsay.

& Co. He married Miss Mansfield, daughter of the principal

partner, and*:icquired the estate of Larbert, Stirlingshire.

He died 17th February 1805. He had three sons and two

daughters, Janet, Lady Livingstone of Westquarter, and

Joan. The two youngest sons died in infancy. Tlie eldest

son. Sir Gilbert Stirling, succeeded as second baronet, being

at that time a lieutenant in the Coldstream guards. On his

death in 1843, the baronetcy became extinct.

Stodd.vut, a surname derived from the word standard, of

which it is a corruption, being anciently written de la Stand-

arde. The first of this name came to England with William

the Conqueror, as standard-bearer to the vicomte de Pules-

don, a noble Norman.

A family of the name of Stodart po.ssessed estates in Sel-

kirkshire, and elsewhere in Scotland, since the IGth century.

Robert Stodart, born in 1749, youngest son of John Stodart

of Loanhead, a cadet of this line, after being for some time

in the West Indies, settled in London, and was offered a bar-

onetcy by Mr. Pitt, then prime minister, but declined it. He

acquired the estates of Kailzie, Peebles-shire, and Ormiston,

Mid Lothian, both of which were subsequently sold. He

died in 1831. He h.ad man'ied in 1784, Alice, eldest daugh-

ter and coheiress of James Turnbull, Esq., the last male re-

presentative in the direct line of a branch of the ancient bor-

der family of Turnbull. On the death of her only sister,

Mrs. Riddle, without issue, Jlrs. Stodart became sole heiress

of the old family. They h.ad six sons and four daughters.

John, the fifth son, assumed the additional name of Riddle,

from respect to his aunt. The eldest son, Robert, on his

death in 1837, was succeeded in the representation of the

family by his brother, George, born in 1789 ; married Janet,

only child of liis relative, Jamis Stodart, Esq., F.R.S.L.
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Mr. Stodart of Loanhead is represented by George Tweedie

Stodart, Esq. of Oliver, Peebles-shire, wlio, on tbe deatli of

his maternal uncle, succeeded to the estates of the chiefs of

the ancient border clan of Tweedie.

In the stewartry of Kirkcudbright is the family of Stot-

hert of Cargen, which seems but another form of the name

of Stodart.

STONE, Edmund, an ingeniotis self-taught

matliematician, was born in Scotland, but neither

the place nor the time of his birth is known. He

was the son of a gardener in the employment of

tlic duke of Argyle, at luverary, and had reached

his eiglith year before lie learned to read. He was

taught the letters of the alphabet by a servant,

and, with the assistance only of books, and no

guide but his own genius, he learned Latin and

French, and the elements of mathematics. Be-

fore he was eighteen he had acquired a knowledge

of geometr}' and analysis, and his proficiency be-

coming accidentally known to the duke, in whose

garden he was employed under his father, an oc-

cupation was procured for him which left him lei-

sure for his favourite studies. Whetlier he went

to London or remained in Argyleshire is uncer-

tain ; but in 1725 he was chosen a fellow of tiie

Koyal Society. Besides several communications

to the Philosophical Transactions, am#ig which is

an 'Account of two Species of Lines of the Third

Order not mentioned by Sii- Isaac Newton or Mr.

Stirling,' he published several useful mathemati-

cal works, partly original and partly translated, a

list of which is subjoined. In 1742 or 1743, his

name was withdrawn from the list of the Roynl

Society, and in his old age he appears to have

been left to poverty and neglect. He died in

March or April 17G8. His works are

:

A new JIathematical Dictionary. 172G, 8vo.

Conic Sections. Lond. 1723, 4to.

Method of Fluxions. Lond. 1730, 8vo.

The Eleinents of Kuclid. 1731, 2 vols. 8vo. A neat and

useful edition.

Euclid's Elements of Geometry, the first six, the eleventh

and twelfth Books; translated into English from Dr. Grego-

ry's edition ; with notes and additions. Lond. 1752, 8vo.

The Construction and Principal Uses of JIathematical In-

struments, from the French of M. Bion ; to which are added.

The Constraction and Uses of such Instruments as are omit-

ted by Bion, particularly of those invented or improved bv

the English; 42 plates. Lond. 175S, fol. Second edition,

Lond. 1759, fol.

The whole Doctrine of Paralla.xes exidaincd and illustrat-

ed, by an arithmetical and geometrical construction of the

Transit of Venus over the Sun, June 6, 1761 ; eni iclied with

.I new and general method of deter]iiining the places where

any transit of this planet, and especially that which will be

June 3, 1769, may be best observed, for the investigation of

its parall.Tx. Lond. 1763, 8vo.

Some Reflections on the Uncertainty of many Astronomi-

cal and Geographical Positions with regard to the Figure imd

JIagnitude of the Earth, the finding the Longitude at sea by

watches, and other operations of the most eminent astrono-

mers, with some hints towards their reformation. London,

1768, 8vo.

Concerning two species of Lines of the third order, not

mentioned by Sir Isaac Newton nor by Mr. Stirling. Phil.

Trans. 1740, Abr. viii. 392.

STONE, Jerome, a self-taught scholar and

poet, the son of a mariner, was born, in 1727, in

the parish of Scoonie, in Fifeshire. His father

died abroad when he was but three j'ears of age,

leaving his mother in very straitened cii'cumstan-

ces, and lie received his education at the parish

school. He was at first nothing more than a tra-

velling chapman or pedlar, but afterwards his love

of books induced him to become an itinerant book-

seller, that he might have an opportunity of read-

ing. He studied Hebrew, Greek, and Latin, and,

with scarcely any assistance, made himself profi-

cient in them all. The professors at St. Andrews

having heard of his remarkable acquirements,

liberally allowed him free access to their lectures.

He attended the sessions regularly, and soon came

to be distinguished among the students for his

proficiency in almost every branch of learning.

He subsequently obtained the situation of assist-

ant to tlie rector of the grammar-school of Dun

-

keld, and, in three years after, the rectorship it-

self. Having acquired a knowledge of the Gaelic

langunge, he was so much charmed with the

Gaelic poetry, that he translated several pieces

into Englisli, and sent his versions to the Scots

Magazine, in which they appeared chieflj' during

the years 1752, 1755, and 1756. He now com-

menced a work of great labour and ingenuit}', en-

titled ' An Enquiry into the Origin of the Nation

and Language of the Ancient Scots, with Conjec-

tures respecting the primitive State of the Celtic

and other European nations,' which he did not

live to complete. He died of a fever in 1757, in

the tliirtietli j'car of his age, leaving in manuscript

an allegoiy, entitled 'The Immortalitj' of Authors,'

which was publislied after his death, and has often

been reprinted.

Stokjiont, Viscount of, a title in the peerage of Scotlaml,

conferred in 1621, on Sir David Murray of Gospertie, Lovu
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Scone. Ho \v:is tlie second sou of t'ir Andrew Mnrniy of

Arngask and ]!alvaii'd, grandson of Sir William JIurray,

third son of Sir William Mnrr.iv of Tullibardine, (see

article Athol, Dnke of, vol. i. page Kil). From liis

youth he was bred up at conrt, and was cupbearer to

James VI., master of the horso and captain of the guards.

Ho was knighted by King James, and in 1598 appointed

comptroller of the royal revenues. He was also one of his

i
privy council. He accompanied the king to Perth, Tith Aug-

I
ust ICOO, when the (!owrie conspiracy was enacted, and lie

I
was the principal hand in quelling the tunudt which arose

among the townsmen, on their learning that the carl of Uow-

rie, their provost, was slain, and in conveying the king in

safety back to Falkirk. He obtained from the king the bar-

ony of Ruthven, which had belonged to Gowrie, and which

he called Huntingtower, and the lands belonging to the ab-

bacy of Scone, of which that unfortunate nobleman was com-

mendator. The following passage occurs in Caldcrwood,

(^Historie of the Kirk, vol. vi. p. 73.) "The laird of Tullibar-

dine, and ;i number of the surnauu; of Murray, were in St.

.Tolmston (Perth) that day, at a bridal of one named George

' Murray, whether of set purpose, let the reader judge, for the

JhuTays of Strathern, of the bouse of Tullibardine and Bal-

vaird, have gotten his offices, (that is, the earl of Cowrie's,)

I

and lands lying in these parts divided among them ; Tulli-

bardine, the sherifl'ship of Perth; Sir Mungo Murray, his

brother, the house of Ruthven and the lands belonging there-

to; Sir David Murray, of the house of Balvaird, the abbacy

of Scone, and now is provo.st of St. Johnston. The earl's

greatness was a great eyesore to the Murrays in those bounds,

the house of Abercairnie being excepted." Besides other

charters granted to him by the king, with whom he was in

high favour, he had one of the castle- stead of Falkland, with

the (jflice of ranger of the Lowmonds and forester of the

woods, IGth November IGOl. In ItiOo, on the accession of

.Tames to the F.nglisli throne, he was one of those who were

selected to accompany him to London. Me was one of the

commissioners appointed for the projected union of the two

kingdoms in 1G04, and was created a peer of parliament by

the title of Lord Scone, 7tli August 1G05. He was represen-

tative of the king as high-commissioner in several assemblies

of the church, and by his boldness and resolution, he suc-

ceeded in carrying through .several very unpopular measures

relating to the lituigyaud episcopal uniformity, in spite of all

opposition. His conduct to Row, the moderat(n', at a meeting

of the synod of Perth in April 1G07, for opposing the king's

wish for constant moderators, has already been described,

I

(see page 379 of this volume, article Row, William). The

synod on that occasion, in defiance of the king, chose Henry

Livingston, one of their own number, as moderator, iind after

the election, when the brethren proceeded to pray, Lord Scone

interrupted them. Ho protested .igainst the election, and

threatened them with the vengeance of the laws. He also at-

tempted to prevent the moderator from taking his seat, and,

collaring each other, Livingston commenced his prayer, s.iy-

ing, ' Let us begin at God, and be humbled in the name of

Jesus Christ." " Lord Scone, in a great rage, chapping on

his breast, said, with a loud voice, ' The devil a Jesus is

licre.'" (^Caldcrwood, vol. vi. p. G.")L) Livingston, nothing

daunted, proceeded with his prayer. Lord Scone raised the

end of the board with the green cloth, and threw the latter

over him, but he still continued. His lordship then caused

some of his men remove the board and called lor the bailies.

Not one of the members of synod moved till the prayer was

ended. When the bailies came, Lord Scone commanded

thcn\ to ring the common bell, .-md to remove these rebels.

They said, however, they could not, without advice of the

council. When the synod adjourned, bis lordship locked the

doors, and when they returned they iound them closed, and

the keys taken away. The bailies, understanding that Lord

Scone had no warrant for his proceedings, offered to break

open the doors, in which they were backed by the citizens,

but the ministers prevented all kind of violence. Boards,

forms and stools being brought outside the church door, they

held the synod in the open air, at which they appointed four

of their number to attend before the privy council and com-

plain of the disturbance, violence, and blasphemy of Lord

Scone. They obtained, however, no redress. {Ibid. p. Go3.)

In IGIO, Lord Scone was appointed a member of the court of

high commission, and he was one of the three commissioners

sent by the king to the Assembly at Perth, 2uth August,

1G18, at which the obnoxious live articles were obtruded on

the church. On their being sanctioned by p.arlianu'ut in

IG'il, he was despatched to the king at London with the

welcome intelligence. For this and other services, he was,

thereupon, raised to the dignity of viscount of Stormont, by
j

patent, dated 16th August that year, to himself and the heirs
j

male of his body. He was served heir male and of entail of

Sir Andrew Murray of Balvaird, the son of his brother, 20th

July lG'2o, and on 2Gtli October of that year lie made a set-

tlement of the lordship of Scone and his other estates to cer-

tain parties therein named. He also secured the successimi

of his titles to Sir Mungo Murray, son of the earl of Tulli-

bardine, who bad married his niece, and to the heirs male of i

his body, failing whom, to John, earl of Annandale, and his
j

heirs male, with remainder to his own heirs male. To ]]re-
j

.serve his family of Balvaird in the line of the heirs male,

he adopted his cousin -german's son. Sir Andrew Jlurray.
!

then minister of Abdie, Fifeshirc, son of D.avid Murr.iy of I

Balgonie and Kippo, and settled on him the fee of the estate
'

of Balvaird, &c. Although twice married, he had no issue.

He died 27tb August 1G31, and was buried at Scone, where

a magnificent monument was erected to his memory.

The second viscount of Stormont was Sir Mungo .Murray

of Drumcairn, fourth son of the first earl of Tullibardine.

Previous to succeeding to the title, he was, as the next heir,

styled master of Stormont. He was twice married, his first
'

wife being Anne, eldest daughter of Sir Andrew JIurray of
|

Arngask, niece of the first viscount of Stormont, but without
j

issue by cither of his wives. On his death in March 1612,

the titles and the estate of Scone devolved on his cousin, i

James Murray, second earl of .Annandale, (see vol. i. p. 139).
|

The third viscount died, 28th September 1G58, also without
|

issue, when David Murray, second Lord Balvaird, became

fourth viscount of Stormont, (see vol. i. p. 231). He was
'

descended from William Murray of Letterbannatliy in Strath-

ern, second son of Sir David Murray of .'\rngask and Bal-
\

vaird. In 16o'l, being then Lord Balvaird, lie was, for his

loyalty, fined £1,500, by Cromwell's act of grace and pardon.

He died 21th July 16G8. His son, David, fifth viscount of

Stormont, opposed the treaty of Union, and he and his son,

D.-ivid, master of Stormont, were among those who were
|

.summoned to surrender themselves to the authorities at Ed-

inburgh, at the breaking out of the rebellion of 1715. He

died 19th November 1731, after possessing the title for 63

vears. By his wife, Marjory, only child of David Scott of

Scotstarvet, Fifeshire, he had six -sons and eight d.-iughters.
j

The sons were, 1. David, si::tli viscount. 2. The Hon. James

Murray, advocate, M.P. for the Elgin burghs, and one ot

Queen Anne's commis,sioncrs for settling the trade witli

France; died at Avignon in .August 1770, aged 80. 3. Hon.

John Murray, who died young. 4. Hon. William >durray.
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a celebrated lawyer and statesman, first earl of Mansfield,

(see page 227 of tliis vol.) 5. Hon. Charles; and 6. Hon.
Koiiert Murray, who both died without issue.

The eldest son, David, si.Kth viscount, bom about 1C89,

died 23d July 1748, was succeeded by his elder son, David,

seventh viscount. The latter, born 9th October 1727, was
educated at Westminster school, and in 1744 went to Christ

Church college, O.xfurd. He acquired a distinguished repu-

tation as a scholar, and was the author of many eloquent

Latin compositions. After succeeding to the title he spent

some years on the continent, and in 1754 was chosen one of

the sixteen Scots i-epresentative peers. The following year

he was appointed ambassador to the elector of Saxony, and

king and republic of Poland. In 1762 he returned to Bri-

tain, and was sworn a privy councillor, 26th ,Tuly 1763. From
the latter year he was ambassador extraordinary and pleni-

potentiary to Vienna till 1772, when he was appointed in the

.same capacity to the court of France. In 1768 he had been

made a knight of the Thistle. He remained in Paris till the

commencement of hostilities in 1778, when he was appointed

lord-jnstice-general of Scotland. On 27tli October, 1779, he

was constituted principal secretary of state fur North Britain,

an office which he held till the dissolution of Lord North's

administration in 1782. On the formation of the coalition

ministry, in the spring of 1783, he was appointed president

of the council, but on the rejection of Fox's India bill in De-

cember following, he resigned that office. He had married

in 1759, at Warsaw, Henrietta Frederica, daughter of Henrv,

Count Bunau, councillor to the elector of Saxony, and by her

had two daughters. That lady dying in 1766, he married, a

second time, the Hon. Louisa Catlicart, third daughter of the

ninth Lord Cathcart. On the death of the first, called the

great earl of Mansfield, 20th March 1793, she succeeded as

countess of Mansfield in the county of Nottingham, in her

own right, the remainder having been to her, as the wife of

his nephew. Viscount Stormont, under the impression preva-

lent at the period of the creation of the earldom, 31st Octo-

ber, 1776, that no British peerage could be limited to a peer

of Scotland, even in rem.ainder. When, however, the con-

verse was established by l.iw, the first earl of iMansfield ob-

tained another patent, dated 26th July, 1792, creating him

earl of Mansfield of Caen Wood, county Middlesex, with re-

mainder to his nephew, her husband, Viscount Stormont.

Accordingly, on the death of his uncle in 1793, he succeeded

as second earl of M:insiield. On the division in the opposi-

tion 1794, he joined the administration, and on 27th Decem-

ber that year was a second time appointed president of the

council. He resigned the office of lord-justice-general in

1 795. Besides the offices mentioned, he also held those of

joint clerk of the court of king's bench, and chancellor of

JIarischal college, Aberdeen. He died at Brighton, 1st Sep-

tember, 1796, in his 69th year, and was buried in Westmin-

.ster Abbey in the same vault with the first earl of Mansfield.

By his first wife he had two daughters, the elder of whom,

Elizabeth Maiy, married in 1785 George Finch-Hattnn of

Eastwell, M.P., and had, with other issue, George William

Finch-Hatton, carl of Winchelsea. By his second wife, who

took for her second husband the Hon. Robert Fulke Greville,

he had, with one daughter, four sons, namely, 1. William,

third earl of Mansfield. 2. Hon. George Murray, principal

auditor of exchequer in Scotland, and a lieutenant-general in

the army, died in 1848. 3. Hon. Charles Murray, major in

the army. 4. Hon. Henry Murr.iy, C.B., lieutenant-general

in the army.

William, eighth viscount of Stormont, .and third e.arl of

Mansfield, born at I'ai'is 7th March 1777, married Frederica,

daughter of William Markham, D.D., archbishop of York,

and witli three daughters, had four sons. He died 18th Feb-

ruary 1840.

His eldest son, William David, born Feb. 21, 1806, suc-

ceeded as 9th viscount of Storuumt and 4th earl of JIansfield.

He inherited bcith earldoms, that in the county of Middlesex

on the death of his father, and that in the county of Notting-

ham on the decease of his grandmother, July 11, 1843; here-
|

ditary keeper of the palace of Scone; appointed in 1846 a

deputy-lieutennnt of Perthshire; and was lieutenant-colonel

of the Stirlingshire militia. In 1830 he was elected JI.P. for

Aldborougli, in 1831 for Woodstock, in 1832 for Norwich,

and in 1837 for Perthshire; and was a lord of the treasury

from Dec 1834 till April 1835
;
Knight of the Thistle, 1843;

lord-lieutenant of county of Clackmannan, 1852. In 1852,

1858, 1859, he was lord-high-commissioner to the General

Assembly of the Church of Scotland. He mairied, April 8,

1829, Louisa, 3d daughter of Cuthbert Ellison, Esq. of Hepburn

Hall, county of Durham, issue, a son, William David, Viscount

Stormont, an officer in the grenadier guards, born July 27,

1835, and a daughter. Lady Louisa Nina Murray, wife of the

Hon. George Edwin Lascelles, a son of the 3d earl of Harewood.

STRACHAJf, a sumaiue derived from the lands of Strath-

aen or Strathachan, in Kincardineshire. The family of Stra-

chan of Strachan is of great antiquity. In 1100. we find

Walderus de Strachane or Strathethyne, " cum consensu Ru-

dolphi de Strachane hceredis sui" conveying lands to the

canons of St. Andrews, and John, the son of Rudolphus,

makes over to the abbot and convent of Dunfermline the

lands of Belheldie, j9)'o salute sna, the deed being confirmed

by Alexander III. in 1278. About 1316, the barony of

Strachan, Fetteresso, and Dalpersey, &c., merged by mar-

riage into the family of Keith, but in the reign of David II.

Sir James Strachan of Monboddo, in the same county, ob-

tained the lands of Thornton by marriage with Agneta de

Thornton. He had two sons. Duncan, the elder, liad the

lands of Jlonboddo. The younger son. Sir John Strachan,

got the lands of Thornton. He was knighted by R<ibert II.

in 1375, and to him the previous charters were, in the fol-

lowing year, confirmed by the same monarch.

Sir Alexander Strachan of Thornton, a commissioner of the

exchequer, and subsequently a commissioner for auditing the

treasury accounts, was created a baronet of Nova Scotia by

King Charles L, 28th May 1625. On the death of his son,

the second baronet, without issue, the title, being to heirs

male generally, was inherited by his kinsman Sir James

Strachan of Monboddo, whose lineal descent from the family

of Thornton was thereafter further proved and confirmed by

deed under the great seal in 1663. On the death of the

fourth baronet, issueless, the baronetcy again went to a dis-

t.int kinsman. The fifth baronet, Sir John Strachan, a post-

captain R.N , died December 28, 1777.

The sixth baronet was Admiral Sir Richard Strachan,

G.C.B., distinguished for his naval services. Born in Devon-

shire, October 7, 1760, he was the eldest son of Patrick

Strachan, Esq., lieutenant R.N. When in conmiand of the

Concorde, 42 guns, in the squadron under Sir J. B. Warren,

in an engagement with the French on St. George's day, 1794,

to the westward of Guernsey, he captured a French ship of

38 guns called I'Engageante. Afterwards in the Mehimpus,

42 guns, and then in the Donegal, 80 guns, he was constant-

ly employed in active service, in the course of which he made

several prizes, amongst the rest, a Spanish ship, with a cargo

worth about £200,000. In the spring of 1804, he was no-

minated a colonel of marines. About July 1805, he was
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appointed to tlie Ccesar, 80 giins, ami intrusted with llie

cojnrnand of .1 detaclied squadron, consisting of five sail of

tlie line and two frigates. On tlie evening of the 2d Novem-

ber, being off Ferrol, he fell in with four I'?ench line of battle

ships that had escaped from the battle of Trafalgar. Sir

Kichard immediately gave chase, whicii lie continued all that

dav and the next. The two British frig.-ites having outsailed

the ships of the line, got up with the enemy by daybreak on

the 4th, and immediately commenced action. By firing on

the rear of the French ships, they retarded their flight so

much that the main body of Sir Richard's fleet was able to

come up. The battle that ensued lasted nearly three hours

and a half, during the whole of which the French fought re-

markably well. At last their ships, being completely unman-
ageable, struck their colours, and the whole four were cap-

tured. The slaughter on board of them was very great. The

Frencli admiral himself was wounded, and one of his cap-

tains killed. Tlie loss of the British was trifling. Sir Rich-

ard Strach:m immediately proceeded to Gibraltar with his

prizes. Five days after tliis action, he was promoted to the

rank of rear-admiral, and on 29th January 180G, be was

made a knight of the Bath. He also received the thanks of

both Iiouses of parliament, lie was subsequently employed

in the blockade of Rochcfort until the summer of 1809, wlieu

he assumed the command of the naval part of the expedition

destined for the occupation of Flushing, and the destrnctinri

of the French ships of war, arsenals, &c., in the Scheldt.

On 3d July 1810 he was presented by the corporation at

London with a sword .and the freedom of the city, and on the

31st of the same month he was advanced to he vice-admiral.

He was made full admir.al July 19, 1821, and allowed a

pension of ^1,000 per annum for his services. He died od

]''ebruary 1828, and for thirteen years after his decease, the

title remained dormant. In October 1841, Sir John Stra-

chan of Clifl'den, near Teignmouth, Devon, as the nearest

heir male general of the first baronet, succeeded as the sev-

enth baronet. He married Elizabeth, daughter of David

Hunter, Esq. of Blackness, Forfarshire, and died 9th June

1844, when Iiis son, Sir John Strachan, of her majesty's

household, succeeded as eighth baronet. Tlie latter died,

28tli January 18.i4, without issue, when the title again be-

came dormant.

The name has been softened in England into Strahan, in

accordance with its pronunciation.

STR.VII.AN, William, an cnilnpiit printer, wn-;

liorn fit Edinburgh in 1715. His fatlici', wlio lipid

a small appointiiirnt in tlio customs, gave liis

son the ordinaiy education ohtaiiicd at the High

school. lie served his a]iprenl icesliip to a printer

in ills native city, and on the expiry of liis time

lie went to London, where he worked as a jonr-

neyman in the .same office with Benjninin Frank-

lin. He next set ii]i for liimself, and soon esta-

blished a floiirisliing Imsiiiess. In 1770 lie bought

of Mr. Eyre a share of the patent for king's print-

er, and afterwards acquired great ]iropert_v and

influence in the literar}' world, b_y purchasing the

co])yriglits of some of the most celebrated authors

of the time, frequently in conjunction with his

fiiend. Alderman Cadell, the eminent piililisher.

In 1775 lie was elected M. P. for the borougli of

Malinesbuiy, having Charles James Fo.x for liis

colleague, and in the next ]iarliainent he was re-

turned for Wotton Bassett. He lost his seat at

the dissolution in 1784, and died July 9, 1785.

He owed his rise entirely to his own talents and

exertions, and was much esteemed by persons of

rank and learning. lie was the fiiend of Dr.

Johnson, and other eminent literary men of his

time. lie wrote a paper in 'The ]\[irror,' No.

94, and some other anonymous pieces. He ex-

celled in the epistolaiy branch of writing, and

several of liis letters to the many men of emi-

nence with whom he was acquainted have been

printed in tlicir lives or correspondence. Besides

liberal bequests to various persons, lie left one

tliousand pounds to the Stationers' Company for

charitable pnr]ioses. His portrait is subjoined.

Mr. Strahan mnriied in curly lil'c. and had sev-

eral children, bnt was survived only by two of

his three sons; namely, the Rev. Dr. George

Strahan, prebendary of Rochester, who died Jlay

18. 18"24; and Andrew, liis third son. 'j'lie lat-

ter, born about 1749, succeeded his father as joint

patentee, with j\Ir. Eyre, in the office of king's

printer, and pursued his steps, not only in the ex-

tent but in the liberality of his encouragement of
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authors. In 1797, he was elected j\I.P. for New-

port, Hants, and sat in parliament till 1818. He

was a w'hig, and always voted with tliat party.

He died Aug. 25, 1831, aged 83.

Sti'.ang, or Stbong, :i suniaine ori<:inally of Fifeshire.

An ancient family of this name possessed, at one time, tlie

estate of Balcaskie, parish of Carnbee, in tliat county. John

Strang of Balcaslcie, married, before 1362, Cecilia, sister of

Kichard Aristrnther of that ilk, and received from the latter

certain tenements in Anstruther.

In 1466 William Strang of Balcaskie was one of an assize

of perambulation for clearing of marches. In 1482 Jcilin

Strang of Balcaskie and Ewingston liad a charter to these

lands, wliicli were, in the same year, acquired by George

Strang, probably liis father, from George Porteous, portioner

tiiereof, in exchange for the lands of Whiteside and Gleiikirk.

John Strang of Balcaskie is mentioned in 1514 and 1521.

He had a sou, George, who, in 1517, formed one of a jury

who made a valuation of Fifeshire. George predeceased his

father, leaving a son. John Strang of Balcaskie was slain at

Pinkie in 1547, and was succeeded by his grandson.

In 1605 a son of the family joined the e.xpedition to the

Lewis, for the colonizntinn of that island and improvement of

tlie fislaries. (See p. 49 of this vol.) On the destruction of

the expedition this gentleman settled in the Orkneys.

John Strang of Balcaskie, born before ,1578, had a son,

Thom;is, who, in 1641, was served lieir to liis great-grand-

fatlier, slain at Pinkie. After the sale of Balcaskie, in 1615,

he became colonel of Cochrane's Scots regiment.

Sir Robert Strange, the eminent engraver, a memoir of

whom is given below in larger type, was the fourth in lineal

descent from Sir David Magnus Strang or Strange, sub-

chanter of Orkney fro)n 1544 to 1565. Sir David is assumed

to liave been a younger sou of the Strangs of B.alcaskie, of

which, however, there is no proof.

The family of Strang of Pitcorthie, in the same county,

descended from John Strang, who, about 1306, married

Christian Duddingston, and with lier acquired Wester Pit-

corthie. In 1447 Sir William Oliphant of Kellie granted the

half of Easter Pitcorthie to his grandson, Walter Strang.

Another Walter Strang of Pitcorthie is supposed to have

fallen at Flodden. He left three heires.ses, Isabel, Giles, and

Agnes, who divided Pitcorthie among them.

Dii. John' Strang, a learned divine of the 17th century,

was the son of Mr. William Strang, minister of Irvine, in

Ayrshire, where he was born in 1584. He lost his father

while still very young, but his mother soon after married Mr.

Piobert Wilkie, minister of Kilmarnock, under whose care lie

was educated at the public school of that town. At the .age

of twelve he was sent to study Greek and philosophy at St.

Leonard's college, St. Andrews. In his sixteenth year, lie ob-

tained the degree of M.A., and shortly after he was appointed

one of the regents of the college. In 1613 lie became minister

of Errol, in the presbytery of Perth. In 1616, at the recom-

mendation of James VI., he and several other persons were

invested with the degree of D.D. at St. .^lldrew.s. In 1618

he voted ag.ainst the five articles of Perth, notwithstanding

which be was appointed a member of the court of high com-

mission, but never attended its meetings. In 1020 he was

chosen one of the ministers of Edinburgh, but preferred re-

maining at Errol. In 1626 he was appointed principal of

the university of Ghi.sgow, in place of Mr. John Cameron,
|

resigned. He rendered himself exceedingly unpopular with
j

the more rigid Presbyterians by his temporising measures ; and
among the papers of Charles I., found after the battle of Naseby,

was discovered a letter of his addressed to Dr. Balcanqulial,

with a treatise, entitled ' Reasons why all his Jl.ijesty's or-

thodox Subjects, and, namely, those who subscribed the late

Covenant, should thankfully acquiesce to his Majesty's late

Declaration and Proclamations, with an Answer to the Rea-

sons objected in the late Protest.alion to the contrary.' In

1650 he demitted his office of principal, and retired on an

annuity allowed him by the visitors of the university. He
died at Edinburgh, June 20, 1054. He was the author of a

treatise, De Voluntafe et .Actionibus Dei circa peccatum,

printed by the Elzevirs at Amsterdam in 1657; also, of one,

De Interpretatione et Perfectione Scriptura;. Rotterdam, 1 6G3.

STRANGE, Siu Robert, an eminent engraver,

was born in the island of Pomona in Orkney, July

14, 1721. He was lineally descended from Sir

David Strange, or Strang, a younger son of the

family of Balcaslcie in Fifesliiie, wlio settled in

Orkney at the time of the Reformation. After

receiving a classical education at Kirkwall, he

was intended for the law, but, disliking that pro-

fession, he went on board a man-of-war bound

for the Mediterranean. On his return, some of

his sketches were shown to Mr. Richard Cooper,

an engraver in Edinburgh, who took liim as an

apprentice, and he soon made rapid progress in

the arts. "When tlie rebel army entered Edin-

burgh in September 1745, he was induced to join

the service of the Pretender; and he continued to

act as one of the prince's life-guards till his defeat

at Culloden ; after which he was obliged to con-

ceal himself for several mouths in the Highlands.

Wlien the vigilance of the government was some-

wiiat abated he returned to Edinburgh, where he

contrived to maintain liimself by the sale of tlie

portraits of tlie rebel leaders, of which great num-

bers were sold at a guinea each. In 1747 he

married Isabella, only daughter of AVilliam Lnin-

isden, son of Bishop Lumisden ; and soon after lie

went to Paris, where he prosecuted his studies,

under the direction of the celebrated Le Bas, from

whom he had tlie first liint of the use of the in-

strument called the dry needle, which he after-

wards greath' improved by his own genius. In

1751 lie removed to London, wliere he settled,

and engraved several fine historical prints, which

deservedly raised his reputation. As historical

engraving liad at that period made little progress

in Britain, he may justly be considered the father

of that difficult department of the art. In 17G0
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he set out for Ituly, wliicli, as the seat of tlic fine

arts, ho had long been anxious to visit. Tiic

drawings made by him in the course of this tour

lie al'terwards engraved. While in Italy lie was

chosen a member of tlu; Academies of Rome, Flo-

rence, Bologna, and professor in the Royal -Aca-

demy at Parma. lie was likewise elected a mem-

ber of the Royal Academy of Painting at Paris.

He received the honour of knighthood January 5,

1787 ; and died at London, July 5, 1792. Sub-

joined is his portrait from a jirint engraved by

himself:

Jle published,

A Descriptive Cjitiilogiie of ;i Collection of I'icturcs select-

ed by liiiii on the Continent; with remarks on tlie present

paniters and tlieir works. Lond. 1769, Svo.

An Inquiry into tiie Rise and Establishment of the Royal

Academy of Arts : to which is prefixed a Letter to the Karl

of Bute. Lond. 1775, Svo.

The following is an authentic list of his engrav-

ings taken from the Encyclopedia Britannica, sev-

enth edition :

Two heads of himself, one an etching, the other a finished

proof, from a drawinj; by John Baptiste Greuse.

The Return from Market. By Wouvennans.

Cupiii. By Vanloo.

Mary Magdalen. By Guido.

Cleopatra. By the same.

The Madonna. By the same.

The .Vntjcl Gabriel. By the same.

HI.

The Virgin, holding in lier hand a book, and attended by

angels. By Carlo Marat t.

'I'lie Vii'gin with the Child asleep. ]5y the same.

Liberality and .Modesty. By Guido.

Apollo rewarding Merit and punisliing Arrogance. I'.v
J

Andrea Sacchi.

The finding of Kouuihis and Renins. By I'ii-tro i]f Cor-

tcna.

('.'vsar repudiating I'onipeia. By I'ietro de Cortmia.

Three Children of Charles I. By Vaiiiiyke.

r.elisariiis. By .Salvator Ro.-:a.

St. .'\gnes. By Domenichnio.

'i'he .Indgment of Hercules. By Nicolas I'oussin.

\'fiiiis attired by the Graces. By Guido.

.histice and Meekness. By Raphaul.

The oflVjiring of Love. By Guido.

Cupid Sleeping. By Giiido.

.'\braham giving up the handmaid llagar. By Guercino.

ICsther, a suppliant bel'ore Aha.suerus. I'y Guercino.

.Joseph and Potiphar's wi.'e. l!y Guido.

Venus blinding Cupid. By Titian.

Venus. ]>y Guido.

Danae. l?y the same.

I'ortrait of Charles I. By Vandyke.

The Madonna. By Corregio.

St. Cecilia. By Raphael.

JIary Magdalen. By Guido.

Om- Saviour appearing to his Mother a.''ter his resurrection.

By Guercino.

A .Mother and Child. By rarmegiano.

("upid Meditating. By Schidoni.

Laomedon, King of Troy, detected by Xeptune ai.d .\pol-
]

lo. By Salvator Rosa.

The death of Dido. By Guercino.

Venus and .\doiiis. By Titian.

Fortune. I!y Guido.

Cleopatra. By the same.

Two Children at School. By Schidoni.

Mary Magdalene. By CoiTCgio.

Portrait of King Charles I., attended by the .Marqui> of

Hamilton. By Vandyke.

Queen Henrietta attended by the J'rince of Wales, and

holding in her arms the Duke of York. By the same.

Apotheosis of the Royal Children. By West.

The Annunciation. By Guido.

Portrait of Raphael. By himself.

Sappho. By Carlo Dolce.

Our Saviour Asleep. By Vandyke.

St. .John in the Desert. By Murillo.

Tov.-ards the close of liis life, he formed about eighty re-

served proof copies of his best plates into as many volumes,

to which ho prefi.xed a portrait of himself, with a general title

page, and an introduction on the histoiy of Engraving. This

work his death prevented him from publishing.

Stu.vthali.ax, Viscount of, a title in the peerage of Scot-

land, conferred in 1G8G, on the Hon. William Drummond,

grand.son of James I^ruiiimond, .second and younger son of

liavid, .second Lord Drummond. (See vol. ii. p. G3.) James
Drummond, his grandfather, was educated with King .Tames

VL, and in 15S.3 appointed one of the gentlemen of his bed-

chamber. Having been witli the king at Perth on the mem-
orable otii of August, ICOO, when the earl of Gowrie and his

brother were killed, he gave a distinct and clear deposition

relative to that mysterious affair. He w.as secular " com-

mendator"' of the abbey of Inchaflray, Perthshire, before the
'
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Reforniiition, a house of canons regular founded in 1200, by

Gilbert, earl of Stratlicrn, and his countess Jlatilda. He
w;is raised to tlie peerage, 31st January 1G09, by the title of

Lord Madderty, the parish in which InchafTray is situated,

and which, in ancient times, was the seat of a Celtic monas-

tery. It was secularized before the foundation of Inchaffray,

with which a remnant of its domains was incorporated. Pre-

vious to being created a peer, he was styled lord of Inchaf-

fray, a name signifying " the island of masses." He died in

September 1G23. By his wife, Jean, dau^liter of Sir James

Chishohne of Cromlix, he got the lands of Inncrpeffray, she

being heiress, through her mother, of Sir .John Drumniond,

the owner of that property. He had two sons and four

daughters. Tl]e second son, the Hon. Sir James Drummond
of Machany, carried on tlie line of the family.

The elder son, .John, second Lord Jladderty, was among

tlie iirst of the nobility who joined tlie marquis of Montrose,

at Bothwell, after tlie battle of Kilsyth in 16-15, for which he

was imprisoned. In 1619, he bound himself not to oppose

the parliament, and also became cautioner for Graham of

Iiichbraco, the cousin of iMontrose, under a penalty of

£50,000. By his wife, Helen, eldest daughter of Patrick

Lesly, commendator of Lindores, he had, with three daugh-

ters, five sons. 1. David, third Lord Madderty. 2. Hon.

James Drummond, and 3. Hon. John Drnmmond, both offi-

cers in foreign service. 4. Hon. Ludovick Drummond, who

fought at Worcester, and escaping thence, went into the

Swedish army, and was killed at the storming of Copenh.a-

gen. 5. Hon. William Drummond, a general in the army,

first viscount of Stratliallan.

The eldest son, David, fliird Lord Madderty, was in ICAi,

in his father's lifetime, imprisoned, by an order of the com-

mittee of estates, with other friends of Jlontrose. On his

deathbed he is said, (^FountainhaU, vol. i. p. 295,) to have re-

signed his title, 11th April 1681, in favour of his youngest

brother, General William Drummond, who, however, was, at

any rate, entitled to succeed to it, as his intermediate bro-

thers had all predeceased him. The third Lord Jladderty was

twice married. By his first wife, a daughter of Creighton of

Haltoun and Luncardie, he had a daughter, who died young.

By his second wife. Lady Beatrix Graham, a sister of the

great marquis of Montrose, he had two sons, who also both

died young, and three daughters. 1. Hon. Margaret, wife of

her cousin, John Graham, postmaster-general of Scotland,

son of Patrick Graham of Inchbraco. 2. Hon. Beatrix, Coun-

tess of Ilyndford. 3. Hon. Mary, wife of John Haldane of

Glene.agles.

His youngest brother, the Hon. William Drumnumd, fifth

son of the 2d Lord Madderty, had a command in the army
of the " Engagement," raised for the rescue of Charles I. in

1G48. On the defeat of that enterprise he joined the mar-

quis of OrmonJ, then in arms for the king in Ireland. He
had the command of a regiment at tlie battle of Worcester in

1651, and was taken prisoner, but made his escape. He then

jiiined the royalists under the earl of Glenoairn, in the High-

lands, where his kinsman, Andrew Drummond, brother of

Sir James Drummond of iMachany, commanded a regitnent

of Athol-men ; and he continued with them till they were

dispersed by the parliamentary general, Morgan, in 1654.

Subsequently he entered the Muscovite service, where he at-

tained the rank of lieutenant-general. As he himself s.ays,

he " served long in the wars !it home and abroad, against the

Polonians and Tartars." After the Kestoration, lie was re-

called to England by Charles II., who in 1G6G appointed him

major-general of the forces in Scotland. Notwithstanding

his known loyalty, he was in 1675, on a mere surmise of hav-

ing corresponded witli some of the exiled Covenanters in

Holland, imprisoned in Dumbarton castle for a year. On

his release, he was restored to his command, and in 1681,

appointed general of the ordnance. On the accession of

King James VII., tlie following year, he was nominated gen-

eral of the forces in Scotland, and appointed a lord of the

treasuiy. In 1G84. on the resignation of his brother, he be-

came 4th Lord Jladderty, and was created viscount of Stratli-

allan and Lord Drummond of Cromlix, by patent dated

Sept. G, 1686, to him and the heirs male of his body, with

remainder to his nearest heirs male whatsoever. He died in

January 1688. In a funeral sermon preached at his decease,

by Principal Monro of Edinburgh, it is said of him, " Now,

we have this generous soul in Moscovia, a stranger, and you

may be sure the cavalier's coffers were not then of gi-eat

weight ; but he carried with him that which never forsook

him till his last breath, resolution above the disasters of for-

tune, composure of spirit in the midst of adversity, and ac-

complishments proper for any station in court or camp that

became a gentleman." Ho wrote an account of the Drum-

mond family, in which he traces its origin to the Hungarian

noble, JIaurice, who is said to have accomp.anied Edgar Ath-

eling and his two sisters to Scotland in 1068, (see vol. ii. p.

60). By his wife, Eliz.abeth, daughter of Sir Archibald

Johnston, Lord Warriston, executed in 1GG3, and widow of

Thomas Hepburn of Humbie, he had, with one daughter,

Elizabeth, countess of Kinnoul, a son, William, second vis-

count of Strathallan. The latter died 7tli July 1702.

On the death of his son, William, third viscount, without

issue, 2Gth Jlay 1711, in his sixteenth year, the estates of

Cromlix, &c. devolved on the Kinnoul family as heirs of line,

while the titles reverted to the heir male, his cousin, M'illiam

Drummond, descended from the Hon. Sir James Drummond

of Machany, second son of the first Lord Maderty. Sir James

was colonel of the Perthshire foot in the "Engagement" for

the rescue of Charles I. in 1618, and died before the Resto-

ration. By his wife, Catherine Hamilton, sister of the first

Lord Bargeny, he had, with a daughter, married to Alexan-

der Robertson of Strowan, eight sons, who all died without

issue except the eldest. Sir James Drummond of Machany,

who was fined £500 by Cromwell in 1654, and died in July

1675. His son. Sir John Drummond of Machany, was out-

lawed in 1690, for his attachment to the exiled royal family,

but returned to Scotland and died at Edinburgh in 1707.

He had six .sons and four daughters. The three eldest sons

predeceased him. William, the fourth son, succeeded as

fourth viscount of Strathallan. Andrew, the fifth son, was

the founder of the well-known great banking-house of Drum-

mond at Charing Cross, London. He purchased the estate

of Stanmore in Jliddlesex in 1729, and died 2d February

1769. Thomas, the sixth son, engaged in the rebellion of

1715, and was taken prisoner at Sheritl'muir.

The fuiu'th viscount was amongst the first to enter into

the rebellion of 1715, there being no clan in Scotland more

zealous in the Stuart cause than the Drununonds. He was

taken prisoner at the battle of Sheriffmuir, but was not sub-

jected to prosecution or forfeiture at that time. In 1745,

within a fortnight after Prince Charles Edward displayed his

standard at Glenfinnan, he was joined by Lord Strathallan,

who was left in command of the rebel forces in Scotland

when the Chevalier marched into England. At the battle of

Culloden, Lord Strathallan had a command on the right

wing of the rebel army, and when the latter gave way, he

was cut down and killed by the duke of Cumberland's dra-

goons. He had married in 1712, i\Iargaret JIurray, daughter

of the baroness Nairne, whose devotion to the cause of the
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Pretender led to lior impiisoninciit in tlic castle of lC(iiiil)iiri;li,

fVoin tlie lieginnin;; of Fcbnini'y to tlie end of Noveml)pr

1740, and liy iier luid seven sons and six daujjliters. James,

tlie eldest son, also took part in the reliellion of 1745, and

after tlie battle of I'alkirk, lie and Olijiliant, younj;er of

Cask, entered tliat town, disr;nised as peasants, and obtained

tlie information tliat General Hawley, after issniii;; orders to

set lire to liis tents, bad abandoned tlie town, and was re-

treating on I-iiilitlit;ow. He was inelnded in tlie act of at-

tainder, nnder tbe name of James Drninmond, ebiest son of

tlie viscount of Stratliallan, altliougli at tbat time be was de

jure- viscount bimself. Tbe act of attainder was not intro-

duced into parliament until tbe 8tli of i\Iay, and not passed

till tbe 4lli June 17-lG, nearly seven weeks after tbe battle of

Ciillodi'n, wbere bis father was killed. This erroneous de-

scription, it was contended, vitiated the attainder; but when

tbe point came to be tried in the House of Lords, it was held

that the attainder must Le sustained, on the ground that, by

the fiction which then obtained in Knslish law, the whole

acts passed in any one parliament were held to be passed on

one day—and tbat day tbe first on which tbe parliament

met. Interpreted by this fictitious date, the lani;ua^o of the

act of .-ittainder was held to be sufficiently correct ; but the

construction by which this decision was arrived at was con-

.sidered so repucrnant to common sense and common justice,

that the practice which now prevails was immediately after-

wards introduced, of dating every act from tbe day on which

it passes, and declaring that, unless specially provided for to

the contrary, it sli.all take effect from that day.

.lames, of right liflli viscount of Slrathallan. died at

Sens in Champagne in tlie year 17C.'), leaving two sons,

James Drumiiuiiid, who died unmarried in 177."): and An-

drew John Druiiimond, a distinguished general nflicer.

But for the attainder they would have been the sixth and

seveiitli viscounts of ."^trathallaii. 'i'lie latter served in

America under .Sir William Jlowc in ]77(i and the fol-

lowing year, and on the continent in tlie campaigns of

17113 and 179t. He was appointed governor of Dumbar-

ton castle ill ISIO, .-ind attained tbe full rank of gen-

eral in tbe army January 1, ISTJ. He petitioned the

king fur tbe iv>toratii)ii of the titles of his family, but

the House ol I'eers, on the opinion of the judges, decided

against biin on account ol' .allaimier, iMay 12, 1700. He

dii'd, uninairied, in 1H17, when the representation of the

familv, with the estates, which had been re-acqnired by pur-

chase in 1775, devolved upon bis cousin, J.-iiiies Andrew

.Tohn Laurence Charles Drummond, second son of tbe Hon.

William Drummond, third son of the fomtli viscount of

Rtratlialbm. His mother was Anne, second daughter of

JIajor D.ivid Naiinc, of tbe French service, and bis elder bro-

ther. 'Williain, a lieutenant-colonel 17tb regiment, died in

the West Indies, unmarried. Born 2-ltb March 17G7, the

surviving son filled for many years the difficult office of chief

of the British settlement at Canton, and on bis return to

Scotland be entered into public life. In M.arcb 1812, be

was elected nieniber of parliament for Ibe .shire of I'ertli, af-

ter what was reputed a keen contest in those d.nys—tbe votes

recorded in Lis favour being 09, while tliose given to bis gal-

lant opponent. Sir 'I'liomas Graham of R.algowan, (better

known by bis later title of Lord Lyncdocli.) were The

contest was renewed at the general election in tbe autumn of

tbe p.ame ye.nr, when Mr. nruuimond was again victorious

—

polling 75 votes, while Sir Thomas Graham polled (iS. Twice

snbsequentlv, in July If^lS and in March 1820. Mr. Drum-

inond was returned by the freeholders of Perthshire, without

op;)o>ition, and be continued to represent their interests in

the Hon.se of Commons until tbe year 1824, when, bv an act

of parliament, which received the general approbaticm of the

country, he was restored to the titles of Viscount Stratliallan,

Lord Jladderty and Drummond of Cronilix, which the mis-

taken loyalty of liis ancestors liad forfeited seventv-eight

years previously. His lordship was soon afterwards chosen

one of tbe representative peers of Scotland, and this distinc-

tion he continued to hold till bis death on ]4tb May 1.S5I.

Ill 180!) bis lord.sbip married Lady Amelia Sophia Muit.mv,

third daughter of John fourth duke of Atliol, and bv her

lady.sbiji, who died in 1849, be had: 1. Williain Henry, (Slli

viscount of Stratliallan; 2. Hon. Jlai ianne-J.ine, born in

181], married in 1842 JIajor George l)rumiiioiid Gra'ine of

Inchbreckie; 3. Hon. James liobert, born in 1812, Capt.

li.N., C.li. ; 4. Hon. ICdmund, born in 1814, m;uried, in

1837, Julia Mary, daughter of ,1. C. C. Sutherland, lOsq. of

Calcutta; 5. Hon. Francis Cb:irle.s, bom in 1815; (i. Hon.

IJobert Andrew John, born in 1820.

The eldest son, William Henry Drummond, 8lh viscount,

born Jfarch 5, 1810, .an otlicer in the army; elected in 1853

a Scots repiesontalive peer; married, in 183.", Cliristina-

jMaria Herzey, sister of Sir David Baird, bart., of Kewbyth;

issue, .'; si>ns and 4 itrs. James David, master of Stratli-

allan, the eldest S(m, born in 1839, an officer 11th linssans.

Tbe great b.mking-house of the Drninmonds at Charing

Cross, London, has liad several members of the Stratliallan

family as its partners. (See vol. ii. p. 04.) 'J lie Hon. Hen-

ry Drummond of the Grange, Hampshire, M.P., a younger

son of the master of Sir.ithalhui, (fey«;'efifHi viscount, inr-

leited in 1740, was, in bis time, bead of tbe bank. His son,

Henry, :d,so banker :uid member of ji;u'Ii;inient, married tbe

Hon. Anne Dund:is, second d:iugbterol the first Viscount Mel-

ville, and was father, with other children, of Henry Drummond
of Albany Park, Surrey. Born in 1780, the latter married,

in 1807, Lady Henriett;i Hay, eldest d:iughter of the ninth

earl of Kiunoul, issue 3 sons, who ;ill predeceased him, :md 2

drs. His elder daughter and lieire.ss, Lou's;i, married, in

1.S45, Lord Lovaiiie, eldest son of the c:irl of Beverley. Mr.

Drummond, tbe distinguished banker at Clnu'ing C^rnss, w.is

tbe bead of tbe Catholic Ajiostolic or Irviiigite cbuich. He

was elected M.P. for West Surrey in 1847; a nieniber ol' the

rov.al academy of fine arts at Florence; founder of the profes-

sorship of political economy at Oxford, a magistrate of Sur-

rey, and president of the London Western Literary Institution.

Other meiiihers of the family connected with the bank-

ing-house at Charing Cross, were Andrew Berkeley Drum-

mond of Cadl.ands, and Charles Drammond. ivhosc second

son, Fdward, born SOtli Jlarch 1702, was private secretaiy

to Sir Robert Peel, .and died 25th January 1843, from tbe

effect of a pistol shot received from a lunatic assassin of the

name of M'Naghton, in the open street, and intended for tbat

eminent st:itesinan, whom be was accompanying from the

bank at Ch.tring Cross. His brother, Berkeley, died a in;ijor-

general in the army.

Stuatii.wox. Lord, one of the lilies of tbe marquis of

Hiintlv, who is B:iron Gordon of Stnitli.-ivon, Glenlivct. (See

Hixri.Y.)

STitATiiF-DKN, Baroness, a title in the peerage of the united

kingdom, conferred in 1830, on Mary Klizabcth Cami>bell.

eldest daughter of the first Lord Abinger (Sir James Scar-

lett) bv the third daughter of Peter Campbell, Esq. of Kil-

morev, Argj-lesbire. Born in 170G, she married in 1821,

John, first I.ord Campbell. (See vol. i. p. 570.) Tbe Stratb-

eden peerage was created with remainder to the heirs male of
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iiei- lailvship liy Lord Cjinijjbell. She died Alaicli 26, 18C0.

Stratlieden is in rifeslure, lier luisbaiid's native couiitiy.

Stuatiiku.v, a surname derived from the district of that

name in Perthshire, uliich forms tlie basin of the river Earn

and its tributaries.

Stkatiiep.x, earl of, a title of great antiquity in Scotland,

the first possessor of which on record was Malise, one of the

witnesses of the foundation of the priory of Scone, by Alex-

ander I., in 1114. He is supposed to liave been a Celt,

though bearing the Sa.':on title of earl, in ancient times the

highest rank in the kingdom, next to that of the sovereign.

At the battle of the Standard, 22d August 11.3S, Malise, eari

of Strathern, distinguished himself greatly. Wiien the Scots

had prepared for battle, their king, David I., by the advice of

his chief leaders, resolved to commence the attack with the

men-at-arms and the archers, hut the men of Galloway

claimed that pre-eminence, alleging that it was their right

by ancient custom. It is stated that most of the menflit-

arnis in the Scottish ranks were subjects of England, wlio

had joined the forces of David. This caused several alterca-

tions and jealousies. "Whence arises this mighty confidence

in these Normans?" exclaimed Malise, e;ul of Strathern, in-

dignantly, to tlie king. " I wear no ariiiour, yet they who do

will not advance beyond me tliis day." " Earl," retorted

Alan de Percy, an illegitimate son of the great baron cif that

name, " you boast of what you dare not perform." David

repressed this dispute, and unwillingly yielded to the claims

of the men of Galloway. This Alan de Percy had attached

himself to David I. before his accession to the throne, and

ever afterwards adhered to him. In return for his valuable

services he received the manors of Oxenliam and Heton, in

Tcviotdale. He and his family were nuiniticent endowers of

Melrose abbey ; but after sustaining an honourable name for

three generations, his line became extinct for lack of heirs.

Malise's son, Ferquhard, or Ferteth, second earl of Strath-

ern, was one of the six earls that leagued against JIalcolm

IV. (See page 94 of this volume.) He witnessed a charter

of that monarch to the monastery of Scone in IICO, and in

the ibllowing year obtained a settlement in the province of

Moray, when its turbulent inhabitants were removed to other

parts of the kingdom. In the foundation charter of Inch-

affray lie is called Ferchard, Dei indul(jcnlia, comes de Stratli-

eryn. He died in 1171. His elder son, Gilbert, third eail

of Strathern, was tlie founder of the monastery of InchaC-

fray, and he richly endowed it for canons regular. The

f'ovindation charter, dated in 1198, was confirmed by King

William the Lion in 1200. The witnesses were, JIalise, bro-

ther of Earl Gilbert, William, Ferchard, and Kohert, liis

sons. Earl Gilbert had five sons and four daughters. His

three eldest sons predeceased him. Kohert, the fourth son,

became fourth earl of Strathern. Malise, the younger son.

got from King William the lands of Kincardine, to be held of

his brother. Earl Robert, and tlirough the marriage of his

niece, Annahella, elder daughter of Earl Robert, to Sir David

Graham, ancestor of the duke of iMontrose, they afterwards

came into that family. The fourth earl witnessed a charter

of Alexander II. of the earldom of Fife in the eleventh year

of his reign, 122.5, and lie was one of the witnesses to the

treaty concluded betwixt that monarch and Henry II. of

England, when their diiTerences were adjusted by the cardi-

nal legate of York in 1237. Ho died before 1244, leaving,

with two daughters, a son, Malise, fifth earl of Strathern.

This powerful noble was one of the principal maijnutes Sco-

t'ue of his time, and took a leading part in all the public

transactions of that day. In the minority of Alexander III.,

he joined the English party, and was received into the pro-
^

tection of Henry III. of England, 10th August 1255. ile

was one of the guardians of the young king and Queen Mar-

garet, daughter of Henry, whom he had married in 1251,

appointed in virtue of the treaty of Roxburgh, the 20th Sep-
|

tember that year. He died in 1270.

His son, Malise, Gth earl, a guarantee of the luamage f re.ity

of Jlargaret of Scotland witli Eric, king of Norway, in 12til,

sat in the parliament at Scone, Feb. 5, 1284, wlieii the Scots

nobles became bound to acknowledge Margaret the maiden of
^

Norway, as their sovereign, in the event of the death of Alex-

ander III. He agreed to the marriage of Queen JIargaret

with the prince of Wales, afterwards Edward II. of England,

a marriage never destined to take place. In the contest for

the crown, he was one of the nominees on the part of John

Balrol, in 1292. He swore fealty to Edward I. at Stirhng,

12th July of that year, and was present at Berwick on the

17th of the following November, when the claim to the crown

was decided in Baliol's favour. He was one of the nobles

summoned to attend Edward I. into Gascony, 1st September

1294, and was in the Scots army that invaded England in

March 129G, for which his estates were sequestrated. He
ag.ain, however, swore fealty to Edward on the 13th of the

following July, and was dead before the 3d September of the

same year. Amongst other names in the Ragman Roll, as

having sworn fealty to Edward in 129G, are those of Robert I

de Strathern and Maucolum de Strathern, cleric, del comte de
j

Peebles, also, John de Strathern, del comte de Forfar, which

shows that at that period there were several barons of the

name of Strathern in uifTercnt parts of Scotland. The sixth

earl of Strathern had a son, Jlalise, seventh earl, and a daugh-

ter, i\Iary, wife of Sir John i\Ioray of Drumsargnrd, .-ind

inother of three sons, 1. JIaurice, who was created earl of

Strathern. 2. Sir Alexander Jloray of Drumsargard, Ogiivy,

and Abercairney. 3. Walter, ancestor of the r^Iurrays of

Ogilface.

Malise, seventli earl, was one of the adherents of Robert

the Bruce, and was imprisoned in England from 130G to 18th

November 1308, and then only released on his giving security

for his loyal behaviour to Edward II., and not to leave Eng-

land witliout the king's permission. He w^ one of the pa-

triotic Scots nobles who, in 1320, signed the famous letter to

the Pope, asserting the independence of Scotland. At the

battle of Halidonhill, 19th July 1333, he and the earls of

Ross and Sutherland had the command of tlie third division

of the Scots army. Knighton, the English historian, who

lived in the following century, erroneously states that lie was

amongst the slain in that battle, a mistake .which has boeu

repeated by Dalrymple in his Annals. The following year he

resigned his earldom of Strathern in favour of a potent Eng-

lish noble, John de Warren, earl of Warren and Surrey, who

had married his daughter, .Johanna, and a letter is extant

from Edward Baliol to Henry de Bellemonte, earl of Bogliaii

or Buchan, dated 2d March 133 1, indicating that Earl j\Ialise

was then alive. In 1345, he was forfeited and attainted for

giving his earldom of Strathern to the earl of Warren, an

.enemy of David II. Sir James D.alrymple (//wtonca/ Co/-

kctions, p. 376), states that his daughter Johanna, countess

of Warren, Surrey, and Strathern, was also forfeited for mar-

rying the same nobleman.

It is supposed that Earl M.alise was three times married.

Douglas (^Peerage, vol. ii. p. 559) says that Marjoi-y Mus-

champ, countess of Strathern, was probably his first wife,

perhaps his stepmother, which is most consistent with chro-

nology. .Tohanna, daughter of Sir John Jlentefh, appears to
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have been liis second wile. She was tlie inotlicr of Joli:inn:i,

countess of Wrirren, Surrev, ami Stnitljern, .mil, according to

Crawford (I'eerar/e, p. 4G~). tliat countess of Stratljcrn

who, witli Sir David de Brccliin and Sir William de Sonlis,

was engaged in tlie cons[)iracy against Robert I. in 1320.

(See liRKCiiix, Sir David de, vol. i. p. .379, and Soui.is,

Willi:iin de, p. -l!)! of tins vol.) The connle.ss and Soidis

wei'e imprisoned for life, wliile Sir David de IJreehin w;is be-

headed. ICarl Mali.se's third wife was Isabella, daughter and

heiress of iMagnns, earl of Caitliness and Orkney, and in her

riglit he heeame carl of Caithness and Orkney. Ry his last

wife \n'. had four daughters. In i;J14 he gave the earldom of

C.nithiiess to William, earl of lioss, in marriage with Ids eldest

(hiughtor, whose nani^ is not mentioned (see vol. i. p. 521);

and that of Orkney to Sir Vi'illiaui Sinclair of lloslin, who

married his seeniid daugliter, Isabella. (See ]). 2G-1 of this

volume.)

The earldom of Stralhcrn was, by David II., granted in

}">[''), to Sir Maurice Moray of Drum.sargard, lord of Clydes-

dale, nephew of Karl Malise, to him and the heirs male of liis

bo<lv. which failing, to return to the crown. Sir Maurice

joined the stewaril of Scotland at the siege of Perth, in

lol'l), and fell at the h.attle of Durham, where David was

taken prisoner, 17th October 13-lG. As lie had no issue,

King David next, in 1301, granted the earldom of Strathern

to his nephew, Robert, stesvard of Scotland, wlio succeeded to

the tin-one as Robert II., 22d February 1371. Soon after,

that monarch conferreii the earldom on Ins eldest son. hy Ins

secinid marriage, David Stewart, earl of Strathern. who Inid

a charter of the same, loth ,lune of that year. He was sub-

sequently created earl of Caithness by his father, and is de-

signed earl-p.alatiue of Stralherii and e.arl of Caithness, in a

charter of Robert II., dated Mill February 13SI. He left a

d.aughter, Kuphanie, countess - pal.-itine of Strathern and

countess of Caithness, who resigned the latter e.arldom in fa-

vour 111' her micte, Walter Stewart, I.ord Brechin, and he ob-

tained a charter of tlie saiiii". She married Sir Patrick

Orah.ain, second son of '^ir P.itrirk Graham of Dund.-ifl' and

Kincanliiie, and in her light her husband became earl of

Strathern. lie was trencherously killed by his lirotlier-iu-

huv, Sir .Tolin Drnmmond of Concraig. at Criefl", 10th -August

1413. (See vol. ii. p. 01). He had a son, JIalise Graham,

carl of Strathern, and two daughters, I.aily Knphaine.

countess of Douglas and duchess of Tonraine, and atlerwaids

the wife of the first Lord Hamilton, with issue to both hus-

bands, and I.ady F.lizalietli, married to Sir .lolm Lyon of

Ghinnnis.

The son, Malise. earl of Strathern, was one of the hostages

nominated for the release of King .Tames I. by the treaty of

llli December M23. when his annual revenue wa.s estimated

at 500 merks. lie had .1 safe-conduct to meet King ,T;unes

at Dnrliani on the l ltli of that month. Under the pretence

that the earldom of Strathern was a male fee, .Limes divested

Malise of it, and conferred it on his nncle, Walter, carl of

Atliol and Caithness, grand-uncle of Malise, for his life only,

22d .lulv 1127. Walter was executed lor the exeer.able mur-

der of the king in April 1437, and the earldom of Strathern

was annexed to the crown, 4th Augnst 1455. Malise

Graham was created earl of Meiiteilh, by charter dated fith

September 1427, to him and the heirs of liis body, lawfully

procreated, failing wliieli, the earldom was to return to the

crown. Williani, the .seventh carl, bore the style of earl of

Strathern and Meiiteith for a .short time, but on being de-

)irived of those titles, 22d March 1(133, he was, on the 2.Slh

of the same month, created earl of Airlh. with the precedency

of M.T.teltb. (See p. Ill) of this vcdnine. Mr.Nir.! rii, earl of)

The title of duke of Strathern in the Scottish peerage, was

held by his royal highness the duke of Kent, the father of

Queen Victoria.

.Stkatiimohk, earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland,

conferred on 1st July 1G77, on Patrick, the third carl of

Kinghorn, of the noble family of Lyon. (See vol. ii. pp. G(I7

.and 705.) He obtained the Strathmore title with the exten-

sion of the reiii.-iinder to any person nominated by himself, or

in default of this, to his heirs and assigns wli.at.soever. TIk^

tiilc is taken from Strathmore, or the great valley, tli.-it i.s.

I lie noble and far-stretching hand of low country which skirts

the frontier mountain-nimp.art of the Highlands, and the

titles of the family arc e.arl of Strathmore and Kinghorn,

Viscount Lyon. Baron Glammis, T.annadice, Sidiaw. and

Stradiehtie. For an account of the Lords Glammis and the

first three earls of Kinghorn, sec Lyun, Lord Glammi.s. At-

tached to the exiled Stuart dynasty. Patrick, first earl of

Strathmore and third earl of Kinghorn, retired from public

life at the Revolution, and spent the remainder of his d.ays in

improving his estates, and under the direction of the celebrated

architect Inigo Jones, in rep.airing and modernising his ca.stle of

Glammis in Forfarshire, as .also in improving his seat of Caslle-

Iluntly in Perthshire, the name of which he changed to Cas-

tle-Lyon. He was a great cncourager of the arts, especially

.statuary, and in and about the casth' of Glammis there used

to be, for long after his death, a vast number of statues and

.sculptured ornaments, the greater part of which were done

by his orders. He died 15th Jlay 1GP5. He had married

23d August 1GG2, Lady Helen Middletoii. second daughter of

Jidm, earl of Middleton, then King Charles the Second's high

commissioner for Scotland, the ceremony being performed at

Holvrood-house by Archbishop Sharp. They had, with two

daughters, two sons, 1. .lohn. second earl of Strathmore and

Iniirth of Kinghiirn, who was of Queen Anne's privy council,

and opposed the treaty of union. 2. The Hon. Patrick Lyon

of Aueliterliouse, who engaged in the rcliellion of 1715, and

was killed at the battle of Shcriffmuir, 13lh Xnvenilier that

vc'ar.

.Tolin, second earl of Strathmore and fourth of Kinghorn,

died 10th .May 1712. By liis countess, Lady Elizabeth Stan-

hope, daughter of the second earl of Clicsterlield, he h.-id,

wiih two daughters, .^ix sons, the two eldest of whom, Pa-

trick and Philip, both Lords Glammis, died young, unmar-

ried, and the other four were carls of .'^Iratlimore in suc-

cession. In the Dundee Magazine for .lainiary 1800. the

following traditionary story is related :
'• An old man being

in company with the earl, who had his four sous with him,

his lordship, in conversation, said, 'Are not these four pretty

bovs?' 'I'o which the old man replied, ' Yes, but they will

be all carls, my lord, all carls.' The earl said, he would he

sorry if he were sure that such would be the case. The old

man again affirmed that it would be so, and added. ' Gml

help the poor when Thomas comes to be carl.' This was

literally accomplished in the year 1740, when scarcity and

de.irtli threatened famine in the land."

John, third earl of Strathmore and fifth of Kinghorn, the

eldest of the " four pretty boy -i," engaged in the rebellion ol'

1715. In attempting to cross the frith of Forth, with the

forces under Brigadier Jl.-icinto.sli, from the east coast of Fife

to Fa.st Lothian, on the night of the 12lh October that year,

Ibev were pursued, when about half-way across the channel,

bv the boats of the Kuglish men-of-war in Leith road.s, and

about two hundred of the rebels had to take refuge in the

Isle of M:iv. Among them was Lord Strathmore, and after

rein.aining there a d:iy or two, his lordship with these re-
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gained tlie Fife coast, and returned to the camp at Peitli,

about the 21st of October. He was kiliud at tlje battle of

Sheriffmuir, 13tii November following, unmarried. His ue.xt

brother, Charles, fourtli earl of Strathiuore and si.\th earl

of Kinghoni, died llth Jlay 1728, of an accidental wound

received two days before, in a scuffle betwixt James Carnegie

of Fiiihaveu and John Lyon of Brighton. On the 9th he had

gone to Forfar, to attend the funeral of a young lady, and

afterwards went to a tavern, with the two gentlemen named

and others. In the evening his lordship and Mr. Carnegie

paid a visit to Lady Aucliterhouse, a sister of the latter.

Mr. Lyon followed them and behaved rudely both to the lady

and her brother. Lord Strathmore thereupon left tlie house,

and, in the street, some words passed between Mr. Lyon and

Mr. Carnegie, who was pushed into a kennel, two feet deep,

from which a servant of the earl helped to e.\tricate 1dm.

Mr. Carnegie immediately drew his sword. Mr. Lyon ran

towards Lord Strathmore, whose back was to him, and en-

deavoured to draw his lordship's sword. Mr. Carnegie pur-

sued him in a staggering state, and, on couiing up, made a

pass at him, and the earl turning hastily round and pushing

Lvon off, received the weapon tlirougli his body. Mr. Car-

negie was brought to trial for the murder of the earl, before

the high court of justiciary at Kdinburgh, 2d August 1728,

but acquitted, through the superior ability and firmness of

his counsel, Robert Dundas of Anuston. (See vol. ii. p. 95.)

His lordship married in 1725, Lady Susan Cochrane, the

second of the three beautiful daughters of the fourtli earl of

Dundoiiald, but had no issue by her. She married, secondly,

2d April 1745, Mr. George Forbes, her factor, and master of

the horse to the Chevalier de St. George, and had to him a

daughter. Lady Strathmore became a Roman Catholic, and

died at Paris 2itli June 1751. James, fil'th earl of Strath-

more and seventh earl of Kinghorn, a captain in the army,

married the Hon. Jane Oliphant, and died, without issue,

1-lth January 1735. The youngest of the brothers, Thomas,

previous to succeeding to the faunly titles, was chosen M.P.

for Forfarshire, at the general election of 173-1. On the abo-

lition of the lieritable jurisdictions in 1747, he obtained for

the constabulary of Forfar £600. He died 18th January

1758. By his countess, Jane, daughter and heiress of James

Nicholson, Esq. of West Rainton, county Durham, he had,

with four daughters, three sons. 1. John, seventh earl of

Strathmore and tenth earl of Kinghorn. 2. Hon. James

Philip Lyon, in the service of the East India Company, one

of the unfortunate sufferers who fell victims to the rage of

Cassim Ally Cawn in Bengal, in February 1763, in his 25th

year. 3. Hon. Thomas Lyon of Hetton, county of Durham,

M.P. for the Aberdeen burghs from 170S to 1780, died in

1796, aged 55.

The eldest son, John, ."ieventh earl of Strathmoi'e, born in

1737, completed his education by foreign travel, in the course

of which he visited Spain and Portugal. He miu-ried, Febru-

ary 25, 1766, Mary Eleanor, only child and heiress of George

Bowes of Streatham Castle and Gibside, county of Dur-

liam, the then richest heiress in Europe, her fortune being

£1,040,000, with vast additions on her mother's death, and

immense estates on the dennse of her uncle. The same year,

his lordship obtained an act of parliament to enable him and

his countess to take and use the name of Bowes only'. He

was elected one of the si.\teen Scots representative peers 1st

October 1767, again in 1768 and in 1774, and died at sea,

on his passage to Lisbon for the recovery of his health, 7th

March 1776, in his 39th year. The countess, on 17th Janu-

ary 1777, took for lier second husband Andrew Robinson

Stoney of Coldpighill, county Durham, afterwards M.P. for

Newcastle-upon-Tyne. Refusing to comply with his wishes

in regard to her estates, she was forcibly carried off by him
and other armed men, November 10th, 1786. She was
brought up to the king's bcueh by writ of habeas corpus, and
released, and her husband was conunittcd to prison. The
lady recovered lier estates, which she }iad assigned to her

husband under the influence of terror, in Jlay 1788. She
died 28th April 1800, in her 52d year, and was buried in

Westminster Abbey, attired in a superb bridal dress. A mo-
nument, with a suitable inscription, is there erected to her

memory. The earl had 4 sons and 2 daughters.

John, the eldest son, eighth earl of Strathmore, born April

14, 1769, captain 65th foot in 1789, and a representative

Scots peer, was created a peer of ihe United Kingdom, July

18, 1815, as Baron Bowes of Streatham Castle. He mar-

ried,^idy 2, 1820, Mary, daughter of J. Milner, Esq. of

Staindrop, county Durham, hut died the following day, July

3, when his English barony expired. His countess married,

in 1831, William Hutt, Esq., M.P., and died May 5, 1860.

The earl w.is succeeded by his brother, Thomas, 9th earl of

Strathmore. Born May 3, 1773, he died .Aug. 27, 1846.

His grandson, Thonnis George, son of (leorge. Lord Gl.ari-

mis. who died in 1834, leaving 2 sons and 2 daughters, suc-

ceeded as 10th earl of Strathmore, and 12th earl of Kinghorn.

Born in 1822, he was appointed a lieutenant 1st life-guards in

1844; but retired in 1846. A representative Scots peer;

married in 1850, Hon. Charlotte Jlaria, eldest daughter i.f

Viscount Barrington. She died at the age of 28, Nov. 3, 1851,

without issue. Tiie earl's brother, Hon. Claude Lyon Bowes,

lieut. 2d life-guards, horn in 1824, married in 1853, Frances

Dora, daughter of Oswald Smith, Esq. of Blendon, with issue.

Strutiiers, a surname derived from the word Strother. nr

Struther, frequently applied in the south and east of Scotland

to places remarkable for swamps and marshes.

STRUTIIERS, JoHX, aullior of 'Tlie Foor

IMau's Sabbatli,' was born at the cottage of Foir-

faultls, oil the estate of Long Calderwootl, parish

of East Kilbride, Lanarkshire, 18th July 177(i.

He was tiie second son and fourth child of "Wil-

liam Struthers, for more than forty years a shoe-

maker in that parish. His education was of the

scantiest kind. lie was taught to read by his

mother, from the Shorter Catechism and the Pro-

verbs of Solomon, and, at a very early age, could

read any chapter in the Bible. lie acquired the

art of writing by copying the letters of the alpha-

bet, scrawled in a very rude manner, on the side

of an old slate, by his mother, who herself had

never been taught to write. Her simple mode of

tuition, however, was greatly assisted by the kind

notice taken of the boy by Mrs. Baillie, widow of

Dr. James Baillie, formerly professor of theology

in the university of Glasgow, who, as he tells us

in his autobiography, " with her two daughters,

Jliss Baillie and IMiss Joanna Baillie, afterwards

so highly distinguished for her poetical powers,
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lived then at Loiig Calclcrwoocl, ami had him fre-

quently brought in to lier, conversed familiarly

witii liim, told him amusing stories, made iiim

frequently read to her, and frequently read to

lum herself, while the yoimg ladies delighted

him at times ^\ith music from a spinnct." At

the age of seven he was employed as a herd-

boy to a neighl)ouring farmer, an oecupaticm wldeli

he had to leave, on account of a fever that con-

fined him to bed for more than six weeks. He

was thrown into it mi liuiling the Imuse of his

benefactress, Mrs. Baillie, shut np, and the family

removed to Loudon. Tlie ensuing winter he was

sent to school, where his jjrogress was so rai)id

that his master earnestly advised his father to be-

stow upon him a classical education, but this the

latter woidd not consent to.

He was next employed, for tlu'ee years and a

h ilf, as a cowherd, in the parisli of Glasford. At

this time, he resided ^\itll his gi-audmolher. His

parents and friends belonged to the body of the

Old Scottish Seceders, and his grandfather's library

contained almost all the controversial works con-

nected with the Scottish Reformation. Tlie youth

carefully perused again and again the ecclesiasti-

cal histories of AVodrow, Knox, and Calderwood,

with various of the publications relating to the

times of the covenant. To beguile tlie time,

when herding the cattle, !ic engaged in polemical

disputes with a neighbouring herd lad, and these,

ending as such discussions usually do, in the tri-

umph of neither party, the two rustic controversi-

alists, rustic-like, on one occasion, submitted the

question to the decision of two of their most bel-

ligerent bulls, to the manife.-t injury of the jioor

brutes.

Afterwards he was eini)loye(l in fai-m service in

the parish of Catlieart, and in his fourteenth year

retiu-ned home. He was desirous ot being ]mt to

the trade of a country wriglit, but linding no open-

ing for him in it, he sat himself down beside his

father to learn to make shoes. The following

year he went to Glasgow to perfect himself in his

trade, and soon became an etlicieiit worknnin.

He then returned to his father, and worked at

home for the next year or tw o.

All this time, he lost no opportunity of cidtivating

his intellectual powers, and ]:e stored his nund with

a knowledge of the best authors, both in ])rose and
j

i

verse, in ISriiish literature. At the ago of tw enty- i

two lie married, and after remaining for three
j

years in East Killiride, on 1st .September ISOl he
j

ixnnoved with his family to (JIasgow, which he
j

made his permanent residence for the future. i

Soon after, he venlm-ed npoii the printing of a
j

small vc)lium> of jioeli-y, but liad not the courage

to publish it, and, with the exception of a few co- n

])ies given away, he burnt the whole impression,
jj

His first piibli.-hed poem was a war ode, entitled
|

' Anticipation,' which apjieared in 18015, when

Bcniapai'te's threatened intention of invading Great !

Brilain li;id alarmed the whole nation. It was i

well received, and is rejjriiited in the second voi-
j

nine of his collected poems. i

Kiicoiiraged bj' its success, in the beginning of
j;

18(t-l, he published a longer ]ioem, written in
|

I

ISO*-', in the Si)enserian stanza, entiileii 'The
|

|

Poor ]\Ian's Sabbath,' ^vhieh at once established
j

his reputation as a poet. This poem appeared a
|

few weeks before 'The Sabbath, a Poeni,' by i

|

James Grahame, against whom a charge was

brought b}' one of the critics of the day, of taking

his design from the poem of Mr. Struthers. In

his autobiography, however, the latter says that,

" from first to last, he regarded the attenqit, made '

through him, to annoy poor Mr. Grahame, with

the deepest disgust
;

believing that though the

first object of tlie authors of that attempt was. per-
j

haps only to afflict that most sensitive of poets,
j

their idtimate end was, by engaging the two Sab-
j

j

bath-singing bards in a senseless quarrel, to sec
i

them render tliemselvcs ridiculous, and thus bring !

both tlii'ir i>oeins into contempt." A second edi- l

timi of ''J'lie I'oor Finn's Sabbath,' w itli some ad-
|

ditions, was issued the same year, and soon after
j

he published 'The Peasant's Death,' a i>oein in-

tended to be a sequel to it. In 1808, he had the

honour of a visit from j\liss Joanna Raillie. and on
j

her suggestion and thnnigh the recommendation ji

of Sir Walter Scott. ^Ir. Con,>.table, the eminent ^

j

l)ul)li.sher, was induced to issue a third edition of
|

,

u thousand copies of ' The Poor INIan's Sabbath,'
|

then extending to 102 stanzas, with a few notes, '

!

and some smaller pieces, for which he gave tlie
1

autiior thirty i)Omuls, with two dozen copies for
I

|

himself. '

j
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Ill 1811, Mv. Stfutliers published his poem of

' The Winter Day,' which was moderately suc-

cessful. Parts of it were included in a collected

edition of his poetical writings, imder the title of

' Poems, Moral and Religious,' published in 1814.

Two j'ears after, when there was a high degree

of excitement in the country, and a very great

amount of suffering, he published, anonymously, a

short ' Essa)' on the State of the Labouring Poor,

with some hints for its improvement,' Ills plan

being the allotment of farms of ten acres. This

pamphlet created a good deal of sensation, and

before it was known who was the author, was at-

tributed to some of the most eminent authors of

the day.

The following year i\Ir. Stri.ithcrs was employed

by Mr. Eullarton, of the firm of Messrs. Kliull,

Blacliie, and Co., publishers, Glasgow, to edit a

collection of songs, which, under the title of ' The

Harp of Caledonia,' came out in 3 vols. 18mo,

and had a very extensive sale. In 1818, appeared

his poem of ' The Plough,' written in the Spen-

sei'ian stanza, and about the same time he edited

a small volume of poems, by Mr. William Muir of

Campsie, to which he added a biographical pre-

fice. About the beginning of 1819 he entered the

ininting-ofiice of Khull, Blackie, and Co., as a

corrector of the press. Here he assisted in editing

AVodrow's History of the Sufferings of the Church

of Scotland, which was printed from a cop}- that

belonged to himself, and also wrote the History of

Scotland from the Union to 1827, whicli was pub-

lished in the latter year. His latest literarj* em-

ployment was the continuation of this history down

to the period of the disruption of the churcli of

Scotland in 1843, which was finished just before

Ills death. With Mr. Alexander Whitelaw, and

others, he was, for about eighteen months, en-

gaged Avriting the lives of distinguished natives of

Scotland, most of wliich were transferred to the

collection published in 1835, in four volumes, un-

der the name of 'A Biographical Dictionary of

Eminent Scotsmen,' by Robert Chambers. Being

in 1831 temporaril}' thrown out of employment,

Mr. Strutliers published, in that year, a pamphlet

against the voluntary principle, entitled ' Tekel,'

extending to 9G pages, 8vo. He afterwards ob-

tained his former literary situation, in tiie firm of

Archibald Fullarton and Co., publishers. In

1833, he was appointed librarian of Stirling's

library, Glasgow, with a yearh- salary of fifty

pounds. He held that situation for fifteen years,

when, in consequence of the duties being greatly

increased, he resigned the office, and at the ad-

vanced age of 74, returned to his first trade, tliat

of slioemakiiig. In 1836 he published liispoem of

' D}'chmont,' which he reprinted the following

year in an 8vo edition of his poems. He also

wrote for the Christian Instructor, biographical

notices of James Hogg, minister of Dalserf, after-

wards of Carnock, and Principal Robertson, and

published some short tracts on the religious con-

troversies of the day. At the disruption he had

joined the Free church of Scotland, and in his

latter years, was twice representative elder to its

General Assembly. At one period he issued pro-

posals for publishing a volume of Essays, some of

which had been already printed, but this volume

circumstances prevented him from completing.

In 1850, an edition of his poetical works, in two

volumes, handsomely got up, with his autobiogra-

phy prefixed, and a portrait, was published by

Jlessrs. A. Fullarton and Co.
i

Mr. Strutliers died at Glasgow, somewhat sud-

denly, on the evening of the 30th Julj* 1853, in

his 78th year, having been three times married.

" Though early of a very feeble constitution," saj's

one who knew him well, " he had acquired great
i

bodil}^ vigour. His step was firm and elastic ; his

figure rather tall and muscular, though slight. A
walk of fifty miles a-day, up to within three or

four years of his death, was nothing to him. He

delighted in the countiy, and in visiting our

shores and mountains. He was a man of few

wants and little ambition. He was allowed to

toil on to the end. Though decidedly a man of
{

genius, whose life had been spent in honest labour,

and who had large acquaintance of men and

things both in the literary and religious world, and

though his writings were all in the defence of

truth, religion, good order, and humanity, no other

attempt than that of a few private friends was

ever made, towards the close of liis days, to ease

him of the cares of old age ; and that attempt had

resulted in very little. But he coveted little either

the praises or the rewards of men. He was a man
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of .strong sense, clear intellect, fine iniagin.itlon,

of warm syini)atliies, strong feelings, generous

sentiments, and powerful emotions, controlled, sub-

dued, and regulated by the love and fear of (iod,

of liis Redeemer, and of liis f'llow-nien. II<' -was

truly a remnant of tlie, Scottish mind and heart,

cast in tlie mould of the best days of her intel-

lectual and religions elevation."

Stii.vkt. Sco Stkw.vc.t.

Of tlie old families (if this n.imc, tlmt of Sumrt of Allan-

bank, Bcrvviek.sliirc, a lirancli of the lionse of Slenart, baron-

ets, of Coltness, possessed a baronetcy of Nova Scotia, con-

ferred on Robert .Stcuart of Allanbaidc, loth An^n.st 1GS7.

with roni.-iindcr to liis lieirs male whatsoever. Sir John

Sluurt, the third baronet, passed advocate in 1737, ami for

many years was slierifl" of IJerwickshire. Ills son. Sir .lolin,

fonrth baronet, married in 1778, Frances, dangliter of .lames

Coutts, Ksq., baidcer in London, and by her liad two sons

and five dan<;hlers. Sir James Stnart, the elder son, suc-

ceeded his father as fifth baronet, and died 29th J.annary

1819, when the title becmie extinct.

The Stnarts of Duneurn, Fifeshire, were descended from

the Hon. Arcldbald Stnart, fourth son of the tliird earl of

Jloray. The Rev. Charles Stuart of Duncarn, at one time

nnnister of Cramond, resigned that cliarge from conscientious

scruples, and bavins; taken the degree of JI.D. at the univer-

sity of Edinburgh in 179.5, afterw.ards practised medicine in

that city. lie died in 1828. His eldest son, .Tames Stuart,

for a long time styled younger of Duncarn, was bred to the

l.uv, and became a writer to the signet in 1798, but was more

attached to agricultural pursuits than to tliose of Ins profes-

sion. A zealous and uncomprombsing whig, he made himself

prominent by his constant oppo.-ition to the tory rule, which

then reigned paramount in Scotland. One of the most emi-

nent partisans on the tory side was Sir Alexander Boswell

of Auchinleck, baronet, (see vol. i. p. 348.) a gentleman

gifted with much witty pleasantry and caustic humour, which

lie used unsparingly ag.ainst his political adversaries. Un-

fortunately, by the betrayal of MSS., some stpnbs which he

had contributed to a Glasgow new.spaper called the Sentinel,

one of them reflecting personally on Mr. Stnart, were traced

to bis pen, and refusing to apologize, :i duel was the conse-

quence, when Sir Alexander met bis death. This took place

in 1822. Jlr. Stuart was tried for liis murder before tlic

high court of justiciary, but acquitted, it being universally

admitted tliat be could not have acted otherwise tliau he did.

Having subsequently engaged in extensive speculations in

land, he became deeply involved by tlie catastnqilie of the

disastrous year 1825, and thought it prudent to retire to the

United States. On his return, lie published an account of

his travels in America, which attracted much attention at

the time. Soon after, he was appointed editor of the Courier,

at that period an influential evening paper, and in that capa-

cilv he gave every support in his power to the liberal party.

Appointed by Lord Melbourne, when prime minister, inspec-

tm- of factories, lie held that sitn.-ition till liis death, which

look place 3d November 1819, in his 7'ltb year. He m.arried

Mi.-s Moubr.ay of Cockairiiy, Fifesliirc, but had no issue.

Sre.MiT Die Dkciks, liaron, .-i tilli' in the peerage of the

United Kingdom, conferred in 18^9, on Heiirv Si nart \'illiers

of Dromona, county Watei furd, Ireland, eldest .son of Lord i

Henry Stuart, fifth son of the first marquis of Bute, and

L.idy Gertrude Emilia Villiers, only daughter ;ind heiress of

ihe la.st carl of Grandison. With his brothers and sisters he

.Mssunied the additional name of Villiers by si^n manual in

1.S22.

Sre.VRT l)K RoTilKS.w, baron, a title in the peerage of

llie United Kingdom, conferred in January 1828, for liis di-

plomatic services, on Sir Charles Stuart, G.C.Ii., eldest sou

of General the Hon. Sir Charles Stuart, (see page .')-10).

Lord Stu.avt de Rothesay died in 1815, without issue, when

the title became extinct.

Ol' Lord Dudley Coutts Stnart, eighth s<m of the first

niartpiis of liute, and the only son of bis second marri.ige

with Frances, second daughter of Thom.is Coutts, Esq.,

banker in London, mention has been made under that title,

(see vol. i. p. 517). From his early years he was distin-

guished for liis liberal opinions in politics and bis sympathy

with the sufferings of the oppressed. In 1830 lie was elected

M.P. for Arundel, and his first speech in parliament was

made in favour of the Reform IJill. His name was associated

with the cause of the INdisli people, as one of their most mi-

llinchiug friends, and, afler the unfortunate result of the re-

volt of 1830, he was mainly in.strumental in obtaining from

parliament a vote of £10,000, for the relief of the Polish ex-

iles in England. In 1847, after being ten years out of the

House of Commons, he was returned to parliament lor the

borough of JIaryleboiie, by a large majoritv, and in 1852,

w.is re-elected, witbotit opposition. In the beginning of Sep-

tember 1854, he left England in the hope of recruiting his

health, and after visiting Deum.-irk, went to Sweden. He
.niived at Stockholm on the 1st October, and immediately

after was seized with a complaint resembling cholera, suc-

ceeded by typhus fever. On his partial recovery, he had .1

long audience with the king of Sweden, and attended the

meetings of the chambers. Attacked, soon alter, with an af-

fection of the lungs, he died 17th November 1854, at the age

of fifty-one. In 1824, he Imd m.arried Christina Alex.indri-

na Eg}'pta, daughter of Lucieii Ronapavte, ])rince of Caiiino.

That lady died 14th May 1817, leaving an only son, Paul

.Asniadeus Francis Coutts Stuart, an dftleir in the arniv.

The Stuarts of Inchbreek and Laitbers, Aberdeenshire, are

descended from Andrew Stewart of Johnston, Laurencekirk,

great-grandson of Murdach, duke of Albany, executed by

James I., in 1425. Andrew's son, David Stewart, was the

first of Inchbreek, 1547. He h;id a son, John, wliosc great-

grandson, William Stnart of luelihreck, married Margaret,

eldest dangliter and lieiress of D.avid Guthrie of Kair, and

grand-daughter .and heiress of Heiiiy Guthrie of H;dkerloii,
j

Forfar.shire, by his wife, Margaret Sihbald, heiress and last of I

the .ancient family of the Sibbalds of K:iir in the .Mearns.
I

They had two sons, John, the repre.sent.ilive of the Kair 1

family, who succeeded to Inchbreek, and James, wlio, after
j

serving with the army in Holland, joined the Pretender in
|

1745, and after the battle of Cnllodeii, fled to France, and
j

entered the French service. He died at St. Oiner in 177G. a

knight of the order of St. Louis.

John Stuart of Inchbreek, the eighth of this family, was

professor of Greek in .M.ariscli.il cidlege, .Aberdeen, and died
|

in 1827. His eldest son, George .Andrew Stuart of Inch- i

breck, died, wilhont issue, IGtb .June 1844, and was suc-

ceeded by his brother, Alexander Stuart of Laitbers ; mar- I

ried, with issue.
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Stuaut, Arabella, commonly called the Lady Arabella

Stuart, sec vol. ii. p. G50, article Lknnox. Her portrait is

subjoined.

STUART, James, prior of St. Andrews and

earl of Moray, celebrated as " the Good Regent,"

was the natural son of James V. by Lady Marga-

ret Erskuic, daughter of the fifth earl of Mar, wlio

afterwards married Sir Robert Douglas of Loch-

leven. He was born in 1533, and in his infancy

Avas placed under the care of the celebrated George

Buchanan. In 1538 he was constituted prior of

St. Andrews, and from his earliest years he exhi-

bited proofs of an extraordinary genius for state

affairs. In 1548, though then on\y fifteen years

of age, at the head of a little band of patriots,

he repulsed an English force which had made a

descent on the coast of Fife. lie accompanied his

sister, tlie young Queen Mar}-, when she went to

France for her education ; and having, in addition

to the priories of St. Andrews and Pittenweem,

acquired that of Mascon in France, he received, in

1555, a dispensation from the Pope to hold the

three benefices. Three years after, he was one of the

commissioners sent to France by the Scots Estates

to be present at the marriage of the queen to the

dauphin.

At tlie commencement of the religious struggles

iu Scotland, the Lord James Stuart, as he was

then called, adhered at first to the party of the

queen regent; but, disgusted with her insincerity

and disregard of treaties, he joined the Lords of

the Congregation in 1559 ; and by his sagacity

and penetration, as well as his boldness in defence

of the Reformed doctrines, soon became the leader

of his party. During all the transactions whicli

followed, he continued to direct their counsels

with great wisdom, prudence, and ability; and,

next to John Knox, it may be said that to him it

was principally owing that the Reformation made

so great progress in Scotland. Soon after the

death of the queen regent, in June 1560, he was

chosen one of the lords of the articles; and, ia

1561, he was sent by the convention of estates to

France, to invite Mary to return home. On her

arrival in Scotland, he became her prime minister

and adviser. To him and to IMaitland of Lething-

ton was committed the chief direction of sxffnirs,

and by their prudent advice she conducted herself

for some time with great moderation. As the

queen's lieutenant he dispersed a numerous band

of moss-troopers which infested the borders, and

brought the leaders of them to condign ptmish-

ment. In February 1562 he was created earl of

Mar, and he soon after married Lady Agnes

Keitli, daughter of the earl Marischai, by whom
he had two daugliters. The earldom of Mar hav-

ing been claimed by Lord Erskine, (see Mark,

p. 108 of tills vol.,) the Lord James received the

title of earl of Moray, by which he is best known

in histoi-y.

The earl of Iluntl}^ the leader of the Popish

party, having, with his two sons, appeared in arms

in the north, Moray, with an inferior force, imme-

diatelj' marched against him, and by his steady

courage and prudent conduct entirely defeated the

rebels, at Corrichie, October 28, 1562, Iluntly

himself being slain, and his two sons taken prison-

ers. Moray continued to direct the counsels of

the queen till her nuptials with Darnley in July

1565. He warmly opposed the marriage, and

finding that the earl of Bothwell and others of Iiis

declared enemies were openly received and en-

couraged by the queen, he withdrew from court,

and declined to attend a convention which «as

ordered to meet at Perth. Tliree days after the
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uiiiiTia;,'e lie was suiinuoncd to court by tlio (iiiei-n,

and refiisiiif,' to appeiii', was proclaimed an uiillau-,

and, in .scll'-ticfcnce, with others of the nobilil^v,

was compelled to have reeouise to arms. Bein;;

pursued, liowcvcr, from place to jilaee, by ]Mary,

in person, at the head of a superior force, he was

at last obliu'ed, with liis adherents, to take refuge

in England,

The day after the assassiiuition of Rizzio, Marcli

10, 1566, Moray ami the banished lords returned

to Edinburgh, having been invited home I'y the

conspirators against the unfortunate secretary.

jNToray was graciously rccei\ eil both by .Mary ami

her liiisband, and he and the I'rotestant nobles

soon after obtained a full pardon. Perceiving,

however, that he had not regained the conlidence

of her nnijesty, and disapproving of her conduct,

lie declined taking any active part in public alfairs,

and appeared very seldom at court. After the

murder of Darnley he obtained her nnijestv's per-

mission to leave the kingdom, and, in April 1.367,

went to Franco, where he remained till recalled

by a message from tlie conl'ederaled lords.

lie ai i i\ed in lulinbui'gli about Augiu^t lUtli of

the same year, \\'hen he found that iLny, then a

])risoner in Lochleven, had subscribed the instru-

nuMils liy which she resigned the crown, and ap-

pointed him regent. lie was fornnUly invested

with the regency, August 22d, 1567, and, as soon

as he was confirmed in the government, he e.\ertcd

himself with great zeal and jn udence to secure the

peace of the kiugdoni, and to settle the atfairs of

the church. He \\ as actively occupied in restoring

tranquillity and confidence to the nation, and in

receiving the submission v\' nniny of the (pu'cn's

faction, when, on ^L\y 2d, 1568, ^lary escaped

from Lochleven, and the discontented nobles im-

mediately joined her standard. At this critical

juncture the genius and prudence of the regent

were eminently displayed. lie was at Glasgow at

the time, holding a court of justice
;
and, while he

amused the ijueen for some days with negotiations,

he employed himself with the utmost activity in

drau iug together his adherents from clilfereiit parts

of the kingdcnn.

As soon ^3 he was in a condirKju to take the

field, he bi'oke oft' the negotiation, and deliaiiiiiu'd

to hazard a battle. ,Mary, whose interot it was

to avoid a contest, imprudently attacked his army

in an advantageous iio.-ilion at Langsiile, ."May \'J,

1568, ami, being completely defeated, fled to ICug-

laml, and threw herself on the generosity of Eliza-

betli. In October of the same year, the l-jiglish

queen iniving procm-ed herself to be cliosen mnpin;

between the two parties, he went with other com-

missioners to England, and, at the conference held

at ^^'estminstel, in vindication of his own conduct,

he oiK'ulv charged I\Iary not only with having

C(Mr<ented to the murtler of Darnley, but with

being accessory to its contrivance and execution,

lie returned to Scotland in February 1569, ami,

b}' his pronqit and vigorous measures, Ijroke the

party of the ipn^en, uiuKr tlu' duke of C'liatcl-

heraidt, w hom he committed prisoner to the castle

of Edinbui-gh.

The partizans of "Miwy now resolved to cut him

oft* by private means. During the year 1568, two

persons were employed to assassiiuite him, but the

design was discovered and prevented, lie at last

fell a victim to the resentment ami party feelings

of Hamilton of Dothwellhaiigh, one of the prisoners

taken at Langside, who, after being tried, con-

di'mncd, and brought out to execution, had his lile

and liberty granted to him by the regent. Un-

fortunately, a forfeited estate of his had been be-

stowed on one of the regent's favoin-ites, and his

wife was tinned out miked, in a cold night, into

the 0)icu fields, where, before morning, she became

furiously mad. Hamilton, therefore, resolved on

the most signal vengeance. By this man the re-

gen.t was shot through the body by a musket-ball

at Liidilligow, Januaiy 21, 1570, ami died the

same evening, in the .)7th year of his age.

STUART, jMakv, (Jueen of Scots. See i'\I.\uv

Sru.Mrr.

STUART, John-, third earl of Bute, a states-

nntn and patron of literatuie. See Bc ri:, tiile of,

vol. i. p. 515.

STU.MI T, I)k. (iiijunrr, an eminent historical

and miscellaneous writer, was born at Edinburgh

in 1712. He was educated in the university of

that city, where his father, ^Ir. George Stuart,

was professor of hnnnmity, and was deslincil lor

the bar, but relimpiished law for literature. In

17()S he ])ublished ' An Historical Dissertation

concerning the Anti(pniy of the English C'onslitu-
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tiuii.' Tliis was the fruit of his early ami vigorous

iipplicatioii to the study of history and the general

principles of legislation, and the merit of which

procured him the degree of doctor of laws from the

university of Edinburgh. In 1772 he edited Sul-

livan's Lectures on the English Constitution, to

which he prefixed a ' Discourse on the Govei-u-

ment and Laws of England.' Being disappointed,

principally through the influence of Dr. Robertson

exarted against him, in an attempt to obtain one

of the law professorships in the university of

Edinburgh, he removed to London, and fi'oni 17G8

to 1773 he was a regular contributor to the

Monthly Review.

In the latter year Dr. Stuart returned to his

native cit}% and, in conjunction with Mr. Smeliic

and others, commenced the Edinburgh Magazine

and Review, but his illiberal and virident criti-

cisms and coarse personalities ruined the character

of the Avork, which was discontinued in 1776.

Two of his most prominent characteristics were

arrogance of manners, and a lofty idea of his own

genius and learning. On the failure of the Maga-

zine, he thus wrote :
" It is my constant fate to be

disappointed in everything I attempt; I do not

think I ever had a wish that was gratified, and

never dreaded an event that did not come. With

this felicity of fate, I wonder how the devil I could

turn projector. I am now sorry that I left Lon-

don; and the moment I have money enough to

carry me back to it I shall set off. I mortally ab-

hor and detest this place, and everybody in it.

Never was tlicre a city where there was so much

pretension to knowledge and that had so little of it.

The solemn foppery, and the gross stupidity of

the Scottish literati are perfectly insupportable.

Nothing will do in tliis country that has common

sense in it; only cant, hypocris}-, and superstition

will flourish here. A curse on the country, and

on all the men, women, and children of it."

In 1778 he published his 'View of Society

in Europe, in its Progress from Rudeness to Re-

linenient,' which became the most popular of his

works. The year following appeared his 'Ob-

servations concerning the Public Law and Consti-

tutional History of Scotland;' in 1780 'The His-

tory of the Reformation In Scotland;' and, in

1782, 'The History of Scotland, from the estab-

lishment of the Reformation to the Death of Queen

Marj',' in 2 vols. His object in this publication

was to vindicate the character of the queen, and

to expose the weakness of the proofs of her guilt

brought forward by Dr. Robertson, whose writings

lie assailed throughout life with unrelenting ani-

mosity. In 1782 he again repaired to London,

and engaged in wiiting for the Political Herald

and English Review; but habits of intemperance

had undermined his constitution, and being at-

tacked with di'opsy, lie returned to his father's

house at Musselburgh, where he died, August 13,

178G.

STUART, Sir Ciiari.ks, a distinguished gene-

ral, fourth son of the third earl of Bute, was born

in January 1753. He was educated under the

superintendence of his father, and after having

made the tour of Europe, and been presented at

the principal courts, he entered the army in 1768,

as ensign in the 37th foot. He was rapidly pro-

moted through the intermediate steps, and in 1777

was made lieutenant-colonel of the 26tli foot or

Cameronians. He continued in that regiment for

several j'ears, and eminently distinguished himself

in the American revolutionary war. In 1782, he

had the rank of colonel, and in 1793 of major-

general. In October 1794 he was appointed

colonel of the 68th foot, and in the following

March of his old regiment, the 26th. In 1794 and

following }'ear he was employed in the Mediterra-

nean, and made himself master of Corsica. In

December 1796, he was appointed to the command

of the auxiliaiy British force in Portugal, and the

measures ^lie adopted, on his arrival with the

troops, effectually secured that countiy against

the then threatened invasion of the French.

On his return to Britain, he was, in January

1798, promoted to the rank of lieutenaiit-general.

In September of that year he again sailed for Por-

tugal, took the British troops there under his com-

mand, and proceeded with them to Minorca. He

landed November 7, and by the 18tli of the same

mouth, he had made a conquest of the whole

island, without the loss of a man, the Spanisli

forces, to the number of 3,700, having capitulated.

For this important service, he was invested witli

the order of the Bath, Januarys, 1799, and the

same \c:w was appointed governor of IMiiiorca.
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IIo was afterwai'd.s suiiinuincd to the clctciico of

Sicily, and at tlie close of tlic same year was or-

dered to jNIaUa, wliicii Bonaparte liad conqncred

on his voyage to Egypt. After taking the fortress

of La Valette by blocliade, lie returned lo l-]ngland,

and to his representations it was partly owing that

the British government retained i)ossession of that

island, lie died at jriclnnond Lndge, 'Slay J.h,

LS(.)1, in his 4'Jtli year, leaving two sons, the elder

of whom, for his diplomatic services, w.as, in

.launary lSl'8, created a British peer, by the title

of r>aron Stuart de Rothesay.

Si: i iii:i:r,AM), ;i suniaiiK' derived from the coiiiily uf that

iKiiiie iu the iKirtli-east cif Scotland. The Norse sea kings,

who in ancient limes held tlie .sovereiiinty of tlie Orcades,

stvled the re,s;ion .vouth of the Ord nunintain, Sudrland or

.SonLlierland, xs Ivinj; sontli from Caitlmess, wliich for a lone;

time was their only [lossession on tlie mainland of .SeotlanJ.

The clan Sutlicriaiid had for their hadge what is vulgarly

called Bntclier's broom. According to Skene, the ancient

(Jaelic i]opulation of the district now known by tlie name of

Sntlicrlaiul were ciriven out or destroyed by the Norwegians

when they took possession of the country, after its conquest

by Thorliiiii, the Norso Jarl of Orkney, in 1034, and were

replaced by settlers from Moray .md Itoss. Jlesays, "There

are consequently no clans whatever descended from the Gue-

lic tribe which anciently inhabited the disti'iet of Sntlierlaiid,

and the modern Gaelic population of part of tliat region is

derived from two sources. In the fust place, several of tlie

tribes of the neighbouring district of Hoss, at an early period,

gradually spread themselves into the nearest and most moun-

tainous parts of the country, and they consisted chiefly of the

clan Aiirias. Secondly, Hugh I're.sldn, a descendant of Fies-

kin de jthiravia, and whose family was a branch of tlie an-

cient Gaelic tribe of Moray, obtained from King William the

territory of Sutherland, although it is impossible to discover

the' circumstances wliieli occasioned the grant. He was of

course accompanied in this expedition by numbers of his fol-

lowers, who increased in Sutherland to an extensive tribe

;

and Freskin became the lounder of the noble family of Suth-

erland, who, under the title of carls of Sutherland, have con-

tinued to enjoy jpossession of this district for so many gener-

ations." {Shenc's IJii/filanders, vol. ii. p. oOl.) We do not

altogether agree with this intelligent author that the district

in question was at any time entirely colonized by the Norse-

men. There can be no doubt that a remnant of the old in-

habitants remained, after the Norwegian conquest, and it is

certain that the Gaelic population, reinforced as they were

luuloubtedly by incomers from the neighbouring districts and

Ironi Moray, ultimately regained the superiority in Suther-

land. Many of them were unquestionably from the province

of -Morav, and these, like the rest of the inhabitants, adopted

the name of Sutherland, from the appellation given by the

Norwegians to the district.

The chief of the clan was called tlie great eat, and the

head of the honse of Sutherland has long carried a black cat

in his coat- of- arms. According to Sir George Mackenzie,

the name of Cattu was formerly given to Sntheriand and

Caithness, (originally Cattu-ness.) on account of the great

number of wild cats with which it was, at one period, infested.

The earl of Sutherland was the chief of the clan, but on

the accession to the earldom in 17GG, of Countess Elizabeth,

the infant daugliter of the eighteenth earl, and afterwards

duchess of Sutherland, as the cliiefship could not descend to ;

a female, William Sutherland of Killiplieder, who died iu
j

1S.';2, and enjoyed a small annuity from her grace, was ac-

eoniited the eldest male descendant of the old earls. Join;

Campbell Sutherland, Ksq. of Fors, was afterwards consid-

ered the real cliief.
[

The clan Sutherland could liring into the field 2,000 light-

ing men. In 171.5 and 171.') they were among the loyal

clans, and zealously supported the succession of the house of

Hanover. In 17.;!), a fencilile corps, 1,100 strong, was r.aised

by the earl of .Sntherl.-ind from his estates. "The martial

appearance of these men," says General Stewart, "when they
j

marched into Perth in May, 17G0, with the earl of Sutlier-
j

land at their head, was never forgotten by those who saw-
i

them, and who never failed to express admiration of their

tine military air," This regiment was reduced in May 1703,

III 1779, another regiment of Sutherland feiicibles, to the

number of 1,000 men, was raised when the young countess

of Sutherland was in possession of the earldom. As the re-
[

]iresentative of the family of Sutlierland was a female, and
j

there was no near relative of the name to assume the coin-
j

mand of the regiment, William Wemyss of Wcmyss, nephew
j

of the last earl, was appointed colonel. The regiment was
,

disbanded in 178.3, In 1793, a third regiment of Sutherland
|

feiicibles was formed, with Cohniel Wemyss of Wemyss at its
|

head. This corps niiiiibered 1,084 men. In 1797 it was
j

employed in Ireland, and it w.as .said of the men that "they
|

were not a week in a fresh quarter or cantonment, that they

did not conciliate and become intimate with the people," It

was from the disbanded ranks of this corps that the 93d regi-

ment of the line, or Sutherland Highlanders, was principally

formed.

SUTIIKHLAXI), Earl of, a tllle in the peerage of Scotland,

and the oldest existing title in Britain, is said to have been

granted by Alexander II., to William, lord of Sutherland,

about r2"28, for assisting to quell a powerfnl northern .savage

of the name of Gillespie. William was the son of Hugh

Freskin, who acquired the district of Sutherland by the for-

feiture of the carl of Caithness for rebellion in 1107. Hugh

was the grandson of Freskin the Fleming, who came into

Scotland in the reign of IXavid I., and obtained from that

prince the lands of Strathbrock in Linlithgowshire, also, the

lands of DnH'us and others in Moray, (see vol. i. p. 520).

His son, William, was a constant attendant on King William

the Lion, during his frequent expeditions into Jloray, and

assumed the name of William de j\Ioravia, He died towards

the end of the 12th century. His son, Hugh, got the dis-

trict of Sntheriand, as already mentioned, Hugh's son,

" Willielmus domimis de Sntlierlaiidia, iilins et h.-cres quon-

dam Hiigonis Freskin," is u.sually reckoned the first e,-u-| of

Sntheriand. The date of the creation of the title is not

known; but from an indenture executed in 1275, in which

Gilbert, bi.sliop of Caithness, makes a solemn composition of

an adair that had been long in debate betwixt his predeces-

sors ill the see and the noble men, William of famous nieino-

rv, and William, his son, earls of .Sutherland, it is clear that

there existed an e.irl of Sntheriand betwixt 1222, the year

of Gilbert's consecration as bishop, and 1245, the year of his

death, and it is on the strength of this deed that the repre-

sentative of the honse claims the rank of premier carl of

Scotland, with the date 1228, Nisbet states th.at W.ilter,

son of Alanus, thane of Sutlierland, whc '^as killed by Mac-
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oetli, w.'is the first earl of Sutlierlaiid, having been raised to

tliat dignity by JIalcohn Canmore in lOGl, on the introduc-

tion of tlie Saxon title of earl into Scotland.

Karl William died at Dnnmbin in 1248. His son, Wil-

liam, second earl, succeeded to the title in liis infancy. He
was one of the Scots nobles who attended tlie parliament of

Alexander III. at Scone, 5th February 1284, when the suc-

cession to the crown of Scotland was settled, and he sat in

tlie great convention at Brighain, 12th March 1290. He
swore fealty to Edward I. in 1296, but joined the cause of

Brace, and made several incursions on the English borders,

in one of which he took the castle of Roxburgh, burnt Dur-

ham, and wasted the country. He was one of the eighteen

I

Highland chiefs who fought at the battle of Hannockbum, in

1314, on the side of Bruce, and he subscribed the famous let-

ter of the Scots nobles to the Pope, 6tli April 1320. He died

in 1325, having enjoyed the title for the long period of 77

years.

His son, Kenneth, the third earl, fell at the battle of Ilali-

don-hill in 1333, valiantly supporting the cause of David 11.

^^'ith a daughter, Eustach, he had two sons, William, fourth

I

carl, and Nicholas, ancestor of the Lords Duffus.

William, fnurth earl, married the Princess Margai'et, eldest

I daughter of Robert I., by his second wife, Elizabeth de Bur-

j

go, and he made grants of land in the counties of Inverness

! and Aberdeen to powerful and influential persons, to win

]

their support of his eldest sou, John's claim to the succession

I

to the crown. John was selected by his uncle, David II., as

j

heir to the throne, in preference to the high-steward, who

had married the Princess Marjory, but he died at Lincoln in

England in 1361, while a hostage there for the payment of

the king's ransom. His father, Earl William, was one of the

commissioners to treat for the release of King David in 1351,

also on loth June 1354, and again in 1357. He was for

some ye.irs detained in England as an hostage for David's

observance of the treaty on his release from his long captivi-

ty. The earl did not obtain his full liberty till 20tli March

1367. He died at Dunrobin in Sutherland in 1370. His

son, William, fifth earl, is called William de Murrift', son of

William, earl of Sutherland, in a document dated 28th Jan-

uary 1367, in which I']dward III. takes him into his protec-

tion while in England. He was present at the surprise of

Berwick by the Scots in November 1384, and in that divi-

sion of the Scots army which marched towards Carlisle in

1388, under the command of the two sons of Robert H., the

earls of Fife and Strathern, while a smaller division pas.sed

into Northumberland, under the earl of Douglas, and fought

the battle of Otierburn. With their neighbours, the Mac-

kays, the clan Sutherland were often at feud, and in all their

contests with them they generally came oft' victorious. On

one occasion in 1395, in a discussion concerning their difler-

ences, the earl, erroneously called Nicliohis, instead of Wil-

liam, in Sir Robert Gordon's history, stabbed the chief of the

JIackays and his son with his own hand (see page 5 of tliis

volume). He died about the end of the 14th century, leaving

two sons, Robert, sixth earl, and Kenneth, ancestor of George

Sutherland of Fors, who, as heir male of the ancient earls,

claimed the earldom in 176C.

Robert, sixth earl, was engaged in the battle of Homildon

in 1402. He was sent to England as an hostage for James

I., 9th November 1427. In his time the clan Mackay be-

came troublesome, and the earl was obliged to take up arms

,a"-ainst John Aberigh, natural son of Angus Dubh Mackay,

whom l)e forced to retire for a time for safety to the Isles.

But he returned to Sutherland, and having entered Strath-

nllVi unawares, the night after Christmas, he slew three of

the Sutherlands at Dinoboll. He again fled, but was so

closely pursued by the earl that lie was forced to submit, af-

ter previously obtaining pardon. The earl died in 1442.

He had three sons. 1 . John, seventh earl. 2. Robert. 3.

Alexander, ancestor of the Sleacht Kenneth wick Allister.

John, seventh earl, resigned the earldom in favour of John

his son and heir, 22d February 1456, reserving to himself

the liferent of it, and died in 14G0. He had married Jlar-

garet, daughter of Sir William Baillie of Lamington, Lanark-

shire, and by her had four sons and two dauglitein. The

sons were: 1. Alexander, who predeceased Iiis father. 2.

John, eighth earl of Sutherland. 3. Nicholas. 4. Thomas
Beg. The elder daughter. Lady Jane, married Sir James

Dunbar of Cumnock, and was the mother of Gawin Dunbar,

bishop of Aberdeen. The younger daughter was the wife of

Seton of Jleldruin. The widowed countess and her son. Earl

.Jolin, disagreeing, he demolished her liouse and tower of

Helmsdale, which had been built b_v her. She retired to

Easter Garty, and as a protection married Alexander Dun-

bar, the brother of her daughter's liusb.and. Alexander

Dunbar was killed by Alexander Sutherland of Dilred, who

was executed and forfeited for the crime, (see page 6 of this

volume).

Tohn, eighth earl, died in 1508. He had m.arried Lady

Margaret Macdonald, eldest daughter of Alexander carl of

Ross, lord of the Isles, and by her, who was drowned cross-

ing the feriy of Uness, he had two sons: .Tohn, ninth earl,

and Alexander, who died young, and a daughter. Elizabeth,

countess of Sutherland. A John, earl of Sutherland, either

the ninth earl or his father, slew two of his nephews, sons of

a natural brother, called Thomas Moir. The young men,

Robert Sutherland and the Keith, so called on account of

being brought up by a person of that name, had often an-

noyed the earl, and on one occasion they entered his castle of

Dunrobin to brave him to his face, which so provoked hiin

that he instantly killed Robert in the house. The Keith,

after receiving several wounds, escaped from the house, but

was overtaken and slain at tlie Clayside near Dunrobin,

which from that circumstance was afterwards called Ailein-

Cheith, or the bush of the Keith. The ninth earl died, with-

out issue, in 1514, when the succession devolved upon his

sister, Elizabeth, counte.ss of Sutherland in her own right.

This lady had married Adam Gordon of Aboyne, second

son of George, second earl of Himtly, high-chancellor of Scot-

land, and in his wife's right, according to the custom of the

age, he was styled earl of Sutherland. In 1516, Earl Adam
made a grant of some lands in Sti athully to the earl of Caith-

ness, in order to secure his assistance against the Mackays.

Having, contrary to good faith, both kept the lands and

joined the enemies of the earl of Sutherland, an action at law

was commenced by the latter, but the matters in dispute be-

tween them were subsequently settled by arbitration, (see

vol. i. p. 521). Taking advantage of the earl of Sutherland's

.absence in Edinburgh, on this business, the Mackays in 1517

invaded Sutherland, and burnt and spoiled everything which

came in their way. The countess, who had remained at

home, placed her clan imder the command of her natural

brother, Alexander Sutherland, who defeated the Jlackays,

with great slaughter, at a place called Torran-Dubli, near

Rogart, (see page G of this volume). This Alexander Suth-

erland afterwards married the sister of the Mackay chief, and

was induced by him to raise disturbances in Sutherland. On

the death of the ninth earl, he had laid claim to the earldom,

on the pretence that his father and mother had entered into

a contract of marriage, .and that he was legitimately born,

but had judicially renounced his claim in presence of the slier-
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ill' 111' InviTiiL'ss, on the 2jtli July 150!). In sjiite of tliis,

limvi'ver, lie renewed liis pretensions. Eiirl Aiiam endeav-

oured to induce liim, by offering liini many f'avoural)le con-

ditions, again to renounce Ids claim ; but in vain. He
maintained tlie legitimacy of bi.s birtli, and alleged tliat the

renunciation lie bad granted at Inverness bad been obtained

from liim contrary to bis inclination and against the advice

of bis best friends. As he was very popular with many of

the clan, be soon collected a considerable force, and in the

absence of the earl, attacked and tO(jk Duurobin castle. The

earl sent a force to besiege the castle, which surrendered.

Ale.xander had retired to Stratlmavcr, but he .again returned

into Sulherland with a fresh body of men, and laid waste the

country. lie w:is soon after attacked by the earl at a place

called .\ld Qnbillin, near the seaside, taken pri.s(nier, and be-

headed on the spot. His liead was sent to Dunrobin on a

spear, and ))laced on the top of tlie great tower, "which

slu'ws us (as Sir Kobert Gordon, following the superstition of

bis times, curiously observes) that whalsoever by fate is

allotted, though sometimes foresbewed, can never be avoyded.

For the witches bad told Alexander the bastard that bis bead

should be the highest that ever wes of the Sutherlands ; winch

he did f<Milisblye interpret that some d.iy he would be earl of

Sutherland, and in honour above all his predicessors." 'i'hc

earl of Sutherland, being then far advanced in life, retired for

the most part to Strathbogy ;md Aboyue, iu Aberdeenshiie,

to spend the remainder of bis days aniong.st his friends, and

intrusted the charge of the country to his eldest son, Alexan-

der Gordon, master of Sutherland, a young m.an of great in-

trepidity aiul talent; and on the countess' resignation, a

charter of the earldom was granted to him by King James

v., on 1st December 1527. She died in 1535, and her Iius-

baud in 15.')7. Their issue were, 1. Alexander, master of

Sutherland, who was iufeft in tlie earldom in 1527, under the

charter above mentioned, and died iu 1529, leaving, by bis

wife, Lady Jane Stewart, eldest d.aughter of the second earl

of .^Ihole, three sons, John, Alexander, and William, and two

daughters. 2. .Tohn Gordon. ,1. .'\dam Gordon, killed at the

battle of Pinkie, 10th September 1547. 4. Gilbert Gordon

of Gartay, who married Isobel Sinclair, daughter of the laird

of Dunbeath, of whom afterwards.

Alexander's eldest son, John, born .'diout 1525, succeeded

Ins grandfather as eleventh earl. lie was lieutenant of Jloray

in 15-17 and 15-18, and with George, earl of Iluntly, was

selected to accompany the queen regent to Fr.ance in Sep-

tember 1550. While at the French court tlic two earls were

invested with the order of St. Jlichael by the king of France,

and the carl of Sutlierl.-md attended the queen regent on her

return to Scotland. In his .absence, he intrusted the govern-

ment of the country to Alexander Gordon, bis brother, who
ruled it with great justice and severity; but the peojjle, dis-

liking the restraint under wliieb they were held, created a

tuuiult, and placed John Sutherland, son of Alexander Suth-

erland, the bastard, at their head. While Alexander (Jordon

Was attending divine service in the church at Gol.s])iekirktoun,

the disaffected proceeded to attack him, but collecting the

little company be bad about him, he went out of the church

to meet them, when alarmed at his bold bearing, they at

once dispersed. Indignant at the affront offered to bim. one

William Murray, of the family of Fulrossie, shortly after-

wards killed John Sutherland upon the nether green of Dun-
robin, in revenge for which nuuxler, William Miu-niy was

inmself thereafter slain by the laird of Clyne. The Jlack.-iys

also took advantage of the earl's absence to plunder and lay

wa>te the country, (see page 7 of this volume). The earl of

Sutherland obtained from the queen regent the government

of the earldom of lioss, by letters patent, dated Cth July

1555. lie joined the lords of the Congregation, and w;is

wounded in the arm, by the shot of a harquebus, while at-

tacking the French auxiliaries near Kinghorn in 1559. He
also assisted at the siege of l.eith. In 15G1, Ilngh Murray

of Aber.scors having killed a gentleman of the Siol Thomais

in Sutherland, thereby incurred the displeasure of the earl,

and in consequence fled into Caithness and .sought the pro-

tection of the earl of Caithness. About the same time, Wil-

liam and Angus Sutherland and the other Sutherlands of

I'erried.ile, killed sever.al of the Caithness people, and w.tsted

the lands of the Clynes in that country. For these acts thev

were banished by the earl of Caithness. 'J'liey, however, re-

turned to Caithness, and being assisted by Hugh JIuD'av of

Aber.scors, they took the castle of Berriedale,, laid w:isle the

country, and molested the people of Caithness with their iu-

cursion.s. liy the mediation of the earl of Sutherland, Wil-

liam and Angus Sutherland and their accomplices obtained a

pardon from Queen Mary, which so ex.-isperated the earl of

Caithness, that he imbibed a mortal liatred not only against

the earl of Sutherl.and, and the Murr.ays, but also against all

the iidiabitants of Sutherland. On the charge of having en-

gaged in the rebellion of the earl of Iluutly in 15C2, the earl

of Sutherland was forfeited, 28th May 150.^, when be retired

to Flanders. He returned to Scotland in 15C5, and his fn-

feiture was rescinded by act of parliament, 19th April 15C7.

He and his countess, who was then in a state of pregnancv,

wei-e poisoned at Helmsdale castle by Isobel Sinclair, the

wife of the earl's uncle, Gilbert Gordon of Gartav, and the

cousin of the carl of Caithness, and died five days afierwards

at Dunrobin castle. This happened in July 15G7, when the

earl was in bis •12d year. (For the ciicnmsfances attending

this unnatural murder, which the earl of Caithness is said to

have instigated, see vol. i. p. 522.) Their only son, Alexan-

der, master of Sulherland, then in liis fifteenth year, fortu-

nately escaped the same fate, by being detained at a hunting

party, so that be arrived late !it Helmsdale castle. IVrcciv-

iug his son preparing to tit down to supper, the carl, who
felt the poison beginning to work, took the tablecloth and

threw it along the house, and would not suffer his son.

though veiy hungry, to eat anything, but sent bim the s.-une

night to the c.-istle of Skibo. 'i'hc lltli earl, styled the good

earl John, was thrice married : 1st, to Lady Flizabeth Camp-
bell, only daughter of the third e.arl of Argyle, relict of James,

earl of Jlor.-iy, natural son of J.-imes IV.
;

2dlv, to Ladv He-
len Stewart, daughter of the third earl of Lennox, relict iif

the fifth earl of Frrol ; and 3dly, to Marian, eldest d:aighter

of the fourth Lord Seton, relict of the fourth earl of Jleu-

teitb. This was the lady who was poisoned with Iiim. He
bad issue by his second wife oidy, two sons and three dauch-

ters. John, the elder .son, died an infant. Alexander, the

younger, was the twelfth earl of Sutberl.'ind.

IJeing under age when be succeeded to the earldom, the

ward of this young nobleman was granted to his eldest sister,

Lady Margaret Gordon, who committed it to the care of

John, earl of Atbole. The hitter sold the ward.ship to Georu'e,

e.-irl of Caithness, the enemy of bis bouse Having bv treach-

ery got possession of the castle of Skibo, in which the voung

carl resided, lie seized his person and carried him ofi' to

Caithness, where he forced bim to marry his daughter, Ladv
r.arbara Sinclair, a profligate woman of double his own age
When be attained his ni.-ijority he divorced her. (See vol. i.

p. 522.) In 15C9, he escaped from the earl of Caithness,

who hail taken up bis residence at Dunrobin castle and form-

ed .1 design upon his life The better to conceal his inten-

tions, be went to Edinburgh, leaving instructions to tlio.sc in



SUTHERLAND, 544 FOURTEENTH EARL OF.

liis confidence to murder tlie young earl in Ids absence.

Some of the friends of the latter having received private in-

telligence of this atrocious design, came quietly at night, to

llie burn of Golspie, in the vicinity of Duurobin. Concealing

themselves to prevent discovery, they sent Alexander Gordon

of Sidderay to the castle, disguised as a pedlar, for tlie pur-

]iose of warning the earl of bis danger. Early the following

morning, the earl proposed to the residents in the castle, un-

der whose charge he was, to accompany him on a small ex-

cursion in the neiglibourhood. This proposal seemed so rea-

sonable in itself, that, although he was perpetually watched

by the earl of Caithness' servants, they at once agreed.

When they got out, the earl led his keepers directly into the

ambush laid by his friends, who rushed from their hiding-

place, and seizing him, conveyed him safely to Stratbbogie.

For the subsequent proceedings between the riv.al houses of

Sutherland and Caithness, see vol. i. p. .522, et seq. In JoSl

the earl of Sutherland was one of the assize on the trial of

the regent Morton. In 1583 he obtained from flie earl of

Iluntly, the king's lieutenant in the north, a grant of the su-

periority of Strathnaver, and of the heritable sheriffship of

Sutherland and Strathnaver, which last was granted in lieu

of the lordship of Aboyne. This grant was confirmed by his

majesty in a charter under the great seal, by which Suther-

land and Strathnaver were disjoined and dismembered from

the sherift'dom of Inverness. The earl died at Dunrobin, Cth

Detember 1594, in his 43d year. Having divorced Lady

Barbara Sinclair in 1573, he married, secondly, Lady Jean

Gordon, third daughter of the fourth earl of Huntly, high-

chancellor of Scotland, who had been previously married to

the earl of Bothwell, but repudiated to enable that .ambitious

and profligate nobleman to marry Queen Mary. She subse-

quently m.arried Alexander Ogilvy of Boyne, whom she also

survived. To the earl of Sutherland she liad, with two

daughters, four sons. 1. .lohn, 13th earl. 2. Hon. Sir

Alexander Gordon. 3. Hon. Adam Gordon. 4. Hon. Sir

Kobert Gordon of Gordonstoun, the historian of the family of

.Sutherland, created a baronet of Nova Scotia, being the first

of that order, 28th May 1C25. (See vol. ii. p. 330, for a

memoir of him.)

John, lotli earl of Sutherland, born 20th July 157C,

earned the sword at the opening of parliament 13th Decem-

ber 1597. In July of the following year he set out to travel

on the continent, and returned home in IGOO. In 1606 he

was accused of being a secret Catholic, and he and his wife

and mother were ordered to be confined in Inverness, while

the earl of Caithness and his lady, also suspected of papistry,

were ordered to Elgin. The m.atters in dispute between the

two earls having been submitted to the privy council, who

showed no disposition to decide them quickly, George, earl of

Caithness, in the beginning of 1614, sought to gratify his

vengeance against the earl of Sutherland, by accusing him of

privately favouring popery. He was accordingly apprehended

upon a warrant issued by the king, and imprisoned at St.

Andrews. He applied to the bishops for a month's delay,

promising that before that time he would either give the

church satisfaction, or surrender himself, but his application

was refused by the court of high commission. Sir Alexander

Gordon, the earl's brother, being then in Edinburgh, inmie-

diately sent notice of these proceedings to his youngest bro-

ther, Sir Kobert Gordon, who was at that time in London.

Sir Robert applied to the king for the earl's release for a

time, that he might look after his .affairs in the north, when

his majesty granted a warrant for his liberation till the

month of August following On the expiration of the time,

he I'eturned to his confinement at St. Andrews, whence he

was removed, on his own application, to the abbey of Holv-

rood-house. There he remained till March 1615, when he

obtained leave to go home, " having," s.ays Sir Robert Gor-

don, "in some measure satisfied the church concerning his

religion." He died at Dornoch, 11th September the same

year, aged 40. By his countess, Lady Anna Elphinston, he

had, with two daughters, four sons, namely, 1. P.atrick, mas-

ter of Sutherland, who died young. 2. John, fourteenth earl.

3. Hon. Adam Gordon, who entered the Swedish service, and

was killed at the battle of Nordlingen, 27th August 1634,

aged 22. 4. Hon. George Posthumus Gordon, born after

his father's death, 9th February 1616, a lieutenant-colonel

in the army. The younger d.aughter, Lady Anne, wife of Sir

Gilbert Menzies of Pitfoddels, Aberdeenshire, was drowned

at sea on the coast of Holland in July 1648, on her passage

to France, to enjoy the free exercise of her religion, having

been bred in the Romish faith, under her grandmother, Jean,

countess of Bothwell and Sutherland. Besides sever.il other

passengers, three daughters of the earl of Angus, nieces of

the duke of Lennox, and two sons of the earl of Wintoun,

were lost in the same .ship.

.Jolm, fourteenth earl of Sutherland, born 4th March 1609.

was only si.x years old when he succeeded his father, and dur-

ing his minority his uncle. Sir Robert Gordon, was tutor of

Sutherland. In this capacity the latter was much engaged

in securing the peace of the country, so often broken by the

lawless proceedings of the earl of Caithness, .against whom,

armed with the king's authority, he led an expedition, and

forced him, in .'September 1623, to surrender his principal

castles and to fly to Orkney, (see vol. i. p. 524). By Sir Ro-

bert's judicious management of the affairs of the house of

Sutherland, his nephew, the earl, on attaining his majority,

found the hostility of the enemy of liis house, the earl of

Caithness, either neutralized, or rendered no longer danger-

ous. In 1633, however, he found himself involved in a quar-

rel with Lord Lorn, then justiciary of the Isles, eldest son of

the earl of Argyle, in consequence of having hanged some

islesmen and others, dependents of Loi'd Lorn, for horse-

stealing. Lord Lorn complained to the lords of the council

against the earl, for having, as he maintained, apprehended

the king's free suljects without a commission, and for caus-

ing them to he executed, and obtained letters to charge him

to answer the complaint. Sir Robert Gordon, being then

at Edinburgh, stated the true facts of the case to the council,

who approved of the carl's conduct, and decided that in re-

spect the earl of Sutherland had the rights of reg.ality and

sheriffship within himself, and w.is appointed to administer

justice within Ids own hounds, he was not obliged to send

criminals, though islanders, to Lord Lorn or liis deputies.

This decision had the effect of relieving Sutherland and Ross

from farther incursions on the part of Lord Lorn's followers-

In 1637, the earl joined the supplicants against the service

hook, and on the breaking out of the civil war in the follow-

ing year, accompanied by Lord Rcay and the master of Ber-

ridale and others, he went to Inverness and Elgin, and was

very active in persuading the inhabit.ants to subscribe the

Covenant. The marquis of Huntly, who had raised the royal

standard in the north, wrote him confidentially, blaming him

for his past conduct, and advising him to declare for the

king, but the earl informed him, in reply, th.it it w.as against

the bishops and their innovations, and not against the king,

that he was acting. He then, in his turn, advised the mar-

quis to join the Covenanters, by doing which he said ho

would not only confer honour on himself, but much good on

his native country. Thereupon he joined the earl of Seaforth

and the other Coven.anters on the north of the river Spey.
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In l(j-U lie was appointed by parliament a privy councillor

for life, and in 1C4-1 lie was sent north with a commission

for disarming maligiiants, as the royalists were called. In

1G45 lie was one of the conmiittee of estates. The same

year lie joined General Hurry, with his retainers at Inver-

ness, just immediately before the b;ittle of Auldearn. In the

diilce of Hamilton's 'engagement' for the rescue of the king

hi 1G48, lie was appointed a colonel of foot, but declined the

oHice. He sat in the parliament of Scotland in .lanuary

lU-19, and on 10th March following, was appointed keeper of

the privy seal. In IGoO he accompanied General David Les-

lie when he was sent by the parliament against the royalists

in the north. That general proceeded into Hadenoch with

one portion of his army, while he despatched the earl of

Sutherland with five troops of horse, to collect forces in Ro.ss,

Sutherland, and Caithness. At daybreak of the Sih of May,

on the earl's return from Ross, he speedily crossed the Spey,

and seizing the royalist sentinel.s, surprised Lord Reay at the

castle of Halveny. Lord Re.-iy himself and about 900 foot

were taken prisoners, and about 80 of the royalists killed.

On the marquis of Montrose's arrival in Caithness, the earl

assembled all his countrymen to oppose his advance into

Sutherland. Montrose, however, had secured the important

pass of the Ord, and on his entering Sutherland, the earl,

not conceiving Iiimself strong enough to resist him, retired

with about 300'' men into Ross. He h.ad previously put

strong garrisons into Dunrobin, Skeibo, Skibo, and Dornoch,

and sent off .i party with cattle and effects to the hills, to be

out of Montrose's reach. After being some d.ays in Suther-

land, Montrose sent a notification to the earl, that though he

had spared his lands for the present, the time was at hand

when he would make his own neighbours undo him. Little

did he think that his own fate was so soon to be decided. In

August of the same year, the earl set off to Kdinburgli, with

1,000 men, to join the forces under General Leslie, collected

to oppose Cromwell, but was too late for the battle of Dun-

bar, which was fought before his arrival. His regiment was

then ordered to Stirling, and he Iiimself sent to his own

country to raise more men. In March Kiol, he sent a regi-

ment of Sutherland and Stratlmaver men to Stirling, and the

king himself, Ch.arles II., wrote him a letter of thanks for

them. Although ajipointed a colonel of foot, he did not .nc-

company the king to Kngland, hut was directed to reni:iin in

Sulherl.-md, to watch the coast, and his regiment was pl.iced

under the command of the viscount of Krendraught. During

the usurpation of Cnnnwell the earl lived retired. He died

in 1GG3, in his .'j.Oth year.

His son, George, fiiteenth earl, died -Ith March, 170.", aged

70, and was buried at Holyrood-house, where a monument

w.is erected to his memory. The son of this nobleman, .lolin,

sixteenth earl, married, when Lord Stratlmaver, Helen,

second daughter of William, Lord Cochrane, sister of the

Viscountess Dundee. After the Revolution he sent a letter

from Inverness, dated .3d .Inly 1G89, to the Viscount Dun-

dee, at his head-quarters at Strowan, couched in very friend-

ly terms, and advising him to follow the example of the duke

of Gordon, who had given in his adhesion to the government

of King William, as the course he was following, if persisted

in, would lead inevitably to his ruin. In his answer, dated

"Stroan, 1.5tli .Inly 1G89," Dundee e.Npressed hiin.self deeply

sensible of the obligation he had to his lordship for his advice

and offers of service, which he imputed to his " sincere good-

ness and concern " for him and his family, and in return he

assured him that he had no less concern for him, and had

even been thinking of making him a similar proposal, but de-

layed doing so till things should appear more clear to hiin.

111.

He was one of the privy councillors of King William, and as

colonel of a regiment of foot he followed that monarclj in all

his campaigns in Flanders. He was also a privy councillor

to Queen Anne, and in 1705 was named one of tliecommis-

.sioners for the treaty of union, which he steadily supported

in parliament. He Wiis one of the si.Nteen representatives (jf

the Scots peerage chosen in the lasit S'cots p;u lianient in 1707,

and subsequently three times re-elected. In 171.5 he was

appointed president of the board of trade and mannfactun s,

ami lord-lieutenant of the eight northern counties, including

Sutherland .and Caithness. On the breaking out of the re-

bellion of that year, he left Edinburgh to raise a force in the

north, to act against the insurgents, but before he took his

departure from Leith for Dunrobin castle, he arranged with

the government fur a supply of arms, ammunition, and mili-

tary stores, to be sent to the north with as little del.ay as

pos.sible. Accordingly, about the end of September, a vessel

belonging to Rurntishmd was freighted for that purpose, on

board of which were put between three and four hundred

stands of arm.s, and a considerable quantity of ammunition

and military stores, furnished by the governor of Edinburgh

castle, but it w.as seized in the frith of Forth by the rebels,

who were in possession of the whole coast of Fife. To pro-

tect their own territories and detain the earl of Seaforth, the

chief rebel leader in the north, from forming a junction with

the forces under the e.arl of Mar, the earl of Sutherland, with

his son. Lord Strathn.iver, and Lord Reay, .at the head of about

GOO men, joined Colonel Robert JIunro, younger of Foulis,

who had formed a camp at Alness, where he had collected

nearly GOO of the Munroes and Rosses. Seaforth, who had

under him a force of 3,000 men. left his camp on 9tli Octo-

ber 171G, to attack the earl of Sutherland, but the latter,

on account of the disparity of numbers, retreated, when his

men di.spersed, and returned to their homes. After the cap-

ture of Inverness from the rebels by Lord Lovat, in which he

was assisted by the earl of Sutherland, the latter made .1

journey with his own men and parties of the Mack.ay.s, Ross-

es, and JIunrne.s, through the countiy of the Mackenzies, and

levied a contribution upon all the gentlemen of that name

whose tenants had joined Seaforth, equal to six weeks' pro-

visions, for the number of men they were bound by law to

have furnished the government. The earl of Sutherland

thereafter returned to Inverness, which he continued to de-

fend till the rebellion was quelled. His services were ac-

knowledged by George I., who, in .lune 1716, invested him

with the order of the Thi.stle, and in the following September

settled a pension of £1,200 per annum upon him. He fig-

ured conspicuously both as a statesman and a soldier, and

obtained leave to add to his armorial bearings the double

" tressure circum-flenr-de-lire." to indicate lii.<! descent from

the royal family of Bruce. His lordship died at London, 27th

June 1733.

His son, William, Lord Str.itlinaver, was elected M.P. for

Dornoch in 1708, but in those days the eldest .son of a Scots

peer was not considered eligible for .1 seat in the House of

Commons, and his election was in consequence declared void.

He accompanied his father to the north in 1715, and was ac-

tivelv engaged against the rebels. He had the command of

a regiment, and distinguished himself at the battle of Glen-

sbiel against the Spaniards and the .lacobite rebels in 1719.

He predeceased his father 19th .Inly 1720. He had five sons

and two danghtei-s. His two eldest sons died young. Wil-

liam the third .son. became seventeenth carl of Sutherland.

The ehier d.iughter, the Hon. Helen Sutherland, w.as the wile

of Sir .lames Cohjuhoun of Luss. The younger, the Hon.

.lanet Sutherland, married George Sinclair, Esq. of L'Ibster,

2 M



SUTHERLAND. 546 SUTTIE.

and was the mother of tlie celebrated Sir Jolin Sinclair, bar-

onet. ,

William, si.xteenth carl of Sutherland, was, when Lord

Strathnaver, chosen M.P. for Sutherlandshire at the general

election of 1727. He was admitted a fellow of the Roy.al So-

ciety ill 1732, and succeeded his grandfather in 1733. Clioscn

one of the si.xteen Scots representative peers in 173-1, he was

re-elected in 1741. On the commencement of the rebellion of

1745, he was one of the loyal Highland chiefs who received

letters from Lord-president Forbes, to raise independent com-

panies from their clans for the service of government. Ac-

cordingly, two companies of Sutherland men, amounting to

100 each, were enrolled, and joined the government forces

against the Pretender. He contributed greatly to the sup-

pression of the rebellion in the nortli. Under the heritable

jurisdictions abolition .act of 1747, he had £1,000 allowed

him for the redeemable sheriffship of Sutherland. He died

in France, Dec. 7, 1750, aged 50. By liis countess. Lady

Elizabeth Wcmyss, eldest daughter of the 3d earl of Wemyss

he had. with a daughter, Lady Elizabeth, wife of her cousin,

Hon. James Wemyss of Wemyss, a son, William.

The son, William, eighteenth earl of Sutherland, born

May 29, 1735, was an officer in the army, and in 1759,

when an invasion was expected, he raised a battalion of

infantry, of which he was constituted lieutenant-colonel.

He was appointed aide-de-camp to the king, with the raidc

of colonel in the army, 20th April, 1763. He was one of the

si.xteen representative Scots peers, and died at Bath IGth

June 17GG, aged 31. He had married at Edinburgh, 14th

x\pril 1761, Mary, eldest daughter and coheiress of William

Maxwell, Esq. of Preston, stewartry of Kirkcudliriglit, .and

had two daughters. Lady Catherine and Lady Elizabeth.

The former, born 24tli May 1764, died at Dunrobin castle 3d

January 1766. The loss of their daughter so deeply affected

the earl and countess tliat they went to Bath, in the liope

that the amusements of that place would dispel their grief.

There, however, the earl was seized with a fever, and the

countess devoted herself so entirely to the care of her hus-

band, sitting up with him for twenty-one days night and

day, without retiring to bed, that her health was affected,

and she died 1st June the same year, si.xteen days before his

lordship. Their corpses were brought to Scotland, and in-

terred in Holyrood-house.

Their only surviving daughter, Elizabeth, born at Leven

Lodge, near Edinburgh, 24 th May 1765, succeeded as coun-

tess of Sutlierland, when little more than a year old. She

was placed under the guardianship of John, duke of Atliol,

Charles, earl of Elgin and ivincardine, Sir Adam Fergusson

of Kilkerran, and Sir David Dalrymple of llailes, baronets,

and John Mackenzie, Esq. of Delvin. A sharp contest aro.se

for the title, her right to the earldom being disputed on the

ground that it could not legally descend to a female heir.

Her opponents were Sir Pobert Gordon of Gordonstoun and

Letterfourie, baronet, and George Sutherland, Esq. of Fors.

Lord Hailes drew up a paper for her ladyship, entitled 'Ad-

ditional Case for Elizabeth, claiming the title and dignity of

Countess of Sutherland,' which evinced great ability, accu-

racy, and depth of research. The House of Lords decided in

her favour 21st March 1771. The countess, the eighteenth

in succession to the earldom, married 4th Septendier 1785,

George Granville Leveson Gower, viscount of Trenthani, eldest

son of Earl Gower, afterwards marqins of Staflbrd, liy his

second wile, Lady Louisa Egerton, daughter of llie (irst duke of

Briiigewater. His lordship succeeded to his fallier's titles,

and became the second marqnis of Stafford. On 14lb Jamiary

1833 ho wiis created duke of Sutherland, and died 19th July,

the same year. The duchess of Sutlierland, countess in her

own right, thenceforth styled duchess-countess of Sutherland,

lield the earldom during the long period of 72 years and sev-

en months, and died in January 1839.

Her eldest son, George Granville, born in 1786, succeeded

his father as second duke of Sutherland, in 1833, and liis

mother in the Scottish titles, in 1839. He inamed in 1823,

Lady Harriet Elizabeth Georgiana, 3d daughter of 6th earl of

Carlisle, issue, 4 sons and 7 daugliters. The duchess was for

a long time mistress of the robes to Queen Victoria. His

grace died Feb. 28, 1861, and was succeeded by his eldest

son, George Granville William. The 2d duke's eldest daugh-

ter married in 1844, the duke of Argyle ; the second daughter

married in 1843, Lord lilantyre; the third daughter married

in 1847, the marquis of Kildare, eldest son of the duke of

Leinster.

George Granville William, 3d duke of Sutherland, pre-

viously styled marquis of Stafford and Lord Stratlmaver, born

Deo. 19, 1828, married in 1819, .Anne, only child of Joliii

Hay I\lackenzie, Esq. of Cromartie and Newliall, and niece

of Sir William Gibson Craig, hart.; issue, 3 sons and 1

daughter. Sons, 1. George Gi'anville, Earl Gower, born July

25, 1850, died July 5, 1858. 2. Cromartie, marquis of Staf-

ford. 3. Lord Francis, Viscount Tarbet, born Aug. 3, 1852.

Daughter, Lady Florence. On Oct. 21, 186!, the duchess of

Sutherland was created countess of Cromlrtie in her own

right, with succession to her surviving 2d son, and the heirs

male of his body. The title of earl of Cromartie, forfeited in

the person of George, 3d earl, in 1746, has thus been re-

stored to a descendant of the same family by a new crea-

tion in her favour. The expenses attending the creation of

her new honours, in the way of fees and stamps, are stated

to have been as follows, viz.:—.As fees. Countess Croinartie,

£2,387 14s. 8d. ; Viscountess Tarbet, £416 5s.; Baroness

Castlehaven, £348 8s. 8d.; Baroness Macleod, £404 Ss. 2d.

Stamps, £1,870. Total, £5,462 16s.

Lord Francis Leveson Goner, afterwards Lord Franci.s

Egerton, the first duke's second son, inherited the estates of

his uncle, the last duke of Bridgewater, and obtained a re-

vival in his own favour of the titles of earl of Ellesmere and

Viscount Brackley, in the peerage of England, in 1846. He

acquired considerable literary distinction as the translator of

' Faust,' and as a poet, and was for many years a member of

the House of Commons. He died in October 1857, aged 57,

and was succeeded by his son George, second earl of Elles-

mere of this family, born June 15, 1823, and diud Sept. 19,

1862. He had married Lady Mary Louisa Campbell, young-

est daughter of the earl of Cawdor; issue, 2 sons, Francis

Charles Granville, Viscount Brackley, who succeeded as 3d

earl of Ellesmere, born April 5, 1847, and Hon. Alfred .lobu

Francis, born Feb. G, 1854.

SuTTlE, the name of a Haddingtonshire family, possessing

a baronetcy of Nova Scotia, conferred 15th May 1702, on

George Suttie of Addiston. By his marriage with Mi.ss Sem-

ple, heiress of Balgonic, East Lothian, the family acquired

that estate. His son. Sir George Suttie of Balgonie, the

youngest but only surviving of five sons, bec.inie the second

baronet. This gcntlem:ui's eldest son. Sir George, third bar-

onet, a lieutenant-colonel in the army, and M.P. (or Had-

dingtonshire, married Agnes, second daugliter of William

Grant, Esq. of Prestongrange, ,i lord of session, under the

title of Lord Prestongrange, and with five daughters, had

three sons. Sir James, the eldest son, born lOtli Jlay 1795,

succeeded his father as fourth baronet, 26th November, 1783.



SWINTON. 517 SAVINTOX.

lie was iiii'iiibcT in tlirec piirllainents for the county of Il:i<i-

diiigtoii, and in 1818, snccceded liis nunt, Janpt Grant, conn-

toss of IlyndforJ, as lieir of line, in tlie estate of Preston-

grange. In consequence lie assumed tlie additional surnanne

and arms of Grant. He died in 183G. ]iy liis wife, Katlie-

rine Isabella, second dangliter of J. Ilairiilton, Ksq. of Ban-

gonr, he liad, with two dnnglitcrs, one son, Sir Geoi-go Grant

Suttie, fiftli baronet, born 1st August, 1797, married Ladv

H.-u'riet Weinvss, seventh daugliter of the seventh carl of

Weinyss, with issue, four sons and two daugliters.

Swi.NTON, .1 surname derived fi'om lands in Berwickshire,

possessed by the family of Swinton of Swinton since the pe-

riod of the Heptarchy in England. Of Saxon origin, tliey

are said by tradition to have acquired the inheritance for

their bravery in clearing the country of swine, hence the

name. The fainily have lor crest a boar chained to a tree,

and three boars' heads in their .-n-morial bearings. Sir John

Swinton of Swinton, living in 1722, assumed as supporters

to his arms two swine, as relative to the nairie. The lord

of Swinton assisted Malcolm C.anmore to recover the Scottish

throne, and from that monarch, Kdulf de Swinton received a

charter, one of the first granted in Scotland, confirming to

him the property of the whole parish of Swinton. Edulfs

son, Liulf, living in the beginning of the reign of King ICd-

gar, was father of Udard, sherilTof Berwiclisliire, temp. Al-

e.xander I. His successor, Hernnlf de Swinton, obtained a

ch.artor from David I., in which three preceding proprietors

of the barony are named. Jlr. .lanics Anderson, the com-

piler of tlie Diplomata Scotite, in his ' Historical Kssay of the

Independency of the crown of Scotland,' says that among the

many charters of Scots families in the cli.artulary of Durham,

there arc two original ones of David I., to the proprietor of

Swinton, wherein he is termed miles, and was to hold his

lands as freely as any of the king's barons. Sir Alan de

Swinton is witness in a charter in the reign of King AVilliam

the Lion. (^Xinbd's lleruldrtj, \u\. i. p. oli.) He was

the son of Ilernulf, and got a ch.-nter of the barony of

Swinton from Bertram, prior of Coldingham, superior there-

of, in the reign of that monarch. He died about 1200,

and was interred in the church of Swinton. His name and

arms w-rc cnt over a stone innigc on liis tomb.

Ilenrv de Swinton, the fourth from Sir Alan, swore fealty

to Edward I. at Berwick in 129G, as did also W illiam de

Swinton, vicar of the church of Swinton, of the same family.

Sir John Swinton, the second fr(m\ Hemy, was a distin-

guished soldier and .statesman in the reigns of Hobert II. and

III. At the battle of Otterburn 31st July 1388, he had a

chief command, and to his intrepidity the Scots were indebt-

ed for the signal victory obtained over the English, although

with the loss of Douglas, on that memorable field. In the

wars with the English, it is said to have been his custom to

visit the camp of the latter, and give a general challenge to

fight any of them who chose to come out to meet him. In

1392, and again in 1-100, he was appointed one of the .am-

bassadors to ncgoti.ate a treaty with the C"Urt of England.

At the disastrous battle of Honiildon-bill in 1-102, the Scots,

attacked in front by the ICnglish bowmen, were falling Use-

lesslv in their ranks, when Sir John Swinton. then advanced

in vears, exclaimed, " O my brave coimtrymen. let tis not

stand still, to be struck down like a herd of deer ; let us ra-

ther descend upoTi the Engli.sh, engage them hand to hand,

and at least die like men." He was instantly ji.irieil by .-\dam

Gordon, a brave young border baron, whose family bad been

at deadly feud with Swinton, but who now knelt upon the

sod and craved the honour of knighthood from his band.

This being hastily given, the two chiefs rushed down to a

close engagement, but as they were only followed by their

own attendants, to the aiuonnt of about a hundred, they were

soon overwhelmed and .slain. The gallant bearing ;md he-

roic death of the lord of Swinton fm'nished the m.-iterials to

Sir Walter Scott, for his dramatic sketch of Halidon-hill.

There appears to have been a close connexion, as well as re-

lationship, between Sir John and the family of Doughi.s.

His first wife was Margaret, countess of Douglas and Mar,

widow of the first earl of Douglas, in virtue of which mar-

riage he was called lord of .Mar, according to the courtesy of

Scotland. By this lady he had no issue. He married, sec-

ondly, the princess Margaret Stew.art, d.-mgliter of King Ro-

bert II., .-md by her had a son. Sir John Swinton of Swinton,

also a renowned warrior. At the battle of Beaugci in France,

in 1240, against the English, he unhorsed and slew the duke

of Clarence, brother of Henry V., by a wound in his face with

his lance. Sir John fell at the battle of Verneuil in 142-1.

He was twice m;irried, but had issue only by his second wife,

his eousin-german. Lady Marjory Stewart, daughter of the

regent, Kobert, duke of Albany.

Another Sir John Swinton of Swinton was among the

barons who, in l.')G7, signed the bond for the protection of the

young king, James VI., against the earl of Bothwell, on the

marri.-ige of the latter to Queen Mary.

In 1C40, Sir Alexander Swinton of Swinton was appointed

sheriff of Berwickshire. He died in lCr)2. AVith five daugh-

ters, he had six snn.s. 1. John, his heir. 2. Alexander, .-i

lord of session, by the title of Lord Mersington. At the Ke-

volution, when the Edinbmgh mob were repulsed from Holy-

rocid-house by Colonel Wallace, who had charge of the palace,

and a warrant was granted to the ni:igistrates to obtain pos-

session of it, they repaired to Ilolyrood, preceded by the

town guard and a number of "discontented gentlemen,"

aTuong whom was Lord Mersington, " the famitic judge," as

Lord B:ilcarras calls him, "with n halbcrt in his hand, as

drunk as ale or brandy could m;ike him." 3. Ilobert, an ofli-

eer in the army of King Charles II., killed at the battle of

Worcester in IG.")!, .attempting to carry off Cromwell's stand-

ard, which he had seized. 4. J.-imes, who was in the same

ai my in the .s;nne battle. 5. Geoige, of Chester.s, writer to

the signet. G. David, of Laughton, meichant in Edinburgh.

The eldest son. .John Swinton of Swinton, was appointed

in 1G19, in his father's lifetime, one of the colonels for Ber-

wickshire, for putting the kingdom in a posture of defence. He
was also chosen one of the committee of estates, and appointed

one of the commissioners for the plantation of kirks, 14th

March that year. Cromwell, on leaving Scotland in 1C51,

carried him a prisoner to ICngland. He was forfeited by the

convention of estates the same year. He dieil in 1C79. His

eldest son, Alexander Swinton of Swinton, did not long sin--

vive bis father. His brother, Sir John Swinton of Swinton,

a merchant in Holhmd, returned to Scotland at the Hcvoln-

tion, and in 1C90 the forfeiture w.-is rescinded and the family

estate restored to him. He was a member of the union par-

liament, and dieii iu 1724.

His eldest son, John Swinton of Swinton, advocate, was

father of .loliu Swinton of Swinton, a lord of session, under

tile title of Lord Swinton, and died in 1799. ills eldest S(ni,

.loliii Swiutoii of Swinton, advocate, married his cousin, .M.ny

.\mie, daughter of Hubert llepliurne, Esq. of Clerkington,

and died in 1S20. He had two sons. The elder, John, died

umnariied, in 1829. The younger, IJobei t Hepburne Swin-

ton, then became the iepre-.entative of the family. He oied

in 1852.

Uobert's eldest son, John Edulfus Swinton, Esq. ofSwiii-
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ton Bank, Peebles-sliire, born in 1831, was in 1849 ap-

pointed to the E. I. Co.'s military service. His next brother,

Robert Hepburne, lieut. R.N., bom in 1834, m. in 1859, Kliza,

eldest daugliter of James Hunter, Esq. of Hafton, Argvlcsliire.

Sydserf, a surn.ime derived from St. Serf. The only

surviving bishop in the Scottish Episcopal Church at the

Restoration was named Thomas Sydserf. He was at one

time bishop of Brechin, and afterwards of Galloway, from

which see he was removed by the authority of the General

Assembly of 1638, and excommunicated.

Syjie, a contraction of Simon. In Scotland the name is

more frequently spelled Sim and Sime. An eminent surgeon

of this name, James Syme, born in Fifeshire in 1799, was in

1833 appointed professor of clinical surgeiT in the university

of Edinburgh, where he had been educated. He is the autlior

of a 'Treatise on the Excision of Diseased Joints,' 1831;

' Contributions to Pathology,' ' The Pi'actice of Surgery,' and

other medical works, and was chosen chairman of the Com-

mittee for the Ex.amination of Surgical Instruments of the

International Exhibition at London in 1862.

Symington, a surname derived from two parislies of the

same name, the one in Kyle, Ayrshire, and the other in Lanark-

shire. Both parishes acquired their name, originally written

Symonstoun, from Symon Loccard or Lockhart, who held the

lands of both under Walter, the 1st steward, and was tlie

progenitor of the Lockharts of Lee and other families of tlie

same name. The tradition among the Symingtons is that they

were originally Douglases, and from Lanarkshire, nearTinto.

William Symington, the supposed inventor of the steam

engine, born at I.eadhills, Lanarkshire, died at London,

JFarcli 22, 1831. For his connection with steam navigatinn

see the memoirs of Taylor, James, pos^, and Milleu,

I'atrick, Supplement.

SYMINGTON, Andrew, D.D., an eminent

divine, the son of a mercliant in Paisley, was born

in that town, 26th June, 1785. At the university

of Glasgow, he carried off the first honours in sev-

eral classes, in the higher mathematics, in natural

philosophy, and in divinity, and in 1803 he took

the degree of A.M. Being intended for the min-

istry in the Reformed Presbyterian Church, of

which his father was a member, he studied theo-

logy under the Rev. John MacMillan of Stirling,

and soon after being licensed to preach, he re-

ceived no less than four calls, one of which was

from Pai.slcj'. He accepted the last, and Mas

ordained in 1809.

In the year 1820, he was chosen to succeed his

old instructor, Professor MacMillan, in the chair

of theology in the Reformed Presbyterian Church.

Ilis lectures in that capacity were described as

being ahvaj's solid and useful, rising occasional!}'

into a strain of devout eloquence.

In 1831, he received the degree of doctor of

divinity from the western university of Pennsyl-

vania, and in 1840 his own aJma mater, the uni-

versity of Glasgow, conferred the same honour

upon him. A few public sermons which he had

preached in behalf of important charities and soci-

eties were published b}- request
;

and, besides

preparing a Guide for Social Worship, a Book of

Discipline, and similar documents, at the request

of his Synod, he composed a new Doctrinal Testi-

mony in adaptation to the existing state of the

clun-ch to which he belonged. He died Sept. 22,

1853, in the 69th year of his age. His works are:

The God of Paul's Fathers. A seimon. 1813.

The Dismission, Rest, and Future Glory of the Good and

Faithful Servant. A sermon preached on the death of tlie

Rev. Archibald Mason, D.D. 1832.

The Blood of Faithful JIartyrs precious in the sight of the

Lord. A sermon. 1834.

The Child Jesus. A sermon. 1839.

Private Social Prayer. A sermon. 1840.

Death Swallowed up in Victoiy; a sermon preached on

the death of the Rev. William Goold. senior minister of the

Reformed Presliyterian Congregation, Edinbnrgh. Publisheii

by request. Third edition. Edinburgh, 1844.

The Martyr's Jlonument. A Brief View of the Principles

and character of the Scottish Martyrs. Paisley, 1847.

On Intemperance. A sermon.

Guide to Private Social Prayei-.

Essay on the Unity of the Heavenly State.

Tract on the Sabbath.

Lecture on the Claims of the Church and Society on Young

Men. Glasgow, 1850.

Jlemoir of the Rev. Thomas Halliday, Airdrie. Prefixed

to his Discourses.

Elements of Divine Truth. A series of Lectures on Chri.s-

tian Theology to Sabbath School Teachers. 8vo. Edin-

burgh. 1854. Posthumous.

Dr. Symington married, in 1811, Miss Jane

Stevenson of Crookedholm, and had a large fiimily.

Three sons and three daughters survived him.

His brother, the Rev. William Symington, D.D.,

minister of the first congregation of the Reformed

Presbyterian Church, Glasgow, succeeded him as

professor, and died in Jan. 1862. He was the

author of several standard works in theology.

Another brother, Robert Brown Symington,

was father of Andrew James Symington, mer-

chant in Glasgow, born at Paisley, 27th July,

1825, author of ' Harebell Chimes,' a volume of

poetr}', London, 1848; Genevieve, and other po-

ems, printed for private circulation; 'The Beau-

tiful in Nature, Art, and Life,' 2 vols, crown 8vo.

London, 1857 ; and ' Pen and Pencil Sketches of

Faroe and Iceland.' London, 18G2.
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TANNAIJILL, Koukkt, a popiilur song wriler,

was boni in Paislc}-, June 177-4. His father

wns a lianil-loom M caver, and botli liis ]iare'nls

were rcspuctocl for llicir intelligence and wortli.

After receiving the most ordinary school educa-

tinn, he was apiu'enliced to the wcuN'ing business.

As he M'as in the habit of composing verses while

at work, he attached a sort of w riting-desk to his

loom, by which lie was enabled, in the midst of

his labours, to jot down the lines as they occurred

to him. In this way sonic of his best songs arc

said to. ha\ ebecn composed. About the year 1800

he went to England, accompanied by a younger bro-

ther, whom lie left at Preston, while he himself

I)roceedi'd to Ilolton, where he found constant em-

jjloyment. Two years afterwards the brotliers

returned home, on i-eceiving intelligence of the

last illness of tlieii' father; aiid on his death they

I'emained in Paisley. The poet having had the

good fortune to become acquainted with E. A.

Smith, \\ ell known as a composer, the latter set

to music and arranged some of his finest songs.

The first edition of his poems ajipearcd in 1807,

and was veiy favourably received. 'J'he songs

attained an extensive popularity, and v\ere sung

from one end of Scotland to the other; among

them, 'Jessie, the Flower o" Diimblane,' 'The

Braes o' Balquitlier,' 'Gloomy A\'intcr's now awa','

''J'lic Lass o' Arantcenie,' 'Loudon's Bonnie

Woods and P>raes,' and several others, continue

to be .special favourites.

Ills acquaintance ^\as now courted by many

who \\ ere his su]K'riors in station ; but his mind

was naturally prone to despondency, and, despair-

ing of ever being able to raise himself above the

obscurity of his original condition, he soon gave

May to a confirmed melancholy. The refusal of

I\Ir. Constable to publish a second edition of his

poems, added to the depression of his spirits ; and

having resolved to destroy everything which lie

had written, he burnt all his manuscripts, includ-

ing many songs which had never been jirinted.

Amongst others who visited him about this time

was the J'ttrick Shepherd. After a night spent in

the most delightful communion of sentiment, Ilogg

took his de]iarture, Taniiahill nioiu nfully exclaim-

ing, "Farewell, we shall never meet again!'

IJis portrait is subjoined.

'J'he day previous to his death lie went to Glas-

gow, where he displayed such unequivocal proofs

of mental derangement, that one of his friends

considered it necessary to accomjiany him back

to Paisley. On being ajiprised of the state of his

mind, his brothers hastened to their mother's

house, where tlicy found that Kobert had gone to

bed, and was aiipareiitly asleep. About an hour

afterwards it was discovered that he had risen

from his bed, and gone out. Search was made in

every direction, and next morning his body was

discovered in a )iool in the vicinity of Paislc},

where he had evidently drowned himself. This

melancholy event took place May 17, 1810, when

he had only reached his 36tli year. In 1838 an

enlarged edition of liis poems and songs, with
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memoirs of the author and of liis friend, R. A.

Smith, by Mr. Philip A. Ramsay, was publislied

at Glasgow.

Tannaliill's friend, Robert Akchibald Smith,

to whom Scottisli melody is so mucli indebted,

was a native of England, but spent the gi'eater

part of his life in Scotland. He was born at

Reading, in Berkshire, November 16, 1780, being

the son of Robert Smith, a native of East Kil-

bride, near Glasgow, who had been a silk-weaver

in Paisley, but had removed to England. At an

early age he gave indications of his genius for

music ; and he was in a great measure self-taught,

having never liad the benefit of a regular musical

education. As he grew up he became a member

of a church choir in Reading, and likewise joined

the band of a regiment of volunteers. When very

young he was placed at the loom, and on the re-

turn of his father with the family to Paisley, in

1800, he for some time followed the trade of a

weaver, but never liked the occupation. In 1802

he married, and soon after he commenced the

teaching of music. A congcnialitj^ of sentiment

brought him acquainted with Tannahill, and dur-

ing the life of the unfortunate bard, he composed

original music for many of his songs, while vari-

ous others he adapted and fitted with piano-forte

accompaniments. Througli one of these, ' Jessie,

the Flower o' Dumblane,' the name of R. A. Smith

first became known as a musical composer. In

1807, chieflj' on the recommendation of the Rev.

Dr. Boog, senior minister of the Abbey pai'ish of

Paisley, he was appointed precentor of that

church, a situation which he filled with great cre-

dit for sixteen years. In August 1823 he re-

moved to Edinburgh, having been appointed to con-

duct the music in St. George's church of that city,

under the auspices of Dr. Andrew Thomson, the

minister thereof, whose own musical attainments

were of a high order. Smith's publications are of

great value. Among these are ' Devotional l\Iu-

sic, original and select,' published in 1807, amount-

ing to no less than twenty-one original pieces

;

' Anthems, in four vocal parts, with an Accompa-

niment for the Organ or Piano-forte,' 1819 ; and

'Select Melodies,' 1827. His great work, 'The

Scottish Minstrel,' comprising every Scottish mel-

ody worth preserving, with a great number of

original pieces by the editor, appeared in six vol-

umes, at intervals, from 1821 to 1824:. He after

wards published a similar work, comprising the

melodies of the sister island, entitled 'The Irish

Minstrel.' Besides these, he prepared and ar-

ranged the following:— ' Sacred Music, for the use

of St. George's Church, Edinburgh ;' ' The Sacred

Harmony of the Church of Scotland ;' ' Sacred
|

Music, consisting of Tunes, Sanctuses, Doxolo-

gies, Thanksgivings, &c., sung in St. George's

Chm'ch ;' and composed a number of anthems for

the anniversary of George Heriot's daj'. His de-

tached pieces are very numerous. Smith died at

Edinburgh, January 3, 1829, universally lament-

ed, leaving a widow and five children.

Tarras, Eavl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred by patent, dated 4th September 1660, for life only, on

Walter Scott of Higlichester, eldest son of Sir Gideon Scott

of Higlichester, second son of Sir Willi.am Scott of Harden,

(see p. 408 of this volume). The e.arl died in 1693, .aged

about 48, when, though he left issue, his title being a life-

peerage, became extinct.

TASSIE, James, a celebrated modeller, ^iTas

born of obscure parents in the neighbourhood of

Glasgow, at what particular period is not known,

and began life in the humble condition of a coun-

try stone-mason. Ou a visit to Glasgow during

the fair, he obtained a view of the collection of

paintings formed b}' the brothers Foulis, the emi-

nent printers. With the design of acquiring a

knowledge of drawing, he soon after removed to

Glasgow, where he constant!}' attended the infant

academy, as often as lie could spare time from his

occupation of stone-cutting, by which he main-
j

tained himself. Repairing afterwards to Dublin !

in search of employment, he became known to

Dr. Quin, a physician, who amused his leisure by

attempting to imitate precious stones with col-
j

ourcd pastes, and to take off" impressions of the

antique sculptured gems, an art practised in

France and Italy with great secrecy. The Doc-

tor, finding that Tassie possessed all the neces-

sary qualifications, took him as his assistant, and

when they had succeeded in their experiments, he

generously enabled him to proceed to London,
!

and try the art, as a profession, for his own ben-
!

efit. Tassie, accordingly, went to London in
j

17G6, vv here, from his excessive modestj', he long

struggled with difficulties, which' would have dis-
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coiinigL'd most people in his circumstances. These,

Iiowever, with patience .nnd perseverance, lie ulli-

mately snrnionnted, and, emerging from obscuri-

ty, acquired both lurtiinc and reputation. His

name at length became so much respected, Ih.it

the first cabinets in Europe were open to his use.

A catalogue of his gems, ancient and modern, ap-

peared in 1775, in 8vo ; but so great was his ]iro-

gress in the art, that an eidarged edition was

published in 1791, in two volumes -ltd. Many fif

liis pastes wvvo sold on the Continent lor real

gems ; and several years before his death he e.KC-

cuted a commission for the empress of Russia,

consisting of lo,0()(.) engravings, v.hich he aftei--

wards inci'eased to 20,()0('. lie likewise practised

modelling portraits in wax, which he moulded and

cast in paste. lie died in 1709.

TAYLOR, James, understood to have been the

first person who suggested the power of steam in

inland navigation, was born on May '^, 17.'i.'). at

llic village of Leadhills in Lanarkshire. lie re-

ceived the rudiments of his education at the aca-

demy of C'loscburn, Dumfries-shire, and after-

wards attendetl the university of Edinburgh,

where he is said lo ha\e qualified himself both

for the nieilical profession and llie church. In

1785 he was engaged by iMr. Patrick 'Miller of

Dalswinton, as tutor to his two sons, then at-

tending the university of Edinburgh. IMr. ]\Iiller

was at that period occupied with a series of opera-

tions for using paddle-wheels in the propelling of

vessels, chiefly with the view of e.Ktricating thcni

from dangerous situations, and had constructed a

double vessel, si.xty feet in length, with inter-

mediate paddles, driven by a capstan, worked by

manual labour. This vessel was tried in the Frith

of Forth with success in the spring of 1787, hav-

ing easily distanced a custom-house wherry -with

which it contended in sailing. On this occasion,

I\Ir. Taylor was convinced that a superior mechan-

ical power was wanting to render the invention

e.Ktensivel}' useful ; and suggested the steam

engine as applicable to the purpose. Mr. ]\Iillcr

at first started many objections to the feasibility

of the scheme, but at length consented to be at

the expense of an experiment, to be superintended

by 'Slw Taylor.

.\ young engineer named ^^'iUianl Symington,

emplo}-ed at the lead mines in Wanlockhead,

Dumfries-shire, was then at Edinburgh for his im-

provement, lie had invented a new construction

of tlie steam-engine, by throwing off the air pump,

and 111' was deemed the fittest person to be re-

commended to Mr. j\liller to construct an engine

for the purpo.-e. Mr. Tiiyloi- introduced Syming-

ton to IMr. I^.Iillcr, by whom he was engaged to

niaki' u|i and fit to his paddle-wheel boat, one of

his newly patented engines. On October 14,

17.^S, the first trial was made on tlie lake at Dal-

swinton, in tlie presence of IMr. Miller and a num-

ber of spectators. The boat was a double one,

and the engine, which had a four-inch cylinder,

was i)laced in a fr.'^me upon the deck. The ex-

periment was successful, the vessel moving at the

rate of five miles an hour, and was several times

repeated. An account of this event by Mr. Taylor

was inserted in the Dumfries Journal, and it was

also noticed in the Scots IMagazine. In the

summer of 178S) a larger vessel was fitted up, un-

der the superintendence of IMr. Taylor, at the

Carron foundry, having a double engine, of which

the cylinder measured eighteen inches in diameter. I

With this vessel two trials were made on the '

Forth and Clyde canal, the latter with complete'
;

success, the vessel going steadily at the rate of !

seven miles an hour; and an account of these ex-

lieriments, dictated by Jlr., afterwards Lord Cid-
!

len, was inserted in the Edinburgii newspapers of

February 1790. Deterred, however, b}' the ex-

pense, and subsequently much occupied with the

improvement of his estate, IMr. Miller declined

proceeding farther with the project, and Mr. Tay-

lor was unable of himself to prosecute a scheme

w hicli had commenced so auspiciously.

?ilr. Taylor was afterwards engaged for some

time in sujierintending the workings of coal, lime,

and other minerals, on the estate of the earl of

Dumfries. In 18IU a small experimental steam- !

vessel was fitted u]) by IMr. Symington, who had '

commenctv'i business in Falkirk, and tried on the
j

Forth and Clyde canal. This vessel w:is, some
]

time after, inspected by Jlr. Fulton from the
j

United States, accompanied by IMr. llcnrj- Boll of

Glasgow, the two individuals who were the first
|

to use the steam-engine for the purposes of general

navigation—^Ir. Fulton havin;.' in 1807 launched I
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a steam-vessel on the Ihuisou, and Mr. Bell one

on the Clyde in 1812. In 1824 Mr. Taylor ad-

dressed a printed statement of his concern in the

invention of steam navigation to Sir Henry Par-

nell, cliairniaii of a select committee on steam-

boat.s, in the hope tliat government would grant

liim some reward for liis services ; but in this lie

was disappointed. He had previously engaged

in an extensive pottery at Cunmock, Ayrshire,

which had not succeeded. He died September

18, 1825, in his 68th year.

Soon after liis decease, a renewed application

was made to government, by one of his i-elatives,

on behalf of his widow and family, in which the

claims brouglit forward at the time by Mr. Sy-

mington were explained away. A pension of

£50 a-year was bestowed by government on his

widow.

The merit of the invention of tlie steamboat has

been ascribed to Taylor, although he himself never

attempted to claim for himself exclusively tlie ori-

gination of steam navigation. To Mr. Miller he

undoubtedly alTorded very valuable assistance in

his experiments, by his suggestions, skill in plan-

drawing, powers of calculation, and indefatigable

zeal in the superintendence of such parts of the

nndertaking as were more especially intrusted to

his charge, but this is all, after a careful examina-

tion of the rival claims of Miller, Taylor, and Sy-

mington, til at can, in common fairness, be allowed

to him. A memoir of Mr. Miller, who was at the

sole expense of the experiments, and under whose

direction they were undertaken, will be found in

the Supplement. It was not until 35 years after

the latest of that gentleman's experiments with

steam, and nine after his death, that Taylor ever

claimed even a joint share in the invention of

steam navigation. The following are the titles of

the works on which his claims have been founded

:

Memorial by the late Mr. James Taylor, of Cumnock,

Ayi-sliire; presented to the Select Committee of the House

of Commons on Steamboats, &c., through the Right Hon.

Sir Henry Parnell, Bart., on the subject of propelling vessels

by steam power. Dated April, 1824. Second edition, with

original correspondence sustaining Mr. Taylor's claims.

A Concise History of the origin of Steam Navigation: Com-

prising its invention by Mr. James Taylor, and experiments by

him in Conjunction with the late Patrick Miller of Dalswin-

ton, Esq. Compiled from authentic documents. Edin., 18-12.

A Brief Account of the Kisc and Early Progress of Steam

Navigation, intended to demonstrate that it originated in the

suggestions and experiments of the late Jlr. James Taylor

of Cumnock, in connection with the late Mr. Jliiler of Ual-

swinton, Ayr, ISH.

Telfkk, or Tklford, a surname from TiiiUefer, Iron

cutter, borne by a Norman knight, who lauded with the Con-

queror, and we are told, went before the army to the attack

of the Saxons, singing chivalrous songs, throwing his sword

in the air and catching it again as it fell.

TELFORD, Thom.\s, a distinguished civil en-

gineer, was born of parents in humble life in the

pastoral vallej' of Eskdale, in Dumfries-shire, in

1757. lie received a limited education at the

parish school of Westerkirk, but afterwards taught

himself Latin, French, Italian, and German. At

the age of fourteen he was bound apprentice to a

builder in his native parish, where he for some

years worked as a stone-mason. After the expirj--

of his time he went to Edinburgh, where he stu-

died the principles of architecture. In 1782 he

proceeded to London, and obtained employment

under Sir '\\ illiam Chambers, in the building of

Somerset House. Here his great merit became

conspicuous, and he was subsequently engaged in

superintending some works belonging to govern-

ment in Portsmouth dock-yard. In 1787 he was

appointed surveyor of public works in the county

of Salop, a situation which he held till his death.

In 1790 ho was employed by the British Fishery

Society to inspect the harbours at their respective

stations, and he devised the plan for the exten-

sive establishment at Wick, in the county of

Caithness, which Is now known by the name of

Pulteneytown. In the years 1803 and 1804 the

parliamentary commissioners for making I'oads

and building bridges in the Highlands of Scot-

land, appointed him their engineer; and, under

his directions, eleven hundred bridges were built,

and 860 miles of new road constructed. The

Caledonian canal was also completed according to

his plans. In these and various other works which

he executed in different districts in England,

Scotland, and Wales, his extraordinary skill ena-

bled him to surmount difficulties of the greatest

magnitude. The most stupendous undertaking in

which he was engaged, and the most imperishable

monument of his fame, is the Menai Suspension

Bridge over the Bangour Ferry, one of the most

magnificent structures of its kind in the world.
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lie also made several extensive surveys of the

iii;iil-coach roads by dii-cctiou of the rost-otlice,

and ill Sir Henry I'arncU's ' Treatise on Iloads'

will lie found many details of his i)ubiic works,

wliieh are too minierous to be enumerated here.

In 1808 he was eni])loyed by the Swedish gov-

ernment to survey the ground, and lay out an in-

land navigation throii;;!! the central part of the

kingdom, with the view of forming a direct com-

munication by water between the North Sea and

the Baltic. In 1813 he again visited Sweden, and

the gigantic undertaking was afterwards fully ac-

coniiilished according to his plans. His jjortrait

is sulijoliied.

His genius was not ctinlincd to his profession.

In early life he contributed several poetical pieces

of merit to ' lluddiman's Weekly l\I;igazine,' un-

der the signature of ' Eskdale Tam,' and he ad-

dressed an epistle in rhyme to Burns, a portion of

which is given in Dr. Currie's Life of the poet,

lint though he soon relinquisheil the uuprolitablc

trade of more rhyme-stringing, he i-emaincd a poet

all his life. "The poetry of his mind," it has

been finely remarked, " was too mighty and lofty

to dwell in words and nietai)hors ; it displayed it-

self by laying the sublime and the beautiful under

contribution to the nseful, for the service of man.

His Caledonial canal, his Highland ruads, his

]-,ondon and Holyhead road, are poems of the

most exalted character, divided into numerous

cantos, of wliicli the Mcnai ]»ridgc is a most mag-

nificent one. 'What grand ideas can words raise

in the mind to com]iare with a glance at that stu-

l)cndous production of human imagination?" He

was a fellow of the lioyal Societies of London and

Edinburgh, and, from its cominenceinent in 1818,

was annually elected president of the Institution

of Civil Engineers. Ills gradual rise to the very

summit of his profession is to be ascribed not

more to his genius, his consummate abilily, and

his persevering industry, than to his plain, hon-

est, straightforward dealing, and the integrity and

candour which iiiMikcd his character throughout

life. The year belbre his death he wrote a ' Ee-

])ort on the means of supplying the Metropolis

with I'nre Water.' He understood algebra ^^ell,

but held matlieinalical investigation In low esti-

mation, and always resorted to experiment when

practicable, to determine the relative value of

any plans on w hich it was his business to decide.

He took out one patent in his lifetime, and it gave

him so much trouble that he resolved never to

have another, and he kept his resolution. He

delighted in emjiloying the vast in nature to con-

tribute to the accommodation of man. His eyes

once glistened with joy at the I'clation of the con-

ception of a statue being cut out of a mountain,

holding a city in its hand ; he exclaimed that " the

suggestor was a magnificent fellow." Tliouuh

ever desirous of bringing the merit of others into

notice, his own was so much kept out of view

that the Swedish order of knighthood of " Gusta-

vus Yasa and of merit" conferred on him, and

the gold boxes, royal medallions and diamond

rings received by him from Kussia and Sweden,

were only known to his ]Mivate friends. Tiie im-

mediate cause of his death was the recurrence of

a nervous bilious attack to which he had been

subject for some years. He died unmarried, at

his house in Abingdon Street, Westminster, Sep-

tember 2, 18;U, and was buried in ^^estmiuster

Abbey.

TEXXAXT, "\Vii,i.i.\M, author of ' Ansler

Fair,' an accomplished linguist and poet, was
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the sou of a mercliant in a small waj- in Anstrii-

ther, a royal burgh near the east iieuk of Fife,

which was also the birthplace of Dr. Clialniei's.

He was born in 1784, and received the elemen-

tary part of his education at the burgh school.

Although born without any personal malformation,

he lost the use of his feet in his early childhood,

so that through life he was compelled to use

crutches. As he was utterly incapable of any physi-

cal exertions for his own livelihood, he had but the

prospect before him of becoming a country school-

master or dominie. He was accordingly, in 1799,

entered as a student in the united college of St.

Andrews, where he had his townsman, Dr. Chal-

mers, as a fellow-student, and where he remained

two sessions. The circumstances of his father

prevented him from continuing longer at college,

but on his return home he devoted himself assi-

duously to his studies. Having a great aptitude

for learning, he soon made himself master of the

ancient and modern languages, and then applied

himself to the acquirement of the eastern tongues.

In Ma}' 1801, lie became clerk to his brother,

a corn-merchant first in Glasgow, and afterwards

in Anstruther. That gentleman's affairs having

become embarrassed, the creditors, in the absence

of tlic principal, seized upon his humble clerk, and

immured him in prison. Not depressed, however,

by this unfortunate circumstance, he set about

composing his principal poem, ' Anster Fair,' the

introductory stanzas of which were committed to

writing while he was in durance. It was finished

In his father's house in 1811, and published anon-

ymously the following year by Mr. Cockburn,

bookseller, Anstruther. He had previously, about

1805, published some small ballads, chiefly on lo-

cal subjects, the circulation of which was entirclj'

confined to his native town. The subject of his

' Anster Fair' was the courtship and marriage of

"Maggie Lauder," the famous heroine of Scottish

song, and the humours of the fair of Anstruther

are depicted in a gay and lively strain, with a Avit

and fanc}', and an ease of poetic expression pecu-

liarly the author's own. Mr. Tennant indeed pos-

sessed a rich native humour, with considerable

powers of good-natured satire, an animated and

lively facility of painting local character, scenes,

and customs, and a poetical genius of a high or-

der, rarely united in one person. The poem, with

all its merits, from appearing in an obscure coun-

try town, did not at first attract much attention

beyond the limits of Anstruther, but a copy of it

having reached Edinburgh, in the month of Au-

gust following its publication, Lord Woodhouse-

lee, celebrated as a scholar and critic, addressed a

letter to the publisher, expressing his opinion that

it contained " unequivocal marks of strong origi-

nal genius, a vein of humour of an uncommon

cast, united with a talent for natural description

of the most vivid and characteristic species, and

above all, a true feeling of the sublime, forming

altogether one of the most pleasing and singular

combinatifins of the different powers of poetrj-

that he had ever met with." In November 1814,

on the publication of a new and revised edition of

the poem, Mi'. Jeflfrej' made it the subject of an

article in the ' Edinburgh Review,' in which he

gave it high praise. It is written in the ottava

rima, which Lord Byron rendered popular in his

Beppo and Don Juan, and has been frequently

reprinted.

In the autumn of 1813, Mr. Tennant was ap-

pointed parish teacher at Denino, about four miles

from St. Andrews, at a salary of forty pounds a-

year. He added to his income by taking board-

ers. While he resided at this place he had the

advantage of access to the library of the universi-

ty of St. Andrews. He was thus enabled to per-

fect himself in the knowledge of Hebrew, and to

become versed in the Arabic, Syriac, and Persian

languages. A society which he had originated in

Anstruther, called the "Musomanik," and which

was composed of all the " dabblers in rhyme,"

and "admirers of fun and good-fellowship," in

the eastern corner of the county, published a small

volume in 1814, entitled ' Boute-Rimes ; or Poet-

ical Pastimes of a few Hobblcrs round the base of

Parnassus,' which contains a number of short pie-

ces by its recorder, Mr. Tennant. This society

continued to hold its meetings till 1817, when, by

the dispersion of its leading members, its celebra-

tions were suspended.

In 1816, Mr. Tennant, chiefly through the re-

commendation of Mr. George Thomson, the friend

and correspondent of Burns, was transferred to

the more lucrative situation of parish schoolmas-
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ter of Lasswade near Edinbnrgli. He remained

there, enjoying tlie society of the literar\- men of

the metropolis, till January 1S19, M hen lie was

elected teacher of classical and oriental languages

in Dollar acadeni}'. In 1831, on a vacancy occur-

ring in the chair of oriental languages in St. Ma-

ry's college, St, Andrews, he offered himself as a

candidate, but was unsuccessful. Dr. Scott, mini-

ster of Corstorphine, being preferred. On the

death of Dr. Scott, liowever, in the beginning of

1835, he was appointed by the crown to the va-

cant i)rofessorship. lie had been for some years

a member of the Royal Society of London, and in

December 1847 the senatus of Marischal college.

Aberdeen, conferred on him the degree of doctor

of laws.

In 1827, Mr. Tennant published, at Edinburgh,

ill one volume 12mo, a sort of serio-comic poem,

in the manner of Sir David Lindsay, entitled ' Pa-

pistry Stormed, or the Dinging doun o' the Ca-

thedral,' being a description of the destruction of

the Cathedral of St. Andrews during the time of

the Reformation in Scotland. This was a clever

though less successful piece than his ' Anster Fair;'

yet in it he has sung in quaintest dialect, and Avith

all the facetious strength, fluency, and vivacity,

which he attributes to the vernacular idiom cif

Scotland,

" The steir, .stnibusli, and strife,

Whan, bickenu' frae tlie town.s o' Y'n'c,

Great bangs of bodies, thick and rile,

Gned to Sanct Andrnis town,

And, wi' ,Iobn Calvin i' tlicir beads,

And lianmuTS i' tbeir bands, and spades,

ICiiraijed at idols, mass, and beads,

n;inp; tbe Catliedral doon."

Ill 1822, he luiblished, iu one Vi-Iume, the lii^t

l)art of a poem entitled the ' Tiianc of Fife,' de-

scribing the invasion of the Danes about the mid-

dle of the ninth centur}-, when, according to Bu-

chanan, Constantine, one of the Scottish kings,

was slain in a battle near the tow u of Crail. This

poem fell far short of the genius displayed in ' An-

ster Fair.' The introduction of supernatural ma-

chinery into it entirely spoiled it, and in conse-

quence the remaining jiart of it never appeared.

]Mr. Tennanfs next production, 'Cardinal I'ca-

o WILLIAM.

ton,' a drama in five acts, published in 1823, was

the least meritorious of all his publications. 'John
|

Baliol,' another drama in five acts, published b}'

him in 1825, is equally delieient in dramatic pow-

er and historical accuracy. To the ' Edinburgh
j

Literary Journal,' a periodical which made its !

appearance about 1828, he contributed some prose
|

translations of portions of Greek and German
j

writers on subjects which suited his fancy, and
j

some speculations of his own with regard to the
j!

nature and origin of languages. In Its pages he
j|

engaged in a literary correspondence with James
jj

Hogg, the Ettrick Shepherd, in regard to a pro-
||

posed new metrical version of the Psalms, Ten-
jj

nant advocating the necessity of a new version,
jj

while Hogg insisted on the excellence of the trans- i
i

lation at present in use. The correspondence was

afterwards separateh' printed in a pamiihlet.
|

In 1830, ]\Ir. Tennant published in quarto, an

eiiitajih on David Barclay, gravedigger in Anstru-

tlicr Easter, in eight different languages, two of

tliem being langiuigcs of the east ; and in 1840, a I

' Synopsis of Syriac and Chaldaic Grammar,' for

the use of his students. In 1845 appeared three

' Hebrew Dramas' from his pen, founded on inci-

dents in Bible historj'. The volume contained,

also, a poem ' On Envy,' whicli is a very fa-

vourable specimen of his poetical powers. In

184G appeared, anonymously, a burlesqu*^ ]ioem,
[

entitled ' Muckomachy, or the Jlidden Fecht,'
j|

describing a dispute between two ladies in the
i|

east ncuk of Fife, which i\ as iniiversally attrihut-
|j

ed to Professor Tennant. He wrote a number of i

small poems, chiefly translations from the German
j

])oets, which were published witli an edition of his M

' Anster Fair ' at Edinburgh in 1838.
! i

As a prose writer he did not excel. In 1841 '!

he ])rintcd an introductory address to his stu-

dents, which, like all his lectures, was composed i]

with great care. In private life he is described as
||

having been of a retired and inoflcnsive disposi- !'

tion. He possessed extraordinary perseverance,

and a wonderful facility in acquii-ing languages ;

as an instance of which, he has been heard (o de-

clare, that, in a very few weeks, he mastered the

Gaelic so as to be able ad apcrtiu am to read and

translate the Xew Testament in lliat language
;

and it is said his first reading of the Hebrew Bible
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was accomplished iii lialf-a-year and three days,

with no assistance but the grammar and dictiona-

ry. He was never married.

Teviot, Earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred 2d February 1663, by Charles II., on Lieutenant-

general Andrew Rutherford, Lord Rutherford, with limitiition

to the heirs male of his body. He was killed at Tangier, 4th

May 1664, without issue, when the earldom became extinct.

(See Rutherford, Lord, p. 392 of this volume.)

Teviot, Viscount of, a title in the peerage of Scotland,

confen-ed 20th October 1685, on the Hon. Robert Spencer,

brother of Henry, first earl of Sunderland, in the peerage of

England. On his death, tlie peerage became extinct.

The title of Viscount of Teviot, in the peerage of Scothand,

was next confen'ed in 1696, on Sir Tliom.ns Livingston, bar-

onet, cider son of Sir Tliomas Livingston, created a baronet

of Nova Scotia by Charles L, 29th June 1627. Tlie latter

was the son of Mnngo Livingston of Newbigging, of the Kil-

syth family, younger son of William Livingston of Jervis-

wood, which estate was sold by his elder brother, William

Livingston, to George Baillie, merchant in Edinburgh. Sir

Thomas Livingston, the father, was a colonel of infantry in

the Dutch service. He married a daughter of the celebrated

Colonel Edmond of Stirling, (see vol. ii. p. 117,) and had

two sons, Thomas, viscount of Teviot, and Alexander, also in

the Dutch service, who succeeded his brother in the baronet-

cy, but died witliout issue.

Sir Thomas, the elder son, like his father, commanded a

regiment of foot in the Dutch service, and came to Enghmd

with the prince of Orange at the Revolution. On 31st De-

cember 1688, he was promoted to the command of the 2d

dragoons or royal Scots Greys, and acquired considerable dis-

tinction in the campaigns of King William. He was appoint-

ed commander-in-chief of the forces in Scotland, sworn a

privy councillor, and had the rank of major-general, 1st Jan-

uary 1096. He was created viscount of Teviot, by patent,

dated 4tli December 1696, to himself and tlie heirs male

lawfully procreated of his body, and became lieutenant-gen-

eral, 1st January 1704. He died at London, 14th Januaiy

1711, and was buried in Westminster Abbey, where his bro-

ther erected a noble monument to his memory. As he left

no issue, his title of viscount of Teviot became extinct. He

married a foreign lady, named Macktellina, Walrave de

Nimmeguen, and in Fountainhall's Decisions, (vol. ii. p.

199,) there is a report of a cause against him by his wife, for

an aliment.

Thane, (from the German word dcgan or thegan, a sword,)

a title in use among the Anglo-Saxons, and supposed by

Skene to have been equal in rank to an earl's son. Camden

says the thanes were only dignified by the offices which tliey

bore. Chalmers has given a very clear account of the office

of a thane, whicli he shows to have been one of a subordi-

nate nature. The thanes were mere land-stewards or bai-

liffs, who had the management of the villeijns, that is, the

bondmen or nativi, as the serfs were called. The .author last

mentioned says, (^Caledonia, vol. i. p. 716,) they "are more

dignified by fiction than memorable from fact. Thanes .and

thaiiedoins were unknown to Celtic Scotland, as they were

equally unheard of in Celtic Ireland." He adds in a note,

" It is a still more instructive fact that the thanedoms of

Scothmd lay all on the east coast, the proper country of the

Scoto-Saxons, and not on the western shores of Gallow.ay,

Argyle, and Ross, the appropriate districts of tlie GaeHc peo-

ple. The Scottish historians, indeed, speak of the exist-

ence of thanes in North Britain during the Celtic times of

Macbeth ; but they .are not to be believed when they scribble

of improbabilities, whereof, either as writers or as witnesses,

they knew nothing but the name
;
yet sober inquiry resists

in vain, the overpowering magic of Shakspere, which will for

ever convince the eye and the understanding that ' the thane

of Cawdor lives.' " The name and office did not come into

use in Scothand till they were falling into desuetude in Eng-

land, "because," as Chalmers remarks, " the Scoto-Saxon

period in Scotland did not commence till after tlie Saxon

period of the English annals had ended." In England, a

fi'eeman not noble was raised to the rank of a thane by

acquiring a certain portion of land, by making three voyages

at sea, or by receiving holy orders. It is doubtful whether

the office of thane was hereditary. That of Cawdor appears

to have been so.

The abthane, that is, the thane of an abbot, or ecclesiasti-

cal bailiff or steward, was of higher dignity than the thane,

the royal baihff or steward, (see Abthane, vol. i. p. 16).

THOM, James, a self-taught sculptor of great

original genius, was born in Ayrshire in 1799.

At first an obscure stone-cutter, witliout educa-

tion or any l^nowledge of the schools of art, lie all

at once became celebrated for a group, the size of

life, cut with great skill and perfect truth of char-

acter, in the Scottish grey stone in which he had

been accustomed to work, representing " Tarn O'

Shanter and Souter Johnny," tlie exact embodi-

ment, in form, attitude, and expression, of the re-

nowned personages of Burns' immortal poem, as

convoyed in these lines

:

" Ae market niglit,

Tam had got pLanted unco right.

Fast by an ingle, bleezing finely,

Wi' reaming swats, that drank divinely

;

And at his elbow Souter Johnny,

His ancient, trusty, drowthy crony."

This admirable group was exhibited iu Edinburgh

in November 1828, and afterwards in several of

the other principal towns of Scotland. It was

subsequently removed to London, and secured for

the humble but highly-gifted sculptor both fame

and employment, numerous orders for statues and

busts being given to him in the metropolis. With

another group, " Old Mortality," also iu grey
j

stone, it was purchased by some speculators, who
j

sent them with an agent for exhibition iu Ameri-

ca. No returns being obtained from that person

nor any report of his proceedings, Mr. Thom him-

self was induced to leave London about the year

1837, and sail to the United States iu pursuit of

him. In this object he to some extent succeeded,
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ii'.id receiving considerable encourngement to re-

iiialii, lie commenced Ihe practice of lils jirofession

at New Yorl<, joining to it tliat of a builder and

architect. He was favoured with numerous or-

ders for copies of his far-famed groups, besides

being commissioned to chisel others, of a similar

Idnd, and as he M"as both frugal and industrious,

he was enabled to save mone}'. Ho died at his

lodgings in New York, of consuniption, 17lli April

1850, aged 51.

THO^r, Wii.MAM, one of the most natural of

our minor poets, was born in Aberdeen towards

the close of 1799, or beginning of 1800. His pa-

rents were in the humblest circumstances, and he

was lame fi'om his birth. He lost his father at an

early age, antl his widowed mother was so poor

tliat she could not give him education and scarce-

ly food. At the age of ten, therefore, he was

placed in a factory to earn his bread. After four

years' apprenticeship, be entered the weaving

establishment of iMessrs. Gordon, Barron & Co.

in his native city, Avhere he continued for seven-

teen years. In the hope of bettering his condi-

tion, he then removed to the village of Newtyle,

Forfarshire, the inhabitants of \vhich -were at that

time, and to a great extent are yet, almost exclu-

sively occupied as weavers of linen fabrics, chiefly

sheetings, for the manufacturers of Dundee. In

1837, the failure of certain great commercial esta-

blishments in America \\ as the means of stopping

upwards of G,000 looms in Dundee and the adja-

cent villages, and William Tlioni"s among the rest.

Tiie misery and distress which ensued among the

humble and dependent class of weavers ^^ ere very

gi-eat. Thom and his family, for he was at this

lime married, sulVered tlie utmost privation and

want. Houseless and ]iennilcss, he was forced to

wander through the country with them, deriving

his onl}' subsistence from his flute. On one of

these occasions, while travelling, footsore, hun-

gry, and weary, through Fife, he liad the added

agonj'. of his child dying from want, in an unshel-

tered outhouse. Returning to Aberdeen, he was

glad to find emiiloyment at tlie miserable pittance

(if six shillings a-week. Thence he proceeded to

Liverury, about fifteen miles north-west of Abci--

deen, where he obtained " customer work." For

seven or eight months in the year he was enabled

by weaving to earn ten or twelve shillings a-weck.

It was \\liile he resided at Inverury that he be-

gan to contribute some snndl poems to an Aber-

deen paper. His 'Mitherless Bairn,' published in

that local print, attracted the notice of James

Adam Gordon, ICsq. of Knockespock, who imme-

diatel}' sent him five pounds, and in 1811 invited

him to visit him at an estate which he had near

Bristol. On his rctui'n to Scotland, Thom married

a second wife, his first having died in 1840. His

poems wei'c published in one voliune in 18-15.

He died at llawkliill, near Dundee, Feb. 28, 1818,

leaving a widow and three children, in great pov-

erty. His portrait is subjoined.

THOMSON, Jamt.s, the celebrated poet of the

Seasons, was born September 11, 1700, at Eihiam,

within two miles of Kelso, being one of the nine

children of the minister of that place. After re-

ceiving the usual course of school education at

Jedburgh, he was sent to the university of Edin-

burgh, with the view of studying for the mini.-tiy :

but he soon relinquished all intiMition of entering

the church. Alter acting some time a.s private

tutor to Lord Binning, he went to London, where

he wi otc the poem of ' \A'inter,' u hicli was pur-

chased by I^Iiller for a very small sum, and pub-

lished in ^larcli 1726, with a dedication to Sir
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Spencer Compton. The poem guined by degi'ces

on the public, and soon brought the author many

friends, among otliers Dr. Rundle, afterwards

bisliop of Deny, who recommended him to Lord-

chancellor Talbot, from whose patronage he after-

wards derived the most essential benefit. In

1727 he published his ' Summer,' inscribed to

Bubb Doddington. The same year he produced

' A Poem on the Death of Sir Isaac Newton,' and

his 'Britannia,' a poetical appeal, designed to

rouse the nation to the assertion of its rights

against the Spaniards, for their interruptions to

our trade. In the beginning of 1728 appeared

his ' Spring,' dedicated to the Countess of Hert-

ford; and in 1730 his 'Autumn' was published in

a quarto edition of his works, in wliich the Sea-

sons are placed in their natural order.

In 1729 he brought on the stage his tragedy of

' Soplionisba ;' but its success was not commensu-

rate with the expectations that had been formed

regarding it. Having been selected as the tra-

velling companion of the Hon. Charles Talbot,

eldest son of the lord-chancellor, with that young

gentleman he made a tour on the Continent, and

visited most of the courts of Europe. On his re-

turn his lordship appointed him his secretar}^ of

Briefs, which was nearly a sinecure. Soon after,

he published his poem of ' Liberty,' which, though

but coldly received, he himself thought the best

of all his wu'itings. By the death of Lord Talbot,

Thomson was deprived of his post of secret.ar}-,

and Lord llardwicke, who succeeded to the chan-

cellorship, bestowed it on another. By the good

offices of Mr., afterwards Lord Lyttleton, he be-

came known to Frederick prince of Wales, who

conferred on him a pension of £100 a-year. In

1738 he produced a second tragedy, entitled ' Aga-

memnon,' which, although not very favourably

received, brought him a handsome sum. In the

year following he offered to the stage another

tragedj', called 'Edward and Eleonora,' but the

dramatic censor withheld his sanction from its re-

presentation, in consequence of his connection with

the prince of "Wales. In 1740, in conjunction with

Mallet, he composed ' Tlie Masque of Alfred,' by

command of the prince, for the entertainment of

his royal highness' court at liis summer residence

at Ciiefden. In this piece appeared the national

song of 'Rule, Britannia,' Avritten by Thomson.

In 1745 the most successful of all his plays, ' Tan-

cred and Sigismunda,' founded on a story in Gil

Bias, was brought out and received with great

applause. It is still occasionally performed ; but

none of his tragedies possesses much dramatic in-

terest. His friend, Mr. Lyttleton, being now in

office, procured for him the situation of surveyor-

general of the Leeward Islands, with a salary of

£300 a-year, the duties of which were performed

by deputy'. In 1746 appeared his admirable po-

em of ' The Castle of Indolence,' which exhibits

tliroughout a high degree of moral, poetical, and

descriptive power. While engaged in the prepa-

ration of another tragedy for the stage, he was

seized with an illness which proved fatal. One

summer evening, in his walk from London to

Richmond, where he resided, he overheated him-

self by the time he had reached Hammoi-smith,

and imprudently taking a boat to go the rest of

the wa}- b}' water, he caught cold on the river,

and found himself next day in a high fever. By

the aid of medicine, however, he so fiir recovered

as to be declared out of danger; but being tempt-

ed by flue weather to expose himself once more
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to the evening dvwa, his Tever returned with vio-

i lence, and lie died August 1718. lie was

buried in tlie cliurcli at Ricliniond ; and tlie earl

of Buclian al'torwards erected a brass ])late on tlie

wall of the cliurcl:, with a suitable inscription.

In 1762 a monument was erected to liis niemory

in Westminster Abbey, witli the profits of an cdi-

j

tion of his works. His tiiigedy of Coriolanus,

I

-whicli he left liehiiid him, was brought on tlio

stage for the benefit of his sisters, to whom

tiiroiighout life he had always shown the most

brotherly allectiou. "Thomson," says Dr. John-

son, " was of a stature above the middle size, and

1 'more fat than bard beseems,' of a dull couute-

j

nance, and a gros.<, uuauimated, nuinviting ap-

pearance, silent ill mingled company, but cheerful

among select friends, and by iiis friends veiy ten-

derly and warmly beloved." Ilis poem of the

Seasons will always remain inie of the classics of

I

English literature.

T1I0:\IS0N, Wii.ra.vM, LL.T)., an industri-

ous miscellaneous writer, was born in 1740 in a

cottage in the parish of Forteviot, rerllishire.

Ilis father, Matthew Thomson, a carpenter and

builder, rented a small faini from the earl of ]\in-

noul, and his mother was the daughter of a neigh-

bouring schoolmaster, named i\Iiiier. He received

his elementary education at the parish school, and

became so great a favourite with liis teacher, that,

on the latter's removal to a more profitable csta-

blishmeiit at Inclilure, on the banks of the Tay,

young Thomson, at his special request, was al-

lowed to accompany him. lie was afterwards

sent to the grammar-school (if reilli, ^^liere he

1
had for a school-fellow "William iNIurrav, after-

I

. wards the first carl of IMausiield. Thence he was

removed, in liis fifteenth year, to the university of

St. Andrews, where he soon attained great emi-

nence, both as a classical scholar and as a mcta-

]iliysician. In 17(;;5 lie was introduced by the

professors to the notice of Lord Kinnoul, tlicn

chancellor of tlie university, who nppoiiited him

his librariiin at l)up]ilin Castle. Being dcstineil

for the chuicli, he obtained, through the influence

of his patron, one of the king's bursaries at St.

Andrews, and after studying si.K years there, and

attending two sessions at the uiiiversit}' of Kdin-

Din'gh, he was admitted a licensed preacher, and

soon after was aiipointed assistant minister and

successor at Monivaird, to whieli he was ordained
I

ill 177G.
I

Unfortunately, his social disposition :iiid eoiivi-
|

vial habits rendered his conduct on too mau}- oc-
j

casious certainly not altogether becoming that of
j

a minister of the gosjiel ; and, in the course of a

few years, he deemed it expedient to I'csign his I

charge, and repair to London to try his fortune, I

his jiatron the earl of Kinnoul allowing him for
j

two or three years £50 a-j-ear out of his private 1

purse. lie now devoted himself to literature as a

profession, and the first important work he under-

took was the continuation of Dr. A\'atsoii"s ' Ilis-

toiy of Philip III.,' which he completed in 2 vols.

8vo, in 17bG, about which time he obtained from

the university of St. Andrews the degree of LL.D.

It would be impossible to eniunerate all the ]iuli-

licatioiis on which he was engaged, as he literally
|

wrote on all possible subjects connected with the
i

polities, the histoiy, or the passing occurrences ot
|

the times in which lie lived. lie was at all times
j

ready to undertake any sort of employment for

the booksellers, and is described as having been
i

the most active, laborious, and indefatigable man

of letters that appeared in the long reign of George
|

III., and one who could "boast that he had writ-

ten on a greater variety of subjects than any of

his contemporaries." He died at his house at |l

Kensington, jMarch IG, 1817, in the 71st year of
j

his age. He was twice married, first lu Diana
j

Miltone, a countrywoman of his own
;
and, sec-

|

ondly, to the authoress of 'The Labyrintii of Life,'
j

and other novels, and had children by both his

wives. Among his original works, comiiilatioiis, I

continuations, and translations, may be mentioned I

the following :
j

Tiavcls in Kumpe, Asi.i, and Africa. 1782, Svo.

Ilistorv of Grt!;it Biitnin, from tlie I.;itiii .Manusci ipt of

.Alex.-iiidor Cunnin;;liain. 1787, 2 vols. -llo.

'I'lic Man ill tlie Moon ; a satire, a.''tcr tlic manner of

Swilt. Loiuion, 1782, 2 vols. 12ino.
|

Moinoir.s of tlie War in A.sia, fruin 1780 to 1781. 1788,

2 voLs. Svo.

Ap]ie.il to tlie People of Knylaiui on belialf of Warren

Ila.stiii.^s. 178.'^, 8vo.

Jlanmnitli, or Human Xatnre displaveii on a Grand Scale,

in ,1 Tour witli tlie Tinkers into tlie Central Parts of Africiu

1780, 2 vols. 12nio.

Travels into Norway, Denniai k, and Sweden. 1792.

Continuation of GeUlMuitli's 1 listoiy of Greece, from Al-

e.xander tlie Great to the Sacking of Conslaiitinoplc. 2 vols.
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Buclianan's Travels in the Hebrides. 1793, 8vo.

Introduction to tlie Trial of Mr. Hastings. 1796, 8vo.

Military Memoirs, second edition. London, 1805, 8vo.

Travels to the North Cape, translated from the Italian of

Acerbi. 4to.

Caledonia, or the Clans of Yore, a tragedy in five acts.

1818, 8vo.

Many of Dr. Thomson's publications appeared under as-

sumed names. He was the compiler of a Commentary on

the Bible, published under the name of Harrison ; and of the

Narrative of an Expedition .igainst the Revolted Negroes of

Surinam, supposed to be written by Lieutenant-colonel Stcd-

man, who, however, was a chief actor in tlie scenes described.

He also compiled the historical part of Dodsley's Annual

Register for ten years; and wrote for The European Maga-

zine, The English Review, of wliich he was, in the latter part

of its career, sole proprietor ; The Political Herald, The Ora-

cle, and The Whitehall Evening Post.

Besides the works mentioned, he is likewise said to be the

autlior of Newte's and Hall's Travels in Scotland.

THOMSON, George, editor of a well-known

' Collection of Scottish Songs,' and celebrated as

" the friend and correspondent of Burns," was the

son of Robert Thomson, teacher at Limekilns,

Fifeshire, and Anne Stirling, his wife, and was

born there, 4th March 1757, or, as he himself

thought, in 1759. His father having removed to

Banff, the subject of this notice received his edu-

cation at the grammar school of that burgh. The

family subsequently' went to reside at Edinbui'gli,

and in 177G George obtained a situation as clerk

in the office of a writer to the signet. In 1780,

through the influence of Mr. Geoi-ge Home, the

author of the tragedy of ' Douglas,' he was ap-

pointed junior clerk to the honourable the com-

missioners of the board of trustees for manufac-

tures, &c., in Scotland. He afterwards succeeded

to the post of principal clerk, under the secretar}--

ship, tirst of Mr. Robert Arbuthnot, and subse-

quentlj- of his son, Sir William Arbuthnot, bar-

onet. In this situation he continued till the year

1838, having altogether served the board for near-

ly sixty years.

From an early period he had devoted his leisure

hours to the .study of music and painting, but as

he grew in years, the charms of the former pre-

dominated, and having acquired a knowledge of

tlic violin, it was his custom, he tells us, after the

hours of business, " to con over our Scottish mel-

odies, and to devour the chorusses of Handel's

oratorios, in which, when ]ierformed at St. Ceci-

lia's Hall, he generally took a part, along with a

few other gentlemen." So great was his devotion

to music, and to that of his native land in parti-

cular, that he resolved upon forming a national

collection of our best melodies and songs, with

suitable accompaniments. In an autobiographical

sketch of his life written by him for the ' Land of

Burns' in 1838, he sav's, in reference to the diffi-

culties which he had to encounter in commencing

such a task :
" On examining with great atten-

tion the various collections on which I could by

any means lay nij' hands, I found them all more

or less exceptionable ; a sad mixture of good and

evil, the pure and the impure. The melodies in

genei'al were without any symphonies to intro-

duce and conclude them ; and the accompaniments,

for the piano onh', meagre and commonplace
;

while the verses united with the melodies were, in

a great many instances, coarse and vulgar, the

productions of a rude age, and sucli as could not

be tolerated or sung in good society." The ac-

companiments to the different airs were supplied

by Pleyel, Haydn, and others of the most eminent

composers of that daj', and for the poetrj' and the

adaptation of new verses to old tunes, he had the

assistance of Robert Burns, the fittest man of mo-

dern times for such an undertaking. He had al-

ready conti'ibuted manj' fine songs to a publica-

tion of a similar kind, called Johnson's ' Scots IMu-

sical Museum,' and on being applied to hy Mr.

Thomson, he entered with ardour on this to him

" labour of love." His enthusiasm was at once

excited, and altogether he wrote for Mr. Thom-

son's ' Collection ' one liundred and twenty songs,

besides giving him permission to use those which

he had written for Johnson's Museum. Their cor-

respondence commenced in 1792, and the letters

which passed between them, with all the songs he

had contributed, were first printed in Dr. Currie's

edition of the poet's works, Mr. 'J'liomson having

given them freely up for the purpose, on learning

that it was to be published for the benefit of his

widow and family.

The work on which Mr. Thomson had bestowed

so much of his time and attention forms five vol-

umes folio. The first volume was published at

Edinburgh in 1799, three years after Burns' death,

under the title of ' A Select Collection of original

Scottish Airs for the Voice, to which are added

introductor}' and concluding Symphonies and Ac-
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companiments for tlic Pianoforte and tlie Violin

by Pleyel and Kozeliicli. Witli select and char-

acteristic Verses by tlic most admired Scottish

Poets.' The concluding voliiine appeared in 181S.

Mr. Thomson snbseqiientl\' published similar Col-

lections of Welsh and Irish INIelodies. After

Burns' death a cliarge was, most unjustly, brought

against Mr. Thomson of having withheld from

liini all remuneration for his assistance, but the

calumny was easily refuted. The poet was of too

proud and independent a sjjirit to accept of any

price for his services. He not only returned with

indignation a sum of money which 'Mv. Thomson

sent to liini, but declared that if he ever again

hinted at any requital for his contributions, lie

would liold no farther correspondence with him.

In Sejitember 1838, after leaving the Trustees'

otlicc, i\Ir. Thomson went to reside in London,

and afterwards in Brighton. In Juno 1845, he

returned to Edinburgh. In March 18-17, he was

publicly presented with an elegant silver vase, by

a numerous body of his friends and admirers in

that city. Lord Cockburn presided on the occa-

sion, and the following sentiment expressed by

his lordship was a most deserved and fitting com-

pliment to his character. "It is,"' he said, "jilea-

sant to admire a man for his public services ; it is

pleasant to pay a tribute to his understanding, but

it is far more gratifying to the heart to say that

you love him for his virtues." la 1848, IMr.

Thomson again went to reside in London, but in

tlie end of the following j'car he finally returned

to Edinburgh. He died at Leith, ISth Februarj'

1851, at the advanced age of ninety-tM'o, and was

buried at Kensal Green cemetery, near London.

Ho had married, in 1783, the daugliter of a Lieu-

tenant IMillcr of the 60th regiment, and had by

her a large family. Six of his children survived

liim, namely. Colonel Robert Tiiomson, royal en-

gineers
;

Assistant-commissary-general William

Thomson ; i\Irs. Hogarth, wife of George Ho-

garth, Esq., author of the ' History of Music,' and

mothcr-in-law of Charles Dickens, and three other

daughters who resided with him.

His half-brother, l\Ir. Keith Thomson, music-

master at Inverness, died there in November

1855, aged 83. He was induced to go to Inver-

ness many years previously by the magistr;ites,

III.

who were desirous of Ins services in the town as

a teacher of music, and guaranteed him an annual

sum of £40, which was paid him till his death.

THOMSON, Tiio.MAS, an eminent antiquarian,

and at his death president of the Bannatyne Club,

was the eldest son of the Rev. Thomas Thomson,

nuuister of Dailly, Ayrshire, b}- liis second wife,

Mary Hay, daughter of Fi-ancis Hay, in Loch-

side, parish of Dundonald, and was born in the

manse of Dailh-, loth November 17G8. His pro-

genitors were proprietors of the lauds of Newton

of Collessic in Fife, which were sold ia 17G0 by

James Thomson, M.D., translator of the Com-

mentaries of the Emperor Antoninus, London,

1747, 8vo. His grandfather, the Rev. Thomas

Thomson, was minister of Auchtermuchty, and

his great-grandfather, the Rev. James Thomson,

was minister, first at Colintou, and afterwards at

Elgin, wlierc he died 1st June 172G, bequeathing

GOO niorks to bny Bibles for the poor of the par-

ish. A younger brother of the subject of this no-

tice was the Rev. Jolm Thomson of Duddingston,

celebrated as one of the best laudsca])c painters

that Scotland ever produced, a memoir of whom

follows.

Jlr. Thomas Thomson was originally intended,

like so many of Iiis famih , for the church, and in

1782 was sent to pursue his studies in the nniver-

sity of Glasgow. After completing the usual cur-

riculum, lie took the degree of A.M. 27th April

1789. During the two following sessions he at-

tended the lectures on divinity and ecclesiastical

history, but the bent of his mind being otherwise,

he then resolved upon abandoning all views in

reference to the church, and adopting the legal

profession instead. Accordingly, after attending

the law classes of the celebrated Professor i\Iillar

at Glasgow, he went to the university of Edin-

burgh, and on lOth December 1793, was admitted

advocate. His fondness for antiquarian pursuits

soon became known, and in 1800 he was selected

to edit a contemplated collected edition of the

works of Lord Hailes, to be accompanied with

memoirs of his life and his correspondence, which,

however, never appeared, but he rendered some

assistance to an edition of that learned judge's

'Annals,' and ' Historical Tracts,' which was pub-

lished in 1819.

2 N
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Ill the early part of the year 1800, tlie state of

tlie public records tliroughout the kingdom was

brought under the consideration of the House of

Commons, and an address being presented to the

lung on the subject, two roj^al commissions in ref-

erence to tliem were issued, dated 19th July 1800,

and 23d May 1806, and it was resolved tliat a

deputy-clerlv-rcgister for Scotland should be ap-

pointed. Lord Frederick Campbell, then lord-

clerk-register, and one of the record commission-

ers, addressed a memorial to his majesty, and ob-

tained a royal v.-arrant for the creation of such an

office, dated 19th June 1806. On the 30th of the

same month, he appointed j\Ir. 'J'honison depiity-

cleik-register. To the duties of this imporiant

situation he devoted his whole attention, and by

his judicious management and unwearied superin-

tendence the entire system of the public registries

was revised and improved, and a series of publi-

cations commenced which are honourable alike to

himself, to the record commissioners, and to Scot-

land. His portrait is subjoined.

In February 1828, Mr. Thomson was admitted

one of the principal clerks of the court of session.

'I'hc duties of this office did not materially inter-

fere with his labours in the record publications

and other congenial pursuits. On the institution

of the Bannatyne Club in 1823, for the publica-

tion of works illustrative of the history and anti-

quities of Scotland, Mi: Thomson was chosen

vice-president, and on the death, in September

1832, of Sir Walter Scott, the founder and first

president of the club, he was unanimouslj- elected

president. He took an active interest in its pro-

ceedings till his death. He died at his residence

at Shrubhill, Leitli Walk, near Edinburgh, Octo-

ber 2, 1852. He had married Anne, daughter of

Thomas Reed, Esq., at one time an army agent

in Dublin. Her mother was the daughter of Sir

Francis James Buchanan, and she was by mar-

riage niece to General Drummond of Druma-

whance, Perthshire.

The following list of the publications brought

out under his superintendence shows how much

he accomplished for the elucidation of the ancient

historical and legal muniments of Scotland, be-

sides the aid which he so liberally gave to other

associates in the same work :

Works published under the authority of the

Record Commissioners

:

Inquisitionnm ad Capellam Domini Kegis Rctomatanim,

quse in Publicis Arcliivis Scotias adliuc servantiir, Abbrevi-

atio. 1811, 1816, 3 vols, folio.

Registrom Magni Sigilli Regum Scotomm in Arcliivis

Publicis asservatum, MCCCYI.—JICCCCXXIV. 1814, fol.

The Acts of tbe Parliaments of Scotland. Vol. ii. to vol.

xi. MCCCCXXIV.—MDCCVII. 1814 to 1824, 10 vols,

folio. The first volume of the series, to contain the 'Regi-

.•iin Majestatem,' with the most ancient recorded proceedings

I
and acts of parliament, was delayed till the conclusion of the

I
entire work. Previous to April 1841, when his offlcial con-

nection with the General Register House and the Record

Ccmmission terminated, Mr. Thomson had completed, or pre-

pared for press, with the exception of the preface, all that he

considered as properly appertaining to the series of the public

statutes of Scotland- The volume was published in 1844,

under the superintendence of Jlr. Innes, who contributed the

preliminary matter, and made large additions to the volume.

The Acts of the Lords Auditors of Causes and Complaints,

MCCCCLXVl.—MCCCCXCIV. 18,39, folio.

The Acts of the Lords of Council in Civil Causes,

.MCCCCLXXVIll.—JICCCCXCV. 1839, folio.

Abbreviations of various Registers, printed ex-

clusively for the use of the office, according to the

plans digested by Mr. Thomson

:

A Continuation of the Retours of Services to the Ch.anceiy

Office, from the Union, A. D. 1707.

An Abbreviate or Digest of the Registers of Sasines, Gen-

eral and Particular, arranged in coimties, with relative In-

dexes, from the 1st of January 1781.
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An Abljix'viiite of Adjudications from the same pei-ind to

1830.

An Abbreviate of Inliil)itioriR, General and Particular, ar-

rani;ed in Counties, from the .same period to 181)0.

Tlie first Annual Report of tlie Deputy-clerk Register of

Scotland, 1807, folio. Tlii.s, and the next four Reports, 1808

to 1811, form one volume with n general title, mn\ an Index

of the principal contents. The sixth to the fourteenth Re-

port, in 1852, being the latest furnished by Mr. Thomson,

form a similar volume when bound together.

Misccllancou.'?, Historical, or Antiquarian w orlds,

cliiefly printed for private circulation :

A Compilation of the forms of Process in the Court of

Session during the earlier periods after its est.ablishment, with

the Variations which they have since undergone, &c. Kdin-

burgh, 1809, 8vo.

A Collection of Inventories, and other Records of the Roy.al

Wardrobe and .Tewelhonse ; and of the Artillery and iMuni-

tion in some of the Royal Castles, 1188— IGOG. Edinburgh,

1815, -Ito.

The Chamberlain Rolls, 130G—MOG. Kdinburgb, 1817.

Included under the next division.

In his Tenth Annual Report Mr. Thomson alludes to these

two works, which he says " are not strictly official, but which

my official situation has en.abled me to undertake with some

peculiar .advantages, and to which I have been prompted by

the desire of laying open some of the lea.st known and least

accessible of our ancient records, to those whose literary taste

may lead them to the study and cultivation of Scottish his-

tiu'y and antiquities."

Inventory of Work done for the State, by (Kvan Tyler) his

Ma jesty's Printer in Scotland, December IG I'2—October 1G47.

Kdinl.urgh, 1815, -Ito.

Ane Addicioun of Scottis Cronikles and Deidis. A short

Chronicle of the Reign of James the Second, King of Scots.

From Asloane's Manuscript in tlie Auchinleck Library. Kd-

inburgh, 1819, small 4to.

Memoirs of tlie Affairs of Scotland from the Restoration of

King Charles Second, A. D. IGGO. liy Sir Gcoi-ge Macken-

zie of Rosehaugli, Knight. Edinburgh. 1821, -Ito.

Memoirs of the Lives and Characters of the Right Hon-

ourable George Haillie of Jerviswood and of Lady Grissell, by

their Daughter, Lady Murray. Edinburgh, 1822, 8vo. This

inlcrestiug volume was re-publi.shcd for sale in 1821, small

octavo.

Menu de la JIaisnn de ]?. Royne faict. Par Mons. de Pin-

euillon, M.D.LXII. (Edinburgh, 1821), -Ito.

Tlistoric.'il anil oilier works edited for the Ban-

natyne Club

:

Alex. Jlyln. Vita? Duiikeldensis Ecclesi.r Episcoporum.

182.S, 4 to.

'

Di.scours Particniicr d'Escosse, escrit en l.")59. 1824, 4to.

The History and Life of King .lames the Sext. 1825, 4to.

Jlemoirs of his own Life by Sir James Melville of Ilalhill.

1827, 4to.

Memoirs of his own Life and Times by Sir .Tames Turner.

1829, 4t.o.

The History of Scotl.uid by .John Lesb>y, Bishop of Ross.

1830, 4 to.

Collection of .Ancient Scottish Prophecies in alliterative

verse. 1833, Ito.

Diurnal of Remarkable Occurrents from the Pollok MS.

1833, 4to.

The Ra.gman Rolls, 1291—1296. 1834, 4to.

The Book of the Uiiiversall Kirk of Scotkand, 15G0—1618.

1839, 1840, 1845, 3 voLs. 4to.

The Accounts of the Great Chamberl.ains of Scotl.md. &c.

1326—1406, 2 vols, printed in the year 1817, and circulated

ill 1841. Vol. 3, 1406—1453. 1.845, 4to.

A Diary of the Public Correspondence of Sir Thomas Hope

ofCraighall. 1843, 4to.

Muniinenta Vetustior.a Cnmitatns de Jlortoun, and Origi-

n.il Letters and Papers in the Archives of the Earls of Mor-

ton. 1852, 4to.

liaw Papers :

The number of Session papers prepared by Jlr. Tliomson

was not considerable. One of them has been regarded as of

peciili.ar value, the ' .Memorial tor Thomas Cranstoun, Esq. of

Dewar, .against Archibald Gibson, E.sq.' 24th February 1816,

as containing an clabor.ate investig.ation into the subject of

the valued property in Scotland in early times, under the

name of old and new extent.

j\Ir. Tliomson contributed some articles to the

earlier numbers of the Edinburgh Review; and

on more than one occasion, the charge of the Re-

view itself was intrusted to his care hy Mr. Jef-

frey, the editor, during his absence from Edin-
j

burgh.

A biographical memoir of IMr. Thomson, fur-

nished by Mr. David Laiiig to the Fjannatyne

Club, has mainly supplied the materials for this

notice of its second president.

THOMSON, Rf.v. John, a highly distinguish-

ed landscape painter, the youngest brother of the

suliject of the preceding notice, was born at the

manse of Dailly, Ayrshire, September 1, 1778.

II is father, the minister of that parish, whose

fourth son he was, intended him, as well as his

brother Thomas, for the ministry, but he had been

gifted with a fine genius for depicting the more ro-

mantic aspects of nature, and he would rather that

he had been allmved to have followed its guidance

than devote himself to studies of such a widely

dilferent character. On his father intimating lii.s

wish to him lliat he .should lie a minister, he went

down on his knees before him, and with tears in

liks eyes implored him to make him a ]iainter.

Fathers, however, as Shakspcre says, "have flin-

ty hearts, no tears can move them." The old

gentleman merely patted him on the head, and

bade him go to his book and lenrn his lessons.

Fi'om early boyhood, he was accustomed to wan-

der to great distances from the manse, to view the

romantic scenery along the banks of the (iirvan

water, and on his return home, he would record
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liis impressions of it on the walls of the house, on

pasteboard, or on any stra^' piece of paper, using

for the purpose, in the absence of more suitable

implements, charred wood or caudle-snuffings, or

anything else lie could procure that would do. At

this period he would rise at two o'clock of a sum-

mer morning, and travel several miles to witness

a peculiar effect at sunrise, from its rays pene-

trating a neighbouring wood. At the same time

that he thus studied nature he did not neglect tiie

acquisition of a knowledge of physical science, and

made himself thoroughly acquainted with astro-

nomy, geology, optics, and chemistry. Whatever

was striking, picturesque, or effective in nature

had early attracted his attention, but, as he grew

in years, be penetrated deeper than the mere ex-

ternal world. " He was familiar," says a personal

friend of his, who had many opportunities of know-

ing his mind, " with the laws of nature before he

attempted to represent them ; and to the study of

the natural world, during his earl}- years, he at-

tributed all his knowledge, and his intense love of

art."

He was sent to the university of Edinburgh, to

j)repare for the ministiy, and during the years he

remained at college he had little time for painting,

except in the university vacations in summer,

when he quietly pursued his favourite study. In

the course of his last session, in Edinburgh, he

took a month's lessons from Alexander Nay-

smitli, the father of the Scottish school of land-

scape painting, and this was all the instruction in

art that he ever received. On attaining his twen-

ty-first year, he was licensed fur the ministry, and

his father dying shortly after, he was appointed

his successor in Dailly, being ordained minister of

that parish in 1800.

During the time that he remained at Dailly, lie

painted a number of landscapes, which he made

presents of to his friends. In 1805 he was trans-

lated to the pastoral charge of the parish of Dud-

dingston, within a mile of Edinburgh. His pre-

dilection for art had grown stronger with his

years, and the scenery around his new neighbour-

hood, which included within it the fine old ruin of

1

Queen Mary's ancient castle of Craigmillar, af-

forded fitting subjects for his pencil. He soon

became celebrated as a landscape painter, and be-

ing earl}' admitted an honorary member of the

Koyal Scottish academy, his works continued to

grace the walls of their exhibitions as long as life

was spared to him. His subjects were found in

the grandeur and sublimity of nature, and his

style is marked chiefly by great power and breadth

of general effect, and the embodiment of a senti-

ment suitable to the scene. Orders for pictures

poured in upon him from all quarters, and at one

period his annual receipts from this source alone

actually amounted to £1,800. For the first pic-

ture he sold he got fifteen guineas. He himself

thought this too much, but on consulting Mr.

Williams, the well-known delineator of Grecian

scenery, on the subject, his friend told him that

his picture was wortii three times the money, and

he was satisfied. In the heyday of his prosperity,

he has counted nine carriages in a forenoon at his

door at Duddingston with orders for pictures.

Ancient castles and decayed fortresses were fa-

vourite subjects with him, and he searched far and

near for them, executing sketches of those best

known. DunstafFnage near Oban, Dunluce in
'

Galloway, Wolf's Crag, and every other place of

note, were painted by him, besides numerous |i

views of Craigmillar in every variety of aspect. |

'

He studied much the works of the old masters,

Salvator Rosa, Poussin, Claud, &c., but he did

not imitate them. His own genius was too origi-

nal for that, and besides, he devoted it to the de-

lineation of Scottish, not Italiau scenery. His

representations of the internal scenery of his na-

tive land are mavked by great truthfulness, beau-

ty, and poetical sentiment. The Trosachs, Ben-
j

blalfen, Glenfishie, Lochlomond, Loch Achray,

Achray water. Loch Etive, and the other princi-

pal lakes of the north and west of Scotland, were

repeatedly portrayed by him, and always with

success. A small picture of Achray water done

by him was by the best judges pronounced one of I

the happiest efforts of pictorial genius. While
j

engaged painting, it was his habit to repeat pas-

sages from the Greek, Latin, and English poets

that approximately bore on the subject in hand,

or the particular aspect under which he proposed

to represent it. Among his frequent visitors at

Duddingston manse were Sir Walter Scott, John

Clerk of Eldin, advocate, afterwards Lord Eldin,
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Sir Tliomas Dick Lauder, and most of the leading

counsel at tlic Scottish bar. Clerk, lilni.self no

mean artist, nsed to impress iiiion him to be bold

and resolute in painting, for the veiy effort at

boldness of expression contributed to strengthen

the conception of the mind. His house was also

visited by ever_y artist of distinction who came to

Edinburgh. Among the rest, Turner, Wilkie, and

most of the great English painters of the day,

found their way to Duddingston manse.

Notwithstanding his addiction to art, liis cleri-

cal duties were never neglected, and he kept

pace with the science and thought of tlie age.

Among (ither things, he contributed several arti-

cles on ])liysical science to some of the earlier

numbers of the Edinburgh Review, Avhicli were

much admired at the time, for their clear and vig-

orous style. His portrait is subjoined :

Soon afler becoming miui>icr of Dailiy, ]\lr.

Thomson had married a daughter of the Rev.

John Renny, minister of Kilmichael, Ayrshire, by

wiioni he liad a family. His wife having died, he

married a second time, under circumstances of a

somewhat romantic nature. The lady was Jlrs.

Fanny Siicnce or Dalryniple, daughter of ]\Ir.

Spence, the celebrated London dentist, and widow

of j\Ir. Dalryniple of Cleland. She herself was an

amateur artist of no mean pretensions. Being ac-

cidentally in the shop of a jiicture dealer in Edin-

burgh, she was much struck with a ])ainting of

the Fall of Foyers. Enquiring the artist's name,

she was surprised to lind that it was tlic Rev.

Mr. Thomson, for though she had seen several of

his pictures, she had never beheld any that so

thoroughly realized her ideal in landscape. De-

sirous of becoming acquainted with an artist

whom she admired so much, she soon found an

opjiortunity of being introduced to him. Sir.

Thomson, on his part, felt, the moment he saw

her, that she was destined to be his wife, for as he

said, " She was the only being that he had seen

for years, with whom he could deeply sympa-

thise." Tiiey were soon after married, and from

congeniality of mind and sentiment they found, to

their continued happiness, that they were indeed

suited to each other. J\Irs. Thomson's intense

love for music and painting harmonized perfectly

with her husband's tastes, for he was also deeply

skilled in music, in the cultivation of which he

took much delight, being an excellent performer

ou the flute and violin. i\Irs. Tiiomson liad a

class for music, mIucIi she taught gratuitously,

drawn from all parts of the parish, and even from

Edinburgh. His eldest son, John ly name, was

lirst mate of the Kent, East Indiaman, at the time

that that ship took fire and went down, one sheet

of ilnme, at sea. On the fire being discovered,

the captain was so overw helmed by the astound-

ing intelligence that he Avas comi)letcly paralysed

and rendered incapable of issuing orders. Young

Thomson at once took his place, and ordered the

boats to be lowered. Amidst tiie most terrific

scene of distress and alarm, he succeeded in laud-

ing in safct}^ not only all the jiassengers, but the

entire crew, himself being the last to quit the

burning ship. On the arrival of these tidings,

^Ir. Thomson shed tears of delight and honest

pride at the noble conduct of his son.

About the beginning of 1S40, his health began

to decline, ami during the summer and autumn of

that year he grew worse. In tlie middle of Octo-

ber he was confined to a sickbed, his strength en-

tirel}' gone. On the 26tli of tliat niontii, an old

\)U[)\[ arrived to visit him. !Mr. Thomson felt
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weaker than usual, and had a strong presenti-

ment that that was the last day he liad to live.

He requested his son and young friend to move

his bed towards the window, that he might be-

hold, for the last time, the setting sun. This be-

ing done, he gazed with such intense earnestness

ou the beautiful scene without that he fainted

from weakness. He afterwards fell into a quiet

slumber, but on the following morning about seven

o'clock he breathed his last, in his 62d year. His

character as a man and a minister of the gospel

was altogether irreproachable. To manners kind,

afifable, and inotfeusive, he joined the practice of

a warm and generous benevolence, and he never

allowed his love of painting to interfere with the

discharge of his ministerial duties. As the great-

est Scottish landscape painter of his time, his

name will always remain distinguished in the an-

nals of British art. The materials for this me-

moir have been mainly furnished by an article in

' Hogg's Instructor.'

THOMSON, Thomx\s, M.D. and F.R.S., a dis-

tinguished chemist, the youngest son of John

Thomson and Elizabeth Ewan, sister of the Rev.

John Ewan, minister of Whittingham, East Lo-

thian, was born at Crieff, 12th April 1773. He

received the rudiments of education at the parish

school of his native place, and in his thirteentii

year was sent to the burgh school of Stirling, then

presided over by Dr. Doig. Here he continued

for two years, and acquired a tliorough classical

education, the benefits of which have been so sig-

nally manifested in his numerous improvements of

chemical nomenclature now general!}' adopted in

the science. In consequence of having written a

Latin lloratian poem of considerable merit, he

was induced, by the advice of his uncle, the Rev.

Mr. Ewan, who seems to have undertaken the

charge of his education, to try for a bursary at

the university of St. Andrews, which was open to

public competition. After standing an examina-

tion, he carried the scholarship, which entitled

him to board and lodgings at the university for

three years. This was in 1788, and in 1791 he

went to Edinburgh, and became tutor in the fam-

ily of Mr. Kerr of Blackshields. Being desirous

of studying medicine, about the end of 1794 he

went to reside at Edinburgh with his brother.

the Rev. James Thomson, afterwards D.D., and

minister of the parish of Eccles, Berwickshire, but

at that time one of the editors of the Encyclope-

dia Britannica. In the session of 1795-6, he at-

tended the chemical lectures of the celebrated Dr.

Black, whose instructions first awoke his latent

taste for the science of chemistry. In this session

he wrote the article 'Sea' for the Encyclopedia

Britannica. In November 1796, he succeeded his

brother in the editorship of the Supplement to the

third edition of that work. His connection witli

it continued till 1800, and during that period the

first outline of his system of chemistry appeared in

its pages, under the articles Chemistry, Mineral-

ogy, Vegetable Substances, Animal Substances,

and Dyeing Substances. It was in the article ou

Mineralogy, written about 1798, that he first in-

troduced the use of symbols into chemical science,

univei'sally acknowledged to be one of the most

valuable improvements in modern times. He gra-

duated in 1799, and during the winter session of

1800-1 he commenced lecturing on chemistrj', his

first course being attended by fifty-two pupils.

About the year 1802, Dr. Thomson invented

the oxy-hydrogeu blowpipe, in which he intro-

duced the oxygen and hydrogen into one vessel,

but the whole apparatus having exploded and

nearly proved fatal to him, he placed the gases in

separate gasholders. In August ISOi, in a paper

on lead, he first published his new nomenclature

of the oxides and acids, in which Latin and Greek

numerals were made to denote the number of

atoms of oxj'gen in an oxide. This paper an as

translated into the French language, and the no-

menclature speedily introduced into France. Pre-

vious to the publication of this arrangement, Brit-

ish chemists were contented with translations

from the French, and it was believed on the con-

tinent that " Great Britain possessed scarcely a

successful chemist." Many of these remarkable

views were devised by the self-taught chemist un-

der circumstances very diflerent from the costly

education and refined apparatus of the modern

laboratory, for it was in a narrow close in the

High Street of Edinburgh, at a time when he was

only in receipt of a salary of £50 a-year, out of

which he sent £15 to his aged parents. During the

first years of this century he discovered many new
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coinpouiids and iiiiiicrals, as chloride of siilpliur,

allauite, sodalito, &c., and there is probablv- no

chemist who lias added so many new bodies to

tlie science.

In tlie tiiird edition of his ' S^'stem of Cliemis-

try,' i)ubliohed in llS<,i7, he first introduced to no-

tice Dalton's views of tiie atomic tlieory, whicli

had been piivately communicated to him three

years bel'ore. He made mauy important deductions

of his own, and by his clear, perspicuous, and trans-

parent slyle, rendered the new theory soon uni-

versality known. In 1 810 he published his ' Ele-

ments of Cheniistiy" in one volume, his object

being to furnish an accurate outline of the actual

state of the science.

He continued to lecture in ICdiuburgh till isil,

and during that time he opened a laboratory for

pupils, the lirst of the kind, It is believed, in Great

Britain. At this period he also made his impor-

tant investigations for government in the malt

and distillation questions, which laid the basis of

the Scottish legislation on excise, and rendered

him in after-life the ai bitratur in many important

revenue cases. He likewise inveuted his saccha-

rometer, which is still used by the Scottish excise,

j

under the title of Allan's saccharometer. All

! these inventions were merely parts of the arrange-

i ment adopted in his ' System of Chemistry,' a

I

work which has produced results to chemical sci-

ence similar to those which tlic systems of Hay,

Liiuucus, and Jussieu etlectcd for botany.

In 1812 appeared his 'History of the Royal So-

ciety,' a most imjiortant work, as showing the in-

fluence which that society jn'oduccd on the ])ro-

gress of science. In August of that year he made

a tour in Sweden, and in 1813 luiblished his ' Ob-

servations,' which contain a very complete view

of the state of science and society in that country.

The same year he removed to London, and start-

ed the ' Annals of Philosophy,' a periodical which

he continued to conilnct till 1822. For this

work he wrote several biographies of eminent

scientific men. It was afterwards merged in the

' Philosophical Magazine.'

In 1817 Dr. Thomson was appointed lecturer

I on chemistry in the university of Glasgow, and

the following year, at the instance of the duke of

I\Iontro>e, then chancellor of the iniiver.-ity, the

appointment was nnule a professorsliip, witii a

small salary, under the jnitronage of the crown.

As soon as he could obtain a laboratory, he com- i

menced his researches into the atomic constitution

of chemical bodies, and produced an amount of
i

work unparalleled in the w liole range of the sci-

ence, by the publication, in 1825, of his 'Attempt

to Establish the First Principles of Chemistry by

Experiment,' in 2 vols. It contained "the result

of many thousand experiments, conducted v\ ith as

much care and precision as it was in his power to

employ, including the specific gravities of all the

inii)ortant gases, ascertained by careful exjwri-

nient." After the publication of this work, he

devoted himself to the examination of the inorga-

nic kingdom of nature, ])nrchasing every species

of mineral obtainable, until his museum became

one of the noblest mineral collections in the king-

dom, as well as a substantial monument of his

taste and devotion to science. In ISoO-l he pub-

lished his ' History of Chemistry,' a masterpiece

of learning and research. In 1834, in which \ ear

he lost his wife, he was chosen president of the

Glasgow Philosophical Society, and regularly at-

tended its fortnightly meetings in the winter ses-

sion till a short time before his death. In 1830

appeared his ' Outlines of Mineralogy and Geolo-

gy,' in 2 vols., containing an account of about

lifty new minerals which he had discovered in a

period of little more than ten years. To the Po-

pular CycIo]icdia, a Glasgow publication, he con-

tributed an introductory treatise on the ' Progi-ess

of Physical Science.'

He continued his lectures in the university, v\ ith-

out assistance, till 1811, but being then in his OOtli

year, he, in that year, associated with him his neph-

ew and son-in-law, Dr. Pobert Dundas Thomson,

then resident in London. After that period he con-

lined himself to the delivery of the inorganic course

till 184C, when the dangerous illness of his second

son, from disease contracteil in India, liurried him

for the winter to Nice, and his nephew was a)i-

pointcd by the feiialus acadcniiats to discharge all

the duties of the chaii-, the university having no

retiring allowance for its most distinguished pro-

fessor. Dr. Thomson died at Kilmun, Argyle-
!

shire, 2d August, 1852, in liis 80th year. He was
j

F.II.S. of London and Edinburgh, and F.L.S.
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He maiTied in 181G, Miss Agnes Colqulioini,

daughter of a distiller near Stirling, and left issue.

His son, Dr. Thomas Thomson of the Bengal ar-

m3', author of ' Travels in Thibet,' was appointed

superintendent of the Botanic gardens at Calcutta.

His daughter's husband. Dr. R. D. Thomson, be-

came professor of chemistry at St. Thomas' Hos-

pital, London, \vhither Ids valuable mineral col-

lection was removed after his death. A memoir

in the Annual Register of 1852 has supplied the

materials for this notice.

Subjoined is a list of Dr. Thomson's works :

A System of Chemistry. Edin. 1S02, 4 vols. 8vo. Sec-

ond edition much enlarged, 1804, 4 vols. 8vo. Tliird edit.

Edin. 1807, 5 vols. 8vo. Lond. 1817, 4 vols. 8vo.

Elements of Chemistry. Edin. 1810, 8vo.

History of the Royal Society of London, from its institu-

tion to the end of the eighteenth century. London, 1812, 4to.

Travels in Sweden, during the summer of 1812. Illus-

trated with Maps and other Plates. Lond. 1813, 4to.

Annals of Philosophy, or Magazine of Chemistry, Jliner-

alogy, Mechanics, Natural History, Agriculture, and the Arts.

Lond. 1813, &o. Published monthly.

On Oxalic Acid. Phil. Trans. 1808, 63. lb. Nich. Jour,

xxi. 14, 1808.

Analysis of a new Species of Copper Ore. lb. 1814, 45.

Chemical Analysis of a Black Sand from the river Dee, in

Aberdeenshire, and of a Copper Ore from Arthrey, in Stir-

lingshire. Trans. Soc. Edin. 1812, vol. vi. 253. lb. Kich.

Jour, xxviii. 19.

Experiments on AUaiiite, a new Mineral from Greenland,

lb. 371. lb. Nich. Jour. xxix. 47.

Chemical Analysis of .Sodalit.e, a new Mineral from Green-

land, lb. 387. lb. Nicb. Jour. xxix. 285.

Experiments to determine whether or not Fluids he Con-

ductors of Calorie. Nich. Jour. iv. 529, 1801.

On the supposed Currents in Hot Liquids. lb. i. 81. 1802.

Remarks on Combustion. lb. ii. 10.

On tlie Compounds of Sulphur and Oxygen.

On the Oxides of Lead. lb. viii. 280, 1804.

On Pepper. lb. ix. 68.

On Silver Coins. lb. xiv. 39G, 1806.

On the Liflammable Gas formed during the Distillation of

Peat. lb. xvi. 241, 1807.

On the Oxides of Iron. lb. xxvii. 375, 1810.

An Analysis of Fluor Sp.ar. lb. 157.

On the Gaseous Combinations of Hydrogen and Carbon,

lb. 321.

A Biographical Account of the Honourable Henry Caven-

dish. Thom. Ann. Phil. i. 1, 1813.

On Ulmin. lb. 23.

Biographical Account of the Life of Joseph Priestley,

LL.D., &c. lb. 81.

On the Liquid Gum from Bot.any Bay. lb. 103.

On the Specific Gravity of the Gases. lb. 177.

Some Obser\'ations in answer to Mr. Clienevix's Attack

upon Werner's Mincralogical Metiiod. lb. 243.

Biographical Account of M. de Fourcroy. lb. 321.

On Veins. lb. 350.

Description of a Resinous Substance lately dug out of the

earth at Higbgate. lb. ii. 9.

On a new variety of Ulmin. lb. 11.

On the He.at evolved during the Inflammation of the Hu-
man Body. lb. 26.

On the Daltonian Theoiy of Definite Proportions in Chem-
ical Combinations. lb. 32.

Biographical Account of M. Lavoisier. lb. 81.

Analysis of the Chinese Gong. lb. 208.

Some Mineralogical Observations in Cornwall. lb. 247.

On the Composition of Oxide of Zinc. lb. 410.

Sketch of the improvement of Science made during the

year 1813. lb. iii. 1, 1814.

A Discovery of the Atomic Theory. lb. 329.

Outline of D. Berzelius's Chemical Nomenclature. lb. 450.

On the Composition of Blende. lb. W. 89.

On the Composition of Sulphuret of Antimony. lb. 95.

On the Arctia Plioeorrhoea. Jb. 129.

Biogi-.apbic.al Account of Jlr. Scheele. lb. 161.
^

On the Oxides of Arsenic. lb. 171.

Analysis of tlie Asbestous Actmolite. lb. 209.

A Geognostical Sketch of the Counties of Northumberhmd,

Durham, and part of Cumberland. lb. 337.

On the Aurora Borealis. lb. 427.

Sketch of the latest Improvements in the Physical Scien-

ces, lb. v. 1, 1815.

A Biographical Account of David Rittenhonse, LL.D.,

F.R.S., &c., hate President of the American Philosophical

Society. lb. 161.

Observations on some Points connected with the Atomic

Theory. lb. 184.

A Biographical Account of Sir Benjamin Thompson, Knt.

Count Rumford. lb. 241.

Biographical Account of Joseph Black, M.D., F.R.S.E.,

&c., Professor of Chemistry in the University of Edinburgli.

lb. 321.

Account of the Improvements in Pliysical Science during

the year 1815. lb. vii. 1, 1816.

Account of an Accident which happened in a Coal-JIine at

Liege in 1812. lb. 200.

On the re-union of Parts accidentally separated from the

Living Body. lb. 2G3.

Some Observations on the relations between the Specific

Gr.avity of Gaseous Bodies, and the Weights of their Atoms,

lb. 343.

On the Introduction of the Mode of Bleaching into Great

Britain. lb. viii. 1, 1816.

Experiments on Phosphurated Hydrogen Gas. lb. 87.

Geological Sketch of the Country round Birmingham,

lb. 161.

Account of the Improvements in Physical Science during

the year 1816. lb. ix. 1, 1817.

Biographical Account of.tlie Right Reverend Richard Wat-

son, D.D., F.R.S., Lord Bishop of LlandafiT. lb. 257.

Account of a Remarkable Fossil. lb. 342.

Biographical Account of Jean de Carro, JLD. lb. x. 1,

1817.

On the S.alts composed of Sulphuric Acid .and Peroxide of

Iron. lb. 98.

Chemical An.alysis of Tin, from the different Smelting-

Houses in Cornwall. Xb. 16G, &c.

Attempt to Establish the First Principles of Chemistry by

Experiment. 1825, 2 vols.

Outlines of Mineralogy and Geology. 1836, 2 vols.

History of Chemistry. 1830-1.

He aKo contributed to the ' Records of Gener.al Science,' a

journal started and edited by his nephew, Dr. R, D. Thom-

son.
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THOMSON, Andrew, D.D., an eminent mo-

dern divine, was born at Saiiquliar, in Dunifrics-

sliire, Jnly 11, 1779. He was the son of Dr.

John Thomson, at that time minister of Sanquhar,

subsequently of Markineli in Fife, and afterwaids

one of tlie ministers of Edinburgli. From his ear-

liest years he was remarkable for intelligence and

vivacity, and especially for that free, open, and

manly cliaracter which distin;,'uished him throuf,'h

life. Having duly studied for the ministr}-, in the

beginning of 1802 he was licensed to preach Iiy

the presbytery of Kelso, and in IMarch of the same

year was ordained minister of the parish of Sprous-

ton, witliin the bounds of tiie same presbyter}'.

He early began to take a considerable sliare in

the business of the ecclesiastical courts; and, ever

anxious to promote the religious interests of his

people, he published a Catechism on the Lord's

Supper, for the benefit of the j'oung among them,

wliich has passed through numerous editions. In

1808, he was removed to the East Church, Perth,

of which town his brother, Dr. William Tiiomson,

was one of the ministers. In the spring of 1810

he received a presentation from the magistrates

and council of Edinburgh to the New Greyfiiars'

Church in that city; and, accordingly, entered

upon a sjiliero of duty better adapted to his tal-

ents, and to the active character of his mind, than

had been either of his preceding charges. A few

months thereafter, witli tlic assistance of several

of his clerical brethren, he commenced the ])ubli-

cation of 'The Christian Instructor,' a periodical

work which lie edited for manj- years, and which

was the means of doing much good to the cause

of religion. To the Edinburgh Encyclopicdia,

conducted by Dr. BreM-ster, he also, about this

time, contributed various valuable articles. In

1811, on tlie opening of St. George's Church, Ed-

inburgh, Dr. Thomson was fixed upon as the in-

dividual best qualified to be minister of that im-

portant charge, to which he was admitted .Inne

IGth of that year. " He entered on this charge,'"

saj's Dr. M'Cric, "with a deep sense of the im-

portance of the station, as one of the largest par-

isiies of the metropolis, containing a population of

the most highlj' educated class of society, and not

without the kno^^ledge that thei'c was, in the

minds of a part of those among whom he was

called to labour, a jirepossession against the pecu-

liar doctrines which had always held a j)rominent

place in his public ministrations. But he had not

long oecu]iied that i)ul|iit, when, in sjiite of the

delicate situation in which he was placed by more

than one public event, which obliged him to give

a practical testimony, (dis])leasing to many in high
j

places,) in f.ivour of the jinrity of Presbyterian
|

worship, and the independence of the Church of

Scotland, he disappointed those who had foreboded

\>i< ill success, and exceeded the expectations of

such of his friends as had the greatest confidence
|

in his talents. By the ability and eloquence of
'

his discourses, by the assiduity and ])rudence of
j

his more ]irivate ministrations, and by the affec-

tionate solicitude which he evinced for the spirit-

ual interests of those committed to his care, he
1

not onl}' dissi])ated ever}' unfavourable impres-
j

sion, but seated himself so firmly in the hearts of
|

his people, that, long before his lamented death,
i

no clergyman in the city, established or dissent-
|

ing, was more cordial!}' revered and beloved by
j

his congregation ;" or. it may be added, was held
i

in higher estimation by the religious public of Ed-
j

Inburgh.
j

For many years after entering on his new charge,

he employed the interval between the forenoon '

and afternoon services on Sunday in catechising
\

the young belonging to his congregation. He also
j

established a week-day school, compiled suitable
|

books for the different classes, and spent entire

days in teaching the children of the ]ioor in his
!

parish the elementary principles of education and

i-ellgion. Having an exquisite ear for music, he 1

likewise set about improving the ]isalmody of his
j

church, and drew up a collection of the most ap-
|

proved psalm tunes, all of which he carefully re-

vised, arid added to them sevei'al original compo-

sitions, and a few of great beautv of his own. In
I

the Church courts his capacity for business, and
j

his singular expcrtiiess and elo(]iience in debate,
:

as well as the high estimation in which he was
i

held by his brethren, pointed him out to the evan-
i

gelical parly in the cliurcli as one peculiarly fitted

to be their leader, and he was spontaneousl\- re-

cognised by them in that character. In thi; Cen-

eral Assembly he jiarticularly distinguished him-

self as the fearless and uncompromising chani])ion '
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of the freedom and independence of the chnrch,

and of the riglits and privileges of tlie Cliristian

people. With liis characteristic energy and zeal,

he engaged in tiie discussions connected with the

memorable " Apocryphal question," and in the

latter years of his life spent mucli of his time

in exposing the misrepresentations of those of

the adherents of the British and Foreign Bible

Society who approved of the conduct of that body,

in printing and circulating the Bible containing

the Apocrypha, in opposition to its own leading

principle. It is supposed that the personal tone

which the controversy assumed in the hands of

his opponents, combined with the labours and

anxieties which the part he had undertaken im-

posed on him, had the effect of seriously impairing

his constitution. Tlie last great public question

in which he made a prominent appearance, was

that of the abolition of shivery in our West India

colonies, when he came forward as the advocate

of immediate emancipation.

Dr. Thomson died suddenly, February 9, 1831.

About five in the afternoon of that day he was

returning home from a meeting of presbytery, and

having met a friend by the way, he conversed,

with animation and cheerfulness, till he reached

his own door, on the threshold of which, stopping

for a moment, he muttered some words indistinct-

ly, and instantly, without a struggle or a groan,

fell down on the pavement. He was cari-ied into

his own house in a state of insensibility, and a

vein being opened, only a few ounces of blood

flowed, and he immediately expired. He was in-

terred in a piece of ground connected with St.

Cuthbert's churchyard. Soon after his death a

volume of his ' Sermons and Sacramental Exhor-

tations ' was published at Edinburgh, witli an in-

teresting memoir prefixed, which has furnished

lis with the details of this notice. On his settle-

ment at Spronston, he married a lady of the name

of Carmichael, by whom he had ten children,

seven of whom survived him. Through the re-

commendation of Lord Brougliam, William IV.

granted a pension of £150 to his widow. His

eldest son, j\Ir. John Thomson, who was the first

professor of music in the university of Edinburgli,

appointed under the liberal endowment of the late

General Reid, died at Edinburgh in May 1841.

Thorbl'KX, a surname, a corruption of Tliorbrand, mean-

ing the tliunderbolt of Tlior, tlie Jupiter of tlie Teutonic

nations. Thursday, the d.ay of Thor, has its name from him.

The Norse surname of Thorbiorn or T/iorharn signifies the

child or bairn of Thor. Biorn is also the Norse name for a bear.

TuRiErLAJND, the name of a Perthshire Family possessing

a baronetcy of Nova Scotia, conferred, lOtli November 1G87,

on Sir Patrick Thriepland, of Fingask castle, in the parish of

Ivilspindie. He had pi-eviously been knighted by Cliarles II.

in 1G74. His baronetcy was given with remainder to his

heirs male. He was a staunch supporter of the royal cause,

when the troubles broke out in Scotland in the reign of

Charles I., and died in 1089.

His only son, Sir David, second baronet, adhered to the

cause of the abdicated king, James VII., and after the death

of th.it monarch, held a secret correspondence with his son,

the Chevalier de St. George, and those who favoured his pre-

tensions. In 1715 he was among the first, with liis sons and

a party of followers, to join the standard of the earl of Mar,

and when the Chevalier de St. George arrived in Scotland he

spent a night at Fingask castle, the seat of Sir David. After

the dispersion of the insurgents, about IGO officers and gen-

tlemen who had followed the rebel army into the Highlands,

among whom was Sir David Tluicphind, hearing that two

French frigates had arrived oflf the Orkney coast, sallied from

the hills on horseback, and crossing the low countiy of Mo-

ray, embarked in boats at Burgh-head, and landed in Caitb-

ness. Thence they proceeded to the Orkney Islands, where

they had the good fortune to reach the French ships, which

carried them to Gottenburg in Sweden. In consequence of

the active part he took in the rebellion, he was attamted by

act of parliament in 1716. He died in 174G. He married,

first, in 1688, Klizubeth, daughter of Sir James Ramsay of

BamfF, by whom he had seven sons and three daughters
;
and,

secondly, in 1707, Dame Catherine Smith of Barnhill, by

whom lie had two sons and four daughters.

His youngest and only surviving son, Sir Stuart Thriep-

land, became third baronet. Tliis gentleman was also strong-

ly attaclied to the house of Stuart, after whom he was named.

He took part in the insurrection of 1745, and continued witli

Prince Charles Edward till the battle of Culloden. His mo-

ther's property which he had inherited was forfeited, as his

paternal estate bad been in 1716, and a reward offered for

his apprehension. He escaped to France, where he re-

mained at the court of the Stuarts until the act of in-

demnity permitted his return to Scotland, For some time

he practised in Edinburgh as a surgeon. At a sale of

forfeited lands in 1782, he repurchased the family estates.

He died 2d February 1805. He had married in 1753, Janet,

eldest daughter of David Sinclair, Esq. of Suuthdun, by

whom he had a son and daughter, who both died without

issue; and, secondly, in 1761, Miss Janet Budge Murray of

Pennyland, by whom he had four sons and a daughter.

His eldest son. Sir Patrick Murray Thriepland, fourth bar-

onet, born in November 1762, petitioned George IV., when in

Scotland in 1822, for the restoration of the forfeited title of

the family, and, on 25th April 1826, bis majesty was pleased

to signify his assent to the introduction of a bill into pariia-

ment, whereby the attainder was reversed. He died 11th

January 1837. By his wife, Jessie iMurray, daughter of

William Scott Ker, Esq. of Cliatto, Roxburghshire, he had a

son and three daughters.

The son, Sir Patrick Murray Thriepland, fifth baronet,

was born 26th May 1800. He was major of the Perthshire

militia, but resigned in 1843.
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TILLOCII, Ai.EXANDKii, LL.]^., an ingenious

writer on science and niccliauics, the son of n i-e-

spectable tobacconist in (ihis;^u\v, was burn tlicre,

February i'S, 175'.!. Jle was intended by Ids I'a-

tlujr to follow liis own business, but a strong bias

towards science and mechanics soon led luni awa}-

from commercial pursuits. Having in 17»1 di-

rected Ids attention to tire improvement of the

mode of printing, he was fortunate enough to dis-

cover the art of stercotyjiing, and flattered himself

with many advantages that would result fi'om his

successful labours, being at the time ignorant that,

so early as 1736, i\Ir. Ged, a jeweller of Edin-

burgh, had exercised the art, having ]iubli>hed an

edition of Saliust printed from metallic plates.

Fi'Dm the want of encouragement, however, (ietl's

method perished \\ ith him, and to Dr. Tilloch be-

longs the merit of having of new invented the art,

and carried it to the state of practical utility which

it now exhibits. In this new process, Jlr. Fonlis,

the printer to the university of Glasgow, joined

him, and a joint-patent in their names was taken

out both in England and Scotland. C'iieumstan-

ces, however, induced I hem to lay aside the busi-

ness for a time, and it never was renewed b_v

them as a speculation.

Dr. Tilloch afterwards entered into the tobacco

trade at Glasgow, in conjunction with his brother

and brother-in-law, but, not finding the business

succeed, it was finally abandoned. lie then turn-

ed his attention to printing, and, either singly or

in partnci'ship, carried on this trade for some time

in his native city. In 1787 he removed to Lon-

don, and two years afterwai'ds, in connection with

others, i)urehased 'The Slar' evening newspaper,

whieh he continued to edit till within four years

of his death. In 1797, being forcibly struck \\ iih

the great increase of the crime of forgery. Dr.

Tilloch presented to the Bank of England a speci-

men of a plan of engraving calculated to iirevont

the forgery of bank-notes, respecting whieh he

had been ])reviously in communication with the

French government, but, like all similar propo-

sals, it was declined ;
and in 1820 he petitioned

])arliamcnt on the subject, but without any prac-

tical result. In June 1797 he projected and esta-

blished 'The I'hilosophieal Jlagazine ;' and, only

fifteen days before his dead), lie obtained a patent

for an improvement on the steam-engine. Amidst

his other avocations, he found leisure to apply

himself to theological studies with no commou

perseverance, the fruits of which appeared in a

volume of ' Dissertations on the Apocalyjise,' pub-

lished in 1823, besides a series of detached essays

on the Prophecies, collected In one volume under

the name of ' Biblicus.' His great object in the

former work appears to be to prove that the Aji'i-

calypse was written at a much earlier period than

commentators suppose, and prior to most of the

Epistles contained in the Xew Testament. Tlie

last work which he was engaged to superintend

was 'The Mechanic's Oracle,' i)iiblislied in num-

bers at the Caxton Press. In his religious opin-

ions Dr. Tilloch was su]iposed to belong to the

sect of Sandemanians, and jireached occasionally

to a congregation w ho assembled in a house in

Goswell Street Poad. He died at his house in

Barnsbury Street, Islington, January 2G, 1825.

lie married previous to quitling Glasgow, but his

wife died in 1783, leaving a daughter, who became

the wife of ^Ir. Gait, the novelist.

Toi), a suni.-imc derived from tlie Scottish and nortli of

l-ji,i;Iand term Tod, a fox. An eminent person of this name,

Lieutenant-colonel James Tod, of tlie East India Coinji.'inv's

service, autlior of 'Annals of Rajastlian,' and 'Travels in

Western India,' and at the time of liis death, 7th November

1835, librarian of tlie Asiatic Society, is su])posed to have

been a native of Scotland, but was in reality boin at Isling-

ton, London. He surveyed Kajpoutana and completed a

comprehensive and accurate map of it in 181.1, when political

agent to the western Kajpoot state.s, and it was by liim that

tlie name of Central India was originally given to that inter-

esting country of the east.

Toin-niciiKX, a surn.ame, now very rare, derived from the

parish of that n.aine in the county of I.inlilliguw. Among
the favourites of James HI. hanged by the incensed nobles

over Lauder bridge in 1478, was one Torpliichen, a dancing-

master.

"The name," says Dr. Iletheringtun, in his descrij)tion of

the parish in the New Statistical Account of Scotland, " is

evidently Celtic in its origin, but etymologists arc by no

means agreed with regard to its true composition and mean-

ing. The word Tor is unquestionably hill, but the latter

part of the name is more doubtful. Some assert it to mean

ten, and say that it refers to a range of hills in llie vicinity

having ten summits. The range, however, has not more

than seven distinct summits; and the Gaelic word ^/ic/ncotZ

niean.s twenty, not ten, as they as.snme. The most probable

derivation seems to be Torfioclian, or the hill of the Ravens.

It may be regarded a.s some corroboration of this meaning

that there is an estate in the neighbourhood of the vilbige

named Crawhill, and that the ciest of the mo.st extensive

land proprietor in the parish is a raven chained to a rock, as

if in allusion to the parochial name.''
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ToiipmcHEN, Baron, a title in tlie Scottisli peenige,

granted in 1563 to Sir James Sandilands, wlio at the Refor-

mation was cliieF of tlie Icniglits of St. John of Jerusalem in

Scotland. These knights were at one time called knights of

Khodes, and finally knights of Malta. Their principal resi-

dence in this country was a little to the north-east of the

village of Torphichen, and Sir James Sandilands having ac-

quired all their property there, got it erected into a temporal

lordship.

The surname of Sandilands is very ancient, being derived

from lands of that name in the upper ward of Lanarkshire.

Some writers affirm that the noble family of this surname

belonged originally to Northumberland, and were driven into

Scotland after the English conquest, in the reign of Malcolm

Canmore. Their immediate ancestor was Sir James Sandi-

lands, a valiant knight, who distinguished himself in the wars

against tlie English in the reign of David II., from whom he

had two charters, one of the lands of Wiston in Lanarkshire.

He had also a charter of confinnation in 1346 from William,

Lord Douglas, of lands in Douglasdale. He married Elea-

nor, countess of Oarrick, sister of Douglas, and widow of

Alexander, earl of Carrick, the son of Edward Brace, king of

Ireland, and received with her, in free marriage, the barony

of West Calder, Mid Lothian. This grant was confirmed by

Duncan, earl of Fife, the superior of the same, and by David

II. In consequence of this alliance, the family of Sandilands

quartered the arms of Douglas with their own. Sir James

was killed at the battle of Halidonhill in 1333. His widow

was afterwards three times married, being five times in all.

With a daughter, Marion, Lady Kennedy of Dunure, they

had a son. Sir James Sandilands of Calder, whose name fre-

quently occurs in the register of charters of King Robert 11.

He married, in 1384, the princess Johanna, second daughter

of that monarch, and widow of Sir John hyon of Glammis.

Their only son, James Sandilands of Calder, was one of the

liostages for King .James I., when he was allowed to visit

Scotland 31st May 1421 ; also when he finally returned to

his kingdom 28th March 1424. At that time his annual

revenue was estimated at 400 merks. He was dead before

7th December 1426.

His son. Sir John Sandilands of Calder, was assassinated

near Dumbarton, in 145G, on account of his unshaken loy-

alty to James II., by one Patrick Thornton, of the king's

court, a favourer of the Douglas faction. The murderer,

with hfs accomplices, was apprehended and executed.

Sir John's son, also named Sir John Sandilands of Calder,

made over, in 1466, Ins estate to liis son. Sir .lames Sandi-

lands. The latter had a charter of the lands and barony of

Airth, Bisset, Slamannan, Bannockburn, &.C., dated July 14,

1489. He was twice married, first to Margaret, daughter

and heiress of John Kinloch of Cruvie, Fifeshire, and had,

with two daughters, two sons: John, who succeeded him,

and .Tames Sandilands of Cravie, ancestor of Lord Aber-

crombie
;
secondly, to Margaret, daughter of Andrew Iver of

Auldtounbnrn, ancestor of the dukes of Roxbnrgbe, without

issue. After his death, she married the third earl of Errol.

Sir .John Sandilands, the elder son, married Elizabeth, daugh-

ter of James Scrimgeour, lord of Dudliope and constable of

Dundee, and had a son, Sir James S.mdilands of Calder, who

is described in Crawford's Peerage as a person of great wis-

dom and of the most exemplary piety and virtue. He died

after 1553. By his wife, Margaret or Mariot, only daugh-

ter of Archibald Forrester of Corstorphine, he had, with two

daughters, two sons, John, who succeeded his father, and

James, first Lord Torphichen.

The elder son, John Sandilands of Calder, married, first.

Margaret, daughter of Su' Robert Barton of Over Baniton,
|

high-treasurer of Scotland, and had one son, James, who I

. . . .1
died in 1577, leaving a son, James, second Lord Torphichen;

i

secondly, Johanna, third daughter of John, Lord Fleming.

By this lady he also had a son. Sir James Sandilands of
j

Slamannanmure, one of the gentlemen of the bedchamber to

King James VI., and on 2d October 1595, appointed consta- I

ble and keeper of the castle of Blackness. !

James, first Lord Torphichen, second son of Sir James
j

Sandilands of Calder and Elizabeth Scrimgeour, was, on ac-
j

I

count of his great talents and learning, recommended by Sir
j

j

Walter Linds.ay, preceptor of the order of St. John of Jern-
I

salem in Scotland, to the master of that order .at JIalta, as a

person well qualified to be his successor. The knights of
jj

this order were introduced into Scotland, in 1153, by David
'

I., and had many possessions conferred on them by him and
j

j

bis successors. When the knights templars were suppressed '

j

in 1308, they got possession of the extensive property of that
1

1

great rival order, which had its chief seat at Temple, Mid- I

Lothian. In 1291 and 1296, Alexander de Wells, " prior

hospitalis sancti Johannis Jerusaleinitani in Scotia," swore
|

fealty to Edward I. ; and from precepts which the Eng-
'

lish king issued to the sheriffs to restore the property of
j

the knights, the order seems, even at that early period, to
| j

have had estates in almost every shire except .Argj'le, Bute,
\

j

and Orkney. !

j

Sir James Sandilands resided for some ve.ars at Malta, and
i

1

gave such proofs of his .ability that he was admitted one of
j

j

the knights and inaugni-ated as the future preceptor. On Sir
|

Walter Linds.ay's death in 1538, he was invested with the

title, power, and jurisdiction of Lord St. John of Jerusalem i

in Scotland. He was often employed in negotiations of im- i

portance with England, and both he and his brother were
i

great supporters of the Reformation, which he embraced in
;

1553. After John Knox's arrival in Scotland in 1555, it is
j

well known that he resided for some time .at Calder, preach-
j

ing often in Edinburgh. A portr.ait of the reformer is liung
!

up in the hall or gallery of Calder house, the seat of Lord
j

Torphichen, where it is asserted by some writers that he
;

dispensed the ordinance of the Lord's supper for the first
|

time in Scotland after the Reformation. The picture bears I

on its back the following statement: "Mr. John Knox:
j

The first sacrament of the super given in Scotland, .after the
j

Reformation, was dispensed by him in this hall." This is incor- i

rect. The first time the sacrament of the Supper was dispensed

after the reformed manner in Scotland was in the castle of

St. Andrews in 1547. (.1/'C»'ie, p. 50, 1st ed.) The ac-

count given by Knox himself, in his History of the Reform.a- ;

tion, seems to imply th.at he dispensed this ordinance in the i

west country before he did it in Calder House. Calderwood
|

(vol. i. p. 306) says: "In the beginning of Janu.ary, 1556, •

Jlr. Knox was conveyed to Kyle by Robert Campbell of
[

Kingzeancleuche, and taught in the Barr, Carnell, Kingzean-

cleuche. Aire, Ochiltrie, Gatbgirth, and ministred the Lord's

Table in some of these parts. The erle of Glencarne sent for '

him to Finlaston, where he also ministred the Lord's Table,

wherof the erle, his ladle, two of his sonnes, and certane of I

his friends were partakers. From thence he returned to !

Calder, where diverse from Edinburgh and other parts of the 1

countrie assembled, as weiil for doctrine .as for the right min-
j

istratioun of the Lord's Table, which before they had never

seeiie."

In 1559, Sir James Sandilands joined the lords of the Con-

gi'egation who were in :ums against the queen-regent at Cu-

par JIuir, I'ife.shirc, and the following year, after the death

of that princess, he was sent to France by the reformers to
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give nil account of llieir ])i-oceeilings before Francis and Ma-
ry, " not so much," says Calderwood (vol. ii. p. 39), " to

seelce pardon for anie bypast offences, as to purge his eoun-

trienien, and lay the blame of the late tumults upon the

Frenche. The Gwisians rebuked him sharpHe that he, being

a knight of tlie holy order, sliould liave taken upon him anie

message or instructions from rebels, for that execrable reli-

gion which had been latelie condemned in the council of

1

Trent," and he was dismissed witlioutan answer,

j

Two years after Queen Mary's return to Scotland, he re-

1

signed into her hands the property of tlie knights of St. .John

I

of Jerusalem in Scotlaiui, and on 24th January 15C3, she was

i
pleased, on payment by him of 10,000 crowns of the sun (equal

I

to about £1,100 sterling, a large sum in those days), and an

j

annual rent of 500 merks, to grant to him and his heirs and

assigns whatever, the lands and baronies of Torphiclien, L)S-

I

ton, and tlie other estates of the order, in dili'erent counties,

j

erecting the same into the temporal lordship of Torphiclien.

I He died, without issue, 29tli November lu96, when his title

i and estates devolved on his grand-nephew, J.-imcs Sandilauds

! of Calder, as above stated.

!

James, second Lord Torphiclien, was, in the decreet of

ranking of the Scots nobility, dated in KJOG, placed iinmedi-

I ately after I.cu'd Boyd, whose peerage dated before 1459, and

1 died ill 1G17. He was twice married, but had issue only by

[

his first wife, Klizabetli, daughter of James Heriot of Tra-

j

brown, viz. a daughter, Isabel, wife of Hugh Wallace of Eld-

j

erslio, and four sons. 1. James, third Lord Torphiclien, who
I voted in parliament in 1G21 against the five articles of Perth,

j

and died the following year. 2. John, fourth Lord Torphi-

I

chen, who died in July 1037. 3. Hon. William Sandilands of

Hilderston, Linlithgowshire, tutor of Calder. 4. Hon. Ro-

I
bcrt Sandilands. William's son, Walter Sandilands, younger

of Hilderston, married in 1G74, Anna Hamilton, daughter

and heiress of James Hamilton of Westport, Linlithgowshire,

and, in consequence, assumed the name and arms of Hamil-

ton. Walter's son, Sir James Sandilands Hamilton of West-

port, dying in 1733, was succeeded by his brother. Sir Wal-

ter Sandilands Hamilton, whose daughter, Grizel, married

John l''errier, Esq. of Kirkland, Renfrewshire, writer in Ed-

inburgh, and their son, on succeeding his grandfather, in

17G3, also took the name of Hamilton.

I

The fourth Lord Tcrphichen had, with two d:uighters,

j

three sons. 1. John, fifth lord, who succeeded his father

j

when very young. 2. Walter, sixth lord. 3. Hon. William

i Sandilands of Coustoun, Linlithgowshire, which lands were

]
entailed by his son, William Sandilands of Coustoun.

During the minority of .John, fifth Lord Torphiclien, he

was placed under the guardianship of his uncle, the Hon.

William Sandilands of Hilderston, who was commonly called

I

the tutor of Calder. His lordship protested against the

I

" Engagement " to march into England for the rescue of

' Charles L, in 1G4S. He was one of the few peers who sat in

the parliament of Scotland in January 1G49, and died in Ju-

ly following, unmarried. His brother, Walter, si.xth Lord

Torphiclien, was four times married, and had issue by all his

wives. On Iiis death in IGOfi, he was succeeded by his sec-

ond youngest son, J.ames, seventh Lord Torphiclien.

This nobleman took the oaths and his seat in parliament,

6th July 1704, and gave his warm support to the treaty of

union. As lientenant-colonel of the 7th dragoons, he seiTcd

:
on the continent in the wars of Queen Anne. On the break-

in'' out of the rebellion of 1715, he hastened from London to

j

Scotland, where liis regiment happened to be stationed.

I .At the he.id of a body of 500 horse and foot, he inarched

I
from Edinburgh, 17th October, to Seton house, the scat

I

of the earl of Wintoun, which had been taken possession
j

of by the rebels. Finding them, however, too .strongly cn-
i

trenched within the surrounding high stone wall, to be dis- '

lodged without artillery, he returned to Edinburgh, after
j

exchanging some .shot.s. At the battle of Sherifi'inuir, 1311i

November, at the head of his regiment of dragoons, he did
j

good service against the Highlanders. In 1722, he quitted
i

the army, and by George I. was appointed one of the lords of

police. He died lOtli August 1753, after possessing the title

57 j-ears. He had married Lady .lean Home, youngest

danghter of the first earl of M.archinont, and sister of the eel-
j

ebrated Lady Grizel Baillie, and, with three daughters, had
{

eight sons. 1. James, master of Torphiclien, a lieutenant in
^

the 44th foot, who received no fewer than twenty-six wounds '

;

from the rebels at the b.attle of Preston in 1745, and after j

'

lingering for more than three years, died, 20tli April 1749, i

!

of consumption, unmarried. 2. Walter, eighth Lord Tor-
|

pliichen. 3. Hon. P.-itrick Sandilands, who obtained the
j

command of one of the East India Company's country ships,
[

on account of his gallant behaviour in repulsing a party of
j

Angrla pirates who had boarded the vessel. He was drowned
'

in a storm at sea, without issue. 4. Hon. .Mexander S.andi-

I.-uids, who died young. 5. Hon. Andrew Sandilands, a lieu-
1

tenant in the 21st foot, or Royal Scots f'usileers, who behaved

so well at the battle of Dettingen that he was promoted to a
,

company in August 1743. At the battle of Fontenoy in
]

-April 1745, he was shot through the thigh. He was at that •

time major of the regiment, but on account of that wound he
|

quitted the army at the peace, and died, unmarried, 27th
|

June 1776. G. Hon. George Sandilands, who died young. i

'

7. Hon. Charles Sandilands, lieutenant R.N., who died in the I

Carthagena expedition under Admlr.al Vernon in 1741. 8.

Hon. Robert Sandilands, an ofKcer in the army, first in the
j

Scottish brigade in the Dutch service, and afterwards in a
|

regiment of light dragoons. He married Grizel, daughter of 1

;

Sir Thomas Kirkpatrick of Closeburn, baronet, and died 18tli
j

j

May 1791. His only son, James, succeeded as tenth Lord I

Torphiclien.
j

i

Walter, eighth Lord Torphiclien, was admitted advocate in
j

;

1727, and as sherifT-depute of Mid Lothian, was extremely
j

active and useful when the rebels had possession of Edin-
j

j

bnrgh in 1745, in preserving order and inducing the inhabi- |

'

tants to provide necess.aries of all kinds for the king's forces.
j

He succeeded his father in 1753, and died 9tli November ]

'

17G5. By his wife, Elizabeth, only daughter and heiress of I

Alexander Sandilands, SLD., physician of the British hospi-
\

tal in Flanders, he had fom' sons. 1. James, ninth Lord
i

Torphiclien. 2. Hon. Alexander Sandilands, lieutenant in
|

the Royal Scots Greys, who died 20th November ISOG, in !

;

his 4Gth year, unmarried. 3. Hon. Walter Sandilands, who I

'

died voung. 4. Hon. Hugh Sandilands, lieutenant 7Sth foot. •

,

Accompanying his regiment to the East Indies, he was se-
|

verely wounded on board the Monarca, in the engagement [

between Sir Edward Hughes .and Admir.al de Suffrein, one of
j

the br.avest and most .skilful of the French naval command-

ers, 2d September 1782, and died the following month at
j

,

JLadras. 1

James, ninth Lord Torphiclien, born 15th November 1759, 1

'

was in his youth an officer in the 21st foot, or Royal Scots
j i

fusileers, in General Bnrgoyne's unfortunate expedition to
j

America, and was one of those who piled their arms at Sain-

tca in 1777, ill consequence of the convention concluded b)- '

Burgoyne with General Gates. r>eing exchanged, he had a i

company in the 24th foot in 1781, and a lieutenancy in the

Coldstream foot guards in 1787, in which regiment he h.ad a

company, with the r.ink of lieutenant- colonel, in 1793. He
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served under the duke of York in tlie campaign in Flanders

in 1793 and 1794, and retired from tbe service in 1795. He
was cliosen one of tlje 16 Scots representative peers in 1790,

and again in 179C, and died in 1815. He Ijad married Anne,

only surviving cliild and heiress of Sir Julin Inglis of Cra-

mond, baronet, but witliout issue. He was succeeded by liis

first cousin, James, only son of the Hon. Robert Sandilands.

This nobleman, 10th Lord Torpliiclien, born July 21, 1770,

married Nov. 3, 1806, llargaret Douglas, second daughter of

.lobn Stirling, Esq. of Kippendavie, and by lier, with one

daughter, JIary, Hon. Mrs. Ramsay of Barntou, he had three

sons. 1. Robert, master of Torphichen, born 3d Aug. 1807.

2. The Hon. and Rev. John S:>ndilands, M.A., rector of Cos-

ton, Leicestershire. 3. Hon. James Sandilands, at one period

captain in the 8th hussars. The 10th Lord Torphichen died

March 22, 1862, in his 92d year.

His eldest son, Robert, succeeded as 11th Lord Torphichen.

The family of Torphichen are heirs-general of the original

line of tbe house of Douglas.

The property belonging to the knights of St. John of Jeru-

salem in Scotland at tbe time of tbe creation of the title of

Lord Torphichen, comprised no less than eight baronies in

different counties, but tbe lands have been gradually sold till

little more remains than that portion in which the title is

vested, lying around and adjacent to the ancient preceptoiy

of tbe order.

The title of Lord St. John, lield by the preceptor of tlie

knights of that name in Scotland, entitled its holder to a seat

in parliament, and was possessed, without patent, in virtue

of tlie office, which was one of great power and importance.

The title of Lord Torphichen which replaced it, was gi"anted

by the charter of Queen Mary, dated January 24, 1563, which

is tlie only writing under which tbe Lords Torphichen were

entitled to sit and vote in the Scots parliament. The grantee

and his heirs and assigns acquired the newly erected barony

of Torphichen, with a right to all the immunities, privileges,

dignities, and pre-eminences vested formerly in the precep-

tors. Tbe title being thus conferred, without further crea-

tion, must be considered a territorial one.

Torrance, a surname derived from lands in the parish of

ICast Kilbride, Lanarkshire, formerly in possession of the

Hamiltons, but afterwards belonging to a family of the name
of Stuart. The Gaelic word Torran, tbe diminutive of Tor,

a mount or hill, is said to have been the origin of the name,

having been taken from a mound of earth, called the Tor,

situated about a quarter of a mile from the house of Torrance.

Trait,!., a surname supposed to be a corruption of Tyrrel,

the first of tbe name in this island having been said to have

come from the province of Tyrol in Germany. (AYsief's ffer-

aldry, vol. i. p. 212 ) The name is probably in some in-

stances but another form of tbe Noi'se Trail, from Trold, an

elf or fairy. In the reign of Robert IIL, a Scottish warrior,

named Hugh Traill, defeated an Knglish champion in single

combat at Jjerwick.

The Traills of Blebo were an old family in tbe parish of

Kemback, Fifeshire, which produced some eminent members.

Among the most distinguished was Walter Traill, who be-

came bishop of St. Andrews in 1385. He studied on tbe

continent, and was a doctor of the civil and canon law, and a

canon of St. Andrews. According to Fordun, he was "re-

ferendarius Papa3 Clementis septimi," and was attending that

pontiff at Avignon, when a vacancy in the see of St. An-

drews took place. So high was the opinion which Clement

bad of his learning and worth that, by his own iiuthority,

without any election, he appointed him to tbe bishopric, say-

ing to those be.side him : "This man deserveth better to be

pope than bishop ; the place is better provided than the per-

son," njeaning that he was an honour to the place, and not

the place to him. In 1390, he and the bishop of Glasgow

assisted at the funeral of Robert II., and the day following

he placed tbe crown on the head of Robert III. In 13S1, he

was sent ambassador to France, where he remained a year.

He is witness to a charter of King Robert IIL, confirming

former donations to the abbey of Paisley, 6th April, 1396.

He died in the year 1401, in the castle of St. Andrews, which

bad been rebuilt by him, and was buried, among his prede-

cessors, in the cathedral of that city, near the high altar,

with this inscription on his monument: " Hie fuit Ecclesia:

directa columna, fenestra lucida, thuribulum redolens, cam-

pana sonora."

It is stated by Nisbet (Heraklri/, vol. i. p. 212), that the

lands of Blebo were purchased by Bishop Traill, in the reign

of Robert III., and gifted by him to his nephew, Traill of

Blebo. Keith (^Caialoyue of Scottish Bishops, p. 26) and

other writers say that tbe bishop was the son of the laird of

Blebo. In tbe early part of the reign of Charles I., Blebo

was purchased by a gentleman of the name of Kay, but in

1649 it was sold to Mr. Andrew Betlmne, a son of Bethune

of Balfour, in possession of whose descendants it still remains.

Andrew Traill, a younger brother of tbe family of Blebo,

was a colonel in tbe Dutch service, in the w.ar of independ-

ence against Philip II. of Spain. When he quitted tbe Ne-

therlands his arrears of pay amounted to £2,700 sterling, for

which he had a bond from the city of Bniges and other towns

of Flanders. He afterwards served with distinction under the

king of Navaire in the civil wars of France. On his return

to Britain, he was made a gentleman of Prince Henry's privy

chamber. His son, James, had a small property in the par-

ish of Denino, where he lived. He endeavoured to recover tbe

sum due to bis father by tbe cities of Flanders, and upon a

petition to King James, he obtained a waiTant to arrest a

ship belonging to tbe city of Bruges at London, but through

the influence of the king's favourite, the duke of Bucking-

ham, was prevented from obtaining possession of her. He
never obtained any part of the debt due to his father, and he

was obliged to dispose of his estate in Denino. This James

had two sons, James and Robert.

Tbe younger son, Robert Traill, born at Denino in 1603,

was educated at St. Andrews. On the invitation of his bro-

ther, James, then in France, with a pupil, who was after-

wards Lord Brook in England, he went over to Paris, and

subsequently joined his brother in Orleans. He then went to

Sanmur, and entered the Protestant college there. He was

afterwards teacher in a school established by a Protestant

minister at Montagne, in Bas Poitou. In 1630 he returned

to Scotland. In 1639 he was ord.-dned minister at Elie, Fife-

sliire. In 1640, be was ordered to attend Lord Lindsay's

regiment at Newcastle for three months. In 1644 lie again

attended tbe army in England as chaplain, and was present

at the battle of Marston Moor. In 1649 he was translated

to the Greyfriars' church, Edinburgh. He was one of the

covenanting ministers who attended the marquis of Jlontrose

on the scaffold, at his execution in 1650. In 1G03 he was

banished from Scotland, being then sixty years of age, for

having read and expounded a portion of scripture to a few

friends in his own house. He retired to Holland, where he

died. A painting of him was, in 1857, placed in one of the

windows of Greyfriars' church, Edinburgh. He had three

sons and three daughters. The sons were 1. William, minis-
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tiT of liortliwicU, 2. Kulieit, iif whom a notice i'ollows in

larger tvpe, 3. J:iiiies, lieuteii;\iit of tlie garrison of Stirliiig.

Dr. Tliomns Stewart 'I'raill. professor of medical jurispru-

dence ill tlic universily of Ediiiburgli, born in Oct. 1781, at

Kirkwall, Oi kne}', was the son of the parish minister of that

place, lie studied at the university of Edinhurgh, and in 1801

took his degree of iM.D. In 1803 he settled at I.iverjiool as a

general practitioner, and soon rose to distinction in his pro-

fession. He was the intimate friend of Dr. Currie. author of

the 'Life of Burns.' In 1832 he was appointed professor of

metlical jurisprudence in tlie university of Edinburgh, and

held that chair for thirty years. He lectured frequently

on cl emistry and natural history in Liverpool, and in the

university, in the absence of the professors of both these

classes. He was a member of the lioyal Society of Edin-

j

burgli, and of various associations connected with mitural

history; author of ii snndl and comprehensive manual on

medical jurisiirudence, and editor of the eighth edition of

tlie Encyclopajdia liritannica, on which lie had been engaged

for ten years. He died at Edinburgh, July 30, 1802. He

had married, in 1811, a daughter of Dr. Henry liobeitson,

minister of Kiltearn, lioss-shire, and had two sons and three

daughters, of whom only 2 daughters survived him.

'J'Il.\ILL, JluBi;i:i', an ciniiu-nt (li\iiu' of tlie

Church of Scotland, .-^oii of luiliert 'rraill, minister

(f ( ireylriars, Kdiiilnn-gh, was liorn at Elie, Fife-

.vhire, in May 16-12, when his fatlier was minister

of iliat jilace (.see ])revious page). Ih; studied at

Ilie university of Juliubiirgli, and \\\n\c yet a stu-

dent, lie e\iueed his strong attachment to the

jirinciples and discijiliiie of the I'l-esbyteriaii

j

churcii by accompanying (iullii-ie. the mart\'r, to

i llie scaffold, on .Inue 1, Kiiil. In IC67 a procla-

maliou was issued for apprehending liim, in cousc-

(iueuce of wliicli he retired to Holland to his fatlier.

In 16G9 he was ordained by some Presbyterian

I
divines in JiOiidon, and appointed lo a charge at

j

C'ranbrook, Ivcut, where he preached fur several

years. In ]('i77 he visited Edinburgh, and during

his stay there, lie was aiipreheiided for privately

I

preaching, and brought before the privy council,

jj
On his examination he owned tliat he had ke]it

j|
liousc-coii veil tides, but declined to answer when

Ij
they asked liim if he liad held field-preachings also,

Ii peremptorily refusing lo reply upon oatli to any of

j' their questions that might affect his life, lie was

sentenced to imprisonment in the Ihiss, and after

!i being confined llier(^ for three mouths, he \\as in

j

October of the same year released by order of the

government. He then returned to Craubrook, but

was afterwards for many years pastor of a Scots

congregation in London, and at one time was col-

league with the llev. Xatlianiel ^Mather, in a

niceting-liouse in Lime Street in the city. He

\\ as a rigid Calviuist, and the author of several

theological works, chiedy sermons, which wera
j j

for a long time popular in Scotland. He survived 1

1

the Revolution, and saw the accession of the
j

house of Hanover to the throne. He died in ]\Iay
j

1716, aged 71. His son, also named Ilobei l, was i

minister of Panbride, Forfarshire, and was the fa-
j

tlicr of Dr. James Traill, wdio, conforming to the

Ciiurch of ICnglaud, was presented to the living J

of West Ham in ICssex, in 1702. Tiirec years
'

afterwards lie was consecrated bishop of Down

and Connor in Ireland, and dieil in Dublin in
j

1783.—I\Ir. Traill's works are :
j

How Ministers inay best win Souls. A Sermon.
!

Vindication of the Protestant Doctrine of Justification,

and of its first Preachers and Professor.s, from the unjust '

'

charge of Antinomianism. London, 1C!)2.

Thirteen Discourses on the Throne of Grace, from Heb.

iv. IG. |!

Sixteen Sermons on the I'rayer of our Saviour in John

.wii. 2i.
'

I

The following were left in manuscript, and juib-

li>hcd after his death.

Twenty-one Sermons on Steadfast Adherence to the Pro- •

fession of our Faith, from Heb. x. 23.

Eleven Sermons from 1 Peter i. 1

—

I.
j j

Six Sermons on Galatians ii. 21. >

\

His works were first collected and published at Glasgow in •

1 776, and in 1810 a more complete edition a]ipcarcd at Ed-
[

iiiliurgli in 4 vols. Svo, with a life prefixed.

Ten Sermons on Various Subjects, transcribed from family
|

manuscripts, and issued by the Cheap Publication Society of
'

the Tree Church of Scotland, in 181.5.
j

j

TIl.MN, JosEi'ii, a poet and antiquarian, the

friend and correspondent of Sir Walter Scott, was

born in tliC village of Sorn, Ayrsldre, in 1779.

About 1787 his parents, who wei-e in humble cir-
|

cumslances, removed to Ayr, -vvhere Joseph was
j

for a short time at school. His education was

very limited, as he was early jiiit to a mechanical I

occupation. Evincing, however, a decided taste '

for literature, all his leisure hours were devoted lo
!

reading and the improvement of his mind. In

1799 he was balloted (or the Ayrshire militia, and

served in its ranks till the spring of 1802, when,
!

owing to the peace of Amiens, the militia regi-

ments were disbanded. While stationed at Inver-
|

ness lie had become a subscriber for Currie's edi-

tion of Iiurus' works, imblished at Liverjiool in

1800, although the price was a guinea and a half.

Tiie colonel of his regiment, Sir David Blair, hap-
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peiiiiig to be in the shop of a bookseller in that

town, saw the work on the counter, and expressed

a wish to purchase it, but was informed, to his

great surprise, that it had already been subscribed

for by one of liis own men. Sir David asked the

name of the individual, and was so greatly pleased

tliat he gave orders to liave it bound in the best

style, and delivered to Train free of expense. He

did not content himself even with this, for on their

return to Ayr, he recommended him to the notice

of I\Ir. Hamilton of Pinmore, banker in that town,

who procured for him an agency for the extensive

manufacturing house of Messrs. James Finlay &
Co. of Glasgow. In 1808, through Sir David's

influence, backed by the recommendation of the

earl of Eglinton and David Boyle, afterwards

lord-justice-geueral of Scotland, then solicitor-

general, he obtained an appointment in the excise.

At first he was employed as a supernumerary,

and in 1810 was one of a number of assistant

officers sent to Perth, for the suppression of illicit

distillation, then carried on in that quarter to a

great extent. Here he drew up an Essay sug-

gesting certain salutary alterations in the working

of the excise statutes. It was not, however, till

1815, that he had an opportimitj' of bringing it

before the board, when meeting the approbation

not only of the board of excise but also of that of

customs, it was forwarded to the lords of the trea-

sury, and he had the satisfaction of seeing his

suggestions ultimately adopted.

In 1811, he was appointed to pennanent duty

at Largs, in his native county, a place full of

grand antiquities, where vestiges of cairns and tu-

muli abound, memorials of the battle fought there

between Haco, king of Norway, and Alexander

III. of Scotland, 2d October 1263. In 1813 he

was transferred to Newton Stewart, in Galloway,

where, as well as previously at Largs, he enjoyed

more than ordinary opportunities of prosecuting

those antiquarian researches to which the bent of

his mind had inclined him from his early youth.

In 1814, Mr. Train published at Edinburgh a

volume of poetry, entitled ' Strains of the Moun-

tain Muse,' consisting chiefly of metrical talcs, il-

lustrative of Galloway and Ayrshire traditions,

with notes. This work was the means of intro-

ducing him to the notice of Sir (then Mr.) Walter

Scott, whom he afterwards greatly assisted by

transmitting to him man}' of those legendary sto-

ries in which he delighted, and which he intro-

duced, in various forms, into his works. Having

seen the announcement of Mr. Train's volume

previous to publication, and obtained a perusal of

the sheets from the publisher, Mr. Scott wrote to

the author, subscribing for several copies, and on

the book being sent to him by Mr. Train, in ac-

knowledging receipt, he stated that he was not at

all acquainted with Galloway traditions and sto-

ries, aud would be much obliged by any commu-

nications from him on these subjects.

Among other traditionary pieces in Mr. Train's

volume was one entitled 'The Funeral of Sir

Archibald the AVicked,' meaning Sir Archibald

Kennedy of Dunure, ancestor of the earls of Cas-

sillis, a famous persecutor of the Covenanters, who

died in 1710. In the Notes to this poem was one

relating to another persecutor, Grierson of Lagg, on

which Scott founded his romance of Redgauntlet.

From his eagerness in collecting that traditionary

lore which was then scarcely sought after in Gal-

loway, Mr. Train soon obtained such a reputation

that, to use his own words, " even beggars, in the

hope of reward, came frequently from afar to

Newton Stewart, to recite old ballads and relate

old stories" to him.

When Sir Walter Scott was engaged in com-

posing his poem of 'The Lord of the Isles,' he

wrote to Mr. Train, thanking him for certain tra-

ditionary matter which he had sent to him, and

requesting some information regarding the state

of Turnberry castle, the ancient seat of the Bru-

ces. "With what success," says his biographer

in the Contemporaries of Burns, (Edinb., Paton,

1840,) "lilr. Train set about the necessary inqui-

ries, having undertaken a journey to the coast of

Ayrshire for the purpose, appears from the notes

appended to canto five of that magnificent poem,

wherein is given a description of Turnberry castle,

the landing of Piobert the Bruce, and of the hos-

pital founded by the deliverer of Scotland at

King's Case, near Prestwick. Through the kind-

ness of Mr. Hamilton of Pinmore, Mr. Train pro-

cured from Colonel Fullerton, one of the mazers, or

drinking horns, provided by the king for the use

of the lepers, which he transmitted to Sir Walter
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This iiitei'esting relic, iiuicli prized by tlie baronet,

was nmoiig the fii'st of (lie innii}' viihinhle aiili-

qnariiin remains .ifterwards presented to liim

—

tlie extensive collectiou of wliieli now forms one

of tlic cliii'f attractions at Abbotsford."

Provionsl}' to Ins correspondence w'lih Sir Wal-

ter Scott, lie liad, in conjnnction -with Captain

James Dcnniston, antlior of ' T.et^ends of Ciallo-

way,' formed the plan of writing a liisfoiy of an-

cient Galloway, and they had accnmnlated a larijc

amount of infdrnialion relative to the liistoi-y, an-

tiqnities, manners and customs of the former in-

liabitants of the district. Abandoning: the idea of

a separate publication, "Mv. 'JVain nlliniatcly fur-

warded the greater portion of the materials collect-

ed, in a difccsted form, to Sir ^^'alter Scott, to be

used by liim as sniteil his various publications.

Among other communications sent by liim was

the ballad on which the novel of ' Guy IVIanner-

ing' is fiumdcd, ^^•llich had been recovered by ]\ri-.

Train from the recitation of an old lady then

residing in Castle Douglas. In his researches

throughout Galloway, he discovered a great \ ai-i-

cty of curious reniair^s, and on his first visit to

Scott at Edinburgh in j\Iay 181G, lie took with

him, as a present to the hitter, an antique purse

or splenchan, at one time the pro]ierty of Rob

Roy, which he had ofitained indirectly from a de-

scendant of "the bold tmtlaw." It was dnring

this visit that Scott first heard from IMr. 'J'rain the

name of Old ]\[ortality, and received from him all

the ]iarticnlars (if that singular indi\ idnal that he

could then recollect, lie Mas sn much interested

in the details tliat he exacted a promise from his

\i.-itor that, on Ins i-eturn to Galloway, he would

send him all the infurniation he could collect con-

cerning him as wvW as relative to the Covenant-

ers. On the information thus obtained for liim

Scott founded his novel entitled Old ^Mortality.

In reference to this first interview with Sir Wal-

ter, ]\[r. T,ockliart says:—"To this intercourse

with ]\Ir. Ti ain we owe the \\ hole nuichinery of

the Tales of my Landloril, as \\c\\ as the adoption

of Claverhouse's ]ieriod for the scene of some of

its first fictions. I think it highly jirobable that

ue owe a farther obligalimi to the worthy super-

visor's presentation of Rob Roy's spkticJia/!.''

His name having been mentioned by Scott to

III,

Mr. Chalmers, author of Caledonia, while tlie lat-

ter was engaged in preparing the third volume of

that work for ]iublication, as a person able to as-

sist him ill the ancient history of Galloway and

Ayrshire, a corres])oudence was commenced be-

tween them, and j\Ir. Train contributed to his

great national work a sureinct account of the

Ivoinan Post on the " P.lack Water of Dee,"' near

New Galloway, a sketch and description of the

Roman camp at Rispain near AMiilhorn, and of

the lionian "\\'ay from the Doon of Tynron in

DnmlVies-shire, to the town of Ayr. In his In-

troduction, Mw Chalmers had stated that the Ro-

mans had never penetrateil into \\'igtowiisliii-e, l);it

in the third volnnie he took the opportunity of

correcting the mistake, and in a letter to 'Mr.

Train, dated "Office for Trade, AVliitehall, 2Uth

June 1818," he says, "You will enjoy the glory

of being the first who has traced the Roman foot-

ste])s so far westward into Wigtonsliire, and the

Roman Road from Dumfries-shire to Ayr town.

You have gone fiir beyond any correspondent of

mine in these parts." {Contemporaries of Ihirns,

p. 27(1.) lie also traced another vestige of anti-

quity in that quarter, called ' The Dcil's D3 ke,'

being an old -wall extending to nearly eight}'

miles, of which the builders, the age, and the ob-

ject are alike unknown.

In 1820, through the unwearied exertions of Sir

AValter Scott on his behalf, he was appointed su-

pervisor of excise, and removed to Cnpar-Fife,

where he had the charge of an extensive district.

In this new field for antiquarian inquiry, he was

successful in collecting some curious traditions re-

specting the famous crosses of IMacdnff and Mug-

di um, which lie sent to Sir Walter, who was so

much interested tliat the following summer he

visited the place, and soon after published his

drama of ' M'DutT's Cross.'

Mr. Train was next removed, for teni])orarv

duty, to Kirkintilloch, where he got possession of

several valuable Roman relics, a sword, a trijiod,

and a brass-]ilate, the hitter found in the ruins of

Castle Cary in 177."(. These he transmitted to

Abbotsford with an interesting account of the

image of St. Flanning, which, prior to the Refor-

mation, had adorned a chapel dedicated to that

saint, the ruins of wliich still stand a few miles

2 0
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from Kirkintilloch. In June 1822, lie was ap-

pointed to Queensferry, whence he also transmit-

ted several remains of antiqiiitj^ to Sir Walter,

with an amusing account of the annual " riding of

the marches" by the freemen of Linlithgow. At

Sir Walter's request, he collected information re-

specting the manners, customs, traditions, and

superstitions of the fishermen of Buckhaven, and

first gave him a description of the " Ilailly Hoo,"

a superstition alluded to in Quentin Durward.

After being about six months at Queensferry,

Mr. Train was, in consequence of the cessation of

the duty on salt, ordered in January 182.3, to Fal-

kirk. While in Edinburgh in the spring of 1826,

he related to Sir AValter Scott the story of a Fife-

shire ' Surgeon's daughter,' which suggested to

him the tale bearing that name in the ' Chronicles

of the Canongate.'

The last district to which Mr. Train was ap-

pointed was that of Castle Douglas, in the stew-

artry of Kirkcudbriglit, where for nine years lie

discharged his laborious duties as supervisor of

excise. For the edition of the Waverlcy novels,

published in 1829, he furnished much of the infor-

mation contained in the notes, and the assistance

thus rendered by liim was acknowledged by Sir

Walter in the different volumes. In November

of the same year, on the recommendation of Mr.

Skene of Eubislaw, Mr. Train was admitted an

honorary member of the Society of Scottish Anti-

quaries.

Having formed the design of writing a history

of the Isle of Man, in the course of his researches

for materials, he obtained possession of several

curious records, relative to the annals of the isl-

and, and was enabled to transmit to Sir Walter

Scott some interesting and little-known particu-

lars, which Avere dulj' made use of in Peveril of

the Peak.

After being twenty-eight j^ears in the service of

the excise, Mr. Train w.is placed on the retired

list iu 1836, and afterwards resided in a cottage

in the neighbourhood of Castle Douglas, pursuing

his literary studies to the last, and occasionally

contributing tales and poctiy to ' Chambers' Jour-

nal,' the 'Dumfries Magazine,' and other periodi-

cals. The last of his publications was ' The Buch-

anitcs from first to last.' He died 14tli December

1852, aged 74. He left several works, including

a ' History of the Isle of Man.' He had married

in 1803, Mary, eldest daughter of Mr. Robert

Wilson, gardener in Ayr, b}"^ whom he had five

children. His eldest son, William, became cashier

in the Southern Bank, Dumfries, and was after-

wards appointed one of the inspectors of the Na-

tional Provincial Bank of England. In the Col-

lected edition of the Waverlej' Novels and in

Loekhart's Life of Scott, there are several notices

of Mr. Train, to which and to his Life in the

' Contemporaries of Burns,' we have been indebt-

ed for the materials for this memoir.

His works are

:

Poetical Reveries. Glasgow, ISOG, 8vo.

Strains of the Jlountaiii Muse. Edinburgli, 1814, 8vo.

Historical and Statistical Account of tlie Isle of Man.

From tlie earliest times to tlie present date ; with a view ot

its ancient Laws, peculiar Customs and popular Superstitions.

Donglas, 1845, 2 vols. 8vo.

The Buch.anitcs from First to Last. EJin. 184 G, 12mo.

'I'raquair, Earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland,

conferred in 1G33, on Sir John Stuart, lord-high-treasurer oi

Scotland, the fifth in descent Irom James Stewart, a natural

son of tlie earl of Buchan, brother uterine of James IL and

the second son of Sir James Stewart, called the Black Knight

of Lorn, by Jane Beaufort, queen dowager of King James I.

James Stewart obtained from liis father an act of legitimation,

under the gi'eat seal, 20th February 1489, and a charter of

the lands of Traquair, Peebles-shire, to him and the heirs male

of liis body legitimately begotten. He fell at Flodden, 9th

September 1513. Having married the heiress of Rutherford,

and got with her the lands oi Kuthcrfbrd and Wells, Rox-

burghshire, he quartered the aims of Rutherford with his

own. His son, William Stewart of Traquair, had four sons.

1. I'obcrt, who succeeded to the family estates but died with-

out issue, 9th September 1548. 2. Sir John Stuart of Tra-

quair, wlio was knighted, 20th July 15G5, when Queen

Mary created Darnley duke of Albany, and the following

vear was appointed captain of her guards. He remained a

steady friend to that ill-fated queen, and was one of those

who entered into a bond of association to support aud defend

her rights, after her escape from Lochleven, in 15C8. He

was afterwards continued as captain of the king's guard. 3.

Sir William Stuart of Ti aquair, one of the gentlemen of the

bedchamber to James VI. and governor of Dumbarton castle

in 1582. This laird of Traquair was a courtier of King

James. At the meeting of the estates of parliament, 17th

January 1593, he was one of the commissioners appointed

" to convene in the Checker house," to consider as to the

payment of the king's debts. " as also touching his majesty's

visitation of the Isles" the following summer, " and needful

provisions to be made therefor." (JJalderioood, vol. v. p.

221.) At the baptism of Prince Henry in the chapel royal

of Stirling iu Augu.st 1594, the laird of Traqn.-iir officiated as

a"paile" bearer. In a convention held at Holyrood-house,

10th December 1598, he was present as one of the king's

privv council. He died, unmarried, 20th May, 1G05. 4.

James, who also possessed the Traquair estates, and died iu
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tlie bef;inning of ICOG. He had tvvo sons, namely, 1. John

Stuart, younger of Traquair, wlio predeceased liis father,

leaving by liis wife, Margaret, daughter of Andrew, master

of Ochiltree, an only son, Jolm, first earl of Traqnair. 2.

Sir Robert Stuart. He had also one daughter, Isobel, wife

of William Rutherford of Qnarrielioles.

John, first earl of Traquair, succeeded his grandfather in

IGOG. He :vas educated by him under Thomas Sydserf,

bishop of Galloway. After returning from his travels on the

continent, he was, in 1G21, elected commissiimer for Tweed-

dale in the Scots parliament. He was knighted by King

James VI., and sworn one of his privy council. On the ac-

cession of Charles I., he became a great favourite witll that

monarch, and was by him raised to the peerage by tlie title

of Lord Stuart of Traquair, 19th April, 1G28, to him and his

heirs male. He was appointed treasurer-depute in 1G30,

and an extr,iordinary lord of session lOtli November the same

year. When Charles I. visited Scotland in 1G33, he created

his lord.ship earl of Traquair, with the secondary titles of

Lord Linton .'md Cabcrston, by patent, dated at Holyrood,

23d June, ICS.'j, to him and his heirs male whatever, bearing

the name and arms of Stuart. In 1035, on the resignation of

the earl of Jlorton, he was appointed lord-high-treasurer,

and in March of that year he was chancellor of the jury on

I the trial of Lord Bahnerinoch, (see vol. i. p. 220,) when that

nobleman was found guilty of liaving published a seditious

I

libel, but as the sentence was unpopular, his lordship hast-

I

ened up to London, and obtained Bahnerinoch 's pardon from

the king. In 1G37, on tlie attempted introduction of the

I liturgy into Scotland, the earl of Traquair acted a very pro-

I minent part in carrying out the l;ing"s commands. In IJe-

I

cember of that year he was sent by the privy council to court,

to inform his majesty as to the state of parties. His advice

that the liturgy should be recalled was disregarded ; but in

consequence of giving it, lie was accused by the bishops of

being himself friendly to the Covenanters. Previous to going

to London he had expressed himself to the earl of Kotlies .-is

opposed to the liturgy, as thus related by that nobleman in

liis ' Relation of Aft'airs,' (p. 4.')) :
" The treasurer ( Traqmiii)

and Soutliesk meeting in Durie's house at their return from

Linlithgow, sent for Rothes on Friday, 8th December, at

night, Durie being present, when the treasurer spoke to

Rothes more freely than ever. Having never before shown

directly his own particular dislike of the service-book, he did

there declare he would rather lay down liis white staff than

practise it, and would write his mind freely to his majesty,

but did run much upon some satisfaction to the king's ma-

iesty's honour, by getting Kdinbnrgh submitted, either by

leg.'il pursuit or voluntary submission, and gave all vows and

oaths tliat he should bleed .sooner than any of them lo.se life

or blood, but only that the king might be righted in the eyes

of the world for the contemjit which .appeared to proceed

from this people to his authority." In the beginning of Teli-

ruarv 1G38, he returned to Kdinbnrgh, and was ininiediately

applied to by some of the leading nobles for information rela-

tive to the king's intentions and the measures to be proposed

by him, but he declined giving an answer till the meeting of

the privv council, which had been appointed to be lield at

I

Stirling on the 20th February. The I're.sbytcrians, however,

I

had alreadv received secret information respecting the real

j
character of his commission, and gre.it numbers of tlicin be-

I

gan to move towards Stirling, there to act as occasion might

I require. Resolving to publish the king's procl.-imation com-

j

manding obedience to the service-book and canons, before

they could assemble in sufficient force to prevent it. he hast-

ened hv night to that town l"or the purpose. His design,

however, had become Icnown, and when the ineinbeis of privy

council appeared in Stirling to publi.sh the proclamation,

they were met by Lords Home and Lindsay, who read a pro-

test, and afli.xed a copy of it on the market-cross, beside tliat

of the procl.'imation. On the 28th of the same month the

renewal of the National Covenant took place in Greyfriars

churchyard, Kdinburgh. The king in con.sequence ordered

the e.arls of Traquair, Roxburgh, and Lorn, to repair to Lon-

don without delay, to consult them as to the state of mat-

ters. In the memorable General As.sembly which met at

Glasgow in November IGoS, the commencement of that

" ten years' conflict" between the king and the people which

ended in the signal discomfiture of the unfortunate Charles,

the earl of Traquair was one of the .isscssors to the king's

commissioner, the marquis of Hamilton. On 22d JIarcli

1G39, he was obliged to deliver up Dalkeith house to the

Covenanters. It was then a roy.al palace, and contained a

quantity of ammunition and the regalia of Scotland. He
then went to meet Charles at York, but, on account of the

surrender of Dalkeith house, was but coldly received by the

king, and commanded to keep his chamber, until he should

account for it. After a short confinement he was sent to liie

borders to obtain recruits for the king's service. Li July of

the same year, he was mobbed by the rabble of Edinburgh,

and the white staff which, as the ensign of his oifice of trea-

surer, was carried before his coach, pulled out of his servant's

hand, and broken. On complaint of this being made to the

town council, all the redress which they offered him was to

bring him another white staff, so that it was said that the

affront to the king, in the per.son of his treasurer, was rated

at sixpence! After the p.acitication of Berwick the same

year, the earl was appointed the king's commissioner to the

General Assembly which met at Kdinburgh r2th August

IG.'iO, and rose on the SOtli. In this As.sembly, the proceed-

ings of the Glasgow Assembly were confirmed, episcopacy

abolished, the articles of Perth rescinded, and tlie coven.ant

ratified and ordered to be subscribed. This was accordingly

done by Traquair, both as commissioner and as an individual,

he being allowed, in his former capacity, to adject a particu-

lar declaration to his signature.

The day after the rising of the Assembly, as king's com-

missioner, he opened parliament in great state, this being

the last occasion, according to Sir James Balfour, on which

the ancient observances of the ruling were complied with.

The demands of the estates being incompatible with the in-

structions of the commissioner, the earl, whose conduct had

been deceptive throughout these memorable proceeding.s,

greatly to the indignation of the Covenanters, prorogued the

parliament from 30th October to IJtli November, and after-

wards, on receiving the king's command.s, continued tlie pro-

rogation till the 2d of the following June. On repairing to

London, he found himself coldly received at court, on account

of his having subscribed the covenant; but he justified him-

self on the ground of necessity, and maintained that coercive

measures, or a total compliar.ce with the wishes of the Scots

people, were inevitable. On his report, the former were re-

sorted to. As a pretext for war, a letter to the king was

produced by liiin, subscribed by seven of the chief nobility,

and addressed au lioi, in the style used to the king of France,

iniplnriiig his assistance. For this he was aftcnv.ards prose-

cuted as the grand incendiary. In the following session of

parliament an act was passed "anent leising makers of quliat-

somcver qualitic, office, place, or dignity," which concludes

that "all bad counsiUaris qulio, instead of geving his .Ma

:

ane trew and efifauld coun.saill, lies geven or will give infor-

matioiie and couiisaill to the evident pnjudice and mine of
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the liberties of tliis liirk and kingdome, suld be exemplarlie

judged and censured," and wliicli, according to Sir James

Balfour, " was purposelie made to catche Traquair," and otli-

ers, (^Balfour's Annals, vol. iii. p. 377). In 1611 lie was

impeached in parliament as an incendiaiy, but the king in-

tei-posed to save him from a capital punishment. Although

pardoned, he was deprived of the office of treasurer, and

obliged to find caution to conduct himself in such a quiet

manner as might best conduce to the peace of the kingdom,

under forfeiture of the pardon he had obtained. The king,

moreover, was forced to declare, in reference to him and the

other incendiaries, that he would not employ any of them in

offices or places of court or state without consent of parlia-

ment, nor grant them access to his person, whereby they

might interrupt or disturb the firm peace which h.ad been so

happily concluded. (Acts of Parliament, 5, 495.) In 1643,

Traquair was the bearer of a communication from the lords

of the royal party to Charles, then at Oxford, and while

there, he and a few other Scots lords signed a remonstrance,

testifying their abhorrence of the conjunction between the

Scots nation and the English parliament against the king.

In the following year his estate was sequestrated, and in con-

sequence of his having broken the conditions of his former

liberation, by repairing to the king's person and refusing to

take tlie covenant, he was declared .an enemy to religion, his

majesty's honour and the peace of the kingdom. His whole

moveable goods were ordered to be confiscated, and he him-

self to be farther pimished. To avert an entire forfeiture, his

son, Lord Linton, appeared on his belndf, and offered 40,000

merks as a testimony of his zeal and affection to the pub-

lic. This procured his pardon, with the condition that

he should confine himself within the counties of Roxburgh,

Selkirk, and Peebles, find caution to the extent of £100,000

Scots, that he should not repair to the king's person without

the consent of parliament, and farther, satisfy the church as

to subscribing the covenant. In 1645, he sent his son. Lord

Linton, with a troop of horse to join the marquis of Mon-

trose the day before the battle of I'hiliphaugh, but withdrew

them during the night, without acquainting Montrose, a cir-

cumstance which has led both Wishart and Guthry to sus-

pect that the earl of Traquair was the person who sent to the

camp of the covenanting general the secret information of

the low and inipaiied state of Montrose's army. In Novem-

ber 1046, Charles addressed the following letter on his behalf

to the earl of Lan.ark, the Scottish secretary of state: "Al-

beit I am confident that you will further all my friends'

affairs, yet I must not be negligent in Traquair's behalf as

not to name his business to you, for admitting him to his

place in parliament, of which I will say no more, but you

know his sufi'erlngs for me, and this is particularly recom-

mended to you by your most assured, real, constant friend,

Charles R." The effect of this letter was soon seen. On the

26th of the following month an act was p.assed in his favour,

of which, however, the title only remains, and, in the subse-

quent month of JIarch, he was appointed a member of the

committee of estates. In 1648 the earl of Traquair raised a

troop of horse for the ' Engagement,' to attempt the rescue of

Charles, and, with hi.s son. Lord Linton, was taken prisoner

at the battle of Preston. He was sent, under a strong

guard, to Warwick castle, where he was confined for four

years, his estates being, in the meantime, sequestrated. On
being set at liberty by Cromwell, he returned to Scotland,

and for the remainder of his days, lived in great obscurity

and poverty. lie died, suddenly, 27th March ]0o9. The

subjoined portrait of the first earl of Traquair is taken from

an engi'aving of him m Smith's Iconographia Scotica :

He was the author id' a 'I.elter lo I'alher Pi.iiiiis." London,

1641, 4to. Not having suffered attainder, his titles and

estates descended to his son. It was the first earl of Tra-

quair who employed the daring mosstrooper, Willie Arm-

strong, called Christy's Will, to kidnap Lord Durie, lord-

president of the court of session, in the manner related in the

life of that judge. (See Gibson, Sir Alexander, vol. ii.

page 297.) By his countess. Lady Catherine Carnegie,

third daughter of the first earl of Soutliesk, he had, with

four daughters, one son, John, Lord Linton, second earl of

Traquair. The latter, born in 1622, died in April 1660, in

his 44th year. He was twice married, but had issue only by

his second wife, Lady Ann Setnn, second daughter of the

second earl of Wintoun, four sons and three daughters. The

eldest son, William, third earl of Traquair, died unmarried,

and his next brother, George, having predeceased his father,

was succeeded by the third son, Charles, fourth e.arl of Tra-

quair. This noblenuin died loth June 1741, in his 82d

year. By his countess. Lady Mary Maxwell, only daughter

of the fourth earl of Nithsdale, he had two sons, Charles,

fifth earl, and John, sixth earl of Traquair, and six daugh-

ter.s. The third daughter. Lady Maiy. married John Drum-

mond, styled duke of Perth. The fourth daughter, Lady

Catherine, was countess of Nithsdale. On the two youngest

daughters. Ladies Barb.-ira and Margaret Stuai t, who were

twins, Dr. Pitcairn wrote Latin verses, " In Barbaram et Mar-

garitam Caroli Stuarti Comites de Traquair filias gemellas."

The 6th eari died .at Paris, March 2.S, 1779, in his 81st year,

and was succeeded by his only son, Charles, 7th eari. The

latter married Mary, daughter and coheiress of George Ra-

venscroft, Esq. of Wickham, Lincolnshire, and had a son and

a daughter. He died in 1827.

The son, Charles, 8th eari of Traquair, was born in 17S1,

and his sister. Lady Louisa, in 1776; both unmarried. The

earl died Aug. 2, 1861, in his 8Ist year. Tlie title is dor-

mant. This fttmily were Roman Catholics.
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Tliorxici:, the burii.iiiie of a border chiii, the head of wliicli

appears to liave been Trotter of Preiitaiiiiaii, Berwicksliire.

On the failure of the direct male line of that family, and of

the old foraying border clan of the name, the representatives

of the Trotters of I'reiitannan are considered to be the family

of Trotter, situated in Galloway, as beiiii; the nearest col-

lateral branch, allhouj;li the estates went, with an lieiress, by

niarri.-ige, into another I'aniily.

The origin of the name of Trotter is uncertain. The ori-

ginal name is said to Lave been GilTord, and tradition states

that a brother of I.ord Gilford having been summoned to the

ciiurt of James III., made such haste, on a hard-trotliug

liorse, that he was there much sooner than was expected, on

which he got the surjiame of Trotter. There were, however,

persons of the name in Scotland before the time of James

111. S(jme say that the name was derived from one of the

ducal family of Trotti in Italy, who settled in Scotland in

the time of Malcolm III., while others assert that it is of

Celtic origin, being compounded of the words, Truhdh ard,

bestowed, on account of some warlike achievement, on the

founder of the family. But all this is mere conjecture, and

it is impossible to put faith in any of the received stories as

to the derivation of the name.

The first of the name mentioned in authentic records is

Robert Ti'ottcr, who owned some houses in Winchester, in

the lime of Edward the Confess<ir. Another is mentioned

temp. Henry II. of England. What lime they settled in

Scotland is not certainly known. From Moiujpcnnij's Chro-

nicle we find that the Trotters were a riding or foraying bor-

der clan, so called in contradistinction to the head or chief

clans, such as the Johnstones, Maxwells, Homes, &c. They

were under L(n-d Home, which their position in the centre of

tlie Merse would lead one to presuppose. The cliiel of the

family w;is slain at Elodden.

In Nisbet's Heraldry (vol. i. p. 323) mention is made of

the Kev. Alexander Trotter, minister of Edrom, Berwick-

shire, as a descendant of the Prentannan family. He was a

son of Capt. Alexander Trotter, who fuught under Dundee at

Killiecrankie, a younger son of the laird of Prentannan. lie

married the eldest daughter of Walter Tulliedelph, M.U.,

and sister of Lady Ogilvy of Inverquliarity.

His eldest son, the Kev. Robert Trotter, A.M., rector of

the grammar school, Dumfrie.-;, in 1742, was the author of a

Latin grammar, long in use in the soutli of Scotland, and a

Life of Christ and the Twelve Apostles, and other works, also

in Latin.

The eldest son of this gentleman, Dr. John Trotter, was a

surgeon at Tynron, Dumfries-shire, in 1745, when some of

Prince Charles Edward's sick were intrusted to his cire, dur-

ing his retreat from ICngland. These he concealed and pro-

tected until after Culloden. Tiie prince promised him

knighthood should lie obtain his own again.

His eldest son, Dr. Robert Trotter, a surgeon at Xew Gal-

loway, in the Glenkens,' for upwards of oO years, wrote

several poetical [deces, and was celebrated in liis day as the

discoverer, in 1770, of the remedy whereby the loathsome

disease called the yaws, once the scourge of Europe, has been

almost completely eradicated. He was acquainted willi the

poet Burns, and for refusing to doctor the lapdog. Echo, on

which Burns very unwillingly wrote the Elegy given in his

work.s, he was discontinued for a time as medical attendant

to the family of Kenmure. He died in 1815. His eldest

daughter, Isabella Trotter, was authoress of two published

works, 'family Memoirs,' Dumfries, 1822, 'The Eour Glen-

kens Ministers,' a tale, published in the Dumfries .Magazine

and republished in Nicholson's Galloway Tales, 1840.

His eldest son was Dr. James Trotter, surgei.n, Worsley-
ilills, near Manchester, who died willmut issue. His 2d
son. Dr. Robert Trotter, suigcon, of New Galloway and
Auchencairn, KirkcuJbright.-liire, was author of 'Traditional

Tales of Galloway,' Edinburgh, 1SI5; ' Derwentwatcr, a

Tale,' 1820, with an Appendix, contaiinng Genealogical

notices of some of the princij.ai families in Galloway, fur-

nished principally by themselves; 'Herbert Henies, a Tale

of Dundreiman Abbey,' ICdinburgh, 1825, and various contri-

butions to the Dumfries JIagazine, Castle Douglas Jliscel-

lany, and various newspapers, some of which were copied

into the Scottish Journal of Antiquities. He married JIaria

JIaxwell, descended from the Maxwells of Nithsdale, and h.id

1. Robert, surgeon, Birkenhead. 2. Alexander, JI.D., Blytli,

Northumberland, and three other sons.

There ajipears to have been three principal families of the

name in the Jlerse, viz.. Trotter of Prentannan, Trdter of

Charterhall, and Trotter of Cutchelraw. Of the two latter.

Trotter of Mortonhall is the representative. There are

numerous families of the name in Northumbeiland and Dur-
ham, without doubt descendants of the same border clan, as

they bear the arms used by the oldest fanulics of the name.

The progenitor of Trotter of .Mortonhall, Mid Lotliian, was
Thomas Trotter, temp. Kings Robert II. and III., proprietor

of the lauds of EouKsliaw, Cutchelraw, Kilnhill, and others,

Berwickshire. He died temp. James I.

His eldest son, William Trotter of Cutchelraw, was one of

the captains for keeping the peace on the borders in 1437

and 1450. He married Isabella, daughter of Trotter of

Prentannan, a cousin of his own, and got with her estates in

Fogo and neighbouring parishes, which the family still re-

tain.s. He died in the beginning of the reign of James III.

His son, Thonnis Trotter of Cutchelraw, m. in 1490, Jean,

daughter of Hepburn of Wauchton, and had a son, Robert,

born in 1518, who succeeded him. Robert had 3 sons, 1.

Thomas, 2. Robert, 3. William, burgess, guild-brother and

treasurer of the city of Edinburgh.

The elde.-t son, Tliomas Trotter of Cutchelraw, had also

3 sons, of whom tlie second, John, was the first of the family

of Mortonhall. Born in 1553, he was bred a merchant and

acquired a large estate, particularly Jlortonlndl, wliich thence

became the chief title of the family. He m. Janet, eldest

daughter of David JIac.Math of MacMath, Dumfries-shire,

and had 5 sons and 4 daughters. He was a failhful adherent

of Charles I., and died in 1G41, aged 81.

His eldest son, John Trotter, 2d of Mortonhall, also a loyal

cavalier, was fined X500 sterling by the Scots Estates in

IG45, for assisting the marquis of Montrose. Hedied in 1C51.

Thomas Trotter, 7th of Jlortonhall, who died in 179.'>,

had, with G daughters, 3 sons, John and Henry, the two

elder, who both succeeded to the estate, died without issue,

John in 180), and Henry in 1838.

Alexander, the 3d son, a lieutenant-general, m., in 1793,

Margaret Catherine, daughter of Richard Eisber, Esq. of

Lovetts, Mid Lothian, and died in 1825. He had 2 sons

and 2 daughters. Sons, 1. Richard, who succeeded liis uncle

Henry in Mortonh:dl. 2, Thoma.«, lieutenant 2d dragoons,

killed at Waterloo in 1815. Daughters, 1. Margaret Richard

Fisher, m., in 1813, Lord Cunninghame, a lord of session.

2. Joanna, m., in 1838, Rev. John Morrell MacKenzie, A.M.

Richard Trotter, 10th of Mortonhall, Convener of Mid

Lothian, born in 1797, m. Mary, daughter of General Sir John

Oswald, G.C.B., of Dunnilcier, issue, 2 sons. 1. Henry, born

in 1844. 2. John Oswald, born in 1849, and 3 daughters.
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The Trotters of Drytien and Busli, Jlid Lothian, are

descended from Archibald Trotter, 2d son of Alexander

Trotter of Custleshiels, who succeeded his father in 1693.

Archibald m., in 1748, Jean, daughter and heiress of Robert

Jloubray, Esq. of Bush and Castlelaw, grandson of Robert

Moubray, Esq. of Cockairny, and had, with 1 daughter, 4 sons.

1. Robert. 2. Alexander, of Dreghorn. 3. .John, of Dyrham

Parle, Herts. 4. Sir Coutts, of Westville, Lincolnshire, created

a baronet in 18"21, grandfather of Sir Coutts Lindsay, Bart.

Tlie eldest sun, Robert, of liusli and Castlelaw, was postmas-

ter-general for Scotland, and died in 1807. He had, with 2

daughters, 2 sons, John, and Archibald, of Dryden.

The elder son, John Trotter of Bnsh and Castlelaw, born

in 1788, died, without issue, Nov. 13, 18n2.

His brother, Archibald Trotter of Dryden, born in 1789,

succeeded him. Appointed to the Bengal civil service in 1806,

he retired in 1810 ; twice married, witli issue by both wives.

Alexander Trotter of Dreghorn, above mentioned, bom in

1755, died in 1812. He had 5 sons and 1 daughter. Ai-chi-

bald Trotter of Dreghorn, his eldest son, born in 1799, died

Oct. 26, 1844. He m. Louisa Jane, youngest daughter of

James Strange, Jlauras civil service, and Ann, daughter of

1st Viscount Jlelville; issue, 5 sons and 3 daughters. Coutts

Trotter of Dreghorn, the eldest son, was born April 9, 1831,

and in 1854 was appointed to the Bengal civil service. His

next brother, James Stuart, R.N., was born in 1839.

Tlie Trotters of Ballindean, Perthshire, belong to an Edin-

bua'gli family, three of whom were merchants and burgesses

of that city.

William Trotter, born in 1772, was, in 1826 and 1827,

lord-provost of Edinburgh. He m., in 1801, his cousin, St.

Clair Stuart, dr. of Robert Knox, Esq., physician, London;

issue, 4 sons and 3 drs.

Robert Knox Trotter of Ballindean, the eldest son, entered

when young into the 17th regiment of Lancers, in which he

rose to the rank of captain. He m., in 1833, Hon. JLiry

Rollo, eldest dr. of fth Lord Rollo, with issue.

Tno.MAS Tkottek, JI.D., at one time physician to the

Channel Fleet, a native of Roxburghshire, was educated at

the university of Edinburgh. In 1782, while still very young,

he was appointed surgeon in the royal navy, and was the first

member of his corps who was obliged to seek employment in

the African trade. In 1785, he settled at a small town in

Northumberland; and in 1788 he obtained liis doctor's de-

gree at Edinburgh. In 1789, by the friendship of Admiral

Roddam, he was appointed surgeon of his flag-ship. In 1790

he published a ' Review of the Medical Department of the

British Navy ;' in 1793 he w.as appointed physician of the Royal

Hospital at Portsmouth, and in 1794 physician to the Fleet.

The improvement of the medical discipline of the navy,

both as regards the care of the men's health and the advance-

ment of the medical officers, was early attended to by Dr.

Trotter, and the many marks of respect which he received,

from both officers .md seamen, alford satisfactory evidence of

the advantageous nature of the changes which he effected.

After a long and laborious .attendance on his duties in the

fleet, he retired with a pension of £200 a-year, and, settling

at Newcastle, practised there for many ye.ars with great re-

putation, occasionally amusing himself with poetry, and other

elegant literary pursuits. His professional works deservedly

rank high. He died Sept. 5th, 1832. His works .are:

Ob.servations on the Scurvy. Edin. 1785, 8vo. 2d edit,

enlarged. 1792, 8vo.

I
De Ebrietate ejusque Ell'ectibus in Corpus Humanum.

1788, 4to.

A Review of the Medical Department in the British Navy;
with a Method of Reform proposed. Lond. 1790, 8vo.

Jledical and Chemical Essays
;
containing addition.al Ob-

servations on Scurvy, with Cases and Miscellaneous Facts, in

Reply to Dr. Beddoes and others ; Case and Dissection of a

Blue Boy ; Communications from New South Wales on Scur-

vy ; on preserving Water pure and sweet in Long Voyages,

&e. Lond. 1795, 8vo. 2d edit. 1796, 8vo.

Medica Nautica; an Essay on the Diseases of Seamen,

comprehending the History of He.alth in his Majesty's Fleet,

under the command of Richard, Earl Howe, Admiral. Lon-

don, 1797, 8vo; vol. ii. 1799, 8vo; vol. iii. comprehending

the Health of the Channel Fleet for the years 1799, 1800,

and 1801. Lond. 1803, Svo.

Suspiria Oceani ; a Monody on the late Earl Howe. Lond.

1800, 4to.

An Essay, Medical, Philosophical and Chemical, on Drunk-

enness, and its Effects on the Human Body. Lond. 1804,

Svo. 4th edit. 1812 ; translated from De Ebrietate, &c.

A Proposal for destroying the Fire and Choak Damps of

Coal Mines; and their Production explained on the Princi-

ples of Jlodern Chemistry ; addressed to the Owners and

Agents of Coal-works. Lond. 1805, 8vo.

A second Address to the Owners and Agents of Coal-

Mines, on destroying the Fire .md Cho.ak D.amp, in confuta-

tion of two Pamphlets lately circulated in the neighbourhood

of Newcastle. Lond. 1806, Svo.

A View of the Nervous Temperament
;
being a Practical

Inquiiy into the increasing Prevalence, Preventions and

Treatment of those Diseases commonly called Nervous, Bil-

ious, Stomach and Liver Complaints, Indigestion, Low Spir-

its, Gout, &c. Lond. 1807, Svo. 2d edit. 1808, 8vo. 3d

edit. 1812, Svo.

The Noble Foundling; or, the Hermit of the Tweed; a

Tragedy. Lond. 1812, Svo.

Also many contributions to the Medical Journal, the Eu-
ropean Magazine, and other periodical works.

TuLLiBAr.DiNE, Earl of, a title, now merged in the dukedom

of Athol, conferred, 10th July 1606, on Sir John Mm-ray, Lord

JIurray of Tullibardine. His son, William, second earl of TuUi-
(

bardine, resigned his earldom into the hands of King Charles I., I

1st April 1626, that it might be transferred to his brother, Sir !

Patrick Murr.ay, as his son enjoyed the earldom of Athol.

(See vol. i. p. 165.) This Sir Patrick Murray was the third

son of the first earl of Tullibardine, and on his brother's re-

signation, he was created earl of Tullibardine and Lord Mur-

ray of Cask, 13th January 1629, to him and his heirs m.ale

whatsoever. By his wife, an English lady, the widow of

Sir Francis Vere, he had two sons, James, fourth earl of

Tullibardine, and the Hon. William JIurr.ay of Redcastle, of

whom afterwards.

The fourth earl succeeded liis father in 1643. He took an

active part with the parliament against the king, and did not

scruple, it is said, to sacrifice his brother, who had taken

arms for the royal cause. In January 1647 he opposed the

delivering up of Charles I. to the English by the Scots army.

In 1654 he was fined £1,500 by Cromwell's act of gr.ace and

pardon. He died in .January 1070, without issue. His titles

devolved on John earl of Athol, whose son, John Lord Jlur- ;

ray, was created carl of Tullibardine for life, 27th July 1096.
|

The earl's brothei', the Hon. William JIurray of Redcastle,

a young man of firm loyalty, joined the marquis of i\Ion-

trose, and was, with several other noblemen and gentlemen,
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tiilccii prisoner at tlie battle of Philipliaui;li. The cninmittec

of estates liaving been urged by a deputation from tlie cburcli

to proceed to tlic punishment of the prisoners, tlie deputa-

tion, according to Guthry, (^^femoirs, \i. 104,) reported that

some of the lords of the committee sliglited the desire of tlie

committee of the kirk, and they were likely to have obtained

Tiothing had not the earl of Tullibardine made a speech to

tills effect: "that because lie liad ,i brother among those

men, it might be that their lordships so valued his concur-

rence with them in the good cause, that for respect of him

they were the more loth to resolve upon the question. But

that ns for himself, since that young man had joined with

that wicked crew, he did not esteem him his brother, and

therefore declared that he v.'ould take it for no favour if upon

that account any indulgence was granted him." The prison-

ers were in consequence brought to trial, and amongst the

rest, Jlr. Murray was condemned, under an act passed the

preceding year, declaring that all persons who, after h.aving

subscribed the covenant, withdrew from it, should be held

guilty of high treason. From the following entries in Bal-

four's Annals, (vol. iii. pp. oG2, 3G3,) it wonld appear

that, notwithstanding his fratricidal speech, Lord Tulli-

bardine exerted himself to save his brother's life :
" 17th Jan-

uary 1G4G. The carl of Tulliebardine humbly petitions the

House that they would be pleased to pardon liis brother,

William Murray's life, in respect he averred on his honour

that he was non compos mentis, as .also within age." " 19th

January IG-IG. The earl of Tulliebardine again this d.iy

gave in .i humble petition to the House for prolonging the

e.xecution of that sentence pronounced against his brother."

His intercession, however, came too late, as his brother was

soon after executed at St. Andrews, on the 23d of the same

month. " The case of this unfortunate young man," s.iys

Browne, (Jlistorij of the Ilighlands, vol. i. p. 437,) "excited

a strong feeling of regret among tlic Covenanters themselves,

and some writers have not scrupled to blame the earl as the

cause of his death, that he might succeed to his patrimony.

Some countenance is aflbrded to this conjecture from the

circumstance that the earl not only made no exertions to

save his brother from condemnation, but that he even ab-

sented himself from parliament the day that his brother's

case came to be discussed, when, by his presence or his vote,

he might have saved his brother's life. Nor is this supposi-

tion, it is contended, in any sh.ape weakened by the attempt

lie afterwards made to get ofl' his brother; for he must liave

known that the parliament had gone too far to retract, and

could not, without haying itself open to the charge of the

grossest partiality, reprieve Mr. Murray, and allow their sen-

tence to be carried into execution against the other prisoners.

If true, however, that he delivered the speedi imputed to

)iini, there can be no doubt of his being a participator in the

death of his brother, but it would be hard to condemn him

on such questionable authority." Mr. Murr.ay's last words

on the scaffold were: "I hope, my countrymen, you will

reckon that the house of Tullibardine, ami the whole family

of .Murray, have this day :icquired a new and no small addi-

tion of honour; that a young man, descended of that ancient

race, has, tliongh innocent, and in the flower of his age, willi

the greatest readiness and cheerfulness, delivered up his life

for his king, the father of his country, and the mo.st munifi-

cent patron and benefactor of that family from which ho is

sprung. Let not my hono\u'ed mother, niy dearest sisters,

mv kindred or my friends, lament the shortness of my life,

seeing that it is abundantly recompensed liy the honour of

my death. Pray for my soul, and God be with you."

Tui.i.ii!.\RDiN K, Marquis of, since 1703, one of the titles

possessed by the duke of Atliol.

TuKNBULi., the surname of a border clan, whose posses-

sions were in Roxburghshire. The chief of the family of I

Turnbull—a branch of the very ancient family of Rule—had
j (

his ))riiicipal residence at Bedrule castle in that county. I

!

The name Turnbull is s.-iid to liave been first acquired by a |
|

brawny and gigantic borderer, on account of his having saved
|

j

King Robert the Bruce from being gored to death by a wild
j

j

bull which had overthrown him while he was liunting. The
j

I

fate of this man was remarkable. Just previous to the bat-
|

]

tie of Halidon-hill, 19th July 1333, attended by a large mas- 1

1

tif)', he approached the English army, and challenged any
| |

person in it to come forth and fight hiin in single combat.
j

His ch.allenge was accepted by Sir Robert Benhale, a young
|

Norfolk knight, who w.as inferior to Turnbull in stature, but
j

possessed great bodily strength and an eminent degree of

soldierly skill and clevernes.s. Benhale was first met by the

mastifl', but he fetched it such a cleaving blow upon its loins

as to separate its hinder legs from its body. He then en-

countered Turnbull, eluded his .assaults and thrust-s, and

cut off first his left iirm and then his head.

TURNBULL, AVilliam, bisliop of Glasgow,

the founder of the university of that city, was de- \

scciuied from tlie Turnbulls of Minto, in Rox-

burghsliirc, and was born in the early part of the

fifteenth century. After entering into orders, he

was, in 1440, apjjiiinted prebend of Balcnrick,
|

with wliicli dignity tlie lordship of Prcvan was !

connected; and in 144.5 was preferred to be sec-
|

retaiy and keeper of the privy seal of Scotland.
|

Soon after he was created doctor of laws, and
j

made archdeacon of St. Andrews. In 1447 he

was promoted to tlie bisliopric of Glasgow, and
|

consecrated in 1418. With the view of erecting a
j

university in that cit}-, lie procured from the Pope
'

a bull for the puqiose, in January 1450, and the
i

university was established in the following year.
j

He died at Rome, September 3, 1454. i

TURNBULL, Dit. Willia.ai, an eminent pliy-
|

sician, was born at Hawick in 1729. After re- 1

ceiving tlie rudiments of his education at the -

j

grammar school of that town, he removed to the
j

university of Edinburgh, where he studied the
j

several branches of poilosoph}' and medicine. In
j

j

1777 he repaired to London, and having previous- '

\

ly obtained the degree of ]M.D. from the univer-

sity of Glasgow, was chosen pli3\sician to the i

eastern dispensaiy. lie furnished the medical
j

and anatomical articles for a 'Dictionary of Arts

and Sciences,' by the Rev. Erasmus Middleton i

j

and others, published in 1770. Tie died May
|

i

29, 1796.
i

I
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TwEEDDALK, Jlaiquis of, a title in the peerage of Scot-

land, conferred in 169-1: on John Hay, earl of Tweeddale,

descended from Robert, second and younger son of William

de Haya, who held the office of pincerna domini regis, or

king's butler, in the reigns of JIalcohn IV. and William the

Lion. (For the origin of the surname of Hay, see vol. ii. p.

141.) Kobert's son, Sir William de Haya, witnessed a char-

ter of King Alexander II. to the abbot and monks of Kelso

in 1240. He was Hulier of Sir John de Haya, who acquired

the lands of Locherworth, Mid Lothian, by marriage. His

son. Sir William de Haya of Locherworth, appeared in the

parliament at Brigliam, 12tli March 1290, when the marriage

of the Princess Wargai-et of Scotland and Prince Edward of

England was proposed. In the contest for the crown, he

was one of the nominees on the part of Brace the competitor

in 1292. In July of the latter year he swore fealty to King

Edward I., and also submitted to that monarch in 1297.

Sir William's son, Sir Gilbert, swore fealty to the English

king in 1296. By his marriage with Mary, one of the daugh-

ters and colieiresses of that distinguished patriot. Sir Simon

Eraser of Oliver castle, executed by lidward I. in 1300, he ac-

quired considerable lands in the county of Peebles, and quar-

tered the Eraser arms with Iiis own. His grandson, Sir

William de Haya of Locherworth, was made prisoner at the

battle of Durh.am, 17th October 1346. In Dalrymple's An-

nals, (vol. ii. p. 108,) he is said to have been among the

killed in that battle; but this is incoiTect, as he was one of

the commissioners to treat concerning the ransom of Kiiig

David II. in 1354. His son. Sir Thomas Hay, was one of

the hostages for the liberation of that monarch, 3d October,

1357, and was placed in the custody of the sheriff of North-

umberland. He got leave from Edward to go to Home, IGth

May 13G9. He afterwards returned home, and in 1385 had

400 of the 40,000 francs sent by the king of Erance with

John de Vienne to be distributed among the principal per-

sons of Scotland. His son. Sir William Hay, sheriff of Pee-

bles, was twice a commissioner to treat with the English.

He mairied, first, Johanna, eldest daugliter of Hugh Gifford

of Tester, Haddingtonshire, with whom he got the manor of

Tester, with the patronage of the church. Originally called

St. Bathan's, and afterwards Tester, the church was in 1421

restored to its own name, and converted by Sir William into

a collegiate establishment for a provost, six prebendaries, and

two singing boys, which it continued to be until the Refor-

mation. In consequence of this marriage, Sir William add-

ed the arms of Gifford to his own. He m.anied, secondly,

Alicia, daughter of Sir Thomas Hay of Errol, and had issue

by both wives; by the first, three sons and three daughters;

and by the second, a son and a daughter. The eldest son.

Sir William Hay, predeceased his father. The second son,

Sir Thomas Hay of Tester, was one of the hostages for King

James I., 4th December 1423, when his annua! revenue was

estimated at 600 merks, and again 16th July 1425. He

died without issue, in 1432. The third son succeeded his

brother. The youngest son, Ednumd de Hay, was ancestor

of the Hays of Barra, Rannes, Mountbhiiry, Cocklaw, Faich-

iield, Raiifield, Linplum, Alderston, Jlordington, and other

families of the name.

Sir David Hay of Tester, the third but eldest surviving

son, married Lady JIary Douglas, relict of the first Lord

Forbes, only dimghter of George, first earl of Angus, of that

house, by Mary, daughter of King Robert III., and Imd two

sons and a daughter. John Hay of Tester, the elder son.

was created a peer, by solemn investiture in parliament, by

the title of Lord Hay of Tester, 29th January, 1487-8. He

was twice married
;

first, to i\Iary, daughter of John, Lord

FIRST EARL OF.

Lindsay of Byres, by whom he had a son, John, second Lord

Tester; and, secondly, to Elizabeth, daughter of George

Cunningham, son of Sir William Cunningham of Belton, by

whom he had two sons and two daughters. John, second

Lord Tester, fell at the battle of Flodden, 9th September

1513, leaving three sons and three daughters. The sons

were, John, third Lord Tester
;
George Hay of Oliver castle ;

and William, ancestor of the Hays of ilonkton. John, third

Lord Tester, signed the letter to Henry VIII. refusing to re-

move the duke of Albany from the guardianship of King

James V., 4th July 1516. He set his seal to a treaty with

England, 7th October 1517, and died in 1543. He was

twice married
;

first, to Elizabeth Douglas, sister of Archi-

bald, sixth earl of Angus, by whom he had a son, John,

fourth Lord Tester, and a daughter, Elizabeth, Lady Seton

;

and, secondly, to the daughter and sole heiress of Dickson of

Smithfield, Peebles-shire, and had by her a son, John, ances-

tor of the family of Hay of Smithfield and Haystoun, baron-

et, and a daughter, Jane, wife of Broun of Coalstoun. John,

fourth Lord Tester, was taken prisoner by the English at

the battle of Pinkie, 10th September 1547, and sent to the

Tower of London, where he remained till peace was con-

cluded, when he w.as released. He died in 1557. By his

wife, Mai-garet, eldest daughter of the fourth earl of Living-

stone, he had two sons : William, fifth Lord Tester, and

Thomas, provost of St. Bathan's, and a daughter, JIary,

Mrs. Congnlton of CongaUon.

William, fifth Lord Tester, joined the Reformation, and

was one of the noblemen who subscribed the Book of Di.'-ci-

pline, in the Tolbooth of Edinburgh, 27th January 1561.

He adhered to Queen JIary, and was present with her forces

at Carberry Hill in 1567. He was also on the queen's side

at the battle of Langside in the following year. In 1570 he

was one of the noblemen who signed a letter to Queen Eli-

zabeth in behalf of Queen Mary, then a captive in England.

He died in August 1576. By his wife, JIargaret, daughter

of Sir John Ken- of Fernihirst, he had, with four daughters,

two sons : William, sixth Lord Tester, and James, seventh

Lord Tester.

William, sixth Lord Tester, was one of the nobles engaged

in the Raid of Ruthven in 1582. The following year he re-

tired to the continent, but returned in 1585, and died in

1591. Leaving daughters only, his brother James, seventh

Lord Tester, had a charter from James VI., to him and his

heirs male, of the lordship and barony of Tester, containing

a new creation. He died in February 1C09. By his wife.

Lady JIargaret Kerr, third daughter of the first earl of Lo-

thian, he had, with a daughter, two sons: John, eighth

Lord Tester, and Hon. Sir William Hay of Linplum.

John, eighth Lord Tester, and first earl of Tweeddale, was

distinguished for his sagacity and attention to business. He

was opposed to the obnoxious five articles of Perth, and voted

against them in the parliament of 1621. In 1633 he op-

posed the act for regulating the apparel of clun-chnien, and

in 1637 was one of the supplicants against the introduction

of the liturgy into Scotland. In 1639 he had the command

of a regiment in the Scots army. He was created earl of

Tweeddale by patent dated at Newcastle, 1st December

1646, to I'.im and his heirs male for ever. He died in 1654.

He was twice married ; first, to Lady Jane Seton, daughter

of his brother-in-law, Alexander, first earl of Dunfermline,

high-chancellor of Scotland, and by her had one son, John,

second earl of Tweeddale; and, secondly, to L;idy JIargaret

Jlontgomery, eldest daugliter of the sixth earl of Eglintoun,

by whom he had another son, Hon. William Hay, on whom
he settled the barony of Drumclzier.

584
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John, second earl of Tweeddale, burn in IG'JG, in 1012

joined the standard of Charles I., when he erected it at

Nottingham, at the commencement of tlie civil wars. The

following year he returned to Scotland, and had the command
of a regiment in the army raised by the estates for the de-

fence of the national religion and liberties. In 1G44, at tlie

head of his regiment he fought against the royal army at the

battle of Marston-moor, where Charles for the first time en-

countered tlie combined banners of England and Scotland

arrayed against him. In IGiO, when the king had surren-

dered to the Scots army at Newcastle, he waited on his ma-
jesty, and at the battle of Preston, in lG-18, he commanded

the East Lothian regiment, of 1,200 men, raised fur his res-

cue. In 1G57 he assisted at the coronation of Charles II.

at Scone, and having garrisoned bis house at Niedpath, he

repaired to Dundee. He succeeded his father in 1G.>I, and

the following year was member for the county of Hadding-

toH in Croniwell's parliament. At the Restoration he waited

upon Charles II., and was sworn a privy councillor. In the

parliament of IGGI, the earl of Tweeddale was the only per-

son who opposed the passing sentence of death on the martyr

Guthrie, for declining the king's authority in matters ccclesi-

astiral, and moved that he should only be banished. His

words being misrepresented to the king, he was committed

prisoner to the castle of Edinburgh, 14th September of that

vear. On the -Ith October ho was liberated on giving secu-

rity ill £100,000 Scots that he would appear when called

upon. He was appointed one of the commissioners of the

treasury, and on 2d June, IGG-l, an extraordinary lord of

session. In IGG7 he represented to the king the oppressed

state of the people of Scotland, and the administration was

for a time placed in the hands of his lordship, the earl of

Kincardine, and Sir Robert Murray. In a private letter,

dated in 1GG8, from Tweeddale to Lauderdale, it was stated,

that of those who had been concerned in the insurrection at

I'entland 218 had submitted, 309 refused, 80 had been killed

in the field, 40 executed, 31 had died in the counties of Gal-

loway and Dumfries, 30 had fled, and 20 forfeited, {Vl'odrow,

vol. ii. p. 107). Tweeddale had always been favourable to

the ejected ministers, and had held interviews with some of

them, with a view to ascertain whether some terms of mu-

tual accommodation might not be framed, or some measure

adopted, calculated to restore peace to the country. On the

l.')th July 1GG9, lie laid .i letter from the king before the

council, containing the first Indulgence.

He joined the opposition .igainst Lauderdale, and early in

1G74 was dismissed from his offices, and even deprived of his

seat in the privy council. On the downfall of Lauderdale in

1G80, he was restored to his post as commissioner of the

tre:isury, and resworn a privy councillor. After the death of

Charles II. he was continued in the same by James VII.

Having become deeply involved iu debt, chiefly on account of

his cautionary engagements for the earl of Dunfermline, he

was obliged in 1G86 to dispose of the ancient estates of his

family in the county of Peebles. He joined cordially in the

revolution, and, with the carl of Leven, was sent by the

convention of estates held at Edinburgh in llaich 1GS9,

with an order to the duke of Gordon, who held the castle for

King James, to deliver it up within twenty -four hours.

The duke, overcome by the insinuating behaviour of Tweed-

dale, reluctantly yielded, and promised to surrender the cas-

tle next morning at ten o'clock. He afterwards decided upon

retaining it. The earl w;is sworn a privy councillor of Wil-

liam and Mary, 18th Jlay 1G89. On 7th December follow-

insr, he was appointed one of the lords of the treasury, and

on otli Janu.u-y 1G92 constituted high-chancellor of Scotland.

He was created marquis of Tweeddale, carl of Gilford, viscount

of Walden, and Lord Hay of Yester, to him and his heirs

male whatsoever, by patent dated at Kensington, 17th De-
cember 1G94. He was high commissioner to the parliament

that met at Edinburgh 9th May lG9o, but not complying with

the policy of the court in the affair of Darien, he w;is de-

prived of his office of liigli-chancellor in 1G9G. He died at

Edinburgh lltli August 1G97, in his 71st year, and was bur-

ied at Ye.ster. By his wile. Lady Jane Scott, daughter of

tlie first earl of Bucdeuch, he liad seven .sons and two daugh-

ters, Margaret, countess of Roxburglie, and Jane, countess

of March. His sons were: 1. John, second marquis of

Tweeddale. 2. Hon. Erancis Hay, died young. 3. Lord

David Hay of Helton, whose descendants inherited that estate.

4. Hon. Charles Hay, died young. 5. Lord .Alexander Hay
ofSpott. G. Lord Gilbert. 7. Lord William Hay.

John, second marquis of Tweeddale, the eldest son, born

in lC4o, received his education principally at home. On the

invasion of Scotland by the earl of Argyle in 1G85, he was

constituted colonel of the East Lothian regiment, raised to

suppress the rebellion, and at the revolution of 1G89 he was

sworn a privy councillor, and appointed sheritf of the county

of Haddington. In the parliament of 1G95, he sat and voted

as high-treasurer of Scotland, on the king's letter. On suc-

ceeding to the titles of his family, he was continued a privy

councillor by Queen Anne. In the parliament of 1703, the

marquis and the duke of Hamilton took the direction of the

country party, who were opposed to the Union, and who in-

sisted on indemnification for the losses sustained in the Da-

rien expedition, and satisfaction for the massacre of Glencoe

and other grievances suffered in the last reign. He was

high-commissioner to the parliament at Edinburgh, wherein

the famous "act for the security of the kingdom " received

the royal assent, 5th August 1704. On 17th October the

same year he was appointed high-chancellor of Scotland, iu

room of the earl of Seafield, but on a change of ministers the

latter nobleman was reinstated in that olfice, 9th .March

following. Tlie marquis of Tweeddale, with his displaced

friends, formed a strong party called the Squadrone volaiile,

or flying squadron, from their sometimes supporting and at

other times opposing the measures of the court. State in-

trigue was never so active at any period of the Scots parlia-

ment as in this the last of its existence, and the marquis of

Tweeddale, on the change of ministry, was applied to by the

Cavaliers, or Jacobite members, to unite with them against

the court ; but he declined the proposal, as being inconsist-

ent with the object for which his party had been formed,

viz., to keep the contending parties in parli.anient in check,

and to vote only for such measures, by whatever party intro-

duced, as should appear most beneficial to the country.

Uniting with the court party, the marquis supported the

Union, and the "squadron" having given it their aid, the

measure was carried by a large m;ijorily. He was one of the

sixteen representatives of the Scottish peerage chosen by par-

Ihament 13th February 1707. He died at his seat of Yester,

20th April 1713, in his G8th ye.ar. Macky, in his Memoirs,

mentions him as "agieat cncourager and promoter of trade

and the welfare of his country." Scot of Satchel, in the dedica-

tion of his Rhyming History of the name of Scott, in 1GS8,

compliments his lordship for his poetical abihties. He m.arried,

11th December IGGG, Lady Anne Maitlaiid, only child of the

duke of f^auderdale, at that time considered the greatest heiress

in the kingdom, and by her had, with two daughters, Anne,

Lady Ross, and Jean, countess of Rothe.":, three sons, viz.,

1. Charles, third marquis. 2. Lord John Hay, colonel of the

Royal Scots Greys, 7th April 1704. He had the rank of
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brigadier-general, and distinguished himself at tlie battles of

Sclieller.berg in 1704, and Ramillies in 1706. He died 25th

Augnst 1706. 3. Lord AVilliam Hay of Newhall.

Charles, third marquis of Tweeddale, was, on tlie ac-

cession of George I., in 1714, appointed president of the

court of police and lord-lieutenant of the county of Hadding-

ton. At the general election, 3d March 1715, he was cliosen

one of the sixteen representative peers, and died 17th De-

cember following. By his marchioness, Lady Susan Hamil-

ton, countess of Dundon.ald, second daugliter of William and

Anne, duke and duchess of Hamilton, he had, with four

daughters, four sons : 1. John, fourth marquis. 2. James,

died young. 3. Lord Charles Hay of Linplum. 4. George,

sixth marquis. The third son. Lord Charles Hay, served at

the siege of Gibraltar, and afterwards in Germany, as a vol-

unteer under Prince Eugene of Savoy. He had the commis-

sion of ensign 18th May 1722, and in 1729 obtained a troop

in the 9th regiment of dragoons. At the general election of

1741 he was chosen M.P. for the county of Haddington. In

April 1743 he was promoted to the command of a company

in the 3d regiment of foot-guards. He behaved gallantly at

the battle of Fontenoy, SOtli April 1745, and was wounded.

His lordship was appointed aide-de-camp to the lung, 4th

j\rarch 1749, colonel of the 33d foot 20th November 1752,

and major-general 22d February 1757. In May of the hitter

year he sailed for America as second in command under

General Hopson, and joined the earl of Loudoun, commander-

in-chief, who had under him 11,000 land forces, supported

by 33 ships of war and 10,200 seamen. As this formidable

armament, instead of being engaged in active operations, was

for a time idly employed in sham lights at Halifax, Lord

Charles Hay threw out some reflections on his superior offi-

cers for not at once attacking the enemy, a council of war

was called, 31st July 1757, wlien he was ordered under ar-

rest, and sent a prisoner to England. His trial commenced

12th February 1760, before a general court martial at the

horse-guards, London, and was finished 4th March. The

result was not made public. The case was laid before the

king, but no decision appears to have been given, as Lord

Cliarles died at London two months afterwards, 1st Jlay

1760, unmarried.

John, fourth marquis of Tweeddale, having studied the

law, was appointed an extraordinary lord of session 7tli

March 1721. He was chosen one of the sixteen representa-

tive peers in 1722, and afterwards several times re-elected.

He distinguished himself much in parliament, and on the

resignation of Sir Robert Walpole in February 1742, he was

named one of the cabinet ministers. The office of principal

secretary of state for Scotland was revived and conferred on

him, and he was also appointed principal keeper of the sig-

net; but resigned both offices in January 1746, when tlie

former was abolished. In June 1761 he was appointed jus-

tice-general of Scotland. He was also a privy councillor and

governor of the Bank of Scotland. He died at London in

1762. He was not only the last secretary of state for Scot-

)imd, but the hist who held the office of extraordinary lord of

session. He married Lady Frances Carteret, daughter of

John, earl of Granville, and, with four daughters, had two

sons, George, e.arl of Gifford, who died in infancy, and George,

fifth marquis, who died 4th October 1770, in his 13th year.

Tiie title devolved on his uncle, George, sixth marquis of

Tweeddale. This nobleman was appointed one of the board

of police, June 1755, but resigned that office in 1771. By a

ri^id system of economy he accumulated a large fortune,

which he bequeathed to trustees to be laid out in the pur-

chase of lands to be entailed on the title of Tweeddale. He

died 16th November 1787. and was succeeded by his cousin,

George Hay, an officer in the naval service of the Fa.st India

Company, grandson of Lord William Hay of Newliall, tliird
;

son of John, second marquis of Tweeddale.

The seventh marquis was one of the sixteen representative
j

peers and lord-lieutenant of the county of Haddington. He !

married at Edinburgh, 18th April 1785, Lady Hannah Char-
|

lotte Maitland, fourth daughter of the seventh earl of Lau- I

derdale. They went to the continent in 1802, on account of

the state of the marquis's health, and unfortunately happen-

ed to be in France at the commencement of hostilities in

1803, when all British subjects in that country were detained

by Bonaparte. The marchioness died at Verdun, May 8,

and the marquis 9th Aug. 18U4. They had six sons and six

daughters. The eldest son, George, succeeded as 8th marquis.

The 2d son, Lord James Hay, became a lieutenant-general in

the army in 1854, and died in 1862. The 3d son. Lord John

Hay, C.B., born in 1793, entered the royal navy, and when a

lieutenant in the Sealiorse frigate, lost his left arm in the

Dardanelles in August 1807, by a shot from a battery, while

pursuing in the boats some small coasting vessels that liad

taken shelter under the land. In 1818 he became captain

E.N., and rose to the rank of rear-admiral. He served as

commodore in command of a small squadron on the north

coast of Spain during the civil war in that country. For liis

services he received the Grand Cross of the Spanish order of

Charles III. In 1846 he was appointed one of the lords of

the admiralty, and in the following year was chosen M.P. for

"Windsor. Lord William, the 4th son, died young. Lord

Edward George, the 5th son, born in 1800, became lieut.-col-

onel in the army in 1831. Lord Thomas, the 6th son, in holy

orders, was appointed rector of Rendlesham, Suffolk, in 1830.

George, 8th marquis of Tweeddale, born Feb. 1, 1787, suc-

ceeded his father in 1804, and entered the army the same

year. He was aide-de-camp to the duke of Wellington during

the Peninsular war, and was wounded at the battle of Busaco,

Sept. 7, 1810. He received a medal for his services as assist-

ant-quarter-master-general, at Vittoria. He became major

41st foot, 1812; C.B., 1815, and K.T., 1820. In 1854 he at-

tained the full rank of general in the army. In 1842 he was

appointed governor of Madras, where he continued till 1846;

one of the sixteen representative peers, lord-lieutenant of Had-

dingtonshire, and hereditary bailie or chamberlain of Dun-

fermline. He married in 1816, Lady Susan ilontague, third

daughter of the 5th dulre of Jlanchester; issue, 6 sons and 7

daugh.ters. Sons: 1. George, earl of Gifford, born 1822. 2.

Lord Arthur Hay, born 1824, a colonel in the army. 3. Lord

William Montague, born 1826. 4. Lord John, born 1827, and

5. Lord diaries Edward, born in 1833, officers in the ai-my.

6. Lord Frederick, born in 1835. Daughters: 1. Lady Susan

Georgiana, TO., in 1836, James, Lord Ramsay, afterwards

marquis of Dalhousie, and died in 1853. 2. Lady Hannah

Charlotte, born in 1818, m. in 1843, Simon Watson Taylor,

Esq. of Earlstoke Park, Wilts. 3. Lady Louisa Jane, born

in 1819. in. in 1841, Robert B. Wardlaw Ramsay, Esq. of

WhitehiU, with issue. 4. Lady Elizabeth, born in 1820, m.

in 1839, Arthur, marquis of Douro, 2d duke of Wellington.

5. Lady Jane. 6. Lady Julia. 7. Lady Emily, to. in 1856,

Sir Robert Peel, 3d hart, of Drayton iManor, Staffordshire.

Tytler, the sum.arae of a family distinguislied in the lit-

erature of Scotland, one brancli of which possesses the estate

of B.ilnain, Inverness-shire, and another that of Woodhouse-

lee, Jlid Lothian,—the " haunted Woodhouselee" of Sir Wal-

ter Scott's b.allad of ' The Gr.ay Brother.' The family name

origlnally was Seton, that of Tytler having been assumed by
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tlie ancestor of the i'amily, a cadet uf the noble house of Se-

toti, wlio temp. James IV., in a siulilen quarrel at a liuntinf;

miitcli, slew a fjeiitlenian of the name of Gray, fled to France,

and changed his name to 'I'ytler. His two sons returned to

Scotland in the train of Queen Maiy in 1501, and from the

elder the families of Balnaiii and Woodlionselee descend.

TYTLER, \ViLLi.\^i, liistoiiau and antiqumi-

aii, the son of Alexander Tytlcr, a writer in Ed-

inlMU-;,di, was born there October 12, 1711. He

received his education at tlic Iligli Scliool and at

llie university of his native city, and in 1744 was

admitted into tlie society of writers to tlie signet,

whicli profession lie exercised till his deatli. His

portrait, from a painting by Eaeburn, engraved

by Beugo, (in Scots IMagazine, vol. Ixiii.,) is sub-

joined :

In I?.")!) he published, in one volume, his cele-

brated 'Inquiry, Historical and Critical, into the

Evidence against ;Mary, Queen of Scots.' In

this work he warmly vindicated the cause of

the luifortuuatc Mary, and with much inge-

iHiity and plausibility exposed the fallacy of the

proofs on which the charges against her had been

founded. In 1783 he published 'The Poetical

Remains of James I., King of Scotland,' with a

Disscrlation on the Life and Writings of that

ir.onarch. lie was an active member, and one of

the vice-presidents of the Edinbin-gh Antiquarian

Society, and besides the works named, he « rote

au 'Essay on Scottish IMusic,' appended to Ar-

not's History of Eilinburgli, as well as several

papers inserted in the ' Antiquarian Transactions.'

To the si.xteenth number of 'The Lounger' he

contributed a paper on the ' Defects of Modern

Female Education, in teaching the Duties of a

"Wife.' He died September 12, 1792. He mar-

ried, in 1745, Anne, daughter of James Craig,

Esq. of Costerton, in the county of Mid Lothian,

writer to the signet, by whom he left one daugh-

ter, Ciiristina, and two sons, Alexander Eraser

Tytler, I>ord Woodhouselce, and Jlajor Patrick

Tytler, Lord Woodlionselee, and Lieut. -Col. Pat-

rick Tytler, fort-mnjor of the c;islle of Stirling.

A Historical and Ciiticnl Inquiry into the Evidence pro-

duced against JIary Queen of Scots, .and an E.\.amination of

the Histories of Dr. liobertson and Jlr. Hume with respect

to that evidence. Edin. 1750. 1767, 8vo. 'J'hird eilit. with

Additions, .and a Postscript. Edin. 1772, 8vo. Fourth edit.

Lond. 1790, 2 vols. 8vo. With large additions.

The Poetical Rem.ains of James I. of Scotland : consisting

of the King's Quair, in six Cantos, and Clirist's Kirk on the

Green : to' ivliich is prefixed, a Dissertation on the Life and

Writings of King .lames. Edin. 1783, 8vo.

?t Dissertation on Scotti.sh Music, first subjoined to Ar-

not's Histoiy of Edinburgh.

A Dissertation on the Jlarriage of Queen Mary to the Earl

of Bothwell. Printed in the Transactions of ihe'Society of

Antiquaries of Scotland, vol. i. ]7!)1.

Observations in the Transactions of the Society of Anti-

quaries on the Vision ; a Poem; first published in Ramsay's

Evergreen. Tliis may be considered .as a part of the literary

liistory of Scotland.

On the Fashionable .^nmsements in Edinburgh during the

last century. lb.

He also contributed Xo. IG to 'The Lounger.'

TYTLER, ALEx.\NDr.R Fit.vsEu, Lord \\'ooi>-

nousELEE, elder son of the subject of the pre-

ceding notice, was born at Edinburgh, October

15, 1747. In his eighth year he was scut to the

High School of his native city, wliere he distin-

guished himself by his proficiency, and in the last

year of his course became dux of the rector's class.

In 17G3 he was placed under the care of a j\Ir.

Elphinston, who kept an academy at Kensington.

Here he cultivated, with assiduity, his talent for

Latin versification, and one of his poems liaviiig

been shown to Dr. Jortin, that eminent scholar,

as an encouragement to him to proceed, presented

him with a copy of his own Latin poems. After

residing at Kensington for two years, he returned
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home, and, in 17G5, entered the nniversity of Ed-

inburgh, Avhere lie prosecuted Ins studies with

great success. In 1770 lie was admitted advo-

cate, and in tlie spring of 1771 he accoinpanied

his relation, Mr. Kerr of Blackshiels, on a tour to

Paris, returning by Flanders and Holland. In

1771 he published, at Edinburgh, 'Piscatory Ec-

logues, with other Poetical Miscellanies, by Phi-

iielias Fletcher ; illustrated with Notes, Critical

and E.xplanatory.' To the "Works of Dr. John

Gregory, published in 1778, he contributed the

Preliminary account of the Author's Life and

"Writings. During the same year he published a

folio volume. Supplementary to Lord Kames's

Dictionary of Decisions. In 1780 he was ap-

pointed, conjunct!}' with Mr. Pringle, professor of

civil history in the university of Edinburgh, and

in 1786 he became sole professor. For the use of

his students he printed, in 1782, ' A Plan and

Outlines of a Course of Lectiues on Universal

History, Ancient and ISIodern,' which he after-

wards enlarged and published, in 1801, in 2 vol.*.

8vo, under the title of ' Elements of General His-

tory, Ancient and Modern.' In 1791 appeared,

aiionymousl}', his best work, being an ' Essay on

the Principles of Translation,' the third edition of

which, "considerably enlarged, was published in

1813.

In 1790, through the influence of Lord Mel-

ville, Mr. Tytler was appointed judge-advocate of

Scotland ; and on the death of his father, in 1792,

he succeeded to the estate of "Woodhouselee, near

Edinburgh. lie had previously, on the death of

his father-in-law, become possessed, in right of

his wife, of the estate of Balnain, in the county of

Inverness. In 1799 he published an edition of

Dr. Derham's Physico-Theology, with an Account

of the Life and "Writings of the Author, and a

short ' Dissertation on Final Causes,' accompanied

by notes. During the same year he wrote a pam-

phlet, which was published at Dublin, under the

title of 'Ireland Profiting by Example; or the

Question Considered, Avhetiicr Scotland has Gain-

ed or Lost by the Union?' which came out at

such a seasonable time that, on the day of publi-

cation, the sale amounted to three thousand. In

1800 appeared from his pen an ' Essay on Military

Law, and the Practice of Courts-Martial ;' a sec-

ond edition of which was printed at London in

180G.—Loi d M'oodhuuselec's portrait is subjoined.

Having been appointed a senator of the college

of justice, he took his seat on the bench of the

court of session, February 2, 1802, with the title

of Lord "Woodiiouselee, and in 1811 he became a

judge of the justiciary court. In 1807 he published

at Edinburgh, in two vols. 4.to, 'Memoirs of the

Life and "Writings of the Hon. Henry Home,

Lord Karnes ;' and in 1810 he produced 'An His-

torical and Critical Essay on the Life and Char-

acter of Petrarch ; with a Translation of a few of

his Sonnets.' Among otlier literary projects,

which his death prevented his completing, was

the Life of George Buchanan. He died at Edin-

burgh, January 5, 1813, in the G8tli year of his

age. He was a contributor to the Mirror and the

Lounger, and also communicated some papers to

tlie Transactions of the Royal Society of Edin-

burgh, of Avhicli he was an original member. By

his wife, Ann, eldest daughter of William Frascr,

Esq. of Balnain, whom he married in 1776, he

left four sons and two daughters. The eldest son

succeeded to the estate of Balnain, and the second

to that of Woodhouselee. Another son, Alexan-

der, published, in 1815, a work in two volumes.
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entitled ' Considerations on the Present Political

State of India.' Lord Woodliouselee's principal

works are

:

Tlie Decisions of tliO Court of Session, from its first insti-

tution to tlie present time
;
abridged nnd digested under pro-

per liends in form of a Dictionary. Kdin. 1778, fol. 1797,

2 vols. fol. (A Supplement to Lord Karnes's Dictionary.)

Plan and Outlines of a Course of Lectures on Universal

History, ancient and modern, delivered in the University of

Edinburgli. Edin. 178.", 8vo.

Essay on tlie Principles of Tran.slation. Lond. 1707, 8vo.

An Ess.ny on Military Law and tlie Practice of Courts-

ULirtial. Edin. 1800, 8vo.

Elements of General History, ancient and modern ; to

which is added, a Table of Clironology, and a Comparative

of ancient and modern Geography. Edin. 1801, 2 vols. 8vo.

Memoirs of the Life and Writings of the Hon. Henry

Home of Karnes; containing Sketches of the Progress of

Literature and general Improvement in Scotland during the

greater part of the eighteenth century. Edin. 1807, 2 vols.

4to. Supplement. 1810, 4to.

An Historical and Critical Ess.ay on the Life of Petrarch
;

willi a Translation of a few of his Smniets. Lond. 1810, 8vo.

Edin. 1812, 8vo.

An Account of .some extraordinary Structures on the tops

of Hills in the Highlands; with Remarks on the Progress of

the Arts among the ancient Liliabitanis of Scotland. Trans.

Soe. Edin. 1790, vol. ii. 3.

Kcmarks on a mixed Species of Evidence in Matters of

History. lb. 1805, vol. v. 119.

TYTLER, P.vTiticK Fn.^.srn, autlior of tlie

History of Scotland and other liistorical and bio-

;;raphical works, j-onngc.-^t son of the suhject of

Ihc preceding memoir, was born at Edinbingh

30tli August 1791. lie was educated at the High

.School of liis native city, and in ISO.'j cnlorcd the

university. Having studied for the bar, lie was

admitted a member of the facidty of advo cates

:wl July ISi;!, and fur some years lield the oflice

of king's counsel in exchequer. Belonging to a

literary family, his tastes and inclinations had the

same bent, and he soon foi'sook the law for the

laborious paths of historical research. On the

' ]ieace of 1814, when the continent, .<;o long closed,

was tlirowu open to r>riiish travellei's, Mr. 'J'ytlei-,

in comi^any with i^Ir., afterwards Sir Archibald

Alison, baronet, author of the History of Europe,

I

and John Hope, advocate, aflerN^-ards lord-justice-

clerk, visited France and lielgium ; and to a work

published anonymously the following year, by the

former of these gentlemen, entitled ''I'ravols in

1 France during the years 1814-l.'j,' he is understood

to have communicated the journals of his residence

at Paris during the stay of the allied armies there.

He subsequently contributed to the pages of the

Edinburgh Magazine and Blackwood's Magazine.

A 'Life of Walter Scott' and 'A Literary Ro-
j

niaucc' are particularly mentioned as among these
i

early productions.
I

His first separate imblicatinn was the ' Life of

James Crichton of Cluuy, commonlj' called the

Admirable Crichton,' which appeared at Edin-

burgh in 1819. Li this -work, which was very

carefully written, lie adduced the most satisfac-

tory evidence, to eslablish the authenticilj' of the

testimonies and aulhdritics on which the state-

ments regarding the marvellous stories related ot

Crichton rest. A second edition of it, corrected

and enlarged, with an appendix ofoi'iginal papers,

appeared in 1823. Tlie same 3"ear he also pub-

lished, in one volume, an interesting and elabo-

rate woik, entitled 'An Account of the Life and

AVritings of Sir Thomas Craig of Riccarton, in-

cluding Biographical Sketches of the most emi-

nent Legal Characters, from the Institution of the

Court of Session, by James V., till the period of

the Union of the Crowns.' In 1820 iie ])tibljshed

anonymously the ' lafe of John ^^'ickliflV.'

His principal work, ' The History of Scotland,'

was nndertaken chietl}' b_v the advice of Sir ^^'al-

tcr Scott, who at one time had the intention of

prcjiaring one liimself, the want of a complete,

accurate, and comprehensive histoiy of our coun-

try having been long felt. The first volume ap-

peared in the summer of 1828. It professed to

be an attempt "to build the history of Scotland

upon unquestionable muniments."' In the prose-

cution of this important work, Mi'. 'Jyllcr anxi-

ously and carcfulh' examined the most anlheutic

souiT.es of information, and consulted the state
;

papers in London, and all other attainable docu-

ments bearing on the cveiits of the times commem-

orated. Successive volumes of liis history ap-
j

peared at intervals, and the ninth and last was
j

issued in the winter of 1843. He concluded his

labours on it with this touching ]iaragraph :
—

" It is

with feelings of gratitude, mingled with regret,
j

that the author now closes this work—the history
j

of his country—the labour of little le.«s than cigh-
j

teen years;—gratitude to the Giver of all good,

that life and health have been spared to com-

plete, however imperfectly, an arduous undertak-

ing; regret that the tranquil pleasures of histori-
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cal investigation, the liappy hours devoted to the

pursuit of trutli, are at an end, and that lie must

at last bid farewell to an old and dear companion."

The work commences with the accession of Alex-

ander III. in 1249 ; the period when onr national

annals become particularly interesting to the gen-

eral reader,—and continues to the accession of

James VI. to the throne of England in 1603.

Mr. Tytler's style is plain and perspicuous, always

animated, and often elegant and vigorous. His

laborious researches begin especially to be most

effective when he reaches the troublous times of

the fifth James. He is then most successful in

bringing new sources of information to light, in

correcting old mistakes, and combating and over-

turning cherished prejudices. The first and second

volumes were reviewed by Sir Walter Scott in

the Quarterly, and he intended, had he lived, to

have criticised the work throughout, for he con-

sidered it, says Mr. Lockhart, as a very impor-

tant one in itself, and had, moreover, a warm re-

gard for the author, the son of his early friend.

Lord Woodhouselce. Mr. Tytler's high church

episcopalian principles pervade the tone of his

admirable liistorj', and a charge which, in the

seventh volume, he brought against John Knox,

of being " pre-cognizant of and implicated in"

the murder of David Rizzio, was ably answered

by the Rev. Thomas M'Crie, D.D., son of the

distinguished biographer of Knox, in the Appen-

dix to his ' Sketches of Scottish Church History,'

as well as by other writers, jealous for the charac-

ter and honour of the great reformer. The evi-

dence adduced b}' Mr. Tytlcr certainly appears

altogether insufficient to sustain such a charge, in

the face of all historical testimony to the contrar3\

Mr. Tytler's 'History of Scotland' introduced

him to the notice of Sir Robert Peel, when pre-

mier, and a pension of £200 a-year was bestowed

upon him by government.

During the period when he was chiefly occupied

in the composition of his great national work, Mr.

Tytlcr wrote several other works of interest and

value, a list of which is given below. One of

these, contributed to the ' Family Library,' pub-

lished by Mr. Murray, entitled 'Lives of Scottish

AVortliies,' in 3 vols. 12mo, contained biographies

of Alexander IIL, Michael Scott, Sir AViiliam

Wallace, Robert the Bruce, John Barbour, An-

drew Winton, John de Fordoun, James I., Robert

Hcnryson, William Dunbar, and Sir David Lind-

say, and was one of the most attractive of his

publications. His life of Sir Walter Raleigh,

1832, is remarkable for the view which he starts

and supports on the subject of Sir Robert Cecil's

plots, connected with Raleigh's ruin. It contains

some new materials of interest, and is valuable for

its able defence of that adventurous and interest-

ing personage, and for its careful digest of state

papers, and graphic descriptions of contemporane-

ous events. The same indeed may be said of all

Mr. Tytler's works.

With his other attainments, he was a good Ijt-

ical poet, and about 1829 he wrote a few verses

for one of the ' Bannatyne Garlands.' Having in

his youth served in the Mid Lothian yeomanr}'

cavalry, the lively songs which he then composed,

having reference to the military duties of himself

and comrades, were frequently sung with great

applause at the mess table. In 1833, in conjunc-

tion with Mr. Hog of Newliston, and Mr. Adam

Urquhart, advocate, he presented to the Banna-

tyne and Maitland Clubs, a volume illustrative of

the Revolution, entitled 'Memoirs of the War
carried on in Scotland and Ireland in 1C89-91,'

by Major-general Hugh Macka}'.

Mr. Tytler's constitution, never I'obust, gradu-

ally gave way under the exhausting labours of a

literary life. He was a severe and in general an

accurate historical student ; and his pension, it

was thought, would have enabled him to continue

his researches in British history, and perhaps

have induced him to have written a work con-

nected with the annals of England, which he is

known to have contemplated, and for which he

collected materials. For the last six or seven

years of his life, however, the state of his health

prevented him from pursuing his fiivourite studies.

He died at Great Malvern, Worcestershire, ou

Christmas eve, 1849, in his 59th year. He was

twice married. His first wife, Rachel Elizabeth,

daughter of Thomas Hog, Esq. of Newliston, died

in 1835. By her he had two sons, Alexander and

Thomas Patrick, both in the East India Company's

military service, and one daughter. His second

wife, Anastasia, daughter of Tiiomson Bonar, Esq.
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of Caiiipden Place, Kent, an cmiiieiit lliissiaii

iiiercliant, survived him.

Mr. Tjtler's worlis arc :

Life of James Ci'icliton of Clunv, commonly calk'd the

Admirable Cncliton. Edin. 1819, 8vo. 2d edit, corrected

iiiid enlarged, with nn Appendix of original papers. 1823.

All Account of the Life and Writings of Sir Thonnis Craig

of liiccarton, including Biographical Sketches of the most

eminent legal characters, since the Listitution of the Court of

Session by James V. to the period of the Union of the two

Crowns. Edin. 1823, 8vo.

Life of John Wicklifl'e, published anonynionsly. Edin. 182G.

The History of Scotland, in nine volumes imperial octavo.

Edin. 1828—1843.

Lives of Scottish Worthies, 3 volumes 12nio. In the Fam-

ily Library. London, 1831-33. Published separately, 3

vols. 12mo. London, 1855.

Historical View of the Progress of Discovery on tlie more

northern coasts of America, one vol. 12nio. In Edinburgh

Cabinet Library, 1832.

Life of Sir Walter Raleigh, 12mo. In the same, 1833.

Memoirs of the War carried on in Scotland and Ireland in

1G89-91, by Major-general Hugh Mackay, -Ito. Edited, in

conjunction with Mr. Hog of Newlislon and Mr. Adam L'r-

quhart, advocate, for the Bannatyne and Maitland Clubs,

1833.

Life of King Henry the Eighth. London, 1837.

England under the Ri'igns of Edward V'l. and JIary, with

the contemporary History of Europe; in a series of original

Letters never before published; with Historical Introduc-

tions, &c. 2 vols. 8vo. London, 1839.

To the seventh edition of the Encyclopedia Britannica lie

contributed the article Scotland, .'dterwards published in a

separate form as ,i History of Scotland for the use of schools.

TYTLER, James, nn indii.^trioiis and labori-

ous, but eccentric and iinfoitunate miscellaneous

writer, tlie son of tlie Rev. Mr. Tytlor, minister of

Fern, in tlic presbytery of Brecliin, was born about

1747. lie \va.<; instructed by liis fatlier in classi-

cal learning, and atlaiued an extensive acquaint-

ance with iiistorical literature and scholastic theo-

logy. Having shown an early predilection for the

study of nu'dicine, he \\as put ajiiireiiticc to IMr.

Ogilvie, a respectable surgeon in Forfar, and af-

terwards attended the medical classes in tlic uni-

versity of Ivliiibui'gh. He was at one time, it b

said, destined for the ministry, but some peciiliar-

itics in his religions ojiinions were the means cf

his becoming connected with a society of Glasites,

to a female member of which sect he was man-ied

at an early ]ieriod of his life. During the college

vacations he made two voyages to (ii-eenland in

the capacity of surgeon, which parth- sujiplied

him with the means for defraying the necessary

expenses at the university. After a fruitless en-

deavour to get into practice as a surgeon in Edin-

buigh, lie opened an apothecary's shop in Leith,

ill the hope of being ]);itroiiised by his religious

connections; but his separation from the Society,

which happened shorll}- after, disappointed his

expectations; and having contracted some debts

which he was unable to pay, he was under the

iieccssitj' of removing, tirst to lierw ick, and sub-

sequently to Newcastle. In both ])laces lie was

employed in preparing cliemical medicines for the

druggists, but the remuneration he received being

insufficient to jirovide for the necessities of an

increasing familj', he returned to Edinburgh in

1772, in extreme poverty, and took refuge from

his creditors within the precincts of the sanctuary

of Ilolyrood-house, where debtors are jirivileged

from arrest.

His first attempt in jioetry was a linniorous

l).'ilhid, entitled 'The Pleasures of the Abbcj'.'

He also wrote two popular Scottish songs, ' The

Bonnie Brucket Lassie,' with the exception of the

lirst two lines, and 'I canna come ilka day to

woo.' In 1772 he issued from liis sanctuary of

Holyrood a volume of 'lissays on the most impor-

tant subjects of Natural and Revealed Religion,'

which had the singular iricrit of liaving been set

iij) in tyjies by his own hand, as the idea arose in

his mind, without any manuscript before liim, and

worked oil' by himself, at a press of his own con-

struction. The work was to have been completed

in two volumes 8vo, but the author turned iiside

to attack the opinions of a new religious sect,

called the Bereans, in 'A Letter to INIr. John Bar-

clay, on the Doctrine of Assurance,' in wliich lie

again performed the functions of author, composi-

tor, and pressman. He next published a monthly

jieriodical, entitled 'The (lentlenian and Lady's

Magazine,' which did not go on long ; and after-

wards issued 'The A\'eckly Pvcview,' a literary

miscellany, which came out in 1780, and, in its

turn, was soon discontinued. He is also said to

have, in the same ingenious maniici'. commenced

the printing of an abridgment of the Universal

History, of which, however, he only completed

one volume. His ]iublications, though unavoida-

bly disfigured with numerous tyjiograjjhical blun-

ders, made him known to the booksellers, from

whom he afterwards found constant em]iloynicnt

in compilations, abridgments, translations, and
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miscellaneous literary work of almost every de-

I scription, for which he was remarkably well

adapted, having a general kno\\lcdge of nearly

everj' subject, and of most of the sciences.

lie was employed by a surgeon to compile for

liiin a 'System of Surgery,' which made its ap-

pearance in 3 vols. 8vo, in 1793. This work he

had not completed wlien he was compelled to

quit Scotland, but he finished it at Belfast before

crossing the Atlantic, lie was also an occasional

contributor to the ' Medical Commentaries,' and

other periodical publications of the time. It is

stated by Dr. Watt, in liis ' Bibliotlieca Britanni-

ca,' that he conducted a weekly paper called ' The

Observer,' coniprelicnding a series of Essays, pub-

lished at Glasgow in 1786, and extending to 26

numbers, folio. Of these, the first number was

the only one literally penned by this singular in-

dividual, the rest being printed by him without

the aid of a manuscript, according to his usual

practice.

The principal work on which Tytler was en-

gaged was the second edition of the ' Encyclopaj-

dia Britannica,' of which he was the principal

editor, and furnished to its pages a large propor-

tion of the more considerable scientific treatises

and histories, and almost all the minor articles.

On his leaving the sanctuary at Holyrood-liouse,

lie took lodgings, first at Restalrig, or Dudding-

stone, and afterwards witliin the town ; but on

becoming connected with the ' Encyclopajdia Bri-

tannica,' an aparti.ient was assigned to liim in the

printing-office, where tliis extraordinary genius

performed the functions of compiler and corrector

of the press, at the superb salary of sixteen shil-

lings per week! When the third edition was un-

dertaken, he was engaged as a stated contributor,

ujion more liberal terms, and wrote a larger sliare

of the early volumes than is ascribed to him in

the general preface.

At one period of his career he conducted a

manufactory of magnesia for a Mr. Robert Wright

of Colinton ; but after he had fairly established it,

he was dismissed, witliout obtaining either a sliai-e

in the business, or a suitable compensation fur his

services. One of his most eccentric actions was

his attempt to ascend in a balloon, constructed on

the plan of Moutgollier, wliich, however, from

some unforeseen defect in the machinery, i)roved

a fiiilure. He was ever afterwards known in Ed- I

iuburgh as "Balloon Tytler." Notwithstanding
i

his acknowledged talents and industry, his intem-
j

perate habits, and want of prudence and perse- !

verance, kept him always poor and dependent,
j

Burns, in liis Xotes on Scottish Song, describes
!

him as "an obscure, tippling, but extraordinary '

body, who drudges about Edinburgh as a com-

mon printer, with leak}- shoes, a sky-lighted hat,

and knee buckles." As a proof of the extraordinary

stock of general knowledge which he possessed,

and the ease w 'nh which he could write on any

subject, almost extempore, the following anecdote
j

is related of him. A gentleman of Edinburgh,
j

who had once occasion to apply to Tytler for as I

much matter as would form a junction between a
j

certain histoiy and its continuation to a later pe-
[

riod, found him lodged in one of those elevated

apartments called garrets, and was informed by

the old woman with whom he lived that he could

not be seen, as he had gone to bed rather the

worse of liquor. Determined, liowever, not to

depart without his errand, the gentleman was

shown into Mr. Tytler's apartment hy the light of

a lamp, where he found him in the situation de-

scribed by Ills landlady. The gentleman having

acquainted him with the nature of his business,

Mr. Tytler called for pen, ink, and paper, and in

a short time produced about a page and a half of

letter-press, which answered the end proposed as

completely as if it had been the result of tiie most

mature deliberation.

Having joined the Society of " Friends of the

People," Tytler published 'A Pamphlet on the

Excise,' containing an exposition of the abuses of

Government. In 1792 he conducted a periodical

publication entitled ''J'he Historical Register, or

Edinburgh ISIonthly Intelligencer,' in which he

systematicall}' advocated parliamentary reform.

About the close of that year he published 'A

Handbill, addressed to the People,' written in

such an inflammator}' style as to render him ob-

noxious to the authorities. Learning that a war- .

rant was issued for his apprehension, he suddenly

disappeared from Edinburgh, leaving his family

behind him, and finding his way to Ireland, em-

liarked from that country for America. He was
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cited before tlic liigli court of justiciary, l)iit l':iiliiig

III appeal', was oiitla\v(.'d, Januai'v 7, 179.']. On lii.s

ari-i\'al in tlie United States, lie fixed liis residence

at Salem, Massaclinsetts, wlicre lie e.stablislicd a

newspaper, whicli lie cniidncted till his death in

fhe end of l.SO.S, in the ."i.sih year of his age.

His kno^vn works ai e :

The Pleasui'os of tlie Aliliov.

KssMjs oil tlic must iiiiport.iiit Sulijcots of Natural and

Revealed Relii;iiin. Ediii. 1772, 8v(i.

Letter to Mr. .Iidiii Haiolay on tlie Dactrinc of Assurance.

'flic Weekly Mincir; a reriodical I'ublicatiiiii, begun in

17S0.

Tlie Observer; a Weekly ra]ier, eonipreliendiiig a .series of

I'.ssays, published in Gla.'^jjow in I'fSik .-ind extending to

numbers, folio.

A Sj'steui of (Jeography. ITS.*?, .Svo.

A History of Edinburgh. 12nio.

The Kdinbnrgli Geograidiieal, Historical, .nid Cnnimerel.il

Cjrammar. 2 vols. 8vo.

A Review of Dritclikeir.s Theory of [iill.uniii.'it Ion ; with a

practical dedication. ]2mo.

Remarks on Mr. Piukertnn's Introduction to llie History

of Scotland. Rvo.

A Poetical Tr.aiislation of Virgil's Kclngues. -Ito.

A Pamphlet on the K,\cise.

The Historical Register; a Periodical Publication.

'fhe Gentleman and Lady'.s JIagazine; published montlilv.

'fhe Weekly Review; a Literary Miscell.aiiy. 1780.

'rV I'LKi;, I1i;ni:v A\'ii.i,i.\M, M.])., iihy.siciaii

and tran.slator, younger brother of the pi'eccding,

was born at Fern, near Brechin, in 1752; being

the son of the minister of that place. Addicting

himself to the translation of classic poetry, the

first work by which he niade himself known wa.s

' r:ediitro])liia, or tlii^ -Art of Xnrsing and Ke:tring

Children, a Poem in three Books, from the Latin

of St. ;\rartlie, with .Medical and Historical Xotes,

and the Life of the Author,' 8vo, published in

17'.)7. He died at Kdinburgh, August 24, 1808.

At his death he left in manuscript, ' The A\'orks

of Callimacliup, translated into English Verse

;

the Hymns and Epigrams from the Greek, with

(he Coma Berenices from the Latin of Catullus
;

with the original Texts and Kotes,' said to be the

first English translation of a Creek jioet by a na-

tive of Scotland. Its ]iublieation was kindly ed-

ited by the earl of lUiclian. Dr. Tytlor was also

the author of a 'Voyage from the Capo of Good

Hope,' and other ])oems, published in 1.S04, and

of some pieces in the Gentleman's IMagazine and

other ]ieriodicals. He completed a translation of

the Seventeen ]'ooks of the Poem on the Punic

War. by Silius Italicus, with a Preface and Com-

mentary.

UPE, A.xiniKW. M.D., a distinguished chemi-

cal ]iliiIosoplier, was born in Glasgow, ISlli Ma\-

1778. He studied at the iiuiversit}- of his native

cit)", and sulisequenily at that of Edinliurgh. Af-

terwards he engaged in the establishment of the

Glasgo\v Observatoi-y, where he resided for some

time, and \\liere he was honoured with a visit

from the celebrated Sir A^'illianl Herschell. In

the year IStlG, on the resignation of Dr. Birklieck,

he •\: as aii]ioiiited professor of chemistry and nat-

ural philosophy ia the .\iidersonian nuix ersity of

Glasgow. I'lloquent as a lecturer, he was most

successful in his class experiments. In 1818 he

brought forward his 'New Experimental Pe-

searehcs on some of the leading doctrines of Ca-

loric, particularly on the relation li(>tween the

elasticity, tein]ierature, and latent heat of diil'er-

(Mit vapours, and on therinometrie, admeasure-

ment and capacity,' which was read before the

Royal iSociety, and published in their ' Transac-

tions' for that year. Sir James Ivory, Mr. Dan-

iel, and other ]ihiloso]iliers, adopted the couclu-
|

sions offered in this jiaper, as the bases of their

meteorological theories.

In 1821, Dr. Ure jitibli.-hed the first edition of

his well-known ' Dictionaiy of Chemistry," whic h

procured liim the friendship of Sir IIuni]ihrey

Davy, Dr. "\\'ollaston, and Dr. E. D. Clarke. In

1822, in which year he became a fellow of the

Royal Societv, his paper on the 'Ultimate Analv-
•2 p
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sis of Vegetable Substances' appeared in the Phi-

losopliical Transactions. In 1829 lie published

his System of Geology ; in 1835, his Philosophy

of Manufactures ; and in 1836, his work on tlie

Cotton Jilanufactures of Great Britain,—the latter

in two volumes. His next great work, one of

immense labour and research, was the ' Dictionary

of Arts, Manufactures, and Mines,' the last edi-

tion of which iu his lifetime, appeared in 1852.

This work has been translated into several of the

continental languages.

Dr. Ure was remarkable for accuracy in chemi-

cal anah'sis, and it has been stated by competent

authority, that none of his results have ever been

overturned. He was one of tlie original fellows

of the Geological Society. He also belonged to

the Astronomical Society, and w^is a member of

several continental societies. In 1830 lie went to

reside In Loudon, where he died 2d January 1857.

Ukquhart, or Uhciiakd, the name of a minor clan,

(JJrachdun.^ originally settled in Cromarty, (badge, the

wallflower.) a branch of the clan Forbes. Nisbet says, "A
brother of Ochonchar, who slew the bear, and was predeces-

sor of the Lords Forbes, liavinp; in keeping the castle of Ur-

quhart, took his surname from the place." This castle stood

on the south side of Loch Ness, and was in ancient times a

place of great strength and importance, as is apparent

from its extensive and magnificent ruins. In that fabulous

work, 'The true pedigree and lineal descent of tlie most an-

cient and honourable family of Urquhart, since the creation

of the world, by Sir Thomas Urquhart, Knight of Cromartie,'

I tlie origin of the family and name is ascribed to Ourohartos,

that is, 'fortunate and well-beloved,' the familiar name of

Esormon, of wliom the eccentric author describes himself as

the 128th descendant. He traces his pedigree, in a direct

line, even up to Adam and Eve, and according to him, the

meaning of the word Urquhart is tlic same as that of Adam,
iitimely, ^ red earth

The I'amily of Urquhart is one of great antiquity. Iu

Hades' Annals, it is mentioned that Edward I. of England,

during the time of the competition for the Scottish crown,

ordered a list of the sherifi's in Scntbiiid to be made out.

Among them appears the name of William Urquhart of Cro-

martie, heritable sheriff of the county. He married a daugh-

ter of Hugh, carl of Ross, and his son Adam obtained charters

of various lands. A descendant of his, Thomas Ui quh.art of

Cromartie, who lived in the 16th century, was father of 11

daughters and 25 sons. Seven of the latter fell at the bat-

tle of Pinkie in ,1547, and from another derived the Urquliarts

of Newhall, Monteagle, Kinbeachie, and Braelangwell.

The eldest son, Alexander Urquhart of Cromartie, had a

chai'ter from James V. of the lands of Iiicli Rory and others,

in the shires of Ross and Inverness, dated March 7, 1532.

He had two sons. The younger son, John Urquhart, born in

1547, became tutor to his grand-nephew, Sir Thomas Ur-

quhart, and was well known afterwards by the designation of

the " tutor of Cromartie." He died Nov. 8, 1G31, aged 84.

Of Sir Thomas, the family genealogist, a memoir follows

in larger type. He was succeeded by a brother, whose suc-

cessor, a cousin of his own, sold what remained of tlie family
(

property to the JIacker.zies, afterwards earls of Cromartie.
j

The male line ended in Colonel James Urquhart. an officer of

much distinction, who died in 1741. The representation of j

'

the family devolved on the Urquliarts of Braelangwell, whicli
[

was sold (wilb the exception of a small portion, which is 1

strictly entailed) by Charles Gordon Urquhart, Esq., an offi-
;

cerin the Scots Greys. The hitters brother, David Urquhart,
|

Esq., at one period secretary to the British legation at Con-
j

st.iiitinop'ie, and author of a work on the Resources of Turkey,

and other publications, became representative of the family.

The Urquliarts of Jleldrum, Aberdeensliire, obtained that

estate through the marriage, in IGIO, of their ancestor, John

Urquhart of Craigfintry, tutor of Cromarty, with Elizabeth

Seton, lieiress of Jleldrum. The Urquliarts of Craigston,

and a few more families of the name, still possess estates in

the north of Scotland. And persons of this surname are still

numerous in the counties of Ross and Cromarty. In Ross-

shire, Inverness-shire, and ilorayshire, th.ere are parishes of

the name of Urquhart.
j

URQUHART, Sir Thomas, of Cromartie, a

cjuaint old writer of the seventeenth century, is

chiefly known as the translator of Rabelais. lie

appears to have at one period travelled much on

the continent. He afterwards became a cavalier i

officer, and was knighted by Charles I. at White-
|

hall. After that monarch's decapitation, he ac-

companied Charles II. in his march into England,
i

and was taken prisoner at the battle of "Worcester

in 1651, when his estates were forfeited by Crom-
j

well. The year following he published at Lon-
j

{

don, where he was detained for some time on his
|

j

parole, a singular piece, entitled ' The Discovery
j

|

of a most exquisite Jewel, found in the kennel of
i

Worcester Streets the day after the Fight, and six
j

before the Autumnal Equinox, anno 1G51, serving
j

in this Place to frontal a Vindication of the Hon-
|

j

oin- of Scotland from that Infamy whereunto the

rigid Presbyterian Party of tliat Kation, out of 1

their Covetousness and Ambition, most disseni-

bledly hath involved it.' He also wrote the adven-

tures of the Admir.able Crichton, and among vari-

ous other curious matter.?, his inventive genius

fabricated the strange and original genealog}"- of the

Urquhart family above mentioned. His 'Jewel'

was written for the avowed purpose of helping

him to the recovery of his estates, as he conceived

that the Protector would h.ave been so dazzled bj'
i

the cxtraordinarj- talent displayed in it, as to !

have readily restored them, and he boasts that
j

it was the production of fourteen days

!
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Tlic best executed of liis works Ls liis ti-aiisln-

tioii of Rabelais. lie was also the author of a

treatise on trigonometry, jiublishcd in 1015,

and dedicated in extravagant language to "Tlie

Right lion, and Most Noble Lad}-, niy dear and

loving Mother, the Lady Dowager of Croniartie."

A specimen of his verse is found in his 'Ejii-

grams ;' the following on "\\'onnui being (me of

the best

:

"I'alce man I'rom woman, all that slie can sliow

Of hcf own propel', is nought else but wo.'"

These Epigrams, however, possess less of the

character of poetry than some of his prose rhap-

sodies, which are so highly poetical as to be, in

many parts, altogether unintelligible ! Such, not-

withstanding, was tlie universalitj- of his attain-

ments, that lie deemed himself capable of enlight-

ening the world on many things never " dreamed

of in tlie philosoph}-" of ordinary mortals. " Had

I not," he says, "been iiluclc'd away by the im-

]iortunity of ray creditors, I would have emitted

to public view above live hnndi'cd several trea-

tises on inventions, never hitherto thought ujion

by any." 'J'lie time and place of his deatii are

unknown. Tiiere is a tradition that lie died of an

inordinate lit of laughter, on hearing of the resto-

ration of Cliai'les II. His worl;s are :

Tlic Ti issoteti;is
;

or, .1 most easy aiul c.\act Manner of re-

solving all sorts of Tri.ingles, whether IMain or Spherical.

lG-i5. Lond. 1G50, 4to.

Epigrams, Divine ami Jlor^il. LoncJ. IGIG, 'Ito.

Extrxvlia>.ccvi>oy • or the i)iscovery of a most e.NCellent

.Jewel, more precions than diamoniis incha.sed in gold, tlie

like whereof was never seen in any age ; found in the Kennel

of Worcester-streets the day after the Fight, and si-K before

tlie Autumnal Equinox, anno ICul, &c. Lond. 1G52, Svo.

Introduction to the Universal Language in vi. books.

Lond. IGo.'!, 4to.

Tracts; containing tlie Genealogy of tlie Urquhart Family,

with the Jewel, &c. Edin. 12nio.

^'.v^^s, a surnamo origin.ally and properly Vanx or VaKX, of

Xonnan (lerivation. Sir D.ivid Lindsay, in his Heraldiy,

mentions that Vans w.as " one of the surnames of thame that

came furtli of Ingland with Sanct Margaret," the wife of

Malcohn Canmore. Li tlie reign of JLilcolm IV., Philip de

Vallibns or Vau;c had estates in the south of Scotland, .and

soon after, the lands and barony of Dirleton, in East Lothian,

came into the possession of the family. The chief remaining

brancli of this ancient house has long been that of the family

of Vans of Bariibarrocli, Wigtonshire.

YEDDEll. D.vvji), a lyric poet of considerable

originality, the son of a small proprietor near Kirk-

wall, was born in tlie parish of Burncss, Orkney,

in 1790. He received an ordinary education at

the parish school. Left an orjihan, at the age of

twelve, lie became a cabin-boy on board of a snnill

coasting vessel, and wiien only eighteen years of

age was promoted to the rank of mate. A^ithin

two years after, lie got command of a ship, in

which he made several voyages to Greenland and

other places. Thereafter he entered the revenue

service as first oflicer of an armed cruiser, and in

1820 he was appointed tide-surveyor of customs.

In this capacity he was employed, successively, at

the ports of Montrose, Kirkcaldy, Dundee, and

Lcith. He liad early begun to cnltivale poetry,

and at tlie age of twenty-one, his first poem appear-

ed in one of the i\Iagazines Various other pieces

of his appeared at intervals in the periodical press,

and in 1826 he ventured on the publication of a

volume, entitled 'Tlie Covenanters" Communion,

and other Poems.' Tiiis was issued by Black-

wood, at Edinburgh, and the sale was so ra])ii!

that it Avas veiy speedily out of print. His next

work was his ' Orcadian Sketches,' published by

Tait, consisting of prose and verse, and portraying

several passages of his own life. His ' Life of Sir

Walter Scott,' his next production, was much

read and admired, as was also his volume of ' Bal-

lads and Lyrics.' In 1841 he published his col-

lected pieces, in one volume, under the title of

'Poems—Legendary, Lyrical, and Descriptive.'

Many of his lyrics were set to music with or with-

out his consent. In 18-18 he furnished the descriji-

tivc matter for a work entitled ' Lays and Litho-

graphs,' issued by liis son-iu-law. ]\Ir. Frederick
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Schenk, lithographer of Edinburgh. His last worlc

was ' Reynard tlie Fox,' a spirited adaptation from

the famous German fable of that name, embellished

with illustrations. lie furnished additions to

George Thomson's ' Musical Miscellan}',' poetry

to the ' Christian Herald,' edited by the Rev. Dr.

Gardner, songs to the ' Book of Scottish Song,'

and to ' Whistle Binkie,' the two latter Glasgow

publications. He likewise wrote the greater part

of the letterpress for Geikie's popular volume of

' Etchings.'

Mr. Vedder retired from active duty in 1852,

:!!:d died at Edinburgli, Feb. 11, 1854, aged Go.

Vere, a surname, nncientl v variously written de V'ere, Vevr,

Were, and Weir. Radulpluis or Kalpli de Vere, held large

estates in Lanarkshire, temp. Alexander II. The eventual heir-

ess of these estates, Catherine, only cliild of Sir William Weir,

2d Bart, of Blackwood, m., in 1733, Hon. Charles Hope, of

Craigiehall, 2d son of 3d Earl of Hopetoim. The descendant

and representative of the family, William Edward Hope Vere,

Esq., of Craigieh.all and Blackwood, born in 1824, succeeded

his father in 1843, and m., in 1857, Lady Maiy Emily Boyle,

sister of 9th earl of Cork, with issue.

ViPONT, a surname originally Vetere-ponte. A family of

this name, in ancient times, possessed the lands of Aberdour,

Fifeshire. It ended in an heir female, who married, in 1126,

Alanus de Mortuo-Maria or Jloitimer. In tlie second cen-

tury tliereafter these lands became the property of the Dou-

glases, ancestors of the earls of Morton.

w
Waltiir, originally Waitho or Wut/io, and afterwards

Wdltho or Waldie, the surname of a Roxburghshire family,

the first of which that can be traced in any record, Thomas

Waitho, was public and papal notary to the abbacy of Kelso.

John Waitho, proprietor, by succession, of a considerable por-

tion of the Mavklands of Kelso, had a son, George, living in

1G52, who was the first to spell his name Waldie. He got a

charter of his lands from the Earl of Roxburgh in 1G64.

His descendant, another George Waldie, died in 1745.

This gentleman had a son, John Waldie, Esq., of Berryhill

and Hayhope, who married .Jean, eldest daughter and heiress

of Charles Ormston, Esq., of Hendersyde, an old Kelso family.

Tliat estate liad been purchased in 1715 from Edmonstone of

Ednam, and by this marriage it came to the family of Waldie.

He had 2 sons, George and Robert.

George Waldie of Hendersyde Park, the elder son, )«., in

1779, Ann, eldest daughter ofJonathan Orinston, Esq., ofNew-
castle-on-Tyne, and died in 182G. He had one son, John

Waldie, D.L., born in 1781, who succeeded him, and 3 daugh-

ters. 1. i\Iaria Jane, m., Richard GriiBth, Esq., Dublin, with

issue. 2. Charlotte, m., in 1822, Stephen Eaton, Esq., of

.Stamford, issue, 2 sons and 2 drs. 3. Jane, m., in 1820,

George Edward Watts, afterwards Admiral Watts; issue,

a son, William Cliarlcs, who died in 1861.

Robert, the second son of John Waldie, Esq., was a school-

fellow at Kelso, of Sir Walter Scott, in the first volume of

whose Life by Lockhart, mention is m.ade of him and of his

mother, a Quaker lady. The kind attentions he received from

the Waldie family, saj-s his biographer, " have left strong

traces on every page of his works in which he has occasion to

introduce the Society of Friends." Mr. Lockhart adds, "I
remember the pleasure with which he read, late in life, ' Rome
in the Nineteenth Century,' an ingenious work, produced by

line of Mr. Waldie's grand-dangbters, and how comically he

depicted the alarm with which his ancient friend would have

[lerused some of its delineations of the high places of Popery."

The grand-daughter, here referred to, was Jlrs. ICaton, 2d

daughter of George W.ddio, Esq., of Hendersyde Park. Be-

sides 'Rome in the Nineteenth Century,' published in

1820 : she was authoress of 'At Home and .ibro;id;' 'Three

d.ays in Belgium;' 'Days of Battle,' &c. Born in 1788, she

died in 1859. Her youngest sister, Jlrs. Watts, (born in

1790, died in July 1826,) was early distinguished for her

taste in literature and art. She executed between 40 and 50

pictures in oil colours, besides numerous pieces in water colour

and pencil. Many of her paintings were exhibited at the

Royal Academy and British Gallery, and were justly ad-

mired. She was at Brussels during the battle of Waterloo,

and visited the field while as yet the bodies of the dead were

scarcely interred. Her sister, Mrs. Eaton, was with her, both

sisters being then unmarried. Mrs. Watts took a panoramic

sketch of the field, a copy of which she carried with her to

London, and published it, with a description by herself. This

little work, entitled, ' Waterloo, by a near Observer,' went

through ten editions in the course of a few months. In 1820

appeared her ' Sketches in Italy,' and met with great success.

Wallace, a surname, the most illustrious in the annals of

Scotland, originally '-ariously written Walence or Waleys.

The progenitor of all the families of the name of Wallace in

this country is said to have been Eimerus Galeius, so called

on account of his having been, .according to Sir James Dal-

rymple, a native of Wales. Those of this name are, how-

ever, of Anglo-Norman extraction. Eimeru.s, a witness of

the foundation charter of the abbacy of Kelso by David J.

about 1128, is supposed to have been the father of Richard

Walense, who obtained from the high-steward of Scotland a

considerable portion of the district of Kyle in Ayrshire, and

was one of the witnesses to the charter of the Abbey of Pais-

ley, founded in 1100 by Walter the high-steward. His lands

in Ayrshire he named Richardton after himself, now Riccar-

ton, the name of a village and parish in that county. He

was the most powerful vassal of the Stewarts in Kyle. His

elder son, also named Richard, was contemporary with Alan,

the'high-steward, who died about 1204. This second Rich-

ard was the first who spelled his name Walays, .and on his

death, his younger brother, Henry Walays, succeeded to the

family estates. Early in the IStli centiny Henry .acqoired

some laiius under the Stew.arts in Renfrewshire. These lands

were inherited by Adam Wal.ays, said to have been living in
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r2o9. Tliis Adam Wulavs liad two sons, namely, Adam,

who succeeded to tlie Ayrshii'e estate of Kiccarton, and Sir

Malcolm, who received the lands of Elderslie and Auchinbo-

thie ill lieiifiewshire, and was the lather of Scotland's great

iiero, Sir William Wallace.

Sir Jlalcolm inanied Marf;arct, cr Jean, danj;lilcr of ."^ir

Raynauld, or Sir Hugh Crawford of Loudoun, shcrifl'of Ayr.

Some writers assert that hy a previous marriage he had

two daughters, one of whom was married to a Thomas
Ilalliday of Annandalo, while others maintain that he liad

only two sons, Malcolm
;

or, according to Fordoun, .Andrew;

and William, the former hy the first marriage, and the latter

hy the daughter of Sir liaynauld Crawford. The elder

son appears to have succeeded to his father's estates.

He is said to have fallen in a skirmish with the Engli.sli.

In 1291, when Edward I. of England issued an order for

the barons of Scotland to swear fealty to him, the family

of Elderslie absolutely refused to take an oath so subversive

of the independence of their country. With his elder son.

Sir Malcolm took refuge in the fastnesses ol' the I.enuo.x,

while the younger son, William, retired with his mother to

the Carse of Cowrie, to seek the protection of a powerful rela-

tive at Kilspindie. 'I'lience he was sent to receive liis educa-

j

tiou at the seminary attached to the cathedral of Dundee.

A note to the account of the Elderslie family in Carrick's

'Life of Sir William Wallace,' states, that a family of the

name of Walcis existed in England, some of whom appear to

I
have attained the highest civic honours in the city of London.

It continues: "We are informed hy Stowe, that in 12P0,

when part of the palace of Westmin.ster, and tlie puKKc

buildings of the adjoining monastery, were destroyed hy fire,

a parliament was held by Edward in the house of Henry

j

Waleis, mayor of London, at Stebenlieth. Henry Waleis was

also mayor in 1300, and a person of tlie same name is men-

tioned as having contributed largely to the building of ' St.

Martyn's chLrcli, in the vicinity of London ;' he is also said

to have filled the office of mayor, during which time he built

a prison, called the Tun, in Cornhill, for night-walkers. In

I'.'OG, when Edward granted the citizens of London the right

of electing their chief magistrate, one William Waleis was

called by the public voice to the civic chair."

The Wallaces of Craigie, Ayrshire, are descended from Sir

Kichard Wallace of Hiccarton, uncle of the celebrated Sir

William Wallace. Sir Ricliard's grandson, John Wallace of

Riccarton, married 'JLirgaret, daughter and heiress of Sir

John Lindsay of Craigie, whose arms were quartered with

his own. His son, Adam Wallace, was designed of Craigie,

and from him lineally descended Hugh Wallace, Esq. of

Craigie, who in IGCO was created a baronet of Nova Scotia,

witli remainder to his heirs general. Sir Hugli married Est-

her Kerr, daugliter of the laird of Littledean, and liad a son

who was of imbecile mind.

At Sir Hugh's death his grand-nephew, the graiulson of

his brother, the Rev. William Wallace, minister of Ealford,

became second baronet. This gentleman, Sir Thomas Wal-

lace, was lord -just ice-clerk. He bad two sons and four

daughters. The elder son, Sir William, third baronet, leav-

ing an only daughter, was succeeded hy his brother, Sir

Thomas, fourth baronet, who married Rachel, daughter of

Sir Hew Wallace of Wolmet. His eldest son, Sir Thomas,

fil'th baronet, married Eleanor, daughter of Colonel Agnew,

of Loch Ryan, and with one son, a captain in the guards,

who predecea.sed him without issue, had an only daughter,

Frances Anne Wallace. This lady became the heiress of

Craigie, and married John Duid^p, ICsq. of Dunlop. She is

celebrated as the' friend of Burns. She liad five sons and

five daughters. The eldest son. Sir John Dunlop, succeeded

his maternal grandfather as sixth baronet, and assumed the

name of Wallace after his patronymic. The second son, An-
drew, inlierited Dunlop, and was a brigadier-general in the

army. The third son, Lieutenant-general James Dunloji,

was fatlier of Sir John Dunlop of Dunlop, who was created a

baronet in 1838. Sir Thomas Dunlop \\'allace died in 1835.

I5y liis first wife, Egliiiton, daughter of Sir William JIaxwell

of Jlonreith, baronet, sister of the fourth duchess of Gordon,

he had a son. Sir Jidm Alexander Dunlop Agnew Wallace,

seventh baronet. Sir John, born in 1775, entered the army

in 1787, and served with distinction in India, and was present

in tliree general actions before he was 15 years of age. He

afterwards served under Sir Ralph .-Miercromby in Egypt, and

subsequently coniinanded the Connaugbt rangers in the Pen-

insula. For his services at liusaco, Fueutes d'Onore, and

Salamanca, he received a medal and two clasps. He was

appointed colonel of the 8Sth regiment in 1831, and became

a lieutenant-general in 1837, and a general in 1>^51. He

served in the army on full pay for seventy years. He mar-

ried, June 23, 1829, Janet, daughter of Williaiii Rodger, ICsq.,

|

and had five sons and one daughter. He died Feb. 10, 1857. i

His eldest sou. Sir Wiiliam Thomas Francis Agnew Wal-
j

lace, born May 27, 1830, lieutenant-colonel grenadier guards.
j

succeeded as eighth baronet. His brother, Robert Agnew.

born in 183-1, married the eldest daughter of John Bell, E^q.

of Eiiterkine, Ayrsliiic.

From the Riccarton family also descended the Wallaces of

Kelly, Renfrewshire.

Of this latter family Roliort Wallace, Escj. of Kelly, was

the most distinguished. He was the son of John Wallace,

Esq. of Cessnock, Ayrshire, a West India merchant in Glas-

gow, wlio, in 1792, purchased the estate of Kelly, having

previously sold Cessnock. Robert became a partner ol

the extensive West India firm of Wallace, Hunter, and

Co., Greenock, and in 1805 he succeeded his father in the

estate of Kelly. In 1833 he was elected i\I.P. for Greenock,

being the first member for that town in the reformed pariia-

meiit, and for four successive elections lie was returned for

the same place free of expense. After thirteen years' faithful

and laborious service in the House of Commons, he quitted

parliament in 1845. F'loni the outset lie exerted himself in

attempting to put an end to the monopoly of the ministers ot

the crown, who had till then reserved to tliem.selves the pri-

vilege of introducing jmbiic measures into parliament. He was

among the first to attack the errors in our Scotch judicial

system, and the first to urge the reform of post-oflice abuses,

and it was while doing so that .Mr. Rowland Hill stepped in

with his scheme of penny jioslage. That gentleman frankly

admitted that it was Mr. Wallace's exposures that led him to

take up the subject at all ; and that it was his indomitable and

persevering energy in and out of iiarlianient which obtained

the inestimable measure of penny postage to the country.

Mr. Hill wrote—" By four years of incessant attacks Mr

Wallace destroyed the prestige once enjoyed by the post-office,

and exposed it to the wholesome iidhience of public opinion.''

Mr. Wallace's great services to the country, iu connection

with post-office relbrin,. were universally appreciated. He

received the freed<im of the city of (ila.sgow, of Aberdeen, ot

Raislev, Perth, Dingwall, Inverness, and Doynoch. He
j

was presented with an address by the inhabitants of
j

Kilmarnock, and a beautifully written communication from

the postmaster -general of I'rance. His quitting pariia-

mcnt in 18-15 w:is the result of certain reverses of fortune.



WALLACE, 598 SIR AVILLIAjM.

when his political and pei-sonal friends came forward to his

assistance. A public testimonial realized between three and

four thousand pounds, which sum was invested in the pur-

chase of an annuity of about £500 a-year. iMr. Wallace

died 31st llarcli 1855, aged 82. He used to boast of his de-

scent from Sir William Wallace, a name which, he said, he

was proud of, and which he hoped he had never done any-

thing to sully. His brother, Sir James Maxwell Wallace,

K.H., a Waterloo officer, attained the rank of lieutenant-

general in the army in 1855.

Sir William Wallace had no legitimate issue, but is said to

have left a natural daughter, who, according to tradition,

married Sir William Baillie of Stoprig, " a squire of the Baliol

blood," as he is called by Blair, progenitor of the Bailiies of

I-aniington, an estate which previously belonged to a family

of the name of Braidfoot.

The Wallaces of Cairnhill, an Ayrshire family, possessed

that estate for more than two centuries. About the beginning

of the 18th century, Thomas Wallace, father of John Wal-

lace of Cessnock, above mentioned, acquired the lands of

Cairnhill, and died in April 1748. His elder son, William

Wallace, advocate, who died at Glasgow 16th November 1TC3,

was the author of a song called ' Streplion and Lydia.' He
was cousin of Wallace of Kelly.

Another William Wallace, advocate, the son of Kobert

Wallace of Holmston, Ayrshire, writer to the signet, was in

December 1752 appointed professor of universal history in

the university <jf Edinburgh. He was afterwards professor

of Scots law, one of the assessors of the city, and sheriff-

depute of Ayrshire, and died 28th November 1786.

WALLACE, Sir AVilliam, the heroic defender

of the liberties and independence of Scotland, was

the second son of Sir j\Ialcolni Wallace, knight of

Eiderslie and Auchinbotliie, llenfrewshire, and his

wife, the danghter of Sir Raynanld Crawford, sheriff"

of Ayr. riis lineage is given above. He was born,

it is conjectured, about the middle of the reign of

Alexander III., or about 1276. His early years

are said to have been passed under the superin-

tendence of his uncle, a wealth}^ ecclesiastic, at

Dunipnco, in Stirlingshire, from whom he received

the first rudiments of his education, and who was

careftd to instil into his youthful breast the strong-

est sentiments of patriotism and independence.

After the subversion of the liberties of his country

hy Edward I. of England, he was sent to the se-

minary attached to the cathedral of Dundee,

where he contracted a friendship with John Blair,

a Benedictine monk, who afterwards became his

chaplain. Being an eye-witness of most of the

actions of Wallace, Blair, with the assistance of

Thomas Gray, parson of Libberton, composed a

history of them in Latin, and from that wo4-k,

only a few fragments of which have been pre-

served, was derived much of the information con-

tained in the celebrated poem of Blind Harry the

Minstrel, where most of Wallace's achievements

have been commemorated.

The subjugation of his native country by the

English, and the wanton outrages committed by

the soldiery who were left to garrison the various

castles and principal towns, roused Wallace's in-

dignation, and he formed an association among

his fellow-students, for the purpose of defending

themselves and punishing the aggressions of the

intruders, whenever opportunities oifered. Having

been publicly insulted by a youth named Selbj-,

the son of the governor of Dundee, he drew his

dagger and struck him dead on the spot, and

though immediately surrounded bj' the friends of

the deceased, he luckily effected his escape, after

killing two or three other Englishmen who at-

tempted to intercept his flight. For this deed he

was proclaimed a traitor, outlawed, and forced for

some time to lurk among the woods and moun-

tain fastnesses of the country. His extraordinary

personal strength, undaunted courage, enterpris-

ing spirit, and dexterity, as well as his ardent at-

tachment to his native country, with his inextin-

guishable hatred of its oppressors, rendered him

peculiarly fitted to be the leader of a band of pa-

triots burning to avenge the wrongs of their suf-

fering father-land; and he soon attracted to his

side a number of broken and desperate men, who,

weary of the English yoke, resolved to join their

fortunes with one who had so opportunely stood

forth as the assertor of the national independence.

For a long time they seem to have lived chiefly

by plunder and the chase, attacking, whenever

occasion otfered, the convoys and foraging parties

of the English, and retreating, when pursued, to

the woods and secret recesses of the country.

At this period, Wallace, under various disguis-

es, was in the habit of visiting the garrisoned

towns, venturing boldly into the market-places, to

ascertain the strength and condition of the enemy,

on which occasions he had various personal en-

counters with English soldiers, frequently escaping

with difficulty from their superiority of numbers.

His exploits gradually brought a great accession

to his partizans ; and after the battle of Dunbar

in 1296, in which the Scots were defeated with

great slaughter, A\'allace became conspicuously
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known, both Ui fiiciul and foe, iis the Ibrniidablc

commnndcr of a little but increasing iirniy of pa-

triots, wlio were devnledl}' attaclied to tlicir cliief,

and to tlio sncrcd cnnsc of national lilicrty.

Among the first wlioni the, fame of liis successes

brought to his standard were Sir Andrew ]\[oray

of Bothweli, Sir "William Douglas, lord of Dou-

glasdale, designated the Hardy, Sir Robert Boyd,

Alexander Scrimgeour, Roger Kilpntriclc, Alexan-

der Auchinleck, Walter Newbigging, Hugh Diui-

das. Sir David Barclay, and Adam CuiMy
;

also,

Sir John the (.'i-ahant, who became his bosom

friend and eoulidential companion. In the vari-

ous rencounters whirli "Wallace and liis followers

had with the haiglish in difl"erent jiarts of tlie

countiy, particularly in A\'rsliirc, Clydesdale, and

the Lennox, he was uniforndy victorious, while the

lord of Douglas was no less successful in recover-

ing the castles of Durrisdeer and Sanquhar from

the enemy.

Sir William de lla/.clrig, or Ileslojie, the Eng-

lish sherilV of Lanark, having caused '\\'allaee's

sweetheart, the heiress of T>amingtoii, to be ])nt to

death, '\^'alla(e, with thirty of his followers, came

to Lanark- at midnight, burst into Ilazelrig's apart-

ment, and took signal vengeance on him fur his

vilhuiy. The town's peojile aiding "\^'alhlce's par-

ty, the English garrison Mas driven with much

shiughter from the town, and the grent numbers

that noAv flocl;cd to his banners enabled him, with

a formidable force, to defeat a considerable body

of the English, in a regular engagement in the

neighbourhood of Biggar. In revenge for the

b;ise murder of his uncle, Sir Baynauld Crau'ford.

and others of the Scots gentry, by the governor of

Avr, who had invitrd them to a friendly confer-

ence in tli.it town, Walhici', w ith fift}- of his con-

federates, having hastened to the spot, surrounded

"the r.arns of Ayr," wIutc the English to the

number ol' fiOO were cantoned, set them on fire,

and either killed or foi-ced back to ]ierisli in th(>

flames all who attemjited to escape. .After taking

(Jlasgow, ami expelling Bjishop Bek, an English

ecclesiastic, from the recovered city, by a r.ipid

march upmi Scone in May 1297, he surprised

Ormsby the English justiciary, dispersed his force,

and took a rich booty, but Ornisby escaped I>y

llighl. iuio iMighmd.

Wallace now passed into the 'Western Iligli-

lands, and his progress was marked b}' victor}'

wliei'cver he ajipeared. At (his time he was join-

ed by a number of tl;^; nobility, among whom

were the Steward of Scotland, with his bi'Other,

Sir John Stewart of Bonkill, Alexander de Linde-

say. Sir Richard Lundin, and Robert 'Wiselieart,

bishop of Glasgow. Even the young Robert de

Bruce, grandson of the Competitor, deceiving the

vigilance of the English, renounced the allegiance

he had sworn to Edward, embraced the cause of

freedom, and drew his sword with Wallace.

The intelligence of these events reached Edward

while engaged in preparations for an expedition

to Flanders, and he despatched orders to the carl i

of Surrey to adopt immediate measures for the i

suppression of the insurrection. A force of 40,000

foot and ;100 horse was sent into Scotland, under

the command of Surrey's nephew, Sir Henry Ber-

ey, and Sir Robert Clitford, and July 9, 1297,

they came up with the Scots army advantageously

]iosted on a hill near the town of Irvine. Dissen-

sions had, however, broken out among the leaders

of the Scots; the feudal barons, fi-om ]ialtry feel-
|

ings of ]iride and jealousy, scorned to be com-
i

manded by one whom they deemed so inferior to
i

them in rank as Wallace, and, in the midst of

their discussions. Sir Richard Lundin deserted
;

with his followers to the eiu'mv. His example

was in part (juickly imitated by Bruce, the Stew-
;

ard, and his brother, Lindesay, and Douglas, who,
\

by means of Wiselieart, bishop of Glasgow, en-
!

tered into negotiations with Percy, which ended
j

in their submission to Edward. Sir Andrew I\Io- I

ray of Bothweli, anil Sir John the Graham, were
j

the only men of rank who remained with Wallace,
,

and with their and liis own adherents he retired
j

indignantly to the north. Believing that they
j

had \)\\t an end to the revolt, Percy and Clill'ord

withdi'cw their troops and rctm-ned to England :

but AVallacc and ]\Ioi-ay, dividing their forces, '

carried on their operations against th.e English
'

with so mucli vigour, that in a short time all the

strongholds north of the Forth, excejjt the castle

of Dundee, were retaken from the English. ^\':\]-

lace had just laid siege to that fortress, when lie was

ajiprised of the advance of an English army under

A\'illiam de \\'arenne, c:ii-l of SuriTy, and Ores-
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siiigliam the treasurer. Reliuquisliing the siege

of the castle of Dimtlec, to be continued by the

townsmen themselves, by a forced niarcli he has-

tened to oppose the progress of the enemy, and

wlieu tlie English army came on to cross the Forth

by Stii'ling bridge, they beheld the iutrepiil de-

fenders of Scottish freedom posted ou a rising

ground, near the Abbey of Cambuskennetli, jire-

jiared and eager to dispute their passage. The

Scottish army consisted of 40,000 foot and 180

cavahy, while that of the English amounted to

50,000 foot aud 1,000 heavj'-armed horse. Wa-

renue at first had recourse to the arts of negotia-

tion, but Wallace tauntingly sent him back a

message that they came not there to negotiate but

to fight, and to show them that Scotland was free.

The English, under Cressinghani, advanced to

cross the river, and when nearly one-half had

passed the bridge, they were attacked b}' the

Scots with an impetuosity which they could not

withstand, and after a terrific slaughter, Wallace

gained a complete victor}'. Those on the other

side of the river, seeing the day irretrievably lost,

burnt their tents, abandoned their baggage and

standards, and hastened back in disorderly flight

to Berwick, whither their commander, Warenne,

had found his way, but Cressingham was left

among the slain. This memorable battle, fought

September 11, 1297, was followed by the surren-

der of the castles of Dumbarton and Dundee, and

the expulsion of the English from the kingdom.

Soon after, at a meeting of the Scottish nobles,

held in the Forest-Kirk, Selkirkshire, Wallace

was elected regent of Scotland in name of John

Baliol, then a captive in England. The late wars

and the neglect of agriculture, caused hy the dis-

organised state of the country, having spread fa-

mine and pestilence over the kingdom, AVallace

resolved on an expedition into England. With a

large force he proceeded as far as Newcastle, and

after ravaging the northern counties with fire and

sword, sparing neither age nor sex, he returned

with a large and valuable booty to Scotland. Ed-

ward in the meantime hastened from Flanders,

and as soon as he had completed his preparations

for a new invasion of the country, he entered

Scotland at the head of a formidable army of

nearly 100,000 foot .and 8,000 horsemen. WnU

lace, unable to cope with such a force, retired be-

fore him as he advanced, wasting the country in

his route, and removing the people with their cattle

and provisions along with him. The English

troops, in consequence, soon began to feel all the

eifects of want, and Edward was under the neces-

sity of ordering an inglorious retreat. At this

critical juncture, when the military skill of Wal-

lace seemed about to be crowned with complete

success, his plans were rendered abortive by the

treachery of two Scottish nobles, Patrick, earl of

Dunbar, and Unifraville, earl of Angus, who found

means to communicate to the bishop of Durham

the position of the Scottish army, with Wallace's

intention to surprise the English by a night at-

tack, and afterwards to hang upon their rear, and

harass them in their retreat. Edward instantly

ordered his army to advance, and b}' a rapid

march came in sight of the Scottish forces as they

were taking up their positions for battle at Fal-

kirk. The Scots army, commanded by Wallace,

Sir John Stewart of Bonkill, and Coniyn, lord of

Badenoch, did not exceed 30,000 men, and being

compelled to light at a disadvantage, no sooner

were they attacked by the English than Coniyn,

with the division under his command, treacher-

ously turned their banners and marched oft' the

field. The English, in consequence, gained a

complete victoiy, July 22, 1298. Among the

Scots were slain Stewart, brother to the steward

of the kingdom, Macdutf, uucle to the carl of Fife,

and the faithful Sir John the Graham, who was

sorely lamented by Wallace. That great man

himself, when he. saw every hope lost, rallied tlie

broken remains of his army, and, b_v a masterly

I'etreat, conducted them in safety beyond the

Forth, by the way of Stirling, which the}- burnt,

at the same time laying waste all the surrounding

districts. Soon after, the impoverished state of

the country compelled Edward, with his army, to

return to England.

Finding that the nobles were combined against

liiin, and seeing it impossible, in the then circum-

stances of the country, to contend singl}' with the

power of Edward, Wallace resigned the regency,

and it is supposed, for this period of his history is

involved in much obscurity, proceeded to Friince,

in the hope of obtaining assistance from Piiili]),
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the Eruiicli kin;,'. In this, however, he \v:is dis-

appointed, altlionf;li he is said to have been held

in lii.nli I'avoiir w illi that monarch, and to liave

cnlian-ed his rL'i)iitation ioi' personal prowess l)_y

his suecesses against the pirates who then infested

the European seas. Tii l;jO;3 we find him returned

to Scotland, and pur-uiuLC an active and harassing-

system of ]u-cdat(iry warl'are aj,'ain:-l the English,

at the head of a feu of his laithful friends and vet-

eran soldiers.

Eor the complete subjiigalion of the coujitry

Edwanl had, within a few years, li'd li\(' succes-

sive armies across the borders, and alter several

memorable defeats su.'^tained bv the Englisii, he

at last succeeded in subduing for the time the

s])irit. of the Scottish ]ieople. INIust of the nobles

now submitted to him, and even the governors of

the kingdom, Comyn and Bruce, entered into a

stipulatiim for the preser\ alion of their lives, lilj-

erlies, -and lands. Froui the cajiitulation agi'eed

to on this occasion, Edward specially excepted

certain persons, ^vhom lie reserved for varinus de-

grees of punishment. But to the lierdic and still

uuconquered ^^'allace he would ofl'er no terms but

tiiosc of full and unconditional surrender; and,

besides setting a reward of 300 merks on his head,

he issued strict (U'ders to his captains and gover-

nors in Scotland, to n.^e e\ ery endeaNour to secure

him, and send him in chains to England. Jiy the

treacher}' of one nf his servants, named Jack

Short, "\\'alh\ce. was at length, August 5, 130.'),

betinyed, accordiiig to tradition, into the hands

of Sir John Menteith, a Scottish baron, who

cai'tui-cd him at night in bed in the house of one

l!al|)h l!ae, at Robrtn ston, in the neighbourhood

of Glasgow^ for which service lie received from

the English privy council a grant of land of the

luntial value of £ lOU.

"Wallace was liist conveyed to Dumbarton cas-

tle, of w hich INlenteitli w as now governor for Ed-

ward, and afterw ards carried to Lundon heavily

manacled, and guarded by a jiowerful escort. On

i-eaehing London, he was on ."Monday, August 23,

1305, conducted to \\'estmiuster Hall, accompa-

nied by the grand nmrshal, the recorder, the may-

or, sheriffs, and aldermen of the city, and there

fornnUly anaigued of tieason. .A crown of laurel

was in mockei'y jilaci'd on his head, because, as

was alleged, he had aspired to the Scottish crown.

The king's justice, Sir Peter i\Lvllorie, then im-

peached him as a traitor to Edward, and as hav-

ing burneil villages, stormed castles, and slain

many subjects of England. " To Edward," said

"Wallace, " I cannot be a traitor, for 1 owe him

no allegiance. lie is not my sovereign ; he never

received my homage ; and w liilst life is in this

jiersecuted body, he never shall receive it. 'J'o

the other points whereof I am accused, I IVeely

confess them all. As governor of my counti'y, [

have been an enemy to its enemies ; I have slain

the English ; 1 have mortally ojiposed the Eng-

lish king; I have stormed and taken the towns

aud castles which he inijustly claimed as his own.

If I, or my soldiers, have plundered or done inju-

ry to the houses or to the ministers of religion, [

repent nie of my sin ; but it is not of Edward of

England that I shall ask jiardon." In accordance

with the jiredetcrmined resolution of Edward, he

\\as found guilty, and condennied to death, and

the sentence was executed the same day, with

every refinement of cruelty. He was dragged at

tiie tails of horses through the streets of London

to a gallows erected at the Elms in Smithlicld,

where, after being hanged a short time, he was

taken dou n yet breathing, and his bowels toi'n out

and burned. His head w as then struck ofl", and

his body divided into quarters. His head was

]ilaced on a pole on London Bridge, and his right

arm above the bridge at Newcastle ; his left arm

w as sent to Berwick, his right foot and limf) to

Perth, and his left quarter to Aberdeen. He bore

his fate with a magnanimity that secured the a{l-

miration even of his enemies, and his name w ill

be held in everlasting honour by the true-hearted

fricrids of freedom in every age and country. At

the time of his execution it is conjectured that he

was not above thirty-five years of age.

WALL.\CE, I^oiiEKT, D.D., an eminent divine

and statistical writer, u as the only son <if ]\Iat-

thew \\'allace, niiuistcr of the parish of Kincar-

dine, Perthshire, where he was born, Januaiy 7,

1097. He was educated at the granuuar- school

of Stirling and the university of Edinburgh. Ei om

his proficiency in mathematics, he was, in 17:-'0,

chosen assistant to Dr. (Iregory, during his illness.

(Qualifying himself for the ministry, he was, in
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1722, licensed to preacli by the presbyteiy of

Dunblane, .ind, in August 1723, was presented by

the marquis of Annandale to the church and par-

ish of Moffat.

In 1729 Dr. Walhice was elected moderator of

the synod of Dumfries. A sermon wliich he

preached before that body in the following October

having been published, was shown to Queen Caro-

line, who recommended him to the earl of Islay,

then chief manager of the affairs of Scotland.

Wallace was, in consequence, in 1733, appointed

one of tlie ministers of the Greyfriars' church,

Edinburgh. Three years afterwai'ds, however,

he forfeited the favour of Government, by refusing

to read from his pulpit the act relative to the

Porteous riot, but on the overthrow of the Wal-

pole administration in 1742, he was intrusted by

their successors in the niinistr}' with the conduct

of ecclesiastical affairs, so far as related to the

crown presentations in Scotland, and for four

years seems to have managed this delicate duty

in such a way as to give satisfaction to all parties

concerned. He took a principal share in the esta-

blishment of the Scottish Ministers' Widows'

Fund, the idea of which was originally suggested

by Mr. Mathiesou, a minister of the High Church

of Edinburgh. The plan, however, was cliiefly

matured by the exertions of Dr. Wallace and Dr.

Webster. Dr. Wallace was moderator of the

General Assembly in 1743, which sanctioned the

scheme
;
and, in the ensuing November, lie was

commissioned, along with Mr. George Wishart,

minister of the Tron churcli, to proceed to Lon-

don to watch the proceedings in parliament re-

garding it. To his exertions, indeed, it was

mainly owing that the sanction of the legislature

was procured for this important and beneficial

measure. Among the documents preserved in the

office of the Trustees of the Ministens' Widows'

Fund are, ' Pi-oposals in Di-. Wallace's handwrit-

ing, for establishing a General Widows' Scheme,

supposed to be written before the Ministers' Wi-

dows' Fund was projected,' and ' Parcel of Origi-

nal Calculations, previous to the first act of Par-

liament on the IMinisters' Widows' Fmid, holo-

graph of Dr. Wallace.' His portrait, presented

by one of his relatives, graces the Iiall of the trus-

tees, being placed opposite to that of Dr. Webster.

In 1744 Dr. Wallace was appointed one of the

royal chaplains for Scotland. In 1753 he pub-
|

lished his celebrated 'Dissertation on the Num-

bers of Mankind, in Ancient and Modern Times,'

the original sketch of which he had previously

read to the Piiilosophical Society of Edinburgh.

To the work were appended some remarks on
|

]\Ir. Hume's Political Discourse of the Populous-
j

ness of Ancient Nations. The work is remarka-
j

ble, not only for the mass of curious statistical !!

information which it contains, but for the many

ingenious speculations of the author on the sub-
\

jcct of i^opulation, to one of which the peculiar

theories of Mr. Malthus owed their origin. It

was translated into French, under the inspection

of Montesquieu ; and a new edition appeared in ;

1809, with a Life of the author. He died July

29, 1771.—His works arc:

A Sermon preached in tlie High Cliurdi of Edinburgh,

Mnndnv, J.inuarv 6, 174G, upon occasion of tlie Anniversary

Meeting nf the Society in Scotland for Propagating Cliristian

Knowledge.

A Dissertation on the Numbers of JIankind in Ancient

and Modem Times; with an .-\ppendi.'c, containing additional

Observations on the same Subject, and some Remarks on

Mr. Hume's Political Discourse of the Populousness of An-

cient Nations. Edin. 1753, 8vo. (Anon.) 2d edit. Edin.
j

1809, 8vo.

Cb.aracferistics of the Present State of Great Britain. Lon-

don, 1758, Svo.

Various Prospects of M;inkind, Nature, and Providence.
I

1761. !

He left behind liim some manuscript specimens of his ma-
!

thematical labours; and an Essay on Taste, which was pre-
j

pared for tlie press by his son, Jlr. George Wallace, advo-

cate, but never published.

The latter was the author of a work on the 'Nature and

Descent of Ancient Peerages, connected with the State of

Scotland,' 1783; and of 'A System of the Principles of the

I,aw of Scotland,' 17G0. He wrote also a poem entitled
'

' Prospects from Hills in Fife,' published at Edinburgh in 1800. i

WALLACE, William, an eminent mathema-
1

tician, the son of a leather-manufacturer and shoe-

maker in Dysart, Fifeshire, and the eldest of a I

numerous family, was born in tliat burgli, 23d

September 1768. His progenitors had been set-

tled, for some generations, at the village of Kil-

conquhar, in the same county. His grandfather

inherited a small property, the greater part of

which he lost through mismauagenient. He re-
!

ceived the fii'st rudiments of liis education from an

aged willow in his native town, who, besides

keeping a school for children, liad a shop for the i

retail of small wares. About the age of seven he
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was sent to a scliool of a Iiiglier class, where lie

made considerable proficiency in aritlimetic, a

knowledge of wliicli lie liad previonslj' obtained

from his fatlier. About the age of ten he was

withdrawn from school, having learned only to

read, write, and count, for the latter of which ho

had a natural liking.

In 1784 he was sent, in his sixteenth year, to

Edinburgh, to learn the trade of a bookbinder,

and during his apprenticeship he de\oted all his

leisure hours to reading. His father's business,

which had been at one time considei-ablc, was

ruined by the breaking out of tlio AnuM-ican war,

and he had removed with his family to Edinburgh,

and under his parents' roof young Wallace had

the advantage of their encoiu'ngement and moral

superintendence. For the study of mathematics,

to which he devoted himself with great ardour

and enfliusinsm, he had unusual facilities. Be-

sides taking every opportunity of obtaining a

knowledge of the contents of those scientific books

which ]iassed through his hands, he was enabled

to acquire a few mathematical books of his own,

and it -svas his constant i)ractico to read during his

meals as well as on his way to and from the work-

shop. By this assiduous aiiplication, before lie

reached the age of twenty, he had made himself

master of Cuun's Euclid, "Rouayne's Algebra,

Wright's Trigonomctiy, '\^'ilson's Navigation,

Emerson's Fluxions, Eobcrtson's Translation of

La Hire's Conic Sections, and Keill's Astronomy.

On the expiry of his apprenticeship, an ac-

qnainfaiice of his, a carpenter by occupation, who

was eniiiloyed by the celebrated Dr. John Robi-

son, the professor of natural philosophy in Ed-

inburgh university, as an assistant iu his class

expeiiiiieuts, offered to introduce him to the pro-

fessor, ^^llich he did by letter. Dr. Robisoii re-

ceived him with great kindness, and after exam-

ining him, was much struck with his proficiency

ill mathematics, lie gave him an invitation to

attend his lectures gratuitously, and by encroach-

ing with his wovk upon the hours of sleeji, he was

enabled to be present regularly at the class. Dr.

Robisoii also introduced him to his colleague, ;\Ir.

Plavfair, the jirofessor of malheniatics, who lil;e-

wise offered him admission to his lectures. From

inability, however, to attend two classes in one

da}-, he was under the necessity of declining this

most desirable offer. Mr. I'layfair ever after took

a warm interest in his welfare, advised him with
j

respect to his course of reading, and supplied him
j

with books from his own libraiy.

AA'ith the view of having more time at his own

disposal than his occiijiation allowed, he ^^as in-
j

duced to accept the situation of warehouseman in
!

a printing-oflice. At this time Dr. Robison paid

him a visit, and proposed to Iiiin to give private

lessons in geometry to one of his pupils, a propo-

sal which he cagerlj' availed himself of He be-
|

gau the stud}' of Latin, in which he was aidcnl bv

a student, to whom he gave, in return, instruction
j

in mathematics. As an instance of his manner of

turning time and opportunity to account, it may

be mentioned, that while engaged in the printing-

office, in the monotonous duty of collecting the
[

successive sheets of a work from a series of heaps

arranged around a circuit of tables, he lixed up

upon the wall a Latin vocabulary, from which he !

|

committed to memoiy a certain number of words
j

every time lie passed it in making his round.
i

lie next became sho])man to one of the princi-
[ i

]ial booksellers in Ediriburgli, and he now found
j [

leisure both to pursue his favourite studies and to
j

j

increase his stock of knowledge by general read-

ing. Besides giving private lessons in mathcma-
|

j

tics in the evening, he took lessons in French, and
| }

thus obtained an acquaintance with the works of
|

i

the continental mathematicians.
j |

In 1793, while iu his twenty-fifth year, he re- !
i

linquislied his shop employment, and began to sup- !

port himself as a te-u:her of mathematics privately.
\

!

He subseqnenti}' attended a course of lectures on i

mathematics in the university of Edinburgh, and i

also one on chemistry.
,

111 1791, on the rccommcndafion of Professor i

riayfair, ^Ir. Wallace was appointed assistant

teacher of matheinatics in the academy of Perth,
j

'

He now married, and began to write original ma- i

thcmatical papers for the Royal Society of Edin- l
;

burgh, one of whieh, presented in 179G, was en-
|

I

tilled ' Geometrical Porisms, with Examples of I i

i

their Applications to the Solution of Problems.' ;

lie contributed the article ' Poiisni ' and various
]

other papers to the third edition of the h"iicyclo-
j

i

podia Brilannica. He was also a contributor I

|
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to Leybonnie's Repository, the Gentleman's

MatliCmatical Companion, and otlier scientific

publications in England, and so widely extended

was Ills reputation as a mathematician of the high-

est order, that, in 1803, lie i-eceived a letter, un-

der a feigned name, intimating to lum that an

instructor in mathematics was wanted for the

Royal iMilitary College, then established at Great

JMarlow, Buckinghamshire, and recommending

liim to become a candidate for the office. By the

advice of his friend. Professor Playfair, he pro-

ceeded to Great Marlow, and after an examina-

tion, was declared the successful candidate over

several competitors. This appointment he held

for upwards of sixteen years, first at Great Mar-

low, and afterwards at Sandhurst, Berkshire, to

which place the military college was removed. In

1818 the directors of the college resolved that a

half-j'early course of lectures on practical astro-

nomy should be given to the students, and Mr.

AVallace was appointed lecturer. For the purpose

of instructing them in the manner of making

celestial observations, a small observatory was,

under his superintendence, erected, and famished

with the necessary instruments.

In 1819, on the death of Professor Playfair,

then professor of natural philosophy in the uni-

versity of Edinburgh, Mr., afterwards Sir John

Leslie succeeded him in that chair, and Mr. Wal-

)
lace became a candidate for tlie chair of mathe-

matics, vacated by the latter. After a very keen

competition, he was elected by a large majority,

and thereby obtained the great object of his am-

bition, a professorship in a Scottish university.

In 1838, on account of ill health, he nas com-

pelled to resign his chair, having been unable to

perform his duties in person during the three pre-

vious sessions. On his resignation the degree of

doctor of laws was conferred upon him by the

senatus academictis, and at the same time he re-

ceived a pension from the government, in consid-

eration, as the warrant stated, of his attainments

in science and literature, and his valuable services

at the Royal jMilitary College and the university.

When the foin-th edition of the Encyclopedia

Britannica w;\s commenced. Dr. AV^allace under-

took the revision of all the mathennxtical papers

he had contributed to the previous edition, as

well as some of those which had been written by

Dr. Robison ; and several of the more iniportar.t

treatises, particularly on algebra, conic sections,

and tiuxions, were remodelled and almost entirely
1

rcM'ritten.
j

After five years of jn-ivatc life, Prufessor "Wal-

lace died at Edinburgh, 28th April, 1813, in his
'

'

75th year. He was mainly instrumental in the
j

erection of the Observatory on the Calton Hill of ;

that city, and he was the means of procuring a

monument to be erected in Edinburgh to Napier,

the celebrated inventor of the logarithms. lie ;

was one of the original nonresident members of
'

I

the Roj-al Astronomical Societ}- of London, and

from a memoir of liim which appeared in the
|

quarterly fasciculus of that body, published Feb- 1

ruary 9, 1844, the materials for this notice have
y

chiefly been derived. He was also a fellow of the '

Royal Society of Edinburgh, a corresponding
]

'

member of the Institution of Civil Engineers, and !

an honorary member of the Cambridge Philoso- I

phical Society. A few weeks before his death he

was elected an honorar}' member of the Roj'al
}|

Irish Academy. Having a turn for mechanics, he
j

invented an instrument called the Eidograph,

from two Greek words, signifying ' a form,' and

' to draw,' a description of which he presented to

j

the Royal Society of Edinburgh. In copying '

plans or other drawings it answers the same pur-

pose as the common Pantograph, but is greatly
|

superior to it, both in the extent of its application

and the accuracy of its performance. He was !

also the inventor of the Chorograph, an instru-
j

ment for describing on paper any triangle having

one side and all its angles given, and also for con-

structing two similar triangles, on two given

straight lines, having the angles given.

He does not seem to have published any sepa-

rate work but the one first mentioned below. The

subsequent seven papers are among those which

he wrote for the Royal Society of Edinburgh, and

published in their 'Transactions:'

A New Book of Interest, coiitjiiirins: Aliquot Tables, truly

propoi'tioneJ to any <;ivcn rate. Londim, 179-1, 8vo.

Geometricnl Porisnis, witli Examples of tlieir Applications

to tlie Solution of I'rolilems. 179().

Development of a certain Algebraic Formula. 1805.

A new mctboj of expressing the Co-efficients in tlie De-

velopment of the Formula tliat represents the mutual per-
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tii'.bation of two Planets; with an Appendix, piving a quick-

Iv converging scries for tlie rectification of an Ellipse.

New Series for the Quadrature of the Conic Sections, and

the Computation of Logaritlnns. 1808.

Investigation of Formuho for finding the Logarithms of

Trigonometrical Quantities from one anotlicr. 1823.

Account of the Invention of the Pantogi'aph ; and a De-

scription of the Kidograpli. 1831.

Solution of a Functional F.qnation, with its application to

the Parallelogram of Forces and the Curve of Fquilihrium.

1839. Published in the Uth volume of the Society's Trans-

actions.

A paper, entitled ' Two Klemcntarv Solutions of Kepler's

Problem by the Angular Calouhis,' was contributed by him

to the 'Transactions' of the Koyal Astronomical Society in

183C.

To the 'Transactions' of the Cambridge Pldlosophical So-

ciety he contributed a paper, entitled ' Geometrical Theorems

and Formula?, particularly applicable to some Geodetical

Problems.'

In 1838 lie composed a work on the same .-uliject, which

lie dedicated to his friend, Colonel Colby.

W.M!Di..v\v, a surname, one of the oldest in Scotland, the

meaning of which is evidently a guard or fortress upon a hill,

from the Sa.Kon word ward and the Gaelic lav\ a hill of a

conical form. This derivation acquires probability from the

fact that there are various places of the name in Scotland, as

Wardlaw bank in Berwickshire, wliere are the remains of an

ancient camp, supposed to be of British origin, and Wardlaw

or Weirdlaw, a hill, 1,98G feet above the level of the sea, in

the parish of Ktlrick, Selkirkshire. In the ' Cameronian's

Dream,' a poem by .James llislop, mention is made of a hill

in Ayrshire of the n.ame, as

" On Wardlaw and Cairntablc the cleai' .shining dew

Glistened there 'moiig the heath-bells and mountain

flowers blue."

There was an ancitnt parish in Invcrne.-s-slilre of the name

ol' Wardlaw.

W.VKDi.AW, the surname of an ancient family, the first of

which, of Anglo-Sa.\on lineage, was amongst those who

fled to Scotland at the period of the Conquest, and under King

Malcolm Canmore obtained possessions in Galloway, and

also in Fifesliiie. By the adherence of the family to Baliol

they lost their lands, called Wardlaw, in the former district,

but retained those of Tony in Fife. Sir Henry Wardlaw of

Torry, knight, living in the beginning of the 1-ltli century,

married ii niece of Walter, lord -high -steward of Scotland,

and, with two daughters, had two sons, Sir Andrew, his

successor, and ^^'altel•, Cardinal Wardlaw, bishop of Glasgow

from 13G7 to 1387, and ambassador to England in 13G8,

and to France in 1374. He compiled a genealogical account

of the Wardlaws, from their first coming from Saxony into

England about the beginning of the si.xtli century to his own

time, a copy of which was in the Royal library of France

until the Revolution. He was buried in Glasgow cathedral,

and his arms and name were placed near the middle of the

choir, on the right hand of the high altar.

The elder son, Sir Andrew Wardlaw of Torry, knight, had

two sons. Sir William, his successor, and Henry, bishop of

St. Andrews and founder of the university thereof, of whom
a memoir is given below in larger type. The elder son. Sir

William Wardlaw of Torry, knight, succeeded about the year

1421, and died in 1432. By his wife, JIarg.aret, dangliter

of Sir John Oliphant, a lineal descendant of the princess

Elizabeth, a daughter of Robert the Bruce, lie had a son. Sir

Henry Wardlaw of Torry, knight, who was one of the retinue

that attended the young princess Margaret, daughter of James

I., on her w.iy to Rochelle upon her marriage with the dau-

phin of France. One of the lairds of Torry, Mr. Patrick

Wardlaw, " that worthieand religious gentleman," as Calder-

wood calls him, took a prominent part, in the reign of James

VI., in the opposition offered by the greater part of the Scot- '

tish people to the imposition of episcopacy.

From the Wardlaws of Torry were descended several fa-

milies of the name. Sir Henry Wardlaw, knight, was cham-

berlain to Queen Ann, wife of James VI., and was in high

favour at court. The branch to wdiicli he belongeil possessed
j

the estates of I'itreavie and Balmule, in the parish of Dun-
|

fennline, and his eldest son. Sir Henry, was created a baronet

of Nova Scotia by Charles I. in 1G31. From a younger son I

the family of Wardlaw Ramsay of Wliitehill, Mid-Lolliiau,
i

descends.
j

Sir Henry Wardlaw of Pitreavie, third baronet of this

family, founded in 1675 an hosjiitul at the village of Master-
j

town, near Dunfemiline, called the Pitreavie hospital, for the

benefit of four widows, with which he bnrdened a portion
!

of the lands of Mastertown. He ni.arried, ou I3tli June
|

1G9G, Eliz.abeth, second daughter of Sir Charles H.alket, sec-
'

ond baronet of Pitferrane, authoress of the fine ballad of
j

Hardyknute, (see vol. ii. p. 407). This lady was born in
I

April 1G77, and died in 1727, leaving a family, and was in-
;

terred in the family vault within the church of Dunfermline.
;

Her admirable ballad of Hardyknute refers to the battle of
|

the I.args, fought October 2, 126,3. It was long handed

about in manuscript among the domestic circle of her friends

and acquaintance, as a genuine fragment of an ancient bal-

lad. Her brother-in-law. Sir .John Hope Bruce of Kinross,

in sending a copy of it to Lord Binning, son of the poetical

earl of Haddington, and himself a poet, thus wrote :
" In

performance of my promise, I send you a true copy of the

manuscript I found, a few weeks ago, in an old v.ault at

Dunfermline. It is written on vellum, in a fair Gothic char-

•acter, but so much defaced by time, as you will find, that the

tenth part is not legible." Believing the poem to be a genu-

ine production of antiquity, Lord- president Forbes, and Sir

Gilbert Elliot, afterwards lord-justice-cleik, were at the ex-

pense of publishing it in 1719, in a sui.all folio tract of 12

pages. Ramsay printed it in his Evergreen at Edinburgh in

1724, as an ancient ballad. The secret of the author.ship

w.as first disclosed by Dr. Percy in his ' Reliques,' ]iublished

in 17.")0. iMr. Hepburn of Keith, a gentleman well known in

the early part of the 18th century, for high honour and pro-

bity of character, often declared that he was in the house

with Lady Wardlaw at the time she wrote the ballad, and

Mrs. Wedderburn of Gosford, her daughter, and Mrs. .Mi n-

zies of Woodend, her sister-in-law, used to be equally posi-

tive as to the fact. " Both Sir Charles Ilalket and Jliss Eli-

zabeth Menzies (the daughter of Mrs. Jlenzie.'s) concur in

stating that Lady Wardlaw was a woman of elegant accom-

plishment.s, who wrote other poems, and practised drawing '

and cutting papers with her scissors, and who had much wit

and humour, with great sweetness of temper." Lady Ward-

law remodelled the song or ballad of ' Gilderoy.' Mr. Kirk-

patrick Sharpe, in a note to H.ardyknnte in the additional

Illustrations to Johnson's Musical Museum, (vol. iii. page

'319,) s.ays: "Notwithstanding the great .antiquity that h:is

been claimed for 'Sir Patrick SjTens,' one of the finest ballads

in our language, very little evidence would be required to
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persuaiie me tlmt we were not also indebted for it to Ladv

Wardhuv."

Tlie estate of Pitreavie lias long since passed from the

family of Wavdlaw. Sir John Wardlaw, the tenth baronet,

a colonel in the army, served in America and the West In-

dies. He was succeeded by his cousin, Sir William, eleventh

baronet, and the latter by his third surviving son, Sir Alex-

ander, twelfth baronet. Sir William Wardhuv, the thirteenth

baronet, born in 179i, residing in Edinburgh, and unmar-

ried, succeeded his brother in 1833. Heir presumptive, his

brother, Archibald, born in 179G.

AVARDLAW, Henry, a learned and pious

prelate, founder of the universiU' of St. Andrews,

and bishop of that see, was tlie second sou of Sir

Andrew WardlaAv of Torr\', Fifeshire, and ncpliew

of Walter Wardhxw, bishop of Glasgow, wlio, in

1381, was created a cardinal b}' Pope Urban VI.

Having received the usual education of one in-

tended for the churcli, it is supposed at the uni-

versity of Paris, he ^Yas appointed by his uncle

rector of Kilbride, and in virtue thereof became

precentor in the cathedral chnrch of Glasgow. He

afterwards went to Avignon, and while there was

in 1444 preferred by Pope Benedict XHI. to the

vacant see of St. Andrews. On his return to his

native country soon after, bearing the additional

title of the pope's legate for Scotland, his first care

was to reform the lives of the clergj', who had

become notorious for their licentiousness and pro-

fligacy.

In May 1410, Bishop Wardlaw founded tlie

university of St. Andrews, the first institution of

the kind in Scotland. It was established on the

model of the college of Paris, for teaching all man-

ner of arts and sciences, for which, in the year

following, he procured a confirmation from the

Pope, having despatched one Henry Ogilvie for

the purpose. The following account of the foun-

dation of the university, its first professors, and

the rejoicings which took place on the arrival of

the Pope's bull of confirmation, is extracted from

Leighton's History of the County of Fife, (vol. i.

pp. 73, 74) :

" To this good m.an (Bishop Wardlaw) belongs the immor-

tal honour of having founded the first university in his na-

tive country—of being, as it were, the father of the infant

literature of Scotland. The lady Doverguil, tlie wife of John

Raliol, had established Baliol college in the university of Ox-

ford in the 13th century, and a bishop of Moray h.ad insti-

tuted the Scots college at Paris in 1320. It was reserved,

however, for the enlightened understanding of Henry Ward-

law to afford the means of education to his youthful country-

men, without their being under tlic necessity of visiting for-

eign countries for the purpose of obtaining it. The names of

the first professors have been preserved, and are worthy of

being repeated. Laurence of Lindores, whose zeal for the

Catliolic faith was very great, explained the fourth book of

the sentences of Peter Lombard. Kichard Cornel, archdea-

con of Lothian, John Litstar. canon of St. Andrews, John

Slieviz, official of St. Andrews, and William Stevens, after-

wards bishop of Dunblane, expounded the doctrines of the

canon law, from its simplest elements to its most profound

speculations. John Gill, William Fowles, and William Cro-

sier, delivered lectures on philosophy and logic. These learn-

ed persons began their labours in 1410, but it was not till

1413 that the university received the sanction and authority

of the Pope for its institution. On the 3d of February that

year, Henry Ogilvie, master of arts, who had been sent for

tlie purpose, returned irom Italy with the papal bull, on

which occasion, universal festivity and joy pervaded the city,

and the bells of the different churclies rung a merry peal.

The following Sunday, the bulls containing the privileges of

the university were presented, in the refectory of the monas-

teiy, which was splendidly fitted up for the occasion, to the

bisliop, who, arrayed in his pontificals, was surrounded by

the dignitaries of the church in their richest dresses. The
bulls having been read, they proceeded to the high altar,

where Te Deum was sung by the whole assembly, consisting

of bishops, prebends, priors and other dignitaries, whilst four

hundred clerks, besides novices and lay brothers in front of

tlie .altar, and an immense number of spectators, bent their

knees in gratitude and adoration. High mass was celebrat-

ed, and the remainder of the day was spent in mirth and

festivity. In the evening bonfires were lighted, the bells of

the churches rung, and processions of the clergy walked

through the streets. The people indulged in songs, and play-

ed on musical instruments. The wine-cup flowed, the d.ance

succeeded, .and .all was mirth and boisterous enthusiasm."

The site of the original buildings of the institution, which lor

a long period received no higher title tli.an the Pedagogium,

was on the ground now occupied by St. Jlary's college, but

it had apartments in other parts of the city.

During the time that Wardlaw was bishop, two

persons were, hy his orders, burnt at tlie stake for

heresj' ; the one of them, John Resby, an Eng-

lishman, in 1422, and the other, Paul Craw, a

Bohemian, in 1432. Bishop Wardlaw had the

direction of the education of James I., in his

youth, and after the return of that monarch from

his captivity in England, he had the honour of

crowning him at Scone in 1424.

According to Dempster, Bishop Wardhxw was

the .author of a book, ' De Reformatioiie Cleri et

Oratio pro Reformatione conviviorum et luxus,'

which, however, appears to have been nothing

more than a speech on the sumptuary laws of the

kingdom, delivered by the bishop in the parlia-

ment that met at Perth in 1430. He died in tlic

castle of St. Andrews, April G, 1440, and was bur-

ied in the church of that city, " in the wall be-

tween the choir and our lady's chapel," with
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greater pomp tluui any of his prcidecessors liad

been.

WARDLAW, Kai.pii, ]-).D., an eminent divine

and able tlieological writer and controversiali.st,

was boi'u at Dalkcilli, TId September 1TT9.

Wlien six months old, he was removed to Glas-

gow, where he spent tiie remainder of a long and

iisel'ul life. His father, a merehant of much re-

spectability and consistent Christian character,

filled for several years the olliee of one of the ma-

gistrates of that city. His mother was the grand-

daughter of Ebenezer Erskine, the founder of the

Scottish Secession ehureh, being the daughter of

Mr. James Fisher, who succeeded his father-hi-

law, Erskine, as professor of theology in the Se-

cession clinreli.

In liis eighth year he was sent to the Grammar

school of Glasgow, where lie continued for four

years. In October 1T91 he became a student in

the university of tliat city, wiien not quite twelve

years of age, and while at college he distinguished

himself by his diligence and ])ioliciency. On

finisliing the usual academical curriculum, he en-

tered the theological seminaiy of the Secession

church, for the jjurjiose of studying for the ministry

in connexion with that religious body. His instruc-

tor there was the venerable Dr. Lawson of Selkirk.

About the end of the last century, evangelical

doclriiic was at a very low ebb in Scotland, and

Avhen the brothers Ilaldaiie began their lay preach-

ing in 1T9T, a great sensation was j)rodueed, in

consequence of the novelty of their appearance,

and crowds Avcre collected everywhere to hear

tiiem. So great, indeed, was the excitement that

prevailed, that the General Assembly of the

Church of Scotland issued a ' Pastoral Admoni-

tion,' warning the people against the new preach-

ers, and prohibiting the clergy from giving the

use of their pnl])its to any itinerant ministers that

might arrive within their bounds. Two ministers

of the established church, the Rev. Greville Sw-

ing, assist;int minister of Lady Glenorchy's cha-

pel, Edinburgh, and the Re\-. ^^illiam Iiines, one

of the ministers of Stirling, left their charges, and

Avcrc followed by large numbers of pious and in-

fluenlial people. From this arose the Congrega-

tional churches of Scotland, as from a desire to

preach the gospel without being hampered b}'

their coiiiie.xion with any religious denomination

\vhatever, the seceding ministers adopted the prin-

ciples of ludepeiulency. i\lr. Ewing removed to

Glasgow, where he remained till the close of his

life as the pastor of a large and influential Cou-

gregational churcli in AVest Nile Street.

The youthful Wardlaw had fiuished his ]ircpa-

ratory studies, and was about to take license as a

preacher in tlio Secession church to which he be-

longed, when this new movemeiit attracted his

attention. His views on church polity imderwent

a change, and, in 1800, he became a member of the

church which had been formed at Glasgow, under

the pastoral care of Mr. Ewing. He now resolved

to exercise liis ministry in connexion with the

Congregationalists. "With the aid of a few of his

friends, a chapel was erected by him in Albion

Street in that city, and on IGth February 180LI,
!

he was inducted by Mr. ]:]wing to the jjastoral

charge of the congregation meeting there.

In 1811, when the Theological Academy for the

training of suitable persons for the work of the

ministry among the Scottish Independents, was

instituted at Glasgow, Mr. "Wardlaw was ap-

pointed theological tutor, and 'Slv. Ewing profes-

sor of Biblical criticism and church history. Li

the funeral sermon delivered by Dr. Lindsay Al-

exander on occasion of Dr. "\\'ardhi\i 's decease,

he thus refers to his lectui-cs in this character:

"As a theological professor. Dr. "\^^aldlaw laid

the denomination to which he belonged under ob-

ligations which it is impossible to over-estimate.

It was an immense advantage to have one so sin-

gularly fitted for theological investigation jilaced

at the fountainliead of the professional training of
|

our ministry ; and it was no small matter to en-

joy the distinctii)n of having, as the president of

our theological school, one whose reputation as a

divine was spread almost as widely as the lan-

guage in which he wrote. His lectures were ad- i

mirable specimens of acute disquisition, perspica-

cious reasoning, and solid conclusion. Their aim

was principalh' directed to the elucidation and de-

fence of that system of truth which their author

believed to be revealed in the Scriptures. His

theology was primarily Biblical, secondarily po-

lemical. He sought lirst to reach the mind of the

Spirit as unfolded in the written word, and hav-
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ing satisfied liiiriself on tliis point, he summoned

all tlic resources of liis logic to defend the judg-

ment he had formed from cavil or objection. Be-

yond this he did not go much into the region of

systematic or historical theology ; while of the

speculations of mere philosophical theologians he

took little note, as either lying beyond the sphere

which he had prescribed for liimself, or not likely

to be directly useful to tliose whom it was iiis

ambition to train to be ' able ministers of the new

testament.' To those who were privileged to at-

tend his prelections, the}' were valuable not only

for the amount of- sound theological knowledge

which they imparted, but also as models of theo-

logical disquisition, and as affording an excellent

discipline for the faculties of those who were des-

tined to teach others." For the greater part of

the time that he filled the theological chair he re-

ceived no remuneration, and when at length he

did receive a salary, it was so small that it did

little more than suffice to defray the necessarj-.

expenses to which he was subjected in fulfilling

its duties. But to account for this it may be

stated, that at that time the means of the Con-

gregationalists in Scotland were very limited,

while the demands upon them for the upholding

of their institutions were proportionably heavy.

Notwithstanding the gratuitous nature of his ser-

vices, Dr. Wardlaw took great delight in his pro-

fessional duties, and from first to last discharged

tliem with the utmost fidelity and success.

As a preacher Mr. Wardlaw became very pop-

ular, and his congregation increased so much that

the chapel in Albion Street was in course of time

found to be too small for it. A lai-ger building

was in consequence erected in West George's

Street, and opened for divine worsliip 25th De-

cember 1819. Th-e year before, the honorary de-

gree of D.D. had been conferred upon him b}' the

theological faculty of Yale college, Connecticut,

one of the most distinguished of the universities of

the United States.

The character of his pulpit ministrations is thus

described by Dr. Lindsay Alexander: " He made

use of vcr\' little action in the pulpit—of none in-

deed, beyond a veiy slight and somewhat regulat-

ed motion of the hands, with an occasional step

backwards when something more than usually

RALPH, D.D.

emphatic was to be uttered. His sermons too

were more didactic than oratorical in their con-

sti uction
;
being characterised rather by the grav-

itj' of their matter, the perspicuity and force of

the reasoning, the grace of the diction, and the

persuasiveness of his intonation, than hy anything !

like rhetorical brilliancj' or vehement declama-
|

tion. Ills main strength lay in his extensive and
j

exact acquaintance with Scripture, in his argu-
j

mentative distinctness and dexterity, in his re- i

lined taste and felicitous expression, in his unim-

peachable good sense, in the practical sagacity

with which he detected the relation of his subject

to the personal interests and responsibilities of his

audience, and in the wise and affectionate ear-

nestness with which he pressed that upon their
\

attention. lie seldom indulged in any ornament

or any play of fancy. He never sought sncli for

its own sake, and beyond the occasional intro-

duction of some select figure or comparison, he
j

never resorted to it even for the sake of illustra-

tion. He was never dull or commonplace ; but

his vivacity was that of the understanding rather

than that of the imagination. Sometimes, when

handling suitable themes, a burst of feeling would

escape him, which was felt to be perfectly genu-

ine, and which seldom failed to communicate its

contagion to the hearers ; but lie spent no time

on sentimentalities, and showed no ambition to

provoke a tear except as that might be the sign

of his arrow having reached the heart. His chief

aim seemed always to be to convej' fully, clearly

and forcibl}' to the mind of his audience the trutli

presented by the part of Scripture from which he
;

was discoursing. Hence he was eminently tex-
|

tual as a preacher, and scrupulously faithful as an
j

expositor. Hence, also, the practical nature of Ids
|

discourses." In the beginning of his ministry, it

was his custom to preach without notes. His man-

ner is said to have been then constrained, and his

enunciation monotonous. There is even a tradi-

tion that on one occasion he fairly broke down,

and being unable to recover himself, he had to re-

tire, while another minister finished the service.

At a later period he read his discourses, but with

such an exquisite modulation of voice that an

effect not less than that of oratory was produced.

At first he did not confine his preaching to the

608
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cliapel in Albion Street, but often officiated also

in tlie villngi'S surroiuiding Glasgow, his sermons

being delivered at cross roads, in fields, barns,

sclioolrooms, and kitchens. A regidar station of

Ills for man}' summers was at the top of Ralmanno

Street, the liighcst street in Glasgow, where, on

Sabbath evenings, mounted on a chair, lie pro-

claimed the gospel. Of his regular congregation,

it may be stated that a considerable portion were

weavers from Bridgetown. On Sunday niornijigs

these people were accustomecl to meet and pro-

ceed in a bod}' to Albion Street, and in the same

wa}' to return. 'I'lieir departure canseil ipiitc a

sensatiiin in the then (piiet village, and as they

passed, the reniaric might be heai'd, ''Thei'c goes

'^^'ardIaws brigade."'

As an author, Dr. Wnrdlaw was distinguished

no less than as a preacher or divinity professor,

lie jiulilished a great variety- of works, which Dr.

Alexander divides into three classes: theological,

liomiletical, anil biographical. Of these were

sernH)ns, ]wni]ihlets, and more lasting works.

1"ho Socinian and Sabbath questions occupied a

largo share of his attention. In the anti-slavery

agitatimi he was scarcely less conspicuous, and in

many a debate proved himself a ready logician.

In every controvers}' his aim was truth, not victory.

In IS;?.'? he was chosen to deliver the first of I he

Series of Congregational Lectures in London ; and

the course delivered was afterwards published un-

der the title of ' Christian l^thics, or Jloi-al Lhilo-

sojdiy on the rrinci))les of Divine Revelation.'

He also found time to contribute to several of the

evarigelical ^Magazines, and even to cultivate his

poetical ])owers. His verses, though devoid of

much originality, exhibit a refined taste, and great

facility of expression. If not a poet, the spirit of

poetry was in him, blending with lofty devotional

feeling. Among his fellow-students at college

was Thomas Campbell, and it is recorded to Dr.

M'ardlaw's credit that he stood in the list of po-

etical prizemen the same j-ear that the young poet

won his laurels, for those celebrated "translations

from the Greek" which arc still thought worthy

of publication with his maturer poems.

Many attempts were made to induce him to

leave Glasgow for another sphere of labour, but

llicse he successively resisted. The Independent

III.

colleges in England sent liim repeated invitations,

and (itrci-eil to him, either as principal or profes-

sor, ]iusitions not onl\- more lucrative but more

influential. To Iloxton he \\as invitecl in lsl7;

to Rotlierham in 1828, and again in 18313 ; to

Springhill in 1837, and to Lancashire in 1842. In

1828 he had been ]ioiritcd out as one eminently

qualified to till the cliaii' of mental and nn.u-.al

philoso])hy in the ]>ondon university. But in

all these cases he decided on remaining where

he \\ as.

On IGlh I'ebruary 18.');!, he completed the fifti-

eth year of his pastorate. Sermons were jircached

and a festival assembly was held to commemorate

the event. It was also resolved to raise a monu-

ment to perpetuate his name and Morth in the

city where he liad so long and usefully laboured.

Accordingly a lai'ge sum of money was collected,

and a building afterwards erected in a destitute

neiglibourhood, to be used as an educational esta-

blishment, under the name of "The Wardlaw

Jubilee School and IMission House." In the

month of August following, his heallli began to

fail, and after several months of acute agon}-, en-

dured with the utmost patience and I'csignation,

he died 17th December 1853, within a few days

of coniideting his 74tli year. He was buried in

the Necropolis of Glasgow, his fiuieral being at-

tended by the lord - provost, magistrates, and

council of the city, the professors of tiie universi-

ty, the clergy of all denominations, and hundreds

of the citizens.

At the commencement of his ministry he had

married his cousin, Jane Smith, who surxived

him. and by whom he had a large family.

One of his sous was a missionary at Bellary,

in the JCast Indies, and another a mercliant in

(ilasgow. Two of his daughters were married to

missionaries, one of whom, ]\Irs. Keid, returned

to Glasgow, a widow, with her family. It may

be stated here that Dr. Wardlaw "s grandfather, a

merchant in his native town, Dalkeith, was con-

nected with the "W'ardlaws of Pitreavie in Fife,

and that he could trace his descent on his mother's

side from James Y. .jNIcmoii's of the Life and

^\'|itings of Dr. ^\'ardlaw, by 'William Lindsay

Alexander, D.D., were published at Edinburgh

in 1855.—Among Dr. Wardlaw's works are:

2q
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Sermons.— Cliristian Mercy. A Sermon preaclied at tlie

request of the Glasgow Female Societj-. T810.— Qualifica-

tions for Teaching, essential to tlie Character of a Cliristian

Bishop. A Sermon preached 13th March, 1811, at the in-

stitution of the Glasgow Theological Academj-.—The Doc-

trine of a Particular Providence : a Sermon preached August

23, 1812, on tlie death of the author's brother, Captain John

Wardlaw, who fell in the battle of Salamanca. Glasgow,

1812. Three editions.—Discourses on the Principal Points

of the Sociuian Controversy. Glasgow, 1814, Svo. 2d edi-

tion, 1828, with additions.—The Scriptural Unity of the

Churches of Christ illustrated and recommended. A Sermon

preached on occasion of the fifth Annual Meeting of the Con-

gregational Union for Scotland, 1817.—The Contemplation of

Heathen Idolatry an Incitement to Missionary zeal. A Ser-

mon preached before the London Missionary Society Jlay 13,

1818, and published at their request.—Sermon preached on

occasion of the Death of the Piev. Dr. Balfour of Glasgow,

Oct. 13, 1818.—The Truth, Nature, and Universality of the

Gospel; a Sermon preached at Stirling June 29, 1819, at the

Anniversary Meeting of the Society for Stirlingshire and its

vicinity in aid of Jlissions and other religious ohjects.

—

Charge delivered by Dr. Wardlaw at the Ordination of the

Eev. Archibald Jack, Whitehaven. Published with the other

discourses delivered on the occasion. Kdin. 1S20.—The pur-

poses of Divine Mercy to the Seed of Abraham. A Sermon

preached April 25, 1820, on behalf of the Society for promot-

ing Christianity among the Jews.—The Christian Duty of

Submission to Civil Government. Glasg. 1820, 8vo.—The

Vanity of the Earthly Hopes of Man. A Sermon preached

Dec. 9, 1821, on occasion of the death of Mr. William

Friend Durant, of Poole, Dorsetshire, Student in the Uni-

versity.—The Early Success of the Gospel an Evidence of its

Truth. A Sermon preached ilay 20tli, 1823, before the

Home Missionary Society, and published at the request of

ils Directors. Loud. 1823, 8vo.—Love to Christ. 1823.—The

Divine Dissuasive to the Young against the Enticements of

Sinners. Glasg. 1824.—Two Discourses on Man's Responsi-

bility for his Belief. In reference to a statement in the In-

augural Discourse of Jlr., afterwards Lord Brougham, as

Lord Rector of the University of Glasgow, delivered April U,

1825. 2d edition, with addition of Two Sermons on the Re-

sponsibility of the Heathen. Ghisg. 182G.— Christ the First

Fruits. A Sermon preached September 21, 1828, on occa-

sion of the lamented death of Jlrs. Greville Ewing.—Collected

Sermons. Glasg. 1829.—Love to Christ the Constraining

Principle of the Christian Mmistry. A Charge delivered in

the Soots Church, Crown Court, London, at the Ordination

of John Reid, M..\., as a Jlissionary to Bellary in the East

Indies, August 18, 1829. Published by request.—Christ's

Care of his Servants: a Sermon preached May 23, 1830, on

occasion of the death of the Rev. John Hercus. With an

Appendix, containing a brief Jlemoir. Glasg. 1830, Svo.

—

Discourses on the Sabbath. Glasg. 1832, pp. 295, r2mo.

—

The Voice of the Spirit to the Churches. A Sermon preached

at the Annual Meeting of the Scottish Congregational Union

at Edinburgh, in May, 1832.— Civil Establishments of Chris-

tianity tried by their only authoritative test, the Word of

God. Glasg. 1833, 8vo.—The Jubilee: A Sermon preached

in West George Street Chapel, Glasgow, August 1, 1S34, the

day of Negro Emancipation in the British Colonies. Glasg.

1834, Svo.—The Jlinistry of the Gospel the Service of Christ.

An Ordination Charge. 1840.—The Revival of Religion : A
Discourse. Glasg. 1841, 12mo.—The End of Living and the

Gain of Dying to the Faithful Servant of Christ. A Sermon

pre;iched August 8, 1811, on occasion of the death of the

Rev. Greville Ewing.—On Christian Communion. A Ser-

mon. Glasg. 1842.— Discourses on the Nature and Extent

of the Atonement of Christ. Glasg. 1844, post 8vo, pp. 285.

—The Final Triumph of God's Faithful Servants. A Sermon

preached June 18, 1843, on occasion of the death of the Rev.

Dr. Fletcher.—The End, the Time of Divine interpretation;

and the Duty and Peace of Waiting for it. A Sermon

preached on occasion of the death of the Rev. John Morell

Mackenzie, by the melancholy loss of the steamer Pegasus,

which struck upon the Goldstone Rock, oflT the coast of

Northumberland, between night and morning of July 20,

1843. Nearly one-h.ilf of the Sermon is devoted to .i sketch

of the Life and Character of Mr. Jl.ickenzie, who was Dr.

Wardlaw's Colleague in the Theological Academy.—Sermon

preached on occasion of the death of the Rev. Alexander

Campbell, Pastor of the Congregational Church, Greenock.

Appended to his ' Select Remains.' Glasg. 1845.—Senuon

preached on the death of the Rev. Di-. Heugh, published,

along with two others, Glasgow, 1845.—Sermon and Speech

on the Purity of Church Fellowship, contributed to ' The
Jubilee Memorial of the Scottish Congregational Churches,'

held at Edinburgh in Oct. 1848.—The Call to Repentance.

A Sermon. 1851.—What is Death? A Seimon delivered in

Poultry Chapel, London, on the Evening of Nov. 27, 1851,

on occasion of the death of the Rev. John Philip, D.D., for

thirty years Superintendent of the Missions of the London

Missionary Society in South Africa. With an Appendix.

Edin. 1852, Svo.—The Christian's final Home. A Sermon

preached February 29, 1852, on occasion of the death of the

Rev. Christopher Anderson, Pastor of tlie Baptist Church,

Charlotte Street Chapel. Edin. 1852, Svo.—In the Scottish

Pulpit for S.iturday, March 31, 1832, appeared a Sermon

on ' The Agency of God in Human Calamities,' preached by

Dr. Wardlaw on the day of the National Fast appointed on

account of the visitation of the Cholera.

Lectures.—Three Lectures on Rom. iv. 9—25. With

an Appendix on the Mode of Baptism. Glasg- 1807.—Lec-

tures on the Book of Ecclesiastes, 1821, 2 vols. Svo. 2d.

edit. 2 vols. 12mo. Glasg. 1838.— Christian Ethics, or Moral

Philosophy on the Pri?iciples of Divine Revelation. Being

Lectures delivered in London as the first course in a series

instituted by the Committee of the Congregation.al Union

and Library in the Metropolis. 1833. Third edition, 1836.

Subsequent editions. For these lectures he received from the

Committee il30.—The Importance of the Church Contro-

versy and the Manner in which it ought to be conducted.

1838.—Lectures on Church Establishments delivered in Free-

masons Hall, London. London, 1839, Svo, pp. 391.—Lec-

tures on Female Prostitution: its Nature, Extent, Eifects,

Guilt, Causes, and Remedy, &c. Glasg. 1S42, post Svo.

—

Lecture on the Headship of Christ as aflected by National

Church Establishments. Glasg. 1847.— Lectures on Sys-

tematic Theology. A Complete System of Polemic Divinity.

By Ralph Wardlaw, D.D. Edited by the Rev. James K.

Campbell, M.A. 3 vols. Svo. Posthumous

MISCELI,.\NEOUS.

Essay on Mr. Joseph Lancaster's Improvements in Educa-

tion; the substance of which was read before the Literary

and Commercial Society of Glasgow. 1810.

Unitarianisni incapable of Vindication. Glasgow, 181G, Svo.

A Collection of Hymns for Public Worship. 5th edit.,

Glasg. 1817, 12mo. 12th edit., Edin. 1847, 18mo.

Essay on Benevolent Institutions for the Relief of the

Poor: the substance read to the Literary and Commercial

Society of Glasgow, April 1817. Glasg. 1817, 8vo.
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All Appciil ;ig;iinst Jlisrepresentation and Caluinnv,

written in defence of tlie Rev. Mr. Campbell, Independent

minister at 01)an, wlio liad been assailed by a party belong-

ing; to the Kstablislied Cburcli, in an ' Address to tlie Reli-

gious Public' 1S20.

A Second Appeal to the Public, in answer to the Reply

of a Committee of the Inbal)itants of Oban. 1820.

A Dissertation on tlie Scriptural Authority, Nature, and

Uses of Infant Baptism. Glasg. 1825, 8vo. Kew edition,

1847.

A Reply to the Letter of the Rev. John Birt, of Manches-

ter, to Dr. Wardlaw, ' On some Passages in his Dissertation

on Infant Baptisni.' Glasg. 1825, 8vo.

Two lO.ssays. I. On the Assurance of Faith. II. Ort the

IC.Ntent of the Atonement, and Universal Pardon. 18."0.

Tliird edition. Glasg. 1S3G, 12mo.

K.xposure Exposed: A Statement of Facts relative to West

George Street Cliapel, Glasgow. Glasg. 1834, Svo. This

pamphlet was one of the innumerable publications which

were called forth by the Voluntary Controversy.

Speech of the Rev. Dr. Wardlaw, at the Public iMecting in

Gl.-isgow, for the Separation of Church and State, JIarch Gth,

183-1, with the Memorial to Karl Grey, and the Petition to

Parliament, adopted at the Jleeting. 2d edition. Glasg.

183-1, 12mo.

l-'ricndly Letters to the Society of Friends. Glasg. 1S3G,

12nio.

Sketch of the Life and Character of the Rev. Robert S.

;\I'A11 of Manchester, LL.D., prefi.Ked to his Collected Dis-

courses. 2 vols. Svo, 1810.

Letters to the Rev. Hugh M'Xeile, M.A., on some portions

of his Lectures on the Church of England, 1841.

Memoir of the Rev. Jolin Reid, late Missionary at Bellary.

Gla.sg. 184-1, Svo.

The Life-of Joseph and the Last Days of Jacob. A Book

for Youth and for Age. Glasg. 1844, small Svo, pp. 426.

A Catholic Spirit, its Consistency witli Conscientiousness.

Being one of the ' Essays on Christian Union' by eight min-

isters of different denominations, published in one volume at

Glasgow in 1845.

Congregational Independency, in contrauistiiiclioii to Kjjis-

cnpacy and Presbyterianism, the Church Polity of the New
Test.imont. Glasg. 1818, post Svo. pp. 37!).

Treatise on Miracles. Edin. 1852, post Svo.

He contributed an Introductory Essay to Doddridge's

Practical Discourses on Regeneration, one of the series of Se-

lect Christian Authors published by Mr. Collins, Glasgow,

1829; also an Introductory Essay to Clark's Collection of

Scripture Promises, .another of Collin.s's Select Christian

Authors. 1830. He ajso supplied an Introductoiy Ess.iy to

an edition of Bishop Hall's Contemplations on the Historic;U

Passages of the Old and Ken- Testaments, in 2 vols. Svo.

Glasgow. 1830.

He also edited an edition of 'The Hebrew Wife; or the

Law of Jlarriage K.\aniined,' by Mr. Dwight, an American

lawyer. Glasgow, 1837.

To the Missionary Magazine, and the Scottish Congrega-

tional Magazine ho was nn occasional contributor.

Posthumous Works. Published by FuU.arton & Co. 1SG2.

W.MiuE.N'DKi!, a surn.imc evidently originally derived from

the chase, borne by a family possessing .i baronetcy, the first

of whom, George Warrender, Esq. of Locheiid, East Lothian,

M.P., an eminent merchant in Edinburgh, and lord-provost

of that city in the reigns of King Willi.ain, Queen Anne, .ind

George I., was created a baronet of Great Britain .Tunc 2,

1715. llis son, Sir John, 2d liaronet, dyins in 1773, v.'as

succeeded by his only surviving son. Sir Patrick, 3d baronet.

This gentleman, born March 7, 1731, served as a cavalry

officer at the battle of Minden. He was afterwards JLP. for

the Haddington burghs, and king's remembrancer in the

court of E.'cch e(juer in Scotland. On his death, in 1799, his

elder son, Sir George, born Deo. 5, 1782, became 4th baronet.

He graduated at Christ church, O.xford, and in 1822 was

sworn a privy councillor. Dying in 1840, he was succeeded

by his brother. Sir .lolin, fifth baronet, born in 178G, married

first in 1823, a daughter of James, earl of Lauderdale, by

whom liR had a son and a daughter; and 2dly, in 1831, a

sister of Lord Alvanley. His daughter, Helen Catherine,

111., in 1854, George Baillie, Esq., younger of Mellerstain and

.lerviswoode, Berwickshire, wiio, on his father succeeding to

the earldom of Haddington in 185S, became Lord Binning.

The son, George, at one period a captain in the Coldstream

Guards, m., in 1854, Helen, only child of Sir Hugh Hume
Campbell of Marchmont, baronet.

WATSON, David, chiefly known as tlic ti-ans- i

lator of Horace, born at Brecliin in 1710, was I

educated at St. Leonard's college, St. Andrews,

and was afterwards appointed professor of pliilo-

soi)liy tliere. In 1747, when the colleges of St.

IjConard and St. Salvador were united, he was

deprived of his chair, on which he went to London.

His well-known translation of Horace was pub-

lished in two \'olnines Svo, with notes. He died
!

in destitute circnnistances near London, in 175G, I

and was buried at the expense of the parish. Be-

sides his translation of Horace, he wrote ' A Clear

and Compendious History of the Heathen Gods

and Goddesses, and their Contemporaries,' for the

nse of Schools. London, 1752, 8vo.

WATSON, Robert, LL.D., an elegant histo-

rian, was born at St. Andrews about 1780. He
j

was the son of an apothecar}- of that town, who

was also a brewer. He received his education at
'

i

the school and university of his native place, and I

toimprove himself he removed first to the universil}- t

of Glasgow, and afterwards to that of Edinburgh.

Having acquired a knowledge of the principles

of universal grammar, he prepared a course of lec-

tures on style and language, and also one on rhe-

toric, both of which he delivered at Edinburgh, by
|

which he secured the friendship of Lord Kamcs,
,

]Mr. Hume, and other eminent men of tiiat day.
j

About this time he was licensed to preach ; and a !

vacancy having occurred in one of the churches of
|

St. Andrews, he oflered himself a candidate for it,

but was disappointed. Soon after, however, on

the retirement of j\Ir. Rymcr, he obtained the pro-

fessorship of logic in St. Salvador's college, to
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wliich was added, b_y patent from tlie crown, tliat

of rhetoric and belles leltres. On tlie death of

Principal Tullidelpli, in November 1777, he was

appointed, through the influence of the earl of

Kinnoul, principal of the college, and at the same

time presented to the church and parish of St.

Leonard. lie had previously received the degree

of doctor of laws. Dr. Watson wrote the ' His-

tory of riiilip II. of Spain,' published in 1777,

which obtained for him a considerable degree of

literary reputation. He had finished the first four

books of a ' History of the reign of Philip III.,'

when he died, March 31. 1781. The work was

completed, by the addition of two more books, by

Dr. William Thomson, and published in 1783.

Dr. Watson married a lady of singular beauty

and virtue, the daughter of Dr. Shaw, professor

of divinity in St. Mary's college, by whom he had

five daughters, who survived him.

WATSON, George, an eminent portrait paint-

er, and first president of the Scottish Academy of

Painting, Sculpture, and Architecture, was the

son of John Watson of Overniains, Berwicksliire,

by liis wife, Frances Veitch of Elliott. He was

born at Ovcrmaius in 1767; and received his early

education in Edinburgh. His taste for art was

first shown by his eniploying himself during an

illness, while a boy, in copying a print with pen

and ink
;
and, on being sent to Edinburgh for his

general education, he assiduously set about im-

proving liimself in drawing and acqnii'ing know-

ledge in the study of nature. When eighteen

3'ears of age, he went to London, carrying with

liim an introduction to Sir Joshua Reynolds. For

about two years he was a pupil of that great

artist.

On his return to Edinburgh he commenced por-

trait paintei', and about the same time married

Rebecca Smellie, eldest daughter of ]\Ir. William

Smellie, printer, one of the founders of the Scot-

tish Antiquarian Society, of whom a memoir is

given at page 475 of this volume. At that time

there were few portrait painters in Edinburgh, the

two princip.'vl being Raeburii and IMartin.

In 1808, with some of his brother artists, he

commenced an exhibition of modern art, in Corri's

Lyceum, Nicholson Street, inuler the name of the

Society of Scottish Artists, of whicli he was elected

president. It was attended with so much success

that the members opened another, in the following

year, in Mr. afterwards Sir Henry Raeburn's

rooms, York Place, where it continued to be held

for four successive years, with increasing encour-

agement. Mr. Watson also established a life

academy in connexion with the society. A reso-

lution having been carried at a meeting of the

members for the division of the surplus funds,

after payment of the expenses of the exhibition

and life academy, the society was dissolved, in

spite of the strenuous efforts of Mv. Watson and

eight other artists, to prevent such a result. On

the dissolution of the society, the members pre-

sented Mr. Watson, as their president, with a

handsome piece of plate as a token of their

esteem.

After the dissolution of the former society, a

considerable number of the Edinburgh artists con-

tinued to exhibit in the Institution Rooms, till

1826, when the Scottish Academy was founded,

on the model of the Royal Academy of London,

and Mr. Watson was unanimoush' elected its first

president. While his health permitted lie j-earl}"^

contributed largelj^ to its exhibitions, which were

held in the Waterloo Rooms, and by his zeal and

firmness of purpose, during its early difficulties,

he contributed materially to placing it on a suc-

cessful and permanent footing. In 1838 the Scot-

tish Academy was incorporated by royal charter.

It consists of thirty academicians, and twenty as-

sociates. Mr. Watson died before the charter

was obtained, September 6, 1837, aged 70, after a

long illness of 15 years. He was survived by a

widow, two sons, and three daughters, out of a

family of nine children.

Upon exhibiting some of his portraits at the

Royal Academy of London about 1815, Mr. Wat-

son received numerous invitations to that city,

and while there he painted, among muny others,

the portraits of the Dean of Canterbury, Lord and

Lady Comberniere, and a characteristic one of

Benjamin West, president of the Royal Academy.

The latter is now in the National Gallery of Scot-

land at Edinburgh, having been presented to the

Royal Scottish Academy by his son, Mr. William

Smellie Watson, R.S.A. A duplicate of this por-

trait having been sent to the Academy of Art at
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yuiitli C;iioliiia, Mr. Wat.sou was elected an lion-

oraiy inoiiiber tlit'i'cuf. It was aftorwanls exhi-

bited tliroii;,'li till' wiiulc ol' tlie I'liiti'd States of

Ainofica, \\itli lircat eclat.

Sir Joliii 'Watson (Jordmi, tlie disliiiguislicd

portrait naiiitci-. « lio « as elected ])resideiit of the

I

Ivoyal Scottish Academy, on the death of Sir Wil-

j

liam Allan, in 1850, is the iiepheu- of the subject

I

of this memoir, wlio \\as a third cousin of Sir

AValter Scott.

I

Among the i>aintings of iVIi-. "Watson while pre-

: sident of the Scottish Academy were:—Portrait of

I

Sir Charles Kerr; Tlie Hermit; James Hogarth;

I
Colonel Rl'Donald, 91st regiment, and his Lady;

Forrest Alexander, painted for the Commercial

Bank of Scotland ; Jewish Doctor; Rev. Bishoji

Patterson; Old Soldier; Female Ornithologist; Sir

Peter Murray, Tiii'eipland ; Narrative interrupted,

with Portraits of Gentlemen.

WATT, Jamks, a celebrated natural pliiloso-

plier and civil engineer, the great improver of the

j

steam-engine, A\'as born at (Irecnock, January 19,

i

173G. His great-gi-andfather, a farmer of Aber-

deenshire, was killed in one of Montrose's battles,

wlien his property, being forfeited, was lost to the

famil}-. The son of this man, Thomas W'ntt, es-

tablished himself in Greenock as a teacher of

matliematics and tlie elements of navigation, and

was baron bailie of the burgh of barony of Craw-

I

ford's Dyke. He had two .sons, the elder, John,

j

a teacher of inatlicmalics and surveyor in Glas-

j

gow, died ill 1737, at the age of fifty, leaving a

' Survey of the River Clyde, from Glasgow to the

Point of Toward,' wliieli was published liy his

!
brother several years afterwards. The younger

j

son, James, the father of the celebrated engineer,

I

was a builder and merchant in Greenock, of w hich

I
town lie was for a quarter of a century councillor,

I

treasurer, and one of the magistrates. He died

at the age of 84, in 1782.

j

James Watt; the subject of this notice, was the

j

elder and only surviving child of tlie latter, his

brotlier, John Watt, a youth of promising abili-

ties, being lost at sea soon after he came of age.

He received his first instructions in reading fi-oni

his mother, whose name \\'as .-Vgnes ^liiirhead,

whilst his father taught him writing and arith-

metic. He was afterwards placed at the elemen-

tary public school of Greenock, but the delicacy

of his liealtli interfered with his regular attendance

on the classes, and for the greater part of his time

he was confined to his chamber, Mlicre he devoted

himself to unassisted study. He early displayed

a partiality for mechanics, and when only six

years of age he was observed at work with a piece

of chalk upon the floor of a room drawing a geo-

metrical jiroblem. AVhile still a mere boy, his

attention began to be attracted to the great jiower

of steam, as the following interesting anecdote

Mill show:—His aunt, l\lrs. ]\Iuii'head, silting

With him one evening at the tea-table, said,

" James, T never saw such an idle boy ! Take a

book, and employ yourself usefully ; for the last

half hour you have not sjioken a word, but taken

ofT the lid of that kettle and put it on again, hold-

ing now a cup and now a silver spoon over the

steam, watching how it rises from the spout, and

catching and counting the drops of water." It

appears that when thus re))roved, his active mind

was engaged in investigating the condensation by

.^eam. We arc told that he prosecuted almost

every branch of science with equal success, and

especially took so mucli interest in reading books

on medicine and surgery, that he was one day de-

tected conveying into his room the head of a cliild

Mliicli had died of some obscure disease, that he

might take occasion to dissect it.

After passing a year with some Glasgow rela-

tives, in 175.'), while only eighteen years old. a

desire for imiirovcment in mechanical art induced

him to go to London, where he placed iiimself un-

der the tuition of Mr. John Morgan, mathematical

and nautical instrument maker, in Finch Lane,

Cornhill. To that gentleman an apiM-enticesliii)

fee of twenty guineas was ]>aid with him. Ten

hours a-day was given up to a trying sedentaiy

employment, -which involved much exertion of

thought as well as mucli weariness to the frame.

He also worked over hours to win a little monev

fiH' himself, and made the sum of eight shillings

a-week siillice for his nourishment. At the end

of a year ill health compelled him to return to

Greenock. He now ]iursued his studies and oc-

cupations without more instruction, and in 1757

settled in Glasgow as a maker of matliematical

instruments. i\leeting with opposition from some
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of the corporations, on account of his supposed In-

fringement of tlieir privileges, tlie professors of

tlie university interfered, and attaclied liim to

tlieir establisliment. He liad been employed to

repair some astronomical instruments which had

been bequeathed to the university by a Jamaica

proprietor, and had suffered some injury by tlic

voyage. This commission earned for liim more

than the £5 ivhich, as the records bear witness,

he received for his work. Before he had reached

his twenty-first year he was allowed to occnpj' a

small Avorkshop for carrying on his business with-

in the college precincts, witli the title of " mathe-

matical instrument maker to the university." He

had also an apartment within the college, where

he lived. His principal protectors on the occasion

were Adam Smith, author of 'The Wealth of

Nations ;' Dr. Black, the celebrated discoverer of

latent heat ; Robert Simson, the eminent mathe-

matician ; and Dr. Dick, professor of natural plii-

losoph}'. These great men thought then that

they were only delivering a zealous and able

workman from the overbearing of the corpora-

tions, but soon after recognising in him a first-

rate man, they bestowed on him their warmest

friendship. Before the close of his residence in

the university, which lasted six j^cars, his work-

shop became a sort of academy, whither students,

professors, and eminent men of Glasgow resorted,

to discuss difficult questions of art, science, and

literature. " When any difficulty arrested us in the

university," saysRoblson, oneof the most illustrious

editors of the British Cyclopedia, in an unpub-

lished paper quoted by Arago, " we used to run

to our workman. When once excited, an}^ sub-

ject became for him a text for serious study and

discoveries. He never let go his hold, until he

had entirely cleared up the proposed question.

One day the desired solution seemed to require

that Leopold's work on machines should be read

;

Watt immediatel}^ learned German. On another

occasion, and for a similar reason, he rendered

himself master of the Italian language." Although

totally Insensible to the charms of music, and not

able to distinguish one note from another, he con-

structed an organ, which exhibited essential Im-

iniprovements in the mechanical details, in the re-

gulators, and in the method of measuring the force

of the wind, and which showed, too, no deficiency

In its powers of harmony.

Having directed much of his attention to the

subject of the elasticity of steam, and its conse-

quent availability as a motive power, about 1761

or 1762 Watt tried some experiments on Papin's

digester-,—the contrivance of an Ingenious French

emigre of that name, made In London to realize

In practice his discovery of its property of pro-

ducing a vacuum In space by means of refrigera-

tion, as a counterpoise and auxiliary to its elasti-

city, In obtaining an alternate or oscillatory mo-

tion,—and he had worked with strong steam a small

model of his own consti'uctlon, but the imperfec-

tions inherent to its application In the crude mo-

del of the Huguenot doctor prevented him at the

time from proceeding with it farther. In tlie win-

ter of 1763-4 he was employed by Professor An-

derson, who had succeeded Dr. Dick in the chair

of natural philosophy, to put in-order a working

model of a steam-engine upon Newcomen's con-

struction, which had never worked well. In this

machine, then first made known to Watt, the con-

structor,—a hardware dealer at Dartmouth, whose

name it bore,—following Papin In the use of the

vacuum-producing, in conjunction with the expan-

sive, qualities of steam, had,

—

\)y separating the di-

gester of the latter, which was boiler, cylinder,

and condenser in one, into two vessels ; a boiler

or caldron, and a cylinder ; the former for gener-

ating the steam, and the latter, i-cceiving it from

the caldron, for exciting alternate motion, although

of a slow kind, first by its expansion, and next

by Its condensation,—produced a real and useful

motive power, and opened the way to further and

far more important improvements on the part of

the subject of our memoir. In Newcomen's en-

gine, the vacuum was at first produced hj exter-

nal refrigeration. A second and larger cylinder

enveloped the -working one, and into the circular

space between them an ample quantity of cold

water was poured, the chill of which gradually

penetrated through all the thickness of the metal,

and at least reached the steam itself. The tardi-

ness with which steam would cool and lose its

elasticity by means of such a process was a seri-

ous Impediment to its general usefulness. But

accident fortunatelj- soon indicated a \QYy simple
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way of obviating it. Hie closel)- littoil but move-

able circular plate called a jjistou, which travels

up and down the inner circumferoiee of the cylin-

der with each expan,';ion and contraction of the

steam below, was at the beginning of the eight-

eenth century, wlieu the art of casting metallic

cylinders was in its infancy, covered with \\ater

on its upper surface, intended to till up the vacan-

cies between its circumference and the surface of

the cylinder. One day the piston leaked, and, to

the great surprise of the workmen, the engine be-

gan to oscillate much faster than usual. It was

discovered that the drops of cold water that i'ell

into the c}-lindcr, by passing through the steam,

annihilated it rapidly. This incident led to the

ab.'indonment of exterior I'efi'igeration, and means

were taken to shed a shoircr ofcoldzvatcr through-

out the capacity of the cylinder at the instant of

the ])iston's descent. The, alternate up and <l()\vn

motion now acquired all the desired swiftness.

To open and close the taps for the alternate

letting on and shutting oil' of the steam and

ciild water flirongh apertures into the cylin-

der required the iinintcrrui)ted attention of the

person whose duty tliis was. The observant at-

tention of a play-loving boy, by name Humphrey

Potter, by connecting these taps with cords to the

beam which Newcomen attached to his piston rod,

so as to be moved v !ien it, in ascending or de-

scending oscillation, reached positions at the times

and in the directions required for such openings

and shnttings, enabled him to join his companions

in play, and for the lirst time the engine worked

by itself.

The little model of Newcomen's engine in the

liands of a workman like Watt had soon the de-

fects of its construction removed ; and i'rom that

time it was made to work yearly under the eye of

the delighted students. A man of common mind

would have rested salislied ivitli this success.

Watt, on the contrary, saw cause in it for deep

study. His researches were successively directed

to all the points that appeared likely to clear up

the theory of the machine. He ascertained tlie

proportion in which water dilates in passing from

a state of lluidity into that of vajionr, the quan-

tity and weight of steam cx])ended at each oscil-

lalion by one of Newcomen's engines of known

dimensions; the quantity of cold water that must i

be injected into the cylinder to give a certain force
|

to the piston's descending oscillation ; ai.d finally
|

the elasticity of steam at various temperatures.
!

Here was enough to occupy the life of a labori- I

ous physicist, yet ^Vatt found means to conduct
!

all these numerous and diflicult researches to a
I

good termination without the work of the shop
|

sulfering thereb3'. The properties of steam being
j

considered, it will readily occur to the reader that
j

two conditions iri-econcilablc with each other are
I

required for the economic working of Newcomen's
[

engine. AVhen the piston descends, tiie cylinder
I

requires to be cold, otherwise it meets steam more i

or less elastic retarding the opei'ation of its de-
!

scent by pressure of the external atmosphere.

Again, when into a cylinder so cooled there flows

steam at the high temperature of 212 deg., that

steam has a portion of its heat abstracted by be-

coming partially fluid, and until the cylinder re-

gains a temperature of boiling water, its elasticity

will be greatly attenuated. Hence slowness of

motion, for the counterpoise will not raise the

piston nntil there is sufficient spring in the cylin-

der to counterbalance the action of the atmosphere
j

In consequence of tliis, the Glasgow model at
|

each oscillation expended a volume of steam sev-

eral times larger than that of the cylinder. Could

the successive heatings and coolings, the inconve-

niences of which have just been described, be
j

avoided, the expenditure of steam, or, in other
j

words, of fuel, and consequently the pecuniary

cost of the working of the machine, would !

be several times less. In the most simple

manner "Watt solved this ajiparcntl}^ insolvable

problem. It sulficed for him to add to the former

arrangement of the engine a vessel totally distinct

from the cylinder, and communicating with it only

bj' a small tube furnished with a tap. This ves-

sel, now known as the conr/oiscr, is Watt's prin-
j

cipal invention. A discover}- ^^hich has rcvolu-
i

tionized the mechanics and politics of the slobc '

I.

deserves to have its action explained. !

If there be free communication between a cyl- '

inder tilled with steam and another vessel which
, i

contains neither steam nor air, the steam from the '}

cylinder will pass rapidly into the emptj- vessel,

and the movement will continue until the clastl-
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city becomes equal in both. If, by an abuiRiuiit

and constant injection of water, tiie wliole capa-

city and sides of tliis otlier vessel be kept con-

stantly cold, then the steam will condense as soon

as it enters it ; all the steam that formerlj^ filled

the cylinder will be gradual]}^ annihilated ; the

cylinder will thus be cleared of steam without its

sides being in the least cooled, and the fresh sup-

ply of steam with which it will require to be filled,

will not lose any of its elasticity. Now the con-

denser attracts to itself all the steam contained in

the cylinder, partly because it contains some cold

water, and partly because it contains no elastic

fluids, but as soon as some steam has been con-

densed, these two conditions on which success

depended, have disappeared ; the condensing wa-

ter has become hot by absorbing the latent caloric

of the steam, and a considerable portion of steam has

been generated at the expense of that hot water.

The cold water contained, besides, some atmo-

spheric air, which must have been disengaged

during its heating. If this hot water was not

carried away after each ojjeration, together with

the steam and air contained in the condenser, in

the long-run no eft'ect would be produced. Watt,

however, attained this treble purpose by the aid of

a common pump, called an air-immp, the piston

of which carries a rod suitably attached to the

beam worked by the engine. The power required

to keep the air-pump in motion diminishes so far

that of the engine ; but this is a very small por-

tion indeed of the loss which under the previous

arrangement was occasioned hy the steam being

condensed on the refrigerated surface of tiie body

of the cylinder.

Another invention of Watt deserves notice, the

advantages of which are easj- to perceive. In

Newcomen's engine, when the piston descend-

ed, it was by the weight of the atmosphere. Be-

ing much cooler than the metal cylinder, which

was open at the top, in proportion as it expanded

over the surface of its sides, it cooled them like-

wise ; a cooling which was not compensated dur-

ing the ascent of the piston except at the expense

of a certain quantity of steam. This atmospheric

action is eliminated in the engine of Watt by the

following arrangement:—The top of the cylinder

is closed by a metal co^er, only pierced in the

centre by a hole furnished with greased tow stuft'ed

hard in, through which, however, the rod of the

piston has free motion, yet not allowing passage

to air or steam. The piston thus divides the ca-

pacity of the cylinder into two distinct and well-

closed areas. When it has to descend, the steam

from the caldron reaches freel}' the upper area

through a tube conveniently placed, and pushes it

fiom top to bottom as the atmosphere had done

in the engine of Newcomen. There is no obstacle

to this motion, because M hile it is going on, the

base area of the cylinder only is in communication

with the condenser, wherein all the steam from

that lower area reassunies its fluid state. As soon

as the piston has quite reached the bottom, the

mere turning of a tap brings the two areas of the

cylinder, above and below the piston, into com-

munication with each other, so that both shall be

filled with steam of the same degree of elasticity,

and the piston being thus equally acted upon up-

ward and downward, ascends, as in Newcomen's

atmospheric engine, again to the top of the cylin-

der, merely by the action of a slight counterpoise.

Pursuing his i-esenrches on the means of econo-

mising steam, Watt further reduced the result of

the refrigeration of the external surface of the

cylinder almost to nothing, lie surrounded the

metal cylinder with a wooden casing of large di-

ameter, called a jacket, promoting the uniform

warmth of the enclosed cylinder, by filling the in-

termediate annular space with steam.

Such was Watt's engine as at the date when he

took out his first patent in 17G9—a modified, a

vastly improved and incomparably more econo-

mical machine than Kewcomen's, yet still, like it,

having power only during the descending oscilla-

tion of the piston. By the facility of its working

properties, capable perhaps, in skilful hands, of

other uses, but only as yet, like it, a pump—

a

mere pump available for drainage, and rendered

remunerative to him, by the payment on the part

of the proprietors of mines wlio employed it, of a

duty of the value of one-third of the coal saved

by each of their engines. This duty established

the commercial importance of the invention, even

at this stage, by the fact, that the proprietors of

one mine, the Chasewater, gladly compounded for

it, b\- an annual payment for the work of three
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piiiiips alone, of the sum of two tliousaiid four

liundred pound.-:.

Passing over niciintinic tlic oi-(.linarv incidents of

liis life, let us continue our ;icci)iinl ol' the iin])rove-

nients made by A\'att on that wonderfid adapta-

timi of the properties of water called the steam-

en;,'iiie, which constitutes his greatest merit, and

strongest claim on the gratitude of the whole faui-

ily of man. He conceived tlie idea of transform-

ing his machines IVom being merely pumi)s into

universal motive powers, ;uid of indelinite force.

Accordingly, after ]iarliainent, uotwitlistandiiig

some opposition on the part, among others, of the

celebrated ICdnuuid liiirke, had in 1771 granted,

on his petition and that of his now fiieiid and

])artner, Mr. Boultoii of Solio. near l?irminghaiu,

a prolongation of twenty-live yeai's to his jiatent

of 1709, aud their great establishment at Soho had

begun to become the most useful school in practi-

cal mechanics for all England, AVatt api)lied him-

self to the great task of its realization. His first

step in this direction \\as the inxcntion of the

doidile stroke, Oi", as it is sometimes called, a

douh/i: (ictinfi ( tuiinc.

To conceive the juineiple of it, let the account

already given of the modilied or Newcomen's

engine be referretl to. The cylinder is closed
;

the extei-nal air has no access to it ; it is steam

pressure, not atmospheric, that makes the piston

to descend ;
the ascending movement is due to a

j

simjile Counterpoise, because at the moment when

this takes ]ilace, the steam being enabled to cir-

culate freely from the higher to the lower jiortions

of the cyliiidei', jiresses equally oii the ]iiston in

both directions. It is easy to see, tliat the modi-

fied engine, w Xcu coiuen's, has power only dur-

ing the descending oscillation. This serious defect

was remedied by a very sinijile change, which

])roduced the doiii)le acting machine.

In the engine known under this name, as

as in the one A\ hich ^\ e demiminalod the modilied

one, at the jileasure of the engineer or attendant

the steam from the boiler goes freely above the

jiistoii, and presses it down without meeting with

any obstacle; because at that nuiment the lower

area of the cylinder is in communication with tiu'

condenser. A\'att ojiened a eommunicaiion be-

tween the caldron and the Ivwtr area of tlio jiis-
|

Ion
; the foregoing movement once achieved, the

communication between the caldron and the u]>-

|ier area of the cylinder is closed, and by the turn-

ing of a tap the .steam can only now j)ass from

the caldron below the piston, which it ele\'ates

;

at the same moment the steam in the upper area

which had )iroduced the descending nnjvement, is

b\' a comniuiucation \\\\\\ the condenser also in-

troduced, and—a certain cork having been opened

—transferred to the condenser to regain there Its

former fluid state. A contrary arrangement of

the cocks again I'everses this nuition as soon as

the piston has attained its maximum height. And

thus sinular etlects are iiulelinitely reprodtux'd.

The motive power in both ascent and descent is

now e.Kclusivelv steam, which, except to the ex-

tent of the inequality arising from the weight of

the ])iston, has the same ])ower in both move-

ments. Hence its name of the duidjle acting en-

gine.

To render this new moti\ e power of easy and

convenient application, 'Watt had other ditficultics

to overcome. It was necessary to convert the

motion of the juston oscillating in a straight line,

ami therefore inflexible, into oim of a beam or

shaft that moved in a circular direction, or, in

other words, revolved upon its a.xis. Perhaps the

solution which lie gave to this important problem

is his most Ingeidous invention. The beautiful

arrangement by which he accomplished this, call-

ed jiarullcl motion, is an articulated parallelogram,

which with each double oscillation dcvelopes and

contracts itself w itli the smoothness of motion,

—

"almost," says .Arago, from whom we quote this

di'scription, '•with the grace,—that charms ir-^ in

the gestures of a consummate actor." In its \ a-

rious transformations it exhibits the most curious

geometrical conditions, three of its angles describ-

ing arcs of circles in space, w hile the fourth moves

very nearly in a straight liiu'. " When I .-an it

for the first lime." says 'Walt, "I was myself sur-

jirised at the regularity of its motion, and felt

ti iily all the jileasure of novelty, as if I w as ex-

amining the invintioii of aiiot/ier Diayi." The in-

genuity aiul utility of this iuvcniion is shown in

this, that Smeaton, the celebrated engineer, ri

irreat admirer of AA'att, did not believe that in

jiractiee it could become a general means of im-
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parting directlj'' rotatory motion to axes, but tliat

for the attainment of this end, the functions of tiie

steam-engine should be limited to pumping water

to a height, whose descent again from the trough

to the pallets of common hj^draulic wheels would

produce the desired result ; a limitation that,

even on land, would have shorn it of great part of

its applicability, and on tlie water would have

rendered its employment impossible.

The engine liad now acquired universal motive

powers, but not motive powers acting with regu-

larity ; and regularity of action is not less impor-

tant tlian power as an element of success in in-

dustrial works. But what regularity of action

could be expected from a motive power engen-

dered by fire fed by shovels-full, and the coal it-

self of various qualities ; and this under the direc-

tion of a workman, sometimes not very intelligent,

almost alwnj's inattentive ? In proportion as the

fire is more intense, the motive steam will be

more abundant ; it will flow more rapidly into

the cylinder, and make the piston move fiister.

Irregularities of movement under such conditions

would seem to be inevitable. Against this serious

defect the genius of Watt had to provide. Under

his sagacious inventiveness the throttle valves, by

which tlie steam issues from the boiler to enter

the cylinder, are not constantly open to their full

extent. As the working of the engine acceler-

ates, these valves partly close ; a certain volume

of steam must therefore occupj' a longer time in

passing through tlieni, and the acceleration ceases.

The aperture of the valves, on the contrary, di-

lates when the motion slackens. The pieces re-

quired for these various changes connect the

valves with the axes which the engine sets to

work, by the introduction of an apparatus, the

principle of which Watt discovered in the regula-

tor of the sails of some flour mills ; this he named

the governor ; it is now called the centrifugal reg-

ulator. Its efficacy is such, that some years

ago, in the cotton-spinning manufactor}' of Mr.

Lee, a clock was set in motion by the engine of

the establishment, and it showed no great inferi-

ority to a common spring clock.

This regulator, and the intelligent use of the

rotatory-motion pi inciple, is tlie secret—the true

secret, of the astonishing perfection of the indus-

trial products of the present age ;—this it is that
j

now gives to the steam-engine a rate entirel}' free I

from jerks. This is the element that enables it
i

with equal success to embroider muslins and to I

forge anchors, to weave the most delicate webs,

and to communicate a rapid motion to heavy mill-

stones. These inventions formed the subject of !

successive patents in 1781, 1782, 1784, and 1785. i

The principle of the steam detent had been

neatl}' expressed in a letter from Watt to Dr.

Small, dated 1769. It was put in practice in

1776 at Soho, and in 1778 at the Shadwell water-

works ; and is fully described in the patent of

1782. Its application constitutes Watt's cele-
\

brated expansion engine. Of late years great

advantage has been found to result from it. It

consists in not allowing a free access of steam
!

from the boiler into the cylinder during the icliole

time of each oscillation of the cylinder. The com-

munication is interrupted, for example, when the

piston has reached one-third of its course. The
,

two remaining thirds of the C3'linder"s length are
\

then traversed by virtue of the acquired velocity,
j

and especially by the detention of the steam. Since
j

its adoption the Cornwall engines have given

unhoped-for results. With one bushel of coals
j

they equal the labour of twenty men during ten
j

hours. Some good judges esteem its economical i

Importance as not inferior to that of the condenser,
j

A single illustration will enable every man to

appreciate these inventions. It is borrowed from

Sir John Herschel, and is quoted by Arago.
'

Herodotus records that the construction of the

great pyramid of Egypt employed one hundred
j

thousand men during twenty years. Its weight
j

has been ascertained to be nearly five thousand

tons. There are establishments in Britain where
i

every week a quantity of coal is consumed sufii-
|

cient, when converted into steam, to raise this
\

weight to the height of the centre of gravity of
|

this might}^ edifice.

In conclusion, there are few of the subsequent
[

inventions or improvements of which the histor^^ '

of the steam-engine offers such an admirable as-

semblage, that have not been developed from !

some of Watt's early ideas. Engines without
j

condensation
;

engines in which, in localities
1

not freely supplied with cold water, the stean,
{
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after liaviiig acted, is allowed to escape into

the open air; the detent to be used in engines

liaving several cylinders; watertight pistons con-

sisting entirely of ])ieces of metal ; mcrcnrial

gauges to measure the elasticity of the steam as

well in the caldron as in the condenser ; a gauge

to sliow at a glance the height of the water in the

boiler; the indicator connecting the movements of

the feeding pump witli those of a float to prevent

this level from ever varying to an inconvenient

extent ; all have either been first introduced, or

proposed and their principle indicated by him.

Nor has lie been less fortunate in his endeavours

to improve the boilers, to diminish the loss of

licat, and to consume the smoke that escapes from

common chimneys however great the height to

which they may be carried.

To return to the incidents of his biography.

During the period in which these world-renowned

operations were being carried out. Watt had left

the apartment assigned to him in Glasgow uni-

versity (1703). had allied himself in marriage

(17(i 1) with his cousin, Miss ^Miller,—an accom-

plished person of superior mind, whose never-

failing sweetness and cheerfulness of disposition

raised him from the indolence, the melancholy,

and misanthropy that a nervous illness and the

injustice of man had threatened to render fatal,

and but for whom he would never have made his

beautiful inventions public,—had become the fa-

ther of four v-;hildren, two boys and two girls,

—

was made, to his sad grief, a widower at the birth

of a third boy, in 1773, and, after i-emaining so

for some years, had again the happiness to find,

in I\!iss iMacGrigor, a companion \vorthyofhim

by the vai'iety of her talents, the soundness of

her judgment, and the energy <if her character.

He had allowed two years to elapse after his

happy idea of 17G5, his capital invention of the

cylinder, v ithout his scarcely making an ctTort to

ajiply it on a large scale. lie had, through his

friends, at last been put into communication with

Dr. Roebuck, the founder oF the largf work's at

Carron celebrated to the present day. He had

entered into iiartnership with him in the expect-

ed results of his discovery, ceding two-thirds of

the profits for the use of the capital which the

doctor was bound to supply. An engine con-

structed on the new principles had been set up at 1

Kinneal, near Borrowstounness, and it had con-
'

firmed the expectations of theor}'. But the pecu-

niary embarrassments of Roebuck gave a check to 1

their projects, and Watt, rnllicr than struggle

against difficulties which would undoubtedl\', by

proceeding ^vith it, Iiave been overcome, had given

up his discovery, and till bettor times came round,

in order to support himself and family in the

meanwhile, had changed his business.
'

As a civil engineer Watt had been engaged from

1767 till the end of 1773 in surveying a rival line,

crossing the Lomond passage, to the canal, aft(M'-

wards carried out, connecting the two rivers of
j

the Forth and the Clyde, for whicli Smeaton was

then carrying on tlie triangulations and levellings;

—in drawing the plan of a canal that was to I)ring

coals from Monkland to Glasgow, and in superin-

tending its execution, lie had also been occupying i

himself with several projects of a similar nature, i

such as that of a navigable canal across the isth-

mus of Crinan, which llennie afterwards finished
;

|

he had been studying improvements in the poi'ts of
|

i

Ayr, Glasgow, and Greenock,—constructing brid- '

ges at Hamilton and Rutherglen,—and surveying
j

the ground through which the celebrated Caledo-

nian canal was afterwards to pass,—all enterprises
|

of greater or less merit, but the interest and
;

importance of which were chiefly local, and such
!

as neither their conception, direction, nor execution

required a man like James Watt.

During the period over Avhicli our account of

his labours on the steam-engine extends he had

also, as already adveitcd to, united himself in
;

partnership, and in friendsliip more closely even
j

than partnership, with ^Matthew Boulton of Bir-
j

mingham. The inventor of a machine destined to
'

form an epoch in the annals of the world, unable
j

apparently to proceed under, or to extricate him- I

self from, the conditimrs of a copartnery bui'dened
i

with large disbursements for past experiments, or
j

to interest unenlightened and timid cajiitalists to I

invest what woidd have been returned to them
|

with fabulous profit, without a murmur bent his
j

superior genius down to surveys, plans, and level-
|

lings, and saw with serene indilference six j'ears
j

of his patent of privilege roll into the past, when

friends a second time interfered and opened rela-
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tious between liiiii niid tliis enterprising, gifted,

and amiable man, to wlioni, in consequence, in

the early part of 1774, Dr. Roebuck, for certain

considerations, assigned liis interest in its riglit of

use, a riglit wliicli liad then, however, only a few

more years to rnn.

The justice -which, to its honour, the British

parliament, in granting, as we have seen, an ex-

tension for twenty-five years longer, to his pa-

tent, had meted out to the author of a discovery

so priceless, was not followed by equal considera-

tion on the part of those who more directly bene-

fited by it. The Cornish miners paid the dues to

the Soho engineers with increased repugnance

from year to year. They availed themselves of

the very earliest ditiiculties raised by plagiarists

to claim release from all obligation. The matter

was serious ; it might compromise the social posi-

tion of Watt ; he therefore bestowed his entire

attention to it, and became a la^^7er. The long

and expensive lawsuits that ensued during the

seven years between 1792 and 1799, and which

were all finallj' gained by him, would not otherwise

deserve notice but for the fact that in the course of

their prosecution all the eminent mechanicians

and men of science then in England, including

Koy, Ilerschel, Ramsden, Robison, Murdoch, and

Rennie, eagerlj' presented themselves before the

juries to testif)' to tlie riglits of injured genius.

When Watt went to reside at Soho, Bir-

mingham counted among the inhabitants of its

vicinity several men of celebrity, among whom

were Priestley, Darwin, Withering, and the father

of Maria Edge\\orth. Tiiese and other learned

men, with Watt and Boulton, met once a-month,

on the evening of full moon, a time chosen in or-

der that the members might see their way lionie
;

and on that account their association was called

the Lunar Society.

Each sitting of the Lunar Society was for Watt

an opportunity for showing the fecundity of in-

vention with which nature had endowed him.

One day Darwin said to his companions, " I have

imagined a donblc pen,—a pen with two beaks,

by the aid of which we may write every thing in

duplicate." '\^'att replied, "I hfjpe to find a bet-

ter solution of the problem." is'ext day the co-

pjMng machine was invented. It has since re-

ceived various modifications, but its present form !

as used in counting-houses is described and drawn
\

in "Watt's patent of 1780.
j

Warming houses by steam had been indicated

as early as 1745 by Colonel Cooke, but the idea

passed unheeded, ^y^^^t revived it ; applied it

;

adopted it in his own house in 1783 ; and made

calculations for halls of various sizes that served

as guides in the beginning to many engineers.

To patient investigations, and an ardent love of

justice on the part of his latest biographer, the

celebrated Ai ago, we owe,—fifty years after the

event,—the claim now established for Watt of

being splendidly connected with the greatest and

the most important discovery in modern chemis-

try ; the discover}' of the components of icaier.

After the experiments and discoveries of mo-

dern science had banished for ever the old idea

that air was a purely sim[)le element, water con-

tinued to preserve for itself that character, as

handed down from the ancient philosophy. The

year 1778 was at last signalized by an observa-

tion that went to the upsetting of tliis general

belief.

Having placed a M hitc porcelain saucer over a

flame of hydrogen gas while burning tianquilly

out of the mouth of a bottle, Macquer, a celebrat-

ed chemist, remarked that small drops of a fluid

that was afterwards discovered to be pin-e water,

covered that part of the saucer that was liched hy

the flame. He did not, however, dwell on the

fact. He was touching a great discovery with his

finger; but he did not perceive it.

In the commencement of the year 1781, Warl-

tire, a imme almost unknown but for this unsng-

gestcd idea, imagined that an electric spark in

passing through certain gaseous mixtures must

certainly produce decided changes on them, and

fortunately foresaw that an explosion woidd ac-

company them. He therefore made the experi-

ment in a metallic vase, having enclosed some air

and some h3-drogen in it.

In repeating Warltire's experiment. Cavendish,

as cited by Priestley, some time anterior to April

1783, obtained water by the detonation of oxygen

and hydrogen. In a memoir dated the 21st of

that month, Priestley added to the results of the

experiments of his predecessors the remarkable
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circumstance, that tlic weight of the water depo-

i-iteci on tiic sides of tlio vase at tlic moment of

the detonation is exactly tlie sum of tliat of tlic

two gases. Priestley comniiinicatcd tliis impor-

tant result to Watt, who, with the penetraliun of

a superior mind, immediately saw in it that water

is not a sim])lc bod}-. ".Are \\e not entitled to

conclude from hence," writes he to Piiestley on

the 2Gtii Ajjril, " that water is a union of o.r^/7e«

and liijdiiKjcn gas?" ^^'e eniplDV the more exact

chemical language of the present day instead of the

tei'ms ph/uf/iston and (It'p/iliu/islira/Cfl nir cui'rent

at that time, and used hy Wall. 'i'lie Idler

containing this clear statement was immediately

communicated hy Priestley to several learned men

in London, and amongst others to the president of

the lloyal Society to be read at an early meeting

of that body, but an expressed dillideuce on the

l)art of Walt to " have it brought before tlie pub-

lic until his thoughts had been brought to the test

of his own experiments," came in aid of a scornful

doubt on the ]iart of the council as to the correct-

ness of Priestley's experiments, and retarded the

I'eading by a year. It is inserlcd in the seventy-

foui'th volume (if the Philosophical Transactions,

as quoted (under its true date) in a letter by

Watt to ])e Luc, of the 28th November in that

yea r.

Befoi'c Watt's paper was read, indeed oulj' two

months posterior to its being deposited in tlie

archives of the Society, T^avoisier had detailed his

experiments, in u hirh he developed his views on

the production dl' water by the combustion of ox-

ygen and hydrogen; and on the 1.")tli ofdanuary

]78-l, the celebrated memoir of Cavendish on the

same subject, entitled l-lTpfrimcnts on Air, was

read before the Royal Society of London, lint it

seems to be ju-oved that on the occasion of his

tirst experiments on 24th June 1783, Lavoisier

was informed by the seei'ctary of the lloyal Soci-

ety, then present, of those of Cavendish, and of

the theory of the composition of water ; and Cav-

endish, as one of the fellows of the Society, had

an opi)ortunity of becoming acquainted with the

conclusions of Watt for nearly two months before

that time. Ajiart from all this, it seons to be

beyond question that '\^'att was the first to present

In a documentary shape the exposition of the com-

ponents of water, and that there is not the hint of

a suspicion that he had arrived at that exposition

1)}' means of any imparted information or sugges-

tion. It is a circumstance not less remarkable,

—

and proof of the complacency of Watt's dis]iosiiion,

—that beyond securing the reading of his paper

and ils insertion in the volinne of the Journal re-

ferred to,—confiding in the justice of posterity,

—

he took no steps to vindicate the originality of his

announcement even although in'ged to do so, than

that so many years should have elapsed during

which the merit of it has gencrallv been assigned

to others, until a foreign biographer, involdiig that

justice, lias secured for him its recognition.

Towards the end of 1786 ]\Ir. Watt and liis

partner had gone to Paris to improve the mode of

raising water at IMariy. On this occasion, among

other eminent Frencinnen, he met Berthollet, the

chemist, who had just discovered the bleaching

properties of chlorine. This discovery he fi'ankly

communicated to Watt, granted him pennission to

impart it to his father-in-law, Mi-. !MacGrigor,

—

who then carried on an extensive blenching esta-

blishment near Glasgow,—and drclincd jjerempto-

lily and repeatedly to become a ]iartner in ils

results, which were Aery lucrative. A\'att not

only gave directions for the construction of the

proper vessels and machinery, but soon afterwards

superintended the first trials, all of which were

successful, and lie had thus the merit of being the

first to introduce this valuable inqirovement into

Britain.

In 1800, on the expiration of his patent, he

vvilhdrew from the Solio establishment with an

ample fortune, and was succeeded in the business
j

by his two sons, the younger of whom, Gregoiy

^^'att, who had distinguished himself by his liter-

ary talents, and w-as the author of a paper on ba-

salt in the Philosophical transactions, died in
|

1804, at the age of 27. A great portion of his (

leisure time continued still to be devoted to chcm- :

ical science; and to the Treatise on Pneumatic
'

Medicine by Dr. Beddoes, he contributed a pajier

on tlic medical qualities and application of factiti-

ous airs. In 1811 the Glasgow Water Compain-

solicited his aid to enable them to convey water

across the Clyde. After their great buildings and

powerful works had been constructed, it was dis-
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covered tliat on the opposite bank a bed of sand

existed, aifording a natural filter, and a spring

\viiose admixture gave to the water greatly supe-

rior qualities. To change the site of their estab-

lishment was out of the question ; they therefore

thonglit of pumping the water of the river, after

being filtered into a deep well on the one side,

throngli a gigantic conduit pipe laid across it and

along its bottom, into their reservoir on tlie other

side; but tlie soft mud, chaugeableness, and ine-

quality of its bed seemed to render an expensive

under- support of woodwork necessary. Watt

formed a flexible main, witli ball and socket joints,

susceptible of bending itself to all the present and

future inflections of the river,—an idea he derived

from the structure of a lobster's tail,—and the

design was executed with complete success.

Towards tlie end of his life, Mr. Watt was en-

gaged in tlie construction of a machine for taking

copies of pieces of sculpture. Though he did not

1 live to perfect this ingenious invention, it was so

far advanced that several specimens were execut-

ed by it, which in joke he distributed among his

fi-iends as "the first essays of a young artist just

entering his 83d year !" In private life he was

niiiversally beloved for his genius, esteemed for

his benevolence, and courted for the vast range of

his information. His conversation was pleasing,

abounding with anecdote, and highly instructive.

He had read much, and his memory was not only

prodigious, but peculiar. It imbibed all tliat was

of value, and repelled almost instinctively the su-

perfluities that it would have been useless to pre-

serve.

Mr. Watt died at his residence, on his estate

at Heathfield, near Soho, August 25, 1819, at the

age of eiglity-three years and seven months, and

\^as interred in the chancel of the adjoining paro-

chial church of Handsworth, where a splendid

Gothic monument was erected to his memory by

his son, Mr. James Watt, with an admirable sta-

tue in marble by Chantrey, in the centre. A
second statue by the same artist, also in marble,

has been placed in one of the halls of Glasgow

college. In his native town of Greenock homage

has been paid to his name and genius by the erec-

tion of a statue and public library. In George's

Square, Glasgow, is a colossal statue in bronze

upon a granite pedestal ; and in Westminster Ab-

bey another, of Cairera marble, by Chantrej' and

bearing an eloquent inscription by Lord Brougliam.

A beautiful sandstone statue of Watt in a sitting

posture, placed on a granite pedestal, adorns

Adam Square, a small recess in the public

tlioroughfare, in close proximity to the nniversitj-

of Edinburgh.

In the year 178'± he was elected a fellow of the

Royal Society of Edinburgli, and the j"ear follow-

ing of that of London, and in 1787 he was chosen

a corresponding member of tlie Batavian Society.

In 1806 tlie university of Glasgow conferred upon

him the honorary degree of LL.D. In 1808 he

was elected a correspondent of the Institute of

France, and in 1814 one of the eijcht foreign

associates—the highest honour they tould confer

—of the Academy of Sciences of the same In-

stitute.

The published works of James Watt are

:

Description of a Pneumatic Apparatus ; with Directions

for procuring Factitious Airs.

Considerations on the Medicinal Use of Factitious Airs,

and on tlie JIanner of obtaining tliem ; two parts. 1795, 8vo.

Thoughts on tlie Constituent Parts of Water and of De-

phlogisticated Air; with an Account of some Experiments

on that Subject. Pliil. Trans. 1784, Abr. xv. o55. On the

same. lb. 5C9.

On a New Jlethod of preparing a Test Liquor to show tiie

presence of Acids and Alkahs in Clieniical Jlixtures. lb. C05.

His son, James Watt, born 5tli February

1769, inherited a large share of the powerful

intellect of his father, and united to great talents

and a vigorous understanding, the varied ac-

quirements and literary tastes of a well -culti-

vated mind. He died 2d June 1818, at Ids

seat, Aston Hall, Warwickshire, in his 80th year.

For the last eight years of his life he had compa-

ratively retired from active business, and had

devoted much time and attention to the improve-

ment of his extensive estates in the counties of

Radnor and Brecon. M. Arngo, in his Life of his

father, mentions with high commendation the re-

spectful veneration which the son cherished for

everything that recalled his memory, or was likely

to perpetuate his fame.

WATT, RoBEKT, M.D., the compiler of the

' Bibliotlieca Britannica,' and author of several

medical treatises, was the son of a small farmer in

tlie parish of Stewarton, Ayrshire, wliere he was
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liDi'ii ill I\Iay 177'l. His cuiiy lil'c w:is most!}' spent

ill tiie liunible cupacity of a ploii;;liboy or farm ser-

vant, and at one period lie jdiued his lirotlier in

I

the business of a counlry v\ rij^ht and cahiiieliiia-

I ]cer, but lliis eniployiiieiit not suiting Iiiin, lie soon

I

quitted it. Being anxious to obtain an acadenii-

\ cal ediu^atioii, lie saved for the purpose as niueh

1
of liis earnings as he could spare, and at his lei-

' sure liours ajiplied himself to tlic nequu'cnient of

tlu^ Latin and (n-crk l;niga;i,i;rs. In ITO.'l, at the

age of isighteen, he matriculated in Ghisgow col-

lege, and attended the successive classes in the

university till tlie year 1707. During the siini-

j

mer recesses lie sujiported himself by teaching,

i

first as a private tutor
;
but, latter!}-, he took np

j

a school in the jjarish of Symington, in Ayrshire,

j

His views A\erc at tirst directed towards the

eluirch, but after attending two sessions at the

divinity hall, lie j)referrcd the medical lu'ofession,

and in coiise(iueiice removed to Edinburgh, where

lie passed through the usual course of medical

study.

In 1799, after being licensed by the faculty of

jdiysicians and surgeons of Glasgow, i\Ir. Watt

j
settled as a surgeon in Paisley, and soon attained

great iiopularity in his profession, riiuling his

practice increasing, he assumed as partner and

assistant Mv. James Muir, who had been his fel-

low-student in Edinburgh. While lie resided at

1 J'aisley, he composed various -works on medicine,

Imt the only one he then ])ublislied was entitled

I

' ' Cases of Diabetes, Consumption, &c. ; witli Ob-

ij servations on the History and Treatment of Dis-

II ease in General,' \\hicli appeared in 1808. In

|j
1810 lie removed to Glasgow, previous to which

|i
he had received, from the univcrsit_v of Aberdeen,

I

the degree of j\I.D., and had been elected a mem-

I

her of the faculty of physicians and surgeons of

j

Glasgow. Besides iiractisiiig as a iiliysician, he

commenced delivering lectures on the theory and

i
jiractice of medicine in that city. His lecture-

loom was numerously attended, and, with a view

to the benefit of his pupils, he funned a valuable

library of medical books, comprising all the useful

;
and popular works on medicine, witli many scarce

I and high-priced volumes. Of this library he pub-

!
lished a Catalogue in 1812, with 'An Address to

j
Medical Students uii the best iMetliod of Prose-

2;; ROBERT, M.D.

cuting their Studies.' He also drew out an index,

of the various subjects which the volumes em-

braced, the great utility of which to himself and

his students led liiiii to commence the prepara-

tion of one upon a more comijrehensive scale, in-

tended to comprise all the medical works which

had been i)rinted in tin: British duiniiiious. He

subsequently extended the original plan, liy in-

cluding works on law, and latterly works on di-

vinity and miscellaneous sulijccts, with all foreign

publications of merit, and the various Continental

editions of the classics
; and this was the origin of

his celebrated ' Bibliotheca Britaiinica."

In ISK) he published a 'Treatise on the Histo-

r}-. Nature, and Treatment of Chincougli,' to

which was subjoined 'An Inquiry into the relati\e

Mortality of the Principal Diseases of Children,

and the numbers who have Died under Ten Years

of Age in Glasgow, during the last Tiiirty Years.'

In 1814 he issued, anonymouslj', a small volume,

entitled ' Rules of Life, with Reflections on tin;

Manners and Dispositions of Mankind ;' being a

number of apophthegms and short sentences, ori-

ginal and selected. He also contributed some

interesting ])apers to the Edinburgh Medical and

Surgical Journal, and other scientilic publications.

He was a member of various literary and medical

societies, of several of which he was president,

and was elected physician to the Glasgow Royal

Infirinaiy, and president of the faculty of physi-

cians and surgeons at Glasgow.

In 1817 Dr. AVatt was obliged, from bad health,

to discontinue altogether his professional pursuits.

He had, by this time, brought his great work,

' Tlie Bibliotheca Britanuica,' to a very consider-

able state of forwardness ; and being anxious for

its completion, he retired with his family to a

small country house about two miles from Ghis-'

gow, engaged several young men as assistants,

among whom were "\Mlliam I\Iotlierwell the poet,

and Mr. Alexander AVhitelaw, editor of ' Tlie Cas-

quet,' the ' Republic of Letters," and other works,

and devoted himself exclusively to the compilation

He was maldng great progress ^^itll the ^^•ork,

when a stomachic disorder, to which he had been

long subject, gradually gained ui)on him, and

compelled him to discontinue all personal laboiu-.

After an afflicting lUiiess of several montli.s' dura-
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tion, lie died, March 12, 1819, aged only 45, and

was interred in tlie Glasgow Iligli Church biuy-

ing-gronnd.

Dr. Watt rnnrricil, while in Paisley, ]Miss Burn?,

the daughter of a farmer in his fiithers neighbour-

liood, by whom he had nine children. At his

death, the publication of the ' Bibliotheca' de-

volved ujion his two eldest sons. John, the elder

of the two, died in 1821, at the age of twenty

;

James, his brother, lived to see the work complet-

ed, but died in 1829. The printing of the ' Bibli-

otheca' was finished in 1824, in four large quar-

to volumes. Messrs. Archibald Constable and

Co. of Edinburgh entered into engagements for

the work, having purchased it for £2,000, but

owing to their failure, we are told, the author's

family never derived any benefit from the publi-

cation.—Dr. Watt's works are:

C.'ises of Diabetes, Consumption, &c., witli Observations

on tlie History ami Treatment of Diseases in general. Pais-

ley, 1808, 8vo.

Catalogue of Jledical Books, for tbe Use of Students at-

tending Lectures on tbe Principles and Practice of Medicine
;

witli an Address to Medical Students on tbe best Method of

prosecuting tbeir Studies. Glasg. 1812, 8vo.

Treatise on tbe History, Nature, and Treatment of Chin-

oougli
;
including a variety of Cases and Dissections. To

wbicb is subjoined, An Inquiry into tbe relative Jlortality of

tbe principal Diseases of Cbildren, and tbe numbers wbo

have died under ten years of age, in Glasgow, during tbe last

tbirty years. Glasg. 1813, 8vo.

Rules of Life ; witb Reflections on tbe Manners and Dis-

positions of M.ankind. Edin. 1814, 12rno.

Cases of Periodical .Jactitation or Cliore.a. Med. Chir.

I
Trans, v. p. 1. 1814.

ObseiTations on tbe Influence of Vaccination on otber

Diseases, and on Population in general. Edin. Med. and

Surg. Joum. 1814.

On tbe Formation of tbe Rainbow. Tliomson's Ann. Pliil.

Febru.ary 1819, p. 1.31.

Bibliotbeca Britannica. First published in 4to Pai-ts.

Gbisgow and Edinburgb, 1819-24. Comjdcted in 4 vols, large

4to. Glasgow, 1824 ; 2 vols, being devoted to authors and 2

to subjects.

Wauciiope, .1 sumame derived from the lands of Wan-

cbojiedale, parish of Langholm, Duinfries-.sbire.

The ancient family of Wancbope of Waucbope were origi-

nally settled in that district, but since the 13th century their

descendants have possessed tbe lands of Niddry JIariscbal,

parish of Liberton, Mid Lothian, and .are probably tbe oldest

family in tliat county. Tbe Wauchopes of Waucbope were

proprietors also of the lands of Culter, Aberdeenshire, in the

north of Scotland. Robert de W.alybop of Culter, witb otber

barons of Scotland, swore fealty to Edward 1. in 129G. Soon

afterwards, a daughter of Sir Adam Waucbope marrying

Crunin of Inverallachie, a branch of the earls of Buchan of

that name, Culter came into possession of her husband, from

wliom were tbe Cumins of Culter. By a charter dated 4lb

December 1389, it appears that Alex.ander Waucbope of

Waucbope, failing bis own m.ile issue, resigned that estate to
|

Sir Adam de Glendonwyn, knight, whose mother was a
j

Waucbope. !

Tbe direct ancestors of tbe Wauchopes of Xiddry were he-

reditary bailies in Jlid Lotliian, to tbe Keiths, Great Maris- '

cbals of Scotland, from whom they got tbe lands of Niddry
i

Mariscb.al in that county. Robert Waucbope of Niddry Mar-

ischal inscribed his name upon a tomb which be built in 1387.

It was prob.ably this laird of Niddry who founded a chapel

there in 1389, and dedicated it to tlie Virgin Mary. After-

wards re-endowed by a descendant witb a manse and glebe,

at the Reformation both tbe cbapeli'y and its revenues were

attached to Liberton church.

Gilbert Waucbope bad a charter of Niddry from King Ro-

bert III., and tbe names of Patrick Waucbope of Niddry and

Isobel bis spouse, occur in a deed, Gth November 1479.

Archibald Waucbope of Niddry and Euphemia Scougal bis

spouse, granted two mortifications, of twelve merks yearly,

out of Niddry Mariscbal, to a chaplain of Holyrood. Tbeir
|

son, Gilbert Waucbope of Niddry, appears repeatedly as de- \

puty to the earl JIariscb.al fr(mi 1527 to 1540. With a son,
1

Gilbert, be bad a diiughter, Euphemia, who, in 1529, married
|

Sir .John Edmonstone of Edmonstone, knight. Robert !

Waucbope, who, according to Bishop Lesley, was primate of 1

Ireland .and doctor of the Sorbonne, and who died at Paris, I

j

10th November 1551, is supposed to have been of this family. 1

1

Gilbert Waucbope of Niddry, the son, was a member of
1

1

the celebrated Reformation parliament of 15G0. He was sue-
j

j

ceeded in August 1571, by his eldest son, William Waucbo]ie
i

;

of Niddry, and be by bis son, Robert Waucbope of Niddry. i

Tbe latter married, first, in 1558, JIargaret, daughter of Sir
j

James Dundas of Dundas, whose widow was bis stepmother,
|

and had, Arcliib.ald bis heir, and Mary, tbe wife of Gavin

Sandilands of Lumfoddcr
;
and, secondly, Margaret, daugh-

ter of Sir J. Douglas of Drumlanrig, ancestor of tbe dukes of

Queensberry, widow of Willi.am e.arl of Jlcnteitb, and of Ed-
|

ward Crigbton of Sanquhar. This Robert Waucbope of Nid- I

dry, and Archibald, bis son and heir apparent, were both
j

forfeited in 1587, for aiding and .abetting tbe turbulent earl
[

of Botbwell in his treason.able and lawless proceedings. On
!

the night of tbe 12th May 1589, Archibald Waucbope, while
j

waiting in a house near tbe Borough Muir for the laird of '

Edmonstone, was beset by tbe latter, and tbe alarm being

given, all Edinburgh was roused; tbe king came to tbe

house and directed a herald to clmrge Waucbope to surrender
'

under pain of treason. He obeyed the summons, and being
t

conducted to Edinburgb, was consigned to the Tolbooth. : I

Next day he and bis accomplices were brought to trial, for
;

tbe sl.iughtcr of the laird of Slieriff liall and his brother, John
i

j

GifFord. Th« tri.al was continued till late tbe followingnight,
j

some delay having been occasioned by bis friends endeavour-
j

ing to obtain a p.ardon from the king, and about eleven l

[

o'clock, when tlie candles were put forth, Waucbope and his
{

]

fellow-prisoners escaped out at tbe windows of the Tolbooth.
1

1

in the presence at least of a thousand persons, and the judge
i

j

sitting on tlie bench. As Sir James Sandilands, the tutor :

of Calder, tbe principal person who assisted them in tbeir

escape, was soon after restored to tbe confidence of tbe king,

it w.a."! thought that his majesty was not unwilling that the

trial should have ended in such a way. On the IGth of the 1

following January, young Waucbope killed a gentleman, a

dependent on the abbot of Holyrood-bouse, for reproving him

for striking an officer of arms. Immediately thereafter, he
j

went to Edinburgh, and bad a conference with Botbwell.

He had married in 1584, Rachel, daughter of Sir James
j
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JI'GiU of K:uikeiili)Ur, kniglit, iind widow of George Stewart

of Unsvtli. He was a papist, and under attainder, wlien in

1.392 his wife petitioned parliament for an aliment, tliat ''she

and lier bairns were reduced to want from liis orrie leving and

lieis being all consuuiit in his vane uses and ungodlie fanta-

sies." Tlie same year the laird of Niddry wiis engaged in the

Raid of Falkland, and on the evening of the Ist Jnly, he

and two of his brethren, with the laird of Samuelston

and his brother, Alexander Abercrombie, and two llepburns,

were found lying sleeping in the meadow of Lesmaliago, and

taken prisoners by Lord Hamilton. He confined them in tliC

castle of Dreplian, the captain whereof was his bastard son,

Sir ,Iohn Hamilton, who, on his father's departure, set them

at liberty and lied himself. * (^Calderwood, vol. v. p. 1C9.)

Archibald, the yound laird, came to an unhappy end, leaving

a son, Francis, who succeeded before 1G04, when he was

served heir to his grandfather, and in 1G09 ;m rtct was passed

for rc^stitution of the house of Niddry. Francis' son. Sir

John Wanchope of Niddry, was knighted by Ch.-irles I. when

he visited Scotland in 1033. He was a distinguished Cove-

nanter, and a member of the General Assembly of 1G18. He

married, first, Anne, daughter of Sir Andrew Hamilton of

liedhonse, next brother of Tlionias, earl of Haddington, and had

bv her two sons: 1. Andrew, his heir, and, 2. John, who mar-

ried the heiress of Kdmonstone; and, secondly, in 1C53, Jean,

widow of Sir John Ker of Tochton, by whom he had James,

whose son succeeded in 1725, and carried on the line of the

family. Sir John made a settlement of his estate on the heirs

in.alc of his eldest son in IGoG, on which a charter passed the

gre;it seal, 17th January 1GG2. He was dead in 1G83.

Andrew Wauchope, the eldest son, then younger of Niddry,

married in IGOG, Margaret, daughter of Sir John Gilmour

of Graigmillar, president of the court of session, and h:ul three

bons: 1. William, his heir. 2. James. 3. Gilbert. He made

an entail on the heirs male of the family, 12th Febinary

1711, and died immediately thereafter. His eldest .son, Wil-

liam Wauchope of Niddry, survived till 1725, when his two

brothers being dead, and the two sons of his uncle, Lord

Kdmonstone, (see next article,) being also dead, all without

issue, his cousin, Andrew, the son of James, his uncle by the

half-blood, succeeded to tlie family estates.

Andrew Wauchope of Niddry'inarried in June 17.'55, Helen,

daughter of the Hon. Sir Andrew Home of Kimniergbame,

and had three sons. Captain Andrew Wauchope of Niddry,

the eldest son, succeeded his father, and married, in 1770, a

sister of General Sir David Baird, and had, with six daugh-

ters, five sons. Andrew, the eldest, h.iving been killed at

the battle of the Pyrenees in comnumd of the 20th foot,

he was succeeded by William, the second son, a lieu-

tenant-colonel in the army. Colonel Wauchope married

in 1817, Elizabeth, daughter of Robert Baird, Ksq. of New-

bvth and niece of the marchioness of Brcadalbane, and had

one son, and a daughter. He died in 1820, and was suc-

ceeded by his son, Andrew Wauchope, Ksq. of Niddry, born

in December 1818; married 2Cth March 1840, Frances Ma-

ria, daughter of Henry Lloyd, L^sq. of Lloyd.sborough. county

'J'ipperary, with issue, a son, William, born in September

18U, and a daughter, Harriet-Klizabetli Frances.

The Wanchopcs of Kdmonstone, Mid Lothian, are a branch

of the family of Niddry, John Wauchope, second son of Sir

John Wauchope of Niddry, h.iving acquired that estate by

his wife, Anna, daughter of James Rait of Kdmonstone. He

got a charter of Kdmonstone, dated 9tli June 1071. At the

baptism of this gentleman in 1033, Charles 1., who was then

in Scotland, and present, took from his own neck and put

111.

round that of the infant, a beautiful gohl and enamel chain,

still in possession of his descendants. He was an advocate,

and in 1082 was appointed a lord of session, when he took

the judicial title of Lord Edmonstone. He appears to have

been a m.an of a masculine mind and independent tempera-

ment, swayed neither by the desire of royal f.ivour, nor by the

bluster of the nobles. We find it recorded, that, in a case in

which the celebrated Graham of Claverbouse was concerned,

he severely reproved that I'ormidable personage for having

spoken rudely, and with warmth, to the chancellor when in

court. Having disobliged King .lames VII. by the zealous

part he took in the discussion " anent the taking away the

laws and tests," in opposition to the designs of his majesty,

and also by having voted against a scheme for ednc;iting

the young marqnis of Jloutroso in the Roman Catholic

faith, he was removed from the bench in 108S, notwitli-

standing the great influence of his brother. Lord Niddrie,

who was a papist. Alter the Revolution, those in the ad-

ministration were so thoroughly convinced of his inlcgiity

of character, and knowledge of the law, that they off'ercd to

reinstate him on the bench, but he declined the ofl'er. He
died in 1709. With seven daughters, he had two sons, John

and Andrew, who both inherited Edmonstone, but neither

of whom ever married. Their eldest sister, Anne, uuu'ried,

June 2G, 10S3, I'atricU Don of Aulutounburn, 3d son of Sir

Alexander Don of Newton, baronet, and had 2 sons and 4

daughters, one of whom manied James Dnrh.-im of Largo.

The elder son, John Don, succeeded his uncle, Andrew Wau-
chope, in JCdmonstone, and in consequence assumed the name
of Wauchope. Dying unmarried in 1732, he was succeeded

by his brother, James Don, who also assumed the name of

Wauchope. This gentleman carried on the line of the fa]ni-

ly. John Wauchope of KduMnstone, his great-gr;uidsun,

born July 10, 1810, succeeded his father in 1837.

On the death of Sir William Henry Don, 7tli Bart., JIarch

19, 1SG2, by the failure of male issue of the eldest and 2d

sons of the first baronet, the title passed to the maL' issu.^ of

the 3d son, Patrick Don ; and Mr. Wauchope of Edmonstone,

Patrick's great-gre.it-grandson, heir male of the body of Sir

Alexander Don, the fir.st bart., resumed his fnnily surname

of Don, and became 8th baronet, as Sir John Dun Wanchope.

WAUGII, Ai.i: .\.vM)Ei:, I).]), ati ciniiient di-

viiie of the United Secession Cliurcli, the .^on of ;i

small fanner, was born August IC, 17o4, at East

Gordon, Berwicksliire. In 1770 lie was sent to

the university of Julinbnrgli, which he attended

for four sessions, and in Aui^iist 1774 lie com-

menced the study of divinity under the I'ev. John

Brown of Haddington. In 1778 he took liis de-

gree of M.A., tmd, June '28, 1779, was licensed

to preach the gospel by the Secession presbytery

of Edinburgh at Dun.^e. Two months thereafter,

he was selected by the presbytery to supidy the

Secession congregation of Well Street, London,

which had become vacant by the death of the

Rev. Archibald Hall. After performing this duty

for about ten weeks, he returned to Scotland, and

having received a unanimous call from the congre-

gation of ^'ewton, he was, August 30, 1750, for-

2 K
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mally inducted to that cliarge. In the spring of

the following year he received a call from the

congregation in Wells Street, London, which he

declined; and, in May 1781, the call was carried

before the synod at Edinburgh, when it was de-

cided that he should remain at Newton. Two

other calls from the same congregation were sub-

sequentl}' brought under the consideration of the

synod, the last of which was sustained, March 19,

1782 ; and he was admitted to his new charge by

the Secession presbytery of Edinburgh on the 30th

of the following May. In June he commenced

his ministry in London, where he became exceed-

ingly popular, both as a preachei", and on account

of the active part which he took in promoting the

interests of the London Missionary and Bible So-

cielios, and of many of the religious and charita-

ble institutions of the metropolis. In 1815 he

received the degree of D.D. from Marischal Col-

lege, Aberdeen. He died December 14, 1827, in

the 7-4tli year of his age, and the -iStli of his min-

istry in London. His congregation, besides de-

fraying his funeral expenses, and securing an an-

nuity to his widow, erected to his memory- an

elegant tablet of marble, with a suitable inscrip-

tion, in their chapel in Wells Street. An inter-

esting memoir of his life, witli selections from his

cpistolarj' correspondence, pulpit recollections, &c.

by the Rev. James Hay, Kinross, and the Rev.

Dr. Belfrnge, Falkirk, was published at London

in 1830.

Webstki;, a suni-nne derived from tlie craft of a weaver

or Webber, being its feminine form, tlie several surnames ter-

minating in sfer being tbe regular Anglo-Saxon form of femi-

nine nouns of action, as Spinster for Spinner, Tapster for

Tapper, Baxter for Baker, Brewster for Brewer, &o., (see

Lower on English Swnames, vol. i. p. 113).

WEBSTER, Alexander, D.D., an eminent

divine, was born in Edinburgh in 1707, being the

son of the Rev. James Webster, who had suffered

in the persecuting times of the Stuarts, and was

afterwards minister of the Tolbooth church, Edin-

burgh, and author of a small volume of commu-

nion sermons published in 1705. He studied at

the university of his native city, and discovered

an early predilection for mathematical learning.

After attending the divinity hall, he was licensed

to preach, and, in 1733, was ordained minister of

the parish of Culro.ss, in Perthshire, where he dis-

tinguished himself by his eloquence and piet}', and

by the faithful and laborious discharge of his pas-

toral duties. In June 1737 he was translated to

the Tolbooth church, Edinburgh, and soon be-

came one of the most popular men of his time in

the metropolis. Eleven days after his settlement

there, he married Mary Erskine, a young lady of

fortune, daughter of Colonel John Erskine, and

nearlj" related to the noble family of Dundonald.

With the assistance of Dr. Wallace, he prepared

the scheme of a perpetual fund for the relief of the

widows and children of the clergy of the Church

of Scotland, which his singular powers of arith-

metical calculation enabled him, by apportioning

the rates, &c., to bring to a sure and practical

bearing. The Calculations were published at

Edinburgh in 1748, folio. After being submitted

to the General Assembly, the scheme was finally

established by act of parliament.

In 1745, when Edinburgh was taken possession

of by the rebels. Dr. Webster remained in the

city, and employed his great influence in retaining

the minds of the people in their allegiance to the

house of Hanover. In 1753 he published a Ser-

mon preached at the opening of the General As-

sembly in that 3'ear, entitled ' Zeal for the Civil

and Religious Interests of Mankind recommended.'

In 1755 he drew up, for the information of govern-

ment, an account of the number of people in

Scotland. He died January 25, 1784, in his

7Gth year.

Dr. Webster was celebrated in his day for his

wit and social qualities, and many amusing stories

are told of his fondness for claret. He had some

pretensions to the character of a poet; and Pink-

erton, in the second volume of his Select Scot-

tish Ballads, has printed an amatory piece of

his, without his name, which, in elegance and

warmth, has been said to rival even the effusions

of Catullus. With a daughter he had six sons,

one of whom, Colonel Webster, fell in the Amer-

ican war.

Weddki.l, a snrn.ime derived from the old parish of Wo-

dale, "the vale of woe," now the parish of Stow, wliicli is

partly in Selkirkshire, but cliieflv in Jlid Lothian. It an-

ciently belonged to the bishops of St. Andrews, and a resi-

dence of theirs on tlie site of what is now the village of Stow

originated the hitter name, which in the Anglo-Saxon means

"a choice place," "a select station," and is the well-known
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design ;ition of sevenil localities in Knj;liinil. WviJ.ile e.ulv

pnssesst'il the privilcfje of s:iiietu;iry, :iiid " tlie bhick priest of

Wediile" was one of tlic three persons who ciijuyeii tbr

pnvih>a;ed I:i\v of the claii JlKciiiiff. John Ilaniiii!;, wlien in-

structing the Eiiglisli kin<; how to rule Scothmd, advises him

" To send an hoste of footmen in,

At I.anunesse next, throu';h all Lauderdale,

And I..iniiiiermore woods, and mosses over-rine,

And eke therewith the Stow ol' Wedale."

WuDDEiiiiUliN, a surname assumed from lands of that

name in lierwicksliire. About the year 1-100, James Wed-

derhurn, of the family of Wedderhurn ofWedderburn, settled

in Forfarshire. A descendant of his. Sir Peter Wedderhurn

of Giisford, was bred an advocate, and h.aving been appoinlcd

:i lord of session durini; the reign of Charles II., assumed the

title of Lord Gosford. His eldest son was a privy councillor,

and member in the Scots parliament for Iladdington.shire.

His second .son, Peter, married the heiress of ll.-dkett of Pit-

firran. His third son, Alexander, became a member of the

faculty of advoc.ites, and having exerted himself in favour of

the Union, received byway of recompense an appointment as

a conunlssioner of excise. Peter Wedderhurn of Cliesterhall,

the son of this youngest brother, like most of his immediate

ancestin's, was bred to the law, and p.asscd .advocate, Feb.

1715. He was also secretary to the excise. In 1755 he was

appointed a lord of session by George II., and took his seat

on the bench as Lord Cliesterhall. He died August 11,

175l>. He was the father of the celebrated Alexander Wed-

derhurn, first earl of Hosslyn, whose only sister, .lanet Wed-

derhurn, having married Sir Henry Erskine, Gth baronet of

Alva, her .son, Sir.T.-imes St. Clair Krskine, baronet, succeeded

in 1805 as second earl of Hosslyn (see that title).

A baronetcy of Nova Scotia was, Aug. 0, 170-1, conferred

on John Wedderhurn, Esip of P<lackness, Forfarshire, advo-

cate, son of Sir Alexander Wedderhurn, knight, one of the

i .Scots commissioners to the treaty of Ripon in 1(111, and one

of the deputies to the king at Newcastle in lG-16.

Sir .John Wedderhurn, the fifth baronet, joined in the re-

bellion of 1715, and having been taken at the battle of Cul-

loden, was attainted and executed.

;
His son, Sir John Wedderhurn, assumed the title, though

forfeited, and was father of Sir David Wedderhurn of liallin-

dean, Perthshire, horn in 1777, who, Aug. 18, 1S03, was

!
created a baronet of the L^nited Kingdom, with remainder, in

default of issue, to the heirs-male of his great-grandfather.

Sir David w.as -ALP. for the St. Andrews burghs from 1807
' to 181S, aiul in 1823 was postmaster-gener.il of Scotland.

j
lie died in 1858.

I Ills son, Sir .T»hn Wedderhurn, born in ISO,", succeeded as

2d baronet of the new creation.

WEDDEKliURN, .i\in:<, a ])oct of the ICth

ceiiliii-y, and an enrl}' frienil of tlic Rcfi)rni;ilioii,

wa.s born in Dnndee nboiit 1500. Tlic eldest son

of James 'Wodderbni-n, iiicfcliant In tliat town, lie

\vas educated at St. Leonard's college, St. Andrews,

and on leaving college lie went to Erance, where

he was for a time a merchant. On his return to

Scotland he was instnictcd in (he doctrines of the

Refonncd religion by James Ilcwit, a I5Iack friar
!

at ])uiidee. Eor the purpose of exposing the i

abuses and superstitions of the times, he composed

some jilax s in the .Scottish language, which, with

his i»oems and songs, had a good effect in stirring

up the minds of many in favour of the new reli-

gion. Three of his poems are inserted with his

name in the Bannatyne IManuscript. Calderwood,

in his 'Historic of the Kirk of Scotland,' (vol. i.

p. 1-1:2,) sii\'s that he wrote a Tragedy on the be-

heading of 'John the Baptist,' sliowing the cor-

ruptions of the Romish church, which was acted

at the West Port of Dundee, as was also a com-

edy on the ' History of Dionysius the Tyrant,' in

which he likewise attacked the Papists. He coun-

terfeited so well "the conjuring of a gliaist," that

the king, James V., was constrained to discharge

his confessor, Friar Laing, who had practised the

trick of conjuring up a ghost between Kinghorn

and Kirkcaldy. \\'cdderbuni was the principal
\

author of the celebrated ' Buik of Godlie and Spir- 1

itual "Sangs, collected out of sundrie parts of Scrip-

ture, with sundrie of nther Ballates, changed out !

of Profane Sangs for avoyding of Sinue and Har-
j

lotrie,' composed before 15J19, in which it is sup-
|

posed he was assisted by liis two brothers, one of
i

whom \\ as vicar of Dundee. :

In ]j-10 he was dilated to the king for heresy,
|

.and letters of caption were brdered to be issued
;

against him. In consequence he fled to France, i

and resided at Rouen or Dieppe till his death,
j

AVhilc at the latter place, four Scottish mercliants
|

there, named John Meldruni, Henry Tod, John
!

Mowat, and Gilbert Scott, accused him of heresy
j

to the bishop of Rouen, but that prelate refused
I

to interfere with him because they could prove no-

thing against him. They insisted that he had

been declared a heretic in Scotland, but the bishop

desired them to send for the process, and if it

w-ere the case he would not be allowed to continue

his residence at Dieppe. He is supposed to have

died in 1564 or 1565. On his deathbed he said

to his son, " Wc have been acting our part in tho

theatre ; yon arc to succeed : see that you act

your part faitlifuUy." In the llarleian Catalogue

the authorship of ''J'he Complaynt of Scotland,'

published at St. Andrews in 154S, is ascribed to

Wedderburn. It has also been attributed to Sir

James Iiiglis and Sir David Liiuls.ay.
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His brother, John Wedderlmni, was also eilu-

cated at St. Leonard's, and, against his will, was

persnaded by Iiis friends to take orders as a priest,

bnt soon began to profess the reformed religion.

Being summoned for heres}', he left Scotland for

Germany, where he heard Lnther and IMelanc-

thon preach, and ho became very fervent and

zealous in support of the reformed faith. He

translated many of Lutlier's liymns into Scottish

metre, and also the Psalms of David. After the

death of James V., in December 1542, he ven-

tured to return to Scotland, but being again per-

secuted by Cardinal Betliune, he fled to England.

The youngest brother, Robert Wedderburn, al-

ready mentioned as vicar of Dundee, spent some

time in Paris, -where he chiefly frequented the

company of those of his countrymen who professed

tlie reformed religion, such as Alexander Ha_y,

and young Sandilands, the son of the laird of Cal-

der, whose father, the lord of St. John, and whole

family were zealous reformers. On his return

voyage to Scotland, the ship he was in was driven,

by contrary winds, on the coast of Norwa}% and

the passengers remained for some days at Ripper-

wick in that country. While there, on the Satur-

day before Whitsunday even, 1546, after continual

disputing and reasoning among the passengers,

some of w^hom were papists, he and the other Re-

formers on board, burnt Cardinal Betliune in effi-

g3', " in a great fire of timber." It happened that

that same day the cardinal was slain in his own

castle of St. Andrews.

WEDDERBURN, David, a learned poet of

the seventeenth century, is supposed to have been

born about 1570. If not a native of Aberdeen, he

appears to have been educated there, studying

either at King's or Marisclial college, which was

founded in 1593. In 1602, he and Mr. Thomas

Reid, afterwards Latin secretary to James VI.,

were appointed, after a strict and lengthened

examination, conjunct masters of the Grammar

school of Aberdeen, then vacant by the death of

Thomas Cargill, author of a forgotten treatise on

the Gowrie Conspirac}% Earlj' in the following

year, Wedderburn attended before the town coun-

cil, and, after stating it to be his intention to en-

ter on the ministry, requested permission to resign

his oflice, which was granted ; but he does not

seem to have carried his design into execution, as

he resumed his old situation iu the Grammar

school the same year. In 1614, on the death of

Gilbert Gray, i)rincipal of Marisclial college, Wed-

derburn was appointed to teach the high class in

the university. In 1617 he published tuo Latin

poems on the king's visit to Scotland that year

;

which, with five more of his pieces, were reprint-

ed in tlie ' Delitio3 Poetarum Scotorum.' For one

of these, written at tlie request of the magistrates,

he received a donation of fifty merks. In 1619,

he was appointed to teach a lesson in Humanity

once a-week to the students of Marisclial college,

and also to compose in Latin, both in prose and

verse, an Essay on the common affairs of the city,

for which he obtained a salary of eighty merks per

annum. In 1625, a poem which he wrote on the

death of James VI., was printed in 4to by Ed-

ward Raban at Aberdeen, and is now very rare.

Ill 1630 he received from the magistrates a reward

of £100 Scots for a new Grammar, which he had

completed for the use of his pupils, and " ane

hundredth pundis moe," to defray liis expenses

into Edinburgh, to obtain the license of the privy

council for the printing of the same. In 1640, in

consequence of his bodilj' infirmities, lie was al-

lowed to retire from the rectorship of the Gram-

mar school, on a pension of two hundred merks

annuallj'. In 1641, on the death of his "old

friendj" Dr. Arthur Johnston, he published, at

Aberdeen, six elegies, under the title of ' Sub

Obitum Viri Clarissimi et Carissimi, 1). Arcturi

Jonstoni, Medicii Regii, Davidis Wedderburni

Suspiria ;" reprinted by the notorious Lauder, in

1731, in the ' Poetarum Scotorum Musa? Sacra;.'

In 1643, AVeddcrburn published, at Aberdeen,

' Meditationum Campestriuni, sen Epigramatuiu

iMoraliuin, Centuriaj Dua;,' and, in 1644, ' Ccntn-

ria Tertia.' He wrote also numerous commenda-

tory poems and elegiac verses. The precise date

of his deatli has not been ascertained. In 1664

his brother Alexander published, at Aberdeen, a

posthumous work, being Commentaries on Per-

sius. " AVcdderburn," says Dr. Young, "is not

so generally known as a commentator as one of

the Latin poets ; but his iiosthumous edition of

Persius, which, by the care of his brother, Alex-

ander, was published at Amsterdam, ought lo
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!i;iv(! socurcil liiiii ;i respcctiibit; jihice ninoiirr oui"

]iliiloloj?ei's." It is ])robablo that he died ii Caw

years before tlie imblication of tliis work.

WEDDERBURN, Alex-VXimci:, first earl of

Rossl_vn, a distinguished lawyer. Sec Rosslyx,

page 373 of tliis volmiie.

"WEIjf^II, John, a distingiiislied divine of tlie

sovcntccntli eentnry, son of tljc proprietor of tlie

estate of CnUieston, in Nithsdale, was born about

1570. In early life, we are tohl, he indulged in

the most profligate ])ractices, and his conduct

proved a source of grief to all his relations. Being

of a bold and ad venlunuis disposition, he would

not suliiiiit to the restraints imposed on him at

school, l.>ut, quitting his father's house, joined him-

self to a band of Border thieves, and li\ ed for a

wliih; entirely by jilnnder. After some time, how-

ever, disgusted w iih tli.'it infamous mode of life,

he resolved to abandon it ; and, throngli the good

ofliees of Mrs. Forsyth, an aunt of his own, resid-

ing in Dumfries, he was reconciled to liis father,

I

and restored to his home, thoroughh' reformed

]

iVom all Ills evil conrsrs. Having directed his

views towards the ministry, Ids fatlier. at his ijwn

earnest i-equest, sent him to college, \\liere he ac-

quired the high approbatiou of his teachers for his

a|ii)licali(ni and proficiency. After being licensed

to preach the gospel, he was invited, before he had

reached his twentieth } ear, to the town of Srl-

kiil;, where he was ordain(>d minister; and his

lieart being in liis work, he showed hinr-elf to be

active and indefatigable in the discharge of his

]iasfornl duties. He preached publicly once every

day, besides devoting seven or eight hours to pri-

vate prayer, and also spent much of his time in

visiting and catechising his ]ieople. His fidrlily

and zeal, however, soon rcndereil him an object (.if

jealonsv and hatred to many under his chai'ge,

and caused him to be disliked even by (ho clergy

and gentry in the neighbourhood, rinding him-

self uncomfortably situated at Selkirk, he accepted

a call from Kirkcudbright, where, however, he did

not remain huig, but, in iriOd, removed to Ayi\

on an invitation IVom that lo"n. At the com-

mi'iicemcnt of his ministry there, the inlialiitants

weie in such an irrrligious state, and entertained

such an aversion to (he clerical character, that he

had considerable ditliculiy, ;it fiist. in obtaining

even a house to live in, and was oliliged to avail

himself of (lie kindness of a ])ious and respectable

merchant of the town, of the name of Stewart,

who liospitablv otVereil him accommodation niidcr

his roof. At that period, the town of Ayr was
|

the scene of almost constant tumult and conten-

tion iK'fween the different o]iposing factions into

which the inhabitants wove, divided, so that it was

often dangerous for any one to walk through the
j

streets. j\Ir. ^\'elcll used his utmost exertions to i

]int an end to the unseemly feuds that disgraced

the town
;
and, on such occasions, protecting liis

head with a helmet or steel cap, he rushed boldly
i

in between the combatants, and separated them as

they fought. AVhen he had succeeded in restor-

ing order, he caused a table to be covered in the

street, at which the jiarties were invited to exhibit

a proof of their complete reconciliation by eating

and drinking togethei'. This interesting cere-

mony usually began with prayer, and ended with

praise and thanksgiving. By means such as these,

and by his pious admonitions and example, he

soon restored ]ieace and harmony to the inhabi-

tants, and acquired for himself their love, attach-

ment, and esteem. His success as minister of the

town was most encom-aging, so that many years
{

after, ^Ir. Dii'kson of Irvine, himself an able and

eflicient minister, was accustomed to say, when

congratulated on the success of his ministry, that

" the grnpe-gleanings in Ayr, in r^Ir. Welch's

time, were far above the vintage of Irvine in his

own." He continued, w ith increased fervour, his

private devotional exerrises, and while he resided

in .Vyr, would often I'csort to the parish church,

situated at some distance from the town, where lie

sjient whole nights in ])rayer.

The ai bitrarj- proceedings of James VI. in ref-

erence to the church, put an end to IMr. Welcli's

career of usefidness in Ayr, and, finally, led to his

exile from the kingdom. The General Assemlily,

which convened at Holyi-ood-house in 1602, fixed

their next meeting, with (he king's consent, at
j

|

Aberdeen, on the last Tuesday of July 160-1. Re-
j

solving, however, to suppress that court, James,
|

previous (o the day appointed, issued a decree
|

prohibiting tlie meeting of the A.ssembly for that
j |

yeai'. In consequence of this prohibition, the mo-
j

j

I derator of (he former .\ssembly. .Mr. Patrick Gal-
|
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lo\va3% addressed a letter to tlic presbyteries, ap-

pointing the Assembly to meet at Aberdeen on

tlie first Tuesday of July in tlie j'ear following,

viz. 1605. In spite of another decree from the

king, again prohibiting the meeting of the Assem-

blj', a number of faithful ministers, delegates from

synods, assembled at Aberdeen on the day named,

wlieii they merely constituted the Assembly, and

appointed a day for its next meeting. Being

charged by Laiiristoii, the king's commissioner, to

dissolve, the^- immediately obeyed ; but the com-

missioner having antedated the cliarge, several of

the leading members were, wltliin a month after,

thrown into prison. Although Mr. Welch was

not one of those present on the precise day of the

meeting, it was known that he had gone to Aber-

deen, and had declared his concurrence iu what

his brethren had done, and he was therefore im-

prisoned with the rest, first at Edinburgh, and af-

terwards at Blackness. He and five of his breth-

ren, on being called before the privy council,

declined that court as incompetent to judge in the

case ; and they were in consequence indicted to

stand their trial for treason at Linlithgow, when,

owing to the unjust and illegal proceedings of the

crown oflicers, the jury, by a majority of three,

returned a verdict against them of guilt}', and

tlic}^ were condemned to death. Afraid, however,

of cnn-\'iug matters to this extremity, James com-

muted the sentence into banishment from the

realm
;
and, November 7, 1C06, Mr. Welch, ac-

companied by his wife, and the other condemned

ministers, set sail from Leith. Although the hour

of their embarkation was two o'clock in the morn-

ing, a great number of persons assembled to bid

them farewell; and, before their departure, thej-

engaged in prayer, and joined in singing the

twenty-third Psalm.

On his arrival at Bordeaux, Mr. Welch ap])lied

himself without delay to learn the language,

which, in fourteen weeks, he acquired such a

knowledge of as to be able to preach in French,

and not long after he obtained a call from a Pro-

testant congregation at Nerac. This was follow-

ed, in a short time, by an invitation to St. Jean

d'Angel}', a fortified town of considerable size in

Lower Cliarcntc, where he laboured with much

acceptance for nearh- sixteen years. Dining his

residence there, his coui-agc and strength of char-

acter were shown on a very remarkable occasion.

Louis XIIL having gone to war with his Protes-

tant subjects, laid siege to St. Jean d'Angeh- ; the

citizens of which were much encouraged in their

defence of the town by Mr. Welch, who not only

exhorted them to make a vigorous resistance, but

took his place on the walls of the city-, and assist-

ed in serving the guns. The king was at last

compelled to offer terms of peace, and, when the

town capitulated, j\Ir. AVelch continued to preach

as usual. This coming to the ears of Louis, he

sent the Duke d'Espernon to bring him into his

])resence. When the duke arrived with his guard

at the church in which Mr. Welch was at the mo-

ment preaching, the latter called out from the

pulpit for a seat to be brought for the duke, that

he might hear the word of God. The duke, in-

stead of interrupting him, sat down, and with the

utmost gravit}' and attention heard the sermon to

an end. He then intimated to Mv. A^'clcll that he

must accompanv him to the king, a mandate which

he willingly obeyed. On being brought into the

presence of his majesty, he knelt down and silcnt-

'y prayed for wisdom and assistance. The king

angrih' demanded of him, how he had dared to

preach where he was, since it was against the

laws of France for any man to preach within the

verge of the court. IMr. Welch answered, with

his characteristic boldness, " Sir, if you did right,

you would come and hear me preach, and make

all France hear me likewise ; for I preach not as

those men you are accustomed to hear. First, I

preach that you must be saved by the death and

merits of Jesus Christ, and not your own ; and I

am snrc your conscience tells you that your good

works will never merit heaven. Next, I preach

that, as you are king of France, there is no man

on earth above you; but these men whom you

hear subject you to the pope of Pumie, which I

will never do.'"—"Very well," replied Louis, gra-

tified with this last remark, "you shall be my

minister;" and dismissed hiin with an assurance

of his protection.

On the renewal of the war in 1G21, St. Jean

d'Angely was again besieged b}' Louis, who is-

sued express orders that the house of Mr. Welch

should be protected ;
and, on t e capture of the
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town, lioi'rics :uid \\ iiggoiis \\ ere provided to trans-

port liim and liis family to Ilociiclie, as a place of

safety. Owing to declining liealtli, l\Ir. 'Welch

soon after solicited jierniisslon to return to Eng-

land, -wliicli was granted, and lie arrived in Lon-

don in 10:^2. Anxions, liowcver, to hiwt; the

benelit of his native air, he applied to James,

through his friends, to lie alluued to revisit Scot-

land ; bnt the king, dreading his inlluenc'e, abso-

Intely refused his consent; alleging that lie wonld

never be able to establish his fa\ onrite system of

prelacy in Scotland, if jMr. AVelch returned thi-

ther, lie e\-en i-elused him ])ermissiou to ])i-each

ill London, till he \\as inrnrmcd that he Mas in

the last stage of illness, and conld not long sur-

vive, \\iien he granted him liberty to do so. The

dying preacher no sooner heard that all restriction

was removed, than, enfeebled as he ^^•as, he em-

braced the opiiortnnit}-, and, obtaining access to a

l)ulpit, he preached with all his former fervour

and aniniatiiui. On the coiiclnsion of liis dis-

course he retii-ed to his chamber, and uitliin two

hours expired, in the bod year of his age, " and so

eudit his daycs," says Calderwood, " \\ ith the

deserved name of an holie man, a painfidl and

powerfidl ]ireachour, and a constant sufl'erer for

the trueth." liis wife, l^lizabetli Knox, 3d daugh-

ter of the Refoi'mcr, died at Ayr, in .lanuary, 1G25.

WELSH, David, D.D., an eminent divine, was

born 11th December 1793, at Braefoot, parish of

I\Ioflat, ] )unifries - shire, where his tathei', like

many of his progenitors, was an extensive sheep

farmer. He was the youngest of twelve chil-

dren, and early dcvoliHl to the ministry, lie

was educated at the High school anil uni-

versity of Ediiibiirgli, and in INIav 181 G A\as

licensed to preach the gospel by the jiresbyterv of

Lochmabeii, wilhiu whose bounds the parish of

IMollat is situated. On 22d iMarcli 1821, he was

ordained minister f>f the church and ]iarish of

Crossmicliael, in tlie stewartry of Kirkcudbright.

Here lie spent six useful and happy years. Erom

Crossmicliael he was removed to St. l^axid's

cliurch, Glasgow, where he continued four years,

during all which time he was gi-adualiy acQuiring

an ascendency over his brethren in tlu? ministry,

and rose daily in jmblic cstimaiiuii.

In the month of October 1S31 he was appointed

to the chair of church liisloiy in the nnivi'i'sily of

Edinburgh. It was not without a severe struggle

tliat he demiited the pastoral office, but in his case

the effort of ])rcaching was alu axs most exhaust-

ing, and he seldom recovered from the labours of

the Sabbath till the succeeding 'Wedncsda}'. ICveii

at C'rossinichael he suftercd severel}' from this

cause
;
and, after liis removal to Edinburgh he

expressed the conviction that a continuance in his

ministerial charge would certainly ha\c shortened

his days. I5eside.4 this, he was in ever_\- way ad-

mirably qualified for a theological chair, and such

a situaliiin afforded him opportunities of gi'atify-

iiig his ardent desire for knowledge, and indulging

his litcraiy tastes, which he could not otherwise

have enjoyed. In the welfare of his students he

took great interest, and he was singulaiiy suc-

cessful as their instructor. In ISl-l he published

a ^-olume of his hiboni's in this department entitled

'The Elements of Church History,' purposing

afterwards to extend the work to five or six

volumes. On the occasion of his leaving Glasgow,

he received from the univei'sity tlie degree of doc-

tor in divinity.

I'roin the time of his becoming a jirofessor he

sat regularly in the General Assembly of the

Church of Scotland, although from a want of fin-

ency and a tendency to become nervous when

sjieaking in public, he rarely took part in the dis-

cussion, even of those questions in which he was

deeply interested. In the debate on patronage in

1833, liis strong sense of duty led him, on oiic of

the members characterizing the motion as an

" cxtra\ agant proposal," and an " cxtraoi'dinary

demand," to stand up and exclaim, "Extravagant

proposal! extraordinary demand ! AMiy ! we are

doing nothing more than making an approach to

asking for Mhat was enjoyed—and I state this

without the fear of contradiction—by the whole

(;hristian church for six hundred years, and ^vllat

the Church of Scotland has always cxpi'esscd its

wish to enjoy, as often as it lias given utterance to

its feelings oii the subject." In the course of his

speech he quoted, among other authorities, a ]ias-

sagc from (Jibbon, very clear and decisive as to

the people, in the early ages of Christianity, en-

joying the privilege of electing their own pastors,

but concluding w ith the remark that, in the cxcr-
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3ise of this privile^!?o, they " sometimes silenced,

bj' their tiimiiltuotis acclamations, tlic voice of

reason and tlie laws of discipline." On hearing

this quotation the friends of patronage in the As-

sembly, seizing on it as a testimonj' against the

fitness of the Ciiristian people to choose their pas-

tors, received it with cheers of triumph, but they

were instantly put to silence by the retort of Dr.

Welsh :
" You arc welcome to the sneer of this

arch-infidel and truckling politician ; I take the

benefit of his fart.''

Ill the great ecclesiastical controversy which

arose as to the independence of the church, he

took a decided part. In the private consultations

of the evangelical party his views were fully ex-

pressed, and the utmost confidence was placed in

his integrity and judgment. So highly was his

character estimated that at the meeting of the

General Assembly of 1842, he was chosen mode-

rator of the Assembly which adopted the Claim of

Right. He was thus made to occupy the most

conspicuous position in the Church of Scotland on

the day of the disrnptio!i, and his sanction to the

proceedings which led to that event, in the eyes

of man}' went farther to redeem the act from the

charge of precipitate rashness than that perhaps

of any other individual in the church.

On the moi ning of the memorable 18th of May

1843, Edinburgh was all excitement in expecta-

tion of the great ecclesiastical event Avhich was to

take place that day, and which was to prove the

zeal and the sincerity of those who had adopted

for their fundamental principle the sacred truth,

that " the Lord Jesus Christ is the only head and

King of the chui-ch." All business was suspended

in the cit}', and the streets were filled with seri-

ous and anxious crowds collected from every part

of Scotland
;
many came from England, and even

some from foreign lands. The custoniar}- levee of

the lord-high-commissioner at Ilolj-rood was more

nimierously attended that day than on previous

occasions. The friends of the government throng-

ed there in large numbers to give an imposing as-

pect to their cause, while the ministers and

elders of the church about to separate from it

flocked to the levee to testify their abiding loyalty.

When the commissioner had proceeded in state to

St. Giles' church, Dr. Welsh, in presence of a

densel}' crowded and excited audience, preached

his sermon on the text, " Let every man be fully
;

persuaded in Ids own mind." On the conclusion
i

of the service, the commissioner, the most noble
j

the marquis of Bute, and his train, attended by a
j

brilliant military escort, proceeded to St. Andrew's
I

church, in George Street, and assumed the throne,
j

which was siirronnded b}' the chief officers of state
|

in Scotland, and a distinguished circle of landed
\

proprietors.

The crowning act is thus narrated : Dr. Welsh

took the moderator's chair. Nothing but the

highest mental energy, aided by strength from

above, could have sustained him—feeble in body

through previous illness and anxiety, and ex-

hausted by the labour he had already that day

gone through. But he was firm and collected;

very pale, but full of dignity, as one about to do a

great deed, and of elevation, from the conscious-

ness that he was doing it for Christ. His opening

prayer being ended, the Assembly became still as

death. In a voice not strong, but clear and dis-

tinct, and heard in ever}' corner of the building,

he said, "According to the usual form of proce-

dure, this is the time for making up the roll
; but,

in consequence of certain proceedings respecting

our rights and privileges,—proceedings which

have been sanctioned by her majesty's govern-

ment, and by the legislature of the country, and

more especially that there has been an infringe-

ment on the liberties of our constitution, so that

we could not now constitute this court without a
|

violation of the terms of the union between church
j

and state in this land, as now authoritatively de-

clared—I must protest against our proceeding

farther. The reasons that have led to this con-

cUision are fully set forth in the document which

I hold in my hand, and which, with the permis-

sion of the house, I shall now proceed to read."

Having i-ead the protest, which was signed by 120

ministers and 73 lay elders, Dr. Welsh laid it on

the table, and bowing to the commissioner, left

the chair. Followed by Dr. Chalmers, Dr. Gor-

don, and a host of others, he proceeded out of

the church, and in long procession, headed by

him, marched, through the crowds assembled,

to Tanfield Hall, Canonmills. On arriving there,

he again assumed the chair, and in a most spirit-
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ual nud sublime ])r:i\ cr, opened the proceedings.

Ilis wliole appearance at tlii.s time, we are told,

was in tlic liiglicst df'S'rec imprcs.'^ivc. A cele-

brated liistorical jiainter, wlio was ]ire?ent on tlie

occasion, remarked liiat liis countenance wore an

as]K'ct of intelligence and moral elevation such as

he had never witnessed nor conceived. 'J'liose

present proceeded to iVirm themselves into the

" General Assend)I_v ol' the Free Protesting Clnu'ch

of ^^cotland," with the illnst lions 'J'homas Clial-

niers, D.D., as its first niodci-aldr.

In 1839 Welsh had been apjiointcd sec-

retary to tlu! IJiblc board for Scotland, with a

salaiy of .£.")i)0 per annum ; an ofiicc to which.

In' an express ari'angi'ment, a dissenter was

eqnally eligible with a chnrchman, and in which

he had gi\cn nni>onnded satisfaction. lie held

it, howevei', at the ]ileasure of the cro^\n,

and having, on quitting the established church,

deemed it incumbent on him to resign the chair of

church history in the university, his appointment

as secretary to the liible board was, without rea-

s(ui assigned, cancelled, and the ollice conferred

on auDtlier. lOven at this opjircssive act lie did

not conijilain, but the feeling of indignation among

his friends and the ))ublic in Scollaiid at such an

niijiist proceeding was very great. His coiili-

dence, however, in the cause for which he thus

individually siiftered never for one instant abated,

and so great was the influence which he possessed

among the friends of the Free church, that in the

course of two nionths he collected the large sum

of .£-21,000, in subscriptions of £1,000 each, for

building the New College at Edinburgh. In the

Assembly of 1844, he was appointed principal

lilirarian of the college, and in connection with it

he instilnted a theological library, which at the

time of his death contained about thirteen thou-

sand volumes, man}- of them very rare, and com-

prising all that is valuable in theological science.

In the New College, as in the old universily, he of

course held the apiiointment of professor of church

history.

In early life the bent of his mind had induced

him to devote much of his lime to metaphysical

pursuits. He altended the class of Dr. Thomas

I<rown, professor of moral ]ihilosophy in the uni-

versity of Ivliiiburgh, allowed to be the firit

metaphysician of his ago, and was admitted to close

intimacy with liiin. He afterwards published ' .\n

Account of the Life, and Writings of Dr. Thomas

IJrown.' He was also editor of the North British

I!e\iew.

Dr. ^\'elsll died suddenly, in the piinie of life,

April 24, l.m.'). He left a widow and fuur chil-

dren. In ]8o4 he published a volume of ' Sermons

on Pi-actical Subjects," .and in 18IG appeared a

volume of Posthumous Sermons, with a nienioir

preli.xed, b}- Alexander Dunlop, Ivsq,, Advocate.

\Vki.W(iiii), or Wici.i.wooi), :i .smii:ime s.-iid to !ic (Iciivoii

fi'oni llie D.inisli A'elvod, or Vclviicl, tlie ll.a;iic of ;i I):ini.sli

noble wlio c;UTie to Scotl:iini willi tlio Princess Anne of Den-

mark, consort of .lames VI.

'I'lic family of Wclwooii, Wclbvooil, or Wahvnoil. li.avp,

liowpver, been provosts ami ofi-ccrs of Ibe regality of Diin-

fermline beyond record. Tliey are mentioned several times

in tbe cbartulary of tbe abbey as b.dlies, anno MoT and l-)3!),

and in tbe burgh ref;ister anno 1-1S8, bcin;: desif;nated De
Wabvood, or Wabvode. In 15GG, .lobn Wehvood was senior

ofiicer of the regality of Dunfermline. lie and Ids brotber,

William, portioners of Touch, and of Forrester I.ey.'s, and .lohn,

proprietor of the Ttli part of the Grange, or Kast Barnes of

Dunferndine, 1.5CG, and Lawrence and Tliomas. are also no-

ticed ill the Bur;;li Regi.ster, 1.t67. In it also are tlie entries

of .lolin Wellwood and Helen Wardlaw, one-lialf of Touch;

."Vbraham Wellwood, one-third p.art of Netlier I.essodie; and

Laurence Wellwood, one-half of Touch and Wester Rabirig.

William Wellwood of Touch marrieii, in IGo.i, iMargaiet,

youngest daughter of Niebol Wardlaw, of Wester I.uscar,

Carnoek parish, a branch of the Wardlaws <if Torrie.

Their son. Robert, of Touch, m.arried .le.-in, daugliter of .i

gentleman of the name of Living.stone. The same who was

lined in the case of Arciibi.shop .Sharp in 1G70.

liobert's son. Sir .Tames Wellwood, an eminent jilivsician

and liistorian, born in IG.VJ, studied at Glasgow, wlience

he removed to Holland in IG70. He coniph'ted bis edu-

cation at Leyden, where lie took tbe degree of M.D., and re-

turned to Britain with King William at the Ilevdlulinn.

Appointed one of the Iloyal physicians for .'-cotland. lie si't-

tled at Kdiiiburgh, wliero be attained high eminence in liis

profession, and acquired a cmisiiierable fortune. He died in

171G. He was the autlior of—Vindication of the Revolution

in Kiigland anno 1GS8. Lond. ]G.S!), •Ito.—Memoirs of the

most iii.-iterial Transactions in Kngland for the last Imiidied

years preceding tlie Revolution in IGSS. Loud. 1792, .Svo.

— .\n Answer to the late King .Tames' Last Dcel.-iratiori to ail

his pretended Subjects in tlie Kingdom of Kngl.and, dated at

Dublin Castle, M.ay 8. IGSO.

Sir ,James's son, Roliert Wellwood' of Touch, aerjnired the

estate of Garvock, Fifesliire, from wliich tlie family after-

wards took their title, and married, about lG!)fl. Catherine,

6th d.iughler of .Tolm Dcnliam of .Muirliouse and West Shields.

His son, Henry Wellwood of G.irvock and Pitliver. pnr-

ehascil Tullieb(de, Kinross-shire, in 1749, and .about 17.V2

conveyed it to Rev. Sir Henry Monciieffe, bai t,, son of bis

niece and of Rev. Sir William .MoncrielTe, liart. He (iied

.January IG, 175.S.

His brother, Robert Wellwood, .Mioceeded him in G.arvoek.

He married Susanna, daiigliler of Campbell of Mnnzic, and



WELWOOD. 634 \VEMYSS.

(liL-d April i;), ]7(i7. He Ii.-ul one son, Robert, :ind fi)iir

(l.-ui fillers. 1. Catlieriiie, born May 23, 1722, iiiiirried Rev.

Sir \Villi:im Jloncriefte, minister of Blackfoni, wlio became,

in 174-1, 7tli barontt of Tippcrniabicli, (see Monxriuffe, p.

176 of tliis voliiine.) 2. Isobel, married James Robertson

Barclay of Keavil, Sept. 24, 1744. 3. Margaret, married in

1754, Dr. Jolm Stedman, boni in 1710, died 1791, one of

tlie professors in tlie university of Ediiil)Ur{;li. 4. Susan.

The son, Robert Wellwood of Garvock and Pitliver, advo-

cate, born Dec. 22, 1720, married, in 1744, Mary, eldest

daughter of Sir George Preston, 4tli baronet of Valleytield,

Robert Wellwood executed an entail of liis property, dated

May 29. 3 '90, and died J.-.nuary 12, 1791. He had two

sons, Robert and Andrew, and 4 daughters. 1. Anne, born

in 1745, married Robert Scott Jloncriefl'e of Coates and New-

liall ; issue one son, Robert Scott Wellwood, who died in 1854

without issue. 2. Susan, born in 1751, died unmarried. 3.

Elizabetli, born Nov. 21, 1752, married Allan Maconocliie,

Lord Meadowbank, (see M.xco.nochiic. p. 60 of this volun;e).

4. Catlierinc, borji May 12, 1754, died unmarried.

'J'lie elder son, Robert Wellwood of Garvock, born Feb. 7,

1747, married. 1st, Lilias, 2d daughter of James Robertson

Barclay of Keavil, and 2dly, Eliza JI'Neil. He died July 7,

1820, leaving 2 d.-uigliters by first marriage. 1. Isabella^

married Robert Clarke of Comrie Castle, Pertbshire. She

died ill 1826, leaving, with other issue, a son. Rev. William

Colin Clarke, born in 1810, married in 1856, Anne, eldest

daughter of William D. Pigot, late of Dysart, Qneen's coun-

tv, Ireland, with issue. He is heir of entail to Valleyfield.

2. Mary, married Lawrence Johnston of Sands, with issue.

Robert Wellwood w as succeeded by his brother, Andrew

Moffat Wellwood of G.arvotk, born in 1764, died Feb. 25,

1847. He had one daughter, Amur Mary, who married. 1st,

Jolm James 15oswell, advocate, with issue; and, 2Qly, Ralph

Clarke, Edinburgh. On the death of Robert Seott Wellwood,

nephew of Andrew Jloffat Wellwood, in 1854, Alexander

Maconocliie, 2d Lord Meadowbank, son of the first judge of

that name, succeeded to Garvock, (see page 60 of this vol.)

Wemyss, a surname derived from the Gaelic word Uamh,

a cave, and tjie name of a parish in Fifeshirc, on the shore of

the Forth, from the number of caves in the rocks there.

Wejiyss, Earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland, con-

ferred in 1C33, on Sir John Wemyss, Lord Wemyss of Elcho,

descended from a family of the origin of which there are

more accounts than one. All agree, however, as to their be-

ing derived from the family of Macduff, maonnor of Fife, in

the reign of Malcolm Canmore. The family of Wemyss,

therefore, is, it is believe<l, the only ancient family in the low-

lands having a really Celtic origin, and one of the few great

families in Scotland which, through the male line, can claim

kindred with Celtic blood. The lands now forming the par-

ish of Wemyss are said to liave been part of the estate of

Macduff, Sh:ikspere"s well-known thane of Fife. Aecordins

to Sibtiahl, Gillimicliae'^ the third in descent from JLicduff,

bad a second sou named Hugo, wdio obtained the lands from

bis father, with lands in Lochoreshire, and in the jjarisb of

Kennowav, and the patronage of the eburcli of i\Iarkinch.

He is mentioned in the chartulary of Dunfermline, as Hugo,

the son of Gilliinieliael, during the reign of Malcolm IV.

According lo a nt.aniiscript account of the family in the pos-

session of the earl of Wemyss, the iirst of his house is said to

Iiave been Michael Wemyss, sec"nd son of Duncan, fifth earl

of File, who died in 1165, but Sibbald's account seems sanc-

tioned by ancient charters.

Hugo, the son of Hugo, the son of Gillimichael, confirmed

to the canons of St. Andrews, the church of JIarkinch, with

ii toft and the teinds. John, his son, designed in charters

.John of Jlethkil, miles, assumed the name of, or w.is styled,

Ian mlior nnn Uamh, or gicat John of the cave, in the reign

of Alexander II. His son, Michael de Wemyss, was the fa-

ther of Sir John de Wemyss, mentioned by Fordun as having

had a dream of the victory obtained by the Scots over the

Norwegians at Largs in 1263. In 1290, Sir Jlichael de

Wemyss, the sou of Sir John, with his brother Sir David,

according to Wynton and Fordun, were sent with the great

Sir Michael Scott of Balwe;irie, to Norway, to bring to Scot-

land the young Qneen Jlargaret, the grand-daughter of Alex-

ander III. Among other reliques of the olden time pre-

seiTed in the castle of Wemyss, the residence of the family,

is a silver bowl, said to have been presented to Sir

Micluiel Wemyss by Eric, king of Norway, on this occa-

sion. Sir Jlichael de Wemyss was present wlien Baliol

did boma,ge to Edward I. in 1292, and in 1290 he swore

fealty to Edward I. In 1315 he witnessed the act of settle-

ment of the Scottish crown by Robert the Bruce at Ayr.

His son. Sir David de Wemyss, was one of the patriotic no-

bles who subscribed the famous letter to the Pope in 1320,

asserting the independence of Scotland ; and his son. Sir

Michael, confirmed all the grants of his predecessors to the

churches of St. Andrews and Soltnay. The latter had three

sons. Sir David, his heir; Sir John, who obtained from

his father the lands of Rires, and part of Lochoreshire, and

from Sir Alexander Abernethy a grant of the barony of Kin-

caldriim ; and Sir Michael. Sir John, the second son, died in

1358, leaving a son, Sir David Wemyss, of liires and Kincal-

drnm, who died before 1373. The son of the latter. Sir John

Wemyss of Rires and Kincaldrum, in virtue of a settlement

by bis uncle, Sir David de Wemyss, sheriff of Fife, succeeded

to the family estate in 1375.

This Sir David Wem3-ss, the elder son of Sir Micliael,

had a son, Sir David Wemyss, who was one of the guaran-

tees for the release of David II., and this baron's son,

also named Sir David, was one of the hostages for that

monarch's ransom. The latter left a dangbter, IMargaret,

married to Sir Patrick de Inchmartine, and by him had a

d.uighter, Isabel de Inchmartine, heiress of that- barony.

This last married Sir Alan Erskiiie, and had two dangh-

ters, bis co- heiresses, Margaret, wife of Sir John Glen,

and Isabel, married to Sir John Wemy.ss of Rires and Kin-

caldrum, the heir male of the family. Besides the lands he

held from his father, and those disponed to him by his father-

in-law, he had extensive graiits of lands in Fife and elsewhere,

from Robert IL and Robert III. He had three sons, the

second of whom, Duncan, w.-is one of the hostages on the

liberation of James I., and the third, Alexander, was an-

cestor of the family of Wemyss of Latliocar.

The eldest son, Sir David Wemyss, designed Davy of the

Wemy.ss, died in 1461, leaving a son. Sir John de Wemyss,

who was one of the conservators of the treaty with the Eng-

lish in 1484. He died in 1502, leaving a son. Sir John

Wemyss of Wemyss, whose fourth son, Thomas Wemyss, was

ancestor of the family of Wemyss of Wintliank or Wemyss

Hall. Sir David Wemyss, the eldest son of Sir John, was

killed at Floddeii in 1513. and Sir David's eldest son, also Sir

David Wemyss. died in 1544. Sir John Wemyss, the eldest sur-

viving sun, repnl.sed the ICnglisb who lauded in Fife in 1547,

;iiid in 1556, when the queen regent pro]iosed that the laniicd

property of the country slmuld be taxed for the pay of a stand-

ing force, about 300 of the barons assembled in Edinburgh,

and sent I he lairds of Wemyss and Calder lo remonstrate against
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I lier dcsisfii, wliicli slio was fcirccd to aliaiuion. ]ii looi) lie was

constituted lieutenant of I'ife, Kinross, and Clackmannan.

He entered into tlic association in support of Queen Ulary at

Hamilton, 8tli May lofiS, and died in .January 1572. His

eldest son. Sir David Wemyss, was ancestor of tlie fandlies

of Bogie, baronets, and of some families of the name in

Ireland. Sir .Tolin Weniy.ss, tlie eldest son, was concerned in

tlie Ilaid of liutliven, hut received a pardon. He had a char-

ter of liis lands of Wemyss, Klcho, &c., uniting them into

j
the barony of Wemyss, 10th May 1.089, and obtained i'rom

I
the duhc of I.enno.\ a grant of the admiralty betwi.xt the wa-

ter of Leven and Dysart in IGIO. He died in lUlG.

i Sir John Wemy.ss of Wemyss, his eldest; surviving son,

I

the eigbtcenth in direct descent from Hugo, the son of Gilli-

micliael, was created a baronet of Nova Scotia, '29lh May

1C2.5, and bad a ch;u ter of the barony of New Wemyss in

tliat province. On 1st .April IG'28 he was ndsed to the pcer-

i

age by the title of I.nrd Wemyss of Klcbo, and 25th June

\Go3, when Charles I. was in Scotlar.d, be was advanced to

the title of carl of Wemyss, Lord IClcbo and Jletbil, by p;i-

tent to b!m and his heirs male for ever. His lordship was

high-commissioner to the General Assembly that met at Kd-

inburgb, 2.3d July lG-11, and the same year was constituted a

privy councillor by parliament, and one of the conmiittee of

estates, also in 1C4-J. He died 22d November lC-19. He

liad one son and live daughters.

The .son, David, second earl of Wemyss, had a son, David,

Lord Elcho, and four diuightcrs, but his children having ail

died except the youngest daughter. Lady Margaret, he made

a resignation of his titles, and obtained a new patent of

them, od August 1G72, in her favour and the heirs male of

her body; which failing, to the heirs of entail contained in

her contract of marriage, with the former precedency. Be-

sides building a commodious harbour at Methlic, he greatly

improved his fine seat of Wemyss, and died in June 1G79.

His only surviving daughter, JIargaret, countess of We-

]

myss, married, first. Sir James Wemyss (jf CasUiebcrry, who

was created Lord Burntisland for bis life only, loth April

1G72, to whom she had, with two daughters, Anne, countess

of Levcn .and Melville, and .Margaret, countess of Northeslc,

j

one son, David, third earl of Wemyss. She m;uried, second-

1 ly, George, first earl of Cromarty, without issue. She died

in 1705, and Lord Cromarty erected a bronze statue to lier

nu'inorv.

David, Iblrd earl of Wemyss, took the oatlis and his seat

in parliament, 2Sth June 1705. The same year lie was

sworn .1 privy cimncilhn', and nominated one of the connnis-

sioners for the treaty of Union. The following year be was

appointed high-adndral of Scotland, an office which was

abolished by the Union, which he steadily supported in par-

liament. He was chosen one of the first sixteen representa-

tive Scots peer.s, loth February 1707, and was constituted

viee-adndral of Scotland, by commissiim from Prince George

of Denm.ark, high-admiral of Great Britain. He w.is also

nominated one of his royal highness' council. At the gen-

eral election of 1708, ihe earl of Wemyss was rechoseii one

of the sixteen representative jieers. He died 15tli March

1720. Ho married, first, in IG07, Lady .\nne Douglas, eld-

est daughter of William first did;e of Qiieensberry, by whom

lie had two sons, David, Lord Hlcbo, who died of a malig-

nant fever, IGth December 1715, before he b.id completed

his 17th year, and Jauie.s, fourth earl of Weniy.ss. The

countess' fate was a very uiel.-incboly one. On loth Febru-

ary 1700. she was eng.-iged in secret prayer, when her clothes

aecideiitally caught tire, and she w;is so seviaely sorclied

that she expired on the 2;!d of the same month. His lord-
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.ship married, secondly, Jl;iry, the elder of the two danghtera

and coheirs of Sir John Kohinson of Farningwood, county
|

of Northampton, baronet, without issue; and, tbinily, in

July 171G, Klizabeth, fourth daughter of the seveulb Lord

Sinclaii', and by her be had two daughters, IClizabetli, coun-

tess of Sutherland, and Margaret, counte.ss of Mor.iy.

.lames, fourth earl, born in 1G99, is described as having

been "a man of merit, universal benevolence and hospitality,

the delight both of .small and great." He married Janet,

only daughter and heiress of the well-known Colonel Cliar-

teris of Amisfield, and died 21st .March 175G. He b.id three

sous and four daughters.

David, Lord Klcho, the eldest son, when ,i young man of

2-1 years of age, engaged in the rebellion of 17-15. He was :

colonel of the first troop of lior.se-guards of I'riiice Charles,
'

and after the battle of Culloden, made bis escape to the con-

tinent. He was .•ittainlcd by act of parli.ament, and of course
!

could not succeed to the titles of his family on his father's

death. These consequently became dormant till he himself

died ill 1787, when they became vested in his next brother, I

Francis, fifth earl of Wemy.ss. This nobleman succeeded to
1

1

the great property and e.\tensive estates of his maternal
j|

grandfather, Colonel Cbartcris of Amisfield, who, by settle- jl

ment dated 5th June 1729, granted and disponed bis whole
j

estate, re.-d and personal, both in England and .Sc(.tl:ind, in ji

bis favour and the heirs of liis body, with reniaiiulcr to M

the Hon. James Wemyss, his immediate younger brother,
|

and the heirs of his body, those succeeding assuming the

name and arms of Cliarteris. In 1771 the Hon. Francis

Weiny.ss obt;iined an act of parliament .•luthorisiiig him to do

so, notwithstanding the descent to him or bis heirs of the

hcnimir and title of earl of Wemyss, or any other.

The Hon. James Wemyss, the younger brother and

third sou of the fourth earl of Wemyss, entered the royal

navy at an early age, .ind in 1745 was appointed a lieuten-

ant. Qn the death of his father in 175G, he, by a family ar-

rangement, succeeded to the estate of Wemyss, which previ- I

ously bad descended to the ehlest son. He was elected M.P.

for the county of Fife in 17G2, and for the county of Sutlier-
|

land in 17G8, in 1774, and 1780. He died in 178G. and w.is !

succeeded by his eldest surviving son, William Wemyss of

Wem_\'tes. This gentleman obtained an ensign's commission

in the Coldstream guards in June 1777, and in 1779, being a

nephew of the la.-it e.arl of Sutherland, be raised the Sutlier-
|

land fencible regiment of 1,000 rank and file in twelve days, I

and had the temporary rank of colonel in the army conferred
j

|

upon him. When that regiment was reduced in 178.3, ho
,

\

obtained the rank of capt.-iin in the army. At the general
1

1

election in 1784, he was chosen JI.P. for the county of Sutli- Ij

erland, and in 17SG appointed deputy-adjutant-geneial in
j

i

Scotland, with the rank of major in the army. In 1787 he |

!

resigned his seat for Sutherland, and was elected for the

county (if Fife, ahso in 1790 and 1807. By commi.ssioii dated

in M;iy 1798, lie bad the appointment of de]iuty-admiral i >

from Petticur and Kiiighorn, including both sides of the Tav
|;

as far as the water of .Mia, the island o.'' May, and the whole
|

i

islands within these bounds. In 1791 be received the brevet
j

j

rank of lieutenant-colonel. On the commencement of the
|j

war with France in 179.3, he again r.aised the Sutherland '!

fencible regiment, of which he was conslitulcd colonel, and

in 1795 he bad the rank of colonel in the ariiiv. In 1798

the regiment volunteered their services to a.'isist in quelling

the Irish rebellion, and in .lune of that year Colonel Weniv.ss

was promoted to the rank of major-general coimnaiidiiig at

Drogbed.i. In the following month he defe.ited the rebels

near Ardee, and in August he wa.s placed on the Iii^h st.iti'

635
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In 1800 lie niised tlie 93d foot, and of tliat regiment he w:is

iniide colonel in 1800. In Mav 1803 lie was appointed inajor-

gcneral on tlie North British staff, and in Nov. 1805, he was

promoted to the rank of lieutenant-general. He married the

daughter of Sir William Erskine of Torrie, and was .succeed-

ed by his eldest son, .James Erskine Wemyss of Wemyss,

b"rn in 1789, the 2otli proprietor of the estate of Wemyss, in

direct descent from Hugo the .son of Gilliinichael, 4tli e.-u-l of

Fife. He entered the navy, and rose to the rank of rear-

admiral, and was M.P. for Fife.sliire from 1820 to 1830, and

from 1832 to 1847. He married in 1829, I.ady Emma Hay,

daughter of the IGtli earl of Errol. On his death, in IS.o-l.

lie was succeeded by his son, .lames Hay Wemyss, Esq., born

in 1829, married in 18.5,5, Millicent, 2d daughter of Hon. John

Kennedy Erskine and Lady Augusta Filzclarence. He en-

tered the navy in 1841, and retired in 1848. Elected M.P.

for Fifeshire in 18.59.

Francis, 5tli e.-irl of Wemyss, born Oct. 21, 1723, after

being educated at Eton college, travelled on the continent,

and returned to Scotland in 1744. He purchased several

est:ites in East Lothian, where he built Amisfield House, and

the magnificent seat of Gosford. He died at Gosford, Aug.

24, 1808, in his 85th year. By his countess, Lady Cathe-

rine Gordon, 6tli daughter of the 2d duke of Gordon, he had

one son and five daughters. Francis. Lord Elcho, the son,

born at Edinburgh ,Tan. 31, 1749, was chosen M.P. for the

Haddington bni-glis at tlie general election in 1780, and le-

cliosen in 1784. In his lat:r years he devoted his attention

principally to agricultural pursuits. He predeceased his fa-

ther, at Amisficld House, .I.-in. 20, 1808, in his 59th year.

He married, .Tiily 18, 1771, Mi.ss Susan Tr.acy Keck, then

one of the maids of honour to Queen Charlotte, and second

daughter of Anthony Tracy Keck, of Great Tew, in the county

of O.Nford, and by her he had one son and lour daughters.

Francis, si.\'tb earl of Weuij-ss, Lord Elcho's only son, born

'"' April 15, 1772, was an officer in tiie army and aide-de-camp

to his grand-uncle. Lord Adam Gmdim, commander-in-chief

* of the forces in Scotland, from 1793 to 1707. In 1808 he

succeeded bis gniiulfather as earl of Wemyss, and on the

death of the fourth duke of Queensberry in December 1810,

he also became earl of March, viscount of Peebles, and Lord

Douglas of Nicdpath, Lyne, and Munard, inheritiflg the

barony of Kiedpath, ami the extensive property belonging to

bis grace in the county of Peeble.s. He was lord-lieutenant

of Peebles-shire and a depnfy-lieutenant of Haddingtonshire,

and in 1821 he was created Baron Wemyss of Wemyss in the

peerage of the United Kingdom. He died 2.Stli .Tune, 1 853. He

married 31st M.ay 1794, Margaret, fourth daughter of Walter

Campbell, Esq. of Shawfield, and had 2 sons and 8 d.augliters.

'I'lie elder son, Francis Wemy.ss Charteris Douglas, 7th

e.arl of Wemyss and 2d earl of Wemyss and JIarch, born in

179fi, w.as in August 1853 appointed lord-lieutenant of Pee-

bles-shire. He married in 1817 Lady Louisa Bingham, 4th

daughter of Richard, 2d earl of Lucan, by whom he has had

5 sons and 2 daughters. The eldest son, the Hon. Francis

Wemyss Cliarteris, JI.P., Lord IClcho, was born Aug. 4, 1SI8,

and married, Aug. 29, 1843, Lady Anne Frederica Anson, 2d

daughter of the 1st earl of Lichfield, by whom lie has i.ssue.

A baronetcy of Nova .'^cntia was, in 1703, conferred by

Queen Anne on Sir .lames Wemy.ss of Bogie, Fifeshire, de-

scended from the 2d son of Sir David de Wemyss, progenitor

of the earls of Wemyss, by patent, to him and his heirs male

whomsoever. On the deatli of Sir .Tames, 3d baronet, with-

out is.sne, the representation in the male line devolved on the

descendant of the 1st baronet's next brother, Henry, Sir .Tames

Wemyss. writer to the signet. Edinburgh, son of t!ie Rev.

.Tames Wemyss, minister of Burntisland, who died in 1821.

On the death of this gentleman. 4lh b.-nonet, unmarried.
Dec. 31, 1849, the title devolved on his kinsman. Sir .Tohn

Wemyss, born Aug. 1, IS.nO, a mercliant of Berliampore,

Bengal, ehiest son of John Wemyss, Esq., writer in Kirk-
caldy, cousin-german of Sir James Wemy.ss, 4th baronet.

Sir John, 5th baronet, was served heir to the baronetcv in the

court of the slierifl'of chancery at Edinburgh, Oct. 1, 1858.

\VniTEFOORD, Caleb, ;in cmiiicnt wit anil

s.itiricnl poet, was born nt Edinbni'gli in 173-1

He was the only son of Colonel Cliarles Wliite-

foonl, 5tli regiment of foot, tliird son of Sir

.4(lam Wiiitefooi'd, an Ayrshire b.aronet. He com-

pleted Ills education at tlie university of liis native

cit}'. His father intended him for tlie chnrcli,

but to the clerical profession he entertained such

strong objections, that the colonel was obliged to

relinqtiish his design. He was in conseqnence i

sent to London, and placed in the counting-house

of Mr. Archibald Stewart, a wine merchant in

York Buildings, where he remained about foiii-

years. While in this situation his father died in

Galway in Ireland, leaving the principal part of

his fortune to him and his sister, Mrs. Smith.

Shortly after, Mr. Whitefoord went to Fi'auce,

where he resided about two years, until he came

of age. On his return to England lie commenced

business in the wine trade, in Craven Street,

Strand, in partnership with a gentleman of tlie

name of Brown. Possessing strong natural tal-

ents, with wit, learning, and taste, he was well

fitted to shine as an autlior, but he had no ambi-

tion for literary distinction. All he seemed anxi-

ous about was to be admitted to the intercourse of

such men as Johnson, Beynolds, Goldsmith, Gar-

rick, Foote, and other choice spirits of that day.

Having accidentally formed an acquaintance with

Mr. "Woodfall the printer, at the solicitation of that

gentleman lie became a frequent contributor of

sliort satirical pieces, both in prose and verse, to

the ' Public Advertiser,' which attracted consider-

able notice fur their humour and singularitj'. So

careless, however, was he about the reputation

which they brought him, that, as soon as dismissed

from his pen, he took no farther concern about

them, but left them exposed and deserted, till Al-

luond and Debrett sought after, and gave them a

place in that appropriate asylum, 'The Foundling

Asylum for Wit.' He was the originator of that
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iiuiiierouc; cliiss of wliiinsical conceits and pleasnn-

trics, at one time so luiicli in vogue, under the titles

of Ship News Extraoi-diniuy, Cross Readings, ICr-

i-ors of tlie Press, &c., and of course had many

imitators. The siiafts of ins ridicule were so hap-

])il3- directed against the jjetitions, remonstrances,

and griev ances of Wilkes, and the other levellers

of tint day, that they attracted the notice of the

ministry, and he was requested by a person high

in ofiice to write a jjamphlet on the snlijeet of the

misunderstanding which then suli.~isled betwixt

Great JJritain and Spain, relative to the Falkland

Islands. He dediued the task himself, but re-

connnendt'd Dr. Johnson as the ablest person for

the pni-p(i.-e. 'I'he latter was accordingly employ-

ed, and suon after pi-oduced his celebrated publi-

cation, entitled ' Thoughts on the late 'J'ransactions

respecting Falkland Islanils.' Adam Smith used

to say, that though the w its and authors heartily

hated each other, they all had a regard for Mr.

A\'hilefoord. (lariiek and Foote had long been at

variance, Imt i\lr. A\'hitefoord contrived to bring

them together to a dinner at his house, and so

complete was the reconciliation between them,

that Garrick actually lent Foote £500 to repair

his theatre in the Ilaymarket.

A\'hen commissioners were appointed to meet at

Paris to treat of a general peace with America,

after the separation of the colonies from the mo-

ther country, ]\lr. Wiiitefoord's intimacy with Mr.

Oswald and Dr. Franklin led to his being selected

for the post of secretary to the British commission.

After tlie signature on November 30, J 782, of the

lireliniinaiy articles declaratory of the indepen-

dence of the United States, ISIr. Oswald returned

to London, but Mr. Whitefoord remained at Paris

several months longer, as secretary to Mr. Fitz-

herbei t, afterwards Lord St. llelen"s, the minister

charged to negotiate the definitive treaties of

peace. Three of these treaties are in the hand-

writing of Mr. Whitefoord. His services on this

occasion entitled him to some recompense iVom

government ; but Lord Shelburne having resigned

before his return from the continent, his claim was

rejected by the Coalition administration ;
nor was

it till seven years after that a ^nlall pension was

granted to him by his majesty. So high was the

opinion generally entertained of his literary and

scientific acquirements, that the Royal Societies

of London and Edinburgh, the Society of Antiipia-

ries, the Philosophical Society of Phiiadel|)hia,

and the Arcadian Society of Rome, admitted him

a member of their res))ecti\e bodies. He died in

1809, aged 75. llv. married rather late in life, and

left four children. He w as a member of the Lit-

erary Club founded by Dr. Johnson, and his char-

acter is faithfnll}' delineated b}' Goldsmith in his

well-known poem entitled 'The Retaliation.'

\ViiVTi;-.Mici.vii,l.K, tlic name of oUi Caiiiilv in Fifu.-liire,

proiiric'tor.s ul tlie i'sl;itc of Uerniocliy, parisli of Kirkcaldv.

Matthew Wli vte of Maw, livhi;; temp. James III. and .lami-s

Iiad a cliarter uniicr tlie great seal, dated June ti2, HI)-,

"ierraium de Kilmaron."

John Whvtc, yonnpM' .son of David Wiivte of Maw, had a

son, also named .luhn Wlivte, a iiiercliant in Kirkcaldy, wlinse

son, Hubert Whvte, also a merchant in Kirkcaldy, and

the first provost of that royal bur^h, purchased BeniiDehy.

Itobert's son, John Whyte, ICsq. of IJennuchy, married, for his

first wife, Jane, daughter of Thomas JlelviUe, Ksq. of Mur-

doKiiniy, and died in 169.).

His elder son, llobert Whyte, K.sq. of Bennocliy, advocate,

died in 171-1, having Iiad 2 sons, George and Robert, and 2

daughters, Jean, mamed to Itamsay of Balmain, and Helen,

wife of Andrew Melville, Esq., of the family of Carnbee, and

the mother of General Robert Jlelville of Stratlikinnes.

The elcier son, George Whyte, Esq. of Bennocliy, died in 1 72S.

He was succeeded by his brother, liobert Whyte, of Ben-

nocliy, M.D., an eminent pliysician, born at Eilinburgli, Sep-

tember G, 1714, si.\ months after his father's death. He

studied at the univeisity of St. Andrews, and liaviiio; taken his

decree of .M..\., commenced the study of medicine at Edinburgh,

and completed it at London, I'ari.s, and I.eyden. In 173(j he

had the degree of doctor of medicine conferred on liiin by the

university of lUieiins, and also received the same honour, on his

return, from the university of vSt. Andrews. In 1737 he w.is

admitted a licentiate of medicine by the lloyal College of

physicians in Edinhurgli, when he settled in practice in that

citv, and the year following he became a fellow of the same

college. Ill 17-17 he was appointed professor of the Insti-

tutes of Jlediciiie in the university of Edinbui-gli. In IT.Vi

he was elected fellow of tlie Royal Society of London
; iu

17G1 he was nominated first physician to the king in Scot-

land, an office which was created tor liini; and in 17C-1 was

chosen president of the Royal College of physicians at E.dln-

burgh. Dr. Whyte died of a complication of chronical ail-

ments, April 15, 17G0. He was twite married. His first

wife was sister of General Robertson, governor of New York.

r>v her he h.id two children, both of whom died in infancy.

His 2d wile was sister of James Balfour, Esq. of Tilrig, and

bv her, -who died in 176-1, he had 14 children, six of whom

only survived him, tiiree sons and three daughters.—His

works are: An Essay on the Vital and other involuntary

Motions of Animals. Edin. 1751, Svo.—-An Essay on the

Virtues of Lime-Water and Soap in the Cure of Stone.

Edin. 1752, ]2nio.—Physiological Es.«ays on the Causes

which promote the circulation of the Fluids in the very small

Vessels of Animals. On the Sensibility and Irritability of

the Rarts of Men and other Animals; occasioned by Dr.

Haller's Treatise on these Subjects. Edin. 1755, 12iiio.

—



WIGTON. 638 WILKIE.

Observ;itioiis on tlie N:iture, Causes, and Cure of Nervous,

Hypocliondriac, or Hysteric Disorders; to wliicli are prefixed

some Reniarlcs on tlie Sympatliy of the Nerves. Ediii. 1765,

8vo.— Observations on the Dropsy of the Brain. Edin. 17G8.

Tliis work did not appear till two years after his death, when

all liis other works were collected and published in one vol-

ume, 4to, under the direction of his son and liis intimate

friend, Sir John Pringle.— Besides the works mentioned, lie

wrote many valuable papers, particularly in the Philosophical

Transactions, the Medical Essays, the Jledical Observations,

and the Physical and Literary Essays.

Dr. Wliyte's eldest son, Piobert Whyte, Esq. of Bennochy,

died at Naples, unmarried, soon after Iiis father. He was

succeeded by his brother, John Whyte Jlelville, Esq. of Ben-

nociiv and Strathkinnes. born Feb. 27, 17.55. iMr. Whyte

Jlelv'ille married in 1781, Eliz.-ibelh, youngest daughter of

Archib.ild M-Gilchrist, Esq. of North Bar, Renfrewshire, and

had 2 sons, Robert and .John, and 4 daughters. He died in

May, 1813.

His eldest son, Robert Whyte '.Melville, Esq. of Bennochy

and Strathkinnes, born Aug. 12, 1794. died, unmarried,

Feb. 26, 1818.

He was succeeded by his brother, John Whyte Melville,

Esq. of Bennochy and Strathkinnes, born in 1797; educated

at Eton, and Trinity college, Cambridge
;
formerly in the

12th Lancers, and afterwards major in the Royal Fifeshire

veomanrv caviilrv; a magistrate and deputy-lieutenant for

Fifeshire; married in 1819 Lady Catharine Anne Sarah Os-

borne, youngest daughter of the ,5th duke of Leeds
;

issue,

with 2 da\igliters, a son, George John, born in 1821, at one

lime lieutenant and captiiin Coldstream guards, married

Charlotte, daughter of first Lord Bateman.

WiGTON, Earl of, a title in the peerage of Scotland, (dor-

mant since 1747,) conferred 19th March 1606, on John, sixth

Lord Fleming and Cumbernauld (see vol. ii. page 221). He
died in April 1619, and was succeeded by his eldest; son,

John, second earl of Wigton, who, in 1640, was one of the

committee of estates, and in 1641 was appointed a privy

councillor by parliament. Nevertheless, he entered heartily

into the association to support the cause of Charles L, framed

at his house of Cumbernauld, Lanarkshire, in January of the

Latter year. He died 7th May, 1650. By liis countess.

Lady Margaret Livingstone, second daughter of the first eail

of Linlithgow, he had, with three daughters, two sons, John,

1 third earl of Wigton, and the Hon. Sir William Fleininsr.

j

The latter, in September 1640, was by the Scotch army sent

to King Cliiu-les L, with the conditions whereon they would

;igree to a pacification, which led to the treaty of Ripon; and

in 1648 lie was dispatched to invite Prince Charles to come

to Scotland. He was gentleman usher to Charles L, and

chamberlain of the household to Charles IL

John, third earl of Wigton, when Lord Fleming, joined the

marquis of Montrose. He was at the battle of Philiphaugh

in 1645, and escaped with the marquis to the highlands,

whore he was concealed for some time. He died in February

j

1665.

I

His eldest son, John, fourth earl of Wigton, died April

I 1668, leaving only a daughter. Lady Jean, countess of Pan-

I mure, and was succeeded by his brother William, fifth earl of

Wigton. This nobleman was a pri\-y councillor to Charles

IL, sheriff of the county and governor of the castle of Dum-
b.arton. He died in April 1681. He man-ied Lady Henriet

Seton, eldest daughter of the second e.arl of Dunfermline, and

by her had two sons and one daughter, Lady Mar)', wife of

the Hon. Harry Maule of Kelly, and mother of Willi.am, earl

of Paiimure.

The elder son, .John, si.\th earl of Wigton, after the Revo-

lution, attended James VIL at St. Germains. He opposed l

the treaty of union in the parliament of 1706, voting against

every article
;
and, on the breaking out of the rebellion of

1715, he was committed prisoner to the castle of Edinburgh,

by warrant of Major-general Williams. The court of justi-

ciaiy ordained the governor of the castle to set him at liberty

24th .lune 1716. In 1736 he w.as appointed king's chamber-

lain of Fife. He died at Edinburgh lOth February 1744, in

his 71st year, and was succeeded by his brother Charles,

seventh earl of Wigton. The latter died, unmamed, 2Gth

May 1747, when the title became dormant, and the family

estates devolved on his niece, L.ady Clementina, second

daughter of the sixth earl, .and wife of Charles, tenth Lord

Elphinston. Her grandson, Admiral the Hon. Charles El-

phinston Fleming, M.P. for Stirlingshire, and governor of

Greenwich Hospital, who died in 1840, inherited the family

estates of Cumbern.auld and Biggar.

The title of earl of Wigton was assumed by Charles Ross

Fleming, M.D. of Dublin, claiming to be nearest male heir,

and after his death, 18tli October 1769, by his son, Hamil-

ton Fleming, an officer in the IStli regiment of foot, but the

House of Lords, on petitions to the king being referred to

them, resolved that they had no right to it, and it is still in '

abeyance.
j

WILKIE, William, D.D., author of an epic

poein, now onh' known by name, entitled ' Tlic

Epigoniad,' the son of a respectable farmer, was

born at Eclilin, in the parisli of Dalmony, Linlith- i

gowsliire, October 5, 1721. He received his ele-

mentary edncation at the parish scliool, and at the

age of fonrtceii was sent to the university of Edin-

burgh. During his attendance at college his father

died, and left him, -with the charge of his mother

and three sistei's, the stock and unexpired lease of

a small fiirm, at Fisher's Tryst, a few miles west

from Edinburgh, the management of which he was

in consequence obliged to undertake. He conti-

nued, however, to prosecute his studies in divinity

till he was licensed to preach the gospel. In May

1753 he was appointed assistant minister of the

parish of Ratho ; and became so great a favourite i

with the earl of Lauderdale, the patron of the '

p.arish, that, on the death of the incumbent, three

years afterwards, his lordship conferred on him

the living.

While yet a mere youth, he is said to have

evinced strong indications of poetical talent. In
i

the Statistical Account of the parish of Dalmeny, '

there is a copy of some indifferent verses ' On a

Storm,' alleged to have been written by him when

in his tenth year; but with more probability the

period of their composition may be referred to his
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sixtcentli or seventcuiith yc:\v. In 1757 lie piih-

lisliod .Tt Ediiibiirg'h Iiis calcbriitcd epic, entitled

' Tlic Epigoniad, a Poem in Nine Boolcs,' tiio

fruit of uinny years' study and aii[)lieation. Tiiis

learned ])oeni, wliicli is founded on a subject in

tlic fourth Iliad of Homer, relative to the sacking

of Thebes, met with much tcnijiorary success in

Scotland, but in Enghind it had lew readers, and

was very severely handled by tlio critical and

monthly reviewers. Nevertheless, the first im-

pression being soon exliausted, a second edition,

corrected and improved, -was published in 1759,

to which was added ' A Dream, in the Manner of

Spenser.' In spite of this li\-cly and elegant n\)0-

logy for his ]'2pigoniad, for such it reall}' was, and

of a letter by Hume in its favour, addressed to tiie

editors of the ' Critical Ileview,' appended to its

tail, as it were, as boys niVis. bits of paper to a

kite to make it mount, the work was too cumbrous,

and had too much of a gravitating tendency ever

to keep itself before the public, and is now con-

signed to undisturbed silence and neglect.

In 1759 IMr. \Vil!;ie was elected professor of

natural philosophy in the university of St. An-

drews, and, on removing thither, he took his sis-

ters to reside ^^ illi him. "With about £200, which

at this period was all he possessed, he purchased

a few acres of almost waste laud in the neighboin--

hood, and resumed Ids firming occupations, liy

which, and his frugal habits, he was enabled to

leave, at his death, property to the amount of

£3,000. In 17G6 the university of St. Andrews

conferred upon him the degree of D.D. In 17CS

he published a series of sixteen ' IMoral Fables, in

Verse,' dedicated to his early patron the earl of

Lauderdale; but, though these pieces possessed

much propriety of sentiment and case of expres-

sion, they (lid not add to his reimtation as a poet.

Dr. "Wilkic died at St. Andrews, after a lingering

illness, October 10, 1772, in the 51st year of his

age. Several amusing stories are fold of his

eccentricities. He sutVered so much from ague,

that, to keep up a perspiration, he used to lie in

IkmI with no less than two dozen pairs of blankets

upon him ; and, to avoid all chance of the cold

damp, he never slept in clean sheets, either at

honu- or in a friend's house! His street dress

usuallv consisted of several flannel jackets, waist-

coats, and topcoat, and over all a greatcoat and

gown, which gave him a ver}' grotesque ajjpear-

ance. Although oi' parsimonious habits, lie had a

benevolent disposition, and in his latter years

was in the habit of giving awa^' £'20 annually in

charity. He was at times so veiy absent, that he

would even forget when in the puljiit to take olf
!

his hat; once he ibrgot to iiroiiouncc the blessing

after public service, and at another time he dis-
|

pensed the Sacrament, w ithout consecrating I he
j

elements! Added to these peculiarilies, he in-

dulged in the use of tobacco to an immoderate

excess.

AVILKIE, Siu David, a distinguished painter,

styled by Ilaydon " the IlafFaele of domestic art,"

was the son of the Rev. David AVilkie, minister of
j

Cults, n(>ar Cupar Fife, wdiere he was born in

1785. At fifteen years of age he entered the

Trustees' Academy at Edinburgh, then under the

direction of ]\[r. John fJraliam, where he remained

for finr j-ears, and during tiiat period he had
|

for his fellow-students Sir "William Allan, the

celebrated jiainter. and John Burnet, who became

the first engraver in Europe. At nineteen years

of age "Wilkie painted his wonderful picture of the

'Fair,' without having ever seen a picture by

Tcniers. "While he remained at Edinbui-gh, he

also fini.shed a small picture of the 'Village Poli-

ticians,' for an engraver; and, on repairing to

London in 1805, with a letter to ^Ir. (ireviile, he
I

was introduced to the earl of IMansfield, who gave i

him a comiiiission for a picture, when he repeated

the ' Politicians' for his lordship, and in the fol-

lowing year it was exhibited at the Royal Aca-

demy. "Wilkie, in the meantime, su])ported him-

self chielly by the produce of some of his small !

pictures exposed in a window at Charing-Cross.

In 1807 he exhibited his ' Blind Fiddler," ])aiiited

for Sir George Beaumont, now in the National
i

Gallery, the surpassing excellence of which at

once placed him at the head of his own style. In

1808 he exhibited 'the Card Players;' and in

1809 'the Cut Finger' and 'the Rent Day;' and

in November of llic latter year he was elected an

Associate of the Royal Academy. In February

1811 he was made a Royal Academician, and

gave tor his diplonia-]iicture ' Boys Digging for

Rnts.' From this time until 1825 he regularly
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pi'odiiced and sold at iiicroasiiig prices, year by

year, liis well-kiiOAvn and most celebrated works,

most of Avliicli liave been engraved. The follow-

ing is a brief enumeration of tliem:—In 1811, 'A

Gamekeeper' and 'A Humorous Scene;' in 1812,

'Blind i\Ian's Buff,' a Sketch, and 'The Village

Festival,' now in the National Gallery ; in 1813,

the finished picture of 'Blind Man's Buff;' in

1814, ' The Letter of Introduction,' and 'Duncan

Gray;' in 1815, ' Distraining for Rent;' in 1816,

'The Rabbit on the Wall;' in 1817, 'The Break-

fast;' in 1818, 'The Errand Boy' and 'The Ab-

botsford Family;' in 1819, ' The Penny Wedding;

'

in 1820, 'The Reading of the Will;' in 1821,

' Guess m\' Name' and 'Newsmongei's;' in 1822,

' Chelsea Pensioners Reading the Gazette of the

Battle of Waterloo;' in 1823, 'The Parish Beadle;'

in 1821, 'Smugglers offering Run Goods for Sale

or Concealment,' and 'The Cottage Toilet;' and,

in 1825, 'The Highland Family.'

In the latter year Wilkie lost a considerable

sum in a speculation in which lie had engaged, a

circumstance that had a visible effect upon his

constitution, and for the recovery of his health liis

medical attendants advised a tour on the Conti-

nent. On this occasion he visited Rome and

INIadi'id, and was absent , for about three 3'ears.

During this period he was not idle ; besides mak-

ing a great number of studies, he nearly completed

some pictures both in Italy and Spain. Soon after

his return in 1828, he began to display a total change

in the style of his execution, the choice of his sub-

ject, and the principle of his light and shades. In

his earlier paintings lie adopted the principle of the

Flemish and Dntch schools. The mingled beau-

ties of Teniers, Wouvremans, and Ostade, were

present, without the grossness of their subjects, or

the coarseness of their incidents. He was no

imitator, however, of any of them. He saw na-

ture through the same medium through which those

great artists had contemplated her, and, his judg-

ment assuring him that the course they pursued

was correct, he adopted it as his own. In the

same manner, on arriving amidst the accumulated

treasures of the Spanish school at Madrid, he was

struck with admiration at the powerful effects its

artists had produced ; and lie resolved on the

hazardous experiment of resting his future Hime

{

on a style utterly opposed to that in which he then

stood unrivalled amidst European artists. Instead

of a general breadth of light, he adopted powerful

contrasts, in place of rendering his darks valuable

by the great prevalence of light, he made his bril-

liancy of light to depend upon the predominance

of the dark. The following are the principal pic-

tures painted by him in his second style:—'The

Spanish Posada;' 'The Maid of Saragossa;' 'The

Guerilla's Departure;' 'The Guerilla's Return;'

' John Knox Preaching before Mary Queen of

Scots,' exhibited in 1832; 'Spanish Monks,' ex-

hibited in 1833; 'Not at Home,' and 'Spanish

Mother and Child,' in 183-4; ' Columbus,' in 1835;

'Peep-o'-day Boys' Cabin,' in 183G
;
'Mary

Queen of Scots escaping from Lochleven Castle,'

'The Cottar's Saturday Night,' 'The Empress

Josephine,' and 'The Fortune-teller,' in 1837;

' Queen Victoria's First Council,' in 1838 ;
' The

Discovery of the Body of Tippoo Saib,' and

'Grace before Meat,' in 1839; and 'Benvenuto

Cellini and the Pope,' and 'The Irish AVhisky

Still,' in 1840. Besides these, he left an unfinished

picture of ' John Knox Administering the Sacra-

ment,' one of his principal pictures. ' The Preach-

ing of John Knox,' which is a most magnificent

and truly national picture, was purchased by Sir

Robert Peel at a considerable sum.

Mr. R. B. Ilaydon, himself a painter of great

eminence, thus speaks ofWilkie's change of style:

" He first startled the British artists from their

absurd excess in Imitating Reynolds, by the power

and beauty of his 'Village Politicians,' and found-

ed our unrivalled domestic school. Had he per-

severed in the path which Nature had carved out

for him, had he wisely gone on adding perfection

to perfection, there is no calculating on the extent

of excellence to which he must have carried his

works, for his invention was flowing and contin-

ual, his eye for the quantities of composition

exquisite, his taste simple, his eagerness for im-

provement great, and, at that time, his industry

incessant; but, alas! he soon observed that power

and competence were seldom obtained in England

by inventive art, and having a great relish for so-

ciety, where a man can liardlj^ keep to a great

and solitary principle, he listened to the flatteries

of those who wished to have their heads immor-
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talizcd by tlie liand of him who was so celebrated

in Europe for his own peculiar deiiartniciit. This

was the origin of that singular and luifurtuiiate

change in his progress, and he soon began to prefer

the more profitable ease and lazy luxury of por-

trait to the energy of invention, the industry of

selecting models, and the inadequate reward for

his earlier and more beautiful works. From por-

trait, the full size, the transition seemed to Wilkie

easy into 'high art;' but here, again, his igrio-

rance of the naked form, his want of poetry of

mind, proved him to be more unqualified than for

elevated portrait; and, with the single exception

of Knox, his attempts in that style were painful."

On the death of Sir Thomas Lawrence, January

7, 1S30, Wilkie, through the influence of the late

Sir AVilliam Knighton, Avas appointed principal

painter in ordinary to his majesty, and sergeant-

painter to the king. At this time he was busily

employed upon his portrait of Geoi'ge IV. in the

Highland costume, and on his picture of the Re-

ception of his Majesty at Ilolyrood-house. On

the accession of William IV., who had a great re-

gard for him, his appointments were continued,

and in 183G he was knighted. When Queen Vic-

toria came to the throne, Sir David was honoured

by sittings from her majesty for liis elaborate pic-

ture of her first council, and also with a few for a

portrait of herself. But he was not commanded

to execute any of the numerous likenesses of the

monarch which are usually called for at the com-

mencement of a new reign, and the performance

of which is generally held to be the piivilege of

the painter to the court. This apparent neglect

wounded the sensitive mind of Sir David, but the

impression was soon effaced by the amiable consi-

deration of las royal mistress, who sent him on a

mission to Constantinople, to paint tlie portrait of

the sultan for the royal collection. After visiting

Syria and Egypt, he arrived at Malta on board

the Oriental steamer, on his return to England, in

perfect health and high spirits, having everywhere

been icceived with tlie honours due to his genius.

During his absence from England he had been

busily employed, and his portfolio was filled with

materials for future pictures. One of his last

works was a portrait of Meheniet Ali. At Malta

he was induced by the climate to partake too in-

III.

cautiously of fruit, and he increased the feverish

disposition which ensued b}- resorting to the cool-

ing effects of ice. After leaving the island, his

illness increased so much that he was for two daj s

confined to his cabin. On the night of the 31st of

Jlay the Oriental entered Gibraltar Bay, ami,

having received the mail on board, made sail for

England, no one having been jiermitted to go on

shore. Shortly after the ship had got under

weigh, at six o'clock on the morning of June 1

,

his comj)aiiiou, IMr. AVoodburne, went into Sir

David's berth, to request him to come up and

breakfast with the company. Sir David replied

that he w^ould probably do so, but Avould like lirst

to see the doctor. Mr. (lattie, a medical gentle-

man, was called for the purpose, but he was so

much alarmed by Sir David's apiiearancc, that lie

sought the assistance of the medical attendant of

Sir James Carnac from Bombaj', who was one of

the passengers. The latter accordingly visited

the patient, and he agreed with Mr. Gattie

that he was in great danger. All the rem-

edies within their reach were applied by the med-

ical gentlemen, and every exertion was used to

save the illustrious sutferer, but without avail. Sir

David gradually sunk
; he became unconscious

about half-past seven, and at eight o'clock he died,

June 1, 18-il, in the 55th year of his age. At the

request of the passengers the vessel put back to

Gibraltar, but, owing to the strictness of the qua-

rantine laws, and the dread of the plague, the body

was not allowed to be sent on shore for interment,

and it was judged best to commit the remains of

the great painter to the deep, which was done in

the most solemn and impressive manner, as the

Oriental stood out of the bay on her way to Eng-

land.

Sir David Wilkie was never married. He I'c-

sided of late years in the neighbourhood of Ken-

sington, his establishment being superintended by

a most amiable, affectionate, and devoted sister,

lie had also a brother, Mr. Thomas AVilkie, !i

merchant in the city. "In private life," says Mr.

Haydoii, "his character was simjile, honourable,

jn-udent, and decorous ; a tender heart was con-

cealed by a timid manner, which to strangers

more than bordered on ajiparcnt coldness. He

had been a dutilul son, an atTcctionate brother,

2 s
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and was an attached friend. His address was re-

served, as if lie feared to offend more than lie

wished to please. His early struggles had tauglit

him submission and docilitj', which he never lost

even in the society of his equals. His education

had been imperfect, but his great capacity, sound

common sense, and shrewd observation, made

him a delightful companion with an intimate

friend. Tliougli in private life he was always con-

sistent in the practice of. his art, he betrayed a

peipetual appetite for new modes. He was not

only at the mercy of his own whims, but of those

of infinitely inferior men, and, like Rej'nolds, be-

lieved every night he had hit the i-ight thing,

which tlie first ray of the morning sun dispelled

like a vapour." A writer in the Times, after giv-

ing a short sketch of his life, says:—" He was

fond of amusing himself occasionally, when in the

society of his literary and artistic friends, in the

representation of tableaux vivans, an amusement

extremely characteristic of his long and unvary-

ing habit of observation, which appears to have

been one of the qualities for which lie was most

remarkable. At such periods he would propose n

subject, and by the use of costumes and di-aperies,

of which he possessed a large store, and the judi-

cious application and management of light, im-

press an effect upon the eye similar to that pro-

duced by the pictures of manj^ of the great masters.

A close and careful observation of every variety

of composition or of form always preceded tlie

production of his greater works, more cspcciiilly

those which he painted in what may be termed

his first style. Every article of furniture depict-

ed, or of accessor^-, however minute or humble,

introduced into his composition, was modelled or

carved for the pui-pose, and each was transferred

to the canvass from the thing itself. Nor was the

perspective less accurately considered, for the in-

teriors we see in his pictures, conveying to tlie

eyes such exactness of delineation, were the faith-

ful transcripts of the models he had already

planned and procured to be executed for him.

Early habits of care in pecuniary matters led him,

as he advanced in life, to a rigidness of expendi-

ture bordering on parsimony, but his warmth of

heart and affection for his family prompted his aid

to them, Avhen wanted, with unsparing libcr.ality.

In his intercourse witli society he would freely

state his opinions, and though he was careful not

to offend the prejudices of others, he never shrank

from a plain and straightforward assertion of his

views. He who sought his professional advice

was sure to have a courteous reception, and could

never leave him without benefiting by his judg-

ment. No petty feeling of jealousy induced him

to withhold his stores of knowledge, nor could his

profound intimac}' with the principles of his art

ever render him impatient of the task of giving to

his less gifted brethren the results of his study, or

the fruits of his experience. His strong natural

sense, his shrewdness of remark, and his quiet

vein of humour, rendered his conversation as in-

structive as it was agreeable ; so much so, indeed,

tliat George Colman, on one occasion, observed to

a mutual friend, that "That Scotchman's conver-

sation was worth a guinea an hour, for his sly wit

and acute observation." His portrait is sub-

joined.

Sir David AVilkie's unfinished works and origi-

nal sketches were exposed to sale in May 1842,

and brought the sum of £6,663 14s. 6d. The sale

lasted six days. A memoir of his life was pub-

lished in 1844 bj' Allan Cunningham.
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WILLIAM I., KixG OF Scots, styled William

the Lion, from beiiif,' tlie first Scottisli moiinrcli

who assumed the fip;iire of a lion rami>ant on liis

siiicld, grandson of David I., and brotlicr of Mai-

culm IV., •\\'as liorn in 1143. He snccccdcd to

the throne in 11 Go, and soon after lie impaired to

the Eiif;lisli conrt, to endcavonr to obtain from

Henry IF. of iMigland tlie restoratinn of tlie terri-

tory of Xorthnniberland, which had been relin-

qnishcd by ]\Ialcolm. Henry pnt him ofl' with

fair ]iromis('s, and, at lenutli, linding all his soli-

citations fruitless, ^Villiam sent ambassadors to

France, in 11 G8, and conclnded a treaty witli the

I'^i'encii king- against England. In 1 1 72 he joined

Willi Richard, Ccmr de Lion, in a confederacy

against the English monarch, father of that prince,

who in-oniised to restore to him the earldom of

Northumberland, and to give to his brotlicr, Da-

vid, the earldom of Cambridge. In accordance

^^itll this agreement, William invaded England.

He divided his army into three colnmns; the first

of \\ liicli laid siege to Carlisle, the second he him-

self h'd into Xcu'llmmberland, and his brother,

Daviii, advanced with the third into Leicester-

shire. After reducing the castles of Biirgh, Ap-

jileby, and Warkuortli, 'William joined that divi-

sion of his army which was besieging Carlisle.

The ]ila(e was already so mncli weakened, that

the governor had agreed to snriendcr it by a cer-

tain day, provided it was not pievionslj- relieved;

on which the king, leaving some troops to continue

the siege, invested the castle witli ]iart of the

forces miller bis command, at the same time send-

ing a stnnig reinforcement to his brother David.

At this jinictnre, w lieii his army was so mnch re-

duced, he received intelligence that a strong body

of English were on tlieir march to surprise him.

Retiring to Alnwick, he laid siege to that jilace
;

but was unexpectedly attacked by -IdO Yoiksliirc

horsemen, who, disguising themselves in Scottish

liabits, had ap]n'oacliod his camp unobserved.

\ViUiam mistook them fen- a parly of Ids own

stragglers returning loaded with si>oil ; but the

display of the I'liglish banners soon undeceived

him. On percei\ ing his error, he gallantly charged

the enemy at the head of sixty horse; but being

overpowered by numbers, he was taken jirisoner

and conveyed to llichniond castle. He \vas then

carried in chains before Ilcnrv, at Northampton,

and ordereil to be sent to the castle of Ealaise in

Normandy, where lie was confined with other

state ]n isoners. Towards the close of the year lie

regained his liberty, but only by consenting to do

homage to Ileniy for Scotland and all his other

possessions
;
and, as a security, he was obliged to

deliver into the hands of the English monarch the

castles of Roxburgh, J5erwick, Jedburgh, Edin-

burgh, and Stirling. David, the king's brother,

with twenty bamns, who were ]iresent at the sign-

ing of this convention, were given to Henry as

hostages on the occasion. This took place in

1174, and in the succeeding year, AVilliam, with

the clergy and barons, did hom.ige to Henry at

York.

In 1188 tlie bishop of Durham was sent b_v

Henry into Scotland to levy a contribution for the

Holy War; and the restitution of the castles of

Roxburgh and Berwick were offered to \\'illiani,

to induce liim to give the tenths of his kingdom

for the purpose; but tlie Scottish clergy and barons

assinnblcd in jiarliament, indignantly refused their

consent, declaiing that "tliev \\ould not pay, al-

though both kings should have sworn to lev}'

them." On the deatii of Henry in 1189, Richard,

his successor, liaAiiig resolved on an expedition

into the Holy Land, that he might secure tlie

quiet of his dominions in liis absence, determined

upon making the Scots his friends, and restored to

William all the lights and territories which had

been wrested from him during the reign of his

father. For this "\Mlliain agreed to pay ten thou-

sand merks sterling. The treaty entered into be-

tween the two monarchs on this occasion is still

extant. In it Richard acknowledges that "all

the conventions and acts of submission from V\"\\-

liam to the crown of England had been extorted

from him by unprecedented writings and duresse;"

and thus ^^as Scotland restored to her indepen-

dence, of which she had been temporarily deprived,

by measures, on the part of Henry, which even the

English themselves considered as forced and un-

just. William continued a faithful ally of Richard,

and wlien the lalterwas imprisoned by the em-

peror of CJermaiiy, on liis return from I'alestine,

the king of Scotland sent an army to assist his

regency against his brother John, who had usurped
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the throne of England. After the death of Rich-

ard, William demanded restitution from King

John of the three northern counties of England,

which the latter refused to deliver up. In 1209

both monarchs assembled their forces on the bor-

ders ; but the barons of both coimtries interfered,

and succeeded in adjusting, without bloodshed,

the differences between them. William died at

Stirling, December 2, 1214, and was interred in

the Abbey of Arbroath. He married, in 1186,

Ermingarde, daughter of Richard, viscount de

Beaumont, and was succeeded by his son, .Alex-

ander II.

WILLISON, Joiix, an eminent divine and re-

ligious writer, was born in 1680, and from an

earl)- age was intended by his parents for the

church. After completing his regular course of

academical education, he entered on the study of

divinit}-, and having been duly licensed, he became,

in 1703, minister of Brechin, in consequence of a

unanimous call which he received from that town.

Sliorth' after, the popularity he had acquired by

his abilities as a preacher, with the simplicity and

purity of his manners, and the gentleness and

benevolence of his disposition, caused him to be

invited to supply a vacancy at Dundee, where he

spent the remainder of his life. He now took a

prominent part in all public discussions regarding

ecclesiastical affairs, and showed himself, in parti-

cular, opposed to the exercise of patronage in the

church. Distinguished above many of his con-

temporaries by his superior attainments, activity,

and zeal, he was considered in his day the leader

of the popular or Evangelical party; and, in 1735,

when the General Assemblj' resolved to apply to

Parliament for the repeal of the oppressive act of

1712, he and Messrs. Gordon and Mackintosh

were sent to London to attend to this important

matter. All their efforts, however, to procm-e a

repeal of the act proved fruitless, as have those of

many other good men since their time.

Mr, AVillison was the author of several works

of a religious nature, which have been long held

in high estimation, a list of which is subjoined.

He died at Dundee, in the bosom of his family.

May 3, 1750, in the seventieth year of his age,

and forty-seventh of his ministry.

His works ai-e

:

Example of Plain Catechising upon the Assemblj-'s Sliurter

Catechism. Kdin. 1737, 8vo.

Afflicted Man's Companion; or a Direcforv for Families

and Persons afflicted with Sickness or any other Distress.

Edin. 1755, 8vo.

Sacramental Jleditations and Advices, grounded npon Scrip-

ture-texts, proper for Communicants to prepare their hearts,

excite their affections, quicken their graces, and enliven their

devotion on sacramental occasions; together with a short

Christian Directory, consisting of forty Scripture directions

proper for all Christians intending Heaven, and a v.iriety of

Scripture Songs for Zion's travellers on their way thither;

to which are added, by way of appendix, Three Sermons.

Edin. 17G9, l'2mo.

The Balm of Gilead.

In 1793 two Sermons, preached by Mr. Willison some time

before his death, ' On the Increase of Christ's Kingdom,'

containing an allusion to the demoralized state of France,

were published at London, under the title of 'A Prophecy of

the French Revolution and the Downfall of Antichrist.'

WILLOCK, JoHx, one of the first and most

active of the Scottish Reformers, and principal co-

adjutor of Knox, was a native of Ayrshire, and

is supposed to have been educated at the univer-

sity of Glasgow. According to Bishop Lesly, he

was originally a Dominican friar in the town of

Ayr, but Spottiswood snys he belonged to the

Franciscan order. He had become a convert to

the Reformed doctrines before 1541, and, having

thrown off the monastic habit, he retired into

England; but, during the persecution for the Six

Articles, the same year he was for some time con-

fined in the prison of the Fleet. During the reign

of Edward VI. he preached the gospel freely, and

was appointed one of the chaplains of the duke of

Suff'olk, father of the unfortunate Lady Jane Grey.

On the accession of Queen IMary in 1553, Willock,

with many other Protestants, took refuge on the

continent, and, proceeding to the city of Embden,

in East Friesland, he entered upon the practice of

medicine, which he had previonsl}' studied, for a

subsistence.

His talents, medical skill, and integrity, intro-

duced him to the notice of Anne, duchess of Fries-

land, who then governed the countrj-, and who

was induced, in the summer of 1555, to send him

to Scotland on a mission to congratulate the queen

regent on her accession to the regency, and to

make some arrangements respecting the trade be-

tween the tAvo countries. " The public character,"

says IM'Crie, in his Life of Knox, " with which he

was invested, gave him an opportunity of culti-

vating acquaintance with the leading Protestants,



WILLOCK, C45 JOHN.

and, while lie resided in Edinbiu'gli, they met

with him in private, and listened to his religions

exhortations." So high did he stand in the esti-

mation of ICnox, that, in his History', the latter

never mentions him without expressions of alfec-

tion and esteem. In the end of the j'ear he re-

turned to Embden, but in the summer of 1558 he

received a new commission from tlie duchess, and

again came to Scotland, where his presence was

much required by the Protestant party. Soon af-

ter his arrival he was seized with a severe illness,

but this did not prevent him from preaching, from

his bed, the Reformed doctrines, to great numbers

of the nobility, gentry, and others who cMuie to

hear him.

After his recovery, wishing to remain in Scot-

laiu1, he resigned his commission from the duchess,

and resolved to devote himself entirely to the ad-

vancement of the Protestant cause in his native

country. With Mr. William Harlowc, he began

to preach ojienly in Edinburgh and Leith, while

I\[r. Paul Methven, Mv. John Douglas, Ersldne of

])iin, and others, proclaimed the doctrines of the

Reformation In various parts of Scotland. Till

the arrival of Knox from Geneva in IMay 15.59,

the great burden of affairs lay chiefly on the shoul-

ders of AVillock, who, having retired to the town

of Ayr, preached regularly in St. John's church of

that town, being protected by the enrl of (^len-

cairn and a numerous band of the nobility and

gentry of Ayrshire. While occupied in this duty,

he had a long controversial correspondence with

Queutin Kennedy, the famous abbot of Crossra-

gucl. lie also seems to have had a controversy

with Black, a Dominican friar, and Robert ^lax-

well, a schoolmaster in Glasgow.

With the view of intimidating the Protestant

party, the queen regent summoned their preacli-

ers, mentioning particularly Knox, Willock, Dou -

glas, and INIetliven, to appear before her and her

council at Stirling, INIay 10, 1559, to answer for

tlieir reputed heresy and scliismatical conduct.

Finding, however, that, previous to the day ap-

]iointed, the Reformers had assembled In vast

numbers at Perth, she persuaded Erskiue of Dun

to prevail on his brethren to disperse, ])romisiug

that their preachers should be nnmolosted, and all

their grievances redressed. On this assurance.

the greater part of the Protestants returned to

their homes. But when the day of trial came, the

summons was called by orders of the queen, and

the preachers outlawed for not answering the

citation. The perfidy of the regent on this occa-

sion led to the destruction of the monasteries,

first at Perth, and then in various other towns in

the kingdom, to the interdiction of the popish

worship in Scotland, and finally to the overthrow

of her own authority.

In the end of June the lords of the congregation

arrived In the capital, with Knox and AVillock in

their compnny. The former was straightway

elected minister of Edinburgh, and Protestant

ministers preached freely In all the churches. In

\ irtue of a truce agreed to between the queen re-

gent, then with her party at Dunliar, and tlie

Protestant lords, dated July 24, the latter with

their adherents left ICdinburgli, taking Knox with

them. Willock, who was loss obnoxious to the

Papists, was appointed to officiate In his stead,

and preached regularly in St. Giles'. In this dif-

ficult situation he dIspIa)Td a firnniess and ]iru-

dence which emincnth- qualified him for the high

office to M'hich he had been called In the absence

of Ivuox. The regent made several pressing at-

temjifs to have the Roman Catholic service re-

established in the church of St. Giles, but Mr.

Willork and the citizens declared that they could

not relinquish the right which was secured to

them by the late treat}', nor allow idolatry to be

again set up in tlie High Church of the city. Al-

though the French niercenarics in the service of

the regent paraded the city in an insolent and

supercilious manner, and often disturbed, by their

loud talking and noise, the Protestant worship,

A\'illock maintained his place, and in the month

of August administered the sacrament of the

Lord's Supper, after the reformed mnnner, for the

first time in Edinburgh, in St. Giles' church.

The queen regent having broken the treaty, and

retired to Leith, which she fortified and defended

with French troops, a convention of the nobility,

bnrons, aii'd burgesses, was held at Edinburgh,

October 21, to deliberate as to her deposition from

the government, to which the two principal minis-

ters, Willock and Knox, were called for their

opinion and advice. By this asjcmbly, she was
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suspended from her authority as regent of the

Idngdotn until a meeting of the free parliament,

and a council was elected for the management of

public affairs during the interval. When treating

of religious matters, four of the ministers, namelj',

Knox, Willock, Christopher Goodman, and Alex-

ander Gordon, bishop of Galloway, who had em-

braced the Reformation, were appointed to assist

in the deliberations of the council. During the

last illness of the queen regent, who died in Edin-

burgh castle, June 10, 15G0, she was attended by

Mr. Willock, at her own request.

After the establishment of the Reformed reli-

gion, the committee of parliament, in July 1560,

nominated Mr. Willock superintendent of Glas-

gow and of the western provinces. Having been

absent in England, he was not ordained till Sep-

tember 14, 1561. At the meeting of the General

Assembly at Perth, June 25, 1563, he was chosen

moderator, and during the proceedings before the

court, he was desired to withdraw, when " it was

complained that he did not his endeavour for the

extirpation of popery." Being told, on his return

to the meeting, of what he had been accused, "he

desired to be disburthened of the great charge

laid upon him, which he had undertaken only for

a time." In June 1565 he was again chosen mo-

derator. Shortly after he returned into England,

where he continued about three years. His wife,

being an Englishwoman, is supposed to be the

reason why he went so often to that country. In

December 1567 the Assembly addressed an affec-

tionate and energetic letter to him, soliciting his

return, in consequence of which he came again

into Scotland before the beginning of July 1568,

at which time the Assembly met, and again made

choice of him as their moderator. After this date

no further mention is made of Mr. Willock in

any of the histories of the period. He is supposed

to have returned into England, and to have died

there.

WILSON, Florknce, known among contem-

porary scholars by his Latin name of Florentius

Volusenus, a learned writer of the sixteenth cen-

tury, was born on the banks of the Lossie, near

Elgin, about 1500. He was educated in his native

place, and prosecuted his academical studies in

the university of King's college, Aberdeen. Re-

pairing afterwards to England, his talents recom-

mended him to the notice of Cardinal Wolsey,

who appointed him preceptor to his nephew, and

he accompanied the latter to Paris, where he went I

for his education. On Wolsey 's death, in 1530,

Wilson lost his pupil, but he soon after found ano-

ther patron in the learned Cardinal du Belhii.

archbishop of Paris. Intending to proceed to

Rome with this prelate, he travelled with him as

far as Avignon, where he was seized with an ill-

ness, which caused him to be left behind, and pre-

vented his farther journey.

Having neither money nor friends, he resolved

to apply to the celebrated Cardinal Sadolet, bish-

op of Carpentras
;
and, arriving at his house at

night, was readily admitted into his library, where

the bishop was then engaged at his studies. AVil-

son's skill in the learned languages strongly pre-

possessed the cardinal in his favour, and he pro-

cured for him the appointment of teacher of Greek

and Latin in the public scliool of Carpentras.

During the time that he held this situation, he

composed his excellent dialogue, ' De Animi Tran-

quillitate,' fiist printed at Leyden, by Gryphius,

in 1543. In this work, which displays through-

out a vast compass of learning, and an intimate

acquaintance with all the Greek and Latin clas-

sics, there are intei'spersed several little pieces of

Latin poetrj' of his own composition, which in ele-

gance are little inferior to the productions of his

contemporary Buchanan.

About 1546, After residing at Carpentras fur

ten years, Wilson felt a strong desire to revisit

Scotland, and accordingly set out on his return

home ; but was taken ill on the road, and died at

Vienne in Dauphiny about 1547. He maintained

a high character for learning in the age in which

he lived, and Buchanan paid a tribute to his ge-

nius and virtues in an epigram which he wrote

upon his death.—His works are :

Commentatio Tlieologica in Apliorismos dissccta per Se-

bast. Gryplianim. Leyden, 1539, 8vo.

Philosophiie Aristotelicas Synopsis, Lib. iv. Of tbese

wurks tbei-e are no copies extant, and it is doubtful whether

the last was ever printed.

De Tranqnillitate Animi. Leyden, 1343, 4to. Reprinted

at Edinburgh 1571, 8vo. Edin. 1707, 8vo. Corrected by

Ruddiman, in 1751, 12mo, with a Preface by Dr. John Ward.

He is said to have written a book of Latin Poems, printed

in London in 1619, 4to.
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Two Letters by Wilson, tlie one in Latin, the other in

English, the latter addressed to Thomas Cromwell, after-

wards Lord Cromwell, earl of Essex, are inserted in the I5an-

natyne Miscellany.

AVILSON, Ar.F.XANi.r.K, M.I)., the fiitiiPi- of

Scottish letter-tbuiuler.s, was born at St. Aiicircws

in 1714. He was educated for the medical pro-

fession
;
and, in 17.'j7, repaired to London to seek

for employment. Soon after his arrival, lie was

engaged as assistant to a surgeon and apothecary

in respectable jn^actice, who was a native of

France. About a year afterwards he was intro-

duced by Mr. David Gregorj', professor of mathe-

matics at St. Andrews, to Dr. Charles Stewart,

physician to Archibald Lord Isla, afterwards duke

of Argyle ; and by tiiat gentleman he was made

known to his lordship, who received him with

great kindness, and bestowed on liim several

marks of his attention and favonr. I5eing of an

ingenious mechanical turn, he constructed for liis

lordship and some of his friends thermometers of

different kinds, with more perfection and elegance

than was at that time common in London. Short-

ly after, a circumstance accidentally occnri'ed

which gave a new direction to his genius, and

eventnally led to an entire change of his profes-

sion, lie had by chance one daj- visited a letter-

foundry with a friend, who wanted to juirchase

sonic types ; and his attention being particularly

directed to the implements used by the workmen

in prosecuting that art, the idea struck him of be-

ing able to introduce a certain important improve-

ment into the process. He imparted his scheme

to a friend named Bain, also from St. Andrews,

wlio, like himself, possessed a considerable share

of Ingenuity, perseverance, and enterprise, and the

two young adventurers resolved to relinquish all

other pursuits, for the ])urpose of following the

business of letter-founding, according to the im-

proved plan proposed by Mr. AVilson. Having

waited on Lord Isla, and coinmunieated to him

his views on the subject, his lordship cxin-essed

his entire approbation of the undertaking. Messrs

AA'ilson and Bain then entered into jiartnersliiji,

and, having taken convenient apartments, applied

A\itli great assiduity to the diflerent prejiaratory

ste])s of the project. " But although," says Mi'.

Hansard, in his Typograijhia, " they found their

task grow more and more arduous as their expe-

rience improved, it may yet be mentioned as a fact

which bespeaks singular probity of mind, that they

never once attenii)ted to gain any insight what-

ever, through the means of workmen employed in

any of the London foundries, sonic of whom they

understood could have proved of considerable ser-

\'ice to them."

In consequence of the expense attending their

residence in London, they returned about 1739 to

St. Andrews, where they continued to prosecute

their experiments, but were unsuccessful In cariy-

iiig out their scheme of improvement. Having,

however, aci|uired some knowledge of the art of

letter-founding, they determined upon pursuing

the ordinary mode of preparing the types, and by

their own unassisted efforts and mechanical abil-

ity, they were at length enaliled to cast a few

founts of Roman and Italic characters. 'I'liey

subsequently hired some workmen, « horn they in-

structed in the necessary operations, and at last

o]iened tlieir infant letter-foundry at St. Andrews

in 1742. The pi inters of Scotland at that period

were supplied by the London foundries, which put

them to much inconvenience, and they were,

therefore, glad to encourage the nianufaeturing (<(

types so near their own home. Their liberal or-

ders enabled Messrs. Wilson and Bain to add to

the number of their founts, and being now engaged

in a regular business, the increasing demand for

their types, and the prospect of extending their

sales to Ireland and North America, induced them,

in 1744, to remove their letter-foundry to Camla-

clile, in the immediate neighbourhood of Glasgow.

In the autumn of 1747, with the view of extend-

ing their connections in Ireland, i\Ir. Bain settled

at Dublin, and, two years after, the partnership

was totally dissolved.

During his residence at Camlachie, Dr. A\'ilson

had become acquainted with most of the eminent

and learned men of the cily of Glasgow. "When

the professors of the college formed the design,

with IVIessrs. Robert and Andrew Foulis, printers

to the uiiiveiv-ity, of printing splendid editions of

the Greek classics. Dr. Wilson executed new types

for these works after an improved model of his

own, accomplishing his task at an expense of time

and labour which could not be compensated by

any profits arising from the sale of the t}^)cs
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tliemselves. In consequence of his disinterested

conduct on this occasion, his name was mentioned

in the preface to the folio Homer, in terms of

highly deserved commendation. In 1760 he was

appointed professor of practical astronomy in the

university of Glasgow. He was one of the origi-

nal members of the Roj'ul Society of Edinburgh
;

and, in 1774 and 1783, he contributed two inter-

esting papers on the Solar Spots, to the London

Philosophical Transactions. He died October 16,

1786.

About two years after he had been appointed to

his professorship, the foundry was removed to the

more immediate vicinity of the college, and its

further enlargement and improvement devolved

on his two sons, under whose management

it attained, before their father's death, to the

highest reputation. The types manufactured

there were highly esteemed all over Europe

for their elegance and durability. Those in the

Greek character, especially, were held to be unri-

valled. In 1832 a branch from the Glasgow esta-

blishment was commenced at Edinburgh. In

1834 the business of the Glasgow establishment

was removed to London. A branch was after-

wards established in Dublin.

WILSON, John, author of ' The Clyde,' a po-

em, the son of a small farmer, in the parish of

Lesmahago, Lanarkshire, was born there June

30, 1720. He received his education at the gi-am-

mar-school of Lanark ; but when only in his four-

teenth year, his father died, and his mother's po-

verty obliged her to withdraw him from school.

He had made such rapid progress in learning,

however, that even at this early age, he was able

to begin instructing otiiers, and from this period,

till he arrived at manhood, he maintained himself

chiefly by private teaching. In 1746 he was ap-

pointed parish schoolmaster of his native parish,

and in this situation he continued for many years.

His first production as an author was a ' Dramatic

Essay,' which he afterwards expanded into the

'Earl Douglas,' a tragedy. This he published at

Glasgow in 1764, with his poem of ' The Clj-de,'

the former dedicated to Archibald duke of Dou-

glas, and the latter inscribed to the duchess. In

the course of the same year he removed to Ruth-

erglen, on the invitation of some gentlemen who

wished him to teach their sons tiie classics. lu

1767, on a vacancy occurring in the grammar-

school of Greenock, he was offered the situation of

master on the singular condition that he should

abandon " tlie profane and unprofitable art of

poem -making." With this Gothic proposition,

having a wife and family to support, poor Wilson

was obliged to complj% and accordingly burnt the

greater part of his unfinished manuscripts. He

died, June 2, 1789, in tlie sixty-ninth year of his

age. A few poetic fragments, that had escaped

the flames, were found among his papers. These

seem chiefly to have been hurried effusions on

temporary subjects, or juvenile paraphrases of

passages of Scripture.

An improved edition of his ' Clyde,' wliich he

had prepared for the press before being appointed

master of the Greenock grammar-school, was pub-

lished by the late Dr. Leyden, in the first volume

of ' Scottish Descriptive Poems,' with a biogi'a-

phical sketch of the author prefixed.

Wilson had two sons, both of whom gave great

promise of poetical talents. "James, the eldest,"

says Dr. Leyden's Memoir, " a young man of

more than ordinary abilities, displayed a fine taste

for both poetry and drawing, and, like his father,

possessed an uncommon share of humour. He

went to sea, and after distinguishing himself in

several naval engagements, was killed, October

11, 1776, in an action on Lake Champlain, in

which his conduct received such approbation from

his commanding officer, that a small pension was

granted by government to his father. George,

who died at the age of twenty-one years, was dis-

tinguished for his taste and classical erudition, as

well as his poetical talents." Wilson had a bro-

ther, a blacksmith, who also possessed a poetical

turn, and published some elegies.

It is somewhat remarkable, that the Greenock

magistrates, in placing an embargo on the muse

of Wilson, did so in contravention of one of the

acts of the General Assembly ; that venerable

body having, in 1645, enacted that, "for the rem-

edy of the great decay of poesy, no schoolmaster

be permitted to teach a grammar-school in burghs,

or other considerable parishes, but such as, after

examination, shall be found skilful in the Latin

tongue, not only for prose, but also for verse."
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Of this law, however, the enlightened bailies and

skippers of Greenock were, of course, ignorant,

when they issued tlieir sapient interdict against tiie

cultivation of poetry.

'\VILS0^3', Jamks, an eminent American law-

yer, and one of the subscribers of the Declaration

of Independence, the son of a respectable farmer,

was born in Scotland about 1742. After studying

successively at Glasgow, St. Andrews, and Edin-

burgh, he eniigraled, in 177G, to Philadelpliia,

and was, for a few months, employed as a tutor in

the college and acadeni}' of that place, in wliich

capacity he acquired a high reputation for his

classical learning. On relinquishing that situa-

tion, he commenced the study of the law, and at

the end of two years was admitted to tlie bar.

He began to practise, first at Reading, and then

at Carlisle, and from the latter place he removed

to Annapolis. In 1778 he returned to Philadei-

pliia, where he continued to reside during the re-

mainder of his life. In 1775 he was elected a

member of Congress, and uniformly spoke and

acted in favour of independcuco. In 1777 he was

superseded in Congress through the influence of

part}- spirit, but i-esumed his seat in 1782. In

1779 he received the arduous and delicate ap-

pointment of advocate-general for the French

government in the United States, an oflice wliicli

he resigned in 1781, in consequence of difliculties

respecting the mode of remuneration. He con-

tinued, liowever, to give his advice in sucli cases

as were laid before him by the ministers and con-

suls of France until 1783, when the French trans-

mitted to him a ]iresent of ten tliousand livres.

In 1787 he was a member of the Convention

which framed the Constitution of the United

States, and was one of the committee who report-

ed the draught of the same. In the State Con-

vention of Pennsylvania his exertions were of

essential service in seeming the adoption of the

Constitution. He was subsequentlj' a member of

the Convention which changed the constitution of

Pennsylvani;!, to render it conformable to tliat of

the United States; and, being one of the commit-

tee appointed to prepare the draught, was intrust-

ed witli the duty of drawing it out in the jiropcr

form. In 1789 lie was appointed, hy General

Washington, a judge of the supreme court of the

United States, and, whilst on a circuit in North

Carolina, in the discharge of his functions, he died

at Edenton, August 28, 1798. His political and

legal disfiuisitions, which are highly esteemed in

America, have been published in three volumes.

WILSON, Alkxandeu, the celebrated Ameri-

can ornithologist, also distinguished as a writer of

Scottish poetr\-, wns born at Paisley, July G, 17G().

His father was a distiller in a small way, and, bc;-

ing in poor circumstances, was not able to give

him more tlian an ordinary education. In his

thirteenth year he was bound apprentice for three

3'ears to his brother-in-law, 'William Duncan, a

weaver, and, after completing his indenture, he

worked for four years as a journeyman, at first in

Paisle\', afterwards in Lochwinnoch, where his

father was then residing, and latterly at Queens-

ferry witli his old master and relative Duncan,

who had removed to that ]ilace. An American

biographer tells us, that he acquired the nickname

of " the lazy weaver," from his love of reading,

and attachment to tlie quiet and sequestered beau-

ties of nature. He derived from his mother, wlio

died when he was ten years of age, a taste for

music, and he gave earlj- indications of possessing

poetical talent of a high order. Disgusted witli

the confined and monotonous nature of his em-

]iloyment, he I'csolved to abandon the shuttle, and

betake himself to the wandering trade of a pedlar;

and accordingl}' he carried a pack for a period of

about three years. In 1789 he printed, at Paislc}',

a volume, entitled 'Poems, Humorous, Satirical,

and Serious,' and oll'ored for sale his chapman's

wares and his book at the same time ; but finding

few customers for either, he returned to Lochwin-

noch, and resumed his former occupation at the

loom. In 1791 he hastily composed a jioem on

the question— ' Whether the exertions of Allan

Ramsay or Robert Ferguson had done most honour

to Scottish poetry?' which he recited before the

members of the debating society, called " The

Forum," at Edinburgh, giving the preference to

Ferguson, and soon after published it under the

title of 'The Laurel Disj)uted.' At this time he

wrote and recited in public two other poetical

essays, and also coutriliutcd some ])iecps to Dr.

Anderson's 'Bee' In 1792 appeared liis admir-

able narrative poem, ' Watty and Meg,' which, in



WILSON", 650 ALEXANDER.

Iiiiniour and truth of description, is not surpasscii

by any production of the Scottish muse. Being

published witliout his uarne, it was universally

ascribed to Burns. A violent dispute having some

time after this broken out between the Paisley

master weavers and the journeymen, Wilson took

part with the latter, and published anonymously

sevei'al bitter satires, the authorship of which was

easily traced to hiui. For one of tliese, a severe

and undeserved libel upon a respectable iudividual,

he was tried, and, being convicted, was sentenced

to a short imprisonment, and compelled to burn

the obnoxious poem witli his own hands at the

public cross of Paisley. He was likewise looked

upon with suspicion as a person M'ho advocated

tlie dangerous principles which the French Revo-

lution had spread among the people, and especially

among the weavers, who at that period of excite-

ment were generally accounted levellers and demo-

crats. Tiiese circumstances wciglied heavily on

his spirits, and led to his determination of emi-

grating to the United States.

To raise funds for this purpose he became indus-

trious and economical, working indefatigably at

the loom, and living upon a shilling a week, so

that, in about four months, he had saved the

amount of his passage money. He then bade

fiirewell to his friends and relatives, and walked

to Porfpatrick, whence he passed over to Belfast,

and embarked on board a ship bound for New-

castle, in the state of Delaware. Her complement

of passengers being filled, "Wilson and his nephew,

William Duncan, who accompanied him, consented

to sleep on deck during the voyage. With no

better accommodation he crossed tlie Atlantic, and

landed at his place of destination, July M, 1791,

in the twenty-eighth year of his age. To enable

him to reach Philadelphia, he borrowed a small

sum from a fellow-passenger, named Oliver, and,

with his fowling-piece on his shoulder, he walked

thirty-three miles to the capital of Pennsylvania.

It is noticed by his biogi-apliers, that the first bird

he saw in the western world was a red-headed

woodpecker, which he shot and carried along with

him. In Pliiladelphia he was employed for some

weeks by an emigrant countiyman as a copper-

l)late printer. He then resumed his former trade

of weaving, at which he worked for about a year.

both in Philadelphia and at Sheplierdstown, in

Virginia. In 1795 he travelled through the north

part of New Jersey as a pedlar, keeping a journal,

which he had commenced at an early period in

Scotland, and which he enriched with interesting

observations and characteristic remarks on men

and manners. On his return, he opened a school

at Frankford, in Pennsylvania, and for several

j'ears he followed the profession of a teacher, hav-

ing removed first to Milestown, and afterwards to

Bloomfield, New Jersey. During all this time be

assiduously studied those branches of learning in

which he was deficient, and having successfully

cultivated a knowledge of mathematics, to the

business of a schoolmaster he added that of a sur-

veyor. His sister, Mrs. Duncan, being left a

widow, followed him and her son, with a family of

sm;ill children, to the LTnited States, and, by means

of a loan, Wilson was enabled to purchase and

stock a small farm for them in Ovid, Cayuga

county. New York.

In 1802 he was appointed sclioolmaster of a semi-

naiy in Kingsessing, on the banks of the Schuyl-

kill, within four miles of Philadelphia, and at a

short distance from the residence of 'William Bar-

tram, the celebrated American naturalist. With

this gentleman he soon became intimately ac-

quainted, and also with Mr. Alexander Lawson,

an engraver, who instructed him in drawing,

colouring, and etching, though he made no pro-

gress until he attempted the delineation of birds.

His success in this department of art led him to

the studj^ of ornithology, in wliich he engaged so

enthusiastically as to form the project of publish-

ing an account, with drawings, of all the birds of

the middle states, and even of the Union ; and he

undertook several long pedestrian excursions into

the woods, for the purpose of increasing his col-

lection of birds, as well as of obtaining a know-

ledge of their history and habits. In the mean-

time, with the view of being relieved from the

drudgery of a school, he contributed some essays

to 'Tlie Literary Magazine,' then conducted by

Mr. Brockden Brown, and to Denny's Portfolio

;

but these etforts produced no change in Ids situa-

tion.

In October 1804, accompanied by his nephew

and another individual, he made a pedestrian tour
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to tlie Falls of tiie Niagara, and, on his retiini, l:e

wrote liis poem of ' The Foresters,' published in

the Portfolio. From this time till 180G he was

busily employed ou his great oruithologieal work,

and his fi'iend Lawson having deelined to join

with liim in the undertaking, he proceeded with

it alone, di-awing, etching, and colouring all the

plates himself. In the latter year he had the good

fortune to be engaged, at a liberal salary, by Mr.

Samuel F. Bradlbrd, bookseller in I'hiladelpliia, as

assistant editor of the American edition of liees'

Cyelopiedia. He now relinquished the office of a

schoolmaster, and I\Ir. Bradford having agreed to

take all the risk of publishing the Ornithology, he

applied liiniself to preparing it for the press. In

September 1808 tlie tii'st volume of this great na-

tional woi k made its appearance, and its splendour

and ability equally surprised and delighted the

American public. Immediately on its i)ublication,

Wilson set out on a journey through the Eastern

states, for the purpose of sk.owing his book and

soliciting subscriptions, lie went as far as Maine,

and returned through A^ermoiit to Albany and

riiiladelphia. He afteru ards undertook an expe-

dition on the same errand to the South, passing

through Virginia, the Carolinas, and Georgia.

AV' hen at Charleston he had procured only a hun-

di'ed and twenty-live subscribers; at Savannah

they had amounted to two hundred and lifty,

" obtained," he says, " at a price worth live times

their amount."

The second volume of the Ornithology was

published in January 1810, and in the following

month the author ]u-oceeded to Pittsbui'g. From

thence, in a small boat or skiff, he descended the

Ohio for about six hundred miles. lie visited the

nuiuerous towns that had even then sprung up in

the wilderness, and explored various parts of the

country for the purpose of extending his observa-

tions, collecting specimens, ami v\-atcliing the

habits of birds in their native haimts. "Since

February 1810," he says, in a letter to his brother,

David, a year or two afterwards, " I have slept

for several \\eeks in the wilderness alone, in an

Indian country, ^^ith my gun and my pistols in

my bosom ; and have found myself so much re-

duced by sickness as to be scarcely able to staml,

wlien not ^\ ithiu thi-ee hundred miles of a white
|

settlement." Near Louisville he sold liis skiff,

and performed the journey to Natchez partly on

foot and partly on horseback. In his diary he

says: "This journey, four hundred and seventy-

five miles from Nashville, I iiave performed alone,

through dillieulties which those who never passed

the road could not in^ve a conception of." Ho

proceeded to New Orleans, and thence to New
York, and home to Philadelphia.

Six volumes of the (Ornithology were pidjlished

previous to 1813, and the seventh appeared in

that year. In 1812 "\^"ilson was chosen a member

of the Society of Artists of the United States, also

of the American Philosophical Society, and of

other learned bodies. In 1813 he had completed

tlie letterpress of the eighth volume of the Orni-

thology; but from want of proper assistants to

colour llie plates, he was obliged to undertake the

whole of this department himself, in addition to

his other duties. After a few days' illness, he died,

of dysentery, August 23, 1813, in his 48th yeai-.

The letterpress of the ninth volume of the Orni-

thology was supplied by his friend and com-

panion in several excursions, Mr. George Ord,

w ho prclixed an interesting memoir of the deceased

naturalist. Three supplementary volumes, con-

taining American birds not described by AVilson,

have been pid3lished in folio by Charles Lucieu

Bonaparte. In 1832 an addition of tlie American

Ornithology, with illustrative Notes ami a Life of

^Vilson, by Sir A^'illiani Jardine, baronet, was

published at London in three volumes.

WILSON, AViLLiAM ILvi.:, of Kelvinbank,

LL.l)., an eminent traveller, was born in Paisley,

7th June, 1772. lie was the eldest son of a gen-

tleman of the name of Pae at Haddington, of

which town his grandt'ather was })rovost, and the

nephew and heir of John 'Wilson, one of the

tow II clerks of Glasgow. He was bred to the law,

and jiractised for some years as a solicitor before

the supreme courts in Scotlaiul. On jMr. "\\'ilson"s

death, in 1SU6, without issue, Mr. llae succeeded

to his Ibrtune, ami, by letters patent, assumed the

additional surname of Wilson. In 1811, he mai-

ried Frances, 4tli daiiglitcr of John Phillips, Esq.

of Stobcross, merchant in Glasgow, but she died,

without issue, about 18 months after the marriage.

After his wife's death, he was induced to visit
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Ibreign parts, and he spent a large portion of the

remainder of his life in travelling in the east, and

throughout the continent of Europe. The anti-

quities of the Holy Land were the chief objects of

his study and research, and he gave to the world

the fruits of his travels in sundry works of con-

siderable interest, such as 'Travels in Norway,

Sweden, and Denmark;' 'Travels in Russia;'

and 'Travels in Egypt and the Holy Land,' pub-

lished in 1823. 'J'he latter, in particular, went

through several editions, and was for a long time

very popular. From the university of Glasgow

he received the honorary degree of doctor of laws.

He entered into a second marriage with Miss

Gates, an English lady of good family, who was

his devoted companion through all the latter period

of his life, and in all his sojournings in many lands.

Dr. Wilson died at London in June 1849, aged

76, without issue, leaving an ample fortune, the

bulk of which was divided among several nephews

and nieces. Among his other charitable bequests

was a sum to afford an annual prize, to be awarded

by the university of Glasgow, to a student of divi-

nity, for the best essay on ' The life of our ador-

able Redeemer, Jesus Christ ; His righteousness,

atoning death, and that everlasting benefit arising

from these blessings to a lost and miserable world.'

His body was, by his own desire, brought to Glas-

gow, where it was temporarily, interred in one of

the Egyptian vaults in the Necropolis, but shortly

afterwards removed and permanently deposited in

a tomb erected under the superintendence of his

trustees. This is a beautiful and stately struc-

ture, and forms a leading object of interest in the

Necropolis of Glasgow. The architect was Mr. J.

A. Bell of Edinburgh, and the sculptor, Mr.

M'Lean. The design is, very appropriately, of

an Eastern character, the type being to be found

in the numerous sepulchral monuments still ex-

isting in and around the city of Jerusalem. A
central tablet bears the following inscription :

" In

memory of AVilliam Rae Wilson, LL.D., late of

Kelvinbank, who died 2d June, 1849, aged 7G,

author of ' Travels in the Holy Land,' and editor

of works written on that and other countries dur-

ing many years. ' Th}' servants take pleasure in

her stones, and favour the dust thereof This

tablet is inscribed bj' his affectionate wife." A

friend who knew him well thus writes of him

"In private life Dr. Rae Wilson was eminently

social. Gifted with a most active mind, and hav-

ing had his talent for conversation sharpened by

much exercise in the course of his travels, he was

a most interesting and instructive companion. It

was no ordinary treat to listen to his animated

descriptions of the remarkable places and persons

he had visited; and to the verj' close of his long

life, he continued to take the greatest pleasure in

retracing his steps, particularly over the Holy

Land; happy in the idea of communicating some

portion of his own knowledge and zeal to his

friends. He was ever ready to do good, in the

best sense, as he had opportunit)'. He was not

only a distributor of religious tracts, but a writer

of some that are highly esteemed."

WILSON, John, a distinguished poet and

critic, the son of a prosperous manufacturer in

Paisley, was born 19th May 1785. His mother,

whose maiden name Avas Sym, was of a wealthy

Glasgow family. After receiving the early part of

his education at the manse of the Mearns, Ren-

frewshire, xmder the tuition of the Rev. Dr.

George M'Latchie, at the age of 13 he commenced

his studies at the nniversity of Glasgow, where he

remained four 3'ears. In 1804 he entered Magda-

len college, Oxford, as a gentleman commoner,

and continued there also four years. While at

Oxford, he won the Newdegate prize of fifty

guineas for an English poem of fifty lines.

Remarkable in his j-outh for that fine physical

development on which, even till a short time be-

fore his death, years produced but little effect,

among his college friends he at once acquired a

pre-eminence in all the athletic exercises and out-

of-door amusements engaged in by the young Ox-

onians, and manifold were the reports which in

after years M'ere rife of the eccentricities and ro-

mantic incidents which marked this period of his

life. To use the language of the author of ' A
Memorial and Estimate ' of him, b}' one of his

students, published in Edinburgh in 1854 : " The

number of his friends and associates ' was im-

mense,' ranging, curiously enough, through every

degree of the social scale, from ' groom, cobbler,

stable-boy, barbers apprentice, with every kind

of blackguardism and ruffianism,' up to the ordi-
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nary under-graduate, tlie fashionable gentleman-

commoner, tlie very dean, proctor, and fellow, nor

even stopping short of ' nnlimited favour with the

learned president of jNIagdalen College, editor of

parts of Plato and of some theology.' He could

have been no common young man, so far as per-

sonal interest and the power of ingratiating go,

who thus stood. Still his favourite comjianions

were 'people who had talents for thumping and

being thumped.' In some one of the recesses, be-

tween university term-times, niuit have taken

place, if at all, the reported extravagance of his

joining himself to a party of strolling players, en-

joying the disguise with its accompaniments of

hardship or joviality, and taking the leading parts,

both in tragedy and comedy, at country fairs

throughout England, no doubt under grotesque

vicissitudes of popular acceptation ; now called

before the threepenny curtain to address an audi-

ence of half-drunken rustics; now hissed olf the

stage in the full height of the ' Cambyses vein.'

lie was said to have become temporary waiter at

an inn for the sake of some fair stranger there

resident, and to have been so great a favourite

with all and sundry, as the humorous and eccen-

tric young 'John,' that the establishment would

scarce part with him. These histories are really

traceable to very slight occasion in fact. A still

odder tale used to be circulated of him, ajiparently

dependent on impulses of a more serious kind

;

how having been smitten witli the outlandish

charms of a beantifid young jet-eyed gipsy daugh-

ter of the king of that mysterious tribe, he fol-

lowed the gang in st'cret, and preferring liis suit,

succeeded in it,—was allowed to assume the gips^'

garb,—to many the dark maiden, or at least set-

tic for some time in their eneaminnent, a sort of

adopted heir to the Egyptian princedom, till dis-

covered and reclaimed to civilized life by his

friends. Frequent is his own allusion, at all

events, to some decisive encounter with one of

their champions in the ring, where victory- de-

j

clared itself for him."
|

On the death of his father he succeeded to a

fortune estimated as high as £30,000, and having

purchased the estate of EUeray, beautifully situ-

ated on the lake of Windermere, A\'estmoreland,

on quitting Oxford he went to reside there. Tliis

was in 1808, and for some years he remained in a

district, the picturesque beaut}' of which furnished

materials for ministering to his naturally high

poetic temperament, and enjoying the society of

AVordsworth, Southey, De Quincey (a fellow-stu-

dent at O.xford), and the other distinguished men

of letters who then resided near the lakes. Here

he showed himself particularly partial to all sorts

of athletic exercises and wild lield-sports, and out-

of-door activity of unusual kinds, and is described

by an American writer, who was introduced to him

at Wordsworth's house, as a young man ' in a

sailor's dress, about twenty-one, t:ill and lightly

built, of Horid comjilexion, and hair of a hue nn-

snited to that colour," and as one who seemed " to

have an intense enjoyment of life, to feel happy

and i)leased with himself as with others, being

young, rich, health)-, and full of intellectual acti-

vity." The following is a description of one of

the cxtraordin.nry recreations in which he was

fond of indulging. " About this time," continues

the same American writer, " a yoinig man, name

not given, had taken up his abode in the vale of

Grasmere, anxious for an introduction to Mr.

AVilson, and strolled out earl}' one fine summer

morning—three o'clock—to that rocky and moor-

ish common (called the White Moss), which over-

hangs the vale of Rydal, dividing it from Gras-

mere. Looking southward in the direction of

Rydal, he suddenly became aware of a huge beast

advancing at a long trot, with the heavy and

thundering tread of a hippopotamus, along the

public road. The creature soon arrived within

lialf-a-mile of him, in the grey light of morning,

—

a bull, apparently Hying from unseen danger in

the rear. As yet, all was myster}- ; till suddenly'

three horsemen emerged round a turn in the road,

hurrying after it in full speed, in evident pursuit.

The bull made heavily for the moor, which he

reached, then paused, ])anting, blowing out smoke,

and looking back. The animal was not safe,

however; the horsemen, scarcely relaxing their

speed, charged up hill, gnined the rear of the bull,

and drove him at full gallop, over the worst part

of this impracticable groinid, to that below; while

the stranger perceived, by tin- increasing light,

that the three were armed witli immense spears,

fourteen feet long. By these, the fugitive beast
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was soon dislodged, scouring down to the plain,

liis hunters at his tail, towards the marsh, and

into it, till, after plunging together for a quarter

of an hour, all suddenlj' regained terra firma, the

bull making again for the rocks. Till then, there

had been the silence of phantasmagoria, amidst

which it was doubtfnl whether the spectacle were

a pageant of aerial spectres, ghostl}' huntsmen,

imaginary lances, and unreal bull; but, just at

that crisis, a voice shouted aloud, 'Turn tlie vil-

lain—turn that villain, or he will take to Cumber-

land.' It was the voice of ' Elleray,' for whom

the young stranger succeeded in performing the

required service, the 'villain' being turned to flee

southwards ; the hunters, lance in rest, l uslied

after him, all bowing their thanks as they tied

past, except of course the frantic object of chase.

The singular cavalcade swiftly took the high road,

doubled the cape, and disappeared, leaving the

quiet valley to its original silence."

At Elleray he wrote the first poem which made

his name known beyond college cii'cles, an ' Eleg}'

on the Death of James Grahame,' the amiable an-

thor of 'The Sabbath.' It was followed in 1812

by the 'Isle of Palms,' which at once gave him a

high place amongst the literati of the day.

In 1815, j\rr. Wilson, at that time residing with

his widowed mother in Castle Street, Edinburgh,

passed advocate at the Scottish bar, but does not

appear ever to have practised. In 1816 he pub-

lished 'The City of the Plague,' a poem which,

like all his poetical pieces, is remarkable for deli-

cacy of feeling and beauty of expression, though

a more elaborate production than anj' of his for-

mer compositions. The following year he com-

menced that connection with BlacliwootVs Maga-

zine, then newly started, which for years after

identified him with all the brilliant fanc}' and ex-

quisite taste and humour with which its pages

were adorned. From the seventh number that

periodical continued " to draw more memorable

support from him than ever journal did fi'om the

pen of any individual." lie was the principal if

not the only writer of the celebrated Nodes Am-

lirosianeB, in which he took the designation of

Christop/ier North.

In 1820 he was appointed to the chair of moral

philosophy in the university of Edinburgh, then

vacant by the death of Dr. Tliomas Brown, and

it is remarkable that, even thus early, Sir Walter
|

Scott had recognised in him talents Avhich only '

wanted proper direction to make him " the first

man of the age." The fervid energy of his char-

actor and the impassioned eloquence with which

his lectures were characterized added new lustre
j

to the univei-sity, while he endeared himself to his

students by being the never-failing friend of every i

youth who sought his aid, and the counsel which '<

he was ever read\' to impart attested not less the

kindness of his heart than the sagacitj'of his judg-

ment. His expenditure at Ellera}' is understood

to have been always profuse. He had replaced

the original cottage by a new mansion, and his i

establishment there included some characteristic
j

prodigalities, such as keeping a yacht and boat on
j

Windermere, where in his capacity of admiral of

the lake, he led the aquatic honours to Sir Walter

Scott and Canning, on their reception in West-

moreland in 1825. He had married, in 1810, an

English lad\', with whom, it is said, he got a for-

tune of £10,000 ; and a i-isiiig family of two sons

and three daughters, with some serious reverses

which he is understood to have sustained, induced

him to come forward as a candidate for the moral

philosophy chair. He was sti'ongly opposed in

the town council, but his friends succeeded in car-

rying his election.

The first of his prose compositions appeared in

1822, under the name of ' Lights and Shadows of

Scottish Life ; a Selection from the Papers of the

late Arthur Austen,' in one volume, containing

twenty-four short tales, illustrative of Scottish

rural and pastoral life. Three of these, ' The

Elder's Fnneral,' 'The SuoAv-storm,' and 'The

Forgers,' had previously been published in Black-

wood's Magazine. His next prose work, entitled

'The Trials of Margaret Lindsay,' appeared in

one volume in 1823, and in 1824 he published an-

other story, called ' The Foresters,' inferior to the

others, and not so well known. A selection

from his contributions to Blackwood's Magazine

was pnblished by himself in 1842, in 3 vols. 8vo,

bearing the title of ' Recreations of Christopher

North,' but these conveyed but an inadequate idea

of his vast and diversified genius.

In 1849, when the Philosopliical Institution
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was formed in Ediiiburgli, Professor Wilson was

elected its first president, and delivered an open-

ing address. In 1851 an lionorarj- pension of

£300 a-year was confL'rred on liini hy the govern-

nieut, and tlic follo\\ ing spi'ing he gave in his I'e-

signation to the college patrons, without nny

claim to a retiring allowance. His health did not

seem tlien in a ]irecar!ous state, but shortly after-

wards it began to give wny. Partial loss of power

in the lower limbs was succeeded hy nervous

weakness, and after having had three shocks of

I)aralysis, he died at Edinburgh on the morning

of the .'ill A])iil ISfi-l, and w;is buried in the Dean

cemetery of that city. His jioi trait is subjuined.

One (.f his daughters marrictl William ICilmou-

stone Ayton, VjS([., professor of rhetoric and belles

lettres in the university of Edinburgh, and author

of ' Lays of the Scottish Cavaliers,' and other

poems ; and another, John Thomson Gordon,

Esq., sheriff' of ]\Iid Lothian. One of his sisters

was the mother of J'rofessor Ferrier of St. An-

drews, who married liis cousin, a daughter of Pro-

fessor Wilson. Another sister was the A\ite of

Sir John Macueill, formerly Piitish envoy to the

court of Persia, and brother of the liight Hon.

Duncan Macneill, lord-justicc-gcneral of Scotland.

Professor Wilson's fame rests on tlie great con-

tributions lie has made to the literature of Scot-

laud as a poet, a critic, and a pliilo.sopher, and

pai-ticidarly on his writings in P.Iackwood's JLng-

aziue. After his death, his works, edited by his

son-in-law. Professor Ferrier, were published by

Messrs. Blackwood, in the following order: 1.

The Noctes Ambrosiana\ 2. Essays, Critical and

Imaginative, contributed to Blackwood's Maga-
zine. ,3. The Pecreations of ChrLstophor North.

1. Poems, a new and complete edition. 5. Tales.

In 1SG2, a memoir of Professor ^\ilson, under

the title of ' ('hristo])hcr North,' compiled from

family papers and other sources, by his daughter,

jMrs. Gordon, with portrait and graphicillustrations,

was published at Edinbui'gh, iu 2 vols, crown 8vo.
|

Ills youngest brother, T^Ir. James Wilson of

Woodville, born iu I'aisley in 1795, distinguished

himself as a naturalist. He was educated in Edin-
j

burgh, where his mother then resided, and attended
(

the university in that city. The love of natural '

liistorj' displnycd itself iu him iu early boyhood,

and -while yet veiy young he formed a considera- I

bic collection of birds and insects. In 1816 he
|

made a tour on the contiucut, visiting Holland, Ij

part of Germany, and Switzerland. Soon after
;

he repaired to Paris, and acquired the friendship i

of several eminent scientific men there. On this
|

occasion he was intrusted with the purchase of a

collection of birds for the jNTuscum iu the univer- i

sity of Edinburgh, know n as the Dufresne collec-
|

tion. It was afterwards arranged by him, and I

now constitutes one of the most attractive scries

of objects in the uiiivorsily museum. In 1SI9 lie

visited Sweden, and soon after his return, symp-

toms of pulmonary comiibunt, which ultimately

proved fatal, began to show ihemsclves. In con-

sequence, he went to Italy, where he resided dur- J

ing the winter of 1820-21. In 1824 he married

and settled down to a life of scientific and llterarv '

labour. He was the author of a work called 'The

Rod and the Gnu," and of ' .V 'lour Round the
|

North of Scotland ;' as as of some pleasant !

papers in Pdackwood's i^Iagazine, and the North

British Review. He was also an occasional con-
|

tributor to the Quarterly and Edinbni-gli Reviews. I

On the death of Professor Edward Forbes in 185.5, I

the chair of natural history iu the university of
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Edinburgh was offered to him, but lie declined it.

For the last few months of his life he suffered

greatly from pulmonary disease, followed by rheu-

matic gout, and died 18th May 1856.

WILSON, John, an eminent vocalist, was born

in Edinburgh in 1800, and at ten years of age

was apprenticed to a printer. After working as a

compositor, he was engaged as a readei-, or correc-

tor of the press, in the establishment of James

Ballantyne, the printer of the Waverley novels,

and it is said was one of the few who were in the

secret of Sir Walter Scott being the author. At

this time he devoted his evenings to the acquire-

ment of the French and Latin languages, and after

becoming vei'sed in these, with other two friends

he turned his attention to the study of Italian.

He was alwaj-s fond of singing, and having im-

proved his voice by attending the classes of a

musical association called the Edinburgh Institu-

tion, which met in the High chnrch aisle, he ob-

tained the office of precentor in one of the dissent-

ing chapels of Edinburgh. He now seriously set

about cultivating the musical powers with which

he was so riclily endowed. With a voice of the

finest quality, he possessed the most exquisite na-

tural taste, and he improved both by the most

assiduous and earnest study.

In 1827 he left the printing business, and be-

came a teacher of singing, appearing occasionally

at private concerts in Edinburgh. In June of

that year he went to London, and for three

months took lessons from Signor Lanza, an Italian

master of the vocal art. He also acquired a

knowledge of elocution, as it was his intention to

go upon the stage. When he began to prepare

himself for this step, several of his friends endea-

voured to dissuade him from it. His mother, a

pious old lady, and Mr. Grey, his pastor, who

was much attached to him, remonstrated in vain.

He resigned his precentorship, and in March 1830

he made his first appearance on the stage of the

Theatre Royal, Edinburgh, as Henry Bertram in

the opera of ' Guy Mannering.' The following

night he sung in the opera of Rosina, and during

tlie same week he appeared as jMassaniello. His

success was complete, and after singing for three

weeks at the Edinburgh theatre, he went to Perth,

where he performed during tlie summer. He was

soon called to London, and on the 30th October
!

appeared at Covent Garden theatre for the first i

time, as Don Carlos in the Duenua. Having
j

thus laid the foundation of that high fame which

he afterwards so fully acquired, he continued to
|

sing as principal tenor, alternately at Covent

Garden and Drury Lane, until the summer of

1837. In the following winter he was engaged

at the English Opera House, where, among ',

other successful performances, he played Donald,
|

the leading character in the Mountain Sylph, an

opera which was performed upwards of one hun-

dred nights in succession. For this theatre he

translated from the Italian, and adapted for the

English stage, the opera of 'La Somnambula.'
;

Soon after this he commenced a new species of

musical entertainments, for which he became cel-

ebrated. They consisted entirely of Scotch songs,

varied with descriptive remarks and appropriate

nnecdotes illustrative of the various pieces intro-

duced. He was the first who originated this class

of monological musical entertainments, which be-

came very popular. Tlie names he gave them,

such as ' A Nicht wi' Burns,' and ' Adventures of

Pi'ince Charlie,' were eminently attractive. Mr.

Wilson was the most accomplished singer of Scot-

tish ballads of modern times. For pathos and

expression in singing the beautiful melodies of his

native land he was never surpassed. He particu-

larlj^ excelled in the plaintive and unadorned lays

of Scotland, and in airs of a humorous cast he

equally maintained the national character.

The idea of these original and novel entertain-

ments appears to have been accidental. In the

spring of 1838, he was solicited by the Mechanics'

Institute of London, of which Dr. Birkbeck was

president, to give three lectures on Scottish music.

This task he accomplished successfully. He

attracted crowded audiences, and was asked by

six or seven similar institutions to repeat his

lectures. This, however, he declined to do at

the time, as he had resolved to visit the United

States.

In September 1838 he sailed from Bristol on a

professional tour to America. He remained in the

United States for nearly two years, and gave sev-

eral of his Scottish entertainments at New York.

During his stay in America he translated and
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ndMptcd Adiiin's Opera of the Tostilioii ol'I^oii-

jiiiiicaii.'

Oil lii.s rctiii'ii, ill file niiiter of l.SlU-l, witli

Jilessrs. Philips and Balfe and Miss Homer, lie

took a lease of tlic Enrjlish Opera liouse, London,

a speculation which jirovcil uiisiicccssfiil. lie now

i-esiuned his lectures on Scottisli nuisic, and in

May 1841 delivered tliem at the "Westminster and

other Listitiitions, at that time accoiiipaiiyiiiL:

liinisolf on the iiiaiio-forte. In the following win-

ter lie opened the Store Street Kooms, London,

where he gave his entertainments on his own ac-

count. In 18i2 he was invited by the manpiis of

Brcadalbaiic to Taymoiith castle, to sing before

the Queen, when her majesty visited that iiobli^

residence. He ^^l•otc both prose and verse with

great facility. lie; also composed and adapted a

number of beautiful melodies. In his entertain-

ment of ' Mary Queen of Scots,' the finest of the

melodies were his own composition.

Mr. Wilson died at Quebec, 8th July 1849, of

cholera, after only three hours' illness, brought on

by wet or fatigue while on a fishing excursion.

His wish to be buried in .Scotland was not accom-

])lished, as his grave is in Canada. He left a

widow, two sons and three daughters. His wiclow

suddenly expired while bathing at Portobcllo, near

Edinburgh, on the evening of July 31st, 1S'y2.

WILSON, Gkorge, a scientific lecturer and

j
the first jn'ofessor of technology in the university

of Edinburgh, the son of jNIr. Arcliibald Wilson, a

wine merchant in that city, and brother of Dr.

Daniel Wilson, jirofessor of History and English

Literature, University College, Toronto, Canada,

was b(n-n in lulinbiirgli, Feb. 21, 1818. He had

;
a twin brother, who died young. lie was edu-

cated at the High School of his native place, and

at fifteen years of age began the study of medicine,

j

In Sept. 18:37 he passed Surgeon's Hall, and linv-

j

iiig devoted himself more particularly to chcmis-

I try, he was appointed laboratory assistant to Dr.

i

Cliristisoii ill the university of Edinburgh. In

j

1838 he became unsalaried assistant in the labo-

ratory of Dr. Thomas (iraham, then professor

of chemistry in ITniversity College, Loudon
;
ap-

pointed, ill 18r).j, master of the IVIint, as succes-

sor to Sir John Ilerscliel. In 1S39 he took the

degree of I\[.D. In 1810 he received a license

III.

as a lecturer on cheinistiy from the Koyal Col-

lege of .Surgeons, Edinburgh, and acquired much !

])npularit_y as an extra academical lecturer on
j

chemistry in that cil}'. His health, however,

was generally feeble, and a disease in the ancle-

joint rcqniri'd, tnwards the close of 1812, ainini-

tation of the foot.

In 185.5 he was ajipointcd to the then iiewl}-

constituted professorship of technology in the uni-

versity of Edinburgh, with the ciiratorship of the

Industrial ^Museum. He was the author of one

or two biographies, and some scientific iianiplilets

in his own ]x'cnliar department. He died Novem-

ber 22, 1850. His works are:

I.ife of CaveiiJisli. Writloii f'l.rtlii' C:iveiuiisli Suciotv. ISj].

I/il'e of Dr. .John Keid, l:ite Cliandos Professor of .Aiiatoiny

and Medicine in the University of St. Andrews. Edin. \S:>'2,

8vo.

Tlic Griovaiice of the Uiiiversily Tests, as applied to I'ro-

fe.ssors of I'liysical Science in tlie Colleges of Scotland ; a

letter addressed to tlie Itiglit lion. Spencer 11. Walpole.

Edin. 1852, 8vo.

The Five Gatew.ajs of Knowledge. Cambridge, 1S5G, Svo.

Wliat is Teclniology; an Inaugural Lecture delivered in the

University of Edinburgh on Nov. 7, 1855. Edin. 1855, fclvo.

Electricity and the Electric Telegraph; together with tlie

Chemistry of the Stars: an argument touching tlie stars and

their inbabitants. Lond. 1852, Svo. 1859.

Cliemistry (Chambers' Educational Course). Edin. 1850,

Svo. 18G0.

Researches on Colour Blindness. With a Supplement on

the Danger attending the present System of Eailway and

Marine Coloured Signals. Edin. 1855, 8vo.

The Relation of Ornamental and Industrial Art-, a Lecture

delivered in the National Galleries at the request of the -Art-

Manufacture Association, on Christmas Eve, 185G. Edin.

12mo, 1857.

Memoir of Edward Forbes, F.R.S., late Regius Professor

of Natural History in the University of Edinburgli. liy

George Wilson, M.D.. .and Archibald Geikie, F.R.S.E., F.G.S.

Camb. and Lond. ISGl, Svo.

He also contributed papers to the ' British Quarterly,' and

the 'North British Review.' To the lirst number of Mac-

Millan's JIagazine lie furnished an interesting article on

' Paper, Pens, and Ink.'

A Memoir of him by his sister, .Tcssie Ailken Wilson, was

published at Edinburgh in 18C0.

WINR.'VM, John, one of the early Reformers.

was descended from the Fifeshire famil^y of the

Winrauis or AVinrahams of Kirkness, or Eatho.

He is supposed to have commenced his studies at

St. Leonard's college, St. Andrews, in 1513, where,

two years afterwards, he took the degree of B. A.

He subsequently entered into the order of the

monks of St. Augustine, and after having been a

canon-regular for some vcars, was elected, about

2't
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1534, third prior, and in 1536 sub-prior, of their

abbey or moiiasterj' at St. Andrews. Tlie prior.

Lord James Stewart, afterwards tlie regent Mo-

ra}', was tlien in liis minority, and, consequently,

mucli of the common business of tlie abbey de-

volved on the sub-prior. Although he held such

a prominent situation in the popish church, Win-

ram secretly favoured the doctrines of the Refor-

mation ; and while he carefully avoided uttering

in public anything that might subject him to per-

secution, he did not fail to enlighten the minds of

many, particularly among the monks and noviti-

ates of the abbey, in the knowledge of the truth.

At the trial of George Wishart, the m;u tyr, at

St. Andrews, February 28, 1546, 'Winram was

desired by Cardinal Bethune to open the proceed -

ings with a suitable sermon. This was evidentlj-

done to test his principles ; but the war}' sub-

prior was on his guard, and, although in preaching

on tlie parable of the wheat and tares, he entered

upon a definition of heresy, he took care not to

commit himself, and concluded by declaring that

heretics ought to be put dow^n, " even in this pres-

ent world." After the condemnation of Wishart,

the sub-prior ventured to speak to the bishops on

his behalf, whereupon the cardinal upbraided him,

saying, " AVell, Sir, and you, we know what a

man you are, seven years ago."

A short time after the death of the cardinal,

Winram, who, during the vacancy, was vicar-

general of the diocese, was called to account by

Hamilton, the archbishop-elect, for allowing Knox

to preach his "heretical and schismatical doc-

trines," unreproved. He, therefore, held a con-

vention of the friars of the abbey and learned men

of the university, before which he summoned

Knox and Rongli> another Protestant preacher.

At this meeting, Knox, aware of the report con-

cerning the private sentiments of Winram, de-

manded from him a public acknowledgment of his

opinion, whether the doctrines taught by him and

his colleague were scriptural or unscriptural
;

for,

if he believed them to be true, it was his duty to

give them the sanction of his authority. Winram

cautiously replied that lie did not come there as a

judge, and would neither affirm nor condemn the

points in question
;
but, if Knox pleased, he W'Ould

reason with him a little. After maintaining the

argument for a short time, the sub-prior devolved

it on an old Greyfriar, named Arbuckle, who

seemed to be in his dotage. The latter was soon

forced to yield in disgrace, AVinram himself being

the first to condemn his extravagant assertions.

Although he disapproved of many of the proceed-

ings of the Popish clerg}-, Winram, whose conduct

was sometimes extremely ambiguous, continued

till a late period to act with them, and, in April

1558, he was present at the trial and condemna-

tion of Walter Mill, the martyr, at St. Andrews.

Being a member of the provincial council of the

Pojtisli clergy which met in 1549, he was em-

ployed by his brethren to draw up the canon in-

tended to settle the ridiculous dispute, then warm-

ly agitated amongst the clergy, whether the Pater

Noster should be said to the saints, or to God

alone. In the council which sat in 1559, he Avas

nominated one of the six persons to whose exam-

ination and admonition the archbishops of Glas-

gow and St. Andrews submitted their private con-

duct.

He appears soon after to have openly joined the

Reformers, and, in April 1560, was one of the

ministers to whom was committed the important

trust of compiling the Old Confession of Faith,

and the First Book of Discipline, one of his co-

adjutors being John Knox, with whom he had

formerly disputed at St. Andrews. In April 1561

he was elected one of the five ecclesiastical super-

intendents of jirovinces, his district being Fife,

Forthrick, and Strathcrn. After this he was a

constant attendant on the meetings of the General

Assembly, and was employed in their committees

on the most important affairs
;
but, like the other

superintendents, he was frequently accused of neg-

ligence in visiting the district committed to his

charge. In 1571 he was one of the commission-

ers appointed by the General Assembly, convened

at Leitli, to proceed to the castle, then held by

Kirkcaldy of Grange, for the queen, to endeavour

to bring about an agreement between the two

contending parties, when he began the confer-

ence, which was principally conducted, on Kirk-

caldy's part, by the laird of Lethington. In Jan-

uary 1572 he attended the convention at Leitli

called by the regent Morton, at which the Tul-

chan bishops were authorised, and the former ec-
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clesiastical titles ordered to be retaiintd
;
and, on

tlie lOtli of the following niontli, lie was employed

as superintendent of the bounds to inaugurate I\Ir.

John Douglas as archbishop of St. Andrews. On

this occasion, ^^'inranl was appointed archiieacon

of that diocese, but, having resigned the county

of Fife to the new archbishop, he was usually

designated superintendent of Strathern during

the next two years. On Mr. Douglas' death, in

l.'jT't, Wiuram resumed the whole of his former

province, ^^ hen he, was sometimes called sui)ei'in-

tendent of ]'"il'e, and sometimes superintendent of

Strathern. In 17.57 he was also designated prior

of Fortmoak, &e. lie died in September 1582.

lie is supposed to have been the author of the

Catechism, commonly called Archbishop Hamil-

ton's, regarding whicli there are some curious no-

tices in the notes to Dr. IM'Crie's Life of Knox.

WiNTOUN, Ead of, .1 title in tlie peerage of Scotlanil, con-

ferred by charter, dated IGtli November IGOO, on Robert,

.sixth Lord Seton, (see page 439 of tliis volume,) to him,

and liis heirs male. This nobleman was a great favourite of

King James VI., who, witli liis queen, was often at Seton

liouse, Haddingtonshire, which was built in that reign, and

considered at the time the most m.ngnificently constructed

liouse in Scotland. His lordship's father had left the estate

much involved, but by his own and his wile's prudent man-

agement, lie cleared it of all eiicunibranccs. He died in 1G03,

and on the 5tli April, bis funeral procession was met in the

liigliway by King James, then on liis journey to t:Jce posses-

sion of the Knglisb crown. Halting his retinue, the king

seated himself, till it passed, on a small part of the building,

which still remains entire, at the south-west corner of the

orchard of Seton, declaring that he had lost a good, faithful,

and loyal subject. The earl married Lady JIargaret Mont-

gomery, eldest daughter of tlie third carl of I'glintoun, lieir-

ess of her nephew, the fifth carl of nglintoun, and by lier

had, with one daughter, five sons, viz. 1. Robert, second earl

of Wintouu. 2. George, third earl of Wintoun. 3. Alexan-

der, sixth earl of Eglint.oun. 4. Hon. Sir Thomas Seton,

ancestor of the Setons of Olivestob. 5. Hon. Sir John Seton.

The daughter, Lady Isabel, married, 1st, James, first earl of

Perth, and 'idly, Francis Stew.art, eldest son of Francis, earl

of Bolliwell, and had issue to both.

Robert, second e.irl of Wintoun, resigned in 1607, the titles

and estates to his next brother, (Jeorge, who li.id a charter of

the same, 12th May that year, to him and the heirs male of

his body, with remainder to his younger brothers and the

heirs male of their bodies respectively, whom failing to liis

iie.'U-est m.ale heir, they bearing the name and arms of Seton.

He thus got the earldom in the lifetime of his elder brother,

and became third carl of Wintoun. On James VI. revisiting

Scotland in 1C17, he spent his second night, after crossing

the Tweed, at Seton liouse, and King Charles I. was twice

entertained there, with all bis retinue, in 1633. This earl

built Wintoun house, in the parish of Penc.iitland, in 1619,

and about 1G30, through his patronage or bounty, the fishing

village of Port Seton, in the parish of Tranent, which has its

name from the family, had twelve saltpans, some of which

still exist. He was one of those who waited on the king af-

ter the pacification of Berwick in 1G39, and on the ' Kngage-

ment' being entered into for the rescue of Ids majesty in

1G18, lie gave to the duke of Hamilton, the commander-in-

chief, £\,()i)(> sterling, in free gift for liis equipage. When
Charles II. came to Scotland in .Tune 1650, the earl waited

upon him, and continued with his majesty till November.

He then went home to prepare for bis attendance at the co-

ronation, but died 17th December that year, aged 65. He
was twice married. 15y his first wife he had four sons and

two daughters, .ind by his second, four sons and five daugh-

ters.

George, Lord Seton, tlie eldest son, was, in May 1615,

imiirisoned in the ToUmoth of Kdinburgh fitr his loyalty, fined

XtO.OOO Scots, and in July following ordered to sell as much

of the baronies of Winchburgli and Niddrie, Linlithgowshire,

belonging to the family, as would discharge the fine. He
joined the marquis of Montrose after the battle of Kilsyth in

August the same year, and was made prisoner at the defeat

of the royalists at Philiphaugh the following month. He
was confined first at St. Andrews, .and afterwards in the ca.s-

tle of Edinburgh, but was liberated on liis father giving a

bond of £100,000 Scots for his appearance when called. He
died at Seton, 4th June 1648, aged thirty-five. By his wife,

Lady Henriet Gordon, second daughter of the second mar-
j

quis of Huntly, and afterwards countess of Traquair, he had
]

George, fourth earl of Wintoun, and three other sons. Two
j

of his lialf-brotliers, Christopher and William, were drowned
j

on the coast of Holland in July 1648; another, the Hon.

Sir John Seton, Garlctoun, was created a baronet 9th De-

cember 1664, and died in February 1686. His grandson.

Sir John Seton of Garletoun, engaging in the rebellion of

1715, was taken at Preston 13th October that year, and died

at Versailles, Dth March 1769. This family still subsists in

the male line, though dispossessed of the estate. Lord Se-

ton, youngest brother of the Hon. Robert Seton of Windy-

goul, was created a baronet 24tli JanuaiT 1G71, but died

without is.sue before 26th February 1672.

George, fom-th earl of Wintoun, succeeded his grandfather

in 1650, being then about ten years of age. Notwithstand-

ing his youth, a fine of ±'2,000 was imposed on him by Crom-

well's act of grace and pardon in 1054. He afterwards tra-

velled into France, and was in the French army at the siege

of Besan^on. On his return liome by England, he was

sworn a privy councillor to Charles II. In 1G66 he com-

nuanded the East Lothian regiment at the defeat of the

Covenanters at Pentland, and also in 1679 at the battle of

Bothwell Bridge. He afterwards entertained the duke of

Monmouth and his oflicers at Seton. In 1682 he was ap- ,

pointed slierifr of Haddingtonshire, and in Jlay of the same

year he accompanied the duke of York from London to Scot-

land, when the ship was lost. In 1685 he went with his

regiment against the e.arl of Argyle. A charter was granted

to him 31st July 1G86 of the earldom of Wintoun, to him

and the heirs male of his body, wliich failing, to whichever

person he might nomin.ate and the heirs m.ale of their bodies,

with remainder to his heirs male, and failing these to his

nearest heirs and assigns whatsoever, the eldest daughter or

lieir female succeeding without division, and marrying a gen-

tleman of the name of Seton, or who .should .assume the name

and carry the arms of the family of Wintoun. He died 6th

March 1704.

His son, George, fifth earl, w.is abroad at the time of his

fatlier's death, .and it was not known where he resided, as he

corresponded with no person in Scotland. H.aving been born

several years before the marriage of his parents, and the vis- I
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count of Kingston, the next heir, douhting his legitimacy,

the earl in 1710 took tlie proper steps fur serving liimself

heir to his father. At the breaking out of the rebellion of

1715, his lordship, on the evening of the lltli October, with

fourteen attendants, joined the viscount Kenmure at Moifat,

wliere tlie latter had that day proclaimed the Chevalier St.

George as James VIII. The force under Kenmure formed ii

junction with the English insurgents under General Forster

near Kelso on the 19th October. A council of war was there

held to deliberate on the course to be pursued, at which the

earl of Wintoun strongly urged that they should march into

the west of Scotland, to reduce Dumfries and Glasgow, and

thereafter to form a junction with the western clans under

General Gordon, to open a communication with the earl of

Mar, and threaten the duke of Argyle's rear. It was, how-

ever, agreed, on the urgent representations of the Northum-

berland gentlemen, that they should cross the borders and

march through Cumberland and Westmoreland into Lanca-

shire, where the Jacobite interest was very powerful, and

where they expected to be joined by great numbers of the

people. The Highlanders at first refused to march into Eng-

land, and separating themselves, took up a position on Haw-

ick moor, on which the English oflkers threatened to sur-

round them with what cavalry they had, and compel them

to march. Exasperated at this menace, the Highlanders

cocked their pistols, and told them that if they were to be

made a sacrifice, they would prefer being destroyed in their

own country. By the interposition of the earl of Wintoun a

reconciliation was effected, and the insurgents resumed their

march. Rather, however, than advance into England, about

500 of the Highlanders set off in a body to the north. The

earl of Wintoun, who was quite opposed to crossing the bor-

ders, also went off, with his adherents; but being overtaken

by a messenger, who was despatched after him to remon-

str.ite with him for abandoning his friends, he consented to

return, and immediately rejoined the army. When overta-

I ken, he drew up his horse, and after a momentary pause, as

j

if reflecting on the judgment which posterity would form of

I

his conduct, observed, with chivalrous feeling, that history

j
should not have to relate of him that he deserted King

James' interest or his country's good
;

but, with a deep pre-

sentiment of the danger of the course his associates were

about to pursue, he added, " You," addressing the messen-

ger, " or any man, shall have liberty to cut these (laying hold

of his own ears as he spoke) out of my head if we do not all

repent it." At the battle of Preston he had the command of a

party of gentlemen volunteers who were drawn up in the

churchyard ; hut on the surrender of the insurgents he was

taken prisoner, 14 th November. On the meeting of pai-lia-

ment on the 9th January 1716, he and Lords Derwentwater,

Nithsdale, Garnwath, and Kenmure were impeached of high

treason, and on their being brought from the Tov/er on the

19th, they all pleaded guilty except the carl of Wintoun,

who petitioned for a longer time to give in his answers. On

I

various pretences he got his trial postponed till the 15th

JIarch, when, after a trial which occupied two days, he was

found guilty, and received sentence of death. He found

means to escape out of the Tower of London, 4th August fol-

lowing, and immediately fled to France. He died, unmar-

ried, at Rome, lOtli December 1749, aged upwards of 70.

In 1840 the earl of Eglinton was served "nearest and law-

ful heir male general, and also nearest and lawful heir male

j

of provision to George, fourth earl of Wiiitoun," the eleventh

I Lord Seton, and also Lord Tranent. This service took place

before the sheriff' of Edinburgh, and a distinguished jurv,

composed of members of the peerage, several of the judges of

the court of session, and of baronets and gentlemen eminent- i

j

ly qualified for legal and genealogical investigation.
j

j

The evidence laid before the jury was prepared in the
j

same strict and elaborately comprehensive manner as if it
i

had been necessary to submit it to the scrutiny of a Com-
mittee of Privileges in the House of Lords. Lord Eglinton

produced the most .ample and satisfactory proof, not only

of his own propinquity, and of the extinction of all who were

entitled to succeed before him, but also of the extinction of

every collateral male descendant, remote as well as immedi-

.ite, of any of the parties who could in any way have laid

claim to the honours preferably to his lordship. A printed

abstract of the whole of the documentary evidence, which
j

\ras of great length, was, along with a detailed genealogical

table, laid before the jury, who thus judicially ascertained

his right to the male representation of the house of Wintoun,

and consequently to the dignities of earl of Wintoun, Lord

Seton .and Tranent, and the other honours which were so

long held by that noble family.

Although Lord Eglinton derives his descent in the Jlont-

gomerie line from ancestors of Norman origin, and through

names distinguished in the battles of Hastings and of Otter-

burn, and by virtue of that descent enjoys the Eglinton hon-

ours and estates,—iu lineal male descent from a period

equally remote, and through a line of loyal and patriotic an-
j

cestors, his fanuly name is also that of Seton, and he is the
|

head of the numerous noble and eminent families who claim '

{

to be descended from the Setons in the male line.
1

1

The Wintoun honours, destined in the first instance to '

I

heirs male, were forfeited by the fifth earl, in consequence of I

being engaged in the rebellion of 1715. This attainder had

the effect of forfeiting absolutely the estates to the crown.
I

But, as settled by the judgment of the House of Lords, in
|

the case of Gordon of Park, adjudged by Lord Hardwicke,
|

and recognised in many subsequent cases, the riglit to the
j

honours was only in abeyance during the existence of the

attainted earl, .and the heirs entitled to succeed under the
;

same substitution with himself. Accordingly, the right to
'

'

the honours, which was merely suspended for a time, revived
!

in the collateral branch of Eglinton, in consequence of the
j

failure of all the prior branches in the direct Wintoun line.
j

|

The representation of the family of Wintoun devolved upon

the earl of Eglinton in consequence of the marriage in 1582

of Robert the first earl of Wintoun with Lady Jlargaret

Montgomerie, eldest daughter of Hugh third earl of Eglinton.

Of that marriage the third son, Sir Alexander Seton of Foul-

strouther, was adopted into the family,—became sixth earl of

Eglmton, and in 1G15 obtained royal grants and contirma- •

tions of the estates and honours of Montgomerie. The pres-

ent earl of Eglinton is the heir male of the body of this Sir
|

Alexander Seton, aCterw.ards earl of Eglinton, and in conse-
[

quence of the failure of the direct Wintoim line by the death I

j

of Robert the eldest brother without issue, and of all the male
j

;

descendants of George the next or immediate elder brother of
j

j

Sir Alexander, Lord Eglinton is also the lineal male repre-

sentative of the family of Seton. (See Seton, Lord.) i

WiSHAKT. Of this surname we have the following ac-
i

count in Nisbet's Ileraldri/, (vol. i. p. 204): "J.acobVan

Basson, a Dane, in his manuscript says, that one Robert, a

natural son of David earl of Huntingtoun, being in the wars

iu the Holy Land, was to-named Guishart, from the slaugh-

ter he made on the S.iracens: and from him were descended

the families of the name of Wishart. Sir James Dalrymple,

in his Collections, says, that he has seen a charter granted by

Gilbert Umfr.ivile, earl of Angus, to Adam Wishart of Logie,
!
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iiiiiio 1272. Sir Gooi-f;e Mackenzie, in his MS. says, tlie

cliiuf of tliis name was Lm il I'riclien, wliose succession failed,

ill a (kuiglitei- inan-ied willi tlie old cari of Angus; for which

tlic Douglases, earls of Angus, sliU quarter tlioso arms with

their own; and the other families of the name, were Wish-

.arts of I.ogie and Pittarro. Both tlie.se families arc e.xtinct.

Doctor George Wisliart, sometime bishop of Edinburgh, was

descended of Logic. Mr. George Wishart, who was martyred

for the Protestant religion, was of Pittarro. Tlic barony of

Logic was again purchased by Mr. .lolin Wi.sbart, one of the

commissioners of Edinburgli, nephew to the bishop, and

great-grandson to Sir John Wi.shart of Logic." The name,

liowevei', is Xorman, originally Guiscard.

WISHART, Gi'.OKGE, one of tlie lirst martyrs

for tliG Protestant religion ia Scothiiid, is sii])posed

to have been tlie .son of James Wishart of Pitar-

I'liu, ill the Mearns, jiisticc-cierk to James V.,

and was borii in tlic early part of the sixteenth

centuiy. His brother, Sir Jolin AVishart of Pit-

arrow, also took an netivc part in promotiiiic the

Refornntioii, and in lbG'2, was appointed eoiiip-

troller of tlie ministers' jnoney. Buchanan,

erroneously imagining the snriiame to be A\'ise-

he.irt, has given him the classical name of Snpho-

caidius, while Knox calls him Wischard, which is

more akin to tlie original. In the early part of

his life he ^^as sent to the university of Aberdeen,

then recently founded, and, after completing his

ac.ademicnl (>ducation, as was customary wiili

youtlis of family in those days, lie went to travel

on the continent, and passed some time in Frnncc

and Germany. It is supposed that he imbibed

the doctrines of the Reformation from some of the

Pieformers themselves in the latter country. On

his return home, he obtained a knowledge of the

(Ireek language at Jlontrose, which was the first

tnwn in Scotland where the Greek was taught.

He afterwards succeeded his master as teacher

tliere, but having put into the hands of liis scho-

lars the Greek New Testament, the bishop of

Rrechiii sr.mmoned liini to appear before him on a

charge of heresy, wliicii induced hini to retire into

England for safety in lo.'jS. Repairing to tiie

university of Cambridge, he entered himself a

student of Bene't or Corpus Christi college, Avliere

he resided for nearly six 3'ears, devoting himself

to study, and diligently preparing himself for the

work of the ministry. An interesting description

<if him during liis residence in that university,

written by Emery Tylnc}', one of liis pupils, is in-

serted in Fox's Martyrology, and in most acc<uints

of liis life. He retnrned to Scotland in July 1543,

in the train of the coinmissioners who had gone

to England to negotiate a treaty nilh Henry

VHI. Immediately after his arrival he began to

preach publicly at ^Montrose, and his great ac- '

quirenicnts, liis persuasive eloquence, his talerits
j

and devoted piety, drew large audiences to hear

him both there and at Dundei', whilher he after-
|

wards proceeded. In the latter town the mnlti-
|

tndes that followed him alarmed the Popish clergy
j

so much, tlnit Cardinal Ik'thune prevailed on one
\

of the magistrates, named Robert ]\Iill, to serve
|

him with a mandate to leave the town, and tron-
j

ble the people no longer. On lieariiig it read,
!

A\'isliart exclaimed, " (Jod is niy witness that I
j

never sought yonr trouble, but your comfort
;

j'ca,
j

your trouble is more dolorous to me than to your- I

selves. But I am assured that to refuse God's I

word, and to chase from you his messenger, shall

nothing preserve you from trouble, but shall bring

3-ou into it; for God shall send you messengers
j

who will not be afraid of burning, nor yet of ban-
j

ishment. Should trouble unlookcd for come upon
I

you, acknowledge the cause, and turn to God, for
j

he is merciful." He then removed to the west of

Scdtland, and resumed his labours in the town of
[

Ayr, where he preached for some time witli great !

iVccdom and faithfulness. Shorth' after his arri- !

val, the archbishop of Glasgow, instigated by Be-
j

tlinne, hastened to Ayr, and seized upon the
!

church in which the Reformer was about to preach.

.•\p])rchensive of Wisliart's danger, the earl of

Glencairn, and some other gentlemen of the neigh-

bourhood, hun-ied to the town for his protection,
j

and would straightway have proceeded to eject
j

;

the intruders by force, had not Wishart himself
jj

interfered to prevent bloodshed. " Let him alone,"
,

he said to the earl, referring to the arclibislio]), i

" his sermon will not much hurt ; let ns go to the
j

market-cross."' This was aecordingly done, and
i

tiiere he ]ireaclied to a numerous auditory.
j

Continuing his labours in Kyle, Wishart fre-
j

quently preached in the parishes of Galston and

Bar. He was also invited to preach at j^Ianch-
j

line, and had repaired thither for the purpose, I

when he found that the sheriff of A\-r, ;\ith a
,1

band of soldiers, had taken possession of the
'

church. Some of Wisliart's friends urged him to \i
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enter the church at all hazards, and showed them-

selves eager for an encounter with those wlio were

within, but he mildly remarked, that " Christ Je-

sus is as potent in tlie fields as in the kirk ; and I

find that himself oftener preached in the desert, at

tiie sea-side, and other places judged profane, than

he did in the temple at Jerusalem. It is the word

of peace which God sends by me : the blood of no

man sliall be shed this day on account of preach-

ing it." They then repaired without the village

to the edge of a muir, where Wishart, with a

dyke for his pulpit, preached for more than three

hours to a most attentive audience. By this ser-

mon a gentleman was converted, who, for his bold

depravity, was commonly known by the title of

"the wicked laird of Shiel." While thus em-

ployed in Ayrshire, the Reformer received intelli-

gence that a contagious distemper raged witii

great violence in Dundee, and that the inhabi-

tants, calling to mind his awful prediction, with

its speedy accomplishment, weie anxious for his

return. In spite of the remonstrances of his

friends, he resolved without delay to share in their

calamity and danger, and, as soon as he reached

Dundee, he collected the people together, and

preached to them at the East Port, the health_y

sitting within the gate, while the infected took

their station without. Besides the laborious work

of frequent preaching, he toiled incessantly for

their recover}', exposing himself fearlessly every

hour to the hazard of contagion, by visiting the

sick, providing necessaries for such as were in

want, and carrying spiritual consolation to the

dying.

No sooner had Bethune been informed that

Wishart was again in Dundee, than he resolved

upon taking him otf by assassination, and a priest

named Sir John Wighton, or Wightman, was se-

lected for the purpose. The latter accordingly

repaired to Dundee, entered the church where

Wishart was preaching, and, with a drawn dag-

ger ill his hand which he concealed within his

frock, stationed liimself at the foot of the pulpit

stairs until the Reformer should descend. At the

conclusion of the service, when Wishart was in

tiie act of coming down, his quick eye fell upon the

]>urposed assassin, and at a glance he detected the

sus])iciousness of his attitude. Seizing the arm of

the priest, he drew his hand forth from its con-

cealment, and secured the weapon, while the vil-

lain, overcome by the suddenness of the detection,

fell down on his knees at his feet, and confessed

his guilt}' intention. An uproar of alarm burst

forth from the congregation, and the people, rush-

ing upon Wighton, would have torn him in pieces

had not the Reformer himself interposed. Clasp-

ing the priest in his arms, he exclaimed, " Let

him alone ; he hath hurt me in nothing, but has

given us to understand what we may fear. For

the time to come we will watch better." Tlie

trembling culprit was then allowed to depart un-

harmed. Thenceforth a two-handed sword was

generally carried before him ; and the oifice of

bearing it, during his visit to Lothian in the latter

part of his life, was conferred upon John Knox,

who, at that period, was a constant attendant

upon him.

When the pestilence had subsided in Dundee,

Wishart removed to Montrose, where he not only

preached publicl}% but administered the sacrament

of the Lord's Supper to the adherents of the Ref-

ormation. At this time his caution, and a provi-

dential presentiment of impending danger, enabled

him to escape being assassinated by a party of

armed men which Bethune had placed in ambus-

cade in the neighbourhood of the town. "I

know," he said on this occasion to his friends,

" that I shall end my life by that bloodthirstj'-

man's hands, but it shall not be in this manner."

Frequently after this he intimated, both in his

sermons and in conversation, that he would soon

be summoned to seal his testimony by a death of

martyrdom. At the same time he cheered his

friends with the prospect of glorious days that

were yet to come, assui'ing them that, though all

was then so dark and unpromising, Scotland would

be illuminated throughout with the light of Christ's

gospel, as no country had ever been before. While

at Montrose, he received a letter from the friends

of the Reformation in Ayrshire, desiring liira to

meet them at Edinburgh in December, that he

might appear before a convocation of the clergy,

and be publicly heard in defence of the doctrines

which he taught. They promised to him to de-

mand a free conference from the bishops on mat-

ters of religion, and assured him of their protec-
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tion. He accoi-diiigly proceeded through Fife,

and arrived at Leith early in December 1545. To

his great mortification, lie found that lii.s friends

from the west had not come fiir\\ard, nor was

there any appearance of their being on the way.

After waiting a few days, he ventured to preach

in Leitli, and among the auditory u ere Knox, and

the lairds of Languiddry, Oi-niiston, and Bi uns-

ttm, and otlier gentlemen from East Lothian,

Deeming it ailvisablc for his safely that he should

remove from Leith, accompanied by his fiiends,

he repaired to Inveresk, near Musselburgh, where

he preached twice to large audiences. The two

following Sabbaths he pi-eaclied at Tranent, and

t

gave distinct intimation that his ministi-y was

: drawing near a close, lie next went to Had-

dington, where he preached to a soniewl at nu-

merous audience. On the following day he again

])i'eaclied, Ijnt through the influence of the earl of

Bothwell, sherilf of East Lothian, who had been

commissioned by Cardinal Bethune to apprehend

him, the niindiers present on the second day did

imt exceed a hundred. The third day, when he

w.is about to j)ieach, a buy came to him with a

i letter from friends in the west, explaining their

inability to keep the apjiointment tliey had made

I with him. He handed the letter to Knox, now

his constant attendant, remarking that he was

weary of the world. It was so nnusual for him to

S|)eak of anything else in the prospect of preach-

ing, that Knox was surprised, and after i-eniind-

iug him that the hour of worship was at hand,

he withdrew, ^^'isllart paced up and down be-

hind the high altar tor nearly half-an-hour, in

gieat anguish of sjiirit. On ascending the pulpit

he exclaimed, " O Lord, how long shall it be that

thy liolj' Word shall be despised, and men shall

not regard their own salvation !
" And turning to

the people he added—" I have heard of thee,

Haddington, that in tiiee there would have been

at a vain play two or three thousand people, and

now to hear God's messenger one hundred persons

cannot be brought together. Sore and fearfid

shall thy plagues be because of thy contempt for

the gospel. Fire and sword shall reach tliee

—

strangers shall possess thee, and thine own inhab-

itants shall be driven forth, or made to serve in

j

bondage." And thus he continued, sajs Knox,

for nearly an hour and a half describing what af-

terwards occurred. At last he said—"I have

forgotten myself, but let these my last words, as

regards preaching, remain with you till God send

you comfort," and so he proceeded with his ser-

mon. This fearful prediction was fulfilled in 1548,

two years afterwards, when the English took pos-

session of the town, and ravaged all the neigh-

bouring country.

There is no authentic portrait of George 'Wish-

art. The descri]ition of him by Emery Tilney,

"sometime liis scholar," referred to on page GGI,

connneuces thus: "About the }ear of our Lord

154o, there was in the university of Cambridge one

Mr. George Wishart, commonly culled Mr. George

of Bennet's College, who was a man of tall statin'e,

polde-headed, and on the same a round Frenchc

cappe of the best; judged of melancholic com-

plexion by his pliysiognomy
;
black-haired, long-

bearded, comely of personage, well sjjoken after

his countiy of Scotland, courteous, lowlie, lovelie,

glad to teach, desirous to learn, and was well tra-

velled; having upon him for his habit or clothing,

never but a mantle tViese gown to the shoes, a

black Milan fustian doublet, and plain black hosen,

coarse new canvas for his shirts, and white falling i

bands, and cnifs at the hands. All the which ap-

parel he gave to the i)oor, some weekly, some

monthly, some quarterly, as he liked, saving his

French cap, which he kept the whole year of my

being with him. He was a man modest, temper-

ate, fearing God, and hating covetousness."

On departing from Haddington for the house

of Cockburn of Orniiston, where he was to spend

the night, John Knox, his devoted scholar and

sword-bearer, earnestly entreated leave to ac-

company him, but this AVishart refused. " Xay,

return to your bairns," he said, meaning his

pupils, " and Goil bless you ; ane is suflicient

for a sacrifice." He then took from him the two-

handed sword, as if his office were at an end, and

dismissed him. The frost at this time was severe,

and therefore he and his friends, namely the laird

of Ormiston, young Sandilands of Calder, and the

laird of Brunston, with their servants, had to pro-

ceed to Ormiston on foot. After supper he spoke

for a little of the death of the righteous ; but get-

ting sleepy, he sung with them the 51st Psalm
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according to the old Scottish version, beginning

" Have mercy on me no\v, good Lord. After thy

gi'eat mercy;" and retired saying, "God grant

quiet rest." After the family had gone to sleep, at

midnight they were aroused with a violent knock-

ing, and on looking out they found that the house

was surrounded witli a powerful force, command-

ed bj' the earl of Bothwell. Cockburn and his

friends refused at first to deliver Wishart up, but

Bothwell solemnly assured them that no harm

was intended, and that, sliould any violence be

offered to Wishart, he would himself interpose for

his safety. Anxious to avoid bloodshed, Wisliart

commanded the gates to be opened, adding, " the

will of God be done!" He was borne away a

prisoner, and conveyed to Elphinston Hall, tlie

ruins of which may still be seen about a mile and

a half from Ormiston. Here the cardinal was in

waiting, and Bothwell treacherously forfeited his

plighted troth, by sm-rendering him into hisliands.

"From that time forth," says Pitscottie, with

honest indignation, " tlie Earl Bothwell prospered

never, neither anj^ of his affairs."

After having been confined for more than a

month in irons in the sea-tower of St. Andrews,

Wishart was brought to trial before a convocation

of the prelates and clergy, assembled for tlie pur-

pose in tlie Cathedral. On this occasion every

form of law, justice, and decency, was disregard-

ed. The prisoner was not allowed a patient hear-

ing, but was treated witli ever}' species of con-

tumely and reproach. He was condemned to

deatli as an obstinate heretic, and next day,

JMarch 1, 154G, he was burnt at the stake on the

Castle Green. His hands were tied behind him

—there was a chain round liis middle, and a rope

about his neck, and he wns surrounded by milita-

ry guards. On approacliing tlie fire lie knelt

down, and, after rising, he repeated the following

words tliree times :
—" O thou Saviour of the

world, have mercy upon me. Father of heaven,

I commend my spirit into thy ]\o]y hands." And

turning to the people lie said—-"Brethren and

sisters, I bcseecli you tliat j-e take not offence

at tlic AVord on account of the torments wliich

3'e see prepared for me. Love tlie Word of

God. Suffer patiently for the Word's sake, and

it will prove your everlasting comfort. Exhort
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also brethren and sisters wlio have often heard me

elsewhere, tliat they fall not away because of per-

secution. Show them that my doctrine was not

of men. Had it been of men, I should have had

their thanks. It is because it was the true gos-

pel given me by the grace of God, that I this da}'

suffer, not sorrowfully, but with a glad heart. It

was for this cause I was sent among you. It was

to suffer this fire for Christ's sake. LooTc at me,

and ye shall not find my countenance to change.

This grim fire I fear not. And so. I pray you also

not to fear them that can slay the body, but have

no power to slay the soul. Some have alleged

that I taught concerning the soul that it shall

sleep till the last day. On the contrary, I know

most surely that my soul shall sup with my Savi-

our this night, even with him for whom I am now

to suffer." He then prayed for his accusers thus :

" I beseech thee. Father of heaven, to forgive such

as have ignorantly, or even of evil mind, forged

lies against me. I forgive them witli allni}' heart.

I beseecli Christ also to forgive sucli as have tliis

day ignorantly condemned me to death." And

turning again to the people, he added—"I be-

seecli you, brethren and sisters, to exhort your

prelates to learn God's word, that thej' may at

least be ashamed to do evil, and learn to do well.

And if they turn not, the wi-atli of God will come

upon them suddenly. They shall not escape."

Tlie executioner now craved his forgiveness.

" Come hitlier, my heart," said he, and kissing

his cheek, added, "take this as a token that I

forgive thee. Do thine office." He was tlien

suspended from the gibbet over the fire, b}- the

chain round his middle; and after he had been

also strangled by the rope round his neck, his body

was burned to ashes, amidst the sighs and groans

of the spectators. Apprehensive lest a rescue

should be attempted, Bcthune had commanded

all the artillery of the castle to be pointed

towards the place of execution, and the gun-

ners also were stationed by their guns with their

matches ready, so that immediate execution

might be done against aiw who should attempt

a rescue, wliile himself, with tlie other pre-

lates, reclining in luxurious pomp, witnessed

the melancholy spectacle with exultation. In

most accounts of Wisliart's martyrdom, it is men-

664
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tioned, that, looking towards the cardinal, he pre-

dicted " that he who from yonder i)lace ([)ointing

to the tower where Betliune sat) beholdeth us

with such undaunted pride, shall, 'withiii a few

days, lie in tiie same as ignominiously as now he

is seen proudly to rest," a jjrediction which was

literally fidlilled within three months after, by tlie

violent death of his persecutor.

WISIIART, Gkorgi;, a learned jirelate of the

famil}' of Logy in Forfarshire, was born in I'last

Tvothiau in 1G09. lie studied at the university of

Ivlinburgh, where he took his degrees. Entering

into holy^ orders, he became one of the ministei's

of St. Andrews, or, according to Keith, of Xorth

Leitli. For his refusal to take the Covenant he

A\as deposed in 1C3S; and having been subse-

quently detected in a correspondence witli the

lloyalists, lie was plundered of all his goods, which

happened oflener than once, and imprisoned in the

"Thieves' Hole" of the Tolbooth of Edinburgh.

^Visllart himself tells us that for his attachment to

Iloyalty and Ejiiscopaey he three times suffered

impris(jnment and exile. At the surrender, in

October 1G44, of the town of Newcastle, where he

had been officiating in his clerical character, he

was taken prisoner by the Scottisli army, and in

the following Januarj^ when again confined in

Ivlinburgh Tolbooth, he petitioned the Estates for

maintenance to himself, his wife, and five chil-

dren. A few months thereafter, when the mar-

quis of ]\Iontrose arrived at Edinburgh with his

victorious army, "Wishart obtained his liberty.

He afterwards became chaplain to IMontrose, in

which capacit}' he accom]ianied him to the conti-

nent. He wrote, in Ealin, an Account of the Ex-

ploits of I^Iontrose, published at Paris in lG-i7.

This was tiie book which was hung round the hit-

ter's neck at his execution. He subsequently

wrote a continuation, bringing down ]\Iontrose's

History till his death, a transhition of which was

published, with the first part, in 1720. A supe-

rior version of (he ^\hole, with a strong Jacobite

preface, was published at Edinburgh by the Rud-

dimans in 175G, reprinted by Constable in 181',).

After the death of ^Munlrose, Wishart was ap-

pointed chaplain to Elizabeth, the Electrcss-pala-

tiue, sister to Cliarles T., whom he accompanied

to England in IGGO, when she came to visit her

roj-al nephew. Soon after he had the rectory of

Newcastle-upon-'Iyne conferred upon him ; and
'

on the establishment of I'.piscopacy in Scotland,
j

was consecrated bishop of ICdiuburgh, June 1,
]

1GG2. He died in 1671, and was buried in Holy-
j

rood Abbey, under a magnificent tomb, M'itli a
j,

long Latin inscription. Bishop Keith speaks of
j

him as " a jierson of great l eligion." " He juib-
I

lislied somewhat in divinity," says AVodrow,
|

(tliougli he does not cite his authority.) "luit then

I find it remarked, by a very good hand, his las-
j

civious poems, compared with which the most lus-
!

eious jiarts of Ovid de Arte Aniaiuli are nu)dest,

gave scandal to all the world." It is recorded to
j

AMsiiart's honour, that he exerted himself to ob-

tain a jiardon for some of the persecuted Cove-

nanters; and that, remembering his own dismal li

case in prison, he was always careful to send from

his own table the lirst share of his dinnrr to the

Presbyterian prisoners.

WITHEKSPOOX, John-, D.D., and LL.D.,

an eminent divine and theological \\riter, was
^

born, February 5, 1722, in the parish of Yester,
j

Haddingtonshire, of which parish his father was '

minister, lie is saitl to have been a lineal de-
!

sccndant of John Knox. After receiving the first
'

part of his education at the public school of Had-
j

dington, he was, at the age of fourteen, sent to
j

the university of Edinburgh, and having, with
j

great credit to himself, passed through the usual

course of study there, he was, in his twenty-first

year, licensed to preach the gospel. He acted for

a short time as assistant to his father, whose sue-
\

cessor he was appointed, but in 1744 he was pre-
;

sented, b)' the carl of Eglinton, to the parish of I

Beith, of which he was ordained minister in the
j

fallowing year. In 1753 he published, anonymous-

ly, his 'Ecclesiastical Characteristics, or the Al-

cana of Church Policy,' a biting satire, levelled

at tlie Moderate section of tiic church. No pub-
'

licatioii of the period was read with more avidity,
j

(u- hit iiKu-e severely the ]iarty against wliom it

was aimed. Dr. Warburton, the celebrated bish-

op of Gloucester, has mentioned the ' Characteris-

tics ' with jiarticular appi-obation, and expressed

his wish tliat the Church of ICugland had such a

corrector. Soon after he juiblislied a 'Serious

Apology' for the ' Characleristics,' in which he
|
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acknowledged himself to be the autiiur. Tlils

work, and his active conduct in the church courts,

procured for him so much influence among the po-

pular or evangelical clergy, that he soon came to

be recognised as their leader ; and to him his

party were, at first, principally indebted for that

concentration of views and union of design, and

system of operation, which ultimately enabled

them to defeat their adversaries. One day, after

carrying in the General Assembly some important

questions against Dr. Robertson, the head of the

Moderates, the latter said to him in his quiet man-

ner, " I think you have your men better disci-

plined than formerly." " Yes," replied Wither-

spoon, " by urging your politics too far, you have

compelled us to beat you with your own weapons."

In 1756 he published, at Glasgow, his admira-

ble essay on the ' Connection between the Doc-

trine of Justification by the imputed Righteous-

ness of Christ, and Holiness of Life and in 1767

appeared his ' Serious Inquiry' into the Nature and

Effects of the Stage.' In the latter year he ac -

cepted an invitation from Paisley, and accordingly

became minister of the Low Church of that town.

During his residence there he obtained a high

character for his learning, his eloquence, and suc-

cess as a preacher, and for the excellence of his

writings ; and received invitations from congrega-

tions in Dublin, Dundee, and Rotterdam, all of

which he rejected. In 1764 he obtained the de-

gree of D.D., and the same ycdv published at

London, in 3 vols., his 'Essays on Important

Subjects, intended to establish the Doctrine of

Salvation by Grace, and to point out its influence

on Holiness of Life,' with the ' Ecclesiastical

Characteristics ' appended.

His rcjiutation having reached America, he was

offered, by the trustees of the college of Prince-

town, New Jersey, the situation of president of

that institution ; which he at first declined, but,

on a second application, accepted the appoint-

ment. His farewell sermon to his congregation at

Paisley was preached, April 16, 1768, and imme-

diately afterwards published, under the title of

' Ministerial Fidelity, in declaring the whole Coun-

sel of God.' The same year he also published at

Glasgow, 'Discourses on Practical Subjects,' and

at Edinbui'gh, ' Practical Discourses on the Lead-

ing Truths of the Gospel.' He arrived at Prince-

town in the following August, and immediately
!

entered on his new duties. Under his administra-

tion the college of New Jersey rapidly increased
|

in reputation and prosperity ; the general inter-
|

ests of education, throughout America, also de-
j

rived great benefit from his exertions, as he was
I

careful to introduce, into the system of instruc-

tion, every important improvement which was
|

known in Europe. His portrait is subjoined.

During the re\ oiutionary war, he took a decid-

ed part in favour of the insurgents ; and a politi-

cal sermon which he jjreached on May 17, 1776,

on the occasion of a general Fast ordered by Con-

gress, was afterwards published under the title of

' Tlie Dominion of Providence over the passions of

Men.' Soon after he was elected, by the citizens

of New Jerse}', their representative in the Con-

gress of the United States, of which he was seven

years a member. In the early part of 1783, after

America had obtained her independence, he re-

turned to the college of Princetown, and resumed

his duties as president. In 1785 he paid a short

visit to his native country, with the view of pro-

curing subscriptions for the institution over which

he presided, but was not very successful in his
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object. On his return to Priiicetowu lie continued

to preach und lecture in the college till liis death,

wliicii happened November 15, 179-1, in the sev-

enty-third year of his age, having been, for the

last two years of his life, alllirted w ith blindness.

His funeral sciniun uas i>reaclied by the Rev. D.

Rodgers, senior minister of the United Presbyte-

rian churches in the city of N'ew York.

His works are :

Ecck'siiistical Cluinicleriitic:;, or (lie .Aroaua of Cliurcli Po-

licy. 1753.

Serious ApoIo;;_v for llie (^liaractcristics.

Ks.say on tlie Coniu'ctioii between tlie Doctrine of Justifi-

cation, by tlie imputed liisjlUeousness of Christ, and Holiness

of Life; witli some Reflections upon the Reception wliich

that Doctrine liatli generally met with in the world: To

which is preli.xed, A Letter to the Rev. Jlr. .lames Hervey,

.Author of riieron and .Aspasio. Kdin. 175G, 12mo.

Serious Inquiry into the Nature aiul Kfl'ccts of the Stage.

K.jT.

Sermon on Malth. vii. 20. 17u!), 12m<>.

Essavs on Iinp'ortant Suljects; intended to establisli the

Doctrine of Salvation by grace, and to point ont its influence

on Holiness of Life; with the Ecclesiastical Characteristics

ap])ended. Loud. 17C1, 3 vols. 12mo.

i\Iiinstcrial I'idelity, in declaring the whole Counsel of

God: a Sermon. 1708.

Discourses on Practical Snlijects. Glasg. 17(i8.

Practical Discourses on the Leading Truths of the Gospel.

Edin. 17G8, 12mo.

The Dominion of Providence over the Passions of Jlen ; a

I

Fast Sermon; on Psal. l.\xvi. U\ 1775, 8vo.

Fast Sermon ; on Isa. li. I). 1778, 8vo.

An Address to the Natives of Scotland ivsiding in Ameri-

ca, being an .Appendix to a Sermon preached at I'rincetown,

&c. 1778, 8vo.

Sermons on Regeneration. 12nio.

"\VODR()^^^ RoiiLnr, an eminent divine and

ecclesiastical historian, was born at Glasgow in

1679. He was the second stni of the Rev. James

Wodrow, [nofessor of divinity in the university of

that city, a faitliful and pious minister of the

Church of Scotland, whose life, written by his son,

the subject of this notice, after remaining long in

manuscript, was i)ublished at Edinbm-gh in 18:^8.

His mother's ntime was ^largaret Hair, daughter

of AVilliam Hair, ]n'oprietor of a small estate in

the parish of Kilbarchaii, a woman of great strength

of mind, discretion, and i)iety. In 16'Jl he was

entered a student in the university of his native

to« n, and after passing through tlie ustial curri-

culum of stud}-, he became a student of theology

under his lather. \Vhile tittemling the divinity

class, he was appointed librarian to the university,

a situation which he held for four years. The un-

usual talent wliich lie had early displayed for his-

torical and bibliogr.ipliical inquiry had recom-

mended him as a person pccidiarly qualified for

the office, and, wiiile lie hchl it, lu' prosecuted with

ardour his researches into everything connected

with the ecclesiastical and literary history and

aiiti(iuilies of his native country. At this period

he imbibed also a taste fur the study of natural

history, then scarcely known in Scotland, and was

in habits of friendship ami coiTespoiuleiicc with

mtiiiy eminent men both in Scotland and England.

But all these pursuits were c:ircfully kept subor-

dinate to his princiinil oliject, the study of tlieo-

log}' and the practical application of its principles.

On leaving college he went to reside for some

time ill the house of a distant relative of the fam-

ily, Sir John IMaxwell of Nether Pollock, then one

of the lords of session
;
and, while here, was, in

i\Iarcli 1703, licensed, b\' the i)resbytery of Pais-

ley, to preach the gospel. In the following sum-

mer the parish of Eastwood, where Lord Pollock

resided, became vacant by the death of ]\Ir. Mat-

thew Crawfurd, author of a History of the Church

of Scotland, which we believe yet remains in man-

uscript. Of this })arish, then one of the smallest

in the west of Scotland, j\Ir. A\'odrow was or-

dained minister, October 28, 170.'!. In this ob-

scure situation he continued all his life, devoting

himself to the discharge of his pastoral duties, and

prosecuting his f;ivourite studies in church history

ami antiquities. In 1712 he had an encouraging

invitation from Glasgow, and in 1717, and again

ill 1726, he was solicited by the people of Stirling

to remove to that town, but he declined these

overtures, preferring to remain at Eastwood. As

a preacher he was one of the most po]uilar of that

day, and so great was his reputation in the west

country, that, on sacramental occasions especially,

vast crowds resorted to Eastwood to hear him

])reach. He was most regular in his attendance

on the several church courts, and was frequentlv

chosen a member of the General Assembly.

.\t the union of the two kingdoms, in 1707, he

was nominated one of the committee of presbytery

appointed to consult and act with the brethren of

the coinmis.-ion at Edinburgh, as to the best means

of averting the evils wliich that measure was sup-

posed to portend to the church and people of Scot-
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land. On the accession of George I. to the throne,

lie was the principal correspondent and adviser of

the five clergymen deputed by the Assembly to go

to London, for the purpose of pleading the rights

of the church, and particul.arl}' to petition for the

immediate abolition of tlie obnoxious law of pa-

tronage. The third volume of his manuscript let-

ters contains several long and able statements and

reasonings on this and collateral topics. He took

a lively interest in all ecclesiastical proceedings,

and kept regular notes of all that passed in tlie

church courts, by which he was enabled to preserve,

in the manuscript records Avhidi he left behind

him, the most authentic and interesting details of

the whole procedure and history of the church,

during his own time, that could have been handed

down to us. In questions involving matters either

of sound doctrine or of discipline and church gov-

ernment, he was invariably found on the popular

side. Yet, although opposed to the law of pa-

tronage, and thorouglil}' convinced of its " unrca-

j

sonableness and unscripturality," he did not think

!
it expedient to resist the execution of that oppres-

sive law, but uniformly inculcated submission to

the civil power, and used his best endeavours to

promote peace and harmony in cases of disputed

settlements.

I His principal work, 'The History of the Suffer-

ings of tlie Church of Scotland from the Restora-

tion to the Revolution,' was published in 1721-22,

in two volumes folio. This important and labori-

ous undertaking he had designed from an earl}'

period of his life, but from 1707 to the time of its

publication, he appears to have devoted all his

leisure hours to it. The work was approved of

and recommended by the General Asscmbh', and

he obtained, in consequence, a most respectable

list of subscribers. It was dedicated to George I.,

and, on its publication, copies of it were present-

ed, by Dr. Fraser, to the king, the queen, and the

prince and princess of Wales, and by them all

most graciously received. His majesty, by an or-

der on the Exchequer of Scotland, dated April

26, 1725, authorized one hundred guineas sterling

to be paid to the author in token of his cordial

approbation.

Wodrow's fidelity as an ecclesiastical historian

gave offence to certain of the noiijuring Episcopa-

lians, and while his book was assailed by the most

scurrilous attacks in public, anonymous and threat-

ening letters were sent to himself, to which, how-

ever, he paid little attention. One of the boldest

attempts to depreciate his labours, and affect his

character for truth and impartialit}', was made hy

Mr. Alexander Bruce, advocate, first in an anon-

ymous tract, entitled 'The Scottish Behemoth

Dissected, in a Letter to Mr. Robert Wodrow,'

&c., Edinburgh, 1722, and next in the preface to

a Life of Archbishop Sharp, published in 1723.

Mr. Bruce, too, in the extreme fervour of his zeal,

announced, in 1724, a great work, which was to

annihilate Wodrow at a blow, to be entitled ' An

Impartial History of the Aflairs in Church and

State in Scotland from the Reformation to the

Revolution,' in 2 vols, folio. His death soon af-

ter, however, prevented liim from making much

progress with the work, which was taken up by

Bishop Keith, who publislied on\y the first volume

in 1734, bringing the histoiy down to 1568.

"Keith's History," says the author of Wodrow's

Life in the Encyclopaedia Britannica, "is only im-

portant as a collection of materials, for the author

was equall}' destitute of acutencss and liberality."

In Mr. Fox's ' History of the Early Pai't of the

Reign of James II.,' that celebrated statesman has

inserted a high eulogium on the fidelity and im-

partiality of Wodrow's work ; a second edition of

which, in a more convenient form than the first,

was published at Glasgow, in 1830, in 4 vols. 8vo,

with a Memoir of the -lutlior prefixed by Robert

Burns, D.D., one of the ministers of Paisley.

Having designed a series of biographical me-

moirs of the more eminent ministers and others of

the Church of Scotland, Mr. Wodrow completed

ten small folio volumes of the work, which, with

four quarto volumes of appendix, are preserved in

manuscript in the library of the university of

Glasgow. A selection from these was made

in 1834, and two volumes printed for the mem-

bers of the Maitland Club, under the title of

' Collections upon the Lives of the Reformers and

most eminent Ministers of the Church of Scotland.'

Besides these Lives, Mr. Wodrow also left be-

hind him six small closely written volumes, under

the general name of ' Analecta,' being a kind of

diary, or note-book, in which he inserted many
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curious notices regarding the ecclesiastical pro-

ceedings and literary intelligence, as well as tlic

ordinary or more remarkable occurrences, of tlie

jjcriod. This vahialile and interesting record,

which comprises an interval of twenty-seven

years, namely, from 1705 to IT.j'J, is jireserved in

tiic Advocates' Library, Edinhni-gli, having be-

come the property of the Faculty of Advocates in

Juno 1828. In 1842 and 1843, Wodrow's ' An-

alecta' was jjrinted for tlie RIaitland Club, by

the earl of Glasgow, then president of the Clnb,

and presented to the members by that nobleman.

Tiie entire work extends to four quarto volumes,

with a comjirehensivo index and suitable illus-

trations.

Tu-enty-fi)ur volumes of his Con-espondence are

also preserved in the Advocates' Library. A por-

tion of his manuscripts, chiefly relating to ecclesi-

astical histoiy, was, in j\fay 1742, purchased by

order of the General Assembly, and now remains

tiie propert}' of the Church. Altogether, his la-

bours and researches have jiroved so peculiarity

useful and valuable in illustrating the ecclesiasti-

cal histniy of his country, that the name of

A\'odro\v was adopted as the designation of a

Society, modelled after the plan of ' The Parker

Society ' of England. The Wodrow Society

was established at Edinbiu'gh, ]\Iay 1841. for

tiic purpose of printing, from the most authen-

tic sources, the best works, many of which still

remain in manuscript, of tlie lu-iginal Reform-

ers, lathers, and early writers of the Church of

Scotland.

I\Ir. AVodi-ow died of a gradual decline, IMarch

21, 17o4, in the 55th year of his age, and was

bui ii d in the churchyard of Eastwood. He had

married, in 1708, Margaret, daughter of the Rev.

Patrick A^'aruer, minister of Irvine, and grand-

daughter of "William (Guthrie, minister of Fen-

Mick, aulhnr (if the well-known practical treatise,

'The Trial of a Saving Interest in Christ.' Of a

family of sixteen children, nine, that is, four sous

and live daughters, with their nu)lhcr, survived

him. His eldest son succeeded him as minister of

Eastwood, but retired from that charge on account

of bad health.

WOOD, SiPw AxDUEW, of Largo, a celebrated

Scottish admiral of the ICth century, is generally

stated to have been born about the middle of the

15th century at the old Kirkton of Largo, Fife-

sliire, and was originally a merchant trader of

Leith. His genius for naval warfare had been

cultivated by his frequent encounters with French,

English, and Portuguese pirates in defence of his

shijts and merchandise. By James III. he was

enqiloj'cd in several warlike and diplomatic mis-

sions, which he executed with fidelity and honour.

He possessed and commaniled U\ o armed vessels,

of about ."00 tons each, called The Flower and the

Yellow Caravel. With these he made voyages to

the Dutch and Ilause towns, whither in those

da^'s the Scots sent wool and hides, bringing

" therefrom small mercery and haberdasher}' ware

in great quantities; moreovei', half the; Scottish

ships came generally laden from Flanders with

cart wheels and wheelbarrows." He I)ravely at-

tacked and repulsed a squadron of English ships

which appeared in the Frith of Forth in 1481, and

the same 3'ear gallantly and successfully defended

DumTiarton when besieged by the licet of Eilward

IV. James III. granted to him, as master of the

" Yellow Kcrval," (.-Mexauder duke of Albany

being then lord-high-admiral,) a /ark or lease of the

lands of Largo to keep his ship in rciiaii', and the

same monarch, on 18th IMarcli 1482, conferred on

him for his eminent services by land and sea, in

peace and in war, a charter under the great seal,

to him and his heirs iu fee, of the lands and vil-

lage of Largo. He also knighted him. This char-

ter was confirmed by James lY. in 1497.

Sir Andrew Wood is famed in the histor}' of his

Country no less for his faithful adherence to his

sovereign when abandoned by his nobles, than

for his courage and naval skill. Prior to 1487

he appears to have entirely relinquished trading

as a merchant, and to have entered into the ser-

vice of the king. Early in 1488, when the rebel-

lious nobles had collected an army and marched

upon the capital, the king took refuge on board

one of Sir Andrew Wood's ships, then anchored in

the Roads of Leith, and crossing over to Fife,

landed there, resolved to throw himself on his

northern subjects for support. The ships of the

admiral had been lying at Leith for some time,

previous to sailing for Flanders, and, on their

weighing anchor, a report was sinead that James
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had lied to the Low Countries. Upon this the

malcontents " seized on his luggage and furniture

in their passnge to the Foi-tli, surprised his castle

of Dunbar, furnished themselves with arms and

ammunitions out of the royal stores, and overran

the three Lothians and the Merse, rifling and

plundering all honest men." (Abercrombie's Mar-

tial Achievements.) James speedily found himself

at the head of a well-appointed force of 30,000

men, and recrossing the Forth, in April 1488, he

marched past Stirling, and pitched his standard

near the ancient castle of Blackness. He soon,

however, disbanded his army, but the rebel peers

again mustering their vassals, he was defeated at

Sauchieburn on the llth of the following June,

and the unfortunate monarch, in riding from the

field, fell from his horse, and was stabbed to death

by a pretended priest, in the miller's cottage at

Beaton's mill, a hamlet on the Bannock, into

which he had been carried. At the time, he was

endeavouring to make his way across the countrj'

to Sir Andrew Wood at Alloa, where the latter

was cruizing with his two ships, the Flower and

the Yellow Carvel. On the right bank of the

Forth he kept several of his boats close b}' the

shore, to receive the king if the tide of battle

turned against him ; and he often landed with his

brotliers, John and Robei't, and " a competent

number of men, hoping to share in the dangers of

the day ; but no such opportunitj' occurred."

The insurgent nobles had advanced with their

victorious army to Linlithgow, and a report reach-

ed their camp that, while sailing up and down the

Forth, Sir Andrew Wood's ships had been seen

taking on board men wounded in the battle,

and there was good reason for believing that

the king, whose fate was unknown, having ef-

fected his escape, was on board one of them.

This occasioned the insurgents to remove their

camp to Lcith. Thence messengers were sent to

Sir Andrew in the name of James, duke of Rothe-

say, prince of Scotland, the king's son, whom the

insurgents had kept with them and forced to act

against his father, to inquire if this was the case.

Sir Andrew solemnly declared that the king was

not with him, and gave the messengers leave to

search the ships. A second message was sent,

requesting an interview. To this he agreed, on

condition that the Lords Seton and Fleming

should remain on board his ships, as hostages for

his safe return.

On his appearance before the council, arrayed in

magnificent armour, the young prince, then in liis

sixteenth year, is said to have wept as he entered

the council-room, and asked timidly, " Sir, are

you my father? " Sir Andrew replied. " I am not

your father, but his faithful servant : and the en-

emy of those who have occasioned his downfall."

" Know you where the king is? " asked several of

tlie lords, "or who those were you took on board

after the battle? " " As for the king," replied Sir

Andrew, " I know nothing of him. Mj' brothers

and I were ready to have risked our lives in his

defence. We lauded in our boats opposite Alloa
;

but finding our efforts to fight or to save him vain,

we returned to the fleet." " lie added," says

Buchanan, " that if the king were alive, he was

resolved to obej* none but him, and if he were

slain, he was ready to I'cvcnge him." Again he

Avas asked " if the king were not reallj- on board

either of his ships." " He is not,"' he sternly re-

plied ;
" I would to God he was, for then he would

be in safety. Then I could defend him from those

vile traitors who, I fear, have slain him, and whom

I hope to see, one da}-, rewarded as thej' deserve."

He then withdrew, and returned on boaid, where

his brothers had begun to be seriously alarmed at

his long absence.

Of Sir Andrew Wood's interview with the rebel

lords, Lindsay of Pitscottie has given a graphic

and circumstantial account, and although the af-

fecting statement that the young king, James IV.,

mistook him for his father, lias been generally

received, it is not likely to have been the case, as

there is no hint in history of his ever having been

excluded from the presence of his father, and at the

time he was sixteen years of age, and must have

known his person well. It is not probable that

lie conld have been misled by the noble and dig-

nified aspect of the admiral, or by any fancied re-

semblance which he bore to James III., as some

writers assume. This would make a mere child

of him, and we therefore entirely discredit the

story.

Irritated at the plainness with which Wood had

spoken his mind to them, the insurgent nobles,
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oil the ictiirii of the Lords Fleming and Seton,

resolved to ptinisli liim for what thoy were pleased

to consider his insolence. Summoning all the

master mariners of I..eitli before thorn in council,

tliey commanded them "to rig and man ihcir

sliips, to subdne Andrew Wood," ofl'ci ing them ar-

tilleiy and munition, and holding forth noble re-

wards in tlie event of his capture; but lliey all

declined, and the elder Barton, a man of great

naval skill and braveiy, afterwards the famous

Sir Andrew Barton, who fought the English licet

in the Downs, declared that Sir Andrew "Wood's

two ships " were so well equipped Avitli all things

for fighting, so well furnished with able and val-

iant seamen, and withal (hat Captain Wood was

so skilful in naval affairs, so practised in ^^ar, and

had such notable artillery that ten of the best

ships in Scotland would not be able to cope with

his two." The design, therefore, of seizing him

was reluctantl}' abandoned. The death of the

unhapp}' James was soon fully ascertained, but

Wood refused for a time to give in his adherence

to James IV.

Towards the end of 14S.S, Sir Andrew apjiearcd,

with his two ships, off Aberdeen. Declaring that

he had received from James III. a grant of the

forest of Stocket and the Castle hill of Aberdeen,

he attempted to take possession of them. His

I claim, however, was resisted by the council and

burgesses, and the admiral was only prevented

from having recourse to force by the interference

of the kin^ and i)rivy council, who sustained the

right of the citizens as defined by a charter of

Robert the Bruce.

[

Soon after,—the precise date is not very clear,

but it is supposed to have been in the beginning

of the following year,—Henry 'N'll. of ICngland

sent "five tall ships" to the friths of Forth and

Clyde, characterized by Tytler as pirates, as they

came in time of truce, \\ liich scIzimI and plundered

several merchant ships belonging to Scots traders,

j

and to the Flemings their allies, as well as made

1
many destructive descents upon the little villages

I

and lishiiig towns on the coasts of Fife and Lothian.

I
Enraged at this wanton aggression, the young

king and his council eagerly desired to be I'evenged.

Notwithstanding, however, their persuasions and

promises of reward, none of the masters of the

ships then in the harbours of the Forth would

ventni'C to attack the enemy. Hoping to prevail

on Sir Andrew Wood to consent, James requested

him to appear before the lords of the privy coun-

cil, to consider means for curbing tlie outrages of

the English, pledging his royal word and the pub-

lic faith for his safety. On their meeting, he re-

presented to Sir Andrew " what a shame, dishon-
|

our, and loss it was, that a few English ships
|

should ride under their eyes witli imjiunity, com- 1

mitting every outrage and excess," and by inflam- I

iug the patriotism of Wood, "who had a true
;

Scottish heart," he readily undertook the enter-
|

prise.
!

Amply furnished with men ar.d artillery, AVood

immediately ]iroccedrd with his two ships, ' The

Flower,' and ' The Yellow Caravel,' against the

iMiglisli, with tlicir five. He met them opposite

to Dunhai-, and at once engaged with them,

when a sanguinary and obstinate battle ensued.

The skill and courage of "Wood at length over-
,

came the superior force of the English. Their
|

five ships were taken and carried into Leith, and
'

their commander presented to the king and conn-
j

cil. Sir Andrew was M-ell rewarded b_y James

and his nobles for his valour, and his name was

so greatl}' extolled that, we are told, it " became a

byword and a terror to all the skippers and mari-

ners of England." He received from James char-

ters confirming all former grants, and bestowing

on him the lands of Balbegnotli, the cotelands of

Largo, nth March, 1490, all of which were rati-

fied by parliament in the following year. He ob-

tained various other possessions, besides acquiring

the superiority of Inch-Keith, and by a charter

under the great seal, ISth May 1491, the king

granted to him " license to build a castle at Lar-
j

go, with gates of iron, as a reward for the great
;

services done and losses sustained by the said

Andrew, and for those services which there was

no doubt he would yet render." This castle, as

well as various houses, he is said to have compel-

led some English ]iiratcs, whom he had captured

on the high seas, to build. It was engrafted on
^

an ancient edifice which had formerly been a join-
j

tare house of the Scottish queens. Ho also re-

ceived an augmentation of his coat armoui-. It 1

appears, too, to have been in this reign that he
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wns appointed pilot to tlie king to tlie Isle of May,

that "being skilful in pyloting, lie should be

ready, npon the king's call, to pylot and conve}'

him and the queen, in visit to St. Adrian's chap-

pcl," on that isle, where there was a holy shrine

and well, and tliere is a charter of some lands

granted to him for that service.

Meantime the English king, indignant at the

disgrace which his flag had sustained, and that

from a foe so little known on the sea, determined

to assert the naval pre-eminence of England. He

offered an annual pension of £1,000 to any of his

commanders who should capture the ships of Wood,

and take him prisoner. One Stephen Bull, when

other English commanders of ships had declined

to attempt such a hazardous enterprise, engaged

to take Wood, and bring him to London, dead or

alive. Appointed to three stout ships fully equip-

ped for war. Bull sailed for the Forth, in Jul\'

1^90, and entering the frith, cast anchor at the

back of the Isle of May. In the belief that peace

had been established with England, Sir Andrew

Wood had gone to Flanders as convoy to some

merchant vessels. To prevent the Scots fisher-

men from giving him notice, on his return, of his

appearance there, Bull took the precaution to

seize all the fishing - boats on the coast, and

he retained a few of the fishermen on board

his own ship, that they might point out to him

the ships of the Scots admiral, on their ar-

rival in the frith. The English continned to

keep a good look out at sea, and one summer

morning they discovered two vessels passing St.

Abb's Head at the mouth of the Forth. Tiie

fishermen who had been taken captives were or-

dered to the masthead, to give their opinion of the

ships in sight. At first the}' hesitated to say whe-

ther the approaching vessels were Wood's or not,

but on their liberty being promised them, they

immediately declared them to be his. The Eng-

lish commander now ordered his men to pre-

pare for battle, distributing wine among them.

Meanwhile, on the morning of the 10th of Au-

gust, Sir Andrew Wood was steering np the

frith, unconscious of an enemy being so near at

hand, but no sooner had he perceived the three

ships of England coming from the shelter of the

Isle of May, than he gave orders to clear away

everything for battle ; and calling his men toge-

ther, he thus addressed them: " These, my lads,

are the foes who expect to convey us in bonds to

the. English king, but, by your courage and the

help of God, thej' shall fail. Set yourselves in

order every man to his station. Charge gunners

;

let the cross-bows be ready ; have the lime pots

and fire balls to the tops ; and the two-handed

swords to the fore rooms. Be stout, be diligent,

for your own sakes, and for the honour of this

realm." Wine was handed round, and the Scot-

tish ships resounded with cheers.

Tlie sun having now arisen, fully displayed the

strength of the English force ; but the Scots were

prepared for them. By skilful management, AVood

got to windward of the foe ; and immediately- a

close and furious combat began, which lasted till

night. During the whole day the shores of Fife

were crowded with spectators, who b}' their shouts

and gesticulations did all in their power to en-

courage their countiymen in the arduous fight.

At the close of the day, the ships mutually drew

oft", and the battle remained undecided. The night

was spent in refitting, and in preparation for the

ensuing day. On the dawn of morn the trumpets

sonndcd, the battle was renewed, and the ships,

closely locked together, floated unheeded by the

combatants, and before an ebb tide and a south

wind drifted round the east coast of Fife till they

M'ere opposite the mouth of the Tay. The sea-

manship of AVood and the valour of the Scottish

sailors at length prevailed. The three English

ships grounded on the sand - banks and were

captured. Bull surrendered, and, with his

ships, was carried into Dundee, where the

wounded of both parties had every attention

paid to them. The unfortunate English com-

mander Avas conducted to Edinburgh by AVood,

and presented to the king. On this occasion

James gave a noble proof of the generosity of

mind which so remarkably distinguished him. He

bestowed gifts upon Bull and on his followers,

and, without exacting any ransom, sent them

home with their ships as a present to the English

king. At the same time he desired them to in-

form their master, that Scotland, like England,

could boast of brave and warlike sons both hy sea

and land ; and he requested that England should
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no more disturb tlie Scottish seas, else a dillereiit

fiite would liereafter await tlie intruders.

Ill 1503, Sir Andrew Wood was employed witli

a small naval squadron against the rebel chiefs of

the Isles, and under the dates of M-ay 18 and 19,

and June 22, of that year, are several entries in

the accounts of the higli-treasurer, for wine, bread,

&c., iwid wages to liis mariners. In this expedi-

tion he was successfid. After laying siege to the

strong insular fortress of Carneburg, one of the

Treshinish Isles, assisted by his lieutenant, Robert

Barton, he succeeded in reducing it, taking pri-

soner its commander, one of the island chiefs.

James was ambitious of j)ossessing a fleet strung

enough to protect the commerce of Scotland, and

he spent large sums on the building of a ship,

called the ' Great Micliael,' of such enormous di-

mensions, as to excite the desire of both Francis

I. and lleni-y YIII. to possess one like it, as it

was larger and stronger than any ship which Eng-

land or France had ever possessed. For her con-

struction, large quantities of timber were brought

from Norway, after the oak forests of Fife, with

the cxcej^tion of that of Falkland, had been ex-

hausted in the work, and numbers of foreign as

well as Scottish carpenters were employed in

building her, under tiie almost daily inspection of

the king liiniself. She was two hundred and forty

feet in length, but disproportionately narrow, be-

ing only thirty-si.\ feet across the beams. Her

sides were ten feet thick, and were obviously

meant to defy the power of any artillery which

could be brouglit against her. The cannon car-

ried by the Great Michael, considering her size,

amounted only to thirty-six, with three of a

smaller calibre. Ilcr crew consisted of three hun-

dred sailors, one liundretl and twenty gunners,

and one thousand fighting men. This great ship

was finished in 1511, and put under the charge

of Sir Andrew Wood, and Ilobert Barton, another

eminent Scottish mariner of the ])eriod ; but in the

following year. Sir Andrew was superseded as

captain by Henry, Lord Sinclair.

In August 1513, James fitted out a fieet, the

principal shijis in which were the Great IMichacl, the

^largaret, aud the James, for the purpose of assist-

ing the French, then attacked by England. The

command of the troops, 3,000 strong, he gave to the

HI.

earl of Ai'i-an, and of the fieet to Gordon of l^etter-

fury, a son of the earl of lluntly, l]a\ing undrr

idni, as vice-admirals, Loid Fleming and Loi'd

lloss of Ilalket. Lindsay of Fitscoltic says that

Arran was both general of the troojis and admii al

of the licet. Instead of proceeding to France,

however, Arran ordered the fieet to Ireland, and

landing at Carrickfergus, sacked and plinidrred it

with great barbarity. After committing this out-

rage, he sailed back to Scotland, and at Ayr de-

posited his spoil in safety. Enraged at his con •

duct, James ordered Sir Andrew ^^'ood to proceed

immediately, with a herald, to sujiersede Arran,

and take the command of the fieet. Previous to his

arrival, however, the earl had sailed with his ships

for France. The Great iSlichael afterwards be-

came the property of the French monarch, having

been sold to Louis XII. for 40,000 livres.

After the disastrous battle of Flodden, Sir An-

drew Wood was sent to France, to invite John,

duke of Albany, m phew of James 111., to come to

Scotland, and assume the regency, during the

minority of James V. In 152G, occurred the bat-

tle of Liidithgow Bridge, which was caused by an

attempt on the part of the earl of Lennox to res-

cue the young king from the domination of the

Douglases. Sir Andrew AA'ood was sent sj)ecially

by the king to protect Lennox, but he arrived only

in time to behold the unhappy earl expiring nnder

the sword of Sir James Hamilton, after quarter

had been given.

It is recorded of Sir Andrew ^\ood that he

caused a canal to be formed from his house in

Largo almost down to the parish church, and on

this he used to sail in state to the church, in his

barge, every Sabbath-day. On 23d July 1538,

he and others, his kinsmen and servants, had a

remission, under the great seal. for all crimes except

treason. He is described by Mr. Ty tier as '-a brave

warrior, and skilfid naval commander, an able

financialist, intimately acquainted with the man-

agement of commercial transactions, and a stal-

wart feudal baron, who, without abating any-

thing of his pride aud his prerogative, refused not

to adopt, in the management of his estates, some

of those improvements whose good eflVcts he had

observed in his travels over various i)arts of the

continent." He lived to a good old age, and is

2 L-
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supposed to have died about 1540. He was buried

in the family aisle of Largo cliurch, where his tomb

is still pointed out. Within the grounds which sur-

round Largo House, there is a circular tower, which

formed part of the old castle inhabited hy Sir An-

drew AVood, and which, it is alleged, once formed

a jointure house of the queens of Scotland.

His eldest son, Andrew Wood of Largo, was

high in fovour with James V., and was one of the

few faithful councillors of that monarch who stood

round his bed when he died in 1.542. John Wood

of Tillydoun, his secorid son, Avas educated for the

church, but was appointed a lord of session, 9th

December 1562. Alexander, his third son, was

piogenitor of the Woods of Grange, Fifeshire, and

a son of ills obtained a charter of legitimation in

1575.

Sir Andrew Wood of Largo, the grandson of the

brave old admiral, Avas one of the barons in the

parliament of 1560, and on 25th July 1567, he

subscribed the articles agreed on in the General

Assembly for the upholding of the Reformed re-

ligion. He also signed the famous bond for the

protection and defence of James VI. He Avas

comptroller of Scotland, and died about 1592.

He had a daughter, Jean, Avho married James

Drummond, first Lord Madderty. His sou and

successor, AndrcAv Wood of Largo, had a son,

James, avIio received a charter of the lands of

Lambelctliam and Cairngown, Fifeshire.

The last of the family, John Wood of Orkie,

Avas, as Lamont says in his Diar}-, " sometime a

courtier."' By a deed of mortification, dated 7th

July 1659, this John Wood, a younger son of the

family of Wood of Largo, bequeathed the sum of

£68,418 Scots, for the purpose of building and en-

doAving an hospital Avithin the parish of Largo, for

the maintenance of thirteen indigent and enfeebled

persons of the name of Wood, besides a gardener,

a porter, and a chaplain. The building was com-

menced in .\pril 1665, and appears to have been

first inhabited about Candlemas 1667. In 1830,

this building was found to be in a state of great

decay, and a new one Avas erected by the patrons,

Avhich is not only more commodious, but is an ele-

gant and ornamental building, in the Elizabethan

style, from designs bj' Mr. James Leslie, civil

engineer. The annual alloivancc to each inmate

is £15 sterling, paid monthly, and a supply of

vegetables. The funds arise from the interest of

£2,000 sterling, and the rent of a farm Avhicli

aA'erages about £280 sterling. The patrons are

the earl of Wemyss, the lairds of Largo, Lundin,

and Balfour, Avith the minister and kirk-session of

Largo. Besides this hospital, Mr. Wood founded

a school at Drunieldrie, and built a Avail roiuid the

churchyard at Largo. He is said to have died

poor in London, in 1661. His body being brought

b}' sea to Elie, Avas interred in tlie family aisle of

Largo church, Avhere a monument Avas erected to

his memor}'.

The lands and barony of Largo passed from

the descendants of Sir Andrew Wood to a !Mr.

Peter Black, and from him to Sir Alexander Gib-

son of Durie, Avho disponed of them to Sir Alex-

ander Durham, lord lyon king at arms.

WOOD, Joiix Philip, an eminent antiquary,

genealogist, and biographer, avIio Avas deaf and

dumb from his infancy, Avas descended from an old

and respectable family in the parish of Cramond,

Avhere he himself AA'as born. His principal publi-

cation Avas a new edition of ' The Peerage of Scot-

land, by Sir Robert Douglas of Glenbervie, Bart.'

Edinburgh, two volumes folio, 1813. Notwith-

standing the privations under Avhich he laboured,

he for many years held the office of auditor of ex-

cise in Scotland. He Avas brother-in-laAv of Mr.

Cadell, the partner of j\L-. Constable. He died at

Edinburgh, at an advanced age, in December 1838.

AVYNTOUN, Andreav, a poet and chronicler

of the 14th century, Avas a canon-regular of St.

AndrcAvs, and, about 1395, prior of the monastery

of St. Serf's Inch, in Lochleven. In the chartu-

lary of the prioiy of St. Andrews there are several

public instruments by Andrew AVyntoun, dated

betAveen 1395 and 1413 ; and in the last page of

his chronicle, according to the copy in the king's

library, he mentions the Council of Constance,

Avhich began Nov. 16, 1414, and ended May 20,

1418. His 'Orygynall Chronykill of Scotland' was

undertaken at the request of Sir John Wemyss,

ancestor of the noble family of that name. Not-

Avitlistanding its great value, both as the oldest

Scottish manuscript extant, except ' Sir Tristreni,'

and as the first record of our national history, it

remained neglected for nearly four centuries. In
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1795, however, a splendid edition of that part of

it which relates more immediately to the affairs of

Scotland, was published with notes, by Mr. David

Macpherson, who very judiciously left untouched

the whole introductory portion of this famous

' ChroiiyUill,' in which, after the fashion of Roger

of Chester, and other venerable liistorians, the

author wisely aiul learuedly treats of the creatiou,

of angels, friants, &c., and of the general history'

of tiie world, before he comes to that which more

pertinently concerns the proper subject of iiis

work. In Wyntoun's Chronicle there is preserved

a little elegiac song on the death of King Alex-

ander III., whit h ^.Ir. ISIacpherson thinks must be

nearly ninety 3'ears older than Barbour's work.

Wyntoun outlived 1420, as he mentions the death

of llobert, duke of Albany, an event which hap-

pened in the course of that year. The oldest and

best preserved manuscript of Wyntoun's Ciirouicle

is in the British Museum. There are also copies

<if it in the Cotton libi-ary, and the Advocates'

library, Edinburgh.

WYNZET, or '\\'iN-GATE, Ninian, a controver-

j

sial writer of the sixteenth century, on the side

! of tile Church of Rome, was born in Renfrew in

I

ir)18. lie is said to have been educated at the

I

university of Glasgow, but his name does not ap-

pear in any of the contemporar^y registers of that

university. In 1551, he was appointed school-

master of the town of Linlithgow, and for ten

years quietly and unobtrusively discharged the

I

duties of that situation " to the gi'eat satisfaction

of the inhabitants."

j

The religious discussions that aruse at the

! ]ieriod of the Relbrniation in Scotland, leil him in-

j to the controversial field, and, with the exception

I

of Qhentiu Kennedy, abbot of Crossraguel, Win-

i zet is the only polemical writer on the Popish side,

I

prior to that event, whose writings have descended

I to our time. After the abolition of popery, it was

j

thought expedient by the Reformers that all per-

! sons who then held the ofliee of schoolmaster

should be examined as to their religious tenets,

and rc(iuired to sign the confession of faith, under

pain of dismissal. Winzet was accordingly cited,

proliablv in ]\Iay or Jinie, 1561, to appear before

John Spotswood, sujici intcndent of Lothian, and

Patrick Kinlo(pili3', minister of Linlitligou'. " Di-

vers conferences," we are told, " were keiit with
!

him, to make him acknowledge his errors, but he

continued obstinate, and was therefore sentenced

by the church ;" tiiat is, lie was deprived of his

situation, and as lie complains most pathetically,

was even " expellit and schott out of that his kind-

ly town, and from liis tender fricndis thair." lie

had jireviously received priest's orders, and, while

still at Linlithgow, he addressed several papers to

Spotswood and Kinloquliy, in regard to what he

termed novations," meaning innovations, in re-

ligion.

AVinzet subsequently went to reside in Edin-

burgh, and, on the arrival of Queen ]\Iary from

France, in August 1561, he was emboldened to

address himself to Knox on the subject of the new

doctrines. It is alleged that lie held a public dis-

putation with the great reformer at Linlithgow,

previous to his leaving that town, but there is no

authentic authority for this statement. His ' Cer-

tane Ti'actatis' were published at Edinburgh in

15(i2. He was also the author of ' The Bake of

Four Scoir tlire(! Questions, tuechiug Doctrine,

Order, and Maueris,' on the pi'iucipal topics of

dispute between the Catholics and Protestants,

drawn up in the name of the inferior Catholic

clergy and laity in Seotlaiul. Questions o.". Si,

and .'35 of this work, touching his vocation to the

ministry, were sent to Knox for aus\\er, but al-

though the reformer fullv intended to give a reply

to them, as he announced once or twice from the

pulpit, he never could find time to do so.

^leantime, Wynzet wrote a work called 'The

Last Blast of the Trumpet,' but the sound it gave

was the means of his being " expellit and schott

out" of his native country, for the magistrates of

Edinburgh, hearing of its being put in type, and

already in the jjress, broke into the printing-office,

seized the eojiies of the work, and dragged the

unfortunate printer, John Scott, to prison. AVyn-

zet meeting them at the door of the printing-

office, escaped in disguise, and took advantage

of a ship ready for the voyage to set sail for Flan-

ders. This happened in August 1562. He stayed

for some time at the university of Louvain. His

'Buke of Four Scoir 'J'hree Questions ' was now

lirintcd, containing an address to ' Cliristian

Reader,' dated Louvain, 7th October 15G.'5, and
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a postscript rcmiiuling John Knox of his promise

to answer him as to his vocation to tlie ministry.

Its publication was speedily followed hy his trans-

lation of the well-known work of Vincentius Liri-

iiensis ' On the Antiquity and Truth of the Cath-

olic Faith,' which he dedicated to Mary, Queen

of Scots. Both works were published at Ant-

wei-j) in 15G3. They were written in the Scots

vernacular of the time, AVyuzet professing not to

know English. For the benefit of his country-

men, he translated some other tractates of the

ancient fathers, also, a discourse by ' Renatus

Bencdictus, concerning Composing Discords in

lleligion,' printed at Paris in 1565, 8vo. The au-

thor, E,en(^ Bcnoist, accompanied Queen Mary

from France in August 1561, and remained in

Scotland for two years in the capacity of preacher

and father confessor to her majesty.

In 1565 AV^ynzet went to France, and took the

degree of master of arts in the university of Paris
;

and he taught philosophy there with great applause

in 1569. It is also stated that he was three times

chosen procurator in tliat university. He also ap-

pears to have been in Italy. Having ajiproved him-

self a zealous and faithful champion of tlie church,

he was in 1576 appointed by the pope abbot of the

Scots monastery of St. James', llatisbon. He

proved himself a benefactor to the establishment

over which he presided, for, besides introducing a

stricter observance of monastic discipline, he ren-

ovated the buildings of the monastery and secm-ed

for it various privileges. About this tijue he ac-

quired the degree of doctor in divinity. In 1582,

he published, at Ingoldstadt, the ' Scourge of Sec-

tarians,' on the subject of obedience to the civil ma-

gistrate, and another work of the same kind, in

answer to Buchanan's discourse ' De Jure Regui

apud Scotos.' He died 21st September 1592, at the

age of 74, and a monument was erected to his me-

mory'. His ' Tractatis' were printed by J. B. Gracie,

Esq., for the Maitland Club in 1835. 4to. The

introduction contains all the particulars about him

that can now be ascertained, and all of his writings

that are extant are printed in this quarto volume.

Y

Young, the surname of a Forfiirsliire family, wljo at one

pei-iod possessed tlie estate of Auldbar, on the right bank of

tlie Soutliesk.

John Young, merchant burgess of Edinburgh, in 1541, mar-

ried Margaret Scrymgeom', daughter of Scrvmgtuur of Ghis-

well, and sister of Henry Scrjmgeour, professor of philosophy,

and afterwards of civil law, at Geneva ; anotlier sister married

the father of Master James Melvil. Jolm Young was also a

burgess of Dundee, and died there on 31st August 1583, in

the 80th year of his age. His surviving cliildren were : 1.

John, provost of tlie collegiate cliurch at Dysart. 2. Peter,

afterwards Sir I'eter. 3. Alexander, usher of tlie privy

chamber to King James YI., died 29th September 1603,

williout issue : Isabella and Joanna. His otlier children died

in cliildliood, except Henry, killed in Schoneii in the service

of the king of Sweden.

Peter was born at Dundee, loth August 1541. He and his

brother Alexander were educated under the care and apparently

at the charge of their maternal uncle, Heniy Scrymgeour, but

their more immediate teacher was Theodore Beza. On 4th

Jamiarv 15G9, Peter was appointed, on the recommendation

of the regent Jloray, assistant preceptor to James VI., and

shortly alter became, along with George Buclianan, a pen-

sioner of Queen Elizabelh, tlie one receiving £100 and the

)ther £30 sterling per annum. After the king became of

age Young was made almoner, and retained tliat office till

his death. He was employed in various embassies, was one

of the Octavians, a member of the queen's (Anne of Den-

mark) council, and was engaged in various matters relating

to religion and to the universities. He received his share of

church lands, and also bought largely. His residence and

estate, whence he took his designation was ICaster Seaton,

part of the abbey lands of Arbroath. He was knighted by

the king at Whitehall 19th February 1005, and liad at tlie

same time a grant of a pension of X300 sterling per annum.

He married, tirst, 4th February 1577, Elizabeth Gib, a

daughter or granddaughter of liobert Gib, the celebrated

jester or fool to King James V., a good example of the pro-

verb that "it takes a wise man to be a fool." Rob became

laird of Carruber, and his descendants remained long about

the court, several having been knighted. Sir Peter Young

had by Iiis first wife; I.Marie, born 1st June 1579; married

John Douglas of Tilliquhillie. 2. and 3. James and Henry,

twins, born 10th June 1580. Tlie former was knighted by the

king at his baptism and made genllemau of the bedch.amber.

4. Margaret, born 14th November 1581 ; married David Lind-

say of Kinnettles. 5. and 6. Peter and Robert, twins, born 1st

July 1583. Peter, the liftli son, a gentleman of the bedchamber

to King Charles I., was in tlie suite of the earl of Spencer, sent

on a special mission to Gtittavus Adolplius with the order of
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t.lie G.'irter, ami iv;is kninlited b_v that inoiiarcli in 1G28. He
died Gtli Febniaiy 1631. His twin-brotlicr, Ruliert, travel-

led as tutor to some nobleman, and died at Westin 17lh

March 1620, on liis return from the Holy I.and, and while

writing his travels. 7. Patrick, a celebrated Greek scholar

and divine, of whum a memoir follows in larger tvpe. 8.

.I(dm, born 2.5th .June 15S5, dean of \Vinchester, and chap-

lain to King James I. of Englanii. He liad travelled witli

the Lord Wharton's son, and aoquired considerable property

in Fife. He founded a school at St. Andrews. He left his

estates to his nephew. Peter Young of .Seaton; died in 16o l

or 1(!.")5. S). and 10. Frederic and .Inanna, twins, born 31st

.January l.")87. 11. Jlichael, born Oth November 1.589; was

educated at the charge of the king, and sent to .Sidney,

.Sussex eollege. Cambridge. 12. Aiuie, born 10th February

1.500.

Sir Peter's (irst wife, Elizabeth (5ib. died at I.eith lOtll

.May 159.5, and on 6th May 1.596, he married a second time.

Dame Janet .Murr.ay, Lady Torphichen, widow of the first

temporal hu'd of that title, and daughter of .Murray of Pol

-

maise. She died in November of that year. liy Marjory

Mavine, daughter of Mavine of Sandfurde, his third wife, he

1 had, 1. Fuphcmia, born 20th April 1601, man'ieil Sir D:ivid

Ogiivy of Clova. 2. I'lizabetb, born llth February 1603.

3. Nicol.i, burn 5th July 160J, married David lioswell of

liahnuto. 4. .Arbi-lla, born 18th December 1608, married

.lohn Living.ston, younger of Dunipace.

Sir Peter Young outlived his pu|iil, .lames VL, and dying

at liis house of Easter Seaton on tlie 7tli January 162.*^,

was biuied at the pari.sh church of St. Vigeans, wliere his

I monument is still e.xtant. .Sir Peter was succeeded by his

I
eldest son. Sir James Young, knight, who had a grant of

I

laini in Irel.and. He nnu'rieJ, fir.st, Isobel Arbuthnot, a

daughter of David Arbuthnot of Fiiuiourie, by whoin he liad

two sons: 1. Charles, who died young; 2. Peter, who suc-

ceeded him in his estates in Scotland ; and a daughter, Mar-

garet, niari ied to Francis Dnguid of .Aucliinliuif. Sir .lames

marrieil, secondly, .Jean Stewart, by whom he Inula daugli-

ter, Ann, married to George Seton, eldest son of Wil-

liam Seton of Jlynnoris, .Aberdeenshire. Dame Jean Stew.aj-t

man ied fm' her second husband Frederic Lyon of Brigton.

Several families of the name of Young in the north of Ire-

land claim descent from Sir James Yoimg, and this m.-iy be

:

but it is certain that they are not descended from the Youngs

of Aulilb.ar, as they also claim to be. Tliey can only be a

collatenJ branch. Peter Young of Seaton married Lsobd

Ochterlony, a daughter of Ocliterlony of Wester Seaton.

and had, 1. Robert, wlio succeeded him; 2. Margaret, mar-

ried in 1G59 to Sir John Forlies of Craigievar, baronet. Her

tocher was 8,000 pounds Scot.s. 3. A daughter, married to

Guthrie of Westhall, from whom were descended M.-ijor John

Guthrie and bis brothers, and the Guthries of Craigie. Peter

Young sold Easter Seaton and other hinds, and purchased

jiart of Auldbar in 1670. Robert Young manied .Vnna Gra-

ham, daughter of Sir William Gr.aham of Claverhouse, by

whom he had, 1. David, his heir. 2. Anna, married to

James Barclay, younger of B;dmakewan. 3. Cecilia, married

to George Leith of Overliall. 4. Elizabeth, (married to .John

'rm'nbnil, younger of Strickathrow ;) and perhaps others.

David Young had for his tutor the celebrated Thnm.'is Rud-

diman, and married .Marjory, eldest d.iughter of Fothring-

bam of Powrie, by whom he had, 1. Robert, his heir, and at

least one dlher .son. 2. .Anna, (manied to Robert Ochter-

lonv;) and apparently other d.iughter.s. Robert .succeeded

his father in 171.", and sold Aubibar to a relative. William

Cbahners of Haz.lehe.-id. Robert Young and his brothers and

sisters, except Ann.a, died without issue. .She was served

heir to her grandfather, Robert Young, 13th December 1768.

Her son, .John Ochterlony, sold Kintrockat. He married

Mary Roberta Skinner, and by her had, 1. Robert; 2. Alex-

ander, who died umnarried ; and daughters.

Li the Annual Register for 1759 is related, .at page 122,

an interesting anecdote of a Captain Ochterlony who was

killed at the siege of Quebec in that year. The Ochterlonies

were descended from Prince Rupert, thus : Ch.-irles L had a

.sister married to the Elector P.-datine of Bohemia. Prince

Rupert, their son, b.-ui JIaiT Ruperta by .Mrs. Hughes ; Ru-

perta married Brigadier-general Lord Hare; their daughter,

Henrietta Hare, (who was maid-of-honour to the princess of

Orange, and cousin to the duche.ss of Norfdk,) married

Dand Skinner, Escp
;
XFary Ruperta, their eldest daughter,

l)orn 24tli July 1737, married .lolin Ochterlony, who was

born .Tanuary 1736. Their children were Henrietta, Anne,

Elizabeth, M.argaret. (For Ooiiteui.ony, see vol. ii. p. 259.

—.Also see Auciitkui.ony, vol. 1. p. 169.)

William Chalmers of Auldbar was succeeded hv his son

Patrick, who was succeeded by his son Patrick, who was

succeeded by his son Patrick, who died in 1855, and was

succeeded by liis brother, .John Inglis Chalmers, Esq. of

Auldbar, one of the deputy-lieutenants of Forfarshire.

yOUXn, Patimck, nn eminent scdinlnr, do-

scendcd from nii .mcient fariiily, was l)orii August

29, 1584, nt E.aster Se.iton, in Forfarsliire, the

I'psidcnce of Iris fntlier, Sir Potor Yonnjr, joint

tutor wiili Pjuclinii.Tn to Janips YI. At the acre

of tifteen ho was .«cnt to the nniver.sity of St. An-

drew.?, where, on completinfj the usual course of

academical study, lie received the degree of

ill H]0?). Sonii after lie accompanied liis fatiier to

iMtgland. and liaviiig been introduced to tlie no-

tice of Dr. IJoyd, bishop of Chester, lie was re-

ceived into his house as his libr;uian, or secretary.

In 160.") lie was incorjiorated ^l.X. at Oxford,

and, euteriito; into deacon's orders, lie was made

one of the chaplains of All Souls' college. This

office he held for three years, ,ind during that

time he emjiloyed himself cliietl}- in the study of

ecclesiastical history, and in cultivating the Greek

language. Having gone to London with the view

of making his way at court, lie obtained, through

the interest of Dr. Montague, bishop of Bath and

Wells, a pension from the king of S.nO per annum,

and was occasionally employed by his ninjest}-,

and some of the jiersons in power, in writing La-

tin letters. He was also tutor to the young prin-

ces, Ileiiry and Charles. P>y the inlliience of

Bishop ^Montague he was appointed to the super-

intendence of the Roj'.al Library, then neuly

founded by the king. In 1()17 Young went to

I'aris. with recommendatory letters from Camden
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to many of tlie learned of tliat capital. On his

return he assisted Mi: Thomas Head in translat-

ing King James' works into the Latin language.

The volume was iniblished in 1619, and, by his

majesty's special command, he was sent with a

presentation copy to the universities of Oxford

and Cambridge.

In 1G20 Young married, and though still only

in deacon's orders, was presented to two rectories

in Denbighshire. Soon after, he was collated to a

prebend of St. Paul's, of which church he was

made treasurer in 1621. On the death of Eead,

in 1624, he was appoint(;d to the vacant post of

Latin secretary to the king. He assisted Seklcn

ill prepai ing for the press his edition of the ' Arun-

delian IMarbles,' and the work was dedicated to

Young. When the Alexandrian manuscript of the

Old and New Testament was added to the trea-

sures of the king's library, Young carefully col-

lated it with other copies of the sacred volume,

and communicated manj- various readings to Ush-

er, Grotius, and other learned men of the time.

He had intended to have published a fac-simiie of

this manuscript, but circumstances prevented the

execution of the design. In 1643, however, he

printed a. specimen of his intended edition, con-

taining the first chapter of Genesis, with notes,

and left at his death scholia, as far as the 15tli

chapter of Xmnbers.

In 1633 he published an edition of the ' Epistles

of Clemens Romanus,' reprinted in 1637, with

a Latin version, ' Catena Grrecorum Patrum in

Jobum, coUectore Niceta, Heracleaj Metropolitaj
;'

to which he subjoined from the Alexandrian man-

uscript a continued series of the books of Scrip-

ture, called Poctici. In 1638 he published ' Ex-

positio in Canticum Canticorum Folioti Episcopi

Londinensis, una cum Alcuini in idem Canticum

Compendio.' He had made preparations for edit-

ing various other manuscripts from the King's

librarj-, when the confusion of the civil wars, and

its seizure by parliament, put an end to all his

plans. He retired to the house of his son-in-law,

Mr. John Atwood, a civilian at Bromfield, in Es-

sex, where he died, September 7, 1652. He left

two daughters, Elizabeth, who married John At-

wood, Esq., and Sarah, who became the wife of

Sir Samuel Bowes, knight.

Yule, or Zuili,, n siimame, originally given to inark tlie

d:iy of birtli, the word in Scotland meaning Cliristnias. The
clan Buchanan recognise as belonging to branches persons

of this name, and also that oi' Risk, the latter from the place

of residence, liisk, (a bare knoll,) of Drvmen. I!oth names
were common in Stirlingshire. (See jVejc Stat. Account of
Scotland, article Parish of Bvclinnan.')

Zktlanj), Earl of, a title in tlie peerage of the United

Kingdom, conferred in 1838, on Laurence Dnndas, second

Lord Dundas of Aske, county of York, son of the first baron,

Sir Thomas, wlio died 14th June 1820, and grandson of Sir

Lawrence Dundas of Kerse, commissary-general and conti'ac-

tor to the army from 1748 to 1759, and created a baronet,

IGth November 1762.

The first earl of Zetland, lord-lieutenant and vice-admiral

of Orkney and Shetland, and an .alderman of tlie citv of

York, died lOtli February 1839, leaving, with other children,

'I'hoiiias, second earl, born in 1795, lord-lieutenant of the

North Riding of Yorkshire, married in 1823, Sophia Jane,

daughter of Sir Hedworth Willi.amsoii, baronet, without issue.

Heir presumptive, his In-other, Hon. John Charles Dundas,

M.P., educated at Trinity college, Cambridge, and called to

the bar by the Middle Temple in 1834, lord-lieutenant of

Orkney and Shetland. (See vol. ii. p. 95.)
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AiiNoT, oC Arimt, Kinross-sliii'c.—A slun t jiccouiit of tlii.s

siini.'ime and laniilv has liecn inserted in tlie boily of tliB work,

(vol. i. p. lo8,) aiul llie following information is licre given

in addition and correction :

A gencalogic;d liislory of tlie family (in some points ex-

tremely incorrect) is said to liavc been compiled by lingo

Arnot, Esq. of Balcormo, (see vol. i. page 158.) a copy of

wliicli is preserved in tlie Lord I.yon ollice. From tliis it

appears tliat, in tlie Cliartularies of our abbeys, vestiges of

tlie family of Arnot are discovered at a remote period. Tlie

fust of tbe family mentioned in tlie family pedigree is .lolin de

Arnot, 1 105. In tlie reign of Malcolm IV., Sir Micliael de .'\rnot

disponed the lands of Chiny (Sihbald's Hist, of Fife), to

the Dunfermline monks. Malcolm de Arnot, 1120, is said

to have been the father, and Sir Peter, 1150, and Wil-

liam, the brotliers of Arnold, bishop of St. Andrews. This

Arncdd w.is educated at Durham, and was first ahliot of Kel-

so. He was chosen bishop of St. Andrews on St. Bride's

day, Feb. 1, IICO, and sat for one year, 10 months, and 17

davs. lie was appointed legate a latere by I'ope Alexander

111. IK- founded the cathedral church of St. Andrews, and

died in Hr>3. A charter of this bishop's in favour of the

canons regular .it St. Andrews is preserved in the Advocates'

Library at ICdinburgli.

Succeeding Sir I'cter in the family tree is Sir Michael de

Arnot, IIGO, who is supposed to have died in llflO. He had

two sons, Nicol, imd Arnold, abbot of .Melrose.

Hugo's MS. says, "It appears from the Chronicle called

the Slenuiinta Brutl that, in r2-10. King Alexander II. sent

Duncan (shouhl be Malcolm), earl of Fife, amb.-issador to

Henrv III. of England, accomp.inied by two knights of Fife,

John de Menevil and Malcolm dc Arnot. It is probable that

this Sir Malcolm de Arnot had two sons, Sir Henry and

Michael, for in the Holl of Arrears of rent for the year 1289,

to the priory of St. Andrew.s, it is said tliat "Sir Hcniy

Arnot, ill the p.arish of I'ortnioak, restetli for the tytlies of

Arnot, forty shillings, and Michael Arnot, for the lands of

Brocollie, twelve shillings."

In 130.') David de Arnot. son of Michael de Arnot, was in

possession of the lands. Is'icol appears to have been his son

and .successor. In 1320, in a Roll of the military services of

lands Indden of the king, it is said, "Terra Nicliol de Ar-

not debat servitudinem unius Milititis." (.U^. Genealogy.')

Xicol was succeeded by his brother Sir Michael, who mar-

ried tlicsi.ster of Duncan, 11th earl of Fife.

"About this period," continues lingo Arnol's MS., "the

ai'cient charters belonging to the family being lost, Michael

Arnot [in the reign of David II.] look a new charter from

Duncan, earl of Fife, [which his predecessors held immedi-

ately of the crown]. By him he w.as drawn over to Edward

Hali(d's party, and joining with Sir John Stirling and other

partizans of I'aliol, in the siege of Lochleven anno 1334, tlie

water suddenly bursting through the mounds with which

the besiegers endeavoured to dam it np, he was drowned.

To him liis son, David, succeeded. From Ids untoward

looks, according to the manners of th.at rude age, he got

the nickname of David the Devil. In a sciifHe concern-

ing Marches, one of his servants happened to wound the

bishop of St. Andrews, for which David was obliged to give

the lands of Kynestoun in assythinent to the bi.shop and sea

of St. Andrews. He had two sons. Sir Henry, his succes-

sor, .and .John Arnot. first laird of Loclirig in Cunningham,

Ayrshire. The lands of Kynestoun, which David gave in as-

sythinent to the see of St. Andrews, were the occasion of

fresh troubles with the cliiircli. Sir Henry asserting liis supe-

riority over tlie lands, which Walter Trail, bishop of St. An-
drews, refused to acknowledge. These differences were com-

posed by Robert, duke of Albany, who, in 1388, decreed that

a quarterly paymejit of three pounds should be made out of

these lands to the family of Arnot. He had a daughter mar-

ried to Cunningham, Lord Kilmaurs, and three sons, Wil-

liam, his successor, John, and .Tames Arnot of Brocollie and

Cockburnspatli."

As this last w.as much the most considerable branch of the

family, Hugo Arnot proceeds to give an acconnt of it. As

already stated, Michael, younger son of Sir Jlicliael Arnot,

was laird of Brocollie in 1289. From that period there are

no traces of this family till the year 1-110, when, in an entail

m.ade of his lands by William Arnot of Arnot, James Arnot

of Brocollie is designed son of Sir Henry Arnot of that ilk,

and brother of the entailer. He seems to have acquired the

lauds of Brocollie by marrying the heiress. He had two

sons, of whom only the name of the elder, .lolin, his succes-

sor, is given. Their cousin .and chieftain, .Toliii Arnot of

Arnot, was killed, in 1440, by Livingston, laird of East We-
myss. in consequence of which a deadly feud arose between

the families, and .lolin .Arnot of Brocollie and his brother,

having been concerned in the sl.aughter of one of the family

of East Wemy.ss, .lolin fled to East Lothian, where lie was

protected by Hepburn of Waughton and Lord Dirleton. His

brother escaped to ICngland, and, adds Hugo, "from him the

.Arnolds and .Arnots of that country are said to be descend-

ed." Matthew Robert Arnot of Wakefield. Yoiksliire, in

lingo's time principal clerk in the House of Deers, auniitted
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liis descent from tlie Aniots of Scotland, and caiiied, first

and fourth, a chevron between three stars, being tlie arms of

Arnot, quartered with tlie coat of some otlier familv. The

grandson of John Arnot of Brocollie acquired the hinds of

Cockburnspatli. His son, William, married Margaret Wal-

lace, and their son. Sir John Arnot of I5erswick, a burgess

in Edinburgh, was in 1587 chosen lord provost of that city

fur four years. He was knighted by King James VI., and,

about 1004, was appointed treasurer-depute of Scotland.

He was again chosen lord provost of Edinburgh from 1G08

to 161.5 inclusive. In lfiO,5 he acquired four oxgates of land

in Restalrig. In that and subsequent years he bought from

the earl of Orkney, (who was beheaded.) the lands of Hers-

wick, Sandwick, and Hoy, Kirkluscar, and Westraw in Ork-

ney. He also possessed tlie barony of Granton ne.ar Edin-

burgh, the lands of Foulden, I!enlism;iins, and Crumstanes

in Berwickshire, and those of Woodmill in Fife. Fast Castle

and the adjacent hinds of Lumsdean, after remaining a few

vears vested in the crown, became the property of James

Arnot, merchant in Edinburgh, who resigned them to the

Homes, May 24, 1617. {Hist, of Coldingham Pviory, p.

92.) Sir John Arnot married, first, a daughter of John-

ston of Kellobank, issue, three sons and two daughters; 2<lly,

a daughter of Craig of Riccarton, by whom he had two

daughters. All his children were married, and to them all

he gave portions of his estates ; and now, says Hugo, (who

died in 1786,) ''it is not known that he has a descendant

on earth, or if that descendant retains any part of his pro-

pertv, except Home of JIanderston, whose predecessor, Sir

George, married Sir John's second daughter, Helen, and got

the hinds of Crumstane, and Wilkie of Foulden, who mar-

ried the only daughter of his third son, James Arnot of

Granton."

Sir John Arnot, (his eldest son predeceasing him.) gave

the lands of Woodmill to his grandson. Woodmill liad be-

longed to an old branch of the family of Arnot, but John

Arnot, heir apparent of Woodmill, liaving uiifortnn.-itely

killed John .Murray, son of Charles ;\IuiTiiy of Aikit, the

sum paid as an assythment to the friends of the deceased,

tlie expense of obtaining a royal pardon, and other circum-

stances, obliged them to p.art with the estate in the beginning

of the I'tli century. It was purchased by Sir John Arnot,

and continued in his family about 100 years, " when," s;iys

Hugo, "James Arnot, younger of Woodmill, sitting in sober

manner in a tavern in Edinburgh, in company with three

other young gentlemen, on January 13, 1700, was barba-

rously murdered, {Edinburgh Gazette, No. 93). Archibald

Jloiitgomery, brother of Sir James Montgomery of Skclmor-

lie, a man who Iiad already committed the most flagitious

actions, pursued, with a drawn sword, his own .servant, who

fled for shelter into the room where young Arnot and his

ciiinpaiiioiis were sitling. Montgomery burst open the door,

and thrust his sword up Arnot's left eye into the brain, of

which he died in eight liours. Montgomery was unacconnt-

ahlv suffered to escape, and notwithstanding tlie rewards of-

fered by the laird of Woodmill, never was apprehended. The

estate was soon afterwards sold, and went entirely out of the

name ;ind I'aiidly of .Arnot."

To his second son, Willi:im, Sir John g.'ive the lands of

Cockburnspath {General Register, Oct. 1.5, 1612). His hos-

pitality was so great that an Englishman {Taylor's Works,

p:ige 137) who visited Scotl.-md about 1630, represents his

house as .'in inn, where every stranger was sure of good en-

tertainment and a hearty welcome. William Arnot of Cock-

burnspath, with his two sons, and his brother, the laird of

Gr;inlon, unfortunately became security, to a very large

amount, for James Dalziell, merchant in Edinburgh, who

m.arried one of Sir Jolin's daughters, and, in consequence of

his bankruptcy, they were obliged to sell their estates of

Cockburnspath and Granton. But John Arnot, king's equer-

ry, William's eldest son, kept the hands of Hoprig. The

family are now extinct.

To return to the family of Arnot of Arnot. William, the

son of Sir Henry Arnot, entailed his lands in 1-110. He had

two sons, Richard, and .Tohn. Richard resigned the lands in

favour of his brother, {General Register, Nov. 26, 1429,)

and died without issue.

[.•V "Jacobus de Arnot" was sliield-be.arer to Robert duke

of Albany, in the eighth year of his governorship, .about

1413 or thereby].

.John .\rnot married M.argery, daughter of John Boswell

of Balniuto, and had 2 sons, John, his successor, and W.alter

Arnot of Balbarton, and 3 daughters. 1. Florence, married

Sir John Rattr.iy of Rattray, whose daughter and heires.s,

Grizel, married John, 3d earl of Athole. 2. Eliz.iheth, m.ir-

ried WiUi.im, 2d Lord Semple. 3. Helen, married Sir Tho-

mas Dougl.as of Arnacroigh. This laird of .\rnot was killed

at Bogiebushes by Livingston, laird of East Wemyss, who,

with a numerous party of his followers, attempted to rescue

his cattle, which had been poinded by Arnot's brother-in-

law, the laird of Balmuto, but was taken prisoner, and his

followers routed, Arnot's widow afterwards married Sir

Thomas Silibald of Balgonie. Walter Arnot of Balharton,

the younger son, had a son, William, who succeeded him,

and had two daughters, co-heiresses. 1. Elizabeth, marrieii,

1st, to Brown of Fordell, who got with her the mansion-

house and lialf the lands of Balbarton; 2dly, Colville of

Miltoun, from which marriage descended the Lords Colville,

both of Cuhoss and Ochiltree. 2. Helen, wife of Archibald

Ound.as of Fingask, who got with her the other half of the

lands of Balbarton, but Fingask conveyed his share of these

lands to Brown of Fordell.

John, the son and successor of tlie laird of Arnot killed

at Bogiebushes, married Catherine, daughter of Melville of

Carnbie, and had 18 sons, and a daughter, married to John

Wemvss, brother of the laird of Wemyss. The 3 eldest sons

were, 1. John. 2. David, bishop of Galloway, dean of the

Chapel Royal, and councillor to King James IV.: and 3.

Robert, who got the lands of Woodmill from the king, his

master. He was comptroller of Scotland, and captain of

Stiriing cnstle. With his two uncles-in-law. Sir Robert Col-

ville of Hiltoun and the laird of Fingask, lie w;is killed in

the battle of Flodden. From this gentleman the Arnots of

Balcorino were descended. Of the remaining brothers, some

purchased lands in Fife, Galloway, Kirkcndhriglit.shire, &c..

and several devoted themselves to the church, and became

prebendaries of the Chapel Royal and Stirling.

John, the eldest son, married in 1489, Enphame, daughter

of Scot of B.ilwearie, and had h sons and 3 daughters.

Walter, the eldest son, 1520, married Eliz.ahetli Dudiiing-

ston, daughter of the laird of Saintford, and had 3 sons and

5 daughters.

David, the next hiird of Arnot, married, in 1549, .Tane,

d.aughter of Bruce of Earlsliall, and had 4 sons and 3 daugh-

ters. He was remark.-ible for his vigour and dexterity in

martial sports and exercises. King Henry VIII. having sent

William, Lord Howard and the bishop of St. David's, .am-

bassadors to Scotland, six of their retinue challenged any six

Scottish gentlemen and yeomen to a trial of skill in archery

on the links of Leitli, for a hundred crowns and a tun of

wine. David Arnot, then younger of that ilk, was one of the

six who accepted the challenge, and the Scotsgained the match.
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Daviil Arnot, liis son .Mid successor, inai i'icij Katlieriiie

Fiirrcster, (l:in<;litei' of tlie laird of Stralliendry. Haviil,

tlicir eldest son and successor, liicd. Moin.'irricd, in 1584, and

was succeeded by Iiis son Walter. The latter married .M.-iry,

eldest (i.iUiiliter of .Sir .lames r>.dfuur, and sister of llie first

Lord liall'our of l!nrlei;;li.

His eldest .son, .lames, died unmarried.

His second son, .Midiael, was, by Kinir Cli.arles I., created

a kni;;l]t lianinet, .Tuly 27, Ifi'i!). The patent was in favoiu"

of Sir Micliael and liis beirs male, but does not appear in ibo

Index to the Register of the (ireat Seal. This, liowever, is

not uncommon. Sir .Micbael died about IGI2. I!y bis wife,

Ann Brown, be bad a son, Colonel Charles Arnot, wlio bad

!i charter under the great seal to him and bis spouse, Helen,

(lau};blcr of .lames licid of I'itlithie, (jf the barony of Arnot

.and Scotl.andwell united, dated .Inly 3
1

, 16-13. He died about

](;70.

His father, .Sir .Mich.iel. appears to Inive bnilt the Tower

of Arnot, Kiuross-sbire, now in ruins. A shield cut in the

stone in the pe.ak of the wall, is supposed to have a lion rani-

]i.int in the centre,— tlu' royal arms of .Scotland.

'I'iie followiiic; is the lintel, hearing date 1032, witli the

co.ils of arms and iiiitials of Sir .Michael Arnot and bis wife,

Pauie .Ann ISrown •

4-',

fft .
-

liL I'" "

"

. V""

Col. Arnot's son, .Sir D.iv'al .Aniot. b.-irt., was served heir in

special of Colonel Charles .-Vrnnt, Kiarof that ilk, in the North

Tower of Arnot and town and lands of Teal and olher.s, Aujr.

2, KiTO. Whetlier from the circumstance of the patent of

baronetcy not being registered, that Colonel Charles did not

assume the title, being merely designated " Fiar," or that he

w.is indifferent about it, is uncertain. P.etwcen ICS.t and

1701, .Sir David Arnot .appears as one of the commissioners

for the harons in parliament, and also as a connni.ssioner of

supply for the county of Kim'oss. He died .ibout 172<;.

Sir David's son, Sir .John Arnot of Arnot, entered the 2d

regiment of foot as ensign. Dee. 31, 1G88. He got a diarter

of resignation under the great seal of the lands and barony

of Abbotsball. Fifeshire, dated Deo. Ifi. 172G. In 1727 be

was appointed .idjutant-gener.al of Scotland. In 173.1 be

rose to the rank of brigadier-general, in 173!) to that of m.a-

jnr-general, and subsequently to that of lieutenant-general.

He died at York, June -1. 1750.

He w.as succeeded by his eldest son. .Sir .John .Arnot, bar-

onet, lie bail another .son, C.apt.ain William Arnot, who had

.a charter of resignation in bis favour, under the great seal,

'•Terrarum et B.aronia' de .Abbotsball. innic vocant Arnot,"

&c.. dated Nov. 29, 1700. It app.-ars that the whole of the

paternal estates of the family of .Arnot of Arnot p.-issed into

the possession of Sir .lobn Bruce of Kinros.s, baronet; and it

is pnjbahle that between June and November 1750, Sir .lobn

.Arnot sold them to Sir ,Iohn Bruce, and that his brotlier,

Caotain William Arnot, to keep up the family designation,

gave the name of .Arnot to .Abbotsb.all, for the short period

it w.as in bis possession. Both Sir .lohn and his brother ap-

pear to have died without issue.

The baronetcy was ne.\t t.iken up by Robert .Arnot of Dal-

i

giiub, Fifesbire. son of .Major William .\ mot r)f D.alginch,
i

formerly designated of Aucbinuir, 1702-3. The family con- '

nexion is not known. The major died in 1736, leaving two
j

.sons, Robert, who became Sir Robert Arn<it of Dalginch, and !

William, and two d.iughters, 1. Elizabeth, who married tlie

Rev. Hugh Glass, minister of Keith, i.s.sue .i son, William;

2. Ann, wife of Tbi>inas Arnot of Cb.apple, called Chappie

.Arnot, Fifesbire, and had a .son, Thomas.

Sir Robert Arnot of D.alginch, wlm assumed the baronet-

cy, was served heir of line in special to his father, JIajor

William Arnot of Dalginch, May .S, 1736. He entered the !

26th regiment of foot, June 17, 1731, and resigned his com-
'

ini.ssion as major, Feb. 13, 1762. He died, without issue,

Jime 12. 17G7.
'

His brotlier. Sir William -Arnot of Dalginch, was tlie next

baronet. He cntereii the army Jlay 16, 1735, rose to the 1

rank of lieutenant-Colonel, and sold out of the 2d dragoon
!

guards, Aug. 12. 177!!. He died at Powick. Worcestershire,

in July 1782. He was succeeded in his lands hv liis nephews, I

William Gl.iss, and Thomas Arnot of Cb.apple, but the baro-
|

netcy lapsed as regards the fmiily of Dalginch.

Sir William Arnot, sixth and last baronet, died about 1S30.

A branch of the .Arnot family settled in Ireland in the time

of Oliver Cromwell. In the Records of the Rolls (vol. vi. p.

450), in the office of Ulster King of Arms, there is a mar- '

riage indenture, made in IG5S, between James .Arnot, county

Fermanagh, and Robert Stokes of Tonaghtagennan, in that I

county, whose sister, James Arnot the elder bad married. !j

One of the family of Arnot of Fennan.agh was an officer in '

the army of William III., when in Ireland in 1690. He is 'j

said to have distinguished himself in the field, and was lion-
j
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' oiued with the notice of tlie king liiir.self, and who stvlcd him

' lJucktooth Aniot." He was to luive sliared in tlie king's

bounty, but at tlie time of his niajes'v's distribution of cer-

tain confiscated property, as tlie tradition runs, he was unfor-

tunately absent, and another managed toget what was intended

for him. It was ever after a saying among the Irish Arnots that

the family "liad had ill luck.'' Tliere does not ;ippear to be

(
any document in the office of Ulster King of Arms at Dub-

1 lin which gives a list of the officers of the regiments in the

army of William III., when his majesty, was in Ireland.

What rank " Bncktooth Arnot" held in the army which

fought against King .lames is therefore not known. Whether

lie commanded a regiment or not is not ascertained, as even

the War-office, London, lias no means of furnishing a list of

officers of the name of Arnot commanding regiments in Ireland

during King William's reign. In the Ilecoids of Ulster King

of Arms there is the registration of arms to James Arnot of

Arnot Grove, May 27, 1747. This Jaines Arnot died in ] 780.

With a daughter, he had 4 sons, Hugh, Henry, William, and

Robert. The eldest .ind third sons, Hugh and William, en-

tered the army about 1794, the former as surgeon, and the

latter as assistant surgeon, 14th Light Dragoons. Both died,

with a servant, on the same day, in ,Iune I79G, of an epi-

demic disease, in St. Domingo. ' Henry, the 2d son, a sur-

geon at Deinerara, is said to have gone to St. Domingo, and

nothing was afterwards known of him. Arnot Grove, and

another estate in King's county, fell to the youngest son,

Robert. By mismanagement all the Arnot piojjerty in Ire-

l.and was subsequently lost to the family, and was ultimately

sold by auction by order of the Encumbered Estates court.

Thus lapsed the estate and property of the family of Arnot

of Fermanagh, and it is not known if there is any person of

the name descended from this family in Ireland. The last was

James Arnot of Rich-hill, Armagh, who had no m.ale issue,

grandson of .John Arnot, brother of James Arnot of Arnot

Grove, father of James of 1747. The family of Arnot Grove

are represented, in the female line, by the issue of tlie only

daughter of the latter. This gentleman had no brotliers or

sisters, but he had three uncles, brothers of his father. The
eldest, Hugh Arnot, principal of an educational institute at

Edenderry, King's county, dying unmarried, left Iiis property

to his nephew, James Arnot of Arnot Grove. IMichael Arnot,

the second uncle, liad two daughters, one of whom married a

gentleman of the name of Buchan.an, and w;is mother of

Mrs. Gabriel Montgomery of Lisnasi^e.a. John Arnot the

third uncle, had a son, Hugh, who married Sarah, daughter

of John Davies of Marketliill, Armagh. Hugh's son, James
Arnot, married Agnes, daughter of John Thomson of Sto-

neyg.ate, Ayrshire, heiress of the lands of Stoneygate, and

had two sons, John Thomson Arnot, and Hugh Arnot.

iie.xt appointment was superintending engineer .-it Masuli-

patam, with the rank of acting lieutenant of engineers. At
the end of 1782 he was superseded, when, quitting that

corps, he proceeded to JIadra.s, to join the army in the field,

and became aide-de-camp to JIajor General Stuart, the

commander-in-chief. After the siege of Cudalore, he was
appointed quarter-master of brigade to a portion of tlie

army that remained in the field in the vicinity of Madras,

until the peace of 1784, with Tippoo Sultaun. Soon

after he was nominated to the command of a Revenue bat-

t.-ilion at Tanjore, and in 1785 was attached to a grenadier

battalion. In 1787 he became senior captain in a corps

of Guides formed that year, and was employed in sur-

veying and exploring the whole face of the Carnatic.

The campaigns of the war with Tippoo Sultaun, which

commenced in 1790, enabled him to extend his trigonome-

trical survey over a great portion of the Jlysore. In con-

sequence of these surveys, and the extra-official assistance

rendered by liim in the attack of Bangalore, Severndroog,

and other forts, he was, by order of the Court of Directors,

placed upon the same footing, in respect to allowances, as a

major of the Guides. His intimate knowledge of the Pass of

Muglee en.abled liim to lead Lord Cornwallis thnmgh it in

Feb. 1791, and during the si-ge of Bangalore, as command-
ant of the Guides, he was employed in cunducting all recon-

uoitering parties. His recommendation that the tower of the

gateway should be breached, instead of the curtain on its

left, was adopted by Lord Cornwallis, who ordered an imme-

diate change in the point of attack, and the fortress was taken

by storm in 24 hours, in presence of the whole of the Sultaun's

army.

Captain Beatson next assisted at the siege of Nandedurgum,

which was also taken by storm. He also planned the attack

on Severndroog, and superintended and directed the siege of

that place, and in 14 days this formidable hiU-fbrt was also

taken. On tlie night of Feb. 1792, when Tippoo Sultaun's

entrenched camp was attacked in three columns by Lord

Cornwallis, Capt. Beatson led the right column, commanded

by Sir W. Medows, but an unfortunate mistake occurred, in

spite of his remonstrances, in the column turning to the right

instead of the left, and attacking a redoubt, which prevented

the British from experiencing all the success anticipated.

After the peace with Tippoo Sultaun in 1792, Capt. Beatson

was appointed Town Major of Fort-George, and aide-de-camp

to the governor. In 1793, by command of the Marquis Corn-

wallis, he prepared a plan for the attack of Pondiclieriy. In

1794, he was appointed chief engineer to the expedition, under

Col. .lames Stuart, against the Isle of France, and after the

operations of the war he returned to England in 1795. In

1797 he w.as again in India, having been appointed by the

Court of Directors to complete an investigation and survey

relating to a scheme for watering the Circars from the two

i

B

BicATSON,—under this surname (vol. i. p. 2G3), mention is

made of jMajor-general Beatson, who distinguished himself in

India. The second son of Robert BeaLson, Esq. of Kihie
Fifesbirc, he was born at Dundee, Oct. 24. 17.59. As a cadet
in the East India Company's service, he arrived at Madras
ill June 177G, and served for more than two vears witli the

corps of engineers there. He wa.s tlien appointed quarter-

master of brigade to a detachment in the field, but pre-

vious to .joining it, was permitted to do diitv with a Euro-
pean regiment at the siege of I'ondiclierry in 1778. His

great rivers, Kistnali and Godavery. He commenced his

survey on 14tli iMarch, 179S, but in July following he was

ordered to Calcutta, where he was named aide-de-camp to

the earl of Morningtoii, afterwards Marquis Wellesley, gov-

ernor-General of India. On the voyage he had prepared 'A

Sketch of a Plan of Operation against Tippoo Sultaun,' in

which he recommended the reduction of Seringapatam, as the

first and immediate object of the campaign. It obtained the

approval of the Governor-General, and in .laiiuary 1799 .Major

Beatson accompanied his lordship to Madras. When the

armv was about to invade the toriitories of Tippoo Sultaun,

Major Beatson was appointed Surveyor-General to the army

in the field. In the siege of Seringapatam, his plan of attack

was preferred to that by the engineer officers. After its cap-
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tui'i'. lie was sent to Kii^l.uul with dcsp;itclics, and w;is re-

warded, by tlie Court of Directoi's, liv an addition tn his li:d(-

]ja_v, as lieutenant-cdlcinel, oi'XloO per annum. At tlie siej;e

lie liad received a sun-stroke, tlie elTeuts ol' wiiicli lie felt liiv

many years.

In 1800, lie pul.lislied 'A View i>f the Origin and Conduct

of the War with Tippoo Sultaun, eomprising a Narrative of

the Operations of the Army under tlie Command of Lieuten-

ant-General George (afterwards I.orii) Harris, and of the

Siege of Sering.ipatam,' which embodies a full account of tlie

Campaign in Mysore.

Afier his arrival in Kngland. be pureliased tlie small estates

of Knowle Farm, llenly, Little llenly, and Delvidiere, in the

comity of Snsse.x, and devoted his .attention to agricultnie.

In October 1807 he was appointed by the Court of Directors

Governor of St. Helena, and such was the success of his ad-

ministration, that in five years he reduced the expenses of the

island to £6-2,-llG per annum, introduced the plough and

Chinese labourers, and effectually abolished inteniperanco

ahiongst the soldiers and others, by totally prohibiting the

I
imj)oi t of Indian spirits, and tlie establishment of breweries.

This last measure, however, and other circumstance.s, occa-

sioned a serious mutiny in the g.irrison in Dec. 1811, wliicli

lasted four days, but was at length suppressed, without the

loss of a single innocent life. His letter to the Court of

Directors, giving the details of the event, dated J.anu.ary 4,

1812, was afterwards published, with the title of 'Tracts

Kelative to the Island of St. Helena, written during a Resi-

dence of Five Years, by Major-General lieatson.' For his

conduct on that occasion he received the thanks of the Court

of Directors, and the most flattering commendations from Sir

John Cradock, governor of the Cape of Good Hope, and the

earl of iMinto, governor-general of India.

He returned to Kngland in Nov. 1813, and in August 1814,

by a recommendation to his R. H. the coinmander-iii-cliief,

the Court of Directors, who liad granted him the same rank,

obtained for him the brevet commission of major-genend in

the king's service, at St. Helena only, .-md dated in Aug. ISl,",

jireviously to his relinquishing the government of that island.

He also received ;i pension from the Fast India Company,

liesuming his agricultural pursuit.s, in 1820 he published a

work entitled 'A New System of Cultivation,' and in 1821, a

supplement to the same. He died :it Henly, Oct. 15, IS.'SO,

and was buried in the churchyard of the palish of Frant.

Ilia.i,, a surname of considerable antiquity both in Scotl.ind

and Fngland, supposed to be derived from the French word

Utile, Fair or lieautiful. A numerous clan of liells settled from

an early period in Aniiamlale, believed to li.ive come there

among the other Norman followers of Robert de lirus, to

whom a charter of .^nnandale was gninted by David I.

In the Ragman Roll, " Rotuli Scotia;,'' and other ancient

national records, are frequent notices of persons of the ii.aine

of Hell, not merely as landed proprietors, but .also as hold-

ing important benefices in the church.

The principal families of the name of P.ell were located in .\u-

r.andale from at least the beginning of the loth century; for,

above the outer door of the Tower of Blacket-bouse are the

initials W. I?., with the date l-lOl—and in 142(> there appe.iis

in the " Regla Diplomata" (F.ib. ii. c. 77 and 81). a charter of

the estate of Kii kconnell, in the parish of Kirkpati iek Fleming,

and .separated from lilaeket-liouse. parish of Middlebie, by

the river Kirtle, granted by Archibald ICarl of Douglas, in

favour of William Bell. On the binds of Kirkconnell was .'i

stronghold called the " Rellis Tour " or " Hell Castle,'" men-

tioned in an Act of parliament of date 1181, providing for the

safety of the borders—.and where in 14S3 Earl .laines of Doug-
las, accompanied by the banished duke of .Alliaiij-, is .said bv

reiiiiant to have passed the night before their defeat near

I.oclimaben the following day. The arms of Bell of Kirkconnell

were "azure three bells. Or," which was also the crest of liell

of Frovost-haugh, with the addition of a fesse of the same
metal between the bells.

It would appear that the clan of Bell in Dumfries-shire was

divided into two distinct sections, viz., the Bells of Tostints

or Toft-zaitts, and of Tindills or Tyndale. After the rout

of the Scottish army at Solw.iy Moss in 1512, various persons

were received as pledges for his majesty's service, and among
those bestowed in Yorkshire by the Counsaile were the Bella

of 7//Hr/«/e—pledge for them, .John Bell, of small sub.stance,

for 112 men; and Bells of Toft-zailts—pledge for them,

Thome Bell, having no lands and small gooils, for 142 men.

In 1517 an e.Kcursion was made on the West liorders by

I.ord Wharton, when many barons and cl.-ins submitted and
gave pledges to him (_i\'icolson's Hist, of Ciimhertand), that

they would serve the king of England with the number of

followers annexed to their names. Among others are. Bells

of 'I'ostints, 142; Bells of Tindills, 222. The origin of these

names has not been explained. They may, however, have

been derived from the districts which these sections of the clan

respectively inhabited in England, before their supposed emi-

gration from Yorkshire to Scotland with the family of De Brus.

In the act passed in 1585, freeing the earl of Morton from

all responsibility for acts done against James VI. since 1500,

among his dependents and allies are enumerated numerous
members of the clan Bell. Most of the places mentioned as

occupied by them were in Middlebie and the iiiimediatelv

aiijoining parishes. The name, indeed, was once so common
in the parish of Middlebie that the phrase " the Bells of

Middlebie" was formerly a current one in th.it county.

There are now few families of the name in the district, but a

large proportion of the tombstones in the parisli churcbv.ird

still bear the figure of a bell, indicating the great number of

persons of this surname who have been buried there.

The warlike habits of the clan, and the wild character of

that ;ige. are very clearly proved by the number of Towers or

Peels, belonging to lairds of the name of Bell, with which that

district was studded.

In the act of the Scots parliament passed in 1587, for re-

storing order to the Highlands and Borders, in connexion with

a provision by which the Captains and Chief's of Clans were

obliged to find hostages and security for the orderly conduct

of their clansmen and dependents, there was pulilislieJ "The
lioU of the CI ins that have Captains .and Chieftains on whom
they depend ofttinies against the will of their landlords, and

of some special per.sons of branches of said clans." On the

west march, among others are mentioned "Bells, Chief, be-

lieved to be Bell of Blacket-honse."

Among the clans of the debateaWe land in 1597, in An-
iiandaill, were the Belles—Will Bell of Alby, John Bell of

the Tourne, Mathie Bell called the King, Andro Bell called

I.okkis .Andro, and Will I'.ell, Redcloke.

In the Life of Dr. Currie of Liverpool an interesting de-

scription is given of the tower of Blacket-house, of which the

ruins are still to he found on the rom.intic banks of the Kirtle.

In 1585 William Bell of Blacket-house w:ts included in the

act of indemnity above nicntioiied. He had five brothers,

Wat, Tlioni, Francis, Richie, and Johne. The family seems

to have been largely concerned both actively and pa.«sively in

lliosi! border raids referred to in the bieviate of the bills of

ICiiglaiid fouled at Berwick upon the west m.arches of Scot-

land in 158fi. The balance w:is in favour of Scotland; for ic
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:\ claim in;iile fur tlie burning of Goddesbrig with 3,000 kine

and oxen, 4.000 sheep and gate, 500 horses and mares, tlie

loss was estimated at £40,000 Scots, wliich far exceeds tlie

asiKregdte chiims made by England for the same vear. This

William Bell was proprietor of Bhicket-house and Godsbrig,

botli situated in the parish of Middleliie, for in narrating the

marriage of his daughter Sibyll to Fergus Grahaine of Plonip,

he is called William Bell of Blacket-house in 'Nicholson's

Cumberland' and ' Plavfair's English Baronetage,' and Wil-

liam Bell of Godsbrig in 'Lodge's Baronetage' and in ' Burke's

Peerage and Baronetage.' This Fergus Graliame of Plomp,

who mamed Sibyll Bell, was the great-grandson of .John

Grahame (2d son of JIalise, earl of Menteith), who retired

to the borders, and was the founder of the clan Graliame as

well on the Scottish as the English side. Of this mar-

riage the 2d son, Richard, accompanied Charles I., when

prince of Wales, in his romantic journey through France

and Spain, was created .1 baronet (of Esk) in ItiiO, rose in

arms with the king in 16-tl, and lay all night wounded

among the slain after the battle of Edgehill. He purchased

the barony of Netherbie from the earl of Cumberland, and

died in 16.53.

We find John Bell of Blacket-honse indited in lij-U fir

the slaughter of Irwyn of Braes, a neighb(mriiig laird. A
remission from his majesty was pleaded in bar of trial, and

eventually the diet was deserted. John Bell of Blacket-house

was in 16-18 one of the commissioners of war within the shire

of Dumfries, and he survived at least till 1603.

Georffe Bell in Godsbrig is included in the Act of In-

demnity passed in 1062, in favour of those who had acted

treasonably against the king during the civil war. He w.as

fined XI,000 Scots. Oying in 1G94, he was succeeded by his

son William Bell of Godsbridpe and Blacket-house. Both

properties were sold, ami the latter was purchased towards

the middle of last century, by his younger brotlier Ben-

jamin Bell, who having early in life taken the farm of

Woodliouselie in Canonbie, belonging to the Buccleucli

family, afterwards engaged very extensively in the rearing

and sale of cattle, and purchased Blacket-house from his

brother, and the adjoining lands of Cushat-hill.

George Bell, son of Benjamin Bell of Blacket-house, by

Rebecca Graham, of the family of Breckoiihill, Cumberland,

was born in 1722. He was in early life engaged in the

Levant trade, was afterwards partner of Mr. Blair of Belmont

as a merchant in Dumfries, and having been unfm-tunate in

business, succeeded his father in the farm of Woodliouselie.

where he remained until his death in 1813. He led the way

in the agricultural progress of the surrounding districts, and

originated many of those improvements which, completed by

two succeeding generations of his family, have made Wood-

liouselie .1 model farm and beautiful residence. He married

.•ibout 1745 Anne Corrie, daughter of James Corrie, Esquire

of Speiidoch in Dumfries-shire, and had a numerous family.

The eldest son was the celebrated surgeon, Bknja.mi.v

Bicix, of whom a memoir and portrait have already been

given at page 273, vol. i. of thi.= work. As stated there, he

married Grizel, only daughter of Rev. Robert Hamilton, D.D.,

professor of divinity in the University of Edinburgh, by .lean,

daughter of John l l.ay, Esq. of Haystnnn, Peebles-shire, and

left 4 sons. George, the eldest, b. 1777, and .Toseph, the

vnungest. b. 1786, d. 1818, were fir many years leading

members of the medical profes.sion in Edinburgh. Robert,

the 2d son, b- 1782, advocate and .slierilf of the counties of

Uerwick and Haddington, has for many years been procnr.itor

for the Church of Scotland. William, the 3d son. born in

1783, was a writer to the signet, .-iiul for some time Crown

agent during Lord Jlelbourne's administration. He died in

1849
!

One of the Bells of Blacket-house is associated with the
'

tragic ballad of ' Fair Helen of Kirkeonnel Lee.' The particu- I

lars of the stoiy on which it is founded, though transmitted by
!

tradition, have never been doubted. According to it, fair Helen I

w;is of the family of the Bells of Kirkeonnel, althongh some

accounts call her Irving, This is owing to the uncertain date

of the ballad; for, although the last proprietors of Kirkeonnel

were named Irving, when deprived of their possessions bv

Robert JLaxwell in 1600, yet the residence of the ladv's

family was commonly called " Bell's Tower," anil she is

supposed to have been the daughter of one of the Bells of

Kirkeonnel. Her fathers house stood on the banks of the

beautiful and classic Kirtle, and, on its being taken down,
,

the materials were employed in building the mansion-
i

li'iuse of Springkell, the residence of Sir John Jlaxivell,
I

baronet. She was beloved by two gentlemen in the
\

neighbourhood, of the names of Adam Fleming of Kirk-
j

Patrick and a Bell of Blacket-house. The former was !

the favoured suitor. The latter had the countenance of the

lady's friends. The lovers were, therefore, obliged to meet
i

clandestinely, and by night, in the churchyard of Kirkeonnel,
j

a romantic spot, almost surrounded by the river Kirtle. '

During one of these secret meetings, the rejected lover sud-

denly appeared on the opposite bank of the stream, and lev-

elled his carabine at the breast of his rival. Helen threw

herself before her lover, and receiving in her bosom the bullet

intended for him, expired in his arms. Fleming immediatelv

drew his sword and pursued the assas.sin. After a desperate

combat between them, Bell was cut to pieces. Some ac-

counts say that Fleming pursued the murderer to .Spain, and

slew him in the streets of Madrid. He afterwards served as

a soldier on the continent, and, on his return to Scotland, he

is said to have visited the grave of his unfortunate mistress,

and beside it to have died. The grave of the lovers is yet

pointed out in the churchyard of Kirkeonnel, On the tomb-

stone are sculptured a cross and a sword, with the following

inscription, now scarcely legible, " Hie Jacet Adamus Fleem-

ing," He is said to have belonged to a family formerly of

considenible note in that part of the country, whose surname

gave the addition to the name of the parish of Kirkpatrick-

Fleming. That fair Helen received her death from a cara-

bine is beautifully alluded to in the following stanza of one

of the many ballads on the subject:

" Wae to the heart that thought the thought

!

Curst be the hand that fired the shot!

When in my arms Burd Helen dropp'd

AnA died for luve of me."

Burd is an old poetical name for maiden. Some of the
j

stanzas in the old ballad are peculiarly touching, particularly
j

the one which commences the second part:

" I wish I were where Helen lies.

Night and day on me .she cries;

0 that I were where Helen lies.

On fair Kirkeonnel lee!
"

In tlie churchyard of Anwoth, Dumfries-shiro, there is a

monument to the memory of John Bell of Whiteside, a mar-
j

tvrof the Covenant. He had been forfeited in 1680, in con-

sequence of having been engaged at the battle of Botliwell

Bridge, and after having been for some years in hiding, he

was in 1685 surprised, with some others, by Sir Robert
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Grierson of Lag. on tlie liiU of Kirkconnel, in the parisli of

Toiii;l:ind. Grierson onlered them to be ijistiintiy put to

deatli, and would not allow their bodies to be buried. Mr.

Bell was tlie only sun of the heiress (jf Whiteside, who, after

the death of his father, had married Viscount Kenmure.

This nobleman, after the martyrdom of his stepson, met

Grierson on the street of Kirkcudbright, in company of a

brother persecutor, Graham of Claverliouse, and accused him

ofci'uelty. Grierson answered him in such highly offensive

language that his lordsliip drew his sword, and would have

slain him on the spot had nut Claverliouse interposed and

saved his life.

I'lci.scill'.s, a surname of considerable antiquity in the

south of Scotland, the first of the nair:e north of the Tweed

having, at an early period, possessed the estate of lielsches in

Koxburghshire. Those of this name deduce their origin

from the family of llalph de ISelasyse of Belasyse, in the

county of Durham, whose daughter and heiress, Elgiva, mar-

ried liowland, ancestor of the earl of Fauconberg, son and

heir of liul.isius, a Norman baron who came to England with

William the Conqueror. The surname w,-is variously written

at diffeient periods, Behisis, Belases, Belshes, Belshaes, and

latterly Belsclies.

.lolin, born about l.iSO, the elder of two sons of Belsches of

Belsches, was the progenitor of the family of Belsches of

Tofts, Berwickshire. In IGOG, this .lohn Belsches was ad-

mitted advocate, and, two years al terwards, he nnirried .lanet,

third daugliter of the celebrated Sir Tliomiis Craig of Kiccar-

ton, lord-advocate. In IGlo, he acquired right to the lands

and barony of Stitchel and others from Sir Robert Gordon of

I.ochinvar; and in 1G21, he purchased the landsof Over and

Nether Tofts, and others, erected into a free barony in his

favour. May 2.t, ](i25. He married a second time, a lady

of the inimc of Marjory Kae, by whom he had one son, John,

and died in September 1631.

His son, Sir Alexander Belsches, advocate, represented the

county of Berwick, in the parliament of IG-iJ, and succeed-

ing parliaments of Charles 1. and II. lie was knighted

by Cliarles I., and appointed a bird of session, 2d July,

1(540, when he assumed the title of Lord Tofts. A pension

of nearly £200 sterling per annum was granted to lum

by that unfortunate monarch, under his sign manual,

dated at Carisbrook Castle, 27th iJecember IG-IS. By the

coninnttee of the Estates of the kingdom, he was no-

minated principal sherift' of Berwickshire, 28th September

IGoO. He was a member of the most important committees

of parliament at that stormy period, either as Sir Alexander

Belsches or Lord Tofts, and in IGol was again nominated

one of the committee of Kst.ites, as also ol the cmnmittee for

iininaging the afi'airs of the army, in the formation of which

he voted against the party of the duke of Hamilton,

or "Engagers." He was greatly in the confidence of the

earl of Loudoun, lord-chancellor, and had the misfortune

to engage himself deeply as surety for th.it nobleman. He

married Jean, d.'inghter of Mr. John Skene of Hallyards,

one of the clerks of session, and died, without issue,

in 1C56. He was succeeded by liis brother, John Bel-

sches of Tofts, who, on account of Sir Alexander's eng.age-

ments, was obliged to sell jiart of his estates, and, among

others, the greater part of Tolts. Sir Alexander's heirs had

a claim of relief, which became tlie subject of a long litiga-

tion, and ended in a compromise, nearly ruinous to the fam-

ily. The portion of Tofts which was sold was purchased by

Sir William Turves, baronet, in lti7n, and by him called Tur-

ves' Hail.

,Iolin Belsches of Tofts married Ann, daughter of Sir David
Alton of Balquhniiirie, advocate, a younger son of the an-
cient family of Alton of that ilk, and had three sons: John,
who succeeded his father; Ale.sander, the first of the family

of Invermay; and William, who died without i-ssue, in Ja-
maica; and two daughters, Ann, i^lrs. Nisbet of Eastbank,

her husband being a younger son of Sir Tatrick Nisbet of

Dean
; and .Maiy. who died unmarried. He died in March

lGi)3.

John Belsches of Tofts, the eldest son, married .Jane Swin-
toii, daughter of Lord Jlersington, a lord of session, and had

by her three sons: 1. Charles; 2. James, who died with-

out issue; 3. William; and two daugliters, Ann and
Helen, the latter married to Thomas Belsches of Green-

yards, without issue. He conveyed his estate to liis

eldest son, Charles Bel.sclies of Tofts, who dissipated

nearly the whole that remained of the family property, and,

dying without issue, was succeeded by his youngest brother,

William. The latter made a fortune in India, where he had
gone when very young, and on liis return to Scotland in

17.52 he married his cousin, Emilia Stuart Belsches, after-

wards mentioned.

The family of Inverm.ay are descended directly from Alex-

ander, second son of John Belsches of Tofts and Ann Alton.

He acquired the beautiful estate of Invermay, Perthshire,

celebrated for its Birks " or birches, and married Amelia,

daughter of Sir Thomas iMurray of Glendoicli, lord-clerk-

register of Scotland, and heiress of Tatrick Hepburn of

Blackcastle, parson of Oldhanistocks, and had bv her three

sons: 1. John; 2. Thomas, who married JIargaret Hepburn

of Baads, by whom he had two sons, Alexander and Uobert.

He married a second time, Helen Belsches; o. Alexander,

and two daughters, Babie and Amelia.

John Belsches of Invermay, the eldest son, married, first,

Mary, second daughter of Daniel Stu.art, merchant in Edin-

burgh, the direct ancestor of the Stuarts of Fetterc.iirn. He
had several children, who all died young, except one daughter.

He married a second time, Margaret, daughter of Sir William

Stuart of Castlemilk, baronet.. The daughter, Emilia Stu.irt

Belsches, in 1752, as above stated, married her cousin, William

lielsches of Tofts, the only surviving son and heir of John

Belsches of Tofts. Her husband died 21st October 1753,

aged 30. She survived him till 1807, without marrying

again. They had one son, John Belsches, advocate, who, on

the death, at Pari.s, in 1777, of his grauduiicle. Sir William

Stuart, succeeded to his b;u-onetage, as his lineal male heir,

and the representative and heir of line and provision of his

great-grandfather, Daniel Stuart, brother german of Sir

William Stuart of Castlemilk, the I'Jtli generation, in a direct

male line, fi-om Walter, son of Ahm, high steward of Scot-

land in 1164. Having purchased the estate of Eettercairn,

and being the lineal representative of the ancient family of

Wishart of Tittarrow, he w.as designed Sir John Wishart

Belsches, baronet, of Eettercairn, till 17U7, when he assumed

the surname of Stuart only, by license under the royal sign

manual. Sir John Stuart was, in 1807, appointed one of

the barons of exchequer in Scotland. He married Lady Jane

Leslie, eldest daughter of David, curl of Leven and Melville,

and had an only child, Willianiina, marrieii. in 1797, to

William Forbes, Esq., subsequently Sir William I'orbes of

Titsligo, baronet, and had, with other children. Sir John

Stuart Forbes, eighth baronet of I'itsligo and Fettercairii.

(See vol. ii. p. 233.)

.lolm ISelsclies of Invermay, by his .'second wife, left one

son, who married Mary, daughter and licitess of Sir Tatrick
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Hepbuni MuiTrt}' of Bnlmanno Castle, Peitlishire, l)iiniiiet,

and assumed the names of Hepburn Murray in addition to

Belsclies. He left two sons, Alexander Hepburn Murray

Belsches of Invermay and Balmanna Castle, appointed, in

1819, a deputy-lieutenant of Pertlisliire ; and John Murray

Belsches, a major-general in the army (1855). He served in

the peiunsula, and has the war medal with 4 clasps.

In Invermay House there are, among other paintin;;s, a

series of large family pictures and exquisite miniatures, like-

nesses of the MuiTays and Hepburns, ancestors of the Bel-

sches of Invermay. The family also pre.serve, with great

care, a splendid jug, encased in gold and silver filigree work,

presented by Queen JIary to Adam Hepburn, parson of Old-

liamstocks, who married her to the earl of Bothwell.

Alexander Hepburn, of the family to which that of Hep-

burn-Jiurray-Bclsches belongs, was, on October 10, 11)34,

elected one of tlie regents or professors in the university of

Edinburgh, as we learn from the list of t}ie principals and

professors, from its foundation to tlie year 1700, in the

register of tlie town council of that city.

The surname of Belcher in Englayd, from a similarity in

the arms, is supposed to be the same as that of Belsches.

According to Mr. Mark Antony Lower, the former is derived

from the old French words Bel chere, ' good company.' Thus

Chaucer says,

" For cosynage and eck for bele cheer.''

The same .authority states that Bellasis, the original of

Belsches, is only Belle aasez in French, meaning 'handsome

enough.'

BoNAl;, a surn.ame belonging to a family of French origin,

which settled in Scotland in the reign of King William the

Lion. According to an ancient family tradition, the name

was originally Bonares, and was first assumed by a valvassor

of Aquitaine, named Guilhem le Danois, claiming descent

from the Danish Vikingrs, who, in 842, sailed up the Loire,

and founded a colony at Angers. A band of Pagan North-

men which ln' liad defeated, during one of the many invasions

to which Fi-ance in those times was subjected, had intrenched

themselves with their booty in the Abbey of St. Blaise sur

Loire, to which he set fire, and for this act he was blamed by

many at court as Iiaving been guilty of sacrilege, but the

then king of Franco approved of what lie had done, and turn-

ing to his accusers, exclaimed, in the rude Latin of the period,

" Bona res ! Bona res ! Conspectu Dei et Regis !" " A good

thing, a good thing, in the eyes of God and the King! " in con-

sequence of which he was thenceforth called Guilhem de Bon-

ares, an appellation which descended as a patronymic to his

race. In the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries, the name in

Scotland was written Bonare and frequently Bonares; and

afterwards, with a circumflex, Bonar ; but the accent is now-

placed on the first instead of the last syllable.

Sir Guilhem (or William) de Bonare, the first of the family

who came to Scotland, before 1200 received from William

the Lion, a grant of lands in Perthshire, to be held of the

crown in fief, to which he gave his own name, yet borne by

the village of Bonar, situated at the foot of a hill, on the

sunmiit of which arc the ruins of Castle Bonar, the donjon or

keep being the only portion now remaining. Although the

barony has long since passed into other hands, it still contin-

ues to he a saying amongst the peasantry that "tlio .auld

tower will stand till the Bonares come back."

Sir Guilhem was succeeded by his son, William, who was

living about 1230, in the reign of King Alexander the Second.

The son of the latter, ^\'illiam-l^)g^.•r de Bonar, took the

cross, in 1248-9, and joined the sixth crusade with the other

Scottish knights, whom Alexander the Third sent to Pales-

tine, to fight under the banner of St. Louis. He was a

knight of the Sacred and ililitary Hospitaller Order of the

Holy Sepulchre. He returned from the Holy Land in 1254-5.

He is known to have had two sons, viz. William, his succes-

sor, and John of Laindes, who went to Flanders, .and w:is

progenitor of several lines which flourished both in that coun-

try and in Sweden, Poland, Moravia, Silesia, and Bre^u.
Jlor^ry, in liis ' Grand Dictionaire Historique,' thus mentions

them, " Bonar, famille noble en Ecosse, dont plusieurs

branches se sont etablies en Flandres, en Swede, eu Pologne,

et en autres pays de I'Europe."

In the Supplementary Volume of Burke's ' Landed Gentry

of Great Britain and Ireland,' a very full account is given of

the family of Bonar, in relation to the Bonares of Bonare,

Kelty, Kilgrastou and Kimmerghame, and from it we extract

the following pass.ige :
" Of all the continental branches, the

most illustrious were the Polish lines, which rose to great

importance, and filled the highest offices in that kingdom,

holding the dignities of Lord High Chancellor, of Earl-senes-

chal, or Burgrave-palatin of Cracow, of Prime ilinister of

the Crown, of Premier lay senator of Poland, of Lord-chief-

govemor, or Magnus Gubernator, of Lord high treasurer, of

Lord president of the States, or Tavernicorum Kegalium

Magister, of Grand Master of the Mint and Mines. They

were also invested with the rank and title of Starosts, or earls

of the kingdom of Poland, and of Barons of the Holy Piomaii

Empire, (which last dignity was possessed by all the other

Continental branches of this family,) and produced several

prelates eminent both by their learning and piety, of whom
the two most conspicuous were Theobald, of the Silesian

branch, (issued i'rom a younger son of John, lord high trea-

surer of Poland, temp. King Sigismund I.,) who was General

of the Franciscans ; and still greater lustre has been shed on

the name by the virtues and piety of St. John-Isajah de Bo-

nare, patron-saint of Casimirowna, who, dying in odour of

sanctity, in 1473, was canonized, and is recorded in the cal-

endar on the Sth of Febimary, as appears in the Acts of the

Ballandists. This eminent personage was brother of John de

Bonare, lord high chancellor of Poland, temp. King Casimir

IV. The four most illustrious descendants of this family

on the Continent, and all descended from John of Laindes,

were, 1st. Jehan de Bonare (of the Flemish line) lioth

magister of the armies of France, who .signalized himself by

the victory gained over the English in 1337; 2d. St. John-

Isajah de Bonare, patron saint of Casimirowna ; od. John de

Bonare, Starost of Zutor, Rabzstym, and Oczwyccin, Baron of

Biecin,-and of the Holy Roman Empire, Premier lay senator

of Poland, Burgrave Palatin of Cracow, and JIagnus Guber-

nator, in 1550, who married his daughter to John de Firley,

Heritable Grand -marshal and Palatin of Poland, elected

king in 1572, but resigned in favour of King Henry de Valois;

this lady is said by Mismiez to have carried a considerable

portion of the possessions of the family of Bonar into the

house of Firley, by her marriage ; 4. John de Bauer (of the

Swedish line). Field-marshal and Generalissimo of the Nor-

thern League, in 1640." It is thought by Swedish writers

that the knightly house of Baner in Sweden, on whose name

the celebrated field-marshal has throwi such lustre, derive

their origin, name and arms from the Bonar family above

alluded to, and that their name of Baner, as it were Banner, is

deduced from the two banners added to their arms by the

king of France, in commemoration of the signal victory gained

by Jlessire Jehan de Bonare over the English.

William Bonare, the elder son of William- Roger, the Cru-
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saJer, held tlie office of royal seneschal of tlie castle of King-

horn, then called Kyngshorne, at tlie time of the death, in its

immediate neighhourliood, of Alexander the Tliird, who, hy

tlie stumbling of his hoi'se, was thrown over a high rock, now

called King's Crag, and killed, in 128j-6, an event, in its

consequences, most calamitous to Scotland. [See vol. i. p. 07.]

His son and successor, William lionare of Bonare, is men-

tioned in the Chamberlain's Rolls (vol. i. fol. 'JO), as royal

seneschal of Kinghorn, in the reign of liobert tlie First. He

had heen a staunch adherent of Sir William Wallace, and

fought at liannockburn in loll, under the banner of Uobeit

the Bruce.

His only son, William Robert lionare, was royal seneschal

of Kinghorn in the reigns of Robert the First and David the

Second, as appears from mention made of him in the Cham-

berlain's Rolls, fol. 1.i7, ann. 1U28, and again fol. lij?, ami.

13'2S), and fol. I'J'i, aim. 1330. In the second of these re-

cords the name is written Boner, which is the only instance

in Scotland of the orthography so constantly occurring on the

continent. He fought at the battle of Halidoii IliU in 1333,

and was killed at the battle of Durham in lo lti, as appears

from the mention in the Chamberlain's rolls, fol. 31)!), of a

payment made to his widow, in which he is styled not

seneschal but " Constabularius de Kyngshorne, qui niortmis

est sub vexillo dominij nostri Regis;" and notice is likewise

taken of a sum of monies paid to him by order of the king, a

short time before that disastrous battle, in ^^ llich the king

was taken prisoner. By Margaret, his wile, of the family of

Wemvss of Weiiiyss, he had two sons; John, his heir, and

James, of Bonarton, founder of that line, wliich continued for

about three Iiundred years, and ancestor of other branches

which, ill the sixteenth century, llourished in Poland and

Silesia.

His son and successor, .John Boiiar, was at the murderous

siege of Caerlaverock Castle, in 1355, wlien this forlress, with

the castle of Dalswinton, was taken from the English, liy

Roger Kirkpatrlck of Closeburn, who remained faithl'ul

amidst the general defection of the nobles, and preserved the

whole territory of Nithsdale in allegiance to the Scottish

crown. John Bonar of Bonare was still living in 1380. He

married Anne, of the Ramsays of Dalliousie, and left three

sons, viz., William, his heir; James, of Rossie, in lufe, founder

of the Rossie Bonars, and of other lines. Of the first was

William, fourth baron of Rossie, who, during the thirty years'

war, went to Sweden, having, previous to his departure, re-

ceived from King Charles the Second a birth-brief, given

under the great seal of Scotland, 14th June, 1G70, in which,

after authenticating eight degi'ees and sixteen quarters on

cither side, both paternal and maternal, his majesty was

pleased to recommend him to the good graces of the Swedish

monarch, " as a gentleman eminent alike by the nobility of

his blood and his own valour." In Sweden he rose to liigh

military rank. lie married the Countess Elizabeth de Grain-

mont-Brossart-vander-Decken, w-liose family had the honour

of being allied to the royal house of Sweden, and from him

sprang the lines of the barons de Bonare in Bremen and

Silesia. From the line of Rossie also derived the barons of

Cairnbuddy in Scotland, who held their lands immediately

from the crown ; also, the lairds of Bonariield, of whom David,

the first, was killed at Flodden; the lairds of Balgcrshaw, and

the lairds of Easter Rossie, of whom John, the first laird, was

killed at Flodden; with the legitimated line of Colty, and the

lines of the lairds of Forgandenny and Cowbyres. Tiie third

son of Sir John do Bon.are was named John. He was the pro-

genitor of the family of Friarton, of which James, the first

laird, was killed at Flodden.

The eldest son, William Bonar of Bonare, was the first of

this family designated of Kelty, which afterwards became tlio

chief barony of the family. He served in the French wars

under the earl of Buchaii, son of the first duke of Albany,

who led a body of Scottisli knights to the assistance of the

dauphin against the English, and, under the bold bastard of

Orleans, gained the victories of Beaugti in 14"21, and of Ver-

neuil ill [See vol. i. p. 3'J.] After his return to Scot-

land, Bonar appeared in arms at the battle of Arbroath, in

1445, and again, at Sauchiebnrn, in 1448, with his sons by

his side. By his marriage with Christian, of the Balfours
i

of Burleigh, (whose namesake and kinswoman had married i

William Bonar of Rossie, kinsman and n.imesake of this

baron,) he left four sons, viz., John, his heir; William, of
j

Kelty, who died in 1478, leaving three .sons, of whom the
|

eldest, Ninian, succeeded to the representation of the family
;

[

Robert of Strathy Bonar, ancestor of the Bonars of Strathy

and Coulle, both extinct; .and Jame.s, of Bonah.alfl'e, who
married Anne, daughter of Inglis of Tarvat, and had with

another son, \\'illiam, of Drunidowane, a successor, John, of

Kilgraston, a descendant of whom became eventually chief of

the ho\ise of Bonar.

William Bonar of Kelly die.l in 14(11), and was succeeded

by his eldest son, John Bonar. He assisted at a grand tour-

nament at Falkland, in which, amongst other sjiorts, a com-

bat of the king's lions and leopards w.as to be shown. One
huge lion broke from his den and rushed towards the queen's

tribune, when Bonar of Kelty, seizing a piece of flesh pro-

vided for the feeding of the animal.s, flung himself before

it, thus turning its attention upon himself, and then killed

it with his dagger; in commemoration of which bold

feat, the king granted to him a chief on his coat of arms,

charged with a lion ramjiant, encountered by two hands clad i

in steel gauntlets, of which the sinister bears a piece of animal
j

flesh, and the dexter a poniard. Buchanan records this Jolm
j

Bonar of Kelty, amongst the barons who signed the .act of
j

settlement of the Crown of Scotland in favour of Prince John I

of Scotland, didce of Albany, and his heirs, failing the king's

issue, in 1477. He had likewise signed the demand of Prince i

Alexander of Scotland, duke of Albany, father of the said
j

Prince John, for a divorce from his duchess Catherine Sinclair,

daughter of the carl of Orkney and Caithness, lord high

chancellor of Scotland. He m.arried Margaret, of the Setons
j

of Parbroath, by whom he had an only son, Ninian, who died i

in infancy, and he was succeeded by his nephe\v, I^inian, ;

above mentioned, eldest son of \\'illiam of Kelty, and grandson
!

of William of Bonare. Sir Xinian was created a knight
j

banneret on the field of Sauchiebuni in 1488, in which I

j

he is said to have saved the life of Prince James, after-
,

wards James tlie Fourtli, by whose side he was killed
[

at Flodden, Oth September, 1513. He married belbre

1505, JIargaret Oliphant, Lady of Dron. sole daughter and
j

heretrix of .John Oliphant of Dron, Dumbarney, Pitcaithly,
|

.and Binzean, a descendant in the direct male line of Walter
[

Oliphant of Aberdalg\-o, Gask, &c., by Princess Elizabeth of
;

Scotland, daughter of King Robert the First. By his wife

he had three sons, of whom Walter, the eldest, succeeded

him. Besides these, he had a natural son, Andrew, of Pit- 1

1

cairns, ancestor of that line, and Janet, both legitimated alter
I

the death of their fither, by charter under the great seal of !

Scotland, 24th June 1520. Sir Ninian had led eight of his
J

kinsmen, with their followers, besides his eldest son, under
j

his banner, to the fatal field of Flodden, and live of tliem
|

were left dead on the field by his side.
,

The eldest son, Sir Walter Bonar, received a diarfer
i

granted by King James the Fifth under the great seal of
j
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Scotland, 5t.li Jlarcli, 1525, according to whicli " liis heritable

barony of Kelty was to be liolden by liiin and liis heiis male

immediately of the king and his successors in free barony."

Having a ieud witli Andrew Kollo of Dimcrub, ancestor of

I.ord I'oUo, and Godl'rey Wilson, he attacked them in the

parish church of Dunning, and wounded the latter, for whicli

act of violence he succeeded in obtaining a remission under the

great seal of Scotland, 28th January 1526-7. He married

Beatrice, of the Hays of Errol, by whom he liad a daughter,

Isabel, married to Cliarles, of the Rutherfurds of Fairnilee, and

two sons, William, his successor, and John of Trevor, who mar-

ried Margaret Colville of the Culross family, and liad, with

other issue, a son and lieir, Janies of Trevor, from wliom

dei-ived also the Bonars of Bogliall, of Nether Cultuquhaire,

and of Eyemouth ; with tlie legitimated line of Kinclady,

founded by his natural son, John, of Kinclady, legitimated

under the great seal of Scotland, 18th January, 158(j.

Sir Walter resigned his bai'oiiy into the queen's hands, by

deed dated at Kelty, 23d February 1535, in favour of his son,

William Bonar, who fought at the battle of Pinkie in 1547.

William's son, Ninian, received fi-om King James tlie Sixth a

gnmt of the island of North Ronaldshay, and investiture, per

charter under the great seal, 28tli July, 1591. Having no

male issue, he resigned the barony by act dated at Kelty, 2Stli

Novembei', IGIO, in favour of his brother, Robert Bonar.

The last baron of Kelty, William Bonar, gi'eat-graiidson of

this Robert, died in Dccenibci', 1G91, without issue, wlien his

kinsman, John Bonar, the sixth pi-oprietor of Kilgi'aston, be-

came tlic chief of the family. He was the eldest son of John,

fifth laii'd of Kilgraston, and Agiies, daughter and heir of

Laurence Graham of Callander, a scion of Jlonti'ose, and in

riglit of his mother repi-esentative and heir of line of Graham

of Callander. He died in 1G94, and was succeeded by his

son, Jolin Bonar, born 16th Januai-y 1670, married IGtli

December 1693, Grizzel, daugliter of Gilbert Bennett of

Beatli, by whom he had seven children, all of whom except

two, John the eldest, and Andi-ew, died young. During the

troubles of those days he was subjected to persecution for his

attachment to Presbyteriaiiism. He was settled in the p.nrish

of Toi-phichcn in 1693, and contiiiued in that chaige till his

death, 7th August 1747, a period of filty yeais. He was

kiiown as one of tlie twelve JIaiTOW men, and was the inti-

mate fiiend of Ebenezer and Ralph Erskine. His third son

Andrew, was founder of the Bonars of Camden and Elmstead,

in the county of Kent, England. By a disposition dated at

Kilgi'aston, 23d October 1696, he conveyed his tenandiy of

Kilgi'aston, with the castle, manor, and lands thereof, to his

cousins, Oliphant of Cai'ssow, Oliphant of Cultuquhaii-e,

Jluitay of Auchtei tyrc, and Craigie of Dumbai'ny, in mort-

gage, under reversion and reservation of free rcgi ess and in-

gi-ess to said tenandry of Kilgraston, to his lieir-niale.

His eldest son, John, bore the designation of titular of

Kilgi-aston. He was born at Torphiclien 25th July 1696,

and became a miiiister. He was settled in the pai'islies of

Eetlar and North Zell in Shetland in the year 1729, and died

there in 1752. He was distinguished as a classical scholar

and well acquainted with the Oi'iental languages. One of

his descendants, 'I'homson Bonai-, became connected with an

extensive mercantile house in Russia, which still beai-s the

name,—and, along with his wife, was murdered by their

valet in London, in June 1813. Another of the sons of

John Bonar, named Andrew, was born in March 1734, mai-

ried Patience Eedmore, by whom ho left two sons, James

and Williain, and a d'aughtei-, Anne, who niairied the Rev.

Aicbiliald Bonar, minister of Cramond. The eldest son of

John Bonar of Fetlar was John, the last titular of Kilgias-

ton. He was boiii 4th November 1721,—became a minister,

—was ordained atCockpen 22d August 1746,—translated to

Perth in Januai-y 1756, and died there 21st December 1761.

He was the author of seveial leligious publications, one of

wiiich, entitled ' Observations on the Conduct and Character

of Judas Iscariot,' lias been frequently repiinted. His eld-

est son, also John Bonai', born in 1747, on the abolition of

the feudal system of Scotland relinquished the qualification

of titular of Kilgraston, which his father had borne. He
was eminent in his day for his piofound knowledge of the

Revenue laws, united with an acute discernment in the ap-

plication of them. In 1764, while at the university of lidin-

bui-gh, he and five other stndeiits, namely, Mr. William

Creech, the bookseller; Mr. John Bruce, afterwai'ds profes-

sor of logic there; Henry Mackenzie, author of the 'Man of

Feeling;' and Mi-. Belches, afterwards of Invermay; with

the view of mutual improvement in public speaking, origi-

nated the debating club, called the Speculative Society,

whicli still flourishes. He was secretary of the society from

its institution till November 1771. On 8th February of that

year he received an unanimous vote of thanks for his zeal

and attention to the interests of the society. He read in all

fourteen essays to the society, his last in 1775, indicating an

attendance of more than eleven years. He afterwards be-

came solicitor of excise. The minister, Lord Melville, and

the board of Treasui'v placed great confidence in his judg-

ment in questions of revenue. He was author of a pamphlet

entitled ' Consideration on the proposed application to His

Majesty and Parliament for the establishment of a Licensed

Theatre in Edinburgh ;' printed in 1767. He died in 1807,

unmarried.

The second son of John Bonar of Perth, Andrew Bonar,

with his immediate younger brother, Alexander, was partner

of the banking liOU.se of Eamsays, Bonars, & Co. In 1792 he

acquired the pioperty of Warriston in the neighbourhood of

Edinburgh, and, in 1818, purchased the estate of Kinimer-

ghame in Berwickshire. He died 5lh August 1825. He
was succeeded in the estate of Kinimerghame by his eldest

son, John, born in 1793, and died, unmarried, in July 1834.

His brother James, one of the partners of the firm of Small,

Colquhoun & Co., merchants, London, succeeded him. The

latter married JIary, daugliter of Sir Patrick Murray of Och-

tertyre. In 1846 he sold the estate of Kimmerghame to

Jliss Campbell of Blythswood. One of his brothers, William,

born in 1797, married Lilias, daugliter of Alexander Cun-

ningham, Esq. of Craigends; issue, one daugliter; another,

Andrew, born in 1802, married in 1833, Marcelline, daugli-

ter of JI'Donell of Glengarry
;

issue, two sons and two

daughters.

The third son of John Bonar of Perth was Alexander Bo-

nar, who was born 22d Februaiy 1750, married Sarah

M'Call, daughter of John M'Call, merchant in Glasgow,

died in April 1820. He was a partner in the house of Rani-

savs, Bonars, & Co., and was pi-oprietor first of Rosebank, on

which a part of Edinburgh is now built—then of Craighall, in

the neighbourhood of Edinbui-gh, and subsequently purchased

in 1818 the estate of R.itbo, situated about eight miles west

of Edinburgh. He left five daughters and one son, named

John, who succeeded liira in the est.ite of Ratho, and died

unmarried in 1838. The estate of Ratlio afterwards passed

(in 1844) into the hands of the late Robert Cadell, Esq.,

the publi.sher of Sir Walter Scott's works, and subse-

quently into the possession of Old Ewing, Esq., a Glasgow

merchant.

Ai-chibald, third son of John Bonar of Perth, was minister

of Craninnd, and died in 1816, leaving two sons and several
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dauj;litc'i\s. One of liis koiis, named John, wii.s al.su ii niiiiis-

tei' of tlie Churcli of Seutlaiul.

Tlie foui th sun of J(plin I'uniM- w:is Tlioinson lionar, mer-

cliant in ]idinliurgli, wlio in 1792 iniiiried a daiipliter of

Jlr. Andrew liell, engraver, jiroprietor of tlie original Ency-

clopedia liritaiinica. After liis fatlier-in-law's death he pur-

chased from his executors the entire property of this woik,

and carried on tlie printing of it at the Grove, Fountain-

hridge. lie had two daughters and three sons,—.lohn, An-

drew, and Thomson. His wife died in 180G, and he married

a second time, Wary Lawrie, hy whom he had three daugh-

ters,—the eldest of whom married the liev. liohert liurns,

D.D., Paisley, subsequently professor of Chuicli History and

Evidences oC Christianity, Kno.x's college, Toronto. '1 hum-

son Iion;u- died in July 1814.

The si.xth son of John lionar of I'ertli was James Bunar,

solicitor of excise, who was married to Marjory Maithind in

IT'JT, and died in March 1821, leaving five .sous and three

daughters. He was distinguished fur great literary attain-

ments, and was the author of a disquisition on the origin of

the Greek Preposition, published in the Koyal Society's Trans-

actions, and of seveial articles in Dr. Brewster's Edinburgh

Encyclopedia. He was the great promoter of the Astrono-

mical Institution in Edinburgh, as well as of several other

literary and benevolent institutions. Three of his sons be-

came ministers.

The Bonars of Gregston, in Fifcshire, derived from the Bo-

nais of I.umquhat, in the parish of Collessie, in that county.

The family was founded by Harry Bunar of Gregston, second

son of John Bonar, second proprietor of Lumqiihat, and

great-grandson of William Bonar of Kelty, who died in 1478.

In 1723, Grahame of Gorthie, who married liis cousin, Slar-

garet, only child of Robert Bonar of Gregston, by his wife,

Margaret Trail of the Trails of t^kayil, succeeded, in his

wife's right, to the estate, when he assumed the name and

arms of Bonar in addition to his own, and Grahame-Boiiar

became the name of the proprietor of Gregston.

It is stated in a note to Burke's account of this family,

that the surname was, at one period, so numerous in Scut-

land that no less than thirty-seven difl'erent lines of Bonars

are to be found U]iuii record, each styled by tlieir territorial

designation.

Bi:k\vsti:i;, a surname originally English, which in the

present century has become distingiiislied in Scotland by its

being borne by one who has acquired for himself a high

]ilace both in literature and science—Sir David Brewster,

I'.R.S., and corresponding member of the National Institute

of France, born December lltli, 1781, the son of James

Brewster, Esq., rector of the grammar school, Jedburgli.

He was educated for the Church of Scotland, and was

licensed to preach the gospel. In 1800, he received the hon-

orary degree of M..^. from the university of Edinburgh, and,

in 1807, that of I.L.I), from the university of Aberdeen. In

1808, he was elected a fellow of the Royal Society of Edin-

burgh, and in the same year he undertook the editorship of

the ' Edinburgh Encyclopedia,' which was only finished in

1830. Between 1801 and 1812, lie devoted his attention

chiefly to the study of optics; and in 1813, he published tlie

results in a ' Treatise on New Philosophical Instruments.'

Ill 1815, he received the Copley medal of the Royal Society

fur one of his discoveries in optical science ; and soon after

was admitted a Fellow of that body. The following year he

invented the Kaleidoscope, the patent right of which was

evaded, so that the inventor gained little beyond fame.

tliou;;h the large sale of the instrument nuist have produced

HI.

considerable prolit. 'I'hc same year, tlie Institute of France

adjudged to hiin half of the physical prize of 3,000 francs,

awarded for two of the most important discoveries made in

Europe, in any branch of science, during the two preceding

years. In 1819, Dr. Brewster received from the Royal

Society the liumfbrd gold and silver medals, for his discover-

ies on the polarization of light. In the latter year, in con-

junction with Profes.sor Jainieson, he established 'The Edin-

burgh Philu.supliical Journal,' and subsequently commenced

'The Edinburgh Journal of Science,' of which 16 volumes

appeared. In 182.'i, the Institute of France elected Dr.

Brewster a corresponding member, and he received the same

honour from the Uuyal Academies of Ru.ssia, Prussia, Swe-
den, and Denmark. In 1831, he proposed the meeting at

York, which led to the establishment of the British Associa-

tion lor the adv.mcement of Science. The same year he

received the decoration of the Hanoverian Guelphic Order;

and, in 1832, the honour of knighthood from William IV.

Besides contributing largely to the ' Edinburgh Review,' the

' Transactions of the British Association,' and other scientific

societies, and the ' North British Review,' Sir David is the

author of the following, among other popular works, viz.:

' A Treatise on the Kaleidoscope;' ' A Treatise on Optics
;

'

' Letters on Natural JIagic;' 'Life of Sir Isaac Newton;'
' More Worlds than One,' in reply to Professor Whewell's

'Plurality of Worlds.' He is one of the editors of 'The
London and Edinburgh Philosophical Magazine.' In 1838 he

was appointed, by the crown, principal of the united colleges

of St. Salvator and St. Leonard, St. Andrews. On January

2, 1849, he was elected one of the eight Foreign Associate

Members of the National Institute of France, vac.-mt by the

death of the celebrated chemist, .M. Berzelius, and in 1855,

the emperor of the French conferred on him the decora-

tion of an officer of the legion of honour. The eight associate

members of the Institute are generally regarded as the eight

greatest celebrities in the learned world. Sir David has a

pension from government of £300 a-year. He married 1st a

daughter of Macplierson, the translator of 'Ossiaii's Poems,'

and by her had several children ; and 2dly, in 1857, Jane,

daughter of Thomas Purcell, Esq. of Scarborough. In 1859

he was elected principal and vice-chancellor of the university

of Edinburgh.

The surname Breiosttr is one of those, like Sangster and

Webster, terminating in ster, which, in the Anglo-Saxon

times, were the regular form of feminine occupations. An
old family of this surname, viz., Brewster of Wrentliam,

were settled in the county of Suffolk, possessing lands in

twenty parishes in that county and the county of Norfolk.

In the civil wars Colonel Humphrey Brewster, of this family,

raised and commanded a troop of horse against Charles the

I'irst, and Robert Brewster, Esq., tlie then possessor of Wren-

tliam, sat as member for Dunwich in the long parliament.

In the reign of Edward the Third, John Brewster was wit-

ness to a deed relating to land in the parish of Henstead,

Safl'olk, and prior to tlie reign of Henry the Fourth there

w.is a Brewster of Mutfurd in that county. There were also

Brewsters of Henstead and Rushmere in the same county.

In the reign of Richard the Second John Brewster was rector

of Godwick in the county of Norfolk. In a s.isine, of date

31st March 1477, in the Chartulary of Glasgow, we meet

with the name of John Browster, quondam proprietor of a

house or tenement in the High Street of that city.

In 1516, one John Brewster was burnt for LoUardism at

Smithfield.

Of the parent stem,— the Brewsters of Wrentliam,

—

branches e.xist in the counties of Essex, Durham, Kent, and
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Northampton, also in Scotland ami in Ireland. The Scottish

line may be said to be represented by the family of which Sir

David Brewster is such a distinguished member, and the

Irisli by Abraham Brewster, Esq., queen's counsel, of Merrion

Square, Dublin. Another branch was established in the

United States, by William Brewster, the ruling elder and

spiritual guide of the Pilgrim Fathers, who had served as a

diplomatist in tlie Low Countries, and in 1008 went with

Robinson, the minister of the Puritans, to Holland, and in

1620 conducted the emigrants from England, by whom New

England was founded. Robinson did not accompany them,

but died at Leyden in 1G25. \^IIistory of the United States

of America, hj George Bancroft, Esq., Fullarton's edition,

p. 124.]

BROWN, RoBEKT, D.C.L., an eminent bota-

nist, the son of an Episcopalian clergyman, was

born at Montrose, 21st of December 1773. His

academical education was acquired first at Maris-

chal college, Aberdeen, and subsequently at the

university of Edinburgli, wliere he completed his

medical studies in 1795, and in the same year ac-

companied a Scottish fencible regiment, in the

double capacit}'' of ensign and assistant-surgeon,

to Ireland. His intense love and peculiar apti-

tude for botanical study liad alreadj- developed

itself, and recommended Jiim to the notice of Sir

Joseph Banlcs, who continued tlirougli life to be

liis sincere and ardent friend. On Sir Joseph's

recommendation, and attracted by the more than

golden promise wliich the tlicn unexplored regions

of New Holland lield out to the botanical inquirer,

he threw up his commissions, and in 1801 em-

barked as naturalist in the expedition under Cap-

tain Flinders for the survey of the Australian coasts.

From this expedition he returned to England in

1805, bringing with him nearly 4,000 species of

plants, a large proportion of wliicli were entirely

new to science, and also an inexhaustible store of

new ideas in relation to the cliaracters, distribu-

tion, and affinities of the singular vegetation which

distinguishes the great continent of Australia

from every otlicr botanical region. To work out

these ideas, both in relation to the plants of New
Holland, and in their comparison with those of

other parts of the world, with wonderful sagacity,

with the utmost minuteness of detail, and at the

same time with the most comprehensive generali-

zation, was the labour of many succeeding years.

Shortly after liis return he was appointed librarian

to the Linufean Society. His memoirs on ' Ascle-

piadcjE and Proteaceas' in the Transactions of the

ROBERT, D.C.L.

Wernerian Society of Edinburgh, and those of the

Linna;an Societ}-, his ' Prodronuis Florje Novse

Hollandise et Insulae Van Diemen,' vol. i. pub-

lished in 1810, and liis ' General Remarks, Geo-

graphical and Systematical, on the Botany of

Terra Australis,' attached to the narrative of Capt.

Flinders' Expedition, published in 1814, revealed to

the scientific world how great a master in botani-

cal science had arisen in this modest and unas-

suming inquirer. Nor was the world slow in

recognising his merits. The natural system of

Jussieu had hitlierto made but little progress in

England, or anywhere out of Fi-ance, but its adop-

tion by one who was instinctively recognised as

the first botanist of the age, and the important

modifications which he introduced into it, speedily

compelled an almost universal assent to its prin-

ciples, and led to its general substitution in place

of the Linnasan method. In numerous memoirs

contained in the ' Transactions ' of Societies, and

in the Appendices to the most important books of

travels or voyages of discovery, lie shed new and

unexpected light on many of the most difficult

problems in the reproduction, the anatomy, the

distribution, the characters, and the affinities of

plants ; and the universal consent of botanists re-

cognised the title conferred upon liim by his illus-

trious friend Alexander von Humboldt, of 'Bota-

nicorum facile Princeps.' Nearly every scientific

society, both at home and abroad, considered

itself honoured by the enrolment of his name in

the list of its members.

After the death of Dryander in 1810, Mr. Brown

received the charge of the noble library and splen-

did collections of Sir Joseph Banks, who bequeath-

ed to him their enjoyment for life. In 1827 they

were, with his .nssent, transferred to the British

Museum, when he was appointed keeper of the bo-

tanical department in that establishment. In 1811

he became a fellow of the Royal Society, and was

several times elected on the council of that body.

He received also, during the administration of Sir

Robert Peel, a pension of two hundred pounds per

annum, in recognition of his distinguished merits.

In 1833 lie was elected one of the eighteen foreign

associates of the Academy of Sciences of the In-

stitute of France, his competitors being Bessel,

Yon Biicli, Faraday, Ilerschell, Jacobi, Meckel,
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Mitscliei'licli, Oersted, and Plana. In 1839 the

council of the Royal Society awarded him the Cop-

ley medal, the highest honour at their disposal, " for

his discoveries during a series of years on the sub-

ject of vegetable impregnation ;" and in 1849 he

became president of the Linuiean Society, of

which he had been for many j-ears librarian. In

1832, the university of Oxford conferred upon

liim tlie honorary degree of D.C.L., in company

with Dalton, Faraday, and Brewster; and he re-

ceived from the king of Prussia tlie decoration of

the highest Prussian civil order, " pour le merite,"

of which order Baron Yon Humboldt was chan-

cellor. A collected edition of Brown's works, in

five volumes, has been published in Germany.

Among his contributions to tlie 'Transactions'

of the Linnajan Society are papers ' On the Natu-

ral Order of Plants called Proteacea; ;' ' Observa-

tions on the Natural Family of Plants called Com-

positic,' (vol. xii.) ;
' An Account of a New Genus

of Plants called Rafflesia,' (vol. xiii.) In 1818 he

published in a separate form ' A Brief Account of

Microscopical Observations on the Particles con-

tained in the Pollen of Plants, and on the general

existence of active Molecules in Organic and In-

organic bodies.' These movements he Avas the

first to point out, and draw attention to their im-

portance. On the continent it is the custom to

allude to this phenomenon as the Brunonian

movement.

He is the author also of the Botanical appendix

attached to the account of the Voyages of Ross

and Parry to the Arctic Regions, of Tuckey's Ex-

pedition to the Congo, and of Oudney, Denham,

and Clapperton"s Expeditions in Central Africa.

Assisted by IMr. Bennett, he also described the

rare plants collected by Dr. Ilusfield, during his

residence in Java.

In private life, this distinguislied ornament of

science was remarkable for the unvarying simpli-

citv, truthfulness, and benevolence of his charac-

ter, and the singular uprightness of his judgment

rendered him on all difficult occasions an invalua-

ble counsellor to those who had the privilege of

seeking his advice. 'Witli his faculties unclouded

to the last, he died at London, lOtli June 185S.

surrounded by his collections, in the room which

had formerly been the library of Sir Joseph

Banks. "It was in the year 1810," says one of

his distinguished friends, who contributed greatlj'

to relieve the sufierings of his last illness, " that

I first became acquainted with Mr. Brown, within

three feet of tiic same place in the same room

wlicre I saw him so nearly drawing his last breath

three days ago. He was the same simple-minded,

Uind-hearted man in November, 1810, as he was

in June, 1858, nothing clianged but as time chan-

ges us all."' His funeral took place on the loth,

at the cemetery, Kensal-gi-een, to which it was

attended by a numerous concourse of his scientific

and personal friends.

Ik ciiAN (aiWitioiKil to iirticlo in vol. i. p.'ige -loG). Tlie

BuclKins dl' l.etliam, East Lotliiaii, were cadets of the Bucli-

ans of Aiicliinacoy, Aberdeensliire. From tlie former were

descended tlie Buclians of Kelloe, Berwickbliire. George

Bucliaii of Kelloe, born in 1775, whose motlier was u daugh-

ter of President Dundas, sailed from England for India in

Jl.iy 1702, in tlie Winterton East Indiaman, commanded by

Captain Dundas of Dundas, and, in August of the same

year, he was shipwrecked on the coast of JIadagascar. Dur-

ing his residence of twenty years in India, he was exposed to

dangers in many varied shapes, and in a small work, entitled

' Pr.nctical Illustrations of a Particular Providence,' he details

his wonderful preservation in a second sliipwreck, and liis

escape from being murdered by the Malays in another vessel,

in which he liad made every effort to be conveyed in a lu-

crative situation at Malacca, but was prevented from reacli-

ing the ship when waiting off Madras. In India he rose to

high office, and was appointed secretary to the government

at Madras. Circumstances requiring his return home, he

was, about 180'4, most anxious to revisit liis native land.

He had taken passage in a favourite ship, the Lady .lane

Dundas, but political events at the time forced him to re-

main in India. The Lady .Jane Dundas was lost at sea, and,

about a month after the fleet, of which it formed a part, had

s:dled, Jlr. Buchan took his departure in a fast-sailing packet,

reacliing England in safety at the same period as the sh.it-

tered remains of tlie fleet in which lie should have sailed ar-

rived, and without encountering any storms. Subsequently

his life was chiefly spent on his estate in Berwickshire, active-

ly engaged in yiublic business, for which he had a natural

aptitude, and taking a prominent part in the management of

county affairs. About twenty years before his death lie acci-

dentally fell into an ice-pit, and the severe dislocation which

he then sust.iined occasioned lameness for life. For m.any

vears he took a considerable part in the deliberations of the

General Assembly of the Clinrcli of Scotland, particul.arly in

the non-intrusion discussions, previous to the disruption in

1813. .\fter th.it event he joined the Free church. He died

3d Janu.iry 185G. His brother, lieutenant-general Sir John

Buch.an, served in the Peninsular war, and w.is a major-

general in the Portuguese army.

BUCH^VN, Peteh, an industrious collector of

the elder ballads of the north of Scotland, was

born in Peterhead in 1790. On his father's side

he could trace his descent from a General Buchan,
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" who had at one time large possessions, and

kept a good castle, modislily called a fioufe, at

Kathay, parish of Criiuoud. lie was a scion of

the Cuniyus, earls of Buchau." In his youth lie

obtained a midshipman's commission, but had to

relinquish his desire for a seafaring life, his parents

having refused to furnish him with an outlit.

In 1814, he published a small volume of poems

and songs. He now conceived the design of set-

ting up a printing establishment at Peterhead, at

that time without one. He had married against

his father's consent, and from him never received

any assistance in any of his plans ; but having

made a copperplate-press from an engraving which

he had seen in a book, he siiowed it to an influen-

tial friend, who strongly advised him to prosecute

his design. Accordingly, ui 1816, he went to

Edinburgh, " with a pocket full of flattering intro-

ductory letters, and an almost empty purse." He

got introduced to the earl of Buchan, who recom-

mended him to various friends, and amongst

others, to a Dr. Charles Wingate, a medical gen-

tleman in Stirling. To that town he proceeded

with the view of learning " the mysteries of print-

ing," and after uo more tiiau ten days' attendance

in a printing office there, he composed and printed

a song as a specimen of his proficiency, with which

he returned to Edinburgh. From oi^e of the carl's

friends he now received about £50 sterling, with

which he purchased types, &c., and commenced

business iu Peterhead, on the 2-lth of March the

same j-car.

In 1819, he constructed a new printing-press,

" wood, iron, and brass," with which he printed

one of his most popular works, 'The annals of

Peterhead,' a thin 12mo volume, illustrated with

hdf-a-dozeii coppei-plates of his own engraving.

The press was wrought with the feet instead of

the hands, and took impressions from stone, cop-

per, and wood, as well as from types, and would

have answered equally well for printing on cloth.

He also invented an index for keeping an account

of the number of sheets printed in any given time.

A patent press-maker in Edinburgh, he tells us,

once wrote to him to send him one, and held out

a great reward. He acknowledged its receipt and

utility ; then went to America, and with him his

machine and golden hopes.

Mr. Buchan's next literary production was ' An

Historical Account of the ancient and noble fiinii-

ly of Keith, Earls Marischal of Scotland, w ith the

attainted noblemen, &c.' This work brought him

considerable reputation as well as remuneration.

After this, Mr. Buchan lilled fur a time a situa-

tion in London, on a salary of £150 a-year, but

was obliged to leave it on account of bad health.

After his return to Peterhead, he published in

1824, a treatise, dedicated to his son, in which he

endeavoured to prove tliat brutes are possessed of

souls and are immortal

!

In 1828, he published in two volumes 8vo, a

work entitled ' Ancient Baliads and Songs of tlie

Xorth of Scotland, hitherto unpublished, w itli Ex-

planatory Notes.' This work, unlike his former

productions, was printed and published at Edin-

burgh, and at once made his name known. Sir

Walter Scott, in his introduction to the 'Minstrelt^y

of the Scottish Border,' has borne ample testimou}-

to the value of ]Mr Buchan's collection. The work

was most favourably received ; tiie whole edition

liaving been sold in the course of a few months.

By it he added upwards of fort}- to our stock of

recovered songs, while more perfect versions were

given of nearly an equal number which had been

previously printed. Amongst these may be men-

tioned the beautiful ballad of 'Burd Helen.'

He was now brought into correspondence w ith

Sir Walter Scott, and others of high literaiy stand-

ing, and was frequently a guest at Abbotsford.

The Scottish Society of Antiquaries elected him a

corresponding member, as did also the Norilieni

Institution for the promotion of science and litera-

ture. He was also honoured with diplomas of

membership from some of the leading literary

societies of England.

In 1834, he published ' The Peterhead Smug-

glers,' a melodrama of no great merit. The best

and most original part of this publication was

the introductory dedication, which contained a

bitter philippic against lawyers, by whom hesecn:s

to have been constantly persecuted. "With it, he

advertised, " as preparing for publication," a new

collection of ballads, to be entitled ' North Coun-

trie Minstrelsy, Ancient and IModcrn, with Notes.'

The work was never published, but the manuscript

volumes found their way into the archives of the
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Percy Society, London, tlirongli 'Mv. Jenlan of

tlie Literary Gazette, and in 1845, unknown to

tiie autlior, selections from tlioni formed one of tiie

misccllaneons issues of the Society, entitled ' Scot-

tisli Traditional Versions of Ancient Ballads,

edited by James Henry Dixon.' Tliese, liowever,

are only dilfcrcnt versions of previously known

ballads.

iMr. I'uclian afterwards purcliased a small ju'o-

perlj' lU'ar Dcun} loanliead, Stirlinifsliire, ^\ liicli

lie called Biiclianstone, intending tliei-e to spend

the remniuder of liis days in retirement and ease;

but in tliis lie was disappointed. Tlie sujierior of

tlic laud claimed tlie minerals on his estate, and

a loui; and harnssint; lawsuit was the consequence.

In 1852, he sold the jiropert}', and proceeded to

i
a son in Ireland, and resided for some time at

Strandliill House, county of Leitrim. In the early

part of 1854, he repaired to London, with the

view of efiectin;; arrangements for the jinblicatioii

of another volume of 'Ancient Scottish Ballads,'

but was there seized with illness, and after a few

I
hours sutferinp;, died, IDth September the same year.

Ills remains were interred in the beautiful ccme-

teiy of Norwood, near London. In private life,

I

lie was remarkably modest, and of singularly un-

I assuming manners. His eldest son, Charles For-

I

bes Buclian, D.D., A\ as, in 1840, inducted ndnisfei'

j
of Fordoun, Kiucardiuesliire.

]\Ir. Biichan's woi-ks are:

Tlie ni'orentioii of Leisure Ilmirs, liein;; Songs .'inil Verses

ill the Scottisli dinleot. Peterhead.

i

Annals of I'cterhenii, now extremely scnree. Peterlieaci,

1819, 12nio.

An Historiciil .Aceonnt of the nneient .-iii.! nohle f';unily of

Keith. Kr.rls M.nriselial of Seothuul. with the attainteii nolile-

inen. &c. Peterhead.

Treatise proving that Bnifes have Smils and are Immortal.

Peterhead, 18'-M.

Aneient Ballads and Soni;s of the Morlli of Soot land,

hitherto un]iiiblis!ied, with Kxplanatorv Xotes. I-Alinhnrph,

1828, 2 vols. «vo.

The Peterhead Smnjxj;lers of the last centnr-; or William

.ind Annie, an original melodrama, in three acts.—Also,

I'oems and Songs, wi(li Biographical Notices. Kdinbnrgli,

18:U, 8vo.

Tlie F-clinton Tonrnament, and Gentlemen Unmasked,

(ilasgow, ]8.'S'.). This work was afterwards republished

under the title of Britain's Boast, her Glorv and her shame;

or a Mirror for all Ranks, in which are distinctly seen the

oriijin and history of kings, noblemen, gentlemen, clergymen,

men of learning and genius, lawyers, physicians, merchants,

manufactnror.s, mechanics, soldiers^ .sailors, &c., with the true

characteristics of each. The necessity and advantages of

education, commerce, and trade.—Also an account of the

Chivalry of the Ancient.s, the Egllnton Tournament, ami

Gentlemen Unmasked. In a conversation between the shades

of a king and his preceptor, a knight, in the ICIysian fields.

Glasgow, 18J0, royal ]8mo.

The Parallel ; or Principles of the British Constitution

K.xemplified. I'or the benefit of every legislator and I'ritish

subject, whether tory, whig, or radical.—Ahso a defence of

Church Kstablishments, Magna Charta, the Bill of liights,

Halieas ('orpus Act, Articles of the Scottish Union, and Act

for securing the Protestant and Presbyterian Peligion, &c.

]-ondon, 183.5.

Man,—Body and SonI,—as he was, as he is, and as lie

shall be. 1849.

Mr. Buclian also published various other works of a minor

character, illustrative of the literary antiquities of Scotland,

as ' Gleanings of Scarce Old B.allads;' ' The Wanderings of

Prince Charles Stuart and Mi.ss Flora Maedonakl,' from a

manuscript of the period, with several .Tacobite Poems, Ser-

mons. Songs, and Sketches. He also supplied George Chal-

mers, Esq., with much useful information for his Caledonia.

Two unpublished volumes of his Ballad Collections were

left ill the possession of Dr. Charles Mackay of London.

c

OAMl'nKi.i,, (aiiiiitional to article in vol. i. pages —
5G9). Of this surnaiiie was the family of Duneaves in Pertli-

shire, the first of which, Duncan Campbell of Duneaves, was

tlie second son of Piobert Campbell of Glenlyon, in the same

county, lineally descended, in the direct male line, from

Archibald Campbell of Glenlyon, second son, (by Lady Mar-

garet Douglas,) of Sir Duncan Campbell of (ileniirehy, an-

cestor of the noble family of Breadalbane, (see vol. i. page

ST."). Duncan Campbell of Duneaves li.ad a son, Dunc;in

Campbell of Milntown, in Glenlyon, w ho took to wife Janet,

daughter of the I!ev. Alexander Kobertson, minister of Fort-

ingal, and was father of .Archibald Campbell, a lieutenant in

the army. This gentleman married Margaret, daughter of

.lames Small, a captain in the army, and their third son was

lieutenant-general, Sir Archibald Campliell, baronet, com-

mander of the British forces in the Burmese war.

Sir Archibald entered the service in the year 1787, bv

raising a quota of twenty men for an ensigncy in the 77tli

regiment, and, iii the spring of the following year, he em-

barked with that corps for the East Indies. He was present,

at the operations against the .army of Tippoo Saib, sultan of

Mysore, which led to the reduction of Cananore and other

places on the coast of Malabar in 1790. In 1791 he was

promoted to a lieutenancy in his regiment, and was appointed

adjutant of it. During that and the following year lie seiTed

in the campaigns in the Mysore country, and was present at

the first siege of Seringapatam, its cajiital, in Febnian' 1792.

In 1795 he served at the reduction of the Dutch garrison of

Cochin .and its dependencies on the coast of Malabar, and in

179() at that of the island of Ceylon. In 1799, as major in

the European brigade of the Bomb.ay army, lie was present

at the battle of Sadiiceer and the siege and taking of Serin-

gapatam by assault. In the same year he became, by pur-

chase, captain in the C7tli regiment, and with the view of

remaining on foreign service, he immediately exchanged into

the 88tli regiment, that corps liaving just arrived in India.

In 1801, Capt. Campbell was com|>elled by ill health to
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return to England, and until 1803, lie was employed upon

the recruiting service. He was then appointed to the staff

of the soutliern district, as major of brigade. In 180-1 he

became major of tlie 6th battalion of reserve, stationed in

Guernsey, and he remained there until its reduction in the

beginning of 1805. A few weeks thereafter he was placed

on full pay of the 71st regiment, and, in general, commanded

the '2d battalion of that corps in Scotland and Ireland until

1808, when he joined the 1st battalion on its embarkation

for Portugal. He served with it at the battles of Roleia and

Vimiera, as also during the campaign in Spain, under the

command of Sir John Moore, and the retreat to Corunna, at

the battle of which he was present, in January 1809.

In the following month he was promoted to the rank of

lieutenant -colonel, and appointed to accompany Jlarslial

Beresford to assist in the organization of the Tortuguese

army. In this service he was raised to the rank of colonel,

and had the command of a regiment of infantiy. In 1811

he was appointed brigadier-general, and commanded a brigade

during the wliole of tlie war in the Peninsula and the soutli

of France, being present at the battles of Busaco, Albuera,

the surprise of the French corps commanded by General Gi-

rard, at Arrago Molinos, 28th October 1811, the siege of

Badajoz, Gth April 1812; the battles of Vittoria, the Pyre-

nees, tlie Nivellc, and the Nive.

In the end of 1813, the Prince IJegent of Portugal promot-

ed him to the rank of major-general in the Portuguese service,

and conferred upon him tlie insignia of the order of the Tower

and Sword. He was knighted April 28, 1814, by the Prince

Regent of Great Britain, afterwards George IV., .and appoint-

ed one of his royal highness' aides-de-camp, with the rank

of colonel in the army ; and in 1815, he was nominated a

knight-commander of the Bath. In 181G he was appointed

to the command of the Lisbon division of the Portuguese

army.

In 1820, at the first breaking out of the Revolution in

Portugal, he offered, in the absence of Field-marshal Lord

Beresford, to marcli, with his division, to suppress the rising

at Oporto. His advices, however, were declined by the

regency, and he at once gave in his resignation, and soon

after returned to England.

In 1821 he was appointed to the command of the 38tli

regiment, and the following year he joined that corps at the

Cape, and proceeded with it to India. He was stationed at

Berhampore when he was selected to take the command of

the expedition against tlie Burme.se in 1824. Elated by some

recent conquests which tliey had made over the northern

mountainous province of Assam, and being brouglit into more

immediate contact with the British frontiers, the Burmese

had begun, towards the end of 1823, to make sundry en-

croachments upon the possessions of tlie East India Company.

In a sudden night attack, they drove away a small guard of

British troops stationed on the small muddy island of Sliapu-

ree, in the province of Bengal, but close to the coast of Arra-

can, and took forcible possession of it. On being remon-

strated with, the court of Ava intimated, that unless its right

to the island was admitted, the victorious lord of the white

elephant and the golden foot, as tlie sovereign of Burmah is

styled, would invade the Company's dominions. In the

meantime, a detachment of British troops landed on tlie dis-

puted island and expelled the intruders from it. The Bur-

mese ruler now demanded from the government at Calcutta

the cession of Northern Bengal, as being a part of Ava, and

in .lanuary 1824, the Burmese forces marched into Kadscliar,

which had deposed its rulers, and put itself under British

protection. Lord Anilierst. tlien governor-general of India,

immediately declared war against Burmah. and general Sir

Archibald Campbell, at the head of the British force, ascend-

ed tlie Irrawaddy, took Rangoon, and made himself master

of Prome. The Burmese monarch now saw himself obliged

to conclude a very unequal peace at Palanagli, December 31,

1825. As, however, the treaty ivas not ratified, on the part

of the Burmese, by the time specified, January 18, 1826, Sir

Archibald continued his advance, on the 19th, and stormed

the fortress of Melloone. This led to the ratification of the

treaty, on February 24, and the conclusion of the war. The
king of the white elephant ceded to the Company the pro-

vinces of Arracan, Merguy, Tavoy, and Yea, and paid them a

sum of money amounting to £1,250,000. The important

city of Rangoon was declared a free port. Thus all the

western coast of the Burman empire was ceded to tlie East

India Company, and the most powerful of the K.ist India

states was divided and weakened.

For his conduct in this arduous war. Sir Archibald Camp-
bell received a vote of thanks from both houses of parliament,

from the governor-general in council, and from the comt of

directors of the Honourable the East India Company. The

latter farther testified their approval of his skill, gallantry,

and perseverance throughout the war, by granting him a

pension of £1,000 per annum for life, and presenting iiim

with a handsome gold medal.

At the termination of the war, he was appointed com-

mander of the forces in the ceded provinces on the coast of

Tenasserim, and at the same time had the honour of being

civil commissioner in relation to the affairs of the kingdoms

of Burmah and Siam. While holding these offices, his health

began seriously to sufl'er, and he applied for leave to ri-tum

to England. In accordance, however, with the earnest de-

sire of the Supreme government at Calcutt.a, he continued in

his command for another year, when increased illness obliged

him to leave India, which he did in 1829. On September

21st of that year, he was appointed colonel of the 95th regi-

ment, subsequently of the 77th. and on February 17, 1840,

of the 62d.

In the spring of 1831, Sir Archibald was appointed lieu-

tenant-governor of the province of New Brunswick, where

he remained for nearly six years. He was created a b.aronet

of the United Kingdom, 30th September of the same year.

In August 1839 he was offered the appointment of com-

mander-in-chief in Bombay, which he accepted, but owing

to severe indisposition he was not able to enter upon it. At

various times he was presented with the freedom of the

towns of Strabane and Cork in Ireland, and Perth in Scot-

l.and. He was also G.C.B. He died in 184.3. By his wife,

Helen, daughter of JIacdonald of Garth, Perthshire, he had

two sons and three daughters. The Rev. Archibald Camp-

bell, the elder son, a chaplain in India, died, unmarried, in 1831.

i\Iajor-general Sir John Campbell, the second son, suc-

ceeded as second baronet. Born 14th April 1807, he mar-

ried, 21st .luly 1841, Helen Jlargaret, only child of Colonel

John Crow, East India Company's service. He was killed

in the assault on the Redan, Sebastopol, 18th ,Iune 1855,

when in command of a division. In this attack he seems

to have displayed a courage amounting to rashness. He sent

away his two aides-de-camp just before he rushed out of the

trench, and fell in the act of cheering his men. He was

buried on Cathcart's Hill, among many brave officers killed

at the same time. He had, with other issue, Sir Archibald

Ava Campbell, third baronet, born at Edinburgli in 18-)4.

Heir presumptive to the title, his brother. .Tohn .Tames A\ti

Campbell, born in 1845.
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Tlie Campbells of Ardeonaig, Perthsliire, were a branch of

the Gleiuircliy family, being descended from I'atrick Camp-

bell of Murlaganbci,', in that county, wlio, in IG'23, was

forester of tlie royal forest of Mamlorn, of whicli liis

father, Sir Duncan Campbell, tlie fn-st baronet of Glenurchy,

was heritable keeper. In the ' lihick Hook of Taymuuth,'

mention is made of Patrick Campbell of JIurlaganbeg, but none

of his mother, the prevalent tradition being, that Sir Duncan

had a first wife,—whose son Patrick was,—though her name

does not appear in that reconl.

Patrick Campbell of Murlaganbeg married Grissel Campbell,

of tlie family of Glenlyon, and was slain, before 16(11, on the

hills of Ardeonaig, by a party of the outlawed JIacgregors, after

killing eighteen of them with his own hand. He was known

in the country by the name of Para-(Um-More, and there is

in the chnrcliyard of Killin a stone with the inscription, " The

burial-place of the descendants of Para-dliu-More" which,

with many other monuments, was removed from a distant

bnrying-place to tlie present modern one at Killin. His son,

Ale.Nander Campbell of Ardeon.aig, who died before November

1721, married Klizabeth, eldest daughter of Hobert Campbell

of Glenlyon, the officer who commanded the military at the

massacre of Glencoe, in 1G92. Colin Campbell of .'\rdeonaig,

Alexander's eldest son, married Catherine, daughter of Dun-

can Campbell of Duneaves, and had si.x sons and two daugh-

ters. The eldest son, John Campbell of Ardeonaig and

Lochend, captain 88th regiment, served in Germany in 17G1

and 17G2, and was wounded in action at Ham. He mar-

ried Alice, eldest daughter and heiress of ,'Mexander Camp-

bell of Kinpunt, or Kilpont, Linlithgowshire, also descended

on the female side from tlie Glenurchy stock.

The first of the Kinpunt Campbells was Archibald, son of

Archibald Campbell, styled prior of Stratlitillan, third son of

Sir John Campbell of Lawers, great-grandfather of the first

earl of Loudoun. Archibald Campbell, the father, -was a

confidential agent of the earl of Argyle, under whom he was

bailie of the district of Kintyre. In IGll, he was appointed

preferrer of suits to his majesty from such of the rebels in the

Highlands and Isles as were desiruus of obtaining remissions.

In that .and the following year he rendered himself very

.active against the Clandonald rebels in Lsla, and " many

images connected with the Catholic form of worship were de-

stroyed by his zeal." {Grerjonj's Ilighhncls and I.'^les, fasfi

365.) His son, Archlbahl, superior of the lands of Kinpunt,

was twice married, and by his second wife, .Janet, daughter

of Sir William Gray of Pittendrum, had a son, James Camp-

bell of Kinpunt, who had two sons and a daughter. The

elder son, Alexander, was also twice married, but h.ad issue

only by his second w ifc, JIargaret, d;uigliter of Sir Alexander

Dalmahoy, second b.aronet of Dalmahoy, hereditary under-

master of the royal household of Scotland
;

namely, a son,

James, who died young, and three daughters: 1. Alice,

heiress of Kinpunt. 2. Mary, wife of John Douglas, Esq.,

surgeon, Edinburgh, fourth son of Sir Robert Dongla.s, fourth

baronet of Gleiibervie; issue, a son. 3. Elizabeth, who mar-

ried, first, Evan or Ewen Campbell, Esq., tenant in Chesthill,

Glenlyon, brother of Colin C.uiipbell of Ardeonaig. She after-

wards became the second wife of Mungo Campbell, Esq. of

Crigans, who, about 1745, removed to iMnlrogie, Perthshire,

to whom she had two sons and three daughters. The elder

son, James, major in the '12d regiment, had a son. Major

James Campbell of the Indian .army. The latter had, with

two others, who died young, a son, Thomas Walter Camp-

bell, Esq. of Walton Park. Dnmfries-shire, and five daughters,

one of whom married W. C. Thomson, Esq. of Balgowan.

Perthshire. Mungo Campbell's youngest daughter, Eliza-

beth, married Alexander Mackinlay, Esq., of the customs,

Greenock, and had a son. Colonel James Iloustoun iM.ic-

kinlay, an ofRcer in the Indian army, who died in 1856,

and two daughters, Mary, who died unmarried, and Eliza-

beth, the wife of John iMunro, Esq., planter, .Tamaica.

The latter had two son.s, Alexander iMunro, M.l)., and John,

who died in infancy, and a daughter, P^lizabeth, married to

M.-ijor-general Campbell, C. 15., as afterwards stated.

Alice, the eldest daughter, heiress of Kinimnt, married

C.apt. John Campbell of Ardeonaig and Lochend, above inen-

tiiined, and had four daughters and four sons. The eldest

surviving son, John Campbell of Locliend, an officer in the

Koyal marines, served at the siege of Bellcisle in June 17G1,

and was subsequently chamberlain to the earl of Breadalbane.

He sold Lochend on Loch Menteitli, and bought Kinlochlaich

in Appin, Argyleshire, which he named Lochend. He had

two sons and .seven daughters, one of whom. Christian, mar-

ried Archibald Campbell, Esq. of Melfbrt, and another,

Margaret JIaxwell, the fifth daughter, married Sir .Tolin

Campbell, baronet of Ardnamuichim. .T(din Campbell of

Lochend, the elder son, had, by his wife, Ann.ahella, eldest

daughter of .John Campbell, Esq. of Jlelfort, Argyicshire,

eight sons and five daughters.

The eldest son. Major-general .John Campbell, C. B., of the

Indian army, was born in 1801, at Kingsburgh, in the Isle of

Skye. He joined the 91st regiment of foot as ensign in 181!),

and in 1820 entered the service of the East India Company

on the Madras establishment, where he served till 1854, when

he was compelled to return to Scotland for the benefit of his

health. He passed through the different military grades with

credit, and received at different periods, for his conduct in the

various military, political, and civil employments which he

held, the approval of his superiors. In the suppression of

the lioiTid practice of human sacrifices, and female infanti-

cide, in the hill tracts of Oriss.a, he was particularly suc-

cessful. He married first, in 1829, Eliza, youngest daughter

of John Harington, Esq., Madras civil service, and had by

her two sons and four daughters; secondly, in July 1856,

Elizabeth, daughter of John Munro, Esq., .J;im.aica.

Clyde, Barnn, in the peerage of the L'nited Kingdmii, (Sir

Ci'lin Campbell, G.C.B.,) a distingni.shed military comm:iiider,

was born in the Tron parish, Glasgow, about 1790. His

father is said to have been .John Macliver, a cabinetmaker in

Glasgow. His mother was a native of Islay. They had two

sons and a daughter, the elder son being the subject of this

notice. His brother, John, a lieutenant in the army, died

young. The name of Campbell was adopted to gratify an

uncle by the mother's side, who bore that name, and had

influence to procure commissions for liis two nephews.

Lord Clyde entered the army in 1808, as ensign in the 9th

foot. His first commission is dated 2Gth Jlay that year.

On 28th .June 18M9, he became lieutenant, and on 9th No-

vember 1813. captain. He .served with the 9th at Vimier.i

and at Walclieren ; was at the b.attles of Corunna, Baros.sa.

and Vittoria, and at the defence of Tarifa. At the siege of

.San Sebastian he led the storming party, .and was twice se-

verely wounded. For these sen'ices he received the silver me-

dal At the p.assage of the Bidassoa he was also wounded.

During 1814 and 1815, his lordship took part in the expe-

dition to the United States. He became major, 22d No-

vember 1825 ;
lieutenant-colonel, 2Cth October 1832 ; and

colonel, 23d December 1842. lu the latter year he com-

manded the 98th regiment in the expedition to Chin.a.

and distinguished himself at the siege and capture of Chin-

Kiang-Foo. In the campaign in the Puujaub, in 1848-49,
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he held the rank of general of brigade; and as commander of

die advanced force, he defeated the Sikhs in the action near

R;,mnn;;£;er, 22d November 1848. He also took a leading

part at the passage of the Chenab, 3d December the same

year. At the battle of Chillianwallali, where he was wound-

ed, he commanded the third infuntry division, which formed

the left of the army. Lord Gough, in his despatch to the

commander-in-chief, after the victory, said, "Brigadier-

general Campbell, with that steady coolness and military

precision for which he is so remarkable, carried every tiling

before him." He also took part in the great battle of Goo-

jerat in 1849. For his services in tliis cimpaign he was

created K. C. B., and received the thanks of parliament and

of the East India Company. In 1851 and 1852, he com-

manded the Peshawur district, then in a very unsettled state.

Under Sir Charles Napier he was employed at the forcing of

the Kohat pass. In the latter year he was constantly en-

gaged in encounters with the hill tribes. At the close of

the Punjaub campaign he received the Grand Cross of

the order of the Bath. In 1854 he was appointed to the

command of the Highland brigade in the Crimea. At Alma,

September 20th, the Guards and Higlilanders, forming the

first or duke of Cambridge's division, were ordered to ad-

vance, at the very crisis of the battle, to support the Light

division. " Highlanders," exclaimed Sir Colin, as they came

to the charge, " grant me a favour. Let me have to ask the

queen's permission for you to wear a bonnet ! Don't pull a

trigger until yon get within a yard of the Russians." They

did not fire a shot until close upon the Russian column, when

they delivered a volley and charged. The enemy fell back,

but at a short distance rallied, and advanced a few steps with

lowered bayonets. The Scots accepted the ch.allenge wiih a

cheer, and charged at them, on which the Russians, throwing

off their packs, fled. When the siege of Sebastopol was com-

menced, Sir Colin was placed by Lord Raglan at Balaklava,

in command of a miscellaneous force, composed principally of

the 93d Highlanders, the marines from the fleet, and a few

Turkish troops. On the 25tli October, the Russians, in great

force, advanced upon Katichoi. Agiiinst Sir Colin's regiment

of Highlanders, the Russian commander sent five hundred

cavalry. They were received in line, instead of in a square,

and two discharges, the second reserved until the Russian

horse were within shot range, soon scattered them, and Bala-

klava, with all its stores and shipping, was preserved, as the

position of the Highlanders closed the access to the harbour.

In June 1854, Sir Colin Campbell was promoted to the rank

of major-general, and in October of the same ye.ar he was

nominated colonel of the 67th foot. In 1855 he received the

local rank of general in Turkey, and in 1856, that of lieu-

tenant-general in the army. He was also created Grand-cross

of the Sardinian order of St. M.aurice and St. Lazarus, pre-

sented with the freedom of the city of London, and made an

honorary doctor of civil laws of Oxford. In 1857, on the

mutiny of the Sepoy regiments in India, Sir Colin was ap-

pointed commander-in-chief there, with the local rank of

general. His skill, judgment, and bravery, enabled liini, in

one short campaign, to tranquillize the Doab, cnish the

(iw.alior Contingent, fake Lucknow, overrun Oude with

moveable columns, wrest Rohilcund from the rule of the

rebels, secure our possession of that rich province, and re-

establish the civil rule of the Company in its old sites of

power. As a reward for his services, he was, in August of

the same ye;ir, raised to the peerage of the United Kingdom,

bv the title of Baron Clyde of Clydesdale. In 1858 he was

rai.sed to the rank of general, and on the coming of age of the

Prince of Wales, Nov, 9, 18G"2, he was created a field-marshal.

COCKBURN, Henry, an eminent judge and

eloquent jileader, was born 26th October 1779,

cither at Edinbiirgli, or at Cockpcn, a small estate

about eight miles south of that city, then belong-

ing to his fatlier, but afterwards sold to the earl

of Dalhousie. His fatiier, Archibald Cockburn,

at one time sheriff of Mid-Lothian, and subse-

quently also judge-admiral, was, from 1790 till his

death in 1S09, a baron of the exchequer in Scot-

land. His mother, Janet Rannie, was one of the

two daughters of Captain Rannie of Melville, her

sister being the wife of Henrj' Dundas, the first

Viscount Melville. Tn 1787 he was sent to the

High school of Edinburgh, and in 1793 he entered

the university. He studied Greek under Dalzel,

logic under Finlayson, moral philosophy under

Dngald Stewart, and in 1800 passed advocate.

That was a period remarkable in the histoiy of

Edinburgh for the dawn of a new epoch of literaiy,

political, and legal talent. He was called to the

bar at a time when he had to compete with sucli

men as Moncrieff, Fullerton, Jeffrey, Cranstoun,

and John Clerk ; and highly gifted as they all

were, and each remarkable for some peculiar

faculty of his own, in the power of persuasion he

soon distanced them all. " Of all the great plead-

ers of tlie Scottish bar," wrote I\Ir. Lockliart, in

1818, " Mr. Cockburn is the only one who is cap-

able of touching, with a bold and assured hand,

the chords of feeling; who can, by one plain word,

and one plain look, convey the whole soul of

tenderness, or appeal, with the authority of a true

prophet, to yet higher emotions which slumber in

many bosoms, but are dead, I think, in none. As

every trulj' pathetic speaker must be, Mr. Cock-

burn is a homely speaker. . . . Instead of

labouring, as most orators do, to impress on the

minds of his audience a high notion of his powers

and attainments, this man seems to be anxious

about nothing except to make them forget that he

wears a gown, and to be satisfied that they are

listening to a person who thinks, feels, and judges

exactly like themselves. It is not his ambition to

be admired ; he wishes only to be trusted. He

docs not, by one word or gesture, show that he

aspires to be reckoned a great man ; but it is plain

that he would give the world that they should be-

lieve him to be an honest one. And after he has
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been allowed to tell liis stoiy in liis own wny for

ten niiimtps, I would defy Diogenes liimself to

doubt it. His use of the language, and liis still

more exquisite use of tlie images and allusions of

common Scottish life, must contribute in the most

powerful manner to his success in this first great

object of all his rhetoric. There is an air of broad

and undisguised sincerity in the simple tones and

energetic phrases he eniploys, which finds its way

like a charm to the veiy bottom of the hearts

around him. He sees it painted in their beaming

and expanding faces, and sees, and knows, and

feels at ouce that liis eloquence is persuasive.

Once so far victorious, he is thenceforth irresisti-

ble. Jle has established an understanding be-

tween himself and his audience—a feeling of fel-

lowship and confidenre of communion—which

nothing can disturb. The electricity of thought

and of sentiment passes from his face to theirs,

and thrills back again from theirs to his. He has

fairly come into contact ; he sees their breasts lie

bare to his weapon, and he will make no thrust

in vain."

In 180G Mr. Cockbnru was appointed advo-

cate-depute, but in July 1810 he was dismissed

b}' the lord-advocate of the da}-, for not being of

nis party, and voting against him at a faculty

meeting. In iMardi 1811, he married, and went

to reside at Bonaly, in the parish of Colinton,

about three miles from Edinburgh, which conti-

nued to be his place of residence till his death.

Ill 1830, on the accession of the whig party to

power, My. Jeffrey became lord-advocate and

Mr. Cockburn solicitor-general of Scotland. These

two names of Jeffrey and Cockburn had long been

linked together as rival leaders at the bar, and

they were now to be associated as colleagues. In

1834, the}' were both elevated to the bench as

lords of session, when they respectively assumed

the judicial titles of Lord JeftVcy and Lord Cock-

burn. As a judge Lord Cockburn was careful,

patient, and subtle, while as a man he was singu-

larly large-hearted and genial. He possessed hu-

mour, wit, and eloquence in a high degree, with

ripe observation and inimitable expression, a sound

judgment and a kind heart. He died at his house

at Bonaly on the nioniiiij of Ajuil ^G, 1854, aged

75.

A patriotic and benevolent siiirit induced him to

exert his influence for the welfare of Edinburgh and

its institutions. Among these the Royal Scoltisli

Academy claimed a large portion of his attention.

His love of :irt, and devotion to the Scottish eajii-

tal, led him to publish, in 1850, a characteristic

pamphlet, entitled 'The Best AVay of Spoiling the

lieauty of Ediiibiirgli.' He also wrote some let-

ters in the news))ai)ers on the same subject, and

tw o articles in the Edinburgh Review on the oilice

of Lord Advocate. In lS.'j2 appeared at Edin-

burgh his 'Life of Lord Jell'rey,' in 2 vols. 8vo,

and in 1850 'Memorials of His own Time,' By
Lord Cockburn. Edinburgh, 1 vol. 8vo.

CO;\IBE, (tKorge, a distinguished phrenolo-

gist, was born in Edinburgh in 1788. His father,

of the same name, was a brewer at Livingston's

Yards in that city, a locality at one period at the

back of the Castle, but now removed. His mo-

ther, Clarion Newton, belonged to the family of

Newton of Curriehill. They had seventeen chil-

dren, of whbm George, and Andrew, (a memoir

of whom is given at page G75 of vol. i.,) were the

most conspicuous. Their father is described as a

tall, robust man, a staunch I'resbyterian of the old

school, and his phrenological sons report that he

could never find a hat that would lit his head,

and was obliged to have a block for himself.

Their mother was energetic and conscientious.

Neither parent had much education, and both

seem to have been very strict in the religious dis-

cipline of their family.

George was bred to the law, and in 1812 passed

as a writer to the signet. In 181G, when Spurz-

heim, the celebrated physiologist, visited Edin-

burgh, he attended his lectures on the science of

phrenology, and reached a conviction which de-

termined the character of his mind and life. He

himself tells us that he was not " led away by

enthusiasm,"' but won by the evidence that the

doctrine was "eminently practical."' He straight-

way set himself to study the opinions of Gall and

SpiHv.heim, being convinced that they had a basis

in nature, but as his mind had no scicntilic quali-

ty which could give him insight into the bearings

of theory and practice, hypothesis, discovery and

exjilanation, he stopped when he should have

gone on. He admitted Gall's anatomy of the
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brain, while he adopted a modified view of its

functions differing in some essential respects from

tliose of Gall and Spurzheim. Mr. Combe made

his first appearance as a writer in a series of

Essays in the 'Literary and Statistical Magazine

of Scotland,' on the new science of mind. These

papers were collected and published in a sepa-

rate volume in 1819, mider the title of ' Essays

on Phrenology,' and in 1825 they were repub-

lished, in a revised and improved form, as a

' System of Phrenology,' in two volumes octavo.

In 1820 appeared from the Edinburgh press the

'Phrenological Transactions,' which were anon

followed by the ' Phrenological Journal,' a quar-

terly devoted to the cultivation and development

of the new science, and combining with it eth-

nology as a germain inquiry. Mr. Combe, short-

ly after its commencement, became editor, and his

contributions are easily to be recognised by the

clearness, force, and elegance of his style. The

' PhrenologicalJournal' was subsequently edited by

his nephew, iMr. Cox, and extends to twenty

8vo volumes. In February 1827, he read to the

Edinburgh Phrenological Society the first part of

a work ' On the Harmony between the Mental

and Moral Constitution of Man and the Laws of

Physical Nature.' This was the first form of his

celebrated ' Constitution of i\Ian in Relation to

External Objects,' which was publislied in 1828.

This remarkable work was eagerly read, and a

gentleman named Henderson bequeathed a sum of

money to be expended in publishing a very cheap

edition of the book. Its success was immense.

The circulation at one period amounted to 100,000

copies in Great Britain and Ireland, while in the

United States its sale was unprecedented. It was

also translated into the German, French, Swedish,

and other continental languages. Through im-

provement of the public health, the author not

only aimed at, but efl'ected, improvement of the

public morals.

Mr. Combe's more popular works have influ-

enced the opinions of the middle and lower classes

more than any writer of his time, and there is no

doubt that they will long continue to be read and

appreciated for their vigorous and manly good

sense and thoroughly philosophical spirit. It has

been objected to Mr. Combe that, in his ' Consti-

tution of Man,' he did not take a sufficiently high

view of man and his destiny, but his answer has

uniformly been, that the subject embraced chiefly

man's relation to this world, and in that aspect it

must be regarded as an extremely suggestive and

highly instructive work, especially calculated for

the improvement and guidance of the classes to

whom it is chiefly addressed. His other works

are generally of a practical character, and manifest

a decided command of the English language.

By financial writers Mr. Combe was esteemed

"one of the clearest expositors of monetary sci-

ence." On this subject he exhibited his great

power in various pamphlets and in articles con-

tributed to the Scotsma7i Edinburgh newspaper,

and this power, we are further informed, " was

derived simply from his bringing each aspect of it

to the test of the moral laws enforced in his work

on the ' Constitution of Man.' " And yet he had

never been trained to commercial or banking pur-

suits; an "inflexible adherence to first princi-

ples," and a healthy disregard of mere expedien-

cy, were the secrets of his power.

In 1833, Mr. Combe married Cecilia, daughter

of the great actress, Mrs. Siddous. Dr. Spurz-

heim had visited the United States of America

in 1832, and died there in a few months, and

the disciples of phrenology in America invited

George Combe to go and lecture to them. Ac-

cordingly, in 1837, he quitted practice as a

lawyer, and, the following year, with Mrs.

Combe, crossed the Atlantic. He spent nearly

three years in the United States, lecturing in

many of their chief towns and cities, and studying

the manners and institutions of the people, and

on his return he published his 'Notes on the

United States,' in 3 vols. The years after his

return were varied by continental journeys, too

often rendered necessary by failing health. In

the cause of education he was an unwearied la-

bourer, a quiet but zealous worker for the ben-

efit of his fellows ; an unostentatious but a deter-

mined teacher ; the most persevering of philoso-

phers in disseminating his peculiar tenets.

We are told by one well acquainted with his

movements, that he contemplated lecturing on

Phrenology in Germany, and, with that view,

during a residence in Mannheim in the winter of
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1841-2 made such exertions to master the Ger-

man language as seriously aflccted iiis healtli, and

brouglit on an illness tliat induced the abandon-

ment of tlie attempt. He did, however, deliver

one course of lectures in German at Heidelberg;

and though, from the cause referred to, his jour-

neys and residence on the continent were not, gen-

erally speaking, immediately devoted to the spread

of his philosophy, the knowledge he acquired of

the leaders and of the course of public opinion

throughout Europe was of much value, and was

always turned to good account.

The, hitter period of his life was one of very in-

firm health, the result, as he believed, of the early

adverse influences wliich turned his own and liis

brother's attention so strongly to sanitary sub-

jects. He died 14tli August, 1858, at his friend

Dr. Lane's hydropathic establishment at Moor

Park, Surrey, and was interred in the Dean ceme-

tei-y, Edinburgh.—His jirincipal works are :

K.ssnvs on Phrenology, or .in Enquiry into tlie Principles

anil Utility of tlie System <if Dr. Gall ami Spurzlieini into

the Oliji'ctions made against it. Eiiin. 1819, 8vo.

Elements of Phrenology. Edin. 1824, 12nio. The same.

Till edition. Edin. 1835, l"2mo.

A System of Phrenology. Edin. 182o. 2 vols. 8vo. Nu-

merons editions.

Letter to Francis Jeffrey in Answer to his Criticism on

I Phrenology, contained in No. 88 of Edinbnrgli Review. Ed-

inburgh, 182G.

Essay on the Constitution of Man and its Relation to E.\-

ternal Olijects. Edin. 1827.

Notes in Answer to Jlr. Scott's Remarks on Mr. Comhe's

Essay on the Natural Constitution of Man. 1827.

The Constitution of Man in Relation to E.\ternal Ohji cts.

Edin. 1827, 12mo. Numerous editior.s.

What should Secular Education Embrace. 1828.

Answer to ' Observations on the PhrenoIogic.il Develop-

i inent of Burlce, Hare, and the other atrocious murderers, by

j

Thomas Stone.' Edin. 1829.

; Letter on the Prejudices of the gre.at in Science and Phi-

losnphv against Plirenology, addressed to the Editor of the

Edinburgh Weekly .Tounial. Edin. 1829.

Lectures on Phrenology, with Notes, an Introductory Es-

say, and an Historical Sketch, by Andrew P.oarJman. Lon-

I

don, 1839, 12mo.

Lectures on Moral Philosophy. IJoslon, 18-10, 12mo.

Moral Philosophy. Edin. 1840, 12mo.

Addi'ess delivered at the Anniversary celebration of the

I

birth of Spurzhcini and the Organization of the Boston

i Phrenological Society, December 31, 1839. Boston, 1840.

j

Notes on the United States of North America during a

Phrenological Visit in 1838-39-10. Edinburgh, 1841, 3 vols.

12mo.

Notes on the New Reformation in Germany, and on Na-

tional Education and the Common Schools of Massachu-

1
setts. Edin. 184.5.

j

Thoughts on Capital Punishment. Edin. 1847.
|

Outlines of Plirenology. Numerous editions.

The Currency Question considered in relation to the Eaiik I

Restriction Act. Pamphlet.

Phrenological Observations on the Cerebral development of

David Haggart, lately executed at Edinburgh for murder. '

Edin. 1821, 12mo. i

The Suppressed Documents, or an Appeal to the Public i

.against the Conductors of the Scottish Guardian. Gla.^gnw,

183G, 8vo.

Our Rule in India. Edin. 1838, 8vo.

RemarUs on National Education. Edin. 1847.

iielation between Religion and Science. 2d edition. Kd-

iiibuigh, 1847. 4th edition, called People's Edition. Edin.

185b'.

Answer to the Attack on the Constitution of Man con-

tained in 'Nature and Revelation Harmonious, by the Rev.

C. J. Kennedy, Paisley.' Edin. 1848.

Lectures on Popular Education, delivered to the lOdinburgli

Philosophical Association in Ajiril and Nov. 1833. 3d. edit.

Edin. 1848, 8vo. ,

The Life ;uid Conespciidciac of Andrew Combe, M.l).

Edin. 1850, 8vo. -

Secular Education Lecture delivered Nov. 25, 1851, in

Queen Street Hall, Edinburgh. Edin. 1851, 8vo.
|

Secular Instruction, or Extension of Church Endowments.
[

Letter to the Duke of Argyle. Edin. 1852, 8vo. •!

Remarks on the Principles of Criminal Legislation, and the

Practice of Prison Discipline. London, 1854, 8vo.

Notes on a Visit to Germany in 1854. Edin. 1854, 8vo.
|

Phrenology applied to Painting and .Sculpture. London,
j

1855, 8vo.
j

Refutations Refuted. A Reply to pamphlets put forth in
\

answer to the Currency Question considered. London, 185G,
j

8vo.
jOn Teaching Physiology and its Applications in Common
j

Schools. Edin. 1857, 8vo pamphlet.
j

Coui.THART, of Coulthart and Collyn, the surname and de-

signation of an ancient family in Wigtownshire, which derive

their name and descent from Coulth.artus, a Roman lieuten-

ant, who fought under .Julius Agricola, at the foot of the

Grampian mountains, when that victorious general was op-

posed by the confederated forces of tlie Scots, Picts, and

Danes, under Corhredus Galdus. Peace having been restored

soon after that decisive engagement, Coulthartus, instead of I

returning to Rome, married Marsa, daughter of Kadal.ayne.

chief of the Novantes, by whom he acquired large territorial

possessions near the present Whithorn, in the county of Wig-

town. Coultli.artus, who was versed in all the wisdom and

learning of the Romans, afterivards lived .as a Caledonian

chieftain, and died there.
|

Godofredus, a descendant of Coulthartus, appears to have
I

opjiosed the usurpations of Donald Bane and Duncan, and to
j

have energetically supported the restoration of the legitimate

offspring of Malcolm to the throne. Godofredus was present

at Scoon when Edgar was crowned and anointed, but dying

at Coulthart in the succeeding reign of Alexander, was buried

with great pom]) and solemnity in the family m.iusoleum at

Candida Casa. By his wife, Maud, daughter of Stephen de
]

Maulia, he had, with 2 daughters, 2 sons. Sir Radulplius, his
|

heir, and Amelick, who fought at Northallerton, under the
i

earl of March, tigainst Stephen, king of England.

The ehier son, Sir Radulplius de Coulthart, was the iirst of
j

the fauiilv on record that u.sed the territorial designation as I

a surname, .and the first loni that joined the Crusaders in an 1

e.xpedition to Palestine. After his return from the Holy
i

J
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I.aiiii, lie assisted in repressing tlie disturbances in Galloway,

when Angns, the thane thereof, assumed political independ-

ence; and as a reward for liis valour and loyalty on the occa-

sion, King JIalcolm £;ranted him the lands of Denmark, at

the same time Itniglitinj; him and his eldest son, tlie next chief.

'J'his was Sir Teter de Conlthart, lent. He contributed

largely in money, in 1191, towards the relief of the Christians

in .lernsalem, and also furnished a quota of the armed men

that left Scotland under the command of the earl of Hunting-

don, to assist Richard, king of Kngland, in prosecuting the

Holy wars. His name appears in the list of nohlemen and

gentlemen who accom])anied King William to England, to

congratulate King Richard on his safe return from Palestine,

and it also occurs amongst those present at York when peace

was concluded between King John and King William.

His son, William de Coulthart, had a grant of the lands of

IJarlochtery, in the shire of Wigtown, from Allan, lord of

Gallowav, which lands were afterwards mortified by the said

William de Coulthart to the monks of Dnndrennan, for the

s.alvation of the soul of the said Allan. He had, with other

children, two sons, Sir Roger, his successor, and Walter, who

assisted John Cumin, carl of Buchan, in capturing Gille.spy

Ross, the Outlaw, and his followers, alter they had plundered

and burnt the town of Inverness. He died in 1238.

His son, Sir Roger de Coulthart, knt., witnessed a charter

gr.anted by the bishop of Candida Ca.sa in 1227, and had the

lioriQur of tilting at the Royal Haddington tournament, in

12-10, before Alex.ander II., who was so highly pleased with

the skill he displ.ayed on the occasion, that he personally in-

vested him with the knightly girdle, and heraldically added

to the three black colts courant on his silver shield, a fesse

Eal)le, which armori.al ensigns have ever since, without altera-

tion, been borne by the chiefs of the family. He married

Isabella, daughter of Walter Stewart, hereditary high-steward

of Scotland, and had, with 3 d.aughters, 5 sons, 1. David,

killed in Palestine, in his father's lifetime; 2. Alexander, his

heir; 3. Allan, 4. William, 5. Robert, mentioned in a morti-

fication-charter granting certain lands in Galloway to the

monks of Glenluce. He died at Conlthart, aged 64 years.

His son, Alexander de Coulthart, commanded a batt.alion

in the left wing of the Scottish army at Largs, when Haco,

king of Norway, was overthrown, Aug. 15, 1263. He h.ad 3

sons, 1. John, bis heir; 2. William, who married JIatilda,

daughter of Sir Richard Edmundstone, of Edmundstone, by

whom be had 3 .sons, John, who succeeded his uncle John as

chief of the name; Rich.ard, in holy orders; Peter, who was

drowned at sm; and 2 daughters, Maud and Helen, men-

tioned in a charter, 1321 ; 3. Alexander, designated in a tes-

tamentary disposition as "of Craigtower," who died in 1278.

The eldest son, John de Coulthart, an exceedingly studious

and learned man, who devoted much of his property to char-

itable and religious objects, died, uuman'ied, Oct. 18, 1313.

He was succeeded by his nephew, John de Coultli.art, eld-

est son of William de Coulthart. He does not appear to have

taken any conspicuous part in the political affairs of Scotland

during the troublous reigns of John Baliol and Robert Bruce;

but the circumstance of his name not occurring in the lists of

the barons and others who swore fealty to the two first Ed-

wards, coupled with the fact of his having received a grant of

the barony of Whithorn from Robert I., leads to the conclu-

sion that he was a supporter of Scottish independence, and

was prevented by some unexplained cause from prominently

sharing in the struggles for freedom which chiefly terminated

with the battle of liannockliurn. He married for his 2d mi'e,

IClizabeth, d.iugbter of William St. Clair of Roslin, and this

lady is expressly joined with her busb.ind in the charter of

Robert I. above mentioned. They had issue that arrii-ed at

maturity, four sons, viz., 1. and 2. Robert and Henry, both

killed at the battle of Neville's Cross, 17tb Oct. 1346, with-

out leaving i.ssue ; 3. William, tlie lieir; 4. James, who ac-

quired lands in the shire of Stirling. This John de Coulthart

appears to have been a great favourite of King Robert I., as

be had .also a grant of the lands of Carswell from that mon-
arch. He died subsequentlv to 1346.

His son, ^\ illiam de Coulthart, obtained an entirelv new
grant of the lands of the barony of Coulthart from D.ivid II.

He married Elizabeth, daughter of Alexander de Durrisdeer,

and had Andrew, his heir; Robert, who married PHizabeth,

daughter of David Napier, and niece of Sir Alexander Napier,

ancestor of the Lords Napier; and Janet, who m.arried the

laird of .Muirliead, Lanarkshire.

His son and successor, Andrew de Coulthart, obtained a

charter of the lands of Largtnore, in G.alloway, from Robert

II. He died Nov. 12, 1384.

His only son and successor, Gilbert dc Coulthart. married

Mariot, daughter of Andrew lilackadder of Black.addor, Ber-

wickshire, lineal ancestor of Sir Patrick Blackadder of Tul-

liallan, and of Robert, first archbishop of Glasgow, and had

Sir Roger, his heir, and Andrew, to whom and liis mother

Mariot, Robert III. granted a charter of the lands of Bar-

glass and Murburne, within the barony of Coulthart. He
had also a daughter named Janet, who m.arried Robert de

Agnew. He died 18th August, 1391, at Dantzic. in Western

Prussia, whilst on an expedition against the Turks.

His eldest son. Sir Roger de Coulthait, was knighted bv

James I. .at his coronation at Scoon, 1424. He m. JIargcrv,

dr. and co-heiress of John the Ross of Renfrew, knt., and

maternally co-heiress of JIacknyghte of Jl.-icknyglite, and Glcn-

donyn of Glendonyn, and had. with 2 drs.. 4 sons, 1. Sir Roger,

his heir; 2. Gilbert, who went in the train of Earl Douglas,

lord of Galloway, to various European courts, A. D. 1449, and

fought at the battle of Brechin, May 18, 14.52; 3. James, "of

Auchtergillan ;" 4. John (and bis wife Annabel), mentioned

in a chancery precept dated March 18, 1454. Sir Roger dis-

tinguished himself at the battle of Aberbrotbic, J.m. 13,

144,5-6, and fell at the siege of Roxburgh castle, Sept. 17, 1460.

His eldest son, Sir Roger de Coulthart, w.as served heir to

the lands of Coulthart arul Larginore in 1461, and to those of

Renfrew. Macknyghfe, .and Glendonyn, on the death of his

mother, March 10, 1474. He married -Anne, daughter and

co-heiress of Sir Richard Carmichael of Carspherne, and by

her had 6 sons, 1. Richard, bis heir; 2. Walter, an admiral

of the fleet; 3. Henry, who settled in Craven, in Yorkshire,

and was ancestor of H. W. Coulthurst, D.I)., nt one time

vicar of Halifax; 4. Allan, 5. Eciward. mentioned in a char-

ter dated 20th .Tune, 1473: 6. George, dcsci ibed " of Rock-

hill." maiTied M.argaret, daughter of John Chalmer, baron of

Gaitgirth. Sir Roger was killed at Sauehieburn, June II,

1488, having been knighted by King .lanies III. only a few

months before his death.

His eldest son, Richard de Coulthart, fell at Flodden, Sept.

9, 1513, leaving, with 5 daughters, 4 sons, 1. Cutbbert, his

heir; 2. .John, who obtained sasine of the lands of Blairbill,

Ayrshire, lOtb June, 1543; 3. William, who obt.ained a char-

ter of the twenty-pound land of Bengairn, in the stewartry of

Kirkcudbright; 4. Robert, who married a daughter of Houston

of Houston, 12tb May, 1538.

The eldest son, Cutbbert de Coulthart. of Conlthart, was a

chief of extraordinaiy physical powers, who frequentiv dis-

tinguished himself in the military encounters of his time. At
the battle of Flodden-Eield he behaved with great bravery,

and at Solw.ay Moss, where be fell, he commanded a division
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of the Scottisli iiniiy witli iiilinirable courage and discretion.

He died Nov. 25, lo42, and was succeeded by iiis only son,

Jolni Cciulthart, of Cuultliai t and Largniore. Amongst the

deeds in tlie possession of the Coulthart family, is a writ

under tiie great seal of Scotland, granted to this chief under

tlie earl of Moray's regency, dated 2(Jtli October, 15U8, which

clearly establishes the recognised rank and antiquity of

the feudal lairds and barony of Coulthart. IJorn July 12,

1.342, he married Helen, daughter and eventually co-heiress

of John L'orbes of rilscotlie, and died about 1621). He had,

with 4 daughters, 3 sons, 1. William, his heir; 2. I!"ger, iji

lioly orders; 3. Cuthbert, capt. royal artillery.

The eldest sou, William Coulthart, of Coulthart and I.arg-

niore, Esq., married .Mary, daughter and co-heiress of lUchard

.Mackenzie of Craig Hall, Ayrshire, and died Feb. 20, 1G53.

He had 2 suns, John, his heir, and Uichard, a major iti the

army of Charles II., who, when Oliver Cromwell was pro-

claimed lord protector, fled beyond seas, and never returned.

His elder son, ,Iohu Coulthart, Ksq. of Coulthart and Larg-

more, born in 1()25, died Sept. 11, 1090. He had, with 2

(iMUgliters, 3 sons, 1. liichard, his heir; 2. Hobort, an officer

li.N., killed June IG, 1G03, off St. Vincent, when fighting un-

der Admiral liooke against the French squadions; 3. William,

who represented the burgli of Wigtown in parliament from

1G92 to the Union, of which lie was a staunch supporter.

His eldest son, Kichard Coulthart, Esq., was an eminent

practical agriculturist, and author of the once-celebrated work

entitled 'Tlie Economy of Agricullure,' which long formed a

text-book to the farmers in Scotland. Born at Coulthart,

Jan. IG, 1G59, he married Nov. 15, 1G9S, Jean, daughter and

lieiress of Wm. Gordon of .Sorbie, Esq. He died Nov. 10, 1717.

His only sou, James Coulthart, of Coultliart and Largiiiore,

born in 1702, purchased the estate of Knockhill, Ayrshire,

in -May, 1732, and died May 8, 1775. He had 3 sons; 1.

William, his heir ; 2. Andrew, of Trostone. Kirkcudbright-

shire; 3. .lolin, born 18tli April, 1743, in holy orders.

riie eldest son, William Coulthart, of Coulthart and I.arg-

more, Esq., born in 1739, liad 2 sons and 2 drs. Sons: 1.

Alexander, born 21st June, 17C9, died s. p. July 19, 1789 ; 2.

William, his heir. Mr. Coullliart alienated the lands of Larg-

iiiore, ill the stewartry of Kirkcudbright, and of Knockhill,

Ayrshire, Jlay 15, 177G, and took possession of the estate of

Collyn, Dumliies-shire, on June 4 the same year. This chief

died Feb. 15, 1807.

His only surviving sou and successor, William Coulthart, of

Coulthart and Collyn, Esq., born March 21, 1774, married 3d

Sept. 1801, Helen, 2d daughter of the late John Koss, Esq.

of Daltiiu, Dumfiies-sliire, a descendant of the Lords IJoss

of Halkhead, Renfrewshire, and a collateral relation of tlie

lioyles, earls of Glasgow. He had one son, John Ross, his

heir, and one daughter, Margaret, married in 18.S3, James

Macgnflie, Esq. of Crossniicliael, Kirkcudbrightshire, issue, G

sons and 5 daughters. Jlr. Coulthart died at I'asture-house,

CO. Cumberland, 7lli Oct. 1847.

The present chief of the name and representative of the fa-

mily is his only son, John Ross Coulthart, of Coulthart and

Collyn, and Croft-house, .Ashton-under-Lyne, Lancashire, ICsq.,

lianker, born June 24, 1807; educated at the grammar school

of liiiittle, in the stewartry of Kirkcudbright ; entered the Na-

tional Hank of Scotland's office, Castle-Dougl.is, in 1828; the

Yorkshire District ISank's branch at Halifax, in 1834 ; and the

.\sht»n, Stalyliridge, Hyde, and Glosaop Hank, Ashton-under-

Lyne, as general manager, in 183G. In 1838, he published

an 8vo volume of Decimal Interest Tables, which have been

found exceedingly valuable by bankers. Deputed in 1843

bv the sanitary commissioners, to inquire uito the condition

of Ashton-under-Lyne, for fuhiess of information, luciduess of

arrangement, and accuracy of description, his report was spe-

cially commended both in the house of lords and house of coin-

moiLS. He is a fellow of the .Society of .\ntiquaries, Scotiand, of

the Royal Society of Literature, Lcnidon, one of her Maje.>ty'3

justices of the peace for Lancashire, and he served the office of

mayor of the manor of Asliton-under-Lyne in 1855-7. In

Jlichaelmas term 18G2, he was called to the bar, by the Hon-

ourable Sociely of Lincoln's Inn, having completed a course

of legal study, without any intention of practising as a

barrister, but for the purpose of rendering himself more gen-

erally useful as a banker and a magistrate. A portrait and a

memoir of Mr. Coulthart appeared in the ' Hankers' Maga-
zine ' for Jan. 1858.

By intermarriages from time to time with heiresses, this very

ancient family is entitled to bear for arms: Quarterly of eight.

1. Ar. a fesse between 2 colts in chief, and one in base, couraut,

sa. for Coulthart of Coulthart. 2. Ar. a cliev. chequv, of three

tracks, sa. and or, between three water-bougets, of the second,

for Ross of Renfrew. 3. Sa. an inescutcheon, cliequy, ar.

and or, between three lions' heads, erased, of the second, for

.Macknyghte of Macknyghte. 4. Qn.arterly, ar. and s.i., a

cross parted per cross, iiigrailed, couiiterchanged, for Glendo-

nyn of Glendonyn. 5. Ar. a bend cotised, poteiitee, sa..

charged with a tilting-spear of the first, for Carmicliael of

Carsepherne. 6. Erm. a chev. chequy, ar. and sa., between

three bears' heads, couped of tlie last, muzzled gu., within a

bordure nebulee, of the third, for Forbes of Pitscottie. 7.

Quarterly, first and fourth, az., a stag's head cabossed, or

;

second and third, ar., three human legs, armed ppr., united

in the centre at the upper part of the thigh, triangularly

flexed, garnished and spurred, of the second; in surtout, an

escutcheon erm., charged with a stag's head cabossed, sa.,

within a bordure, pellettee, of the third, for JLickenzie of

Craighall. 8. Erm. a fesse, sa., charged with a spear, ar.,

the point to the dexter side, between three boars' lieads erect,

and erased, of the second, for Gordon of Sorbie. Supporters.

—

On the dexter, a war-horse, ar., completely armed for the

field, ppr., garnished, or; on the sinister, a stag of the second,

attired, :uid ducally gorged, of the third
;
being a rebus on ti.e

name Coulthart. Crest.—A war horse's head and neck,

Ciiuped, ar., armed and bridled, ppr. garnished or. Motto.

—

Virtute non verbis, in allusion to the horses in the arms.

The above account of the Coultharts of Coulthart has been

cliiefly compiled from the family muniments, and had space

permitted, a number of the Latin charters referred to would

have been inserted, and also an engraving given of an ancient

se:d appended to a charter granted by Roger de Coulthart,

knight, to Robert de Agnew, assigning certain lands ia Gal-

loway, \. D. 1443.

Ckaigie.—Additional to the notices of families of this

surname given at vol. i. p. G94.

Ill Orkney there was a family of Craigie from an early

period. The first of whom any notice li,as been found is

J.ames of Craigy, dominus de Hujie, wlio married a daughter

of Henry Sinclair, earl of Orkney. He is supposed to have

accompanied that noble to Orkney, when he received an in-

vestitm'e of the earldom fro:u the king of Denmark, in 1379,

and was probably a son of John de Craigie and Margaret de

Jlonfode, mentioned in the .account of the Craigies in vol. first.

Of that marriage, besides a daughter, there were at least 2 soiik.

Of date 13G7-8, there is a safe conduct granted by Edward III.

to various Scottish men, and among these is John de Craigy,

armigero de Scot. He was one of the barons present at the coro-

ation of Robert 11. at Scone, March 27, 1371. In the 2d year of
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thiit reign tliere is a charter in liis favour of the lands of

K)'Iedeletli, and a grant hy the same king to liis beUived and

faithfnl .Tdlin de Craigy pro JidcU servicio nobis impenso et

impcndcndo, of 40 merks sterhng yearly to him and liis lieirs

from us and our heirs to be heritably secured, &c. This John

de Craigy had an only daughter, Margaret, domina de Craigie,

lieiress of Craigie and Braidwood, who married Sir John

Stewart, ancestor of the Stewarts of Craigiehall, as men-

tioned at vol. i. p. 694.

The family of Craigie soon acquired property and great in-

fluence in Orkney, many of the name filling the important

office of I.aw-man in that county. The Craigies of Burgh in

liousay were the principal family of the name till the begin-

ning of the ITtli century, when it ended in co-heiresses. The

representation devolved on the Craigies of Gausay and Pab-

dale, and, on their failure in an heiress, on the Craigies of

Saviskail in Rousay, the last of whom married a sister of

Ballbur of Trenabie, grandfather of David Balfour, Esq. of

Balfour and Trenabie.

The ancient family of Craigie of Kilgraston, in the parish

of Dumbarnie, Perthshire, were descended, according to fa-

mily tradition, from James of Craigy above named, and had

emigrated from Orkney at an early period. Several members

of tlie family have lield important legal appointments. Law-

rence Craigie of Kilgraston, eldest son of Lawrence Craigie of

Kilgraston, by liis wife, Katherine Colville, daughter of Hon.

William Colville, brother of Robert, Lord Colville of Ochil-

tree, admitted advocate in 1712, was made a baron of exclie-

quer in 1747. He married Ann, daughter of Drummond of

]\Iegginch, Perthshire. His eldest son, John Craigie of Kil-

graston, advocate, married his cousin, Anne, daughter of

President Craigie, and had several children.

His eldest son, Lawrence Craigie of Kilgi'aston, was called

to the bar in 1773. He sold Kilgraston in 1784, and died in

1818.

The 2d son, Robert Craigie, (mentioned vol. i. p. 694,)

became a lord of session in 1811, under the title of Lord

Craigie. He died, unmarried, in 1834.

The third son, John Craigie, Esq., was, for several years,

commissary-general of Lower Canada. He married Susan

Coffin, widow of James Grant, Esq., and had a numerous

family. Their eldest son, John Craigie, Esq., advocate, slier-

iff-substitute of Roxburghshire, is the representative of the

Craigies of Kilgraston.

Their 2d son. Rear-admiral Robert Craigie, born in 1800,

entered the royal navy as a volunteer at eleven years of age,

and after serving on the coast of Africa, the West Indies, the

Cape of Good Hope, the South American and the East India

stations, and participating in the capture of the United States

sloop-of-war Syren by H.M.S. Medw.ay in 1814, the cutting

out of a Sardinian brig by the boats of the Naiad, from under

the fire of the batteries of Bona, and, in company with H.M.S.

Cameleon, in the capture of an Algerine brig in 1824, and

various other services, was promoted to tlie rank of lieutenant

in January 1823, and to that of commander in September

1S28.

After obtaining his commander rank, Captain Craigie de-

Yiited the next three years to study in the Royal Naval col-

lege and at the university of Edinburgh, and the addition

which he made at this period to his general and scientific in-

formation, proved of great service to him in the performance

of the vai ions civil as well as strictly professional duties that

afterwards devolved upon liim.

In December 1835 he was .appointed to the command of

H.M.S. Scout, for service on the coast of Africa, and on two

occasions during his service on that station, he had charge, for

periods of 9 and 11 months respectively, of the squadron on

the West coast. In March 1837, his duties as senior officer

c.illed him into the river Bonny, lor the purpose of supporting

British mercantile interests; and, under circumstances of a

\ ery critical character, he rendered services which met with the

"entire approbation" of the commander-in-chief, the admi-
ralty, and the foreign office. In the year 1838, Capt.iin Cr.aigie

again ascended the Bonny, with the ratification by H..M.

government of a treaty which, on his previous visit, be h.ad

eflected between himself, as the representative of Great Bri-

tain, and King Peppel, the chief of that kingdom. Total

abolition of slave exportation, which previously had amounted

to 20,000 slaves annually, was one of the results of this im-
portant treaty,—a fact which was prominently alluded to bv

Lord Brougham, when presenting in 1860, to the House of

Peers, a petition from the Anti-Slavery society, in favour of

King Peppel.

On his arrival in England, he was rewarded with a post-

commission, dated Nov. 7, 1839. From 1847 to 1852, he

was employed in directing the Relief operations in Shetland,

acting during the first two years as resident inspector, and
during the last two as inspector-general. In 1849 the very

]

important co-operative arrangement for the construction of the I

great lines of roads in Shetland was placed under his elLirge.

In the minutes of the committee of m.anagement of the Edin-

burgh section of the Central Board for the relief of Highland
i

destitution, it is stated that " till the end of 1850 he had the

advantage of the presence of Captain Webb, R.E., as govern-

ment officer, under whom a staff of sappers and miners was
placed. During the last year Captain Webb was withdrawn,

and Captain Craigie most handsomely undertook his arduous

duties, in addition to his no less responsible and difficult

position. The committee are satisfied that all who hive had

an opportunity of judging of the cliar.-icter of Capt. Craigie's

services will agree with tliem in thinking that his local ad-

ministration of Shetland has been most successful .and bene-

ficial to the inhabitants, and that this result is mainly to be

attributed to the ability, good feeling, admirable judgment,

and sound discretion which Captain Craigie has shown in the

execution of his arduous and delicate duties." In Decem-

ber 1853, Captain Craigie received directions to enrol and

organize the 5tli division of the Royal naval coast volunteers

in Scotland, numbering 1,500 men. His n.ime, while thus

employed, was borne on the books of the Fisg.ard. In this

service he was completely successful, and he received the

thanks of the admiralty for his exertions. In Nov. J854 he

was nominated superintendent of the packet est.iblishment at

Southampton ; and in Feb. 1855, during the heat of the w.ar

in the Crimea, he received the new and import.ant appoint-

ment of chairman of the transport board, the arduous duties

of which office he performed with the greatest advantage to

the country. On the dissolution of the board, consequent on

the termination of hostilities, he w.as appointed, Nov. 13,

1856, superintendent of the Royal William victualling yard

.and Royal n.aval hospital at Plymouth, where he remained

until Feb. 24, 1858, when, not having qualified for the active

list.—on account of his employment in the civil service, in

which, at the instance of three first lords of the admiralty,

he had reluctantly sacrificed his fair prospects as a naval

officer, to the exigencies of the public requirements—lie was

placed on the list of reserved rear-admir.als. He married,

April 28, 1842, Cli.ariotte, 2d daughter of Charles Grant,

Esq., .md niece of the Right Hon. Sir William Grant, master

of the rolls, with issue.

Lawrence Craigie, son of Baron Craigie foresaid, wns a
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writer to tlie signet, and about tlie iiiiildle of lust century

purcliiised tlie estate of IJuinlianiie from his relatives tlie

Halkett Craigies, afterwards inentioned. About 1780 lie

sold Dumbarnie to liis cousin, David Craigie, od son of Presi-

dent Craigie (see next article). I'y liis marriage with Miss

Duncan of I.undie, sister of the 1st Viscount Duncan of Cam-

perdown, he had a large iainily. His son, Major Thomas

Craigie, was at the capture of Seringapatam ; and among his

grandsons are, Colonel John Craigie, formerly military secre-

tary in Bengal, and Major-general I'eter Edmonstone Craigie,

who at one time held an important command in India.

The Craigics of GlendoicU. in the Car.se of Gowric, descend

from Hobert Craigie, a younger brother of Baron Craigie of

Kilgraston, above-mentioned. Born in 1G85, lie was admit-

ted advocate in 1710, and after a successful career at the bar,

which enabled him to purchase the estate of Glendoick in

1726, he was appointed lord advocate of Scotland in 1742.

He held that important odice during the eventful period of

the rebellion, 17-1.5-fj, and in 1754 he was raised to tlie bench

as lord president of the court of session. He died in 1760.

A collection of interesting letters relating to the "rising"

in 1745, is preserved in the library at Glendoick, and there

is an excellent portrait of him by Allan Ramsay, painted in

1741. Bv his marriage with Barbara, daughter and heiress

of Charles Stew.art of Carie, a younger son of Stewart of Ur-

rard, he had, with 3 daughters, 4 sons. 1. Charles Craigie

of Glendoick, who died unmarried. 2. John Craigie of

Glendoick, who was succeeded by his son, Laurence Craigie,

Esq., present proprietor, whose 2d son, Capt. A. Craigie, R.E.,

was killed before Sebastopol. 3. David Craigie, Esq. of

Dumbarnie, whose grandson, Robert George Craigie, R.N., in

command of H..M.S. Ringdove, made post captain for gallant

conduct in China, died at Yokohama, Japan, Sept. 15, 1802,

of cholera, and whose great-granddaugliter is in possession of

Dumbarnie. 4. Robert, died unmarried. Daughters: I.Anne,

married her cousin, John Craigie of Kilgi-aston. 2. Cecilia,

wife of Colonel D.mglas of Stratliendry, Fifesliire. 3. Isa-

bella, died unmarried.

Coeval with the Craigles of Kilgraston were the Craigies

of Dumbarnie, in the parish of that name, and besides owing

their common origin to the family of Craigie in Orkney, they

were intimately connected by frequent intermarriages.

James Craigie, younger of Dumbarnie, was one of the com-

missioners to parliament for Perthshire from 1G98 to 1701.

His brother, John Craigie, professor of philosophy in the uni-

versity of St. Andrews, was proprietor of the lands of Hall-

hill, &c., Fifesliire, and, under the provisions of a contract of

mutual entail, succeeded to the estate of Dumbarnie.

His son, John Craigie of Dumbarnie, one of the lords of

justiciary in Scotland, married Susan, daughter of Sir John

Inglis of Cramond, by Lady Susan Hamilton, daughter of the

4th earl of Haddington, and was succeeded in his est:itcs by

his eldest daughter, Anne, who married Charles H.-dkett, Esq.,

colonel in the Dutch service and governor of Naumur. By

deeds of settlement her husband and his successors were

obliged to assume the name and arms of Craigie in addition

to those of Halkett. This family is represented by Charles

Halkett Craigie Inglis, Esq. of Cramond.

Ckoous, a .surname peculiarly Scotti-sh. A gentleman of

this name, a native of Scotland, Mr. Ranis.iy Crooks, latterly

president of the American Fur Company, New York city,

formed one of the celebrated expedition to the north-west

coast of North America, in the years 1811, 1812, 1813, and

1814, conducted under the auspices of Mr. .lolm Jacob Astor,

an enterprising merchant of New York, and of wdiich Mr.

Washington Irving has given an account in his AsTortiA.

He had previously been a trader with the Indians of the

south, and had business relations with Mr. Astor. Fuller

and more correct details are coiitaineii in a wurk by M. Ga-

lirielle Franchere of Montreal, one of those employed by Mr.

Astin' in founding his colony, a translation of which was

published at New York in 1854. In it the name of Jlr.

Ramsay Crooks, :is one of the most active of the adventurers,

linds honouralile mention. After enduring all sorts of fa-

tigue, dangers, and hair- breadth escapes, he, as well as

Messrs. R. M'Lelland and Robert Stuart, who were al.so en-

gaged in the c.Npedition, fin.'illy reached St. Louis and New
York. Mr. Crooks was dead previous to Nov. 20, 18G0. His

son, also named Ramsay Crooks, was long a merchant of high

standing in New York. For some (ietails relative to the expe-

dition above referred to, see life of Donai.d M.\ckI':nzie, post.

1)

Daviixson, the name of a minor clan, a branch of the clan

Chattan ; in Gaelic, Clann DJioibhidh or Clann Dhai, pro-

nounced Clnn Chai; badge, the red whortleberry. The an-

cestor of the clan Davidson is said to have been David Dhu,

fourth son of the famous JIuriacli, parson of Kingussie, from

whose elder descend.ants sprang the chieft.ains of the clan

Chattan. The clan Dhai were settled at Invernahavon, in

Badenoch, and are supposed by some writers to have been

the clan Kay who took part in the combat on the North

Inch of Perth, in presence of Robert III., in 139C. The cir-

cumstances which led to their deadly feud with the Mac-
Phersons, and to that memorable clan combat, are detailed

under the head Macpiieh.sox. (See p. 60 of this volume.)

After that fatal and sanguinary fight, in which only one of

the clan Dhai escaped, the chief of the Davidsons, with part

of his tribe, went northwards and .settled in the county of

Cromarty, on a property called Davidston. About the middle

of the 18th century that property was sold, and the estate of

Tulloch, in Ross-shire, purchased from the Baynes in 1753.

Davidson of Tulloch, the chief of the clan, is hereditary

keeper of the roy.al castle of Dingwall.

DENNISTOUN, James, of Dennistoun, nn

accomplisliod writer on .^rt, was born in Duiiibar-

tonsbirc in 1803. He was tlie rcprc.=:entative of

one of tbe oldest families of .Scotland, an account

of wliicli lias been already given in tliis worlc.

(See vol. ii. pp. 30 and 31.) He was educated at

the university of Glasgow, and studied for tlie bar

at Edinburgh. He passed advocate in 1824, but

being in possession of a sufficient fortune, lie soon

abandoned the legal profession, and devoted liis

whole attention to literature, in connexion chieflj'

witli the line arts. He was a member of the

Bann.ityne, IMaitland, and other clubs, formed for
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collecting materials for, and adding to and ilhis-
'

trating, our literature. For the Bannatyne Club

lie edited, in 1830, Moyse's ' Affairs of Scotland,'

from 1577 to 1603 ; in 1834, a Cliartulary ; a re-

print of the Lomond Expedition, with some short

reflections on the Perth INIanifesto, 1715. In 1840

lie edited for the Maitland Club, the Coltness Col-

lection, 1608 ; and in 1842, the Hanking of the

Nobility for tlie Maitland Club Miscellany. He

also contributed many interesting papers on sub-

jects connected with art to most of the leading

periodicals, particularly to the Edinburgh and

Quarterly Reviews. To the former he furnished

a masterly analysis of the ' Report by the Com-

mission on the National Gallery.' His most im-

portant work, ' The Jlemoirs of the Dukes of Ur-

bino,' which appeared in 1851, is of great value,

as illustrating the state of Italy during the IStli

and 16th centuries, the portion devoted to the arts

of the period being particularly interesting. His

' i\Iemoirs of Sir Robert Strange' appeared in 1855.

Connected by mari'iage with a descendant of

Strange, he was In possession of all the familj-

documents, and was well qualified to do justice to

tlie first line engraver of his day.

Mr. Dennistouu died at Edinburgh, February

13th, 1855.

Denoon, a surname, assumed from the lands and baronj-

of Dunoon in Argylesliire. In Douglas' Baronage of Scot-

land, page 450, tliere is an account of the ancient family of

Denoon of Cadboll in Ross-sliire, an estate now (1862) be-

longing to Mr. jEneas Macleod.

Sir Arthur de Dcnune flourished in the reign of King Al-

exander the Tliird, by whom he was knighted. In a charter

of James lovd-high-steward of Scotland, dated in V291, con-

firming tlie donations of the predecessors of Sir Arthur de

Denoon to the monastery of Paisley, the witnesses are Ro-

bert, bishop of Glasgow, John, the brother of the lord-high-

steward, Sir Arthur de Denoon, Sir Nicliolas Campbell, and

Sir Reginald Crawford, knights, and William de Shaw and

Alexander de Normanville, esquires. Sir Arthur and Sir

Gny de Denune, supposed to be his brother, were among the

Scots barons who swore fealty to Edward I. of Kngland in

129C. {Prynne's Coll. vol. iii. pp. 655, 658.)

From these two person.ages most of the Denoons in Scot-

land were descended, and their posterity were free barons in

different counties of that kingdom some centuries ago.

In 1334, Colin Campbell of Locliow, tlie ancestor of the

dukes of Argyle, was made hereditary governor of the castle

of Dunoon, and had the grant of certain lands for the sup-

port of his dignity. Duncan Campbell, one of his posterity,

having had some feuds witli his neighbours, also vas.sals of

Argyle, plundered their possessions and stole their cattle.

For these depredations the eail of Argyle jiut him on his

trial, though his kinsman, and lie was condemned to be

! drowned in the Clyde. Duncan, however, escaped, and with

i his brother, Donald, fled to the north, where he settled.

His mother having been a daughter of the family of Denune,

lie Jissumed that surname, which was also adopted by his

posterity, though they retained the armorial bearings of the

Campbells, their patern.il ancestors.

Duncan's brother, Donald, also assumed the surname of

Denune, and became abbot of Fearn in IJoss-shire. In 1534

he bestowed upon his nephew, Andrew Denune, the sou of

his brother Duncan, the lands and barony of Cadboll.

A lady of this family, Mariamne Denune, married Sir

John Hope, the seventh baronet of Kinross and Craighall,

governor of Bermuda, in the reign of George the Second, and

one of the oldest lieutenant-generals in the army at the time

of his death in 1766.

In the 17th century, Norman Denune, the representative

of the Denunes of Cadboll, married Catherine, third daugh-

ter of Sir Hector Munro, first baronet of Foulis, she being

then the widow of William JIunro of Teaiiaird. Sir Hector,

his father-in-law, died in 1635.

Contemporary w ith Andrew Denune, the first of Cadboll,

was Sir David Denoon, proprietor of the lands of Pittogartv,

Pitnellie, Balnacoutli, &c., in the counties of Ross and Inver-

ness. Charters dated in 1538 and 1540.

In the Old Statistical Account of Scotland a singular and

remarkable tradition concerning the ancient castle of Cadboll

is stated, that though it was inhabited for ages, yet never

any person died in it. Many of those who lived in the castle

wished to be brought out of it, as they longed for death, espe-

cially Lady Mary, who resided there about the end of the

17th century, in the time of the Denunes. Being long ill,

and anxious for death, she desired to be carried out of her

castle, wliich at last was accordingly done, and no sooner

was she out than she expired. The only remains of the an-

cient castle of Cadboll are two or three vaults.

DICK, THOM.A.S, LL.I)., author of 'The Cliris-

tiau Philosopher,' and other works devoted to the

literature of religion and science, was born in the

Hilltown of Dundee, 24th November 1774. He

was the son of Mungo Dick, a linen manufacturer

there, and a member of the Secession church. He

was taught liis letters at liome, chiefly by his mo-

ther, and could read the New Testament before

he went to any school. He first had his attention

drawn, and the whole after-bent of his mind di-

rected to astronomical studies, and the Investiga-

tion of the arcana of nature, by the following cir-

cumstance ; About nine o'clock in the evening of

the 18th of August, 1783, a meteor appeared in

the heavens, which at the period created an extra-

ordinaiT amount of wonder and alarm among all

who saw it. At that very time, Thomas Dick, then

a boy of nine years of age, was in his father's gar-

den with a female servant, who was folding linen.

On the first flash of the meteor, the girl looking

towards the north whence it came, exclaimed,

"You have never seen lightning before. Seel
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there's lightning." Overcome by the reniarkable

phenomenon, tliey both fell to the ground, and it

was some time before tiiey could recover them-

selves. From that day, an\ioiis to penetrate the

mysteries of astroiumiy and meteorology, he ea-

gerly iiiquired for all books that treated of such

difiicult and ab.sti'iisc sulijects, preferring them to

every other.

His father iutendrd him fur his own business,

and accordingl}' set liiin to the loom. In conse-

quence, he received but a limited education. A

severe attack of small-po.\, fullowcd by measles,

greatly weakened his constitution, and, v,hh his

desire to pursue mental investigations, gave him a

decided distaste to any mere mechanical employ-

ment, ill his 13tli year he was enabled, by sav-

ing his pocket money, to purchase a small work

on astronomy, entitled 'Martin's Gentlemen's and

Ladies' Philosophy,' and it became his constant

study, even while plying the shuttle.

To enable him to have an accurate knowledge

of the planets described in the book, he contrived

a machine for grinding a series of lenses of diflcr-

eut foci, for simple and compound microscopes

;

and, purchasing from the old women in the neigh-

bourhood of his father's house, all their spectacle

glasses for whicli they had no use, b}' the help of

pasteboard tubes, he constructed for himself tele-

scopes, and began to make observations on the

heavenly bodies. Ills parents thought his pur-

suits very foolish, and frequently expressed their

belief that he would never make his bread by gaz-

ing at the stars. Ilis mother, in jiarticnlar, com-

pared him to "the folk o' whilk the prophet

speaks, wha weary themselves in the fire for ver}-

vanity."' Tliey had the wisdom, however, to al-

low the youlh to follow his o\\ n inclination, and

at the age of sixteen he became assistant teacher

in one of the schools at Dundee. With the view

of going to college, he now began the study of

l.nlin.

In 1711 1, being then tw enty, he biTamc a stu-

dent in the univer.sity of I'.dinbui'gli, supporting

himself by private teaching. In the sjiring of

179.T he was apjioiuted teacher t'i the Orjihan's

Hospital, Edinlini'gli, and in that situiiiion he con-

tinued for two years, devoting himself, in his

leisiu-e hours, to the study of the scriptui-es, and

HI.

to the perusal of books upon theological criticism.

In November 1797, lie was appointed teacher

of the school at Dubbieside, near Lcven in Fife.

Thence he removed to a school at the Path of

Condie, Perthshire. AVhile in the latter place, lie

began to contribute to various publications, essays

on the subjects most congenial to his mind and

studies. In November 1800, ho was invited to

resume Ids situation as teacher in the Edinburgh

(Jrplian's Hospital, and in the following year he

was licensed to preach in the Secession church.

He officiated for several years as a probationer of

that cinn-ch in different parts of Scotland, but at

last, at the earnest invitation of the Rev. J. Ja-

mieson and his session, he became teacher of a

school in connexion with the Secession church at

Metliven. In that place he instituted classes for

teaching the sciences, cstablisherl a people's libra-
j

r}', and founded what may bo termed the first
j

j\Iochanic"s Institute in Great I'ritain, having in
|

the London j\Iontlily Magazine proposed the esta-
!

blishmeiit of these institutions six years before

the foundation of any one of them in the kingdom.

After being ten j'ears settled in IVIethven, he

removed to an educational establishment at Perth,

where he remained for ten j'ears more. It was

while residing in the " Fair City," that he wrote

his ' Christian Philosopher,' published in 1827,

which speedily ran through several editions, each

of large impression, and at the time of his death

was in its eleventh. The success of this work in-

duced him, in the 53d year of his age, to resign

his position as a teacher, and to retire to Broughty

Ferry, near Dundee, \\ here, on the high grounds

overlooking the 1'ay, he had built a cottage, in

which he spent the I'emainder of his days. The

little yilot of ground around his dwelling was a

baiTcn, iri'Cgular spot, where nothing would grow,

until eight thousand wheelbarrow loads of soil had

been laid upon its surface by the learned philoso-

pher himself. A room on the top of his house, '

with openings to the four cardinal points, was fit-

ted up as an observatory, and in this was placed

his philoso])hical instruments, which were both

valuable and numerous.

Ilis taking up his abode in such an elevated

position excited, at the time, the wonderment ol '

the country people around, who looked with awe
;
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upon his observatoiy, and speculated greatly ou

his reasons for dwelling so mucli above tliem.

The only motive that they finally could fix upon

to their own satisfaction was, that he wished to

be " near the stars." From that period, until a

few years of his death, when the chill of age and

the ravages of disease stayed his energies, his pen

was constantly employed in preparing those nu-

merous works in which, under different forms and

by various methods, he not only, as an American

divine has said, ' brought down philosophy from

heaven to earth, but raised it from earth to heaven.'

In 1828 appeared his ' Philosophy of a Future

State,' which also proved a successful work. At

the time of his death it had gone through five

editions. In America his popularity was as great,

if not greater than in this country, and the Senatus

Academicus of Union College, Schenectady, state

of New York, voluntarilj- and unanimously con-

ferred on him the degree of doctor of laws, the

diploma being sent to him, without expense,

through the medium of the Kev. Dr. Sprague of

Albany.

In 1837 Dr. Dick visited London, where he

published his ' Celestial Scenery.' He availed

himself of that opportunity to go over to France

by way of Boulogne, visiting Versailles, and other

celebrated places in that countrj-. In Paris lie

inspected the observatories and colleges, as he did

afterwards, on his return, those of Cambridge.

In the spring of 1819 he was reduced to the

verge of the grave by a severe illness, from the

effects of which he never altogether recovered. In

November of the same year he was subjected to a

severe surgical operation on his breast, from which

a large tumour was extracted. Through careless

arrangements with his publishers he did not al-

ways receive that reward for his writings wliich

was commensurate with their merits and popu-

larity, and in his old age he was deprived, from

the narrowness of his circumstances, of many com-

forts, and forced to live with the most rigid econo-

my. Towards the end of 1849, an appeal was

made, thi'ough the press, on his behalf, and a

number of gentlemen in Dundee, Inverness, and

other places, subscribed a small fund, from which

between £20 and £30 a-year were afterwards paid

him, and at the time of his death about £70 re-

mained in hand. In a letter, written by Dr. Dick

at the time, the following information was given

about some of his works :—" My Avritings," he

says, " have not produced so much pecuniary

compensation as some have supposed, notwitli,-

standing they have had a pretty extensive sale in

this country, and much more so in America. For

the entire copyright of the ' Christian Philosopher,'

which has passed through more than ten large

editions, I received only £120 ; while the pub-

lisher must have realized at least about £2,000 on

this volume alone, and I have no claim to any

further compensation. For the copyright of the

' Philosophy of a Future State,' which has gone

through four or five editions, I received onl}- £80,

and a few copies. For the ' Practical Astronomer,'

I received fifty guineas, and so of the rest, some

larger and some smaller sums."

An eftbrt had been made in 1816, Miicn Lord

John Russell w as first lord of the treasury, to pro-

cure a pension for Dr. Dick, which did not suc-

ceed. The memorial presented to his lordship was

drawn up bj' P. H. Thoms, Esq., afterwards pro-

vost of Dundee, and was subscribed by Lord Dun-

can, Lord Kinnaird, G. Duncan, Esq., M.P. for

Dundee, and about half-a-dozen other oflicial per-

sons in that neighbourhood. Another memorial

was subsequently laid before Lord John, backed

by Hon. Fox Maule (eleventh earl of Dalliousie),

and Mr. afterwards Sir Francis Peto. M.P. In

1817 the application was renewed, and this time

it was successful, £50 per annum having been

then awarded to him. After his death it was

continued to his widow. Dr. Livingstone, the
;

celebrated traveller and missionary in Africa, in
j

his interesting narrative, speaks very gratefully of
i

Dick's 'Philosophy of Religion,' and 'Pliilosopli3"
\

of a Future State,' which he read in liis youth, ij

when a factory boy in Glasgow.
|

Dr. Dick died July 29, 1857, at the age of S3.

His principal works are

:

The Cliristian Philosopher, 2 vols. 1827. lOtli edition,

1856.

The Philosophy of Religion ; or an Illustration of the Mo-

ral Laws of the Universe. Several editions.

The Philosophy of a Future State. 18-28.
'

The Improvement of Society hy the diffusion of Know-
!

ledge; or an Illustration of the Advantages whicli would

result from a general dissemination of rational and scientific

knowledge among all ranks ; with engravings.
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Tliu Mental Illumination and Moral Improvement of Man-

kind; or an Inquiry into the means by which a general dif-

fusion of knowledge may be promoted; with engravings.

This work ilhistrates, among other topics, an outline of moral

and intellectual education.

Christian Benelicence contrasted witli Covetousncss, illus-

trating the means hy which the world may be regenerated.

Celestial Scenery ; or tlie Wonders of the Planetary Sys-

tem displayed, illustrating the perfections of Deity and a

plurality of worlds. London, 1837.

Tho Sidereal Heavens, and other subjects coimectcd with

Astronomy, as illustrative of the character of the Deity and

of an infinity of worlds. London, 1840, 12mo. '1th edition,

London, 1850, 12mo.

The Practical Astronomer, comprising illustrations of Light

and Colours— a practical description of all kinds <jf Tele-

scopes—the use of the Equatorial, Transit, Circular, and

other Astronomical Instruments—a particular account of the

Karl of Kosse's large Telescopes—and other topics connected

with Astronomy. 100 cuts, 570 pages. London, 1815, 12mo.

The Solar System, adapted to beginners.

The Atmosphere, and Atmospherical Phenomena, with

cuts, 192 pages.

Besides a variety of communications in literary, philoso-

phical, and theological journals, which would occupy two

moderate-sized volumes; and two or three lectures, pub-

lished separately. Jlost of his works have gone through

several editions.

E

Kdmondston.—A branch of the Edmondston family, set-

tled in Shetland, trace their descent from one Andrew Ed-

mondston, a Protestant clergyman, who, in 15(j0, fleeing from

persecution, took refuge there. He had one son, John, who

was a minister in Mid Yell, but, having resisted, on behalf of

his parishioners, some oppression of a family of the name of

j

Niven, he was summarily turned out of house and living, .and

fled with his son, Jasper, to Holland. Another son, Andrew

Edmondston, remained in Shetland, and acquired property in

Yell and elsewhere, by marriage with a Shetland lady, of the

name of Hendrickson. He had two sons, Laurence and Gilbert.

The latter went to Holland. The former became laird of Has-

cuss.ay, and had 3 sons, 1. Charles, who had 1 son, Laurence,

I
died young. 2. William, a surgeon in Leith, who left 2 daugh-

[
ters. 3. Arthur, who bought from his eldest brother part of the

Hascussay property, and continued the family, having married

a daughter of Sir Andrew Jlitchell. His only son, Arthur,

married, 1st, JIartha Sinclair, and 2dly, Mary Sinclair, cou-

sins, and had by both, 6 sons and 3 daughters. The sons

were, Laurence, William, Arthur, Thomas, Gilbert, and

James. William, Arthur, and Thomas, died abroad. Gil-

bert emigrated. James, a merchant in Lerwick, died un-

married.

Laurence, the oldest of these, a surgeon in Lerwick,

continued the family. He married in 1775, Mary, eldest

daughter of Thomas Sanderson, Esq. of Buness in Unst,

the most northerly of the Shetland islands, and had, with

three daughters, five sons. 1. Arthur, author of " A View of

the Zetland Islands,' published in 1800, .and quoted by Sir

Walter Scott in ' The Pirate.' He died at Lerwick, unmar-

I

lied, in 18-11. 2. Thomas, who, by his m.aternal grandfa-

ther's will, succeeded to Buness, .and died in Nov. 1S5S,

unmarried. 3. Henry, a surgeon in Newcastle-on-Tyne, au-

thor of a work on Cowpox, and many valuable contributions

to medical science in periodicals of the day. He died, un-

married, in 1831. 4. Charles, merchant in Charleston, South

Carolina, to which place he emigrated about 1800. He died in

18CI. 5. Laurence, JI.D., a medical practitioner in Unst,

and a well-known naturalist, particularly in the department

of ornithology, to which science he lias m.ade valuable addi-

tions. He married in 1824, Eliza i\IacBrair, granddaughter

of Dr. D.avid Johnston, GO years minister of North Leith, .and

founder of the Blind Asylum, Edinburgh, a memoir of whom
is given in vol. ii. p.age 579. Dr. L.aurence Edmondston has

a surviving family of 3 sons and 4 daughters. The eldest

son, Thomas, published, in 1813, a ' Flora of the Shetland

Islands.' In 1845, he was elected to the botanical chair

in the Andersonian university, Glasgow, but resigned pre-

vious to delivering his introductory lecture, having been

appointed chief naturalist of H.M.S. Herald, on her voy-

age round the world. He died, by a lamentable .accident,

on the coast of Peru, before he had completed his twen-

tieth year. The IJev. Biot Edmondston, another son, born

in 1827, w.as ordained in 1858 assistant and successor to

the Kev. Dr. Gray, minister of the parish of Kincardine in

iMonteith. Mary Sanderson Edmondston, the eldest daugh-

ter, was married in 1860 to Andrew James Symington;

author of ' The Beautiful in Nature, Art, and Life,' ' Pen and

Pencil Sketches of Faroe and Iceland,' 'Harebell Chimes,'

&c. She contributes both prose and verse to periodicals.

Mrs. Edmondston published, in 1857, a small volume of

' Sketches and Tales of the Shetland Isles.' Buness, the

fiimily seat, in Unst, stands near the head of Balta Sound.

It was here the French philosophers Biot and Kater, in

1817-18, conducted their experiments for determlinng in so

high a latitude, the v.ariation in the length of the seconds

pendulum.

F

FERRIEK, Susan Edmon-stoke, a gifted

novelist, the youngest clangliter of James Ferrier,

Esq., one of tlic principal clerks of the court of

session, was born at Edinburgli in 1782. In 1818

she published her first attempt at fiction, being

' Marriage,' a novel in three volumes. This worl;

at once became popular, and in 1824, she greatly

enhanced her reputation by the publication of

' Inheritance,' another novel, also in three volumes.

The latter was foUov.ed in 1831 by ' Destin}-, or

the Chiefs Daughter,' connected witli Highland

scenery and Highland manners, a more ambitious

but equally successful effort, also in three volumes.

These works, by their own intrinsic merits, took a

high place among the standard fictions of tlie day.

Somewhat masculine in her mode of treatment,

the principal characteristic of her style is a piquant
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humour, and a naive appreciation of the hulicrous.

Slcilful and vigorous in depicting individual cliar-

acter,slie was not less faithful in describing nation-

al manners and peculiarities, and she is referred

to by Sir Walter Scott, at the conclusion of the

' Tales of my Landlord,' as his ' sister shadow,'

the autlior of the very lively work entitled ' Mar-

riage,' one of the labourei's capable of gathering

in the large harvest of Scottish character and fic-

tion. With the family of the author of Waverley

she was very intimate, and she is mentioned in

the most kindly and complimentary terms, in Sir

Walter's diary, published in Lockhart's Life of

Scott. In describing the melancholy situation of

his father-in-law, the year before his death, Mr.

Lockhart introduces Miss Ferrier in a very ami-

able light :
" To assist them (the family of Scott)

in amusing him in the hours which he spent out of

his study, and especially that he might be tempted

to make those hours more frequent, his daughters

had invited his friend the authoress of ' Marriage'

to come out to Abbotsford ; and her coming was

serviceable ; for she knew and loved him well, and

she had seen enough of afHiction akin to his to be

well skilled in dealing with it. She could not be

an hour in his company without observing what

filled his children with more sorrow than all tlio

rest of the case. He would begin a story as gaily

as ever, and go on, in spite of the hesitation in his

speech, and tell it with highly picturesque effect,

but, before he reached the point, it would seem as

if some internal spring had given way ; he paused,

and gazed round him with the blank anxiety of

look that a blind man has when he has dropped

his staff". Unthinking friends sometimes pained

him sadly by giving him the catch-word abruptly.

I noticed the delicacy of Miss Ferrier on such

occasions. Iler sight was bad, and she took care

not to use her glasses when he was speaking ; and

she affected to be also troubled witli deafness, and

would saj', ' Well, I am getting as dull as a post

;

I liave not heard a word since you said so and so,'

being sure to mention a circumstance behind that

at which he had really halted. He tlien took up

the thread with his habitual smile of courtesy, as

if forgetting his case entirely in the consideration

of the lady's infirmity."

In her later years Miss Ferrier lived in com-

parative retirement, gracing a circle which valued

her virtues as a friend, as the literary world ad-

mired her accomplishments as a novelist. Slie

died in November 1854.

FoHBES Leith, o( Wliiteliaugli. the name of an .Mierdeen-

sliire lainily, a brief account of which is given at vol. ii. paije

230, descended from Sir John Forbes, 3d son of Sir John

Forbes of that ilk, appointed in tlie fiftli year of Robert III.

justiciary of Aberdeen, and coroner of the county. Sir .lolin,

tlie son, was ancestor of tlie houses of Tolqulion, Foveran,

Watterton, CuHoden, &e. From an elder brother, Sir William

Forbes, came the house of Pitsligo, and from a younger,

Alexander, descended the house of Brux. The branches of

the house of Forbes, thus founded, became very extensive,

and acquired numerous possessions. The house of Brux is

now extinct, and the estates passed to the family of Lord

Forbes. The other branches still continue.

The descendants of the 3d son, Sir John Forbes, held a

great part of the lands now the property of tlie earl of Aber-

deen. Their chief seat was at Tolquhon. Sir John married

Marjorie, daui^hter of Henry Preston, thane of Furmartin, and

thereby became thane of Fonnartin and laird of Tolquhon.

The instmment by which she made over the property, failing

heirs of her body, to her husband, is dated July 6, li'lU.

They had 3 sons, 1. Sir John Forbes of Tolquhon, 2. Duncan

Forbes of Ardgeighton, 3. David Forbes, called David Foddaii.

Sir John Forbes of Tolquhon, the eldest son, had 3 sons, 1

.

Alexander, 2. David Forbes of Essie, 3. Henry Forbes of Logic.

Alexander Forbes of Tolquhon, the eldest son, in August

1444, granted a charter to Tatrick, son and Iieir of Patrick

Leitli of Harthill. He married Jane, daughter of Hay of Dal-

getty, .ind had an only son, Malcolm Forbes of Tolquhon, who

succeeded before 1487. Tlie latter m.irried Margaret, daughter

of Lord Forbes, and gr.inddaughter of the first earl marisch:il,

and a descendant, by the mother's side, of Robert IL Tliey

had 3 sons, 1. William Forbes of Tolquhon, erroneously styled

Sir William by Douglas, 2. Thomas Forbes, 3. James Forbes;

also a daughter, who married Alexander Chien of Arnnge.

William Forbes of Tolquhon was twice married, 1st, to a

daughter of Leith of Barnes, by whom he had 2 sons and

several daughters, ,md, 2dly, to Isabel, daughter of the 5th

earl of EiTol. By the latter lie had a son and a daughter.

The eldest son, John Forbes, predeceased his father, with-

out succession, and, in 153G, the estate was made over to the

2d son, Alexander, who had married Elison .Anderson, daugh-

ter of the lord provost of Edinburgh. They had two sons.

William Forbes of Tolquhon, and John Forbes of Boindley.

.ancestor of the Forbeses of Culloden, and two daughters.

Alexander fell at Pinkie, Sept. 10, 1.547.

William Forbes of Tolquhon, the elder son, married a

daughter of George Gordon of Lesmoir, and had 4 sons and a

daughter. William was made a burgess of Aberdeen, Oct.

27, 1578. In 1581, he received permission, under the privy

seal, on account of :\ disease of the eyes under wliich lie was

labouring, to eat flesh in Lent, and to remain at home from

all king's raids, &c., sending a friend with his men. The

greater part of the castle of Tolquhon, now in ruins, was

built by this laird.

William Forbes of Tolquhon, his eldest son, married Janet,

daughter of Sir George Ogilvie of Dunhigas, grandfather of

Georce, first Lord Banff, and had 5 sons and 4 daughters.

Maiy, or Janet, the youngest, married Sir J(din Gordon of

Haddo, and was mother of George, first earl of Aberdeen.

He died before 1641, and also his eldest son, Alexander, for
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Walter, tlie 2(1 son. is, in Wliitsunilay of that year, designated

of Tdlqulioun.

Walter Forbes of TuUinlion, married, before IGl'G, .Jean

Forbes, sister of Alexander, first I^urd I'itslijjo, and bad four

sons and a daughter. In a letter, dated June 14, 1651, said

to be in the handwriting of Charles 11., tlie king forbids

Huntly to make any levy on Toliinhon, or to make the laird

turn out, because he is past sixty, and his son, Alexander, is

already out, and commanding a regiment of foot as colonel.

He died in 1G61.

His eldest son, Sir Alexander Forbes of Tolquhon, married

in 1G19 Dame Bathia .Murray, daughter of the laird of Hlack-

barony, and relict of Sir William Forbes of Craigievar. They

i had no children. He is mentioned at vol. ii. p. 230, as one

of the three colonels for Aberdeenshire in the Scottish army

j

of Charles 11. The latter part of his life he p:issed at Tol-

I

qulion, and, notwithstanding the fatigues of his youth, reached

a great age. He died in 1701-2.

I As Sir Alexander had no lawful issue, the estate p.assed to

I his nephew, William Forbes, son of Thomas Forbes of Achry,

! advoc.'ite in F.dinburgli, by his wife. Lady Henrietta Frskinc,

[

dangliter of James, Lord Auchterhouse, 2d earl of l'uch:in, of

the Krskine fimily. Thomas died in 1701.

' His son, William Forbes of Tolquhon, was served heir in

1704. The same year, his mother, Lady Henrietta, married

j

Alexander Abercromby, and they ap|ilied to the court of ses-

sion for an .iliment for her from the estate of Tuhjulion. In

170(i, he nnirried Anne, daughter and heiress of John I.eith

of Whiteliangh, and his wife, Kli/,abeth, daughter of Wiliiam.

j

nth Lord Forbes, issue, 2 sons, 1. William Forbes, vicar of

I Thornlnny, 2. John Forbes Leith of Whitehaugl], and a daugh-

j

ter, Henrietta. He did not enjoy Tolquhon estate long. In

I the last years of Sir Alexander's life, it had been overbur-

dened, it is said, by designing per.sons, the laird being in his

dotage. The same individuals now procured its sale, by

order of the court of session. In Nov. 1716, it was purchased

by Lieutenant-colonel Francis Farquhar, from whom it passed

to William, carl of Aberdeen. Tolquhon, thinking himself

aggrieved by the manner in which the decision was obtained,

refused to quit the hou.se, and on Sept. 5, 1718, it was at-

tacked by a body of military, and himself woumied and taken

prisoner. He afterwards left the country, but returned in

J.innary 1728, and lived with his family in London. He died

April n, the same year, and was buried in We.stnunster abbey.

William Forbes, his elder son, studied at Oxford, for the

Church of Englaiul. In .June 173G. he was presented by his

j

college to the curacy of Binsay, in the suburbs of Oxford. In

1

1748, he was translated to the vicarage of Thornbury, Glou-

ce.-,tershire, where he died in Sept. 1761, without issue.

.John Forbes Leith of Whiteliangh became, by his brother's

J

de.'itli, the representative of the f.imily of Tolquhon.

liv the marriage contr.vt betwi.\t William Forbes of Tol-

quhon .and Anne Leith, it was provided that the 2d son of

that marriage, or, failing him, the next younger, and so on,

should be heir (to his mother) of the estate of Whitehaugli,

j

ui the palish of Tullyne.ssle, on condition that he should

a.ssume the surname of Leith, and the arms of Whitehaugli.

j
In 1719, John Leith of Whiteliangh m.ade a disposition in

favour of his only daughter, Anne Leith, Mrs. Forbes of Tol-

quhon, who was afterwards designated Lady Tolquhon and

Wliiteliaugh. He died before June 1722, when John Forbes

Leith appears to h.ave been a minor. Anne Leith, his mo-

ther, died Nov. II, 173S, and was buried in Westmin.ster

alibey. In 1739, John Forbes Leith received a charter of his

I
lands under the great seal. " He had received." says the

New Statistical Account ofScotland (vol. xii. p. 417), ' a mii-

versity education at Oxford, and resided chiefly in England,

unlil about the year 1735, when he came to resiiie upon his

property. A mansion house nearly in ruin.s, and a tenantrv,

not only ignorant of the improved modes of agriculture, but

wedded to old practices, must have been considerable discour-

agements to an Oxonian, and a gentleman iiccustoiiied to the

comforts of a more advanced state of civilization ; hut in place

of flying from, he determined to remove thein, and lived to

enjoy the fruits of his resolution in a comfortable mansion,

with suitable garden, a well-improved personal farm, several

hundred acres of thriving wood, and an increased and increas-

ing rent-roll. His son and successor more than followed up

the example wdiich had been set him. He took under his

own management a large portion of the estate, which had

been before a number of unproductive possessions, and con-

verted it into one beautiful farm of regular fields, tastefully

laid out, and fenced with hedgerows, and the whole sur-

roundeil with thriving wood. His attention was particularly

directed to the improvement of the breeds of cattle, wliicli, in

his time, were in that quarter of a very inferior description
;

and at a very considerable expense he brought from a dis-

tance, and was the means of introducing amongst his ten-

antry, and throughout the district, animals of a much better

kind. It may be mentioned that a considerable portion of

the estate of Whitehaugli at one time belonged to the Knights

Templars. One field of the farm is called Temple Close, and

another St. John's Close. Although the Templars, we be-

lieve, luad but one settlement in Scotland, viz., the hospital

of St. Geriiiaiiis in Lothian, they enjoyed the funds of several

churches and houses in various parts of the country." He
died at Edinburgh, Sept. 26, 1781. He had married Jean,

eldest daughter of Theodore IMorrison of Bogriy, and had 3

sons, 1. William Forbes Leith of Whitehaugli, born in 1749.

2. Theodore Forbes Leith of Whitehaugli, born in 1751. 3.

John Leith, who died, of fever, at an early age.

William Forbes Leith of Wliileliaugh, the eldest son, was
educated at King's college, Aberdeen, and afterwards studied

civil law. He died in the spring of 1806, unmarried.

He was succeeded by his brother. Dr. Theodore Forbes

Leith of Whitehaugli. After receiving a universitv educa-

tion, with his brother, he was put under the care of Dr. Gre-

gory of Aberdeen, to study medicine, and in 1765 he became

the pupil of Dr. Cullen of Edinburgh. He studied at the

university there, and obtained the degree of M.D. in 1768.

After having visited France, he settled iu Greenwich as a

medical practitioner. He w.as a man of great personal strength

and courage, and several stories are told, highly honourable

of him, of his exploits when attacked by highwaymen, in his

journeys between Greenwich and London. After succeeding

to the estate, he settled at Whitehaugli, and died, in August

1819, of lockjaw, following upon a fracture of the collar-

bone, occasioned by an accideiit.al up.setting of his carriage.

He had married Marie d'Arboiiie, a French lady of ancient

family, and by her had 3 sons and 3 daughters.

The eldest son, Theodore Forbes Leith, born in 1777, died

young.

The 2d son, James John Forbes Leith, succeeded his fa-

ther in Whitehaugli. In 1798 he went out to India, and

joined the Company's service in the rank of lieutenant. With

the exception of a short \dsit to Britain in 1814-15, lie con-

tinued in active service till 1826, when he retired, with the

rank of lieut.-col., having been present at the taking of Digh,

and all the other actions in which his regiment was engaged.

On Nov. 28, 1827, he married Williamina Helen, only chihi

Lieut.-colonel James Stewart, 42d Highlanders, and Wil-

liamina Kerr, his wife. Col. Stewart was the younger son of
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Charles Stewart, Esq. of Sliamhelly, in the stewartry of Kirk-

cudbright, and a descendant of one of the branches of the

royal house of Stewart. The genealogical tree of the family,

in possession of William Stewart, Esq. of Shambelly, exhibits

its connexion with Robert the Bruce, in a direct line. In

addition to family honours of such a rank. Colonel Stewart

acquired others of no common extent, personal to himself.

During about thirty years of active militaiy service in Ame-

rica, Holland, Spain, and Egypt, under Sir Ralph Abercrom-

bie, Lord Moira, and GenenU Sir John iMoore, he was present

at the biittles of Brandywine and Monmouth, the taking of

Philadelpliia, the siage of Charlestown, the reduction of St.

Lucia, the storming of St. Vincent's, the attempt on Cadiz,

the reduction of Jlinorca, the action at Aboukir, March 8,

1800, the surrender of Cairo, the siege of Alex.indria, and

numerous sm.^Uer actions; and was repeatedly severely

wounded. Colonel and Mrs. Forbes Leith had 5 sons and 3

daughters, viz., 1. James, born at Edinburgh, Dec. 10, 1828,

married, without issue. 2. Williamina Stewart, born at

Whitehaugh, Oct. 11, 1830. 3. Helen Maria, born at White-

liaugh, Dec. 1, 1831, m.irried in Nov. 1851, R. Hepburn,

Esq. of Riccarton, issue, a daughter. 4. Rev. William, JLA.,

born April 9, 1833, educated at Worcester college, Oxford, a

clergyman of the Church of England. 5. Thomas Augustus,

born Aug. 25, 1834. 6. Henry Stewart, born March 2, 1836.

7. Adelaide Isabella, born Nov. 7, 1837. 8. Charies Ed-

ward, born Oct. 18, 1839, ensign 4oth regiment.

FORREST, Robert, an ingenious self-tauglit

sculptor, bom at Carluke, Lanarkshire, iu 1790,

was bred a stone-mason in the quarries of Clj-des-

dale. His first public work was the statue of Sir

William Wallace, which, in 1817, was placed in

the steeple of the parish church at Lanark. His

next work was the colossal figure, fourteen foot

high, of the first Viscount Melville, which, in 1821,

was placed on the elegant pillar, a copy of Tra-

jan's column at Rome, in the centre of St. Andrew

Square, Edinburgh. The height of the column is

136 feet, tlie diameter at the base, 12 feet. Mr.

Forrest was also the sculptor of the well-known

statue of John Knox in the Necropolis of Glasgow.

In 1832, Mr. Forrest opened a public exhibition

of statuary on the Calton Hill, Edinburgh, with

four equestrian statues, under the patronage of the

Royal Association of Contributors to the National

Monument of Scotland. In progress of time the

gallery was extended to about thirty groups, all

executed by the indefatigable sculptor himself,

and the statuary soon took its place as one of the

most popular exhibitions in the Scottish metropo-

lis. His figures all display remarkable boldness

of attitude, great accuracy of proportion, and mi-

nute attention to detail. Several of the finest of

them are strikingly original in design, as well as

show great skill in execution. In 1843, a statue

by him, of the then recentlj' deceased Mr. Fer-

guson of Raith, was erected at Haddington, con-

sidered one of the best of his works. Mr. Forrest

died at Edinburgh, Dec. 29, 1852, in liis 63d year.

G

GARDNER, George, an eminent botanist,

was born, in May 1810, at Ardentinny, Argyle-

shire, on the- west side of Loch Long, where his

ftither, a native of Aberdeen, was gardener to the

earl of Dunmore. In 1816, his father removed to

Ardrossan, Ayrshire, liaving been appointed gar-

dener there to the earl of Eglintou. He received

the rudiments of his education at the parish school

of that place, and he was afterwards placed at the

grammar school of Glasgow, liis parents having

gone to reside in that city in 1822. After study-

ing for the medical profession in the Andersonian

universitj' and the university of Glasgow, he ob-

tained his diploma as surgeon from the facultj' of

physicians and surgeons of that city. He had

early shown a decided taste for the science of bo-

tan}', and having discovered, in one of his botan-

izing rambles in Stirlingshire, the rare Nuphar

minima or pulima, growing in the lake at jMug-

dock castle, he was introduced to Sir William

Jackson Hooker, then the distinguished professor

of botany iu the university of Glasgow, wliose

botanical classes he subsequent!}' attended.

In 1836 Mr. Gardner published a work enti-

tled ' Musci Britannici, or Pocket Herbarium of

British Mosses,' arranged and named according to

Hooker's ' British Flora.' This work was very

favourably received, and a copy of it having

reached the duke of Bedford, he became a liberal

patron, and subscribed fifty pounds, to defray the

expense of Mr. Gardner's proceeding to North

Brazil, to explore the botanical riches of that lux-

uriant portion of South America. In the summer

of 1836, he sailed from Liverpool, and arrived at

Rio de Janeiro in July. He immediately began

his explorations, and in the course of his investi-

gations he reached as far north as the province of

Goyaz, making frequent excursions to the Organ
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mountains. He rctm-ned tlirougli the interior of

Brazil to Rio, where, in July 1811, lie ombarlicd

for England. In liis absence, several of his pa-

pers and letters were inserted by Sir William J.

Hooker, in the ' Journal of Botany.'

In 1842, he was elected professor of botany in

the Andersonian university, Glasgow, but did not

retain the appointment. In 184.'!, through the

influence of Sir William J. Hooker, who had pre-

viously become curator of the Royal Gardens at

Kew, he was appointed by tlie colonial govern-

ment superintendent of the Botanical Gardens at

Ceylon. On his arrival, he made extensive pre-

parations for the completiou of a llora of that is-

land, and at his death he left large collections to-

wards a complete ' Flora Zeylonica.' During his

botanical excursions in the island, lie discovered,

within a few miles of Kornegall, the Upas tree, the

celebrated poison-tree, which was long believed

to grow nowhere else than in Java. In 1846, he

published his 'Travels in the Interior of Brazil,

principally through the Korthern Provinces and

the Gold Districts during the years 1836—41.'

London, o62 pages, 8vo.

While on a visit to Lord Torrington, the gover-

iKu' of Ceylon, at Neuria KUia Rest-House, the

sanitarium of the island, he was suddenly at-

tacked by apoplexy, and died in a few hours, 11th

March 1849, in hi- :!9th year. Amongst his nu-

merous manuscripls lie left one ready for the

press, designed as an cK'iii''ntary worlc, on the

botany of India.

GEDDES, AxDisEW, an eminent artist, the sou

of jMr. David Geddes, auditor of excise, was born

at Edinburgh, about 1789. A small but valuable

collection of pictures and ])rints, in the possession

of his father, is believed to h.ave stimulated in his

mind, at an early age, that ardent love of art for

which he was iu after life so greatly distinguished.

He Avas educated at the old High School of his

native city, and used to speak of the time he was

compelled to devote to Greek and Latin as so

much time lost. It was, however, his father's

wish that he should be a scholar, and he always

yielded implicit obedience to the parental will.

Although his inclination for the profession of a

painter w.is not encouraged, lie devoted all his

spare time to the study of art, rising at fotu-

o'clock in the morning in summer, for the purpose

of drawing and painting, his studio being an attic

adjoining his bedroom.

Even at this time he was a collector of prints,

and constantly attended the print sales of Mr.

William Martin, bookseller and auctioneer in Ed-

inburgh. This personage was a character iu his

way. He had been bred a .shoemaker, but like

the celebrated Lackington of London, became a

bookseller, and held a regular auction-mart of

prints and old books. He knew the general ex-

tent of the funds of young Geddes, and when a lot

of prints was generally going for ninepence or ten-

pence, he would encourage him by such words as

'Noo, iny bonny wee man—noo's your time,"

and, on the contrary, would give him a most sig-

nificant shake of the head when he saw him look-

ing wistfully after a lot that seemed likely to bring

a higher sum, as if sharing iu his disappointment.

When very young, ]\Ir. Geddes met with a

friend in the well-known John Clerk, advocate,

afterwards a judge of the court of session, under

the title of Lord Eldin. This gentleman gener-

ous!}' allowed him admission to his splendid col-

lection of paintings and dr.awings b}' the old mas-

tei's, and even lent him the most valuable of his

drawings. At the exhibition his copies of these

were so successful!}' done as to pass for the origi-

nals, greatly to the satisfaction of Sir. Clerk and

the young artist, and even of his father, who had

otlier objects in view for him.

From the High School, young Geddes was re-

moved to tlie university of Edinburgh, but before
i

the expiration of the usual term of study, lie was

placed by his father in his own ofBce, in which

arrangement he acquiesced without a murmur.

Five years afterwards his father died. On be-

coming his own master, by the advice of Mr.

Clerk and others of his friends, he resigned his

appointment in the excise, proceeded to London,

and entered as a student at the Royal Academy.

The first person beside whom he took his seat

there was his countryman Wilkie, and between

him and that great p.ainter an intimacy arose

which ended only with the death of the latter.

.\moiig his contemporaries at the academy were

also John Jackson and the ill-fated Haydon.

After a few years of diligent study, he returned
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to Edinburgh in 1810, M'lien Mr. Clerk, his earli-

est patron and friend, entertaining tlie highest

opinion of his taste, employed him to purchase for

his collection various works of art. He soon be-

gan to exercise his profession, and was much em-

ployed in painting full-length, life-sized portraits,

and others of smaller dimensions. Mr. Archibald

Constable, the celebrated publisher, prevailed

upon Mr. Martin, his old friend, the print auc-

tioneer, to sit for an hour to him for his portrait

;

but the sketch was never finished, as he could

not be induced to sit a second time. Although

rough, it was esteemed a capital likeness, and at

the sale of Mr. Constable's effects it was pur-

chased by a friend of Mr. Martin.

Mr. Geddes remained in Edinburgh till 181-i,

visiting London every year, when he attended the

sales of works of art, and made purchases for

himself and others on commission. During his

residence in Edinburgh, ho had commenced etch-

ing, but none of his works in this department of

art were ever published.

At the peace in 181-1, accompanied by Mr.

John Burnet, the eminent engraver, he visited

Paris, with the view of seeing the many magniti-

ccnt objects of art -with which the conquests of

the great Napoleon and his generals had enriched

the French capital. Having copied some of the

paintings at the Louvre, they extended their tour

to Flanders, through which country they returned

to London.

Among the most characteristic works of Mr.

Geddes at this period is a small full-length por-

trait of Wilkie, in the possession of the earl of

Camperdown, engraved in mezzotinto by Ward
;

a portrait of Henry jNIackenzie, ' the Man of Feel-

ing,' a small full-length, engraved by Rhodes ; a

portrait of Dr. Chalmers, life size, engraved by

Ward, and one of a Mr. Oswald, engraved by

Hodgetts.

The discovery of the Regalia of Scotland in the

castle of Edinburgh, in February 1818, was com-

memorated by Mr. Geddes in an historical com-

position, which embodied portraits of many of the

most distinguished men of Edinburgh at the time,

and among them one of Sir Walter Scott.

In 1827, Mr. Geddes married. Among his

works at this period was his portrait of Frederick,

duke of York, pronounced by his brothei', George

IV., to be the best likeness ever painted of that

prince, who died that year.

In 1828, Mr. Geddes made a tour in Italy, and

remained some time in Rome. The summer of

1829 he passed at Subiaco, where he painted on

the spot the landscape which was afterwards hung

on the walls of the Royal Academy at London.

He returned home hy Germany and France, and

arrived in London in January 1831. The follow-

ing year he was admitted a member of the acade-

my. His power in the highest walk of art is

evinced in his altar-piece in the church of St.

James, Garlick Hill, and his picture of ' Christ

and the Woman of Samaria.'

Mr. Geddes died of consumption, May 5, 1844.

The materials for this memoir have mainly been

supplied from the "Art-Union' for Sept. 1844.

Guituo:; or Fyvie.—This Abenieensliire family are de-

scended from the Hon. Alexander Gordon, a lord of session

under tlie title of Lord liockville, od son of William, 2d earl

of Aberdeen, by Lady Anne Gordon, daughter of Alexander,

2d duke of Gordon (see vol. ii. p. 328). He was born about

1739, admitted advocate Auf;ust 7, 1759, appointed steward

depute of the stewartry of Kirkcudbright in 17G4, raised to

the bench on the death of David Dalrymple, Lord Westliall,

and took his seat as Lord Kockville, July 1, 1784, his title

being assumed from an estate wliicli he had purchased in

Haddingtonshire. " He adorned the bench," says Douglas,

(Peerage, vol. i. p. 22,) " by the dignified manliness of liis

appearance and polislied urbanity of his manners " He died

at Kdinburgh, March 13, 1792. He married, in July 1709,

Anne, daughter of William Duff, Ksq. of Crombie, advocate,

and widow of William, earl of Dumfries and Stair; issue, 4

sons and 4 daughters.

His eldest son, Charles Gordon, Esq. of Fyvie Castle, born

in 1770, married in ISOfi, Elizabeth, widow of William Glut-

ton, Esq., and died February 18, 1851. He had three sons:

1. William Cosmo, who succeeded liim. 2. Alexander llen-

rv, born in 1S13. 3. Charles William, born ilarch 19, 1817,

M.P. for Berwick.

William Cosmo Gordon, Esq. of Fyvie Castle, tlie eldest

son, born Jlay 17, ISlO, married June 9, 1848, Mary (irace,

third daughter of Sir Robert Abercromby, baronet, of liirk-

enbog. Mr. Gordon was formerly a captain in the artillery

E.tst India Company's service, Madras, but retired; a ma-

gistrate for the counties of Aberdeen and Kincardine. On

.May 21, 18G2, he was appointed lieuteuant-colonel of Artil-

lery Volunteers, Aberdeenshire.

I

IitVlN'E. Karl of, a title, conferred, in 1642, on the Hon.

Jolui CMUipbell, ouly son of the 7th earl of Argyle, (see vol.
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i. pM^'f .05.'),) by Ills 2ii wife. Anne, ii!\uf;liler of Sir William

C(irriu-;illi.s. VVlien very yoiinj; lie was cre;ited a peer of Scot-

land by tlie title of Baron Kintyre, to Iiini.self and bis licirs

male and assigns, by roy.il cbarter, dated Kebruary 12, Xt'ylO.

lie entered tbe military service of I.ouis XIII. of France,

and in tlie wars of tbat liionarcli witli Spain, he bad tbc

command of a rej^iment. On bis return to Scotland, be w:is

created by Cliarles I. earl of Irvine and Baron I.nndie, by

p.itent, dated at York, March 28, 1642, to him and the heirs

male of bis body. He dic^d in France before the liestoralion,

witliout issne, whereby liis titles of e.irl of Irvine and Baron

Lundic became e.\tinct.

J

JOHNSTONE, Mrs. Ciiri.sti.\n Lsobel, one

(if the most esteemctl of niodeni female novelist.'^,

was born in Fifcsliire in 1781. Very early in life

she married a Mi\ M'Lei.sh, whom she « as com-

pelled to divorce. About 1812 she married, a

second time, Mr. John Johnstone, then school-

master at Dmifermline. Tliev afterwards re-

moved to Inverness, where Mr. Johnstone pm'-

chased the Inverness Courier, of wliicli he be-

came editor. The assistance of his wife aided

materially in givinf? to that ])a]ier a character

and a tone not often attained by a jirovincial

jonrnal, although afterwards ably maintained by

a succeeding editor, Mr. Robert Carrnthers.

AVliile at Inverness, i\Irs. Johnstone wrote 'Clan

Albyn, a Natiomd Tale,' published at Edinburgh

anonymously in 1815.

'J'he Inverness Conrier being sold, Mr. John-

stone and his \^ ife removed to Edinburgh, where

jMr. Blackwood, publisher, engaged Mrs. John-

stone to write anotiier novel. The novel referred

to, ' Elizabeth l)e Bruce.' w as published in lSi'7 in

.'i vols, post 8vo. It was decidedly successful, al-

though not to the extent Mr. Blackwood exjiected.

He had printed 2,00U cojiies, the usual impression

of a three-volumed novel being 500. Some 1,200

or 1,400 were sold readily, at the regtdar price.

The cojiyrigiit of the Edinbm-gli A\'eekly Chro-

nicle was bought by ]\Ir. Blackwood and ^Ir.

Johnstone, the latter of whom had opened a

printing-ollice in James' Square. Of that iiews-

i paper i\Ir. and Mrs. Johnstone -w ere the editors.

I

Under them the pi'incijiles of the jmper were

much too liberal fm' their co - lu oprictor, who

belonged to the old Tor^v party, and the con-

ue.x.ion ditl not long continue. The Chronicle

was subsequently sold by the Johnstones, on tiieir

undertaking other ]irojects. Amongst these was

the publication of ' The Schoolmastei",' a three-

halfpenny weekly journal, conducted and almost

wholly written by Mrs. Johnstone. This was one

of the first of the cheap periodical papers publish-

ed in Edinbuigh, and at the outset was tolerably

successful ; but being really too good, gi ave, and

instructive for the price, readers of cheap publica-

lions not being then so numerous as they after-

wards became, it began to decline, when it as-

sumed a monthl}- I'orm as ' Johnstone's iNIagazine,'

)iublislied at eightpence. That jieriodicai, de-

voted almost entirely to literary and social sub-

jects, to the exclusion of purely political mattei'S,

was, soon after, incorporated with 'Tait's Maga-

zine,' which had previously' become a shilling, in-

stead of a half-crown, monthly. This was in 18.>4.

Mrs. Johnstone had been a writer for that

magazine from its commencement, and a consulting

friend of ]\Ir. Tait. She now formed a permanent

connexion with it. and although not, strictly

speaking, the editor, she had entire charge of the

literary department, and was a large and regular

contributor. Siie was to Tait what Professor

Wilson was to Llachwood ; the ostensible always,

and, indeed, the real editors being the respective

publishers.

The politics of ' Tait's Magazine' were of the ex-

treme liberal school, and as it was conducted

with much ability and fearlessness, it rose at

once into a large circulation. For its success in

the shilling form, it was mainly indebted to its

elaborate and often eloquent leviews of books,

for a long pei'iod almost exclusively written by

Mrs. Johnstone.

'The Edinbin-gh Tales,' conducted by I\Irs.

Johnstone, consisted principally of her admir-

able tales in the 'Schoolmaster,' ' Johusffuic's

Magazine,' and 'Tait's Magazine,' with new tales

by the best writers, chiefly fennile authors. The

]n-oprietors wd'e Mr. Tait and Messrs. Chapman

and Hall, London. Tiie work was issued in week-

ly iiianbcrs at three halfpence, and in monthly
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parts, and afterwards in volumes. By the end of

the third volume all Mrs. Johnstone's tales had

appeared in it, and the work came to its natural

conclusion. The sale of the early numbers, which

more particularly contained Mrs. Johnstone's sto-

ries, was ver}' large ; above 30,000 copies. In the

collected form the work had also a considerable sale.

In 1846, when Mr. Tait retired fi'om business,

Tait's Magazine was sold, after -which period

Mrs. Johnstone ceased to write. She was

the authoress of another work of fiction, be-

sides those mentioned, which was very popular,

iiamelj'', ' Nights of the Round Table,' a sort of

punning title, Edinburgh, 1832, 8vo. This was

considered by herself the most attractive of

her works of fiction. The most popular of her

works was one on a very practical subject :
' The

Cook and Housewife's Manual : a Practical Sys-

tem of Modern Domestic Cookery and Family

Management. By Mrs. Margaret Dodds, of tlie

Cleikum Inn, St. Ronans.' Meg Dodds' direc-

tions in cookery had acquired great influence in

well-regulated kitchens before it became known

that Mrs. Johnstone was the authoress. This

work was originally written at Inverness, chiefly,

like her Clan Albyn, to keep the Inverness Cou-

rier press going. Its success was very great. It

always yielded her a considerable and steady in-

come, and is still in higli favour. In 1858 the work,

published by Oliver and Boyd, Edinburgh, had

reached its tenth edition.

The fame of Mrs. Johnstone AviU chiefly rest on

her Tales and her Meg Dodds' Cooker}'. As

works of fiction her stories were not excelled by

those of any of her contemporaries, and many and

gifted wei'e the tale writers of her day. Every

one of her tales carries a grand moral, gentlj', but

irresistibly enforced ; a power possessed onlj' by a

female writer of genius like hers.

In private life Mrs. Johnstone bore about her

as little as possible of the air of authorship, and is

described as having been truly amiable and wor-

th}' in all relations. De Quincey speaks of her as

"our own Mrs. Johnstone, the Mrs. Jameson of

Scotland," and cites lier along with "Joanna

Baillie, Miss Mitford, and other women of admi-

rable genius," as an example of a woman "culti-

vating the profession of authorship, with abso-

lutely no sacrifice or loss of feminine dignity."

"Mrs. Johnstone," he continues, "has pursued

the profession of literature, the noblest of profes-

sions, and the only one open to both sexes alike,

with even more assiduity (than these others) and

as a daily occupation
;
and, I have every reason

to believe, with as much benefit to her own hap-

piness as to the instruction and amusement of her

readers ; for the petty cares of authorship are

agreeable, and its serious cares are ennobling."

Mrs. Johnstone died at Edinburgh 26th August

1857. Her husband survived her but a few

months. They were buried in the Grange ceme-

tery, where an elegant obelisk was erected to

their memory, bearing the following inscription :

"Mrs. Christian Isobel Johnstone, Died 26 Au-

gust 1857, aged 76. John Johnstone, Died 3 No-

vember following, aged 78. A memorial of literaiy

excellence and private worth. Erected 1858."

As a writer, Mrs. Johnstone's style was re-

markably clear and lucid, and she possessed a

rich imagination, great powers of description, and

diligent observation. Of an unassuming disposi-

tion, she shrank from anything like publicity or

conspicuousness. It was always with difii-

culty that her mingled modesty and pride, both

conspicuous elements of her character, would

allow her name to appear on her writings. In

this, being a professional writer, she was undoubt-

edly wrong, as her literary reputation, to some

extent, suffered by her over-sensitive feelings in

this respect. More knowing authors who live by

their pen generally court every opportunity of

having their names before the public and bringing

the accumulated fame of all their previous works

to bear upon their latest. A writer in Tait's

Magazine, in an obituary notice of her, says

:

" Her manner of life was that of a perfect gentle-

woman. Even the good she did was often con-

cealed from those for M'hom it was done. Many

persons came to occupy respectable positions in

tlie world who were indebted exclusively to her

plans, devised without solicitation, and untold

wlien they were successful. Robert Nicoll, who

has been called the second Bums of Scotland, was

indebted to her kindness for the means that ren-

dered his genius known, and placed him forward

on the road through life ; a road to be so short for
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him, and, on his return to Scotland in broken

health, lie became again, witli his young wife,

the guest of the same lady. AYhilc dying in her

house he revised, we believe, his last sad versos,

' Death answers many prayers.'
"

Her Avorks are

:

Clan All)vii, :\ Nation.il Tale. Kdinburgli, 181.5. Pub-

lislied aiionvmously.

Klizabctli de Bruce. Kdin. 1827, 3 vols.

Tlie Sclionlmastcr. Edited by Mrs. .Tolirstone.

The Edinburgh Tales. 3 vols. 3d edition. Ediii. 181C.

Lives and Voy.iges of Drake, Cavendisli, and Danipier,

including a History of tlie Buccaneers. Edinburgh Cabinet

Library, No. .5. 1831.

Nights of the Round Table. Edin. 1832, 8vo.

The Cook and Housewife's Manual. A Practical System

of modern Domestic Cookery and Family JIanagcment. By

Mrs. Margaret Dodds of the Cleikuni Inn, St. Ronans. 10th

edition. Edin. 1858.

Diversions of Hollycot. A Book for children.

L

L.INDSBOROUGII, David, D.D., a poet and

naturalist, was born in 1782, in the parish of

Dairy, in the north-east verge of Kirkcudbright-

shire, celebrated, with the contiguous mountain

districts, as the scene of not a few eventful occur-

rences in the historj- of the persecuted Covenant-

ers. This, too, was the district of the Gordons,

knights of Lochinvar, afterwards viscounts of

Kenmure. lie was educated, first, at the parish

school, and subsequently at Dumfries academy,

and studied at the university of Edinburgh for the

ministry of the Established Church of Scotland.

While a student, he was for some time a tutor in

the family of Sir AVilliam IMiller, a lord of session,

uiuler the title of Lord Glenlee. This gentleman,

whose seat of Bar.skimming is in Ayrshire, while

his estate of Glenlee, from which he took his title,

is in Galloway, exerted his influence on his be-

half, and, on being licensed to preach the gospel,

!Mi'. Lnndsborough became assistant in the Old

Church of Ayr. He was soon, however, present-

ed to the parish of Stevenston, in the same coun-

ty, and was ordained in 1811.

Being one of what was called ' the evangelical'

party in the church, at the disruption in 1843, he

reliiHpiishcd his charge, and became minister of a

congregation at Saltcoats in connection with the

Free church.

IMuch of his time, when not occupied in the du-

ties of the ministry, wns devoted to the study of

natural liistor\-, in the different departments of

botany and conchology. In the latter years of

his life the alg;c, or seaweeds, of the coasts of

Ayrshire and Arran especially engaged his atten-

tion. He published several works which, at the

time of their appearance, attracted some attention.

His first work was entitled ' Arran, a Poem in G

Cantos,' Edinburgh, 1847, 16mo. In 1852 ap-

jieared from his pen, 'Excursions to Arran, Ailsa

Craig, and the two Cumbraes, with reference to

the natural history of these islands,' Edinburgh,

8vo. lie also, the same year, published a 'Pop-

ular Histor}' of British Zoophytes and Coralline,'

London, 8vo. He was, likewise, the author of a

' Popular History of British Seaweeds ;' also, of a

little volume of religious biography, entitled ' Ayr-

shire Sketclies.' To Dr. Harvey's ' Phycologica

Britannica' he contributed various papeis, and

that gentleman marked his sense of their merits

b}' naming an alga? after him. Dr. Johnston, au-

thor of 'The History of British Zoophytes,' in

like manner gave his name to a zoophyte, and a

shell also bears the name of Landshirgii.

He had the degree of doctor in divinity from

an American university. He died, suddenly, of

cholera, in September 1854.

LocKiiAUT of Ci.EGHOKN, an .incient family in the parisli

of Lanark. Allan Lockliart of Clegliorn is a witness in tlie

charters of James II. A cliarter was granted by James IV.,

to Sir Stephen Lockhart of Clegliorn, of the lands of that

name, qum privs pert.'muerunt ad predecessores. His son,

Allan, was father of Alexander Lockhart, who was infeft in

the barony of Cleghorn and the lands of Crngfoot in 1533.

Alexander's .son, Allan Lockli.wt, was seised in these lands in

1582. From him descended Allan Lockhart, Esq. ot Cleghorn,

whose only child, Marianne, married, in 1792, William Elliott,

Esq., JI.P. for Selkirlcshire from 180G to 1S30, descended from

a br.anch of tlie family of Elliott of Stobbs in Roxburghsliire.

In consequence of this marriage he assumed the surname of

Elliott, and died in 1832. Willi 2 daugliters lie had 5 sons,

1. .lolm, 12th light dragoons, killed at Waterloo. 2. .Allan,

who succeeded. 3. Walter, East India Company's service,

who died, without issue, in 1850. 4. William, major, Madras

native infantry, married Dora, daughter of George Clerk

Craigie, Esq. of Duinbarnie, and died in India in 1855, leav-

ing 3 sons and 2 daughters. 5. Gilbert, R.N., died in 1825.

Allan Elliott Lockh.art, Esq. of Cleghorn and Borthwlck-

brae, the 2d son, born in 1803, was educated in the univer-

sitv of Edinburgh, and passed advocate in 182-1. In 18-lG he

was elected .M.P. for Selkirkshire; a ni.-igistrate and deputy-
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lieutenant for the couutios of Selkirk, I.nnarlc, and Rox-

burj;li. He niarrieii, in 1830, Cliarlotte, otli dauj;hter of Sir

Robert Dundns of Heecliwood, liart,; issue, 5 sons and 6

duui^iiters. His eldest son, Wiliiain, captain 26tli regiment,

(Canieronians,) was born in 1833.

LOW, David, D.D. and LL.D., a distiiigiiisliecl

prelate of tiie Scottish Episcopalian cliurcli, the

son of a tradesman, Avas born in Bi-cchin, in No-

vember 17G8. He was edncnted in his native

town and at Marischal college, Aberdeen, and

during tlie college vacations he was emplo3-ed as

tutor to the fmnily of Mr. Carnegie of Balnamoon,

chief heritor of the parish of Menniiiir, by whose

iiiflnence he was ap]ioiiitcd paroclual schoolmaster,

and was admitted hy the presb3'tery to tlie office,

June 15, 1785. He afterwards studied under

Bishop Gleig at Stirling, and, on his recommenda-

tion, became tutor to tlie family of Mr. Patullo ot

Balhouffie, in the east of Fifeshire, where he re-

mained about eighteen months. On December 5,

1787, he was ordained a deacon, and appointed to

the charge of a small non-juring congregation at

Perth. After being fifteen months tliere, lie was,

on Feb. 4, 1789, admitted to full orders, and, in

September of the same year, was settled as pastor

of tlie Episcopal congregation at Pittenweem.

For nearly sixt3'-six years he fulfilled the duties

of the ministerial oflice in that town, officiating

every third Sundny at Trail, till 1805, when St.

John's chapel was built on tlic grounds of the

priory at Pittenweem. On Nov. 14, 1819, he was

consecrated bishop of the four united dioceses of

Ross, Moray, Argyle, and the Isles, and iu 1820,

tlie degree of LL.D. was conferred on liim by

Marischal college, his alma water. In 1847, he

effected the disjunction of Argyle and the Isles

from liis episcopal charge, and tiicir erection into

a separate see, executing " a deed, by which pro-

perty to tlie amount of £8,000 was conveyed to

trustees for tlie new diocese, the niinual income

arising from which being appropriateii for ever

towards the support of the bishops of tliat see

;

formally lelinqnishiiig, at the same time, to tlie

new bishop, all the income liitherto received by

liimself as a member of the Episcopal college."

In 1848, he received from two of the American

colleges the honorary degree of doctor in divinity.

The increasing infirmities of advancing age in-

duced liini. on Dec. 19, 1850, to resign his diocesan

autliority, and the Rev. Robert Eden, rector of

Lee in Essex, was consecrated, March 9, 1851,

liis successor as bishop of Ross and Moray.

Three of Bishop Low's charges to his clergy

were published at their request, but otherwise he

did not distinguish himself as an author. He
was no controversialist, and his theology was

simply " evangelic truth and apostolic order."

Bishop Low has been truly called " a bisliop of

a primitive tjTie." He was the last survivor of

the Scottish Episcopal clergy, who, on principle,

declined to pray for the reigning family, till the

death of Prince Charles Edward, in 1788, released

them from their allegiance to the house of Stuart.

He lived and died in the old priory of Pittenweem,

in a state of celibate simplicity, and out of an in-

come never exceeding, including a small patri-

mony, from £400 to £500 a-yeai', set apart fully

tw-o-tliirds for objects connected witli his church.

While denying himself all but tlie barest neces-

saries of life, and turning the envelopes of his cor-

respondents to enclose his answers to them, he

yet was enabled to devote £8,000 to the endow-

ment of a bishopric, and gave nearly £3,000 more

to other ecclesiastical objects.

" His appearance," says Lord Lindsay, in a graceful obitu-

ary notice, which appeared shortly after tlie bishop's deatl),

" was most striking—thin, attenuated, but active—his eye

.sparkUng with intelligence— liis whole appearance that of a

venerable French abbu of the old regime. His mind was

eminently buoyant and youthful, and liis memory was a fount

of the most interesting historical information, especially in

connexion with the Jacobite and cavalier party, to which he

belonged by early association and strong political and religious

predilection. ISorn and bred in a district pre-eminently (at

that time) devoted to the cause of the Stuarts, almost under

the shadow of Kdzell castle, the ancient stronghold of the

Lindsays in Forfarshire, and having lived much from time to

time, in his early years, in the Western Highlands, among

the Stuarts of lialhicliulish and Appiii, lie liad enjoyed a

familiar intercourse with the veterans of 1715 and 1745, and

detailed the minutest events and adventures of those times

with a freshness and a graphic force which afforded infinite

delight to his younger auditors. Nor was his traditional

knowledge limited to the last century— it extended to the

wars of Claverhouse and Montrose, to IJothwell Brig, and to

the (attempted) introduction of the service-book in 1637, and

was of the most accurate description, the bishop being well-

nigh as familiar with the relationships, intermarriages, and

sympathies of families who flourished 150 or 200 years ago

as he was with those of his own parishioners. The most

valuable of these traditions have been collected -ind embodied

by iMr. Robert Chambers, in his Histories of the Rebellions

in 1G38-G0, 1C89, 1715, and 1745. .Of the bishop's anec-

dotes of old Scottisli manners—of which he possessed a most

abundant and curious store—few, it is to be feared, are pre-
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^Llv^;J, iiithougll soiue were likewise taki'ii down b_v Mr.

Oliambers, and publislied by him in a Cdllectioii of Scottish

nnecdotes several years ago. But the above form tlie least

of the late bishop's claims to regret and remembrance. A
most kind and noble heart gave a cliann to his ilaily inter-

course inexpressible by words, while the devotion of his

evcrv thouglit to the cause of religion and tlie special interests

of tlie Episcopal cliurch of Scothmd, pave a consistent dig-

nity, amounting to grandeur, to bis whole life and conversa-

tion."

Uc (lioil Jaimiii-y -Jii, IH'>'>, in his 88tli year.

Among Ilia other public beiicfuctioiis he lel't £1,;^00

to St. John's ch.apel, rittenwoem, whicli w.-is laid

out in the purchase of hxnds, now yieltlin«^ about

.£G0 of five ycnrly rent. A memoir of Bishop

Low, by the Rev. W. Blatch, was iiublishcd at

London, in 1 vol. 12mo, in 1855. A smaller Bio-

graphical Sketcii by ]\Iattliew Foster ConoUy,

town-clerk of Ansti-utlier, formerly agent and

churchwarden of the bishop, appeared at Edin-

burgh in 1859.

LOW, D.wiD, an eminent professor of agri-

culture, was the eldest son of Alexander Low of

Laws, Berwickshire, a gentleman extensively em-

ployed in the management of landed property,

both as a general adviser and a land agent. Tiic

subject of this notice, born in 178('), was educated

at Perth academy, and studied at the university

of Edinburgli. Close application to his studies

affected !iis healtli, whicli led to liis spending one

winter in Portugal, as lie afterwards did a second

season in Italy. On his return to Scotland he as-

sisted his fatiier, who occupied extensive farms in

Berwicksliirc, in the duties of his profession and

the general management of liis land. He showed

great facilities for business, and a special aptitude

for the profession of a land agent and valuator.

In 1817 jNfr. Low first appeared as an author.

The termination of the war with France, two

years before, had produced a sudden and great

lowering of prices of farm produce throughout tlie

country, and created a serious embarrassment

among the farmers generally. In these circum-

stances Mr. Low iiublislicd a work entitled ' Ob-

servations on the present state of Landed Pro-

perty, and on the Prospects of the Landholder

and the Fanner,' which was written with the view

of " impressing upon the attention of the landed

gentlemen the good policy of endeavouring to

preserve, as far as a lenient exaction of rents could

effect the object, those funds of the tenants -which

were destined to cultivation and the business of

the farm."

About 18i*5 Mr. Low removed to Edinburgh, I

where he afterwards permanently resided. In I

182(5 the Quartcrh/ Journal of AgricnUure was

commenced, mainly at his suggestion. The first

number contains two articles from his pen, and

the first volume no fewer than sixteen. In 1828

he became editor of the Joiinia/. Much of the

high character to wliich that periodical attained

was due to the value of his own communications,

and the general ability with wliich it Avas con-

ducted. In 1831 he was appointed successor to

My. Coventry as professor of agriculture in the

university of Edinburgh. In 1832 he was sue-
j

ceeded in the editorship of the Qiiarterli/ Juiirnal

of Ar/riciilture by Mr. ]\IacGiIlvray.

Soon after liis appointment to the chair of agri-

culture, Mr. Low directed his attention to the
[

formation of a museum to illustrate his lectures,
j

He presented !i memorial to the Botird of 'J'rustees

for the Encouragement of Manufactures in Scot-

land, pointing out the advantages wliich would re-
'

suit from the establislinient of an agricultural

museum, accessible to farmers and others inter-

ested in rural economy, and expressing the hope

that the Board would "see fit to assign a sum

sufficient for the purpose of forming an agricultural

museum in Edinburgh." The Board, however,
j

did not consider the object to fall within their

sphere, and Mr. Low, in consequence, applied to i

the government, during the time that Lord Vis-
|

count Altliorp was the chancellor of the exchequer.
!

The answer returned was favourable. The com-
I

munication, dated December 17, 1833, was signed
j

by Mr. Spring Kice, afterwards Lord Monteagle.
j

It stated that the Lords Commissioners of the

Treasury, " being prepared to acknowledge the

utility of such an establishment, by which the

science of agriculture mav be advanced by pro-

moting the study of it, with all the aid of illustra-

tion and experiment, and especially in connexion

witli the science of chemistry, they have resolved

to recommend to his majesty that an annual issue

of ,£.300 sliould be made for the purpose, for five

successive years, out of the funds of the trustees

for improving fisheries and manufactures in Scot-
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land, to be paid to the professor of agriculture for

the time being, and to be applied by him, under

the authority of this Board, for such purposes

connected with an agricultural museum, as shall

be authorised by this Board, upon a specific esti-

mate and proposal to be laid before ni}' lords, by

the professor of agriculture, at the commencement

of each snccessive year for that purpose."

" So satisfied was Mr. Low of the importance

of the museum," says an obituary' notice of him

which appeared in the North British Agriculturist,

" and of its being indispensable to the success of

his agricultural teachiug, that immediately on en-

tering on the duties of his chair, he had commenced

the formation of the museum. His private collec-

tion of implements formed the nucleus. He ob-

tained, besides, specimens of plants, seeds, soils,

&c., and numerous drawings of machines, farm-

buildings, and the like. He also employed Mr.

Shiels, R.S.A., to travel all over England, Scot-

land, and L-eland, to take the portraits of the best

specimens of the different breeds of the domesti-

cated animals, for the purpose of illustrating the

form of the animals and tlie principles of breeding.

The result was a very superior museum, specially

rich in the collection of animal portraits, but, un-

fortunately, it v.-as little followed up by further

eftbrts, which might have rendered it more com-

plete and beneficial to the university and the

agriculturists of Scotland. The entire sum ex-

pended on tlie museum was nearly £3,000. Of

this, £1,500 was given bj' government, and £300

out of the Reid fund belonging to the university.

Tiic remainder was paid by Professor Low him-

self. The attendance at his class was, in conse-

quence of the formation of the museum, largely

increased, and a desire was evinced on the part of

practical agricultm-ists to take advantage of the

system in the education of their sons. From sev-

cntj' to ninety was the average attendance in the

earlier part of the professor's career, and not a

little of the enlightened zeal on behalf of improved

practice and the extension of agricultural educa-

tion which began to prevail among the more in-

telligent farmers of Scotland was mainly due to

tiie influence of the teaching of Professor Low."

One of the most arduous and important parts

of his professional duties was in connexion with

arbitrations
;
and, in his awards, there were al-

ways presented indications of a careful and im-

partial investigation. He was also much engaged

in the valuation of farms with the view of a re-

newal of lease. During those intervals when not

professionally engaged, his scientific studies en-

grossed his attention. To chemistry especially

he was greatly devoted. For years he had a

laboratory at his residence at Craigleith, near

Edinburgh, and afterwards at Mayficld, employ-

ing an assistant to aid iiini in carrying out his in-

vestigations.

Professor Low died in January 1859. Besides

his connexion with the agricultural societies of

Great Britain, he was a member of the Royal

Academy of Agriculture of Sweden, and of the

Royal Economical Society of Saxony
;

llonorarj-

and Corresponding Member of the Economical

Society of Leipzig and of tlie Society of Agricul-

ture and Botany of Utrecht
;
Corresponding Mem-

berof tlie ' Conseil Royale d'Agriculture de France,'

of the 'Societe Royale et Ceutrale,' &c., &c. He
was an accomplished French scholar, and corre-

sponded with many men of science both in France

and Germany.

His works are

:

Observations on the Present State of Landed Propertv,

and on the Prospects of the Landholder and the Fanner.

Edinburgh, 1817.

The Elements of Practical Agriculture, 183-1. Translated

into French and German.

The Breeds of the Domesticated Animals of the British

Islands. 2 vols. 4to, 1842. Illustrated with coloured plates

of the animals painted by Mr. Shiels, R.S.A., for tl]e Agri-

cultural JIuseum, the portraits reduced by Nicholson. Long-
man & Co., London, £IG 16s. Translated for the Frencli

government immediately upon its appearance.

The Domesticated Animals of the British Islands, &c.,

witli Observations on the Principles and Practice of Breeding,

1S45, being a fuller treatise than that appended to the illus-

trated edition.

Landed Property, and the Economy of Estates. 184G.

An Inquiry into tlie Nature of the Simple Bodies of Chem-
istry. 1844, 2d edit. 1848, 3d edit. 1850.

An Appeal to the Common Sense of the Country regai-d-

ing the Condition of the Working Classes.

Various Contributions to the Quarterly Journal of Agri-

culture, from 1826 to 1832.
"

MacauIjAY (additional. Sec pagi; 709 of vol. ii.).

The name Aulai, Awlay, or Alzea, is said to be derived

from JIacAulaidh, the son of Olave or Olaf, the Norse Olla

or Olaus. A tribe of Macaulays were settled at Uig, Eoss-

sliire, in the south-west of the island of Lewis (in Gaelic

Leodhas, anciently Leoghas, the land of lakes), and mai]y

were the feuds which they had with the Morrisons, or clau
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'Ilk M/iuire, Ihe trilm of tlie servant or discijiU! of Jlarj;, wiio

were lociited at Ness, at tlie north end of tlie same island. In

tlie reign of James VI., one of tlie Lewis JIacauIavs, Donald

Cam, so called from being blind of one ej-e, renowned for bis

grent strength, dislingnisbed himself on the patriotic side, in

the troubles that took place, first with the Fifeshire colonies

at Stornoway (see article JIaclkod, page '19 of this volume),

and then between the Lewis men and the JIackenzies (see

p. 1!) of this vol.). His attacks on the latter were fierce and

frequent, so much so that to tliis day there is a Gaelic saying,

C'/m rohh Cam, nach rohh crosd, " wlioever is blind of an eye

is pugnacious," but really meaning that it is not easy to

overcome a one-eyed person. Donald Cam i\Iaca\ilay had a

son, Fear Bkreinis, ''The Alan," or Tacksnnm of lirenish, of

who.so feats of strength many songs and stories ;u-e told.

His son, Aulay JIacaulay, minister of Harris, had six sons

and some daughter.-;. Five of his sons were educated for the

church, and one named Zachary he bred for the bar. One of

his sons, tlie Itev. Kenneth Wacaulay, Ardnamurchaii, nick-

ii.anied Kenneth Drover, wrote a 'History of St. Kilda.' Dr.

.lohnson, on his journey to the Hebrides, turned out of his

way to visit him, and paid him a compliment on his ' History.'

He had an only son, Aulay, who married in England. The

Macaulays of Uist and Harris are all descended from the

Brenisli family.

George Macaulay, a native of Uig, died an alderman of

London, in the end of the 18th centmy.

Another of Aulay Maeaulay's sons was tlie Kev. .lolin

.Macaulay, A.M., grandfather of the celebrated orator, states-

man, and historian, Lord i\Iacanlay. Born at Harris in 1720,

John Macaulay graduated at King's college, Old Aberdeen,

and was ordained minister at South Uist in 1745. The same

j

year he furnished some iiiform.ation through his father, which

i nearly led to the capture of Prince Charles Edward. In 175G

' he was translated to the parish of Lismore and Appin, Argyle-

;

shire, and in 1705 to Inverary. He was minister of the lat-

ter place when he met Dr. Johnson, on his famous visit to

the Hebrides. In 177-1 he was translated to Cardross, Dum-

I

bartonsliire, where he died in 1789. He married .Alargaret,

.')d daughter of Colin Campbell of Inversregan, Ardcliattan,

' and had twelve children.

! One of bis sons entered the East India Company's military

) service, and attained the rank of general.

Another, .'Vulay Macaulay, known as a miscellaneous wri-

I ter. I?orn about 17oS, he w;is educated at the university of

! Glasgow, where he took the degree of M..-\. During bis

residence at college, he contributed various essays to ' Kud-

]
(iiinan's Weekly JLigazine,' under the signature of Acadenii-

cus. He afterwards became tutor to the sons of .1. F. Bar-

ham, Esq., of Bedford, in whose family he remained three

years. Having entered into holy orders, lie obtained the

curacy of Clayhrook in Leicestershire, where he went to re-

side in August 1781. To Mr. Nichols' ' History of Leicester-

I shire' he contributed various articles of local interest, parti-

j

cularly a complete account of the parish of Clayhrook. In

;
1789 he was presented to the rectory of Frolesworth, wliicii

[

he resigned in 1790. In the autumn of 1793 he made a tour

through South Holland and the Netherlands; of which he

furnished a curious description to the Gentleman's Magazine.

In 179-1 he attended a son of Sir Walter Farquhar, as tutor,

into Germany; and during his residence at Brunswick, he

was employed to instruct the young princess, afterwards

Queen Caroline, in the rudiments of the English language.

Ill 179G he was presented to the vicarage of Hothley, by

Thomas Baliington, Esq., JI.P.. who had married his sis-

ter, Jane. He died Februaiy 24, 1819. He had married

.•1 daughter of John Heyrick, Esq., town-clerk of Leices-

ter, by whom he had eight .sons. He published the lol-

lowing works :—Essays on Various Subjects of Taste and
Criticism. 1780.—Two Discour.ses on Sovereign Power and
Liberty of Conscience, translated from the Latin of Professor

Noodt of Leyden, with Notes and Illustrations. 1781.—The
History and Antiquities of Clayhrook. 1790.—Various de-

tached Sermons.—He was more than thirty years engaged on
a Life of Melancthon, which was never completed.

Zachary, a third son, was for some years a merchant at

Sierra Leone. On his return to London, he became a pro-

minent member of the Anti-Slavery society, and obtained a
monument in Westminster abbey. He married Aliss iMills,

daughter of a Bristol merchant, and had a son, Thomas
Babington Macaulay, Loiiu Macaulay.

This nobleman, horn October 25, 1800, at Rothley 'i'eniple,

Leicestershire, was named alter his aunt's husband, Thomas
Babington, a wealthy English merchant. He grauu.-ited at

Trinity college, C.imbridge, of which he became, in 1822, a
fellow. Ill tlif second year of his course he had carried off

the chancellor's medal by his poem ' Pompeii.' In the fol-

lowing year a similar distinction was awarded to lii.s^ poem
' Evening,' and in 1821 he was elected to the Craven scholar-

ship. In 1822 he took the degree of B.A., in 1825 that of

ALA., and in 182G he w;is called to the bar at Lincoln's Inn.

He had already won himself some literary fame by his essay

on Milton in the Iviinburgh Review, by his ballads, and bv
numerous contributions to the periodical literature of the day.

The Whig government conferred upon him a commissioner-
ship in bankruptcy, and, under the auspices of the marquis of

Lansdowne, he was elected M.P. for Calne in 1830. He took
a prominent part in the agitation for reform ; in Dec. 1832 I

he became secretary to the board of control, and was elected

ALP. for Leeds. In 1834 he was appointed fifth member of.
\

and legal adviser to the supreme council of India. In 1838
\

he returned to Britain, with that practical knowledge of In-

dian affairs of which be afterwards made so efficient use both

in speech and ess.ay. From September 1839 to September
1

1841 he was secretary at war. In January 1840 he was 1

elected ALP., for Edinburgh. In 1842 lie published his ' Lays I

of Ancient Rome.' His ' Essays' appeared in 1843 in 3 vols. I

In the government of Lord John, afterwards Earl Russell, be
was, in July 184G, appointed paymaster-general of the forces,

with a seat in the cabinet. In 1847, the electors of Edin-
burgh, by a majority, declined to re-elect him, and in Alay

1848 he ceased to be p.aymaster of the forces. In that year
appeared the first two volumes of bis ' History of England from
the accession of James IL' In 1849 he was elected lord rector

of the university of Glasgow, and in 1850 the honorary ap-

pointment of professor of ancient liistory in the Royal Aca-
demy was conferred upon him. In 1852 he was spontane-

ously re-elected ALP. for lidinburgh. In 1853 he received

from the king of Prussia the order of merit, which had been

founded by Frederick the Great. The same year his ' Speeches

'

were published. In 1855 the third and fourth volumes of his

' Histoiy of England' appeared. He was raised to the peer-

age of the United Kingdom as Baron Alacaulav, Sept. 10,

1857. He died, unmarried, Dec. 28, 1859, and was buried

in Westminster abbey. In 1862, a tablet, containing his

name and the d.ates of his birth and death, and the words,
" His body is buried in peace, but his name liveth for ever-

more," was placed over his gr.ave. At his death his title

became extinct.

AIacCoi.l, the name of a minor clan, settled chieflv around

Loch I'yne, Argyleshire, a branch of the Alacdonalds, among
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wljom Coll w;is a favourite Christian name. 'I'lie Irish his-

torians iniorm us that, on St. Patrick's day, 1501, there was

fought a battle hetween the O'Neills and certain Scots, in

which tlie latter hist a son of the laird of Aig, of the family

of the JIacdoniiells, the three sons of Coll Mac Alexander,

and about sixty conmion soldiers. Tlie most famous person-

age so named was Sir Allaster MacCoU Macdonald, com-

monly called Cull Coitach, or the lelt-handed, or Kolkittocli,

lieutenant-general to the great marquis of Jlontrose (see vol.

ii. p. 720). He was of the JLicdonalds of Colonsay, whence

his father had been expelled by the Campbells, and settled iji

the county of Antrim, in the province of Ulster.

The Mi.cColls have the same badge as the Macdonalds, the

French gorm or common heather. The latter great chm are

of the race of Conn, a celebrated Irish king, called Conn of

the lumdred battles, hence they are called MacConnel, or

Macdonell, and the name JIacColl may be but a corruption

of the former word.

Like many of the smaller septs who Iiad settled in or near

the territories of the Campbells, the MacColls were merged

in that great race, and had scarcely an independent history

of their own. They were among the clans who were arrayed

against the chm Gregor, who called to their aid their distant

iViends, the Macphersons. Filty of tlie latter at once has-

tened to their assistance, but on reacliing Blair Athol, were

informed of the battle of Glenfruin, in wliicli the Macgregors

were victorious. They accordingly retraced their steps to

their own country, and in passing the dreary ridge of Drum

Uachdiir, they encountered a large body of the JIacColls re-

turning witli a creach, or spoil, of cattle from Koss or Suth-

erhuxi. A sanguinary battle took place on the side of Loch

Garry, in wliich the JIacphersons were the conquerors, with

trifling loss, and the MacColls suffered severely, their leader

.•did most of their men being killed. One of them, named

Angus MacCiill, displayed great strength and dexterity, and

on the defeat of his clan, is said, while engaged in a hand to

hand combat with a JIacpherson, to have saved himself by

leaping backward across a chasm so wide that even to at-

tempt it by a forward leap was a hazardous venture.

This clan has produced a poet, whose Gaelic pieces rank

very high in the Highlands; Kvan M'Coll, born at Kenmore

on Loth' Fyne side in 1812. At a very early age he dis-

pl.-iyed an irresistible thirst for legeudary lore and Gaelic

poetry, and when he had readied his teens, his father, Dugald

M'Coll, engaged a tutor for him, who not onlv taught him

properly to read and understand English, but also awakened

in him a taste for English literature. In the year 1837 he

appeared as a contributor to the Gaelic Jfagazine, then pub-

lished in Glasgow. His contributions were afterwards col-

lected and published in a separate volume, entitled Clarsach

nam Beann, or the 'Mountain Harp.' Through the influence

of Mr. Fletcher of Dunans and Mr. Campbell of Islay, JI'Coll

was subsequently appointed to a situation in tlie customs at

Liverpool.

M'DIATIMID, John, an accomplished journal-

ist and popular writer, tlie son of tlie Rev. Iliigli

M'Diarmid, minister of the Gaelic church, Gias-

gow, was born, it is said, in Edinburgh in 1790.

He received a fair education at Edinburgh, and

liecaine a clerk in a counting-house in that city,

connected with a bleachfield at Roslin. He next

])rocured a situation in the head office of the Coni-

JOIIN.

mercial bank, where he rose to a responsible posi-

tion, which he retained for several years. During

this time he attended such classes in the university

as were accessible to his leisure hours, and pursued

a course of instructive reading with great diligence.

In the evenings he acted as amanuensis for two

years to Professor Playfair, with so much satis-

faction to the latter that- the advantages of his

classes and his library were offered to him and

eagerly accepted.

Mr. M'Diarmid became a member of one of the

college debating societies, and tiie " Edinburgh Fo-

rum," a society which held its meetings in public,

and of which he became one of the leading speakers.

Previous to 1817, he had contributed to the lead-

ing magazines of that day, many fugitive pieces

both in prose and verse. In 1815, when Edin-

burgh was illuminated in honour of the victory of

AVaterloo, a triplet, written by him, was exhibit-

ed, in letters of fire, over the door of a publishing

house in that city, and acquired for the author no

small degree of local fame. Tlie same year, at

the request of a fellow-clerk, some spirited lines,

on the Battle of Waterloo, were written for the

occasion of laying the foundation-stone of the

AVaterloo monument at Newabbe}', near Dum-

fries, the first memorial of the great battle erected

in the kingdom. The Waterloo lines having at-

tracted attention, his services were sought by

several of the leading publishers in Edinburgh,

though he still retained his post in tlie bank.

"Mr. ]M'Diarmid's literniy pursuits," says the

memoir of him written by his son, " were now

becoming of some value to him, in a monetary

point of view. In 1816, he one da}' received for

publications compiled for IMessrs. Oliver & Boj-d,

the sum of fifty pounds, and an anecdote we can

give as to its disposal will show that, along with

independence of mind, generosity of nature enter-

ed largely into the composition of his character.

He had just left his publishers' office, highl}' elat-

ed with the possession of so much monc}', when

he encountered a brother poet, whose muse,

though better known to fame than his own, failed,

as is frequently the habit of the muse, to supply

its possessor with the comforts of life. A tale of

distress was told, and ere j\Ir. M'Diarmid's first

prize in the walk of literature had continued for

720
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lialf-aii-hour in his pocket, it w;\s trnnsten-ed en-

tire to that of liis more needy friend, a destination

whence it never rotnrned."

Tn the end of thnt year (1816) lie formed one

of a trio who lind resolved to set on foot a new

weekly journal in EilinburRh, the other two hcinj;

I\Ir. ('ii;u les ]\I:uI,'uen and Mr. A\'illiam Ritchie.

The iirojoct resulted in the establishment of the

Scotsman, the first nnmher of which appeared on

the 25th January 1817. He retained for many

years his share in the copyright, but the manage-

ment devolved entirely on his two friends. In

January 1.S17, Mr. IM'Diarniid left Edinbnrgli to

assume the editorship of the Dumfries and Gallo-

iivri/ Courier, which liad been established in 1809, by

the Ilev. Dr. Henry Duncan, minister of Rnthwell,

and had been edited by him np to the period when

jMr. M'Diarmid joined it. That paper professed

no party politics, though leaning to liberal views;

and was nsed mainly for promoting the benevo-

lent schemes of its editor; amongst which his

project for establishing Savings Banks, first made

to the world thi'ough its columns in 1810, will for

ever reflect lustre on the author and his newspaper.

The talent, intelligence, taste, and industry

which iVIr. jM'Diarmid brought to his editori.al la-

bours, soon showed that he was admirably (piali-

fied for the ]iosition which he had now assumed.

Interesting himself in agricultural matters arid

ngriciilturni improvement, his weekly article on

rural allairs became remarkable for variety of de-

tail, and for the attractive forms in which that

detail M-as presented to his renders. Tn this de-

partment he opened np a new branch of journal-

Ism, one at that time quite unheeded, but which

now forms a most impoi tant feature in botii the

provincial and metropolitan press.

In 1820, Mv. M'Dinrmid was oflered the edi-

torship of the Caledonian ^hrriinj, the oldest

established newsjinper in Scotland. The liberal

party in Dumfries, however, were nnwilling to

lose his services, and by the intervention of ]\Ir.

William Gordon, writer in that town, a new ar-

rangement was made, by \\hirh he and Mr.

M'Diarniid became jointlj' interested ^^ith Dr.

Duncan in the propert\' of the Courier. This

partnership continued till 1837, when Mr. JI'Diar-

mid became sole proprietor of the copyright. In

1843, he admitted his eldest son, Mr. William

Ritchie M'Diarmid, to a partnership and share m
the editorial duties of the newspaper, and ap-

pointed him also to be his successor.

In 1832, IsIy. M'Diarmid acted as secretary to

the Dumfries relief fund, when that town was fiist

visited by the Asiatic cholera, and he ever took

an active part in all the local charities of Dum-

fries. He was a firm and strenuous suppoi'ter of

all the liberal measures brought forwaid din-ing

his editorial career, such as the repeal of the Test

and Corporation Acts, carried in 1820; Roman

Catholic Emancipation, in 1829; the Reform Bill,

in 1832; and Free Trade, in 1818.

In 1817, he published an edition of Cowper's

Poems, prefaced by a life of the poet. This book

became very popular, and reached several edi-

tions. In 1820 the first volume of the 'Scrap

Book' appeared—a book of selections and original

contributions in prose and verse—which met witli

a still nioi'c extended circnlation and fame. A
second volume was soon required, and many suc-

cessive editions of both were afterwards published.

In 1825, I\Ir. M'Diannid started the Dumfries

Magazine, chiefly with a view to alTbrd scope

for local literary talent. This pei-iodical lasted

for three years. In 1823, an edition of Gold-

smith's Vicar of Wakefield, with a memoir of

the author by Mr. INI'Diarmid, was published at

Edinburgli, and in 1830 he printed and published

in Dumfi'ies his 'Sketches from Nature,' chiefly a

selection from the pages of the Courier, and

abounding in interesting descriptions of scenery

and character pertaining to the district. He also

contributed to the 'Picture of Dumfries,' an illus-

trated woi k published in 1832, a graphic account

of the ancient bnrgh and its locality : and some

minor works, such as a description of ]\Ioftat, and

a life of William Nicholson, the Galloway poet,

were thrown ofl' in the intervals of his leisure.

It was as a journalist, however, that Mr. M'-

Diarmid particnlarly excelled. His extensive and

minute acqnaintancc with agriculture, his bound-

less store of curious and amusing gossip relating

to rural aflairs, and even that lionest love of the

marvellous with which he was frequently charged,

all contributed to render his name and his news-

paper popular. A good story, a romantic inci-
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dent, or the death of a ' character,' seldom escaped

him, aud lie made the Courier at once the political

organ of the district and the epitome of its daily

historj- : the picttire-book of its scenery and the

biography of its leading men. " A tale of dis-

tress," says the JMemoir by his son, " or an aflect-

ing incident, was certain to acquire a thrilling

interest in his hands. About eighteen years be-

ibre his death, a poor -wandering female, carrying

a baby in her arms, begged a night's lodging at a

farm-house not far from Dumfries. She was

sheltered in an outhouse, and in the morning the

mother was found cold in death and the living in-

fant still clinging to her bosom. His heart was

touched by such a tale. He related it simply and

affectingly, and in the London papers it met the

eye of a lady of rank, then mourning the loss of

an only daughter. Slie made inquiry if the little

orphan was a female, and this happily being the

case, she determined at once to adopt it. Though

names M'ere carefully concealed, that the child

might never, in after life, learn its origin, the

most respectable references were given to the par-

ish authorities, who gladly gave up the child ; and

being carried to London, she was baptized into

the Church of England with much ceremon}', and

became one of the members of a fashionable fam-

ily."

In 1847 Mr. IM'Diarmid was entertained at a

public dinner hy upwards of ninety of the resi-

dents of Dumfries and its neighbourhood, under

the presidency of Sir James Stuart Menteth, bar-

onet. On Friday, 12th November 1852, he was

attacked with erysipelas, then very prevalent in

Dumfries and its neighbourhood, and on the morn-

ing of Tiiursday, the IStli of that month, he

breathed his last, in his 63d year. He had lost

his wife two years previously, but left a family to

mourn his loss. In the words of a clergyman who

knew him long and well, it maj' be truly said of

him that " he did more for Dumfries-shire, and,

indeed, a large part of the south-west of Scotland,

than pediaps any man living. Everything useful

or promising in an agricultural or commercial

point of view lie powerfully and constantly en-

couraged; and none who had the good of his

country or his native place at heart, ever solicited

his patronage in vain. AVith the single exception

of Burns, no man is more imperishably connected

with Dumfries, and I am persuaded that the men

of Dumfries will long and peculiarly cherish his

memory." Of the life and writings of our great

jiational poet he possessed a minute knowledge,

enriched by numerous original anecdotes which he

had from time to time collected. Soon after his ar-

rival in Dumfries in 1817, he made the acquaint-

ance of Burns' widow, and became her intimate

friend and adviser, and ultimately her executor.

He was also the friend and correspondent of the

poet's sons. As a memorial of Mr. IM'Diannid, a

sum of monej- was, after his decease, collected, in

Dumfries and the neighbourhood, for the purpose

of founding a bursary of £10 a-year in the uni-

versity of Edinburgh, open for competition to

students from the three counties of Dumfries,

Kiikcudbright, and Wigtown.

Macdonai.d of Clanranald, (additional. See vol. ii. p.

722.) The statement that John Movdaitach, or John of Mov-
dart, wlio became Captain of the Clanranald in 1530, was a

natural son of AUastor or Alexander Allanson, appears to be

founded on an assumption, that has been followed by almost

cvei-y succeeding writer on the Higliland clans, without being

once satisfactorily proved. On the death of Kaiiald Bane, the

otll chief, .lohii of Moydart was acknowledged by the clan Cap-

tain of Clanranald. Ranald Galda, or the stranger, (see vol. ii.

p. 722,) being a minor, living with his mother's fatlier, Lord

I.ovat, John, as next heir, managed and led the clan, and on

the death of Kanald lie became chief, but did not change the

title inider which he was known, viz.. Captain of Clanranald.

His mother, a Macintosh, and a chief's daughter, has her fair

name established in the records of her own family, as well as

in those of the Clanranald.

In 1824, an attempt was made by Alexander Macdonell (^f

Glengarry, by an action in the court of session, to deprive

Kanald George Macdonald of Clanranald, the direct descendant

and representative of the Macdonald of Castletirrim or Island-

tirrim, of the chiefship of the clan Donald, and to claim it fur

himself, in which he signally failed. Macdonald of Clam'an-

ald traces a lineal descent from the Macdonalds, kings of the

Isles. About the end of the 14th century, the Clanranald

lost many of its possessions. But it still retained extensive

estates, and the admitted supremacy over the clan JIacdonald.

its head being uniformly addressed as Captain or Chief of

Macdonald, or, as it is expressed in public instruments, Dtt.v

or Prhiceps famiUce de Clanronald. Their principal castle,

or messuage, was llie strong fortification of Castletirrim, or

Islandtirrim, situated on a rocky promontory of Moydart.

The family of Macdonald of Islandtirrim have always been

acknowledged as Captains and Chiefs of Clanranald. In the

records of the privy seal there occurs the following entrvof a

charter, granted July 2, 1534:—" Carta Joanni Macallaster

de Elanterim, Cupitano de Clanranald, ct Mariote JIac

Keane, sua; spousa;, in conjuncta infeodatione, et lisredibus

inter ipsos legitime procreaiul." The Captain of the Clanran-

ald here referred to was John Moydartacli, above mentioned,

the eldest son of Allastor Allanson, usually .issumed to have

been his natural son. His grandson, another John, in mak-
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ing up liis titles, seived liimself lieir to his graiuifatlier, Jiiliii

Jloydartaeli, Captain of Clanranald, and to tliis st-rWce tlie

then Glengarry was a witness.

In all the chaiters of the family and records of tlie Privy

Seal wliere the Clanranald are mentioned, the same style and

designation are invariably continued of CapiUiniis sen Priu-

ceps f..niili:c de Clanran:ild, or, occasionally, Cajntdnua et

Duxfamilue de Mucramild. In accordance with the feudal

notions of allegiance and duty preViJent at the time, there are

inanv deeds on record, in which the Jlacdonells of Glengarry

adndtted I heir subordination to Clanranald.

In the Privy Seal records, of date Aug. 20, 1548, there is

an entry of a respite to various Highland chiefs and lairds fir

their treasonable absence from the Queen's army during the

invasion of Scotland by the Knglish under the lord-protector

Somerset, and among those are included both the chief of the

Clanranald, being the John Jloydart Macalester of Castle-

tirrini, said without adequate grounds to he illegitimate, and

to whom the charier of 153-1 was granted, and the laird of

Glengarry, who arc severally named and designed in these

terms :
" Ane respitt maid to Julme Mynndwarte Macalester,

CapiUiiiie of Clanranald, Angus Macalester, his brothei-, Uorye

iMacalester, Allane Macalester, sone to the said Johne My-

undwarte, Alester JIac Ane Vic Alester of Glengarrie," &c.

It has been remarked by lirowiie, that if the descendants of

Don:dd, from whom the clan received its name, or even of

John of the Isles, who flourished in the reign of David II.,

are to be held as constituting one clan, then, according to the

Highland principles of clanship, the saiif/uinis rested in

the male representative of John. By Amy, his first wile,

daughter of Roderick of the Isles, John had 3 sons, John,

Godfrey, and Pianald, but the last of these only left descend-

ants, and it is from him that the Clanranald derive their origin.

Lord Macdonald, the rc[iresentative of the Macdonalds ol

Sleat, is said to descend from his second marriage.

Among the clans wOio fought at Bannockbiun were ti;e

JIacdonalds, under Angus, Lord of the Isles. They fonned the

reserve, and did good service to the cause of Scottish indepen-

dence in that memorable battle. The Clanranald obtained

their motto from the words, " My Hope is Constant in thee,"

addressed by Robert the Rnice to their ancestor Angus, on

his making the final charge on the English.

The number of men which the Clanranald were able to

bring into the field, given by President Forbes, viz., 700, is

not a criterion of their lorce. The distance of the islands and

want of swift boats, prevented, in the Liter wars of Montrose.

Mar, and 1745, their men from being brought across, and

therefore the muster-roll was from the maiidand estates alone,

little more than a third of the extent of the whole.

After the battle of Culloden, young Clanranald, (see vol. ii. p.

723, col. 2,) remained for some time in concealment in Moi-

dart, waiting for an opportunity of escaping to the continent,

and soon after got to Br.'dian Castle, the seat of the e.irl of

Seaforth, where he met the young lady to whom he was be-

trothed, Mary, a daughter of Mr. Basil Hamilton of Baldoon,

sister of the 4tli earl of Selkirk, whose mother w,-is a sister of

his grandmother. This young lady he now married, and then

proceeded to the Bay of Cromarty, where they embarked for

London, under the name of .Mr. and Mrs. Black. Soon after

they got safely to the continent. He m.\v tnily be said to

have acted a disinterested part towards the Prince, as he was

the only chief who would not accept a bond from him for his

assistance. By the Prince, on his arriv.-d in Prance, he was

introduced to Louis XV., declaring that he was the only person

who had served him without fee or reward. Soon after he got

some military government from the court of Pr,(nce, ami con-

tinued so employed until he became acquainted with Marshal

Saxe, who appointed him his aide-de-camp. In the bill of

attainder against the chiefs who h.id been engaged in the re-

bellion, which received the royal assent, June 4, 174G, Ranald
Macdonald, younger of Clanranald, was, by mistake, named
Donald. His friends took advantage of this, and after some

years' delay he succeeded in recovering his estates. On 28th

Nov. 1753. liis father, who was then still alive, renounced his

liferent in his favour. The younger Clanranald's wife, the

lady above mentioned. Mar}-, daughter of Mr. li.-isil Hamilton,

died Uth May 1750, and bad a son, Charles James Sonier-

lett, who died at the age of 5 years. He married, 2dly, l-'lora,

daughter of Mackinnon of Mackinnon
; issue, 2 sons and 3

daughters. Sons: 1. John, 2. James, lieutenant-colonel in

the army. Daughters: 1. and 2. Margaret and JIary, both

unm:u-ried, 3. Penelope, wife of Lord Belliaven and Stenton.

John Macdonald, the elder son, by the 2d marriage, 17th

chief, succeeded his father while still a mere youth. Ho
afterwards obtained :i commission and served as captain in

the 2d dragoon guards. He died in 1794, at the early age of

29. He married, 1st, Katherine, daughter of Right Hon.

Robert M -Queen of ISr:ixlield, Lord Justice Clerk, issue, 3

sons. 1. Reginald or Ranald George, 2. Robert Johnstone,

3. Donald. Hem. 2dly, Jean, daughter of Colin Macdonald,

Ksq. of lioisdale, his 2il cousin, grand-child of Alexander, 2d
son of Don:dd, 14tli chief of the family, without issue.

Reginald or Ranald George Macdonald, the eldest son, 18th

chief, was educated at Edinburgh and at Eton College. On
coming of age he received the command of the Uist or Lcmg
Island regiment of Inverness-shire local mihtia. In 1812, he

married Lady Caroline Ann I'^dgecumbe, dr. of Ricli.-u-d, 'JJ

earl of Slount Edgecunibe, Devonshire
;
issue, 1 son and 5 drs.

He is the 25th in the direct descent Irom Sonicrlett, King
of the Isles, and Lord of Argyle and Kintyre, undoubted jiro-

genitor of :dl the Macdonalds in Scotland, and of course chief

of that great and powerful clan.

Reginald John Macdonald, his only son, w:is born in 1820.

He early entered the navy, and was made a post-captain in

1854. He was in command of a vessel on the west coast of

Africa at the time of the Crimean war, :ind from Julv 1859

to August 1862 he commanded the western district of Scot-

land. He married in June 1855, the Hon. Adelaide Louisa,

daughter of Lord Vernon
; issue, 2 sons, Allan Douglas, born

in April 1850, Angus Roderick, born in April 1858; ;ind a

daughter, .Aiielaide Efirida.

JlACGKiiiiciK.—Additional .-iccount of the origin of tlje

family of Macgeorge (see vol. ii. p. 733), partly derived from

a MS. account by the late Sir William Betham of the Her-
ald's college.

The family of Macgeorge, for some time settled in Gallo-

way, is a branch of the ancient and noble family of Berniing-

hani, origin:dly lords of Bermingham, in the county of War-
wick, and afterwards barons of Athenry, in Ireland. In the

reign of Edward III., Bermingham, baron of Athenrv. ;is-

sumed the Irish surname of J/aciom, w hich signifies the ' son

of Pierce,' from Pierce,'the 3d baron of Athenn-, accordin"

to Lodge, or, according to Dr. Petrie, from Pierce, the first

b.aron, in the reign of Henry II. They were premier barons

of Irelami. The title is :it present dormant. Of this family

a branch passed over to Scotland, and settled in Galloway,

prob;ibly towards the middle of the 17th century. There the

name Macioris, by an easy transition, became Maciore or

Macjore, and in that form it -was presen-ed till so kite as the

end of the 17th century, when the family adopted the name
as it is now spelled and jironounced.
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'I'he following interesting account of the assumption by

tlie lords of Athenry, of their Irish surname, is by Hiinis,

tl]e editor of Sir James Ware's Antiquities of Ireland;

—

" Upon tlie murder of William de Burgo or Bourke, third

earl of Ulster, in 1333, and the confusion that followed

thereupon, many of the English degenerated into the Iri^h

customs and manners, and assumed Irish surnames in-

stead of their own. Thus the Bourkes in Connaught tonk

tlie name of MacWilliam ; the Berminghams took the name

of Maclnrls from Pierce the son of Meiler Bermingham,

who was one of the principal beads of tlie family in Ireland."

Referring to the same event. Sir John Davis, in his Histori-

cal Researches, says: " About this time, viz., the latter part

of the reign of Edward II. and the beginning of Edward III.,

the general defection of the old English into the Irish cus-

toms happened ; for about that time they did not only forget

the English language, and scorn the use thereof, but grew to

be ashamed of their very English names, though th^y are

noble and of great antiquity, and took Irish surnames and

nicknames. Namely, the two most potent families of the

Bourks in Connaught,—after the house of the Red Earl failed

of heirs male,—called their chiefs MacWilliam Eigliter and

MacWilliam Ougliter. And in the same province Ber-

mingliam, baron of Athenry, called liimself MacYoris or

Macloris."

The curious and valuable Irish chronicle, known as the

' Annals of the Four .Masters,' contains numerous historic no-

tices of this once powerful family, and in all the lords of Athen-

ry are mentoined only by their Irish surname of JIacloris.

The date of the settlement of the branch of the Berming-

hams in Scotland cannot be precisely fixed. According to

Sir William Betham they passed over to the Western High-

lands of Scotland, along with a branch of another noble family,

—that of Macartny, and thereafter removed to the stewartry

of Kirkcudbright, ivhere, says Sir William, their Irish n.ame

of Ilorish or Macloris was changed to Macgeorge. From this

branch was descended John Macgeorge of .Auchenreoch, who

fought at Bothwell Bridge, the ancestor of the family of Mac-

george settled in the west of Scotland. A grand-daughter of

this J(ihn Macgeorge married Joseph Macgeorge of Culloch,

from whom is descended Colonel William Macgeorge, residing

in London, who is the representative of the Culloch branch of

the family.

The arms of Macgeorge, as described at vol. ii. p. 734, are

those adopted by a particul.ir branch. But the proper arms

of the family are Parti per p.ile indented, or and gules; and

the crest, an antelope head erased, argent, attired, or—being the

armorial bearings of Bermingham, baron of Athenry, the head

of the family. These are the arms borne by one of the families

in the west of Scotland (of the Auclienreoch branch), as re-

gistered and confirmed in the books of Ulster King of Arms,

with the following for a difference, viz., in the centra point of

the shield, a crescent, ermine, and the antelope's head in the

crest, gorged with a collar indented, gules.

M.ICKENZIE, Donald, .in euterpiising nier-

clianl, was born in the north of Scotland June 15,

1783. At the age of seventeen he went to Canada,

and joined the great North-west Fur Company,

wliicli had been formed at Montreal in the winter

of 1783-84, in opposition to tlie Hudson's Bay

Company, and in their employment he continued

eight years.

On the 23d June 1810, articles of agreement

were entered into between Mr. Astor of New York,

Mr. Donald Mackenzie and other 3 Scots gentle-

men, acting for themselves and for the several

parties who had agreed, or might agree, to become

associated under the fnm of 'Tiie Pacific Fur

Company.'

In July 1810, Jfr. Mackenzie and !Mr. Hunt, nt

the head of a band of adventurers who had en-

gaged in the undertaking, set ont from St. Louis,

to make the overland route, up vast rivers, across

trackless plains, and over the rugged barriers of

the Rocky Mountains, to the mouth of the Colum-

bia river. Tlie distance by the route travelled

was upwards of 3,500 miles, though in a direct

line it does net exceed 1,800.

On arriving at their destination a small fort or

trading post was immediately erected on the south

bank of the Columbia river, and called Astoria,

after Mr. Astor, the originator of the settlement.

Besides the fort, it consisted altogether of about

half-a-dozen log houses, on the side of a ridge

which rises from the river to an altitude of 500 feet.

This ridge was originally covered with a thick forest

of pines, and the part reclaimed by the first occupants

for their settlement does not exceed four acres.

Mr. Mackenzie was placed in charge of a post on

the Shahaptan, in the midst of the Tusliepaw In-

dians, a powerful and warlike nation divided into

many tribes, under different chiefs. These savages

posscsssed innumerable horses, but, never having

turned their attention to beaver trapping, they had

no furs either for sale or barter. Game being

scarce, Mackenzie, for subsistence, was obliged to

rely, for the most part, on horse-flesh, and the In-

dians, in consequence, knowing his necessities,

raised the price of their horses to an exorbitant

rate. He was, therefore, both disgusted and dis-

appointed with his situation, and on obtaining in-

formation of the breaking out of the war between

Great Britain and the United States in 1812, lie

resolved upon abandoning his post, and proceeding

to Fort Astoria.

After a long journey, he suddenly appeared

there, with all his people, "way-worn and weather-

beaten," January 16, 1813. Mr. Duncan M'Dougal

was then in charge of the establishment. After

consulting with Mr. JI'Dougal and other officials
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there, it wns deteniiiiied to abiuidon the fort in

tiie course of the following spring, and return across

tlie Rocliy mountains. In the meantime Macken-

zie went back to Shahaptan, to remove his goods

from thence, and buy lioi'scs and provisions witli

them for the caravan, across tlie mountains. lie

was accompanied by two of the clerlis, Mr. John

Reed, an Irishman, and ilr. Alfred Seton of New

York. On their arrival tliey found that tlie post

had been rifled by the Indians, and the goods

carried off. Mackenzie was fortunate enough to

recover part of the stolen property. lie then re-

turned to Astoria, where he arrived, with the

other partners, on the 12tli of June.

After another consultation, it was lesolvcd, as

two of the most influential of the partners disap-

proved of the design to break np and dejjai t from

Astoria, that Jlr. IM'Dougal should continue to

hold it, with forty men, and that Mr. IShukenzie,

with four hunters and eight common men, should

winter in the abundant countrv of WoUanmt,

whence he might be enabled to furnish a constant

snjiiily of provisions to Astoria.

On the expected arrival of the frigate Phcebe

and Isaac Tod, British sliijis, Mr. M'Dougal, on

the 16th October, entered into an agreement with

Mr. M'Tavisli, of the North-west Company, to

sell him, on their acconnt, the whole stock of furs

and merchandise of all kinds, in the countiy, be-

longing to the Company of wliich Mr. Astor was

the head. On the morning of the 30tli Novem-

ber, the British sloop of war Itacoon, of twenty-

six guns and 120 men, anchored in Baker's Bay,

near the fort, and its commander, Captain Black,

took possession of the place, on the jiart of Great

Britain, and changed the name to Fort George.

At tlie close of the war in 1814, in conformity to

the treaty of Ghent, the settlement was restored

to the United States, but the property, business

and ports, remained in tiie hands of the North-

west company, under the above-nientioned act of

sale by Mr. M'Dougal. On the 4tli Ajiril follow-

ing, Mr. Mackenzie, with two of the partners and

such of the persons employed at Astoria as had

not entered into the service of the Norlii-west

Company, set out for New York, across tlie Rocky

mountains. He h:\d converted everything he

could into available funds, m liich he conveyed,

through an extensive wililerness, to Mr. Astor,

and his friends asserted that to Mr. Mackenzie

alone was that gentleman indebted for all that

>vas saved from the ruin caused by the agreement

entered into by ilr. M'Dougal with ]Mr. M'TavLsh.

The trade in peltries was forthwith engrossed by

the North-west Company.

Mr. Mackenzie subsequently exerted himself to

secure for the United States the exclusive trade

of Oregon, but after a long negotiation with Mr.

Astor, and, through him, with IMessrs. IMadison,

Gallatin, and other leading individuals in and out

of oflice, the matter was aliandoiied, and on the

merging of the North-west Company in the Mud-

son's Bay Company in March 1821, Mr. Mac-

kenzie joined the latter. lie was immediately

ajipointed one of the council and chief factor.

"From that time," says Mr. Irving, " the Hud-

son's Bay Company enjoyed a monopoly of the

Indian trade fi om the coast of the Pacific to the

Rocky mountains, and for a considerable extent

north and south. They removed their empoiium

from Astoria to Fort Vancouver, a strong post on

the left bank of the Columbia river, about sixty

miles from its mouth ; whence they furnished their

interior posts, and sent forth their brigades of

trappers."

In August 1825, Mr. Jilackenzie married a lady

of the name of Adelegoiide Humbert, and shortly

after he was appointed governor of the Companv.

.\t this time he resided at Fort Garry, Red River

settlement, where he remained till 1832, in active

and prosperous business. At length, having

amassed a large fortune, in August 1833 he went

to reside in Mayville, Chautauque county, where

he spent the remainder of his days. He died

January 20, 1851, leaving a widow and fourteen

children. One of the latter was by a former wife.

JI ICiitDV, fonnerly Mackciucuoy, or Mahwkki'.dv^ an

ancient surname in Bule, Arran, ami otliers (if tliL- \\ L-steia

Islands, and derived fruin tlieir orii;ii)al inliabitaiits.

At a very early period tlie larger portion of tiie island of

Bute belon;red to the Mackurerdys, wliicli was leased to tlieiii

by James IV. in 1489, and in 1506 feiied as crowi, lands, in

one general charter of the 30tli parliament. The charter

shows that there were a total of 7S feuars, and of these

12 were Mackurerdys, 11 Bannachtynes, and 10 Stewarts.

This charter is curious, as showing many remarkable Scot-

tisli surnames.

The properties in Bute feued to the Mackurerdys, with

others, principally descended to Kobert Mackurerdy, baioii of
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(j:iraclity, who mamed Janet Fraser,' :inil liad sevei-al sons

and (iaiighters. He was drowned on a vovage between Bute

and Ireland hist centurv.

William, tlie eldest son, had no issue. John, the '2d son,

married Grace Gregory, and liad several cliildren.

AIe.\ander, the eldest of these, died unmarried. John, the

2d son, was possessed of considerable estates in British Gui-

ana, at the close of last century, and eventually settled at

Birkwood, Lanarkshire. He married in London, in 1802,

Mary, eldest daughter of the deceased David Ellint, Esq., and

had 3 sons and 2 daughters.

John Gregory JI'Kirdy, the eldest son, succeeded to Birk-

wood. He married Augusta, eldest daugliter of the dece.ised

Captain James Bradshaw, R.N., ALP.

The second son was named Charles Clark Mackirdy. Da-

vid Elliot Maukirdy, the 3d son, is a colonel in the army.

M.'VTHESON (additional. See vol. ii. p. 121).—Of the Siii.v-

NiiSS branch of the JIathesons, so named from their having held

that place as a wadset for several centuries, there are several

notices in Sir I'obcrt Gordon's History of the Earldom of Suth-

erland, who mentions the family as chief of the name, A. D.

1CI6. Of this family was Colonel George JIatheson, who

accompanied Sir Donald JIackay of Farr, afterwards Lord

Reay, into the service of Gustavus Adolphus of Sweden, and

obtained a grant of the family coat of arms from King Charles

L on the 5th October, 1C39. In the last centniy the family

was represented by Kiel Matheson, born in 1700, died in

177.5, having had an only son, Duncan Mathe.son, who died

young, in 1746, from wounds received in a skirmish con-

nected with the rebellion of 174.7. He married Elizabetli

Mackay of Jlowdil. His widow married, 2dly, Dr. Archi-

bald Campbell, with whom she emigrated in 1772 to Ameri-

ca, and had a numerous progeny. Her youngest son, George

Washington Campbell, was finance minister of the United

States in 1813, and in 1818 was appointed ambassador ex-

traordinary to the court of St. Petersburg. Duncan Jlathe-

son had an only son, Capt. Donald Matheson, born in 174G,

died 4th Feb. 1810, when the family cea.sed to occupy Sliin-

ness. This gentleman married Catherine, eldest daughter of

the Rev. Thomas Mack.-iy, minister of his native parish,

Lairg, by whom he had three sons and six daughters.

Duncan Matheson, the eldest son, advocate, who died in 1838,

m.arried, in 1815, Annabella, daughter of T. Farquharson, Esq.

of Howden, near Mid Calder, issue, 3 sons. 1. Donald Mathe-

son of Grandon Lodge, DorkiTig, Surrey, now representative

of the family, married Jane, daughter of Lieutenant Petley,

li.N., issue, 3 sons, Duncan, Donald, and James Horace.

2. Hugh Mackay Jlatheson, merchant, London, married

Agnes, daughter of David jM'Fariane, Esq., Edinburgh, by

whom he has an only daughter, Mary. 3. Thomas Matheson,

merchant, Liverpool, married Annie, daugliter of a gentleman

of the name of Croppei-, by whom he has no issue.

The 2d son. Sir James .Matheson, Bart., F.Il.S., of Achany

and the Lews, born in 1796 at Lairg, married, in 1843, Mary

Jane, fourth daugliter of M. H. Perceval, Esq., of Quebec,

without issue. For lurlher iiiformation see vol. ii. p. 121.

Meucki:, a surname of great antiquity, and of French ori-

gin. Thei'e were two faiiiilies of the name in Scotland, viz.,

the Merceis of InnerpefFi-y, or the liot/s (reds), and those of

Aldie, the Dlius (black.s), Pertlishii-e. Of these the former are

said to be flie eldei-. They seem to have acquired the lands

of Innerpeffiy in Strathern, exteiiding along both banks of the

Pow, from Abercairney to the Earn, including the piesent

propel ties of Dollerie, Inchbreakie, InnerpefTry, &c., by inter-

marriage with the family of Malcolm de Innerpeflry, sheriff

of Clackmannan in 1318.

Robert Mercer seems to have sold his lands to Thomas
Olipliant of Dion before loth June 14G8. but this sale w.-is

evidently invalid, as there were complaints before the Lords

auditors, and disputes for these lancis down to the year 1595.

Alexander, eldest son of Robert, died a monk in the year

1469, and David, the 2d son, succeeded to the patrimony.

He commenced suits for the recovery of his lands from the

Olipliants, and in the Gask charter chest is a document

dated 1484, by which David Mercer and his five sons, William.

Vincent, George, Andrew, and James, declare that they will

retain possession of Lord 01ipliant"s lands of Clathy until he

pays them for the lands of InnerpefFry. The disputes seem

to have been partially compromised about 1503, when John,

Lord Drummond, gets a charter fur Innerpeffry. As William

Mercer, in 1500, and Andrew fiercer, in 1507, get lands as

faithful sen'itors of the king, it is likely that Lord Drummond
obtained them situations in the royal household, through the

influence of his sister, Annabella, wife of King Robert.

William Mercer was probably the poet whom Dunbar coin-

mends in his ' Lament,' and seems also to have been court

jester. InnerpefTry is now in the possession of Arthur Hay
Dnimmond of Cromlix. Dollerie got into the possession of

the Muirays about 1550, and is still in that family.

Peter Mercer, probably a brother of Alexander and David

obtained Inchbreakie, which had been mortgaged to his uncle

Andrew, and sold it in 1503 to Lord Giahanie, who gave this

property to his 2d son, and his descendants still hold it.

From this date it is difficult to trace the family, but they

are said to he represented by Mercer Henderson of Fordel,

and General Alexander Cavalie Mercer of the Royal Engineers.

The Mercers (^Dhu) of Ahiie, or, as commonly pronounced,

A wdie, h.ive been connected with Perth from time immemorial.

An inscnption is said to be in their vault in the church of St.

John in that city, which asserts that John Jlercer died in

1280. This vault, according to tradition, was a royal grant

to the family, in consideration of their having given one of

the kings of Scotland the Mills of Perth, hence the two

rhymes.

" So sicker 'tis as anything on earth

The Mercers aye are older than Old Perth."

And

" Folk say the Mercers tried the town to clieat

When for two inches they did win six feet."

Bernard Mercer, the .son of John, who died in 1280, was a

burgess of Perth, and signed the Ragman Roll in 1296.

The first founder of this baronial family was John Mercer,

a wealthy merchant burgess of Perth, about 1340, at that time

the metropolis of Scotland, which it ceased to be in 1482. He
several times repi esented Pertli in parliament, and was provost

of that city in 1357, 1369, and 1374. He is mentioned in

1357 as procurator for Perth, to treat of the ransom for King

David. He was frequently sent as ambassador to England,

France, and Holland, and was held in high estimation by

Charles V., (surnamed the Wise) King of France. He was a

man of immense wealth, as may be supposed from the fact

of liis son liaving been able to raise a fleet of his own, in the

year 1377, to avenge the captivity of his father.

It was to this circnmstance, in all probability, that the rise

of the family was due, as we find Andrew, who, in 1366, ob-

tained a safe conduct as a Scottish merchant, was in 1377 ad-

miral of Spain, in command of the allied fleets of Spain, France,
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and Scotliind, in ;m attack on Scaiborougli. It appears tliat,

wlien returning to Scotland tliat year, liis fatlier, .lolin Mercer,

was driven bv stress of weather upon the coast of England, aiul

seized and confined in tlie castle of .Sc.'irborough, till an order

from the English court clfected his discharge. The earl of

Doughis, from whom he held lands, calls him his vassal, or

"man," (Aomme,) in a letter sent to King Hicliard, i-emoiistrat-

ing upon the injustice of his seizure His son, to revenge the

iiijurv, cruized before Scarborough with a fleet composed of

French, Scots, ami Spaniards, and captured several vessels.

,I(din I'hilpot, an opulent citizen of London, thereupon, we are

told, tooU upon himself the protection of the trade of the king-

dom, ne;;lected by the Duke of Lancaster, wlio governed the

kingdom in the minority of his nephew, and having hired l.OdO

armed men, sent them to sea in search of Mercer, whom they

took, with his prizes and 15 Spanish vessels, his consorts all

ricldv laden. On .lannary 1, 1378, Andrew Mercer got a safe

conduct as " ArTuiger" of the King of Scotl.-md. This might

liave been an office,—but if it was a title, it is probably the first

recorded instance of an ' esquire," a title only first known in

Kngl.'ind in the reign of Kichard II.

In 138-1, Andrew ap])ears in tlie chartulaiy of I.enno.x as

Sir Andrew. On April 28, the same year, lie got forty merks

fnrth of the customs of the burgli of Perth. Sir Andrew died

in loflll-l.

His son, Sir .Michael, was the ward of Walter Stewart, lord

of Brechin, the king's brother, from 1391 to 1102. He

man-ied Elizabeth, daughter of Sir David Stewart of Dnrris-

deer, before 13!)G, in his miru)rity. He died about 14-10. He

had two sons, Sir Andrew, and liobert, of Ualief, ancestm- of

the lialief branch, which consisted of four Roberts in suc-

cession, the second of whom was ambassador to the king of

the Romans, October 13, 1471, and the race became e.xtinct

in Kobert, who died in 1583, witliout issue.

Sir Andrew, the elder sou, besides other charters, got one

for the baronv of Meikleour, rertlisliire, March 21, 1440-44_

one for Kilgrastuu, Pilkeatlily, and one-fourth of Lednocli, in

the same county, Oct. 2(), 1451, and one tor Dumbarney,

Nov. 19, 1455. He died in 1473. He had a son. Sir Laiu-ence,

and a daughter, Christian, who married Gilbert Skene of Skene.

Sir Laurence, the son, liad a safe conduct to England from

Edward IV., June 12, 117 !. He married in 1475, Isobel,

a daughter of Henry Wai ilawof Torry, and died in 1501.

His widow married 2dly iji 1504, Patrick Mercer of Inch-

breakie. Sir Laurence had 2 sons and a daughter, I.sobel,

married to Robert Maule of Pamnure.

Sir Henry, the elder son, married Margaret Douglas of

Lochleven, and was killed at Elodden. His sou, Laurence,

c.irried on the main line, from which branched oil' llie Mercers

of Melgins and Saline, in luSS. Sir .lames, last of the Aldie

line, died in 1G71. He was one of his majesty's ordinary

gentlemen ushers.

Sir Laurence Jlercer of Jlelgins, mairied, 1st, Margaret,

heiress of Ahiie, from whom is descended Countess de Fla-

hault, baroness Keith and Nairne, (see p. 23fi of this vol.) female

representative of Aldie; 2dly, Christian Kinlocli. The Mel-

gins line became extinct on the death of his son, Robert, in

1792. Robert Mercer, of the Saline branch, is now male re-

presentative of Aldie.

Robert, the 2d son of Sir Laurence Mercer and Isobel

Wardlaw, was styled of Kewton of Eorgandenny. He married

Helen, styled of Newton and Dalgetty in the '-Rook of Drum-

mond," widow of James 01i|>hant, and youngest daughter of

Eduiimd Chisholm of Cromli.x, by his 2d wife, Isobel Druni-

mond of Coldoch. Robert had three sons and a daughter,

Elizabeth, married to William Hav of Gourdie.

The eldest son, .James, of Newton of Eorg.indenny. and

Newton and Dalgetty, married Elizabeth Wemy.ss, and was an-

cestor of the Clevage line, which became extinct in Robert,

who died at Perth in 1810.

The second son was nameii William.

Andrew, the third son, married in February 15G2, Msriot.

daughter of Adam Blackwood, merchant burgess of Perth.

He had a charter from his uncle, William Chisholm, l)isliopof

Dunblane, for lands near Perth, December 20, 1503
;
pending

reference to the Pope, charter not confirmed till .Lannary 22,

15(j(!. He was admitted a merchant Imrgess of Perth, Jan.

18, 1507, aTnl appointed by John, earl of Jlontrose, sherifT-

depnte of Perthshire, together with John Graliame of Bal-

gowan, October 5, 1585. He had 3 sons, ^Villiam, .lames,

and Laurence.

William, the eldest sot), married Helen l)rim:iniond, and

was ancestor of the Potterliill line, extinct in William, who
died .about 1740, leaving Ibnr daughters.

Laurence, the third son, born in 1578, matriculated at St.

Andrews in 159G, and graduated in ICOl. He was admitted

to the miinstry in 1(507, and became parson of Fossaway, in

which jiarish Aldie is, in 1C09. He died idiout 1G53. He
married February 8, 1619, Margaret, daughter of Mr. Edmond
Mylis, parson of Cleish, and had 2 sons and 2 daughters, the

latter twins.

Laurence, the ehier S"u, bcM'u in 1G22, was .admitted min-

ister of Fossaway in 1G54, and died about 1G58.

Edmond, the secoiul son, born in 1025, sat on an assize at

Crook of Devon in IGC-', as Edmond Jlercer, at lialridrie, in

the parish of .Muckart.

Laurence had a son, also named Laurence, born about

1G57. He was admitted minister of Gask, December 10,

1G80, but was removed, by onier of the privy council, in 1 G90,

wlien he became factor of Aldie. He died .January 30, 1720.

He married in 170G, Je.an, oidy daughter of William Linds.ay,

bishop of Dunkeld, and relict of James Lindsay of Dow Hill

her cousin. She was styled Lady Pitteucliar, Irom an estate

which her second hnsbaii<i possessed. Laurence had three

sons.

.James Francis of Pilteucliar, the eldest son, a lieutenant-

colonel in the army, was killed by a cannon-ball, August 13,

175G, when defending Fort Oswego, of which he was in com-

mand, against a Fiench force under Montcalm. (See Siuol-

ktt's History of Eiiijland, ]k 577.) He left no issue.

Laurence, the second .son, predeceased his elder brother, at

Kingston, .Janndca, in August 1742, without issue.

William, the third son, born October 1, 1717, succeeded to

Pitteucliar, on the death of Colonel James, in 175G. He had

a charter of Potterliill from the earl of Kinnoul, April IG,

17G8. He died at Potterliill, .lannary IG, 1785. He married

Elizabeth, daughter of George Swan, a son of Charles II.

When asked why he had not ennobled him, as he had his other

children, the king replied, " I did not dare to make a deuck

(Scotch for duck), of him, but I made a nobler bird," namely,

a Swan. William had ten sons and three dau,;hters.

Laurence Jame.s, the eldest son, and 3d child, born Jan-

uary 10. 1752, succeeded to Potterliill on the death of his

father in 1785. He entered the Bengal civil service, and was

chief judge at Burdwan. He died there, August 20,1791,
j

and was described as "the upright judge."
[

.lames, the 2d son .and 4tii child, died young.
j

William, the 3d son and 0th child, born Januaiy 8,

1755. joined the 19tli regiment at Gibraltar in 1709, and

sold out at Dublin. Having got .a cadetship to India, he
'

sailed under a letter of exchequer, on board of " The Mount i

Stewart." Captured on the voyage, he was carried to Spain, 1
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mid exchanged. He was afterwards a captain in the otli

Beni;al cavalry, and as m;ijor he coninianded the body guard

of Warren Hastings, governor-in-chiei' of India. He died at

Ghazepore, August 3, 1801. He married in 1788, Barbara,

daugliter of Kobert Forbes of Corse, Banffshire, and had 2

sons and 4 daughters.

James Francis, tlie 4th son and 6th ctiil<i, born August 28,

1756, joined the 61th regiment in America, and July 29,

1796, became lieutenant-colonel of the 22d regiment. He
died at Perth, April 26, 1809. He married Clariuda O'Grady,

without issue.

George and Graeme, the next two sons, died in infancy.

Graeme Mercer of Mavisbaiik, the 7th son and 10th child,

born July 4, 1764, entered the Bengal service as assistant-sur-

geon, and was the East India Company's resident at Scindiah's

court. He accompanied Lord Lake as diplomatic agent. He

died unmarried at JIavisbaidc, October 6, 1841, and was buried

at Lasswade.

John, the 8th son and 11th child, born September 13, 1766,

was a lieutenant of marines. He died unmarried, April 1794,

from the effects of a wound received at Guadaloupe.

Thomas, the 9th son and 12th child, burn June 16, 1769^

was engaged in mercantile pursuits iu Bengal, and died un-

married, August 15, 1833.

George, the 10th son and 13th child, was the first of the

Gorthy branch. Of him afterwards.

The children of Captain William Mercer and Barbara

Forbes were, 1. Anne Abernethy, born at Calcutta, January

15, 1794, and married in 1813, at Brouglity I'erry, Charles

M'Grigor, brother of Sir James M'Grigor, Bart., chief of the

army medical department. Her husband uied March 15, 1841,

being a retired lieutenant-colonel in her majesty's service.

2. Eliza Forbes, born October 17, 1795, married at Perth

November 15, 1809, Kichard Charles Blunt, second son of

Sir Charles William Blunt, Bart., of Blunt Hall, Sussex. He

died at Bretlanus House, Surrey, January 16, 1846. His son.

Sir Charles, succeeded as 6lh baronet. 3. William Drummond,

born at Benares, Bengal, October 16, 1796, joined the 70th

regiment in Canada in 1814, and became major of the 16tli

Lancers in India. He married Anne Elliot, eldest daughter

of George Mercer of Gorthy, issue, a son, William Linds.iy,

born in Edinburgh April 23, 1858, and a daughter, Anna

Graeme, born in Edinburgh September 25, 1854. 4. Louisa,

born at Cawnpore, May 30, 1798, married February 23, 1819.

Alexander Brodie, manager of the Bank of Scotland, Stirling.

5. Charlotte Simpson, born at Cawnpore, June 29, 1799,

married June 30, 1817, Kobert Lockhart, of Castlehill and

Cambusnethan, Lanarkshire. He died November 2, 1850.

6. James, born August 18, 1800, died iu infancy.

George Mercer of Gurtliy, above mentioned, and of Dryden

and Mavisbank, born July 21, 1772, entered, when young,

into the East India Company's service as midshipman, and

was sometime engaged in mercantile pursuits in India. He

was one of the 14 gentlemen, principally of Hobart Town,

who, on June 13, 1835, entered into an indenture of associa-

tion for the colonization of I'ort Phillip, now Victoria, New
South Wales, which had been acquired by treaty with the

native chiefs on the 6th of that month. In the capacity of

shareholder and as agent for the Geelong and Dutigalla as-

sociation, on his retiu'n to Scotland, he conducted the official

correspondence with the colonial secretaiy, at that time Lord

Glenelg, liis first letter being dated Dryden House, by Edin-

burgh, January 26, 1836, accompanying which were various

documents, including the originals of two treaties, executed

in triplicate, entered into with the aboriginal chiefs, possessors

of the territoiy in the neighbourhood of Port I'hiUip, and a

map of the territories ceded by the head men of the Dutigalla

tribe. On the part of the association, he solicited a recognition

and coiitirmation by the ciown of the treaties executed bv the

native chiefs, occupants of the soil, or a royal grant of tlie terri-

tories, as feudatories of the British crown. The colonial sec-

retary, on the gi-ound that the territoiy acquired by the associa-

tion was part of the colony of New South Wales, declined to

confirm, on the part of the crown, the arrangement entered into

with the native chiefs, or to accede to their other request, and
it was not till July 1, 1851, that Port Phillip became an inde-

pendent colony, under tlie name of Victoria. Mr. Mercer

married at AUyghur, East Indies, September 12, 1810, Frances

Charlotte, born March 21, 1793, daughter of John Held, Esq.,

Bengal medical service, and died December 7, 1853. His

widow died April 24, 18G2, at Woodcot Pectory, Oxfordshire,

and is there interred. They had 14 children, viz.

1. Graeme Reid Mercer of Gorthy, born August 29, 1812,

and was sometime in the Ceylon Civil Service. He married

July 5, 1854, Catherine, daughter of James Hay, Esq. of

CoUiepriest, and the Lady Mary Hay.

2. A daughter, died 1813. 3. George Duncan, a lieu-

tenant in the 45th regiment of Bengal Infantry. 4.

Anne Elliot, already mentioned as wii'e of her cousin,

William Drummond Mercer. 5. iVances Georgina, mar-

ried June 14, 1842, George Falconer, Esq. of Carlowrie,

captain 33d regiment. 6. Harriet Jane. 7. William

Thomas, educated at the university of Oxford, of which

he is M.A. In July 1862, he was appointed governor

of Hong Kong, China. He married April 23, 1862, Mary

Philips Nind, 3d daughter of Rev. P. Niiid, vicar of Woodcot,

Oxfordshire. 8. John Henry, married December 11, 1B61,

Annie Catherine, 2d daughter of James Anstruther, Esq_

9. Charles, died on the 25th of July, 1826. ]0. Charies

M'Whirter, captain Bengal Horse Artillery. 11. Emily Eliza.

12. Louisa Rachel. 13. Laurence James, civil engineer,

Madras. 14. Charlotte Catherine.

Lieutenant-Colonel William Jiercer, born about 1605, who

is supposed to have been of a branch of the Mercers settled in

Aberdeenshire, was the author of ' Anglia; Speculum,' or Eng-

land's Looking Glasse, London, 1646, 'News from Parnassus,'

1682, and other small publications in doggerel verse. From

an account of him in the ' Proceedings of the Society of Anti-

quaries of Scotland,' 1860, written by David Laing, Esq.,

vice-president of that city, we learn some particulars of him.

At the age of 15 he fled from school to the continent and

embraced the military profession. Referring to this period of

his life in his ' News from Parnassus,' he says:

" Before my sight four times six years iiad seen.

Throughout six kingdoms had iny body been.

Bore arms iu each."

He returned to Scotland before 1630, as on June 28 of that

year, a letter of presentation was granted by Charles I., in his

favour, " to the parsonage and vicarage of the teyndis, &c., of

the kirk and parocliine of Glenholine," vie., one of the pre-

bends attached to the chapel royal of Stirling. ' Whether,"

says Mr. Laing, '' this presentation was conlirined is uncer-

tain. Probably not, it was at least not requisite for the pre-

sentee to hold any orders in the church, the only qualification,

if any such were required, was a knowledge of music. Various

instances might be quoted of siinihir benefices having been

conferred Ibr a period of seven years, for the purpose of enabling

a youth to pursue his academical course."
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About UioS lie was eng:i<;eii in the military stTvice in Iie-

l.iiid. During the civil wars he took the part of tlie parlia-

ment, and obtained from Uohert, earl of Essex, general of tiie

parliamentary forces, a commission as captain of horse. In

ltJ46, it appears from a poem in liis 'Anglisc Speculum,' in

the form of a petition to the lords and commons, and the lord

mayor and C(mimon council of London, that he was reduced

to great distress, by the arrears of pay due to him, amounting

to ^900 ; one-half or a third part of wliieh he earnestly solicits

for tlie relief of his necessities. On Jlarch 20, lG4o, he had

]iresented a petition to the House of Uommons, for payment

of Ills arrears, but was relerred from one committee to another,

and from parliament to the mayor and aldermen of London,

.•nul all the time was left in great destitution. He was after-

wards again employed, umler Cromwell, in Ireland, and raised

to the rank of lieutenant by Cromwell. In the spring of 1G50,

he returned to Scotland, still in reduced circumstances, and

the conindssiou of the General Assembly recommended a col-

lection for him by the Tresbytery of Edinburgh. Afier the

restoration, like a great many others, he visited Charles II. at

Whitehall. On the appointment of Lord Koberts, Baron of

Truro, as governor of Ireland, September 18, 1GG9, Colonel

Mercer printed a •' Welcom in a poem to his Excellency,"

&c., Dublin, 1(J()9. Another uinque production, preserved in

the Grenville collection in the British Museum, attributed to

him, is entitled ' The Jlodi-rate Cavalier ; or the soldier's De-

scription of Ireland and of the Country Disease, with Heceipts

fir the same. A book Kt for all rrotestant houses in Ireland,"

1G75, 3G pages, 4to.

In 1G72 he revisited Scotland, in conseiiuencc of a proposal

fir a marriage betwixt his elde.->t son and Grizzel Mercer,

heiress of the barony of Aldie, but owing to the change of

uiind of the lady's mother, no marriage took place. Colonel

Mercer, therefore, raised an action of danniges before the

court of session, for breach of a vei bal treaty of iiuirriage, and

expenses. While the case was in dependence, he prepared, as

a new year's gift to the judges, a series of encomiums, entitled

' A Compendious Comparison of the Lives and Lawes of the

Senators of Kome, with the Lives and Lawes of the Senators

of the Colledge of .Justice, Edinburgh, in familiar lines and

poems.' Edinburgh, 1073, JIS., 4to, pp. 34, Advocate's

Library. On December 14, 1G75, the judges decided that,

;is there was no marriage contract or written agreement, a

mother's verbal assurance was not binding, but iis he had

been invited to Scotland for the proposed alliance, he was en-

titled to expenses, lie returned to Ireland, but the date of

bis death is uncertain. He was four times married, his

tirst and last wives being widows.

The slogan or war cry, and now the motto, of the Mercers

of Aldie, is, '"Ye gret pule." that is, the great pool, or the

sea, said to have had its origin in the attack at Scarborough,

by Sir Andrew Jlercer in 1377. I heir crest is a crane crush-

ing a snake or water serpent.

MILLEU, I'.vTuicK, of Dulswiiiton, Dumfries-

shire, whose name is ii.-^sueiated witii the invention

of tlie steamboat, was boni at Glasgow in 1731.

lie was tlie youngest son of William MilkT, Esq.

of Glenlee, In the stcwartry of Kirkcudbright, and

i

brother of Sir Thomas ^liller, who was created a

j

baronet, and lord president of the court of session,

, in 1788. Possessing unusual genius and ability.

lie was the sole architect of liis own fortunes, hav-

ing started in life ^^ iilioiit a si.\i)eiice— as lie used

to boast—and with nothing but a good education

wherewith to make his way in the world. In his

youth, as a sailor, he visited many jiarts of the

globe, including the countries of the Mediterra-

nean, the A\'est Indies, and America. He after-

wards became a banker in Edinburgh, and having

realized a handsome fortune, lie purcliased the

estate of Dalswiiiton, building on it an elegant

mansion, subsequently the seat of James Mae-

Alpine Leny, Esq.

For nearly thirty years he was deputy-governor

of the Bank of Scotland, which lie jilaced on the

eminent position it now occupies by entirely alter-

ing its system of exchanges m ith London.

He devoted his leisure to the sciences of navi-

gation, artillery, and agriculture, and in all three

he made discoveries from which the most impor-

tant advantages iiave been derived by the world

at large. First amongst these stands the steam-

boat, of which he was the originator, though the

honour of this great invention James Taylor (see

page 551 of this volume) and AVilliain Symington

have each claimed. These were both employed

by him, Symington having been introduced to i\Ir.

Miller by Taylor. Jn February, 1787, Mr. Miller

published a pamphlet, in which he distinct!}- an-

nounced his belief in the practicability of Ufing

steam as a motive po^er for the jiropulsion of

vessels,—at the same time intimating liis intenlion

of trying the experiment of so proiielling boats
;

and in October, 1788, he did tiy the experiment

on a small scale at Dalswinton, with the mo^t

perfect success,—repeating it on a larger one in

December, 1789, on the Forth and Clyde canal.

The engine used by him in the first of these ex-

periments is now preserved in the Kensington

Patent Museum, for which it was obtained by

Beiiiiet Woodcroft, Esq., F.R.S., author of 'The

Origin and Progress of Steam Navigation,' who

spent a large sum of money in the search for it,

and subsecjuent restoration of such of its parts as

were missing when he discovered it.

The ancient corporation of the Triiiit}- House,

Lcitli, nnaniniously voted Mr. Miller the freedom

of that body, on the occasion of his inesenting

them with a copy o his ii.imphlet, in \\hich the
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practiccability of using steam for purposes of navi-

gation was first suggested by lilm.

Double and triple boats were amongst Mr. Mil-

ler's numerous inventions, and lie likewise invent-

ed paddle wheels, wliicli are not very dissimilar

fi-om those In use on the steamers of the present

day. He took a patent for paddle-wheel boats of

the description just mentioned in May, 1796, but

it does not appear that he ever derived any bene-

fit from it. A plurality of mosts was a favourite

idea of his, and we find that, in 1786, he built a

double vessel, with paddle-wheels moved by man-

ual labour, which had five masts. This vessel,

armed with carronades—another of his inventions

—he offered to the government of the day; and

on their declining the offer, presented it to Gusta-

vus III., king of Sweden, who acknowledged it by

an autograph letter of thanks, enclosed in a mag-

nificent gold box, which also contained, as a gift

from his majesty, a small packet of turnip seed,

whence sprung the first Swedish turnips ever

grown in Great Britain.

Although Mr. Miller,—from having been the

first man in modern days who constructed guns

with chambers, to which he gave the name of car-

ronades, in consequence of his having had them

cast at the Carron foundr}',—is generally consi-

dered the inventor of that species of ordnance, he

himself always gave the credit of the idea to Gns-

tavns Adolphus the Great ; and indeed most of

[
the first pieces cast for him had Latin inscriptions

on them to that effect. He went to ver}' great

expense with his experiments on these guns, which

he tried of all calibres, from 2-pounders up to 132-

pounders. With one of the latter he obtained a

range of above 5,000 yards. He was not content

with testing his invention (if so it may be called)

in the usual way, but actually proved it practi-

cally by fitting out a privateer (the 'Spitfire'),

armed witli sixteen of his 18-pounder carronades,

and sending her on a cruise in the Channel, at the

mouth of which she was captured by a French

frigate (the ' Survcillante,'36), after a hard-fought

action, in which the frigate had sixty or seventy

men killed and wounded, and had to run for port

with between four and five feet water in her hold.

Mr. Miller's inventions and experiments in na-

vigation and gunnery alone cost him above £30,000,

but what he spent on his agricultural improve-

ments and experiments has never been ascertained,
,

though it is believed to have been very large.
I

He contrived the first drill plough ever used in
'

the United Kingdom, also a thrashing-machine !

worked by horses, and an iron plough. He like-
\

wise introduced the feeding of cattle on steamed
j

potatoes, and the dressing of land with kiln-burnt
j

clay as a substitute for lime. But the improve-

ment in agriculture which he considered the most

important was the cultivation of fiorin grass, the

great value of which was first brought to notice

by the Rev. Dr. Richardson of Clonfeckle, in Ire-

land. Off' land which had not previously let for !

more than a shilling an acre, Mr. Miller got crops

of fiorin grass hay, which brought at auction '

nearly as much as the best wheat land on the

Dalswinton estate.

Mr. Miller was so highly thought of as a prac-

tical agriculturist, that one of the agricultural

societies of Scotland presented him with two

splendid silver vases, bearing suitable inscriptions.

He died at Dalswinton, December 9, 1815, and !

was interred in the Greyfriars' churchyard, Edin- '

burgh. He had married early in life, and had

several children, of whom three sons and two

daughters survived him, viz.: Patrick, member of

parliament in 1789-90 for Dunifries-sliire ; "Wil-

liam, an officer of the Royal horse guards (blue); i

Janet, married to John Francis, 15th earl of Mar;

Jean, married to Leslie Grove Jones, an officer of

the Grenadier guards ; Thomas Hamilton, an ad-

vocate at the Scottish bar. In 1862 was printed

at London, ' A Letter to Bennet Woodcroft, Esq.,

F.R.S,, vindicating the right of Patrick Miller.

Esq. of Dalswinton, to be regarded as tlie first

inventor of Practical Steam Navigation. By Ma-

jor-general Miller, C.B., late of the Madras artil-

lery.'

MoKvlLLF,, the surniuiie of n liifrh feuilMl ftiiiiily, of Anglo- '

Xonnan origin, wliicli, in tlie twelftli century, was one of llie i

most eminent in Scotland. Tlie surname is supposed to liave

been assumed from tlie village of llorville, on tlie water of

Aire, in tlie province of I'icardy, France. The first of tlie

name on record in Scotland, Hugh de Jlorville, came from

Burgh on the Sands, in Cumberland, about tlieyear 1100, and

acquired extensive posses-ions in Tweeddale, Lauderdale,

the Lothians, Clydesdale, and more especially in Cunning-

ham, Ayrshire. lie also lield the hereditary otRce of lord-
j

high-constable of the kingdom. He was a witne.ss to the
j

Iiiqnisitis Davidis, 11 lU.
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Ill 1 138, lie was one of the witnesses to a charter of protec-

tion then gi-Miited by David I. to tlie monks of Tviieiiiouth. In

ll-iO. lie founded the celebrated abbey of Kilwiiinin;;, in Cun-

liini;liaMi, nearly the whole of which district belonf^ed to him,

:ind endowed it with revenues .so ample that few temporal

lordships at the time were so valuable. About 1150, lie

fdiiiided l)ryburj:;li abbey, tour miles fVoin Melro.sc, on the

north bank of the Tweed. He died in 1162. liy his wife,

Beatrice de Beauchanip, he is .«aid to have acquired still great-

er posses.sioiis than his own. Probably the Twecddale property

came bv her, as, acciirdin<; to theCliroiiiele of Melros, she ob-

tained a charter of contirmatioii for the new foundation nf

I)rvhurf;h Abbey from David I. He had a son, Bichard de

Morville, anil a dan;;hter, .lohanna, the wife of Iliehard de

Germin.

JIanv of de Jlorville's principal vassals came from Kni;-

land, and from the chief of them sprun;; some of our noble

and baronial families, such as the Cumiini;hams, the liusses,

the Loudiiuns, the .St. Clairs, the JIaitlands, and others.

The great barony of Kiimaurs he conferred on Warnebald,

the lirst of the family of Cunningham, afterwards earls of

Glencairn. This was in the reign of Alexander I., bctwi.xt

1107 and 1124.

Hugh de Morville's only son, Richard ile Morville, lord of

Cunningham and high-constable of Scotland, was principal

minister of \ViHi:im the Lion. In the year of his father's

death, lie conlinned a donation by I'obert, son of Warnebald,

to the church of Saucta Maria of Kelso. He also granted a

charter to .lames de Loudoun, of the barony of Loudoun and

others. He died in 1189. By his wife, Avicia de Lancaster,

(or de Corbet, according to Ni-sbct, who s.ays she died in

1191,) he had a son, William, and two daugiiters, Kva and

Maud, the latter married to Steplien, an ancestor of the

Glencairn family.

William de Jlorvllle, the .son, lord-high-const.ible of Scot-

land, granted a new charter to James de Loudoun of the

lands of Loudoun. He died, without issue, in 1196, and w.is

succeeded in his large domains by his elder sister, Eva, Lla,

or lilena de Morville. This lady married Koland, lord of

Galloway, who, in lier right, became possessed of all the

lands and honours of her family, also constable of Scotland

and lord of Cunningham, (the latter afterwards one of the

titles <if the Prince of Scotlaml,) for which he paid, as a-<!uty

of homage, 700 merks to King William the Liun.

Their son, Allan, lord of Galloway and Cunningham, and

constable of Scotland, died in 12.34, without male issue, liy

his iirst wife, daughter of Hugh de Lacy, he li.ad a daughter,

Elena, married to Roger de Quincy, earl of Winchester, in

lier right constable of Scotland and proprietor of a consider-

able share of the de Morville estates, particularly in Cun-

ningham. By his second wife, Margaret, eldest daughter of

David, earl of Huntington, next brother to King William

the Lion, be liad two daughters, Dervigalda or Devorgllle,

and Christian. The former married in 1233, .lohn Baliol,

lord of Bernard's castle, county Durham, who in consequence

became lord of Gallow.ay and proprietor of the greater part

of the de Morville lands in Cunningbam. John Baliol, some

time king of Scotland, was thus a great-grandson of the

family.

The name of de Jlorville has been lost in Scotland since

the 13th century. Even the place of residence of Hugh de

.Morville, the progenitor of this once princely race, in spite of

all his possessions, is now unknown. The English baron,

Hugh de Morville, who was concerned in the murder of Tho-

mas i\ r>ecket, at Canterbury," December 29, 1170, was

of the same family as the de Morville who settled in Scotland.

MuncHisoN, softened from ^^urdocl:son, the name of a

minor clan in Loclialsli, lioss-shire, in Gaelic called Eilan

Calmaoti, it is supposed from their being long the governors

of Eilean Donnan Castle, the place where Donald Gorme of

Sleat met his death in 1539, (.see vol. ii. p. 548.) Culm

signifying a pill.ir, fort, or strength, and aon a person. Some

of them have chiinged their name to Dove, from the erroneous

impression that the won! is Calnman, which is the Gaelic lor

a [ligeon. The castle of Eilan Donnan is also called Se.afiort.

from its being built on an island, surrounded by water at full

tide, and from it the earls of Seafortli derive their title.

The .'Murcbisons fought under the Mackenzies and carried

their banners. They are descended from Murdoch orMurcha,

who received a charter of the lands of Kintail fi .mi David II.,

in 1362.

' Colonel Donald Murchison of Aucliterfyre, Lochalsli, com-

missioner to William, 5tli earl of Seafortli, was. during the

period in which he lived, the military leader of the Mackenzies,

jMacIennans, .and M'Kae.s, in their opposition to the gov-

ernment forces fiom 1719 to 1726. lie is mentioned at page

69 of this volume, (article M.^ci!.\e.) as having successfully

defended the lands of Seafortli, during the time their forfeit-

ure lasted, and collecting the Seafirth rents, conveyed them

to France, and delivered them to the earl, then in exile. All

his movements were narrowly w.atched by government, and a

reward offered for his apprelien.sion, with a description of his

person, which was posted up .at all the ports, so that he

might be captured at sea. Gener.al Wade wrote often, with

very particular information, to government about him, and in

one of his communications he gives an account of Colonel

Mnrchison's entry into Edinburgh, with a numerous band of

Highlander.s. He encountered much annoy.ance from the

Monroes, Rosses, and JIackays, and other loyal clans. Hav-
ing lost Ills right-hand man Tuach of Conon, he was alwavs

in a state of warfare, but his wiu'incss and tact invariably

brought him out of danger.

The anecdotes of bis feats are numerous, and a written re-

cord of his exploits is in the hands of Sir Roderick Murchison,

a distant relative of the colonel, collected by Dr. Murchison

of Tan'adale, near Beauly, as related by bis father, the grand-

father of Sir Roderick. He lived at Auclitertyre, Lochalsli,

and died at a great age. The colonel was .at length captured

at sea, on his return from France, and imprisoned in the

Tower of London. King George I. visited him personallv,

and upon promi.se that in future he would be as faithful to

him as to \n£ own chief, gave him his liberty, and bestowed

upon him a great part of the lands possessed by Seafortli in

Kintail. About the same time peace and pardon for Seafortli

and his clan were obtained by the aid of Mai'slial Wade. In

an interview with the earl, after his return, his lordship up-

braided him with taking possession of his land, and is even

said to have broken open liis charter-chest in the colonel's

ab.sence, and carried off his title deeds. '• Donald," said the

earl, " would not less land by far have satisfied you." " I

thought," replied the colonel, " that Seafortli could never

grudge me what his majesty has granted, after all the toils,

hardships, and narrow escapes with my life. I have had in

your cause." The colonel's indignation and agitation were

so extreme that he burst a blood-vessel, went over to Coiion.

to the house of the widow of his old friend Tuach, where he

died. Seafortli visited him before his death, .and asked him

if he should like to be buried in the Seaforlh tomb. He re-

plied that she who gave liim a bed to die in would give liim

a grave to lie in. He left a brother, Munioch Murchison, who

was Wounded at Culloden, and married .Maiy, daugliter of tlie



PATOX. 732 llAE.

liev. Fiiilay M'Rae, first reformed minister of Kiiitail, by

wliom he had a family.

Sir Roderick Impey Murcliison. D.C.L., of this family, has

distinguished liimself as a geologist. Tije eldest son of Ken-

neth Murcliison, Esq. of TaiTadale, Ross-shire, by liis wife,

the sister of General Sir Alexander JIacUenzie, Bart., G.C.H.,

he was born at Tarradale, in 1792. Educated at Durham

Grammar School and at the military College of Marlow, he

received the honorary degree of JI.A. from the universities of

Cambridge and Durham. In 1807 he entered the army as

an ofiicer in the oGth foot, and took part in the battles of

Vimeira and Corunna, &c. He was afterwards on the staff

of his uncle, General Sir Alexander Mackenzie, and, lastly,

was captain 6th Dragoons. In 1816 he lelt the army, and

was induced, about 1818, by Sir Humphry Davy to devote

himself to science. In 1828, in company with Sir Charles

Lyall, he examined the extinct volcanoes of Auvergne, &c.

In 1831, he a)iplied himself to a systematic examination of

the older sedimentary deposits in England and Wales, and

after five years' labour, succeeded in establishing what he

named (from occupying those counties which formed the an-

cient kingdom of the Silm-es) the Silurian system, compre-

hending a succession of strata lying beneath the (jld red sand-

stone, and seeming to lie in close approximation to the

deposits that preceded the existence of plants and animals.

In 1837, he published his 'Silurian system of Kocks.' In

1841, the Czar Nicholas decorated him with the order of the

second class of St. Anne, in diamonds, and subsequently

gave him a magnificent colossal vase of Siberian avanturine,

mounted on a column of porphyry, with this inscription,

'• Gratia Imperatoris totius Rossia;, Roderico Murcliison,

Geologic Rossiae Explonitori, 1842." In 1846, under the

countenance of the Imperial government, in company with

Professor Sedgwick and M. de Veriicuil, he commenced a

geological survey of the Russian empire; on completing which

the emperor conferred upon him the grand cross of the order

of St. Stanislaus. In 1845, he published, in two vols., his

• Russia in Europe and the Ural Mountains,' and in 1846, he

received the royal license to accept the Russian orders, and

was knighted. To the transactions of various scientific

bodies, Sir Roderick has contributed upwards of 100 memoirs.

In 1844, he instituted a comparison between the rocks of

Eastern Australia and those of the auriferous Ural mountains,

and w;is the first who publicly declared his opinion that gold

must exist in Australia. Has been four times president of

the Geological Society, and also of the Royal Geographical

Society. In 1846, he was president of the BritishAssociation

He is a fellow of the Royal and Linna'an Societies, member of

the Imperial Academy of Sciences of St. Petersburg, and the

Academies of Beriiii, Copenhagen, &c., corresponding member

of the Institute of Eriuice, and honorary member of the Royal

Society of Edinburgh, the Royal Iri.-.h Academy, &o. In

1855, he succeeded Sir H. De la Beche, in the office of director

of the Museum of Practical GcoU>gy.

V

PATON, Geokge, an eminent antiquaiy, son

of John Paton, bookseller, Edinburgh, born in

1720, was a clerk in the custom-house, at a small

salary. Botii he and his father were collectors of

curious works on the literature, histoiy, and to-

pography of Scotland. He died March 5, 1807.

His valuable library was sold by auction in 1809,

and his MSS., prints, coins, &c., in 1811. Of the

' Paton correspondence,' preserved in the Advo-

cates' Library in Edinburgh, two small volumes

were published, in 1829, and 1830, crown 8vo.

Two large volumes of Mr. Paton's letter to Gough

are also in the Advocates' Librai-y.

R

Rae, a surname, conjectured to be the same as Heat/, a

parish on the north coast of the counties of Caithness and

Sutherland. The name, says a writer in the ' Kew Statisti-

cal Account of Scotland,' is supposed to be a corruption of

^^e^n Reidh, or Iliora, two Gaelic terms signifying smooth

and plain. The most probable derivation, however, is, that

Reav is a corruption of Uri'ay, the name of a British hero,

who inhabited the castle called, to this day, Knock Urray.

The ancient orthography of the parish was Re or Rae.

David Rae, an eminent Scottish lawyer and judge, by the

title of Lord Eskgrove, was created a baronet of the United

Kingdom on 27th June, 1804. He was the son of the Rev.

David Rae, an episcopal clergyman at one period in St. An-

drews, and afterwards in Edinburgh, by his wife Agnes, a

daughter of Sir David Forbes of Kewhall, baronet, a lord of

session, under the title of Lord Newliall, brother of the cele-

brated Duncan Forbes of CuUoden, lord president of the

court of session. Born in 1729, Lord Eskgrove acquired his

classical education at the university of Edinburgh, where he

studied for the bar, and on 11th December 1751 was admit-

ted a member of the faculty of advocates. He very early

obtained considerable practice, and when the celebrated

Douglas cause was before the court he was appointed one of

the commissioners for collecting evidence in France, and in

that capacity accompanied Lords Monboddo and Garden-

ston^ then advocates, to Paris, in September 1764. He

was elevated to the bench, on the death of Lord Aucliinleck,

14th November 1782, and succeeded Lord Kennet, as a lord

of justiciary, 20th August, 1785. His judicial title of Lord

Eskgrove was assumed from the name of a small estate

which he possessed near Inveresk, in the neighbourhood of

Musselburgh. On the death of Lord BraxHeld in 1799, he

was appointed lord-justice-clerk, 1st June that year. That

high office he filled with ability and integrity of character,

but only enjoyed his baronetcy four months, as he died 23d

October 1804, in his 80th year. He had married, in 1761,

Margaret, daughter of Dugald Stewart, Esq. of Blairhall, a

near relative of the earl of Bute and of Lady Ann Stewart,

daughter of Francis, earl of Jloray, and had two sons and a

daughter.

The elder son, David, second baronet, entered early into

the army, and was at one time lieutenant-colonel of the Mid-

dlesex militia. He married the daughter of Oliver Colt,

Esq. of Auldliame, and had four daughters. Dying without

male issue, he was succeeded by his brother, the Right Hon.

Sir William Rae of St. Catherines, third and last baronet of

this family. Sir William was a school-fellow and fellow-

student of Sir Walter Scott at the High school and univer-

sity of Edinburgh, and an intimate friend of his through life.
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He WHS called to tlie bar in 1791, and for many years was

sheriff of Mid Lothian. On the promotion of Lord Meadow-

banlc to tlie bench in 1819, he was appointed lord-advocate

for Scotland, an office which he held during all the subse-

quent torv ministries. On tlie accession of Karl Grey's min-

istry in 18.30, he retired with his colleagues, but again be-

came lord-advocate during the brief administration of Sir

Robert Peel in 183-1 and 183.5, and in 18-11 was reappointed.

He was iM.P. for the Crail burghs in Fife, from 1820 to 1826;

for Harwich, from 1827 to 1830; for Portarlington, in 1831;

lor Buteshire, in 1831, and he again represented that county

from 1833 till his death. He was also a member of the privy

council. He died at his seat of St. Catherines, about 3 miles

from Edinburgh, 19tli October 1842. Notwithst.mding the

long period during which lie held the office of lord-advocate,

he ahvaj-s declined a seat on the bench, to which he had the

first claim, as he did not consider himself sufficiently qualified,

as a practising lawyer, for the judicial office. He married

Mary, daughter of Colonel Charles Stuart, but by her had no

issue, and on his death the baronetcy became extinct.

Rattuav, a surname derived from the barony of that

name in Perthshire. So far back as the reign of JIalcolm

Canmore, (1057-1093) the family of Rattray of Rattray and

Craigliall are said to have existed in that county (Nisbet, vol.

i. p. 130). In the reigns of William the Lion and Alexander

II., lived Alanus de Rattrieff, as the name was then spelled,

whose son, Sir Thomas de Rattrieff, was knighted by Alex-

ander III. By Christian, his wife, the latter acquired part

of the hands of Glencaveryii and Kingoldriun, in Forfarshire.

In the Register of the Abbacy of Arbroath, there is a per-

ambulation, of date 12.50, between that convent and Thomas

de Rattrieff, about the latter lands. He left two sons, Eus-

tatius and John. The former was father of Adam de Rat-

trieff, who, in 1292, with other Scots barons, was compelled

to submit to Edward I. He is mentioned both in Prynne's

Collections and Rymer's Foedera. In 1296, he was again

forced to swear allegiance to the English king. He died be-

fore 1315. His son, Alexander de Rattrie, was one of the

barons of the parliament held at Ayr that year to settle the

succession to the crown. Dying issueless, he was succeeded

by his brother, another Eustatius de Rattrie, who, in the

parliament of Perth, August 1320, was falsely accused of

being concerned in the conspiracy of Sir William Soulis and

Sir David Brechin against Robert the Bruce, but fairly

acquitted.

His son, John de Rattray, living in the reign of David II.,

was father of the next proprietor after him,—.lohn de Rat-

tray, who died at the close of the reign of James I. The

son of the latter, Patrick de Rattray, living in 1456, was

father of Sir Sylvester Rattray of that ilk, who was appoint-

ed one of the ambassadors extraordinary to treat with the

king of England, for which he obtained a safe-conduct, dated

12th June 1463. He sat in the parliament of 1481, and is

represented as having liad great influence at court. His

wife's name was Alison Hepburn. His son, Sir John Rat-

tray of Rattray, was knighted by James IV. By liis wife,

Elizabeth, daughter of James, second Lord Kennedy, he had

three sons and one daughter. His eldest son, John, an officer

in the Dutch service, married Margaret Abercrombie, but

died in Holland before liis father, without issue. Patrick,

the second son, succeeded to the estate, as did also, after

him, the youngest son, Sylvester. The daughter, Grizel,

married John Stewart, third earl of Athol, of that name.

On Sir Jolin's death, the earl laid claim to a portion of the

Rattray estate, as husband of his only daughter, and, at the

head of a large body of his retainers, forcibly took possession

of the castle of Rattray, and carried off the family writs.

Patrick, the then proprietor, retired to the castle of Craigliall,

which he gallantly and successfully defended. The old

castle of Rattray, near Blairgowrie, the ancient stronghold of

the family, is now in ruins. At Craigliall, the moi'e modern

seat of the family, there is some beautiful cliff scenerv.

" The house," (iVeju Statistical Account— Pertlishire. Arti-

cle Rattray,) "is situated on the top of a rock, .about 214

feet, almost perpendicular .above the Ericlit. Cr.aighall is

accessible only in front, which is from the south, and on each

side of the entrance a little in adv,ance of the house are two I

round buildings, evidently intended for protection, with some

openings for missile weapons, as if for the n'<e of archers—

a

mode of defence very common in former ages."

In tlie summer of 1793 Craigliall was visited by Sir Wal-

ter Scott, accompanied by his friend William Clerk, the bro-

ther of .John Clerk, Lord Eldin, a relative of the Rattray

family. Lockhart says: " From the position of this striking

place, as Mr. Clerk at once perceived, and as the author af-

terwards confessed to him, that of the Tully-Veol.an (in Wa-
verley) was very faithfully copied, though in the description

of the house itself, and its gardens, many features were

adopted from Bruntsfield and Ravelstone. Mr. Clerk has

told me that he went through the first chapters of Waveriey

without more than a vague suspicion of the new novelist,

but that when he read the arrival at Tully-Veolan, his sus-

picion was at once converted into certainty, and he handed

the book to a common friend of his and the author's, saying. 1

'This is Scott's—and I'll lay a bet you'll find such and such I

things in the next chapter.' In the course of a ride from i

Craighall, they had both become considerably fagged and
'

heated, and Clerk, seeing the smoke of a clachan a little way
!

before them, ejaculated— ' How agreeable if we should here

fall in with one of those signposts where a red lion predomi-

nates over a punch-bowl !

' The phrase happened to tickle

Scott's fancy—he often introduced it on similar occasions af-

terwards—and at the distance of twenty years (when the

authorship of the W.averley novels was still a mystery) Mr.

Clerk was at no loss to recognise an old acquaintance in the

'huge bear' which ' predomin.ates ' over the stone basin in

the courtyard of Baron Bradwardine." The Athol family con-

tinned to possess the greater part of the hands of Rattray

until about the beginning of the 17th century, when thev were

evicted from them by an appraising at the instance of Sir

Robert Cricliton of Clunie.

Sylvester Rattray, on succeeding his brother, Patrick, en-

deavoured to get himself served heir to his father and bro-

thers at Perth, the county town of the shire in which his

lands were situated, but found it impossible, because, as the

writ bear.s, the earl of Athol .and his friends are "magna; po- i

testatis et fortitudiiiis " in th.it town. He apphed, in conse-
j

quence, to King James V., and obtained from his majesty a
|

commission under the great seal to have service done at Dun-

dee, d.ated at Edinburgh, 17th October 1533. He was ac-

cordingly served heir to his father and two brothers in the

barony of Craighall and Kyneballoch, and infeft therein in I

Dundee in 1534.

His son and successor, David Rattray of Craighall and

Kyneballoch, served heir to his father in 1554, had two sons,

George and Sylvester, the latter minister at Auchtergaven

and ancestor of Rattray of Dalnoon. The elder son,

George Rattray of Craighall, succeeded his father, in the

commencement of the reign of James VI. He was succeed-

ed by his son, Sylvester, who was infeft in all his father's

lands by a charter under the great seal, dated 26th October
[
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1G04. Sylvestef liad two sons. David and Sylvester. Tlie

l:itter, wlio W!is bred to the cliurcli, was progenitor of tlic

Kattrays of Persie.

Tlie cider son, David Rattiay of Craigliall, was served

heir to liis father, 22d June 1613, and died soon after, leav-

ing ii son, Patrick. This gentleman, upon his own resigna-

tion, got a charter under the great seal from Charles I., dated

28tli February 1648, of the lands of Craighall, Kyneballoch,

and otliers, containing a Novodamus, and erecting them into

a f]'ee barony, to be called Craighall and Rattray, in all time

coming. By his wife, Anne Drummond, d.augliter of John,

second Lord Maderty, he had, with a daughter, married to

Ogilvy of Balfour, a son, James Rattray of Craighall. The

hitter was father of Dr. Thomas Rattray of Craighall, a man

of singular piety and learning, who was served heir to his fa-

ther, before the sheriff of Perth, 13th July 1692. He died

in 1743. He liad two sons and three daughters. The eldest

rlaughter, Margaret, married, in 1720, tlie celebrated Dr.

John Clerk, president of the Royal College of Physicians,

Kdinburgh, and for more than thirty years the first medical

practitioner in Scotland. (See vol. i. page 653, article

Cleuk of Pennycuik.)

The third son, David Clerk, M.D. of Edinlnirgh, physician

to the Royal Infirmary of that city, died in 17G8, leaving two

sons, James and Robert. The eider son, James Clerk, born

oil December 1763, succeeded to Craighall Rattray, in right of

his grandmother, and assumed the additional surname of Rat-

tray. He was an eminent advocate at the Scottish bar, and in

his latter years one of the barons of the court of Exchequer in

Scotland. He died 29th August 1831. He had married,

3d Janu.ary 1791, Jane, only daughter of Admiral Duff of

Fetteresso, and with one daughter, .Tane, wife of William M.

Hay, second son of Hay of Newton, he liad a son and suc-

cessor, Robert Clerk Rattray, Esq. of Craighall Rattray.

This gentleman died 27th October 1851, leaving, with four

dangliters, two sons, James, who succeeded him, and Adam,

an oificer in the 92d regiment.

Sylvester Rattray, M.D., a physician in Glasgow, was the

:iulli(U' of the following medical works :
' Auditus Novus ad

occultas Sympathia; Caus.is Inveniendas per Principia Phi-

losophla; naturalis ex Fermentarum artiliciosa Anatomia

hausta, Patefactus.' Glasgow, 1658, 8vo. Inserted in the

Theatrum Sympatheticum, Nuremberg, 1662. ' Prognosis

Medica ad usum Praxeos facili methodo digesta.' Glasgow,

1666, 8vo.

James Rattray, lieutenant 2d grenadiers Bengal army,

published a work entitled ' The Costumes of tlie Various

Tribes, Poi'traits of Ladies of Rank, celebrated Princes and

Chiefs, Views of the Principal Fortresses and Cities, and In-

terior of the Cities and Temples of Afghanistan, from original

drawings.' London, 1848, folio.

The family of Rattray of Barford house, Warwickshire, is

a brancli of the ancient Scottish house of the niime, being

descended from James Rattray, Esq. of Runnygullion, Drim-

mie, and Corb, Perthshire. This gentleman, the son and

heir of Sir RuUion Rattray of Runnygullion, was an adherent

of the Stuarts, and in 1745 took up aims in support of the

cause of the Pretender. He was among the last to leave the

field of CuUoden, and with his brother-in-law, Sir James

Kinloch of Kinloch, he hastened to Drimmie, in the parish of

Longforgan. There he was captured by the government sol-

diery, and conveyed a prisoner to London. At liis trial, he

was advised to plead, in his defence, as many of the prison-

ers did without effect, that he was forced, against his will, to

join the rebel army. This plea made no impression on the

judges, and the jury were about to retire, when a stranger

rushed into the court, and earnestly exclaimed, " Jly lords, 1

beg to be heard on behalf of James Rattr.ay, the prisoner at

the bar." The judges, after some hesitatifin, consented to

receive liis evidence, when he declared upon o:ith that, on

one occasion, while travelling through Perthshire in the exer-

cise of his vocation, collecting a coarse kind of flax, called

beards, he was benighted on the road, and, arriving at Drim-

mie, he was there received by the prisoner, and hospitably

entertained with the servants of the family ; and that he sub-

sequently saw the prisoner handcuffed in the custody of the

rebel army, from his refusal to join them. In consequence

of this man's evidence, the jury returned a verdict of not

guilty. The witness immediately disappeared without speak-

ing to any one, and was never afterwards seen by any of the

family.

REID, WiLLi.\M, poet and song-writer, wns

born at Glasgow, 10th April, 1764. ITe was tlie

son of Robert Reid, baker in that city, and Chris-

tian Wood, daugliter of a farmer at Gartmore,

Perthshire. He received a good education, and

was first employed in the type-foundery of Mr. An-

drew Wilson, (see page 614 of this volume). He

afterwards served an apprenticeship witli Messrs.

Dunlop and Wilson, booksellers in Glasgow. In

1790 he commenced business as a bookseller in

partnership with Mr. James Brash, (born 1st Jan-

uary 1758, died 9th October 1835,) and for a pe-

riod of twenty-seven years they carried on a suc-

cessful business, under the firm, well known in

their day, of Brash and Reid. Between the years

1795 and 1798, they issued, in penny numbers, a

small publication under the title of 'Poetr}-, Ori-

ginal and Selected,' wliicli extended to four vol-

umes. In this publication several pieces of Mr.

Reid were inserted. Most of his compositions

were of an ephemeral kind, and no separate col-

lection of them was ever printed. His pai'tner,

Mr. Brash, also contributed two or three origi-

nal pieces to its pages. Mr. Reid died at Glas-

gow, 29 th November 1831.

From an obituary notice which appeared in the

Glasgow papers, soon after his death, the follow-

ing is extracted: "In early and mature life Mr.

Reid was remarkable both for vivacity, and no

mean share of that peculiar talent which, in Scot-

land, the genius of Burns and its splendid and

dazzling course seemed to call forth in the minds

of man}- of his admiring countrymen. He not

onl}' shared in the general enthusiasm the appear-

ance of that day-star of national poetry elicited,
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but participated ia liis tVieiidsliip, and received

excitement from his converse. In St;ottisli song,

and in pieces of characteristic humour, Mr. lleid,

in several instances, api)roved liimself not unwor-

tli}' of either siicli intimacy or inspiration. These

are chiefly preserved in a collection, entitled,

'Poetry, Original and Selected,' wiiich appeared

under the tasteful auspices of himself and partner.

It is now scarce, but iiighly valued. Even, how-

ever, when it shall have altogether ceased to be

known but to collectors, many of tlie simple and

beantiAd lines of Mr. Reids earlier compositions,

and racy, quaint, and original thoughts and ex-

pressions of his riper years, will cling to the gen-

eral niemoiy. Perhaps, of these, the humorous

will be the longest lived."

in Stenhousc's edition of Johnson's Musical

Museum (6 vols. 8vo, Edinburgh, 1839) are

some additional stanzas, by i\Ir. lleid, of 'My

ain kind Deary, O, ' grounded on the old

verses of ' The Lea-rig ;' and of ' Cauld Kail in

Aberdeen,' in continuation. He also wrote some

additional stanzas to ' John Anderson my Jo,'

and the fine songs of ' Fair modest Flower," ' Kate

o' Gowrie,' ' Upon tlie Banks of flowing Clyde,'

and a poi'tion of ' Of a' the Airts the Avind can

blaw.' In the edition of Burns' Poems published

by Fullarton & Co., and edited by the Ettrick

Shepherd and jMotlierwell the poet, the latter has

inserted (vol. v. p. 282) a 'Monody on the Death

of Robert Burns,' by Mr. Reid, of m Iioui it is

stated, in a note, that he "was a most enthusias-

tic admirer of Burns, possessed a rich fund of

native humour, and was the author of several po-

ems in our vernacular dialect that merit preser-

vation.''

Mr. Reid married Elizabeth, daughter of James

Henderson, linen printer, Newhall, who, ^\\th two

sons and five daughters, survived him.

REID, Sill Wii.i.i.vM, K.C.B., a distinguished

]Miblic officer, eldest son of the Rev. James Reid,

minister of Kinglassie, Fifcshiix', was born there

in 1791. He was educated at ^Musselburgh, and

was afterwards sent to Woolwich Royal militar}-

academy, to be trained for the corps of Royal En-

gineers. He obtained his first commission 10th

February, 1800, and was engaged during the last

four vcars of the war in the Peninsula, under the

duke of Wellington. He was at the tliree sieges

of Badajoz, where lie was wounded, the siege of

Ciudad Rodrigo, where he was again wounded,

the siege of the Forts and the battle of Salaman-

ca, the sieges of Burgos and San Sebastian, at the

latter of which he was a third time wounded, and

at the battles of Vittoria, Nivclle, Nive, and Tou-

louse. At the peace he served on the coasts ot

-Vmerica under General Lambert, until the termi-

nation of the war there, and rejoined the Britisli

army in Belgium in 1815. The following year he

served in the expedition under Lord Exmouth,

against Algiers. For some years he was adjutant

of the corps of sappers.

In 1838, being then lieutenant-colonel, he uas

appointed to the governorship of the Bermudas,

where he introduced many important and benefi-

cial improvements. On his airi\ al there he found

agriculture far behind ; corn and hay were im-

ported. There was little fruit. Bitter citron-

trees grew everywhere, and in sight of the gov-

ernment-house was a wide swamp. Colonel Reid

immediately set about amending all this. He

grafted a sweet orange on a bitter citron-tree in

front of the government-house. It bore good

fruit, and in due time all the bitter trees were

grafted. He drained the swamp, imported ploughs,

had ploughing taught, gave prizes for the best

productions, and, in 1846, held a grand agricultu-

ral fete in a fine dry meadow-lield—the old swamji.

It was emphatically said of him, that " he gave

new spirit to the peoi)le, showed them how to

work out their own prosperit}', changed llie face

of the island, took great interest in popular edu-

cation : and won the title of 'the Good Governoi-,'

by which he became affectionately remembered in

Bermuda." His government of Bermuda was the

subject of an article, entitled 'A IModel Gover-

nor,' in Dickens' ' Household Words.'

In 1846, Colonel Reid was appointed governor

of the Windward West India Islands, where,

also, by his firm and conciliatory conduct, he

gained the confidence and good will of the entire

population. In 1848, he returned to England,

and in the following j'ear was appointed com-

manding engineer at Woolwich, and directed the

engineer officers and sappers and miners at the

I
great Exhibition at London in 1851. On the re
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signation of Mr. Robert Steplienson, Colonel Reid

was requestetl by the Ro3-al Commissioners to be-

come, in liis room, chairman of the executive

committee, and tlie success of the Exhibition, in

its early stages particularly, and above all, in its

punctual opening, at the appointed time, was, in

a great degree, owing to his tranquil cnergj^ and

determination. He declined all remuneration for

his services, and in September of that year he re-

ceived the unsolicited appointment of governor of

Malta. On that occasion lie was created a knight

commander of the Bath. On SOth May 1856, he

became major-general. In 1857 he returned to

England.

His name will be enduringly known for liis

valuable labours In aiding the investigation of the

law of storms, by a careful analysis of the various

hurricanes of the Atlantic and Indian oceans.

"When emploj'cd as major of engineers in Bar-

badoes, restoring the buildings ruined in the hur-

ricane of 1831, he was led to inquire into the his-

tory of former storms ; but the West Indian records

contained little beyond details of losses in lives

and propertj', and furnislied no data whereby the

true character or the actual courses of these

storms might be investigated. In the 'American

Journal of Science,' a paper by Mr. Redfield had

appeared, on the ' Gales and Hurricanes of the

North Atlantic,' a copy of which came under the

notice of Colonel Reid. Impressed with the im-

portance of the subject, he became satisfied of the

rotative character and determinate progress of

these storms as maintained by Mr. Redfield, and

having been able to devote more attention to these

inquiries, he published, in 1838, his first paper

SCRIMGEOUR.

'On Hurricanes,' in the second volume of 'Pro-

fessional Papers of the Royal Engineers.' His

valuable work, entitled ' An Attempt to Develope

the Law of Storms by means of Facts arranged

according to Place and Time,' appeared the same

year, and three large editions of it rapidly issued

from the press. A more extensive work, entitled

'The Progress of the Dcvelopement of the Law of

Storms and of the variable AVinds, with the practi-

cal Application of the subject to Navigation,' was

published in 1849. The work is not merely a

theoretical investigation, but of eminently practi-

cal value to all who have to navigate in the seas

both of the East and West Indies. Tiie mind of

Sir William Reid was one that could not be idle,

or fail to be impressed with any phenomena either

of the natural or moral world with which he was

brought into contact. He possessed the placid

and calm temper of a true philosopher, combined

with a rare talent for conducting business. He

died in London, in the end of October, 1858. He

had married a daughter of Mr. Bolland of Clap-

ham, and left five daughters.

s

ScRiMGFOUR. In the 2d vol. of tliis work, p. 99, it is

stated tliat tlie title of earl of Dundee, conferred in 1660,

on John Scrimgeour, 3d Viscount Dudliope, constable of Dnn-

dee, is extinct. It is but in abeyance or dormant. The pa-

tent of the earldom not being on record, its limitations are not;

known. Tlie titles of Viscount Dndliope.md Baron Scrimgeour,

conferred on Sir Jolm Scrimgeour of Dudhope, Nov. 15, 1()41,

were to him and the heirs male of his body, whom failing, to

heirs male whatsoever.
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